
 

 
- 1 - 

 
 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

 

 
 
 

CABINET: THURSDAY, 10 MARCH 2022 at 2.00 PM 
 

 
A Cabinet Meeting will be held as a Remote meeting on Thursday 10 March at 2.00 pm 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
1   Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 24 February 2022  (Pages 3 - 10) 

 
2   To receive the report of the Race Equality Taskforce Annual report  (Pages 11 - 

156) 
 

Leader   
 
3   Multi-Location Meetings Policy  (Pages 157 - 202) 

 
Children & Families   
 
4   National Adoption Service For Wales / Foster Wales: Joint Committee 

Agreement And Hosting Arrangements By Cardiff Council  (Pages 203 - 312) 
 

Culture & Leisure   
 
5   Allotment Strategy  (Pages 313 - 370) 

 
6   UEFA European Football Championships Final Tournament 2028 (UEFA EURO 

2028) Expression Of Interest  (Pages 371 - 380) 
 

Education, Employment & Skills   
 
7   School Organisation Planning: Provision For Children And Young People With 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN)  - Complex Learning Needs and Autism 
Spectrum Condition Provision For Primary And Secondary Aged Pupils  (Pages 
381 - 894) 
 

8   School Organisation Planning: Provision for children and young people with 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Needs  (Pages 895 - 1260) 
 

9   School Organisation Planning: The expansion and redevelopment of Pentyrch 
Primary School  (Pages 1261 - 1386) 
 

10   School Admission Arrangements  (Pages 1387 - 1494) 
 



 

 
- 2 - 

Finance, Modernisation & Performance   
 
11   Pay Policy  (Pages 1495 - 1522) 

 
Housing & Communities   
 
12   Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan  (Pages 1523 - 1626) 

 
13   Ely youth zone  (Pages 1627 - 1688) 

 
14   Procurement Of A Contracting Partner To Deliver The Channel View 

Redevelopment Project & Acquisition Of A New Build Opportunity  (Pages 1689 
- 1766) 
 

Investment & Development   
 
15   Cardiff Bay Regeneration Overview  (Pages 1767 - 2170) 

 
Social Care, Health & Wellbeing and Children & Families   
 
16   Cardiff And The Vale Of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022  

(Pages 2171 - 2486) 
 

Strategic Planning & Transport   
 
17   The Cardiff Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy  (Pages 2487 - 2524) 

 
 
 
PAUL ORDERS 
Chief Executive 
 
This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg 
 



CARDIFF COUNCIL         
CYNGOR CAERDYDD       
            
MINUTES 
 

  
CABINET MEETING:  24 FEBRUARY 2022 

 
 

 
Cabinet Members Present:  Councillor Huw Thomas (Leader) 
    Councillor Peter Bradbury 
    Councillor Susan Elsmore  
    Councillor Russell Goodway   
    Councillor Graham Hinchey 
    Councillor Sarah Merry 
    Councillor Michael Michael 
    Councillor Lynda Thorne 
    Councillor Chris Weaver 
    Councillor Caro Wild 
     
Observers:    Councillor Adrian Robson  
    Councillor Rhys Taylor  
     
         
Officers:    Paul Orders, Chief Executive 

     Chris Lee, Section 151 Officer 
    Davina Fiore, Monitoring Officer 
    Sarah McGill, Corporate Director People &  
    Communities   
    Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office 

 
The Leader opened the meeting by referencing the current events in Ukraine and on behalf 
of those present declared Cardiff’s solidarity with the Ukrainian people, particularly those in 
Cardiff’s twin city Lugansk and strongly condemned the breach of international law by 
Russia.  
 

73 MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 20 JANUARY 2022  
 
RESOLVED: that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2022 be approved 
 

74 REPORT OF THE ECONOMY & CULTURE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ENTITLED 
'COMMUNITY SPORT IN CARDIFF: REGIONAL SPORTS PARTNERSHIPS'  

 
Councillor Nigel Howells, as Chair of the Economy & Culture Scrutiny committee introduced 
the report entitled ‘Community Sport in Cardiff: Regional Sports Partnerships’. The report 
concluded that the proposed Central South RSP posed a very real threat to the good practice 
currently embedded in Cardiff and contained 45 key findings and 6 recommendations. 
 
The Cabinet noted that this would be Councillor Howells last report as Scrutiny Chair and 
thanked him for his contribution to Cardiff Council. 
 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



RESOLVED: that the report of the  Economy & Culture Scrutiny committee entitled 
'Community Sport in Cardiff: Regional Sports Partnerships' be received and a response 
provided within two cycles.  
 

75 CORPORATE PLAN  
 
The Cabinet received the Corporate Plan for 2022-25. The Corporate plan outlined the 
Council’s strategic policy and performance priorities and also discharges the Council’s 
responsibilities under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.It contained 
several new policy commitments emerging from the recovery and renewal work. The plan 
had been considered by the Performance Panel and each of the scrutiny committees.  
 
RESOLVED: that  
 
1. the Corporate Plan 2022-25 be approved for consideration by Council on 3 March 

2022; 
 
2. authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the 

Council, to make any consequential amendments to the Corporate Plan 2022-25 
(Appendix A) following consideration by the Council’s Performance Panel on 14 
February 2022 and the Council’s scrutiny committees during the week commencing 
21 February 2022, prior to consideration by Council on 3 March 2022. 
 

3. Council be recommended to delegate authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council, to make any consequential amendments to the 
Corporate Plan 2022-25 (Appendix A) following consideration by the Council on 3 
March 2022 and prior to publication by 1 April 2022. 

 

76 CARDIFF COUNCIL BILINGUAL CARDIFF: 5-YEAR WELSH LANGUAGE 
STRATEGY 2022-27  

 
The Cabinet received the Bilingual Cardiff 5 Year Welsh Language Strategy which was a 
revision to the first Bilingual Cardiff Strategy launched in 2017. The strategy reflected 
Cymraeg 2050s three themes: Increasing the number of Welsh speakers, Increasing the Use 
of Welsh and Creating favorable conditions for the Welsh Language to thrive. The Strategy 
had been subject to staff and public consultations and received consideration by the Bilingual 
Cardiff Members Group, Cardiff Council’s Welsh Language Co-ordinator Network and the 
Trade Unions. 

RESOLVED: that 
 
1) the Bilingual Cardiff: 5-Year Welsh Language Strategy 2022-27  be noted and 

recommended to full Council for approval. 
 

2) the content of the Independent Review of the Bilingual Cardiff Strategy 2017-2022 be 
noted 

 

77 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PLANNING: CARDIFF WELSH IN EDUCATION 
STRATEGIC PLAN (WESP) 2022 - 2023  

 
The Cabinet received a report containing the responses received following consultation on 
the draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). The consultation ran for eight weeks 
between 15 October- 13 December  with 3,248 responses received. This included 584 online 
survey responses and 9 email responses.  2,656 Children and Young People contributed 
their views regarding the use of Welsh in education and informal learning opportunities in 
Cardiff through ‘The Big Welsh Conversation’. It was noted that whilst the strategic position 

Page 4



of the WESP and many of the commitments presented in the draft version were broadly 
supported with some attention given to aspects of the plan to provide a more clarity. 
 
RESOLVED: that  
 
(i) the WESP  2022-2031 be approved for submission to the Welsh Government 

Ministers. 
 

(ii) Approval be given to the publication of the WESP 2022-2031 on the Council’s website 
following approval by Welsh Government Ministers. 
 

(iii) responsibility be delegated to the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning for the 
development and implementation of operational plans together with Welsh Education 
Forum (WEF) partners to deliver the success measures set out in the strategy.  

 

78 EDUCATION SERVICES - PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021  
 
The Cabinet received a report outlining progress in Education Performance in Cardiff and 
containing the recent report produced by Estyn following their inspection of the Council’s 
Education Services. The Cardiff inspection of local authority education services for children 
and young people covered the statutory functions of the local authority, including the local 
authority youth service. The inspection concluded that in recent years, Cardiff has 
demonstrated a sustained and incremental improvement in the quality and effectiveness of 
its education service. Estyn has also invited Cardiff to prepare three case studies on its work 
in relation to the Cardiff Commitment, support for asylum seekers and transforming youth 
work for dissemination on Estyn’s website, recognising excellent practice. 
 
 
RESOLVED: that  
 
1. the progress made in delivering the Cardiff 2030 Vision for education and learning in 

the city be acknowledged  
 
2. the findings and recommendations of the Estyn report be accepted 
 
3. responsibility be delegated to the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning to enact 

the required improvements is services post inspection, and to facilitate monitoring of 
such through the Council’s performance management framework. 

 
4. the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning be supported to share best practice in 

the areas commended as requested by Estyn. 
 
5. the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning be supported to refresh the Cardiff 

2030 vision and produce a focused three-year strategy for educational improvement 
during 2022. 

 
6. the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning be supported to respond to the 

national reforms in Education and the Welsh Government changes to the 
Accountability & Assessment frameworks as these emerge. 

 

79 BUDGET MONITORING MONTH 9 REPORT 2021/22  
 
The Cabinet received details of the financial monitoring position for the Council projected to 
the end of December 2021 (month 9) adjusted for any significant movements since that date, 
compared with the budget approved on the 4th March 2021. It also included an assessment 
of the ongoing financial impact arising from the response to the COVID-19 crisis and the 
level of financial support provided by Welsh Government. It was reported that the overall 

Page 5



monitoring position, as at Month 9, reflected a total projected net annual Council overspend 
of £101,000. This included a total directorate net overspend of £2.701 million and a projected 
overspend of £400,000 in relation to Capital Financing, partially offset by the £3 million 
general contingency budget.  
 
 
RESOLVED: that 
 
1. the projected revenue financial outturn based on the projected position at Month 9 of 

the financial year be noted 
 
2. the capital spend and projected position at Month 9 of the financial year be noted 
 

80 BUDGET 2022-23  
 
Appendix 3 (c) is exempt from publication because it contains information of the kind 
described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of parts 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
The Cabinet considered the Budget report for 2022/23. It was reported that Cardiff would 
receive a 10.7% increase in Aggregate External Finance in 2022/23. Included within the 
settlement was funding for additional pressures such as support for the payment of the Real 
Living Wage in the care sector. The Cabinet’s budget proposal included growth in policy 
areas such as young people, community safety, cleaner streets, one planet Cardiff and city 
recovery and infrastructure. It was proposed that Council tax be increased by 1.9%. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
A) that having taken account of the comments of the Section 151 Officer in respect of the 
robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the reserves as required under Section 25 of 
the Local Government, Act and having considered the responses to the Budget Consultation  
 
1. the changes to fees and charges as set out in Appendix 3 (a) and 3 (c) to this report be 

approved.  
 
2. Authority be delegated to the appropriate Director in consultation with the appropriate 

Cabinet Member, the Section 151 Officer and the Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Modernisation & Performance, to amend or introduce new fees and charges during the 
year, subject if necessary (having regard to the proposed change), to an Equality 
Impact Assessment and public consultation being undertaken and the results thereof 
being duly considered before the delegated authority is exercised. 

 
3. the rents of all Housing Revenue Account dwellings (including hostels and garages) be 

increased by 3.1% having taking into account WG guidance. 
 
4. all service charges and the management fee for leaseholders as set out in Appendix 3 

(b) be approved 
 
5. all Housing Revenue Account rent increases take effect from 4th April 2022. 
 
6. the financial challenges facing the Council as set out in the Medium Term Financial 

Plan be recognised, and the opportunities for savings over the medium term be noted 
 
7. in the event that final settlement differs from Provisional Settlement (as set out in 

paragraph 24 of the report), there will be a proportionate adjustment to or from 
earmarked reserves, and that the Section 151 Officer be authorised to prepare an 
addendum to the 2022/23 Budget to reflect the requisite changes. 

Page 6



 
B) having taken account of the comments of the Section 151 Officer in respect of the 
robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the reserves as required under Section 25 of 
the Local Government Act 2003, and having considered the responses to the Budget 
Consultation recommend that Council: 
 
1.0 Approve the Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account budgets including all 

proposals and increasing the Council Tax by 1.9% as set out in this report and that 
the Council resolve the following terms. 
 

 2.0 Note that at its meeting on 16 December 2021 Cabinet calculated the following 
amounts for the year 2022/23 in accordance with the regulations made under Section 
33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:- 

 
a) 149,107 being the amount calculated in accordance with Regulation 3 of the Local 

Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as 
amended, as its Council Tax base for the year. 

 
b) Lisvane 2,697 
 Pentyrch 3,517 
 Radyr 3,983 
 St. Fagans 1,854 
 Old St. Mellons 2,321 
 Tongwynlais    822 

 
being the amounts calculated in accordance with Regulation 6 of the Regulations as 
the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for dwellings in those parts of its 
area to which special items relate. 

 
2.1 Agree that the following amounts be now calculated by the County Council of the City 

and County of Cardiff for the year 2022/23 in accordance with Sections 32 to 36 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992:- 

 
a) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out in 

Section 32(2)(a) to (d) (including Community Council precepts totalling 
£495,086).              £1,169,190,086 
 

b) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for items set out in Section 
32(3)(a) and (c). 

  £425,360,000 
 

c) Amount by which the aggregate at 2.1(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 2.1(b) 
above calculated in accordance with Section 32(4) as the budget requirement 
for the year.              £743,830,086 

 
d) Aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable for the year 

into its Council Fund in respect of Revenue Support Grant, its council tax 
reduction scheme, redistributed Non-Domestic Rates. 

£544,715,091 
 

e) The amount at 2.1(c) above less the amount at 2.1(d) (net of the amount for 
discretionary relief of £400,000), all divided by the amount at 2.0(a) above, 
calculated in accordance with Section 33(1) as the basic amount of Council Tax 
for the year.  

£1,338.07 
 

f) Aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1).  

Page 7



£495,086 
 
g) Amount at 2.1(e) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 2.1(f) 

above by the amount at 2.0(a) above, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the 
Act, as the basic amount of Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts 
of the area to which no special items relate.  

£1,334.75 
 
h) The amounts given by adding to the amount at 2.1(g) above the amounts of 

special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area mentioned 
below, divided in each case by the amount at 2.0(b) above, calculated in 
accordance with Section 34(3) as the basic amounts of Council Tax for the year 
for dwellings in those parts of the area to which special items relate. 

 
 

 £ 

Lisvane 1,357.37 
Pentyrch 1,387.35 
Radyr 1,367.62 
St. Fagans 1,357.40 
Old St. Mellons 1,357.01 
Tongwynlais 1,364.56 

 
i) The amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 2.1(g) and 2.1(h) above by the 

number which in the proportion set out in the Council Tax (Valuation Bands) 
(Wales) Order 2003 is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation 
band divided by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings 
listed in valuation band D calculated in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act 
as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of 
dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

 

 
2.2 Note that for the year 2022/23, the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales 

has stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance 

 A B C D E F G H I 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Area          

Lisvane 904.91 
1,055.7

3 
1,206.5

5 
1,357.3

7 
1,659.0

1 
1,960.6

4 
2,262.2

8 
2,714.7

4 
3,167.20 

Pentyrch 924.90 
1,079.0

5 
1,233.2

0 
1,387.3

5 
1,695.6

5 
2,003.9

5 
2,312.2

5 
2,774.7

0 
3,237.15 

Radyr 911.74 
1,063.7

1 
1,215.6

6 
1,367.6

2 
1,671.5

3 
1,975.4

5 
2,279.3

6 
2,735.2

4 
3,191.12 

St. Fagans 904.93 
1,055.7

6 
1,206.5

7 
1,357.4

0 
1,659.0

4 
1,960.6

9 
2,262.3

3 
2,714.8

0 
3,167.27 

Old St. 

Mellons 
904.67 

1,055.4
5 

1,206.2
3 

1,357.0
1 

1,658.5
7 

1,960.1
2 

2,261.6
8 

2,714.0
2 

3,166.36 

Tongwynlais 909.70 
1,061.3

3 
1,212.9

4 
1,364.5

6 
1,667.7

9 
1,971.0

3 
2,274.2

6 
2,729.1

2 
3,183.98 

All other parts 

of the 

Council’s Area 

889.83 
1,038.1

4 
1,186.4

4 
1,334.7

5 
1,631.3

6 
1,927.9

7 
2,224.5

8 
2,669.5

0 
3,114.42 

Page 8



with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for each of the 
categories of dwelling shown below:- 
 
VALUATION BANDS 

 A B C D E F G H I 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

 201.41 234.97 268.54 302.11 369.25 436.38 503.52 604.22 704.92 

 
2.3 Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 2.1(i) and 2.2 above, 

the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff in accordance with Section 30(2) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 hereby sets the following amounts as the 
amounts of Council Tax for the year 2022/23 for each of the categories of dwellings 
shown below:- 
 
Part of Council's Area 
VALUATION BANDS 
 
 

 A B C D E F G H I 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Area          

Lisvane 1,106.32 1,290.70 1,475.10 1,659.48 2,028.26 2,397.02 2,765.80 3,318.96 3,872.12 

Pentyrch 1,126.31 1,314.02 1,501.75 1,689.46 2,064.90 2,440.33 2,815.77 3,378.92 3,942.07 

Radyr 1,113.15 1,298.68 1,484.21 1,669.73 2,040.78 2,411.83 2,782.88 3,339.46 3,896.04 

St. 

Fagans 1,106.34 1,290.73 1,475.12 1,659.51 2,028.29 2,397.07 2,765.85 3,319.02 3,872.19 

Old St. 

Mellons 1,106.08 1,290.42 1,474.78 1,659.12 2,027.82 2,396.50 2,765.20 3,318.24 3,871.28 

Tongwynl

ais 1,111.11 1,296.30 1,481.49 1,666.67 2,037.04 2,407.41 2,777.78 3,333.34 3,888.90 

All other 

parts of 

the 

Council’s 

Area 1,091.24 1,273.11 1,454.99 1,636.86 2,000.61 2,364.35 2,728.10 3,273.72 3,819.34 
 

2.4 Authorise the Corporate Director Resources to make payments under Section 38 of the 
Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 from the Council Fund by equal instalments on 
the last working day of each month from April 2022 to March 2023 in respect of the 
precept levied by the Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales in the sum of 
£45,046,716. 

 
2.5 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to the said Council Tax. 
 
2.6 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to precepts for Port Health Expenses for the 

period 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 namely 
 

     £ 

County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 117,749 

Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council 13,125 

 
 

Page 9



2.7 Agree that notices of the making of the said Council Taxes signed by the Chief 
Executive be given by advertisement in the local press under Section 38(2) of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

 
3.0 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2003, the Local Authority (Capital 

Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 and subsequent amendments 
and the CIPFA Prudential Code and Treasury Management Codes of Practice: 

 
(a) Approve the Capital Strategy 2022/23. 

 
(b) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23 and authorise the Section 

151 Officer to raise such funds as may be required to finance capital expenditure 
by temporary or long-term borrowing.  

 
(c) Approve the Prudential Indicators for 2022/23 – 2026/27 including the affordable 

borrowing limit. 
 
(d) Delegate to the Section 151 Officer the ability to effect movement between the 

limits for borrowing and long-term liabilities, within the limit for any year, and to 
bring forward or delay schemes in the Capital Programme. 

 
(e) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2022/23. 

 
4.0 To approve the Budgetary Framework outlined in this report. 

 
5.0 To maintain the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme as set out in this report. 
 
 

81 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT AND DATA STRATEGY  
 
The Cabinet received a report outlining  a series of enhancements to the existing Planning 
and Performance Framework together with a new Data Strategy for the Council. The 
Planning and Performance Framework sets out the Council’s priorities whilst the Data 
Strategy ensured that an increasing valuable resource for the Council effectively supports 
service improvement. 
 
RESOLVED: that  
 
1) Approval be given to a strengthened Planning and Performance Framework, which 

responds to the new performance requirements set out in the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021; and 

 
2) The new Data Strategy be approved 
 
 

Page 10



REPORT OF

MARCH 2022

CARDIFF 
RACE EQUALITY 
TASKFORCE

Page 11

Agenda Item 2



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

02 03

FOREWORD
A Statement from Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce Chair 

Chairing Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce offered 
me an incredible opportunity to serve my city, 
community and all Cardiff residents.  As a lifelong 
resident of Cardiff and a serving Councillor for 
Butetown, home to one of the United Kingdom’s 
longest standing Black communities, this journey 
has been one of great personal significance.

Over the course of the Taskforce programme, I 
have been inspired by the aspirations and vision of 
Cardiff residents, from all walks of life, in delivering 
action on race inequality in our city.

Creating the Taskforce was Cardiff Council’s 
pledge to use our convening power as a local 
authority to shape change in our capital city, 
contributing to a fairer and more equal society for 
our Black and ethnic minority communities, both 
longstanding and new. 

The brutal killing of George Floyd in the USA 
rightfully surfaced feelings of enormous anger and 
sadness about the ongoing scale of global racial 
injustice that confronts our society today. This 
was a call to action for us all to do more and our 
city was unafraid to be at the forefront of change 
and the collective fight for racial justice. The 
disproportionate impact of COVID 19 on Black, 
Asian and other ethnic minority communities, 
visible both locally and nationally, further 
underscored the longstanding challenge that we 
must address - making Cardiff, Wales and the UK 
more equal places for all of their citizens.

The proposals outlined in this report have 
been developed collaboratively. I am grateful 
for the efforts of many local people and 
organisations across Cardiff in co-producing the 
recommendations outlined throughout this report 
and helping the Taskforce to find meaningful 
opportunities for change in our city. 

Throughout the Taskforce programme, we 
have reached out to engage local people 
and community institutions to ensure that the 
proposals we developed accurately reflected 
the experiences and priorities of Cardiff’s ethnic 
minority communities and have worked hard to 

incorporate what communities, and the academic 
evidence on ethnic inequality, have told us. 

I would like to thank all staff, partners and residents 
for taking part in this programme and in particular 
recognise the leadership of our Taskforce 
members for acting as critical friends during this 
process, by providing vision, challenge and insight 
throughout. Collectively, we have approached this 
important mission with intent and optimism for a 
better future. This has led to a strategic approach 
that is built on collaboration, understanding and 
mutual trust. This report is a body of work our city 
can take pride in.

We intend this to be a practical plan, outlining 
specific actions to be taken across all the key policy 
areas which emerged as our priorities, selected for 
their potential for change and their significance in 
shaping the experiences of and opportunities for 
Black and ethnic minority Cardiffians.

Our work on race equality acts as a blueprint for 
Cardiff’s future work on equality, diversity and 
inclusion more broadly, which aims to create a 
workforce that not only invites diverse talent, 
but also actively builds a workforce that truly 
represents the community it serves through the 
people that we recruit and nurture. 

I hope and expect that many of our 
recommendations will benefit White working 
class communities in our city too, as many 
require actions which also contribute to reducing 
socioeconomic inequality in a general sense.

It is important to recognise that there are limits 
what local efforts to transform ethnic minority 
representation and opportunities can achieve. We 
hope that the visionary local approach outlined 
in this report will be reinforced nationally, for 
example through national targets, robust equalities 
legislation including the current protections of the 
Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act 1998, 
and that the UK and Welsh Governments will join 
us in efforts to set a positive example through 
promoting greater diversity in Whitehall and the 
Welsh Civil Service. To support local action, we 

also emphasise the need for appropriate funding 
arrangements for local government which support 
the delivery of local action on race equality. For this 
reason, the Taskforce welcomed the publication 
of the Welsh Government’s Race Equality Action 
Plan for consultation, and the strong collaboration 
with ethnic minority residents of Wales that has 
informed its production so far. 

Our ambitious approach in developing our 
Taskforce and this report has put us at the forefront 
of race equality in local government in not only 
Wales, but the whole of the UK. I am deeply proud 
to have been part of this journey of change as 
Chair of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce, but 
I am intensely aware that achieving real change 
requires race equality to be ‘everyone’s business’ 
and for anti-racist action to be incorporated into 
the design and everyday life of our city. 

For this reason, we should all take heart in the 
shared ownership and commitment to deliver 
on the areas of action identified in this report, 
and the breadth of partnership activity already 
underway which demonstrates a clear vision and 
commitment to creating a more equal capital city 
across our public services, voluntary sector and 
within our communities. 

This may be the conclusion of our city Taskforce’s 
work, but I am confident that this is only the 
beginning of our city’s efforts to end long-standing 
racial injustices for good.

Cllr Saeed Ebrahim
Ward Member for Butetown 
Chair of Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce 
2020-2022

© Wales Online (Image: Rob Browne)

P
age 12



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

04 05

CONTENTS
Introduction

About the Race Equality Taskforce

Data on Equality and Ethnic Diversity

Our Taskforce priorities

Theme 1: Employment & Representative Workforce

Theme 2: Education and Young People

Theme 3: Citizens Voice

Theme 4: Health

Theme 5: Criminal Justice

Annex 1: Standard ethnic classifications used in the UK

INTRODUCTION 

The context for the establishment of the city’s Race 
Equality Taskforce had been well documented in 
several recent studies, reviews and inquiries, which 
revealed the extent of racial inequality in the UK, 
including:

• The Race Disparity Audit, published in 2017, 
showed inequalities between ethnicities in 
educational attainment, health, employment and 
within the criminal justice system.

• The McGregor-Smith Review of race in the 
workplace, published in 2017, found people 
from Black and Minority Ethnic backgrounds 
were still disadvantaged at work and faced lower 
employment rates than their White counterparts.

• The Lammy Review, also published in 2017, 
found evidence of bias and discrimination against 
people from Ethnic Minority backgrounds in the 
justice system in England and Wales. 

• The Windrush Lessons Learned Review, 
published in March 2020, found the Home 
Office showed, “institutional ignorance and 
thoughtlessness towards the issue of race.”

Whilst the issue of racial injustice is therefore a UK-
wide one, the creation of our Taskforce recognised 
the important influencing role of local leadership in 
demonstrating the possibility for change. 

We committed to testing new approaches to 
improve outcomes for ethnic minority citizens 
using local transformation levers and identifying 
solutions with local ethnic minority residents, as 
experts through their personal lived experience. 

In the data section of this report, we describe 
some of the most insightful data on race inequality 
in our city in more depth. Cardiff’s data story on 
ethnic inequality is by no means unique or unusual 
in the UK context but demonstrates both complex 
and alarming realities. 

Achieving change requires openness and 
transparency in describing the reality of racial 
inequality through institutional and system data 
and throughout the Taskforce’s programme, we 
have sought to utilise the available data to bolster 
our understanding of both the issues and the 
solutions.

The tragic death of George Floyd in the USA saw protests take place across the world, including in 
Cardiff, as part of the Black Lives Matter movement. This led to a reflection, both on how the history 
of Black communities in the UK is treated, and on the ongoing challenges that ethnic minority people 
continue to face in today’s society.

Over the past eighteen months, Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce has been tasked with identifying 
practical opportunities for change to improve race equality in our city, finding new ways that we could 
deploy local levers to improve outcomes for Ethnic Minority residents. 

This report outlines the work completed by Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce between July 2020- 
March 2022. 

This work has been facilitated with the support of staff from Cardiff Council, and with the collective 
support and contributions of city public and voluntary sector partners, including Cardiff & Vale 
University Health Board, South Wales Police and many others. 

Why was Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce created?

05

07

14

20

22

40

50

62

70

84

© Wales Online (Image: Matthew Horwood)

P
age 13



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

06 07

Through a report to Cardiff Council’s Cabinet, 
it was agreed that a Race Equality Taskforce 
for Cardiff would be established to work to the 
following objectives: 

• Work with Cardiff’s communities and 
organisations to improve and prioritise race 
equality to achieve an inclusive, cohesive, 
thriving and representative city;

• Guide Cardiff’s policy and strategy developers to 
make sure race equality is included in all of their 
work;

• Use the Council’s convening power to advance 
race equality in the public, private and voluntary 
sector, working closely, where required, with the 
Cardiff Public Services Board; 

• Coordinate actions and recommendations to 
advance race equality, focusing on priority work-
streams, identified in consultation with the city’s 
ethnic minority residents;

• Report our progress on race equality and the 
general impact of inequality and discrimination 
on the ethnic minority communities of Cardiff.

The Taskforce’s mandate and objectives

As our starting point, Cardiff Council had already 
taken several positive steps to support race 
equality as a major employer and public institution 
in the city, including:

• Appointing an Executive Sponsor for race – this is 
the Chief Executive 

• Signing the Business in the Community Race at 
Work Charter as a clear commitment towards 
race equality 

• Examining and publishing workforce 
and ethnicity pay gap data to strengthen 
understanding of the existing workforce 
and inform the approach to recruitment and 
progression for ethnic minority staff

• Implementing a new approach to recruitment 
which seeks to minimise unconscious bias in the 
shortlisting process by removing personal details 
such as name and address

• Refreshing and relaunching the equality training 
offer, available to all staff, and the organisational 
training programme for Equality Impact 
Assessments

• Published a new Strategic Equality Plan for 
2020-2024 which clearly articulates the role of 
key council services in addressing all forms of 
inequality in the city, with specific consideration 
given to areas such as ethnic inequality in the 
local labour and housing markets. 

Our starting point

ABOUT CARDIFF’S RACE 
EQUALITY TASKFORCE 
To ensure that our work was informed and shaped by local ethnic minority residents, the development of 
the Race Equality Taskforce’s programme of proposals had been a highly participative process.

We invited local residents to join our city’s Race Equality Taskforce through an open and accessible 
public appointment process. This attracted 60 applications and through this process, 14 members were 
appointed from diverse professional backgrounds, varied minority ethnicities, ages, genders and walks 
of life. Achieving a broad representation of experiences and expertise was clearly important to achieving 
a quality and comprehensive range of local proposals in the Taskforce programme.

Applications for membership of the Taskforce were assessed against the following person specification:

Knowledge
• Knowledge of and commitment to race equality
• Knowledge of key social and economic policy issues affecting Black and Asian Minority Ethnic 

communities in Cardiff and Wales

Experience
• Proven experience of working in partnership to deliver on shared goals

Skills
• An ability to foster strong relationships, engage others and communicate effectively.

Members were also selected to achieve an optimum balance of representation across the following sectors:

• Children and Young People 
• Voluntary Sector and Community 

Organisations
• Public Services 
• Major Employers and Small-to-

Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs)
• Culture and the arts 
• Education including Further and 

Higher Education
• Sport 
• Trade Unions

APPENDIX B TO THIS REPORT PROVIDES A BIOGRAPHY FOR ALL TASKFORCE 
MEMBERS, EXPLAINING THEIR PROFESSIONAL AND PERSONAL EXPERIENCE 
RELEVANT TO THE TASKFORCE’S PROGRAMME, INCLUDING THE CHAIR, 
CLLR SAEED EBRAHIM.

P
age 14



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

08 09

Against these criteria, the following membership was appointed.

• Asmut Price- Chair of Cardiff Council’s Black and 
Asian Minority Ethnic Network 

• Emma Wools –Deputy Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for South Wales 

• Keithley Wilkinson- Equality Manager, Cardiff 
& Vale University Health Board (December 
2020-December  2021 due to moving to a new 
role)

• Catherine Floyd/ Locum Consultant in Public 
Health, Public Health Wales (December 
2020-September 2021) / Sian Griffiths – 
Consultant in Public Health Medicine (December 
2021- March 2022) 

• Marcus Walters- Director, Burges Salmon 
• Anita Naoko Pilgrim- University Lecturer in Race, 

Gender and History, Open University 

• Najma Hashi- Change Maker Support, Office of 
the Future Generations Commissioner 

• Salah Mohamed- Former Chief Executive of the 
Welsh Refugee Council  

• Yaina Samuels- Founder of NuHi Training Social 
Enterprise  

• Daniel Mapatac- Final year student at Cardiff 
University  

• Eshaan Rajesh- Sixth Form Student at Fitzalan High 
School and Representative of Cardiff Youth Council 

• Yusef Jama- Cardiff-based Taxi Driver and Unite 
Cardiff Branch Secretary for the Taxi Trade 

• Cllr Daniel De’Ath- Current Councillor for 
Plasnewydd and former Lord Mayor of Cardiff 
(2018-2020) 

• Hilary Brown- Chair of Butetown Community 
Centre  

Identifying our Taskforce Priorities

A rapid and focused consultation was undertaken 
in August 2020 to seek ethnic minority residents’ 
views on the priorities for the Taskforce. This was 
to inform the establishment of the Taskforce’s 
work-streams, each of which would coordinate 
strategic evidence, practice and policy reviews 
and produce proposals for action.

Here we provide a summary of the consultation 
findings. 

A total of 869 responses were included in 
analysis, of which 40% were from Ethnic Minority 
backgrounds.

The following areas were proposed as the 
following initial areas of focus for the Taskforce’s 
consideration. We sought views on these five 
proposed areas as they were identified as areas 
in which a programme of action could have 
a positive impact on the outcomes of Ethnic 
Minority residents and communities in Cardiff in 
both the short and longer term. 

APPENDIX C OF THIS REPORT PROVIDES THE FULL FINDINGS OF THIS 
CONSULTATION IN DEPTH.

They are also areas where both local and national evidence tells us that there is a long way to go to achieve 
race equality at a UK level.

Proposed areas of focus

What more can be done to ensure that the 
Council’s membership and workforce represents 
the full diversity of the city it serves;

The experiences of ethnic minority children and 
young people in education, in alignment with 
the Welsh Government’s recently announced 
working group focusing on this area;

Supporting ethnic minority communities to 
access employment opportunities;

Diversity in the public realm, working closely 
with the Taskforce recently established by the 
Welsh Government to audit statues, street and 
building names to address Wales’ connections 
with the slave trade;

Supporting the civic and democratic 
involvement of ethnic minority communities 
through voter registration and participation in 
the Census 2021

Summary of responses

74.9% of respondents supported this priority, 
91% of respondents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds supported this priority.

79.1% of respondents supported this priority, 
88.4% of respondents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds supported this priority

75.1% of respondents supported this priority, 
93% of respondents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds supported this priority.

59.4% of respondents supported this priority, 
78.7% of respondents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds supported this priority

84% of respondents supported this priority, 
91.5% of respondents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds supported this priority

We also asked respondents to prioritise these areas of focus, and the results are summarised below: 

LEAST 
IMPORTANT

MOST 
IMPORTANT 1. Learning and Growing Up in Cardiff

2. A Fairer Economy 
3. Diversity in the Public Sector
4. Citizen’s Voice
5. Diversity in the Public Realm
6. ‘Something Else’

P
age 15



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

10 11

Establishing the Taskforce 

The inaugural convening of the Race Equality 
Taskforce took place on 1st December 2020 and 
the appointed Chair and membership confirmed 
their priority areas of work. The selection of 
these priorities was informed by comprehensive 
analysis of the available ethnic inequality data and 
the views of city residents, as captured by the 
Taskforce’s consultation.

The Taskforce confirmed the following three 
priority themes to be led and developed by 
Cardiff Council. Whilst Cardiff Council hold an 
important convening role across these themes 
of work, the Taskforce recognised that they also 
required broad partnership focus that reached 
beyond the Council itself and into other parts of 
the public, private and voluntary sector. As such, 
the sub-groups developing the work programme 
were multi-agency and benefited from broader 
expertise from the city and beyond.

A) Employment and Representative Workforce:
B) Education and Young People
C) Citizen’s Voice 

Responding to residents’ views within the 
consultation that further areas of Taskforce focus 
should include Health and Criminal Justice, the 
Taskforce sought further collaboration with the 
Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, South 
Wales Police and Cardiff Community Safety 
Partnership to create and progress a programme 
of work against these two additional themes.

These public sector bodies and partnerships 
offered their support to the objectives of the 
Taskforce Programme and two further thematic 
sub-groups were created:

D) Health
E) Criminal Justice

The role of the sub-groups 

Each sub-group was tasked with coordinating 
strategic evidence, practice and policy reviews 
in order to produce a proposal of short, medium 
and long-term recommendations for consideration 
by the Taskforce and, where approved by the 
Taskforce membership, these proposals would be 
progressed to the appropriate decision-making 
board as recommended city-led activity. 

The membership of all work streams included 
representation from Taskforce members with 
expertise in the relevant field, Council officers 
and other stakeholders from across the public, 
private and voluntary sector as appropriate 
for each theme. This approach enabled the 
Taskforce to benefit from the expertise of credible 
practitioners who offered advice and supported 
the identification of substantive and evidence-
based recommendations to improve race equality 
in Cardiff within each stream, and the authentic 
voice of ethnic minority residents through 
representation in all sub-groups.
During the 18-month Taskforce programme, each 
sub-group produced comprehensive proposals 
for change. 

Their proposals were presented at quarterly 
meetings of the Race Equality Taskforce and 
following discussion, where adopted, they were 
progressed to the relevant decision-making board 
as recommendations.

City-led ideas for change: Our process

Sub-group 
development

Taskforce members 
engage with local 

experts and community 
members to: 

Review existing data 
and service information

 
Develop new ideas with 

the support of local 
public sector staff

New ideas: Race 
Equality Taskforce

Every quarter, the Race 
Equality Taskforce met 

to discuss the proposals 
of the five sub-groups.

Those which it endorsed 
were communicated 
to Cardiff Council’s 
Cabinet and other 

decision-making boards 
in the city.

Implementation

Where possible, the 
recommendations of 

the Taskforce have 
been actioned and 

progressed during the 
course of the Taskforce 

Programme.

This has provided the 
Taskforce with the 

opportunity to monitor 
and advise on local 

delivery.

Future 
commitments

Many of the 
recommendations made in 
this report require longer-

term action. 

Some recommendations 
will require significant 

programmes of work which 
will take time to mobilise and 

then implement. 

These areas are noted 
throughout the report and will 

require future commitments 
from local partners.

Progression of Taskforce proposals into decision-making 
boards for the city

The governance for the Race Equality Taskforce’s recommendations is explained in the graphic below

Cardiff Council Cabinet Community Safety  
Partnership 

Leadership Board

Cardiff & Vale 
University Health 

Board

Employment and 
Representative 

Workforce 

Education and Young 
People’s Experience 

of Service

Citizen’s 
Voice

Criminal 
Justice Health

Race Equality Taskforce

Sub-Groups

A comprehensive Terms of Reference was developed to support the Taskforce membership in delivering 
their role and confirm the destination of its recommendations to Cabinet, the Community Safety Partnership 
and Cardiff & Vale University Health Board’s Welsh Language and Equality Board. Terms of Reference were 
also produced to support each sub-group. These are available as Appendix D to this report. 

P
age 16



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

12 13

What about the Diversity in the Public Realm theme & Sir 
Thomas Picton Statue at City Hall?

A feature of the Black Lives Matter movement is its 
call to reassess how individuals in British history with 
involvement in slavery and the British Empire were 
commemorated.  

In Cardiff, this focused on the statue of Sir Thomas 
Picton in the Marble Hall at Cardiff’s City Hall, 
whose military career and death at the Battle of 
Waterloo drove his original inclusion in the ‘Heroes 
of Wales’ collection. Amongst growing awareness 
and understanding of the brutal nature of his 
Governorship of Trinidad and his involvement in 
slavery, many city residents added their names to 
a call to  move the statue to a more appropriate 
location.

A democratic mandate was sought for the proposed 
removal of this historic monument through a debate 
and decision by Full Council, which enabled the 
Council to consider the practicalities of safely 
removing the statue and managing any associated 
implications to the listed status of the Marble Hall. 
In both the Taskforce’s public consultation and 
across the Taskforce’s membership, there was a 
clear view that the Taskforce’s programme of work 
should focus on areas of policy change which have 
the greatest potential to reshape disadvantaged 
outcomes for ethnic minority groups in the 
immediate and longer term.

Recognising that a decision had been taken by 
elected members to coordinate the removal of the 
Sir Thomas Picton Statue from City Hall, that the 
Council had committed to a process to achieve 
this and that a national audit was underway; ‘The 
Slave Trade and the British Empire: an audit of 
commemoration in Wales’ led by Gaynor Legall, the 
Taskforce chose to focus their local work on other 
policy areas and did not adopt the Diversity in the 
Public Realm Theme for their programme. 

This does not affect the status or progression 
of the commitment to remove the Sir Thomas 
Picton statue, which has been sustained through 
the relevant planning procedures. Information 
regarding this continues to be published on the 
Council’s planning portal and where appropriate, 
further communications will be shared regarding 
this issue, where significant milestones have been 
reached. 

P
age 17



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

14 15

The data paints a complex picture across the city, and it is accepted that the drivers of these inequalities 
are multifaceted and not all levers are within the control of the Council or local public services, but 
the data provides a starting point for analysis and policy development and its use must be a central 
component of future action on racial injustice at a city, national and UK level. 

The Census is a survey conducted by Office for National Statistics. It takes place once 
every 10 years, with the first official census taking place in 1801. 

The Census is useful as it provides very comprehensive and detailed population data, 
and that is why we often refer to Census 2011 data throughout this report- as it is the 
most recently available data which provides insight into the experiences and lives of 
ethnic minority residents in our city. 

The Census is important because the detailed information it collects regarding the 
population will be used by the UK and Welsh Governments, Councils and all public 
services for the next decade in their service planning and resource allocations. These 
are decisions which affect everyone’s lives, from determining housebuilding targets, 
agreeing school organisation and broader city planning issues.

During the Taskforce programme, we supported efforts to increase visibility and 
awareness around the Census 2021 and completion of this important survey by 
ethnic minority residents. This work was supported by a local team of ONS staff who 
conducted outreach to engage the city’s Indian, Black African, Chinese and EU Roma 
communities to ensure they were accurately represented in the city’s Census data. 

When the 2021 Census data is published, we encourage local public services to reflect 
on what this data illustrates for our city’s ethnic minority communities and that relevant 
analysis and key findings are made visible to all relevant staff and partner agencies. 

Spotlight on: Census 2021 

DATA ON EQUALITY AND ETHNIC 
DIVERSITY IN CARDIFF
In this chapter, we provide an overview of some relevant evidence on ethnic diversity and race equality 
in Cardiff. The evidence presented below draws upon and layers a range of sources, from the Census 
and School Census, Annual Population Survey, data from the UK Government’s Ethnicity Facts and 
Figures portal and the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation.

FURTHER DATA ON EACH OF THE TASKFORCE’S THEMATIC PRIORITIES 
IS ALSO PROVIDED BY CHAPTER LATER IN THIS REPORT E.G. COUNCIL 
WORKFORCE DATA CAN BE FOUND IN THE EMPLOYMENT AND 
REPRESENTATIVE WORKFORCE CHAPTER.

Cardiff’s race equality data story: Insights and limitations

It is widely accepted that the quality of ethnicity 
data held by public services needs to improve, 
this is true not just for public services who have 
engaged in Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce, 
but across a wide range of public services at 
a UK level. As such, future data collection and 
use in service design has emerged as a priority 
area for each of the Taskforce’s sub-groups, as a 
recommendation for public bodies in the city and 
beyond. 

There are currently limitations in the available data 
at both a UK, Wales and local level from which to 
fully understand the issues and connectors, and 
from which the Taskforce would have hoped to 
measure the future impact of their recommended 
policy changes and new approaches. For this 
reason, in future service delivery the Taskforce 
encourages robust data collection on ethnicity 
and for future service evaluations to be cognisant 
of ethnicity data to support an improved body 
of evidence on ‘what works’ in addressing racial 
inequality and enabling the sharing of this learning 
more broadly. 

It is important to recognise that the data 
presented here can never be fully comprehensive 
and our Taskforce were cautious to avoid making 
too broad generalisations from the available data. 
At the individual level, experiences will not always 
conform to the trends outlined in the high-level 

data presented here and some ethnic minority 
groups are, for example, well-represented in some 
professional occupations and outperform their 
White peers in terms of academic attainment. 

Whilst there are some clear trends in the 
data presented, ethnic minority groups are 
not homogenous, and the Taskforce and 
its sub-groups were mindful to adopt a 
nuanced approach when considering their 
recommended local interventions on ethnic 
inequality, underrepresentation and factors of 
disproportionality. 

Despite the current data limitations, like any 
other policy area, adopting an evidence-led 
approach enabled the Race Equality Taskforce 
to consider how their recommendations could 
be measured for impact and evaluated to inform 
future policy approaches. Notwithstanding the 
current limitations in the availability of relevant 
data, the Taskforce sought to use the data which is 
available to shape their proposals. 

Together, the data sources referenced in this 
report still provide a rich picture of race equality 
in the city and detail some clear disproportionality 
in terms of deprivation and lack of opportunity 
experienced by some ethnic minority communities 
in Cardiff.   

P
age 18



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

16 17

DATA ON ETHNIC DIVERSITY 
AND INEQUALITY

Using statistics from the Annual Population Survey, it is estimated that, for the year ending 31 June 2021, 
76,700 of Cardiff’s residents were from ethnic minority groups: 15.6% of the total population. 

In comparison, 153,500 individuals are from ethnic minority groups in Wales as a whole: 4.9% of the 
total population. This suggests that half of Wales’ ethnic minority citizens, live in the capital.

Cardiff Population 
by Ethnicity

White Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic

16%

84%

Wales Population 
by Ethnicity

White Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic

95%

5%

Cardiff School
Population by Ethnicity

White Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic

65%

35%

Wales School
Population by Ethnicity

White Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic

88%

12%

Data from the Pupil Level Annual School Census for 2020/21 indicates that 15,520 pupils in Cardiff aged 
5 or over are from ethnic minority groups: 35.2% of the total school population, compared with 12.1% 
for Wales as a whole. 

SOURCE: Pupil Level Annual School Census 2020/21, 
www.statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census

SOURCE: Stats Wales, Ethnicity by Area and Ethnic Group,  Year ending 30 June 2021 www.statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/
Equality-and-Diversity/Ethnicity/ethnicity-by-area-ethnicgroup

Overall population: ethnicity data

School population: ethnicity data

Cardiff’s Population: Data on ethnic groups

The most reliable data on the population size of each ethnic group at the time of this report’s publication 
comes from the 2011 Census, which is currently out of date. This data does however provide some 
insight into the city’s ethnicity profile and is included here to provide insight into the comparative sizes 
of different ethnic groups in the city and the diversity encapsulated by the term ‘ethnic minority’ which 
we have used throughout this report.

Population by Country of Birth & Nationality: A 
comparison of Cardiff, Wales & the UK

Population by Country of Birth:

UK

Wales

Cardiff

66,329,000

3,120,000

373,000

56,689,000

2,932,000

322,000

85.5

94.0

86.3

9,614,000

188,000

51,000

14.5

6.0

13.7

Population 
Estimate Estimate % %Estimate

UK Born Non-UK 

Population by Nationality:

UK

Wales

Cardiff

66,329,000

3,120,000

373,000

60,287,000

2,994,000

336,000

90.9

96.0

90.1

6,013,000

126,000

37,000

9.1

4.0

9.9

Population 
Estimate Estimate % %Estimate

British Non-BritishBorn

Source: Population Estimates by Country of Birth (UK/Non-UK) for the period July 2020- June 2021, Office of National Statistics

85%
8%

15%

2% 1%

2%

1%
1%

White Asian
Black

Arab
Mixed White and 
Black African/Caribbean

Ethnic Minority 
Mixed- Other
Other ethnic groups

P
age 19



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

18 19

Ethnicity & Gender: A summary of key UK statistics on 
socioeconomic status

• In every ethnic group, a higher percentage of 
men than women were in ‘higher managerial and 
professional occupations’ (the highest socio-
economic group); the biggest difference was in 
the Indian group, where 27% of men and 13% of 
women were in such occupations

• In nearly every ethnic group, a higher percentage 
of women than men were in the ‘never worked or 
long-term unemployed’ socio-economic group; 
the biggest difference was in the Pakistani and 
Bangladeshi ethnic groups, where women were 
nearly twice as likely as men to be in that socio-
economic group

• 60% of women and 40% of men from the Arab 
ethnic group, and 51% from the Bangladeshi 
group, were classed as ‘never worked or long 
term unemployed’, the highest percentages for 
women out of all ethnic groups

• Men from the Pakistani ethnic group were most 
likely to be ‘small employers and own account 
workers’ (at 19%), and Mixed White and Black 
Caribbean men were least likely to be (at 5%)

SOURCE: UK Government, Ethnicity Facts and Figures 
Portal, Work, Pay & Benefits, https://www.ethnicity-facts-
figures.service.gov.uk/work-pay-and-benefits 

Overall inequality: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation data

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is 
the Welsh Government’s official measure of relative 
deprivation for small areas in Wales. It identifies 
areas with the highest concentrations of several 
different types of deprivation. WIMD ranks all small 
areas in Wales from 1 (most deprived) to 1,909 
(least deprived).

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation paints 
a complex picture for the city. However, in terms 
of overall deprivation, 34.8% of Cardiff’s Black/
African/Caribbean/Black British population reside 
in the top 10% most deprived areas of the city, this 
is twice the rate of the White ethnic group. 

2019 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation: Cardiff - Overall Ranks

Percentage of Total Population that Belongs to a BAME Ethnic Group by LSOA, 2011 Census

P
age 20



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

20 21

Race Equality Taskforce: Priorities for change 

In the following chapters of this report, we provide a summary of evidence regarding ethnicity 
within each theme, an outline of Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce’s general reflections for 
future local work within the thematic area and specific itemised recommendations developed 
by the Taskforce to support future action-planning and delivery.

Employment and 
Representative 

Workforce

Criminal Justice Education and 
Young People

Health Citizens’ Voice

P
age 21



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

22 23

THEME 1: EMPLOYMENT AND 
REPRESENTATIVE WORKFORCE  
Employment and Representative Workforce

Unemployment rate by ethnic background: UK, 2008-21
People aged 16+, not seasonally adjusted

2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

0%

5%

10%

15%

Ethnic minorities

White

Rate(%)

Unemployment by age and ethnic background
July 2020 -June 2021, Thousands 

16-24 25-49 50+ Total (16+)
Level

White
Black
Bangladeshi/ Pakistani
Indian
Other ethnic backgrouns

Minority ethnic background

Level Rate(%) Level Rate(%) Level Rate(%)

440
40
20

<10
60

130

Total 580

13%
36%
22%
18%
26%

26.4%

14.6%

Source:ONS Annual Population Survery microdata

Notes: All numbers rounded to nearest 10,000 and may not sum due to rounding. Estimates based on survey responses so subject to 
sampling error. 

“Other ethnic backgrounds” includes people from Chinese , other Asian, mixed/multiple or other ethnic backgrounds.

500
60
30
30
70

200

700

3%
9%
7%
5%
6%

6.6%

3.7%

330
30

<10
<10

20

70

400

3%
8%

10%
4%
7%

7.1%

3.7%

1,270
130

60
50

150

400

1,670

4%
12%
10%

5%
9%

9.0%

5.7%

This trend is even more pronounced amongst young people, with Black young people experiencing 
unemployment rates 3 times higher than their White peers.

In the twelve months to June 2021, the UK unemployment rate was highest for people from a Black (12%) 
ethnic background, and lowest for people from a White (4%) or Indian (5%) ethnic background.

NOTE: Here we have primarily used the most recent UK-wide data due to limitations within local data sets, such as small sample 
sizes, and as the local Census 2011 data is now over 10 years old.

The Annual Population Survey 2019 data suggests that the unemployment rate for White and Ethnic Minority Groups is the same 
in Wales, at 4%, but this figure should be treated with caution in light of other UK statistics with larger sample sizes. 

Unemployment

The unemployment rate is lower for men from a minority ethnic background (8.3%) than for women 
(9.8%), but this varies across different ethnic minority groups.

Rate(%)

Unemployment by ethnic background and sex: UK
July 2020 -June 2021, Thousands 

Male Female Total
Level

White
Black
Bangladeshi/ Pakistani
Indian
Other ethnic backgrouns

Minority ethnic background

Level Rate(%) Level Rate(%)

740
50
30
20
90

190

Total 930

4.8%
10.4%

8.1%
4.4%
9.7%

8.3%

5.3%

Source:ONS Annual Population Survery microdata

Notes: All numbers rounded to nearest 10,000 and may not sum due to rounding. Estimates based on survey responses so 
subject to sampling error. 

“Other ethnic backgrounds” includes people from Chinese , other Asian, mixed/multiple or other ethnic backgrounds.

530
80
30
30
70

210

740

3.9%
13.1%

12.4%
6.6%
8.2%

9.8%

4.6%

1,270
130

60
50

150

400

1,670

4%
12%
10%

5%
9%

9%

5%

Analysis produced to date suggests that workers who are from an ethnic minority background have been 
one of the groups most negatively impacted economically by the coronavirus pandemic. 

Research has suggested that individuals from ethnic minority backgrounds were more likely to work in 
occupations with a higher risk of COVID-19 exposure, and 15% of workers in the sectors most affected by 
the pandemic were from an ethnic minority group, compared to 12% of all workers.¹  

The impact of Covid-19 on the labour market

¹PHE, Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups, 16 June 2020, p5
Library analysis of the Labour Force Survey, 2019 Q4, using IFS definition of vulnerable sectors.

P
age 22



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

24 25

The most recently available Annual Population Survey Data indicates the following trends at a UK level:

Employment by Occupation

The combined Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic group had the lowest 
percentage of workers in ‘professional’ jobs (18.8%)

10.3% of all workers were in ‘elementary’ jobs, occupations associated with 
lower socio-economic circumstances and the percentage of workers in 
‘elementary’ jobs was highest in the Black (15.6%) and White Other (14.8%) 
ethnic groups

38.1% of workers from the combined Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic group 
were in the 3 occupation groups with the lowest associated socio-economic 
circumstances, but this is down from 44.5% in 2009

17.1% of Black workers were in ‘caring, leisure and other services’ jobs, the 
highest percentage out of all ethnic groups

The percentage of workers in ‘manager, director or senior official’ jobs – the 
type of occupations associated with higher socio-economic circumstances – 
was highest in the Indian (12.2%) and White British (11.7%) ethnic groups, and 
lowest in the Black ethnic group (5.4%)² 

The UK Ethnicity Pay Gap

In 2019, employees from the Indian ethnic group had the highest average 
hourly pay out of all ethnic groups (£14.43) & employees from the 
combined Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic group had the lowest (£10.55)

• Employees from the Indian ethnic group had the highest hourly pay every 
year from 2013 to 2019 

• Employees from the combined Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnic group had 
the lowest hourly pay every year 

• The average hourly pay for White employees was £12.21

² Employment by occupation - GOV.UK Ethnicity facts and figures (ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk)

Council workforce ethnicity by grade

The table below shows that ethnic minority staff currently constitute 10.26% of the workforce at Cardiff 
Council as of March 2021. This is an increase from 9.87% in 2020.  

For staff who have disclosed their ethnicity there was a 4.79% increase of employees from the Black, 
Asian and Minority Ethnic in Cardiff Council’s workforce in 2021 compared to 2020, however there 
remains a data gap with nearly 1,000 staff not having disclosed their ethnicity, reporting of which 
remains optional for staff.

Ethnic Group

Asian

Black

Chinese / Far East

Mixed Ethnicity

Other

White Gypsy/Traveller

White Irish

White Other

White European

White British *

Employees 2011 Census %

%

2.86%

1.98%

0.36%

2.01%

0.35%

0.01%

0.53%

0.71%

1.46%

89.74%

No.

356

247

45

250

43

1

66

88

182

11175

Cardiff

8.00%

2.40%

1.20%

2.90%

2.00%

0.20%

0.70%

3.50%

80.00%

Wales

2.20%

0.60%

0.40%

1.00%

0.50%

0.10%

0.50%

1.80%

93.20%

P
age 23



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

26 27

Council workforce ethnicity data by grade

The table below displays by ethnic group the grading of the Council’s employees permanent/temporary 
workforce (almost all employees excluding teachers and those in school settings who are not part of the 
Council’s collective agreement) who have been graded in accordance with the Council’s Job Evaluation 
scheme.  Grade 1 is the lowest paid grade, and OM+ group (includes Operational Managers, Assistant 
Directors, and Directors).

Ethnic Group

Asian

Black

Chinese / Far East

Mixed Ethnicity

Other

White British

White European

White Gypsy/Traveller

White Irish

White Other

Total

GRADE 01

29

34

2

19

4

338

20

0

0

5

451

GRADE 02

81

22

10

11

4

559

12

0

1

8

708

GRADE 03

73

45

7

40

12

1395

41

1

8

11

1633

GRADE 04

49

36

9

44

5

1604

28

0

7

7

1789

GRADE 05

32

28

6

43

5

1660

25

0

6

15

1820

GRADE 06

27

20

2

31

1

996

16

0

4

10

1107

GRADE 07

13

19

4

25

2

669

5

0

4

7

748

GRADE 08

7

10

3

8

1

426

4

0

4

5

468

GRADE 09

2

3

1

2

0

168

2

0

3

1

182

GRADE 10

3

3

0

2

0

163

0

0

0

1

172

OM+

4

0

0

1

0

98

0

0

1

2

106

JNC Y&C

4

10

0

5

1

100

2

0

2

1

125

SOULBURY

1

1

0

2

0

36

1

0

1

1

43

OTHER

0

0

0

0

0

34

1

0

1

0

36

GRADE

SCHOOL 
LEADERSHIP 

SCALE

0

0

0

0

0

336

1

0

5

0

342

TEACHER 
UPPER PAY 

SCALE

17

10

0

11

6

1822

11

0

12

9

1898

TEACHER 
MAIN PAY 

SCALE 

13

4

0

6

2

750

13

0

7

4

799

UNQUALIFIED 
TEACHER

1

2

1

0

0

21

0

0

0

1

26

Ethnic Group

Asian

Black

Chinese / Far East

Mixed Ethnicity

Other

White British

White European

White Gypsy/Traveller

White Irish

White Other

GRADE 01

6.43%

7.54%

0.44%

4.21%

0.89%

74.94%

4.43%

0.00%

0.00%

1.11%

GRADE 02

11.44%

3.11%

1.41%

1.55%

0.56%

78.95%

1.69%

0.00%

0.14%

1.13%

GRADE 03

4.47%

2.76%

0.43%

2.45%

0.73%

85.43%

2.51%

0.06%

0.49%

0.67%

GRADE 04

2.74%

2.01%

0.50%

2.46%

0.28%

89.66%

1.57%

0.00%

0.39%

0.39%

GRADE 05

1.76%

1.54%

0.33%

2.36%

0.27%

91.21%

1.37%

0.00%

0.33%

0.82%

GRADE 06

2.44%

1.81%

0.18%

2.80%

0.09%

89.97%

1.45%

0.00%

0.36%

0.90%

GRADE 07

1.74%

2.54%

0.53%

3.34%

0.27%

89.44%

0.67%

0.00%

0.53%

0.94%

GRADE 08

1.50%

2.14%

0.64%

1.71%

0.21%

91.03%

0.85%

0.00%

0.85%

1.07%

GRADE 09

1.10%

1.65%

0.55%

1.10%

0.00%

92.31%

1.10%

0.00%

1.65%

0.55%

GRADE 10

1.74%

1.74%

0.00%

1.16%

0.00%

94.77%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.58%

OM+

3.77%

0.00%

0.00%

0.94%

0.00%

92.45%

0.00%

0.00%

0.94%

1.89%

JNC Y&C

3.20%

8.00%

0.00%

4.00%

0.80%

80.00%

1.60%

0.00%

1.60%

0.80%

SOULBURY

2.33%

2.33%

0.00%

4.65%

0.00%

83.72%

2.33%

0.00%

2.33%

2.33%

OTHER

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

94.44%

2.78%

0.00%

2.78%

0.00%

GRADE

SCHOOL 
LEADERSHIP 

SCALE

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

98.25%

0.29%

0.00%

1.46%

0.00%

TEACHER 
UPPER PAY 

SCALE

0.90%

0.53%

0.00%

0.58%

0.32%

96.00%

0.58%

0.00%

0.63%

0.47%

TEACHER 
MAIN PAY 

SCALE 

1.63%

0.50%

0.00%

0.75%

0.25%

93.87%

1.63%

0.00%

0.88%

0.50%

UNQUALIFIED 
TEACHER

3.85%

7.69%

3.85%

0.00%

0.00%

80.77%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

3.85%

P
age 24



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

28 29

A vision for the future city workforce

Despite considerable improvements in educational 
attainment among ethnic minority groups at a 
UK-wide level, particularly for Black African and 
Bangladeshi students, the data illustrates that this 
has not been matched by sustained progress in the 
labour market. The fact that improving educational 
attainment has not translated into better labour 
market outcomes suggests that the heart of the 
challenge is the transition from education into 
work. Yet, while much of the policy focus for labour 
market inequalities has been on the options for the 
UK and Welsh Governments, there is also a strong 
case for doing more at the local level.

Local efforts for supporting ethnic minority 
education-to-work transitions and addressing 
labour market underrepresentation have three 
key advantages over national efforts: they are 
more accountable, are better informed by local 
demographics, and they are more sensitive to local 
employers. 

Local authorities in particular can play an important 
role, because they can act as coordinators, joining 
up the work being done by key institutions in 
the local economy and community, including 
Into-Work Services, Economic Development, Job 
Centre Plus, local businesses, community groups, 
and schools and universities. 

Cardiff Council is therefore in a strong position 
to take a bolder approach to tackling local ethnic 
disadvantage in the city labour market and the 
Taskforce encourages the setting of ambitious 
goals to ensure that levels of employment reflect 
the ethnic composition of the local area. 
With the twin challenges of unemployment and 
over-qualification, activity to support both entry to 
the labour market and labour market progression 
are required.

Across all three areas, the local authority performs 
a dual role, as both a convener of local labour 
market activity and job creation, and as a major 
employer in the city who can set high standards for 
itself as a central institution and lead by example 
through intentional action. 

The Taskforce supports the incorporation of ethnic 
minority specific targets into mainstream efforts 
to tackle youth unemployment and promote 
economic regeneration in the city, recognising the 
work delivered to date at a city level which focuses 
on addressing socioeconomic disadvantage 

and building a fairer city economy, including the 
Cardiff Commitment Programme and delivery of 
apprenticeship schemes such as Kickstart. 

Whilst such schemes have delivered 
demonstrable outcomes to widen opportunity to 
socioeconomically disadvantaged groups in the 
city, renewed focus on beneficiary ethnicity data 
will help to ensure these major programmes are 
reaching ethnic minority groups who are currently 
underrepresented in the labour market and inform 
further targeted activity. 

The Taskforce’s Employment and Representative Workforce recommendations comprise three overarching 
approaches:

Action in this area will contribute to the local 
delivery and achievement of the Socioeconomic 
Duty, commenced in Wales in 2021. This requires 
that public authorities demonstrate that their 
policies are best designed to achieve equality 
and a higher level of enjoyment of economic and 
social rights for everyone, especially for the most 
disadvantaged groups. This is not only a matter 
of equality and human rights, but it is also about 
transparency, promoting an open society and 
public services and evidence-based policymaking.

The Taskforce’s recommendations across this 
theme together constitute a locally attuned 
blueprint to prioritise action which addresses 
ethnic inequalities in the labour market and 
aligns this with the Council’s local economic 

development plans and established programmes 
of work to reduce unemployment and 
socioeconomic inequality in the city. 

Our recommendations include utilising existing 
connector programmes such as the IntoWork 
service and Cardiff Works agency to support 
labour market entry, focusing the brokerage role 
of the Council in local economic development 
to deliver increased labour market opportunities 
for underrepresented ethnic groups, and 
using procurement and city development and 
investment measures as a mechanism to embed 
ambitious labour market targets in all future major 
work programmes.

• Encouraging employers in the city 
to recruit a more diverse workforce, 
including leading activity to diversify the 
Council workforce itself (demand side)  

• Working with employers and ethnic 
minority residents to broker employment 
opportunities (co-ordination) 

 
• Providing tailored support to ethnic 

minority staff, residents, and young 
people (supply side)

P
age 25



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

30 31

EMPLOYMENT AND 
REPRESENTATIVE WORKFORCE: 
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS
Encouraging employers in the city to recruit a more diverse 
workforce, including leading activity to diversify the Council 
workforce itself

Develop a city-wide network for employers to encourage 
good practice and collaboration on employment action to 
improve ethnic minority representation and progression in 
the local labour market

Our recommendations in this area encompass 
both internally focused and partnership 
recommendations to support the delivery of 
increased labour market opportunities for ethnic 
minority Cardiffians. The moral case to do so 
is clear, but there also a clear economic case 
for the Council and its partners to adopt these 
approaches as part of a wider strategy to support 
growth, boost productivity and increase graduate 
retention in the city. 

The Council has already adopted some 
organisational best practice approaches to 
improve ethnic diversity in its workforce. In 
publishing data about its own workforce and 
ethnicity pay gap, the Council has provided 
transparency and accountability for future delivery 
and this practice has been supported by a 

comprehensive reform in recruitment practices to 
minimise the impact of unconscious bias during 
candidate shortlisting. There are also visible 
pockets of targeted recruitment activity from some 
services. 

Looking forwards, the Council should look to 
develop a more comprehensive organisational and 
partnership framework to support employer action 
on underrepresentation at a city level. This will 
step-up collective efforts and transition the current 
piecemeal approach of individual agencies into a 
more impactful era of change delivery on ethnic 
inequalities. These efforts, where designed in 
partnership with education and training providers, 
may also provide much-needed solutions to 
public-sector workforce challenges in areas such 
as social care, teaching and nursing.

1.1
RECOMMENDATION:

Across Cardiff, the Taskforce heard of many 
employers seeking to improve workforce diversity 
and of both emergent and established practice 
to attract and retain ethnic minority staff into 
organisations.

Whilst the willingness to achieve an ethnically 
representative workforce was widespread across 
major employers, there is a clear opportunity to 
strengthen local coordination and collaboration 
on labour market entry and progression for ethnic 
minority residents and workers in the city. 

Creating an appropriate city forum or mechanism 
for cooperation, local ownership and delivery on 
equality will support increased action on labour 
market inequalities, promote accountability and 
the extend the reach of existing and effective 
city-wide employment schemes, including 
apprenticeships and graduate programmes. 

This network of local actors could be framed as 
a city charter or pledge, to raise visibility and 
awareness of collective action to improve equality 
at a city level. This would follow a good practice 
model the Taskforce observed from Bristol City 
Council, through the Bristol Equality Charter and 
Network. 

This approach has the potential to be particularly 
effective where employers are equipped with 
relevant data and insights on labour market 
representation to target their recruitment and 
retention approaches through a collaborative and 
supportive local network. 

Local organisations throughout the public, private 
and voluntary sectors are anchored in Cardiff’s 
labour market realities and their knowledge is a 
valuable resource in addressing labour market 
inequalities. 

A forum for collaboration would support the 
coordination of a shared approach to address 
ethnic inequalities in employment within the city, 
delivering greater cumulative impact than where 
each institution acts alone. 
 
A city-wide network could also support the 
coordination and delivery of relevant employer-
focused training, best practice exchange and 
collaboration between educational institutions 
and city employers to support education to work 
transitions. 

IN DEPTH:

P
age 26



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

32 33

Use planning and commissioning powers to require 
employers to recruit apprenticeships from disadvantaged 
groups and to increase transparency about the diversity of 
their workforces

1.3
RECOMMENDATION:

Public authorities often choose to work in 
contractual partnerships with the private and 
voluntary sector for the provision of a wide range of 
services, infrastructure and goods. In these cases, 
effective procurement can help to improve service 
quality, including better meeting the diverse needs 
of different ethnic groups.

In addition to improving quality-of-service, public 
sector purchasing power can be used by public 
authorities as a way to advance equality and, where 
appropriate, achieve wider social benefits, such as 
creating training or employment opportunities for 
local people. 

Major economic development, housebuilding and 
regeneration deals can offer a robust framework to 
incentivise and require contractors to create local 
jobs, prioritising communities with the highest 
levels of unemployment and socioeconomic 
disadvantage. This can be an effective mechanism 
for the delivery of race equality goals, particularly 
where this is underpinned by a broader partnership 
with local employment and training agencies. 

Achieving race equality through procurement 
requires skill from public authorities and their 
partners. It also requires both partners to share a 
public service ethos and see the importance of 
socially inclusive wealth creation. Whilst this should 
be adopted as a broad approach to maximising 
the social value of public spend, in particular, 
the Taskforce recommends the implementation 

of a robust measurement and accountability 
framework for the major Arena development 
and broader investment in Atlantic Wharf. This 
development is significant in the context of location 
in Butetown and its proximity to Grangetown and 
Riverside, the most ethnically diverse wards in the 
city, and the location of some of Cardiff’s most 
socioeconomically-deprived neighbourhoods. 

Become a signatory to the Cardiff Community Jobs Compact

1.2
RECOMMENDATION:

The Cardiff Community Jobs Compact is an award-
winning initiative to encourage businesses in 
Cardiff to provide more employment opportunities 
to local people. 

The Community Jobs Compact was established in 
2017 by a community action group in Butetown 
supported by Citizen’s Cymru. The Compact was 
introduced in response to findings that many 
residents, especially those well skilled and with a 
degree, struggled to secure local employment and 
particularly employment commensurate with their 
educational attainment. 

The Taskforce supports this initiative because it 
responds to two categories of challenge faced by 
ethnic minority residents, and particularly young 
ethnic minority people in the city: unemployment 
and underemployment. The former is a particular 
challenge for ethnic minority school leavers with 
lower levels of education; the latter is a particular 
challenge for ethnic minority employees with 
higher levels of education

Employers who sign up to the scheme are 
supported by Citizen’s Cymru Wales who, as part 
of the Compact, promote job opportunities in the 
local community and provide application support 
and interview coaching to local people. 

The Jobs Compact includes the following employer 
requirements, each of which Cardiff Council had 
already adopted as organisational policy but not all 
have not been widely publicised. 

The signing of the Jobs Compact as a major 
employer and place-making institution for the city 
sends a clear message regarding the Council’s 
commitment to action and encourages further 
adoption of these standards across employers in 
the city, delivering aggregate impact: 

• Be accredited as a ‘Living Wage for Wales’ 
employer;

• Paying all staff and contractors at least £9.90 an 
hour from 1st April 2022; 

• Recruit using name-blind and address-blind CVs 
and/or guarantee an interview to local residents 
who meet the criteria; 

• Introduce unconscious bias training for 
interviewers; 

• Ensure all staff have the option of a minimum 
hour’s contract and; 

• Demonstrate opportunities for growth and 
development.

IN DEPTH:IN DEPTH:

Spotlight on: Atlantic Wharf 
Redevelopment

A 15,000 capacity Cardiff Arena will be built in Cardiff 
Bay as part of Cardiff Council’s redevelopment of 
Atlantic Wharf. 

The development will include retail and leisure facilities, 
hotels, a multi-storey car-park and new homes. The 
arena will be positioned at the heart of a new cultural 
area incorporating the Wales Millennium Centre 
production space, potentially a National Art Gallery, 
and a ‘This is Wales’ fly-through visitor attraction.  A 
consortium led by US entertainment company Live 
Nation has been selected as the preferred bidder to 
deliver a new 15,000-capacity indoor arena in Cardiff 
Bay that aims to become the “premier arena” in the 
southwest region of England and Wales. 

The planned new venue will cost around £150m to build 
and is projected to attract more than one million visitors 
and inject an estimated £100m into the local economy 
every year.

P
age 27



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

34 35

Working with employers and ethnic minority residents to 
broker employment opportunities

These recommendations recognise the importance 
of partnership work between the local authority 
and education providers, local employers, and 
employment service providers in improving ethnic 
minority representation in the local labour market. 

Local strategies to broker employment 
opportunities for ethnic minority residents can 
form part of a broader approach and action can 
be effectively mainstreamed into existing services. 
The approach should however demonstrate 
understanding and sensitivity to issues of 
underrepresentation and specific barriers which 
ethnic minority residents may face in the labour 
market. This area of work should focus both on 
major employers and local small and medium-
sized enterprises (SMEs) who often do not have 

the capacity to manage the administration of work 
placements but can contribute to city-wide efforts 
to increase labour market opportunities for ethnic 
minority residents. 

In addition to the recommendations outlined 
below, the Taskforce also supports future 
exploration of graduate employment routes and 
encourages further collaboration between the 
Council and Universities in the city to deliver new 
pathways for ethnic minority graduates as they 
make the transition from university to work. There 
was a strong appetite to progress this across 
city institutions and this could be progressed 
in the context of the city network described in 
Recommendation 1.1. 

Support an inclusive and engaged workforce where all staff 
understand and contribute to race equality action through 
awareness-raising internal programming 

1.4
RECOMMENDATION:

The Taskforce learned of ongoing collaboration 
between the Council’s HR department and 
the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Employee 
Network, which has included an internally focused 
action plan created by staff within the Network and 
the support of a senior management sponsor, the 
Council’s Chief Executive. 

The Council’s commitment to capture staff ethnicity 
data and make this data available for scrutiny, 
alongside the organisation’s ethnicity pay gap, also 
demonstrates a practical and meaningful approach 
to understanding and addressing the barriers 
ethnic minority residents may face in recruitment 
and progression within the organisation and 
ensuring that the organisation takes continuous 
steps to become more representative of the 
diverse city it serves.

The Black Asian and Ethnic Minority Staff Network 
reflected that there were opportunities to raise the 
profile of the internal staff Network’s presence and 
priorities, and to invite a wider range of staff from 
across the organisation to engage in race equality 
conversations and initiatives.

The Taskforce recognised that, while it can be 
difficult and uncomfortable to discuss issues 
of race, it’s important that the conversations 
continue to take place and that staff of all ethnic 
backgrounds understand the role that they can 
play in supporting race equality at work and in 
service delivery. 

Being guided by the existing Chair and 
membership of the Council’s Black, Asian and 
Ethnic Minority Staff Network, the Taskforce 
supports the Network’s proposal to develop a 
range of resources and implement additional 
awareness-raising programming for Council 
staff, including additional training relevant to 
contemporary race equality issues. This work 
should be supported by the Council’s HR and 
Equality Teams, to ensure all staff feel supported 
and confident to engage in shared conversations 
about the organisation’s equality approach, with 
relevant issues including recruitment, workforce 
development and fostering an inclusive culture 
which demonstrates understanding of equality 
issues and intent on advancing equality in all 
aspects of business.

It is positive that this work has been supported 
to date by the Council’s Chief Executive, and the 
Taskforce encourage the continuation of senior 
management sponsorship for the Network as they 
progress their new direction and seek to raise the 
profile of race equality issues within the workplace.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 28



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

36 37

Improve access to and visibility of Cardiff Works for ethnic 
minority groups

1.6
RECOMMENDATION:

Cardiff Works is Cardiff Council’s internal temporary 
staffing service and provides an important platform 
for job seekers to access Council roles, acting as an 
entry route for public sector careers. 

The Taskforce supports renewed efforts and 
activity to raise awareness of the service amongst 
ethnic minority groups, who are currently 
underrepresented in the Council workforce, 
recognising that this service could present an 
accessible gateway to the wide variety of career 
pathways available within local government and the 
wider public sector. 

Delivery against this recommendation will not only 
contribute to the Council’s representative workforce 
ambitions but will also ensure a supply of new 
talent into service areas which have experienced 
recruitment shortages, including social care.

In delivering this recommendation, the Council 
should consider how to raise awareness of the 
Cardiff Works service, as we heard that this is not 
currently particularly visible to residents and job 
seekers from ethnic minority backgrounds and 
consider how promotional activity could effectively 
reach ethnic minority residents through collaboration 
with community institutions and schools. 

IN DEPTH:

Providing tailored support to ethnic minority staff, residents, 
and young people 

Unemployment differences and the pay gap 
between ethnic groups have been declining, though 
remain significantly higher for ethnic minority young 
people.³  

Whilst the overall trend is positive, there is an 
opportunity for the Council and its partners to 
refocus thinking on particular ‘challenge areas’ 
where underrepresentation, underemployment and 
unemployment persist for particular ethnic minority 
groups. This recognises that we cannot treat ethnic 
minorities as one single group with the same 
obstacles and a more nuanced approach can also 

demonstrate consideration of the additional barriers 
which present for ethnic minority women and young 
people. 

The publication of the latest Census data for 2021, 
expected later this year, will provide great insight 
into local city employment trends by ethnicity and 
other demographic factors, giving critical insight 
into future priorities for targeted work. To inform 
future strategy, the Council should ensure this data 
is visible and understood internally and across its 
partnerships so it can be used effectively in future 
policy development at a city level. 

³   Ethnicity Facts and Figures, (2021) Unemployment by ethnicity. Covers England, Scotland and Wales in the year 2019. Source: 
Annual population survey. Available at: www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/work-pay-and-benefits/unemployment-and-
economic-inactivity/unemployment/latest  

Increase participation of ethnic minority groups in the 
Into Work Advice Service

1.5
RECOMMENDATION:

Cardiff Council’s IntoWork Advice Service is 
a coordination and brokerage service which 
matches job seekers with relevant training, 
upskilling opportunities, career advice and 
matches residents with local labour market 
opportunities. 

The service is well established, reaching 
approximately 50,000 residents each year, and 
successfully placing between 800-1000 job 
seekers into new roles each year. 

The IntoWork service operates across Hubs 
and Libraries in the city, making it an accessible 
neighbourhood service for residents across the 
city. Several Hubs are already established in parts 
of the city with the greatest ethnic diversity, such as 
Butetown, Grangetown, Central Library (covering 
Cathays, Riverside and Plasnewydd) and the STAR 
Hub (covering Adamsdown and Splott).  

Research from TUC found that the unemployment 
rate for ethnic minority groups has risen at more 
than twice the speed of the unemployment rate for 
White people during the pandemic. With Black, 
Asian and Ethnic Minority workers feeling the 
economic impact of the pandemic more acutely, 
widening participation of ethnic minority residents 
in the IntoWork service is a timely and worthwhile 
approach in Cardiff’s pandemic recovery response 
and will contribute to the city’s broader race 
equality goals. 

This work could include both awareness raising 
programming and increasing staff capacity within 
parts of the service which serve the city’s ethnically 
diverse wards and should be transparent in 
documenting future work to extend the service’s 
reach, impact and outcomes in supporting ethnic 
minority job seekers in the city. 

IN DEPTH:

P
age 29



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

38 39

Support career progression routes for ethnic minority 
employees at Cardiff Council

1.7
RECOMMENDATION:

Many talented ethnic minority staff are motivated to 
join the Council workforce out of a desire to serve 
their community, bringing incredible experience and 
skills to the Council and delivering huge benefits to 
city residents. Ethnic minority groups are however 
currently underrepresented in the Council workforce 
as a whole, and particularly in the two upper 
quartiles of Council roles. 

It is recognised that, as with other parts of the 
public sector, a decade of austerity has impacted 
the Council’s ability to attract new talent into the 
organisation due to prolonged freezes on external 
recruitment. This has stalled progress on achieving 
the Council’s ambition to achieve a representative 
management team and within this context, a new 
intentional approach is required to develop a 
pipeline of management talent for the future.

The Taskforce recommends that the Council 
refocus its efforts to boost representation at 
senior grades (OM+) and feeder grades (8-10) in 
particular, through a carefully designed package 
of development and mentorship support for ethnic 
minority staff. Such schemes have begun to bear fruit 
and create positive change in other parts of the UK’s 
public sector and can provide a design template 
for ‘what works’ within the reality of a large and 
complex organisation.

Such a programme could incorporate elements 
such as leadership and management training, 
mentorship and reverse mentorship and provide 
opportunities to meet and engage with the existing 
senior management team and ethnic minority role 

models from senior levels both within and external 
to the Council. This work can be supplemented by 
other recommendations in this report which will help 
to increase ethnic minority entrants to the Council 
workforce at all grades and further strengthened 
through alignment with broader workforce 
planning measures and organisational development 
programmes.

The Council is at its best when it reflects the diversity 
of the city as a whole and is able to understand 
what the public needs. Whilst many positive steps 
have already been made to increase transparency 
in workforce and pay data, support the work of 
the Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority Staff Network 
and refresh recruitment practices to minimise bias 
in shortlisting and selection, the Council can and 
should be ambitious in taking further positive action 
towards its diversity objectives.

Correcting the underrepresentation of ethnic 
minority groups within mid and senior Council roles 
will require a proactive and determined approach 
with buy-in from the existing management team and 
adequate resources to support ongoing diversity 
and inclusion initiatives. It is accepted that this 
change will not be an immediate one, the journey 
to achieve a representative staff body will almost 
certainly be a multi-year journey, but this should 
not diminish long-term focus on progress and the 
visibility of the organisation’s diversity aspirations.

IN DEPTH:

Cardiff Council should explore employer led ESOL (English 
for Speakers of other languages) for Council staff where their 
language skills are a barrier to progression

1.8
RECOMMENDATION:

Whilst Cardiff’s migration data indicates wide variety 
in the qualifications, employment status, earnings 
and language skills of the city’s migrant communities, 
the Taskforce were keen to reflect on what more 
could be done to support those with lower levels 
of English and deliver improvements in their 
employment outcomes. 

This recommendation therefore focuses on non-
UK born residents of Cardiff who aspire to achieve 
higher and conversational levels of English which 
would enable them to access higher-paying and 
more secure work, focusing initially on Council staff. 
This is a cohort of residents who are working to earn 
an income and support their families, but desire to 
learn English if their personal circumstances allow.

Multiple strategies are needed to address barriers to 
participation in ESOL learning, and the Council could 
support additional workplace delivery to enable 
ethnic minority staff access ESOL where they wish 
to do so. This would contribute to their wellbeing, 
participation and future career progression both 
within the organisation and the broader city labour 
market. 

A pilot programme which tests an integrated 
approach to ESOL provision within the Council 
workforce context could improve employment and 
progression outcomes for migrant workers within 
the Council, with particular benefits for staff with 
refugee backgrounds who use English as a second or 
additional language. This approach would enable the 
Council to develop new support and development 
routes for staff where language skills are currently a 

barrier to the achievement of their career aspirations. 

Whilst there are complex barriers to the delivery 
of a comprehensive integrated ESOL model in 
an employment context due to existing UK-level 
frameworks, the Council is encouraged to test new 
approaches and examine the ‘art of the possible’ 
in supporting the aspirations of this section of its 
workforce. This will deliver benefits to both individual 
staff and the organisation in improving representation 
throughout all levels of its workforce.

As a starting point, Cardiff benefits from a 
comprehensive ESOL (English for Speakers of 
Other Languages) Hub coordinated by Cardiff 
and Vale College and their industry-leading Reach 
programme, who could offer new solutions and 
opportunities to address current barriers. 

IN DEPTH:

Spotlight on REACH ESOL Hub

Cardiff’s REACH+ centre provides one central point 
of contact for anyone wishing to access ESOL in the 
city, based at Cardiff and Vale College. The model 
is recognised as industry leading as ESOL provision 
is centrally coordinated and ensures high quality 
assessment and progression onto the appropriate 
course and support quickly and easily. This service is a 
unique asset to support ESOL learners in Wales and also 
provides wider support services to refugees through 
the ReStart programme and offers employment-focused 
ESOL to fast-track ESOL learners to the labour market.

Find out more at https://reach.wales/en/about 

P
age 30



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

40 41

THEME 2: EDUCATION 
& YOUNG PEOPLE
Education & Young People Data Insights 

Educational Attainment 

Historically, ethnic minority pupils experienced disadvantage in terms of education and there was an 
attainment gap at a UK-wide level between ethnic minority groups and White British children. 

Data from the 2011 Census demonstrated that this trend no longer applies, and the attainment of ethnic 
minority pupils has converged, and for some ethnic groups, exceeded national averages.

The picture of educational achievement across ethnic groups is complex, and different social, economic 
and cultural factors contribute to this: parental income levels, parental career and educational 
achievement, geography and family structure, amongst others.

What is clear, however, is that strong early-years support, good schools and evidence-based 
interventions can also improve educational outcomes across all groups and partly overcome other 
factors. The near closure of the ethnic attainment gap in the city is therefore testament to quality public 
services and school leadership and deserves recognition in our report. 

Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic and curriculum changes in Wales, the mostly available recent pupil 
attainment data covers the 2018-2019 period. We include this here as an illustration of local attainment 
trends, which reflect those of broader UK data, but is limited in that it does not reflect the Covid-19 
landscape or new school performance measures in Wales:

Any Other Ethnic 
Background

Asian Black Chinese Mixed White
Cardiff 

Average

Foundation 
Phase 
2018/19

76.8% 82.9% 81.1% 90.2% 84.3% 84.3% 83.5%

Key Stage 2
2018/19

84.2% 88% 88.5% 100% 90.1% 88.5% 88.4%

Key Stage 3
2018/19

85.9% 90.3% 86.7% 100% 86.5% 84.8% 85.6%

Education: Foundation Phase to Key Stage 3 (2018/19)

Explainer: KS3 data is for year 2 (FP), year 6 (KS2) and year 9 (KS3) teacher assessment. The % is the proportion of learners achieving the expected 
outcomes in the FP areas of learing and core subjects at KS2 and KS3.

Any Other Ethnic 
Background

Asian Black Chinese Mixed White
Cardiff 

Average

KS4 Capped 
Points
2018/19

404.0 404.6 376.5 426.1 378.5 378.3 369.33

KS4 Literacy 
2018/19

42.0 43.3 41.1 45.0 41.5 41.4 40.5

KS4
Numeracy 
2018/19

41.8 42.2 37.0 48.0 38.1 39.0 38.2

KS4 Science 
2018/19

41.5 42.6 36.3 44.0 37.7 38.6 37.4

KS4 Skills 
Challenge 
Certificate 
2018/19

41.4 42.6 39.7 49.0 37.5 37.3 36.7

Education: Key Stage 4 (2018/19)

Explainer: Capped Points are the overall/combined results at KS4 (GCSE Yr 10/11), with the rest being a breakdown of seperate subject areas within KS4.

Despite significant progress on levelling educational attainment, it is clear from earlier data in this report 
that ethnic minorities continue to face barriers to upward social mobility. We have outlined several city-
level recommendations in the Employment and Representative Workforce chapter of this report which 
will help to address this.

Experiences within the education system

A recent report from Show Racism the Red Card documented concerning evidence from pupils, parents 
and teaching staff in Wales on the prevalence of race-related bullying and prejudice at school.  

OF RESPONDENTS IN WALES 
WERE AWARE OF A CHILD BEING 
BULLIED DUE TO THEIR ETHNICITY, 
RELIGION OR NATIONALITY.

OF TEACHERS IN CARDIFF 
ARE FROM AN ETHNIC 
MINORITY BACKGROUND 

44% 

1.5% 

OF TEACHERS HAD OBSERVED OR 
RESPONDED TO AN INCIDENT OF 
RACIAL DISCRIMINATION IN THE 
LAST 12 MONTHS.

25% 

Diversity and representation in the city’s education workforce

OF STUDENTS WHO BEGAN 
TRAINING TO BECOME TEACHERS IN 
WALES IN 2018-19 SAID THEY WERE 
FROM A MINORITY ETHNIC GROUP.

3.7%  
OF YOUNG PEOPLE ARE 
FROM AN ETHNIC MINORITY 
BACKGROUND IN CARDIFF

35.2%   OF REGISTERED 
TEACHERS NATIONALLY 
IDENTIFIED AS WHITE.

91.6% 

OF TEACHERS REGISTERED WITH THE EDUCATION WORKFORCE 
COUNCIL IN WALES IDENTIFIED AS BLACK, ASIAN OR FROM A 
MINORITY ETHNIC BACKGROUND, COMPARED WITH 5.2% OF 
THE ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE POPULATION.

1.3% 

P
age 31



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

42 43

Black History and the new curriculum for Wales

The new Curriculum framework for Wales is due to be introduced from September 2022. 

Wales is the first nation of the UK to introduce mandatory learning about the diversity of communities, in 
particular the stories of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic people, in the national curriculum. 

Young Cardiffians have led campaign efforts for Black history to be included in the curriculum and spoke 
directly to Members of the Senedd about the significance of this change for future generations in Wales.

As a Taskforce, we welcomed this momentous decision and ambitious vision for inclusive education in 
Wales. We celebrate and acknowledge the efforts of our city’s young people in driving this change. 

IF WE WANT A SOCIETY 
WHICH IS BETTER FOR 
ALL, WHERE THERE’S 
EQUALITY, AND THERE’S 
FAIR REPRESENTATION 
THEN WE NEED THIS. IT’S 
MASSIVE IN TERMS OF 
SHAPING WHO YOUNG 
PEOPLE ARE GOING TO BE 
IN THE FUTURE WHETHER 
THAT’S A POLICE OFFICER, 
A TEACHER, A POLITICIAN.

Angel Ezeadum, a member of the uk 
youth parliament for cardiff, speaking 

to the senedd about black history in the 
curriculum. 

“
“

EDUCATION & YOUNG PEOPLE:  
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS
This theme of work focuses on the development of solutions to support an inclusive education culture 
and promote accessible learning about ethnic diversity and Black History within Cardiff schools.  

Our recommendations also include actions relating to the school workforce, improving representation in 
governing bodies and curating a whole-school approach to race equality.

The Taskforce have benefitted from the expertise and support of many talented practitioners and school 
leaders in developing these proposals. Together, they are a comprehensive and realistic set of measures 
which Cardiff schools and education partners can adopt and progress, ensuring that racial equality is a 
‘golden thread’ running through all school policies. Whilst our proposals in this area can be progressed 
through the efforts of local stakeholders and partnerships, there are currently some limitations on the 
extent to which they can be achieved without further support and collaboration at a national level. 
Specifically, the Taskforce recognises that the correction of underrepresentation of ethnic minority 
groups in the teaching workforce is a complex Wales-wide issue and supports further efforts to attract 
ethnic minority graduates into teaching at a national level.

P
age 32



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

44 45

Strengthen the local approach to bullying and prejudice-
related incidents at school

2.1
RECOMMENDATION:

As Wales’ capital city and with over a third of Cardiff 
pupils being from an ethnic minority background, 
Show Racism the Red Card’s research findings that 
many Welsh pupils continue to experience and 
observe race-related bullying are a call for further 
action on prejudice-related bullying and a more 
comprehensive system response in our city. 

This research indicates that more guidance and 
training would support teachers and the broader 
education workforce to ensure a consistent and 
high-quality response to incidents of racism and 
race-related bullying in school settings. 

As a Taskforce, we encourage the Council to ensure 
appropriate resources and skill development 
opportunities are offered to teaching staff to 
address the findings of this report and other relevant 
evidence regarding prejudice-related bullying and 
the impact on children’s wellbeing. 

A framework for responding to prejudice-relating 
bullying should be made available to schools, 
parents and wider stakeholders. This should 
clarify and raise awareness of pupil’s rights and 
responsibilities and how schools answer to such 
behaviours with an age-appropriate and child-
centred response. This should include specific 
advice on supporting young people experiencing 
prejudice-related bullying and holding supportive 
conversations with young people which supports 
their learning and personal development.

Schools should also be encouraged and supported 
to record such incidents with consistency and 
seek advice and support from both the Council’s 
education team and expertise from the voluntary 
sector as needed. 

Cardiff has an opportunity to develop a clear 
response to this national issue and doing so will 
make significant contributions to ethnic minority 
pupil’s wellbeing and ensure positive education 
experiences. As an ethnically diverse city this must 
form part of holistic pupil support and the pastoral 
care offer for young Cardiffians, both now and for 
the future. 

IN DEPTH:

Extend the work of Schools of Sanctuary to a broader 
network of schools and support the participation of refugee 
and asylum-seeking communities

2.2
RECOMMENDATION:

Schools of Sanctuary is a growing network of more 
than 300 primary and secondary schools across 
the UK. Driven by teachers, school staff, parents, 
governors and community groups, this network 
supports the thousands of young people seeking 
sanctuary in the UK, raises awareness of the issues 
facing people in the asylum system, challenges 
misconceptions and builds social cohesion.

Schools of Sanctuary forms part of The City of 
Sanctuary Network, an active welcome movement 
that throughout the UK and Republic of Ireland, 
coordinating activity and providing support to 
displaced people at a local level. Cardiff has held 
City of Sanctuary status since 2010 and it’s first 
School of Sanctuary was Llanishen High School, 
achieving this status in 2018. 

An accredited School of Sanctuary is one that has 
received recognition from City of Sanctuary UK or 
a partner organisation in the form of a Sanctuary 
Award for its good practice in fostering a culture 
of welcome and inclusion. To be eligible for the 
award, schools must demonstrate that they have 
implemented three key principles:

• Learn: Schools help their students, staff and 
wider community learn about what it means to 
be seeking sanctuary and the issues surrounding 
forced migration.

• Embed: Schools are committed to creating 
a safe and inclusive culture of welcome that 
benefits everybody, including anyone in their 
community seeking sanctuary.

• Share: Schools share their values and activities 
with their local communities.

Whilst several Cardiff schools have already 
benefited from membership of the Schools of 
Sanctuary programme, particularly those which 
serve and educate many young people whose 
families have experienced forced displacement, 
the Taskforce encourages the extension of the 
programme to a wider school audience. 

With Cardiff, as a city, making significant 
contributions towards refugee resettlement and 
the support of asylum seekers within both a Welsh 
and UK-wide context, it is important that our city’s 
young people are provided with opportunities 
to learn about forced migration. Cardiff schools 
can make an important contribute to improved 
understanding and support for displaced people 
in our city. 

Engaging Cardiff residents with personal 
experiences of the UK asylum system in this 
work would provide further opportunities for 
empowerment, meaningful connection and 
learning.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 33



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

46 47

To improve the experiences of Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority 
learners and teachers in schools by taking an inclusive and 
anti-racist approach to teaching and school experience

2.3
RECOMMENDATION:

Our schools can change lives, which is why it is vital 
for all schools to be inclusive to get the best from our 
pupils. They also offer a place for us to challenge the 
‘normalisation’ of racial inequality. 

Supporting a proactive and intentional approach 
within the school community empowers pupils 
intellectually, socially and emotionally, preparing 
them for a contemporary multicultural and multiracial 
world.

The Taskforce recommends that Cardiff schools 
are supported to engage pupils in meaningful 
conversations, learning and actions which counter 
racial prejudice and that they are proactively 
supported to be part of the city’s journey to deliver 
change on persistent inequalities. 
 
To support Cardiff schools in developing and sharing 
anti-racist approaches, the Council should look to 
identify practical actions that school leaders and 
teachers can take, both in the classroom and school 
wide, to challenge racism and racial inequalities. 
Several Cardiff schools have already developed 
meaningful and comprehensive approaches 
for learning about our city’s communities and 
migration history. The Taskforce encourages further 
collaboration and mentorship between schools to 
extend and strengthen this approach.

Some key questions the Taskforce encourage school 
leadership and staff to reflect on with their school 
community include:

• Do we really know who our pupils are? 
• Are we aware of the wider social, community and 

cultural issues that many of our pupils are living 
through? 

• How do we get to know our pupils and ensure 
that their views, interests, lived experiences 
and aspirations inform and guide our teaching 
practices?

IN DEPTH:

Support the diversification of the teaching workforce through 
a teaching assistant ‘Step into Teaching’ programme

2.4
RECOMMENDATION:

The benefits of a diverse education workforce 
are well-documented; however, ethnic minority 
groups remain underrepresented in the teaching 
profession in Wales relative to the overall 
population (Education Workforce 
Council, 2020). Cardiff is no exception to this 
trend but as Wales’ ethnically diverse capital 
city, has an opportunity to develop and test new 
approaches to improve representation in the 
teaching workforce.
 
It is estimated that 8% of Cardiff’s Teaching 
Assistants (TA’s) are from an ethnic minority 
background, compared to approximately 1.5% of 
teachers. 

Whilst these figures are still not representative 
of the city’s ethnic diversity, and particularly so 
with respect of the diverse school population, 
the existing ethnic minority Teaching Assistant 
workforce are a cohort of experienced local 
education practitioners whose progression into 
Qualified Teacher Status (QTS), where appropriate 
and where the member of staff wishes to do so, 
would support workforce diversity amongst QTS.  

Alongside graduate routes, local stakeholders 
should explore growing local talent within the 
existing workforce and supporting TA progression 
where staff aspire to progress to teaching roles and 
have, or could develop, the skills to do so. 

There is an opportunity to connect staff to existing 
fast-track qualification routes to Qualified Teacher 
Status for Teaching Assistants offered by some 
UK universities. This could be supplemented with 
additional bespoke approaches which respond to 
the specific skill development needs of Cardiff’s 
ethnic minority teaching assistants, for example, 
further ESOL provision integrated into the 
qualification programme.  

Further collaboration with the Welsh Government 
and Educators Wales would support progress 
on this recommendation and align with the 
commitments made in the Welsh Government’s 
Race Equality Action Plan.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 34



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

48 49

Increase representation of ethnic minority residents in school 
leadership through a School Governors entry programme

2.5
RECOMMENDATION:

School leadership teams have a critical role to 
play in shaping an inclusive school culture and 
implementing effective anti-racism policies. A diverse 
governing board is a stronger board, reflecting 
school communities and the wider city.

Limited ethnicity data is available regarding current 
School Governors in Cardiff, but informal feedback 
suggested that further efforts to support ethnic 
minority participation in Governing Bodies were 
needed. 

We recognise the importance of diverse boards so 
that decisions are made robustly with input from 
people with a variety of lived experiences – as well as 
varied skills. It’s also vital that children see people of 
all backgrounds in board-level positions.

As such, the Taskforce encourages Cardiff’s 
education sector to firstly establish baseline data on 
school governor diversity and consider new methods 
of recruitment to attract residents from ethnic minority 
backgrounds into these important roles.

IN DEPTH:

Increase visibility of Black and Ethnic Minority role models 
and public education on Black History through events 
programming

2.6
RECOMMENDATION:

On Wednesday 29th September 2021, the historic 
unveiling of a monument to honour Betty Campbell, 
Wales’ first Black head teacher and prominent Black 
history campaigner, shone a spotlight one of Cardiff’s 
significant Black changemakers. This was rightfully 
an immensely proud moment for our city and 
encouraged reflection on progress made and the 
distance we still have to travel on equality. 

This installation of the monument was particularly 
significant for our city’s Black and Ethnic Minority 
residents and young people, with Betty’s legacy 

enshrined in the prominent Central Square for future 
generations to share in and celebrate.

To support continued reflection and learning on the 
values of equality and education which Betty stood 
for, the Taskforce encourages the introduction of an 
Annual Betty Campbell Lecture at a prominent Cardiff 
venue to ensure the continuance of Betty’s significant 
legacy of inclusive education in Wales’ Capital City 
and her role in advocating for the introduction of 
Black History into the school curriculum. 

IN DEPTH:

P
age 35



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

50 51

THEME 3: 
CITIZEN’S VOICE
Data Insights: Citizen’s Voice

Parliaments and Councils are representative institutions, with those elected representing the voice of 
their constituents within the UK’s system of formal representative democracy. 

While there have been improvements in the representation of ethnic minority groups in Westminster 
and the Senedd, ethnic minority people remain under-represented in the roles of MP, MS and as local 
councillors, in relation to the general population of Wales.

Here we have summarised available data and research on political representation and citizen’s engagement 
for ethnic minority groups. This data indicates the current state of play with regards representation in politics 
and decision-making and the provision of fair access to influence and power in the city.

Note: There is limited data available around the demographics of groups who engage in democratic 
processes at a UK or Wales level, and even less so available when looking at democratic engagement 
at a city level, so here we primarily rely on UK-wide research for general insights into the experiences of 
ethnic minority residents.

UK Parliament
The number of ethnic minority MPs has grown at 
every election since 1987, reaching a record high 
of 65 in the 2019 General Election, of which 37 
are women. This now means that one in ten MPs 
are from an ethnic minority background, when 10 
years ago the figure was just one in forty. 

In Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland there are 
currently no ethnic minority MPs.

Welsh Parliament
Three (5%) of the 60 Members serving members 
of the Senedd are from an ethnic minority 
background. The longest serving is Vaughan 
Gething, representing the constituency of Cardiff 
South and Penarth, who has been a Labour 
MS since 2011 and is currently Minister for the 
Economy, having previously served as Minister for 
Health and Social Services from 2016-2021. 

The first ethnic minority member of the Senedd 
was Mohammad (Oscar) Asghar, elected as a Plaid 
Cymru AM in 2007 and then as a Conservative 
in 2011 and 2016. His daughter Natasha Asghar 
was elected in his seat in 2021 making her the first 
female ethnic minority member of the Senedd. 

Local Government in Wales
The most recent survey of councillors and 
candidates in Wales (2017) reported that 1.8% of 
county and borough councillors who provided 
their ethnicity data were from ethnic minority 
groups, up from 0.6% in 2012. The corresponding 
ethnic minority population of Wales was 4.4%.

Councillor ethnicity data for Cardiff Council
In actioning one of the Taskforce’s early 
recommendations, Cardiff’s Democratic Services 
Team supported our request to examine the 
ethnicity data of current elected representatives of 
the city and completed a baseline data capture for 
current Cardiff Councillors in autumn 2021. 

The survey findings indicate that 12% of serving 
Councillors during the 2017-2022 municipal term 
are from an ethnic minority background. 

This finding is based on an 85% completion 
rate (64 out of 75 Councillors responding to the 
survey). Ethnicity data has not previously been 
captured for Cardiff Councillors so it is not possible 
to describe any local trends but the Council has 
outlined its intention to collect this data in future 
municipal terms, actioning our recommendation 
within this theme.

Voter registration & turnout
Research by the Electoral Commission indicates 
that people from ethnic minorities are under-
registered to vote.  The Commission’s data 
indicates that 25 per cent of Black voters in Great 
Britain are not registered. It also says that 24 per 
cent of Asian voters and almost a third (31 per cent) 
of eligible people with mixed ethnicity are not yet 
registered, compared to a 17 per cent average 
across the population.4 

There is limited data available to differentiate 
the effects of educational attainment, income, 
socioeconomic context, home ownership and 
other relevant factors in voter registration trends. 
It is also not currently possible to understand 
any potential correlation between the fact ethnic 
minority groups have a younger population than 
the White ethnic group and young people are less 
likely to be registered to vote. 

There is not a great deal of data to understand 
the reasons for under-registration. Theories 
include that those who have migrated to the UK 
and are eligible to vote are under-registered but 
there is no quantitative evidence on the extent 
of this gap. Other barriers may include a lack of 
English language skills or lack of knowledge of the 
process and elections but the available research is 
limited. A 2010 study, The Ethnic Minority British 
Election Study, completed in partnership with the 
Runnymede Trust, found that nearly 3 in 10 of non-
registrants did not think that they were entitled to 
vote, while a quarter had recently moved home. 
With the extension of voting rights to all non-UK 
born nationals legally resident in Wales for both 
Senedd and local government elections, this 
finding requires additional reflection to support 
the communication of these additional rights to the 
Welsh residents to which it applies.

Why not on the register?

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

I got le� off
by mistake

I didn't
know how
to register

I didn't
want other

people
knowing 
about me

I'm not
interested

in elections

I never
received

the
application

form

I have
recently
moved

I just
couldn't be

bothered

Some
other

reason

Don't know
/ refused

28%

8%9%

3%

8%
10%

24%

7% 7%
5%

4 in 5 of those not entitled to vote
said this was because they were
not a British Citizen (58%) or had
not been in the UK long enough
(23%)*

I'm not
entitled to

vote

Base: All EMBES respondents not on the register (255)
Q. What are the main reasons you are not on the electoral register? MULTICODE
*There may be those in this group that were unaware that Commonweath nationality is sufficient to claim the franchise

Source: BMRB

4 Electoral Commission, Voter engagement among Black and Ethnic Minority Communities, https://www.electoralcommission.
org.uk/sites/default/files/electoral_commission_pdf_file/Ethnicfinalreport_11586-6190__E__N__S__W__.pdf 

5 The Electoral Commission, 1 in 4 black and Asian voters are not registered to vote, warns the Electoral Commission,  https://
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/media-centre/1-4-black-and-asian-voters-are-not-registered-vote-warns-electoral-commission

6 Ethnic Minority British Election Study: Electoral registration and turnout data https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/
EMBES%20Turnout%20and%20Registration.pdf 

6

P
age 36



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

52 53

Election turnout rates are logically linked to 
registration rates: one cannot vote without being 
registered. However, someone may be registered 
and not turnout to vote — it is therefore important 
to consider whether there are specific challenges 
to turnout faced by certain groups. 

Turnout is calculated by local authorities from 
the votes cast versus the total eligible registered 
voters. No demographic data about those turning 
out is captured at the point of voting, so any 
breakdown by age or ethnicity relies on survey 
data. This data is however unreliable because 
people tend to overstate their turnout history. 

The most robust evidence on turnout comes 
from the British Election Study, which shows a 
significant gap in turnout by age with older people 
much more likely to vote than young people. 

There’s an around an 80% chance that a 70-year-
old voted at the last general election, compared 
with a 45% chance that a 20-year-old did. 7

This finding is significant in the context of recent 
reforms to lower the voting age to 16 in Wales for 
Senedd and Council elections. Other survey data 
suggests that turnout amongst ethnic minorities 
groups is five percentage points lower than 
average, though this may simply reflect their lower 
registration rate. There is also some evidence that 
people from ethnic minorities are more likely to 
vote if someone of the same ethnicity is standing.8 

7 www.britishelectionstudy.com
8 Electoral Commission, Voter engagement among Black and Ethnic Minority Communities
9 www.hansardsociety.org.uk/projects/audit-of-political-engagement 

Information about elections and political engagement

Unfortunately, there is insufficient data on how people learn about elections, let alone on whether this 
differs demographically or between other characteristics. 

The best available data on this subject comes from Hansard Society’s Audit of Political Engagement,9  
which shows that TV and radio news still has the biggest role to play in getting people election 
information, though younger people are more likely seek information online and through social media.

CITIZEN’S VOICE
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS
Our recommendations in this area focus on locally led solutions to increase ethnic diversity in politics, 
decision-making and broader forms of participation. 

The trend of increasing ethnic diversity in our city, like other cities across the UK, raises important 
questions about how ethnic minority communities can be better served and represented by existing 
democratic systems and other, less formal but important, mechanisms of participation. 

Supporting increased representation requires support and action from political parties in candidate 
selection processes and measures to broaden party membership, and from government institutions 
in delivering non-partisan information about elections and other relevant topics, such as general 
information about the role of councillors. 

Delivering representative parliaments and Councils will therefore be best achieved through broad 
collaborative action. This may include Cross-Party commitments on supporting diversity in democracy, 
and this is one of our Taskforce’s recommendations. 

It is important to recognise that there are natural limits to what the Council can achieve acting alone as 
an institution in the delivery of our recommendations against this theme. We however encourage the 
Council to support and facilitate general objective approaches which contribute to improved public 
awareness of the democratic calendar, voter registration and turnout and other important aspects of our 
recommendations concerning wider civic participation and voice in city life.  

P
age 37



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

54 55

Improve data collection and analysis on civic participation

3.1
RECOMMENDATION:

Our first recommendation against this theme 
concerns data collection and analysis on civic 
participation, in particular with respect of Councillor 
demographic data. At the commencement of 
the Taskforce, no local level data was available to 
provide insight into current levels of ethnic minority 
representation across Cardiff Council’s elected 
members. 

We requested that the Council’s Democratic Services 
team deliver a survey during the course of the 
Taskforce’s proposal development stage to provide 
insight into the current democratic landscape of the 
city. This has been completed and the results have 
been provided in the data section at the beginning of 
this chapter. 

Moving forwards, we recommend that the Council 
captures equality data at the commencement of 
a new municipal term following an election and 
completes analysis of this data by the protected 
characteristics listed in the Equality Act. This analysis 
should also be available in the public domain. 

This could be supplemented by additional 
relevant participation data regarding the Council’s 
broader community engagement work, including 
demographic data for key consultations such as 
the Budget and annual city residents’ survey, Ask 
Cardiff. This information is routinely provided in 
public reports but could be brought together into 
a single place to provide a set of city indicators on 
participation and representation. 

IN DEPTH:

Support the Race Alliance Wales manifesto and complete 
benchmarking against their recommendations to advance 
race equality in Wales

3.2
RECOMMENDATION:

Race Alliance Wales (RAW) is an ethnic minority led 
initiative, which aims to provide a self-directed space 
where Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority organisations 
and individuals can collaborate on solutions to 
address issues of racial injustice in Wales.

The Race Alliance Wales manifesto has been 
developed through a broad membership of ethnic 
minority Welsh citizens through a series of meetings 
and discussions, drawing upon relevant data, as 
the Cardiff Taskforce has, to shape their policy 
recommendations. 

The completed manifesto reflects the policy priorities 
of Wales’ ethnic minority citizens, having been 
produced through extensive and collaborative 
discussions throughout the pandemic and in 
the wake of the international Black Lives Matter 
movement. 

In light of, what appears to be, at least a partial 
democratic deficit for ethnic minority groups, 
outlined in the data at the beginning of this chapter, 
the Taskforce recommend the Council reflects 
on its progress and relevant activity to deliver the 
recommendations of the Race Alliance Wales 
Manifesto and recommendations. 

These recommendations are far-reaching and not all 
areas are the policy responsibility of the Council, but 
in the setting of new policy priorities following the 
2022 local government elections in Wales, this work 
provides important insight into the experiences and 
needs of ethnic minority residents. 

As Wales’ capital city, the delivery of this 
recommendation will contribute to Cardiff’s 
positioning as a leader in the advancement of race 
equality and encourage other Welsh Council’s and 
public institutions to reflection on their own response 
to ongoing and well-evidenced inequalities for ethnic 
minority people in modern Welsh society. 

IN DEPTH:

P
age 38



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

56 57

Scope opportunities to increase youth participation and 
engagement with civic processes and develop mechanisms 
to support ethnic minority youth representation in politics 
and decision-making

3.3
RECOMMENDATION:

Recent years have seen anxious debate about youth 
political apathy in the UK, connected to low levels of 
electoral participation amongst 18–24-year-olds. 

A lack of youth engagement in mainstream politics 
certainly matters in democratic terms but should 
not lead to the conclusion that young people are 
apathetic about political issues. 

The last two years in particular have demonstrated 
preferred grammars of action for Cardiff’s young 
people on issues which matter to them, with a clear 
preference for hands-on, direct forms of activism and 
a tendency to mobilise horizonal, loosely formed 
groups and networks rather than vertical integration 
with formal democratic institutions and systems to 
create change. 

The possibility to connect young people with 
mainstream political institutions rests in the capacity 
of institutions to adjust participatory opportunities to 
young people’s preferred flatter, more networked, 
personalised, ‘DIY’ forms of activism. 

In many respects, the approach taken in the 
establishment and delivery of Cardiff’s Race Equality 
Taskforce, with city residents co-producing city 
solutions through a supportive process of dialogue 
and collaboration, could provide a blueprint for future 
engagement of residents in policymaking. These 
methods could help to connect young people to 
actual decision-making in a meaningful way.

In setting the priorities for our Taskforce, our public 
consultation evidenced a clear desire to shift power 
from the centre into communities. 21st century 
Britain has seen the marginalisation of those on low-
incomes and widening income-inequality.  This has 
understandably led to political disillusion and non-
participation, and whilst these phenomena are by no 
means limited to our city, they complex issues which 
should concern us all, irrespective of our personal 
political beliefs. 

In our consultation and other evidence that we have 
considered, there was clear correlation between 
social class, using postcode data and the deprivation 
index, and the extent to which local people feel 

underrepresented and unable to influence the 
decisions being made about their lives and their city.  

Race and class have a complicated and important 
intersection and it is critical to recognise that the 
additional factors of racial discrimination and bias 
present added barriers for working class ethnic 
minority young people in achieving their aspirations 
and full potential.

Modern class identities are complex to define but for 
ethnic minority young people growing up in low-
income families, it is clear that both factors of race 
and class shape their opportunities and limitations 
placed upon them through stereotypes, prejudice 
and societal expectations about their outcomes and 
achievements. This is demonstrated in a wealth of 
official government data and peer-reviewed research.

This complex interplay leads the Taskforce to 
specifically recommend that new efforts are made to 
put power in the hands of the Cardiff’s ethnic minority 
young people. 

New opportunities must be made available to 
marginalised young people to enable them to have 
their voices heard and influence change in the city. 

The mechanisms for doing so should be designed 
by the young people they are intended to reach 
so we are not prescribing a specific model in our 
recommendation however, the Taskforce heard of 
promising programmes from across the UK, offering 
the development of political skills, democratic 
education and building change-making capacity in 
working-class communities with young people of 
diverse ethnic backgrounds. 

As a Taskforce, we encourage the development of 
new approaches to youth leadership development 
which respond to the issues we have outlined and 
specifically support ethnic minority young people 
from traditionally marginalised backgrounds to 
develop the skills, insights, networks, and self-belief 
needed to aspire to positions of power and influence, 
both formal and informal. 

IN DEPTH:

10 Office for National Statistics, Household Income Inequality, UK: financial year ending 2020, www.ons.
gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/incomeandwealth/bulletins/
householdincomeinequalityfinancial/financialyearending2020 

Spotlight on: Youth political participation, a summary of 
evidence

• In the 2017 UK General Election, young 
people turned out to vote in greater 
numbers than at any other point for 25 
years. 

• Polling research from Ipsos MORI 
suggests that turnout in 2019 ranged from 
47% among 18 to 24-year-olds up to 74% 
among over-65s. This was a wider gap 
than in 2017, when the same pollsters 
measured turnout at 54% and 71% 
respectively in these age groups.1

• In the 2021 Welsh Parliamentary 
elections, poll data suggests that just 46% 
of 16–17-year-olds used their new voting 
rights and that young voter registration for 
16–17-year-olds in Cardiff was the lowest 
of any local authority area, at 34.72%.2

• The Ethnic Minority British Election 
Study (EMBES), found that whilst age is 
a significant factor determining turnout 
across all ethnic groups, the effect of age 
is actually weaker for ethnic minorities 
groups than for White British young 

 people.3

Sources:
1. Ipsos Mori, How Britain voted in the 2019 election, How Britain voted in the 2019 election | Ipsos 
2. Local Authority Data, Stats Wales, visualisation from BBC Wales, Welsh elections: At least 35,000 
young people not registered to vote, https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-politics-56919775  
3. Heath, Anthony F., et al. “British Election Study Ethnic Minority Survey.” UK Data Service. SN 6970 
(2010).

© BBC Wales

P
age 39



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

58 59

Cardiff Council’s elected members should support the Welsh 
Local Government Association’s Diverse Council Declaration, 
to support diversity in democracy and representation of 
ethnic minority groups in the capital city

3.4
RECOMMENDATION:

While Cardiff performs better than many Councils 
in terms of councillor diversity, people from Black, 
Asian and ethnic minority backgrounds, women, 
younger people and those with a disability are not 
yet proportionately represented in the Welsh capital’s 
Council chambers.

One of our early recommendations within this 
theme was for Cardiff Council to adopt the 
recommendations of the Welsh Local Government 
Association’s (WLGA) Diversity in Democracy 
report. This report is the culmination of a cross-party 
working group to support increased representation 
of minority groups across Welsh Councils and 
ensure a supportive environment for Councillors 
who step forward to represent their community. The 
implementation of the recommendations contained 

within the WLGA report will require action from both 
the Councill’s Democratic Services Team, Democratic 
Services Committee and cross-party approaches. It 
is the view of the Race Equality Taskforce that there 
must be a sustained commitment from all parties to 
support efforts to increase ethnic diversity if Council 
chambers are to keep pace with modern Cardiff and 
look like the city that it represents.

In adopting the recommendations of the Diversity in 
Democracy report, the Council should support the 
Diverse Council Declaration as a public commitment 
and ensure the report’s recommendations are 
implemented through a clear action plan following 
the 2022 Local Government elections in Wales to 
engage new elected members in this important 
initiative for the city.

IN DEPTH:

Improve representation from Cardiff’s ethnic minority 
communities in key decision-making panels

3.5
RECOMMENDATION:

This recommendation points towards the Taskforce’s 
view that decision-making panels, advisory boards 
and committees in the city should reflect the 
views and experiences of Cardiff’s ever-increasing 
proportion of ethnic minority residents. This is not 
about a political agenda or quota approach but 
ensuring diversity of thought and informed decision-
making which reflects our city’s needs, priorities and 
ambitions. 

In particular, institutions in Wales’ capital city should 
reflect on the prevalence of all-White & all-male 
panels, and steps to ensure greater representation 
of the city’s true diversity across relevant panels and 
boards. 

In developing our proposals, the Taskforce 
consistently heard that a lack of visibility in 
positions of power sends a subliminal message 
to underrepresented groups that their views are 
unimportant. Correcting this will not be immediate 
but is an action which all elected representatives 
and public officials in the city, from all spheres of 
government and public services, need to take 
personal and collective accountability for.

A natural starting point will be the consideration 
of local statutory committees following the 2022 
Local Government Election, but as with our previous 
recommendation, can only be achieved with buy-in 
and commitment on a cross-party basis as political 
parties make their nominations to these committees 
at the commencement of the municipal term.

Beyond committees and boards where elected 
members serve and represent the city, these 
principles should also apply in a broader sense. 
This includes ensuring that event and conference 
organisers consider an appropriate mix of speakers, 
that hiring managers reflect on the diversity of their 
recruitment panels including inviting external panel 
members where appropriate, and that public services 
consistently reflect on who they are reaching with 
their consultation and engagement activities and 
seek to attain quality representation. 

While we have primarily focused on ethnicity, it is also 
equally important to ensure that these actions include 
focus on women, the LGBTQ+ community and those 
with disabilities.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 40



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

60 61

Broaden participation and accessibility in city planning and 
ensure there are appropriate platforms for engagement and 
community voice in the design of the city

3.6
RECOMMENDATION:

Urban planning is the art of giving shape, design, 
and structure to cities and towns. It involves various 
processes like the arrangement and design of 
buildings, transport systems, public spaces as well 
as good public amenities. In the context of climate 
emergency, it has become increasingly important 
to use available land and infrastructure in the best 
possible way, particularly within cities with fast-
growing populations and limited space.

To effectively serve residents, urban planning 
processes must engage with the demographic reality 
of Wales’ capital city. This includes understanding 
the needs of our fast growing and increasingly 
diverse population, recognising the significance 
of neighbourhoods in the traditional docks area 
to our longest-standing Black and ethnic minority 
communities and the rapid growth of Cardiff’s 
international student community.

The historic relationship between city planning and 
the ethnic minority communities of our city has been 
complex. Our Taskforce understand the community 
view that the development of Tiger Bay did not deliver 
the necessary benefits to Cardiff’s long-standing 
ethnic minority communities whose ancestors have 
lived in the streets of Butetown for over a century. 
Over time, these changes have come to be seen 
as the gentrification of a diverse communities’ 
traditional neighbourhood and this requires careful 
consideration in future city design and policy making. 

This starting point makes future planning decisions 
regarding the development of Atlantic Wharf a 
critical moment to reset and deliver community 
assets including housing and job opportunities for 
local ethnic minority people and we have made a 
recommendation in relation to this earlier in our report 
within the Employment and Representative Workforce 
chapter. 

Beyond this, mechanisms to support citizen’s 
engagement and voice in significant decisions 
regarding the future design of our city should be 
strengthened. Planning law is incredibly complex and 
opaque to the general public. Positioning planners 
so that they are more effective, creative and visible 
in their engagement with ethnic and racialized 
difference in the contemporary city should be a 
priority.

The Taskforce considers there to be three critical 
interfaces for future engagement:

• Meeting the city’s housing needs, particularly 
with regards affordable housing, for which there 
is significant demand generally across all ethnic 
groups and specific housing needs for ethnic 
minority groups in the city

• Economic development plans and ensuring these 
connect with labour market realities for ethnic 
minority communities and deliver meaningful and 
measurable opportunities

• Planning for broader public services and public 
spaces and consideration of their accessibility and 
design to best meet the needs of ethnic minority 
groups 

The Planning department should review their current 
accessibility measures for Planning Services to help 
users better understand processes and procedures 
and support public engagement on important 
planning issues. This could include straightforward 
public-facing information covering, for example: 
what planning do, why they do it, what users can 
do, what procedures are in place in Cardiff and what 
information can be provided for users to help them 
understand planning in Cardiff.

Beyond the provision of information, Community 
engagement works best where it is an ongoing 
cumulative process enabling relationships and trust to 
build and strengthen over time. 

As the Council prepares its next Local Development 
Plan, individual engagement events should be 
planned and designed with this in mind and aim to 
contribute to the overall aims of the engagement 
process. 

Community or voluntary groups may want to 
participate at a range of levels – from providing advice 
to co-designing the process and from undertaking 
some aspects of the engagement to delivering 
projects to meet some of the outcomes.

IN DEPTH:

Spotlight on: Cardiff’s Local 
Development Plan

Cardiff Council is currently preparing its new Local 
Development Plan (LDP) for the city. The LDP will help 
shape Cardiff for the next 15 years to 2036 ensuring 
the right development happens in the right place 
at the right time, benefitting communities and the 
economy and setting out which areas need to be 
protected.

There are many stages in preparing a Local 
Development Plan as set out in our Local 
Development Plan Delivery Agreement.

The LDP Regulations require the Council to work 
in partnership with a wide range of stakeholders in 
preparing the LDP, including specific and general 
consultation bodies and the general public.

Find out more about the Local Development Plan 
process and how you can get involved at: 
www.cardiffldp.co.uk

P
age 41



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

62 63

THEME 4: 
HEALTH
Data Insights: Health

There are health inequalities between ethnic minority and white groups, and between different ethnic 
minority groups. The picture is complex, both between different ethnic groups and across different 
conditions, and understanding is limited by a lack of good quality data.

Health and Race: A complex picture

• Health-related quality of life scores at older ages, are lower than average among most ethnic minority 
groups, especially the White Gypsy and Irish Traveller, Bangladeshi and Pakistani groups, but not 
among some others (Black Caribbean, Black African and Mixed groups). 

• Ethnic minority groups also have an increased prevalence of some long-term conditions, but not for 
others

• Analyses show most ethnic minority groups have lower overall mortality than white counterparts but 
also that this mortality advantage is reduced in their UK-born descendants 

• Certain Black and Ethnic Minority groups have higher rates of some health conditions. For example, 
South Asian and Caribbean-descended populations have a substantially higher risk of diabetes; 
Bangladeshi-descended populations are more likely to avoid alcohol but to smoke and sickle cell 
anaemia is an inherited blood disorder, which mainly affects people of African or Caribbean origin.

Unpicking the causes of ethnic inequalities in health is difficult. Available evidence suggests a complex 
interplay of deprivation, environmental, physiological, health-related behaviours and the ‘healthy 
migrant effect’.

Ethnic minority groups are disproportionately affected by socio-economic deprivation, a key 
determinant of health status in all communities, but it is not clear if the relationship applies equally 
across all ethnic groups.

EXPLAINER:
The ‘healthy migrant effect’ is the mortality advantage in migrants relative 
to the majority population in host countries that is reported in many 
countries. It could be due to the selective migration of healthy individuals 
and/or healthier lifestyles such as lower smoking and alcohol consumption.

The health domain within the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation includes four indicators: cancer 
incidence; limiting long-term illness; all-cause death rate; and low birth weight. A high proportion of 
Cardiff’s Black/African/Caribbean/Black British ethnic group (31.7%) reside in the most deprived areas 
of Cardiff within the WIMD health domain.

Although the coronavirus pandemic created 
widespread fears and risks to lives and livelihoods 
across communities in Wales and around the 
world, the impacts on Black and ethnic minority 
groups have been especially profound. 

The Covid-19 pandemic has had a 
disproportionate impact on ethnic minority 
communities, who have experienced higher 
infection and mortality rates than the white 
population. Geography, deprivation, occupation, 
living arrangements and health conditions such 
as CVD and diabetes accounted for a large 
proportion, but not all, of the excess mortality risk 
of Covid-19 in ethnic minority groups.  Research 
from the Kings Fund, exploring health data from 
England concluded that Covid-19 has reversed the 
previous picture for some ethnic minority groups 
which now have higher overall mortality than the 
white population.

Following the Covid-19 pandemic, NHS Wales 
is taking steps to improve ethnicity recording 
in health records and future data collection 
should facilitate a better understanding of ethnic 
differences in health. Between April and May 

2020, research by the Office of National Statistics 
found that individuals from Asian/Asian British 
background were 4.8 times more likely to test 
positive to COVID-19 than people of White 
ethnicity. 11

In addition, COVID-19 death rates per 100,000 
population were 2.7 and 2.0 times higher 
for males and females of Black-African ethnic 
background compared to those of White ethnicity.11

In another recent report, ONS examined the 
relationship between ethnicity and COVID-19 
mortality by building a multivariable model to 
take a number of factors into account. These 
included age, health, geography, socioeconomic 
variables and occupation. Once adjusting for 
all these factors, the report found statistically 
significant raised rates of death for males and 
females of Black African, Black Caribbean, Indian, 
Pakistani and other ethnic group. After adjustment, 
compared to White males; the rate of deaths 
among Black African males was 2.3 times greater, 
for Bangladeshi males it was 1.9 times greater, for 
Black Caribbean males 1.7 times greater and for 
Pakistani males 1.6 times greater. 12 

Health Domain: Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

COVID-19

11 ONS, Coronavirus and the social impacts on different ethnic groups in the UK:2020, Coronavirus and the social impacts on different 
ethnic groups in the UK: 2020 - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)
12 Updating ethnic contrasts in deaths involving the coronavirus (COVID-19), England and Wales: deaths occurring 2 March to 28 July 2020, 
Updating ethnic contrasts in deaths involving the coronavirus (COVID-19), England and Wales - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk)

P
age 42



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

64 65

Spotlight on: NHS Race and Health Observatory

A new NHS Race and Health Observatory has been established by the NHS Confederation to examine 
ethnic health inequalities in England (both outcomes and experiences).

The Observatory will work towards tackling ethnic and racial inequalities in healthcare amongst 
patients, communities and the NHS workforce. It will be a proactive investigator, making evidence-
based recommendations for change and helping to facilitate practical implementation of those 
recommendations across health and care. 

The Observatory has five workstreams:

1. Improving health and care: Focusing on areas in health and care that have long shown ethnic 
inequalities in access, experience or outcomes, working to reshape policy and practice so that they 
support fair health and care for all, from neonatal health to end of life care.

2. Empowering Vulnerable Communities: The most vulnerable in society are often those who 
experience the cumulative impact of health inequalities. The Observatory’s work in this area will build 
understanding around complex social determinants of health as well as the resulting effect that can 
have on individual personal choices.

3. Innovating for all: Digital technology has great potential to improve how the health and care sectors 
deliver their services in a modern way; providing faster, safer and more convenient care. It is essential 
that new and innovative approaches, technologies and data collection structures are designed to help 
reduce ethnic health inequalities.

4. Creating equitable environments: rebuilding and supporting health and care systems, change levers 
and management leadership behaviours – to tackle ethnic health inequalities and promote quality of 
care, safety, compassion and a fairer experience for patients, NHS staff and diverse communities alike.

5. Collaborating globally: working both nationally and internationally, connecting with organisations 
and key stakeholders from across the country and around the world and sharing innovative research, 
practice, and learning between communities and across borders.

Find out more: https://www.nhsrho.org/ 

HEALTH: 
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS
In partnership with Cardiff & Vale Health 
University Health Board, three priorities 
were agreed with our Taskforce for future 
development. The context of the ongoing 
pandemic and emerging evidence on the 
disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on 
ethnic minority groups meant that each of 
the recommendations outlined in this section 
have been progressed with urgency during 
the course of the Taskforce programme.

The recommendations in this chapter respond 
to early findings and reflections regarding 
ethnic minority health inequalities at the onset 
of the Covid-19 pandemic and the fact that 
the limited availability of data compromises 
current opportunities to focus on broader 
service improvements and reforms both in the 
immediate and longer term. 

These three priority areas will contribute to an 
improved understanding of ethnic minority 
resident’s health outcomes and support 
improved engagement between the health 
board and ethnic minority Cardiff residents at 
a local level. 

P
age 43



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

66 67

Improve ethnicity recording within the healthcare system, 
for both patients and staff

4.1
RECOMMENDATION:

Ethnicity data is essential for improving the health and 
wellbeing of people from Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic communities. 

A lack of ethnicity data profiling of patients accessing 
healthcare services in Wales and the wider UK has 
long impeded the informed development of quality 
of care and research efforts for ethnically diverse 
populations. Extensive research has explained the 
crucial role of health data in: 

• Supporting needs assessments and service 
planning 

• Enabling monitoring of equity of access and 
outcomes 

• Informing clinical practice 
• Improving the evidence on inequalities in 

population-based risks and outcomes 
• Supporting high quality research 

The need for accurate patient ethnicity data has been 
explicitly demonstrated by the Covid-19 pandemic, 
with clear disproportionality for ethnic minority 
groups as indicated in the statistics listed in the earlier 
data section of this chapter. Good quality data is 
an essential cornerstone of an effective health care 
system. Without it, the ability to deliver equitable, 
high-quality care to all is significantly compromised. 
This applies also to the collection and availability of 
ethnicity data within healthcare systems, however, 
analyses to date demonstrates significant limitations 
in both the completeness (coverage) and the quality 
of ethnicity recording in health records. The call for 
more comprehensive ethnicity recording as part of 
the response to Covid-19 could result in data that 
is more complete but the quality of which remains 

poor. Both aspects need consideration and address 
in the Health Board’s response. 

It is important that NHS organisations and staff, 
along with GPs as first points of contact for citizens 
accessing most health services, are aware of how 
this information should be collected from patients 
and recorded. For example, ethnicity should be 
self-reported, using official classifications of ethnicity, 
and staff should understand that “not stated” is a 
legitimate response i.e., patients should have the 
option of declining to state their ethnicity (which 
is different to the “unknown” category, where it 
wasn’t possible to ask the patient their ethnicity). 
There should also be an agreed set of rules to 
account for situations in which the patient has a 
temporary or permanent lack of capacity. In terms 
of staff, the NHS through its Electronic Staff Records 
has comprehensive ethnicity data in relation to its 
employees and this data is published and available 
in the public domain. This practice is not replicated 
in the case of patients and the Health Board is not 
yet in the position to provide quality ethnicity data 
regarding those accessing healthcare. 

The Taskforce encourages the Cardiff & Vale 
University Health Board to work collaboratively with 
Welsh Health Equity Solutions Platform in the first 
instance, but also with other similar or related Welsh 
and UK organisations such as engage with the work 
of the NHS Race and Health Observatory, to advance 
progress on ethnicity recording within the healthcare 
system and ensure that this translates into meaningful 
changes in practice to address dual issues of data 
coverage and quality.

IN DEPTH:

Complete further investigation into the experiences of ethnic 
minority staff and patients and review the complaints and 
resolution procedure 

4.2
RECOMMENDATION:

The NHS is often portrayed as a success story of 
ethnic minority workforce representation. 

The recent UK-wide findings of the British Medical 
Association and other data on NHS staff experience, 
such as the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard 
survey (note: this covers NHS Trusts in England 
only and does not include the local workforce in 
its findings), illustrate that ethnic minority staff in 
healthcare professions continue to have different and 
unequal experiences in the workplace compared to 
their White colleagues. 

Doctors and other healthcare staff from ethnic 
minority backgrounds and those who qualified 
outside the UK but are registered to practice here, 
want to focus on caring for patients, without the 
burden of abuse that comes from demoralising 
and often debilitating experiences of racism in the 
workplace. 

This evidence requires a comprehensive investigation 
into the experiences of local staff within the Cardiff 
& Vale University Health Board, and a review of the 
procedural response to racist incidents and bullying. 
Additional consideration should be given to the 
wellbeing support that is offered to ethnic minority 
staff who encounter these prejudicial behaviours at 
work. 

The Taskforce was encouraged by the Cardiff & 
Vale Health Board’s proactive response to this 
recommendation and the accompanying Delivery 
Report to the Taskforce’s Report outlines the actions 
implemented to date.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 44



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

68 69

Improve engagement and communication with Black and 
Ethnic Minority communities around health and health 
improvement

4.3
RECOMMENDATION:

Throughout the course of the pandemic, local 
partner organisations have worked together to 
develop and deliver Test, Trace and Protect (TTP) 
services, the aim of which is to minimise risks to the 
local population from COVID-19 infection. 

As part of this response, the Regional Operational 
TTP Board established an ethnic minority work 
stream to identify how best to engage with ethnic 
minority communities, and support the delivery 
of public health messages, the work of TTP and 
the mass vaccination programme. The outcome 
was the formation of a highly successful Ethnic 
Minority Subgroup, where key partners from 
the local community co-produced an effective 
communications and engagement programme with 
TTP partner organisations. A full report of this work 
can be found here - Test Trace Protect supporting 
ethnic minority communities (office.com) 

In order to create a legacy from this work, and 
build upon the relationships developed during the 
pandemic, the Taskforce recommended that the 
University Health Board resource an engagement 
coordinator to lead on broader health promotion 
and awareness activity focusing on ethnic minority 
groups. 

This role should lead the coordination of actions 
across the Health Board, Council and wider partners 
to develop effective partnership models which 
address health inequalities experienced by ethnic 
minority communities. This should include identifying 
and implementing policy and service interventions 
and delivering regular engagement with relevant 
statutory, voluntary and private sector stakeholders 
and communities on issues relevant to ethnic minority 
health equity. 

IN DEPTH:

P
age 45



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

70 71

THEME 5: 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE
Introduction

David Lammy MP’s 2017 review shone an essential 
light on disparity in the treatment of, and outcomes 
for, Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) people 
within the criminal justice system in the UK.  

These findings rightly prompted action from the 
UK Government’s Ministry of Justice, which has 
twice reported on the implementation of the 
Lammy review’s recommendations. Whilst there 
has been some progress made,  it is clear that 
there is still a very long journey ahead to address 
overrepresentation and poor treatment of ethnic 
minority people across the whole criminal justice 
system.

Our starting point in developing our local 
approach was a recognition that, turning the dial 
on racial disparity in the criminal justice system 
needs a whole system approach. Many facets of 
the Criminal Justice System are non-devolved and 
remain the remit of the UK Government, meaning 
there are limits to what local stakeholders can 
achieve in addressing system-wide issues. 

Nonetheless, a reformed system approach spans 
many areas of diverse services, many of which 
are designed and delivered through a local 
lens, from the diversion of young ethnic minority 
people away the criminal justice system, to 
providing rehabilitative support in communities. 
These are areas where a local approach can 
add considerable value and we can test new 
approaches, particularly with regards preventative 
services.

In developing our proposals against this theme, 
the Taskforce and local community members we 
engaged in local conversations regarding race and 
criminal justice often reflected on the relationship 
between the criminal justice system and a wide 
area of social and economic experiences. 

Areas regularly discussed included employment, 
education, health and mental health, and housing, 
with many of those we engaged sharing the 
perspective that disadvantages and hardship 
within these domains contribute to crime and 
higher entrance rates to the criminal justice system. 
These reflections are supported by swathes 
of peer-reviewed evidence from sociologists 
and economists, which explain the intimate 
relationship between poverty and crime.

In light of this, the other recommendations 
we have made throughout this report should 
be recognised as further measures to address 
socioeconomic deprivation and structural racism 
in wider society which have led to the reality 
described by the data below. Our city can’t 
make those changes alone, but we hope that our 
approach will support further action across all 
layers of government and public services.

Against the complex backdrop of issues and 
connectors relevant to the criminal justice 
landscape, the recommendations made here 
can only represent a starting point and do not 
constitute a full change programme. 

The Taskforce are aware of the ongoing work of 
the Criminal Justice in Wales Board, which has 
identified Race Equality as one of its four priorities 
and has been resourced by criminal justice 
institutions in Wales to sustain its work programme. 
We encourage all local stakeholders to commit 
to engagement with this important and long-term 
work and recognise the particular significance 
these issues have in the context of our diverse 
capital city. 

13 UK Government, The Lammy Review, 2017, Lammy review: final report - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
14 See the UK Government’s most recent report on the implementation of the Lammy Review’s recommendations for further 
information, Ministry of Justice and Race Disparity Unit, Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice system: 2020, Published 
February 2020, Tackling racial disparity in the criminal justice system: 2020 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

DATA INSIGHTS: 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE
Lammy Review Findings

The Lammy Review was an independent review into the treatment of, and outcomes for Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic individuals in the criminal justice system, commissioned by two Prime Ministers.

The review’s terms of reference span adults and children; women and men. It covers the role of the 
Crown Prosecution Service (CPS), the courts system, prisons and young offender institutions, the Parole 
Board, the Probation Service and Youth Offending Teams (YOTS) and befitted from access to resources, 
data and information held by the criminal justice system (CJS) which was not previously available in the 
public domain for scrutiny and analysis.

It provides detailed, independent analysis of disproportionality and its findings are far-reaching, 
spanning 108 pages in total, but here we have included some of the most significant:

OF THE GENERAL 
POPULATION

ARREST RATES ARE 

HIGHER 
FOR ETHNIC 
MINORITY PEOPLE

14% 25% 
OF THE PRISON 
POPULATION

40% 
OF YOUNG PEOPLE 
IN CUSTODY

Ethnic minority people make up:

In addition:

ETHNIC MINORITY PEOPLE 
ARE MORE LIKELY TO

PLEAD NOT 
GUILTY

ETHNIC MINORITY PEOPLE 
ARE MORE LIKELY TO

RECEIVE PRISON 
SENTENCES FOR 
DRUGS OFFENCES

ETHNIC MINORITY PEOPLE 

REPORT POOR 
EXPERIENCES 
OF PRISON

The review explained in its analysis that if ethnic minority people were not disproportionately 
represented in the UK’s criminal justice system, there would be 9,000 fewer prisoners, the equivalent 
of 12 average-sized prisons. The current economic cost of this overrepresentation to our courts, 
prisons and probation service is estimated to be £309 million a year.

P
age 46



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

72 73

UK Government Ethnicity Facts and Figures Portal: Crime, 
justice and the law

Confidence in the local police
• In the year ending March 2020, 74% of people 

aged 16 and over in England and Wales said they 
had confidence in their local police

• Every year, a lower percentage of Black 
Caribbean people reported that they had 
confidence in their local police than White British 
people

• In the 3 years from April 2017 to March 2020, a 
higher percentage of people in the Asian, White, 
and Other ethnic groups had confidence in their 
local police than Black people

Stop and search
• UK-wide, there were 11 stop and searches for 

every 1,000 people, down from 25 per 1,000 
people in the year ending March 2010

• There were 6 stop and searches for every 1,000 
White people, compared with 54 for every 1,000 
Black people

• Stop and search rates have fallen for every ethnic 
group since 2009

Victims of crime
• In the year ending March 2020, 13% of people 

aged 16 and over said they had been the victim 
of a crime at least once in the last year. This was 
down from 17% in the year ending March 2014

• Over a 7-year period, the percentage of White 
people who said they were victims of crime went 
down from 17% to 13%

• Men from Mixed ethnic backgrounds (21%) were 
more likely to be victims of crime than men from 
any other ethnic group for the 3 years from April 
2017 to March 2020

• Asian people aged 75 and over (11%) were more 
likely to be a victim of crime than White people 
aged 75 and over (6%)

Fear of crime
• In 2015/16, around one-fifth of people aged 16 

and over in England and Wales believed that they 
were either ‘very likely’ or ‘fairly likely’ to be a 
victim of crime in the next year

• Overall, the figures for fear of crime have 
remained consistent between 2013/14 and 
2015/16

• In 2015/16, a smaller proportion of White 
people reported a fear of crime compared with 
Asian people, Black people, and those from the 
Other ethnic group

• Asian people and those from the Other ethnic 
group had the highest levels of fear of crime

Reoffending
• Black offenders had the highest reoffending rate 

(32.7%) in the year ending March 2018 – the rate 
for White offenders was 30.6%

• Offenders in the Other (including Mixed) ethnic 
group had the lowest reoffending rate (20.9%)

• In every ethnic group, young offenders had a 
higher reoffending rate than adults

• White offenders committed the most reoffences 
per person (4.17 on average)

Since the Lammy Review’s publication, the Ethnicity Facts and Figures website has also highlighted 
other data regarding policing in the UK. 

SOURCE: All data obtained from the UK Government’s Ethnicity Facts and Figures Portal, https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.
service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law 

Local community engagement: 
summary of themes

In developing their recommendations, our Criminal Justice Sub-Group completed outreach and 
community engagement to inform their proposal development process. This engagement took the 
form of focus groups and open dialogue along with 1-2-1’s with residents and ethnic minority led 
organisations in Cardiff.  This work was led by Race Equality Taskforce member, and Vice-Chair of the 
Criminal Justice Sub-Group, Marcus Walters, as a local facilitator who is independent of the criminal 
justice system. 

Marcus’ conversations with our local community explored areas of concern and, critically, community 
solutions to address the issues communities identified. Below, we have summarised the key themes of 
this dialogue, which formed the basis of further work to develop collaborative solutions across local 
criminal justice organisations and partnerships:  

1.
Data and 
transparency

2.
Disparity and 
Disproportionality

3.
Hate Crime and 
Reducing Racial 
Abuse in Cardiff

4. 
Cultural Awareness 
and Anti-Racism 
Training

5.
Representative 
Workforce

6. 
Youth provision 
and prevention 
services

7. 
Building 
Relationships 
and Trust

The community highlighted the need for transparent data and opportunities for outsider scrutiny and 
analysis. This included both data concerning those whose lives are touched by the Criminal Justice 
System and relevant outcomes and experience data, and data concerning the workforce.

This covered broad themes reflecting the complexity and breadth of the criminal justice system, with 
community members highlighting general trends that they were aware of, such as the overrepresentation 
of young Black men in the criminal justice system as a whole and in Stop & Search statistics.

Community members highlighted issues around hate crime in recent years and particular trigger points 
which increased racial abuse, such as the EU referendum, and expressed concerns around the support 
made available to victims through case work and general holistic support. The need for upstream 
prevention through improved education-focused approaches was identified and is actioned in one of our 
earlier recommendations within the Education theme.

Many community members we spoke to highlight the need for additional training for frontline staff 
working within the criminal justice system. Feedback reflected that this should focus on improving 
understanding of cultural diversity among different populations of people and building cultural 
competency skills to interact with people of diverse cultures, especially in conflict management. 

Communities emphasised that the current criminal justice workforce, and particular the police workforce, 
which is most visible in their communities, was not representative of the community it serves. This was 
identified as a key area for action to build trust and confidence, but community members highlighted 
those current perceptions around criminal justice will present complex barriers to ongoing workforce 
diversification.  

Feedback within this theme reflecting the essential role of youth work, mentorship and diversion 
opportunities for young people from ethnic minority backgrounds. Our conversations highlighted issues 
around mental health provision for young people and the reality that young Black people are treated 
more harshly by the criminal justice system but are more likely than White Groups to access mental health 
services once within the system. Community members highlighted that mental-health focused prevention 
should be a local priority for young Black and ethnic minority men. Our dialogue also highlighted the 
need to align and strengthen youth provision in key parts of the city and provide safe places for young 
people to meet and ‘just be kids’, with appropriate supervision and safeguards, such as youth centres.

Community members highlighted that visible and accountable reform was necessary to build trust with 
ethnic minority communities in the city, particularly the Black community. This was emphasised to need 
a long term and proactive approach, making ongoing reform and service development efforts and 
outcomes visible.  

Theme Insights

P
age 47



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

74 75

CRIMINAL JUSTICE: 
OUR RECOMMENDATIONS
Our recommendations within this theme have been developed working together in partnership with 
communities, individuals with lived experience and expert organisations, to identify the problems and, 
most importantly, work together on solutions to address racial disparities in the criminal justice system

As outlined in the introduction to this chapter, local services, satellite offices of UK Government 
departments and individual police forces do not hold all the levers of change, and this is a deeply 
complex landscape where we face impact limitations acting alone as a local partnership. 

What we have strived to achieve in our recommendations is a clear programme of actions which can be 
led and delivered locally and contributes to a whole system approach. 

Our research indicated that city-orientated action programmes to address racial disparities in the 
criminal justice system are not well-tested or developed. In the UK context, we could only identify such 
an approach being taken in London, led by Mayor Sadiq Khan, who chairs MOPAC (the Mayor’s Office 
for Policing and Crime) and is responsible for policing in the capital, giving direction to the Metropolitan 
Police Service. The approach we are advocating through our recommendations in this chapter is 
therefore a new one for Cardiff.

Together, the recommendations we have made within this theme can contribute to broader learning 
across the criminal justice system and inform future service design to prioritise prevention and diversion 
pathways. Several recommendations concern new major projects which have received temporary 
grant resources to test new ways of providing support to those on the periphery of the criminal justice 
system. We encourage service providers to collect robust data, evaluate and reflect on the learning of 
these projects to inform long-term service design and commissioning approaches. This can only be the 
beginning. 

Commit to test approaches & collaborate on data exploration 
at both a local and national level- following the Criminal Justice 
in Wales approach (formerly All Wales Criminal Justice Board)

5.1
RECOMMENDATION:

Collection and publication of data on criminal justice 
system-civilian interactions gives both institutions 
and communities the information they need to 
ensure best practices and eliminate racial profiling. 
Common-sense data collection on arrests, pleas, 
trial outcomes, and sentences helps identify the 
geographic areas and parts of the criminal justice 
process in need of reform.

The national Criminal Justice in Wales Board have 
established a Data Task Group to review ethnicity 
data captured across the criminal justice system in 
Wales. 

Our first recommendation within the Criminal Justice 
theme is that local criminal justice partners commit to 
participation and learning during this national review 
of ethnicity data capture. They should support the 

delivery of this important project by sharing local 
relevant data, and insights into local data practice, as 
required by the review. 
A key area of learning throughout the Lammy Review 
was the need to strengthen data capture, analysis 
and transparency across the criminal justice system. 
Local partners benefit from the aspirations and 
resourcing of the Criminal Justice in Wales Board to 
deliver on these recommendations in Wales. 

This is an essential first step in understanding the 
solutions to overrepresentation, evaluating new 
approaches and delivering accountable and vital 
changes for ethnic minority communities. As this 
comes to be achieved ongoing transparency and 
opportunities for independent scrutiny and challenge 
will do much to build confidence and trust in criminal 
justice institutions.

IN DEPTH:

P
age 48



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

76 77

Cardiff’s local criminal justice partnership should develop 
and invest in tailored or alternative approaches to diversion 
for ethnic minority groups

5.2
RECOMMENDATION:

Diversion refers to the strategies that seek to 
prevent an offender from formal processing by in 
the criminal justice system. In his 2017 review of 
racial disparity in the criminal justice system, Rt 
Hon. David Lammy MP highlighted that disparity in 
the youth justice system was his ‘biggest concern’. 
Research strongly indicates that unequal treatment 
early in the system accumulates into larger 
disparities downstream.

Diversion itself may be formal, for example 
requirements for the offender to complete a 
program as a condition, helping to keep them out 
of the criminal justice system either entirely or in 
part. Or informal, including practices such as youth 
work and mentoring for those at risk of criminal 
exploitation, work which helps to avoid crime and 
keeps young people safe. 

Diversion can occur at different points within the 
criminal justice process and community members 
we engaged clearly expressed their view that 
diversion is at its best when it is preventing first-
time entry to the criminal justice system. This calls 
for a renewed look at the approach to low-level 
offending, first time offences and preventative 
upstream support.

The benefits of this approach are well 
documented: improving reform and rehabilitation 
opportunities for offenders, reducing reoffending, 
reducing stigma and the criminogenic effect of 
formal processing, lowering costs and reducing 
the criminal justice caseload. 

Our recommendation is that local partners 
commit to a comprehensive review of diversion 
approaches and ensure that early-stage prevention 
and diversion opportunities for children and young 
people in particular are maximised at a local level.

IN DEPTH:

Spotlight on: Centre for Justice Innovation

Briefing: Youth diversion evidence and practice briefing: minimising labelling 
This briefing from the Centre for Justice Innovation emphasises the need to take all reasonable steps to 
avoid stigmatising children with ‘offender’ labels, and to prevent them from forming deviant identities 
that may interfere with their development. The briefing highlights that children tend to grow out of crime 
and that criminal justice processing may in fact increase delinquency through a backfire effect.

Find out more: www.justiceinnovation.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2019- 09/
minimising_labelling_final.pdf   

Equal Diversion? Racial disproportionality in youth diversion
This report highlights that while the evidence strongly suggests that youth diversion is beneficial for the 
children who go through it, and has been shown to reduce re-offending, inequality in access to, and 
engagement with, youth diversion is likely to have material impact on disparities later on in the system. 
The report highlights a number of factors which may impact ethnic minority young people’s access to 
and engagement with youth diversion including: a climate of mistrust, formal eligibility criteria, a lack of 
knowledge about the benefits of youth diversion and practitioner perceptions of family engagement. 
The report also highlights a number of promising practices which we encourage local stakeholders to 
reflect on how they could be strengthened and incorporated in city practice: 

• Workforce cultural competence and inclusion
• Multi0agency decision making and oversight
• Enhancing engagement
• Culturally specific programming
• Empowering Youth Justice Service staff
• Diversion training for defence solicitors
• Evidence-based eligibility criteria

Find out more: CJI_Exploring-disproportionality_D (1).pdf (justiceinnovation.org)

P
age 49



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

78 79

Cardiff’s local criminal justice institutions should invest in a 
comprehensive cultural competency training approach 

5.3
RECOMMENDATION:

Training for frontline staff and decision makers 
within the local criminal justice system was an issue 
frequently raised in our engagement with ethnic 
minority Cardiffians on criminal justice priorities. 

The right kind of training will play a crucial role 
in building capability and understanding across 
organisations in the criminal justice sector and equip 
staff with the necessary skills to be active in delivering 
individual and collective change which will address 
disproportionality. 

Cultural competence means being equitable and 
non-discriminatory in your practice and behaviour. 

It requires a balanced approach to others in which 
cultural identity and cultural context are understood, 
respected and taken into account. Like competence 
in general, cultural competence is the responsibility 
of both the individual and the organisation. 

Our Taskforce recommends that Cardiff’s local 
criminal justice partners commit to develop an 
appropriate programme of Cultural Competency 
training and ensure this reaches all tiers of staff from 
frontline to senior decision makers.

IN DEPTH:

Sustain and develop current efforts to increase workforce 
representation within the Criminal Justice System and 
develop a wider approach to addressing representation 
across the sector, in partnership with the Public Service 
Board

5.4
RECOMMENDATION:

It was recognised by our Taskforce that there are 
ongoing programmes of work to increase ethnic 
diversity within criminal justice organisations in the 
city. In particular, there is a significant representative 
workforce programme being implemented by South 
Wales Police, but this will take time to demonstrate 
impact due to the training requirements for newly 
recruited officers and entrants to the force. 

Our recommendation is that these efforts must be 
sustained with South Wales Police and stepped up 
across the broader sector. This recommendation 

therefore cuts across multiple organisations including 
Cardiff Council’s Youth Justice Service, Her Majesty’s 
Prisons and Probation Service, Ministry of Justice and 
many others. 

This work should encapsulate a broad approach 
to use new and innovative approaches to attract 
ethnic minority candidates at recruitment, identify 
and nurture diverse talent and continue to promote 
programmes which support positive action and track 
their progression and success over time.

IN DEPTH:

© BBC Wales

P
age 50



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

80 81

Cardiff’s local Criminal Justice Sector should take part in 
the Department for Work and Pensions Kickstart Scheme as 
another means to address workforce representation

5.5
RECOMMENDATION:

Our fifth recommendation within the criminal justice 
theme focuses specifically on the recruitment of 
young ethnic minority people into the criminal justice 
workforce, as future professionals, decision makers 
and leaders.

The Kickstart scheme supports young people who 
are currently unemployed and receiving Universal 
Credit into work. The scheme offers 6 month paid 
positions, with appropriate training and support to 
develop professional skills which provide a gateway 
to future meaningful employment at the end of the 
scheme. 

We recommend that criminal justice organisations 
in Cardiff commit to providing appropriate Kickstart 
placements to young people from Black, Asian and 
Ethnic Minority backgrounds as a signal of their 
commitment to increasing workforce representation 
and to encourage young ethnic minority people to 
consider future careers within the wide spectrum of 
roles offered across criminal justice system.

IN DEPTH:

Develop improved mental health service pathways and 
integrated training and support for police officers as first 
responders  

5.6
RECOMMENDATION:

Studies highlight that different ethnic groups have 
different rates and experiences of mental health 
problems, which reflect their different cultural and 
socio-economic contexts and access to culturally 
appropriate services. 

For example, African-Caribbean people living in 
the UK have lower rates of common mental health 
disorders but are three to five times more likely to 
be diagnosed with, and admitted to hospital for, 
schizophrenia. 

Research indicates that, in general, people from 
ethnic minority groups living in the UK are:

• More likely to be diagnosed with mental health 
problems

• More likely to be diagnosed and admitted to 
hospital

• More likely to experience a poor outcome from 
treatment

• More likely to disengage from mainstream mental 
health services, leading to social exclusion and a 
deterioration in their mental health 15 

The reasons for this disparity include:

• The impact of migration, including trauma in 
country of origin, complications in navigating the 
migration process and hostile responses in host 
country

• Material and socioeconomic disadvantage, 
including reduced access to employment and  
housing

• Experiences of racism and/or exclusion 16  

The Taskforce recommends that further local 
approaches are developed and tested to keep 
people out of the justice process where they would 
be better served by mental health support. 

Further service development in this area should 
include specific consideration of the needs and 
experiences of ethnic minority groups, recognising 
the complex and combining disadvantages in mental 
health service access outlined above. 

IN DEPTH:

15 Findings from the Mental Health Foundation. Available at: https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/a-to-z/b/black-asian-and-
minorityethnic-bame-communities   
16 Kane, E. (2014). Prevalence, patterns and possibilities: the experience of people from black and minority ethnic minorities with 
mental health problems in the criminal justice system. London: Nacro

P
age 51



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

82 83

Develop new mechanisms to strengthen community 
engagement and voice in the work of the Community Safety 
Partnership

5.7
RECOMMENDATION:

Our community engagement exercise found that 
local ethnic minority residents seek greater insight 
into the work of the Cardiff Community Safety 
Partnership and want to understand the mechanisms 
available to them to engage in the Partnership’s work 
in the city. 

Community Safety is complex and multifaceted, 
covering broad issues from low level anti-social 
behaviour to tackling serious violence. Therefore, 
the approach to community engagement will 
need to balance the risks, threats and harms to 
the community, alongside the effect this has on 
perceptions and feelings of safety.  

The Community voice is important as it provides 
an opportunity for the local Community Safety 
Partnership to understand and respond to community 
views and experiences.   

Community engagement requires skilled and 
knowledgeable practitioners who can build trust, 
exchange knowledge with communities and co-
produce effective local policy and practice with 
residents. As with all of our recommendations, this 
should be delivered with sensitivity and demonstrate 
understanding towards of the current lack of trust and 
confidence in criminal justice institutions within some 
ethnic minority groups. 

We recommend that further efforts are made to make 
the work of the Community Safety Partnership visible 
for ethnic minority Cardiffians, and that engagement 
mechanisms are developed to support conversation 
and dialogue on community safety issues across the 
Partnership’s broad portfolio of work. 

IN DEPTH:

Support capacity-building with ethnic-minority led voluntary 
sector groups to strengthen collaboration and delivery within 
criminal-justice related voluntary sector support services

5.8
RECOMMENDATION:

Our final recommendation within the criminal justice 
theme is that mechanisms are developed to support 
further collaboration between Black and ethnic 
minority-led organisations and major voluntary sector 
service providers within the criminal justice sector.

We make this recommendation as there is a lack 
of ethnic diversity across management positions in 
Cardiff’s voluntary sector, as with the public sector. 

This action therefore provides opportunities for 
mutual skill-sharing and opens dialogue for future 
service collaborations between ethnic minority-led 
organisations, which bring particular insight and 

expertise into the service needs of ethnic minority 
groups, and large established organisations with 
expertise in bid-writing, voluntary-statutory sector 
partnerships and grant management. 

Creating appropriate space for cross-pollination 
and relationship building will contribute to a 
collaborative eco-system in the city’s voluntary sector 
which supports the ongoing development of ethnic 
minority-led organisations. These organisations 
have much to offer in shaping the city’s approach to 
preventative and rehabilitative services and ensuring 
they meet the cultural needs of our city.

IN DEPTH:

© Wales Online (Image: Matthew Horwood) 

P
age 52



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  

84

Annex 1: Standard ethnic classifications used in the UK

This Report uses the terms “White” and “ethnic minority” in line with guidance from the Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) for reporting across the UK. 17 

Classifications and terminology have varied between country and over time. Those used here are based 
on the 2011 Census and the ONS’ recommendations for monitoring surveys. 

 SOURCE FOR TABLE: ONS: Ethnic Group, national identity and religion

White
• English/Welsh/ Scottish/

Northern Irish/British
• Irish
• Gypsy or Irish Traveller
• Any other White background

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups
• White and Black Caribbean
• White and Black African
• White and Asian
• Any other Mixed/Multiple ethnic 

background

Asian/Asian British
• Indian 
• Pakistani
• Bangladeshi
• Chinese 
• Any other Asian background 

Black/ African/Caribbean/ 
Black British
• African
• Caribbean 
• Any other Black/African/

Caribbean background

Other ethnic group
• Arab
• Any other ethnic group

White
• Scottish
• Other British
• Irish
• Gypsy/Traveller
• Polish
• Any other White ethnic group

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups
• Any mixed or multiple ethnic groups

Asian, Asian Scottish or Asian British
• Pakistani, Pakistani Scottish or Pakistani 

British 
• Indian, Indian Scottish or Indian British 
• Bangladeshi, Bangladeshi Scottish or 

Bangladeshi British 
• Chinese, Chinese Scottish or Chinese 

British 
• Any other Asian background 

African
• African, African Scottish or African British
• Any other African
• Caribbean or Black
• Caribbean, Caribbean Scottish or 

Caribbean British 
• Black, Black Scottish or Black British 
• Any other Caribbean or Black

Other ethnic group
• Arab, Arab Scottish or Arab British
• Any other ethnic group

White
• Irish Traveller

Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups
• White and Black Caribbean
• White and Black African
• White and Asian

Any other Mixed/Multiple 
ethnic background
• Asian/Asian British
• Indian 
• Pakistani
• Bangladeshi
• Chinese 
• Any other Asian 

background

Black/ African/
Caribbean/ Black British
• African
• Caribbean 
• Any other Black/African/

Caribbean background

Other ethnic group
• Arab
• Any other ethnic group

ONS Recommended Standard Ethnic Categories

ENGLAND AND WALES SCOTLAND NORTHERN IRELAND

17 ONS, Language and Spelling – Race and Ethnicity, https://style.ons.gov.uk/house-style/race-and-ethnicity/ 

Page 53



EXECUTIVE  SUMMARY        MARCH 2022

REPORT OF

CARDIFF 
RACE EQUALITY 
TASKFORCE

Page 54



REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

2 3

INTRODUCTION 

Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce was established to 
work to the following objectives: 

• Work with Cardiff’s communities and 
organisations to improve and prioritise race 
equality to achieve an inclusive, cohesive, thriving 
and representative city;

• Guide Cardiff’s policy and strategy developers to 
make sure race equality is included in all of their 
work;

• Use the Council’s convening power to advance 
race equality in the public, private and voluntary 
sector, working closely, where required, with the 
Cardiff Public Services Board; 

• Coordinate actions and recommendations to 
advance race equality, focusing on priority work-
streams, identified in consultation with the city’s 
ethnic minority residents;

• Report our progress on race equality and the 
general impact of inequality and discrimination on 
the ethnic minority communities of Cardiff.

Over the past eighteen months, Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce has been tasked with identifying 
practical opportunities for change to improve race equality in our city, finding new ways that we could 
deploy local levers to improve outcomes for Ethnic Minority residents. 

This Executive Summary lists the recommendations developed by Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce 
between July 2020- March 2022. It is an executive summary of the full Report of the Race Equality 
Taskforce, which can be found at: *LINK*

The Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce’s Objectives

Race Equality Taskforce: Priorities for change

In the following pages of this Executive Summary, we provide the itemised recommendations developed 
by the Taskforce to support future action-planning and delivery on race equality in our capital city.

Employment and 
Representative 

Workforce

Criminal Justice Education and 
Young People

Health Citizens’ Voice

P
age 55



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

4 5

THEME 1: EMPLOYMENT AND 
REPRESENTATIVE WORKFORCE  

Reference Recommendation 

1.1
Develop a city-wide network for employers to encourage good practice 
and collaboration on employment action to improve ethnic minority 
representation and progression in the local labour market

1.2 Become a signatory to the Cardiff Community Jobs Compact

1.3
Use planning and commissioning powers to require employers to recruit 
apprenticeships from disadvantaged groups and to increase transparency 
about the diversity of their workforces

1.4
Support an inclusive and engaged workforce where all staff understand 
and contribute to race equality action through awareness-raising internal 
programming

1.5 Increase participation of ethnic minority groups in the Into Work Advice 
Service

1.6 Improve access to and visibility of Cardiff Works for ethnic minority groups

1.7 Support career progression routes for ethnic minority employees at Cardiff 
Council

1.8
Cardiff Council should explore employer led ESOL (English for Speakers of 
other languages) for Council staff where their language skills are a barrier 
to progressionP

age 56



MARCH 2022

7

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  

6

THEME 2: EDUCATION AND
YOUNG PEOPLE  

Reference Recommendation 

2.1 Strengthen the local approach to bullying and prejudice-related incidents 
at school

2.2 Extend the work of Schools of Sanctuary to a broader network of schools 
and support the participation of refugee and asylum-seeking communities

2.3
To improve the experiences of Black, Asian and Ethnic Minority learners 
and teachers in schools by taking an inclusive and anti-racist approach to 
teaching and school experience

2.4 Support the diversification of the teaching workforce through a teaching 
assistant ‘Step into Teaching’ programme

2.5 Increase representation of ethnic minority residents in school leadership 
through a School Governors entry programme

2.6 Increase visibility of Black and Ethnic Minority role models and public 
education on Black History through events programming

THEME 3: CITIZEN’S VOICE 

Reference Recommendation 

3.1 Improve data collection and analysis on civic participation

3.2 Support the Race Alliance Wales manifesto and complete benchmarking 
against their recommendations to advance race equality in Wales

3.3
Scope opportunities to increase youth participation and engagement 
with civic processes and develop mechanisms to support ethnic minority 
youth representation in politics and decision-making

3.4
Cardiff Council’s elected members should support the Welsh Local 
Government Association’s Diverse Council Declaration, to support 
diversity in democracy and representation of ethnic minority groups in the 
capital city

3.5 Improve representation from Cardiff’s ethnic minority communities in key 
decision-making panels

3.6
Broaden participation and accessibility in city planning and ensure there 
are appropriate platforms for engagement and community voice in the 
design of the city

P
age 57



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

8 9

THEME 4: HEALTH  

Reference Recommendation 

4.1 Improve ethnicity recording within the healthcare system, for both 
patients and staff

4.2 Complete further investigation into the experiences of ethnic minority staff 
and patients and review the complaints and resolution procedure

4.3 Improve engagement and communication with Black and Ethnic Minority 
communities around health and health improvement

P
age 58



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: REPORT OF CARDIFF RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE  MARCH 2022

10 11

THEME 5: CRIMINAL JUSTICE

Reference Recommendation 

5.1
Commit to ethnicity data collection & collaborate on data analysis and 
exploration at both a local and national level- following the Criminal 
Justice in Wales approach (formerly All Wales Criminal Justice Board)

5.2 Cardiff’s local criminal justice partnership should develop and invest in 
tailored or alternative approaches to diversion for ethnic minority groups

5.3 Cardiff’s local criminal justice institutions should invest in a comprehensive 
cultural competency training approach 

5.4
Sustain and develop current efforts to increase workforce representation 
within the Criminal Justice System and develop a wider approach to 
addressing representation across the broader sector, in partnership with 
the Public Service Board.

5.5
Cardiff’s local Criminal Justice Sector should take part in the Department 
for Work and Pensions Kickstart Scheme as another means to address 
workforce representation.

5.6 Develop improved mental health service pathways and integrated training 
and support for police officers as first responders 

5.7 Develop new mechanisms to strengthen community engagement and 
voice in the work of the Community Safety Partnership.

5.8
Support capacity-building with ethnic-minority led voluntary sector groups 
to strengthen collaboration and delivery within criminal-justice related 
voluntary sector support services.P

age 59



Appendix B to the Report of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Taskforce Member Biographies. 
 

Taskforce Chair: 

 

Cllr Saeed Ebrahim: 

Cllr Ebrahim has been Ward Councillor for Butetown since 2017.  Cllr Ebrahim has a BA degree 

in Youth & Community and worked as a Community Education Officer for Cardiff Youth 

Service from 2005-2016. As part of this role, he managed Waterhall Youth Club and then 

Butetown Youth Pavilion.  Throughout this period, he worked to foster talent and a culture of 

inclusion, as well as working with those who often felt excluded or isolated from sports due 

to culture, faith, and religious barriers. From 2016-2017 Cllr Ebrahim worked for Cardiff 

Council PREVENT team, engaging with youths who were disengaged, to prevent antisocial 

behaviours and criminal activity. 

 

Cllr Ebrahim has a deep understanding of under-represented populations, in particular ethnic 

minority communities and other marginalised groups. Cllr Ebrahim took an interest in politics 

early on in his career, and through this he became involved in scrutiny processes and 

committees, developing debate skills and confidence to challenge opposing viewpoints, and 

effectively represent his community passionately. Within his political career, Cllr Ebrahim 

chaired a task and finish group which examined ASB, drug dealing and other crime, and the 

impact these activities have on Cardiff communities. Cllr Ebrahim has chaired the Race 

Equality Taskforce from 2020-2022.  

 

Taskforce Members: 

 

Eshaan Rajesh: 

Eshaan is currently a Year 12 pupil studying at Fitzalan High School and an active member of 

a comprehensive spectrum of organisational bodies such as the Economy and Culture Scrutiny 

Committee, CYPAB (Children and Young People’s Advisory Board), and Young Creators etc. He 

has also been elected as the Vice Chair and Executive Member of CYC (Cardiff Youth Council). 

Eshaan was born and raised in South India, until he arrived in the UK in August 2013. Eshaan 

recognises himself as a global citizen, who enjoys meeting and making new friends from every 

walk of life. He believes that as ethical and well-informed global citizens, we must challenge 

racial inequality and discrimination in our postmodern society, to be champions of freedom 

and justice. 

 

Cllr Dan De’Ath: 

Cllr De’Ath is a Cardiff County Councillor who has represented the Plasnewydd area 

(commonly known as Roath) of Cardiff since 2012. Cllr De’Ath served as Chair of the Council’s 

Page 60



Community & Adult Services Scrutiny Committee which examines the Local Authority’s 

delivery of Adult Social Services, Community Safety and issues like homelessness and welfare 

reform. In 2014 Cllr De’Ath joined the Council’s Cabinet serving as Cabinet Member for Early 

Years, Children and Families and then, following a reshuffle, the Cabinet Member for Safety, 

Engagement and Democracy.   

 

After the 2017 elections Cllr De’Ath became Deputy Lord Mayor of Cardiff for the Municipal 

Year 2017/18. Later, becoming Cardiff’s 115th Lord Mayor - becoming the first non-White 

Lord Mayor in our city’s history and the first Lord Mayor of Afro-Caribbean heritage in all of 

Wales. Cllr De’Ath served in the role for 18 months after the normally year long term was 

extended because of the Covid 19 crisis. During his time in office he led calls for the statue of 

slave owner Sir Thomas Picton to be removed from Cardiff’s City Hall and talked widely 

around issues connected to the Black Lives Matter movement.  

 

Najma Hashi: 

Najma works for the Future Generations Commissioner in Wales and has a degree in 

International Relations and a postgraduate degree in Culture, Diaspora and Ethnicity.  

Najma has been involved in tackling inequalities in Cardiff from a young age, through a range 

of projects, and has experience of working on social policy, specifically in regards to Black 

Asian and Minority Ethnic communities in Wales.  

 

Najma is very passionate about race equality initiatives, particularly in Wales. With a 

background of studying politics, culture and human rights, Najma hopes to move towards a 

more equal and fairer city by working with the Taskforce. Najma believes Cardiff’s 

multiculturalism is incredibly fascinating, and something that should be better used to bring 

together communities whilst tackling racial inequalities in the city. 

 

Daniel Mapatac: 

Daniel is an undergraduate student at Cardiff University. Originally from the Philippines, 

Daniel moved to North Wales at the age of three. In 2016, Daniel moved to Cardiff for 

university to pursue a degree in Chemistry. In this time, Daniel has been highly engaged and 

involved with the student community as a Student Senator, NUS Delegate and Student Advice 

& Welfare Executive Member, whilst also sitting on the youth board of a National Children’s 

charity. Daniel joined the Taskforce as he believes there are still many community issues to 

address and to improve. Daniel wants to contribute his experiences of growing up and 

navigating through Welsh society as a person of colour and help create meaningful change 

that is reflected in the community. 

 

Keithley Wilkinson: 

Keithley has extensive knowledge, experience and demonstrable commitment to race 

equality which can be demonstrated by his current post as the Equality Manager for Cardiff 

Page 61



and Vale University Health Board and previous posts in education. Part of his current role is 

to ensure that the organisation adheres to the Equality Act 2010, which includes the 

protected characteristic of race in service provision and employment as well as meeting 

obligations under the Human rights Act 1998. Keithley is the author of the organisation’s 

Strategic Equality Plan, which includes objectives around race and involved consultation and 

engagement. Keithley is a respected, enthusiastic and committed individual possessing a high 

work ethic and drive to creative a positive impact on society. 

 

Catherine Floyd: 

Catherine has a Masters level qualification in Public Health, covering the key determinants of 

health, including race. In Catherine’s roles as a nurse and public health consultant she is driven 

to ensure public health is equitable, empowering, effective, evidence-based and inclusive. 

Catherine believes that incorporating an explicit focus on ethnicity is important within health 

inequalities work because ethnic identities have implications for health independent of other 

socioeconomic factors. Catherine is committed to strengthening work together with local 

minority ethnic communities, and with their community leaders, to address some of these 

issues. Catherine believes that Cardiff has a strong partnership approach in a range of public 

health issues and would be keen to extend this in the arena of racial discrimination and race 

equality. 

 

Anita Naoko Pilgrim: 

Anita is currently an associate lecturer at the Open University, teaching Masters level modules 

on inclusive education. She is one of the authors on new short courses on inclusive online 

education and decolonising the curriculum. She has previously taught courses on race, 

ethnicity, equalities, diversity and social policy at universities across England and Wales. Anita 

has an expert understanding of the complex intersection of sexuality, gender, religion and 

race. Previously she worked on a number of national (Welsh) and local government reviews 

and reports on education and equalities, including a review of education and equalities in 

Wales for the Equalities and Human Rights Commission published by the Bevan Foundation, 

a study on racism in schools for Save the Children Wales, a review of race issues in the South 

West of England for the Black South West Network, and the evaluation of Children’s Fund 

projects in the London Borough of Lambeth.   

 

Asmut Price: 

In 2008, Asmut became an equalities champion within Cardiff Council, and played an active 

role in a number of training events, conferences and meetings around race equality. Asmut is 

currently the Chair of the council’s BAME Employee Network. This has given her more insight 

into race discrimination and the barriers this presents in the workplace, and Asmut provides 

support to colleagues in instances of discrimination including formal investigations. As Cardiff 

is the capital city of Wales, Asmut feels that it should be leading the way and fostering good 

relationships within communities to make them fair and inclusive. Asmut has first-hand 

Page 62



experience of racial discrimination, and feels that this has given her an excellent 

understanding of the types of racial discrimination the Black and Minority Ethnic citizens of 

Cardiff may face, including the impact of racist behaviour.  

 

Emma Wools 

Emma has 20 years’ experience working in the public sector and held a range of posts at a 

senior level in Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service.  For the last 4 years Emma has held 

the role of Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales. As a senior leader in 

Policing and Criminal Justice, Emma is committed to Equality Diversity and Inclusion, 

particularly tackling the very real issue of Race inequality across the system. As DPCC, Emma 

is joint lead, alongside the Deputy Chief Constable, for Race Equality in South Wales Police, 

with the responsibility for driving forward a joint action plan, focusing on improving insight 

and understanding of issues faced by Black and other ethnic minority communities across 

South Wales, through proactive engagement with our workforce and community groups, 

tackling ethnic disproportionately in areas such as stop & search , use of force and enhancing 

work force representation at all levels. As a lifelong Cardiff resident Emma would like to see 

the city further develop to be the exemplar of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.  

 

Hilary Brown 

Hilary is CEO of the only Black owned and Black led Alternative Business Structures (ABS) 

which is Wales based and operates as a SME.  Hilary also holds a position as Chair of Butetown 

Community Centre which is located within one of the oldest settled migrant communities in 

the UK and the centre plays a pivotal role in community engagement and consultation. Hilary 

has a keen interest in and considerable knowledge of working within various voluntary, 

business and private environments and developing good practices and protocols around Race 

Equality. Additionally, Hilary is a legal practitioner currently specialising in Asylum, 

Immigration, Human Rights and Race Discrimination believes that she has the knowledge and 

skills to identify where there is Racial disparity and explore remedies both Legal and practical. 

 

Yusef Jama 

Yusef’s roles in the Taxi Trade and as Unite Branch Secretary, involve fostering working 

relationships with various departments within the Local Authority and Welsh Government 

taxi Licencing Department. This relationship has allowed him to address concerns rapidly and 

ensure early consultation that keeps the BAME make-up of the trade-in mind, this has 

resulted in instances of policy changes by enforcing Equality Impact Assessments. Yusef 

recognises the issues in the Taxi trade which are heavily influenced by race, but also by 

employment status, social class and language barriers as many of the drivers adopt English as 

a second language knowing only the basic English to communicate. Before becoming Unite 

Branch Secretary Yusef shied away from activism, feeling that he didn’t have the ability to 

articulate his ideas in a way that could be understood. As those of authority that would hear 

him out held a high position within their employment sectors. Yusef has a passion for youth 

Page 63



work and a drive to divert youths in his community away from ‘gang culture’ and the justice 

system. The prejudices Yusef has faced growing up and continues to face are the same as the 

under-represented working-class backgrounds youths of today live in. The realisation of how 

little has changed in all those years has encouraged Yusef to become involved in the important 

work of the Race Equality Taskforce. 

 

Yaina Samuels 

Yaina is the founder of NuHi Training, a St. David Award winner (first black person to win this 

award), a qualified manager, mentor and award-winning global recovery activist. Yaina has 

worked within the voluntary and public sectors delivering services to marginalised groups in 

the areas of housing, health, education, and social care. Yaina’s work has been underpinned 

with a strong knowledge of and commitment to race equality. Over Yaina’s diverse 35 years 

working career she has participated in many ‘conversations for change’ that have resulted in 

no change taking place. As a black woman born and brought up in Wales, Yaina feels that she 

has much to offer in driving forward this much needed initiative and considers herself to be a 

change maker and positive influencer. 

 

Salah Mohamed 

Salah graduated from the faculty of economics and social studies, University of Khartoum, 

Sudan in 1975. Salah joined the Civil Service in Sudan (1976-1993) and was the second highest 

post then as deputy first undersecretary/Director for bilateral economic cooperation in the 

ministry of Finance and Economic Planning, before fleeing the country in 1993. In Wales, Salah 

founded and co-founded, and acted as a trustee in many voluntary organisations. Salah also 

worked for the Welsh Refugee Council (WRC) for more than twenty years, and was the Chief 

Executive Officer before retiring. Salah’s role with the WRC provided advice and support for 

refugees and asylum seekers in their efforts to seek refuge in Wales and to ensure they 

experienced the rights they are entitled to that were enshrined in international and local 

conventions, protocols and statutes. Salah has the lived experience first-hand of going 

through the asylum cohort in the UK. Salah is hopeful that this Taskforce and movements like 

Black Lives Matter will provide additional opportunities to further the causes and agenda for 

race equality issues. 

 

Marcus Walters 

Marcus is a solicitor at Burges Salmon LLP, where he is a Director in their Projects Team. Prior 

to beginning his career in law, Marcus studied Chemistry at UCL where he also completed a 

PhD in the subject.  Marcus is a trustee of the Black South West Network (BSWN) and also a 

Commissioner at the Commission on Race Equality, both in Bristol, through which he has 

acquired in-depth knowledge of the specific policy areas that affect ethnic minority 

communities in Bristol and beyond. Marcus is chair of the BAME Network at his firm and has 

done a lot of work with ethnic minority communities and organisations within Bristol, which 

have very similar experiences to those in Cardiff.  Marcus wants to influence policy and 

Page 64



advocates for the needs and representation of ethnic minority communities. Marcus is 

passionate about, and an advocate for, race equality, racial justice and equality of opportunity 

in all his endeavours.”  

 

Page 65



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 1 

APPENDIX D Full Consultation Report  

Full Consultation Report 
Your Priorities for the 
Cardiff Race Equality 
Taskforce 
Research Findings  
November 2020 
Appendix C to the Report of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

 

Page 66



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 2 

  

Page 67



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 1 

Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
 

Contents 
Background ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

What is the Race Equality Taskforce? ............................................................................................. 2 

How will the consultation influence the work of the Taskforce?..................................................... 2 

Methodology ..................................................................................................................................... 2 

Research Findings .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Section 1: Areas of Focus ................................................................................................................... 3 

Diversity in the Public Sector: ........................................................................................................ 3 

Learning and growing up in Cardiff: ............................................................................................... 6 

A Fairer Economy: ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Diversity in the public realm: ....................................................................................................... 12 

Citizens Voice: ............................................................................................................................. 16 

Something else: ........................................................................................................................... 18 

Section 2: Priorities ......................................................................................................................... 23 

Demographic Profile ........................................................................................................................ 27 

 

 

  

Page 68



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 2 

Background 

What is the Race Equality Taskforce? 

 
In Autumn 2020, Cardiff Council will convene a Race Equality Taskforce to address racial 

discrimination and promote race equality in the city.  

The Taskforce will drive co-ordinated and strategic action to address inequality in Cardiff. It will be 

responsible for advancing a programme of change and transformation to create a fairer city for our 

Black and Minority Ethnic residents.  

In preparation for the launch of the Race Equality Taskforce, a public consultation was launched to 

seek the views of Cardiff residents, particularly those from Black and Minority Ethnic backgrounds, 

on the Taskforce’s strategic priorities.  

Cardiff Council wants to know what our residents think are the biggest issues, and the greatest 

opportunities, for Black and Minority Ethnic Cardiffians, so we can focus our thinking and resources 

into finding the solutions that will have the greatest impact. 

In this consultation we propose some suggested areas of focus that the Taskforce could look at. 

These suggestions are areas where we think the Taskforce could help make a real difference. They 

are also areas where both local and national evidence tells us that there is a long way to go to 

achieve race equality. 

We want to understand if our residents agree that these suggested areas should be Taskforce 

priorities, or if we could be more effective by focusing on other areas. 

 

How will the consultation influence the work of the Taskforce? 

 
The findings of this consultation will significantly shape the work of the Taskforce in the months 

ahead, with task-orientated work-streams established for each priority, up to a maximum of four. 

This approach will enable the Taskforce to benefit from the expertise of credible practitioners who 

will support the Taskforce to identify substantive and evidence-based recommendations to improve 

race equality in Cardiff within each theme. 

 

Methodology 
A bilingual, online survey was developed, and promoted on the Council’s social media channels, 

through partner organisations, and sent to the Council’s Citizen’s Panel.  It was live between 11th 

August and 10th October 2020. 

After data cleansing and validation, to remove blank and duplicated responses, a total of 869 

responses were included in analysis. 

  

Page 69



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 3 

Research Findings 

Section 1: Areas of Focus 
 
The first section of the consultation presented proposed areas of focus for the Race Equality 

Taskforce, and asked respondents to identify whether they supported each being included as a 

priority, with reasons for their response.  

 

Diversity in the Public Sector:  

 

Exploring what more can be done to ensure that the Council’s membership and workforce represents 

the full diversity of the City it serves. 

A total of 846 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 97.4%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Three-quarters of respondents (74.9%) supported Diversity in the Public Sector. 

 
 

Support for Diversity in the Public Sector was highest amongst respondents from a Minority 

Ethnicity, at 90.7%. 

Women were more likely than men to support this (83.1% compared with 71.3% respectively), whilst 

support was higher amongst younger respondents compared with those aged 55 or over (79.8% 

versus 73.4%). 

74.9 25.1

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Diversity in the Public Sector.

Yes No
Base: 846

65.2

71.3

73.4

74.9

79.8

83.1

83.3

90.7

34.8

28.7

26.6

25.1

20.2

16.9

16.7

9.3

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Identify as disabled (Base: 89)

Male (Base: 345)

55+ (Base: 361)

All respondents (Base: 846)

Under 35 (Base: 89)

Female (Base: 356)

Southern Arc (Base: 233)

ME (Base: 215)

Diversity in the Public Sector
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Page 70



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 4 

 

Support for this area of focus increased with the level of deprivation for the respondent’s home 

postcode: 

 

 

If no, please tell us why 

Respondents who did not support this area of focus were asked to outline why.  A total of 170 

responses were received, which have been coded into the following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Recruit on merit/ability 71 41.8 - People should be recruited according to the ability 
to undertake the job role, not on religion or family 
heritage. 

- Jobs should be awarded on the basis best person 
for job, skin colour irrelevant. 

- The Council should be free to ensure that it has the 
best person in post - race is not an issue - it’s about 
ability. 

- I believe the priority should be employing the best 
person for a job regardless of sex or ethnic 
background. 

- I think the council’s workforce should reflect the 
best person for the job that is being undertaken. 

Diverse enough 31 18.2 -  It seems very diverse to me at the moment. 

- Full diversity currently represented. 

- It seems to be adequately representative. 

Focus on more important 
issues 

30 17.6 -  Whilst I accept diversity is important there are 
several more important issues on which to spend 
taxpayers’ money. 

- There are more important issues such as 
education, housing and highway maintenance! 

74.9

70.1

74.2

78.8

81.1

82.4

25.1

29.9

25.8

21.2

18.9

17.6

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

All Respondents (Base: 846)

Least Deprived (Base: 157)

Next Least Deprived (Base: 163)

Middle (Base: 99)

Next Most Deprived (Base: 111)

Most Deprived (Base: 85)

Diversity in the Public Sector
By level of deprivation

Yes No

Page 71



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 5 

- It is very important, but not in the age of COVID 19, 
a priority. 

Its discriminatory to do 
so/ divisive and can cause 
conflict 

26 15.3 -  This smacks of positive discrimination, people 
should be employed because of their suitability for 
a job not the colour of their skin. 

- Diversity is always viewed as the latest trend to be 
supported it is never fully inclusive, as it is 
supposed to be, so within 'diversity' itself there is 
discrimination. 

- A workforce should be made up of the most 
suitably qualified people for that role. A person’s 
race, religion or sex should not be a consideration 
only what they will bring to the role and will they 
improve he city and how we operate.  Positive 
discrimination is not acceptable. 

Equality for all 22 12.9 -  There should be equal opportunities for every 
Cardiff citizen. 

- At the moment resources need to be targeted to 
cover all the population equally. 

- This should be priority for everyone not just about 
race! 

Waste of time/Money 11 6.5 -  There is already Diversity with the Councils 
membership I see no point in wasting time and 
money just to tick a box. 

- Not worth the expense. 

Representation of 
communities is needed 

8 4.7 -  Those best for the job should get the job. 
However, a small proportion needs to be of 
different ethnicities for the ethnicities within 
Cardiff. 

- Workforce should represent total diversity of city 
catchment area, that is including valleys. 

Misc. 10 5.9 - There are cultural blocks that prevent some 
individuals from certain BAME backgrounds from 
seeking employment in work considered 
demeaning. Therefore attempting to maintain a 
workforce that represents the diversity of the city 
in jobs such as refuse, cleaning services and other 
low paid jobs is wasted time and energy. In short, 
some people don't want your jobs because of 
family and community expectations. 

- This is politically driven woke nonsense. The only 
peer reviewed science on this subject suggests that 
diversity of team is useful for innovation. However 
homogeneity is required for trust. This the question 
you should be asking is - does the council require 
innovation or trust. Obviously it’s the latter. 

 

  

Page 72



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 6 

Learning and growing up in Cardiff:  
 

The experiences of BAME children and young people in education. 

A total of 842 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 96.9%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Four-fifths of respondents (79.1%) supported this as an area of focus for the Taskforce. 

 

 

Support for this was highest amongst women (90.1%), those from a minority ethnicity (89.7%), and 

those living in the Southern Arc of the city (88.4%). 

It was lowest amongst men (72.6%), those identifying as disabled (75.0%), and those aged 55 or over 

(77.8%). 

 

  

79.1 20.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Learning and growing up in Cardiff

Yes NoBase: 842

72.6

75.0

77.8

79.1

85.4

88.4

89.7

90.1

27.4

25.0

22.2

20.9

14.6

11.6

10.3

9.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Male (Base: 343)

Identify as disabled (Base: 88)

55+ (Base: 361)

All respondents (Base: 842)

Under 35 (Base: 89)

Southern Arc (Base: 232)

ME (Base: 213)

Female (Base: 354)

Learning and growing up in Cardiff
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Page 73



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 7 

Again, support for this area of focus increased with the level of deprivation for the respondent’s 

home postcode, with those living in the least deprived areas almost three times as likely as those in 

the most deprived areas to say they did not support this theme (31.0% compared with 11.9% 

respectively). 

 

 

If no, please tell us why 

Respondents who did not support this area of focus were asked to outline why.  A total of 132 

responses were received, which have been coded into the following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Treat all children equally / 
no priority given to any one 
group 

72 54.5 -  I support the ethos but it should be for all 
children. 

- All education should be a priority regardless of 
race or creed. 

- The bottom areas of Llanrumney, areas of St 
Mellons, Ely and Llanedeyrn all have horrific 
poverty for all races not just BAME, focus on 
poverty, not the skin colour. 

- Everyone should have equal rights with fair 
access to services. 

- We need to value all the people of Cardiff - not 
just the BAME population. 

Why Cause division 13 9.8 -  There should be no priority given to any one 
group. Equality is an equal chance for everyone, 
not for one group over another. This is a 
contradiction of equality itself. 

- Seem to be creating issues where there isn't 
one. 

Focus on poverty no race 11 8.3 -  The experiences of all children and young 
people matter. Many children in disadvantaged 
largely white estates on the periphery of the 

79.1

69.0

77.8

86.0

86.4

88.1

20.9

31.0

22.2

14.0

13.6

11.9

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

All Respondents (Base: 842)

Least Deprived (Base: 158)

Next Least Deprived (Base: 162)

Middle (Base: 100)

Next Most Deprived (Base: 110)

Most Deprived (Base: 84)

Learning and growing up in Cardiff
By level of deprivation

Yes No

Page 74



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 8 

city may feel excluded. Help all, don’t determine 
assistance on skin colour. 

- Equality means treating all children and young 
people the same. Poverty is the problem. 

More important 
priorities 

9 6.8 -  There are more important things the Council 
need to address before complying to the 
demands of the few. 

- More important priorities to take precedence. A 
racial grievance in schools should be controlled 
by the teachers/head teachers. 

Enough in place / 
Education system is fair 

7 5.3 - Plenty already in place. 

- Education system is fair presently. 

Parental responsibility 6 4.5 -  All children should be the priority. Parents must 
also be held responsible for this and 
accountable. 

- I believe that BAME children should be 
integrated into society through socialisation of 
the parents and family. 

Cardiff is integrated 5 3.8 -  Having recently visited a number schools to 
choose my son's primary school, schools in 
Cardiff are already very ethnically diverse. 

- Cardiff has always been a city of opportunity for 
all groups. 

Support idea 4 3.0 -  I support this if it is expanded to include all 
nationalities. 

Misc. 21 15.9 - This matter can be handled best in school. 

- Children mix in schools and outdoors if families 
choose not to mix that is the choice they make 
and there loss we live in a free country. 

- All cultures need to integrate to become one. 

 

 

  

Page 75



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 9 

A Fairer Economy: 
 

Supporting Black and Minority Ethnic residents to access high quality employment opportunities. 

A total of 839 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 96.5%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Three quarters of respondents (75.1%) supported A Fairer Economy as an area for the Taskforce to 

focus on. 

 

 

Respondents from a minority ethnicity were notably more likely than other groups analysed to 

support this theme (93.0%) 

Support was lowest amongst those identifying as disabled (62.1%), men (70.7%) and older 

respondents (71.4%) 

 

  

75.1 24.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

A Fairer Economy: Supporting Black and Minority Ethnic residents to access high 

quality employment opportunities.

Yes No

Base:839

62.1

70.7

71.4

75.1

81.8

83.3

84.1

93.0

37.9

29.3

28.6

24.9

18.2

16.7

15.9

7.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Identify as disabled (Base: 87)

Male (Base: 345)

55+ (Base: 360)

All respondents (Base: 839)

Under 35 (Base: 88)

Southern Arc (Base: 233)

Female (Base: 352)

ME (Base: 213)

A Fairer Economy
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Page 76



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 10 

Again, support for this area of focus increased with the level of deprivation for the respondent’s 

home postcode, with those living in the least deprived areas almost twice as likely as those in the 

most deprived areas to say they did not support this. 

 

 

If no, please tell us why 

Respondents who did not support this area of focus were asked to outline why.  A total of 173 

responses were received, which have been coded into the following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Recruitment on ability not 
ethnicity 

86 49.7 -  Definitely not, no-one’s ethnicity is not 
important their abilities are. 

- People should get a job based on their 
application/interview NOT skin colour. 

- Employment must be on ability not colour or 
racial quotas. 

- Should be based on the best person for the job 
rather than ethnicity. 

- I think the best person for the job should be 
appointed, irrespective of race. 

All have same opportunities 77 44.5 -  All residents should be supported to achieve 
this. 

- Everybody should have the same opportunities. 

- Support all residents as needs arise. 

- Same opportunities for everyone 

- Everyone in this country has the same 
opportunity, you make your own future. 

Positive discrimination 33 19.1 -  There should not be any positive discrimination 
in any way - all should be supported to be able 
to give of their best regardless of race. 

- All residents of Cardiff should be treated the 
same without any positive discrimination. 

75.1

67.1

75.6

80.4

83.5

83.1

24.9

32.9

24.4

19.6

16.5

16.9

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

All Respondents (Base: 839)

Least Deprived (Base: 155)

Next Least Deprived (Base: 164)

Middle (Base: 102)

Next Most Deprived (Base: 109)

Most Deprived (Base: 83)

A Fairer Economy
By level of deprivation

Yes No

Page 77



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 11 

- Singling out a specific population is 
discriminatory. 

There are other disadvantaged 
groups 

19 11.0 -  Why, what about white working class 
residents. 

- Diversity is wider than just BAME. 

- It’s not just BAME people who need access to 
high quality employment, what about people 
with disabilities, Deaf, Partially Sighted? 

Enough in place 15 8.7 -  I cannot find evidence that such access is 
actually denied on the basis of race/colour. 

- The opportunities are already available, there 
are countless Asian / Black doctors / nurses / 
dentists / in Cardiff & many non-whites at my 
children's graduation ceremonies (law / 
accountancy). 

More important issues 8 4.6 -  There are far more important issues that affect 
all of us. 

- Hardly a priority. 

Misc. 7 4.0 - Are we not doing this now, then shame on the 
ruling council for not doing this? 

- Employer’s responsibility. 

 

  

Page 78



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 12 

Diversity in the public realm: 
 

Reviewing how we commemorate our history in public spaces and cultural life. This will include 

supporting the Wales-wide audit of statues, street and building names, within the context of 

exploring connections with the slave trade. 

A total of 847 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 97.5%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Opinion was more divided on making this area a priority, with 59.4% in support, and 40.6% against. 

 

 

Support for this area of focus was again highest amongst respondents from a minority ethnicity 

(78.7%), contrasting with 41.6% from respondents identifying as disabled. 

 

  

59.4 40.6

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Diversity in the public realm

Yes No
Base: 847

41.6

48.6

49.1

59.4

68.2

69.7

71.1

78.7

58.4

51.4

50.9

40.6

31.8

30.3

28.9

21.3

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Identify as disabled (Base: 89)

55+ (Base: 364)

Male (Base: 348)

All respondents (Base: 847)

Southern Arc (Base: 233)

Under 35 (Base: 89)

Female (Base: 356)

ME (Base: 216)

Diversity in the public realm
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Page 79



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 13 

While not a clear correlation, those living in the more deprived areas of the city showed a higher 

level support for this than those living in the less deprived areas: 

 

 

If no, please tell us why 

Respondents who did not support this area of focus were asked to outline why.  A total of 292 

responses were received, which have been coded into the following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

It’s our heritage - we need 
to learn from History / 
Cannot change it 

194 66.4 -  Stop trying to rewrite history -- slavery needs to 
be explained in the context of the times without 
the current policy of demonising white people 
whilst ignoring the fact that Black & Arabic 
people were actively participating in the slave 
trade. 

- History wiped from view removes the ability to 
learn from the past. 

- Whether good or bad, let us ALL learn from our 
true history. Hiding evidence of this is the sort of 
censorship any fair society should oppose. 

- I think from this point going forward no further 
references to the slave trade should be used. 
History is what it is. The slave trade should not be 
glorified or forgotten. Removing all links may 
have the opposite effect than what is intended. 

- We cannot delete our past. We need to accept 
but provide education, otherwise do we delete 
and destroy all reference to the romans, the 
Vikings, Mary queen of Scots the Tudors. Factory 
owners who were enlightened and tried to help 
their workers would be considered explorers and 
sweatshop owners now.  The past is just that 
past. Understated with plaques explaining the 
reason for the statues and what they did wrong. 

59.4

51.3

57.2

64.0

60.7

72.6

40.6

48.7

42.8

36.0

39.3

27.4

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

All Respondents (Base: 847)

Least Deprived (Base: 156)

Next Least Deprived (Base: 166)

Middle (Base: 100)

Next Most Deprived (Base: 112)

Most Deprived (Base: 84)

Diversity in the public realm
By level of deprivation

Yes No

Page 80



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 14 

Explain context of times 89 30.5 -  These bits of street furniture have developed 
over a long time and were correct at the time 
they went up - we should better understand why 
they went up and not focus on it as a politically 
correct thing now - if they were wrong then - why 
are we right now? 

- We learn from our history and past citizens 
erecting statues etc. is a reminder of how they 
viewed life at that time. 

- Will result in hiding our past and future 
generations not knowing about the shameful 
incidents in our past. 

- Statues are our history. We cannot ignore them. 
What they may have represented may not suit us 
now, but that does not change what happened in 
the past. 

More important issues 62 21.2 -  You've got better things to do. Look to the 
future, not the past. 

- There are so many more pressing issues. 

- I feel that the priorities should have a direct 
impact on improving the lives of BAME 
individuals. I do not feel this priority will benefit 
BAME's in the same way that the above priorities 
will. 

- Emphasis in public spaces & cultural life should 
be Welsh history. Exploring connections with 
slave trade is important, but a relatively small 
subset of this. 

Support Changes 22 7.5 -  I think it’s important but a lower priority than 
education and practical action to address 
people’s challenges in the present. 

- This can be done once the major issues have been 
addressed. 

- It's important but education and employment 
should be prioritised if funds are limited. 

Waste of money 20 6.8 -  That is a waste of money. The statues no one 
cares about / or can see. Spend the money 
shipping homeless people elsewhere. 

- Where do we ultimately draw the line in respect 
of groups that have been marginalised or treated 
poorly over centuries? It's a waste of council 
money. 

Concentrate on 
present/future 

15 5.1 -  We should focus on improving the opportunities 
for people now, rather than waste time worrying 
about the past. 

- This is our history, it’s now and the future that 
matters. 

Page 81



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 15 

Welsh History 11 3.8 -  It’s welsh history - remove the history - lose its 
identity.  I think statues should remain but 
include plaques containing info; relating to any 
slave trade involvement. 

- Emphasis in public spaces & cultural life should 
be Welsh history. Exploring connections with 
slave trade is important, but a relatively small 
subset of this. 

Misc. 4 1.4 -  History good and bad is commemorated by 
street names and statues- anyone who is upset 
by a statue should be referred to the city’s fine 
psychiatric services. 

- This could be decisive if changing existing names. 

- Western Civilisation made slaving illegal. Cardiff 
rich multicultural residents came here because of 
opportunity and prosperity this should be 
celebrated, but not as a particular priority to suit 
the trendy agenda. 

 

 

  

Page 82



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 16 

Citizens Voice: 
 

Supporting the civic and democratic involvement of BAME communities through voter registration 

and making sure Cardiff’s BAME communities are counted in the Census 2021. 

A total of 845 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 97.2%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Five out of six respondents (84.0%) supported this area of focus being prioritised. 

 

 

Support was highest amongst respondents living in the Southern Arc of the city (82.4%), those from 

a minority ethnicity (91.5%) and women (90.5%).  It was lowest amongst those identifying as 

disabled (81.1%), men (82.1%), and older respondents (82.7%). 

There was no pattern of response when looking at the different levels of deprivation in the city. 

 

 

84.0 16.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Citizens Voice

Yes NoBase: 845

81.1

82.1

82.7

84.0

88.9

90.5

91.5

92.4

18.9

17.9

17.3

16.0

11.1

9.5

8.5

7.6

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Identify as disabled (Base: 90)

Male (Base: 347)

55+ (Base: 365)

All respondents (Base: 845)

Under 35 (Base: 90)

Female (Base: 357)

ME (Base: 213)

Southern Arc (Base: 236)

Citizens Voice
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Page 83



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 17 

If no, please tell us why 

Respondents who did not support this area of focus were asked to outline why.  A total of 97 

responses were received, which have been coded into the following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Census already applies to 
all 

34 35.1 -  Every resident is already included in the census. 

- We already have on forms how or what nationality 
we are. 

- I simply do not understand what you are asking 
here. Everyone should be included in the census. 

- I thought it already was expected that residents 
sign up to the Census. 

- Should already be in place. 

This should apply to all 
not just BAME 

32 33.0 -  It should be across the board not just BAME. 

- They should be treated the same as everyone else 
no different. 

- Everyone should be treated equally despite 
race/colour! This whole black lives matter 
campaign should be all lives matter. 

- We should make sure that EVERYBODY is included 
in the Census - not just the BAME community. 

- All diverse groups should be an issue, not just the 
latest trendy issue. 

Individual responsibility /  
choice 

26 26.8 -  Every citizen gets a census form and it is up to 
each one of us to fill it in. 

- Surely people should be able to sort out their own 
voter registration and Census returns. 

- Everyone should take individual responsibility to 
register to vote and complete the census. 

- Surely it is the individual’s responsibility to register 
appropriately. 

Positive discrimination 17 17.5 -  It is beginning to sound as if being white will be a 
disadvantage. 

- Because it’s racist. The colour of someone’s skin 
should be a matter of complete irrelevance. 

- This sounds racially biased. 

Not a priority 8 8.2 -  The scant resources of the council can be better 
spent. 

- I see no reason for this. 

Misc. 5 5.2 -  This will not bring jobs or make people better. 

- Not sure this would improve things. 

- More emphasis should be placed on integration 
and the development and evolution of a uniquely 
Welsh/British culture in whatever shape it takes 
over the generations. 

Page 84



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 18 

Something else: 
 

Would you like to suggest a different priority for the Taskforce? 

A total of 787 responses were received for this question, giving an overall response rate of 90.6%. 

Do you support this area as being a priority? 

Just over a third of respondents (37.0%) had a suggestion for an additional area of focus for the 

Taskforce to look at. 

 

 

Older respondents were notably more likely than their younger counterparts to put forward an 

alternative proposal (40.3% compared with 26.8% respectively). 

 

 

  

37.0 63.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Something else

Yes No

26.8

32.6

34.1

35.5

37.0

38.2

40.0

40.3

73.2

67.4

65.9

64.5

63.0

61.8

60.0

59.7

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Under 35 (Base: 82)

Southern Arc (Base: 218)

Female (Base: 323)

ME (Base: 200)

All respondents (Base: 787)

Male (Base: 325)

Identify as disabled (Base: 85)

55+ (Base: 340)

Something else
By Demographic Group

Yes No

Base: 787 

Page 85



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 19 

Please tell us your idea 

Overall, 278 responses were received to this question, which have been grouped in to the following 

themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Equality for all 67 24.1 -  Treat every citizen equally. 

- Ensuring that all citizens are treated equally - 
not positive bias, not favouritism - equal 
opportunities for ALL - no bias in any direction. 

- This is about diversity and equality. As such it 
should cover all ethnicities and not positively 
discriminate for one over another.  I.e. Black, 
Asian, White Welsh should all have the same 
opportunities. 

- Make sure everyone is treated fairly, not just 
those whose voices are the loudest. 

- Look to the future, not the past. Do not try and 
change our culture and history. Rather than 
focusing on BAME residents focus on getting 
equality and representation for everyone. 

Education/History 53 19.1 -  Teaching everyone that there is one race the 
human race. 

- Black history being a mandatory part of 
curriculum in schools. 

- Compulsory lessons in schools for all children in 
respect of black history, citizenship and 
personal / collective responsibility 

- Change takes place through education. This 
needs to be done at all levels in all cultures. 
There’s no point in concentrating on Britain’s 
history when you don't challenge attitudes of 
other countries where the slave trade is 
profitable and child labour is accepted. 

Employment/ institutional 
racism/ leadership positions 

35 12.6 -  Percentage of workforce from the BAME 
background employed by the LA in 
management positions. What is being done to 
balance this? 

- Commitment to have a significant 
representation of BAME groups in senior council 
positions in the next 3 years. 

- Ensuring there is equal pay for BAME staff in 
the workplace. 

- I should like to see efforts to ensure that BAME 
people are encouraged into the mainstream 
workforce of the city. At present they seem to 
be concentrated in certain areas, e.g. Taxi 
driving, catering. This must start with schools 
and colleges. 

Page 86



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 20 

Better communication 26 9.4 -  Engaging, informing, involving, if you can’t get 
the majority of communities involved it’s not 
likely to be successful.  You risk alienating 
communities if you change names and pull 
down statues without consultation and 
Involvement. I thought the vote for the statue 
was really positive.  It informed and allowed the 
community to vote.  If you do decide to take 
down statues who should go in place? 

- A simple slogan "equality for all who live in 
Wales" is all that you need (if anything at all 
which I doubt). But written only in English 
because almost 80% of Welsh-born people and 
99.99999% of BAME people do not have even 
the most basic grasp of the Welsh Language - 
and very much more to the point do not have 
the first inkling of a desire to waste any part of 
their precious lifetime bothering with it. 
Obviously including me! 

- Explaining to the white majority just why BAME 
issues are important and can lead to an unfair 
and damaged society. 

Improve public perception 23 8.3 -  Include more BAME history in the school 
curriculum and teach children about different 
cultures. Creating an understanding and 
tolerance for others at an early age should 
nurture the next generation of children in 
Cardiff to not be as ignorant as their parents. 

- The media uses inflammatory methods in 
dealing with this issue ensure the public are 
kept up to date by you not misleading media 
outlets. 

Better engagement 23 8.3 -  Put forward funding or reach out to people to 
start a pan African Saturday or after school 
program. 

- More focus on youth services to engage with 
BAME young people at an earlier point. 

Better Integration 22 7.9 -  To ensure BAME people are integrated 
throughout the community i.e. not housed in 
areas of large BAME community e.g. Butetown. 

- Some parts of the BAME communities have 
individuals who are not allowed to integrate 
and this should be an area of concern. By this I 
am particularly thinking of those women who 
are dominated by their menfolk and not given 
much personal choice in anything. 

Health 16 5.8 -  Addressing equitable healthcare for BAME 
communities as demonstrated by the COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Page 87



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 21 

- Autism in the Somali community should be 
priority too as there is a higher prevalence 
amongst children from Somali backgrounds. 

Tackle racism 16 5.8 -  There are still a lot of people living in Cardiff 
with extreme racists views. We need to address 
this. 

- Making racism illegal and possibly giving 
custodial sentences for it. 

Police / diversity / treatment 13 4.7 -  Challenge & support how black males in 
particular are perceived & treated by the police 
force. 

- Audit of policing - stop and search. 

Poverty 13 4.7 -  The task force should look at why certain 
ethnic groups within the BAME are not doing as 
well as other BAME groups. If it is found that 
poverty maybe the course then it needs to be 
evaluated against similar none BAME groups 
who are in the same poverty bracket. 

- How GCSE and A Level exam standardisation 
linked to historic school performance impacts 
pupils in all Cardiff schools and how this 
impacts on pupils from deprived communities 
including BAME communities. 

Better Training 13 4.7 -  Equality in skills training across all 
communities. 

- Skills training for young people and activities for 
teenagers, especially boys. 

Disband taskforce / Waste of 
Money 

12 4.3 -  Disband it and put the cash saved towards the 
repair of our disgraceful roads. 

- There is no need for a "taskforce". A waste of 
time and effort just to be seen virtue signalling. 

Crime concerns 10 3.6 -  Look at sex trade slavery, and stamp it out the 
thought of children and young girls being 
trafficked and never knowing the joy of 
freedom is the worst possible slavery. Child 
marriage sickens me 12 year old children forced 
to marry 45 year old males and in the worst 
case on their wedding night brutally used and 
dies of blood loss. These are the happening all 
the time throughout the world give these poor 
children a voice. Ban trips to countries where 
there children are regularly sold into the sex 
trade. 

- More effort into the Somali crime wave in 
Cardiff...It's a real problem. I've had a knife 
pulled on me. Get squatters off the streets of 
the City Centre. Do something worthwhile and 
not this money-wasting rubbish. 

Page 88



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 22 

Housing 10 3.6 -  Ensuring that Cardiff maintains diversity in 
housing.  Why do we settle communities in 
ghetto like conditions and only one community? 

- Access to good quality housing. 

BAME Business community 7 2.5 -  Help BAME community businesses and 
entrepreneurs who don’t always the same 
opportunity or funding for their ideas. 

- Representation of BAME in businesses and fair 
treatment of black business people. 

Youth 8 2.9 -  More support to develop youth activities and 
support e.g. supervised youth centres, boxing 
clubs etc. to help alleviate antisocial behaviour 
and drug abuse. 

- Task force looking into the provision of 
grassroots sport in the city would have a 
positive effect on the health of all residents. 

Task force needs to be 
representative 

8 2.9 -  The task force must be inclusive of groups 
within the city, the council must remember we 
all pay council tax. 

- Ensure no over representation. 

Elderly 7 2.5 -  What about older people who have lived and 
contributed to the economy of Cardiff all of 
their lives. 

- Affordable rental housing for elderly who are 
living in cramped and poor condition! 

Misc. 50 18.0 -  Focus on something that isn't broken. Like a 
better M4 relief road to Wales. 

- Promoting good civic attitudes, lawfulness, a 
hard work ethic, marriage and fathers in homes 
would help. Preventing teen pregnancies, 
promoting education and apprenticeships, 
voluntarism. Building good play facilities for 
children and youth clubs for teenagers. 
Mentoring activities specifically focused on boys 
from poor backgrounds or fatherless 
households. 

- Support the Welsh minority and their culture 
and language. 

- Younger children mix without question 
normally. Discuss why this appears to 
sometimes vanish as they get older. Are they 
responding to their parent’s influence, or even 
that of their teachers? 

- Stop jumping on the BLM bandwagon 

 

 

Page 89



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 23 

Section 2: Priorities 
 
Respondents were then asked to prioritise the different areas of focus, by selecting their top three 

themes. 

Responses to this question were validated to exclude non-responses (145), and multiple responses 

(e.g. ranking more than one option in first place; 58 responses), therefore including only those giving 

at least one exclusive ranking score to prioritise an area of focus.  This gave a total of 666 responses 

to this question, a response rate of 76.6%.  

Scores were calculated by assigning three points for each first place ranking, two points for each 

second place, and one point for each third place; these were combined for each theme, and divided 

by the overall number of respondents answering this question, to give a final score. 

“Learning and growing up in Cardiff” was seen as the top priority, with 37.7% of respondents ranking 

this in first place, with an overall score of 1.6 out of three.  It also received more votes than any 

other theme, with 70.7% of all respondents identifying this theme as a priority.   

In second place, scoring 1.4, and ranked in first place by 22.5% of respondents, was “A Fairer 

Economy”, prioritised by 64.1% of respondents.  

“Diversity in the Public Sector” was narrowly voted into third place ahead of “Citizens Voice”, with 

both achieving a score of 0.9, but the former getting both more votes overall (49.8% compared with 

46.8%), and a higher proportion of first place votes (14.0% compared with 10.8%). 

 

 

There was no variation in order of priority by demographic group. 

 

  

9.6

4.5

10.8

14.0

22.5

37.7

12.3

16.8

17.0

26.0

18.2

7.4

17.1

19.2

18.9

15.6

14.9

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Something else

Diversity in the public realm

Citizens Voice

Diversity in the Public Sector

A Fairer Economy

Learning and growing up in Cardiff

Top Three Priorities

1st 2nd 3rdBase: 666 

Score 

1.6 

0.4 

0.6 

0.9 

0.9 

1.4 

Page 90



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 24 

Those prioritising “Something Else” were asked to identify what this would be.  Results have been 

split into first, second and third priority ranking. 

 

A total of 65 responses were given for another first priority, which have been grouped into the 

following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Disband Taskforce/Waste of 
money 

11 16.9 - Close the Taskforce and get on with the 
business of the Council. There is much more 
need among the elderly and vulnerable, I think. 
Stop wasting resources at such a difficult time 
as this. 

- Re-deploy this team to better serve residents. 
This is PC madness! 

- Keeping the city well maintained (which it isn't) 
and clean (which it isn't). Efforts into this and 
not a virtue signalling "taskforce". Enough of 
this nonsense 

Equality of all 9 13.8 - Ensuring equal opportunity for all - no bias in 
any direction or for any section of the 
community 

- Treating ALL THE PEOPLE EQUALLY. This will be 
greatly helped by removing all use of the Welsh 
Language from all schools, signs, dual language 
Council letters and the like. Then all citizens can 
start to be treated as being equal 

Poverty 8 12.3 - Focus on underprivileged communities 
(regardless of race) rather than grouping 
individuals together based on skin colour. 

- Fair treatment for the poor - EVEN IF they are 
white - help in schools on the basis of need, not 
colour. - that is race equality 

Education 6 9.2 - Improving education and careers advice  so that 
young people of all races are aware of a variety 
of career opportunities 

- The curriculum 

Better integration 6 9.2 - Helping everyone to live in a more equal society 
rather than viewing BAME people as separate 

- Encouraging of spontaneous mixing/ 
"togetherness" of all people/ groups of people 
without separating BAME as being special and 
thus distancing them even more. 

Creating division 6 9.2 - Stop creating more diversity and friction by 
having these silly panels 

- Retaining the voice of Cardiffians, we are 
almost all mixed race going back 80 years, treat 
everyone equally, do not put Black people 

Page 91



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 25 

above white or division will occur, we are the 
indigenous people of Cardiff, keep everyone 
equal that way you will eliminate racism 

Crime 3 4.6 - Keep Asian kids away from Radicalisation and 
noncery (ISIS and Grooming Gangs) 

Misc. 27 41.5 - Why do we need to change? This must be 
evidence based and not just historic examples. 

- Improving the roads for private vehicles 
removing all bus lanes and cycle lanes 

- All are important 

 

 

A total of 11 responses were given for another second priority, which have been grouped into the 

following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Education 4 36.4 - Education is the key, one race the human race. 

- English language lessons for struggling ESOL 
speakers, especially adults. 

Poverty/Homelessness 2 18.2 - Ridding Cardiff of homeless people. 

Support for Ethnic minority 
groups 

2 18.2 - The disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME communities. 

Language 2 18.2 - Ensuring that everyone who is seeking 
employment is able to speak English. 

All lives matter 1 9.1 - Ensure that ALL lives matter. We must not be 
bullied just because some think themselves 
hard-done-by. We are not USA, we do not need 
these knee-jerk reactions because of something 
there. The UK is not systemically racist nor is 
Wales. It is an insult to ordinary citizens and 
those who work within the system to suggest 
that. Cowards hide their bigotry by jumping on 
a populist band-wagon. There are poor ‘white’ 
people, too and living in the same areas. EOD is 
not treating everyone alike. 

 

  

Page 92



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 26 

A total of 38 responses were given for another third priority, which have been grouped into the 

following themes: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Equality for all 8 21.1 - Help everyone regardless of race, ethnicity, 
sexual orientation 

- It is the voice of true Cardiffians that matter be 
they black or white not recent arrivals of 
whatever race or religion. 

- Equality for all, Rich, Poor, White, non-White, 
educated, not educated. 

Education 8 21.1 - Highlighting, encouraging and utilising the 
diverse skills discovered within all our school 
children without discrimination. 

- Free accessible education for all. 

- Public education project re Cardiff’s history and 
the benefits to the white population of 
colonialism/slavery etc at the expense of the 
Black community 

Addressing all racism 5 13.2 - Consider assumptions, gaps in understanding  
and cultural reference points across the breadth 
of the citizenship in Cardiff and create inter 
school/ inter faith/ inter social club links and 
programmes to correct wrong assumptions and 
fill gaps with proper knowledge and 
understanding 

- Addressing racism across wider public sector 
and private sector 

Integration 4 10.5 - Creating a vision of a city that is ONE 
community, not fuelling divisions by 
determining services and assistance based on 
skin colour 

- Assimilation and integration 

Disband 3 7.9 - Stop wasting public money solving non-existent 
problems. 

Health 2 5.3 - Healthy Lifestyles for All 

Misc. 12 31.6 - Be the voice against child and female slavery 

- Increased recycling. 

- Diversity in the Justice system: review of racial 
bias and BAME representation in the Family 
Courts and Criminal Justice system 

 

 

  

Page 93



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 27 

Demographic Profile 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

No % 

16-24 9 1.2 

25-34 81 10.9 

35-44 136 18.2 

45-54 130 17.4 

55-64 164 22.0 

65-74 154 20.6 

75+ 51 6.8 

Prefer not to say 21 2.8 

Total 746 100.0 

 

Are you…? 
 

No % 

Female 363 48.9 

Male 350 47.1 

Prefer not to say 26 3.5 

Other 4 0.5 

Total 743 100.0 

 

Do you identify as Trans? 
 

No % 

Yes 3 0.4 

No 695 95.1 

Prefer to self-describe 3 0.4 

Prefer not to say 30 4.1 

Total 731 100.0 

 

  

Page 94



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 28 

Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

No % 

Yes 90 12.2 

No 601 81.7 

Prefer not to say 45 6.1 

Total 736 100.0 

 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
 

No. % 

Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 50 16.9 

Mental health difficulties 66 22.4 

Learning impairment/ difficulties 13 4.4 

Visual impairment   14 4.7 

Wheelchair user    4 1.4 

Mobility impairment 68 23.1 

Long-standing illness or health condition 
(e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

124 42.0 

Prefer not to say 51 17.3 

Other 21 7.1 

Total Respondents  295 - 

 

Which of the following best describes what you are doing at present? 
 

No. % 

Working full time (30+ hours per week) 319 43.4 

Wholly retired from work 202 27.5 

Working part time (less than 30 hours per week) 92 12.5 

Permanently sick or disabled person 29 3.9 

Unemployed - Registered Job Seeker 16 2.2 

Caring for a child or adult 15 2.0 

In full time education 14 1.9 

Looking after home 7 1.0 

On a zero hour contract 7 1.0 

Unemployed - Unregistered but seeking work 7 1.0 

Other 27 3.7 

Total 735 100.0 

 

  

Page 95



Your Priorities for the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre  Page 29 

Do you consider yourself to be Welsh? 
 

No. % 

Yes 481 65.5 

No 253 34.5 

Total 734 100.0 

 

What is your ethnic group? 

The proportion of respondents from a minority ethnicity were higher than that for the population of 

Cardiff as a whole, as measured by the 2011 Census. 
 

No. % Census 2011 
(% of those 
aged 16+) 

White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 481 64.6 82.1 

White - Irish 12 1.6 0.9 

White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller 1 0.1 0.1 

White - Any other white background  39 5.2 3.7 

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black Caribbean 10 1.3 0.8 

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black African 7 0.9 0.4 

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White & Asian 10 1.3 0.5 

Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - Any other  11 1.5 0.5 

Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Bangladeshi 9 1.2 1.1 

Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Chinese 3 0.4 1.2 

Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Indian 11 1.5 2.3 

Asian/Asian Welsh/British – Pakistani 7 0.9 1.5 

Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Any other  2 0.3 1.2 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British - African 49 6.6 1.2 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British – Caribbean 22 3.0 0.4 

Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British - Any other  7 0.9 0.4 

Arab 5 0.7 1.1 

Any other ethnic group  13 1.7 1.7 

Prefer not to say 46 6.2 - 

Total 745 100.0  

 

Where were you born? 
 

No. % 

Elsewhere in the UK 225 30.4 

Elsewhere in Wales 124 16.8 

In Cardiff 275 37.2 

Outside the UK 116 15.7 

Total 740 100.0 

 

Page 96



1 
 

Appendix D to the Report of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

Terms of Reference; Race Equality Taskforce and Sub-Groups 

 
1. Race Equality Taskforce: Terms of Reference 
 

Purpose 
 

1. The Race Equality Taskforce (‘the Taskforce’) is established by Cardiff Council, 
following a decision by the Council’s Cabinet on 16 July 2020, to enable the 
coordination of meaningful and evidence-led actions and recommendations to 
address racial discrimination and promote race equality in Cardiff. 

 
2. The Taskforce will undertake this work until the end of the current political 

administration and local government elections in May 2022. 
 
Objectives 
 

3. The Taskforce will work to the following objectives: 
 

• Work with Cardiff's communities and organisations to improve and prioritise 
race equality to achieve an inclusive, cohesive, thriving and representative city; 

 

• Guide Cardiff’s policy and strategy developers to make sure race equality is 
included in all of their work; 

 

• Use the Council’s convening power to advance race equality in the public, 
private and voluntary sector, working closely where required with the Cardiff 
Public Services Board; 

 

• Coordinate actions and recommendations to advance race equality, focusing on 
priority work-streams, identified in consultation with the city’s ethnic minority 
residents; 

 

• Report on progress on race equality and the general impact of inequality and 
discrimination on the ethnic minority communities of Cardiff. 

 
Priorities 
 

4. The following areas have been identified to be considered by the Taskforce: 
 

a) Employment and Representative Workforce 
b) Education and Young People’s Experience of Services 
c) Citizen’s Voice  
d) Health and Social Care 
e) Criminal Justice 

Page 97



2 
 

 
5. The priorities of the Taskforce have been informed by public consultation with Cardiff 

residents and agreed by the Race Equality Taskforce Membership at their inaugural 
meeting on 2nd December 2020. A work stream will be established for each of the 
agreed priorities, which will coordinate and consider strategic evidence, practice and 
policy reviews in order to produce recommendations for action. 

 
Reporting Requirements 
 

6. The Taskforce will report to Cabinet on each work-stream on a quarterly basis from 
March 2021. The formal report will be provided annually to Council. Work Stream’s a) 
Employment and Representative Workforce b) Education and Young People’s 
Experiences of Services c) Citizen’s Voice will provide recommendations which will be 
considered at Cabinet. Work stream d) Health and Social Care will provide 
recommendations to the Health Board for consideration. Work stream e) Criminal 
Justice will provide recommendations for the Community Safety Partnership.  

 
7. The Taskforce will also provide an annual report to Full Council, in line with the 

reporting schedule for the Council’s statutory Equalities Annual Report. 
 

8. A Cross-Party Group will provide Members input and engagement for the Taskforce. 
 
Limitation of Authority 
 

9. The Taskforce is an advisory body to the Council’s Cabinet. It is not a decision-making 
body and does not have the authority to: 

 

• Expend money on behalf of Cardiff Council; 

• Commit Cardiff Council to any arrangement; 

• Direct Cardiff Council staff in the performance of their duties and shall not seek 
to do so; 

• Purport to represent Cardiff Council in any communication with the public or 
media; and 

• Consider any matter outside its Terms of Reference. 
 

10. The actions of the Taskforce or any of its members shall not fetter the discretion of 
the Council in the exercise of any of its functions. 

 
Membership 
 

11. The Taskforce will comprise of the Chair and up to 14 members. Seeking to ensure a 
diverse range of protected characteristics are recognised within the Taskforce. 

 
12. Members will be appointed until the end of the current political administration and 

local government elections in May 2022. 
 

Page 98



3 
 

13. The membership will be made up of individuals with insight and interest in race, 
ethnicity and human rights and who have the ability, experience, opportunity and 
influence to make changes in their sector, industry and institutions or organisations. 

 
14. Membership of the Taskforce is to be selected following a public appointment process 

openly advertised by the Council. The membership is selected in order to achieve a 
balance of representation across the following fields: 
 

Voluntary Sector and Community 
Organisations 

Public Services 

Major Employers and Small-to-Medium 
Sized Enterprises (SMEs) 

Culture and the Arts 

Education, including Further and Higher 
Education 

Sport 

Trade Unions Children and Young People 
 

 
15. The Taskforce will also have the ability to co-opt members on a consensual basis. 

 
16. Members of the Taskforce must submit, upon appointment, a declaration of personal 

interests, including a declaration that they understand and will abide by the Nolan 
Principles of Standards in Public Life. All members will strive to be respectful, 
consensus-oriented, transparent and accountable. 

 
17. Everyone in attendance at Taskforce meetings must declare any actual or potential 

conflicts of interest; these shall be recorded in the minutes. Anyone with a relevant or 
material interest in a matter under consideration must be excluded from the 
discussion; this shall also be recorded in the meetings. 

 
Chair 
 

18. The appointment of the Chair of the Taskforce is a matter for decision by the Council’s 
Cabinet. 

 
19. The Chair will be appointed until the end of the current political administration and 

local government elections in May 2022. 
 

20. The Chair is responsible for chairing meetings of the Taskforce and promoting the 
work of the Taskforce. 

 
21. The Chair will also oversee the activities of the work-streams and strategic activities 

associated with tackling discrimination and disadvantage faced by ethnic minority 
residents in Cardiff. 

 
 
 
 

Page 99



4 
 

Vice Chair 
 

22. The Vice-Chair of the Taskforce will be selected by the Chair from among the 14 
members who are publicly appointed to the Taskforce. 

 
23. The Vice-Chair will be appointed for 6 months subject to reappointment.  

 

24. The Vice-Chair will deputise in chairing meetings of the Taskforce in the absence of 
the Chair. 

 
Meeting Arrangements 
 

25. The Taskforce will be quorate at 25% of the total voting members, rounded up to the 
nearest whole number. This must include the Chair/ Vice-Chair.  

 
26. Meetings of the Taskforce will take place on a quarterly basis (i.e. every 3 months) and 

will usually take place at a council venue or will be held remotely using Microsoft 
Teams due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
27. Members of the Taskforce are expected to make every effort to attend all meetings 

and attendance will be recorded formally through minutes of the meetings. 
 

28. Where members are unable to attend Taskforce meetings, any apologies should be 
given to the Chair and/or meeting secretariat in advance of the meetings. Substitute 
delegates are not able to attend meetings without the prior approval of the Chair (or 
Vice-Chair in the absence of the Chair). 

 
Recommendations and Voting 
 

29. Draft recommendations will be brought to the Taskforce meetings through work 
streams, organised by number (eg: 1.1, 1.2) and will be recorded in the meetings 
minutes along with any votes. Recommendations are called to a vote by the Chair of 
the Taskforce during a meeting. Approved recommendations from Taskforce 
meetings will be reported to Cabinet. 
 

30. Votes may be cast by Taskforce members only and not Council secretariat or 
observers. Votes are made only by the members present in a properly 
arranged meeting.   

31. Decisions will be made by a majority of the votes cast at the meeting. In the event of 
there not being a clear majority vote, the Chair shall have a casting vote.   

  
32. Votes are cast at the Chair’s discretion and are as follows:  

I. By General Consent -- When a recommendation is not likely to be opposed, the 
Chair says, "if there is no objection ..." The membership shows agreement by 
their silence, however if one member says, "I object," the item will then be put 
to a vote by one of the methods below.  

Page 100



5 
 

II. By Voice -- The Chairman asks those in favour to say, "Aye", those opposed to 
say "no". Any member may move for an exact count. (Whilst meeting 
virtually during the Covid-19 Pandemic the ‘raise hand’ function on Teams will 
be used)  

III. By Roll Call -- Each member answers "yes" or "no" as his name is called. This 
method is used when a record of each person's vote is required.   

 
Confidentiality 
 

33. Confidentiality rules are as follows: The Taskforce will adhere to the Chatham House 
Rule, anyone who comes to a meeting is free to use information from the discussion 
but is not allowed to reveal who made any comment. Failure to adhere to this rule 
may result in taskforce membership being revoked.   

  
Administration 
 

34. The Secretariat and administrative support services to the Taskforce will be provided 
by Cardiff Council, or an individual or organisation appointed by Cardiff Council, and 
will include meeting organisation, circulating meeting agendas, taking meeting 
minutes and overseeing general Taskforce administration. 

 
35. All final papers/reports must be submitted to the meeting secretariat 7 clear days in 

advance of the meeting. 
 

36. The agenda and supporting papers shall be forwarded to each member of the 
Taskforce 3 clear days in advance of the meeting. 

 
Communications 
 

37. The Taskforce will communicate via email using a private invite-only list of contacts. 
Communication may include: 
 

• Periodic updates concerning Taskforce activities; 

• Dissemination of minutes and initiatives; 

• Links and research related to Taskforce aims and ambitions; and 

• Draft documents for review and comment. 
 
Press & Social Media  
 

38. Council secretariat are available for any queries. However, confidentiality rules should 
be adhered to during all public or social correspondence. Further guidance on this can 
be found in the ‘Communications Guidance’ provided by the Equality Team.  

 
General Requirements 
 

39. In so far as it relates to the activities of the Taskforce, the Taskforce and individual 
members of the Taskforce: 

Page 101



6 
 

 
i. Will use all reasonable endeavours to comply with all applicable requirements 

of Cardiff Council’s Welsh Language Scheme and the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 (“the Measure”) and the Welsh language standards issued to 
the City of Cardiff Council (Compliance Notice – Section 44 Welsh Language 
(Wales) Measure 2011) insofar as it relates to the activities of the Taskforce.  A 
copy of the Welsh language standards is available from: 
www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff 

 
ii. Will comply with any and all requirements under the Data Protection 

Legislation and shall not disclose or allow unauthorised access to any 
confidential information provided or acquired during the term of the 
Taskforce. 

 
iii. Shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning and scope of any law, 

enactment, order, or regulation or good practice relating to discrimination 
(whether in age, disability, gender reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, 
sexual orientation, marriage and civil partnership, and pregnancy and 
maternity or otherwise). 

 
iv. Acknowledges that the Council is subject to the requirements of the Code of 

Practice on Government Information, Freedom of Information Act and the 
Environmental Information Regulations and shall assist and cooperate with the 
Council to enable the Council to comply with its Information disclosure 
obligations, and 

 
v. Shall not behave in a manner so as to bring Cardiff Council into disrepute. 

 

Amendments to the Terms of Reference 
 

40. The Terms of Reference may be amended, varied or modified in writing by the 
council’s Head of Policy and Partnerships in consultation with the Chair, with advice 
from Legal Services. 

41. Taskforce members will be given the opportunity to comment on any proposed 
substantive changes to the Terms of Reference, so far as reasonably practicable, and 
the Council will ensure that Taskforce members’ views are duly taken into account.  

 

  

Page 102

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff


7 
 

2. RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE: COUNCIL-LED SUB-GROUPS 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. AIM 
 

1.1. To develop proposals to improve race equality in Cardiff, in relation to the theme of the 
sub-group, which will be presented to Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce for discussion 
and inform their recommendations.  

 

2. OBJECTIVES  
 

2.1. The Sub-Group will coordinate and consider strategic evidence, practice and policy 
reviews in order to produce proposals for the Taskforce’s consideration.  

 

2.2. Proposals will be brought to the Taskforce meetings for presentation, organised by 
number (e.g. 1.1, 1.2). Taskforce members will have the opportunity to discuss and vote 
on proposals to inform their recommendations to Cabinet. 

 

2.3. To action feedback and guidance offered by the Taskforce to inform proposals relevant 
to the work stream, as necessary. 

 

2.4. To act as a reference group for Race Equality related issues and provide a voice for Race 
Equality Taskforce issues within relevant Sub-Group themes. 

 

3. MEMBERSHIP 
 
 
3.1. The Chair of the Employment and Representative Workforce Sub-Group is Asmut Price, 

BAME Network Chair and Taskforce Member / The Chair of the Education & Young 
People’s Experience of Service Sub-Group is Gillian James, Achievement Leader (Key 
Groups) for Cardiff Council / The Chair of the Citizen’s Voice Sub-Group is Cllr Daniel 
De’Ath, Former Lord Mayor and Taskforce Member. The Chairs of the Council-led Sub-
Groups are appointed until the end of the current Administration in May 2022. 
 

3.2. The Vice Chairs are appointed from Sub-Group membership. The Vice Chair will chair 
meetings of the Sub-Group in the Chair’s absence, and support meeting formalities as 
and when required. 

 

3.3. The membership will be made up of individuals with insight and interest in race, ethnicity, 
and human rights and who have the ability, experience, opportunity and influence to make 
changes in their sector, industry and institutions or organisations within each relevant 
Sub-Group theme. 

 

3.4. Council Members/officers may be invited to participate as and when necessary and in 
agreement with the Sub-Group Chair. 

 

3.5. External guests may attend as invited e.g. Race Equality Taskforce Chair, Taskforce 
members, and external speakers.  

 

Page 103



8 
 

4. ADMINISTRATION 
 

4.1. The Sub-Group will be supported by the Race Equality Taskforce Secretariat who will be 
responsible for taking minutes in meetings, arranging a suitable meeting space and any 
other secretarial duties necessary. 

 

4.2. A briefing regarding the Race Equality Taskforce will be prepared and presented to the 
appointed membership of the Sub-Group in the first convening by the Race Equality 
Taskforce Secretariat. 

 

4.3. The Sub-Group will be quorate at 25% of the total membership, rounded up to the nearest 
whole number. This must include the Chair/ Vice-Chair.   

 

5. RECORD OF MEETINGS 

 

5.1. Minutes from each meeting of the Sub-Group will be recorded by the Race Equality 
Taskforce Secretariat and disseminated to members of the Sub-Group following each 
meeting.  

 

6. FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 
 

6.1. The meetings will be held quarterly during the course of the current administration until 
May 2022. 

 

 

  

Page 104



9 
 

3. RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE: PARTNER-LED CRIMINAL JUSTICE SUB-GROUP  

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. AIM 
 

1.1. To develop proposals to improve race equality in Cardiff, in relation to the 
theme of Criminal Justice which will be presented to Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce 
for discussion and inform their recommendations.  

 

2. OBJECTIVES  
 

2.1. The Sub-Group will coordinate and consider strategic evidence, practice and policy 
reviews in order to produce proposals for the Taskforce’s consideration.  

 

2.2. Proposals will be brought to the Taskforce meetings for presentation, organised by 
number (e.g. 1.1, 1.2). Taskforce members will have the opportunity to discuss and vote 
on proposals to inform their recommendations. 

 

2.3. To action feedback and guidance offered by the Taskforce to inform proposals relevant 
to the work stream, as necessary. 
 

2.4. To empower community voices, act as a reference group for Race Equality related issues 
and provide a space for Race Equality Taskforce issues within relevant Sub-Group 
themes. 
 

2.5. The Sub-Group will not be involved in individual or current case-specific investigations. 
The sub-group will utilise current data, qualitative feedback and lived experiences and act 
as a body to advise and guide Cardiff’s Criminal Justice institutions in broader issues 
relating to policing and criminal justice policy and practice matters. 

 

3. MEMBERSHIP 
 

3.1. The Chair of the Sub-Group is Emma Wools, Deputy Police Crime Commissioner and 
Taskforce Member. The Chair of the Sub-Group is appointed until the end of the current 
Administration in May 2022. 

 

3.2. The Vice Chair is appointed from the Sub-Group membership. The Vice Chair will chair 
meetings of the Sub-Group in the Chair’s absence, and support meeting formalities as 
and when required. 

 

3.3. The membership will be made up of individuals with insight and interest in race, ethnicity 
and human rights and who have the ability, experience, opportunity and influence to make 
changes in their sector, industry and institutions or organisations within each relevant 
Sub-Group theme. 

 

3.4. Council Members/officers may be invited to participate as and when necessary and in 
agreement with the Sub-Group Chair. 

 

Page 105



10 
 

3.5. External guests may attend as invited e.g. Race Equality Taskforce Chair, Taskforce 
members, and external speakers.  
 

4. GOVERNANCE 
 

4.1. Taskforce approved recommendations will be taken for consideration through 
governance structures such as Cardiff’s Community Safety Partnership’s Leadership 
Board or Cardiff Council’s Cabinet, as is most relevant and appropriate. 

4.2. Sub-Group members are able to escalate concerns or issues with regards to the Sub-
Group to the Race Equality Taskforce’s Chair, Cllr Saeed Ebrahim or the Council 
Secretariat.  

 

7. ADMINISTRATION 

 

7.1. The Sub-Group will be supported by Cardiff Council’s Race Equality Taskforce 

Secretariat, who will undertake any secretarial duties necessary. 
 

7.2. The Sub-Group will be quorate at 25% of the total membership, rounded up to the nearest 
whole number, this must include representation from both statutory and non-statutory 
organisations to ensure balanced membership. This must include the Chair/ Vice-Chair.   

 

8. RECORD OF MEETINGS 
 

8.1. Minutes from each meeting of the Sub-Group will be recorded by the Race Equality 
Taskforce Secretariat and disseminated to members of the Sub-Group following each 
meeting.  

 

9. FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS 

 

9.1. The meetings will be held quarterly during the course of the current administration until 
May 2022. The Chair has the ability to request further meetings subject to timescales of 
actions and proposals.  

  

Page 106



11 
 

4. RACE EQUALITY TASKFORCE: PARTNER-LED HEALTH WORK STREAM 

The Health work stream did not have an active sub-group, but health representatives 

informed their actions following guidance from Taskforce and governance from the Cardiff & 

Vale University Health Board’s EQUALITY STRATEGY & WELSH LANGUAGE 

STANDARDS GROUP.  

The Equality Strategy & Welsh Language Standards Group Terms of Reference can be 

found below: 

1         PURPOSE 
 

1.1 The purpose of the Equality Strategy & Welsh Language Standards Group (ESWLSG) 
is to: 
 
Advise, embed and assure the Strategy and Delivery Committee on the development 

and implementation of the UHB’s “Strategy Equality Plan - Caring about Inclusion” 

(SEP) and the Welsh Language Standards, and key enabling plans. This will include 

all aspects of service access/delivery, employment practice, patient and public 

involvement, commissioning services and partnership arrangements. It will include any 

risks that may hinder our achievement of the objectives set out in the SEP and the 

Welsh Language Standards, including mitigating actions against these. 

The work of the ESWLSG will be driven by legislation and compliance but also in 

tandem with the organisation’s values and behaviour around equality and Welsh 

language considerations. Focusing on prevention, improvement through inclusion as 

key to sustainable development, education, wellness and wellbeing for the future of 

the people who work for and receive services from the Health Board. Equality is about 

making sure that people are treated fairly. It is not about us treating everyone the same, 

but seeing people as individuals and recognising that everyone's needs are met in 

different ways. The ESWLSG must and will be sensitive, thoughtful and flexible in how 

it meets the needs of people. 

The ESWLSG will do the right thing for every person and treat everyone with dignity 

and respect. It will protect people's dignity and privacy and take action when it sees 

these are being undermined. 

2.        RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE ESWLSG 

In broad terms the role and responsibilities of the ESWLSG are dived into four 

categories as shown below 

A. Strategy 
B. Delivery 
C. Performance 
D. Other responsibilities 

 
Part A 

Strategy and /or Strategic Intent 

2.1 Strategic Equality Plan- Caring about Inclusion (SEP). Provide assurance to                  

the Strategy and Delivery Committee that the SEP and the Welsh Language Standards 

are being: 

Page 107



12 
 

a. Reviewed and progressed as intended, within the appropriate timescales to 
achieve desired outcomes. 

b. Provide assurance that key milestones identified in the SEP and Welsh Language 
Standards enabling plans are being delivered. 

c. Provide assurance that the SEP and Welsh Language Standards enabling plans 
are being actively embedded and continually refreshed within the organisation. 

d. Provide assurances that significant risks associated with the delivery of the SEP 
and the Welsh Language Standards are being mitigated. 
 

The Health Board prohibits discrimination, victimisation and harassment and 

provides equality of both opportunity and outcome for all community members, staff 

and applicants regardless of age, disability, gender identity and/or trans identity, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 

sexual orientation or socioeconomic status. 

Members of the ESWLSG are expected to exercise accountability appropriate to 

their position and delegated authorities. They are accountable to each other, the 

Health Board and the Health Board’s stakeholders both for their actions and their 

decisions not to act. 

Members of the ESWLSG will exercise sound judgment in serving the best interests 

of the organisation and the communities it serves and represents. They will do this 

by exploring how individuals see themselves fitting into the organisation. 

2.2 Organisational Strategy. Provide assurance to the Strategy and Delivery ESWLSG 

that the SEP and the Welsh Language Standards are strategically aligned with the 

organisation’s “Shaping our Future Wellbeing (SOFW) strategy and Integrated Medium 

Term Plan. 

2.3 National Strategies Provide assurance to the Strategy and Delivery ESWLSG that 

the SEP and the Welsh Language Standards are:  

Strategically aligned with Welsh Government’s health and social care strategy    which 

includes: 

a. The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 
b. The Social Care and Wellbeing Act 
c. The Equality Act, including both the Public Sector Equality Duty and the Socio-

Economic Duty 
d. The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure  
e. The Human Rights Act 
f. A Healthier Wales: Our Workforce Strategy for Health and Social Care 
g. Health and Care Standards 
h. Race Equality Action Plan: An Anti-racist Wales 

 
Part B 

Development and Delivery of Plans that support Strategies 

2.4 Enabling/Supporting Plans:  

The ESWLSG will scrutinise and provide assurance to the Strategy and Delivery 

Committee that related or supporting equality and Welsh language UHB plans have 

been developed and that their objectives are being delivered and planned. This will 

include: 

Page 108



13 
 

a) Integrated Medium Term Plan (IMTP): The development and delivery of the 
Health Board’s three year plan ensuring that service provision and quality financial and 

workforce elements are aligned and integrated. 

Particular attention will be given to: 

 

i.  Workforce Plan: Scrutinise and provide assurance to the Strategy and 

Delivery Committee that: 

• The strategic equality and Welsh language workforce issues as set out 
in the SEP and the Welsh Language Standards  are being fully 
addressed 

• Early consideration is given to key service and operational issues which 
may impact on the delivery of any plans 
 

ii.  Capital Plan: Provide assurance to the Strategy and Delivery Committee that 

major capital investments are aligned with the SEP and Welsh Language 

Standards and have been appropriately assessed. The ESWLSG will where 

appropriate, be responsible for reviewing achievement of the intended 

outcomes following completion or implementation.  

b) Other Significant Plans: The ESWLSG will scrutinise and provide assurance 
to the Strategy and Delivery Committee that other significant plans associated with the 

delivery of the UHB's strategy (SOFW) will be reviewed and monitored to ensure they 

are being progressed and implemented from an equality and Welsh Language 

Standards perspective. This will include, as appropriate, the plan for: 

I. Research and Development 
II. Commercial Developments 

III. Infrastructure/Estates 
IV. Key Service Change Proposals. This will include providing assurance that they 

are in accordance with national guidance regarding engagement and 
consultation with stakeholder/partner organisations 

V. Major consultations and or engagements that support the delivery of SOFW 
 

Part C 

Performance 

2.5 Performance: The ESWLSG will scrutinise and provide assurance to the Strategy and 

Delivery Committee that key performance indicators will be reviewed and monitored to 

ensure they are being progressed and implemented from an equality and Welsh 

Language Standards perspective, are on track and confirm that effective actions are 

being taken to correct unintended variations giving full consideration to associated 

governance arrangements. This will include: 

a) The key organisational Performance relevant to the Strategy and Delivery 
Committee 

b) Workforce Key Performance Indicators 
c) Closer scrutiny (“Deep Dives”) on areas of concern where the ESWLSG considers 

it appropriate. 
Part D 

Other Responsibilities 

Page 109



14 
 

2.6 Equality and Health Impact Assessments: To provide assurance to the Strategy 

and Delivery Committee that Equality and Health Impact Assessments are fully 

considered and properly addressed in all service change proposals and that full 

consideration is given to the UHB's responsibilities for Equality and the Welsh 

Language. 

2.7 Staff Wellbeing. To provide assurance to the Strategy and Delivery Committee that 

the wellbeing of staff: 

a) Is always fully considered regularly reviewed to ensure that suitable support is 
made available whenever necessary. 

b) Staff wellbeing plans are aligned with SOFW and the values of the organisation. 
 

3 GOVERNANCE 
 

3.1 Delegated Powers of Authority 

As described above. 

• The ESWLSG will advise the Strategy and Delivery Committee on the adoption of 
a set of key indicators of service planning against which the UHB’s performance 
will be regularly assessed and reported. 

• The ESWLSG will regularly review any high corporate risks associated with its 
functions and to ensure that appropriate and effective mitigating actions are in 
place. 
 

3.2 Authority 
 

The ESWLSG is authorised by the Strategy and Delivery Committee to investigate or 

have investigated any activity within its terms of reference. In doing so, the ESWLSG 

shall have the right to inspect any books, records or documents of the UHB relevant to 

the ESWLSG’s remit and ensuring patient/client and staff confidentiality, as 

appropriate. It may seek any relevant information from any: 

• employee (and all employees are directed to cooperate with any reasonable 
request made by the ESWLSG); and  

• other sub-ESWLSG or taskforce/group set up by the Strategy and Delivery 
Committee to assist it in the delivery of its functions. 
 

The ESWLSG is authorised by the Strategy and Delivery Committee to obtain outside 

legal or other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of 

outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers it necessary, in 

accordance with the Strategy and Delivery Committee’s procurement, budgetary and 

other requirements. 

3.3 Membership 

Chair:               Executive Director of Workforce and Organisational Development  

Vice Chair:       Senior HWOD for Education and Inclusion  

Members:         A minimum of 3 Independent Board Members  

The ESWLSG may also co-opt additional independent ‘external’ members from outside the 

organisation to provide specialist skills, knowledge and expertise.  

Page 110



15 
 

3.4 Attendees 

In attendance:                     

Equality Manager    

Inclusion Manager 

Welsh Language Officer          

Nominated representatives from all of the UHB Clinical Boards 

Nominated representative Patient Experience. 

Nominated representatives from the Corporate Teams e.g. 

Head of Human Resources 

A representative from Staff side  

Assistant Director of Nursing 

Associate Medical Director (Workforce and Revalidation) 

Director of Communications, Arts, Health Charity and Engagement 

Trade Union representation  

By invitation: The ESWLSG Chair may extend invitations to attend ESWLSG 

meetings as required to internal staff as well as others from outside the organisation 

who the ESWLSG considers should attend, taking account of the matters under 

consideration at each meeting. This would include extending an invitation to the Chair 

of the organisation’s established Black, Asian, & Minority Ethnic Staff Network/Forum. 

Attendance is required by members at 80% of meetings. Members unable to attend 

should indicate in writing to the ESWLSG Secretariat, at least 7 days in advance of 

the meeting. In normal circumstances, any members (except Independent Members) 

who are unable to attend must nominate a deputy who is appropriately briefed to 

participate in the meeting.  

A register of attendance will be maintained and the Chair of the ESWLSG will follow 

up any issues related to the unexplained non-attendance of members. Should 

continuing non-attendance of a member jeopardise the functioning of the ESWLSG, 

the Chair will discuss the matter with the member and, if necessary, seek a 

substitute or replacement. 

3.5 Secretariat 

Secretary: As determined by the Executive Director of Workforce & Organisational 

Development. 

3.6 Member Appointments 

The membership of the ESWLSG shall be determined by the Strategy and Delivery 

Committee, based on the recommendation of the UHB Chair - taking account of the 

balance of skills and expertise necessary to deliver the ESWLSG’s remit and subject 

to any specific requirements or directions made by the Welsh Government. 

Page 111



16 
 

ESWLSG members’ terms and conditions of appointment, (including any remuneration 

and reimbursement) are determined by the Strategy and Delivery Committee, based 

upon the recommendation of the UHB Chair {and on the basis of advice from the UHB’s 

Remuneration and Terms of Service ESWLSG}. 

3.7 Support to ESWLSG Members 

The Director of Corporate Governance, on behalf of the ESWLSG Chair, shall: 

• arrange the provision of advice and support to ESWLSG members on and any 
aspect related to the conduct of their role; and  

• ensure the provision of a programme of organisational development for ESWLSG 
members as part of the UHB’s overall OD programme developed by the Executive 
Director of Workforce and Organisational Development. 

 

3.8 ESWLSG MEETINGS 

Quorum 

At least two members must be present to ensure the quorum of the ESWLSG, one of 

whom should be the ESWLSG Chair or Vice Chair. 

Frequency of Meetings 

Meetings shall be held bi-monthly and otherwise as the Chair of the ESWLSG deems 

necessary – consistent with the UHB’s annual plan of Strategy and Delivery 

Committee business. 

Withdrawal of individuals in attendance 

The ESWLSG may ask any or all of those who normally attend but who are not 

members to withdraw to facilitate open and frank discussion of particular matters. 

4. RELATIONSHIPS AND ACCOUNTABILITIES WITH THE STRATEGY AND 

DELIVERY COMMITTEE AND ITS ESWLSGS / GROUPS 

Although the Strategy and Delivery Committee has delegated authority to the 

ESWLSG for the exercise of certain functions as set out within these terms of 

reference, it retains overall responsibility and accountability for ensuring the quality 

and safety of healthcare for its citizens. The ESWLSG is directly accountable to the 

Strategy and Delivery Committee for its performance in exercising the functions set 

out in these terms of reference. 

The ESWLSG, through its Chair and members, shall work closely with the Strategy 

and Delivery Committee’s other ESWLSGs, including joint (sub) ESWLSGs and 

groups to provide advice and assurance to the Strategy and Delivery Committee 

through the: 

• joint planning and co-ordination of Strategy and Delivery Committee and ESWLSG 
business; and 

• sharing of information 
 

in doing so, contributing to the integration of good governance across the organisation, 

ensuring that all sources of assurance are incorporated into the Strategy and Delivery 

Committee’s overall risk and assurance framework. 

Page 112



17 
 

The ESWLSG shall embed the UHB’s corporate standards, priorities and 

requirements, e.g., equality and Welsh language best practice through the conduct of 

its business. 

4.1 REPORTING AND ASSURANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

The ESWLSG Chair shall: 

• report formally, regularly and on a timely basis to the Strategy and Delivery 
Committee on the ESWLSG’s activities. This includes verbal updates on activity, 
the submission of ESWLSG minutes and written reports throughout the year; 
 

• bring to the Strategy and Delivery Committee’s specific attention any significant 
matters under consideration by the ESWLSG; 

 

• ensure appropriate escalation arrangements are in place to alert the UHB Chair, 
or Chairs of other relevant ESWLSGs of any urgent/critical matters that may 
compromise patient care and affect the operation and/or reputation of the UHB. 

 

 
The Strategy and Delivery Committee may also require the ESWLSG Chair to report 

upon the ESWLSG’s activities at public meetings, e.g., AGM, or to community partners 

and other stakeholders, where this is considered appropriate, e.g., where the 

ESWLSG’s assurance role relates to a joint or shared responsibility. 

The Strategy and Delivery Committee e, shall oversee a process of regular and 

rigorous self-assessment and evaluation of the ESWLSG’s performance and operation 

including that of any sub ESWLSG taskforce/group established. 

4.2 APPLICABILITY OF STANDING ORDERS TO ESWLSG BUSINESS 

The requirements for the conduct of business as set out in the UHB’s Standing Orders 

are equally applicable to the operation of the ESWLSG, except in the following areas: 

• Quorum (set within individual Terms of Reference) 
 

4.3 REVIEW 

These terms of reference and operating arrangements shall be reviewed annually by 

the ESWLSG with reference to the Strategy and Delivery Committee. 

5. ACCEPTANCE & SIGN-OFF 

These ESWLSG members have been chosen based on their role and skill set, 

experiences, perspective and commitment to equality and Welsh language. 

Individual ESWLSG members are asked to sign-off on the Terms of Reference. This 

sign-off indicates that the terms of reference are understood and accepted.  

The following signatures represent acceptance of these Terms of Reference.  

 

Name Signature Date 

Page 113



18 
 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

Page 114



 

 

 
SWYDDFA’R ARWEINYDD 
OFFICE OF THE LEADER  
 
  
Dyddiad / Date:  4 March 2022 
 
 
Councillor Saeed Ebrahim  
Chair  
Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Cardiff Council  
 
 
Via email: Saeed.N.Ebrahim@cardiff.gov.uk  
 
 
Annwyl/Dear Cllr Ebrahim, 
 
Report of the Race Equality Taskforce 
 
I write in reply to the completion of Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce’s programme and 
the publication of your report. 
 
Firstly, I wish to congratulate and thank you for your leadership in delivering such a 
comprehensive and practical set of recommendations for our city. I wish to express 
my gratitude to the many Cardiff residents who have shaped this work. The finished 
Report of the Race Equality Taskforce provides a clear design for future efforts to 
address racial injustice at a city level.  
 
The last 18 months of delivering the Taskforce have seen an active and pragmatic 
process. This has enabled community members to work side-by-side with public 
services and broader city partners to reflect on the reality of inequality for ethnic 
minority people in our city, and, critically, focus collective minds on the practical 
solutions that we could develop at the local level. 
 
As the Taskforce rightly state in their report, this can only be the beginning and a long-
term focus is needed to effectively change the dial on racial inequality.  
 
In establishing the Taskforce, I asked the membership to focus on the immediate 
actions we could take during the current Labour administration, alongside those which 
require long-term consistent measures to deliver meaningful change. This is 
something which our administration has taken seriously, and we have encouraged 
urgency of action. I am pleased therefore, that there has already been a significant 
programme of work to respond to the Race Equality Taskforce’s recommendations, 
actively, to date, as they have been confirmed by the Taskforce during the course of 
the programme.  
 
As I committed in the final meeting of the Race Equality Taskforce, following the 2022 
Local Government elections, a Labour administration would welcome the Taskforce to 
participate in an audit, one year on from receiving this report, to examine the 
implementation of their recommendations.  
 

Page 115

mailto:Saeed.N.Ebrahim@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:Saeed.N.Ebrahim@cardiff.gov.uk


 
 
   
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

In replying to the Taskforce Report today, I am here attaching a record of and progress 
that we have already made to date, and the commitments secured from public services 
and our partners to embed these recommendations in service delivery for the future.  
 
 
 
 Yn gywir,  
Yours sincerely,  
 

 
CYNGHORYDD / COUNCILLOR HUW THOMAS 
ARWEINYDD / LEADER 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD / CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Page 116



1 
 

Response to the Report of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 

 
Race Equality Taskforce - 
Response to date  
 

March 2022 
  
 
A delivery report summarising work completed between December 2021- 
March 2022 to implement the recommendations of the Cardiff Race Equality 
Taskforce 
 
Published: 4th March 2022 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



2 
 

 
 
Introduction 
 
Delivering the recommendations of Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce will require 
long-term, sustained efforts. Our city has taken this work seriously and there have 
already been significant milestones achieved in implementing the recommendations 
of the Taskforce over the course of the 18-month programme.  
 
This document captures some key aspects of delivery to date, but only represents a 
moment in time, explaining the work completed and planned at the time that the 
Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce’s Report was published, March 2022. There will 
certainly be more to come.  
 
We were able to progress these actions because of the strong spirit of collaboration 
and responsibility across the wide network of city partners who have supported and 
engaged in the Taskforce’s work.  
 
This Delivery Report provides insight into progression of the Race Equality 
Taskforce’s recommendations to date and commitments secured to progress these 
recommendations in the months ahead.  
 
As most of the Race Equality Taskforce’s recommendations concern Cardiff 
Council’s role as an employer, service provider and convening body in the city, this 
report has been prepared by the Council in reply to the recommendations, but this 
report also includes relevant delivery information from our city partners where 
recommendations concerned their organisations, services and our partnership 
arrangements. 
 
Moving forwards, the Race Equality Taskforce’s recommendations will be 
incorporated into the Council’s policy framework to ensure accountability for their 
delivery. Our key partners for the Criminal Justice and Health strands, South Wales 
Police and Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, have also provided updates for 
our response report, detailing the work they have completed to date against the 
recommendations relevant to their organisations and their future commitments. 
 
Continued delivery of these recommendations will be supported through increased 
internal resourcing for the Council’s Equality Team to ensure there is additional 
policy support for all service areas in achieving the ambitious and comprehensive 
recommendations of Cardiff’s Race Equality Taskforce. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 118



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

3 
 

 

Employment and Representative Workforce 
 
Reference Recommendation 
1.1

 

 
Develop a city-wide network for employers to encourage good 
practice and collaboration on employment action to improve ethnic 
minority representation and progression in the local labour market 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following approval of this proposal at the Race Equality Taskforce, the Council’s Equality 
Team established a partnership working group to begin designing ideas for a city 
partnership forum focused on the achievement of shared equality priorities across the 
public, private, voluntary and university sectors.  
 
The initial proposal will be brought to the Cardiff Public Services Board, along with the 
Race Equality Taskforce’s Report, for further consideration of future partnership 
arrangements to align and convalesce equality delivery across the city.  
 
It is proposed that the design of the future model follows a collaborative process, 
incorporating residents’ views on future priorities and supporting alignment across major 
employers and institutions in the city.   
 
Our next steps:  
 
Following the Local Government Elections, the Council will progress a concept paper for a 
future city-wide equality forum to the Public Services Board to initiate this work. This will 
suggest an engagement and consultation period, prioritising the voices of minority and 
marginalised groups, to develop actions and shape future shared commitments.   
 
Pending this development process, we anticipate that the future collaborative forum could 
be mobilised in the summer or autumn of 2022. The development process and launch will 
include relevant communications to ensure this work is visible as this network is 
established. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

4 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.2

 

 
Become a signatory to the Cardiff Community Jobs Compact 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Cardiff Council completed the Community Job’s Compact application form in October 
2021.  
 
This application highlighted areas of good employment practice adopted by the Council 
which reflect the standards required by the Compact.  
 
The application also included information regarding the Council’s current workforce 
equality data and information regarding the Council’s recruitment processes to ensure 
practice eliminates unconscious bias in shortlisting and that unconscious bias training is 
required for hiring managers.  
 
The application was accepted in December 2021 and the Community Job Compact’s 
assessment panel concluded that the Council has successfully satisfied the requirements 
listed in the Compact, which are: 
 

• Be accredited as a ‘Living Wage for Wales’ employer; 
• Paying all staff and contractors at least £9.90 an hour (the Living Wage rate from 

1st April 2022);  
• Recruit using name-blind and address-blind CVs and/or guarantee an interview to 

local residents who meet the criteria;  
• Introduce unconscious bias training for interviewers;  
• Ensure all staff have the option of a minimum hour’s contract and;  
• Demonstrate opportunities for growth and development. 

 
A date for the official signing of the compact has been confirmed for Monday 7th March 
2022.  
 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Huw Thomas, Cabinet member for Finance, 
Modernisation & Performance, Councillor Chris Weaver and Director of Human 
Resources, Tracey Thomas, will be in attendance and meet the Community Job Compact 
team and local beneficiaries who have found work through the Compact. 
 
The Council will publicly endorse the Compact during the signing and encourage other 
employers in the city to become a signatory. 
 
Our next steps:  
 
Following the signing of the compact, the Council will regularly engage with the 
Community Jobs Compact team, with key contacts from the Council regularly meeting 
their network and showcasing Council employment opportunities in partnership with the 
Compact team. 
 

Page 120



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

5 
 

Progress against the objectives of the Compact and monitoring its future impact will be 
delivered through partnership data analysis and the Council will continue to publish its 
employee data externally each year to demonstrate its progress on its workforce diversity 
objectives.  
 
Reference Recommendation 
1.3

 

 
Use planning and commissioning powers to require employers to 
recruit apprenticeships from disadvantaged groups and to 
increase transparency about the diversity of their workforces 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
The Socially Responsible Procurement Delivery Group, a new group focusing on ensuring 
maximum social value is delivered through the Council’s contracts completed a successful 
pilot of the Social Value TOMs (Themes, Outcomes, Measures) across 12 projects in 
2020-2021.  
 
The initial pilot successfully delivered the below benefits to residents in the city who are 
most in need of employability support, opportunities, and community investment, 
demonstrating that this approach works and ensures circular, tangible benefits to Cardiff 
residents. 
 
• 80 weeks of apprenticeships  
• 35 hrs of career support sessions  
• £31k of community support (incl. donations and time invested) 
• 1 employment opportunity for disabled people  
• 2 employment opportunities for long term unemployed people  
• 16 weeks of training opportunities  
• 57 hrs of volunteering  
• 3 weeks of work experience. 
 
The Cardiff Arena and Atlantic Wharf Development was the first Cardiff Council project 
which included the Social Value TOMs framework following the successful pilot and is 
anticipated to deliver the following benefits with a specific focus and commitment to 
ensure they reach our most socioeconomically deprived parts of the city: 
 
Atlantic Wharf and Indoor Arena 
 
Through the procurement process an exercise has been undertaken to ensure that the 
benefits of the new Arena are felt locally and, critically, the project has a sense of 
ownership with the local community. To that end both Robertsons and Live Nation, the 
developer and operator of the new venue, have committed to a range of projects that will 
invest directly into promoting employment and economic opportunity, as well as wider 
community development.  
 

Construction Commitments  
 
As part of the construction process the developers have committed to work proactively 
and collaboratively with local partners such as Into Work Cardiff, Careers Wales, as well 
as local schools, to promote job opportunities and an understanding of the project. This 

Page 121



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

6 
 

includes direct job opportunities for the long-term unemployed, those classified as 
NEETs, care leavers and ex-offenders. It also includes circa 10,000 hours of 
employment support services, and 1,500 weeks of training and apprenticeship 
opportunities. In addition, over £250,000 has been allocated to support local community 
projects.  
 
Operational Commitments 
 
The operators of the Arena have also committed to work proactively and collaboratively 
with local partners such as Into Work Cardiff, Careers Wales, as well as local schools, 
to promote job opportunities and an understanding of the project. This also includes 
direct job opportunities for the long-term unemployed, and circa 5,000 hours of 
employment support services, other apprenticeship opportunities. In addition, over 
£650,000 has been allocated to support local community projects. 

 
The Council recognises that the community benefits of the Arena cannot simply relate to 
the procurement process and will continue to work with the local community to ensure its 
benefits are felt locally. This includes working with schools and community representatives 
to embed the project locally, as well as establishing governance to deliver the funding 
allocated to supporting local project. 
 
In addition, the Council is working with Metro Dynamics and the Inclusive Growth Network 
to explore how more can be done to establish the longevity of the venue’s relationship 
with residents and its role as a community asset and part of the social and cultural fabric 
of the Butetown ward. This work will aim to build inclusion into the development and 
amplify the economic benefits of the project.  
 
Our next steps:  
 
Over recent months, a strong partnership has been developed between the Council’s 
procurement, IntoWork advice services team and the Cardiff Commitment to ensure all 
opportunities emerging from this major investment are reaching local people and 
contributing to social mobility in the city. 

 
From 2022 onwards, the Social Value TOMs will be included in tenders over £75,000 
wherever there is the opportunity to maximise social value. The winning tenderers social 
value offer in the tender process will become a contractual commitment that they are 
required to deliver for the city. 
 
Cardiff Council is currently in discussion with the Social Value Portal team to understand 
any opportunities to extract relevant ethnicity data and track this through delivery to 
monitor impact and better tailor targeted recruitment and employability support as part of 
an ongoing approach.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

7 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.4

 

 
Support an inclusive and engaged workforce where all staff 
understand and contribute to race equality action through 
awareness raising internal programming  

 
What we have done to date: 
 
As part of the Black and Asian Minority Ethnic Staff Network’s action plan for 2021, a 
successful trial of unconscious bias training and cultural awareness training was delivered 
in 2021 for Network members.  
 
Following the Network’s reflections on the value of this training in raising awareness of 
contemporary race equality issues and the experiences of Black, Asian and ethnic 
minority staff in the workplace and as service users, this training programme will be 
upscaled and delivered to all Council staff in 2022-2023. A funding allocation to support 
this has been made in the Council’s budget for the forthcoming financial year. 
 
In addition to this programme of training, the Black and Asian Minority Ethnic Staff 
Network will run a programme of Lunch and Learn events, inviting staff from across the 
Council to engage with the Network and benefit from the knowledge, experience and 
insight of Network members in supporting inclusive service practice. This will also include 
new digital materials and content to extend the learning offer to all Council staff, 
irrespective of their role or place of work. This work will be supported by the Council’s 
Human Resources team, Equality Team and benefit from the continued sponsorship of the 
Chief Executive.  
 
The implementation of this programme will be supported through regular meetings with 
the Network Chair and Network members and through quarterly meetings with the Leader, 
Chief Executive and Cabinet Member with responsibility for equality.  
 
Our next steps:  
 
In 2022, dedicating funding has been made available through the Council’s Employee 
Changes Reserve to implement a Council-wide training programme for all staff across the 
organisation and will form part of mandatory learning and development for the permanent 
and temporary workforce. 
 
The Black and Asian Minority Ethnic Network will launch their new programme of 
engagement and awareness raising activity in the summer of 2022 with support from HR 
and the Council’s Equality Team. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

8 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.5

 

 
Increase participation of ethnic minority groups in the Into Work 
Advice Service 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the progression of this recommendation by the Race Equality Taskforce, the 
IntoWork service delivered a significant programme of outreach and engagement events 
specifically targeting Cardiff’s ethnic minority communities.  
 
The service have also developed new training resources to respond to the specific 
employability support needs of some ethnic minority job seekers which the service 
supports, such as recent arrivals to the UK who need support to prepare for entry to the 
UK labour market. 
 
This programme of activity has included: 

 
• Planning and delivering sector specific training packages for ethnic minority 

jobseekers, such as ‘Get Into Construction’. This includes onsite training, an 
opportunity to gain sector specific qualifications and work experience. 

• Recruiting and appointing Community Champions to disseminate information, 
promote events and opportunities to ethnic minority jobseekers, using the Princes 
Trust ‘Community Ambassador’ model.    

• Planning and delivering a comprehensive publicity campaign to promote training, 
volunteering, work placements and employment opportunities for ethnic minority 
jobseekers. Targeting young people through Instagram, Twitter, and Facebook.  

 
Highlight of events and engagement delivered to date:  
 

• On 30th June 2021, in partnership with Princes Trust, Grangetown Hub and Into 
Work ran a ‘Google Certification Q&A’ event, where 20 jobseekers from Butetown 
Riverside and Grangetown attended virtually. The 20 individuals were supported 
and have been signed up to specific Into Work employability mentoring schemes to 
help them find work. 

 
• Two engagement events were successfully undertaken. One on the 14th of July at 

Grangetown Hub, which included stalls for: volunteering, Digital skills, NHS 
opportunities briefing, mentoring projects, refreshments, and chance to win a 
laptop. The second event to took place in September at Butetown Pavilion, and 
included activities for all ages, a range of stalls (as above), and employers.  

 
• In partnership with the CITB Construction Hub, Into Work have been regularly 

delivering a 5-day ‘Get Into Construction’ course. The course is delivered at 
Butetown Pavilion. The course includes working at heights, asbestos awareness, 
street signalling, CSCS Card, Health and safety level 2 and a work experience 
placement, The IntoWork service then provide follow-up support to help 
participants to find long-term sustainable employment.  

 
• The Communities for Work project delivered a publicity campaign during July, 

August and September 2021 including; distribution of posters, a social media 

Page 124



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

9 
 

campaign shared across Cardiff Council/Into Work social media platforms, 
advertisements on Cardiff Bus and Nat Group buses, digital boards and bus stop 
posters with a Text 2 Speech service link.  
 

• In November 2021 Into Work delivered a Kickstart Admin Jobs event in Butetown 
Pavilion. 5 young people attended, and with support from the IntoWork team, 1 
young person secured employment with the NHS following this event. In addition, 
in partnership with Boss and Brew, a Barista Course was provided to 6 young 
people attended and they have since been assisted with securing Work 
placements. 
 

• IntoWork delivered Kickstart application support events over 5 days, from 29th 
November- Friday 3rd December supporting young people to secure the 
opportunity of a paid six-month apprenticeship, including apprentice roles across 
all sectors. 
 

• Volunteer Community Champions roles have been advertised in collaboration with 
the Wellbeing District Hub Manager and the IntoWork Volunteering team in Jan 
2022. 

 
Our next steps:  
 
In the coming months the IntoWork team will continue to deliver regular events and 
targeted engagement in the parts of the city with the highest unemployment rates and 
deliver specific targeted activity focusing on young job seekers.  
 
This will be a programme of ongoing engagement but we have included a few highlights 
for the January- March 2022 period below as an indication of future work.  
 

• IntoWork will deliver a second round of Kickstart application support sessions in 
venues across the Southern Arc of the city, the areas with the highest levels of 
socioeconomic disadvantage. 

 
• A range of engagement events to be delivered across the city to coincide with 

‘Careers Week’ (7th -13th March).  
 

• The Volunteer Community Champions roles has been launched by the Into Work 
Volunteering team and is now live on the Volunteer Cardiff Website. 

 
• An NHS Careers Road show event to be hosted at Grangetown Hub on the 10th of 

March. 
 
This will include a continued focus in neighbourhoods with a diverse ethnic profile, where 
the evidence indicates further local support will support more residents to enter the labour 
market. Metrics will be developed to better understand service beneficiary data across the 
wide variety of support programmes led by the IntoWork team, including flagship 
apprenticeship and connector schemes such as Kickstart and the Cardiff Commitment.  
 
We welcome the Taskforce’s reflections on developing future targeted activity to link 
jobseekers with priority sectors currently experiencing skills shortages and we are 
committed to rolling out our ‘Get Into Care’ programme in 2022, building upon the 
successful ‘Get into Construction’ programme delivered in 2021.  
 
 

Page 125



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

10 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.6

 

 
Improve access to and visibility of Cardiff Works for ethnic minority 
groups 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
To advance this proposal Cardiff Works delivered a social media campaign to raise 
awareness of the service on social platforms, targeting these at relevant neighbourhoods 
in the city.   
 
In addition to their online outreach, the team have community-based engagement, 
including attending schools with a high percentage of children from an ethnic minority 
background to engage families and the wider school community. Cardiff Works has also 
joined the IntoWork team at local job fairs. 
 
To widen access and visibility of the service, some additional changes have been made to 
internal policy within the service, including:  
 

• Ensuring that all non-admin & clerical opportunities are posted externally on our 
website for greater reach with Job Description / Person Specification attached.  

• Improving accessibility Cardiff Works by introducing online assessments and 
online application forms.  

• Cardiff Works now provides a face-to-face service from Central Library Hub for 
those who need in-person assistance and to link in with job clubs and the IntoWork 
team. 

• Cardiff Works have begun to digitise the candidate matching process to ensure the 
best results for each placement linking in with the Into Work Employer Liaison 
Team. 

• A new referral pathway has been established from the IntoWork service into 
Cardiff Works, which includes support from the pathway teams as well as direct 
support and projects. This referral mechanism enables greater collaboration 
between Cardiff Works and IntoWork and a pilot for this approach was delivered 
for Track & Trace Recruitment, which resulted in the recruitment of 195 staff. 

 
Cardiff Works have also widened the scope of roles offered by the service, as well as the 
depth of training provided for roles. Completed actions to date include the following: 
 

• Cardiff Works has significantly expanded the type of roles recruited for – these 
include placements such as Home Carers, Cleaners, Drivers, Forklift Operators, 
and Warehouse Operatives and Support Workers. 

 
• Working alongside Adult Learning, Cardiff Works now provides comprehensive 

and specific training courses for our key vacancy areas, i.e. Get Into Care, and Get 
Into Cleaning. These provide candidates with the essential skills to secure 
recruitment offers. So far 79 clients have completed ‘Get Into Cleaning’ and 86 
have completed ‘Get Into Care’. 
 

In addition, the service has expanded its staffing capacity to support further targeted 
outreach across Cardiff’s Southern Arc, with priority focus on groups currently 

Page 126



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

11 
 

underrepresented in the city’s workforce, which includes ethnic minority groups. Two 
Senior Advice Officers have been appointed to deliver this work in the Southern Arc of the 
city and commenced their roles in November 2021. 

 
Cardiff Works has also developed a new alternative pathway into the service, which 
involves an accredited course run by Adult Learning. This is intended to bridge skills gaps 
which prevent candidates from securing employment through the service, where their 
needs have not been adequately met by existing support programmes. This course will 
focus on essential skills and be 20 hours a week of learning and support. Once a 
candidate has completed the course, they will be successfully registered with Cardiff 
Works and ready to be matched with opportunities. If a candidate has no previous work 
experience, Cardiff Works will support them to secure volunteering roles or a paid work 
placement to build relevant understanding of the workplace and how to transfer these 
skills into a paid role. So far, this new accredited course has been successfully delivered 
in four training cycles to date. 

 
CardiffWorks Ready:  
 
A new employment project has been launched, with the aim of providing one to one 
mentoring for candidates who have either failed the Cardiff Works skills assessment or 
have barriers to sitting the assessment. Staff will work with these candidates in a personal 
and focused way to support their preparation to register for relevant skills development 
courses and secure a volunteering opportunity. The service will also partly subsidise a 
placement if the candidate does not yet have the relevant experience to secure a role. 
 
Our next steps:  
 
We will continue to monitor the impact of these changes to the Cardiff Works service in 
2022 to ensure that they have widened participation and the accessibility of the service to 
ethnic minority job seekers.  
 
This will include a continued outreach, engagement and communications programme to 
raise awareness of the service in key parts of the city, focusing on groups 
underrepresented in the labour market.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 127



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

12 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.7

 

 
Support career progression routes for ethnic minority employees at 
Cardiff Council 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
The Council welcomes the Taskforce’s recommendation to develop a new approach to 
support ethnic minority staff progression and increase representation and diversity at 
senior grades.  
 
To inform our approach, HR have collaborated with the Black Asian and Minority Ethnic 
Staff Network to understand the experiences and reflections of our existing workforce in 
accessing development and progression opportunities.  
 
We also sought to explore ethnic minority staff’s views on which approaches would work 
best to support our talented ethnic minority staff to grow and develop into leadership roles 
in the future.  
 
To build this improved organisational understanding and set our future direction, a staff 
engagement exercise was completed to explore how our existing ethnic minority staff 
perceive and experience barriers to progression within the organisation and ask where our 
future approach should focus.  
 
Using this feedback and after reviewing best-practice evidence on effective leadership and 
development programmes which seek to achieve improved diversity at senior and 
managerial grades, a Leadership and Development Programme has been designed in 
partnership between HR and the Chair of the Black, Asian Minority Ethnic Staff Network. 
We intend to pilot this programme in 2022. 
 
This programme will include modules on key leadership skills for the modern public sector 
workforce, and content specific to the complex and varied work of Councils which future 
leaders need to understand, such as: 
 

• Digital public services 
• The Council’s budgetary processes and financial landscape 
• Working with elected members and the role of the Council’s Cabinet and other 

democratic functions 
• Partnership and cross-sector collaboration  

 
The Leadership and Development Programme will include opportunities to achieve 
accredited qualifications such as the Institute for Leadership and Management Level 3 
and Level 5 awards and provide resources to support reflective self-study and personal 
development. Participants will also be paired with a senior management mentor from the 
OM+ grade, to support skill-sharing throughout the programme and for staff to develop 
their internal network.   
 
The Programme is intended to offer a variety of pathways for individuals at all levels and 
will also encourage employees to: 

 
• take responsibility for their own learning & development through self-study 

Page 128



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

13 
 

• map their own personal development journey – allowing options for them to focus on 
their strengths and/or areas for development  

 
Employees will also be encouraged to form supportive networks for sharing good practice 
and problem solving. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
The Leadership and Development Programme will be launched as a pilot in 2022 and 
focus on staff groups who are currently underrepresented at senior grades.   
 
We will ask participants from the pilot to engage in an evaluation and use the findings to 
shape our long-term approach to the leadership and development offer for Council staff to 
ensure this is effective, delivers benefits to participants and supports their professional 
development.  
 
In March 2022, the Council’s Senior Management Team will complete a visioning session 
focused on organisational development initiatives to increase workforce diversity and the 
recommendations of the Race Equality Taskforce Report which apply to the Council as an 
employer.  
 
This will be facilitated by Race Equality Taskforce Member and established public sector 
leader, Emma Wools, Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales. This 
session will focus on the identification of further activity across the entire Council which 
will contribute to the delivery of this recommendation and broader workforce diversity 
initiatives.  
 
The Race Equality Taskforce’s Report will also be presented to the wider Senior 
Management Forum to raise the profile of this work across the organisation and set clear 
expectations of the existing management team to contribute to their delivery. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 129



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

14 
 

Reference Recommendation 
1.8

 

 
Cardiff Council should explore employer led ESOL (English for 
Speakers of other languages) for Council Staff where their language 
skills are a barrier to progression 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the progression of this recommendation, we consulted with key staff from the 
identified service areas in the Taskforce Report to seek the views of staff on this 
development support offer.  
 
This proposal generated significant interest and a positive response, and we have 
progressed activity to ensure that relevant and accessible ESOL provision is visible to these 
staff through communications and direct engagement with this section of the Council 
workforce, who often have less digital access due to the nature of their professional roles. 
 
Our next steps:  
 
We will seek the views of staff who have been identified through our initial engagement to 
shape the further design of employer led ESOL support, aligning this with the City’s 
developed ESOL service coordinated by REACH. In future, we hope that this will connect 
relevant staff to additional upskilling opportunities available through Cardiff and Vale 
College, such as vocational ESOL and other skills-based courses.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

15 
 

Education and Young People 
 
Reference Recommendation 
2.1

 

 
Strengthen the local approach to bullying and prejudice-related 
incidents at school 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the progression of this recommendation from the Race Equality Taskforce, a 
significant piece of work has been completed to respond and implement a new local 
approach to respond to these issues, building upon the new anti-bulling guidance from the 
Welsh Government ‘Rights, Respect, Equality – Challenging Bullying, Hate Crime and Hate 
Incidents’. 
 
Launched by the Welsh Government’s Education Minister on a visit to Radyr Primary 
School, the Welsh Government’s guidance is aimed at governing bodies for maintained 
schools, local authorities, parents, carers and children and young people. 
 
The guidance outlines the Welsh Government’s expectations for schools to: 
 

• take a proactive approach to prevent bullying 
• have an anti-bullying policy linking to school policies including behaviour and 

safeguarding 
• record and monitor incidents of bullying to help take pro-active steps to challenge 

bullying 
• to regularly review their anti-bullying policy and strategy in collaboration with their 

learners at least every 3 years 
 
The Welsh Government has also produced new resource toolkits to accompany the new 
guidance. This includes factsheets, supplementary guidance, an incident recording 
template forms and best practice case examples to help local authorities support schools in 
challenging bullying. 

 
As the Race Equality Taskforce encouraged our local approach to beyond just ‘anti-bullying’ 
and also specifically recognise the issues of racism and racist bullying faced by many ethnic 
minority young people in schools, we have expanded upon the Welsh Government’s core 
guidance and developed a comprehensive local response framework.  

 
This approach recognises the finding of Show Racism the Red Card that many teachers do 
not know how to appropriately support young people who are dealing with racist bullying 
and don’t always recognise the severity of such incidents.  

 
Our expansion of the core guidance to include ‘hate crime and hate incidents’ ensures the 
severity of racist bullying is clear to schools across the local authority. 

 
According to UK law a hate crime is defined as 'Any criminal offence which is perceived by 
the victim or any other person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice based on a person's 
race or perceived race; religion or perceived religion; sexual orientation or perceived sexual 

Page 131



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

16 
 

orientation; disability or perceived disability and any crime motivated by hostility or prejudice 
against a person who is transgender or perceived to be transgender.' 

 
A hate incident is any incident which the victim, or anyone else, thinks is based on 
someone’s prejudice towards them because of their race, religion, sexual orientation, 
disability or because they are transgender. Not all hate incidents will amount to criminal 
offences, but it is equally important that these are reported and recorded appropriately. 
 
To develop our local guidance and training framework, a Task and Finish Group was 
established and produced a ‘Rights Respect Equality’ action plan and a local document of 
expanded guidance regarding the appropriate response to hate-related and prejudice-
based behaviours in school settings. 

 
As part of the guidance, a clear procedure for recording incidents of bullying in all schools 
has been introduced and the reporting arrangements will ensure accurate recording and 
reporting of both hate crime and hate incidents. A clear procedure for collating data at a 
local authority level has also been created to identify and respond to trends. 

 
To introduce and support the application of this guidance, a training programme for schools, 
local authority staff and school governors was also created. 
 
The guidance and training were launched in December 2021. To launch these resources 
and the approach, a training session for primary and secondary head teachers was 
completed on the 8th and 9th December 2021. A Governor training session was also 
delivered on 12th January 2022.  
 
Our next steps: 
 
A programme of training is now being rolled out across Cardiff Primary and Secondary 
schools with training led by the Council’s Ethnic Minority and Traveller Achievement Service 
and Cohesion Team.  
 
Further information sessions regarding the guidance are being scheduled for Special 
Schools and wider local authority staff for early 2022.  

 
The Council’s website has also been updated to include reference to this guidance and 
ensure our approach is visible for parents and the wider school community.  

 
We will also be producing new Child Friendly resources to raise awareness and the 
encourage the involvement of children and young people in the city’s anti-bullying work.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

17 
 

Reference Recommendation 
2.2 

 

 
Extend the work of Schools of Sanctuary to a broader network of 
schools and support the participation of refugee and asylum-
seeking communities 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following this recommendation, the Council’s Education team have worked to promote the 
Schools of Sanctuary programme to schools across Cardiff and introduce new schools to 
this area of work.  
 
The Education Team have worked with the local Cardiff City of Sanctuary group to develop 
their new Resource Pack for schools, which showcases the good practice of existing 
schools in Cardiff who participate in the programme, such as St Mary the Virgin Primary 
School. This has helped to raise the profile of the Schools of Sanctuary Programme and 
encourage new schools to participate. 
 
We have invited schools from across Cardiff to participate in a scaling-up programme, 
through which a group of volunteers with personal experience of forced migration will 
support schools’ journey through an appraisal process. A participation budget has been 
made available to assist with volunteer expenses recognising the specific participation 
barriers faced by refugee and asylum-seeking communities. 
 
Following these communications from the Council’s Education Team, many schools have 
now introduced Schools of Sanctuary to their governing bodies and to the wider school 
community and have expressed their intention to participate in the scaling-up programme. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
We are currently recruiting new schools to the programme and expect to achieve a cohort 
of between 20-25 new schools begin their School of Sanctuary accreditation journey in the 
2022-2023 academic year.  
 
Local asylum-seeking and refugee community volunteers will be an integral part of this 
work, supporting as guest speakers and panel assessors, which also provides valuable 
work experience and opportunities to connect with other city residents.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

18 
 

Reference Recommendation 
2.3

 

 
Develop resources and training for Cardiff schools to support anti-
racism action and counter racial prejudice  

 
What we have done to date: 
 
In July 2021, following the progression of this recommendation, the Council’s Education 
Team invited a leading figure in school-based anti-racism action, Rachel Clarke, to meet 
with our local team and plan a local approach to support future anti-racism practice in our 
schools. Rachel Clarke is a serving Deputy Head Teacher currently working in a London 
school and is Betty Campbell’s granddaughter. 
 
Rachel shared with local staff, her anti-racism best-practice toolkit, ‘Promote Equality’, 
which has successfully been delivered within her school.   
 
‘Promote Equality’: An Anti-Racism Toolkit 

 
The Promote Equality tool aims to:  
• Educate: Tools and resources are provided will enable organisations to inform 

participants, broaden understanding and challenge perspectives and facilitate a holistic 
approach to the promotion of equity.  

• Empower: The programme provides participants with a platform to share views in a 
collaborative, positive and controlled environment, empowering individuals to seek out 
solutions and drive change from within.  

• Enhance: Schools are supported to create positive change, which leads to increased 
student and staff satisfaction and wellbeing.  

 
Through a four-phase, 18-month training and development programme, starting with self-
reflection and understanding within the school community, the Toolkit supports a shared 
programme of activity is developed which considers experiences, practices, and culture 
within the organisation. 
 
This includes focus groups with staff, pupils and the wider school community and the 
development of knowledge and understanding of the ways in which racial inequality is 
experienced in society. This work informs the development of a joint anti-racist approach 
across all parts of the school community  
 
This Toolkit was shared at Cardiff’s Headteachers’ conference in July 2021 and schools 
were invited to come forward for an initial evaluated pilot which would test the application of 
the Promote Equality toolkit in our local context. Mount Stuart Primary school came forward 
to be the primary school pilot partner and St Teilo’s Church in Wales High School came 
forward as a secondary school pilot partner. 

 
Mount Stuart Primary School launched the toolkit in their school on Wednesday 1st 
December 2021 and is currently progressing on their anti-racism development journey using 
the Promote Equality toolkit.  
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

19 
 

Our next steps: 
 
St Teilo’s will launch the Promote Equality Toolkit approach in their school at the beginning 
of the new academic year in September 2022 to begin the Secondary School pilot. 

 
The Education team will record feedback from the application of the tool in our Primary and 
Secondary School pilot sites and share learning from their experiences with the wider 
network of schools across the city via the Headteachers Conference.  
 
Reference Recommendation 
2.4

 

 
Support the diversification of the teaching workforce through a 
teaching assistant ‘Step into Teaching’ Programme 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
The Central South Consortium responded to this recommendation by conducting a 
consultation with the current Teaching Assistant workforce. This was promoted via the 
consortium networks, in school bulletins, directly to head teachers and on social media.  

 
Data gathered from this survey will inform the steps of the programme in partnership with 
teaching assistants, ensuring their needs and aspirations are front and centre and barriers 
to their professional development and progression are addressed.  

 
This proposal has received approval and support from the Education Workforce Council 
and Cardiff & Vale College, and we have been collaborating with them throughout the 
autumn and winter of 2021 to design a draft concept. We currently see this programme 
encompassing the following elements: 
 

• ESOL for Teaching 
• Gaining the right qualifications 
• Career development support 
• Reciprocal Mentoring 
• Peer support 

 
Our next steps: 
 
Following the completion of our consultation with Teaching Assistants we are reviewing the 
findings with the Education Workforce Council and external partners.  
 
We are engaged in ongoing discussions with Welsh Government to explore whether a pilot 
programme could be funded, in partnership with Educators Wales, and are considering the 
parameters of this to ensure it reaches a sufficient cohort for an effective pilot and to inform 
future recruitment approaches for the teaching workforce.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

20 
 

Reference Recommendation 
2.5

 

 
Increase representation of ethnic minority residents in school 
leadership through a School Governors entry programme 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the progression of this recommendation, School Governing Bodies have 
developed an equality monitoring survey to achieve baseline data capture around current 
governor diversity.  

 
A ‘Future Governors: Parents Forum’ programme has been launched with Mount Stuart 
Primary School and Fitzalan High School as two pilot sites to develop Governor diversity, 
following a good practice model we observed at a Primary School in Newport. This forum 
provides a place where schools can build relationships with parents and parents can learn 
about governing processes around schools and the role of school governor. This prepares 
parents to step into governor roles when they become available.  

 
This model is intended to create new opportunities to connect with parents from our diverse 
school population and attract new governor talent, where school leadership reflects school 
diversity.   
 
 
Our next steps: 
 
Together with the Governing Bodies, schools and the Education Workforce Council, we are 
now seeking to develop an effective recruitment plan, for both governor and school staff 
positions, and make sure these opportunities are visible to local ethnic minority parents and 
the wider community. We are also currently in discussions with Educators Wales on 
potential support and funding for a dedicated recruitment campaign supporting this 
objective. 
 
The Governor Equality Monitoring Survey is currently live, and its findings will be analysed 
in spring 2022.  

 
Governing Bodies have also agreed to implement Professor Charlotte Williams’ 
recommendation that a specific ‘equality & diversity governor’ should be identified for every 
school, with guidance and training opportunities. We will be supporting this process during 
2022-2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

21 
 

Reference Recommendation 
2.6

 

 
Increase visibility of Black and Ethnic Minority role models and 
public education on Black History through events programming 
 

 
 
What we have done to date: 
 
We welcome this recommendation and have progressed partnership discussions to 
preparation for the launch of the inaugural Betty Campbell Lecture in 2022. 
 
This will be delivered in partnership with Black History Month Wales, Monumental Welsh 
Women and Studio Response and we have agreed our commitment that this will form part 
of annual programming to raise awareness of Black History in Wales. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
We are engaging with our partners to design a programme and consider speakers for the 
first lecture, which will be held at the time of the first anniversary of the monument 
unveiling.  
 
The annual lecture will focus on themes connected to Betty’s legacy and values that she 
stood for in her life and career, for example: 
 

• Black History and multiculturalism: exploring Betty’s work and the inclusion of 
Black History in the new curriculum for Wales.  

 
• Making connections across communities and borders: Betty was inspired by the 

Civil Rights movement in America and Wales has strong cultural connections with 
the movement - including the Wales Window of Alabama in the Sixteenth Street 
Baptist Church in Birmingham, Alabama.  
 

• Celebrating pioneering Welsh women, including the Monumental Welsh Women 
statue project.  

 
The annual lecture programme could include linking up Cardiff schools with schools in the 
city of Birmingham, Alabama. We are also currently in discussion with the Children’s 
Laureate for Wales, the poet Connor Allen about making a connection with schools on 
both sides of the Atlantic through poetry and literature in the spirit of Betty Campbell’s 
legacy.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

22 
 

Citizens Voice 
 
Reference Recommendation 
3.1

 
 

 
Improve data collection and analysis on civic participation 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
As requested by the Race Equality Taskforce, an Equalities data capture survey was 
completed for current elected members between July-November 2021, which provides an 
initial data benchmark for diversity in democracy. We shared the findings of this survey 
with the Taskforce, and they are included in their report. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
As recommended by the Taskforce, Equality Monitoring Data will now be captured at the 
commencement of a municipal term and this data will be available in the public domain.  
 
In our future Citizen’s Engagement Strategy, which will be developed in 2022, we will build 
a suite of participation indicators, including key citizen engagement data such as the 
demographics of residents responding to consultations such as the Council’s budget and 
our annual resident survey, Ask Cardiff. 
 
Reference Recommendation 
3.2

 

 
Complete benchmarking against the Race Alliance Wales manifesto 
for action on Race Equality in Wales 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
With the support of two members of Race Alliance Wales who have been engaged in the 
Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce’s programme, we have completed a benchmarking 
assessment of the Council’s current practice, policy priorities and service delivery against 
the areas of the RAW manifesto relevant to the responsibilities of local government.  
 
Our next steps: 
 
We will share the findings of this benchmarking assessment with all Council departments 
in March 2022 as they complete their delivery plans for the year ahead and identify their 
priority policy deliverables for the new administration following the local government 
election in May 2022. This will enable the areas of the RAW Manifesto identified by Black, 
Asian and Ethnic Minority citizens of Wales to be coordinated and mainstreamed into the 
Council’s day-to-day delivery.  
 

Page 138



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

23 
 

A public signing of the RAW manifesto will be completed by the Leader of the Council 
before the end of the current administration as part of our commitment to continued action 
on racial injustice in Wales.  
 
Reference Recommendation 
3.3

 

 
Scope opportunities to increase youth participation and 
engagement with civic processes and develop mechanisms to 
support ethnic minority youth representation in politics and 
decision-making 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the development of this recommendation, an external partnership working group 
with expertise in youth participation was tasked with developing a proposal for a youth 
political engagement project.  
 
A proposed 12-month programme has been designed to engage 45 young people from 
ethnic minority backgrounds, aged 16-25 from Cardiff.  This is a comprehensive and 
creative project proposal which would be led by a leading charity in the youth participation 
field.  
 
The Council has supported the working group that developed this proposal to identify 
potential funders for the programme and discussions with funders are currently ongoing. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
We will provide a letter of support to the partnership group in submitting their proposal for 
a youth leadership and development programme in the city if this is matched to a suitable 
funding opportunity.  
 
We hope that funding is secured for this specific programme but in the event that this is 
not possible, we will seek to action this proposal through internal service delivery, with 
new approaches established by the Council’s Youth Services Team and Youth Council. 
These participation models will, as suggested by the Taskforce, be developed by young 
people, to ensure they reflect their preferred participation methods and focuses on the 
issues which matter most to them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

24 
 

Reference Recommendation 
3.4

 

 
Cardiff Council’s elected members should support the Welsh Local 
Government Association’s Diverse Council Declaration, to support 
diversity in democracy and representation of ethnic minority groups 
in the capital city 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Cardiff Council is committed to continuing to improve diversity in democracy across the city 
and become a Diverse Council.  The WLGA’s Diverse Council Declaration was progressed 
to Council in February 2022 and was passed, with 56 elected members supporting its 
recommendations.  
 
The passing of the Diverse Council Declaration provides a clear public commitment to 
improving diversity in democracy in our city and signals intent for future collaboration to 
improving representation in democracy and participation.  
 
 
Our next steps: 
 
Following the adoption of the Diverse Council Declaration, an ambitious local ‘Diversity in 
Democracy’ action plan will be developed following the Local Government elections in May 
2022. This action plan will contribute to an invigorated local democracy and help to deliver 
a Council which reflects the great diversity of our city’s communities. 

 
The commitments made by the Diverse Council Declaration will require action on a number 
of areas, which span actions required by both Democratic Services and political groups to 
achieve maximum impact. The commitments are referenced below: 

 
Broaden Local Democratic Representation 

We will: 
 

• Encourage and enable people from underrepresented groups to stand for office.  
 

• Seek support from all elected members and political groups on the council to work 
with local party associations to encourage recruitment of candidates from 
underrepresented groups. 

 
• Ensure residents from all communities understand the role and functions of local 

councillors and the council 
 
Support involvement with local decision-making 
 

We will: 
 

• Proactively engage organisations supporting under-represented groups to 
enhance democratic awareness. 
 

• Support the work of the Race Equalities Task Group in developing proposals to 
engage our city’s diverse neighbourhoods within local democracy.  

 

Page 140



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

25 
 

• Establish a mentoring programme - working with a range of stakeholders to 
provide a pipeline of mentors and mentees for prospective councillors. 

 
Support Councillors to discharge their responsibilities effectively 
 
We will: 
 

• Provide flexibility in council business and activities to support Elected Members 
and allow them to meet their personal, professional, cultural and caring 
commitments and responsibilities.  
 

• Work in accordance with the standards set out in the Wales Charter for Member 
Support and Development. 
 

• Continue to demonstrate our duty of care for elected members by supporting their 
wellbeing and safety needs when performing their role as councillors.  

 
• Achieve the Wales Charter for Member Support and Development to demonstrate 

the highest possible standards of support and development for our elected 
members to assist them in meeting the challenges and expectations of their 
diverse roles ranging from of community leader to their special responsibilities 
within the Council.  

 
• Ensure that all elected members have the opportunity to take up the allowances 

and salaries to which they are entitled, particularly any reimbursement for costs of 
care, so that all elected members receive fair remuneration for their work and that 
the role of an elected member is not limited to those who can afford it.   

 
• Continuing to promote the highest standards of behaviour and conduct from 

elected members and those intending to stand for office on the Council. 
 
Develop a 5-year action plan to delivery our Diverse Council commitment: 
 

• Following the Local Elections in 2022 develop a Diverse Council Action Plan 2022-
27 in consultation with representative and community groups, to be submitted for 
consideration by the Council.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141

https://www.wlga.wales/wales-charter-for-member-support-and-development-
https://www.wlga.wales/wales-charter-for-member-support-and-development-


Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

26 
 

Reference Recommendation 
3.5

 

 
Improve representation from Cardiff’s ethnic minority communities 
in key decision-making panels 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
This recommendation forms part of the Diverse Council declaration’s commitments and 
work to support this will be developed and agreed as part of the Diversity in Democracy 
Action Plan, which will be developed following the local government elections 2022. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
This recommendation will be incorporated into our future Diversity in Democracy Action 
Plan developed following the local government elections 2022. 
 
 
Reference Recommendation 
3.6

 

 
Broaden participation and accessibility in city planning and ensure 
there are appropriate platforms for engagement and community 
voice in the design of the city 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
A programme of future engagement has been designed by the Council’s Planning Team in 
response to this recommendation, which was approved by the Taskforce in December 
2021.  
 
The contents of this plan are outlined in further detail below in the section below. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
Planning have committed to implementing further creative methods such as developing 
short films or animations and expanding the use of their ‘virtual room’ on their website with 
easily accessible guides to their vision and objectives. This will be developed and utilised 
further as the Replacement Local Development Plan (LDP) progresses. 

 
The team have also agreed to research best practice methods in England & Wales, by 
utilising existing networks, such as Core Cities, speaking with other local authorities, and 
Wales wide forums. It is hoped that by exploring other methods, Planning will be able to 
learn and implement positive engagement practices within a Cardiff context. 
 
Furthermore, Planning have agreed to develop a public survey to assess public knowledge 
of planning within the city and explore any misunderstandings regarding planning processes 
and the way decisions are made. Using the survey findings, accessible guides and 
messaging will be created, led by public needs. This may include, for example, specific 
user-friendly guides and key information about the Council’s Local Development Plan. 

Page 142



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

27 
 

 
In addition to this, the Planning department is exploring the possibility of implementing a 
more effective mailbox system, relating to specific areas such as the Local Development 
Plan, planning applications, enforcement, and conservation.  

 
Beyond the Local Development Plan itself, the Planning team are committed to improving 
their visibility and community engagement methods, and explore holding direct stakeholder 
engagement sessions, working with community groups and elected Members to establish 
better relationships with communities across the city. This will include dedicated outreach 
efforts to ensure Cardiff’s ethnic minority communities are included in important 
conversations about the design and future of the city.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 143



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

28 
 

Health 
 
Reference Recommendation 
4.1

 
 

 
Improve ethnicity recording within the healthcare system, for both 
patients and staff 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
An initial review of the available ethnicity data within the Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board’s data systems was completed at the commencement of the Race Equality 
Taskforce’s health priority. This exercise revealed a complex picture of local data 
availability and collection practice across the health board and requires a significant future 
programme of work to develop the necessary systems and approaches for the future.  
 
Our next steps: 
 
We will now be engaging with Public Health Wales and its Welsh Health Equity Solutions 
Platform as they develop a ‘live’, multi-sector portal to available data, evidence, legislation, 
policies, tools and sustainable solutions to reduce health inequity and improve health and 
well-being in Wales. The move by the Welsh Government in its Race Equality Action Plan 
requiring comprehensive recording of ethnicity by the NHS and GPs is therefore very 
welcome and should result in improvements in the completeness of ethnicity recording. 
 
This will also align with the work of the new NHS Confederation’s Race & Health 
Observatory- https://www.nhsrho.org/.  
 
 
 
Reference Recommendation 
4.2

 

 
Complete further investigation into the experiences of ethnic 
minority staff and patients and review the complaints and resolution 
procedure  

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the agreement of this priority, an engagement exercise was completed with 
UHB Staff to understand the experiences and reflections of our ethnic minority staff in 
relation to racism in the workplace. This has informed the review of the complaints and 
resolution policy which is used to respond to any issues which arise within the workplace.  
 
A summary of the new approach is set out below. 
 
 
 
 

Page 144

https://www.nhsrho.org/
https://www.nhsrho.org/


Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

29 
 

Our next steps: 
 
If an individual as a patient has raised racism as a concern in terms of care or treatment, 
the first course of action should be to talk to the staff involved with that care as soon as 
possible to raise their concern. The staff will try to resolve those concerns immediately. If 
this does not help, or someone does not want to speak to the staff, they can contact the 
health board or trust‘s complaints team.  
 
They can use a procedure known as Putting Things Right. Once someone has raised a 
concern, the complaints Health Board or trust’s complaint team: 
 

• will listen to the concerns to try to resolve them as quickly as possible 
• will look into the concerns and speak to the staff involved in that care or treatment 
• may offer a meeting to discuss those concerns 
• will put the individual in contact with the right person to help  
• will let the individual know what they have found and what they are going to do  

 
The complaints team should respond to the individual within 30 working days of receiving 
a concern. If they cannot reply in that time, they will explain why and let the individual 
know when to expect a response. Some concerns may take longer to look into. 
 
In terms of staff, as a health board we are committed to supporting our employees to work 
in a positive workplace which promotes healthy working relationships. We know from 
evidence that it’s the quality of our interaction that means the most. It determines not just 
our own wellbeing but impacts on the service we provide to our patients and other service 
users. 
 
Since the launch of the Government’s A Healthier Wales, it is important for us to do 
whatever we can to improve how we work with each other. In full partnership with NHS, 
trade unions and Welsh Government experts and leaders across Wales, we have 
developed this very different approach. 
 
The Respect and Resolution Policy is a huge step to embedding a positive culture of 
managing difficult relationships, with early intervention and prevention with the aim to 
secure constructive and lasting solutions to workplace disagreements, conflicts and 
complaints. This policy has replaced the UHB’s previous Dignity at Work Policy and 
Grievance Policy. 
 
More information on the Respect and Resolution Policy and other useful resources within 
the toolkit are below and via the NHS Wales Health Education and Improvement Wales 
(HEIW) Website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 145

https://gov.wales/node/32680#section-49684
https://gov.wales/node/32680#section-49684
https://gov.wales/healthier-wales-long-term-plan-health-and-social-care
https://gov.wales/healthier-wales-long-term-plan-health-and-social-care
https://heiw.nhs.wales/programmes/fair-together-healthy-compassionate-culture/healthier-relationships-work-workplaces/
https://heiw.nhs.wales/programmes/fair-together-healthy-compassionate-culture/healthier-relationships-work-workplaces/


Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

30 
 

Reference Recommendation 
4.3

 

 
Improve engagement and communication with Black and Ethnic 
Minority communities around health and health improvement 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Following the progression of this recommendation, an Engagement Coordinator focusing 
on ethnic minority health and health improvement has been funded through Cardiff and 
Vale University Health Board with Prevention and Early Years resources. 
 
The purpose of the role is to ‘lead the coordination of actions across the Council and its 
partners to develop effective partnership models to address health inequalities 
experienced by ethnic minority communities, including the identification and 
implementation of policy and service interventions and regular engagement with relevant 
statutory, voluntary and private sector stakeholders and communities on issues relevant to 
health equity’. The initial focus of the role has been to increase uptake of childhood 
immunisations and bowel screening but the post will continue to evolve in response to the 
priorities which emerge from the data strand of activity. 
 
Following an induction period, an action plan was developed that prioritises stakeholder 
engagement, and looks to identify and overcome barriers to accessing prevention services. 
The coordinator has also led health promotion events, all underpinned by communications 
that build trust and share good practice. 
 
The first six months of this post have seen the following actions delivered: 

• Liaison with the membership of the local Ethnic Minority Health Subgroup which 
supports the health board’s outreach activity and chaired a meeting of the Ethnic 
Minority Subgroup in January 2022.  

• An action plan has been developed which includes developing a toolkit of 
information resources and promotional materials, identifying, and overcoming 
barriers for participation by the community in taking up immunisations and 
screening opportunities. 

• Community engagement work has been initiated, including meeting various 
stakeholders to increase awareness of the health work stream. Although this list is 
not exhaustive connections and visits have taken place with: Cardiff and Vale 
College, South Riverside Community Development Centre, Friends And Neighbour 
Groups (FAN), The Mentor Ring, Women Connect First, Race equality first, Oasis, 
Kiran Cymru, Diverse Cymru, Flying start, Hindu Council, Sikh Council, Cardiff’s 
Chinese community, places of worrship, Cardiff Third Sector Council and Vale of 
Glamorgan voluntary services. 

• Liaison has also taken place with various focus groups to promote bowel screening 
to Older People, including Age Connect, 50 plus forum, Care and Repair Cymru, 
Cavamh, Ty Hapus, Older People Wales. 

• Women Connect First’s Golden years’ project which is aimed at older people also 
had an awareness session of bowel screening at their meeting in November – 
following the provision of information and training. 

Page 146



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

31 
 

• Regular visits are maintained at the Butetown Pavilion Hub at the Parent Panel, 
Coffee morning and ESOL classes for parents for the promotion of childhood 
immunisation.  

• Regular attendance at the Aging well group, BAME network, Wales asylum and 
migration forums, MEC Health Event steering group and the Mentor Ring. 

• Attendance has also taken place at relevant events and activity days to promote 
the project – including The European Day of Languages at Butetown Pavilion Hub, 
the Employment fair at South Riverside Community centre and a Healthy fun day 
also at Butetown Pavilion Hub. 

• The project has been promoted on the Cardiff & the Vale College’s online notice 
board which is used by more than 1500 students. 

 
Our next steps: 

 
Work has been completed on a survey to investigate potential barriers in engagement in 
bowel cancer screening among ethnic minority communities and visits have also 
commenced to groups to participate in this consultation. Visits are due shortly to activities 
attended by young parents of the ethnic minority with a survey designed to find out more 
about barriers in childhood immunisation.  
 
The findings of this work will shape the longer-term workplan for this role from 2022 
onwards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

32 
 

 
Criminal Justice 
 
Reference Recommendation 
5.1 

 

 
Commit to test approaches & collaborate on data exploration at 
both a local and national level- Following the Criminal Justice in 
Wales approach (formerly All Wales Criminal Justice Board) 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
To support the work of the Race Equality Taskforce’s Criminal Justice Sub-Group, initial 
mapping of existing criminal justice data and analysis of current data practice was 
completed to understand current data trends and gaps at the local level.  
 
This exercise indicated some areas of data capture needed further investigation and 
development across the criminal justice sector. This is because the current data is not 
providing a sufficiently comprehensive view of ethnicity data across the whole system due 
to discrepancies in ethnicity recording practice and consistency in recording across 
agencies.  
 
This finding aligns with the national findings of the Criminal Justice in Wales’ Race 
Equality Data Task Group, and it was agreed that the local Cardiff partnership would 
support the further investigation and development of criminal justice data sets, supporting 
relevant pilots and requests as the national Data Task Group’s project develops.   
 
Our next steps: 
 
The aspiration of Criminal Justice in Wales Data Task Group is to commission independent 
analysis to unpack the initial data return from criminal justice agencies and identify agency-
specific recommendations to improve data quality.  
 
Following completion of this initial step, the group will aim to create an All-Wales 
disproportionality dashboard to monitor progress on addressing ethnic disparities within the 
criminal justice system and inform future policy decisions. 
  
Further to this, on a local level, criminal justice partners in Cardiff have offered to work in 
continued partnership with local community organisations to share relevant local data that 
would be helpful in informing and shaping community-led solutions to crime prevention, 
diversion and rehabilitative support. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

33 
 

Reference Recommendation 
5.2

 

 
Cardiff’s local criminal justice partnership should develop and 
invest in tailored or alternative approaches to diversion for Ethnic 
Minority groups 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
This is a significant area of work for the Council and its partners, through the Youth 
Justice Service, Community Safety Partnership, Youth Services, Children’s Services, and 
many other areas of statutory and non-statutory service delivery.  
 
This work will be long-term and collaborative, requiring ongoing coordination between 
service areas in the council, across public services and in partnership with communities.  
 
The Cardiff Community Safety Partnership have developed a working group which have 
met multiple times and have made progress on several actions under the overarching 
proposal. 

  
Most notably to this proposal was to deliver against the action to 'involve and engage 
Minority Ethnic groups participation to understand their experience and inform the design 
of future model' 
  
As part of the working group, we have accomplished the following to date: 

• Completion of a survey by Ethnic Youth Support Team to inform our future work. 
• Designing future targeted engagement focusing on early contact with the justice 

system and any opportunities, particularly missed opportunities, for early 
intervention. 

• Agreed to develop understanding not only of access to diversionary interventions, 
but also experiences of police custody and barriers that may have reduced take up 
of offers of diversionary support (e.g. length of time spent in police custody). 

• Undertaken and completed a literature review on existing research on diversionary 
interventions for youths and adults, with a focus on racial disproportionality. 

  
Our next steps: 
 
Through undertaking these activities, we have concluded that there is still much we need 
to understand to make concreate proposals in this space.  

   
The current action plan monitoring progression of this proposal includes the following: 
 
• To involve and engage Ethnic Minority groups participation to understand their 

experience and inform the design of future models. 
• A deep dive will be conducted into the offence types committed by White and Ethnic 

Minority groups and the outcomes received. This could be done by running an exercise 
with people (across all age groups) coming into custody so we can better understand 
what the barriers may be for them accessing diversionary outcomes. 

• When there needs to be an Appropriate Adult, every effort should be made to have an 
Appropriate Adult from that individual’s ethnic group/background to aid with any mistrust 
issues. There may be a potential for members of the community to volunteer to act as 
the Appropriate Adult.  

Page 149



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

34 
 

• Training should be increased for all professionals within the custody environment around 
the difficulties that ethnic minorities may face when they encounter the police and other 
criminal justice agencies so that decision makers and front-line staff can be aware of, 
and responsive to the needs of these groups. 

• There is also a recommendation that data quality and monitoring should be improved 
across all areas to monitor outcomes and any disparities relating to ethnicity more 
consistently and effectively. 

 
In addition to this action plan, we propose to undertake a piece of targeted research and 
engagement, building on work completed by local partners, and looking at distinct system 
touch points to support us in developing recommendations for long term system change.  
 
This is not just focussed on policing but will encompass the pre-court space of which 
multiple partners operate within, this includes youth and adult criminal justice and 
commissioned services.  
 
We know that the earlier we intervene and divert away from the criminal justice service the 
better outcomes achieved and we want to ensure that this an equal opportunity for all. 

  
In supporting this proposal develop there has also been a request for a nominated force 
lead.  
 
Reference Recommendation 
5.3

 

 
Cardiff’s local criminal justice institutions should invest in a 
comprehensive Cultural Competency training approach  

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Local criminal justice partners have committed to pilot a new Cultural Competency training 
approach agreed by Criminal Justice in Wales Race Equality Plan. This is an opportunity 
to collaborate with partners across Wales and will support the development of a training 
schedule to reach a wide range of frontline staff in 2022-2023.  
 
The Youth Justice Service’s Leadership Board will also participate in this training during 
the first year as part of their commitment to taking every step to eliminate unconscious 
bias in service delivery and develop support for young people that is sensitive to their 
personal experiences and identity. 
 
The Cardiff Community Safety Partnership have also agreed to work in collaboration with 
ethnic minority communities in Cardiff to help shape wider cultural competency training 
programmes, ensuring local criminal justice organisations are culturally aware of their 
local communities. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
The Cardiff Community Safety Partnership intend to launch the delivery of the pilot training 
programme across the Cardiff criminal justice service landscape in summer 2022. 
 
The Cardiff Community Safety Partnership will support the progression of this programme, 
and also seek additional funding from local partners to invest in sustainable and 

Page 150



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

35 
 

comprehensive Cultural Competency training programmes ensuring the programme 
reaches to the widest range of staff. 
 
Reference Recommendation 
5.4

 

 
Sustain and develop current efforts to increase workforce 
representation within the Criminal Justice System. Develop a wider 
approach to addressing representation across the sector, in 
partnership with the Public Service Board. 
 

 
What we have done to date:  
  
South Wales Police recognises the benefits of a diverse workforce and has worked hard in 
recent years to become more representative of the communities that we police.   
For many years, our recruitment practices have been recognised as implementing best 
practice, for example, we have for the past 20 years, used anonymised application forms, 
used accredited interviewers, having been made aware of potential biases in the 
recruitment process and we monitor our attraction, selection and general employment 
processes to identify any adverse impact on under- represented groups.  We are a “Living 
Wage” employer. 
 
Recognising the importance of and our commitment to increasing our workforce 
representation, we have invested in recent years in a dedicated team focused on 
recruitment from our ethnically diverse communities; this includes full time dedicated 
resources, with a budget and focussed outreach to support our recruitment campaigns 
including undertaking positive action activities to encourage candidates from under- 
represented groups to apply for a career in policing.  Whilst we have made progress, 
moving from 1.7% of our police officers being from a Black, Asian or Minority Ethnic 
background to a predicted 4% by March 2023.  Despite considerable leadership effort and 
investment, we have found it difficult to recruit people of colour into South Wales Police.  
Whilst there has been some progress, we know that we must, and can do more to become 
a first-choice employer for our most underrepresented communities. 
 
Our next steps  
 
Our “Towards a more representative workforce strategy 2021-2026” outlines our ambition 
to be bold and progressive in our approach to address the under-representation of our 
diverse communities, particularly within our ethnically diverse communities.  It includes a 
revised governance structure to ensure oversight of our planned activities and further 
investment in dedicated resources to support our outreach work and positive action 
activities.  
 
The strategy highlights 3 key work streams including; 

1. Leadership and Culture 
2. Attraction and Selection 
3. Engagement and Progression 

 
Specifically, in relation to our Attraction and Selection workstream, we intend to: 
 

• Optimise our approach to positive action and refining our attraction communication 
strategy to ensure we reach a broader, diverse audience that creates trust and 
confidence in our policies and procedures. This includes working with key partners 
and influencers in areas with our most diverse communities. 

Page 151



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

36 
 

 
• Develop our strategic partnerships with schools, universities, local authorities etc 

to build gateways into policing, for example, developing work experience programs 
for schools with our highest levels of ethnically diverse communities, raising 
awareness of our apprenticeship, intern and graduate programs with our diverse 
communities and supporting bursaries for students from ethnically diverse 
backgrounds to undertake the pre join degree in policing. 

 
Reference Recommendation 
5.5

 

 
Cardiff Partnership to take part in the DWP Kickstart Scheme as 
another means to address workforce representation.  
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
HMPPS are offering 47 posts across prison & probation services for the whole of Wales. 
For Cardiff, they are recruiting 11 posts in total, 8 for the prison service and 3 for 
probation. 1 post has already been filled and will start with HMP Cardiff soon.  
 
All the posts have been designed at entry grade level and will be administrative/reception 
type roles. HMPPS have not specified a requirement for any essential skills, experiences 
or qualifications for these posts and will be providing a full suite of training as part of the 
role. 
 
OPCC have appointed 1 young person from the Cardiff area and are currently going 
through vetting process. The individual will be in post by 31st March 2022 and will be 
working within the central team and working closely with OPCC’s Community Engagement 
Manager on projects such as ‘Young Voices Work’ in Cardiff. 
 
Our next steps 
 
The Cardiff Community Safety Partnership fully support the utilisation of the DWP 
Kickstart scheme and its positive impact on young people in Cardiff. The partnership 
would like to further support for both locally led and UK led Criminal Justice organisations 
the opportunity to engage at a local level in raising awareness of Cardiff based roles.  
 
The Partnership hope more Criminal Justice organisations are able make use of the 
scheme and continue taking steps towards a representative workforce at all levels of 
organisations.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

37 
 

Reference Recommendation 
5.6

 

 
Develop improved mental health service pathways and integrated 
training and support for Police Officers as first responders   

 
What we have done to date: 
 
The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner has committed to developing a pilot 
Sanctuary Service in Cardiff. 
 
What does a Sanctuary offer? 
 

• Access support at the point of crisis.  It aims to reduce the amount of time between 
the onset of crisis and the point at which help is received using a peer led model.  

 
• Support workers with lived experience of mental illness can make the individual 

comfortable and confident to visit the sanctuary 
 

• Face-to-face support for individuals in crisis to receive support without the need for 
medical assessment and they will not be transported to the Sanctuary against their 
wishes.  The aim of this is to reduce the stigma and shame around mental health 
and traditional methods of support as well as helping guests to relax 

 
• A quiet space away from the home environment and conventional ways of dealing 

with mental health crisis, allowing the individual the opportunity to work through 
their crisis without the need to come into contact with mental health services or the 
criminal justice system 

 
A working group has been established to help develop, monitor and evaluate the 
Sanctuary Service pilot. This will include a specific strand of activity focusing on ethnic 
minority groups. This service will support integration with mental health services for both 
adults and children and the overarching service model will be designed in partnership by 
people with lived experience of mental health crisis.  
 
The Cardiff and Vale University Health Board has put a funding bid to Welsh Government 
for a Cardiff sanctuary. The Health Board have also drafted service specification to go out 
to tender pending the success of the funding bid. 
 
Our next steps: 
  
The Cardiff and Vale University Health Board plan to develop a multi-agency group to 
oversee development of pilot, if funding is approved. The Health Board are also currently 
scoping potential venues and hope to confirm this as soon as possible. 
 
The Health Board expect the pilot to be an adult only evening delivery of services initially, 
with CAHMS are in early stages of discussing a youth sanctuary provision. 
 
There will be connections made to wider Crisis Care Concordat actions, particularly the 
requirements for 24/7 access to crisis support and a 111 facility with clear referral 
pathways, as well as ensuring ethnic minority community’s needs and requirements are 
represented in the process and the multi-agency group. 

Page 153



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

38 
 

Reference Recommendation 
5.7

 

 
Develop new mechanisms to strengthen community engagement 
and voice in the work of the Community Safety Partnership. 
 

 
What we have done to date: 
 
A review of good practice in supporting high quality community engagement in the work of 
Community Safety Partnerships has been completed by the Council’s Community Safety 
Team.  
 
This exercise has provided some potential models for designing future community 
engagement frameworks and these concepts will be presented to the Community Safety 
Partnership’s Leadership Board for further reflection and development.  
 
Our next steps: 
 
Good practice engagement models identified from our review exercise will be presented to 
the Cardiff Community Safety Partnership’s Leadership Board following the local 
government election in May 2022.  
 
The future community engagement model will be shaped with community input and 
reflecting the feedback of the Race Equality Taskforce’s Criminal Justice Sub-Group 
during the course of their programme.  
 
The future model is expected to include both increased community-focused 
communications and opportunities for collaboration on community safety issues to support 
community-led solutions.  
 
Reference Recommendation 
5.8

 

 
Support capacity-building with ethnic-minority led voluntary sector 
groups to strengthen collaboration and delivery within criminal-
justice related voluntary sector services.  

 
What we have done to date: 
 
Throughout the course of the Race Equality Taskforce, the Criminal Justice Sub-Group 
has supported knowledge exchange across the broad criminal justice sector and voluntary 
sector, including engagement with community institutions which primarily focus on ethnic 
minority groups. This has provided a space for collaboration and solution-finding and will 
need to transition to a new longer-term arrangement as the Taskforce programme comes 
to a close. 
 
Our next steps: 
 
Following the closure of the Race Equality Taskforce’s Criminal Justice Sub-Group, we 
will be seeking the views of the voluntary sector on a potential lead convenor for regular 

Page 154



Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce 
Appendix B: Response to Recommendations: Delivery Report, March 2022 

39 
 

network meetings to support ongoing collaboration on race equality within criminal justice 
voluntary sector services.  
 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 13 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
MULTI-LOCATION MEETING POLICY 
 
LEADER (COUNCILLOR HUW THOMAS) 

AGENDA ITEM: 3   
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval of the Council’s Multi-

Location Meetings Policy. 
 
Background 

 
2. Arrangements were first made in legislation to allow for “remote meetings” 

in section 4 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011. At the outset 
of the coronavirus pandemic in March 2020, the Welsh Government 
produced the Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) 
Regulations 2020. These established a framework within which the Council 
convened meetings by remote means throughout 2020 and part of 2021.  

 
3. Experience of operating meetings under the Covid Meeting Regulations 

provided the Council with expertise in understanding and managing remote 
attendance meetings.  The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 
2021 placed remote meeting arrangements onto a new permanent statutory 
footing.  The provisions in the 2021 Act can be seen as an evolution of the 
prior arrangements. 

 
4. A report on the new legislative requirements for remote / multi-location 

meeting arrangements was considered by Council in May 2021.  Council 
agreed to extend the temporary remote meeting attendance arrangements 
established under the Covid Meeting Regulations, and ask the Constitution 
Committee to consider permanent arrangements, in accordance with the 
new legislative requirements, for approval by Council. 

 
5. The Constitution Committee has duly considered reports on Multi-Location 

Meeting Arrangements at its meetings in June 2021, December 2021 and 
28 February 2022.  This report sets out the recommendations of the 
Constitution Committee. 

 
Issues 
 
6. Under the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, local 

authorities are required to put in place, and publish, arrangements for multi-
location meetings, that is, arrangements to ensure that all Council, Cabinet, 

 

Page 157

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 13 

Committee, Sub-Committee and Joint Committee meetings may be 
attended remotely by persons who are not in the same place. 
 

7. The Guidance states that ‘meeting arrangements’ are the rules and 
procedures adopted by the local authority in accordance with the statutory 
requirements, and should be reflected in the Council’s Constitution, as 
appropriate (Statutory Guidance, point 1.3). 
 

8. In accordance with its approved terms of reference, the Constitution 
Committee has considered the amendments to be made to the meeting 
procedure rules set out in the Constitution.  The recommended Constitution 
amendments are to be submitted to full Council for approval in March 2022. 

9. Alongside the legally mandated arrangements that authorities must make 

for multi-location meetings, the statutory guidance says that authorities 

should develop a wider policy setting out the detailed systems chosen by 

the authority for the operation of its multi-location meetings. This policy 

should be developed in consultation with all meeting participants, 

including the public. (Guidance section 4)  

 
10. To progress this matter, an initial draft of a Multi-Location Meetings Policy 

was considered by the Constitution Committee on 13 December 2021; and 
again on 28 February 2022, when a revised draft was considered following 
a period of consultation.   

 
11. The draft policy takes account of the interim statutory guidance, which sets 

out a number of guiding principles to be considered in developing multi-
location meeting arrangements, as well as practical considerations.  The 
guidance also lists suggested issues to be included in the policy, but 
indicates that the exact contents of the policy will be agreed at local level. 

 
Benefits and Challenges of Multi-location meetings 

 
12. The benefits of multi-location meetings are identified in the guidance and 

have been included in the draft policy but no specific challenges were 
identified. The following benefits and challenges are considered relevant to 
balance the policy: 
 
a. Benefits: 

Cardiff Council has been convening a majority of its meetings by remote 
means throughout much of 2020 and 2021.  While meeting this way has 
proven challenging in the context of the global coronavirus pandemic, it 
has also resulted in a number of benefits. 
 
(i) Enhancing and supporting local democracy by demonstrating 

this Council conducting its business; 
Having the flexibility to convene meetings remotely has improved 
the understanding of the decision-making processes for 
participants and observers compared to what they may have 
previously experienced.  The Chairs of Committees have 
enhanced their explanations of how the committee carries out its 

Page 158



Page 3 of 13 

business particularly when attendees or observers are not 
present in a physical meeting. 

 
(ii) Making it easier for the public to observe Multi-location meetings.   

The number and viewership of Cardiff’s webcast meetings has 
increased significantly since 2019 when the authority received a 
total of 7937 views.  This increased to 14077 views in 2020 and 
this further increased in 2021 to 17131 views. 

 
(iii) Enabling external participants to actively engage at meetings to 

provide a greater range of views and to enhance decision 
making.  
Multi-location meetings have made it possible to actively 
encourage external participants to attend meetings ensuring that 
committees can benefit from a greater range of views.   The 
Scrutiny Committees have seen an increase in the number of 
external participants from organisations including Sport Wales, 
Natural Resources Wales and others stakeholders. 

 
(iv) Making the authority more resilient and sustainable.  

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires 
the Council to think about, and act on, long term needs in the way 
that policy is developed and made. Multi-location meetings have 
reduced the carbon footprint of physical meetings by negating 
the need to travel across the city or region to attend a physical 
meeting.  The ability to hold multi-location meetings will also 
reduce the risk of future unexpected events – such as extreme 
weather – which could present a challenge to in-person 
meetings. 

 
(v) Reducing the need for travel.  

For Joint Committees supported by Cardiff Council with 
representatives from across the region, significant time and cost 
savings for councillors, officers and other participants have 
arisen. This also makes it easier for participants to take part if 
they have professional and caring commitments. 

 
(vi) It is easier for participants to take part if they have professional 

and caring commitments. 
A significant number of Elected Members also have careers or 
are carers.  Since the implementation of multi-location meetings, 
attendance levels have increased.  One of the factors for this 
increase is that remote meetings do not require participants to 
seek additional time off from work or to arrange extended cover 
for their caring responsibilities to allow for travelling to the 
meeting venue. 
 

(vii) Better support for members from diverse backgrounds. 
Multi-location meetings making it easier for care providers, or 
disabled people, or people with other protected characteristics, 
to engage on an equal footing. 
 

Page 159



Page 4 of 13 

(viii) Better behaviours.  
Although experiences have been mixed, on the whole meeting 
management and the behaviours of participants have both 
improved, with less heckling taking place at meetings.    

 
b. Challenges: 

 

(i) Suitable technology – before 2020, there was little or no 

technology other than basic video conferencing and webcasting.  

The rapid development of remote working technology during the 

coronavirus pandemic made basic remote meetings possible.  

The complexity of equipment and software necessary to deliver 

public multi-location meetings requires a significant further step-

change in technology. 

 

(ii) Reliance on the internet – Participants involved in remote 
meetings are reliant on having a suitable internet connection to 
join and maintain their presence in this type of meeting.  

 
(iii) Cultural change – significant progress was made by the 

authority, its Elected Members and public participants in adapting 
to remote meetings during the coronavirus pandemic.  The 
development of multi-location meetings provides a significant 
cultural challenge from the existing processes for all those 
involved in the decision-making processes of the Council. 

 

(iv) Accessibility and Security – the wide scale accessibility 

requirements of multi-location meetings facilities also needs to 

address the security of information and of meetings particularly 

when meetings can be recorded and broadcast. 

 

(v) Involvement and participation – The level of interest in local 
government decision-making is low and usually limited to those 
issues which have a specific personal impact.  Whilst the 
pandemic provided an opportunity to increase the level of 
observers at meetings, it is uncertain whether this will continue 
as the pandemic eases.  Encouraging the public to become 
involved in the wider decision-making issues facing the Council 
will be an ongoing challenge.  

 
Meeting locations and Equipment 

 
13. The Council is in the process of procuring a new conference system which 

will better enable the requirements of multi-location meetings to be met.  
This includes: microphones, cameras, display screens, simultaneous 
translation equipment, audio enhancement and facilities for the hard of 
hearing.  To coordinate all of the systems, meeting management software 
will integrate both remote and physical participants into single common 
functionality to provide: requests to speak, speaker queues, electronic 
voting, vote results and a dual-language remote meeting facility. 
 

Page 160



Page 5 of 13 

14. This equipment will be installed in three primary venues, the City Hall and 
County Hall Council Chambers and Committee Room 4 in County Hall and 
will integrate with the existing webcasting equipment.  Following 
implementation of the new conferencing systems, further development will 
be undertaken to widen the range of venues and equipment to support multi-
location meetings with a physical focus in locations across the city.  This 
may require additional equipment and other resources to further enhance 
the planned conferencing system. 

 
15. Zoom software has been procured following receipt of a Welsh Government 

grant from the Digital Democracy Fund.  The use of this software will need 

to be developed for formal public meetings to provide simultaneous 

translation facilities for remote meetings. 

 
16. ICT Equipment is provided for Elected Members to enable them to access 

remote multi-location meetings.  This ICT equipment will be refreshed 

following the 2022 Local Government Elections 

 
17. It should be noted that the rapid development of software, equipment and 

the processes to deliver multi-location meeting may require the policy and 
any associated guidance and documents to be updated.  

 
Determination of meeting types 

 
18. The WG guidance says: 

‘A multi-location meetings policy may make provision that different kinds of 
meeting be convened, by default, with all participants joining through remote 
means, or with some arrangement being made for people to attend and 
participate and observe in person. Policies should recognise that the Act 
requires participants to be able to join meetings through remote means for 
all formal meetings. It will not be permitted for relevant authorities to decide 
that all meetings will be held entirely physically.’ (Guidance point 4.1) 
 

19. Physical meetings should not be seen as representing the “gold standard” 
with multi-location meetings being second best.  Physical meetings may be 
convenient and effective for those most familiar with and comfortable with 
how they work – but they may also be inaccessible and impractical to many.  
 

Predominantly Remote Meetings 
 

20. Cardiff Council administers both the Glamorgan Archives and Prosiect 
Gwyrdd Joint Committees. Given the challenges of travelling significant 
distances across the region and the need to ensure maximum participation, 
these meetings have been initially identified as “predominantly remote 
meetings”.  This would also support the intentions of the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and One Planet Cardiff, by helping to reduce 
the carbon footprint of holding these meetings.  Remote meetings can also 
help the Authority to reduce the risk of future unexpected events such as 
extreme weather. 
 

21. During the consultation a number of the respondents from these joint 
committees identified a preference for predominantly remote meetings. In 

Page 161



Page 6 of 13 

addition, members of the Local Authority Governor Panel also expressed a 
preference for holding their meetings as predominantly remote meetings.   

 
22. This does not preclude participants meeting physically but this will require 

any of the physical attendees to attend the designated meeting venue as 
outlined in paragraph 13 above.  Opportunities for using meetings venues 
in other Local Authority areas will be dependent on the other venues having 
compatible multi-location meeting equipment. 

 
Multi-location Meetings 

 
23. All Council, Cabinet, committee, sub-committee and joint committee 

meetings must be able to operate as multi-location meetings and ensure 
that participants are able to attend remotely.  The policy identifies 
opportunities for each decision-making body to collectively agree the 
number of their meetings which are to be held predominantly physically or 
predominantly remotely during each municipal year. 
 

24. During the consultation, several elected and other members acknowledged 
that the requirement for individuals to attend meetings in person cannot be 
mandated.  Some consultees expressed their concerns about the 
effectiveness of the democratic process in decision making with multi-
location meetings and suggested that sitting around a table offers an 
opportunity to ‘read the room’, confirm that all views have been captured, 
and encourage contributions from all participants. 

 
25. The consultation responses indicated that there will be Committee Members 

who may not physically meet, and that there is a need to ensure effective 
Committee relationships and to develop the collective cohesion of all 
committee members.  

 
26. Whilst physical attendance cannot be mandated there are no general 

restrictions for meeting participants determining themselves to physically 
attend any or all meetings.  However, local arrangements may require a 
limitation on the number of participants physically attending meetings e.g 
compliance with social distancing rules.  

 
Predominantly Physical meetings 

 
27. Experience has identified that some meetings may be better suited to 

having a higher level of physical attendance.  However, this does not 
preclude some or all participants attending these meetings remotely if they 
wish or if there are overriding reasons for doing so.  These meetings may 
include: 
 
a. Appointments Committees 

b. Council Appeals Committee 

c. Licensing Sub Committee 

d. Public Protection Sub Committee 

e. Standard and Ethics Sub Committee (Hearings Panel) 

Page 162



Page 7 of 13 

 
28. The consultation did not identify any challenge to holding these committees 

and panels as predominantly physical meeting. 
 

Webcasting of Meetings 
 

29. Under the 2021 Act, full Council meetings must be electronically broadcast, 
with effect from 5 May 2022.  As Members will be aware, full Council 
meetings in Cardiff are already webcast and available to view live on the 
Council’s website. (Members may wish to note that the requirement to 
broadcast meetings may be extended to other local authority meetings by 
Regulations issued by the Welsh Ministers.) 
 

30. The Council currently has a webcasting contract of 200 hours per year and 
this provides sufficient time to support the following committees: 
 
a. Council 
b. Cabinet 
c. Planning Committee 
d. Governance and Audit Committee 
e. All Scrutiny Committees 
f. Standards and Ethics Committee 

 
31. Where resources allow, other meetings with a significant public interest can 

be webcast.  However, If the requirement to webcast increases to include 
other committees, additional funding will be necessary to support any 
change in the requirement. 
 

Engagement with Participants 
 

32. The guidance indicates that decisions about local democracy and the best 
approaches to promote and encourage engagement in local democratic 
systems are best made at a local level.  Therefore, the policy will be aligned 
with the Council’s public participation obligations under the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, to provide an understanding 
of the specific needs of a wide range of local people. 
 

33. To support the development and implementation of the multi-location 
meetings policy, engagement and consultation with Elected Members and 
other meeting participants has been undertaken.  This included workshops 
with Elected, Independent and co-opted Members, and Committee Support 
Officers.  

 
34. The Corporate Research Team in liaison with the Head of Democratic 

Services developed a public survey which was circulated to: 
 

a. the Citizens Panel with approximately 5,500 public representatives 
b. the Youth Council 
c. Community Councils 
d. Various equality Groups identified by the Equalities Team which 

included: 

 Cardiff 3rd Sector Network 

Page 163



Page 8 of 13 

 Race Equality First 

 Diverse Cymru 

 Cardiff 50+ Forum 

 Guide Dogs Cymru 

 Disability Wales 

 Alzheimer’s Society 

 Age Connects (Cardiff and the Vale) 

 Royal National Institute for the Blind 

 Wales Council for the Deaf 

 Deaf Hub Wales 

 British Deaf Association 

 Cardiff Councils 5 Employee Networks  

o Black Asian and Minority Ethnic,  
o Carers,  
o Disability,  
o LGBT+ and  
o Women’s 

 Cardiff East Interfaith Network 

 
e. The residents of Cardiff with a public survey promoted on the 

Councils social media accounts. 
 

35. This has assisted in the development and completion of an Equalities 
Impact Assessment attached at Appendix A, which reflects the responses 
received as part of the consultation.  
 

36. It is generally considered that the move to multi-location meetings will result 
in in having a positive impact on all equality groups.  There are benefits for 
those who do not have to attend the meeting in person particularly those 
with disabilities or other responsibilities which make attending a physical 
meeting challenging.  Others who may be digitally excluded will be able to 
attend the physical meeting and benefit from the available facilities that will 
be provided including audio enhancement for the hard of hearing. 

 
Implementation of the Policy 

 
37. To optimise the benefits which the policy is intended to achieve, its 

implementation has been scheduled for 5 May 2022.  This will enable the 
new conferencing system to be installed and all members elected in the 
Local Government Elections in 2022 to be trained in the use of the new 
technology and systems including how they can effectively participate in 
physical and remote meetings. 
 

Documentation 

 
38. The WG Guidance identifies the importance of ensuring that participants 

and observers have access to easy-to-understand information which 
explains how they can and should engage in multi-location meetings.  To 
minimise changes to the policy once it is approved, it is proposed that 

Page 164



Page 9 of 13 

guidance documents be published separately with reference made to them 
in the main policy document.   
 

39. Once approved, the Multi-Location Meetings Policy, along with Guidelines 
for Public Participants and Observers of Multi-location Meetings will be 
published on the Council’s website with a simple explanation of the 
arrangements for the casual reader.  Internal guidance for “Council 
Participants and Observers at Multi-location Meetings” and “Chairing Multi-
location Meetings” will be made available on the Council’s Intranet. 

 
40. With the imminent implementation of the Council’s new conferencing 

system and meeting software, the guidance which is expected to 
complement this policy will be prepared based on the new technology and 
systems.  

 
Review of the Policy 

 
41. It is proposed that a review of the policy be undertaken after 12 months from 

the implementation of the Multi-location Meetings policy. 
 

42. This project is already on the Governance and Legal Directorate Risk 
Register and to support the implementation and subsequent review of the 
policy, the key concerns identified during the consultation will be reflected 
and monitored in the Directorate Risk Register.    
 

Progressing the multi-location meetings arrangements 
 

43. The Constitution Committee has considered the draft Multi Locations 
Meeting Policy attached at Appendix B and recommended this policy to 
the Cabinet for approval. 
 

44. The Constitution Committee has identified necessary changes to the 
Constitution which if this policy is approved by Cabinet, will be 
recommended to Council for approval. 

 
Local Member consultation   
 
45. All Elected, Independent and Co-opted members were consulted. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
46. The reasons for recommendations are to: 

 
a. meet the requirements of the Local Government and Elections (Wales) 

Act 2021,  
 

b. deliver effective multi-location meetings for the Authority, its Elected 
Members and the residents of the city of Cardiff and 

 
c. to enhance the participation and observation of the Council’s decision-

making processes at its meetings. 
 

Page 165



Page 10 of 13 

Financial Implications 
 
47. There is funding in place for the Council’s new conferencing system, which 

will be financed through the Council’s Capital Programme.  
 

48. The Council has an ongoing contract with a supplier for Webcasting of 
meetings until 31st March 2023, costs are to be met from the Democratic 
Services budgets.  

 
49. Following the 2022 Local Government election an exercise will be 

undertaken by officials to identify the cost of new ICT equipment for Elected 
Members and the identified costs will be funded through earmarked 
reserves.  

 
Legal Implications  
 
50. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the 2021 Act’), Part 

3, Chapter 4, requires local authorities to broadcast full Council meetings 
and to make and publish arrangements to ensure that all Council, Cabinet, 
Committee, Sub-Committee and Joint Committee meetings may be 
attended remotely (i.e. enabling persons who are not in the same place to 
attend the meeting) – also referred to as ‘multi-location meetings’.  
 

51. Meetings must be capable of being held virtually, but individual authorities 
must decide whether their meetings will be held fully virtually, partially 
virtually (where some participants are in the same physical location, whilst 
others join the meeting virtually, referred to as ‘hybrid meetings’) or as 
physical meetings (although authorities may not mandate physical 
attendance at meetings). 

 
52. Meeting participants must be able to speak to and hear each other; and for 

meetings which are required to be broadcast (ie. full Council meetings), 
participants must also be able to see and be seen by each other.  

 
53. The 2021 Act makes permanent the changes to electronic publication of 

meeting documentation, which were introduced by the 2020 Coronavirus 
Meeting Regulations. Under the 2021 Act, all meeting documents, including 
notices, summonses, agendas, reports and background papers must be 
published on the Council’s website. A note of the meeting, including 
Members in attendance and decisions made, must be published within 7 
working days of the meeting. Notice of meetings is no longer required to be 
posted at the Council’s offices. However, copies of agendas and reports 
must be made available for the public if meetings are held physically; and 
the Council is also required to make public access provision for members of 
the public who cannot access electronic documents (for example, by 
providing access to computers, copies of documents, or making documents 
available for inspection.)  

 
54. The 2021 Act also introduces a new duty on local authorities, with effect 

from 5 May 2022, to encourage local people to participate in their decision 
making and to prepare and publish a public participation strategy detailing 
how it will meet this duty. 

Page 166



Page 11 of 13 

 
55. When considering arrangements for remote attendance or ‘multi-location 

meetings’, authorities must have regard to statutory guidance issued by the 
Welsh Ministers: Interim statutory guidance on multi-location meetings 
(gov.wales)  

 
56. The statutory guidance sets out a number of general principles to guide 

authorities when developing their meeting arrangements, namely, 
transparency, accessibility, good conduct, Welsh language, local needs and 
future generations – as detailed in section 2 of the guidance. This sets the 
framework within which authorities must consider options and decide the 
meeting arrangements which best suit the authority and the communities it 
serves.  

 
57. When public consultation is undertaken, case law has established that the 

consultation process should:   
(i) be undertaken when proposals are still at a formative stage;  
(ii) include sufficient reasons and information for particular proposals to 

enable intelligent consideration and response;  
(iii) provide adequate time for consideration and response; and; 
(iv) ensure that the product of consultation is conscientiously taken into 

account when the ultimate decision is taken. 
 

58. In considering this matter, the Council must have regard to its public sector 
equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public 
sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making 
decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic 
or national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – 
including lack of belief.   When taking strategic decisions, the Council also 
has a statutory duty to have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities 
of outcome resulting from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-
Economic Duty’ imposed under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In 
considering this, the Council must take into account the statutory guidance 
issued by the Welsh Ministers and must be able to demonstrate how it has 
discharged its duty.  An Equalities Impact Assessment should be carried out 
to identify the equalities implications of the proposed arrangements, 
including inequalities arising from socio-economic disadvantage, and due 
regard should be given to the outcomes of the Equalities Impact 
Assessment. 
 

59. The Council must also be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 
2011 and the Welsh Language Standards and consider the impact of its 
arrangements upon the Welsh language.   
 

60. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the 
Council to consider how its proposals will contribute towards meeting its well 
being objectives (set out in the Corporate Plan).  Members must also be 
satisfied that the proposals comply with the sustainable development 

Page 167

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-08/interim-statutory-guidance-on-multi-location-meetings.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-08/interim-statutory-guidance-on-multi-location-meetings.pdf


Page 12 of 13 

principle, which requires that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
61. The approval of any policy which does not form part of the Council’s policy 

framework (as defined in the Constitution, Article 4.2(a)) is a function 
reserved to the Cabinet under the Scheme of Delegations, Section 2, 
paragraph 4. 

 
HR Implications 
 
62. There are no HR implications 
 
Property Implications 

 
63. Plans are in place for the installation of the Councils Conferencing system 

into the City Hall and County Hall Council Chambers and Committee Room 
4 in County Hall.  Once the installation is complete in Committee Room 4 
will become a designated Multi-Location Meeting room and its use will be 
co-ordinated via Democratic Services. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
(1) approve and adopt the draft Multi-Location Meetings Policy (Appendix B), 

subject to any agreed changes, with effect from 5 May 2022;  
 
(2) authorise the Director of Governance and Legal Services to make any 

minor changes which may be required for the effective operation of the 
policy and Cardiff’s multi-location meetings arrangements;  

 
(3) Note that the approved Multi-Location Meetings Policy and supporting 

guidance documents (referred to in paragraph 39 of the report) are to be 
published on the Council’s website; and 

 
(4) review the Multi-Location Meetings Policy after 12 months from its 

implementation.  
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Davina Fiore 
Director of Governance & Legal 
Services  

4 March 2022 

 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix A –Equality Impact Assessment – Multi-Location Meetings 
Appendix B – Multi-Location Meetings Policy 
 
The following background papers have been taken into account: 
Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
 

Page 168

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asc/2021/1/contents


Page 13 of 13 

‘Remote / Multi-Location Meeting Arrangements’, report to Council dated 27 
May 2021 
Interim statutory guidance on multi-location meetings dated May 2021.   

Multi-Location Meeting Arrangements Report to Constitution Committee dated 
13 December 2021 

Multi-Location Meeting Arrangements Report to Constitution Committee dated 
28 February 2022 
 
 
 

Page 169

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=24983&LLL=0
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-08/interim-statutory-guidance-on-multi-location-meetings.pdf
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=27691&LLL=0


This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

1 

 

Please consult with the Equality Team for any assistance with completing this 
assessment- equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk   
 

Policy Title:   

New: Multi-Locations Meeting Policy 

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Policy? 

Name: Gary Jones Job Title: Head of Democratic Services 

Service Team: Committee & Member 
Services 

Service Area: Democratic Services 

Assessment Date:  February 2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy? 
 

 
With the implementation of “The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
the Welsh Government has provided Councils the power and freedom to convene 
multi-location meetings which will allow councillors to participate remotely and the 
public to participate/observe remotely, enabling greater accessibility and public 
participation in local government decision making. This EIA is in reflection to our 
proposed Multi-Locations Meeting Policy. 
 

 
2. Please provide background information on the Policy and any research done 

[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.] 
 

The Council’s Constitution reflects the existing legislation and provides the basis for the 
observation and participation of individuals at formal meetings of the Council and its 
committees.  This policy will support the intentions of the Welsh Government to 
enable greater participation and transparency of Local Government decision making. 
Consultation with Elected Members, Officers, Joint Committee Members, Independent 
Members and a public consultation to seek the views of the residents of Cardiff 
including Young people, Equality Groups, Community Councils has been carried out and 
has informed our approach. 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years X   

18 - 65 years X   

Over 65 years  X   

 

 

Page 171

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

2 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  

The provision for observers and participants at meetings will not differentiate between 
the age ranges.  Although there is a likelihood that some individuals may prefer to 
participate or observe the physical rather the remote part of meeting or vice versa.  An 
equal level of opportunity will be provided in support of participants and observers in 
any element of the multi-location meeting.  This policy is considered as a positive step 
to enable wider access to council meetings.  The Welsh Government has identified the 
following benefits of multi-location meetings: 
 

 Enhancing and supporting local democracy by demonstrating this Council 
conducting its business; 

 Making it easier for the public to observe multi-location meetings. 

 Enabling external participants to actively engage at meetings to provide a 
greater range of views and to enhance decision making.  

 Making the Council more resilient and sustainable.  The Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires relevant authorities to think about, and 
act on, long term needs in the way that policy is developed and made.  Multi-
location meetings reduce the carbon footprint of physical meetings (although 
digital activity is not of course carbon-neutral). They can also help relevant 
authorities to reduce the risk of future unexpected events – such as extreme 
weather – which could in future present a challenge to in-person meetings.  

 Reducing the need for travel. Significant time and cost savings for councillors, 
officers and other participants have arisen particularly for joint bodies.  

 It is easier for participants to take part if they have professional and caring 
commitments. 

 Better support for members from diverse backgrounds, by multi-location 
meetings making it easier for care providers, or disabled people, or people with 
other protected characteristics, to engage on an equal footing; 

 Better behaviours. Although experiences have been mixed, on the whole 
meeting management and the behaviours of participants have both improved, 
with less heckling taking place at meetings.    

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment  X   

Physical Impairment X   

Visual Impairment X   

Learning Disability X   

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition X   

Mental Health  X   

Page 172



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

3 

 

Substance Misuse  X  

Other:   X  

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

General: 
The online availability of meeting via webcasting supports all of these impairments and 

will also make it easier for disabled participants to take part if they have professional 
and caring commitments. 
 
Hearing Impairment: 
For those participants or observers at the physical part of the meeting, audio 
enhancement will be provided and access to the hearing loop technology will be 
available in the meeting rooms.  BSL provision will also be provided for participants 
(when requested).  Those participating or observing remotely will be able utilise their 
own bespoke facilities to provide audio enhancement or on-screen subtitling. 
 
Physical Impairment / Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition 
For those participants or observers who may be challenged to attend a physical 
meeting, the ability to participate or observe meetings remotely provides an 
opportunity to engage with decision making meetings.  Previously with only physical 
meetings being available attending a meeting may have posed a significant challenge 
to some individuals.  Remote participation and observation reduce these challenges 
and enables wider consideration of the decision-making process. 
 
Visual Impairment 
Being able to participate or observe meetings from their home may enable those with 
visual impairments to access meetings using their own bespoke equipment.  The 
personal equipment is likely to be tailored to the needs of the individual and provide 
them with suitable support to participate or observe a multi-location meeting. 
 
Enhanced sound quality at physical meetings may also assist those with visual 
impairment. 
 
Learning Disability  
The ability for observers with learning disabilities to view meetings from their homes 
which allows and webcast to be viewed multiple times to assist with understanding  
   
Mental Health  
Some people with mental health issues may be challenged with travel or locations with 
lots of people and may prefer to watch alone or in a familiar environment at home.   
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

Page 173



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

4 

 

The increased use of technological solutions and the continued development of 
processes and equipment will enable better support to be made available.  This should 
support individuals with disabilities to engage in the decision-making processes.   

 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/ have a differential impact [positive] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Beneficial to all regardless of gender 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on marriage and civil 
partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage X   

Civil Partnership X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Beneficial to all regardless of Marriage or Civil Partnership status 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy X   

Maternity X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

This policy will enable those individuals who may be pregnant or on 
maternity/paternity leave to engage, participate or observe Council and other 
meetings if they do not wish to travel or be in physical attendance. . 

Page 174



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

5 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White X   

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups X   

Asian / Asian British X   

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British X   

Other Ethnic Groups X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Beneficial to all regardless of race. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on people with different 
religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist X   

Christian X   

Hindu X   

Humanist X   

Jewish X   

Muslim X   

Sikh X   

Other X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Beneficial to all regardless of Religion 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men X   

Women X   

Page 175



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

6 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The use of technology for multilocation meetings which results in improved behaviours 
particularly those that are being webcast.  This prevents poor behaviour adversely 
affecting any participants at meetings 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual  X   

Gay Men X   

Gay Women/Lesbians X   

Heterosexual/Straight X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Beneficial to all regardless of sexual orientation 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
3.10 Socioeconomic Duty 
Is the change anticipated to reduce or contribute to inequality of outcome as a result 
of socio-economic disadvantage? (e.g. will the change negatively impact on those on 
low-incomes or those living in deprived areas) 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Socioeconomic impact X   

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The provision of the physical meeting arrangements alongside remote for participants 
or observers who may enable those who digitally excluded to participate or observe 
the decision-making process.  This will be achieved by enabling those wishing to 
observe or participate to attend the physical meetings venue without the need for 
their own access to the internet or ICT equipment.  This support will be provided by 
suitably trained officers to individuals in the relevant meeting venues. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

Monitor the level of attendance of individuals who attend physical meetings by the use 
of a sign in sheet with the option to identify why they have decided to attend the 
physical part of a public meeting. 

 
3.11  Welsh Language 

Page 176



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

7 

 

Will this Policy have a differential impact [positive] on Welsh Language?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Welsh Language 
 

X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The legislation requires that simultaneous translation facilities at meeting should be 
made available to those who wish to speak in Welsh.  The policy identifies that when 
integrated with the new conferencing system the authority will have the ability to: 

 have translators undertake their duties remotely is necessary 

 have simultaneous translation to hearing loop type equipment  

 provide webcasts in English (with Welsh translation) and Welsh on the relevant 

webcasting webpages. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No actions necessary 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 

Liaison with the equalities team to circulate consultation survey to the key equalities 
stakeholders, these included:  

 Cardiff 3rd Sector Network 

 Race Equality First 

 Diverse Cymru 

 Cardiff 50+ Forum 

 Guide Dogs Cymru 

 Disability Wales 

 Alzheimer’s Society 

 Age Connects (Cardiff and the Vale) 

 Royal National Institute for the Blind 

 Wales Council for the Deaf 

 Deaf Hub Wales 

 British Deaf Association 

 Cardiff Councils 5 Employee Networks  

o Black Asian and Minority Ethnic,  

o Carers,  

o Disability,  

o LGBT+ and  

o Women’s 

Page 177



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

8 

 

 Cardiff East Interfaith Network 

 
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age No actions necessary 

Disability The increased use of technological solutions and the 
continued development of processes and equipment 
will enable better support to be made available.  This 
should support individuals with disabilities to engage in 
the decision-making processes.   

Gender Reassignment No actions necessary 

Marriage & Civil Partnership No actions necessary 

Pregnancy & Maternity No actions necessary 

Race No actions necessary 

Religion/Belief No actions necessary 

Sex No actions necessary 

Sexual Orientation No actions necessary 

Socio-economic Monitor the level of attendance of individuals who 
attend physical meetings by the use of a sign in sheet 
with the option to identify why they have decided to 
attend the physical part of a public meeting. 

Welsh Language No actions necessary 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the above 
groups] 

Monitoring the observation and participation levels at 
meetings during the first year following 
implementation of the policy will be used to provide 
some evidence which can be considered as part of a 
subsequent review of the policy to ensure its 
effectiveness. 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By: Gary Jones Date:  28 Feb 22 

Designation: Head of Democratic Services  

Approved By: Davina Fiore  

Page 178



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix A 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 

9 

 

Designation: Director of Governance and Legal Services and 
Monitoring Officer 

 

Service Area: Democratic Services  

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the form is submitted 

to the Equality Team mailbox so that there is a record of all assessments 
undertaken in the Council- equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Equality Team- 
equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk  
 

Page 179

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Appendix B 

Multi-Location 

Meetings Policy 

 

 

 

Cardiff Council  

2022 
  

Page 181



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

 

  

Page 182



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Table of Contents 
Overview .............................................................................................................................. 5 

Background ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Local Authority Meetings .................................................................................................. 5 

Legal Requirements ......................................................................................................... 5 

Policy on Multi-Location Meetings ................................................................................ 7 

What are Multi-Location Meetings? .................................................................................. 7 

Participation at a meeting ............................................................................................. 7 

Observing a meeting ..................................................................................................... 8 

The benefits of multi-location meetings ........................................................................ 8 

The challenges of multi-location meetings .................................................................... 8 

The Meeting Environment in Cardiff ................................................................................. 9 

Physical Venues ........................................................................................................... 9 

The Technological Requirements ..................................................................................... 9 

Control Systems ........................................................................................................... 9 

Physical Participants and Observers .......................................................................... 10 

Remote Participants ................................................................................................... 10 

Remote Observers ...................................................................................................... 10 

Determining the type of Meeting  ....................................................................................... 10 

Predominantly Remote Meetings ................................................................................... 11 

Multi-location meetings ................................................................................................... 11 

Use of Cameras ............................................................................................................. 12 

Health and Safety of Participants and Observers ........................................................... 12 

Establishing the Calendar of Meetings............................................................................... 12 

The Survey of Meeting Timings ...................................................................................... 13 

Attendance at Meetings ..................................................................................................... 13 

Elected Member and Council Officer Participants .......................................................... 13 

Remote Participants ................................................................................................... 13 

Physical Attendance ................................................................................................... 13 

Attendance of other participants ..................................................................................... 14 

Recording and broadcasting of meetings by observers.................................................. 14 

Record of Attendance ..................................................................................................... 15 

Observing Meetings ....................................................................................................... 15 

Webcast meetings ...................................................................................................... 15 

Physical Attendance of Observers at Multi-location Meetings .................................... 16 

Physical attendance of observers for Remote Meetings ............................................. 16 

Page 183



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Online Meeting Platforms ................................................................................................... 16 

Publication of meeting information ..................................................................................... 17 

Public information ........................................................................................................... 17 

Non Public Information ................................................................................................... 17 

Consideration of exempt or confidential information at meetings. .................................. 18 

Access and Participation at meetings ................................................................................ 18 

Training and induction .................................................................................................... 19 

Officer Support at meetings ............................................................................................ 19 

Voting at Meetings ............................................................................................................. 19 

Seeking Consensus ....................................................................................................... 19 

Method of Voting ............................................................................................................ 20 

A Roll-Call vote .............................................................................................................. 20 

Chairing meetings .............................................................................................................. 20 

Chat Function use by Remote Participants .................................................................... 20 

Associated Documents: ..................................................................................................... 21 

 Guidelines for Public Participants and Observers of Multi-location Meetings........... 21 

 Guidelines for Council Participants and Observers at Multi-location Meetings ........ 21 

 Guidelines for Chairing Multi-location Meetings ....................................................... 21 

 

 

 

  

Page 184



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Overview 

Background 
1. Arrangements were first made to progress “remote meetings” in the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2011, however this required at least 30% of the 
attendees to be in attendance in person and was rarely used. At the outset of the 
coronavirus pandemic in March 2020, the Welsh Government introduced the Local 
Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) (Wales) Regulations 2020 which established a 
framework for Councils to convene remote meetings for all attendees throughout 
2020 and part of 2021.  

 
2. With the implementation of “The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 

the Welsh Government has provided Councils the power and freedom to convene 

multi-location meetings which will enable greater accessibility and public participation 

in local government decision making. 

Local Authority Meetings 
3. In accordance with the 2021 Act this Multi-locations Meeting Policy will apply to all 

meetings of: 

a. The Council 

b. The Executive (Cabinet) 

c. A joint committee of two or more local authorities 

d. A committee or sub-committee of a. – c. above. 

  

4. This policy does not cover: 

a. meetings of other public bodies  

b. public meetings or any other meeting bodies (including councils) of public 

meetings any or other meetings organised by the Council or another 

organisation.  

c. Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs) or community councils meetings, on 

which separate guidance is being prepared by Welsh Government. 

 

5. Formal meetings of the Council or its committees are convened in accordance with 

the relevant legislative requirements for those meetings.  These meetings are usually 

held to make formal decisions or recommendations and are often held in public.  

Notice of these meetings is published in advance on the Council’s website and 

includes information about the location, timing and business to be conducted.  

Previously these meetings would have been held with all participants being in 

physical attendance at a single venue. 

Legal Requirements 
6. Under the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 (‘the 2021 Act’), Part 3, 

Chapter 4, local authorities are required to: 

 

a. Broadcast full Council meetings (with effect from May 2022). 

 
b. Make and publish arrangements to ensure that all Council, Cabinet, Committee 

and Joint Committee meetings may be attended remotely (i.e. enabling 

Page 185



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

persons who are not in the same place to attend the meeting) – also referred 
to as ‘multi-location meetings’.   

 

 Meetings must be capable of being held virtually, but each authority must 
decide whether their meetings will be held fully virtually, partially virtually 
(where some participants are in the same physical location, whilst others 
join the meeting virtually, also referred to as ‘hybrid meetings’) or as 
physical meetings (although authorities may not mandate physical 
attendance at meetings). 
 

 Meeting participants must be able to speak to and hear each other; and for 
meetings which are required to be broadcast (i.e.. full Council meetings), 
participants must also be able to see and be seen by each other.  
 

 These requirements took effect from May 2021, when the temporary 

provisions for remote attendance at meetings made under the Coronavirus 

Meeting Regulations 2020 ended.  

 

c. Publish all meeting documents on the Council’s website, including notices, 
summonses, agendas, reports and background papers (with effect from May 
2021).   
 
 A note of the meeting, including Members in attendance and decisions 

made, must be published within 7 working days of the meeting.  
 

 Notice of meetings is no longer required to be posted at the Council’s 
offices.  However, copies of agendas and reports must be made available 
for the public if meetings are held physically. 

 
 The Council is also required to make public access provision for members 

of the public who cannot access electronic documents, for example, by 
providing access to computers, copies of documents, or making documents 
available for inspection. 

 
7. When considering arrangements for remote attendance or ‘multi-location meetings’, 

authorities must have regard to the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers:  Interim statutory guidance on multi-location meetings (gov.wales) 
 

8. Section 2 of the statutory guidance sets out a number of general principles to guide 
authorities when developing their meeting arrangements, namely, transparency, 
accessibility, good conduct, Welsh language, local needs and future generations. 
This sets the framework within which authorities must consider options and decide 
the meeting arrangements which best suit the authority and the communities it 
serves.   

 
9. The guidance also confirms that the meeting arrangements should be reflected in 

the procedure rules set out in the constitution.  
 

Page 186

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-08/interim-statutory-guidance-on-multi-location-meetings.pdf


Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Policy on Multi-Location Meetings  

10. Alongside the legally mandated arrangements that authorities must make for multi-

location meetings, the statutory guidance says that authorities should develop a 

wider policy setting out the detailed systems chosen by the authority for the 

operation of its multi-location meetings. 

 

11. This policy is intended to clarify the arrangements of Multi-Locations meetings for: 

a. Participants in meetings convened by the Council; 

b. Officers providing support to formal meetings  

c. Officers with adjacent responsibilities – for example, those responsible for 

drafting and clearing reports, attending meetings to present reports to members 

and officers with supervisory responsibilities on governance matters; 

d. Anyone with an interest in the way in which the business of this authority is 

conducted 

 

12. This policy will initially be reviewed after 12 months after implementation and 

subsequently on an “as required” basis. 

 

13. In addition, separate detailed guidance is provided as follows: 

a. Guidance for Council Participants and Observers 

b. Guidance for Public Participants and Observers 

c. Guidance for Chairs 

What are Multi-Location Meetings? 
14. Multi-location meetings which may have been described previously as “remote” or 

“hybrid” meetings are meetings of the Council or its committees whose participants 

are not all in the same physical place.  This may include: 

 all participants are in the same physical location except one individual who joins 
from another location, with a physical public gallery being provided; 
 

 a roughly equal number of members are present in one physical space compared 
with those joining through remote means;  
 

 all members are joining through remote means but nonetheless a physical public 
gallery has been made available in a Council venue 
 

 a meeting taking place wholly through remote means where no physical meeting 
arrangements have been made. 

 
15. Multi-location meetings offer this Council an opportunity to raise its profile in the 

community and to bring its work directly into people’s homes.  Evidence from the 
remote meetings held during the pandemic shows that public access to multi-location 
meetings is likely to be significantly higher than the level of audiences of formal 
meetings when all meetings were held physically in a single location.   

 

Participation at a meeting 

16. A “participant” of a multi-location meeting is defined in the statutory guidance as a 
person who takes an active part in that meeting.  They might be an Elected Member, 

Page 187



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

a person giving evidence to a committee as a witness, an appellant or claimant on a 
regulatory matter, someone presenting a petition, or taking part formally in another 
way. 

 

Observing a meeting 

17. An “observer” of a multi-location meeting is defined in the statutory guidance as a 
member of an audience, or otherwise spectating, a multi-location meeting. They 
might be in the same room that a meeting is taking place or they might be observing 
by remote means. 

 

The benefits of multi-location meetings 

18. Cardiff Council has been convening its meetings by remote means throughout much 
of 2020 and 2021.  While meeting this way has proven to be initially challenging, it 
has also resulted in a number of benefits: 
a. Enhancing and supporting local democracy by demonstrating this Council 

conducting its business. 
b. Making it easier for the public to observe multi-location meetings. 
c. Enabling external participants to actively engage in meetings to provide a 

greater range of views and to enhance decision making.  
d. Making the Council more resilient and sustainable.  

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires relevant 
authorities to think about, and act on, long term needs in the way that policy is 
developed and made.  Multi-location meetings reduce the carbon footprint of 
physical meetings (although digital activity is not of course carbon-neutral). 
They can also help relevant authorities to reduce the risk of future unexpected 
events – such as extreme weather – which could in future present a challenge 
to in-person meetings.  

e. Reducing the need for travel. Significant time and cost savings for councillors, 
officers and other participants have arisen, particularly for joint bodies.  

f. It is easier for participants to take part if they have professional and caring 
commitments. 

g. Better support for members from diverse backgrounds, by multi-location 
meetings making it easier for care providers, or disabled people, or people with 
other protected characteristics, to engage on an equal footing. 

h. Better behaviours. Although experiences have been mixed, on the whole 
meeting management and the behaviours of participants have both improved, 
with less heckling taking place at meetings.    

 

The challenges of multi-location meetings 

19. There have been a number of significant challenges which need to be addressed to 

support multi-location meetings, which include: 

a. Suitable technology – before 2020, there was little or no technology other than 

basic video conferencing and webcasting.  The rapid development of remote 

working technology during the coronavirus pandemic made basic remote 

meetings possible.  The complexity of equipment and software necessary to 

deliver public multi-location meetings requires a significant further step-change 

in technology. 

Page 188



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

b. Reliance on the internet – Participants involved in remote meetings are reliant 

on having a suitable internet connection to join and maintain their presence in 

this type of meeting.  

c. Fully remote meetings are not accessible to those individuals and communities 

who are considered as digitally excluded.  The provision of multi-location 

meetings offers an opportunity of equality of access to all.    

d. Cultural change – significant progress was made by the authority its Elected 

Members and public participants in adapting to remote meetings during the 

coronavirus pandemic.  The development of multi-location meetings provides a 

significant cultural challenge from the existing processes for all those involved 

in the decision-making processes of the Council. 

e. Accessibility and Security – the wide scale accessibility requirements of multi-

location meetings facilities also needs to address the security of information and 

of meetings particularly when meetings can be recorded and broadcast. 

f. Involvement and participation – The level of interest in local government 

decision-making is low and usually limited to those issues which have a specific 

personal impact.  Whilst the pandemic provided an opportunity to increase the 

level of observers at meetings it is uncertain whether this will continue as the 

pandemic eases.  Encouraging the public to become involved in the wider 

decision-making issues facing the Council will be an ongoing challenge.  

The Meeting Environment in Cardiff 

Physical Venues 

20. Currently, the Council has a number of venues for its formal meetings with 

Committee Room 4 in County Hall having a limited multi-location meeting capability.  

The implementation of the Council’s new conferencing system will address the 

existing limitations in Committee Room 4 and provide three venues with the ability to 

fully support multi-location meetings: 

 

a. Council Chamber   -  City Hall 

b. Council Chamber   -  County Hall 

c. Committee Room 4   -  County Hall 

 

The Technological Requirements 
21. The delivery of multi-location meetings requires the provision of equipment and 

facilities to be enable those involved to participate or observe meetings as identified 

below: 

Control Systems  

22. Any multi-location meeting will be facilitated by Democratic Services or Cabinet 

Office who will use the control systems to ensure that the full range of meeting 

facilities and functionality can be co-ordinated and integrated for all participants and 

observers to deliver effective meeting support.  The control systems will provide and 

co-ordinate cameras, audio inputs and outputs, simultaneous translation, speaker 

queues, electronic voting, integration with the Council webcasting provider and to 

support participants and observers.   

Page 189



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

 

23. The following ICT equipment is required: 

Physical Participants and Observers 

 Microphones to enable other participants and observers to hear the meeting 

proceedings, initiate a request to speak, support electronic voting and enable 

access to simultaneous translation facilities  

 Appropriate cameras to show other participants and observers when the 

individual speaking  

 Display screens to enable those physically participating/observing to see those 

attending remotely. 

 Simultaneous translation equipment  

 Audio enhancement and hard of hearing support without compromising the 

audio quality of the remote attendees. 

Remote Participants  

 A suitable ICT device with camera and microphone facilities 

 Suitable access to the internet. 

 Relevant software which is publicly available to support remote attendance at 

meetings. 

Remote Observers 

 A suitable ICT device with an audio output and ideally a visual display 

 Internet access to view the Council’s webcasting website.  Home - Cardiff 

Council Webcasting (public-i.tv) 

 

24. The rapidly evolution and improvement of technological development in software, 

equipment and the provision of appropriate security measures require regular review 

to ensure the ease of provision and accessibility. This will need to be budgeted for as 

part of the cost of democracy. 

Determining the type of Meeting  
25. The Welsh Government guidance identifies that the needs of local democracy, and 

the needs of the public in engaging with multi-location meetings, are a paramount 

consideration in deciding where and when meetings will be convened partially or 

wholly by remote means. The overriding intention of the Act is to help the public to 

be able to access and engage with local democratic systems. The convenience of 

participants and the efficient operation of relevant authorities themselves is 

important but the needs of the public will come first and a balance has to be 

achieved with the physical and remote element of meetings when decisions are being 

made. 

 

26. In addition to Council and Cabinet meetings the Council has in the region of 23 

committees and sub-committees which support its statutory, regulatory and 

governance arrangements.  There are also two joint committees which involve by a 

number of other Local Authorities and which are administered by Cardiff Council.  

 

Page 190

https://cardiff.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://cardiff.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

27. Physical meetings should not be seen as representing the “gold standard” with multi-

location meetings being second best.  Physical meetings may be convenient and 

effective for those who are digitally excluded or most familiar with and comfortable 

with how they work – but they may also be inaccessible and impractical to many.  

Predominantly Remote Meetings 

28. The Glamorgan Archive and the Prosiect Gwyrdd Joint Committees have 
representatives from up to five other Local Authorities across South Wales.  Given 
the challenges of travelling significant distances across the region and the need to 
ensure maximum participation, these meetings and other Joint Committees 
supported by the authority will primarily be held as fully remote meetings.   
 

29. With appropriate facilities in other local authority venues, multi-location meetings 
may enable some participants to attend physically in venues in or near their own 
area whilst the remaining participants attend remotely.  This does not preclude a 
number of participants from differing local authorities meeting remotely at a mutually 
agreed location where this is seen as beneficial for those participants or the decision-
making process.  

 

30. This type of arrangement may also be suitable for those meetings which require 
participants to travel across the city at peak periods to attend meetings outside of 
normal working hours such as the Local Authority Governor Panel. 

Multi-location meetings 
31. All meetings must be able to operate as multi-location meetings to ensure that 

participants, as defined above are able to attend remotely. This includes meetings of 
the following: 

 
 Council 
 Cabinet 
 Constitution Committee 

 Corporate Parenting Advisory 
Committee 

 Democratic Services Committee 

 Employment Conditions 
Committee 

 Governance and Audit 
Committee 

 Pensions Committee 

 Standards & Ethics Committee 
 Children and Young People 

Scrutiny Committee 

 Community & Adult Services 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Economy & Culture Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Environmental Scrutiny 
Committee 

 Policy Review and Performance 
Scrutiny Committee 

 Licensing Committee 
 Planning Committee 
 Public Protection Committee 

 
 

 

 

32. Experience has identified that some meetings may be better suited to having a 

higher level of physical attendance.  The following are considered to be those multi-

location meetings where additional flexibility is needed due to the sensitive nature of 

these meetings and how they could potentially impact the livelihoods of those 

participants other than the Council representatives in attendance.  However, this 

Page 191



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

does not preclude some or all participants attending these meetings remotely if they 

wish or if there are overriding reasons for doing so.  These include: 

 

 Appointments Committees 

 Council Appeals Committee 

 Licensing Sub Committee 

 Public Protection Sub Committee 

 Standard and Ethics Sub 

Committee (Hearings Panel) 

Use of Cameras 
33. The Law requires participants of meetings that are broadcast to be able to “speak to 

and be heard by each other” and “to see and be seen by each other”.  The ability to 

see and be seen predominantly applies when a participant is speaking, although for 

some meetings, participants attending remotely may also be required to ensure that 

their cameras remain on for the duration of the meeting, for example, quasi-judicial 

meetings such as Planning Committee.  For other meetings the Chair may use their 

discretion whether participants are to keep their cameras on when not speaking.   

 

34. There are occasions when a remote participant may need to disable their camera to 

stabilise their connection to the meeting due to internet issues or because they have 

been temporarily interrupted by events at their location. If this occurs the participant 

should use the chat function to inform the meeting Chair and democratic services 

staff 

 

Health and Safety of Participants and Observers 
35. Attendance at multi-location meetings may require participants and observers to  use 

of display screen equipment or to be seated for extended periods of time.  To negate 

any adverse impacts from attending multi-location meetings remotely, participants 

will be requested to undertake a Display Screen Equipment (DSE) self-assessment 

particularly where they are expected to be in attendance at meetings for over 2 

hours, to ensure that the configuration of their equipment meets health and safety 

requirements. 

 

36. It is recommended that a break away from the screen of 5-10 minutes should be 

taken after 1 hour of continuous display screen use or a longer break after 2 hours of 

continuous screen use.  The Chair should consider the need for appropriate breaks 

as part the agenda management arrangements of the meeting.  

Establishing the Calendar of Meetings 
37. To provide clarity and transparency for participants and observers of council 

meetings a programme of meeting is developed annually which identifies when, 

where and how each of the Council’s meetings will be held. This is subject to change 

during the year for operational reasons+.  

 

38. The programme of meetings will avoid wherever possible scheduling meetings to be  

held simultaneously or immediately following another meeting.  If this cannot be 

Page 192



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

avoided the relevant Chairs will be consulted and one of the meetings will be 

undertaken as a fully remote meeting. 

The Survey of Meeting Timings 
39. After each local election each committee or decision-making body has the 

opportunity to determine the most suitable day and time for their meetings to take 

place.  This is also an opportunity for each committee to collectively agree the 

number of their meetings which are to be held predominantly physically or 

predominantly remotely or multi-location, with provision for physical attendance 

during each municipal year.  This may be based purely on a percentage of all 

scheduled meetings or reflect the view that physical attendance for particular topic 

i.e. Budget meetings which may benefit from a more fluid flow of debate.  However, 

the Council may not mandate that any or all participants attend meetings physically.  

Meeting participants must be able to attend remotely if they wish to do so. 

 

40. This determination will be reflected in the Council’s programme of meetings and 

published on the Council’s website.  Where committee meetings are identified as 

primarily physical in the programme of meetings, this does not prevent committee 

members from attending meetings remotely. 

Attendance at Meetings 
 

Elected Member and Council Officer Participants 
41. Invitations to meetings will be provided electronically using Microsoft Outlook or the 

relevant meeting software.  The invitation will provide details of the meeting, its 

location and timings.  It will also include links to enable the participants to join 

remotely should they wish to do so.  On receipt of the invitation, participants will be 

requested to indicate their intentions to attend the meeting physically or remotely to 

enable any necessary administrative and support arrangements to be put in place by 

Democratic Services and the Cabinet Office. 

Remote Participants 

42. Those participants considering attending the meeting remotely should also ensure 

that they have appropriate internet connectivity to join and maintain their attendance 

throughout the meeting.  When joining remotely from a previously unused location, 

participants are requested to inform Democratic Services and a test meeting will be 

established to confirm the level of connectivity in readiness for the formal meeting. 

 

Physical Attendance 

43. All committee members are encouraged to physically attend at least one meeting of 

each committee or decision-making body to which they are appointed during each 

municipal year. 

 

44. Although physical attendance of participants cannot be mandated, there is no 

restriction for participants on their own volition, determining to physically attend any 

or all meetings.  

Page 193



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

 

45. The technological requirements for physical meetings will limit the available meeting 

venues to the City Hall Council Chamber, the County Hall Council Chamber and 

County Hall Committee Room 4.  Following successful implementation of the 

Council’s new conferencing system a further procurement may be undertaken to 

enable other venues to be utilised with a fully portable camera and display systems 

which can be used in tandem with the existing conferencing facilities. 

 

46. On occasions due to physical space, technological issues or specific requirements 

such as socially distancing rules, the number of physical attendees who may be 

present at each meeting may be limited.  Where this is necessary the Chair of the 

meeting together with essential officer support for the Chair, multi-location meeting 

broadcasts and simultaneous translation staff are given priority for attendance.  

Priority consideration will also need to be given to external participants at non-

executive meetings, who may also need to attend the physical meeting in order to 

participate before any remaining spaces are allocated to the political groups in 

accordance with political balance. The political groups are expected to give priority to 

any members who have difficulties joining a meeting remotely. 

 

47. Member Development and other informal opportunities to facilitate physical meetings 

of committee members may be used to promote good practice, develop working 

relationships and to mitigate any adverse impact of remote attendance at formal 

meetings.  

Attendance of other participants 
48. Meetings are also attended by a range of participants other than committee 

members.  These include invitees, witnesses, officers providing technical or other 

support for example, Principal Scrutiny Officers, external experts and members of the 

public asking questions in accordance with the Council Procedure Rules. 

 

49. Once the need for additional participants including members of the public (where 
appropriate) is identified by service area or support officers, they will inform 
Democratic Services of the details and contact information of the participant.  The 
external participants will be contacted by Democratic Services to confirm their 
attendance, explain how they can join the meeting either as a physical or remote 
participant and the meeting procedures.  If the external participant is joining the 
meeting remotely an electronic meeting invitation similar to that of other participants 
will be sent.  They will also be offered the opportunity of a test meeting to familiarise 
themselves with the technology and the arrangements that are in place. 
 

Recording and broadcasting of meetings by observers  
50. Members of the public are permitted to photograph, film or record Councillors and 

officers and use social media at any Council meetings that are open to the public and 

press, as long as: 

 Notice has been given (on the meeting agenda and signage outside the meeting) 

so that everyone attending the meeting is made aware that they may be recorded 

and that by attending the meeting they are deemed to consent to this; 

Page 194



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

 The recording or transmission must create no disturbance disruption or 

distraction to the good order and conduct of the meeting; 

 Any recording must be overt, not covert; 

 There is to be no recording or transmission of proceedings dealing with any 

exempt or confidential information; 

 The Chair shall have discretion, subject to proper consideration of any relevant 

representations and legal advice, to prohibit a recording or exclude anyone 

reasonably considered to be in breach of these rules; and 

 The person making the recording or transmission shall be solely responsible for 

complying with all applicable legal obligations arising from their actions 

 

[Council’s Access to Information Procedure Rules, Rule 4A] 

 

51. The Council also permits photography and social media reporting of all its public 

meetings. 

Record of Attendance 

52. The attendance of each committee member and participant will be recorded by the 

Democratic Services or Cabinet Officer(s) supporting the committee.  This will be 

achieved by recording attendance on a sign in sheet or using the attendance record 

from the remote meeting software to confirm attendance at the meeting.  These 

records will be combined and added into the minutes of the meeting before being 

published on the Council’s website. 

 

53. Committee Members are to inform the relevant Democratic Services or Cabinet 

Support Officers if they are unable to attend a meeting and their apologies will be 

recorded: at the meeting, in the minutes of the meeting and published on the 

Council’s website. 

Observing Meetings 

Webcast meetings 

54. The main purpose of webcasting is to aid transparency, governance and 
accountability by giving members of the public, elected members, officers and other 
interested parties the opportunity to observe meetings without having to attend in 
person and for the Council to have an official audio and visual record of its decision-
making process. 

 
55. The following formal meetings of the Council will either be webcast by being 

streamed live or recorded for subsequent upload to the Council’s webcasting website 

within 48 hours of the end of the meeting. 

 Council 
 Cabinet 
 Planning Committee 
 Governance and Audit Committee 
 All Scrutiny Committee meetings 

 Standards and Ethics Committee 
 

Page 195

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s53746/Access%20to%20Information%20Procedure%20Rules.pdf?LLL=0


Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

56. A total of 200 hours is available annually for webcasting meetings and the total 

usage will be monitored by Democratic Services Officers.  Where resources allow, 

other meetings can be streamed live or recorded for subsequent upload to the 

Council webcasting webpages, if it is considered by the Chair that the meeting or 

items being considered at that meeting are of significant public interest. 

 

57. Webcasting does not replace the formal record of the meeting and the decisions 
taken, which are published on the Council website in the form of minutes or decision 
records and retained in hard copy in accordance with the Council’s retention policy.  

 
58. A webcasting protocol is included in Part 5 Of the Council’s Constitution which serves 

to: 
 Ensure compliance with the Coucnil’s obligations under the Data Protection Act 

2018 and the Human Rights Act 1998. 
 Specify the notifications to be given about webcasting in agenda packs, for public 

speakers and observers and at the start of each meeting being streamed or 
recorded 

 Ensure that appropriate signage is provided at physical meeting venues to make 
clear that recording is taking place. 

 Provide the Chair with the discretion to terminate or suspend the webcast in 
appropriate circumstances  

 Safeguard that no exempt or confidential agenda items will be webcast.  

 Confirm the availability of webcasts to be viewed on the Council’s website and 

subsequently stored in accordance with the Council’s records management 

procedures. 

 Provide for the removal of webcasts or parts of webcasts by the Monitoring 

Office, if necessary. 

Physical Attendance of Observers at Multi-location Meetings 

59. Observers will also be able to attend the physical element of meetings from the 

public gallery in each of the primary locations.   

Physical attendance of observers for Remote Meetings  

60. To enable those observers who do not have access to the internet to view either fully 

remote or non-webcast meetings, they may request to attend a public viewing of 

that meeting.  For viewing a fully remote meeting this will require a request to be 

submitted 2 clear working days prior to the remote meeting to enable arrangements 

to be made in Committee Room 4 or another suitable location in County Hall for the 

viewing. 

Online Meeting Platforms 
61. The Council will continue to use Microsoft Teams as its primary remote meeting 

platform until the implementation of the Council’s new conferencing system.  This 
platform should only be used by Elected Members from their Council provided 
devices to maintain the effective security of its meetings.  Non-Council  devices may 
be used by prior arrangement with Democratic Services and Cabinet Officers, 
although the functionality available when using these “guest” devices may differ from 
that provided by the Council’s devices.   
 

Page 196

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s53767/Protocol%20for%20Webcasting%20Council%20and%20other%20Committee%20Meetings.pdf?LLL=0


Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

62. Council participants using other devices rather than their Council provided devices 
presents security concerns, because: this does not allow then to be identified as an 
official attendee;  they will be required to use the lobby when they join a meeting; it 
creates uncertainty for officers when admitting unknown or unfamiliar participants to 
the meeting from the lobby, an other devices do not have access to the Council’s 
network security infrastructure. 
 

63. Other participants are able to join meetings using links contained within the meeting 
invitation which is circulated to all participants.   
 

64. For facilitating dual language meetings Zoom can be used instead of Teams for our 
formal meetings when a request to speak Welsh is made in advance of a meeting.   

 
65. The Council’s conferencing system will include multi-location meeting software which 

will support simultaneous translation and provide additional meeting functionality.  
Further detailed guidance is available for Council and Public Participants.   

Publication of meeting information 

Public information 
66. The production and publication of the Programme of Meetings, public agenda, 

reports, decision records and minutes are facilitated by the Council’s committee 
administration software Civica-Modern.gov.  Meeting participants are sent an email 
which includes links to the electronic agenda pack at least three clear working days 
prior to a meeting.    
 

67. The software enables the Council to publish public information to its English and 
Welsh webpages for the public to view.  The public are also able to subscribe to 
updates on the Councillors and Meetings webpages and identify any specific 
meetings or topics which they have an interest in.  Once registered, the Modern.gov 
system will automatically provide electronic updates when new information is 
published on the website.   

 
68. Modern.gov is also available to download as an app from the App store, Google Play 

and Microsoft Store which  allows participants, observers and members of the public 
to view the Councils’ meeting information.  The Modern.gov app provides a paperless 
facility which enables participants to annotate their meeting document during their 
preparation for a meeting.   

 
69. For those participants with an identified need or to provide ease of reading for more 

complex documents, hard copies can be provided with prior arrangement with either 
Democratic Services or Cabinet Support Officers as necessary. 

 

Non Public Information 
70. The law provides that some information may not be made publicly available and this 

is known as exempt or confidential information.  When this type of information is 

considered at a formal meeting the documents are published on the Council’s 

intranet and are only available to those entitled to view them.  The publication of 

these documents is also supported by the Modern.gov app but participants will be 

Page 197

https://www.civica.com/en-gb/product-pages/moderngov/
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=4192446&HPID=4192446&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon&LLL=0
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ielogon.aspx?lp=1&RPID=4192446&HPID=4192446&Forms=1&META=mgSubscribeLogon&LLL=0
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.modernmindset.xapp&hl=en_GB&gl=US
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl?activetab=pivot:overviewtab


Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

required to register the device they intend to use for viewing these documents with 

Democratic Services.  Successful registration of a device will provide access to the 

Councils “private” modern.gov network but will still limit the availability of the 

information to those entitled to view it. 

Consideration of exempt or confidential information at meetings. 
71. When exempt or confidential information is to be considered at a formal meeting, 

wherever possible, the agenda will schedule those items at the end of the meeting, 
so as to minimise any inconvenience to observers who will be required to leave the 
meeting at that point. 
 

72. Agenda items which contain public information, and which are not fully exempt or 
confidential can be considered in a public environment.  Should any participant wish 
to refer to the exempt or confidential information the Chair must be informed, and 
the meeting should exclude the press and public before continuing. 

 
73. When an exempt or confidential item is planned to be considered the following 

options may be used to ensure that the information, is not shared with anyone other 
than those entitled to receive it: 

 

a. an additional “private” remote meeting can be established by Democratic 
Services which will only include participants entitled to consider the exempt 
information.  When the meeting moves into exempt session the entitled 
participants will leave the public meeting and join the private meeting, leaving 
the remainder of the participants in the public remote meeting.   

 
b. request that those not entitled to consider the exempt information leave the 

public remote meeting or be moved to the “virtual” lobby whilst the exempt 
information is considered. 

 
74. The meeting recording and webcast will be paused and a notification that the 

meeting is not currently open to the public will be displayed on the broadcast.  In the 
physical part of the meeting any observers will be requested to leave the room whilst 
the exempt item is considered.   

 

75. When consideration of the exempt information has been completed, if there are 
further public items to be considered, all remote participants will be invited to re-join 
the public remote meeting and the recording and webcast will be resumed.  The 
observers or participants attending the physical meeting will be invited to return into 
the meeting venue. 

Access and Participation at meetings  
76. When elected or appointed to a committee or decision-making body, participants 

who are elected members will be able to use their Council issued ICT devices to 
receive meeting information and which will have remote meeting software installed.  
Other committee members will be offered Council ICT devices but may be able to 
use their own devices where appropriate.   
 

Page 198



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

Training and induction  
77. Committee Members will be provided with an appropriate induction to enable them 

to actively participate at meetings.  The induction will include the use of the software 
for joining remote meetings, meetings procedures for joining and participating in 
physical and remote meetings, an understanding of the Code of Conduct 
requirements and the Council’s decision-making process and any committee specific 
procedures. 
 

78. Training for certain committee members is mandatory due to the requirements of the 
role, as confirmed in the Council’s Constitution or the committee’s terms of 
reference. 

 

Officer Support at meetings 
79. Primary support for multi-location meeting will be provided by Democratic Services 

and the Cabinet Office.  This will include the: 

 “Organiser” who will circulate the meeting appointment which will include a link 

to enable participants to join remotely. The organiser will also monitor the 

remote participants and assist them to join or re-join the remote meeting. 

 “Clerk” who will support the meeting, facilitate any voting and take the minutes 

 “Recording controller” will facilitate the live streaming of the meeting or the 

recording and subsequent upload of the meeting to the Council’s webcasting 

webpage. 

 For larger or more technical meetings an additional Democratic Services Officer 

will support the other Democratic Services or Cabinet officers as necessary 

during the meeting. 

 Technical support and advice may also be provided at the meeting by other 

specialist officers, for example, Legal, Planning, Scrutiny or Licensing Officers 

who can assist the Chair, participants and observers at meetings.  The officer 

support for meetings should follow the arrangements for other participants and 

may be provided remotely or by physical attendance.  Consultation between the 

relevant officers, their managers and the Chair will be necessary to ensure that 

appropriate service delivery and support requirements are met.  

 

80. Additional support may be also provided by ICT Officers to ensure that the 

technology used during meetings operates effectively and that the meeting can be 

progressed as planned. 

Voting at Meetings 
81. The voting rule are set out in the relevant procedure rules in the Council’s 

Constitution. 
 

Seeking Consensus  
82. To negate the need for a formal vote, the Chair may seek a consensus from the 

meeting participants.  The chair will state the recommendation and request that 
participants confirm if they have any objections to the recommendation(s) and that 
they indicate any objection either verbally or by using  the chat function in Teams 
accordingly.  The Chair will wait approximately 30 seconds to allow participants to 

Page 199



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

indicate their objection and if none are received the recommendations may be 
considered as carried.  If however, there are objections the Chair shall initiate a vote.   

 

Method of Voting 
83. In a physical meeting voting will be carried out electronically and the names of those 

voting for, against or abstaining from voting will be recorded electronically. 
 

A Roll-Call vote 
84. The roll call vote requires the Clerk to ask each participant individually if they are for 

or against the recommendation or if they wish to abstain from the vote.  If a 
participant cannot be contacted to provide their vote, the clerk will continue with the 
roll-call vote and return to those participants who have not responded after an 
attempt to contact all participants has been made.  If the participant cannot be 
contacted after a second attempt to provide their vote and there is a quorum in 
attendance at the meeting the participant shall be recorded as not in attendance. 

 
85. Responses are recorded and when all of the participants in attendance have 

indicated their vote, the Clerk will then collate the responses and inform the Chair of 
the outcome of the vote. 

 
86. The Chair will announce the outcome of the vote to the meeting and a summary of 

the vote shall be pasted into the chat facility in Teams to inform the meeting 
participants of the details of the vote. 

 

Chairing meetings  
87. Chairing a multi-location meeting is very different to chairing a face-to-face meeting 

and the Chair will be supported to carry out their role as outlined in the Officer 

Support at meetings section above. The role of the Chair is particularly challenging at 

a physical meeting with some participants joining remotely.  The “balance” between 

individuals in a room, and those joining by remote means, will have a significant 

effect on how business will be transacted. 

 

88. Chairs have a particular responsibility to prepare for a multi-location meeting, in a 

more planned and directed way than might be necessary for a physical meeting. This 

may involve the Chair consulting with officers, committee members and participants 

in advance of a meeting. 

 

89. Separate guidance will be provided for Committee Chairs which will be made 

available on the Council’s intranet. 

Chat Function use by Remote Participants 
90. The chat function provides a simple method of enabling the chair to manage the 

meeting and to enable the remote participants to communicate with the chair.  

Remote participants should only use the Chat facility to indicate the following: 

 Speak – When the remote participant wishes to speak 

Page 200



Version 1.0 dated 28 February 2021 

 Declaration – to advise the Chair that the remote participant wishes to make a 

declaration of interest other than under the Declarations of interest item on the 

agenda. 

 Point of Order – to notify the Chair that a remote participant has a Point of 

Order to make.  The Chair should invite the participant to speak at the earliest 

opportunity. 

 Explanation - to notify the Chair that a remote participant has a Point of 

Personal Explanation to make.   The Chair should invite the participant to speak 

at the earliest opportunity. 

 

The “Chat” facility is only to be used for communicating with the Chair and is not to 

be used for offline discussions with other participants during the meeting. 

 

 

Associated Documents: 

 Guidelines for Public Participants and Observers of Multi-location Meetings  

 Guidelines for Council Participants and Observers at Multi-location 

Meetings 

 Guidelines for Chairing Multi-location Meetings 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 8 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE FOR WALES / FOSTER 
WALES: JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT AND HOSTING 
ARRANGEMENTS BY CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 
CHIDLREN & FAMILIES (COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY) 

AGENDA ITEM:   4 
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To formally approve Cardiff Council’s commitment to the proposed Joint 

Committee for the National Adoption Service and Foster Wales 
 

2. To agree the continuation of the hosting arrangement by Cardiff Council 
for the national and co-ordinating functions of the National Adoption 
Service for Wales (NAS) through its Central Team.  
  

Background 
 

3. NAS was created to improve adoption services in Wales by ensuring 
consistent, good quality services are available in all parts of the country.  
For some time, the responsibility for developing national arrangements to 
support the National Fostering Framework (NNF) has been taken forward 
by the Director of Operations for NAS and this will continue for Foster 
Wales (FW) which has emerged from that programme. 
 

4. The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), alongside the 
Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS-C), are the 
lead bodies for NAS.  
 

5. In line with the requirement in the Welsh Government ‘Directions’ there 
has to be a ‘Host’ local authority for NAS.   A competitive process was 
undertaken in 2014 and Cardiff Council was successful in securing the 
nomination to take on the hosting role. Cabinet confirmed its acceptance 
of the Nomination in July 2014.  
 

6. NAS has its own governance arrangements, outside of the Council, and 
a Governance Board.  The role of the Governance Board is to provide 
strategic direction and decision making to assure the improvement of 
adoption services across Wales. The full range of the Board’s 
responsibilities and functions are laid out in the Directions (Appendix 
One) and Terms of Reference (Appendix Two). NAS is also required to 
report in writing to Welsh Ministers twice each year.  More recently 

 

Page 203

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 8 

similar arrangements for pan Wales involvement of senior officers in the 
governance of Foster Wales have been out in place; there are no 
Regulations or Directions underpinning Foster Wales. 

 
7. The NAS Director and small team are employed by Cardiff Council and 

are currently based in an office in County Hall; this comprises of 12 posts 
(4 part time), recently increased to accommodate the national functions 
for fostering. 
 

Establishment of a Joint Committee 
 

8. WLGA are proposing the establishment of a Joint Committee on behalf of 

the 22 Welsh Local Authorities. This will enable local authorities to 

exercise their joint powers for the provision of the national and co-

ordinating functions of the National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) 

and Foster Wales (FW).  The proposed governance structure is 

presented diagrammatically and with a narrative in Appendix three.    

9. The Joint Committee will provide the mechanism for all Welsh local 

authorities to discharge an executive and oversight role for NAS and FW.  

It will approve / receive:  

 The Annual Report of NAS and of Foster Wales; 

 The annual programme of work for the NAS and for Foster Wales;  

 The budget for the office of the Director and national work for NAS 
and for FW; and 

 The agreement, and any changes to the agreement, for the host 
authority support of the office of the Director and national work for 
NAS and FW. 

 

10. The Joint Committee Agreement is included at appendix four; this is 

currently with all local authorities across Wales for signing. It is proposed 

that Cardiff Council will sign as a member of the NAS collaborative.  In 

doing so it is also agreeing to the continuation of its role as host local 

authority. 

11. Specific clauses of the Joint Committee Agreement provide the 

framework for a detailed separate ‘hosting agreement’.  It sets out the 

arrangements for the appointment of the Host Council and its role, 

resourcing, shared liabilities, areas of responsibility, duration, variation / 

termination and dispute resolution.  The Joint Committee will oversee the 

agreement upon which Cardiff Council (or any other local authority) 

provides the hosting arrangement. 

Hosting the NAS Central Team 
 
12. As noted earlier, Cardiff Council was successful in securing the 

nomination to take on the hosting role which was confirmed by Cabinet in 
July 2014.  
 

Page 204



Page 3 of 8 

13. Cardiff Council’s role as host authority has recently been reconfirmed 
through a Partnership Agreement signed by all 22 Welsh local authorities 
(Appendix five).  
 

14. The Host Authority is represented on the NAS Governance Board 
politically through the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services. There is 
an option for the Director of Social Services and legal services to attend 
the Governance Board.  

 
15. The role of the Host Authority includes appointing the NAS Director and 

central team staff as well as supporting and enabling the national level 
functions many of which are outlined in the ‘Directions’.  

 
16. The central team and national functions for NAS are funded via the 

WLGA. This includes a small ‘top slice’ from the local government 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and any other funding made available for 
the service from time to time, mainly Welsh Government grant aid. A 
similar arrangement is in place for Foster Wales.  The ‘top slice’ is 
agreed by the relevant WLGA committee prior to the remainder of the 
RSG being allocated to local authorities. 

 
17. Since 2015, NAS have managed the Adoption Register for Wales under 

contract from the Welsh Government. 
 
18. Cardiff Council’s hosting of the central team is to enable it to fulfil its 

functions.  The hosting service provided includes the following:  

 Employer of the NAS team 

 Office space; 

 Use of IT systems and databases, including provision of a separate 
email domain and support to commission a stand-alone websites; 

 Finance / accounting services; 

 Information security; 

 Human Resource advice and support; and 

 Provision of legal advice and support with commissioning and 
procurement when required. 

 
19. The Director of Operations and central team fulfil a range of functions 

related to leadership, management and oversight of the National 
Adoption Service and Foster Wales. They include the following: 
 

 Promotion of adoption / fostering, including national public 
relations and marketing and the provision of the ‘face and voice’ of 
adoption / fostering in Wales.  

 Stakeholder and relationship management with allied services and 
organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

 Providing leadership to set the direction following engagement 
with partners and stakeholders. 

 Maintaining performance frameworks and reviewing progress. 

 Providing annual and mid-year reports each year.   

 Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous 
improvement throughout the NAS. 

Page 205



Page 4 of 8 

 Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance. 

 Strategic commissioning. 
 

 
Issues 
 
20. Cardiff Council has supported NAS as host authority since 2014. It was 

always the intention to secure this arrangement with a detailed hosting 
agreement. This has taken some time due to the complex and 
developing nature of the NAS and latterly the inclusion of NFF / FW 
arrangements.  
 

21. The work to finalise a detailed hosting agreement is well underway, led 
by senior officers and legal services of the Council. WLGA on behalf of 
all local authorities and the NAS / FW Director have been involved as 
necessary.  It will also be formally agreed by all Councils at the first 
meeting of the Joint Committee. 
 

22. The NAS Partnership agreement is reviewed on a 5 year cycle. It is 
therefore proposed that the hosting agreement with Cardiff Council 
should also be for a concurrent period of 5 years.  

 
Reason for Recommendations 

 
23. The Joint Committee Agreement and the formal Hosting Agreement will 

put the existing arrangements onto a more formal footing and provide 
greater clarity and certainty for the Council, WLGA, Welsh local 
authorities as well as for NAS and FW. The establishment of a joint 
Committee will provide an ongoing mechanism for review and re-
negotiation should that be required.    
 

Financial Implications 
 
24. The Funding for the National Adoption Service and Fostering Wales is 

provided from the WLGA via a top slice of the Rate Support Grant plus 
some direct funding from the Welsh Government via grant mechanisms. 
The hosting agreement will look to ensure that Cardiff Council as host 
does not incur any additional cost in relation to hosting the provision of 
the services but that the charging mechanism is on a cost recovery only 
basis. 

 
25. The requirements of the new entity are such that it is unclear at this stage 

what the actual cost of the hosting arrangements will be and the dialogue 
that is already underway will be concluded by agreeing estimated 
charges for the first year. It is strongly advised that transparent two way 
communication between provider and client is maintained throughout the 
first year so that the actual levels of service are mutually understood and 
costs are adjusted accordingly.  

 
 
 
 

Page 206



Page 5 of 8 

Legal Implications 
 

26. Pursuant to the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions (2015 No.12) (‘The Directions’),  Local 
authorities  in Wales are required to  ensure that effective joint 
arrangements are in place between local authorities in Wales for the 
delivery of adoption services  at a; national level, regional level and local 
level. This report relates to the  arrangements at a national level.  It is 
proposed that the arrangements will be effected through the 
establishment  of a joint committee. An agreement for the establishment 
of a joint committee for the National Adoption Service  (‘the Agreement’)  
has been prepared and is set out in appendix 4 to the report . It is not 
possible in the confines of these legal implications to go through each 
clause  of the Agreement but some key points to note are :- 
 

 The governance arrangements for the joint committee are set out in 
the Agreement   and, amongst other things, provide for each local 
authority to appoint one  voting representative   to the joint committee. 
Decisions are taken by majority vote and each  voting member has 
one vote . The quorum is  60% of the voting members. 

 The Agreement provides for :_ 
i.  a Combined Governance Board (which shall act as an advisory 

group to the Joint Committee and discharges the role of the 
Governance Board and Advisory Group, which the Councils are 
required by the Directions to establish in respect of adoption 
services ), 

ii.  a Lead Head of Children’s Services Group (in respect of fostering 
services )   and  

iii.  a Director of Operations. The Director of Operations has 
delegated authority from the Joint Committee to, in effect,  
manage the NAS .  

 The functions and membership of  each group/role  being set out 
in the agreement. 

  The Joint Committee has no separate legal identity and so cannot 
own property, accept grants or enter into contracts in its own right. 
Accordingly it  is proposed that one authority will act as the ‘Host 
Authority’. The Agreement provides for Cardiff Council to act as the 
Host authority,  through which Host authority the joint committee will 
discharges its functions. As host authority the Council will also 
provide the support services required.  

 The Agreement contains provision enabling the Council to terminate 
its appointment  as Host by giving notice.  Provision has been 
included for the Host  Council to be able to recover its  costs incurred 
on a ‘cost recovery basis’. It is proposed that there will be a  ‘Hosting 
Agreement’, which will set out in more detail the hosting 
arrangements. The Hosting Agreement has yet to be finalised and 
accordingly the report recommends that delegated authority be 
granted to   the   Corporate Director People & Communities to finalise 
the Hosting Agreement .  

 

Page 207



Page 6 of 8 

27. The nomination of the proposed  member to be appointed to this Joint 
Committee will need to be addressed in the annual report on the 
‘Appointment to Committees’  
 

General legal advice  
 
Equality Requirements 
 
28. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 

Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal 
duties Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need 
to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics. Protected characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender 
reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic or national origin, 
colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g) 
Marriage and civil partnership, (h) Sexual orientation (i) Religion or belief 
– including lack of belief.  
 

29. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty 
Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate how it 
has discharged its duty. 

 
Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
 
30. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places 

a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-
being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, 
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.  
 

31. In discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and published 
well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving 
the national well being goals. The well being objectives are set out in 
Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2021-24. When exercising its functions, the 
Council is required to take all reasonable steps to meet its well being 
objectives. This means that the decision makers should consider how the 
proposed decision will contribute towards meeting the well being 
objectives and must be satisfied that all reasonable steps have been 
taken to meet those objectives.  
 

32. The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to 
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take 

Page 208



Page 7 of 8 

account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in 
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:  
•             Look to the long term  
•             Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of 

problems  
•             Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-

being goals  
•             Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable 

solutions  
•             Involve people from all sections of the community in the 

decisions which affect them  
 
33. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 

with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the 
link below:http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-
generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en   
 

34. The decision maker should also have regard, when making its decision, 
to the Council’s wider obligations under the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  
 

HR Implications 
 

35. There are no HR implications directly related to this report. 
 

Property Implications 
 

36. There are no direct property implications  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
It is recommended that the Cabinet and Council agree the following, in so far as 
it applies to each of their functions; 
 
1.  To approve the Joint Committee Agreement for the establishment of the 

Joint Committee for NAS / Foster Wales, in the form set out in appendix 
4 to the report .  

2.  To the continuation of the hosting arrangement by Cardiff Council for the 
national and co-ordinating functions of the National Adoption Service for 
Wales (NAS) and Foster Wales through its Central Team 

3  To delegate authority to the Corporate Director People & Communities, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children & Families,  the S151 
Officer and Monitoring Officer to negotiate and agree the form of the  
agreement (‘Hosting Agreement‘) whereby Cardiff Council will act as host 
authority for the joint committee  

 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER SARAH McGILL 
Corporate Director  
 

Page 209

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 8 of 8 

4 March 2022 
 

 
 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1 The ‘Directions’ which provide the legal basis for NAS The Adoption 

and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements (Wales) 
Directions 2015. 

Appendix 2 -NAS Governance Board Terms of Reference 
Appendix 3The NAS and Foster Wales Governance Structure 
Appendix 4 The Joint Committee Agreement 
Appendix 5 NAS Partnership Agreement 

 
 

 
The following background papers have been taken into account 
 

1. The Cabinet Report and Decision Register which formed the basis of the 
original Cabinet decision in 2014. 

 
 

  

Page 210



Children and Young Persons, Wales 

Social Care, Wales 

Adoption and Children Act 2002 

(Joint Adoption Arrangements) 

(Wales) Directions 2015 

Purpose 

The primary purpose of these Directions is to ensure 

that effective joint arrangements are in place between 

local authorities in Wales for the delivery of adoption 

services. 

Summary 

The Welsh Ministers are exercising the direction – 

making powers conferred by section 3A Adoption and 

Children Act 2002 to require local authorities in Wales 

to enter into specified arrangements with each other in 

relation to the provision of specified services under 

section 3(1) Adoption and Children Act 2002. The aim 

of the arrangements is to ensure consistent delivery of 

high quality adoption services across Wales. The 

arrangements are at a national level, regional level and 

local level. 

At national level, the arrangements will be effected 

through a Governance Board, an Advisory Group and 

a Director of Operations. 

At a regional level, the arrangements will be effected 

by five regional collaboratives. Each collaborative is a 

partnership of local authorities working together to 

ensure that a good quality adoption service is provided 

in their region. The composition of the regional 

collaboratives is determined by paragraph 7(2) and is 

set out at Schedule 1. 

Local authorities will continue to carry out some of 

their adoption functions individually at local level. 

Collectively, these joint arrangements for the provision 

of adoption services are referred to as “the National 

Adoption Service”. 

Partnership agreements will set out the extent to which 

adoption functions are to be exercised by local 

authorities individually and the extent to which they 

are to be exercised through local authorities working in 

partnership through a regional collaborative.  

Appendix 1

Page 211



 2 

Action 

Local authorities should ensure that they are in a 

position to comply with the requirements of the 

Directions when they come into force on 13 March 

2015. 

Enquiries 

Enquiries about these directions should be directed to 

Elizabeth Lockwood, Head of Placements Branch, 

Delivering Policy for Children and Adults Division, 

Department for Health and Social Services, Welsh 

Government. Telephone: 029 20 821695. Email: 

elizabeth.lockwood@wales.gsi.gov.uk. 

Page 212



 3 

 

The Welsh Ministers in exercise of the powers 

conferred by section 3A Adoption and Children Act 

2002(1) (“the Act”), and having consulted the local 

authorities in Wales, make the following Directions. 

Title and coming into force 

1. These Directions may be cited as the Adoption 

and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) 

(Wales) Directions 2015 and come into force on 13 

March 2015. 

The broad aims of the Joint Adoption 

Arrangements in Wales 

2. The broad aims of the joint adoption arrangements 

are as follows— 

(a) the consistent delivery of high quality 

adoption services throughout Wales; 

(b) keeping delay to a minimum in the placement 

of children for adoption; 

(c) ensuring the widest choice possible of 

placements for adoption for children; 

(d) ensuring that high quality and timely training 

and  assessment for prospective adopters is 

consistently available; 

(e) improving the process of matching children 

with prospective adopters; 

(f) the streamlining of adoption processes and 

ensuring improved liaison between social 

workers involved in adoption cases; 

(g) keeping adoption breakdown to a minimum 

by the provision of comprehensive adoption 

support services according to assessed need; 

and 

(h) collaborative working between local 

authorities, registered adoption societies, NHS 

Trusts and education services. 

Interpretation 

3.—(1) In these Directions — 

“the Act” (“y Ddeddf”) means the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002; 

“the Advisory Group” (“y Grŵp Cynghori”) 

means the group with the functions set out in 

paragraph 11 and the membership set out in 

paragraph 12; 

                                                                            
(1) 2002 c.38 inserted by section 170  Social Services and Well-being 

(Wales) Act 2014. 

Page 213



 4 

“the Governance Board” (“Bwrdd Llywodraethu”) 

means the board with the functions set out in 

paragraph 9 and the membership set out in 

paragraph 10; 

“the Host Authority (“yr Awdurdod Lletyol”) is 

the local authority designated in accordance with 

paragraph 8(3); 

“the National Adoption Service” (“y Gwasanaeth 

Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol”) means the 

Governance Board, the Advisory Group, the 

Director of Operations, the Regional 

Collaboratives and the local authorities exercising 

the functions specified in these Directions; 

“partnership functions” (“swyddogaethau 

partneriaeth”) has the meaning given in paragraph 

7(4)(a)(ii); 

“registered adoption society” (“cymdeithas 

fabwysiadu cofrestredig”) means a voluntary 

organisation which is an adoption society 

registered under Part 2 of the Care Standards Act 

2000(1). 

“WLGA” is used to refer tothe Welsh Local 

Government Association (“Cymdeithas 

Llywodraeth Leol Cymru”) . 

Specified services 

4.—(1) The services maintained by local authorities 

under section 3(1) of the Act which are specified for 

the purposes of these Directions are services designed 

to meet the needs, in relation to adoption, of — 

(a) children who may be adopted, their parents or 

guardians; 

(b) persons wishing to adopt a child; and 

(c) adopted persons, their parents, natural parents 

and former guardians. 

(2) The services maintained by local authorities 

under section 3(1) of the Act which are specified for 

the purposes of these Directions include services 

designed to meet the needs, in relation to adoption 

support services, of— 

(a) children who are  siblings of an adoptive child 

(including a person who is in that relationship 

by virtue of a marriage or  civil partnership or 

an enduring family relationship) ; and 

(b) relatives of adoptive children, adoptive 

parents and natural parents of an adoptive 

child, limited to arrangements for contact 

between an adoptive child and a natural 

parent or a related person of the adoptive 

child. 

                                                                            
(1) 2000 c.14. 

Page 214



 5 

(3) In this paragraph “relative”, in relation to a child, 

means a step-parent, grandparent, brother, sister, uncle 

or aunt (including any person who is in that 

relationship by virtue of a marriage or civil partnership 

or an enduring family relationship). 

(4) In paragraph 4(2)(b) “related person” means— 

(a) a relative within the meaning of paragraph 

4(3); or 

(b) any person with whom the adoptive child has 

a relationship which appears to the local 

authority to be beneficial to the welfare of the 

child having regard to matters referred to in 

sub-paragraphs (i) to (iii) of section 1(4)(f) of 

the Act. 

Duty under section 3(1) of the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002 

5. The steps taken to implement the arrangements 

specified in these Directions must be consistent with 

the local authority’s duty to maintain an adoption 

service in accordance with section 3(1) of the 

Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

Requirement for local authorities to collaborate 

with each other 

6. Each local authority must enter into arrangements 

to carry out its adoption functions— 

(a) in collaboration with other authorities in a 

regional collaborative to the extent specified 

in partnership agreements drawn up in 

accordance with paragraph 7 of these 

Directions, and 

(b) in collaboration with all local authorities in 

Wales to provide management and oversight 

of those functions as required by paragraphs  

8 to 14 of these Directions.   

Regional collaboration - partnership between local 

authorities 

7.—(1) Each local authority must enter into a written 

partnership agreement with the other local authorities 

in the regional collaborative of which it is a part. 

(2) The local authorities with which each local 

authority must collaborate are set out in Schedule 1. 

(3) A partnership agreement must contain details 

about the matters set out in sub-paragraph (4) and may 

include additional provisions relevant to local 

circumstances. 

(4) The matters which must be contained in a 

partnership agreement are as follows— 

Page 215



 6 

(a) the functions in relation to the maintenance of 

both a domestic and inter-country adoption 

service, including post-adoption services— 

(i) which the local authorities will continue 

to carry out individually; and 

(ii) which the local authorities will carry out 

collaboratively as part of the partnership 

arrangements (referred to as “the 

partnership functions”) ; 

(b) arrangements to establish a management 

committee to manage and have oversight of 

the regional collaborative’s operations;  

(c) arrangements for each local authority to 

nominate a representative to participate on the 

management committee with sufficient 

authority to take decisions so that  the 

partnership arrangements operate effectively; 

(d) arrangements for the appointment of a 

representative from one of the local 

authorities to represent the regional 

collaborative on the Advisory Group; 

(e) arrangements for the appointment of a 

representative from one of the local 

authorities to represent the regional 

collaborative on the Governance Board; 

(f) staffing arrangements to ensure that there are 

suitable staff in sufficient numbers to carry 

out the partnership functions; 

(g) arrangements to ensure that sufficient and 

appropriate equipment, services and 

accommodation are available to carry out the 

partnership functions; 

(h) arrangements for determining the amount of 

payment or other contribution to be made by 

the local authorities towards the cost of 

carrying out the partnership functions; 

(i) arrangements for accounting and auditing in 

respect of expenditure relating to the 

partnership functions; 

(j) arrangements setting out which local 

authorities within the regional collaborative 

take responsibility for particular aspects of the 

operational requirements such as the 

provision of premises; 

(k) arrangements for working with registered 

adoption societies and to provide for their 

representation on the management committee 

of the regional collaborative; 

(l) arrangements to ensure that the views and the 

experience of service users are taken into 

account in carrying out the partnership 
functions; 

Page 216



 7 

(m) arrangements for working with local authority 

education departments and to provide for their 

representation on the management committee 

of the regional collaborative; 

(n) arrangements for working with Local Health 

Boards and National Health Service Trusts 

and to provide for their representation on the 

management committee of the regional 

collaborative; 

(o) arrangements to ensure that the individual 

local authorities share relevant information to 

enable the regional collaborative to comply 

with the requirements of of these directions; 

(p) a provision that notice by a local authority of 

intention to withdraw from the agreement will 

take effect no less than 12 months from the 

receipt of written notice to both the 

chairperson of the management committee of 

the regional collaborative in question and the 

chairperson of the Governance Board; 

(q) arrangements for resolving complaints arising 

out of the exercise of partnership functions, 

including how to complain and to whom any 

complaint should be addressed; 

(r) arrangements for determining disputes 

between local authorities arising out of the 

exercise of partnership functions; 

(s) arrangements for sharing information arising 

out of the exercise of partnership functions; 

(t) arrangements for ensuring that due 

consideration is given to the need for Welsh 

language services in planning and delivery of 

the adoption service through the partnership 

functions;  

(u) provision for review of the partnership 

agreement 12 months from the date of this 

agreement and every 2 years thereafter. 

Management and oversight of the arrangements at 

national level 

8.—(1) The local authorities must make 

arrangements for oversight of the regional 

collaboratives by — 

(a) establishing and maintaining a Governance 

Board (‘the Governance Board’) with the 

functions set out in paragraph 9 and 

membership as set out in paragraph 10; 

(b) establishing and maintaining an Advisory 

Group (‘the Advisory Group’) with the 

functions set out in paragraph 11 and 

membership as set out in paragraph 12 ; 

(c) the appointment of a Director of Operations. 

Page 217



 8 

(2) The local authorities must formulate terms of 

reference for the Governance Board and the Advisory 

Group which are consistent with these Directions and 

must review them annually. 

(3) The local authorities must make arrangements for 

one of the local authorities to be designated as the Host 

Authority for the purpose of the management and 

oversight of arrangements at national level. 

(4) The local authorities must make arrangements 

with respect to the declaration and management of 

conflicts of interest in the running of the Governance 

Board and Advisory Group. 

The Governance Board  

9.—(1) The functions of the Governance Board 

include the following — 

(a) provision of strategic direction in the 

development and delivery of the National 

Adoption Service, having regard to any 

advice from the Advisory Group and the 

Director of Operations; 

(b) approval of the annual work programme 

prepared by the Director of Operations in 

accordance with paragraph 13(2)(a); 

(c) ensuring that the views of all stakeholders are 

represented effectively; 

(d) monitoring and oversight of — 

(i) the performance of the National 

Adoption Service against the 

performance measures in the National 

Performance Management Framework; 

 

(ii) the quality of engagement with registered 

adoption societies and service user 

representatives within the National 

Adoption Service both at central and 

regional levels; 

(iii) the budget and financial management of 

the Governance Board itself, the 

Advisory Group and the Director of 

Operations; and 

(iv) compliance with these Directions;  

(e) ensuring due consideration is given to the 

need for Welsh language services in planning 

and delivery of adoption services throughout 

Wales; 

(f) providing a copy of the reports required by 

paragraphs 13(2)(a) and 13(2)(d) to the Welsh 

Ministers once these have been approved by 

the Governance Board; and 

(g) notifying the Welsh Ministers of any issues 

regarding the National Adoption Service 

Page 218



 9 

which, in its view, need to be drawn to their 

attention. 

Membership of the Governance Board 

10.—(1) The local authorities must ensure that the 

Governance Board is made up of— 

(a) a representative of each of the regional 

collaboratives appointed in accordance with 

arrangements made under paragraph 7(4)(e); 

and 

(b) a chairperson. 

(2) The local authorities must  invite, and use their 

best endeavours to ensure that the following become 

members of the Governance Board, subject to their 

agreement— 

(a) a WLGA spokesperson for Health and Social 

Services; 

(b) a WLGA deputy spokesperson for Health and 

Social Services; 

(c) the mayor or the executive leader (as the case 

may be), (or a deputy in respect of one of 

these roles), of the Host Authority; 

(d) the independent chairperson of the Advisory 

Group; and 

(e) a representative on behalf of the registered 

adoption societies. 

(3) “Mayor” and “executive leader” have the same 

meaning as in section 11 of the Local Government Act 

2000(1). 

The Advisory Group 

11. The functions of the Advisory Group include the 

following — 

(a) drafting terms of reference for the Advisory 

Group  and submitting them to the 

Governance Board for approval; 

(b) the provision of professional advice and 

support to the Governance Board in order to 

inform the overall strategic direction of the 

National Adoption Service; 

(c) supporting the effective operation of the 

National Adoption Service to ensure that it 

promotes best practice; 

(d)  notifying the Welsh Ministers of any issues 

regarding the National Adoption Service 

which, in its view, need to be drawn to their 

attention. 

                                                                            
(1) 2000 c.22. 

Page 219



 10 

Membership of the Advisory Group 

12.—(1) The local authorities must ensure that the 

Advisory Group is made up of— 

(a) a representative of each of the regional 

collaboratives appointed in accordance with 

arrangements made under paragraph 7(4)(d) ; 

and 

(b) an independent chairperson. 

(2) The local authorities must invite, and use their 

best endeavours to ensure that, the following become 

members of the Advisory Group — 

(a) a representative of the Association of 

Directors of Social Services Cymru; 

(b) a representative of the Association of 

Directors of Education in Wales; 

(c) a representative of the WLGA; 

(d) three representatives from registered adoption 

societies; 

(e) a legal adviser from the Host Authority; 

(f) a Designated Doctor(1) appointed by the 

Public Health Wales National Health Service 

Trust, with specific responsibilities in relation 

to safeguarding the welfare of children, and in 

relation to children looked after by a local 

auithority pursuant to section 22 Children Act 

1989(2); 

(g) a medical adviser appointed by an adoption 

agency pursuant to regulation 8(3) of the 

Adoption Agencies (Wales) Regulations 

2005(3); 

(h) a representative of the Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Service; 

(i) a service user representative; and 

(j) a representative from a Social Research 

Centre. 

(3) A person is independent for the purpose of sub-

paragraph 1(b) if— 

(a) the person does not perform a role, pursuant 

to a contract, which includes any management 

or budgetary responsibility for— 

(i) any matter relating to the maintenance of 

a service referred to in paragraph 4; 

(ii) any matter relating to the making 

arrangements for the adoption of children 

by a registered adoption society; 

                                                                            
(1) Safeguarding Children: Working Together under the Children Act 

2004, Welsh Government Guidance 2006. 

(2) 1989 civ 41. 
(3) S.I. 2005/1313. 

Page 220



 11 

(iii) the Wales Adoption Register; or 

(iv) independent reviews of determinations 

pursuant to the Independent Review of 

Determinations (Adoption and Fostering) 

(Wales) Regulations 2010(1); 

(v) any aspect of compliance with these 

Directions except in fulfilment of the role 

of chairperson of the Advisory Group. 

(4) In 12(2)(i), “service user”means— 

(a) a person who has adopted a child, 

(b)  an adopted person, 

(c)  the natural parent of an adopted child, 

(d) a person who has sought approval or is 

seeking approval as a prospective adopter, 

(e) a child for whom an adoptive placement is 

being sought. 

The Director of Operations 

13.—(1) The Host Authority must make 

arrangements for the appointment of a Director of 

Operations. 

(2) The functions of the Director of Operations must 

include — 

(a) production of an annual work programme for 

the National Adoption Service, and the 

Advisory Group which must include— 

(i) priorities and targets for the coming 

financial year; 

(ii) financial plans and a budget for the 

coming financial year; 

(b) monitoring and analysis of performance data 

received from the regional collaboratives; 

(c) determining the actions to take to address any 

issues which require improvement; 

(d) submission to the Governance Board of a six 

monthly interim progress report on 31 

December and an  annual progress report on 

30 June each year which must include— 

(i) an analysis of the implementation of the 

annual work programme approved by the 

Governance Board under paragraph 9(b); 

(ii) a financial report, including analysis of 

expenditure in relation to the budget for 

the financial year in question for the 

central elements of the National 

Adoption Service; 

                                                                            
(1) S.I. 2010/746. 

Page 221



 12 

(iii) an analysis of reports from the 

management committees of the regional 

collaboratives and performance of the 

regional partnership arrangements 

against the National Performance 

Framework; 

(iv) any aspects of the joint adoption 

arrangements which, in the view of the 

Director of Operations, need to be 

improved, with proposals on how this is 

to be achieved; 

(v) plans to develop the National Adoption 

Service in accordance with the broad 

aims stated at paragraph 2; 

(e) promotion of best practice and a culture of 

continuous improvement throughout the 

National Adoption Service; 

(f) establishing and maintaining a website for the 

National Adoption Service; 

(g) the co-ordination of pre-approval training 

courses for prospective adopters; 

(h) the co-ordination of adoption support 

services; 

(i) managing the staff who are required to assist 

in carrying out the functions of the Director of 

Operations. 

(3) The Director of Operations must promptly notify 

the chairperson of the Governance Board, the 

chairperson of the Advisory Group and the Welsh 

Ministers of any matter he or she considers necessary 

in order to ensure the development and delivery of 

adoption services in accordance with the broad aims in 

paragraph 2. 

Funding 

14. The local authorities must enter into 

arrangements to ensure that— 

(a) the Governance Board, the Advisory Group 

and the Director of Operations have sufficient 

resources to perform their functions and to 

facilitate achievement of the broad aims in 

paragraph 2; and 

(b) there are adequate financial and accounting 

procedures. 

Regional collaboratives – reporting 

15.—(1) The local authorities in a regional 

collaborative must provide information about the 

exercise of their partnership functions to the Director 

of Operations, the Advisory Group and to the 
Governance Board when requested. 

Page 222



 13 

(2) In addition each regional collaborative must 

provide the following to the Director of Operations— 

(a) an annual work programme for the regional 

collaborative, to be submitted by 31 March 

each year; 

(b) a quarterly report at the end of each of the 

first three quarters of the financial year setting 

out the performance of the partnership 

arrangements against the National 

Performance Framework; 

(c) an annual report to be submitted by 31 May 

each year, to include— 

(i) the performance of the regional 

collaborative against the performance 

measures in the National Performance 

Management Framework; 

(ii) information regarding the resolution of 

complaints and determination of disputes 

at local and regional level and any impact 

on the provision of adoption services; 

(iii) an analysis of the implementation of the 

annual work programme; 

(iv) plans to address any under-performance; 

and 

(v) plans to develop the adoption service 

within the region in accordance with the 

broad aims stated at paragraph 2. 

Regional arrangements – matching 

16.—(1) Where a local authority is seeking an 

adoptive placement for a child and — 

(a) three months have elapsed since the date on 

which the local authority was authorised to 

place the child for adoption; and 

(b) the local authority has not made a decision to 

match the child with prospective adopters, 

the local authority must provide the child’s details to 

the Wales Adoption Register established by the Welsh 

Ministers. 

(2) In 16(1)(a), ‘authorised to place the child for 

adoption’ means either — 

(i) authorised to place for adoption pursuant 

to parental consent under section 19 of 

the Adoption and Children Act 2002; or 

(ii) authorised to place for adoption pursuant 

to a placement order made pursuant to 

section 21(1) of the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002. 

(3) Where a local authority has approved a person as 

a prospective adopter and — 

Page 223



 14 

(a) three months have elapsed since the date of 

approval; and 

(b) the local authority has not made a decision to 

match the prospective adopter with a child for 

adoption, 

the local authority must provide details of the 

prospective adopter to the Wales Adoption Register 

established by the Welsh Ministers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Signed by Professor Mark Drakeford, Minister for 

Health and Social Services, on behalf of the Welsh 

Ministers 

 

Dated 

Page 224



 15 

 SCHEDULE 1 Paragraph 7(2) 

Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint 

Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) 

Directions 2015  

The regional collaboratives for the purpose of the 

National Adoption Service in Wales are to be 

comprised of the following local authorities— 

1. North Wales: Conwy and Wrexham County 

Borough Councils, Gwynedd, Denbighshire Flintshire 

and Anglesey County Councils; 

2. South East Wales: Blaenau Gwent, Caerphilly, 

Monmouth, Newport and Torfaen County Borough 

Councils and Monmouthshire County Council;  

3. Mid and West Wales: Ceredigion, 

Carmarthenshire, Pembrokeshire and Powys County 

Councils; 

4. Western Bay: Bridgend and  Neath Port Talbot 

County Borough Councils and Swansea County 

Council; and 

5. Vale, Valleys and Cardiff: Cardiff City and 

County Council, Vale of Glamorgan, Merthyr Tydfil 

and Rhondda-Cynon-Taff County Borough Councils. 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020 
Terms of Reference     

1 

National Adoption Service 
Terms of Reference 

Combined Governance Board Meetings 

1 Introduction and role 

The purpose of combining the former Advisory Group and Governance Board of the 
National Adoption Service (NAS) is to streamline governance and improve 
accountability. It is intended that the functions of these previous two meetings will 
now be fulfilled through this combined meeting. Regional management boards and 
sub / working groups form other elements of the overall governance of NAS. 

The overall role of the Combined Governance Board is to provide strategic direction 
and decisions to facilitate the delivery and improvement of adoption services in 
Wales through the National Adoption Service arrangements.   

This is based on the professional and best practice advice from its membership who 
are key leaders, experts and service providers in the fields of adoption and children’s 
social care services. In summary the purpose of the Combined Meeting is to ensure: 

Leadership 

Partnership 

Compliance 

Accountability 

Intelligent data use 

Engagement with all stakeholders 

Performance and service improvement 

Best practice and continuous improvement 

Professional advice to Ministers, Welsh Government and key partners 

The National Adoption Service (NAS) is a key provision within the modernising Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.  This amended section 3A of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002, thus changing the statutory basis for adoption 
services in Wales.   

A statutory instrument, the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015 [The Directions], provide the detail.  They 
direct how local government adoption services should be delivered through the NAS 
arrangements, including significant elements at regional and national level and 
setting out in detail how these arrangements should work alongside encouraging the 
engagement of other partners and stakeholders.  

The work to create NAS was undertaken through collective endeavour involving local 
government through the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), the 
Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS-C), the Welsh Government, 

Appendix 2

Page 227



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 2 

the Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAAs) plus other stakeholders and partners. The 
Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) is the accountable body for the 
Service as a whole because of its representative and leadership role for local 
government in Wales.  
 
Fundamentally NAS is a local government led collaborative enterprise which also 
collaborates with other stakeholders and partners.  This includes the VAA’s that 
operate in Wales and service users who have a significant role within the governance 
arrangements.  It is the intention to continue to facilitate these arrangements through 
the terms of reference for the combined meetings of the Governance Board and the 
Advisory Group. 
 
The terms of reference for the former Advisory Group and Governance Board remain 
in existence although it is not envisaged that these will meet in the future unless 
exceptional circumstances determine that an extra-ordinary meeting of either is 
required.  
 

2 Functions and responsibilities of the Combined 
Governance Board 

When meeting together the Board and the Group combine the roles as specified by 
their individual terms of reference. The Combined Governance Board requires them 
specifically to exercise the following combined responsibilities: 
 
1. To provide political and professional leadership and advice to inform the overall 

strategic direction of the NAS in Wales.  

 

2. To hold the Regional Collaboratives (and their staff), the Director of Operations 
and central team, the VAA’s and other services accountable for the delivery and 
performance of their services within the NAS arrangements. 

 

3. To approve as prepared by the Director of Operations / Central Team. 

 An annual programme of work for the NAS.  

 A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA – Full Council), the Minster for Health and Social Service 
and the Welsh Government. 

 The budget and financial management arrangements of services and the 
office of the Director of Operations. 

 

4. To monitor and have oversight of: 

 The performance of the NAS to ensure its successful delivery and 
improvements in the adoption process to lead to positive outcomes for 
children and adults affected by adoption. 

 The quality of engagement with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAAs) and 
service user representatives at central and regional levels. 

 Compliance with the Powers of Direction. 

 Compliance with the Conflict of Interest Protocol. 

Page 228



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 3 

 

5. To consider and make recommendations for the future direction of the NAS 
using: 

 Information and data, including from the National Performance System in 
relation to the services as a whole, each Regional Collaborative, the VAA’s 
and other services. 

 Professional and best practice advice from the sector. 

 The views of children, young people and adults who use services. 

 Other evidence including reports from the Director of Operations. 

 

6. To ensure arrangements are in place for the flow of information, including receipt 
of minutes and papers, between the Governance Board and: 

 Regional Management Committees. 

 Local government members and officers across wales. 

 Equivalent bodies in VAA’s and other services. 

 

7. To encourage and enable the statutory and voluntary sectors to work in 
partnership to deliver the best outcomes for children and adults affected by 
adoption. 

 

8. To ensure that the views of all stakeholders, including those who use adoption 
services, are represented effectively both at national and regional levels. 

 

9. To ensure the NAS is working within Welsh Government guidance and strategies 
for children particularly looked after and adopted children. 

 

10. To ensure that due consideration is given to the need for Welsh Language 
services in planning and delivery of adoption services throughout Wales. 

 

11. To support the delivery of adoption services through the NAS arrangements to 
ensure it reflects the best possible practice and is based on a culture of 
continuous improvement. 

 

12. To notify Welsh Ministers of any issues regarding the National Adoption Service 
which it considers need to be drawn to their attention. 

3 Working style 

The Board will conduct its work in the following way:  
 
 Partners will work in a collaborative way, with strong support, constructive 

challenge, shared learning and accountability. 

 Meetings will be arranged as constructive spaces to tackle issues collectively. 

 Accountability will be tested against commitments by each partner in the shared 
service plan. 

Page 229



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 4 

 The meeting will aim for consensus agreements where possible but revert to 
voting, in line with section eight below, if necessary. 

 The agenda and communications between members of the meeting will be 
conducted in a professional but cordial manner with minimal formality. 

 The meeting will endeavour to ensure that the sometimes complex stakeholder 
relationships which members need to refer to will be recognised. 

4 Membership  

Membership will comprise: 
 
 WLGA Spokesperson for Health and Social Services. 

 WLGA Deputy Spokesperson for Health and Social Services (Chair of the 
Governance Board and Combined Governance Board). 

 Independent Chair of the NAS Advisory Group (Chair of the Advisory Group and 
Co-Chair of the Combined Governance Board Meeting). 

 Leader (or nominated executive representative) of Host Local Authority. 

 Elected member representative for each of the 5 Regional Adoption 
Collaboratives (from which the Vice Chair will be drawn). 

 Director / Head of Service from each of the Regional Collaboratives. 

 Senior officer representative of the host local authority (usually the Director of 
Social Services). 

 Representative of the 5 VAAs in Wales. 

 Officer representative from the WLGA. 

 Representative from the Association of Directors for Social Services Cymru 
(ADSSC). 

 Representative of Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW). 

 A Designated Doctor for Safeguarding/Looked After Children. 

 A current RAC Adoption Panel Medical Advisor.  

 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) representative. 

 Representative of a Social Research Centre (currently Cardiff University, 
CASCADE). 

 Representative of Children’s Commissioner for Wales. 

 Citizen or service user. 

 Legal services representative (from the Central Team host authority) as & when 
required. 

 Other members or observers as required – CAFCASS Cymru and possibly Social 
Care Wales.  

 Director of Operations, National Adoption Service and secretariat. 

5 Frequency of meetings 

Meetings will be held four times a year. 

Page 230



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 5 

6 Chairing arrangements 

In order to reflect that the Combined Governance Board brings together the functions 
of the Advisory Group and Governance Board there will shared chairing between the 
Chair or Vice-Chair of the Governance Board (fulfilling local government’s leadership 
role) and the Independent Chair and Vice-Chair of the Advisory Group (fulfilling the 
independent chairing of advisory discussions). 
 
Although this may vary at some meetings, it is likely that the WLGA Deputy 
Spokesperson for Health and Social Services will lead the chairing of the meeting 
with the Independent Chair of the Advisory Group co-chairing including facilitating the 
discussion on agenda items within the meeting.    
 
They will jointly be responsible for agreeing meeting agenda with the Director of 
Operations and ensuring that the meetings are conducted within the terms of 
reference.  
 

7 Specific responsibilities of members 

Members of the Governance Board and Advisory Group are drawn from 
organisations across the adoption sector that provide or have an interest in Welsh 
adoption services.  They bring a range of different qualities and experiences to the 
meetings and have different roles and responsibilities within it including:  
 
 To formally agree (or otherwise) to decisions by the Board on behalf of a specific 

organisation or a body of membership.  

 To advise the Board about the implications of a decision or a course of action on 
behalf of their organisation or body of membership.  

 To take decisions back to their services, management / trustee boards (or 
equivalent) for implementation. 

 To advise the Board on the basis of their relevant professional role or 
responsibility.  

 To advise the Board on the basis of their personal knowledge and experience. 

 
These are equally important and valuable. Different issues and decisions will require 
a different balance of input from members, and members will be asked to be clear 
about the basis of their contribution and to contribute in different ways to discussions 
and decisions.  
 
There are also different responsibilities which will need to be exercised for sharing 
information and communications depending on the role that members have, and 
these are described further in section 11 below. 

8 Quoracy and decision-making  

To constitute a quorate meeting the following minimum is required:  

 
 60% of the regional collaboratives represented by either a member or officer (or a 

nominee). 

Page 231



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 6 

 The Independent Chair of the Advisory Group or their nominee. 

 One VAA representative. 

 One other member of the Governance Board. 

 The Chair or Vice Chair of the Governance Board. 

 
It is expected that agency representatives (including in particular regional 
collaboratives and VAA’s) will ensure that they can always attend the Combined 
Governance Board or substitute an equivalent level representative.  
 
The Directions determine that the Governance Board advised by the Advisory Group 
sets strategy and policy for NAS and ensures the effective deployment of resources 
to deliver them. To facilitate the continuation of this the decision-making 
arrangements for the Combined Governance Board are the same as for the 
Governance Board as follow: 
 
 In making decisions, the Combined Governance Board will seek to find a 

consensus among its members.  

 In the event of a division of opinion, decisions will be taken by a majority vote of 
members of the Governance Board, following advice from the Advisory Group.  

 If there is no majority, the Chair of the Governance Board and the Combined 
Governance Board will have the final say having taken advice from the 
Independent Chair of the Advisory Group.  

In the event of either of the above the minutes will note significant differing views.  

 In the unlikely event that a decision on a specific issue cannot be reached in the 
meeting, this will be deferred to a separate discussion between the Chair and 
Independent Chair of the Advisory Group to agree action needed to reach 
resolution and a decision on that issue.  

9 Standing items  

In arranging the agenda for each Combined Governance Board, the Chair of the 
Governance Board, the Independent Chair of the Advisory Group and Director of 
Operations will ensure that the following elements are always considered for 
inclusion:  
 
 Any significant legal, policy or practice matters the Board needs to be made 

aware of.  

 Progress against the NAS plan with opportunity to interrogate specific elements.  

 Developing future plans, mid-year and annual reports. 

 Regions / VAA performance and progress, including receipt of management 
board minutes as appropriate, with opportunity to explore aspects in detail.  

 Service user feedback 

 Issues that may need to be reported to Welsh Government Ministers or officials.  

 Financial overview and any exceptions.  

 Findings from relevant research or other upcoming issues of note / relevance 

 Update on the effectiveness and impact of stakeholder and service user 
engagement.  

Page 232



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 7 

10 Information sharing and implementing agreed actions 

In addition to contributing to the meetings themselves members will have specific 
responsibility for communicating key decisions and views of the Combined 
Governance Board and, for certain things, ensuring implementation through the NAS 
regions and partner services.  
 
All members have a responsibility to share the agreed minutes and public statements 
of the Board, and to ensure that views are not misrepresented or taken out of context 
by others. In addition, particularly for those members who have a responsibility to 
formally agree (or otherwise) to decisions of the Board on behalf of a specific 
organisation or a body of membership, or advise the Board about the implications of 
a decision or a course of action on behalf of their organisation or body of 
membership, it is important that they have a clear and understood approach to 
sharing information and implementing actions from the Board with their respective 
agencies. These are not always straightforward. Therefore, the revised ‘Partnership 
Agreement for NAS, which will replace the existing ‘Functional Model’ will suggest 
how this should work.  
 
A specific protocol is in place to enable the flow of information between the regional 
member representative attending the Governance Board and other local authority 
members.  This will also be reviewed within or as a consequence of the work on the 
revised Partnership Agreement.  

11 Conflict of interest Register 

The arrangements previously in place for both meetings will be put into operation for 
this meeting. All members will be expected to maintain their records on a conflict of 
interest register circulated for each meetings, and to point out to the Chair if an issue 
arises which might include an additional conflict of interest to that registered. 

12 Other linked meetings, sub groups and working groups 

Detailed work to facilitate NAS achieving its aims will be undertaken outside of 
Governance Board meetings. At time of writing these include the below but will also 
form part of the work on the revised Partnership Agreement: 
 
 Marketing and Recruitment Task Group; 

 Adoption Support Sub Group; 

 Common Policies and Best Practice in Adoption Group (led by AFA Cymru); 

 Performance Sub Group; 

 New Adoption Register for Wales Steering Group; 

 Life Journey Work Steering Group. 

 
The ADSS lead Director, HoS and Regional Managers from the lead local authorities 
and the central team will also meet regularly as the Local Authority Business Group. 
 
All the above will be kept under review and may be disbanded or amended as 
business needs dictate including once the full implications of the NAS review of 
arrangements are known. 

Page 233



NAS Combined Meeting February 2020  
Terms of Reference                                                                                                        

 

 8 

In providing a central team for NAS, Cardiff Council applied and was selected as the 
‘host’ local authority to employ NAS central team staff and to support and facilitate 
national functions on behalf of Welsh local government as a whole.  To underpin this 
role, a written agreement between all authorities and recognising the role of the lead 
authority is required, setting out shared responsibilities and liabilities. 
 
This agreement will be developed and overseen through WLGA political forums 
(WLGA Full Council and Executive Board) or an Executive Group of members as 
appropriate.  Final agreement on the annual budget for NAS, the annual work 
programme and annual report will also be sought through these mechanisms, based 
on recommendations from the NAS Combined Governance Board.          

Page 234



Appendix Three – NAS and Foster Wales structure and Governance 

WLGA Joint Committee (all 22 LA’s) over-sees NAS & Foster Wales: 

The Joint Committee will, on behalf of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities, exercise their 

powers with reference to the provision of the collaborative arrangements for the National 

Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) and for Foster Wales (FW).  It will be underpinned by 

a legal agreement (Joint Committee Agreement) and be comprised of Council Members. 

Its role will be to oversee the work of NAS and Foster Wales and specifically approve / 

receive the below: 

• The Annual Reports of NAS and of Foster Wales;

• The annual programmes of work for the NAS and for Foster Wales;

• The budget/s for the office of the Director and the national work of NAS and for
Foster Wales; and

• The agreement, and any changes required, for the host LA support of the office of
the Director to enable it to facilitate the work of NAS and FW.

For NAS only it will also oversee how the authorities work together to exercise their 

powers and comply with the National Assembly Directions.  

NAS - National level - Combined 

Governance Board (CGB) 

Provides strategic direction and decision 

making to facilitate the delivery and 

improvement of adoption services in Wales 

Foster Wales - National level - Lead 

Heads of Children’s Services meeting 

Provides strategic direction and decision 

making in relation to the agreed national 

and regional functions of Foster Wales on 

National Adoption Service for 

Wales  

Combined Governance Board 

Partnership Agreement 

Foster Wales 

Lead Heads of Children’s 

Services meeting 

Regional Management 

Committees 

Enhanced NAS 

central team – Pan 

Wales leadership, 

strategic support & 

enabling  

Regional level FW 

meetings 

National Joint Committee – key 

decisions for both NAS and FW 

Revised hosting 

agreement 

with host LA 

(Cardiff) 

Appendix 3

Page 235



through the National Adoption Service 

arrangements in line the Senedd 

Directions and its Terms of Reference.   

behalf of Welsh local authorities in line with 

its Terms of Reference. 

NAS – regional / LA level - Regional 

Management Boards & VAA’s Boards 

Each region is made up of specified local 

authority areas, set out in the Directions 

and overseen by Regional Management 

Boards (RMB’s). Primary role is to 

coordinate adoption activities at the 

regional level and to implement decisions 

and strategies from the national 

Governance Board; may also have roles 

determined by their legal agreement. Plus 

VAA equivalent. 

Foster Wales - regional / LA level - 

Regional HoS meeting 

These are now in place and may be a 

specific FW meeting or included in the 

agenda of pre-existing Heads of Service 

(HoS) or HoS & Director of Social Services 

regional meetings. 

 

Page 236



G:1264801v2 

DATED 2022 

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF

(5) CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(6) CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL

(7) CONWY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(8) DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(9) FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(10) GWYNEDD COUNTY COUNCIL

(11) ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL

(12) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(13) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(14) NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(15) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL

(16) PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(17) POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL

(18) RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(19) THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA

(20) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(21) VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL

(22) WREXHAM COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

and 
(23) THE WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A JOINT COMMITTEE FOR THE 

NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE 

Appendix 4

Page 237



 
 

G:1264801v2   

CONTENTS 

1. Interpretation 3 

2. Aims of Joint Discharge of Functions 8 

3. Establishment of a Joint Committee 10 

4. Establishment of Combined Governance Board and other Advisory Groups  11 

5. Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions 12 

6. Governance 13 

7. Appointment of Host Council 13 

8. Responsibilities of the Host Council 13 

9. Expenses of Joint Committee Members 14 

10. Monitoring Officer 14 

11. Reviews 15 

12. Audit 15 

13. Costs of Discharge of Functions 15 

14. Costs of the Joint Committee 167 

15. Liabilities Under This Agreement 17 

16. Duration of This Agreement 17 

17. Variation of this Agreement 18 

18. Withdrawal from the Joint Committee on Notice 18 

19. Termination of this Agreement for Cause 189 

20. Termination of the Agreement by Agreement 19 

21. Termination – Consequential Matters 1920 

22. Dispute Resolution 20 

23. Notices 201 

24. Information and Confidentiality 21 

25. Data Protection 21 

26. Freedom of Information 22 

27. Intellectual Property 24 

Page 238



 
 

G:1264801v2   

28. Language 256 

29. Severability 266 

30. Relationship of Parties 26 

31. Third Party Rights 26 

32. Entire Agreement 26 

33. Law of Agreement or Jurisdiction 26 

34. Discretion of the Councils 267 

Schedule 1 Constitution of the Joint Committee 28 

Schedule 2 Terms of Reference of the Corporate Governance Board 31 

Schedule 3 Notice Provisions 314 

Schedule 4 Financial Memorandum 34 

Schedule 5 Specified Functions and Services 37 

Schedule 6 Terms of Reference for the Lead Head of Childrens Services Group 43 

 
Schedule 7 Functions Delegated to the Director of Operations     45 
 
 

Page 239



 
 

1 

 

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON                                                                       2022 

BETWEEN:  

(1) Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council of Municipal Offices, Civic Centre 
Ebbw Vale NP23 6XB (“Council”) 

(2) Bridgend County Borough Council of Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend 
CF31 4WB (“Council”) 

(3) Caerphilly County Borough Council of Ty Penallta, Tredomen Park, Ystrad 
Mynach Hengoed CF82 7PG (“Council”) 

(4) The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff of County Hall, Atlantic 
Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW (“Council”) 

(5) Carmarthenshire County Council of County Hall, Carmarthen, Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1JP (“Council”) 

(6) Ceredigion County Council of Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 OPA (“Council”) 

(7) Conwy County Borough Council of Bodlondeb, Bangor Road, Conwy LL32 
8DU (“Council”) 

(8) Denbighshire County Council of County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin LL15 
1YN (“Council”) 

(9) Flintshire County Council of County Hall, Mold CH7 6NB (“Council”) 

(10) Gwynedd Council of Council Offices, Shirehall Street, Caernarfon LL55 1SH 
(“Council”) 

(11) Isle of Anglesey County Council of Council Offices, Llangefni, LL77 7TW 
(“Council”) 

(12) Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council of Civic Centre, Merthyr Tydfil CF47 
8AN (“Council”) 

(13) Monmouthshire County Council of PO Box 106, Caldicot NP26 9AN (“Council”) 

(14) Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council of Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port 
Talbot SA13 1PJ (“Council”) 

(15) Newport City Council of Civic Centre, Godfrey Road, Newport NP20 4UR 
(“Council”) 

(16) Pembrokeshire County Council of County Hall, Haverfordwest, Pembrokeshire 
SA61 1TP (“Council”) 

(17) Powys County Council of Powys County Hall, Spa Road East, Llandrindod 
Wells, Powys LD1 5LG (“Council”) 

(18) Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council of The Pavilions, Cambrian Park, 
Clydach Vale, Tonypandy CF40 2XX (“Council”) 

Page 240



 
 

2 

 

(19) The Council of the City and County of Swansea of Civic Centre, Oystermouth 
Road, Swansea SA1 3SN (“Council”) 

(20) Torfaen County Borough Council of the Civic Centre, Pontypool, Torfaen NP4 
6YB (“Council”)  

(21) Vale of Glamorgan Council of Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, Vale of 
Glamorgan CF63 4RU (“Council”) 

(22) Wrexham County Borough Council of The Guildhall, Wrexham LL11 1AY 
(“Council”) 

(collectively referred to as “the Councils” for the purposes of this Agreement) and 

(23) Welsh Local Government Association of One Canal Parade, Dumballs Road, 
Cardiff CF10 5BF("WLGA"); and 

WHEREAS: 

A The parties to this Agreement have agreed to enter into this Agreement in order 
to provide a framework for the Councils to give effect to the obligations and 
arrangements for the Specified Functions set out by the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015 (“the 
Directions”) made by the Welsh Ministers in exercise of their powers under 
section 3A of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 and to document and 
regulate their respective rights and obligations to each other in that regard.  The 
Agreement also provides a framework for the parties to give effect to the co-
ordination of identified foster service functions across Wales. 

B The Councils have agreed to establish and to participate in a joint committee 
to facilitate the delivery of the Specified and Agreed Functions with a view to 
their economical, efficient and effective discharge. 

C This Agreement sets out the arrangements in relation to the manner in which 
the Councils will work together and use the Joint Committee to deliver the 
Specified and Agreed Functions. 

D The Councils have agreed that the Director of Operations shall be responsible 
for the day to day management of the delivery of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions. 

E The Councils have entered into this Agreement in reliance on the powers of 
Welsh local authorities under: 

(i) sections 101, 102, 112 and 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
sections 19 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the 
regulations made under these Acts to make arrangements to discharge 
functions jointly and to employ staff and place them at the disposal of 
other local authorities; 

(ii)  the powers in section 9 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009 to collaborate;  

(iii) the incidental powers in section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
and 

Page 241



 
 

3 

 

(iv) all other powers them so enabling. 

F The Councils have each taken decisions compliant with the requirements of 
their respective constitutions to participate in the Joint Committee and enter 
into this Agreement. 

G The Parties to the Agreement have agreed to comply with the requirements of 
this Agreement to enable the Director of Operations to fulfil their legal 
obligations. 

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Interpretation 

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in this Agreement: 

Term here                             Definition here 

“Agreed Functions the functions relating to fostering to 
be discharged by the Joint Committee 
pursuant to this Agreement being set 
out at Schedule 5 and any other 
functions which from time to time the 
Councils arrange for the Joint 
Committee or one or other of the 
Councils to discharge pursuant to the 
Powers 

 

“Assets” any tangible assets or property 
acquired, leased, licensed, loaned 
or purchased as required by the 
Host Council or another Council for 
the administration of this 
Agreement; 

“Business Day” any day other than a Saturday or 
Sunday or a public or bank holiday 
in Wales; 

Combined Governance Board 

 

“Commencement Date” 

the group established in accordance 
with clause 4 to comply with the 
requirements of the Directions; 

the date of this Agreement or such 
later date as the Councils, by 
resolution of each them, agree; 

“Conflict of Interest Protocol” The protocol agreed by the 
Combined Governance Board as 
required by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 

Page 242



 
 

4 

 

2015 for identifying and avoiding 
conflicts of interests; 

“Constitution of the Joint 
Committee” 

the constitution set out at Schedule 
1 to this Agreement; 

“Council” each of Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough Council, Bridgend County 
Borough Council, Caerphilly County 
Borough Council, the County 
Council of the City and County of 
Cardiff, Carmarthenshire County 
Council, Ceredigion County Council, 
Conwy County Borough Council, 
Denbighshire County Council, 
Flintshire County Council, Gwynedd 
Council, Isle of Anglesey County 
Council, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council, Monmouthshire 
County Council, Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council, Newport 
City Council, Pembrokeshire County 
Council, Powys County Council, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, City and County of 
Swansea Council, Torfaen County 
Borough Council, Vale of 
Glamorgan Council, Wrexham 
County Borough Council and 
“Councils” shall be construed 
accordingly; 

Data Protection Legislation all applicable data protection and 
privacy legislation in force from time 
to time in the UK including the UK 
GDPR; the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA 2018) (and regulations made 
thereunder) and the Privacy and 
Electronic Communications 
Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426) as 
amended; 

“Director of Operations” the person employed by the Host 
Council  in compliance with the 
Directions with day to day 
responsibility for leadership, co-
ordination of the service as a whole 
as well as delivery of national 
functions  

“Directions” The Adoption and Children Act 2002 
(Joint Adoption Arrangements) 
(Wales) Directions 2015; 

Page 243



 
 

5 

 

“Exempt Information” any information or class of 
information relating to this 
Agreement which may fall within an 
exemption to disclosure under FOI 
Legislation; 

“Financial Memorandum” the approach to financial and 
accounting matters agreed by the 
Councils as set out at Schedule 4 to 
this Agreement; 

“FOI Legislation” 

 

 

Foster Wales 

the Freedom of Information Act 
2000 and subordinate legislation 
made under this and the 
Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004; 

The collaborative endeavour agreed 
by local government to deliver and 
improve certain fostering functions 
through national and regional 
leadership and enabling. 

“Governance Board” the board which the Councils are 
required by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 
2015 to establish to provide national 
oversight of regional collaboration 
on adoption services;.  Since 2019 
this function is managed through the 
Combined Governance Board 

“Host” and “Host Council” the Council appointed as Host 
Council in accordance with clause 7 
of this Agreement; 

“IP Material” the Intellectual Property in the 
Material; 

“Information Request a request for information under FOI 
Legislation; 

“Intellectual Property Rights” patents, rights to inventions, 
copyright and related rights, trade-
marks, trade names and domain 
names, rights in get-up, rights in 
goodwill or to sue for passing off, 
rights in designs, rights in computer 
software, database rights, rights in 
confidential information (including 
know-how and trade secrets) and 
any other intellectual property rights, 
in each case whether registered or 
unregistered and including all 

Page 244



 
 

6 

 

applications (or rights to apply) for, 
and renewals or extensions of, such 
rights and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection which 
may now or in the future subsist in 
any part of the world; 

“Joint Committee” a committee of elected members 
from the Councils which will be 
responsible for ensuring and 
overseeing the delivery of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions in 
Accordance with the Directions and 
with a view to securing their more 
economical, efficient and effective 
discharge; 

“Material” all data, text, graphics, images and 
other materials or documents 
created, used or supplied by a 
Council in connection with this 
Agreement unless before the first 
use or supply the Council notifies 
the other Councils that the data or 
text supplied is not to be covered by 
this definition; 

“National Adoption Service” The adoption services and functions 
delivered collectively by the Joint 
Committee, the Regional 
Collaboratives, the Councils and 
partners;  

“Personal Data” Personal data as defined in the Data 
Protection Legislation; 

“Powers” 

 

The powers of Welsh local 
authorities under: 

sections 101, 102, 112 and 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and 
sections 19 and 20 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and the 
regulations made under these Acts 
to make arrangements to discharge 
functions jointly and to employ staff 
and place them at the disposal of 
other local authorities; 

the powers in section 9 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
to collaborate;  

Page 245



 
 

7 

 

the incidental powers in section 111 
of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the powers in section 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Goods and Services) 
Act 1970 and section 25 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Act 1994 to 
provide services; 

all other powers them so enabling; 

“Proportionate Basis” in accordance with the relevant 
proportion for each Council by 
reference to their respective 
percentage contribution as set out in 
the Financial Memorandum 

“Regional Collaboratives” the groupings of the Councils as set 
out in Schedule to the Directions for 
the purpose of collaboration on 
adoption services; 

“Secondment Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils for the secondment of staff 
from one Council to the Host 
Council or another Council relating 
to arrangements for the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions 
pursuant to this Agreement; 

“Section 151 Officer” the officer designated by a local 
authority as the person responsible 
for the proper administration of its 
financial affairs as required by 
section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972; 

“Hosting Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils pursuant to this Agreement 
relating to arrangements for the 
provision of specified support by the 
Host Council to assist the Joint 
Committee  to  discharge  the 
Specified and Agreed Functions 
delegated to it  pursuant to this 
Agreement; 

“Services” the Services to be provided on 
behalf of the Councils pursuant to 
the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions being set out at 
Schedule 5  

“Specified Functions” the functions relating to adoption to 
be discharged by the Joint 

Page 246



 
 

8 

 

Committee pursuant to this 
Agreement being set out at 
Schedule 5 and any other functions 
which from time to time the Councils 
arrange for the Joint Committee or 
one or other of the Councils to 
discharge pursuant to the Powers; 

“Staff Transfer Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils for the transfer of staff from 
one Council to the Host Council or 
another Council relating to 
arrangements for the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions 
pursuant to this Agreement; 

 

1.2 References to any statute or statutory provision shall, unless the context 
otherwise requires, be construed in accordance with the Interpretation Act 
1978. 

1.3 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the 
construction of this Agreement. 

1.4 Words importing one gender include all other genders and words importing 
the singular include the plural and vice versa. 

1.5 A reference in this Agreement to any clause, paragraph or schedule is, 
except where it is expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to a clause or 
paragraph of or schedule to this Agreement. 

1.6 Any reference to this Agreement or to any other document unless otherwise 
specified shall include any variation, amendment or supplements to such 
document expressly permitted by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in 
writing between the relevant parties. 

1.7 Words preceding “include”, “includes”, “including” and “included” shall be 
construed without limitation by the words which follow those words unless 
inconsistent with the context, and the rule of interpretation known as 
“eiusdem generis” shall not apply. 

1.8 The schedules form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and 
effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement and references to 
this Agreement includes the Schedules. 

1.9 References to “the parties” shall be to the parties to this Agreement. 

2.  Aims of Joint Discharge of Functions 

2.1 The aims of the joint discharge of the Specified Functions relating to adoption 
services under the provisions of this Agreement are: 

(a)  The consistent delivery of high quality adoption services throughout 
Wales. 

Page 247



 
 

9 

 

(b)  Keeping delay to a minimum in the placement of children for adoption. 

(c)  Ensuring the widest choice possible of placements for adoption of 
children. 

(d)  Ensuring that high quality and timely training and assessment for 
prospective adopters is consistently available. 

(e)  Improving the process of matching children with prospective adopters. 

(f)  The streamlining of adoption processes and improved liaison between 
social workers involved in adoption cases. 

(g)  Keeping adoption breakdown to a minimum by the provision of adoption 
support services according to assessed need. 

(h)  Collaborative working between local authorities, registered adoption 
societies, NHS local health boards and NHS Trusts and education 
services. 

2.2 The aims of the joint discharge of the Agreed Functions relating to fostering 
are: 

(a)  To support the strategic oversight of Foster Wales. 

(b)  To consider the implications at local and regional level arising from the 
transition to Foster Wales. 

(c)  To consider the development needs of services at local, regional, and 
national level. 

(d)  To seek and support solutions to overcome barriers and challenges. 

(e)  To continue to develop and maintain collaboration across local authority 
fostering. 

(f)  To consider reports presented, agree actions, make decisions, and 
monitor progress. 

(g)  To consider performance reports and monitor KPIs as identified and 
agreed. 

(h)  To make recommendations for future areas of work programme 
development. 

2.3 The Director of Operations and a central team of staff to support the Director 
of Operations are employed by the Host Council to fulfil a range of functions 
related to leadership, management and oversight of the National Adoption 
Service.  The functions of the Director of Operations and central team include: 

(a) Providing leadership to set the direction for the National Adoption 
Service including strategic planning by agreeing priorities, targets and 
resourcing following engagement with partners and stakeholders as 
well as support to operational planning. 

Page 248



 
 

10 

 

(b) Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and service 
information from the regions and Registered Adoption Agencies 
(otherwise known as Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA’s)’s.  

(c) Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, endorsed by the Joint Committee and 
submission to Welsh Ministers as well as to WLGA and the Association 
of Directors of Social Services Cymru where required.  

(d)  Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable National 
Adoption Service operations (currently as below). 

(e)  Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales. 

(f)  Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
Welsh Government). 

(g)  Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support.  

(h)  Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales. 

(i)  Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s. 

(j)  Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the National Adoption Service. 

(j)  Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance or re-
profiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment. 

(k)  Strategic commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions. 

(l)  Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board. 

(m)  Promotion of adoption, including national PR and marketing and the 
provision of the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales.  

(n)  Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

(o)  Strategic support and enabling functions, as agreed, for the National 
Fostering Framework / Foster Wales. 

2.4 In addition Schedule 7 sets out a Scheme of Functions delegated to the  
Director of Operations to facilitate the achievement of the objectives of this 
Agreement. 

3. Establishment of a Joint Committee 

3.1 In exercise of their powers under sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, sections 19 and 20 of the Local Government Act 

Page 249



 
 

11 

 

2000 and all other enabling powers the Councils hereby create a joint 
committee to be known as the National Adoption Joint Committee with effect 
from the Commencement Date. 

3.2 The Joint Committee shall take decisions relating to the use of the National 
Adoption Service budget which shall be provided as a topslice from the 
Revenue Support Grant via the Welsh Local Government Association for the 
discharge of the Specified Functions, a similar topslice from the Revenue 
Support Grant via the Welsh Local Government Association for the 
discharge of the Agreed Functions, to meet the costs of the Host Council 
and the Joint Committee relating to this Agreement and shall have regard to 
reports and advice from the Combined Governance Board, Lead Heads of 
Children’s Service’s Meeting and Director of Operations. 

3.3  The Joint Committee shall ensure the Scheme of Delegation set out in 
Schedule 7 is kept under review in accordance with paragraphs 5.2 and 5.3 
of Schedule 7. 

3.4 The Joint Committee shall operate and conduct its business in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement including the Constitution set out at 
Schedule 1. 

3.5 The Joint Committee shall review the terms of reference of the Joint 
Committee towards the end of each council term and shall make 
recommendations to the Councils and the WLGA for their consideration as 
to any amendments that the Joint Committee are required to discharge the 
Specified and Agreed Functions in accordance with the Directions. 

3.6 This Agreement is without prejudice to each Council’s other powers and 
responsibilities for its area. 

4.  Establishment of Combined Governance Board and other advisory 
groups 

4.1 The Councils have established the Combined Governance Board.  The 
Combined Governance Board shall act as an advisory group to the Joint 
Committee and shall discharge the role of the Governance Board and 
Advisory Group which the Councils are required by the Directions to establish 
for the purpose of providing national oversight of regional collaboration 
arrangements over adoption services. 

4.2  The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board shall be as set 
out in Schedule 2. 

4.3 In respect of fostering services, the Councils have established the Lead Head 
of Children’s Services Group as an advisory group to the Joint Committee.  
The Lead Head of Children’s Services Group shall advise the Joint Committee 
on issues relating to Foster Wales.  The terms of reference for the Lead Head 
of Children’s Services Group shall be as set out in Schedule 6. 

4.4 The Joint Committee may establish other advisory groups to advise the Joint 
Committee. 

Page 250



 
 

12 

 

5. Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions 

5.1  The Councils agree to use their Powers to enter into these arrangements 
under which the Joint Committee shall discharge on their behalf the 
Specified and Agreed Functions. 

5.2 The Joint Committee shall discharge the Specified and Agreed Functions 
through the Host Council which shall, subject to and within the limitations 
and constraints of the resources allocated and paid  to it pursuant to this 
Agreement, deliver the Services to support the delivery of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions .  The Councils agree and acknowledge that the 
responsibility for discharging the Specified and Agreed Functions will none 
the less remain with the Joint Committee and notes the limitation of the Host 
Council’s liability in that regard.  

5.3 The Joint Committee may agree to bring additional functions and services 
within the scope of this Agreement but the Joint Committee may not agree 
to do so unless it has first received approval from all the Councils to 
discharge the additional functions and deliver the additional services. The 
provisions of this Agreement shall apply to any such additional functions and 
services. 

5.4 The Councils here by agree the Financial Memorandum.  The Councils shall 
have the discretion to agree variations to the Financial Memorandum at any 
time without varying the rest of this Agreement. For the avoidance of any 
doubt variation of the Financial Memorandum is subject to unanimous 
agreement of the Councils and is not a matter for decision by the Joint 
Committee.  
 
Each of the Councils shall contribute to the costs of the discharge of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement in accordance 
with the terms of the body of this Agreement and the Financial 
Memorandum.   Subject to the overarching terms set out in this Agreement, 
particulars of the arrangement may be further detailed, (including for 
example the mechanics of payment), in any Hosting Agreement, 
Secondment Agreement or Staff Transfer Agreement that may be entered 
into by the Councils. 

5.5 The Councils intend to enter into a Hosting Agreement with the County 
Council of the City and County of Cardiff for the delivery of services (subject 
to all Councils being satisfied as to the terms and conditions proposed) 
pursuant to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions.  The 
Councils may enter into further Hosting Agreements to record the detailed 
requirements of further individual arrangements made in connection with the 
discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

5.6 The Councils may also enter into a Secondment Agreement to record the 
arrangements for the secondment of staff for further individual arrangements 
made in connection with the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions pursuant to this Agreement. 

5.7 The Councils may also agree to enter into a Staff Transfer Agreement to 
record the arrangements for the transfer of staff for further individual 

Page 251



 
 

13 

 

arrangements made in connection with the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement. 

6.  Governance 

6.1 The Councils each undertake to ensure that they make any changes to their 
own constitutions as are necessary to facilitate the operation of this Agreement.  
Each Council shall notify the other Councils and WLGA in writing within twenty-
eight days of the date of this agreement either that it has made (or is in the 
process of making) the necessary changes to its constitution or that no changes 
are considered necessary. 

7. Appointment of Host Council 

7.1  Subject to the provisions of clauses 7.2 and 7.3 the Councils agree that the 
Council of the City and County of Cardiff should be the Host Council for the 
purposes of this Agreement. 

7.2 The Council of the City and County of Cardiff and any other Council which is 
appointed as Host Council may terminate its appointment as Host Council  by 
giving not less than twelve months’ written notice or such other period of 
notice as is agreed by all the Councils to the other Councils of its intention to 
terminate its appointment.  Such twelve months’ written notice shall end at the 
end of a financial year. 

7.3 The Joint Committee may terminate the appointment of City and County of 
Cardiff Council or any other Council as the Host Council by giving at not less 
than twelve months’ written notice or such other period of notice as is agreed 
by all the Councils to the Host Council of the Joint Committee’s intention to 
terminate the appointment of the Host Council.  Such twelve months’ written 
notice shall end at the end of a financial year. 

7.4  If the appointment of a Council as the Host Council is terminated in 
accordance with clause 7.2 or clause 7.3 the Joint Committee may appoint 
one of the Councils as Host Council such appointment to be effective from the 
commencement of the financial year following the expiry of notice of 
termination under clause 7.2 or 7.3. 

7.5 If the appointment of a Council as the Host Council is terminated in 
accordance with clause 7.2 or clause 7.3 any outstanding payment due to that 
Council from the Joint Committee for costs incurred in the role of the Host 
Council and any costs it incurs upon or as a consequence of Termination shall 
be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the 
Financial Memorandum.  

7.6 Any dispute over the appointment or the termination of the appointment of a 
Council as the Host Council shall be dealt with in accordance with the dispute 
resolution procedure in clause 23 of this Agreement.  

8.  Responsibilities of the Host Council 

8.1 (i) Subject to and within the limitations of the funding allocated and 
received by the Host Council, the Host Council shall provide Assets, staff 
and other resources as are necessary to discharge the Specified and 
Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement.   

Page 252



 
 

14 

 

(ii) Subject to the overarching terms and principles set out in in this 
Agreement, in particular clause 13, the detailed provisions as to the 
payment of the costs of the Host Council in providing such Assets, staff and 
other resources shall be in accordance with a Hosting Agreement between 
the Councils, and the Host Council and shall be facilitated by the Welsh 
Local Government Association. Any such Hosting Agreement must be in a 
form to the satisfaction of the Host Council.   

8.2 The Host Council shall employ the Director of Operations and the staff 
required for undertaking the national functions. 

8.3 The Host Council has agreed and arranged for the Director of Operations to 
have the day-to-day responsibility for the management and delivery of the 
Services. 

8.4 In carrying out its role the Host Council shall have regard to : 

(a)  all applicable Laws and Regulations. 

(b)  best practice. 

(c)  the aims, principles and objectives of this Agreement and any applicable 
policies agreed by the Councils. 

(d)  any relevant guidance issued or specified by the Care and Social Services 
Inspectorate Wales and any other relevant regulator. 

(e)  the Councils duties under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  

And shall facilitate the proper discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions of the 
Councils and discretionary provision of in-scope elements of the Services. 

8.4.2 The Host Council shall ensure that its health and safety policy statements 
together with related policies and procedures are made available to the Joint 
Committee on request. 

8.4.3 The Host Council shall comply with any investigation by any statutory 
ombudsman or tribunal relating to the discharge of the Specified or Agreed 
Functions. 

9.  Expenses of Joint Committee Members 

9.1  Each Council shall be responsible for meeting any expenses to which any 
Joint Committee Member or officer appointed by it as its representative is 
entitled as a result of their attendance at duly authorised meetings. 

10.  Monitoring Officer 

10.1 The Councils agree that at the date of the Agreement the Monitoring Officer 
of Cardiff Council shall act as Monitoring Officer for the Joint Committee.  
The appointment of Cardiff Council’s Monitoring Officer as Monitoring Officer 
to the Joint Committee shall cease at the earlier of (i) such date as Cardiff 
Council ceases to act as Host Council or (ii) the Councils unanimously 
decide to appoint the Monitoring Officer of a different Council as Monitoring 
Officer to the Joint Committee pursuant to clause 10.2. 

Page 253



 
 

15 

 

10.2 The Councils may decide that the Monitoring Officer of a different Council 
shall be designated as Monitoring Officer for the Joint Committee.  This shall 
require a unanimous decision from the Councils. Following such a decision 
the Host Council shall notify the officer who is currently acting as Monitoring 
Officer and the officer who has been designated as Monitoring Officer for the 
future. 

10.3 The Councils acknowledge and agree that the Monitoring Officer will need to 
be provided with such resources as the Monitoring Officer considers 
sufficient to allow her to perform her duties and that this will be a cost of the 
Joint Committee. 

10.4 For such time as the Host Council and the Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee is being performed by the same Council then the Monitoring 
Officer’s cost will be added to the Host Council’s costs and the provisions of 
clause 13 of this Agreement shall apply. 

11.  Reviews 

11.1 The Joint Committee shall review the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions at least annually alongside the Combined Governance Board 
reviewing service progress and performance quarterly and reporting to the 
Joint Committee on the results of its review. 

11.2 The Director of Operations shall submit a quarterly report to the Combined 
Governance Board and an annual report to the Joint Committee, setting out 
details of: 

(a)  The performance of the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

(b)  Income and expenditure and compliance with the Financial 
Memorandum. 

11.3 The Councils and the Regional Collaboratives shall carry out a review of their 
discharge of the regional Specified Functions for adoption and provide the 
following to the Director of Operations 

(a)  An annual work programme by 31March each year 

(b)  Quarterly performance reporting 

(c)  An annual report by 31 May each containing the items detailed in the 
Directions.  

11.4 The Director of Operations will use this information as the basis for reporting to 
the Joint Committee for adoption services.  

12.  Audit 

12.1  The discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions on behalf of the Councils 
and the finances relating to the discharge of the Specified or Agreed Functions 
shall be subject to an annual external audit by the central team of the National 
Adoption Service which shall be commissioned by the Host Council in 
accordance with the Host Council’s audit processes. 

Page 254



 
 

16 

 

13.  Costs of Discharge of Functions 

13.1  The Host Council agrees that any of the Services it provides for the 
discharge of the  Specified and Agreed Functions shall be on a cost 
recovery basis. For the avoidance of any doubt such  costs shall be deemed 
to include all costs incurred howsoever arising, including , without limitation 
to the generality of the foregoing; 
(i) costs of any additional employees  required in order to carry out the Host 
Council role/provide capacity to carry out such role and  all associated 
recruitment costs, 
(ii)  all employee related costs including on costs,pension strain,  termination 
costs and any employee related claims, 
(iii)   fees and charges incurred (including external fees or charges for any 
third party services, goods or works  procured) and 
(iv) expenses, legal costs, claims, damages, insurance premiums and the 
like that the Host Council reasonably  incurs in carrying out its role.   

13.2 The Councils shall each year apply the central National Adoption Services 
budget to fund the payment of the costs of the Host Council.  Any shortfall in 
such funding shall be paid by the Councils within 30 days of demand by the 
Host Council and as follows. Each Council’s contribution shall be calculated 
by reference to their respective percentage contribution as set out in the 
Financial Memorandum. 

13.3  To aid transparency and accountability the Host Council shall: 

(i)  Provide the Joint committee, at its first meeting, with a report outlining its   
estimated costs for acting as Host Council for the financial year 2022/2023. 
For the avoidance of any doubt the estimated costs submitted will be for 
noting purposes only and the Council’s will be obliged to meet the Hosts 
Council’s actual costs as set out in this Agreement.   
(iii)  For each subsequent financial year (‘Subsequent Financial Year’)  the 
Host Council shall,  prior to the  Subsequent Financial Year in question,  
present to the Joint committee a report as to its  estimate costs for acting as 
Host Council for the Subsequent Financial Year. 
(iii) If, in any year, the Joint Committee does not find acceptable  the 
estimated costs for the Subsequent Financial year  then the Joint Committee 
may terminate the appointment of the then Host Council and the provision of 
clause 7.3 shall be deemed to  apply save that the termination date of the 
appointment of the then Host Council shall be  the 31st March,  in the 
financial year proceeding the Subsequent Financial Year or such latter date 
as all the Councils may agree.   
(iv) As part of its financial reporting to the Joint Committee the Host Council 
shall from time to time present to the Joint Committee reports of the actual 
costs incurred in carrying out the Host Council role. 
 

13.4 The Host Council in determining the level of resources it requires to carry 
out its role under the Agreement shall (i) act responsibly and prudently (ii) 
use its reasonable endeavours to put in place and maintain in place 
sufficient assets staff and other resource to undertake its role and (iii) 
wherever reasonably practicable report to the Joint Committee and/or 
Director of Operations for information if in any financial year its costs are 
likely to materially exceed the estimated costs that have previously been 
submitted to the Joint Committee.  

Page 255



 
 

17 

 

14.  Costs of the Joint Committee 

14. The Councils shall apply the central National Adoption Services budget to 
fund any costs of the Joint Committee, including the Host Councils costs.  
Any shortfall in such funding shall be paid by the Councils.  Each Council’s 
contribution shall be calculated by reference to their respective percentage 
contribution as set out in the Financial Memorandum. The Welsh Local 
Government Association shall be responsible for the administration of the 
payment of costs involved in the administration of the Joint Committee. 

15.  Liabilities Under This Agreement 

15.1 The Host Council shall indemnify and keep indemnified each of the other 
Councils to this Agreement against any losses, claims, expenses, actions, 
demands, costs and liability suffered by that Council to the extent arising from 
any wilful default or wilful breach by the Host Council of its obligations under 
this Agreement or its statutory duties (and “wilful” in this context shall, for the 
avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are outside the reasonable 
control of the Host Council or matters arising from any negligent act or 
omission in relation to such obligations). 

15.2 No claim shall be made against the Host Council by the other Councils or 
any of them to recover any loss or damage which may be incurred by 
reason of or arising out of the carrying out by the Host Council of its 
obligations under this Agreement unless and to the extent such loss or 
damage arises from a wilful default or wilful breach by the Host Council 
under clause 15.1. 

15.3 Each of the other Councils (acting severally) shall indemnify and keep 
indemnified the Host Council against all losses, claims, expenses, actions, 
demands, costs and liabilities which the Host Council may incur by reason of 
or arising out of the carrying out by the Host Council of its obligations under 
this Agreement for that Council or arising from any wilful default or wilful 
breach by a Council of its obligations under this Agreement (and wilful in this 
context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are 
outside the reasonable control of that Council or matters arising from any 
negligent act or omission in relation to such obligations) unless and to the 
extent that the same result from any wilful  breach by the Host Council of any 
such obligations. 

15.4 The amount to be paid to the Host Council by any of the other Councils under 
clause 15.3 shall be borne by each of the Councils to the extent of its 
responsibility, however in the event that the responsibility is a shared one 
between the Councils (so that it is not reasonably practicable to ascertain the 
exact responsibility between the Councils) then the amount to be paid shall 
be divided between the Councils on a Proportionate Basis. 

15.5 In the event of a claim under this clause 15 in which it is not reasonably 
practicable to determine the extent of responsibility as between the Councils 
then the amount shall be divided amongst the Councils on a Proportionate 
Basis. 

15.6 A Council which receives a claim for losses, expenses, actions, demands, 
costs and liabilities related to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 

Page 256



 
 

18 

 

Functions shall notify and provide details of such claim as soon as is 
reasonably practicable to the other Councils. 

15.7 Failure to give notice in accordance with clause 15.6 shall not relieve a party 
of its obligations to indemnify another under this clause 15. 

15.8 Each Council shall not be obliged to indemnify the other Councils to the extent 
that the insurances maintained by the other Councils at the relevant time 
provide an indemnity against the loss giving rise to a claim and to the extent 
that another Council recovers under a policy of insurance save that the 
Council responsible for liabilities suffered by another Council shall be 
responsible for  (i) the deductible under any such policy of insurance  (ii)  any 
amount over the maximum amount insured under such policy of insurance 
and (iii) any resultant increase in future year premiums  (for a maximum of 10 
years) incurred by the Council who claims on its insurance. 

15.9 The indemnities given under this Agreement are in addition to any Hosting 
Agreement between the Host Council and any of the other Councils. 

16.  Duration of this Agreement 

16.1  This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date and shall 
continue from year to year or until terminated in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

17.  Variation of This Agreement 

17.1 Any of the Councils may request a variation to this Agreement by making 
such a written request to the officer acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee. 

17.2 The officer acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall circulate 
the request to each of the Councils within ten Business Days of receipt of 
the request for consideration and approval by the Councils. 

17.3  If each of the Councils approve such variation, then the officer acting as 
Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall arrange for the preparation of 
an appropriate Deed of Variation to this Agreement to be prepared for 
execution by the Councils and such change shall only take effect upon 
completion of that Deed and the costs associated with the preparation of such 
Deed of Variation shall be shared equally between the Councils. Such Deed 
of Variation may be executed in parts by each Council that is then a party to 
this Agreement. 

17.4 If one of the Councils does not approve such variation, then the variation to 
this Agreement shall not occur. 

18.  Withdrawal from the Joint Committee on Notice 

18.1 Any Council may withdraw from the Joint Committee in accordance with the 
following procedure: 

18.2 Any Council which wishes to withdraw from the Joint Committee shall give 
not less than twelve months’ written notice terminating at the end of a 
financial year to the other Councils and the officer acting as Monitoring 

Page 257



 
 

19 

 

Officer to the Joint Committee shall consult the other Councils giving due 
consideration to: 

(a)  Any loss of funding arising from such withdrawal and including any 
non-payment, clawback or repayment of such funding; 

(b)  Any other loss, liability, damage, claim or expense, 

which would be incurred by the Councils upon which notice has been served 
by reason of such withdrawal from the Joint Committee. 

18.3 Any Council wishing to withdraw from the Joint Committee undertakes as a 
condition of such withdrawal to make, prior to withdrawal such reasonable 
payment or payments which fairly reflect the actual losses caused by or 
anticipated as a result of the withdrawal as shall be determined by the other 
Councils pursuant to clauses above and no notice under this clause 18 shall 
take effect unless and until such payment has been agreed or referred to the 
Dispute Resolution procedure under Clause 22. 

18.4 Subject to the provisions of clause 15 or unless agreed otherwise by the 
parties, each Council reserves the right to recover from any party to this 
Agreement the costs of any claims, costs, expenses, losses or liabilities of 
any nature or which have been caused by any act or omission of that party 
and which are discovered after the party’s withdrawal from this Agreement. 

18.5 Any Council that withdraws from the Joint Committee shall be responsible 
for ensuring that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of 
the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions.  Any Council that 
withdraws from the Joint Committee shall include in its notice to the other 
Councils confirmation that it shall comply with its legal obligations in respect 
of the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions 

19.  Termination of this Agreement for Cause 

19.1 Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies, this Agreement may be 
terminated in relation to any other Council (“Defaulter”) by the other Councils 
(“Non-Defaulting Councils”) acting unanimously in giving sixty-five Business 
Days written notice to the Defaulter where the Defaulter materially breaches 
any of the provisions of this Agreement or in the case of a breach capable of 
remedy fails to remedy the same within thirty Business Days (or such other 
period as agreed by the Non-Defaulting Councils) of being notified of each 
breach in writing by the Non-Defaulting Councils and being required to 
remedy the same. 

19.2  If this Agreement is terminated each Council shall be responsible for ensuring 
that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

20.  Termination of the Agreement by Agreement 

20.1 The Councils agree that this Agreement may be determined upon terms 
agreed by all the Councils. 

20.2 Upon termination of this Agreement the parties agree that the Joint 
Committee shall cease to exist and any arrangement for the discharge of 

Page 258



 
 

20 

 

Specified and Agreed Functions which has been made pursuant to this 
Agreement shall cease on the expiry of the notice period specified in the 
relevant Hosting Agreement and the Specified and Agreed Functions shall 
be returned to the Councils which were responsible for them prior to this 
Agreement. 

20.3 If this Agreement is terminated each Council shall be responsible for 
ensuring that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of the 
discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

21.  Termination – Consequential Matters 

21.1 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 20 as the case 
may be, any party shall supply to any other party when requested any 
information which the other party requires for the continuing discharge of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions; and 

21.2 Any Intellectual Property Rights created under this Agreement shall be 
owned by the then parties in equal proportions; and  

21.3 Each of the parties shall undertake to make such reasonable payment or 
payments which fairly reflect the obligations of that Council pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

21.4 In the event of termination of this Agreement all Assets held by any of the 
Councils for the purposes of this Agreement shall be dealt with in 
accordance with the Financial Memorandum. 

21.5 The Host Council shall: -  
21.5.1 be reimbursed by the Councils for all costs it incurs upon or as a 
consequence of Termination with each Council’s contribution to such costs 
being calculated by reference to their respective percentage contribution as 
set out in the Financial Memorandum and  
21.5.2.   transfer any relevant information it holds to the Council to which the 
relevant information relates. 

21.6 It shall be the duty of the Councils to try to minimise any losses arising from 
the termination of this Agreement. 

21.7 Each Council is responsible for its own compliance with the Directions and 
any other relevant law that applies to the Specified and Agreed Functions 
and shall take any action necessary to ensure that it is able to comply with 
its legal obligations following termination of this Agreement. 

22.  Dispute Resolution 

22.1 The Councils undertake and agree to pursue a positive approach towards 
dispute resolution which seeks in the context of this joint working arrangement 
to identify a solution at the lowest operational level that is appropriate to the 
subject of the dispute, and which avoids legal proceedings and maintains a 
strong working relationship between the parties. 

22.2 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be 
resolved in accordance with this clause 22. 

Page 259



 
 

21 

 

22.3  All disputes, claims or differences between the Councils arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation, including 
any question regarding its existence, validity or termination, (a “Dispute”) shall 
be referred to the Director of Operations who shall produce and implement a 
plan for resolving the dispute. 

22.4 If the plan of the Director of Operations does not resolve the dispute it may at 
the written request of any Council involved in the dispute, be referred by each 
Council to its chief executive. 

22.4 If the Councils’ chief executives do not agree a resolution of the Dispute within 
one month of the date of service of any such request, the Councils may agree 
a process to attempt to settle the Dispute by mediation or arbitration. 

23.  Notices 

Form of Notice 

23.1  Any demand, notice or other communication given in connection with or 
required by this Agreement shall be made in writing and shall be delivered to 
or sent by pre-paid first class post to the recipient at the address stated in 
Schedule 3 (or such other address as may be notified in writing from time to 
time) or sent by facsimile transmission to the recipient to the facsimile number 
stated in Schedule 3 or sent electronically to the e-mail address stated in 
Schedule 3. 

Service 

23.2 Any such demand, notice or communication shall be deemed to have been 
duly served: 

(a)  If delivered by hand, when left at the proper address for service. 

(b)  If given or made by pre-paid first-class post two Business Days after 
being posted;  

(c )  If sent by facsimile at the time of transmission provided that a 
confirmatory copy is on the same day that the facsimile is transmitted 
sent by pre-paid first class post in the manner provided for in clause 
23.1 Provided That in each case that if the time of such deemed 
service is either after 4.00pm on a Business Day or on a day other 
than a Business Day service shall be deemed to occur at 10.00am on 
the next following Business Day; or 

(d)  If sent by e-mail, when it has been sent to the e-mail address stated in 
Schedule 4 and receipt of such e-mail has been acknowledged. 

24.  Information and Confidentiality 

24.1 Without prejudice to clauses 25 and 26 the parties shall keep confidential all 
matters relating to this Agreement or the Intellectual Property Rights of the 
parties and shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees 
and agents from making any disclosure to any person of any matter relating 
to the Agreement or Intellectual Property Rights of the parties. 

Page 260



 
 

22 

 

24.2 Clause 24.1 shall not apply to: 

 (a)  Any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by persons 
engaged in the performance of their obligations under this Agreement. 

 (b)  Any matter which a party can demonstrate is already generally 
available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of a 
breach of this clause. 

 (c)  Any disclosure which is required by any law (including any order or a 
court of competent jurisdiction) any Parliamentary obligation or the rules 
of any stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority having 
the force or law. 

 (d)  Any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the 
possession of the disclosing party prior to its disclosure by the 
disclosing party. 

 (e) Any disclosure which is required or recommended by the rules of any 
governmental or regulatory authority including any guidance from time 
to time as to openness and disclosure of information by public bodies. 

 (f) Any disclosure which is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant 
information to any insurance broker in connection with obtaining any 
insurance required by this Agreement. 

 (g)  Any disclosure by a party to a department, office or agency of the 
Government. 

 (h)  Any disclosure for the purpose of the examination and certification of a 
party’s accounts. 

Where disclosure is permitted under clauses 24.2(a), 24.2(f), 24.2(g), or 
24.2(h) the recipient of the information shall be placed under the same 
obligation of confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement by the 
disclosing Council. 

25.  Data Protection 

25.1 In relation to the subject matter of this agreement each party undertakes at all 
times to comply with the Data Protection Legislation.  This clause 25 is in 
addition to and does not relieve remove or replace a party’s obligations under 
the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.2  Each Council: 

(a)  Shall process Personal Data belonging to any other Council only on the 
instructions of that Council (subject to compliance with applicable law); 

(b)  Shall only undertake processing of Personal Data reasonably required 
in connection with this Agreement. 

(c) Shall ensure that it has in place appropriate technical and 
organisational measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful 
processing of Personal Data and against accidental loss or destruction 

Page 261



 
 

23 

 

of or damage to Personal Data appropriate to the harm that might result 
from the unauthorised or unlawful processing or accidental loss 
destruction or damage and the nature of the data to be protected having 
regard to the state of technological development and the cost of 
implementing any measures (those measures may include where 
appropriate pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data ensuring 
confidentiality integrity availability and resilience of its systems and 
services ensuring (subject to the terms of any third party arrangements 
that may be in place) that availability of and access to Personal Data 
can be restored in a timely manner after an incident and regularly 
assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the technical and 
organisational measures adopted by it); 

(d) Shall ensure that all personnel who have access to and/or process 
Personal Data are obliged to keep the Personal Data confidential.  

 (e) Shall not transfer any Personal Data outside of the European Economic 
Area unless the prior written consent of the other Councils has been 
obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled. 

 (i) The Council transferring the Personal Data has provided 
appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer.  

(ii) The data subject has enforceable rights and effective legal 
remedies. 

(iii) The Council transferring the Personal Data complies with its 
obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing 
an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is 
transferred 

(f) Shall assist the other Councils in responding to any request from a data 
subject and in ensuring compliance with their obligations under the Data 
Protection Legislation with respect to security breach notifications 
impact assessments and consultations with supervisory bodies. 

(g) Shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that all relevant sub-
contractors and third parties comply with this clause 25. 

25.3 The Councils shall not disclose Personal Data to any third parties other than: 

(a)  To employees and sub-contractors and third parties to whom such 
disclosure is reasonably necessary in order for the Councils to 
discharge the Councils' obligations in relation to this Agreement; or 

(b) To the extent required under a court order or to comply with any 
applicable laws  

provided that any disclosure to any sub-contractor or any third parties under 
clause 25.3 shall be made subject to written terms substantially the same as, 
and no less stringent than, the terms contained in this clause 25 and that the 
Councils shall give notice in writing to all other Councils of any disclosure of 
Personal Data belonging to them which they or a sub-contractor or third parties 
are required to make under clause 25 immediately they are aware of such a 
requirement. 

Page 262



 
 

24 

 

25.4 Any Council may, at reasonable intervals, request a written description of the 
technical and organisational methods employed by any other Council and the 
relevant sub-contractors Within five Business Days of such a request, the 
Council requested to do so shall supply written particulars of all such measures 
as it is maintaining detailed to a reasonable level such that the requesting 
Council can determine whether or not, in connection with the Personal Data, it 
is compliant with the Data Protection Legislation.  Each Council shall use its 
reasonable endeavours to ensure that the sub-contractors and any third parties 
also comply with such request from any other Council. 

25.5 All Councils shall ensure that any Personal Data they obtain and provide to any 
other Council has been lawfully obtained and complies with the Data Protection 
Legislation and that the use thereof in accordance with this Agreement shall 
not breach any of the provisions of the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.6 Each Council shall provide the other Councils as soon as reasonably 
practicable, with such information in relation to Personal Data and their 
processing as the other Councils may reasonably request in writing and the 
party asked to provide the relevant data may reasonably be able to provide in 
order for the other Council to comply with its obligations under this clause and 
the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.7 Each Council shall take reasonable precautions (having regard to the nature of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement) to preserve the integrity of 
any Personal Data. 

25.8 The Councils shall continually review any existing information sharing protocols 
being used in relation to this Agreement to ensure they remain relevant and to 
identify which Personal Data needs to be processed and on what basis to 
ensure compliance with this clause 25. 

25.9 Each Council shall maintain complete and accurate records to demonstrate its 
compliance with this clause 25. 

26. Freedom of Information 

26.1 The parties recognise that the Councils are public authorities as defined by FOI 
Legislation and therefore recognise that information relating to this Agreement 
may be the subject of an Information Request. 

26.2 The Councils shall assist each other in complying with their obligations under 
FOI Legislation, including but not limited to assistance without charge in 
gathering information to respond to an Information Request. 

26.3 Any Council shall be entitled to disclose any information relating to this 
Agreement and the Specified and Agreed Functions in response to an 
Information Request save that in respect of any Information Request which is 
in whole or part a request for Exempt Information. 

26.4 The Council which receives the Information Request shall circulate the 
Information Request and shall discuss it with the other Councils and the 
Director of Operations. 

Page 263



 
 

25 

 

26.5 The Council which receives the Information Request shall in good faith consider 
any representations raised by other Councils when deciding whether to 
disclose Exempt Information and 

26.6 The Council which receives the Information Request shall not disclose any 
Exempt Information beyond the disclosure required by FOI Legislation without 
the consent of the Council or Councils to which it relates. 

26.7 The parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that any decision made 
by a Council which receives an Information Request as to whether to disclose 
information relating to this Agreement pursuant to FOI Legislation is solely the 
decision of that Council.  A Council will not be liable to any party to this 
Agreement for any loss, damage, harm or detrimental effect arising from or in 
connection with the disclosure of information in response to an Information 
Request. 

27.  Intellectual Property 

27.1 Each Council will retain all Intellectual Property in its Material. 

27.2 Each Council will grant all of the other Councils a non-exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use, modify, amend and develop 
its IP Material for the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation to this 
Agreement whether or not the Council granting the licence remains a party to 
this Agreement. 

27.3 Without prejudice to clause 27.1, if more than one Council owns or has a legal 
or beneficial right or interest in any aspect of the IP Material for any reason 
(including without limitation that no one Council can demonstrate that it 
independently supplied or created the relevant IP Material without the help of 
one or more of the other Councils), each of the Councils who contributed to the 
relevant IP Material will grant to all other Councils to this Agreement a non-
exclusive, perpetual, non-transferable and royalty free licence to use and 
exploit such IP Material as if all the other Councils were the sole owner under 
the Copyright Design and Patents Act 1988 or any other relevant statute or rule 
of law. 

27.4 Any entity or person who is at the date of this Agreement a party to this 
Agreement and who has licensed any Intellectual Property under this 
Agreement shall have a non-exclusive, perpetual right to continue to use the 
licensed Intellectual Property. 

27. 5 Each Council warrants that it has or will have the necessary rights to grant the 
licences set out in clause 27.2 and 27.3 in respect of the IP Material to be 
licensed. 

27.6 Each Council agrees to execute such further documents and take such actions 
or do such things as may be reasonably requested by any other Councils (and 
at the expense of the Council or Councils making the request) to give full effect 
to the terms of this Agreement. 

Page 264



 
 

26 

 

28.  Language 

28.1  The Joint Committee shall arrange for the Specified and Agreed Functions to 
be discharged in such a way that each of the Councils comply with their duties 
under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

29.  Severability 

29.1 If at any time any clause or part of a clause or schedule or appendix or part of 
a schedule or appendix to this Agreement is found by any court, tribunal or 
administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be wholly or partly illegal, 
invalid or unenforceable in any respect: 

(a) That shall not affect or impair the legality, validity or enforceability of 
any other provision of this Agreement. 

(b)  The parties shall in good faith amend this Agreement to reflect as nearly 
as possible the spirit and intention behind that illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable provision to the extent that such spirit and intention is 
consistent with the laws of that jurisdiction and so that the amended 
Agreement complies with the laws of that jurisdiction. 

30.  Relationship of Parties 

30.1 Each of the parties is an independent organisation and nothing contained in 
this Agreement shall be construed to imply that there is any relationship 
between the parties of partnership or principal/agent or of employer/employee.  
No party shall have any right or authority to act on behalf of another party nor 
to bind another party by contract or otherwise except to the extent expressly 
permitted by the terms of this Agreement. 

31.  Third Party Rights 

31.1 The parties to this Agreement do not intend that any of its terms will be 
enforceable by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any 
person not a party to it. 

32.  Entire Agreement 

32.1 This Agreement and all documents referred to in this Agreement set forth the 
entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter 
covered by them and supersede and replace all prior communications, 
representations (other than fraudulent representations), warranties, 
stipulations, undertakings and agreements whether oral or written between the 
parties.  Each party acknowledges that it does not enter into this Agreement in 
reliance on any warranty, representation or undertaking other than those 
contained in this Agreement and that its only remedies are for breach of this 
Agreement, provided that this shall not exclude any liability which either party 
would otherwise have to the other in respect of any statements made 
fraudulently by or on behalf of it prior to the date of this Agreement. 

33.  Law of Agreement or Jurisdiction 

33.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of England and Wales and the 
parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales. 

Page 265



 
 

27 

 

34.  Discretion of the Councils 

34.1 The discretion of any Council shall not be fettered or otherwise affected by the 
terms of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF 

[             ] Council 

was affixed in the presence of 

SIGNED BY  

Duly authorised for and 

on behalf of Welsh Local Government Association 

in the presence of 

 

Page 266



 
 

28 

 

Schedule 1 Constitution of the Joint Committee  

1 All 22 Councils shall appoint one representative as voting members of the Joint 
Committee. 

2 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its voting members as chair and one 
of its voting members as vice chair. 

3 Unless they have already been appointed by their Council as its representative 
the Councils shall appoint the following persons (subject to the agreement of 
such persons) as non-voting members of the Joint Committee: 

3.1 A WLGA spokesperson for health and social services. 

3.2 A WLGA deputy spokesperson for health and social services. 

3.3 The executive leader or a deputy in respect of one of those roles of the Host 
Council. 

3.4 The Co-chairs of the Combined Governance Board. 

4 The relevant Councils may nominate one or more substitute members from, 
subject to notification being given to the officer acting as Monitoring Officer to 
the Joint Committee before the start of the meeting.  The member appointed 
as a substitute shall have full voting rights where the member for whom they 
are substituting does not attend.  

5 Each voting member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Code of 
Conduct of their Council when acting as a Member of the Joint Committee. 

6 The Host Council or, as the case may be the relevant councils may remove any 
voting member or substitute voting members of the Joint Committee and 
appoint a different representative of the Host Council or, as the case may be, 
the same council as the member or substitute being replaced by giving written 
notice to the officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee. 

7 Each voting member of the Joint Committee shall have one vote.   

8 Each member of the Joint Committee shall serve upon the Joint Committee for 
as long as he or she is appointed to the Joint Committee by the relevant 
Councils, but a member shall cease to be a member of the Joint Committee if 
he or she ceases to be a member of the Council of which he or she was a 
member when he or she was appointed to the Joint Committee or if the 
Councils remove him or her as a member of the Joint Committee. 

9 Any casual vacancies howsoever arising shall be filled by the Councils by 
notice in writing sent to the officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the 
Joint Committee. 

10 Unless otherwise agreed by the Councils, meetings of the Joint Committee 
shall be held at the offices of the WLGA, Host Council or virtually. 

11 The Joint Committee shall meet at least once annually.  

Page 267



 
 

29 

 

12 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall call 
additional meetings at the direction of the chair by providing at least three clear 
days’ notice to members of the Joint Committee, unless the meeting is called 
at shorter notice.  The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee must call a meeting of the Joint Committee if all the voting members 
of the Joint Committee request it or the Head of Paid Service of each Council 
requests it. 

13 Meetings shall be notified to members of the Joint Committee by the officer 
who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee. 

14 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall 
send electronically to all members and relevant officers of each Council the 
agenda for each meeting of the Joint Committee no later than three clear days 
before the date of the relevant meeting unless the meeting is convened at 
shorter notice    

15 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall 
arrange for written minutes to be taken of each meeting of the Joint Committee 
and shall present them to the Joint Committee at its next meeting for approval 
as a correct record.  The Officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee shall circulate the minutes to the Councils prior to the next meeting 
of the Joint Committee.  If the Joint Committee confirms that the minutes 
contain an accurate record of the previous meeting, those minutes shall be 
signed by the chair or vice-Chair. 

16 A meeting of the Joint Committee shall require a quorum of 60% of the voting 
members.  If there is a quorum of members present but neither the chair nor 
the vice-chair is present, the members present shall designate one member to 
preside as chair for that meeting. 

17 Subject to the provisions of any enactment all questions coming or arising 
before the Joint Committee shall be decided by a majority of the members of 
the Joint Committee immediately present and voting thereon.  In the case of an 
equality of votes the chair shall have a casting vote.  Subject to paragraph 18 
below all voting shall be by a show of hands. 

18 Any member of the Joint Committee may request the Joint Committee to record 
the votes of individual members of the Joint Committee on a matter for decision. 

19 The order of business shall be indicated in the agenda for the meeting. 

20 Any member of the Councils who is not a member of the Joint Committee is 
entitled to attend the Joint Committee but he or she shall not be entitled to vote, 
shall not take part in the consideration or discussion of any business, save by 
leave of the chair and comments will be recorded only on the direction of the 
chair. 

21 A meeting of a principal council shall be open to the public except to the extent 
that they are excluded (whether during the whole or part of the 
proceedings).The public may be excluded from a meeting of the Joint 
Committee during an item of business whenever it is likely, in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if 
members of the public were present during that item, confidential information 
as defined in section 100A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 or exempt 

Page 268



 
 

30 

 

information as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972 would 
be disclosed to them.  In view of the sensitivity of the matters for which the Joint 
Committee is responsible it is to be expected that most business to be 
transacted at meetings of the Joint Committee will include confidential or 
exempt information but the Joint Committee will consider this in respect of 
every item of business to be considered at a meeting of the Joint Committee. 

22 Unless members of the public are excluded from a meeting of the Joint 
Committee in accordance with paragraph 21 above meetings of the Joint 
Committee will be open to the public. 

23 Members of the public wishing to address the Joint Committee (or a sub-
committee of the Joint Committee) on reports contained within the agenda for 
the meeting  may at the discretion of the Chair  be given the opportunity to do 
so.  

24 Each Council may call in any decision of the Joint Committee in accordance 
with the overview and scrutiny provisions of that Council’s constitution.  If any 
decision of the Joint Committee is subject to call in by a Council, the Joint 
Committee shall take no action to implement that decision unless the call in 
process upholds the decision. 

25. The Joint Committee may delegate a function to an officer. At the 
commencement of this agreement, the Jojnt Committee has delegated 
functions to the Director of Operations as outlined in Schedule 5 

 

  

Page 269



 
 

31 

 

 

Schedule 2 Terms of Reference of the NAS Combined Governance 
Board 

Functions and responsibilities of the Combined Governance Board 

1  The Combined Governance Board shall have the following responsibilities: 

1.1 To provide political and professional leadership and advice to inform the 
overall strategic direction of the National Adoption Service in Wales.  

1.2 To hold the Regional Collaboratives (and their staff), the Director of 
Operations and central team, the VAA’s and other services accountable for 
the delivery and performance of their services within the National Adoption 
Service arrangements. 

1.3 To approve for submission to the Joint Committee as prepared by the Director 
of Operations / central team. 

o An annual programme of work for the National Adoption Service.  

o A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA – Full Council), the Minster for 
Health and Social Service and the Welsh Government. 

o The budget and financial management arrangements of services 
and the office of the Director of Operations. 

1.4 To monitor and have oversight of: 

▪ The performance of the National Adoption Service to ensure its 
successful delivery and improvements in the adoption process to lead 
to positive outcomes for children and adults affected by adoption. 

▪ The quality of engagement with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies 
(VAAs) and service user representatives at central and regional levels. 

▪ Compliance with The Directions  

▪ Compliance with the Conflict-of-Interest Protocol  

1.5 To consider and make recommendations for the future direction of the National 
Adoption Service using: 

o Information and data, including from the National Performance System in 
relation to the services as a whole, each Regional Collaborative, the VAA’s and 
other services. 

o Professional and best practice advice from the sector. 

o The views of children, young people and adults who use services. 

o Other evidence including reports from the Director of Operations. 

Page 270



 
 

32 

 

1.6 To ensure arrangements are in place for the flow of information, including 
receipt of minutes and papers, between the Combined Governance Board 
and: 

▪ The Joint Committee. 

▪ Regional Management Committees. 

▪ Local government members and officers across Wales. 

▪ Equivalent bodies in VAA’s and other services. 

1.7 To encourage and enable the statutory and voluntary sectors to work in 
partnership to deliver the best outcomes for children and adults affected by 
adoption. 

1.8 To ensure that the views of all stakeholders, including those who use adoption 
services, are represented effectively both at national and regional levels. 

1.9 To ensure the National Adoption Service is working within Welsh Government 
guidance and strategies for children particularly looked after and adopted 
children. 

1.10 To ensure that due consideration is given to the need for Welsh Language 
services in planning and delivery of adoption services throughout Wales. 

1.11 To support the delivery of adoption services through the National Adoption 
Service arrangements to ensure it reflects the best possible practice and is 
based on a culture of continuous improvement. 

1.12 To notify Joint Committee and Welsh Ministers of any issues regarding the 
National Adoption Service which it considers need to be drawn to their 
attention. 

2 Membership of the Combined Governance Board will comprise of: 

• WLGA Spokesperson for Health and Social Services or their representative. 

• WLGA Deputy Spokesperson for Health and Social Services  

• Independent Chair of the National Adoption Service Advisory Group (Chair of 
the Advisory Group and Co-Chair of the Combined Governance Board 
Meeting). 

• Leader (or nominated executive representative) of Host Council. 

• Elected member representative for each of the 5 Regional Adoption 
Collaboratives (from which the Vice Chair will be drawn). 

• Director / Head of Service from each of the Regional Collaboratives. 

• Senior officer representative of the Host Council. 

• Representative of the 5 VAAs in Wales. 

• Officer representative from the WLGA. 

Page 271



 
 

33 

 

• Representative from the Association of Directors for Social Services Cymru 
(ADSSC). 

• Representative of Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW). 

• A Designated doctor for Safeguarding/Looked After Children. 

• A current RAC Adoption Panel Medical Advisor.  

• Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) representative. 

• Representative of a Social Research Centre (currently Cardiff University, 
CASCADE). 

• Representative of Children’s Commissioner for Wales. 

• Representative of CAFCASS Cymru 

• Citizen or service user. 

• Legal services representative from the Host Council. 

• Director of Operations, National Adoption Service and secretariat. 

3 The Joint Committee may invite other persons to attend meetings of the 
Combined Governance Board as observers. 

4 The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board shall be reviewed 
by the Joint Committee at least once a year which may make amendments to  
the terms of reference. 

  

Page 272



 
 

34 

 

Schedule 3 Notice Provisions 

 

Welsh Local Government Association 
One Canal Parade,  
Dumballs Road 
CARDIFF 
CF10 5BF 
 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Civic Centre 
Ebbw Vale 
NP23 6XB 
 
Bridgend County Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penalta 
Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
 
The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 
County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
County Hall 
Carmarthen 
Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1JP  
 
Ceredigion County Council 
Neuadd Cyngor 
Ceredigion 
Penmorfa 
Aberaeron 
Ceredigion 
SA46 OPA 
 
Conwy County Borough Council 
Bodlondeb 
Bangor Road 
Conwy 
LL32 8DU 
 
 
 

Page 273



 
 

35 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
County Hall 
Wynnstay Road 
Ruthin 
LL15 1YN 
 
Flintshire County Council 
County Hall 
Mold 
CH7 6NB 
 
Gwynedd Council 
Council Offices 
Shirehall Street 
Caernarfon 
LL55 1SH 
 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 
Council Offices 
Llangefni 
LL77 7TW 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
 
Monmouthshire County Council 
PO Box 106 
Caldicot 
NP26 9AN 
 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
Port Talbot Civic Centre 
Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ 
 
Newport City Council 
Civic Centre 
Godfrey Road 
Newport 
NP20 4UR 
 
Pembrokeshire County Council 
County Hall 
Haverfordwest 
Pembrokeshire 
SA61 1TP 
 
Powys County Council 
Powys County Hall 
Spa Road East 
Llandrindod Wells 
Powys 
LD1 5LG 

Page 274



 
 

36 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach Vale 
Tonypandy 
CF40 2XX 
 
The Council of the City and County of Swansea 
Civic Centre 
Oystermouth Road 
Swansea 
SA1 3SN 
 
Torfaen County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Pontypool 
Torfaen 
NP4 6YB 
 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 
Civic Offices 
Holton Road 
Barry 
Vale of Glamorgan 
CF63 4RU 
 
Wrexham County Borough Council 
The Guildhall 
Wrexham 
LL11 1AY 
 
[The Councils to provide details of fax numbers and e-mail addresses.] 

Page 275



 
 

37 

 

Schedule 4 Financial Memorandum 

1 The core budget for the office of the Director of Operations and national 
functions of the National Adoption Service is provided by a ‘top slice’ of the 
Revenue Support Grant and made available to the NAS via the Welsh Local 
Government Association. This arrangement was agreed by the Co-ordinating 
Committee of the WLGA in March 2014 as part of its agreement to the 
proposals to establish NAS. 

2 The Councils shall ensure that: 

2.1 The Joint Committee, the Combined Governance Board and the Director of 
Operations make appropriate use of the National Adoption Services budget to 
perform their functions and to facilitate achievement of the aims in clause 2 of 
this Agreement. 

2.2 There are adequate financial and accounting procedures for the purposes of 
this Agreement. 

3 The Host Council will provide the financial administrative accounting system 
and appropriate associated support for the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions on behalf of the Councils.  Subject to the statutory role of 
each Council’s Section 151 Officer in relation to their Council, the Host Council 
shall provide for the purposes of this Agreement the services of its Section 151 
Officer to the Joint Committee. 

4 The Director of Operations shall submit annual monitoring and accounting 
reports to the Joint Committee which shall include explanations for any 
variances against the profiled budget.   

5 The Joint Committee shall review the expenditure and forecast to ensure that 
the allocated budget is being correctly adhered to.   

6 The Joint Committee shall be presented with a report on the proposed use of 
the budget for the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions for approval 
on behalf of the Councils for the following financial year.  

7 The Host Council shall apply its Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure 
Rules to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions on behalf of the 
Councils pursuant to this Agreement.  

8 Proportionate Basis for costs and liabilities of the Councils arising under the 
Agreement: 

The Proportionate Basis for which each Council shall be liable for costs arising 
under the Agreement (to the extent that the same exceed the ‘top slice’ of the 
Revenue Support Grant made available to the Joint Committee) shall be 
calculated by reference  to the proportion that the population of each Council’s 
area makes of the total population of Wales. Any indemnity to be funded by all 
Councils shall be calculated on the same basis. 

 

 

Page 276



 
 

38 

 

Schedule 5 Specified and Agreed Functions and 
Services 

1 Service Vision 

1.1 The Councils wish to use the joint discharge of the Specified Functions 
to improve the performance of the Councils and partners in meeting the 
needs of those children who require permanence through adoption by 
bringing together the best practice from each authority and partner into 
an integrated adoption service and similarly for an agreed range of 
fostering functions. 

1.2 The Councils agree that the joint discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions should be underpinned by the guiding principles that looked 
after children and prospective adopters alike are advantaged by the 
joint discharge of functions and that the joint discharge of functions is 
demonstrably more efficient and flexible in delivering the Services. 

2 Aims, Principles and Objectives of the joint discharge of the Specified 
Functions for adoption services 

2.1 Enabling the Councils to comply with their obligations under the 
Directions. 

2.2 Delivering a comprehensive adoption service at a national level. 

2.3 Exercising oversight of Councils’ compliance with legislation, 
regulations, minimum standards, local procedures and the performance 
management framework set by the Welsh Government and 
accountable to the Senedd / Welsh Parliament in line with the 
Directions. 

2.4 Ensuring that services are carried out in a timely and efficient way and 
based upon the assessed needs of those persons requiring the service. 

2.5 Ensuring that persons seeking approval as adoptive parents are 
welcomed without prejudice and delay and that their applications are 
considered on their individual merit. 

2.6 Developing a recruitment strategy which ensures a range of adoptive 
placements are available nationally or through external agencies to 
ensure timely placements for all children where the placement plan is 
adoption. 

2.7 Providing a child focused placement service to ensure that children are 
appropriately matched with adopters who can meet their needs 
throughout their childhood. 

2.8 Providing a range of pre and post adoption support and intermediary 
services in conjunction with statutory and voluntary sector providers. 

2.9 Establishing effective working links with key stakeholders. 

Page 277



 
 

39 

 

2.10 Maintaining effective working links with local authority children’s 
services departments to ensure that agency functions in relation to 
children requiring adoptive placements are maintained. 

2.11 Utilising and building upon examples of good practice and promote 
consistency, excellence and continuous improvement. 

2.12 Complying with the requirements of external audit and inspection. 

2.13 Ensuring that customer feedback and the views of service users are 
obtained and considered in the development of services. 

3 Aims, Principles and Objectives of the joint discharge of the Agreed 
Functions for fostering services through Foster Wales 

3.1  National leadership to ensure consistency of approach on a regional and local 
authority basis 

3.2 Commission / monitoring of the programme management contract with 
Association for fostering and adoption Cymru (AFA Cymru) / creation of 
a post for this function plus oversight / support of programme manager’s 
work 

3.3 Maintaining a performance framework and supporting performance 
reporting at national and regional level to inform improvement 

3.4 Production of annual report and any other reporting required 

3.5 Administration of agreed Foster Wales national Governance 
arrangements and support to Regional Development Manager 
meetings, practice forums and task & finish groups 

3.6 Promotion of best practice and culture of continuous improvement 
currently as below: 

o Oversight and ongoing development of the Foster Wales brand 

o Production of national Policy and Procedures handbook incl. for 
recruitment 

o Core Offer of support 

o Fees and Allowances 

o Learning and Development framework 

3.7 Commissioning and contract monitoring of contracts required for FW 
work – incl. website, brand repository, national marketing manager, 
launch & campaigns. 

3.8 Administration of FW finance and grants and accountancy support. 
Securing resourcing through new / additional finance where possible.  

4 The Specified and Agreed Functions 

4.1 The Specified and Agreed Functions are: 

Page 278



 
 

40 

 

The functions of the Director of Operations and central team including 
the following: 

• Providing leadership to set the direction for NAS and Foster Wales including 
strategic planning by agreeing priorities, targets and resourcing following 
engagement with partners and stakeholders as well as support to operational 
planning. 

• Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and service 
information from the regions and VAA’s. 

• Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, Joint Committee and submission to Welsh 
Ministers as well as to WLGA and ADSS-C where required.  

• Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable NAS operations 
(currently as below) 

• Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales 

• Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
Welsh Government) 

• Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support  

• Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales 

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s. 

• Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the NAS. 

• Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance or re-
profiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment. 

• Strategic commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions 

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board 

• Promotion of adoption, including national PR and marketing and the 
provision of the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales.  

• Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

• Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable Foster Wales 
operations (currently as below) 

• Establishing and maintaining a national website for Foster Wales 

Page 279



 
 

41 

 

• Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support  

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and LA’s 

• Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 

• Managing the central team allocation, grants and investment, enabling 
negotiations with funding bodies to secure ongoing resourcing.  

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Lead Heads of Children’s Services Group 

• Promotion of Foster Wales, including national PR and marketing.  

• Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

5 The Services 

5.1 The services to be provided by the host local authority to facilitate the 
discharge of   the Joint Committee’s function shall be   detailed in a 
separate agreement but will be provided subject to and on   the 
overarching terms and conditions set out in this  Agreement . Such Host 
services may include:  

(i)Office accommodation and allied facilities services 

(ii) Employment of staff, associated human resource functions and 
advising on workforce planning / issues 

(iii) Use of its IT systems and databases, including provision of a 
separate email domain/s and stand-alone websites as needed 

(iv) Finance / accounting services, supporting management of core 
budget and grant aid including facilitating the transfer of funds to 
relevant local government or partners agencies of NAS and Foster 
Wales.  

(v) Information security advice and support, ensuring compliance with 
changing legislation 

(vi) Facilitation of procurement and contracting requirements to deliver 
functions 

(vii) Legal advice as required incl. for contracts. 

(viii) Engagement of Officers and Members in governance 
arrangements as required by the Directions 
 
5.2 The Host Authority may make arrangements with third parties for 
the discharge of the Services and recharge such costs to the Joint 

Page 280



 
 

42 

 

Committee. The Host Authority shall first discuss such matters with the 
Director of Operations. 

Page 281



 
 

43 

 

Schedule 6 Terms of Reference for the Lead Head of 
Children’s Services Group 

1 Objectives and Scope  

1.1 The main objectives of this group are: 

(a) To support the strategic oversight of Foster Wales 

(b) To consider the implications at local and regional level arising from the 
transition to Foster Wales 

(c) To consider the development needs of services at local, regional, and 
national level 

(d) To seek and support solutions to overcome barriers and challenges 

(e) To continue to develop and maintain collaboration across local authority 
fostering 

(f) To consider reports presented, agree actions, make decisions, and 
monitor progress 

(g) To consider performance reports and monitor KPIs as identified and 
agreed 

(h) To make recommendations for future areas of work programme 
development 

2 Membership 

2.1 Core membership will include: 

(a) 6 x Regional designated Lead Head of Children’s Services 

(b) Director of the National Adoption Service 

(c) 6 x Regional Development Managers  

(d) A Director of Social Services 

(e) Programme Manager 

(f) An officer of the Welsh Local Government Association 

2.2 Arrangements will be put in place to ensure good links between this 
meeting and members including briefing the WLGA spokesperson for 
health and Social Care or their nominated Deputy with responsibility for 
children’s services. 

3 Frequency of meetings 

3.1 Meetings will be held at an agreed frequency no less than quarterly 
(currently monthly), dates and times will be scheduled and provided with 
advanced notice. 

Page 282



 
 

44 

 

 

 

4 Accountability and communication 

4.1 The group is accountable to the Joint Committee, which holds 
responsibility for overall oversight of the National Adoption Service and 
Foster Wales. 

4.2 Regional representatives are responsible for ensuring that effective 
communication channels are in place.  This should include mechanisms 
for the sharing of information, decisions, and outcomes from this group 
to relevant forums and individuals within their own region. 

Page 283



 
 

45 

 

Schedule 7 Scheme of Functions Delegated to the 
Director of Operations 

Part One 
SCHEME OVERVIEW 
1. Purpose 

1.1. The National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) operates in a multi-agency 
partnership context. This is a complex arrangement best described as a local 
government led collaborative with a range of different interfaces including the 
voluntary sector. In order that the NAS national / central team staff can carry 
out its functions effectively under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint 
Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015, it is essential that 
employees at all levels of the organisation are clear that they have the 
delegated authority to make decisions. It is also important that employees are 
clear where they do not have the authority to make decisions.  

1.2. The Scheme of Delegation is the framework creating the authority to make a 
decision or discharge a function. Delegation also means that those to whom 
responsibility has been given are prepared to be accountable for the 
decisions they have been asked to make and the functions they discharge. 
Effective and transparent decision making also requires that those making a 
decision must be confident about the scope of their authority. 

1.3. The aim of the Scheme of Delegation is to set out who has the authority to 
make decisions within the national / central team of the National Adoption 
Service for Wales. It is a companion document to the National Adoption 
Service in Wales Partnership Agreement and the Agreement for the 
Establishment of a Joint Committee for the National Adoption Service.  

1.4. This Scheme of Delegation sets out who can carry out the functions. It does 
not explain how they are to be carried out. The NAS has adopted the 
procedures of the Host Council (Cardiff Council) which set out the rules for 
this. The Host Council is also the employer of NAS staff. As a result, NAS 
Officers must be familiar with the Host Council’s:  

• Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4.6 of the Constitution)  

• Contract Standing Orders and any Procurement guidelines issued by the 
Host Council 

• Human Resources guidance and procedures 
 

1.5. All powers within the Scheme of Delegation are to be exercised within 
approved budgets and all staffing and recruitment delegations take effect 
subject to approved HR guidelines. 

1.6. At the commencement of this Agreement the full arrangements for Foster 
Wales are being developed but it is anticipated that its relationship to the Joint 
Committee will be the same as for NAS albeit that governance is managed 
through the Lead Heads of Children’s Services (LHOCS) meeting and that 
delegated authority will operate in the same way. The Terms of Reference of 
the Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting are in Schedule 6 of this Joint 
Committee Agreement. 

 
 
2. Arrangement of the Scheme of Delegation 

2.1. . The Scheme of Delegation is arranged in three parts. 
a) Scheme Overview 
b) The Joint Committee and Combined Governance Board 
c) The Director of Operations 

 

Page 284



 
 

46 

 

3. The Joint Committee, Combined Governance Board and Regional 
Collaboratives  

3.1. The complex nature of the arrangements has a number of key bodies either 
delivering the Adoption Services or setting overall strategy. They interact in a 
way that influences the approach to delegation. 

3.2. The Joint Committee will, on behalf of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities, 
exercise their powers with reference to the provision of the collaborative 
arrangements for the National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) and for 
Foster Wales (FW).  It will be underpinned by a legal agreement (Joint 
Committee Agreement) and be comprised of Council Members.  Its role will 
be to oversee the work of NAS and Foster Wales and specifically approve / 
receive the below:  

• The Annual Reports of NAS and of Foster Wales;  
• The annual programmes of work for the NAS and for Foster Wales;   
• The budget/s for the office of the Director and the national work of NAS and 

for Foster Wales; and  
• The agreement, and any changes required, for the Host Council support of 

the office of the Director to enable it to facilitate the work of NAS and FW.  
 

3.3. For NAS (only) it will also oversee how the authorities work together to 
exercise their powers and comply with the National Assembly Directions (now 
Senedd Wales).  

3.4. The Joint Committee has primary responsibility for the delegation framework 
as it may delegate a function to an officer. 

3.5. The terms of reference for the Combined Governance Board are contained in 
schedule 2 of the Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint Committee for 
the National Adoption Services. The schedule indicates the Board must 
approve as prepared by the Director of Operations / central team the 
following: 

• An annual programme of work for the National Adoption Service.  

• A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA – Full Council), the Minster for Health and Social 
Service and the Welsh Government. 

• The budget and financial management arrangements of services and the 
office of the Director of Operations. 

3.6. The terms of reference also hold the following accountable for the delivery 
and performance of their services within the NAS arrangements:  

• Regional Collaboratives (and their staff),  

• the Director of Operations and central team,  

• the Voluntary Adoption Agencies and other services  
 

3.7. In order to support the work of the Combined Governance Board the Director 
of Operations will prepare the items listed in section 3.3 using the support of 
the Host Council where appropriate.  

3.8. As the lead executive of the NAS, the Director of Operations has delegated 
authority from the Joint Committee to manage the organisation. The Director 
of Operations is also responsible for delegating other decision-making 
responsibilities to officers within NAS. 

3.9. The Joint Committee delegates to the Combined Governance Board or 
Director of Operations all matters which it does not reserve to itself for 
decision.  

Page 285



 
 

47 

 

3.10. The Director of Operations shall provide regular reports to the Combined 
Governance Board and Joint Committee on the discharge of the Specified 
Functions. 

3.11. The delegation of functions and responsibilities both from the Joint Committee 
and the Director of Operations requires those using delegated authority to 
carry out those functions in a way that will not prevent the effective discharge 
of any functions or bring the NAS into disrepute or in any other way have an 
adverse effect on the NAS. 

3.12. The scheme of delegation can be removed by the Joint Committee if it takes a 
formal decision to do so. In these circumstances the Joint Committee would 
assume those responsibilities that it had previously delegated or delegate 
these responsibilities to the Combined Governance Board. The Director of 
Operations can also remove delegations they have granted to their team and 
in doing so would assume the previously delegated responsibilities or transfer 
these to another member of their team.  

3.13. Each region is made up of a number of specified local authorities. These are 
regional collaboratives overseen by Regional Management Boards. For the 
NAS to work effectively Partnership Agreement states there should be robust 
links between RMBs, the Combined Governance Board and the central team 
(led by the Director of Operations). The RMBs are required to produce an 
annual report submitted to the Director of Operations by 31st May each year. 
Other aspects of regional working include the Regional Joint Committees, 
Regional Operation Groups and a lead authority for each region.  
 

3.14 There is no legislation underpinning Foster Wales. Existing regional meetings 
link to the national Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting which in turn 
reports to the Joint Committee. 
 

4. Principles of Delegation 
4.1. The scheme of delegation has a number of principles that underpin the 

approach adopted so that the transfer of responsibility for a task or function 
from the Joint Committee, Board Meeting or Director of Operations does not 
change the overall accountability. 

• The Joint Committee, Combined Governance Board LHOC’s meeting 
and the Director of Operations remain accountable for all their functions, 
even those they have delegated. In order to be assured that the 
responsibilities that they have delegated are being discharged properly 
they require information about the exercise of those functions. 
Appropriate management oversight must be exercised to ensure there is 
sharing of delegated decisions. 

• In order to make sound decisions, the authority to take decisions must 
be supported by appropriate skills and knowledge. Those exercising 
delegated decision-making powers must be made aware of the 
decisions that have been delegated to them, the limits of their authority 
and have access to relevant advice if appropriate. 

• A record of delegated decisions will be kept and shared with the Joint 
Committee and the Combined Governance Board. The frequency of the 
information to be received will be determined by the Joint Committee 
and Board but should not be less than quarterly.  Where a decision has 
been formally delegated to the Director of Operations by the Joint 
Committee or the Combined Governance Board, the decision to 
delegate will be recorded in the Committee or Board minutes. The 
decision and its outcome will then be contained in a separate section 
within the Director of Operations’ Quarterly Report to the following 

Page 286



 
 

48 

 

Combined Governance Board. An equivalent process will be developed 
for Foster Wales 

• If the post holder for a delegated decision is absent the line manager will 
be expected to make the decision. Should the decision be urgent, and a 
matter delegated to the Director of Operations the Chair of the 
Combined Governance Board will be able to make the decision in 
consultation with the Board and, in the case of the absence of the 
Director of Operations, the relevant staff reporting to the Director of 
Operations. 

• Where a delegated decision is viewed by the postholder as requiring 
further discussion due to the sensitivity of the issue they should consider 
approaching the Director of Operations for advice. In the case of the 
Director of Operations this would involve the Chair of the Joint 
Committee or the Combined Governance Board as appropriate. 

 
5. Variation, ownership and review of the scheme 

5.1. The constitution of the Joint Committee includes authority to delegate a 
function to an officer (Schedule 1, paragraph 25). Variations to the Scheme of 
delegation will be approved by the Joint Committee and any deviation from it 
must be approved by the Joint Committee, with such deviations being 
reported to the next meeting.  

5.2. For administrative purposes, the Director of Operations, on behalf of the Joint 
Committee, is the manager of the Scheme of Delegation and will keep the 
scheme under review in consultation with the Joint Committee Monitoring 
Officer who will be required to comment on the proposals. Any suggested 
amendments will be subject to consultation with the Combined Governance 
Board.   Any proposed changes will be submitted to the Joint Committee 
unless authority to amend the scheme is delegated to the Combined 
Governance Board. If delegation occurs any changes to the Scheme of 
Delegation will be reported to the next Joint Committee. 

5.3. However, the Scheme will be updated as often as is necessary to ensure it 
remains current, following review and consultation in accordance with 
paragraph 5.2. 

 
 
 
Part Two  
The Joint Committee, the Combined Governance Board, Regional 
Collaboratives, Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting and Director of 
Operations 

a. The Joint Committee 
1. The Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint Committee for the 

National Adoption Service indicates Welsh Councils have agreed to 
establish and participate in a joint committee to facilitate the delivery 
of the Specified and Agreed Functions with a view to their 
economical, efficient and effective discharge.  

2. The Joint Committee is specifically responsible for:  
a. The overall scheme of delegation. 
b. establishing and delivering the NAS and Foster Wales strategic aims and 

objectives consistent with its overall strategic direction and within the 
agreed Welsh Government policy. 

c.  strategic direction and decisions as submitted by the Combined 
Governance Board and LHOC’s meeting.   

d. ensuring that the responsible minister is kept informed of any changes 
which are likely to impact on NAS strategic direction or the delivery of the 

Page 287



 
 

49 

 

obligations set out in the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015. 

 
b. The Combined Governance Board 

3. The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board (the 
Board) indicates the overall role is to provide strategic direction and 
decisions for submission to the Joint Committee to facilitate the 
delivery and improvement of adoption services on Wales through 
the National Adoption Service (NAS) arrangements. 

4. The Board also holds the Regional Collaboratives and the Director 
of Operations and central team accountable for delivery and 
performance of their services within the NAS arrangements. 

5. The Board is responsible for ensuring the Director of Operations has 
adequate resources to discharge the Specified Functions and 
deliver an effective NAS. In coming to a decision whether to 
recommend this to the Joint committee the Board will rely on the 
advice of the Director of Operations. 

 
c. Regional Collaboratives 

6. The Regional Collaboratives must provide an annual report to the Director of 
Operations by 31st May covering 

a. The performance of the regional collaborative against the performance 
measures in the National Performance Management Framework 

b. An analysis of the implementation of the annual work programme and 
plans to address any under-performance 

c. Plans to develop the adoption service within the region in accordance 
with the national business priorities 

d. Information regarding the resolution of complaints and determination 
of disputes at local and regional level and any impact on the provision 
of adoption services 

7. The Scheme of Delegation recognises that the Director of Operations will 
need to act on behalf of the Combined Governance Board and the Joint 
Committee when working with the Regional Collaboratives. 

8. The Scheme of Delegation recognises that the Director of Operations is not 
only a member of the Combined Governance Board but is also the principal 
professional advisor on delivery and improvement of adoption services in 
Wales through the National Adoption Service arrangements. This will include 
providing advice to the Joint Committee and Combined Governance Board on 
the Regional Collaborative arrangements including reporting on the position 
to the Board based on the reports that Regional Collaboratives must provide 
to the Director of Operations by 31st May of each year 
 
d. The Director of Operations 

7. The scheme of delegation will operate to enable the Director of Operations to 
carry out the following Specified and Agreed Functions: 

a. Providing leadership to set the direction for NAS including strategic 
planning by agreeing priorities, targets and resourcing following 
engagement with partners and stakeholders as well as support to 
operational planning. 

b. Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and 
service information from the regions and VAA’s. 

c. Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, Joint Committee, and submission to 

Page 288



 
 

50 

 

Welsh Ministers as well as to WLGA and ADSS-C where required; 
and 

d. Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable NAS 
operations including those outlined in the table below. 

 

 
MATTERS DELEGATED BY THE JOINT COMMITTEE TO THE DIRECTOR OF 
OPERATIONS. (The delivery of these delegated functions will be overseen on 
a day-to-day basis by the Combined Governance Board for NAS and the 
Lead Heads of Services meeting for Foster Wales) 

 

Strategic Direction and Business Planning  
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Overseeing the development of the annual programme of work and 
budget for the National Adoption Service (incl. Foster Wales).  This 
will include a medium term (3 year) financial plan accompanied by the 
assumptions on which longer term planning is based 

• A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Ministers and 
the Welsh Government with required oversight of the Combined 
Governance Board and the Joint Committee. 

Financial Management, Commissioning, Propriety and Value for Money  
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Ensuring the NAS stays within its overall budget 

• Ensuring the NAS operates within the financial regulations of the Host 
Council 

• Signing agreements or other documents on behalf of the Joint 
Committee and/or the Combined Governance Board 

• Securing appropriate resourcing through new/additional finance or 
reprofiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment 

• Ensuring the NAS complies with any requirements to publish 
information as required by legislation and the Welsh Government 

• Approving the level of delegation for non-pay expenditure within the 
overall delegation scheme as approved by the Joint Committee and/or 
the Combined Governance Board 

• Approving those posts as having the responsibility of Budget Holder 

• Authorising contracts up to £1m, and in excess of £1m in conjunction 
with the Combined Governance Board 

• Taking overall responsibility for the control of the NAS’s fixed assets 

• Ensures the Host Council’s agreed systems of control are applied within 
the NAS to protect against fraud and losses including data losses 

• Strategic Commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions 

• Ensuring all staff are aware that the NAS operates within the Host 
Council’s:  

o Financial Regulations and procedures.  
o Contract Standing Orders and any Procurement guidelines 

issued by the Host; and 
o Human Resources guidance and procedures 

 

Risk Management and Assurance  

Page 289



 
 

51 

 

The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Ensuring the risks to the Annual Plan are identified, assessed, 
managed and escalated where necessary in accordance with the Host 
Council’s risk management policy 

• Monitoring, controlling and assuring the Joint Committee and Combined 
Governance Board of the business and regulatory risks for which they 
are responsible 

Information and Information Governance 
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Understanding and addressing the risks to the information assets under 
their control or delegated to them by the Joint Committee and/or 
Combined Governance Board 

• Providing assurance to the Host Council’s SIRO on the security and 
use of information assets 

• Ensuring data is managed in accordance with the requirements of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 

• Approving the release of information about the provision of National 
Adoption Services  

• Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales 

• Promotion of adoption, including PR and marketing and the provision of 
the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales 

• Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
the Welsh Government 

• Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales 
 

Dispute Resolution 
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Producing and implementing a plan to resolve any dispute that arises in 
relation to any aspect of the Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint 
Committee for the National Adoption Service 

 

Regional Arrangements and Regional Collaboratives 

• Advising the Joint Committee and/or the Combined Governance Board 
on the working arrangements for the Regional Collaboratives  

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s 

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub/task & 
finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions/work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board 

 

Page 290



1 

Achieving More Together 
/ Cyflawni Mwy Gyda’n 
Gilydd 

NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE IN 

WALES 

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT 

FINAL 

(V1: September 2020; to be reviewed 2025) 

Appendix 5

Page 291



2 
 

 
 
CONTENTS 

 
 
 
1 Interpretation ...................................................................................................... 3 

2 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 4 

3 Term .................................................................................................................. 5 

4 The Partnership Context .................................................................................... 5 

5 Working Styles and Bahaviours ......................................................................... 6 

6 The Role of Commissioning in the NAS Context ................................................ 7 

7 Roles and Responsibilities of Partners .............................................................. 9 

8 Information Sharing, Confidentiality and Implementing Agreed Actions ........... 15 

9 Disputes and Complaint Resolution ................................................................. 16 

10 Length of Partnership Agreement .................................................................... 16 

12 Signatories to Partnership Agreement ............................................................. 18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 292



3 
 

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON [XXXX] 2020 hereon referred to as the 
‘commencement date’ 
 
BETWEEN: 
 
(1) Each of the 22 Local Authorities listed in Schedule 1 of this Agreement, 
 
(2) Each of the 5 Regional Lead Local Authority Officers in representing the broader 
membership of the regional collaborative/s and in particular in relation to sections 5, 6, 
7, 8 and 9 as these apply to their roles, 
 
(3) Director of Operations – National Adoption Service (NAS) in representing NAS as a 
whole and in particular sections 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 as these apply the role, 
 
(4) Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
  
each is a "Partner" and together, the "Partners". 
 

1 Interpretation 

1.1 In this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires: 

1.1.1 References to a statute or statutory provision shall be construed as a 
reference to the same as from time to time amended, consolidated, modified, 
extended, re-enacted or replaced. Any reference to a statutory provision shall 
include any subordinate legislation made from time to time under that 
provision; 

1.1.2 The headings are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation 
of any provision of this Agreement; 

1.1.3 Any phrase introduced by the words "including", "includes", "in particular" or 
"for example" or similar shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit 
the generality of the related general words; 

1.1.4 “Writing" or "written" includes e-mail (provided that an error-free transmission 
report is received by the sender and no notification of malfunction or failure of 
transmission is received by the sender); and 

1.1.5 Definitions of all acronyms are contained within the Directions document 
referred to below and embedded in this Agreement and will therefore not be 
repeated here 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 293



4 
 

 

2 Introduction 

2.1 A Partnership Agreement (hereon referred to as the ‘Agreement’) is a non-
legal contract between partners in a partnership which sets out the terms, 
roles, responsibilities and conditions of the relationships between the 
partners. It describes the powers and duties of each partner and how the 
parties will work together to exercise their powers and comply with the 
National Assembly Directions for the National Adoption Service for Wales 
(NAS), ‘The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) 
(Wales) Directions 2015 (hereon referred to as ‘Directions’).  

        https://gov.wales/adoption-and-children-act-2002-joint-adoption-arrangements-wales-directions-2015-no12 
   

           https://llyw.cymru/cyfarwyddydau-deddf-mabwysiadu-phlant-2002-cyd-drefniadau-mabwysiadu-cymru-2015-rhif-12 

2.2 This Agreement is between the local government partners in the National 
Adoption Service (NAS).  It builds on and updates the original work 
undertaken in setting up the NAS via a document entitled ‘Proposals for 
Achieving a National Adoption in Wales and Development of the Functional 
Model’, dated 15/04/13.  It is important to recognise that this agreement sits 
within a wider collaborative service arrangement that includes others 
including, importantly, the Voluntary Adoption Agencies that operate in 
Wales, Health and Education. 

2.3 NAS was created to improve adoption services in Wales by ensuring 
consistent, good quality services are available in all parts of the country. This 
is underpinned by National Assembly Directions as noted above.  

2.4 This Agreement lays out how ‘business gets done’ in delivering the optimal 

model and vision for NAS in terms of what it was set up to do i.e. ‘creating a 
modern, responsive and forward thinking adoption service for Wales’ which 
fulfils the Directions and in turn will deliver the following business priorities: 

 Increasing the number and range of adoptive homes available so that all 

children with an adoption plan are placed in a timely way; 

 Ensuring prospective and approved adopters receive good quality, timely 

assessment and support; 

 Implementing the National Adoption Service Framework for Adoption 

Support to provide improved access to advice, information and services 

for those that need and want support; 

 Achieving overall improvements in the performance of adoption services 

across Wales. 

2.5 The Agreement seeks to reflect both the significant amount of work, 
commitment and progress NAS has made over the last few years, as well as 

Page 294

https://gov.wales/adoption-and-children-act-2002-joint-adoption-arrangements-wales-directions-2015-no12
https://llyw.cymru/cyfarwyddydau-deddf-mabwysiadu-phlant-2002-cyd-drefniadau-mabwysiadu-cymru-2015-rhif-12


5 
 

signifying a ‘gear change’ to support NAS achieving its optimal model by 
incorporating a commissioning approach. 

3 Term 

3.1 The Agreement shall commence on the Commencement Date and continue 
in full force and effect for the Initial Term unless otherwise agreed by the 
Partners.   

3.2 All obligations arising from the 2015 Directions shall continue on the 
Commencement Date and the obligations of the Partners in respect of NAS 
shall be governed by this Agreement. 

3.3 At the end of the Initial Term, this Agreement may be extended by the Parties 

for further five year periods (each, a Renewal Term) subject to the 
‘Directions’ remaining in force.  The Directions require local authorities in 
Wales to remain part of this arrangement; change to this will be subject to 
further Welsh Government legislation. Proposals to change the regional 
collaborations must be actioned in accordance with section 7 (p) of the 
Directions i.e. by notifying in writing the Chair of the regional management 
committee and the Chair of the NAS Governance Board.  The NAS Director 
of Operations should be included in that correspondence.  

4 The Partnership Context 

4.1 NAS operates in a complex multi-agency partnership context with a range of 
different interfaces between the national/regional and local, political and 
professional, statutory and voluntary and the voices/experiences of people 
accessing and using adoption services in Wales.  

4.2 The work to create and develop NAS to its current better understood and 
more confident position, has been achieved through collective endeavour 
involving local government through the Welsh Local Government Association 
(WLGA), the Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS-C), 
local councils in Wales, the Welsh Government, the Voluntary Adoption 
Agencies (VAAs) in Wales and other stakeholders and partners. The Welsh 
Local Government Association (WLGA) provides the funding and contracts 
with the host local authority for NAS national functions on behalf of all local 
authorities.  Together with ADSS-C, they are the lead bodies for NAS 
because of their respective representative and leadership roles for local 
government and social care in Wales respectively.  

4.3 Fundamentally, NAS is a local government led collaborative which works 

closely and in collaboration within a wider partnership of a range of key 
stakeholders. This includes the Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA’s) that 
operate in Wales and importantly the voice of service users, who have a 
significant role in influencing the governance arrangements – see structure 
chart below.  The intention of this Agreement is to provide further clarity and 
understanding of the local government elements of these arrangements 

Page 295



6 
 

within the wider partnership and in moving NAS to its next phase of 
development. 

       The diagram below shows NAS in a format that resembles a traditional 
       organisation.  This reflects how it would wish to operate whilst acknowledging 
       that it is in fact a collaborative which comprises of a number of sub- 
       collaboratives at regional level. 
 

 
 

5 Working Styles and Behaviours 

5.1 In continuing to build a single culture across adoption services which 
provides ‘the glue’ for the complex multiple range of stakeholders that make 
up NAS, it’s important to agree working styles and behaviours which all 
partners sign up to and adopt. The following styles and behaviours have 
been agreed by the Combined Governance Board (GB) which includes all 
partners and it is anticipated that Regional Management Boards (RMB’s), 
managers / staff working in the adoption functions that remain at Local 
Authority level, staff in VAA’s and other partners agencies do likewise.  All 
have agreed to adopt the following styles and behaviours in delivering a high 
quality national adoption service and will underpin how all stakeholders 
undertake their role: 

 Leadership – within the organisation represented and in NAS meetings 

 Partnership – evidencing a commitment to collaborative working in 
recognition that this delivers improved outcomes for children and families  

 Compliance – with the systems and processes in place which are there to 
ensure consistency and safety of approach 

 Accountability – so that everyone understands the location of their role 
and its unique contribution to the wider system of adoption services  

Page 296



7 
 

 Intelligent data use – maximum benefit is drawn from the data collected 
to both highlight and share good practice but also to surface areas for 
service and practice improvement  

 Engagement with all stakeholders – a  commitment to the fundamental 
principle that NAS is built on the basis of high levels of engagement and 
co-operation between all stakeholders as well as with adopters, adoptees 
and others that receive services 

 Performance and service improvement – through commitment to 
continuous performance monitoring, areas for service improvement which 
is quickly identified and acted upon 

 Best practice and continuous improvement – identification and sharing 
of best practice is the best route to continuous service improvement 

 Professional advice to Ministers, Welsh Government and key 
partners – identification and formulation of sound advice.   

5.2 In order to achieve these behaviours the following working styles are 
necessary: 

 Partners are required to work in a collaborative way, with strong support, 
constructive challenge, shared learning and accountability. 

 All communications and meetings are arranged as constructive spaces 
to tackle issues collectively. 

 Accountability is tested against commitments by each partner in the 
delivery against strategic commitments set out in the Annual Plan. 

 Business meetings aim for consensus agreements based on collective 
responsibility, but revert to majority view if necessary. 

 Agenda and communications between members of meetings will be 
conducted in a professional but cordial manner with minimal formality. 

 Meetings will endeavour to ensure that the sometimes complex 
stakeholder relationships, which members need to refer to, will be 
recognised. 

6 The role of commissioning in the NAS context 

6.1 Central to NAS’s ongoing maturity as an organisation is the development of 
its commissioning skills and capacity specifically in relation to the business 
priorities identified in 2.4. All partners and stakeholders have a role to play. 

6.2 NAS Central Team will increasingly lead this through its work, initially by 
linking new funding or investment e.g. Welsh Government investment or 
grants as appropriate, through the creation of a commissioning fund to 
progress the aims and priorities of NAS.  This is based on data and the 
quantative / qualitative intelligence collected and analysed through the 
central team of NAS to enable NAS to commission directly, or influence 

Page 297



8 
 

commissioning decisions more strategically both within NAS and with 
partners such as the Welsh VAA's, to deliver its priorities. 

6.3 NAS Central Team: based on the best available intelligence around needs 

and resources will recommend to the Governance Board commissioning 
priority areas to be included in the NAS business plan/s which aims to 
achieve agreed optimal adoption service models.  On agreement, they will 
lead a commissioning project through to delivery, including allocating 
resources, purchasing services and monitoring impact alongside its 
substantive role in scrutinising delivery and development. This will include 
agreeing specific responsibilities with each region and VAA.   

6.4 Governance Board: will scrutinise and challenge the intelligence put before 

them before signing off commissioning priorities. The Board will then oversee 
the implementation of the priorities ensuring they are delivering improved 
outcomes for children, young people and their families accessing adoption 
services directly or indirectly.   

6.5 Regional Management Boards: will agree as part of their regional plan their 
business priorities, drawing on the nationally agreed priorities, as well as how 
the resources needed will be provided. This is likely to include accessing the 
national commissioning resources as well as requiring a financial 
commitment of each local authority and / or the regional budget. RMB’s will 
oversee planning by the regional service, in partnership with the central 
team, to undertake pan Wales or regional projects ensuring they can provide 
the agreed level of input, including regional finance, to projects / service 
development.  RMB’s will report on delivery / outcomes to the NAS 
Governance Board, through central team, as well as influence the content 
and priorities of the national plan / commissioning fund.    

6.6 The strategic commissioning function of the central team of NAS in respect of 

adoption services will support regions and partners to:   

 Identify service gaps and development needs through analysis of 
information and feedback; 

 Assist with strategic outcomes focussed planning and 
decommissioning; 

 Support consistency of practice and ensure service user voices and 
experiences shape commissioning decisions. 

 Develop bespoke contract service specifications for tender; 

 Manage and monitoring of framework performance to assess impact of 
commissioning decisions 

Page 298



9 
 

6.7 These functions may be amended by the Governance Board, following 
consultation with partners, during the term of the Agreement in order to meet 
the changing needs and requirements of the service needs and its Partners. 

7 Roles and Responsibilities of Partners 

7.1 Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and Association of 
Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS-C) 

7.1.1 The WLGA, alongside the ADSS-C, are the lead body for NAS and provides 
the funding for its national functions. On behalf of all 22 LA’s, WLGA will hold 
a contract with Cardiff Council for the hosting of the central team and the 
provision of the support services that enables it to operate.  This is likely to 
be through a Joint Committee within its own governance arrangements. 

7.1.2 ADSS-C provides professional and strategic leadership of social care 
services in Wales, representing the collective view of all twenty-two local 
authorities’ social services departments across Wales.  ADSS-C led the 
creation of the original functional model for NAS and shares leadership for 
NAS.  The ADSS-C Lead Director for Children has an active role in 
supporting the co-ordination of the social care leadership across regions and 
local authorities.  

7.2 Host Authority 

7.2.1 In line with the requirement in the ‘Directions’ for there to be a ‘Host’ local 
authority for the national level functions of the NAS, Cardiff Council was 
chosen, through a competitive process, to be the Host Authority.  The Host 
Authority is represented on the NAS Governance Board politically through 
the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and by the lead senior officer, 
the Director of Social Services.  

7.2.2 The role of the Host Authority includes appointing the Director and central 
team staff as well as supporting and enabling the national level functions of 
NAS many of which are outlined in the ‘Directions’ including receiving the 
NAS core budget, which is a ‘top slice’ from the Revenue Support Grant, and 
any other finance such as grant aid for NAS. Since 2015 the NAS, through 
the central team and supported by Cardiff Council, have managed the 
Adoption Register for Wales under contract from the Welsh Government. 

7.2.3 Cardiff Council’s hosting of the central team includes the following: 

 Office space 

 Use of its IT systems and databases, including provision of a separate email 
domain and support to commission a stand-alone website 

 Finance / accounting services 

 Information security, ensuring it’s compliance with changing legislation 

 Advising on workforce planning and supporting human resource issues 

 Support with legal/procurement services as and when required 

Page 299



10 
 

7.2.4 Cardiff Council agrees to use all reasonable endeavours to maintain the 
availability of the Host Services that it provides to NAS within the contract 
with WLGA referred to in paragraph 7.1.1. 

7.2.5 Any significant changes to the provision of the Host Services shall be agreed 
between the Host Authority, WLGA and ultimately the NAS Governance 
Board.  

7.3 Combined Governance Board (GB) 

7.3.1 The former Advisory Group and Governance Board are now combined to 
create a single Governance Board, hereon referred to as the ‘Board’. The GB 
is the decision making body for NAS as outlined in the ‘Directions’. The 
overall role of the Board is to provide strategic direction and decisions to 
facilitate the delivery and improvement of adoption services across Wales 
through the National Adoption Service arrangements. The full range of the 
Boards responsibilities are laid out in the Terms of Reference and the 
‘Directions’. 

       

FINAL V3 NAS 

Combined Governance Board ToR March 2020.docx
 

Its primary strategic responsibilities are: 

 To provide political and professional leadership and advice to inform the 
overall strategic direction of the NAS and adoption services in Wales  

 To hold the Regional Collaborative/s (and their services), the Director of 
Operations and central team, the VAA’s and other services accountable 
for the delivery and performance of their services within the NAS 
arrangements. 

 To approve, as prepared by the Director of Operations / Central Team: 

✓ An annual programme of work for the NAS.  

✓ A half year and full year progress report for the Minster for Health and 
Social Services and the Welsh Government. 

✓ The budget and financial management arrangements of services and 
the office of the Director of Operations. 

 To support the delivery of adoption services through the NAS 
arrangements to ensure it reflects the best possible practice and is based 
on a culture of continuous improvement. 

 To notify Welsh Ministers of any issues regarding the National Adoption 
Service which it considers need to be drawn to their attention 

  

7.4 Regional Management Boards (RMB’s) 

7.4.1 Each region is made up of a number of specified local authority areas which 
form the ‘regional collaborative’ overseen by Regional Management Boards 
(RMB’s). Their primary role is to coordinate adoption activities best delivered 
at the regional level and to implement decisions and strategies from the GB; 
they may also have other roles determined by the legal agreement for their 

Page 300



11 
 

collaborative. RMB’s oversee service performance, delivery and development 
across the regional collaborative. There should be robust links between 
RMB’s, the NAS Governance Board and the Central Team. 

  

Sample RMC ToR for 

P'ship Agreement.docx 

7.4.2 Under the Directions RMB’s are required to produce an annual report to be 

submitted to the Director of Operations by 31st May each year, to include: 

 The performance of the regional collaborative against the performance 
measures in the National Performance Management Framework 

 An analysis of the implementation of the annual work programme and 
plans to address any under-performance 

 Plans to develop the adoption service within the region in accordance with 
the national business priorities 

 Information regarding the resolution of complaints and determination of 
disputes at local and regional level and any impact on the provision of 
adoption services 

7.4.3 Members of RMB’s are drawn from across the adoption sector and bring a 
range of different qualities and experiences to regional strategy and delivery.  

They have specific roles and responsibilities including:  

 To take forward, from their representatives on the GB, decisions requiring 
implementation at regional level 

 To feedback up to the GB any issues requiring consideration at a national 
level 

 To formally agree (or otherwise) to decisions by the RMB on behalf of a 
specific organisation or a body of membership and take decisions back to 
their organisations and services, management / trustee boards (or 
equivalent) for implementation.  

 To advise the RMB about the implications of a decision or a course of 
action on behalf of their organisation or body of membership.  

 To advise the RMB on the basis of their relevant professional role or 
responsibility, personal knowledge and experience.  

7.4.4 The work of each collaborative and RMB has developed in different ways to 
suit local arrangements. However, at minimum to strengthen governance 
from political and professional perspectives, the following should also be in 
place consistently across Wales: 

7.4.4.1. Regional Joint Committees made up of cabinet leads across a region who 
meet twice a year to agree plans and resource recommendations via the 
RMB’s. This should include the member that sits on the NAS Governance 
Board.  They support Members being kept fully informed and involved in the 
strategy, delivery and resourcing of NAS both at regional and national levels. 
In the event of a situation where a regional Joint Committee cannot be 
established, an equally robust arrangement to bring the Cabinet Member’s 
with portfolio responsibility for children’s social care together across the 
region, should be put in place to focus on the regional adoption service. Any 

Page 301



12 
 

such arrangement should be agreed with the Co-Chairs of the Combined 
Governance Board and the Director of NAS.  

7.4.4.2. Regional Operation Groups which bring key managers from each local 
authority together to oversee processes, systems and practice issues across 
the Region to improve consistency and service delivery in their local 
authorities. The RMB may refer matters for consideration by the ROG and 
consider reports/ issues of concern highlighted by them. 

7.5 Regional Lead Authority 

7.5.1 Each region has a Lead Authority which co-ordinates the work of adoption 
within that region. Broadly, each host Authority will fulfil the following 
functions: 

 Provide leadership in respect of adoption matters at regional and local 
authority levels to complement and support that provided nationally. 

 Provide and develop the range of operational activities necessary for the 
adoption functions outlined in their partnership agreement e.g. 
assessment and approval of adopters, matching and placement of 
children, adoption support to a range of people and intermediary advice / 
services.  

 Ensure appropriate staffing, equipment, services and accommodation 
etc. are available to carry out the range of agreed adoption functions 

 Making appropriate arrangements to finance, audit and scrutinise the 
regional service. 

 Establish the RMB in line with regulations including that the views and 
experience of service users are taken into account in carrying out the 
regional functions. 

 Ensure appropriate and robust links to each Local Authority Children’s 
Services Department within the Region are in place to support their 
delivery of the adoption functions they retain for children so that a 
seamless services in line with best practice for children and adoptive 
families is delivered. 

 Ensure compliance with legislation, regulations and the performance 
management framework and strategy set by the Governance Board. 

 Report on a regular basis to the Director of Operations and in turn to the 
Governance Board. 

 Provide appropriate senior manager and political representation on the 
Governance Board. 

 

Page 302



13 
 

7.6 Role of Directors of Social Services (DSS) 

7.6.1 To provide strategic leadership to the implementation of the optimal model for 
adoption services in their Local Authority area including actively engaging 
with RMB’s in overseeing this. 

7.6.2 Advocating on behalf of NAS in different partnership decision making bodies 
which have a bearing and influence on adoption services  

7.6.3 Ensuring the engagement and oversight of lead politicians in the work of the 
adoption collaborative including its inclusion in appropriate arrangements e.g. 
corporate parenting, strategic planning, scrutiny and reporting,  

7.7 Role of Lead Local Authority Heads of Children Services  

7.7.1 This role, usually undertaken by the Head of Service / Assistant Director, 
holds the following responsibilities and expectations: 

 Providing strategic and senior level operational leadership for the 
development and delivery of service in line with national plans including  
holding the local authorities of the collaborative to account  

 To represent the service and regional management board within the 
formal Governance arrangements including the lead Local Authority 
meeting and other ad hoc meetings as required  

 To contribute to and/or provide advice on national developments and 
work streams particularly on those areas which have a direct bearing on 
the wider elements of children’s service business. 

 To champion the adoption agenda and the work of the regional adoption 
collaborative in any partnership decision making bodies and other 
relevant work linked to and having an influence on adoption services. 

7.8 Role of Regional Managers (RAM’s) 

7.8.1 RAM’s have a central role to play in overseeing the strategy and delivery of 
NAS at all levels i.e. national/regional and local. Their core responsibilities 
are to: 

 Act as operational lead for the regional service ensuring high quality 
adoption services are being delivered and the optimal model achieved. 

 Create a regional development plan that meets national and regional 
priorities that is updated and delivered as required. 

 Oversee regional performance analysis and reporting, linking it back into 
regional service delivery and national analysis. 

 Maintain strong links with the Director of Operations and central team, 
contributing to national work and working with other RAM's to shape and 
deliver national priorities across Wales. 

 Maintain relationships with LA’s in the collaborative, the Heads of Service 
and all other stakeholders in support of regional service planning and 
delivery arrangements. 

Page 303



14 
 

7.9 Role of NAS Central Team 

7.9.1 The Director of Operations and central team are appointed by the host 
authority to fulfil a range of functions related to leadership, management and 
oversight of the National Adoption Service.  Some of these are outlined in the 
‘Directions’ and others have been added as NAS has developed. They 
include the following: 

 Providing leadership to set the direction for NAS including strategic 
planning by agreeing priorities, targets and resourcing following 
engagement with partners and stakeholders as well as support to 
operational planning; 

 Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and service 
information from the regions and VAA’s; 

 Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board and submission to Welsh Ministers as well 
as to WLGA and ADSS-C where required;  

 Providing specific functions to support and enable NAS operations 
(currently as below) 

✓ Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales 

✓ Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
Welsh Government) 

✓ Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support  

✓ Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales 

✓ Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s  

 Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the NAS; 

 Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance or re-
profiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, grants 
and investment; 

 Strategic commissioning as outlines in section 6 above 

 Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task & 
finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board 

 Promotion of adoption, including national PR and marketing and the 
provision of the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales.  

 Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

7.10 Meeting structures and arrangements 

7.10.1 In addition to the Combined Governance Board there are a small number of 
Working groups and Task and Finish groups that partners to this agreement, 
and representatives of the wider partnership of NAS, deploy time and 

Page 304



15 
 

commitment to in order to carry out NAS business.  These will vary over time 
but include: 

 Recruitment and marketing  

 Performance 

 Adoption Support  

 Policy and practice 

 Adoption Register for Wales 

 Life Journey Work Framework  

 

7.10.2 In addition to this the co-ordination of the social care leadership across 

regions and local authorities is managed through the arrangements below.  
From time to time either meeting may be attended by other stakeholders from 
within the wider NAS partnership e.g. VAA’s. 

 
7.10.2.1    The Local Authority Business Meeting which is chaired by the ASDSS-C 

Lead Director and attended by lead authority Heads of Children Services  
 /Assistant Directors, Central Team and Regional Adoption Managers.  This 

meeting facilitates the strategic, developmental and resource planning of the 
NAS, with a particular focus on the local government elements including 
encouraging best practice and learning, analysis of performance, supporting 
the involvement of the VAA sector and local authority specific issues.  

 
 7.10.2.2 The Regional Adoption Managers Meeting attended by the Central Team 

and Regional Adoption Managers.  This meeting supports consistent 
operational delivery by a focus on implementation of agreed NAS work 
programmes, tasks allocated by the Local Authority Business Meeting, 
shared learning and cross regional co-operation. 

8 Information sharing, confidentiality and implementing agreed 
actions 

8.1 Partners acknowledge and agree that the effective operation of NAS will 
require the sharing of information, including on occasions confidential and 
information of commercial sensitivity. 

8.2 Each Partner will work within the policies of its organisation in respect of this, 

for regional services as set out in their partnership agreement and for the 
central team those of the Host local authority. Each partner undertakes that it 
shall not at any time disclose confidential information, both service and 
individual, to any person concerning any other Partner, except as permitted. 
Each Partner may disclose any other Partners confidential information to its 
employees, officers, representatives or advisers who need to know such 
information for the purposes of exercising that Partners rights or carrying out 
its obligations under or in connection with this Agreement.  Each Partner 
shall ensure that its employees, officers, representatives or advisers to whom 

Page 305



16 
 

it discloses any other Partners confidential information comply their 
respective confidentiality requirements. 

8.3 In addition to contributing to NAS work  partners will have specific 

responsibilities for communicating key decisions and the views of the 
Combined Governance Board and RMB’s / Trustees to ensure 
implementation through regions, services and local areas where required as 
well as inform NAS decisions and strategy. 

8.4 All partners have a responsibility to share the agreed minutes and public 
statements of the Combined Governance Board and RMB’s / Trustees where 
appropriate to support implementation and service provision as well as to 
ensure that views are not misrepresented or taken out of context by others.  

8.5 In addition, partners should have an understood approach to sharing 
information and implementing actions from the Board with their respective 
agencies included in their partnership agreement. 

9 Disputes and Complaint Resolution 

9.1 In the spirit of both the Directions and this Partnership Agreement it’s 
intended that any disputes/complaints within NAS should be communicated 
and resolved at the earliest possible stage. Adhering to the ‘Working Styles 
and Behaviours’, as laid out in section three of this Agreement, will support 
such an approach.  

9.2 Oversight of any service related disputes/complaints is the responsibility of 
the regional collaborative. Regulation 7 of the Directions requires that 
regional collaboratives must include in their partnership agreement: 

 Arrangements for resolving complaints arising out of the exercise of 
partnership functions, including how to complain and to whom any 
complaint should be addressed; 

 Arrangements for determining disputes between local authorities arising out 
of the exercise of partnership functions 

9.3 Under the ‘Directions’ RMB’s are required within their annual report to the 
Director of Operations to provide information regarding the resolution of 
complaints and determination of disputes at local and regional level and any 
impact on the provision of adoption services.    

9.4 Complaints and representations in respect of the Central Team will be 

managed within the processes of the host local authority. 

10 Length of Partnership Agreement 

10.1 This Partnership Agreement will be reviewed within 5 years of its 
implementation i.e. 2025 which provides sufficient time for the new 
arrangements to become fully functional and identify any longer term 

Page 306



17 
 

changes that may then be required.  An earlier review may be agreed by the 
WLGA and ADSS-C, in consultation with the Co-chairs of the Combined 
Governance Board and the NAS Director, should a compelling need arise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 307



18 
 

 

 

 

 

11 Signatories to the Partnership Agreement 

Signed on behalf of Welsh Local Government         

Association (WLGA) by: 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Signed by the NAS Director of Operations:  

 
Authorised Signatory 

    

 North Wales Regional Collaborative: 

Signed on behalf of the Conwy County  

Borough Council by: Jenny Williams 

Strategic Director – Social Care and Education 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Denbighshire County  

Council by: Nicola Stubbins 

 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Flintshire  

County Council by: Neil Ayling 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Gwynedd Council by: 
Morwena Edwards  

Authorised Signatory 

 

Page 308



19 
 

Signed on behalf of the Isle of Anglesey  

County Council by: Fôn Roberts 

Director of Social Services 16.12.2020 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Wrexham County  

Borough Council by: Alwyn Jones  
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

South East Wales Regional Collaborative: 

Signed on behalf of the Blaenau Gwent  

Borough Council by: Damien McCann,  

Corporate Director of Social Services 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Signed on behalf of the Caerphilly County  

Borough Council by: Dave Street 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Monmouthshire  

County Council  by: Julie Boothroyd 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Newport City Council by: 

Chris Humphrey 20.01.2021    
Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Torfaen County  

Borough Council by: Keith Rutherford  
Authorised Signatory 

 

 

Page 309



20 
 

Mid and West Wales Regional Collaborative: 

Signed on behalf of the Carmarthenshire  

County Council by:  

  

 

 

 
 

Signed on behalf of the Ceredigion County  

Council by: Sian Howys 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Powys County  

Council by: Alison Bulman  
Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Pembrokeshire County  

Borough Council by: Jonathan Griffiths 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 

 

 

Western Bay Regional Collaborative: 

Signed on behalf of the Bridgend County  

Borough Council by: Claire Marchant 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 

Signed on behalf of the Neath Port Talbot  

County Borough Council  by: Andrew Jarrett  
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 

Signed on behalf of the City and County of 

Swansea  by: Dave Howes 
 

Page 310



21 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Collaborative: 

 

Signed on behalf of the Rhondda Cynon Taf  

County Borough Council by: Paul Mee 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

Signed on behalf of the The City of Cardiff  

Council by: Sarah McGill, Corporate Director 

People & Communities 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

Signed on behalf of the Merthyr Tydfil  

County Borough Council  by: Lisa Curtis-Jones 

 
Authorised Signatory 

 
 
 
 

Signed on behalf of the Vale of Glamorgan  

Council by: Lance Carver 
 

Authorised Signatory 

 

Page 311



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
CARDIFF ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 
 
CULTURE & LEISURE (COUNCILLOR PETER BRADBURY) 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 5   
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To inform Cabinet on the development of an updated Allotment Strategy 

for the city and to seek approval for its publication. 
 
Background 

 
2. Cardiff Council owns and manages 28 Statutory Allotment sites located 

across Cardiff, providing 3,461 lettable plots, with 2,398 individual named 
plot holders, some of whom hold more than one plot. 
 

3. Cardiff’s Allotment Strategy was first adopted in 2004 and a group of Site 
Representatives had been involved in its development, monitoring and 
ongoing review. 

 
4. The original Strategy was subject to reviews in 2010 and 2014, resulting 

in the updating of action plans. 
 

5.  Key achievements of the strategy since 2004 have included: 
 

 The introduction of Local Management of allotment sites by Site 
Associations 

 The successful removal of the Allotment subsidy to secure allotment 
budgets 

 Programmed plot clearance to increase capacity 

 The introduction of pro-active management of the waiting list (closing 
over-subscribed lists if more than 50% of plot capacity, reviewed 
monthly, and regular cleansing of the list to check all those on the list 
want a plot)  

 The introduction of a more structured Local Management agreement 
to encourage greater participation from sites 

 The removal of routine waste collections from sites to encourage re-
use and recycling  

 Partnership working and the development and delivery of projects 
including, the War Veterans Project at the Leckwith Droves Site, the 
Action For Children Project at the Colchester Avenue site and the 

 

Page 313

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 5 

emerging partnership with Travis Perkins that will see infrastructure 
improvements to sites, in areas of deprivation.  

 
6. Engagement with the allotment community has been a key feature of, 

and integral to the review. A Strategy Review Group, led by Councillor 
Jane Henshaw, Assistant Cabinet Member for Local Environment, 
supported by site representatives and officers was established, to inform 
its development. 
 

7. A comprehensive consultation exercise with allotment tenants was 
undertaken in the autumn of 2021. This exercise generated 499 
responses, a 20% response rate. The outcomes from the consultation 
exercise that saw an overall increase in satisfaction when compared with 
the 2018 exercise are set out in Appendix 3 of the draft strategy 
document, at Appendix A. 

 
Issues 
 
8. The Strategy has been developed to address the key issues raised by 

the review group and outcomes from the consultation exercise involving 
tenants and site representatives, as set out below: 
 

 Lack of site representation on some sites 

 Lack of investment in allotment infrastructure, leading to a backlog of 
repairs 

 Allotment notices and procedures (which impact on turnover of 
tenancies) 

 Use of scarce resources (water/soil/peat) 

 Satisfying demand for plots, particularly owing to post pandemic 
interest in allotment gardening 

 Improving accessibility of allotments in terms of proximity and 
suitability  

 
9. The Strategy also seeks to address the need to adapt the service to our 

changing climate linked to the Council’s One Planet Strategy. There is 
also an opportunity to contribute to the Nature Recovery agenda by 
enabling local sites to utilise ground unsuitable for cultivation to support 
wildlife and biodiversity.   

 
10. The updated Strategy has three key aims: 
 

 To make the best use of available resources 

 To provide a sustainable allotment service 

 To ensure allotment gardening is accessible 
 
11. The Strategy document provides a full overview of the service and the 

constraints within which it currently operates. It highlights areas of 
concern which require further consideration to adapt the service to meet 
current and future needs, which include: 
 

 Reviewing allotment charging mechanisms 

Page 314



Page 3 of 5 

 Reviewing the supply and use of treated water for irrigation to reduce 
the cost of wastage and increase the use of collected rainwater 

 Addressing the use of pesticides and chemical fertilisers by plot 
holders, with a view to reducing and eventually eliminating their use 

 Improving cultivation methods to enhance the conservation of soil 
and improve the growing medium  

 Encouraging the intergenerational transfer of skills 

 Improving support for site-based volunteers, including Site 
Representatives 

 
12. The action plan, attendant to the strategy document has been designed 

to drive the delivery of thirty-four actions categorised in the short, 
medium and long term, and in order to achieve strategy aims.  
 

13. Critical to the success of the strategy will be the continued engagement 
of the allotment community and the progress against the delivery of the 
action plan will continue to be monitored through a review forum of 
nominated Site Representatives who will make up the Strategy Review 
Group. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
14. To ensure that the key issues, challenges, and opportunities facing 

Cardiff’s allotment service are addressed.  
 

Financial Implications 
 
15. This report does not identify any additional financial implications.  The 

strategy delivery plan includes a number of actions and objectives which 
are assumed to be met within the available budget resources or through 
any additional grant funding opportunities that become available. 

 
Legal Implications  
 
16. The Allotments Act 1908 to 1950 provides the legal framework for 

allotments, which includes a duty upon local authorities to provide 
allotments. The strategy annexed to this report set out the Council’s aims 
and objectives for providing this service. 

 

Equalities & Welsh Language 
 
17. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 

Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh 

public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties Councils must, in 

making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 

discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 

relations on the basis of protected characteristics. Protected 

characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race 

– including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) 

Pregnancy and maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual 

orientation (i)Religion or belief –including lack of belief.  

 

Page 315



Page 4 of 5 

18. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the 
Council must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the 
Welsh Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic 
Duty Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate 
how it has discharged its duty. 

 
19. An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities 

implications of the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from 
socio-economic disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the 
outcomes of an Equalities Impact Assessment, detailed at Appendix B.  

 
20. The decision maker should be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 

Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  

 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

21. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) 

places a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national 

well-being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, 

healthier, more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and 

thriving Welsh language, and is globally responsible.  In discharging its 

duties under the Act, the Council has set, and published well-being 

objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving the national 

well-being goals. The wellbeing objectives are set out in Cardiff’s 

Corporate Plan 2020 -23.   

 
22. When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all 

reasonable steps to meet its wellbeing objectives. This means that the 

decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will 

contribute towards meeting the wellbeing objectives and must be 

satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those 

objectives. 

 

23. The wellbeing duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 

‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council 

to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are 

met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 

own needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must 

take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives 

in Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must: 

 

 Look to the long term 

 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems 

 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being 

goals 

 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions 

Page 316

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf


Page 5 of 5 

 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them 

 
24. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision 

accords with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the 

Statutory Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible 

on line using the link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-

communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en  

 
Policy and Budget Framework  

 
25. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposal is within the 

Policy and Budget Framework, if it is not then the matter must be 

referred to Council. 

 
HR Implications 
 
26. There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations 

contained in this report. 
 
Property Implications 

 
27. There are no further specific property implications in respect of the 

Cardiff Allotment Strategy 2022-2027.The Strategic Estates Department 
will continue to assist and advise the Parks and Harbour Authority where 
necessary in supporting delivery in relevant areas and on any property 
related activities which affect allotment land and provision. Where there 
are property transactions or valuations required to deliver any proposals, 
they should be done so in accordance with the Council’s Asset 
Management process and in consultation with Strategic Estates and 
relevant service areas. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Cabinet is recommended to approve the Cardiff Allotment Strategy 2022-2027. 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Neil Hanratty 
Director Economic Development  
 

4 March  2022 
 

 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix A - Cardiff Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 
 
Appendix B - Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
 

Page 317

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


This page is intentionally left blank



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Appendix A  
CARDIFF ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 (DRAFT) 
 
Contents 
1.0 Why an Allotment Strategy? … … … … … … 3 
1.1 What is an Allotment? … … … … … … … 3 
1.2 Background to Cardiff’s Allotment Strategy … … … … … 4 
1.3 What is the Purpose of this Strategy? … … … … … … 5 
1.4 The Input of Allotment Holders … … … … … … 5 
 
2.0 Cardiff’s Allotment Provision … … … … …  7 
2.1 Cardiff Council’s Allotment Sites … … … … … … 7 
2.2 Applying for a Plot and Waiting Lists … … … … … … 7 
2.3 Allotment Tenancy Agreements … … … … … … 8 
2.4 Cultivation Standards … … … … … … … … 8 
2.5 Allotment Charges … … … … … … … … 9 
2.6 Parks Based Allotment Team … … … … …  10 
2.7 Site Management … … … … … … … … 10 
2.8 Partnership Working with Sites … … … … … … 11 
2.9 Livestock on Allotment Sites … … … … … … … 11 
2.9 Allotment Infrastructure … … … … … … … 11 
2.10 Allotment Holders Perception of Allotment Provision … … … … 12 
2.11 The Impact of Covid-19 on the Allotment Service … … … … 12 
2.12 The Impact of Environmental Concerns and Climate Change on the Allotment 
 Service … … … … … … … … … 13 
2.13 The Allotment Community … … … … … … … 14 
 
3.0 Vision, Aims and Objectives for the Allotment Service … … … 15 
3.1 Vision for the Allotment Service … … … … … … 15 
3.2 Aims and Objectives for the Service … … … … … … 15 
 Aim 1: A well-managed allotment service: … … … … … 15 
 Aim 2: A sustainable allotment service:  … … … … … 15 
 Aim 3: An accessible allotment service:  … … … … … 15 
 
4.0 How Will This be Achieved? … … … … … … 17 
4.1 Delivery … … … … … … … … … 17 
4.2 Existing Resources … … … … … … … … 17 
4.3 People Resources … … … … … … … … 18 
4.4 Other Resources … … … … … … … … 18 
 
5.0 Monitoring and Review … … … … … … … 21 
 
Appendices … … … … … … … … … … 21 
Appendix 1 Glossary of terms … … … … … … … 22 
Appendix 2.1 Cardiff Council Allotment sites … … … … … 25 
Appendix 2.2 -Other Allotment sites in Cardiff … … … … … 26 
Appendix 3 Summary of Consultation results … … … … … 27 
Appendix 4 Delivery plan … … … … … … … … 29 
 

Figures and Tables 

Figure 1  Map showing location of Cardiff Allotment sites … … … 7 

Figure 2 Flowchart detailing cultivation order and termination process … 8 

Page 319



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Figure 3 Word cloud of responses from the Allotment consultation on the  
  benefits of having their allotment … … … … … 12 

 

 
Table 1 Legal framework for Allotment provision … … … … 1 

Table 2 Cardiff Allotment Strategy progress since 2004 … … … 2 

Table 3 Allotment charges 2022/23 … … … … … … 9 

Table 4 Satisfaction scores for Allotment Plot Holder Surveys in 2018 and 2021 11 

Table 5 Outline Allotment budget (2021/22) … … … … … 16 

 

Page 320



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

1.0 Why an Allotment Strategy? 

1.1 What is an Allotment? 
  
 The word ‘allotment’ derives from land being ‘allotted’ to an individual under an 

enclosure award.  Modern day allotments are parcels of land that are divided into 
plots and rented to individuals for the purpose of growing food.  A full glossary of 
terms used in this document is provided in Appendix 1. 

  
 Allotment provision is a statutory requirement for Local Authorities and is governed 

by Allotment law as set out in Table 1 below. 
 
 Table 1: Legal framework for Allotment provision 
 

Date Legislation Provision 

1908 Smallholdings and 
Allotments Act 

 Required local authorities to make 
provision for allotments if 6 or more people 
demanded them 

1922 Allotments Act  The notice period that has to be given to 
leave the plot 

 Determines what can be grown on the plot 

 Sets the size of an individual plot (40 
poles, 10 perch or ¼ of an acre) 

 Determines what can be done with the 
produce grown on the plot 

 Provides limits on sharing and transferring 
the plot 

1925 Allotments Act  Required allotments to be considered in 
every town planning scheme 

 Required that land acquired or purchased 
for allotments could not be disposed of 
without ministerial consent 

1950 Allotments Act  Restated the requirement that local 
authorities should provide allotment land 
in urban areas (rural allotments are not 
offered the same protection) 

 Makes provision for the keeping of rabbits 
and hens on allotment sites (but not chicks 
or cockerels) 

2020 The Town and 
Country Planning 
(General Permitted 
Development) 
(Amendment) 
(No.3) (Wales) 
Order 20201 

 Wales only - Permitted development rights 
(PDRs) for development extended to the 
erection, extension, alteration or 
replacement of storage sheds and 
greenhouses on community growing 
spaces, within parameters defined by the 
Order.  

  
 In Wales, the provision of allotments is considered to be an important mechanism for 

local authorities deliver their obligations under the Wellbeing of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. In March 2016, the Welsh Government published their Guidance 
for Traditional Allotments and Community Led Garden Projects, setting out the 
requirement for Local Authorities to develop and make available on their website an 
Allotment strategy that covers the following issues: 

                                            
1 Changes to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 [HTML] | 

GOV.WALES 

Page 321

https://gov.wales/changes-town-and-country-planning-general-permitted-development-order-1995-html#:~:text=The%20Town%20and%20Country%20Planning%20%28General%20Permitted%20Development%29,Growing%20Spaces%20into%20Schedule%202%20to%20the%20GPDO.
https://gov.wales/changes-town-and-country-planning-general-permitted-development-order-1995-html#:~:text=The%20Town%20and%20Country%20Planning%20%28General%20Permitted%20Development%29,Growing%20Spaces%20into%20Schedule%202%20to%20the%20GPDO.


Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 Encourage access and the benefits from engaging with allotments and 
alternatives available in the region  

 Include a clear and simple procedure for obtaining an allotment  

 Include tenancy rules  

 Link up relevant polices and simply explain the rights and laws around allotments 
and any policies needed to be highlighted 

 Map and describe all local provision including on site facilities  

 Include costs and justification, relative costs to UK average 

 Include a clear strategy for communication, allotment provision, waiting lists, 
activity, feedback, and reports 

 Link to local and national support organisations 

 Include a chapter explaining and sharing links to alternatives to allotments style 
growing. (i.e. community growing projects, land share schemes etc) 

 Include the agreed collective plans for developing allotment provision across the 
authority 

 Explain simply the management process, data recording and reports 

 Share the action points and time frames. 
   
 In March 2016, Welsh Government issued Guidelines for the provision of Allotments, 

and in 2021, the information has been updated as ‘Guidance for Growers and 
Growing Groups’, which sets out broad details of the legal framework for Allotments 
and how this differs from other forms of community growing2 as well as providing 
extensive information for those wishing to set up a growing project. The document 
also includes details of the changes to the General Development Order extending 
permitted development rights to certain allotment structures as detailed in the table 
above. 

 
1.2 Background to Cardiff’s Allotment Strategy 
  
 Cardiff Council developed the first Allotment Strategy for the city in 2004. Table 2, 

below, outlines the evolving content of this and subsequent Strategy updates. 
 
 Table 2: Cardiff Allotment Strategy progress since 2004 
 

2004-10  
Allotment Strategy 

2010-14  
Strategy Review 

2014-18 (extended to 2021) 
Interim Strategy 

 Allotment Charter 
developed 

 Guidance produced 
for new allotment 
holders 

 Introduction of 
Local Management 
Agreement 

 Removal of 
allotment subsidy 
and introduction 
of ring-fenced 
budget to protect 
allotment income 

 Clearance 
programme to 
increase number 
of workable plots 

 Reinstatement of 
College Farm 
Allotment site 

 Proactive management 
of waiting list through 
monthly review of list 
and temporary closure 
of the list 

 Provision of guidance 
on allotment provision 
in Local Development 
Plan and 
accompanying Special 
Planning Guidance 

 Implementation of new 
Local Management 
Agreement 

 Improved partnership 
working between 

                                            
2 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/allotments-and-community-growing-guidance-growers-
growing-groups.pdf 

Page 322

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/allotments-and-community-growing-guidance-growers-growing-groups.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/allotments-and-community-growing-guidance-growers-growing-groups.pdf


Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

allotment sites and 
Council officers 

 
 
 
1.3 What is the Purpose of this Strategy? 
  
 The strategy presents an opportunity to provide factual and up to date information 

about the purpose, use and management of statutory allotment land in Cardiff and 
the issues that are facing the Allotment Service, in line with the Welsh Government 
guidance set out in 2016, with one exception – the issue of community growing 
beyond statutory allotments is acknowledged, but the focus of this strategy is on the 
statutory provision for which the Council is responsible. 

 
 Since the original Allotment strategy was adopted in 2004, much has changed in 

Local Government. Austerity measures introduced in around 2010 have put 
increasing pressure on Council budgets and although the Cardiff revenue budget is 
now ring-fenced and funded through allotment income, there is a backlog of capital 
improvement work that cannot be funded from that source and requires a significant 
financial allocation. Many of the shortcomings of the previous strategies are linked to 
lack of resource and this strategy sets mechanisms for considering how these issues 
can be resolved. 

 
 Climate change and concerns about the environment are changing the way in which 

people view their food sources and there is a demand for locally grown produce to 
reduce food miles. This has increased the demand for allotment plots, particularly 
among younger working age people. 

 
 There are also challenges to the way in which common horticultural practices are 

viewed – such as the use of peat and pesticides and the provision and use of potable 
(treated) water and the development of no dig horticulture to conserve soil quality. 
The ailing infrastructure of allotment water supplies has led to a series of significant 
leakages and consequent repair costs in recent years and there is a need to review 
levels of water consumption and alternative provision. 

 
 Finally, the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has affected many aspects of service 

provision. Some of these impacts have been positive, others negative, but coming 
out of the pandemic, this review of Allotment service provision is timely and offers 
potential for some long-standing issues to be considered and addressed. 

 
1.4 The Input of Allotment Holders 
 
 From the early days of the first Allotment Strategy, the direction and content of the 

Strategy has been guided and influenced by the input of an Allotment Strategy group, 
comprising nominated Allotment Site Representatives to represent the views both of 
plot holders and Site Associations. 

 
 The current Allotment Strategy group includes representation from allotment sites 

across the city, with all sizes of site included. Several of the Site Representatives are 
also elected officers for the Cardiff Allotment Holders Association (CAHA), 
established in 2015 to provide an effective voice for allotment holders across the city. 
Council Officers work closely both with Allotment Site Representatives and CAHA to 
deliver allotment provision within Cardiff and details of how this is achieved are 
provided within the Strategy.  

   

Page 323



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  

Page 324



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  

Page 325



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

2.0 Cardiff’s Allotment Provision 
 
2.1 Cardiff Council’s Allotment Sites 
 Cardiff Council manages 28 allotment sites distributed across the city, providing 

3,739 plots in lettable condition.  The sites are administered and managed by one 
designated Allotment Officer based within the Parks Service. 

 
 In January 2022 there were 2404 active allotment holders and a waiting list of 1292 

individual names (increased from 793 in January 2020 due to more restricted letting 
and a spike in interest in allotment gardening during the Covid-19 pandemic).   

 
 Some Community Councils also make allotment provision and there are a number of 

proposed allotment sites located within new developments that are likely to be 
managed externally.  A plan showing the location of all the known allotment and 
similar growing sites in Cardiff is provided in Figure 1, below, and Appendix 2 
provides background information about each of these sites. 

 

 
Figure 1 – Map showing location of Cardiff Allotment sites 

2.2 Applying for a Plot and Waiting Lists 

 The waiting list for allotments is managed centrally and details of how to apply for 
allotment plots is provided on the Council’s website. When applying, new applicants 
are permitted to apply for plots on up to two sites and their names are removed from 
both site lists when they accept a plot on one of their chosen sites. 

 
 In order to manage expectation and avoid long waiting times for plots on certain sites, 

the waiting lists numbers on each site are reviewed on a monthly basis and lists or 
closed to new applicants if the waiting list represents more than 50% of the number 
of plots available on the site and re-opened when it falls below this number. This has 

Page 326



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

helped to manage the length of the overall waiting list for allotments, which is also 
fully reviewed every 3-4 years to remove people who no longer wish to remain on the 
list. 

 
 During the Covid-19 pandemic, plot letting activity and cultivation notices were 

suspended for health and safety reasons to avoid close contact meetings and unfair 
penalties for those unable to attend sites due to shielding or key worker 
commitments. At the same time all site waiting lists were also closed to prevent these 
from becoming unmanageable. Since restarting the plot letting procedure in autumn 
2020, the waiting lists have been slowly reducing as plot lettings have taken place. A 
further cleansing exercise will be undertaken in late 2022/23 to ensure that those who 
requested a plot during or after the pandemic still wish to pursue these requests as 
lives begin to return to ‘normal’.    

 
2.3 Allotment Tenancy Agreements 

 Allotment Tenancies are held in name of an individual or jointly between two or more 
individuals. They operate on an annually renewable tenancy, starting on 2nd 
February each year, which is rolled over from one year to the next as long as the 
conditions of tenancy are being met. Site Representatives are able to advise if the 
Allotment Tenancy has been breached.  

 
 A new Community tenancy agreement has been developed for groups that hold a 

plot on behalf of their members / customers. These are mainly charitable 
organisations, and the community tenancy reflects the same tenancy conditions as 
the standard form, but with responsibility for the tenancy in the name of the 
organisation with a nominated contact.  

 
 Introduction of any changes to allotment tenancies requires a 12-month notice 

period, which is being issued to all community groups from February 2022 for full 
introduction of the agreement by February 2023. 

 
2.4 Cultivation Standards 
  

The conditions of tenure for allotment plots are set out in the allotment tenancy. 
Actions taken in respect of failure to cultivate are governed by set rules within 
allotment legislation which involve the issue of notices, set response times and an 
appeals process. This is detailed in the flow chart overleaf (Figure 2). The legislative 
framework for managing allotments means that some processes, particularly the 
enforcement of cultivation rules and termination of tenancies, can be lengthy and 
drawn out, which is frustrating for Site Associations, but has to be complied with to 
prevent legal challenges. 
 
Much progress has been made through the introduction of Local Management 
arrangements, which has brought an increased volunteer resource into the 
management of some sites, working alongside the Allotments Officer, but as the 
Council only has one Allotment Officer managing more than 2000 individual 
tenancies, communications can become difficult when responses are required for 
multiple notices from multiple sites at the same time. 
 

 New software is being introduced in 2022/23 to improve this process and further 
engagement with CAHA and Site Representatives will be undertaken to continue to 
monitor and address shortcomings in this area. 

 
 

Page 327



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  
 
Figure 2 – Flowchart detailing cultivation order and termination process 

  

2.5 Allotment Charges 
 
 The Allotment budget has been ringfenced since 2015. There is no direct Council 

subsidy, and it is reliant on income generated from allotment rentals. This situation 
was achieved following a period of above-inflation increases in allotment charges to 
reach a financially neutral position and protect the budget from further cuts between 
2010 and 2015. The year-on-year increase since 2015 is governed by the 
requirement in Allotment legislation for this to be linked to inflation and the cost of 
leisure facilities within the Council. The rate is linked to the Consumer Price Index in 
October of each year. 

 
 Charges are made based on the area of land occupied (based on a per perch 

charge; 1 perch = 25m2). There are three categories of allotment site within the 
current charging mechanism as detailed in the table below. Plot charges and the 
additional cost of the chalet buildings at Pontcanna Chalet Gardens are all subject to 
a 50% concessionary rate for over 60s and those in receipt of certain benefits, by 
production of evidence that they are in receipt of that benefit. 

 
 Table 3: Allotment charges 2022/23 
 

Category Criteria Cost per perch (2022/23) 

A 
Sites with mains toilets, water 
supplies and made up roads 

£13.38 

B 
Sites with water supplies and 
made up roads 

£12.94 

C 
Sites with no toilets, water 
supplies and limited made up 
roads 

£12.36 

Page 328



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Chalet Gardens (per 
chalet) 

Charged on top of plot rental 
charge 

£126 

Brick cubicle (per 
cubicle) 

Charged on top of plot rental 
charge where these are 
provided 

£28.98 

 
 Over the years, as improvements have been made to sites through upgraded roads, 

installation of composting toilets and improvements to water supplies, the differences 
in provision between the categories is less distinct that it was when the charging 
system was introduced more than 20 years ago. Supply of water has also become far 
more expensive in recent years, so a review of the charging mechanism is overdue. 

 
 The category of each site is shown in the list of allotments in Appendix A.   
 
2.8 Parks Based Allotment team 
 
 The Allotment Service is managed by one Allotment Officer, funded through the 

ringfenced Allotment budget. The Allotments Officer is supported by a manager and a 
small administrative team in Parks, as a part of their role.  

  
 The Allotments Officer deals with: 

 Waiting list management and cleansing 

 Site liaison (with elected / nominated Site Representatives) 

 Support of sites (elections, disputes etc) 

 Management of billing (in association with team in Financial Services) 

 Correspondence and complaints relating to allotment matters 

 Site repairs and maintenance 

 Management of Allotment records (plot holder database) 

 Issue of formal notices 

 Responding and co-ordinating responses to appeals against notices 

 Payment of bills (water / repairs / site expenses) 

 Setting up and managing Local Management Agreements, including issue of 
grants to sites 

 
Communications is often raised as an issue with the service, but with 28 Allotment 
Sites and over 2500 Allotment plot holders, the volume of work is high.  
 
The current Allotment Management software is in need of replacement and a new 
bespoke Allotment Management software package is being evaluated for purchase 
during 2021/22 which should reduce the administrative burden significantly and 
release more officer time for supporting sites. 

 
2.7 Site Management 
  
 Waiting lists for all Council allotment sites in Cardiff are managed centrally, but at a 

site level, there are varying levels of local involvement. Each site is encouraged to 
elect a Site Representative as the contact point between the Council and the site. 
This individual is the contact point for new tenants and assists with the setting up of 
new tenancies on a strictly first come first service basis, via the waiting list, in return 
for a small expenses allowance. Many, but not all sites, also have a locally elected, 
constituted Committee or Association (see Appendix 1).  

  
 Local management of sites was introduced in 2015, giving Allotment Associations 

options for taking on certain management tasks in return for a percentage of site 

Page 329



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

income returned to them to address repair and maintenance issues themselves. The 
level of agreement (1,2 or 3) determines both the length of agreement, the number of 
tasks undertaken and the percentage of income, with the Level 3 agreement being 
the longest term (up to 10 years) to provide a basis for application to external funders 
for improvement works. In 2021, 14 out of the 28 sites have elected to sign up for 
one of these agreements, including two sites who work together under a 
'memorandum of understanding', an arrangement introduced to address the problem 
of smaller sites not having the capacity to undertake the roles required in the Local 
Management Agreement. This arrangement has been successful in supporting the 
limited capacity of the smaller site, working together with the larger site to achieve 
benefits for both sites under a single agreement. 

 
 Local representation and management both contribute to the effective running of 

allotments and the service would be difficult to run within existing resources without 
the assistance of these volunteers. There is a need to encourage all sites to elect or 
appoint a representative to facilitate and improve site management. 

 
2.8 Partnership Working with Sites 
 
 Allotment Site representatives have met with the Council Allotments team on 

quarterly basis however these meetings have lapsed during the Covid-19 pandemic. 
Online meetings have taken place, but there has been a mixed reaction to these, and 
further consideration will be given to the best way of meeting for the future. 

 
 The Cardiff Allotment Holders Association was established formally in 2015 by Site 

Associations to support local sites and provide a channel for raising common 
concerns with the Council. The Allotments team works with CAHA to resolve issues 
of concern, including support for establishing improved representation on sites across 
the city.      

 
2.9 Livestock on Allotment sites 
 Under Allotment legislation, plot holders are able to keep chickens, bees, and rabbits 

on allotment plots. In Cardiff, the urban setting of most allotment sites and the 
reduced size of many plots mean that only certain sites contain plots that are suitable 
for these purposes.  

 
 Chicken and rabbit keeping is restricted to Allotment sites where there are large (10 

perch) plots located away from rear garden areas, as the presence of such livestock 
can attract rats and other vermin. Certain plots on these sites have been designated 
as suitable for livestock keeping and plot holders are required to sign an additional 
agreement to indicate that they are aware of the animal welfare requirements of 
keeping livestock. 

 
 Beekeeping on allotment sites is governed by a similar set of requirements. Again, 

certain sites have been designated as suitable for beehives and there is a restriction 
on the number of hives that can be accommodated in any one site to ensure pollen 
supplies are plentiful.  All potential beekeepers are required to provide evidence of 
training in beekeeping and adjacent plot holders and residential properties are 
canvassed prior to consent being given to ensure that there is local support and that 
the potential for harm to those with bee allergies is accounted for.  

 
2.10 Allotment Infrastructure 
  
 Most allotment sites managed by Cardiff Council date back to the mid to late 20th 

century and many have poor quality or deteriorating infrastructure – site fencing, 

Page 330



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

roads, communal building, and water supplies. Efforts have been made over time to 
secure funding to improve this, but success has been limited and the existing 
revenue budget, which is tied directly to allotment income, is insufficient to upgrade 
most facilities to a reasonable standard. A full review of allotment infrastructure is 
needed to properly allocate funding and seek additional funding support. 

 
 Local management has allowed sites to apply for external funding to make 

improvements, but sources of funding are also limited for the types of infrastructure 
improvements required.  

 
2.11 Allotment Holders perception of Allotment provision 
 

In 2018, a consultation exercise was carried out with Allotment holders as part of the 
preparation for the updated strategy and this was repeated in 2021 to capture 
changes in perceptions of provision and the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the 
allotment service. 
 
The total number of respondents to the 2018 survey (836 responses) exceeded the 
more recent survey in autumn 2021 (499 responses). This is likely to be due to the 
online nature of the more recent survey, as paper copies of the survey were only 
made available on request, not provided to each site. However, the responses 
demonstrate a broadly similar view. An average satisfaction score was calculated 
from responses to questions about the service, as shown in Table 4, below. 
 
Table 4: Satisfaction scores for Allotment Plot Holder Surveys in 2018 and 2021 
 

 Score average or 
above 

Score good or 
very good 

2018 84% 57% 

2021 86% 65% 

  
Appendix 3 provides a more detailed summary of the satisfaction results from both 
surveys. 

 
2.12 The Impact of Covid-19 on the Allotment Service 
  
 The Covid-19 pandemic impacted all areas of the Council’s operation. Allotment sites 

remained open throughout lockdowns, but with restricted operation linked to 
legislation around social distancing, use of masks and potential areas for transfer of 
the virus: 

 

 All communal facilities including toilets were closed with some phased 
reopening in progress from late Autumn 2021, where cleaning and ventilation 
can be addressed appropriately at a site level (there is no cleaning service for 
allotment facilities). 
 

 Plot lettings were suspended during the first lock down and only reintroduced 
in Autumn 2020, with specific requirements for social distancing when signing 
forms and electronic exchange of documents. 

 

 All plot cultivation notices were suspended during 2020 due to restricted 
opportunities for people to access their plots, but cultivation orders were 
reinstated in Summer 2021. 

  

Page 331



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 One impact of the pandemic has been to create a backlog of cultivation orders and 
termination notices, which are a legal requirement of allotment management to 
ensure that the ground is being cultivated for food growing. This has reduced the 
availability of plots which has led to increased waiting lists. However, this is a 
temporary situation which will be resolved over time as more plots become available 
through the termination process and people giving up their plots. 

 
 Local representation on some sites has been difficult to sustain during the pandemic 

due to the resignation of some Site Representatives and difficulties in organising 
elections when face to face meetings cannot take place. These issues are being 
addressed with the support of CAHA. 

 
 On the positive side, the pandemic has resulted in increased interest in allotment 

gardening and Site Representatives have reported a significant improvement in 
cultivation standards across the city, with allotment sites looking at their best during 
the summer of 2020 and into 2021. 

 
 The 2021 survey demonstrated the benefits felt by many of having their allotment as 

a place of ‘escape’ from lockdowns as shown in the word cloud in Figure 3, below. 
 

 
 Figure 3: Word cloud of responses from the Allotment consultation on the benefits of having 

their allotment 
 

2.13 The Impact of Environmental Concerns and Climate Change on the Allotment 
Service 

 
 Local food growing 
 Climate change and concerns about the environment are changing the way in which 

people view their food sources and there is a demand for locally grown produce to 
reduce food miles.  This has increased the demand for allotment plots, particularly 
among younger working age people, since the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
 Sustainable horticultural practises 
 Challenges to the way in which common horticultural practices are viewed – such as 

the use of peat and pesticides, no dig horticulture and the provision and use of 
potable (treated) water to irrigate plots, need to be discussed more widely in relation 
to the allotment service in response to the Council’s One Planet Strategy. 

 
 Water supply issues 

Page 332



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 The ailing infrastructure of allotment water supplies has led to a series of expensive 
leakages and consequent repair costs for the Allotment Service over the past few 
years.  Much of the pipe network is unmapped and leaks are difficult to trace. 
Incidences of plot holders tampering with water supplies have also been discovered, 
with watering systems ‘plumbed in’ to bypass the need to collect water from troughs.  

 
 Since 2016, sites have been looking at ways of reducing water consumption and 

providing water in a more environmentally sustainable way by using collected 
rainwater or groundwater, but there is now a need for a fundamental review of the 
way in which water is provided and paid for on allotment sites to determine if there is 
a more effective way of charging for water that will reduce water waste and 
encourage more water collection. 

 
 Changing weather patterns 
 Flooding has become a persistent problem on some allotment sites, particularly those 

located on river flood plains and in close proximity to major roads, where water run-
off causes localised problems. There are also issues of water emanating from 
allotment sites causing flooding to adjacent properties which have to take priority in 
relation to budget allocation. Changing weather patterns can also impact on the types 
of crops that can be grown on allotment sites and the availability of water during 
periods of drought. Tried and tested cultivation methods may need to be modified to 
address these problems and this could also run counter to more traditional 
approaches, for example the use of no-till cultivation methods to preserve soil quality.  

 
 Increasing interest in biodiversity 
 The decline in pollinators has been well documented and many sites are responding 

to this with the introduction of wildflower areas to encourage pollinators, wildlife 
ponds and areas of biodiverse habitat, particularly in areas where the soil is 
unsuitable for growing crops. A number of sites have developed communal orchards 
and ponds on non-plot areas within their boundaries, but it is important that these are 
agreed with the Allotments Officer prior to establishment to ensure that they do not 
compromise the area of land that can be cultivated. 

 
 
2.14 The Allotment Community 
 Most Allotment sites have experienced a heightened sense of community following 

the pandemic, but there has been and an increase in plot holder disputes, many of 
which have been resolved at a site level. Where this cannot be achieved, 
complainants are asked to report issues to the Police non-emergency 101 number if 
the situation is of significance. Many of the issues identified in the consultation that 
impact negatively on plot holders are linked to the behaviour of others on the site, 
including: 

 Theft by other plot holders 
 Antisocial activities 
 Unregulated structures 
 Plot trespass 
 Lack of cultivation 

 The Allotment Community is intergenerational and there are opportunities for skills 
transfer between generations and adaptation of provision to keep older people 
involved in the allotment community. Several sites have also applied for and been 
awarded the Green Flag Community award (award scheme managed by Keep Wales 
Tidy3 in conjunction with Welsh Government), which recognises both the contribution 

                                            
3 Green Flag Award 

Page 333

https://greenflagaward.org/


Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

of the allotment community towards site management and the environmental quality 
that has been achieved. 

 

Page 334



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

3.0 Vision Aims and Objectives for the Allotment Service 

 
3.1 Vision for the Allotment Service 
 Cardiff will have a well-managed allotment service that provides an affordable and 

sustainable way for individuals and community groups to access opportunities to 
grow food for themselves and their families. 

 
3.2 Aims and Objectives for the Service 
 

Aim 1: We will make the best use of resources available 
 
Objectives 
 
1. To ensure that all allotment sites have effective Site Representation including 

an increased proportion of sites under local management 
 
2. To continue to make progress in addressing the level of repairs and 

maintenance required on allotment sites throughout the lifetime of the strategy 
and seek further resources to address ailing allotment infrastructure. 

 
3. To improve processes and communications between the Council, sites, and 

individual plot holders, through the use of new technology, virtual meetings, 
and electronic communications wherever possible. 

 
Aim 2: We will demonstrate principles of economic, environmental, and social 

sustainability in the way that the service is run 
 
Objectives 
 
4. To reduce the consumption of and reliance on mains water supplies and other 

scarce resources 
 
5. To continue to work with local sites to satisfy demand for allotments, support 

the allotment community and protect allotment revenue 
 
6. To monitor the impact of our changing climate on allotment growing and 

develop initiatives that encourage growers to address the consequences for 
site management, growing methods and resource use. 

 
Aim 3: We will continue to develop Allotment provision in Cardiff to serve the 
 needs of everyone 
 
Objectives 
 
7. To improve access to allotments for disadvantaged groups 
 
8. To ensure that Allotment tenancy agreements and procedures are fit for purpose 

and updated in line with Allotment legislation and local needs 
 
9. To continue to seek to secure and improve allotment provision in Cardiff as 

the city expands and develops. 
 
  

Page 335



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  

Page 336



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

4.0 How Will This Be Achieved? 
 
4.1 Delivery 
 
 Many of the actions required to deliver the strategic objectives will require changes to 

working practise and can be addressed within existing resources or with limited 
investment. However, there are some actions that will require particular consideration 
because additional financial or people resources may be required to resolve them. 

 
4.2 Financial resources 
  

a) Parks Revenue Funding 
The Allotment revenue budget is currently ring fenced and expenditure is balanced 
by income. There are limited opportunities to increase income. The Allotments Act of 
1950 dictates that Councils should charge for allotments at a price that tenants 
should be reasonably expected to pay, taking into account allotment rents charged 
by other authorities and charges for other recreational activities in the city. 

 
Between 2010 and 2014, a series of above inflation charges for allotments were 
made to remove the Council subsidy to achieve the current position of a ring-fenced 
budget. At time this was not challenged, however in 2014, a similar attempt to raise 
allotment charges in Leeds did face a challenge, which was partially upheld by the 
Court on the basis that Allotment Law was not properly taken into account. The Court 
however did determine that there was no obligation on the Council to subsidise 
provision of allotments. 
 
Any further above inflation increases in income in Cardiff would have to be justified 
on the basis that they are in line with charges in adjacent authorities. Current 
increases are kept in line with recreational activity charges in the city. 
 
The breakdown of the 2020/21 Allotment budget (Table 5 below) shows how the 
funding was allocated and spent in that year. The Allotment grant elements provided 
to locally managed sites help to address many of the small day to day repairs that in 
the past have been difficult to resolve, but unforeseen major repairs and additional 
water charges are the two most challenging items to manage. These are not covered 
by the Local management agreements and if they occur, can result in failure to 
deliver on other commitments due to lack of finance. 
 
During the period of the Strategy period, consideration will need to be given to 
resolving the water supply and failing infrastructure issues that currently prevent the 
effective management of the allotment budget. 
 
Table 5: Outline allotment budget for 2021/22 
 

2021/22 outline budget  

  

Staffing and administration costs  £           38,000.00  

Repair costs  £          25,000.00  

Water bills  £           35,000.00  

Grants to locally managed sites  £           62,000.00  

  £         160,000.00  

  

  

Income from plot rentals  £         160,000.00  

 

Page 337



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 
 

 
b) Capital funding 

 
There is currently no specific annual capital allocation for Allotment improvement 
works, although historically allocations have been made via overall parks asset 
allocations within the capital programme. A more structured and informed approach 
in identifying capital requirements, over time will be required. 
 

 
4.2 People Resources 
 

The Allotments Officer is the only member of staff employed within the Allotment 
budget. Unless there is a significant increase in the budget this will not change.  
 
The allotment workload is complex and includes a significant amount of one-on-one 
meetings and calls, high levels of correspondence (around 10% of parks 
correspondence each year), management of maintenance and repairs to sites and 
the implementation of the legislative framework around cultivation notices, tenancy 
terminations and appeals. 
 
The purchase of new specialist allotment management software should make a 
significant difference to the volume of administrative work and relieve some of the 
pressure in this area. 
 
The Allotment Officer is supported by the Parks Administration team and a line 
manager, as well as others within the Parks Service, in an informal capacity. 
 
With only one full time employee engaged to manage the allotment service, the work 
of the volunteer Site Representatives is invaluable, and the service would not 
function without this input. 
 
Most Site Representatives elected by their sites as the contact point between the 
Council and sites, although some are self-nominated where sites are small, and no 
formal committee or association exists. They undertake new plot holder meetings, 
plot inspections and the issue of informal letters where cultivation is not up to 
standard. 
 
Several sites are currently without a Site Representative and work is ongoing with 
these sites to encourage plot holders to consider taking on this role to improve 
representation and involvement. 

  
 
4.4 Other Resources 
  
 In 2021/22, an Allotment Support Grant of £59,395 has been offered by Welsh 

Government to enhance allotment provision in Cardiff after the Covid-19 pandemic. 
From this, £58,000 has been allocated to replacement fencing at Pontcanna A and 
Ely Great Farm Allotment sites, with the balance used to purchase water butts for 
distribution to sites. 

 
 Further grant funding may be available in future years, but this is not guaranteed.  
 

Page 338



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 Some Locally Managed sites are able to apply for additional funding from external 
funders to enhance their sites, due to the longer term of the Level 2 and 3 
agreements signed with the Council that demonstrate their tenure of the land. 
Several sites have applied for external funding for a variety of improvements such as 
wildlife ponds, orchard planting and communal polytunnels. 

 
   

Page 339



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  

Page 340



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

5.0 Monitoring and review 
 
 A delivery plan for the strategy is provided in Appendix 4. 
 
 Progress will be monitored through meetings with the Allotment Strategy Group and 

reported to Site Secretaries meetings, with an updated copy of the action plan 
provided for each site on each occasion. 

 
 The Allotment Strategy will also be considered through the Council’s Scrutiny 

process and will be called in at various time during implementation to monitor 
progress. 

 
  

Page 341



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

  

Page 342



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1 Glossary of terms 
Appendix 2.1 Cardiff Council Allotment sites 
Appendix 2.2 Other allotment sites in Cardiff 
Appendix 3  Summary of consultation results 
Appendix 4 Allotment Strategy Delivery plan 
  

Page 343



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Appendix 1 – Glossary of terms 
 
Allotments Allotments are usually large areas of land owned by a local 

authority and divided up into individual allotment plots.  Each 
allotment plot is let to a named individual (or pair of individuals) 
and is used to grow fruit and vegetables for their own 
consumption, not for commercial gain.  The plots are usually of a 
standard size and have a yearly charge for rent and services 
(such as water).  Under allotment law, local authorities have a 
legal duty to provide allotment land if there is a demand. 

  
Allotment authority The public body that has the statutory obligation to provide allotments 

is called the allotment authority.  Under allotment legislation, County 
Councils, County Boroughs and Community Councils are all deemed 
to be allotment authorities.  In the absence of Community Councils, a 
County Borough is the sole allotment authority. 

  
CAHA Cardiff Allotment Holders Association – established formally in 2015 

to support and represent Allotment Sites in Cardiff. Allotment sites can 
affiliate with CAHA and benefit from a strong voice speaking out to the 
Council on behalf of sites in issues that concern them as well as more 
practical support such as negotiating and bulk buying of horticultural 
supplies. 

  
Community allotments Where there is a lack of formal allotment land, some communities 

start groups that find their own land and create their own allotment 
site.  As with formal allotments, the land is divided into plots which are 
let to individuals.  These sites do not have set sizes rules or services 
as they are created by communities to meet their own needs.  

  
Community gardens A community garden is a community led growing project where a 

piece of land is acquired for community growing.  Community gardens 
differ from community allotments in that the land is cultivated 
collectively rather than in plots let to individuals.  

  
Community orchards A community orchard is a growing project focussed on the 

establishment and management of an orchard for the benefit of the 
community.  Some formal allotment sites may have a small 
community orchard established where plots are unsuitable for letting.  
In these cases, the orchard produce will be available to all the plot 
holders on the site. 

  
Community plots Some organisations like to provide opportunities for growing as part of 

their service but do not have land available to satisfy this need.  In 
some cases, the organisation will rent one or more plots on a formal 
allotment site to provide this experience.  These plots are not 
community gardens as the same rules apply as to any other allotment 
plot holder.  In Cardiff, a community tenancy agreement is being rolled 
out to these groups to make this work better for the plot holders, the 
sites, and the Council. 

  
NAS National Society of Allotment and Leisure Gardeners 
 
Rods and perches 

 

Page 344



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

Traditional measurement units for Allotment plots. A standard 
Allotment plot measures 10 perches, which is equivalent to ***m2. 

  
WG Welsh Government 

 
 

  
 
  

Page 345



Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

 

Page 346



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 29 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Appendix 2 - Allotment Sites in Cardiff 
A2.1 Council owned sites 

Name of site Status Category Management Site 
Representative 

Site 
Association? 

No of lettable 
plots (Nov 2021)4 

No on waiting list 
(Nov 2021) 

Allensbank Statutory A Locally managed Yes Yes 192 97 

Birchgrove Statutory A Locally managed5 Yes Yes 200 100 

Colchester Avenue Statutory A Locally managed Yes Yes 349 175 

College Farm Statutory B  Yes Yes 40 25 

Cowbridge Road Statutory B  Yes Yes 52 35 

Elgar Crescent Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 63 106 

Ely Farm Statutory B  Yes Yes 172 147 

Fairwater Statutory B  In process In process 107 93 

Flaxland Avenue Statutory B  Yes Yes 98 80 

Forest Farm Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 161 87 

Greenway Road Statutory B  No No 160 88 

Heol Chappell Statutory B  No No 19 5 

Highfields Statutory A Locally managed Yes Yes 159 82 

Lady Mary Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 138 90 

Leckwith Droves Statutory C Locally Managed Yes Yes 234 130 

Llandaff Fields Statutory A  Yes Yes 34 77 

Llandaff North Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 220 124 

Llanishen Statutory B  Yes Yes 164 77 

Lon y Deri Statutory B Locally managed4 Yes No 18 10 

Lynton Terrace Statutory B  No No 39 25 

Pengam Pavilion Statutory A Locally managed Yes Yes 78 45 

Pengam Permanent Statutory B  Yes No 164 84 

Pontcanna A Statutory A  Yes Yes 62 58 

Pontcanna Chalet Gardens Statutory A  Yes No 8 11 

Pontcanna Permanent Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 236 134 

Porthamal Road Statutory B  Yes No 9 22 

Rhydypenau Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 138 72 

South Rise Statutory B Locally managed Yes Yes 131 76 

                                            
4 Total numbers of plots will change over time as plots are divided, take out of use due to changing site conditions (e.g. flooding) or brought back into use after clearance.   
5 Locally managed jointly – Birchgrove / Lon y Deri under a Memorandum of Understanding 

P
age 347



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 30 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

A2.2 Other allotment sites in Cardiff 
 
Name of site Location Status Site Association? Manager 

Creigiau Allotments Heol Pant y Gored, Creigiau n/k Yes Dynevor Gardening Association 

Radyr & Morganstown 
Allotments 

Ffordd Treforgan, Morganstown n/k Yes Radyr Community Council 

St Edeyrn’s Development tbc Not laid out yet n/a n/k 

Plasdwr Allotments (2 sites) tbc Not laid out yet n/a Plasdwr Management Company 

Tongwynlais Allotments Off Castle Road, Tongwynlais n/k n/k n/k 

  

P
age 348



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 31 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Appendix 3: Allotment Consultation summary 
 

Satisfaction results averaged for all sites 
All criteria were scored by respondents from 1 (very poor) to 5 (very good), with 3 being average and the scores were converted to average percentages 
across all allotment sites. The 2020 survey contained 3 additional questions. 

 

 2018 
Rating average or 

above 

2018 
Rating good or very 

good 

2021 
Rating average or 

above 

2021 
Rating good or very 

good 

Communal facilities 78% 48% 74% 47% 

Site entrances and gates 80% 57% 80% 56% 

Provision of water 88% 67% 86% 73% 

Maintenance of non-plot areas   74% 43% 72% 49% 

Site roads 82% 51% 81% 50% 

Value for money n/a n/a 93% 76% 

Growing conditions 91% 62% 94% 68% 

Diversity of nature and wildlife n/a n/a 95% 71% 

Community spirit n/a n/a 95% 81% 

Allotment Association 92% 73% 93% 76% 

Average of all the above  
(overall satisfaction score) 

84% 57% 86% 65% 

P
age 349



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 32 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

 

 
  

P
age 350



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 33 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Appendix 4: Allotment Strategy Delivery plan 
 

Aim 1: We will make the best use of resources available 
 

Action 
ref 

Action Timescale Progress  Status 

Objective 1: To ensure that all allotment sites in Cardiff have effective site-based management and representation appropriate 
to their circumstances 
1.1 To support those sites that do not currently have Allotment 

Site Representation to elect or appoint a Site Representative 
and (if appropriate) a Site Committee / Association. 

MEDIUM 
By February 
2023 

Site elections being arranged for Fairwater 
and Greenway Road sites. 
Improved representation being discussed 
with Lynton Terrace Allotment site. 

In progress 

1.2 To put in place an appropriate procedure to record the 
process for election of a new Allotment Site Committee / 
Association or site representative where there is no 
allotment site committee or association 

MEDIUM 
By February 
2023 

Allotment Officer is working with CAHA to 
arrange meetings and procedure will be 
documented and agreed with them. 

In progress 

1.3 To increase the uptake of local management of allotment 
sites in Cardiff from 50% of sites to 75% by February 
2026.  
 

LONG 
By February 
2026 

Interest being shown by sites that have 
recently established committee structures 

In progress 

1.4 To review the effectiveness of the quarterly face to face Site 
Representative meetings with a view to consideration of a 
more flexible means of meeting with Site Representatives 
(online or face to face) with the intention of encouraging 
smaller and less well represented sites to interact with the 
rest of the allotment community. 

SHORT 
By July 2022 

Small group online meetings have been 
held in the summer. Feedback was positive 
and a second round of meetings will be held 
in January. 

In progress 

     

Objective 2: To continue to make progress in addressing the level of repairs and maintenance required on allotment sites 
 
2.1 To address the issue of overgrown plots on sites through 

an annual programme of plot clearance 
 

ONGOING 
Annual review 

Plot clearance being arranged for 2021-22 
at the following sites: 

 Ely Great Farm 

 Fairwater  

 Lynton Terrace 

 Pengam Pavilion 

In progress 

P
age 351



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 34 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Action 
ref 

Action Timescale Progress  Status 

 Greenway Road 

2.2 To support non – locally managed sites to ensure that they 
are not overlooked in the allocation of funding for repairs. 

ONGOING 
Immediate 

CAHA have requested that non locally 
managed sites are prioritised where 
possible.  
Major fencing repairs are due to be carried 
out at Pontcanna A and Ely Great Farm in 
winter 2021/22, prioritised for WG grant 
funding. 

In progress 

2.3 To programme a full asset review during the lifetime of 
the strategy to determine the full level of repairs and 
maintenance required to bring all allotment sites to a 
similar standard of provision. 
 

LONG 
Within 5 years 

This will need to start in 22/23 years if 
completion within 5 years is to be achieved 

Not started 

2.4 To work with resource monitoring team to streamline the 
invoicing and processing of water bills for allotment sites 
to ensure that water leaks are identified and repaired 
before they result in huge loss of metered water. 
 

SHORT 
By summer 
2022 

Initial meetings have taken place autumn 
2021 

In progress 

     

Objective 3: To develop and review allotment procedures on a regular basis to provide a consistent approach to management 
across all sites. 
3.1 To work with site associations to put in place open and 

transparent procedures for the recording, banking and 
return of key deposits on all allotment sites, including 
those sites without representation or bank accounts. 
 

MEDIUM 
By end 2023 

 Not started 

3.2 To publish an updated version of the Allotment Handbook to 
provide all plot holders with a common source for 
information on allotment gardening.  

SHORT 
By March 2022 

Draft document prepared but needs to be 
reviewed in the light of Covid and recent 
changes in allotment planning consent 
procedures 

In progress 

3.3 Prepare a procedure for dealing with Recycling and waste 
and cascade to Sites and plot holders 

SHORT 
By March 2022 

Initial discussions have taken place with 
Waste management with a view to 
increasing recycling from allotment sites 

In progress 

P
age 352



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 35 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Action 
ref 

Action Timescale Progress  Status 

3.4 To continue to work with Site Representatives and Site 
Associations to improve responses in relation to the 
cultivation order process and reduce time wasted in the 
letting of new plots, working within the legislative framework.  

ONGOING New software to be implemented in Spring 
2022.  

Ongoing 

3.5 To review renumeration for Site Representatives expenses 
on a regular basis, ensuring that the level of renumeration is 
appropriate for each site. 

SHORT 
By March 2023 

Review has been discussed at site 
representatives meetings and a proposal 
will be brought to this forum before March 
2023. 

In progress 

     

 

  

P
age 353



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 36 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Aim 2: We will demonstrate principles of economic, environmental, and social sustainability in the way that the 
service is run 
 

Objective 4: To reduce the consumption of and reliance on mains water supplies and other scarce resources 
 

4.1 To work with sites to reduce and eventually eliminate the 
established conventional use of peat on allotment sites 
within the lifetime of this strategy 

MEDIUM - 
LONG 
Within 3-5 
years 

 Not started 

4.2 To review the current charging mechanism for allotments to 
ensure that plot holders are billed for water provision in a 
way that encourage more sustainable use of water. 

MEDIUM -
LONG 
Within 3-5 
years 

 Not started 

4.3 To work with sites to reduce or eliminate established 
conventional use of chemical pesticides by plot holders on 
allotment sites within the lifetime of this strategy 

MEDIUM -
LONG 
Within 3-5 
years 

 Not started 

     

Objective 5: To continue to work with local sites to satisfy demand for allotments and protect allotment revenue 
 
5.1 To work with Site representatives to reduce the site 

waiting lists that have built up over the past 2 years 
(during the Covid-19 pandemic). 
 

SHORT 
By December 
2022 

Waiting list cleansing was undertaken in 
spring 2021, but the waiting lists remain 
high due to increased demand as a result of 
the pandemic. This will need to be 
discussed fully with Site Representatives 
and CAHA. 

Not started 

5.2 To continue to work with Site Representatives to improve 
cultivation standards across Allotments through the effective 
use of Cultivation orders and the Tenancy Termination 
process, 

ONGOING Purchase of new allotment software In progress 

5.3 To continue to work with Site Representatives to support plot 
holders with short term issues that prevent them from 
cultivating their plot 

ONGOING  Ongoing 

5.4 To address issues around management of livestock on 
allotments (chickens and bees) – dealing with pathogens 
and over stocking and a plot and site level 

ONGOING  Ongoing 

P
age 354



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 37 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

5.5 To review the current list of unlettable plots on a site by site 
basis and work with Site Representatives and Allotment 
associations to bring plots back into cultivation where this 
can be achieved. 

LONG 
Within 5 years 

Ongoing clearance work being undertaken 
but full review to be implemented within 
lifetime of strategy 

Not started 

     

Objective 6: To monitor the effects of climate change on allotment growing and develop initiatives that encourage growers to 
address the impact of our changing climate and promote biodiversity through improved site management, growing methods 
and resource use. 
6.1 To encourage and support emerging good practise in 

changing horticultural practise through provision of 
demonstration plots, distribution of information and creation 
of opportunities for training and development.  

ONGOING  Ongoing 

6.2 To work with Allotment Associations to develop a record set 
that records the ongoing impact of the changing climate on 
allotment gardening in Cardiff. 

LONG 
Within 5 years 

 Not started 

6.3 To improve the monitoring of water use on Allotment Sites  SHORT 
By March 2023 

 In progress, but on 
hold during 
pandemic 

6.4 To develop proposals for the future reduction in use of mains 
water and improvements to water harvesting on sites. 

MEDIUM 
Within 3 years 

 Not started 

6.5 To work with Site Associations to identify areas and 
implement appropriate schemes where positive action can 
be taken to increase levels of pollinators and general 
biodiversity on sites in non-cultivated areas 

ONGOING  Ongoing 

     

 

  

P
age 355



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 38 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

Aim 3: We will continue to develop Allotment provision in Cardiff to serve the needs of everyone 
 
 
Objective 7: To improve access to allotments for disadvantaged groups 

7.1 To continue to work with charities, community 
organisations and others to provide community allotment 
space to act as a stepping stone for disadvantaged 
groups to become part of the allotment community in a 
supportive environment. 

ONGOING Rollout of Community Allotment tenancy 
during 2022-23. 
Continued support for groups e.g. 
Welsh Veterans at Leckwith-Droves 
Action for Children at Colchester Avenue 

In progress 

7.2 To work with local Site Associations to review the needs of 
older people in the allotment community with a view to 
providing a documented procedure that allows older 
allotment holders to maintain their links with the site through 
raised beds or reduced size plots when they can no longer 
cultivate their plot. 

MEDIUM 
Within 3 years 

 Not started 

7.3 To work with local Site Associations to review the needs of 
people with disabilities in the allotment community and work 
with appropriate Equalities Groups to develop a documented 
procedure that allows individuals allotment holders to be 
supported in allotment gardening. 

MEDIUM 
Within 3 years 

 Not started 

7.4 To work with local Site Associations to review the needs of 
younger people with limited time to maintain an allotment to 
have access to growing space and expertise to develop their 
abilities in allotment gardening 

MEDIUM 
Within 3 years 

 Not started 

7.5 To promote and support the intergenerational transfer of 
skills within the allotment community through working with 
Site Associations and Community Allotment tenants.  

ONGOING  Ongoing 

7.6 To ensure that any review of pricing structure takes 
account of ability to pay  
 

LONG  
Within 5 years 

 Not started 

7.7 To ensure that information about any disability or 
particular needs are recorded at the time of application 
for a plot, as an option, to allow more appropriate 
responses for those with physical and visual 
impairments, metal health issues and those with learning 
disabilities. 

SHORT 
By March 2023 

This will be linked to the implementation of 
the new software purchased in March 2022 

Not started 

P
age 356



 
Allotment Strategy 2022-2027 

 

ALLOTMENT STRATEGY 2022-2027 39 Updated 7 February 2022 

 

 

     

Objective 8: To ensure that Allotment Tenancy Agreements are fit for purpose and updated in line with Allotment legislation and local needs 

8.1 To implement the new Tenancy Agreement for 
Charity/Community group tenancies on allotment plots 
by February 2024. (Under allotment legislation, tenants 
must be given one full year’s notice before any changes 
to tenancy conditions). 

SHORT 
By February 
2024 

All new community tenancies will use the 
new format from February 2022. 
All existing community allotment tenants will 
be given the opportunity from now until 
February 2024 to take up the new tenancy 
format if they wish to do so.  
From February 2024 all existing and new 
community allotment tenants will be using 
the new form. 

In progress 

8.2 To review Allotment Tenancy Agreements at least once 
during the five-year strategy period to ensure they remain fit 
for purpose and updated in line with Allotment legislation 
and local needs 

LONG 
Within 5 years 

 Not started 

     

Objective 9: To continue to secure and improve allotment provision in Cardiff as the city expands and develops.  

9.1 To work with CAHA to develop a network of allotment 
providers across Cardiff, including Community Councils and 
Management Companies on new developments. 

MEDIUM 
By March 2023 

 Not started 

9.2 To identify the need for new allotment sites in 
association with the area allocated for new housing 
within the Local Development Plan (LDP), throughout the 
lifetime of the LDP 

MEDIUM 
Links to LDP 
timescale 

Through LDP process In progress 

 

P
age 357



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

1 

 

 

Strategy Title: Cardiff Allotment Strategy  

Updating: 2022 - 2027 

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the Strategy 

Name: Rosie James Job Title: Parks Strategy and Development 
Manager 

Service Team: Strategy and 
Development Team 

Service Area: Parks  

Assessment Date: 1 February 2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Strategy?             
 
 
The Allotment Strategy update is intended to provide factual and up to date information 
about the purpose, use and management of statutory allotment land in Cardiff and the 
issues that are facing the Allotment Service. 
 
The Strategy objectives are set within the context of 3 key aims as follows: 
 
Aim 1: We will make the best use of resources available 
 

 To ensure that all allotment sites have effective Site Representation including an 
increased proportion of sites under local management 

 

 To continue to make progress in addressing the level of repairs and 
maintenance required on allotment sites throughout the lifetime of the strategy 
and seek further resources to address ailing allotment infrastructure. 

 

 To improve processes and communications between the Council, sites, and 
individual plot holders, through the use of new technology, virtual meetings, and 
electronic communications wherever possible. 

 
Aim 2: We will demonstrate principles of economic, environmental, and social 

sustainability in the way that the service is run 
 

 To reduce the consumption of and reliance on mains water supplies and other 
scarce resources 

  

 To continue to work with local sites to satisfy demand for allotments, support the 
allotment community and protect allotment revenue 
 

 To monitor the impact of our changing climate on allotment growing and develop 
initiatives that encourage growers to address the consequences for site 
management, growing methods and resource use. 

 
Aim 3: We will continue to develop Allotment provision in Cardiff to serve the 
 needs of everyone 
 

 

Page 359



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

2 

 

 To improve access to allotments for disadvantaged groups 
 

 To ensure that Allotment tenancy agreements and procedures are fit for purpose and 
updated in line with Allotment legislation and local needs 

 

 To continue to seek to secure and improve allotment provision in Cardiff as the 
city expands and develops. 

 

 

 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.] 

 
The Allotment Service is a statutory function of the Council, governed by Allotment 
legislation. Allotment sites are parcels of land that are divided into plots and rented to 
individuals for the purpose of growing food for personal consumption. 
 
Cardiff Council owns and manages 28 Statutory Allotment sites located across Cardiff, 
providing 3,461 lettable plots, with 2,398 individual named plot holders (some of whom 
hold more than one plot) – figures from 1 February 2022. 
 
Allotment tenancies are obtained through a waiting list procedure. Applicants can opt to 
be placed on a waiting list for up to 2 sites and are offered a plot on a first come first 
served basis, when their name comes to the top of the list. Local site volunteers work 
with the Allotment Service to allocate plots and monitor their cultivation. 
 
The budget for the Allotment Service is ring fenced to the income generated by the 
letting of allotment plots. Discounts are provided for over 60s and those on certain 
benefits. 
 
 

 
 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years   X 

18 - 65 years X   

Over 65 years  X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

Page 360



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

3 

 

evidence, if any.  
The allotment community has a high percentage of older / retired people who can 
dedicate time to allotment gardening. Sites Associations are keen to support older 
allotment tenants who can no longer maintain their plots and several sites are installing 
smaller raised bed plots that can be used by those who want to keep on gardening at 
an advanced age.    
The allotment pricing structure currently provides a 50% discount for over 60s and 
those in receipt of certain benefits. The Allotment Strategy includes an action to review 
the pricing structure for allotments which may result in a change to the current pricing 
policy for over 60s and those on certain benefits.  
Allotments can only be held in the name of people over the age of 18. 
Family and community involvement in allotment gardening is encouraged and there are 
several community-held group allotments that welcome family groups, for example the 
Action for Children Allotment at Colchester Avenue which was established to support 
local families receiving support from the charity 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Continue to support Site Associations in the development of succession strategies to 
allow older people to continue allotment gardening. 
Ensure that any review of pricing structure review takes account of ability to pay and 
any increases in cost will also need to be in line with the cost of other leisure provision 
to comply with Allotment legislation.  
Continue to work with community groups that wish to support families in allotment 
gardening, where this can be accommodated as a community plot. 
.   

 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment    X 

Physical Impairment   X 

Visual Impairment   X 

Learning Disability   X 

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition   X 

Mental Health    X 

Substance Misuse   X 

Other     

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The strategy will have a positive impact on all allotment holders irrespective of any 
disability. The recent implementation of a Community Group tenancy has improved the 
management of allotment tenancies held by charities and specialist groups that support 
those with physical and visual impairments (e.g. Cardiff Institute for the blind and the 
Welsh Veterans groups) and those with learning disabilities. 

Page 361



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4 

 

 
Currently information about disability is not collected on the application form unless it is 
volunteered by the applicant.  

 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
Continue to support community held allotments through the ongoing rollout of the 
community tenancy. 
 
Disability information to be added to plot application form as an option, to allow more 
appropriate responses for those with physical and visual impairments, metal health 
issues and those with learning disabilities. 
   

 
 
 

 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 

X 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy. 

 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Page 362



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

5 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage  X  

Civil Partnership  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by 
the conditions of the tenancy. 
Joint allotment tenancies are available to any allotment plot holders who wish to 
garden with others, but this is not limited to marriage, civil partnership, or any 
other status. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy  X  

Maternity  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
Families are encouraged to become allotment gardeners.  
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy.  
It is recognised that pregnancy and maternity can present a challenge to the ability to 

Page 363



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

6 

 

maintain cultivation levels. All allotment tenants are advised to speak to the Site 
Representative if there is a temporary reason why they cannot cultivate their plot so 
that appropriate support can be provided. 

 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
Work with site volunteers to provide support to ensure cultivation of plots can be 
maintained (new action)  

 
 
 
 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White  X  

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups  X  

Asian / Asian British  X  

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British  X  

Other Ethnic Groups  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy. 

 
 
 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  

Page 364



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

7 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs, or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist  X  

Christian  X  

Hindu  X  

Humanist  X  

Jewish  X  

Muslim  X  

Sikh  X  

Other  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy. 

 
 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men  X  

Women  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy. 

 

Page 365



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

8 

 

 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual   X  

Gay Men  X  

Gay Women/Lesbians  X  

Heterosexual/Straight  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
No differential impact – the only requirement for allotment tenancy is to abide by the 
conditions of the tenancy. 

 
 
 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3.10  Socioeconomic Duty 
Is the change anticipated to reduce or contribute to inequality of outcome as a result 
of socio-economic disadvantage? (e.g. will the change negatively impact on those on 
low-incomes or those living in deprived areas) 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Socioeconomic impact  x  

Page 366



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

9 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The allotment pricing structure currently provides a 50% discount for over 60s and 
those in receipt of certain benefits. The Allotment Strategy includes an action to review 
the pricing structure for allotments which may result in a change to the current pricing 
policy for over 60s and those on certain benefits.  

 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The pricing structure review will need to take account of ability to pay and any 
increases in cost will also need to be in line with the cost of other leisure provision to 
comply with Allotment legislation. 
Any changes to the pricing structure will require further consultation and approval.  

 
 
 
 

 
3.11  Welsh Language 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Welsh Language 
 

 
X 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
Information is provided in line with the Council’s bilingual policy. 

 
 
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 367



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

10 

 

4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 

 
Initial consultation for the strategy has been undertaken with all plot holders. Actions 
that require further consultation, such as any changes to pricing policy, will include 
wider consultation with the various Equalities Groups to ensure all view are considered 
when proposing any changes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age  Continue to support Site Associations in the 
development of succession strategies to allow older 
people to continue allotment gardening. 

 Ensure that any review of pricing structure review 
takes account of ability to pay and any increases in 
cost will also need to be in line with the cost of other 
leisure provision to comply with Allotment legislation.  

 Continue to work with community groups that wish to 
support families in allotment gardening, where this 
can be accommodated as a community plot. 

 

Disability  Continue to support community held allotments 
through the ongoing rollout of the community 
tenancy. 

 Disability information to be added to plot application 
form as an option, to allow more appropriate 
responses for those with physical and visual 
impairments, metal health issues and those with 
learning disabilities. 
 

 

Gender Reassignment No specific actions 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

No specific actions 

Pregnancy & Maternity  Work with site volunteers to provide support to 
ensure cultivation of plots can be maintained in line 
with tenancy conditions 

Page 368



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
Appendix B  

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

11 

 

 

Race No specific actions 

Religion/Belief No specific actions 

Sex No specific actions 

Sexual Orientation No specific actions 

Welsh Language No specific actions 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

Any actions that require further consultation, such as any 
changes to pricing policy, will include wider consultation with 
the various Equalities Groups to ensure all view are 
considered when proposing any changes. 

 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By : Rosie James Date: 2 Feb 2022 

Designation: Parks Strategy and Development Manager  

Approved By: Jon Maidment  Date : 3 Feb 2022 

Designation: Operational Manager    

Service Area: Parks, Sport, Harbour Authority & Leisure   

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the form is submitted 

to the Equality Team mailbox so that there is a record of all assessments 
undertaken in the Council- equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Equality Team- 
equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk  
 

Page 369

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 6 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 
 

 
UEFA EUROPEAN FOOTBALL CHAMPIONSHIPS FINAL 
TOURNAMENT 2028 (UEFA EURO 2028) EXPRESSION OF 
INTEREST 
 
CULTURE & LEISURE (COUNCILLOR PETER BRADBURY) 

AGENDA ITEM: 6   
 

  
The appendix to this report is not for publication under Schedule 12A Part 

4 paragraph 14 and Part 5 paragraph of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
Reason for this report 
 
1. To obtain approval from Cabinet to support the submission of an 

expression of interest to become a host city for the UEFA European 
Football Championships Final Tournament in 2028 (UEFA EURO 2028) 
by 23 March 2022. 
 

Background 
 
2. Since 2018, reflecting Cardiff’s Capital Ambition and Corporate Plan 

commitments, Cardiff Council have been supporting the development of 
a potential 5 nation bid to host the FIFA World Cup in 2030.  Following an 
extensive feasibility study, which assessed the potential opportunities in 
international football, the 5 governments and Football Associations (FAs) 
of England, Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales, and the Republic of 
Ireland (UK and I) have agreed to focus on an official bid to host EURO 
2028 and not to progress a bid for the FIFA World Cup 2030. 

 
3. Every four years, the final tournament of the UEFA European Football 

Championship gathers the European national teams and many of the 
best European footballers to compete for the Henri Delaunay trophy. 
Traditionally the event has been ranked the 3rd biggest sporting event in 
the World behind FIFA World Cup and Summer Olympics. However, the 
viewing figures from EURO 2020 were the biggest of all time with a 
cumulative estimated audience of 5.23 billion. 
 

Issues 
 
4. Submissions of interest for the 2028 and 2032 tournaments are required 

by 23 March 2022. UEFA will make an announcement about the bids 
received on 5th April 2022 at which point the UK and I will enter into a 
formal bidding process. 

 

Page 371

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 6 

 
5. To assist funding and delivery partners in considering the expression of 

interest, detailed work, involving all 5 governments and FAs, has been 
undertaken to quantify both the cost of hosting UEFA EURO 2028 and its 
economic impact. To provide a level of surety and allow funding partners 
to consider their obligations, initial costs have been based on the 2020 
UEFA EURO Tournament (in Glasgow and London), the Champions 
League Final in Cardiff and the UEFA EURO 2024 Technical 
Specification.   
 

6. Cardiff’s role as the Host City is important to the UK & I bid and as a 
successful Host City; we would be responsible for the delivery of several 
but not all key elements for which financial support will be required.  The 
details of these requirements can only be fully quantified once the UEFA 
EURO 2028 Technical Specification document has been received and 
considered.  However, the projected requirements and associated cost 
implications are captured in the confidential Appendix (Appendix 1) as an 
early indication. 
 

7. To allow the submission of the expression of interest to proceed, Welsh 
Government has requested that Cardiff Council indicate its position, 
which we will capture in an in-principle letter of commitment in respect of 
our projected obligations and associated costs. The Council has 
extensive, multi-service experience and capability of supporting major 
events, and this will be an important factor in the success of the event in 
Wales. Hosting the tournament will also create opportunities to increase 
physical activity participation rates in the city, while potentially leveraging 
from partners as a long-term legacy of the tournament investment into 
the city’s sporting infrastructure.   

 
8. Following UEFA’s announcement on the 5th April and receipt of the UEFA 

EURO 2020 Technical Specification, all partner agencies will be working 
closely together to finalise the bid document to ensure that all resource 
commitments are agreed and closely monitored, duplication of effort is 
avoided, and governance arrangements are in place to ensure that all 
associated spending plan commitments are strictly controlled, and all 
associated event hosting opportunities are maximised. At this point a 
further report will be presented to Cabinet to consider the city’s 
obligations and commitments prior to submission of the final five nation 
bid. 
 

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
9. To support the submission of an expression of interest with the long-term 

objective to further develop and secure a successful bid outcome to 
facilitate the staging of the UEFA European Football Championship Final 
Tournament in 2028 which will: 
 

 Deliver significant economic benefits for Cardiff and the City Region 

 Signal the Capital’s post Covid Recovery and provide an anchor 
event for the development of a new 10-year event strategy 

 Complement Cardiff’s sporting event portfolio 

Page 372



Page 3 of 6 

 Provide an international media platform that promotes the reputation 
of Cardiff and Wales. 

 Support the development and sustainability of the cultural, creative 
event and tourism sectors. 

 Showcase our heritage, venues, parkland and waterfront 

 Support and promote the health and wellbeing agenda by expanding 
the opportunity to participate in sport and physical activity and 
seeking to significantly increase the number of people wanting to 
play, coach, or volunteer within Welsh Football. 
 

Legal Implications 
 

10. The Council has a number of legal powers that it could rely on in order to 
‘support’ the submission of an  ‘expression of interest’ (as detailed in the 
body of this  report)   to become a  ‘Host City’ for  UEFA EURO 2028. It is 
understood that at this preliminary stage,  the support would be set out in 
a letter and  expressed as ‘in principle’ only,  (that is not intended to be 
legally binding). That said, the indication of support will serve to create a  
legitimate expectation that the Authority will proceed with matters, subject 
to the  caveats  the Authority   sets out in its  indication of support.  
Accordingly, when indicating its support the Authority should make clear 
that should the expression of interest be successful, further reports will 
be submitted to the Authority seeking authority  to; contractually commit 
the Authority   to carry out a Host City role,  to incur the requisite 
expenditure and that to this end the indication of support shall not serve 
to fetter the discretion of  the Authority  or its future budget setting 
decisions .  
 

11. To the extent that the Council will be reliant on others to  also deliver the 
host city role  and obligations  it will  be necessary to ensure that suitable 
agreements are developed with other bid partner bodies as matter 
progress . In respect of requirements which involve financial assistance 
or support from the Council or are  to be procured, then  these will need 
to be clearly understood and arrangements implemented to ensure that 
vires, procurement, and Subsidy  requirements are satisfied. 

 
General legal implications 
 

Equality Requirements 
 
12. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 

Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal 
duties Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need 
to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics. Protected characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender 
reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic or national origin, 
colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g) 
Marriage and civil partnership, (h) Sexual orientation (i) Religion or belief 
– including lack of belief.  
 

Page 373



Page 4 of 6 

When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the 
Council must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the 
Welsh Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic 
Duty Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate 
how it has discharged its duty. 

  
Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
  
13. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places 

a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-
being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, 
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.  

 
14. In discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and published 

well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving 
the national well being goals. The well being objectives are set out in 
Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2022-25. When exercising its functions, the 
Council is required to take all reasonable steps to meet its well being 
objectives. This means that the decision makers should consider how the 
proposed decision will contribute towards meeting the well being 
objectives and must be satisfied that all reasonable steps have been 
taken to meet those objectives.  

 
15. The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 

‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to 
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take 
account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in 
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must:  
 
• Look to the long term  
• Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of 

problems  
•  Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-

being goals  
•  Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable 

solutions  
• Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them  
  
16. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 

with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the 
link below: 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-
generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en   

  

Page 374

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 5 of 6 

17. The decision maker should also have regard, when making its decision, 
to the Council’s wider obligations under the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  

  
Financial Implications 

 
18. The proposed expenditure, detailed in Appendix 1 is dependent upon the 

final five-nation bid being successful.  The expenditure therefore will not 
fall due until relatively close to the finals in 2028.  

 
Property Implications 

 
19. There are no specific property implications to be reported at this stage in 

respect of the UEFA European Football Championships Final 
Tournament 2028 (Uefa Euro 2028) Expression of Interest report. Any 
Council property usage, transactions or negotiations required to deliver 
any proposals should be done so in accordance with the Council’s Asset 
Management process and in consultation with Strategic Estates and 
relevant service areas. 
 

 HR Implications 
 
20. There are no direct HR implications arising from the recommendation set 

out in this report. 
 
Urgent Decision Exempt from Call-In 
 
21. This decision has been certified by the Chief Executive as urgent 

because any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process is not in the 
public interest under section 13 of the Scrutiny Procedure Rules.  
 

22. The decision is urgent because of the UEFA Submission of interest 
deadline of the 23 March 2022.  As detailed in this report, to submit the 
expression of interest an extensive costing exercise had to be 
undertaken. Given the complexity, this work, and the associated in 
principle funding commitments from stakeholders and funding partners 
will be finalised shortly ahead of the submission deadline.  Failure to 
submit the expression of interest by the deadline would render UK & I 
non-compliant. Given that Cardiff is being presented with a third 
opportunity to secure host city status for the UEFA European 
Championship 2028, failure to act promptly would seriously prejudice the 
city’s opportunity to secure the event and the associated economic 
investment. 
 

23. In sum, the Chief Executive has certified that this decision is urgent and 
therefore the call-in procedure should not apply. The Chair of the 
Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee has been consulted in this 
matter and has agreed that this report should be certified as urgent. 

 
 
 

Page 375



Page 6 of 6 

Recommendation 
 
Cabinet is recommended to support the submission of the expression of interest 
for Cardiff to become one of the Host Cities to host the UEFA European 
Football Championship Final Tournament in 2028 subject to confirmation of in 
principle financial support being confirmed by all bid partners. 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Neil Hanratty 
Director of Economic Development  
 

4 March 2022 

 
The following Confidential Appendix is attached: 
 
Appendix 1 – Host City Requirements and Finance 
 

Page 376



Document is Restricted

Page 377

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 36  

  
  

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL  

LEARNING NEEDS (ALN)  - COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND 

AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION PROVISION FOR PRIMARY 

AND SECONDARY AGED PUPILS  
  

EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH 

MERRY)  
  

AGENDA ITEM: 7   
  

 
   

Reason for this Report  

  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the responses received 
following public consultation on proposals to extend and realign special 
school and Specialist Resource Bases (SRBs) for pupils across Cardiff 
with Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Conditions.    
 

2. The proposals considered in this report relate to maintained community 
provision.  The responses received following public consultation on 
proposed changes to additional learning needs provision at The Marion 
Centre at The Bishop of Llandaff High School and to the Specialist 
Resource Base at Whitchurch High School will be considered by the 
relevant Governing Body. 

 

Background  

  

3. At its meeting on 15 July 2021 the Cabinet authorised officers to consult 
on proposals for the establishment of Specialist Resource Base provision 
at Moorland Primary School for learners with complex learning needs from 
September 2022. 
   

4. At its meeting on 14 October 2021 the Cabinet authorised officers to 
consult on proposals to: 

 

 establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base for learners with 
complex learning needs at Willows High School from September 2023; 

CARDIFF COUNCIL    

CYNGOR CAERDYDD   
  

CABINET MEETING :         10 MARCH 2022   

  

Page 381

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 36  

 increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School 
Specialist Resource Base for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition 
from 20 to 45 places from September 2022; 
 

 establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource 

Base for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition from September 

2023; 

 

 increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 
to 240 from September 2022; 

 

 increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School from 
40 to 98 from September 2022; 

 

 increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 90 
to 119 from September 2022;  
 

 further increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School 
from 119 to 150 from September 2023; 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 
Llanishen Fach Primary School for learners with complex learning 
needs from 20 to 30 places from September 2023; 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 
Marlborough Primary School for learners with severe and complex 
learning needs from 20 to 30 from September 2022;  

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Pentrebane Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum 

Condition from 20 to 24 spaces from September 2022;  

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Springwood Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum 

Condition from 20 to 28 from September 2022. 

 

5. The Cabinet noted the proposal to increase the designated number at The 
Marion Centre Specialist Resource Base, at The Bishop of Llandaff 
Church in Wales High School, from 42 to 66 places from September 2022 
and instructed officers to provide all reasonable assistance to the 
Governing Body of the school who would be consulting on the proposal.   
 

6. The Cabinet also noted that the proposal to increase the designated 
number at Whitchurch High School Specialist Resource Base from 70 to 
100 from September 2022 and instructed officers to provide all reasonable 
assistance to the Governing Body of the school who would be consulting 
on the proposal. 

 

 

Page 382



Page 3 of 36  

Issues  

  
7. The consultation period for proposals to establish a Specialist Resource 

Base at Moorland Primary School ran from 11 October 2021 until 17 
January 2022. 

 

8. The consultation period for proposals to expand Complex Learning Needs 
and Autism Spectrum Condition Specialist Resource Base provision for 
learners aged 11-19 ran from 14 December 2021 until 01 February 2022.  

 

 

9. The consultation period for proposals to expand Complex Learning Needs 
and Autism Spectrum Condition provision for learners in primary and all-
through (age 3-19) provision also ran from 14 December 2021 until 01 
February 2022.  

 

10. The consultation process for all proposals involved:  
 

 Publication of bilingual consultation documents outlining background, 

rationale and implications to parents, staff and governors of affected 

schools, Headteachers and Chairs of Governors city-wide, elected 

Members, local residents and other stakeholders (a copy of the 

consultation documents can be seen at Appendix 1);  

 publication of bilingual summary documents setting out the main points 

of the consultation documents (a copy of the summary documents can 

be seen at Appendix 2); 

 publication of information in community languages upon request;  

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with governors and staff at 

Moorland Primary School, Willows High School, Llanishen High 

School, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, Ty Gwyn Special School, 

Meadowbank Special School, The Hollies Special School, Llanishen 

Fach Primary School, Pentrebane Primary School and Springwood 

Primary School (notes from the meetings can be seen at Appendix 3); 

 consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams/in person with pupil 

representatives at Moorland Primary School, Willows High School, 

Llanishen High School, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, Meadowbank 

Special School, Llanishen Fach Primary School and Springwood 

Primary School (notes from these meetings can be seen at Appendix 

4);  

 The Hollies Special School facilitated consultation with their pupils and 

provided details of the views gathered (details can be seen at Appendix 

4); 

 the pupil consultations that took place in person were conducted in line 

with the relevant Health and Safety guidance; 

 Public consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams at which the 

proposals were explained and questions answered (notes from the 

meetings can be seen at Appendix 5);  

Page 383



Page 4 of 36  

 drop-in sessions were offered via Microsoft Teams where officers were 

available to answer questions (there were no requests for drop-in 

sessions);  

 letters setting out details of the proposals and where further information 

could be found were sent to local residents and businesses in the areas 

surrounding the school sites subject to the proposed changes; 

 a communication campaign via social media; 

 a consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the 

consultation documents and summary documents;  

 an online response from at www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals 

 

11. For stakeholders who did not have access to digital platforms the 
opportunity to discuss the proposed changes via telephone was available.  

 

12. The views expressed at Council organised meetings, drop-in sessions, 
telephone calls, and on paper or electronically through the appropriate 
channels, have been recorded.  

 

13. Views were sought from interested stakeholders via an online survey and 
a hard copy version of the survey within the consultation document.  
  

14. The details presented in this report represent the views expressed during 
the consultation process. These include the wider stakeholder survey, 
formal responses, e-mail responses, views expressed at public meetings, 
drop-in sessions, telephone calls and pupil consultation meetings.  

 

15. The views expressed in the wider stakeholder surveys reflect those raised 
in the e-mail responses received.  

  

Responses received to the consultation on the proposed establishment of 

Specialist Resource Base provision at Moorland Primary School 

 

16. The consultation on the proposed establishment of a Specialist Resource 
Base at Moorland Primary School was undertaken jointly with a proposal 
for the proposed expansion and transfer of The Court Special School. 
 

17. The responses received to the consultation included expressions of 
support and concerns relevant to both proposals. 

 

18. In total there were 38 responses including 35 online responses and 3 e-
mail responses to the Moorland Primary School proposal.  

 

19. Formal responses were received from:  
 

• Estyn 

• Moorland Primary School Governing Body 

• Moorland Primary School Headteacher  

 
20. The response from Estyn set out its view that the proposal is likely to at 

least maintain the standard of education provision in the area.  

Page 384

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals


Page 5 of 36  

 
21. Of the 35 online responses received 74.3% supported the proposal to 

establish a Specialist Resource Base provision at Moorland Primary 
School.  

 

22. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6. 
 

23. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and an 
appraisal of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7.   

 

24. A summary analysis of the responses received are included at Appendix 
8.   

 
Views expressed 
 

25. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 
 

 Recognition of the need to increase the number of additional learning 
needs places available. 

 The establishment of a Specialist Resource Base at the school would 
be a positive addition to this area of Cardiff. 

 The proposed change would help to reduce travel times for children. 
 

26. Whilst there was support for the establishment of Specialist Resource 
Base provision at the school there were a number of concerns related to: 
 

 The completion of Key Stage 2 and Foundation Phase building works 
prior to children being admitted in order to avoid the need for children 
to have two learning environment moves. 

 The availability of funding in a timely manner to allow for staff 
recruitment. 

 Assurances that funding for the additional places at the resource base 
and other associated costs are ‘ringfenced’ in addition to the allocated 
school budget. 

 The need for improved pedestrian access to the school and traffic 
management measures. 

 The space available at the school for outdoor provision. 
 

Moorland Primary School Pupil representation  

 

27. Officers met virtually via Microsoft Teams with Years 5 pupils at Moorland 
Primary School to discuss the proposals and gather their opinions. 

 

28. The points raised by the pupils included the following:  
 

 It would allow more children to come to Moorland. 

 More children will have access to a good education. 

 Children with additional needs can get the specialist help that they 

need. 

 Children will have the chance to mix and play with other children and 

have more learning opportunities. 

Page 385



Page 6 of 36  

 Children with additional learning needs should have the same 

opportunities that the children in Moorland have. 

 Good to have the chance to meet more people and make more friends. 

 Excited to see what the new yard will look like. 

 Even though the yard might be getting smaller it is exciting to have 

more children coming to the school. 

 Everybody in the class is kind and would like to meet the new children 

and make them feel welcome. 

 Will give children an opportunity to learn more about children with 

additional needs.  

 
29. The pupils had concerns relating to: 

 

 Where the nursery children will go when their building is knocked down, 

and whether it will affect the rest of the school.  

 If there are more children on the playground and the playground is 

getting smaller, could there be more injuries?  

 Some younger children being with older children might not be a good 

idea.  

 Worried that if there are more children there would be more cars 

coming to the site, traffic and parking issues.  

 What will happen with breaktimes during the building work; will it affect 

pupil’s playtimes?   

 If there are lots more children coming to the school, will it make the 

school too busy when arriving and leaving?  

 Construction noise might affect the pupils’ learning.  

 How long will the build take? 
 

Response to views expressed  

 

30. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the establishment of 
Specialist Resource Base provision at Moorland Primary School. 
 

31. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to the completion of building works, funding, staffing 
and traffic in and around the school site. 

 

32. Following discussions with the school it has been agreed that, subject to 
the proposal to establish Specialist Resource Base provision at the school 
being determined to proceed, the proposed start date for the new provision 
would be deferred to September 2023. This would allow sufficient time for 
the necessary building works to be completed and for suitable staffing 
arrangements to be progressed.  

 

33. Funding for Specialist Resource Base placements is provided separately 
from mainstream funding.    

 

34. The Council has extensive experience of progressing construction work 
on occupied school sites and will work closely with the school to minimise 

Page 386



Page 7 of 36  

any impacts on teaching and learning and play during the construction 
phase to ensure that standards are maintained. The Council is also 
considering an opportunity to utilise the old Glan Morfa School site as 
potential outside space during construction works to help mitigate 
pressures.   

 

35. The proposals will include measures already identified by a Transport 
Statement to maximise active and sustainable travel to improve conditions 
for pedestrians near the school.   

 
36. Some pupils in the Specialist Resource Base would qualify for free home 

to school transport and facilities for drop-off would be provided for this 
small number of vehicles.      

 

37. A review of parking and loading restrictions and the provision of a School 
Street on both of the adjacent streets would improve safety by 
discouraging access by other vehicles and reducing congestion, parking 
and safety issues.      

 

38. Further measures to encourage pedestrian and other active travel access 
will be provided with improvements to footways, crossings and access 
through the park.   

 

39. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Responses received to the consultation on the proposed expansion of 

Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Specialist 

Resource Base provision for learners aged 11-19  

 

40. In total 114 responses were received including 106 online response and a 
further 8 e-mail responses regarding the specific proposals consulted on.   
 

41. Formal responses were received from:  
 

• Estyn   

• Willows High School Governing Body  

• Llanishen High School Governing Body 

• Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf Headteacher and Governing Body  

  

42. In addition to these responses, a further 17 responses were received 
during the consultation period that did not comment directly on the 
proposals consulted on but commented on the need for an increase in 
additional learning needs provision overall, particularly in the Welsh-
medium sector.  
 

43. Estyn welcomed the proposals which sits alongside others and aims to 
achieve a more equitable provision to better match current and future 
learning needs of pupils, across the City. 
 

44. The response from Estyn sets out its view that the proposals are likely to, 
at least, maintain the standard of education provision in the area. 

Page 387



Page 8 of 36  

 

45. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6.  
  

46. The responses received overall expressed support for the proposals put 
forward to improve provision for children and young people with additional 
learning needs.  Of the 101 respondents to the online survey who 
answered the question, 96% supported the proposed changes. 

 

47. A recognition of the need to increase additional learning needs provision 
was common response across all proposals.  Concerns related to funding, 
accommodation, traffic and the need to develop Welsh-medium additional 
learning needs provision were also common across all proposals.  

 

48. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 
of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7. 

 

49. A summary analysis of the responses received can be seen at Appendix 
8.   

  

Willows High School  

 

50. In total there were 86 responses including 84 online responses and two e-
mail responses.  Of the 84 online responses, 86.9% supported the 
proposal to establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at the school 
for learners with complex learning needs from September 2023. 
 

51. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 
provision. 

 Provision needed more local to the area.  
 

52. Whilst there was support for the establishment of Specialist Resource 
Base provision at the school there were a number of concerns related to: 

 

 Clarification on ring fenced funding for the Specialist Resource Base 

provision. 

 The provision would be best introduced as part of the new Willows 
buildings as, despite the published admission number, there is 
insufficient space in the school. 

  

Willows High School Pupil representation  

 

53. Officers met with pupils at Willows High School to discuss the proposals 
and gather their opinions. 
 

54. The pupils supported the establishment of Specialist Resource Base 
provision at the school.   

 

55. The points raised related to access to the building and that it would be a 
good idea for the resource base provision to be located on the ground 

Page 388



Page 9 of 36  

floor. The canteen was busy at lunchtime, and it was suggested that 
lunchtimes could be staggered to avoid crowds.   

 

56. The pupils felt it would be useful for the wider school community to have 
some general information regarding the provision to help their 
understanding of needs which would support the integration of pupils from 
the resource base into the school. 

 

57. It was suggested that children from the resource base should join smaller 
mainstream classes where appropriate as they felt larger classes may be 
overwhelming if not used to them.   

 

Response to views expressed  

 

58. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the establishment of 
Specialist Resource Base provision at Willows High School. 
 

59. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
regarding funding, the available accommodation facilities and the need for 
a wider understanding of the resource base across the wider school 
community.  

 

60. The Specialist Resource Base would be fully funded and separate from 
mainstream funding which would be protected.  

 

61. The Council will work closely with the school to identify suitable 
accommodation for the Specialist Resource Base.  Admissions to the base 
by the Council would be phased, and the school would not therefore 
require accommodation for 30 learners at the time of implementation.  
 

62. If the proposal proceeds to implementation, the Council would work with 
the school to develop a better understanding of the Specialist Resource 
Base provision across the wider school community. 

 

63. The proposed implementation date of September 2023 allows sufficient 
time to identify accommodation and to undertake any necessary 
adaptation. However, if the Council and Governing Body are unable to 
progress the Specialist Resource Base, the retention of the proposed 
implementation date of September 2023 would afford the Council the 
flexibility to defer admission of pupils to the base to a later date if this is 
considered necessary. 

 

64. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Llanishen High School  

 

65. In total there were 84 responses including 83 online responses and 1 e-
mail response.  Of the 83 online responses, 88% supported the proposal 
to increase the designated number of the Specialist Resource Base at 
Llanishen High School for learners Autistic Spectrum Condition from 20 to 
45 places from September 2022. 

Page 389



Page 10 of 36  

 
66. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 

provision.  

 

67. Whilst there was support for the increase in the designated number at the 
Llanishen High School Specialist Resource Base for learners with Autism 
Spectrum Condition there were a number of concerns related to: 
 

 The impact of increased traffic on the drop off and pick up area and the 

knock-on effect on on-site parking. 

 The need for the school transport and forecourt area to be redesigned.  

 

Llanishen High School Pupil representation  

 

68. Officers met virtually with pupils at Llanishen High School to discuss the 
proposals and gather their opinions. 
 

69. The existing Specialist Resource Base provision was integrated into the 
wider school community and the pupils supported this provision being 
expanded.  

 

70. The points raised related to the accommodation facilities and resources 
available for the Specialist Resource Base e.g., the size of classrooms and 
staffing levels.  There is a need to ensure that these are appropriate and 
do not impede the provision offered and the quality of teaching and 
learning.   

 

71. The pupils felt it would be useful for the wider school community to have 
greater knowledge of the resource base and the needs of the pupils who 
use it, as this would mean that they could be more supportive and maybe 
help them. 

 

Response to views expressed  

 

72. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 
Specialist Resource Base provision at Llanishen High School. 
 

73. It is however acknowledged that there are of concerns raised in relation to 
traffic management in and around the school site, the resourcing of the 
specialist provision and the need for a wider understanding of the resource 
base across the wider school community.  

 

74. Funding for specialist resource bases is provided separately from 
mainstream funding.  The Council will work with the school to ensure that 
that the Specialist Resource Base is sufficiently resourced.  

 

75. If the proposal proceeds to implementation the Council would work with 
the school to develop a better understanding of the Specialist Resource 
Base provision across the wider school community. 

Page 390



Page 11 of 36  

 

76. With the potential increased demand for Learner Transport for Specialist 
Resource Base pupils, the site would be reviewed to ensure suitable and 
sufficient facilities for drop-off and pick-up are provided within the site to 
accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles and improvements 
made if necessary.  Modifications may also be needed to the school 
access.   
 

77. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 

 

78. In total there were 98 responses including 97 online responses and 1 e-
mail response.  Of the 97 online responses received, 92.8% supported the 
proposal to establish a 30-place Specialist Resource Base for learners 
with Autistic Spectrum Condition alongside the existing 30 place Specialist 
Resource Base from September 2023.  
 

79. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased Welsh-medium additional 

learning needs provision.  

 Promotes inclusion, care and ambition for pupils and families who face 

complex and practical challenges. 

 The base will be a great extension within the school community, 

provide a focus for staff training and be able to support pupils to 

continue to grow and feel welcome within the mainstream school. 

  

80. Whilst there was support for the establishment of an additional Specialist 
Resource Base for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition alongside the 
existing Specialist Resource Base for learners with complex learning 
needs at the school, there were a number of concerns related to: 

 

 The need to ensure appropriate accommodation (internal and external) 

is available for learners within the Specialist Resource Bases.  

 The capacity of existing school buildings and the need to minimise any 

negative impact on mainstream capacity. 

 The potential impact of increased traffic around the school site. 

 The need to address the lack of Welsh-medium provision at primary 

level which may result in learners leaving the Welsh-medium sector in 

the early years. 

 The need to address the lack of Welsh-medium provision for the wide 

range of additional learning needs including emotional health and 

wellbeing.  

   

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf Pupil representation  

 

81. Officers met separately with mainstream pupils and pupils from the 
existing Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf to 
discuss the proposals and gather their opinions. 

 

Page 391



Page 12 of 36  

82. The mainstream pupils supported the establishment of an additional 
Specialist Resource Base at the school.   

 

83. The points raised related to improved access to Welsh-medium education 
for children with additional learning needs, Specialist Resource Base 
pupils being able to benefit from access to school facilities e.g., the playing 
field, the opportunity for better facilities for pupils attending the existing 
Specialist Resource Base and pupils being able to be part of a mainstream 
school. 

 

84. The pupils did not have concerns around increased traffic.  The school 
was already busy, and they didn’t think that an additional 30 pupils would 
make much difference but agreed that there could be some impact.  Pupils 
were of the view that the existing Specialist Resource Base was in the 
wrong place meaning they lost access to some important school 
resources. 

 

85. The current Specialist Resource Base pupils supported the establishment 
of an additional Resource Base at the school. 

 

86. They felt positively about the opportunities and support they have at the 
school e.g., lessons, teachers and staff, work experience and agreed that 
this would be good to share with other pupils. 

 

87. They would like to see new facilities for both Specialist Resource Bases  
including an outside area, a garden area, wildlife habitats, new classrooms 
to allow for more pupils, quiet areas/spaces, improved Wi-Fi and better IT 
to support extended pieces of work and a kitchen area. They would also 
like to see a welcome/café area like the one in the entrance of the main 
school, a sensory room and better toilet and changing facilities. 

 

88. They said it would be good to have more pupils for sports teams e.g., rugby 
and more pupils to do activities with. 

 

Response to the view expressed 

 

89. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the establishment of 
the additional Specialist Resource Base provision at Ysgol Gyfun 
Gymraeg Glantaf. 
 

90. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to the accommodation facilities, the potential for 
increased traffic and the availability of Welsh-medium additional learning 
needs provision. 

 

91. Discussions are ongoing with the school regarding the provision of new 
build accommodation for the existing Specialist Resource Base provision 
at the school and the proposed additional Specialist Resource Base 
provision.  

 

Page 392



Page 13 of 36  

92. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the existing 
facilities for drop-off and pick-up will be reviewed to confirm they are 
suitable to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles.   

 

93. The wider development of Welsh-medium additional learning needs 
provision is being considered and proposals will be brought forward as part 
of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh Government and formal 
adoption.  

 
94. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Responses received to the consultation on the expansion of Complex 

Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition provision for learners in 

primary and all-through (age 3-19) provision  

 

95. In total, 109 responses were received including 92 responses to the online 
survey, and a further 17 e-mail responses regarding the specific proposals 
consulted on.  

 

96. Formal responses were received from:  
 

• Estyn  

• Governing Body of the Western Learning Federation  

• Ty Gwyn Special School Headteacher 

• Meadowbank Special School Governing Body   

• Meadowbank Special School Chair of Governors  

• Meadowbank Special School Staff 

• The Hollies Governing Body 

• Llanishen Fach Primary School Staff  

• Marlborough Primary School 

• Springwood Primary School Governing Body and Staff 

• Pentrebane Primary School (a response from the school is being 

sought)   

 

97. In addition to these responses, a further 16 responses were received 
during the consultation period, that did not comment directly on the 
proposals consulted on but commented on the need for an increase in 
additional learning needs provision overall, particularly in the Welsh-
medium sector.  
 

98. The response from Estyn sets out its view that the proposals are likely to 
at least maintain the standard of education provision in the area.   
 

99. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6.  
 

100. The responses received overall expressed support for the proposals put 
forward to improve provision for children and young people with additional 
learning needs.  Of the 91 respondents to the online survey who answered 
the question, 90.1% supported the proposed changes.  
  

Page 393



Page 14 of 36  

101. A recognition of the need to increase additional learning needs provision 
was common across all proposals.  Concerns related to funding, 
accommodation, staff recruitment, professional development and 
retention, traffic and the need to develop Welsh-medium additional 
learning needs provision were also common across all proposals.  

 

102. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 
of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7.   

  

103. A summary analysis of the responses received are included in Appendix 8 
 
Ty Gwyn Special School  

 

104. In total there were 85 responses including 80 online responses and 5 e-
mail responses. Of the 80 online responses, 88.8% supported the proposal 
to increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 
to 240 places from September 2022.   
 

105. Reasons for supporting the proposed change include: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 

provision.  

 Welcome the opportunity for more children to be able to access high 

quality provision at the school. 

 

106. Whilst there was support for the proposal of increasing the number of 
places at Ty Gwyn Special School, there were a number of concerns 
related to: 

 

 The additional accommodation requirements arising out of proposed 

changes e.g., the need for sufficient breakout spaces to support 

behaviour management.  

 The requirement for a robust audit of current provision to provide clarity 

on demand and evidence for what support would be needed in the 

event of the increased pupil numbers.  

 Pupil funding and how the average pupil funding will be increased in 

order to meet the level of need. 

 The need to be able to invest in staff to ensure appropriate levels of 

training and support.  

 The need to ensure the level of Health provision is proportionate to the 

needs of pupils e.g., nursing, occupational therapist and 

physiotherapist provision. 

 The availability of out of term time play provision for pupils with a high 

level of need. 

 The need to maintain small class sizes to allow for staff to support 

pupils to develop and meet their full potential. 

 Traffic Management.  

 

 

 

Page 394



Page 15 of 36  

Ty Gwyn Special School Pupil representation  

 

107. Officers offered the opportunity to Ty Gwyn School to meet with pupil 
representatives during the consultation period, to discuss the proposals 
and gather their opinions. The school agreed that its staff would facilitate 
a session appropriate to the needs of its learners using communication 
aids and symbols and reported a majority support for the changes 
described. 

 

Response to the view expressed 

 

108. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of Ty 
Gwyn Special School. 
 

109. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to the accommodation facilities, the requirement for 
an audit of existing provision, funding, staffing and health provision. 

 

110. The Council continues to work with the Governing Body to ensure that 
suitable accommodation is provided for the increase in the number of 
pupils including the provision of additional classrooms, offices and Adult 
Services areas at the old Trelai Youth Centre. 

. 

111. An audit of current provision will be carried out with the school which will 
include consideration of class sizes.  There are no plans to exceed the 
capacity beyond the current proposal.  Admissions to the school by the 
Council would be phased, to support the sustainable growth of the school. 
 

112. The Council will continue to monitor demand for additional learning needs 
and bring forward proposals as required. 

 

113. The Council is continuing to work with the Governing Body and the Health 
Board to ensure there is an appropriate level of health provision available 
to meet the needs of pupils. 

 

114. The availability of out of term time play provision is outside of the scope of 
the proposal consulted on and will be considered separately. 

 

115. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Meadowbank Special School  

 

116. In total there were 85 responses including 82 online responses and 3 e-
mail responses. Of the 82 online responses, 90.2% supported the proposal 
to increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School from 
40 to 98 places from September 2022.   
 

117. Reasons for supporting the proposed change include:  
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 

provision. 

Page 395



Page 16 of 36  

 

118. Whilst there was support for the proposal to increase provision at 
Meadowbank Special School, there were a number of concerns related to:  

 

 The need to phase the increase in pupil numbers to allow sufficient 
time for all the necessary planning around accommodation, staffing 
and maintaining the collaborative ethos of the school to be put in place.  

 The need to ensure that there are sufficient resources available to 
support the proposed changes. 

 The likelihood of additional places being needed beyond what is being 
proposed. 

 Potential impact on existing class sizes; will the number of pupils in 
classes increase or will there be additional classes.  

 Disappointment that the Early Years Outreach Provision had not been 
considered for expansion. 

 The need for detailed projected planning and regular engagement with 
the school.  

 The need to ensure the level of Health provision is proportionate to the 

needs of pupils e.g., onsite health professionals who can attend to the 

needs of pupils. 

 
Meadowbank Special School Pupil representation  

 

119. Officers met virtually via Microsoft Teams with Years 4, 5 and 6 and a 
number of teachers at Meadowbank Special School to discuss the 
proposals and gather their opinions.  

 

120. The points raised by the pupils included the following:  
 

 Very happy, proposal is a good idea. 

 Looking forward to making new friends. 

 Want more children to play with. 

 Desire for playground space, scooters, bikes, more friends, spider 

swing, slide, pool, retain existing trees on site.  

 

121. The pupils had concerns relating to: 
 

 Whether teachers will be able to take care of additional pupils. 

 About getting on with new teachers. 

 Lack of space for new pupils. 

 Running out of pupils after year six pupils leave. 

 Are there going to be more toilets? 

 Where would new pupils go? 

 How would new building be connected to current? 

 How will new children be fed? 

 Concerned about noise. 

 Where will new children have lunch if current lunch hall is too small? 

 How long will it take? 

 More teachers are needed. 

Page 396



Page 17 of 36  

 Lack of space for parking. 

 How food will be transported from new building to dinner hall. 

 

Response to the views expressed  

 

122. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 
Meadowbank Special School. 
 

123. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to the accommodation facilities, funding, health 
provision and transition arrangements.   

 

124. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the 
Governing Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the 
increase in the number of pupils including detailed projected planning and 
regular engagement with the school.  
 

125. The Council is continuing to work with the Governing Body and the Health 

Board to ensure there is an appropriate level of health provision available 

to meet the needs of pupils. 

 

126. The Council is continuing to work with special schools to develop outreach 

provision with mainstream schools. 

 

127. There are no plans to exceed the capacity of the school beyond the current 
proposal. Admissions to the school by the Council would be phased, to 
support the sustainable growth of the school. The Council will continue to 
monitor demand for additional learning needs and bring forward proposals 
as required. 

 

128. The availability of out of term time play provision is outside of the scope of 

the proposal consulted on and will be considered separately. 

 

129. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the site 

would be reviewed to ensure suitable and sufficient facilities for drop-off 

and pick-up are provided within the site to accommodate the appropriate 

numbers of vehicles and improvements made if necessary.   

 

130. Options to be explored are likely to include modifications which may be 

require changes to the school access with additional parking restrictions 

opposite the entrance to provide unobstructed access.   

 

131. The proposal may require a Transport Statement which would identify 

measures to be included to maximise travel by sustainable modes.  The 

Active Travel Plan for the school would also identify actions by the school 

and also any improvements to on-site infrastructure required to support, 

encourage and facilitate active travel to school. 

 

132. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 

 

 

Page 397



Page 18 of 36  

The Hollies Special School  

 

133. In total there were 80 responses including 78 online responses and 2 e-

mail responses. Of the 80 online responses, 91.1% supported the proposal 

to increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 98 

to 150 (with a phased expansion to 119 places from September 2022 and 

a further expansion to 150 places from September 2023).  

 
134. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes include: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 

provision. 

 The proposal would help to address demand for specialist provision 

across the Local Authority and would provide the opportunity for access 

to a suitable and fit for purpose environment for both pupils and staff. 

 Improvements to modernise the school building are welcome and long 

overdue. 

 

135. Whilst there was support for the proposal to increase provision at The 
Hollies Special School, there were a number of concerns related to:  
 

 The potential impact on existing pupils e.g., space, shared resources, 

staffing. 

 The school was set up for 80 pupils but currently has 117 children on 

roll and investment in the facilities is needed before any further pupils 

are admitted.   

 There is a need for a strategic and planned approach to the proposed 

increase in pupil numbers which would need to be phased to allow time 

for improvements to the building and the recruitment of staff. 

 Safeguarding issues relating to the increase in traffic on the school site 

would need to be addressed. 

 

The Hollies Special School Pupil representation  

 

136. The school facilitated the pupil consultation with several members of the 
School Council who discussed the proposed changes to the Hollies School 
regarding increasing the number of pupils to 150. 

 
137. The pupils discussed the need for more and bigger classrooms as well as 

the need for more tables and chairs for the pupils. One pupil commented 
that the school would need more staff for the extra pupils.   

 

138. They were asked if they had any questions about the changes. They asked 
if they could have more things to play with (share) outside for the extra 
pupils. The asked if it would mean more cars in the car park and whether 
the car park be larger. 

 

139. Overall, they thought it was a good idea. They said that they would have 
more friends to play with but also said that this could mean that the school 
would be more noisy and busy with extra pupils. 

Page 398



Page 19 of 36  

Response to the views expressed  

 

140. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of The 
Hollies Special School. 
 

141. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to the potential impact on existing pupils and staff, 
accommodation facilities, future capacity and traffic management.   
 

142. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the 
Governing Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the 
increase in the number of pupils. The school would benefit from new and 
improved facilities which would offset any potential impacts on pupils and 
staff. 

 

143. There are no plans to exceed the capacity beyond the current proposal. 
Admissions to the school by the Council would be phased, to support the 
sustainable growth of the school in the accommodation available. The 
Council will continue to monitor demand for additional learning needs and 
bring forward proposals as required. 

 

144. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the site 
would be reviewed to ensure suitable and sufficient facilities for drop-off 
and pick-up are provided within the site to accommodate the appropriate 
numbers of vehicles and improvements made if necessary.   

 

145. Options to be considered include modifications to the school access and 
a re-arranged layout to accommodate increasing numbers and also 
address any safeguarding concerns.     

 

146. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Llanishen Fach Primary School 

 

147. In total there were 79 responses including 78 online responses and one e-
mail response. Of the 79 online responses, 91% supported the proposal 
to increase the designated number of the Llanishen Fach Primary School 
Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 30 places from September 2023. 

 

148. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes include: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 

provision. 

 The specialist resource provision at the school benefits all learners and 

the school would welcome more children being able to access the 

provision. 

 Opportunity to build upon and improve existing provision and further 

develop the inclusive nature of the school. 

 

Page 399



Page 20 of 36  

149. Whilst there was support for the proposal to increase provision at 
Llanishen Fach Primary School, there were a number of concerns related 
to:  
 

 The need for appropriate facilities to accommodate the resource base 
provision. 

 The need to minimise any disruption to education particularly within 
the context of the ongoing circumstances related to Covid-19. 

 The likelihood of additional places being needed beyond what is being 
proposed. 

 There needs to be more options available for additional learning 
needs education e.g., EOTAS, self-directed learning, forest school.  

 

Llanishen Fach Primary School Pupil representation  

 

150. Officers met virtually with pupil representatives from Llanishen Fach 
Primary School to discuss the proposals and gather their opinions. 
 

151. The pupils were supportive of the Specialist Resource Base provision 
being expanded and thought it was a good idea for more children to have 
the opportunity to come to the school. 

 

152. The points raised by the pupils related to the accommodation (internal and 
external) for the Specialist Resource Base, arrangement in the dinner hall, 
toilet provision and the impact on the school while building work is 
happening.  

 

Response to the views expressed 

 

153. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of the 
Specialist Resource Base provision at Llanishen Fach Primary School. 
 

154. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to accommodation facilities, potential disruption, and 
future capacity and the types of provision available.    
 

155. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the 

Governing Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the 

increase in the number of pupils. 

 

156. The Council has extensive experience of progressing construction work on 

occupied school sites and will work closely with the school to minimise any 

impacts during the construction phase. 

 

157. There are currently no plans to exceed the capacity beyond the current 

proposal. The Council will continue to monitor demand for additional 

learning needs and bring forward proposals as required. 

 

158. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 

 

 

Page 400



Page 21 of 36  

Marlborough Primary School  

 

159. In total there were 78 responses including 77 online responses and one e-

mail response. Of the 77 online responses, 90.9% supported the proposal 

to increase the designated number of the Marlborough Primary School 

Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 30 places from September 2022.  

 

160. The school declined the opportunity for officers to meet with the Governing 

Body, staff and pupils. 

 

161. In the absence of the Headteacher, the Deputy Headteacher advised on 

behalf of the Governing Body and School that the school are very happy 

with the work that has already been completed at Marlborough and feel 

that there is no need for consultation as the building work is complete and 

the children are already able to attend. 

 

162. There were no further comments made. 

 

Response to the views expressed 

 

163. The Council welcomes the Marlborough Primary School response. 

 

Pentrebane Primary School  

 

164. In total there were 77 responses including 77 online responses.   Of the 77 

online responses, 89.6% supported the proposal to increase the 

designated number of the of the Pentrebane Primary School Specialist 

Resource Base from 20 to 24 places from September 2022. 

 

165. The school declined the opportunity for officers to meet with the Governing 

Body and staff. 

 
166. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes include: 

 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 
provision. 

 

167. Whilst there was support for the proposal to increase provision at 
Pentrebane Primary School, there were a number of concerns related to:  

 

 Inadequate space for children already at the school and the Specialist 
Resource Base. The existing facilities need to be improved.   

 

 A need to develop further provision at other schools e.g., autism 
provision. 

 

Pentrebane Primary School Pupil representation  

 

168. Officers arranged with Pentrebane Primary School to meet with pupil 
representatives from the school during the consultation period to discuss 

Page 401



Page 22 of 36  

the proposals and gather their opinions. However, due to staffing issues 
arising from Covid-19, the school postponed the sessions arranged and 
was unable to facilitate a session in-person or online during the 
consultation period. 

 

Response to the views expressed 

 

169. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of the 
Specialist Resource Base provision at Pentrebane Primary School. 
 

170. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly in relation to accommodation facilities for additional provision 
at the school.      
 

171. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the 
Governing Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the 
increase in the number of pupils. 

 

172. The Council will continue to monitor demand for additional learning needs 
and bring forward proposals as required.  

 

173. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Springwood Primary School 

 

174. In total there were 77 responses including 76 online responses and one e-
mail response. Of the 76 online responses, 90.8% supported the proposal 
to increase the capacity of the Springwood Primary School Specialist 
Resource Base from 20 to 28 places from September 2022. 

 

175. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes include: 
 

 Recognition of the need for increased additional learning needs 
provision and welcome the proposal. 

 The proposal fits with the school ethos of supporting all children. 

 Welcome further funding to improve the Specialist Resource Base 
accommodation (internal and external) which will allow the school to 
provide the best environment for the children to learn and thrive. 

 

Springwood Primary School Pupil representation  

 

176. Officers met virtually with a group of pupils at Springwood Primary School 
to discuss the proposals and gather their opinions.  

 

177. The points raised by the pupils included querying where new pupils would 
be accommodated, whether more staff would be required, whether another 
classroom would be required and whether there will be enough places. 

 

 

 

Page 402



Page 23 of 36  

Response to views expressed   

 
178. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

the Specialist Resource Base provision at Springwood Primary School. 
 

179. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 
Formal responses received during the consultation regarding Additional 

Learning Needs Provision  

 

180. In addition to the responses received regarding the individual proposals 
consulted on, formal responses regarding the overall provision for children 
and young adults with additional learning needs were received from: 
 

 Ysgol Glan Morfa Headteacher and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Melin Gruffydd Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glan Ceubal Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pencae Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pwll Coch Governing Body  

 Ysgol y Berllan Deg Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gwaeold y Garth Governing Body 

 Ysgol Nant Caerau Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pen y Gores Governing Body  

 Creigiau Primary School Governing Body 

 Ysgol Mynydd Bychan Govenring Body 

 Ysgol Treganna Governing Body  

 Ysgol Coed y Gof Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr School and Governing Body 

 Cardiff Governors Association  

 Merched y Wawr  
 
181. The responses from the Welsh-medium schools contained largely 

consistent content and are summarised below. 
 
182. Schools acknowledge and welcome the proposals to increase capacity for 

the English-medium sector and fully support the provision for the most 
vulnerable pupils in our communities. However, there was a strong feeling 
that there is a lack of additional learning needs provision within the Welsh-
medium sector and a disappointment that more changes were not 
proposed as part of this consultation. 

 

183. Furthermore, the view was expressed that this consultation contradicts the 
recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's ambition to open 
three specialist units in Welsh-medium schools in the Primary sector and 
a further three Specialist Resource Bases in the Secondary sector 
 

184. Concerns were outlined that by limiting the investment to one sector it 
encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to leave the Welsh-medium 
sector and move to English-medium schools where the investment and 
resources are currently viewed as being superior and better able to meet 
more complex or higher levels of need. 

Page 403



Page 24 of 36  

 
185. Investment is needed within the Welsh-medium sector in order to ensure 

parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  
 

186. The documentation recognises a clear growing need within the English-
medium sector but not in the Welsh-medium with concerns expressed as 
to whether the research been sufficient to accurately reflect need 
presenting in Welsh-medium schools. 

 

187. Concerns were also expressed that there is a lack of clear provision in 
terms of emotional health and well-being and behavior within the Welsh-
medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond 
mainstream provision) along with a lack of space to establish 
nurture/wellbeing classes. 

 

188. There was consistent view across the majority of the responses submitted 

by the Welsh-medium schools that there is a definite need for a greater 

number of Welsh-medium ALN places and that this is rising. In order to 

respond to this effectively there was a call for strategic and holistic 

planning which puts the children and families at the heart of all that we do 

consistent with our collective commitment to the UNCRC and FGWBA with 

other corporate goals such as One Planet Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child 

Friendly City status.  

 

Response to views expressed 

 
189. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

additional learning needs provision for children and young people city 

wide. 

 

190. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh 

Education Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its 

draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 

October 2021 and 13 December 2021.  

 

191. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary 

version and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were 

circulated to statutory stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s 

Welsh Education Forum member organisations.  

 

192. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-

medium additional learning needs provision and proposals would be 

brought forward as part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh 

Government and formal adoption by the Council later in 2022.  

 

193. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including 

new and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals 

are brought forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account 

Page 404



Page 25 of 36  

the needs of all of our learners and provides parity in the Welsh-medium 

sector as new places are delivered throughout the proposed WESP. 

 
194. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 

 
Health provision  

 

195. The proposals to expand specialist provision at the above school sites will 

have implications for health and other specialist services, working in 

partnership with schools to meet Additional Learning Needs. An additional 

factor is the ALN Reform Act 2018, which will introduce new 

responsibilities for health, education and social care to work together to 

coordinate assessment and provision. The Act 2018 will be implemented 

over a three-year period, beginning in September 2021.  

 

196. In order to address these challenges together, the Local Authority and 

Cardiff and the Vale University Health Board are undertaking a joint review 

of health and specialist provision in Cardiff special schools and pupil 

referral units. The findings of the review, overseen by a project group of 

representatives from health, education, social services, schools, and 

parents, will inform the design of the specialist provision. 

 

Admissions Arrangements  

 

197. The Council would manage admissions to each of the special schools and 

Specialist Resource Bases in accordance with the ALN Code. 

 

Learner Travel Arrangements  

 

198. There are no plans to change the Council’s transport policy for school 

children.  

 

199. Any pupils affected by the proposals would be offered the same support 

with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff in line with the same 

criteria that apply across Cardiff. 

 

200. The Council’s transport policy for school children can be viewed on the 

Council’s website www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport. 

 

201. Any increase in demand for Learner Transport will require funding. Whilst 

the per pupil cost of school transport is likely to decrease further modelling 

is required to establish whether the overall transport costs are likely to 

increase or decrease. 

 

Community Impact  

 

202. The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public 

Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion. Officers will work with 

Page 405

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport


Page 26 of 36  

schools, local members and any community group to make sure that the 

proposal avoids negative impacts if possible. 

 

Local Member consultation  

 

203. Additional learning needs provision is city-wide, and members were 

consulted as part of the public consultation. 

 

Scrutiny Consideration  

 

204. The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee will consider this 

report on 8 March 2022.  Any comments received will be circulated at the 

Cabinet meeting. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations  

 

205. To meet increasing demand for special school places for primary, 

secondary and post-16 age learners with Complex Learning Needs and 

Autism Spectrum Condition. 

 

Financial Implications  

 

206. This report outlines the request to proceed to public consultation on 
changes to ALN provision and school’s intake within the 11 schools 
identified. Publication of the recommended proposals does not, in itself 
commit the Authority to future expenditure so there are no capital financial 
implications directly arising from this report. However, once a final options 
paper is provided it will be necessary for a full financial evaluation to be 
undertaken. This evaluation will consider both capital and revenue 
implications for both the totality and each individual proposal. The aim of 
this will be to provide assurance that having considered all relevant costs 
each proposal remains both affordable and does not have an impact on 
the budgetary pressures facing the Council. 
 

207. Additional places will need to be funded from the existing delegated 
school’s budget. Previous pre consultation reports have highlighted the 
high-cost provision currently being incurred for this population of pupils 
either through Out of County Placements or enhanced Complex Needs 
Enhancement (CNE) payments for mainstream pupils. Further work is 
required to establish whether or not the savings on Out of County 
Placements or enhanced CNE payments will cover the additional costs of 
additional places and any associated transport costs. 
 

208. Regarding revenue, there will need to be a review of the budget for each 
SRB or Special School which has an increase in the number of places. 
The due diligence undertaken must provide assurance that the additional 
places will be taken up and that the cost and numbers of Out of County 
Placements and CNE enhancements will reduce in order to ensure no 
significant pressure ongoing on school budgets. Over the medium term, 
regular review and analysis needs to be undertaken comparing the 

Page 406



Page 27 of 36  

projected number of places available to places taken up. This will ensure 
that the optimum benefits are achieved by the financial resources used. 
 

209. The proposal for a better spread of provision at special schools and SRBs 
across the city means that the transport cost per individual learner is likely 
to decrease. However, as noted in both the body of the report and the 
Transportation implications there is need for further work in order to 
establish the full impact on transport costs both in the short term and the 
medium term. The decision maker needs to consider the likelihood that 
savings on individual placements and a more effective management of Out 
of County Placements will be able to cover the additional cost of 
transporting the increased SRB places. The covering report sets out that 
the number of places will incrementally grow over the next four years and 
further work is required to establish the cost / saving for each financial 
year.  For 2022/23, there is a risk that overall spend on home to school 
transport, Out of County provision and enhanced CNE payments for 
children and young people with ALN would increase in September 22, but 
this pressure can be managed within school delegated budgets. However, 
the need to ensure robust modelling is in place to ensure that any further 
pressures are identified and understood prior to implementation and are 
robustly modelled and factored into medium-term planning is of paramount 
importance. 
 

210. Regarding capital implications, any further work required to accommodate 
increased pupil numbers will require full financial evaluation and an 
identified funding source. Should the Council be required to make a 
contribution towards these costs, these will need to be funded from within 
existing approved resources or factored into future iterations of the 
Council’s Capital Programme. As part of the further evaluation that is 
required, it will be necessary to consider VAT implications arising from land 
and property ownership arrangements in relation to Voluntary Aided and 
Foundation schools. Should there be any cost associated with the required 
VAT treatment, these will need to be included within the overall financial 
envelope of the scheme. 
 

211. The Moorland Early Years Unit is to be funded from WG Flying start grant 
of £1.3m, with remainder to be funded from the Education Asset Renewal 
budget. In order to ensure sufficient budget, there will be a need to 
prioritise this scheme within the current asset renewal programme, with 
additional funding to be made available through the invest to save 
allocation of the schools capital budget. 

 
Legal Implications  
 
212. Under the Education Act 1996, the Council has a general statutory 

obligation to promote high standards of education and to provide sufficient 
school places for pupils of compulsory school age, including appropriate 
provision for pupils with special educational needs (or additional learning 
needs).  

 

213. A Local Authority can make school organisation proposals, including 
making ‘regulated alterations’ to a community school or a community 

Page 407



Page 28 of 36  

special school, under sections 42-44 of the Schools Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. The proposals set out in the report 
constitute ‘regulated alterations’ and must be considered having regard to 
the provisions of the 2013 Act and the School Organisation Code 2018, 
which sets out factors to be considered in respect of different proposals, 
the statutory procedures, legal requirements and guidance.  

 

214. Where an increase in a school’s capacity is proposed, the Council must 
have regard to evidence of current or future need/demand in the area for 
additional places, with reference to the school’s language category (and 
religious character / gender intake if applicable). The Code also includes 
specific factors to be considered in relation to proposals for the 
reorganisation of provision for Special Educational Needs (or Additional 
Learning Needs). Cabinet will need to be satisfied that all relevant factors 
are properly considered in relation to the proposals.  

 

215. The Council is required, prior to publishing its proposals, to undertake a 
consultation on its proposals in accordance with section 48 of that Act and 
the School Organisation Code 2018. Following the public consultation, the 
Council is required to publish and circulate to all interested parties (listed 
in the Code) a consultation report: 

 

(i) summarising each of the issues raised by the consultees. 

(ii) responding to these by means of clarification, amendment to the 

proposal or rejection of the concerns with supporting reasons; 

(iii) setting out Estyn’s response to the consultation in full; and 

(iv) responding to Estyn’s response by means of clarification, 

amendment to the proposal, or rejection of the concerns, with 

supporting reasons.  

 

216. The consultation report may also make recommendations to the Cabinet 
about how to proceed, i.e., to publish the proposals as consultation on with 
any appropriate modifications, to abandon the proposals and retain the 
status quo or to significant recase the proposals and re-consult.  

 

217. This Cabinet report, together with the appendices constitutes the required 
consultation report; and seeks the Cabinet’s approved to proceed to 
publish all proposals relating to Autism Spectrum Disorders and/or 
Complex Learning Needs referenced in the July and October 2021 Cabinet 
reports. Some modifications are recommended to the implementation 
dates of proposals at Moorlands Primary School and Willows High School. 

 

218. In considering this matter, the Cabinet is required to review the proposals 
having regard to all further relevant information put forward during the 
consultation period (and otherwise). The recommendations relating to the 
Marion Centre and the Specialise Resource Base at Whitchurch High 
School are not within Cabinet’s remit to determine but should be noted as 
part of the wider proposals.   

 

 

 

Page 408



Page 29 of 36  

Land Matters 

 

219. It is anticipated that if the proposals proceed, the Council will need to 
undertake due diligence on potential site constraints and subject to that, 
additional decisions may be required to deal with specific property, 
planning or procurement issues arising from this matter. 

 

Statutory Determination Process and Other Considerations 

 

220. If the Cabinet decides to proceed, the proposals must be published within 
26 weeks from the end of the consultation period (unless an extension of 
time is obtained from the Welsh Ministers). Proposals must be published 
by way of a statutory notice, allowing a minimum of 28 days for objections 
(‘the Objection Period’). The content of the statutory notice, manner of 
publication and persons to be notified are prescribed in the Code.  

 

221. Within 16 weeks from the end of the Objection Period, the Council must 
conscientiously consider any objections received and determine whether 
or not to implement its proposals (under section 53 of the 2013 Act). 
Members will note that the recommendation is for Cabinet to receive a 
further report at that stage.  

 

222. If any objections are received during the Objection Period, the Council is 
required to publish an Objections Report summarising all objections made 
(and not withdrawn) and its response to those objections. The Objections 
Report must be published within 7 days from the date of the Council’s 
determination of the proposals and made available to the interested parties 
listed in the Code. At the same time as publishing the Objections Report, 
the Council must also notify its decision to the Welsh Ministers, the school 
Governing Body and all interested parties listed in the Code. 

 

223. If the proposals are taken forward, the admission arrangements, including 
admission numbers and catchment areas, will need to be determined, 
following consultation, in accordance with the School Admission Code and 
the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006. 

 

224. In considering the proposals, the Council must have regard to its public 
sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific 
Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must 
in making decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic 
or national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – 
including lack of belief.  

 

225. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010). In considering this, the Council 

Page 409



Page 30 of 36  

must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers and must be able to demonstrate how it has discharged its duty. 

 

226. Due regard and consideration should be given to the outcomes of the 
Equalities Impact Assessment.  

 

227. The Council must also be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards and consider the 
impact of its proposals upon the Welsh language. 

 

228. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the 
Council to consider how the proposals will contribute towards meeting its 
wellbeing objectives (set out in the Corporate Plan). Members must also 
be satisfied that the proposals comply with the sustainable development 
principle, which requires that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 

229. The decision makers must be satisfied that the proposals fall within the 
Council’s approved policy and budget framework. 

 
HR Implications  
 
HR implications relevant to the proposals for the establishment of Specialist 
Resource Base provision  
 
230. The implications below apply to the proposals to establish Specialist 

Resource Base provision at Moorland Primary School, Willows High 
School and Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf. 
 

231. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body to address the HR 
implications arising from the establishment of a Specialist Resource Base 
at the school and the resulting need for additional staffing.  

 
232. Where the Governing Body has adopted the Council’s School 

Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of the establishment of the Specialist Resource Base will 
provide opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment 
register. 

 

HR implications relevant to the proposals for the expansion of existing Specialist  
School Provision  
 
233. The implications below apply to the proposals to increase the capacity of 

Ty Gwyn Special School, Meadowbank Special School and The Hollies 
Special School. 
 

234. The proposed increase in pupil numbers for the school will require the 
Governing Body to plan for the workforce requirements in readiness for 
the expansion. The Governing Body will be encouraged to undertake this 
work in line with the School Organisation Planning HR Framework. HR 
People Services will provide advice, support and guidance to the 

Page 410



Page 31 of 36  

Governing Body for the workforce planning and consequential recruitment 
processes.  

 
235. Where the Governing Body has adopted the Council’s School 

Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of an increase in the numbers on roll will provide 
opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment register. 

 
HR implications relevant to the proposals for the expansion of existing Specialist 
Resource Base provision  
 
236. The implications below apply to the proposals to increase the capacity of 

the Specialist Resource Bases at Llanishen High School, Llanishen Fach 
Primary School, Marlborough Primary School, Pentrebane Primary School 
and Springwood Primary School. 
 

237. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body to address the HR 
implications arising from the increase in the designated number of the 
Autism Spectrum Condition Specialist Resource Base at the school and 
the resulting need for additional staffing. 

 
238. Where the Governing Body has adopted the Council’s School 

Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of the increase in the designated number of the Autism 
Spectrum Condition Specialist Resource Base will provide opportunities 
for school-based staff on the school redeployment. 

 

Property Implications  
 
239. Strategic Estates continue to work with and support Education colleagues 

through the asset management process and any property matters relating 
and arising from proposals.  There are numerous options in this paper 
which will in time require input as and when the consultation period 
completes, and we move towards business cases. 

 
Traffic and Transport Implications 

 

240. The Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) includes a target of 
50% of all journeys to be made by sustainable transport. Minimising the 
proportion of school journeys made by car and maximising opportunities 
for travel to school by active and sustainable modes can make an 
important contribution to achieving this target and reducing pressures on 
the transport network at peak times.  

 

241. The individual needs of pupils at special schools and SRBs, together with 
greater distances travelled, necessarily limit the scope for high rates of 
active travel compared with mainstream schools.   

 

242. The Council applies the statutory qualifying walking distance criteria for 
pupils to qualify for free home to school transport to special schools and 
SRBs.  Additionally, some learners who live within two / three miles of the 

Page 411



Page 32 of 36  

school may be provided with free transport due to their individual learning 
needs and social issues.   
 

243. The proposal for a better spread of provision at special schools and SRBs 

across the city means that the transport cost per individual learner is likely 

to decrease.  However due to the increasing numbers of eligible learners 

there is still expected to be a risk of high transport costs. Further modelling 

is required to establish whether the demand on the school transport 

budget is likely to increase or decrease.     

 
244. The existing high numbers of pupils eligible for Learner Transport are not 

generally expected to change significantly, however a proportion are able 
to, and may already, travel to school independently.  These pupils as well 
as staff and school visitors would benefit from any required improvements 
in facilities for active travel to school or public transport facilities.   

 

245. Each of the various school proposals to establish, expand or change 
designation of ALN facilities may require a Transport Assessment or 
Transport Statement which will identify measures to be included as part of 
the application to maximise travel by sustainable modes.    

 

246. Responses to views expressed in the consultation have been set out 
above under the individual schools and SRBs to address specific concerns 
raised or to provide details of potential measures to be provided at specific 
sites.   

 

247. The Council’s current Corporate Plan includes a commitment to every 
school in Cardiff developing an Active Travel Plan. Such a plan will identify 
actions by the school to support and encourage active travel to school and 
also any improvements to on-site and off-site infrastructure required to 
facilitate active journeys.   

 

248. Increasing travel to school by active modes will have a positive impact on 
children’s health and wellbeing and will support the delivery of key actions 
and outcomes under Goal 5 the Council’s Child Friendly City Strategy 
(2018), which relates to ensuring access to safe outdoor environments for 
formal and informal play, walking, cycling and scooting and active travel to 
school.   

 

249. A number of initiatives have successfully demonstrated support and 
encouragement for active and sustainable travel amongst the ALN cohort, 
including Independent Travel Training for older pupils, cycle maintenance 
and cycle training.    

 

250. Some pupils are able to travel independently or with parent/carers and if 
resident within the two-mile qualifying distance may not be eligible for 
Learner Transport.   
 

251. Provision of recommended improvements for active travel would benefit 
these pupils as well as staff and visitors to the sites.   

 

Page 412



Page 33 of 36  

252. Numbers of pupils who continue to use Learner Transport for their journey 
to school will be likely to increase in line with the trend for increasing 
numbers of pupils requiring places at special schools or SRBs.  Each 
school location with increased demand for Learner Transport vehicles will 
require suitable improved and / or expanded facilities for drop-off and pick-
up within the site.  The areas required would need to accommodate 
appropriate numbers of vehicles which may approximate to one taxi for a 
typical average of 3 pupils.  In some cases, minibuses may be suitable, 
but this is also dependent on individual pupil needs, home locations and 
co-ordination of routes.   

 

253. Car parking provision would be in line with the Council’s parking standards.  
Allocations for special schools and SRBs are agreed on a case-by-case 
basis but requirements are expected to generally correlate with 1 car 
space per typical number of pupils in a class.  This is in line with the 
standard 1 space per 30 pupils in mainstream schools, but results in a 
higher ratio of spaces due to the much smaller class sizes.   

 

Impact of the proposals on the Welsh Language 

 

254. The Council is committed to developing a Bilingual Cardiff.   
 

255. Cardiff’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2031 sets out a 
series of ambitious commitments to build on the progress achieved to date.  
These will ensure that every child in the city can receive an education in 
the language of Welsh, the number receiving their education in Welsh-
medium schools will increase, and through the significant use of Welsh in 
English medium education all will have the opportunity to become 
confident in speaking Welsh. 

 

256. The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the 
Welsh-medium sector has historically been lower than in the English 
medium sector. This has however been changing over the last 4-5 years, 
with schools reporting an increased incidence of additional learning needs, 
in all areas of need.  

 

257. A review of additional learning needs in the Welsh-medium sector was 
undertaken with Welsh medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Schools reported a small but significant 
number of examples of pupils with additional learning needs leaving the 
Welsh-medium sector in order to access Specialist Resource Bases or 
special schools.  

 

258. There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families 
who would otherwise choose Welsh-medium education opt instead for 
English medium if their child has additional learning needs, through 
concern that their child may need to transfer to the specialist sector at a 
later date.  

 

259. Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the 
sector, including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to 

Page 413



Page 34 of 36  

generate more confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the 
sector. 

 

260. A new primary base was established at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, within 
the catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, where the secondary 
base is established. The two bases cater for learners with severe learning 
difficulties, providing a specialist curriculum and supporting a range of 
secondary needs including physical and medical needs, speech and 
language difficulties and autism.  

 

261. As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop 
additional provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh-medium 
education is a genuine choice for learners with complex additional learning 
needs. 

 

262. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh 
Education Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its 
draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 
October 2021 and 13 December 2021.  

 

263. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary 
version and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were 
circulated to statutory stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s 
Welsh Education Forum member organisations.  

 

264. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-
medium additional learning needs provision and proposals would be 
brought forward as part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh 
Government and formal adoption by the Council later in 2022.  

 

265. The Cabinet approved Cardiff’s WESP 2022-2031 at its meeting of 24 
February 2022, for submission to the Welsh Government Ministers. 

 

266. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including 
new and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals 
are brought forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account 
the needs of all of our learners and reflects the additionality required to 
ensure parity in the Welsh-medium sector as new places are delivered 
throughout the proposed WESP. 
 

Wellbeing of Future Generations  

 

267. In line with the Well-being of Future Generations Act Cardiff’s School 
Organisation Programme is committed to providing Local Schools for 
Local Children, together with encouraging use of sustainable modes to 
travel to schools, such as walking and cycling. Each school project takes 
into account key transport issues when they are being designed and the 
firm need to provide safer routes to encourage walking, cycling and other 
active travel modes to schools. 
 

Page 414



Page 35 of 36  

268. With the current investments in ICT across the city, student movements 
may be further reduced as mobile technology develops further allowing for 
flexible teaching methods. These have the potential to result in a more 
efficient Travel Plan and further contribute to the Council’s targets to 
reduce its carbon emissions.  
 

269. In order to maximise the long-term impact of this significant investment, 
any design taken forward for each school included in this proposal would 
be developed to ensure the delivery of high-quality modern facilities that 
are able to respond to the current pupil populations needs and support the 
delivery of effective teaching and learning methods. They would also 
incorporate the flexibility to take account of changes depending on need 
as time progresses; such as changing demographics and pupil numbers, 
changing curriculum and changing types of pupil needs. 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

  

270. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. It concluded that the 
proposed changes would not negatively affect a particular group in society.  
 

271. The Equality Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix 9.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

The Cabinet is recommended to   

  

1. authorise officers to proceed to publish proposals in accordance with 

section 48 of The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 

to:  

  

 establish a 20 place Specialist Resource Base for primary aged 
children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School 
from September 2023 
 

 establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base for learners with 
complex learning needs at Willows High School from September 
2023 
 

 increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School 

Specialist Resource Base for learners with Autism Spectrum 

Condition from 20 to 45 places from September 2022 

 

 establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource 

Base for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition from September 

2023 

 

 increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 

to 240 from September 2022 

 

Page 415



Page 36 of 36  

 increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School 
from 40 to 98 from September 2022 

 

 increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 
90 to 119 from September 2022; further increase the designated 
number of The Hollies Special School from 119 to 150 from 
September 2023 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 
Llanishen Fach Primary School for learners with complex learning 
needs from 20 to 30 places from September 2023 
 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 
Marlborough Primary School for learners with severe and complex 
learning needs from 20 to 30 from September 2022 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 
Pentrebane Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum 
Condition from 20 to 24 spaces from September 2022  
 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Springwood Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum 

Condition from 20 to 28 from September 2022 

  
2. Note that prior to implementation of the proposals a further report will be 

provided to Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the 

proposed responses to those objections and recommendations for 

implementation or otherwise of the proposals. 

 

 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER  

  

Melanie Godfrey  

Director of Education & Lifelong  

Learning   

  

4 March 2022 

  

The following appendices are attached:    

 

Appendix 1 – Consultation Documents 

Appendix 2 – Summary Documents  

Appendix 3 – Notes of meetings with Governing Bodies and School Staff 

Appendix 4 – Notes of pupil engagement meetings  

Appendix 5 – Notes of public meetings  

Appendix 6 – Formal responses received  

Appendix 7 – Summary of responses received and appraisal of views 

Appendix 8 – Summary analysis of consultation responses 

Appendix 9 – Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Page 416



��������� �������
�������������������������
�����������	����	�������
����������������
��������������	��������������� !

"�����	���������������
#��	������	���	�����������������$����	���%���

&&'()*(+,-'.'//'0(1,2+,-'/3/&

456789::;<=6>9?;>9589<56@9A>9BAC856<9D9E?FG9:;HIC6>J9FG95K5F@5L@69F>9M6@G?N9
E?FG9:;HIC6>J9H5>9L69C5:695K5F@5L@69F>9O85F@@6N9

P>=;8C5JF;>9H5>95@G;9L69C5:695K5F@5L@69F>9;J?689H;CCI>FJA9@5><I5<6G9F=9>66:6:N9
Q@65G69H;>J5HJ9IG9;>9RSTUSRVWUSWSR9J;95885><69J?FGN

Appendix 1

Page 417



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!

()*+,-./*0,)1
234567389375893:;;<=>736:;?7@3
23456736A>3B>3CA;C;98DE37;3F;@33
G,)H.I*J*0,)
2345;36A>3B>3K;D9?=78DE3B875@
23L8>B93;M3K58=FA>D3;D375>3CA;C;9>F3K56DE>93
23N;B3K6D3O;?3PDF3;?73Q;A>36DF3=>73?93<D;B3O;?A3R8>B9@
23S;?A3R8>B936A>38QC;A76D737;3?9
TUVIJ)J*0,)1,W1*X+YH1.HX-10)1*Z0H1-,/.YX)*
23[?MPK8>DKO38D375>3[C>K86=3[>K7;A3
23\>;EA6C58K6=3F897A8:?78;D3;M3[C>K86=8973]A;R898;D
+̂0YJ+_1̀aX1TY,*0,)JI1bXJI*Z1J)-1cXIIdX0)a1̂+,e0H0,)1fJaX1ghiij
23k?AA>D73CA;R898;D
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9
+̂,V,HJIH1W,+1mZX1G,.+*1nVX/0JI1n/Z,,I
23o5>3k;?A73[C>K86=3[K5;;=
23o5>3D?Q:>A3;M3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23k;DF878;D36DF39?876:8=87O3;M39K5;;=3:?8=F8DE9
23p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=
23[87>3q6C3
23o5>3D?Q:>A3;M3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23k;DF878;D36DF39?876:8=87O3;M39K5;;=3:?8=F8DE9
23o5>3[73q>==;D93k5?AK538D346=>93]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
r.JI0*_1J)-1n*J)-J+-H
23s97OD
234>=953\;R>ADQ>D73k67>E;A89678;D3;M3[K5;;=9
23o5>3k;?A73[C>K86=3[K5;;=
23p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=
b,t1t,.I-1H*J)-J+-H1J*1*ZX1H/Z,,IH1dX1JWWX/*X-1d_1*ZX1/ZJ)aXH
23[76DF6AF9
23o>6K58DE36DF3u>6AD8DE3svC>A8>DK>9
23k6A>39?CC;A736DF3E?8F6DK>
23u>6F>A958C36DF3Q6D6E>Q>D7
-̀-0*0,)JI1H.VV,+*1W,+1V.V0IH
23wQC6K73;D3C?C8=93B8753xFF878;D6=3u>6AD8DE3y>>F93zxuy{
23N;B3B;?=F39?CC;A73M;A3C?C8=93B8753sDE=89536936D3xFF878;D6=3u6DE?6E>3:>36MM>K7>F@
23N;B3B;?=F3C?C8=93A>K>8R8DE3pA>>3[K5;;=3q>6=93:>36MM>K7>F@
23N;B3B;?=F3q8D;A87O3s75D8K3C?C8=93:>36MM>K7>F@
b,t1t,.I-1).+HX+_1V+,e0H0,)1dX1JWWX/*X-|
cZJ*1J+X1*ZX1dX)X}*H1,W1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH|
,̂*X)*0JI1-0HJ-eJ)*JaXH1,W1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH1
~0H�H1JHH,/0J*X-1t0*Z1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH
Ì*X+)J*0eX1,V*0,)H1/,)H0-X+X-
cZJ*1t,.I-1ZJVVX)1*,1*ZX1XU0H*0)a1G,.+*1nVX/0JI1n/Z,,I1H0*X|
b.YJ)1~XH,.+/XH1�J**X+H
m+J)HV,+*1�J**X+H
23o5>3k;?A7367375>3p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
23o5>3k;?A7367375>3[73q>==;D93k843]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
bJeX1_,.+1HJ_1
+̂0YJ+_1G,YVIXU�̀.*0HY1̂+,e0H0,)1fJaX1ghiij
23k?AA>D73CA;R898;D
23k;QC=>v3u>6AD8DE3y>>F93[C>K86=8973�>9;?AK>3�69>3
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
 �
��
¡

Page 418



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!

()*+*,-./0*)/1+234-.4,5/62,*7)32/8-,2/9168:/+)*;4,4*</-5/=**).-<>/()4?-)@/13A**./
BCDEEFGHIJCKFLMHFNCOPQEEG
BCRQSCITMUSFCEVCWGHPSXCHYCYQSCXPQEEG
BCZSMHIJCVEFCWGHPSXCHYCYQSCXPQEEG
BC[EIJLYLEICHIJCXTLYHULGLYNCEVCXPQEEGCUTLGJLI\X
BCKFEWEXSJCO]̂CHPPEMMEJHYLEI
_7-.45@/-<>/15-<>-)>,
BC X̀YNI
BCaSGXQCbEcSFIMSIYC[HYS\EFLXHYLEICEVCOPQEEGX
BCDEEFGHIJCKFLMHFNCOPQEEG
d*e/e*7.>/,5-<>-)>,/-5/5A2/,3A**.,/f2/-002352>/f@/5A2/3A-<g2,h
BCOYHIJHFJX
BCRSHPQLI\CHIJCiSHFILI\C̀jWSFLSIPSX
BC[HFSCXTWWEFYCHIJC\TLJHIPS
BCiSHJSFXQLWCHIJCMHIH\SMSIY
k>>454*<-./,7++*)5/0*)/+7+4.,
BClMWHPYCEICWTWLGXCmLYQCnJJLYLEIHGCiSHFILI\CoSSJXCpnioq
BCrEmCmETGJCXTWWEFYCVEFCWTWLGXCmLYQC̀I\GLXQCHXCHICnJJLYLEIHGCiHI\TH\SCUSCHVVSPYSJs
BCrEmCmETGJCWTWLGXCFSPSLcLI\CtFSSCOPQEEGCDSHGXCUSCHVVSPYSJs
BCrEmCmETGJCDLIEFLYNC̀YQILPCWTWLGXCUSCHVVSPYSJs
d*e/e*7.>/<7),2)@/+)*;4,4*</f2/-002352>h
k.52)<-54;2/*+54*<,/3*<,4>2)2>
uA-5/-)2/5A2/f2<2v5,/*0/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2h
(*52<54-./>4,->;-<5-g2,/*0/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2/
64,w,/-,,*34-52>/e45A/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2
d7?-</62,*7)32,/=-552),
x)-<,+*)5/=-552),
d-;2/@*7)/,-@/
y<0*)?-54*</)2.2;-<5/5*/f*5A/+)*+*,-.,
d*e/e*7.>/5A2/3A-<g2,/-00235/*5A2)/,3A**.,h
k>?4,,4*</-))-<g2?2<5,
z2-)<2)/x)-;2./k))-<g2?2<5,/
{4<-<34-./=-552),
d2-.5A/()*;4,4*<
|*;2)<-<32/k))-<g2?2<5,
y?+-35/*0/5A2/+)*+*,-.,/*</5A2/u2.,A/z-<g7-g2
}~7-.4542,
�*??7<45@/y?+-35
u2..f24<g/*0/{757)2/|2<2)-54*<,
(*52<54-./�4,)7+54*</5*/(7+4.,
�2�5/,52+,�/A*e/5*/?-w2/@*7)/;42e,/w<*e</-<>/022>f-3w/0*)?
BCaQHYCQHWWSIXCISjYs
BC�SNCZHYSX
BC[EIXTGYHYLEICWSFLEJ
BCOYHYTYEFNCoEYLPS
BC�U�SPYLEIC]SWEFYC
BCZSYSFMLIHYLEICEVCYQSCWFEWEXHGX
BCZSPLXLEICoEYL�PHYLEI
d-;2/@*7)/,-@�
BC[EIXTGYHYLEICFSXWEIXSCVEFMC

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
 
��
 
��
�

¡
��
�
�¢
�
�
��
��
�
��
�£
��
��
��
��
¤
��
�
��
¥¢
£¤
¦

Page 419



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#�$ �%

&'()*+,*)'+,*-../01)*(-.2)3

456789::;<=>8678?:@8AB@=C>7D8EB@=@7F87E5::<87>B??F87E5::<8G:H=@C:@78BCI8BCJ:C=8K5:85B78BC86C>=@=7>8

6C8=ILEB>6:C86C8MB@I6??N8O>8K6<<89=8:?8AB@>6EL<B@86C>=@=7>8>:8AB@=C>7D8EB@=@78:?8E56<I@=C8B>>=CI6CGF8:@8

=PA=E>6CG8>:8B>>=CIF845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8BCI8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8BCI8>5:7=8>5B>85BH=8

:@8EL@@=C><J8K:@;8K6>58E56<I@=C8K6>58UII6>6:CB<8V=B@C6CG8W==I78XUVWYN

O>87=>78:L>8E5BCG=78K=8B@=87LGG=7>6CG8>:8A@:H6I=856G58ZLB<6>J8A@6TB@J87A=E6B<87E5::<8A<BE=78?:@8

E56<I@=C8K6>58[T:>6:CB<8\=B<>58BCI8]=<<9=6CG8W==I78B>845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8BCI8QA=E6B<67>8

=̂7:L@E=8_B7=8XQ̂_Y8A<BE=78?:@8E56<I@=C8K6>58E:TA<=P8<=B@C6CG8C==I78B>8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<F8

BCI8>5=8@=B7:C78?:@8>5=7=8A@:A:7=I8E5BCG=7N

&'()*(̀1*a1*b̀.b.,+cd*).*e.3

4:8T==>8>5=8I=TBCI8?:@8A@6TB@J8BG=87A=E6B<67>8A@:H676:C86>8678A@:A:7=I8>:f

g8OCE@=B7=8>5=8EBABE6>J8:?845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8?@:T8hi8>:8ji8A<BE=7N8845=87E5::<8K:L<I8

>@BC7?=@8>:8>K:876>=7F86C8C=K89L6<I8BEE:TT:IB>6:C8:C8>5=876>=8:?8kB6@KB>=@8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8BCI8

>:8>5=8EL@@=C>8Q>8R=<<:C7F8M6]8S@6TB@J8QE5::<876>=86C8V<BC@LTC=JF8K6>58lm8ALA6<78:C8=BE5876>=8

?@:T8Q=A>=T9=@8inioN

g8[7>B9<6758B8in8A<BE=8QA=E6B<67>8̂=7:L@E=8_B7=8XQ̂_Y8?:@8A@6TB@J8BG=I8E56<I@=C8K6>58M:TA<=P8

V=B@C6CG8W==I78B>8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8?@:T8Q=A>=T9=@8iniiN

p �q"r�s�$ �

&'.*(̀1*a1*t.c,20)+cd*a+)'3

45=8E:C7L<>B>6:C8A@:E=778TL7>8?:<<:K8>5=8]=<758u:H=@CT=C>8GL6I=<6C=78B787=>8:L>86C8>5=8QE5::<8

v@GBC67B>6:C8M:I=8inwxN

U78AB@>8:?8>5678K=8B@=8B7;6CG8A=:A<=8K5B>8>5=J8>56C;8B9:L>8>5=8E5BCG=78K=8B@=8A@:A:76CGN88

45=@=8B@=8B8CLT9=@8:?8KBJ78A=:A<=8EBC8>=<<8L78>5=6@8H6=K7N

�

y
z{
|}
~
��
|�
��
}�
��
�
�
�{

�
��
�
�{
��
�
}�
�
�}
��
��
�
��
�
}�
�
�
}�
�
�
�
�}
�
��
�
��
}

�
�|
�
}�
�
�
�|
��
�
��
}�
��
��
��
�}
�
��
�
{}
��
��
�

Page 420



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"!� �#$!% &%!#'&!$(#!&( !)#'*+,�!,%!+#*%'�&,*-.

���� !".!/0#'1%!&( !)#'*+,�!,%!+#*%'�&,*-!$,&(

23456789:;96:<=>9?:@8=@58 A85B3:C494BD87B

E;789DBFG;787B HIJKLMNONPQKRMNPIRRKSSKITMQ

UG3==5:BD;VV 289D7;5:U=>D3:2=9B=7D4>W:X=49D:Y6>G;D4=9:U87Z4G8:
[2U2XYU\

UG3==5:]=Z87949?:̂=648B A85B3:_;9?>;?8:2=WW4BB4=987:

_=G;5:78B4689DB 3̀4894:67=B:a66<B?:]<W7;8?:[̀3a]\

2=WW>94D<:2=>9G45B b7;68:c94=9B:

_=G;5:C8Wd87BF2=9BD4D>89G<:;96:̀8?4=9;5:C8Wd87B:=V:
D38:U89866:[CU\:FC8Wd87B:=V:E;754;W89D:[CEB\

23456G;78:@7=Z4687B:

e4=G8B;9:e478GD=7B:=V:Y6>G;D4=9 C>64;6:C84D3749:

f84?3d=>749?:a>D3=74D48B A;58B:E78gUG3==5:E7=Z4687B:aBB=G4;D4=9

f84?3d=>749?:E74W;7<:;96:U8G=96;7<:BG3==5B:h4D349:
2;764VV:

25<d4;>:E5;9D:2<W7>:i46B:25>d

YBD<9 f;D4=9;5:e;<:f>7B8748B:aBB=G4;D4=9

2=WW>94D48B:j47BD:E;7D987B34@ A85B3:Y6>G;D4=9:j=7>W

2;764VV:;96:k;58:l8;5D3:̂=;76: k=5>9D;7<:U8GD=7:m7?;94B;D4=9B:

n, $%!#o!+(,�p0 *!#*!&( !10#1#% p!+(�*- %!

2;764VV:4B:;:23456:j748965<:24D<:;96:D38:Z48hB:=V:G3456789:;96:<=>9?:@8=@58:;78:q8<:D=:D38:h;<:86>G;D4=9:4B:

6854Z8786r::sD:4B:4W@=7D;9D:D3;D:h389:d749?49?:V=7h;76:@7=@=B;5Bt:B>4D;d58:;77;9?8W89DB:;78:W;68:D=:G=9B>5D:

h4D3:@>@45Br:b38:2=>9G45:h455:G=9B>5D:h4D3:@>@45B:49:D38:BG3==5B:49G5>686:;B:@;7D:=V:D38B8:@7=@=B;5B:;96:D38:

49V=7W;D4=9:?;D38786:49:D38B8:B8BB4=9B:h455:d8:49G5>686:49:D38:u9;5:G=9B>5D;D4=9:78@=7Dr

v#$!w#'!+�*!x*p!#'&!y#0 !�*p!� &!'%!z*#$!w#'0!{, $%|

b34B:G=9B>5D;D4=9:6=G>W89D:;96:;:G=9B>5D;D4=9:78B@=9B8:V=7W:;78:;Z;45;d58:=9:D38:2=>9G45:h8dB4D8:;D:}}}~

L�Q�K��~�I�~������SL�IIJ�QI�IS�JS

sV:<=>:;78:>9;d58:D=:;GG8BB:D38:6=G>W89DB:=95498t:@749D86:G=@48B:h455:d8:;Z;45;d58:d<:@=BD:=9:78�>8BDr:�=>:

W;<:78�>8BD:;:G=@<:d<:8gW;4549?:SL�IIJQMS�ITSMS�L�Q�K��~�I�~��:=7:d<:D858@3=949?:���N����N����r:

A8:h455:;6Z4B8:V;W4548B:h4D3:G3456789:;D:b38:2=>7D:U@8G4;5:UG3==5t:C==75;96:E74W;7<:UG3==5t:j;47h;D87:

E74W;7<:UG3==5t:UD:C855=9B:23>7G3:49:A;58B:E74W;7<:UG3==5:;96:E89:<:̂7<9:E74W;7<:UG3==5:3=h:D38<:G;9:

;GG8BB:;:G=@<:=V:D38:6=G>W89Dr

s9V=7W;D4=9:h455:;5B=:d8:@7=Z4686:D=:78B4689DB:;96:d>B498BB8B:49:G5=B8:@7=�4W4D<:D=:D38:BG3==5:B4D8B:49G5>686:

49:D38:@7=@=B;5Br

m95498:W88D49?B:h455:d8:3856:h3878:D38:G3;9?8B:h8:;78:@7=@=B49?:h455:d8:8�@5;4986r::�=>:h455:3;Z8:D38:

=@@=7D>94D<:D=:;Bq:�>8BD4=9B:;B:@;7D:=V:D38B8:B8BB4=9Br::sV:<=>:h=>56:54q8:D=:;DD896:;9:=95498:W88D49?:@58;B8:

G=9D;GD:>B:Z4;:8gW;45:D=:SL�IIJQMS�ITSMS�L�Q�K��~�I�~��:G=9u7W49?:h34G3:W88D49?:<=>:h=>56:54q8:D=:

;DD896:;96:h8:h455:@7=Z468:;:549q:;96:49BD7>GD4=9B:=9:3=h:<=>:G;9:;GG8BB:D34B:W88D49?r

2=>9G45:=VuG87B:h455:W88D:h4D3:D38:]=Z87949?:̂=648B:;96:BD;VV:=V:b38:2=>7D:U@8G4;5:UG3==5t:j;47h;D87:E74W;7<:

UG3==5:;96:C==75;96:E74W;7<:UG3==5r:

�=>:G;9:;5B=:h74D8:D=:D38:2=>9G45:D=:D855:>B:h3;D:<=>:D349qr:
�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
� 
¡¢
£
£
¤�

¥
�£
¦
§�
§£
�
�̈
£
��
¡¢
§¤
©
��
�
�ª
�
©
��
£
�
�
«�
¬
�£
¬
¤�
�


§�
¢
�®
©
©
§�
§£
�
ª¤
�̄
�ª
��
§�
«�
°
��
©
��
±®̄
°
²

Page 421



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#�$%�"���&'()*+�+$,#')"!"*$,�-��"*,.#�!/��#�"�$'"�(�)$01

234567897:;<=>5?3?@;<7A66?@<B7C3?6=7

D3?>E67;F7G;<=>5?3?@;<7 C3?6H2@I67 J6<>67

K,)*,��L'()*+�-��"*,. �'�# !M�NO�P$Q�-(�/�ONOR�
S1TN&-�U�V&-�

K,)*,��Q*!���!-#

W/$&�*,�#�##*$,#�� K,�/�X'�#"�(M��-!*)*,.�
#+�$$)/�#&$,#�#Y+!/ *%%Z.$QZ'[

K,)*,��Q*!���!-#

\;>E7]@6̂=73E67@I_;E?3<?7?;7>=7

$̀'/�Q*�0#�-!""�/�!, �0��0!,"�M$'�"$�"�))�'#�0�!"�M$'�"�*,[�!($'"�"���+�!,.�#�0���!Q��#'..�#"� �*,�

"�*#� $+'-�,"Z�

$̀'�+!,� $�"�*#�(M1�

a�b""�, *,.�$,��$%�"���-��"*,.#�)*#"� �!($Q�Z��

a�c$-&)�"*,.�"���$,)*,��/�#&$,#��%$/-�!"�dddefghijkkelmneopqrstufvmmwxhmxmugwu

a�c$-&)�"*,.�"���+$,#')"!"*$,�/�#&$,#��%$/-y�0�*+��M$'�+!,�z, �$,�&!.��{|

a�c$,"!+"*,.�"���}+�$$)�K/.!,*#!"*$,�L)!,,*,.���!-�(M��~-!*)�"$�ufvmmwh�uxm�u�u�fghijkkelmneopy�

(M�"�)�&�$,��$,��NO���ON�V�OVON�$/�(M�&$#"�"$��$$-�{NRy�c$',"M��!))y�c!/ *%%y�c�RN�{��Z���*#�

+!,�*,+)' ��/�X'�#"*,.�!,�$%z+�/�+!))�(!+[�*%�M$'��!Q��!�#&�+*z+�X'�#"*$,�"�!"�M$'�%��)�M$'�0$') �)*[��

%'/"��/�*,%$/-!"*$,�!($'"Z�

2�67G5;=@<B7�3?67F;E7E6=_;<=6=7?;7?�@=7G;<=>5?3?@;<7@=7887D;]6I46E78�8�

����c$',+*)�*#�,$"�!()��"$�+$,#* �/�!,M�+$,#')"!"*$,�/�#&$,#�#�/�+�*Q� �!%"�/�"�*#� !"�Z

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
 
¡�
¡�
�
�¢
�
��
��
¡�
£
��
�
�¤
�
£
��
�
�
�
¥�
¦
��
¦
��
�

§
¡�
�
�̈
£
£
¡�
¡�
�
¤�
�©
�¤
��
¡�
¥�
ª
��
£
��
«̈
©ª
¬

Page 422



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� ! "#$!%$&%"'()*%+*',%#!%"-#*%,$.+)'!"%

/01231456714781496006:;5<471=>34?31@478=6?<86?7478;34@6A?>157B

CDEFGGFHIJKLEMNO4P42004>2;572;51@43A8660342@>;74Q?Q;034?Q4764274012374781;=4/?R0;381@4S@>;33;654
T?>R1=U4V8142@>;33;6545?>R1=4;3478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;04Q02A1342W2;02R014;5412A84X12=4<=6?QU

CYK4P4S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4T11@3U4S4A8;0@46=4X6?5<4Q1=3654;34A653;@1=1@476482W14S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4
T11@34;94781X482W14@;9[A?07;1347827482W14243;<5;[A2574065<P71=>4;>Q2A74654781;=4012=5;5<U44\;9[A?07;134>2X4
R14=10271@4764012=5;5<]4A6>>?5;A27;65425@4;571=2A7;65]424Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4@;32R;0;7X]46=4R182W;6?=204
1>67;6520425@436A;204@1W106Q>157U44̂SZT4;3436>17;>134=191==1@4764234_Q1A;204̀@?A27;65204T11@3aU

bcdFecfJgLIDFIhJgHOJGijHHfG4k4>651X4?31@4764R?;0@451:43A86604R?;0@;5<346=4;>Q=6W141l;37;5<492A;0;7;13U

bHEELIFemJnijHHfGJk424Q=;>2=X46=431A65@2=X43A86604:81=147814o6?5A;042==25<1343A866042@>;33;653U

bceijENIeJcONcJk42542=1247827424A6>>?5;7X43A86604:6?0@456=>200X431=W1U4p54o2=@;99q4A8;0@=1540;W;5<4
:;78;5478;342=12482W148;<81=4Q=;6=;7X496=42@>;33;65476478143A8660478254A8;0@=1546?73;@1469478;342=12U

bHEdfNrJYNcOIFIhJKNNDG4P4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:;78424=25<14694;33?134s4A6>R;527;65469402X1=1@4
511@3U4V81314A6?0@4;5A0?@14511@34=10271@4764012=5;5<q4A6>>?5;A27;65q4Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4@;32R;0;7;13U4q4

tEHeFHIcfJuNcfejJcIDJvNffMNFIhJKNNDG4k4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:86482W14;33?134:;78478;5w;5<q4
9110;5<425@4R182W;5<U4V8;34;>Q2A734654>252<;5<486:40;9142991A734781>q486:4781X4A6Q1q486:4781X415<2<14
:;7846781=3q47814A86;A134781X4>2w1U44_6>17;>13423424=13?0746947=2?>2U4o8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014>2X4
@;3Q02X425l;17Xq406:43109P13711>q43A86604Q86R;2q46=4R182W;6?=204@;9[A?07;13U4

xcFIGeONcEJP424>2;537=12>43A86604;34243A86604=?54RX47814o6?5A;04:8;A84;345674243Q1A;2043A8660U4o6?5A;04
>2;572;51@4>2;537=12>y3Q1A;2043A8660342=1456743101A7;W1425@4@645674=1z?;=1437?@15734764Q2X49113U44

KLEMNOJHIJ{HffJDcec4P478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;034274243A86604̂5674;5A0?@;5<45?=31=X4Q?Q;03aU

|YCnbJP4/?Q;04Z1W104S55?204_A86604o153?3U4p54}25?2=X46941W1=X4X12=q47814~10384�6W1=5>1574A6001A734
;596=>27;6549=6>43A86603U4V8;34;5A0?@13478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;03427412A843A8660q4781;=42<14<=6?Q3q486>14
2@@=13313q41785;A;7Xq425@4@2724654~10384025<?2<1q4_Q1A;204̀@?A27;65204T11@3q4[=374025<?2<1425@4Q?Q;034
:86482W14�=114_A86604�1203U

nijHHfJCieFHI4P4:815424A023346=43?R�1A74712A81=4<;W1341l7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04:;784SZTU

nijHHfJCieFHIJ|fLG4P4:81546?73;@143Q1A;20;3734810Q47814A023346=43A86604372994764<;W141l7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04
:;784SZTU4V8;34;34@;991=15746=42@@;7;6520476478143?QQ6=74Q=6W;@1@478=6?<84_A86604SA7;65U

ndNiFcfJnijHHfJk4243A8660496=4A8;0@=154:;7842542@@;7;65204012=5;5<4511@46=4@;32R;0;7Xq4:86314511@34A255674
R14>174;5424>2;537=12>43A8660U4V814Q?Q;034274243Q1A;2043A8660482W142437271>1574694_̀Tq46=4254p5@;W;@?204
\1W106Q>1574/0254̂p\/aU

ndNiFcfFGeJ{NGHLOiNJ�cGNJ�n{��JP4S43>2004A02334;5424>2;537=12>43A8660496=4Q?Q;034:;7843;<5;[A2574SZTU4
S004Q?Q;03427715@;5<4254_��482W142437271>1574694_̀T425@42=1472?<874RX43Q1A;20;374712A81=3425@4012=5;5<4
3?QQ6=74233;372573q425@482W146QQ6=7?5;7;134764012=5q4Q02X46=436A;20;314:;7846781=4>2;537=12>4Q?Q;03U44

vNffMNFIhJbfcGGNG4P4o2=@;994203649?5@3431W1=204:100R1;5<4A0233134:8;A84Q=6W;@14386=7471=>4;57153;W14
3?QQ6=7496=4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014@;3Q02X;5<41>67;65204812078425@4:100R1;5<4511@3q47643?QQ6=74781;=4
A657;5?1@4Q02A1>1574;54781;=406A204>2;537=12>43A8660U44/02A1>1574;5424~100R1;5<4o02334;3471>Q6=2=X496=4
6514X12=B47814A8;0@4=1>2;534654=6004274781;=406A2043A8660425@4781X42=143?QQ6=71@4764=17?=549?0047;>14764781;=4
06A2043A86604RX4781415@46947814Q=6<=2>>1U4

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

 
��
�
�¡
�
�
��
��
�
��
�¢
��
��
��
��
£
��
�
��
¤¡
¢£
¥

Page 423



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"# $%!#%&'"%�(" !)*%�" &+,%

-./01223-456718319374::1;;<03;43;=<3>/1671>8<93423167859146?3@=<3:.A4/1;B34238<./6</93C1;=3D001;146.83
E<./616F3G<<093HDEGI3.;;<603.3847.83:.169;/<.:397=448J3.603K<6<L;32/4:3<22<7;1M<3D001;146.83E<./616F3
N/4M191463HDENI?3@=<9<38<./6</9304364;36<<03;43.;;<603.39><71.8397=44834/3O><71.819;3P<945/7<3Q.9<?3

R4C<M</J3;=<365:K</3423>5>1893C1;=39<M</<3.60374:>8<S36<<09J3C=436<<03.3>8.7<3163.39><71.8397=44834/3
9><71.819;3/<945/7<3K.9<3=.93746;165<03;43F/4C?

@=193193K<7.59<342T33

U3N5>183>4>58.;14637=.6F<9J3C1;=38./F</374=4/;93423>/1:./B397=4483.F<3>5>189364C3:4M16F3;=/45F=3;43
9<7460./B3>=.9<?3

U3V:>/4M<0395/M1M.83/.;<9324/37=180/<63K4/63C1;=391F61L7.6;3019.K181;1<9J3/<958;16F3163.3=1F=</365:K</3423
>5>1893C1;=39<M</<3.60374:>8<S3019.K181;1<9?3

U3V67/<.9<0374:>8<S1;B31636<<09J3C=17=3=.93:<.6;3;=.;3;=<30<:.60324/39><71.819;3>/4M191463=.93
746;165<03;43F/4C?33@=<3/.6F<3423<S></;19<J39><71.819;395>>4/;3.6032.7181;1<93/<W51/<031639><71.8397=44893
.603OPQ93=.93.8943167/<.9<0?

U3V67/<.9<0316710<67<3.60310<6;1L7.;14634239><71L736<<093957=3.93.5;19:J3DXRXJ3>=B917.83019.K181;1<93
.6039<694/B31:>.1/:<6;9?3

U3Y4/<37=180/<63.603B456F3><4>8<3C1;=3<:4;146.83=<.8;=3.603C<88K<16F36<<09?33@=193C.93.3;/<603
K<24/<3-Z[VX3\]J3K5;3=.93K<<63<S.7</K.;<03KB397=448378495/<93.6034;=</3:<.95/<93;43:.6.F<3;=<3
>.60<:17?33

D;3;=<3<603423Y./7=3̂_̂\J3;=</<3C</<3̂Ĵ̀ a37=180/<63163-./01223C1;=3.39;.;<:<6;3423O><71.83b057.;1463
G<<09?3D93;=<3>4>58.;1463F/4C9J3943C1883;=<365:K</34237=180/<63.603B456F3><4>8<3C1;=391F61L7.6;3.603
74:>8<S3D001;146.83E<./616F3G<<09?3

V63̂_̂_ĉ\J3.3;4;.83423\J\\̀3>8.7<93163O><71.819;3P<945/7<3Q.9<934/39><71.8397=44893C</<32560<03KB3-./01223
-456718?3d<88K<16F3-8.99<93.603O><<7=3.603E.6F5.F<3-8.99<93=.037.>.71;B324/35>3;43ef38<./6</93463
;<:>4/./B3>8.7<:<6;9?3@=</<3C</<3.8943]_3>8.7<93.M.18.K8<3163;=<3N5>183P<2<//.83g61;3HNPgI?3d=189;3;=</<3
./<3.365:K</3423<S19;16F39><71.819;39<;;16F93.7/4993-./0122J3;=</<3./<364;3<645F=3>8.7<93.M.18.K8<?33@=<3
65:K</34237=180/<63C=43C45803K<6<L;32/4:3.3>8.7<3193>/4A<7;<03;43167/<.9<34M</374:16F3B<./9?3

D93;=</<3./<364;3<645F=39><71.8397=4483>8.7<93163-./0122J3;=<3-4567183=.93.89432560<0394:<3>8.7<93.;3
9><71.8397=448931634;=</3-4567183./<.934/3163160<><60<6;397=4489?3@=<3;4;.839><603463;=<9<3>8.7<93C.93
h̀?i:3163̂_̂_ĉ\?3@=<3K50F<;324/3̂_̂\ĉ 3̂24/3;=<9<3;B><93423>8.7<9319375//<6;8B39<;3.;3hj?i:?33

O><6016F3463160<><60<6;3>8.7<93.6039><71.8397=4483>8.7<931636<1F=K45/16F3-4567183./<.93=.93F/4C63;43
7hi?f:3163̂_̂_ĉ\?3Z23;=19J3.>>/4S1:.;<8B3ĥ?a:3=.932560<039><71.819;3>8.7<9324/3;=49<38<./6</93C1;=3
b:4;146.83R<.8;=3k3d<88K<16F3G<<09?3O4:<3423;=<9<38<./6</93:.B3=.M<3K<<63.K8<3;43K<3>8.7<03.;3@=<3
-45/;3O><71.83O7=4483123:4/<3>8.7<93C</<3.M.18.K8<?3d1;=45;316M<9;:<6;3163.001;146.83>8.7<9J3;=<3749;3423
;=<9<3>8.7<93C45803K<3<S><7;<03;43F/4C391F61L7.6;8B316325;5/<3B<./9?3

@=<3749;3;43;=<3-456718342397=4483;/.69>4/;324/38<./6</93C1;=3b:4;146.83R<.8;=3k3d<88K<16F3G<<093;43;=<9<3
>8.7<:<6;93.M</.F<037h̀J___3></37=1803163̂_\fc\]3H;=<3:49;3/<7<6;3B<./3>/<3-4M10l\]3/<9;/17;1469I?3V;3193
.6;171>.;<03;=.;3;=<3/<>8.7<:<6;3.603<S>.691463423;=<3<S19;16F3-45/;3O><71.83O7=4483C45803:<.63;=.;3;=<3
.M</.F<3A45/6<B38<6F;=93C45803/<057<?3@=193C4580391F61L7.6;8B3/<057<3.M</.F<3;/.69>4/;3749;93></38<./6</?

�

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
{
vq
yz
�|
�
vs
t
q�
t
�
qw
{
u
t
�q
�
s{
�
|s
q

�
�p
z
q�
�
�
�p
�{
t
�|
q�
s�
vt
�t
�q
�
ss
�
oq
��
��
�

Page 424



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%!&'($)* $+,*$�-'�.')"�%$!&$)*'" �/$)$�-'

01234567895:35;3<=269749>83?2>5@A623B7>2>37:C3D244E29:F3G47>>2>39>3:583H2443C9>8A9E@82C376A5>>38123698IJ3

K3L7=3>15H9:F34567895:35;32M9>89:F3>=269749>83=A5N9>95:367:3E23>22:3783=7F23OJ3

0123476P35;3<=269749>83?2>5@A623B7>2>39:3>5L23456749892>367:3C9>7CN7:87F23427A:2A>349N9:F39:3815>237A27>J3
<5L23;7L9492>37A23@:;7L9497A3H981381237A27>3H12A23=A5N9>95:39>3456782CJ3Q7A2:8>35A367A2A>3L7I3476P38123
L27:>38538A7N24327>94I3853815>237A27>J3

K4815@F13;A22315L23853>6155438A7:>=5A839>37N7947E423;5A3>@6136194CA2:R3>2:C9:F373I5@:F36194C3853>6155439:37:3
@:;7L9497A37A2739>373C9;S6@483C269>95:3;5A3=7A2:8>T367A2A>J3K3E2882A3C9>8A9E@895:35;3>=269749>83A2>5@A623E7>2>3
76A5>>38123698I3H5@4C39L=A5N237662>>3;5A3=@=94>J3U83H5@4C3A2C@6238A7N24389L2>3;5A3L7:I3=@=94>R37>3H24437>3
9:6A27>9:F38123:@LE2A35;3=4762>37N7947E42J3

G7AC9;;3<=269743<61554>37:C3<?B>3VWVX

YZ[\]̂_̀a][\]̀b_cd̂ec]\̀ê[f[̂ghha]i_]\d̀ h̀a]j_dkia]j_dk̂[h
[kf_blgi[_km]no]fdbiZeb]̂_̀[e\]lga]pe]lgcem
qgerb]̂_̀[]Zsk]sec[r[]takZab̂Zdrk]pek_c_h][]tafheks[
tsap_cgeiZ]a]jakt_b]u[bm]n[]ehh[b]tskkedc]̂_̀[gd]̀ehhĝZm
v]jb_sk]̂_̀ab[tZi]gkc]cgigpg\e]b[tZi\]wxyz]
obckgk̂e]udb{ea]yxxxw||z}
v]~gshfbg[ki]a]�_b_k]g]Zgsh[gd]̂b_kfg]ccgig]wxyz
�b_hst]obckgk\]yxxxw||z}

jgbc[ff]ù ê[gh]ûZ__h\�u��\]wxwy]]

�����������������������������������������������
�di[\l �z�

�eZg{[_dbgh�]�l_i[_kgh]�]u_̂[gh]neec\ �w�

~egb[kt]�l̀ g[bleki �w�

 b_f_dkc]�]qdhi[̀he]¡egbk[kt]¢[\gp[h[i[e\�]qec[̂gh]neec\�]�di[\l �y�

ue{ebe]¡egbk[kt]¢[\gp[h[i[e\�]qec[̂gh]neec\�]ùeêZ]gkc]¡gktdgte�]�di[\l �yx�

�

£
¤¥
¦§̈
©ª
¦«
¬
§®̄
°
±
±
²¥

³
¬±́
µ¥
µ±
ª
§¶
±
¬§̄
°
µ²
·
¬©
ª
§̧
ª
·
§
±
«
ª
¹§
º
©±
º
²©
§

»
µ¦
°
§¼
·
·
µ¦
µ±
ª̧
²§
½©̧
¬ª
µª
¹§
¾
©©
·
¥§
¿¼
½¾
À

Page 425



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��

�
��
 !
"
#$
 %
&'
!(
)*
+
+
,�

-
&+
.
/�
/+
$
!0
 !
1
*
#!
"
+
%
& 

Page 426



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$
%&�'()*�%'�!!*�

��

+
,-
./
0
12
.3
45
/6
78
9
9
:-

;
49
<
=-
=9
2
/>
./
?
8
1/
0
9
3
4.

Page 427



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&#' ()�(*!+#,&!+)-#!*.#/&++0&�*%#1&&.2#3�(4�2�(*#
5!%&#67889#

:;<=>>?<@>=AB@<C;D<EDF=ADG<AH><IE>JFAKFI?<ED;LFIF;B<C;D<JMFK@D>B<NF?M<>=;?F;BAK<M>AK?M<AB@<N>KKO>FBH<B>>@I<
?M><P;QBJFK<FI<ED;E;IFBH<?;R

S<TBJD>AI><?M><JAEAJF?G<;C<:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<CD;=<VW<?;<XW<EKAJ>IY<<:M><IJM;;K<N;QK@<?DABIC>D<?;<?N;<
IF?>IZ<FB<B>N<OQFK@<AJJ;==;@A?F;B<;B<?M><IF?><;C<[AFDNA?>D<\DF=ADG<UJM;;K<AB@<?;<?M><JQDD>B?<U?<]>KK;BIZ<
PF̂<\DF=ADG<UJM;;K<IF?><FB<_KABDQ=B>GZ<NF?M<̀a<EQEFKI<;B<>AJM<IF?><CD;=<U>E?>=O>D<WbWcY

TBC;D=A?F;B<IE>JFdJ<?;<?MFI<ED;E;IAK<FI<I>?<;Q?<A?<EAH>I<eW<f<WcY

ghiijklmniopqrqok

PAD@FCC<JQDD>B?KG<MAI<sb<EKAJ>I<C;D<JMFK@D>B<;C<EDF=ADG<IJM;;K<AH><NF?M<t=;?F;BAK<u>AK?M<AB@<̂>KKO>FBH<
vtû w<B>>@IY<

>̂KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<FB<EDF=ADG<IJM;;KI<ED;LF@><A<?>=E;DADG<IE>JFAKFI?<EKAJ>=>B?<C;D<JMFK@D>B<NM;<AD><A?<DFIx<;C<
>yJKQIF;B<;D<AD><>yE>DF>BJFBH<IFHBFdJAB?<>=;?F;BAK<@FCdJQK?F>IY<PMFK@D>B<NM;<A??>B@<̂>KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<AD><@QAK<
D>HFI?>D>@Y<:MFI<=>ABI<?M>G<D>=AFB<;B<?M><D;KK<;C<?M>FD<zM;=>z<IJM;;KZ<AB@<AD><IQEE;D?>@<?;<D>FB?>HDA?><?;<?MA?<
IJM;;K<A?<?M><>B@<;C<?M>FD<̂>KKO>FBH<PKAII<EKAJ>=>B?Y<:MFI<>ADKG<FB?>DL>B?F;B<AEED;AJM<JAB<M>KE<?;<ED>L>B?<
?M><>IJAKA?F;B<;C<B>>@IY<T?<JAB<AKI;<D>@QJ><?M><DFIx<?MA?<JMFK@D>B<NFKK<B>>@<EKAJ>=>B?<FB<A<IE>JFAK<IJM;;KY<:M><
>̂KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<MAL><D>E;D?>@<H;;@<K>ADBFBH<AB@<N>KKO>FBH<;Q?J;=>I<C;D<?M>FD<EQEFKIY<

:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<ED;LF@>I<VW<IE>JFAK<IJM;;K<EKAJ>IY<{<CQD?M>D<V|<EKAJ>I<AD><ED;LF@>@<FB<̂>KKO>FBH<
JKAII>I<FB<EDF=ADG<IJM;;KIY<PMFK@D>B<NM;<A??>B@<:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<AD><;B<?M><D;KK<;C<?M><IJM;;KY

}j~�k�m�oimn���jr

:AOK><̀<O>K;N<I>?I<;Q?<tû <\DF=ADG<ED;LFIF;B<JQDD>B?KG<ALAFKAOK><FB<PAD@FCCZ<AB@<ED;�>J?>@<CQ?QD><@>=AB@<
C;D<EKAJ>IY<

:M><ED;�>J?F;BI<FBJKQ@><AKK<JMFK@D>B<D>�QFDFBH<IQJM<A<EKAJ>=>B?Z<FBJKQ@FBH<?M;I><EKAJ>@<;Q?<;C<J;QB?GY<:M><
ED;�>J?F;BI<AKI;<FBJKQ@><JMFK@D>B<FB<=AFBI?D>A=<IJM;;KI<ANAF?FBH<A<IE>JFAKFI?<EKAJ>=>B?�<A<eb�<IQDEKQI<FI<
FB@FJA?>@<FB<?M><?AOK>Z<?;<IQEE;D?<�>yFOFKF?GY

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 428



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#

$%&'�%(") �*!+"" ,-,-.,/ ,-,/.,, ,-,,.,# ,-,#.,0 ,-,0.,1 ,-,1.,2

3456789:;6 <= <= <= <= <= <=

>?;@ABAC6DE7 F G G G G G

>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6
DE7

G G G G G G

LM:?CNH88O6
I:?JA:K6DE7

G G G G G G

PAQ5R?O56DE7 G ST ST ST ST ST

I5C6K6U:85R6DE7 G G G G G G

�VW� "*�)�*&W( G= XY XY XY XY XY

I:8Z5[;5O6
O5JACO

SY\ SY] SSY SS= SST SSX

I:8Z5[;5O6
O5JACO6̂_SỲ a

SS\ SSG S=S S=\ S=G S\S

L9:MB9R6b6O5c[?; d\S d=G d\S d\\ d\G d<S

345R56M:8Z5[;?8CR6H5:56eAR5O68C6OA;A6[AM;9:5O6?C6=YSXf6[8JMA:5O6H?;46R[488B6[5CR9R6OA;A6̂IPgL76=YSXah

3456;AeB56R48HR6;4A;6;456M:8Z5[;5O6O5JACO6i8:6MBA[5R68j5:6ACO6Ae8j565k?R;?CN6M:8j?R?8C6?R6\S6MBA[5R6?C6=Yb=Sf6
:?R?CN6;86<S6MBA[5R6?C6=Y=lb=Y=Th63456M:8M8R5O65kMACR?8C68i63456789:;6H89BO6M:8j?O56\Y6AOO?;?8CAB6MBA[5Rf6
:5O9[?CN6;456O5c[?;6;86SS6MBA[5Rh

mnopoqrsqtuontvwxtyozn{t|px}~rst|}woos

�5MBA[?CN6ACO6R?NC?c[AC;BK65kMACO?CN63456789:;6LM5[?AB6L[488B6i:8J6<=6;86]=6MBA[5R6?R65RR5C;?AB6?i6;456
789C[?B6?R6;86i9BcB6?;R6R;A;9;8:K6:5RM8CR?e?B?;K6;86M:8j?O56AMM:8M:?A;565O9[A;?8C6i8:6[4?BO:5C6H?;46gOO?;?8CAB6
P5A:C?CN6�55ORh

�C68:O5:6;86A[4?5j56;4?Rf6;456789C[?B64AR6?O5C;?c5O6;4565k?R;?CN6R?;5R68i6>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6L[488B6ACO6L;6
�5BB8CR6749:[46?C6DAB5R6̂7?Da6I:?JA:K6L[488B6AR6;456M:5i5::5O6R?;5R6i8:63456789:;h6

3456789C[?B6H89BO6M:8j?O56\T6MBA[5R6?C6C5H6M9:M8R5de9?B;6A[[8JJ8OA;?8C68C6;456>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6
L[488B6R?;5h

3456789C[?B6H89BO6M:8j?O56\T6MBA[5R6eK6AOAM;?CN6;4565k?R;?CN6R[488B6e9?BO?CNR68C6;456L;6�5BB8CR67?D6I:?JA:K6
L[488B6R?;5h63456R?;56?R6[9::5C;BK68[[9M?5O6eK6L;6�5BB8CR67?D6I:?JA:K6L[488B6e9;6?R6O956;86e56jA[A;5O6?C6
L5M;5Je5:6=Y==h663456e9?BO?CN6H89BO6e56AOAM;5O6;865CR9:56;4A;6?;6H89BO6e56AMM:8M:?A;56;86J55;6;456C55OR6
8i6M9M?BRh

345R56R?;5Rf6ACO6B8[AB6?Ci:AR;:9[;9:568iidR?;5f6H89BO6R9MM8:;6;456O5j5B8MJ5C;68i6RM5[?AB6R[488B6M:8j?R?8Ch

3456e9?BO?CNR6[9::5C;BK68[[9M?5O6eK63456789:;6LM5[?AB6L[488B6H89BO6e56jA[A;5Oh

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 429



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% &'�()*+ &(�""+ 

,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/:1794.</94/549481=/>19<?/@:9=8;-.=A/

,-./;7-11:/631B8<.;/CD/6:97.;/E13/:.93=.3;/9F.</CGHH/E31I/9731;;/093<8EEA/,-./I9J1384K/1E/6:97.I.=4;/93./E13/

7-8:<3.=/8=/L.K/549F./D?/9F.</MGHHA//N::/1E/4-./7-8:<3.=/-9B./;8F=8O79=4/.I1481=9:/-.9:4-/9=</P.::Q.8=F/=..<;A/

N::/6268:;/.=31::.</94/,-./01234/57-11:/-9B./9/;494.I.=4/1E/56.789:/R<279481=9:/S..<;A/,-./;4942413K/

9;;.;;I.=4/6317.;;/E13/4-.;./K12=F/6.16:./-9;/8<.=48O.</4-94/4-.83/9<<8481=9:/:.93=8=F/=..<;/79==14/Q./I.4/8=/

9/:.;;/;6.789:8;.</.=B831=I.=4A

,-./62361;./1E/,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/41/631B8<./9/;6.789:8;4/:.93=8=F/.=B831=I.=4/9=</7233872:2I?/P-.3./

:.93=.3;/79=/E2:O:/4-.83/614.=489:A/

��� T#UV�$ "W '+*(�X *% %�� X(�""+ 

,-./7969784K/1E/,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/4-./=2IQ.3/1E/6:97.;/9B98:9Q:./8=/9::/9F./F3126;/E13/7-8:<3.=/9F.</

E123/41/.:.B.=A

,-./7969784K/1E/4-./;7-11:/8;/Q9;.</1=/-1P/7:9;;311I;/9=</14-.3/;697.;/93./2;.</E13/4.97-8=F/9=</:.93=8=FA

�*V+� Y V�+"Z '$"[)\�X \�%*)+X "W '+*(�X *[*)+*V+� *% ��� !"#$% &'�()*+ &(�""+//

�*V+� Y

]*U� "W X(�""+   _̂� $*T_� *̀T_#*_� U�\)#Ua 
(*%�_"$b "W X(�""+

!#$$�T% c#V+)X��\ 
!*'*()%b

]#$X�$b 
'+*(�X

,-./01234/56.789:/
57-11://

CGHH R=F:8;-/d.<82I
56.789:/57-11:

CD e

��

f
gh
ij
k
lm
in
op
jq
rs
t
t
uh

v
ot
w
xh
xt
m
jy
ij
z
s
lj
k
t
n
oi

Page 430



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(

- .(�#/#.�(%0#*�+*#%1+#"�+ 2(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#-,�#4%1&+#5'�)2 (#5),%%(##

- .(�#/6#7�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#+,�#4%1&+#5'�)2 (#5),%%(##

5),%%(###89:;9<=>>
?@AB>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@AH>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@AI>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@?@>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@?A>>
CDEFG

?@?AJ
?@??>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@??J
?@?R>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?RJ
?@?S>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?SJ
?@?T>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?TJ
?@?U>
K<LMNOPQL:

VWN>
XL;<P>
YZNOQ9[>
YOWLL[>>

S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S?

4%!"2+2%!# !"#512+ .2(2+\#%$#5),%%(#]12("2!̂*#

_[[>̀OWLL[̀>Q:>X9<aQbb>9<N>cQdN:>9>XL:aQPQL:><9PQ:c>b<Le>_>CZN<bL<eQ:c>9̀>Q:PN:aNa>J>LZN<9PQ:c>NbfOQN:P[=G>PL>

g>C[QbN>NhZQ<Na>J><Q̀i>Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<NG

YOWLL[̀>Q:>X9<aQbb>9<N>9[̀L>cQdN:>9>Y;QP9jQ[QP=><9PQ:c>b<Le>_>CcLLa>k>b9OQ[QPQǸ>̀;QP9j[N>bL<>PN9OWQ:cl>[N9<:Q:c>m>

nN[[jNQ:cG>PL>g>Cj9a>k>j;Q[aQ:c>̀N<QL;̀[=>Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀P9bbò>9jQ[QP=>PL>aN[QdN<>PWN>O;<<QO;[;eGp

- .(�#q#4%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+\#̂& "2!̂*

- .(�#q6#4%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+\#̂& "2!̂*#

r& "2!̂ 4%!"2+2%! 512+ .2(2+\##

_ sLLa>9:a>LZN<9PQ:c>NbfOQN:P[=> sLLap>t9OQ[QPQǸ>̀;QP9j[N>bL<>
PN9OWQ:cl>[N9<:Q:c>9:a>nN[[jNQ:c>
Q:>̀OWLL[

u vwxyz{w|x}~����x��yx���y�}~�
��x�~y}~wxy}��

Y9PQ̀b9OPL<=p>>KN<bL<eQ:c>9̀>
Q:PN:aNa>j;P>aLǸ>:LP>NbbNOPQdN[=>
;̀ZZL<P>PWN>aN[QdN<=>Lb>PWN>
O;<<QO;[;e>Q:>̀LeN>9<N9̀

X KLL<>nQPW>e9ML<>aNbNOP̀ KLL<p>VN9OWQ:c>eNPWLà>Q:WQjQPNaJ
9adN<̀N>QeZ9OP>L:>̀OWLL[>
L<c9:Q̀9PQL:>

g �:a>Lb>�QbN�>[QbN>W9̀>NhZQ<Na>L<><Q̀i>
Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<N

�N<=>ZLL<p>>u;Q[aQ:c̀>̀N<QL;̀[=>
Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀P9bbò>9jQ[QP=>PL>aN[QdN<>
PWN>O;<<QO;[;e>

VWN>XL;<P>YZNOQ9[>YOWLL[>Q̀><9PNa>g>bL<>OL:aQPQL:>C�:a>Lb>�QbN�>[QbN>W9̀>NhZQ<Na>L<><Q̀i>Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<NG>9:a>

g>bL<>̀;QP9jQ[QP=l>nQPW>�;:̀;QP9j[No>[N9<:Q:c>N:dQ<L:eN:P̀l>nWQOW>̀N<QL;̀[=>Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀OWLL[ò>O9Z9OQP=>PL>

aN[QdN<>PWN>O;<<QO;[;ep

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
 �
 �
�
�¡
��
¢
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 431



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"# $% �&� '$()*++,$$

-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<4/=4.>4?>@</=:A63B/C64D4E4FF4G0/6.074=9:;;<4<;9.23B4.24H3<<0/@:24I;.BJ4

K.0B/LLJ4K-M4N?OP

Q:34=9:;;<4:.=4.4@3>30;C=4=/234;L4.GG0;R/6.23<74DPST.4.>B4:.=4U33>4/B3>2/V3B4.=4;L4=CLV9/3>24=/W342;4U34

=:.03B41/2:4.4>31AUC/<B4=G39/.<4=9:;;<P4

X<2:;C@:4-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<46.Y3=4LC<<4C=34;L4/2=4=/234.>B4UC/<B/>@=J42:34=/W34.>B49;>V@C0.2/;>4;L4

2:34=/2341;C<B4=CGG;0242:34B3Z3<;G63>24;L4.4>314=G39/.<4=9:;;<P4-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<41;C<B4=2/<<4032./>4

.4=/2341:/9:43R933B=42:34=/234=/W3403[C/0363>2=4;L4.4<.0@349;66C>/274G0/6.074=9:;;<P

(�"#$&�\

-./01.2304
50/6.074
89:;;<

82P4-
.@.>

]=4I;
.B

K;66C>/274K3>203

H
3<<1
0/@
:
24I;
.
B

-./01
.7=4K
03=93>2

��

_̂̀
ab
c
de
af
gh
bi
jk
l
l
m̀

n
gl
o
p̀
pl
e
bq
ab
r
k
db
c
l
f
ga

Page 432



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�% &' ()*+�, *- -�� ,+�&&) 

�*$)� . $�)&/ (%&012�, 2�-*1), &' ()*+�, *0*1)*$)� *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&) 

�*$)� .

7*#� &' 
,+�&&)   

8"%%�!- 4"$)1,��2 
8*(*+1-5 9*:� ; < ==>

4)*+�, (�% 5�*% 
:%&"( 9*:� ; < ==>

7"%,�%5 
4)*+�, 

?*!:"*:� #�21"# *!2 
8*-�:&%5 &' 6+�&&) 

@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJG
KLMNNOG

PQR ST T UVWOBXMYIFZB[IGLNII[VBEJG
\CBIACJGXLMNNOG

]MFGL[CCFVEGLA\ALBEJGN̂G@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGPQRG\OALFXGAVZGEMFGXLMNNOGMAZGP_TGLMBOZCFVGNVGCNOOGBVG
L̀ENaFCGPTPTbG]MFGXLMNNOGMAXGX[̂cLBFVEGLOAXXCNNIGX\ALFGENGALLNIINZAEFGAGWCFAEFCGV[IaFCGN̂G\[\BOXGAVZG
MAXGCFYZFXBWVAEFZGEMFXFGCNNIXĜNCGNEMFCG\[C\NXFXbG]MFGXLMNNOGAOXNGALLNIINZAEFXGAGdFOOaFBVWGeOAXXb

f�#*!2 '&% ()*+�, *- -�� ,+�&&) 

�*$)� g $�)&/ ,�-, &"- 2�-*1), &' %�+�!- *!2 (%&h�+-�2 !"#$�%, &! %&)) *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&)GGG

�*$)� gi j�+�!- *!2 (%&h�+-�2 !"#$�%, &! %&)) *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&)  

6+�&&)   kAV[ACJGG
PT_lG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PT_qGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PT_RGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PTPTGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PTP_GG
mǹ op

PTP_r
PTPPG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPPr
PTPQG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPQr
PTPSG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPSr
PTPtG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPtr
PTPuG
HCNsFLEBNV

@ABCDAEFCG
HCBIACJG
KLMNNOGG

PQq PSS PSQ PPS PTl _RT _lt _tS _t_ _Qu

vG@[E[CFGXLMNNOG\[\BOGZFIAVZGaAXFZGNVGONLAOGLAELMIFVEG\N\[OAEBNVG\CNsFLEBNVX

8&!21-1&! *!2 6"1-*$1)1-5 &' 6+�&&) w"1)21!:,

@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGCAEFZGeĜNCGLNVZBEBNVGAVZGxĜNCGX[BEAaBOBEJG

]MFGXBEFyGAVZGONLAOGBV̂CAXEC[LE[CFGN̂ ŶXBEFyGDN[OZGX[\\NCEGEMFGZFzFON\IFVEGN̂GX\FLBAOGXLMNNOG\CNzBXBNVb

��� 6- {�))&!, 8�"%+� 1! |*)�, 4%1#*%5 6+�&&) ,1-�

KEG}FOONVXGeM[CLMGBVGdAOFXGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGECAVX̂FCCBVWĜCNIGBEXGL[CCFVEGXBEFGAEG~[VXEFCGoNAZyG�OAVC[IVFJyGBVG
KF\EFIaFCGPTPPGENGAGVFDGXBEFGNVGEMFGKEGUZFJCV�XGZFzFON\IFVEbG

]MFG~[VXEFCGoNAZGXBEFGDBOOGaFGzALAVEGBVGA[E[IVGPTPPyGAOONDBVWĜNCGCFZFzFON\IFVEbG]MFGzALAEFZGXBEFGDBOOGECAVX̂FCGENG

EMFGNDVFCXMB\GN̂GEMFGeN[VLBOGAEGEMBXGEBIFb

]MFGF�BXEBVWGXBEFGALLNIINZAEFXG__tG\[\BOXGAWFZGSY__bG]MFGXBEFGBXGONLAEFZGAZsALFVEGENGEMFGXBEFGN̂GHFVG�GxCJVG

HCBIACJGKLMNNOb

xNEMGEMFGHFVGJGxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGAVZG\CN\NXFZGeN[CEGK\FLBAOGKLMNNOGXBEFXGI[XEGIFFEGEMFGACFAGCF�[BCFIFVEXGXFEG

N[EGBVGEMFGx[BOZBVWGx[OOFEBVGW[BZAVLFĜNCGXLMNNOXbG

�VGNCZFCGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGFALMGXBEFGMAXGX[̂cLBFVEGX\ALFĜNCGBEXGOFACVFCXGBEGDN[OZGaFGVFLFXXACJGENGAZs[XEGEMFGF�BXEBVWG

aN[VZACJGaFEDFFVGEMFGEDNGXBEFXbGGG

]MFGeN[VLBOGDN[OZGDNC�GLONXFOJGDBEMGHFVG�GxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGAVZG]MFGeN[CEGK\FLBAOGKLMNNOGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGEMFG
CF�[BCFIFVEXGN̂GEMFGW[BZAVLFGACFGIFEbGG]MBXGDN[OZGFVX[CFGEMFCFGACFGN[EZNNCG\OAJGAVZGOFACVBVWGACFAXGAVZGXNLBAOG

X\ALFXGEMAEGaFVFcEGFALMGXLMNNObGG]MFGeN[VLBOGDBOOGAOXNGFVX[CFGEMFCFGBXGX[̂cLBFVEGXEÂ̂G\AC�BVWGAVZGEMFGCF�[BCFZG

ZCN\YN̂̂GACFAXĜNCGMNIFGENGXLMNNOGECAVX\NCEbGG]MFGeN[VLBOGBXG�FFVGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGHFVG�GxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOG

aFVFcEXĜCNIGEMFGBVzFXEIFVEGAVZGLMAVWFXGVFFZFZGENGONLAEFG]MFGeN[CEGNVGEMFGAZsALFVEGXBEFbGG
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 433



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./01234-5/678-24/8,49-53:+-:5/-/6;<138<:3/18-31-/6=,6-:/->/13:/6-:+,-?,6@/6><12,-/@-82+//48-<1=-:/-
80??/6:-82+//4-3>?6/A,>,1:B

C8:91-38-:+,-/@D2,-/@-E,6-F<G,8:9H8-.+3,@-I18?,2:/6-/@-C=02<:3/1-<1=-*6<3131;-31-J<4,8B--

C8:91-318?,2:8-K0<43:9-<1=-8:<1=<6=8-31-82+//48-<1=-/:+,6-,=02<:3/1-?6/A3=,68-31-J<4,8B-

*+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-M/31:-C=02<:3/1-L,6A32,-N.L.MCLO-38-:+,-6,;3/1<4-L2+//4-I>?6/A,>,1:-
L,6A32,-@/6-:+,-DA,-2/012348-/@-P63=;,1=Q-.<6=3@@Q-F,6:+96-*9=D4Q-R+/1==<-.91/1-*<@@-<1=-:+,-S<4,-/@-
T4<>/6;<1B--*+,-./01234-5/678-53:+-:+,-./18/6:30>-:/-80??/6:-<1=-2+<44,1;,-<44-82+//48-31-.<6=3@@B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8Q-802+-<8-.<6=3@@-./01234Q->08:-2/183=,6-C8:91-6,?/6:8-<1=-/:+,6-,A3=,12,-<W/0:-82+//4-
?,6@/6><12,-<1=-,@@,2:3A,1,88-5+,1-80;;,8:31;-2+<1;,8-:/-82+//48B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8->08:-<48/-2/183=,6-:+,-437,49-3>?<2:-/@-:+,-?6/?/8,=-2+<1;,8-/1X

Y-8:<1=<6=8Q-5,44W,31;-<1=-<::3:0=,8-:/-4,<6131;

Y-:,<2+31;-<1=-4,<6131;-,Z?,63,12,8-

Y-2<6,-80??/6:-<1=-;03=<12,

Y-4,<=,68+3?-<1=-><1<;,>,1:-N4,<=,68+3?Q-3>?6/A31;-K0<43:9Q-?<6:1,68+3?-5/6731;-<1=-6,8/062,-- -
- ><1<;,>,1:O

[\]̂_

L2+//48-<6,-318?,2:,=-<8-?<6:-/@-<-1<:3/1<4-?6/;6<>>,-/@-82+//4-318?,2:3/1B-*+,-?06?/8,-/@-<1-318?,2:3/1-
38-:/-3=,1:3@9-;//=-@,<:06,8-<1=-8+/6:2/>31;8-31-82+//48-31-/6=,6-:+<:-:+,9-><9-3>?6/A,-:+,-K0<43:9-/@-
,=02<:3/1-/@@,6,=-<1=-6<38,-8:<1=<6=8-<2+3,A,=-W9-:+,36-?0?348-NC8:91OB

*+,-6,4,A<1:-C8:91-I18?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-?6/A3=,-;6<=,8-<;<318:-̀,9-a0,8:3/18-<1=-?6/A3=,-82+//48-53:+-
6,2/>>,1=<:3/18-@/6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

b/0-2<1-D1=-318?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-/1-:+,-C8:91-5,W83:,-cccdefghidjkldmn-

opq\rstuvpw_xp_]syz]p{uw|\z]|u_su}s\yruuq\

I1-~���Q-:+,-J,48+-T/A,61>,1:-31:6/=02,=-<-1,5-2<:,;/638<:3/1-898:,>B

I:-4//78-<:-,<2+-82+//4H8-8:<1=<6=8-<1=-+/5->02+-<-82+//4-38-<W4,-:/-3>?6/A,B-*+38-3=,1:3D,8-:+,-4,A,4-/@-
80??/6:-82+//48-6,K036,B--�6;<138<:3/18-802+-<8-:+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-N.L.MCLO-<1=-:+,-82+//4-
3>?6/A,>,1:-8,6A32,-:+,1-5/67-53:+-82+//48H-4,<=,68-:/-3=,1:3@9Q-?6/A3=,-<1=�/6-W6/7,6-<19-80??/6:-
6,K036,=-@/6-@06:+,6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 434



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&'("#'%) (*(#�+ '( ,�(!&'-�, ') �"-.� / -�.%01

2"#�$%&* %3 (455%&# 6�"# #�� !"#�$%&* +�")(

7899:
;<=>?=@A<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<IB@@<JKLM<=NG<N<GEJHL?<@BNOBJG=>P<NLO<>G<
D@BNJ<NQHKE<>EG<PJ>HJ>E>BG<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLES<

T9UUVW
;L<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<N@JBNOA<OH>L?<IB@@<NLO<XLHIG<E=B<NJBNG<>E<
LBBOG<EH<>RPJHFBS<

YZ[98
;<GD=HH@<>L<LBBO<HC<>RPJHFBRBLE<I=>D=<LBBOG<=B@P<EH<>OBLE>CA<E=B<GEBPG<EH<
>RPJHFB<HJ<EH<RNXB<D=NL?B<=NPPBL<RHJB<\K>DX@AS<

]9̂
;<GD=HH@<>L<LBBO<HC<?JBNEBGE<>RPJHFBRBLE<NLO<I>@@<JBDB>FB<>RRBO>NEBM<
>LEBLG>FB<GKPPHJES<

;<GD=HH@_G<DH@HKJ̀DHOBO<DNEB?HJA<>G<OBD>OBO<QA<=HI<>E<>G<JNEBO<CHJ<GENLONJOG<ab̀cd<NLO<CHJ<=HI<NQ@B<>E<>G<EH<
>RPJHFB<a;̀edS<

b<>G<E=B<QBGE<JNE>L?<CHJ<GENLONJOG<NLO<;<>G<E=B<QBGE<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLES<

fPONEBO<DNEB?HJ>GNE>HLG<CHJ<BND=<GD=HH@<NJB<PKQ@>G=BO<BFBJA<ABNJ<>L<gNLKNJAS<

hHJB<>LCHJRNE>HL<NQHKE<E=B<DNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<GD=BRB<DNL<QB<CHKLO<>L<E=B<iB@G=<jHFBJLRBLE_G<PNJBLEG_<?K>OB<EH<
E=B<kNE>HLN@<lD=HH@<mNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<lAGEBR<=BJBn<

�##51oo$%pq0".�(o,%!(o,!�..(o54-.'!"#'%)(orstrr/u5"&�)#(u$4',�u�)q5,3

��� 2%4&# v5�!'". v!�%%. 

w=B<mHKJE<lPBD>N@<lD=HH@<ING<@NGE<>LGPBDEBO<QA<xGEAL<>L<gKLB<yzbcS

;E<E=>G<E>RB<E=B<GD=HH@_G<PBJCHJRNLDB<NLO<PJHGPBDEG<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLE<IBJB<QHE=<{KO?BO<NG<|jHHO_S<

;L<NGGBGGRBLE<QA<E=B<mBLEJN@<lHKE=<mHLGHJE>KR<PJ>HJ<EH<E=B<PNLOBR>D<?NFB<E=B<CH@@HI>L?<BFN@KNE>HLn

}~~�����������~������~���~������~��~����~�����~

}~���~������~����~�����~����~������~����~��~�����~���~���~������~��~��������~��~���~�����~����~���~������~������~
����~����~��������~��~�����~���~��������

}~������~����~���������~��������~��~�����~������~���~��������~������������~���~����~�����~�������~��~�������~
���������~��~��������~���~���~������~�������~��~�����������~�������~

}~���~������~��������~�����������~��~������~���~���~������~ ���������~����~��������~��~�������~�����~�������~
��������~��������~�����~����~�����~���~��~�����¡����~�����������~�������~���~������������~��~���~�������~���~
������~��~���~�������~¢£¤��~������~���~��������~����~��~�����~����~��������~��~����~����~�����~������

¥"'&0"#�& ¦&'+"&* v!�%%. 

§N>JINEBJ<̈J>RNJA<lD=HH@<ING<@NGE<>LGPBDEBO<QA<xGEAL<>L<§BQJKNJA<yzyzS

;E<E=>G<E>RB<E=B<GENLONJOGM<IB@@QB>L?<NLO<NEE>EKOBG<EH<@BNJL>L?M<EBND=>L?<NLO<@BNJL>L?<B©PBJ>BLDBM<DNJBM<GKPPHJE<
NLO<?K>ONLDB<NLO<@BNOBJG=>P<NLO<RNLN?BRBLE<IBJB<N@@<{KO?BO<NG<?HHOS

ªL<E=B<RHGE<JBDBLE<iB@G=<jHFBJLRBLE<lD=HH@<mNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<NE<gNLKNJA<yzyzM<§N>JINEBJ<̈J>RNJA<lD=HH@<ING<
DNEB?HJ>GBO<NE<«B@@HI<aNL<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<N@JBNOA<OH>L?<IB@@<NLO<XLHIG<E=B<NJBNG<>E<LBBOG<EH<>RPJHFBdS<<

��

¬
®̄
°±
²³̄

µ́¶
°·̧
¹
º
º
»®

¼
µº
½
¾®
¾º
³
°¿̄
°À
¹
²°
±
º́
µ̄

Page 435



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'#&(#$ &% %)* $+)��"$ ,* &--*+%*# ,. %)* +)&'/*$  

012342546

789:;<=>?@A:8BC:DBE9:B:?A9BF:?<DD@GD9>G:G<:?<>G@>=@>H:G89:@>I9CGD9>G:@>J:B>E:@DKF<I9D9>G:<LJ:;BFE@LL:
C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN:?8@AE:8BC:G89:O9CG:K<CC@OA9:CGBFG:@>:A@L9:PQQQRSTUVWXXSYZZW[Z\][RSYR̂_̀a:

789:E9A@I9FN:<L:bcCG:;9>G=FN:d9BF>@>H:9>I@F<>D9>GC:e@AA:9>C=F9:G8BG:G89F9:BF9:BKKF<KF@BG9J:8@H8:f=BA@GN:C?8<<A:
KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e8@?8:D99GC:G89:>99EC:<L:;BFE@LLgC:HF<e@>H:B>E:?8B>H@>H:K<K=ABG@<>a

789:;<=>?@A:e<FMC:?A<C9AN:e@G8:G89:H<I9F>@>H:O<E@9C:<L:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:G8BG:CGB>EBFEC:@>:C?8<<AC:BF9:8@H8J:
G8BG:G9B?8@>H:@C:H<<E:B>E:G8BG:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:@C:CGF<>Ha:

hGB>EBFEC:BG:789:;<=FG:h?8<<A:BF9:BAF9BEN:H<<Ea::7FB>CL9FF@>H:G89:C?8<<A:G<:>9e:B??<DD<EBG@<>:e<=AE:
KF<I@E9:BKKF<KF@BG9:8@H8:f=BA@GN:C?8<<A:KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e@G8:9D<G@<>BA:B>E:e9AAO9@>H:>99ECa:

hGB>EBFEC:BG:iB@FeBG9F:jF@DBFN:h?8<<A:BF9:H<<Ea::kG:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G8BG:G89:KF<K<CBA:e@AA:@DKB?G:<>:CGB>EBFEC:
BG:G89:C?8<<Aa:789:?<m:A<?BG@<>:<L:789:;<=FG:e<=AE:BAA<e:CGBLL:G<:C8BF9:O9CG:KFB?G@?9J:KF<L9CC@<>BA:A9BF>@>H:
<KK<FG=>@G@9C:B>E:L<F:D=AG@mBH9>?N:e<FM@>Ha

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G89:f=BA@GN:<L:CGB>EBFEC:<L:9E=?BG@<>:<F:G89:
E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:i<=>EBG@<>:j8BC9:B>E:9B?8:n9N:hGBH9:<L:9E=?BG@<>:BG:B>N:<L:G89:C?8<<AC:BC:B:F9C=AG:<L:G89:
KF<K<C9E:?8B>H9Ca

op2qrs3tu234uvp253s3tupwxp5sp3qp6u

789:>9e:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e@AA:C=KK<FG:G89:E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:>9e:y;=FF@?=A=D:<L:zBA9Cg:L<F:A9BF>9FC:PBH9E:{:|:c}̀:
e8@?8:@C:E=9:G<:O9:@DKA9D9>G9E:@>:z9AC8:C?8<<AC:LF<D:h9KG9DO9F:b~bba::789:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:e@AA:BE<KG:B>:
BKKF<B?8:e8@?8:@C:@>?A=C@I9:B>E:E9C@H>9E:G<:BEEF9CC:G89:>99E:G<:KF9KBF9:?8@AEF9>:B>E:N<=>H:K9<KA9:@>:zBA9C:
G<:G8F@I9:B>E:O9:C=??9CCL=A:@>:B:FBK@EAN:?8B>H@>H:e<FAEa

kG:@C:F9?<H>@C9E:G8BG:G89:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:C8<=AE:KF<I@E9:OF9BEG8J:9>BOA9:HF9BG9F:E9KG8:<L:A9BF>@>HJ:9>C=F9:
O9GG9F:KF<HF9CC@<>J:KF<I@E9:C?<K9:L<F:D<F9:@DBH@>BG@I9:B>E:?F9BG@I9:=C9:<L:G@D9:B>E:KAB?9:B>E:B:D=?8:HF9BG9F:
9DK8BC@C:<>:CM@AACa::�9e:B>E:@DKF<I9E:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e@AA:89AK:C=KK<FG:G8@C:I@C@<>a

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G9B?8@>H:B>E:A9BF>@>H:9lK9F@9>?9C:BG:iB@FeBG9F:
jF@DBFN:h?8<<Aa

�25pu6�xx�51u234ut�s423qpu

�AA:C?8<<AC:8BI9:B>:BKKF<KF@BG9:FB>H9:<L:K<A@?@9C:B>E:KF<I@C@<>:@>:KAB?9:G<:KF<D<G9:K=K@ACg:89BAG8:B>E:e9AAO9@>Ha

�<G8:C?8<<AC:BF9:?<DD@GG9E:G<:KF<I@E@>H:B>:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:A9BF>@>H:@C:IBA=9E:B>E:K=K@AC:B?8@9I9:G89@F:
K<G9>G@BA:@>:B:8BKKNJ:CBL9:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:G89N:C8<e:F9CK9?G:B>E:G<A9FB>?9:L<F:9B?8:<G89Fa

789:;<=>?@A:e<=AE:e<FM:e@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:G89@F:
F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:?BF9:C=KK<FG:B>E:H=@EB>?9a

�p24p56rsxu234u�232tp�p31

789:;<=>?@A:e<=AE:?<>G@>=9:G<:e<FM:e@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:
G89@F:F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:8@H8:K9FL<FDB>?9a::kG:e<=AE:C=KK<FG:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:
8BI9:B:H<<E:F9ABG@<>C8@K:e@G8:KBF9>GC:B>E:<G89F:KBFG>9FC:C<:G8BG:K=K@AC:F9?9@I9:B:8@H8:f=BA@GN:9E=?BG@<>a

789:KF<K<C9E:?8B>H9C:e<=AE:O9:KAB>>9E:?BF9L=AAN:C<:G8BG:G89:C?8<<ACg:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:BF9:><G:
E@CF=KG9EJ:e8@?8:?<=AE:8BI9:B:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:9E=?BG@<>BA:CGB>EBFECa��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 436



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&'((!) %*!)%('(�$&%

+,-./0120-/.3405634076/08/9:/;7,</503=>0

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@JKKDHDLMNE@OPNQMDMR@SPPKF@

?@ABCDEF@QPTPDUDMR@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF@

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@JKKDHDLMNE@ONMRBNRP@

?@XDMLQDHZ@YHIMDT@CBCDEF@NH@PNTI@L[@HIP@FTILLEF\

+,-./012

]:633.0 0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0_.̀50

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760,0
57,7/c/;70
3=0bde0

0̂3=0f9//0
]:633.0g/,.50
_̀8a.5h0i0j/,90
,k/9,</0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760l;<.a560,50
,;0bmma7a3;,.0
d,;<̀,</0

0̂3=0
ga;39a7j0
l76;a:0
_̀8a.50

nIP@oLBQH@
WCPTDNE@WTILLE

p p qrrs tt\u p u\qs

VNDQGNHPQ@
AQDvNQZ@
WTILLE@

wxy z\z {\| }q\q |\} ~~\�

�c8,:703;08̀8a.504a760bmma7a3;,.0d/,9;a;<0e//m50�bde�

J@~qFH@oPMHBQZ@WTILLE@�BDEKDMR@GDEE@NEELG@[LQ@[NTDEDHDPF@HL@�P@HNDELQPK@HL@HIP@MPPKF@L[@HIP@TIDEKQPM@GIL@NTTPFF@

DH\@VNTDEDHDPF@TNM@�P@KPFDRMPK@HL@�H@HIPDQ@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF@NMK@CQLUDKP@TNEv@NMK@FHQBTHBQPK@PMUDQLMvPMHF@HL@

FBCCLQH@EPNQMDMR\

nIP@TBQQPMH@P�CPQHDFP@NH@HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@�P@vNDMHNDMPK\@nIP@P�CNMFDLM@NMK@

MPG@[NTDEDHDPF@GLBEK@CQLUDKP@LCCLQHBMDHDPF@[LQ@FHN[[@KPUPELCvPMH@NMK@[LQ@PMINMTDMR@CBCDEF�@EPNQMDMR@DM@

CBQCLFPp�BDEH@[NTDEDHDPF\

nIP@oLBMTDE@NT�MLGEPKRPF@HINH@N@TINMRP@DM@PMUDQLMvPMH@TNM@�P@BMFPHHEDMR@NMK@BCFPHHDMR@[LQ@TIDEKQPM@GDHI@

NKKDHDLMNE@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF\@@ABCDEF@GLBEK@�P@FBCCLQHPK@HL@PMN�EP@HIPv@HL@NKNCH@HL@HIP@TINMRPF@CQLCLFPK\

�34043̀.m05̀883970=3908̀8a.504a760l;<.a560,50,;0bmma7a3;,.0d,;<̀,</0-/0,==/:7/m�

ABCDEF@HINH@QPTPDUP@FBCCLQH@�PTNBFP@HIPZ@INUP@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@TNM@�P@FBCCLQHPK@DM@NMZ@

FTILLE@DM@oNQKD[[\

nIPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQvNHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@ILG@

TIDEKQPM@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@NQP@FBCCLQHPK\@@nIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@

TLMHDMBP@HL@CQLUDKP@FBCCLQH@HINH@DF@NCCQLCQDNHP@HL@HIP@DMKDUDKBNE@MPPK@L[@PNTI@CBCDE\

�34043̀.m08̀8a.509/:/aka;<0f9//0]:633.0g/,.50-/0,==/:7/m�

WLvP@L[@HIP@[BMKDMR@HINH@N@FTILLE@QPTPDUPF@DF@�NFPK@LM@HIP@MBv�PQ@L[@CBCDEF@DM@HIP@FTILLE@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@

WTILLE@XPNEF\@@JEE@FTILLEF@DM@oNQKD[[@GLBEK@QPTPDUP@[BMKDMR@[LQ@HIPFP@CBCDEF\

nIPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQvNHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CBCDEF@NH@

HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF\

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 437



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

������ !"�#$%�&$'(�)'*%$+�, -$!.�/0�1220+'0"3

45678669:7;<7=89=>=9?@A7B?B=A:7@C67@::6::697@897BC;>=9697<;C7@:7@BBC;BC=@D6E77456C67=:7@A:;78;7=8<;CF@D=;87

@>@=A@GA67D5@D7:?HH6:D:7D5@D7D567BC;B;:@A:7I;?A975@>67@786H@D=>676<<6JD7;87BC;>=:=;87<;C7@8K76D58=J7HC;?BE

LMNONMPQROSPTUVTWOXTMYZUZMSO[VO\]]V̂_VR̀

a5=A9C687=87a@C9=<<7J@87@DD6897@7B@CDbD=F678?C:6CK7BA@J67=87:J5;;A7<C;F7D567:D@CD7;<7D567D6CF7@<D6C7D56=C7D5=C97
G=CD59@KE77456K7F?:D7@DD6897D5678?C:6CK7JA@::7<;C7@D7A6@:D7c>675@A<79@K:7@7I66dE77456C67@C678;7J@DJ5F68D7@C6@:7
<;C78?C:6CKE

4567a;?CD7eB6J=@A7eJ5;;A7@897f@=CI@D6C7gC=F@CK7eJ5;;A:79;78;D75@>678?C:6CK7BC;>=:=;8E77

a5=A9C687;<78?C:6CK7@H67=87a@C9=<<7@DD6897F@=8:DC6@F7BC;>=:=;8E77456C67@C67:?<cJ=68D7BA@J6:7@>@=A@GA67D;7F66D7
D56796F@897<;C7BA@J6:7@897D56C67=:78;7BC;B;:@A7D;76:D@GA=:578?C:6CK7BC;>=:=;87@:7B@CD7;<7D567J5@8H6:7G6=8H7
B?D7<;CI@C9E

hi\_O\TVO_iVO[VSVj_UOM]O_iVOXTMXMUVRÔi\SkVÙ

l74567BC;B;:@A:7I;?A97=8JC6@:67D5678?FG6C7;<7:B6J=@A7:J5;;A7BA@J6:7<;C7BC=F@CK7@H697A6@C86C:7I=D576F;D=;8@A7
56@AD57@897I6AAG6=8H78669:7@897J;8DC=G?D67D;I@C9:7F66D=8H7BC;m6JD69796F@89n

l7o6I7:J5;;A7G?=A9=8H:7I;?A97@99C6::7D567:?G:D@89@C97J;89=D=;87;<7D5676p=:D=8H7a;?CD7G?=A9=8H:7@897I;?A97
C69?J67D567F@=8D68@8J67G@JdA;Hn

l7o6I7G?=A97<@J=A=D=6:7BC;>=9675=H57q?@A=DK7A6@C8=8H768>=C;8F68D:r7I5=J57=FBC;>67A6@C8=8H7J5;=J6:7@897
;BB;CD?8=D=6:7<;C7B?B=A:E74567a@C9=<<7stut7>=:=;87:6D:7;?D7D56786697D;7BC;>=9675=H57q?@A=DK7:J5;;A7BA@J6:E7
v=H57q?@A=DK7A6@C8=8H768>=C;8F68D:75@>67@7:DC;8H7=FB@JD7;87=FBC;>=8H7B?B=A7;?DJ;F6:n

l7w79?@A7:=D67I;?A97;<<6C7x6p=G=A=DK7<;C7F@8@H=8H7B?B=A:r7@AA;I=8H7D56F7D;7G6769?J@D697yJA;:6C7D;75;F6zE74567
BC;B;:@A:7I;?A97BC;>=967@7G6DD6C79=:DC=G?D=;87;<7eB6J=@A7BC;>=:=;87@JC;::7D567J=DKn

l7w79?@A7:=D67I;?A97@AA;I7<;C7@7I=96C7C@8H67;<7C6:;?CJ6:7<;C7D567:J5;;A7{7D56K7I=AA75@>67F;C67:B@J67D;796>6A;B7
D567J?CC=J?A?F7;<<6Cr7;<<6C=8H7@7I=96C7C@8H67;<76pB6C=68J6:7<;C7B?B=A:n

l74567J;bA;J@D=;87I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7gC=F@CK7eJ5;;A:7I;?A97BC;>=967C6=8D6HC@D=;87;BB;CD?8=D=6:r7@897@AA;I7<;C7
F;C676<<6JD=>67DC@8:=D=;8:n

l74567a;?CD7eB6J=@A7eJ5;;A7I;?A97G67cD7<;C7B?CB;:67s|:D7a68D?CK7G?=A9=8H:r7I5=J57J;?A97F;C676@:=AK7:?BB;CD7@7
C@8H67;<76>=968J6bG@:697=8=D=@D=>6:7{7@7456C@BK7<;J?:r76@CAK7=8D6C>68D=;87;BB;CD?8=D=6:r7@897:?BB;CD78?CD?C67
@897I6AAG6=8Hn

l74567J;bA;J@D=;87I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7gC=F@CK7:=D6:7I;?A97@AA;I7:D@<<7D;7:5@C67G6:D7BC@JD=J6r7:DC68HD5687
C6A@D=;8:5=B:7I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7:J5;;A:r7@AA;I7<;C7BC;<6::=;8@A7A6@C8=8H7;BB;CD?8=D=6:7@897<;C7F?AD=b
@H68JK7I;Cd=8Hn

l7456786I7G?=A9=8H:7I;?A97G67<?AAK7@JJ6::=GA67@897J;FBA=@8D7I=D57D567}q?@A=DK7wJD7st|tE

��

~
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 438



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&"'#&(#!�#) '%�*%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) '

/0123405657890:7;<0=>?0@AB0CBD0@<ABE40D7FC@68;G00H<4I03AI0CBD032J7BE0;20A0B4:0K678D7BE02B0A0B4:097;40
6B94;;87BEG00L40MB2:0;<4I0:268D0B44D0@AN4F688I058ABB4D096552N;0;20ADA5;0;20;<40B4:094;;7BEG00O2:4J4NP0
;<4N40:268D0K4096FC@74B;0;7340;2058AB0ABD096552N;096@<0A0;NAB97;72BG

/0H<4N4079052;4B;7A80F2N07B@N4A94D0;NAFC@0@2BE49;72B0AN26BD0;<409@<228097;490A;0;<409;AN;0ABD04BD02F0;<40DAIG0
H<40Q26B@780:268D0:2NM0:7;<0;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2D74902F0A8809@<228907B@86D4D07B0;<405N2529A890;20D4J48250A0
HNAJ480T8AB0;2037B737940ABI052;4B;7A80D79N65;72BG

U"'V'%#''�."#� &%W"�+%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) '

/0H<4N403AI0K40D4J482534B;0@2B9;NA7B;90;<A;0<AJ40B2;0I4;0K44B07D4B;7C4DG00XF0ABI0K4@2340A55AN4B;P0
;<4N40@268D0K4073587@A;72B90F2N0@29;0ABD0D48AIG0017;4096NJ4I90ABD0E42Y;4@<B7@A80N452N;90:268D0;AM4058A@4G0
H<4940:268D05N2J7D40F6N;<4N07BF2N3A;72B0ABD07BF2N303ABAE434B;09;NA;4E749Z

/0H<405N2529A803AI0B2;0K40A@<74JAK8407F0L489<0R2J4NB34B;0@A57;A80F6BD7BE0790B2;094@6N4D0A;0;<40K697B4990
@A9409;AE4Z

/0XF0;<40Q26B@780D7D0B2;0E4;0;<790F6BD7BE0FN230;<40L489<0R2J4NB34B;0;<4B0;<40Q26B@780:268D0K40F688I0
N4952B97K840F2N0A880@29;90N48A;7BE0;20;<405N2529A8G00XB0;<790@A94P07BJ49;34B;025;72B90:268D0K40N4J74:4D0;20
4B96N40;<40D487J4NI02F096FC@74B;09@<228058A@49G

[$� -!#�"( %�,�"�!'%.�!'"& - &

=0F4A97K787;I09;6DI0:A906BD4N;AM4B0KI0;<40Q26B@780;204\582N4052997K840A8;4NBA;7J4025;72B90;20;<402B490K47BE0
@2B968;4D02B0:7;<7B0;<790D2@634B;G0

=0B63K4N02F0A8;4NBA;7J4097;490:4N40@2B97D4N4D0K6;0:4N40D7937994D02B0;<40KA97902F07996490AN26BD0A@@499P097;40
@2B9;NA7B;9P0;NAFC@0ABD0]22D03ABAE434B;G

^+#�%W�_$&%+#,, !%��%�+ % ̀"'�"!)%a�_-�%b, ."#$%b.+��$%'"� c

H<40F6;6N4069402F0H<40Q26N;0154@7A801@<228097;40:7880K4096Kd4@;0;20F6N;<4N0@2B97D4NA;72BP0;AM7BE0A@@26B;02F0;<40
J74:902F0A0NABE402F09;AM4<28D4N9G

e_f#!%U '�_-. '%g#�� -'

H<405N25294D07B@N4A9407B0565780B63K4N90F2N0H<40Q26N;0154@7A801@<2280:268D0N4h67N40;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0
;2058AB0F2N0;<40:2NMF2N@40N4h67N434B;907B0N4AD7B4990F2N0;<404\5AB972B9G0H<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0:268D0K40
4B@26NAE4D0;206BD4N;AM40;<790:2NM07B087B40:7;<0;<401@<2280iNEAB79A;72B0T8ABB7BE0Oj0kNA34:2NMG

Oj0T42584014NJ7@490:78805N2J7D40ADJ7@4P096552N;0ABD0E67DAB@40;20;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0F2N0;<40:2NMF2N@40
58ABB7BE0ABD0@2B94h64B;7A80N4@N67;34B;05N2@49949G0L<4N40R2J4NB7BE0S2D7490<AJ40AD25;4D0;<40Q26B@78l90
1@<2280j4D4582I34B;0ABD0j4D6BDAB@I0T287@IP0ABI0B4:0JA@AB@7490AN797BE0A90A0@2B94h64B@402F0AB07B@N4A9407B0
;<40B63K4N902B0N2880:268D05N2J7D402552N;6B7;7490F2N09@<2280KA94D09;AFF02B0;<409@<2280N4D4582I34B;0N4E79;4NG0

H<405N2529A807B@86D490;<40N482@A;72B02F0;<40Q26N;01@<2280:7;<0;<409@<22805N25294D0;20254NA;40D6A8097;40
ANNABE434B;9G0H<790:268D0N4h67N40<7E<084J48902F09;AFF0ABD0;NAD406B72B0@2B968;A;72BP0@84AN0@2336B7@A;72B0
58AB90N4EAND7BE0;<40ANNABE434B;90F2N0;<40;NAB97;72B0FN2302B409@<228097;40;20AB2;<4N0ABD09;AFF07BJ28J434B;07B0
;<40D4J482534B;02F0K678D7BE0954@7C@A;72B902N0D497EB9G

��

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
pq
�
z
sq
r
{
u
vp

Page 439



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&�$$'�!%

()*+,-./012+34421*5+6)*+67-+812*+5636.6-9:+;.321<:1/=+732>1/=+?1563/0*+0916*913+<-9+4.4125+6-+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+
)-8*+6-+50)--2+693/54-96+6-+491839:+50)--25@+1/02.?1/=+6-+()*+,-.96+A4*0132+A0)--2B+C/+3??161-/@+5-8*+0)12?9*/+
7)-+21D*+02-5*9+83:+325-+E*+49-D1?*?+716)+693/54-96+?.*+6-+6)*19+1/?1D1?.32+2*39/1/=+/**?5B++

,.99*/62:@+3449-F1836*2:+GHIJHK+-<+4.4125+39*+693/54-96*?+6-+()*+,-.96+716)+67-+-9+6)9**+4.4125+4*9+63F1+716)+
3+?91D*9+3/?+*50-96+6-+5.44-96+6)*8B+

L/:+49-4-5*?+1/09*35*+1/+6)*+/.8E*9+-<+4.4125+36+6)*+50)--2+7-.2?+9*;.19*+9*5-.90*5+3/?+693/54-96+<3012161*5+36+
6)*+516*5+6-+325-+E*+1/09*35*?+300-9?1/=2:B

MNOPQRSTUPVUPUNOPWVXTYVUOTPZTX[VT\P]̂NRR_P̀XUOP

C6+15+*F4*06*?+8-56+4.4125+366*/?1/=+6)*+,-.96+36+6)*+a319736*9+516*+7-.2?+0-/61/.*+6-+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+)-8*+6-+
50)--2+693/54-96+*16)*9+-/+?1563/0*+=9-./?5+-9+?.*+6-+6)*19+1/?1D1?.32+2*39/1/=+/**?5B++

b16)+3+5181239+49-4-961-/+-<+4.4125+56122+9*;.191/=+50)--2+693/54-96@+6)15+83:+8*3/+E*67**/+cH+3/?+cd+63F15+716)+
3449-49136*+<3012161*5+<-9+?9-4+-<<+3/?+410>+.4+6-+E*+49-D1?*?+36+6)*+516*B++

A-8*+4.4125+7)-+21D*+716)1/+67-+812*5+-<+6)15+/*7+50)--2+516*+7-.2?+/-6+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+)-8*+6-+50)--2+
693/54-96B++L+49-4-961-/+-<+4.4125+83:+E*+3E2*+6-+693D*2+6-+50)--2+1/?*4*/?*/62:@+716)+439*/6e039*95B++()*5*+
4.4125+35+7*22+35+563<<+3/?+50)--2+D1516-95+7-.2?+E*/*f6+<9-8+3/:+9*;.19*?+1849-D*8*/65+1/+<3012161*5+<-9+3061D*+
693D*2+6-+50)--2+-9+4.E210+693/54-96B++

()*9*+39*+329*3?:+D*9:+=--?+4.E210+693/54-96+21/>5+1/+a319736*9@+716)+5*D*932+E.5+5*9D10*5+-/2:+3+5)-96+732>+<9-8+
6)*+50)--2B+b3./=9-/+g39>+931273:+56361-/+15+3449-F1836*2:+HBhi+812*5+jcBk>8l+<9-8+6)*+50)--2B+

()*9*+15+=--?+732>1/=+9-.6*+300*55+6-+6)*+50)--2+516*+3/?+=--?+*F1561/=+0:021/=+21/>5B+()*+m2:+(9312+9./5+32-/=+
n720)+o-3?+188*?136*2:+6-+6)*+5-.6)+-<+6)*+516*+3/?+0-/61/.*5+6-+,39?1<<+n3:+716)+?1<<*9*/6+5*061-/5+*16)*9+
693<f0I<9**+-9+-/I9-3?B++a.96)*9+0:02*+9-.6*+1849-D*8*/65+39*+423//*?+1/+6)*+5)-96+6*98@+6)9-.=)+6)*+m2:+p122+
?*D*2-48*/6+716)+21/>5+D13+3+/*7+,:02*73:+i+6-+6)*+016:+0*/69*B+A1=/I4-56*?+-/I9-3?+9-.6*5+329*3?:+=-+6)9-.=)+
,3/6-/+6-+6)*+016:+0*/69*+716)+8*?1.8+6*98+1849-D*8*/65+?.*+<-9+0:02*+6930>5+5*43936*?+<9-8+693<f0B+

+

a.96)*9+D391-.5+<3012161*5+39*+49-4-5*?+6-+1849-D*+732>1/=+3/?+0:021/=+300*55+6)9-.=)+a319736*9@+q23/?3<<+3/?+
6)*+71?*9+39*3+E:+kHkrB++

()*+?*D*2-48*/6+49-4-5325+<-9+6)*+a319736*9+g91839:+A0)--2+516*+83:+325-+9*;.19*+3+9*D15*?+(93/54-96+
L55*558*/6B++()15+7-.2?+0-/f98+9-3?+53<*6:+3/?+-6)*9+8*35.9*5+6-+5.44-96+3/?+*/0-.93=*+693D*2+E:+
5.5631/3E2*+8-?*5B+C6+7-.2?+1?*/61<:+3/:+<.96)*9+693D*2I9*236*?+49-D151-/+9*2361/=+54*01f0322:+6-+3+49-4-532+<-9+
()*+,-.96+-/+6)15+516*B+++

()*+,-./012+15+0-88166*?+6-+*/5.91/=+6)36+*D*9:+50)--2+1/+,39?1<<+)35+3/+L061D*+(93D*2+g23/+7)10)+1?*/61f*5+
3061-/5+E:+6)*+50)--2+6-+5.44-96+3/?+*/0-.93=*+3061D*+693D*2+7)*9*+3449-49136*+3/?+1?*/61f*5+1849-D*8*/65+
/**?*?+-/I516*+3/?+-<<I516*+6-+<30121636*+3061D*+s-.9/*:5B++()15+423/+15+?*D*2-4*?+716)+<.22+1/D-2D*8*/6+-<+6)*+
50)--2+5.44-96*?+E:+6)*+,-./012t5+L061D*+(93D*2+g23/+-<f0*95+716)+-6)*9+5.44-96+3D3123E2*+<9-8+6)*+o-3?+A3<*6:+
(*38+7)10)+?*21D*95+0:02*+6931/1/=B++

��

u
vw
xy
z
{|
x}
~�
y�
��
�
�
�w

�
~�
�
�w
��
|
y�
xy
�
�
{y
z
�
}
~x

Page 440



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% &% %�� '% (�))"*+ !,- .$,/&$0 '1�"") +,%�  

2345647897:37;43<=343<74>=?@A53B4@C49D95E64=337F;5FG43<74H@DA34=343<74IDF637A4J@=;465374K@DE;4:@F35FD743@4
LD=E5CB4C@A4CA774<@>743@46:<@@E43A=F69@A34753<7A4@F4;563=F:74GA@DF;64@A4;D743@43<75A45F;5M5;D=E4E7=AF5FG4F77;6N444

O53<4=465>5E=A49A@9@A35@F4@C49D95E64635EE4A7LD5A5FG46:<@@E43A=F69@A3P43<564>=B4>7=F4Q73K77F4RS4=F;4RT43=8564K53<4
=99A@9A5=374C=:5E535764C@A4;A@94@CC4=F;495:U4D943@4Q749A@M5;7;4=343<746537N44

V@>749D95E64K<@4E5M74K53<5F43K@4>5E764@C43<564F7K46:<@@E465374K@DE;4F@34LD=E5CB4C@A4CA774<@>743@46:<@@E4
3A=F69@A3N44W49A@9@A35@F4@C49D95E64>=B4Q74=QE743@43A=M7E43@46:<@@E45F;797F;7F3EBP4K53<49=A7F3X:=A7A6N44Y<7674
9D95E64=64K7EE4=6463=CC4=F;46:<@@E4M5653@A64K@DE;4Q7F7Z34CA@>4=FB4A7LD5A7;45>9A@M7>7F3645F4C=:5E535764C@A4=:35M74
3A=M7E43@46:<@@E4@A49DQE5:43A=F69@A3N44

Y<7A74=A74=EA7=;B4G@@;49DQE5:43A=F69@A34E5FU64M5=4[E=FAD>F7B4\4H@DF356QDAB4WM7FD74=F;4=E6@4CA@>4]7K9@A34
J@=;4K<5:<4=A74K53<5F46<@A34K=EU5FG4;563=F:7N4Y<7A74564G@@;4K=EU5FG4A@D374=::7665Q5E53B4C@A4E@:=E49D95E64
=F;463=CCN

HB:E7K=B4̂45649E=FF7;4=E@FG43<56467:35@F4@C4]7K9@A34J@=;N4W46<@A3X>7;5D>437A>4CD3DA749<=674K5EE4A79E=:743<74
785635FG4:B:E74E=F7649A@M565@F4@F43<564QD6B4>=5F4A@=;N4

Y<7A74=A74:DAA7F349=AU5FG4566D764@D365;743<74=;?=:7F34_7F4̀4aABF4_A5>=AB4=E@FG4IDF637A4J@=;N4O<5E743<74
YA=F69@A3437=>4564>@F53@A5FG43<74653D=35@F4=F;4A7M57K5FG43<74F77;4C@A4=;;535@F=E4>7=6DA764=F;49=AU5FG4
:@F3A@E64@D365;74=EE46:<@@E6P43<74F77;4C@A4=FB4=;;535@F=E4>7=6DA764@D365;743<749A@9@67;465374C@A43<74H@DA34K@DE;4
Q74:@F65;7A7;4=649=A34@C43<=349A@:766N

Y<74;7M7E@9>7F349A@9@6=E64A7LD5A74=4YA=F69@A34W66766>7F34K<5:<4K5EE45;7F35CB4>7=6DA7643@4Q745F:ED;7;4=64
9=A34@C43<74=99E5:=35@F43@4>=85>56743A=M7E4QB46D63=5F=QE74>@;76N44234K@DE;45;7F35CB4=FB43A=M7EbA7E=37;49A@M565@F4
A7E=35FG4697:5Z:=EEB43@4=49A@9@6=E4C@A4Y<74H@DA34@F43<5646537N444

Y<74H@DF:5E4564:@>>5337;43@47F6DA5FG43<=347M7AB46:<@@E45F4H=A;5CC4<=64=F4W:35M74YA=M7E4_E=F4K<5:<45;7F35Z764
=:35@F64QB43<746:<@@E43@46D99@A34=F;47F:@DA=G74=:35M743A=M7E4K<7A74=99A@9A5=374=F;45;7F35Z7645>9A@M7>7F364
F77;7;4@Fb65374=F;4@CCb653743@4C=:5E53=374=:35M74?@DAF7B6N44Y<5649E=F4564;7M7E@97;4K53<4CDEE45FM@EM7>7F34@C43<74
6:<@@E46D99@A37;4QB43<74H@DF:5Ec64W:35M74YA=M7E4_E=F4@CZ:7A64K53<4@3<7A46D99@A34=M=5E=QE74CA@>43<74J@=;4V=C73B4
Y7=>4K<5:<4;7E5M7A64:B:E743A=5F5FGN

defghijklhmei

W343<747F;4@C43<74Q@@UE734564=4LD7635@FF=5A7N44Y<564564B@DA4:<=F:743@4E7343<74H@DF:5E4UF@K4K<=34B@D43<5FU4=Q@D34
3<749A@9@6=E6N4̀@D4:=F4G5M74=4A769@F6743@4=EE4@C43<74LD7635@F6P4@A4?D634A769@F;43@46@>74@C43<7>P4=64B@D49A7C7AN4

WE37AF=35M7EB4B@D4:=F467F;4D64B@DA4M57K645F4@F74@C43<74C@EE@K5FG4K=B6n

o4H@>9E735FG43<74@FE5F74A769@F674C@A>4=34pppqrstuvwwqxyzq{|}~���r�yy��ty�y�s��

o4�>=5E4B@DA4M57K643@4�r�yy�t���y�����rstuvwwqxyzq{|

o4OA53743@4D64=343<74C@EE@K5FG4=;;A766n4V:<@@E4�AG=F56=35@F4_E=FF5FGP4J@@>4�SRP4H@DF3B4�=EEP4W3E=F35:4O<=ACP4
H=A;5CCP4H�RS4��ON4

Y<74H@DF:5E4K5EE4:@F65;7A47M7AB@F7c64M57K64Q7C@A74;7:5;5FG4K<73<7A43@4G@4=<7=;4K53<43<749A@9@67;4:<=FG76N

Y<74:E@65FG4;=374C@A4A769@F67643@43<5649A@9@6=E4564̂̂ 4]@M7>Q7A4̂ŜRN44

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
 �
 �
�
�¡
��
¢
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 441



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��

�
��
 !
"
#$
 %
&'
!(
)*
+
+
,�

-
&+
.
/�
/+
$
!0
 !
1
+
+
&,
0$
2
!!-
&/
3
0&
'

Page 442



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� !"#$%�&'!�($)*+�� 

��

,
-.
/0
1
23
/4
56
07
89
:
:
;.

<
5:
=
>.
>:
3
0?
/0
@
:
:
5;
?3
A
00<
5>
B
?5
6

Page 443



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$% &'()#'(!�*�*+#&�%,�-�%*#.!+(#/0112#

345677858975:76;<:5=4>5?>@6;>A5;B75C?7D@;E@C85?>4F@C@4<58975G4H<D@E5@C5?>4?4C@<B584I

J5KC8;LE@C95;5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75PMNOQ5=4>5H?5845RS5?>@6;>A5;B7:5D9@E:>7<5T@895G46?E7U5V7;><@<B5
W77:C5;85X44>E;<:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5=>465M7?876L7>5RSRRZ

[<=4>6;8@4<5C?7D@\D584589@C5?>4?4C;E5@C5C7854H85;85?;B7C5R]̂_]Z5

àbbcdefgbhijkjhdf

G;>:@==5DH>>7<8EA56;@<8;@<C5llm5?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E5CD944E5;<:5MNO5?E;D7C5=4>5D9@E:>7<5T@895D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5
<77:CZ55Y>4n7D8C5?>7F@4HCEA5;B>77:5LA5G;L@<78o58457U87<:5;<:5>7LH@E:5N@F7>L;<p5M?7D@;E5MD944E5;<:58457C8;LE@C95
;<5MNO5;85qCB4E5rA6>;7B5YTEE5G4D9o5T@EE5@<D>7;C758975848;E5845mRl5?E;D7C5LA5RSRmZ55

h̀stucvfwcxbdjdyfzcc{kf|tc}jxujkef~ckhab}cf�xkcff

�5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75PMNOQ5@C5;5C6;EE5DE;CC5@<5;56;@<C8>7;65CD944Eo58;HB985LA5C?7D@;E@C85C8;==Z5

397>75;>75\F75G;>:@==5?>@6;>A5CD944EC5DH>>7<8EA594C8@<B5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5=4>5D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5<77:C5;85
?>7C7<8Z5397C75;>7594C87:5LAI

J5O>A<5�;=4:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5VE;<7:7A><5Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5VE;<@C97<5�;D95Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5X;>EL4>4HB95Y>@6;>A5MD944Eo5;<:5

J5qCB4E5YTEE5G4D9Z5

�EE5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5;>754?7<5845;:6@CC@4<5=>465;D>4CC5G;>:@==o5;E894HB95;C5=;>5;C5?4CC@LE7o5?H?@EC5;>75
4==7>7:5?E;D7C5@<58975M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75DE4C7C85845897@>59467Z5

[<5;::@8@4<5845D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5<77:C5L;C7Co5897>75;>7I

J5V;p7C@:75Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E@C85;H8@C65>7C4H>D75L;C7Q

J5M?>@<BT44:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E@C85;H8@C65>7C4H>D75L;C7Q

J5�EE7<CL;<p5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5PC?77D95;<:5E;<BH;B75DE;CCQ

J5�;@>T;87>5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

J5V;p7C@:75Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ5

J5M?>@<BT44:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ5

J5qCB4E5rA6>;7B5Y7<5A5r>47C5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

J5�@8�;E;<5�@B95MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

3975M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5:7C@B<;87:5=4>5D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5@<5?>@6;>A5CD944EC57;D95?>4F@:758T45DE;CC7C54=5H?5
845�S5?H?@EC�5;5DE;CC5;85�4H<:;8@4<5Y9;C75;<:5;5DE;CC5;85�7A5M8;B75RZ53975?H?@EC5L7<7\85=>465L7@<B58;HB985@<5C6;EE5
DE;CC7C5T@895=;F4H>;LE75?H?@ÊC8;==5>;8@4Co58;HB985LA5C?7D@;E@C85C8;==Z5YH?@EC5;EC45L7<7\85=>4654??4>8H<@8@7C5845E7;><5
;<:5C4D@;E@C75T@895897@>56;@<C8>7;65?77>CZ5

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 444



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*##

+ ,(�#--#*�.*#%/.#'( )�*#)/&&�!.(0# 1 2( ,(�#2!#3 &"2$$#.%#*/''%&.#)42("&�!#%$#'&2� &0#*)4%%(# 5�#
62.4#3%�'(�7#8� &!2!5#9��"*# !"#'&%:�).�"#$/./&�#"�� !";

<=>?@ABC>DE?FGGHA@I?JHD?FKK?G=LKMD>@?D>NALDL@O?EAG=?F?PKFG>B>@IQ?L@GKAML@O?I=HE>?PKFG>M?HAI?HJ?GHA@IR?
F@M?L@?BFL@EID>FB?FSFLIL@O?F?EP>GLFKLEI?PKFG>B>@IT??U?VWX?EADPKAE?LE?FKKHS>M?IH?EAPPHDI?Y>ZLCLKLIRT

+ ,(�#--

[&2� &0#'( )�*##\]\]̂\- \]\-̂\\ \]\\̂\_ \]\_̂\̀ \]\̀ \̂a \]\â\b

<R?cSR@d ef gW gW gW gW gW

hLi>DCF@j kl eW eW eW eW VVm

n>FMHSCF@j oV fW fW fW fW fW

pHKKL>E VVm VVm VVm VVm VVm VVm

qDR@?pFJHM mW mW mW mW mW mW

rKF@>M>DR@ mW mW mW mW mW mW

rKF@LE=>@?sFG= mW mW mW mW mW mW

nFDKCHDHAO= mW mW mW mW mW mW

tPDL@OSHHM mu mu mu mu mu mu

vEOHK?wSKK?xHG= e VW Vf mW mW mW

w>@ID>CF@> mo mo mo mo mo mo

UKK>@ECF@j?trxy?u u u u u u

<HIFK?PKFG>E oof oem oee oum oum fmo

wDHz>GI>M?
M>BF@M

fWW fVW fVf fmm f{| foe

wDHz>GI>M?
}>BF@M?
~�VWX�?

ffW f|V f|e feo fgW |Wm

tADPKAE?�?M>�GLI �VWf �ug �gW �gm �VWu �eu

<=>?IFCK>?E=HSE?I=FI?I=>?PDHz>GI>M?M>BF@M?JHD?PKFG>E?Hi>D?F@M?FCHi>?>ZLEIL@O?PDHiLELH@?LE?ug?PKFG>E?
L@?mV�mmQ?DLEL@O?IH?VWu?PKFG>E?L@?mWmo�mWmfT?�J?I=>D>?S>D>?@H?JADI=>D?ODHSI=?C>RH@M?GADD>@I?PKF@E?L@?
D>KFILH@?IH?hLi>DCF@j?tP>GLFK?tG=HHK?F@M?vEOHK?cRBDF>O?wSKK?xHG=Q?F?M>�GLI?HJ?eu?PKFG>E?SLKK?D>BFL@?
L@?mf�m|T?

UI?PD>E>@IQ?I=>D>?FD>?BHD>?PAPLKE?SLI=?ELO@L�GF@I?@>>ME?S=H?@>>M?F?PKFG>?L@?H@>?HJ?I=>E>?E>IIL@OE?I=F@?
I=>D>?FD>?PKFG>E?FiFLKFCK>T

xADD>@I?PDHz>GILH@E?E=HS?I=>?@ABC>D?HJ?PAPLKE?SLKK?GH@IL@A>?IH?ODHS?Hi>D?I=>?@>ZI?f?IH?VW?R>FDET?

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 445



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%��$& '()"#)!*$+'!�,�('$-"!'$.&+-/$ ��0)!)�1$"*$
2���#"13$��)4"�5$&(6��#$$

789:;;<9<=;9>;:?@>9A8B9CBD:?BE9?F;9GC;HD?IDG<9CB8JDGD8@9D<9DG9CB8C8G;>9<89;G<?KIDG=9?9LC;HD?IDG<9M;G8NBH;9O?G;9
PLMOQ9A8B9NC9<89RS9CBD:?BE9?F;>9H=DI>B;@9TD<=9U8:CI;V9W;?B@D@F9X;;>G9?<9Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9LH=88I9AB8:9
L;C<;:K;B9RSRR[

\]]̂_̀abcd̂ef̀ ĝchij]]_

Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9LH=88I9DG9?@9k@FIDG=l:;>DN:9H8::N@D<E9CBD:?BE9GH=88I9TD<=9@NBG;BE9CB8JDGD8@9I8H?<;>9?<9
mn9LD@FI;<8@9M8?>o9U?B>DAAo9UpRm9Rk7[

qjrcasftr̂c]ucv_̀irwc̀xcxjrcwij]]_c

q̀t_rcyzctr_]{cv̂]|ebrwcbrx̀e_wc]ucv_̀irwc̀|̀e_̀t_rc̀xc\]]̂_̀abcd̂ef̀ ĝchij]]_c

q̀t_rcyz

}̀ frc]ucwij]]_ccc ~ŝ r̂axcdst_ewjrbc
~̀v̀iexgc�̀�rc�c�c
yy�

d_̀irwcvr̂cgr̀ ĉ
�̂]svc�̀�rc�c�cyy�

}ŝwr̂gcd_̀irwc �̀a�s̀�rcfrbesfc
àbc~̀xr�]̂gc]uc
hij]]_c

Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9
LH=88I9

mRS �S �m9 k@FIDG=l:;>DN:9
H8::N@D<E9
CBD:?BE9GH=88I9

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 446



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(#

- .(�#/0#.�(%1#*�+*#%2+#"�+ 3(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%4�)+�"#!2�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#5%%&( !"#6&3� &7#8),%%(###

- .(�#/09#:�)�!+# !"#'&%4�)+�"#!2�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#5%%&( !"#6&3� &7#8),%%(###

8),%%(###;<=><?@AA
BCDEA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCDKAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCDLAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCBCAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCBDAA
FGHIJ

BCBDM
BCBBA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBBM
BCBUA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBUM
BCBVA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBVM
BCBWA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBWM
BCBXA
N?OPQRSTO=

YOO?Z<=[AA
N?T\<?@A
]R̂OOZAAA

ULL VDCA VXVA VCB ULB ULV UKL UEX UEC UXB

_À>S>?QAaR̂OOZAb>bTZA[Q\<=[Ac<aQ[AO=AZOR<ZAR<SR̂\Q=SAbOb>Z<STO=Ab?OPQRSTO=a

d%!"3+3%!# !"#823+ .3(3+7#%$#8),%%(#e23("3!f*

gZZAaR̂OOZaAT=Ah<?[TiiA<?QAjTkQ=A<AhO=[TSTO=A?<ST=jAi?O\AgAFbQ?iO?\T=jA<aAT=SQ=[Q[AMAObQ?<ST=jAQilRTQ=SZ@JASOA

mAFZTiQAQnbT?Q[AMA?TaoAOiAT\\T=Q=SAi<TZ>?QJp

]R̂OOZaAT=Ah<?[TiiA<?QA<ZaOAjTkQ=A<A]>TS<cTZTS@A?<ST=jAi?O\AgAFjOO[AqAi<RTZTSTQaAa>TS<cZQAiO?ASQ<R̂T=jrAZQ<?=T=jA

sAtQZZcQT=jJASOAmAFc<[AqAc>TZ[T=jAaQ?TO>aZ@AT=̂TcTSAŜQAaS<iiuaA<cTZTS@ASOA[QZTkQ?AŜQAR>??TR>Z>\Jp

- .(�#/v#d%!"3+3%!# !"#*23+ .3(3+7#f& "3!f*#

- .(�#/v9#d%!"3+3%!# !"#*23+ .3(3+7#f& "3!f*#

w& "3!f d%!"3+3%! 823+ .3(3+7##

g xOO[A<=[AObQ?<ST=jAQilRTQ=SZ@A xOO[pÀ<RTZTSTQaAa>TS<cZQAiO?ASQ<R̂T=jrA
ZQ<?=T=jA<=[AtQZZcQT=jAT=AaR̂OOZ

y z{|}~�{�|������|��}|���}����
��|��}��{|}���

]<STai<RSO?@pAANQ?iO?\T=jA<aAT=SQ=[Q[A
c>SA[OQaA=OSAQiiQRSTkQZ@Aa>bbO?SAŜQA
[QZTkQ?@AOiAŜQAR>??TR>Z>\AT=AaO\QA<?Q<a

h NOO?AtTŜA\<PO?A[QiQRSa NOO?pA�Q<R̂T=jA\QŜO[aAT=̂TcTSQ[M
<[kQ?aQAT\b<RSAO=AaR̂OOZAO?j<=Ta<STO=A

m �=[AOiA�TiQ�AZTiQÂ<aAQnbT?Q[AO?A?TaoA
OiAT\\T=Q=SAi<TZ>?Q

�Q?@AbOO?pAAy>TZ[T=jaAaQ?TO>aZ@AT=̂TcTSA
ŜQAaS<iiuaA<cTZTS@ASOA[QZTkQ?AŜQA
R>??TR>Z>\A

YOO?Z<=[AN?T\<?@A]R̂OOZATaA?<SQ[AyAiO?ARO=[TSTO=A<=[AyAiO?Aa>TS<cTZTS@p

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 
 
¡�

¢
� 
£
¤�
¤ 
�
�¥
��
¦
 
 
�¡
¥�
§
��¢
�¤̈
¥�
�

Page 447



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%&'$())�**�#+,-�.$

/012345678928:2;<4=<1::86=2>4<?:2@42<1;9A712BA<9C2D1A<:2A774EE4FA@8462A@2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I704492A6F2@42
947A@12J9C86=2I@A<@2;<4K8:8462462@012:8@1L2

BA<9C2D1A<:2;<4K8:8462M4<2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I7044928:2947A@1F2862A2F1E456@AN912568@2A@2@012<1A<24M2@012:704492
:8@1L2/012568@20A:2N1162<A@1F2A:2746F8@846232OH44<2>8@02EAP4<2F1M17@:QL2R@275<<16@9C2A774EE4FA@1:2ST2;A<@U@8E12
V5<:1<C2;9A71:2A6F2SW2X171;@846279A::2;9A71:L2

J4994>86=274E;91@84624M2@01261>2N589F86=Y2@08:2568@2>459F2N12<1E4K1F2A946=2>8@02@0127A<1@A?1<Z:2045:1L2/012
61>2N589F86=2>459F2A774EE4FA@12@0121[8:@86=265EN1<24M265<:1<C279A::2A6F2X171;@8462;9A71:L2

\774EE4FA@8462M4<2@012I;178A98:@2X1:45<712]A:12>459F2N12;<4K8F1F2A:2;A<@24M2@08:2;9A661F2>4<?L2

/01<128:275<<16@9C2A2N4[86=2795N2947A@1F2462;A<@24M2@012G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I704492:8@1L2\@2;<1:16@Y2@012:704492
<1F1K194;E16@2;<4P17@28:264@2<198A6@2462@012N4[86=2795N29A6FL2̂4>1K1<Y28M2@08:2>A:2@42N174E12AKA89AN912A@2A2
9A@1<2FA@128@2>459F2N12N161_78A92@42@012:704492A:28@2>459F2867<1A:12@01245@F44<2:;A712AKA89AN912@4291A<61<:L2

/0123456789Z:2045:86=2F1;A<@E16@28:286K1:@8=A@86=2@012;4::8N898@C24M2;<4K8F86=2045:86=2462@012M4<E1<2D:=492
9̀A62G4<MA2:8@1L2/012;<4;4:A9:2>459F2:11?2@4286795F12A2<1;9A71E16@2N4[86=2795N2MA7898@C2462:8@1L2/08:27459F2M<112
5;2@0129A6F275<<16@9C24775;81F2NC2@012N4[86=2795N2M4<25:12NC2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I70449L22

/012F1:8=62;<471::2M4<2@01261>2N589F2:704492A774EE4FA@84620A:264@2C1@2:@A<@1FL22/08:2>459F286795F1286;5@2
M<4E2A2<A6=124M2:@A?1049F1<:286795F86=2=4K1<686=2N4F81:Y201AF@1A701<:Y2:@AMM2A6F27089F<16

abcdefghcijhkfcijcljm

/01234567892>4<?:2794:19C2>8@02@>424<=A68:A@846:28624<F1<2@42E468@4<2@012;1<M4<EA67124M2:70449:2A6F2@42
:5;;4<@2:7044928E;<4K1E16@L

B:@C628:2@0124M_7124M2̂1<2GAP1:@CZ:23081M2R6:;17@4<24M2BF57A@8462A6F2/<A8686=2862nA91:L22

B:@C6286:;17@:2o5A98@C2A6F2:@A6FA<F:2862:70449:2A6F24@01<21F57A@8462;<4K8F1<:2862nA91:L2

/012316@<A92I45@02346:4<@85E2p486@2BF57A@8462I1<K8712O3I3pBIQ28:2@012<1=846A92I704492RE;<4K1E16@2I1<K8712
M4<2@012_K127456789:24M2]<8F=16FY23A<F8MMY2G1<@0C<2/CF_9Y2X046FFA23C6462/AMM2A6F2@012qA9124M2̀9AE4<=A6L22/012
34567892>4<?:2>8@02@012346:4<@85E2@42:5;;4<@2A6F270A9916=12A992:70449:28623A<F8MML

r47A92\5@04<8@81:Y2:5702A:23A<F8MM23456789Y2E5:@2746:8F1<2B:@C62<1;4<@:2A6F24@01<21K8F16712AN45@2:704492
;1<M4<EA6712A6F21MM17@8K161::2>0162:5==1:@86=270A6=1:2@42:70449:L

r47A92\5@04<8@81:2E5:@2A9:42746:8F1<2@01298?19C28E;A7@24M2@012;<4;4:1F270A6=1:246s

t2:@A6FA<F:Y2>199N186=2A6F2A@@8@5F1:2@4291A<686=

t2@1A7086=2A6F291A<686=21[;1<81671:2

t27A<12:5;;4<@2A6F2=58FA671

t291AF1<:08;2A6F2EA6A=1E16@2O91AF1<:08;Y28E;<4K86=2o5A98@CY2;A<@61<:08;2>4<?86=2A6F2<1:45<712
EA6A=1E16@Q

��

u
vw
xy
z
{|
x}
~�
y�
��
�
�
�w

�
~�
�
�w
��
|
y�
xy
�
�
�
~�
�|
�
yy�
~�
�
�~
�

Page 448



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� 

!"#$$%&'()*'+,&-*".*/'(&'-().'$0'(',(.+$,(%'-)$1)(22*'$0'&"#$$%'+,&-*".+$,3'4#*'-5)-$&*'$0'(,'+,&-*".+$,'
+&'.$'+/*,.+06'1$$/'0*(.5)*&'(,/'&#$)."$2+,1&'+,'&"#$$%&'+,'$)/*)'.#(.'.#*6'2(6'+2-)$7*'.#*'85(%+.6'$0'
*/5"(.+$,'$00*)*/'(,/')(+&*'&.(,/()/&'("#+*7*/'96'.#*+)'-5-+%&':;&.6,<3

4#*')*%*7(,.';&.6,'=,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'-)$7+/*'1)(/*&'(1(+,&.'>*6'?5*&.+$,&'(,/'-)$7+/*'&"#$$%&'@+.#'
)*"$22*,/(.+$,&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3

A$5'"(,'B,/'+,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'$,'.#*';&.6,'@*9&+.*'CCCDEFGHIDJKLDMN'

OPQ�RSTUVPW XP �SYZ�P[UW\�Z�\U SU]S�YRUUQ�

=,'̂_̀ab'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'+,.)$/5"*/'(',*@'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&6&.*23

=.'%$$e&'(.'*("#'&"#$$%f&'&.(,/()/&'(,/'#$@'25"#'('&"#$$%'+&'(9%*'.$'+2-)$7*3'4#+&'+/*,.+B*&'.#*'%*7*%'$0'
&5--$).'&"#$$%&')*85+)*3''g)1(,+&(.+$,&'&5"#'(&'.#*'h*,.)(%'!$5.#'h$,&$).+52':h!hi;!<'(,/'.#*'&"#$$%'
+2-)$7*2*,.'&*)7+"*'.#*,'@$)e'@+.#'&"#$$%&f'%*(/*)&'.$'+/*,.+06b'-)$7+/*'(,/j$)'9)$e*)'(,6'&5--$).')*85+)*/'
0$)'05).#*)'+2-)$7*2*,.3

kRPSYZ�P[UW\�Z�\U S����PXS\�SlP�YW\mPlS\ SkZmQPSnoSmPQUpq

rZ�P[UW�SU]S�sttUW�S ORZ�S�RPSYZ�P[UW�SXPZ �

uvEEI
w'#+1#%6'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'@*%%')5,b'#(&'('&.)$,1'%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'+&'
"%*()'(9$5.'+.&'-)+$)+.+*&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

xEyyKC
w,'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'(%)*(/6'/$+,1'@*%%'(,/'e,$@&'.#*'()*(&'+.'
,**/&'.$'+2-)$7*3'

z{|Ev
w'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'+2-)$7*2*,.'@#+"#',**/&'#*%-'.$'+/*,.+06'.#*'&.*-&'.$'
+2-)$7*'$)'.$'2(e*'"#(,1*'#(--*,'2$)*'85+"e%63'

}E~
w'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'1)*(.*&.'+2-)$7*2*,.'(,/'@+%%')*"*+7*'+22*/+(.*b'
+,.*,&+7*'&5--$).3'

w'&"#$$%f&'"$%$5)�"$/*/'"(.*1$)6'+&'/*"+/*/'96'#$@'+.'+&')(.*/'0$)'&.(,/()/&':̀�a<'(,/'0$)'#$@'(9%*'+.'+&'.$'
+2-)$7*':w��<3'

'̀+&'.#*'9*&.')(.+,1'0$)'&.(,/()/&'(,/'w'+&'.#*'9*&.'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

�-/(.*/'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,&'0$)'*("#'&"#$$%'()*'-59%+&#*/'*7*)6'6*()'+,'i(,5()63'

�$)*'+,0$)2(.+$,'(9$5.'.#*'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&"#*2*'"(,'9*'0$5,/'+,'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.f&'-()*,.&f'15+/*'
.$'.#*'�(.+$,(%'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'!6&.*2'#*)*�'

R��tq��[UV�pZQP��lUY��lYPQQ��tsmQ\YZ�\U ��no�nn��tZWP ���[s\lP�P �tl]

�UUWQZ lS�W\XZW�S�YRUUQS

�$$)%(,/'�)+2()6'!"#$$%'@(&'%(&.'+,&-*".*/'+,'w-)+%'̂_̀�3

w.'.#+&'.+2*'.#*'&.(,/()/&b'@*%%9*+,1'(,/'(..+.5/*&'.$'%*(),+,1b'.*("#+,1'(,/'%*(),+,1'*�-*)+*,"*b'(,/'
%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'2(,(1*2*,.'@*)*'(%%'�5/1*/'(&'1$$/�'"()*b'&5--$).'(,/'15+/(,"*'@(&'�5/1*/'(&'*�"*%%*,.3

=,'.#*'2$&.')*"*,.'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'(.'i(,5()6'̂_̂_b'�$$)%(,/'�)+2()6'!"#$$%'
@(&'"(.*1$)+&*/'(&'d)**,3'

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 
 
¡�

¢
� 
£
¤�
¤ 
�
�¥
��
¦
 
 
�¡
¥�
§
��¢
�¤̈
¥�
�

Page 449



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'#&(#$ &% %)* $+)��"$ ,* &--*+%*# ,. %)* +)&'/*$0 

123453657

89:;<=>?@AB;9CD;ECF:;C;@B:CG;@=EEAHE:?H;H=;@=?HA?>A?I;H9:;A?J:DHE:?H;A?K;C?F;AELG=J:E:?H;=MK;<CGFAMM;
D@9==BD;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO;@9ABF;9CD;H9:;P:DH;L=DDAPB:;DHCGH;A?;BAM:;QRRRSTUVWXYYTZ[[X\[]̂\STZS_̀ab;

89:;<=>?@AB;c=GND;@B=D:BO;cAH9;H9:;I=J:G?A?I;P=FA:D;=M;D@9==BD;H=;ECN:;D>G:;H9CH;DHC?FCGFD;A?;D@9==BD;CG:;9AI9K;
H9CH;H:C@9A?I;AD;I==F;C?F;H9CH;B:CF:GD9AL;C?F;I=J:G?C?@:;AD;DHG=?Ib;

dHC?FCGFD;CH;e==GBC?F;fGAECGO;d@9==B;CG:;I==F;C?F;AH;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H9CH;H9:;:DHCPBAD9E:?H;=M;dhi;LG=JADA=?;
CH;H9:;D@9==B;cABB;AELC@H;?:ICHAJ:BO;=?;H9:;D@9==Bb

89:;LG=L=DCB;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H=;9CJ:;C?O;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;H9:;j>CBAHO;=M;DHC?FCGFD;=M;:F>@CHA=?;=G;
H9:;F:BAJ:GO;=M;H9:;k=>?FCHA=?;f9CD:;C?F;:C@9;l:O;dHCI:;=M;:F>@CHA=?;CH;H9:;D@9==B;CD;C;G:D>BH;=M;H9:;
LG=L=D:F;@9C?I:Db

mn3opq4rs345stn364q4rsnuvn6qn4on7s

89:;LG=L=DCB;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H=;9CJ:;C?O;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;H:C@9A?I;C?F;B:CG?A?I;:gL:GA:?@:D;CH;e==GBC?F;
fGAECGO;d@9==Bb

89:;=LL=GH>?AHO;H=;:ELB=O;DL:@ACBADH;DHCMM;C?F;H=;c=GN;E=G:;@B=D:BO;cAH9;DL:@ACBADH;D:GJA@:D;A?;<CGFAMM;c=>BF;
:?9C?@:;H9:;D@9==BwD;@CLC@AHO;M=G;A?@B>DA=?;C?F;P:?:xH;CBB;L>LABD;A?;H9:;D@9==Bb;

y36ns7zvv{62s345srzq534ons

|BB;D@9==BD;9CJ:;C?;CLLG=LGACH:;GC?I:;=M;L=BA@A:D;C?F;LG=JADA=?;A?;LBC@:;H=;LG=E=H:;L>LABDw;9:CBH9;C?F;
c:BBP:A?Ib

e==GBC?F;fGAECGO;d@9==B;AD;@=EEAHH:F;H=;LG=JAFA?I;C?;:?JAG=?E:?H;A?;c9A@9;B:CG?A?I;AD;JCB>:F;C?F;L>LABD;
C@9A:J:;H9:AG;L=H:?HACB;A?;C;9CLLOK;DCM:;:?JAG=?E:?H;A?;c9A@9;H9:O;D9=c;G:DL:@H;C?F;H=B:GC?@:;M=G;:C@9;=H9:Gb

89:;<=>?@AB;c=>BF;c=GN;cAH9;H9:;B:CF:GD9AL;=M;H9:;D@9==B;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO=?:;>?F:GDHC?FD;H9:AG;
G:DL=?DAPABAHO;M=G;9:BLA?I;H=;AELG=J:;C?F;D>DHCA?;@CG:;D>LL=GH;C?F;I>AFC?@:b

}n35n67pqvs345s~343rn�n42

89:;<=>?@AB;c=>BF;@=?HA?>:;H=;c=GN;cAH9;H9:;B:CF:GD9AL;=M;H9:;D@9==B;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO=?:;>?F:GDHC?FD;H9:AG;
G:DL=?DAPABAHO;M=G;9:BLA?I;H=;AELG=J:;C?F;D>DHCA?;9AI9;L:GM=GEC?@:b;;�H;c=>BF;D>LL=GH;H9:;D@9==B;H=;9CJ:;C;
I==F;G:BCHA=?D9AL;cAH9;LCG:?HD;C?F;=H9:G;LCGH?:GD;D=;H9CH;L>LABD;G:@:AJ:;C;9AI9;j>CBAHO;:F>@CHA=?b

89:;LG=L=D:F;@9C?I:D;c=>BF;P:;LBC??:F;@CG:M>BBO;D=;H9CH;H9:;D@9==BDw;B:CF:GD9AL;C?F;I=J:G?C?@:;CG:;?=H;
FADG>LH:FK;c9A@9;@=>BF;9CJ:;C;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;:F>@CHA=?CB;DHC?FCGFDb

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 450



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&'((!) %*!)%('(�$&%

+,-./0120-/.3405634076/08/9:/;7,</503=>0

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@JKKDHDLMNE@OPNQMDMR@SPPKF@

?@ABCDEF@QPTPDUDMR@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF@

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@JKKDHDLMNE@ONMRBNRP@

?@XDMLQDHZ@YHIMDT@CBCDEF@NH@PNTI@L[@HIP@FTILLEF\

+,-./012

]:633.0 0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0_.̀50

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760,0
57,7/c/;70
3=0bde0

0̂3=0f9//0
]:633.0g/,.50
_̀8a.50h0i0
j/,90,k/9,</0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760l;<.a560
,50,;0
bmma7a3;,.0
d,;<̀,</0

0̂3=0
ga;39a7j0
l76;a:0
_̀8a.50

noopqrstu
vpwxrpyuz{|ooqu

}~�} �}�� ��� ���� }��� ���}

�c8,:703;08̀8a.504a760bmma7a3;,.0d/,9;a;<0e//m50�bde�

SPG@�BDEK@W��@CQLUDFDLM@GLBEK@NEELG@[LQ@[NTDEDHDPF@HL@�P@HNDELQPK@HL@HIP@MPPKF@L[@HIP@TIDEKQPM@GIL@NTTPFF@

DH\@@VNTDEDHDPF@TNM@�P@KPFDRMPK@HL@�H@HIPDQ@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF@NMK@CQLUDKP@TNE�@NMK@FHQBTHBQPK@PMUDQLM�PMHF@HL@

FBCCLQH@EPNQMDMR\

�IP@�LBMTDE@NT�MLGEPKRPF@HINH@N@TINMRP@DM@PMUDQLM�PMH@TNM@�P@BMFPHHEDMR@NMK@BCFPHHDMR@[LQ@TIDEKQPM@GDHI@

NKKDHDLMNE@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF\@@ABCDEF@GLBEK@�P@FBCCLQHPK@HL@PMN�EP@HIP�@HL@NKNCH@HL@HIP@TINMRPF@CQLCLFPK\

�34043̀.m05̀883970=3908̀8a.504a760l;<.a560,50,;0bmma7a3;,.0d,;<̀,</0-/0,==/:7/m�

ABCDEF@HINH@QPTPDUP@FBCCLQH@�PTNBFP@HIPZ@INUP@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@TNM@�P@FBCCLQHPK@DM@NMZ@

FTILLE@DM@�NQKD[[\

�IPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@ILG@

TIDEKQPM@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@NQP@FBCCLQHPK\@@�IP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@

GLBEK@TLMHDMBP@HL@CQLUDKP@FBCCLQH@HINH@DF@NCCQLCQDNHP@HL@HIP@DMKDUDKBNE@MPPK@L[@PNTI@CBCDE\

�34043̀.m08̀8a.509/:/aka;<0f9//0]:633.0g/,.50-/0,==/:7/m�

WL�P@L[@HIP@[BMKDMR@HINH@N@FTILLE@QPTPDUPF@DF@�NFPK@LM@HIP@MB��PQ@L[@CBCDEF@DM@HIP@FTILLE@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@

WTILLE@XPNEF\@@JEE@FTILLEF@DM@�NQKD[[@QPTPDUP@[BMKDMR@[LQ@HIPFP@CBCDEF\

�IPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CBCDEF@NH@

HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF\

�34043̀.m0ga;39a7j0l76;a:0_̀8a.50-/0,==/:7/m�

�IP@MPPKF@L[@DMKDUDKBNE@CBCDEF@NQP@NFFPFFPK@NMK@CQLUDKPK@[LQ@NF@NCCQLCQDNHP\@@�IPQP@DF@NEFL@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@

NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CQLUDFDLM@[LQ@NMZ@PHIMDT@RQLBC\

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
 �

¡
��
¢
£�
£�
�
�¤
��
¥
�
�
� 
¤�
¦
��¡
�£
§
¤�
�

Page 451



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $!%&'%( )%�*+&+�$ ,' -..'/0'#1 

23456789:49:2;764<<:=;9:;>>896:;:?;7>@>4A8:9B7C87D:?5;=8:49:C=3EE5:<7EA:>38:C>;7>:E<:>38:>87A:;<>87:>3847:>3476:F47>36;DG::
H38D:ABC>:;>>896:>38:9B7C87D:=5;CC:<E7:;>:58;C>:IJ8:3;5<:6;DC:;:K88LG::H3878:;78:9E:=;>=3A89>:;78;C:<E7:9B7C87DG

M;75D:N8;7C:?7EJ4C4E9:<E7:OEE75;96:P74A;7D:Q=3EE5:4C:5E=;>86:49:;:68AEB9>;F58:B94>:;>:>38:78;7:E<:>38:C=3EE5:
C4>8G:H38:B94>:3;C:F889:7;>86:;C:=E964>4E9:2:R?EE7:K4>3:A;SE7:68<8=>CTG:U>:=B7789>5D:;==EAAE6;>8C:VW:?;7>@>4A8:
XB7C87D:?5;=8C:;96:VY:Z8=8?>4E9:=5;CC:?5;=8CG:

H34C:B94>:4C:F849[:78AEJ86:;96:;:98K:FB45649[:?7EJ4686\:;==EAAE6;>49[:>38:8]4C>49[:9BAF87:E<:9B7C87D:=5;CC:;96:
Z8=8?>4E9:?5;=8CG:

H38:?7EJ4C4E9:E<:98K:FB456:;==EAAE6;>4E9:K455:F8>>87:CB??E7>:>38:6854J87D:E<:34[3:̂B;54>D:86B=;>4E9:<E7:9B7C87D:
;[86:?B?45CG

23456789:E<:9B7C87D:;[8:49:2;764<<:;>>896:A;49C>78;A:?7EJ4C4E9G::H3878:;78:CB<I=489>:?5;=8C:;J;45;F58:>E:A88>:>38:
68A;96:<E7:?5;=8C:;96:4>:4C:9E>:8]?8=>86:>3;>:>38:?7E?EC86:=3;9[8:KEB56:4A?;=>:E9:9B7C87D:?7EJ4C4E9:85C8K3878G

_"0'%$-0+*' �)0+�$& /�$&+#'%'#

H38:2EB9=45:4C:C88L49[:>E:?7EJ468:;:F8>>87:64C>74FB>4E9:E<:C?8=4;54C>:78CEB7=8:F;C8C:;=7ECC:>38:=4>DG:H34C:KEB56:
4A?7EJ8:;==8CC:<E7:?B?45C\:;96:786B=8:>7;J85:>4A8C:<E7:A;9D:?B?45C\:;C:K855:;C:49=78;C49[:>38:9BAF87:E<:?5;=8C:
;J;45;F58G:H3878:4C:9E:QZ̀:?7EJ4C4E9:49:a6;AC6EK9:;96:Q?5E>>:;>:?78C89>G:a55:=3456789:49:>38C8:;78;C:K3E:78̂B478:
?5;=8A89>:49:;9:QZ̀:=B7789>5D:>7;J85:>E:E>387:;78;C:E<:>38:=4>DG

H38:8C>;F54C3A89>:E<:>34C:?7EJ4C4E9:E9:E>387:C=3EE5:C4>8C:49:a6;AC6EK9:;96:Q?5E>>:K;C:64C=EB9>86:EK49[:>E:
;==EAAE6;>4E9:;96:C4>8:54A4>;>4E9CG:

bc-0 -%' 0c' ,'$'d0& �. 0c' )%�)�&'# /c-$e'&1

f:H38:?7E?EC;5C:KEB56:49=78;C8:>38:9BAF87:E<:C?8=4;54C>:78CEB7=8:?5;=8C:<E7:?74A;7D:;[86:58;7987C:K4>3:
=EA?58]:58;7949[:9886C:;96:KEB56:=E9>74FB>8:>EK;76C:A88>49[:?7ES8=>86:68A;96g

f:H38:E??E7>B94>D:>E:8A?5ED:C?8=4;54C>:C>;<<:;96:>E:KE7L:AE78:=5EC85D:K4>3:C?8=4;54C>:C87J4=8C:49:2;764<<:KEB56:
893;9=8:>38:C=3EE5hC:49=5BC4J8:>8;=349[G:H34C:KEB56:F898I>:;55:?B?45C:49:>38:C=3EE5g:

f:H38:?7E?EC;5C:KEB56:89CB78:>3;>:?B?45C:54J49[:49:>38:CEB>3:=89>7;5:;78;:E<:>38:=4>D:>7;J85:C3E7>87:64C>;9=8C:>E:
;==8CC:C?8=4;54C>:?7EJ4C4E9g

f:X8K:FB456:<;=454>48C:?7EJ468:34[3:̂B;54>D:58;7949[:89J47E9A89>C\:K34=3:4A?7EJ8:58;7949[:=3E4=8C:;96:
E??E7>B94>48C:<E7:?B?45C:;96:3;J8:;:C>7E9[:4A?;=>:E9:4A?7EJ49[:?B?45:EB>=EA8CG:H38:2;764<<:iYjY:J4C4E9:
C8>C:EB>:>38:9886:>E:?7EJ468:34[3:̂B;54>D:C=3EE5:?5;=8Cg

f:H38:98K:FB45649[C:K455:F8:<B55D:;==8CC4F58:;96:=EA?54;9>:K4>3:>38:M̂B;54>D:a=>:iYkYG

l�0'$0+-" #+&-#*-$0-e'& �. 0c' )%�)�&'# /c-$e'

f:QEA8:?B?45C:K4>3:amX:=;9:I96:=3;9[8:64<I=B5>G::H38D:A;D:I96:AEJ49[:>E:;:98K:FB45649[:E9:;:98K:C4>8:
B9C8>>549[G::n8:L9EK:>38D:K455:9886:=;78<B55D:?5;9986:CB??E7>:>E:;6;?>:>E:>38:98K:C8>>49[G::oEK8J87\:>3878:
KEB56:F8:CB<I=489>:>4A8:>E:?5;9:;96:CB??E7>:CB=3:;:>7;9C4>4E9G

f:H3878:4C:?E>89>4;5:<E7:49=78;C86:>7;<I=:=E9[8C>4E9:;7EB96:>38:C=3EE5:C4>8C:;>:>38:C>;7>:;96:896:E<:>38:6;DG:
H38:2EB9=45:KEB56:KE7L:K4>3:>38:pEJ87949[:̀E648C:E<:;55:C=3EE5C:49=5B686:49:>38:?7E?EC;5C:>E:68J85E?:;:
H7;J85:P5;9:>E:A494A4C8:;9D:?E>89>4;5:64C7B?>4E9G��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
tu
�
�
�
z�
�x
�
uu�
z�
�
�z
{

Page 452



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!"��#$�"%&'!(�%)!%)&!*+#*#�&'!$)",-&

./01232/456/72/8292:;<42=>/?;=@>35A=>@/>15>/1592/=;>/62>/722=/A82=>AB28C//DE/5=6/72?;42/5<<532=>F/>1232/
?;G:8/72/A4<:A?5>A;=@/E;3/?;@>/5=8/82:56C//HA>2/@G3926@/5=8/I2;J>2?1=A?5:/32<;3>@/K;G:8/>5L2/<:5?2/K1A?1/
K;G:8/<3;9A82/EG3>123/A=E;345>A;=/5=8/A=E;34/45=5I242=>/@>35>2IA2@C

MNO",!�&�#N+$&�!P"%%&+�

QR/S2;<:2/H239A?2@/KA::/K;3L/KA>1/>12/T;923=A=I/U;86/>;/58832@@/>12/QR/A4<:A?5>A;=@/53A@A=I/E3;4/>12/
2@>57:A@142=>/;E/5/H<2?A5:A@>/R2@;G3?2/U5@2/5>/>12/@?1;;:/5=8/>12/32@G:>A=I/=228/E;3/588A>A;=5:/@>5EB=IC/

V1232/>12/T;923=A=I/U;86/1592/58;<>28/>12/W;G=?A:X@/H?1;;:/R282<:;642=>/5=8/R28G=85=?6/S;:A?6F/5=6/
=2K/95?5=?A2@/53A@A=I/5@/5/?;=@2YG2=?2/;E/>12/2@>57:A@142=>/;E/>12/H<2?A5:A@>/R2@;G3?2/U5@2/KA::/<3;9A82/
;<<;3>G=A>A2@/E;3/@?1;;:J75@28/@>5EE/;=/>12/@?1;;:/3282<:;642=>/32IA@>23C/

Z+",�*#+%!O"%%&+�

012/<3;<;@28/HRU/;=/>12/@A>2/;E/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/H?1;;:/K;G:8/@2392/<G<A:@/A=/>12/@;G>1/?2=>35:/5325/;E/
W538AEE/5=8/K;G:8/328G?2/>12/8A@>5=?2/>3592::28/>;/@?1;;:/E;3/?1A:832=/A=/\854@8;K=/5=8/H<:;>>/K1;/32YGA32/
<:5?242=>/A=/5=/HRU/5=8/K1;/?G332=>:6/>3592:/>;/;>123/5325@/;E/>12/?A>6C//

012/W;G=?A:/5<<:A2@/>12/>K;/4A:2/@>5>G>;36/YG5:AE6A=I/K5:LA=I/8A@>5=?2/?3A>23A5/E;3/<G<A:@/>;/YG5:AE6/E;3/E322/
1;42/>;/@?1;;:/>35=@<;3>/>;/<3A4536/@?1;;:@F/A=?:G8A=I/@<2?A5:/@?1;;:@/5=8/HRU/E5?A:A>A2@C//SG<A:@/5>>2=8A=I/>12/
HRU/5>/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/H?1;;:/K1;/:A92/KA>1A=/>K;/4A:2@/;E/>12/@?1;;:/K;G:8/=;>/YG5:AE6/E;3/E322/>35=@<;3>/
G=:2@@/>1A@/A@/=2?2@@536/>;/422>/>12A3/A=8A9A8G5:/:253=A=I/=228@C///

\@/>1232/K;G:8/72/5/45]A4G4/;E/̂_/?1A:832=/5>>2=8A=I/>12/HRUF/A>/A@/5=>A?A<5>28/>15>/>1232/K;G:8/72/5/@45::/
=G4723/;E/?1A:832=/533A9A=I/76/E322/1;42/>;/@?1;;:/>35=@<;3>/A=/@15328/>5]A@C//01A@/̀253=23/035=@<;3>/KA::/=228/
5<<3;<3A5>2/E5?A:A>A2@/E;3/83;<J;EE/5=8/<A?LJG</K1A?1/KA::/72/<3;9A828/5@/<53>/;E/>12/<3;<;@5:@C////

012/8292:;<42=>/<3;<;@5:@/32YGA32/5/035=@<;3>/H>5>242=>C/01A@/15@/5:32586/A82=>AB28/425@G32@/>;/72/
A=?:G828/5@/<53>/;E/>12/5<<:A?5>A;=/>;/45]A4A@2/>3592:/76/@G@>5A=57:2/4;82@/>;/>12/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/
H?1;;:/@A>2C/

D>/A@/K2::J<:5?28/IA92=/A>@/32:5>A92:6/?2=>35:/:;?5>A;=F/<3;]A4A>6/>;/<G7:A?/>35=@<;3>/3;G>2@/5=8/E5?A:A>A2@F/5=8/
<;>2=>A5:/E;3/5?>A92/>3592:/?;==2?>A;=@C//

S3;<;@28/@?1;;:/@5E2>6/425@G32@/K;G:8/A=?:G82/A4<3;9242=>@/>;/3;58/?3;@@A=I@F/5=8/I2=235:/A4<3;928/
E5?A:A>A2@/E;3/<282@>3A5=@/5=8/?6?:A@>@F/A=?:G8A=I/5:;=I/82@A32/:A=2@/>13;GI1/[;;3:5=8/S53LC/

\/329A2K/;E/<53LA=I/5=8/:;58A=I/32@>3A?>A;=@/5=8/>12/<3;9A@A;=/;E/5/H?1;;:/H>322>/;=/7;>1/>12/58a5?2=>/@>322>@/
bA=?:G8A=I/[;;3:5=8/R;58/;=/>12/25@>/@A82/;E/>12/@A>2c/K;G:8/A4<3;92/@5E2>6/76/82>233A=I/921A?:2/5??2@@/5=8/
328G?A=I/?;=I2@>A;=/5=8/<53LA=I/A@@G2@C//

012/W;G=?A:/A@/?;44A>>28/>;/2=@G3A=I/>15>/29236/@?1;;:/A=/W538AEE/15@/5=/\?>A92/03592:/S:5=/K1A?1/A82=>AB2@/
5?>A;=@/76/>12/@?1;;:/>;/@G<<;3>/5=8/2=?;G35I2/5?>A92/>3592:/K1232/5<<3;<3A5>2/5=8/A82=>AB2@/A4<3;9242=>@/
=22828/;=J@A>2/5=8/;EEJ@A>2/>;/E5?A:A>5>2/5?>A92/a;G3=26@C//01A@/<:5=/A@/8292:;<28/KA>1/EG::/A=9;:9242=>/;E/>12/
@?1;;:/@G<<;3>28/76/>12/W;G=?A:X@/\?>A92/03592:/S:5=/;EB?23@/KA>1/;>123/@G<<;3>/595A:57:2/E3;4/>12/R;58/
H5E2>6/0254/K1A?1/82:A923@/?6?:2/>35A=A=IC//

��

d
ef
gh
i
jk
gl
mn
ho
pq
r
r
sf

t
mr
u
vf
vr
k
hw
gh
x
r
r
ms
wk
y
hht
mv
z
wm
n

Page 453



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�"!

'()(*+)+,-)./)(*+)0..12+()34)5)67+4(3.,,538+9)):*34)34);.78)<*5,<+)(.)2+()(*+)=.7,<32)1,.>)>*5();.7)(*3,1)50.7()
(*+)?8.?.45249)@.7)<5,)A3B+)5)8+4?.,4+)(.)522)./)(*+)67+4(3.,4C).8)D74()8+4?.,-)(.)4.E+)./)(*+EC)54);.7)?8+/+89)

'2(+8,5(3B+2;);.7)<5,)4+,-)74);.78)B3+>4)3,).,+)./)(*+)/.22.>3,A)>5;4F

G)=.E?2+(3,A)(*+).,23,+)8+4?.,4+)/.8E)5()HHHIJKLMNOOIPQRISTUVWXYJZQQ[\LQ\QYK[Y

G)]E532);.78)B3+>4)(.)YJZQQ[L̂Y\Q_ŶỲJKLMNOOIPQRIST

G)a83(+)(.)74)5()(*+)/.22.>3,A)5--8+44F)b<*..2)c8A5,345(3.,)d25,,3,AC)e..E)fghC)=.7,(;)i522C)'(25,(3<)a*58/C)
=58-3//C)=jhg)fka9)

:*+)=.7,<32)>322)<.,43-+8)+B+8;.,+l4)B3+>4)0+/.8+)-+<3-3,A)>*+(*+8)(.)A.)5*+5-)>3(*)(*+)?8.?.4+-)<*5,A+49

mnopqrstuvwpxyzop{s|p|ot}svtotpzspznutp}|s}styrputp~~p�s�o��o|p~�~��p)

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 454



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% �&'()(*#�$&$ &+ $,&-! . /#)/&

01232145637893:8;<=9>3;??9:731789@3>:8115>A

BCDEFGHIJEKLLHJIFMINGOPFQQICOLRFPDIJCDEFGHFJSICOLRFJFLMIQLOISKDITKLHDILQISKDINFSUIGMPINLVMSUILQINGOPFQQWI
XKDODIGODIMLSIDMLVYKICHGEDJISLIZDDSIPDZGMPIFMIZGFMSGFMDPICOLRFJFLMWIIXKFJIKGJIGMIFZCGESILMID[FJSFMYI
JEKLLHJITKDODIFMIJLZDIEGJDJISKDODIZGUI\DIGIYODGSDOIMVZ\DOILQICVCFHJILMIOLHHISKGMISKDI]V\HFJKDPÎPZFJJFLMI
_VZ\DOÌ]̂_aILOIPDJFODPIMVZ\DOIFMIGMIBbcWI

NGOPFQQIEVOODMSHUIKGJISLIODHUILMICVOEKGJFMYIJLZDICHGEDJIFMILVSILQIELVMSUICOLRFJFLMIGMPIFMPDCDMPDMSI
JEKLLHJISLIQVHdHIFSJIJSGSVSLOUIPVSFDJWIXKDODIELVHPI\DIGIHLMYDOISDOZIFZCGESILMILVSILQIELVMSUICOLRFPDOJIGMPILMI
FMPDCDMPDMSIJEKLLHJIGJISKDODIFJIHFeDHUISLI\DIGIODPVESFLMIFMISKDIMVZ\DOILQICHGEDJICVOEKGJDPI\UISKDINLVMEFHWI

fSIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISKGSISKDICOLCLJDPID[CGMJFLMIGMPISOGMJQDOILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHISLISKDIgGFOTGSDOI
]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIJFSDITLVHPIKGRDIGIMDYGSFRDIFZCGESILMIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHILOIGMUIHLEGHIJEKLLHWI

gGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHITLVHPIELMSFMVDISLILCDOGSDIGJIGIJDCGOGSDIJEKLLHIVMPDOISKDIZGMGYDZDMSILQIFSJI
YLRDOMFMYI\LPUIGMPIhDGPSDGEKDOWIXKDIJEKLLHIJFSDIFJILQIGIJVQdEFDMSIJFiDISLIGHHLTIQLOISKDICOLCLJDPINLVOSI
BCDEFGHIBEKLLHICOLRFJFLMISLI\DIGEELZZLPGSDPITFSKLVSIMDYGSFRDHUIFZCGESFMYILMISKDIJEKLLHWII

XKDICOLCLJDPIELjHLEGSFLMILQIXKDINLVOSITFSKIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIELVHPICOLRFPDISKDILCCLOSVMFSUIQLOI
JSGQQIGSIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQWIXKFJIELVHPIDMKGMEDI
SKDIJEKLLHkJIFMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

XKDIZGFMSDMGMEDILQIGIHGOYDIJEKLLHIJFSDICODJDMSJIGIOGMYDILQIdMGMEFGHIGMPILCDOGSFLMGHIEKGHHDMYDJIQLOI
gGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHWIIXKDICOLCLJDPIJFSDIJKGOFMYIGOOGMYDZDMSITFSKIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHIFJI
D[CDESDPISLILCSFZFJDISKDIGODGIGRGFHG\HDISLI\DMDdSIDGEKIJEKLLHW

fSIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISKGSISKDICOLCLJDPID[CGMJFLMIGMPISOGMJQDOILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHISLISKDIRGEGSDPI
BSIlDHHLMJINKVOEKIFMImGHDJI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIJFSDITLVHPIKGRDIGIMDYGSFRDIFZCGESILMIGMUIHLEGHIJEKLLHWI

XKDICOLCLJDPIHLEGSFLMILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHIGSISKDIRGEGSDPIBSIlDHHLMJINKVOEKIFMImGHDJI]OFZGOUI
BEKLLHIJFSDnIGPoGEDMSISLISKDI]DMIpIcOUMI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIELVHPICOLRFPDISKDILCCLOSVMFSUIQLOIJSGQQIGSI]DMIpIcOUMI
]OFZGOUIBEKLLHISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQWIXKFJIELVHPIDMKGMEDISKDIJEKLLHkJI
FMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

XKDODIZGUIGHJLI\DILCCLOSVMFSFDJIQLOISKDIJKGODPIVJDILQIJLZDIQGEFHFSFDJIFQISKFJIFJIELMJFPDODPISLI\DI\DMDdEFGHISLI
DGEKILQISKDIJEKLLHJW

XKDIDJSG\HFJKZDMSILQIBbcICOLRFJFLMIGSIlLLOHGMPI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISLIFZCGESIMDYGSFRDHUILMI
SKDIJEKLLHW

XKDILCCLOSVMFSUISLIDZCHLUIJCDEFGHFJSIJSGQQIGMPISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQIELVHPI
DMKGMEDISKDIJEKLLHkJIFMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
�
zu
}~
��
�
zw
x
u�
x
�
u{
�
y
x
�u
�
w�
�
�w
u

�
�t
~
u�
�
�
�t
��
x
��
u�
w�
zx
�x
�u
�
ww
�
su
��
��
�

Page 455



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !! "#$%&&%#'(�(#)!$$

*+,-,./-,.01.23/00,4.5+/06,7.81.8+,.91:05;3<7.213;5=.10.8+,./4>;77;10.1?.5+;34-,0.81.75+1137<./7./.-,7:38.1?.8+;7.
2-1217/3@.

A,8/;3,4.;0?1->/8;10./B1:8./4>;77;10./--/06,>,087.;7.;0.8+,.91:05;3<7.C4>;77;10.81.D5+1137.B11E3,8@..F1:.5/0.
G04.8+;7.;0?1->/8;10.10.8+,.91:05;3<7.H,B7;8,./8.IIIJKLMNOPPJQRSJTUJ.

C4>;77;107.81.72,5;/3;78.2-1V;7;10./-,.>/0/6,4.B=.8+,.91:05;3W.7:BX,58.81./.78/8,>,08.1?.D2,5;/3.Y4:5/8;10.
Z,,47.[DYZ\@.]04,-.8+,.ĈZ.914,W.23/5,>,08.H;33.B,.7:BX,58.81./0._04;V;4:/3.A,V,312>,08.̀3/0.[_À\@.*+,.
2-1217,4.5/2/5;8=.?1-.ab.2:2;37.H1:34.B,.;0./44;8;10.81.8+,.5/2/5;8=.1?.>/;078-,/>.23/5,7.;0.8+,.75+113@

c(%&#(&$d&%e(f$�&&%#'(�(#)!

]04,-.8+,7,.2-1217/37.8+,-,./-,.01.23/07.81.5+/06,.8+,.91:05;3<7.213;5=.10.8+,.8-/0721-8.1?.5+;34-,0.81./04.
?-1>.75+1137@.

C0=.2:2;37./??,58,4.B=.8+;7.2-1217/3.H1:34.B,.1??,-,4.8+,.7/>,.7:221-8.H;8+.8-/0721-8./7.;7.2-1V;4,4.
8+-1:6+1:8.9/-4;??./04.;0./551-4/05,.H;8+.8+,.7/>,.5-;8,-;/.8+/8./223=./5-177.9/-4;??@.*+,.91:05;3<7.8-/0721-8.
213;5=.5/0.B,.V;,H,4.10.8+,.91:05;3<7.H,B7;8,.[IIIJKLMNOPPJQRSJTU\@

*+,-,.;7./.78/8:81-=.3,6/3.1B3;6/8;10.10.8+,.91:05;3.81.2-1V;4,.?-,,.+1>,.81.75+113.8-/0721-8.81.2-;>/-=.
75+113.2:2;37.H+1.3;V,.a.>;3,7.1-.>1-,.?-1>.8+,.0,/-,78.7:;8/B3,.75+113W./7.>,/7:-,4.B=.8+,.7+1-8,78./V/;3/B3,.
H/3E;06.-1:8,@

g+,0.4,5;4;06.H+;5+.;7.8+,.0,/-,78.7:;8/B3,.75+113W.8+,.91:05;3.>:78.5107;4,-./0=.4;7/B;3;8=./.5+;34.+/7./04./0=.
72,5;/3.,4:5/8;10/3.0,,47.[DYZ\@

h #%#i %f$j%))(&!

*+,.1:83;0,.ak78.9,08:-=.D5+1137.l/04.l.̀-16-/>>,.H/7./22-1V,4.B=.9/B;0,8.;0.A,5,>B,-.abkmW.;053:4;06.
*+,.91:-8.D2,5;/3.D5+113.2-1X,58@.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.[gn\.+/V,.018.?1->/33=./22-1V,4.8+,.;04;V;4:/3.2-1X,58.
B:46,8W.B:8.+/V,.6;V,0.8+,;-.;0.2-;05;23,.7:221-8.81.,/5+.2-1X,58.H;8+;0.9/-4;??.91:05;3<7.l/04.l.2-16-/>>,@.

*+,.1V,-/33.2-1X,58,4.51787.?1-.8+,.2-1X,58./-,.;053:4,4.;0.8+,.5:--,08.l/04.l.5/7+op1H.?1-,5/78W.81.B,.?:04,4.
8+-1:6+.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.n-/08.[mqr\./04.8+,.91:05;3<7.ak78.9,08:-=.D5+1137._0V,78.81.D/V,.B1--1H;06.
[aqr\@.C0=.-,V,0:,.51787.;0.-,3/8;10.81.8+,7,.75+,>,7W.;053:4;06.5/2;8/3.G0/05;06.51787.H;33.B,.?:04,4.8+-1:6+.
8+,.91:05;3<7.Ds̀.t,V,0:,.t,7,-V,@.

*+,7,.2-1217/37.;053:4,.5-,/8;10.1?./44;8;10/3.75+113.23/5,7.H+;5+.H1:34.0,,4.81.B,.?:04,4.?-1>.8+,.,u;78;06.
4,3,6/8,4.75+1137.B:46,8@.v:-8+,-.H1-E.;7.1061;06.81.;4,08;?=.8+,.,u8,08.81.H+;5+.8+,./44;8;10/3.51787.5/0.B,.
51V,-,4.B=.7/V;067.H;8+1:8./44;06.7;60;G5/08.2-,77:-,.81.1V,-/33.75+113.B:46,87@

*+,.w11-3/04.Y/-3=.F,/-7.]0;8.;7.81.B,.2/-83=.?:04,4.B=./.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.v3=;06.D8/-8.6-/08W.H;8+.-,>/;04,-.
81.B,.?:04,4.?-1>.8+,.Y4:5/8;10.C77,8.t,0,H/3.B:46,8@._0.1-4,-.81.,07:-,.7:?G5;,08.B:46,8.8+,-,.H;33.B,./.
0,,4.81.2-;1-;8;7,.8+;7.75+,>,.H;8+;0.8+,.5:--,08./77,8.-,0,H/3.2-16-/>>,W.H;8+./44;8;10/3.?:04;06.81.B,.>/4,.
/V/;3/B3,.8+-1:6+.8+,._0V,78.81.D/V,./3315/8;10.1?.8+,.5/2;8/3.B:46,8.?1-.75+1137@

��

x
yz
{|
}
~�
{�
��
|�
��
�
�
�z

�
��
�
�z
��
�
|�
�
�|
��
��
�
�~
�
|�
�
�
|�
�
�
�
�|
�
~�
�
�~
|

�
�{
�
|�
�
�
�{
��
�
��
|�
~�
��
��
�|
�
~~
�
z|
��
��
�

Page 456



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&'()(&*#

+,-./01/12342.51.-6/378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.35.5,-.29,1142.:794<8-8.:7.5,-2-./01/12342.=:44.,3;-.
:>/4:935:172.?10.,-345,.378.15,-0.2/-9:34:25.2-0;:9-2@.+,-2-.2-0;:9-2.=10A.:7./3057-02,:/.=:5,.29,1142.51.
>--5.B88:5:1734.C-307:7D.E--82@.B7.388:5:1734.?39510.:2.5,-.BCE.F-?10>.B95.GHIJK.=,:9,.=:44.:75018<9-.
7-=.0-2/172:L:4:5:-2.?10.,-345,K.-8<935:17.378.219:34.930-.51.=10A.51D-5,-0.51.91108:735-.322-22>-75.378.
/01;:2:17@.+,-.B95.GHIJ.=:44.L-.:>/4->-75-8.1;-0.3.5,0--MN-30./-0:18K.L-D:77:7D.:7.O-/5->L-0.GHGH@.

P7.108-0.51.3880-22.5,-2-.9,344-7D-2.51D-5,-0K.5,-.Q1<79:4.378.Q308:??.378.5,-.R34-.S7:;-02:5N.T-345,.
U1308.30-.<78-053A:7D.3.V1:75.0-;:-=.1?.,-345,.378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.Q308:??.2/-9:34.29,1142.378./</:4.
0-?-0034.<7:52@.+,-.W78:7D2.1?.5,-.0-;:-=K.1;-02--7.LN.3./01V-95.D01</.1?.0-/0-2-7535:;-2.?01>.,-345,K.
-8<935:17K.219:34.2-0;:9-2K.29,1142K.378./30-752K.=:44.:7?10>.5,-.8-2:D7.1?.5,-.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17@

X&'�%*�*Y�#Z%%�*[�\�*!)

+,-0-.30-.71./01/12-8.9,37D-2.51.D1;-07379-.30037D->-752.30:2:7D.1<5.1?.5,-2-./01/12342@.

]\$�Y!#&̂#!"�#$%&$&)� )#&*#!"�#_� )"#̀�*[a�[�

+,-.4-;-4.1?.2/-9:34.-8<935:1734.7--82b.388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82.:7.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.,32.,:2510:9344N.
L--7.41=-0.5,37.:7.5,-.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.2-9510@.+,:2.,32.L--7.9,37D:7D.1;-0.5,-.4325.eMf.N-302K.=:5,.29,1142.
0-/105:7D.37.:790-32-8.:79:8-79-.1?.BCEK.:7.344.30-32.1?.7--8@.

B.0-;:-=.1?.BCE.:7.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.=32.<78-053A-7.=:5,.c-42,.>-8:<>.29,1142.:7.GHIg.51.
:7?10>.5,-.c-42,.:7.d8<935:17.O5035-D:9.h437.icdOhj@.O9,1142.0-/105-8.3.2>344.L<5.2:D7:W9375.7<>L-0.1?.
-63>/4-2.1?./</:42.=:5,.BCE.4-3;:7D.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.:7.108-0.51.399-22.2/-9:34:25.0-21<09-.L32-2.10.
2/-9:34.29,1142@.

+,-0-.=32.3421.21>-.37-981534.-;:8-79-.51.2<DD-25.5,35.21>-.?3>:4:-2.=,1.=1<48.15,-0=:2-.9,112-.c-42,M
>-8:<>.-8<935:17.1/5.:725-38.?10.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.:?.5,-:0.9,:48.,32.BCEK.5,01<D,.9179-07.5,35.5,-:0.9,:48.
>3N.7--8.51.50372?-0.51.5,-.2/-9:34:25.2-9510.35.3.435-0.835-@.

+,01<D,.5,-.cdOhK.Q308:??.,32.:7;-25-8.:7.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.5,-.2-9510K.:794<8:7D.21>-.93/39:5N.51.
0-2/178.51.D01=:7D.8->378.378.51.D-7-035-.>10-.917W8-79-.:7.5,-.3;3:43L:4:5N.1?.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.
5,-.2-9510@.

B.7-=./0:>30N.L32-.=32.-253L4:2,-8.35.k2D14.lN>03-D.h=44.Q19,K.=:5,:7.5,-.9359,>-75.30-3.1?.k2D14.lN?<7.
lN>03-D.l43753?K.=,-0-.5,-.2-917830N.L32-.:2.-253L4:2,-8@.+,-.5=1.L32-2.935-0.?10.4-307-02.=:5,.2-;-0-.
4-307:7D.8:?W9<45:-2K./01;:8:7D.3.2/-9:34:25.9<00:9<4<>.378.2<//105:7D.3.037D-.1?.2-917830N.7--82.:794<8:7D.
/,N2:934.378.>-8:934.7--82K.2/--9,.378.437D<3D-.8:?W9<45:-2.378.3<5:2>@.

P7.GHGI.5,-0-.:2.D01=:7D.8->378.?10.0-21<09-.L32-2.?10./</:42.=:5,.3<5:2>K.=,1.30-.3;-03D-.51.,:D,.
39,:-;-02K.378.=1<48.7--8.3.>10-.:75-D035:;-.>18-4.1?.2<//105.5,37.5,35./01;:8-8.LN.5,-.5=1.-6:25:7D.
L32-2@.+,-0-.30-.9<00-754N.J.2-917830N.3D-8.4-307-02K.378.If./0:>30N.3D-8.4-307-02.=,1.=1<48.L-7-W5.?01>.
/439->-75.:7.37.BOm.L32-@.+,:2.:2.3.2,105.5-0>./0:10:5NK.D:;-7.5,-.0:2A.5,35.:?.9<00-75./439->-752.?3:4K.5,-.174N.
1/5:17.=1<48.L-.51.1??-0.3.50372?-0.51.37.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.2-55:7D@.

B./0:>30N.=-44L-:7D.94322.,32.L--7.-253L4:2,-8K.,125-8.35.k2D14.lN70388.h-7.N.l01-2@.+,-.=-44L-:7D.94322.
=10A2.n-6:L4N.51.3880-22.7--82.:7.8:??-0-75.3D-./,32-2K.10.51./01;:8-.37.1<50-39,.>18-4K.8-/-78:7D.17.
9<00-75.7--8@.

+1.2<//105.->15:1734.,-345,.378.=-44L-:7D.7--82.:7.2-917830N./,32-K.3.o;:05<34p.L32-b.hFS.,32.L--7./:415-8.
390122.5,-.5,0--.2-917830N.29,1142K.25305:7D.:7.GHIJ@.+,-./:415.:2.8<-.?10.?<05,-0.0-;:-=.:7.GHGI@.

��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
�
zu
}~
��
�
zw
x
u�
x
�
u{
�
y
x
�u
�
w�
�
�w
u

�
�t
~
u�
�
�
�t
��
x
��
u�
w�
zx
�x
�u
�
ww
�
su
��
��
�

Page 457



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$"#%& #' %$ �(')"� %�� %�"�� '*�$$+' �,-� ,.�/),%� 0,*#+#%#�' ,(. ,**$11$.,%#$( %$ !"$-#.� �00�*%#-� 
2%�! 3 ,(. 4 !"$-#'#$(5 *$1!+�1�(%�. 6& %�� -#"%),+ 6,'�7 89:; <�.#)1 %�"15 %�� -#"%),+ 6,'�7 89: =#++ 
�-�(%),++& (��. , >?�. +$*,%#$( ,% $(� $0 %�� '*�$$+'5 =#%� .�'#@(,%�. ,**$11$.,%#$(5 %$ "�.)*� %�� "#'A 
%�,% &$)(@ !�$!+� =#%� %�� 1$'% *$1!+�? (��.' 1,& (��. %$ +�,-� %�� B�+'� '�*%$" %$ ,**�'' 1$"� '!�*#,+#'% 
!"$-#'#$(; 

C' %�� B�+'� '�*%$" *$(%#()�' %$ @"$= #% =#++ 6� #1!$"%,(% %$ .�-�+$! ,..#%#$(,+ !"$-#'#$( #( ,(%#*#!,%#$( $0 %�� 
(��.5 %$ �(')"� B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( #' , @�()#(� *�$#*� 0$" +�,"(�"' =#%� *$1!+�? CEF; 

��� !$$+ $0 CEF /),+#>�. ,(. �?!�"#�(*�. %�,*�#(@ '%,00 #' +#1#%�. #( ()16�"5 #( *$1!,"#'$( %$ %�� G(@+#'� 
'�*%$"; C(& !+,( %$ .�-�+$! B�+'� 1�.#)1 '!�*#,+#'% !"$-#'#$( =#++ (��. %$ 6� ')!!$"%�. 6& ,( CEF B$"A0$"*� 
H�-�+$!1�(% 8+,(; 

I( ,**$".,(*� =#%� %�� %#1�%,6+� '�% 6& B�+'� J$-�"(1�(%5 %�� K$)(*#+ #' =$"A#(@ *+$'�+& =#%� #%' !,"%(�"' 
$( %�� K,".#00 B�+'� G.)*,%#$( L$")1 %$ .�-�+$! %�� (�= %�( &�," BG28 0$" %�� *#%&; I% #' �?!�*%�. %�� !+,( 
=#++ 6� ,-,#+,6+� 0$" !)6+#* *$(')+%,%#$( #( ,)%)1( MNMO 6�0$"� 6�#(@ ')61#%%�. 0$" ,!!"$-,+ %$ %�� B�+'� 
J$-�"(1�(% #( �,"+& MNMM; ��� >"'% %�( &�," 8+,( =#++ *$11�(*� $( O 2�!%�16�" MNMM ,(. �?!#"� $( 3O 
C)@)'% MN3M; 

K$(')+%,%#$( $( %�� .",0% BG28 =#++ '��A -#�=' $( �$= 6�'% %$ @"$= B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( ,(. $( �$= %$ 
1��% %�� +$*,+ %,"@�%' '�% 6& B�+'� J$-�"(1�(%5 #( $".�" %$ #(0$"1 0)%)"� !"$!$',+'; ��� BG28 =#++ '�% $)% �$= 
%�� K$)(*#+ =#++ #(*"�,'� %�� !"$-#'#$( $0 B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( 0$" !)!#+' =#%� ,..#%#$(,+ +�,"(#(@ (��.';

PQRSTUVUWX

C( G/),+#%& I1!,*% C''�''1�(% YGICZ #' , !"$*�'' %�,% +$$A' ,% , !$+#*&5 !"$[�*% $" '*��1� %$ 1,A� ')"� #% .$�' 
($% .#'*"#1#(,%� ,@,#('% ,(&$(� 6,'�. $( %�� !"$%�*%�. *�,",*%�"#'%#*' '�% $)% #( %�� G/),+#%& C*% MN Y,@�5 
.#',6#+#%&5 @�(.�" "�,''#@(1�(%5 1,""#,@� \ *#-#+ !,"%(�"'�#!5 !"�@(,(*& \ 1,%�"(#%&5 ",*�5 "�+#@#$(7 6�+#�05 '�?5 
'�?),+ $"#�(%,%#$(Z;

C( #(#%#,+ G/),+#%& I1!,*% C''�''1�(% �,' 6��( *,""#�. $)%; I% *$(*+).�. %�,% %�� !"$!$'�. *�,(@�' =$)+. ($% 
(�@,%#-�+& ,00�*% , !,"%#*)+," @"$)! #( '$*#�%&; 

��#' ,''�''1�(% =#++ 6� "�-#�=�. ,0%�" %�� *$(')+%,%#$( ,(. ,% A�& !$#(%' #0 %�� !"$!$',+' =�"� %$ !"$*��.; I0 
%�� !"$!$',+ @$�' ,��,.5 ,($%��" �/),+#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% =$)+. 6� *,""#�. $)% ,% %�� .�'#@( '%,@�; ��#' 
=$)+. #.�(%#0& ,**�''#6#+#%& %$ %�� (�= !"$-#'#$(;  ��� �/),+#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% =$)+. %,A� #(%$ ,**$)(% 
!$+#*#�' ')*� ,' %�� G/),+#%& C*% MNON5 �CF OM] H�'#@( MNO4 ,' =�++ ,' 6)#+.#(@ "�@)+,%#$(' ')*� ,' ̂2_3NN5 
8,"% < ,(. "�+�-,(% ̂)#+.#(@ ̂)++�%#(';

àbbRcUVdefbgShV

��� 0$++$=#(@ ,"� %,A�( #(%$ ,**$)(% =��( *$('#.�"#(@ , !"$!$',+] 8)6+#* i!�( 2!,*�5 !,"A+,(.5 ($#'� ,(. 
%",0>* *$(@�'%#$(;  ��� '*�$$+' #(*+).�. #( %��'� !"$!$',+' ,(. %�� K$)(*#+ =#++ =$"A =#%� ,(& *$11)(#%& 
@"$)!' %$ 1,A� ')"� %�� !"$!$',+' ,-$#. ,(& (�@,%#-� #1!,*%' #0 !$''#6+�;

C *$11)(#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% �,' 6��( )(.�"%,A�( 0$" %��'� !"$!$',+' ,(. #' ,-,#+,6+� %$ -#�= ,% jjjk
lmnopqqkrstkuvwxyz{l|ss}~ns~s{m}{k

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�

Page 458



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&$'()(*�$+�"�*,)!%"-$

./012/3042560563073118932/:0;<0=>5>?30@3/3?A52;/B0CD50EA?F2<<GB0HA/F0H0I?;:?AJJ302B0D;JJ2553F05;0
I?;K2F2/:0L;DA10MD6;;1B0<;?0L;DA10E621F?3/N05;:3563?0425603/D;>?A:2/:0>B30;<0B>B5A2/A9130J;F3B05;05?AK310
5;0BD6;;1BN0B>D60AB04A1O2/:0A/F0DPD12/:Q0RAD60BD6;;10I?;S3D505AO3B02/5;0ADD;>/50O3P05?A/BI;?502BB>3B0463/0
563P0A?30932/:0F3B2:/3F0A/F05630T?J0/33F05;0I?;K2F30BA<3?0?;>53B05;03/D;>?A:304A1O2/:N0DPD12/:0A/F0;563?0
AD52K305?AK310J;F3B05;0BD6;;1BQ0

725605630D>??3/502/K3B5J3/5B02/0.EU0AD?;BB05630D25PN0B5>F3/50J;K3J3/5B0JAP0930<>?563?0?3F>D3F0AB0J;92130
53D6/;1;:P0F3K31;IB0<>?563?0A11;42/:0<;?0V3W2913053AD62/:0J356;FBQ0U63B306AK305630I;53/52A105;0?3B>1502/0A0
J;?303<TD23/50U?AK310X1A/0A/F0<>?563?0D;/5?29>5305;05630E;>/D21GB05A?:35B05;0?3F>D3025B0DA?9;/03J2BB2;/BQ0

./0;?F3?05;0JAW2J2B3056301;/:853?J02JIAD50;<0562B0B2:/2TDA/502/K3B5J3/5N0A/P0F3B2:/05AO3/0<;?4A?F0<;?03AD60
BD6;;102/D1>F3F02/0562B0I?;I;BA104;>1F0930F3K31;I3F05;03/B>?305630F312K3?P0;<062:60Y>A125P0J;F3?/0<AD212523B0
56A50A?30A91305;0?3BI;/F05;05630D>??3/50I>I210I;I>1A52;/GB0/33FB0A/F0B>II;?505630F312K3?P0;<03<<3D52K30
53AD62/:0A/F013A?/2/:0J356;FBQ0U63P04;>1F0A1B;02/D;?I;?A5305630V3W292125P05;05AO30ADD;>/50;<0D6A/:3B0
F3I3/F2/:0;/0/33F0AB052J30I?;:?3BB3BZ0B>D60AB0D6A/:2/:0F3J;:?AI62DB0A/F0I>I210/>J93?BN0D6A/:2/:0
D>??2D>1>J0A/F0D6A/:2/:05PI3B0;<0I>I210/33FBQ

[%)�")!,�$\!-*(])!%"$)%$[(]!�-

U630E;>/D2106AB0B2:/2TDA/503WI3?23/D302/05630B>DD3BB<>10F312K3?P0;<09>21F2/:0I?;S3D5B0;/05630B253B0;<0;DD>I23F0
BD6;;1B0AB0A0?3B>150;<0I?;:?3BB2/:0A01A?:30A/F0:?;42/:0BD6;;10;?:A/2BA52;/0I?;:?AJJ3Q00

C/P09>21F2/:04;?O0DA??23F0;>504;>1F0930JA/A:3F03<<3D52K31P02/0D;/B>15A52;/0425605630BD6;;1B02/D1>F3F02/0
563B30I?;I;BA1B05;03/B>?3056A505630D>??2D>1>J0D;/52/>3B05;0930F312K3?3F0A/F056A5062:603F>DA52;/0B5A/FA?FB0
A/F0BA<35P0B5A/FA?FB0A?30JA2/5A2/3FQ

��

_̂̀
ab
c
de
af
gh
bi
jk
l
l
m̀

n
gl
o
p̀
pl
e
bq
l
gb
jk
pm
r
gd
e
bs
e
r
bh
l
f
e
tb
u
dl
u
md
b

v
pa
k
bw
r
r
pa
pl
e
sm
bx
ds
ge
pe
tb
y
dd
r̀
bz
w
xy
{

Page 459



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !��"!# $%& �% '()� *%+, -.�&! )/%&/ (/0 1��02(3) 1%,'

456785699:;<8;:=7>

?:@8A67:<

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEJGLLDJNEOIPEQHRROSKQDENCDETDDPUOJVETSGRENCKQEJGIQHLNONKGIWEEFGHIJKLEGTXJDSQEMKLLENCDIESDYGSNENCKQE
NGENCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNENGESDYGSNEQNOVDCGLPDSE[KDMQENGEDLDJNDPERDRUDSQEOIPENGEKITGSREPDJKQKGIEROVKI\WEBCKQE
JGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEMKLLEUDEO[OKLOULDETGSEOI]GIDENGE[KDM̂PGMILGOPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKNDWEE_GHEJOIEOLQGE\DNEOE
JGY]EU]EHQKI\ENCDEJGINOJNEPDNOKLQEKIENCKQEPGJHRDINWEE

T̀ENCDEYSGYGQOLQEOSDEO\SDDPENGEYSGJDDPETGLLGMKI\EJGIQHLNONKGIENCDSDEOSDEOEIHRUDSEGTETHSNCDSEQNO\DQENCONENCDE
FGHIJKLEMGHLPECO[DENGE\GENCSGH\CEUDTGSDEOEXIOLEPDJKQKGIEKQEROPDWEE

BCDQDEQNO\DQEOSDEQDNEGHNEKIEBOULDEabEUDLGMc

d6ef:8ghi8jk7kl:8<76m:<8nd5o<87op:76ef:8p6@8e:8<keq:r787s8r56;m:t

d6ef:8ghi8jk7kl:8<76m:<

u767k7sl@8vlsr:<< dop:<r6f:

FGIQHLNONKGIEwDSKGP aaExJNGUDSEyEzzE{G[DRUDSEz|za

FGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEJGIQKPDSDPEU]ENCDEFGHIJKLEFOUKIDNEOIPE
YHULKQCDPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKND

}~��~�������

��YDJNDPEPONDETGSEQNOSNEGTExU�DJNKGIEwDSKGP�EMCDIEQNONHNGS]E
IGNKJDECOQEUDDIEKQQHDPE�MCDIETGSROLEGU�DJNKGIQEJOIEUDEROPD�

�~������

��YDJNDPEPONDETGSEDIPEGTExU�DJNKGIEwDSKGP }��������

�KIOLEPDJKQKGIE�PDNDSRKIONKGI�EU]ENCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNEEE }��������

xU�DJNKGIESDYGSNEYHULKQCDPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKNDEOIPE
IGNKXJONKGIEGTEFOUKIDNZQEPDJKQKGIEE

��������������

�s;<kf767os;89:los�

BCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPETGSENCDQDEYSGYGQOLQEQNOSNQEGIEaaExJNGUDSEz|zaEOIPEDIPQEGIEzzE{G[DRUDSEz|zaWE

�DDEYO\DE��ETGSETHSNCDSEPDNOKLQEGTECGMENGESDQYGIPEOIPEROVDE]GHSE[KDMQEVIGMIW

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEYHULKQCEOEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEGIEKNQEMDUQKNDWEBCDESDYGSNERHQNEUDEYHULKQCDPEONELDOQNENMGEMDDVQE
YSKGSENGENCDEYHULKJONKGIEGTEOEQNONHNGS]EIGNKJDWEE

_GHEJOIEOLQGEOQVETGSEOECOSPEJGY]EGTENCDESDYGSNWE

BCDESDYGSNEMKLLE\GEG[DSENCDEKQQHDQESOKQDPEPHSKI\ENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPEOIPE\K[DENCDEFGHIJKLZQESDQYGIQDENGENCDQDE
KQQHDQWEBCDESDYGSNEMKLLEOLQGEJGINOKIE�QN]IZQE[KDMEGTENCDEYSGYGQOLQW

BCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNEMKLLEJGIQKPDSENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEOIPEPDJKPDEMCDNCDSEGSEIGNENGE\GEOCDOPEMKNCENCDE
YSGYGQDPEJCOI\DQW

T̀ENCDEFOUKIDNEPDJKPDQENGEJGINKIHDEMKNCENCDEJCOI\DQENCDEFGHIJKLERHQNEYHULKQCEOEPGJHRDINEJOLLDPEOE�QNONHNGS]E
IGNKJDZWEBCKQEKQEOIEGTXJKOLEQNONDRDINEQO]KI\ENCONENCDEJCOI\DQEMKLLE\GEOCDOPW

��

�
��
��
 
¡¢
�£
¤¥
�¦
§̈
©
©
ª�

«
¤©
¬
�
©
¢
�®
©
¤�
§̈
ª̄
¤¡
¢
�°
¢̄
�¥
©
£
¢
±�
²
¡©
²
ª¡
�

³
�̈
�́̄
̄�
©
¢
°ª
�µ
¡°
¤¢
¢
±�
¶
¡¡̄
��
·́
µ¶̧

Page 460



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%!�&'(

)*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*3+*,65*7/08-9*:.;934-,3/2*/7*-*<2-93+5=*:0/:/+-9>*?65*-::0/@-9*,/*:.;93+6*-*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*
8.+,*;5*A3@52*;1*,65*B/.2439C+*B-;325,>*?63+*D/.9=*/291*;5*4/2+3=505=*-7,50*,65*B-;325,*6-@5*05453@5=*-*05:/0,*
/2*-99*,65*4/2+.9,-,3/2*05+:/2+5+>*?63+*3+*-*95A-9*05E.305852,*-+*/.,9325=*32*,65*F46//9*G0A-23+-,3/2*B/=5*HIJK>

?65*B/.2439*D/.9=*:.;93+6*,65*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*/2*3,+*D5;+3,5>*L,*D/.9=*-9+/*:.,*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*-,*/0*25-0*
,65*8-32*52,0-245*,/*,65*+46//9M+NO+3,5M+N*-7754,5=*;1*,65*2/,345>*F46//9+*,6-,*-05*-7754,5=*D/.9=*-9+/*;5*
A3@52*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*,/*A3@5*/.,*,/*:.:39+P*:-052,+P*A.-0=3-2+P*-2=*+,-77*858;50+*M,65*+46//9*8-1*-9+/*
=3+,03;.,5*,65*2/,345*;1*58-39N>*?65*2/,345*+5,+*/.,*,65*=5,-39+*/7*,65*:0/:/+-9+*-2=*-+Q+*-21/25*D6/*D-2,+*
,/*/;R54,*,/*=/*+/>*G;R54,3/2+*8.+,*;5*D03,,52>*?651*8.+,*;5*+52,*,/*,65*B/.2439*D3,632*,65*=-,5+*A3@52*/2*
,65*2/,345>

S(�("T&U��&!U$!V$�W($X"!X!Y�ZY$

B-0=377*B/.2439*B-;325,*D/.9=*=5,508325*,65*:0/:/+-9>*?63+*85-2+*,651*D399*8-Q5*-*<2-9*=543+3/2*/2*D65,650*
,65*46-2A5+*A/*-65-=>*?65*B-;325,*8-1*=543=5*,/*-::0/@5*/0*05R54,*,65*:0/:/+-9P*/0*,651*8-1*-::0/@5*,65*
:0/:/+-9*D3,6*+/85*46-2A5+*M8/=3<4-,3/2+N>*?65*B-;325,*D399*,-Q5*-21*/;R54,3/2+*05453@5=*32*,65*G;R54,3/2*
[503/=*32,/*-44/.2,*D652*8-Q32A*,63+*=543+3/2>*

S('&Y&!U$%!�&\'��&!U$

)7,50*=5,50832-,3/2P*B-0=377*B/.2439*D/.9=*95,*5@501/25*-7754,5=*;1*,65*:0/:/+-9*Q2/D*D6-,*,65*=543+3/2*D-+>*
L,*D399*-9+/*;5*:.;93+65=*/2*,65*B/.2439C+*D5;+3,5>

��

]̂
_̀
ab
cd̀
e
fg
ah
ij
k
k
l_

m
fk
n
o_
ok
d
ap
k
fa
ij
ol
q
fc
d
ar
d
q
ag
k
e
d
sa
t
ck
t
lc
a

u
ò
j
av
q
q
ò
ok
d
rl
aw
cr
fd
od
sa
x
cc
q
_a
yv
wx
z

Page 461



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�'(
)*+,-./,-*012343,4567,8371*/73,9*80,*/26/3,.4,:::;-.8<699;=*>;+?@ABC7-5**218*1*7.27

D3,.83,18*1*76/=,4*E

FGHIJKLMNLGOPLGJMQMJROSGTUGVPLGWTXKOGYQLJRMZGYJPTTZGUKT[G\]GOTĜ]GQZMJLN_GGVPLGNJPTTZG̀TXZaG

OKMINULKGOTGIL̀GbXRZaGMJJT[[TaMORTIGMJKTNNGÒTGNROLNGMOGcMRK̀MOLKGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGMIaGOPLG

JXKKLIOGYOGeLZZTINfGWRgGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGNROLGRIGhZMIKX[ILSG̀ROPGijGQXQRZNGTIGLMJPGNROLGUKT[G

YLQOL[bLKG]k]l_

FGmNOMbZRNPGMG]kGQZMJLGYQLJRMZRNOGnLNTXKJLGoMNLGpYnoqGUTKGQKR[MKSGMrLaGJPRZaKLIG̀ROPGWT[QZLsG

hLMKIRIrGtLLaNGMOGeTTKZMIaGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGUKT[GYLQOL[bLKG]k]]_

dZLMNLGOLZZGXNG̀PLOPLKGSTXGMKLGKLNQTIaRIrGMNGpORJuGMZZGOPMOGMQQZSq

vwxyz{|}w~zw��yz��y|�

w �{��{zw~�w�}y���

vw�~�{z|~z�

w �}�{zw���{y�{w��{�����

vw�zy|��yz{|}�

w x�����ww

vww�~�y�w�{���{|}

��23.73,-*/�80,:56-5,7-5**27,
�*+,.83,.9�26.43<,:645

�_G�TGSTXGNXQQTKOGOPLGQKTQTNMZGOTGRIJKLMNLGOPLGJMQMJROSGTUGVPLGWTXKOGYQLJRMZG
YJPTTZGUKT[G\]GOTĜ]GQZMJLN�

ww���w w w ��w w ��w�x�����

x�{y�{w{ ��y�|w¡��¢

��

£
¤¥
¦§̈
©ª
¦«
¬
§®̄
°
±
±
²¥

³
¬±́
µ¥
µ±
ª
§¶
±
¬§̄
°
µ²
·
¬©
ª
§̧
ª
·
§
±
«
ª
¹§
º
©±
º
²©
§

»
µ¦
°
§¼
·
·
µ¦
µ±
ª̧
²§
½©̧
¬ª
µª
¹§
¾
©©
·
¥§
¿¼
½¾
À

Page 462



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�'&*,$-)&�.()�/!#&'�0%)12*+�01(!!+�'!�,)3�
4#2+5�*11!66!5*'2!,�*1&!$$�'3!�$2')$�*'�7*2&3*')&�8&26*&"�01(!!+�*,5�'()�
1#&&),'�0'�9)++!,$�/2:�8&26*&"�01(!!+�$2')�2,�;+*,&#6,)"<

==>?@= = = AB= = AB=BCDADBA

CEFGHF=FIJEGKL=MNOP

Q�� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�)$'*4+2$(�*�0%)12*+2$'�R)$!#&1)�S*$)�
T0RSU�-!&�%&26*&"�*V)5�1(2+5&),�32'(�/!6%+)W�;)*&,2,V�X))5$�*'�9!!&+*,5�
8&26*&"�01(!!+�-&!6�0)%')64)&��Y��<

==>?@= = AB= = AB=BCDADBA

CEFGHF=FIJEGKL=MNOP

��

Z
[\
]̂
_̀
a
]b
cd̂
e
fg
h
h
i\

j
ch
k
l\
lh
â
mh
ĉ
fg
li
n
c̀
â
oa
n̂
d
h
b
a
p̂
q̀
h
q
ì̂

r
l]
ĝ
s
n
n
l]
lh
a
oî
t̀
oc
a
la
p̂
ù
ǹ
\̂
vs
tu
w

Page 463



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"�#$"!"�%&'�($%&)"*�'+,�#$-&.�(+,/0�-12!+3"�#$"*"�2!+2+*%/*4

5�� !"�#$"!"�%&'�%/#"!&%#-3"�+2#-+&*�'+,�6+,/0�/-."�#+�*,))"*#4

7��8+�'+,�$%3"�%&'�+#$"!�(+11"&#*4

��

9
:;
<=
>
?@
<A
BC
=D
EF
G
G
H;

I
BG
J
K;
KG
@
=L
G
B=
EF
KH
M
B?
@
=N
@
M
=C
G
A
@
O=
P
?G
P
H?
=

Q
K<
F
=R
M
M
K<
KG
@
NH
=S
?N
B@
K@
O=
T
??
M
;=
UR
ST
V

Page 464



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� 

!""# $$

%&$'()&" 

*+,-./01234-567,-809-9,1:031,1-70-7+21-.031;/767203-21<==<>?@ABCAD<=E=FG
HI ()&JKLMN(M$(K&'(�ON ('&(L&K$M" #(�KP(L&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(# L MR "(�S' #('IM$("�' T(

)&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(UMNN(V?W<O (L&JK' "(�$(&OX L'M&K$('&('I (Q#&Q&$�NT(

YOX L'M&K$(L�K(&KNP(O (# ZM$' # "(S&NN&UMKZ(QJONML�'M&K(&S(�($'�'J'&#P(K&'ML T

[S(P&J(UM$I('&(O (K&'M\ "(&S(QJONML�'M&K(&S('I ()&K$JN'�'M&K(# Q&#'(QN �$ (Q#&RM" (�K( ��MN(�""# $$T([S(P&J("&(K&'(Q#&RM" (�K(
 ��MN(�""# $$(U (L�KK&'(]  Q(P&J(JQ('&("�' 

_̂̀Va<b?c<d?D<b?cD<e?BBAVWf
ghÀfA<DAWcDV<W_if<d?DB<W?<W_A<je_??h<kDl̀Vif̀Wi?V<gh̀VViVl<̂ÀBm<n??B<oEFm<p?cVWb<q̀hhm<prFE<ost<Cb<V?<h̀WAD<W_̀V<
==<>?@ABCAD<=E=FG

uvkŝ <wks
x/,61,-:90y25,-z0;9-:017.05,-{,/0|-70-6//0|-;1-70-}09,-6..;967,/z-:23:0237-9,1:035,371~-y2,|1-635-3,,51-{z-69,6��

�+67-|61-z0;9-64,-03-z0;9-/617-{297+56z�-

- �35,9-��- - - �����-- - - �����- - - �����- - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

- �����- - - �����---- - �����- - - ���

�9,-z0;��

- �,}6/,- - -- �6/,- - - �7+,9- - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

�0-z0;-25,3728z-61-6-5216{/,5-:,9103�-

- �,1-- -- - �0- - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z-

x/,61,-72.�-63z-08-7+,-80//0|234-7+67-6::/z-70-z0;�-

- �,68�-�,68,3,5�-�695-08-+,69234- - �21;6/-2}:629},37------- �034�17635234-2//3,11-09-+,6/7+-.03527203-�,�4�-.63.,9�--

- - - - - - - - - 526{,7,1�-09-617+}6�

- �,376/-+,6/7+-528�.;/72,1-- - - �+,,/.+629-;1,9---- - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

- �,693234-2}:629},37-�-528�.;/72,1- - �0{2/27z-2}:629},37- - �7+,9

x/,61,-1:,.28z

�+67-21-z0;9-,7+32.-490;:�-

�+,9,-7+,-7,9}-��92721+~-21-;1,5�-7+21-9,8,91-70-63z-08-7+,-80;9-+0},-3672031-08-�6/,1�- 34/635�-�097+,93-¡9,/635-635-¢.07/635�-09-63z-

.0}{2367203-08-7+,1,�

- �+27,-�-�,/1+� 34/21+�¢.07721+��097+,93-¡921+��92721+-- - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-�634/65,1+2

- �+27,-�-¡921+-- - - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-¡35263

- �+27,-�-£z:1z-09-¡921+-*96y,//,9- - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-�3z-07+,9

-- �+27,-�-�3z-07+,9-|+27,-{6.�490;35- - -- - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-�892.63

-- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-¦-�1263- - - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-¤692{{,63

- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-635-�/6.�-¤692{{,63- - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-�3z-07+,9

-- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-635-�/6.�-�892.63- - �96{

- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�3z-07+,9-- -- - �3z-07+,9-,7+32.-490;:-�:/,61,-1:,.28z�

- �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-¤+23,1,- - -- -

- �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-x6�217632- - - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

*+,-23809}67203-z0;-+6y,-:90y25,5-6{0y,-|27+-{,-:90.,11,5-{z-¤695288-¤0;3.2/-23-/23,-|27+-7+,-�676-x907,.7203-�.7-�§�̈-635-£,3,96/-�676-x907,.7203-©,4;/67203�-*+,-
23809}67203-:90y25,5-70-;1-23-9,/67203-70-7+21-.031;/767203-|2//-{,-79,67,5-61-.03�5,3726/-{;7-27-}6z-{,-;1,5-{z-7+,-¤0;3.2/-09-521./01,5-70-07+,91-|+,3-9,ª;29,5-{z-/6|�-
*+,-:;9:01,-08-:90.,11234-7+,-:,91036/-5676-21-9,ª;29,5-70-:,9809}-6-1:,.2�.-761�1-23-7+,-:;{/2.-237,9,17�-�3z-9,1:031,1-9,.,2y,5-.63-{,-9,ª;,17,5-;35,9-7+,-�9,,50}-
08-¡3809}67203-�.7-635-}6z-+6y,-70-{,-}65,-:;{/2.�-+0|,y,9-63z-23809}67203-7+67-|0;/5-25,3728z-63-2352y25;6/-1;.+-61-36},-635-6559,11-|0;/5-{,-9,}0y,5�
�09-8;97+,9-23809}67203-03-+0|-¤695288-¤0;3.2/-}6364,1-:,91036/-23809}67203�-1,,-0;9-8;//-x92y6.z-x0/2.z-03-7+,-¤0;3.2/~1-|,{127,-
I''Q$«¬¬UUUTL�#"MSSTZ&RTJ]¬�®¬̄&� ¬� U°�21./62},9�x64,1�5,86;/7�61:¥- ��

±
²³́
µ¶
·̧
¹́
º»
µ¼
½¾
¿
¿
À³

Á
º¿
Â
Ã³
Ã¿̧
µÄ
¿
ºµ
½¾
ÃÀ
Å
º·̧
µÆ̧
Å
µ»
¿
¹̧
Çµ
È
·¿
È
À·
µ

É
Ã́
¾
µÊ
Å
Å
Ã́
Ã¿̧
ÆÀ
µË
·Æ
º̧
Ã̧
Çµ
Ì
··
Å
³µ
ÍÊ
ËÌ
Î

Page 465



����������	
��������
���������������������������
��������������������������� �!�"��������
#�$������$�������������"������%�
��&���'��������"������������!$��&�����$�!&�
�����$����������������������������"�����(�)�
*+,-./.01.2,343*,5,*,6.127829,3433,

:;<=>?@ABCDEF>AGE>HD>CG?D>GIG<JGHJD><E>KLG<JJDM>
N>=BCCGLO>IDL=<@E>@P>F;<=>?@ABCDEF><=>GIG<JGHJD>GF>QQQRSTUVWXXRYZ[R\]̂_̀abScZZdeUZeZbTdbf

gEP@LCGF<@E>AGE>GJ=@>HD>CG?D>GIG<JGHJD><E>@F;DL>A@CCBE<FO>JGEhBGhD=><P>EDD?D?M>
iJDG=D>A@EFGAF>B=>@E>jklfkjmnfknkj>F@>GLLGEhD>F;<=M>

Page 466



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$"%#&'!&'("

)&'*#+,-'.#&"

/012340560425607889:;40378<4=0
/0123403>;0?;0@>8@865AB0480C8=0
DEFGHIJKJLEFM
/012803>;0?;0N8A6<:45AB0?542=0
/0O5;?608P0N25:C>;A03AC0Q8<AB0@;8@:;08A042;0@>8@86;C0N23AB;60
/0R8?0N3A0Q8<0SAC08<40T8>;03AC0:;40<609A8?0Q8<>0U5;?6=0
/0V8<>0U5;?603>;05T@8>43A40480<60
WXYIKFKJLEFMEZMJ[\]GMHG[̂MLFMJ_LGM̂ÈH][FJM
aK̀bc\EHF̂M
d_[MeYY\EK̀_MJEMfHYYE\JLFcMeghMLFMDK\̂LZZM
fHZìL[F̀jMLFMJ_[MfY[̀LKIMf[̀JE\M
k[Ec\KY_L̀KIM̂LGJ\LlHJLEFMEZMfY[̀LKILGJMm\EnLGLEFM
DE]YI[XMg[K\FLFcMh[[̂GMKF̂MeHJLG]MfY[̀J\H]MDEF̂LJLEFMYIK̀[GMZE\MI[K\F[\GMKc[̂MooMpMoqM
/0r<>>;A40@>8U5658A0
/0s;T3AC0P8>0@:3N;60
/0t>8u;N4;C0r8T@:;v0w;3>A5AB0x;;Cyz<456T0{@;N4><T0r8AC5458A0{;N8AC3>Q0t236;0s;T3AC0

|*#}#(� "$#*"~++.'.#&� "�}!-.� .('"�!(#,*-!"��(!+"} �-!("�'"��.'-�,*-�"�-�## "

/0�2;0A<T7;>08P0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0s;T3AC0P8>0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0r8AC5458A03AC06<54375:54Q08P06N288:07<5:C5AB60
�HKILJjMKF̂MfJKF̂K\̂GM
/0�64QA0
/01;:620�8U;>AT;A40r34;B8>563458A08P0{N288:60
/01254N2<>N20R5B20{N288:0
�E�M�EHÎMGJKF̂K\̂GMKJMJ_[MG̀_EEIGMl[MKZZ[̀J[̂MljMJ_[M̀_KFc[GM
/0{43AC3>C60
/0�;3N25AB03AC0w;3>A5AB0�v@;>5;AN;60
/0r3>;06<@@8>403AC0B<5C3AN;0
/0w;3C;>625@03AC0T3A3B;T;A40
ê L̂JLEFKIMGHYYE\JMZE\MYHYLIGM
/0�T@3N408A0@<@5:60?5420zCC5458A3:0w;3>A5AB0x;;C60�zwx�0
/0R8?0?8<:C06<@@8>40P8>0@<@5:60?5420�AB:56203603A0zCC5458A3:0w3AB<3B;07;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0@<@5:60>;N;5U5AB0�>;;0{N288:0�;3:607;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0�5A8>54Q0�42A5N0@<@5:607;03PP;N4;C=0
�_KJMK\[MJ_[Ml[F[iJGMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[�M
mEJ[FJLKIM̂LGK̂nKFJKc[GMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[M
eIJ[\FKJLn[MEYJLEFGM̀EFGL̂[\[̂M
�H]KFM�[GEH\̀[GM�KJJ[\GM
d\KFGYE\JM�KJJ[\GM
�Kn[MjEH\MGKjM

|*#}#(� "$#*"'�!"!('�� .(��!&'"#$"�"�}!-.� .('"�!(#,*-!"��(!"�'"�.  #�("�.��"�-�## "

/0�2;0A<T7;>08P0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0s;T3AC0P8>0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0r8AC5458A03AC06<54375:54Q08P06N288:07<5:C5AB60
�HKILJjMKF̂MfJKF̂K\̂GM
/0�64QA0
/01;:620�8U;>AT;A40r34;B8>563458A08P0{N288:60
/015::8?60R5B20{N288:0
�E�M�EHÎMGJKF̂K\̂GMKJMJ_[MG̀_EEIGMl[MKZZ[̀J[̂MljMJ_[M̀_KFc[G�M
/0{43AC3>C60
/0�;3N25AB03AC0w;3>A5AB0�v@;>5;AN;60
/0r3>;06<@@8>403AC0B<5C3AN;0
/0w;3C;>625@03AC0T3A3B;T;A40
ê L̂JLEFKIMGHYYE\JMZE\MYHYLIGM
/0�T@3N408A0@<@5:60?5420zCC5458A3:0w;3>A5AB0x;;C60�zwx�0
/0R8?0?8<:C06<@@8>40P8>0@<@5:60?5420�AB:56203603A0zCC5458A3:0w3AB<3B;07;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0@<@5:60>;N;5U5AB0�>;;0{N288:0�;3:607;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0�5A8>54Q0�42A5N0@<@5:607;03PP;N4;C=0
�_KJMK\[MJ_[Ml[F[iJGMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[�M
mEJ[FJLKIM̂LGK̂nKFJKc[GMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[M
eIJ[\FKJLn[MEYJLEFGM̀EFGL̂[\[̂M
�H]KFM�[GEH\̀[GM�KJJ[\GM
d\KFGYE\JM�KJJ[\GM
�Kn[MjEH\MGKjM

|*#}#(� "$#*"~++.'.#&� "�}!-.� .('"�!(#,*-!"��(!"} �-!("�'"� �&.(�!&"�.��"�-�## "

/0�2;0A<T7;>08P0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0s;T3AC0P8>0@:3N;6034042;06N288:0
/0r8AC5458A03AC06<54375:54Q08P06N288:07<5:C5AB60
�HKILJjMKF̂MfJKF̂K\̂GM
/0�64QA0
/01;:620�8U;>AT;A40r34;B8>563458A08P0{N288:60
/0w:3A562;A0R5B20{N288:0
�E�M�EHÎMGJKF̂K\̂GMKJMJ_[MG̀_EEIGMl[MKZZ[̀J[̂MljMJ_[M̀_KFc[G�M
/0{43AC3>C60
/0�;3N25AB03AC0w;3>A5AB0�v@;>5;AN;60
/0r3>;06<@@8>403AC0B<5C3AN;0
/0w;3C;>625@03AC0T3A3B;T;A40
ê L̂JLEFKIMGHYYE\JMZE\MYHYLIGM
/0�T@3N408A0@<@5:60?5420zCC5458A3:0w;3>A5AB0x;;C60�zwx�0
/0R8?0?8<:C06<@@8>40P8>0@<@5:60?5420�AB:56203603A0zCC5458A3:0w3AB<3B;07;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0@<@5:60>;N;5U5AB0�>;;0{N288:0�;3:607;03PP;N4;C=0
/0R8?0?8<:C0�5A8>54Q0�42A5N0@<@5:607;03PP;N4;C=0
�_KJMK\[MJ_[Ml[F[iJGMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[�M
mEJ[FJLKIM̂LGK̂nKFJKc[GMEZMJ_[MY\EYEG[̂M̀_KFc[M
eIJ[\FKJLn[MEYJLEFGM̀EFGL̂[\[̂M
�H]KFM�[GEH\̀[GM�KJJ[\GM
d\KFGYE\JM�KJJ[\GM
�Kn[MjEH\MGKjM

�� ���

P
age 467



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%��$&'($(!&")#*!'+(,&$�%$"$- (.*"#*!&$/(!�0�.($1"!($"&$2!3�#$45%0,$45+�"(3$

��� �!"#$%��$677*&*�,"#$- (.*"#*!&$/(!�0�.($1"!($ #".(!$"&$8'($9"�*�,$:(,&�(;$

8'($1*!'� $�%$<#",7"%%$:'0�.'$*,$="#(!$>*3'$-.'��#$

?@ABC@DEFGCH@IJ@KLMNCO@MP@PBC@ONBIIL@
?@QCFMDR@JIH@KLMNCO@MP@PBC@ONBIIL@
?@SIDRTPTID@MDR@OETPMGTLTPU@IJ@ONBIIL@GETLRTDVO@
WXYZ[\]̂Y_̀ â\Y_̀Yb̀ĉ
?@dOPUD@
?@eCLOB@fIgCHDFCDP@SMPCVIHTOMPTID@IJ@hNBIILO@
?@ABC@iTOBIK@IJ@jLMDRMJJ@SBEHNB@TD@eMLCO@kTVB@hNBIIL@
lmn̂nmXZ̀̂c\Y_̀Yb̀ĉY\̂\op̂cqommZĉrp̂Ysspq\p̀ r̂]̂\op̂qoY_tpcû
?@hPMDRMHRO@
?@ACMNBTDV@MDR@jCMHDTDV@dvKCHTCDNCO@
?@SMHC@OEKKIHP@MDR@VETRMDNC@
?@jCMRCHOBTK@MDR@FMDMVCFCDP@
ẁ [̀\[m_YẐcXxxmb\̂smb̂xXx[Zĉ
?@yFKMNP@ID@KEKTLO@zTPB@{RRTPTIDML@jCMHDTDV@|CCRO@}{j|~@
?@kIz@zIELR@OEKKIHP@JIH@KEKTLO@zTPB@dDVLTOB@MO@MD@{RRTPTIDML@jMDVEMVC@GC@MJJCNPCR�@
?@kIz@zIELR@KEKTLO@HCNCTgTDV@�HCC@hNBIIL@�CMLO@GC@MJJCNPCR�@
?@kIz@zIELR@�TDIHTPU@dPBDTN@KEKTLO@GC@MJJCNPCR�@

�oY\̂Ybp̂\op̂rp_p�\ĉmŝ\op̂xbmxmcp̀ q̂oY_tpû
�m\p_\[YẐ̀[cỲ�Y_\Ytpĉmŝ\op̂xbmxmcp̀ q̂oY_tp̂
wZ\pb_Y\[�p̂mx\[m_ĉqm_c[̀pbp̀^
lX�Y_̂�pcmXbqpĉ�Y\\pbĉ
�bY_cxmb\̂�Y\\pbĉ
lY�p̂]mXb̂cY]̂

?@ABC@DEFGCH@IJ@KLMNCO@MP@PBC@ONBIIL@
?@QCFMDR@JIH@KLMNCO@MP@PBC@ONBIIL@
?@SIDRTPTID@MDR@OETPMGTLTPU@IJ@ONBIIL@GETLRTDVO@
WXYZ[\]̂Y_̀ â\Y_̀Yb̀ĉ
?@dOPUD@
?@eCLOB@fIgCHDFCDP@SMPCVIHTOMPTID@IJ@hNBIILO@
?@�OVIL@fUJED@fUFHMCV@fLMDPMJ@
lmn̂nmXZ̀̂c\Y_̀Yb̀ĉY\̂\op̂cqommZĉrp̂Ysspq\p̀ r̂]̂\op̂qoY_tpcû
?@hPMDRMHRO@
?@ACMNBTDV@MDR@jCMHDTDV@dvKCHTCDNCO@
?@SMHC@OEKKIHP@MDR@VETRMDNC@
?@jCMRCHOBTK@MDR@FMDMVCFCDP@
ẁ [̀\[m_YẐcXxxmb\̂smb̂xXx[Zĉ
?@yFKMNP@ID@KEKTLO@zTPB@{RRTPTIDML@jCMHDTDV@|CCRO@}{j|~@
?@kIz@zIELR@OEKKIHP@JIH@KEKTLO@zTPB@dDVLTOB@MO@MD@{RRTPTIDML@jMDVEMVC@GC@MJJCNPCR�@
?@kIz@zIELR@KEKTLO@HCNCTgTDV@�HCC@hNBIIL@�CMLO@GC@MJJCNPCR�@
?@kIz@zIELR@�TDIHTPU@dPBDTN@KEKTLO@GC@MJJCNPCR�@
�oY\̂Ybp̂\op̂rp_p�\ĉmŝ\op̂xbmxmcp̀ q̂oY_tpû
�m\p_\[YẐ̀[cỲ�Y_\Ytpĉmŝ\op̂xbmxmcp̀ q̂oY_tp̂
wZ\pb_Y\[�p̂mx\[m_ĉqm_c[̀pbp̀^
lX�Y_̂�pcmXbqpĉ�Y\\pbĉ
�bY_cxmb\̂�Y\\pbĉ
lY�p̂]mXb̂cY]̂

�,%��+"&*�,$�(#(�",&$&�$"##$ �� �!"#!$

lmn̂nmXZ̀̂\op̂qoY_tpĉYsspq\̂m\opb̂cqommZcû
ẁ�[cc[m_̂YbbY_tp�p_\ĉ
�pYb_pb̂�bY�pẐwbbY_tp�p_\ĉ
�[_Y_q[YẐ�Y\\pbĉ
lpYZ\ô�bm�[c[m_̂
�m�pb_Y_qp̂wbbY_tp�p_\ĉ
��xYq\̂mŝ\op̂xbmxmcYZĉm_̂\op̂�pZcô�Y_tXYtp̂
��XYZ[\[pĉ
�m��X_[\]̂��xYq\̂
�pZZrp[_t̂mŝ�X\Xbp̂�p_pbY\[m_ĉ
�m\p_\[YẐ�[cbXx\[m_̂\m̂�Xx[Zĉ
�p�\̂c\pxc�̂omn̂\m̂�Y�p̂]mXb̂�[pnĉ�_mn_̂Y_̀ ŝpp̀rYq�̂smb�^
?@eBMP@BMKKCDO@DCvP�@
?@�CU@QMPCO@
?@SIDOELPMPTID@KCHTIR@
?@hPMPEPIHU@|IPTNC@
?@�G�CNPTID@�CKIHP@
?@QCPCHFTDMPTID@IJ@PBC@KHIKIOMLO@
?@QCNTOTID@|IPT�NMPTID@

>"�($5�0�$!"5$

?@SIDOELPMPTID@HCOKIDOC@JIHF@

�� ���

P
age 468



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%!�&

'()*+,-+*(,-+.//012*+)./3*4+

56789:;;<=>?9789@;A9BCA>D?8E9FCA>A8G98F6;;=98?C@@G98F6;;=9H;I>AD;A89CDJ9CDK;D>9L6;96C89CD97D?>A>8?97D9

>JMFC?7;D97D9NCAJ7@@O9P?9L7==9:>9;@9BCA?7FM=CA97D?>A>8?9?;9BCA>D?8E9FCA>A89;@9F67=JA>D9CDJ9K;MDH9B>;B=>9

C??>DJ7DH9;A9>QB>F?7DH9?;9C??>DJ98B>F7C=98F6;;=89;A9RB>F7C=78?9S>8;MAF>89TC8>89CDJ9?6;8>9?6C?96CI>9;A9

FMAA>D?=K9L;A<9L7?69F67=JA>D9CDJ9K;MDH9B>;B=>9L7?69UJJ7?7;DC=9V>CAD7DH9W>>J89XUVWYO9

P?98>?89;M?9C9ACDH>9;@9BA;B;8C=89?;97DFA>C8>9?6>9DMZ:>A9;@98B>F7C=78?9A>8;MAF>9B=CF>89@;A9=>CAD>A89

CH>J9[[\[]9L7?69F;ZB=>Q9=>CAD7DH9D>>J8G9CDJ9CM?78Z98B>F?AMZ9F;DJ7?7;D9CDJ9?6>9A>C8;D89@;A9?6>8>9

BA;B;8>J9F6CDH>8O9

'()*+)̂2+_2+̀̂/̀/-,ab+*/+c/4+

5;9Z>>?9?6>9J>ZCDJ9@;A98>F;DJCAK98B>F7C=78?9A>8;MAF>9B=CF>89@;A9=>CAD>A89L7?69F;ZB=>Q9=>CAD7DH9D>>J897?9

789BA;B;8>J9?;d9

e+,af̂2)-2+*(2+c2-,ba)*2c+a3g.2̂+)*+*(2+'(,*f(3̂f(+h,b(+if(//1+ì2f,)1,-*+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+

l̂/g+mn+*/+onn+l̂/g+i2̀*2g.2̂+pnpp+

e+2-*).1,-(+)+qn+̀1)f2+ì2f,)1,-*+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+)*+',11/_-+h,b(+if(//1+l̂/g+i2̀*2g.2̂+pnpq+

5;9Z>>?9J>ZCDJ9@;A98>F;DJCAK98B>F7C=78?9A>8;MAF>9BA;I787;D9@;A9=>CAD>A89L7?69UM?78Z9RB>F?AMZ9N;DJ7?7;D9

7?9789BA;B;8>J9?;d9

e+,af̂2)-2+*(2+c2-,ba)*2c+a3g.2̂+)*+*(2+r1)a,-(2a+h,b(+if(//1+ì2f,)1,-*+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+l̂/g+

pn+*/+st+̀1)f2-+l̂/g+i2̀*2g.2̂+pnpp+

e+,af̂2)-2+*(2+c2-,ba)*2c+a3g.2̂+)*+u(2+v)̂,/a+w2a*̂2+ì2f,)1,-*+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+l̂/g+sp+*/+

xx+̀1)f2-+l̂/g+i2̀*2g.2̂+pnpp+

e+2-*).1,-(+)+qn+̀1)f2+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+)*+y-b/1+z{l3a+z{g)̂2b+z1)a*)l+)1/ab-,c2+*(2+2|,-*,ab+

qn+̀1)f2+ì2f,)1,-*+j2-/3̂f2+k)-2+l̂/g+i2̀*2g.2̂+pnpq+

}=>C8>9D;?>9?6C?9?6>9J>I>=;BZ>D?9;@9?6>8>9BA;B;8C=89789C?9CD9>CA=K98?CH>O9UDK9J>?C7=>J98F6;;=9J>87HD9;A9

87?>9=CK;M?89L;M=J9:>9F;D87J>A>J9C?9C9=C?>A9JC?>O956>A>9L;M=J9:>9;BB;A?MD7?7>89?;9F;ZZ>D?9;D9J>?C7=>J9

B=CD89C?9?6>9BA>\B=CDD7DH9CDJ9B=CDD7DH9CBB=7FC?7;D98?CH>8G986;M=J9?6>9BA;B;8C=9:>9BA;HA>88>JO9

~>9CA>9C=8;9F;D8M=?7DH9;D98>BCAC?>9BA;B;8C=89?;97DFA>C8>9BA;I787;D9@;A9=>CAD>A89L7?69�Z;?7;DC=9�>C=?69

CDJ9~>==:>7DH9W>>J89CH>J9[[9�9[]9CDJ9BA;I787;D9@;A9=>CAD>A89L7?69F;ZB=>Q9=>CAD7DH9D>>J89CDJ9CM?78Z9

8B>F?AMZ9F;DJ7?7;D9CH>J9�9�9[]9C?9C9ACDH>9;@98F6;;=89CFA;889NCAJ7@@O9

�;M9FCD98>>9Z;A>9J>?C7=9;D9?6>8>9BA;B;8C=89C?9��������������������������������������

�!��#����%!�&

'(/+)̂2+_2+f/a-31*,ab+_,*(4+

56>9F;D8M=?C?7;D9BA;F>889ZM8?9@;==;L9?6>9~>=869�;I>ADZ>D?9HM7J>=7D>89C898>?9;M?97D9?6>9RF6;;=9

�AHCD78C?7;D9N;J>9� [¡O9

U89BCA?9;@9?6789L>9CA>9C8<7DH9B>;B=>9L6C?9?6>K9?67D<9C:;M?9?6>9F6CDH>89L>9CA>9BA;B;87DHO956>A>9CA>9C9

DMZ:>A9;@9LCK89B>;B=>9FCD9?>==9M89?6>7A9I7>L8O9

u).12+o¢+ẑ/3̀-+*(2+w/3af,1+,-+f/a-31*,ab+_,*(+

N67=JA>D9CDJ9K;MDH9B>;B=>9 ~>=869£7D78?>A89

}CA>D?8EFCA>A89 ¤����¥�¦�§��̈¥�§�̈ �̈����©¥��

RF6;;=98?C@@9 N>D?AC=9R;M?69N;D8;A?7MZ9ª;7D?9�JMFC?7;D9R>AI7F>9
XNRNª�RY9

RF6;;=9�;I>AD7DH9T;J7>89 ~>=869VCDHMCH>9N;ZZ7887;D>A9

V;FC=9A>87J>D?89 S67>D79JA;89UJJK8H9�KZAC>H9XS6U�Y9

N;ZZMD7?K9N;MDF7=89 5ACJ>9«D7;D89

V;FC=9£>Z:>A8EU88>Z:=K9£>Z:>A89XU£8YE9S>H7;DC=9
U88>Z:=K9£>Z:>A8E£>Z:>A9;@9}CA=7CZ>D?9X£}8Y9

N67=JFCA>9BA;I7J>A89

¬7;F>8CD9¬7A>F?;A89;@9�JMFC?7;D9 £MJ7CJ9£>7?6A7D9

W>7H6:;MA7DH9UM?6;A7?7>89 ~C=>89}A>\RF6;;=9}A;I7J>A89U88;F7C?7;D9

W>7H6:;MA7DH9}A7ZCAK9CDJ9R>F;DJCAK98F6;;=89L7?67D9
NCAJ7@@9

N=K:7CM9}=CD?9NKZAM97J89N=M:9

�8?KD9 WC?7;DC=9¬CK9WMA8>A7>89U88;F7C?7;D9

N;ZZMD7?7>89®7A8?9}CA?D>A867B9 ~>=869�JMFC?7;D9®;AMZ9

NCAJ7@@9CDJ9̄C=>9�>C=?69T;CAJ9 5AC@°F9N;ZZ7887;D>A9@;A9~C=>89

V;FC=9:M87D>88>8E;AHCD78C?7;D89 ;̄=MD?CAK9R>F?;A9�AHCD78C?7;D89

±,2_-+/l+f(,1ĉ2a+)ac+{/3ab+̀2/̀12+/a+*(2+̀̂/̀/-2c+f()ab2-+

NCAJ7@@9789C9N67=J9®A7>DJ=K9N7?KG9CDJ9?6>9I7>L89;@9F67=JA>D9CDJ9K;MDH9B>;B=>9CA>9<>K9?;9?6>9LCK9>JMFC?7;D9

789J>=7I>A>JO9P?97897ZB;A?CD?9?6C?9L6>D9:A7DH7DH9@;ALCAJ9BA;B;8C=8G98M7?C:=>9CAACDH>Z>D?89CA>9ZCJ>9?;9

F;D8M=?9L7?69BMB7=8O956>9N;MDF7=9L7==9F;D8M=?9L7?69BMB7=897D9?6>98F6;;=897DF=MJ>J9C89BCA?9;@9?6>8>9BA;B;8C=89

CDJ9?6>97D@;AZC?7;D9HC?6>A>J97D9?6>8>98>887;D89L7==9:>97DF=MJ>J97D9?6>9°DC=9F;D8M=?C?7;D9A>B;A?O9

h/_+{/3+f)a+²ac+/3*+g/̂2+)ac+12*+3-+0a/_+{/3̂+³,2_-4+

56789F;D8M=?C?7;D9J;FMZ>D?9CDJ9C9F;D8M=?C?7;D9A>8B;D8>9@;AZ9CA>9CIC7=C:=>9;D9?6>9N;MDF7=9L>:87?>9C?9

��������������������������������������

P@9K;M9CA>9MDC:=>9?;9CFF>889?6>9J;FMZ>D?89;D=7D>G9BA7D?>J9F;B7>89L7==9:>9CIC7=C:=>9:K9B;8?9;D9A>́M>8?O9�;M9

ZCK9A>́M>8?9C9F;BK9:K9>\ZC7=7DH9�������¥���©�¥�µ��������������9;A9:K9?>=>B6;D7DH9¶·̧�·¶¹º�·º·¶O9

�� ºº�

P
age 469



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !""�#$%!&��'#(!"!�&� !)*�+*!"$,�-�#)�)*��#&&.+!#)�$�&+*.."&�.-�*. �)*�/�+#-�#++�&&�#�+.0/�.'�

)*��$.+1(�-)2�

3-'.,(#)!.-� !""�#"&.�4��0,.%!$�$�).�,�&!$�-)&�#-$�41&!-�&&�&�!-�+".&��0,.5!(!)/�).�)*��&+*.."�&!)�&�

!-+"1$�$�!-�)*��0,.0.&#"&2�

6-"!-��(��)!-7&� !""�4��*�"$� *�,��)*��+*#-7�&� ��#,��0,.0.&!-7� !""�4���50"#!-�$2�8.1� !""�*#%��)*��

.00.,)1-!)/�).�#&9�:1�&)!.-&�#&�0#,)�.'�)*�&��&�&&!.-&2�3'�/.1� .1"$�"!9��).�#))�-$�#-�.-"!-��(��)!-7;�

0"�#&��+.-)#+)�1&�%!#��<(#!"�).�=>?@@ABC=D@E=C=F>GBHIJJKL@MKNO�+.-P,(!-7� *!+*�(��)!-7�/.1� .1"$�

"!9��).�#))�-$�#-$� �� !""�0,.%!$��#�"!-9�#-$�!-&),1+)!.-&�.-�*. �/.1�+#-�#++�&&�)*!&�(��)!-72�

Q.1-+!"�.'P+�,&� !""�(��)� !)*�)*��R.%�,-!-7�S.$!�&�#-$�&)#''�.'�)*��#&&.+!#)�$�&+*.."&2�

8.1�+#-�#"&.� ,!)��).�)*��Q.1-+!"�).�)�""�1&� *#)�/.1�)*!-92�

T*��$#)�&�.'�)*��014"!+�+.-&1")#)!.-�(��)!-7&�#,��&�)�.1)�4�". U�

VWXYZ[\][̂_̀abYcWcd_̀[eZZcd̀f[gWcZa[

hWcbiZ[_j[k_̀abYcWcd_̀[gWcZlVdmZ[ nZ̀bZ[

o14"!+�(��)!-7� ��$-�&$#/�pq�r#-1#,/�stss�uUvt0(� 6-"!-��%!#�w!+,.&.')�T�#(&�

x,.0�!-�&�&&!.-&� 6-�,�:1�&)�4/��(#!"!-7�
&+*..",�&0.-&�&y+#,$!''27.%219�

6-"!-��%!#�w!+,.&.')�T�#(&�

z_bi[{dZ|a[WiZ[dm}_icẀc[c_[ba[

8.1,�%!� &�(#))�,�#-$� �� #-)�/.1�).�)�""�1&� *#)�/.1�)*!-9�#4.1)�)*��+*#-7�&� ��*#%��&177�&)�$�!-�)*!&�
$.+1(�-)2�

8.1�+#-�$.�)*!&�4/U�

~��))�-$!-7�.-��.'�)*��(��)!-7&�.,�$,.0<!-�&�&&!.-&�"!&)�$�#4.%�2�

~�Q.(0"�)!-7�)*��.-"!-��,�&0.-&��'.,(�#)����K>GBHIJJKL@MKNO����=>?@@ADB@D@=GA=�

~�Q.(0"�)!-7�)*��+.-&1")#)!.-�,�&0.-&��'.,(;� *!+*�/.1�+#-�P-$�.-�0#7���q2�

~�Q.-)#+)!-7�)*���+*.."�6,7#-!&#)!.-�o"#--!-7�T�#(�4/��<(#!"�).�=>?@@ABC=D@E=C=F>GBHIJJKL@MKNO;�

4/�)�"�0*.-��.-��tsq��st���s�st�.,�4/�0.&)�).��..(��tp;�Q.1-)/��#"";�Q#,$!'';�Q�pt����2�T*!&�

+#-�!-+"1$��,�:1�&)!-7�#-�.'P+�,�+#""�4#+9�!'�/.1�*#%��#�&0�+!P+�:1�&)!.-�)*#)�/.1�'��"�/.1� .1"$�

"!9��'1,)*�,�!-'.,(#)!.-�#4.1)2�

V�Z[kY_ad̀f[�WcZ[j_i[iZa}_̀aZa[c_[c�da[k_̀abYcWcd_̀[da[�[�ZXibWi�[\�\\[

T*��Q.1-+!"�!&�-.)�#4"��).�+.-&!$�,�#-/�+.-&1")#)!.-�,�&0.-&�&�,�+�!%�$�#')�,�)*!&�$#)�2�

��������������� ¡¢£¤�¥¤¡¦�����§�¤�¦�̈¥£¡���

©YZWaZ[̀_cZ[c�Z[j_YY_|d̀f[cZima[baZ�[c�i_bf�_bc[c�da[�_kbmZ̀c][

ª�mdaad_̀[hbmXZi[<�#""�(#!-)#!-�$�&+*.."&�#$(!)�010!"&�10�).�#)�"�#&)�)*�!,�o14"!&*�$��$(!&&!.-�

«1(4�,2�T*��#$(!&&!.-�-1(4�,�!&�)*��-1(4�,�.'�010!"�0"#+�&�#%#!"#4"��!-��#+*�/�#,�7,.102�

ª¬h�<��$$!)!.-#"��#,-!-7�«��$&2���+*!"$�.,�/.1-7�0�,&.-�!&�+.-&!$�,�$�).�*#%���$$!)!.-#"��#,-!-7�

«��$&�!'�)*�/�*#%��$!'P+1")!�&�)*#)�*#%��#�&!7-!P+#-)�".-7<)�,(�!(0#+)�.-�)*�!,�"�#,-!-72�x!'P+1")!�&�(#/�

4��,�"#)�$�).�"�#,-!-7®�+.((1-!+#)!.-�#-$�!-)�,#+)!.-®�#�0*/&!+#"�.,�&�-&.,/�$!&#4!"!)/®�.,�4�*#%!.1,#"�

�(.)!.-#"�#-$�&.+!#"�$�%�".0(�-)2���«�!&�&.(�)!(�&�,�'�,,�$�).�#&��0�+!#"�̄$1+#)!.-#"�«��$&�2�

_̂mmb̀dc�[°k�__Ya�±�#�0,!(#,/�.,�&�+.-$#,/�&+*.."� *�,��)*��Q.1-+!"�#,,#-7�&�&+*.."�#$(!&&!.-&2�

_̂m}YZ²[¬ZWìd̀f[hZZ�a�<�+*!"$,�-�#-$�/.1-7�0�.0"�� !)*�Q.(0"�5��#,-!-7�«��$&�*#%��#�,#-7��.'�

!&&1�&�³�+.(4!-#)!.-�.'�"#/�,�$�-��$&2�T*�&��+.1"$�!-+"1$��-��$&�,�"#)�$�).�"�#,-!-7;�+.((1-!+#)!.-;�

0*/&!+#"�.,�&�-&.,/�$!&#4!"!)!�&2�

ḿ_cd_̀WY[µZWYc�[Ẁ�[¶ZYYXZd̀f[hZZ�a�±�+*!"$,�-�#-$�/.1-7�0�.0"�� !)*�̄(.)!.-#"���#")*�#-$�

��""4�!-7�«��$&�*#%��!&&1�&� !)*�)*!-9!-7;�'��"!-7�#-$�4�*#%!-72�T*!&�!(0#+)&�.-�(#-#7!-7�*. �"!'��

#''�+)&�)*�(;�*. �)*�/�+.0�;�*. �)*�/��-7#7�� !)*�.)*�,&;�)*��+*.!+�&�)*�/�(#9�2��.(�)!(�&�)*!&�!&�#&�

#�,�&1")�.'�),#1(#2�Q*!"$,�-�#-$�/.1-7�0�.0"��(#/�$!&0"#/�#-5!�)/;�". �&�"'<�&)��(;�&+*.."�0*.4!#;�.,�

4�*#%!.1,#"�$!'P+1")!�&2�

�́bkWcd_̀[·c�Zi[V�Ẁ[Wc[°k�__Y[̧́·Vª°¹[<��$1+#)!.-�0,.%!&!.-�).�(��)�&0�+!P+�-��$&�.'�010!"&� *.;�

'.,�%#,!.1&�,�#&.-&;�+#--.)�#))�-$�#�(#!-&),�#(�.,�&0�+!#"�&+*.."2�̄6T���,�'�,&�).��$1+#)!.-�0,.%!$�$�

4/�)*��".+#"�#1)*.,!)/�#-$�$.�&�-.)��-+.(0#&&��"�+)!%��*.(���$1+#)!.-2�

eWd̀aciZWm�<�#�(#!-&),�#(�&+*.."�!&�#�&+*.."�,1-�4/�)*��Q.1-+!"� *!+*�!&�-.)�#�&0�+!#"�&+*.."2�Q.1-+!"�

(#!-)#!-�$�(#!-&),�#(º&0�+!#"�&+*.."&�#,��-.)�&�"�+)!%��#-$�$.�-.)�,�:1!,��&)1$�-)&�).�0#/�'��&2�

hbmXZi[_̀[»_YY[�WcW[<�)*��-1(4�,�.'�010!"&�#)�#�&+*.."��-.)�!-+"1$!-7�-1,&�,/�010!"&�2�

©¬ª°̂�<�o10!"��%�"��--1#"��+*.."�Q�-&1&2�3-�r#-1#,/�.'��%�,/�/�#,;�)*����"&*�R.%�,-(�-)�+.""�+)&�

!-'.,(#)!.-�',.(�&+*.."&2�T*!&�!-+"1$�&�)*��-1(4�,�.'�010!"&�#)��#+*�&+*..";�)*�!,�#7��7,.10&;�*.(��

#$$,�&&�&;��)*-!+!)/;�#-$�$#)#�.-���"&*�"#-71#7�;��0�+!#"�̄$1+#)!.-#"�«��$&;�P,&)�"#-71#7��#-$�010!"&�

 *.�*#%���,����+*.."�w�#"&2�

°k�__Y[ªkcd_̀�<� *�-�#�+"#&&�.,�&14¼�+)�)�#+*�,�7!%�&��5),#�&100.,)�).�#�010!"� !)*�#$$!)!.-#"�

"�#,-!-7�-��$&2�

°k�__Y[ªkcd_̀[©Yba�<� *�-�.1)&!$��&0�+!#"!&)&�*�"0�)*��+"#&&�.,�&+*.."�&)#''�).�7!%���5),#�&100.,)�).�

#�010!"� !)*�#$$!)!.-#"�"�#,-!-7�-��$&2�T*!&�!&�$!''�,�-)�.,�#$$!)!.-#"�).�)*��&100.,)�0,.%!$�$�)*,.17*�

�+*.."��+)!.-2�

°}ZkdWY[°k�__Y�±�#�&+*.."�'.,�+*!"$,�-� !)*�#-�#$$!)!.-#"�"�#,-!-7�-��$�.,�$!&#4!"!)/;� *.&��-��$&�

+#--.)�4��(�)�!-�#�(#!-&),�#(�&+*.."2�T*��010!"&�#)�#�&0�+!#"�&+*.."�*#%��#�&)#)�(�-)�.'��̄«;�.,�#-�

3-$!%!$1#"�x�%�".0(�-)�o"#-��3xo�2�

�� ½½�

P
age 470



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#$%�"&'(��$) "�*+*,*-./00*10/--*23*/*./23-456/.*-17880*985*:;:20-*<247*-2=32>1/34*/??24283/0*

06/5323=*366?-@*,00*:;:20-*/4463?23=*/*-:612/02-4*56-8;516*A/-6*7/B6*/*-4/46.634*89*CDE*/3?*/56*4/;=74*

AF*-:612/02-4*46/1765-*/3?*06/5323=*-;::854*/--2-4/34-G*/3?*7/B6*8::854;32426-*48*06/53G*:0/F*85*-812/02-6*

<247*84765*./23-456/.*:;:20-@*

H�!!I��JK$L! ""�"*+*M/5?299*/0-8*9;3?-*-6B65/0*<600A623=*10/--6-*<7217*:58B2?6*-7854*465.*23463-2B6*

-;::854*985*1720?563*/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*?2-:0/F23=*6.84283/0*76/047*/3?*<600A623=*366?-G*48*-;::854*47625*

183423;6?*:0/16.634*23*47625*081/0*./23-456/.*-17880@*N0/16.634*23*/*O600A623=*M0/--*2-*46.:85/5F*985*

836*F6/5P*476*1720?*56./23-*83*5800*/4*47625*081/0*-17880G*/3?*476F*/56*-;::8546?*48*564;53*9;00*42.6*48*47625*

081/0*-17880*AF*476*63?*89*476*:58=5/..6@*

QRSTUVWXYZ[

M/5?299\-*]̂_̂*B2-283*985*6?;1/4283*/3?*06/5323=*23*M/5?299*-64-*/*=8/0*89*,*̀6/5323=*D342406.634G*23*

<7217*/00*1720?563*/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*/56*/A06*48P*

a*/116--*/::58:52/46*58;46-*2348*6?;1/4283*/3?*06/5323=*8::854;32426-*

a*4752B6*/3?*9;0>0*47625*:846342/0*

a*56/02-6*47625*23?2B2?;/0*?56/.-*/3?*/.A24283-*

b3*85?65*48*2.:58B6*8;418.6-*985*M/5?299\-*.8-4*B;0365/A06*06/5365-G*./3F*89*<78.*9/16*A/55265-*48*

63=/=6.634*23*6?;1/4283*/3?*06/5323=G*/??56--23=*236c;/024F*2-*d6F@*

M/5?299\-*]̂_̂*B2-283*2-*/B/20/A06*48*B26<*/4*1/5?299@=8B@;de1/5?299]̂_̂*

fgh[ijjVWRSg[kW[lXjjWVkmYU[iZZmkmWYRn[ohRVYmYU[phhZq[mY[
rRVZmss[

,3*6996142B6G*2310;-2B6*/::58/17*48*-;::85423=*/??24283/0*06/5323=*366?-*23*M/5?299*2310;?6-*476*98008<23=*

:52312:06-P*

a*C17880-*/3?*-64423=-*47/4*?602B65*/3*2338B/42B6*1;5521;0;.*<247*6996142B6*<7806*-17880*/::58/176-*48*

46/1723=*/3?*06/5323=G*6.84283/0*76/047*/3?*<600A623=@*

a*Dt1600634*-:612/02-4*-65B216-*48*637/316*476*1/:/124F*89*-17880-*/3?*84765*-64423=-*48*2310;?6*1720?563*

/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*<247*/*5/3=6*89*/??24283/0*06/5323=*366?-@*

a*D996142B6*6/50F*2?6342>1/4283*/3?*56-6/517+A/-6?*23465B634283*48*:56B634*476*6-1/0/4283*89*/??24283/0*

06/5323=*366?-*<7656B65*:8--2A06@*

a*u2=7*06B60-*89*/116--2A2024F*23*6B65F*-17880*A;20?23=*<247*-;9>12634*v6t2A06*/118..8?/4283*23*6B65F*

-17880*/::58:52/46*48*476*/=6*/3?*-4/=6*89*06/5323=@*

a*C4583=*:/54365-72:-*48*63-;56*/*7802-421G*1800/A85/42B6*56-:83-6*48*/*1720?*85*F8;3=*:65-83\-*

/??24283/0*06/5323=*366?-*w2310;?23=*76/047G*1720?563*/3?*/?;04*-65B216-G*6/50F*F6/5-*/3?*x;54765*

D?;1/4283*:58B2?65-y@*

a*D996142B6*.;042+/=631F*45/3-24283*:0/3323=*/4*6B65F*-4/=6G*958.*6/50F*F6/5-*4758;=7*48*:52./5FG*

-6183?/5FG*:8-4*z{*/3?*/?;04*?6-423/4283-G*48*-;::854*/?.2--283*<2478;4*?60/F@*

|76*3;.A65*89*1720?563*/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*56c;2523=*-:612/02-4*:0/16.634*/-*/*56-;04*89*47625*06/5323=*

?2-/A202426-*7/-*A663*23156/-23=*23*M/5?299*8B65*476*0/-4*}*F6/5-G*/3?*-46:-*<656*4/d63*23*]̂z~*48*23156/-6*

476*3;.A65*89*-:612/02-4*:0/16-*/B/20/A06@*

|76*:58:8-/0-*-64*8;4*23*472-*183-;04/4283*?81;.634*-66d*48*2.:58B6*/116--*48*6?;1/4283*23*0236*<247*476*

/A8B6*:52312:06-*89*2310;-283@*

lXs�SmhYS�[mY[kgh[ljhSmRn[lhSkWV[

M/5?299*M8;3120*2-*18..2446?*48*476*:52312:06-*89*2310;-283@*|76*./�8524F*89*06/5365-*<247*,??24283/0*

6̀/5323=*E66?-*w,̀Ey*/4463?*/*081/0*./23-456/.*-17880G*/3?*A636>4*958.*6996142B6*,??24283/0*̀6/5323=*

N58B2-283*w,̀Ny@*|76-6*06/5365-*?8*384*366?*48*/4463?*/*-:612/0*-17880*85*C:612/02-4*�6-8;516*�/-6@*

u8<6B65G*24*2-*5618=32-6?*47/4*23*85?65*48*4752B6*/3?*9;0>0*47625*:846342/0G*1720?563*/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*<247*

476*.8-4*18.:06t*/??24283/0*06/5323=*366?-*56c;256*/116--*48*476*-:612/02-4*63B2583.634-*/3?*6t:6542-6*

89*/*-:612/0*-17880*85*C:612/02-4*�6-8;516*�/-6*

|76*3;.A65*89*:;:20-*<247*-6B656*/3?*18.:06t*366?-G*<78*366?*/*:0/16*23*/*-:612/0*-17880*85*-:612/02-4*

56-8;516*A/-6*7/-*183423;6?*48*=58<@*

|72-*2-*A61/;-6*89P*

a*N;:20*:8:;0/4283*17/3=6-G*<247*0/5=65*187854-*89*:52./5F*-17880*/=6*:;:20-*38<*.8B23=*4758;=7*48*

476*-6183?/5F*/=6*:7/-6@*

a*b.:58B6?*-;5B2B/0*5/46-*985*1720?563*A853*<247*-2=32>1/34*?2-/A202426-G*56-;0423=*23*/*72=765*3;.A65*89*

:;:20-*<247*-6B656*/3?*18.:06t*?2-/A202426-@*

a*b3156/-6?*18.:06t24F*23*366?-G*<7217*7/-*.6/34*47/4*476*?6./3?*985*-:612/02-4*:58B2-283*7/-*

183423;6?*48*=58<@*|76*5/3=6*89*6t:6542-6G*-:612/02-4*-;::854*/3?*9/1202426-*56c;256?*23*-:612/0*-17880-*

/3?*-:612/02-4*56-8;516*A/-6-*7/-*/0-8*23156/-6?@*

a*b3156/-6?*2312?6316*/3?*2?6342>1/4283*89*-:612>1*366?-*-;17*/-*/;42-.G*,�u�G*:7F-21/0*?2-/A202426-*

/3?*-63-85F*2.:/25.634-@*

a*�856*1720?563*/3?*F8;3=*:68:06*<247*6.84283/0*76/047*/3?*<600A623=*366?-@*|72-*</-*/*4563?*

A69856*M��b�*z�*A;4*7/-*A663*6t/165A/46?*AF*-17880*108-;56-*/3?*84765*.6/-;56-*48*./3/=6*476*

:/3?6.21@*

����� �����

P
age 471



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� ! "�#�$%�&���'()�*�)"+�! ,%"+)�*�!,&%%-!�'"�.)�+'//�&%!��!� ,')-'!��� !%0�, �$)! ���%1'!'%"2�3%( �

)� �+ !'4")� +��%�!0��%���,&'-+� "�5'�&�,%(�- 6�- )�"'"4�"  +!�5&%�� 70'� �)�!� ,')-'!��,0��',0-0(�

�)04&��'"�)�!()--�,-)!!� "1'�%"( "�8�!%( �)� �+ !'4")� +�/%��- )�" �!�5'�&�)0�'!(�!� ,��0(�,%"+'�'%"�

%��& )�'"4�'(�)'�( "�!�5&%�� 70'� �!� ,')-'!��!0��%����%�),, !!�()'"!�� )(�- )�"'"4#�5'�&�),, !!��%�)�

"0��0�'"4�$)! �/%��!%( �- )�"'"4�)"+�0"!��0,�0� +��'( 2�

9& ��0��%! �%/�)�3� ,')-'!��: !%0�, �;)! �'!��%� ")$- �- )�" �!�5'�&�- )�"'"4�+'/<,0-�' !��%�!0,,  +�'"�)�

()'"!�� )(�!,&%%-� "1'�%"( "�2�=0�'-!�)� ��)04&��'"�)�!()--�,-)!!�$*�!� ,')-'!��!�)//�)"+�$ " <��/�%(�

)�!� ,')-'!��,0��',0-0(#�5&'- �$ " <�'"4�/�%(��& �/0--��)"4 �%/� +0,)�'%"�%��%��0"'�' !�)1)'-)$- ��%�)--�

�0�'-!�)���& �!,&%%-2�

����& � "+�%/�>)�,&�?@?A#��& � �5 � �?#?BC�,&'-+� "�'"�.)�+'//�5'�&�)�!�)� ( "��%/�3� ,')-�D+0,)�'%"�

E  +!2��!��& ��%�0-)�'%"�4�%5!#�!%�5'--��& �"0($ ��%/�,&'-+� "�)"+�*%0"4�� %�- �5'�&�!'4"'<,)"��)"+�

,%(�- 6��++'�'%")-�F )�"'"4�E  +!2�

G"�?@?@H?AI�

J�A#AAB��-), !�'"�3� ,')-'!��: !%0�, �;)! !�%��!� ,')-�!,&%%-!�5 � �/0"+ +�$*�.)�+'//�.%0",'-2�

J�KL�� (�%�)�*��-), !�/%��- )�" �!�5 � �)1)'-)$- �'"�M --$ '"4�.-)!! !�)"+�3�  ,&�)"+�

F)"40)4 �.-)!! !�

J�N@��-), !�5 � �)1)'-)$- �'"��& �=0�'-�: / ��)-�O"'��P=:OQ�

M&'-!���& � �)� �)�"0($ ��%/� 6'!�'"4�!� ,')-'!��! ��'"4!�),�%!!�.)�+'//#��& � �)� �"%�� "%04&��-), !�

)1)'-)$- 2�9& �"0($ ��%/�,&'-+� "�5&%�5%0-+�$ " <��/�%(�)��-), �'!���%R ,� +��%�'",� )! �%1 ��

,%('"4�* )�!2�

�!��& � �)� �"%�� "%04&�!� ,')-�!,&%%-��-), !�'"�.)�+'//#��& �.%0",'-�&)!�)-!%�/0"+ +�!%( ��-), !�)��

!� ,')-�!,&%%-!�'"�%�& ��.%0",'-�)� )!�%��'"�'"+ � "+ "��!,&%%-!2�9& ��%�)-�!� "+�%"��& ! ��-), !�5)!�

SB2T(�'"�?@?@H?A2�9& �$0+4 ��/%��?@?AH??�/%���& ! ��*� !�%/��-), !�'!�,0�� "�-*�! ��)��SU2T(2�

3� "+'"4�%"�'"+ � "+ "���-), !�)"+�!� ,')-�!,&%%-��-), !�'"�" '4&$%0�'"4�.%0",'-�)� )!�&)!�4�%5"��%�

ST2L(�'"�?@?@H?A2�M'�&%0��'"1 !�( "��'"�)++'�'%")-��-), !#��& �,%!��%/��& ! ��-), !�5%0-+�$ � 6� ,� +�

�%�4�%5�!'4"'<,)"�-*�'"�/0�0� �* )�!2�

VWXYZ[\]̂_[̀ab̂cdẐefd̂XgaXhac\W_̂[̀̂cda\ZXîĉXga

9& �-%,)�'%"�%/�3� ,')-'!��: !%0�, �;)! !�)"+�M --$ '"4�.-)!! !�'!�"%��5 --�+'!��'$0� +�),�%!!��& �,'�*2�

9& �-),j�%/�3� ,')-'!��: !%0�, �;)! !�'"�!%( �-%,)-'�' !�,)"�+'!)+1)"�)4 �- )�" �!�-'1'"4�'"��&%! �)� )!2�

3%( �/)('-' !�)� �0"/)('-')��5'�&��& �)� )!�5& � ���%1'!'%"�'!�-%,)� +2�=)� "�!�%��,)� �!�()*�-),j��& �

( )"!��%���)1 -� )!'-*��%��&%! �)� )!2�

��$ �� ��+'!��'$0�'%"�%/�!� ,')-'!��� !%0�, �$)! !�),�%!!��& �,'�*�5%0-+�'(��%1 �),, !!�/%���0�'-!2�G��5%0-+�

� +0, ���)1 -��'( !�/%��()"*��0�'-!#�)!�5 --�)!�'",� )!'"4��& �"0($ ��%/��-), !�)1)'-)$- 2�

k[Zb̂hhal\W_̂[̀al_]XX̀ca[gbalmncaopoqa

rsrst rurut

P
age 472



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"# $%&'&(")  *+"$&*",-.'+�"/� 0.%-�"��&*'.'�&"
��$0 +"1�%"� $%& %+"$( *"22324"

567789:;<7=>?@?=9;

ABCDEDEFDGCHIJKJCLMCNCHOHNPCOQCRSGCMTJULNPLMHCVOWTPJXCYJNKBLBZC[JJ\MCNB\C]̂HLMWC_TJUHK̂WCVOB\LHLOBC

TPNUJMCQOKCPJNKBJKMCNZJ\CGG̀GaCLBCVNK\LQQCWNLBHNLBJ\CMUIOOPMbCcKOTOMNPMCQOKCdOO\PNB\MCeLZIC_UIOOPC

fJKJCNTTKOgJ\ChiCdJPMICjOgJKBWJBHCLBC_JTHJWhJKCDEGaCNB\CfLPPCTKOgL\JCGEECN\\LHLOBNPCTPNUJMCQOKC

iÔBZCTJOTPJCfLHICVOWTPJXCYJNKBLBZC[JJ\MbC

klmn8;op;q8r=9sl7t;5=u<n8v;w8l79?9x;y88s@;l9s;z6:?@u;q<8r:76u;5=9s?:?=9;
<7=>?@?=9;r67789:nt;l>l?nlmn8;?9;5l7s?{{;

q8r=9sl7t;<nlr8@;
zx8;||}|~;5=u<n8v;w8l79?9x;y88s@�;
z6:?@u;q<8r:76u;5=9s?:?=9;rl<lr?:t;

����|����;

�iCjfiBC_UIOOPC GD�C

dOO\PNB\MCeLZIC_UIOOPC GREC

dILHUÎKUICeLZIC_UIOOPC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC �EC

�IJC�NKLOBCVJBHKJC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC RDC

VNHINiMCeLZIC_UIOOPC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC GSC

VNBHOBLNBCeLZIC_UIOOPC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC DEC

YPNBLMIJBCeLZIC_UIOOPC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC DEC

�MZOPCjiQ̂BCjiWKNJZCjPNBHNQC_TJULNPLMHC�JMÔKUJC�NMJC �EC

5l<lr?:t; ��|;

��OHNPCUNTNULHiCOQC�iCjfiBC_UIOOPCLMCGa�CTPNUJMCNZJ\C�̀Ga�COQCfILUICNTTKOXLWNHJPiCGD�CTPNUJMCMJKJC

T̂TLPMCNZJ\CGG̀GaC

� �$&*"1�%"��$0 +"

�7=�8r:8s;5=u<n8v;w8l79?9x;y88s@�;z6:?@u;q<8r:76u;5=9s?:?=9;q8r=9sl7t;��l@8;
�8ul9s;

klmn8;�p;�7=�8r:8s;{6:678;s8ul9s;{=7;5=u<n8v;w8l79?9x;y88s@�;z6:?@u;q<8r:76u;
5=9s?:?=9;<nlr8@;{=7;t=69x;<8=<n8;lx8s;||}|~;

q8r=9sl7t;<nlr8@; ���|���; ������o; ���o���; �������; �������;

cKO�JUHJ\C\JWNB\C ��EC SEEC SG�C SD�C SDaC

cKO�JUHJ\C\JWNB\C
��GE��C

S��C SSEC S�aC S��C SaDC

�N�LBZCNUUÔBHCOQCNPPCUILP\KJBCBJJ\LBZCTPNUJMCLBUP̂\LBZCHIOMJCTPNUJ\CÔHCOQCUÔBHiCNB\CLBCWNLBMHKJNWC

NfNLHLBZCNCMTJULNPLMHCTPNUJWJBH�CHIJC\JWNB\CQOKCTPNUJMCLMCJMHLWNHJ\CHOChJCULKUNC��ECLBCDEDGFDD�CKLMLBZCHOC

SDaChiCDED�FDSbC

]PPOfLBZCQOKCNCGE�CM̂KTP̂MCHOCM̂TTOKHC�JXLhLPLHi�CHIJCL\JNPCTOMLHLOBCfÔP\ChJCS��CTPNUJMCLBCDEDGFDDCNB\C

SaDCTPNUJMChiCDED�FDSbC

ABCM̂WWNKi�CHIJKJCLMCNBCJMHLWNHJ\C\J�ULHCOQCG��CTPNUJMCLBCDEDGFCDEDD�CKJ\̂ULBZCHOCG�GCTPNUJMChiC

DED�FCDEDSbC

� � ¡ �¢�¢¡

P
age 473



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
/0&'+0-�+0"1&20")+0��!"

34

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !"
)�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*"
. �*"�! +*�" '"
/0&'+0-�+0"
1&20")+0��!"

345

6789:7;<:7=>8?7=@:7AAB=8C=DE=FE?B8C7GHIJ8;H=KA;EJD98AE=C:7AAB=LA<=M;M8BC=D?IJ=NNGNOP=Q7I=C:7AAB=8C=

BA:D9IJ=ARI<=9SA=C89IC=D9=TDEA<=6DU=DEJ=VIEBB8EI=WADJ=8E=6789:7;<:7P=

Q7I=C:7AAB=7AC9C=D=@MI:8DB8C9=WICA;<:I=XDCI=JIC8?ED9IJ=LA<=:AHMBIY=BID<E8E?=EIIJCP

=QA=HII9=97I=JIHDEJ=LA<=@MI:8DB8C9=WICA;<:I=XDCI=MBD:IC=LA<=BID<EI<C=S897=:AHMBIY=BID<E8E?=EIIJC=D?IJ=

NNGNZ=89=8C=M<AMACIJ=9A[=

\=8E:<IDCI=97I=JIC8?ED9IJ=E;H]I<=D9=6789:7;<:7=>8?7=@:7AAB=@MI:8DB8C9=WICA;<:I=XDCI=L<AH=̂_=9A=N__=

L<AH=@IM9IH]I<=̀_̀ P̀=

a9=8C=M<AMACIJ=97D9=97I=:;<<IE9=CMI:8DB8C9=<ICA;<:I=]DCI=D::AHHAJD98AE=SA;BJ=]I=8HM<ARIJ=DEJ=

<IL;<]8C7IJb=:<ID98E?=DJJ898AEDB=:BDCC<AAHC=DEJ=BID<E8E?=CMD:ICP=@AHI=AL=978C=SA<c=7DC=DB<IDJU=]IIE=

;EJI<9DcIE=8E=A<JI<=97D9=97I=C:7AABb=DEJ=97I=dA;E:8Bb=:DE=IEC;<I=C;Le:8IE9=MBD:IC=SI<I=DRD8BD]BI=LA<=

:78BJ<IE=S897=:AHMBIY=BID<E8E?=EIIJCP=

fghijklmhniopiqrsthuisvivghiutgoori

QD]BI=w=]IBAS=M<AR8JIC=JI9D8BC=AL=MBD:IC=DRD8BD]BI=D9=6789:7;<:7=>8?7=@:7AAB=

fsmrhixyizrsthuis{s|rsmrhisvi}g|vtgkntgi~|�gi�tgoori

�slhiopi
utgoori

�knnhjvi
zkmr|ugh�i
�sqst|v�i
�s�hi��i�i���i

zrsthui
qhni�hsni
�nokq

i�s�hi��i�i���i

�|�vgiponli
qrsthui

�sj�ks�hi
lh�|klisj�i
�svh�on�i
opi�tgoori

6789:7;<:7=
>8?7=@:7AAB=
�HD8EC9<IDH=
MBD:IC�=

NZw_= �Z_= �w_=

FE?B8C7GHIJ8;H=
LA;EJD98AE=

CI:AEJD<U=C:7AAB6789:7;<:7=>8?7=
@:7AAB=�@MI:8DB8C9=
WICA;<:I=XDCI=
MBD:IC�=

_̂=

Q7I=:;<<IE9=:DMD:89U=AL=6789:7;<:7=>8?7=@:7AAB=8C=̀b�__=MBD:IC=DEJ=97I=C:7AAB=7DJ=̀�N�=M;M8BC=AE=<ABB=8E=

�M<8B=̀_̀Nb=8E:B;J8E?=M;M8BC=8E=97I=@MI:8DB8C9=WICA;<:I=XDCIP=

Q7I=:;<<IE9=:DMD:89U=AL=97I=@MI:8DB8C9=WICA;<:I=XDCI=D9=6789:7;<:7=>8?7=@:7AAB=8C=̂_=MBD:IC=7ASIRI<=97I=

]DCI=7DJ=Z�=BID<EI<C=AE=<ABB=8E=�:9A]I<=̀_̀NP=

3�3�5

P
age 474



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !" #$%&'('$% �%& )*'(��'�'(+ ,-�&'%,) 

.-�&'%, #$%&'('$% /*'(��'�'(+ 

01 23341564137895:;6<18=>?;86:@A1
2334B1C5?;@;:;8D1DE;:5F@81=391:85?G;6<H1@8596;6<15641
I8@@F8;6<1;61D?G33@1

J1
K5:;D=5?:39A1FE:1I;:G1L;6391
48:89;395:;361

K5:;D=5?:39AB1M89=39L;6<15D1;6:864841FE:1438D163:1
8==8?:;N8@A1DE7739:1:G8148@;N89A13=1:G81?E99;?E@EL1;61
D3L815985D1

O1 M3391I;:G1L5P39148=8?:D1
M339B1Q85?G;6<1L8:G34D1;6G;F;:84R54N89D81;L75?:1361
D?G33@139<56;D5:;361

S1
T6413=1U;=8V1@;=81G5D18W7;9841391
9;DX13=1;LL;686:1=5;@E981

Y89A17339B1JE;@4;6<D1D89;3ED@A1;6G;F;:1:G81D:5==ZD15F;@;:A1
:3148@;N891:G81?E99;?E@EL1

[�\�%& ]$- ̂��_�) �( (̀� )_̀$$� 

Q5F@81a1F8@3I1D8:D13E:148:5;@D13=198?86:15641793P8?:8416ELF89D136193@@1

����� b" c�_�%( �%& ̂-$d�_(�& %*\��-) $% -$�� �( e '̀(_̀*-_̀ f',̀ /_̀$$� 

g*\��-) $% c$�� hijk/#l i*̂'� ̂-$d�_('$%)m 

/_̀$$� 

n
o
p
b
qp
!

n
o
p
!
qp
r

n
o
p
r
qp
s

n
o
p
s
qn
o

n
o
n
o
qn
p

n
o
n
p
qn
n

n
o
n
n
qn
t

n
o
n
t
qn
u

n
o
n
u
qn
v

n
o
n
v
qn
b
 

wG;:?GE9?G1x;<G1
K?G33@1L5;6D:985L1
7@5?8D1

yyza1yyy{1yy|z1yy}{1y~~�1y~z}1y~z}1yy{a1yy}{1yy}|1

wG;:?GE9?G1x;<G1
K?G33@1K78?;5@;D:1
�8D3E9?81J5D817@5?8D1

�{1 �a1 a{1 }�1 }�1 {z1 {�1 �zz1 �zz1 �zz1

�1K?G33@17E7;@16ELF89D1F5D841361@3?5@1?5:?GL86:1737E@5:;361793P8?:;36D15641G;D:39;?5@1

75::896D13=148L5641

#$%&'('$% �%& /*'(��'�'(+ $] /_̀$$� �*'�&'%,) 

0@@1D?G33@D1;61O594;==15981<;N86151O364;:;36195:;6<1=93L101�789=39L;6<15D1;6:864841R137895:;6<18=>?;86:@A�1

:31S1�@;=818W7;9841R19;DX13=1;LL;686:1=5;@E98�1

K?G33@D1;61O594;==159815@D31<;N86151KE;:5F;@;:A195:;6<1=93L101�<3341�1=5?;@;:;8D1DE;:5F@81=391:85?G;6<H1

@8596;6<1�1I8@@F8;6<�1:31S1�F541�1FE;@4;6<1D89;3ED@A1;6G;F;:1:G81D:5==ZD15F;@;:A1:3148@;N891:G81?E99;?E@EL�B1

wG;:?GE9?G1x;<G1K?G33@1;D195:841O�1=391?364;:;3615641J1=391DE;:5F;@;:AB1QG81D;:8H15641@3?5@1;6=95D:9E?:E981

3==�D;:8H1I3E@41DE7739:1:G818W756D;3613=1:G81F5D8B1

����������������������

QG81O3E6?;@1I39XD1?@3D8@A1I;:G1:I3139<56;D5:;36D1;61394891:31L36;:391:G81789=39L56?813=1D?G33@D15641:31

DE7739:1D?G33@1;L793N8L86:B1

TD:A61;D1:G813=>?813=1x891�5P8D:AZD1OG;8=1�6D78?:3913=1T4E?5:;3615641Q95;6;6<1;61w5@8DB1

TD:A61;6D78?:D1�E5@;:A15641D:564594D1;61D?G33@D156413:G89184E?5:;361793N;489D1;61w5@8DB1

QG81O86:95@1K3E:G1O36D39:;EL1�3;6:1T4E?5:;361K89N;?81�OKO�TK�1;D1:G8198<;365@1K?G33@1�L793N8L86:1

K89N;?81=391:G81>N81?3E6?;@D13=1J9;4<864H1O594;==H1�89:GA91QA4>@H1�G364451OA6361Q5==15641:G81Y5@813=1

2@5L39<56B1QG81O3E6?;@1I39XD1I;:G1:G81O36D39:;EL1:31DE7739:15641?G5@@86<815@@1D?G33@D1;61O594;==B1

U3?5@10E:G39;:;8DH1DE?G15D1O594;==1O3E6?;@H1LED:1?36D;4891TD:A6198739:D156413:G8918N;486?815F3E:1D?G33@1

789=39L56?8156418==8?:;N868DD1IG861DE<<8D:;6<1?G56<8D1:31D?G33@DB1

U3?5@10E:G39;:;8D1LED:15@D31?36D;4891:G81@;X8@A1;L75?:13=1:G8179373D841?G56<8D136�1

�1D:564594DH1I8@@F8;6<156415::;:E48D1:31@8596;6<1

�1:85?G;6<15641@8596;6<18W789;86?8D1

�1?5981DE7739:15641<E;456?81

�1@85489DG;715641L565<8L86:1�@85489DG;7H1;L793N;6<1�E5@;:AH1759:689DG;71I39X;6<1564198D3E9?81

L565<8L86:�1

����  �¡�¡ 

P
age 475



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� 

!"#$$%&'()*'+,&-*".*/'(&'-().'$0'(',(.+$,(%'-)$1)(22*'$0'&"#$$%'+,&-*".+$,3'4#*'-5)-$&*'$0'(,'

+,&-*".+$,'+&'.$'+/*,.+06'1$$/'0*(.5)*&'(,/'&#$)."$2+,1&'+,'&"#$$%&'+,'$)/*)'.#(.'.#*6'2(6'+2-)$7*'.#*'

85(%+.6'$0'*/5"(.+$,'$00*)*/'(,/')(+&*'&.(,/()/&'("#+*7*/'96'.#*+)'-5-+%&':;&.6,<3'

4#*')*%*7(,.';&.6,'=,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'-)$7+/*'1)(/*&'(1(+,&.'>*6'?5*&.+$,&'(,/'-)$7+/*'&"#$$%&'@+.#'

)*"$22*,/(.+$,&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

A$5'"(,'B,/'+,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'$,'.#*';&.6,'@*9&+.*'CCCDEFGHIDJKLDMNO

PQR�S TUVQW�XQ�� YZ�Q[UW\�Z�\U� U] �YSUUR� 

=,'̂_̀ab'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'+,.)$/5"*/'(',*@'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&6&.*23'

=.'%$$e&'(.'*("#'&"#$$%f&'&.(,/()/&'(,/'#$@'25"#'('&"#$$%'+&'(9%*'.$'+2-)$7*3'4#+&'+/*,.+B*&'.#*'%*7*%'$0'

&5--$).'&"#$$%&')*85+)*3'

g)1(,+&(.+$,&'&5"#'(&'.#*'h*,.)(%'!$5.#'h$,&$).+52':h!hi;!<'(,/'.#*'&"#$$%'+2-)$7*2*,.'&*)7+"*'

.#*,'@$)e'@+.#'&"#$$%&f'%*(/*)&'.$'+/*,.+06b'-)$7+/*'(,/j$)'9)$e*)'(,6'&5--$).')*85+)*/'0$)'05).#*)'

+2-)$7*2*,.3'

4#*'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&6&.*2'+&'/*&")+9*/'+,'4(9%*'k'9*%$@l'

mZnRQ op qZ�Q[UW\�Z�\U� r���QX 

qZ�Q[UW� U] �sttUW� PSZ� �SQ YZ�Q[UW� XQZ�� 

TWQQ� 
u'#+1#%6'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'@*%%')5,b'#(&'('&.)$,1'%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'+&'
"%*()'(9$5.'+.&'-)+$)+.+*&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.'

vQRRUw 
u,'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'(%)*(/6'/$+,1'@*%%'(,/'e,$@&'.#*'()*(&'+.'
,**/&'.$'+2-)$7*3'

xXnQW 
u'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'+2-)$7*2*,.'@#+"#',**/&'#*%-'.$'+/*,.+06'.#*'&.*-&'
.$'+2-)$7*'$)'.$'2(e*'"#(,1*'#(--*,'2$)*'85+"e%63'

yQz 
u'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'1)*(.*&.'+2-)$7*2*,.'(,/'@+%%')*"*+7*'+22*/+(.*b'
+,.*,&+7*'&5--$).3'

u'&"#$$%f&'"$%$5){"$/*/'"(.*1$)6'+&'/*"+/*/'96'#$@'+.'+&')(.*/'0$)'&.(,/()/&':̀{a<'(,/'0$)'#$@'(9%*'+.'+&'.$'

+2-)$7*':u{|<3'

'̀+&'.#*'9*&.')(.+,1'0$)'&.(,/()/&'(,/'u'+&'.#*'9*&.'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

}-/(.*/'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,&'0$)'*("#'&"#$$%'()*'-59%+&#*/'*7*)6'6*()'+,'i(,5()63'

~$)*'+,0$)2(.+$,'(9$5.'.#*'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&"#*2*'"(,'9*'0$5,/'+,'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.f&'-()*,.&f'

15+/*'.$'.#*'�(.+$,(%'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'!6&.*2'#*)*l'

#..-ljj1$73@(%*&j/$"&j/"*%%&j-59%+"(.+$,&j̀�_̀ �̀{-()*,.&{15+/*{*,3-/0'

PS\�YSsWYS �\[S rYSUUR 

c#+."#5)"#'�+1#'!"#$$%'@(&'%(&.'+,&-*".*/'96';&.6,'+,'i(,5()6'̂_̀�3'

u.'.#+&'.+2*'.#*'&"#$$%f&'-*)0$)2(,"*'(,/'-)$&-*".&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.'@*)*'�5/1*/'(&'(/*85(.*'(,/'

,**/+,1'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

�$%%$@+,1'('05).#*)'2$,+.$)+,1'7+&+.'+,'�$7*29*)'̂_̀�b'.#*'&"#$$%'@(&'�5/1*/'.$'#(7*'2(/*'&50B"+*,.'

-)$1)*&&'(,/'@(&')*2$7*/'0)$2'.#*'%+&.'$0'&"#$$%&')*85+)+,1';&.6,')*7+*@3'

=,'.#*'2$&.')*"*,.'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'(.'i(,5()6'̂_̂_b'c#+."#5)"#'�+1#'!"#$$%'

@(&'"(.*1$)+&*/'(.'A*%%$@':u,'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'(%)*(/6'/$+,1'@*%%'(,/'e,$@&'.#*'()*(&'+.',**/&'

.$'+2-)$7*<3'

u,'(&&*&&2*,.'-)$7+/*/'96'.#*'h*,.)(%'!$5.#'h$,&$).+52'+,'u5.52,'̂_̂ '̀1(7*'.#*'0$%%$@+,1'

*7(%5(.+$,l'

�'4#*'-)$-$).+$,'$0'-5-+%&'2(e+,1'.@$'$)'2$)*'%*7*%&'$0'-)$1)*&&'0)$2'>*6'!.(1*'̂':(1*'�'�'̀̀ <'.$'>*6'

!.(1*'�':(1*'̀̀ '�'̀a<b'+,'"$2-()+&$,'@+.#'%$"(%'(,/')*1+$,(%'(7*)(1*&b'@(&'1)*(.*)'0$)'2(.#*2(.+"&'

(,/'&"+*,"*'(,/'@(&'+,'%+,*'0$)';,1%+&#3'

�'4#*'$7*)(%%'-)$1)*&&'2(/*'96'.#*'&"#$$%'&+,"*'.#*'"$)*'+,&-*".+$,'$0'i(,5()6'̂_̀�'+&'&.)$,13'4#+&'

-)$1)*&&'#(&')*&5%.*/'0)$2'.#*'&5""*&&05%'(,/'&5&.(+,*/'(9+%+.6'.$'-%(,'(,/'+2-%*2*,.'"#(,1*'96'

&"#$$%'%*(/*)&'(,/'1$7*),$)&3'

�������������������������������������������������������������

r�Z�zZWz� 

4#*'h$5,"+%'#(&'2(/*'('"%*()'"$22+.2*,.'.$'"$,.+,5+,1'.#*'+,7*&.2*,.'+,b'(,/'+2-)$7*2*,.'$0b'h()/+00'

&"#$$%&'.$'2(e*'&5)*'*7*)6'"#+%/'#(&'.#*'9*&.'-$&&+9%*'&.().'+,'%+0*':CCCD�� ¡¢££�K¤¤¢G¤EIGD�KDMN<3'

4#*'h$5,"+%'@$)e&'"%$&*%6'@+.#'.#*'1$7*),+,1'9$/+*&'$0'&"#$$%&'.$'2(e*'&5)*'.#(.'&.(,/()/&'+,'&"#$$%&'

()*'#+1#b'.#(.'.*("#+,1'+&'1$$/b'(,/'.#(.'%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'1$7*),(,"*'+&'&.)$,13'

!.(,/()/&'(.'c#+."#5)"#'�+1#'!"#$$%'()*'1$$/3'=,")*(&+,1'.#*'!-*"+(%+&.'¥*&$5)"*'¦(&*'-)$7+&+$,'@$5%/'

-)$7+/*'(--)$-)+(.*'#+1#'85(%+.6'&"#$$%'-%("*&'0$)'6$5,1'-*$-%*'@+.#'"$2-%*§'%*(),+,1',**/&3'=.'+&',$.'

*§-*".*/'.#(.'.#*'-)$-$&(%'@+%%'+2-(".'$,'&.(,/()/&'(.'.#*'&"#$$%3'

4#*'-)$-$&(%'+&',$.'*§-*".*/'.$'#(7*'(,6',*1(.+7*'+2-(".'$,'.#*'85(%+.6'$0'&.(,/()/&'$0'*/5"(.+$,'(.'

.#*'&"#$$%'(&'(')*&5%.'$0'.#*'-)$-$&*/'"#(,1*&3'

mQZYS\�[ Z�z RQZW�\�[ Q̈tQW\Q�YQ� 

4#*'-)$-$&(%'+&',$.'*§-*".*/'.$'#(7*'(,6',*1(.+7*'+2-(".'$,'.*("#+,1'(,/'%*(),+,1'*§-*)+*,"*&'(.'

c#+."#5)"#'�+1#'!"#$$%3'

©ª©ªO ©«©«O

P
age 476



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !""#�$��%&�'!(&�%)��

*++,-./00+-,/123,14,15560567183,61493,0:,50+7.73-,14;,56027-704,74,5+1.3,80,560<083,5=57+->,/31+8/,14;,

?3++@3749A,

B/3,-./00+,7-,.0<<7883;,80,56027;749,14,3427604<348,74,?/7./,+3164749,7-,21+=3;,14;,5=57+-,1./7323,8/376,

50834871+,74,1,/155CD,-1:3,3427604<348,74,?/7./,8/3C,-/0?,63-53.8,14;,80+3614.3,:06,31./,08/36A,

B/3,E0=4.7+,?0=+;,?06F,?78/,8/3,+31;36-/75,0:,8/3,-./00+,80,<1F3,-=63,3236C043,=4;36-814;-,8/376,

63-504-7@7+78C,:06,/3+5749,80,7<56023,14;,-=-8174,.163,-=55068,14;,9=7;14.3A,

G��&�� H("��%&�I�%�'�J�%$�

B/3,E0=4.7+,?0=+;,.04874=3,80,?06F,?78/,8/3,+31;36-/75,0:,8/3,-./00+,80,<1F3,-=63,3236C043,

=4;36-814;-,8/376,63-504-7@7+78C,:06,/3+5749,80,7<56023,14;,-=-8174,/79/,536:06<14.3A,K8,?0=+;,-=55068,

8/3,-./00+,80,/123,1,900;,63+18704-/75,?78/,516348-,14;,08/36,5168436-,-0,8/18,5=57+-,63.3723,1,/79/L

M=1+78C,3;=.18704A,

B/3,56050-3;,./1493-,?0=+;,@3,5+1443;,.163:=++C,-0,8/18,8/3,-./00+>-,+31;36-/75,14;,90236414.3,7-,408,

;7-6=583;D,?/7./,.0=+;,/123,1,43918723,7<51.8,04,3;=.187041+,-814;16;-A,

NOOPQPRSTUVWXYYRZQV[RZVYXYPUWV

B1@+3,\,@3+0?,-/0?,8/3,536.348193-,0:],

,̂_=57+-,?78/,*;;787041+,̀3164749,a33;-,

,̂_=57+-,63.372749,b633,c./00+,d31+-,

,̂_=57+-,?78/,e49+7-/,1-,14,*;;787041+,̀149=193,

,̂d740678C,e8/47.,5=57+-,18,18,31./,0:,8/3,-./00+-A,

f�gh��ij�kH($)H!�)H�l('H�m)H##h�

nhh�"!"(h � o�

p,0:,_=57+-,04,c./00+,*.8704, qAq,

p,0:,_=57+-,04,c./00+,*.8704,_+=-, rAs,

p,0:,_=57+-,?78/,1,-8183<348,0:,*̀a, tA\,

p,0:,b633,c./00+,d31+-,_=57+-L,r,C316,1236193, qtAu,

p,0:,_=57+-,?78/,e49+7-/,1-,14,*;;787041+,̀149=193, r,

p,0:,d740678C,e8/47.,_=57+-, vvAs,

wJ"�)$�#%�"!"(h �x($H�n&&($(#%�h�G���%(%'�y��& �znGy{�

B/3,.=66348,3|53687-3,18,8/3,-./00+,?0=+;,@3,<17481743;A,B/3,3|514-704,0:,1;;787041+,+3164749,433;-,

56027-704,?0=+;,56027;3,055068=47873-,:06,-81::,;323+05<348,14;,:06,34/14.749,5=57+->,+3164749A,

B/3,E0=4.7+,1.F40?+3;93-,8/18,1,./1493,74,3427604<348,.14,@3,=4-388+749,14;,=5-388749,:06,

./7+;634,?78/,1;;787041+,+3164749,433;-A,_=57+-,?0=+;,@3,-=550683;,80,341@+3,8/3<,80,1;158,80,8/3,

./1493-,56050-3;A,

l#x�x#!h&� !""#�$�}#��"!"(h �x($H�~%'h( H�� ��%�n&&($(#%�h�G�%'!�'��g���}}�)$�&��

_=57+-,8/18,63.3723,-=55068,@3.1=-3,8/3C,/123,e49+7-/,1-,14,1;;787041+,+149=193,.14,@3,-=550683;,74,14C,

-./00+,74,E16;7::A,

B/363,7-,40,74:06<18704,1217+1@+3,8/18,-=993-8-,8/18,8/3,56050-1+,?0=+;,/123,1,43918723,3::3.8,04,/0?,

./7+;634,?78/,e49+7-/,1-,14,1;;787041+,+149=193,163,-=550683;A,B/3,-./00+,?0=+;,.04874=3,80,56027;3,

-=55068,8/18,7-,15560567183,80,8/3,74;727;=1+,433;-,0:,31./,5=57+A,

l#x�x#!h&�"!"(h ���)�(�(%'������m)H##h�I��h �g���}}�)$�&��

c0<3,0:,8/3,:=4;749,8/18,1,-./00+,63.3723-,7-,@1-3;,04,8/3,4=<@36,0:,5=57+-,74,8/3,-./00+,?/0,63.3723,

b633,c./00+,d31+-A,*++,-./00+-,74,E16;7::,?0=+;,63.3723,:=4;749,:06,8/3-3,5=57+-A,

B/363,7-,40,74:06<18704,1217+1@+3,8/18,-=993-8-,8/18,8/3,56050-1+,?0=+;,/123,1,43918723,3::3.8,04,5=57+-,

18,8/3,-./00+,?/0,63.3723,b633,c./00+,d31+-A,

l#x�x#!h&�I(%#�($��~$H%()��!"(h �g���}}�)$�&��

B/3,433;-,0:,74;727;=1+,5=57+-,163,1--3--3;,14;,56027;3;,:06,1-,15560567183A,B/363,7-,1+-0,40,74:06<18704,

1217+1@+3,8/18,-=993-8-,8/18,8/3,56050-1+,?0=+;,/123,1,43918723,3::3.8,04,56027-704,:06,14C,38/47.,960=5A,

����������

P
age 477



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !���!�"!#!$�%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!,�

-./01.23424567.8497:.;<=31651.>01.<9?@13.4A.B21=;67;5>.C15493=1.D651.276=15.A43.51=4<:63E.6F1:.

7163<135.8;>0.=4?271G.7163<;<F.<11:5.6<:.8497:.=4<>3;@9>1.>4863:5.?11>;<F.234H1=>1:.:1?6<:I.

-./01.42243>9<;>E.>4.1?274E.6::;>;4<67.521=;67;5>.5>6AA.6<:.>4.843J.?431.=74517E.8;>0.521=;67;5>.

513K;=15.;<.L63:;AA.8497:.1<06<=1.>01.5=0447M5.;<=795;K1.>16=0;<FI./0;5.8497:.@1<1N>.677.292;75.;<.

>01.5=0447I.

-./01.23424567.8497:.1<5931.>06>.292;75.7;K;<F.;<.>01.<43>013<.63165.4A.>01.=;>E.>36K17.5043>13.:;5>6<=15.

>4.6==155.521=;67;5>.234K;5;4<.>06<.>4.67>13<6>;K1.234K;5;4<I.

O&�!#�P�Q�)P%�)R�#��+!%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!�

-.B4?1.292;75.8;>0.6::;>;4<67.7163<;<F.<11:5.=6<.N<:.=06<F1.:;AN=97>I./01E.?6E.N<:.=06<F15.>4.

@9;7:;<F5.9<51>>7;<FI.S1.J<48.>01E.8;77.<11:.=631A977E.276<<1:.592243>.>4.6:62>.>4.>01.=06<F15I.

T481K13U.>0131.8497:.@1.59AN=;1<>.>;?1.>4.276<.6<:.592243>.59=0.=06<F15I.

-./0131.;5.24>1<>;67.A43.6.5?677.;<=31651.;<.>36AN=.6349<:.>01.5=0447.5;>1.6>.>01.5>63>.6<:.1<:.4A.>01.:6EI.

/01.L49<=;7.8497:.843J.8;>0.>01.V4K13<;<F.D4:E.4A.>01.5=0447.>4.:1K1742.6./36K17.W76<.>4.?;<;?;51.

6<E.24>1<>;67.:;5392>;4<I.

XQ�! #��PR!�&(�P&#%�*&#%P)! !)�

/01.L49<=;7.;5.511J;<F.>4.234K;:1.6.@1>>13.:;5>3;@9>;4<.4A.521=;67;5>.315493=1.@651.234K;5;4<.6=3455.>01.=;>EI.

/0;5.8497:.;?234K1.6==155.A43.292;75U.6<:.31:9=1.>36K17.>;?15.A43.?6<E.292;75U.65.8177.65.;<=3165;<F.>01.

<9?@13.4A.276=15.6K6;76@71I.Y.<9?@13.4A.4>013.1G26<5;4<5U.6<:.<18.234K;5;4<.6>.4>013.5=04475.=;>EZ8;:1U.

631.6754.2342451:I.

Y7>13<6>;K1.42>;4<5.>4.>01.1G26<5;4<.4A.>01.S0;>=093=0.T;F0.B=0447.B21=;67;5>.C15493=1.D651.

=497:.;<=79:1[.

-.>01.1G26<5;4<.4A.5;?;763.234K;5;4<.4<.4>013.51=4<:63E.5=0447.5;>15.

-.>01.15>6@7;50?1<>.4A.<18.521=;67;5>.234K;5;4<.4<.4>013.5=0447.5;>15.6<:\43.6.:;AA131<>.<9?@13.4A.

276=15.;<.>01.=9331<>.43.2342451:.@6515I.

T481K13U.>01.5>6<:63:5.6>.S0;>=093=0.T;F0.B=0447.631.F44:I.]<=3165;<F.>01.B21=;67;5>.C15493=1.D651.

234K;5;4<.234K;:15.6<.;<=31651:.<9?@13.4A.6223423;6>1.0;F0.̂967;>E.5=0447.276=15I./01.1G26<5;4<.4A.>01.

59==155A97.@651.6>.S0;>=093=0.T;F0.B=0447.>4._̀ .̀276=15.;5.>0131A431.=4<5;:131:.>4.@1.6.231A1331:.42>;4<I.

abc�#�d!%&b *!%�e���! %�

TC.W14271.B13K;=15.8;77.843J.8;>0.>01.V4K13<;<F.D4:E.>4.6::3155.>01.TC.;?27;=6>;4<5.63;5;<F.A34?.>01.

;<=31651.;<.>01.:15;F<6>1:.<9?@13.4A.>01.B21=;67;5>.C15493=1.D651.6>.>01.5=0447.6<:.>01.31597>;<F.<11:.

A43.6::;>;4<67.5>6AN<FI.

S0131.>01.V4K13<;<F.D4:E.06K1.6:42>1:.>01.L49<=;7M5.B=0447.C1:1274E?1<>.6<:.C1:9<:6<=E.W47;=EU.

6<E.<18.K6=6<=;15.63;5;<F.65.6.=4<51̂91<=1.4A.>01.;<=31651.;<.>01.:15;F<6>1:.<9?@13.4A.>01.B21=;67;5>.

C15493=1.D651.8;77.234K;:1.42243>9<;>;15.A43.5=0447Z@651:.5>6AA.4<.>01.5=0447.31:1274E?1<>.31F;5>13I.

f �#%(& ��c���! %�

/01.L49<=;7.6227;15.>01.>84Z?;71.5>6>9>43E.̂967;AE;<F.867J;<F.:;5>6<=1.=3;>13;6.A43.292;75.>4.̂967;AE.A43.

A311.04?1.>4.5=0447.>36<5243>.>4.521=;67;5>.315493=1.@6515I.B4?1.521=;67;5>.315493=1.@651.7163<135.804.

7;K1.8;>0;<.>84.?;715.4A.>01.5=0447.?6E.@1.234K;:1:.8;>0.A311.>36<5243>.:91.>4.>01;3.;<:;K;:967.7163<;<F.

<11:5.6<:.54=;67.;55915I.g>013.7163<135.631.6@71.>4.>36K17.;<:121<:1<>7E.43.8;>0.2631<>\=63135.6<:.;A.

315;:1<>.8;>0;<.>01.>84Z?;71.̂967;AE;<F.:;5>6<=1.?6E.<4>.@1.17;F;@71.A43.h163<13./36<5243>I./0151.292;75.

65.8177.65.5>6AA.6<:.5=0447.K;5;>435.8497:.@1<1N>.A34?.6<E.31̂9;31:.;?234K1?1<>5.;<.A6=;7;>;15.A43.6=>;K1.

>36K17.>4.5=0447.43.29@7;=.>36<5243>.A6=;7;>;15I.

Y5.>01.L49<=;7.;5.511J;<F.>4.234K;:1.6.@1>>13.:;5>3;@9>;4<.4A.521=;67;5>.315493=1.234K;5;4<.6=3455.>01.=;>EU.

;>.;5.1G21=>1:.>06>.>01.6K136F1.>36K17.:;5>6<=1.>4.521=;67;5>.315493=1.@6515.A43.;<:;K;:967.7163<135.8497:.

31:9=1.;<.A9>931I.

Y.5=0447.23424567.>4.15>6@7;50.Y::;>;4<67.h163<;<F.i11:5.A6=;7;>;15.?6E.31̂9;31.6./36<5243>.B>6>1?1<>.

80;=0.8;77.;:1<>;AE.?1659315.>4.@1.;<=79:1:.65.263>.4A.>01.6227;=6>;4<.>4.?6G;?;51.>36K17.@E.

595>6;<6@71.?4:15I.

/01.L49<=;7M5.=9331<>.L432436>1.W76<.;<=79:15.6.=4??;>?1<>.>4.1K13E.5=0447.;<.L63:;AA.:1K1742;<F.6<.

Y=>;K1./36K17.W76<I.B9=0.6.276<.8;77.;:1<>;AE.6=>;4<5.@E.>01.5=0447.>4.592243>.6<:.1<=4936F1.6=>;K1.>36K17.

>4.5=0447.6<:.6754.6<E.;?234K1?1<>5.>4.4<Z5;>1.6<:.4AAZ5;>1.;<A365>39=>931.31̂9;31:.>4.A6=;7;>6>1.6=>;K1.

H493<1E5I.

]<=3165;<F.>36K17.>4.5=0447.@E.6=>;K1.?4:15.j867J;<FU.=E=7;<F.6<:.5=44>;<Fk.@E.1<593;<F.56A1.A6=;7;>;15.631.

234K;:1:.8;77.06K1.6.245;>;K1.;?26=>.4<.=0;7:31<M5.0167>0.6<:.8177@1;<FI.

Y.<9?@13.4A.;<;>;6>;K15.06K1.59==155A977E.:1?4<5>36>1:.592243>.6<:.1<=4936F1?1<>.A43.6=>;K1.6<:.

595>6;<6@71.>36K17.6?4<F5>.>01.Y::;>;4<67.h163<;<F.i11:5.=4043>U.80;=0.8497:.@1.4AA131:.>4.7163<135.

65.6223423;6>1U.;<=79:;<F.]<:121<:1<>./36K17./36;<;<F.A43.47:13.292;75.j>4.@1.31K;181:.16=0.E163kU.=E=71.

?6;<>1<6<=1.6<:.=E=71.>36;<;<FI.

S;>0.>01.1G21=>1:.;<=31651:.:1?6<:.A43.h163<13./36<5243>.59;>6@71.;?234K1:.6<:.\.43.1G26<:1:.

A6=;7;>;15.A43.:342Z4AA.6<:.2;=JZ92.?6E.@1.31̂9;31:.8;>0;<.>01.5;>1.>4.6==4??4:6>1.>01.6223423;6>1.

<9?@135.4A.K10;=715I.g>013.;?234K1?1<>5.?6E.;<=79:1.?4:;N=6>;4<5.>4.>01.76E49>U.5;F<;<F.6<:.>36AN=.

=4<>347.?1659315I.

lmlmn lolon

P
age 478



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�# $%�&"
'''()&$��**(+ ,(!-./012)3  45$ 5 2&42

6789:;<=>:?7;:

@ABACDBDEFBGHBACDBIGGJKDABLMBNBOPDMALGEENLQDRBSCLMBLMBTGPQBUCNEUDBAGBKDABACDBVGPEULKBJEGWBWCNABTGPBACLEJB

NIGPABACDBXQGXGMNKRBYGPBUNEBZL[DBNBQDMXGEMDBAGBNKKBGHBACDBOPDMALGEM\BGQB]PMABQDMXGEFBAGBMĜ DBGHBACD̂ \BNMB

TGPBXQDHDQRB

@KADQENAL[DKT\BTGPBUNEBMDEFBPMBTGPQB[LDWMBLEBGEDBGHBACDBHGKKGWLEZBWNTM_B

B̀VĜ XKDALEZBACDBGEKLEDBQDMXGEMDBHGQ̂BNABaaabcdefghhbijkblmnopqrcsjjtuejujrdtrv

B̀ŵ NLKBTGPQB[LDWMBAGBrcsjjtexrujyrxrzcdefghhbijkblmv

B̀{QLADBAGBPMBNABACDBHGKKGWLEZBNFFQDMM_B|UCGGKB}QZNELMNALGEB~KNEELEZ\B�GĜ B���\BVGPEATB�NKK\B@AKNEALUB

{CNQH\BVNQFLHH\BV���B��{RB

SCDBVGPEULKBWLKKBUGEMLFDQBD[DQTGED�MB[LDWMBIDHGQDBFDULFLEZBWCDACDQBAGBZGBNCDNFBWLACBACDB

XQGXGMDFBUCNEZDMRB

��������������������������������������������������������������������

 ¡

¢><£<?7¤:¥<>:¦§9:
9?¦7̈¤©?§ª9«¦:<¥:7:
¬£9©7¤©?¦:®9?<=>9:
7̄?9:7¦:°©¤¤<±?:
6©²§:¬§<<¤:

 ¡v ³ ³v

P
age 479



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%&"&�$ '!(�%)&*$"�#" "+�&,( !(�$"-&��.�,&"/ �&" $"
0(!!�1�"2(3%"+,%��!"

4566789:;5<=:>?=776:59:@A:BA<659=CDEF5GD:?7DDGA5HI:=5<=:9?=776:J7K:LGL569:@<EF:MM:N:MOP:

Q=E:9?=776:59:67?@HEF:@H:4566789:RSEAGET:QKED7KJ@P:U6@A9:H7:HK@A9JEK:H=E:9?=776:H7:AE8:VG56F:

@??7DD7F@H57A:@H:WE859:X7@F:@KE:?GKKEAH6I:VE5A<:LK7<KE99EFP:Q=E:AE8:4566789:;5<=:>?=776:8566:

=@SE:@:D7FEKA:FE95<A:@AF:AE8:J@?565H5E9:5A?6GF5A<:9H@HEC7JCH=EC@KH:EFG?@H57A@6:@DEA5H5E9:5A:@:VK@AFC

AE8:VG56F5A<P:

Q7:DEEH:H=E:FED@AF:J7K:9E?7AF@KI:>LE?5@659H:XE97GK?E:Y@9E:L6@?E9:J7K:6E@KAEK9:85H=:?7DL6EZ:6E@KA5A<:

AEEF9:5H:59:LK7L79EF:H7[:

\:E9H@V659=:@:]̂:L6@?E:>LE?5@659H:XE97GK?E:Y@9E:@H:4566789:;5<=:>?=776:JK7D:>ELHEDVEK:_̂_]P:

H̀:59:LK7L79EF:H=@H:H=E:AE8:V@9E:87G6F:5A5H5@66I:VE:@??7DD7F@HEF:85H=5A:H=E:EZ59H5A<:VG56F5A<9T:85H=:H=E:

AE?E99@KI:@F@LH@H57A9:GAFEKH@aEAP:>LE?5@659H:@??7DD7F@H57A:87G6F:H=EA:VE:LK7S5FEF:@9:L@KH:7J:H=E:

FESE67LDEAH:7J:H=E:AE8:4566789:;5<=:>?=776P:

bcdefghidjeklemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

Q@V6E:M̂:VE678:LK7S5FE9:FEH@569:7J:L6@?E9:@S@56@V6E:@H:4566789:;5<=:>?=776:

boindestuevnopdqeowoxnoindeoreyxnnkzqe{x|ce}pckkne

~ohdekle
qpckkne

�gjjdfre
vginxqcd�e
�omopxr�e
�o|desse�es��e

vnopdqe
mdje�doje
|jkgm

e�o|desse�es��e

}x�rcelkjhe
mnopdqe

�of|go|de
hd�xgheof�e
�ord|kj�e
kle}pckkne

4566789:;5<=:
>?=776:

MM_M: __�: :̂
BA<659=CDEF5GD:
?7DDGA5HI:

9E?7AF@KI:9?=776:

Q=E:?GKKEAH:?@L@?5HI:7J:4566789:;5<=:>?=776:59:MM_M:L6@?E9:@AF:H=E:9?=776:=@F:�]̂:LGL569:7A:K766:5A:RLK56:

_̂_MP:Q=E:9?=776:=@9:9GJ�?5EAH:?6@99K77D:9L@?E:H7:@??7DD7F@HE:@:<KE@HEK:AGDVEK:7J:LGL569:@AF:=@9:KEC

FE95<A@HEF:H=E9E:K77D9:J7K:7H=EK:LGKL79E9P:Q=E:9?=776:8566:VE:HK@A9JEKK5A<:H7:AE8:VG56F:@??7DD7F@H57A:

@H:WE859:X7@F:JK7D:>ELHEDVEK:_̂_�P:>LE?5@659H:@??7DD7F@H57A:8566:VE:LK7S5FEF:@9:L@KH:7J:H=59P:

�dhof�elkjemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

Q@V6E:MM:VE678:9EH9:7GH:FEH@569:7J:KE?EAH:@AF:LK7�E?HEF:AGDVEK9:7A:K766:

boindessue�dpdfreof�emjk�dprd�efghidjqekfejknneoreyxnnkzqe{x|ce}pckkne

~ghidjqekfe�knne�v��}��e vgmxnemjk�dprxkfq�e

}pckkne

�
t
s
�
�s
�

�
t
s
�
�s
�

�
t
s
�
�s
�

�
t
s
�
��
t

�
t
�
t
��
s

�
t
�
s
��
�

�
t
�
�
��
�

�
t
�
�
��
�

�
t
�
�
��
�

�
t
�
�
��
�
e

4566789:;5<=:>?=776:
D@5A9HKE@D:L6@?E9:

���: ��M: OM�: OO�: �]̂: �]�: ���: ���: �]M: ���:

4566789:;5<=:>?=776:
>LE?5@659H:XE97GK?E:
Y@9E:L6@?E9:

��R: ��R: ��R: ��R: ��R: ��R: �: M̂: M�: _̂:

�:>?=776:LGL56:AGDVEK9:V@9EF:7A:67?@6:?@H?=DEAH:L7LG6@H57A:LK7�E?H57A9:@AF:=59H7K5?@6:

L@HHEKA9:7J:FED@AF:

�kf�xrxkfeof�e}gxroixnxr�ekle}pckkne�gxn�xf|qe

R66:9?=7769:5A: @KF5JJ:@KE:<5SEA:@: 7AF5H57A:K@H5A<:JK7D:R:¡LEKJ7KD5A<:@9:5AHEAFEF:�:7LEK@H5A<:EJ�?5EAH6I¢:

H7:£:¡65JE:EZL5KEF:�:K59a:7J:5DD5AEAH:J@56GKE¢:

>?=7769:5A: @KF5JJ:@KE:@697:<5SEA:@:>G5H@V565HI:K@H5A<:JK7D:R:¡<77F:N:J@?565H5E9:9G5H@V6E:J7K:HE@?=5A<T:

6E@KA5A<:¤:8E66VE5A<¢:H7:£:¡V@F:N:VG56F5A<:9EK57G96I:5A=5V5H:H=E:9H@JJ¥9:@V565HI:H7:FE65SEK:H=E:?GKK5?G6GD¢P:

¦§¦§̈ ¦©¦©̈

P
age 480



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"# $%&'()(%& �&' *+()��(�(), -.�'(&-* 

/.�'(&- $%&'()(%& 0+()��(�(), 

12 344526752489:6;<7=29>?@<97;AB2
3445C2D6@<A<;<9E2EF<;6GA92>4:2;96@H<7=I2A96:7<7=26752
J9AAG9<7=2<72E@H44A2

K2
L6;<E>6@;4:B2GF;2J<;H2M<74:2
59;9:<4:6;<472

L6;<E>6@;4:BC2N9:>4:M<7=26E2<7;975952GF;2549E274;2
9>>9@;<O9AB2EF884:;2;H9259A<O9:B24>2;H92@F::<@FAFM2<72
E4M926:96E2

P2 N44:2J<;H2M6Q4:259>9@;E2
N44:C2R96@H<7=2M9;H45E2<7H<G<;95S65O9:E92<M86@;2472
E@H44A24:=67<E6;<472

T2
U7524>2V<>9W2A<>92H6E29X8<:9524:2
:<EY24>2<MM<797;2>6<AF:92

Z9:B2844:C2KF<A5<7=E2E9:<4FEAB2<7H<G<;2;H92E;6>>[E26G<A<;B2
;4259A<O9:2;H92@F::<@FAFM2

RH92@F::97;2\<AA4JE2]<=H2L@H44A2GF<A5<7=E26:92:6;952T2>4:2@475<;<4726752P2>4:2EF<;6G<A<;BC2]4J9O9:I28A67E2

;42;:67E>9:2;H92E@H44A2;4279J2GF<A526@@4MM456;<4726;2V9J<E2̂46526:92@F::97;AB2G9<7=28:4=:9EE95C2

RH92E@H44A2<E2;:67E>9::<7=2;4279J2GF<A526@@4MM456;<4726;2V9J<E2̂4652>:4M2L98;9MG9:2_̀_aC2

bcdefghidjkilgdjkdmkni

RH92P4F7@<A2J4:YE2@A4E9AB2J<;H2;J424:=67<E6;<47E2<724:59:2;42M47<;4:2;H9289:>4:M67@924>2E@H44AE26752;42

EF884:;2E@H44A2<M8:4O9M97;C2

UE;B72<E2;H924>?@924>2]9:2o6Q9E;B[E2PH<9>2p7E89@;4:24>2U5F@6;<4726752R:6<7<7=2<72\6A9EC2

UE;B72<7E89@;E2qF6A<;B26752E;6756:5E2<72E@H44AE267524;H9:295F@6;<4728:4O<59:E2<72\6A9EC2

RH92P97;:6A2L4F;H2P47E4:;<FM2r4<7;2U5F@6;<472L9:O<@92sPLPrULt2<E2;H92:9=<476A2L@H44A2pM8:4O9M97;2

L9:O<@92>4:2;H92?O92@4F7@<AE24>2K:<5=975I2P6:5<>>I2o9:;HB:2RB5?AI2̂H475562PB7472R6>>26752;H92Z6A924>2

3A6M4:=67C2RH92P4F7@<A2J4:YE2J<;H2;H92P47E4:;<FM2;42EF884:;26752@H6AA97=926AA2E@H44AE2<72P6:5<>>C2

V4@6A21F;H4:<;<9EI2EF@H26E2P6:5<>>2P4F7@<AI2MFE;2@47E<59:2UE;B72:984:;E267524;H9:29O<597@926G4F;2E@H44A2

89:>4:M67@9267529>>9@;<O979EE2JH972EF==9E;<7=2@H67=9E2;42E@H44AEC2

V4@6A21F;H4:<;<9E2MFE;26AE42@47E<59:2;H92A<Y9AB2<M86@;24>2;H928:484E952@H67=9E247u2

v2E;6756:5EI2J9AAG9<7=267526;;<;F59E2;42A96:7<7=2

v2;96@H<7=26752A96:7<7=29X89:<97@9E2

v2@6:92EF884:;26752=F<567@92

v2A9659:EH<826752M676=9M97;2sA9659:EH<8I2<M8:4O<7=2qF6A<;BI286:;79:EH<82J4:Y<7=26752:9E4F:@92

M676=9M97;t2

w*),& 

L@H44AE26:92<7E89@;9526E286:;24>26276;<476A28:4=:6MM924>2E@H44A2<7E89@;<47C2RH928F:84E924>2672

<7E89@;<472<E2;42<597;<>B2=4452>96;F:9E26752EH4:;@4M<7=E2<72E@H44AE2<724:59:2;H6;2;H9B2M6B2<M8:4O92;H92

qF6A<;B24>295F@6;<4724>>9:9526752:6<E92E;6756:5E26@H<9O952GB2;H9<:28F8<AE2sUE;B7tC2

RH92:9A9O67;2UE;B72p7E89@;<472:984:;E28:4O<592=:659E26=6<7E;2x9B2yF9E;<47E267528:4O<592E@H44AE2J<;H2

:9@4MM9756;<47E2>4:2<M8:4O9M97;C2

z4F2@672?752<7E89@;<472:984:;E2472;H92UE;B72J9GE<;92{{{|}~���|���|���

���*� /%��.&��&) ��)�-%.(*�)(%& %� *��%%�* 

p72_̀��I2;H92\9AEH234O9:7M97;2<7;:45F@9526279J2@6;9=4:<E6;<472EBE;9MC2

p;2A44YE26;296@H2E@H44A[E2E;6756:5E26752H4J2MF@H262E@H44A2<E26GA92;42<M8:4O9C2RH<E2<597;<?9E2;H92A9O9A24>2

EF884:;2E@H44AE2:9qF<:9C2�:=67<E6;<47E2EF@H26E2;H92P97;:6A2L4F;H2P47E4:;<FM2sPLPrULt26752;H92E@H44A2

<M8:4O9M97;2E9:O<@92;H972J4:Y2J<;H2E@H44AE[2A9659:E2;42<597;<>BI28:4O<592675S4:2G:4Y9:267B2EF884:;2

:9qF<:952>4:2>F:;H9:2<M8:4O9M97;C2

RH92@6;9=4:<E6;<472EBE;9M2<E259E@:<G952<72R6GA92��2G9A4Ju2

����� !�# $�)�-%.(*�)(%& 0,*)�� 

$�)�-%., %� *+��%.) ���) )�� ��)�-%., ���&* 

/.��& 
12H<=HAB29>>9@;<O92E@H44A2JH<@H2<E2J9AA2:F7I2H6E262E;:47=2A9659:EH<826752<E2
@A96:26G4F;2<;E28:<4:<;<9E2>4:2<M8:4O9M97;2

����%� 
1729>>9@;<O92E@H44A2JH<@H2<E26A:965B254<7=2J9AA26752Y74JE2;H926:96E2<;2
7995E2;42<M8:4O9C2

����. 
12E@H44A2<72799524>2<M8:4O9M97;2JH<@H27995E2H9A82;42<597;<>B2;H92E;98E2
;42<M8:4O924:2;42M6Y92@H67=92H688972M4:92qF<@YABC2

��' 
12E@H44A2<72799524>2=:96;9E;2<M8:4O9M97;26752J<AA2:9@9<O92<MM95<6;9I2
<7;97E<O92EF884:;C2

12E@H44A[E2@4A4F:�@45952@6;9=4:B2<E259@<5952GB2H4J2<;2<E2:6;952>4:2E;6756:5E2s���t26752>4:2H4J26GA92<;2<E2;42

<M8:4O92s1�TtC2

�2<E2;H92G9E;2:6;<7=2>4:2E;6756:5E2675212<E2;H92G9E;2>4:2<M8:4O9M97;C2

�856;952@6;9=4:<E6;<47E2>4:296@H2E@H44A26:928FGA<EH9529O9:B2B96:2<72r67F6:BC2

o4:92<7>4:M6;<4726G4F;2;H92@6;9=4:<E6;<472E@H9M92@672G92>4F752<72;H92\9AEH234O9:7M97;[E286:97;E[2

=F<592;42;H92�6;<476A2L@H44A2P6;9=4:<E6;<472LBE;9M2H9:9u2

H;;8uSS=4OCJ6A9ES54@ES5@9AAES8FGA<@6;<47ES�à����86:97;E�=F<59�97C85>2

����� �����

P
age 481



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"�#$!%&$���!

'())*+,-.(/0-120**)-+3,-)3,4-(5,672478-9:-;,4:5-(5-<6=()->?@AB-

<4-40(,-4(C7-407-,43583=8,D-+7))97(5/-358-344(4E87,-4*-)73=5(5/D-47320(5/-358-)73=5(5/-7F67=(7527D-358-

)7387=,0(6-358-C353/7C754-+7=7-GE8/78-3,-387HE347-358-5778(5/-(C6=*I7C754B-J07-,20**),-23=7D-

,E66*=4-358-/E(83527-+3,-GE8/78-3,-/**8B-

K5-407-C*,4-=72754-'7),0-L*I7=5C754-120**)-M347/*=(,34(*5-34-N35E3=:->?>?D-'())*+,-.(/0-120**)-+3,-

2347/*=(,78-34-O7))*+-P<5-7QQ724(I7-,20**)-+0(20-(,-3)=738:-8*(5/-+7))-358-R5*+,-407-3=73,-(4-5778,-4*-

(C6=*I7SB-

<5-3,,7,,C754-6=*I(878-9:-407-M754=3)-1*E40-M*5,*=4(EC-(5-<E4EC5->?>@-/3I7-407-Q*))*+(5/-

7I3)E34(*5T-

U-J07-6=*6*=4(*5-*Q-6E6(),-C3R(5/-4+*-*=-C*=7-)7I7),-*Q-6=*/=7,,-Q=*C-V7:-143/7->-P3/7,-W-X-@@S-

4*-V7:-143/7-Y-P3/7,-@@Z[\SD-(5-2*C63=(,*5-+(40-)*23)-358-=7/(*53)-3I7=3/7,D-+3,-CE20-/=7347=-(5-

;5/)(,0D-40*E/0-+3,-CE20-)*+7=-(5-C3407C34(2,-358-,2(7527B-

U-J07-,20**)-03,-C387-,4=*5/-6=*/=7,,-(5-,E66*=4(5/-C*,4-473207=,-4*-87I7)*6-2*5,(,4754-,4=347/(7,-4*-

(C6=*I7-407-)73=5(5/-7F67=(7527,-*Q-C*,4-6E6(),B-

]̂ _̀_̂ abc̀defgcfhcd̀fèeij̀dkî b̂̀lj̀fmmjkejc̀lǹeij̀kifgojd̀

%pqrsqts !

J07-M*E52()-03,-C387-3-2)73=-2*CC(4C754-4*-2*54(5E(5/-407-(5I7,4C754-(5D-358-(C6=*I7C754-*QD-M3=8(QQ-

,20**),-4*-C3R7-,E=7-7I7=:-20()8-03,-407-97,4-6*,,(9)7-,43=4-(5-)(Q7-Puuuvwxyz{||w}~~{�~���vw}v��SB-

J07-M*E52()-+*=R,-2)*,7):-+(40-407-/*I7=5(5/-9*8(7,-*Q-,20**),-4*-C3R7-,E=7-4034-,43583=8,-(5-,20**),-

3=7-0(/0D-4034-47320(5/-(,-/**8-358-4034-)7387=,0(6-358-/*I7=53527-(,-,4=*5/B-

143583=8,-34-'())*+,-.(/0-120**)-3=7-/**8B-;,439)(,0(5/-,672(3)(,4-=7,*E=27-93,7-6=*I(,(*5-34-407-,20**)-

+*E)8-6=*I(87-366=*6=(347-0(/0-HE3)(4:-,20**)-6)327,-Q*=-:*E5/-67*6)7-+(40-2*C6)7F-)73=5(5/-5778,B-

J07-6=*6*,3)-(,-5*4-7F672478-4*-03I7-35:-57/34(I7-(C6324-*5-407-HE3)(4:-*Q-,43583=8,-*Q-78E234(*5-34-

407-,20**)-3,-3-=7,E)4-*Q-407-6=*6*,78-2035/7,B-

��q&$�r#!qrs!��qtr�r#!����t��r&� !

J07-6=*6*,3)-(,-5*4-7F672478-4*-03I7-35:-57/34(I7-(C6324-*5-47320(5/-358-)73=5(5/-7F67=(7527,-34-

'())*+,-.(/0-120**)B-

�qt�! ����tp!qrs!#��sqr&�!

<))-,20**),-03I7-35-366=*6=(347-=35/7-*Q-6*)(2(7,-358-6=*I(,(*5-(5-6)327-4*-6=*C*47-6E6(),�-073)40-358-

+7))97(5/B-

J07-,20**)-(,-2*CC(4478-4*-6=*I(8(5/-35-75I(=*5C754-(5-+0(20-)73=5(5/-(,-I3)E78-358-6E6(),-320(7I7-407(=-

6*4754(3)-(5-3-0366:D-,3Q7-75I(=*5C754-(5-+0(20-407:-,0*+-=7,6724-358-4*)7=3527-Q*=-7320-*407=B-

J07-M*E52()-+*E)8-+*=R-+(40-407-)7387=,0(6-*Q-407-,20**)-4*-C3R7-,E=7-7I7=:*57-E587=,4358,-407(=-

=7,6*5,(9()(4:-Q*=-07)6(5/-4*-(C6=*I7-358-,E,43(5-23=7-,E66*=4-358-/E(83527B-

��qs�t $��!qrs!�qrq#���rp!

J07-M*E52()-+*E)8-2*54(5E7-4*-+*=R-+(40-407-)7387=,0(6-*Q-407-,20**)-4*-C3R7-,E=7-7I7=:*57-

E587=,4358,-407(=-=7,6*5,(9()(4:-Q*=-07)6(5/-4*-(C6=*I7-358-,E,43(5-0(/0-67=Q*=C3527B-K4-+*E)8-,E66*=4-

407-,20**)-4*-03I7-3-/**8-=7)34(*5,0(6-+(40-63=754,-358-*407=-63=457=,-,*-4034-6E6(),-=727(I7-3-0(/0Z

HE3)(4:-78E234(*5B-

J07-6=*6*,78-2035/7,-+*E)8-97-6)35578-23=7QE)):-,*-4034-407-,20**)�,-)7387=,0(6-358-/*I7=53527-(,-5*4-

8(,=E6478D-+0(20-2*E)8-03I7-3-57/34(I7-(C6324-*5-78E234(*53)-,43583=8,B-

�cc�e�̂gfb̀da��̂hèm̂h̀�a��bd̀

J39)7-@\-97)*+-,0*+,-407-67=27543/7,-*QT-

U-�E6(),-+(40-<88(4(*53)-�73=5(5/-�778,-

U-�E6(),-=727(I(5/-�=77-120**)-�73),-

U-�E6(),-+(40-;5/)(,0-3,-35-<88(4(*53)-�35/E3/7-

U-�(5*=(4:-;405(2-6E6(),-34-7320-*Q-407-,20**),B-

�q���!���!������ !"�#$!%&$���!

���!����� ! �!

�-*Q-�E6(),-*5-120**)-<24(*5- WB�-

�-*Q-�E6(),-*5-120**)-<24(*5-�)E,- @@B\-

�-*Q-�E6(),-+(40-3-,4347C754-*Q-<��- @B�-

�-*Q-�=77-120**)-�73),-�E6(),Z-Y-:73=-3I7=3/7- \AB�-

�-*Q-�E6(),-+(40-;5/)(,0-3,-35-<88(4(*53)-�35/E3/7- >>B�-

�-*Q-�(5*=(4:-;405(2-�E6(),- �YB�-

� � ¡ ����¡

P
age 482



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#!�$�%&'!(% )!*++% %"#�&!,-�.#%#/!0--+'!1*,02!

345678995:;65<=59;>?56@;6;456?74AAB6CA8BD6E56F@>:;@>:5DG634565?;@EB>?4F5:;6AH6?=57>@B>?;695?A89756

E@?56=9AI>?>A:6CA8BD6=9AI>D56A==A9;8:>;>5?6HA96?;@HH6D5I5BA=F5:;6@:D6HA965:4@:7>:J6=8=>B?K6B5@9:>:J6>:6

=89=A?5LE8>B;6H@7>B>;>5?G6

3456MA8:7>B6@7N:ACB5DJ5?6;4@;6@674@:J56>:65:I>9A:F5:;67@:6E568:?5;;B>:J6@:D68=?5;;>:J6HA96

74>BD95:6C>;46@DD>;>A:@B6B5@9:>:J6:55D?G6O8=>B?6CA8BD6E56?8==A9;5D6;A65:@EB56;45F6;A6@D@=;6;A6;456

74@:J5?6=9A=A?5DG6

P"(!("$&+!'$��". !Q".!�$�%&'!(% )!R#/&%')!�'!�#!*++% %"#�&!,�#/$�/-!S-!�QQ-� -+T!

O8=>B?6;4@;69575>I56?8==A9;6E57@8?56;45U64@I56V:JB>?46@?6@:6@DD>;>A:@B6B@:J8@J567@:6E56?8==A9;5D6>:6@:U6

?74AAB6>:6M@9D>HHG6

345956>?6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6@I@>B@EB56;4@;6?8JJ5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@I56@6:5J@;>I565HH57;6A:64AC6

74>BD95:6C>;46V:JB>?46@?6@:6@DD>;>A:@B6B@:J8@J56@956?8==A9;5DG63456?74AAB6CA8BD67A:;>:856;A6=9AI>D56

?8==A9;6;4@;6>?6@==9A=9>@;56;A6;456>:D>I>D8@B6:55D?6AH65@746=8=>BG6

P"(!("$&+!�$�%&'!.-�-%W%#/!X.--!Y�)""&!Z-�&'!S-!�QQ-� -+T!

[AF56AH6;456H8:D>:J6;4@;6@6?74AAB69575>I5?6>?6E@?5D6A:6;456:8FE596AH6=8=>B?6>:6;456?74AAB6C4A69575>I56

\9556[74AAB6]5@B?G6̂BB6?74AAB?6>:6M@9D>HH6CA8BD69575>I56H8:D>:J6HA96;45?56=8=>B?G6

345956>?6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6@I@>B@EB56;4@;6?8JJ5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@I56@6:5J@;>I565HH57;6A:6=8=>B?6

@;6;456?74AAB6C4A69575>I56\9556[74AAB6]5@B?G6

P"(!("$&+!Z%#".% _!R )#%�!̀$�%&'!S-!�QQ-� -+T!

3456:55D?6AH6>:D>I>D8@B6=8=>B?6@956@??5??5D6@:D6=9AI>D5D6HA96@?6@==9A=9>@;5G6345956>?6@B?A6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6

@I@>B@EB56;4@;6?8JJ5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@I56@6:5J@;>I565HH57;6A:6=9AI>?>A:6HA96@:U65;4:>76J9A8=G6

abcdecfgedbgehgigjdkelmedbgenflnlkgoepbciqgre

s63456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD6>:795@?56;456:8FE596AH6?=57>@B>?;695?A89756=B@75?6HA96?57A:D@9U6@J5D6B5@9:59?6

C>;467AF=B5<6B5@9:>:J6:55D?6@:D6CA8BD67A:;9>E8;56;AC@9D?6F55;>:J6=9At57;5D6D5F@:DG6

s63456A==A9;8:>;U6;A65F=BAU6?=57>@B>?;6?;@HH6@:D6;A6CA9N6FA9567BA?5BU6C>;46?=57>@B>?;6?59I>75?6>:6M@9D>HH6

CA8BD65:4@:756;456?74AABK?6>:7B8?>I56;5@74>:JG634>?6CA8BD6E5:5u;6@BB6=8=>B?6>:6;456?74AABG6

s63456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD65:?8956;4@;6=8=>B?6B>I>:J6>:6;456?A8;459:6@95@6AH6;4567>;U6;9@I5B6?4A9;596D>?;@:75?6

;A6@775??6?=57>@B>?;6=9AI>?>A:6;4@:6;A6@B;59:@;>I56=9AI>?>A:G6

vldgidwcxeowkcoycidcqgkelmedbgenflnlkgoepbciqge

s6[AF56=8=>B?6C>;46@DD>;>A:@B6B5@9:>:J6:55D?67@:6u:D674@:J56D>Hu78B;G6345U6F@U6u:D6FAI>:J6;A6@6

:5C6E8>BD>:J6A:6@6:5C6?>;568:?5;;B>:JG6z56N:AC6;45U6C>BB6:55D67@95H8BBU6=B@::5D6?8==A9;6;A6@D@=;6;A6

;456:5C6?5;;>:JG6{AC5I59|6;45956CA8BD6E56?8Hu7>5:;6;>F56;A6=B@:6@:D6?8==A9;6?8746@6;9@:?>;>A:G6

s6345956>?6=A;5:;>@B6HA96@6?F@BB6>:795@?56>:6;9@Hu76@9A8:D6;456?74AAB6?>;56@;6;456?;@9;6@:D65:D6AH6;456D@UG6

3456MA8:7>B6CA8BD6CA9N6C>;46;456}AI59:>:J6~ADU6AH6;456?74AAB6;A6D5I5BA=6@639@I5B6OB@:6;A6F>:>F>?56

@:U6=A;5:;>@B6D>?98=;>A:G6

�xdgficdwygelndwlikeplikwogfgoe

3456MA8:7>B6>?6?55N>:J6;A6=9AI>D56@6E5;;596D>?;9>E8;>A:6AH6?=57>@B>?;695?A89756=9AI>?>A:6@79A??6;4567>;UG6

34>?6CA8BD6>F=9AI56@775??6HA96=8=>B?|6@:D695D8756;9@I5B6;>F5?6HA96F@:U6=8=>B?|6@?6C5BB6@?6>:795@?>:J6;456

:8FE596AH6=B@75?6@I@>B@EB5G6̂6:8FE596AH6A;45965<=@:?>A:?|6@:D6:5C6=9AI>?>A:6@;6A;4596?74AAB?67>;ULC>D5|6

@956@B?A6=9A=A?5DG6

B̂;59:@;>I56A=;>A:?6;A6;4565?;@EB>?4F5:;6AH6@6[=57>@B>?;6�5?A89756~@?56@;6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AAB6

7A8BD6>:7B8D5�6

s6;4565?;@EB>?4F5:;6AH6:5C6?=57>@B>?;6=9AI>?>A:6A:6A;4596?74AAB6?>;5?6@:D�A96

s6;4565<=@:?>A:6AH65<>?;>:J6=9AI>?>A:6A:6A;4596?57A:D@9U6?74AAB6?>;5?|6@:D�6A96@6D>HH595:;6:8FE596AH6

=B@75?6>:6;45678995:;6A96=9A=A?5D6E@?5?G6

345956>?6:A6[=57>@B>?;6�5?A89756~@?56=9AI>?>A:6>:6;456@95@6?59I5D6EU6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AAB6@;6=95?5:;G6

B̂B674>BD95:6>:6;4>?6@95@6C4A695�8>956=B@75F5:;6>:6@6?=57>@B>?;695?A89756E@?5678995:;BU6;9@I5B6;A6A;4596

@95@?G63456:5@95?;6[=57>@B>?;6�5?A89756~@?56HA96B5@9:59?6@J5D6��L��6C>;467AF=B5<6B5@9:>:J6:55D?6>?6

@;6z4>;7489746{>J46[74AAB|6@==9A<>F@;5BU6?><6F>B5?6H9AF6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AABG6V?;@EB>?4>:J6=9AI>?>A:6

5B?5C4595|6A965<=@:D>:J65<>?;>:J6=9AI>?>A:|6CA8BD6:A;6>F=9AI56@775??6HA9674>BD95:6B>I>:J6>:6;456@95@6

?59I5D6EU6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AABG6

34565?;@EB>?4F5:;6AH6;456[=57>@B>?;6�5?A89756~@?567A8BD6E56D5B@U5D68:;>B6;456:5C6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AAB6

E8>BD>:J6>?67AF=B5;5G6{AC5I59|6;4>?6CA8BD6F5@:6;4@;674>BD95:695�8>9>:J6;456?8==A9;6AH6@695?A89756

E@?56CA8BD6:55D6;A6;@N568=6@6=B@7565B?5C4595|6@:D6@DD>;>A:@B6=B@75?6F@U6:55D6;A6E56=9AI>D5D6>:6:5C6

@77AFFAD@;>A:6@;6?>J:>u7@:;67A?;6HA96@:65<;5:D5D6;5F=A9@9U6=59>ADG6

V?;@EB>?4>:J6;4>?6=9AI>?>A:6@;6z>BBAC?6{>J46[74AAB6@45@D6AH6;9@:?H599>:J6;A6:5C6E8>BD6@77AFFAD@;>A:6>?6

;4595HA9567A:?>D595D6;A6E56;456=95H5995D6A=;>A:G6

����� �����

P
age 483



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$�%&"# '�(("%# 

)*+,-./0-+1-2345-6+7400+7.28+749:+9:-+;.3-2<4<=+>.?@+9.+A??2-66+9:-+)*+4B/045A94.<6+A2464<=+C2.B+9:-+

-69AD046:B-<9+.C+A+1/-54A0469+*-6.E25-+>A6-+A9+9:-+65:..0+A<?+9:-+2-6E094<=+<--?+C.2+A??494.<A0+69ACF<=G+

H:-2-+9:-+;.3-2<4<=+>.?@+:A3-+A?./9-?+9:-+I.E<540J6+15:..0+*-?-/0.@B-<9+A<?+*-?E<?A<5@+,.045@K+

A<@+<-7+3A5A<54-6+A2464<=+A6+A+5.<6-LE-<5-+.C+9:-+-69AD046:B-<9+.C+9:-+1/-54A0469+*-6.E25-+>A6-+7400+

/2.34?-+.//.29E<494-6+C.2+65:..0MDA6-?+69ACC+.<+9:-+65:..0+2-?-/0.@B-<9+2-=469-2G+

N%��#O$%( ��(("%# 

P:-+I.E<540+A//04-6+9:-+97.MB40-+69A9E9.2@+LEA04C@4<=+7A084<=+?469A<5-+5249-24A+C.2+/E/406+9.+LEA04C@+C.2+

C2--+:.B-+9.+65:..0+92A<6/.29+9.+6/-54A0469+2-6.E25-+DA6-6G+).7-3-2K+6.B-+0-A2<-26+7:.+043-+749:4<+

97.+B40-6+.C+9:-+65:..0+BA@+D-+/2.34?-?+749:+C2--+92A<6/.29+?E-+9.+9:-42+4<?434?EA0+0-A2<4<=+<--?6+A<?+

6.54A0+466E-6G+

Q9:-2+0-A2<-26+A2-+AD0-+9.+92A3-0+4<?-/-<?-<90@+.2+749:+/A2-<9R5A2-26+A<?+4C+2-64?-<9+749:4<+9:-+97.MB40-+

LEA04C@4<=+?469A<5-+BA@+<.9+D-+-04=4D0-+C.2+S-A2<-2+P2A<6/.29G+P:-6-+/E/406+A6+7-00+A6+69ACC+A<?+65:..0+

34649.26+7.E0?+D-<-F9+C2.B+A<@+2-LE42-?+4B/2.3-B-<96+4<+CA540494-6+C.2+A5943-+92A3-0+9.+65:..0+.2+/ED045+

92A<6/.29+CA540494-6G+

T6+9:46+46+A+/2./.6A0+C.2+A+<-7+65:..0+7:45:+46+A06.+9.+-69AD046:+<-7+T??494.<A0+S-A2<4<=+U--?6+CA540494-6K+49+

7400+2-LE42-+A+P2A<6/.29+T66-66B-<9+7:45:+7400+4?-<94C@+B-A6E2-6+9.+D-+4<50E?-?+A6+/A29+.C+9:-+A//045A94.<+

9.+BAV4B46-+92A3-0+D@+6E69A4<AD0-+B.?-6G+

P:-+I.E<540J6+5E22-<9+I.2/.2A9-+,0A<+4<50E?-6+A+5.BB49B-<9+9.+-3-2@+65:..0+4<+IA2?4CC+?-3-0./4<=+A<+

T5943-+P2A3-0+,0A<G+1E5:+A+/0A<+7400+4?-<94C@+A594.<6+D@+9:-+65:..0+9.+6E//.29+A<?+-<5.E2A=-+A5943-+92A3-0+

9.+65:..0+A<?+A06.+A<@+4B/2.3-B-<96+9.+.<M649-+A<?+.CCM649-+4<C2A692E59E2-+2-LE42-?+9.+CA54049A9-+A5943-+

W.E2<-@6G+

X<52-A64<=+92A3-0+9.+65:..0+D@+A5943-+B.?-6+Y7A084<=K+5@504<=+A<?+65..94<=Z+D@+-<6E24<=+6AC-+CA540494-6+A2-+

/2.34?-?+7400+:A3-+A+/.64943-+4B/A59+.<+5:40?2-<J6+:-A09:+A<?+7-00D-4<=G+

T+<EBD-2+.C+4<494A943-6+:A3-+6E55-66CE00@+?-B.<692A9-?+6E//.29+A<?+-<5.E2A=-B-<9+C.2+A5943-+A<?+

6E69A4<AD0-+92A3-0+AB.<=69+9:-+T??494.<A0+S-A2<4<=+U--?6+5.:.29K+7:45:+7.E0?+D-+.CC-2-?+9.+0-A2<-26+

A6+A//2./24A9-K+4<50E?4<=+X<?-/-<?-<9+P2A3-0+P2A4<4<=+C.2+.0?-2+/E/406K+5@50-+BA4<9-<A<5-+A<?+5@50-+

92A4<4<=G+

1E49AD0-+CA540494-6+C.2+?2./M.CC+A<?+/458ME/+D@+S-A2<-2+P2A<6/.29+3-:450-6+7400+D-+4<5.2/.2A9-?+749:4<+

9:-+?-64=<+.C+9:-+<-7+65:..0+649-+9.+A55.BB.?A9-+9:-+A//2./24A9-+<EBD-26+.C+3-:450-6+749:+A+

?-64=<A9-?+A55-66G+

��[" \$�% #�\ 

T9+9:-+-<?+.C+9:-+D..80-9+46+A+LE-694.<<A42-G+P:46+46+@.E2+5:A<5-+9.+0-9+9:-+I.E<540+8<.7+7:A9+@.E+9:4<8+

AD.E9+9:-+/2./.6A0G+].E+5A<+=43-+A+2-6/.<6-+9.+A00+.C+9:-+LE-694.<6K+.2+WE69+2-6/.<?+9.+6.B-+.C+9:-BK+A6+

@.E+/2-C-2G+

T09-2<A943-0@K+@.E+5A<+6-<?+E6+@.E2+34-76+4<+.<-+.C+9:-+C.00.74<=+7A@6̂+

_+I.B/0-94<=+9:-+.<04<-+2-6/.<6-+C.2B+A9+̀`̀ abcdefggahijaklmnopqbriistditiqcsqu

_+vBA40+@.E2+34-76+9.+qbriisdwqtixqwqybcdefggahijaklu

_+H249-+9.+E6+A9+9:-+C.00.74<=+A??2-66̂+15:..0+Q2=A<46A94.<+,0A<<4<=K+*..B+z{|K+I.E<9@+)A00K+T90A<945+

H:A2CK+IA2?4CCK+I}|{+z~HG+

P:-+I.E<540+7400+5.<64?-2+-3-2@.<-J6+34-76+D-C.2-+?-54?4<=+7:-9:-2+9.+=.+A:-A?+749:+9:-+

/2./.6-?+5:A<=-6G+

��������������������������������������������������������������������

����u ����u

P
age 484



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
/! (&�0*("1&20")+0��!"

34

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !"
)�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*"
. �*"�! +*�" '"

/! (&�0*("1&20")+0��!"

345

6789:;<=9>?:@<>AB<CC7>:;>89>D9@7:;<EF=G:HF>BCFFH9:IJ><:@<>;B<CC7>KCL>MHM:7;>8@=G>NNENOP>Q<=>;B<CC7>:;>

7CB8I=G>8I>?=C7>?:L>:9>6789:;<=9P>

Q<=>;B<CC7><C;I;>8>AM=B:87:;I>R=;CHLB=>S8;=>G=;:@98I=G>KCL>THI:;F>AM=BILHF>UC9G:I:C9>89G>8>AM=B:87:;I>

R=;CHLB=>S8;=>KCL>7=8L9=L;>V:I<>8><=8L:9@>:FM8:LF=9IP>

WC>B<89@=;>8L=>MLCMC;=G>IC>I<=>;B<CC7X;>AM=B:87:;I>R=;CHLB=>S8;=>KCL>7=8L9=L;>V:I<>8><=8L:9@>

:FM8:LF=9IP>

QC>F==I>I<=>G=F89G>KCL>AM=B:87:;I>R=;CHLB=>S8;=>M78B=;>KCL>7=8L9=L;>V:I<>THI:;F>AM=BILHF>UC9G:I:C9>

8@=G>NN>E>NO>:I>:;>MLCMC;=G>ICY>

Z>:9BL=8;=>I<=>G=;:@98I=G>9HF[=L>8I>I<=>6789:;<=9>?:@<>AB<CC7>AM=B:87:;I>R=;CHLB=>S8;=>KLCF>\]>IC>

_̂>KLCF>A=MI=F[=L>\]\\>

9̀I=L:F>VCLa;><8b=>[==9>H9G=LI8a=9>89G>KHLI<=L>VCLa;>VCH7G>[=>9=B=;;8LJ>IC>:FMLCb=>89G>=cI=9G>I<=>

BHLL=9I>AM=B:87:;I>R=;CHLB=>S8;=>K8B:7:I:=;>89G>8BBCFFCG8I:C9P>ACF=>CK>I<:;>VCLa><8;>87L=8GJ>[==9>

H9G=LI8a=9>:9>CLG=L>I<8I>I<=>;B<CC7d>89G>I<=>UCH9B:7d>B89>=9;HL=>;HKeB:=9I>M78B=;>V=L=>8b8:78[7=>KCL>

B<:7GL=9>L=fH:L:9@>I<=>;HMMCLI>CK>I<=>[8;=P>

ghijklmniojpqjrstuivjtwjwhijvuhppsj

Q8[7=>N_>[=7CV>MLCb:G=;>G=I8:7;>CK>M78B=;>8b8:78[7=>8I>6789:;<=9>?:@<>AB<CC7>

gtnsijxyzj{stuivjt|t}stnsijtwj~stk}vhikj�}�hj�uhppsj

�tmijpqj
vuhppsj

�looikwj
{lns}vhi�j
�trtu}w�j
�t�ijxxj�jx��j

{stuivj
rioj�itoj
�oplr

j�t�ijxxj�jx��j

�}�whjqpomj
rstuivj

~tk�lt�ij
mi�}lmjtk�j
�twi�po�j
pqj�uhppsj

6789:;<=9>?:@<>
AB<CC7>�WC9ETAU>
M78B=;�>

N_]]> �]]> �]]>

D9@7:;<EF=G:HF>
BCFFH9:IJ>
ML:F8LJ>;B<CC7>

6789:;<=9>?:@<>
AB<CC7>�TAU>
AM=B:87:;I>
R=;CHLB=>S8;=>
M78B=;�>

\]>

3�3�5

P
age 485



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�*+$"&,��"�-&.��/��((+�&,�0122�%+$��,�$"3�#���,��((+��$3�0456�% %&+,�("�!(++�&"�

7%!&+�6260�&"�+ 3&".�% %&+,�&"�#���/%��&$+&,#�8�,( !���9$,�:�

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�#���/%��&$+&,#�8�,( !���9$,��)(!�+�$!"�!,�;&#��7 #&,#&��/%��#! <�=("3&#&("�$#�

*+$"&,��"�-&.��/��((+�&,�62�%+$��,��(;�>�!�#���?$,���$3�@A�+�$!"�!,�("�!(++�&"�B�#(?�!�6260:�

CDEFGHIJKLIMNFODPIFQIQRDIPORKKNI

�$?+��04�?�+(;�,�#,�( #�3�#$&+,�()�!���"#�$"3�%!(S��#�3�" <?�!,�("�!(++�

TFUNDIVWXIYDODGQIFGHIMLKZDOQDHIG[EUDLPIKGILKNNIFQI\NFG]PRDGÎ]_RÌORKKNI

a[EUDLPIKGIYKNNIbc\d̀efI c[M]NIMLKZDOQ]KGPgI

ÒRKKNI

h
i
V
W
jV
k

h
i
V
k
jV
l

h
i
V
l
jV
m

h
i
V
m
jh
i

h
i
h
i
jh
V

h
i
h
V
jh
h

h
i
h
h
jh
n

h
i
h
n
jh
o

h
i
h
o
jh
p

h
i
h
p
jh
W
I

*+$"&,��"�-&.��
/��((+�<$&",#!�$<�
%+$��,�

0A0q�0A52�0A54�0A41�0A1q�0421�0450�04@2�0450�042q�

*+$"&,��"�-&.��
/��((+�/%��&$+&,#�
8�,( !���9$,��
r+$��,�s7/=t�

6A� 6q� 6q� 55� @A� @A� @A� @A� @A� @A�

u�/��((+�% %&+�" <?�!,�?$,�3�("�+(�$+��$#��<�"#�%(% +$#&("�%!(S��#&(",�$"3��&,#(!&�$+�

%$##�!",�()�3�<$"3�

eKGH]Q]KGIFGHÌ[]QFU]N]QvIKJÌORKKNIw[]NH]G_PI

7++�,��((+,�&"�=$!3&))�$!��.&>�"�$�=("3&#&("�!$#&".�)!(<�7�s%�!)(!<&".�$,�&"#�"3�3�x�(%�!$#&".��)y�&�"#+'t�

#(�z�s+&)���{%&!�3�x�!&,|�()�&<<&"�"#�)$&+ !�t�

/��((+,�&"�=$!3&))�$!��$+,(�.&>�"�$�/ &#$?&+&#'�!$#&".�)!(<�7�s.((3�}�)$�&+&#&�,�, &#$?+��)(!�#�$��&".~�

+�$!"&".���;�++?�&".t�#(�z�s?$3�}�? &+3&".�,�!&( ,+'�&"�&?&#�#���,#$))�,�$?&+&#'�#(�3�+&>�!�#���� !!&� + <t:�

TFUNDIVkXIeKGH]Q]KGIFGHIP[]QFU]N]QvI_LFH]G_PI

�LFH]G_I eKGH]Q]KGI [̀]QFU]N]QvI

7� �((3�$"3�(%�!$#&".��)y�&�"#+'�
�((3:��$�&+&#&�,�, &#$?+��)(!�#�$��&".~�+�$!"&".�$"3�
;�++?�&".�&"�,��((+�

9�
/$#&,)$�#(!'�? #�;&#��<&"(!�
3�#�!&(!$#&("�

/$#&,)$�#(!':�r�!)(!<&".�$,�&"#�"3�3�? #�3(�,�"(#�
�))��#&>�+'�, %%(!#�#���3�+&>�!'�()�#���� !!&� + <�&"�
,(<��$!�$,�

=� r((!�;&#��<$S(!�3�)��#,�
r((!:���$��&".�<�#�(3,�&"�&?&#�3x$3>�!,��&<%$�#�("�
,��((+�(!.$"&,$#&("�

z�
�"3�()�*&)���+&)���$,��{%&!�3�(!�
!&,|�()�&<<&"�"#�)$&+ !��

��!'�%((!:�9 &+3&".,�,�!&( ,+'�&"�&?&#�#���,#$))�,�$?&+&#'�
#(�3�+&>�!�#���� !!&� + <�

*+$"&,��"�-&.��/��((+�&,�!$#�3�=�)(!��("3&#&("�$"3�=�)(!�, &#$?&+&#':�

����,&#�~�$"3�+(�$+�&")!$,#! �# !��())�,&#�~�;( +3�, %%(!#�#����{%$",&("�()�#���?$,�:�

����������������������

����=( "�&+�;(!|,��+(,�+'�;&#��#;(�(!.$"&,$#&(",�&"�(!3�!�#(�<("&#(!�#���%�!)(!<$"���()�,��((+,�$"3�#(�

, %%(!#�,��((+�&<%!(>�<�"#:�

�,#'"�&,�#���()y���()�-�!��$S�,#'�,�=�&�)��",%��#(!�()��3 �$#&("�$"3��!$&"&".�&"��$+�,:�

�,#'"�&",%��#,�� $+&#'�$"3�,#$"3$!3,�&"�,��((+,�$"3�(#��!��3 �$#&("�%!(>&3�!,�&"��$+�,:�

����=�"#!$+�/( #��=(",(!#& <��(&"#��3 �$#&("�/�!>&���s=/=��/t�&,�#���!�.&("$+�/��((+��<%!(>�<�"#�

/�!>&���)(!�#���y>���( "�&+,�()�9!&3.�"3~�=$!3&))~���!#�'!��'3y+~�8�("33$�='"("��$))�$"3�#����$+��()�

�+$<(!.$":�����=( "�&+�;(!|,�;&#��#���=(",(!#& <�#(�, %%(!#�$"3���$++�".��$++�,��((+,�&"�=$!3&)):�

*(�$+�7 #�(!&#&�,~�, ���$,�=$!3&))�=( "�&+~�< ,#��(",&3�!��,#'"�!�%(!#,�$"3�(#��!��>&3�"���$?( #�,��((+�

%�!)(!<$"���$"3��))��#&>�"�,,�;��"�, ..�,#&".���$".�,�#(�,��((+,:�

����� �����

P
age 486



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$�%&#&'( )"(# ��(� ��*(&+'% #$' �&,'�- &).��# �/ #$' .%�.�('+ �$�*0'( �*1 

2 (#�*+�%+(3 4'��5'&*0 �*+ �##&#"+'( #� �'�%*&*0 

2 #'��$&*0 �*+ �'�%*&*0 '6.'%&'*�'( 

2 ��%' ("..�%# �*+ 0"&+�*�' 

2 �'�+'%($&. �*+ )�*�0')'*# 7�'�+'%($&.3 &).%�8&*0 9"��&#-3 .�%#*'%($&. 4�%,&*0 �*+ %'(�"%�' 

)�*�0')'*#: 

;<=>?@

A�$���( �%' &*(.'�#'+ �( .�%# �/ � *�#&�*�� .%�0%�))' �/ (�$��� &*(.'�#&�*B C$' ."%.�(' �/ �* 

&*(.'�#&�* &( #� &+'*#&/- 0��+ /'�#"%'( �*+ ($�%#��)&*0( &* (�$���( &* �%+'% #$�# #$'- )�- &).%�8' #$' 

9"��&#- �/ '+"��#&�* �//'%'+ �*+ %�&(' (#�*+�%+( ��$&'8'+ 5- #$'&% .".&�( 7D(#-*:B 

C$' %'�'8�*# D(#-* E*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( .%�8&+' 0%�+'( �0�&*(# F'- G"'(#&�*( �*+ .%�8&+' (�$���( 4&#$ 

%'��))'*+�#&�*( /�% &).%�8')'*#B 

H�" ��* I*+ &*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( �* #$' D(#-* 4'5(&#' JJJKLMNOPKQRSKTUV

WXY<Z@[\]X̂?_X?=@̀a=Xb\̂c<a=c\?@\d@<̀Z\\Y<@

E* efgh3 #$' i'�($ j�8'%*)'*# &*#%�+"�'+ � *'4 ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#')B 

E# ���,( �# '��$ (�$���k( (#�*+�%+( �*+ $�4 )"�$ � (�$��� &( �5�' #� &).%�8'B C$&( &+'*#&I'( #$' �'8'� �/ 

("..�%# (�$���( %'9"&%'B l%0�*&(�#&�*( ("�$ �( #$' m'*#%�� A�"#$ m�*(�%#&") 7mAmnDA: �*+ #$' (�$��� 

&).%�8')'*# ('%8&�' #$'* 4�%, 4&#$ (�$���(k �'�+'%( #� &+'*#&/-3 .%�8&+' �*+o�% 5%�,'% �*- ("..�%# 

%'9"&%'+ /�% /"%#$'% &).%�8')'*#B 

C$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#') &( +'(�%&5'+ &* C�5�' gp 5'��41 

qarYX@stu@va=Xb\̂c<a=c\?@w><=X_@

va=Xb\̂>@\d@<xyy\̂=@ WZa=@=ZX@̀a=Xb\̂>@_Xa?<@

[̂XX?@
! $&0$�- '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( 4'�� %"*3 $�( � (#%�*0 �'�+'%($&. �*+ &( 
��'�% �5�"# &#( .%&�%&#&'( /�% &).%�8')'*# 

zXYY\{@
!* '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( ��%'�+- +�&*0 4'�� �*+ ,*�4( #$' �%'�( &# 
*''+( #� &).%�8'B 

|_rX̂@
! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ &).%�8')'*# 4$&�$ *''+( $'�. #� &+'*#&/- #$' (#'.( 
#� &).%�8' �% #� )�,' �$�*0' $�..'* )�%' 9"&�,�-B 

}X~@
! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ 0%'�#'(# &).%�8')'*# �*+ 4&�� %'�'&8' &))'+&�#'3 
&*#'*(&8' ("..�%#B

 ! (�$���k( ����"%���+'+ ��#'0�%- &( +'�&+'+ 5- $�4 &# &( %�#'+ /�% (#�*+�%+( 7g�h: �*+ /�% $�4 �5�' &# &( 

#� &).%�8' 7!��:B 

g &( #$' 5'(# %�#&*0 /�% (#�*+�%+( �*+ ! &( #$' 5'(# /�% &).%�8')'*#B 

�.+�#'+ ��#'0�%&(�#&�*( /�% '��$ (�$��� �%' ."5�&($'+ '8'%- -'�% &* n�*"�%-B 

��%' &*/�%)�#&�* �5�"# #$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (�$')' ��* 5' /�"*+ &* #$' i'�($ j�8'%*)'*#k( .�%'*#(k 

0"&+' #� #$' ��#&�*�� A�$��� m�#'0�%&(�#&�* A-(#') $'%'1 

$##.1oo0�8B4��'(o+��(o+�'��(o."5�&��#&�*(og�fgg��.�%'*#(�0"&+'�'*B.+/ 

�Ya?c<ZX?@�cbZ@ẁZ\\Y@

���*&($'* �&0$ A�$��� 4�( ��(# &*(.'�#'+ 5- D(#-* &* �'5%"�%- efg�B 

!# #$&( #&)' #$' (�$���k( .'%/�%)�*�' �*+ .%�(.'�#( /�% &).%�8')'*# 4'%' �"+0'+ �( �+'9"�#' �*+ 

*''+&*0 &).%�8')'*#B 

�����4&*0 � /"%#$'% )�*&#�%&*0 8&(&# &* ��8')5'% efg�3 #$' (�$��� 4�( �"+0'+ #� $�8' )�+' 0��+ 

.%�0%'(( �*+ 4�( %')�8'+ /%�) #$' (�$��� /%�) #$' �&(# �/ (�$���( %'9"&%&*0 D(#-* %'8&'4B 

E* #$' )�(# %'�'*# i'�($ j�8'%*)'*# A�$��� m�#'0�%&(�#&�* �# n�*"�%- efef3 ���*&($'* �&0$ A�$��� 

4�( ��#'0�%&('+ �# j%''* 7! $&0$�- '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( 4'�� %"*3 $�( � (#%�*0 �'�+'%($&. �*+ &( ��'�% 

�5�"# &#( .%&�%&#&'( /�% &).%�8')'*#:B 

!* �(('(()'*# .%�8&+'+ 5- #$' m'*#%�� A�"#$ m�*(�%#&") &* !"#")* efeg 0�8' #$' /����4&*0 

'8��"�#&�*1 

2 �%�0%'(( /%�) F'- A#�0' e 7�0'( � � gg: #� F'- A#�0' � 7�0'( gg � gh: $�( ��*#&*"'+ #� 5' 8'%- 

(#%�*03 4&#$ )�(# .".&�( )�,&*0 '6.'�#'+ .%�0%'(( �% �5�8' &* D*0�&($3 )�#$')�#&�( �*+ (�&'*�'B 

2 C$' �".&� �'8'��.)'*# j%�*# 7��j: $�( 5''* "('+ '//'�#&8'�- #� &).%�8' �"#��)'( /�% �'�%*'%(3 �* 

'6�).�' 5'&*0 #$' .'%/�%)�*�' �/ .".&�( '�&0&5�' /�% �%'' A�$��� �'��( ��%�(( ��� ��%' ("5�'�#( �# 

F'- A#�0' h 7�0'( gh � g�:B 

2 C$' (�$��� &( 8'%- 4'�� �'+ �*+ )�*�0'+ 5- #$' $'�+#'��$'% �*+ #$' ('*&�% �'�+'%($&. #'�)B C$'- 

$�8' 4�%,'+ 8'%- '//'�#&8'�- #� %�&(' #$' ��$&'8')'*# �/ *'�%�- ��� .".&�( �*+ &).%�8' #'��$&*0 �*+ 

�%' 4'�� ("..�%#'+ 5- #$' )�&* 5�+- �/ (#�// 4$� �%' ,''* /�% #$' (�$��� #� &).%�8' /"%#$'%B 

����V����V

P
age 487



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"#$%!$&!"�$#�#'(�")'�� �*(�$++()#(!�*,�#'(�)'$%-("�

./01203245

6789:;<=>?@97AB9CAD89A9>@8AE9>;CC?FC8=F9F;9>;=F?=<?=G9F789?=H8BFC8=F9?=I9A=D9?CJE;H8C8=F9;KI9:AED?KK9

B>7;;@B9F;9CAL89B<E898H8EM9>7?@D97AB9F789N8BF9J;BB?N@89BFAEF9?=9@?K89OPPPQRSTUVWWRXYYVZY[\ZQRXQ]̂_̀9

6789:;<=>?@9a;ELB9>@;B8@M9a?F79F789G;H8E=?=G9N;D?8B9;K9B>7;;@B9F;9CAL89B<E89F7AF9BFA=DAEDB9?=9B>7;;@B9

AE897?G7I9F7AF9F8A>7?=G9?B9G;;D9A=D9F7AF9@8AD8EB7?J9A=D9G;H8E=A=>89?B9BFE;=G̀9

bFA=DAEDB9AF9c@A=?B78=9d?G79b>7;;@9AE89G;;D̀9e=>E8AB?=G9F789f<F?BC9bJ8>FE<C9:;=D?F?;=9bJ8>?A@?BF9

g8B;<E>89hAB89JE;H?B?;=9a;<@D9JE;H?D89AJJE;JE?AF897?G79i<A@?FM9B>7;;@9J@A>8B9K;E9M;<=G9J8;J@89a?F79

A<F?BC̀9eF9?B9=;F98jJ8>F8D9F7AF9F789JE;J;BA@9a?@@9?CJA>F9;=9BFA=DAEDB9AF9F789B>7;;@̀9

6789JE;J;BA@9?B9=;F98jJ8>F8D9F;97AH89A=M9=8GAF?H89?CJA>F9;=9F789i<A@?FM9;K9BFA=DAEDB9;K98D<>AF?;=9AF9

F789B>7;;@9AB9A9E8B<@F9;K9F789JE;J;B8D9>7A=G8B̀9

kl0mno1p50125ql031o1p5lrsl3ol1ml45

6789JE;J;BA@9?B9=;F98jJ8>F8D9F;97AH89A=M9=8GAF?H89?CJA>F9;=9F8A>7?=G9A=D9@8AE=?=G98jJ8E?8=>8B9AF9

c@A=?B78=9d?G79b>7;;@̀9

t03l54ussv3/50125puo201ml5

f@@9B>7;;@B97AH89A=9AJJE;JE?AF89EA=G89;K9J;@?>?8B9A=D9JE;H?B?;=9?=9J@A>89F;9JE;C;F89J<J?@Bw978A@F79A=D9

a8@@N8?=G̀9

6789B>7;;@9?B9>;CC?FF8D9F;9JE;H?D?=G9A=98=H?E;=C8=F9?=9a7?>79@8AE=?=G9?B9HA@<8D9A=D9J<J?@B9A>7?8H89F78?E9

J;F8=F?A@9?=9A97AJJMI9BAK898=H?E;=C8=F9?=9a7?>79F78M9B7;a9E8BJ8>F9A=D9F;@8EA=>89K;E98A>79;F78È9

6789:;<=>?@9a;<@D9a;EL9a?F79F789@8AD8EB7?J9;K9F789B>7;;@9F;9CAL89B<E898H8EM;=89<=D8EBFA=DB9F78?E9

E8BJ;=B?N?@?FM9K;E978@J?=G9F;9?CJE;H89A=D9B<BFA?=9>AE89B<JJ;EF9A=D9G<?DA=>8̀9

xl02l34nos50125y010plzl1/5

6789:;<=>?@9a;<@D9>;=F?=<89F;9a;EL9a?F79F789@8AD8EB7?J9;K9F789B>7;;@9F;9CAL89B<E898H8EM;=89

<=D8EBFA=DB9F78?E9E8BJ;=B?N?@?FM9K;E978@J?=G9F;9?CJE;H89A=D9B<BFA?=97?G79J8EK;ECA=>8̀9eF9a;<@D9B<JJ;EF9

F789B>7;;@9F;97AH89A9G;;D9E8@AF?;=B7?J9a?F79JAE8=FB9A=D9;F78E9JAEF=8EB9B;9F7AF9J<J?@B9E8>8?H89A97?G7{

i<A@?FM98D<>AF?;=̀9

6789JE;J;B8D9>7A=G8B9a;<@D9N89J@A==8D9>AE8K<@@M9B;9F7AF9F789B>7;;@wB9@8AD8EB7?J9A=D9G;H8E=A=>89?B9=;F9

D?BE<JF8DI9a7?>79>;<@D97AH89A9=8GAF?H89?CJA>F9;=98D<>AF?;=A@9BFA=DAEDB̀9

|!!}#}�%$ �"�~~�&#�+�&�~�~} "�

6AN@89��9N8@;a9B7;aB9F789J8E>8=FAG8B9;K�9

�9�<J?@B9a?F79fDD?F?;=A@9c8AE=?=G9�88DB9

�9�<J?@B9E8>8?H?=G9�E889b>7;;@9�8A@B9

�9�<J?@B9a?F79�=G@?B79AB9A=9fDD?F?;=A@9cA=G<AG89

�9�?=;E?FM9�F7=?>9J<J?@B9AF98A>79;K9F789B>7;;@B̀9

k0�ql5���5xq01o4nl15�opn5.mnvvq5

�qq5susoq45 �5

�9;K9�<J?@B9;=9b>7;;@9f>F?;=9 �̀�9

�9;K9�<J?@B9;=9b>7;;@9f>F?;=9�@<B9 �̀�9

�9;K9�<J?@B9a?F79A9BFAF8C8=F9;K9fc�9 �̀�9

�9;K9�E889b>7;;@9�8A@B9�<J?@B{9�9M8AE9AH8EAG89 ��̀�9

�9;K9�<J?@B9a?F79�=G@?B79AB9A=9fDD?F?;=A@9cA=G<AG89 �̀�9

�9;K9�?=;E?FM9�F7=?>9�<J?@B9 ��̀�9

�zs0m/5v15susoq45�o/n5�22o/ov10q5xl031o1p5�ll245��x��5

6789><EE8=F98jJ8EF?B89AF9F789B>7;;@9a;<@D9N89CA?=FA?=8D̀967898jJA=B?;=9;K9ADD?F?;=A@9@8AE=?=G9=88DB9

JE;H?B?;=9a;<@D9JE;H?D89;JJ;EF<=?F?8B9K;E9BFAKK9D8H8@;JC8=F9A=D9K;E98=7A=>?=G9J<J?@Bw9@8AE=?=G̀9

6789:;<=>?@9A>L=;a@8DG8B9F7AF9A9>7A=G89?=98=H?E;=C8=F9>A=9N89<=B8FF@?=G9A=D9<JB8FF?=G9K;E9

>7?@DE8=9a?F79ADD?F?;=A@9@8AE=?=G9=88DB̀9�<J?@B9a;<@D9N89B<JJ;EF8D9F;98=AN@89F78C9F;9ADAJF9F;9F789

>7A=G8B9JE;J;B8D̀9

�v�5�vuq254ussv3/5�v35susoq45�o/n5�1pqo4n5045015�22o/ov10q5x01pu0pl5�l50��lm/l2�5

�<J?@B9F7AF9E8>8?H89B<JJ;EF9N8>A<B89F78M97AH89�=G@?B79AB9A=9ADD?F?;=A@9@A=G<AG89>A=9N89B<JJ;EF8D9?=9A=M9

B>7;;@9?=9:AED?KK̀9

678E89?B9=;9?=K;ECAF?;=9AHA?@AN@89F7AF9B<GG8BFB9F7AF9F789JE;J;BA@9a;<@D97AH89A9=8GAF?H898KK8>F9;=97;a9

>7?@DE8=9a?F79�=G@?B79AB9A=9ADD?F?;=A@9@A=G<AG89AE89B<JJ;EF8D̀96789B>7;;@9a;<@D9>;=F?=<89F;9JE;H?D89

B<JJ;EF9F7AF9?B9AJJE;JE?AF89F;9F789?=D?H?D<A@9=88DB9;K98A>79J<J?@̀9

����� � � �

P
age 488



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"�"# $�%&'&#(#)*�+%&&�,'-�� �.&/ $�0&�/11&'2&!3�

45678598:;789<=>?=@8:;A:8A8BC;55D8E7C7?F7B8?B8GAB7>85=8:;78=<6G7E8598H<H?DB8?=8:;78BC;55D8I;58E7C7?F78

JE7784C;55D8K7ADBL8MDD8BC;55DB8?=8NAE>?998I5<D>8E7C7?F789<=>?=@895E8:;7B78H<H?DBL8

O;7E78?B8=58?=95E6A:?5=8AFA?DAGD78:;A:8B<@@7B:B8:;A:8:;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8;AF78A8=7@A:?F787997C:85=8H<H?DB8

A:8:;78BC;55D8I;58E7C7?F78JE7784C;55D8K7ADBL8

������� !�.#)�%#2P�Q2-)#'�R�"# $�0&�/11&'2&!3�

O;78=77>B8598?=>?F?><AD8H<H?DB8AE78ABB7BB7>8A=>8HE5F?>7>895E8AB8AHHE5HE?A:7L8O;7E78?B8ADB58=58?=95E6A:?5=8

AFA?DAGD78:;A:8B<@@7B:B8:;A:8:;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8;AF78A8=7@A:?F787997C:85=8HE5F?B?5=895E8A=S87:;=?C8@E5<HL8

TUVWXVYZXWUZX[Z\Z]ŴX_̀XWUZXaY_a_̂ZbXcUV\dZeX

f8O;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8?=CE7AB78:;78=<6G7E85984H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78HDAC7B895E8B7C5=>AES8A@7>8

D7AE=7EB8I?:;8A<:?B68BH7C:E<68C5=>?:?5=8A=>8I5<D>8C5=:E?G<:78:5IAE>B8677:?=@8HE5i7C:7>8>76A=>L8

f8O;785HH5E:<=?:S8:5876HD5S8A>>?:?5=AD8BH7C?AD?B:8B:A998A=>8:58I5Ej865E78CD5B7DS8I?:;8BH7C?AD?B:8

B7EF?C7B8?=8NAE>?998I5<D>87=;A=C78:;78BC;55DkB8?=CD<B?F78:7AC;?=@L8O;?B8I5<D>8G7=7l:8ADD8H<H?DB8?=8

:;78BC;55DL8

f8O;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>87=B<E78:;A:8H<H?DB8D?F?=@8?=8:;78=5E:;8598:;78C?:S8:EAF7D8B;5E:7E8>?B:A=C7B8:58ACC7BB8

BH7C?AD?B:8HE5F?B?5=8:;A=8:58AD:7E=A:?F78HE5F?B?5=L8

m_WZ\WnVoXbn̂VbpV\WVdẐX_̀XWUZXaY_a_̂ZbXcUV\dZX

f845678H<H?DB8I?:;8A>>?:?5=AD8D7AE=?=@8=77>B8CA=8l=>8C;A=@78>?9lC<D:L8O;7S86AS8l=>8C;A=@7B8:58

G<?D>?=@B8<=B7::D?=@L8q78j=5I8:;7S8I?DD8=77>8CAE79<DDS8HDA==7>8B<HH5E:8:58A>AH:8:58:;78C;A=@7BL8

r5I7F7Es8:;7E78I5<D>8G78B<9lC?7=:8:?678:58HDA=8A=>8B<HH5E:8B<C;8A8C;A=@7L8

f8O;7E78?B8H5:7=:?AD895E8A8B6ADD8?=CE7AB78?=8:EA9lC8AE5<=>8:;78BC;55D8B?:78A:8:;78B:AE:8A=>87=>8598:;78>ASL8

O;78N5<=C?D8I5<D>8I5Ej8I?:;8:;78t5F7E=?=@8h5>S8598:;78BC;55D8:58>7F7D5H8A8OEAF7D8uDA=8:586?=?6?B78

A=S8H5:7=:?AD8>?BE<H:?5=L8

voWZY\VWnpZX_aWn_\̂Xc_\̂nbZYZbX

O;78N5<=C?D8?B8B77j?=@8:58HE5F?>78A8G7::7E8>?B:E?G<:?5=8598BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78HE5F?B?5=8ACE5BB8:;78C?:SL8

O;?B8I5<D>8?6HE5F78ACC7BB895E8H<H?DBs8A=>8E7><C78:EAF7D8:?67B895E86A=S8H<H?DBs8AB8I7DD8AB8?=CE7AB?=@8:;78

=<6G7E8598HDAC7B8AFA?DAGD7L8M8=<6G7E85985:;7E87wHA=B?5=Bs8A=>8=7I8HE5F?B?5=8A:85:;7E8BC;55DB8C?:SxI?>7s8

AE78ADB58HE5H5B7>L8

MD:7E=A:?F785H:?5=B8:58:;787wHA=B?5=8598:;78yDA=?B;7=8r?@;84C;55D84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78C5<D>8?=CD<>7z8

f8:;787wHA=B?5=8598B?6?DAE8HE5F?B?5=85=85:;7E8B7C5=>AES8BC;55D8B?:7B8

f8:;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598=7I8BH7C?AD?B:8HE5F?B?5=85=85:;7E8BC;55D8B?:7B8A=>{5E8A8>?997E7=:8=<6G7E8598

HDAC7B8?=8:;78C<EE7=:85E8HE5H5B7>8GAB7BL8

r5I7F7Es8:;78B:A=>AE>B8A:8yDA=?B;7=8r?@;84C;55D8AE78@55>L8|=CE7AB?=@8:;784H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78

HE5F?B?5=8HE5F?>7B8A=8?=CE7AB7>8=<6G7E8598AHHE5HE?A:78;?@;8}<AD?:S8BC;55D8HDAC7BL8O;78H7E6A=7=:8

7wHA=B?5=8598:;78B<CC7BB9<D8GAB78A:8yDA=?B;7=8r?@;84C;55D8:58~�8HDAC7B8?B8:;7E795E78C5=B?>7E7>8:58G78A8

HE797EE7>85H:?5=L8

���V\X�Ẑ_�YcẐX�VWWZŶX

rg8u75HD7847EF?C7B8I?DD8I5Ej8I?:;8:;78t5F7E=?=@8h5>S8:58A>>E7BB8:;78rg8?6HD?CA:?5=B8AE?B?=@89E568:;78

?=CE7AB78?=8:;78>7B?@=A:7>8=<6G7E8598:;78M<:?B684H7C:E<68N5=>?:?5=84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78A:8:;78

BC;55D8A=>8:;78E7B<D:?=@8=77>895E8A>>?:?5=AD8B:A9l=@L8

q;7E78:;78t5F7E=?=@8h5>S8;AF78A>5H:7>8:;78N5<=C?DkB84C;55D8g7>7HD5S67=:8A=>8g7><=>A=CS8u5D?CSs8

A=S8=7I8FACA=C?7B8AE?B?=@8AB8A8C5=B7}<7=C78598:;78?=CE7AB78?=8:;78>7B?@=A:7>8=<6G7E8598:;78M<:?B68

4H7C:E<68N5=>?:?5=84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78I?DD8HE5F?>785HH5E:<=?:?7B895E8BC;55DxGAB7>8B:A9985=8:;78

BC;55D8E7>7HD5S67=:L8

�YV\̂a_YWX�VWWZŶX

O;78N5<=C?D8AHHD?7B8:;78:I5x6?D78B:A:<:5ES8}<AD?9S?=@8IADj?=@8>?B:A=C78CE?:7E?A895E8H<H?DB8:58}<AD?9S895E8

9E778;5678:58BC;55D8:EA=BH5E:8:58BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78GAB7BL845678BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78GAB78D7AE=7EB8I;58

D?F78I?:;?=8:I586?D7B8598:;78BC;55D86AS8G78HE5F?>7>8I?:;89E778:EA=BH5E:8><78:58:;7?E8?=>?F?><AD8D7AE=?=@8

=77>B8A=>8B5C?AD8?BB<7BL8

�:;7E8D7AE=7EB8AE78AGD78:58:EAF7D8?=>7H7=>7=:DS85E8I?:;8HAE7=:{CAE7EB8A=>8?98E7B?>7=:8I?:;?=8:;78:I5x6?D78

}<AD?9S?=@8>?B:A=C786AS8=5:8G787D?@?GD7895E8y7AE=7E8OEA=BH5E:L8O;7B78H<H?DB8AB8I7DD8AB8B:A998A=>8BC;55D8

F?B?:5EB8I5<D>8G7=7l:89E568A=S8E7}<?E7>8?6HE5F767=:B8?=89AC?D?:?7B895E8AC:?F78:EAF7D8:58BC;55D85E8H<GD?C8

:EA=BH5E:89AC?D?:?7BL8

MB8:;78N5<=C?D8?B8B77j?=@8:58HE5F?>78A8G7::7E8>?B:E?G<:?5=8598BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78HE5F?B?5=8ACE5BB8:;78C?:Ss8

?:8?B87wH7C:7>8:;A:8:;78AF7EA@78:EAF7D8>?B:A=C78:58BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78GAB7B895E8?=>?F?><AD8D7AE=7EB8I5<D>8

E7><C78?=89<:<E7L8

����������

P
age 489



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�# $%�&"
'''()&$��**(+ ,(!-./012)3  45$ 5 2&42

6789:;;<7=>;=;8?<7@;7A8@?B<C8:76DDC@C;E?<7FA?>ECEG7HAAD87I?9C<C@CA87J?K7>ALMC>A7?7N>?E8=;>@7O@?@AJAE@7

P:C9:7PC<<7CDAE@CIK7JA?8M>A87@;7BA7CE9<MDAD7?87=?>@7;I7@:A7?==<C9?@C;E7@;7J?QCJC8A7@>?RA<7BK7

8M8@?CE?B<A7J;DA8S7

N:A7T;ME9C<U879M>>AE@7T;>=;>?@A7V<?E7CE9<MDA87?79;JJC@JAE@7@;7ARA>K789:;;<7CE7T?>DCII7DARA<;=CEG7?E7

69@CRA7N>?RA<7V<?ES7OM9:7?7=<?E7PC<<7CDAE@CIK7?9@C;E87BK7@:A789:;;<7@;78M==;>@7?ED7AE9;M>?GA7?9@CRA7@>?RA<7

@;789:;;<7?ED7?<8;7?EK7CJ=>;RAJAE@87@;7;EW8C@A7?ED7;IIW8C@A7CEI>?8@>M9@M>A7>ALMC>AD7@;7I?9C<C@?@A7?9@CRA7

X;M>EAK8S7

YE9>A?8CEG7@>?RA<7@;789:;;<7BK7?9@CRA7J;DA87ZP?<[CEG\79K9<CEG7?ED789;;@CEG]7BK7AE8M>CEG78?IA7I?9C<C@CA87?>A7

=>;RCDAD7PC<<7:?RA7?7=;8C@CRA7CJ=?9@7;E79:C<D>AEU87:A?<@:7?ED7PA<<BACEGS7

67EMJBA>7;I7CEC@C?@CRA87:?RA78M99A88IM<<K7DAJ;E8@>?@AD78M==;>@7?ED7AE9;M>?GAJAE@7I;>7?9@CRA7?ED7

8M8@?CE?B<A7@>?RA<7?J;EG8@7@:A76DDC@C;E?<7FA?>ECEG7HAAD879;:;>@\7P:C9:7P;M<D7BA7;IIA>AD7@;7<A?>EA>87

?87?==>;=>C?@A\7CE9<MDCEG7YEDA=AEDAE@7N>?RA<7N>?CECEG7I;>7;<DA>7=M=C<87Z@;7BA7>ARCAPAD7A?9:7KA?>]\79K9<A7

J?CE@AE?E9A7?ED79K9<A7@>?CECEGS7

^C@:7@:A7AQ=A9@AD7CE9>A?8AD7DAJ?ED7I;>7FA?>EA>7N>?E8=;>@7@:A78C@A7P;M<D7BA7>ARCAPAD7@;7AE8M>A78MC@?B<A7

?ED78MI_9CAE@7I?9C<C@CA87I;>7D>;=W;II7?ED7=C9[WM=7?>A7=>;RCDAD7PC@:CE7@:A78C@A7@;7?99;JJ;D?@A7@:A7

?==>;=>C?@A7EMJBA>87;I7RA:C9<A87?ED7CJ=>;RAJAE@87J?DA7CI7EA9A88?>KS7̀ ;DC_9?@C;E87J?K7BA7>ALMC>AD7

@;7@:A789:;;<7?99A88S7

abcdefghiejbfe

6@7@:A7AED7;I7@:A7B;;[<A@7C87?7LMA8@C;EE?C>AS7N:C87C87K;M>79:?E9A7@;7<A@7@:A7T;ME9C<7[E;P7P:?@7K;M7@:CE[7

?B;M@7@:A7=>;=;8?<S7k;M79?E7GCRA7?7>A8=;E8A7@;7?<<7;I7@:A7LMA8@C;E8\7;>7XM8@7>A8=;ED7@;78;JA7;I7@:AJ\7?87

K;M7=>AIA>S7

6<@A>E?@CRA<K\7K;M79?E78AED7M87K;M>7RCAP87CE7;EA7;I7@:A7I;<<;PCEG7P?K8l7

m7T;J=<A@CEG7@:A7;E<CEA7>A8=;E8A7I;>J7?@7nnnopqrstuuovwxoyz{|}~�p�ww��rw�w�q���

m7�J?C<7K;M>7RCAP87@;7�p�ww�r���w�����pqrstuuovwxoyz�

m7̂ >C@A7@;7M87?@7@:A7I;<<;PCEG7?DD>A88l7O9:;;<7�>G?EC8?@C;E7V<?EECEG\7�;;J7���\7T;ME@K7�?<<\76@<?E@C97

^:?>I\7T?>DCII\7T���7��̂ S7

N:A7T;ME9C<7PC<<79;E8CDA>7ARA>K;EAU87RCAP87BAI;>A7DA9CDCEG7P:A@:A>7@;7G;7?:A?D7PC@:7@:A7

=>;=;8AD79:?EGA8S7

������������������������ �������������� �� ��������¡�¢�£�¤��¥�¦§¦¦̈�

©igªgjb«e¬gie®®̄°̄g±b«e
²ªd³̄b«̄j°édjghi³de
µbjdeª«b³djeb°e¶·de
¸bīg±e¹d±°idºe

¶·deµ̄j·gªeg¬e»«b±®b¬¬e
¹·hi³·ē±e¼b«dje
ā½·e²³·gg«e

¾¿¾¿� ¾À¾À�

P
age 490



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"/0*"
1 �&�("2*('�*3"/0*".&�0��"�#"4! (% ##"20-�+0"&("5 !*�"6&70"
)+0��!"

89:;<=>9?@;?A;BCDEFDAA;G9HIJ9;=E;KDC:>;L=M9;NJ9??C;=>;DE;OEMC=>9PQ:F=HQ;R?CHESDIT;D=F:F;>:J?EFDIT;

>J9??C;A?I;@H@=C>;DM:F;UUPUVW;89:;>J9??C;=>;C?JDS:F;DS;X??YZ??F;GC?>:;=E;BCDEFDAAW;

89:;>J9??C;9?>S>;D;N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;<D>:[;89:;\DI=?E;G:ESI:[;F:>=MEDS:F;A?I;@H@=C>;Z=S9;]HS=>Q;

N@:JSIHQ;G?EF=S=?EW;

8?;Q::S;S9:;F:QDEF;A?I;N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;<D>:;@CDJ:>;A?I;C:DIE:I>;Z=S9;]HS=>Q;N@:JSIHQ;G?EF=S=?E;

DM:F;UU;̂;U_;=S;=>;@I?@?>:F;S?̀;

a;=EJI:D>:;S9:;F:>=MEDS:F;EHQb:I;DS;89:;\DI=?E;G:ESI:;N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;<D>:;AI?Q;cd;S?;ee;AI?Q;

N:@S:Qb:I;dfdd;

gS;=>;@I?@?>:F;S9DS;S9:;JHII:ES;N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;<D>:;DJJ?QQ?FDS=?E;Z?HCF;b:;=Q@I?R:F;DEF;

I:AHIb=>9:F[;JI:DS=EM;DFF=S=?EDC;JCD>>I??Q>;DEF;C:DIE=EM;>@DJ:>W;

hijklmnojpkqrkstuvjwkuxkxijkwviqqtk

8DbC:;df;b:C?Z;@I?R=F:>;F:SD=C>;?A;@CDJ:>;DRD=CDbC:;

huotjkyz{k|tuvjwku}u~tuotjkuxk�~wiqskqrk�tul�urrk�impvik~lk�utjwk�~�ik�viqqtk

�unjkqrk
wviqqtk

�mppjlxk
|mot~wij�k
�usuv~x�k
�u�jk��k�k���k

|tuvjwk
sjpk�jupk
�pqms

k�u�jk��k�k���k

�~�xikrqpnk
stuvjwk

�ul�mu�jk
nj�~mnkul�k
�uxj�qp�k
qrk�viqqtk

<=>9?@;?A;
BCDEFDAA;
G9HIJ9;=E;KDC:>;
L=M9;NJ9??C;
�QD=E>SI:DQ;
@CDJ:>�;

_ff; UVf; UV�;

OEMC=>9PQ:F=HQ;
J?QQHE=ST;

>:J?EFDIT;>J9??C
89:;\DI=?E;
G:ESI:;�N@:J=DC=>S;
X:>?HIJ:;<D>:;
@CDJ:>�;

cd;

89:;JHII:ES;JD@DJ=ST;?A;<=>9?@;?A;BCDEFDAA;G9HIJ9;=E;KDC:>;L=M9;NJ9??C;=>UfV�;@CDJ:>;DEF;S9:;>J9??C;

9DF;Ud�U;@H@=C>;?E;I?CC;=E;]@I=C;dfdU[;=EJCHF=EM;@H@=C>;=E;S9:;N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;<D>:W;

�jnul�krqpkstuvjwkuxkxijkwviqqtk

8DbC:;dU;b:C?Z;>:S>;?HS;F:SD=C>;?A;I:J:ES;DEF;@I?�:JS:F;EHQb:I>;?E;I?CC;

huotjky�{k�jvjlxkul�kspq�jvxj�klmnojpwkqlkpqttk

�mnojpwkqlk�qttk�|�����k |ms~tkspq�jvx~qlw�k

�viqqtk

y
z
�
�
��
�

y
z
�
�
��
�

y
z
�
�
��
�

y
z
�
�
�y
z

y
z
y
z
�y
�

y
z
y
�
�y
y

y
z
y
y
�y
�

y
z
y
�
�y
�

y
z
y
�
�y
�

y
z
y
�
�y
�
k

<=>9?@;?A;BCDEFDAA;
G9HIJ9;=E;KDC:>;
L=M9;NJ9??C;
QD=E>SI:DQ;@CDJ:>;

UddV;Ud�d;Udc�;Udcf;Ud�_;Ud� ;Udef;Ud�V;UdeU;Udef;

89:;\DI=?E;G:ESI:;
�N@:J=DC=>S;X:>?HIJ:;
<D>:�;@CDJ:>;

�d; c_; �U; �U; �e; e�; ee; ee; ee; ee;

¡;NJ9??C;@H@=C;EHQb:I>;bD>:F;?E;C?JDC;JDSJ9Q:ES;@?@HCDS=?E;@I?�:JS=?E>;DEF;9=>S?I=JDC;

@DSS:IE>;?A;F:QDEF;

¢£¢£¤¢¥¢¥¤

P
age 491



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� ���!"��!#$� "%�&� '!�(!#)*��&!+$�&���,-!

.//012344/10560789:5;;089<0=5><6080746:5?546098?56=0;94@0.0AB<9;49@56=081056?<6:<:0C04B<98?56=0<;D25<6?/EF0

?40G0A/5;<0<HB59<:0C0951I04;05@@56<6?0;85/J9<F0

K2344/10560789:5;;089<08/140=5><6080KJ5?8L5/5?E098?56=0;94@0.0A=44:0M0;825/5?5<101J5?8L/<0;490?<82356=N0

/<89656=0O0P<//L<56=F0?40G0AL8:0M0LJ5/:56=01<954J1/E05635L5?0?3<01?8;;Q108L5/5?E0?40:</5><90?3<02J9952J/J@FR0

S"%&T!UUV!����� ���!"��!-$� "%�&� '!,W"���,-!

XW"���,! ����� ���! #$� "%�&� '!

.0 Y44:086:04B<98?56=0<;D25<6?/E0
Y44:R0Z825/5?5<101J5?8L/<0;490?<82356=N0/<89656=086:0
P<//L<56=056012344/0

[0
K8?51;82?49E0LJ?0P5?30@56490
:<?<95498?5460

K8?51;82?49ER0\<9;49@56=081056?<6:<:0LJ?0:4<1064?0
<;;<2?5></E01JBB49?0?3<0:</5><9E04;0?3<02J9952J/J@0560
14@<089<810

70 \4490P5?30@8]490:<;<2?10
\449R0̂<82356=0@<?34:105635L5?<:C8:><91<05@B82?0460
12344/049=86518?5460

G0
_6:04;0̀5;<a0/5;<03810<HB59<:0490
951I04;05@@56<6?0;85/J9<0

b<9E0B449R0[J5/:56=101<954J1/E05635L5?0?3<01?8;;Q108L5/5?E0
?40:</5><90?3<02J9952J/J@0

3̂<0[5134B04;0̀/86:8;;073J9230560c8/<10d5=30K2344/051098?<:070;490246:5?546086:070;4901J5?8L5/5?ER0

3̂<0e8954607<6?9<05108224@@4:8?<:05601B<258/51?08224@@4:8?5460P352305104;08035=301?86:89:R0f?0510

B94B41<:0?38?0?3<02J99<6?01B<258/51?09<14J92<0L81<08224@@4:8?5460P4J/:0L<05@B94><:086:09<;J9L513<:N0

29<8?56=08::5?5468/02/811944@1086:0/<89656=01B82<1R0

3̂<015?<N086:0/428/056;981?9J2?J9<04;;g15?<N0P4J/:01JBB49?0?3<0<HB86154604;0̂3<0e8954607<6?9<R0

hijklmnojpqormjpqjsqto

3̂<074J625/0P49I102/41</E0P5?30?P4049=86518?5461056049:<90?40@465?490?3<0B<9;49@862<04;012344/1086:0?40

1JBB49?012344/05@B94><@<6?R0

_1?E60510?3<04;D2<04;0d<90e8]<1?EQ10735<;0f61B<2?4904;0_:J28?546086:0̂985656=0560c8/<1R0

_1?E60561B<2?10uJ8/5?E086:01?86:89:1056012344/1086:04?3<90<:J28?5460B94>5:<910560c8/<1R0

3̂<07<6?98/0K4J?30746149?5J@0v456?0_:J28?5460K<9>52<0A7K7v_KF0510?3<09<=5468/0K2344/0f@B94><@<6?0

K<9>52<0;490?3<0D><024J625/104;0[95:=<6:N0789:5;;N0e<9?3E90̂E:D/N0w346::807E6460̂8;;086:0?3<0b8/<04;0

Y/8@49=86R0̂3<074J625/0P49I10P5?30?3<0746149?5J@0?401JBB49?086:0238//<6=<08//012344/10560789:5;;R0

4̀28/0.J?3495?5<1N01J230810789:5;;074J625/N0@J1?024615:<90_1?E609<B49?1086:04?3<90<>5:<62<08L4J?012344/0

B<9;49@862<086:0<;;<2?5><6<110P3<601J==<1?56=02386=<10?4012344/1R0

4̀28/0.J?3495?5<10@J1?08/14024615:<90?3<0/5I</E05@B82?04;0?3<0B94B41<:02386=<1046x0

y01?86:89:1N0P<//L<56=086:08??5?J:<10?40/<89656=0

y0?<82356=086:0/<89656=0<HB<95<62<10

y0289<01JBB49?086:0=J5:862<0

y0/<8:<9135B086:0@868=<@<6?0A/<8:<9135BN05@B94>56=0uJ8/5?EN0B89?6<9135B0P49I56=086:09<14J92<0

@868=<@<6?F0

z- '�!

K2344/1089<0561B<2?<:0810B89?04;08068?5468/0B94=98@@<04;012344/0561B<2?546R0̂3<0BJ9B41<04;0860

561B<2?5460510?405:<6?5;E0=44:0;<8?J9<1086:01349?24@56=1056012344/1056049:<90?38?0?3<E0@8E05@B94><0?3<0

uJ8/5?E04;0<:J28?54604;;<9<:086:09851<01?86:89:108235<><:0LE0?3<590BJB5/10A_1?E6FR0

3̂<09</<>86?0_1?E60f61B<2?54609<B49?10B94>5:<0=98:<108=8561?0{<E0|J<1?5461086:0B94>5:<012344/10P5?30

9<24@@<6:8?54610;4905@B94><@<6?R0

}4J02860D6:0561B<2?54609<B49?10460?3<0_1?E60P<L15?<0~~~��������������

�T&-*!X��TW��T� !)" T,�W�-" ���!�(!-)*��&-!

f60����N0?3<0c</130Y4><96@<6?056?94:J2<:0806<P028?<=49518?54601E1?<@R0

f?0/44I108?0<823012344/Q101?86:89:1086:034P0@J2308012344/05108L/<0?405@B94><R0̂35105:<6?5D<10?3<0/<></04;0

1JBB49?012344/109<uJ59<R0�9=86518?546101J230810?3<07<6?98/0K4J?30746149?5J@0A7K7v_KF086:0?3<012344/0

5@B94><@<6?01<9>52<0?3<60P49I0P5?3012344/1Q0/<8:<910?405:<6?5;EN0B94>5:<086:C490L94I<9086E01JBB49?0

9<uJ59<:0;490;J9?3<905@B94><@<6?R0

3̂<028?<=49518?54601E1?<@0510:<1295L<:0560̂8L/<0��0L</4Px0

S"%&T!U�V!�" T,�W�-" ���!#'- T�!

�" T,�W'!�(!-$���W ! �*" ! *T!)" T,�W'!�T"�-!

XWTT�!
.035=3/E0<;;<2?5><012344/0P35230510P<//09J6N03810801?946=0/<8:<9135B086:0510
2/<8908L4J?05?10B95495?5<10;4905@B94><@<6?0

�T&&��!
.60<;;<2?5><012344/0P352305108/9<8:E0:456=0P<//086:0I64P10?3<089<8105?0
6<<:10?405@B94><R0

��%TW!
.012344/05606<<:04;05@B94><@<6?0P352306<<:103</B0?405:<6?5;E0?3<01?<B10
?405@B94><0490?40@8I<02386=<038BB<60@49<0uJ52I/ER0

�T�!
.012344/05606<<:04;0=9<8?<1?05@B94><@<6?086:0P5//09<2<5><05@@<:58?<N0
56?<615><01JBB49?R0

����� �����

P
age 492



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"��� ! #$%� &'&��()'* $+�,��&'�,&'&�-+�� .�,)�,��$()'&�/ $��)(0&($&��12%34�(0&�/ $�� .�(-!'�,)�,��) �

,56$ 7'�1�%849�

2�,��)�'�-'�)�$(),0*�/ $��)(0&($&��(0&���,��)�'�-'�)�/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)9�

:6&()'&��()'* $,�(), 0��/ $�'(������  !�($'�6#-!,��'&�'7'$+�+'($�,0�;(0#($+9�

< $'�,0/ $5(), 0�(- #)�)�'��()'* $,�(), 0����'5'��(0�-'�/ #0&�,0�)�'�='!���> 7'$05'0)"��6($'0)�"�

*#,&'�) �)�'�?(), 0(!�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�@+�)'5��'$'B�

�))6BCC* 79.(!'�C& ��C&�'!!�C6#-!,�(), 0�C2DE22F%6($'0)�%*#,&'%'096&/�

GHIJKLMHNOJNPJQRSTUSPPJVHWXYHJLTJZSRIMJ[L\HJ]YHNNRJ

�̂'�_,�� 6� /�̀!(0&(//�A�#$���,0�=(!'��a,*��@��  !�.(��!(�)�,0�6'�)'&�-+�b�)+0�,0�c'-$#($+�dE2e9�

�)�)�,��),5'�)�'��)(0&($&�f�.'!!-',0*�(0&�()),)#&'��) �!'($0,0*f�)'(��,0*�(0&�!'($0,0*�'g6'$,'0�'f��($'f�

�#66 $)�(0&�*#,&(0�'�(0&�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�5(0(*'5'0)�.'$'�(!!�h#&*'&�(��'g�'!!'0)9�

i0�)�'�5 �)�$'�'0)�='!���> 7'$05'0)�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�()�;(0#($+�dEdEf�_,�� 6� /�̀!(0&(//�

A�#$���,0�=(!'��a,*��@��  !�.(���()'* $,�'&�()�>$''0�1���,*�!+�'//'�),7'����  !�.�,���,��.'!!�$#0f��(��(�

�)$ 0*�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�,���!'($�(- #)�,)��6$, $,),'��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)49�

�0�(��'��5'0)�6$ 7,&'&�-+�)�'�A'0)$(!�@ #)��A 0� $),#5�,0��#)#50�dEd2�*(7'�)�'�/ !! .,0*�

'7(!#(), 0B�

j�̂�'�6$ 6 $), 0� /�6#6,!��5(k,0*�). � $�5 $'�!'7'!�� /�6$ *$'���/$ 5�l'+�@)(*'�d�1(*'��m�n�224�) �

l'+�@)(*'�o�1(*'��22�n�234f�,0�� 56($,� 0�.,)��! �(!�(0&�$'*, 0(!�(7'$(*'�f�.(��5#���*$'()'$�,0�

b0*!,��f�5()�'5(),���(0&���,'0�'9�

j�̂�'����  !�,56$ 7'5'0)�6!(0�1@ip4�,&'0),q'��k'+�6$, $,),'���!'($!+9�i)�� 0)(,0��$ -#�)��#��'����$,)'$,(f�

��(!!'0*,0*�)($*')��(0&��!'($�5,!'�) 0'��.,)��.�,���) �5'(�#$'�6$ *$'��9�

j�p$ �'��'��) �)$(�k�6#6,!�"�6$ *$'���($'�$ -#�)�(0&��,*�!+�'//'�),7'�()�(!!�!'7'!�f�,0�!#&,0*�.,)�,0�

�̂'�<($, 0�A'0)$'f�.�'$'�0'($!+�(!!�6#6,!��5(k'�7'$+��)$ 0*�6$ *$'��� 7'$�),5'f�/$ 5�)�',$�

�)($),0*�6 ,0)�9�

rstutsvwxuyz{|x{}xyu{zuz~�uy�~sswu��u{����z�xu��uz~�u�~{|��yu

]�STUSXUMJ

�̂'�A #0�,!��(��5(&'�(��!'($�� 55,)5'0)�) �� 0),0#,0*�)�'�,07'�)5'0)�,0f�(0&�,56$ 7'5'0)� /f�A($&,//�

���  !��) �5(k'��#$'�'7'$+���,!&��(��)�'�-'�)�6 ��,-!'��)($)�,0�!,/'�1���������������������������49�

�̂'�A #0�,!�. $k���! �'!+�.,)��)�'�* 7'$0,0*�- &,'�� /����  !��) �5(k'��#$'�)�()��)(0&($&��,0����  !��

($'��,*�f�)�()�)'(��,0*�,��*  &�(0&�)�()�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,���)$ 0*9�

@)(0&($&��()�̂�'�_,�� 6� /�̀!(0&(//�A�#$���,0�=(!'��a,*��@��  !�($'�*  &9�i0�$'(�,0*�)�'�@6'�,(!,�)�

�'� #$�'�_(�'�6$ 7,�, 0�. #!&�6$ 7,&'�(66$ 6$,()'��,*���#(!,)+����  !�6!(�'��/ $�+ #0*�6' 6!'�.,)��

(#),�59�i)�,��0 )�'g6'�)'&�)�()�)�'�6$ 6 �(!�.,!!�,56(�)� 0��)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !9�

�̂'�6$ 6 �(!�,��0 )�'g6'�)'&�) ��(7'�(0+�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�)�'��#(!,)+� /��)(0&($&�� /�'&#�(), 0�()�

)�'����  !�(��(�$'�#!)� /�)�'�6$ 6 �'&���(0*'�9�

GISYHLT\JSTUJRISXTLT\JI�OIXLITYIMJ

�̂'�6$ 6 �(!�,��0 )�'g6'�)'&�) ��(7'�(0+�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�)'(��,0*�(0&�!'($0,0*�'g6'$,'0�'��()�̂�'�

_,�� 6� /�̀!(0&(//�A�#$���,0�=(!'��a,*��@��  !9�

VSXIJMWOONX�JSTUJ\WLUSTYIJ

�!!����  !���(7'�(0�(66$ 6$,()'�$(0*'� /�6 !,�,'��(0&�6$ 7,�, 0�,0�6!(�'�) �6$ 5 )'�6#6,!�"��'(!)��(0&�

.'!!-',0*9�

�̂'����  !�,��� 55,))'&�) �6$ 7,&,0*�(0�'07,$ 05'0)�,0�.�,���!'($0,0*�,��7(!#'&�(0&�6#6,!��(��,'7'�)�',$�

6 )'0),(!�,0�(��(66+f��(/'�'07,$ 05'0)�,0�.�,���)�'+��� .�$'�6'�)�(0&�) !'$(0�'�/ $�'(��� )�'$9�

�̂'�A #0�,!�. #!&�. $k�.,)��)�'�!'(&'$��,6� /�)�'����  !�) �5(k'��#$'�'7'$+ 0'�#0&'$�)(0&��)�',$�

$'�6 0�,-,!,)+�/ $��'!6,0*�) �,56$ 7'�(0&��#�)(,0��($'��#66 $)�(0&�*#,&(0�'9�

QISUIXMHLOJSTUJ�STS\I�IT�J

�̂'�A #0�,!�. #!&�� 0),0#'�) �. $k�.,)��)�'�!'(&'$��,6� /�)�'����  !�) �5(k'��#$'�'7'$+ 0'�

#0&'$�)(0&��)�',$�$'�6 0�,-,!,)+�/ $��'!6,0*�) �,56$ 7'�(0&��#�)(,0��,*��6'$/ $5(0�'9�i)�. #!&��#66 $)�

)�'����  !�) ��(7'�(�*  &�$'!(), 0��,6�.,)��6($'0)��(0&� )�'$�6($)0'$��� �)�()�6#6,!��$'�',7'�(��,*�%

�#(!,)+�'&#�(), 09�

�̂'�6$ 6 �'&���(0*'��. #!&�-'�6!(00'&��($'/#!!+�� �)�()�)�'����  !"��!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,��0 )�

&,�$#6)'&f�.�,���� #!&��(7'�(�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�'&#�(), 0(!��)(0&($&�9�

����������

P
age 493



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !"#$%&&�'�#(�'#&%&�"$#

)*+,-./0.+-,12.34123.54-.6-78-95*:-3.1;<.

=.>?6@,3.2@54.ABB@5@19*,.C-*79@9:.D--B3.

=.>?6@,3.7-8-@E@9:.F7--.G8411,.H-*,3.

=.>?6@,3.2@54.I9:,@34.*3.*9.ABB@5@19*,.C*9:?*:-.

=.H@917@5J.I549@8.6?6@,3.*5.-*84.1;.54-.38411,3K.

LMNOPQRSTQUVWXYZQY[Q\OM]̂M[[Q_X̀abXQV]QcMOPWQdVeXQfbXYYOQ

gOOQZ̀ZVOWQ hQ

i.1;.>?6@,3.19.G8411,.A85@19. jKk.

i.1;.>?6@,3.19.G8411,.A85@19.>,?3. lKk.

i.1;.>?6@,3.2@54.*.35*5-m-95.1;.ACD. jKn.

i.1;.F7--.G8411,.H-*,3.>?6@,3o.p.J-*7.*E-7*:-. kKq.

i.1;.>?6@,3.2@54.I9:,@34.*3.*9.ABB@5@19*,.C*9:?*:-. pKp.

i.1;.H@917@5J.I549@8.>?6@,3. /jK/.

rsZMbtQY]QZ̀ZVOWQuVtXQĝ V̂tVY]MOQ\PMa]V]eQvPP̂WQwg\vxQ

)4-.8?77-95.-y6-75@3-.*5.54-.38411,.21?,B.+-.m*@95*@9-BK.)4-.-y6*93@19.1;.*BB@5@19*,.,-*79@9:.9--B3.

671E@3@19.21?,B.671E@B-.166175?9@5@-3.;17.35*;;.B-E-,16m-95.*9B.;17.-94*98@9:.6?6@,3z.,-*79@9:.@9.

6?7613-o+?@,5.;*8@,@5@-3K.

)4-.{1?98@,.*8|912,-B:-3.54*5.*.84*9:-.@9.-9E@719m-95.8*9.+-.?93-55,@9:.*9B.?63-55@9:.;17.

84@,B7-9.2@54.*BB@5@19*,.,-*79@9:.9--B3K.>?6@,3.21?,B.+-.3?66175-B.51.-9*+,-.54-m.51.*B*65.51.54-.

84*9:-3.671613-BK.

dYuQuỲÔQẀZZYatQ[YaQZ̀ZVOWQuVtXQ}]eOVWXQMWQM]Qĝ V̂tVY]MOQ\M]èMePQNPQM[[PbtP̂~Q

>?6@,3.54*5.7-8-@E-.3?66175.+-8*?3-.54-J.4*E-.I9:,@34.*3.*9.*BB@5@19*,.,*9:?*:-.8*9.+-.3?66175-B.@9.*9J.

38411,.@9.{*7B@;;K.

)4-7-.@3.91.@9;17m*5@19.*E*@,*+,-.54*5.3?::-353.54*5.54-.671613*,.21?,B.4*E-.*.9-:*5@E-.-;;-85.19.412.

84@,B7-9.2@54.I9:,@34.*3.*9.*BB@5@19*,.,*9:?*:-.*7-.3?66175-BK.)4-.38411,.21?,B.8195@9?-.51.671E@B-.

3?66175.54*5.@3.*667167@*5-.51.54-.@9B@E@B?*,.9--B3.1;.-*84.6?6@,K.

dYuQuỲÔQZ̀ZVOWQaPbPV�V]eQ�aPPQfbXYYOQ�PMOWQNPQM[[PbtP̂~Q

G1m-.1;.54-.;?9B@9:.54*5.*.38411,.7-8-@E-3.@3.+*3-B.19.54-.9?m+-7.1;.6?6@,3.@9.54-.38411,.241.7-8-@E-.

F7--.G8411,.H-*,3K.A,,.38411,3.@9.{*7B@;;.21?,B.7-8-@E-.;?9B@9:.;17.54-3-.6?6@,3K.

)4-7-.@3.91.@9;17m*5@19.*E*@,*+,-.54*5.3?::-353.54*5.54-.671613*,.21?,B.4*E-.*.9-:*5@E-.-;;-85.19.6?6@,3.

*5.54-.38411,.241.7-8-@E-.F7--.G8411,.H-*,3K.

dYuQuỲÔQ�V]YaVt�Q}tX]VbQ�̀ZVOWQNPQM[[PbtP̂~Q

)4-.9--B3.1;.@9B@E@B?*,.6?6@,3.*7-.*33-33-B.*9B.671E@B-B.;17.*3.*667167@*5-K.)4-7-.@3.*,31.91.@9;17m*5@19.

*E*@,*+,-.54*5.3?::-353.54*5.54-.671613*,.21?,B.4*E-.*.9-:*5@E-.-;;-85.19.671E@3@19.;17.*9J.-549@8.:71?6K.

��!�#!'�#���#�� ���$#�(#���#&'�&�$��#��! ���#

=.)4-.671613*,.21?,B.@987-*3-.54-.9?m+-7.1;.G6-8@*,@35.�-31?78-.�*3-.6,*8-3.;17.3-819B*7J.*:-B.

,-*79-73.2@54.A?5@3m.G6-857?m.{19B@5@19.*9B.21?,B.81957@+?5-.512*7B3.m--5@9:.671�-85-B.B-m*9BK.

=.)4-.166175?9@5J.51.-m6,1J.36-8@*,@35.35*;;.*9B.51.217|.m17-.8,13-,J.2@54.36-8@*,@35.3-7E@8-3.@9.{*7B@;;.

21?,B.-94*98-.54-.38411,z3.@98,?3@E-.5-*84@9:K.)4@3.21?,B.+-9-�5.*,,.6?6@,3.@9.54-.38411,K.

=.)4-.671613*,.21?,B.-93?7-.54*5.6?6@,3.,@E@9:.@9.54-.2-35.1;.54-.8@5J.57*E-,.34175-7.B@35*98-3.51.*88-33.

36-8@*,@35.671E@3@19.54*9.51.*,5-79*5@E-.671E@3@19K.

���� ��!"#��$!��! �!��$#�(#���#&'�&�$��#��! ��#

=.G1m-.6?6@,3.2@54.*BB@5@19*,.,-*79@9:.9--B3.8*9.�9B.84*9:-.B@;�8?,5K.)4-J.m*J.�9B.84*9:-3.51.

+?@,B@9:3.?93-55,@9:K.�-.|912.54-J.2@,,.9--B.8*7-;?,,J.6,*99-B.3?66175.51.*B*65.51.54-.84*9:-3K.

�12-E-7�.54-7-.21?,B.+-.3?;�8@-95.5@m-.51.6,*9.*9B.3?66175.3?84.*.84*9:-K.

=.)4-7-.@3.615-95@*,.;17.*.3m*,,.@987-*3-.@9.57*;�8.*71?9B.54-.38411,.3@5-.*5.54-.35*75.*9B.-9B.1;.54-.B*JK.

)4-.{1?98@,.21?,B.217|.2@54.54-.�1E-79@9:.�1BJ.1;.54-.38411,.51.B-E-,16.*.)7*E-,.>,*9.51.m@9@m@3-.

*9J.615-95@*,.B@37?65@19K.

����� �����

P
age 494



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#�$%&�"% '$(% '")���)$

*+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@A-

*+35-B/04<-3C9:/;,-=22,55-?/:-909345D-=1<-:,<02,-8:=;,4-83C,5-?/:-C=1@-909345D-=5-B,44-=5-312:,=5317-8+,-

10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-=;=34=>4,A-E-10C>,:-/?-/8+,:-,F9=153/15D-=1<-1,B-9:/;353/1-=8-/8+,:-52+//45-238@GB3<,D-

=:,-=45/-9:/9/5,<A-

E48,:1=83;,-/983/15-8/-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-*+,-H=:3/1-.,18:,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-2/04<-31240<,L-

M-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-53C34=:-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-5,2/1<=:@-52+//4-538,5-

M-8+,-,58=>435+C,18-/?-1,B-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-52+//4-538,5-=1<N/:-=-<3??,:,18-10C>,:-/?-

94=2,5-31-8+,-20::,18-/:-9:/9/5,<->=5,5-

O/B,;,:D-8+,-58=1<=:<5-=8-*+,-K35+/9-/?-P4=1<=??-.+0:2+-31-Q=4,5-O37+-I2+//4-=:,-7//<A-R12:,=5317-

8+,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-9:/;353/1-9:/;3<,5-=1-312:,=5,<-10C>,:-/?-=99:/9:3=8,-+37+-S0=438@-52+//4-

94=2,5A-*+,-,F9=153/1-/?-8+,-5022,55?04->=5,-=8-*+,-H=:3/1-.,18:,-8/-TT-94=2,5-35-8+,:,?/:,-2/153<,:,<-

8/->,-=-9:,?,::,<-/983/1A-

UVW! $X�'%V�(�'$Y!����'$

OJ-Z,/94,-I,:;32,5-B344-B/:6-B38+-8+,-[/;,:1317-K/<@-8/-=<<:,55-8+,-OJ-3C9432=83/15-=:35317-?:/C-8+,-

312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-E0835C-I9,28:0C-./1<383/1-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-=8-8+,-

52+//4-=1<-8+,-:,5048317-1,,<-?/:-=<<383/1=4-58=?\17A-

Q+,:,-8+,-[/;,:1317-K/<@-+=;,-=</98,<-8+,-./01234]5-I2+//4-J,<,94/@C,18-=1<-J,<01<=12@-Z/432@D-

=1@-1,B-;=2=123,5-=:35317-=5-=-2/15,S0,12,-/?-8+,-,58=>435+C,18-/?-8+,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-B344-

9:/;3<,-/99/:801383,5-?/:-52+//4G>=5,<-58=??-/1-8+,-52+//4-:,<,94/@C,18-:,7358,:A-

�̂! '&%��$W!����'$

*+,-./01234-=9943,5-8+,-8B/GC34,-58=808/:@-S0=43?@317-B=46317-<358=12,-2:38,:3=-?/:-909345-8/-S0=43?@-?/:-

?:,,-+/C,-8/-52+//4-8:=159/:8-8/-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,5A-I/C,-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,-4,=:1,:5-B+/-

43;,-B38+31-8B/-C34,5-/?-8+,-52+//4-C=@->,-9:/;3<,<-B38+-?:,,-8:=159/:8-<0,-8/-8+,3:-31<3;3<0=4-4,=:1317-

1,,<5-=1<-5/23=4-3550,5A-_8+,:-4,=:1,:5-=:,-=>4,-8/-8:=;,4-31<,9,1<,184@-/:-B38+-9=:,18N2=:,:5-=1<-3?-

:,53<,18-B38+31-8+,-8B/GC34,-S0=43?@317-<358=12,-C=@-1/8->,-,4373>4,-?/:-P,=:1,:-*:=159/:8A-*+,5,-909345-

=5-B,44-=5-58=??-=1<-52+//4-;3538/:5-B/04<->,1,\8-?:/C-=1@-:,S03:,<-3C9:/;,C,185-31-?=234383,5-?/:-=283;,-

8:=;,4-8/-52+//4-/:-90>432-8:=159/:8-?=234383,5A-

E5-8+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@D-

38-35-,F9,28,<-8+=8-8+,-=;,:=7,-8:=;,4-<358=12,-8/-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,5-?/:-31<3;3<0=4-4,=:1,:5-B/04<-

:,<02,-31-?080:,A-

E-52+//4-9:/9/5=4-8/-,58=>435+-E<<383/1=4-P,=:1317-̀,,<5-?=234383,5-C=@-:,S03:,-=-*:=159/:8-I8=8,C,18-

B+32+-B344-3<,183?@-C,=50:,5-8/->,-31240<,<-=5-9=:8-/?-8+,-=99432=83/1-8/-C=F3C35,-8:=;,4->@-

5058=31=>4,-C/<,5A-

*+,-./01234]5-20::,18-./:9/:=8,-Z4=1-31240<,5-=-2/CC38C,18-8/-,;,:@-52+//4-31-.=:<3??-<,;,4/9317-=1-

E283;,-*:=;,4-Z4=1A-I02+-=-94=1-B344-3<,183?@-=283/15->@-8+,-52+//4-8/-5099/:8-=1<-,12/0:=7,-=283;,-8:=;,4-

8/-52+//4-=1<-=45/-=1@-3C9:/;,C,185-8/-/1G538,-=1<-/??G538,-31?:=58:0280:,-:,S03:,<-8/-?=23438=8,-=283;,-

a/0:1,@5A-

R12:,=5317-8:=;,4-8/-52+//4->@-=283;,-C/<,5-bB=46317D-2@24317-=1<-52//8317c->@-,150:317-5=?,-?=234383,5-=:,-

9:/;3<,<-B344-+=;,-=-9/5383;,-3C9=28-/1-2+34<:,1]5-+,=48+-=1<-B,44>,317A-

E-10C>,:-/?-31383=83;,5-+=;,-5022,55?044@-<,C/158:=8,<-5099/:8-=1<-,12/0:=7,C,18-?/:-=283;,-=1<-

5058=31=>4,-8:=;,4-=C/1758-8+,-E<<383/1=4-P,=:1317-̀,,<5-2/+/:8D-B+32+-B/04<->,-/??,:,<-8/-4,=:1,:5-

=5-=99:/9:3=8,D-31240<317-R1<,9,1<,18-*:=;,4-*:=31317-?/:-/4<,:-909345-b8/->,-:,;3,B,<-,=2+-@,=:cD-2@24,-

C=318,1=12,-=1<-2@24,-8:=31317A-

Q38+-8+,-,F9,28,<-312:,=5,<-<,C=1<-?/:-P,=:1,:-*:=159/:8-5038=>4,-3C9:/;,<-=1<-N-/:-,F9=1<,<-

?=234383,5-?/:-<:/9G/??-=1<-9326G09-C=@->,-:,S03:,<-B38+31-8+,-538,-8/-=22/CC/<=8,-8+,-=99:/9:3=8,-

10C>,:5-/?-;,+324,5A-_8+,:-3C9:/;,C,185-C=@-31240<,-C/<3\2=83/15-8/-8+,-4=@/08-31240<317-B3<,1317-

8+,-318,:1=4-=22,55-:/=<-=1<-9:/;3<317-8:=?\2-2=4C317A-

U!#�$d%V�$'!d$

E8-8+,-,1<-/?-8+,->//64,8-35-=-S0,583/11=3:,A-*+35-35-@/0:-2+=12,-8/-4,8-8+,-./01234-61/B-B+=8-@/0-8+316-

=>/08-8+,-9:/9/5=4A-e/0-2=1-73;,-=-:,59/15,-8/-=44-/?-8+,-S0,583/15D-/:-a058-:,59/1<-8/-5/C,-/?-8+,CD-=5-

@/0-9:,?,:A-

E48,:1=83;,4@D-@/0-2=1-5,1<-05-@/0:-;3,B5-31-/1,-/?-8+,-?/44/B317-B=@5L-

M-./C94,8317-8+,-/1431,-:,59/15,-?/:C-=8-fffghijklmmgnopgqrstuvwhxooyzjozowiyw{

M-|C=34-@/0:-;3,B5-8/-whxooyj}wzo~w}w�hijklmmgnopgqr{

M-Q:38,-8/-05-=8-8+,-?/44/B317-=<<:,55L-I2+//4-_:7=135=83/1-Z4=11317D-J//C-���D-./018@-O=44D-E84=1832-

Q+=:?D-.=:<3??D-.���-��QA-

*+,-./01234-B344-2/153<,:-,;,:@/1,]5-;3,B5->,?/:,-<,23<317-B+,8+,:-8/-7/-=+,=<-B38+-8+,-

9:/9/5,<-2+=17,5A-

��������������������������������������������������������������������

����{ � � {

P
age 495



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%&"&�$ '!(�%)&*$"�#" "+�&,( !(�$"-&��.�,&"/ �&" $"
0�1�!"23#.*"23)� &1"2! *$ #"

45

������ !"#��"$%&"
&�$ '!(�%)&*$"�#" "
+�&,( !(�$"-&��.�,&"
/ �&" $"0�1�!"23#.*"
23)� &1"2! *$ #"

456

789:;<=>?@A<=>BCDE9<=;DAFD?<G8<D<HE;8IJBEKG@B<L:BB@AGF><IG9I<8LI::;<;:LDFEK<DF<MCGK9E<N:DK<GA<

O;DAKD??<P:CFI<?:C<Q@QG;8<D9EK<RRJRST<

UIE<8LI::;<I:8F8<D<VQELGD;G8F<NE8:@CLE<MD8E<KE8G9ADFEK<?:C<L:BQ;EW<;EDCAGA9<AEEK8T<

U:<BEEF<KEBDAK<?:C<VQELGD;G8F<NE8:@CLE<MD8E<Q;DLE8<?:C<;EDCAEC8<XGFI<Y@FG8B<VQELFC@B<Z:AKGFG:A<D9EK<

RR<[<R\<GA<FIE<HE;8IJBEKG@B<8ELF:C<GF<G8<QC:Q:8EK<F:]<

<̂E8FD_;G8I<D<̀a<Q;DLE<VQELGD;G8F<NE8:@CLE<MD8E<?:C<;EDCAEC8<XGFI<Y@FG8B<VQELFC@B<Z:AKGFG:A<DF<789:;<

=>?@A<=>BCDE9<=;DAFD?<D;:A98GKE<FIE<EWG8FGA9<̀a<Q;DLE<VQELGD;G8F<NE8:@CLE<MD8E<?:C<;EDCAEC8<XGFI<

Z:BQ;EW<OEDCAGA9<PEEK8<?C:B<VEQFEB_EC<bab̀<

cF<G8<QC:Q:8EK<FIDF<AEX<DLL:BB:KDFG:A<X:@;K<_E<KEdE;:QEK<:A<8GFE<F:<QC:dGKE<Q@CQ:8EJ_@G;F<?DLG;GFGE8<?:C<

_:FI<CE8:@CLE<_D8E8T<

P:<LIDA9E8<DCE<QC:Q:8EK<F:<FIE<8LI::;e8<VQELGD;G8F<NE8:@CLE<MD8E<?:C<;EDCAEC8<XGFI<L:BQ;EW<

;EDCAGA9<AEEK8T<

fghijklmhniopiqrsthuisvivghiutgoori

UD_;E<bw<_E;:X<QC:dGKE8<KEFDG;8<:?<Q;DLE8<DdDG;D_;E<DF<789:;<=>?@A<=>BCDE9<=;DAFD?<

fsmrhixyzi{rsthuis|s}rsmrhisvi~}ugoqiopi�u�ori��pkji��lnsh�i�rsjvspi

�slhiopi
utgoori

�knnhjvi
{kmr}ugh�i
�sqst}v�
i�s�hi��i�i���i

{rsthui
qhni�hsni
�nokq

i�s�hi��i�i���i

�}�vgiponli
qrsthui

�sj�ks�hi
lh�}klisj�i
�svh�on�i
opi�tgoori

789:;<=>?@A<
=>BCDE9<=;DAFD?<
�BDGA8FCEDB<
Q;DLE8�<

Rbaa< b�a< àa<

HE;8IJBEKG@B<
L:BB@AGF><

8EL:AKDC><8LI::;<
789:;<=>?@A<
=>BCDE9<=;DAFD?<
�VQELGD;G8F<
NE8:@CLE<MD8E<
Q;DLE8�<

à<

4�4�6

P
age 496



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�*+,(-�.') "�.'/!$�,�.-$"#$)�0122�%-$��+�$"3�#���+��((-��$3�0456�% %&-+�("�

!(--�&"�7%!&-�52508�&"�- 3&",�% %&-+�&"�#���9%��&$-&+#�:�+( !���;$+�<�

=>?@ABCDEFCGH@I>JC@KCKL>CJILEEHC

�$M-��5N�M�-(O�+�#+�( #�3�#$&-+�()�!���"#�$"3�%!(P��#�3�" /M�!+�("�!(--�

Q@RH>CSTUCV>I>AKC@ABCGFEW>IK>BCAX?R>FJCEACFEHHC

YX?R>FJCEACVEHHCZ[\]̂_̀C [XGaHCGFEW>IKaEAJbC

ÎLEEHC

S
c
d
T
ed
f

S
c
d
f
ed
g

S
c
d
g
ed
h

S
c
d
h
eS
c

S
c
S
c
eS
d

S
c
S
d
eS
S

S
c
S
S
eS
i

S
c
S
i
eS
j

S
c
S
j
eS
k

S
c
S
k
eS
T
C

*+,(-�.') "�
.'/!$�,�.-$"#$)�
/$&"+#!�$/�%-$��+�

0050�001l�0061�051m�042n�04m4�0l2l�0l44�0l5m�0l40�

*+,(-�.') "�
.'/!$�,�.-$"#$)�
+%��&$-&+#�!�+( !���
M$+��%-$��+�

00� 05� 0l� 01� 50� 06� 50� 54� 51� 5m�

o�9��((-�% %&-�" /M�!+�M$+�3�("�-(�$-��$#��/�"#�%(% -$#&("�%!(P��#&("+�$"3��&+#(!&�$-�

%$##�!"+�()�3�/$"3�

_EABaKaEAC@ABĈXaK@RaHaKpCEDĈILEEHCqXaHBaArJC

7--�+��((-+�&"�s$!3&))�$!��,&t�"�$�s("3&#&("�!$#&",�)!(/�7�u%�!)(!/&",�$+�&"#�"3�3�v�(%�!$#&",��)w�&�"#-'x�

#(�y�u-&)���z%&!�3�v�!&+{�()�&//&"�"#�)$&- !�x�

9��((-+�&"�s$!3&))�$!��$-+(�,&t�"�$�9 &#$M&-&#'�!$#&",�)!(/�7�u,((3�|�)$�&-&#&�+�+ &#$M-��)(!�#�$��&",8�

-�$!"&",�}�O�--M�&",x�#(�y�uM$3�|�M &-3&",�+�!&( +-'�&"�&M&#�#���+#$))~+�$M&-&#'�#(�3�-&t�!�#���� !!&� - /x<�

Q@RH>CSfUC_EABaKaEAC@ABCJXaK@RaHaKpCrF@BaArJC

�F@BaArC _EABaKaEAC X̂aK@RaHaKpC

7� .((3�$"3�(%�!$#&",��)w�&�"#-'�
.((3<��$�&-&#&�+�+ &#$M-��)(!�#�$��&",8�-�$!"&",�$"3�
O�--M�&",�&"�+��((-�

;�
9$#&+)$�#(!'�M #�O&#��/&"(!�
3�#�!&(!$#&("�

9$#&+)$�#(!'<���!)(!/&",�$+�&"#�"3�3�M #�3(�+�"(#�
�))��#&t�-'�+ %%(!#�#���3�-&t�!'�()�#���� !!&� - /�&"�
+(/��$!�$+�

s� �((!�O&#��/$P(!�3�)��#+�
�((!<���$��&",�/�#�(3+�&"�&M&#�3v$3t�!+��&/%$�#�("�
+��((-�(!,$"&+$#&("�

y�
�"3�()��&)���-&)���$+��z%&!�3�(!�
!&+{�()�&//&"�"#�)$&- !��

��!'�%((!<�; &-3&",+�+�!&( +-'�&"�&M&#�#���+#$))~+�$M&-&#'�
#(�3�-&t�!�#���� !!&� - /�

*+,(-�.') "�.'/!$�,�.-$"#$)�&+�!$#�3�s�)(!��("3&#&("�$"3�;�)(!�+ &#$M&-&#'<�

����+&#�8�$"3�-(�$-�&")!$+#! �# !��())�+&#�8�O( -3�+ %%(!#�#����+#$M-&+�/�"#�()�$"�$33&#&("$-�+%��&$-&+#�

!�+( !���M$+�<���O�$��(//(3$#&("�O( -3�M�"�w#�-�$!"�!+�O&#��7 #&+/�9%��#! /�s("3&#&("�

$##�"3&",�#���"�O�M$+��$"3�O( -3�$-+(�M�"�w#�#�(+��$##�"3&",�#���M$+��)(!�-�$!"�!+�O&#��s(/%-�z�

��$!"&",����3+<�

����������������������

����s( "�&-�O(!{+��-(+�-'�O&#��#O(�(!,$"&+$#&("+�&"�(!3�!�#(�/("&#(!�#���%�!)(!/$"���()�+��((-+�$"3�#(�

+ %%(!#�+��((-�&/%!(t�/�"#<�

�+#'"�&+�#���()w���()���!��$P�+#'~+�s�&�)��"+%��#(!�()��3 �$#&("�$"3��!$&"&",�&"��$-�+<�

�+#'"�&"+%��#+�� $-&#'�$"3�+#$"3$!3+�&"�+��((-+�$"3�(#��!��3 �$#&("�%!(t&3�!+�&"��$-�+<�

����s�"#!$-�9( #��s("+(!#& /��(&"#��3 �$#&("�9�!t&���us9s��9x�&+�#���!�,&("$-�9��((-��/%!(t�/�"#�

9�!t&���)(!�#���wt���( "�&-+�()�;!&3,�"38�s$!3&))8���!#�'!��'3w-8�:�("33$�s'"("��$))�$"3�#����$-��()�

.-$/(!,$"<�����s( "�&-�O(!{+�O&#��#���s("+(!#& /�#(�+ %%(!#�$"3���$--�",��$--�+��((-+�&"�s$!3&))<�

�(�$-�7 #�(!&#&�+8�+ ���$+�s$!3&))�s( "�&-8�/ +#��("+&3�!��+#'"�!�%(!#+�$"3�(#��!��t&3�"���$M( #�+��((-�

%�!)(!/$"���$"3��))��#&t�"�++�O��"�+ ,,�+#&",���$",�+�#(�+��((-+<�

����� �����

P
age 497



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$�%&#&'( )"(# ��(� ��*(&+'% #$' �&,'�- &).��# �/ #$' .%�.�('+ �$�*0'( �*1 

2 (#�*+�%+(3 4'��5'&*0 �*+ �##&#"+'( #� �'�%*&*0 

2 #'��$&*0 �*+ �'�%*&*0 '6.'%&'*�'( 

2 ��%' ("..�%# �*+ 0"&+�*�' 

2 �'�+'%($&. �*+ )�*�0')'*# 7�'�+'%($&.3 &).%�8&*0 9"��&#-3 .�%#*'%($&. 4�%,&*0 �*+ %'(�"%�' 

)�*�0')'*#: 

;<=>?@

A�$���( �%' &*(.'�#'+ �( .�%# �/ � *�#&�*�� .%�0%�))' �/ (�$��� &*(.'�#&�*B C$' ."%.�(' �/ �* 

&*(.'�#&�* &( #� &+'*#&/- 0��+ /'�#"%'( �*+ ($�%#��)&*0( &* (�$���( &* �%+'% #$�# #$'- )�- &).%�8' #$' 

9"��&#- �/ '+"��#&�* �//'%'+ �*+ %�&(' (#�*+�%+( ��$&'8'+ 5- #$'&% .".&�( 7D(#-*:B 

C$' %'�'8�*# D(#-* E*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( .%�8&+' 0%�+'( �0�&*(# F'- G"'(#&�*( �*+ .%�8&+' (�$���( 4&#$ 

%'��))'*+�#&�*( /�% &).%�8')'*#B 

H�" ��* I*+ &*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( �* #$' D(#-* 4'5(&#' JJJKLMNOPKQRSKTUV

WXY<Z@[\]X̂?_X?=@̀a=Xb\̂c<a=c\?@\d@<̀Z\\Y<@

E* efgh3 #$' i'�($ j�8'%*)'*# &*#%�+"�'+ � *'4 ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#')B 

E# ���,( �# '��$ (�$���k( (#�*+�%+( �*+ $�4 )"�$ � (�$��� &( �5�' #� &).%�8'B C$&( &+'*#&I'( #$' �'8'� �/ 

("..�%# (�$���( %'9"&%'B l%0�*&(�#&�*( ("�$ �( #$' m'*#%�� A�"#$ m�*(�%#&") 7mAmnDA: �*+ #$' (�$��� 

&).%�8')'*# ('%8&�' #$'* 4�%, 4&#$ (�$���(k �'�+'%( #� &+'*#&/-3 .%�8&+' �*+o�% 5%�,'% �*- ("..�%# 

%'9"&%'+ /�% /"%#$'% &).%�8')'*#B 

C$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#') &( +'(�%&5'+ &* C�5�' ep 5'��41 

qarYX@stu@va=Xb\̂c<a=c\?@w><=X_@

va=Xb\̂>@\d@<xyy\̂=@ WZa=@=ZX@̀a=Xb\̂>@_Xa?<@

[̂XX?@
! $&0$�- '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( 4'�� %"*3 $�( � (#%�*0 �'�+'%($&. �*+ &( 
��'�% �5�"# &#( .%&�%&#&'( /�% &).%�8')'*# 

zXYY\{@
!* '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( ��%'�+- +�&*0 4'�� �*+ ,*�4( #$' �%'�( &# 
*''+( #� &).%�8'B 

|_rX̂@
! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ &).%�8')'*# 4$&�$ *''+( $'�. #� &+'*#&/- #$' (#'.( 
#� &).%�8' �% #� )�,' �$�*0' $�..'* )�%' 9"&�,�-B 

}X~@
! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ 0%'�#'(# &).%�8')'*# �*+ 4&�� %'�'&8' &))'+&�#'3 
&*#'*(&8' ("..�%#B 

! (�$���k( ����"%���+'+ ��#'0�%- &( +'�&+'+ 5- $�4 &# &( %�#'+ /�% (#�*+�%+( 7g�h: �*+ /�% $�4 �5�' &# &( #� 

&).%�8' 7!��:B 

g &( #$' 5'(# %�#&*0 /�% (#�*+�%+( �*+ ! &( #$' 5'(# /�% &).%�8')'*#B 

�.+�#'+ ��#'0�%&(�#&�*( /�% '��$ (�$��� �%' ."5�&($'+ '8'%- -'�% &* n�*"�%-B 

��%' &*/�%)�#&�* �5�"# #$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (�$')' ��* 5' /�"*+ &* #$' i'�($ j�8'%*)'*#k( .�%'*#(k 

0"&+' #� #$' ��#&�*�� A�$��� m�#'0�%&(�#&�* A-(#') $'%'1 

$##.1oo0�8B4��'(o+��(o+�'��(o."5�&��#&�*(og�fgg��.�%'*#(�0"&+'�'*B.+/ 

z<b\Y@[>dx?@[>_̂aXb@[Ya?=ad@

H(0�� j-/"* j-)%�'0 j��*#�/ 4�( ��(# &*(.'�#'+ 5- D(#-* &* ��- efg�B 

!# #$&( #&)' #$' (�$���k( .'%/�%)�*�' 4�( �"+0'+ �( 0��+ �*+ .%�(.'�#( /�% &).%�8')'*# 4'%' �"+0'+ 

�( �+'9"�#'B 

�����4&*0 � /"%#$'% )�*&#�%&*0 8&(&# &* ��8')5'% efgp3 #$' (�$��� 4�( �"+0'+ #� $�8' )�+' ("/I�&'*# 

.%�0%'(( �*+ 4�( %')�8'+ /%�) #$' (�$��� /%�) #$' �&(# �/ (�$���( %'9"&%&*0 D(#-* %'8&'4B 

E* #$' )�(# %'�'*# i'�($ j�8'%*)'*# A�$��� m�#'0�%&(�#&�* �# n�*"�%- efef3 H(0�� j-/"* j-)%�'0 

j��*#�/ 4�( ��#'0�%&('+ �# H'���4 7!* '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( ��%'�+- +�&*0 4'�� �*+ ,*�4( #$' �%'�( &# 

*''+( #� &).%�8':B 

!* �(('(()'*# .%�8&+'+ 5- #$' m'*#%�� A�"#$ m�*(�%#&") &* !"#")* efeg 0�8' #$' /����4&*0 

'8��"�#&�*1 

2 E* ,'- (#�0' � 7�0'( gg � gh:3 )�(# .".&�( �%' ("��'((/"� &* ��$&'8&*0 #$' ��%' ("5�'�# &*+&��#�% 7mAE: 

�*+ �"#��)'( �8'% #$' ��(# #$%'' -'�%( �%' $&0$'% #$�* *�#&�*�� �8'%�0'( ��%�(( ��� ��%' ("5�'�#( �# 

�'8'� ��3 �� �*+ ��B ��(# .".&�( $�8' )�+' g �'8'� �/ .%�0%'(( �% )�%' +"%&*0 #$' ,'- (#�0'B 

2 C$' (�$��� $�( �..%�.%&�#' (-(#')( #� #%��, .%�0%'(( 4$&�$ .%�8&+'( "('/"� &*/�%)�#&�* /�% (#�// �* 

#$' ��$&'8')'*# �/ 8�%&�"( 0%�".( �/ .".&�(B 

2 �- �����5�%�#&*0 4&#$ � *")5'% �/ '6#'%*�� �0'*�&'(3 #$' (�$��� &( +�&*0 8'%- 0��+ 4�%, 4&#$ 

8"�*'%�5�' .".&�( #� ("..�%# #$' 4'��5'&*03 $'��#$ �*+ (��&�� +'8'��.)'*# �/ #$'(' .".&�( #� '*("%' � 

$'��#$- �##&#"+' #� �'�%*&*0B 

����V����V

P
age 498



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"#$%!$&!"�$#�#'(�")'�� �*(�$++()#(!�*,�#'(�)'$%-("� .!!/#/�%$ �"�00�&#�+�&�0�0/ "�

1234536578

9:;<=>?@ABC<:DE<FDG;<D<AC;DH<A>FFBIF;@I<I><A>@IB@?B@J<I:;<B@K;EIF;@I<B@L<D@G<BFMH>K;F;@I<>NL<=DHGBNN<

EA:>>CE<I><FDO;<E?H;<;K;HP<A:BCG<:DE<I:;<Q;EI<M>EEBQC;<EIDHI<B@<CBN;<RSSSTUVWXYZZU[\\Y]\̂ _]TU[T̀abc<

9:;<=>?@ABC<d>HOE<AC>E;CP<dBI:<I:;<J>K;H@B@J<Q>GB;E<>N<EA:>>CE<I><FDO;<E?H;<I:DI<EID@GDHGE<B@<EA:>>CE<

DH;<:BJ:L<I:DI<I;DA:B@J<BE<J>>GL<D@G<I:DI<C;DG;HE:BM<D@G<J>K;H@D@A;<BE<EIH>@Jc<

eID@GDHGE<DI<fEJ>C<gPN?@<gPFHD;J<gCD@IDN<DH;<J>>Gc<hEIDQCBE:B@J<DGGBIB>@DC<eM;ABDCBEI<i;E>?HA;<jDE;<

MH>KBEB>@<DI<I:;<EA:>>C<d>?CG<MH>KBG;<DMMH>MHBDI;<:BJ:<k?DCBIP<EA:>>C<MCDA;E<N>H<P>?@J<M;>MC;<dBI:<

D?IBEF<EM;AIH?F<A>@GBIB>@c<lI<BE<@>I<;mM;AI;G<I:DI<I:;<MH>M>EDC<dBCC<BFMDAI<>@<EID@GDHGE<DI<I:;<EA:>>Cc<

9:;<MH>M>EDC<BE<@>I<;mM;AI;G<I><:DK;<D@P<@;JDIBK;<BFMDAI<>@<I:;<k?DCBIP<>N<EID@GDHGE<>N<;G?ADIB>@<DI<

I:;<EA:>>C<DE<D<H;E?CI<>N<I:;<MH>M>E;G<A:D@J;Ec<

no3pqr4s83458to364r4s8ouvo6ro4po78

9:;<MH>M>EDC<BE<@>I<;mM;AI;G<I><:DK;<D@P<@;JDIBK;<BFMDAI<>@<I;DA:B@J<D@G<C;DH@B@J<;mM;HB;@A;E<DI<fEJ>C<

gPN?@<gPFHD;J<gCD@IDNc<

w36o87xvvy6283458sxr534po8

zCC<EA:>>CE<:DK;<D@<DMMH>MHBDI;<HD@J;<>N<M>CBAB;E<D@G<MH>KBEB>@<B@<MCDA;<I><MH>F>I;<M?MBCE{<:;DCI:<D@G<

d;CCQ;B@Jc<

9:;<EA:>>C<BE<A>FFBII;G<I><MH>KBGB@J<D@<;@KBH>@F;@I<B@<d:BA:<C;DH@B@J<BE<KDC?;G<D@G<M?MBCE<DA:B;K;<I:;BH<

M>I;@IBDC<B@<D<:DMMPL<EDN;<;@KBH>@F;@I<B@<d:BA:<I:;P<E:>d<H;EM;AI<D@G<I>C;HD@A;<N>H<;DA:<>I:;Hc<

9:;<=>?@ABC<d>?CG<d>HO<dBI:<I:;<C;DG;HE:BM<>N<I:;<EA:>>C<I><FDO;<E?H;<;K;HP>@;<?@G;HEID@GE<I:;BH<

H;EM>@EBQBCBIP<N>H<:;CMB@J<I><BFMH>K;<D@G<E?EIDB@<ADH;<E?MM>HI<D@G<J?BGD@A;c<

|o35o67qrv83458}343so~o428

9:;<=>?@ABC<d>?CG<A>@IB@?;<I><d>HO<dBI:<I:;<C;DG;HE:BM<>N<I:;<EA:>>C<I><FDO;<E?H;<;K;HP>@;<

?@G;HEID@GE<I:;BH<H;EM>@EBQBCBIP<N>H<:;CMB@J<I><BFMH>K;<D@G<E?EIDB@<:BJ:<M;HN>HFD@A;c<lI<d>?CG<E?MM>HI<

I:;<EA:>>C<I><:DK;<D<J>>G<H;CDIB>@E:BM<dBI:<MDH;@IE<D@G<>I:;H<MDHI@;HE<E><I:DI<M?MBCE<H;A;BK;<D<:BJ:�

k?DCBIP<;G?ADIB>@c<

9:;<MH>M>E;G<A:D@J;E<d>?CG<Q;<MCD@@;G<ADH;N?CCP<E><I:DI<I:;<EA:>>C{E<C;DG;HE:BM<D@G<J>K;H@D@A;<BE<@>I<

GBEH?MI;GL<d:BA:<A>?CG<:DK;<D<@;JDIBK;<BFMDAI<>@<;G?ADIB>@DC<EID@GDHGEc<

9DQC;<��<Q;C>d<E:>dE<I:;<M;HA;@IDJ;E<>N�<

�<�?MBCE<dBI:<zGGBIB>@DC<�;DH@B@J<�;;GE<

�<�?MBCE<H;A;BKB@J<�H;;<eA:>>C<�;DCE<

�<�?MBCE<dBI:<h@JCBE:<DE<D@<zGGBIB>@DC<�D@J?DJ;<

�<�B@>HBIP<hI:@BA<M?MBCE<DI<;DA:<>N<I:;<EA:>>CEc<

n3�to8���8�r7qyv8y�8|t3453��8wqx6pq8r48�3to78�rsq81pqyyt8

�tt8vxvrt78 �8

�<>N<�?MBCE<>@<eA:>>C<zAIB>@< �c�<

�<>N<�?MBCE<>@<eA:>>C<zAIB>@<�C?E< �c�<

�<>N<�?MBCE<dBI:<D<EIDI;F;@I<>N<z��< �c�<

�<>N<�H;;<eA:>>C<�;DCE<�?MBCE�<�<P;DH<DK;HDJ;< �c�<

�<>N<�?MBCE<dBI:<h@JCBE:<DE<D@<zGGBIB>@DC<�D@J?DJ;< @�D<

�<>N<�B@>HBIP<hI:@BA<�?MBCE< ��c�<

�~v3p28y48vxvrt78�r2q8�55r2ry43t8|o364r4s8�oo578��|��8

9:;<A?HH;@I<;mM;HIBE;<DI<I:;<EA:>>C<d>?CG<Q;<FDB@IDB@;Gc<9:;<;EIDQCBE:F;@I<>N<DGGBIB>@DC<C;DH@B@J<@;;GE<

MH>KBEB>@<N>H<C;DH@;HE<dBI:<D?IBEF<EM;AIH?F<A>@GBIB>@<d>?CG<MH>KBG;<>MM>HI?@BIB;E<N>H<EIDNN<G;K;C>MF;@I<

D@G<N>H<;@:D@AB@J<M?MBCE{<C;DH@B@Jc<

9:;<=>?@ABC<DAO@>dC;GJ;E<I:DI<D<A:D@J;<B@<;@KBH>@F;@I<AD@<Q;<?@E;IICB@J<D@G<?ME;IIB@J<N>H<

A:BCGH;@<dBI:<DGGBIB>@DC<C;DH@B@J<@;;GEc<�?MBCE<d>?CG<Q;<E?MM>HI;G<I><;@DQC;<I:;F<I><DGDMI<I><I:;<

A:D@J;E<MH>M>E;Gc<

�y�8�yxt587xvvy628�y68vxvrt78�r2q8�4str7q8378348�55r2ry43t8|34sx3so8�o83��op2o5 8

�?MBCE<I:DI<H;A;BK;<E?MM>HI<Q;AD?E;<I:;P<:DK;<h@JCBE:<DE<D@<DGGBIB>@DC<CD@J?DJ;<AD@<Q;<E?MM>HI;G<B@<D@P<

EA:>>C<B@<=DHGBNNc<

9:;H;<BE<@><B@N>HFDIB>@<DKDBCDQC;<I:DI<E?JJ;EIE<I:DI<I:;<MH>M>EDC<d>?CG<:DK;<D<@;JDIBK;<;NN;AI<>@<:>d<

A:BCGH;@<dBI:<h@JCBE:<DE<D@<DGGBIB>@DC<CD@J?DJ;<DH;<E?MM>HI;Gc<9:;<EA:>>C<d>?CG<A>@IB@?;<I><MH>KBG;<

E?MM>HI<I:DI<BE<DMMH>MHBDI;<I><I:;<B@GBKBG?DC<@;;GE<>N<;DA:<M?MBCc<

¡¡¡¡¢ ¡£¡£¢

P
age 499



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"�"# $�%&'&#(#)*�+%&&�,'-�� �.&/ $�0&�/11&'2&!3�

45678598:;789<=>?=@8:;A:8A8BC;55D8E7C7?F7B8?B8GAB7>85=8:;78=<6G7E8598H<H?DB8?=8:;78BC;55D8I;58E7C7?F78

JE7784C;55D8K7ADBL8MDD8BC;55DB8?=8NAE>?998I5<D>8E7C7?F789<=>?=@895E8:;7B78H<H?DBL8

O;7E78?B8=58?=95E6A:?5=8AFA?DAGD78:;A:8B<@@7B:B8:;A:8:;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8;AF78A8=7@A:?F787997C:85=8H<H?DB8

A:8:;78BC;55D8I;58E7C7?F78JE7784C;55D8K7ADBL8

������� !�.#)�%#2P�Q2-)#'�R�"# $�0&�/11&'2&!3�

O;78=77>B8598?=>?F?><AD8H<H?DB8AE78ABB7BB7>8A=>8HE5F?>7>895E8AB8AHHE5HE?A:7L8O;7E78?B8ADB58=58?=95E6A:?5=8

AFA?DAGD78:;A:8B<@@7B:B8:;A:8:;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8;AF78A8=7@A:?F787997C:85=8HE5F?B?5=895E8A=S87:;=?C8@E5<HL8

TUVWXVYZXWUZX[Z\Z]ŴX_̀XWUZXaY_a_̂ZbXcUV\dZeX

f8O;78HE5H5BAD8I5<D>8?=CE7AB78:;78=<6G7E85984H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78HDAC7B895E8B7C5=>AES8A@7>8

D7AE=7EB8I?:;8A<:?B68BH7C:E<68C5=>?:?5=8A=>8I5<D>8C5=:E?G<:78:5IAE>B8677:?=@8HE5i7C:7>8>76A=>L8

f8O;785HH5E:<=?:S8:5876HD5S8A>>?:?5=AD8BH7C?AD?B:8B:A998A=>8:58I5Ej865E78CD5B7DS8I?:;8BH7C?AD?B:8

B7EF?C7B8?=8NAE>?998I5<D>87=;A=C78:;78BC;55DkB8?=CD<B?F78:7AC;?=@L8O;?B8I5<D>8G7=7l:8ADD8H<H?DB8?=8

:;78BC;55DL8

J<E:;7E8?=95E6A:?5=8?=8E7BH7C:8598:;78G7=7l:B85987mHA=>?=@8BH7C?AD?B:8HE5F?B?5=8?B8B7:85<:85=8HA@78no8598

:;?B8>5C<67=:L8

p_WZ\WqVrXbq̂VbsV\WVdẐX_̀XWUZXaY_a_̂ZbXcUV\dZX

f845678H<H?DB8I?:;8A>>?:?5=AD8D7AE=?=@8=77>B8CA=8l=>8C;A=@78>?9lC<D:L8O;7S86AS8l=>8C;A=@7B8:58

G<?D>?=@B8<=B7::D?=@L8t78j=5I8:;7S8I?DD8=77>8CAE79<DDS8HDA==7>8B<HH5E:8:58A>AH:8:58:;78C;A=@7BL8

u5I7F7Ev8:;7E78I5<D>8G78B<9lC?7=:8:?678:58HDA=8A=>8B<HH5E:8B<C;8A8C;A=@7L8

f8O;7E78?B8H5:7=:?AD895E8A8B6ADD8?=CE7AB78?=8:EA9lC8AE5<=>8:;78BC;55D8B?:78A:8:;78B:AE:8A=>87=>8598:;78>ASL8

O;78N5<=C?D8I5<D>8I5Ej8I?:;8:;78w5F7E=?=@8h5>S8598:;78BC;55D8:58>7F7D5H8A8OEAF7D8xDA=8:586?=?6?B78

A=S8H5:7=:?AD8>?BE<H:?5=L8

yrWZY\VWqsZX_aWq_\̂Xc_\̂qbZYZbX

O;78N5<=C?D8?B8B77j?=@8:58HE5F?>78A8G7::7E8>?B:E?G<:?5=8598BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78HE5F?B?5=8ACE5BB8:;78C?:SL8

O;?B8I5<D>8?6HE5F78ACC7BB895E8H<H?DBv8A=>8E7><C78:EAF7D8:?67B895E86A=S8H<H?DBv8AB8I7DD8AB8?=CE7AB?=@8:;78

=<6G7E8598HDAC7B8AFA?DAGD7L8M8=<6G7E85985:;7E87mHA=B?5=Bv8A=>8=7I8HE5F?B?5=8A:85:;7E8BC;55DB8C?:SzI?>7v8

AE78ADB58HE5H5B7>L8

M:8HE7B7=:v8:;7E78?B8=58>7>?CA:7>8t7DB;z67>?<684H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78HE5F?B?5=895E8D7AE=7EB8A@7>8oo8z

o{8I?:;8M<:?B684H7C:E<68N5=>?:?5=8?=8NAE>?998

MD:7E=A:?F785H:?5=B8:58:;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598A=8A>>?:?5=AD84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78A:8|B@5D8wS9<=8

wS6EA7@8wDA=:A98C5<D>8?=CD<>7}8

f8:;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598=7I8BH7C?AD?B:8HE5F?B?5=85=85:;7E8BC;55D8B?:7B8A=>~5E8HE5F?>?=@8B<HH5E:8?=8

BC;55DB8I?:;5<:8:;7895E6AD87B:AGD?B;67=:8598A8GAB7L8

u5I7F7Ev8:;78B:A=>AE>B8A:8|B@5D8wS9<=8wS6EA7@8wDA=:A98AE78@55>L8O;78BC;55D8;AB87mH7E?7=C78598

B<CC7BB9<DDS85H7EA:?=@8A84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB7L8�B:AGD?B;?=@8A>>?:?5=AD84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78

HE5F?B?5=8A:8:;78BC;55D8I5<D>8HE5F?>78A=8?=CE7AB7>8=<6G7E8598AHHE5HE?A:78;?@;8�<AD?:S8BC;55D8HDAC7B8?=8

H<EH5B7zG<?D:89AC?D?:?7BL8

O;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598A>>?:?5=AD84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78HE5F?B?5=8A:8|B@5D8wS9<=8wS6EA7@8wDA=:A98?B8

:;7E795E78C5=B?>7E7>8:58G78A8HE797EE7>85H:?5=L8

���V\X�Ẑ_�YcẐX�VWWZŶX

ug8x75HD7847EF?C7B8I?DD8I5Ej8I?:;8:;78w5F7E=?=@8h5>S8:58A>>E7BB8:;78ug8?6HD?CA:?5=B8AE?B?=@89E568

:;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598A=8M<:?B684H7C:E<68N5=>?:?5=84H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78AD5=@B?>78:;787m?B:?=@8

4H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78A:8:;78BC;55D8A=>8:;78E7B<D:?=@8=77>895E8A>>?:?5=AD8B:A9l=@L8

t;7E78:;78w5F7E=?=@8h5>S8;AF78A>5H:7>8:;78N5<=C?DkB84C;55D8g7>7HD5S67=:8A=>8g7><=>A=CS8x5D?CSv8

A=S8=7I8FACA=C?7B8AE?B?=@8AB8A8C5=B7�<7=C78598:;787B:AGD?B;67=:8598:;78M<:?B684H7C:E<68N5=>?:?5=8

4H7C?AD?B:8g7B5<EC78hAB78I?DD8HE5F?>785HH5E:<=?:?7B895E8BC;55DzGAB7>8B:A9985=8:;78BC;55D8E7>7HD5S67=:8

E7@?B:7EL8

�YV\̂a_YWX�VWWZŶX

O;78N5<=C?D8AHHD?7B8:;78:I5z6?D78B:A:<:5ES8�<AD?9S?=@8IADj?=@8>?B:A=C78CE?:7E?A895E8H<H?DB8:58�<AD?9S895E8

9E778;5678:58BC;55D8:EA=BH5E:8:58BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78GAB7BL845678BH7C?AD?B:8E7B5<EC78GAB78D7AE=7EB8I;58

D?F78I?:;?=8:I586?D7B8598:;78BC;55D86AS8G78HE5F?>7>8I?:;89E778:EA=BH5E:8><78:58:;7?E8?=>?F?><AD8D7AE=?=@8

=77>B8A=>8B5C?AD8?BB<7BL8

�:;7E8D7AE=7EB8AE78AGD78:58:EAF7D8?=>7H7=>7=:DS85E8I?:;8HAE7=:~CAE7EB8A=>8?98E7B?>7=:8I?:;?=8:;78:I5z6?D78

�<AD?9S?=@8>?B:A=C786AS8=5:8G787D?@?GD7895E8�7AE=7E8OEA=BH5E:L8O;7B78H<H?DB8AB8I7DD8AB8B:A998A=>8BC;55D8

F?B?:5EB8I5<D>8G7=7l:89E568A=S8E7�<?E7>8?6HE5F767=:B8?=89AC?D?:?7B895E8AC:?F78:EAF7D8:58BC;55D85E8H<GD?C8

:EA=BH5E:89AC?D?:?7BL8

����������

P
age 500



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�# $%�&"
'''()&$��**(+ ,(!-./012)3  45$ 5 2&42

6789:;8<=>?@AB8A787;;CA?D89=8EF=GAH;8I8J;99;F8HA79FAJ>9A=?8=K87E;@AIBA798F;7=>F@;8EF=GA7A=?8I@F=7789:;8@A9LM8

A98A78;NE;@9;H89:I989:;8IG;FID;89FIG;B8HA79I?@;89=87E;@AIBA798F;7=>F@;8JI7;78K=F8A?HAGAH>IB8B;IF?;F78O=>BH8

F;H>@;8A?8K>9>F;P8

687@:==B8EF=E=7IB89=8;79IJBA7:86HHA9A=?IB8Q;IF?A?D8R;;H78KI@ABA9A;78SIL8F;T>AF;8I8UFI?7E=F98V9I9;S;?98

O:A@:8OABB8AH;?9AKL8S;I7>F;789=8J;8A?@B>H;H8I78EIF98=K89:;8IEEBA@I9A=?89=8SINASA7;89FIG;B8JL8

7>79IA?IJB;8S=H;7P8

U:;8<=>?@ABW78@>FF;?98<=FE=FI9;8XBI?8A?@B>H;78I8@=SSA9S;?989=8;G;FL87@:==B8A?8<IFHAKK8H;G;B=EA?D8I?8

6@9AG;8UFIG;B8XBI?P8V>@:8I8EBI?8OABB8AH;?9AKL8I@9A=?78JL89:;87@:==B89=87>EE=F98I?H8;?@=>FID;8I@9AG;89FIG;B8

9=87@:==B8I?H8IB7=8I?L8ASEF=G;S;?9789=8=?Y7A9;8I?H8=KKY7A9;8A?KFI79F>@9>F;8F;T>AF;H89=8KI@ABA9I9;8I@9AG;8

Z=>F?;L7P8

[?@F;I7A?D89FIG;B89=87@:==B8JL8I@9AG;8S=H;78\OIBCA?DM8@L@BA?D8I?H87@==9A?D]8JL8;?7>FA?D87IK;8KI@ABA9A;78IF;8

EF=GAH;H8OABB8:IG;8I8E=7A9AG;8ASEI@98=?8@:ABHF;?W78:;IB9:8I?H8O;BBJ;A?DP8

68?>SJ;F8=K8A?A9AI9AG;78:IG;87>@@;77K>BBL8H;S=?79FI9;H87>EE=F98I?H8;?@=>FID;S;?98K=F8I@9AG;8I?H8

7>79IA?IJB;89FIG;B8IS=?D7989:;86HHA9A=?IB8Q;IF?A?D8R;;H78@=:=F9M8O:A@:8O=>BH8J;8=KK;F;H89=8B;IF?;F78

I78IEEF=EFAI9;M8A?@B>HA?D8[?H;E;?H;?98UFIG;B8UFIA?A?D8K=F8=BH;F8E>EAB78\9=8J;8F;GA;O;H8;I@:8L;IF]M8@L@B;8

SIA?9;?I?@;8I?H8@L@B;89FIA?A?DP8

^A9:89:;8;NE;@9;H8A?@F;I7;H8H;SI?H8K=F8Q;IF?;F8UFI?7E=F9M89:;8;NA79A?D8KI@ABA9A;78K=F8HF=EY=KK8I?H8EA@CY

>E8OABB8J;8F;GA;O;H89=8@=?_FS89:;L8IF;87>A9IJB;89=8I@@=SS=HI9;89:;8IEEF=EFAI9;8?>SJ;F78=K8G;:A@B;7P8

àbcdefghdiaed

6989:;8;?H8=K89:;8J==CB;98A78I8T>;79A=??IAF;P8U:A78A78L=>F8@:I?@;89=8B;989:;8<=>?@AB8C?=O8O:I98L=>89:A?C8

IJ=>989:;8EF=E=7IBP8j=>8@I?8DAG;8I8F;7E=?7;89=8IBB8=K89:;8T>;79A=?7M8=F8Z>798F;7E=?H89=87=S;8=K89:;SM8I78

L=>8EF;K;FP8

6B9;F?I9AG;BLM8L=>8@I?87;?H8>78L=>F8GA;O78A?8=?;8=K89:;8K=BB=OA?D8OIL7k8

l8<=SEB;9A?D89:;8=?BA?;8F;7E=?7;8K=FS8I98mmmnopqrsttnuvwnxyz{|}~o�vv��qv�v~p�~�

l8�SIAB8L=>F8GA;O789=8~o�vv�q�~�v�~�~�opqrsttnuvwnxy�

l8̂ FA9;89=8>78I989:;8K=BB=OA?D8IHHF;77k8V@:==B8�FDI?A7I9A=?8XBI??A?DM8�==S8���M8<=>?9L8�IBBM869BI?9A@8

^:IFKM8<IFHAKKM8<���8��̂ P8

U:;8<=>?@AB8OABB8@=?7AH;F8;G;FL=?;W78GA;O78J;K=F;8H;@AHA?D8O:;9:;F89=8D=8I:;IH8OA9:89:;8

EF=E=7;H8@:I?D;7P8

��������������������������������������������������� �¡�¢�£��¤�¥¦¥¥§�

©̈

ª«¬fha®̄f«d°c±cba«®d
®fda±±d²hf³fia±id

©̈�¨̈́́�

P
age 501



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#��$%&'&(!�"$"�$!''$)��*�+!'+$

,-./.-012/345/647895:/7;;563/-345</:64--1:=/

>?@ABCDBEFGH@EIJKA@GLCE@EGBMGNCKOBPPG?KIQBO@GE?@ABCDBEFG?KIQBEBIMGPIKGFR@GSRID@GIPGFR@GNBFTGCMOGNIJMFTGIPG

NCKOBPPUGVR@K@GCK@GMIFG@MIJWRG?DCA@EGFIGX@@FGO@XCMOGBMGXCBMFCBM@OG?KIQBEBIMUGVRBEGRCEGCMGBX?CAFGIMG

@YBEFBMWGEARIIDEGSR@K@GBMGEIX@GACE@EGFR@K@GXCTGZ@GCGWK@CF@KGMJXZ@KGIPG?J?BDEGIMGKIDDGFRCMGFR@G[JZDBER@OG

\OXBEEBIMG]JXZ@KĜ[\]_GIKGO@EBK@OGMJXZ@KGBMGCGE?@ABCDBEFGK@EIJKA@GZCE@UG

NCKOBPPGAJKK@MFDTGRCEGFIGK@DTGIMG?JKARCEBMWGEIX@G?DCA@EGBMGIJFGIPGAIJMFTG?KIQBEBIMGCMOGBMO@?@MO@MFG

EARIIDEGFIGPJD̀DGBFEGEFCFJFIKTGOJFB@EUGVR@K@GAIJDOGZ@GCGDIMW@KaF@KXGBX?CAFGIMGIJFGIPGAIJMFTG?KIQBO@KEG

CMOGIMGBMO@?@MO@MFGEARIIDEGCEGFR@K@GBEGDBb@DTGFIGZ@GCGK@OJAFBIMGBMGFR@GMJXZ@KGIPG?DCA@EG?JKARCE@OGZTG

FR@GNIJMABDUG

c2de::e-8/7<<7895d583:/

VR@K@GCK@GMIG?DCMM@OGARCMW@EGFIGFR@GNIJMABDfEG?IDBATGIMGFR@GCOXBEEBIMGIPGARBDOK@MGFIGEARIIDEGCEGCGK@EJDFG

IPGFR@E@G?KI?IECDEUG

g@FCBD@OGBMPIKXCFBIMGCZIJFGCOXBEEBIMGCKKCMW@X@MFEGBEGBMGFR@GNIJMABDfEG\OXBEEBIMGFIG>ARIIDGZIIbD@FUG

hIJGACMG̀MOGFRBEGBMPIKXCFBIMGIMGFR@GNIJMABDfEGS@ZEBF@GCFGiiijklmnoppjqrsjtujv

\OXBEEBIMEGFIGE?@ABCDBEFG?KIQBEBIMGCK@GXCMCW@OGZTGFR@GNIJMABDwGEJZx@AFGFIGCGEFCF@X@MFGIPG>?@ABCDG

yOJACFBIMG]@@OEĜ>y]_UGzMO@KGFR@G\{]GNIO@wG?DCA@X@MFGSBDDGZ@GEJZx@AFGFIGCMG|MOBQBOJCDGg@Q@DI?X@MFG

[DCMĜ|g[_UG

}57<85</~<7�51/c<<7895d583:/

zMO@KGFR@E@G?KI?IECDEGFR@K@GCK@GMIG?DCMEGFIGARCMW@GFR@GNIJMABDfEG?IDBATGIMGFR@GFKCME?IKFGIPGARBDOK@MGFIG

CMOGPKIXGEARIIDEUG

\MTG?J?BDEGCPP@AF@OGZTGFRBEG?KI?IECDGSIJDOGZ@GIPP@K@OGFR@GECX@GEJ??IKFGSBFRGFKCME?IKFGCEGBEG?KIQBO@OG

FRKIJWRIJFGNCKOBPPGCMOGBMGCAAIKOCMA@GSBFRGFR@GECX@GAKBF@KBCGFRCFGC??DTGCAKIEEGNCKOBPPUGVR@GNIJMABDfEG

FKCME?IKFG?IDBATGACMGZ@GQB@S@OGIMGFR@GNIJMABDfEGS@ZEBF@Ĝiiijklmnoppjqrsjtu_UG

VR@K@GBEGCGEFCFJFIKTGD@WCDGIZDBWCFBIMGIMGFR@GNIJMABDGFIG?KIQBO@GPK@@GRIX@GFIGEARIIDGFKCME?IKFGFIG?KBXCKTG

EARIIDG?J?BDEGSRIGDBQ@G�GXBD@EGIKGXIK@GPKIXGFR@GM@CK@EFGEJBFCZD@GEARIIDwGCEGX@CEJK@OGZTGFR@GERIKF@EFG

CQCBDCZD@GSCDbBMWGKIJF@UG

�R@MGO@ABOBMWGSRBARGBEGFR@GM@CK@EFGEJBFCZD@GEARIIDwGFR@GNIJMABDGXJEFGAIMEBO@KGCMTGOBECZBDBFTGCGARBDOGRCEG

CMOGCMTGE?@ABCDG@OJACFBIMCDGM@@OEĜ>y]_UG

�e8786e71/�7335<:/

>IX@GIPGFR@G?KI?IE@OGARCMW@EGE@FGIJFGBMGFRBEGOIAJX@MFGSIJDOGBMAJKGAC?BFCDGAIEFEGPIKGFR@GNIJMABDwGPIKG

ZJBDOBMWGSIKbEGCMOG�GIKGCOC?FCFBIMGIPGZJBDOBMWEUGVR@TGSIJDOGCDEIGBMAJKGK@Q@MJ@GAIEFEGPIKGFR@GNIJMABDwGBMG

@X?DITBMWGEFCPPUG

\FGFRBEGEFCW@GIPGFR@GAIMEJDFCFBIMGFR@K@GCK@GMIG̀MCMABCDGAIXXBFX@MFEUGLCE@OGIMGFR@GAIMEJDFCFBIMG

IJFAIX@GCGKCMW@GIPGI?FBIMEGSBDDGZ@GO@Q@DI?@OUG\GPJDDG̀MCMABCDG@QCDJCFBIMGSBDDGFR@MGFCb@G?DCA@UGVRBEGSBDDG

@MEJK@GCPPIKOCZBDBFTGCMOGDBXBFGZJOW@FCKTG?K@EEJK@EGIMGFR@GNIJMABDUG

VR@GCOOBFBIMCDG?DCA@EGSIJDOGM@@OGFIGZ@GPJMO@OGPKIXGFR@G@YBEFBMWGO@D@WCF@OGEARIIDEGZJOW@FUGNJKK@MFDTG

RBWRaAIEFG?KIQBEBIMGPIKGEIX@G?J?BDEGBEGO@DBQ@K@OG@BFR@KGBMGCGMJXZ@KGIPGSCTEUG>IX@GD@CKM@KEGCK@G?DCA@OGBMG

EARIIDEGIJFEBO@GIPGNCKOBPPwGIKGBMGBMO@?@MO@MFGEARIIDUG>IX@GD@CKM@KEGK@XCBMGBMGXCBMEFK@CXGEARIIDEwGSBFRG

�NIX?D@YG]@@OEGyMRCMA@X@MF�G?CTX@MFEGXCO@GFIGFR@GEARIIDGFIG?KIQBO@GC??KI?KBCF@GEJ??IKFUG

�JKFR@KGSIKbGSBDDGZ@GJMO@KFCb@MGFIG@EFCZDBERGSR@FR@KGIKGMIFGFR@GECQBMWEGIMGFR@E@G?DCA@X@MFEwGIKGIMG

@MRCMA@OG?CTX@MFEGFIGEARIIDEwGSBDDGAIQ@KGFR@GCOOBFBIMCDGAIEFEGIPG?KI?IE@OGCOOBFBIMCDG?DCA@EUG

VRBEGSIKbGSBDDGCDEIGAIMEBO@KGRISGFR@GNIJMABDfEGRIX@GFIGEARIIDGFKCME?IKFGAIEFEGSIJDOGARCMW@UGVR@G

BMAK@CE@OGMJXZ@KGIPGE?@ABCDBEFG?DCA@EG?KI?IE@OGXCTGBMAK@CE@GMJXZ@KGIPGARBDOK@MGFKCME?IKF@OGPKIXGRIX@G

FIGEARIIDGZTGFR@GNIJMABDUGVR@GBMAK@CE@OGMJXZ@KGIPG?DCA@EGCQCBDCZD@GBMGE?@ABCDGEARIIDEGCMOGZCE@EGXCTG

K@OJA@GFR@GCQ@KCW@GFKCQ@DGOBEFCMA@GCMOGCQ@KCW@GxIJKM@TGAIEFUG

,57134/�<-�e:e-8/

VR@G?KI?IECDEGFIG@Y?CMOGE?@ABCDBEFG?KIQBEBIMGCFGFR@GEARIIDEGBMADJO@OGBMGFR@E@G?KI?IECDEGSBDDGRCQ@G

BX?DBACFBIMEGPIKGR@CDFRGCMOGIFR@KGE?@ABCDBEFGE@KQBA@EUGVR@E@GE@KQBA@EGSIKbGBMG?CKFM@KERB?GSBFRGEARIIDEGFIG

X@@FG\OOBFBIMCDG{@CKMBMWG]@@OEUG\MGCOOBFBIMCDGPCAFIKGBEGFR@G\{]GH@PIKXG\AFG����wGSRBARGSBDDGBMFKIOJA@G

M@SGK@E?IMEBZBDBFB@EGPIKGR@CDFRwG@OJACFBIMGCMOGEIABCDGACK@GFIGSIKbGFIW@FR@KGFIGAIIKOBMCF@GCEE@EEX@MFGCMOG

?KIQBEBIMUGVR@G\AFG����GSBDDGZ@GBX?D@X@MF@OGIQ@KGCGFRK@@aT@CKG?@KBIOwGZ@WBMMBMWGBMG>@?F@XZ@KG����UG

|MGIKO@KGFIGCOOK@EEGFR@E@GARCDD@MW@EGFIW@FR@KwGFR@GNIJMABDGCMOGNCKOBPPGCMOGFR@G�CD@GzMBQ@KEBFTG�@CDFRG

LICKOGCK@GJMO@KFCbBMWGCGxIBMFGK@QB@SGIPGR@CDFRGCMOGE?@ABCDBEFG?KIQBEBIMGBMGNCKOBPPGE?@ABCDGEARIIDEGCMOG

?J?BDGK@P@KKCDGJMBFEUGVR@G̀MOBMWEGIPGFR@GK@QB@SwGIQ@KE@@MGZTGCG?KIx@AFGWKIJ?GIPGK@?K@E@MFCFBQ@EGPKIXG

R@CDFRwG@OJACFBIMwGEIABCDGE@KQBA@EwGEARIIDEwGCMOG?CK@MFEwGSBDDGBMPIKXGFR@GO@EBWMGIPGFR@GE?@ABCDBEFG?KIQBEBIMUG

�-�5<87865/c<<7895d583:/

VR@K@GCK@GMIG?KI?IE@OGARCMW@EGFIGWIQ@KMCMA@GCKKCMW@X@MFEGCKBEBMWGIJFGIPGFR@E@G?KI?IECDEUG

����v ����v

P
age 502



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#! $%!�&"�"'�('!")! $%!*%('$!+�),-�,%!

./0120302145167089:210;<8:=94>:21>00;6?1:;;9=94>:2120:@>9>A1>00;619>1=/01B026/CD0;9<D1608=4@1/:61

/96=4@98:22E1F00>124G0@1=/:>19>1=/01H>A296/1D0;9<D1608=4@I1./961/:61F00>18/:>A9>A1430@1=/012:6=1JCK1

E0:@6L1G9=/168/44261@074@=9>A1:>19>8@0:60;19>89;0>801451M;;9=94>:21N0:@>9>A1O00;6L19>1:221:@0:61451>00;I1

M1@0390G1451:;;9=94>:21N0:@>9>A1O00;619>1=/01B026/CD0;9<D1608=4@1G:61<>;0@=:P0>1G9=/1B026/1D0;9<D1

68/442619>1QRST1=419>54@D1=/01B026/19>1H;<8:=94>1U=@:=0A981V2:>1WBHUVXI1U8/44261@074@=0;1:16D:221F<=1

69A>9Y8:>=1><DF0@14510Z:D720614517<79261G9=/1MNO120:39>A1=/01B026/CD0;9<D1608=4@19>14@;0@1=41:880661

67089:296=1@064<@801F:60614@167089:2168/4426I1

./0@01G:61:264164D01:>08;4=:21039;0>801=416<AA06=1=/:=164D015:D929061G/41G4<2;14=/0@G96018/44601

B026/CD0;9<D10;<8:=94>147=19>6=0:;154@1H>A296/1D0;9<D1951=/09@18/92;1/:61M;;9=94>:21N0:@>9>A1O00;6L1

=/@4<A/184>80@>1=/:=1=/09@18/92;1D:E1>00;1=41=@:>650@1=41=/0167089:296=1608=4@1:=1:12:=0@1;:=0I1

./@4<A/1=/01BHUVL1[:@;9551/:619>306=0;19>167089:296=17@439694>19>1=/01608=4@L19>82<;9>A164D018:7:89=E1=41

@0674>;1=41A@4G9>A1;0D:>;1:>;1=41A0>0@:=01D4@0184>Y;0>8019>1=/01:3:92:F929=E145167089:296=17@439694>19>1

=/01608=4@I1

M1>0G17@9D:@E1F:601G:6106=:F296/0;1:=1\6A421]ED@:0A1VG221[48/L1G9=/9>1=/018:=8/D0>=1:@0:1451\6A421

]E5<>1]ED@:0A1]2:>=:5L1G/0@01=/016084>;:@E1F:60196106=:F296/0;I1./01=G41F:60618:=0@154@120:@>0@61G9=/1

6030@0120:@>9>A1;95Y8<2=906L17@439;9>A1:167089:296=18<@@98<2<D1:>;16<774@=9>A1:1@:>A014516084>;:@E1>00;61

9>82<;9>A17/E698:21:>;1D0;98:21>00;6L167008/1:>;12:>A<:A01;95Y8<2=9061:>;1:<=96DI1

>̂1QRQS1=/0@01961A@4G9>A1;0D:>;154@1@064<@801F:606154@17<79261G9=/1:<=96DL1G/41:@01:30@:A01=41/9A/1

:8/9030@6L1:>;1G4<2;1>00;1:1D4@019>=0A@:=9301D4;0214516<774@=1=/:>1=/:=17@439;0;1FE1=/01=G410Z96=9>A1

F:606I1./0@01:@018<@@0>=2E1_16084>;:@E1:A0;120:@>0@6L1:>;1SK17@9D:@E1:A0;120:@>0@619>1B026/CD0;9<D1

68/44261G/41G4<2;1F0>0Y=15@4D172:80D0>=19>1:>1M<=96D1U708=@<D1[4>;9=94>1F:60I1./961961:16/4@=C=0@D1

7@94@9=EL1A930>1=/01@96P1=/:=19518<@@0>=172:80D0>=615:92L1=/014>2E147=94>1G4<2;1F01=414550@1:1=@:>650@1=41:>1

H>A296/1D0;9<D160==9>AI1

M17@9D:@E1G022F09>A182:661/:61F00>106=:F296/0;L1/46=0;1:=1\6A421]E>@:;;1V0>1E1]@406I1./01G022F09>A182:661

G4@P61̀0Z9F2E1=41:;;@0661>00;619>1;9550@0>=1:A017/:606L14@1=417@439;01:>14<=@0:8/1D4;02L1;070>;9>A14>1

8<@@0>=1>00;I1./96184>6<2=:=94>14<=29>0617@4746:261=4106=:F296/1:1aR172:801M<=96D1U708=@<D1[4>;9=94>1

U7089:296=1b064<@801F:601:=1\6A421]E5<>1]ED@:0A1]2:>=:519>1:;;9=94>1=41=/010Z96=9>A1aR172:801U7089:296=1

b064<@801F:601:=1=/0168/442I1

.416<774@=10D4=94>:21/0:2=/1:>;1G022F09>A1>00;619>16084>;:@E17/:60L1:1c39@=<:2d1F:60?1V<7921b050@@:21

e>9=1/:61F00>17924=0;1:8@4661=/01=/@0016084>;:@E168/4426L16=:@=9>A19>1QRS_I1./017924=1961;<0154@15<@=/0@1

@0390G19>1QRQSI1

./017@94@9=E1961=410>6<@01=/01=/@00168/44261/:301:;0f<:=015:8929=9061:>;1:884DD4;:=94>1=417@439;01

05508=9301U=071a1:>;1J17@439694>L184D720D0>=0;1FE1=/0139@=<:21F:60?1VbeI1g0;9<D1=0@DL1=/0139@=<:21F:60?1

Vbe1G9221030>=<:22E1>00;1:1YZ0;1248:=94>1:=14>01451=/0168/4426L1G9=/1;069A>:=0;1:884DD4;:=94>L1=41

@0;<801=/01@96P1=/:=1E4<>A17047201G9=/1=/01D46=184D720Z1>00;61D:E1>00;1=4120:301=/01B026/1608=4@1=41

:880661D4@0167089:296=17@439694>I1

M61=/01B026/CD0;9<D1608=4@184>=9><061=41A@4G19=1G9221F019D74@=:>=1=41;0302471:;;9=94>:217@439694>1

9>1:>=9897:=94>1451=/01>00;L1=410>6<@01B026/CD0;9<D10;<8:=94>1961:1A0><9>018/4980154@120:@>0@61G9=/1

84D720Z1M;;9=94>:21N0:@>9>A1O00;6I1

./0174421451MNO1f<:29Y0;1:>;10Z70@90>80;1=0:8/9>A16=:55196129D9=0;19>1><DF0@L19>184D7:@964>1=41=/01

H>A296/1608=4@I1M>E172:>1=41;0302471B026/1D0;9<D167089:296=17@439694>1G9221>00;1=41F016<774@=0;1FE1:>1

M;;9=94>:21N0:@>9>A1O00;61B4@P54@801h030247D0>=1V2:>I1

>̂1:884@;:>801G9=/1=/01=9D0=:F20160=1FE1B026/1]430@>D0>=L1=/01[4<>8921961G4@P9>A1824602E1G9=/19=61

7:@=>0@614>1=/01[:@;9551B026/1H;<8:=94>1i4@<D1=41;0302471=/01>0G1=0>1E0:@1BHUV154@1=/0189=E1

M1607:@:=0184>6<2=:=94>14>1=/01;@:5=1BHUV1QRQQ1j1QRaQ1961<>;0@G:E1:>;1600P61390G614>1/4G1F06=1=41

A@4G1B026/CD0;9<D10;<8:=94>1:>;14>1/4G1=41D00=1=/01248:21=:@A0=6160=1FE1B026/1]430@>D0>=L19>14@;0@1

=419>54@D15<=<@017@4746:26I1./01BHUV1G922160=14<=1/4G1=/01[4<>8921G92219>8@0:601=/017@439694>1451B026/C

D0;9<D10;<8:=94>154@17<79261G9=/1:;;9=94>:2120:@>9>A1>00;6I1./96184>6<2=:=94>18:>1F0154<>;1:=1

kkklmnopqrrlstulvwxyz{|}~�on�zs��t�|v{�n�qt�|l�

i4224G9>A184>6<2=:=94>L19=19610Z708=0;1=/0172:>1G9221F016<FD9==0;154@1:77@43:21=41=/01B026/1]430@>D0>=19>1

0:@2E1QRQQI1./01Y@6=1=0>CE0:@1V2:>1G922184DD0>8014>1S1U07=0DF0@1QRQQ1:>;10Z79@014>1aS1M<A<6=1QRaQI1

��-�(� �%'!

M>1Hf<:29=E1̂D7:8=1M66066D0>=1WĤMX1961:17@480661=/:=1244P61:=1:174298EL17@4�08=14@168/0D01=41D:P016<@01

9=1;4061>4=1;968@9D9>:=01:A:9>6=1:>E4>01F:60;14>1=/017@4=08=0;18/:@:8=0@96=986160=14<=19>1=/01Hf<:29=E1

M8=1QR1W:A0L1;96:F929=EL1A0>;0@1@0:669A>D0>=L1D:@@9:A01�18939217:@=>0@6/97L17@0A>:>8E1�1D:=0@>9=EL1@:80L1

@029A94>?1F02905L160ZL160Z<:214@90>=:=94>XI1

M>19>9=9:21Hf<:29=E1̂D7:8=1M66066D0>=1/:61F00>18:@@90;14<=I1̂=184>82<;0;1=/:=1=/017@47460;18/:>A061

G4<2;1>4=1>0A:=9302E1:5508=1:17:@=98<2:@1A@4<719>164890=EI1

./961:66066D0>=1G9221F01@0390G0;1:5=0@1=/0184>6<2=:=94>1:>;1:=1P0E1749>=61951=/017@4746:261G0@01=41

7@4800;I1̂51=/017@4746:21A4061:/0:;L1:>4=/0@10f<:29=E19D7:8=1:66066D0>=1G4<2;1F018:@@90;14<=1:=1=/01

;069A>16=:A0I1./961G4<2;19;0>=95E1:880669F929=E1=41=/01>0G17@439694>I1./010f<:29=E19D7:8=1:66066D0>=1

G4<2;1=:P019>=41:884<>=17429890616<8/1:61=/01Hf<:29=E1M8=1QRSRL1.MO1SQ�1h069A>1QRSJ1:61G0221:61F<92;9>A1

@0A<2:=94>616<8/1:61�U_aRRL1V:@=1g1:>;1@0203:>=1�<92;9>A1�<220=9>6I1

�"��-)� �!����� !

./0154224G9>A1:@01=:P0>19>=41:884<>=1G/0>184>69;0@9>A1:17@4746:2�1V<F2981�70>1U7:80L17:@P2:>;L1>49601

:>;1=@:5Y8184>A06=94>I1./0168/442619>82<;0;19>1=/06017@4746:261:>;1=/01[4<>8921G9221G4@P1G9=/1:>E1

84DD<>9=E1A@4<761=41D:P016<@01=/017@4746:261:349;1:>E1>0A:=93019D7:8=6195174669F20I1

M184DD<>9=E19D7:8=1:66066D0>=1/:61F00>1<>;0@=:P0>154@1=/06017@4746:261:>;1961:3:92:F201=41390G1:=1

kkklmnopqrrlstulvwx���|m}tt{�ot�t|n{|l�

����� �����

P
age 503



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !"#$"%&'&(�")� �(*'�# +"

,-./0-1.2034.341.51//6710-8.9:.;<3<=1.>1-1=?309-@.AB3.C?=D0::E@.F?-D.F.G=98=?HH1.0@.B9HH0331D.39.

G=9I0D0-8.J9B?/.KB499/@.:9=.J9B?/.C40/D=1-L.3981341=.2034.1-B9<=?80-8.<@1.9:.@<@3?0-?7/1.H9D1@.39.3=?I1/.

39.@B499/@L.@<B4.?@.2?/M0-8.?-D.BNB/0-8O.P?B4.KB499/.G=9Q1B3.3?M1@.0-39.?BB9<-3.M1N.3=?-@G9=3.0@@<1@.241-.

341N.?=1.710-8.D1@08-1D.?-D.341.R=H.-11D.39.G=9I0D1.@?:1=.=9<31@.39.1-B9<=?81.2?/M0-8L.BNB/0-8.?-D.

9341=.?B30I1.3=?I1/.H9D1@.39.@B499/@O.

5034.341.B<==1-3.0-I1@3H1-3@.0-.,CS.?B=9@@.341.B03NL.@3<D1-3.H9I1H1-3@.H?N.71.:<=341=.=1D<B1D.?@.

H970/1.31B4-9/98N.D1I1/9G@.:<=341=.?//920-8.:9=.T1U07/1.31?B40-8.H1349D@O.S41@1.4?I1.341.G931-30?/.39.

=1@</3.0-.?.H9=1.1:RB01-3.S=?I1/.V/?-.?-D.:<=341=.B9-3=07<31.39.341.C9<-B0/E@.3?=813@.39.=1D<B1.03@.B?=79-.

1H0@@09-@O.

,-.9=D1=.39.H?U0H0@1.341./9-8631=H.0HG?B3.9:.340@.@08-0RB?-3.0-I1@3H1-3L.?-N.D1@08-.3?M1-.:9=2?=D.:9=.

1?B4.@B499/.0-B/<D1D.0-.340@.G=9G9@?/.29</D.71.D1I1/9G1D.39.1-@<=1.341.D1/0I1=N.9:.40846W<?/03N.H9D1=-.

:?B0/0301@.34?3.?=1.?7/1.39.=1@G9-D.39.341.B<==1-3.G<G0/.G9G</?309-@.-11D@.?-D.@<GG9=3.341.D1/0I1=N.9:.

1::1B30I1.31?B40-8.?-D./1?=-0-8.H1349D@O.S41N.29</D.?/@9.0-B9=G9=?31.341.T1U070/03N.39.3?M1.?BB9<-3.9:.

B4?-81@.D1G1-D0-8.9-.-11D.?@.30H1.G=98=1@@1@L.@<B4.?@.B4?-80-8.D1H98=?G40B@.?-D.G<G0/.-<H71=@L.

B4?-80-8.B<==0B</<H.?-D.B4?-80-8.3NG1@.9:.G<G0/.-11D@O.

X#'� '�*�"Y�+(&Z'�# "'#"X&Z��+"

S41.C9<-B0/.4?@.@08-0RB?-3.1UG1=01-B1.0-.341.@<BB1@@:</.D1/0I1=N.9:.7<0/D0-8.G=9Q1B3@.9-.341.@031@.9:.

9BB<G01D.@B499/@.?@.?.=1@</3.9:.G=98=1@@0-8.?./?=81.?-D.8=920-8.@B499/.9=8?-0@?309-.G=98=?HH1O.

A-N.7<0/D0-8.29=M.B?==01D.9<3.29</D.71.H?-?81D.1::1B30I1/N.0-.B9-@</3?309-.2034.341.@B499/@.0-B/<D1D.

0-.341@1.G=9G9@?/@.39.1-@<=1.34?3.341.B<==0B</<H.B9-30-<1@.39.71.D1/0I1=1D.?-D.34?3.4084.1D<B?309-.

@3?-D?=D@.?-D.@?:13N.@3?-D?=D@.?=1.H?0-3?0-1DO.

[�\'"+'�Z+]"̂#_"'#"̀*a�"b#&("c��_+"a #_ "* d"$��d�*ea"$#(̀"

fghijghkklmnjmloipj

qlrjshilnj

S41.C9<-B0/.20//.B9//1B3.?-D.@<HH?=0@1.341.:11D7?BM.:=9H.340@.B9-@</3?309-O.C9<-B0/.9:RB1=@.20//.341-.

=1G9=3.340@.39.341.C9<-B0/E@.C?70-13.39.=1G9=3.@3?M149/D1=.I012@.39.1/1B31D.H1H71=@.?-D.39.0-:9=H.

D1B0@09-.H?M0-8O.S40@.B9-@</3?309-.=1G9=3.20//.71.?I?0/?7/1.:9=.?-N9-1.39.I012tD92-/9?D.9-.341.C9<-B0/.

217@031O.u9<.B?-.?/@9.813.?.B9GN.7N.<@0-8.341.B9-3?B3.D13?0/@.0-.340@.D9B<H1-3O.

,:.341.G=9G9@?/@.?=1.?8=11D.39.G=9B11D.:9//920-8.B9-@</3?309-L.341=1.?=1.?.-<H71=.9:.:<=341=.@3?81@.34?3.

341.C9<-B0/.29</D.4?I1.39.89.34=9<84.71:9=1.?.R-?/.D1B0@09-.0@.H?D1O.

S41@1.@3?81@.?=1.@13.9<3.0-.S?7/1.vw.71/92x.

yhz{lj|}~j��i��ljnih�lnj�yg�nji��lihz{lj�hrjzljn�z�l�iji�j�ghm�l�j

�ihi�i��rj����lnnj y��ln�h{lj

C9-@</3?309-.V1=09D. ��.�1B1H71=.�w��.�.w�.;17=<?=N.�w��.

C9-@</3?309-.=1G9=3.B9-@0D1=1D.7N.341.C9<-B0/.C?70-13.
?-D.G<7/0@41D.9-.341.C9<-B0/.217@031.

�?=B4.�w��.

PUG1B31D.D?31.:9=.@3?=3.9:.�7Q1B309-.V1=09DL.241-.
@3?3<39=N.-930B1.4?@.711-.0@@<1D.�241-.:9=H?/.
97Q1B309-@.B?-.71.H?D1�.

�?N.�w��.

PUG1B31D.D?31.:9=.1-D.9:.�7Q1B309-.V1=09D. �<-1.�w��.

;0-?/.D1B0@09-.�D131=H0-?309-�.7N.341.C9<-B0/E@.C?70-13. �</N.�w��.

�7Q1B309-.=1G9=3.G<7/0@41D.9-.341.C9<-B0/.217@031.?-D.
-930RB?309-.9:.C?70-13E@.D1B0@09-.

�</N.�w��.

��mn�{ihi��mjkl����j

S41.B9-@</3?309-.G1=09D.:9=.341@1.G=9G9@?/@.@3?=3@.9-.��.�1B1H71=.�w��.?-D.w�.;17=<?=N.�w��O.

S41.C9<-B0/.?-D.341.>9I1=-0-8.F9D01@.9:.5403B4<=B4.�084.KB499/.?-D.S41.F0@49G.9:.J/?-D?::.C4<=B4.0-.

5?/1@.�084.KB499/.20//.G<7/0@4.?.B9-@</3?309-.=1G9=3.9-.3410=.217@031@O.S41.=1G9=3.H<@3.71.G<7/0@41D.?3.

/1?@3.329.211M@.G=09=.39.341.G<7/0B?309-.9:.?-N.@3?3<39=N.-930B1@O.

���j�hmjh{n�jhn�j���jhjgh��j��krj��jiglj�lk��i�j

S41.=1G9=3.20//.89.9I1=.341.0@@<1@.=?0@1D.D<=0-8.341.B9-@</3?309-.G1=09D.?-D.80I1.341.C9<-B0/E@.t.>9I1=-0-8.

F9D01@.=1@G9-@1.39.341@1.0@@<1@O.S41.=1G9=3.20//.?/@9.B9-3?0-.P@3N-E@.I012.9:.341.G=9G9@?/@O.

S41.C9<-B0/E@.C?70-13.20//.B9-@0D1=.341.B9-@</3?309-.=1G9=3.?-D.D1B0D1.241341=.9=.-93.39.89.?41?D.2034.

341.G=9G9@1D.B4?-81@.39.J/?-0@41-.�084.KB499/L.50//92@.�084.KB499/.?-D.u@89/.>N:<-.>NH=?18.>/?-3?:O.

S41.>9I1=-0-8.F9D01@.9:.5403B4<=B4.�084.KB499/.?-D.S41.F0@49G.9:.J/?-D?::.C4<=B4.0-.5?/1@.�084.

KB499/.20//.B9-@0D1=.341.B9-@</3?309-.=1G9=3.?-D.D1B0D1.241341=.9=.-93.39.89.?41?D.2034.341.G=9G9@1D.

B4?-81@.=1/1I?-3.39.3410=.@B499/O.

,:.341.C?70-13.D1B0D1@.39.B9-30-<1.2034.341.B4?-81@.39.J/?-0@41-.�084.KB499/L.50//92@.�084.KB499/.?-D.

u@89/.>N:<-.>NH=?18.>/?-3?:L.341.C9<-B0/.H<@3.G<7/0@4.?.D9B<H1-3.B?//1D.?.�@3?3<39=N.-930B1EO.S40@.0@.?-.

9:RB0?/.@3?31H1-3.@?N0-8.34?3.341.B4?-81@.20//.89.?41?DO.

,:.341.>9I1=-0-8.F9D01@.9:.5403B4<=B4.�084.KB499/.?-D.S41.F0@49G.9:.J/?-D?::.C4<=B4.0-.5?/1@.�084.

KB499/.D1B0D1.39.B9-30-<1.2034.341.B4?-81@L.341N.H<@3.?/@9.G<7/0@4.?.�@3?3<39=N.-930B1EO.

����  ���� 

P
age 504



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�# $%�&"
'''()&$��**(+ ,(!-./012)3  45$ 5 2&42

678797:;<=>:7?@A=

BCDEFEGEHIJCKHELMNCLDCEONCPHIQFRCSGTRLMFELHKCHPCFCUKFRLDNVCSIHSHDFRWCXONCFSSIHYFRCEHCSGTRLDOCFCDEFEGEHIJC

KHELMNCQGDECTNCZLYNKCTJCEONC[HGKMLR\DC[FTLKNE]ĈHYNIKLKZC_HVJWCXOLDC̀HGRVCHKRJCTNCMHKDLVNINVCFPENIC

EONC[FTLKNEC]ĈHYNIKLKZC_HVJCOFYNCINMNLYNVCFCINSHIECHKCFRRCEONCMHKDGREFELHKCINDSHKDNDWCXOLDCLDCFCRNZFRC

INaGLINQNKECFDCHGERLKNVCLKCEONCbMOHHRCcIZFKLDFELHKC[HVNCdefgWC

XONC[HGKMLRC̀HGRVCSGTRLDOCEONCDEFEGEHIJCKHELMNhDiCHKCLEDC̀NTDLENWCXONĈHYNIKLKZC_HVLNDC̀HGRVCSGTRLDOCEONC

KHELMNhDiCHKCEONCDMOHHRCFKVC[FIVLPPC[HGKMLRC̀NTDLENWC[HSLNDCHPCEONCKHELMNhDiC̀HGRVCFRDHCTNCSGECGSCFECHIC

KNFICEONCQFLKCNKEIFKMNCEHCEONCDMOHHRhDi]DLENhDiCFPPNMENVCTJCEONCKHELMNWC

bMOHHRDCEOFECFINCFPPNMENVC̀HGRVCFRDHCTNCZLYNKCMHSLNDCHPCEONCKHELMNCEHCZLYNCHGECEHCSGSLRDjCSFINKEDjC

ZGFIVLFKDjCFKVCDEFPPCQNQTNIDChEONCDMOHHRDCQFJCFRDHCVLDEILTGENCEONCKHELMNCTJCNQFLRiWCXONCKHELMNCDNEDCHGEC

EONCVNEFLRDCHPCEONCSIHSHDFRDCFKVCFDkDCFKJHKNC̀OHC̀FKEDCEHCHTlNMECEHCVHCDHWCcTlNMELHKDCQGDECTNC̀ILEENKWC

XONJCQGDECTNCDNKECEHCEONC[HGKMLRC]CINRNYFKEĈHYNIKLKZC_HVJC̀LEOLKCEONCVFENDCZLYNKCHKCEONCKHELMNWC

mA7A;n?o87?:o=:p=7qA=r;:r:s8ts=

[FIVLPPC[HGKMLRC[FTLKNEC̀HGRVCVNENIQLKNCEONCSIHSHDFRDCPHICuRFKLDONKCvLZOCbMOHHRjCwLRRH̀DCvLZOCbMOHHRC

FKVCxDZHRĈJPGKĈJQIFNZĈRFKEFPWCXOLDCQNFKDCEONJC̀LRRCQFkNCFCUKFRCVNMLDLHKCHKC̀ONEONICEONCMOFKZNDC

ZHCFONFVWCXONC[FTLKNECQFJCVNMLVNCEHCFSSIHYNCHICINlNMECEONCSIHSHDFRjCHICEONJCQFJCFSSIHYNCEONCSIHSHDFRC

L̀EOCDHQNCMOFKZNDChQHVLUMFELHKDiWCXONC[FTLKNEC̀LRRCEFkNCFKJCHTlNMELHKDCINMNLYNVCLKCEONCcTlNMELHKCyNILHVC

LKEHCFMMHGKEC̀ONKCQFkLKZCEOLDCVNMLDLHKWC

zPCEONINCFINCKHCHTlNMELHKDCEHCEONCSIHSHDFRDCPHICwOLEMOGIMOCvLZOCbMOHHRCFKVCXONC_LDOHSCHPCuRFKVFPPC

[OGIMOCLKCwFRNDCvLZOCbMOHHRjCEONĈHYNIKLKZC_HVLNDC̀HGRVCVNENIQLKNCEONCSIHSHDFRDWCXONĈHYNIKLKZC

_HVLNDCQFJCVNMLVNCEHCFSSIHYNjCINlNMECHICFSSIHYNCEONCSIHSHDFRDC̀LEOCQHVLUMFELHKDWCXONĈHYNIKLKZC

_HVLNDC̀LRRCEFkNCFKJCHTlNMELHKCINMNLYNVCLKCEONCcTlNMELHKCyNILHVCLKEHCFMMHGKEC̀ONKCQFkLKZCEOLDCVNMLDLHKWC

zPCEONINC̀NINCHTlNMELHKDCEHCEONCSIHSHDFRDCPHICwOLEMOGIMOCvLZOCbMOHHRCHICXONC_LDOHSCHPCuRFKVFPPC[OGIMOC

LKCwFRNDCvLZOCbMOHHRjCEONCSIHSHDFRDC̀HGRVCTNCINPNIINVCEHCEONCuHMFRCBGEOHILEJCh[FIVLPPC[HGKMLRiCPHIC

VNENIQLKFELHKC̀LEOLKC{|CVFJDCHPCEONCNKVCHPCEONCHTlNMELHKCSNILHVWCXONCuHMFRCBGEOHILEJCOFDCf}C̀NNkDCPIHQC

EONCNKVCHPCEONCHTlNMELHKCSNILHVCEHCVNENIQLKNCEONCSIHSHDFRDWC

mA@?s?:o=>:7?~@87?:o=

BPENICVNENIQLKFELHKCHPCEONCSIHSHDFRDCFRRCLKENINDECSFIELNDC̀LRRCTNCLKPHIQNVCHPCEONCVNMLDLHKDWC�NMLDLHKDC̀LRRC

FRDHCTNCSGTRLDONVCHKCEONC[HGKMLRCFKVCDMOHHRC̀NTDLENDWC

���������������
�:9=@8o=@:nrtA7A=7q?s=;Asr:osA=p:;n=:ot?oA=87=����@8;�?pp��:��9����>s@q::tr;:r:s8ts=

wNCFINCSIHSHDLKZCEH�C

�CLKMINFDNCEONCVNDLZKFENVCKGQTNICFECEONCwOLEMOGIMOCvLZOCbMOHHRCbSNMLFRLDEC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCPHICRNFIKNIDC

L̀EOCMHQSRN�CKNNVDCPIHQC�eCEHCfeeCPIHQCbNSENQTNICdeddC

�CNDEFTRLDOCFC{eCSRFMNCbSNMLFRLDEC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCPHICRNFIKNIDC̀LEOCMHQSRN�CRNFIKLKZCKNNVDCFECwLRRH̀DC

vLZOCbMOHHRCPIHQCbNSENQTNICded{C

�CLKMINFDNCEONCVNDLZKFENVCKGQTNICFECEONCuRFKLDONKCvLZOCbMOHHRCbSNMLFRLDEC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCPHICRNFIKNIDC

L̀EOCBGELDELMCbSNMEIGQC[HKVLELHKCPIHQCdeCEHC�|CSRFMNDCPIHQCbNSENQTNICdeddC

�CLKMINFDNCEONCVNDLZKFENVCKGQTNICFECXONC�FILHKC[NKEINCbSNMLFRLDEC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCPHICRNFIKNIDC̀LEOC

BGELDELMCbSNMEIGQC[HKVLELHKCPIHQC�dCEHC}}CSRFMNDCPIHQCbNSENQTNICdeddC

�CNDEFTRLDOCFC{eCSRFMNC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCFECxDZHRĈJPGKĈJQIFNZĈRFKEFPCPHICRNFIKNIDC̀LEOCBGELDELMC

bSNMEIGQC[HKVLELHKCFRHKZDLVNCEONCN�LDELKZC{eCSRFMNCbSNMLFRLDEC�NDHGIMNC_FDNCPIHQCbNSENQTNICded{C

xHGICYLǸDCQFEENIjCSRNFDNCENRRCGDC̀OFECJHGCEOLKkCFTHGECEONCSIHSHDFRCTJ�C

�C[HQSRNELKZCFKVCINEGIKLKZCEONCFMMHQSFKJLKZCaGNDELHKKFLINCEHCEONCFVVINDDCZLYNKCFECEONCTHEEHQC

HPCEONCPHIQWC

�C[HQSRNELKZCEONCHKRLKNCINDSHKDNCPHIQCFEC����� ¡¢£¤¤�¥¦§�̈©ª«¬®�̄¦¦°±¡¦±¦® °®²

�CcICLPCJHGCSINPNICJHGCMFKCN³QFLRCJHGICYLǸDCEH�C®�̄¦¦°¡́®±¦µ®́®¶� ¡¢£¤¤�¥¦§�̈©²

·qA=@t:s?o�=�87A=p:;=;Asr:osAs=7:=7q?s=@:os9t787?:o=?s=̧=¹Aº;98;<=»¼»»�=½op:;79o87At<¾=
o:=;Asr:osAs=;A@A?�A�=8p7A;=7q87=�87A=@8o=ºA=@:os?�A;A��=

¿ÀÁÂÃÄÅÃÁÆÇÁÈÃÉÁÇÆÊÊÆËÄÌÍÁÎÏÉÁÐÆÑÁÏÉÒÓÆÌÔÄÌÍÁÎÒÕÁ

yFINKEC

XNFMONICÖCSRNFDNCDSNMLPJCJHGICDMOHHR�C

bMOHHRCZHYNIKHICÖCSRNFDNCDSNMLPJCJHGICDMOHHR�C

cEONICÖCSRNFDNCDSNMLPJ�C

×Ø×Ø² ×Ù×Ù²

P
age 505



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����

�� !"#!$"%&'("&")%*+,-)%*+,.(/"(/.!++(,"&0"0%("1!++!2*/3"4)%!!+45"60*)7"&++"0%&0"&88+#9

:;<=>;?@>;AB<C;AD>;EEFA

GFHI<J;KIAB<C;AD>;EEFA

LJCEFAMNO?IAMNP@HKCAMFHI=HOA

Q=;K@ARFKHJKAJRK><ONSA

:<FFETJAB<C;AD>;EEFA

U<J;ERAEOAGFHIVHOOA

WXYA

Z� !"#!$"4$88!.0"0%("8+&/4"8$0"1!.2&.,"0!"*[8.!'("0%("8.!'*4*!/"1!."\%*+,.(/

&/,"]!$/3"̂(!8+("2*0%"&,,*0*!/&+"+(&./*/3"/((,45

LKJA WEA _EÌ=AaIETA

b� !"#!$"4$88!.0"0%("8.!8!4&+"1!."(&)%"!1"0%("4)%!!+"4*0(45

cdeffghijkhlmflfnighojhpmoqrh sqnh tfh
tfh
flojofjh

ueovdewmdehxoyehcdeffgh

z<I>@KHJKA=;KAVKJ<CIH=KVAI?P{K@AH=A=;KA:;<=>;?@>;AB<C;AD>;EEF

DRK><HF<J=A|KJE?@>KAUHJKAOE@AFKH@IK@JAT<=;A>EPRFK}AFKH@I<ICAIKKVJ

O@EPA~�A=EA���AO@EPADKR=KP{K@A����

uoggf�nhxoyehcdeffgh

zKJ=H{F<J;AHA��ARFH>KADRK><HF<J=A|KJE?@>KAUHJKAH=A:<FFETJ

B<C;AD>;EEFAOE@AFKH@IK@JAT<=;A>EPRFK}AFKH@I<ICAIKKVJAO@EP

DKR=KP{K@A����

�gijoneqjhxoyehcdeffgh

z<I>@KHJKA=;KAVKJ<CIH=KVAI?P{K@AH=A=;KAGFHI<J;KIAB<C;AD>;EEF

DRK><HF<J=A|KJE?@>KAUHJKAOE@AFKH@IK@JAT<=;AY?=<J=<>ADRK>=@?P

�EIV<=<EIAO@EPA��A=EA��ARFH>KJAO@EPADKR=KP{K@A����

cdeffghijkhlmflfnighojhpmoqrh sqnh tfh
tfh
flojofjh

�eqh�imofjh�qjvmqhivh�eqh�oneflhfrh�gijkirrh

z<I>@KHJKA=;KAVKJ<CIH=KVAI?P{K@AH=A�;KA�H@<EIA�KI=@KADRK><HF<J=

|KJE?@>KAUHJKAOE@AFKH@IK@JAT<=;AY?=<J=<>ADRK>=@?PA�EIV<=<EIAO@EP

��A=EA��ARFH>KJAO@EPADKR=KP{K@A����

snyfgh��rwjh���miqyh�gijvirh

zKJ=H{F<J;AHA��ARFH>KADRK><HF<J=A|KJE?@>KAUHJKAOE@AFKH@IK@JAT<=;

Y?=<J=<>ADRK>=@?PA�EIV<=<EIAH=ALJCEFAMNO?IAMNP@HKCAMFHI=HO

HFEICJ<VKA=;KAK}<J=<ICA��ARFH>KADRK><HF<J=A|KJE?@>KAUHJKAO@EP

DKR=KP{K@A����

���1"#!$",!"!.",!"/!0"4$88!.0"0%("8.!8!4(,")%&/3(4"0%&/"8+(&4("(�8+&*/"2%#5

���!$+,"#!$"+*7("0!"4$33(40"&/#")%&/3(4"!."&+0(./&0*'(45

��� ���

P
age 506



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ �!"#$%&!''(" )

*+,-./ 0123415-./

6557-22./

89:;<=>?@AB;CDE:;F>G;G:?H>A?:?;E>;E9@?;<>A?I=EDE@>A;@?;J;K:LGIDGM;NONNP;

QR-/S1TU4VW/V2/U13/+XW-/31/41U2V5-7/+UY/41U2TW3+3V1U/7-2Z1U2-2/7-4-V[-5/+\3-7/3RV2/5+3-]/

S1U2TW3+3V1U/7-2Z1U2-2/̂VWW/U13/X-/41TU3-5/+2/1X_-43V1U2/31/3R-/Z71Z12+W]/

X̀_-43V1U2/4+U/1UWY/X-/7-aV23-7-5/\1WW1̂VUa/ZTXWV4+3V1U/1\/+/23+3T317Y/U13V4-]/

b\/Y1T/̂V2R/31/X-/U13Vc-5/1\/ZTXWV4+3V1U/1\/3R-/S1U2TW3+3V1U/7-Z173/ZW-+2-/Z71[V5-/+U/-,+VW/+557-22]/b\/

Y1T/51/U13/Z71[V5-/+U/-,+VW/+557-22/̂-/4+UU13/d--Z/Y1T/TZ/31/5+3-]/

e,+VW./

0W-+2-/7-3T7U/3RV2/\17,/31/3R-/f4R11W/̀7a+UV2+3V1U/0W+UUVUa/Q-+,g/h11,/ijkg/S1TU3Y/l+WWg/Smkj/ino/17/

XY/-,+VW/31/pqrsstuvpwsxpvpyqzu{|}}~�s�~��/XY/U1/W+3-7/3R+U/k/m-X7T+7Y/�j��]/

8����;���;K��;����;������8�;

��!� %�!�%

0W-+2-/Z71[V5-/Y1T7/Z123415-/X-W1̂/31/+WW1̂/T2/31/,17-/+44T7+3-WY/ZVUZ1VU3/7-2Z1U5-U32�

/[V-̂2/+U5/U--52/XY/+7-+.�

�9DE;�D?;M>IG;DB:;>A;M>IG;=D?E;L@GE9CDM�;

nU5-7/k�/ ����i i���i ����i

k���i ���ii ����i ���/ 07-\-7/U13/31/2+Y/

�G:;M>I��;

m-,+W-/ �+W-/ 3̀R-7/ 07-\-7/U13/31/2+Y/

�>;M>I;@C:AE@FM;D?;D;C@?DL=:C;H:G?>A�;

 -2/ *1/ 07-\-7/U13/31/2+Y/

¡=:D?:;E@<¢;DAM;>F;E9:;F>==>�@AB;E9DE;DHH=M;E>;M>I£;

¤1Ua�23+U5VUa/VWWU-22/17/R-+W3R/41U5V3V1U
¥-+\¦/¥-+\-U-5¦/l+75/1\/R-+7VUa/ §V2T+W/V,Z+V7,-U3/ -̈]a]/4+U4-7g/5V+X-3-2g/17/+23R,+©/

�-U3+W/R-+W3R/5V\c4TW3V-2/ oR--W4R+V7/T2-7/ 07-\-7/U13/31/2+Y/

¤-+7UVUa/V,Z+V7,-U3/¦/5V\c4TW3V-2/ �1XVWV3Y/V,Z+V7,-U3/ 3̀R-7/

0W-+2-/2Z-4V\Y/

�9DE;@?;M>IG;:E9A@<;BG>IH�;

oR-7-/3R-/3-7,/ª«7V3V2R�/V2/T2-5g/3RV2/7-\-72/31/+UY/1\/3R-/\1T7/R1,-/U+3V1U2/1\/o+W-2g/eUaW+U5g/*173R-7U/b7-W+U5/+U5/f413W+U5g/17/+UY/

41,XVU+3V1U/1\/3R-2-]/

oRV3-/�/o-W2R¦eUaWV2R¦f4133V2R¦*173R-7U/b7V2R¦«7V3V2R/

oRV3-/�b7V2R

oRV3-/�/¬YZ2Y/17/b7V2R/Q7+[-WW-7/

oRV3-/�/6UY/13R-7/̂RV3-/X+4da71TU5/

�V-5¦�TW3VZW-/e3RUV4/¬71TZ2/�/oRV3-/®/62V+U/

�V-5¦�TW3VZW-/e3RUV4/¬71TZ2/�/oRV3-/+U5/«W+4d/S+7VXX-+U/

�V-5¦�TW3VZW-/e3RUV4/¬71TZ2/�/oRV3-/+U5/«W+4d/6\7V4+U/

�V-5¦�TW3VZW-/e3RUV4/¬71TZ2/�/6UY/13R-7/

62V+U¦62V+U/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/SRVU-2-/

62V+U¦62V+U/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/0+dV23+UV/

62V+U¦62V+U/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/«+UaW+5-2RV/

62V+U¦62V+U/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/bU5V+U/

62V+U¦62V+U/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/6UY/13R-7/

«W+4d¦6\7V4+U¦S+7VXX-+U¦«W+4d/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/6\7V4+U/

«W+4d¦6\7V4+U¦S+7VXX-+U¦«W+4d/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/S+7VXX-+U/

«W+4d¦6\7V4+U¦S+7VXX-+U¦«W+4d/o-W2R¦«7V3V2R/�/6UY/13R-7/

67+X/

6UY/13R-7/-3RUV4/a71TZ/̈ZW-+2-/2Z-4V\Y©/

07-\-7/U13/31/2+Y/

89:;@AF>ḠDE@>A;M>I;9D°:;HG>°@C:C;DL>°:;�@E9;L:;HG><:??:C;LM;�DGC@FF;�>IA<@=;@A;=@A:;�@E9;E9:;�DED;¡G>E:<E@>A;�<E;NOJ±;DAC;
²:A:GD=;�DED;¡G>E:<E@>A;�:BI=DE@>AP;89:;@AF>ḠDE@>A;HG>°@C:C;E>;I?;@A;G:=DE@>A;E>;E9@?;<>A?I=EDE@>A;�@==;L:;EG:DE:C;D?;<>A³C:AE@D=;
LIE;@E;̄DM;L:;I?:C;LM;E9:;�>IA<@=;>G;C@?<=>?:C;E>;>E9:G?;�9:A;G:́I@G:C;LM;=D�P;89:;HIGH>?:;>F;HG><:??@AB;E9:;H:G?>AD=;CDED;@?;
G:́I@G:C;E>;H:GF>Ḡ;D;?H:<@³<;ED?¢;@A;E9:;HIL=@<;@AE:G:?EP;�AM;G:?H>A?:?;G:<:@°:C;<DA;L:;G:́I:?E:C;IAC:G;E9:;KG::C>̄ ;>F;µAF>ḠDE@>A;
�<E;DAC;̄DM;9D°:;E>;L:;̄DC:;HIL=@<¶;9>�:°:G;DAM;@AF>ḠDE@>A;E9DE;�>I=C;@C:AE@FM;DA;@AC@°@CID=;?I<9;D?;AD̄ :;DAC;DCCG:??;�>I=C;
L:;G:̄ >°:CP;

m17/\T73R-7/VU\17,+3V1U/1U/R1̂/S+75V\\/S1TU4VW/,+U+a-2/Z-721U+W/VU\17,+3V1Ug/2--/1T7/\TWW/07V[+4Y/01WV4Y/1U/3R-/S1TU4VW�2/̂-X2V3-/

r··wp̧¹¹ººº~qzu{|}}~�s�~��¹»¼½¹¾s¿v¹¼vºÀ¥V24W+V,-7¦0+a-2¦5-\+TW3]+2Z/

ÁÂÁÂÃ ÁÄÁÄÃ

P
age 507



����������	
�������
��������������������������
��������������������������� �!�"��������#�$��
����$�������������"�������%���&'
��(���)��������"������������!$��(�����$�!(�
�����$����������������������������"���*�+��,

-./0123435./67895.:;6<=6:8-8>?896@A@<6B6<6C8?9149D6@A@@

EFGHIJKLMNOPQILRPISOINRJOIRTRGURSUOIGPIVWRGUUOXI
YIHMNNRWZITOWHGKPIK[IQFGHIJKLMNOPQIGHIRTRGURSUOIRQI\\\]̂_̀abcc]def]ghijklm̂neeop̀epem_om

qP[KWNRQGKPILRPIRUHKISOINRJOIRTRGURSUOIGPIKQFOWILKNNMPGQZIURPrMRrOHIG[IPOOJOJXI
sUORHOILKPQRLQIMHIKPItuvwutxywuyutIQKIRWWRPrOIQFGHX

Page 508



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !" #!$%�$%& 
' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' '

()*+,-./*0,)1

2'3456'78'6478'9::;<=6'59:>6?'

2'3456'5@='A='B@:B:87CD'6:'E:?''

F,)G.H*I*0,)

2'34:'5@='A='J:C8><67CD'A764?

2'K7=A8':L'J47<E@=C'5CE'M:>CD'B=:B<=':C'64='B@:B:8=E'J45CD=8'

2'N:A'J5C'M:>'OCE':>6'P:@='5CE'<=6'>8';C:A'M:>@'Q7=A8?

2'R:>@'Q7=A8'5@='7PB:@65C6'6:'>8

STUHI)I*0,)1,V1*W+XG1.GW-10)1*Y0G1-,/.XW)*

ZI/[\+,.)-

]YW1̂UU+,I/Y1*,1_.UU,+*0)\1̂--0*0,)IH1̀WI+)0)\1aWW-G10)1FI+-0VV1

_.Vb/0W)/c10)1*YW1_UW/0IH1_W/*,+1

dW,\+IUY0/IH1-0G*+0e.*0,)1,V1_UW/0IH0G*1f+,g0G0,)

F,XUHWT1̀WI+)0)\1aWW-G1I)-1̂.*0GX1_UW/*+.X1F,)-0*0,)1UHI/WG1hi1j1klm

n>@@=C6'B@:Q787:C

o=P5CE'L:@'B<5J=8

p@:q=J6=E'n:PB<=r's=5@C7CD't==Euv>678P'wB=J6@>P'n:CE767:C'p@7P5@M'p458='o=P5CE'

x4='p@:Q787:C'y5B'7C'p@7P5@M'L:@'n:PB<=r's=5@C7CD't==E8'5CE'v>678P'wB=J6@>P'n:CE767:C

]z1d{za1_fSF(̂ 1̀_F|}}̀1'

f+,U,GIH1*,10)/+WIGW1*YW1).XeW+1,V1UHI/WG1I*1]c1d~c)1_UW/0IH1_/Y,,H1'

x4='C>P9=@':L'B<5J=8'56'64='8J4::<

o=P5CE'L:@'B<5J=8'56'64='8J4::<

n:CE767:C'5CE'8>76597<76M':L'8J4::<'9>7<E7CD8

�.IH0*c1I)-1_*I)-I+-G

�86MC

3=<84'y:Q=@CP=C6'n56=D:@78567:C':L'wJ4::<8

xM'yAMC'wB=J75<'wJ4::<'

|,~1~,.H-1G*I)-I+-G1I*1*YW1G/Y,,H1eW1IVVW/*W-1ec1*YW1/YI)\WG�

w65CE5@E8

x=5J47CD'5CE's=5@C7CD'�rB=@7=CJ=8

n5@='8>BB:@6'5CE'D>7E5CJ=

s=5E=@847B'5CE'P5C5D=P=C6

-̂-0*0,)IH1G.UU,+*1V,+1U.U0HG

�PB5J6':C'B>B7<8'A764'vEE767:C5<'s=5@C7CD't==E8'�vst�

N:A'A:><E'8>BB:@6'L:@'B>B7<8'A764'�CD<784'58'5C'vEE767:C5<'s5CD>5D='9='5LL=J6=E?

N:A'A:><E'B>B7<8'@=J=7Q7CD'�@=='wJ4::<'�=5<8'9='5LL=J6=E?

N:A'A:><E'�7C:@76M'�64C7J'B>B7<8'9='5LL=J6=E?� Page 509



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !���!�"!#!$�%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!,

-&�!#�.�/�).%�)0�#��+!%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!

1/�! #��.0!�&(�.&#%�*&#%.)! !)

234�#�5!%&3 *!%�6���! %

7 �#%(& ��6���! %

2�0!�8&3 �%�8�

691:;�<1=>�?-9@A1B�?@2;;B��

- &(&%�/��&�.#* !�%!���!�#34"! �&'�(/�*!%����6!�)&C"�#D�?(!*.�/�?*�&&/��

EFGHIJKLGMHNOHPQRSGTHRUHUFGHTSFNNQ

VGKRIWHONMHPQRSGTHRUHUFGHTSFNNQ

XNIWYUYNIHRIWHTJYURLYQYUZHNOHTSFNNQHLJYQWYI[T

\3�/.�8��#)�?��#)� )%

]TUZI

ĜQTFH_ǸGMIKGIUHXRUG[NMYTRUYNIHNOHaSFNNQT

bGRWNcLRIdHaPGSYRQHaSFNNQH

2&C�C&3/)�%��#)� )%������!�%*�&&/�"!��''!*�!)�"8���!�*��#+!%,

aURIWRMWT

EGRSFYI[HRIWHeGRMIYI[H]fPGMYGISGT

XRMGHTJPPNMUHRIWH[JYWRISG

eGRWGMTFYPHRIWHKRIR[GKGIU

1)).�.&#�/�%3((& ��'& �(3(./%

gKPRSUHNIHPJPYQTHcYUFHhWWYUYNIRQHeGRMIYI[HiGGWTHjheik

lNcHcNJQWHTJPPNMUHONMHPJPYQTHcYUFH]I[QYTFHRTHRIHhWWYUYNIRQHeRI[JR[GHLGHROOGSUGWm

lNcHcNJQWHPJPYQTHMGSGỲYI[HnMGGHaSFNNQHbGRQTHLGHROOGSUGWm

lNcHcNJQWHbYINMYUZH]UFIYSHPJPYQTHLGHROOGSUGWm

������ !���!�"!#!$�%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!,

-&�!#�.�/�).%�)0�#��+!%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!�

1/�! #��.0!�&(�.&#%�*&#%.)! !)�

234�#�5!%&3 *!%�6���! %

7 �#%(& ��6���! %

2�0!�8&3 �%�8�

729�2;BBA9?�?-9@A1B�?@2;;B�HH

- &(&%�/��&�.#* !�%!���!�#34"! �&'�(/�*!%����7�!�2&//.!%�?(!*.�/�?*�&&/�HH

EFGHIJKLGMHNOHPQRSGTHRUHUFGHTSFNNQ

VGKRIWHONMHPQRSGTHRUHUFGHTSFNNQ

XNIWYUYNIHRIWHTJYURLYQYUZHNOHTSFNNQHLJYQWYI[T

oPage 510



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$"% �#$�&$'

()*+,

-./)01234.5,6.,*178*.935:)8*:3,13;1<=033/)

>0.1?3//:.)1<@.=:8/1<=033/1

ABC"CB��$"' �#$�&$'"� " DE"'FDBB�'"GE"�HHEF E$"G!" DE"FD�#IE'J

<*8,K85K)

>.8=0:,918,K1L.85,:,91(M@.5:.,=.)

785.1)N@@35*18,K19N:K8,=.

L.8K.5)0:@18,K168,89.6.,*

O$$� �B#��"'�PPB& "HB&"P�P��'

Q6@8=*13,1@N@:/)1R:*01SKK:*:3,8/1L.85,:,91T..K)1USLTV

?3R1R3N/K1)N@@35*1;351@N@:/)1R:*01(,9/:)018)18,1SKK:*:3,8/1L8,9N89.1W.18;;.=*.KX

?3R1R3N/K1@N@:/)15.=.:4:,91Y5..1<=033/1Z.8/)1W.18;;.=*.KX

?3R1R3N/K1Z:,35:*+1(*0,:=1@N@:/)1W.18;;.=*.KX

[D� "�&E" DE"GE#E\ '"BH" DE"P&BPB'E$"FD�#IEJ

]B E# ���"$�'�$̂�# �IE'"BH" DE"P&BPB'E$"FD�#IE"

O� E&#� �̂E"BP �B#'"FB#'�$E&E$"

A�_�#"̀E'B�&FE'"a�  E&'

b&�#'PB& "a�  E&'

A�̂E"!B�&"'�!"

ccOde%Afd"gOhA"]̀eaÒi"%hAjjc""

k

]&BPB'��"HB&"O$$� �B#��"%PEF����' "̀E'B�&FE"l�'E"P��FE'"� "c��#�'DE#"g�FD"]&�_�&!"%FDBB�""1

>0.1,N6W.513;1@/8=.)18*1*0.1)=033/

m.68,K1;351@/8=.)18*1*0.1)=033/

73,K:*:3,18,K1)N:*8W:/:*+13;1)=033/1WN:/K:,9)

����� !"�#$"% �#$�&$'

()*+,

-./)01234.5,6.,*178*.935:)8*:3,13;1<=033/)

L/8,:)0.,1Y8=01n5:685+1<=033/1

ABC"CB��$"' �#$�&$'"� " DE"'FDBB�"GE"�HHEF E$"G!" DE"FD�#IE'J

<*8,K85K)

>.8=0:,918,K1L.85,:,91(M@.5:.,=.)

785.1)N@@35*18,K19N:K8,=.

L.8K.5)0:@18,K168,89.6.,*

O$$� �B#��"'�PPB& "HB&"P�P��'

Q6@8=*13,1@N@:/)1R:*01SKK:*:3,8/1L.85,:,91T..K)1USLTV

?3R1R3N/K1)N@@35*1;351@N@:/)1R:*01(,9/:)018)18,1SKK:*:3,8/1L8,9N89.1W.18;;.=*.KX

?3R1R3N/K1@N@:/)15.=.:4:,91Y5..1<=033/1Z.8/)1W.18;;.=*.KX

Page 511



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"#$�%#&'�(&)$#*�+�+# ,�-.�/00.*&.!1

234564786538698:8;5<6=>65386?7=?=<8@6A34:B8C

D=58:5E4F6@E<4@G4:54B8<6=>65386?7=?=<8@6A34:B86

HF587:45EG86=?5E=:<6A=:<E@878@6

IJK4:6L8<=J7A8<6M45587<

N74:<?=756M45587<

I4G86O=J76<4O6

MHLPQRLRSTI6DLUMHLV6WXIRRP

Y

D7=?=<4F6>=76H@@E5E=:4F6W?8AE4FE<56L8<=J7A86Q4<86?F4A8<6456M47F9=7=JB36D7EK47O6WA3==F66

Z).�$�[-.%��0�+ /*.,�/&�&).�,*)�� 

\.[/$!�0�%�+ /*.,�/&�&).�,*)�� 

]�$!#&#�$�/$!�,�#&/-# #&'��0�,*)�� �-�# !#$̂,

_J4FE5O64:@6W54:@47@<

(,&'$

.̀ ,)�a�b.%$[.$&�]/&.̂�%#,/&#�$��0�c*)�� ,

"/% -�%��̂)�d%#[/%'�c*)�� �

I=e6e=JF@6<54:@47@<64565386<A3==F<69864>>8A58@69O65386A34:B8<C

c&/$!/%!,

Z./*)#$̂�/$!�f./%$#$̂�(g+.%#.$*.,

]/%.�,�++�%&�/$!�̂�#!/$*.

f./!.%,)#+�/$!�[/$/̂.[.$&

H@@E5E=:4F6<J??=756>=76?J?EF<

h[+/*&��$�+�+# ,��#&)�i!!#&#�$/ �f./%$#$̂�j..!,�kifjl

������� !�,�++�%&�0�%�+�+# ,��#&)�($̂ #,)�/,�/$�i!!#&#�$/ �f/$̂�/̂.�-.�/00.*&.!1

������� !�+�+# ,�%.*.#b#$̂�m%..�c*)�� �"./ ,�-.�/00.*&.!1

������� !�"#$�%#&'�(&)$#*�+�+# ,�-.�/00.*&.!1

234564786538698:8;5<6=>65386?7=?=<8@6A34:B8C

D=58:5E4F6@E<4@G4:54B8<6=>65386?7=?=<8@6A34:B86

HF587:45EG86=?5E=:<6A=:<E@878@6

IJK4:6L8<=J7A8<6M45587<

N74:<?=756M45587<

I4G86O=J76<4O6

Page 512



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !��"��#$!�%"&'())*"+

�,-.-/01"2-,"!33454-601"&.784014/5"�7/-9,87" 0/7".1087/"05"�765,7:067"�,4;0,<"&8=--1"+

>?@+ABCD@E+FG+HIJK@L+JM+M?@+LK?FFI

N@CJAO+GFE+HIJK@L+JM+M?@+LK?FFI

PFAOQMQFA+JAO+LBQMJDQIQMR+FG+LK?FFI+DBQIOQASL

T90145<"063"&50630,3/

ULMRA

V@IL?+WFX@EAC@AM+PJM@SFEQLJMQFA+FG+YK?FFIL

Z@AME@DJA@+ZEQCJER+YK?FFI+

(-["[-913"/50630,3/"05"5=7"/8=--1/":7"02278573":<"5=7"8=06\7/]

YMJAOJEOL

>@JK?QAS+JAO+̂@JEAQAS+U_H@EQ@AK@L

PJE@+LBHHFEM+JAO+SBQOJAK@

@̂JO@EL?QH+JAO+CJAJS@C@AM

!33454-601"/9..-,5"2-,".9.41/

C̀HJKM+FA+HBHQIL+aQM?+bOOQMQFAJI+̂@JEAQAS+c@@OL+db̂ce

fFa+aFBIO+LBHHFEM+GFE+HBHQIL+aQM?+UASIQL?+JL+JA+bOOQMQFAJI+̂JASBJS@+D@+JGG@KM@Og

fFa+aFBIO+HBHQIL+E@K@QXQAS+hE@@+YK?FFI+i@JIL+D@+JGG@KM@Og

fFa+aFBIO+iQAFEQMR+UM?AQK+HBHQIL+D@+JGG@KM@Og

j=05"0,7"5=7":767k5/"-2"5=7".,-.-/73"8=06\7]

�-5765401"34/03l0650\7/"-2"5=7".,-.-/73"8=06\7"

!157,6054l7"-.54-6/"8-6/437,73"

(9;06"�7/-9,87/"$0557,/

�,06/.-,5"$0557,/

(0l7"<-9,"/0<"

&��#�mj))n"��#$!�%"&'())*

�,-.-/01"2-,"!33454-601"&.784014/5"�7/-9,87" 0/7".1087/"05"&.,46\[--3"�,4;0,<"&8=--1""

>?@+ABCD@E+FG+HIJK@L+JM+M?@+LK?FFI

N@CJAO+GFE+HIJK@L+JM+M?@+LK?FFI

PFAOQMQFA+JAO+LBQMJDQIQMR+FG+LK?FFI+DBQIOQASL

T90145<"063"&50630,3/

ULMRA

V@IL?+WFX@EAC@AM+PJM@SFEQLJMQFA+FG+YK?FFIL

YHEQASaFFO+ZEQCJER+YK?FFI+

(-["[-913"/50630,3/"05"5=7"/8=--1/":7"02278573":<"5=7"8=06\7/]

YMJAOJEOL

>@JK?QAS+JAO+̂@JEAQAS+U_H@EQ@AK@L

o Page 513



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !""#�$��%&�'!(&�%)�

*��&�� +("��%&�,�%�'�,�%$

-../0/1234567881905:195878/46

;,"�)$�#%�"!"(< �=($+�>&&($(#%�<�*���%(%'�?��& �@>*?A

B#=�=#!<&� !""#�$�C#��"!"(< �=($+�D%'<( +�� ��%�>&&($(#%�<�*�%'!�'��E���CC�)$�&F

B#=�=#!<&�"!"(< ���)�(G(%'�H����I)+##<�J��< �E���CC�)$�&F

B#=�=#!<&�J(%#�($K�D$+%()�"!"(< �E���CC�)$�&F

LM30539N50MN5ON2NP0651:50MN5891816N.5QM32RNS

T10N20/345./63.U3203RN651:50MN5891816N.5QM32RN5

-40N9230/UN5180/1265Q126/.N9N.5

V7W325XN6179QN65Y300N96

Z932681905Y300N96

V3UN5[179563[5

\]̂_XY-Z\_]5X̀àb-]Z5Z_5-aa5TX_T_c-ac

V1d5d174.50MN5QM32RN653::NQ0510MN956QM1146S

-.W/66/12539932RNWN206

aN392N95Z93UN45-9932RNWN2065

/̂232Q/345Y300N96

VN340M5T91U/6/12

e1UN9232QN5-9932RNWN206

\W83Q051:50MN589181634651250MN5LN46M5a32R73RN

f̀734/0/N6

g1WW72/0[5\W83Q0

LN44ON/2R51:5̂7079N5eN2N930/126

T10N20/345h/69780/125015T78/46

]Ni0560N86j5M1d5015W3kN5[1795U/Nd65k21d2532.5:NN.O3Qk5:19W

l+�$�+�""�% �%�m$F

n�K�o�$� 

�#% !<$�$(#%�"��(#&

I$�$!$#�K�?#$()�

pEq�)$(#%�r�"#�$�

o�$��,(%�$(#%�#C�$+��"�#"# �< 

o�)( (#%�?#$(s)�$(#%

V3UN5[179563[

�#% !<$�$(#%��� "#% ��C#�,

tPage 514



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"����

#$%&'()'&$()'*++,-.&'%*+/&0

1234567789:;5345<7=5>?=:@;4A5B?=:=4C54B277954;?<<C54B27795D7E:=@7=45?@F5?@G7@:5H2752?45?@53@;:=:4;53@5

:FIB?;37@53@5J?=F3<<K5L;5H39956:57<5>?=;3BI9?=53@;:=:4;5;75>?=:@;4A5B?=:=457<5B239F=:@5?@F5G7I@D5>:7>9:5

?;;:@F3@D57=5:M>:B;3@D5;75?;;:@F54>:B3?954B2779457=5N>:B3?934;5O:47I=B:5P?4:45QNOP4R5?@F5;274:5;2?;52?E:57=5

BI==:@;9G5H7=85H3;25B239F=:@5?@F5G7I@D5>:7>9:5H3;25SFF3;37@?95T:?=@3@D5U::F45QSTURK

L;54:;457I;5?5=?@D:57<5>=7>74?945;753@B=:?4:5;2:5@IV6:=57<54>:B3?954B27795?@F54>:B3?934;5=:47I=B:56?4:5>9?B:45

<7=59:?=@:=45?D:F5W5X5YZ5H3;25B7V>9:M59:?=@3@D5@::F45?@F5?I;34V54>:B;=IV5B7@F3;37@45?@F5;2:5=:?47@45<7=5

;2:4:5>=7>74:F5B2?@D:4K

#$%&'%[.'\.'][+]+)(̂_'&+'̀+0

175V::;5;2:5F:V?@F5<7=54>:B3?934;5>=7E3437@5<7=59:?=@:=45H3;25B7V>9:M59:?=@3@D5@::F45?@F5?I;34V54>:B;=IV5

B7@F3;37@5?D:F5W5a5YZ53;5345>=7>74:F5;7b

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=57<51G5dHG@5N>:B3?95NB27795<=7V5YZe5;75fgh5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=57<5i:?F7H6?@85N>:B3?95NB27795<=7V5gh5;75Ze5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=57<512:5j7993:45N>:B3?95NB27795<=7V5Zh5;75YYZ5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

c5<I=;2:=53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=57<512:5j7993:45N>:B3?95NB27795<=7V5YYZ5;75Ykh5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5

fhfW

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=5?;5;2:5N>:B3?934;5O:47I=B:5P?4:5?;5T9?@342:@5l?B25m=3V?=G5NB27795<=7V5

fh5;75Wh5>9?B:45<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhfW

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=5?;5;2:5N>:B3?934;5O:47I=B:5P?4:5?;5i?=967=7ID25m=3V?=G5NB27795<=7V5fh5

;75Wh5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=5?;5;2:5N>:B3?934;5O:47I=B:5P?4:5?;5m:@;=:6?@:5m=3V?=G5NB27795<=7V5fh5

;75fg54>?B:45<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

c53@B=:?4:5;2:5F:43D@?;:F5@IV6:=5?;5;2:5N>:B3?934;5O:47I=B:5P?4:5?;5N>=3@DH77F5m=3V?=G5NB27795<=7V5fh5

;75fe5<=7V5N:>;:V6:=5fhff

m9:?4:5@7;:5;2?;5;2:5F:E:97>V:@;57<5;2:4:5>=7>74?945345?;5?@5:?=9G54;?D:K5S@G5F:;?39:F54B27795F:43D@57=543;:5

9?G7I;45H7I9F56:5B7@43F:=:F5?;5?59?;:=5F?;:K512:=:5H7I9F56:57>>7=;I@3;3:45;75B7VV:@;57@5F:;?39:F5>9?@45?;5

;2:5>=:a>9?@@3@D5?@F5>9?@@3@D5?>>93B?;37@54;?D:4C5427I9F5;2:5>=7>74?9456:5>=7D=:44:FK

n:5?=:5?9475B7@4I9;3@D57@54:>?=?;:5>=7>74?945;753@B=:?4:5>=7E3437@5<7=59:?=@:=45H3;25B7V>9:M59:?=@3@D5@::F45

?@F5?I;34V5?D:F5YY5X5YZ5?@F5>=7E3437@5<7=59:?=@:=45H3;25oV7;37@?95j:?9;25?@F5n:996:3@D5U::F45?D:F5YY5X5

YZ5?;5?5=?@D:57<54B277945?B=7445J?=F3<<K

p7I5B?@5q@F5F:;?39457<5;2:4:5>=7>74?945?;5rrrstuvwxyysz{|s}~�����t�{{��v{�{�u��

� Page 515



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"!#��$

%&'()*+(,+(-'./0123.4(,32&5

6789:;<=>?@A@B;<9CD;:8==9E>=@9F;??;G9@789H8?=79I;J8D<E8<@9K>BL8?B<8=9A=9=8@9;>@9B<9@789M:7;;?9

NDKA<B=A@B;<9O;L89PQRST

U=9CAD@9;F9@7B=9G89AD89A=VB<K9C8;C?89G7A@9@78W9@7B<V9AX;>@9@789:7A<K8=9G89AD89CD;C;=B<KT99678D89AD89A9

<>EX8D9;F9GAW=9C8;C?89:A<9@8??9>=9@78BD9JB8G=T

Y)Z1+([(Z+1',(/+2/('02(,&'(2&+(\'0.-31(3/(-'./0123.4]

Y)Z1+([](̂*'0_/(2&+(\'0.-31(3/(-'./0123.4(,32&

O7B?LD8<9A<L9W;><K9C8;C?8 H8?=79̀B<B=@8D=

aAD8<@=b:AD8D= a;?B:89c9ODBE89O;EEB==B;<8D

M:7;;?9=@AFF O8<@DA?9M;>@79O;<=;D@B>E9d;B<@9eL>:A@B;<9
M8DJB:89fOMOdeMg

M:7;;?9I;J8D<B<K9h;LB8= H8?=79iA<K>AK89O;EEB==B;<8D9

i;:A?9D8=BL8<@= j7B8<B9LD;=9ULLW=K9IWEDA8K9fj7UIg

O;EE><B@W9O;><:B?= 6DAL89k<B;<=9

i;:A?9̀8EX8D=bO;<=@B@>8<:W9A<L9j8KB;<A?9
8̀EX8D=9;F9@789M8<8LL9f̀Mg9b̀8EX8D=9;F9
aAD?BAE8<@9f̀a=g

O7B?L:AD89CD;JBL8D=9

lB;:8=A<9lBD8:@;D=9;F9eL>:A@B;< >̀LBAL9̀8B@7DB<9

m8BK7X;>DB<K9U>@7;DB@B8= HA?8=9aD8nM:7;;?9aD;JBL8D=9U==;:BA@B;<

m8BK7X;>DB<K9aDBEADW9A<L9M8:;<LADW9
=:7;;?=9GB@7B<9OADLBFF9

O?WXBA>9a?A<@9OWED>9oBL=9O?>X

e=@W< mA@B;<A?9lAW9m>D=8DB8=9U==;:BA@B;<

O;EE><B@B8=9pBD=@9aAD@<8D=7BC H8?=79eL>:A@B;<9p;D>E

OADLBFF9A<L9qA?89r8A?@79h;ADL9 q;?><@ADW9M8:@;D9NDKA<B=A@B;<=9

i;:A?9X>=B<8==8=b;DKA<B=A@B;<= 6DAFs:9O;EEB==B;<8D9F;D9HA?8=9

t3+,/('u(-&31v*+.().v(w'0.4(_+'_1+('.(2&+(_*'_'/+v(-&).4+/(

OADLBFF9B=9A9O7B?L9pDB8<L?W9OB@Wx9A<L9@789JB8G=9;F9:7B?LD8<9A<L9W;><K9C8;C?89AD89V8W9@;9@789GAW98L>:A@B;<9B=9

L8?BJ8D8LT99y@9B=9BEC;D@A<@9@7A@9G78<9XDB<KB<K9F;DGADL9CD;C;=A?=x9=>B@AX?89ADDA<K8E8<@=9AD89EAL89@;9:;<=>?@9

GB@79C>CB?=T96789O;><:B?9GB??9:;<=>?@9GB@79C>CB?=9B<9@789=:7;;?=9B<:?>L8L9A=9CAD@9;F9@78=89CD;C;=A?=9A<L9@789

B<F;DEA@B;<9KA@78D8L9B<9@78=89=8==B;<=9GB??9X89B<:?>L8L9B<9@789s<A?9:;<=>?@A@B;<9D8C;D@T

z',(w'0(-).({.v('02(|'*+().v(1+2(0/(}.',(w'0*(~3+,/5

67B=9:;<=>?@A@B;<9L;:>E8<@9A<L9A9:;<=>?@A@B;<9D8=C;<=89F;DE9AD89AJAB?AX?89;<9@789O;><:B?9G8X=B@89A@9

�������������������������������������

yF9W;>9AD89><AX?89@;9A::8==9@789L;:>E8<@=9;<?B<8x9CDB<@8L9:;CB8=9GB??9X89AJAB?AX?89XW9C;=@9;<9D8�>8=@T9�;>9

EAW9D8�>8=@9A9:;CW9XW98nEAB?B<K9������������������������������9;D9XW9@8?8C7;<B<K9�������������T9

H89GB??9ALJB=89FAEB?B8=9GB@79:7B?LD8<9A@9@789A==;:BA@8L9=:7;;?=9;<97;G9@78W9:A<9A::8==9A9:;CW9;F9

@789L;:>E8<@T

�Page 516



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#��$%#&&$!&'�$()$*��+#,),$"�$�)'#,)�"'$!�,$(-'#�)'')'$#�$.&�')$*��/# #"0$"�$"1)$'.1��&$'#")'$#�.&-,),$

#�$"1)$*��*�'!&'2

3�&#�)$ ))"#�4'$%#&&$()$1)&,$%1)�)$"1)$.1!�4)'$%)$!�)$*��*�'#�4$%#&&$()$)/*&!#�),2$$5�-$%#&&$1!+)$"1)$

�**��"-�#"0$"�$!'6$7-)'"#��'$!'$*!�"$��$"1)')$')''#��'2$$��$0�-$%�-&,$&#6)$"�$!"")�,$!�$��&#�)$ ))"#�48$

*&)!')$.��"!."$-'$+#!$)9 !#&$"�$:;<==>?@:A=B:@:C;D?EFGGHI=JHKL$.��M� #�4$%1#.1$ ))"#�4$0�-$%�-&,$&#6)$

"�$!"")�,8$!�,$%)$%#&&$*��+#,)$!$&#�6$!�,$#�'"�-."#��'$��$1�%$0�-$.!�$!..)''$"1#'$ ))"#�42

N�-�.#&$��M.)�'$%#&&$ ))"$%#"1$"1)$O�+)��#�4$P�,#)'$!�,$'"!��$��$"1)$!''�.#!"),$'.1��&'2

5�-$.!�$!&'�$%�#")$"�$"1)$N�-�.#&$"�$")&&$-'$%1!"$0�-$"1#�62$

Q1)$,!")'$��$"1)$*-(&#.$.��'-&"!"#��$ ))"#�4'$!�)$')"$�-"$()&�%R

STUVWXYZX[\]̂_V̀T̀a\]XbWẀa]cXdT̀ŴX

eT̀_fWX\gXh\]̂_V̀T̀a\]X dT̀WiSajWX kW]_WX

3�&#�)$l-(&#.$ ))"#�4 m),�)',!0$no$p!�-!�0$qrqq
sRtr* 

3�&#�)$+#!$u#.��'��"$
Q)! '$

v��*9#�$')''#��'$ 3�$�)7-)'"$(0$) !#&#�4$
'.1��&�)'*��')'w.!�,#��24�+2-6

3�&#�)$+#!$u#.��'��"$
Q)! '$

x\_fXyaWẑXTfWXaj{\f̀T]̀X̀\X_̂X

5�-�$+#)%'$ !"")�$!�,$%)$%!�"$0�-$"�$")&&$-'$%1!"$0�-$"1#�6$!(�-"$"1)$.1!�4)'$%)$1!+)$'-44)'"),$#�$"1#'$

,�.- )�"2$

5�-$.!�$,�$"1#'$(0R$

|$}"")�,#�4$��)$��$"1)$ ))"#�4'$��$,��*9#�$')''#��'$&#'"),$!(�+)2$$

|$N� *&)"#�4$"1)$��&#�)$�)'*��')$��� $!"$~~~H;D?EFGGHI=JHKL����:;<==>A?=A=:D>:

|$N� *&)"#�4$"1)$.��'-&"!"#��$�)'*��')$��� 8$%1#.1$0�-$.!�$M�,$��$*!4)$��2

|$N��"!."#�4$"1)$�.1��&$3�4!�#'!"#��$l&!��#�4$Q)! $(0$)9 !#&$"�$:;<==>?@:A=B:@:C;D?EFGGHI=JHKL8$

(0$")&)*1��)$��$�rqo�$qr��$q�qr$��$(0$*�'"$"�$��� $�rn8$N�-�"0$�!&&8$N!�,#��8$N�nr$��m2$Q1#'$.!�$

#�.&-,)$�)7-)'"#�4$!�$��M.)�$.!&&$(!.6$#�$0�-$1!+)$!$'*).#M.$7-)'"#��$"1!"$0�-$�))&$0�-$%�-&,$&#6)$�-�"1)�$

#���� !"#��$!(�-"2$

S�WXhV\̂a]cX�T̀WXg\fXfŴ{\]̂ŴX̀\X̀�âXh\]̂_V̀T̀a\]XâX�X�WUf_Tf�XY�YY�

Q1)$N�-�.#&$#'$��"$!(&)$"�$.��'#,)�$!�0$.��'-&"!"#��$�)'*��')'$�).)#+),$!�")�$"1#'$,!")2

�� Page 517



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� �!"# $#%$!&'()$*)&+$" $!,")$+#-*(& !$

./0120345603670385//59:4;360<=23>20?367<5>;75>6367:23?5@>=046A

BCDEFFEGHIJKDLMN3O31//3=1:461:40?32@755/231?=:63P>P:/23>P3653163/01263670:<3.>Q/:270?3R?=:22:543S>=Q0<T3U703
1?=:22:5434>=Q0<3:2367034>=Q0<3583P>P:/3P/1@0231V1:/1Q/03:4301@73W01<3;<5>PT3

BXJ3O3R??:6:541/3Y01<4:4;3S00?2T3R3@7:/?35<3W5>4;3P0<2543:23@542:?0<0?365371V03R??:6:541/3Y01<4:4;3S00?23:83670W3
71V03?:8Z@>/6:0236716371V03132:;4:Z@1463/54;O60<=3:=P1@63543670:<3/01<4:4;T33[:8Z@>/6:023=1W3Q03<0/160?3653/01<4:4;\3
@5==>4:@16:54314?3:460<1@6:54\313P7W2:@1/35<320425<W3?:21Q:/:6W\35<3Q071V:5><1/30=56:541/314?325@:1/3?0V0/5P=046T3
]RYS3:2325=06:=023<080<<0?3653123̂P0@:1/3_?>@16:541/3S00?2̀T3

aGDDKHEbcIdefGGgFIh313P<:=1<W35<320@54?1<W32@755/3970<036703i5>4@:/31<<14;0232@755/31?=:22:542T3

ajbefDMHbIjNMj3h31431<0136716313@5==>4:6W32@755/395>/?345<=1//W320<V0T3k43i1<?:88l3@7:/?<043/:V:4;39:67:4367:23
1<01371V037:;70<3P<:5<:6W385<31?=:22:54365367032@755/367143@7:/?<0435>62:?0358367:231<01T3

aGDmgMnIXMjNHEHoIJMMCF3O3@7:/?<04314?3W5>4;3P05P/039:67313<14;03583:22>023p3@5=Q:416:543583/1W0<0?3400?2T3
U70203@5>/?3:4@/>?03400?23<0/160?3653/01<4:4;l3@5==>4:@16:54l3P7W2:@1/35<320425<W3?:21Q:/:6:02T

qDGbEGHjgIrMjgbfIjHCIsMggLMEHoIJMMCF3h3@7:/?<04314?3W5>4;3P05P/03975371V03:22>0239:67367:4t:4;l3800/:4;3
14?3Q071V:4;T3U7:23:=P1@623543=141;:4;37593/:8031880@623670=l37593670W3@5P0l37593670W304;1;039:6735670<2l36703
@75:@023670W3=1t0T33̂5=06:=02312313<02>/635836<1>=1T3i7:/?<04314?3W5>4;3P05P/03=1W3?:2P/1W314u:06Wl3/59320/8O
02600=l32@755/3P75Q:1l35<3Q071V:5><1/3?:8Z@>/6:02T3

qCKejbEGHIvbfMNIwfjHIjbIdefGGgIxqvwBdy3O30?>@16:543P<5V:2:543653=00632P0@:Z@3400?23583P>P:/23975l385<3V1<:5>23
<012542l3@14456316604?313=1:426<01=35<32P0@:1/32@755/T3_zUR̂3<080<236530?>@16:543P<5V:?0?3QW36703/5@1/31>675<:6W3
14?3?5023456304@5=P12230/0@6:V0375=030?>@16:54T

{jEHFbNMjD3O313=1:426<01=32@755/3:23132@755/3<>43QW36703i5>4@:/397:@73:234563132P0@:1/32@755/T3i5>4@:/3=1:461:40?3
=1:426<01=|2P0@:1/32@755/231<03456320/0@6:V0314?3?534563<0}>:<0326>?04623653P1W38002T333

JKDLMNIGHI~GggICjbj3O367034>=Q0<3583P>P:/23163132@755/3]4563:4@/>?:4;34><20<W3P>P:/2̀T3

�XBda3O3.>P:/3Y0V0/3R44>1/3̂@755/3i042>2T3k43�14>1<W35830V0<W3W01<l36703�0/273�5V0<4=0463@5//0@623:485<=16:543
8<5=32@755/2T3U7:23:4@/>?02367034>=Q0<3583P>P:/2316301@732@755/l3670:<31;03;<5>P2l375=031??<02202l30674:@:6Wl314?3
?1613543�0/273/14;>1;0l3̂P0@:1/3_?>@16:541/3S00?2l3Z<263/14;>1;0314?3P>P:/23975371V03�<003̂@755/3�01/2T

defGGgIBebEGHIO39704313@/12235<32>Q�0@63601@70<3;:V0230u6<132>PP5<6365313P>P:/39:6731??:6:541/3/01<4:4;3400?2T3

defGGgIBebEGHI�gK23O3970435>62:?032P0@:1/:262370/P36703@/12235<32@755/3261883653;:V030u6<132>PP5<6365313P>P:/39:673
1??:6:541/3/01<4:4;3400?2T3U7:23:23?:880<04635<31??:6:541/365367032>PP5<63P<5V:?0?367<5>;73̂@755/3R@6:54T3

dmMeEjgIdefGG/3h3132@755/385<3@7:/?<0439:6731431??:6:541/3/01<4:4;3400?235<3?:21Q:/:6Wl3975203400?23@144563Q03=063:4313
=1:426<01=32@755/T3U703P>P:/23163132P0@:1/32@755/371V031326160=0463583̂_Sl35<3143k4?:V:?>1/3[0V0/5P=0463./143]k[.̀T3

dmMeEjgEFbI~MFGKNeMI�jFMIxd~�̀3O3R32=1//3@/1223:4313=1:426<01=32@755/385<3P>P:/239:6732:;4:Z@14631??:6:541/3
/01<4:4;3400?2T3R//3P>P:/2316604?:4;3143̂��371V031326160=0463583̂_S314?31<0361>;763QW32P0@:1/:263601@70<2314?3
/01<4:4;32>PP5<63122:261462l314?371V035PP5<6>4:6:023653/01<4l3P/1W35<325@:1/:2039:6735670<3=1:426<01=3P>P:/2T33

sMggLMEHoIagjFFMF3O3i1<?:8831/2538>4?2320V0<1/390//Q0:4;3@/12202397:@73P<5V:?03275<6360<=3:46042:V032>PP5<6385<3
@7:/?<04314?3W5>4;3P05P/03?:2P/1W:4;30=56:541/3701/67314?390//Q0:4;3400?2l36532>PP5<63670:<3@546:4>0?3P/1@0=0463
:43670:<3/5@1/3=1:426<01=32@755/T33./1@0=0463:4313�0//Q0:4;3i/1223:2360=P5<1<W385<35403W01<A36703@7:/?3<0=1:423543<5//3

163670:<3/5@1/32@755/l314?3670W31<032>PP5<60?3653<06><438>//36:=03653670:<3/5@1/32@755/3QW3670304?35836703P<5;<1==0T3
��Page 518



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$

%&'()**+,-./0/-1),)23-*2'-4(56&7)23-&3(-84&'3)39-)3-%&'()**-,47,-&-92&8-2*-:-;4&'3)39-<37)784=437>-)3-?@)6@-

&88-6@)8('43-&3(-A2539-B42B84-&'4-&C84-72D

E-&664,,-&BB'2B')&74-'2574,-)372-4(56&7)23-&3(-84&'3)39-2BB2'753)7)4,

E-7@')14-&3(-*58F8-7@4)'-B27437)&8--

E-'4&8),4-7@4)'-)3()1)(5&8-('4&=,-&3(-&=C)7)23,-

G3-2'(4'-72-)=B'214-25762=4,-*2'-%&'()**+,-=2,7-15834'&C84-84&'34',>-=&3A-2*-?@2=-*&64-C&'')4',-72-

439&94=437-)3-4(56&7)23-&3(-84&'3)39>-&(('4,,)39-)34H5&8)7A-),-I4AJ-

%&'()**+,-./0/-1),)23-),-&1&)8&C84-72-1)4?-&7-6&'()**J921J5IK6&'()**./0/

LMNOPQQ !��MOR!OS"QQ! RT#�OP$$TRT!#�UOVN� #T#�OWNN$XOT#OY� $TZZO

:3-4**467)14>-)3685,)14-&BB'2&6@-72-,5BB2'7)39-&(()7)23&8-84&'3)39-344(,-)3-%&'()**-)3685(4,-7@4-*2882?)39-

B')36)B84,D

E-[6@228,-&3(-,477)39,-7@&7-(48)14'-&3-)3321&7)14-65'')6585=-?)7@-4**467)14-?@284-,6@228-&BB'2&6@4,-72-

74&6@)39-&3(-84&'3)39>-4=27)23&8-@4&87@-&3(-?488C4)39J

E-<\6488437-,B46)&8),7-,4'1)64,-72-43@&364-7@4-6&B&6)7A-2*-,6@228,-&3(-27@4'-,477)39,-72-)3685(4-6@)8('43-&3(-

A2539-B42B84-?)7@-&-'&394-2*-&(()7)23&8-84&'3)39-344(,J

E-<**467)14-4&'8A-)(437)F6&7)23-&3(-'4,4&'6@]C&,4(-)374'1437)23-72-B'41437-7@4-4,6&8&7)23-2*-&(()7)23&8-

84&'3)39-344(,-?@4'414'-B2,,)C84J

E- )̂9@-84148,-2*-&664,,)C)8)7A-)3-414'A-,6@228-C5)8()39-?)7@-,5*F6)437-_4\)C84-&662==2(&7)23-)3-414'A-,6@228-

&BB'2B')&74-72-7@4-&94-&3(-,7&94-2*-84&'3)39J

E-[7'239-B&'734',@)B,-72-43,5'4-&-@28),7)6>-6288&C2'&7)14-'4,B23,4-72-&-6@)8(-2'-A2539-B4',23+,-&(()7)23&8-

84&'3)39-344(,-̀)3685()39-@4&87@>-6@)8('43-&3(-&(587-,4'1)64,>-4&'8A-A4&',-&3(-a5'7@4'-<(56&7)23-

B'21)(4',bJ-

E-<**467)14-=587)]&9436A-7'&3,)7)23-B8&33)39-&7-414'A-,7&94>-*'2=-4&'8A-A4&',-7@'259@-72-B')=&'A>-

,4623(&'A>-B2,7-cd-&3(-&(587-(4,7)3&7)23,>-72-,5BB2'7-&(=),,)23-?)7@257-(48&AJ

e@4-35=C4'-2*-6@)8('43-&3(-A2539-B42B84-'4H5)')39-,B46)&8),7-B8&64=437-&,-&-'4,587-2*-7@4)'-84&'3)39-

(),&C)8)7)4,-@&,-C443-)36'4&,)39-)3-%&'()**-214'-7@4-8&,7-f-A4&',>-&3(-,74B,-?4'4-7&I43-)3-./cg-72-)36'4&,4-7@4-

35=C4'-2*-,B46)&8),7-B8&64,-&1&)8&C84J-

e@4-B'2B2,&8,-,47-257-)3-7@),-623,587&7)23-(265=437-,44I-72-)=B'214-&664,,-72-4(56&7)23-)3-8)34-?)7@-7@4-

&C214-B')36)B84,-2*-)3685,)23J-

S"Zh�TN#�iOT#ORMNOSQN�T�UOSN�R! O

%&'()**-%2536)8-),-62==)774(-72-7@4-B')36)B84,-2*-)3685,)23J-e@4-=&j2')7A-2*-84&'34',-?)7@-:(()7)23&8-;4&'3)39-

k44(,-̀:;kb-&7743(-&-826&8-=&)3,7'4&=-,6@228>-&3(-C434F7-*'2=-4**467)14-:(()7)23&8-;4&'3)39-l'21),)23-

:̀;lbJ-e@4,4-84&'34',-(2-327-344(-72-&7743(-&-,B46)&8-,6@228-2'-[B46)&8),7-m4,25'64-n&,4J-

2̂?414'>-)7-),-'46293),4(-7@&7-)3-2'(4'-72-7@')14-&3(-*58F8-7@4)'-B27437)&8>-6@)8('43-&3(-A2539-B42B84-?)7@-7@4-

=2,7-62=B84\-&(()7)23&8-84&'3)39-344(,-'4H5)'4-&664,,-72-7@4-,B46)&8),7-431)'23=437,-&3(-4\B4'7),4-2*-&-

,B46)&8-,6@228-2'-[B46)&8),7-m4,25'64-n&,4
op Page 519



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#�$%�& &'()�*'+��)�,�#��-�.�/$!&(�0����.)1�*�$����.�-�&(-/��'��-�)&�/'-(�)/�$$(�$#�)&�/'-(')+�

#�)$ #/��"-)���-)�/$�+'� �.�+$�2#$*3

��')�')�"�/- )��$%4�

5 6 &'(�&$& (-+'$��/�-�2�)1�*'+��(-#2�#�/$�$#+)�$%�&#'!-#7�)/�$$(�-2��& &'()��$*�!$,'�2�+�#$ 2��+$

)�/$�.-#7�&�-)�3

5 8!&#$,�.�) #,',-(�#-+�)�%$#�/�'(.#���"$#��*'+��)'2�'9/-�+�.')-"'('+'�)1�#�) (+'�2�'��-��'2��#�� !"�#�$%

& &'()�*'+��)�,�#��-�.�/$!&(�0�.')-"'('+'�)3

5 8�/#�-)�.�/$!&(�0'+7�'�����.)1�*�'/���-)�!�-�+�+�-+�+���.�!-�.�%$#�)&�/'-(')+�&#$,')'$���-)�/$�+'� �.

+$�2#$*3������#-�2��$%��0&�#+')�1�)&�/'-(')+�) &&$#+�-�.�%-/'('+'�)�#�: '#�.�'��)&�/'-(�)/�$$()�-�.�;&�/'-(')+

<�)$ #/��=-)�)��-)�-()$�'�/#�-)�.3

5 8�/#�-)�.�'�/'.��/��-�.�'.��+'9/-+'$��$%�)&�/'9/����.)�) /��-)�- +')!1�>?@?1�&�7)'/-(�.')-"'('+'�)�-�.

)��)$#7�'!&-'#!��+)3

5 A$#��/�'(.#���-�.�7$ �2�&�$&(��*'+���!$+'$�-(���-(+��-�.�*�(("�'�2����.)3����')�*-)�-�+#��.�"�%$#�

BCD8?�EF�" +��-)�"�����0-/�#"-+�.�"7�)/�$$(�/($) #�)�-�.�$+��#�!�-) #�)�+$�!-�-2��+���&-�.�!'/3

>+�&#�)��+1�"$+��&#'!-#7�-�.�)�/$�.-#7�)/�$$()�'��B-#.'%%��$)+�)&�/'-(')+�#�)$ #/��"-)��&#$,')'$�3�;$!��-#��

.�)'2�-+�.�+$�) &&$#+�/�'(.#���*'+��/$!&(�0�(�-#�'�2����.)�*�$�#�: '#��-�)&�/'-(')+�/ ##'/ ( !�+- 2�+�'��-�

)!-((�/(-))���,'#$�!��+G�)$!��-#��.�)'2�-+�.�%$#�(�-#��#)�*'+��- +')!�$#���-#'�2�'!&-'#!��+)�*�$�#�: '#��

)&�/'-(')+�) &&$#+�+$�-//�))�!-'�)+#�-!�(�-#�'�21�*'+��-//�))�+$�-�� #+ #'�2�"-)��%$#�)$!��(�-#�'�2�-�.�

 �)+# /+ #�.�+'!�3�

����& #&$)��$%�-�;&�/'-(')+�<�)$ #/��=-)��H;<=I�')�+$���-"(��(�-#��#)�*'+��(�-#�'�2�.'%9/ (+'�)�+$�) //��.�'��

-�!-'�)+#�-!�)/�$$(���,'#$�!��+3�6 &'()�-#��+- 2�+�'��-�)!-((�/(-))�"7�)&�/'-(')+�)+-%%�-�.�"���9+�%#$!�-�

)&�/'-(')+�/ ##'/ ( !1�*�'(��"���9+'�2�%#$!�+���% ((�#-�2��$%��. /-+'$��$&&$#+ �'+'�)�-,-'(-"(��+$�-((�& &'()�

-+�+���)/�$$(3

>+�+�����.�$%�A-#/��JKJE1�+��#��*�#��J1JLM�/�'(.#���'��B-#.'%%�*'+��-�)+-+�!��+�$%�;&�/'-(�N. /-+'$��

O��.)3�>)�+���&$& (-+'$��2#$*)1�)$�*'((�+���� !"�#�$%�/�'(.#���-�.�7$ �2�&�$&(��*'+��)'2�'9/-�+�-�.�

/$!&(�0�-..'+'$�-(�(�-#�'�2����.)3�

8��JKJKPJE4

5 -�+$+-(�$%�E1EEL�&(-/�)�'��;&�/'-(')+�<�)$ #/��=-)�)�$#�)&�/'-(�)/�$$()�*�#��% �.�.�"7�B-#.'%%�B$ �/'(

5 QR�+�!&$#-#7�&(-/�)�%$#�(�-#��#)�*�#��-,-'(-"(��-+�S�(("�'�2�B(-))�)�-�.�;&��/��-�.�T-�2 -2��B(-))�)

5 FK�&(-/�)�*�#��-,-'(-"(��'��+���6 &'(�<�%�##-(�U�'+�H6<UI

S�'()+�+��#��-#��-�� !"�#�$%��0')+'�2�)&�/'-(')+�)�++'�2)�-/#$))�B-#.'%%1�+��#��-#���$+���$ 2��&(-/�)�

-,-'(-"(�3������� !"�#�$%�/�'(.#���*�$�*$ (.�"���9+�%#$!�-�&(-/��')�&#$V�/+�.�+$�'�/#�-)��$,�#�

/$!'�2�7�-#)3�

>)�+��#��-#���$+���$ 2��)&�/'-(�)/�$$(�&(-/�)�'��B-#.'%%1�+���B$ �/'(��-)�-()$�% �.�.�)$!��&(-/�)�-+�)&�/'-(�

)/�$$()�'��$+��#�B$ �/'(�-#�-)�$#�'��'�.�&��.��+�)/�$$()3�����+$+-(�)&��.�$��+��)��&(-/�)�*-)�WL3X!�'��

JKJKPJE3�����" .2�+�%$#�JKJEPJJ�%$#�+��)��+7&�)�$%�&(-/�)�')�/ ##��+(7�)�+�-+�WY3X!3��

;&��.'�2�$��'�.�&��.��+�&(-/�)�-�.�)&�/'-(�)/�$$(�&(-/�)�'����'2�"$ #'�2�B$ �/'(�-#�-)��-)�2#$*��+$�

/WX3R!�'��JKJKPJE3��S'+�$ +�'�,�)+!��+�'��-..'+'$�-(�&(-/�)1�+���/$)+�$%�+��)��&(-/�)�*$ (.�"���0&�/+�.�

+$�2#$*�)'2�'9/-�+(7�'��% + #��7�-#)3�

Z[Page 520



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$ %&'#()�#*+)#�,&�-&(!�$# %#()&!��.#(#�,

/0123456784924:2;<158632;50443269=2;<158638>72?1>4@A512B6>1>28>29472C1332=8>7A8D@71=265A4>>27012587EF2

/012365G24:2;<158638>72?1>4@A512B6>1>2892>4H12345638781>25692=8>6=I6976J12316A91A>238I89J2892704>126A16>F2;4H12

:6H8381>26A12@9:6H8386A2C870270126A16>2C01A12<A4I8>84928>2345671=F2K6A197>24A256A1A>2H6E2365G27012H169>2742

7A6I13216>83E2742704>126A16>F2

L3704@J02:A11204H12742>5044327A69><4A728>26I6836D312:4A2>@5025083=A19M2>19=89J262E4@9J25083=2742>504432892692

@9:6H8386A26A1628>262=8:N5@372=158>8492:4A2<6A197>O256A1A>F2L2D1771A2=8>7A8D@784924:2><158638>72A1>4@A512D6>1>2

65A4>>27012587E2C4@3=28H<A4I126551>>2:4A2<@<83>F2P72C4@3=2A1=@5127A6I13278H1>2:4A2H69E2<@<83>M26>2C13326>2

895A16>89J270129@HD1A24:2<3651>26I6836D31F2

Q �'#--&R!�$# %&R$"��%& ,'&R!�$# %#()&S�(�+�$�(&T (�(&UVUW

XY Page 521



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"# $%&'&(")  *+"$&*",-.'+�"/� 0.%-�"��&*'.'�&"��$0 +"123456

7899:;<=>9?@ABA?;

CDEFGHHIJKEELMNOPIQDRISTUIRVLJGDOIRJQWWOIDMFIRVLJGDOGRNIELRWKEJLIXDRLIVODJLRIHWEIOLDEMLERIUIYITTIZGNQIJW[VOL\I
OLDEMGM]IMLLFRIDMFÎKNGR[I_VLJNEK[ICWMFGNGWM̀

abcd:=e=B:<B=?8<=f9Agb9h=7?g>d:i=j:b9;A;k=l::mB=b;m=n8<ABg=o>:p<98g=7?;mA<A?;=>9?@ABA?;=p899:;<q
dh=b@bAdbcd:=A;=7b9mArr=

abcd:=e

sB<bcdABtg:;< 7899:;<=f9Agb9h=7?g>d:i=j:b9;A;k=l::mBu=
n8<ABg=o>:p<98g=7?;mA<A?;=pb>bpA<h=
vwvxuvwvv

yPIzZPMI_VLJGDOI_JQWWO {|}

~G�LEXDM�I_VLJGDOI_JQWWO {�

�LDFWZXDM�I_VLJGDOI_JQWWO S�

yQLI�WOOGLRI_VLJGDOI_JQWWO ��

�EPMI�DHWFI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

�ODMLFLPEMI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

�ODMGRQLMI�DJQI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

�DEOXWEWK]QI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

_VEGM]ZWWFI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

�R]WOI�ZOOICWJQI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� T�

�LMNELXDMLI�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLJGDOGRNI~LRWKEJLI�DRL� ��

ÔOLMRXDM�I�EG[DEPI_JQWWOI�_VLLJQIDMFI�DM]KD]LIJODRR�I �

a?<bd=>dbp:B �xe

}yQLINWNDOIJDVDJGNPIWHIyPIzZPMI_JQWWOIGRIT��IVODJLR�IWHIZQGJQIDVVEW\G[DNLOPI{|IRLE�LIVEG[DEPID]LIOLDEMLER
DMFINQLIEL[DGMGM]IT�UIVODJLRIRLE�LRIOLDEMLERID]LFITT�T�̀

�EWVWRDORIVEL�GWKROPID]ELLFINWIL\NLMFIDMFIELXKGOFI~G�LEXDM�I_VLJGDOI_JQWWOIDMFINWILRNDXOGRQIDI_VLJGDOGRNI
~LRWKEJLI�DRLIDNI�R]WOIzP[EDL]I�ZOOICWJQIZGOOIGMJELDRLINQLINWNDOINWIS�|IVODJLRIXPI���|̀

�LIDELIDORWIJWMRKONGM]IWMIRLVDEDNLIVEWVWRDORINWIGMJELDRLIVEW�GRGWMIHWEIOLDEMLERIZGNQIJW[VOL\IOLDEMGM]I

MLLFRIDMFIDKNGR[ID]LFITTIYIT�̀I�WKIJDMI�MFIFLNDGORIWHINQLRLIVEWVWRDORIDNI����������������� ¡

¢£¤¥�¦��§̈��̈�¥�§¥

©ªPage 522



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$!%&�'�(!

)*+,-./-012+345-617-8*9:9;1<--0=18901>?/:=31@4-./*?312+90:/:+91)*:38*A1)B8=-1
C-3890

DEFEGHIJHKLMJINGOPHQFROMSILGHITLSHJIOMIFUHIVWXYIZJJRFROML[I\HLGMRM]ÎHHJSIJLFLIQLNFEGHJILMJIMOGKL[RSHJI

L]LRMSFIFUHI_HGR̀HJIa\ZbcIVWXYISEG_HdeI

fLT[HIgISHFSIOEFINGOPHQFHJIJHKLMJIhOGIaGRKLGdIcOKN[HiI\HLGMRM]ÎHHJSILMJIZEFRSKIbNHQFGEKIcOMJRFROMINGO_RSROM

)*:38*A1458.-=1 jkjlmjj jkjjmjn jkjnmjo jkjomjp jkjpmjq

aGOPHQFHJIJHKLMJ rXW rXr rVV rst rgu

aGOPHQFHJIvHKLMJIwxXWyzI rtX rtu rug rYW tWV

fUHIFLT[HISUO{SIFULFIFUHINGOPHQFHJIJHKLMJIhOGIN[LQHSIRSIJEHIFOIRMQGHLSHIhGOKIrXWIwrtXI{UHMIFL|RM]IXWyI
SEGN[ESIRMFOILQQOEMFzIFOIrguIwtWVI{RFUISEGN[ESze

}B-1)*+~:=:+91�841:91)*:38*A1�+*12+345-617-8*9:9;1<--0=18901>?/:=31@4-./*?31
2+90:/:+91

fL|RM]ILQQOEMFIOhIQUR[JGHMIOEFIOhIQOEMFd�ILMJIRMIKLRMSFGHLKIL{LRFRM]ISNHQRL[RSFIN[LQHKHMF�IFUHIFGEHI

JHKLMJIhOGIN[LQHSIRSIHSFRKLFHJIFOITHIQRGQLIrXWIRMIVWVX�VV�IGRSRM]IFOIrguITdIVWVr�VteIIZ[[O{RM]IhOGILI

XWyISEGN[ESIFOISENNOGFI�HiRTR[RFd�IFUHIRJHL[INOSRFROMI{OE[JITHIrtXIN[LQHSIRMIVWVX�VV�ILMJItWVIN[LQHSITdI

VWVr�VteII

Z]GHHJINGONOSL[SIFOIHiNLMJI�R_HGTLM|IbNHQRL[IbQUOO[�ILMJIHiNLMJIFUHIbNHQRL[I�HSOEGQHI�LSHILFI�S]O[I

a{[[IcOQUI{OE[JIGHJEQHIFUHINGOPHQFHJIJH̀QRFIRMIVWVr�VtITdILIFOFL[IOhIrVIN[LQHSIwgVIN[LQHSILMJIXWIN[LQHSI

GHSNHQFR_H[dzeI�MISEKKLGd�IFUHGHIRSILMIHSFRKLFHJIJH̀QRFIOhIXg�IN[LQHSIRMIVWVX�VVeII�hIFUHGHI{HGHIMOIhEGFUHGI

]GO{FUITHdOMJIQEGGHMFIN[LMSIRMIGH[LFROMIFOI�R_HGTLM|ILMJI�S]O[Ia{[[IcOQU�ILIJH̀QRFIOhILNNGOiRKLFH[dIXsuI

N[LQHSI{R[[IGHKLRMIRMIVWVr�VteI

fUHIcOEMQR[IRSIL[SOIQOMSE[FRM]ISHNLGLFH[dIOMINGONOSL[SIFOIHSFLT[RSUILIbNHQRL[RSFI�HSOEGQHI�LSHILFI�OOG[LMJI

aGRKLGdIbQUOO[�I{URQUI{OE[JIGHJEQHIFUHINGOPHQFHJIJH̀QRFIRMIVWVr�VtITdILIhEGFUHGIVWIN[LQHSe

�� Page 523



��������
���	
����	����

Page 524



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%$&'()*$)+,-#.'&.)*/.),012.#)$3)%('-.&)'*)45)675,)8%.-+'()8-/$$()

9:;<=:>;?@;A;@BCD?AE;@DFGGE;EGDAHCI;AH;J?>DC>H;KGAI;?>;LACMANO;9FC;@DFGGE;AIP?H@;BNB?E@;QMGP;ADMG@@;LAMI?QQO;;

9FC;@DFGGE;?@;IC@?R>AHCI;HG;BMGS?IC;TUV;BEADC@;QGM;ECAM>CM@;ARCI;WXTU;=?HF;DGPBECY;ECAM>?>R;I?@AZ?E?H?C@;A>I;

[NH?@P;\BCDHMNP;LG>I?H?G>];?>DENI?>R;HFG@C;=?HF;PNEH?BEC;GM;BMGQGN>I;I?@AZ?E?H?C@;=FG;MĈN?MC;F?RF;ECSCE@;

GQ;@NBBGMHO;

9FC;@DFGGE;FA@;ZCC>;QCICMAHCI;=?HF;K?SCMZA>_;\BCD?AE;\DFGGE;A>I;̀GGIEA>I@;a?RF;\DFGGE];A@;HFC;̀C@HCM>;

bCAM>?>R;LAPBN@;cCICMAH?G>];@?>DC;dA>NAM:;efTVO

9G;PCCH;ICPA>I;QGM;BM?PAM:;A>I;@CDG>IAM:;@BCD?AE;@DFGGE;BEADC@;QGM;ECAM>CM@;=?HF;DGPBECY;ECAM>?>R;>CCI@;

A>I;[NH?@P;\BCDHMNP;LG>I?H?G>;?H;?@;BMGBG@CI;HGg

h ?>DMCA@C;HFC;IC@?R>AHCI;>NPZCM;GQ;9:;<=:>;\BCD?AE;\DFGGE;QMGP;TUV;HG;eif;QMGP;\CBHCPZCM;efeeO

jH;?@;BMGBG@CI;HFAH;HFC;@DFGGE;=GNEI;CYBA>I;Z:;AIABH?>R;HFC;QGMPCM;9MCEA?;kGNHF;LC>HMC;HG;BMGS?IC;

AII?H?G>AE;ADDGPPGIAH?G>;A>I;QAD?E?H?C@O

lmnopqrsntouvowxyzn{oy|o|mno{zmuuxo

lysxno}osnxu~owtu���n{o�n|y�x{ouvowxyzn{oy�y�xysxnoy|ol�o�~�po�wnz�yxo�zmuuxo

�yrnouvo{zmuux ��no�yp�no �yp�qy�norn��qr�zy|n�ut�ouvo
{zmuux

�qttnp|o�qsx�{mn�o
�ywyz�|�

9:;<=:>;\BCD?AE;\DFGGE; W;XTU �>RE?@FXPCI?NP;@BCD?AE;@DFGGE; TUV

9FC;DNMMC>H;DABAD?H:;GQ;9:;<=:>;?@;TUV;BEADC@;A>I;HFC;@DFGGE;FAI;TU�;BNB?E@;G>;MGEE;?>;�DHGZCM;efefO;

�� Page 525



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'()*+(,-%.#/(%0(01#(/.1**-(

2%3-#(4(3#-*5(/#0/(*60('#0%7-/(*)(+#.#&0(%&'(,+*8#.0#'(&6$3#+/(*&(+*--(

2%3-#(4(9(:#.#&0(%&'(,+*8#.0#'(&6$3#+/(*&(+*--(%0(2;(<5;&

=>?@@A BCDEFGHI@JIK@AAILMNO=PQ MCRSAIRG@TF>US@JHV
W
X
Y
Z
[Y
\

W
X
Y
\
[Y
]

W
X
Y
]
[Ŷ

W
X
Ŷ
[W
X

W
X
W
X
[W
Y

W
X
W
Y
[W
X
W
W

W
X
W
W
[W
X
W
_

W
X
W
_
[W
X
Ẁ

W
X
Ẁ
[W
X
W
a

W
X
W
a
[W
Z

bcIdecJ Y\W Y\a ŶX ŶZ Ŷa Ŷ] ẀX ẀX ẀX ẀX

VfgCUCGFIH>?@@AIRCRSAIhFDiJhIEiHFhI@JIR@RCAiUS@JIRG@TF>US@JHIiJhjklIONBIUGFJhIhiUimI>iRRFhIU@IH>?@@AI
>iRi>SUc

n*&'707*&(%&'(o670%37-70;(*)(o.1**-(p67-'7&q/

OAAIH>?@@AHISJIPiGhSrrIiGFIsStFJIiIP@JhSUS@JIGiUSJsIrG@DIOILRFGr@GDSJsIiHISJUFJhFhI[I@RFGiUSJsIFrrS>SFJUAcQIU@I
uILASrFIFvRSGFhI[IGSHwI@rISDDSJFJUIriSACGFQ

=>?@@AHISJIPiGhSrrIiGFIiAH@IsStFJIiI=CSUiESASUcIGiUSJsIrG@DIOILs@@hIxIri>SASUSFHIHCSUiEAFIr@GIUFi>?SJsmIAFiGJSJsIyI

eFAAEFSJsQIU@IuILEihIxIECSAhSJsIHFGS@CHAcISJ?SESUIU?FIHUirrzHIiESASUcIU@IhFAStFGIU?FI>CGGS>CACDQ{

2%3-#(|(n*&'707*&(%&'(/670%37-70;(q+%'7&q/(

<+%'7&q n*&'707*&( o670%37-70;(

O d@@hIiJhI@RFGiUSJsIFr}>SFJUAcId@@h{Igi>SASUSFHIHCSUiEAFIr@GIUFi>?SJsmIAFiGJSJsIiJhIeFAAEFSJsISJIH>?@@A

~ =iUSHri>U@GcIECUIeSU?IDSJ@GI
hFUFGS@GiUS@JI

=iUSHri>U@Gc{IIMFGr@GDSJsIiHISJUFJhFhIECUIh@FHIJ@UIFrrF>UStFAcI
HCRR@GUIU?FIhFAStFGcI@rIU?FI>CGGS>CACDISJIH@DFIiGFiH

P M@@GIeSU?IDiT@GIhFrF>UH M@@G{IbFi>?SJsIDFU?@hHISJ?SESUFh[ihtFGHFISDRi>UI@JIH>?@@AI
@GsiJSHiUS@JI

u �JhI@rINSrF�IASrFI?iHIFvRSGFhI@GI
GSHwI@rISDDSJFJUIriSACGF

�FGcIR@@G{II~CSAhSJsHIHFGS@CHAcISJ?SESUIU?FIHUirrzHIiESASUcIU@IhFAStFGI
U?FI>CGGS>CACDI

bcIdecJISHIGiUFhIPIr@GI>@JhSUS@JIiJhIOIr@GIHCSUiESASUc{

b?FIHSUFmIiJhIA@>iAISJrGiHUGC>UCGFI@rr�HSUFmIe@CAhIHCRR@GUIU?FIFvRiJHS@JI@rIHRF>SiAIH>?@@AIRG@tSHS@J{

����������������������

b?FIP@CJ>SAIe@GwHI>A@HFAcIeSU?IUe@I@GsiJSHiUS@JHISJI@GhFGIU@ID@JSU@GIU?FIRFGr@GDiJ>FI@rIH>?@@AHIiJhIU@I

HCRR@GUIH>?@@AISDRG@tFDFJU{

�HUcJISHIU?FI@r}>FI@rI�FGI�iTFHUczHIP?SFrI�JHRF>U@GI@rI�hC>iUS@JIiJhIbGiSJSJsISJI�iAFH{II

�HUcJISJHRF>UHI�CiASUcIiJhIHUiJhiGhHISJIH>?@@AHIiJhI@U?FGIFhC>iUS@JIRG@tShFGHISJI�iAFH{I

b?FIPFJUGiAI=@CU?IP@JH@GUSCDI�@SJUI�hC>iUS@JI=FGtS>FILP=P��=QISHIU?FIGFsS@JiAI=>?@@AI�DRG@tFDFJUI=FGtS>FI

r@GIU?FI}tFI>@CJ>SAHI@rI~GShsFJhmIPiGhSrrmI�FGU?cGIbch}AmIK?@JhhiIPcJ@JIbirrIiJhIU?FI�iAFI@rIdAiD@GsiJ{II

b?FIP@CJ>SAIe@GwHIeSU?IU?FIP@JH@GUSCDIU@IHCRR@GUIiJhI>?iAAFJsFIiAAIH>?@@AHISJIPiGhSrr{

N@>iAIOCU?@GSUSFHmIHC>?IiHIPiGhSrrIP@CJ>SAmIDCHUI>@JHShFGI�HUcJIGFR@GUHIiJhI@U?FGIFtShFJ>FIiE@CUIH>?@@AI

RFGr@GDiJ>FIiJhIFrrF>UStFJFHHIe?FJIHCssFHUSJsI>?iJsFHIU@IH>?@@AH{N@>iAIOCU?@GSUSFHIDCHUIiAH@I>@JHShFGI
��Page 526



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'($&)%'*+,-"%./%"#$%+0.+.1$2%-#,34$1%.35

6 1",32,0217%8$&&9$'34%,32%,""'":2$1%".%&$,03'34

6 "$,-#'34%,32%&$,03'34%$;+$0'$3-$1

6 -,0$%1:++.0"%,32%4:'2,3-$

6 &$,2$01#'+%,32%*,3,4$*$3"%<&$,2$01#'+7%'*+0.='34%>:,&'")7%+,0"3$01#'+%8.0('34%,32%0$1.:0-$

*,3,4$*$3"?

@ABCD

E-#..&1%,0$%'31+$-"$2%,1%+,0"%./%,%3,"'.3,&%+0.40,**$%./%1-#..&%'31+$-"'.3F%G#$%+:0+.1$%./%,3%'31+$-"'.3%

'1%".%'2$3"'/)%4..2%/$,":0$1%,32%1#.0"-.*'341%'3%1-#..&1%'3%.02$0%"#,"%"#$)%*,)%'*+0.=$%"#$%>:,&'")%./%

$2:-,"'.3%.//$0$2%,32%0,'1$%1",32,021%,-#'$=$2%9)%"#$'0%+:+'&1%<H1")3?F

G#$%0$&$=,3"%H1")3%I31+$-"'.3%0$+.0"1%+0.='2$%40,2$1%,4,'31"%J$)%K:$1"'.31%,32%+0.='2$%1-#..&1%8'"#%

0$-.**$32,"'.31%/.0%'*+0.=$*$3"F

L.:%-,3%M32%'31+$-"'.3%0$+.0"1%.3%"#$%H1")3%8$91'"$%NNNOPQRSTOUVWOXY%

Z[\A]̂_̀a[bDc[DB̂deB[f̀bgAeBg̀D̂̀ ĥAd]̀ \̀A

I3%ijkl7%"#$%m$&1#%n.=$03*$3"%'3"0.2:-$2%,%3$8%-,"$4.0'1,"'.3%1)1"$*F

I"%&..(1%,"%$,-#%1-#..&o1%1",32,021%,32%#.8%*:-#%,%1-#..&%'1%,9&$%".%'*+0.=$F%G#'1%'2$3"'M$1%"#$%&$=$&%./%
1:++.0"%1-#..&1%0$>:'0$F%%p04,3'1,"'.31%1:-#%,1%"#$%q$3"0,&%E.:"#%q.31.0"':*%<qEqrHE?%,32%"#$%1-#..&%

'*+0.=$*$3"%1$0='-$%"#$3%8.0(%8'"#%1-#..&1o%&$,2$01%".%'2$3"'/)7%+0.='2$%,32s.0%90.($0%,3)%1:++.0"%

0$>:'0$2%/.0%/:0"#$0%'*+0.=$*$3"F

t][̂deB[f̀bgAeBg̀D̂ACAB[cĝÂu[Adbgv[ûgD̂tev\[̂ŵv[\̀xy

zeB[f̀bĈ̀ ĥ
A{||̀bB̂

Z]eB̂B][̂deB[f̀bĈc[eDA

n0$$3% }%#'4#&)%$//$-"'=$%1-#..&%8#'-#%'1%8$&&%0:37%#,1%,%1"0.34%&$,2$01#'+%,32%'1%
-&$,0%,9.:"%'"1%+0'.0'"'$1%/.0%'*+0.=$*$3"

L$&&.8 }3%$//$-"'=$%1-#..&%8#'-#%'1%,&0$,2)%2.'34%8$&&%,32%(3.81%"#$%,0$,1%'"%
3$$21%".%'*+0.=$F

}*9$0 }%1-#..&%'3%3$$2%./%'*+0.=$*$3"%8#'-#%3$$21%#$&+%".%'2$3"'/)%"#$%1"$+1%
".%'*+0.=$%.0%".%*,($%-#,34$%#,++$3%*.0$%>:'-(&)F%%

~$2 }%1-#..&%'3%3$$2%./%40$,"$1"%'*+0.=$*$3"%,32%8'&&%0$-$'=$%'**$2',"$7%
'3"$31'=$%1:++.0"F%%

}%1-#..&o1%-.&.:0�-.2$2%-,"$4.0)%'1%2$-'2$2%9)%#.8%'"%'1%0,"$2%/.0%1",32,021%<k�l?%,32%/.0%#.8%,9&$%'"%'1%".%

'*+0.=$%<}��?F%

k%'1%"#$%9$1"%0,"'34%/.0%1",32,021%,32%}%'1%"#$%9$1"%/.0%'*+0.=$*$3"F%

�+2,"$2%-,"$4.0'1,"'.31%/.0%$,-#%1-#..&%,0$%+:9&'1#$2%$=$0)%)$,0%'3%r,3:,0)F%

�.0$%'3/.0*,"'.3%,9.:"%"#$%-,"$4.0'1,"'.3%1-#$*$%-,3%9$%/.:32%'3%"#$%m$&1#%n.=$03*$3"o1%+,0$3"1o%

4:'2$%".%"#$%�,"'.3,&%E-#..&%q,"$4.0'1,"'.3%E)1"$*%#$0$5%

#""+5ss4.=F8,&$1s2.-1s2-$&&1s+:9&'-,"'.31sk�jkk��+,0$3"1�4:'2$�$3F+2/
�� Page 527



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&#'$()*+,-.$(+/00.

123452635783978:3;68<=>:=?3@23A8:263;63B723CDECF

G:3:H;83:;I=3:H=38>HJJ9K83<=LMJLI76>=376?3<LJ8<=>:83MJL3;I<LJN=I=6:35=L=3OP?Q=?3783=R>=99=6:F

S63:H=3IJ8:3L=>=6:3T=98H34JN=L6I=6:3U>HJJ93V7:=QJL;87:;J637:3W76P7L23CDCDX3123452635783>7:=QJL;8=?37:3

4L==63YG3H;QH923=MM=>:;N=38>HJJ935H;>H3;835=993LP6X3H783738:LJ6Q39=7?=L8H;<376?3;83>9=7L37@JP:3;:83<L;JL;:;=83MJL3

;I<LJN=I=6:ZF33

G63788=88I=6:3<LJN;?=?3@23:H=3V=6:L793UJP:H3VJ68JL:;PI3;63GP:PI63CDCE3Q7N=3:H=3MJ99J5;6Q3=N79P7:;J6[

\31H=3L7:=83JM3<LJQL=8837>H;=N=?37L=3JM:=63;63=R>=883JM367:;J6793=R<=>:7:;J68F3]LJQL=8837>LJ88379937L=783;63

:H=38>HJJ93;83=R>=99=6:F

\31H=3>PLL;>P9PI3;83H;QH923;66JN7:;N=X3;68<;L7:;J679376?37<<LJ<L;7:=3:J3=7>H3;6?;N;?P793<P<;9F31H=3=6Q7Q;6Q3

I=:HJ?J9JQ23P8=?3;83H;QH923MJ>P8=?3J63=7>H3<P<;9K83;6:=L=8:8X35H;>H3;63:PL63H783L=8P9:=?3;63N=L23<J8;:;N=3

9=7L6;6Q37::;:P?=8F

\31L7>̂;6QX3IJ6;:JL;6QX3788=88I=6:376?3767928=3828:=I837L=37993N=L23LJ@P8:376?3P:;9;8=?3@2379938:7MM3

8P>>=88MP992F

_̀ abà cdebfghiehjefbhgbgklbfmk̀ d̀bnlbhoolmglebnpbgklbmkhiqlfrb

(s-'t-utv

1H=3VJP6>;93H783I7?=373>9=7L3>JII;:I=6:3:J3>J6:;6P;6Q3:H=3;6N=8:I=6:3;6X376?3;I<LJN=I=6:3JMX3V7L?;MM3
8>HJJ983:J3I7̂=38PL=3=N=L23>H;9?3H783:H=3@=8:3<J88;@9=38:7L:3;639;M=3Ywwwxyz{|}~~y���}�����xy�x��ZF3

1H=3VJP6>;935JL̂83>9J8=9235;:H3:H=3QJN=L6;6Q3@J?;=83JM38>HJJ983:J3I7̂=38PL=3:H7:38:76?7L?83;638>HJJ9837L=3

H;QHX3:H7:3:=7>H;6Q3;83QJJ?X376?3:H7:39=7?=L8H;<376?3QJN=L676>=3;838:LJ6QF3

U:76?7L?837:3123452637L=3QJJ?F3S6>L=78;6Q3:H=36PI@=L3JM3<97>=835JP9?3<LJN;?=37<<LJ<L;7:=3H;QH3�P79;:23

8>HJJ93<97>=83MJL32JP6Q3<=J<9=35;:H3>JI<9=R39=7L6;6Q36==?8376?3GP:;8I3U<=>:LPI3VJ6?;:;J6F3S:3;836J:3

=R<=>:=?3:H7:3:H=3<LJ<J87935;993;I<7>:3J638:76?7L?837:3:H=38>HJJ9F3

1H=3<LJ<J8793;836J:3=R<=>:=?3:J3H7N=376236=Q7:;N=3;I<7>:3J63:H=3�P79;:23JM38:76?7L?83JM3=?P>7:;J637:3

:H=38>HJJ9F

"*-+/,'�$-'t$.*-u','�$*�)*u,*'+*v$

1H=3<LJ<J8793;836J:3=R<=>:=?3:J3H7N=376236=Q7:;N=3;I<7>:3J63:=7>H;6Q376?39=7L6;6Q3=R<=L;=6>=8F

�-u*$v�))0us$-'t$��,t-'+*$

G9938>HJJ983H7N=37637<<LJ<L;7:=3L76Q=3JM3<J9;>;=8376?3<LJN;8;J63;63<97>=3:J3<LJIJ:=3<P<;98K3H=79:H376?3

5=99@=;6QF

1H=38>HJJ93;83>JII;::=?3:J3<LJN;?;6Q3763=6N;LJ6I=6:3;635H;>H39=7L6;6Q3;83N79P=?376?3<P<;9837>H;=N=3:H=;L3

<J:=6:;793;6373H7<<2X387M=3=6N;LJ6I=6:3;635H;>H3:H=238HJ53L=8<=>:376?3:J9=L76>=3MJL3=7>H3J:H=LF

1H=3VJP6>;935JP9?35JL̂35;:H3:H=39=7?=L8H;<3JM3:H=38>HJJ93:J3I7̂=38PL=3=N=L2J6=3P6?=L8:76?83:H=;L3

L=8<J68;@;9;:23MJL3H=9<;6Q3:J3;I<LJN=376?38P8:7;63>7L=38P<<JL:376?3QP;?76>=F
��Page 528



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%#&'()*+$,%+-$,$.#/#,0

123456789:;4<67;=4968>:8734>64<6?@4<:>24>234;3A=3?B2:C46D4>234B9266;4>64EA@34B7?343F3?G683478=3?B>A8=B4

>23:?4?3BC68B:H:;:>G4D6?423;C:8I4>64:EC?6F34A8=4B7B>A:842:I24C3?D6?EA893J44K>4<67;=4B7CC6?>4>234B9266;4>64

2AF34A4I66=4?3;A>:68B2:C4<:>24CA?38>B4A8=46>23?4CA?>83?B4B64>2A>4C7C:;B4?393:F34A42:I2LM7A;:>G43=79A>:68J

1234C?6C6B3=492A8I3B4<67;=4H34C;A883=49A?3D7;;G4B64>2A>4>234B9266;NB4;3A=3?B2:C4A8=4I6F3?8A8934:B486>4

=:B?7C>3=O4<2:924967;=42AF34A483IA>:F34:ECA9>46843=79A>:68A;4B>A8=A?=BJ

PQQRSRTUVWXYZ[[T\SX]T\X[Z[RWYX

1AH;34̂4H3;6<4B26<4>234C3?938>AI3B46D_4

` a7C:;B4<:>24b==:>:68A;4c3A?8:8I4d33=B

` a7C:;B4?393:F:8I4e?334f9266;4g3A;B

` a7C:;B4<:>24h8I;:B24AB4A84b==:>:68A;4cA8I7AI3

` g:86?:>G4h>28:94C7C:;B

A>41G4i<G84fC39:A;4f9266;4

jk(llm+ n+lo+pq*)m'+
l,+jk(llm+
rk0)l,+

n+lo+pq*)m'+
l,+jk(llm+
rk0)l,+pmq'+

n+lo+pq*)m'+
s)0(+$+
'0$0#/#,0+
lo+r"t+

n+lo+u&##+
jk(llm+-#$m'+
pq*)m'v+w+x#$&+
$y#&$.#+

n+lo+pq*)m'+
s)0(+z,.m)'(+$'+
$,+r%%)0)l,$m+
"$,.q$.#+

n+lo+
-),l&)0x+
z0(,)k+
pq*)m'+

1G4i<G8 d{b d{b |}}~ ��~ d{b ��~

�/*$k0+l,+*q*)m'+s)0(+r%%)0)l,$m+"#$&,),.+t##%'+�r"t�

123497??38>43�C3?>:B34A>4>234B9266;4<67;=4H34EA:8>A:83=J412343�CA8B:6846D4C?6F:B:684<67;=4C?6F:=34

6CC6?>78:>:3B4D6?4B>ADD4=3F3;6CE38>4A8=4D6?4382A89:8I4C7C:;BN4;3A?8:8IJ

123456789:;4A9@86<;3=I3B4>2A>4A492A8I34:8438F:?68E38>49A84H3478B3>>;:8I4A8=47CB3>>:8I4D6?492:;=?384<:>24

A==:>:68A;4;3A?8:8I4833=BJ44a7C:;B4<67;=4H34B7CC6?>3=4>6438AH;34>23E4>64A=AC>4>64>23492A8I3B4C?6C6B3=J

�ls+slqm%+'q**l&0+ol&+*q*)m'+s)0(+z,.m)'(+$'+$,+r%%)0)l,$m+"$,.q$.#+�#+$oo#k0#%�

a7C:;B4>2A>4?393:F34B7CC6?>4H39A7B34>23G42AF34h8I;:B24AB4A84A==:>:68A;4;A8I7AI349A84H34B7CC6?>3=4:84A8G4

B9266;4:845A?=:DDJ

123?34:B4864:8D6?EA>:684AFA:;AH;34>2A>4B7II3B>B4>2A>4>234C?6C6BA;4<67;=42AF34A483IA>:F343DD39>468426<4

92:;=?384<:>24h8I;:B24AB4A84A==:>:68A;4;A8I7AI34A?34B7CC6?>3=J441234B9266;4<67;=4968>:8734>64C?6F:=34

B7CC6?>4>2A>4:B4ACC?6C?:A>34>64>234:8=:F:=7A;4833=B46D43A924C7C:;J

�ls+slqm%+*q*)m'+&#k#)y),.+u&##+jk(llm+-#$m'+�#+$oo#k0#%�

f6E346D4>234D78=:8I4>2A>4A4B9266;4?393:F3B4:B4HAB3=4684>23487EH3?46D4C7C:;B4:84>234B9266;4<264?393:F34e?334

f9266;4g3A;BJ44b;;4B9266;B4:845A?=:DD4<67;=4?393:F34D78=:8I4D6?4>23B34C7C:;BJ

123?34:B4864:8D6?EA>:684AFA:;AH;34>2A>4B7II3B>B4>2A>4>234C?6C6BA;4<67;=42AF34A483IA>:F343DD39>4684C7C:;B4A>4

>234B9266;4<264?393:F34e?334f9266;4g3A;BJ�� Page 529



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%$#&'(%)*+#,*-.%/-0+*1%2&3*'4%56%78861-6(9

:;<=><<?@=AB=C>?CDC?EFG=HEHCG@=FI<=F@@<@@<?=F>?=HIADC?<?=BAI=F@=FHHIAHICFJ<K==:;<I<=C@=FG@A=>A=C>BAILFJCA>=

FDFCGFMG<=J;FJ=@ENN<@J@=J;FJ=J;<=HIAHA@FG=OAEG?=;FD<=F=><NFJCD<=<BB<PJ=A>=HIADC@CA>=BAI=F>Q=<J;>CP=NIAEHK

RSTUVTWXVUSXVYXZX[U\V]̂VUSXV_W]_]\X̀VaSTZbXc

d=:;<=HIAHA@FG=OAEG?=C>PI<F@<=J;<=>ELM<I=AB=@H<PCFG=@P;AAG=HGFP<@=BAI=HICLFIQ=F>?=@<PA>?FIQ=FN<?=G<FI><I@=

OCJ;=PALHG<e=G<FI>C>N=><<?@=F>?=fEJC@L=gH<PJIEL=hA>?CJCA>=F>?=PA>JICMEJ<=JAOFI?@=L<<JC>N=HIAi<PJ<?=

?<LF>?K

d=:;<=HIAHA@FG=OAEG?=<>@EI<=J;FJ=@AL<=HEHCG@=GCDC>N=C>=hFI?CBB=OAEG?=JIFD<G=@;AIJ<I=?C@JF>P<@=JA=FPP<@@=@H<PCFGC@J=

HIADC@CA>=J;F>=JA=FGJ<I>FJCD<=HIADC@CA>=O;CP;=LFQ=AJ;<IOC@<=M<=HIADC?<?=AEJ@C?<=AB=hFI?CBBK

j]UXZUkTlV̀k\T̀mTZUTbX\V]̂VUSXV_W]_]\X̀VaSTZbX

d=gAL<=HEHCG@=OCJ;=F??CJCA>FG=G<FI>C>N=><<?@=PF>=n>?=P;F>N<=?CBnPEGJK==:;<Q=LFQ=n>?=P;F>N<@=JA=MECG?C>N@=

E>@<JJGC>NK==o<=p>AO=J;<Q=OCGG=><<?=PFI<BEGGQ=HGF>><?=@EHHAIJ=JA=F?FHJ=JA=J;<=P;F>N<@K==qAO<D<Ir=J;<I<=

OAEG?=M<=@EBnPC<>J=JCL<=JA=HGF>=F>?=@EHHAIJ=@EP;=F=P;F>N<K

d=:;<I<=C@=HAJ<>JCFG=BAI=F=@LFGG=C>PI<F@<=C>=JIFBnP=FIAE>?=J;<=@P;AAG=@CJ<=FJ=J;<=@JFIJ=F>?=<>?=AB=J;<=?FQK=

:;<=hAE>PCG=OAEG?=OAIp=OCJ;=J;<=sAD<I>C>N=tA?Q=AB=J;<=@P;AAG=JA=?<D<GAH=F=:IFD<G=uGF>=JA=LC>CLC@<=F>Q=

HAJ<>JCFG=?C@IEHJCA>K

vlUXWZTUkmXV]_Uk]Z\Va]Z\k̀XWX̀V

:;<=hAE>PCG=C@=@<<pC>N=JA=HIADC?<=F=M<JJ<I=?C@JICMEJCA>=AB=@H<PCFGC@J=HIADC@CA>=FPIA@@=J;<=PCJQK=:;C@=OAEG?=CLHIAD<=

FPP<@@=BAI=HEHCG@r=F>?=I<?EP<=JIFD<G=JCL<@=BAI=LF>Q=HEHCG@r=F@=O<GG=F@=C>PI<F@C>N=J;<=>ELM<I=AB=HGFP<@=FDFCGFMG<K==

f=>ELM<I=AB=AJ;<I=<eHF>@CA>@r=F>?=><O=HIADC@CA>=FJ=AJ;<I=@P;AAG@=PCJQwOC?<=FI<=M<C>N=HIAHA@<?K

fGJ<I>FJCD<=AHJCA>@=JA=J;<=<eHF>@CA>=AB=J;<=:Q=sOQ>=gH<PCFG=gP;AAG=PAEG?=C>PGE?<x

d=J;<=<eHF>@CA>=AB=@CLCGFI=HIADC@CA>=A>=AJ;<I=@H<PCFG=@P;AAG=@CJ<@=

d=J;<=<@JFMGC@;L<>J=AB=><O=@H<PCFGC@J=HIADC@CA>=A>=AJ;<I=@P;AAG=@CJ<@=F>?yAI=F=?CBB<I<>J=>ELM<I=AB=HGFP<@=C>=

J;<=PEII<>J=AI=HIAHA@<?=MF@<@K=

qAO<D<Ir=:Q=sOQ>=@P;AAG=HIADC?<@=F=LAI<=;CN;GQ=@H<PCFGC@<?=G<FI>C>N=<>DCIA>L<>J=J;F>=AJ;<I=@P;AAG@=F>?=
I<@AEIP<=MF@<@=C>=hFI?CBBK=:;<=HIAHA@<?=C>PI<F@<=C>=HGFP<@=OAEG?=>AJ=M<=@EBnPC<>J=BAI=F=><O=@P;AAGK=:;<=

@JF>?FI?@=FJ=:Q=sOQ>=gH<PCFG=gP;AAG=FI<=NAA?K=z>PI<F@C>N=J;<=>ELM<I=AB=HGFP<@=FJ=J;<=@P;AAG=HIADC?<@=F>=

C>PI<F@<?=>ELM<I=AB=FHHIAHICFJ<=;CN;={EFGCJQ=@P;AAG=HGFP<@K=:;<=<eHF>@CA>=AB=:Q=sOQ>=gH<PCFG=gP;AAG=C@=

J;<I<BAI<=PA>@C?<I<?=JA=M<=F=HI<B<II<?=AHJCA>K

|}~TZV�X\]}WaX\V�TUUXW\V

:;<=HIAHA@<?=C>PI<F@<=C>=HEHCG=>ELM<I@=BAI=J;<=@P;AAG=OCGG=I<{ECI<=J;<=sAD<I>C>N=tA?Q=JA=HGF>=BAI=J;<=OAIpBAIP<=
I<{ECI<L<>J@=C>=I<F?C><@@=BAI=J;<=<eHF>@CA>K=:;<=sAD<I>C>N=tA?Q=OCGG=M<=<>PAEIFN<?=JA=E>?<IJFp<=J;C@=OAIp=C>=GC><=
OCJ;=J;<=gP;AAG=�INF>C@FJCA>=uGF>>C>N=q�=�IFL<OAIpK=q�=u<AHG<=g<IDCP<@=OCGG=HIADC?<=F?DCP<r=@EHHAIJ=F>?=NEC?w
F>P<=JA=J;<=sAD<I>C>N=tA?Q=BAI=J;<=OAIpBAIP<=HGF>>C>N=F>?=PA>@<{E<>JCFG=I<PIECJL<>J=HIAP<@@<@K=

o;<I<=J;<=sAD<I>C>N=tA?Q=;FD<=F?AHJ<?=J;<=hAE>PCG�@=gP;AAG=�<?<HGAQL<>J=F>?=�<?E>?F>PQ=uAGCPQr=F>Q=><O=
DFPF>PC<@=FIC@C>N=F@=F=PA>@<{E<>P<=AB=F>=C>PI<F@<=C>=J;<=>ELM<I@=A>=IAGG=OCGG=HIADC?<=AHHAIJE>CJC<@=BAI=@P;AAGw
MF@<?=@JFBB=A>=J;<=@P;AAG=I<?<HGAQL<>J=I<NC@J<IK==

��Page 530



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 
�
�!
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'(#)*+$)),#&*

-./01234567089976/:0;./0;<2=>67/0:;8;3;2?@0A3876B@64C0<87D64C0E6:;845/05?6;/?680B2?093967:0;20A3876B@0B2?0B?//0

.2>/0;20:5.2270;?84:92?;0;20:9/56870:5.227:084E0F9/56876:;0G/:23?5/0H8:/:I00JEE6;624870K/8?464C0L//E:0

7/8?4/?:0<.2076M/0<6;.640;<20>67/:02B0;./0:5.2270>8@087:20N/09?2M6E/E0<6;.0B?//0;?84:92?;0E3/0;20;./6?0

64E6M6E38707/8?464C04//E:084E0:2568706::3/:I00J770-@0O<@407/8?4/?:0A3876B@0B2?0B?//0.2>/0;20:5.2270;?84:92?;P0

87;.23C.0:2>/098?/4;:05.22:/0;20>8D/0;./6?02<408??84C/>/4;:0E3/0;20;./6?05.67EQ:0:9/568704//E:I00

J0:5.22709?292:870;20/:;8N76:.08EE6;6248707/8?464C04//E:0B85676;6/:0>8@0?/A36?/080-?84:92?;0F;8;/>/4;0<.65.0

<67706E/4;6B@0>/8:3?/:0;20N/064573E/E08:098?;02B0;./08997658;6240;20>8R6>6:/0;?8M/70N@0:3:;8648N7/0>2E/:I000

F;8BB084E0:5.2270M6:6;2?:0<237E0N/4/S;0B?2>084@0?/A36?/E06>9?2M/>/4;:0640B85676;6/:0B2?085;6M/0;?8M/70;20

:5.22702?093N7650;?84:92?;0B85676;6/:I00

-./01234567Q:053??/4;012?92?8;/0T784064573E/:08052>>6;>/4;0;20/M/?@0:5.227064018?E6BB0E/M/72964C0840

J5;6M/0-?8M/70T784I0F35.08097840<67706E/4;6B@085;624:0N@0;./0:5.2270;20:3992?;084E0/4523?8C/085;6M/0;?8M/70

;20:5.227084E087:2084@06>9?2M/>/4;:0;2024=:6;/084E02BB=:6;/064B?8:;?35;3?/0?/A36?/E0;20B85676;8;/085;6M/0

U23?4/@:I00

V45?/8:64C0;?8M/70;20:5.2270N@085;6M/0>2E/:0W<87D64CP05@5764C084E0:522;64CX0N@0/4:3?64C0:8B/0B85676;6/:08?/0

9?2M6E/E0<6770.8M/08092:6;6M/06>985;0240./87;.084E0</77N/64CI00

Y6;.0;./0/R9/5;/E0645?/8:/E0E/>84E0B2?0K/8?4/?0-?84:92?;0;./0:6;/0<237E0N/0?/M6/</E0;20/4:3?/0:36;8N7/0

84E0:3BS56/4;0B85676;6/:0B2?0E?29=2BB084E0965D=3908?/09?2M6E/E0<6;.640;./0:6;/0;208552>>2E8;/0;./0

899?29?68;/043>N/?:02B0M/.657/:084E06>9?2M/>/4;:0>8E/06B04/5/::8?@I00Z2E6S58;624:0>8@0N/0?/A36?/E0

;20;./08??84C/>/4;02B0:985/:0<6;.08EE6;62487076C.;64C0<6;.640;./0E?29=2BB084E0965D=3908?/80;20N/;;/?0

8552>>2E8;/0645?/8:/:064043>N/?:02B0M/.657/:I00

[$\,*](̂#*&$]*

J;0;./0/4E02B0;./0N22D7/;06:080A3/:;624486?/I0-.6:06:0@23?05.845/0;207/;0;./012345670D42<0<.8;0@230;.64D0

8N23;0;./09?292:87I0_2305840C6M/080?/:924:/0;2087702B0;./0A3/:;624:P02?0U3:;0?/:924E0;20:2>/02B0;./>P08:0

@2309?/B/?I0

J7;/?48;6M/7@P0@2305840:/4E03:0@23?0M6/<:064024/02B0;./0B2772<64C0<8@:̀

12>97/;64C0;./024764/0?/:924:/0B2?>08;0aaabcdefghhbijkblmnopqrcsjjtuejujrdtr

v>8670@23?0M6/<:0;20rcsjjtewrujxrwrycdefghhbijkblm

Y?6;/0;203:08;0;./0B2772<64C08EE?/::̀0F5.2270z?C846:8;6240T784464CP0G22>0{|}P01234;@0~877P0J;784;650Y.8?BP0

18?E6BBP01�}|0{�YI0

-./012345670<6770524:6E/?0/M/?@24/Q:0M6/<:0N/B2?/0E/56E64C0<./;./?0;20C208./8E0<6;.0;./0

9?292:/E05.84C/:I

��������������������������������������������������������������������

�� Page 531



����������	
�����	
�����

Page 532



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%$&'()*$)+,-#.'&.)*/.),012.#)$3)%('-.&)'*)4.'5$62',7)
8%.-+'()8-/$$()

9:;<=>?;@ABCDB;BDE:FC;GBDFH==GBG=F;I:<BC@BJG;@<;KKBL=MIHNBBOH:BDFH==GB;<PCIDBEQECGDBKM=PB;FM=DDBIH:B

;QIH=MCIRNBB

OH:BDFH==GBCDB<:DCS@;I:<BK=MBQEBI=BTUBEG;F:DBK=MBEQECGDB;S:<BTBVWWB>CIHBDE::FHB;@<BG;@SQ;S:B;@<B

F=PPQ@CF;IC=@B@::<DB;@<BF=PEG:XBG:;M@C@SB@::<DNBB

O=BP::IBC@FM:;DC@SB<:P;@<BK=MBDE:FC;GBDFH==GBEG;F:DBK=MBG:;M@:MDB>CIHBF=PEG:XB@::<DBCIBCDBEM=E=D:<BI=Y

Z C@FM:;D:BIH:B<:DCS@;I:<B@QP?:MB=KB9:;<=>?;@AB[E:FC;GB[FH==GBKM=PBTUBI=B\]BKM=PB[:EI:P?:MB̂Û N̂

_IBCDBEM=E=D:<BIH;IB>=MADB>=QG<B?:BQ@<:MI;A:@BI=BEM=̀C<:B@:>B;FF=PP=<;IC=@B;@<BK;FCGCIC:DB;@<B;<;EI;IC=@B

=KBIH:B:XCDIC@SB;FF=PP=<;IC=@aBI=BK;FCGCI;I:BIH:BSM=>IHB=KBIH:BDFH==GNB

bcdefghidjeklemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

boindesteidnkuemjkvwxdqexdrownqeklemnopdqeovownoindeoreydoxkuiofze{mdpwone{pckkne

boindest

|ohdekleqpckkn }~de�of~de �of~go~dehdxwgh�pord~kj�ekle
qpckkn

�gjjdfre�ginwqcdxe
�omopwr�

9:;<=>?;@AB[E:FC;GB[FH==GB TBVWW �@SGCDHVP:<CQPBDE:FC;GBDFH==GB TU

OH:BFQMM:@IBF;E;FCIRB=KB9:;<=>?;@AB[E:FC;GB[FH==GBCDBTUBEG;F:DB;@<BIH:BDFH==GBH;<BTUBEQECGDB=@BM=GGBC@B�EMCGB̂ÛWNB

�dhofxelkjemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

O;?G:BWWB?:G=>BD:IDB=QIB<:I;CGDB=KBM:F:@IB;@<BEM=�:FI:<B@QP?:MDB=@BM=GGB

boindess�e�dpdfreofxemjk�dprdxefghidjqekfejknneoreydoxkuiofze{mdpwone{pckkn

[FH==G LQP?:MDB=@B�=GGB��J�[�� �QECGBEM=�:FIC=@D�B

ÛW��W� ÛW��W] ÛW]�W\ ÛW\�̂U Û̂U�̂W Û̂W�̂ B̂ Û̂ �̂̂�B Û̂��̂TB Û̂T�̂�B Û̂��̂�B

9:;<=>?;@AB
[E:FC;GB[FH==G

W� WT T̂ �� TU �U \] \] \] \]

���QIQM:BDFH==GBEQECGB<:P;@<B?;D:<B=@BE=EQG;IC=@BEM=�:FIC=@DB;@<���B�JLBIM:@<B<;I;BF;EE:<BI=BDFH==GBF;E;FCIRN

�� Page 533



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'&#$()$%(*+&'),&-&'.(#/(*01##-(2+&-%&$34

566789:;;687<=7>?@A<BB7?@C7D<EC=7?7>;=A<F<;=7@?F<=D7B@;G757HIC@B;@G<=D7?87<=FC=ACA7J7;IC@?F<=D7CBK9<C=F6LM7F;7

N7H6<BC7COI<@CA7J7@<8P7;B7<GG<=C=F7B?<6Q@CM

R9:;;687<=7>?@A<BB7?@C7?68;7D<EC=7?7RQ<F?S<6<FL7@?F<=D7B@;G757HD;;A7T7B?9<6<F<C878Q<F?S6C7B;@7FC?9:<=DU76C?@=<=D7

V7WC66SC<=DM7F;7N7HS?A7T7SQ<6A<=D78C@<;Q86L7<=:<S<F7F:C78F?BBX87?S<6<FL7F;7AC6<EC@7F:C79Q@@<9Q6QGMY

Z),-[(\]("#$%&'&#$()$%(4+&'),&-&'.(3̂)%&$34(

_̂)%&$3 "#$%&'&#$( *+&'),&-&'.(

5 ;̀;A7?=A7;IC@?F<=D7CBK9<C=F6L7̀ ;;AY7a?9<6<F<C878Q<F?S6C7B;@7FC?9:<=DU76C?@=<=D7?=A7WC66SC<=D7
<=789:;;6

b R?F<8B?9F;@L7SQF7W<F:7G<=;@7
ACFC@<;@?F<;=7

R?F<8B?9F;@LY77cC@B;@G<=D7?87<=FC=ACA7SQF7A;C87=;F7CBBC9F<EC6L7
8QII;@F7F:C7AC6<EC@L7;B7F:C79Q@@<9Q6QG7<=78;GC7?@C?8

> c;;@7W<F:7G?d;@7ACBC9F8 c;;@Y7eC?9:<=D7GCF:;A87<=:<S<FCAJ?AEC@8C7<GI?9F7;=789:;;67
;@D?=<8?F<;=7

N f=A7;B7g<BCh76<BC7:?87COI<@CA7;@7
@<8P7;B7<GG<=C=F7B?<6Q@C

iC@L7I;;@Y77bQ<6A<=D878C@<;Q86L7<=:<S<F7F:C78F?BBX87?S<6<FL7F;7
AC6<EC@7F:C79Q@@<9Q6QG7

jC?A;WS?=P7RIC9<?67R9:;;67<87@?FCA7b7B;@79;=A<F<;=7?=A7b7B;@78Q<F?S<6<FLY

e:C78<FCU7?=A76;9?67<=B@?8F@Q9FQ@C7;BBk8<FCU7W;Q6A78QII;@F7F:C7COI?=8<;=7;B78IC9<?6789:;;67I@;E<8<;=Y

lmnopqrsntusvqntunwuxs

e:C7>;Q=9<67W;@P8796;8C6L7W<F:7FW;7;@D?=<8?F<;=87<=7;@AC@7F;7G;=<F;@7F:C7IC@B;@G?=9C7;B789:;;687?=A7F;7

8QII;@F789:;;67<GI@;ECGC=FY

f8FL=7<87F:C7;BK9C7;B7yC@7j?dC8FLX87>:<CB7z=8IC9F;@7;B7fAQ9?F<;=7?=A7e@?<=<=D7<=7{?6C8Y77

f8FL=7<=8IC9F87|Q?6<FL7?=A78F?=A?@A87<=789:;;687?=A7;F:C@7CAQ9?F<;=7I@;E<AC@87<=7{?6C8Y7

e:C7>C=F@?67R;QF:7>;=8;@F<QG7};<=F7fAQ9?F<;=7RC@E<9C7H>R>}fRM7<87F:C7@CD<;=?67R9:;;67zGI@;ECGC=F7RC@E<9C7

B;@7F:C7KEC79;Q=9<687;B7b@<ADC=AU7>?@A<BBU7jC@F:L@7eLAK6U7~:;=AA?7>L=;=7e?BB7?=A7F:C7i?6C7;B7̀6?G;@D?=Y77

e:C7>;Q=9<67W;@P87W<F:7F:C7>;=8;@F<QG7F;78QII;@F7?=A79:?66C=DC7?66789:;;687<=7>?@A<BBY

g;9?675QF:;@<F<C8U78Q9:7?87>?@A<BB7>;Q=9<6U7GQ8F79;=8<AC@7f8FL=7@CI;@F87?=A7;F:C@7CE<AC=9C7?S;QF789:;;67

IC@B;@G?=9C7?=A7CBBC9F<EC=C887W:C=78QDDC8F<=D79:?=DC87F;789:;;68Y

g;9?675QF:;@<F<C87GQ8F7?68;79;=8<AC@7F:C76<PC6L7<GI?9F7;B7F:C7I@;I;8CA79:?=DC87;=�

� 8F?=A?@A8U7WC66SC<=D7?=A7?FF<FQAC87F;76C?@=<=D

� FC?9:<=D7?=A76C?@=<=D7COIC@<C=9C8

� 9?@C78QII;@F7?=A7DQ<A?=9C

� 6C?AC@8:<I7?=A7G?=?DCGC=F7H6C?AC@8:<IU7<GI@;E<=D7|Q?6<FLU7I?@F=C@8:<I7W;@P<=D7?=A7@C8;Q@9C

G?=?DCGC=FM

��Page 534



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&

'()**+,-./0-12,30(405-.,-3./4-*6-.-2.41*2.+-3/*7/.880-*6-,()**+-12,30(41*29-:)0-3;/3*,0-*6-.2-12,30(41*2-

1,-4*-1502416<-7**5-60.4;/0,-.25-,)*/4(*8127,-12-,()**+,-12-*/50/-4).4-4)0<-8.<-183/*=0-4)0->;.+14<-*6-

05;(.41*2-*660/05-.25-/.1,0-,4.25./5,-.()10=05-?<-4)01/-3;31+,-@A,4<2B9

:)0-/0+0=.24-A,4<2-C2,30(41*2-/03*/4,-3/*=150-7/.50,-.7.12,4-D0<-E;0,41*2,-.25-3/*=150-,()**+,-F14)-

/0(*88025.41*2,-6*/-183/*=080249

G*;-(.2-H25-12,30(41*2-/03*/4,-*2-4)0-A,4<2-F0?,140-IIIJKLMNOJPQRJST-

UVW#XYZ[\V]&̂ V&$Y_̀$Va[]b#̀$b[&Y[cY#_X[[W#

C2-defgh-4)0-i0+,)-j*=0/28024-124/*5;(05-.-20F-(.407*/1,.41*2-,<,4089

C4-+**k,-.4-0.()-,()**+l,-,4.25./5,-.25-)*F-8;()-.-,()**+-1,-.?+0-4*-183/*=09-:)1,-150241H0,-4)0-+0=0+-*6-

,;33*/4-,()**+,-/0>;1/09--m/7.21,.41*2,-,;()-.,-4)0-n024/.+-'*;4)-n*2,*/41;8-@n'noA'B-.25-4)0-,()**+-

183/*=08024-,0/=1(0-4)02-F*/k-F14)-,()**+,l-+0.50/,-4*-1502416<h-3/*=150-.25p*/-?/*k0/-.2<-,;33*/4-

/0>;1/05-6*/-6;/4)0/-183/*=080249

qXVY_̀$Va[]b#̀$b[&Y#%#$V̂ Yb#YrV#_]bsVrYb&Yq̀sWVYtuYsVW[vw

x̀$Va[]%Y[cY
#yzz[]$Y

UX̀$Y$XVY_̀$Va[]%ŶV̀&#

j/002- {-)17)+<-0660(41=0-,()**+-F)1()-1,-F0++-/;2h-).,-.-,4/*27-+0.50/,)13-.25-1,-
(+0./-.?*;4-14,-3/1*/1410,-6*/-183/*=08024

G0++*F {2-0660(41=0-,()**+-F)1()-1,-.+/0.5<-5*127-F0++-.25-k2*F,-4)0-./0.,-14-
2005,-4*-183/*=09

{8?0/ {-,()**+-12-2005-*6-183/*=08024-F)1()-2005,-)0+3-4*-1502416<-4)0-,403,-
4*-183/*=0-*/-4*-8.k0-().270-).3302-8*/0->;1(k+<9--

|05 {-,()**+-12-2005-*6-7/0.40,4-183/*=08024-.25-F1++-/0(01=0-188051.40h-
12402,1=0-,;33*/49--

{-,()**+l,-(*+*;/}(*505-(.407*/<-1,-50(1505-?<-)*F-14-1,-/.405-6*/-,4.25./5,-@f}gB-.25-6*/-)*F-.?+0-14-1,-4*-
183/*=0-@{}~B9-

f-1,-4)0-?0,4-/.4127-6*/-,4.25./5,-.25-{-1,-4)0-?0,4-6*/-183/*=080249-

�35.405-(.407*/1,.41*2,-6*/-0.()-,()**+-./0-3;?+1,)05-0=0/<-<0./-12-o.2;./<9-

�*/0-126*/8.41*2-.?*;4-4)0-(.407*/1,.41*2-,()080-(.2-?0-6*;25-12-4)0-i0+,)-j*=0/28024l,-3./024,l-7;150-
4*-4)0-�.41*2.+-'()**+-n.407*/1,.41*2-'<,408-)0/0�-

)443�pp7*=9F.+0,p5*(,p5(0++,p3;?+1(.41*2,pf�eff�}3./024,}7;150}029356

�� Page 535



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'($)*+,-#./$0+,.1&&0

234567849:;<=3>?4@;<>A66@;74B;@4BC;?9B=3>C35;8D;EBCD9;?9;F6G3H83I;JKLMN

OC;CA?B;C?H3;CA3;BC4954I5BP;C34>A?9Q;495;@34I9?9Q;3R=3I?39>3P;>4I3P;BS==6IC;495;QS?549>3;495;@3453IBA?=;495;

H494Q3H39C;73I3;TS5Q35;4B;453US4C3;495;9335?9Q;?H=I6G3H39CN;VA3;B>A66@WB;73@@83?9Q;495;4CC?CS53B;C6;

@34I9?9Q;73I3;TS5Q35;4B;Q665N

X9;CA3;H6BC;I3>39C;Y3@BA;Z6G3I9H39C;<>A66@;[4C3Q6I?B4C?69;4C;\49S4ID;JKJKP;234567849:;<=3>?4@;<>A66@;

74B;>4C3Q6I?B35;4C;OH83I;]O;B>A66@;?9;9335;6̂;?H=I6G3H39C;7A?>A;9335B;A3@=;C6;?539C?̂D;CA3;BC3=B;C6;?H=I6G3;

6I;C6;H4:3;>A49Q3;A4==39;H6I3;US?>:@D_N

O9;4BB3BBH39C;=I6G?535;8D;CA3;[39CI4@;<6SCA;[69B6IC?SH;?9;OSCSH9;JKJL;Q4G3;CA3;̂6@@67?9Q;3G4@S4C?69̀

a bS=?@;=I6QI3BB;54C4;̂6I;CA3;@4BC;4>453H?>;D34I;?B;@?H?C35;5S3;C6;CA3;3G3Ic>A49Q?9Q;=S=?@;I6@3;4>I6BB;CA3

D34IN;d̂;CA3;=S=?@B;=I3B39C;4C;CA3;BC4IC;6̂;CA3;@4BC;4>453H?>;D34I;69@D;e;>SII39C@D;I3H4?9N;VA3B3;BH4@@;=S=?@

9SH83IB;H4:3;?C;G3ID;5?̂f>S@C;C6;?539C?̂D;=I6QI3BB;CI395BN

a [SII39C;=S=?@;=I6QI3BB;̂6I;4@@;=S=?@B;?B;>69B?BC39C@D;Q665;7?CA;H49D;H4:?9Q;3R>3@@39C;=I6QI3BB;̂I6H;CA3?I

679;84B3@?93B;?9;4;G3ID;BA6IC;B=4>3;6̂;C?H3N;gS3;C6;HS>A;?H=I6G35;C34>A?9Q;495;@34I9?9Q;?9;@?93;7?CA

>A49Q?9Q;=S=?@B;9335B;6G3I;CA3;@4BC;4>453H?>;D34I;=I6QI3BB;?9;53G3@6=?9Q;=S=?@B;B6>?4@P;73@@83?9Q;495

=3IB694@;B:?@@B;?B;Q665N

a bS=?@BW;83A4G?6SI;495;4CC?CS53B;C6;@34I9?9Q;4I3;3R>3@@39C;495;?9>?539CB;6̂;fR35;C3IH;3R>@SB?69B;4I3;G3ID;I4I3

967;CA4C;=I6G?B?69;A4B;8339;53G3@6=35;C6;H33C;CA3;B6>?4@;495;3H6C?694@;9335B;6̂;4;H6I3;>6H=@3R;=S=?@

=6=S@4C?69N

hijkjilmnkopqrnqsnokqpkptukovtiimkwukqxxuvpunkwykptukvtqrzuok

,{$)%$|%}

VA3;[6S9>?@;A4B;H453;4;>@34I;>6HH?CH39C;C6;>69C?9S?9Q;CA3;?9G3BCH39C;?9P;495;?H=I6G3H39C;6̂P;[4I5?̂̂;

B>A66@B;C6;H4:3;BSI3;3G3ID;>A?@5;A4B;CA3;83BC;=6BB?8@3;BC4IC;?9;@?̂3;]~~~������������������������_N;

VA3;[6S9>?@;76I:B;>@6B3@D;7?CA;CA3;Q6G3I9?9Q;865?3B;6̂;B>A66@B;C6;H4:3;BSI3;CA4C;BC4954I5B;?9;B>A66@B;4I3;

A?QAP;CA4C;C34>A?9Q;?B;Q665P;495;CA4C;@3453IBA?=;495;Q6G3I949>3;?B;BCI69QN;

<C4954I5B;4C;4@@;B>A66@B;4I3;?H=I6G?9QN;X9>I34B?9Q;CA3;9SH83I;6̂;=@4>3B;76S@5;=I6G?53;4==I6=I?4C3;A?QA;

US4@?CD;B>A66@;=@4>3B;̂6I;D6S9Q;=36=@3;7?CA;>6H=@3R;@34I9?9Q;9335BN;XC;?B;96C;3R=3>C35;CA4C;CA3;=I6=6B4@;

7?@@;?H=4>C;69;BC4954I5B;4C;CA3;B>A66@N;

VA3;=I6=6B4@;?B;96C;3R=3>C35;C6;A4G3;49D;93Q4C?G3;?H=4>C;69;CA3;US4@?CD;6̂;BC4954I5B;6̂;35S>4C?69;4C;

CA3;B>A66@N

�#$.1/)�+$)%+0#$|)/)�+#�-#|/#).#}+

VA3;=I6=6B4@;?B;96C;3R=3>C35;C6;A4G3;49D;93Q4C?G3;?H=4>C;69;C34>A?9Q;495;@34I9?9Q;3R=3I?39>3BN

��Page 536



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'())*$+&#,-&.(/-#,0%&

122345677243689:38;38<<=7<=>8?:3=8;@:37A3<72>5>:438;B3<=79>4>7;3>;3<285:3?73<=7C7?:3<D<>24E36:82?638;B3
F:22G:>;@H

I6:34567723>4357CC>??:B3?73<=79>B>;@38;3:;9>=7;C:;?3>;3F6>5632:8=;>;@3>43982D:B38;B3<D<>243856>:9:3?6:>=3
<7?:;?>823>;38368<<JK348A:3:;9>=7;C:;?3>;3F6>563?6:J3467F3=:4<:5?38;B3?72:=8;5:3A7=3:85637?6:=H

I6:3L7D;5>23F7D2B3F7=M3F>?63?6:32:8B:=46><37A3?6:34567723?73C8M:34D=:3:9:=J7;:3D;B:=4?8;B43?6:>=3

=:4<7;4>G>2>?J3A7=36:2<>;@3?73>C<=79:38;B34D4?8>;358=:34D<<7=?38;B3@D>B8;5:H

N%#-%$'O/)&#,-&P#,#.%Q%,+

I6:3L7D;5>23F7D2B357;?>;D:3?73F7=M3F>?63?6:32:8B:=46><37A3?6:34567723?73C8M:34D=:3:9:=J7;:3D;B:=4?8;B43
?6:>=3=:4<7;4>G>2>?J3A7=36:2<>;@3?73>C<=79:38;B34D4?8>;36>@63<:=A7=C8;5:H33R?3F7D2B34D<<7=?3?6:3?73689:383
@77B3=:28?>7;46><3F>?63<8=:;?438;B37?6:=3<8=?;:=43473?68?3<D<>243=:5:>9:3836>@6STD82>?J3:BD58?>7;H

I6:3<=7<74:B3568;@:43F7D2B3G:3<28;;:B358=:AD22J3473?68?3?6:3456772E432:8B:=46><38;B3@79:=;8;5:3>43;7?3

B>4=D<?:BK3F6>56357D2B3689:383;:@8?>9:3>C<85?37;3:BD58?>7;8234?8;B8=B4H

UVVWXWYZ[\]̂_̀ ỲaX]bYa]̀_̀W\̂]

I8G2:3cd3G:27F3467F3?6:3<:=5:;?8@:437Ae3

f gD<>243F>?631BB>?>7;823h:8=;>;@3i::B4

f gD<>243=:5:>9>;@3j=::3k567723l:824

f gD<>243F>?63m;@2>4638438;31BB>?>7;823h8;@D8@:

f l>;7=>?J3m?6;>53<D<>24

8?3l:8B7FG8;M3k<:5>823k567723

n0O**o& p&*q&
r()/o'&*,&
n0O**o&
s0+/*,&

p&*q&r()/o'&
*,&n0O**o&
s0+/*,&ro('&

p&*q&r()/o'&
t/+O&#&
'+#+%Q%,+&
*q&sNu&

p&*q&v$%%&
n0O**o&P%#o'&
r()/o'w&x&y%#$&
#z%$#.%&

p&*q&r()/o'&
t/+O&{,.o/'O&#'&
#,&s--/+/*,#o&
N#,.(#.%&

p&*q&P/,*$/+y&
{+O,/0&r()/o'&

l:8B7FG8;M3
k<:5>823k56772

i|1 i|1 c}}~ ��~ i|1 d�~

�Q)#0+&*,&)()/o'&t/+O&s--/+/*,#o&N%#$,/,.&u%%-'&�sNu�

I6:35D==:;?3:�<:=?>4:38?3?6:34567723F7D2B3G:3C8>;?8>;:BH3I6:3:�<8;4>7;37A3<=79>4>7;3F7D2B3<=79>B:3
7<<7=?D;>?>:43A7=34?8AA3B:9:27<C:;?38;B3A7=3:;68;5>;@3<D<>24E32:8=;>;@H

I6:3L7D;5>2385M;7F2:B@:43?68?383568;@:3>;3:;9>=7;C:;?358;3G:3D;4:??2>;@38;B3D<4:??>;@3A7=356>2B=:;3F>?63

8BB>?>7;8232:8=;>;@3;::B4H33gD<>243F7D2B3G:34D<<7=?:B3?73:;8G2:3?6:C3?738B8<?3?73?6:3568;@:43<=7<74:BH

�*t&t*(o-&'())*$+&q*$&)()/o'&t/+O&{,.o/'O&#'&#,&s--/+/*,#o&N#,.(#.%&�%&#qq%0+%-�

gD<>243?68?3=:5:>9:34D<<7=?3G:58D4:3?6:J3689:3m;@2>4638438;38BB>?>7;82328;@D8@:358;3G:34D<<7=?:B3>;38;J3

4567723>;3L8=B>AAH

I6:=:3>43;73>;A7=C8?>7;3898>28G2:3?68?34D@@:4?43?68?3?6:3<=7<74823F7D2B3689:383;:@8?>9:3:AA:5?37;367F3

�� Page 537



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'()*+$,#*-).%$/#*0/*0)*0&&$,$1)0%*%0).20.(*0'(*/2331',(&4**5#(*/"#11%*+12%&*"1),$)2(*,1*3'16$&(*

/2331',*,#0,*$/*033'13'$0,(*,1*,#(*$)&$6$&20%*)((&/*17*(0"#*323$%4

89:;:9<=>;?<?@=A;BCDC@E@FG;HBCC;IDJ99=;KCL=A;MC;LNNCDOC>P

Q1R(*17*,#(*72)&$).*,#0,*0*/"#11%*'("($6(/*$/*S0/(&*1)*,#(*)2RS('*17*323$%/*$)*,#(*/"#11%*+#1*'("($6(*

T'((*Q"#11%*U(0%/4**V%%*/"#11%/*$)*W0'&$77*+12%&*'("($6(*72)&$).*71'*,#(/(*323$%/4

5#('(*$/*)1*$)71'R0,$1)*060$%0S%(*,#0,*/2..(/,/*,#0,*,#(*3'131/0%*+12%&*#06(*0*)(.0,$6(*(77(",*1)*323$%/*

0,*,#(*/"#11%*+#1*'("($6(*T'((*Q"#11%*U(0%/4

89:;:9<=>;K@F9B@OX;YOJF@D;Z<?@=A;MC;LNNCDOC>P

5#(*)((&/*17*$)&$6$&20%*323$%/*0'(*0//(//(&*0)&*3'16$&(&*71'*0/*033'13'$0,(4**5#('(*$/*0%/1*)1*$)71'R0,$1)*

060$%0S%(*,#0,*/2..(/,/*,#0,*,#(*3'131/0%*+12%&*#06(*0*)(.0,$6(*(77(",*1)*3'16$/$1)*71'*0)[*(,#)$"*.'1234

\]̂_̀̂ab̀_]b̀cbdbe_f̀gh̀_]b̀iagigfbj̀k]̂dlbm

n*5#(*3'131/0%*+12%&*$)"'(0/(*,#(*)2RS('*17*/3("$0%*/"#11%*3%0"(/*71'*3'$R0'[*0.(&*%(0')('/*+$,#*"1R3%(o*

%(0')$).*)((&/*0)&*"1),'$S2,(*,1+0'&/*R((,$).*3'1p(",(&*&(R0)&4

n*5#(*3'131/0%*+12%&*()/2'(*,#0,*323$%/*%$6$).*$)*,#(*"(),'0%*0'(0*17*,#(*"$,[*,'06(%*/#1',('*&$/,0)"(/*,1*

0""(//*/3("$0%$/,*3'16$/$1)*,#0)*,1*0%,(')0,$6(*3'16$/$1)4

qg_bd_r̂s̀jrf̂jt̂d_̂lbf̀gh̀_]b̀iagigfbj̀k]̂dlb

n*Q1R(*323$%/*+$,#*0&&$,$1)0%*%(0')$).*)((&/*"0)*u)&*"#0).(*&$7u"2%,4**5#([*R0[*u)&*"#0).(/*,1*S2$%&$)./*

2)/(,,%$).4**v(*w)1+*,#([*+$%%*)((&*"0'(72%%[*3%0))(&*/2331',*,1*0&03,*,1*,#(*"#0).(/4**x1+(6('y*,#('(*

+12%&*S(*/27u"$(),*,$R(*,1*3%0)*0)&*/2331',*/2"#*0*"#0).(4

n*5#('(*$/*31,(),$0%*71'*0*/R0%%*$)"'(0/(*$)*,'07u"*0'12)&*,#(*/"#11%*/$,(*0,*,#(*/,0',*0)&*()&*17*,#(*&0[4*

5#(*W12)"$%*+12%&*+1'w*+$,#*,#(*z16(')$).*{1&[*17*,#(*/"#11%*,1*&(6(%13*0*5'06(%*|%0)*,1*R$)$R$/(*0)[*

31,(),$0%*&$/'23,$1)4

}s_bad̂_rtb̀gi_rgdf̀kgdfrjbabj̀

5#(*W12)"$%*$/*/((w$).*,1*3'16$&(*0*S(,,('*&$/,'$S2,$1)*17*/3("$0%$/,*3'16$/$1)*0"'1//*,#(*"$,[4*5#$/*+12%&*

$R3'16(*0""(//*71'*323$%/y*0)&*'(&2"(*,'06(%*,$R(/*71'*R0)[*323$%/y*0/*+(%%*0/*$)"'(0/$).*,#(*)2RS('*17*3%0"(/*

060$%0S%(4*V*)2RS('*17*1,#('*(o30)/$1)/y*0)&*)(+*3'16$/$1)*0,*1,#('*/"#11%/*"$,[~+$&(*0'(*S($).*3'131/(&4

V%,(')0,$6(*13,$1)/*,1*,#(*(o30)/$1)*17*,#(*U(0&1+S0)w*Q3("$0%*Q"#11%*"12%&*$)"%2&(�

n*,#(*(o30)/$1)*17*/$R$%0'*3'16$/$1)*1)*1,#('*/3("$0%*/"#11%*/$,(/*

n*,#(*(/,0S%$/#R(),*17*)(+*/3("$0%$/,*3'16$/$1)*1)*1,#('*/"#11%*/$,(/*0)&�1'*0*&$77('(),*)2RS('*17*3%0"(/*

$)*,#(*"2''(),*1'*3'131/(&*S0/(/4*

x1+(6('y*,#(*/,0)&0'&/*0,*U(0&1+S0)w*Q3("$0%*Q"#11%*0'(*$R3'16$).4*�)"'(0/$).*,#(*)2RS('*17*3%0"(/*

0,*,#(*/"#11%*3'16$&(/*0)*$)"'(0/(&*)2RS('*17*033'13'$0,(*#$.#*�20%$,[*/"#11%*3%0"(/4*5#(*(o30)/$1)*17*

U(0&1+S0)w*Q3("$0%*Q"#11%*$/*,#('(71'(*"1)/$&('(&*,1*S(*0*3'(7(''(&*13,$1)4

��Page 538



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�
��
��
�

�
��
	�
��
��
�
�
��

 

�
�
�
�
!
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

"#$%&'()*+#,-)*'.%//),*'

01234564672839:;52<7239:34=49>3:=?@2573A653B1237;166>3C9>>352D=9523B123E6F25:9:G3H68I3B634><:3A653B123C65JA65;23
52D=952?2:B739:352<89:2773A653B1232K4<:796:L30123E6F25:9:G3H68I3C9>>3@232:;6=5<G283B63=:825B<J23B1973C65J39:3
>9:23C9B13B123M;166>3N5G<:97<B96:3O><::9:G3PQ3R5<?2C65JL3PQ3O264>23M25F9;273C9>>3456F9823<8F9;2S37=4465B3<:83
G=98<:;23B63B123E6F25:9:G3H68I3A653B123C65JA65;234><::9:G3<:83;6:72D=2:B9<>352;5=9B?2:B3456;27727L3

T12523B123E6F25:9:G3H68I31<F23<864B283B123U6=:;9>V73M;166>3Q2824>6I?2:B3<:83Q28=:8<:;I3O6>9;IS3<:I3:2C3
F<;<:;9273<5979:G3<73<3;6:72D=2:;236A3<:39:;52<7239:3B123:=?@25736:356>>3C9>>3456F982364465B=:9B9273A6537;166>W

@<72837B<AA36:3B1237;166>352824>6I?2:B352G97B25L

X,%&*Y+,/'$%//),*'

0123U6=:;9>3<44>9273B123BC6W?9>237B<B=B65I3D=<>9AI9:G3C<>J9:G3897B<:;23;59B259<3A6534=49>73B63D=<>9AI3A653A522316?23B63
7;166>3B5<:7465B3B63742;9<>37;166>73<:83M42;9<>97B3Q276=5;23H<727L33M6?23>2<5:2573C163>9F23C9B19:3BC63?9>2736A3B123
7;166>3?<I3@23456F98283C9B13A5223B5<:7465B38=23B63B129539:89F98=<>3>2<5:9:G3:22873<:8376;9<>3977=27L33NB1253>2<5:2573
<523<@>23B63B5<F2>39:8242:82:B>I3653C9B134<52:BZ;<52573<:839A3527982:B3C9B19:3B123BC6W?9>23D=<>9AI9:G3897B<:;23?<I3
:6B3@232>9G9@>23A653[2<5:25305<:7465BL30127234=49>73<73C2>>3<737B<AA3<:837;166>3F979B6573C6=>83@2:2\B3A56?3<:I352D=95283
9?456F2?2:B739:3A<;9>9B9273A653<;B9F23B5<F2>3B637;166>36534=@>9;3B5<:7465B3A<;9>9B927L33

]73B123U6=:;9>3973722J9:G3B63456F9823<3@2BB253897B59@=B96:36A3742;9<>37;166>34><;273<;56773B123;9BIS39B39732K42;B283B1<B3B123
<F25<G23B5<F2>3897B<:;23B63742;9<>97B35276=5;23@<7273A6539:89F98=<>3>2<5:2573C6=>83528=;239:3A=B=52L

]37;166>3456467<>3B6327B<@>9713<889B96:<>3>2<5:9:G3:22873A<;9>9B9273?<I352D=9523<305<:7465B3MB<B2?2:B3C19;13C9>>3
982:B9AI3?2<7=5273B63@239:;>=8283<734<5B36A3B123<44>9;<B96:3B63?<K9?9723B5<F2>3@I37=7B<9:<@>23?6827L333

0123U6=:;9>V73;=552:B3U65465<B23O><:39:;>=8273<3;6??9B?2:B3B632F25I37;166>39:3U<589AA382F2>649:G3<:3];B9F2305<F2>3
O><:L3M=;13<34><:3C9>>3982:B9AI3<;B96:73@I3B1237;166>3B637=4465B3<:832:;6=5<G23<;B9F23B5<F2>3B637;166>3<:83<>763<:I3
9?456F2?2:B73B636:W79B23<:836AAW79B239:A5<7B5=;B=52352D=95283B63A<;9>9B<B23<;B9F23̂6=5:2I7L33

_:;52<79:G3B5<F2>3B637;166>3@I3<;B9F23?68273̀C<>J9:GS3;I;>9:G3<:837;66B9:Ga3@I32:7=59:G37<A23A<;9>9B9273<523456F98283C9>>3
1<F23<34679B9F239?4<;B36:3;19>852:V7312<>B13<:83C2>>@29:GL33

]3:=?@2536A39:9B9<B9F2731<F237=;;277A=>>I382?6:7B5<B2837=4465B3<:832:;6=5<G2?2:B3A653<;B9F23<:837=7B<9:<@>23B5<F2>3
<?6:G7B3B123<889B96:<>3>2<5:9:G3:22873;6165BS3C19;13C6=>83@236AA25283B63>2<5:2573<73<4456459<B2S39:;>=89:G3;I;>23B5<9:9:GL33

T9B13B1232K42;B2839:;52<728382?<:83A653[2<5:25305<:7465B3B12379B23C6=>83@2352F92C283B632:7=5237=9B<@>23<:83
7=A\;92:B3A<;9>9B9273A6538564W6AA3<:8349;JW=43<523456F98283C9B19:3B12379B23B63<;;6??68<B23B123<4456459<B23:=?@2573
6A3F219;>273<:839?456F2?2:B73?<8239A3:2;277<5IL33N4B96:73B63@232K4>65283<523>9J2>I3B639:;>=823?689\;<B96:73
C19;13?<I3@2352D=95283B63B1237;166>3<;;2773C9B13<889B96:<>34<5J9:G3527B59;B96:73644679B23B1232:B5<:;23B63456F9823

=:6@7B5=;B283<;;277L33

"%b)'c+#,'*%c'

]B3B1232:836A3B123@66J>2B3973<3D=27B96::<952L301973973I6=53;1<:;23B63>2B3B123U6=:;9>3J:6C3C1<B3I6=3B19:J3<@6=B3B123
456467<>L3d6=3;<:3G9F23<352746:723B63<>>36A3B123D=27B96:7S3653̂=7B352746:83B6376?236A3B12?S3<73I6=3452A25L3

]>B25:<B9F2>IS3I6=3;<:372:83=73I6=53F92C739:36:236A3B123A6>>6C9:G3C<I7e

U6?4>2B9:G3B1236:>9:2352746:723A65?3<B3fffghijklmmgnopgqrstuvwhxooyzjozowiyw

{?<9>3I6=53F92C73B63whxooyj|wzo}w|w~hijklmmgnopgqr

T59B23B63=73<B3B123A6>>6C9:G3<885277e3M;166>3N5G<:97<B96:3O><::9:GS3Q66?3���S3U6=:BI3P<>>S3]B><:B9;3T1<5AS3U<589AAS3
UR��3��TL3

0123U6=:;9>3C9>>3;6:7982532F25I6:2V73F92C73@2A652382;989:G3C12B1253B63G63<12<83C9B13B123456467283;1<:G27L

��������������������������������������������������������������������3�� Page 539



������������	
������	�����

Page 540



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"-('".�!!$'�"/�'&$ !"
/&(��!

012345667283783938:2;79638;1556365;9<2=39<3>?@A342B65C37A3D2A<E@AF3301238;155639=G7<83:B:7683H?5G39;?5883<123

9B<15?7<@F33

01238;15563783=287CA9<2=3<53:?5I7=23JK3:69;283H5?3629?A2?839C2=3LMNN3E7<139B<78GF33

053G22<3=2G9A=3H5?38:2;79638;15563:69;283H5?3629?A2?83E7<13OB<78G3P:2;<?BG3Q5A=7<75A37<3783:?5:582=3<5R3

S 7A;?29823<123=287CA9<2=3ABGT2?35H3012345667283P:2;7963P;15563H?5G3JK3<53NNJ3H?5G3P2:<2GT2?3UKUU

S HB?<12?37A;?29823<123=287CA9<2=3ABGT2?35H3012345667283P:2;7963P;15563H?5G3NNJ3<53NVK3H?5G3P2:<2GT2?

UKUW

X<3783:?5:582=3<19<3<1238;15563TB76=7AC83E5B6=3T232Y<2A=2=3<53:?5I7=239==7<75A963;6988?55G8Z37A39==7<75A3<53

E5?[83<19<39?23;B??2A<6@3BA=2?E9@3<537G:?5I23;B??2A<3H9;767<72839A=3<5328<9T678139==7<75A963;6988?55G837A3<123

2Y78<7AC39;;5GG5=9<75AF3

\]̂_̀abĉd_ef_ghiĵk_il_l]̂_kj]eeh_

\icĥ_mn_ĉheo_gdepqr̂k_r̂liqhk_ef_ghiĵk_ipiqhicĥ_il_\]̂_sehhq̂k_tĝjqih_tj]eeh_

\icĥ_mn

uib̂ _ef_kj]eeh vŵ_xìŵ_yìwaiŵ_b̂ rqabzjil̂wed{_ef_
kj]eeh

|add̂̀ l_}achqk]̂r_
|igijql{

012345667283P:2;7963P;15563 L3MNN ~AC6781MG2=7BG38:2;79638;15563 JK

0123;B??2A<3;9:9;7<@35H3012345667283P:2;7963P;15563783JK3:69;2839A=3<1238;1556319=3NK�3:B:76835A3?56637A3

�;<5T2?3UKUKF3

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

Page 541



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$!%&�'�(!�)!)*�!('*##&!

+�,&�!-.!,�&#/!(�)(!#0)! �)�1&(!#"!$�'��)!�� !%$#2�')� !�0�,�$(!#�!$#&&!

+�,&�!-.3!4�'��)!�� !%$#2�')� !�0�,�$(!#�!$#&&!�)!+*�!5#&&1�(!6%�'1�&!6'*##&

789::; <=>?@ABC:DCE:;;CFGHI7JK G=LM;CLA:N@8OM:DBPC

QRSTUSV QRSVUSW QRSWUSX QRSXUQR QRQRUQS QRQSUQQC QRQQUQYCQRQYUQZCQRQZUQ[CQRQ[UQTC

XR XR XW SRQ SRX SRV SSX S[R S[R S[R

\#� 1)1#�!�� !601)�,1&1)]!#"!6'*##&!̂01& 1�_(

I;;CB89::;BCMDCJ̀AaMbbC̀A@CcMd@DC̀CJ:DaMOM:DCÀOMDcCbA:>CICFL@Ab:A>MDcC̀BCMDO@Da@aCUC:L@ÀOMDcC@be8M@DO;fKC

O:CgCF;Mb@C@hLMA@aCUCAMBiC:bCM>>MD@DOCb̀M;=A@K

789::;BCMDCJ̀AaMbbC̀A@C̀;B:CcMd@DC̀C7=MÒ?M;MOfCÀOMDcCbA:>CICFc::aCjCb̀8M;MOM@BCB=MÒ?;@Cb:ACO@̀89MDckC;@̀ADMDcC

lCm@;;?@MDcKCO:CgCF?̀aCjC?=M;aMDcCB@AM:=B;fCMD9M?MOCO9@CBÒbbnBC̀?M;MOfCO:Ca@;Md@ACO9@C8=AAM8=;=>Ko

+�,&�!-p!\#� 1)1#�!�� !(01)�,1&1)]!_$� 1�_(C

q$� 1�_ \#� 1)1#�! 601)�,1&1)]!

I r::aC̀DaC:L@ÀOMDcC@be8M@DO;fCr::aoCs̀8M;MOM@BCB=MÒ?;@Cb:ACO@̀89MDckC;@̀ADMDcC̀DaCm@;;?@MDcC
MDCB89::;

t 7̀OMBb̀8O:AfC?=OCmMO9C>MD:AC
a@O@AM:ÀOM:DC

7̀OMBb̀8O:AfoCCG@Ab:A>MDcC̀BCMDO@Da@aC?=OCa:@BCD:OC@bb@8OMd@;fC
B=LL:AOCO9@Ca@;Md@AfC:bCO9@C8=AAM8=;=>CMDCB:>@C̀A@̀B

J G::ACmMO9C>̀ N:ACa@b@8OB G::AoCu@̀89MDcC>@O9:aBCMD9M?MO@aÙad@AB@CM>L̀8OC:DCB89::;C
:Ac̀DMB̀OM:DC

g vDaC:bCHMb@wC;Mb@C9̀BC@hLMA@aC:AC
AMBiC:bCM>>MD@DOCb̀M;=A@

x@AfCL::AoCCt=M;aMDcBCB@AM:=B;fCMD9M?MOCO9@CBÒbbnBC̀?M;MOfCO:C
a@;Md@ACO9@C8=AAM8=;=>C

u9@Cy:;;M@BC7L@8M̀;C789::;CMBCÀO@aCJCb:AC8:DaMOM:DC̀DaCtCb:ACB=MÒ?M;MOfo

u9@CBMO@kC̀DaC;:8̀;CMDbÀBOA=8O=A@C:bbzBMO@kCm:=;aCB=LL:AOCO9@C@hL̀DBM:DC:bCBL@8M̀;CB89::;CLA:dMBM:Do

{|}~����}�����}��}����

u9@CJ:=D8M;Cm:AiBC8;:B@;fCmMO9COm:C:Ac̀DMB̀OM:DBCMDC:Aa@ACO:C>:DMO:ACO9@CL@Ab:A>̀ D8@C:bCB89::;BC̀DaCO:C

B=LL:AOCB89::;CM>LA:d@>@DOo

vBOfDCMBCO9@C:be8@C:bCy@AC�̀ N@BOfnBCJ9M@bC�DBL@8O:AC:bCva=8̀OM:DC̀DaCuÀMDMDcCMDC�̀ ;@BoCC

vBOfDCMDBL@8OBC�=̀;MOfC̀DaCBÒDàAaBCMDCB89::;BC̀DaC:O9@AC@a=8̀OM:DCLA:dMa@ABCMDC�̀ ;@BoC

u9@CJ@DOÀ;C7:=O9CJ:DB:AOM=>C�:MDOCva=8̀OM:DC7@AdM8@CFJ7J�v7KCMBCO9@CA@cM:D̀;C789::;C�>LA:d@>@DOC7@AdM8@C

b:ACO9@Ced@C8:=D8M;BC:bCtAMac@DakCJ̀AaMbbkC�@AO9fACufae;kCE9:DaàCJfD:DCùbbC̀DaCO9@Cx̀;@C:bCr;̀>:Ac̀DoCCu9@C

J:=D8M;Cm:AiBCmMO9CO9@CJ:DB:AOM=>CO:CB=LL:AOC̀DaC89̀;;@Dc@C̀;;CB89::;BCMDCJ̀AaMbbo

H:8̀;CI=O9:AMOM@BkCB=89C̀BCJ̀AaMbbCJ:=D8M;kC>=BOC8:DBMa@ACvBOfDCA@L:AOBC̀DaC:O9@AC@dMa@D8@C̀?:=OCB89::;C

L@Ab:A>̀ D8@C̀DaC@bb@8OMd@D@BBCm9@DCB=cc@BOMDcC89̀Dc@BCO:CB89::;Bo

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
 
�
��
¡�
��
�
¢
��
¡£
��
�
��
�
�
�

u9@Cy:;;M@B

¤¥¦§¦̈©ª«¬®®̄ª°¦°±̄ª²©³́ µ²ª¶́«©²ª®µª°®°¦̄́§±®µª°̈®·©¬§±®µ«ª́µ²̧®̈ª¹º»ª§̈©µ²ª²́§́ª¬́°°©²ª§®ª«¬®®̄ª¬́°́¬±§¼

Page 542



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$�%&#&'( )"(# ��(� ��*(&+'% #$' �&,'�- &).��# �/ #$' .%�.�('+ �$�*0'( �*1

2 (#�*+�%+(3 4'��5'&*0 �*+ �##&#"+'( #� �'�%*&*0

2 #'��$&*0 �*+ �'�%*&*0 '6.'%&'*�'( 

2 ��%' ("..�%# �*+ 0"&+�*�'

2 �'�+'%($&. �*+ )�*�0')'*# 7�'�+'%($&.3 &).%�8&*0 9"��&#-3 .�%#*'%($&. 4�%,&*0 �*+ %'(�"%�' )�*�0')'*#:

;<=>?

@�$���( �%' &*(.'�#'+ �( .�%# �/ � *�#&�*�� .%�0%�))' �/ (�$��� &*(.'�#&�*A B$' ."%.�(' �/ �* &*(.'�#&�* 

&( #� &+'*#&/- 0��+ /'�#"%'( �*+ ($�%#��)&*0( &* (�$���( &* �%+'% #$�# #$'- )�- &).%�8' #$' 9"��&#- �/ 

'+"��#&�* �//'%'+ �*+ %�&(' (#�*+�%+( ��$&'8'+ 5- #$'&% .".&�( 7C(#-*:A

B$' %'�'8�*# C(#-* D*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( .%�8&+' 0%�+'( �0�&*(# E'- F"'(#&�*( �*+ .%�8&+' (�$���( 4&#$ 

%'��))'*+�#&�*( /�% &).%�8')'*#A

G�" ��* H*+ &*(.'�#&�* %'.�%#( �* #$' C(#-* 4'5(&#' IIIJKLMNOJPQRJST 

UVW<XYZ[\V]?̂ V?=Y_̀=Va[]b<̀=b[?Y[cY<_X[[W<

D* defg3 #$' h'�($ i�8'%*)'*# &*#%�+"�'+ � *'4 ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#')A

D# ���,( �# '��$ (�$���j( (#�*+�%+( �*+ $�4 )"�$ � (�$��� &( �5�' #� &).%�8'A B$&( &+'*#&H'( #$' �'8'� �/ 

("..�%# (�$���( %'9"&%'A  k%0�*&(�#&�*( ("�$ �( #$' l'*#%�� @�"#$ l�*(�%#&") 7l@lmC@: �*+ #$' (�$��� 

&).%�8')'*# ('%8&�' #$'* 4�%, 4&#$ (�$���(j �'�+'%( #� &+'*#&/-3 .%�8&+' �*+n�% 5%�,'% �*- ("..�%# 

%'9"&%'+ /�% /"%#$'% &).%�8')'*#A

B$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (-(#') &( +'(�%&5'+ &* B�5�' fo 5'��41

p̀=Va[]>Y[cY
<qrr[]=Y

UX̀=Y=XVY_̀=Va[]>ŶV̀?<

i%''* ! $&0$�- '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( 4'�� %"*3 $�( � (#%�*0 �'�+'%($&. �*+ &( 
��'�% �5�"# &#( .%&�%&#&'( /�% &).%�8')'*#

G'���4 !* '//'�#&8' (�$��� 4$&�$ &( ��%'�+- +�&*0 4'�� �*+ ,*�4( #$' �%'�( &# 
*''+( #� &).%�8'A

!)5'% ! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ &).%�8')'*# 4$&�$ *''+( $'�. #� &+'*#&/- #$' (#'.( 
#� &).%�8' �% #� )�,' �$�*0' $�..'* )�%' 9"&�,�-A  

s'+ ! (�$��� &* *''+ �/ 0%'�#'(# &).%�8')'*# �*+ 4&�� %'�'&8' &))'+&�#'3 
&*#'*(&8' ("..�%#A  

 ! (�$���j( ����"%t��+'+ ��#'0�%- &( +'�&+'+ 5- $�4 &# &( %�#'+ /�% (#�*+�%+( 7ftg: �*+ /�% $�4 �5�' &# &( #� 

&).%�8' 7!tu:A 

f &( #$' 5'(# %�#&*0 /�% (#�*+�%+( �*+ ! &( #$' 5'(# /�% &).%�8')'*#A 

v.+�#'+ ��#'0�%&(�#&�*( /�% '��$ (�$��� �%' ."5�&($'+ '8'%- -'�% &* m�*"�%-A 

w�%' &*/�%)�#&�* �5�"# #$' ��#'0�%&(�#&�* (�$')' ��* 5' /�"*+ &* #$' h'�($ i�8'%*)'*#j( .�%'*#(j 

0"&+' #� #$' x�#&�*�� @�$��� l�#'0�%&(�#&�* @-(#') $'%'1 

$##.1nn0�8A4��'(n+��(n+�'��(n."5�&��#&�*(nfyeffzt.�%'*#(t0"&+'t'*A.+/

{|

}
~�
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

Page 543



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!"�#�$%�&"'!�$&�  !�

()*+,-../*0+12*3/4.+13)--.+540+.406+/702*36*8+9:+;06:7+/7+<36-9*=+>?@AB

C6+6)/0+6/D*+6)*+064784=80E+5*..9*/7F+478+466/6G8*0+6-+.*4=7/7FE+6*43)/7F+478+.*4=7/7F+*H2*=/*73*E+34=*E+

0G22-=6+478+FG/8473*+478+.*48*=0)/2+478+D474F*D*76+5*=*+4..+IG8F*8+40+F--8B

J7+6)*+D-06+=*3*76+K*.0)+L-M*=7D*76+13)--.+N46*F-=/046/-7+46+O47G4=:+>?>?E+()*+,-../*0+12*3/4.+13)--.+

540+346*F-=/0*8+46+L=**7+PC+)/F).:+*QQ*36/M*+03)--.+5)/3)+/0+5*..+=G7E+)40+4+06=-7F+.*48*=0)/2+478+/0+3.*4=+

49-G6+/60+2=/-=/6/*0+Q-=+/D2=-M*D*76RB

C7+400*00D*76+2=-M/8*8+9:+6)*+N*76=4.+1-G6)+N-70-=6/GD+/7+CG6GD7+>?>@+F4M*+6)*+Q-..-5/7F+*M4.G46/-7S

T+()*=*+/0+4+3.*4=+*D2)40/0+-7+=4/0/7F+064784=80B++()=-GF)+/60+64=F*60+6)*+03)--.+)40+)/F)+*H2*3646/-70+

Q-=+6)*+43)/*M*D*76+-Q+/60+2G2/.0B++

T+()*+03)--.+)40+4+M*=:+F--8+6=43U+=*3-=8+/7+=4/0/7F+6)*+43)/*M*D*76+-Q+4..+F=-G20+-Q+2G2/.0B++

T+V-06+2G2/.0+D4U*+46+.*406+*H2*36*8+2=-F=*00+/7+D46)*D46/34.+8*M*.-2D*76+PVWR+478+2*=0-74.+478+

0-3/4.+8*M*.-2D*76+PX1WRB

T+J7+U*:+064F*+>E+4+D4I-=/6:+-Q+2G2/.0+D4U*+46+.*406+*H2*36*8+2=-F=*00+/7+;7F./0)+9:+6)*+6/D*+6)*:+

.*4M*+:*4=+YB

T+J7+U*:+064F*+>E+4+D4I-=/6:+-Q+Z=**+13)--.+V*4.0+2G2/.0+D4U*+)/F)*=+6)47+*H2*36*8+2=-F=*00+/7+;7F./0)E+

5/6)+D47:+8-/7F+0-+/7+D46)*D46/30B+J7+>?@AE+7-+Z=**+13)--.+V*4.+2G2/.0+D48*+)/F)*=+6)47+*H2*36*8+

2=-F=*00+/7+*/6)*=+0G9I*36B

[\]̂]\_̀âbcdeadfab̂dĉcgĥbig\\̀̂jĥdkkhichâjl̂cgĥigdemhb̂

$n'op'qp#

()*+N-G73/.+)40+D48*+4+3.*4=+3-DD/6D*76+6-+3-76/7G/7F+6)*+/7M*06D*76+/7E+478+/D2=-M*D*76+-QE+N4=8/QQ+

03)--.0+6-+D4U*+0G=*+*M*=:+3)/.8+)40+6)*+9*06+2-00/9.*+064=6+/7+./Q*+Prrrstuvwxyytz{{x|{}~|stzs��RB+

()*+N-G73/.+5-=U0+3.-0*.:+5/6)+6)*+F-M*=7/7F+9-8/*0+-Q+03)--.0+6-+D4U*+0G=*+6)46+064784=80+/7+03)--.0+4=*+

)/F)E+6)46+6*43)/7F+/0+F--8E+478+6)46+.*48*=0)/2+478+F-M*=7473*+/0+06=-7FB+

164784=80+46+()*+,-../*0+4=*+F--8B+J73=*40/7F+6)*+7GD9*=+-Q+2.43*0+5-G.8+2=-M/8*+422=-2=/46*+)/F)+

�G4./6:+03)--.+2.43*0+Q-=+.*4=7*=0+5/6)+CG6/0D+12*36=GD+N-78/6/-7B+J6+/0+7-6+*H2*36*8+6)46+6)*+2=-2-04.+

5/..+/D2436+-7+064784=80+46+6)*+03)--.B+

()*+2=-2-04.+/0+7-6+*H2*36*8+6-+)4M*+47:+7*F46/M*+/D2436+-7+6)*+�G4./6:+-Q+064784=80+-Q+*8G346/-7+46+

6)*+03)--.B

��'&�"o��'op�!�'qo"o����%�q"�o&�#�

()*+2=-2-04.+/0+7-6+*H2*36*8+6-+)4M*+47:+7*F46/M*+/D2436+-7+6*43)/7F+478+.*4=7/7F+*H2*=/*73*0B

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

Page 544



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !""#�$��%&�'!(&�%)��

*++,-./00+-,/123,14,15560567183,61493,0:,50+7.73-,14;,56027-704,74,5+1.3,80,560<083,5=57+->,/31+8/,14;,?3++@3749A

B/3,-./00+,7-,.0<<7883;,80,56027;749,14,3427604<348,74,?/7./,+3164749,7-,21+=3;,14;,5=57+-,1./7323,8/376,

50834871+,74,1,/155CD,-1:3,3427604<348,74,?/7./,8/3C,-/0?,63-53.8,14;,80+3614.3,:06,31./,08/36A

B/3,E0=4.7+,?0=+;,?06F,?78/,8/3,+31;36-/75,0:,8/3,-./00+,80,<1F3,-=63,3236C043,=4;36-814;-,8/376,63-504-7@7+78C,

:06,/3+5749,80,7<56023,14;,-=-8174,.163,-=55068,14;,9=7;14.3A

G��&�� H("��%&�I�%�'�J�%$

B/3,E0=4.7+,?0=+;,.04874=3,80,?06F,?78/,8/3,+31;36-/75,0:,8/3,-./00+,80,<1F3,-=63,3236C043,=4;36-814;-,8/376,

63-504-7@7+78C,:06,/3+5749,80,7<56023,14;,-=-8174,/79/,536:06<14.3A,,K8,?0=+;,-=55068,8/3,-./00+,80,/123,1,900;,

63+18704-/75,?78/,516348-,14;,08/36,5168436-,-0,8/18,5=57+-,63.3723,1,/79/LM=1+78C,3;=.18704A

B/3,56050-3;,./1493-,?0=+;,@3,5+1443;,.163:=++C,-0,8/18,8/3,-./00+>-,+31;36-/75,14;,90236414.3,7-,408,

;7-6=583;D,?/7./,.0=+;,/123,1,43918723,7<51.8,04,3;=.187041+,-814;16;-A

NOOPQPRSTUVWXYYRZQV[RZVYXYPUWV

\�]̂��_̀�]�̂#a� H#a�$H��"��)�%$�'� �#bc�

d,e=57+-,?78/,*;;787041+,f3164749,g33;-,

d,e=57+-,63.372749,h633,i./00+,j31+-,

d,e=57+-,?78/,k49+7-/,1-,14,*;;787041+,f149=193,

d,j740678C,k8/47.,5=57+-,18,31./,0:,8/3,-./00+-

18,B/3,l0++73-,i53.71+,i./00+

\�]̂��_̀

m)H##̂� n�#b�
o!"(̂ �#%�
m)H##̂�
p)$(#%�

n�#b�o!"(̂ �
#%�m)H##̂�
p)$(#%�ô! �

n�#b�o!"(̂ �
a($H���
 $�$�J�%$�
#b�pGq�

n�#b�r����
m)H##̂�I��̂ �
o!"(̂ s�t�u����
�v���'��

n�#b�o!"(̂ �
a($H�w%'̂( H�� �
�%�p&&($(#%�̂�
G�%'!�'��

n�#b�I(%#�($u�
w$H%()�o!"(̂ �

B/3,l0++73-,
i53.71+,i./00+

gx* gx* yzz{ |}{ gx* |~{

�J"�)$�#%�"!"(̂ �a($H�p&&($(#%�̂�G���%(%'�q��& ��pGq�

B/3,.=66348,3�53687-3,18,8/3,-./00+,?0=+;,@3,<17481743;A,B/3,3�514-704,14;,43?,:1.7+7873-,?0=+;,56027;3,
055068=47873-,:06,-81::,;323+05<348,14;,:06,34/14.749,5=57+->,+3164749A

B/3,E0=4.7+,1.F40?+3;93-,8/18,1,./1493,74,3427604<348,.14,@3,=4-388+749,14;,=5-388749,:06,./7+;634,?78/,
1;;787041+,+3164749,433;-A,,e=57+-,?0=+;,@3,-=550683;,80,341@+3,8/3<,80,1;158,80,8/3,./1493-,56050-3;A

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

Page 545



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"�##�$%�&�$�#�#' "��'%(�)*+ '"(�,"�,*�-!!'%'�*, �.,*+�,+/�0/�,&&/1%/!2

3456789:;<:9=>?>6@>98455A=:9B>?<48>9:;>C9;<@>9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9?<E9B>98455A=:>G96E9<EC9

8?;AA796E9H<=G6IIJ

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE9;AM9

?;67G=>E9M6:;9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9<=>98455A=:>GJ99K;>98?;AA79MA47G9?AE:6E4>9:A95=A@6G>98455A=:9

:;<:9689<55=A5=6<:>9:A9:;>96EG6@6G4<79E>>G89AI9><?;954567J

������� !�#�#' "�$/1/'N'*+�O$//�P1(�� �Q/, "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

RAL>9AI9:;>9I4EG6EF9:;<:9<98?;AA79=>?>6@>89689B<8>G9AE9:;>9E4LB>=9AI954567896E9:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9

R?;AA79T><78J99U7798?;AA7896E9H<=G6II9MA47G9=>?>6@>9I4EG6EF9IA=9:;>8>9545678J

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95456789<:9

:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9R?;AA79T><78J

������� !�Q'*�$'%V�)%(*'1�W�#' "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

K;>9E>>G89AI96EG6@6G4<795456789<=>9<88>88>G9<EG95=A@6G>G9IA=9<89<55=A5=6<:>J99K;>=>9689<78A9EA96EIA=L<:6AE9

<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95=A@686AE9IA=9<EC9>:;E6?9F=A45J

XYZ[\Z]̂\[Ŷ\_̂`̂a[b\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥi

j9K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G96E?=><8>9:;>9E4LB>=9AI985>?6<798?;AA7957<?>89IA=95=6L<=C9<F>G97><=E>=89M6:;9U4:68L9

R5>?:=4L9HAEG6:6AE9<EG9?AE:=6B4:>9:AM<=G89L>>:6EF95=Ak>?:>G9G>L<EGJ

j9K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9>E84=>9:;<:9545678976@6EF96E9:;>9EA=:;l><8:>=E9<=><89AI9:;>9?6:C9:=<@>798;A=:>=9

G68:<E?>89:A9<??>88985>?6<768:95=A@686AE9:;<E9:A9<7:>=E<:6@>95=A@686AEJ

mc[̂ [̀nZo\fnbZfpZ̀[Zĥb\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥ

j9RAL>95456789M6:;9<GG6:6AE<797><=E6EF9E>>G89?<E9qEG9?;<EF>9G6Iq?47:J99K;>C9L<C9qEG9?;<EF>89:A9B467G6EF89

4E8>::76EFJ99r>9sEAM9:;>C9M6779E>>G9?<=>I477C957<EE>G98455A=:9:A9<G<5:9:A9:;>9?;<EF>8J99tAM>@>=u9:;>=>9

MA47G9B>984Iq?6>E:9:6L>9:A957<E9<EG98455A=:984?;9<9?;<EF>J

j9K;>=>96895A:>E:6<79IA=9<98L<7796E?=><8>96E9:=<Iq?9<=A4EG9:;>98?;AA7986:>9<:9:;>98:<=:9<EG9>EG9AI9:;>9G<CJ9K;>9HA4E?679

MA47G9MA=s9M6:;9:;>9vA@>=E6EF9wAGC9AI9:;>98?;AA79:A9G>@>7A59<9K=<@>7937<E9:A9L6E6L68>9<EC95A:>E:6<79G68=45:6AEJ

xo[̂]̀Z[np̂\ce[nc̀b\gc̀bnf̂]̂f\

K;>9HA4E?6796898>>s6EF9:A95=A@6G>9<9B>::>=9G68:=6B4:6AE9AI985>?6<768:95=A@686AE9<?=A889:;>9?6:CJ9K;689MA47G9
6L5=A@>9<??>889IA=9545678u9<EG9=>G4?>9:=<@>79:6L>89IA=9L<EC9545678u9<89M>779<896E?=><86EF9:;>9E4LB>=9AI957<?>89

<@<67<B7>J9U9E4LB>=9AI9A:;>=9>y5<E86AE8u9<EG9E>M95=A@686AE9<:9A:;>=98?;AA789?6:CzM6G>9<=>9B>6EF95=A5A8>GJ

U7:>=E<:6@>9A5:6AE89:A9:;>9>y5<E86AE9AI9K;>9tA776>89R5>?6<79R?;AA79?A47G96E?74G>{

j9:;>9>y5<E86AE9AI986L67<=95=A@686AE9AE9A:;>=985>?6<798?;AA7986:>89

j9:;>9>8:<B768;L>E:9AI9E>M985>?6<768:95=A@686AE9AE9A:;>=98?;AA7986:>89<EGlA=9<9G6II>=>E:9E4LB>=9AI957<?>896E9

:;>9?4==>E:9A=95=A5A8>G9B<8>8J9

tAM>@>=u9:;>98:<EG<=G89<:9K;>9tA776>89R5>?6<79R?;AA79<=>9FAAGJ9|E?=><86EF9:;>9E4LB>=9AI957<?>89<:9:;>98?;AA79
5=A@6G>89<E96E?=><8>G9E4LB>=9AI9<55=A5=6<:>9;6F;9}4<76:C98?;AA7957<?>8J9K;>9>y5<E86AE9AI9K;>9tA776>89R5>?6<79
R?;AA79689:;>=>IA=>9?AE86G>=>G9:A9B>9<95=>I>==>G9A5:6AEJ

~�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

Page 546



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$�%&"# '�(("%# 

)*+,-./-/0+1,234.+50+,23,-6-27,3689+.0,:/.,;*+,04*//7,<277,.+=62.+,;*+,>/?+.323@,A/1B,;/,-753,:/.,;*+,</.C:/.4+,
.+=62.+8+3;0,23,.+5123+00,:/.,;*+,+D-5302/3E,)*+,>/?+.323@,A/1B,<277,9+,+34/6.5@+1,;/,631+.;5C+,;*20,</.C,23,723+,
<2;*,;*+,F4*//7,G.@53205;2/3,H753323@,IJ,K.58+</.CE,IJ,H+/-7+,F+.?24+0,<277,-./?21+,51?24+L,06--/.;,531,@621534+,
;/,;*+,>/?+.323@,A/1B,:/.,;*+,</.C:/.4+,-753323@,531,4/30+=6+3;257,.+4.62;8+3;,-./4+00+0E,

M*+.+,;*+,>/?+.323@,A/1B,*5?+,51/-;+1,;*+,N/63427O0,F4*//7,J+1+-7/B8+3;,531,J+1631534B,H/724BL,53B,3+<,
?545342+0,5.2023@,50,5,4/30+=6+34+,/:,53,234.+50+,23,;*+,3689+.0,/3,./77,<277,-./?21+,/--/.;632;2+0,:/.,04*//7P950+1,

0;5::,/3,;*+,04*//7,.+1+-7/B8+3;,.+@20;+.E,

Q%��#R$%( ��(("%# 

)*+,N/63427,5--72+0,;*+,;</P827+,0;5;6;/.B,=6572:B23@,<57C23@,120;534+,4.2;+.25,:/.,-6-270,;/,=6572:B,:/.,:.++,*/8+,;/,
04*//7,;.530-/.;,;/,0-+4257,04*//70,531,F-+425720;,J+0/6.4+,A50+0E,,F/8+,S112;2/357,T+5.323@,U++10,7+5.3+.0,<*/,
72?+,<2;*23,;</,827+0,/:,;*+,04*//7,85B,9+,-./?21+1,<2;*,:.++,;.530-/.;,16+,;/,;*+2.,2312?21657,7+5.323@,3++10,531,
0/4257,2006+0E,,G;*+.,7+5.3+.0,5.+,597+,;/,;.5?+7,231+-+31+3;7B,/.,<2;*,-5.+3;V45.+.0,531,2:,.+021+3;,<2;*23,;*+,;</P827+,
=6572:B23@,120;534+,85B,3/;,9+,+72@297+,:/.,T+5.3+.,).530-/.;E,)*+0+,-6-270,50,<+77,50,0;5::,531,04*//7,?202;/.0,</671,
9+3+W;,:./8,53B,.+=62.+1,28-./?+8+3;0,23,:54272;2+0,:/.,54;2?+,;.5?+7,;/,04*//7,/.,-69724,;.530-/.;,:54272;2+0E,,

S0,;*+,N/63427,20,0++C23@,;/,-./?21+,5,9+;;+.,120;.296;2/3,/:,0-+4257,04*//7,-754+0,54./00,;*+,42;BL,2;,20,+D-+4;+1,;*5;,
;*+,5?+.5@+,;.5?+7,120;534+,;/,0-+425720;,.+0/6.4+,950+0,:/.,2312?21657,7+5.3+.0,</671,.+164+,23,:6;6.+E

S,04*//7,-./-/057,;/,+0;59720*,5112;2/357,7+5.323@,3++10,:54272;2+0,85B,.+=62.+,5,).530-/.;,F;5;+8+3;,<*24*,<277,
21+3;2:B,8+506.+0,;/,9+,234761+1,50,-5.;,/:,;*+,5--7245;2/3,;/,85D2820+,;.5?+7,9B,060;523597+,8/1+0E,,,

)*+,N/63427O0,46..+3;,N/.-/.5;+,H753,234761+0,5,4/882;8+3;,;/,+?+.B,04*//7,23,N5.12::,1+?+7/-23@,53,S4;2?+,).5?+7,
H753E,F64*,5,-753,<277,21+3;2:B,54;2/30,9B,;*+,04*//7,;/,06--/.;,531,+34/6.5@+,54;2?+,;.5?+7,;/,04*//7,531,570/,53B,
28-./?+8+3;0,;/,/3P02;+,531,/::P02;+,23:.50;.64;6.+,.+=62.+1,;/,:54272;5;+,54;2?+,X/6.3+B0E,,

Y34.+5023@,;.5?+7,;/,04*//7,9B,54;2?+,8/1+0,Z<57C23@L,4B4723@,531,04//;23@[,9B,+306.23@,05:+,:54272;2+0,5.+,-./?21+1,
<277,*5?+,5,-/02;2?+,28-54;,/3,4*271.+3O0,*+57;*,531,<+779+23@E,,

S,3689+.,/:,232;25;2?+0,*5?+,0644+00:677B,1+8/30;.5;+1,06--/.;,531,+34/6.5@+8+3;,:/.,54;2?+,531,060;523597+,
;.5?+7,58/3@0;,;*+,5112;2/357,7+5.323@,3++10,4/*/.;L,<*24*,</671,9+,/::+.+1,;/,7+5.3+.0,50,5--./-.25;+L,23476123@,
4B47+,;.52323@E,,,

M2;*,;*+,+D-+4;+1,234.+50+1,1+8531,:/.,T+5.3+.,).530-/.;,;*+,02;+,</671,9+,.+?2+<+1,;/,+306.+,062;597+,531,
06:W42+3;,:54272;2+0,:/.,1./-P/::,531,-24CP6-,5.+,-./?21+1,<2;*23,;*+,02;+,;/,544/88/15;+,;*+,5--./-.25;+,3689+.0,/:,
?+*247+0,531,28-./?+8+3;0,851+,2:,3+4+005.BE,,G-;2/30,;/,9+,4/3021+.+1,234761+,8/12W45;2/30,;/,;*+,04*//7,544+00,

531,5,.+5..53@+1,75B/6;,;/,544/88/15;+,234.+5023@,3689+.0E,,

��\" ]$�% #�] 

S;,;*+,+31,/:,;*+,9//C7+;,20,5,=6+0;2/3352.+E,)*20,20,B/6.,4*534+,;/,7+;,;*+,N/63427,C3/<,<*5;,B/6,;*23C,59/6;,;*+,
-./-/057E,̂/6,453,@2?+,5,.+0-/30+,;/,577,/:,;*+,=6+0;2/30L,/.,X60;,.+0-/31,;/,0/8+,/:,;*+8L,50,B/6,-.+:+.E,

S7;+.35;2?+7BL,B/6,453,0+31,60,B/6.,?2+<0,23,/3+,/:,;*+,:/77/<23@,<5B0_

N/8-7+;23@,;*+,/3723+,.+0-/30+,:/.8,5;,̀`̀ abcdefggahijaklmnopqbriistditiqcsq

u8527,B/6.,?2+<0,;/,qbriisdvqtiwqvqxbcdefggahijakl

M.2;+,;/,60,5;,;*+,:/77/<23@,511.+00_,F4*//7,G.@53205;2/3,H753323@L,J//8,yz{L,N/63;B,I577L,S;753;24,M*5.:L,N5.12::L,
NK{z,y|ME,

)*+,N/63427,<277,4/3021+.,+?+.B/3+O0,?2+<0,9+:/.+,1+42123@,<*+;*+.,;/,@/,5*+51,<2;*,;*+,-./-/0+1,4*53@+0E

}~���������������������������������~���������������������������������
��

�
��
��
�
��
� 
¡¢
�£
¤¥
¦
¦
§�

¥̈
��
©
¦
§§
ª�
��
£
«
�¤
ª¬
§�
£
¤¥
¦
¦
§

Page 547



����������	�
�
��������
�����

Page 548



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
/! (&�0*("1 +0"��&2 �3")+0��!"

456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<C>:DD5<89<67<E7F589:GA;H8IA<>DAAI78JB<K@8A6@B<9>:DD5<LD@<KIK859<6F;H<M<N<OOP<<Q:;<

9>:DD5<89<5D>6J;H<6J<R;D5<S>:6LT<U:8VW876

Q:;<9>:DD5<:D9J9<6<XY<K56>;<CK;>86589J<U;9DI@>;<Z69;<LD@<>:85H@;7<V8J:<>DAK5;[<5;6@787F<7;;H9P

QD<A;;J<H;A67H<LD@<CK;>86589J<U;9DI@>;<Z69;<K56>;9<LD@<5;6@7;@9<6F;H<\<N<OO<V8J:<>DAK5;[<5;6@787F<7;;H9<

8J<89<K@DKD9;H<JD]<

<̂87>@;69;<J:;<H;98F76J;H<7IAW;@<DL<J:;<CK;>86589J<U;9DI@>;<Z69;<6J<456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<C>:DD5<L@DA<

XY<JD<MY<K56>;9<L@DA<C;KJ;AW;@<XYXM

_J<89<K@DKD9;H<J:6J<VD@̀9<VDI5H<W;<I7H;@J6̀;7<JD<K@Da8H;<7;V<6>>DAADH6J8D7<67H<L6>858J8;9T<JD<L6>858J6J;<

J:;<F@DVJ:<DL<J:;<@;9DI@>;<W69;P<

bcdefghidjeklemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

boindesteidnkuemjkvwxdqexdrownqeklemnopdqeovownoindeoreynofwqcdfezopce{jwhoj|e}pckkne

boindest

~ohdekleqpckkn �gjjdfre{ginwqcdxe
�omopwr|e�o�de�����

{nopdqemdje|doje
�jkgme�o�de�e�e���

~gjqdj|e
{nopdqee

yof�go�dehdxwgheofxe
�ord�kj|ekle}pckkne

456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<
C>:DD5<�A6879J@;6A<K56>;9�

\XY �Y �Y E7F589:GA;H8IA<
>DAAI78JB<K@8A6@B<
9>:DD5<

456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<
C>:DD5<�CK;>86589J<U;9DI@>;<
Z69;<K56>;9�

XY ��� ���

Q:;<>I@@;7J<>6K6>8JB<DL<456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<C>:DD5<89<\XY<K56>;9<67H<J:;<9>:DD5<:6H<\MX<KIK859<D7<@D55<87<

�>JDW;@<XYXYP<

Q:;<>I@@;7J<>6K6>8JB<DL<J:;<CK;>86589J<U;9DI@>;<Z69;<6J<456789:;7<=6>:<?@8A6@B<C>:DD5<89<XY<67H<J:;@;<V;@;<

O�<KIK859<D7<@D55<87<�>JDW;@<XYXOP

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
 �

¡ 
¢�
£�
�
��
�¤
¢�
�
�¥
�£
¦
¢�
�
��
��
�
�
 �

Page 549



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$!%&�'�(!�)!)*�!('*##&!

+�,&�!-.!,�&#/!(�)(!#0)! �)�1&(!#"!$�'��)!�� !%$#2�')� !�0�,�$(!#�!$#&&!

+�,&�!-.34�'��)!�� !%$#2�')� !�0�,�$(!#�!$#&&!�)!5&��1(*��!6�'*!7$1��$8!9'*##&

9'*##& :0�,�$(!#�!4#&&!;75<9=> 70%1&!%$#2�')1#�(?

@
A
B
C
DB
E

@
A
B
E
DB
F

@
A
B
F
DB
G

@
A
B
G
D@
A

@
A
@
A
D@
B

@
A
@
B
D@
@
H

@
A
@
@
D@
I
H

@
A
@
I
D@
J
H

@
A
@
J
D@
K
H

@
A
@
K
D@
C
H

LMNOPQRSOHTNURH
VWPXNWYHZUR[[MH
XNPOQ\WSNXH]MNUSQ

JBC JBE JBI JBK JBF IGI IFB IKF IJB I@C

LMNOPQRSOHTNURH
VWPXNWYHZUR[[MH
Z]SUPNMPQ\ĤSQ[_WUSH
ǸQSH]MNUSQ

BF BE BK BK BE @A @A IA IA IA

aHT_\_WSHQUR[[MH]_]PMHbSXNObHcNQSbH[OH][]_MN\P[OH]W[dSU\P[OQHNObD[WHeLfH\WSObHbN\NHUN]]SbH\[H

QUR[[MHUN]NUP\Y

=#� 1)1#�!�� !901)�,1&1)8!#"!9'*##&!g01& 1�h(

eMMHQUR[[MQHPOHiNWbPjjHNWSHkPlSOHNHi[ObP\P[OHWN\POkHjW[XHeHm]SWj[WXPOkHNQHPO\SObSbHDH[]SWN\POkHSjnUPSO\MYoH

\[HpHmMPjSHSq]PWSbHDHWPQrH[jHPXXPOSO\HjNPM_WSo

ZUR[[MQHPOHiNWbPjjHNWSHNMQ[HkPlSOHNHZ_P\NcPMP\YHWN\POkHjW[XHeHmk[[bHsHjNUPMP\PSQHQ_P\NcMSHj[WH\SNURPOktHMSNWOPOkH

uHvSMMcSPOkoH\[HpHmcNbHsHc_PMbPOkHQSWP[_QMYHPORPcP\H\RSHQ\NjjwQHNcPMP\YH\[HbSMPlSWH\RSHU_WWPU_M_Xox

+�,&�!--!=#� 1)1#�!�� !(01)�,1&1)8!h$� 1�h(!

y$� 1�h =#� 1)1#�! 901)�,1&1)8!

e z[[bHNObH[]SWN\POkHSjnUPSO\MYHz[[bxHTNUPMP\PSQHQ_P\NcMSHj[WH\SNURPOktHMSNWOPOkHNObHvSMMcSPOkH
POHQUR[[M

` ZN\PQjNU\[WYHc_\HvP\RHXPO[WH
bS\SWP[WN\P[OH

ZN\PQjNU\[WYxHHVSWj[WXPOkHNQHPO\SObSbHc_\Hb[SQHO[\HSjjSU\PlSMYH
Q_]][W\H\RSHbSMPlSWYH[jH\RSHU_WWPU_M_XHPOHQ[XSHNWSNQ

i V[[WHvP\RHXNd[WHbSjSU\Q V[[WxH{SNURPOkHXS\R[bQHPORPcP\SbDNblSWQSHPX]NU\H[OHQUR[[MH
[WkNOPQN\P[OH

p |ObH[jHLPjS}HMPjSHRNQHSq]PWSbH[WH
WPQrH[jHPXXPOSO\HjNPM_WS

~SWYH][[WxHH̀_PMbPOkQHQSWP[_QMYHPORPcP\H\RSHQ\NjjwQHNcPMP\YH\[H
bSMPlSWH\RSHU_WWPU_M_XH

LMNOPQRSOHTNURHVWPXNWYHZUR[[MHPQHWN\SbHiHj[WHU[ObP\P[OHNObH̀Hj[WHQ_P\NcPMP\Yx

{RSHQP\StHNObHM[UNMHPOjWNQ\W_U\_WSH[jj�QP\StHv[_MbHQ_]][W\H\RSHbSlSM[]XSO\H[jHQ]SUPNMHQUR[[MH]W[lPQP[Ox

����������������������

{RSHi[_OUPMHv[WrQHUM[QSMYHvP\RH\v[H[WkNOPQN\P[OQHPOH[WbSWH\[HX[OP\[WH\RSH]SWj[WXNOUSH[jHQUR[[MQHNObH\[H

Q_]][W\HQUR[[MHPX]W[lSXSO\x

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

��
 �
¡�
�
��
�¢
 �
�
�£
�¡
¤
 �
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 550



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !� �"# $%&'# $% (#) *+,#���-� ."!#% /��0#'�$) $% �12'+�!$� +�1 3)+!�!�4 !� 5+6#�7  

����� !��0#'�� 82+6!�� +�1 ��+�1+)1� !� �'"$$6� +�1 $�"#) #12'+�!$� 0)$9!1#)� !� 5+6#�7 

3"# .#��)+6 :$2�" .$��$)�!2; <$!�� �12'+�!$� :#)9!'# =.:.<�:> !� �"# )#4!$�+6 :'"$$6 /;0)$9#;#�� :#)9!'# 

%$) �"# &9# '$2�'!6� $% ?)!14#�1@ .+)1!%%@ *#)�"�) 3�1&6@ A"$�11+ .��$� 3+%% +�1 �"# B+6# $% C6+;$)4+�7  3"# 

.$2�'!6 D$)E� D!�" �"# .$��$)�!2; �$ �200$)� +�1 '"+66#�4# +66 �'"$$6� !� .+)1!%%7

F$'+6 G2�"$)!�!#�@ �2'" +� .+)1!%% .$2�'!6@ ;2�� '$��!1#) ����� )#0$)�� +�1 $�"#) #9!1#�'# +H$2� �'"$$6 

0#)%$);+�'# +�1 #%%#'�!9#�#�� D"#� �244#��!�4 '"+�4#� �$ �'"$$6�7

F$'+6 G2�"$)!�!#� ;2�� +6�$ '$��!1#) �"# 6!E#6� !;0+'� $% �"# 0)$0$�#1 '"+�4#� $�I

J ��+�1+)1�@ D#66H#!�4 +�1 +��!�21#� �$ 6#+)�!�4

J �#+'"!�4 +�1 6#+)�!�4 #K0#)!#�'#� 

J '+)# �200$)� +�1 42!1+�'#

J 6#+1#)�"!0 +�1 ;+�+4#;#�� =6#+1#)�"!0@ !;0)$9!�4 82+6!��@ 0+)��#)�"!0 D$)E!�4 +�1 )#�$2)'# ;+�+4#;#��>

LMNOP

:'"$$6� +)# !��0#'�#1 +� 0+)� $% + �+�!$�+6 0)$4)+;;# $% �'"$$6 !��0#'�!$�7 3"# 02)0$�# $% +� !��0#'�!$� !� 

�$ !1#��!%� 4$$1 %#+�2)#� +�1 �"$)�'$;!�4� !� �'"$$6� !� $)1#) �"+� �"#� ;+� !;0)$9# �"# 82+6!�� $% #12'+�!$� 

$%%#)#1 +�1 )+!�# ��+�1+)1� +'"!#9#1 H� �"#!) 020!6� =�����>7

3"# )#6#9+�� ����� /��0#'�!$� )#0$)�� 0)$9!1# 4)+1#� +4+!��� Q#� R2#��!$�� +�1 0)$9!1# �'"$$6� D!�" 

)#'$;;#�1+�!$�� %$) !;0)$9#;#��7

S$2 '+� &�1 !��0#'�!$� )#0$)�� $� �"# ����� D#H�!�# TTTUVWXYZU[\]Û_ 

`abMcdefgahPiaPNdjkNalfhmMkNmfPdfndMjcffbM

/� opqr@ �"# 5#6�" C$9#)�;#�� !��)$12'#1 + �#D '+�#4$)!�+�!$� ����#;7

/� 6$$E� +� #+'" �'"$$6-� ��+�1+)1� +�1 "$D ;2'" + �'"$$6 !� +H6# �$ !;0)$9#7 3"!� !1#��!&#� �"# 6#9#6 $% 

�200$)� �'"$$6� )#82!)#7  s)4+�!�+�!$�� �2'" +� �"# .#��)+6 :$2�" .$��$)�!2; =.:.<�:> +�1 �"# �'"$$6 

!;0)$9#;#�� �#)9!'# �"#� D$)E D!�" �'"$$6�- 6#+1#)� �$ !1#��!%�@ 0)$9!1# +�1t$) H)$E#) +�� �200$)� )#82!)#1 %$) 

%2)�"#) !;0)$9#;#��7

3"# '+�#4$)!�+�!$� ����#; !� 1#�')!H#1 !� 3+H6# ou H#6$DI

vkNalfhOdfnd
MwxxfhNd

`ckNdNcadjkNalfhOdiakPM

C)##� G "!4"6� #%%#'�!9# �'"$$6 D"!'" !� D#66 )2�@ "+� + ��)$�4 6#+1#)�"!0 +�1 !� 
'6#+) +H$2� !�� 0)!$)!�!#� %$) !;0)$9#;#��

S#66$D G� #%%#'�!9# �'"$$6 D"!'" !� +6)#+1� 1$!�4 D#66 +�1 E�$D� �"# +)#+� !� 
�##1� �$ !;0)$9#7

G;H#) G �'"$$6 !� �##1 $% !;0)$9#;#�� D"!'" �##1� "#60 �$ !1#��!%� �"# ��#0� 
�$ !;0)$9# $) �$ ;+E# '"+�4# "+00#� ;$)# 82!'E6�7  

A#1 G �'"$$6 !� �##1 $% 4)#+�#�� !;0)$9#;#�� +�1 D!66 )#'#!9# !;;#1!+�#@ 
!��#��!9# �200$)�7  

yy

z
{|
}~
�
��
}�
��
~�
��
�
�
�|

��
��
�|
�
��
~�
��
�
~�
��
�
��
�
~�
��
�
�
�~

Page 551



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"��� ! #$%� &'&��()'* $+�,��&'�,&'&�-+�� .�,)�,��$()'&�/ $��)(0&($&��12%34�(0&�/ $�� .�(-!'�,)�,��) �

,56$ 7'�1�%849�

2�,��)�'�-'�)�$(),0*�/ $��)(0&($&��(0&���,��)�'�-'�)�/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)9�

:6&()'&��()'* $,�(), 0��/ $�'(������  !�($'�6#-!,��'&�'7'$+�+'($�,0�;(0#($+9�

< $'�,0/ $5(), 0�(- #)�)�'��()'* $,�(), 0����'5'��(0�-'�/ #0&�,0�)�'�='!���> 7'$05'0)"��6($'0)�"�

*#,&'�) �)�'�?(), 0(!�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�@+�)'5��'$'B�

�))6BCC* 79.(!'�C& ��C&�'!!�C6#-!,�(), 0�C2DE22F%6($'0)�%*#,&'%'096&/

GHIJKLMNJOPIQMORSKTISUOVQMWWH

X!(0,��'0�Y(���Z$,5($+�@��  !�.(��!(�)�,0�6'�)'&�-+�[�)+0�,0��6$,!�\E239

�)�)�,��),5'�)�'����  !"��6'$/ $5(0�'�.(��]#&*'&�(��*  &�(0&�6$ �6'�)��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)�.'$'�]#&*'&�(��

'̂�'!!'0)9

_0�)�'�5 �)�$'�'0)�='!���> 7'$05'0)�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�()�;(0#($+�\E\È�X!(0,��'0�Y(���.(��

�()'* $,�'&�()�>$''0�1���,*�!+�'//'�),7'����  !�.�,���,��.'!!�$#0̀��(��(��)$ 0*�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�,���!'($�(- #)�

,)��6$, $,),'��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)49��

�0�(��'��5'0)�6$ 7,&'&�-+�)�'�A'0)$(!�@ #)��A 0� $),#5�,0��#)#50�\E\2�*(7'�)�'�/ !! .,0*�'7(!#(), 0B

a�X'(&'$��(0&��)(//��(7'�(�$'!'0)!'���/ �#�� 0�$(,�,0*��)(0&($&�9�b($*')��$'c'�)��,*��'̂6'�)(), 0��/ $�)�'�

(��,'7'5'0)� /�(!!�6#6,!�̀�(0&�)�'�'�($'�5')�� 0�,�)'0)!+9

a�b�'����  !��(��(�7'$+�*  &�)$(�d�$'� $&�,0�$(,�,0*�)�'�(��,'7'5'0)� /�0'($!+�(!!�6#6,!�̀�,0�!#&,0*�7#!0'$(-!'�

!'($0'$�9

a�?'($!+�(!!�6#6,!��,0�)�'�Y #0&(), 0�Z�(�'�5(d'�()�!'(�)�'̂6'�)'&�6$ *$'���/$ 5�-(�'!,0'9��< �)�6#6,!��,0�e'+�

@)(*'�\�5(d'�'̂6'�)'&�6$ *$'���/$ 5�)�'�'0&� /�f\9����/'.�6#6,!��5(d'��,*�'$�)�(0�'̂6'�)'&�6$ *$'��9

a�< �)�Y$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��1F4�5(&'�'̂6'�)'&�6$ *$'���,0�(!!�d'+�,0&,�() $��,0�- )��Y #0&(), 0�Z�(�'�

(0&�e'+�@)(*'�\9

a�b�'$'�($'�$ -#�)�(0&�'//'�),7'�6$ �'��'��) �)$(�d�6#6,!�"�6$ *$'��9

ghijihklmjnopqmprmnjpojostjnushhljvtjpwwtuotmjvxjostjuspqytnj

VzIJ{IS{L

b�'�A #0�,!��(��5(&'�(��!'($�� 55,)5'0)�) �� 0),0#,0*�)�'�,07'�)5'0)�,0̀�(0&�,56$ 7'5'0)� /̀�A($&,//����  !��
) �5(d'��#$'�'7'$+���,!&��(��)�'�-'�)�6 ��,-!'��)($)�,0�!,/'�1|||}~������~���������}~�}��49�

b�'�A #0�,!�. $d���! �'!+�.,)��)�'�* 7'$0,0*�- &,'�� /����  !��) �5(d'��#$'�)�()��)(0&($&��,0����  !��($'��,*�̀�

)�()�)'(��,0*�,��*  &̀�(0&�)�()�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,���)$ 0*9�

@)(0&($&��()�X!(0,��'0�Y(���Z$,5($+�@��  !�($'�*  &9�_0�$'(�,0*�)�'�0#5-'$� /�6!(�'��. #!&�6$ 7,&'�(66$ 6$,()'�
�,*���#(!,)+����  !�6!(�'��/ $�+ #0*�6' 6!'�.,)��� 56!'̂�!'($0,0*�0''&�9�_)�,��0 )�'̂6'�)'&�)�()�)�'�6$ 6 �(!�.,!!�

,56(�)� 0��)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !9�

b�'�6$ 6 �(!�,��0 )�'̂6'�)'&�) ��(7'�(0+�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�)�'��#(!,)+� /��)(0&($&�� /�'&#�(), 0�()�)�'����  !9
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

��
��
 �
�
��
�¡
��
�
�¢
� 
£
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 552



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#�!$#%��&! !"#�'(�& �!��)#

*+,-./0.0123-41-506-,7.,86,9-60-+2:,-25;-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-6,28+45<-259-3,2/545<-,7.,/4,58,1>

?�&�#)@((A&B#�!$#"@ $�!��#

C33-18+0031-+2:,-25-2../0./426,-/25<,-0D-.03484,1-259-./0:41405-45-.328,-60-./0=06,-.E.431F-+,236+-259-

G,33H,45<>

*+,-18+003-41-80==466,9-60-./0:4945<-25-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-3,2/545<-41-:23E,9-259-.E.431-28+4,:,-6+,4/-

.06,56423-45-2-+2..;I-12D,-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-6+,;-1+0G-/,1.,86-259-603,/258,-D0/-,28+-06+,/>

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-6+,4/-

/,1.0514H4346;-D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-82/,-1E..0/6-259-<E49258,>

L��$�&)� (#�!$#M�!�"�N�!B

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-805645E,-60-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-

6+,4/-/,1.0514H4346;-D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-+4<+-.,/D0/=258,>--O6-G0E39-1E..0/6-6+,-18+003-60-

+2:,-2-<009-/,3264051+4.-G46+-.2/,561-259-06+,/-.2/65,/1-10-6+26-.E.431-/,8,4:,-2-+4<+PQE2346;-,9E826405>

*+,-./0.01,9-8+25<,1-G0E39-H,-.3255,9-82/,DE33;-10-6+26-6+,-18+003F1-3,29,/1+4.-259-<0:,/5258,-41-506-

941/E.6,9I-G+48+-80E39-+2:,-2-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-,9E82640523-162592/91>

RSSTUTVWXYZ[\]]V̂UZ_V̂Z]\]TY[Z

��̀%�#ab#̀�%Ac#)�Ac#B��#(�&��!B�"�)#Ade#

f-gE.431-G46+-C994640523-h,2/545<-i,,91-

f-gE.431-/,8,4:45<-j/,,-k8+003-l,231-

f-gE.431-G46+-m5<341+-21-25-C994640523-h25<E2<,-

f-l450/46;-m6+548-.E.431-26-,28+-0D-6+,-18+0031

26-h32541+,5-j28+-g/4=2/;-k8+003>-

��̀%�#ab

n��AA%# o#Ad#
p@( %)#A!#
n��AA%#
q�B A!#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
A!#n��AA%#
q�B A!#p%@)#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#�#
)B�B�N�!B#
Ad#qLr#

o#Ad#s&��#
n��AA%#M��%)#
p@( %)t#u#v��&#
�w�&�"�#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#x!"% )�#
�)#�!#
q$$ B A!�%#
L�!"@�"�#

o#Ad#
M !A& Bv#
xB�! �#
p@( %)#

h32541+,5-j28+-g/4=2/;-
k8+003-y233-.E.431z

{>|} |>~} {>�} �} �>�} |�>�}

�N(��B#A!#(@( %)#c B�#q$$ B A!�%#L��&! !"#r��$)#�qLr�

*+,-8E//,56-,7.,/641,-26-6+,-18+003-G0E39-H,-=2456245,9>-*+,-,7.251405-0D-2994640523-3,2/545<-5,,91-./0:4P
1405-G0E39-./0:49,-0..0/6E5464,1-D0/-162DD-9,:,30.=,56-259-D0/-,5+25845<-.E.431F-3,2/545<>

*+,-J0E5843-28K50G3,9<,1-6+26-2-8+25<,-45-,5:4/05=,56-825-H,-E51,66345<-259-E.1,6645<-D0/-8+439/,5-G46+-
2994640523-3,2/545<-5,,91>--gE.431-G0E39-H,-1E..0/6,9-60-,52H3,-6+,=-60-292.6-60-6+,-8+25<,1-./0.01,9>

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

��
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 553



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"�##�$%�&�$�#�#' "��'%(�)*+ '"(�,"�,*�-!!'%'�*, �.,*+�,+/�0/�,&&/1%/!2

3456789:;<:9=>?>6@>98455A=:9B>?<48>9:;>C9;<@>9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9?<E9B>98455A=:>G96E9<EC9

8?;AA796E9H<=G6IIJ

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE9;AM9

?;67G=>E9M6:;9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9<=>98455A=:>GJ99K;>98?;AA79MA47G9?AE:6E4>9:A95=A@6G>9

8455A=:9:;<:9689<55=A5=6<:>9:A9:;>96EG6@6G4<79E>>G89AI9><?;954567J

������� !�#�#' "�$/1/'N'*+�O$//�P1(�� �Q/, "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

RAL>9AI9:;>9I4EG6EF9:;<:9<98?;AA79=>?>6@>89689B<8>G9AE9:;>9E4LB>=9AI954567896E9:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9

R?;AA79T><78J99U7798?;AA7896E9H<=G6II9MA47G9=>?>6@>9I4EG6EF9IA=9:;>8>9545678J

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95456789<:9

:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9R?;AA79T><78J

������� !�Q'*�$'%V�)%(*'1�W�#' "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

K;>9E>>G89AI96EG6@6G4<795456789<=>9<88>88>G9<EG95=A@6G>G9IA=9<89<55=A5=6<:>J99K;>=>9689<78A9EA96EIA=L<:6AE9

<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<789MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95=A@686AE9IA=9<EC9>:;E6?9F=A45J

XYZ[\Z]̂\[Ŷ\_̂`̂a[b\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥi

K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G96E?=><8>9:;>9E4LB>=9AI9R5>?6<768:9j>8A4=?>9k<8>957<?>89IA=95=6L<=C9<F>G97><=E>=89M6:;9

?AL57>l97><=E6EF9E>>G89<EG9?AE:=6B4:>9:AM<=G89L>>:6EF95=Am>?:>G9G>L<EGJ

K;>9A55A=:4E6:C9:A9>L57AC9<GG6:6AE<7985>?6<768:98:<II9<EG9:A9MA=n9LA=>9?7A8>7C9M6:;985>?6<768:98>=@6?>896E9

H<=G6II9MA47G9>E;<E?>9:;>98?;AA7o896E?7486@>9:><?;6EFJ9K;689MA47G9B>E>p:9<77954567896E9:;>98?;AA7J9

K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9>E84=>9:;<:9545678976@6EF96E9:;>9EA=:;>=E9<=><9AI9:;>9?6:C9:=<@>798;A=:>=9G68:<E?>89:A9

<??>88985>?6<768:95=A@686AE9:;<E9:A9<7:>=E<:6@>95=A@686AEJ

qc[̂ [̀rZs\frbZftZ̀[Zĥb\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥ

RAL>95456789M6:;9<GG6:6AE<797><=E6EF9E>>G89?<E9pEG9?;<EF>9G6Ip?47:J99K;>C9L<C9pEG9?;<EF>89:A9B467G6EF89

4E8>::76EFJ99u>9nEAM9:;>C9M6779E>>G9?<=>I477C957<EE>G98455A=:9:A9<G<5:9:A9:;>9?;<EF>8J99vAM>@>=w9:;>=>9

MA47G9B>984Ip?6>E:9:6L>9:A957<E9<EG98455A=:984?;9<9?;<EF>J

K;>=>96895A:>E:6<79IA=9<98L<7796E?=><8>96E9:=<Ip?9<=A4EG9:;>98?;AA7986:>9<:9:;>98:<=:9<EG9>EG9AI9:;>9G<CJ9

K;>9HA4E?679MA47G9MA=n9M6:;9:;>9xA@>=E6EF9kAGC9AI9:;>98?;AA79:A9G>@>7A59<9K=<@>7937<E9:A9L6E6L68>9<EC9

5A:>E:6<79G68=45:6AEJ

yz

{
|}
~�
�
��
~�
��
��
��
�
�
�}

��
��
�}
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 554



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#�$%&�"% '$(% '")���)$

*+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@A-*+35-B/04<-

3C9:/;,-=22,55-?/:-909345D-=1<-:,<02,-8:=;,4-83C,5-?/:-C=1@-909345D-=5-B,44-=5-312:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-

/?-94=2,5-=;=34=>4,A-E-10C>,:-/?-/8+,:-,F9=153/15D-=1<-1,B-9:/;353/1-=8-/8+,:-52+//45-238@GB3<,D-=:,-

=45/-9:/9/5,<A

E48,:1=83;,-/983/15-8/-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-8+,-H4=135+,1-I=2+-J:3C=:@-K2+//4-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,-

2/04<-31240<,N

O-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-53C34=:-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-9:3C=:@-52+//4-538,5-

O-8+,-,58=>435+C,18-/?-1,B-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-52+//4-538,5-=1<P/:-=-<3??,:,18-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-31-

8+,-20::,18-/:-9:/9/5,<->=5,5A-

Q/B,;,:D-8+,-58=1<=:<5-=8-H4=135+,1-I=2+-J:3C=:@-K2+//4-=:,-7//<A-R12:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-=8-

8+,-52+//4-9:/;3<,5-=1-312:,=5,<-10C>,:-/?-=99:/9:3=8,-+37+-S0=438@-52+//4-94=2,5A-*+,-,F9=153/1-/?-

=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-1,,<5-9:/;353/1-=8--H4=135+,1-I=2+-J:3C=:@-K2+//4-35-8+,:,?/:,-2/153<,:,<-8/->,-=-

9:,?,::,<-/983/1A

TUV! $W�'%U�(�'$X!����'$

QL-J,/94,-K,:;32,5-B344-B/:6-B38+-8+,-Y/;,:1317-M/<@-8/-=<<:,55-8+,-QL-3C9432=83/15-=:35317-?:/C-8+,-

312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,-=8-8+,-52+//4-=1<-8+,-:,5048317-1,,<-?/:-

=<<383/1=4-58=?Z17A

[+,:,-8+,-Y/;,:1317-M/<@-+=;,-=</98,<-8+,-./01234\5-K2+//4-L,<,94/@C,18-=1<-L,<01<=12@-J/432@D-

=1@-1,B-;=2=123,5-=:35317-=5-=-2/15,S0,12,-/?-8+,-312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-K9,23=4358-

L,5/0:2,-M=5,-B344-9:/;3<,-/99/:801383,5-?/:-52+//4G>=5,<-58=??-/1-8+,-52+//4-:,<,94/@C,18-:,7358,:A-

]�! '&%��$V!����'$

*+,-./01234-=9943,5-8+,-8B/GC34,-58=808/:@-S0=43?@317-B=46317-<358=12,-2:38,:3=-?/:-909345-8/-S0=43?@-?/:-?:,,-

+/C,-8/-52+//4-8:=159/:8-8/-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,5-=1<-9:3C=:@-52+//45A--K/C,-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,-

4,=:1,:5-B+/-43;,-B38+31-8B/-C34,5-/?-8+,-52+//4-C=@->,-9:/;3<,<-B38+-?:,,-8:=159/:8-<0,-8/-8+,3:-31<3;3<0=4-

4,=:1317-1,,<5-=1<-5/23=4-3550,5A--̂8+,:-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,-4,=:1,:5-=:,-=>4,-8/-8:=;,4-31<,9,1<,184@-

/:-B38+-9=:,18P2=:,:5-=1<-3?-:,53<,18-B38+31-8+,-8B/GC34,-S0=43?@317-<358=12,-C=@-1/8->,-,4373>4,-?/:-H,=:1,:-

*:=159/:8A-*+,5,-909345-=5-B,44-=5-58=??-=1<-52+//4-;3538/:5-B/04<->,1,Z8-?:/C-=1@-:,S03:,<-3C9:/;,C,185-31-

?=234383,5-?/:-=283;,-8:=;,4-8/-52+//4-/:-90>432-8:=159/:8-?=234383,5A--

E5-8+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-K9,23=4358-L,5/0:2,-M=5,-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-

238@D-38-35-,F9,28,<-8+=8-8+,-=;,:=7,-8:=;,4-<358=12,-8/-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,5-?/:-31<3;3<0=4-4,=:1,:5-B/04<-

:,<02,-31-?080:,A

E-52+//4-9:/9/5=4-8/-,58=>435+-=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-1,,<5-?=234383,5-C=@-:,S03:,-=-*:=159/:8-K8=8,C,18-B+32+-

B344-3<,183?@-C,=50:,5-8/->,-31240<,<-=5-9=:8-/?-8+,-=99432=83/1-8/-C=F3C35,-8:=;,4->@-5058=31=>4,-C/<,5A---

*+,-./01234\5-20::,18-./:9/:=8,-J4=1-31240<,5-=-2/CC38C,18-8/-,;,:@-52+//4-31-.=:<3??-<,;,4/9317-=1-

E283;,-*:=;,4-J4=1A-K02+-=-94=1-B344-3<,183?@-=283/15->@-8+,-52+//4-8/-5099/:8-=1<-,12/0:=7,-=283;,-8:=;,4-

8/-52+//4-=1<-=45/-=1@-3C9:/;,C,185-8/-/1G538,-=1<-/??G538,-31?:=58:0280:,-:,S03:,<-8/-?=23438=8,-=283;,-

_/0:1,@5A--à

b
cd
ef
g
hi
ej
kl
fm
no
p
p
qd

rq
si
td
o
hi
fu
sn
o
fv
kt
w
sk
l
fm
no
p
p
qf

Page 555



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$%� &�'$%($!�)(('$*+$ �%"&�$,(-�!$./ '0"�#1$�+�'"�#$ �-$!�((%"�#2$*+$��!3�"�#$! 4�$4 �"'"%"�!$ ��$

5�(&"-�-$/"''$) &�$ $5(!"%"&�$",5 �%$(�$�)"'-���6!$)� '%)$ �-$/�''*�"�#7$$

8$�3,*��$(4$"�"%" %"&�!$) &�$!3���!!43''+$-�,(�!%� %�-$!355(�%$ �-$���(3� #�,��%$4(�$ �%"&�$ �-$

!3!% "� *'�$%� &�'$ ,(�#!%$%)�$ --"%"(� '$'� ��"�#$���-!$�()(�%1$/)"�)$/(3'-$*�$(44���-$%($'� ����!$ !$

 55�(5�" %�1$"��'3-"�#$�+�'�$%� "�"�#7$$$

9"%)$%)�$�:5��%�-$"���� !�-$-�, �-$4(�$;� ����$<� �!5(�%$%)�$!"%�$/(3'-$*�$��&"�/�-$%($��!3��$!3"% *'�$

�(�&��"��%$ �-$!34=�"��%$4 �"'"%"�!$4(�$-�(5>(44$ �-$5"�0>35$ ��$ & "' *'�$%($ ��(,,(- %�$%)�$ 55�(5�" %�$

�3,*��!$(4$&�)"�'�!$ �-$",5�(&�,��%!$, -�$"4$����!! �+7$$?(-"=� %"(�!$*�"�#$�:5'(��-$"��'3-�$�) �#"�#$

%)�$*3!$* +$(�$@�('$A�) 4$%($ $5��,"%$(�'+$% :"$* +$/"%)$ --"%"(� '$5 �0"�#$��!%�"�%"(�!$4(�$3� 3%)(�"!�-$

&�)"�'�!7$$B( -$! 4�%+$,� !3��!$"��'3-"�#$%� 4=�$� ',"�#$ �-$ $C�*� $��(!!"�#$/(3'-$ '!($*�$�(�!"-���-7$$

DEFGHIJKLHMEIH

8%$%)�$��-$(4$%)�$*((0'�%$"!$ $N3�!%"(�� "��7$<)"!$"!$+(3�$�) ���$%($'�%$%)�$O(3��"'$0�(/$/) %$+(3$%)"�0$

 *(3%$%)�$5�(5(! '7$P(3$� �$#"&�$ $��!5(�!�$%($ ''$(4$%)�$N3�!%"(�!1$(�$Q3!%$��!5(�-$%($!(,�$(4$%)�,1$ !$

+(3$5��4��7$

8'%��� %"&�'+1$+(3$� �$!��-$3!$+(3�$&"�/!$"�$(��$(4$%)�$4(''(/"�#$/ +!R

O(,5'�%"�#$%)�$(�'"��$��!5(�!�$4(�,$ %$SSSTUVWXYZZT[\]T̂_̀abcdUe\\fgW\g\dVfd

h, "'$+(3�$&"�/!$%($dUe\\fWidg\jdidkUVWXYZZT[\]T̂_

9�"%�$%($3!$ %$%)�$4(''(/"�#$ --��!!R$l�)(('$m�# �"! %"(�$n' ��"�#1$B((,$opq1$O(3�%+$@ ''1$8%' �%"�$9) �41$

O �-"441$Orqp$oA97$

<)�$O(3��"'$/"''$�(�!"-��$�&��+(��6!$&"�/!$*�4(��$-��"-"�#$/)�%)��$%($#($ )� -$/"%)$%)�$

5�(5(!�-$�) �#�!7

stuvwxyz{|}v~��uv�y�v�uz�y|zuzv�yv�t{zv��y�yz�xv{zv�v�u������v�����$$

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

��
��
 �
�
��
�¡
��
�
�¢
� 
£
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 556



�����������
	�
����������

Page 557



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
/ �!0���-12"��&3 �4")+2��!"

56789:7:;<=>?7@A67B>CD=::8>@E>6F>GF<8@E=HAIJ@;A>D:AA;F@KB>L7@A67B>ED=::8>M:7>L;L@8E>6<IJ>NHOOP>Q=I>

ED=::8>@E>8:D6KIJ>6K>R8IF=I@A>S:6JT>?IFB86FP

Q=I>ED=::8>=:EKE>6>CLID@68@EK>SIE:;7DI>R6EIT>M:7>L;L@8E>U@K=>EIVI7I>6FJ>D:AL8IW>8I67F@F<>FIIJEP

Q:>AIIK>JIA6FJ>M:7>CLID@68@EK>SIE:;7DI>R6EI>L86DIE>M:7>8I67FI7E>6<IJ>X>Y>OO>U@K=>EIVI7I>6FJ>D:AL8IW>

8I67F@F<>J@MZD;8K@IE>@K>@E>L7:L:EIJ>K:[>

\>@FD7I6EI>K=I>JIE@<F6KIJ>F;A9I7>6K>56789:7:;<=>?7@A67B>CD=::8>CLID@68@EK>SIE:;7DI>R6EI>M7:A>]̂>K:>

N̂>M7:A>CILKIA9I7>]̂]]

_:7̀E>=6VI>9IIF>;FJI7K6̀IF>K:>6J6LK>IW@EK@F<>6DD:AA:J6K@:F>U@K=@F>K=I>ED=::8>K:>@FD7I6EI>K=I>D6L6D@KB>

:M>K=I>7IE:;7DI>96EI>6FJ>K:>L7:V@JI>6>EIFE:7B>7::AP

abcdefghcidjkdlmnocpdnqdqbcdpobjjm>

anhmcdrsdhcmjtdlijuvwcpdwcqnvmpdjkdlmnocpdnunvmnhmcdnqdxnimhjijfybdzivgni{d|objjmd

}ngcdjkdpobjjm ~fiiceqdzfhmvpbcwd
~nlnovq{d�nycd�d�d���

zmnocpdlcid{cnid
yijfld�nycd�d�d���

}fipci{d
zmnocpd

�neyfnycdgcwvfgdnewd
~nqcyji{djkd|objjmd

56789:7:;<=>?7@A67B>
CD=::8>�A6@FEK7I6A>
L86DIE�

X]̂ �̂ �X GF<8@E=HAIJ@;A>
D:AA;F@KB>L7@A67B>
ED=::8>

56789:7:;<=>?7@A67B>
CD=::8>�CLID@68@EK>
SIE:;7DI>R6EI>L86DIE�

]̂ ��� ���

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
� 
�
��
�
¡�
�¢
�£
¤
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 558



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�*$!+,(!( -��.!&/$!'�0��((+�&1�234�%+$��1�$"5�#���1��((+��$5�267�% %&+1�("�!(++�&"�

8�#(,�!�34349�

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�#���0%��&$+&1#�:�1( !���;$1��$#�*$!+,(!( -��.!&/$!'�0��((+�&1�34�%+$��1�$"5�#���

1��((+��$5�3<�% %&+1�("�!(++�&"�8�#(,�!�34349

=>?@ABCDEFCGH@I>JC@KCKL>CJILEEHC

M@NH>COPCN>HEQCJ>KJCERKCB>K@SHJCEDCF>I>AKC@ABCGFET>IK>BCAR?N>FJCEACFEHH�

M@NH>COPCUV>I>AKC@ABCGFET>IK>BCAR?N>FJCEACFEHHC@KCW@FHNEFERXLCYFS?@FZC[ILEEH

[ILEEH \R?N>FJCEACVEHHC]Ŷ_[̀aCGFET>IKSEAJb YRGSH

3
4
7
6
c7
d

3
4
7
d
c7
<

3
4
7
<
c7
e

3
4
7
e
c3
4

3
4
3
4
c3
7

3
4
3
7
c3
3
�

3
4
3
3
c3
f
�

3
4
3
f
c3
2
�

3
4
3
2
c3
g
�

3
4
3
g
c3
6
�

*$!+,(!( -��.!&/$!'�
0��((+�
/$&"1#!�$/�%+$��1

22d 227 2fe 227 22< 234 234 234 234 234

*$!+,(!( -��.!&/$!'�
0��((+�0%��&$+&1#�
:�1( !���;$1��%+$��1

7< 7e 7e 7d 7< 34 f4 f4 f4 f4

h�i # !��1��((+�% %&+�5�/$"5�,$1�5�("�%(% +$#&("�%!(j��#&("1�$"5c(!�klm�#!�"5�5$#$��$%%�5�#(�1��((+�
�$%$�&#'

ÈABSKSEAC@ABC[RSK@NSHSKZCEDC[ILEEHCnRSHBSAXJ

k++�1��((+1�&"�o$!5&))�$!��-&p�"�$�o("5&#&("�!$#&"-�)!(/�k�q%�!)(!/&"-�$1�&"#�"5�5�c�(%�!$#&"-��)r�&�"#+'s�#(�

t�q+&)���u%&!�5�c�!&1v�()�&//&"�"#�)$&+ !�s

0��((+1�&"�o$!5&))�$!��$+1(�-&p�"�$�0 &#$,&+&#'�!$#&"-�)!(/�k�q-((5�w�)$�&+&#&�1�1 &#$,+��)(!�#�$��&"-x�+�$!"&"-�

y�z�++,�&"-s�#(�t�q,$5�w�, &+5&"-�1�!&( 1+'�&"�&,&#�#���1#$)){1�$,&+&#'�#(�5�+&p�!�#���� !!&� + /s9

M@NH>CO|C̀EABSKSEAC@ABCJRSK@NSHSKZCXF@BSAXJC

}F@BSAX ÈABSKSEAC [RSK@NSHSKZC

k ~((5�$"5�(%�!$#&"-��)r�&�"#+'�~((59�i$�&+&#&�1�1 &#$,+��)(!�#�$��&"-x�+�$!"&"-�$"5�z�++,�&"-�
&"�1��((+

; 0$#&1)$�#(!'�, #�z&#��/&"(!�
5�#�!&(!$#&("�

0$#&1)$�#(!'9��.�!)(!/&"-�$1�&"#�"5�5�, #�5(�1�"(#��))��#&p�+'�
1 %%(!#�#���5�+&p�!'�()�#���� !!&� + /�&"�1(/��$!�$1

o .((!�z&#��/$j(!�5�)��#1 .((!9���$��&"-�/�#�(51�&"�&,&#�5c$5p�!1��&/%$�#�("�1��((+�
(!-$"&1$#&("�

t �"5�()�l&)���+&)���$1��u%&!�5�(!�
!&1v�()�&//&"�"#�)$&+ !�

��!'�%((!9��; &+5&"-1�1�!&( 1+'�&"�&,&#�#���1#$)){1�$,&+&#'�#(�
5�+&p�!�#���� !!&� + /�

*$!+,(!( -��.!&/$!'�0��((+�&1�!$#�5�o��)(!��("5&#&("�$"5�;�)(!�1 &#$,&+&#'9

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 559



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$"% �#$�&$'"

()*+,-./012+3-456+02-6*27+318)+83-+-49:/16:81-/6+1/+-4;*4+8-+<-/18-4+8)*+=*4>-4<:/0*+->+60)--26+:/;+8-+
6.==-48+60)--2+1<=4-?*<*/8@

A687/+16+8)*+->B0*+->+C*4+D:E*687F6+,)1*>+G/6=*08-4+->+A;.0:81-/+:/;+(4:1/1/9+1/+H:2*6@++

A687/+1/6=*086+I.:2187+:/;+68:/;:4;6+1/+60)--26+:/;+-8)*4+*;.0:81-/+=4-?1;*46+1/+H:2*6@+

()*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+K-1/8+A;.0:81-/+J*4?10*+L,J,KAJM+16+8)*+4*91-/:2+J0)--2+G<=4-?*<*/8+J*4?10*+
>-4+8)*+B?*+0-./0126+->+N41;9*/;O+,:4;1>>O+D*48)74+(7;B2O+P)-/;;:+,7/-/+(:>>+:/;+8)*+Q:2*+->+R2:<-49:/@++
()*+,-./012+3-456+318)+8)*+,-/6-481.<+8-+6.==-48+:/;+0):22*/9*+:22+60)--26+1/+,:4;1>>@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6O+6.0)+:6+,:4;1>>+,-./012O+<.68+0-/61;*4+A687/+4*=-486+:/;+-8)*4+*?1;*/0*+:U-.8+60)--2+
=*4>-4<:/0*+:/;+*>>*081?*/*66+3)*/+6.99*681/9+0):/9*6+8-+60)--26@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6+<.68+:26-+0-/61;*4+8)*+215*27+1<=:08+->+8)*+=4-=-6*;+0):/9*6+-/V

W+68:/;:4;6O+3*22U*1/9+:/;+:8818.;*6+8-+2*:4/1/9

W+8*:0)1/9+:/;+2*:4/1/9+*X=*41*/0*6+

W+0:4*+6.==-48+:/;+9.1;:/0*

W+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+<:/:9*<*/8+L2*:;*46)1=O+1<=4-?1/9+I.:2187O+=:48/*46)1=+3-451/9+:/;+4*6-.40*+<:/:9*<*/8M

YZ[\]

J0)--26+:4*+1/6=*08*;+:6+=:48+->+:+/:81-/:2+=4-94:<<*+->+60)--2+1/6=*081-/@+()*+=.4=-6*+->+:/+1/6=*081-/+
16+8-+1;*/81>7+9--;+>*:8.4*6+:/;+6)-480-<1/96+1/+60)--26+1/+-4;*4+8):8+8)*7+<:7+1<=4-?*+8)*+I.:2187+->+
*;.0:81-/+->>*4*;+:/;+4:16*+68:/;:4;6+:0)1*?*;+U7+8)*14+=.=126+LA687/M@

()*+4*2*?:/8+A687/+G/6=*081-/+4*=-486+=4-?1;*+94:;*6+:9:1/68+̂*7+_.*681-/6+:/;+=4-?1;*+60)--26+318)+
4*0-<<*/;:81-/6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

-̀.+0:/+B/;+1/6=*081-/+4*=-486+-/+8)*+A687/+3*U618*+aaabcdefgbhijbkl+

mnoZpqrstnu]vn][qwx[nysuzZx[zs]qs{qZwpssoZ

G/+|}~�O+8)*+H*26)+R-?*4/<*/8+1/84-;.0*;+:+/*3+0:8*9-416:81-/+6768*<@

G8+2--56+:8+*:0)+60)--2F6+68:/;:4;6+:/;+)-3+<.0)+:+60)--2+16+:U2*+8-+1<=4-?*@+()16+1;*/81B*6+8)*+2*?*2+->+
6.==-48+60)--26+4*I.14*@++�49:/16:81-/6+6.0)+:6+8)*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+L,J,KAJM+:/;+8)*+60)--2+
1<=4-?*<*/8+6*4?10*+8)*/+3-45+318)+60)--26F+2*:;*46+8-+1;*/81>7O+=4-?1;*+:/;�-4+U4-5*4+:/7+6.==-48+

4*I.14*;+>-4+>.48)*4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

�pnqwx[nysuzZx[zs]qZ\Z[nvqzZq�nZwuz�n�qz]q�x�onq��q�nos��

�x[nysu\qs{qZ���su[qmpx[q[pnqwx[nysu\qvnx]Z

R4**/+ T+)19)27+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+3*22+4./O+):6+:+684-/9+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+16+02*:4+
:U-.8+186+=41-4181*6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8

*̀22-3 T/+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+:24*:;7+;-1/9+3*22+:/;+5/-36+8)*+:4*:6+18+/**;6+8-+
1<=4-?*@

T<U*4 T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+1<=4-?*<*/8+3)10)+/**;6+)*2=+8-+1;*/81>7+8)*+68*=6+8-+
1<=4-?*+-4+8-+<:5*+0):/9*+):==*/+<-4*+I.10527@++

P*; T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+94*:8*68+1<=4-?*<*/8+:/;+3122+4*0*1?*+1<<*;1:8*O+1/8*/61?*+
6.==-48@++

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
� 
�
��
�
¡�
�¢
�£
¤
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 560



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"��� ! #$%� &'&��()'* $+�,��&'�,&'&�-+�� .�,)�,��$()'&�/ $��)(0&($&��12%34�(0&�/ $�� .�(-!'�,)�,��) �

,56$ 7'�1�%849�

2�,��)�'�-'�)�$(),0*�/ $��)(0&($&��(0&���,��)�'�-'�)�/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)9�

:6&()'&��()'* $,�(), 0��/ $�'(������  !�($'�6#-!,��'&�'7'$+�+'($�,0�;(0#($+9�

< $'�,0/ $5(), 0�(- #)�)�'��()'* $,�(), 0����'5'��(0�-'�/ #0&�,0�)�'�='!���> 7'$05'0)"��6($'0)�"�*#,&'�

) �)�'�?(), 0(!�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�@+�)'5��'$'B�

�))6BCC* 79.(!'�C& ��C&�'!!�C6#-!,�(), 0�C2DE22F%6($'0)�%*#,&'%'096&/

GHIJKLILMNOPQIRSHITPUVOLLJ

<($!- $ #*��W$,5($+�@��  !�.(��!(�)�,0�6'�)'&�-+�X�)+0�,0�? 7'5-'$�YE2Z9

�)�)�,��),5'�)�'��)(0&($&�[�.'!!-',0*�(0&�()),)#&'��) �!'($0,0*[�)'(��,0*�(0&�!'($0,0*�'\6'$,'0�'[��($'[��#66 $)�

(0&�*#,&(0�'�(0&�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�5(0(*'5'0)�.'$'�(!!�]#&*'&�(��*  &9

0̂�)�'�5 �)�$'�'0)�='!���> 7'$05'0)�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�()�;(0#($+�YEYE[�<($!- $ #*��W$,5($+�@��  !�

.(���()'* $,�'&�()�>$''0�1���,*�!+�'//'�),7'����  !�.�,���,��.'!!�$#0[��(��(��)$ 0*�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�,���!'($�(- #)�
,)��6$, $,),'��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)49��

�0�(��'��5'0)�6$ 7,&'&�-+�)�'�A'0)$(!�@ #)��A 0� $),#5�,0��#)#50�YEY2�*(7'�)�'�/ !! .,0*�'7(!#(), 0B

_� 7̀'$(!!��)(0&($&�� /�(��,'7'5'0)��(7'�-''0�*'0'$(!!+�� 0�,�)'0)!+��,*�� 7'$�),5'�.,)��*  &�!'7'!�� /�
6$ *$'���/ $�0'($!+�(!!�6#6,!�9

_�W#6,!�"�-'�(7, #$�(0&�()),)#&'��) �!'($0,0*�($'�'\'56!($+9

_�a+�)�'�'0&� /�b'+��)(*'�Y[�6$ *$'���&()(��� .�(�5(] $,)+� /�c$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��5(b'�()�!'(�)�'\6'�)'&�
6$ *$'���,0�- )���#-]'�)�[�� .'7'$�)�'�&,//'$'0�'��)�()�'\,�)�-').''0�6$ *$'��� #)� 5'��/ $�c$''�@��  !�

<'(!�(0&�0 0%c$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��($'�,56(�)'&�-+�6#6,!��,0�)�'�@6'�,(!,�)�d'� #$�'�a(�'9�

_�e$(�b,0*��+�)'5��($'�$ -#�)�(0&�'0�#$'�)�()�(!!�6#6,!��$'�',7'�(66$ 6$,()'��#66 $)�.�'0�0''&'&9�

fghihgjklimnoploqlmioninrsimtrggkiusiovvstnsliuwinrsitropxsmi

UyHz{HI{|

e�'�A #0�,!��(��5(&'�(��!'($�� 55,)5'0)�) �� 0),0#,0*�)�'�,07'�)5'0)�,0[�(0&�,56$ 7'5'0)� /[�A($&,//�

���  !��) �5(b'��#$'�'7'$+���,!&��(��)�'�-'�)�6 ��,-!'��)($)�,0�!,/'�1}}}~�����������������~��~��49�

e�'�A #0�,!�. $b���! �'!+�.,)��)�'�* 7'$0,0*�- &,'�� /����  !��) �5(b'��#$'�)�()��)(0&($&��,0����  !��($'��,*�[�

)�()�)'(��,0*�,��*  &[�(0&�)�()�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,���)$ 0*9�

@)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !�($'�*  &9�̂0�$'(�,0*�)�'�0#5-'$� /�6!(�'��. #!&�6$ 7,&'�(66$ 6$,()'��,*���#(!,)+�
���  !�6!(�'��/ $�+ #0*�6' 6!'�.,)��5 &'$()'[��'7'$'�(0&�� 56!'\�!'($0,0*�0''&�9�̂)�,��0 )�'\6'�)'&�)�()�)�'�

6$ 6 �(!�.,!!�,56(�)� 0��)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !9�

e�'�6$ 6 �(!�,��0 )�'\6'�)'&�) ��(7'�(0+�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�)�'��#(!,)+� /��)(0&($&�� /�'&#�(), 0�()�

)�'����  !9

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
 �
�¡
�
��
�
¢�
�£
�¤
¥
 �
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 561



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#�!$#%��&! !"#�'(�& �!��)#

*+,-./0.0123-41-506-,7.,86,9-60-+2:,-25;-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-6,28+45<-259-3,2/545<-,7.,/4,58,1>

?�&�#)@((A&B#�!$#"@ $�!��#

C33-18+0031-+2:,-25-2../0./426,-/25<,-0D-.03484,1-259-./0:41405-45-.328,-60-./0=06,-.E.431F-+,236+-259-
G,33H,45<>

*+,-18+003-41-80==466,9-60-./0:4945<-25-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-3,2/545<-41-:23E,9-259-.E.431-28+4,:,-6+,4/-
.06,56423-45-2-+2..;I-12D,-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-6+,;-1+0G-/,1.,86-259-603,/258,-D0/-,28+-06+,/>

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-6+,4/-

/,1.0514H4346;-D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-82/,-1E..0/6-259-<E49258,>

L��$�&)� (#�!$#M�!�"�N�!B

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-805645E,-60-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-
6+,4/-/,1.0514H4346;-D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-+4<+-.,/D0/=258,>--O6-G0E39-1E..0/6-6+,-18+003-60-
+2:,-2-<009-/,3264051+4.-G46+-.2/,561-259-06+,/-.2/65,/1-10-6+26-.E.431-/,8,4:,-2-+4<+PQE2346;-,9E826405>

*+,-./0.01,9-8+25<,1-G0E39-H,-.3255,9-82/,DE33;-10-6+26-6+,-18+003F1-3,29,/1+4.-259-<0:,/5258,-41-506-
941/E.6,9I-G+48+-80E39-+2:,-2-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-,9E82640523-162592/91>

RSSTUTVWXYZ[\]]V̂UZ_V̂Z]\]TY[Z

��̀%�#ab#̀�%Ac#)�Ac#B��#(�&��!B�"�)#Ade#

f-gE.431-G46+-C994640523-h,2/545<-i,,91-

f-gE.431-/,8,4:45<-j/,,-k8+003-l,231-

f-gE.431-G46+-m5<341+-21-25-C994640523-h25<E2<,-

f-l450/46;-m6+548-.E.431-26-,28+-0D-6+,-18+0031

26-l2/3H0/0E<+-g/4=2/;-k8+003

��̀%�#ab

n��AA%# o#Ad#
p@( %)#A!#
n��AA%#
q�B A!#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
A!#n��AA%#
q�B A!#
p%@)#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#�#
)B�B�N�!B#
Ad#qLr#

o#Ad#s&��#
n��AA%#M��%)#
p@( %)t#u#v��&#
�w�&�"�#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#x!"% )�#�)#
�!#q$$ B A!�%#
L�!"@�"�#

o#Ad#
M !A& Bv#
xB�! �#
p@( %)#

l2/3H0/0E<+-
g/4=2/;-k8+003-
y233-.E.431z

{| }>{| ~>�| �>~| ��>�| }�>�|

�N(��B#A!#(@( %)#c B�#q$$ B A!�%#L��&! !"#r��$)#�qLr�

*+,-8E//,56-,7.,/641,-26-6+,-18+003-G0E39-H,-=2456245,9>-*+,-,7.251405-0D-2994640523-3,2/545<-5,,91-

./0:41405-G0E39-./0:49,-0..0/6E5464,1-D0/-162DD-9,:,30.=,56-259-D0/-,5+25845<-.E.431F-3,2/545<>

*+,-J0E5843-28K50G3,9<,1-6+26-2-8+25<,-45-,5:4/05=,56-825-H,-E51,66345<-259-E.1,6645<-D0/-

8+439/,5-G46+-2994640523-3,2/545<-5,,91>--gE.431-G0E39-H,-1E..0/6,9-60-,52H3,-6+,=-60-292.6-60-6+,-

8+25<,1-./0.01,9>
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 562



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"�##�$%�&�$�#�#' "��'%(�)*+ '"(�,"�,*�-!!'%'�*, �.,*+�,+/�0/�,&&/1%/!2

3456789:;<:9=>?>6@>98455A=:9B>?<48>9:;>C9;<@>9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9?<E9B>98455A=:>G96E9<EC9

8?;AA796E9H<=G6IIJ

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE9;AM9

?;67G=>E9M6:;9DEF768;9<89<E9<GG6:6AE<797<EF4<F>9<=>98455A=:>GJ99K;>98?;AA79MA47G9?AE:6E4>9:A95=A@6G>9

8455A=:9:;<:9689<55=A5=6<:>9:A9:;>96EG6@6G4<79E>>G89AI9><?;954567J

������� !�#�#' "�$/1/'N'*+�O$//�P1(�� �Q/, "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

RAL>9AI9:;>9I4EG6EF9:;<:9<98?;AA79=>?>6@>89689B<8>G9AE9:;>9E4LB>=9AI954567896E9:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9

R?;AA79T><78J99U7798?;AA7896E9H<=G6II9MA47G9=>?>6@>9I4EG6EF9IA=9:;>8>9545678J

K;>=>9689EA96EIA=L<:6AE9<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95456789<:9

:;>98?;AA79M;A9=>?>6@>9S=>>9R?;AA79T><78J

������� !�Q'*�$'%V�)%(*'1�W�#' "�0/�,&&/1%/!2

K;>9E>>G89AI96EG6@6G4<795456789<=>9<88>88>G9<EG95=A@6G>G9IA=9<89<55=A5=6<:>J99K;>=>9689<78A9EA96EIA=L<:6AE9

<@<67<B7>9:;<:984FF>8:89:;<:9:;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9;<@>9<9E>F<:6@>9>II>?:9AE95=A@686AE9IA=9<EC9>:;E6?9F=A45J

XYZ[\Z]̂\[Ŷ\_̂`̂a[b\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥi

j9K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G96E?=><8>9:;>9E4LB>=9AI9R5>?6<768:9k>8A4=?>9l<8>957<?>89IA=95=6L<=C9<F>G97><=E>=89

M6:;9LAG>=<:>m98>@>=>9<EG9?AL57>n97><=E6EF9E>>G89<EG9?AE:=6B4:>9:AM<=G89L>>:6EF95=Ao>?:>G9G>L<EGJ

j9K;>9A55A=:4E6:C9:A9>L57AC9<GG6:6AE<7985>?6<768:98:<II9<EG9:A9MA=p9LA=>9?7A8>7C9M6:;985>?6<768:98>=@6?>896E9

H<=G6II9MA47G9>E;<E?>9:;>98?;AA7q896E?7486@>9:><?;6EFJ9K;689MA47G9B>E>r:9<77954567896E9:;>98?;AA7J9

j9K;>95=A5A8<79MA47G9>E84=>9:;<:9545678976@6EF96E9:;>9EA=:;>=E9<=><9AI9:;>9?6:C9:=<@>798;A=:>=9G68:<E?>89:A9

<??>88985>?6<768:95=A@686AE9:;<E9:A9<7:>=E<:6@>95=A@686AEJ

sc[̂ [̀tZu\ftbZfvZ̀[Zĥb\cd\[Ŷ\e]cecb̂f\gYZ̀ĥ

j9RAL>95456789M6:;9<GG6:6AE<797><=E6EF9E>>G89?<E9rEG9?;<EF>9G6Ir?47:J99K;>C9L<C9rEG9?;<EF>89:A9

B467G6EF894E8>::76EFJ99w>9pEAM9:;>C9M6779E>>G9?<=>I477C957<EE>G98455A=:9:A9<G<5:9:A9:;>9?;<EF>8J99

xAM>@>=m9:;>=>9MA47G9B>984Ir?6>E:9:6L>9:A957<E9<EG98455A=:984?;9<9?;<EF>J

j9K;>=>96895A:>E:6<79IA=9<98L<7796E?=><8>96E9:=<Ir?9<=A4EG9:;>98?;AA7986:>9<:9:;>98:<=:9<EG9>EG9AI9:;>9G<CJ9

K;>9HA4E?679MA47G9MA=p9M6:;9:;>9yA@>=E6EF9lAGC9AI9:;>98?;AA79:A9G>@>7A59<9K=<@>7937<E9:A9L6E6L68>9<EC9

5A:>E:6<79G68=45:6AEJ

z{

|
}~
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
�~

�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 563



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#�$%&�"% '$(% '")���)$

*+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@A-*+35-B/04<-

3C9:/;,-=22,55-?/:-909345D-=1<-:,<02,-8:=;,4-83C,5-?/:-C=1@-909345D-=5-B,44-=5-312:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-

/?-94=2,5-=;=34=>4,A-E-10C>,:-/?-/8+,:-,F9=153/15D-=1<-1,B-9:/;353/1-=8-/8+,:-52+//45-238@GB3<,D-=:,-
=45/-9:/9/5,<A

E48,:1=83;,-/983/15-8/-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-8+,-H=:4>/:/07+-I:3C=:@-J2+//4-J9,23=4358-K,5/0:2,-L=5,-

2/04<-31240<,M

N-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-53C34=:-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-9:3C=:@-52+//4-538,5-

N-8+,-,58=>435+C,18-/?-1,B-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-52+//4-538,5-=1<O/:-<3??,:,18-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-31-

8+,-20::,18-/:-9:/9/5,<->=5,5A-

P/B,;,:D-8+,-58=1<=:<5-=8-H=:4>/:/07+-I:3C=:@-J2+//4-=:,-7//<A-Q12:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-

=8-8+,-52+//4-9:/;3<,5-=1-312:,=5,<-10C>,:-/?-=99:/9:3=8,-+37+-R0=438@-52+//4-94=2,5A-*+,-,F9=153/1-
/?-=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-1,,<5-9:/;353/1-=8-H=:4>/:/07+-I:3C=:@-J2+//4-35-8+,:,?/:,-2/153<,:,<-8/->,-=-

9:,?,::,<-/983/1A

STU! $V�'%T�(�'$W!����'$

PK-I,/94,-J,:;32,5-B344-B/:6-B38+-8+,-X/;,:1317-L/<@-8/-=<<:,55-8+,-PK-3C9432=83/15-=:35317-?:/C-8+,-

312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-J9,23=4358-K,5/0:2,-L=5,-=8-8+,-52+//4-=1<-8+,-:,5048317-1,,<-

?/:-=<<383/1=4-58=?Y17A-

Z+,:,-8+,-X/;,:1317-L/<@-+=;,-=</98,<-8+,-./01234[5-J2+//4-K,<,94/@C,18-=1<-K,<01<=12@-I/432@D-

=1@-1,B-;=2=123,5-=:35317-=5-=-2/15,R0,12,-/?-8+,-312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-J9,23=4358-

K,5/0:2,-L=5,-B344-9:/;3<,-/99/:801383,5-?/:-52+//4G>=5,<-58=??-/1-8+,-52+//4-:,<,94/@C,18-:,7358,:A-

\�! '&%��$U!����'$

*+,-./01234-=9943,5-8+,-8B/GC34,-58=808/:@-R0=43?@317-B=46317-<358=12,-2:38,:3=-?/:-909345-8/-R0=43?@-?/:-?:,,-

+/C,-8/-52+//4-8:=159/:8-8/-J9,23=4358-K,5/0:2,-L=5,5-=1<-9:3C=:@-52+//45A--J/C,-J9,23=4358-K,5/0:2,-L=5,-

4,=:1,:5-B+/-43;,-B38+31-8B/-C34,5-/?-8+,-52+//4-C=@->,-9:/;3<,<-B38+-?:,,-8:=159/:8-<0,-8/-8+,3:-31<3;3<0=4-

4,=:1317-1,,<5-=1<-5/23=4-3550,5A--]8+,:-J9,23=4358-K,5/0:2,-L=5,-4,=:1,:5-=:,-=>4,-8/-8:=;,4-31<,9,1<,184@-
/:-B38+-9=:,18O2=:,:5-=1<-3?-:,53<,18-B38+31-8+,-8B/GC34,-R0=43?@317-<358=12,-C=@-1/8->,-,4373>4,-?/:-̂,=:1,:-

*:=159/:8A-*+,5,-909345-=5-B,44-=5-58=??-=1<-52+//4-;3538/:5-B/04<->,1,Y8-?:/C-=1@-:,R03:,<-3C9:/;,C,185-

31-?=234383,5-?/:-=283;,-8:=;,4-8/-52+//4-/:-90>432-8:=159/:8-?=234383,5A--

E5-8+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@D-38-35-
,F9,28,<-8+=8-8+,-=;,:=7,-8:=;,4-<358=12,-8/-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,5-?/:-31<3;3<0=4-4,=:1,:5-B/04<-:,<02,-

31-?080:,A

E-52+//4-9:/9/5=4-8/-,58=>435+-=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-1,,<5-?=234383,5-C=@-:,R03:,-=-*:=159/:8-J8=8,C,18-B+32+-

B344-3<,183?@-C,=50:,5-8/->,-31240<,<-=5-9=:8-/?-8+,-=99432=83/1-8/-C=F3C35,-8:=;,4->@-5058=31=>4,-C/<,5A---

*+,-./01234[5-20::,18-./:9/:=8,-I4=1-31240<,5-=-2/CC38C,18-8/-,;,:@-52+//4-31-.=:<3??-<,;,4/9317-=1-
E283;,-*:=;,4-I4=1A-J02+-=-94=1-B344-3<,183?@-=283/15->@-8+,-52+//4-8/-5099/:8-=1<-,12/0:=7,-=283;,-8:=;,4-

8/-52+//4-=1<-=45/-=1@-3C9:/;,C,185-8/-/1G538,-=1<-/??G538,-31?:=58:0280:,-:,R03:,<-8/-?=23438=8,-=283;,-

_/0:1,@5A--

à

b
cd
ef
g
hi
ej
kl
fm
no
p
p
qd

r
sk
qt
p
kp
j
uo
fv
kw
x
sk
l
fm
no
p
p
qf

Page 564



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$%� &�'$%($!�)(('$*+$ �%"&�$,(-�!$./ '0"�#1$�+�'"�#$ �-$!�((%"�#2$*+$��!3�"�#$! 4�$4 �"'"%"�!$ ��$

5�(&"-�-$/"''$) &�$ $5(!"%"&�$",5 �%$(�$�)"'-���6!$)� '%)$ �-$/�''*�"�#7$$

8$�3,*��$(4$"�"%" %"&�!$) &�$!3���!!43''+$-�,(�!%� %�-$!355(�%$ �-$���(3� #�,��%$4(�$ �%"&�$ �-$

!3!% "� *'�$%� &�'$ ,(�#!%$%)�$ --"%"(� '$'� ��"�#$���-!$�()(�%1$/)"�)$/(3'-$*�$(44���-$%($'� ����!$ !$

 55�(5�" %�1$"��'3-"�#$�+�'�$%� "�"�#7$$$

9"%)$%)�$�:5��%�-$"���� !�-$-�, �-$4(�$;� ����$<� �!5(�%$%)�$!"%�$/(3'-$*�$��&"�/�-$%($��!3��$!3"% *'�$

�(�&��"��%$ �-$!34=�"��%$4 �"'"%"�!$4(�$-�(5>(44$ �-$5"�0>35$ ��$ & "' *'�$%($ ��(,,(- %�$%)�$ 55�(5�" %�$

�3,*��!$(4$&�)"�'�!$ �-$",5�(&�,��%!$, -�$"4$����!! �+7$$?(�!"-�� %"(�$/(3'-$*�$#"&��$%($%)�$

"�%�(-3�%"(�$(4$ $@�)(('$@%���%$%($��!%�"�%$3� 3%)(�"!�-$ ���!!$ '(�#$8#"��(3�%$A( -$ %$5� 0$!�)(('$B(3���+$

%",�!7$$< :"$5��,"%$* +!$, +$ '!($*�$��C3"��-$(�$8#"��(3�%$A( -7$$$

DEFGHIJKLHMEIH

8%$%)�$��-$(4$%)�$*((0'�%$"!$ $C3�!%"(�� "��7$<)"!$"!$+(3�$�) ���$%($'�%$%)�$?(3��"'$0�(/$/) %$+(3$%)"�0$

 *(3%$%)�$5�(5(! '7$N(3$� �$#"&�$ $��!5(�!�$%($ ''$(4$%)�$C3�!%"(�!1$(�$B3!%$��!5(�-$%($!(,�$(4$%)�,1$ !$

+(3$5��4��7$

8'%��� %"&�'+1$+(3$� �$!��-$3!$+(3�$&"�/!$"�$(��$(4$%)�$4(''(/"�#$/ +!O

?(,5'�%"�#$%)�$(�'"��$��!5(�!�$4(�,$ %$PPPQRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\]̂_̀aRbYYcdTYdYaSca

e, "'$+(3�$&"�/!$%($aRbYYcTfadYgafahRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\

9�"%�$%($3!$ %$%)�$4(''(/"�#$ --��!!O$@�)(('$i�# �"! %"(�$j' ��"�#1$A((,$klm1$?(3�%+$n ''1$8%' �%"�$9) �41$

? �-"441$?oml$kp97$

<)�$?(3��"'$/"''$�(�!"-��$�&��+(��6!$&"�/!$*�4(��$-��"-"�#$/)�%)��$%($#($ )� -$/"%)$%)�$

5�(5(!�-$�) �#�!7

qrstuvwxyz{t|}~st�w�t�sx�wzxsxt~wt~ryxt��w�wx}vtyxt�t�s���}��t�����t$

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
��
� 
�¡
¢
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 565



����������
������	
�����

Page 566



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
�*('�*/ (*"��&0 �1")+2��!"

3456748954:37;<97=:>?@AAB:;C:95:D5EB;C@F<4G;H<:?A<<H5;6=:I7;<97=:C?@AAB:JA7:IHI;BC:9E4G:K:F:LLM:N@4:

C?@AAB:;C:BA?964G:96:O44?@B4=:P7;Q4R:3456748954M

N@4:C?@AAB:@AC6C:9:I7;<97=:>I4?;9B;C6:S4CAH7?4:O9C4:JA7:?@;BG745:T;6@:UH6;C<:>I4?67H<:VA5G;6;A5M:

NA:<446:6@4:G4<95G:JA7:>I4?;9B;C6:S4CAH7?4:O9C4:IB9?4C:JA7:B497547C:9E4:W:FLL:T;6@:UH6;C<:>I4?67H<:

VA5G;6;A5:;6:;C:I7AIAC4G:6AX

Y ;5?749C4:6@4:G4C;E5964G:5H<847:96:6@4:3456748954:37;<97=:>?@AAB:>I4?;9B;C6:S4CAH7?4:O9C4:J7A<:Z[:6A

ZW:CI9?4C:J7A<:>4I64<847:Z[ZZ

\6:;C:I7AIAC4G:6@96:TA7]C:TAHBG:84:H5G4769]45:6A:;<I7AQ4:95G:4̂645G:J9?;B;6;4C:95G:9??A<<AG96;A5M

_̀abcdefagbhibjklmanblobòabnm̀hhkb

_lfkabpqbfakhrbjghstuanbuaoltknbhibjklmanblsltklfkablobvacogaflcabvgtelgwbxm̀hhkb

N98B4:K[

y9<4:AJ:C?@AAB VH77456:3H8B;C@4G:
V9I9?;6=:z9E4:W:F:LL{

3B9?4C:I47:=497:
E7AHI:z9E4:W:F:LL{

yH7C47=::|95EH9E4:<4G;H<:95G:
V964EA7=:AJ:>?@AAB:

3456748954:37;<97=:>?@AAB:
z<9;5C6749<:IB9?4C{

ZL[ y}U W~ D5EB;C@F<4G;H<:
?A<<H5;6=:I7;<97=:C?@AAB:

3456748954:37;<97=:>?@AAB:
z>I4?;9B;C6:S4CAH7?4:O9C4:IB9?4C{

Z[ y}U y}U

N@4:?H77456:?9I9?;6=:AJ:3456748954:37;<97=:>?@AAB:;C:ZL[:IB9?4C:95G:6@4:C?@AAB:@9G:L~Z:IHI;BC:A5:7ABB:;5:

UI7;B:Z[ZLM

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 567



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�#���*%��&$+&,#�-�,( !���.$,��$#�/�"#!�.$"��/!&0$!'�*��((+�&,�12�$"3�#���,��((+��$3�

14�% %&+,�("�!(++�&"�5�#(.�!�12126

789:;<=>?@=AB:C8D=:E=EF8=DCF??B=

G:HB8=IJ=H8B?K=D8ED=?LE=<8E:MBD=?>=@8C8;E=:;<=A@?N8CE8<=;L9H8@D=?;=@?BB=

�$.+��OPQ-���"#�$"3�%!(R��#�3�" 0.�!,�("�!(++�$#�/�"#!�.$"��/!&0$!'�*��((+

SCF??B TL9H8@D=?;=U?BB=VWXYSZ[ WLAMB=A@?N8CEM?;D\
]̂
J
_̀
J
a

]̂
J
à
J
b

]̂
J
b̀
J
c

]̂
J
c̀
]̂

]̂
]̂
]̀
J

]̂
]
J̀
]
]
=

]̂
]
]̀
]
I
=

]̂
]
Ì
]
d
=

]̂
]
d̀
]
e
=

]̂
]
è
]
_
=

/�"#!�.$"��
/!&0$!'�*��((+�
0$&",#!�$0�%+$��,

Pfg 12f Phg PhP Pf1 Pi2 Pg2 Pji P4f POh

/�"#!�.$"��
/!&0$!'�*��((+�
*%��&$+&,#�-�,( !���
k$,��%+$��,

Pi 1P 1O 1O 1O 12 14 14 14 14

lmnopoqrstuvwwxsyoyzxs{r|}~{s�}tr{sw~sywyox}pzw~syqw�rupzw~ts}~{�wqs���spqr~{s{}p}su}yyr{spwstuvwwxs
u}y}uzp�

Z?;<MEM?;=:;<=SLME:HMBME�=?>=SCF??B=�LMB<M;�D

�++�,��((+,�&"��$!3&))�$!���&��"�$��("3&#&("�!$#&"��)!(0����%�!)(!0&"��$,�&"#�"3�3���(%�!$#&"���))&�&�"#+'��

#(����+&)����%&!�3���!&,��()�&00&"�"#�)$&+ !��

*��((+,�&"��$!3&))�$!��$+,(��&��"�$�* &#$.&+&#'�!$#&"��)!(0�����((3���)$�&+&#&�,�, &#$.+��)(!�#�$��&"���+�$!"&"��

����++.�&"���#(����.$3���. &+3&"��,�!&( ,+'�&"�&.&#�#���,#$))�,�$.&+&#'�#(�3�+&��!�#���� !!&� + 0�6

G:HB8=I]=Z?;<MEM?;=:;<=DLME:HMBME�=�@:<M;�D=
�@:<M;� Z?;<MEM?;= SLME:HMBME�=

� �((3�$"3�(%�!$#&"���)��&�"#+'��((36��$�&+&#&�,�, &#$.+��)(!�#�$��&"���+�$!"&"��$"3���++.�&"��
&"�,��((+

k *$#&,)$�#(!'�. #��&#��0&"(!�
3�#�!&(!$#&("�

*$#&,)$�#(!'6��/�!)(!0&"��$,�&"#�"3�3�. #�3(�,�"(#��))��#&��+'�
, %%(!#�#���3�+&��!'�()�#���� !!&� + 0�&"�,(0��$!�$,

� /((!��&#��0$R(!�3�)��#, /((!6���$��&"��0�#�(3,�&"�&.&#�3�$3��!,��&0%$�#�("�,��((+�
(!�$"&,$#&("�

� �"3�()��&)���+&)���$,���%&!�3�(!�
!&,��()�&00&"�"#�)$&+ !�

��!'�%((!6��k &+3&"�,�,�!&( ,+'�&"�&.&#�#���,#$))�,�$.&+&#'�#(�
3�+&��!�#���� !!&� + 0�

/�"#!�.$"��/!&0$!'�*��((+�&,�!$#�3�� �)(!��("3&#&("�$"3�k�)(!�, &#$.&+&#'6

����,&#���$"3�+(�$+�&")!$,#! �# !��())¡,&#����( +3�, %%(!#�#���3���+(%0�"#�()�,%��&$+�,��((+�%!(�&,&("6

¢£

¤
¥¦
§̈
©
ª«
§¬
®̈̄
°±
²
²
³¦

ª́«
§
ªµ
¶«
ª̈́
·̧
¶
®̈̄
°±
²
²
³̈

Page 568



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$"% �#$�&$'"

()*+,-./012+3-456+02-6*27+318)+83-+-49:/16:81-/6+1/+-4;*4+8-+<-/18-4+8)*+=*4>-4<:/0*+->+60)--26+:/;+8-+6.==-48+
60)--2+1<=4-?*<*/8@

A687/+16+8)*+->B0*+->+C*4+D:E*687F6+,)1*>+G/6=*08-4+->+A;.0:81-/+:/;+(4:1/1/9+1/+H:2*6@++

A687/+1/6=*086+I.:2187+:/;+68:/;:4;6+1/+60)--26+:/;+-8)*4+*;.0:81-/+=4-?1;*46+1/+H:2*6@+

()*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+K-1/8+A;.0:81-/+J*4?10*+L,J,KAJM+16+8)*+4*91-/:2+J0)--2+G<=4-?*<*/8+J*4?10*+>-4+
8)*+B?*+0-./0126+->+N41;9*/;O+,:4;1>>O+D*48)74+(7;B2O+P)-/;;:+,7/-/+(:>>+:/;+8)*+Q:2*+->+R2:<-49:/@++()*+,-./012+
3-456+318)+8)*+,-/6-481.<+8-+6.==-48+:/;+0):22*/9*+:22+60)--26+1/+,:4;1>>@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6O+6.0)+:6+,:4;1>>+,-./012O+<.68+0-/61;*4+A687/+4*=-486+:/;+-8)*4+*?1;*/0*+:U-.8+60)--2+
=*4>-4<:/0*+:/;+*>>*081?*/*66+3)*/+6.99*681/9+0):/9*6+8-+60)--26@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6+<.68+:26-+0-/61;*4+8)*+215*27+1<=:08+->+8)*+=4-=-6*;+0):/9*6+-/V

W+68:/;:4;6O+3*22U*1/9+:/;+:8818.;*6+8-+2*:4/1/9

W+8*:0)1/9+:/;+2*:4/1/9+*X=*41*/0*6+

W+0:4*+6.==-48+:/;+9.1;:/0*

W+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+<:/:9*<*/8+L2*:;*46)1=O+1<=4-?1/9+I.:2187O+=:48/*46)1=+3-451/9+:/;+4*6-.40*+<:/:9*<*/8M

YZ[\]

J0)--26+:4*+1/6=*08*;+:6+=:48+->+:+/:81-/:2+=4-94:<<*+->+60)--2+1/6=*081-/@+()*+=.4=-6*+->+:/+1/6=*081-/+16+
8-+1;*/81>7+9--;+>*:8.4*6+:/;+6)-480-<1/96+1/+60)--26+1/+-4;*4+8):8+8)*7+<:7+1<=4-?*+8)*+I.:2187+->+*;.0:81-/+
->>*4*;+:/;+4:16*+68:/;:4;6+:0)1*?*;+U7+8)*14+=.=126+LA687/M@

()*+4*2*?:/8+A687/+G/6=*081-/+4*=-486+=4-?1;*+94:;*6+:9:1/68+̂*7+_.*681-/6+:/;+=4-?1;*+60)--26+318)+
4*0-<<*/;:81-/6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

-̀.+0:/+B/;+1/6=*081-/+4*=-486+-/+8)*+A687/+3*U618*+aaabcdefgbhijbkl+

mnoZpqrstnu]vn][qwx[nysuzZx[zs]qs{qZwpssoZ

G/+|}~�O+8)*+H*26)+R-?*4/<*/8+1/84-;.0*;+:+/*3+0:8*9-416:81-/+6768*<@

G8+2--56+:8+*:0)+60)--2F6+68:/;:4;6+:/;+)-3+<.0)+:+60)--2+16+:U2*+8-+1<=4-?*@+()16+1;*/81B*6+8)*+2*?*2+->+6.==-48+
60)--26+4*I.14*@+�49:/16:81-/6+6.0)+:6+8)*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+L,J,KAJM+:/;+8)*+60)--2+1<=4-?*<*/8+6*4?10*+
8)*/+3-45+318)+60)--26F+2*:;*46+8-+1;*/81>7O+=4-?1;*+:/;�-4+U4-5*4+:/7+6.==-48+4*I.14*;+>-4+>.48)*4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

�pnqwx[nysuzZx[zs]qZ\Z[nvqzZq�nZwuz�n�qz]q�x�onq��q�nos��

�x[nysu\qs{qZ���su[qmpx[q[pnqwx[nysu\qvnx]Z

R4**/+ T+)19)27+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+3*22+4./O+):6+:+684-/9+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+16+02*:4+
:U-.8+186+=41-4181*6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8

*̀22-3 T/+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+:24*:;7+;-1/9+3*22+:/;+5/-36+8)*+:4*:6+18+/**;6+8-+
1<=4-?*@

T<U*4 T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+1<=4-?*<*/8+3)10)+/**;6+)*2=+8-+1;*/81>7+8)*+68*=6+8-+
1<=4-?*+-4+8-+<:5*+0):/9*+):==*/+<-4*+I.10527@++

P*; T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+94*:8*68+1<=4-?*<*/8+:/;+3122+4*0*1?*+1<<*;1:8*O+1/8*/61?*+
6.==-48@++

+
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
��
��
��
�
� 
¡
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 569



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"��� ! #$%� &'&��()'* $+�,��&'�,&'&�-+�� .�,)�,��$()'&�/ $��)(0&($&��12%34�(0&�/ $�� .�(-!'�,)�,��) �

,56$ 7'�1�%849�

2�,��)�'�-'�)�$(),0*�/ $��)(0&($&��(0&���,��)�'�-'�)�/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)9�

:6&()'&��()'* $,�(), 0��/ $�'(������  !�($'�6#-!,��'&�'7'$+�+'($�,0�;(0#($+9�

< $'�,0/ $5(), 0�(- #)�)�'��()'* $,�(), 0����'5'��(0�-'�/ #0&�,0�)�'�='!���> 7'$05'0)"��6($'0)�"�*#,&'�) �

)�'�?(), 0(!�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�@+�)'5��'$'B�

�))6BCC* 79.(!'�C& ��C&�'!!�C6#-!,�(), 0�C2DE22F%6($'0)�%*#,&'%'096&/

GHIJKHLMIHNGKOPMKQNRSTUUVN

W'0)$'-(0'�W$,5($+�@��  !�.(��!(�)�,0�6'�)'&�-+�X�)+0�,0�<($���YE2D9

�)�)�,��),5'�)�'����  !"��6'$/ $5(0�'�(0&�6$ �6'�)��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)�.'$'�Z#&*'&�(��*  &9

[0�)�'�5 �)�$'�'0)�='!���> 7'$05'0)�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�()�;(0#($+�YEYE\�W'0)$'-(0'�W$,5($+�@��  !�.(��

�()'* $,�'&�()�]'!! .�1�0�'//'�),7'����  !�.�,���,��(!$'(&+�& ,0*�.'!!�(0&�̂0 .��)�'�($'(��,)�0''&��) �,56$ 7'49

�0�(��'��5'0)�6$ 7,&'&�-+�)�'�A'0)$(!�@ #)��A 0� $),#5�,0��#)#50�YEY2�*(7'�)�'�/ !! .,0*�'7(!#(), 0B

_� �̀'����  !"��6$ *$'���&()(�/ $�YE2F��� .��)�()�0'($!+�(!!�6#6,!��5(̂'�()�!'(�)�'a6'�)'&�6$ *$'���/$ 5�)�',$�

�)($),0*�6 ,0)�) �)�'�'0&� /�)�'�b #0&(), 0�W�(�'9�

_��!!�6#6,!��.� �($'�'!,*,-!'�/ $�/$''����  !�5'(!��1'b@<4�5(̂'�()�!'(�)�'a6'�)'&�6$ *$'���-+�)�'�),5'�)�'+�
!'(7'�]'($�Y9��<(0+�b$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��5(̂'�()�!'(�)�'a6'�)'&�6$ *$'���/$ 5�)�'�'0&� /�]'($�Y�) �)�'�

'0&� /�]'($�c\�.,)��(�/'.�5(̂,0*��,*�'$�)�(0�'a6'�)'&�6$ *$'��9

_�d'(&'$��(0&��)(//��(7'�(��!'($�#0&'$�)(0&,0*� /�)�'�0''&�) �,56$ 7'� #)� 5'�9�e .'7'$\�)($*')��(0&�
'a6'�)(), 0��/ $�6#6,!�"�/#)#$'�(��,'7'5'0)�($'�0 )�(!.(+����(!!'0*,0*�'0 #*�9�W$ �'��'��) �)$(�̂�6#6,!�"�

6$ *$'��\�,&'0),/+�0''&��(0&�6$ 7,&'��#66 $)�($'�$ -#�)�(0&�'//'�),7'�,0�0'($!+�(!!��(�'�9

fghihgjklimnoploqlmioninrsimtrggkiusiovvstnsliuwinrsitropxsmiy

RJMIzMKz{

�̀'�A #0�,!��(��5(&'�(��!'($�� 55,)5'0)�) �� 0),0#,0*�)�'�,07'�)5'0)�,0\�(0&�,56$ 7'5'0)� /\�A($&,//�

���  !��) �5(̂'��#$'�'7'$+���,!&��(��)�'�-'�)�6 ��,-!'��)($)�,0�!,/'�1|||}~������~���������}~�}��49�

�̀'�A #0�,!�. $̂���! �'!+�.,)��)�'�* 7'$0,0*�- &,'�� /����  !��) �5(̂'��#$'�)�()��)(0&($&��,0����  !��($'�

�,*�\�)�()�)'(��,0*�,��*  &\�(0&�)�()�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,���)$ 0*9�

@)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !�($'�*  &9�[0�$'(�,0*�)�'�0#5-'$� /�6!(�'��. #!&�6$ 7,&'�(66$ 6$,()'��,*���#(!,)+�

���  !�6!(�'��/ $�+ #0*�6' 6!'�.,)���#),�5�@6'�)$#5�A 0&,), 09�[)�,��0 )�'a6'�)'&�)�()�)�'�6$ 6 �(!�.,!!�

,56(�)� 0��)(0&($&��()�)�'����  !9�

�̀'�6$ 6 �(!�,��0 )�'a6'�)'&�) ��(7'�(0+�0'*(),7'�,56(�)� 0�)�'��#(!,)+� /��)(0&($&�� /�'&#�(), 0�()�

)�'����  !9

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
��
 �
��
�
�¡
¢
 �
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 570



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#�!$#%��&! !"#�'(�& �!��)#

*+,-./0.0123-41-506-,7.,86,9-60-+2:,-25;-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-6,28+45<-259-3,2/545<-,7.,/4,58,1>

?�&�#)@((A&B#�!$#"@ $�!��#

C33-18+0031-+2:,-25-2../0./426,-/25<,-0D-.03484,1-259-./0:41405-45-.328,-60-./0=06,-.E.431F-+,236+-259-G,33H,45<>

*+,-18+003-41-80==466,9-60-./0:4945<-25-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-3,2/545<-41-:23E,9-259-.E.431-28+4,:,-6+,4/-

.06,56423-45-2-+2..;I-12D,-,5:4/05=,56-45-G+48+-6+,;-1+0G-/,1.,86-259-603,/258,-D0/-,28+-06+,/>

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-6+,4/-/,1.0514H4346;-

D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-82/,-1E..0/6-259-<E49258,>

L��$�&)� (#�!$#M�!�"�N�!B

*+,-J0E5843-G0E39-805645E,-60-G0/K-G46+-6+,-3,29,/1+4.-0D-6+,-18+003-60-=2K,-1E/,-,:,/;05,-E59,/162591-

6+,4/-/,1.0514H4346;-D0/-+,3.45<-60-4=./0:,-259-1E16245-+4<+-.,/D0/=258,>--O6-G0E39-1E..0/6-6+,-18+003-60-+2:,-

2-<009-/,3264051+4.-G46+-.2/,561-259-06+,/-.2/65,/1-10-6+26-.E.431-/,8,4:,-2-+4<+PQE2346;-,9E826405>

*+,-./0.01,9-8+25<,1-G0E39-H,-.3255,9-82/,DE33;-10-6+26-6+,-18+003F1-3,29,/1+4.-259-<0:,/5258,-41-506-

941/E.6,9I-G+48+-80E39-+2:,-2-5,<264:,-4=.286-05-,9E82640523-162592/91>

RSSTUTVWXYZ[\]]V̂UZ_V̂Z]\]TY[Z

��̀%�#ab#̀�%Ac#)�Ac#B��#(�&��!B�"�)#Ade#

f-gE.431-G46+-C994640523-h,2/545<-i,,91-

f-gE.431-/,8,4:45<-j/,,-k8+003-l,231-

f-gE.431-G46+-m5<341+-21-25-C994640523-h25<E2<,-

f-l450/46;-m6+548-.E.431-26-,28+-0D-6+,-18+0031

26-g,56/,H25,-g/4=2/;-k8+003>-

��̀%�#ab

n��AA%# o#Ad#
p@( %)#A!#
n��AA%#
q�B A!#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
A!#n��AA%#
q�B A!#p%@)#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#�#
)B�B�N�!B#
Ad#qLr#

o#Ad#s&��#
n��AA%#M��%)#
p@( %)t#a#
u��&#�v�&�"�#

o#Ad#p@( %)#
c B�#w!"% )�#�)#
�!#q$$ B A!�%#
L�!"@�"�#

o#Ad#M !A& Bu#
wB�! �#p@( %)#

g,56/,H25,-
g/4=2/;-k8+003-x233-
.E.431y

z{>| }>{ z~>� ~z>{ z�>~ ��>|

�N(��B#A!#(@( %)#c B�#q$$ B A!�%#L��&! !"#r��$)#�qLr�

*+,-8E//,56-,7.,/641,-26-6+,-18+003-G0E39-H,-=2456245,9>-*+,-,7.251405-0D-2994640523-3,2/545<-5,,91-

./0:41405-G0E39-./0:49,-0..0/6E5464,1-D0/-162DD-9,:,30.=,56-259-D0/-,5+25845<-.E.431F-3,2/545<-45-.E/.01,P

HE436-D2843464,1>

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 571



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$%�&#'" (%�)*�+�,�&,�&�#�&"*��$"��"-$. "/�",�#&"�0��!"+�,,%$"*�&")�!1+�,,$"*�2 .�#�$%).�"�($,��

&))$,$ "&%�%�&."$"*�"��)+3��4!1$%+�( !%)�0��+!11 .,�)�, ��"&0%��,��/�, �&)&1,�, �,���#�&"*�+�1. 1 +�)3

5678769:;8<9==6>?8@6>8=9=A:<87A?B8CDE:A<B8F<8FD8G;;A?A6DF:8HFDE9FEI8JI8F@@IK?I;L

4!1$%+�,�&,�.�#�$-��+!11 .,�0�#&!+��,��M��&-��N"*%$+��&+�&"�&))$,$ "&%�%&"*!&*��#&"�0��+!11 .,�)�$"�&"M�

+#�  %�$"��&.)$223

���.��$+�" �$"2 ./&,$ "�&-&$%&0%��,�&,�+!**�+,+�,�&,�,���1. 1 +&%�( !%)��&-��&�"�*&,$-���22�#,� "�� (�

#�$%).�"�($,��N"*%$+��&+�&"�&))$,$ "&%�%&"*!&*��&.��+!11 .,�)3������+#�  %�( !%)�# ",$"!��, �1. -$)��

+!11 .,�,�&,�$+�&11. 1.$&,��, �,���$")$-$)!&%�"��)+� 2��&#��1!1$%3

5678769:;8=9=A:<8>IKIAOADE8P>II8QKB66:8RIF:<8JI8F@@IK?I;L

S /�� 2�,���2!")$"*�,�&,�&�+#�  %�.�#�$-�+�$+�0&+�)� "�,���"!/0�.� 2�1!1$%+�$"�,���+#�  %�(� �.�#�$-��T.���

S#�  %�U�&%+3��V%%�+#�  %+�$"��&.)$22�( !%)�.�#�$-��2!")$"*�2 .�,��+��1!1$%+3

���.��$+�" �$"2 ./&,$ "�&-&$%&0%��,�&,�+!**�+,+�,�&,�,���1. 1 +&%�( !%)��&-��&�"�*&,$-���22�#,� "�1!1$%+�&,�

,���+#�  %�(� �.�#�$-��T.���S#�  %�U�&%+3

5678769:;8RAD6>A?W8C?BDAK8X9=A:<8JI8F@@IK?I;L

����"��)+� 2�$")$-$)!&%�1!1$%+�&.��&++�++�)�&")�1. -$)�)�2 .�&+�&11. 1.$&,�3�����.��$+�&%+ �" �$"2 ./&,$ "�

&-&$%&0%��,�&,�+!**�+,+�,�&,�,���1. 1 +&%�( !%)��&-��&�"�*&,$-���22�#,� "�1. -$+$ "�2 .�&"M��,�"$#�*. !13

YZ[\][̂_]\Z_]̀_a_b\c]de]\Z_]f̂dfdc_g]hZ[ai_j

k�����1. 1 +&%�( !%)�$"#.�&+��,���"!/0�.� 2�S1�#$&%$+,�S#�  %�l&+��1%&#�+�2 .�1.$/&.M�&*�)�%�&."�.+�($,��

V!,$+/�S1�#,.!/�� ")$,$ "�&")�# ",.$0!,��, (&.)+�/��,$"*�1. m�#,�)�)�/&")3

k����� 11 .,!"$,M�, ��/1% M�&))$,$ "&%�+1�#$&%$+,�+,&22�&")�, �( .'�/ .��#% +�%M�($,��+1�#$&%$+,�+�.-$#�+�$"�

�&.)$22�( !%)��"�&"#��,���+#�  %n+�$"#%!+$-��,�&#�$"*3���$+�( !%)�0�"�o,�&%%�1!1$%+�$"�,���+#�  %3�

k�����1. 1 +&%�( !%)��"+!.��,�&,�1!1$%+�%$-$"*�$"�,���(�+,� 2�,���#$,M�,.&-�%�+� .,�.�)$+,&"#�+�, �&##�++�

+1�#$&%$+,�1. -$+$ "�,�&"�, �&%,�."&,$-��1. -$+$ "3

pd\_a\q[r]gqc[gs[a\[i_c]de]\Z_]f̂dfdc_g]hZ[ai_

k�S /��1!1$%+�($,��&))$,$ "&%�%�&."$"*�"��)+�#&"�o")�#�&"*��)$2o#!%,3�����M�/&M�o")�#�&"*�+�, �

0!$%)$"*+�!"+�,,%$"*3��t��'" (�,��M�($%%�"��)�#&.�2!%%M�1%&""�)�+!11 .,�, �&)&1,�, �,���#�&"*�+3��

u (�-�.v�,��.��( !%)�0��+!2o#$�",�,$/��, �1%&"�&")�+!11 .,�+!#��&�#�&"*�3

k����.��$+�1 ,�",$&%�2 .�&�+/&%%�$"#.�&+��$"�,.&2o#�&. !")�,���+#�  %�+$,��&,�,���+,&.,�&")��")� 2�,���)&M3�

����� !"#$%�( !%)�( .'�($,��,���w -�."$"*�l )M� 2�,���+#�  %�, �)�-�% 1�&��.&-�%�4%&"�, �/$"$/$+��&"M�

1 ,�",$&%�)$+.!1,$ "3

xy

z
{|
}~
�
��
}�
��
~�
��
�
�
�|

�
��
}�
��
��
�~
�
��
�
��
�
~�
��
�
�
�~

Page 572



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#�$%&�"% '$(% '")���)$

*+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@A-*+35-B/04<-3C9:/;,-

=22,55-?/:-909345D-=1<-:,<02,-8:=;,4-83C,5-?/:-C=1@-909345D-=5-B,44-=5-312:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-=;=34=>4,A-

E-10C>,:-/?-/8+,:-,F9=153/15D-=1<-1,B-9:/;353/1-=8-/8+,:-52+//45-238@GB3<,D-=:,-=45/-9:/9/5,<A

E48,:1=83;,-/983/15-8/-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-8+,-H,18:,>=1,-H:3C=:@-I2+//4-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-2/04<-31240<,L

M-8+,-,F9=153/1-/?-53C34=:-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-9:3C=:@-52+//4-538,5

M-8+,-,58=>435+C,18-/?-1,B-59,23=4358-9:/;353/1-/1-/8+,:-52+//4-538,5-=1<N/:-=-<3??,:,18-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-31-

8+,-20::,18-/:-9:/9/5,<->=5,5A-

O/B,;,:D-8+,-58=1<=:<5-=8-H,18:,>=1,-H:3C=:@-I2+//4-=:,-7//<A-P12:,=5317-8+,-10C>,:-/?-94=2,5-=8-8+,-52+//4-

9:/;3<,5-=1-312:,=5,<-10C>,:-/?-=99:/9:3=8,-+37+-Q0=438@-52+//4-94=2,5A-*+,-,F9=153/1-/?-=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-

1,,<5-9:/;353/1-=8-H,18:,>=1,-H:3C=:@-I2+//4-35-8+,:,?/:,-2/153<,:,<-8/->,-=-9:,?,::,<-/983/1A

RST! $U�'%S�(�'$V!����'$

OJ-H,/94,-I,:;32,5-B344-B/:6-B38+-8+,-W/;,:1317-K/<@-8/-=<<:,55-8+,-OJ-3C9432=83/15-=:35317-?:/C-8+,-

312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-=8-8+,-52+//4-=1<-8+,-:,5048317-1,,<-?/:-

=<<383/1=4-58=?X17A-

Y+,:,-8+,-W/;,:1317-K/<@-+=;,-=</98,<-8+,-./01234Z5-I2+//4-J,<,94/@C,18-=1<-J,<01<=12@-H/432@D-=1@-

1,B-;=2=123,5-=:35317-=5-=-2/15,Q0,12,-/?-8+,-312:,=5,-31-8+,-<,5371=8,<-10C>,:-/?-8+,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-

K=5,-B344-9:/;3<,-/99/:801383,5-?/:-52+//4G>=5,<-58=??-/1-8+,-52+//4-:,<,94/@C,18-:,7358,:A-

[�! '&%��$T!����'$

*+,-./01234-=9943,5-8+,-8B/GC34,-58=808/:@-Q0=43?@317-B=46317-<358=12,-2:38,:3=-?/:-909345-8/-Q0=43?@-?/:-?:,,-

+/C,-8/-52+//4-8:=159/:8-8/-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,5-=1<-9:3C=:@-52+//45A--I/C,-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-

4,=:1,:5-B+/-43;,-B38+31-8B/-C34,5-/?-8+,-52+//4-C=@->,-9:/;3<,<-B38+-?:,,-8:=159/:8-<0,-8/-8+,3:-31<3;3<0=4-

4,=:1317-1,,<5-=1<-5/23=4-3550,5A--\8+,:-I9,23=4358-J,5/0:2,-K=5,-4,=:1,:5-=:,-=>4,-8/-8:=;,4-31<,9,1<,184@-

/:-B38+-9=:,18N2=:,:5-=1<-3?-:,53<,18-B38+31-8+,-8B/GC34,-Q0=43?@317-<358=12,-C=@-1/8->,-,4373>4,-?/:-],=:1,:-

*:=159/:8A-*+,5,-909345-=5-B,44-=5-58=??-=1<-52+//4-;3538/:5-B/04<->,1,X8-?:/C-=1@-:,Q03:,<-3C9:/;,C,185-31-

?=234383,5-?/:-=283;,-8:=;,4-8/-52+//4-/:-90>432-8:=159/:8-?=234383,5A--

E5-8+,-./01234-35-5,,6317-8/-9:/;3<,-=->,88,:-<358:3>083/1-/?-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,-9:/;353/1-=2:/55-8+,-238@D-38-35-

,F9,28,<-8+=8-8+,-=;,:=7,-8:=;,4-<358=12,-8/-59,23=4358-:,5/0:2,->=5,5-?/:-31<3;3<0=4-4,=:1,:5-B/04<-:,<02,-

31-?080:,A

E-52+//4-9:/9/5=4-8/-,58=>435+-=<<383/1=4-4,=:1317-1,,<5-?=234383,5-C=@-:,Q03:,-=-*:=159/:8-I8=8,C,18-B+32+-

B344-3<,183?@-C,=50:,5-8/->,-31240<,<-=5-9=:8-/?-8+,-=99432=83/1-8/-C=F3C35,-8:=;,4->@-5058=31=>4,-C/<,5A---

*+,-./01234Z5-20::,18-./:9/:=8,-H4=1-31240<,5-=-2/CC38C,18-8/-,;,:@-52+//4-31-.=:<3??-<,;,4/9317-=1-

E283;,-*:=;,4-H4=1A-I02+-=-94=1-B344-3<,183?@-=283/15->@-8+,-52+//4-8/-5099/:8-=1<-,12/0:=7,-=283;,-8:=;,4-

8/-52+//4-=1<-=45/-=1@-3C9:/;,C,185-8/-/1G538,-=1<-/??G538,-31?:=58:0280:,-:,Q03:,<-8/-?=23438=8,-=283;,-

/̂0:1,@5A--

__

àb
cd
e
fg
ch
ij
dk
lm
n
n
ob

p
fg
ci
fq
rg
fd
p
is
t
ri
j
dk
lm
n
n
od
d

Page 573



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$%� &�'$%($!�)(('$*+$ �%"&�$,(-�!$./ '0"�#1$�+�'"�#$ �-$!�((%"�#2$*+$��!3�"�#$! 4�$4 �"'"%"�!$ ��$

5�(&"-�-$/"''$) &�$ $5(!"%"&�$",5 �%$(�$�)"'-���6!$)� '%)$ �-$/�''*�"�#7$$

8$�3,*��$(4$"�"%" %"&�!$) &�$!3���!!43''+$-�,(�!%� %�-$!355(�%$ �-$���(3� #�,��%$4(�$ �%"&�$ �-$

!3!% "� *'�$%� &�'$ ,(�#!%$%)�$ --"%"(� '$'� ��"�#$���-!$�()(�%1$/)"�)$/(3'-$*�$(44���-$%($'� ����!$ !$

 55�(5�" %�1$"��'3-"�#$�+�'�$%� "�"�#7$$$

9"%)$%)�$�:5��%�-$"���� !�-$-�, �-$4(�$;� ����$<� �!5(�%1$-�(5=(44$ �-$5"�0=35$ �� �#�,��%!$/(3'-$

���-$%($*�$��&"�/�-$%($��!3��$!3"% *'�$�(�&��"��%$ �-$!34>�"��%$4 �"'"%"�!$ ��$ & "' *'�$%($ ��(,,(- %�$

%)�$ 55�(5�" %�$�3,*��!$(4$&�)"�'�!$ �-$%)�$5�(&"!"(�$(4$!3"% *'�$4 �"'"%"�!$"!$*�"�#$�:5'(��-7$$?(%��%" '$4(�$

 $@�)(('$@%���%$, +$ '!($���-$%($*�$�:5'(��-$%($ --��!!$�3����%$"!!3�!$(4$%� 4>�$�(�#�!%"(�$ �-$",5�(&�$

5�-�!%�" �$! 4�%+$*+$��!%�"�%"�#$ ���!!$4(�$3� 3%)(�"!�-$&�)"�'�!$ %$5� 0$!�)(('$%",�!7$$

ABCDEFGHIEJBFE

8%$%)�$��-$(4$%)�$*((0'�%$"!$ $K3�!%"(�� "��7$<)"!$"!$+(3�$�) ���$%($'�%$%)�$L(3��"'$0�(/$/) %$+(3$%)"�0$

 *(3%$%)�$5�(5(! '7$M(3$� �$#"&�$ $��!5(�!�$%($ ''$(4$%)�$K3�!%"(�!1$(�$N3!%$��!5(�-$%($!(,�$(4$%)�,1$ !$

+(3$5��4��7$

8'%��� %"&�'+1$+(3$� �$!��-$3!$+(3�$&"�/!$"�$(��$(4$%)�$4(''(/"�#$/ +!O

L(,5'�%"�#$%)�$(�'"��$��!5(�!�$4(�,$ %$PPPQRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\]̂_̀aRbYYcdTYdYaSca

e, "'$+(3�$&"�/!$%($aRbYYcTfadYgafahRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\

9�"%�$%($3!$ %$%)�$4(''(/"�#$ --��!!O$@�)(('$i�# �"! %"(�$?' ��"�#1$j((,$klm1$L(3�%+$n ''1$8%' �%"�$9) �41$

L �-"441$Loml$kp97$

<)�$L(3��"'$/"''$�(�!"-��$�&��+(��6!$&"�/!$*�4(��$-��"-"�#$/)�%)��$%($#($ )� -$/"%)$%)�$

5�(5(!�-$�) �#�!7

qrstuvwxyz{t|}~st�w�t�sx�wzxsxt~wt~ryxt��w�wx}vtyxt�t�s���}��t�����t$

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
 
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 574



����������
	��
���������

Page 575



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#��"$%%&'&�( !")�*+& !&�'",*��-�+*". �*"�! +*�" '"
)��&(/0��%"��&1 �2")+3��!"

456789:;;<=>67?@6A=4BC;;D=7E=@8=F89D7ECG?H<7I?=B;??I87JA=567?@6A=EBC;;D=K;6=5I57DE=@9H<=LGMMN=OCH=

EBC;;D=7E=D;B@JH<=@J=P76BDH=Q@AR=SD@8H<HA68N

OCH=EBC;;D=C;EJE=@=E5HB7@D7EJ=6HE;I6BH=T@EH=K;6=BC7D<6H8=:7JC=UIJ7E?=45HBJ6I?=P;8<7J7;8N=

O;=?HHJ=JCH=78B6H@E789=<H?@8<=K;6=45HB7@D7EJ=VHE;I6BH=W@EH=5D@BHE=K;6=DH@68H6E=@9H<=X=Y=MM=:7JC=UIJ7E?=
45HBJ6I?=P;8<7J7;8=7J=7E=56;5;EH<=J;Z

[=78B6H@EH=JCH=<HE798@JH<=8I?TH6=@J=456789:;;<=>67?@6A=4BC;;D=45HB7@D7EJ=VHE;I6BH=W@EH=K6;?=\]=J;=\̂=
K6;?=4H5JH?TH6=\]\\

Q;6_E=C@̀H=THH8=I8<H6J@_H8=J;=7?56;̀H=@8<=@<@5J=Ha7EJ789=@BB;??;<@J7;8=:7JC78=JCH=EBC;;DN==

bcdefghidjeklemnopdqeorercdeqpckkne

O@TDH=Ls=THD;:=56;̀7<HE=<HJ@7DE=;K=5D@BHE=@̀@7D@TDH=@J=456789:;;<=>67?@6A=4BC;;D=

tohdekleqpckknugjjdfrevginwqcdxe
uomopwryezo{de|e
}~~�

vnopdqemdjeydoje
{jkgmezo{de|e}e~~�

tgjqdjyevnopdqee�of{go{dehdxwghe
ofxeuord{kjyekle
�pckkne

456789:;;<=
>67?@6A=4BC;;D=
�?@78EJ6H@?=
5D@BHE�

X\] �] X̂ F89D7ECG?H<7I?=
B;??I87JA==567?@6A=
EBC;;D=

456789:;;<=
>67?@6A=4BC;;D=
�45HB7@D7EJ=
VHE;I6BH=5D@BHE�

\] ��U ��U

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
 �
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 576



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�*��((0�&1�234�%0$��1�$"-�#���1��((0��$-�345�% %&01�("�!(00�&"�
6�#(7�!�34348�

����� !!�"#��$%$�&#'�()�#���*%��&$0&1#�9�1( !���:$1��$#�*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�*��((0�&1�34�%0$��1�$"-�#���
1��((0��$-�3;�%0$��1�("�!(008

<=>?@ABCDEBFG?H=IB?JBJK=BIHKDDGB

L?MG=BNOBM=GDPBI=JIBDQJBA=J?RGIBDCBE=H=@JB?@ABFEDS=HJ=AB@Q>M=EIBD@BEDGGB

�$70��TUV�9���"#�$"-�%!(W��#�-�" /7�!1�("�!(00�$#�*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�*��((0

XHKDDG YQ>M=EIBD@BZDGGB[\]̂X_̀ \QFRGBFEDS=HJRD@Ia

b
c
d
O
ed
f

b
c
d
f
ed
g

b
c
d
g
ed
h

b
c
d
h
eb
c

b
c
b
c
eb
d

b
c
b
d
eb
b
B

b
c
b
b
eb
N
B

b
c
b
N
eb
i
B

b
c
b
i
eb
j
B

b
c
b
j
eb
O
B

*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�
*��((0�
/$&"1#!�$/�%0$��1

k;2 k;5 k;l kmk k;k kml k;T k;4 k;3 kl5

*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�
*��((0�*%��&$0&1#�
9�1( !���:$1��%0$��1

kl 3k 34 3k 3U 34 3; 3; 3; 3;

n�o # !��1��((0�% %&0�-�/$"-�7$1�-�("�%(% 0$#&("�%!(W��#&("1�$"-p(!�qrs�#!�"-�-$#$��$%%�-�#(�1��((0��$%$�&#'

_D@ARJRD@B?@ABXQRJ?MRGRJtBDCBXHKDDGBuQRGAR@vI

q00�1��((01�&"�w$!-&))�$!��+&x�"�$�w("-&#&("�!$#&"+�)!(/�q�y%�!)(!/&"+�$1�&"#�"-�-�p�(%�!$#&"+��)z�&�"#0'{�#(�

|�y0&)���}%&!�-�p�!&1~�()�&//&"�"#�)$&0 !�{

*��((01�&"�w$!-&))�$!��$01(�+&x�"�$�* &#$7&0&#'�!$#&"+�)!(/�q�y+((-���)$�&0&#&�1�1 &#$70��)(!�#�$��&"+��0�$!"&"+�

��,�007�&"+{�#(�|�y7$-���7 &0-&"+�1�!&( 10'�&"�&7&#�#���1#$))�1�$7&0&#'�#(�-�0&x�!�#���� !!&� 0 /{8

L?MG=BNfB_D@ARJRD@B?@ABIQRJ?MRGRJtBvE?AR@vI�

�E?AR@v _D@ARJRD@B XQRJ?MRGRJtB

q �((-�$"-�(%�!$#&"+��)z�&�"#0'��((-8�o$�&0&#&�1�1 &#$70��)(!�#�$��&"+��0�$!"&"+�
$"-�,�007�&"+�&"�1��((0

: *$#&1)$�#(!'�7 #�,&#��/&"(!�
-�#�!&(!$#&("�

*$#&1)$�#(!'8��.�!)(!/&"+�$1�&"#�"-�-�7 #�
-(�1�"(#��))��#&x�0'�1 %%(!#�#���-�0&x�!'�()�
#���� !!&� 0 /�&"�1(/��$!�$1

w .((!�,&#��/$W(!�-�)��#1 .((!8���$��&"+�/�#�(-1�&"�&7&#�-p$-x�!1��
&/%$�#�("�1��((0�(!+$"&1$#&("�

| �"-�()�r&)���0&)���$1��}%&!�-�(!�
!&1~�()�&//&"�"#�)$&0 !�

��!'�%((!8��: &0-&"+1�1�!&( 10'�&"�&7&#�#���
1#$))�1�$7&0&#'�#(�-�0&x�!�#���� !!&� 0 /�

*%!&"+,((-�.!&/$!'�*��((0�&1�!$#�-�w�)(!��("-&#&("�$"-�:�)(!�1 &#$7&0&#'8

����1&#���$"-�0(�$0�&")!$1#! �# !��())�1&#���,( 0-�1 %%(!#�#���-�x�0(%/�"#�()�1%��&$0�1��((0�%!(x&1&("8

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
� 
��
¡
¢�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 577



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"�#$"% �#$�&$'"

()*+,-./012+3-456+02-6*27+318)+83-+-49:/16:81-/6+1/+-4;*4+8-+<-/18-4+8)*+=*4>-4<:/0*+->+60)--26+:/;+8-+
6.==-48+60)--2+1<=4-?*<*/8@

A687/+16+8)*+->B0*+->+C*4+D:E*687F6+,)1*>+G/6=*08-4+->+A;.0:81-/+:/;+(4:1/1/9+1/+H:2*6@++

A687/+1/6=*086+I.:2187+:/;+68:/;:4;6+1/+60)--26+:/;+-8)*4+*;.0:81-/+=4-?1;*46+1/+H:2*6@+

()*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+K-1/8+A;.0:81-/+J*4?10*+L,J,KAJM+16+8)*+4*91-/:2+J0)--2+G<=4-?*<*/8+J*4?10*+
>-4+8)*+B?*+0-./0126+->+N41;9*/;O+,:4;1>>O+D*48)74+(7;B2O+P)-/;;:+,7/-/+(:>>+:/;+8)*+Q:2*+->+R2:<-49:/@++()*+
,-./012+3-456+318)+8)*+,-/6-481.<+8-+6.==-48+:/;+0):22*/9*+:22+60)--26+1/+,:4;1>>@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6O+6.0)+:6+,:4;1>>+,-./012O+<.68+0-/61;*4+A687/+4*=-486+:/;+-8)*4+*?1;*/0*+:U-.8+60)--2+
=*4>-4<:/0*+:/;+*>>*081?*/*66+3)*/+6.99*681/9+0):/9*6+8-+60)--26@

S-0:2+T.8)-4181*6+<.68+:26-+0-/61;*4+8)*+215*27+1<=:08+->+8)*+=4-=-6*;+0):/9*6+-/V

W+68:/;:4;6O+3*22U*1/9+:/;+:8818.;*6+8-+2*:4/1/9

W+8*:0)1/9+:/;+2*:4/1/9+*X=*41*/0*6+

W+0:4*+6.==-48+:/;+9.1;:/0*

W+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+<:/:9*<*/8+L2*:;*46)1=O+1<=4-?1/9+I.:2187O+=:48/*46)1=+3-451/9+:/;+4*6-.40*+<:/:9*<*/8M

YZ[\]

J0)--26+:4*+1/6=*08*;+:6+=:48+->+:+/:81-/:2+=4-94:<<*+->+60)--2+1/6=*081-/@+()*+=.4=-6*+->+:/+1/6=*081-/+16+
8-+1;*/81>7+9--;+>*:8.4*6+:/;+6)-480-<1/96+1/+60)--26+1/+-4;*4+8):8+8)*7+<:7+1<=4-?*+8)*+I.:2187+->+*;.0:81-/+
->>*4*;+:/;+4:16*+68:/;:4;6+:0)1*?*;+U7+8)*14+=.=126+LA687/M@

()*+4*2*?:/8+A687/+G/6=*081-/+4*=-486+=4-?1;*+94:;*6+:9:1/68+̂*7+_.*681-/6+:/;+=4-?1;*+60)--26+318)+
4*0-<<*/;:81-/6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

-̀.+0:/+B/;+1/6=*081-/+4*=-486+-/+8)*+A687/+3*U618*+aaabcdefgbhijbkl+

mnoZpqrstnu]vn][qwx[nysuzZx[zs]qs{qZwpssoZ

G/+|}~�O+8)*+H*26)+R-?*4/<*/8+1/84-;.0*;+:+/*3+0:8*9-416:81-/+6768*<@

G8+2--56+:8+*:0)+60)--2F6+68:/;:4;6+:/;+)-3+<.0)+:+60)--2+16+:U2*+8-+1<=4-?*@+()16+1;*/81B*6+8)*+2*?*2+->+
6.==-48+60)--26+4*I.14*@++�49:/16:81-/6+6.0)+:6+8)*+,*/84:2+J-.8)+,-/6-481.<+L,J,KAJM+:/;+8)*+60)--2+
1<=4-?*<*/8+6*4?10*+8)*/+3-45+318)+60)--26F+2*:;*46+8-+1;*/81>7O+=4-?1;*+:/;�-4+U4-5*4+:/7+6.==-48+4*I.14*;+
>-4+>.48)*4+1<=4-?*<*/8@

�pnqwx[nysuzZx[zs]qZ\Z[nvqzZq�nZwuz�n�qz]q�x�onq��q�nos��

�x[nysu\qs{qZ���su[qmpx[q[pnqwx[nysu\qvnx]Z

R4**/+ T+)19)27+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+3*22+4./O+):6+:+684-/9+2*:;*46)1=+:/;+16+02*:4+
:U-.8+186+=41-4181*6+>-4+1<=4-?*<*/8

*̀22-3 T/+*>>*081?*+60)--2+3)10)+16+:24*:;7+;-1/9+3*22+:/;+5/-36+8)*+:4*:6+18+/**;6+8-+
1<=4-?*@

T<U*4 T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+1<=4-?*<*/8+3)10)+/**;6+)*2=+8-+1;*/81>7+8)*+68*=6+8-+
1<=4-?*+-4+8-+<:5*+0):/9*+):==*/+<-4*+I.10527@++

P*; T+60)--2+1/+/**;+->+94*:8*68+1<=4-?*<*/8+:/;+3122+4*0*1?*+1<<*;1:8*O+1/8*/61?*+
6.==-48@++

+ ��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
 ¡
�
�
¢
�£
��
¤
¥�
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 578



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"��� ! #$%� &'&��()'* $+�,��&'�,&'&�-+�� .�,)�,��$()'&�/ $��)(0&($&��12%34�(0&�/ $�� .�(-!'�,)�,��) �

,56$ 7'�1�%849�

2�,��)�'�-'�)�$(),0*�/ $��)(0&($&��(0&���,��)�'�-'�)�/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)9�

:6&()'&��()'* $,�(), 0��/ $�'(������  !�($'�6#-!,��'&�'7'$+�+'($�,0�;(0#($+9�

< $'�,0/ $5(), 0�(- #)�)�'��()'* $,�(), 0����'5'��(0�-'�/ #0&�,0�)�'�='!���> 7'$05'0)"��6($'0)�"�

*#,&'�) �)�'�?(), 0(!�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�@+�)'5��'$'B�

�))6BCC* 79.(!'�C& ��C&�'!!�C6#-!,�(), 0�C2DE22F%6($'0)�%*#,&'%'096&/

GHIJKLMNNOPQIJRSITPGUVNNWP

@6$,0*.  &�X$,5($+�@��  !�.(��!(�)�,0�6'�)'&�-+�Y�)+0�,0�<($���ZE2[9

�)�)�,��),5'�)�'��)(0&($&�\�.'!!-',0*�(0&�()),)#&'��) �!'($0,0*\�)'(��,0*�(0&�!'($0,0*�']6'$,'0�'\�(0&�

!'(&'$��,6�(0&�5(0(*'5'0)�.'$'�(!!�̂#&*'&�(��*  &9�_�'����  !"���($'\��#66 $)�(0&�*#,&(0�'�.(��̂#&*'&�

(��']�'!!'0)9

0̀�)�'�5 �)�$'�'0)�='!���> 7'$05'0)�@��  !�A()'* $,�(), 0�()�;(0#($+�ZEZE\�@6$,0*.  &�X$,5($+�@��  !�

.(���()'* $,�'&�()�>$''0�1���,*�!+�'//'�),7'����  !�.�,���,��.'!!�$#0\��(��(��)$ 0*�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�,���!'($�

(- #)�,)��6$, $,),'��/ $�,56$ 7'5'0)49

�0�(��'��5'0)�6$ 7,&'&�-+�)�'�A'0)$(!�@ #)��A 0� $),#5�,0��#)#50�ZEZ2�*(7'�)�'�/ !! .,0*�'7(!#(), 0B

a�_�'$'�,��(��!'($�'56�(�,�� 0�$(,�,0*��)(0&($&�9�_�$ #*��,)��)($*')��)�'����  !��(���,*��']6'�)(), 0��/ $�

)�'�(��,'7'5'0)� /�,)��6#6,!�9��

a�_�'����  !��(��(�7'$+�*  &�)$(�b�$'� $&�,0�$(,�,0*�)�'�(��,'7'5'0)� /�(!!�*$ #6�� /�6#6,!�9��

a�< �)�6#6,!��5(b'�()�!'(�)�']6'�)'&�6$ *$'���,0�5()�'5(),�(!�&'7'! 65'0)�1<84�(0&�6'$� 0(!�(0&�

� �,(!�&'7'! 65'0)�1X@849

a� 0̀�c'+�@)(*'�Z\�(�5(̂ $,)+� /�6#6,!��5(b'�()�!'(�)�']6'�)'&�6$ *$'���,0�Y0*!,���-+�)�'�),5'�)�'+�

!'(7'�+'($�d9

a� 0̀�c'+�@)(*'�Z\�(�5(̂ $,)+� /�e$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��5(b'��,*�'$�)�(0�']6'�)'&�6$ *$'���,0�Y0*!,��\�

.,)��5(0+�& ,0*�� �,0�5()�'5(),��9�̀0�ZE2F\�0 �e$''�@��  !�<'(!�6#6,!��5(&'��,*�'$�)�(0�']6'�)'&�

6$ *$'���,0�',)�'$��#-̂'�)9

fghihgjklimnoploqlmioninrsimtrggkiusiovvstnsliuwinrsitropxsmi

GySKOSIOz

_�'�A #0�,!��(��5(&'�(��!'($�� 55,)5'0)�) �� 0),0#,0*�)�'�,07'�)5'0)�,0\�(0&�,56$ 7'5'0)� /\�A($&,//�

���  !��) �5(b'��#$'�'7'$+���,!&��(��)�'�-'�)�6 ��,-!'��)($)�,0�!,/'�1{{{|}~�����}���������|}�|��49�

_�'�A #0�,!�. $b���! �'!+�.,)��)�'�* 7'$0,0*�- &,'�� /����  !��) �5(b'��#$'�)�()��)(0&($&��,0����  !��($'�

�,*�\�)�()�)'(��,0*�,��*  &\�(0&�)�()�!'(&'$��,6�(0&�* 7'$0(0�'�,���)$ 0*9�

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
 
�¡
��
¢
£�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 579



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ �!"��"�#$"!%#&&'"� $"(&&�)"*�% $�!+�("�#$"�,-.$ "&/"0'�%$!"1&,'�"0 &2+�$"�00 &0 +��$"#+(#"3,�'+�4"

!%#&&'"0'�%$!"/& "4&,�("0$&0'$"1+�#"5,�+!-"�0$%� ,-"6&��+�+&�)"*�"+!"�&�"$70$%�$�"�#��"�#$"0 &0&!�'"1+''"

+-0�%�"&�"!����� �!"��"�#$"!%#&&')"

8#$"0 &0&!�'"+!"�&�"$70$%�$�"�&"#�2$"��4"�$(��+2$"+-0�%�"&�"�#$"3,�'+�4"&/"!����� �!"&/"$�,%��+&�"��"�#$"

!%#&&'"�!"�" $!,'�"&/"�#$"0 &0&!$�"%#��($!)

9:;<=>?@A;?BAC:;D?>?@A:EF:D>:?<:GA

8#$"0 &0&!�'"+!"�&�"$70$%�$�"�&"#�2$"��4"�$(��+2$"+-0�%�"&�"�$�%#+�("���"'$� �+�("$70$ +$�%$!)

H;D:AGIFFJDKA;?BA@I>B;?<:A

5''"!%#&&'!"#�2$"��"�00 &0 +��$" ��($"&/"0&'+%+$!"���"0 &2+!+&�"+�"0'�%$"�&"0 &-&�$"0,0+'!L"#$�'�#"���"

1$''.$+�()

8#$"!%#&&'"+!"%&--+��$�"�&"0 &2+�+�("��"$�2+ &�-$��"+�"1#+%#"'$� �+�("+!"2�',$�"���"0,0+'!"�%#+$2$"�#$+ "

0&�$��+�'"+�"�"#�004M"!�/$"$�2+ &�-$��"+�"1#+%#"�#$4"!#&1" $!0$%�"���"�&'$ ��%$"/& "$�%#"&�#$ )

8#$"6&,�%+'"1&,'�"1& N"1+�#"�#$"'$��$ !#+0"&/"�#$"!%#&&'"�&"-�N$"!, $"$2$ 4&�$",��$ !����!"�#$+ "

 $!0&�!+.+'+�4"/& "#$'0+�("�&"+-0 &2$"���"!,!��+�"%� $"!,00& �"���"(,+���%$)

O:;B:DG=>FA;?BAP;?;@:Q:?K

8#$"6&,�%+'"1&,'�"%&��+�,$"�&"1& N"1+�#"�#$"'$��$ !#+0"&/"�#$"!%#&&'"�&"-�N$"!, $"$2$ 4&�$",��$ !����!"

�#$+ " $!0&�!+.+'+�4"/& "#$'0+�("�&"+-0 &2$"���"!,!��+�"#+(#"0$ /& -��%$)""*�"1&,'�"!,00& �"�#$"!%#&&'"�&"

#�2$"�"(&&�" $'��+&�!#+0"1+�#"0� $��!"���"&�#$ "0� ��$ !"!&"�#��"0,0+'!" $%$+2$"�"#+(#R3,�'+�4"$�,%��+&�)

8#$"0 &0&!$�"%#��($!"1&,'�".$"0'���$�"%� $/,''4"!&"�#��"�#$"!%#&&'L!"'$��$ !#+0"���"(&2$ ���%$"+!"�&�"

�+! ,0�$�M"1#+%#"%&,'�"#�2$"�"�$(��+2$"+-0�%�"&�"$�,%��+&��'"!����� �!)

STTUVUWXYZ[\]̂ Ŵ_V[̀W_[̂]̂UZ\[

9;aC:AbcAa:CJdAG=JdAK=:AF:D<:?K;@:GAJefA

g"h,0+'!"1+�#"5��+�+&��'"i$� �+�("j$$�!"

g"h,0+'!" $%$+2+�("k $$"�%#&&'"l$�'!"

g"h,0+'!"1+�#"m�('+!#"�!"��"5��+�+&��'"i��(,�($"

g"l+�& +�4"m�#�+%"0,0+'!"��"$�%#"&/"�#$"!%#&&'!

��"�0 +�(1&&�"h +-� 4"�%#&&'")"

9;aC:Abc

n<=JJCA oAJeA
pIF>CGAJ?A
n<=JJCA
q<K>J?A

oAJeApIF>CGA
J?An<=JJCA
q<K>J?ApCIGA

oAJeApIF>CGA
d>K=A;A
GK;K:Q:?KA
JeAqOrA

oAJeAsD::A
n<=JJCAP:;CGA
pIF>CGtAbAu:;DA
;v:D;@:A

oAJeApIF>CGA
d>K=Aw?@C>G=A;GA
;?AqBB>K>J?;CA
O;?@I;@:A

oAJeA
P>?JD>KuA
wK=?><A
pIF>CGA

�0 +�(1&&�"
h +-� 4"�%#&&'

x)yz {)|z }|)|z ~�)yz }~)�z y�){z

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��

Page 580



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#!�$�%&'!(% )!*++% %"#�&!,-�.#%#/!0--+'!1*,02

345678995:;65<=59;>?56@;6;456?74AAB6CA8BD6E56F@>:;@>:5DG634565<=@:?>A:6AH6@DD>;>A:@B6B5@9:>:I6:55D?6

=9AJ>?>A:6CA8BD6=9AJ>D56A==A9;8:>;>5?6HA96?;@HH6D5J5BA=F5:;6@:D6HA965:4@:7>:I6=8=>B?K6B5@9:>:IG

3456LA8:7>B6@7M:ACB5DI5?6;4@;6@674@:I56>:65:J>9A:F5:;67@:6E568:?5;;B>:I6@:D68=?5;;>:I6HA9674>BD95:6C>;46

@DD>;>A:@B6B5@9:>:I6:55D?G66N8=>B?6CA8BD6E56?8==A9;5D6;A65:@EB56;45F6;A6@D@=;6;A6;45674@:I5?6=9A=A?5DG

O"(!("$&+!'$��". !P".!�$�%&'!(% )!Q#/&%')!�'!�#!*++% %"#�&!,�#/$�/-!R-!�PP-� -+S

N8=>B?6;4@;69575>J56?8==A9;6E57@8?56;45T64@J56U:IB>?46@?6@:6@DD>;>A:@B6B@:I8@I567@:6E56?8==A9;5D6>:6@:T6

?74AAB6>:6L@9D>HHG

345956>?6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6@J@>B@EB56;4@;6?8II5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@J56@6:5I@;>J565HH57;6A:64AC6

74>BD95:6C>;46U:IB>?46@?6@:6@DD>;>A:@B6B@:I8@I56@956?8==A9;5DG663456?74AAB6CA8BD67A:;>:856;A6=9AJ>D56

?8==A9;6;4@;6>?6@==9A=9>@;56;A6;456>:D>J>D8@B6:55D?6AH65@746=8=>BG

O"(!("$&+!�$�%&'!.-�-%V%#/!W.--!X�)""&!Y-�&'!R-!�PP-� -+S

ZAF56AH6;456H8:D>:I6;4@;6@6?74AAB69575>J5?6>?6E@?5D6A:6;456:8FE596AH6=8=>B?6>:6;456?74AAB6C4A69575>J56[9556

Z74AAB6\5@B?G66]BB6?74AAB?6>:6L@9D>HH6CA8BD69575>J56H8:D>:I6HA96;45?56=8=>B?G

345956>?6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6@J@>B@EB56;4@;6?8II5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@J56@6:5I@;>J565HH57;6A:6=8=>B?6@;6

;456?74AAB6C4A69575>J56[9556Z74AAB6\5@B?G

O"(!("$&+!Y%#".% ̂!Q )#%�!_$�%&'!R-!�PP-� -+S

3456:55D?6AH6>:D>J>D8@B6=8=>B?6@956@??5??5D6@:D6=9AJ>D5D6HA96@?6@==9A=9>@;5G66345956>?6@B?A6:A6>:HA9F@;>A:6

@J@>B@EB56;4@;6?8II5?;?6;4@;6;456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD64@J56@6:5I@;>J565HH57;6A:6=9AJ>?>A:6HA96@:T65;4:>76I9A8=G

`abcdbefdcafdgfhficjdkldcafdmekmkjfndoabhpfq

r63456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD6>:795@?56;456:8FE596AH6Z=57>@B>?;6s5?A89756t@?56=B@75?6HA96=9>F@9T6@I5D6B5@9:59?6

C>;46]8;>?F6Z=57;98F6LA:D>;>A:?6@:D67A:;9>E8;56;AC@9D?6F55;>:I6=9Au57;5D6D5F@:DG

r63456A==A9;8:>;T6;A65F=BAT6@DD>;>A:@B6?=57>@B>?;6?;@HH6@:D6;A6CA9M6FA9567BA?5BT6C>;46?=57>@B>?;6?59J>75?6>:6

L@9D>HH6CA8BD65:4@:756;456?74AABK?6>:7B8?>J56;5@74>:IG634>?6CA8BD6E5:5v;6@BB6=8=>B?6>:6;456?74AABG6

r63456=9A=A?@B6CA8BD65:?8956;4@;6=8=>B?6B>J>:I6>:6;456:A9;4w5@?;6AH6;4567>;T6;9@J5B6?4A9;596D>?;@:75?6;A6

@775??6?=57>@B>?;6=9AJ>?>A:6;4@:6;A6@B;59:@;>J56=9AJ>?>A:G

xkcfhcybzdnyjbn{bhcbpfjdkldcafdmekmkjfndoabhpf

r6ZAF56=8=>B?6C>;46@DD>;>A:@B6B5@9:>:I6:55D?67@:6v:D674@:I56D>Hv78B;G66345T6F@T6v:D674@:I5?6;A6

E8>BD>:I?68:?5;;B>:IG66|56M:AC6;45T6C>BB6:55D67@95H8BBT6=B@::5D6?8==A9;6;A6@D@=;6;A6;45674@:I5?G66

}AC5J59~6;45956CA8BD6E56?8Hv7>5:;6;>F56;A6=B@:6@:D6?8==A9;6?8746@674@:I5G

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 581



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� ��!"�#$%�&%!'(�)$ �'�"*'((�!&+ �'"��!&�% '),+�' $-&.�%���"+�$$(�"!%��'%�%���"%' %�'&.��&.�$)�%���.'/0�

����1$-&+!(�2$-(.�2$ 3�2!%��%���4$5� &!&6�7$./�$)�%���"+�$$(�%$�.�5�($#�'�� '5�(�8('&�%$�*!&!*!"��'&/�

#$%�&%!'(�.!" -#%!$&0

9:;<=>?;@A<BCD;@C>EBFC>E@G<=<GB

����1$-&+!(�!"�"��3!&6�%$�# $5!.��'�H�%%� �.!"% !H-%!$&�$)�"#�+!'(!"%�# $5!"!$&�'+ $""�%���+!%/0���!"�2$-(.�

!*# $5��'++�""�)$ �#-#!("I�'&.� �.-+��% '5�(�%!*�"�)$ �*'&/�#-#!("I�'"�2�((�'"�!&+ �'"!&6�%���&-*H� �

$)�#('+�"�'5'!('H(�0�J�&-*H� �$)�$%�� ��K#'&"!$&"I�'&.�&�2�# $5!"!$&�'%�$%�� �"+�$$("�+!%/L2!.�I�' ��

'("$�# $#$"�.0

J(%� &'%!5��$#%!$&"�%$�%����K#'&"!$&�$)�%���M# !&62$$.�8 !*' /�M+�$$(�M#�+!'(!"%�N�"$- +��7'"��

+$-(.�!&+(-.�O

��%����K#'&"!$&�$)�"!*!(' �# $5!"!$&�$&�$%�� �# !*' /�"+�$$(�"!%�"

��%����"%'H(!"�*�&%�$)�&�2�"#�+!'(!"%�# $5!"!$&�$&�$%�� �"+�$$(�"!%�"�'&.P$ �'�.!))� �&%�&-*H� �$)�#('+�"�!&�

%���+-  �&%�$ �# $#$"�.�H'"�"0�

Q$2�5� I�%���"%'&.' ."�'%�M# !&62$$.�8 !*' /�M+�$$(�' ��6$$.0�R&+ �'"!&6�%���&-*H� �$)�#('+�"�'%�

%���"+�$$(�# $5!.�"�'&�!&+ �'"�.�&-*H� �$)�'## $# !'%���!6��S-'(!%/�"+�$$(�#('+�"0������K#'&"!$&�

$)�'..!%!$&'(�(�' &!&6�&��."�# $5!"!$&�'%�M# !&62$$.�8 !*' /�M+�$$(�!"�%�� �)$ ��+$&"!.� �.�%$�H��'�

# �)�  �.�$#%!$&0

TUV?>BW<ECU=F<EBX?;;<=EB

QN�8�$#(��M� 5!+�"�2!((�2$ 3�2!%��%���4$5� &!&6�7$./�%$�'.. �""�%���QN�!*#(!+'%!$&"�' !"!&6�) $*�%���

!&+ �'"��!&�%���.�"!6&'%�.�&-*H� �$)�%���M#�+!'(!"%�N�"$- +��7'"��'%�%���"+�$$(�'&.�%��� �"-(%!&6�&��.�)$ �

'..!%!$&'(�"%'),&60�

Y�� ��%���4$5� &!&6�7$./��'5��'.$#%�.�%���1$-&+!(Z"�M+�$$(�N�.�#($/*�&%�'&.�N�.-&.'&+/�8$(!+/I�

'&/�&�2�5'+'&+!�"�' !"!&6�'"�'�+$&"�S-�&+��$)�%���!&+ �'"��!&�%���.�"!6&'%�.�&-*H� �$)�%���M#�+!'(!"%�

N�"$- +��7'"��2!((�# $5!.��$##$ %-&!%!�"�)$ �"+�$$(LH'"�.�"%'))�$&�%���"+�$$(� �.�#($/*�&%� �6!"%� 0�

[=?>EDC=;BV?;;<=EB

����1$-&+!(�'##(!�"�%���%2$L*!(��"%'%-%$ /�S-'(!)/!&6�2'(3!&6�.!"%'&+��+ !%� !'�)$ �#-#!("�%$�S-'(!)/�)$ �) ����$*��

%$�"+�$$(�% '&"#$ %�%$�M#�+!'(!"%�N�"$- +��7'"�"�'&.�# !*' /�"+�$$("0��M$*��M#�+!'(!"%�N�"$- +��7'"��(�' &� "�

2�$�(!5��2!%�!&�%2$�*!(�"�$)�%���"+�$$(�*'/�H��# $5!.�.�2!%��) ���% '&"#$ %�.-��%$�%��! �!&.!5!.-'(�(�' &!&6�

&��."�'&.�"$+!'(�!""-�"0��\%�� �M#�+!'(!"%�N�"$- +��7'"��(�' &� "�' ��'H(��%$�% '5�(�!&.�#�&.�&%(/�$ �2!%��#' �&%P

+' � "�'&.�!)� �"!.�&%�2!%�!&�%���%2$L*!(��S-'(!)/!&6�.!"%'&+��*'/�&$%�H���(!6!H(��)$ �]�' &� �� '&"#$ %0����"��

#-#!("�'"�2�((�'"�"%'))�'&.�"+�$$(�5!"!%$ "�2$-(.�H�&�,%�) $*�'&/� �S-! �.�!*# $5�*�&%"�!&�)'+!(!%!�"�)$ �'+%!5��

% '5�(�%$�"+�$$(�$ �#-H(!+�% '&"#$ %�)'+!(!%!�"0��

J"�%���1$-&+!(�!"�"��3!&6�%$�# $5!.��'�H�%%� �.!"% !H-%!$&�$)�"#�+!'(!"%� �"$- +��# $5!"!$&�'+ $""�%���+!%/I�!%�!"�

�K#�+%�.�%�'%�%���'5� '6��% '5�(�.!"%'&+��%$�"#�+!'(!"%� �"$- +��H'"�"�)$ �!&.!5!.-'(�(�' &� "�2$-(.� �.-+��

!&�)-%- �0

_̂

àb
cd
e
fg
ch
ij
dk
lm
n
n
ob

k
p
iq
g
rs
n
n
t
du
iq
v
wi
j
dk
lm
n
n
od

Page 582



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !�"# " �$!�% �&�%$'!(���$))(%( *$!�!&$#*(*+�*&&)��,$�(!(%(&��-$.�#&/0(#&�$�1#$*�" #%�2%$%&-&*%�3�(���3(!!�

()&*%(,.�-&$�0#&��% �'&�(*�!0)&)�$��"$#%� ,�%�&�$""!(�$%( *�% �-$4(-(�&�%#$5&!�'.��0�%$(*$'!&�- )&�6���

1�&�7 0*�(!8���0##&*%�7 #" #$%&�9!$*�(*�!0)&��$�� --(%-&*%�% �&5&#.����  !�(*�7$#)(,,�)&5&! "(*+�$*���%(5&�

1#$5&!�9!$*6�20���$�"!$*�3(!!�()&*%(,.�$�%( *��'.�%�&����  !�% ��0"" #%�$*)�&*� 0#$+&�$�%(5&�%#$5&!�% ����  !�$*)�

$!� �$*.�(-"# 5&-&*%��% � *:�(%&�$*)� ,,:�(%&�(*,#$�%#0�%0#&�#&/0(#&)�% �,$�(!(%$%&�$�%(5&�; 0#*&.�6��

<*�#&$�(*+�%#$5&!�% ����  !�'.�$�%(5&�- )&��=3$!>(*+?��.�!(*+�$*)���  %(*+@�'.�&*�0#(*+��$,&�,$�(!(%(&��$#&�

"# 5()&)�3(!!��$5&�$�" �(%(5&�(-"$�%� *���(!)#&*8���&$!%��$*)�3&!!'&(*+6��

��*0-'&#� ,�(*(%($%(5&���$5&��0��&��,0!!.�)&- *�%#$%&)��0"" #%�$*)�&*� 0#$+&-&*%�, #�$�%(5&�$*)��0�%$(*$'!&�

%#$5&!�$- *+�%�%�&�$))(%( *$!�!&$#*(*+�*&&)��� � #%?�3�(���3 0!)�'&� ,,&#&)�% �!&$#*&#��$��$""# "#($%&?�

(*�!0)(*+��.�!&�%#$(*(*+6���

A(%��%�&�&4"&�%&)�(*�#&$�&)�)&-$*)�, #�B&$#*&#�1#$*�" #%�%�&��(%&�3 0!)�'&�#&5(&3&)�3(%��$�5(&3�% �(-"# 5&�

%�&�)# ": ,,�$*)�"(�>:0"�,$�(!(%(&��% �"# 5()&��0(%$'!&�$*)��0,C�(&*%�,$�(!(%(&��3(%�(*�%�&��(%&�% �$�� -- )$%&�%�&�

$""# "#($%&�*0-'&#�� ,�5&�(�!&��$*)�(-"# 5&-&*%��-$)&�(,�*&�&��$#.6�

DEFGHIJKLHMEIH

�%�%�&�&*)� ,�%�&�'  >!&%�(��$�/0&�%( **$(#&6�1�(��(��. 0#���$*�&�% �!&%�%�&�7 0*�(!�>* 3�3�$%�. 0�%�(*>�$' 0%�

%�&�"# " �$!6�N 0��$*�+(5&�$�#&�" *�&�% �$!!� ,�%�&�/0&�%( *�?� #�;0�%�#&�" *)�% �� -&� ,�%�&-?�$��. 0�"#&,&#6�

�!%&#*$%(5&!.?�. 0��$*��&*)�0��. 0#�5(&3��(*� *&� ,�%�&�, !! 3(*+�3$.�O

7 -"!&%(*+�%�&� *!(*&�#&�" *�&�, #-�$%�PPPQRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\]̂_̀aRbYYcdTYdYaSca

e-$(!�. 0#�5(&3��% �aRbYYcTfadYgafahRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\

A#(%&�% �0��$%�%�&�, !! 3(*+�$))#&��O�2��  !�i#+$*(�$%( *�9!$**(*+?�j  -�klm?�7 0*%.�n$!!?��%!$*%(��A�$#,?�

7$#)(,,?�7oml�kpA6�

1�&�7 0*�(!�3(!!�� *�()&#�&5&#. *&8��5(&3��'&, #&�)&�()(*+�3�&%�&#�% �+ �$�&$)�3(%��%�&�"# " �&)���$*+&�6

qrstuvwxyz{t|}~st�w�t�sx�wzxsxt~wt~ryxt��w�wx}vtyxt�t�s���}��t�����t�

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
�
�
 
�¡
��
¢
£�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

Page 583



�����������	
������	
��	���	���������

Page 584



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������� !�"#$�%#&'($)�&**$%"��"#$+�)%#�� ),

-./01234-056637484-./01231794:/76;<0/74=27/741>4?2<@1AA4.<6B1@/47./01231794.<6B1716>4A6<495/4C563/46A495/4?19D4

2>@4?6;>9D46A4?2<@1AAE4F5/</42</4>694/>6;G54.320/74964H//94@/H2>@41>4H21>921>/@4.<6B1716>E44F517452742>4

1H.20946>4/I1791>G470566374C5/</41>476H/4027/7495/</4H2D4J/424G</29/<4>;HJ/<46A4.;.13746>4<6334952>495/4

K;J3175/@4L@H17716>4M;HJ/<4NKLMO46<4@/71</@4>;HJ/<41>424-./01231794:/76;<0/4=27/E4

?2<@1AA40;<</>93D45274964</3D46>4.;<05271>G476H/4.320/741>46;946A406;>9D4.<6B1716>42>@41>@/./>@/>94

70566374964A;3P3419747929;96<D4@;91/7E4F5/</406;3@4J/42436>G/<Q9/<H41H.20946>46;946A406;>9D4.<6B1@/<742>@46>4

1>@/./>@/>947056637427495/</417431R/3D4964J/424</@;0916>41>495/4>;HJ/<46A4.320/74.;<0527/@4JD495/4?6;>013E4

S!TU))U�'�&++&'($T$'")�

F5/</42</4>64.32>>/@4052>G/7496495/4?6;>013V74.6310D46>495/42@H17716>46A40513@</>49647056637427424</7;3946A4

95174.<6.67234

W/9213/@41>A6<H2916>42J6;942@H17716>42<<2>G/H/>9741741>495/4?6;>013V74L@H17716>4964-056634J66R3/9E44X6;4

02>4P>@4951741>A6<H2916>46>495/4?6;>013V74C/J719/4294YYYZ[\]̂_̀̀ZabcZde

L@H17716>749647./01231794.<6B1716>42</4H2>2G/@4JD495/4?6;>013f47;Jg/094964247929/H/>946A4-./01234h@;02916>4

M//@74N-hMOE4i>@/<495/4LjM4?6@/f4.320/H/>94C1334J/47;Jg/0949642>4k>@1B1@;234W/B/36.H/>94K32>4NkWKOE

l$&+'$+�m+&n$ �S++&'($T$'")�

i>@/<495/7/4.<6.67237495/</42</4>64.32>74964052>G/495/4?6;>013V74.6310D46>495/49<2>7.6<946A40513@</>49642>@4

A<6H47056637E4

L>D4.;.13742AA/09/@4JD495174.<6.67234C6;3@4J/46AA/</@495/472H/47;..6<94C19549<2>7.6<94274174.<6B1@/@4

95<6;G56;94?2<@1AA42>@41>42006<@2>0/4C195495/472H/40<19/<124952942..3D420<6774?2<@1AAE4F5/4?6;>013V74

9<2>7.6<94.6310D402>4J/4B1/C/@46>495/4?6;>013V74C/J719/4294YYYZ[\]̂_̀̀ZabcZde

F5/</4174247929;96<D43/G2346J31G2916>46>495/4?6;>0134964.<6B1@/4A<//456H/496470566349<2>7.6<94964.<1H2<D4

7056634.;.1374C56431B/4o4H13/746<4H6</4A<6H495/4>/2</7947;192J3/4705663f4274H/27;</@4JD495/4756<9/794

2B2132J3/4C23R1>G4<6;9/E

p5/>4@/01@1>G4C5105417495/4>/2</7947;192J3/4705663f495/4?6;>0134H;79406>71@/<42>D4@172J1319D4240513@452742>@4

2>D47./01234/@;02916>234>//@74N-hMOE

qU'&'%U& �r&""$+)�

-6H/46A495/4.<6.67/@4052>G/747/946;941>495174@60;H/>94C6;3@41>0;<402.19234067974A6<495/4?6;>013f4A6<4

J;13@1>G4C6<R742>@4846<42@2.92916>46A4J;13@1>G7E4F5/D4C6;3@4237641>0;<4</B/>;/4067974A6<495/4?6;>013f41>4

/H.36D1>G4792AAE

L9495174792G/46A495/406>7;392916>495/</42</4>64P>2>0123406HH19H/>97E4=27/@46>495/406>7;392916>46;906H/4

24<2>G/46A46.916>74C1334J/4@/B/36./@E4L4A;334P>2>01234/B23;2916>4C133495/>492R/4.320/E4F5174C1334/>7;</4

2AA6<@2J1319D42>@431H194J;@G/92<D4.</77;</746>495/4?6;>013Est Page 585



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"!#$�%�&%�'�(�)#*% �$�� �"#�+��,*$ � �,-#.�"����/!("!$0� �%�0�"� �('�##%1(�+* 0�"2�3*--�$"%4�

�!0�5'#("�&-#6!(!#$�,#-�(#.��&*&!%(�!(� �%!6�-� ��!"��-�!$���$*.+�-�#,�)�4(2�7#.��%��-$�-(��-��&%�'� �!$�

('�##%(�#*"(! ��#,�3�- !,,8�#-�!$�!$ �&�$ �$"�('�##%2�7#.��%��-$�-(�-�.�!$�!$�.�!$("-��.�('�##%(8�)!"��

93#.&%�/�:�� (�;$��$'�.�$"<�&�4.�$"(�.� ��"#�"���('�##%�"#�&-#6! ���&&-#&-!�"��(*&&#-"2�

=*-"��-�)#->�)!%%�+��*$ �-"�>�$�"#��("�+%!(��)��"��-�#-�$#"�"���(�6!$0(�#$�"��(��&%�'�.�$"(8�#-�#$�

�$��$'� �&�4.�$"(�"#�('�##%(8�)!%%�'#6�-�"����  !"!#$�%�'#("(�#,�&-#&#(� ��  !"!#$�%�&%�'�(2�

��!(�)#->�)!%%��%(#�'#$(! �-��#)�"���3#*$'!%1(��#.��"#�('�##%�"-�$(&#-"�'#("(�)#*% �'��$0�2�����!$'-��(� �

$*.+�-�#,�(&�'!�%!("�&%�'�(�&-#&#(� �.�4�!$'-��(��$*.+�-�#,�'�!% -�$�"-�$(&#-"� �,-#.��#.��"#�('�##%�+4�

"���3#*$'!%2�����!$'-��(� �$*.+�-�#,�&%�'�(��6�!%�+%��!$�(&�'!�%�('�##%(��$ �+�(�(�.�4�-� *'��"����6�-�0��

"-�6�%� !("�$'���$ ��6�-�0��?#*-$�4�'#("2

@ABCDEFGHIJKLKIMF

����&-#&#(�%(�"#��/&�$ �(&�'!�%!("�&-#6!(!#$��"�"���('�##%(�!$'%* � �!$�"��(��&-#&#(�%(�)!%%���6��

!.&%!'�"!#$(�,#-����%"���$ �#"��-�(&�'!�%!("�(�-6!'�(2����(��(�-6!'�(�)#->�!$�&�-"$�-(�!&�)!"��('�##%(�"#�

.��"�N  !"!#$�%�O��-$!$0�:�� (2�N$��  !"!#$�%�,�'"#-�!(�"���NO:�P�,#-.�N'"�QRST8�)�!'��)!%%�!$"-# *'��

$�)�-�(&#$(!+!%!"!�(�,#-����%"�8�� *'�"!#$��$ �(#'!�%�'�-��"#�)#->�"#0�"��-�"#�'##- !$�"���((�((.�$"��$ �

&-#6!(!#$2�����N'"�QRST�)!%%�+��!.&%�.�$"� �#6�-���"�-��54��-�&�-!# 8�+�0!$$!$0�!$�7�&"�.+�-�QRQR2�

U$�#- �-�"#��  -�((�"��(��'��%%�$0�(�"#0�"��-8�"���3#*$'!%��$ �3�- !,,��$ �"���V�%��W$!6�-(!"4�X��%"��Y#�- �

�-��*$ �-"�>!$0���?#!$"�-�6!�)�#,����%"���$ �(&�'!�%!("�&-#6!(!#$�!$�3�- !,,�(&�'!�%�('�##%(��$ �&*&!%�-�,�--�%�

*$!"(2�����Z$ !$0(�#,�"���-�6!�)8�#6�-(��$�+4���&-#?�'"�0-#*&�#,�-�&-�(�$"�"!6�(�,-#.����%"�8�� *'�"!#$8�

(#'!�%�(�-6!'�(8�('�##%(8��$ �&�-�$"(8�)!%%�!$,#-.�"��� �(!0$�#,�"���(&�'!�%!("�&-#6!(!#$2

[IJAHMBM\AF]HHBM̂A_AMDL

���-���-��$#�&-#&#(� �'��$0�(�"#�0#6�-$�$'���--�$0�.�$"(��-!(!$0�#*"�#,�"��(��&-#&#(�%(2�

_̀GB\DFIaFDEAFGHIGILBCLFIMFDEAFbACLEFcBM̂dB̂AF

����%�6�%�#,�(&�'!�%�� *'�"!#$�%�$�� (e��  !"!#$�%�%��-$!$0�$�� (�!$�"���f�%(�5.� !*.�(�'"#-���(��!("#-!'�%%4�

+��$�%#)�-�"��$�!$�"���;$0%!(��.� !*.�(�'"#-2���!(���(�+��$�'��$0!$0�#6�-�"���%�("�g5h�4��-(8�)!"��('�##%(�

-�&#-"!$0��$�!$'-��(� �!$'! �$'��#,�N  !"!#$�%�O��-$!$0�:�� (8�!$��%%��-��(�#,�$�� 2�

N�-�6!�)�#,��  !"!#$�%�O��-$!$0�:�� (�!$�"���f�%(�5.� !*.�(�'"#-�)�(�*$ �-"�>�$�)!"��f�%(��.� !*.�('�##%(�

!$�QRSi�"#�!$,#-.�"���f�%(��!$�; *'�"!#$�7"-�"�0!'�j%�$�kf;7jl2�7'�##%(�-�&#-"� ���(.�%%�+*"�(!0$!Z'�$"�

$*.+�-�#,��/�.&%�(�#,�&*&!%(�)!"��NO:�%��6!$0�"���f�%(�5.� !*.�(�'"#-�!$�#- �-�"#��''�((�(&�'!�%!("�-�(#*-'��

+�(�(�#-�(&�'!�%�('�##%(2�

���-��)�(��%(#�(#.���$�' #"�%��6! �$'��"#�(*00�("�"��"�(#.��,�.!%!�(�)�#�)#*% �#"��-)!(��'�##(��f�%(�5

.� !*.�� *'�"!#$�#&"�!$("�� �,#-�;$0%!(��.� !*.�!,�"��!-�'�!% ���(�N  !"!#$�%�O��-$!$0�:�� (8�"�-#*0��

'#$'�-$�"��"�"��!-�'�!% �.�4�$�� �"#�"-�$(,�-�"#�"���(&�'!�%!("�(�'"#-��"���%�"�-� �"�2�

��-#*0��"���f;7j8�3�- !,,���(�!$6�("� �!$�(&�'!�%!("�&-#6!(!#$�!$�"���(�'"#-8�!$'%* !$0�(#.��'�&�'!"4�"#�-�(&#$ �

"#�0-#)!$0� �.�$ ��$ �"#�0�$�-�"��.#-��'#$Z �$'��!$�"����6�!%�+!%!"4�#,�(&�'!�%!("�&-#6!(!#$�!$�"���(�'"#-2�

mnPage 586



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#$!%�&$'���$'��'($&)"'*�+�$(�,'-.)�/%#!$�-�0�))�1.2*3��"(*"��(*��2$(2*#��(�$!�$�.4�,'-.)�/%45��

/%#!$�-�/)$�($43��*�!��(*��'�2.�+$!%�&$'��"'��'($&)"'*�+6�7*��(�.�&$'�'�2$(�!�4.!�)�$!��!'��"(*�'�8�!��

)�$!�"�-�+"4925)("�'3� !.8"+"�-�$�' �2"$)"'(�25!!"25)5#�$�+�'5  .!("�-�$�!$�-��.4�'�2.�+$!%����+'�"�2)5+"�-�

 *%'"2$)�$�+�#�+"2$)����+'3�' ��2*�$�+�)$�-5$-��+"4925)("�'�$�+�$5("'#6�

:��;<;=�(*�!��"'�-!.�"�-�+�#$�+�4.!�!�'.5!2��&$'�'�4.!� 5 ")'��"(*�$5("'#3��*.�$!��$8�!$-��(.�*"-*�

$2*"�8�!'3�$�+��.5)+����+�$�#.!��"�(�-!$("8��#.+�)�.4�'5  .!(�(*$��(*$(� !.8"+�+�&%�(*��(�.��>"'("�-�

&$'�'6�7*�!��$!��25!!��()%�?�'�2.�+$!%�$-�+�)�$!��!'3�$�+�=@� !"#$!%�$-�+�)�$!��!'�"��A�)'*B#�+"5#�

'2*..)'��*.��.5)+�&���9(�4!.#� )$2�#��(�"��$���5("'#�C �2(!5#�1.�+"(".��&$'�6�7*"'�"'�$�'*.!(B(�!#�

 !".!"(%3�-"8���(*��!"'D�(*$(�"4�25!!��(� )$2�#��('�4$")3�(*��.�)%�. (".���.5)+�&��(.�.44�!�$�(!$�'4�!�(.�$��

E�-)"'*�#�+"5#�'�(("�-6�

�� !"#$!%���))&�"�-�2)$''�*$'�&�����'($&)"'*�+3�*.'(�+�$(�,'-.)�/%�!$++�0���%�/!.�'6�7*����))&�"�-�2)$''�

�.!D'�F�>"&)%�(.�$++!�''����+'�"��+"44�!��(�$-�� *$'�'3�.!�(.� !.8"+��$��.5(!�$2*�#.+�)3�+� ��+"�-�.��

25!!��(����+6�7*"'�2.�'5)($(".��.5()"��'� !. .'$)'�(.��'($&)"'*�$�G<� )$2���5("'#�C �2(!5#�1.�+"(".��

C �2"$)"'(�H�'.5!2��&$'��$(�,'-.)�/%45��/%#!$�-�/)$�($4�"��$++"(".��(.�(*���>"'("�-�G<� )$2��C �2"$)"'(�

H�'.5!2��&$'��$(�(*��'2*..)6

7.�'5  .!(��#.(".�$)�*�$)(*�$�+���))&�"�-����+'�"��'�2.�+$!%� *$'�3�$�I8"!(5$)J�&$'�K�05 ")�H�4�!!$)�

L�"(�*$'�&���� ").(�+�$2!.''�(*��(*!���'�2.�+$!%�'2*..)'3�'($!("�-�"��;<=?6�7*�� ").(�"'�+5��4.!�45!(*�!�

!�8"���"��;<;=6�

7*�� !".!"(%�"'�(.���'5!��(*��(*!���'2*..)'�*$8��$+�M5$(��4$2")"("�'�$�+�$22.##.+$(".��(.� !.8"+���44�2("8��

C(� �G�$�+�N� !.8"'".�3�2.# )�#��(�+�&%�(*��8"!(5$)�&$'�K�0HL6�O�+"5#�(�!#3�(*��8"!(5$)�&$'�K�0HL��"))�

�8��(5$))%����+�$�9>�+�).2$(".��$(�.���.4�(*��'2*..)'3��"(*�+�'"-�$(�+�$22.##.+$(".�3�(.�!�+52��(*��

!"'D�(*$(�%.5�-� �. )���"(*�(*��#.'(�2.# )�>����+'�#$%����+�(.�)�$8��(*��A�)'*�'�2(.!�(.�$22�''�#.!��

' �2"$)"'(� !.8"'".�6�

�'�(*��A�)'*B#�+"5#�'�2(.!�2.�("�5�'�(.�-!.��"(��"))�&��"# .!($�(�(.�+�8�). �$++"(".�$)� !.8"'".��"��

$�("2" $(".��.4�(*�����+3�(.���'5!��A�)'*B#�+"5#��+52$(".��"'�$�-��5"���2*."2��4.!�)�$!��!'��"(*�2.# )�>�

�++"(".�$)�P�$!�"�-�Q��+'6�

7*�� ..)�.4��PQ�M5$)"9�+�$�+��> �!"��2�+�(�$2*"�-�'($44�"'�)"#"(�+�"���5#&�!3�"��2.# $!"'.��(.�(*��E�-)"'*�

'�2(.!6���%� )$��(.�+�8�). �A�)'*�#�+"5#�' �2"$)"'(� !.8"'".���"))����+�(.�&��'5  .!(�+�&%�$���++"(".�$)�

P�$!�"�-�Q��+'�A.!D4.!2��R�8�). #��(�0)$�6�

:��$22.!+$�2���"(*�(*��("#�($&)��'�(�&%�A�)'*�/.8�!�#��(3�(*��1.5�2")�"'��.!D"�-�2).'�)%��"(*�"('� $!(��!'�

.��(*��1$!+"44�A�)'*�E+52$(".��S.!5#�(.�+�8�). �(*������(���%�$!�AEC0�4.!�(*��2"(%�

��'� $!$(��2.�'5)($(".��.��(*��+!$4(�AEC0�;<;;�T�;<G;�"'�5�+�!�$%�$�+�'��D'�8"��'�.��*.��&�'(�(.�-!.��

A�)'*B#�+"5#��+52$(".��$�+�.��*.��(.�#��(�(*��).2$)�($!-�('�'�(�&%�A�)'*�/.8�!�#��(3�"��.!+�!�(.�

"�4.!#�45(5!�� !. .'$)'6�7*��AEC0��"))�'�(�.5(�*.��(*��1.5�2")��"))�"�2!�$'��(*�� !.8"'".��.4�A�)'*B#�+"5#�

�+52$(".��4.!� 5 ")'��"(*�$++"(".�$)�)�$!�"�-����+'6��7*"'�2.�'5)($(".��2$��&��4.5�+�$(��� �

UUUVWXYZ[\\V]̂_V̀abcdefghiYXid]jk̂lf̀eiXi[̂lf

S.)).�"�-�2.�'5)($(".�3�"(�"'��> �2(�+�(*�� )$���"))�&��'5&#"((�+�4.!�$  !.8$)�(.�(*��A�)'*�/.8�!�#��(�"��

�$!)%�;<;;6�7*��9!'(�(��B%�$!�0)$���"))�2.##��2��.��=�C� (�#&�!�;<;;�$�+��> "!��.��G=��5-5'(�;<G;6

mn Page 587



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� ! "#$

%&'()*+,-./'012+3.'%4454415&.'6(0%7'-4'+'2893544'.:+.',99;4'+.'+'29,-3/<'289=53.'98'43:515'.9'1+;5'4*85'-.'

>954'&9.'>-438-1-&+.5'+?+-&4.'+&/9&5'@+45>'9&'.:5'289.53.5>'3:+8+3.58-4.-34'45.'9*.'-&'.:5'()*+,-./'%3.'AB'

6+?5<'>-4+@-,-./<'?5&>58'85+44-?&15&.<'1+88-+?5'C'3-D-,'2+8.&584:-2<'285?&+&3/'C'1+.58&-./<'8+35<'85,-?-9&E'

@5,-5F<'45G<'45G*+,'98-5&.+.-9&7H

%&'-&-.-+,'()*+,-./'012+3.'%4454415&.':+4'@55&'3+88-5>'9*.H'0.'39&3,*>5>'.:+.'.:5'2892945>'3:+&?54'

I9*,>'&9.'&5?+.-D5,/'+FF53.'+'2+8.-3*,+8'?89*2'-&'493-5./H'

J:-4'+4454415&.'I-,,'@5'85D-5I5>'+F.58'.:5'39&4*,.+.-9&'+&>'+.';5/'29-&.4'-F'.:5'289294+,4'I585'.9'289355>H'

0F'.:5'289294+,'?954'+:5+><'+&9.:58'5)*+,-./'-12+3.'+4454415&.'I9*,>'@5'3+88-5>'9*.'+.'.:5'>54-?&'4.+?5H'

J:-4'I9*,>'->5&.-F/'+33544-@-,-./'.9'.:5'&5I'289D-4-9&H''J:5'5)*+,-./'-12+3.'+4454415&.'I9*,>'.+;5'-&.9'

+339*&.'29,-3-54'4*3:'+4'.:5'()*+,-./'%3.'ABKB<'J%L'KAM'N54-?&'ABKO'+4'I5,,'+4'@*-,>-&?'85?*,+.-9&4'4*3:'

+4'PQRSBB<'T+8.'U'+&>'85,5D+&.'P*-,>-&?'P*,,5.-&4H

VWXX�Y !Z$[X\�]!$

J:5'F9,,9I-&?'+85'.+;5&'-&.9'+339*&.'I:5&'39&4->58-&?'+'289294+,M'T*@,-3'̂25&'Q2+35<'2+8;,+&><'&9-45'+&>'

.8+F_3'39&?54.-9&H''J:5'43:99,4'-&3,*>5>'-&'.:545'289294+,4'+&>'.:5'̀9*&3-,'I-,,'I98;'I-.:'+&/'3911*&-./'

?89*24'.9'1+;5'4*85'.:5'289294+,4'+D9->'+&/'&5?+.-D5'-12+3.4'-F'2944-@,5H

%'3911*&-./'-12+3.'+4454415&.':+4'@55&'*&>58.+;5&'F98'.:545'289294+,4'+&>'-4'+D+-,+@,5'.9'D-5I'+.'

aaabcdefghhbijkblmnopqrcsjjtuejujrdtr

v"��w" Yx$Wy$z�!�{"$|"Y"{�! WY#$

0&',-&5'I-.:'.:5'}5,,~@5-&?'9F'�*.*85'�5&58+.-9&4'%3.'̀+8>-FF�4'P+&>'P'289?8+115'-4'3911-..5>'.9'

289D->-&?'�93+,'Q3:99,4'F98'�93+,'̀:-,>85&<'.9?5.:58'I-.:'5&39*8+?-&?'*45'9F'4*4.+-&+@,5'19>54'.9'.8+D5,'

.9'43:99,4<'4*3:'+4'I+,;-&?'+&>'3/3,-&?H'(+3:'Q3:99,'289=53.'.+;54'-&.9'+339*&.';5/'.8+&4298.'-44*54'I:5&'

.:5/'+85'@5-&?'>54-?&5>'+&>'.:5'_81'&55>'.9'289D->5'4+F58'89*.54'.9'5&39*8+?5'I+,;-&?<'3/3,-&?'+&>'9.:58'

+3.-D5'.8+D5,'19>54'.9'43:99,4H'

}-.:'.:5'3*885&.'-&D54.15&.4'-&'0̀J'+38944'.:5'3-./<'4.*>5&.'19D515&.4'1+/'@5'F*8.:58'85>*35>'+4'19@-,5'

.53:&9,9?/'>5D5,924'F*8.:58'+,,9I-&?'F98'�5G-@,5'.5+3:-&?'15.:9>4H'J:545':+D5'.:5'29.5&.-+,'.9'854*,.'-&'+'

1985'5F_3-5&.'J8+D5,'T,+&'+&>'F*8.:58'39&.8-@*.5'.9'.:5'̀9*&3-,�4'.+8?5.4'.9'85>*35'-.4'3+8@9&'51-44-9&4H'

0&'98>58'.9'1+G-1-45'.:5',9&?~.581'-12+3.'9F'.:-4'4-?&-_3+&.'-&D54.15&.<'+&/'>54-?&'.+;5&'F98I+8>'F98'

5+3:'43:99,'-&3,*>5>'-&'.:-4'289294+,'I9*,>'@5'>5D5,925>'.9'5&4*85'.:5'>5,-D58/'9F':-?:~)*+,-./'19>58&'

F+3-,-.-54'.:+.'+85'+@,5'.9'85429&>'.9'.:5'3*885&.'2*2-,'292*,+.-9&4'&55>4'+&>'4*2298.'.:5'>5,-D58/'9F'

5FF53.-D5'.5+3:-&?'+&>',5+8&-&?'15.:9>4H'J:5/'I9*,>'+,49'-&398298+.5'.:5'�5G-@-,-./'.9'.+;5'+339*&.'9F'

3:+&?54'>525&>-&?'9&'&55>'+4'.-15'289?854454<'4*3:'+4'3:+&?-&?'>519?8+2:-34'+&>'2*2-,'&*1@584<'

3:+&?-&?'3*88-3*,*1'+&>'3:+&?-&?'./254'9F'2*2-,'&55>4H

��Page 588



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#$ %&'(� ��#��#�'( "%#

)*+,-./0123,*45,5260271408,+9:+;2+01+,20,8*+,5/11+55</3,=+32>+;?,.<,@/23=206,:;.A+185,.0,8*+,528+5,.<,.11/:2+=,

51*..35,45,4,;+5/38,.<,:;.6;+55206,4,34;6+,40=,6;.B206,51*..3,.;64025482.0,:;.6;4CC+D,,

E0?,@/23=206,B.;F,14;;2+=,./8,B./3=,@+,C4046+=,+<<+182>+3?,20,1.05/38482.0,B28*,8*+,51*..35,2013/=+=,20,

8*+5+,:;.:.5435,8.,+05/;+,8*48,8*+,1/;;21/3/C,1.0820/+5,8.,@+,=+32>+;+=,40=,8*48,*26*,+=/1482.0,5840=4;=5,

40=,54<+8?,5840=4;=5,4;+,C4208420+=D

G�H�#%��(%I#J�K#��#L!M�#N�'&#O �K%#M��K�#!�P#Q��PR!SM#Q�&L

TUVWXUVYYZ[\X[Z]Ŵ

_Z̀XaVWZ\

)*+,-./0123,B233,1.33+18,40=,5/CC4;25+,8*+,<++=@41F,<;.C,8*25,1.05/38482.0D,,-./0123,.<71+;5,B233,8*+0,

;+:.;8,8*25,8.,8*+,-./0123b5,-4@20+8,8.,;+:.;8,584F+*.3=+;,>2+B5,8.,+3+18+=,C+C@+;5,40=,8.,20<.;C,=+1252.0,

C4F206D,)*25,1.05/38482.0,;+:.;8,B233,@+,4>4234@3+,<.;,40?.0+,8.,>2+Bc=.B03.4=,.0,8*+,-./0123,B+@528+D,,d./,

140,435.,6+8,4,1.:?,@?,/5206,8*+,1.08418,=+84235,20,8*25,=.1/C+08D,,

e<,8*+,:;.:.5435,4;+,46;++=,8.,:;.1++=,<.33.B206,1.05/38482.0f,8*+;+,4;+,4,0/C@+;,.<,</;8*+;,5846+5,8*48,8*+,

-./0123,B./3=,*4>+,8.,6.,8*;./6*,@+<.;+,4,7043,=+1252.0,25,C4=+D,,

gUZ\ZX\WVhZ\XViZX\ZWXjkWXl[XgVmnZXopXmZnjqr

gVmnZXoprXskWkiZX\WVhZ\XtgUl\XWluZWVmnZXuV̀XmZX\kmvZwWXWjXwUV[hZx

yWVWkWjìXzijwZ\\ gluZ\wVnZ

-.05/38482.0,{+;2.= |},~+1+C@+;,���|,�,|,�+@;/4;?,����

-.05/38482.0,;+:.;8,1.052=+;+=,@?,8*+,-./0123,-4@20+8,
40=,:/@325*+=,.0,8*+,-./0123,B+@528+

�4;1*,����

�9:+18+=,=48+,<.;,584;8,.<,�@A+182.0,{+;2.=f,B*+0,
5848/8.;?,0.821+,*45,@++0,255/+=,�B*+0,<.;C43,.@A+182.05,
140,@+,C4=+�

�4?,����

�9:+18+=,=48+,<.;,+0=,.<,�@A+182.0,{+;2.=
�/0+,����

�2043,=+1252.0,�=+8+;C20482.0�,@?,8*+,-./0123b5,-4@20+8,,,
�/3?,����

�@A+182.0,;+:.;8,:/@325*+=,.0,8*+,-./0123,B+@528+,40=,
0.8271482.0,.<,-4@20+8b5,=+1252.0,,

�/3?,����

�� Page 589



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"!#��$%&'#�(

)*+,-./0123435./,6+75.8,9.7,3*+0+,67.6.0420,034730,:;,<+-+=>+7,?@?:,4/8,+/80,./,:,A+>7147B,?@??C,

D++,64E+,F;,9.7,9173*+7,8+34520,.9,*.G,3.,7+06./8,4/8,=4H+,B.17,I5+G0,H/.G/C

)*+,J.1/-52,G522,61>250*,4,-./0123435./,7+6.73,./,530,G+>053+C,)*+,7+6.73,=103,>+,61>250*+8,43,2+403,3G.,

G++H0,675.7,3.,3*+,61>25-435./,.9,4,034313.7B,/.35-+C,,

K.1,-4/,420.,40H,9.7,4,*478,-.6B,.9,3*+,7+6.73C,

)*+,7+6.73,G522,E.,.I+7,3*+,5001+0,7450+8,8175/E,3*+,-./0123435./,6+75.8,4/8,E5I+,3*+,J.1/-52L0,7+06./0+,3.,

3*+0+,5001+0C,)*+,7+6.73,G522,420.,-./345/,M03B/L0,I5+G,.9,3*+,67.6.0420C

)*+,J.1/-52L0,J4>5/+3,G522,-./058+7,3*+,-./0123435./,7+6.73,4/8,8+-58+,G*+3*+7,.7,/.3,3.,E.,4*+48,G53*,3*+,

67.6.0+8,-*4/E+0C

N9,3*+,J4>5/+3,8+-58+0,3.,-./35/1+,G53*,3*+,-*4/E+0,3*+,J.1/-52,=103,61>250*,4,8.-1=+/3,-422+8,4,

O034313.7B,/.35-+LC,)*50,50,4/,.9P-542,0343+=+/3,04B5/E,3*43,3*+,-*4/E+0,G522,E.,4*+48C

Q!"!�!�'R$S�!#T&

U,034313.7B,/.35-+,50,3*+,9.7=42,61>25-435./,.9,4,P/4250+8,67.6.042C,)*+,4667.I42,3.,61>250*,4,034313.7B,

/.35-+,=103,>+,E5I+/,>B,3*+,J.1/-52L0,J4>5/+3C,)*50,G.128,./2B,>+,-./058+7+8,493+7,3*+,J4>5/+3,*4I+,

7+-+5I+8,4,7+6.73,./,422,3*+,-./0123435./,7+06./0+0C,)*50,50,4,2+E42,7+V157+=+/3,40,.1325/+8,5/,3*+,D-*..2,

W7E4/50435./,J.8+,?@:FC

)*+,J.1/-52,G.128,61>250*,3*+,034313.7B,/.35-+X0Y,./,530,G+>053+C,N3,G.128,420.,613,-.65+0,.9,3*+,/.35-+X0Y,43,

.7,/+47,3*+,=45/,+/374/-+,3.,3*+,0-*..2X0YZ053+X0Y,499+-3+8,>B,3*+,/.35-+C,D-*..20,3*43,47+,499+-3+8,G.128,

420.,>+,E5I+/,-.65+0,.9,3*+,/.35-+,3.,E5I+,.13,3.,616520[,647+/30[,E147854/0[,4/8,03499,=+=>+70,X3*+,0-*..2,

=4B,420.,850375>13+,3*+,/.35-+,>B,+=452YC,)*+,/.35-+,0+30,.13,3*+,8+34520,.9,3*+,67.6.0420,4/8,40H0,4/B./+,

G*.,G4/30,3.,.>\+-3,3.,8.,0.C,W>\+-35./0,=103,>+,G7533+/C,)*+B,=103,>+,0+/3,3.,3*+,J.1/-52,G53*5/,3*+,

843+0,E5I+/,./,3*+,/.35-+C

]&!&'̂#�"!#��$�_$!̀&$%'�%��" �$

J478599,J.1/-52,J4>5/+3,G.128,8+3+7=5/+,3*+,67.6.042C,)*50,=+4/0,3*+B,G522,=4H+,4,P/42,8+-505./,./,

G*+3*+7,3*+,-*4/E+0,E.,4*+48C,)*+,J4>5/+3,=4B,8+-58+,3.,4667.I+,.7,7+\+-3,3*+,67.6.042[,.7,3*+B,=4B,

4667.I+,3*+,67.6.042,G53*,0.=+,-*4/E+0,X=.85P-435./0YC,)*+,J4>5/+3,G522,34H+,4/B,.>\+-35./0,7+-+5I+8,5/,

3*+,W>\+-35./,a+75.8,5/3.,4--.1/3,G*+/,=4H5/E,3*50,8+-505./C,

]&T#�#��$S�!#bT"!#��$

U93+7,8+3+7=5/435./[,J478599,J.1/-52,G.128,2+3,+I+7B./+,499+-3+8,>B,3*+,67.6.042,H/.G,G*43,3*+,8+-505./,

G40C,N3,G522,420.,>+,61>250*+8,./,3*+,J.1/-52L0,G+>053+C

cdPage 590



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#�$�%&
'()*+,-*+(./0121*2345*615/(-51*7(6.*(-04-1*,2*8889+,6:4779;(<9)=>?@A5+3((0/6(/(5,05

BCDEFCDGFHGHIJKLDMHN

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PabPcdbRPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PhijPX_PklmP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PnUVZ_d̂VRoPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PlmPX_PijP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PaYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PimPX_PhhiP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OP \̀TXYUTPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PaYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PhhiPX_PhqmP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTP

kmkr

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPfgVSUPR\]̂ UTP_̀PXYUPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUPVXPugVRQWYURPvVSYPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP

T̀_]PkmPX_PrmPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkr

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPnVTĝ_T_\[YPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀T_]PkmPX_PrmP

T̀_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPXYUPwURXTÛVRUPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀T_]PkmPX_PklP

WfVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPefTQR[d__ZPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀T_]PkmPX_PkjP

T̀_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

'()6*<4185*.,2216x*/01,51*2100*)5*83,2*y()*234-=*,z()2*231*/6(/(5,0*zy{

OP|_]fgUXQR[PVRZPTUX\TRQR[PXYUPVSS_]fVRbQR[P}\UWXQ_RRVQTUPX_PXYUPVZZTUWWP[Q~URPVXPXYUP̂_XX_]P_̀PXYUP̀_T]�

OP|_]fgUXQR[PXYUP_RgQRUPTUWf_RWUP̀_T]PVXP8889+,6:4779;(<9)=>?@A5+3((0/6(/(5,05P

OP�TPQ̀Pb_\PfTÙUTPb_\PSVRPU�]VQgPb_\TP~QUdWPX_�P5+3((0615/(-515�+,6:4779;(<9)=

�31*+0(54-;*:,21*7(6*615/(-515*2(*2345*+(-5)02,24(-*45*�)15:,y*�*�1z6),6y*����9**

�-7(62)-,210yx*-(*615/(-515*61+14<1:*,7216*23,2*:,21*+,-*z1*+(-54:161:9

�9*�34+3*(7*231*7(00(84-;*,61*y()*615/(-:4-;*,5�

OPwVTURXP_TPc\VTZQVR�

P aUVSYUTP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bPb_\TPWSY__g

�P eSY__gP[_~UTR_TP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bPb_\TPWSY__g

�P �XYUTP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀b

�9* �(*y()*3,<1*,*+340:>+340:61-*1-6(001:*,2*231*7(00(84-;*5+3((05�*�24+=*,00*23,2*,//0y�

�P wURXTÛVRUPwTQ]VTbPeSY__g

�P efTQR[d__ZPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPP

�P �XYUTPfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bP

OP�abPcdbRPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P nUVZ_d̂VRoPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P aYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P ugVRQWYURPvVSYPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP

�P nVTĝ_T_\[YPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP �P ���

�� Page 591



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ �!�"!##�$%�%&'�#()*"�#!%�+�$,)$-�%��./#$�0'�%&'�#$�0.".�*�+�$�1&.(-$'*�
)*-�2�!*3�4'�#('�,.%&�)--.%.�*)(�(')$*.*3�*''-"5

666 7896 6 6 :;6 6 <=;:>?6@:;A

B����� �!�"!##�$%�%&'�#$�#�")(�+�$�')C&��+�%&'�"C&��(�".%'"5

DC&��(�)*-�#$�#�")(�.*�E$.'+� 2'" F� ��*G%�H*�,

?I6JKIL69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?I6JKIL69MNOPQR6
9OSTTR6̂VT\6_̀a6XT6bcd6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

eNQYTK]QLf69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6eNQYTK]QLf6
9MNOPQR69OSTTR6̂VT\6cd6XT6̀a6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

?SN6gTRRPNW69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?SN6gTRRPNW69MNOPQR6
9OSTTR6̂VT\6̀d6XT6__̀6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

U6̂[VXSNV6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?SN6gTRRPNW6
9MNOPQR69OSTTR6̂VT\6__̀6XT6_hd6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbi

jRQLPWSNL6kQOS6lVP\QVI69OSTTR6

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX6XSN69MNOPQRPWX6
mNWT[VON6nQWN6QX6jRQLPWSNL6kQOS6lVP\QVI69OSTTR6̂VT\6
bd6XT6id6MRQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbi

eQVR]TVT[ZS6lVP\QVI69OSTTR6

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX6eQVR]TVT[ZS6
lVP\QVI69OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂VT\6bd6XT6id6
V̂T\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

lNLXVN]QLN6lVP\QVI69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX6XSN6lNLXVN]QLN6
lVP\QVI69OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂VT\6bd6XT6bc6
WMQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

9MVPLZKTTY6lVP\QVI69OSTTR66

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX69MVPLZKTTY6
lVP\QVI69OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂VT\6bd6XT6ba6
V̂T\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

opPage 592



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"�#!�!$�%!&�'"((!$&�&)*�($!(!'*#�+),%-*'�&),%�(.*,'*�*/(.,0%�1) �

2��3!".#� !"�.04*�&!�'"--*'&�,% �+),%-*'�!$�,.&*$%,&05*'6

78 Page 593



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ ! "#$%�&"''(#!)

*+,-

.//0-11

2314563/-

789:;<=>?@A:BCD9:E=F:F9>G=@>9>:D=:D8?>:;=@>H<DCD?=@:?>�I�J(KLM$LN�OPOO�
QR-563STUVW5V15T345+XW-5435U3T1V/-05+TY5U3T1SW4+4V3T50-1Z3T1-150-U-V[-/5+\4-054RV15/+4-]5

63T1SW4+4V3T50-1Z3T1-15̂VWW5#"!�X-5U3ST4-/5+153X_-U4V3T154354R-5Z03Z31+W]5

X̀_-U4V3T15U+T53TWY5X-50-aV14-0-/5\3WW3̂VTa5ZSXWVU+4V3T53\5+514+4S430Y5T34VU-]

b\5Y3S5̂V1R5435X-5T34Vc-/53\5ZSXWVU+4V3T53\54R-563T1SW4+4V3T50-Z3045ZW-+1-5Z03[V/-5+T5-,+VW5+//0-11]5b\5Y3S5/35T345Z03[V/-5+T5
-,+VW5+//0-115̂-5U+TT345d--Z5Y3S5SZ5435/+4-]

ef$#g�N"M�h"L�N"ML�&"''(#!)�
i%($)(�L(!ML#�!f )�h"L'�!"�!f(�j&f""%�kLl$# )$! "#�i%$## #l�e($'m�n""'�oPIm�p"M#!N�q$%%m�pJIP�ors�"L�KN�('$ %�!"�
)&f""%L()t"#)()u&$L� hh�l"v�Mg�KN�#"�%$!(L�!f$#�I�J(KLM$LN�OPOO�

wxPage 594



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !��
"#$%&$'()*+,-$'.*/)'(*&01*-$'2$#*3'0*'%##*3'/&'0*'4*)$'%11/)%0$#.'(,5(*,50')$&(*5-$50&6'+,$3&'%5-'5$$-&'2.'%)$%78

9:%0'3%&'.*/)'%;$'*5'.*/)'#%&0'2,)0:-%.<'

' =5-$)'>?' ' ' @A8BC'' ' ' CA8AC' ' ' ?A8DC' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

' >?8@C' ' ' BA8CC'''' ' AA8?C' ' ' DAF

G)$'.*/H<

' I$4%#$' ' '' J%#$' ' ' K0:$)' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

L*'.*/',-$50,E.'%&'%'-,&%2#$-'($)&*5<'

' M$&'' '' ' N*' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.'

"#$%&$'0,1O'%5.'*E'0:$'E*##*3,5;'0:%0'%((#.'0*'.*/7'

' L$%EP'L$%E$5$-P'Q%)-'*E':$%),5;' ' R,&/%#',4(%,)4$50''''''' S*5;8&0%5-,5;',##5$&&'*)':$%#0:'1*5-,0,*5'T$U;U'1%51$)V''

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' -,%2$0$&V'*)'%&0:4%W

' J$50%#':$%#0:'-,EX1/#0,$&'' ' ' 9:$$#1:%,)'/&$)'''' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

' S$%)5,5;',4(%,)4$50'P'-,EX1/#0,$&' ' J*2,#,0.',4(%,)4$50' ' K0:$)

"#$%&$'&($1,E.

9:%0',&'.*/)'$0:5,1';)*/(<'

9:$)$'0:$'0$)4'YZ),0,&:6',&'/&$-V'0:,&')$E$)&'0*'%5.'*E'0:$'E*/)':*4$'5%0,*5&'*E'9%#$&V'[5;#%5-V'N*)0:$)5'\)$#%5-'%5-']1*0#%5-V'*)'%5.'

1*42,5%0,*5'*E'0:$&$U

' 9:,0$'8'9$#&:P[5;#,&:P]1*00,&:PN*)0:$)5'\),&:PZ),0,&:'' ' G&,%5PG&,%5'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'Z%5;#%-$&:,

' 9:,0$'8'\),&:'' ' ' ' ' ' G&,%5PG&,%5'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'\5-,%5

' 9:,0$'8'̂.(&.'*)'\),&:'_)%+$##$)' ' ' ' ' G&,%5PG&,%5'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'G5.'*0:$)

'' 9:,0$'8'G5.'*0:$)'3:,0$'2%1O;)*/5-' ' '' ' Z#%1OPGE),1%5P̀%),22$%5PZ#%1O'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'GE),1%5

'' J,a$-PJ/#0,(#$'[0:5,1'̂)*/(&'8'9:,0$'b'G&,%5' ' ' Z#%1OPGE),1%5P̀%),22$%5PZ#%1O'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'̀%),22$%5

' J,a$-PJ/#0,(#$'[0:5,1'̂)*/(&'8'9:,0$'%5-'Z#%1O'̀%),22$%5' ' Z#%1OPGE),1%5P̀%),22$%5PZ#%1O'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'G5.'*0:$)

'' J,a$-PJ/#0,(#$'[0:5,1'̂)*/(&'8'9:,0$'%5-'Z#%1O'GE),1%5' ' G)%2

' J,a$-PJ/#0,(#$'[0:5,1'̂)*/(&'8'G5.'*0:$)'' '' ' G5.'*0:$)'$0:5,1';)*/('T(#$%&$'&($1,E.W

' G&,%5PG&,%5'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'̀:,5$&$' ' '' '

' G&,%5PG&,%5'9$#&:PZ),0,&:'8'"%O,&0%5,' ' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

_:$',5E*)4%0,*5'.*/':%+$'()*+,-$-'%2*+$'3,0:'2$'()*1$&&$-'2.'̀%)-,EE'̀*/51,#',5'#,5$'3,0:'0:$'L%0%'")*0$10,*5'G10'@c>d'%5-'̂$5$)%#'L%0%'")*0$10,*5'e$;/#%0,*5U'_:$'
,5E*)4%0,*5'()*+,-$-'0*'/&',5')$#%0,*5'0*'0:,&'1*5&/#0%0,*5'3,##'2$'0)$%0$-'%&'1*5X-$50,%#'2/0',0'4%.'2$'/&$-'2.'0:$'̀*/51,#'*)'-,&1#*&$-'0*'*0:$)&'3:$5')$f/,)$-'2.'#%3U'
_:$'(/)(*&$'*E'()*1$&&,5;'0:$'($)&*5%#'-%0%',&')$f/,)$-'0*'($)E*)4'%'&($1,X1'0%&O&',5'0:$'(/2#,1',50$)$&0U'G5.')$&(*5&$&')$1$,+$-'1%5'2$')$f/$&0$-'/5-$)'0:$'I)$$-*4'
*E'\5E*)4%0,*5'G10'%5-'4%.':%+$'0*'2$'4%-$'(/2#,1V':*3$+$)'%5.',5E*)4%0,*5'0:%0'3*/#-',-$50,E.'%5',5-,+,-/%#'&/1:'%&'5%4$'%5-'%--)$&&'3*/#-'2$')$4*+$-U
I*)'E/)0:$)',5E*)4%0,*5'*5':*3'̀%)-,EE'̀*/51,#'4%5%;$&'($)&*5%#',5E*)4%0,*5V'&$$'*/)'E/##'"),+%1.'"*#,1.'*5'0:$'̀*/51,#6&'3$2&,0$'
ghhijkllmmmnopqrsttnuvwnxylz{|l}v~�l{�m�L,&1#%,4$)P"%;$&P-$E%/#0U%&(a'

�� Page 595



This page is intentionally left blank



��������� �������
������������������������
��������������������������� �!�"���������
#�$������$�������������"�������%���&'

��(���)��������"������������!$��(�����$�!(�
�����$����������������������������"������*��+�
,-./0102304.565,.7.,.80349:4;.5655

<=>?@ABCDEFGH@CIG@JF@EIAF@IKI>LIJLF@>G@MNI>LLFO@
P@?DEEINQ@KFN?>BG@BR@H=>?@ABCDEFGH@>?@IKI>LIJLF@IH@SSSTUVWXYZZT[\]T̂_̀abcdUe\\fgW\g\dVfd

hGRBNEIH>BG@CIG@IL?B@JF@EIAF@IKI>LIJLF@>G@BH=FN@CBEEDG>HQ@LIGiDIiF?@>R@GFFAFAO@
jLFI?F@CBGHICH@D?@BG@klmnlkopnlplk@HB@INNIGiF@H=>?O

Appendix 2 

Page 597



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&''

()*+,--./0123204,/,560-5*07+89):,560)6+0;7)*6,6<0,60()*+,--0/7:/0)0<5);05-0=0>7)*6,6<0?6:,:;7@76:A0,60

BC,9C0);;09C,;+*760)6+0D586<0E75E;70)*70)F;70:5G

H0)997//0)EE*5E*,):70*58:7/0,6:507+89):,560)6+0;7)*6,6<05EE5*:86,:,7/

H0:C*,470)6+0-8;I;0:C7,*0E5:76:,);00

H0*7);,/70:C7,*0,6+,4,+8);0+*7)@/6+0)@F,:,56/0

JC,/0F55K;7:0956:),6/0/8@@)*,/7+0,6-5*@):,560)F58:0E*5E5/);/0:50,@E*5470)997//0:507+89):,560,60;,670

B,:C0:C70)F5470E*,69,E;7/05-0,69;8/,56L0

JC,/0,/0D58*09C)6970:50)/K0M87/:,56/0)6+0@)K7095@@76:/L00N70B)6:0:50K65B0D58*04,7B/0F79)8/70:C,/0

C7;E/08/0:50@)K70/8*70)6D0E*5E5/);0:C):0<57/0-5*B)*+0*7);;D0B5*K/0-5*09C,;+*76A0D586<0E75E;70)6+0:C70

95@@86,:D0;59);0:50:C70/9C55;/0,645;47+L0

OP�Q'�"R'SR'T"#T#UV%!'Q#'&#W

N70)*70E*5E5/,6<0:5G

H0,69*7)/70:C70+7/,<6):7+068@F7*0):0NC,:9C8*9C0X,<C0Y9C55;0YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/70-5*0;7)*67*/0

B,:C095@E;7\0;7)*6,6<0677+/0-*5@0]20:50̂22A0-*5@0Y7E:7@F7*01211

H07/:)F;,/C0)0320E;)970YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/70-5*0;7)*67*/0B,:C095@E;7\0;7)*6,6<0677+/0):0N,;;5B/0

X,<C0Y9C55;A0-*5@0Y7E:7@F7*012130

H0,69*7)/70:C70+7/,<6):7+068@F7*0):0:C70>;)6,/C760X,<C0Y9C55;0YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/70-5*0;7)*67*/0

B,:C0=8:,/@0YE79:*8@0(56+,:,560-*5@0120:50_̀0E;)97/A0-*5@0Y7E:7@F7*01211

H0,69*7)/70:C70+7/,<6):7+068@F7*0):0JC70a)*,560(76:*70YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/70):0JC70[,/C5E0

5-0>;)6+)--0(C8*9C0,60N);7/0X,<C0Y9C55;0-5*0;7)*67*/0B,:C0)8:,/@0-*5@0_10:50bb0E;)97/0-*5@0

Y7E:7@F7*01211

H07/:)F;,/C0)0320E;)970YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/70):0c/<5;0dD-860dD@*)7<0d;)6:)-0-5*0;7)*67*/0B,:C0

)8:,/@A0);56</,+70:C707\,/:,6<0320E;)970YE79,);,/:0Z7/58*970[)/7A0-*5@0Y7E:7@F7*01213

OPR"R'��%'e'f%&'g#"R'V%h#"g�QV#%W

H0i8;;0+7:),;/09)60F70-586+0,60:C70(56/8;:):,560j598@76:0560:C70(5869,;0B7F/,:70):00

kkklmnopqrrlstulvwxyz{|m}tt~�ot�t|n~|0

H0�-0D580)*7086)F;70:50)997//0:C70+598@76:056�;,67A0E*,6:7+095E,7/05-0:C,/0956/8;:):,560+598@76:0B,;;0

F70)4),;)F;70FD0E5/:0560*7M87/:L0c580@)D0*7M87/:0)095ED0FD0:7;7EC56,6<021�120�]1]12L0

H0N70C)4705*<)6,/7+0)6056;,670@77:,6<0)6+0+*5E�,60/7//,56/0:C):0D5809)60)::76+0,-0D580B58;+0;,K708/0

:507\E;),60:C70/8<<7/:7+09C)6<7/0:50D58L0c5809)60);/50)/K08/0M87/:,56/L0�-0D580B58;+0;,K70:50)::76+0

)6056;,670@77:,6<A0E;7)/70956:)9:08/0FD07�@),;,6<0|m}tt~o�|�t�|�|�mnopqrrlstulvw0)6+0:7;;08/0

BC,9C0@77:,6<0D580B58;+0;,K70:50)::76+L0N70B,;;0:C760E*54,+70)0;,6K0)6+0,6/:*89:,56/0-5*0)::76+,6<0

:C70@77:,6<L

JC70+):7/05-0:C70E8F;,90956/8;:):,560@77:,6</0)*70/7:058:0F7;5BG

������������������������������������

����������������������� ���������� ������

 8F;,90@77:,6< N7+67/+)D0̂�0¡)68)*D01211
G̀32E@

¢6;,6704,)0a,9*5/5-:0J7)@/0

j*5E0,60/7//,56/00 ¢60*7M87/:0FD07@),;,6<0
/9C55;*7/E56/7/£9)*+,--L<54L8K

¢6;,6704,)0a,9*5/5-:0J7)@/0

Y7E)*):70@77:,6</0C)470F7760)**)6<7+0-5*0/:)--0)6+0<547*65*/L

JC704,7B/05-09C,;+*760)6+0D586<0E75E;70)*70K7D0:50:C70B)D07+89):,560,/0+7;,47*7+L00N70B,;;0956/8;:0B,:C0

E8E,;/0,607)9C0/9C55;0)6+0,69;8+70:C7,*0-77+F)9K0,60:C70I6);0956/8;:):,560*7E5*:L

¤#S'��%'e'!V¥R'g¦'¥VRSUW

H0c5809)60)::76+0:C70E8F;,90@77:,6<05*0)0+*5E�,60/7//,56

H0c5809)60E*54,+70D58*04,7B/0):0kkklmnopqrrlstulvwxyz{|m}tt~�ot�t|n~|0

H0c5809)60I;;0,60:C70*7/E56/70-5*@0):0:C70F)9K05-0:C,/0F55K;7:L

�§����������̈�����������©����������§���������������������ª������«�¬¬¬®

OP¦'�"R'SR'T"#T#UV%!'QPRUR'�P�%!RUW

�̄§����©�����

=;;095869,;/0,60N);7/0@8/:0E*54,+707658<C0/9C55;0E;)97/0-5*0E8E,;/05-0);;0)<7/L0Y9C55;0E;)97/0@8/:0@77:0

:C70677+/05-0);;0E8E,;/0)6+0@8/:0F70/8,:)F;70-5*0)6D0)++,:,56);0;7)*6,6<0677+/L

��

P
age 598



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"# $%"# &'!(#) *##+#+,

-./012341562467836-9312:;6-317<=6

>?@ABCDEFGDF@BHIAJBKLLIAI?GECBMDEFGIGNBODDL@BPKMOQBEAADGLBEBC?RECBSEIG@AFDESB@RJ??CBEGLBJETDBDUAFEB

@VWW?FABAJDFDXBMDEFGDF@BHJ?BJETDBS?FDB@DTDFDB?FBR?SWCDUBGDDL@BEAADGLBEB@WDRIECB@RJ??CB?FBYWDRIECI@AB

ZD@?VFRDB[E@DXB\JDBGVS]DFB?̂BWVWIC@BHJ?BGDDLBEBWCERDBIGBEB@WDRIECB@RJ??CB?FB@WDRIECI@ABFD@?VFRDB]E@DBJE@B

R?GAIGVDLBA?BNF?HX

KBYWDRIECI@ABZD@?VFRDB[E@DBDGE]CD@BCDEFGDF@BHIAJBCDEFGIGNBLÎ_RVCAID@BA?B@VRRDDLBIGBEBSEIG@AFDESB@RJ??CB

DGTIF?GSDGAXBB\JI@BREGBIGRCVLDBWVWIC@BHIAJB̀?SWCDUBMDEFGIGNBODDL@BEGLaB?FBHIAJBKVAI@SBYWDRAFVSB

?̀GLIAI?GX

bVWIC@BIGBEBYWDRIECI@ABZD@?VFRDB[E@DBEFDBAEVNJABIGBEB@SECCBRCE@@B]cB@WDRIECI@AB@AÊ B̂EGLB]DGD_AB̂F?SBEB

@WDRIECI@ABRVFFIRVCVSXB\JDcBEC@?B]DGD_AB̂F?SBAJDB̂VCCBFEGNDB?̂BDLVREAI?GB?WW?FAVGIAID@BETEICE]CDBA?BECCB

WVWIC@BEABAJDB@RJ??CXB

KABAJDBDGLB?̂B>EFRJBdedfgBAJDFDBHDFDBdgdhiBRJICLFDGBIGB̀EFLÎ̂BHIAJBEB@AEADSDGAB?̂BYWDRIECBjLVREAI?GB

ODDL@XBK@BAJDBW?WVCEAI?GBNF?H@gB@?BHICCBAJDBGVS]DFB?̂BRJICLFDGBEGLBc?VGNBWD?WCDBHIAJB@INGI_REGABEGLB

R?SWCDUBKLLIAI?GECBMDEFGIGNBODDL@XB

kGBdedeadf

lBEBA?AECB?̂BfgffhBWCERD@BIGB@WDRIECI@ABFD@?VFRDB]E@D@B?FB@WDRIECB@RJ??C@BHDFDB̂VGLDLB]cB̀EFLÎ̂B̀?VGRIC

lBmnBADSW?FEFcBWCERD@B̂?FBCDEFGDF@BHDFDBETEICE]CDBEABoDCC]DIGNB̀CE@@BEGLBYWDDRJBEGLB

MEGNVENDB̀CE@@D@

lBpeBWCERD@BHDFDBETEICE]CDBIGBAJDBbVWICBZD̂DFFECBqGIABPbZqQB

oJIC@ABAJDFDBEFDBEBGVS]DFB?̂BDUI@AIGNB@WDRIECI@AB@DAAIGN@BERF?@@B̀EFLÎ̂gBAJDFDBEFDBG?ABDG?VNJBWCERD@B

ETEICE]CDXBB\JDBGVS]DFB?̂BRJICLFDGBHJ?BH?VCLB]DGD_AB̂F?SBEB@WDRIECI@ABWCERDBI@BWF?rDRADLBA?BIGRFDE@DB?TDFB

R?SIGNBcDEF@XB

s#$!*+ t%" &'!(#) 

kGBdedfaddBAJDFDBEFDBEBA?AECB?̂BmhfB@WDRIECI@ABWCERD@B̂?FBWVWIC@B?̂B@DR?GLEFcB@RJ??CBENDBHIAJB̀?SWCDUB

MDEFGIGNBODDL@BEGLBKVAI@SBYWDRAFVSB̀?GLIAI?GB̂VGLDLB]cB̀EFLÎ̂B̀?VGRICXB\JD@DBHDFDBIGBSEIGAEIGDLB

@RJ??C@BIGB̀EFLÎ̂BEGLBIGB?AJDFBD@AE]CI@JSDGA@BR?SSI@@I?GDLB]cBAJDB̀?VGRICX

\JDBoDC@JBu?TDFGSDGABJE@BEWWF?TDLBEBWF?W?@ECBA?BDUWEGLBo??LCEGL@BvINJBYRJ??CgBHJIRJBH?VCLB

IGRFDE@DBAJDBREWERIAcBIGB̀EFLÎ̂BA?BihfB@WDRIECI@ABWCERD@B]cBdediadhX

KCC?HIGNB̂?FB@?SDB@VFWCV@BA?B@VWW?FABwDUI]ICIAcgB@V̂_RIDGABREWERIAcBH?VCLB]DBA?BWF?TILDBhxnBWCERD@BIGB

dedfaddgBEGLBhpdBWCERD@B]cBdediadhX

kGB@VSSEFcgBAJDFDBI@BEGBD@AISEADLB@J?FÂECCB?̂BfyyBWCERD@B̂?FBCDEFGDF@BENDLBffzfnBIGBdedfaddgBFDLVRIGNB

A?BfxfB]cBdediadhXB

{%*+|}|%* !*+ ~�|}!�|'|}� %t ~(�%%' ��|'+|*�)

KCCB@RJ??CBWF?WDFAID@BIGB̀EFLÎ̂BJETDB]DDGBE@@D@@DLB̂?FBAJDBR?GLIAI?GB?̂BAJDIFB]VICLIGN@XBKCCBJETDB]DDGB

FEADLB̂F?SBKBA?B�gBHIAJB@RJ??C@BFEADLB�BIGBAJDBW??FD@ABR?GLIAI?GXB\JI@BWF?RD@@BJDCW@BV@BA?BWFI?FIAI@DBHJIRJB

@RJ??C@BGDDLBISWF?TDSDGA@BA?BAJDIFB]VICLIGN@BEGLBHJIRJBGDDLBIGTD@ASDGAXB

�DAEIC@B?GBAJDBFEAIGN@B̂?FBDERJB@RJ??CBREGB]DB̂?VGLBIGBAJDBR?G@VCAEAI?GBL?RVSDGABEA�B

�������������������������������������

�#%�"!&�|(!' +|)}"|��}|%* %t )&#(|!'|)} &"%�|)|%*

\JDBC?REAI?GB?̂B@WDRIECI@ABFD@?VFRDB]E@D@BEGLBoDCC]DIGNB̀CE@@D@BI@BG?ABHDCCBLI@AFI]VADLBERF?@@BAJDBRIAcXB

KBSEWB@J?HIGNBC?REAI?GB?̂BDUI@AIGNB@WDRIECI@ABWF?TI@I?GBREGB]DB@DDGB]DC?HX

\JDBCER�B?̂B@WDRIECI@ABFD@?VFRDB]E@D@BIGB@?SDBC?RECIAID@BREGBLI@ELTEGAENDBCDEFGDF@BCITIGNBIGBAJ?@DBEFDE@XB

Y?SDB̂ESICID@BEFDBVĜESICIEFBHIAJBAJDBEFDE@BHJDFDBWF?TI@I?GBI@BC?READLXBbEFDGA@B?FBREFDF@BSEcBCER�BAJDB

SDEG@BA?BAFETDCBDE@ICcBA?BAJ?@DBEFDE@XB

KB]DAADFBLI@AFI]VAI?GB?̂B@WDRIECI@ABFD@?VFRDB]E@D@BERF?@@BAJDBRIAcBH?VCLBISWF?TDBERRD@@B̂?FBWVWIC@XBkABH?VCLB

FDLVRDBAFETDCBAISD@B̂?FBSEGcBWVWIC@gBE@BHDCCBE@BIGRFDE@IGNBAJDBGVS]DFB?̂BWCERD@BETEICE]CDX

{!"+|tt ~&#(|!' ~(�%%') !*+ ~��) ���  

��

P
age 599



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&�$$'�!%

()*+,-./012+34421*5+6)*+6)7**8912*+5636.6-7:+;.321<:1/=+>32?1/=+@1563/0*+0716*713+<-7+5*0-/@37:+3=*+4.4125+

6-+;.321<:+<-7+<7**+)-9*+6-+50)--2+673/54-76+6-+54*0132+50)--25+3/@+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*5B++C-9*+

2*37/*75+>)-+21D*+>16)1/+6)7**+912*5+-<+6)*+50)--2+93:+A*+47-D1@*@+>16)+<7**+673/54-76+@.*+6-+6)*17+

1/@1D1@.32+2*37/1/=+/**@5+3/@+5-0132+155.*5B++

()*+47-4-5325+37*+*E4*06*@+6-+1/07*35*+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+F*37/*7+(73/54-76+36+3+/.9A*7+-<+50)--25B+

C.163A2*+1947-D*@+3/@+G+-7+*E43/@*@+<3012161*5+<-7+@7-48-<<+3/@+410?8.4+93:+A*+7*;.17*@+>16)1/+6)*+516*5+

6-+300-99-@36*+6)*+3447-47136*+/.9A*75+-<+D*)102*5B

()*+,-./012H5+0.77*/6+,-74-736*+I23/+1/02.@*5+3+0-99169*/6+6-+*D*7:+50)--2+1/+,37@1<<+@*D*2-41/=+3/+

J061D*+(73D*2+I23/B

K.76)*7+1/<-79361-/+1/+7*54*06+-<+673/54-76+9366*75+03/+A*+<-./@+1/+6)*+0-/5.26361-/+@-0.9*/6+36++

LLLMNOPQRSSMTUVMWXYZ[\]N̂UU_̀PÙU]O_]++

ab"� !c# %#d%e"'fc�gc!$%h'!#i�f'%j�!'%"�#kc!c# %�$%lmc$fmi�fm%ncom%
efm##g%d#�%"i"cg!%pc$m%q#&"g'b%r'�� c o%s''t!

u)160).70)+v1=)+C0)--2+15+3/+w/=215)89*@1.9+K-./@361-/+50)--2+<-7+4.4125+3=*@+xx8xyB+()*+50)--2+)-565+

3+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*+@*51=/36*@+<-7+0-942*E+2*37/1/=+/**@5B+()*+50)--2+15+2-036*@+-D*7+6>-+516*5+36+

z3/-7+u3:+3/@+I*/221/*+{-3@+1/+u)160).70)B

(-+9**6+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+5*0-/@37:+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+4230*5+<-7+2*37/*75+>16)+0-942*E+2*37/1/=+/**@5+16+

15+47-4-5*@+6-|

}+1/07*35*+6)*+@*51=/36*@+/.9A*7+36+u)160).70)+v1=)+C0)--2+C4*0132+{*5-.70*+~35*+<7-9+��+6-+x��+

<7-9+C*46*9A*7+����B

�6+15+47-4-5*@+6)36+6)*+0.77*/6+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*+300-99-@361-/+>-.2@+A*+1947-D*@+3/@+

7*<.7A15)*@�+07*361/=+3@@161-/32+023557--95+3/@+2*37/1/=+5430*5B+

a!$��gc!m&' $%#d%e"'fc�gc!$%h'!#i�f'%j�!'%"�#kc!c# %�$%lcgg#p!%ncom%
efm##g%d#�%"i"cg!%pc$m%q#&"g'b%r'�� c o%s''t!

u122->5+v1=)+C0)--2+15+3/+w/=215)89*@1.9+0-99./16:+)1=)+50)--2+<-7+4.4125+3=*@+xx+�+x�B++()*+50)--2+15+

0.77*/62:+2-036*@+36+u122->5+JD*/.*�+(7*9-7<3B

(-+9**6+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+5*0-/@37:+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+4230*5+<-7+2*37/*75+>16)+0-942*E+2*37/1/=+/**@5+16+

15+47-4-5*@+6-|

}+*563A215)+3+��84230*+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*+36+u122->5+v1=)+C0)--2+C4*0132+{*5-.70*+~35*+<7-9+

C*46*9A*7+����B

�6+15+47-4-5*@+6)36+6)*+/*>+A35*+>-.2@+1/161322:+A*+300-99-@36*@+>16)1/+6)*+*E1561/=+A.12@1/=5�+>16)+6)*+

/*0*5537:+3@346361-/5+./@*763?*/B+C4*0132156+300-99-@361-/+>-.2@+6)*/+A*+47-D1@*@+35+4376+-<+6)*+

@*D*2-49*/6+-<+6)*+/*>+u122->5+v1=)+C0)--2B

ab"� !c# %#d%e"'fc�gc!$%h'!#i�f'%j�!'%"�#kc!c# %�$%rg� c!m' %ncom%
efm##g%d#�%"i"cg!%pc$m%�i$c!&%e"'f$�i&%q# tc$c# 

F23/15)*/+v1=)+C0)--2+15+3/+w/=215)89*@1.9+0-99./16:+)1=)+50)--2+<-7+4.4125+3=*@+xx8x�B+()*+50)--2+

)-565+3/+J.6159+C4*067.9+,-/@161-/+A35*+3/@+A35*+<-7+)*371/=+194317*@+2*37/*75B+()*+50)--2+15+2-036*@+

36+v*-2+v17+1/+F23/15)*/B+

(-+9**6+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+5*0-/@37:+3=*+54*0132156+47-D151-/+16+15+47-4-5*@+6-|

}+1/07*35*+6)*+@*51=/36*@+/.9A*7+-<+6)*+F23/15)*/+v1=)+C0)--2+J.6159+C4*067.9+,-/@161-/+54*0132156+

7*5-.70*+A35*+<7-9+��+6-+��+4230*5+<7-9+C*46*9A*7+����B

�/6*719+>-7?5+)3D*+A**/+./@*763?*/+3/@+<.76)*7+>-7?5+>-.2@+A*+/*0*5537:+6-+1947-D*+3/@+*E6*/@+6)*+

0.77*/6+C4*0132156+{*5-.70*+~35*+<3012161*5+3/@+300-99-@361-/B

ab"� !c# %#d%e"'fc�gc!$%h'!#i�f'%j�!'%"�#kc!c# %�$%�m'%���c# %q' $�'�%
�m'%jc!m#"%#d%rg� t�dd%qmi�fm%c %l�g'!%ncom%efm##g%d#�%"i"cg!%pc$m%
�i$c!&%e"'f$�i&%q# tc$c# 

()*+~15)-4+-<+F23/@3<<+15+3/+w/=215)89*@1.9+,).70)+1/+u32*5+v1=)+C0)--2+<-7+4.4125+3=*@+xx8xyB+()*+

50)--2+)-565+3+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*�+/39*@+()*+z371-/+,*/67*�+@*51=/36*@+<-7+4.4125+>16)+3.6159B+

()*+50)--2+15+2-036*@+36+{--?>--@+,2-5*+1/+F23/@3<<B

(-+9**6+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+5*0-/@37:+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+4230*5+<-7+2*37/*75+>16)+3.6159+54*067.9+0-/@161-/+

16+15+47-4-5*@+6-|

}+1/07*35*+6)*+@*51=/36*@+/.9A*7+36+()*+z371-/+,*/67*+C4*0132+{*5-.70*+~35*+<7-9+��+6-+��+4230*5+

<7-9+C*46*9A*7+����B

�6+15+47-4-5*@+6)36+6)*+0.77*/6+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+A35*+300-99-@361-/+>-.2@+A*+1947-D*@+3/@+

7*<.7A15)*@�+07*361/=+3@@161-/32+023557--95+3/@+2*37/1/=+5430*5B+

a!$��gc!m&' $%#d%e"'fc�gc!$%h'!#i�f'%j�!'%"�#kc!c# %�$%�!o#g%��di %
��&��'o%�g� $�d%d#�%"i"cg!%pc$m%q#&"g'b%r'�� c o%s''t!

�5=-2+�:<./+�:973*=+�23/63<+15+3+u*25)89*@1.9+0-99./16:+)1=)+50)--2+2-036*@+36+~71@=*+{-3@+

1/+F23/@3<<+�-76)+<-7+4.4125+3=*@+xx8xyB+()*+50)--2+)-565+3+C4*0132156+{*5-.70*+~35*+@*51=/36*@+<-7+

0-942*E+2*37/1/=+@153A12161*5B+

(-+9**6+6)*+@*93/@+<-7+5*0-/@37:+54*0132156+7*5-.70*+4230*5+<-7+2*37/*75+>16)+3.6159+54*067.9+0-/@161-/+

16+15+47-4-5*@+6-|

}+*563A215)+3+��+4230*+{*5-.70*+~35*+36+�5=-2+�:<./+�:973*=+�23/63<+<-7+2*37/*75+>16)+3.6159�+

32-/=51@*+6)*+*E1561/=+��+4230*+C4*0132156+{*5-.70*+~35*�+<7-9+C*46*9A*7+����B

�6+15+47-4-5*@+6)36+/*>+300-99-@361-/+>-.2@+A*+@*D*2-4*@+-/+516*+6-+47-D1@*+4.74-5*8A.126+<3012161*5+<-7+

A-6)+7*5-.70*+A35*5B

��

P
age 600



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./012334/56/784,0/50/5609,1:,;/<./*0:.6=/

*0:.6/,60>-,0/:28:/0123340/8-,/9-3+5;56?/8/?33;/@>845:./3A/,;>18:536/:3/:2,5-/9>9540/86;/:28:/844/1254;-,6B/

8-,/0>993-:,;/:3/4,8-6/<./,C1,44,6:/:,81256?/86;/4,8-656?/0:8AA=/

D123340/8-,/8403/9481,;/56/36,/3A/:2,/A3>-/1343>-E13;,;/0>993-:/18:,?3-5,0/F?-,,6B/.,443GB/8H<,-/86;/

-,;I/80/98-:/3A/:2,/7,402/J3+,-6H,6:K0/L8:53684/D12334/M8:,?3-508:536/D.0:,H=/NH<,-/86;/O,;/0123340/

8-,/:230,/:28:/-,@>5-,/:2,/H30:/0>993-:=

P,:8540/3A/0:86;8-;0/8:/,812/012334B/80/0,:/3>:/:2,5-/H30:/-,1,6:/*0:.6/-,93-:/8-,/3>:456,;/56/:2,/

:8<4,/<,43G=//

Q2,/1343>-0/>0,;/023G/:2,/H30:/-,1,6:/18:,?3-508:536/>056?/:2,/7,402/J3+,-6H,6:K0/M8:,?3-508:536/56/

R86>8-./STST=

UVWXXYZ
[\]̂_V̀aX\Z
bc̀_Z

Ùc\dced] feXge_]]

725:12>-12/h5?2/D12334 R86>8-./STij
N;,@>8:,/k/
H365:3-56?/
-,@>5-,;

O,H3+,;/A-3H/
H365:3-56?//
L3+/STil

75443G0/h5?2/D12334 N9-54/STim N;,@>8:,/n/?33;

o486502,6/h5?2/D12334 p,<->8-./STij
N;,@>8:,/k/
H365:3-56?/
-,@>5-,;

O,H3+,;/A-3H/
H365:3-56?/L3+/

STij

Q2,/q50239/3A/o486;8AA/M57/h5?2/D12334 p,<->8-./STim *C1,44,6:

r0?34/J.A>6/J.H-8,?/J486:8A s8./STil J33;/n/8;,@>8:,
O,H3+,;/A-3H/
H365:3-56?//
L3+/STim

p>-:2,-/;,:8540/36/@>845:./86;/0:86;8-;0/186/<,/A3>6;/56/:2,/1360>4:8:536/;31>H,6:/36/:2,/M3>6154/

G,<05:,/8:/tttuvwxyz{{u|}~u�������v�}}��x}�}�w��/

���"$�(�$"��$��%��")$��$"��$�(���)�&$���%��)�

�/*812/3A/:2,/9-3930840/G3>4;/561-,80,/:2,/6>H<,-/3A/09,158450:/9481,0/A3-/0,136;8-./8?,;/4,8-6,-0/

G5:2/M3H94,C/o,8-656?/L,,;0/86;/n/3-/N>:50H/D9,1:->H/M36;5:536/86;/G3>4;/136:-5<>:,/:3G8-;0/

H,,:56?/9-3�,1:,;/;,H86;

�/Q2,/3993-:>65:./:3/,H943./09,158450:/0:8AA/86;/:3/G3-�/H3-,/1430,4./G5:2/09,158450:/0,-+51,0/56/M8-;5AA/

G3>4;/,62861,/5614>05+,/:,81256?/56/0123340=/Q250/G3>4;/<,6,�:/844/9>9540/56/,812/012334/

�/Q2,/9-3930,;/,C9860536/3A/9481,0/G3>4;/8443G/9>9540/:3/:-8+,4/023-:,-/;50:861,0/:3/811,00/43184/

09,158450:/9-3+50536=

��"�%"!� $&!)�&��%"���)$��$"��$�(���)�&$���%��)

�/D3H,/9>9540/G5:2/NoL/186/�6;/1286?,/;5A�1>4:=//Q2,./H8./�6;/H3+56?/:3/8/6,G/<>54;56?/36/8/6,G/

05:,/>60,::456?=//7,/�63G/:2,./G544/6,,;/18-,A>44./94866,;/0>993-:/:3/8;89:/:3/:2,/6,G/0,::56?=//

h3G,+,-B/:2,-,/G3>4;/<,/0>A�15,6:/:5H,/:3/9486/86;/0>993-:/0>12/8/:-8605:536=

�/Q2,-,/50/93:,6:584/A3-/561-,80,;/:-8A�1/136?,0:536/8-3>6;/:2,/012334/05:,0/8:/:2,/0:8-:/86;/,6;/3A/

:2,/;8.=/Q2,/M3>6154/G3>4;/G3-�/G5:2/:2,/J3+,-656?/q3;./3A/:2,/012334/:3/;,+,439/8/Q-8+,4/�486/:3/

H565H50,/86./93:,6:584/;50->9:536=

���$��� &$)"���$��$�����"�&�

Q2,/M3>6154/G544/G3-�/G5:2/:2,/J3+,-656?/q3;5,0/3A/,812/012334/:3/8;;-,00/:2,/hO/5H94518:5360/8-5056?/

A-3H/:2,/,C9860536/n/,0:8<4502H,6:/3A/8/D9,158450:/O,03>-1,/q80,/8:/:2,/012334=/Q2,-,/H8./<,/8/6,,;/A3-/

8;;5:53684/0:8A�6?=/

72,-,/:2,/J3+,-656?/q3;./280/8;39:,;/:2,/M3>6154K0/D12334/O,;,943.H,6:/86;/O,;>6;861./�3451.B/

86./6,G/+818615,0/8-5056?/80/8/1360,@>,61,/3A/:2,/,C9860536/n/,0:8<4502H,6:/3A/:2,/D9,158450:/O,03>-1,/

q80,/G544/9-3+5;,/3993-:>65:5,0/A3-/012334E<80,;/0:8AA/36/:2,/012334/-,;,943.H,6:/-,?50:,-=/

��

P
age 601



����
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !��""#$%!$#& '

()*+,-./012+3122+0-22*04+5/6+7.885917*+4)*+:**6;50<+:9-8+4)17+0-/7.24541-/=++,-./012+-:>0*97+3122+

4)*/+9*?-94+4)17+4-+4)*+,-./012@7+,5;1/*4+1/+5+0-/7.24541-/+9*?-94=+()17+3122+)*2?+4)*+*2*04*6+8*8;*97+

./6*9745/6+745<*)-26*97@+A1*37+5/6+3122+B1A*+4)*8+1/:-98541-/+4-+)*2?+85<*+4)*19+6*0171-/=+

()*+,-./012+5/6+4)*+C-A*9/1/B+D-61*7+-:+E)140).90)+F1B)+G0)--2+5/6+()*+D17)-?+-:+H25/65::+,).90)+1/+

E52*7+F1B)+G0)--2+3122+*50)+?.;217)+5+0-/7.24541-/+9*?-94+-/+4)*19+3*;714*7=+()*+9*?-94+3122+B-+-A*9+4)*+

177.*7+9517*6+6.91/B+4)*+0-/7.24541-/+?*91-6+5/6+B1A*+4)*+,-./012@7+I+C-A*9/1/B+D-61*7+9*7?-/7*+4-+4)*7*+

177.*7=+()*+9*?-94+3122+527-+0-/451/+J74K/@7+A1*3+-:+4)*+?9-?-7527=

E*+*L?*04+4-+9*?-94+-/+4)*+-.40-8*+-:+4)*+0-/7.24541-/+1/+M590)+NONP=

Q:+4)*+,5;1/*4+6*016*7+4-+0-/41/.*+314)+4)*+0)5/B*7+4-+H25/17)*/+F1B)+G0)--2R+E122-37+F1B)+G0)--2+5/6+

S7B-2+CK:./+CK895*B+C25/45:R+4)*+,-./012+8.74+?.;217)+5+6-0.8*/4+0522*6+5+T7454.4-9K+/-410*@=+()17+17+

5/+-:>0152+7454*8*/4+75K1/B+4)54+4)*+0)5/B*7+3122+B-+5)*56=+Q:+4)*+C-A*9/1/B+D-61*7+-:+E)140).90)+F1B)+

G0)--2+5/6+()*+D17)-?+-:+H25/65::+,).90)+1/+E52*7+F1B)+G0)--2+6*016*+4-+0-/41/.*+314)+4)*+0)5/B*7R+

4)*K+8.74+527-+?.;217)+5+T7454.4-9K+/-410*@=

()*+7454.4-9K+/-410*+7*47+-.4+4)*+6*45127+-:+4)*+?9-?-7527+5/6+57<7+5/K-/*+3)-+35/47+4-+-;U*04+4-+6-+7-=+

V;U*041-/7+8.74+;*+39144*/=+()*K+8.74+;*+7*/4+4-+4)*+,-./012+I+9*2*A5/4+C-A*9/1/B+D-6K+314)1/+4)*+654*7+

B1A*/+-/+4)*+/-410*=

,5961::+,-./012+,5;1/*4+3-.26+6*4*981/*+4)*+?9-?-7527+:-9+H25/17)*/+F1B)+G0)--2R+E122-37+F1B)+G0)--2+

5/6+S7B-2+CK:./+CK895*B+C25/45:=+

()*+,5;1/*4+85K+6*016*+4-+5??9-A*+-9+9*U*04+4)*+?9-?-752R+-9+4)*K+85K+5??9-A*+4)*+?9-?-752+314)+7-8*+

0)5/B*7+W8-61>0541-/7X=+()*+,5;1/*4+3-.26+45<*+5/K+-;U*041-/7+9*0*1A*6+1/+4)*+V;U*041-/+Y*91-6+1/4-+

500-./4+3)*/+85<1/B+4)*19+6*0171-/=

Q:+4)*9*+59*+/-+-;U*041-/7+4-+4)*+?9-?-7527+:-9+E)140).90)+F1B)+G0)--2+5/6+()*+D17)-?+-:+H25/65::+

,).90)+1/+E52*7+F1B)+G0)--2R+4)*+C-A*9/1/B+D-61*7+3-.26+6*4*981/*+4)*+?9-?-7527=++()*+C-A*9/1/B+

D-61*7+85K+6*016*+4-+5??9-A*R+9*U*04+-9+5??9-A*+4)*+?9-?-7527+314)+8-61>0541-/7=++()*+C-A*9/1/B+

D-61*7+3122+45<*+5/K+-;U*041-/+9*0*1A*6+1/+4)*+V;U*041-/+Y*91-6+1/4-+500-./4+3)*/+85<1/B+4)17+6*0171-/=

Q:+4)*9*+3*9*+-;U*041-/7+4-+4)*+?9-?-7527+:-9+E)140).90)+F1B)+G0)--2+-9+()*+D17)-?+-:+H25/65::+,).90)+1/+

E52*7+F1B)+G0)--2R+4)*+?9-?-7527+3-.26+;*+9*:*99*6++4-+4)*+,-./012+:-9+6*4*981/541-/+314)1/+Z[+65K7+-:+

4)*+*/6+-:+4)*+-;U*041-/+?*91-6=++

V/0*+5+6*0171-/+17+856*R+3*+3122+2*4+*A*9K-/*+5::*04*6+;K+4)*+?9-?-752+</-3=++()*+6*0171-/+3122+527-+;*+

?.;217)*6+-/+4)*+,-./012@7+3*;714*=

\]̂_̀abcd̀e]fg
hijklmnkliopqrsrkstuvkwrvpinvrkxiwokinqunrkmskyyyzlmw{uxxz|i}zj~����vltiiqpwipivmqvk

E*+59*+?9-?-71/B+4-�

�+1/09*57*+4)*+6*71B/54*6+/.8;*9+54+4)*+E)140).90)+F1B)+G0)--2+G?*0152174+�*7-.90*+D57*+:-9+2*59/*97+

314)+0-8?2*L+/**67+:9-8+�O+4-+POO+:9-8+G*?4*8;*9+NONN

�+*745;217)+5+ZO+?250*+G?*0152174+�*7-.90*+D57*+:-9+2*5/*97+314)+0-8?2*L+2*59/1/B+/**67+54+E122-37+

F1B)+G0)--2+:9-8+G*?4*8;*9+NONZ++

�+1/09*57*+4)*+6*71B/54*6+/.8;*9+54+4)*+H25/17)*/+F1B)+G0)--2+G?*0152174+�*7-.90*+D57*+:-9+2*59/*97+

314)+�.417410+G?*049.8+,-/6141-/+:9-8+NO+4-+�[+?250*7+:9-8+G*?4*8;*9+NONN

�+1/09*57*+4)*+6*71B/54*6+/.8;*9+54+()*+M591-/+,*/49*+G?*0152174+�*7-.90*+D57*+:-9+2*59/*97+314)+

�.417410+G?*049.8+,-/6141-/+:9-8+�N+4-+��+?250*7+:9-8+G*?4*8;*9+NONN

�+*745;217)+5+ZO+?250*+�*7-.90*+D57*+54+S7B-2+CK:./+CK895*B+C25/45:+:-9+2*59/*97+314)+�.417410+

G?*049.8+,-/6141-/+52-/B716*+4)*+*L1741/B+ZO+?250*+G?*0152174+�*7-.90*+D57*+:9-8+G*?4*8;*9+NONZ

S-.9+A1*37+8544*9R+?2*57*+4*22+.7+3)54+K-.+4)1/<+5;-.4+4)*+?9-?-752+;K�

�+,-8?2*41/B+5/6+9*4.9/1/B+4)*+500-8?5/K1/B+�.*741-//519*+4-+4)*+5669*77+B1A*/+54+4)*+;-44-8+

-:+4)*+:-98=

�+,-8?2*41/B+4)*+-/21/*+9*7?-/7*+:-98+54+�������������������������������������

�+V9+1:+K-.+?9*:*9+K-.+05/+* 8512+K-.9+A1*37+4-�+�������¡���¢�¡�£��������������

¤trklqivun|k{msrkxiwkwrvpinvrvksikstuvklinvjqsmsuinkuvk¥k¦r§wjmẅk©ª©©zkk
«nxiwsjnmsrq̈¬knikwrvpinvrvkwrlru}r{kmxsrwkstmsk{msrklmnk§rklinvu{rwr{z

®! ��̄°�!±²! �#!²±³³±́ $̄µ!�¶#!·±̧!¶#%"±$¹̄$µ!�%'

+Y59*/4

+(*50)*9+º+?2*57*+7?*01:K+K-.9+70)--2�++ +

+G0)--2+B-A*9/-9+º+?2*57*+7?*01:K+K-.9+70)--2�+ +

+V4)*9+º+?2*57*+7?*01:K+�+

����

P
age 602



����
������	
������

����������������	��������������������

������	
������

����������������	��������������������

�� !" #"$ %&'( & )%*+,-)%*+,.(/ (/."++(, &0 0%( 1"++"2*/3 4)%""+45 60*)7 &++ 0%&0 &88+#9

:;<=>?<@A?<:B=C<:D?<EEF: : : :;=FFEGH:B=C<:D?<EEF:

:IFJK=H<LK:B=C<:D?<EEF:: : : :M=H<EN:EO:IFJKPJOO

:QHCEF:RSO@K:RSTAJLC:RFJK>JO: : :UVW

:X><LA:NFLJHL:HNL?=OSY:: :

Z� !" #"$ 4$88".0 0%( 8+&/4 8$0 1".2&., 0" *[8."'( 0%( 8."'*4*"/ 1". \%*+,.(/ 

           &/, ]"$/3 ̂("8+( 2*0% &,,*0*"/&+ +(&./*/3 /((,45

:QLH: : :UE: : :_EK̀>:aKEG

b� !" #"$ 4$88".0 0%( 8."8"4&+ 1". (&)% "1 0%( 4)%""+ 4*0(45

:

cdeffghijkhlmflfnighojhpmoqr sqn tf
tfh

ulojofj

veowdexmdehyozehcdeffg

{:=K?ALJHL:><L:PLH=CKJ>LP:K@T|LA:J>:><L:;<=>?<@A?<:B=C<:D?<EEF:

DNL?=JF=H>:}LHE@A?L:MJHL:OEA:FLJKLAH:G=><:?ETNFL~:FLJAK=KC:KLLPH:

OAET:��:>E:���:OAET:DLN>LT|LA:����

voggf�nhyozehcdeffgh

{:LH>J|F=H<:J:��:NFJ?L:DNL?=JF=H>:}LHE@A?L:MJHL:J>:;=FFEGH:

B=C<:D?<EEF:OEA:FLJAKLAH:G=><:?ETNFL~:FLJAK=KC:KLLPH:OAET:

DLN>LT|LA:����

�gijoneqjhyozehcdeffg

{:=K?ALJHL:><L:PLH=CKJ>LP:K@T|LA:J>:><L:IFJK=H<LK:B=C<:D?<EEF:

DNL?=JF=H>:}LHE@A?L:MJHL:OEA:FLJKLAH:G=><:W@>=H>=?:DNL?>A@T:

�EKP=>=EK:OAET:��:>E:��:NFJ?LH:OAET:DLN>LT|LA:����

cdeffghijkhlmflfnighojhpmoqr sqn tf
tfh

ulojofj

�eqh�imofjh�qjwmqhiwh�eqh�oneflhfrh�gijkirr

{:=K?ALJHL:><L:PLH=CKJ>LP:K@T|LA:J>:�<L:�JA=EK:�LK>AL:DNL?=JF=H>:

}LHE@A?L:MJHL:OEA:FLJAKLAH:G=><:W@>=H>=?:DNL?>A@T:�EKP=>=EK:OAET:

��:>E:��:NFJ?LH:OAET:DLN>LT|LA:����

snzfgh��rxjh���miqzh�gijwir

{:LH>J|F=H<:J:��:NFJ?L:DNL?=JF=H>:}LHE@A?L:MJHL:OEA:FLJAKLAH:G=><:

W@>=H>=?:DNL?>A@T:�EKP=>=EK:J>:QHCEF:RSO@K:RSTAJLC:RFJK>JO:

JFEKCH=PL:><L:L~=H>=KC:��:NFJ?L:DNL?=JF=H>:}LHE@A?L:MJHL:OAET:

DLN>LT|LA:����

�� �1 #"$ ," ". /"0 4$88".0 0%( 8."8"4(, )%&/3(4 0%&/ 8+(&4( (�8+&*/ 2%#

�� �"$+, #"$ +*7( 0" 4$33(40 &/# )%&/3(4 ". &+0(./&0*'(45

����

P
age 603



����
������	
������

����������������	��������������������

������	
������

����������������	��������������������

�� !""#$#%&'( )%**+&$,

-./0122222 2222234567480122

988:055122

;<=>?@ABCDE>FGH=>IAJ>J=BKADB=B>HA>H<CB>?ADBL@HGHCAD>CB>M>N=OJLGJP>QRQQS

TU02V4WX7YZ2Y52X462.[Z0264274X5Y80:2.X\274X5WZ6.6Y4X2:05]4X5052:070Ŷ082._60:26UY528.60̀2

V4X5WZ6.6Y4X2:05]4X5052aYZZ2X46 [0274WX6082.524[b076Y4X526426U02]:4]45.Z̀2

c[b076Y4X527.X24XZ\2[02:0dY560:082_4ZZ4aYXd2]W[ZY7.6Y4X24_2.256.6W64:\2X46Y70̀

e_2\4W2aY5U2642[02X46Yf0824_2]W[ZY7.6Y4X24_26U02V4X5WZ6.6Y4X2:0]4:62]Z0.502]:4̂Y802.X20/.YZ2.88:055̀2e_2

\4W2842X462]:4̂Y802.X20/.YZ2.88:0552a027.XX462g00]2\4W2W]26428.60̀

h/.YZ12222

3Z0.502:06W:X26UY52_4:/26426U02i7U44Z2c:d.XY5.6Y4X23Z.XXYXd2T0./j2k44/2lmnj2V4WX6\2o.ZZj2Vpnm2lqr24:2

[\20/.YZ2642stuvvwxyszv{sys|t}x~�����v����2[\2X42Z.60:26U.X2n2p0[:W.:\2�m��̀

;����>���>N��>����>������;�

!�%�$ �%�

2 2 2 2 2 3Z0.502]:4̂Y802\4W:2]45674802[0Z4a2642.ZZ4a2W52642/4:02.77W:.60Z\2]YX]4YX62:05]4X80X65�2

2 2 2 2 2 2̂Y0a52.X82X00852[\2.:0.1�

�<GH>�GB>PALJ>GE=>AD>PALJ>@GBH>OCJH<FGP�>

22
qX80:2n�2

22
����l2

22
l���l2

22
����l2 2

22
n���l2

22
���ll2

22
����l2

22
���222

22
3:0_0:2X4626425.\

�J=>PAL �

22
p0/.Z02

22
¡.Z022

22
c6U0:22 2 2

22
3:0_0:2X4626425.\

¢A>PAL>CF=DHCIP>GB>G>FCBGO@=F>K=JBAD�>

22
£0522

22
-422 2 2 2 2

22
3:0_0:2X4626425.\2

¤@=GB=>HC?¥>GDP>AI>H<=>IA@@A�CDE>H<GH>GKK@P>HA>PAL¦>

22
§0._̈2§0._0X08̈2o.:824_2U0.:YXd2

22
©Y5W.Z2Y/].Y:/0X62

22
ª4Xd�56.X8YXd2YZZX05524:2U0.Z6U274X8Y6Y4X

22
¡0X6.Z2U0.Z6U28Y_f7WZ6Y052 2

22
rU00Z7U.Y:2W50:2222

22
3:0_0:2X4626425.\

22
ª0.:XYXd2Y/].Y:/0X62̈28Y_f7WZ6Y052

22
¡4[YZY6\2Y/].Y:/0X62

22
c6U0:

3Z0.5025]07Y_\22
2

�<GH>CB>PALJ>=H<DC?>EJALK�>

rU0:026U0260:/2«¬:Y6Y5U�2Y52W508j26UY52:0_0:52642.X\24_26U02_4W:2U4/02X.6Y4X524_2r.Z05j2hXdZ.X8j2-4:6U0:X2e:0Z.X82.X82i746Z.X8j24:2.X\2

74/[YX.6Y4X24_26U050̀

22
rUY602�2r0Z5ÜhXdZY5Üi7466Y5Ü-4:6U0:X2e:Y5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2

22
95Y.Ẍ95Y.X2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�2¬.XdZ.805UY

22
rUY602�2e:Y5U2 2 2 2 2

22
95Y.Ẍ95Y.X2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�2eX8Y.X

22
rUY602�2\]5\24:2e:Y5U2T:.̂0ZZ0:2 2 2

22
95Y.Ẍ95Y.X2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�29X\246U0:

22
rUY602�29X\246U0:2aUY602[.7gd:4WX82 2 2

22
¬Z.7g̈9_:Y7.ẌV.:Y[[0.Ẍ¬Z.7g2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�29_:Y7.X

22
¡Y®08̈¡WZ6Y]Z02h6UXY72:4W]52�2rUY602̄295Y.X2 2

22
¬Z.7g̈9_:Y7.ẌV.:Y[[0.Ẍ¬Z.7g2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�2V.:Y[[0.X

22
¡Y®08̈¡WZ6Y]Z02h6UXY72:4W]52�2rUY602.X82¬Z.7g2V.:Y[[0.X2

22
¬Z.7g̈9_:Y7.ẌV.:Y[[0.Ẍ¬Z.7g2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�29X\246U0:

22
¡Y®08̈¡WZ6Y]Z02h6UXY72:4W]52�2rUY602.X82¬Z.7g29_:Y7.X2

22
9:.[

22
¡Y®08̈¡WZ6Y]Z02h6UXY72:4W]52�29X\246U0:2 2

22
9X\246U0:206UXY72d:4W]2°]Z0.5025]07Y_\±

22
95Y.Ẍ95Y.X2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�2VUYX0502 2 2

22
2 22

22
95Y.Ẍ95Y.X2r0Z5Ü¬:Y6Y5U2�23.gY56.XY2 2 2

22
3:0_0:2X4626425.\2

;<=>CDIAJ²GHCAD>PAL><G³=>KJA³CF=F>GOA³=>�CH<>O=>KJA?=BB=F>OP>�GJFCII>�ALD?C@>CD>@CD=>�CH<>H<=>¢GHG>¤JAH=?HCAD>�?H>QRḾ>GDF>
µ=D=JG@>¢GHG>¤JAH=?HCAD>�=EL@GHCADS>;<=>CDIAJ²GHCAD>KJA³CF=F>HA>LB>CD>J=@GHCAD>HA>H<CB>?ADBL@HGHCAD>�C@@>O=>HJ=GH=F>GB>?AD¶F=DHCG@>
OLH>CH>²GP>O=>LB=F>OP>H<=>�ALD?C@>AJ>FCB?@AB=F>HA>AH<=JB>�<=D>J=·LCJ=F>OP>@G�S>;<=>KLJKAB=>AI>KJA?=BBCDE>H<=>K=JBADG@>FGHG>CB>
J=·LCJ=F>HA>K=JIAJ²>G>BK=?C¶?>HGB¥>CD>H<=>KLO@C?>CDH=J=BHS>�DP>J=BKADB=B>J=?=C³=F>?GD>O=>J=·L=BH=F>LDF=J>H<=>NJ==FA²>AI>̧DIAJ²GHCAD>
�?H>GDF>²GP><G³=>HA>O=>²GF=>KLO@C?¹><A�=³=J>GDP>CDIAJ²GHCAD>H<GH>�AL@F>CF=DHCIP>GD>CDFC³CFLG@>BL?<>GB>DG²=>GDF>GFFJ=BB>�AL@F>
O=>J=²A³=FS

p4:2_W:6U0:2YX_4:/.6Y4X24X2U4a2V.:8Y__2V4WX7YZ2/.X.d052]0:54X.Z2YX_4:/.6Y4Xj250024W:2_WZZ23:Ŷ.7\234ZY7\24X26U02V4WX7YZ�52a0[5Y60

uººzs»¼¼½½½�t}x~�����v����¼¾¿À¼ÁvÂy¼¿y½Ã§Y57Z.Y/0:̈3.d05̈80_.WZ6̀.5]®

°0̀d̀27.X70:j28Y.[0605j24:2.56U/.±

����

P
age 604



����������	
�������
�����	
��������������
����������������������������� �!��������"�#��
����#�������������!�������$���%&
��'���(��������!������������ #��'�����#� '�
�����#����������������������������!���)�*��+

,-./012324-.56784-9:5;<597,7=>785?@?;5A5;5B7>8038C5?@??

DEFGHIJKLMNOPHKQOHRNHMQINHQSQFTQRTNHFOHUVQFTTNWH
XHYLTTHSNVGFJOHJYHPENHKJOGLTPQPFJOHIJKLMNOPHFGHQSQFTQRTNHQPZ

[[[\]̂_̀abb\cde\fghijkl]mddno_dodl̂nlH
pOYJVMQPFJOHKQOHQTGJHRNHMQINHQSQFTQRTNHFOHJPENVHKJMMLOFPqHTQOrLQrNGHFYHONNINIWH

sTNQGNHKJOPQKPHLGHJOHtuvwutxywuyutHPJHQVVQOrNHPEFGW

Page 605



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$

%&'()**+,-./0/-1),)23-*2'-4(56&7)23-&3(-84&'3)39-)3-%&'()**-,47,-&-92&8-2*-:-;4&'3)39-<37)784=437>-)3-?@)6@-

&88-6@)8('43-&3(-A2539-B42B84-&'4-&C84-72D

E-&664,,-&BB'2B')&74-'2574,-)372-4(56&7)23-&3(-84&'3)39-2BB2'753)7)4,

E-7@')14-&3(-*58F8-7@4)'-B27437)&8--

E-'4&8),4-7@4)'-)3()1)(5&8-('4&=,-&3(-&=C)7)23,-

G@),-C22H847-6237&)3,-,5==&'),4(-)3*2'=&7)23-&C257-B'2B2,&8,-72-)=B'214-&664,,-72-4(56&7)23-)3-8)34-?)7@-

7@4-&C214-B')36)B84,-2*-)3685,)23I-

G@),-),-A25'-6@&364-72-&,H-J54,7)23,-&3(-=&H4-62==437,I--K4-?&37-72-H32?-A25'-1)4?,-C46&5,4-7@),-@48B,-

5,-72-=&H4-,5'4-&3A-B'2B2,&8-7@&7-924,-*2'?&'(-'4&88A-?2'H,-*2'-6@)8('43>-A2539-B42B84-&3(-7@4-62==53)7A-

826&8-72-7@4-,6@228,-)312814(I-

LM�NO� POQPOR !R!ST#�ON!O$!U

K4-&'4-B'2B2,)39-72D

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-2*-GA-V?A3-WB46)&8-W6@228-*'2=-XYZ-72-.[/-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-

./..

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-B8&64-35=C4'-2*-\4&(2?C&3H-WB46)&8-W6@228-*'2=-[/-72-YZ-B8&64,-*'2=-

W4B74=C4'-./..

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-2*-G@4-]288)4,-WB46)&8-W6@228-*'2=-Y/-72-XXY-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-

./..

E-*5'7@4'-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-2*-G@4-]288)4,-WB46)&8-W6@228-*'2=-XXY-72-X̂/-B8&64,-*'2=-

W4B74=C4'-./..

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-B8&64-35=C4'-2*-7@4-WB46)&8),7-_4,25'64-̀&,4-&7-;8&3),@43-a&6@-b')=&'A-W6@228-

*2'-6@)8('43-?)7@-62=B84c-84&'3)39-344(,-*'2=-./-72-0/-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-./.0

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-&7-\&'8C2'259@-b')=&'A-W6@228-WB46)&8),7-_4,25'64-̀&,4-*2'-6@)8('43-

?)7@-=2(4'&74>-,414'4-&3(-62=B84c-84&'3)39-344(,-*'2=-./-72-0/-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-./..

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-&7-7@4-b437'4C&34-b')=&'A-W6@228-WB46)&8),7-_4,25'64-̀&,4-*2'-6@)8('43-

?)7@-&57),=-*'2=-./-72-.[-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-./..

E-)36'4&,4-7@4-(4,)93&74(-35=C4'-&7-WB')39?22(-b')=&'A-W6@228-WB46)&8),7-_4,25'64-̀&,4-*2'-6@)8('43-?)7@-

&57),=-*'2=-./-72-.Z-B8&64,-*'2=-W4B74=C4'-./..

d Page 606



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"�#�$"%�&'���(")'�&!*('"+

,-./00-1234506-748-92-:;/81-58-3<2-=;86/03435;8->;7/?283-;8-3<2-=;/8750-@296532-43-- - -

AAABCDEFGHHBIJKBLMNOPQRCSJJTUEJUJRDTR--

,-V:-W;/-4X2-/84902-3;-477266-3<2-1;7/?283-;8Y0582Z-[X58321-7;[526-;:-3<56-7;86/03435;8-1;7/?283-@500-92-

4\4504902-9W-[;63-;8-X2]/263̂-_;/-?4W-X2]/263-4-7;[W-9W-3202[<;858̀-abcba-debebâ-

,-f2-<4\2-;X̀485621-48-;80582-?22358̀-481-1X;[Y58-62665;86-3<43-W;/-748-433281-5:-W;/-@;/01-05g2-/6-

3;-2h[0458-3<2-6/̀ 2̀6321-7<48̀26-3;-W;/̂-_;/-748-406;-46g-/6-]/2635;86̂-V:-W;/-@;/01-05g2-3;-433281-

48-;80582-?22358̀Z-[02462-7;83473-/6-9W-2Y?45058̀-RCSJJTEiRUJjRiRkCDEFGHHBIJKBLM-481-3200-/6-

@<57<-?22358̀-W;/-@;/01-05g2-3;-433281̂-f2-@500-3<28-[X;\512-4-058g-481-5863X/735;86-:;X-43328158̀-

3<2-?22358̀^

l<2-14326-;:-3<2-[/9057-7;86/03435;8-?22358̀-481-1X;[Y58-62665;86-4X2-623-;/3-920;@m-

nopqrstusvwxyzq{o{|wxs}rr{|x~s�o{rys

�o{z�rsw�s�wxyzq{o{|wxs �o{r�n|�rs �rxzrs

�80582-�/9057-?22358̀ f2182614W-�c-�48/4XW-babb
�m�a[?

�80582-\54-�57X;6;:3-
l24?6-

>X;[Y58-62665;86- �8-X2]/263-9W-2?45058̀-
67<;;0X26[;8626�74X15::̂̀;\̂/g

�80582-\54-�57X;6;:3-
l24?6-

�2[4X432-?22358̀6-<4\2-9228-4XX48̀21-:;X-634::-481-̀;\2X8;X6̂

l<2-\52@6-;:-7<501X28-481-W;/8̀-[2;[02-4X2-g2W-3;-3<2-@4W-21/7435;8-56-1205\2X21̂--f2-@500-7;86/03-@53<-[/[506-
58-247<-67<;;0-481-5870/12-3<25X-:221947g-58-3<2-�840-7;86/03435;8-X2[;X3̂

�'�� !"�#��(���&���(���+�

,-_;/-748-433281-3<2-[/9057-?22358̀-;X-4-1X;[Y58-62665;8

,-_;/-748-[X;\512-W;/X-\52@6-43-AAABCDEFGHHBIJKBLMNOPQRCSJJTUEJUJRDTR-

,-_;/-748-�00-58-3<2-X26[;862-:;X?-;8-[4̀26-��Y��-;:-3<56-9;;g023̂

n�rs�qwy|x~s�o{rs�w�s�ry�wxyrys{ws{�|ys�wxyzq{o{|wxs|ystsv��r��w�s�����

-

����!��������'�'�("��*����� �!"���+

 ��wwqs�qo�ry-Y-¡00-7;/87506-58-f4026-?/63-[X;\512-28;/̀<-67<;;0-[04726-:;X-[/[506-;:-400-4̀26̂-�7<;;0-[04726-

?/63-?223-3<2-82216-;:-400-[/[506-481-?/63-92-6/534902-:;X-48W-411535;840-024X858̀-82216̂

¢Page 607



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"# !�$%�&!'�(!!)!)*

+,-./012/340245614+71/0894+1/5:;4

<=>?@ABCDEBD>@FG?H@IJJG?G=ECA@KBCDEGEL@MBBJ>@NIKMO@C??BEJ@C@A=PCA@QCGE>?DBCQ@>PH==A@CEJ@HCRB@BS?DC@

>TUU=D?@?HBDBV@KBCDEBD>@FH=@HCRB@Q=DB@>BRBDB@=D@P=QUABS@EBBJ>@C??BEJ@C@>UBPGCA@>PH==A@=D@WUBPGCAG>?@

XB>=TDPB@YC>BV@ZHB@ETQ[BD@=\@UTUGA>@FH=@EBBJ@C@UACPB@GE@C@>UBPGCA@>PH==A@=D@>UBPGCAG>?@DB>=TDPB@[C>B@HC>@

P=E?GETBJ@?=@LD=FV

I@WUBPGCAG>?@XB>=TDPB@YC>B@BEC[AB>@ABCDEBD>@FG?H@ABCDEGEL@JG\]PTA?GB>@?=@>TPPBBJ@GE@C@QCGE>?DBCQ@>PH==A@

BERGD=EQBE?V@@ZHG>@PCE@GEPATJB@UTUGA>@FG?H@̂=QUABS@KBCDEGEL@MBBJ>@CEJ_@=D@FG?H@IT?G>Q@WUBP?DTQ@

=̂EJG?G=EV@

T̀UGA>@GE@C@WUBPGCAG>?@XB>=TDPB@YC>B@CDB@?CTLH?@GE@C@>QCAA@PAC>>@[a@>UBPGCAG>?@>?C\\@CEJ@[BEB]?@\D=Q@C@

>UBPGCAG>?@PTDDGPTATQV@ZHBa@CA>=@[BEB]?@\D=Q@?HB@\TAA@DCELB@=\@BJTPC?G=E@=UU=D?TEG?GB>@CRCGAC[AB@?=@CAA@UTUGA>@

C?@?HB@>PH==AV@

T̀UGA>@FG?H@Q=DB@P=QUABS@=D@>BRBDB@EBBJ>@QCa@[B@?CTLH?@GE@C@>UBPGCA@>PH==AV

I?@?HB@BEJ@=\@<CDPH@bcbde@?HBDB@FBDB@bebfg@PHGAJDBE@GE@̂CDJG\\@FG?H@C@>?C?BQBE?@=\@WUBPGCA@hJTPC?G=E@

MBBJ>V@I>@?HB@U=UTAC?G=E@LD=F>e@>=@FGAA@?HB@ETQ[BD@=\@PHGAJDBE@CEJ@a=TEL@UB=UAB@FG?H@>GLEG]PCE?@CEJ@

P=QUABS@IJJG?G=ECA@KBCDEGEL@MBBJ>V@

iE@bcbc_bd

j@C@?=?CA@=\@deddf@UACPB>@GE@>UBPGCAG>?@DB>=TDPB@[C>B>@=D@>UBPGCA@>PH==A>@FBDB@\TEJBJ@[a@̂CDJG\\@̂=TEPGA

j@kl@?BQU=DCDa@UACPB>@\=D@ABCDEBD>@FBDB@CRCGAC[AB@C?@mBAA[BGEL@̂AC>>@CEJ@WUBBPH@CEJ@KCELTCLB@̂AC>>B>

j@nc@UACPB>@FBDB@CRCGAC[AB@GE@?HB@̀TUGA@XB\BDDCA@oEG?@ǸXoO@

mHGA>?@?HBDB@CDB@C@ETQ[BD@=\@BSG>?GEL@>UBPGCAG>?@>B??GEL>@CPD=>>@̂CDJG\\e@?HBDB@CDB@E=?@BE=TLH@UACPB>@

CRCGAC[ABV@@ZHB@ETQ[BD@=\@PHGAJDBE@FH=@F=TAJ@[BEB]?@\D=Q@C@>UBPGCAG>?@UACPB@G>@UD=pBP?BJ@?=@GEPDBC>B@=RBD@

P=QGEL@aBCD>V@

q!"�()�r# �$%�&!'�s�$ t"� ���u!

iE@bcbd_bb@?HBDB@CDB@C@?=?CA@=\@kdv@>UBPGCAG>?@UACPB>@\=D@UTUGA>@=\@UDGQCDa@>PH==A@CLB@FG?H@̂=QUABS@

KBCDEGEL@MBBJ>@CEJ@IT?G>Q@WUBP?DTQ@̂=EJG?G=E@\TEJBJ@[a@̂CDJG\\@̂=TEPGAV@ZHB>B@FBDB@GE@QCGE?CGEBJ@

>PH==A>@GE@̂CDJG\\@CEJ@GE@=?HBD@B>?C[AG>HQBE?>@P=QQG>>G=EBJ@[a@?HB@̂=TEPGAV

IUUD=RBJ@UD=U=>CA>@?=@BSUCEJ@XGRBD[CEw@WUBPGCA@WPH==A@CEJ@?HB@WUBPGCAG>?@XB>=TDPB@YC>B@C?@x>L=A@yaQDCBL@

F̀AA@̂=PH@FGAA@GEPDBC>B@?HB@PCUCPG?a@GE@̂CDJG\\@?=@kfg@>UBPGCAG>?@UACPB>@[a@bcbg_bfV

IAA=FGEL@\=D@>=QB@>TDUAT>@?=@>TUU=D?@zBSG[GAG?ae@>T\]PGBE?@PCUCPG?a@F=TAJ@[B@?=@UD=RGJB@gfd@UACPB>@GE@

bcbd_bbe@CEJ@fcb@UACPB>@[a@bcbg_bfV

iE@>TQQCDae@?HBDB@G>@CE@B>?GQC?BJ@>H=D?\CAA@=\@dkl@UACPB>@\=D@ABCDEBD>@=\@UDGQCDa@>PH==A@CLB@GE@bcbd_bbe@

DBJTPGEL@?=@dv{@[a@bcbg_bfV@

| Page 608



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#$!%&�'�(!)!(�'#� �$*!�+�

,-./0/12//.34565.765.7.38379.8:.;<1.=>5?@79@=3.>97?5=.:86.>A>@9=.8:.=5?8-B76C.=?4889.7D5.E@34.F8G>95H.

I576-@-D.J55B=.7-B.KA3@=G.L>5?36AG.F8-B@3@8-.:A-B5B.MC.F76B@::.F8A-?@9N.O45=5.E565.@-.G7@-37@-5B.

=?4889=.@-.F76B@::.7-B.@-.83456.5=37M9@=4G5-3=.?8GG@==@8-5B.MC.345.F8A-?@9N

O45.P59=4.Q8R56-G5-3.47=.7>>68R5B.7.>68>8=79.38.5H>7-B.P88B97-B=.S@D4.L?4889T.E4@?4.E8A9B.@-?657=5.

345.?7>7?@3C.@-.F76B@::.38.U<1.=>5?@79@=3.>97?5=.MC./0/U2/<N

K998E@-D.:86.=8G5.=A6>9A=.38.=A>>863.V5H@M@9@3CT.=A:W?@5-3.?7>7?@3C.E8A9B.M5.38.>68R@B5.<XY.>97?5=.@-.

/0/12//T.7-B.<Z/.>97?5=.MC./0/U2/<N

,-.=AGG76CT.34565.@=.7-.5=3@G735B.=4863:799.8:.1[[.>97?5=.:86.9576-56=.7D5B.11\1Y.@-./0/12//T.65BA?@-D.38.

1X1.MC./0/U2/<N.

]#� ̂_̂#�!�� !̀â_�b̂&̂_*!#"!̀'c##&!dâ& ̂�+(

K99.=?4889.>68>563@5=.@-.F76B@::.47R5.M55-.7==5==5B.:86.345.?8-B@3@8-.8:.345@6.MA@9B@-D=N.K99.47R5.M55-.6735B.

:68G.K.38.eT.E@34.=?4889=.6735B.e.@-.345.>8865=3.?8-B@3@8-N.O4@=.>68?5==.459>=.A=.38.>6@86@3@=5.E4@?4.=?4889=.

-55B.@G>68R5G5-3=.38.345@6.MA@9B@-D=.7-B.E4@?4.-55B.@-R5=3G5-3N.

e537@9=.8-.345.673@-D=.:86.57?4.?7-.M5.:8A-B.@-.345.?8-=A9373@8-.B8?AG5-3.73f

ggghijklmnnhopqhrstuvwxiyppz{kp{pxjzx

|�#+$�%ĉ'�&! ̂(_$̂ba_̂#�!#"!(%�'̂�&̂(_!%$#}̂(̂#�!

O45.98?73@8-.8:.=>5?@79.=?4889=T.=>5?@79@=3.65=8A6?5.M7=5=.7-B.P599M5@-D.F97==5=.@=.-83.E599.B@=36@MA35B.7?68==.

345.?@3CN.

K.G7>.=48E@-D.98?73@8-.8:.5H@=3@-D.=>5?@79@=3.>68R@=@8-.?7-.M5.=55-.73.>7D5.<N.

O45.97?~.8:.=>5?@79@=3.65=8A6?5.M7=5=.@-.=8G5.98?79@3@5=.?7-.B@=7BR7-37D5.9576-56=.9@R@-D.@-.348=5.7657=N.

L8G5.:7G@9@5=.765.A-:7G@9@76.E@34.345.7657=.E4565.>68R@=@8-.@=.98?735BN.�765-3=.86.?7656=.G7C.97?~.345.

G57-=.38.367R59.57=@9C.38.348=5.7657=N.

K.M53356.B@=36@MA3@8-.8:.=>5?@79@=3.65=8A6?5.M7=5=.7?68==.345.?@3C.E8A9B.@G>68R5.7??5==.:86.>A>@9=N.,3.E8A9B.

65BA?5.367R59.3@G5=.:86.G7-C.>A>@9=T.7=.E599.7=.@-?657=@-D.345.-AGM56.8:.>97?5=.7R7@97M95N.

�Page 609



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

�����  !"#$%��&!"%'((&!�)�!"#$%��&�*+!,$*(-�%$*!.�*$*!/0/1

2�(#(*�&!+(!�)%�$�*$!+'$!)-34$�!( !#&�%$*!�+!56!786)!"#$%��&!"%'((&!
 (�!#-#�&*!8�+'!%(3#&$9!&$��)�):!)$$�*!(�!�-+�*3!

;<=>?<@=AB=C=BDEFACG=BFHIIG=GIFCJEK=CJ=LA@FE@J=MICK=A@=NCEOCPQ=;HE=BFHIIG=CKRAJB=DPDAGB=SOIR=CFOIBB=JHE=

CPJHIOAJ<Q==;HE=BFHIIG=HCB=TEE@=SEKEOCJEK=?AJH=MAUEOTC@V=WDEFACG=WFHIIG=C@K=XIIKGC@KB=YAZH=WFHIIG[=CB=

JHE=XEBJEO@=\ECO@A@Z=NCRDPB=]EKEOCJAI@[=BA@FE=̂C@PCO<=_̀abQ

;HE=BFHIIG=AB=KEBAZ@CJEK=JI=DOIUAKE=acb=DGCFEB=SIO=GECO@EOB=CZEK=deac=?AJH=FIRDGEf=GECO@A@Z=KABCTAGAJAEB=

IO=CPJABRQ=

;I=REEJ=JHE=A@FOECBA@Z=KERC@K=SIO=DGCFEB=AJ=AB=DOIDIBEK=JIg

h=A@FOECBE=JHE=KEBAZ@CJEK=@PRTEO=IS=;<=>?<@=WDEFACG=WFHIIG=SOIR=acb=JI=_ì=DGCFEB=SOIR=== =

= WEDJERTEO=_̀__Q

jJ=AB=DOIDIBEK=JHCJ=JHE=BFHIIG=?IPGK=EfDC@K=T<=CKCDJA@Z=JHE=SIOREO=;OEGCA=kIPJH=NE@JOE=JI=DOIUAKE=

CKKAJAI@CG=CFFIRRIKCJAI@=C@K=SCFAGAJAEBQ

l Page 610



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"-' .�/+ %0"1�'&$ !"
1&(��!",��"�)�$!�"/$#("&�*�!'2"!' �%$%3"%''.�"

456789:6;<=>?=6=?@5A>6B=?AC88B=B8A6D57=>;=EB6;76FF=G8HDCI==JC5=?AC88B=67K>D?=@L@>B?=FH8K=6AH8??=DC5=

6LDC8H>DMI==

JC5=?AC88B=>?=75?>N;6D57=F8H=L@=D8=OP=@B6A5?=F8H=@L@>B?=6N57=O=QRR=9>DC=?@55AC=6;7=B6;NL6N5=6;7=

A8KKL;>A6D>8;=;557?=6;7=A8K@B5S=B56H;>;N=;557?I==

J8=K55D=DC5=>;AH56?>;N=75K6;7=F8H=@B6A5?=>D=>?=@H8@8?57=D8T

U=>;AH56?5=DC5=75?>N;6D57=@B6A5=;LK:5H=8F=456789:6;<=V@5A>6B=VAC88B=FH8K=OP=D8=WX=FH8K=V5@D5K:5H=YPYYI

ZD=>?=@H8@8?57=DC6D=98H<?=98LB7=:5=L;75HD6<5;=D8=@H8[>75=;59=6AA8KK876D>8;=6;7=F6A>B>D>5?=6;7=676@D6D>8;=

8F=DC5=5S>?D>;N=6AA8KK876D>8;\=D8=F6A>B>D6D5=DC5=NH89DC=8F=DC5=?AC88BI=

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"]('"̂�!!$'�"1�'&$ !"
1&(��!",��"�)�$!�"/$#(" )#$�*"

JC5=_8BB>5?=>?=6=?@5A>6B=?AC88B=B8A6D57=6D=̀HM;=_5LB8N=>;=a5;D9M;I==JC5=?AC88B=67K>D?=@L@>B?=FH8K=6AH8??=DC5=

6LDC8H>DMI==

JC5=?AC88B=>?=75?>N;6D57=D8=@H8[>75=WP=@B6A5?=F8H=B56H;5H?=6N57=OQRR=9>DC=6LD>?KI==

J8=K55D=DC5=>;AH56?>;N=75K6;7=F8H=@B6A5?=>D=>?=@H8@8?57=D8T

U=>;AH56?5=DC5=75?>N;6D57=;LK:5H=8F=JC5=_8BB>5?=V@5A>6B=VAC88B=FH8K=WP=D8=RRW=FH8K=V5@D5K:5H=YPYY

U=FLHDC5H=>;AH56?5=DC5=75?>N;6D57=;LK:5H=8F=JC5=_8BB>5?=V@5A>6B=VAC88B=FH8K=RRW=D8=RbP=FH8K=V5@D5K:5H=YPYc

ZD=>?=@H8@8?57=DC6D=DC5=?AC88B=:L>B7>;N?=98LB7=:5=5SD5;757=D8=@H8[>75=677>D>8;6B=AB6??H88K?\=>;=677>D>8;=D8=

98H<?=DC6D=6H5=ALHH5;DBM=L;75H96M=D8=>K@H8[5=ALHH5;D=F6A>B>D>5?=6;7=D8=5?D6:B>?C=677>D>8;6B=AB6??H88K?=>;=DC5=

5S>?D>;N=6AA8KK876D>8;I=

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"d! %$�('%"e &("
��$* �f"1&(��!"1�'&$ !$�#"g'��)�&'"h �'"i1ghj",��"�)�$!�"/$#("
&�*�!'2"!' �%$%3"%''.�"

EB6;>?C5;=k6AC=aH>K6HM=VAC88B=>?=6;=l;NB>?CQK57>LK=A8KKL;>DM=@H>K6HM=?AC88B=F8H=@L@>B?=6N57=c=m=RRI==JC5=

?AC88B=>?=B8A6D57=6D=_58B=nAC6F\=oC>9:>;6I

JC5=?AC88B=C8?D?=6=YP=@B6A5=V@5A>6B=o5?8LHA5=̀6?5=F8H=AC>B7H5;=9>DC=A8K@B5S=B56H;>;N=;557?I

J8=K55D=DC5=>;AH56?>;N=75K6;7=F8H=@B6A5?=>D=>?=@H8@8?57=D8T

U=>;AH56?5=DC5=75?>N;6D57=@B6A5=;LK:5H=8F=DC5=V@5A>6B=o5?8LHA5=̀6?5=6D=EB6;>?C5;=k6AC=aH>K6HM=VAC88B=F8H=

AC>B7H5;=9>DC=A8K@B5S=B56H;>;N=;557?=FH8K=YP=D8=cP=@B6A5?=FH8K=V5@D5K:5H=YPYc

ZD=>?=@H8@8?57=DC6D=98H<?=98LB7=:5=L;75HD6<5;=D8=@H8[>75=;59=6AA8KK876D>8;=6;7=F6A>B>D>5?\=D8=F6A>B>D6D5=DC5=
NH89DC=8F=DC5=H5?8LHA5=:6?5I=

pPage 611



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"- �!+���).("
��$* �/"0&(��!"0�'&$ !$�#"1'��)�&'"2 �'"30124",��"�)�$!�"5$#("
�'6'�'" %7"&�*�!'8"!' �%$%."%''7�"

9:;<=>;>?@ABC;DE:;FBGHA>><BDIB:JBKJ@<DIALEMND?EBH>EE?JDOFBP;DE:;FBIHA>><BQ>;BP?PD<IB:@MNBRLSSTBUAMB

IHA>><BDIB<>H:OMNB:OBV<MJAMDEBW>:NXBCMJF<:JT

UAMBIHA>><BA>IOIB:BGPMHD:<BWMI>?;HMBV:IMXBQ>;BP?PD<IBYDOABIMZM;MB:JNBH>EP<M[B<M:;JDJ@BJMMNIT

U>BEMMOBOAMBDJH;M:IDJ@BNME:JNBQ>;BP<:HMIBDOBDIBP;>P>IMNBO>\

]BDJH;M:IMBOAMBNMID@J:OMNBJ?E=M;B:OB9:;<=>;>?@ABC;DE:;FBGHA>><BGPMHD:<BWMI>?;HMBV:IMBQ>;BHAD<N;MJBYDOAB

IMZM;MB:JNBH>EP<M[B<M:;JDJ@BJMMNIBQ;>EB̂_BO>BR_BQ;>EBGMPOME=M;B̂_̂^

>̀;aIBA:ZMB=MMJB?JNM;O:aMJBO>B:N:POBM[DIODJ@B:HH>EE>N:OD>JBYDOADJBOAMBIHA>><BO>BDJH;M:IMBOAMBH:P:HDOFB

>QBOAMB;MI>?;HMB=:IMB:JNBO>BP;>ZDNMB:BIMJI>;FB;>>ET

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"�'%#�'+ %'"��$* �/"
0&(��!"0�'&$ !$�#"1'��)�&'"2 �'"30124",��"�)�$!�"5$#(" )#$�*"

CMJO;M=:JMBC;DE:;FBGHA>><BDIB:JBKJ@<DIALEMND?EBH>EE?JDOFBP;DE:;FBIHA>><BQ>;BP?PD<IB:@MNBRLSSTBUAMB

IHA>><BDIB<>H:OMNB:OBVMMHA<MFBb;DZMXBCMJO;M=:JMT

UAMBIHA>><BA>IOIB:BP;DE:;FBIPMHD:<B;MI>?;HMB=:IMBQ>;BHAD<N;MJBYDOAB:?ODIETB

U>BEMMOBOAMBDJH;M:IDJ@BNME:JNBQ>;BP<:HMIBDOBDIBP;>P>IMNBO>\

]BDJH;M:IMBOAMBNMID@J:OMNBJ?E=M;B:OBOAMBCMJO;M=:JMBC;DE:;FBGHA>><BGPMHD:<BWMI>?;HMBV:IMBQ>;BHAD<N;MJB

YDOAB:?ODIEBQ;>EB̂_BO>B̂cBIP:HMIBQ;>EBGMPOME=M;B̂_̂^

dOBDIBP;>P>IMNBOA:OBY>;aIBY>?<NB=MB?JNM;O:aMJBO>BDEP;>ZMB:JNBM[OMJNBQ:HD<DODMIB:JNB:HH>EE>N:OD>JT

������ !"#�"$%&�' �'"#('"%)*+'�"�,"�! &'�" #"0��$%.5��7"��$* �/"
0&(��!"0�'&$ !$�#"1'��)�&'"2 �'"30124",��"�)�$!�"5$#(" )#$�*"

GP;DJ@Y>>NBC;DE:;FBGHA>><BDIB:JBKJ@<DIALEMND?EBH>EE?JDOFBP;DE:;FBIHA>><BQ>;BP?PD<IB:@MNBRLSSTBUAMB

IHA>><BDIB<>H:OMNB:OBeD;H<MB̀:FXBf<:JMNMF;JT

UAMBIHA>><BA>IOIB:BIPMHD:<DIOB;MI>?;HMB=:IMBQ>;BHAD<N;MJBYDOAB:?ODIET

U>BEMMOBOAMBDJH;M:IDJ@BNME:JNBQ>;BP<:HMIBDOBDIBP;>P>IMNBO>\

]BDJH;M:IMBOAMBNMID@J:OMNBJ?E=M;B:OBGP;DJ@Y>>NBC;DE:;FBGHA>><BGPMHD:<BWMI>?;HMBV:IMBQ>;BHAD<N;MJBYDOAB

:?ODIEBQ;>EB̂_BO>B̂gBQ;>EBGMPOME=M;B̂_̂^

>̀;aIBA:ZMB=MMJB?JNM;O:aMJBO>BDEP;>ZMB:JNB:N:POBM[DIODJ@B:HH>EE>N:OD>JBYDOADJBOAMBIHA>><TBB

h Page 612



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !�"#$�""%��##

&'()*+,-./0)1220/(3)4'()45+67/0()3414,4+89):,10/;9/-<)510=/-<)>/341-.().8/4(8/1);+8)28/7189)1<()2,2/03)4+)

:,10/;9);+8);8(()'+7()4+)3.'++0)481-32+84)4+)32(./10)3.'++03)1->)32(./10/34)8(3+,8.()?13(3@))A4)3(.+->189)

3.'++0)1<(B)4'/3)>/341-.()/3)4'8(()7/0(3@)C+7()0(18-(83)5'+)0/D()5/4'/-)4'(3()>/341-.(3)719)?()28+D/>(>)5/4')

;8(()481-32+84)>,()4+)4'(/8)/->/D/>,10)0(18-/-<)-((>3)1->)3+./10)/33,(3@))

&'()28+2+3103)18()(E2(.4(>)4+)/-.8(13()4'()>(71->);+8)F(18-(8)&81-32+84)14)1)-,7?(8)+;)3.'++03@)

C,/41?0()/728+D(>)1->)G)+8)(E21->(>);1./0/4/(3);+8)>8+26+;;)1->)2/.=6,2)719)?()8(:,/8(>)5/4'/-)4'()3/4(3)4+)

1..+77+>14()4'()1228+28/14()-,7?(83)+;)D('/.0(3@

&'()*+,-./0H3).,88(-4)*+82+814()I01-)/-.0,>(3)1).+77/47(-4)4+)(D(89)3.'++0)/-)*18>/;;)>(D(0+2/-<)1-)

A.4/D()&81D(0)I01-@

J,84'(8)/-;+8714/+-)/-)8(32(.4)+;)481-32+84)7144(83).1-)?();+,->)/-)4'().+-3,0414/+-)>+.,7(-4)14))

KKKLMNOPQRRLSTULVWXYZ[\M]TT̂_OT_T\N̂\))

à�bc"d#��e#f"��e��e�#

gD(89)3.'++0)/-)h10(3)/3)/-32(.4(>)?9)g349-@)

g349-)(-3,8(3)4'14)3.'++03)18()28+D/>/-<)1)<++>):,10/49)+;)(>,.14/+-)4+)4'(/8)2,2/03)1->)4'14)100).'/0>8(-B)18()

3,22+84(>)4+)0(18-)?9)(E.(00(-4)4(1.'/-<)1->)0(18-/-<)341;;@)

C.'++03)18()103+)201.(>)/-)+-()+;)4'();+,8).+0+,86.+>(>)3,22+84).14(<+8/(3)i<8((-B)9(00+5B)17?(8)1->)8(>j)13)

2184)+;)4'()h(03')k+D(8-7(-4H3)l14/+-10)C.'++0)*14(<+8/314/+-)C934(7@)A7?(8)1->)m(>)3.'++03)18()4'+3()4'14)

8(:,/8()4'()7+34)3,22+84@

n(41/03)+;)341->18>3)14)(1.')3.'++0B)13)3(4)+,4)4'(/8)7+34)8(.(-4)g349-)8(2+84)18()+,40/-(>)/-)4'()41?0()?(0+5@))

&'().+0+,83),3(>)3'+5)4'()7+34)8(.(-4).14(<+8/314/+-),3/-<)4'()h(03')k+D(8-7(-4H3)*14(<+8/314/+-)/-)

o1-,189)pqpq@

C.'++0) r-32(.4/+-)n14() C41->18>3 I8+<8(33

&9)k59-)C2(./10)C.'++0 s19)pqtp gE.(00(-4 lG1

s(1>+5?1-=)C2(./10)C.'++0 l+D(7?(8)pqtu A>(:,14( lG1

&'()v+00/(3)C2(./10)C.'++0 w.4+?(8)pqtu k++> lG1

F01-/3'(-)J1.')I8/7189)C.'++0 A28/0)pqtx k++> lG1

s180?+8+,<')I8/7189)C.'++0 l+D(7?(8)pqty k++> lG1

I(-48(?1-()I8/7189)C.'++0 s18.')pqtz k++> lG1

C28/-<5++>)I8/7189)C.'++0 s18.')pqty k++> lG1

J,84'(8)>(41/03)+-):,10/49)1->)341->18>3).1-)?();+,->)/-)4'().+-3,0414/+-)>+.,7(-4)+-)4'()*+,-./0)5(?3/4()14)
KKKLMNOPQRRLSTULVWXYZ[\M]TT̂_OT_T\N̂\)

{Page 613



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !���!�"!#!$�%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!%,�

-./012.34.526.7837390:9.;3<:=.>?186096.526.?<@A68.34.9761>0:>95.7:0169.438.78>@08B.0C6=.:608?689.;>52.
D3@7:6E.F608?>?C.G66=9.0?=H.38.I<5>9@.J76158<@.D3?=>5>3?.0?=.;3<:=.13?58>A<56.53;08=9.@665>?C.

783K6156=.=6@0?=L

-.M26.7837396=.6E70?9>3?.34.MB.N;B?.J761>0:.J1233:.;3<:=.0:93.>?186096.526.?<@A68.34.9761>0:>95.

7:0169.438.:608?689.0C6=.OPQR.;>52.526.@395.13@7:6E.H.96S686.D3@7:6E.F608?>?C.G66=9.0?=H.38.I<5>9@.
J76158<@.D3?=>5>3?L

-.M26.377385<?>5B.53.6@7:3B.9761>0:>95.95044.0?=.53.;38T.@386.1:396:B.;>52.9761>0:>95.968S>169.>?.D08=>44.
;3<:=.6?20?16.>?1:<9>S6.56012>?C.>?.91233:9L.M2>9.;3<:=.A6?6U5.0::.7<7>:9.>?.6012.91233:L.

-.M26.7837396=.6E70?9>3?.34.7:0169.;3<:=.0::3;.7<7>:9.53.580S6:.9238568.=>950?169.53.011699.:310:.9761>0:>95.

783S>9>3?L

V&�!#�W�X�)W%�)Y�#��+!%�&'���!�( &(&%!)�*��#+!%�

-.J3@6.7<7>:9.;>52.IFG.10?.U?=.120?C6.=>4U1<:5L..M26B.@0B.U?=.@3S>?C.53.0.?6;.A<>:=>?C.3?.0.?6;.9>56.
<?9655:>?CL..Z6.T?3;.526B.;>::.?66=.10864<::B.7:0??6=.9<77385.53.0=075.53.526.?6;.9655>?CL..[3;6S68\.

52686.;3<:=.A6.9<4U1>6?5.5>@6.53.7:0?.0?=.9<77385.9<12.0.580?9>5>3?L

-.M2686.>9.7356?5>0:.438.>?186096=.5804U1.13?C695>3?.083<?=.526.91233:.9>569.05.526.95085.0?=.6?=.34.526.=0BL.

M26.D3<?1>:.;3<:=.;38T.;>52.526.N3S68?>?C.]3=B.34.526.91233:.53.=6S6:37.0.M80S6:.̂:0?.53.@>?>@>96.0?B.

7356?5>0:.=>98<75>3?L

_&̀ �̀&aX)�%��''�"!��''!*�!),

M26.D3<?1>:.;>::.;38T.;>52.526.N3S68?>?C.]3=>69.34.6012.91233:.53.0==8699.526.[b.>@7:>105>3?9.08>9>?C.483@.

526.6950A:>92@6?5.34.0.J761>0:>95.b693<816.]096.05.526.91233:L.M2686.@0B.A6.0.?66=.438.0==>5>3?0:.9504U?CL.

Z2686.526.N3S68?>?C.]3=B.209.0=3756=.526.D3<?1>:c9.J1233:.b6=67:3B@6?5.0?=.b6=<?=0?1B.̂3:>1B\.0?B.

?6;.S010?1>69.08>9>?C.09.0.13?96d<6?16.34.526.6950A:>92@6?5.34.526.J761>0:>95.b693<816.]096.;>::.783S>=6.

377385<?>5>69.438.91233:PA096=.95044.3?.526.91233:.86=67:3B@6?5.86C>9568L.

�������((!#%�#!e�,

M26.D3<?1>:.;>::.13::615.0?=.9<@@08>96.526.466=A01T.483@.52>9.13?9<:505>3?L..D3<?1>:.34U1689.;>::.526?.867385.

52>9.53.526.D3<?1>:c9.D0A>?65L.M2>9.;>::.26:7.526.6:6156=.@6@A689.<?=68950?=.950T623:=689c.S>6;9.0?=.;>::.

C>S6.526@.>?438@05>3?.53.26:7.@0T6.526>8.=61>9>3?L

f4.526.D0A>?65.=61>=69.53.13?5>?<6.;>52.526.7837390:9\.>5.@<95.7<A:>92.0.=31<@6?5.10::6=.0.g9505<538B.

?35>16cL.M26.9505<538B.?35>16.9659.3<5.526.=650>:9.34.526.7837390:9.0?=.09T9.0?B3?6.;23.;0?59.53.3AK615.53.

=3.93L.hAK615>3?9.@<95.A6.;8>556?L.M26B.@<95.A6.96?5.53.526.D3<?1>:.;>52>?.526.=0569.C>S6?.3?.526.?35>16L

M26.D0A>?65.@0B.=61>=6.53.07783S6.38.86K615.526.7837390:\.38.526B.@0B.07783S6.526.7837390:.;>52.93@6.

120?C69.i@3=>U105>3?9jL.M26.D0A>?65.;3<:=.50T6.0?B.3AK615>3?9.8616>S6=.>?.526.hAK615>3?.̂68>3=.>?53.

0113<?5.;26?.@0T>?C.526>8.=61>9>3?L

h?16.0.=61>9>3?.>9.@0=6\.;6.;>::.:65.6S68B3?6.0446156=.AB.526.7837390:.T?3;L..M26.=61>9>3?.;>::.0:93.A6.

7<A:>926=.3?.526.D3<?1>:c9.;6A9>56L

kl Page 614



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !"#�$�%&
'()*+,-*+(./0121*2345*615/(-51*7(6.*(-04-1*,2*8889+,6:4779;(<9)=>?@A5+3((0/6(/(5,05

BCDEFCDGFHGHIJKLDMHN

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PabPcdbRPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PhijPX_PklmPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPfgVSUPR\]̂ UTP_̀PnUVZ_d̂VRoPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PlmPX_PijPfgVSUWP̀T_]P

eUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PaYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PimPX_PhhiPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTP

kmkk

OP \̀TXYUTPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTP_̀PaYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__gP̀T_]PhhiPX_PhqmPfgVSUWP̀T_]P

eUfXU]̂ UTPkmkr

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPfgVSUPR\]̂ UTP_̀PXYUPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUPVXPugVRQWYURPvVSYPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP

_̀TPSYQgZTURPdQXYPS_]fgUxPgUVTRQR[PRUUZWP̀T_]PkmPX_PrmPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkr

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPnVTĝ_T_\[YPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀_TPSYQgZTURPdQXYP

]_ZUTVXUyPWUzUTUPVRZPS_]fgUxPgUVTRQR[PRUUZWP̀T_]PkmPX_PrmPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPXYUPwURXTÛVRUPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀_TPSYQgZTURP

dQXYPV\XQW]P̀T_]PkmPX_PklPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

OPQRSTUVWUPXYUPZUWQ[RVXUZPR\]̂ UTPVXPefTQR[d__ZPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPefUSQVgQWXPsUW_\TSUPtVWUP̀_TPSYQgZTURPdQXYP

V\XQW]P̀T_]PkmPX_PkjPfgVSUWP̀T_]PeUfXU]̂ UTPkmkk

'()6*<4185*.,2216{*/01,51*2100*)5*83,2*|()*234-=*,}()2*231*/6(/(5,0*}|~

OP�_]fgUXQR[PVRZPTUX\TRQR[PXYUPVSS_]fVRbQR[P�\UWXQ_RRVQTUPX_PXYUPVZZTUWWP[QzURPVXPXYUP̂_XX_]P_̀PXYUP̀_T]�

OP�_]fgUXQR[PXYUP_RgQRUPTUWf_RWUP̀_T]PVXP8889+,6:4779;(<9)=>?@A5+3((0/6(/(5,05P

OP�TPQ̀Pb_\PfTÙUTPb_\PSVRPU�]VQgPb_\TPzQUdWPX_�P5+3((0615/(-515�+,6:4779;(<9)=

�31*+0(54-;*:,21*7(6*615/(-515*2(*2345*+(-5)02,24(-*45*�)15:,|*�*�1}6),6|*����9**

OPwVTURXP_TPc\VTZQVR�

P aUVSYUTP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bPb_\TPWSY__g

�P eSY__gP[_zUTR_TP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bPb_\TPWSY__g

�P �XYUTP�PfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀b

OP�abPcdbRPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P nUVZ_d̂VRoPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P aYUPp_ggQUWPefUSQVgPeSY__g

�P ugVRQWYURPvVSYPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP

�P nVTĝ_T_\[YPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gP

�P wURXTÛVRUPwTQ]VTbPeSY__g

�P efTQR[d__ZPwTQ]VTbPeSY__gPP

�P �XYUTPfgUVWUPWfUSQ̀bP

�P ���

�9*�34+3*(7*231*7(00(84-;*,61*|()*615/(-:4-;*,5�

�9* �(*|()*3,<1*,*+340:>+340:61-*1-6(001:*,2*231*7(00(84-;*5+3((05�*�24+=*,00*23,2*,//0|�

��Page 615



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ �!�"!##�$%�%&'�#()*"�#!%�+�$,)$-�%��./#$�0'�%&'�#$�0.".�*�+�$�1&.(-$'*�
)*-�2�!*3�4'�#('�,.%&�)--.%.�*)(�(')$*.*3�*''-"5

666 7896 6 6 :;6 6 <=;:>?6@:;A

B����� �!�"!##�$%�%&'�#$�#�")(�+�$�')C&��+�%&'�"C&��(�".%'"5

DC&��(�)*-�#$�#�")(�.*�E$.'+� 2'" F� ��*G%�H*�,

?I6JKIL69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?I6JKIL69MNOPQR6
9OSTTR6̂VT\6_̀a6XT6bcd6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

eNQYTK]QLf69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6eNQYTK]QLf6
9MNOPQR69OSTTR6̂VT\6cd6XT6̀a6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

?SN6gTRRPNW69MNOPQR69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?SN6gTRRPNW69MNOPQR6
9OSTTR6̂VT\6̀d6XT6__̀6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

U6̂[VXSNV6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6T̂6?SN6gTRRPNW6
9MNOPQR69OSTTR6̂VT\6__̀6XT6_hd6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbi

jRQLPWSNL6kQOS6lVP\QVI69OSTTR6

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6MRQON6L[\]NV6T̂6XSN6
9MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6QX6jRQLPWSNL6kQOS6lVP\QVI6
9OSTTR6̂TV6OSPRYVNL6KPXS6OT\MRNo6RNQVLPLZ6LNNYW6̂VT\6
bd6XT6id6MRQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbi

eQVR]TVT[ZS6lVP\QVI69OSTTR6

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX6eQVR]TVT[ZS6
lVP\QVI69OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂TV6OSPRYVNL6
KPXS6\TYNVQXNp6WNqNVN6QLY6OT\MRNo6RNQVLPLZ6LNNYW6
V̂T\6bd6XT6id6MRQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

lNLXVN]QLN6lVP\QVI69OSTTR

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX6XSN6lNLXVN]QLN6
lVP\QVI69OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂TV6OSPRYVNL6KPXS6
Q[XPW\6̂VT\6bd6XT6bc6MRQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

9MVPLZKTTY6lVP\QVI69OSTTR66

U6PLOVNQWN6XSN6YNWPZLQXNY6L[\]NV6QX69MVPLZKTTY6lVP\QVI6
9OSTTR69MNOPQRPWX6mNWT[VON6nQWN6̂TV6OSPRYVNL6KPXS6Q[XPW\6
V̂T\6bd6XT6ba6MRQONW6̂VT\69NMXN\]NV6bdbb

rs Page 616



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ !"�#!�!$�%!&�'"((!$&�&)*�($!(!'*#�+),%-*'�&),%�(.*,'*�*/(.,0%�1) �

2��3!".#� !"�.04*�&!�'"--*'&�,% �+),%-*'�!$�,.&*$%,&05*'6

78Page 617



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

������ ! "#$%�&"''(#!)

*+,-./01234-567,-809-9,1:031,1-70-7+21-.031;/767203-21�<�=(>?@$?A�BCBB�

DEFG

HIIJGKK

LMKNOPMIG

QRGOPMSTUVWOVKOTMNOEXWGONMOUMTKVIGJOETYOUMTKSWNENVMTOJGKZMTKGKOJGUGV[GIOE\NGJONRVKOIENG]O

PMTKSWNENVMTOJGKZMTKGKÔVWWO#"!�XGOUMSTNGIOEKOMX_GUNVMTKONMONRGOZJMZMKEW]O

X̀_GUNVMTKOUETOMTWYOXGOJGaVKNGJGIO\MWWM̂VTaOZSXWVUENVMTOM\OEOKNENSNMJYOTMNVUG]

b\OYMSÔVKRONMOXGOTMNVcGIOM\OZSXWVUENVMTOM\ONRGOPMTKSWNENVMTOJGZMJNOZWGEKGOZJM[VIGOETOGFEVWOEIIJGKK]Ob\OYMSOIMOTMNOZJM[VIGOETO
GFEVWOEIIJGKKÔGOUETTMNOdGGZOYMSOSZONMOIENG]

ef$#g�A"@�h"?�A"@?�&"''(#!)�
i%($)(�?(!@?#�!f )�h"?'�!"�!f(�j&f""%�k?l$# )$! "#�i%$## #l�e($'m�n""'�oC<m�p"@#!A�q$%%m�p=<C�ors�"?�>A�('$ %�!"�
)&f""%?()t"#)()u&$?� hh�l"v�@g�>A�#"�%$!(?�!f$#�<�=(>?@$?A�BCBB�

wx Page 618



�����������	
���
�����	��������������������	�������

����� !��
"#$%&$'()*+,-$'.*/)'(*&01*-$'2$#*3'0*'%##*3'/&'0*'4*)$'%11/)%0$#.'(,5(*,50')$&(*5-$50&6'+,$3&'%5-'5$$-&'2.'%)$%78

9:%0'3%&'.*/)'%;$'*5'.*/)'#%&0'2,)0:-%.<'

' =5-$)'>?' ' ' @A8BC'' ' ' CA8AC' ' ' ?A8DC' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

' >?8@C' ' ' BA8CC'''' ' AA8?C' ' ' DAF

"#$%&$'0,1G'%5.'*E'0:$'E*##*3,5;'0:%0'%((#.'0*'.*/7'

' H$%EI'H$%E$5$-I'J%)-'*E':$%),5;' ' K,&/%#',4(%,)4$50''''''' L*5;8&0%5-,5;',##5$&&'*)':$%#0:'1*5-,0,*5'M$N;N'1%51$)O''

' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' ' -,%2$0$&O'*)'%&0:4%P

' Q$50%#':$%#0:'-,ER1/#0,$&'' ' ' 9:$$#1:%,)'/&$)'''' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

' L$%)5,5;',4(%,)4$50'I'-,ER1/#0,$&' ' Q*2,#,0.',4(%,)4$50' ' S0:$)

"#$%&$'&($1,E.

9:%0',&'.*/)'$0:5,1';)*/(<'

9:$)$'0:$'0$)4'TU),0,&:6',&'/&$-O'0:,&')$E$)&'0*'%5.'*E'0:$'E*/)':*4$'5%0,*5&'*E'9%#$&O'V5;#%5-O'W*)0:$)5'X)$#%5-'%5-'Y1*0#%5-O'*)'%5.'

1*42,5%0,*5'*E'0:$&$N

' 9:,0$'8'9$#&:IV5;#,&:IY1*00,&:IW*)0:$)5'X),&:IU),0,&:'' ' Z&,%5IZ&,%5'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'U%5;#%-$&:,

' 9:,0$'8'X),&:'' ' ' ' ' ' Z&,%5IZ&,%5'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'X5-,%5

' 9:,0$'8'[.(&.'*)'X),&:'\)%+$##$)' ' ' ' ' Z&,%5IZ&,%5'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'Z5.'*0:$)

'' 9:,0$'8'Z5.'*0:$)'3:,0$'2%1G;)*/5-' ' '' ' U#%1GIZE),1%5I]%),22$%5IU#%1G'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'ZE),1%5

'' Q,̂$-IQ/#0,(#$'V0:5,1'[)*/(&'8'9:,0$'_'Z&,%5' ' ' U#%1GIZE),1%5I]%),22$%5IU#%1G'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8']%),22$%5

' Q,̂$-IQ/#0,(#$'V0:5,1'[)*/(&'8'9:,0$'%5-'U#%1G']%),22$%5' ' U#%1GIZE),1%5I]%),22$%5IU#%1G'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'Z5.'*0:$)

'' Q,̂$-IQ/#0,(#$'V0:5,1'[)*/(&'8'9:,0$'%5-'U#%1G'ZE),1%5' ' Z)%2

' Q,̂$-IQ/#0,(#$'V0:5,1'[)*/(&'8'Z5.'*0:$)'' '' ' Z5.'*0:$)'$0:5,1';)*/('M(#$%&$'&($1,E.P

' Z&,%5IZ&,%5'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8']:,5$&$' ' '' '

' Z&,%5IZ&,%5'9$#&:IU),0,&:'8'"%G,&0%5,' ' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

Z)$'.*/̀ <

' a$4%#$' ' '' Q%#$' ' ' S0:$)' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.

H*'.*/',-$50,E.'%&'%'-,&%2#$-'($)&*5<'

' b$&'' '' ' W*' ' ' ")$E$)'5*0'0*'&%.'

\:$',5E*)4%0,*5'.*/':%+$'()*+,-$-'%2*+$'3,0:'2$'()*1$&&$-'2.']%)-,EE']*/51,#',5'#,5$'3,0:'0:$'H%0%'")*0$10,*5'Z10'@c>d'%5-'[$5$)%#'H%0%'")*0$10,*5'e$;/#%0,*5N'\:$'
,5E*)4%0,*5'()*+,-$-'0*'/&',5')$#%0,*5'0*'0:,&'1*5&/#0%0,*5'3,##'2$'0)$%0$-'%&'1*5R-$50,%#'2/0',0'4%.'2$'/&$-'2.'0:$']*/51,#'*)'-,&1#*&$-'0*'*0:$)&'3:$5')$f/,)$-'2.'#%3N'
\:$'(/)(*&$'*E'()*1$&&,5;'0:$'($)&*5%#'-%0%',&')$f/,)$-'0*'($)E*)4'%'&($1,R1'0%&G&',5'0:$'(/2#,1',50$)$&0N'Z5.')$&(*5&$&')$1$,+$-'1%5'2$')$f/$&0$-'/5-$)'0:$'a)$$-*4'
*E'X5E*)4%0,*5'Z10'%5-'4%.':%+$'0*'2$'4%-$'(/2#,1O':*3$+$)'%5.',5E*)4%0,*5'0:%0'3*/#-',-$50,E.'%5',5-,+,-/%#'&/1:'%&'5%4$'%5-'%--)$&&'3*/#-'2$')$4*+$-N
a*)'E/)0:$)',5E*)4%0,*5'*5':*3']%)-,EE']*/51,#'4%5%;$&'($)&*5%#',5E*)4%0,*5O'&$$'*/)'E/##'"),+%1.'"*#,1.'*5'0:$']*/51,#6&'3$2&,0$'
ghhijkllmmmnopqrsttnuvwnxylz{|l}v~�l{�m�H,&1#%,4$)I"%;$&I-$E%/#0N%&(̂'

��Page 619



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING 

NEEDS (ALN)   

COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM 

CONDITION PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED 

PUPILS  

Appendix 3 – Notes of meetings with Governing Bodies and School 

Staff 

Appendix 3

Page 621



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Moorland Primary School Governing Body 
Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 

11 November 2021 
 

 

Present: Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Mian Saleem (SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), 
Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Moorland Primary School Governors   
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl opened the meeting, welcomed governors and outlined 
details of the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for Moorland Primary School 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Proposed SRB accommodation  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters  

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Admissions  

• Finance 

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
MDF invited questions/comments from staff  
 
Q/C - at what point would we have definitive funding to start recruiting new staff? 
JH - in discussions with the Headteacher over next few weeks regarding this, how 

many children we’re looking to admit before the class opens and work on transitions. 

We’d clarify before end of term or beginning of next. 

Q/C - Initially told that SRB would go in Foundation Phase (FP) but now saying 
FP going into main building; confusion as we thought FP would be in in new 
unit when built and KS2 in main building. 

Page 622



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Moorland Primary School Governing Body 
Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 

11 November 2021 
 

JH - FP will be part of new build and KS2 will be in existing upstairs room which has 

been planned and agreed. In terms of FP building work, this won’t be ready for 

September 2022, but hoping KS2 class will be. We want to start placing children from 

September 2022; there are always KS2 children who need to be placed, so it would 

be helpful to start a class even if it is only KS2 and not FP. If we do need to place FP 

kids, there may be another room, but not sure it’s best option; respect schools view of 

what is appropriate and possible from September 2022.  

Q/C – from a governing body point of view we want the provision to be inclusive; 
it can be scary to send children to somewhere new and doesn’t seem fair on the 
children. If we start from KS2 and it’s their permanent base, that would be more 
settling.  
 
Q/C – with regards to funding, it is part of the delegated budget; you’ve clarified 
that funding for teaching resource will come earlier but with regard to the overall 
funding, when will that come in? 
JH - before next financial year; clearly identified and sustained need and then grow as 

staffing grows. 

Q/C – with regards to recruitment, is nobody else being made redundant from 
new base? 
JH – there is no closure but if we have any staff on the redeployment register, we could 

look at that but this would depend on skillset and roles; we’re looking to increase the 

staff here, however most likely to be open recruitment because it is specialised 

Q/C – with regards to building works, there needs to be work done to main 
building to make it suitable. When will it start and how long will it take for 
September 22 intake? is there room for manoeuvre? 
MS - current programme indicates we’ll start construction in July next year and do the 

refurbishment of the upstairs KS2 area within the first for 4-6 weeks. That unit would 

be ready from September.  

MDF advised governor of the ways in which responses to the consultation could be 
made. 
 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked governors, and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 623



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting with Moorland Primary School Staff 

Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 
11 November 2021 

 
 

Present: Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Mian Saleem (SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), 
Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Members of staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl opened the meeting, welcomed staff and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for Moorland Primary School 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Proposed SRB accommodation  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters  

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Admissions  

• Finance 

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
MDF invited questions/comments from staff  
 
Q/C - concerns about space while building work is being undertaken; how will 
the school operate with 400 children on site? 
MS – aware that this is a challenging phased construction plan; two aspects, Flying 
Start and Early Years unit which will be phased to minimise impact.   The existing Early 
Years building will remain operational, with children moving to the new 
accommodation once completed.  The major challenge from the construction point of 
view is compliance with new drainage legislation with the need to build tanks 
underground.  It will be a challenging six months however will look to use the school 
holiday period to progress works. 

Page 624



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting with Moorland Primary School Staff 

Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 
11 November 2021 

 
 

MDF – there will be an impact in the short term however the works will result in 
significantly improved facilities. 
 
Q/C – a significant area of space is being taken up; the children use a lot of 
outdoor space. 
MDF – how best to use the available space can be discussed with the Headteacher; 
phased playtimes have been used with other schools. 
 
Q/C – with the new curriculum children are outdoors all the time. 
MDF – free flow will be reduced during the building works however the long-term 
position will be far superior. 
 
Q/C – it will be the younger children suffering, who have suffered through covid 
and through this. 
MS – we will look to release areas as they are completed. We will have a clear view 
of what can be done once a contractor is appointed and will work with the school to 
see best to do things. 
 
Q/C - I can see the Year 2 playground being taken up, main will go, is that true? 
MDF - yes will have to reduce.  This is something we can revisit with the Headteacher; 
it may be that the school can use other facilities within the local area. There are 
challenges on urban school sites like Moorland but there is a need to replace the Early 
Years building; children are not getting the standard of facilities they need. 
Q/C – from the picture the whole of the playground is gone; children will have 
to stay inside while the others play. 
 
Q/C – is it possible to build the Flying Start provision by the MUGA, knock down 
the Early Years unit while we go into the other building 
MDF - we note your concerns with access to facilities and we will need to come back 
to your school outside this process 
 
Q/C – could we use the small area next to the old Ysgol Glan Morfa building 
during the day? 
MDF – this is the type of option we can look at with the school. 
 
Q/C - could you clarify what you mean by complex needs and the types of pupils 
that would be accessing the SRB. 
JH – children with significant long term learning difficulties; provision already at other 
schools e.g., Llanishen Fach Primary School.  We fund a range of needs; the 
commonality is learning difficulties but also relates to communication issues, physical 
and medical, ASC and ADHD.   Complex needs are not easy to summarise but covers 
children who need specialist teaching support/methods. 
 
Q/C - Are the 20 places split? 
JH – yes, 10 places for Foundation Phase and 10 places for KS2 however places are 
sometimes split by need rather than age and can be fluid in that respect. 
 

Page 625



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting with Moorland Primary School Staff 

Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 
11 November 2021 

 
 

Q/C - concerned about the complex needs’ children in the other building e.g., 
the staircase.  Concerns also with regards to the additional learning needs in 
school, the staffing and management structure, one classroom being upstairs, 
children having to go in lifts to go to the playground.   Staffing structure will 
need to ensure needs are appropriately met; 20 additional children will require 
significantly more time. 
JH - staff are employed by the school with staff and resources fully funded by the LA.  

Schools with SRB provision find that it brings additional expertise and opportunities 

into the school allowing over time for the development of a more fluid model that 

benefits a wider range of children.   Opportunities to see how children in SRB can 

benefit from mainstream also. A teacher and 2 TAs in each class is standard but this 

will need to be worked through by governors in establishing the base.  

Headteacher – there would be opportunities for transference of skills. Would 

hope it will provide flexible, opportunities for staff currently working in the 

school to apply to work there.  

JH – whilst there are huge constraints at the moment, it would be worth visiting existing 

bases.  Marlborough Primary School opening a third class which filled almost straight 

away; the unit there is going very well and provides a strong flexible model. 

Q/C - What about fire assembly points? We usually meet in the playground 
MDF - that would need to be revised, as standard. 

 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked staff, and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 626



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Governing Body Meeting  

Willows High School  
10 January 2022  

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), 
Jennie Hughes (Achievement & Inclusion), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP), Willows High 
School governors  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting, welcomed governors and 
introduced officers. 
 
MDF advised that notes of the meeting were being taken and would form part of the 
consultation feedback.  
 
BA gave a PowerPoint presentation setting out details of the proposal based upon the 
contents of the consultation document for proposed changes in the Complex Learning 
Needs ages 11-19 sector and specifically the expansion of provision at Willows High 
School.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• What is proposed for Willows High School? 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 11-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 11 - 19 

• Take up of places at Willows High School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and Answers  
 
MDF invited questions from governors   
 
The questions asked by governors are set out in italics below with the officer response 
given directly below. 

Page 627



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Governing Body Meeting  

Willows High School  
10 January 2022  

 
Q – Has the Council thought about where the base will be? Will it be in existing 
classrooms? 
A: Will be a specific space built for it, at this stage it hasn’t been worked out in detail. 
 
Q –Six miles is a long way for children to travel (some pupils have to travel long 
distances within the catchment) so bringing the school closer to more children 
is a good thing. 
A- We welcome all comments and thoughts on the proposal and would encourage you 
to include any points you wish to raise in your formal response.   We welcome as many 
responses as possible.  
 
Q – How should we respond to the consultation? 
A: We would expect to see a formal response from the Governing Body. 
 
Q- We will respond as a GB and individually. 
 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked governors and the meeting closed. 
 

Page 628



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff Meeting  

Willows High School  
17 January 2022  

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), 
Jennie Hughes (Achievement & Inclusion), Louise Flynn (HR), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP) 
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting, welcomed staff and introduced 
officers. 
 
MDF advised that notes of the meeting were being taken and would form part of the 
consultation feedback.  
 
MDF presented a PowerPoint setting out details of the proposal: 
 

• What is proposed city wide? 

• Background (21st Century Schools) Cardiff 2030 Vision 

• Sufficiency of places  

• Current provision 11-19  

• Demand for Complex Learning Needs/ASC places 11-19  

• Demand for places at Willows High School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport considerations 

• Proposal benefits 

• Human Resources  

• What happens next 
 
Louise Flynn (LF) advised that the proposal was positive. There would be regular 
dialogue with trade unions, staff, and governing bodies throughout the process.   
 
Questions and Answers  
 
MDF invited questions from staff    
 
The questions asked by staff are set out in italics below with the officer response given 
directly below. 
 
Q – Who will oversee safeguarding of pupils and staff? 
A: Pupils will be part of the school, so will be up to the Senior Leadership team.    All 
staff will be employed by the school. 
 

Page 629



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff Meeting  

Willows High School  
17 January 2022  

 

 
 
Q – What will the pupil/staff ratio be for the SRB? 
A - For pupils with severe learning difficulties it will be 1 teacher per 10 pupils, plus a 
Teaching Assistant.  

 
Q - What will the class sizes be? 
A – No more than 10 pupils per class.  

 
Q – Are any of our pupils allowed to go to Whitchurch SRB Post 16? 
A – This is something that could be an option.  Some may also want to go onto college 
but may want a school place first. 
 
Q – Is there any scope for adding accommodation?  
A – Willows currently has surplus space.  However, we would consider any requests 
or concerns made in your collective response, if you felt it was needed for your delivery 
of provision. 
 
 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked staff and the meeting closed. 
 

Page 630



Schools Programme 
Llanishen High School Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

17 January 2022 at 5:00pm 
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Ian Warburton (SOP), 8 Llanishen 
High School Governors 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed governors. 
 
BA gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 
ages 11-19 sector and specifically the expansion of ASC provision at Llanishen High 
School.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• What is proposed for Llanishen High School? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 11-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 11 - 19 

• Take up of places at Llanishen High School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response given 
 
RP invited questions from governors   
 
Q Will the places be available from September 2022; what is the status of 

the building work required? 

Page 631



Schools Programme 
Llanishen High School Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

17 January 2022 at 5:00pm 
 

 

RP Temporary accommodation is being sourced such that it is in place in February; 
the permanent build is progressing well and should be in place by September 
2022. 

JH The base is already accommodating 45 pupils and hence there is a need to put 
permanent provision in place. 

 
Q The scheme reduces parking, is there a plan to put additional parking in 

place? A mezzanine parking area would provide additional places on the 
same footprint. 

RP I will check on the plans, but parking considerations should be part of the 
planning application. I will get back to you with any details available. 

 
Q The complexity of needs is increasing. Will the funding of the SRB reflect 

the resources required? 
JH We recognise that the complexity of need has increased beyond that originally 

anticipated for the provision. We are intending to provide a good fit of placement 
to provision, allocating more pupils who can be accommodated in mainstream 
provision. As regards funding, a special school funding model will apply 
providing a good level of financial resourcing.  

 
Q The existing resource is currently accommodating 45 pupils, how 

sustainable will this number be going forward? 
JH We currently have no plans to admit above 45 pupils. 
 
There were no further questions. 
 
RP invited the governing body to submit a response to the proposal and was happy 
for governors to share links to the proposal.  
 
RP thanked governors and the meeting ended. 
 
 

Page 632



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Jennie Hughes 
(ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), James Eul (Translator), Ysgol Glantaf 
governors  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed governors. 
 
MDF advised that the meeting was taking place on Zoom to allow for simultaneous 
translation with contributions to the meeting in Welsh being translated into English. 
 
MDF gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes to ALN provision. 
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide 

• What is proposed for Ysgol Glantaf 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 11-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 11-19 

• Demand for places at Ysgol Glantaf  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposal 

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response given 
 
RP invited questions from governors.   
 
 

Page 633



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

Q - Wanted to clarify if the enlarged SRB will all be in one new structure? 
RP- not necessarily, we are very early in the design process, we need to get to the 
right solution, it could be in one or there could be some non SRB provision in the same 
block. We would do that with school. 
 
Q - With regard to funding, at what point do we understand the impact on the 
school budget as we want that to be minimal or neutral 
RP- Needs to be worked through properly 
JH- It is still early but we will have those conversations with you about the funding 
model and may move towards the special school funding model. We are aiming for it 
to be cost neutral and benefit the school. 
 
Q - When would we understand that impact? 
JH- this could begin with looking at what the staffing model looks like, recruiting staff 
and funding later this year as the SRB opens in 2023. 
 
Q - The school condition has been described as band C- poor with major defects, 
what is the councils plan for that? 
RP- We have not begun planning for Band C yet, in bringing forward that we need to 
do a significant consultation with other schools in same position. I oversee asset 
programme, we are and have been investing in the school over the last couple of 
years, we have significant needs across city. There has been historic underinvestment 
for 40-50 years.  
MDF- Not just condition but on a wider strategic context it’s about how we increase 
the number of Welsh places across Cardiff so there are appropriate Welsh medium 
places across city, and the main vehicle is the 21st Century school’s programme. That 
will look at sufficiency and condition, sometimes they coincide. 
 
Q - Have you underestimated the need in Welsh medium education as a whole 
in Cardiff given that the number of people accessing primary Welsh medium 
education in Cardiff has significantly increased? 
RP- This is the initial proposal in a series of proposals. We’re acutely aware of needs 
coming forward. We are trying to drive forward the agenda, we have a significant ALN 
agenda and expect more work coming through over coming years. 
MDF- This was set out in the draft WESP recently. We can see we will need to increase 
temporarily, but long term would be with Band C investment. We’re confident we have 
capacity in Welsh medium sector in year 7. Regarding numbers from Welsh medium, 
there are large cohorts coming through from primary schools, we expect them to be 
accommodated but that doesn’t take into account those who move in mid-year and 
those who transfer from English to Welsh. If we promote Welsh immersion that could 
increase going forward, need to ensure we’re able to offer a place for those who come. 
Need to speak to governing bodies in the short term, and long term we need something 
more substantive for the wider stimulation of growth. We want 25% going to reception 
by 2031, if surpassed it’ll have a knock-on effect 
Q - I mean specifically SRB provision. In the WESP it said there would be three 
SRB specialist provisions. Not just Ysgol Glantaf but the whole of Welsh 

Page 634



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

medium education. If someone requires ALN support, they should have that 
support in the Welsh language. There’s a significant increase and 60 is 
insufficient to cover that, has that been looked at in detail? How long are we 
looking at? Potential for ALN young people to slip through the net and go 
through the English sector instead. 
MDF- We have included surplus for more than Ysgol Glantaf in the WESP. But not all 
children who are statemented need a specialist placement. We want to respond to 
them in a way whereby they don’t need to leave Welsh medium education to access 
ALN provision. Not just for pupils in the system already but also for future pupils. 
JH- The numbers for Ysgol Glantaf are right and ahead of demand over the next few 
years, but as a whole we do revisit that data regularly. We are looking at our projects, 
also looking at primary sector, scope to expand in Ysgol Pwll Coch and to open second 
SRB provision.  Recognise need for more provision for those with EHW needs. It is a 
work in progress, we need to track projections and data all the time, so we get ahead 
and stay ahead. We need to have more places than needed so we can encourage 
families into the sector and meet their needs.  
 
Q - Regarding 60 spaces, what are the reasons Ysgol Plasmawr and Ysgol Bro 
Edern were rejected? 
MDF- Ysgol Plasmawr don’t have a conventional base but do support pupils with 
higher level of EHW needs. Long term we need to see that model continue to be the 
best model or provide additional provision. Ysgol Bro Edern doesn’t have much 
additional space, overall, the site is confined. Permanent provision would be more 
challenging. Ysgol Glantaf has more space, and the expertise is at Ysgol Glantaf and 
doing a good job, so you get to maximise and build on them. But this doesn’t mean we 
don’t think it shouldn’t be in all three Welsh medium high schools. Long term we’d be 
looking at location, size, additional scope for SRBs.  
 
Q - You mentioned increased traffic, this is a big concern for me as parent. We 
don’t want more traffic and for the Future Generations Act, it doesn’t feel right 
to have more traffic due to focus on one Welsh medium site. 
RP- That is valid. We’re working witing the confines of constraints. This is why we 
need to work through longer term strategic proposals with future capital plans, so we 
have the right holistic approach. Currently too many constraints on Welsh-medium 
secondary sites, so active travel is very important. Need to consider highway and 
parking issues as part of the scheme. This isn’t a planning consultation. Our statutory 
consultations include highways. But we are not at that position yet.  
 
Q - Curious about where pupils will come from for September 2023. Are they for 
those out of our local authority places? Is there a plan for numbers coming 
through? 
JH- Pupils need specialist provision at different points in education. Some do very well 
in primary mainstream but need to transfer to SRB provision in year 7. Can happen in 
any year, we know some coming to secondary now that would benefit. We’re putting 
things in place to support them now, there are some who are fine in mainstream 

Page 635



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

primary, but we can predict they will need support in secondary. Same as in English 
medium.  
RP- Obviously need to work with school and you to make sure the transition from 30 
to 60 is managed successfully. We are in the early stages of design and would develop 
that further later.  
 
Q - How many have moved to English medium from primary following 
diagnosis? But appreciate plans for more primary provision.  
JH- We do track this. We had seen children move from Cylch Meithrin to English 
medium but have also seen them go to Ysgol Pwll Coch now. We used to see families 
thinking ahead but now we’re seeing more in Welsh primary staying which is very 
positive. Families have more confidence in the mainstream sector to meet pupils 
needs.  
 
Q - How confident are you it will be possible to achieve what you’re suggesting? 
It seems ambitious. Welcome the potential to develop Ysgol Pwll Coch primary 
location, in the context of active travel wouldn’t it be good to develop something 
in the north as well as south of city? Children in the north travelling to the south 
for the SRB. 
RP- With documents we have to put a date in, we can shift dates in future, but can’t 
bring them forward. There is significant need coming through and the site isn’t ideal 
from a flooding perspective. We want to bring forward the right scheme not a rushed 
scheme, that’s good for long term. That may or may not include the whole block for 
SRB in time for September 2023, we might need to push that forward for the 
permanent scheme. We’re looking at options for primary. If as a governing body you 
can do a formal response for the proposal that would be good, we are looking for a 
good spread across city.  
 
Head- Points of the governing body are interesting. With future parents making 
choice for Welsh medium. Lack of primary investment. If you’re a parent of a 
child with ALN, I can see where the resources are and wanting to move children 
to 21st Century environments. It is very good news for Ysgol Glantaf to have that 
21st Century environment. But there’s a gap in primary provision here that we 
want to fill as soon as possible. If parents are deciding which school to go to, 
looking at the ALN investment across the city Welsh- medium education isn’t in 
it except for Ysgol Glantaf. If you’re in Tremorfa or Butetown it doesn’t help that 
Ysgol Glantaf, has it. Also have concerns with capacity on site, 1500 but tight. 
Would ask you to look creatively so that pupils aren’t being squeezed into 
corners. The C rating of building will not help with overcrowding. We’re very 
happy for the SRB at Ysgol Glantaf but working together to fix overcrowding 
and the growth of Welsh-medium so message is seen that Welsh medium is 
inclusive, we welcome every pupil, no matter their age. Want the continuity of 
support. We will respond as a governing body to the consultation. 
RP- Planning is going in right direction, we’re trying to catch up and stay ahead. 
Strategic position has to come with Band C, points have been noted in the WESP. You 

Page 636



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

can respond to the consultation. Is there anything else from the staff you wanted to 
raise? 
 
Head- Pleased to hear we will have building worthy of these pupils, the building 
we have is unsuitable for needs of pupils for 21st Century. Hopeful when we plan 
the building the teachers and head dealing with the pupils will have significant 
input and that people will listen to the needs, we know pupils have. The Ysgol 
Glantaf site is tight, limited. Ysgol Glantaf like Ysgol Bro Edern has been pushed 
into the corner. I remember the problem is nearer to the river that before. 
Something to do with water getting to that. Also feel you’re being optimistic with 
timescale; important that staff have input.  Hope SRB will be in one building, all 
in one place. Currently difficult for hygiene purposes for these pupils. Need to 
have good toilet and shower facilities, pupils have ALN and physical needs. A 
place for 60 sounds very small. You need to look at primary and Ysgol Glantaf 
provisions. Not sufficient in long run.  
RP- Appreciate positive comments. Think we’re starting to go in right direction. Not 
anticipating this is the only proposal that will come forward. There are significant 
constraints on site, you’re correct. Have looked at lottery funding for sports hall. Do 
need to be creative. There will be further flood constraints that will come in 1.5 years’ 
time. We will continue to work with head and team and specialist staff to make sure 
space is right moving forward. We already have design meetings underway and that 
is the same with new builds, we’re being much more collaborative with schools. Not 
sure how it worked previously but that’s how it is now. Will record your points and 
respond in cabinet paper. There has been decrease in birth rate, over 20% drop across 
the city, that’s factored into the projections, so we are confident with those, but this is 
a steppingstone in the right direction, we need to continue on this route.  
MDF- Main points made by staff were sufficiency of fluent Welsh speaking work force, 
plans for workforce development and also why Ysgol Glantaf and not other schools. 
RP- Agree with toilet situation, not suitable as it stands. Have committed to resolve 
that. 
 
Head- Thanks to everyone for attending. 
 
There were no further questions/comments and the meeting closed.  
 
 
 

Page 637



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Jennie Hughes 
(ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Ysgol Glantaf staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed staff members. 
 
MDF advised that the meeting was taking place on Zoom to allow for simultaneous 
translation with contributions to the meeting in Welsh being translated into English. 
 
 
MDF gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes to ALN provision. 
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide 

• What is proposed for Ysgol Glantaf 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 11-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 11-19 

• Demand for places at Ysgol Glantaf  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposal 

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response given 
 
RP invited questions from staff.   
 
 

Page 638



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

Q - welcome the investment in ALN across the city. Question why ALN 
investment doesn’t include Welsh Medium primary schools, and also growth in 
emotional wellbeing, as all the additional places in EHW are being put into 
English medium.  
RP - when bringing forward any provision, need to balance area of demand versus 
capacity before putting in investment. The Council has been in the position where we 
are at a starting point and proposals for Welsh-medium set out in the WESP. 
Investment is overdue, hasn’t been developed throughout the sector.  
 
MDF – much more diverse population entering Welsh-medium. In the past lower 
percentage of children with significant ALN entering Welsh-medium but recently this 
position has changed. As set out in the WESP looking at increasing provision at Ysgol 
Plasmawr and also at primary level.  Opportunities to establish greater number of 
provisions and disperse around the city. Need to make best use of provision across 
the city. Provision will need to grow over next 10 years.  
 
Q - commends the aspiration, however, this is a large consultation, there is not 
enough provision in primary, and in this case, children will leave the sector at 
primary age and move to English medium.  
JH – important point. This is the only Welsh-medium proposal in the current 
consultation, however, there are other ALN proposals being prepared to come forward 
soon.  At primary age there are already children who need provision, and JH is in 
discussions with headteachers. There is a wellbeing class, but it doesn’t have the right 
type of places; in discussion about what is needed and whether a different model is 
needed for Welsh-medium. Looking at urgently, with a view to progressing this term. 
JH underlined that this is being brought forward in the short-term rather than being 
something that won’t be put in place for a long time.  Need to identify a primary school 
which will have an autism base to feed the secondary base proposed for Ysgol Glantaf. 
 
Q – are there are any plans in place for workforce development, as Welsh 
speaking ALN staff are in short supply.  
JH - conversations have been held with Ann Hodgson regarding developing autism 
specialism. Keen to provide opportunities for professional development of staff.  Have 
also spoken with schools including Ysgol Glantaf about supporting staff looking to do 
postgraduate work.  
 
Q – question about feasibility of timescale; consultation aims for September 
2023. Current SRB extended some time ago up to 30. Asking when the work will 
happen and whether it’s funded, as a new building is proposed. Current SRB 
pupils in demountable buildings.  
RP agreed that these building are not ideal. The timescales could need to be 
extended; we can move a date back but not forward with these proposals so 
sometimes the date stated is sooner than is likely. As part of the design proposals 
would provide temporary accommodation by Sep 22; may be able to be flexible, look 
at phased operation; have initial schedule of accommodation. Also, some constraints 
on the site including flood issues, which mean that we should proceed quickly, bearing 

Page 639



Schools Programme 
Ysgol Glantaf Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 11-19)   

18 January 2022  
 

 

in mind planning constraints which are due to change. Have significant need coming 
through, so need to proceed as quickly as possible.  
 
There were no further questions. 
 
RP encouraged staff to submit their feedback, whether it be supportive or against.  
 
MDF outlined that feedback to the consultation can be made online via the form or 
by email and that group responses are published in full but individual responses are 
anonymised and summarised.    
 
RP thanked the staff for their time and the meeting came to a close.  
 

Page 640



 Schools Programme 
  Western Learning Federation Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3 -19)   

19 January 2022  
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Neil 
Hardee (LA), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Governors 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers joined a meeting of the Western Learning Federation, which covers schools 
including Ty Gwyn.  
 
The presentation was sent over in advance and governors confirmed that this was 
received.  
 
RP went through the presentation which covered:  
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background 

• Sufficiency of places  

• Distribution of places  

• Current provision – primary age phase 

• Current provision – secondary age phase  

• Demand for places  

• What is being proposed for Ty Gwyn Special School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters  

• Benefit of the proposal  

• Potential disadvantages  

• Alternative Options discounted 

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
The Chair confirmed that the governing body’s draft response would be circulated to 
the governing body next week in order for them to reply by the timescale. 
 
Questions / Comments and response given 
 
RP invited questions from governors   
 

Page 641



 Schools Programme 
  Western Learning Federation Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3 -19)   

19 January 2022  
 

 

Q - Head of School for Ty Gwyn): Concerned at category C condition grading 
RP – categorisations done at certain points in time, so not necessarily reflective of 
current state. 
 
Q - Are learners likely to have the same type of complex needs as the current 
pupils or be less severe?  
JH – the level of need could vary dependent on the children who come forward; 
expecting that remit for Ty Gwyn would remain broadly the same; very similar range 
and not planning for this to change. Complexity of needs has been rising and doesn’t 
appear to have stopped yet.  
 
Have had four new pupils, up to 207 with a pupil starting this week. Have found 
that some children with really profound autism required classes of three which 
does have an impact as difficult for staff.  
 
Q – will this have an impact on the funding formula? How will this impact on the 
health provision currently operating? Support for out of term provision? The 
environment itself – how we are looking at spaces, how we structure school in 
light of complexity. 
RP – working groups ongoing within the Council, also looking at budget within special 
schools. In terms of this specific proposals, would ordinarily be looking at doing these 
more in advance, this one is slightly retrospective.  
 
JH mentioned that the adult provision has already begun. Discussions with Health 
have taken place. Has been progress in terms of planning and working relationships 
with Health. Out of term provision will work with the school regarding what provision 
can be put in place. 
 
Q - is the school likely to have an increase in the funding formula?  
NH – have done a lot of work in relation to funding across all sectors. The conclusions 
specific to special schools were that in terms of growth in budget hasn’t been as great 
as it has been in mainstream in terms of growth per pupil. Comparison with other 
authorities is difficult as Cardiff has more special schools (7 of the 40 across Wales).  
First recommendation is more funding for special schools in next year’s budget.  In 
terms of timing, budget is set in March. Lot of work to be done including detailed 
discussion with exec headteacher in terms of learners coming to the school, 
sometimes in year who turn out to have higher needs that haven’t been budgeted for. 
All groups agreed that special schools should be a priority. 
Both RP and JH had to leave the meeting at this point to go to the public meeting but 
offered to meet with the Headteacher or other governor at a later date if required.  
 
A governor expressed their discontent that the officers had to leave as they had 
questions to put to them that NH wouldn’t be able to reply to; questions such as 
where the pupils will go and acknowledgement that staff need time to adjust to 
the children who are coming in, especially if taking children who higher need 
are, as the staff who need to deal with them are the more experienced staff. 

Page 642



 Schools Programme 
  Western Learning Federation Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3 -19)   

19 January 2022  
 

 

Worried about the dilution of staff. It can be hard to recruit staff of the calibre 
required.  
 
NH – important that questions are asked from both a governor and a parent 
perspective. Will request another meeting be set up with the Headteacher and relevant 
governors.  The Clerk to the Governing had logged the questions to be raised. Be 
assured that the Council is behind the special schools and will meet with Headteacher 
to discuss staff proposals. Sometimes with the proposals to increase provision if done 
earlier as RP mentioned, staff can be recruited in advance of high need children 
starting to allow for upskilling.  
 
Q - Star College post-19; Careers Wales said funding is changing, used to come 
from Welsh Assembly, but now coming via a Council decision; unable to get a 
clear answer on this, and know that other parents are in the same boat.   
NH asked for question to be passed on to him, because there is an answer to this, 
and he will respond via email.  
 
Q - started as a governor in 2015.  Question has always been why special needs 
is so under-funded, right across the board. Wanted to comment on principles in 
the document – a lot of issues are caused by under-funding. Potentially no extra 
space, staff or resources by the time new pupils start, do not want staff to be 
under any more pressure than they are already under.  
NH – the Council does listen; can only do so much with the resources we have, but be 
assured that we met with the Headteacher, listened to needs, and referred back to the 
School Budget Forum to look at the special school budgets with a view to improving 
situation.  
 
Q – the consultation document states that addressing inequality is key, want 
the Council to back this statement up with action.   
 
Headteacher - have the opportunity to put any questions into the consultation 
response. 
 
Q - proposals show gradual increase; why is Ty Gwyn taking the hit in one go?  
NH – his understanding is that it would have capacity for 240.  
Headteacher - agree, based on capacity for 240, but looking at increasing more 
gradually. 
The Chair thanked NH for attending and reiterated that they would like a further 
meeting with RP and JH. 
 
Officers left the meeting.   
 
 

Page 643



Schools Programme 
Ty Gwyn School Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022 at 3:30pm 
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Jennie Hughes 
(ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Jo Phillips (SOP), 41 Ty Gwyn Staff Members 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed staff members. 
 
MDF gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 
ages 3-19 sector and specifically the expansion of provision at Ty Gwyn School.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 3-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 3-19 

• What is proposed for Ty Gwyn School? 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response given 
 
RP invited questions from staff.   
 
There were no questions. 
 
RP invited the staff to submit a response to the proposal. Staff agreed to collaborate 
on producing one formal response. 
 

Page 644



Schools Programme 
Ty Gwyn School Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022 at 3:30pm 
 

 

MDH shared the link to the online survey. 
 
RP thanked staff and the meeting ended. 
 
 

Page 645



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Governing Body Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
11 January 2022 

 
 

Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), school staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed staff. 
 
There was a presentation from Brett Andrewartha (BA) which set out details of the 
proposal: 
 

• What is being proposed  

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current provision – primary age phase  

• Demand for places - primary age phase  

• Proposal for Meadowbank Special School  

• Condition categories  

• Suitability  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transports matters  

• Benefits of the proposal  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted 

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
RP invited questions from staff 
 
Questions and response 
 
Q - The document says leadership and governance wouldn’t be disrupted and 
would work with school, how would that happen with the short time scale? 
 
RP: Will speak to the Headteacher and leadership team and ensure support with 
recruitment of the additional support required to provide for the growth. 

Page 646



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Governing Body Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
11 January 2022 

 
 

JH: Working closely with the Headteacher to identify early new and future admissions, 
the range of needs that will be in the school and the staffing that will be required so 
they have a voice in that process. 
 
Head: Will be meeting to look at admissions and the options of standalone 
additional classes and we are looking at staffing and recruitment. Want to get 
the posts out so that people can apply before September. Have had some 
increase in numbers before the new build so are looking at temporary 
demountables. 
 
Q - What’s happening with provision of Early Years outreach? 
 
JH: No plans to expand but will maintain early outreach service. Would be working 
with Meadowbank and others to develop outreach provision. 
 
Q - Would the numbers be staggered depending on demand? 
Head: Will be working that out as we go. 
 
Q - How will travel be managed with the space available for taxi provision? 
 
RP: If using the front area initially this could present some options. 
 
Head: Locating minibuses in car park and any other cars in the taxi rank works 
well. Depending on where pupils live it can be easier to use minibuses but 
working with transport on that. 
 
Q - What input does the health board have; what is the vision for speech therapy 
in the new plans? Originally the school was designated for speech and language 
therapy to move to mainstream provision. How does that fit in? 
 
Q - The needs led provision of service has gotten lost over time; all about cost 
improvements and very little investment from Health. Need in Cardiff going up, 
and more ASC; Health provision hasn’t kept up; the Council and the Health 
board hasn’t worked well together. When you have nurses specialised in seeing 
change in kids, they’re quicker to identify abuse. Meadowbank is expected to 
take a very wide range of kids; 40 to 98 is a huge jump, need far more Health 
provision; what is Council doing to engage with the Health Board given the high 
levels of ALN? 
 
JH: Historically Meadowbank focused on speech language difficulties. We’ve 
continued to see the move to meet those needs in a mainstream from parent. We’ve 
worked closely with speech and language, addressing those needs early. There has 
been increase in pupils in general and increase in ALN. Whilst there is a falloff in the 
number of younger year groups, there is no drop in ALN, so we are seeing a real 
increase. The overall complexity of needs is increasing; same is happening in 

Page 647



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Governing Body Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
11 January 2022 

 
 

Meadowbank and all our provisions. Can’t say we have higher incidence in Cardiff 
than other cities but do have higher PMLD. Could be related to children’s hospital for 
Wales being in Cardiff, that attracts families moving here for that. In terms of work with 
the Health Board, there are issues, the health provision has reduced, and the 
population has grown, and complexity grown. We are having those conversations. 
There are new responsibilities for Health in the new code. And we have seen benefits 
from that. We continue to have good relationships with Health to build capacity and 
skills and knowledge. Agree we’d like to see higher Health presence. 
 
Q - Critique of the Health Board as disabled children are low priority. 
 
JH: Part of the new code is that the DECLO has to be part of the Health Board. This 
has been statutory since last January and we have seen that making a difference. 
 
Head: Currently looking at a model of having school nurse on site and sharing 
with another school. We are making sure we are taking the whole group of 
special schools on that journey, not just ours. Financially it should be viable. 
 
JH: having early discussions with Health, they know they need to do an audit of need, 
but we can’t just wait, we need to put something in place now. 
 
Head: enthused by having DECLO in that position that listens to challenges 
facing schools and proactively thinking how we can problem solve. 
 
Q - Is there a cut off time for the consultation on February 1st? 
 
BA: no cut off time, welcome all responses, as a governing body, staff, parents, any 
response appreciated. 
 
There were no further questions.  RP thanked governors and the meeting closed. 
 
 

Page 648



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), school staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed staff. 
 
There was a presentation from Brett Andrewartha (BA) which set out details of the 
proposal: 
 

• What is being proposed  

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current provision – primary age phase  

• Demand for places - primary age phase  

• Proposal for Meadowbank Special School  

• Condition categories  

• Suitability  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transports matters  

• Benefits of the proposal  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted 

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
RP invited questions from staff 
 
Questions and response 
 
Head- Have been liaising with HR, JH and RP. Many meetings with architects re 
accommodation for expanding numbers. Did a SWAT analysis to mark journey 
of Estyn inspection ending; staff were worried about school being too big too 
soon and connection between the two buildings. Don’t want to lose the family 
feel. No current plans to connect the buildings, concerns about what that needs 
to look like to put staff fears at rest. 

Page 649



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

RP- Important to work with school leadership team to make sure it’s sensible. 
Significant need coming through system and want to support the HR side and whole 
range of different areas. I can look at building linkage with design team. Need to make 
sure there are suitable paths that apply.  
 
Head- We talked about demountables, but the building has had to be adapted 
significantly to make room for extra pupils. We are struggling with outdoor 
space. The children we have need access to outdoor space. Would need to be 
able to move them into those spaces but the space they are leaving is not 
appropriate to backfill.  
 
RP- We can look at that with the architects. 
 
Q - Been talking about the sensory room and soft playroom all the classes are 
using, and impact that will have, lot of children need that. If we have extra pupils 
coming that will have huge impact to the timetabling of those rooms. How 
quickly will the new provision be available to us? 
 
RP- We have a transition period of September to March. We can look at mobile 
sensory equipment, they use this at the Hollies. Can also have a look at the soft play. 
Thanks for mentioning.  
 
Head- we want to create multifunctional spaces, like at Ty Gwyn where they have 
resources to make it into anything. Hope we will be provided with a building but 
also the resources; moving pupils is also challenging. Need right facilities to 
create multifunctional places.  
 
RP- We will help staff decanting and moving equipment across the school.  
 
Q - We have huge concerns for children who really need that provision. Is how 
we will provide those experiences being considered? 
 
Q - What about provisions for parking for staff and the taxis? Currently 
struggling. 
 
RP- Looking at that in detail. 
 
Head- We all have a space, isn’t the case in other schools. Need to consider 
sustainable drainage solutions or we will get overflow from tarmac. Looking into 
eco-friendly options, one method would provide 22 car parking spaces, so 
higher number of pupils can enter site more easily. Maybe Council can support 
that. 
 
RP- Need to check with planning and sustainable team. 

Page 650



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

Q - Regarding top end of school, is it possible to work with school to have a 
project so the pupils know what is happening, giving them some control over it 
so they’re part of the process. 
 
RP- Very good idea, often do that. 
 
Q - Is the provision for outdoor learning covered? To have a proper outdoor 
classroom. 
 
RP- Would be a good idea. 
 
Head- [shows map of school] Central court with six classrooms on outside. 
Breakout spaces to be used as wanted. Suite of offices, central service room. 
Aim to have a connecting pathway and canopies. 
 
RP- We use Building Bulletin which is national guidance for schools. Each of the 
spaces has been designed with that in mind. Those standards have been tested. Ty 
Gwyn has a similar type of build. 
 
Q - Quite a walk for pupils when coming in, could that be covered if they are 
refusing to come in? Particularly in bad weather. 
 
Head- Did raise this and suggestion of canopies. The canopies do not stop wind 
and rain unless they have walls. Unable to find a solution to join the buildings. 
Can be challenging getting a four-year-old with autism in and sometimes needs 
two adults. Ty Gwyn is closer to the buildings they had so less issue with 
distance. 
 
RP- Understandable. Reality is not a very good solution. If it was completely covered 
it would cut straight through the site and not be sensible. Once we have made planning 
application, we can still make minor amendments, covered walkways are difficult over 
extended distance. 
 
Head- Happy for staff to suggest ideas. 
 
Q - Will there be two staffrooms? Currently cannot fit all staff at same time. 
Previous staffroom was turned into classroom and meeting room became 
staffroom.  
 
RP- If we need to grow ancillary facilities as school grows, that’s fine. 
  
Head- Each classroom has changed almost every year in terms of how it is used. 
We can be creative.  
 

Page 651



Schools Programme 
Meadowbank Special School  

Virtual Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

Q - Increased pupils means an increase in staff across the city. Recruitment is 
hard for specialist staff. Who would manage that and where from? 
RP- Very aware of that. Want to support schools.  
 
JH- Will work to grow school gradually, so you can build the staffing. We will work with 
you on that. Part will be planning the budget well ahead. 
LF- Meeting head next week regarding workforce requirements. We can support with 
requirement processes.  
 
Q - About finding those people with quality skills.  
 
Head- Regarding redeployment, movement from other sectors of schools, staff 
are very specialist and role is demanding. We have a great team of 
professionals. Spend time making sure right people are working in school. Will 
we be tied to those on register? 
 
LF- It depends on who is on the list at the time, their skills and experience, what is 
required for the role to see if they are suitable. 
 
Q - Lack of training in universities and colleges for ALN settings. Finding people 
who are passionate is difficult. 
 
Head- There is rigidity around capacity to train. We need people coming in to 
see what the setting is like. 
 
JH- Yes need to work with universities on that; it is a policy issue; also, what is built 
into initial teacher training programme. Would appreciate ALN training in those 
programmes for all teachers. More immediately, special schools need be part of the 
training. Should consider getting high quality staff who have real wish to move to the 
sector then providing the training for them.  
RP- If staff want to put formal response as a group send it in, can also do it individually. 
Will collectively look at themes and respond back.  
 
Head- Anything brought to the table has to legally be discussed. Need to make 
sure the school grows in measured way, not too rapidly.  
 
There we no further questions, RP thanked staff and the meeting ended. 
 
 

Page 652



Schools Programme 
The Hollies Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

18 January 2022 at 5pm 
 

 

 
Present:  Rachel Smith (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Rosalie Phillips (SOP), The Hollies Special School Governors 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Members of the SOP team joined a scheduled governing body meeting.  Brett 
Andrewartha thanked governors for the opportunity to meet with them. 
 
BA gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 
ages 3-19 sector and specifically the expansion of provision at The Hollies.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision – primary age phase  

• Demand for CLN/ASC places – primary age phase  

• What is proposed for The Hollies Special School? 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and responses given 
 
BA invited questions/comments from governors.   
 
Q/C Would work be undertaken while children are at school? 
RS We have been working with the school to make adaptations as taking 117 

pupils.  Larger works for 2023 and have been looking at plans for this with 
funding allocated; large refurbishment and looking at requirements and 

Page 653



Schools Programme 
The Hollies Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

18 January 2022 at 5pm 
 

 

programme of work.  It may be necessary to undertake works with children on 
site but will work with the Headteacher to support this.  The school will benefit 
from major refurbishment and will discuss at each phase. 

 
Q/C The concern is disruption to the school community. 
RS Working on plans and will be sharing with school; issue with parking would also 

be addressed.  Progressing planning works but not able to enter any contracts. 
 
Q/C Would welcome sight of any plans and collaborative approach. 
BA  Going through a formal process at present; 117 pupils on roll and won’t be 

jumping to 150 in one go. 
 
Q/C How can development of outside areas be progressed in line with this 

work? 
RS  Would want this work to be able to continue and will be included as part of 

planning. 
 
Q/C Already at 117 with 150 from 2023.  The schools must have the 

infrastructure to support the growth in pupil numbers e.g., staff room, 
dining.  

RS We will be looking at this as part of planning. 
 
Q/C Will other areas of the school be looked at also? 
RS We will be looking at other areas as part of the overall project. 
 
Q/C There will be an impact on pupils and staff whilst works are being 

undertaken.  How will this be managed? 
RS Logistics would have to be carefully managed and would set up good 

communication channels; experience of managing projects on live sites and will 
ensure issues are addressed. 

 
Q/C Additional therapy spaces will also be needed.  Mentioned support for 

SLT in managing, how will this work? 
RS A project manager will be appointed and agreed protocols set up.  Will be 

looking at Building Bulletin in terms of what needs to be provided and 
discussing with the school. 

 
Q/C Working towards 150 pupils, is this realistic or will there be more 

children? 
JH Looking to address city wide issues and there are other projects also underway 

e.g., Riverbank and Meadowbank. Looking at future demand and need to 
consider new provision; the birth rate is falling and expecting to see an impact 
on ALN numbers; tracking and keeping under review. 

 
Q/C There are ongoing discussion with the architects regarding the upstairs 

space.  The school will need to be cohesive and flow with outdoor learning 

Page 654



Schools Programme 
The Hollies Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

18 January 2022 at 5pm 
 

 

areas available during the building programme; clarification is needed 
regarding what outdoor works can be progressed.  Also, numbers have 
increased gradually with 16 leaving and more coming in; limit on numbers 
that can be admitted without completion of works. 

 
Q/C Concerns around delays/timeframes; what potential is there for things to 

change post elections. 
BA Proposals have been brought forward in line with election guidance/school 

organisation regulations; can go to the Cabinet in September if required.   
 
Q/C What would happen in the event of there being a different Cabinet and 

priorities change? 
BA Unable to speak on behalf of any new administration, solid case for expansion 

investment in The Hollies.  
 
Q/C  if progress with works falterers, what contingency plans will be in place? 
RS Will look at contingency plans as part of planning. 
 
There were no further questions. 
 
The Chair thanked the SOP Team members.  Governors will be considering the 
proposed changes and submitting a response by 01 February 2022. 
 
 
 

Page 655



Schools Programme 
The Hollies Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

27 January 2022  
 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), The Hollies Special School Staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
RP opened the meeting and welcomed staff. 
 
BA gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 
ages 3-19 sector and specifically the expansion of provision at The Hollies.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision – primary age phase  

• Demand for CLN/ASC places – primary age phase  

• What is proposed for The Hollies Special School? 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and responses given 
 
FP invited questions/comments from staff 
 
Head- Think staff are happy, would appreciate a nice new building. Families 
less concerned about how the school looks but we do need a revamp and 
paint and the proposed changes allow for more children to come here. 
Glad the need for the building to be improved has been highlighted. Wanted to 
ask about every child that goes over this number.  

Page 656



Schools Programme 
The Hollies Staff Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

27 January 2022  
 

 

RP- Needs to be done in a sustainable sensible way, would be done with leadership 
team. Will be a tricky period.  
 
Q - We’re already almost at the new number, just wanted to confirm that is 
being considered, not adding even more within the confined accommodation? 
JH- Yes this is part of the count, we recognise Hollies is already over and then 
planning to extend further. The 150 figure has been set for September 2023. That 
will be when you can take care of them.  
 
Q - Great that we are having the school refurbished and extended. It is great 
for the pupils; we already have huge staff here. What about the parking side of 
things? We are in a residential area, so we couldn’t park outside if that 
happened, and we’re already at capacity.  
RP- Currently looking to sort parking out as part of the build. Will look to revamp that 
too. There is some external works happening in advance of that, but main works will 
happen with new build. 
 
Would we be expected to take on more numbers in class before the new build 
or could it happen before? 
RP- need to be sensible. The refurbishment will begin soon. Do not have solid 
answer but will work to make sure it is appropriate. 
 
RP- If you want to come together as a group, we can attach that formally and 
respond in the cabinet paper, but we also have the school responses email. Good or 
bad, then we can report your views back. 
 
There were no further questions 
 
RP thanked staff and the meeting closed. 
 
   
 

Page 657



Schools Programme 
Llanishen Fach Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022  
 
 

Present:  Michele Duddridge Hossain (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie 

Hughes (ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Llanishen Fach Primary School 

governors   

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 

meeting  

 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   

 
Welcome and Introductions  

RP opened the meeting and welcomed staff. 

BA gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 

ages 3-19 sector and specifically the expansion of provision at The Hollies.  

The presentation set out the following: 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision – primary age phase  

• Demand for CLN/ASC places – primary age phase  

• What is proposed for Llanishen Fach Primary School? 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and responses given 

Q - The building feels like a large conservatory, freezing and too hot when it 

shouldn’t be. Better to knock down and have new, new builds are better. The 

condition report was pre covid.  

MDF- This is specific to ALN expansion, but you may want to comment on general 

issues and challenges such as greater numbers on permanent basis, concerns 

Page 658



Schools Programme 
Llanishen Fach Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022  
 

regarding on condition and suitability. This proposal is about ALN but not separate 

from the rest of the school.  

Q - Regarding projected demand, and criteria used, you said numbers are falling 

off in primary and increasing in secondary.  Is the 10 place increase sufficient 

and will we need more in 10 in a year’s time? Are the criteria used for projected 

demand sufficiently accurate? With the 10% margin in numbers, that is a 

significant amount across the city.  

MDF- We are not projecting decreased demand for ALN. There is increase across 

ALN in Cardiff. Existing data is showing a drop due to less children being born. But 

ALN CLN is projected to grow, the 10% is to ensure we have enough places in primary 

phase and going into secondary. 

BA- The peak birth rates in Cardiff were in 2011/12, resulting in high intakes in 

2016/17. In recent years it’s been falling, overall downward trend; we’re expecting a 

25% citywide drop but due to changing complexity of need, some schools are catering 

above. We get to the point of 600 places through the consultations but cannot 

guarantee we won’t have a need for more places in future but will be working across 

the city. 

JH- There is still a gap, schools are seeing continuing pressure for ALN. We are 

increasing numbers at Llanishen Fach which is very good, but we want this to be 

across the city so it’s more local. We have less than we would like but looking to 

expand in future. Projections always have an error margin. They are based on 

numbers falling, drop in pre-school population but no fall in numbers of CLN pupils.  

Range and complexity of need increasing over time; those who were in SRBs 

previously have now gone to mainstream due to the support available. Consequently, 

hard to project forward; 30 places are a good number for a primary school, if more is 

required it will be provided at other primary schools. 

Q – Regarding the proposed expansion coming out of LDP, people may come 

from Valleys. Assume these numbers have been put into the projection model, 

taking into account the LDP will deliver what it planned to deliver. 

JH- We will be thinking about the new schools and what they can deliver and the 

demand in those areas. 

MDF- With any new school we will look at whether it’s an appropriate location for an 

SRB, childcare provision, other community aspects etc. as city grows, we want to have 

as many local places as possible. 

Q - Regarding budget and money, it said the ongoing cost would be from 

existing budget, is this part of the proposal to save money from the £7.3m? Is 

the plan to move that from the budget for these places? 

Q - Have you thought about logistics and where this is going? Or you haven’t 

identified where on the site? 

Page 659



Schools Programme 
Llanishen Fach Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022  
 

MDF- We can achieve both, pupils won’t have to travel further and instead of 

accessing independent provision they can stay at our good schools. The issues we 

are facing is larger populations and identification of special needs; will also need those 

places as well but have a restricted number we’re able to purchase. 

Head- Have been hoping for SRB accommodation for long time. Thinking about where 

it could go, we have done activities, what kids would need, where it would go, the 

school is an integration base, focus on integration into society and with mainstream 

pupils. Have been able to give this thinking to planning team and they have drawn up 

some outline plans that staff have had time to pull apart. Worked with estates manager 

and design team to look at accessibility.  

Q - Disruption of works coming after the most disruptive time for children, the 

children in the unit and mainstream kids. Want the disruptions to be minimised, 

considering how difficult it is for children to adapt. 

MDF- Want to minimise disruption. We have experience delivering buildings across 

Cardiff and try to do it through school breaks. There may be some disruption. 

Head - I was at another school five years ago where school continued to work. 

I’ll work to ensure it happens seamlessly, so its minimal disruption. This will be 

my sole purpose to do. 

Q - What is the planned timescale? 

Head - It is early in the process but have met with Project Manager; it could take 

4 - 8 months depending on complexity of build; there is a survey tomorrow, from 

that they will decide what they need to design and review so then we’ll have a 

better idea.  

Q - Are there guarantees that the inevitable disruption won’t affect the pupils 

already in the base? 

Head- the location of the proposed design is on the end of the school building, 

right hand side of the entrance. That has been chosen to minimise disruption  

and two SRB classes are currently located there; we have other entrances we 

can use. After Covid it will be easy. 

Head - Exciting that the SRB can be improved and extended, notice the 

difference it makes, to be accepting of difference, to be curious in a positive 

way. The interaction has been less due to Covid, and it would be good to see 

that come back. Accessibility is very important, to have movement both ways. 

For mainstream it’s easy to dip in and out, for ALN pupils its important they can 

also move both ways to integrate. 

MDF- This is what we would ask the governing body to represent in the response, 

ensuring the positive is captured there.  You have the experience of the SRB but also 

Page 660



Schools Programme 
Llanishen Fach Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

25 January 2022  
 

mainstream, you’re ensuring pupils are able to be integrated in mainstream lessons. 

Ensure your desire to be able to access the facilities is represented. 

Chair - Would like to thank Council and colleagues for the presentation and 

answering questions and are sure people will reply to the proposal. 

MDF- we request a response from the governing body, same as staff but if you want 

to reply individually, your own perspective. The individual response would not be 

attributed to you. We’re glad you feel largely positive, closing date is 1st February. 

There were no further questions and the meeting closed. 

Page 661



Schools Programme 
Springwood Primary School Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

20 January 2022 at 4:00pm 
 

 

 
Present:  Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), Louise Flynn (HR), Jo 
Phillips (SOP), Springwood Primary School Governors 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Brett Andrewartha (BA) opened the meeting and welcomed governors. 
 
BA gave a presentation outlining details of the proposed changes in the CLN/ASC 
ages 3-19 sector and specifically the expansion of the Specialist Resource Base at 
Springwood Primary School.  
 
The presentation set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed city wide? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current CLN/ASC provision 3-19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 3-19 

• What is proposed for Springwood Primary School? 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and responses given 
 
BA invited questions from governors.   
 
Q It is good to see the proposals; the governors are proud of the Specialist 

Resource Base and Wellbeing Class. Could we look at the information on 
condition and suitability of the buildings again? 

 

Page 662



Schools Programme 
Springwood Primary School Governing Body Virtual Meeting 

Additional Learning Needs: 
Complex Learning Needs/Autism (ages 3-19)   

20 January 2022 at 4:00pm 
 

 

 
BA Springwood Primary School is rated C for condition and B for suitability. School 

buildings rated D for condition are within the Band B funding. The suitability 
rating is for how well the building supports the school.  

 
Q The SRB is on the ground floor and the outside area is not very good. 

Where are we with the SOP bid for more funding? 
 
JH The money will come from the Asset budget. We can revisit it and see where 

we are in the process. It would be an advantage to open up the outside area. 
 
Q Thank you for getting a second teacher for the SRB. 
 
JH Thank you to the governors for being positive and ready to work with the 

Council. It’s a pleasure to work with the school. 
 
Q Will there be any impact on the Wellbeing Class? 
 
JH The Wellbeing Class is not covered by the consultation, as the children in the 

class are dual registered. However, we welcome comments about the 
Wellbeing Class. 

 
Q The school has had staffing issues with Covid-19 and teachers are getting 

the opportunity to go into the SRB and experience that, which has been 
positive. 

 
JH There will be individual conversations about staffing. 
 
There were no further questions. 
 
BA invited the governing body to submit a response to the proposal.  
 
BA thanked governors and the meeting ended. 
 
 
 

Page 663



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING 

NEEDS (ALN)   

COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM 

CONDITION PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED 

PUPILS  

Appendix 4 – Notes of Pupil Engagement 

Appendix 4

Page 667



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Moorland Primary School Pupil Engagement  
Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 

15 November 2021 
 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Rachel Burgess 
Willis (SOP), Moorland Primary Y5 pupils    
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
SOP officers met with a Year 5 class at Moorland Primary School to talk with pupils 
regarding the consultation to provide additional places for ALN.  
 
Officers gave a presentation, explaining proposals as they relate to Moorland Primary 
School. The proposal is for an SRB for children with complex learning needs to be 
added. It is also proposed that the nursery building be replaced. 
 
The pupils had a number of suggestions and comments to make: 
 
Good things about the proposal  
 
The pupils identified the following: 
 

• It would allow more children to come to Moorland. 

• More children would have access to a good education. 

• Children with additional needs can get the specialist help that they need. 

• Will have the chance to mix and play with other children and have more learning 
opportunities. 

• Children with additional learning needs should have the same opportunities that 
the children in Moorland have. 

• Good to have the chance to meet more people and make more friends. 

• Excited to see what the new yard will look like. 

• Even though the yard might be getting smaller it is exciting to have more children 
coming to the school. 

• Everybody in the class is kind and would like to meet the new children and make 
them feel welcome. 

• Will give children an opportunity to learn more about children with additional needs.  
 
Things which could be better / Any concerns 
 
The following points were raised  
 
Concerned about where the nursery children will go when their building is 
knocked down, and whether it will affect the rest of the school.  
RBW - this would be carefully planned with the school. 
 

Page 668



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Moorland Primary School Pupil Engagement  
Additional Learning Needs - Moorland Primary 

15 November 2021 
 

If there are more children on the playground and the playground is getting 
smaller, could there be more injuries? 
RBW - this is something the Council and the school need to think about, however the 
school site is large enough and don’t think that this will be an issue. 
 
Some younger children being with older children might not be a good idea.  
RBW - there was the option to look at staggered playtimes. 
 
Worried that if there are more children there would be more cars coming to the 
site, traffic and parking issues. 
RBW - there would be more journeys however families are encouraged to walk, and 
everyone will be kept safe. 
 
Concerned about what will happen with breaktimes during the building work; 
will it affect pupil’s playtimes?   
RBW - the Council has lots of experience of working on school sites; a full safety 
assessment would be in place to ensure that pupils can still play during breaktimes. 
 
If there are lots more children coming to the school, will it make the school too 
busy when arriving and leaving the school?  
RBW - the school site was large enough and the Council will work with the school to 
make sure everything works. 
 
Construction noise might affect the pupils’ learning.  
RBW - there would be some noise, but every effort will be made to minimise disruption 
as much as possible. 
 
How long will the build take?  
RBW - we needed to check this and will let your teacher know  
 
There were no further questions, RBW thanked the Year 5 pupils and the and the 
meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 669



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Pupil Engagement  

Willows High School  
28 January 2022 

 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Willows High School pupil 
representatives       
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers explained that there is a need for further ALN places across the city, and as 
part of the proposals, it was proposed to establish a 30 place SRB at Willows High 
School in 2023.  The base would be established at the current school site, before the 
school moves to its new buildings. The places will be for pupils with complex needs 
such as learning, communication, sensory or physical disability. The pupils may spend 
all or part of their time in the SRB; this will depend on their level of need and what is 
appropriate for them individually. 
 
The pupils were asked whether they had any queries, concerns or questions.  
 
Questions and answers  
 
Comment - the walkways are flat but there are a lot of stairs at Willows. There is 
a lift but only a limited number of people have the access card for this. It would 
be a good idea for the SRB to use a downstairs classroom as it would be easier 
for them to access.  
 
The group were asked whether they were concerned at a further 30 pupils 
joining the school.  
 
They agreed that there was sufficient space in terms of classrooms, but that the 
canteen was crowded at lunchtime. There was a suggestion that the SRB pupils could 
go to lunch at a different time so that they could avoid the crowds. 
 
Officers asked whether it would help for the mainstream pupils to have more 
information on the type of needs the SRB pupils may have?  
 
There were concerns that this may compromise the SRB pupils’ privacy, but the 
group also felt that it might be useful to have general information to help give them 
an understanding of the needs that pupils in the SRB might have, as it would help to 
integrate the SRB pupils into the school if mainstream pupils understood their needs.  
 
The group mentioned that some of the hallways are narrow and often get crowded.  
 
There was a discussion about SRB pupils joining mainstream classes. One pupil 
commented that the learners from the SRB may feel more comfortable in their own 
class rather than attending mainstream lessons as the mainstream pupils may not 
understand their needs.  

Page 670



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Pupil Engagement  

Willows High School  
28 January 2022 

 

Another pupil said that the SRB pupils might not like always being separated, as they 
may already feel different from other pupils, and they might feel more part of the 
school if they joined in with mainstream.  
 
There was a suggestion that if SRB pupils attended mainstream classes that these 
should be smaller classes so that it’s not too overwhelming for them. 
 
There were no further questions or comments.  
 
Officers thanked the group for their time and input and said that the feedback would 
be fed into the consultation report that will proceed to the Council’s Cabinet in due 
course. 
 
The meeting came to a close.  
   

Page 671



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Llanishen High School 
25 January 2022 

 
 

 
Present: Llanishen High School pupils (school council), Andrew Mee (teacher), 
Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Shirley Karseras (SOP)  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Rosalie Phillips (RP) opened the meeting, introduced Council officers and explained 
the role of school planning.  She told the pupils that there were proposed changes to 
ALN provision across the city and what this would mean for their school. She explained 
that the purpose of the meeting was to gather their views on these changes and to 
record them as part of the consultation summary report that would go to Cabinet.   
 
She explained that there was an increase in ALN provision needed due to: 
 

• An increase in the need for ALN as more children were identified in the current 
population  

• There is population growth and therefore a greater number of ALN within this 
population 

• Cardiff has a wide range of ALN provision which can attract families to move here 
to access these facilities 

 
Questions and Answers 
 
Question/Comment 1 
Believe that both the ASC and hearing impairment units within the SRB are very 
well integrated into the wider school community. The position of the SRB is 
central to the school which is important.  From experience, in A-level class, 
where there are students from the ASC and hearing impairment unit, there is no 
academic difference. 
 
Question/Comment 2 
There are pupils from the SRB in my form class. I have noticed that the physical 
size of the classrooms can become a challenge when they have their individual 
teaching assistants (TA’s) with them. The SRB is very good as long as the 
classrooms used can accommodate the TAs that are needed to support the 
learning needs of those pupils. 
 
Question/Comment 3 
Sibling accesses the SRB at Llanishen High School. The provision here is much 
better than at primary school. I think it is good that pupils integrate with the rest 
of the school and that sibling has their TA with them as they know their needs.  
I think all pupils in the school should have more education about the SRB and 
the needs of the students who use it. This would mean that they could be more 
supportive towards them and maybe help more. 

Page 672



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Llanishen High School 
25 January 2022 

 
 

 
RP – it is clear to see that you are very supportive of the SRB. Do you think 45 students 
is/would be too many? 
 
Question/Comment 4 
I am aware of comments that were made by a TA who worked in the ASC unit, 
stating that they were overstretched. It is therefore important that the SRB is 
sufficiently resourced to cope with the increase to 45 students. 
 
Question/Comment 5 
It is imperative that any increase in student numbers at the SRB should not have 
a negative impact on the students accessing it. If there were to be strains put 
upon the staff and resources in the SRB, such as less 1:1 time or less space for 
learning, then this could have a negative impact. Any increase in ALN pupils 
should not impede the provision offered and quality of teaching and learning. 
 
There were no further questions or comments.   
 
RP thanked the pupils for their feedback and brought the session to a close. 
 
 

Page 673



Schools Programme 
Record of Engagement Meeting (Mainstream Pupils)  

Ysgol Glantaf   
31 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Ysgol Glantaf pupil representatives, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Cerys 
Richardson (Admissions) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The session was held in Welsh at the request of the school  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers met with mainstream pupil representatives from Ysgol Glantaf.  Cerys 
Richardson opened the meeting and welcomed pupils. She outlined details of the 
proposed establishment of additional Specialist Resource Base provision at the school 
for pupils with autism and advised that we were seeking their views on behalf of Cardiff 
Council as part of the public consultation.  
 
Discussion Points 
 
The following points were raised: 
 
Q – how many pupils would be attending the resource base 
A – 30 
 
Q – where would the new resource base be built? 
A – this hasn’t been decided yet; this will be agreed with the Headteacher and 
Governing Body 
 
Q – when would it be built? 
A – the new base would open in September 2023. 
 
Q – what age would the pupils be? 
A – pupils would be from Y7 up to sixth form 
 
Q – would they all start at once; would there be 30 pupils starting straight away? 
A – the resource base would be able to accommodate up to 30 children but likely to 
start with fewer pupils initially. 
 
Q – would pupils in the Autism base have the same teachers as the existing 
resource base? 
A – there would be additional funding for teaching and support staff to work within the 
new base but likely that they would link with the existing base and access resources 
in the main school. 
 
Things the pupils’ thought would be beneficial  
 
The pupils identified the following: 
 

Page 674



Schools Programme 
Record of Engagement Meeting (Mainstream Pupils)  

Ysgol Glantaf   
31 January 2022 

 
 

• The specialist resource base pupils being able to access school resources e.g., 
the playing field  

• The specialist resource base pupils being able to access Welsh-medium education 

• The opportunities it would give the pupils in the existing specialist resource base 
e.g., better facilities  

• The specialist resource base pupils being able to be part of a mainstream school, 
study and make friends 

 
Things that were a cause for concern 
 
The pupils weren’t worried about any potential in traffic however they did identify the 
following: 
 

• The school was already busy, and they didn’t think it would make much difference 
for there to be an additional 30 pupils, however there could be some impact 

• The location of the specialist resource base provision; if it was put in the wrong 
place, they could lose access to some important school resources 

  
There were no further questions.  The pupils asked where they could find further 
details of the proposed changes and were directed to the Council website. 
 
The session closed and officers went to meet with pupils from the existing specialist 
resource base at the school. 
 
  
 

Page 675



Schools Programme 
        Record of Engagement Meeting (Specialist Resource Base Pupils)  

Ysgol Glantaf   
31 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Ysgol Glantaf pupil representatives, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Cerys 
Richardson (Admissions) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The session was held in English at the request of pupils  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers met with pupils from the existing specialist resource base at Ysgol Glantaf.   
 
The session was held in English at the request of the pupils. 
 
RP opened the meeting and welcomed pupils. She explained the proposal for another 
additional Specialist Resource Base at the school which would be for pupils with 
autism and told the pupils that we wanted to know what they thought of this.  
 
Discussion Points 
 
The following points were raised: 
 
The pupils liked the idea of having an additional resource base at the school and would 
be happy to share.  They benefited from their lessons, the support of their teachers 
and staff and had lots of opportunities which would be good for other children and 
young people also. 
 
They said it would be good to have more people for sport teams e.g., rugby and to do 
activities. 
 
They liked the idea of new accommodation as there needs to be more space for the 
number of children. 
 
They thought that the new accommodation should include the following: 
 

• An outside area 

• A garden area  

• A wildlife habitat 

• Better wi-fi 

• Access to PC’s/laptops to be able to do longer pieces of work 

• Quiet spaces for when they needed some space  

• Kitchen area 

• A welcoming area/coffee shop in the welcome area like the one in the main school 

• A sensory room 

• More toilets/changing areas (one is not enough) 

• Exercise/trampoline area (could this be in the floor) 

• Different type of classroom spaces e.g., 1:1 and groups learning  

Page 676



Schools Programme 
        Record of Engagement Meeting (Specialist Resource Base Pupils)  

Ysgol Glantaf   
31 January 2022 

 
 

 
They asked how the building would work, would the two specialist resource bases be 
separate or together  
 
RP advised that the design of the new accommodation was being discussed with the 
Headteacher and staff and no decision had been made on this. 
 
There were no further questions/comments.   
 
RP explained what would happen next, thanked the pupils and the session ended. 
 
 
  
 

Page 677



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

 Meadowbank Special School  
26 January 2022 

 

Present: Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP), Hibah Iqbal, Meadowbank Special School 
pupils, Meadowbank Headteacher, Meadowbank teaching and support staff        
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
The school had done work with the pupils prior to the session to explain the proposals 
and to discuss their thoughts/feeling on the proposed changes. 
 
The children understood the proposed changes and had come up with the following 
points: 
 

Good idea 
When you go high school, we might run out of children  
There will be more friends  
More Children in school to play with  
Share the scooters a good thing  
 
Bad Idea 
The children will be strangers  
No more room in the school  
 
Where would they go? 
In the dining hall  
Build a new class and have more teachers  
In the car park  
Build a second and third floor  
In the courtyard and build a tunnel  
On the grass  
The orchard  
 
Where would they play? 
Other side of black fence. Too muddy 
 
There are going to be new classrooms built. Do you have any questions? 
What are we going to name the classes?  
Where do we go for taxis?  
Where are they going to eat?  
How do we buy a new taxi?  
Will there be more toilets?  
Will there be lots of noise?  
Can you make it safe?  
 

 

Questions and answers on the day 

Page 678



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

 Meadowbank Special School  
26 January 2022 

 

 
Headteacher - lots of pupils think it is a good idea, very happy 
 
Q- Worried teachers cannot take care of all the pupils 
RBW- will look to see how many teachers are needed, may need new ones. 
 
Comment - More friends 
 
Comment - Worried about running out of children after year 6 pupils leave. 
RBW- Lots of children want to come to Meadowbank, if we make more places they 
will come. 
 
Head- they are worried about strangers, having new staff can be worrying, they 
like current staff 
 
Head- Children are worried there will be no room for more pupils. We have 
spent time making classrooms bigger, breaking down walls. 
RBW- Will make sure there is enough room. 
 
Head- New pupils learn in different ways, particularly young children, they 
want more scooters, pay equipment and bikes. 
 
Are there going to be more toilets? 
RBW- Will plan with builders to ensure there are enough. 
 
Comment - Want more children to play with. 
 
Head- Lack of space in school, was built for 40, now have 50. Where would 
pupils have lessons? New building or do we build upstairs? 
RBW- The Council will work with the school on this. 
 
Head- they were worried about joining buildings together, one child suggested 
a tunnel to connect new building. We have had a new kitchen. Pupils are 
worried we will not have another, how will we feed new children? Worried it 
will be too noisy, some pupils don’t like noise. 
RBW- this will be carefully considered so noise and disruption is minimised. 
 
Head- Children asking where new pupils will have lunch if the current lunch 
hall is too small? 
RBW- We will find out and get back. Very important that you are questioning. Will be 
worked out with Headteacher and staff. 
 
Head- How long will it take? 
RBW- It is for September this year. 
 
Head- We are having two temporary classrooms, so the new build is ready by 
March. Important that we build up gradually. 
RBW- Glad you have been talking to planners while building work is going on. 

Page 679



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

 Meadowbank Special School  
26 January 2022 

 

 
Head- Hoping to have six more classrooms, making school twice as big. We 
have thought about class sizes. Will provide outdoor area, there is no 
foundation phase provision for Foxglove class. This will help new pupils in 
September. Outdoor areas will be linked together so children can play 
together. 
 
Comment - We need more teachers and names for the new classes. 
 
Head- We’re going to have double, concerned about space for taxis. We have 
three big minibuses, lots of taxis and parents’ cars. If we have twice as many 
pupils, where will cars go? Will also need to find special teachers. How will we 
get food from dinner hall to new building, food would get cold, and some 
pupils struggle to walk sensibly and with hot food. 
RBW- We will take these questions back to Council, perhaps look at another kitchen. 
What would you like at the school? 
 
The children would like the following: 
 

• Playground space 

• More scooters 

• More bikes 

• More friends 

• A spider swing 

• A slide 

• A pool  

• don’t damage the school trees  
 
There were no further comments/questions and the sessions ended  

Page 680



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Pupil Engagement  

 The Hollies Special School   
 

 
Introduction  
 

Given the needs of pupils attending The Hollies and the ongoing Covid restrictions it 
was agreed with the school that the views of pupils on the proposed changes to the 
would best be gathered by their teachers and support staff. 
 
The school provided the following information on 28 January 2022 
 
The Hollies Pupils Voice  
 
Several members of the School Council met this week to discuss the proposed 
changes to the Hollies School – increasing the number of pupils to 150. 
 

The pupils discussed the need for more and bigger classrooms as well as the need 
for more tables and chairs for the pupils.   
 
One pupil commented that the school would need more staff for the extra pupils.   
 
They were asked if they had any questions about the changes.  They asked if they 
could have more things to play with (share) outside for the extra pupils.   
 
They asked if it would mean more cars in the car park, and would the car park be 
bigger? 
 
Overall, they thought it was a good idea.  They said that they would have more friends 
to play with but also said that this could mean that school would be noisier and busier 
with extra pupils. 
 
 

Page 681



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

Llanishen Fach Primary School  
28 January 2022 

 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Llanishen Fach pupil 
representatives, ALN class teacher, Headteacher      
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers opened the meeting by explaining that at the school there is a ALN class 
called Dosbarth Enfys. There are more children across Cardiff who need a space in 
an ALN class, and the Council is consulting on making more places available across 
the city. The Council is proposing to increase the size of the class at the school from 
20 pupils to 30 and want to talk to the pupils about whether they thought this was a 
good idea and if they had any concerns, questions or comments.  
 
Questions and answers  
 
Q: Will the size of the playground change? 
A: Not sure. Officers would need to come out and look to see what new 
accommodation is required but would prioritise keeping playground size as big as 
possible. 
 
Comment: Would need extra seats in the dinner hall.  
A: Yes, would need more spaces, or the school may decide to manage dinner time 
by having different times for different age groups. 
 
Q: The teacher from Dosbarth Enfys said that integration is a key part of what 
we do; how we can support integration with more pupils? How would school 
be supported?  
A: Colleagues in Additional Learning Needs team would be providing support and 
will pass on query to them. 
 
Comment: Would need more toilets too.  
A: Yes, we would need make sure there’s enough space, staff and facilities for 
everybody at the school. 
 
Pupils agreed that it’s a good idea to give more children the opportunity to 
come to the school. 
 
Teacher: children in Dosbarth Enfys buddy up with mainstream pupils and join 
classes. Having more space and more pupils is positive, part of the life of the 
school. The pupils agreed with this. 
 
Q: Would there be more children coming into classes?  
A: Yes, there might be one or two more per year.  
Q: Will Dosbarth Enfys have enough space outside on the playground?  

Page 682



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

Llanishen Fach Primary School  
28 January 2022 

 

A: The Council has to follow guidance for schools which sets out how much space, 
classroom size, toilets, and outside space there must be. Will plan to ensure there is 
enough space in all areas.  
 
Q: One pupil commented that younger pupils in Dosbarth Enfys would have a 
long way to walk to join the mainstream classes as the class is at one end of 
the building and the youngest classes are at the other end. 
A: The Dosbarth Enfys teacher explained that the plan is for some of the younger 
classes to move into new area. Council will work with headteacher and school to 
work these details out. 
 
Q: Y5/Y6 had lots of questions about configuration, whether they will be one 
floor or two, if the building becomes longer could current routes around the 
building to entrances be cut off etc.  
A: We cannot answer detailed questions on layout, but we can ask officers in the 
team for their input and reply to teachers with what is currently planned.  
 
Q: What impact will there be on the school while building work is happening 
and how will pupils be kept safe? 
A: The Council has lots of experience of building work on existing schools. Health 
and Safety officers will ensure there is fencing, and the builders will be trained in 
health and safety in order to keep everyone safe.  
 
Q: Will we need extra radiators?  
A: The headteacher said that Quantity Surveyors who help plan building works are 
currently on site looking at what extra radiators etc will be needed.  
 
There were no further questions. Officers said that the comments from the pupils 
would be put into the report to be sent to Cabinet and that we would inform the 
headteacher when this is done.  
 
The group was told that if they had any further questions that they thought of after 
the meeting they can let their teacher know so that the questions can be emailed to 
officers, and we will reply via the headteacher.  
 
Officers thanked the group for their questions and input and the meeting came to a 
close.  
 
 

Page 683



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

Springwood Primary School  
21 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Springwood Primary School pupil 
representatives, TA       
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Rosalie Phillips (RP) opened the meeting, introduced Council officers and explained 
the role of school planning.  She told the pupils that there were proposed changes to 
ALN provision across the city and what this would mean for their school. She explained 
that the purpose of the meeting was to gather their views on these changes and to 
record them as part of the consultation summary report that would go to Cabinet.   
 
Questions and answers  
 
So you want more pupils to learn in the school? 
RP- Yes, more pupils your age who need extra support. 
 
Where will the pupils go? 
RP- You already have a base in your school, for 25/ 26 children with autism.  
Children from the base use that space but they may also use some other areas of 
the school e.g., library, outdoor space, canteen. 
 
Are you trying to make the base bigger? 
RP- Yes 
 
Do you have to employ more staff? 
RP - There will need to more staff in line with the number of pupils. Your 
headteacher will look at the number of pupils and then work out how many staff are 
needed. 
 
Do you have to make another classroom? 
RP- some other people from our team will visit the school and plan for what is 
needed. 
 
When are you going to make a special school in Cardiff? 
RP- We are doing that as well. There are two other special schools in Cardiff, the 
Hollies, and Ty Gwyn, which we are also making changes to, making those schools 
bigger too; also going to look again to see if we need more spaces in the future.  
 
TA- When do staff have a voice on this? 
RP- There was a governing body meeting yesterday, there is a response form on the 
council site, or you can email us separately. 

Page 684



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  

Springwood Primary School  
21 January 2022 

 
 

TA- When you hit the 28 capacity, what happens then? This is an area that’s 
rapidly growing.  
RP- There will be discussions with the school about the number of children, how best 
to accommodate pupils and what facilities are needed etc. 
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked the pupils and the session ended. 
 
 
 

Page 685



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING 

NEEDS (ALN)   

COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM 

CONDITION PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED 

PUPILS  

Appendix 5 – Notes of Public Meetings 

Appendix 5

Page 687



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
02 November 2021 at 5pm 

 

 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Jenny Hughes 
(ALN), Jamyn Beesley (The Court Headteacher), Sarah Pritchard (SOP, Cath Keegan 
Smith (ALN), Kassia Morris (ALN) Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Members of the public  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from MDF which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments from those attending  
 
Q/C – Parent of a child at Moorland Primary School.  Where will be early years 
accommodations be on site? 
RP – looking at two building with a nursery block next to Reception and another block 
next to the caretaker’s house.   

Page 688



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
02 November 2021 at 5pm 

 

 
Q/C – traffic around the school site is already busy; how much will traffic 
increase by? 
RP – looking to make changes to parking and looking at the impact of traffic as part of 
the planning application for the proposed works.  
 
Q/C – what would be the impact on school resources/staffing? 
JH – there would be two SRB classes with funding provided in order for the school to 
employ additional teaching staff and TA’s.  Looking to provide opportunities for both 
sets of pupils. 
 
Q/C – welcome inclusive approach. 
 
Q/C – will The Court still be run as one school if across two sites? 
RP – looking at one school across two sites (split site arrangement). There is a range 
of expertise within the existing school and building on this.   
JB – there would be one headteacher with senior managers on each site supporting 
values and vision. 
JH – more places are needed; however, children benefit from smaller nurturing 
environments.  Split sites allow for shorter travelling times.  Both proposed sites are 
adjacent to mainstream schools which will provide opportunities for staff and pupils at 
both schools. 
JB – will allow for development of relationship with communities. 
 
Q/C – will the Wellbeing Class at Fairwater Primary School remain? 
JH – yes, the Wellbeing Class will remain.  Provision is kept under review but locating 
The Court at Fairwater will provide benefits e.g., shared training. 
 
MDF outlined the ways in which response to the consultation can be made, via e-mail, 
hard copy response or online survey on the Council website  
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked all those who attended, and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 689



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
09 December 2020 at 5pm 

 
 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Shirley Karseras, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Members of 
the public  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments from those attending  
 
Q/C – How will this affect the Pen y Bryn Primary School site? 
BA – there had been discussion with Pen y Bryn Primary School who were supportive 
of the need to increase the supply of EHW places. St Mellon’s CiW Primary School 
were moving to a new site and the current site would return to the Council.  There 
would need to be a marginal adjustment of the boundary between the two sites with 

Page 690



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
09 December 2020 at 5pm 

 
 

improvements made to the outdoor area at Pen y Bryn.  There could be an impact 
from additional traffic however initial work showed that there was likely to be reduced 
traffic overall. 
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked all those who attended, and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 691



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – CLN/ASC   
19 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Members of the public  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current provision 11 -19 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 11 - 19  

• Current provision 3 – 11 

• Demand for CLN/ASC places 3 - 11 

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments from those attending  
 
Q/C – what are the plans to enable the number of places at Whitchurch High 
School, Llanishen High School and Bishop of Llandaff to expand. 
RP – the numbers are already at capacity and looking to consolidate; not anticipating 
any additional capital spend but there may be some staffing changes. 
 
Q/C – Llanishen High School is using demountable accommodation and 
accessing space at the rugby club. 

Page 692



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – CLN/ASC   
19 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

RP – yes, that is the case.  Providing temporary accommodation with permanent build 
ready for September; staffing and finance in place. 
 
Q/C – are the presentation slides available to view publicly; parent home 
schooling at present and interested in capacity for this year and next. 
MDF – all of the information can be found in the consultation document on the Council 
website. 
RP – contact details are listed on the website and please get back to us with any 
questions. 
MDF – drop-in sessions (on-line/telephone) available if that would be helpful. 
 
Q/C – where do high functioning children with Autism Spectrum Condition 
(ASC) fit into proposals? 
RP – looking at additional capacity city wide in order to meet a range of needs; mix of 
SRB, special schools and mainstream provision. 
JH – lots of pupils who need additional support but do not require a specialist setting 
and looking to improve support on an ongoing basis. 
Q/C - people count not just buildings and need to ensure human resources are 
available and that those who need support in mainstream have their needs met. 
 
Q/C - parent of a child with additional learning needs who will be going up to 
high school in September; disappointing experience and do not feel that there 
is anywhere for then to go.  Currently in mainstream primary and will require a 
high level of support with literacy and numeracy.  Have looked at all options 
including Welsh immersion in order to attend Ysgol Glantaf.  Specialist 
Resource Bases (SRB’s) are offered on the basis of diagnosis and the only one 
suitable would be Whitchurch with no option for access to mainstream 
provision.  The preference would be for Bishop of Llandaff but because child 
does not have an ASC diagnosis this is not suitable.  There is no general 
provision available in the west of the city.  There are benefits for children in 
being able to walk to school and do not want to put child in a taxi each day; want 
them to be able to access provision suitable to their needs in the local area. 
 
There is an SRB in Catonian for ASC also.  Welsh-medium immersion at this 
stage would be a challenge however more provision like the provision at Ysgol 
Glantaf is needed.  Concerned that this is a done deal and going through the 
process when more options are needed. 
RP – formalising some arrangements and also proposing new provision.  Looking to 
increase scale of provision; recognise that balance is not yet there and working to 
bring further proposals forward. 
 
JH offered to meet to discuss individual circumstances if this would be helpful. 
 
Q/C – feelings are shared regarding SRB’s.  Welsh language pupils are in a 
better position and disappointing that there is differentiation.  There is a need 
to recognise that there is a range of additional learning needs to be addressed. 

Page 693



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – CLN/ASC   
19 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

JH – recognise concerns.  SRB at Ysgol Glantaf for Complex Learning Needs and 
expect the same practice at other mainstream schools.  It would be helpful to 
understand individual concerns and circumstances. 
Q/C – there will be parents who will not be in a position to have their voice heard.  
A wide range of views is needed and consideration also has to be given to the 
green agenda and health and wellbeing. 
RP – steps in the right direction and looking to build on this.  Appreciate points being 
made and looking to engage as widely as possible; would normally be holding in 
person sessions in local areas; able to offer on-line drop-in sessions and very much 
want feedback from as wide a range of stakeholders as possible. 
 
Q/C – Llanishen High School model runs along the same lines as Ysgol Glantaf, 
but this is dependent on staff numbers. 
RP – staffing is considered as part of funding model.  Recognise need to follow up and 
consider how things are running. 
 
Q/C – two children who went through Llanishen High School with both moving 
from mainstream to the SRB.  The Learning Support Department acts as an SRB 
and works well within school.  Provision for children at school level and these 
discussions are needed with other schools also. 
 
Q/C – concerned that proposals are formalising existing provision e.g., 
Llanishen has 44 pupils at present and going up to 45, with the same position at 
Bishop of Llandaff.  There will continue to be a provision gap.  Cardiff Additional 
Learning Needs Department has a problematic image amongst parents and 
better communication would help.   
JH – lots of changes are being made in the way things work.  Parent Reference Groups 
are being developed and recognise the need to look at further changes that could be 
made to improve things.  Acknowledge that some of the growth in provision is 
retrospective but this is a starting point and will keep looking at this.  Consideration 
also being given to how to support pupils more widely; where are the gaps in provision 
and what is the best way of addressing this. 
RP – looking to address Complex Learning Needs provision though Band B with 
significant investment with a focus on current and future provision. 
 
Q/C – SRB provision on the west of the city and the range of needs, has to be 
considered.  Provision for additional learning needs can lead to segregation 
throughout life; children need opportunities to develop social and 
communication skills; need to be truly inclusive and integrate pupils allowing 
them to be the best they can be. 
JH – SRB and special school provision is for children with very complex needs for 
whom mainstream is not suitable.  The provision for children in mainstream seems to 
be the issue. 
 
Q/C – the Ysgol Glantaf approach seems inclusive and is appealing as a parent. 
 
Q/C - details should be shared with all schools and learners. 

Page 694



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – CLN/ASC   
19 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

MDF provided details of how responses to the consultations could be made (e-mail, 
online survey, letters), with all responses welcome.  Notes of the meeting were also 
being made.  Pupils being consulted at all of the schools included in the proposals; 
lings provided to all schools and will check that these have been shared. 
 
Q/C – run SRB at Ysgol Glantaf; the school has an official SRB for Complex 
Learning Needs and has also set up a wellbeing class similar to provision at 
other schools; the Welsh sector is also learning from the English sector. 
 
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked all those who attended, and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 695



This page is intentionally left blank



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Estyn Responses 
 

Response from Estyn – The Court School / Moorland Primary School 

 

Estyn response to the proposal to increase the capacity at the Court special 

school and transfer it to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of 

Fairwater Primary School and to the current St Mellons, church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney and to establish a specialist resource base 

(SRB) for primary aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland 

Primary School  

 

These appear to be two proposals and so will be responded to as such although 

there are some aspects that are relevant to both proposals.  

 

Estyn response to the proposal to increase the capacity at the Court special 

school and transfer it to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of 

Fairwater Primary School and to the current St Mellons, church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales.  

 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 

However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  

 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer.  

 

Summary/ Conclusion  

 

This proposal is by Cardiff council. The proposal is to Increase the capacity of The 

Court Special School from 42 to 72 places. The school would transfer to two sites, in 

new build accommodation on the site of Fairwater Primary School and to the current 

St Mellons, church in Wales primary school site in Llanrumney, with 36 pupils on 

each site from September 2025.  

 

Page 697



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area. However, there are ways in which this proposal 

could be strengthened.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It has provided a table 

that sets out the current primary age specialist provision available for children with 

emotional health and wellbeing needs and the projected future demand for school 

places for these pupils. The table shows a current deficit in the number of places 

available in relation to the number of places needed. The projections show an 

increase in these numbers over the next few years. The proposed increase in 

capacity would help to reduce this deficit in numbers.  

 

In addition, the condition of the buildings at the Court special school is very poor, 

with ‘unsuitable’ learning environments, which seriously inhibit the school’s capacity 

to deliver the curriculum. Under this proposal, the buildings currently occupied by the 

Court special school would be vacated.  

 

The council has suitably demonstrated that there is sufficient space and capacity at 

the Fairwater primary school site to accommodate pupils and new purpose-built 

accommodation. The council asserts that the current St Mellons, Church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney will be vacant in Autumn 2022 and will transfer to 

ownership of the council at this time. This site is located adjacent to Pen y Bryn 

primary school and the council intends to work closely with both Pen y Bryn primary 

school and the Court special school to ensure that the requirements of the building 

bulletin guidance for schools are met. We feel that this could be further strengthened 

with the addition of information about any adjustments which would need to take 

place to these buildings to ensure that they meet the individual needs of the pupils at 

the Court school. For example:  

• specific considerations around acoustics or lighting and  

• adequate separation from the primary school on the proposed sites.  

 

The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be funded. 

However, it lacks any significant information that details whether any savings will be 

made as a result of the proposal. For example, through a reduction in numbers of 

pupils being placed out of county. The council has provided sufficiently detailed 

descriptions of the proposals and the projected timetable for statutory procedures. 

However, there is no indication of timescales for implementation of the proposal, and 

any proposed interim arrangements, which might be necessary for their 

implementation. Furthermore, the school currently funds a psychotherapist, we 

believe that it would be beneficial to explain how continuity of this provision will be 

secured when the school has higher pupil numbers and is split over different sites.  

 

Page 698



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages of the 

proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of special school 

places to contribute towards meeting projected demand and the establishment of a 

new school building. The potential disadvantages include the difficulties faced by 

some ALN pupils due to the changes and the potential for increased traffic 

congestion. We feel that this proposal could be strengthened with the addition of 

more detail illustrating how these changes will be managed to reduce the impact on 

learners currently at the school. For example, a description of the timescale of 

changes and whether they would take place simultaneously or consecutively. In 

addition to this, a plan which demonstrates if any current pupils would be subject to 

more than one school move. These potential changes could have a significant 

impact on the wellbeing and educational outcomes for this cohort and should be 

managed appropriately to reduce their negative impact. The council has outlined 

mitigation measures to address some potential disadvantages. These appear to be 

fair and reasonable. In addition, the council has identified some risks associated with 

the proposed changes and appear to be managing these appropriately.  

 

The council references a feasibility study that explored possible alternative options 

and says that a few alternative sites were considered but were dismissed because of 

issues around access, site constraints, traffic and flood management. However, no 

further detail has been provided regarding this feasibility study.  

 

The council has suitably considered learner travel arrangements as a result of this 

proposal. It states that it is committed to ensuring that every school in Cardiff has an 

‘active travel plan’ which identifies actions by the school to support and encourage 

active travel where appropriate and identifies improvements needed on-site and off-

site to facilitate active journeys. The council iterates that there are no planned 

changes to the council’s policies on admission arrangements and learner travel 

arrangements.  

 

The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal on Welsh 

medium provision within the local authority or how this the proposal would support 

the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks 

generally about Welsh medium education in Cardiff and references some Welsh 

medium schools. It is unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh 

speaking pupils with ALN.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on standards, 

teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance and leadership and 

management. It has concluded that the proposal is not expected to have any 

negative impact on standards of education or teaching and learning experiences. In 

addition, it intends to work with the leadership of both schools to help improve and 

sustain support, care and guidance and ensure that changes are planned carefully 

Page 699



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

so that leadership and governance are not disrupted. We feel that this proposal 

could be strengthened by:  

• highlighting how leaders plan to secure the staffing levels needed for such 

a large increase in capacity  

• showing how these staff will be appropriately trained to work with a 

complex cohort of young people  

• showing how leadership capacity is not negatively impacted by these 

changes.  

 

The council has included a summary of the last Estyn inspection report for the Court 

special school and Fairwater primary school. Estyn judged that The Court special 

school’s performance and prospects for improvement were both good. Also, all 

inspection areas in Fairwater primary school’s inspection report were judged to be 

good.  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups 

of pupils including those who have ALN, those who receive free school meals and 

those who have English as an additional language. It has stated that those who have 

ALN would be supported to enable them to adapt to the changes proposed and that 

there is no information available to suggest that the proposals would have a negative 

effect on the other vulnerable groups of pupils.  

 

The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been carried out 

and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect a 

particular group in society. However, no details of this assessment have been 

provided.  

 

The council states that a community impact assessment has been undertaken for 

these proposals and provides a link to this assessment. However, there is no such 

document at this link. Also, no comment is made as to the findings from this 

community impact assessment.  

 

The council says that it does not anticipate any negative effect of the proposal on 

any local school. In fact, it believes that the proposal provides an opportunity for staff 

at Fairwater primary school and Pen y Bryn primary school to work more closely with 

specialist services in Cardiff and that this could enhance the schools’ inclusive 

teaching and benefit all pupils in the school. This seems to be a reasonable and fair 

assertion.  

 

The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential disruption to 

pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more generally about ensuring 

that the curriculum continues to be delivered and that high education and safety 

standards are maintained.  

Page 700



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Estyn response to the proposal to establish a specialist resource base (SRB) 

for primary aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary 

School  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales.  

 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 

However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  

 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer.  

 

Summary/ Conclusion  

 

This proposal is by Cardiff council. The proposal is to establish a 20 place Specialist 

Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with complex learning needs at 

Moorland primary school from September 2022.  

 

It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It refers to the fact that 

the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a special 

school or specialist resource base has continued to grow in recent years. In addition, 

it asserts that the location of SRBs and wellbeing classes is not well distributed 

across the city.  

 

The council usefully provides a table which shows the number of places currently 

available and the projected future demand for places to support children of primary 

school age with complex learning needs across Cardiff. At present, there are more 

pupils with significant needs who need a place in one of these settings than there are 

places available. The projections show that the number of pupils with complex 

learning needs will continue to grow over the next few years. In addition, the council 

has presented a table that shows that there is sufficient surplus capacity at Moorland 

primary school which is projected to increase over the next few years. The proposal 

is to help meet the demand for primary age specialist provision.  

Page 701



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The council intends to incorporate providing accommodation for the SRB as part of 

the planned redevelopment works at Moorland primary school. This appears to be a 

fair and appropriate approach.  

 

The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be funded. 

However, it lacks any significant information that details whether any savings will be 

made as a result of the proposal. For example, through a reduction in numbers of 

pupils being placed out of county. The council has provided sufficiently detailed 

descriptions of the proposal and the projected timetable for statutory procedures. 

However, there is no indication of timescales for implementation of the proposal, and 

any proposed interim arrangements, which might be necessary for their 

implementation.  

 

The council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages of the 

proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of specialist resource 

places for primary aged learners with complex learning needs to contribute towards 

meeting projected demand and that some pupils would have shorter travel distances 

to access specialist provision. The potential disadvantages include the difficulties 

faced by some ALN pupils due to the changes and the potential for increased traffic 

congestion. The council has outlined mitigation measures to address the potential 

disadvantages. These appear to be fair and reasonable. In addition, the council has 

identified one risk related to development constraints associated with the proposed 

changes and appear to have sufficient mitigation to address this risk if needed.  

 

The council maintains that there is no SRB provision in Adamsdown and Splott at 

present and that all children in these areas who require placement in an SRB 

currently travel to other areas of the city. It further states that the establishment of 

this provision on other school sites in Adamsdown and Splott was discounted owing 

to accommodation and site limitations. However, no further details have been 

provided to support this statement.  

 

The council has sufficiently considered the impact of the proposal on travel 

arrangements. The proposed SRB on the site of Moorland Primary School would 

reduce the distance travelled to school for children in Adamsdown and Splott who 

require placement in an SRB and who currently travel to other areas of the city. As 

there would be a small number of children arriving by free home to school transport, 

the council intends that appropriate facilities for drop-off and pick-up will be provided 

as part of the proposals. The council iterates that there are no planned changes to 

the council’s policies on admission arrangements and learner travel arrangements.  

 

The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been carried out 

and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect a 

particular group in society. However, no details of this assessment have been 

provided.  

 

Page 702



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The council states that a community impact assessment has been undertaken for 

these proposals and provides a link to this assessment. However, there is no such 

document at this link. Also, no comment is made as to the findings from this 

community impact assessment.  

 

The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal on Welsh 

medium provision within the local authority or how this the proposal would support 

the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks 

generally about Welsh medium education in Cardiff and references some Welsh 

medium schools. It is unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh 

speaking pupils with ALN.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on standards, 

teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance and leadership and 

management. It has concluded that the proposal is not expected to have any 

negative impact on standards of education or teaching and learning experiences. In 

addition, it intends to work with the leadership of the school to help improve and 

sustain support, care and guidance and ensure that changes are planned carefully 

so that leadership and governance are not disrupted.  

 

The council has included a summary of the last Estyn inspection report for Moorland 

primary school, which was in April 2018. At the time standards, wellbeing and 

attitudes to learning, teaching and learning experience, and leadership and 

management were all judged as good; care, support and guidance was judged as 

excellent.  

 

The council states that the proposal is not expected to have any negative impact on 

the quality of standards of education or the delivery of the foundation phase and 

each key stage of education at the school as a result of the proposed changes. This 

seems to be fair and reasonable.  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups 

of pupils including those who have ALN, those who receive free school meals and 

those who have English as an additional language. It has stated that those who have 

ALN would be supported to enable them to adapt to the changes proposed and that 

there is no information available to suggest that the proposals would have a negative 

effect on the other vulnerable groups of pupils.  

 

The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential disruption to 

pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more generally about ensuring 

that the curriculum continues to be delivered and that high education and safety 

standards are maintained. 
  

Page 703



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Estyn’s response to the consultation aiming to address the growing need for 

provision for learners with complex learning needs and autistic spectrum 

condition  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are required to send 

consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body which is required to 

act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements on 

Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 

organisation proposals. Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the 

proposal and has produced the following response to the information provided by the 

proposer.  

 

This consultation aims to address the growing need for provision for learners with 

complex learning needs and autistic spectrum condition.  

 

To meet the demand for secondary specialist resource places for learners with 

complex learning needs it proposes to:  

 

• increase the designated number at the Whitchurch High School Specialist 

Resource Base from 70 to 100 from September 2022  

• establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Willows High School from 

September 2023  

 

To meet demand for secondary specialist resource provision for learners with Autism 

Spectrum Condition it proposes to:  

• increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School Specialist 

Resource Base from 20 to 45 places from September 2022  

• increase the designated number at The Marion Centre Specialist Resource 

Base from 42 to 66 places from September 2022  

• establish a 30 place Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 

alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource Base from September 

2023  

 

Summary/Conclusion  

 

We welcome this proposal which sits alongside others and aim to achieve a more 

equitable provision to better meet the current and future additional learning needs of 

pupils, across the City.  

 

Page 704



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The proposals outline very clearly five broad principles that all schools and settings 

should aspire to and attain in effectively supporting pupils with additional learning 

needs. These principles include the need for an innovative curriculum and whole 

school approaches to teaching and learning, the need to identify pupils’ needs early 

and to implement research informed interventions, school accommodation that is 

sufficiently flexible in it use to meet pupils’ needs, strong partnerships including 

access to excellent specialist services and, effective multi-agency transition 

planning.  

 

It is not clear however, if there is an overall framework that will help to ensure the 

realisation of the principles. An overall framework could be used also to guide and 

assist schools that are either establishing or developing specialist resource base 

provision. Neither is it clear what support or networks exist, or will be created, to 

support leaders and staff as they develop and embed effective practices in meeting 

the needs of pupils.  

 

The proposer states that a joint review of health and specialist provision in Cardiff 

special schools and the pupil referral units is being carried out. However, it is not 

clear if the scope and outcomes of the review will benefit pupils in specialist resource 

bases across the city. Neither is it clear if the review will look at Welsh medium 

provision alongside English medium provision.  

 

We consider that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of education 

provision in the area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The proposal states very clearly that the number of pupils with severe and complex 

needs, who need a place in a special school or specialist resource base has grown, 

and demand is predicted to increase further over the coming years. Whilst there are 

a number of existing specialist settings across Cardiff, there are not enough places 

available. To combat the shortfall, the local authority has funded some places at 

special schools in other council areas or in independent schools. The proposer 

wishes to increase the number of places available in special schools and specialist 

resource bases in mainstream schools in Cardiff, to address this predicted increase. 

The proposal gives appropriate attention to the current capacity and how it is unable 

to meet the demands for places for pupils with complex learning needs and autism 

spectrum condition and the deficit of places currently available.  

 

The proposer defines specialist resource bases as “a small class in a mainstream 

school for pupils with significant additional learning needs. All pupils attending a 

specialist resource base have a statement of SEN and are taught by specialist 

teachers and learning support assistants, and have opportunities to learn, play or 

socialise with other mainstream pupils…” It is unclear from the definition whether 

pupils, where appropriate, can access, with appropriate support where necessary, 

Page 705



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

lessons alongside pupils that do not attend the specialist resource base. To comply 

with the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer 

needs to consider the admission of pupils with individual development plans.  

 

The proposal considers that the current provision available is not well distributed 

across the city and because of the lack of specialist resource bases in some 

localities this can be a disadvantage for these pupils due to travel and unfamiliarity in 

the area. The proposal implies that a better distribution of specialist resource bases 

across the city would improve access for these pupils.  

 

The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 

organisations, and members of the public to respond. This includes opportunities to 

access online public meetings. The process is clearly set out with timescales and 

how the consultation will be used.  

 

Statements made by the proposer for all schools about for example, teaching and 

learning experience and care, support and guidance are identical and do not provide 

a good enough account of how these are tailored to meet the specific additional 

learning needs of the pupils.  

 

The proposal considers suitable alternatives, for all schools, and outlines the 

possible benefits and disadvantages appropriately.  

 

The proposals consider appropriately the travel implications for pupils. All proposals 

foresee the likelihood of reducing travel time from home to school for some pupils. 

They also identify the need to further assess the suitability of drop-off and pick up 

point at each school site.  

 

The overall proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language but does not 

reflect the ambition laid out in the local authority’s draft Welsh in Education Strategic 

Plan 2022-2032. The plan states that the authority aims to increase the number of 

secondary specialist places to be delivered in an SRB located at each Welsh-

medium high school with different specialist needs in each base to achieve a level of 

specialist provision that is on a par with other sectors and responds appropriately to 

individual need. This proposal does not address this particular aim sufficiently well.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

In considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes, provision and 

leadership and management, the Local Authority has listed the most recent Estyn 

inspection outcomes and the Welsh Government categorisation outcomes for all 

schools identified within the proposal.  

 

Three of the five schools named in the proposal were put into the Estyn Monitoring 

category following their last inspections. All three have subsequently been judged to 

Page 706



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

have made sufficient progress against the recommendations from their inspections 

and have been removed from that category. All five schools are categorised as 

green or yellow, indicating they are effective schools with strong leadership and 

know their priorities for improvement well.  

 

The proposer states that there is an opportunity to employ specialist staff and to 

work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff. However, no further detail is 

provided and there is no guarantee that the opportunity will translate into a firm 

commitment or reality. The proposer further states that the pool of Welsh speaking 

ALN qualified and experienced teaching staff is limited in number, in comparison to 

the English sector. It goes on to state that any plan to develop Welsh medium 

specialist provision will need to be supported by an Additional Learning Needs 

Workforce Development Plan but lacks any detail or commitment about how this will 

come about.  

 

The proposer correctly asserts that pupils with additional learning needs may find 

change difficult. Other than recognising that change needs to be carefully planned, 

information on transition planning is very limited.  

  

Page 707



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Estyn’s response to the consultation aiming to address the growing need for 

provision for children and young people aged 3 – 19 with complex learning 

needs and autistic spectrum condition  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are required to send 

consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body which is required to 

act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements on 

Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 

organisation proposals. Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the 

proposal and has produced the following response to the information provided by the 

proposer.  

 

This consultation aims to address the growing need for provision for children and 

young people aged 3 – 19 with complex learning needs and autistic spectrum 

condition. It proposes to:  

• increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 to 

240 places from September 2022  

• increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School from 40 to 

98 places from September 2022  

• increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 90 to 

119 places from September 2022  

• further increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 

119 to 150 places from September 2023  

• increase the designated place number of the Specialist Resource Base at 

Llanishen Fach Primary School for children with complex learning needs 

from 20 to 30 places from September 2023  

• increase the designated number at Marlborough Primary School Specialist 

Resource Base for children with severe and complex learning needs from 

20 to 30 places from September 2022  

• increase the designated number at the Pentrebane Primary School 

Specialist Resource Base for children with autism from 20 to 24 places 

from September 2022  

• increase the designated number at Springwood Primary School Specialist 

Resource Base for children with autism from 20 to 28 places from 

September 2022  

 

Summary/Conclusion  

 

Page 708



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

We welcome this proposal which sits alongside others to try and achieve a more 

equitable provision to better meet the current and future additional learning needs of 

pupils, across the City.  

 

The proposals outline very clearly five broad principles that all schools and settings 

should aspire to and attain in effectively supporting pupils with additional learning 

needs.  

 

Estyn considers that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The proposal states that the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who 

need a place in a special school or specialist resource base has grown, and demand 

is predicted to increase further over the coming years. Whilst there are a number of 

existing specialist settings across Cardiff, there are not enough places available. To 

combat the shortfall, the local authority has funded some places at special schools in 

other council areas or in independent schools. The proposer wishes to increase the 

number of places available in special schools and specialist resource bases in 

mainstream schools in Cardiff, to address this predicted increase. The proposal 

gives appropriate attention to the current capacity and how it is unable to meet the 

demands for places for pupils with complex learning needs and autism spectrum 

condition and the deficit of places currently available.  

 

The proposer defines specialist resource bases as “a small class in a mainstream 

school for pupils with significant additional learning needs. All pupils attending a 

specialist resource base have a statement of SEN and are taught by specialist 

teachers and learning support assistants, and have opportunities to learn, play or 

socialise with other mainstream pupils…” It is unclear from the definition whether 

pupils, where appropriate, can access, with appropriate support where necessary, 

lessons alongside pupils that do not attend the specialist resource base. To comply 

with the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer 

needs to consider the admission of pupils with individual development plans.  

 

The proposal considers that the current provision available is not well distributed 

across the city and because of the lack of specialist resource bases in some 

localities this can be a disadvantage for these pupils due to travel and unfamiliarity in 

the area. The proposal implies that a better distribution of specialist resource bases 

across the city would improve access for these pupils.  

 

The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 

organisations, and members of the public to respond. This includes opportunities to 

access online public meetings. The process is clearly set out with timescales and 

how the consultation will be used.  

Page 709



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The proposal involves providing new accommodation, adapting existing 

accommodation or extending buildings in all schools apart from at Ty Gwyn Special 

School, where a former youth centre will be adapted. The proposer explains that the 

development of these proposals is at an early stage and any detailed school design 

or site layouts would be considered later should the proposals be progressed. 

However, they have not considered the risks or disadvantages associated with the 

construction process, should the proposals go ahead. For example, appointing 

appropriate contractors, delays in project delivery and securing sufficient funding.  

 

Statements made by the proposer for all schools about for example, teaching and 

learning experience and care, support and guidance are identical and do not provide 

a good enough account of how these are tailored to meet the specific additional 

learning needs of the pupils.  

 

The proposal considers suitable alternatives, for all schools, and outlines the 

possible benefits and disadvantages appropriately.  

 

The proposals consider appropriately the travel implications for pupils. All proposals 

foresee the likelihood of reducing travel time from home to school for some pupils. 

They also identify the need to further assess the suitability of drop-off and pick up 

point at each school site.  

 

The overall proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language but does not 

reflect the ambition laid out in the local authority’s draft Welsh in Education Strategic 

Plan 2022-2032. The plan states that the authority aims to increase the “number of 

secondary specialist places to be delivered in an SRB located at each Welsh 

medium high school with different specialist needs in each base to achieve a level of 

specialist provision that is on a par with other sectors and responds appropriately to 

individual need”. It also aims to increase the “number of primary specialist places to 

be delivered in an SRB located in at least three (Welsh medium) primary schools 

that promote to the relevant secondary schools along with early 

intervention/wellbeing classes/ nurture classes distributed across the city to achieve 

a level of provision that is on a par with other sectors”. This proposal does not 

contribute to addressing this aim. The proposal also states that “there is growing 

demand for resource bases for pupils with autism, who are average to high 

achievers, and would need a more integrative model of support than that provided by 

the two existing bases. There are currently 15 primary aged learners in Welsh-

medium schools who would benefit from placement in an Autism Spectrum Condition 

base”. However, the proposal does not appear to address this need.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

In considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes, provision and 

leadership and management, the Local Authority has listed the most recent Estyn 

Page 710



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

inspection outcomes and the Welsh Government categorisation outcomes for all 

schools identified within the proposal.  

 

All schools apart from one were judged to be good or excellent for all aspects during 

their last inspections. These schools are all categorised as green or yellow 

(indicating they are effective schools with strong leadership and know their priorities 

for improvement well). Meadowbank Special School was inspected by Estyn in 

November 2019 and four of the five inspection aspects were judged to be adequate 

and in need of improvement. As a result, the school was placed in the category of 

Estyn Review. Estyn reviewed the progress of the school in January 2022 and 

determined that the school had made sufficient progress in addressing the 

recommendations from the inspection and was removed from monitoring activity. 

The school has been categorised as amber, indicating it is a school in need of 

improvement and requires help to identify the steps to improve or to make change 

happen more quickly. Statements made by the proposer for all schools about 

leadership and management are identical and therefore do not reflect well enough 

how support will be tailored to individual school’s needs.  

 

The proposer states that there is an opportunity to employ specialist staff and to 

work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff. However, no further detail is 

provided and there is no guarantee that the opportunity will translate into a firm 

commitment or reality.  

 

The proposer correctly asserts that pupils with additional learning needs may find 

change difficult. Other than recognising that change needs to be carefully planned, 

information on transition planning is very limited.  

  

Page 711



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Moorland Primary School 
 

Moorland Primary School Governing Body Response 

 

Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) 

:Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base.  

 

Moorland Primary School Governing Body welcomes the opportunity to help improve 

and increase the  availability of access to specialist environments to help meet the 

needs of children and young people  with additional learning needs. Moorland prides 

itself in its inclusive ethos and understands providing an appropriate environment for 

children with additional learning needs will help them thrive and become the best that 

they can be. The addition of a Specialist Resource Base within Moorland Primary is 

welcomed by the Governing Body and would be a positive addition to this area of 

Cardiff where often children with additional learning needs have long travel times to 

get to school.  

 

1.We feel strongly that in order to facilitate a smooth transition for children and 

families and to limit unnecessary disruption to all learners, KS2 learners within the 

planned allocation of SRB places, should begin their journey with Moorland once 

building work is complete in the main building.  Foundation stage learners should join 

us once the new build early years unit is complete. Although we acknowledge there 

is a pressure for foundation stage ALN places we feel it will be very disruptive to the 

children and families to have two learning environment moves. We also feel strongly 

that all foundation phase children should have easy direct access to the outside 

environment and the new build will achieve this for all our foundation stage children. 

It is important to us that the families of our new children feel confident and the 

children can settle as quickly as possible and become part of the Moorland family.  

 

2. As part of this we want to ensure we have as smooth a transition as possible and 

will require funding in a timely manner in order to recruit appropriate staff regardless 

of any potential delays in building completion. This would need to include funding for 

a teacher to begin at Moorland for the second half of the summer term if the initial 

SRB class is to begin in September 2022. As a Governing Body we would want 

assurances the funding for additional places for the SRB and any other associated 

costs are 'ring-fenced' and in addition to our allocated budget not through making 

savings within it.  

 

3. There is reference to transport arrangements within the consultation.  

 

 "Proposed school safety measures would include improvements to road 

crossings, and general improved facilities for pedestrians and cyclists, 

including along desire lines through Moorland Park." 

 

Page 712



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

As a school we are keen to promote active travel and improvements to active travel 

routes would benefit all our children and community. We look forward to working with 

the council to achieve these improvements and make journeys to school safer and 

greener for us all. Our particular concern lies with the lack of safe pedestrian 

crossing at the Moorland Road entrance to the school. All pupils are faced with 

crossing a wide road with no pedestrian crossing or crossing between closely parked 

cars, neither of which is desirable and would be an added concern for ALN children 

joining us, particularly as they may not necessarily be arriving in cars/taxis if they live 

locally. As the SRB is proposed to open in September 2022 we would be keen for 

these measures to be planned and implemented in a timely manner in order to 

facilitate a smooth transition for our new pupils, encourage active safe travel and in 

turn help make Cardiff a greener, safer child friendly city.  

 

As a Governing Body we welcome this proposal but look forward to working with the 

relevant bodies to address the above points and help create a safe, appropriate 

environment to welcome children and young people with Additional Leaning Needs 

who would benefit from a place in a Specialist Resource Base.  

 

Moorland Primary Governing Body.  

 

 

  

Page 713



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Moorland Primary School Headteacher Response 

 

Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs 

(ALN): Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base.  

 

As Headteacher of Moorland Primary School I welcome the opportunity to develop a 

specialist resource base in the school and recognise the need for such provision in 

this part of the city. We will work to ensure the base will offer high quality provision 

for children with additional needs and to ensure that the base becomes fully included 

in the life of the school.  

 

I have a number of concerns about the plans as they have currently been set out. 

 

Firstly, I am concerned about the proposal to use the room planned for KS2 

provision for children in the Foundation Phase initially. The room is unsuitable for 

younger learners given it is upstairs and some distance from the outdoor provision 

we will need to enable children to access the Foundation Phase curriculum. The 

room is situated along a corridor and upstairs and sits between the Years 5 and 6 

classrooms. I am also concerned about Foundation Phase children starting in this 

room and then having to make a transition to the new building once it is complete, 

especially if this transition is mid-year. This will be disruptive and very difficult for 

children and their families.  

 

Secondly, I am keen to ensure that the opening of the resource base is well planned 

and arranged in a timely fashion. It will be important for the school to have sufficient 

notice to employ staff. I feel the school also needs a guarantee on funding in the 

situation of a member of staff being employed in advance of the base opening and 

then being delayed. The school should not be liable for staffing costs in the case of 

delays. 

 

Thirdly, it is important that the increase in funding given to the school to house the 

resource base recognizes the considerable additional work load of ensuring twenty 

children with complex needs are included effectively in the school. The expansion 

represents a considerable increase in workload for the ALNCO in school and for the 

senior leadership team. 

 

Fourthly, I have concerns about the classroom chosen for the KS2 resource base. 

The current plan seems to involve blocking off a significant amount of light to create 

a wet room and resource room. This will leave the classroom with only one small 

window which will make this a very dark classroom.  

 

Finally, I would like to be reassured that the transport arrangements are very 

thoroughly considered. There is already considerable concern about the number of 

cars, taxies and a school bus that drop off outside the school. There is at present no 

Page 714



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

safe crossings near the school and with a proposed increase in vehicles this is 

something that needs to be carefully considered.  

 

As Headteacher I am looking forward to helping to develop the resource base and to 

welcoming new children and families to our school. However, I do feel the points 

above need careful consideration. 

 

Yours, 

 

Emma Laing 

22/11/21 

  

Page 715



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Willows High School 
 

Willows High School – Governing Body 

 

Please see the below response to the ALN consultation from Willows Governors. 

 

We welcome the Councils objective of bringing this provision close to the pupils who 

will access it and live locally. 

 

We welcome commitment from the Council that the day to day management and 

resourcing of the facility will not impact on the rest of the school but would like further 

clarification on ring fenced funding for the provision. 

 

Cardiff’s objective of providing complex learning needs provision across the city and 

in specialist resource bases will have a really positive impact on the pupils involved 

and we welcome this.  

 

This provision would be best introduced as part of the new Willows buildings as, 

despite the published PAN number there is insufficient space in the school. 

  

Page 716



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Llanishen High School 
 

Llanishen High School – Governing Body 

 

Good afternoon, 

 

Following our consultation meeting with officers on 17th January, as Chair of the 

Governing Body, I can confirm our support of the plans to formalise the extended 

provision offered currently within the Specialist Resource Base to 45 students at 

Llanishen High.  

 

We are already ensuring appropriate staffing and have considered all health and 

safety aspects of integration into daily routines and school life at Llanishen. We have 

already considered our active travel plans and incorporated this provision. We do 

however, have some concerns over the drop off and pick up area as well as the 

knock on impact on on-site parking. Many of these pupils will require dropping off 

and picking up by designated transport, often on a 1:1 basis. As such, our overall 

school transport and forecourt area will require a redesign to be fit for purpose and 

safe for all users, especially the SRB students. 

 

We have excellent provision and are open to opening up this resource city-wide for 

the benefit of all students, we just need to ensure health and safety is paramount as 

is the ease of transition – managing change can be difficult for these students and 

their families. As a fully inclusive local comprehensive school, we would want to 

serve the needs of the local community first and foremost. 

 

We are happy to continue working with the Local Authority to deliver the expanded 

SRB as soon as is safely practical. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Karen Dell’Armi 

 

 
  

Page 717



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf – Headteacher and Governing Body 

 

28 Ionawr 2022   

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethol Glantaf  

Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd 

Rydym yn croesawu cyhoeddi dogfennaeth ymgynghoriad Cyngor Dinas a Sir 

Caerdydd ar gynlluniau i gynyddu a gwella adnoddau addysg arbenigol ar draws y 

ddinas.  Dyma fuddsoddiad y gall y cyngor fod yn wirioneddol falch ohono ar gyfer 

dysgwyr bregus a’r rhai hynny sydd eisioes yn wynebu heriau sylweddol mewn 

bywyd.  Yn ogystal, byddwn yn cytuno yn llwyr bod y galw am y ddarpariaeth 

arbenigol hyn i anghenion mwy cymleth, yn enwedig o fewn anghenion iechyd 

meddwl a lles emosiynol, wedi cynyddu yn amlwg iawn dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf.   

Mae uchelgais a dyhead y Cyngor Sir i ymateb i’r angen a’r twf i’w groesawu’n llawn, 

a hynny drwy sicrhau y lleoedd a’r amgylchedd gorau posib mewn Ysgolion 21ain 

Ganrif.  Drwy weithredu yn y dull hwn, mae’r Cyngor yn hybu cynhwysiant, gofal ac 

uchelgais i ddisgyblion a theuluoedd sy’n wynebu heriau ymarferol a chymleth. 

Byddem fel corff yn falch o weld y cynlluniau hyn yn lleddfu a chynorthwyo’r 

unigolion hynny yn sylweddol yn y blynyddoedd i ddod.   

Canolfan Arbenigol Glantaf 

Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir yng nghyd-destun Canolfan Glantaf sydd yn darparu ar 

gyfer amrediad llawn o anghenion cymleth ADY i’n disgyblion cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

Mae’r Ganolfan wedi’i chartrefu mewn cabanau dros dro a chlwstwr o ystafelloedd 

bach ynghanol Ysgol Glantaf.  Nid oes chyfleusterau ymolchi a thai bach priodol ac 

mae’r adnoddau yn gyfyng a di-raen.  Yn wir, dim ond drwy fuddsoddiad rhaglen 

deledu “Prosiect Pum Mil” yn Haf 2021, y cafodd ein dysgwyr fynediad at ardal 

ddysgu allanol aml-bwrpas, sydd wedi cyfoethogi a thrawsnewid eu profiadau dysgu.  

Rydym yn croesawu y buddsoddiad bychan ers Medi 2021 i ychwanegu ystafell 

ddosbarth ac adnewyddu tai bach arbenigol, ond yn sylfaenol mae’r Ganolfan mewn 

amgylchedd ddysgu anaddas, cyfyng ac anfoddhaol.  Mae’n siom gwirioneddol i ni 

bod dysgwr wedi gorfod gadael Glantaf eleni er mwyn gallu parhau i dderbyn 

cynhaliaeth arbenigol a hynny mewn Canolfan cyfrwng Saesneg oedd â 

chyfleusterau mwy addas a phriodol i’w anghenion. 

Croesawn y buddsoddiad hwn i’r Ganolfan, fydd yn sicrhau adnoddau a chanolfan 

bwrpasol i’n dysgwyr ar gyfer y dyfodol.  Serch hynny, mae’r amserlen yn rhy 

uchelgeisiol, ac mae’n anhebygol iawn y bydd y Ganolfan newydd ar agor erbyn 

Medi 2023.  Gofynnwn am gefnogaeth ymarferol i wella adnoddau ein Canolfan 

presennol i ddiwallu anghenion ein disgyblion hyd nes y bydd y Ganolfan newydd ar 

Page 718



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

agor.  Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir er mwyn sicrhau y byddwn yn gallu croesawu a 

darparu yn addas i ddysgwyr newydd ym Medi 2022 a 2023. 

 

 

Canolfan Arbenigol Awstistiaeth 

Rydym yn croesawu sefydlu canolfan arbenigol ym maes awstistiaeth yng Nglantaf, 

er yn amheus o allu agor y ganolfan arbenigol erbyn Medi 2023.  Mae’r cyngor yn 

hollol gywir wrth nodi’r twf amlwg yn y galw am gynhaliaeth yn maes awtistiaeth. 

Mae’r twf yn weladwy o fewn yr ysgol ac o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yng 

Nghaerdydd.  Bydd sefydlu’r Ganolfan yng Nglantaf yn estyniad gwych o fewn 

cymuned yr ysgol, yn darparu ffocws i hyfforddi staff ac yn gallu estyn cymorth i 

ddisgyblion i barhau i gynyddu a theimlo croeso o fewn dosbarthiadau ac addysg brif 

ffrwd.  Mae’n holl bwysig bod y Ganolfan hon yn rhan ganolog o fywyd yr ysgol, yn 

darparu hafan rhwydd i unigolion ac yn cynnig cymorth di-rwystr i ddysgwyr sydd ar 

adegau yn teimlo rhwystredigaethau gwirioneddol mewn cymuned ysgol gyfun fawr.  

Llawenhawn hefyd y bydd y Ganolfan hon hefyd yn gallu arloesi i roi cymorth i 

ddysgwyr awstistig trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg.  Bydd buddiannau sefydlu’r ganolfan 

arbenigol yn gymorth i ddysgwyr unigol ac wrth hyfforddi ac ymestyn arfer o dda o 

fewn y gweithlu. Bydd y ganolfan hefyd yn fodd o arloesi cefnogaeth i ysgolion eraill 

gan gefnogi gwaith y sector cyfrwng Gymraeg. 

Er y bwriad i sefydlu’r Ganolfan hon fel cam cyntaf, rydym yn credu bod peidio â 

sefydlu canolfan debyg ar gyfer disgybion oedran cynradd drwy’r Gymraeg yn 

wendid sylfaenol.  Mae’n debygol o wanhau ein gallu i sicrhau llwybr ddysgu gyson a 

gofalgar i ddisgyblion awtistig o’r Cyfnod Sylfaen drwy CA2 ac i’r adran arbenigol 

uwchradd.  Rydym yn ofni bydd nifer o ddisgyblion awtistig yn gadael y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y blynyddoedd cynnar oherwydd y diffyg hwn.  Dylid edrych ar 

sefydlu Canolfan arbenigol oedran cynradd i ddarparu’r gefnogaeth allweddol yma 

yn y blynyddoedd cynnar i gefnogi dysgwyr a’u teuluoedd yn fuan iawn.  Byddai hyn 

yn debyg i’r gefnogaeth awtistig sydd eisioes yn bodoli o fewn y sector cynradd 

cyfrwng Saesneg yng Nghaerdydd.  

Capasiti Glantaf 

Er ein bod fel Corff Llywodraethol yn croesawu’r buddsoddiad yn y ddwy Ganolfan 

mae angen sylw manwl i gapasiti ein campws a’n adeiladau presennol.  Fel y nodir 

yn yr ymgynghoriad, mae addasrwydd adeiladau Glantaf yn disgyn yng Nghategori C 

(er byddai Canolfan Glantaf ar ei phen ei hun, yn debygol o fewn Categori D).  

Dengys hyn nad yw addasiadau i adeiladau presennol yn Glantaf yn debygol o fod 

yn fuddsoddiad gwerth am arian, nac ychwaith yn debygol o fod yn effeithiol wrth 

edrych ar boblogaeth bresennol a niferoedd darogan yr ysgol.  Nodir yng 

nghynlluniau yr Awdurdod y bydd Glantaf o hyd o dan niferoedd capasiti yn y 

blynyddoedd nesaf, ond nid yw hyn yn debygol. 

Page 719



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Niferoedd Presennol a Darogan Glantaf  2021-27     

Niferoedd Bl 7 Bl 8 Bl 9 Bl 10 Bl 11 Bl 12* Bl 13* Cyfanswm 

Medi 
2021 

241 230 238 214 218 111 118 1370 

Medi 
2022 

240 241 230 238 214 142* 105** 1410 

Medi 
2023 

270 240 241 230 238 139* 132** 1490 

Medi 
2024 

240 270 240 241 230 155* 130** 1506 

Medi 
2025 

240 240 270 240 241 150* 145** 1526 

Medi 
2026 

240 240 240 270 240 157* 142** 1529 

Medi 
2027 

240 240 240 240 270 157* 145** 1532 

 * Cyfradd trosglwyddo 65%: mae’n anodd cadarnhau niferoedd sy’n trosglwyddo 

CA4 > CA5, ond mae’r ysgol wedi sicrhau cyfradd trosglwyddo cadarn o dros 65% 

dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf ac ar adegau dros 70%.  Nod yr ysgol yw cryfhau’r 

gyfradd trosglwyddo hwn ymhellach mewn ymateb i CSGA Cyngor Caerdydd a 

thargedau Llywodraeth Cymru.    ** Mae gostyngiad yn niferoedd Bl 12 > 13 bob 

blwyddyn sydd eto yn anodd ei ddarogan yn fanwl gywir – ond rhoddir awgrym o 

niferoedd yma.  

Mae’r niferoedd uchod yn dangos yn glir nad yw’n rhesymegol nac yn gost effeithiol 

trawsnewid ystafelloedd presennol yr ysgol ar gyfer ystafelloedd arbenigol neu 

ddarpariaeth brif ffrwd oherwydd bod twf ym mhoblogaeth yr ysgol yn mynd i olygu 

bod angen yr ystafelloedd hyn ar gyfer diwallu anghenion ein cwricwlwm a 

phoblogaeth yr ysgol.  

Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir am ein darpariaeth ôl-16 ble mae’r ysgol yn targedu 

cynnal niferoedd trosglwyddo o dros 70% o CA4 i CA5 er mwyn ateb anghenion ein 

disgyblion.  Mae hyn yn ogystal yn diwallu targedau CSGA Cyngor Dinas a Sir 

Caerdydd ac uchelgais blaenoriaeth Llywodraeth Cymru i annog mwy o ddysgwyr i 

barhau â’u haddysg drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg ôl-16. Mae’n holl bwysig i lwyddiant 

uchelgeisiol y targedau hyn i’r ysgol gael y capasiti angenrheidiol i ymestyn a 

chyfoethogi ein darpariaeth gwricwlaidd presennol. Gallai hynny gynwys cyrsiau 

amgen, cyrsiau galwedigaethol L1/2 a chyrsiau arbenigol (dyweder mewn hyfforddi 

Cynorthwy-wyr Dysgu L1-3) o fewn ein Chweched Dosbarth.  

Nodwn yn glir felly y dylai’r ymgynghoriad hwn sicrhau buddsoddiad digonol i beidio 

â lleihau capasiti adeiladau presennol yr ysgol, ond yn hytrach ymestyn ac ehangu 

ein cyfleusterau a’n hadnoddau.   

Wrth groesawu’r buddsoddiad, rydym yn sylweddoli y bydd yr adeiladu yn golygu 

colli ardal chwarae / cae pêl-droed ac felly nodwn na ddylid cyfyngu yn ogystal ar 

ardalaoedd dysgu presennol yr ysgol.  Yn ogystal dylai’r buddsoddiad mewn addysg 

Page 720



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

arbenigol hefyd fod yn fodd o wella ac ehangu ar adnoddau i bob disgybl, a hynny 

drwy sicrhau bod mynediad rhwydd i rannu adnoddau a gweld buddiant y 

buddsoddiad i bob aelod o gymuned Glantaf.  

ADY o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg yng Nghaerdydd 

Er bod yr ymgynghoriad yn datgan uchelgais didwyll i wella cyfleusterau ADY 

arbenigol i bob disgybl, mae’n eithriadol o siomedig felly nad oes yr un datganiad (ag 

eithrio buddsoddiad Glantaf) i ymestyn darpariaeth a chefnogaeth i ddisgyblion o 

fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Yn wir mae hwn yn rhyfedd o ystyried bod ymgyngoriad CSGA Caerdydd yn nodi 

bwriad i agor Canolfan Arbenigol ADY mewn tair ysgol gynradd Gymraeg ac ymhob 

un o’r tair ysgol gyfun.  Mae cyhoeddi dogfennaeth strategol sydd ddim yn dangos 

cysondeb cyfeiriad yn maes datblygiad y Gymraeg yn creu dryswch ac yn tanseilio 

ymddiriedaeth rhanddeiliaid.  

Nid yw’r ddogfen chwaith yn cydnabod y twf yn y galw o fewn anghenion dysgu o 

fewn y sector Gymraeg.  Yn wir wrth beidio cydnabod bod yr un gofynion o fewn 

ysgolion Cymraeg (ag sydd yn digwydd o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg), mae 

methiant i sicrhau cysondeb gweithredu a darpariaeth ar draws y ddwy sector.  

Hoffem gynnig i swyddogion sir wneud awdit buan i ysgol dechreuol pob disgybl o 

fewn unedau ac ysgolion arbenigol Caerdydd ar hyn o bryd.  Byddai hyn yn  canfod 

beth yw’r ganran o ddisgyblion a ddechreuodd eu taith ddysgu mewn cylch meithrin 

neu ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg cyn i rieni ddewis neu orfod symud eu plentyn i addysg 

cyfrwng Saesneg neu addysg arbenigol.  Rydym yn ofni bod nifer o rieni yn gorfod 

wynebu pwysau ymarferol i drosglwyddo eu plentyn o addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg 

oherwydd diffyg mewn adnoddau neu arbenigaeth, a bod hynny wedyn yn lleihau 

cyfleoedd a phrofiadau i’w mab/merch a hynny drwy gyfrwng yr iaith Gymraeg.   

Byddai dadansoddiad o’r fath yn ddangosydd gwerthfawr nid i fesur y 

galw/ddarpariaeth bresennol o fewn y sector, ond i’w ddeall yn nghyd-destun beth 

allai fod, petai’r ddarpariaeth ar gael, yn lleol ac yn addas i bob disgybl.  Ein ofn 

pennaf yn sgil y buddsoddiad sylweddol hwn i (sy’n ffocysu bron yn llwyr ar addysg 

arbenigol cyfrwng Saesneg), yw y bydd hyn yn cryfhau’r pwysau ar rieni i symud eu 

plant ac i orfod dewis addysg cyfrwng Saesneg ar gyfer eu plentyn.  Yn y dyfodol, 

gall rhieni wynebu penderfyniad eithriadol o anodd o ran cadw eu plentyn o fewn 

addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg prif ffrwd heb adnoddau arbenigol, neu ddewis ysgol hardd 

arbenigol 21in Ganrif, ond hynny mewn cyfrwng iaith nad oedd yn ddewis cyntaf nac 

ychwaith efallai o ran eu hawl ieithyddol.           

Rydym yn croesawu’r datganiad gan swyddogion y sir yn ein cyfarfod ymgynghori, y 

bydd cynigion pellach yn fuan iawn ynglyn ag ehangu darpariaeth ADY o ran y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg mewn ysgolion cynradd, ond mae’n siomedig na 

chynhwysir hynny  yn yr argymellion hyn.  Edrychwn ymlaen at weld datblygu’r 

argymhellion hyn o fewn y sector Gymraeg, a hynny heb oedi ymhellach.      

Mae’r ymgynghoriad yn nodi’r twf amlwg yn anghenion cymorth arbenigol yn maes 

iechyd meddwl a lles emosiynol disgyblion.  Er hyn, nid oes cydnabyddiaeth bod 

Page 721



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

union yr un twf / pwysau yn digwydd mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ogystal ag 

ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg.  Nid oes dim cynllun na bwriad i sefydlu dim darpariaeth 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y maes hwn o fewn addysg cynradd nac uwchradd.  Mae 

angen ymateb ar frys i’r galw hwn o fewn ysgolion Cymraeg, sydd ar adegau yn 

methu darparu yn ddigonol i anghenion lles mwy cymleth ein disgyblion mwyaf 

bregus.     

I gloi, hoffem bwysleisio bod uchelgais y cynigion i’w canmol ac edrychwn ymlaen at 

weld buddsoddiad sicr i wella addysg ein disgyblion mwyaf bregus.   Yn y gorffennol, 

mae Caerdydd wedi bod yn eithriadol o lwyddiannus drwy dyfu darpariaeth cyfrwng 

Cymraeg.  Y cam nesaf yw’r angen i gynyddu darpariaeth ADY Cymraeg er mwyn 

sicrhau bod y sector yn gynhwysol ac yn medru croesawu pob disgybl, beth bynnag 

fo’i allu.  Mae’n anffodus mewn gwirionedd na fu’n bosib cynyddu capasiti addysg 

arbenigol wrth agor ysgolion cynradd newydd o fewn y sector dros y blynyddoedd 

diwethaf, ac awgrymwn y dylai pob buddsoddiasd newydd o hyn allan gynnwys 

cynlluniau i ateb y galw yn maes ADY.  Edrychwn ymlaen i weld cyhoeddi y CSGA 

diwygiedig er mwyn gweld yn glir sut gellir ateb y galw yn gynnaliadwy a phendant ar 

gyfer y ddegawd hon. 

Edrychwn ymlaen at ddiwygiadau a thrafodaethau agored a chadarnhaol i ymestyn, 

cryfhau a gwella’r cynlluniau hyn ar y cyd ac mewn partneriaeth yn y misoedd a’r 

blynyddoedd i ddod. 

Yn gywir, 
 
 
E Patchell       Matthew H T Evans  
Cadeirydd       Pennaeth  
Corff Llywodraethu 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf  
 

 

28 January 2022   

Glantaf Governing Body Response  

Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation 

We welcome the publication of the documentation of Cardiff City and County 

Council's consultation on plans to increase and improve specialist education 

resources across the city.  This is an investment for vulnerable learners and those 

who already face significant challenges in life that the council can be truly proud of.  

In addition, I would agree entirely that the demand for these specialist provision to 

more complex needs, particularly within mental health and emotional well-being 

needs, has increased very noticeably in recent years.   

The County Council's ambition and aspiration to respond to need and growth are to 

be fully embraced by ensuring the best possible places and environment in 21st 

Page 722



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Century Schools.  By taking this approach, the Council promotes inclusion, care and 

ambition for pupils and families facing practical and complex challenges. We as a 

body would be pleased to see these schemes significantly alleviate and support 

those individuals in the coming years.   

Glantaf Specialist Centre 

This is particularly the case in the context of the Glantaf Centre which caters for a full 

range of complex ALN needs for our Welsh-medium pupils.  The Centre is housed in 

demountables and a cluster of small rooms in the middle of Ysgol Glantaf.  There are 

no appropriate washing facilities and toilets and the resources are limited and 

substandard.  Indeed, our learners only gained access to a multi-purpose external 

learning area through the investment of the "Project Pum Mil" tv programme in 

Summer 2021, which has enriched and transformed their learning experiences.  We 

welcome the small investment since September 2021 to add a classroom and 

refurbish specialist toilets, but the Centre is basically located in an unsuitable, 

cramped and unsatisfactory learning environment.  We are truly disappointed that a 

learner has had to leave Glantaf this year in order to continue to receive specialist 

support in an English-medium Centre that had more suitable and appropriate 

facilities for their needs. 

We welcome this investment in the Centre, which will secure resources and a 

dedicated centre for our learners for the future.  However, the timetable is too 

ambitious, and it is highly unlikely that the new Centre will be open by September 

2023.  We ask for practical support to improve the resources of our existing Centre 

to meet the needs of our pupils until the new Centre is open.  This is particularly the 

case for ensuring that we will be able to welcome and deliver appropriate provision 

for new learners in September 2022 and 2023. 

 

Autistic Specialist Centre 

We welcome the establishment of a specialist centre in the field of autism at Glantaf, 

although we are sceptical of being able to open the specialist centre by September 

2023.  The council is absolutely right to note the marked growth in demand for 

support in autism. The growth is visible within the school and within Welsh-medium 

schools in Cardiff.  The establishment of the Centre in Glanltaf will be an excellent 

extension within the school community, providing a focus to train staff and enabling 

support to be extended to pupils to continue to make progress and feel welcome 

within mainstream classes and education.  It is vital that this Centre is a central part 

of school life, provides an easy haven for individuals and offers unrestricted support 

to learners who at times feel really frustrated in a large comprehensive school 

community.  

We are also delighted too that this Centre will be able to innovate in providing 

support for autistic learners through the medium of Welsh.  The benefits of 

establishing the specialist centre will be support for individual learners and in training 

Page 723



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

and extending good practice within the workforce. The centre will also be a means of 

pioneering support for other schools supporting the work of the Welsh-medium 

sector. 

Despite the intention to establish this Centre as a first step, we believe that failing to 

establish a similar centre for primary age pupils through the medium of Welsh is a 

fundamental weakness.  It is likely to weaken our ability to ensure a consistent and 

caring learning pathway for autistic pupils from the Foundation Phase through KS2 

and to the secondary specialist department.  We fear that many autistic pupils will 

leave the Welsh-medium sector in the early years because of this deficiency.  The 

establishment of a specialist primary age Centre to provide this key support in the 

early years in order support learners and their families should be looked at very 

soon.  This would be similar to the autistic support that already exists within the 

English-medium primary sector in Cardiff.  

Glantaf Capacity 

Whilst as a Governing Body we welcome the investment in both Centres, the 

capacity of our existing campus and buildings needs close attention.  As noted in the 

consultation, the suitability of the Glantaf buildings falls within Category C (although 

the Glantaf Centre on its own would likely fall within Category D).  This shows that 

adaptations to existing buildings at Glantaf are unlikely to be a value for money 

investment, nor are they likely to be effective considering the school’s current 

population and predicted numbers.  The Authority's plans note that the numbers at 

Glantaf will still be under capacity in the coming years, but this is unlikely. 

Current and Predicted Numbers at Glantaf 2021-27     

Numbers Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 11 Yr 12* Yr 13* Total 

September 
2021 

241 230 238 214 218 111 118 1370 

September 
2022 

240 241 230 238 214 142* 105** 1410 

September 
2023 

270 240 241 230 238 139* 132** 1490 

September 
2024 

240 270 240 241 230 155* 130** 1506 

September 
2025 

240 240 270 240 241 150* 145** 1526 

September 
2026 

240 240 240 270 240 157* 142** 1529 

September 
2027 

240 240 240 240 270 157* 145** 1532 

 * 65% transfer rate: it is difficult to confirm KS4 > KS5 transfer numbers, but the 

school has achieved a robust transfer rate of over 65% in recent years and at times 

over 70%.  The school aims to further strengthen this transfer rate in response to 

Cardiff Council's WESP and Welsh Government targets.    ** There is a reduction in 

Page 724



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Yr 12 > Yr 13 numbers each year which is again difficult to predict accurately – but 

an indication of numbers is given here.  

The above numbers clearly show that it is not logical or cost-effective to convert 

existing school rooms into specialist rooms or mainstream provision because growth 

in the school population is going to mean that these rooms will be required to meet 

the needs of our curriculum and the school population.  

This is particularly true of our post-16 provision where the school targets the 

maintenance of transition numbers of over 70% from KS4 to KS5 to meet the needs 

of our pupils.  This also meets the City and County of Cardiff Council's WESP targets 

and the Welsh Government's priority ambition to encourage more learners to 

continue their education through the medium of Welsh post-16. It is vital that the 

success of these ambitious school targets has the necessary capacity to extend and 

enrich our existing curricular provision. This could include alternative courses, L1/2 

vocational courses and specialist courses (such as L1-3 Teaching Assistant training) 

within our Sixth Form.  

We therefore make it clear that this consultation should ensure sufficient investment 

not to reduce the capacity of existing school buildings, but rather to extend and 

expand our facilities and resources.   

In welcoming the investment, we appreciate that the construction will mean the loss 

of a play area/football pitch and therefore note that the existing learning areas of the 

school should not be restricted as well.  In addition the investment in specialist 

education should also be a means of improving and expanding resources for all 

pupils, by ensuring that there is easy access to share resources and ensure the 

benefit of the investment to all members of the Glantaf community.  

ALN within the Welsh-medium sector in Cardiff 

The consultation states a genuine ambition to improve specialist ALN facilities for all 

pupils. It is therefore extremely disappointing that there is no statement (with the 

exception of Glantaf's investment) to extend provision and support to pupils within 

Welsh-medium schools. 

Indeed this is strange given that the Cardiff WESP consultation indicates an intention 

to open an ALN Specialist Centre in three Welsh-medium primary schools and in all 

three comprehensive schools.  The publication of strategic documentation that does 

not show consistency of direction in the area of Welsh language development 

creates confusion and undermines the trust of stakeholders.  

Neither does the document recognise the growth in demand in learning needs within 

the Welsh language sector.  Indeed, in not recognising that there are the same 

requirements within Welsh-medium schools (as is the case within English-medium 

schools), there is a failure to ensure consistency of implementation and provision 

across both sectors.  We would like to propose that county officers conduct an early 

audit of every pupil's initial school within Cardiff's specialist units and schools at this 

time.  This would ascertain the percentage of pupils who started their learning 

Page 725



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

journey in a Welsh-medium nursery or school before parents chose or had to move 

their child to English-medium or specialist education.  We fear that many parents 

have to face practical pressures to transfer their child from Welsh-medium education 

because of a shortfall in resources or expertise, which then reduces opportunities 

and experiences for their son/daughter through the medium of Welsh.   Such an 

analysis would be a valuable indicator not to measure current demand/provision 

within the sector, but to understand it in the context of what could be if the provision 

were available, local and suitable for all pupils.  Our overriding fear from this 

significant investment (which focuses almost exclusively on English-medium 

specialist education), is that this will increase the pressure on parents to move their 

children and to have to choose English-medium education for their child.  In future, 

parents may face an extremely difficult decision in terms of keeping their child within 

mainstream Welsh-medium education without specialist resources, or choosing a 

beautiful 21in Century specialist school, but in a language medium that was not a 

first choice or perhaps in terms of their linguistic right.           

We welcome the statement by county officials at our consultation meeting, that there 

will be further proposals very soon on expanding ALN provision in terms of the 

Welsh-medium sector in primary schools, but it is disappointing that that is not 

included in these recommendations.  We look forward to seeing these 

recommendations developed within the Welsh language sector, without further 

delay.      

The consultation identifies the marked growth in specialist support needs in pupils' 

mental health and emotional well-being.  However, there is no recognition that 

exactly the same growth/pressure is taking place in Welsh-medium schools as well 

as English-medium schools.  There is no plan or intention to establish any Welsh-

medium provision in this area within primary or secondary education.  There is an 

urgent need to respond to this demand within Welsh-medium schools, which at times 

fail to provide adequately to the more complex welfare needs of our most vulnerable 

pupils.     

In conclusion, we would like to emphasise that the ambition of the proposals is to be 

commended and we look forward to seeing secure investment to improve the 

education of our most vulnerable pupils.   In the past, Cardiff has been extremely 

successful in growing Welsh-medium provision.  The next step is the need to 

increase Welsh-medium ALN provision to ensure that the sector is inclusive and able 

to welcome all pupils, whatever their ability.  It is really unfortunate that it has not 

been possible to increase specialist education capacity with the opening of new 

primary schools within the sector over recent years, and we suggest that all new 

investments from now on should include plans to meet demand in ALN.  We look 

forward to seeing the publication of the revised WESP to see clearly how demand 

can be met sustainably and decisively for this decade. 

We look forward to open and positive reforms and negotiations to extend, strengthen 

and improve these plans jointly and in partnership in the months and years ahead. 

Page 726



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 
E Patchell       Matthew H T Evans  
Chairman       Headteacher  
Governing Body 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf  
  

Page 727



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ty Gwyn Special School 
 

Western Learning Federation – Governing Body 

 

Dear Cardiff Council Schools Response Team, 

 

The Western Learning Federation Governing Body have considered the proposals 

set out in the Local Authority document entitled ‘21st Century Schools Consultation 

Document 2021. Provision for children and young people with additional learning 

needs: complex learning needs and autism spectrum condition provision for learners 

aged 3-19’. 

 

The process undertaken by the Western Learning Federation Governing Body 

 

The process that we have followed which has enabled Governors to consider the 

Additional Learning Needs (ALN) provisions and the expansion of the number of 

pupils at Ty Gwyn School to 240 is as follows: 

 

•  A copy of the consultation document was sent to all members of the Western 

Learning Federation Governing Body in preparation for discussions. 

•  Discussions on the initial proposals was held between Executive Headteacher 

and the Chair of Governors. 

•  Consideration and discussions about the consultation document was held 

between the Executive Headteacher and Head of School at Ty Gwyn School. 

•  On the 19th January 2022, a presentation using Microsoft Teams was made to 

the Full Governing Body where representatives from the Education Directorate 

presenting the background information to the consultation document and this 

was followed by a question and answer session for all Governors to be able to 

voice their opinion and ask questions. 

•  In a closed confidential session, the Governors discussed the points in the 

consultation document. 

•  At the time of writing this response, it is intended that we hold a follow up 

discussion with Local Authority officials to clarify any points that the Governors 

may have 

 

Context of the Western Learning Federation 

 

Riverbank school, Ty Gwyn School and Woodlands school are part of the Western 

Learning Federation, this federation is unique as it is the only special school 

federation in Wales. The federation brings together three schools - all unique in their 

own right all working together with shared values and a determination to provide 

outstanding education to pupils with additional learning needs. Whilst Riverbank, Ty 

Gwyn and Woodlands will have their own school visions and identities, there will be 

a direct link to those of the Western Learning Federation and as such, these school 

Page 728



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

visions must and are considered a part of the vision of the Western Learning 

Federation. 

 

This consultation document focuses on Ty Gwyn School, the previous two years has 

demonstrated the uniqueness of the setting in meeting a range of complex health 

and behavioural needs. Questions within this response outline challenges but also 

opportunities of how we can move forward and continue to provide outstanding 

provision and experiences for our learners to meet the demands of increased 

capacity. 

 

Context of Ty Gwyn School 

 

Ty Gwyn school is a very special place, it is a place where a community comes 

together to enjoy life in a fun, happy, inclusive and compassionate way. All 

experiences at Ty Gwyn are pupil centred and tailored to individual needs. This 

setting and approach leads to an environment which is saturated with smiles and 

excitement. The school is a key organisation within the wider federation that is 

Western Learning Federation and therefore, many of the values run in synergy with 

those of the Federation. The school is an organisation which is very proud of 

everything that they do and as a result there is an immense sense of excellence 

emanated through every interaction in the school. The concept of achievement could 

not be more appropriately defined than through the expectations that are set in this 

school. Every single individual within the organisation, be it pupil or adult is 

committed to being the best that they can for the learners of Ty Gwyn. This is 

translated through the aspirations for outstanding achievement. The needs of 

learners at Ty Gwyn are wide and complex, however, regardless of individual 

challenges, everyone is committed to achieving success albeit from a range of 

different starting points. 

 

Comments from the Governing Body 

 

The Governing Body recognises the need across the city for extra provision to 

support complex pupils, within the context of an additional ALN strategy. Governors 

are proud of the provision Ty Gwyn school currently provides, and welcomes the 

opportunity for that provision to be extended to more pupils, within the context of the 

development of the Western Learning Federation. However, the Governing Body are 

clear that the proposed additional capacity must be properly planned and funded, to 

ensure that existing and new pupils continue to be experience excellent provision 

that enables them to meet their full potential.  

 

The Western Learning Federation has been working with the Local Authority for the 

last eighteen months to overcome challenges in addressing the average pupil 

funding allocated to Ty Gwyn School. After a number of extensive conversations, 

presentations and designated special school task groups conducting reviews via 

Page 729



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

the special school budget forum. There is a clear mutual understanding that this 

need to be addressed. 

 

In order to successfully accommodate the proposed additional pupils into the school 

who are complex and at times require a high level of intensive support, the 

Governing Body and Western Learning Federation leadership team are clear that we 

need a level of average pupil funding that is a true reflection of challenges of need at 

the school. 

 

The current pupil banding descriptors and placement categories urgently require 

review so that the average pupil funding for the school can be maintained and 

sustained, in order to fully meet the needs of pupils and enable them to thrive and 

flourish. 

 

The current average pupil funding will NOT support the additional pupils that have 

been indicated as part of the consultation document. The Governing Body are very 

clear if average pupil funding MUST reflect the needs and challenges of the pupils 

and allow the school to develop the following: 

 

•  Appropriate and fit for purpose school organisation and leadership in the 

context of the Western Learning Federation. 

•  A robust professional learning offer that caters for a wide variety of need. This 

will support a skilled workforce that is needed to meet demands of the complex 

learners intended to attend the setting. 

•  Appropriate and sustained investment in specialist equipment needed to 

support the needs of learners. 

•  A sustainable programme of improvements to the current environment. 

•  Improvements to the school infrastructure. 

 

Questions from the Governing Body 

 

1.  Please can you outline how the Federation and the average pupil funding for Ty 

Gwyn School will be increased to achieve the following? 

•  Appropriate and fit for purpose school organisation and leadership in the 

context of the Western Learning Federation. 

•  A robust professional learning offer that caters for a wide variety of need. 

This will support a skilled workforce that is needed to meet demands of 

the complex learners intended to attend the setting. 

•  Appropriate and sustained investment in specialist equipment needed to 

support the needs of learners. 

•  A sustainable programme of improvements to the current environment. 

•  Improvements to the school infrastructure. 

 

2. In order to address workforce development across the setting an allocation of 

funding is required to meet the specialist requirements/training needs to ensure 

Page 730



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

statements and Individual Development Plans (IDP’s) and statutory 

requirements are met.  

 

3.  The current grant allocation the school does not reflect the specialist 

investment needed in our Teaching Assistants to carry out critical work with our 

pupils. Currently, this is being allocated via our core budget and is not in line 

with our mainstream settings. 

 

4.  Please can you outline health and other specialist provision will be enhanced to 

ensure the needs of all pupils continue to be fully met within the setting? 

 

As pupil numbers increase and given the complexity of pupils based on health and 

behavioural need, health and other specialist provision needs to be increased to 

match the increased capacity intended as part of the consultation document. The 

Governing Body would like a robust audit of current provision to both provide clarity 

on the demand and evidence what support would be needed in the event of the 

increased pupil numbers. 

 

With the recommendations outline as part of the consultation document, how will the 

school be supported to develop its infrastructure around the complexity of on-site 

traffic management plans that will include a substantial number of vehicles on site as 

part of the school day and exit at the end of the day. The current facility for drop off 

and pick up was designed to meet the need of 120 pupils. 

 

5.  What support will be in place to address this in light of a proposal for 240 

pupils? 

 

6.  The proposals to take an additional 42 pupils would mean an additional six or 

seven classes, given the complex needs of our pupils. To achieve this, we 

would require additional classrooms and capacity the appointment of teaching 

support staff in place some months before the numbers of pupils increase. This 

is to allow detailed training of staff and the preparation of rooms for these 

additional pupils. 

 

7.  The complexity of our needs means that transitional space, the provision of 

intensive support and interim classes will be necessary to facilitate the re-

modelling of the existing school provision. 

 

8.  Additional classes also require additional outdoor spaces and learning facilities 

to enable us to fully embrace into the new curriculum for Wales and excellent 

outdoor education to be provided. How will this be supported and achieved 

within the proposals? 

 

9.  The Governing Body is committed to ensuring that school facilities are available 

to support pupils and facilities during school holidays, including provision from 

Page 731



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

external providers. What is the strategy by the Local Authority to support out of 

term time play provision for our pupils with a high level of complexity? 

 

Specific questions and comments from parent Governors 

 

10.  If come September 2022, we are asked to increase our pupil numbers, where 

are they supposed to go, knowing the current portacabins are not fit for our 

children? We have currently lost a coffee shop room facility and cookery room 

(to accommodate extra numbers of pupils allocated to the school in 2018). 

 

11.  I think Ty Gwyn needs a period of stability to take stock on the current pupils 

and staff. I personally feel staff need time to adjust to our current school 

numbers . 

 

12.  Funding, I have recently found out about the massive short fall that our children 

receive compared to a similar school in the vale. Can I ask why this has not 

been looked at? 

 

13.  If we as a Governing Body are asked to increase our numbers, I would want a 

definite answer on how many nurses, Occupational Therapists and Physios we 

would require as a minimum? 

 

14.  Before any agreed extra children are allocated to the school, all funding and 

staff should be in place before the children start. The school and more 

importantly staff should be put under more pressure dealing with increasing 

challenging children. 

 

15.  I have a question as to why the jump to 240 additional pupils is for September 

2022 and not gradual along with the projected increase in demand across 

Cardiff? I refer particularly to table 6 on page 19 of the consultation document. 

 

16.  I was surprised as anyone about the C rating for the condition of Ty Gwyn, this 

seemed a little unfair it was only taking into account the refurbishment area of 

the Annex and not the rest of the school. 

 

17.  Standards – page 21 of the document states that ‘the proposal is not expected 

to have any negative standards on the quality of standards of education at the 

school’. How has this been quantified? A 20% increase in numbers will mean a 

measurable decrease in the access of current pupils to facilities, such as the 

hydrotherapy pool, which is already limited by COVID-19 pandemic. There 

were also plans to reopen the coffee shop which I understand may not be 

possible if the increase in pupil numbers goes ahead, which is important to 

older children’s transition and for developing transferable skills to life outside 

school 

Page 732



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

18.  Transport – page 23 of document include two ‘benefits’ of the proposed 

change, one of them being ‘would ensure that some pupils living in Cardiff 

would travel shorter distances to access specialist provision. Surely there is a 

flip side to this in that if only some are travelling a shorter distance, then more 

are travelling a longer distance- which hasn’t been listed as a potential 

disadvantage? 

 

19.  Transport- I disagree with the potential for a small increase in traffic around the 

school at the start and end of the day. It’s not a potential increase – it’s a 

definite increase and should be considered alongside the same on the whole 

Federation site, not just Ty Gwyn. 

 

20.  Please can you confirm if the expectation that pupil numbers on roll will be at 

240 from September 2022? 

 

21.  Please can you outline the strategy for the improvements to the main car park 

at Ty Gwyn for entry and exit of pupils and also how the Council proposes to 

improve the service of drivers and escorts to meet the complex need? 

 

Conclusion 

 

As a Governing Body, we are broadly supportive of the proposals within the 

consultation document but have significant concerns that we would like to be 

addressed: 

 

•  The average pupil funding for Ty Gwyn School and across the Federation 

•  The need for appropriate increase in budgets across the Federation, that are 

consistent, sustained and maintained to allow planning to take place over three 

to five years. (workforce development and school organisation) 

•  The need for appropriate health and other specialist provision to be increased 

and maintained across the Federation 

•  Ensuring that our learning environment is able to appropriately meet the needs 

of all pupils  

•  The increased number on roll will not have a detrimental impact to the current 

pupils at the school and therefore needs to be planned and financed in ways 

that enable smooth transitions, with appropriate and sustained increases in 

staff and facilities  

•  The Governing Body are concerned that the consultation document came to us 

in mid to late December 2021 without response required by the 1st February 

2022. We believe that learning can be taken that more time could be allocated 

to work with Local Authority to achieve a right outcome for this consultation. 

 

Please can all questions, concerns and comments be addressed to the Governing 

Body through the appropriate channels. 

 

Page 733



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Yours faithfully 

 

David Saunders 

David Saunders, Chair of Governors on behalf of the Western Learning Federation 

Governing Body. 

 
  

Page 734



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Meadowbank Special School 
 

Meadowbank Special School – Governing Body 

 

Re: Response to the Proposal to increase the number of places at 

Meadowbank Special School 

 

Thank you for presenting the LEA’s proposal for Meadowbank Special School under 

the Consultation for enhanced Additional Learning Needs provision across the city. 

Please pass on our thanks of the Governing Body to your colleagues who also 

attended the meeting on Tuesday 11th January 2022. 

 

The Governing Body had a full discussion after your team left and we are pleased to 

inform you that the Governing Body broadly endorses the proposals. Our 

consultation response appears below: 

 

(i)  The Governing Body ‘broadly supports’ the proposal to increase the NOR 

of pupils from 40 to 98 places from September 2022. Given the short 

indicative timeline’s proposed, it is important that the increase of new 

classes is phased gradually. This will help the Governing Body and Senior 

Leadership Team to work strategically on any future staffing recruitment 

requirements. 

 

(ii)  The Governing Body welcomes the proposal for works to be undertaken 

to provide new accommodation and facilities, and adaptions of the 

existing accommodation. 

 

(iii)  The Governing Body seeks assurances from the Local Authority that the 

work to realise these ambitions of higher admission numbers and new 

accommodation are properly resourced and project managed. The 

Governing Body would like to see detailed project plans, including 

milestones, communication plans and risk registers associated with the 

project. We would welcome regular updates on progress and swift 

notification of any problems being encountered particularly anything which 

could lead to disruption to staff or the pupil’s learning experiences. 

 

(iv)  The Governing Body acknowledges that the Local Authority will need to 

work closely with the school to identify the type of needs for the pupils. 

We feel this will help support the school with recruiting future teaching 

staff who will have the appropriate expertise, as well as provide training 

for existing teaching staff. 

 

(v)  The Governing Body acknowledges that the Local Authority has no direct 

control over the Local Health Board. Notwithstanding that, the Governors 

wish to reiterate our view that there should be closer links with the Cardiff 

Page 735



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

and Vale University Health Board and given the nature of the cohort of 

children attending Meadowbank we would like to see on-site health 

professionals who can attend to the specific needs of pupils and support 

them on their education journey with us. 

 

(vi)  The Governing Body also recognises the increased volume of traffic which 

will accompany an increase in pupil numbers. We would like further 

reassurances on the planning around how the higher number of vehicles 

will access, drop off/pick up and exit the site in an orderly and safe way. 

We will also want to ensure that we retain the goodwill of the local 

community and that the Local Authority plans this in a manner that is 

sympathetic to local residents and is planned in a sustainable and 

environmentally friendly way as far as that is possible. 

 

It has been a difficult and unsettling time for all in the school community, particularly 

during a Pandemic. As a Governing Body, we will work closely with the Local 

Authority to ensure the proposals are carefully managed, providing we are given 

assurances to the concerns raised above. 

 

We acknowledge that the proposals will provide the school further opportunities to 

thrive and flourish. It is an opportunity we welcome. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

The Governing Body 

Meadowbank Special School 

  

Page 736



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Meadowbank Special School – Chair of Governing Body 

 

Re: Response to the Proposal to increase the number of places at 

Meadowbank Special School 

 

I would like to thank you and your colleagues for presenting the LEA’s proposal for 

Meadowbank Special School under the Consultation for enhanced Additional 

Learning Needs provision across the city. 

 

After giving the proposal careful consideration, I am pleased to inform you of my 

support in endorsing the proposals. Please note below of my consultation response: 

 

(i)  I am pleased that the proposal provides an exciting opportunity for a 

brand-new accommodation and facilities, and extensive adaptations of the 

existing accommodation. 

 

(ii)  I am pleased that the increase of NOR from 40 to 98 places, will allow the 

school to further enhance and grow its staffing team to support this. It is 

critical that the Local Authority continues to work closely with the school to 

identify the type of needs for the pupils. From a strategic perspective, this 

will help us ensure new classes are carefully organised by age and type of 

needs. This will also help us ensure that the school is recruiting teaching 

staff who will have the expertise to support the type of needs for the 

pupils, as well as provide further training to existing staff. 

 

(iii)  It is disappointing that the Early Years Outreach is not being considered 

for further expansion at this moment in time. Given that the increase of 

children with additional learning needs will further expand in all specialist 

and mainstream settings in the future, I feel this ought to be looked at 

again. In this way, it will help further strengthen relationship links between 

all specialist and mainstream settings. 

 

(iv)  I am concerned about the indicative timelines that have been proposed in 

readiness for the increase of NOR and modular accommodation. Whilst I 

am sure interim arrangements will be provided to accommodate the new 

cohort of children in September 2022, I would like assurance from the 

Local Authority that the programme of works will be properly resourced, 

and project managed. In this way, the project management team will be 

able to identify and resolve any complications without the need to disrupt 

the Headteacher’s busy work schedule. I feel further progress updates 

from the Local Authority to Governors on a regular basis would be a great 

benefit. 

 

(v)  I would like some clarity on once the increase of 98 reaches capacity. Is it 

likely that there may be a further consultation exercise to further increase 

Page 737



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

NOR, if the demand for additional learning needs provision continues to 

increase further? If so, how will this be managed carefully by the Local 

Authority? 

 

I trust the above responses are of satisfactory and would welcome your response to 

them in due course. 

 

I am sure you can appreciate it has been a most challenging and unsettling time for 

Meadowbank, particularly continuing to support pupils during a Pandemic. Having 

served on the Governing Body for many years (including 3 of them as Chair), I have 

been most impressed to see how Meadowbank has been able to develop further as 

a school community, through its transition of increased numbers, widened criteria of 

additional learning needs and the staff that have helped to continue to make 

Meadowbank School the ‘Centre of Excellence’ it has always been established as. 

 

I am delighted to see how Meadowbank will continue to thrive and develop it’s school 

ethos and environment. As Chair, I look forward to becoming a small part of that. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Mike Borley 

Chair of Governors 

  

Page 738



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Meadowbank Special School – Staff Response 

 

Re: Response to the proposal to increase the number of places at  

Meadowbank Special School January 2022 

 

Thank you for presenting the Local Authority proposal for Meadowbank Special 

School under the Consultation for improved Additional Learning Needs provision 

across the city of Cardiff. Please pass on the thanks of the staff to your colleagues 

who also attended the meeting on Wednesday 26th January 2022 where these 

proposals were discussed.  

 

The Staff had a full discussion after your team left and I am pleased to inform you 

that they broadly endorse the proposals.  

 

Our consultation response appears below:  

 

1. The staff welcome the proposal to increase the NOR of pupils from 40 to 98 

places from September 2022. It is also acknowledged that this would help to 

address the demand for specialist provision across Cardiff Local Authority. 

Although the proposal is to increase NOR to 98 pupils it should be noted that 

the school has already taken on extra pupils in 2021 with numbers currently 

sitting at 50 places. This increase in NOR has taken place within the current 

school building (albeit following some internal adaptations) which was only 

designed for an upper limit of 40 pupils.  

 

2. In the past 4 years the school has grown 5-fold from 11 pupils to 50. This has 

had a significant impact on the workload of senior leaders due to the project 

management of building work to modify classroom environments, increased 

demand for recruitment, management and appropriate resourcing of 

classrooms, curriculum re-design and increased transition arrangements for 

new pupils.  

 

Senior leaders must be re-assured that the new build project will be appropriately 

planned (in consultation with the Governing Body and Headteacher) and 

sustainably project managed (especially during holiday periods). The new 

building infrastructure should be fit for purpose providing a safe & stimulating 

multi-purpose environment to support the increase in ASD / complex learning 

need pupil numbers. 

 

3. The school has worked hard to develop a strong supportive ethos where staff 

feel valued and part of a team. Growing ‘too big too quickly’ is a real concern. 

It has taken time to embed a collaborative culture and ethos. With an ever-

increasing number of staff to manage and upskill it could be easy for staff to 

feel disparate.  

 

Page 739



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Staff should be commended by the way that they have had to cope with 

significant physical change to the existing building whilst accommodating a 

much wider range of complex pupils. The staff seek assurance from the Local 

Authority that the proposed adaptations and additions (to realise the ambition 

of higher admission numbers) are strategically & systematically planned, 

properly resourced and project managed.  Staff would like to see detailed 

project plans (including proposed timescales), and risk assessments 

associated with the project. They would welcome regular updates on progress 

and swift notification of any problems being encountered particularly with 

regard to anything which could lead to disruption in the pupil’s learning 

experiences. 

 

4. Given the short timeline proposed it is important that the increase of new 

classes be phased in gradually. This will help the Governing Body and Senior 

Leadership Team to work strategically on future recruitment of staffing. 

Recruitment of specialist staff is becoming increasingly difficult with a limited 

pool of expertise to draw on. This is a huge concern as the school is 

dependent on skilled practitioners who can support pupils effectively and 

deliver a curriculum appropriate to our complex pupils needs.  

 

5. The Local Authority will need to work closely with the school to identify 

whether the school can meet the needs of any further proposed pupils during 

this ‘transition’ time into the new build facilities as the school is currently 

stretched to full capacity. Whilst the building work is being completed the 

Local Authority has expressed a desire to continue to increase pupil numbers 

at Meadowbank. Further adjustment and modification of the current building 

will need to take place by August 2022 to accommodate any additional pupils 

prior to the new build. 3 current classrooms still have no outdoor provision at 

all meaning that the school is restricted in the pupils it can take during this 

period. Providing temporary accommodation will not be sufficient to meet all 

pupils needs and the Governing Body should not feel obliged to take them if 

leaders deem the provision is unsuitable. 

 

6. The staff acknowledge that the Local Authority has no direct control over the 

Local Health Board. However, the staff wish to reiterate the view that there 

should be closer links with the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board given 

the nature of the cohort of children attending Meadowbank. We would like to 

request on-site health professionals that can support & attend to the specific 

needs of our more complex pupils.  

 

7. Staff recognise that an increased volume of traffic on site will accompany an 

increase in pupil numbers due to the need for additional staff. The current staff 

car park is already beyond full capacity. Staff would like further reassurance 

as to how a higher numbers of transport vehicles (car’s taxi’s and minibuses) 

will access, drop off/pick up and exit the site in an orderly and safe way.  They 

Page 740



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

also want to ensure that the school retains the goodwill of the local community 

and that the Local Authority plans this in a manner that is sympathetic to local 

residents and sustainable and environmentally friendly as far as is possible. 

 

8. Staff are fearful that the new building will be too ‘detached’ from the current 

school making it challenging to keep a whole school ethos. Staff worry about 

feeling isolated when working in a completely separate building, especially 

with a separate staffroom and remote playground areas. Staff request a 

physical linkage between the sites, making sure there are suitable covered 

pathways between the two buildings. This would also support the transport of 

hot food from the kitchen and the movement of pupils across the site to other 

well used spaces such as the soft play room, sensory room and regulation 

space. It is requested that these areas are covered to provide some shelter 

from the elements when moving around the site. 

 

9. Increasing numbers of pupils require sensory regulation. At present this 

provision (soft play room / sensory space) is shared (via timetabling) across 

classes. With increased numbers of pupils requiring these spaces can some 

mobile sensory equipment be provided as a ‘stop gap’ option? New 

classrooms will have to have the capacity to turn into multi-purpose sensory 

spaces to allow for this provision to be offered. 

 

10. All Meadowbank pupils require a Foundation Phase approach of ‘learning 

through play’ which is fundamentally supported by enhanced outdoor learning. 

Staff request that all outdoor areas be fully adapted & resourced (as directed 

by those practitioners that work with the pupils) to provide the best learning 

opportunities for pupils.  

 

11. Finally, many pupils are starting to become aware of the re-generation of the 

new site as preliminary works start to be undertaken. Can contractors work 

with the school to help the pupils understand what is happening at the back of 

the school?  

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

The staff of Meadowbank Special School 

  

Page 741



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The Hollies Special School 
 

The Hollies Special School – Governing Body 

 

Consultation Response from FGB Hollies School 

 

On Tuesday 18 January the Governors of The Hollies School attended a full 

governing body meeting. 

There were 10 governors in attendance and the meeting was quorate  

In attendance there were the following guests, Richard Portas -programme director 

school organisation program, Rachel Smith-school organisation programme 

commissioning manager, Brett Andrewartha school organisation planning team 

manager, Jenny Hughes – senior achievement leader inclusion, Louise Flynn -SOP 

HR manager. 

 

Within the agenda it received a virtual presentation from SOP on the School 

Organisation Proposal and thereafter there was a discussion and the questions and 

queries were answered by the members of SOP. 

 

  

A number of points came to light and the Governors wish them to be taken into 

consideration as part of the consultation process. 

  

Although school is set up for 80 pupils it has crept to 117 to date and is all most at 

breaking point.  

Therefore the governors do not wish this number to be further increased until the 

infrastructure is fit for purpose and safe to support the increase in pupil numbers. It 

noted and acknowledged credit to staff for maintaining the status to date. 

  

* The FGB would welcome a strategic and planned approach to the proposed 

development which would need to be phased to support the expansion including 

- adjustment and modification of the building 

- the recruitment of teachers, TAs over a period of time allowing them to embed into 

the culture and ethos of the school 

- the phased admission of additional pupils 

  

  

* In the current environment there are pressures on the school buildings and taking 

extra pupils during a time of significant change would, by its nature, cause further 

additional stress on staff and pupils. It would respectfully request that this is 

managed for all stakeholders  

  

  

Page 742



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

* The Hollies Estyn report 2019 recommendation stated that the car park was unsafe 

as traffic on the school grounds at start and end of school day presented a risk to the 

safety of pupils, staff and visitors. 

Mindful of this concern, and with the anticipated further increase to the vehicles 

required to transport 150 pupils on the school grounds assurances that this 

safeguarding issue would be addressed is needed 

  

* Although the first stage of the proposal stage is to increase to 118 pupils it should 

be noted that the school has taken on extra pupils in 2021 pupils and the numbers 

have currently ‘crept’ to 117. In the background of this the school would not accept 

any more children until the school is fit for purpose. The Hollies is not a mainstream 

school and the pupils who attend have a wide range of sensory difficulties.  

Additionally if there are delays with the project for example new classrooms not 

being completed on time for new pupils there must not be any pressure on the 

school to admit these pupils in temporary accommodation or increase already 

established classes. 

  

In response to the Consultation the overall feeling of the FBG was that it supported 

the project. It recognised that it would allow The Hollies to provide a suitable and fit 

for purpose environment for both pupils and staff alike. The improvements to 

modernise the school building is welcomed and long overdue.Additionally, it would 

help to address the demand for specialist provision across the authority. 

  

Lisa Gerson 

Chair of Governors 

  

  

Page 743



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Llanishen Fach Primary School 
 

Llanishen Fach Primary School – Staff 

 

Please accept the following as the staff response to the consultation to expand the 

SRB at Llanishen Fach. 

 

As a staff, both teaching and support, we have had a number of formal and informal 

opportunities to input our thoughts and observations with regards to the proposed 

expansion of the SRB. In addition, following the Cardiff City Council presentation to 

our governors the teaching and non-teaching representatives shared the details 

presented and reported on their response. 

 

At all times the school staff have been very much of the opinion that any expansion 

is not only a benefit to current and future SRB pupils but to the wider school 

community. In recent years, under the headship of Mrs Sarah Coombes, the SRB 

has developed into a valued and highly cherished part of the school community. The 

integral role ‘the base’ plays in providing a caring and rounded start for all our pupils, 

from integration into mainstream to fostering caring and supportive relationships 

within and between the SRB and mainstream classes, cannot be underestimated. 

Unsurprisingly then, the staff are wholeheartedly in favour of this development and 

look forward to welcoming new SRB pupils to our school in September 2023. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Annie James 

Deputy Executive Headteacher 

Llanishen Fach and Pentyrch Primary Schools 
  

Page 744



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Marlborough Primary School 
 

Marlborough Primary School – Response from School  

 

Having spoken to the head and in line with the response from our Governing body, 

we as a school are very happy with the work that has already been completed at 

Marlborough and feel that there is no need for consultation as the building work is 

done and the children are already in attendance 

  

Thanks so much for the offer 

  

Leah Crew 

Assistant Head 

 

 

  

Page 745



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Springwood Primary School  
 

Springwood Primary School – Governing Body and Staff 

 

RE: response in relation to ALN consultation meeting from Springwood 

Governing body 

 

On behalf of the governing body at Springwood Primary school, I would like to 

respond following the virtual consultation meeting held online on Thursday 20th 

January 2022. 

 

The governing body feel they should support the proposals and welcome the 

additional provision as set out in the documentation. Springwood welcomes the 

opportunity to support up to 28 pupils with additional learning needs as this very 

much fits with the schools ethos of supporting all children and providing them with 

every opportunity to develop and make the best of their talents. 

 

Through working closely with the local authority, the staff at Springwood are very 

aware of the growing and increasing need for specialist places across Cardiff and 

beyond. 

 

As an older school we would welcome further funding, as discussed at the meeting, 

to improve the fabric of our base classrooms and surrounding areas, so we can 

provide the best environment for these children to learn and thrive, especially to 

undertake outdoor learning, wherever possible. 

 

Thanks again for the support from the LEA in funding an additional teacher post for 

our ALN provision, it has made a stark difference to the staff and our wonderful 

children. 

 

Kind regards 

Emma Turner on behalf of the staff and the governing body at Springwood Primary 

school 

  

Page 746



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Responses Received in Relation to the ALN Proposals 
 

Ysgol Glan Morfa – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Dear Sir / Madam, 

 

I am writing to you in response to Cardiff Council’s ALN consultation to increase the 

number of special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3-19. 

 

Firstly, I would like to say that we welcome the investment in the city’s ALN provision 

to our most vulnerable learners. Cardiff Council should accept high praise for 

prioritising excellent resources and growing staff specialism in areas of most need. 

Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and workforce capacity 

to respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

We are also pleased that more Welsh speakers are part of the council’s ALN team 

and we would like to thank all the staff that have worked closely with us. Their work 

and support is greatly appreciated and valued by us all. 

 

However, we do have some concerns about the consultation. The consultation is not 

consistent with the recent Welsh in Education Strategic Plan which noted the 

council’s ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium Schools in the 

primary sector and a further three SRB in the secondary sector. 

 

It is also important to note that investment in one sector only (English Medium) 

encourages parents and families to transfer ALN pupils to the English sector where 

the investment and resources are superior. 

 

Investment is needed in the Welsh Medium Sector in order to ensure parity of 

provision and full inclusion within Welsh Medium Schools. An urgent audit is also 

required in the primary sector in order to ascertain the correct numbers. It is not clear 

how the conclusion reached that the English Medium Sector has a growing need but 

the Welsh Medium Sector does not. Was the Welsh Medium Sector consulted in this 

research? There are specific cases involving ALN children from Glan Morfa having 

no choice but to access English medium provision. This has caused real concern to 

parents, and to the school, about whether this is the best outcome for the children in 

question. We would be happy to discuss details of these cases in confidence if that 

would be helpful. 

 

We also feel that there is a lost opportunity when establishing and building new 

Welsh Medium Primary schools that due consideration hasn’t taken place for an 

inclusion of an ALN provision. Newly established SRB (Schools Resource Base) 

seems to be an afterthought and are put into existing buildings rather than a 

purpose-built setting. We encourage Cardiff Council when looking at future plans to 

Page 747



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

build new school buildings for Ysgol Pen-y-Pil and Ysgol Nant Caerau to look into 

establishing a fit for purpose permanent home to these SRB’s. 

 

We look forward to your response. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Mr M Tomos & Mr A Regan 

Headteacher and Chair of Governors. 

 

  

Page 748



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd – Governing Body 

 

27 January 2022 

 

Dear Colleague 

 

Re: Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation 

 

I am writing on behalf of the Governing Board of Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd to 

state our dissatisfaction with the lack of provision within the Welsh-medium sector in 

the above consultation. 

 

Firstly, I would like to point out that we acknowledge and welcome the 

recommendations and the increase in capacity for the English-medium sector and 

fully support the provision for the most vulnerable pupils in our communities but there 

is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and wellbeing and behaviour 

within the Welsh-medium sector. 

 

This consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff WESP consultation 

where the opening of three primary specialist centres and three secondary specialist 

centres is mentioned. 

 

We are concerned that investment in mainly one sector (English) can encourage 

families/parents to move ALN children to an English medium sector where provision 

and investment is best. Investment in the Welsh-medium sector is needed to ensure 

equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's schools. 

 

There needs to be a current and immediate audit to the needs of pupils in the 

primary Welsh-medium sector. The documentation shows an increasing need within 

the English-medium sector, but NOT in the Welsh-medium sector. How was this 

outcome reached? 

 

Opportunities to expand ALN provision were missed by the establishment of 

specialist classes or units when new Welsh-medium schools were built in the city. As 

a result, it is unfair to say that the lack of suitable space / placements within the 

Welsh-medium schools is a reason not to increase the specialist provision for the 

Welsh-medium sector. 

 

We wish to make a request under the Freedom of Information Act to access the data 

used for the proposed Scheme. 

 

Yours sincerely 

Rhodri Elis Jones 

Chair 

Board of Governors of Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 

Page 749



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

  

Page 750



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal – Governing Body 

 

ALN Consultation Document 2021/2022 

Thursday 27th January 2022 

 

With reference to the ALN Proposals Consultation Document this is the response 

from the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal. 

 

The Consultation Process Undertaken by the Governing Body 

• The ALN Proposals Consultation Document was made available to all the 

governors on our governing body to review and consider. 

• A presentation was made by Mrs Lisa Mead, Headteacher of Ysgol 

Gymraeg Glan Ceubal, to the governing body meeting held on Thursday 

20th January 2022. This presentation was a summary of the discussions of 

the heads of Welsh Medium schools within Cardiff. 

• The governing body discussed the points raised in this presentation. 

 

The Key Points discussed.   Cardiff local authority proposes to increase the 

number of special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3 – 

19 with complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions and the reasons for 

these proposed changes. 

1. These proposals include:  

Ysgol Arbennig Ty Gwyn o 198 i 240 o Fedi 2022  

Ysgol Arbennig Meadowbank o 40 i 98  o Fedi 2022 

Ysgol Arbennig Hollies o 90 i 119 o Fedi  2022  

Ysgol Arbennig Hollies o 119 i 150 o Fedi 2023  

 CAA (Canolfan Adnoddau Srbenigol)  yn Llanishen Fach Primary School 

o 20 i 30 lle o Fedi 2023  

CAA yn Marlborough Primary School o 20 i 30 o Fedi 2022  

CAA yn Pentrebane Primary School o 20 i 24 lle o Fedi 2022  

CAA yn Springwood Primary School  o 20 i 28 o Fedi 2022 

 

 

Cynyddu niferoedd: (anghenion dwys Uwchradd)  

❖  CAA Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys Newydd o 70 i 100 o Fedi 2022   

❖  Sefydlu CAA gyda lle i 30 yn Ysgol Uwchradd Willows o Fedi 2023 

Cynyddu lleoliadau ar gyfer cyflwr awtistiaeth: 

❖  CAA Ysgol Uwchradd Llanishen o 20 i 45 o Fedi 2022 

❖  CAA Canolfan Marion o 42 i 66 o Fedi 2022 

❖  Sefydlu CAA (30 lle) yn Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf ochr yn ochr a 

Canolfan Arbenigol presennol (30 lle) o Fedi 2023  

 

To Increase the designated number of places to : 

❖  Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 to 240 from Sept 2022  

❖  Meadowbank Special School from 40 to 98 from Sept 2022 

Page 751



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

❖  The Hollies Special School from 90 to 119 from Sept 2022  

❖  The Hollies Special School from 119 to 150 from Sept 2023  

❖  SRB at Llanishen Fach Primary School from 20 to 30 places from Sept 

2023  

❖  SRB at Marlborough Primary School from 20 to 30 from Sept 2022  

❖  SRB at Pentrebane Primary School from 20 to 24 spaces from Sept 2022  

❖  SRB at Springwood Primary School from 20 to 28 from Sept 2022 

❖  

Increase the designated number: (complex needs Secondary )  

❖  SRB at Whitchurch High School from 70 to 100 from Sept 2022   

❖  Establish a 30 place SRB at Willows High School from Sept 2023 

Increase number of Autism Spectrum Condition: 

❖  SRB at Llanishen High School from 20 to 45 from Sept 2022 

❖  SRB at The Marion Centre from 42 to 66 from Sept 2022 

❖  Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place SRB from Sept 2023  

 
 

Er fod 2 ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg  (Nant Caerau a Pen y Pil) ar restr ysgolion buddsoddiad 

Band B yr AALl mae hefyd nifer o ysgolion / unedau ADY cyfrwng Saesneg ar y rhestr 

fuddsoddiad. Sef: 

Ysgol Y Llys (ysgol ymddygiadol)  

Ysgol Riverbank (ysgol gynradd darpariaeth cymysg ADY / anghenion cymhleth) 

Ysgol Woodlands (ysgol uwchradd ADY cymhleth / ASD) 

Ysgol Greenhill (ysgol uwchradd ymddygiadol) 

Felly mae buddsoddiad dwbl yn y ddarpariaeth ADY cyfrwng Saesneg e.e. y cynigion 

newydd + buddsoddiad Band B. 

 

Although there are 2 Welsh-medium schools (Nant Caerau a Pen y Pil) on the LEA's Band B 

investment schools list, there are also several English-medium ALN schools / units on the 

investment list. They are: 

The Court School (emotional / behavioural school) 

Riverbank Special School (primary school with mixture of complex needs / ASD) 

Woodlands (secondary school complex learning needs / ASD) 

Greenhill (secondary behavioural)  

There is therefore double investment in English medium ALN provision e.g., these new 

proposals + Band B investment   

 

YGCC Comments. Whilst the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal 

recognise and support the need for an increase of ALN provision throughout the city, 

we are are concerned that the opportunity to provide additional provision for pupils in 

Welsh Medium school has not been taken in these proposals.   We would therefore 

ask that this be addressed in the consultation discussions prior to a formal decision 

is made by the council. 

• We therefore agree with the headteachers of the city’s Welsh Medium 

Schools when they state in their response document. 

 

Page 752



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Cefnogaeth llwyr i fuddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein 

cymunedau.  Canmoliaeth uchel i'r Cyngor Sir i fuddsoddi  yn y gynhaliaeth orau 

ac yn gritigol i dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau arbenigol mewn meysydd o 

alw clir.  Mae sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn creu capasiti arbenigol o ran 

adnoddau a'r gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes 

hwn.  

• Warm support to invest in resources for some of our most vulnerable 

learners.  High praise for the County Council for prioritizing excellent 

resources and critically to grow staff specialism in areas of most 

need.  Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and 

workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in this 

area. 

 

However, these are the concerns made by the Welsh Medium headteachers that 

we, as governors of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal, agree with: 

• Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd a thair 

canolfan arbenigol uwchradd. 

• Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog teuluoedd / 

rhieni i symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r ddarpariaeth 

a'r buddsoddiad orau. 

• This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted 

the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the 

Primary sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

• Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / 

families to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and 

resources are superior. 

 

 

• Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau 

darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion y sector.  

• Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen 

cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg – sut daethpwyd i'r canlyniad hwn a sut cafodd y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

• Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure 

parity of provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  

• A recent and urgent audit is necessary to ascertain ALN within the WM 

sector (especially in the Primary sector). The documentation demonstrates 

a growing need within the EM sector but not in the WM sector.  How was 

this conclusion reached and how was the WM sector included in this 

research?  

 

Page 753



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

• Diffyg darpariaeth clir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion 

y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) 

• Diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn sawl 

ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau 

addas  

• Lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and 

behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• Lack of space / classes in schools to establish nurture / wellbeing classes 

within most settings due to lack of spaces within WM schools 

 

• Collwyd cyfleoedd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY mewn ysgolion 

newydd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y ddinas. 

• Angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu 

capasiti ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu (Fel sy'n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

• Lost opportunities of establishing new WM primary schools without due 

consideration and inclusion of ALN provision.  

• Clear need to invest in specialist bases to grow specialist ALN support 

within the workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

 

 

• Angen rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol 

o fewn y gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

• Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector 

cynradd, yn enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr 

uwchradd.   

• A rich programme of specialist training opportunities is needed within the 

WM sector. 

• The lack of consideration of autism support within the WM primary sector 

is apparent especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in 

the secondary sector.  

 

In Conclusion. 

Our school is within a community that has a strong and developing Welsh language 

and Welsh culture base.  We have a diverse population within the community with 

pupils speaking Welsh within school and English at home, whilst other families speak 

as their first language.   Cardiff local authority plans for the development of education 

within the city acknowledge this and the need for additional places for children 

needing Additional Learning Needs provision 

   

However, we believe that the council, the education authority, and their officers must 

be far more aware of the need for pupils to receive ALN education and support 

through the medium of the Welsh language.  These pupils and their parents have 

Page 754



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

chosen to receive their education through Welsh, but these proposals do not seem to 

provide adequate ALN places and support for those pupils who are Welsh speaking 

and who have additional learning needs.  

We as a governing body hope that this can be addressed before the provisions in the 

consultation document is implemented. 

 

 

David Saunders 

Chair of the Governors:  Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal. 

 

  

Page 755



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Pencae – Chair of Governing Body 

 

Fel Cadeirydd Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Pencae, hoffwn gefnogi eich ymrwymiad i 

fuddsoddi mewn adnoddau ar gyfer rhai o’n dysgwyr mwyaf bregus ar draws y Ddinas. 

Mae sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hon yn creu adnoddau arbenigol a gallu gweithlu 

i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y meysydd hyn.  Gyda hyn mewn golwg 

felly, mae hi’n siom anferthol fy mod yn gorfod mynegi fy mhryder dwys ynghylch y 

diffyg darpariaeth ar gyfer ADY mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ar draws y Ddinas. 

Mewn gwirionedd efallai mai'r sioc fwyaf yw nad yw'r ddogfen hon yn adlewyrchu 

bwriadau CSGA Caerdydd. Yr wyf yn digwydd bod yn aelod o’r pwyllgor hwn ac mae’n 

syfrdanol bod diffyg croesgyfeirio a chyfathrebu wedi arwain at y sefyllfa hon.  

 

Mae'r Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg yn nodi'n glir yr uchelgais i greu tair 

uned arbenigol yn y sector Cynradd a thair arall yn y sector Uwchradd. Gan fod 

Caerdydd yn gweithio tuag at gefnogi uchelgais Llywodraeth Cymru o filiwn o 

siaradwyr, mae’r cymorth hwn yn hollbwysig er mwyn darparu’r sylfeini angenrheidiol 

i ganiatáu’r cyfle hwn i bob disgybl heb ragfarn. I fynd â hyn gam ymhellach, mae’r 

ddarpariaeth Gymraeg yn y Ddeddf ADY yn anelu at fod yn system ddwyieithog o 

gefnogi ac amddiffyn plant sydd angen darpariaeth ddysgu ychwanegol yn y Gymraeg 

ac mae’n nodi’n glir y dylid cymryd pob cam rhesymol i sicrhau bod yr hawl hon ar gael 

i blant. Gan symud hyn gam ymhellach, mae Caerdydd yn rhagweithiol iawn o ran 

cefnogi hawliau’r plentyn ac yn unol â’r hawliau hyn, mae Erthyglau 28, 29 a 30 yn ei 

gwneud yn berffaith glir bod darpariaeth ADY yn iaith y plentyn ei hun yn hawl 

gyffredinol fel y’i cydnabyddir gan y Cenhedloedd Unedig. 

 

Yn syml iawn, mae’r anghydbwysedd mewn buddsoddiad rhwng y sector Cymraeg a’r 

sector Saesneg  yn gwthio rhieni/teuluoedd i drosglwyddo eu plant i’r sector Saesneg 

er mae derbyn y gefnogaeth angenrheidiol. Mae’n rhaid felly buddsoddiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau cydraddoldeb ar sail darpariaeth a 

chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

 

Nid yw'n ymddangos bod y niferoedd ar gyfer anghenion cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer 

ADY wedi'u pennu ar y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf a byddai'n ddefnyddiol cynnal awdit o 

angen at y diben hwn. O'r hyn yr wyf wedi canfod o'r ddogfen ymgynghori, mae'n 

ymddangos nad oes digon o ddarpariaeth  o ran iechyd emosiynol a lles ac ymddygiad 

o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion ar gam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion 

y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd ). Rwy’n meddwl, pan adeiladwyd yr ysgolion cynradd 

Cymraeg newydd, y dylai cydnabyddiaeth o ofynion ADY fod wedi bod yn rhan o’r 

broses gynllunio. Yn hytrach na cholli rhagor o gyfleoedd, mae’n amlwg bod angen i 

Gaerdydd i fuddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn cynyddu cymorth ADY 

arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu, fel sy'n digwydd yn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y 

ddinas.  

 

Rwyf hefyd yn credu yn gryf bod angen i ASD gael sylw mwy penodol ar gyfer ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn seiliedig ar ein profiadau ein hunain yn Ysgol Pencae. Byddwn 

Page 756



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

yn dadlau bod diffyg ystyriaeth i gymorth awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd cyfrwng 

Cymraeg yn amlwg, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â sefydlu sylfaen cymorth awtistiaeth 

yn y sector uwchradd. 

 

Ysgrifennwyd y llythyr hwn yn rhannol oherwydd rhwystredigaeth bod yn rhaid i 

ysgolion Cymraeg frwydro unwaith eto dros gydraddoldeb o fewn eu Prifddinas eu 

hunain. Gallaf ddweud yn hyderus ein bod bob amser yn awyddus i sefydlu 

partneriaeth agos gyda'r awdurdod lleol ac yn eiddgar cefnogi  Fforwm o ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector ac arweinyddiaeth 

yr awdurdod lleol. 

 

Credaf, heb ymateb boddhaol i’r pryderon hyn, bydd rhaid codi hyn gyda Gweinidog 

y Gymraeg ac Addysg Llywodraeth Cymru er mwyn ei fod yn gwbl ymwybodol o’r 

gwahaniaeth sy’n bodoli rhwng y sector Cymraeg a Saesneg yng Nghaerdydd. Mae 

pob plentyn yn gyfartal, mae gan bob plentyn hawliau a dylai’r hawl i ddarparu 

cymorth dysgu ychwanegol yn iaith y plentyn fod yn gasgliad rhagdybiedig ond yn 

anffodus mae hyn ymhell o fod yn wir. 

Edrychaf ymlaen at gael ateb wrthoch chi y bydd yn lleddfu rhai, os nad y cyfan o’m 

pryderon. 

 

 

As Chair of the Governing Body of Ysgol Pencae I would like to express our support 

for your commitment to invest in resources for some of our most vulnerable learners 

across the City.  Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and 

workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in these 

areas.  With this in mind it is therefore with great disappointment that I have to express 

my concern at the lack of provision for ALN in Welsh-medium schools across the 

City.  In fact, perhaps the greatest shock is that this document doesn’t reflect the 

intentions of Cardiff’s WESP.  I happen to be a member of this committee and it is 

astounding that a lack of cross-referencing and poor communication has led to this 

position.  

 

The WESP clearly indicates the ambition to create three specialist units in the Primary 

sector and a further three in the Secondary sector.  As Cardiff is working towards 

supporting the Welsh Government ambition of a million speakers, this support is 

crucial in providing the necessary foundations to allow all pupils without bias this 

opportunity. To take this a step further, the Welsh language provision in the ALN Act 

aims to be a bilingual system of support and protects children who need additional 

learning provision in Welsh and it states clearly that all reasonable steps should be 

taken to ensure that this right is provided. Moving this a step further, Cardiff is very 

proactive in support of the rights of the child and in accordance with these rights, Article 

28, 29 and 30 make it perfectly clear that ALN provision in a child’s own language is a 

universal right as recognised by the United Nations. 

 

Page 757



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Quite simply, the imbalance in Investment in one sector (English Medium) encourages 

parents / families to transfer ALN pupils to that sector where the investment and 

resources are more readily available thus decreasing the numbers of pupils in Welsh-

medium schools.  Investment is therefore crucial within the Welsh-medium sector in 

order to ensure parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  

 

The numbers for Welsh-medium needs for ALN don’t seem to be based on up-to-date 

information and it would be helpful to hold an audit of need for this purpose. From what 

I have ascertained from the consultation document, there seems to be a lack of clear 

provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and behaviour within the Welsh-

medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream 

provision).  I think when the new Welsh primaries were built, a recognition of ALN 

requirements should have been part of the planning process.  Rather than miss any 

more opportunities, it is apparent that Cardiff has a clear need to invest in specialist 

bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce, as happens in the 

English-medium sector across the city.  

 

I also strongly believe that ASD needs more specific attention for Welsh-medium 

schools based on our own experiences in Ysgol Pencae. I would argue the lack of 

consideration of autism support within the Welsh-medium primary sector is apparent, 

especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in the secondary sector. 

 

This letter is written in part out of frustration that once again Welsh-medium schools 

have to fight for equality within their own Capital City.  I can say with confidence that 

we are always eager to establish a close partnership with the local authority and 

eagerly support the Forum of Welsh-medium schools.  It is key to establish a close 

working partnership between the sector and LA leadership to scope and realise 

creative and practical solutions to these challenges, which could become a blueprint 

of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

I believe that without a satisfactory resolution, the Welsh Government Minister for 

Education and Welsh Language will need to be made aware of the disparity that exists 

between the Welsh and English sector within Cardiff. All children are equal, all children 

have rights and the right to provide additional learning support in the language of the 

child and this be a matter of course, but unfortunately as things stand, this is far from 

being true. 

 

I look forward to receiving a reply in the hope that it will ease some if not all my 

concerns. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Daniel Tiplady 

 

(Daniel Tiplady – Cadeirydd y Llywodraethwyr Ysgol Pencae) 

Page 758



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

  

Page 759



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd 

Ymateb gan Bennaeth a Chadeirydd Llywodraethwyr Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll 

Coch 

 

25 Ionawr 2022 

 

Rydym yn croesawu cyhoeddi dogfennaeth sy’n benodol yn targedu 

gwelliannau i’r ddarpariaeth ADY ar draws y ddinas. Rydym yn gwbl gefnogol 

gan gytuno bod angen buddsoddiad yn y ddarpariaeth i rai o’r disgyblion sy’n 

wynebu heriau sylweddol yn ein cymunedau yng Nghaerdydd. 

 

Cytunwn hefyd bod angen darparu ar gyfer anghenion mwy cymhleth, yn 

enwedig anghenion iechyd meddwl a lles emosiynol, sydd wedi cynyddu yn 

sgîl y pandemig. 

 

Rydym yn croesawu’r uchelgais o sicrhau twf ar draws y ddinas o ran lleoedd 

pwrpasol arbenigol a sicrhau’r amgylchedd gorau i ddisgyblion sydd ag anghenion 

dysgu ychwanegol yn yr 21ain Ganrif. Fel ysgol sydd â Chanolfan Adnoddau 

Arbenigol, rydym yn sylweddoli mor bwysig yw darparu’r adnoddau a’r gefnogaeth 

orau posibl i ddisgyblion, beth bynnag yw eu hanghenion. 

 

Hoffem nodi hefyd mewn ymateb: 

 

• Os yw'r Sir yn ystyried cynyddu niferoedd canolfan arbenigol Ysgol Gymraeg 

Pwll Coch edrychwn ymlaen at glywed gan y Sir yn uniongyrchol am y 

cynlluniau hynny a chael mewnbwn iddynt fel Ysgol. 

 

• Mae’r ddogfen yn sôn am welliannau hirdymor o ran adnoddau a thwf lleoedd 

yn y sector cynradd cyfrwng Saesneg yn unig. Mae buddsoddi mewn un 

sector yn unig (cyfrwng Saesneg) yn ffafrio un sector. Mae angen buddsoddi 

yn y sector Cymraeg yn ogystal â’r Saesneg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a sicrhau cynhwysiant llawn. 

 

• Gallai buddsoddi mewn un sector annog rhieni i symud eu plant i ble mae’r 

adnoddau, y ddarpariaeth a’r buddsoddiad gorau, ac felly bydd disgyblion yn 

cael eu colli o’r sector Cymraeg. 

 

• Mae’r ymgynghoriad yn gwrth-ddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA/WESP Caerdydd sy’n sôn am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd 

cyfrwng Cymraeg a thair canolfan arbenigol uwchradd cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Page 760



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

• Mae’r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond nid yn y sector Cymraeg – sut y daethpwyd i’r casgliad hwn? 

A gafodd y sector 

 

Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

 

• Mae angen awdit ar frys i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd ar draws y ddinas er mwyn deall yr anghenion a’r twf posibl. 

• Mae diffyg yn y ddarpariaeth o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o 

fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag 

anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth brif ffrwd). Mae angen cynllunio ar gyfer 

darpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y maes hwn. 

 

• Cynigir canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg uwchradd ond nid ar 

gyfer y sector cynradd. Os yw’r sir yn rhagweld yr angen am fwy o leoedd 

arbenigol dylid ystyried ehangu darpariaeth awtistiaeth arbenigol yn y 

cynradd yn ogystal. 

 

• Mae angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti 

ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu (fel sy’n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng 

 

Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). Mae angen rhaglen hyfforddi i sbarduno 

hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

 

Gofynnwn i chi ystyried y pwyntiau uchod wrth ehangu eich darpariaeth ADY ar 

draws y ddinas, gan roi ystyriaeth lawn i ddatblygu addysg arbenigol cyfrwng 

Cymraeg, yn gyfartal â’r Saesneg. Edrychwn ymlaen at gydweithio gyda chi yn y 

ystod y blynyddoedd nesaf i ganfod datrysiadau ar draws y sir a fydd yn rhoi’r 

cyfleoedd gorau posibl ar gyfer plant a phobl ifanc Caerdydd sy’n dymuno addysg 

Gymraeg. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

 

Mr Dewi Rees      Nona Gruffudd-Evans 

Pennaeth       Cadeirydd y Corff Llywodraethu 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 
 

  

Page 761



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation  

Response from the Headteacher and Chair of Governors of Ysgol Gymraeg 

Pwll Coch  

 

25 January 2022  

 

We welcome the publication of documentation specifically targeting 

improvements to ALN provision across the city  We are fully supportive and 

agree that investment in provision is needed for some of the pupils facing 

significant challenges in our communities in Cardiff.  

 

We also agree that there is a need to cater for more complex needs, 

particularly mental health and emotional well-being needs, which have 

increased in the wake of the pandemic. 

 

We welcome the ambition of achieving growth across the city in terms of specialist 

purpose places and ensuring the best environment for pupils with additional 

learning needs in the 21st Century.  As a school with a Specialist Resource Centre, 

we recognise the importance of providing pupils with the best possible resources 

and support, whatever their needs.  

 

We would also like to note in response that:  

 

• If the County is considering increasing the numbers in the specialist centre 

at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch we look forward to hearing from the County 

directly about those plans and having input into them as a School. 

 

• The document mentions long-term improvements in resources and the growth 

of places in the English-medium primary sector only.  Investment in only one 

sector (English medium) favours one sector.  Investment in the Welsh as well 

as English language sector is needed to ensure equality of provision and 

ensure full inclusion.  

 

• Investment in one sector could encourage parents to move their children to 

where the best resources, provision and investment are, and so pupils will be 

lost from the Welsh language sector.  

 

• The consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff 

CSGA/WESP consultation which mentions the opening of three Welsh-

medium primary specialist centres and three Welsh-medium secondary 

specialist centres.  

 

• The documentation shows an increasing need within the English-medium 

sector, but not in the Welsh-medium sector – how has this conclusion been 

reached?  Was the Welsh sector 

Page 762



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

 

included in the research? 

 

• The needs of pupils in the primary Welsh-medium sector across the city need 

an urgent audit to understand the needs and potential growth.  
 

• There is a shortfall in provision in terms of emotional health and well-being 

and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 pupils (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision).  There is a need to plan for 

Welsh-medium provision in this area.  

 

• A secondary Welsh-medium autism specialist centre is offered but not for the 

primary sector.  If the county anticipates the need for more specialist places 

consideration should also be given to expanding specialist autism provision 

in the primary sector. 

 

• Investment in specialist centres is needed to create Welsh-medium ALN 

capacity within the workforce (as is the case within  

 

English medium centres across the city). A training programme is needed 

to drive specialist ALN training within the Welsh-medium workforce.  
 

 

 

We ask you to consider the above points when expanding your ALN provision 

across the city, taking full account of the development of Welsh-medium specialist 

education, on a par with English.  We look forward to working with you over the 

next few years to find solutions across the county that will provide the best 

possible opportunities for the children and young people of Cardiff who wish to 

receive Welsh-medium education. 
 

Yours sincerely,  

 

 

 

 

Mr Dewi Rees     Nona Gruffudd-Evans 

Headteacher      Chair of the Governing Body  

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 
  

Page 763



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol y Berllan Deg – Governing Body 
 

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Y Berllan Deg i Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor 

Caerdydd 

 

Bu cyfarfod o gorff llywodraethu llawn Ysgol Y Berllan Deg ar Ionawr 12fed 2022 lle 

buom yn trafod Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Caerdydd. Teimlwn ei bod yn bwysig 

ymateb gyda’n barn am yr ymgynghoriad. 

 

Yn gyntaf, hoffem ganmol y cyngor am flaenoriaethu buddsoddiad mewn adnoddau 

ar gyfer rhai o'n dysgwyr mwyaf agored i niwed, drwy flaenoriaethu adnoddau 

rhagorol ac i dyfu arbenigedd staff yn y meysydd mwyaf anghenus. Mae sicrhau 

buddsoddiad ar y lefel hon yn creu adnoddau arbenigol a gallu gweithlu i ymateb i’r 

galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Fodd bynnag, mae gennym bryderon ynglŷn â diffyg darpariaeth drwy gyfrwng y 

Gymraeg 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrth-ddweud ymgynghoriad diweddar y Cynllun 

Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg a nododd uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned 

arbenigol mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector cynradd a thair SRB arall yn 

y sector uwchradd. Rydym yn poeni y bydd buddsoddi yn bennaf yn y Saesneg yn 

annog rhieni i drosglwyddo disgyblion ADY i’r sector cyfrwng Saesneg lle mae’r 

buddsoddiad a’r adnoddau yn well. 

 

Yn wir, mae angen buddsoddiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau 

cydraddoldeb darpariaeth a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg 

ond nid yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg. Buom hefyd yn trafod bod angen gwell 

darpariaeth o ran:- 

 

•  iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar 

gyfer disgyblion yng Nghyfnod 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i 

ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) 

•  gwell cefnogaeth i sefydlu dosbarthiadau anogaeth / lles o fewn ysgolion - 

diffyg gofod mewn ysgolion o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn gwneud hyn 

yn anodd 

•  buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn cynyddu cefnogaeth ADY 

arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu (fel sy'n digwydd mewn sectorau cyfrwng 

Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

•  lleoliadau sydd yn arbenigo mewn awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd ac 

uwchradd cyfrwng Cymraeg 

•  hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol cyfrwng Cymraeg 

 

Collwyd cyfleoedd i roi ystyriaeth briodol i gynnwys darpariaeth ADY yn yr awdurdod 

wrth sefydlu ysgolion cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ystod y blynddoedd diwethaf. 

Page 764



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Dyma gyfle nawr i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

ac arweinwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol i gwmpasu a gwireddu datrysiadau creadigol ac 

ymarferol i’r heriau hyn, a allai ddod yn enghraifft o arfer rhagorol ar gyfer y dyfodol. 

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir 

 

Chris Gibbs (cadeirydd y llywodraethwyr) ar ran corff llywodraethu llawn Ysgol Y 

Berllan Deg 
 

  

Page 765



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Y Berllan Deg Governing Body’s response to Cardiff Council’s ALN 

Consultation  

 

The full governing body of Ysgol Y Berllan Deg discussed Cardiff Council’s ALN 

Consultation in our meeting on January 12th and felt that it was important to respond 

with our collective views. 

 

First of all we wish to praise the council for prioritising investment in resources for 

some of our most vulnerable learners, by prioritising excellent resources and to grow 

staff specialism in areas of most need.  Securing investment at this level creates 

specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for 

provision in this area.  

 

However, we have concerns regarding the lack of provision through the medium of 

Welsh 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's 

ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh medium schools in the primary sector 

and a further three SRB in the secondary sector. We are worried that investment 

mainly in the English language will encourage parents to transfer ALN pupils to the 

English medium sector where the investment and resources are superior. 

 

Indeed, investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity 

of provision and full inclusion within Welsh medium schools. The documentation 

demonstrates a growing need within the English medium sector but not in the Welsh 

medium sector. We also discussed that there needs to be better provision in:- 

 

• emotional health and well-being and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector 

for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• establishing nurture / wellbeing classes within schools- lack of spaces in 

schools within WM schools makes this difficult 

• investing in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in English medium sectors across the city).  

• autism support within the Welsh medium primary and secondary sector  

• Welsh medium specialist ALN training  

 

There have been lost opportunities of establishing new Welsh medium primary schools 

without due consideration and inclusion of ALN provision. This is now an opportunity 

to establish a close working partnership between the Welsh medium sector and Local 

Authority  leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these 

challenges, which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Chris Gibbs (chair of governors) on behalf of the full governing body of Ysgol Y Berllan 

Deg 

Page 766



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

  

Page 767



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth – Governing Body 

 

Good afternoon,  

 

Following our Governors meeting last week we would like to voice our concerns as a 

school regarding the Cardiff City and Cardiff Council ALN consultation. We have a 

number of concerns regarding the proposals proposed by Cardiff City and Cardiff 

Council to increase the number of special school and specialist resources base places 

for learners aged 3 – 19 in Cardiff who have complex learning needs and autism 

spectrum conditions. As a school we support this investment in resources for some of 

our most vulnerable learners and obviously securing investment at this level does 

create specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand 

for provision in this area. But there are concerns regarding ALN provision within the 

Welsh Medium sector and the lack of investment. Investing in the English medium 

sector will encourage parents to transfer ALN pupils to the English Medium sector 

where the investment and resources are superior. Investment is needed within the 

Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure the same level of provision and full inclusion 

within WM schools. There have been opportunities when establishing new WM 

primary schools, but we feel consideration was not given to the inclusion of ALN 

provision. The lack of consideration of autism support in the WM primary sector is also 

apparent and of concern. We as a school fully support the Forum of Welsh Medium 

schools who want to establish a close working partnership between the sector and LA 

leadership to find creative and practical solutions to these challenges.  

 

Yours sincerely,  

Catrin Evans and the Governors of Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth 

  

Page 768



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau – Governing Body 

 

Hoffai Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau ymateb i ymgynghoriad yr 

AALl am ei ddarpariaeth arbennigol ar gyfer disgyblion gydag Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol. 

 

Er ein bod yn cytuno â'r angen i ehangu'r ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol bresennol fel yr amlinellir yn y ddogfen ymgynghori, rydym yn bryderus 

am yr hyn a ystyriwn yn ddarpariaeth annigonol ar gyfer addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg o 

fewn y cynlluniau. Nid yw’r sefyllfa bresennol o Ganolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol yn 

Ysgol Gyfun Glantaf, Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol cynradd yn Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll 

Coch a’r ddarpariaeth ar gyfer disgyblion ag anghenion emosiynol ac ymddygiadol 

sydd wedi’u lleoli yn Ysgol Pen y Groes yn darparu cydraddoldeb gyda’r 

ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Saesneg. Mae angen buddsoddiad o fewn y sector Cyfrwng 

Cymraeg i sicrhau’r cydraddoldeb hwn yn y ddarpariaeth. O ganlyniad, galwn am 

archwiliad ar unwaith i ganfod lefelau Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol o fewn y sector 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg - yn enwedig yn y sector Cynradd. 

 

Rydym yn croesawu sefydlu Canolfan Adnoddau ar gyfer 30 disgybl yn Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf ym mis Medi 2023 a fu ochr yn ochr â’r Ganolfan Adnoddau 

Arbenigol presennol, ond teimlwn fod y cynlluniau’n groes i’r ymgynghoriad WESP 

diweddar a nododd uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned arbenigol yn Ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector cynradd a thair Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol arall yn 

y sector uwchradd.  

 

A allwn dynnu eich sylw at adolygiad yr AALl o’i ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg yn 2009-10, a gynhaliwyd gan Meinir Rees AEM, a fu 

chyn hynny yn Gydlynydd AAA yn Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr? Roedd yr 

adolygiad hwn yn nodi wrth i’r AALl sefydlu ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd yn 

ystod y cyfnod hynny, yn gyfle euraidd i ddatblygu darpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol arbenigol. Yn anffodus, mae amser wedi profi bod hwn wedi bod yn 

gyfle a gollwyd. Mae 5 ysgol gynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd ac ysgol uwchradd 

wedi agor ers hynny, heb unrhyw ddarpariaeth arbenigol Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol. Ymhellach, ehangwyd 4 ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg a darparwyd 

adeiladau newydd - eto heb unrhyw ddarpariaeth ADY arbenigol. Gyda Chanolfan 

Adnoddau Arbenigol Ysgol Coed y Gof yn cau i gael ei disodli gan Ganolfan 

Adnoddau Arbenigol fwy penodol yn Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, yr unig ddarpariaeth 

newydd ar gyfer ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ers yr adolygiad 2009-10 hwn yw’r 

ddarpariaeth lles yn Ysgol Pen y Groes. Mae’r diffyg darpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg 

arbenigol hwn wedi arwain at rieni yn symud eu plant i gyfrwng Saesneg i fodloni 

anghenion dysgu ychwanegol eu plant. 

 

Anogwn yr AALl i werthfawrogi anghenion ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg, fel Ysgol 

Gymraeg Nant Caerau, sy’n gwasanaethu ardal o amddifadedd cymdeithasol ac 

economaidd uchel. Mae’r ysgol yn wynebu heriau cymhleth sydd wedi dwysáu gan y 

Page 769



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

pandemig. Yn ogystal â’r anhawsterau cymdeithasol /economaidd, mae heriau 

ieithyddol hefyd – does dim un o’n disgyblion yn dod o gartrefi lle mae iaith eu 

haddysg yn cael ei siarad adref. Rhaid nodi yma ein bod fel corff yn hynod falch 

gyda’r ffordd mae’r ysgol yn datblygu’r sgiliau ieithyddol angenrheidiol i greu 

dinasyddion dwyieithog. 

 

Gwelwn ddiffyg amlwg o ran lles, ymddygiad, a chefnogaeth emosiynol yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn benodol ar gyfer disgyblion ar Gam 4-5 ble mae darpariaeth prif 

ffrwd yn anaddas iddynt. Oherwydd y diffyg lle o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg, 

mae’n profi’n anodd os nad yn amhosib, darparu dosbarthiadau lles neu maeth o 

fewn y rhan fwyaf o leoliadau. Byddwch yn ymwybodol bod Ysgol Gymraeg Nant 

Caerau wedi ariannu dosbarth maeth uchel ei ganmoliaeth allan o’n cyllideb (GAD 

yn bennaf) i ddiwallu’r angen hwn. Mae'r dosbarth maeth hwn wedi'i leoli mewn 

adeilad dros dro sy'n erbyn heddiw yn anaddas i'r pwrpas! Teimlwn fod yr AALl yn 

colli cyfle i ddarparu canolfannau arbenigol ar gyfer y disgyblion hyn. 

 

Rydym hefyd yn pryderu bod cyfraddau ein gwaharddiadau cyfnod penodol yn 

cynyddu. Mae'r Uwch Dîm Rheoli yn ymdrechu'n galed i fynd i'r afael â'r mater hwn. 

Mae’r ysgol yn derbyn cefnogaeth allgymorth a gall gyfeirio disgyblion i ddosbarth 

Lles Ysgol Pen y Groes, fodd bynnag ar hyn o bryd nid oes cefnogaeth arbenigol ar 

gyfer rhai o’n disgyblion sydd ag anghenion rhy dwys i’w diwallu gan y dosbarth lles. 

 

Cefnogir Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau yn dda gan athrawon arbenigol Cymraeg eu 

hiaith ym maes Anhwysterau Sbectrwm Awtistig, ac anghenion emosiynol ac 

ymddygiadol, fodd bynnag, mae gennym bryderon nad oes darpariaeth arbenigol 

gydnabyddedig ar gyfer disgyblion ag Anhwysterau Sbectrwm Awtistig trwy gyfrwng 

y Gymraeg. Nodwn hefyd y diffyg ystyriaeth i gymorth awtistiaeth o fewn y sector 

cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Galwn am raglen o gyfleoedd hyfforddi arbenigol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Rydym hefyd yn croesawu penderfyniad y Fforwm Ysgolion Cyfrwng Cymraeg i 

sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector ac arweinwyr yr ALl i gwmpasu a 

gwireddu datrysiadau creadigol ac ymarferol i’r heriau hyn, a allai ddod yn enghraifft 

o arfer rhagorol i’r dyfodol. 

 

Anogwn yr Awdurdod i gymryd camau i weithredu rhaglen o gydraddoldeb rhwng 

darpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg a chyfrwng Saesneg. 

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir 

Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 

 

  

Page 770



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

The Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau would like to respond to the 

current LEA consultation of its specialist Additional Learning Needs provision. 

 

Whilst we agree with the need to expand the current Additional Learning Need 

provision as outlined in the consultation document, we are concerned about what we 

consider to be an inadequate provision for Welsh medium education within the plans.  

The current situation of Specialist Resource Base in Ysgol Gyfun Glantaf, a primary 

Specialist Resource Base in Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch and the revolving door 

provision for pupils with emotional and behavioural needs based in Ysgol Pen y 

Groes doesn’t provide parity with English medium provision. Investment is needed 

within the Welsh Medium sector to ensure this parity of provision. Consequently, we 

call for an immediate audit to ascertain the levels of Additional Learning Need within 

the Welsh Medium sector - especially in the Primary sector.   

 

We welcome the establishment a 30 place Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource Base from Sept 2023, 

however we feel that the plans are at odds the recent WESP consultation which 

noted the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium schools 

in the primary sector and a further three Specialist Resource Bases in the secondary 

sector 

 

Can we draw your attention to the LEA’s review of its Welsh medium Additional 

Learning Needs provision in 2009-10, conducted by Meinir Rees HMI, and previously 

a SENCO at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr?  This review noted the establishing of 

new Welsh medium schools as an opportunity to develop specialist Additional 

Learning Needs provision.  Sadly, time has proved that this has been an opportunity 

missed.  5 new Welsh medium primary schools and a secondary school have since 

opened, with no Additional Learning Needs specialist provision.  Furthermore, 4 

Welsh medium schools have been expanded and provided with new buildings - 

again with no specialist ALN provision.  With Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol 

Coed y Gof closing to be replaced by a more specific Specialist Resource Base at 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, the only new provision for Welsh medium schools since 

this 2009-10 review is the revolving door provision at Ysgol Pen y Groes.  This lack 

of specialist Welsh medium provision has led to parents moving their children to 

English medium to satisfy their children’s additional learning needs.   

 

We urge the LEA to appreciate the needs of Welsh medium schools such as Ysgol 

Gymraeg Nant Caerau that serves an area of high social and economic deprivation.  

The school faces complex challenges which have heightened by the recent 

pandemic.  As well as the socio-economic consequences, there are also linguistic 

challenges - none of our pupils come from homes where the language of their 

education is spoken.  It must be noted here that as a body we are extremely proud of 

the school’s record in developing the linguistic skills necessary to create bilingual 

citizens.    

 

Page 771



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

We see a clear deficiency as regards wellbeing, behaviour, and emotional support in 

the Welsh Medium sector specifically for pupils on Stage 4-5 who struggle with 

mainstream provision.  Due to the lack of space within Welsh Medium schools, it is 

proving difficult if not impossible to provide nurture / wellbeing classes within most 

settings.  You will be aware that Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau, has funded a highly 

praised nurture class out of our budget (mainly PDG) to meet this need.  This nurture 

class is housed within a demountable building that is becoming unfit for purpose!  

We feel the LEA is losing an opportunity to provide specialist bases for these pupils.   

 

We are also concerned that the number of fixed term exclusions are increasing at 

the school. The Senior Management Team are trying hard to tackle this issue.  The 

school receives outreach support and can refer pupils to the Wellbeing class in Ysgol 

Pen y Groes, however there is currently no specialist support for some of our pupils 

whose needs are too great to be met by the wellbeing centre.  

 

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau are well supported by Welsh speaking specialist 

teachers in the field of Autistic Spectrum Disorders, emotional and behavioural 

needs, however, we have concerns that there is no recognised specialist provision 

for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorders through the medium of Welsh.  We also 

note the lack of consideration of autism support within the Welsh Medium primary 

sector 

 

We call for a programme of specialist training opportunities within the Welsh Medium 

sector.  We also welcome the Forum of Welsh Medium schools’ decision to establish 

a close working partnership between the sector and LA leadership to scope and 

realise creative and practical solutions to these challenges, which could become a 

blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

We urge the Authority to take steps to implement a programme of parity between 

Welsh and English medium Additional Learning Needs provision. 

 

Yours Sincerely 

Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 

  

Page 772



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Annwyl Syr/Madam, 

 

Rydym ysgrifennu ar ran Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes mewn 

ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad presennol ar Ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 

yng Nghaerdydd. Yn benodol, yr ymgynghoriad ar newidiadau i gynnig lleoedd o 

ansawdd uchel i ddysgwyr 3-19 oed ag anghenion dysgu cymhleth a Chyflwr ar y 

Sbectrwm Awtistig. 

 

Rydym fel Corff Llywodraethol yn llwyr gefnogi buddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

disgyblion ADY y ddinas ac rydym yn cefnogi’r Cyngor i fuddsoddi mewn darpariaeth 

fwy arbenigol. Rydym hefyd yn cefnogi nod y Cyngor i fuddsoddi a chynyddu 

arbenigedd staff yn y meysydd priodol. 

 

Fodd bynnag, yr ydym yn pryderu am ddiffyg blaenoriaeth y ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

disgyblion yn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas. Mae diffyg yn y ddarpariaeth o 

fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ac wrth edrych ar y ddarpariaeth sydd eisoes ar 

gael, dim ond llai na 5% o’r ddarpariaeth sydd ar gael yn y ddinas sydd ar gyfer 

disgyblion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas o gymharu â dros 95% o’r ddarpariaeth 

arbenigol sydd ar gael ar gyfer disgyblion cyfrwng Saesneg. Mae hyn yn bryder i 

ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas a rhieni lle mae'r angen yn aml wedi codi i 

deuluoedd / rhieni symud eu plant ADY i gyfrwng Saesneg lle mae'r ddarpariaeth a'r 

buddsoddiad orau. 

 

Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a chynhwysiad llawn o fewn ysgolion y sector ac angen clir i fuddsoddi 

mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn tyfu cefnogaeth ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu. (Fel sy'n digwydd mewn sectorau Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

 

Ein pryder fel Llywodraethwyr hefyd yw’r diffyg darpariaeth glir o iechyd a lles 

emosiynol ac ymddygiadol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion 

Cyfnod 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd). 

 

Diolchwn i chi am ystyried ein barn. 

 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

We are writing on behalf of the Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes in 

response to the current consultation on Additional Learning Needs Provision in 

Cardiff. Specifically, the consultation on changes to offer high quality places for 

learners aged 3-19 with complex learning needs and an Autistic Spectrum Condition. 

 

Page 773



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

We as a Governing Body fully support investing in the provision for ALN pupils in the 

city and we support the Council in investing in more specialist provision. We also 

support the Council's aim to invest in and grow staff expertise in the appropriate 

areas.  

 

However, we are concerned about the lack of priority of provision for pupils in the 

city's Welsh medium schools. There is a shortfall in the provision within the Welsh-

medium sector and when looking at the provision already available, only under 5% of 

the provision available in the city is for Welsh-medium pupils city compared with over 

95% of the specialist provision available for English medium pupils. This is a concern 

for the city's Welsh medium schools and parents where the need has often arisen for 

families / parents to move their ALN children to English medium where provision and 

investment is best. There is a need to invest in the Welsh Medium sector in order to 

ensure equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's schools and a clear need 

to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

 

Our concern as Governors is also the lack of clear provision of emotional and 

behavioral health and well-being within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 

pupils (who have needs beyond mainstream provision). We thank you for taking our 

views into consideration.  

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir / Yours faithfully,  

 

Mrs A Fenner     Mr M Landers  

Pennaeth      Cadeirydd y Llywodraethwyr 

Headteacher     Chair of Governors 

  

Page 774



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School - Governing Body 

 

Ymateb i Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Caerdydd 

 

Annwyl Syr/Madam, 

 

Rydym ni, aelodau o Gorff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau, yn dymuno 

mynegi ein pryderon ynghylch eich cynigion i gynyddu'r ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

dysgwyr ag anghenion dysgu cymhleth a chyflyrau sbectrwm awtistiaeth, fel y nodir 

yn yr Ymgynghoriad ADY. 

 

Er ein bod yn llwyr gefnogi'r buddsoddiad mewn adnoddau ar gyfer rhai o'n dysgwyr 

mwyaf bregus yng Nghaerdydd, cawsom ein synnu a'n siomi i nodi mai ychydig iawn 

o ddarpariaeth oedd ar gael i ddisgyblion mewn addysg Cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Rydym yn canmol ymrwymiad Cyngor Sir Caerdydd i flaenoriaethu adnoddau 

rhagorol a sicrhau buddsoddiad mewn ADY gan greu gweithlu arbenigol i ymateb i'r 

galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Fodd bynnag, mae'r diffyg buddsoddiad mewn darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY yn y 

sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg yn glir yn y cynigion. 

 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrth-ddweud ymgynghoriad diweddar y CSGA 

(WESP) sy’n nodi uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned arbenigol mewn ysgolion 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector Cynradd a thair CAA arall yn y sector Uwchradd. 

 

Rydym yn pryderu y bydd buddsoddi mewn un adran yn unig yn annog 

rhieni/teuluoedd i drosglwyddo disgyblion ADY i'r sector Cyfrwng Saesneg lle mae'r 

dewis a'r cyfleusterau sydd ar gael yn well. 

 

Credwn yn gryf fod y Cyngor yn colli cyfleoedd i ymestyn darpariaeth ac adnoddau 

ADY mewn Ysgolion Cynradd Cyfrwng Cymraeg sydd newydd eu sefydlu yn y 

ddinas. Mae'n amlwg bod angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol o fewn 

addysg Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn cynyddu cymorth ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu. Mae hyn eisoes yn digwydd yn y sector Cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y 

ddinas. 

 

Mae'n peri pryder arbennig i ni fod diffyg cymorth Awtistiaeth yn y sector Cynradd 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â sefydlu canolfan arbenigol 

Awtistiaeth yn y sector uwchradd. 

 

Er ein bod yn deall nad yw'r Gymraeg yn nodwedd warchodedig o dan y Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb, mae nifer o Awdurdodau Lleol yn ystyried y Gymraeg fel rhan o'r 

broses honno. Mae'n siomedig, felly, er nad yw'n ofyniad statudol o dan y Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb, nad yw'r crynodeb o'r Asesiad Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (EIA) ar gyfer 

Page 775



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

yr ymgynghoriad hwn (tudalen 81) yn sôn am y Gymraeg. O ganlyniad, rydym yn 

cwestiynu sut mae'r cynigion hyn yn mynd i'r afael â'r gofynion statudol clir fel y'u 

nodir yn Safonau Iaith Gymraeg y Llywodraeth. Fel Llywodraethwyr ysgol ddwy ffrwd 

credwn yn gryf fod ein disgyblion sy'n derbyn eu haddysg drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg 

yn haeddu'r un cyfleoedd yn union â'r rhai sy'n derbyn eu haddysg drwy gyfrwng y 

Saesneg. Mae'r cynigion yr ydych wedi'u nodi yn yr Ymgynghoriad yn dangos yn glir 

nad oes cydraddoldeb rhwng y sectorau. 

 

Rydym yn ymwybodol bod Fforwm Penaethiaid Cyfrwng Cymraeg Caerdydd yn 

awyddus i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos gyda'r Awdurdod Lleol i gwmpasu a 

gwireddu atebion creadigol ac ymarferol i'r heriau hyn a byddem yn eich annog yn 

gryf i agor y ddeialog hon heb oedi pellach. 

 

Diolch am ystyried ein pryderon. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Aelodau Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau 

 

 

Response to Cardiff Council’s ALN Consultation 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

We, members of Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School’s Governing Body, wish to 

express our deep concerns regarding your proposals to increase provision for 

learners with complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions, as set out in 

the ALN Consultation. 

 

Whilst we fully support the investment in resources for some of our most vulnerable 

learners in Cardiff we were surprised and disappointed to note that there was very 

little provision for pupils in Welsh Medium education. 

 

We praise Cardiff County Council’s commitment for prioritising excellent resources 

and securing investment in ALN thus creating a specialist workforce capacity to 

respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

However, the lack of investment in ALN provision and resources within the Welsh 

Medium sector is clear in the proposals. 

 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council’s ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium schools in the 

Primary sector and a further three SRBs in the Secondary sector. 

 

Page 776



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

We are concerned that investment in one section only will encourage 

parents/families to transfer ALN pupils to the English Medium sector where the 

choice and availability of facilities and resources are both superior. 

We strongly believe that the Council has and is missing opportunities to extend ALN 

provision and resources in newly established Welsh Medium Primary Schools in the 

city. There is a clear need to invest in specialist bases within WM education in order 

to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce. This is already happening in the 

English Medium sector across the city. 

 

It particularly concerns us that there is a lack of Autism support within the Welsh 

Medium Primary sector especially in relation to the establishing of an Autism support 

base in the secondary sector. 

 

Whilst we understand that Welsh is not a protected characteristic under the Equality 

Act, a number of Local Authority’s consider Welsh as part of that process. It is, 

therefore, disappointing to note that, while not a statutory requirement under the 

Equality Act, the summary of the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for this 

consultation (page 81) makes no mention of Welsh. We consequently query how 

these proposals are addressing the clear statutory requirements as set out in the 

Government’s Welsh Language Standards. As Governors of a Dual Language 

school we strongly believe that our pupils who receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh deserve exactly the same opportunities as those who receive their 

education through the medium of English. The proposals you have set out in the 

Consultation clearly show that there is no parity between the sectors. 

 

We are aware that the Forum of Welsh Medium Head Teachers is eager to establish 

a close working partnership with the Local Authority to scope and realise creative 

and practical solutions to these challenges and would strongly encourage you to 

open this dialogue without further delay. 

 

Thank you for considering our concerns. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Governing Body members of Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School 

  

Page 777



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan - Governing Body and Staff 

 

26/01/22 

 

Ymgynghoriad ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol Cyngor Sir 

Caerdydd 

 

Mae Ysgol Mynydd Bychan yn gwbl gefnogol i nod Cyngor Sir Caerdydd i gynyddu 

niferoedd lleoedd o fewn ysgolion arbennig ac Unedau Anghenion Arbenigol i 

ddysgwyr 3-19 gyda anhawsterau dysgu cymhleth a chyflyrau awstistiaeth. Mae 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan hefyd yn falch o weld bod gan y Cyngor dargedau cadarn i 

fuddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein cymunedau a’r 

gynhaliaeth orau. Mae’n flaenoriaeth i dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau 

arbenigol mewn meysydd o alw clir. Fe fydd sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn 

creu capasiti arbenigol o ran adnoddau a'r gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am 

ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Croesawn weledigaeth Caerdydd ar gyfer addysgu a dysgu yng Nghaerdydd yn 

2030 sy’n gosod ‘nod Hawl Dysgu, lle gall pob plentyn a pherson ifanc: 

 

• gael mynediad at lwybrau priodol i gyfleoedd addysgu a dysgu 

• ffynnu a chyflawni eu potensial 

• gwireddu eu breuddwydion a’u huchelgeisiau unigol 

 

Er mwyn gwella deilliannau dysgwyr mwyaf agored i niwed Caerdydd, â llawer 

ohonynt yn wynebu rhwystrau i ymgysylltu ag addysgu a dysgu, mae mynd i’r afael 

ag anghydraddoldeb yn allweddol.’ 

 

Ymfalchiwn bod Sir Caerdydd yn cydnabod, ‘er mwyn ffynnu a chyflawni eu 

potensial, fod angen i blant a phobl ifanc sydd â’r anghenion dysgu ychwanegol 

cymhlethaf gael mynediad i amgylcheddau arbenigol ac arbenigedd ysgol arbennig 

neu Ganolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol.’ 

 

Nodir yn y ddogfen bod asesiad o’r effaith ar gydraddoldeb cychwynnol wedi’i wneud 

ac fe ddaeth i’r casgliad na fyddai’r newidiadau a gynigir yn effeithio’n negyddol ar 

unrhyw grŵp penodol mewn cymdeithas. Rhaid gofyn y cwestiwn ble mae’r 

ddarpariaeth Cymraeg? Noder bod adolygiad o’r asesiad yma yn mynd i ddigwydd ar 

adegau allweddol os aiff y cynnig yn ei flaen. Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn 

ysgolion y sector. 

 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad CSGA 

Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair ganolfan arbenigol gynradd a thair ganolfan 

arbenigol uwchradd. 

 

Page 778



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog teuluoedd / rhieni i 

symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r ddarpariaeth a'r buddsoddiad 

orau. 

 

Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg – sut daethpwyd i'r canlyniad hwn a 

sut cafodd y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

 

Rydym yn pryderu am ddiffyg darpariaeth clir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac 

ymddygiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag 

anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) yn ogystal â diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar 

gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn sawl ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg 

cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau addas. 

 

Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd, yn 

enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr uwchradd. 

 

Mae angen: 

•  buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti Anghenion 

Dysgu Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu fel sy'n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y ddinas. 

•  rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

 

Nodwyd bod nifer y plant a’r bobl ifanc sydd angen lleoliad arbenigol o ganlyniad i’w 

hanableddau dysgu wedi bod yn cynyddu yng Nghaerdydd dros y 5 mlynedd 

ddiwethaf, mae hyn yn cynnwys plant sydd yn derbyn eu haddysg yn ysgolion 

cyfrwng Gymraeg. Mae’r cynigion a nodir yn y ddogfen ymgynghori yn ceisio gwella 

mynediad i addysg yn unol â’r egwyddorion cynhwysiant, rhaid sicrhau bod hyn yn 

cynnwys disgyblion ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Collwyd cyfle euraidd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY pan adeiladwyd tair 

ysgol gyfrwng Gymraeg newydd yn y ddinas sef Ysgol Glan Morfa, Ysgol 

Hamadryad ac Ysgol Glan Ceubal. 

 

Gwelwyd twf yn y galw am addysg Gymraeg yng Nghaerdydd dros y ddeng mlynedd 

ddiwethaf, rhaid diolch i Gyngor Caerdydd am gynllunio a darparu ar gyfer y twf yma 

drwy agor ac adeiladu ysgolion newydd gyda rhai mewn cymunedau newydd. 

Gofynnwn nawr am gynlluniau tebyg ar gyfer y twf yn y nifer o balnt sydd yn ein 

hysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg sydd angen y ddarpariaeth ADY orau mewn 

canolfannau sy’n cwrdd â’u hanghenion. 

 

Edrychwn ymlaen yn eiddgar i gydweithio gyda Chyngor Caerdydd ar unrhyw 

gynlluniau a thargedau pendant sydd ganddynt. 

Page 779



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

 

Yn gywir, 

Siân Evans 

Pennaeth 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 

(ar ran aelodau’r Corff Llywodraethol a staff Ysgol Mynydd Bychan) 

 

 

 

26/01/22 

 

Cardiff County Council’s consultation document on the provision for pupils 

with Additional Learning Needs 

 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan fully supports Cardiff County Council's aim to increase the 

number of places in special schools and special needs units for 3-19 learners with 

complex learning difficulties and autism conditions. Ysgol Mynydd Bychan is also 

pleased to see that the Council has firm targets to invest in the provision and support 

of the most vulnerable pupils in our communities. It is a priority to grow the expertise 

of specialist staff and centres in areas of clear demand. Securing investment at this 

level will create specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing 

demand for provision in this area. 

 

We welcome Cardiff’s 2030 vision for education and learning in Cardiff that sets a 

goal of “A Learning Entitlement, in which all children and young people are able to: 

 

• access appropriate routes into education and learning opportunities 

• thrive and fulfil their potential 

• realise their individual dreams and ambitions 

 

In order to improve outcomes for Cardiff’s most vulnerable learners, many of whom 

face barriers to engagement in education and learning, addressing inequality is key.” 

 

We are pleased that the Cardiff CC recognizes that, 'in order to thrive and fulfil their 

potential, children and young people with the most complex additional learning 

needs need to have access to the specialist environments and expertise of a special 

school or specialist resource centre.' 

 

The document states that an initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken 

and concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect any particular 

group in society. The question has to be asked where is Welsh language provision? 

 

It is noted that a review of this assessment is to take place at key points if the 

proposal goes ahead. Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order 

to ensure parity and equality of provision and full inclusion within WM schools. 

Page 780



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary sector 

and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

 

Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / families to 

transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources are 

superior. 

 

A recent and urgent audit is necessary in order to ascertain ALN within the WM 

sector (especially in the Primary sector). The documentation demonstrates a growing 

need within the EM sector but not in the WM sector. How was this conclusion 

reached and how was the WM sector included in this research? 

 

There is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and 

behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs 

beyond mainstream provision). 

 

The lack of consideration of autism support within the WM primary sector is apparent 

especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in the secondary sector. 

 

There is a clear need: 

•  to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city). 

•  for a rich programme of specialist training opportunities within the WM sector. 

 

It was noted in the consultation document that ‘the number of children and young 

people requiring a specialist placement as a result of their learning disabilities has 

been increasing in Cardiff over the last 5 years’, this surely includes children 

receiving their education in Welsh medium schools. The proposals set out in the 

consultation document seek to improve access to education in accordance with the 

principles of inclusion, it must be ensured that this includes pupils in Welsh-medium 

schools. 

 

A golden opportunity to expand ALN provision and resources was lost when three 

new Welsh-medium schools were built in the city, namely Ysgol Glan Morfa, Ysgol 

Hamadryad and Ysgol Glan Ceubal. 

 

The demand for Welsh-medium education has grown in Cardiff over the last ten 

years, Ysgol Mynydd Bychan wants to thank Cardiff Council for planning and 

accommodating this growth by opening and building new schools with some in new 

communities. We now ask for similar plans for the growth in the number of children 

in our Welsh-medium schools who need the best ALN provision in centres that will 

meet their needs. 

 

Page 781



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

We very much look forward to working with Cardiff County Council on any specific 

plans and targets that they have to develop ALN provision for pupils in Welsh 

medium schools. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Siân Evans 

Headteacher 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 

(on behalf of the Governing Body and staff at Ysgol Mynydd Bychan) 

  

Page 782



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Treganna – Governing Body 

 

 

Annwyl Gyfaill, 

 

I am writing on behalf of the governing body of Ysgol Treganna in response to the 

consultation on ALN. The governing body welcomes this investment in resources for 

some of our most vulnerable learners. There remain, however, some areas of 

concern : 

• This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary 

sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

• Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / families 

to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources 

are superior. 

• Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure 

parity of provision and full inclusion within WM schools. Limiting the 

investment to one sector will encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to the 

EM sector where the investment and resources are superior. 

• The documentation recognizes a clear growing need within the EM sector but 

not in the WM. Has the research been sufficiently thorough?  

• There is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being 

and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• Lack of space / classes in schools to establish nurture / wellbeing classes 

within most settings due to lack of spaces within WM schools 

 

The consultation does not recognise : 

• The lost opportunities of establishing new WM primary schools without due 

consideration and inclusion of ALN provision.  

• Clear need to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN 

support within the workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

• The comprehensive programme of specialist training opportunities needed 

within the WM sector. 

• The lack of autism support within the WM primary sector. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Denise Williams 

Chair of Governors  

Ysgol Treganna 

 

  

Page 783



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Coed y Gof  - Governing Body 

 

31.01.22 

 

Parthed: Ymgynghoriad ADY 

 

Rydym eisiau cofnodi ein hymateb fel Corff llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-

Gof. 

 

Rydym, fel Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof, yn cefnogi llwyr y 

buddsoddiad yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein cymunedau.    

Hoffem ganmol bwriad y Cyngor Sir i fuddsoddi yn y gynhaliaeth orau ac yn gritigol i 

dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau arbenigol mewn meysydd o alw clir.  Mae 

sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn creu capasiti arbenigol o ran adnoddau a'r 

gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn.  

 

Er hyn, hoffwn mynegi ein consyrn dwys am y diffyg darpariaeth arfaethedig 

Cymraeg ar gyfer ein disgyblion mwyaf bregus ac angehnus. 

 

Credwn bod yr ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd a thair canolfan 

arbenigol uwchradd. Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog 

teuluoedd / rhieni i symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r 

ddarpariaeth a'r buddsoddiad orau.  Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion 

y sector.  

 

Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg, sydd ddim yn adlewyrchiad cywir 

o’r sefyllfa o fewn ein hysgolion. 

 

Mae diffyg darpariaeth glir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i 

ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd).  Nid yw’r argymhellion yn mynd i’r afael a’r angen yma o 

gwbl. 

 

Yn ogystal, mae diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn 

sawl ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau 

addas. 

 

Collwyd cyfleoedd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY mewn ysgolion newydd 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y ddinas, ac mae angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau 

arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu.  Mae 

Page 784



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

angen rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

 

Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd, yn 

enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr uwchradd, yn yr 

argymhellion, ac mae angen cynllun mewn lle i sicrhau ein bod yn darparu addysg 

briodol ar gyfer pob unigolyn, a bod y ddarpariaeth ar gael yn y Gymraeg.   

 

Nid yw’r Corff yn teimlo bod yr Awdurdod Lleol yn cyd-ymffurfio a gofynion y Ddeddf 

Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a’r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) o ran darpariaeth ADY 

sydd yn datgan: “Bydd yn ddyletswydd ar awdurdodau lleol i gymryd pob cam 

rhesymol i sicrhau darpariaeth Gymraeg lle mae’n ofynnol ac, wrth adolygu CDUau, i 

ystyried digonolrwydd y ddarpariaeth ddysgu ychwanegol Gymraeg”. O ganlyn, gall 

hwn arwain at gynnydd yn anghydfod rhwng yr Awdurdod a rhieni, a chynnydd yn y 

nifer o achosion tribiwnlys oherwydd diffyg darpariaeth yn y Gymraeg. 

 

Mae Fforwm ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg Caerdydd yn awyddus iawn i sefydlu 

partneriaeth agos rhwng y sector ac arweinyddiaeth yr ALl i ganfod datrysiadau 

creadigol ac ymarferol i'r heriau hyn.  Gallai'r datrysiadau rhain esblygu'n arfer 

rhagorol ar gyfer y dyfodol.   

 

Hoffwn i’r Cyngor Sir ail-ystyried yr argymhellion ac i gymryd ymlaen argymhellion yr 

adroddiad CSGA, yn ogystal â’r pwyntiau uchod, i sicrhau darpariaeth addas a theg i 

ddysgwyr Cymraeg y ddinas. 

 

Yn gywir 

 

Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 

 

 

 

31.01.22 

 

Re: ALN Consultation 

 

As the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof, we would like to record our 

response proposed ALN provision in Cardiff. 

 

As the Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof we fully support the 

investment in provision for the most vulnerable pupils in our communities. We would 

like to commend the County Council's intention to invest in the best support and, 

critically, to grow the expertise of specialist staff and centres in areas of clear 

demand. Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and workforce 

capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

Page 785



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Nevertheless, we wish to express our deep concern at the proposed lack of Welsh 

language provision for our most vulnerable and needy pupils. 

 

We believe that this consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff 

WESP consultation, which recommends the opening of three primary specialist 

centres and three secondary specialist centres. Investing in one sector only (English) 

encourages families / parents to move ALN children to an English medium sector 

where provision and investment is superior. There is a need to invest in the Welsh-

medium sector in order to ensure equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's 

schools.  

 

The ALN needs of pupils in the primary Welsh-medium sector need an up-to-date 

and timely audit. The documentation indicates an increasing need within the English-

medium sector, but NOT in the Welsh-medium sector, which is not an accurate 

reflection of the situation within our schools. 

 

There is a lack of clear provision for emotional health and wellbeing and behaviour 

within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 pupils (who have needs beyond 

mainstream provision). The recommendations do not address this need at all. 

 

In addition, many schools lack the space / rooms for welfare / nurture classes due to 

the popularity of Welsh-medium education and the lack of suitable placements. 

 

Opportunities to expand ALN provision and resources in new-build Welsh-medium 

schools in the city have been missed, and investment is needed in specialist centres 

to create Welsh-medium ALN capacity within the workforce. A rich training program 

is needed to drive specialist ALN training within the Welsh-medium workforce at all 

levels. 

 

There is a clear lack of consideration of needs of children with autism within the 

primary sector, and for the establishment of a secondary autism specialist centre, in 

the recommendations. The plan needs to ensure that we provide appropriate 

education for each individual, and that provision is available in Welsh. 

 

The Governing Body does not feel that the Local Authority complies with the 

requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 

with regard to ALN provision which states: "Local authorities will have a duty to take 

all reasonable steps to ensure Welsh language provision where required and, in 

reviewing IDPs, to consider the adequacy of Welsh additional learning provision ”. As 

a result, this may lead to an increase in disputes between the Authority and parents, 

and an increase in the number of tribunal cases due to a lack of Welsh language 

provision. 

 

The Cardiff Welsh-medium Schools Forum is very keen to establish a close 

partnership between the sector and LA leadership to find creative and practical 

Page 786



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

solutions to these challenges. These solutions could evolve into excellent practice for 

the future. 

 

We would like the County Council to reconsider the recommendations and take 

forward the recommendations of the WESP report, in addition to the above points, to 

ensure suitable and equitable provision for the city's Welsh learners. 

 

Sincerely 

 

The Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 

  

Page 787



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr – School and Governing Body 

 

21st January 2022 

 

To whom it may concern 

 

As a school we would like to respond to the ALN Consultation regarding provision 

across the city.  We are delighted to see the increase in capacity and the significant 

funding which will hugely benefit our most vulnerable learners in Cardiff. It is 

welcomed and to be celebrated that there is such an increase in the number of 

special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3 – 19 with 

complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions.  

 

Whilst we welcome wholeheartedly the plans to establish a 30 place Specialist 

Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place 

SRB from Sept 2023 for Autistic Spectrum Disorder, we have concerns that the 

consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's 

ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary sector and a 

further three SRB’s in the Secondary sector. 

 

As a Welsh medium setting we feel that the consultation gives the impression that 

there is considerably more investment in the English Medium Sector which 

potentially deters families with children with Additional Needs from considering 

Welsh Medium provision.  We have had incidents in Plasmawr where parents or 

families decide to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and 

resources are superior.  We feel as a board of governors that considerable 

investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity of 

provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  

 

As a school we would welcome working with the local Authority in ensuring that we 

have an accurate picture of needs in our Welsh Medium schools and ensure that 

appropriate provision is available for all learners.   

 

As a priority we would be particularly interested in working with the LEA to look at 

how children with Emotional Health and Wellbeing difficulties are supported within 

the WM sector and are interested in looking at a structure within the Welsh-medium 

sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 who, potentially, may have needs that cannot be met in 

a mainstream setting.  As a school we benefited hugely from working with the LEA in 

2016 in establishing out Nurture provision within the school.  This was supported by 

the LEA but we have also invested significantly in staffing the provision appropriately 

as a school.  Moving forward we firmly believe that all Welsh Medium school should 

be supported in creating a similar provision to meet the needs of the majority of 

stage 4 –5 pupils.  We are acutely aware that the greatest hurdle in ensuring this 

provision is physical space and funding within the Welsh Medium sector.  However, 

we feel that in building new sites for the Court School and Greenhill, it is absolutely 

Page 788



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

crucial that an element of Welsh Medium provision is within the school enabling 

pupils who can no longer access WM education in the mainstream to have their 

education partly through the medium of Welsh. 

 

As a school we firmly believe that there is a lack of specialist training opportunities 

within the WM sector due to the absence of more SRB provisions.  Despite 

celebrating the new ASD SRB in Glantaf, we are concerned that the increasing need 

in the Primary sector has not been fully explored.  A clear need to invest in specialist 

bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce seems crucial at 

the moment.  A rich programme of specialist training opportunities is needed within 

the WM sector. 

 

As a school we continue to be eager to continue with our collaborative work with the 

LEA leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these 

challenges, which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

JOHN HAYES  CATRIN PALLOT  BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

Headteacher   Deputy Headteacher 

  

Page 789



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Cardiff Governors Association 

 

Good afternoon, 

 

As Chair of Cardiff Governors Association, I write to offer my full support for the 

current SOP plans for extending ALN provision within the city. Obviously, each 

individual Chair of Governors involved will represent the views of their own governing 

body. 

 

There is a clear and defined need for more ALN provision across all areas of the city. 

This will only rise over time. My main concern going forward is meeting this 

increased need in a strategic and holistic way. Patently the closer to home 

appropriate and best provision on an individual basis is, the better for all 

stakeholders, especially the children and young people at the heart of all we do. It is 

vital the LA align the replacement Local Development Plan with SOP proposals to 

ensure that the correct, user-friendly, infrastructure is in place before we are 

expecting the implementation of new school places. Habits, once formed, are very 

hard to change. We need to balance meeting the rights of all our children and young 

people, in line with UNCRC and FGWBA with other corporate goals such as One 

Planet Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child Friendly City status. 

 

Cardiff Governors Association works hard with governor colleagues across the city to 

raise issues and concerns for us all to consider and urges colleagues to participate 

in discussion and consultation exercises and consider the broader city-wide and 

Wales-wide landscape within education. We will continue to collaborate with the LA 

to be a critical friend. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Karen Dell’Armi 

 

  

Page 790



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Merched y Wawr 

 

Annwyl Swyddog,  

 

Ymgynghoriad Cyngor Caerdydd ar ADY 

 

Diolch yn fawr am yr ymgynghoriad ar y cynllun ADY a diolch am y cyfle i ymateb.  

 

Rydym yn falch o weld y sylw i wella y ddarpariaeth ac rydym yn cefnogi yn llwyr 

eich ymrwymiad i gynyddu’r buddsoddiad ar gyfer disgyblion mwyaf bregus ein 

cymunedau. Rhaid hefyd canmol yr ymrwymiad i dyfu arbenigedd staff a chael 

cyfuniad gwell o ganolfannau arbenigol ac hefyd unedau o fewn ysgolion prif-ffrwd 

ledled y ddinas. Mae hyn yn bwysig.  

 

Yr hyn sydd fodd bynnag yn destun pryder, wrth ddarllen y ddogfen ymgynghoriad, 

yw’r diffyg sylw digonol i gynyddu y ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae hyn yn fater 

o ofid mawr i rieni a theuluoedd sydd yn dymuno i’w plant gael addysg cyfrwng 

Cymraeg. 

 

Mae’r ddogfen yn cyflwyno model ble mae buddsoddiad cynyddol yn y sector 

cyfrwng Saesneg ond heb yr un cynnydd yn y ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae 

hynny yn creu sefyllfa sydd yn gorfodi teuluoedd i symud plant gydag anghenion 

dysgu ychwanegol i ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg ble mae darpariaeth gwell, gan 

achosi straen ac anghyfartaledd ychwanegol ar deuluoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae 

hyn yn groes i amcanion y Llywodraeth ac hefyd yn groes i argymhellion 

ymgynghoriad CSGA/WESP Caerdydd.  

 

Rhaid buddsoddi yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg hefyd er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a di-rwystr sydd wir yn dangos tystiolaeth o bolisi cynhwysol.  

 

Mater o syndod oedd gweld mai data am yr ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg yn unig a 

gafwyd yn y ddogfen ac nad oedd unrhyw gyfeiriad at ddata y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg. Argymhellir, felly, bod gwaith yn cael ei wneud ar unwaith i gasglu data 

ynglŷn ag anghenion a phrofiadau plant yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg cynradd a bod 

hyn yn cael ei gyflwyno a’i drin fel rhan o’r gwaith ymgynghori a chynllunio. Ar hyn o 

bryd nid yw’r profiadau yma yn cael eu hadlewyrchu yn y ddogfen ac eto mae 

anghyfartaledd dybryd yn wynebu plant ag anghenion addysg ychwanegol sy’n 

dewis addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg – diffyg lle, diffyg adnoddau, diffyg darpariaeth 

arbenigol. Collwyd cyfleoedd enfawr gan Gaerdydd i beidio cryfhau y cyfleoedd a’r 

ddarpariaeth yn yr ysgolion cynradd newydd cyfrwng Cymraeg a sicrhau cyfleoedd 

hafal ar draws y ddinas. Wrth sefydlu canolfannau awtistiaeth ar gyfer y sector 

uwchradd rhaid hefyd cynllunio ar gyfer gwell darpariaeth ar gyfer awtistiaeth yn y 

sector cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

 

Page 791



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

Mae’n bwysig sicrhau rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog cyfrwng Cymraeg i’r staff cyfredol 

ac i ddenu athrawon a gweithwyr arbenigol cyfrwng Cymraeg, gan gynnwys sicrhau 

mwy o ddarpariaeth ar y cyrsiau seicoleg proffesiynol.  

 

Gobeithiwn yn fawr y byddwch yn ystyried o ddifrif y sylwadau hyn wrth i chi fireinio y 

dystiolaeth ac wrth gynllunio ar gyfer darpariaeth addysg anghenion ychwanegol sy’n 

rhan o’ch ymrwymiad i Gaerdydd ble mae’r Gymraeg yn fyw ac yn rhan o bob elfen o 

bolisi.  

 

Yn ddiffuant  

 

Dr Rosina Davies (Cadeirydd Cangen Caerdydd Merched y Wawr) 

 

 

Dear Officer,  

 

Cardiff Council's consultation on ALN 

 

Thank you very much for the consultation on the ALN scheme and thank you for the 

opportunity to respond.  

 

We are pleased to see the attention to improving provision and fully support your 

commitment to increasing investment for the most vulnerable pupils in our 

communities. The commitment to growing staff expertise and having a better 

combination of specialist centres and also units within mainstream schools across 

the city is also to be commended. This is important.  

 

What is worrying however, when reading the consultation document, is the lack of 

adequate attention to increase Welsh-medium provision. This is a matter of great 

distress to parents and families who wish their children to receive Welsh-medium 

education. 

 

The document presents a model where there is increased investment in the English-

medium sector but without the same increase in Welsh-medium provision. That 

creates a situation that forces families to move children with additional learning 

needs to English-medium schools where there is better provision, causing additional 

stress and inequality on Welsh-medium families. This is contrary to the 

Government's objectives and also contrary to the recommendations of the Cardiff’s 

WESP consultation.  

 

Investment must also be made in the Welsh-medium sector to ensure equal and 

barrier-free provision that truly shows evidence of inclusive policy.  

 

It was surprising to see that the document contained only data on the English-

medium schools and that there was no reference to Welsh-medium sector data. It is 

Page 792



COMPLEX LEARNING NEEDS AND AUTISM SPECTRUM CONDITION 

PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGE PUPILS  - Appendix 6 – 

Formal responses received 
 

recommended, therefore, that work is undertaken immediately to collect data on the 

needs and experiences of children in the primary Welsh-medium sector and that this 

is introduced and treated as part of the consultation and planning work. At present 

these experiences are not reflected in the document and yet there is a serious 

disparity facing children with additional education needs who choose Welsh-medium 

education – lack of space, lack of resources, lack of specialist provision. Cardiff 

missed huge opportunities to strengthen the opportunities and provision in the new 

Welsh-medium primary schools and to ensure equal opportunities across the city. In 

establishing autism centres for the secondary sector there must also be planning for 

better provision for autism in the Welsh-medium primary sector.  

 

It is important to ensure a rich Welsh-medium training programme for current staff 

and to attract Welsh-medium teachers and specialist workers, including securing 

more provision on the professional psychology courses.  

 

We very much hope that you will take these comments seriously as you refine the 

evidence and when planning for additional needs education provision that is part of 

your commitment to Cardiff where the Welsh language is alive and part of all 

elements of policy.  

 

Sincerely  

Dr Rosina Davies (Chair of Merched y Wawr’s Cardiff Branch) 

 

 

Page 793



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 

 

Summary of the responses received an appraisal of views expressed 

1. The points of view received as part of the consultation are set out in italics 

below and have been grouped according to the points raised where 

appropriate.   

 

2. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath, under the 

heading “Appraisal of views expressed.” 

 

Responses received for Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

provision 

 

3. Formal responses were received from: 

 Estyn  

 Moorland Primary School Governing Body 

 Moorland Primary School Headteacher  

 
Estyn 

4. A response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full 

response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 The council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It refers to the 

fact that the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a 

place in a special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow 

in recent years. In addition, it asserts that the location of SRBs and wellbeing 

classes is not well distributed across the city.  

 

 It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard 

of education provision in the area. However, there are ways in which this 

proposal could be strengthened. 

 

 The council intends to incorporate providing accommodation for the SRB as 

part of the planned redevelopment works at Moorland primary school. This 

appears to be a fair and appropriate approach. 

 

 The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be 

funded. However, it lacks any significant information that details whether 

any savings will be made as a result of the proposal. For example, through 

a reduction in numbers of pupils being placed out of county. The council has 

provided sufficiently detailed descriptions of the proposal and the projected 

timetable for statutory procedures. However, there is no indication of 

Page 795



timescales for implementation of the proposal, and any proposed interim 

arrangements, which might be necessary for their implementation 

 

 The council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages 

of the proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of 

specialist resource places for primary aged learners with complex learning 

needs to contribute towards meeting projected demand and that some 

pupils would have shorter travel distances to access specialist provision. 

The potential disadvantages include the difficulties faced by some ALN 

pupils due to the changes and the potential for increased traffic congestion. 

The council has outlined mitigation measures to address the potential 

disadvantages. These appear to be fair and reasonable. In addition, the 

council has identified one risk related to development constraints associated 

with the proposed changes and appear to have sufficient mitigation to 

address this risk if needed. 

 

 The council has sufficiently considered the impact of the proposal on travel 

arrangements. The proposed SRB on the site of Moorland Primary School 

would reduce the distance travelled to school for children in Adamsdown 

and Splott who require placement in an SRB and who currently travel to 

other areas of the city. As there would be a small number of children arriving 

by free home to school transport, the council intends that appropriate 

facilities for drop-off and pick-up will be provided as part of the proposals. 

The council iterates that there are no planned changes to the council’s 

policies on admission arrangements and learner travel arrangements. 

 

 The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been 

carried out and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not 

negatively affect a particular group in society. However, no details of this 

assessment have been provided.  

 

 The council states that a community impact assessment has been 

undertaken for these proposals and provides a link to this assessment. 

However, there is no such document at this link. Also, no comment is made 

as to the findings from this community impact assessment.  

 

 The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal 

on Welsh medium provision within the local authority or how this the 

proposal would support the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks generally about Welsh medium 

education in Cardiff and references some Welsh medium schools. It is 

unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh speaking pupils 

with ALN. 

 

 The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on 

standards, teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance 

and leadership and management. It has concluded that the proposal is not 

Page 796



expected to have any negative impact on standards of education or teaching 

and learning experiences. In addition, it intends to work with the leadership 

of the school to help improve and sustain support, care and guidance and 

ensure that changes are planned carefully so that leadership and 

governance are not disrupted. 

 

 The council states that the proposal is not expected to have any negative 

impact on the quality of standards of education or the delivery of the 

foundation phase and each key stage of education at the school as a result 

of the proposed changes. This seems to be fair and reasonable.  

 

 The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on 

vulnerable groups of pupils including those who have ALN, those who 

receive free school meals and those who have English as an additional 

language. It has stated that those who have ALN would be supported to 

enable them to adapt to the changes proposed and that there is no 

information available to suggest that the proposals would have a negative 

effect on the other vulnerable groups of pupils.  

 

 The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential 
disruption to pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more 
generally about ensuring that the curriculum continues to be delivered and 
that high education and safety standards are maintained. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
5. The Council acknowledges the conclusions of Estyn on the overall merits of 

the proposals. 

 

6. The Moorland Early Years Unit is to be partly funded by a Welsh Government 

Flying Start grant, with the remainder to be funded from the Education Asset 

Renewal budget with additional funding to be made available through the Invest 

to Save allocation of the capital budget for schools. 

 

 

7. Whilst there are a number of existing specialist settings across Cardiff, there 

are not enough places available. The number of children who would benefit 

from a place is projected to increase over coming years. As there are not 

enough special school places in Cardiff, the Council has also funded some 

places at special schools in other Council areas or in independent schools. The 

total spend on these places was £6.3m in 2020/21. The budget for 2021/22 for 

these types of places is currently set at £7.3m. 

 

 

8. The establishment of additional provision within Cardiff will allow for children to 

be educated closer to home and to maintain links with their local communities.  

Page 797



The proposals consulted on represent a significant capital and revenue 

investment which will be partly funded by a reduction in out of county costs. 

 

9. Following discussions with the school it has been agreed that subject to the 

proposals being determined to proceed, the proposed start date for the new 

provision would be put back to September 2023.  This would allow sufficient 

time for the necessary building works to be completed and for staffing 

arrangements to be progressed. 

 

10. The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the Welsh-

medium sector has historically been lower than in the English medium sector. 

This has however been changing over the last 4-5 years, with schools reporting 

an increased incidence of additional learning needs, in all areas of need.  

 

11. A review of additional learning needs in the Welsh-medium sector was 

undertaken with Welsh medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Schools reported a small but significant 

number of examples of pupils with additional learning needs leaving the Welsh-

medium sector in order to access specialist resource bases or special schools.  

 

12. There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families who 

would otherwise choose Welsh-medium education opt instead for English 

medium if their child has additional learning needs, through concern that their 

child may need to transfer to the specialist sector at a later date.  

 

13. Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the sector, 

including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to generate more 

confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the sector. 

 

14. A new primary base was established at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, within the 

catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, where the secondary base is 

established. The two bases cater for learners with severe learning difficulties, 

providing a specialist curriculum and supporting a range of secondary needs 

including physical and medical needs, speech and language difficulties and 

autism.  

 

15. As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop additional 

provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh-medium education is a 

genuine choice for learners with complex additional learning needs. 

 

16. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh Education 

Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its draft Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 October 2021 and 13 

December 2021.  

 

17. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary version 

and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were circulated to statutory 

Page 798



stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s Welsh Education Forum 

member organisations.  

 

18. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-medium 

additional learning needs provision and proposals would be brought forward as 

part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 

following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh Government and formal 

adoption by the Council later in 2022.  

 

19. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including new 

and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals are brought 

forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account the needs of all 

of our learners and reflects the additionality required to ensure parity in the 

Welsh-medium sector as new places are delivered throughout the proposed 

WESP. 

 

20. The Council has significant experience in the successful delivery of building 

projects on the sites of occupied schools as a result of progressing a large and 

growing school organisation programme.  

 

21. Any building work carried out would be managed effectively in consultation with 
the school to ensure that the curriculum continues to be delivered and that high 
education standards and safety standards are maintained. 

 
Governing Body of Moorland Primary School  
 
22. The Moorland Primary School Governing Body submitted their response via 

email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 Moorland Primary School Governing Body welcomes the opportunity to help 
improve and increase the availability of access to specialist environments 
to help meet the needs of children and young people with additional learning 
needs. Moorland prides itself in its inclusive ethos and understands 
providing an appropriate environment for children with additional learning 
needs will help them thrive and become the best that they can be. The 
addition of a Specialist Resource Base within Moorland Primary is 
welcomed by the Governing Body and would be a positive addition to this 
area of Cardiff where often children with additional learning needs have long 
travel times to get to school. 

 

 We feel strongly that in order to facilitate a smooth transition for children and 
families and to limit unnecessary disruption to all learners, KS2 learners 
within the planned allocation of SRB places, should begin their journey with 
Moorland once building work is complete in the main building.  Foundation 
stage learners should join us once the new build early years unit is 
complete. Although we acknowledge there is a pressure for foundation 
stage ALN places we feel it will be very disruptive to the children and families 
to have two learning environment moves. We also feel strongly that all 
foundation phase children should have easy direct access to the outside 

Page 799



environment and the new build will achieve this for all our foundation stage 
children. It is important to us that the families of our new children feel 
confident and the children can settle as quickly as possible and become part 
of the Moorland family. 

 

 As part of this we want to ensure we have as smooth a transition as possible 
and will require funding in a timely manner in order to recruit appropriate 
staff regardless of any potential delays in building completion. This would 
need to include funding for a teacher to begin at Moorland for the second 
half of the summer term if the initial SRB class is to begin in September 
2022. As a Governing Body we would want assurances the funding for 
additional places for the SRB and any other associated costs are 'ring-
fenced' and in addition to our allocated budget not through making savings 
within it. 

 

 As a school we are keen to promote active travel and improvements to 
active travel routes would benefit all our children and community. We look 
forward to working with the council to achieve these improvements and 
make journeys to school safer and greener for us all. Our particular concern 
lies with the lack of safe pedestrian crossing at the Moorland Road entrance 
to the school. All pupils are faced with crossing a wide road with no 
pedestrian crossing or crossing between closely parked cars, neither of 
which is desirable and would be an added concern for ALN children joining 
us, particularly as they may not necessarily be arriving in cars/taxis if they 
live locally. As the SRB is proposed to open in September 2022 we would 
be keen for these measures to be planned and implemented in a timely 
manner in order to facilitate a smooth transition for our new pupils, 
encourage active safe travel and in turn help make Cardiff a greener, safer 
child friendly city. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

23. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

24. Issues related to disruption are addressed at paragraph(s) 19 - 21. 

 

25. The Council will support the school with transition planning.  The specialist 

resource base would be fully funded and separate from mainstream funding 

which would be protected.  This would ensure the school is able to employ 

suitably qualified and experienced staff at the appropriate time.   

 

26. Some pupils in the Specialist Resource Base would qualify for free school 

transport and facilities for drop-off would be provided for this small number of 

vehicles.      

 

27. The Council commends the school’s desire to promote active travel and make 

the school safer. The proposals will include measures already identified by a 

Page 800



Transport Statement to maximise active and sustainable travel to improve 

conditions for pedestrians near the school.   

 

 

28. A review of parking and loading restrictions and the provision of a School Street 

on both the adjacent streets would improve safety by discouraging access by 

other vehicles and reducing congestion, parking and safety issues.      

 

29. Further measures to encourage pedestrian and other active travel access will 

be provided with improvements to footways, crossings and access through the 

park.   

 

Moorland Primary School Headteacher  

30. The Moorland Primary School Headteacher submitted their response via 

email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 As Headteacher of Moorland Primary School I welcome the opportunity to 
develop a specialist resource base in the school and recognise the need for 
such provision in this part of the city. We will work to ensure the base will 
offer high quality provision for children with additional needs and to ensure 
that the base becomes fully included in the life of the school. 

 

 Firstly, I am concerned about the proposal to use the room planned for KS2 
provision for children in the Foundation Phase initially. The room is 
unsuitable for younger learners given it is upstairs and some distance from 
the outdoor provision we will need to enable children to access the 
Foundation Phase curriculum. The room is situated along a corridor and 
upstairs and sits between the Years 5 and 6 classrooms. I am also 
concerned about Foundation Phase children starting in this room and then 
having to make a transition to the new building once it is complete, 
especially if this transition is mid-year. This will be disruptive and very 
difficult for children and their families. 

 

 Secondly, I am keen to ensure that the opening of the resource base is well 
planned and arranged in a timely fashion. It will be important for the school 
to have sufficient notice to employ staff. I feel the school also needs a 
guarantee on funding in the situation of a member of staff being employed 
in advance of the base opening and then being delayed. The school should 
not be liable for staffing costs in the case of delays. 

 

 Thirdly, it is important that the increase in funding given to the school to 
house the resource base recognizes the considerable additional work load 
of ensuring twenty children with complex needs are included effectively in 
the school. The expansion represents a considerable increase in workload 
for the ALNCO in school and for the senior leadership team. 

 

 Fourthly, I have concerns about the classroom chosen for the KS2 resource 
base. The current plan seems to involve blocking off a significant amount of 

Page 801



light to create a wet room and resource room. This will leave the classroom 
with only one small window which will make this a very dark classroom.  

 

 Finally, I would like to be reassured that the transport arrangements are very 
thoroughly considered. There is already considerable concern about the 
number of cars, taxies and a school bus that drop off outside the school. 
There is at present no safe crossings near the school and with a proposed 
increase in vehicles this is something that needs to be carefully considered. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

31. The Council welcomes the Headteacher’s support for the proposal. 

 

32. Issues related to planning and transition are addressed at paragraphs 19 – 21 

and 25. 

 

33. Issues related to funding are addressed at paragraph 25. 

 

34. Issues related to Moorland Primary School transport arrangements are 

addressed at paragraph(s) 27 – 29. 

 

Responses received regarding the establishment of 11-19 Complex Learning 

Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Specialist Resource Base provision 

during the consultation period  

 

35. Formal responses were received from: 

 

 Estyn   

 Willows High School Governing Body  

 Llanishen High School Governing Body 

 Llanishen High School Headteacher 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf Governing Body and Headteacher 
 
Estyn 

36. A response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full 

response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 We welcome this proposal which sits alongside others and aim to achieve 
a more equitable provision to better meet the current and future additional 
learning needs of pupils, across the City. 

 

 We consider that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of 
education provision in the area. 

 

 The proposals outline very clearly five broad principles that all schools and 
settings should aspire to and attain in effectively supporting pupils with 
additional learning needs… It is not clear however, if there is an overall 

Page 802



framework that will help to ensure the realisation of the principles. An overall 
framework could be used also to guide and assist schools that are either 
establishing or developing specialist resource base provision. Neither is it 
clear what support or networks exist, or will be created, to support leaders 
and staff as they develop and embed effective practices in meeting the 
needs of pupils.  

 

 The proposer states that a joint review of health and specialist provision in 
Cardiff special schools and the pupil referral units is being carried out. 
However, it is not clear if the scope and outcomes of the review will benefit 
pupils in specialist resource bases across the city. Neither is it clear if the 
review will look at Welsh medium provision alongside English medium 
provision.  

 

 The proposal gives appropriate attention to the current capacity and how it 
is unable to meet the demands for places for pupils with complex learning 
needs and autism spectrum condition and the deficit of places currently 
available. 

 

 The proposer defines specialist resource bases as “a small class in a 
mainstream school for pupils with significant additional learning needs. All 
pupils attending a specialist resource base have a statement of SEN and 
are taught by specialist teachers and learning support assistants, and have 
opportunities to learn, play or socialise with other mainstream pupils…” It is 
unclear from the definition whether pupils, where appropriate, can access, 
with appropriate support where necessary, lessons alongside pupils that do 
not attend the specialist resource base. To comply with the Additional 
Learning Needs and Education Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer needs to 
consider the admission of pupils with individual development plans. 

 

 The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 
organisations, and members of the public to respond. This includes 
opportunities to access online public meetings. The process is clearly set 
out with timescales and how the consultation will be used.  

 

 Statements made by the proposer for all schools about for example, 
teaching and learning experience and care, support and guidance are 
identical and do not provide a good enough account of how these are 
tailored to meet the specific additional learning needs of the pupils.  

 

 The proposal considers suitable alternatives, for all schools, and outlines 
the possible benefits and disadvantages appropriately.  

 

 The proposals consider appropriately the travel implications for pupils. All 
proposals foresee the likelihood of reducing travel time from home to school 
for some pupils. They also identify the need to further assess the suitability 
of drop-off and pick up point at each school site.  

 

Page 803



 The overall proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language but 
does not reflect the ambition laid out in the local authority’s draft Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan 2022-2032. The plan states that the authority aims 
to increase the number of secondary specialist places to be delivered in an 
SRB located at each Welsh-medium high school with different specialist 
needs in each base to achieve a level of specialist provision that is on a par 
with other sectors and responds appropriately to individual need. This 
proposal does not address this particular aim sufficiently well. 

 

 The proposer states that there is an opportunity to employ specialist staff 
and to work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff. However, no 
further detail is provided and there is no guarantee that the opportunity will 
translate into a firm commitment or reality. The proposer further states that 
the pool of Welsh speaking ALN qualified and experienced teaching staff is 
limited in number, in comparison to the English sector. It goes on to state 
that any plan to develop Welsh medium specialist provision will need to be 
supported by an Additional Learning Needs Workforce Development Plan 
but lacks any detail or commitment about how this will come about. 

 

 The proposer correctly asserts that pupils with additional learning needs 
may find change difficult. Other than recognising that change needs to be 
carefully planned, information on transition planning is very limited. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

37. The Council acknowledges the conclusions of Estyn on the overall merits of 

the proposals. 

 

38. The broad principles outlined in the consultation document reflect the approach 

the Council takes when developing ALN provision. 

 

39. The Council provides a range of support to specialist settings including 

specialist staff, CPD support for staff to development, ALNCO forums, cluster 

ALNCO meetings, termly additional learning needs updates for Headteachers 

and regular updates for governing bodies. 

 

40. The Council is currently working with the Health board to review services. This 

review will include consideration of specialist resource base provision in 

addition to special school provision 

 

41. Pupils attending specialist resource base provision benefit from specialist 

curriculum which is tailored to meet their needs.  However, where appropriate 

pupils access mainstream provision. 

 

42. In line with the requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education 

Tribunal [Wales] Act, the transition to individual development plans is being 

progressed. 

 

Page 804



43. Issues related to Welsh-medium provision are addressed at paragraphs 10 – 

19. 

 

44. The Council continues to work with schools to identify appropriate transition 

arrangements for pupils with additional learning needs.  These arrangements 

are dependent on individual need and are progressed as required.  This support 

includes the provision/timing of funding, support with the recruitment and 

training of staff, the identification of needs and ongoing reviews. 

 
Governing Body of Willows High School  

45. The Willows High School Governing Body submitted their response via email.  

(A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 We welcome the Councils objective of bringing this provision close to the 
pupils who will access it and live locally. 

 

 We welcome commitment from the Council that the day to day management 
and resourcing of the facility will not impact on the rest of the school but 
would like further clarification on ring fenced funding for the provision. 

 

 Cardiff’s objective of providing complex learning needs provision across the 
city and in specialist resource bases will have a really positive impact on the 
pupils involved and we welcome this.  

 

 This provision would be best introduced as part of the new Willows buildings 
as, despite the published PAN number there is insufficient space in the 
school. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

46. The Council acknowledges the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

47. The specialist resource base would be fully funded and separate from 

mainstream funding which would be protected.  

 

48. The Council is working with the school to identify suitable accommodation for 

the specialist resource base.  Admissions to the base by the Council would be 

phased, and the school would not therefore require accommodation for 30 

learners at the time of implementation. 

 

49. If the proposal proceeds to implementation, the Council would work with the 
school to develop a better understanding of the specialist resource base 
provision across the wider school community. 

 
Governing Body of Llanishen High School  
 
50. The Llanishen High School Governing Body submitted their response via 

email. (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

Page 805



 Following our consultation meeting with officers on 17th January, as Chair 
of the Governing Body, I can confirm our support of the plans to formalise 
the extended provision offered currently within the Specialist Resource 
Base to 45 students at Llanishen High. 

 

 We are already ensuring appropriate staffing and have considered all health 
and safety aspects of integration into daily routines and school life at 
Llanishen. We have already considered our active travel plans and 
incorporated this provision. We do however, have some concerns over the 
drop off and pick up area as well as the knock on impact on on-site parking. 
Many of these pupils will require dropping off and picking up by designated 
transport, often on a 1:1 basis. As such, our overall school transport and 
forecourt area will require a redesign to be fit for purpose and safe for all 
users, especially the SRB students. 

 

 We have excellent provision and are open to opening up this resource city-
wide for the benefit of all students, we just need to ensure health and safety 
is paramount as is the ease of transition – managing change can be difficult 
for these students and their families. As a fully inclusive local 
comprehensive school, we would want to serve the needs of the local 
community first and foremost. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

51. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

52. With the potential increased demand for Learner Transport for Specialist 

Resource Base pupils, the site would be reviewed to ensure suitable and 

sufficient facilities for drop-off and pick-up are provided within the site to 

accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles and improvements made if 

necessary.  Modifications may also be needed to the school access.   

 

Governing Body and Headteacher of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 

53. The Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf Governing Body and Headteacher 

submitted their response via email. (A copy of the full response can be seen 

at Appendix 6) 

 We welcome the publication of the documentation of Cardiff City and County 
Council's consultation on plans to increase and improve specialist education 
resources across the city.  This is an investment for vulnerable learners and 
those who already face significant challenges in life that the council can be 
truly proud of.  In addition, I would agree entirely that the demand for these 
specialist provision to more complex needs, particularly within mental health 
and emotional well-being needs, has increased very noticeably in recent 
years.   

 

 The County Council's ambition and aspiration to respond to need and 
growth are to be fully embraced by ensuring the best possible places and 

Page 806



environment in 21st Century Schools.  By taking this approach, the Council 
promotes inclusion, care and ambition for pupils and families facing practical 
and complex challenges. We as a body would be pleased to see these 
schemes significantly alleviate and support those individuals in the coming 
years.   

 

 We welcome this investment in the Centre, which will secure resources and 
a dedicated centre for our learners for the future.  However, the timetable is 
too ambitious, and it is highly unlikely that the new Centre will be open by 
September 2023.  We ask for practical support to improve the resources of 
our existing Centre to meet the needs of our pupils until the new Centre is 
open.  This is particularly the case for ensuring that we will be able to 
welcome and deliver appropriate provision for new learners in September 
2022 and 2023. 

 

 Despite the intention to establish this Centre as a first step, we believe that 
failing to establish a similar centre for primary age pupils through the 
medium of Welsh is a fundamental weakness.  It is likely to weaken our 
ability to ensure a consistent and caring learning pathway for autistic pupils 
from the Foundation Phase through KS2 and to the secondary specialist 
department.  We fear that many autistic pupils will leave the Welsh-medium 
sector in the early years because of this deficiency.  The establishment of a 
specialist primary age Centre to provide this key support in the early years 
in order support learners and their families should be looked at very soon.  
This would be similar to the autistic support that already exists within the 
English-medium primary sector in Cardiff. 

 

 Whilst as a Governing Body we welcome the investment in both Centres, 
the capacity of our existing campus and buildings needs close attention.  As 
noted in the consultation, the suitability of the Glantaf buildings falls within 
Category C (although the Glantaf Centre on its own would likely fall within 
Category D).  This shows that adaptations to existing buildings at Glantaf 
are unlikely to be a value for money investment, nor are they likely to be 
effective considering the school’s current population and predicted 
numbers.  The Authority's plans note that the numbers at Glantaf will still be 
under capacity in the coming years, but this is unlikely. 

 

 We therefore make it clear that this consultation should ensure sufficient 
investment not to reduce the capacity of existing school buildings, but rather 
to extend and expand our facilities and resources.   

 

 In welcoming the investment, we appreciate that the construction will mean 
the loss of a play area/football pitch and therefore note that the existing 
learning areas of the school should not be restricted as well.  In addition the 
investment in specialist education should also be a means of improving and 
expanding resources for all pupils, by ensuring that there is easy access to 
share resources and ensure the benefit of the investment to all members of 
the Glantaf community. 

 

Page 807



 The consultation states a genuine ambition to improve specialist ALN 
facilities for all pupils. It is therefore extremely disappointing that there is no 
statement (with the exception of Glantaf's investment) to extend provision 
and support to pupils within Welsh-medium schools. 

 

 Indeed this is strange given that the Cardiff WESP consultation indicates an 
intention to open an ALN Specialist Centre in three Welsh-medium primary 
schools and in all three comprehensive schools.  The publication of strategic 
documentation that does not show consistency of direction in the area of 
Welsh language development creates confusion and undermines the trust 
of stakeholders. 

 

 We would like to propose that county officers conduct an early audit of every 
pupil's initial school within Cardiff's specialist units and schools at this time.  
This would ascertain the percentage of pupils who started their learning 
journey in a Welsh-medium nursery or school before parents chose or had 
to move their child to English-medium or specialist education.  We fear that 
many parents have to face practical pressures to transfer their child from 
Welsh-medium education because of a shortfall in resources or expertise, 
which then reduces opportunities and experiences for their son/daughter 
through the medium of Welsh.   Such an analysis would be a valuable 
indicator not to measure current demand/provision within the sector, but to 
understand it in the context of what could be if the provision were available, 
local and suitable for all pupils.  Our overriding fear from this significant 
investment (which focuses almost exclusively on English-medium specialist 
education), is that this will increase the pressure on parents to move their 
children and to have to choose English-medium education for their child.   

 

 The consultation identifies the marked growth in specialist support needs in 
pupils' mental health and emotional well-being.  However, there is no 
recognition that exactly the same growth/pressure is taking place in Welsh-
medium schools as well as English-medium schools.  There is no plan or 
intention to establish any Welsh-medium provision in this area within 
primary or secondary education.  There is an urgent need to respond to this 
demand within Welsh-medium schools, which at times fail to provide 
adequately to the more complex welfare needs of our most vulnerable 
pupils.     

 

 The next step is the need to increase Welsh-medium ALN provision to 
ensure that the sector is inclusive and able to welcome all pupils, whatever 
their ability.  It is really unfortunate that it has not been possible to increase 
specialist education capacity with the opening of new primary schools within 
the sector over recent years, and we suggest that all new investments from 
now on should include plans to meet demand in ALN.   

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

54. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

Page 808



55. The Council will continue to work with the school in order to support them 

practically to improve the resources of the existing Centre to meet the needs of 

pupils until the new Centre is open. Cardiff runs extensive networking forums 

with regular ALNco meetings, IDP champions and cluster leads with a wide 

range of training. The Council also runs termly ALN updates for headteachers 

and provides regular updates to governing bodies. 

 
56. Issues related to Welsh language provision are addressed at paragraph(s) 10 

– 19. 

 
57. As set out in the draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan Welsh in Education 

Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 (Outcome 6), the Council with Monitor 

requests for transfer from Welsh-medium schools into the English-medium 

sector in the city and undertake further research where those that opt out of this 

sector have ALN IDPs in place to ensure an improved understanding of 

concerns appropriate reassurance and support is provided with a view to 

reconsideration to remain.  

 

58. Discussions are ongoing with the school regarding the provision of new build 

accommodation for the existing specialist resource provision at the school and 

the proposed additional specialist resource base provision. The Council is 

committed to ensuring the provision suitable accommodation to support 

learning opportunities and the continued development of high quality additional 

learning needs provision at the school. 

 
Responses received regarding the establishment of 3-19 Complex Learning 

Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Specialist Resource Base provision 

during the consultation period  

59. Formal responses were received from  

 

 Estyn  

 The Western Learning Federation Governing Body 

 Meadowbank Special School Governing Body 

 Meadowbank Special School Chair of Governors 

 Meadowbank Special School Staff 

  The Hollies Special School Governing Body 

 Springwood Primary School Staff and Governing Body 
 
Estyn 

60. A response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full 

response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 We welcome this proposal which sits alongside others to try and achieve a 
more equitable provision to better meet the current and future additional 
learning needs of pupils, across the City. 

 

Page 809



 Estyn considers that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard 
of education provision in the area. 

 

 The proposer defines specialist resource bases as “a small class in a 
mainstream school for pupils with significant additional learning needs. All 
pupils attending a specialist resource base have a statement of SEN and 
are taught by specialist teachers and learning support assistants, and have 
opportunities to learn, play or socialise with other mainstream pupils…” It is 
unclear from the definition whether pupils, where appropriate, can access, 
with appropriate support where necessary, lessons alongside pupils that do 
not attend the specialist resource base. To comply with the Additional 
Learning Needs and Education Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer needs to 
consider the admission of pupils with individual development plans. 

 

 The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 
organisations, and members of the public to respond. This includes 
opportunities to access online public meetings. The process is clearly set 
out with timescales and how the consultation will be used. 

 

 The proposal involves providing new accommodation, adapting existing 
accommodation or extending buildings in all schools apart from at Ty Gwyn 
Special School, where a former youth centre will be adapted. The proposer 
explains that the development of these proposals is at an early stage and 
any detailed school design or site layouts would be considered later should 
the proposals be progressed. However, they have not considered the risks 
or disadvantages associated with the construction process, should the 
proposals go ahead. For example, appointing appropriate contractors, 
delays in project delivery and securing sufficient funding. 

 

 Statements made by the proposer for all schools about for example, 
teaching and learning experience and care, support and guidance are 
identical and do not provide a good enough account of how these are 
tailored to meet the specific additional learning needs of the pupils. 

 

 The overall proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language but 
does not reflect the ambition laid out in the local authority’s draft Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan 2022-2032. The plan states that the authority aims 
to increase the “number of secondary specialist places to be delivered in an 
SRB located at each Welsh medium high school with different specialist 
needs in each base to achieve a level of specialist provision that is on a par 
with other sectors and responds appropriately to individual need”. It also 
aims to increase the “number of primary specialist places to be delivered in 
an SRB located in at least three (Welsh medium) primary schools that 
promote to the relevant secondary schools along with early 
intervention/wellbeing classes/ nurture classes distributed across the city to 
achieve a level of provision that is on a par with other sectors”. This proposal 
does not contribute to addressing this aim. The proposal also states that 
“there is growing demand for resource bases for pupils with autism, who are 
average to high achievers, and would need a more integrative model of 

Page 810



support than that provided by the two existing bases. There are currently 15 
primary aged learners in Welsh-medium schools who would benefit from 
placement in an Autism Spectrum Condition base”. However, the proposal 
does not appear to address this need. 

 

 The proposer states that there is an opportunity to employ specialist staff 
and to work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff. However, no 
further detail is provided and there is no guarantee that the opportunity will 
translate into a firm commitment or reality.  
 

 The proposer correctly asserts that pupils with additional learning needs 
may find change difficult. Other than recognising that change needs to be 
carefully planned, information on transition planning is very limited. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
61. The Council acknowledges the conclusions of Estyn on the overall merits of 

the proposals. 

 

62. Where appropriate pupils with additional Learning Needs will be able to access 

mainstream provision, particularly within autism provision bases. However, 

some pupils present with very complex needs and benefit more from a specific 

curriculum that meets their needs. 

 

63. In line with the requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education 

Tribunal [Wales] Act, the transition to individual development plans is being 

progressed. 

 

64. Issues related to Welsh-language provision are addressed at paragraph(s) 10 

– 19. 

 

65. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body to address the HR 

implications arising from the establishment/expansion of specialist provision 

and the resulting need for additional staffing. Where the Governing Body have 

adopted the Council’s School Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new 

vacancies arising as a consequence of the proposed changes will provide 

opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment register. 

 

66. Additional Learning Needs provision in schools is tailored to meet specific 

needs.   This differentiated specialist provision is planned and delivered by staff 

who are experienced and qualified to deliver good quality teaching and learning. 

 

67. The Council continues to work with schools to identify appropriate transition 

arrangements for pupils with additional learning needs. These arrangements 

are dependent on individual need and are progressed as required This support 

includes the provision/timing of funding, support with the recruitment and 

training of staff, the identification of needs and ongoing reviews.   

 

Page 811



 

The Western Learning Federation Governing Body 

68. The Governing Body of the Western Learning Federation submitted their 

response via email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 The Governing Body recognises the need across the city for extra provision 
to support complex pupils, within the context of an additional ALN strategy. 
Governors are proud of the provision Ty Gwyn school currently provides and 
welcomes the opportunity for that provision to be extended to more pupils, 
within the context of the development of the Western Learning Federation. 
However, the Governing Body are clear that the proposed additional 
capacity must be properly planned and funded, to ensure that existing and 
new pupils continue to be experience excellent provision that enables them 
to meet their full potential.  

 

 In order to successfully accommodate the proposed additional pupils into 
the school who are complex and at times require a high level of intensive 
support, the Governing Body and Western Learning Federation leadership 
team are clear that we need a level of average pupil funding that is a true 
reflection of challenges of need at the school.  

 

 The current pupil banding descriptors and placement categories urgently 
require review so that the average pupil funding for the school can be 
maintained and sustained, in order to fully meet the needs of pupils and 
enable them to thrive and flourish. 

 

 Please can you outline how the Federation and the average pupil funding 
for Ty Gwyn School will be increased to achieve the following?  

 

 
o Appropriate and fit for purpose school organisation and leadership in 

the context of the Western Learning Federation.  

o A robust professional learning offer that caters for a wide variety of 

need. This will support a skilled workforce that is needed to meet 

demands of the complex learners intended to attend the setting.  

o Appropriate and sustained investment in specialist equipment needed 

to support the needs of learners.  

o A sustainable programme of improvements to the current environment. 

o Improvements to the school infrastructure. 

 

 In order to address workforce development across the setting an allocation 
of funding is required to meet the specialist requirements/training needs to 
ensure statements and Individual Development Plans (IDP’s) and statutory 
requirements are met. 

 

 The current grant allocation the school does not reflect the specialist 
investment needed in our Teaching Assistants to carry out critical work with 

Page 812



our pupils. Currently, this is being allocated via our core budget and is not 
in line with our mainstream settings. 

 

 Please can you outline health and other specialist provision will be 
enhanced to ensure the needs of all pupils continue to be fully met within 
the setting? 

 

 As pupil numbers increase and given the complexity of pupils based on 
health and behavioural need, health and other specialist provision needs to 
be increased to match the increased capacity intended as part of the 
consultation document. The Governing Body would like a robust audit of 
current provision to both provide clarity on the demand and evidence what 
support would be needed in the event of the increased pupil numbers. 

 

 With the recommendations outline as part of the consultation document, 
how will the school be supported to develop its infrastructure around the 
complexity of on-site traffic management plans that will include a substantial 
number of vehicles on site as part of the school day and exit at the end of 
the day. The current facility for drop off and pick up was designed to meet 
the need of 120 pupils. What support will be in place to address this in light 
of a proposal for 240 pupils? 

 

 The proposals to take an additional 42 pupils would mean an additional six 
or seven classes, given the complex needs of our pupils. To achieve this, 
we would require additional classrooms and capacity the appointment of 
teaching support staff in place some months before the numbers of pupils 
increase. This is to allow detailed training of staff and the preparation of 
rooms for these additional pupils. 

 

 The complexity of our needs means that transitional space, the provision of 
intensive support and interim classes will be necessary to facilitate the re-
modelling of the existing school provision. 

 

 Additional classes also require additional outdoor spaces and learning 
facilities to enable us to fully embrace into the new curriculum for Wales and 
excellent outdoor education to be provided. How will this be supported and 
achieved within the proposals? 

 

 The Governing Body is committed to ensuring that school facilities are 
available to support pupils and facilities during school holidays, including 
provision from external providers. What is the strategy by the Local Authority 
to support out of term time play provision for our pupils with a high level of 
complexity? 

 

 If come September 2022, we are asked to increase our pupil numbers, 
where are they supposed to go, knowing the current portacabins are not fit 
for our children? We have currently lost a coffee shop room facility and 
cookery room (to accommodate extra numbers of pupils allocated to the 
school in 2018). 

Page 813



 

 I think Ty Gwyn needs a period of stability to take stock on the current pupils 
and staff. I personally feel staff need time to adjust to our current school 
numbers. 

 

 Funding, I have recently found out about the massive, short fall that our 
children receive compared to a similar school in the vale. Can I ask why this 
has not been looked at? 

 

 If we as a Governing Body are asked to increase our numbers, I would want 
a definite answer on how many nurses, Occupational Therapists and 
Physios we would require as a minimum?  

 

 I have a question as to why the jump to 240 additional pupils is for 
September 2022 and not gradual along with the projected increase in 
demand across Cardiff? I refer particularly to table 6 on page 19 of the 
consultation document. 

 

 I was surprised as anyone about the C rating for the condition of Ty Gwyn, 
this seemed a little unfair it was only taking into account the refurbishment 
area of the Annex and not the rest of the school. 

 

 Standards – page 21 of the document states that ‘the proposal is not 
expected to have any negative standards on the quality of standards of 
education at the school’. How has this been quantified? A 20% increase in 
numbers will mean a measurable decrease in the access of current pupils 
to facilities, such as the hydrotherapy pool, which is already limited by 
COVID-19 pandemic. There were also plans to re-open the coffee shop 
which I understand may not be possible if the increase in pupil numbers 
goes ahead, which is important to older children’s transition and for 
developing transferable skills to life outside school 

 

 Transport – page 23 of document include two ‘benefits’ of the proposed 
change, one of them being ‘would ensure that some pupils living in Cardiff 
would travel shorter distances to access specialist provision. Surely there is 
a flip side to this in that if only some are travelling a shorter distance, then 
more are travelling a longer distance- which hasn’t been listed as a potential 
disadvantage? 

 

 Transport- I disagree with the potential for a small increase in traffic around 
the school at the start and end of the day. It’s not a potential increase – it’s 
a definite increase and should be considered alongside the same on the 
whole Federation site, not just Ty Gwyn. 

 

 Please can you confirm if the expectation that pupil numbers on roll will be 
at 240 from September 2022? 

 

 Please can you outline the strategy for the improvements to the main car 
park at Ty Gwyn for entry and exit of pupils and also how the Council 

Page 814



proposes to improve the service of drivers and escorts to meet the complex 
need? 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

69. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

70. The proposed increase in pupil numbers for the school will require the 

Governing Body to plan for the workforce requirements in readiness for the 

expansion. The Governing Body will be encouraged to undertake this work in 

line with the School Organisation Planning HR Framework. HR People Services 

will provide advice, support and guidance to the Governing Body for the 

workforce planning and consequential recruitment processes. Where the 

Governing Body have adopted the Council’s School Redeployment and 

Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a consequence of an 

increase in the numbers on roll will provide opportunities for school-based staff 

on the school redeployment register.  

 

71. The Council continues to work with the Governing Body to ensure that suitable 

accommodation is provided for the increase in the number of pupils including 

the provision of additional classrooms, Hi/Iv offices and Adult Services areas at 

the old Trelai Youth Centre..  

72. An audit of current provision will be carried out with the school which will include 

consideration of class sizes. There are no plans to increase capacity beyond 

the current proposal. Admissions to the school by the Council would be phased, 

to support the sustainable growth of the school. 

 

73. The Council will continue to monitor demand for additional learning needs and 

bring forward proposals as required. 

 

74. The Council will continue to work with the Governing Body and the Health Board 

to ensure there is an appropriate level of health provision available to meet the 

needs of pupils. 

 

75. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the site would be 

reviewed to ensure suitable and sufficient facilities for drop-off and pick-up are 

provided within the site to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles 

and improvements made if necessary.  Modifications may be required to the 

arrangement of spaces with additional lighting within the drop-off and pick-up 

area to better accommodate increases in numbers of vehicles. 

 

76. The availability of out of term time play provision is outside of the scope of the 

proposal consulted on and will be considered separately. 

 

 

 Meadowbank Special School Governing Body 

Page 815



77. The Governing Body of the Meadowbank Special School submitted their 

response via email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 The Governing Body ‘broadly supports’ the proposal to increase the NOR 
of pupils from 40 to 98 places from September 2022. Given the short 
indicative timeline’s proposed, it is important that the increase of new 
classes is phased gradually. This will help the Governing Body and Senior 
Leadership Team to work strategically on any future staffing recruitment 
requirements. 

 

 The Governing Body welcomes the proposal for works to be undertaken to 
provide new accommodation and facilities, and adaptions of the existing 
accommodation. 

 

 The Governing Body seeks assurances from the Local Authority that the 
work to realise these ambitions of higher admission numbers and new 
accommodation are properly resourced and project managed. The 
Governing Body would like to see detailed project plans, including 
milestones, communication plans and risk registers associated with the 
project. We would welcome regular updates on progress and swift 
notification of any problems being encountered particularly anything which 
could lead to disruption to staff or the pupil’s learning experiences. 

 

 The Governing Body acknowledges that the Local Authority will neesd to 
work closely with the school to identify the type of needs for the pupils. We 
feel this will help support the school with recruiting future teaching staff who 
will have the appropriate expertise, as well as provide training for existing 
teaching staff. 

 

 The Governing Body acknowledges that the Local Authority has no direct 
control over the Local Health Board. Notwithstanding that, the Governors 
wish to reiterate our view that there should be closer links with the Cardiff 
and Vale University Health Board and given the nature of the cohort of 
children attending Meadowbank we would like to see on-site health 
professionals who can attend to the specific needs of pupils and support 
them on their education journey with us. 

 

 The Governing Body also recognises the increased volume of traffic which 
will accompany an increase in pupil numbers. We would like further 
reassurances on the planning around how the higher number of vehicles will 
access, drop off/pick up and exit the site in an orderly and safe way. We will 
also want to ensure that we retain the goodwill of the local community and 
that the Local Authority plans this in a manner that is sympathetic to local 
residents and is planned in a sustainable and environmentally friendly way 
as far as that is possible. 

 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

Page 816



78. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

 

79. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the Governing 

Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the increase in the 

number of pupils including detailed projected planning and regular engagement 

with the school.  

 

80. The Council is continuing to work with the Governing Body and the Health 

Board to ensure there is an appropriate level of health provision available to 

meet the needs of pupils. 

 

81. There are no plans to exceed the capacity beyond the current proposal. 

Admissions to the school by the Council would be phased, to support the 

sustainable growth of the school. The Council will continue to monitor demand 

for additional learning needs and bring forward proposals as required. 

 

82. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the site would be 

reviewed to ensure suitable and sufficient facilities for drop-off and pick-up are 

provided within the site to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles 

and improvements made if necessary.   

 

83. Options to be explored are likely to include modifications which may be required 

to the school access with additional parking restrictions opposite the entrance 

to provide unobstructed access.   

 

84. The proposal may require a Transport Statement which would identify 
measures to be included to maximise travel by sustainable modes. The Active 
Travel Plan for the school would also identify actions by the school and also 
any improvements to on-site infrastructure required to support, encourage and 
facilitate active travel to school. 

 
Meadowbank Special School Chair of Governors 

85. The Chair of Governors for Meadowbank Special School submitted their 

response via email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 I am pleased that the proposal provides an exciting opportunity for a brand-
new accommodation and facilities, and extensive adaptations of the existing 
accommodation.  

 

 I am pleased that the increase of NOR from 40 to 98 places, will allow the 
school to further enhance and grow its staffing team to support this. It is 
critical that the Local Authority continues to work closely with the school to 
identify the type of needs for the pupils. From a strategic perspective, this 
will help us ensure new classes are carefully organised by age and type of 
needs. This will also help us ensure that the school is recruiting teaching 
staff who will have the expertise to support the type of needs for the pupils, 
as well as provide further training to existing staff. 

 

Page 817



 It is disappointing that the Early Years Outreach is not being considered for 
further expansion at this moment in time. Given that the increase of children 
with additional learning needs will further expand in all specialist and 
mainstream settings in the future, I feel this ought to be looked at again. In 
this way, it will help further strengthen relationship links between all 
specialist and mainstream settings. 

 

 I am concerned about the indicative timelines that have been proposed in 
readiness for the increase of NOR and modular accommodation. Whilst I 
am sure interim arrangements will be provided to accommodate the new 
cohort of children in September 2022, I would like assurance from the Local 
Authority that the programme of works will be properly resourced, and 
project managed. In this way, the project management team will be able to 
identify and resolve any complications without the need to disrupt the 
Headteacher’s busy work schedule. I feel further progress updates from the 
Local Authority to Governors on a regular basis would be a great benefit. 

 

 I would like some clarity on once the increase of 98 reaches capacity. Is it 
likely that there may be a further consultation exercise to further increase 
NOR, if the demand for additional learning needs provision continues to 
increase further? If so, how will this be managed carefully by the Local 
Authority? 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

86. The Council welcomes the Chair’s support for the proposal. 

 

87. The proposed increase in pupil numbers for the school will require the 

Governing Body to plan for the workforce requirements in readiness for the 

expansion. The Governing Body will be encouraged to undertake this work in 

line with the School Organisation Planning HR Framework. HR People Services 

will provide advice, support and guidance to the Governing Body for the 

workforce planning and consequential recruitment processes. Where the 

Governing Body have adopted the Council’s School Redeployment and 

Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a consequence of an 

increase in the numbers on roll will provide opportunities for school-based staff 

on the school redeployment register.  

 

88. The Early Years Outreach will continue to be funded by the Council and the 

Council will work with the school to ensure it is appropriate for the need. 

 

89. Issues related to project management are addressed at paragraph 19 – 21 

and 25. 

 

90. Issues regarding future capacity are addressed at paragraph 81. 

 
Meadowbank Special School Staff 
 

Page 818



91. The staff at Meadowbank Special School submitted their response via email.  
(A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 
 

 The staff welcome the proposal to increase the NOR of pupils from 40 to 98 
places from September 2022. It is also acknowledged that this would help 
to address the demand for specialist provision across Cardiff Local 
Authority. Although the proposal is to increase NOR to 98 pupils it should 
be noted that the school has already taken on extra pupils in 2021 with 
numbers currently sitting at 50 places. This increase in NOR has taken place 
within the current school building (albeit following some internal 
adaptations) which was only designed for an upper limit of 40 pupils.  

 

 Senior leaders must be re-assured that the new build project will be 
appropriately planned (in consultation with the Governing Body and 
Headteacher) and sustainably project managed (especially during holiday 
periods). The new building infrastructure should be fit for purpose providing 
a safe & stimulating multi-purpose environment to support the increase in 
ASD / complex learning need pupil numbers. 

 

 Staff should be commended by the way that they have had to cope with 
significant physical change to the existing building whilst accommodating a 
much wider range of complex pupils. The staff seek assurance from the 
Local Authority that the proposed adaptations and additions (to realise the 
ambition of higher admission numbers) are strategically & systematically 
planned, properly resourced and project managed.  Staff would like to see 
detailed project plans (including proposed timescales), and risk 
assessments associated with the project. They would welcome regular 
updates on progress and swift notification of any problems being 
encountered particularly with regard to anything which could lead to 
disruption in the pupil’s learning experiences. 

 

 Given the short timeline proposed it is important that the increase of new 
classes be phased in gradually. This will help the Governing Body and 
Senior Leadership Team to work strategically on future recruitment of 
staffing. Recruitment of specialist staff is becoming increasingly difficult with 
a limited pool of expertise to draw on. This is a huge concern as the school 
is dependent on skilled practitioners who can support pupils effectively and 
deliver a curriculum appropriate to our complex pupils needs.  

 

 The Local Authority will need to work closely with the school to identify 
whether the school can meet the needs of any further proposed pupils 
during this ‘transition’ time into the new build facilities as the school is 
currently stretched to full capacity. Whilst the building work is being 
completed the Local Authority has expressed a desire to continue to 
increase pupil numbers at Meadowbank. Further adjustment and 
modification of the current building will need to take place by August 2022 
to accommodate any additional pupils prior to the new build. 3 current 
classrooms still have no outdoor provision at all meaning that the school is 
restricted in the pupils it can take during this period. Providing temporary 
accommodation will not be sufficient to meet all pupils needs and the 

Page 819



Governing Body should not feel obliged to take them if leaders deem the 
provision is unsuitable. 

 

 The staff acknowledge that the Local Authority has no direct control over the 
Local Health Board. However, the staff wish to reiterate the view that there 
should be closer links with the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 
given the nature of the cohort of children attending Meadowbank. We would 
like to request on-site health professionals that can support & attend to the 
specific needs of our more complex pupils.  

 

 Staff recognise that an increased volume of traffic on site will accompany 
an increase in pupil numbers due to the need for additional staff. The current 
staff car park is already beyond full capacity. Staff would like further 
reassurance as to how a higher numbers of transport vehicles (car’s taxi’s 
and minibuses) will access, drop off/pick up and exit the site in an orderly 
and safe way.  They also want to ensure that the school retains the goodwill 
of the local community and that the Local Authority plans this in a manner 
that is sympathetic to local residents and sustainable and environmentally 
friendly as far as is possible. 

 

 Staff are fearful that the new building will be too ‘detached’ from the current 
school making it challenging to keep a whole school ethos. Staff worry about 
feeling isolated when working in a completely separate building, especially 
with a separate staffroom and remote playground areas. Staff request a 
physical linkage between the sites, making sure there are suitable covered 
pathways between the two buildings. This would also support the transport 
of hot food from the kitchen and the movement of pupils across the site to 
other well used spaces such as the soft play room, sensory room and 
regulation space. It is requested that these areas are covered to provide 
some shelter from the elements when moving around the site. 

 

 Increasing numbers of pupils require sensory regulation. At present this 
provision (soft play room / sensory space) is shared (via timetabling) across 
classes. With increased numbers of pupils requiring these spaces can some 
mobile sensory equipment be provided as a ‘stop gap’ option? New 
classrooms will have to have the capacity to turn into multi-purpose sensory 
spaces to allow for this provision to be offered. 

 

 All Meadowbank pupils require a Foundation Phase approach of ‘learning 
through play’ which is fundamentally supported by enhanced outdoor 
learning. Staff request that all outdoor areas be fully adapted & resourced 
(as directed by those practitioners that work with the pupils) to provide the 
best learning opportunities for pupils.  

 

 Finally, many pupils are starting to become aware of the re-generation of 
the new site as preliminary works start to be undertaken. Can contractors 
work with the school to help the pupils understand what is happening at the 
back of the school?  

 

Page 820



Appraisal of views expressed 

92. The Council welcomes the staff’s support for the proposal. 

 

93. Issues related to project management are addressed at paragraph 19 – 21 

and 25. 

 

94. Issues regarding future capacity are addressed at paragraph 81. 

 

95. The Council is continuing to work with the Governing Body and the Health 

Board to ensure there is an appropriate level of health provision available at the 

school. 

 

96. Issues related to Meadowbank Special School transport can be seen at 

paragraphs 82 - 84. 

 

97. The new build will be separate from the main building. The Council will 

continue to work with the school regarding logistics. 

 

98. Any changes to the outdoor areas will be considered as part of the 

development of the proposal. 

 

99. With any large project, the Council will ensure that pupils are able to input to 

the look and feel of the school as appropriate.  As part of this there would be 

engagement sessions with the pupils and their teachers, along with safely 

managed visits to the construction site. The contract will have a significant 

element of social value that the contractor will be required to provide so this will 

involve the pupils with various activities. The exact nature of this will be 

determined once the contract has been awarded and will be planned in 

conjunction with the school. 

 
The Hollies Special School Governing Body 

 
100. The Governing Body at The Hollies Special School submitted their response 

via email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 Although school is set up for 80 pupils it has crept to 117 to date and is all 
most at breaking point. Therefore the governors do not wish this number to 
be further increased until the infrastructure is fit for purpose and safe to 
support the increase in pupil numbers. It noted and acknowledged credit to 
staff for maintaining the status to date. 

 

 The FGB would welcome a strategic and planned approach to the proposed 
development which would need to be phased to support the expansion 
including 
o adjustment and modification of the building 

o the recruitment of teachers, TAs over a period of time allowing them to 

embed into the culture and ethos of the school 

Page 821



o the phased admission of additional pupils 

 

 The Hollies Estyn report 2019 recommendation stated that the car park was 
unsafe as traffic on the school grounds at start and end of school day 
presented a risk to the safety of pupils, staff and visitors. Mindful of this 
concern, and with the anticipated further increase to the vehicles required 
to transport 150 pupils on the school grounds assurances that this 
safeguarding issue would be addressed is needed. 

 

 Additionally if there are delays with the project for example new classrooms 
not being completed on time for new pupils there must not be any pressure 
on the school to admit these pupils in temporary accommodation or increase 
already established classes. 

 

 In response to the Consultation the overall feeling of the FBG was that it 
supported the project. It recognised that it would allow The Hollies to provide 
a suitable and fit for purpose environment for both pupils and staff alike. The 
improvements to modernise the school building is welcomed and long 
overdue. Additionally, it would help to address the demand for specialist 
provision across the authority. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
101. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s overall support for the proposal. 

 

102. If the proposal is agreed to proceed the Council would work with the Governing 

Body to ensure that suitable accommodation is provided for the increase in the 

number of pupils. The school would benefit from new and improved facilities 

which would offset any potential impacts on pupils and staff. 

 

103. Issues regarding future capacity are addressed at paragraph 81. 

 

104. With the expected increase in demand for Learner Transport, the site would be 

reviewed to ensure suitable and sufficient facilities for drop-off and pick-up are 

provided within the site to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles 

and improvements made if necessary.   

 

105. Options to be considered include modifications to the school access and a re-
arranged layout to accommodate increasing numbers and also address any 
safeguarding concerns. 

 
Llanishen Fach Primary School 
 
106. The staff at Llanishen Fach Primary School submitted their response via 

email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 At all times the school staff have been very much of the opinion that any 
expansion is not only a benefit to current and future SRB pupils but to the 
wider school community. In recent years, under the headship of Mrs Sarah 

Page 822



Coombes, the SRB has developed into a valued and highly cherished part 
of the school community. The integral role ‘the base’ plays in providing a 
caring and rounded start for all our pupils, from integration into mainstream 
to fostering caring and supportive relationships within and between the SRB 
and mainstream classes, cannot be underestimated. Unsurprisingly then, 
the staff are wholeheartedly in favour of this development and look forward 
to welcoming new SRB pupils to our school in September 2023. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

107. The Council welcomes the support for the proposal. 
 
Marlborough Primary School  
 
108. A response from Marlborough Primary School included the following: (A copy 

of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 Having spoken to the head and in line with the response from our Governing 
body, we as a school are very happy with the work that has already been 
completed at Marlborough and feel that there is no need for consultation as 
the building work is done and the children are already in attendance. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

109. The Council welcomes the school’s support for the proposal. 

 
Springwood Primary School Staff and Governing Body 

110. The Governing Body and staff at Springwood Primary School submitted their 

response via email.  (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 The governing body feel they should support the proposals and welcome 
the additional provision as set out in the documentation. Springwood 
welcomes the opportunity to support up to 28 pupils with additional learning 
needs as this very much fits with the schools ethos of supporting all children 
and providing them with every opportunity to develop and make the best of 
their talents.  

 

 Through working closely with the local authority, the staff at Springwood are 
very aware of the growing and increasing need for specialist places across 
Cardiff and beyond.  

 

 As an older school we would welcome further funding, as discussed at the 
meeting, to improve the fabric of our base classrooms and surrounding 
areas, so we can provide the best environment for these children to learn 
and thrive, especially to undertake outdoor learning, wherever possible. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

111. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 

Page 823



 

112. Issues related to funding are addressed at paragraph 25. 

 

Formal responses received during the consultation regarding Additional 
Learning Needs Provision  

 

113. Formal responses regarding the overall provision for children and young adults 
with additional learning needs were received from: 
 

 Ysgol Glan Morfa Headteacher and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Melin Gruffydd Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glan Ceubal Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pencae Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pwll Coch Governing Body  

 Ysgol y Berllan Deg Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth Governing Body 

 Ysgol Nant Caerau Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pen y Gores Governing Body  

 Creigiau Primary School Governing Body 

 Ysgol Mynydd Bychan Governing Body 

 Ysgol Treganna Governing Body  

 Ysgol Coed y Gof Governing Body 

 Ysgol Plasmawr School and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body 

 Cardiff Governors Association  

 Merched y Wawr  
 
114. Copies of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6. 

 

115. The responses from the Welsh-medium schools contained largely consistent 

content and outlined the following: 

 

 acknowledge and welcome the proposals to increase capacity for the 
English-medium sector and fully support the provision for the most 
vulnerable pupils in our communities. However, there was a strong feeling 
that there is a lack of additional learning needs provision within the Welsh-
medium sector and a disappointment that more changes were not proposed 
as part of this consultation. 

 

 Furthermore, the view was expressed that this consultation contradicts the 
recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's ambition to open three 
specialist units in Welsh-medium schools in the Primary sector and a further 
three SRB in the Secondary sector. 

 Concerns were outlined that by limiting the investment to one sector it 
encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to leave the Welsh-medium 
sector and move to English-medium schools where the investment and 

Page 824



resources are currently viewed as being superior and better able to meet 
more complex or higher levels of need. 

 

 Investment is needed within the Welsh-medium sector in order to ensure 
parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  

 

 The documentation recognises a clear growing need within the English-
medium sector but not in the Welsh-medium with concerns expressed as to 
whether the research been sufficient to accurately reflect need presenting 
in Welsh-medium schools. 

 

 Concerns were also expressed that there is a lack of clear provision in terms 
of emotional health and well-being and behavior within the Welsh-medium 
sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream 
provision) along with a lack of space to establish nurture/wellbeing classes. 

 

 There was consistent view across the majority of the responses submitted 
by the Welsh-medium schools that there is a definite need for a greater 
number of Welsh-medium ALN places and that this is rising. In order to 
respond to this effectively there was a call for strategic and holistic planning 
which puts the children and families at the heart of all that we do consistent 
with our collective commitment to the UNCRC and FGWBA with other 
corporate goals such as One Planet Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child Friendly 
City status. 

 

Response to the view expressed 
 
116. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

additional learning needs provision for children and young people city wide. 
 

117. The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the Welsh-
medium sector has historically been lower than in the English medium sector. 
This has however been changing over the last 4-5 years, with schools reporting 
an increased incidence of additional learning needs, in all areas of need.  
 

118. A review of additional learning needs in the Welsh-medium sector was 
undertaken with Welsh medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Schools reported a small but significant 
number of examples of pupils with additional learning needs leaving the Welsh-
medium sector in order to access specialist resource bases or special schools.  
 

119. There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families who 
would otherwise choose Welsh-medium education opt instead for English 
medium if their child has additional learning needs, through concern that their 
child may need to transfer to the specialist sector at a later date.  
 

120. Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the sector, 
including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to generate more 
confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the sector. 

Page 825



 

121. A new primary base was established at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, within the 
catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, where the secondary base is 
established. The two bases cater for learners with severe learning difficulties, 
providing a specialist curriculum and supporting a range of secondary needs 
including physical and medical needs, speech and language difficulties and 
autism.  
 

122. As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop additional 
provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh-medium education is a 
genuine choice for learners with complex additional learning needs. 
 

123. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh Education 
Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its draft Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 October 2021 and 13 
December 2021.  
 

124. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary version 
and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were circulated to statutory 
stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s Welsh Education Forum 
member organisations.  

 

125. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-medium 
additional learning needs provision and proposals would be brought forward as 
part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh Government and formal 
adoption by the Council later in 2022.  
 

126. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including new 
and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals are brought 
forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account the needs of all 
of our learners and reflects the additionality required to ensure parity in the 
Welsh-medium sector as new places are delivered throughout the proposed 
WESP. 
 

 

 

 

Page 826



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision

Provision for Children and Young People 
with Additional Learning Needs (ALN):  

Moorland Primary School Specialist 
Resource Base and The Court Special 

School – Research Findings 

Appendix 8

Page 829



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Background 
Cardiff Council is committed to inclusion.  

The majority of learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) attend a local mainstream 
school, and benefit from effective Additional Learning Provision (ALP). These learners do not 
need to attend a special school or Specialist Resource Base.  

However, the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a 
special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow.   

 

Proposals 
In order to respond to demand for additional learning needs places the Council consulted on 
proposals to 

 Increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places.  The school 
would transfer to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of Fairwater 
Primary School and to the current St Mellons, CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney, 
with 36 pupils on each site from September 2025. 
 

 Establish a 20 place Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with 
Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from September 2022. 

 
 

Methodology 
 The survey was from 11 October 2021 – 17 January 2022, covering two proposals. 

 
 A letter was sent to all parents of pupils in the schools affected, providing them with 

information explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
  

 An e-mail was sent to a range of stakeholders, providing them with information 
explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
  

 A communication campaign was conducted via social media  
 

Responses 
There were 35 responses received to the consultation. A total of 12 emails / letters were 
received in relation to the consultation, these can be viewed in Appendix A. 

 

 

 

Page 830



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Results 
Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Parents or guardians (37.1%) made up the main cohort of responses to the survey. This was 
followed by a member of staff (34.3%) and local residents (28.6%). 

 

 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: 
 

 No. % 
Moorland Primary School 7 31.8 
Fairwater Primary School 4 18.2 
The Court Special School 4 18.2 
Other  6 27.3 
None 1 4.5 

Total Respondents 22 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

37.1
34.3

28.6

2.9 2.9

8.6

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

Parent or
Guardian

Member of
Staff

Local
Resident

Pupil Governor Other

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 

(Base: 35)

Page 831



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 
72 places? 
Around nine in ten (88.6%) respondents support the proposal. 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Sixteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst two respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. A 
full breakdown can be viewed below:  

Support for the proposal 
 It is very important for specialist provision to continue being increased to support 

those children who may not be able to cope within a mainstream environment. 
 Yes, but I foresee traffic issues on the road as pupils have a taxi to school. 

Furthermore it means that parents from Llanrumney can no longer access at 
Mellon's primary due to travel. This means even more driving across the city. 

 More children get a space and the help they need. 
 To meet the increased need for some of our most vulnerable learners to access 

specialist, nurturing provision. 
 There are not enough places for the many children needing places in Cardiff. The 

wait for places is too long. 
 Extra spaces is always positive. 
 I actually would support not just the numbers but increasing the age limit of the 

school to 19. 
 To support pupils who need the specialist support. 
 There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
 Understand that there are more children with needs. 
 To increase provision for children who need specialist care and intervention. 
 Extra spaces are needed. 
 There are not enough specialist places for children who desperately need them. 
 The provision is needed - the expertise is needed. 

88.6 8.6

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity 
of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 832



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 Cardiff has too few spaces for primary pupils with behavioural challenges, so an 
increase is needed. 

 The number of children with emotional needs causing extreme behavioural issues 
and requiring the specialist and more focussed support that can be provided by The 
Court School is rising annually and putting great strain on mainstream schools. 

 
 

Against the proposal 
 Although I understand there needs to be extra provision for ALN Fairwater site is not 

the correct place. This will affect the children when out playing and is very likely to 
cause disruption through unwanted behaviour so close to school premises. 

 The court school is better off being a more specialised school with the current pupil 
numbers. 

 

 

Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court Special School to new build 
accommodation across two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St Mellons CiW 
Primary School site in Llanrumney? 
Three in five (60.0%) respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion responses 
are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 72.4%. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

60.0 17.1 22.9

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court 
Special School to new build accommodation across 

two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current 
St Mellons CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 833



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Seven respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst a further seven respondents left feedback as to why they were against the 
proposals. A full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf:  

Support for the proposal 
 It’s a lot closer for some children. 
 Having two sites on different sides of the city will reduce travel distances for lots of 

children.  Being next door to mainstream schools will open up new opportunities for 
The Court pupils to have inclusion opportunities, and for special school and 
mainstream staff to share practice and professional learning. 

 The school having new site would be great for all the children to access newer 
facilities, it worked for eastern high. 

 A chance for new and modern facilities for children and staff. 
 If better facilities can be provided. 
 Two smaller units would be better than one large base. 
 There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
 
Against the proposal 

 Although I understand there needs to be extra provision for ALN Fairwater site is not 
the correct place. This will affect the children when out playing and is very likely to 
cause disruption through unwanted behaviour so close to school premises. 

 To have 1 school operate on 2 separate sites is a very serious risk to the wellbeing of 
Staff, Pupils and the Senior Leadership Team who would have to come up with a split 
team. To split the school's team to different sides of Cardiff would be very difficult to 
manage. As the proposal is to increase the NOR to 72 pupils, it would make much 
more sense to transport the Court School to 1 location. The current site at St Mellons 
Primary School accommodates 115 pupils. With 72 under consideration, it would 
make much more sense to set up base there, as the school could then have the 
capacity to increase further in the future. This would reduce costs on operating the 
school onto a split site and would prevent confusion to other schools if they are 
needing to feed into the Court for further advice or support from a Mainstream 
perspective. Please seriously consider keeping The Court onto 1 dedicated site. 

 Traffic and yet again parents in Llanrumney penalised as they have been with EHS 
being built in Trowbridge. 

 Fairwater is a suitable site. 
 I feel the school needs to be on one site, preferably rural and on the outskirts to 

provide the children with the kinds of outdoor experiences they require.  I feel that 
urban settings would be detrimental to their development. Llanishen is a lovely 
setting, however if the school must move it should be more rural to the North of 
Cardiff, surrounded by greenery. 

 Should be on one site. 
 Hard to maintain the ethos and Vision across two sites. 
 

Page 834



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged 
children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from September 2022? 
Three in four (74.3%) respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion responses 
are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 86.7%. 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Thirteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst three respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. 
A full breakdown can be viewed below:  

Support for the proposal 
 Cardiff is slow in recognising and addressing pupils with such needs. 
 Spaces are needed to support more children in the area. 
 There is a shortage of SRB places in the south of the city.  A base at Moorlands will 

increase the opportunities for children with complex needs in Splott and surrounding 
areas to access a specialist base. 

 There is a need in Cardiff for it. 
 It is needed in the community. 
 A new base is needed for children to access for their well-being that Accessible to 

them that don't quite need a school like the courts school. 
 To support pupils who need the support. 
 There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
 Education should be available for everyone, by having more special needs school we 

offer more chances for people to be educated. 
 Once a school has decided they can no longer effectively manage a child with 

complex ALN it is in everyone's best interest for the child to find alternative 
provision. 

 There are not enough specialist places for these children in Cardiff. 
 Any increase in SRB spaces across the city is a good thing as currently there are not 

enough spaces to meet demand. 
 If all the staff, governors and parents are in favour, I would support this. 

74.3 14.3 11.4

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist 
Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with 

Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School 
from September 2022 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 835



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 
 

Against the proposal 
 It is challenging now to park a car outside the school on a rainy day.  I am not 

convinced that the proposed planning now (planning ref 21/02271/MNR) will 
improve traffic if additional taxis are needed to ferry students.  It would deteriorate 
the current adverse situation and discourage parents from sending their children to 
school on a rainy day.  As a disabled person, I support improving the accessibility of 
mainstream schools for people with ALN, but without risking current students' ability 
to attend school. 

 There needs to be more places but more evenly spread across Cardiff. 
 Grounds aren’t big enough to provide outdoor provision. 

 

 

 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 
Respondents were given the opportunity to leave any comments they had around changes 
that could improve the proposals. Seventeen respondents decided to leave feedback; these 
comments can be viewed below: 

 Please reconsider splitting The Court onto 2 sites. Relocating the Court to a soon-to-
be vacant site would be more cost effective and would provide 1 dedicated base, 
whilst still becoming a neighbouring school with Pen-Y-Bryn. Fairwater Primary 
would not be a suitable idea if the facility is already in full use and if the space would 
be considered too small to put a Special School in place and if too small to expand in 
the future. 

 To allow for more children. 
 For it to happen sooner! 
 More spaces for the court school 
 I would like to have access to proposed plans. I also think the increased traffic will 

affect residents and hasn’t been fully addressed. 
 I don't like the thought of new housing on same site as school. 
 Change of location to more rural North Cardiff for The Court School, increasing not 

only the numbers but also the age range to 19. 
 Consideration to school transport needs of these pupils, due to the already 

congested and dangerous entrances to the school due to parents parking badly. 
 Keep all the trees on the site!! Essential for wellbeing in a industrial area.  
 Fairwater primary is run down and needs a lot of repair. 
 Can the council consider taking and utilising some space from Moorland Park to 

improve the parking and flow of traffic? 
 Consider the needs of BAME community in Cardiff in terms of complex needs. 
 Use land beside school old Glam Morgan site. 
 To increase pay for teachers. 

Page 836



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 The FP classroom must be easily accessible, on the ground floor and with access to 
continuous outdoor provision. Suitable provision must be made for toilets and 
changing area. 

 Use of the abandoned Ysgol Glan Morfa building next to Moorland Primary to house 
the SRB. 

 I fully support the proposals, but there is no indication of how the proposals are 
going to serve pupils receiving Welsh-medium education. 

 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 
Respondents were invited to leave any comments they had around alternative options to 
the proposals. Twelve respondents decided to leave feedback; these comments can be 
viewed below: 

 Relocate to 1 dedicated site. St Mellons Site would be more suitable. 
 Specialist resource bases in other schools too. 
 The old glan Morfa used either for nursery or additional learning needs. 
 Change of location to more rural North Cardiff for The Court School, increasing not 

only the numbers but also the age range to 19. 
 If more school had well-being units like the one in springwood it would take the 

pressure off specialist school. 
 Introduce specialist resource based in faith schools for those who would normally go 

to a faith school. 
 Make a large working garden for students to learn and grow with nature. 
 As cantonian high school is having new build , it makes sense that fairwater primary 

does and enlarge its well-being class in addition. 
 Can the council consider taking and utilising some space from Moorland Park to 

improve the parking and flow of traffic? 
 Have a 20 place resource base for complex needs within the Fitzalan cluster. 
 Keeping the court school as one site will be much more cohesive and give the kids a 

sense of belonging/family which is what our school thrives on. 
 These proposals should include Welsh-medium provision as well as the English-

medium proposals. 
 

Do you have any other comments? 
Respondents were given a final opportunity to leave any comments they had in relation to 
the consultation. Twelve respondents decided to leave feedback; these comments can be 
viewed below / overleaf: 

 It’s great to see Cardiff taking positive steps to increase specialist provision in Cardiff. 
 Please don't put housing on same site. 
 The Court School is the most amazing, caring school and I would not wish for that 

sense of belonging and family to be lost in these changes.  Mr Beesley and Dr Alyson 
Richards really do wonderful work. 

Page 837



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 Please keep all the trees on the proposed site!! They are all we have here...amongst 
the Steelworks and Industrial parks, the biggest trees on the site are over 100 years 
old!!. 

 Please ensure that there is appropriate and safe drop off points for parents bringing 
the children to school. Previously there have been damage caused to cars as drop 
offs did u turns on Moorland Road. 

 ALN provision is centred in 'white' areas of Cardiff. The needs of the BAME 
community in Cardiff are being ignored. 

 Worried about detriment to the children’s learning during the build. They’ll be no 
room for outdoor learning to take place which is part of curriculum. Also so many 
delays and every always put back. Staff/ visitor parking during and after build. Safe 
drop off points for children in SRB classes. Lack of staff adult toilets with increased 
staff. 

 It's great to have more schools that aim to help special need children. 
 The table on page 29 of the consultation document shows Marlborough School has a 

20 place SRB. As of September 2021 this is now 30 spaces. The new FP classroom 
there does not have easy access to the outdoor area and toilets/changing facilities 
are not ideal. 

 It seems that the sites have been selected for financial reasons over the well-being 
needs of the kids. 

 Consideration needs to be given to the additional traffic and parking issues, as 
Moorland already has serious issues with parking near to the school. 

 There is no similar provision to the Court School available to pupils receiving their 
education through the medium of Welsh. The same provision should be offered to 
the Welsh-medium sector as is offered to the English-medium sector. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 838



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area: - 
 

 No. % 
Splott 7 31.8 
Cyncoed 3 13.6 
Fairwater 3 13.6 
Llandaff 2 9.1 
Llanishen 2 9.1 
Llanrumney 2 9.1 
Trowbridge 2 9.1 
Other Electoral Ward 1 4.5 

Total Respondents 22 100.0 
 
What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 
25-34 5 14.3 
35-44 11 31.4 
45-54 10 28.6 
55-64 5 14.3 
Other age group 1 2.9 
Prefer not to say 3 8.6 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 
Female 27 77.1 
Male 6 17.1 
Prefer not to say 2 5.7 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

 

 

 

Page 839



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 
Yes 5 14.7 
No 25 73.5 
Prefer not to say 4 11.8 

Total Respondents 34 100.0 
 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
Nine people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 
below: 

 Mental health difficulties 
 Mobility impairment 
 Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 
 Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 
 Learning impairment / difficulties 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these. 
 

 No. % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 28 80.0 
Other Ethnic Group 4 11.4 
Prefer not to say 3 8.6 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 840



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Complex Learning Needs & Autism 
Spectrum Condition Provision for Learners 

Aged 11-19 - Research Findings 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 841



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Background 
Cardiff Council is committed to inclusion.  

The majority of learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) attend a local mainstream 
school, and benefit from effective Additional Learning Provision (ALP). These learners do not 
need to attend a special school or Specialist Resource Base.  

However, the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a 
special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow.  

Proposals 
In order to respond to demand for additional learning needs places the Council consulted on 
proposals to: 

 Increase the designated number at the Whitchurch High School Specialist Resource 
Base for learners with complex needs from 70 to 100 from September 2022. 
 

 Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base for leaners with complex learning needs 
at Willows High School from September 2023. 
   

 Increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School Specialist Resource 
Base for learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition from 20 to 45 places from 
September 2022. 
 

 Increase the designated number at The Marion Centre Specialist Resource Base for 
learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition from 42 to 66 places from September 
2022. 
 

 Establish a 30 place Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf for learners with 
Autistic Spectrum Condition alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource Base 
from September 2023. 

Methodology 
 The survey was open from 14 December 2021 – 01 February 2022. 

 
 A letter was sent to all parents of pupils in the schools affected, providing them with 

information explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
 

 An e-mail was sent to a range of stakeholders, providing them with information 
explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
 

 A communication campaign was conducted via social media. 
 

Page 842



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Responses 
There were 106 responses received to the consultation. There was also a number of letters / 
emails received in relation to the consultation, these can be viewed in Appendix A. 

 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Parents made up two thirds (67.9%) of responses to the survey, with around one in six 
(17.0%) coming from a teacher. 

 
 

 

Teacher – please specify your school: 
 

 No. 
Willows High School 5 
Willows 2 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 2 
Bro Edern 1 
Hamadryad 1 
Llanishen High School 1 
Windsor Clive Primary 1 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf SRB 1 
Ysgol y Berllan Deg 1 

Total Respondents 15 
 

 

67.9

17.0
9.4

13.2

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

Parent Teacher School Governor Other

Please tell us whether you are responding as: (Base: 106)

Page 843



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

School governor – please specify your school: 
 

 No. 
Whitchurch High School 4 
Llanishen High School 1 
YGG Nant Caerau 1 
Ysgol GG Glantaf 1 
Ysgol y Berllan Deg 1 
Ysgol y wern 1 

Total Respondents 9 
 
Other (Please specify) 
 

 No. 
Family member 3 
HLTA 3 
On behalf of The Governing Body of 
The Bishop of Llandaff CiW High School 1 
Person 1 
Psychologist 1 
Primary School Staff 1 
Teaching assistant high school 1 

Total Respondents 11 
 

Do you have a child/children enrolled at the following schools? 
Around one in four (26.7%) respondents has a child enrolled at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Glantaf, whilst a further one in four had a child enrolled at Whitchurch High School. 

However, three in ten (30.5%) respondents to the survey had no children enrolled in any of 
the schools covered in this survey. 
 

 No. % 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 28 26.7 
Whitchurch High School 20 19.0 
Willows High School  2 1.9 
The Bishop of Llandaff 
Church in Wales High School 2 1.9 
Llanishen High School 1 1.0 
Other 22 21.0 
N/A 32 30.5 

Total Respondents 105 - 
 

 

Page 844



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Do you support the plans put forward to improve the provision for Children and Young 
People with additional learning needs? 
The overwhelming majority (96.0%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 
Please explain why: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Proposals will 
provide adequate 
provision / 
Concerns around 
current provision 

35 50.7 

  
 Inadequate provision currently. 
 I teach nursery and therefore have an intake if 

children in the Autism Spectrum and who have other 
complex needs. The journey for the parents and 
children through the main-stream and Specialist 
Education system is hard and not adequate and needs 
to be improved. 

 I believe an increase in the provision will benefit the 
CYP with additional learning needs. Adding additional 
locations around the city will also ensure that CYP are 
more likely to be able to attend a provision in their 
local area. 

 I can imagine that for parents of children with 
additional needs, the availability of good local 
schooling would be a huge concern. I have seen the 
poor provision within primary school, and I can 
imagine the impact this must have on parents and 
children affected. 

 There is increased need for more places for children 
with learning difficulties. 

 

96.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Do you support the plans put forward to improve the provision for 
Children and Young People with additional learning needs? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 101)

Page 845



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Personally affected 
by the proposal 13 18.8 

  
 My child has an ASD diagnosis and receives little 

support. 
 I would like my child to be able to attend Whitchurch. 
 My daughter who attends Ysgol y Wern is autistic. She 

hopes to go to Glantaf in 2025 and we will welcome 
the establishment of a special unit for children with 
autism. 

 

Inclusiveness 9 13.0 

  
 I feel that there should be inclusion for all. 
 More inclusive approach and will further support 

children with additional learning needs. Allows pupils 
to access their learning and flourish. 

 

General agreement 
with the proposal 14 20.3 

  
 There is a need for specialist support. 
 Complex / ASC provision is required in this locality. 
 It will enable them to lead successful lives. 

 
Total Respondents 69  -   

 
Do you support the proposal for each of the school sites? 
 

Whitchurch High School - Increase the designated number at the Whitchurch High School 
Specialist Resource Base for learners with complex learning needs from 70 to 100 from 
September 2022 
Almost nine in ten (87.6%) respondents agreed with the proposal. If ‘Don’t know’ responses 
are removed from the analysis, then agreement rises to 94.9%. 

 

87.6 7.9 4.5

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Whitchurch High School - Increase the designated number at the 
Whitchurch High School Specialist Resource Base for learners with 

complex learning needs from 70 to 100 from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 89)

Page 846



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Willows High School - Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Willows High School for 
learners with complex learning needs from September 2023  
Over four fifths (86.9%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. If ‘Don’t know’ responses 
are removed from the analysis, then agreement rises to 97.3%. 
 

 

 
Llanishen High School - Increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School 
Specialist Resource Base for learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition from 20 to 45 places 
from September 2022 
Just under nine tenths (88.0%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. There were no 
respondents that disagreed. 

 

 

86.9 10.7

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Willows High School - Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base 
at Willows High School for learners with complex learning needs 

from September 2023 

Yes Don't know No(Base: 84)

88.0 12.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Llanishen High School - Increase the designated number at the 
Llanishen High School Specialist Resource Base for learners with 

Autistic Spectrum Condition from 20 to 45 places from September 
2022

Yes Don't know(Base: 83)

Page 847



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

The Marion Centre at The Bishop of Llandaff - Increase the designated number at The Marion 
Centre Specialist Resource Base for learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition from 42 to 66 
places from September 2022 
Over four fifths (86.9%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. If ‘Don’t know’ responses 
are removed from the analysis, then agreement rises to 98.6%. 
 

 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf - Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base for learners with 
Autistic Spectrum Condition at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place 
Specialist Resource Base from September 2023 
Over nine tenths (92.8%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. There were no 
respondents that disagreed. 

 

 
 

86.9 11.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

The Marion Centre at The Bishop of Llandaff - Increase the 
designated number at The Marion Centre Specialist Resource Base 
for learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition from 42 to 66 places 

from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 84)

92.8 7.2

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf - Establish a 30 place Specialist 
Resource Base for learners with Autistic Spectrum Condition at Ysgol 

Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place Specialist 
Resource Base from September 2023

Yes Don't know(Base: 97)

Page 848



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

If you do or do not support the proposed changes than please explain why 
Theme No. % Example comments 

General agreement 
with the proposals 32 69.6 

   
 Having increased spaces across all sites will 

provide greater choice for families looking for 
specialist provision. 

 I support these changes as I feel very it’s very 
important to meet the needs of ever child. The 
need for suitable provision for ALN pupils is 
essential, especially within the Welsh language 
sector. 

 Severely inadequate provision for children with 
additional educational needs. 

 These facilities are invaluable for young to have 
an education in an appropriate setting with 
appropriate support. I fully support the 
recommendations. 

 Yes, there needs to be more spaces for children 
with additional needs. 

 
Concerns around 
lack of Welsh 
medium 
investment 

2 4.3  Again, there needs to be an additional Welsh-
medium school provision (specialist resource 
base) for 5–11-year-olds! 

Proposals should 
include Faith 
Schools 

1 2.2 

  
 Yes, mainstream schools cannot cope with the 

complex needs that we are seeing, we are 
failing students as a result of this! The 
numbers need to be quadrupled; also you 
need to be offering these services to Faith 
based schools right across the consortium! 

 

Specific school 
comments 15 32.6 

  
 The closest provision of this type to Willows is 

Whitchurch HS. This area of Cardiff does not 
have the equivalent provision. 

 I support the proposal at Willows and think it 
would be good to establish the base before 
moving into a new school. My concerns are 
around accommodation and that although it 
appears on paper that we have space, we use 
all our rooms for current provision. We would 
need to expand the old Willows site in order to 
accommodate pupils with complex needs 
appropriately.  It’s vital that there is a far 

Page 849



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

reaching and robust recruitment drive in order 
to staff the base appropriately too. 

 I support the plans to add to and increase 
specialist resources for children in Ysgol 
Glantaf as there are so few Welsh-medium 
opportunities such as this. 

 
Total Respondents 46 -   

 

Would you like to suggest any changes or alternatives? 
Respondents were given the opportunity to suggest any changes or alternatives they had to 
the proposals. Nineteen respondents took the opportunity to do so, and these comments 
can be viewed below / overleaf: 

 More SRBs in other schools. 
 Look at both sides of the city. 
 More primary age provision through the medium of Welsh, especially in the Bro 

Edern catchment. 
 More places are needed for children on the asd spectrum. 
 Open the specialist resource for children with ALN (meeting a certain entry criteria) 

and not ASD alone. 
 Compulsory staff and pupil training to increase ASD awareness. 
 A separate area or bigger area to accommodate so as not to disrupt. 
 More allocation towards WM schools. 
 I would have liked the local authority to give greater thought to the space that the 

SRB needed for the future.  Decisions around classroom space and additional space 
for meetings, counselling, therapy, etc had not been firmed up.  It would have been 
good to see the local authority plan strategically to ensure SRBs share the same type 
of facilities and resources in place in Special schools.  This would ensure that some of 
the most vulnerable learners have the opportunity to benefit from a range of 
specialist rooms (break out spaces, meeting and therapy rooms) as well as outdoor 
facilities for covered classroom/play areas and specific areas to improve 
opportunities for exercise and PE such as an astro-turf if one doesn't already. 

 Take staffs wellbeing as a top priority. 
 More provision/funding to train more specialist ALN teachers and support staff to 

meet the future demands. Consider home ALN learning pathways and establish 
networks for families. 

 Yes. Within the consultation, there is reference to adjustments. The school's local 
authority health and safety officer has made recommendations about adjustments 
to the site to increase safety. We would expect these adjustments to be made to the 
site as part of this permanent change. 

 To the Glantaf SRB -We need purpose-built facilities that can support our pupils 
needs better. Classrooms with enough space for the group size, including breakout 
rooms/areas for dis-regulated behaviours. Facilities that meet our pupils sensory 
needs - sensory light rooms, quiet space, space both indoor and outdoor for physical 
movement, sensory indoor and outdoor provision for messy sensory play/input. We 

Page 850



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

need adapted toilets and changing facilities for all pupils, including pupils with 
physical disabilities. We require facilities for pupils who require medical and personal 
care. Technology that allows us to keep up with modern world, and teaching 
expectations. Facilities to offer practical life-skills to our pupils - including house set 
up to learn independent living skills and a adapted kitchen for cooking lessons. 

 The current SRB for learners with complex additional needs has to be made a bigger 
part of these proposals. We don't just need new accommodation; we need a 
purpose-built building that enables us to offer a fully enriched curriculum for all our 
learners. 

 Investing more in the Welsh-medium sector would be preferable, as currently, only 1 
Welsh-medium school benefits from investment compared to 4 English-medium 
school.  30 places compared with >100. 

 A resource where KS4/5 pupils would have the opportunity to develop vocational 
skills e.g. a small café, would be valuable. An opportunity to handle money, simple 
cooking and engaging with customers are experiences that would increase their 
chances of getting paid employment. 

 See above - a clear priority for non-Welsh speaking children in the Scheme. 
 Autistic spectrum ALN group/class in more than one Welsh-medium school-Ysgol 

Plasmawr. 
 I have not been in any of the centres. 

 

Do you have any other comments? 
Respondents were invited to leave any other comments they had in relation to the 
consultation. Twelve respondents left feedback; these comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 

 More support and provisions. 
 Mainstream schools are failing students with complexed needs. 
 Whitchurch HS provides excellent provision these extra children can also benefit. 
 Fully support the proposal for Whitchurch High School.  The SRB is a much valued 

and respected resource in the school. 
 I supported all the schools as it would improve access to more children and make it 

more accessible to them close to where they live. 
 My only concern is space. Willows is already acting at close to capacity despite what 

the official figures say. The facilities such as toilets and the canteen are at capacity, 
even if there is more classroom space. If the new SRB is built without addressing this 
issue, then it will be inefficient as these problems will negate any perceived benefits. 

 To note the investment requirement. This is not something that can or should be 
done “on the cheap.” 

 Governors wish to support the permanent size of the centre. It is an important part 
of the school's life. However, the restrictions of the current school site do present 
genuine problems with regard to student/staff safety. Measures to address this, we 
believe are a priority, and would significantly reduce the risk of serious injury and/or 
fatality owing to oncoming traffic owing to the centre itself. 

 Best of luck with the developments. I hope that my child will benefit from a new 
building for the Centre in Glantaf. 

Page 851



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 I will be disappointed if the Welsh-medium sector loses out again in this area. 
 I am disappointed that there is no Welsh-language provision for young children. Feb 

is Language Day. Parents of Welsh-medium school children do not have enough 
choice where to send their children if they have profound needs. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 852



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area: - 
 

 No. % 
Llandaff 11 14.7 
Rhiwbina 10 13.3 
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais 10 13.3 
Llanishen 9 12.0 
Heath 8 10.7 
Fairwater 3 4.0 
Llandaff North 3 4.0 
Penylan 3 4.0 
Riverside 3 4.0 
Splott 3 4.0 
Canton 2 2.7 
Creigiau/St. Fagans 2 2.7 
Lisvane 2 2.7 
Other Electoral Ward 6 8.0 

Total Respondents  75 100.0 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 
16-24 2 1.9 
25-34 10 9.7 
35-44 41 39.8 
45-54 39 37.9 
55-64 3 2.9 
65-74 6 5.8 
Other age group 1 1.0 
Prefer not to say 1 1.0 
Total Respondents  103 100.0 

 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 
Female 85 82.5 
Male 17 16.5 
Prefer not to say 1 1.0 

Page 853



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Total Respondents  103 100.0 
Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 
Yes 1 1.0 
No 98 96.1 
Prefer not to say 3 2.9 
Total Respondents  102 100.0 

 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
 

Nine people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 
below: 

 Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 
 Mental health difficulties 
 Mobility impairment 
 Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
(Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these) 
 

 No. % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 93 90.3 
Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Indian 2 1.9 
White - Irish 2 1.9 
Other Ethnic Group 3 2.9 
Prefer not to say 3 2.9 

Total Respondents  103 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 854



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 
 
 
 
 

Provision for Children and Young People 
with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): 
Complex Learning Needs and Autism 

Spectrum Condition Provision for Learners 
Aged 3-19 - Research Findings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 855



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Background 
Cardiff Council is committed to inclusion.  

The majority of learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) attend a local mainstream 
school, and benefit from effective Additional Learning Provision (ALP). These learners do not 
need to attend a special school or Specialist Resource Base.  

However, the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a 
special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow. 

Proposals 
In order to respond to demand for additional learning needs places the Council consulted on 
proposals to: 

 Increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 to 240 from 
September 2022.  
 

 Increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School from 40 to 98 from 
September 2022.  
 

 Increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 90 to 119 from 
September 2022. 
 

 Further increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 119 to 
150 from September 2023. 
 

 Increase the designated place number of the Specialist Resource Base at Llanishen 
Fach Primary School from 20 to 30 places from September 2023.  
 

 Increase the designated number at Marlborough Primary School Specialist Resource 
Base from 20 to 30 from September 2022.  
 

 Increase the designated number at the Pentrebane Primary School Specialist 
Resource Base from 20 to 24 spaces from September 2022.  
 

 Increase the designated number at Springwood Primary School Specialist Resource 
Base from 20 to 28 from September 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 856



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Methodology 
 The survey was open from 14 December 2021 – 01 February 2022 

 
 A letter was sent to all parents of pupils in the schools affected, providing them with 

information explaining how to take part in the consultation  
 

 An e-mail was sent to a range of stakeholders, providing them with information 
explaining how to take part in the consultation  
 

 A communication campaign was conducted via social media 

 

Responses 
There were 92 responses received to the consultation. There was a number of emails / 
letters received in relation to the consultation, these can be viewed in Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 857



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 

Results 
 
Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Two in five (40.2%) respondents to the survey were parents, whilst around one in eight 
(12.0%) came from a teacher. A further two in five selected ‘other’, these can be viewed 
below. 

 
N.B. Percentages do not sum to 100% as respondents could select more than one option 

 

Other - (Please specify) 

 No. 
Teaching assistant 5 
Nursery Nurse 3 
A friend of someone who has daughter with autism 1 
Carer 1 
Child practitioner 1 
Childcare practitioner 1 
Citizen 1 
Former Teacher 1 
Friend 1 
Friend of a parent 1 
Grandad 1 
Grandmother 1 
HLTA 1 
I am a parent of an ALN child and work as a TA in 
one of the named schools 1 
Inclusion Service employee 1 
Interested Council Tax payer 1 

40.2

12.0

6.5

42.4

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

Parent Teacher School Governor Other

Please tell us whether you are responding as: (Base: 92)

Page 858



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Member of the public 1 
Headteacher 1 
Relatives 1 
Resident 1 
Resident and educator 1 
Retired teacher 1 
Special guardian 1 
Support Staff 1 

Total Respondents 30 
 

Teacher – please specify your school: 
Respondents that indicated that they were responding as a teacher were asked to specify 
their school, these can be viewed below: 

 No. 
Meadowbank School 4 
The Hollies 3 
Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre 1 
Windsor Clive Primary 1 
Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau 1 

Total Respondents 10 
 

 

School governor – please specify your school: 
Respondents that indicated that they were responding as a school governor were asked to 
specify their school, these can be viewed below: 

 No. 
Ysgol Y Wern 2 
Llanishen Fach Primary School 1 
Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 1 
Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School 1 

Total Respondents 5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 859



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 

Do you have a child/children enrolled at the following schools? 
Three in five (61.6%) respondents to the survey had no children enrolled in any of the 
schools covered in this survey. 

 No. % 
Meadowbank Special School 5 5.8 
Llanishen Fach Primary School  4 4.7 
The Hollies Special School 3 3.5 
Pentrebane Primary School 2 2.3 
Ty Gwyn Special School 1 1.2 
Other 18 20.9 
N/A 53 61.6 

Total Respondents 86 100 
 
Other - (Please specify) 
 

 No. 
Seven road 2 
Cardiff Montessori school 1 
Bluebell 1 
Cogan primary school 1 
Cwmbach Community primary school 1 
Lisvane 1 
My son has autism and attends Nant caerau 1 
On roll at Whitchurch High School and Kings 
Monkton 1 
Severn Road but looking at SEN schools 1 
St Mary’s primary / St teilos high 1 
Whitchurch primary but hoping to have a place 
in Whitchurch high SRB in September 2022 1 
Ysgol y wern 1 
Ysgol y Wern and ysgol gymraeg Pwllcoch 1 

Total Respondents 14 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 860



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 

Do you support the plans put forward to improve the provision for Children and Young 
People with additional learning needs? 
Nine In ten (90.1%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 
Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal - fifty-five respondents left feedback. These comments were then 
grouped into themes. These themes along with example comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 

Theme No. % Example comments 

Proposals will 
provide adequate 
provision / 
Concerns around 
current provision 

37 67.3 

  
 More and more children have additional needs 

and there needs to be spaces with specialist 
provisions to cater for then. 

 Because there is a need for more expert 
provision for these young people. 

 Too little support currently available. 
 There is insufficient provision compared with 

the need. 
 My child crashed out of the system because 

there was nowhere for him to go this needs 
stop. 

 

General agreement 
with the proposals 15 27.3 

  
 Every child deserves to have a place in the 

right school, for their specific needs. 

90.1 4.4 5.5

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Do you support the plans put forward to improve the provision for 
Children and Young People with additional learning needs? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 91)

Page 861



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 Because it enables children with special needs 
get places in these schools 

 

No opinion 1 1.8 

  
 What this survey doesn't tell us - does this 

number of additional spaces meet the current 
and future need of our children. 

 

Against the 
proposals 4 7.3 

  
 Lack of investment and ALN provision for 

Welsh Medium schools again by the council. 
 The plans do not make adequate provision for 

Welsh medium education.  They do not treat 
the languages equally and will, therefore, be 
open to challenge should the be implemented 
as proposed.  As a Governor of a Welsh 
medium school I have experienced the 
problems caused by a lack of consideration of 
Welsh language needs at the planning stages 
of provision.  Inevitably it leads to a need to 
try to 'retro fit' the plans for an expanded 
Welsh language capacity, creating greater 
work, pragmatic solutions and tests the 
resilience of the teaching and Council staff.  
The lack of adequate provision for Welsh 
medium education is not just an issue of 
language, it is a failure to plan for Future 
Generations adequately. 

 
Total Respondents 55 -   

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents’ comments could fall into multiple themes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 862



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Do you support the proposal for each of the school sites? 
 

Ty Gwyn Special School - Increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 
198 to 240 from September 2022. 
Nine in ten (88.8%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

Meadowbank Special School - Increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special 
School from 40 to 98 from September 2022 
Nine in ten (90.2%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

 

88.8 7.5 3.8

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Ty Gwyn Special School - Increase the designated number of Ty 
Gwyn Special School from 198 to 240 from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 80)

90.2 4.9 4.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Meadowbank Special School - Increase the designated number of 
Meadowbank Special School from 40 to 98 from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 82)

Page 863



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

The Hollies Special School - Increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School 
from 90 to 119 from September 2022 
Over nine tenths (93.6%) of respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

The Hollies Special School - Further increase the designated number of The Hollies Special 
School from 119 to 150 from September 2023 
Nine in ten (91.1%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

93.6 5.1

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

The Hollies Special School - Increase the designated number of The 
Hollies Special School from 90 to 119 from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 78)

91.1 6.3

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

The Hollies Special School - Further increase the designated number 
of The Hollies Special School from 119 to 150 from September 2023

Yes Don't know No(Base: 79)

Page 864



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Llanishen Fach Primary School - Increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource 
Base at Llanishen Fach Primary School from 20 to 30 places from September 2023 
Nine in ten (91.0%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

Marlborough Primary School - Increase the designated number at Marlborough Primary 
School Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 30 from September 2022 
Nine in ten (90.9%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

91.0 5.1 3.8

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Llanishen Fach Primary School - Increase the designated number at 
the Specialist Resource Base at Llanishen Fach Primary School from 

20 to 30 places from September 2023

Yes Don't know No(Base: 78)

90.9 6.5

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Marlborough Primary School - Increase the designated number at 
Marlborough Primary School Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 30 

from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 77)

Page 865



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Pentrebane Primary School - Increase the designated number at the Pentrebane Primary 
School Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 24 spaces from September 2022 
Nine in ten (89.6%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

Springwood Primary School - Increase the designated number at Springwood Primary School 
Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 28 from September 2022 
Nine in ten (90.8%) respondents agreed with the proposal. 

 

 

 

 

 

89.6 6.5 3.9

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Pentrebane Primary School - Increase the designated number at the 
Pentrebane Primary School Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 24 

spaces from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 77)

90.8 6.6

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Springwood Primary School - Increase the designated number at 
Springwood Primary School Specialist Resource Base from 20 to 28 

from September 2022

Yes Don't know No(Base: 76)

Page 866



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

If you do or not support the proposed changes than please explain why: 
 

General agreement with the proposals 
 

 I have a daughter with autism and am currently looking at these schools for here. 
She would be due to start reception in September 2022. The increase in numbers at 
these schools may help her get a place in a school that will support her needs.  The 
increase in numbers will give more children like my daughter a place at a school they 
deserve in order to fulfil their full potential. 

 I do support the changes because every child deserves a place in a school where 
their needs are met. I have friends and family with children in special schools and I 
have had to see them fight and challenge rulings regarding their child qualifying for 
those schools. It isn’t fair for children with needs to have to go mainstream schools if 
they will not thrive in that environment. 

 I would love to see the capacity of each of these schools increased at a rate that 
includes training more specialist staff and building extensions to the schools to 
accommodate more classrooms.  I hope that the designated numbers can be 
increased without diminishing the support given to the children already enrolled. 

 More children are coming into mainstream with complex needs which cannot be 
met in a mainstream class. For the benefit of the children and to give them the best 
start in life they need specialist support. 

 All schools need more support for the children who are supposed to manage without 
access to these units. I thought my son had learning difficulties till I moved him to a 
small independent school. Where his sensory and hearing needs were met. He's 
actually bright, but we would never have known if hadn't moved him. 

 My child has ASD and therefore has additional learning needs. Currently he is doing 
well in his mainstream primary school, but it may be that in the future he would be 
better placed in a designated school. If there are more places available there would 
be more chance of my child getting a place in school that better suits his needs. 

 This will help a lot of children like my daughter find the right school for their needs. 
We are hoping that my daughter can attend one of these schools in September 2022 
as she has autism. 

 I support the increased numbers of places across Cardiff's special needs provision. 
 I believe it’s important that every child get the care they need. 
 More places are needed to support the growing number of children that are being 

diagnosed. 
 I have seen Parents struggle to get additional support for their Children for years. 

This support should be readily available to them. 
 Yes, however more and more children are presenting in Mainstream schools, who 

cannot be supported in the budgets they have. They need to further increase the 
number further at all of these schools! 

 Clearly not enough provision in Cardiff currently. These are very much needed. 
 There is increasing need for specialist ALN provision. The approach of raising this 

provision across the range of schools, as opposed to focusing on a few schools, 
increases the opportunity for pupils to be in the most beneficial specialist 
environment. Whilst having access to ALN provision, due to limited school places, 

Page 867



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

some pupils across Cardiff are not in the most appropriate school environment for 
their individual needs. 

 These particular schools have seen a high demand for places in recent years but 
struggle to accommodate due to the numbers of places and facilities needed. It is 
lovely to see sensory rooms and other facilities being incorporated into the plans. 

 You need to make further improvements in the high school sector. 
 As a Governing Body, we welcome the proposal to invest in resources for some of 

our most vulnerable learners and are grateful to Cardiff Council for prioritising 
excellent resources and critically to grow staff specialism in areas of most need.  We 
are fully aware that there is a need to meet the increasing demand for ALN provision 
and believe that the council is taking significant steps towards developing that 
provision. However, we have a high level of concern relating to the lack of parity in 
current provision in the Welsh Medium sector in Cardiff.  We are very disappointed 
that these proposals do not in any way address that lack of parity and go some way 
towards increasing the current gap in provision between English and Welsh-medium 
provision. This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted 
the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary 
sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector.  We believe that investment 
in one sector only (English Medium) will encourage parents / families to transfer ALN 
pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources are superior.  
Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity of 
provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  We feel that an urgent audit is 
necessary in order to ascertain ALN within the WM sector (especially in the Primary 
sector). The documentation demonstrates a growing need within the EM sector but 
not in the WM sector.  We believe that an audit would clarify the current position 
and would welcome clarity on the current numbers of pupils who would benefit 
from specialist placements in the Welsh-medium. We believe that the current 
proposals do not take steps to develop specialist WM support in the primary sector 
in particular and feel that there is a lack of strategic planning for provision across 
primary and secondary.  It would be expected that, to address needs, the number of 
places available in specialist provisions would be more equal in the primary and 
secondary sectors.  This would aid early intervention.  It seems that primary schools 
are (just about) coping with children with high level needs. We believe that the 
development of provision in the WM sector needs to consider the different needs of 
the sector, namely a growing incidence of high-tariff, low-incident need.  To achieve 
parity, the provision does not necessarily have to mirror the provision seen in EM 
but rather needs to be thoughtful and bespoke, with creative solutions.  Such a 
solution should place at its hear the need to develop the workforce.  We believe that 
increasing and developing specialist provision will, in itself, also serve to develop the 
workforce.  The limited provision to date has not enabled this. The WM sector as a 
whole is eager to establish a close working partnership between the sector and LA 
leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these challenges, 
which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future. 

 I do not know enough about the position of each individual school in the list, but I 
am very supportive of children with special needs having every opportunity possible 
like any other child in a school within their community. 

Page 868



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 We support the above changes to the English-language sector, in response to the 
growth in need, but the same investment must be seen in the Welsh-medium sector 
to ensure equal opportunities for all pupils.  The LEA is missing an opportunity here 
to promote the Welsh language and seems to go against the Welsh Government's 
aspirations in terms of the Welsh language.  We, as the Governing Body of Ysgol 
Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof, fully support the investment in provision for the most 
vulnerable pupils in our communities.    We would like to commend the County 
Council's intention to invest in the best and critical support to grow staff expertise 
and specialist centres in areas of clear demand.  Securing investment at this level 
creates a specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the increasing 
demand for provision in this area.  However, I would like to express our deep 
concern about the lack of proposed Welsh-medium provision for our most 
vulnerable and needy pupils. We believe that this consultation contradicts the 
recommendations of Cardiff’s WESP consultation where the opening of three 
primary specialist centres and three secondary specialist centres is mentioned. 
Investing in only one sector (English) encourages families / parents to move ALN 
children to an English-medium sector where provision and investment is best.  
Investment in the Welsh-medium sector is needed to ensure equal provision and full 
inclusion within the sector's schools. 

 

 
Opinion split / Don’t' know across the proposals 

 
 Large number increases may affect existing pupils and that impact needs to be taken 

into account - space, staff (properly trained and experienced), shared resources e.g. 
trampoline, pools etc.   The ones i put i don't know is because i don't know enough 
about them to give an opinion. Yes, was for small increases. No for huge increases 
likely to have impact on existing pupils. 

 I have put don't know for most as it depends on the reasons and what sort of places 
are needed. As stated above I do not believe that just because you are Autistic a 
base is the right place. Llanishen Fach I have put no as in my opinion it is an srb on a 
mainstream site which would need expanding taking away from the rest of the 
school.  It is big enough. The parking/drop off facilities are not good enough. The SRB 
is used to segregate difficult learners. There seems to have been a real rise in severe 
medical needs. 

 I have indicated 'don't know' to each of the questions as the premise of the question 
is fundamentally wrong - it is not that I don't support an increase in provision, I just 
don't think this plan provides it at a strategic level. 

 The number of increases seems quite low. I think more is needed than you are 
proposing. 

 
 

 

 

Page 869



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 

General disagreement with the proposals 

 The Mainstream primaries with additional needs units will end up putting children 
who have ALN in the base rather than supporting them with their needs inclusively 
within a classroom as it will suit them better. It does not always suit the child better. 

 I'm not too sure on what exactly you mean when you say the numbers will be 
increased in each of these schools? Does this mean that each class will now become 
bigger? Or that there will just be more classrooms to accommodate the extra 
children whilst at the same time not interfering with the current classes? If you are 
looking to making the classes bigger then unfortunately, I don't feel confident in the 
staff being able to manage that due to personal experience. My 4-year-old son is in a 
class with just 6 other kids and 4 staff members, yet there have been a few accidents 
already in only this first term. So I fear to think what would the outcome be if the 
numbers in his class were to be increased. 
 

Concerns around lack of Welsh medium investment 
 

 Whilst I am supportive of the proposals to increase ALN provision across the city, it is 
hugely disappointing that there no intention outlined here to increase ALN provision 
for those choosing Welsh Medium Education.   Your draft WESP indicates you will 
deliver ‘An increase in the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with 
additional learning needs (ALN) in accordance with the duties imposed by the 
Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales)  Act 2018. How will you 
achieve this vision with no investment in Welsh medium ALN? 

 WM schools should get more investment and more provision. 
 Can we draw your attention to the LEA’s review of its Welsh medium Additional 

Learning Needs provision in 2009-10, conducted by Meinir Rees HMI, and previously 
a SENCO at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr?  This review noted the establishing of 
new Welsh medium schools as an opportunity to develop specialist Additional 
Learning Needs provision.  Sadly, time has proved that this has been an opportunity 
missed.  5 new Welsh medium primary schools and a secondary school have since 
opened, with no Additional Learning Needs specialist provision.  Furthermore, 4 
Welsh medium schools have been expanded and provided with new buildings - again 
with no specialist ALN provision.  With Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Coed y Gof 
closing to be replaced by a more specific Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gymraeg 
Pwll Coch, the only new provision for Welsh medium schools since this 2009-10 
review is the revolving door provision at Ysgol Pen y Groes.  This lack of specialist 
Welsh medium provision has led to parents moving their children to English medium 
to satisfy their children’s additional learning needs. 

 

 

 

 

Page 870



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Specific school comments 

Pentrebane 

 Very small and congested school. Inadequate space and provision for children 
already present in school or base. 

 To increase spaces at Pentrebane Primary school, a lot more needs to be done to 
improve the state of the existing facilities, provision and space in school, as it is a 
very small school and space already inadequate for the number of children present. 

 
Ty Gwyn 

 Concerns - Staffing - i.e. numbers of quality suitable staff to deal with pmld and and 
children so that quality education/ healthcare is delivered.  Transport issues - 
increasing vehicle numbers exacerbating an already difficult to manage situation.  
Resources being further overstretched leading to timetabling / fairness issues. 
School community relationships being lost due to ever expanding 
buildings/workforce. Will there be ongoing council support/ funding? 

 It's too much of a jump in numbers, the reason these schools are fantastic is because 
they can provide what is needed and have smaller classes. The increase would be 
amazing, if everything was increased e g. The space, the staff, the resources, physical 
resources.  I'm not sure this would be the case. 

 
Meadowbank 

 I support the expansion of Meadowbank school if the facilities proposed are fully 
tailored to meet the needs of the more complex children who will attend 

 It's too much of a jump in numbers, the reason these schools are fantastic is because 
they can provide what is needed and have smaller classes. The increase would be 
amazing, if everything was increased e g. The space, the staff, the resources, physical 
resources.  I'm not sure this would be the case. 

 

The Hollies 

 It's too much of a jump in numbers, the reason these schools are fantastic is because 
they can provide what is needed and have smaller classes. The increase would be 
amazing, if everything was increased e g. The space, the staff, the resources, physical 
resources.  I'm not sure this would be the case. 

 Improvement to the school building is very much needed in order to improve the 
provision for pupils with autism- increasing places will enable more children to 
access specialist provision across the city. 

 

 

 

Page 871



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Would you like to suggest any changes or alternatives? 
Respondents were given the opportunity to suggest any changes or alternatives they had to 
the proposals. Twenty-five respondents took the opportunity to do so, and these comments 
can be viewed below / overleaf:  

 More SRB's in other schools. 
 More SRBs in other schools, more facilities and space to be created for the provision 

at Pentrebane Primary School. 
 I would like to see more permanent one-to-one staff in 'mainstream' schools too. 
 Look at local grass root groups and charities that may be able to help with 

supporting and creating a sense of community, identity and accessible activities 
outside of the school environment. 

 Small units in all schools. 
 Better ASD and neurodiversity training for all school staff and better choice of 

provision including self-directed learning support. 
 Another new school. 
 The hollies, school for autism, seems to need a new build. Check feasibility of sites 

for large increases in numbers proposed. 
 It is paramount that the Local Education Authorities improve the access to pupils 

with any ALN. Further training is required in non-specialist schools to support 
unstatemented pupils and especially around Individual Educational Learning Plans 
for pupils. More Educational psychologists are needed, and schools should stop 
covering up their mistakes on paper to "appear as being supportive and inclusive". 

 Extra classrooms and don't interfere with the current ones. 
 I suggest all school staff are taught about autism so all children who go to 

mainstream get the best they can put of their school life. 
 Look at Faith based schools to offer this support as well! These numbers needed to 

be doubled if not quadrupled. 
 Additional spaces in Welsh language secondary. 
 Offer more options for education, EOTAS options, self directed learning, forest 

school. 
 I would like to see an impact study that demonstrates how this plan takes into 

account a) increased demand for Welsh language provision, b) the Welsh 
Government plans to increase the numbers of Welsh speakers even further and c) 
how Future Generations have been considered in this plan. 

 Consideration for Welsh Medium ALN Provision. 
 Allocation towards WM schools. 
 Increased provision for ALN who do not have a statement/IDP - the current 

secondary school provision for this category of learners is non-existent in Cardiff. 
Hence we have had to go out of borough. 

 Regarding the Meadowbank new build, there are some major flaws in the proposed 
design including the lack of an enclosed walkway for the children to safely reach 
their classroom, some 200 metres, not acceptable for children with mobility and 
anxiety issues, also the lack of bespoke sensory areas in the new build is also a major 
flaw, there is a huge need for these to meet the children’s complex medical and 
sensory needs. 

Page 872



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

 More specialists provision. Add units to primary schools if they have the space and 
the need. 

 A full review of existing provision in order to provide parity between Welsh and 
English medium. 

 The consultation document in the section Demand for Places on Page 16 outlines the 
projected demand (plus 10%) as 602 by 25/26 across the city. It states this is taking 
into account returning the out of county placements as well as the projections from 
population data analysis. Concern is raised whether there is sufficient future capacity 
proposed to meet not only known demand but also unknown demand leading to 
issues in years to come. A question is raised why the capacity proposed isn't further 
increased, particularly as savings in the region of £3.8m would be realised with the 
return of the out of county placements.   The Local Development Plan proposed a 
large increase in housing across the city in the coming years with the subsequent 
need of increased infrastructure including new school provision. It is hoped that any 
new school building proposals would include the need for additional ALN provision 
on top of what is currently proposed.   The proposals outline increasing capacity to 
meet this increased demand in both special schools as well as in Special Resource 
Bases situated in mainstream schools. Further analysis would be needed to ensure a 
'fit' for each pupil was attained to ensure pupils accessed the correct provision based 
on their assessed need not on availability of placement. 

 The consultation contradicts the recent Welsh in Education Strategic Plan which 
noted the council’s ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium Schools 
in the primary sector and a further three SRB in the secondary sector.  Investment is 
needed in the Welsh Medium Sector in order to ensure parity of provision and full 
inclusion within Welsh Medium Schools.  An urgent audit is also required in the 
primary sector in order to ascertain the correct numbers.  How was the conclusion 
reached that the English Medium Sector has a growing need but not in the Welsh 
Medium Sector? Was the Welsh Medium Sector included in this research? 

 A current audit into the needs of pupils in the primary Welsh-medium sector is 
needed soon. The documentation shows an increasing need within the English-
medium sector, but NOT in the Welsh-medium sector, which is not an accurate 
reflection of the situation within our schools. There is a clear lack of provision in 
terms of emotional health and well-being and behaviour within the Welsh-medium 
sector for Stage 4-5 pupils (who have needs beyond mainstream provision).  The 
recommendations do not address this need at all. In addition, there is a lack of space 
/ rooms for wellbeing/ nutrition classes in many schools due to the popularity of 
Welsh-medium education and the lack of suitable placements. Opportunities to 
expand ALN provision and resources have been missed in new Welsh-medium 
schools in the city, and investment in specialist centres is needed to create Welsh-
medium ALN capacity within the workforce.  A rich training programme is needed to 
drive specialist ALN training within the Welsh-medium workforce at all levels.    
There is a clear lack of consideration of autism needs within the primary sector, 
particularly in establishing an autism specialist centre within the secondary sector, in 
the recommendations, and a plan needs to be put in place to ensure that we provide 
appropriate education for all individuals, and that provision is available in Welsh.   
The Body does not feel that the Local Authority is complying with the requirements 
of Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act in relation to ALN 

Page 873



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

provision which states: "Local authorities will have a duty to take all reasonable steps 
to secure Welsh language provision where required and, when reviewing UDPs, to 
consider the adequacy of Welsh-medium additional learning provision". As a result, 
this can lead to an increase in dispute between the Authority and parents, and an 
increase in the number of tribunal cases due to a lack of provision in Welsh. 

 Provision will be required for children with ASD. Dedicated units for children with 
ALN will be required in Welsh very quickly. 

 
 
Do you have any other comments? 
Respondents were invited to leave any other comments they had in relation to the 
consultation. Twenty-four respondents left feedback; these comments can be viewed below 
/ overleaf 

 Autism SRB provision at St. Mary the Virgin Primary School, for residents of Cardiff 
City Centre area. 

 SRB provision for residents in and around city centre at St. Mary the Virgin primary 
school. 

 Done cautiously with grants and all the children’s needs in mind this would be 
wonderful. 

 Better assessment and support before children fail. 
 Listen to all experts including parents who really do understand their child. 

Educational professionals within county need to fully understand the picture. 
 Hope you are having extra teachers in to cover the extra kids in the class. 
 The staffing ratio needs to increase as well as the ratio of places. Expanding class 

sizes is not an option but expanding number of classes is. 
 Whilst I really support the increase in places. My concern is that sufficient resources, 

space and staff are also provided to do this safely, and to maintain the standards 
needed. 

 Every child deserves an education. 
 Mainstream schools need further training in identifying and supporting all pupils 

with ALN and especially schools in Caerau and Ely as these schools especially 
Pencaerau. 

 Yea train all staff on what autism is and how to deal as not one size fits all approach 
oral. 

 I am concerned that safeguards are put in place to ensure that pupil numbers at 
Meadowbank do not increase without the necessary changes to the school facilities 
being implemented first. An increase in pupil intake, especially with increasingly 
complex needs, requires changes to the building’s current capabilities. Primary 
concerns are the current suitability of outdoor areas, sensory regulation spaces and 
changing facilities. 

 The school at this present moment would be to small and would need to be bigger to 
accommodate more individuals. 

 Meadowbank School is situated within a residential area, located alongside two 
other primary schools and a community centre.  Parking is at capacity for the site 
and surrounding areas.  If the plan is to double the capacity of places for pupils, 

Page 874



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

staffing levels will also increase.  Are there plans to provide additional parking spaces 
as there is already a clear need which will be exasperated by additional staff? 

 Could you please share the EIA that has been completed for this proposal. 
 This is all very positive! 
 I fully support the changes to The Hollies School providing that Cardiff follow through 

with their promises to improve the provision for both ne and existing pupils.  The 
current capacity is 90 however there are already 117 pupil on roll.  The school has 
already been promised updated facilities including new classrooms which have not 
been done so there is already greater pressure on staffing due to increased numbers 
in classes that are not designed for this purpose.  In addition, consideration needs to 
be given to updating the communal areas that pupils with ASD need access to e.g. 
sensory rooms.  Without this being improved, an increase in numbers to 150 would 
mean that the school would not be able to provide the individual provision that 
pupils with ALN will need.   None of this information is given in the consultation 
document and therefore would like to request that more consideration is given to 
the information that is published in the consultation document.  Not only are the 
numbers on roll not correct but there is no detail in changes the council proposes to 
enable the school to accommodate the higher number of pupils.  I am sure that this 
information is shared during consultation meetings but for those who are unable to 
attend, there is simply not enough detail.  For example, the document says that 
there will be no negative impact on teaching and learning as a result of these 
changes, however without the additional information on what provision the existing 
and new pupils will have access to, I am unable to see how this conclusion could be 
made. 

 Increased provision for ALN who do not have a statement/IDP - the current 
secondary school provision for this category of learners is non-existent in Cardiff. 
Hence we have had to go out of borough. 

 Architects and decision makers need to listen more closely concerning the 
Meadowbank new build, staff are the experts on how the children can be best 
supported, not building designers or finance officers.  If the council is going to spend 
on a new build, please make it fit for purpose for the long term, for the increasingly 
complex children to be accommodated there. 

 We see a clear deficiency as regards wellbeing, behaviour, and emotional support in 
the Welsh Medium sector specifically for pupils on Stage 4-5 who struggle with 
mainstream provision.  Due to the lack of space within Welsh Medium schools, it is 
proving difficult if not impossible to provide nurture / wellbeing classes within most 
settings.  You will be aware that Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau, has funded a highly 
praised nurture class out of our budget (mainly PDG) to meet this need.  This nurture 
class is housed within a demountable building that is becoming unfit for purpose!  
We feel the LEA is losing an opportunity to provide specialist bases for these pupils. 

 As a Governing Body, we welcome the proposal to invest in resources for some of 
our most vulnerable learners and are grateful to Cardiff Council for prioritising 
excellent resources and critically to grow staff specialism in areas of most need.  We 
are fully aware that there is a need to meet the increasing demand for ALN provision 
and believe that the council is taking significant steps towards developing that 
provision. However, we have a high level of concern relating to the lack of parity in 
current provision in the Welsh Medium sector in Cardiff.  We are very disappointed 

Page 875



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

that these proposals do not in any way address that lack of parity, and go some way 
towards increasing the current gap in provision between English and Welsh-medium 
provision. This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted 
the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary 
sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector.  We believe that investment 
in one sector only (English Medium) will encourage parents / families to transfer ALN 
pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources are superior.  
Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity of 
provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  We feel that an urgent audit is 
necessary in order to ascertain ALN within the WM sector (especially in the Primary 
sector). The documentation demonstrates a growing need within the EM sector but 
not in the WM sector.  We believe that an audit would clarify the current position 
and would welcome clarity on the current numbers of pupils who would benefit 
from specialist placements in the Welsh-medium. We believe that the current 
proposals do not take steps to develop specialist WM support in the primary sector 
in particular and feel that there is a lack of strategic planning for provision across 
primary and secondary.  It would be expected that, to address needs, the number of 
places available in specialist provisions would be more equal in the primary and 
secondary sectors.  This would aid early intervention.  It seems that primary schools 
are (just about) coping with children with high level needs. We believe that the 
development of provision in the WM sector needs to consider the different needs of 
the sector, namely a growing incidence of high-tariff, low-incident need.  To achieve 
parity, the provision does not necessarily have to mirror the provision seen in EM 
but rather needs to be thoughtful and bespoke, with creative solutions.  Such a 
solution should place at its hear the need to develop the workforce.  We believe that 
increasing and developing specialist provision will, in itself,  also serve to develop the 
workforce.  The limited provision to date has not enabled this. The WM sector as a 
whole is eager to establish a close working partnership between the sector and LA 
leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these challenges, 
which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future. 

 The building works programme must take into consideration the needs of the 
children and how they find change and disruption a challenge so delays in 
completing works must be avoided. 

 We also feel that there is a lost opportunity when establishing and building new 
Welsh Medium Primary schools that due consideration hasn’t taken place for an 
inclusion of an ALN provision.  Newly established SRB (Schools Resource Base) seems 
to be an afterthought and are put into existing buildings rather than building a 
purpose built building.  We encourage Cardiff Council when looking at future plans 
to build new school buildings for Ysgol Pen-y-Pil and Ysgol Nant Caerau to look into 
establishing a fit for purpose permanent home to these SRB’s. 

 It would be an idea to gather views from Welsh and Dual Stream schools before 
proceeding with these plans. 

 
 

 

Page 876



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area 
 

 No. % 
Riverside 9 13.4 
Rhiwbina 8 11.9 
Llanishen 6 9.0 
Caerau 5 7.5 
Ely 4 6.0 
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais 4 6.0 
Canton 3 4.5 
Creigiau/St. Fagans 3 4.5 
Heath 3 4.5 
Llandaff North 3 4.5 
Splott 3 4.5 
Adamsdown 2 3.0 
Cathays 2 3.0 
Cyncoed 2 3.0 
Fairwater 2 3.0 
Pentwyn 2 3.0 
Other Electoral Ward 6 9.0 

Total Respondents 67 100.0 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 
16-24 4 4.4 
25-34 15 16.5 
35-44 28 30.8 
45-54 24 26.4 
55-64 13 14.3 
75+ 2 2.2 
Other age group 1 1.1 
Prefer not to say 4 4.4 
Total Respondents 91 100.0 

 

 

 

 

Page 877



Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 
Female 72 80.0 
Male 14 15.6 
Prefer not to say 4 4.4 
Total Respondents 90 100.0 

 
 
Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 
Yes 9 10.0 
No 71 78.9 
Prefer not to say 10 11.1 

Total Respondents 90 100.0 
 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
Seventeen people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be 
viewed below: 

 Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 
 Mental health difficulties 
 Wheelchair user 
 Mobility impairment 
 Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

 
What is your ethnic group? 
(Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these). 
 

 No. % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern 
Irish/British 67 74.4 
Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Indian 4 4.4 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White 
and Black Caribbean 3 3.3 
White - Any other white background 3 3.3 
Arab 2 2.2 
Other Ethnic Group 5 5.6 
Prefer not to say 6 6.7 

Total Respondents 90 100.0 
 

Page 878



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

 

Appendix 9 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: School Organisation 
Planning: Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs 
(ALN) 

New/Existing/Updating/Amending: Post consultation  

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Richard Portas  Job Title: Programme Director  

Service Team: Schools Programme  Service Area: Education  

Assessment Date: February 2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 
1. To inform Cabinet of the responses received following public consultation 

held from 11 October 2021 to 17 January 2022 on the following proposal 
regarding the establishment of additional learning needs provision at 
Moorland Primary School: 
 

 Establish a 20 place Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged 

children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from 

September 2022. 

   
2. To inform Cabinet of the responses received following public consultation 

held from 14 December 2021 – 01 February 2022 on the following 
proposals regarding the expansion of additional learning needs provision: 

 

 establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base for learners with complex 

learning needs at Willows High School from September 2023 

 

 increase the designated number at the Llanishen High School Specialist 

Resource Base for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition from 20 to 

45 places from September 2022 

 

 establish a 30 place Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 

alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource Base for learners 

with Autism Spectrum Condition from September 2023 

 

 increase the designated number of Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 to 

240 from September 2022 

 

 increase the designated number of Meadowbank Special School from 40 

to 98 from September 2022 

 

Page 881



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

 

 increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School from 90 

to 119 from September 2022  

 

 further increase the designated number of The Hollies Special School 

from 119 to 150 from September 2023 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Llanishen Fach Primary School for learners with complex learning needs 

from 20 to 30 places from September 2023 

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Marlborough Primary School for learners with severe and complex 

learning needs from 20 to 30 from September 2022  

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Pentrebane Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition 

from 20 to 24 spaces from September 2022  

 

 increase the designated number at the Specialist Resource Base at 

Springwood Primary School for learners with Autism Spectrum Condition 

from 20 to 28 from September 2022 

 
 
 

 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.] 

 
Officers consulted with a range of stakeholders including pupils, local residents, 
local schools, Councillors, local community groups and residents on the 
proposal as set out at section 1.   

 
The consultation process involved: 
 

 publication of bilingual consultation documents outlining background, 

rationale and implications to parents, Headteachers and Chairs of 

Governors, all Members of local wards, local residents and other 

stakeholders (a copy of the consultation documents can be seen at 

Appendix 1);  

 publication of bilingual summary documents setting out the main points of 

the consultation documents (a copy of the summary documents can be 

Page 882



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

seen at Appendix 2); 

 publication of information in community languages upon request;  

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with Governors and staff at 

Moorland Primary School, Whitchurch High School, Willows High School, 

Llanishen High School, The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High 

School, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, Ty Gwyn Special School, 

Meadowbank Special School, The Hollies Special School, Llanishen Fach 

Primary School, Pentrebane Primary School, Springwood Primary School 

(notes from the meetings can be seen at Appendix 3); 

 consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams/in person with pupil 

representatives at Moorland Primary School, Willows High School, 

Llanishen High School, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, Meadowbank 

Special School, Llanishen Fach Primary School, Pentrebane Primary 

School, Springwood Primary School (notes from these meetings can be 

seen at Appendix 4);  

 Ty Gwyn Special School and The Hollies Special School facilitated 

consultation with their pupils and provided details of the views gathered 

(details can be seen at Appendix 4); 

 the pupil consultations that took place in person were conducted in line with 

the relevant Health and Safety guidance. 

 public consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams at which the proposal was 

explained and questions answered (notes from the meetings can be seen at 

Appendix 5);  

 drop-in sessions were offered via Microsoft Teams where officers were 

available to answer questions (there were no requests for drop-in sessions);  

 letters setting out details of the proposals and where further information 

could be found were sent to local residents and businesses in the area 

surrounding the school sites subject to the proposed changes; 

 a communication campaign via social media; 

 a consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the 

consultation documents and summary documents;  

 an online response from at www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals 

 

For stakeholders who did not have access to digital platforms the opportunity to 

discuss the proposed changes via telephone was available.  

 

The views expressed at Council organised meetings, drop-in sessions, 

telephone calls, and on paper or electronically through the appropriate 

channels, have been recorded. Responses received were regarding the 

proposal during the consultation period. 

 

Views were sought from interested stakeholders via an online survey and a 

hard copy version of the survey within the consultation document.  

Page 883

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals


CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

  

The details presented in the report, represent the views expressed during the 

consultation process. These include the wider stakeholder survey, formal 

responses, e-mail responses, views expressed at public meetings, drop-in 

sessions, telephone calls and pupil consultation meetings.  

 

The views expressed in the wider stakeholder surveys reflect those raised in 

the e-mail responses received.  

 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years X   

18 - 65 years X   

Over 65 years  X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  
The impact will be positive as the proposals will support the sufficiency of places 
in suitable specialist learning environments.  
 
This provision is age dependent and therefore not accessible to pupils outside 
of this age range, or adults, either locally or in the wider community.  
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
 

If the proposals were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be 
carried out to identify the accessibility of any new accommodation.  The equality 
impact assessment would take into account policies such as the Equality Act 
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations such as, BS8300, 
Part M and relevant Building Bulletins. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from the 
proposal would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal. This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

Page 884



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment     

Physical Impairment    

Visual Impairment    

Learning Disability X   

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition    

Mental Health     

Substance Misuse    

Other     

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The impact will be positive as the proposals will support the sufficiency of places 
in suitable specialist learning environments.  
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
If the proposals were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be 
carried out to identify the accessibility of any new accommodation new school 
building.  The equality impact assessment would take into account policies such 
as the Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations 
such as, BS8300, Part M and relevant Building Bulletins. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from the 
proposal would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal. This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 

 X  

Page 885



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resources bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage   X 

Civil Partnership   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

Page 886



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy   X 

Maternity   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialists resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White   X 

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups   X 

Asian / Asian British   X 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British   X 

Other Ethnic Groups   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  

Page 887



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist   X 

Christian   X 

Hindu    X 

Humanist   X 

Jewish    X 

Muslim   X 

Sikh   X 

Other   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
 The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The senior staff in a school would be best placed to manage diversity in terms of 
belief. (e.g. provision of a space for prayer).   
 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men  X  

Women  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
special resources bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

Page 888



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 

 

Maintained school provision admits pupils of both sexes and this would continue 
to be the case. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual   X  

Gay Men  X  

Gay Women/Lesbians  X  

Heterosexual/Straight  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
special resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual people are likely to be discriminated against in workplace recruitment. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.10  Socio-economic Duty 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the Socio-economic Duty?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

   

Page 889



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 10 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes are expected to have a positive impact on the Socio-
economic Duty. The Council’s has made a clear commitment to continuing the 
investment in, and improvement of, Cardiff schools to make sure every child has 
the best possible start in life (www.cardiffcommitment.co.uk).  
 
The delivery of 21st Century Learning environments will ensure that there are 
appropriate, high quality school places for young people, which meet the needs 
of Cardiff’s growing and changing population.  
 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that 
standards in schools are high, that teaching is good, and that leadership and 
governance is strong.  
 
The Council does not expect the proposal to have any negative impact on the 
quality of standards of education for pupils, at these schools. 
 
Some of the funding that a school receives is based on the number of pupils in 
the school who receive Free School Meals. All schools in Cardiff would receive 
funding for these pupils. There is no information available that suggests that the 
proposals would have a negative effect on pupils who receive Free School 
Meals. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
N/A 
 
 
 

 
3.11    Welsh Language 
Will this Policy/ Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact (positive/negative) on the Welsh Language? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

   

 

Please give details/ consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the Welsh 
medium sector has historically been lower than in the English medium sector.  
This has been changing over the last 4-5 years, with schools reporting an 

Page 890



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 11 

 

increased incidence of ALN, in all areas of need.   
 

A review of ALN in the Welsh medium sector was undertaken with Welsh 
medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP).  Schools reported a small but significant number of examples of pupils 
with ALN leaving the Welsh medium sector in order to access specialist 
resource bases or special schools.   

 
There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families who 
would otherwise choose Welsh medium education, opt instead for English 
medium if their child has ALN, in case their child needs to transfer to the 
specialist sector at a later date.   

 
Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the sector, 
including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to generate more 
confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the sector.   

 
A new primary base was established at Ysgol Pwll Coch; a ‘feeder’ school for 
Ysgol Glantaf, where the secondary base is established.  The two bases cater 
for learners with severe learning difficulties, providing a specialist curriculum and 
supporting a range of secondary needs including physical and medical needs, 
speech and language difficulties and autism.   

 
In 2021 there is growing demand for resource bases for pupils with autism, who 
are average to high achievers, and would need a more integrative model of 
support than that provided by the two existing bases.  There are currently 8 
secondary aged learners, and 15 primary aged learners who would benefit from 
placement in an ASD base. This is a short term priority, given the risk that if 
current placements fail, the only option would be to offer a transfer to an English 
medium setting.  

 
A primary wellbeing class has been established, hosted at Ysgol Pen y Groes.  
The wellbeing class works flexibly to address needs in different age phases, or 
to provide an outreach model, depending on current need.   

 
To support emotional health and wellbeing needs in secondary phase, a ‘virtual’ 
base/ PRU has been piloted across the three secondary schools, starting in 
2018.  The pilot is due for further review in 2021.   

 
The priority is to ensure the three schools have adequate facilities and 
accommodation to provide effective Step 3 and 4 proviso, complemented by the 
virtual base/ PRU.  Medium term, the virtual base/ PRU will eventually need a 
fixed location at one of the schools, with designated accommodation, to reduce 
the risk that young people with the most complex needs may need to leave the 
Welsh sector to access more specialist provision. 

 
As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop additional 

Page 891



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 12 

 

provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh medium education is a 
genuine choice for learners with complex ALN.   

 
The pool of ALN qualified and experienced teaching staff is limited in 
comparison to the English sector.  Any plan to develop Welsh medium specialist 
provision will need to be supported by an ALN Workforce Development Plan.  
 
In accordance with the timetable set by Welsh Government, the Council is 
working closely with its partners on the Cardiff Welsh Education Forum to 
develop the new ten-year WESP for the city. It is expected the plan will be 
available for public consultation in autumn 2021 before being submitted for 
approval to the Welsh Government in early 2022. The first ten-year Plan will 
commence on 1 September 2022 and expire on 31 August 2032.  
 
Consultation on the draft WESP will seek views on how best to grow Welsh-
medium education and on how to meet the local targets set by Welsh 
Government, in order to inform future proposals.  The WESP will set out how the 
Council will increase the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with 
additional learning needs. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
Demand for WM ALN places will be kept under review and proposals brought 
forward in line with the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  
 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 
The Council’s Accessibility Officer would be given the opportunity to comment 
on the schemes. 
 

  
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age See Generic Over Arching below 

Disability 

Gender Reassignment 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

Pregnancy & Maternity 

Race 

Religion/Belief 

Page 892



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 13 

 

Sex 

Sexual Orientation 

Socio-economic Duty 

Welsh Language 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

If the proposals were to proceed: 
 

 compliance with the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities would need to be ensured.  
 

 an equality impact assessment would be carried out 
to identify the accessibility of any new school 
building. The equality impact assessment would 
take into account policies such as the Equality Act 
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building 
regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and relevant 
Building Bulletins. 

 

 Demand for WM ALN places will be kept under 
review and proposals brought forward in line with 
the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  
 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By : Rosalie Phillips  Date: February 2022 

Designation: School Organisation Project Officer   

Approved By:  

Designation:  

Service Area: Education   

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         

Page 893

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 14 

 

 

Page 894



Page 1 of 27  

  
  

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL  

LEARNING NEEDS (ALN)   

 

EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING PROVISION FOR 

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED PUPILS 

  

EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH 

MERRY)  
  

AGENDA ITEM:   8 

 
   

Reason for this Report  

  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the responses received 
following public consultation on proposals to extend and realign special 
school and Specialist Resource Bases (SRBs) for pupils across Cardiff 
with emotional, health and wellbeing needs.     

 

Background  

  

2. At its meeting on 15 July 2021 the Cabinet authorised officers to consult 
on proposals to: 
 

 increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places. 
The school would transfer to new build accommodation across two 
sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St Mellons CiW 
Primary School site in Llanrumney with 36 pupils on each site from 
September 2025.   

 

3. At its meeting on 14 October 2021 the Cabinet authorised officers to 
consult on proposals to: 

 

 increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places. The 
school would transfer to new build accommodation across two sites at 
the Ty Glas in Llanishen and the Dutch Garden Centre site with 80 
places on each site from September 2025  
 

CARDIFF COUNCIL    

CYNGOR CAERDYDD   
  

CABINET MEETING :         10 MARCH 2022   

  

Page 895

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 27  

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health and 
wellbeing at Cardiff West Community High School from September 
2022.  
 

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health and 
wellbeing at Eastern High from September 2022. 

 
Issues  

  

4. The consultation period for The Court Special School proposals ran from 
11 October 2021 until 17 January 2022. 

 

5. The consultation period for the Greenhill School proposals and the 
secondary Specialist Resource Base provision for learners with emotional 
health and wellbeing needs ran from 14 December 2021 until 01 February 
2022.  
 

6. The consultation process for each set of proposals involved:  
 

 Publication of bilingual consultation documents outlining background, 

rationale and implications to parents, staff and governors of affected 

schools, Headteachers and Chairs of Governors city-wide, elected 

Members, local residents and other stakeholders (a copy of the 

consultation documents can be seen at Appendix 1);  

 Publication of bilingual summary documents setting out the main points 

of the consultation documents (a copy of the summary documents can 

be seen at Appendix 2);  

 Publication of information in community languages upon request;  

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with school governors and 

staff at The Court Special School, Greenhill School, Fairwater Primary 

School and Cardiff West Community High School.  The Governing 

Body and staff of Eastern High declined the offer of meetings as a 

number of meetings had been held ahead of the consultation and they 

had sufficient information available to them (notes from the meetings 

can be seen at Appendix 3); 

 Consultation meetings with pupil representatives at The Court Special 

School, Fairwater Primary School, Greenhill School and Cardiff West 

Community High School (notes from these meetings can be seen at 

Appendix 4);  

 Two public consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams at which the 

proposals were explained and questions answered (notes from the 

meetings can be seen at Appendix 5);  

 Drop-in sessions via Microsoft Teams where officers were available to 

answer questions (there were no requests for drop-in sessions); 

 Letters setting out details of the proposals and where further 

information could be found were sent to local residents and businesses 

in the area surrounding the school sites subject to the proposed 

changes; 

 A communication campaign via social media; 

Page 896



Page 3 of 27  

 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to 

the consultation documents and summary documents;  

 An online response from at www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals 

  

7. For stakeholders who did not have access to digital platforms the 
opportunity to discuss the proposed changes via telephone was available.  

 

8. The views expressed at Council organised meetings, drop-in sessions, 
telephone calls, and on paper or electronically through the appropriate 
channels, have been recorded.  
 

9. Views were sought from interested stakeholders via online surveys and 
hard copy versions of the surveys within the consultation documents.  
  

10. The details presented in this report, represent the views expressed during 
the consultation process. These include the wider stakeholder surveys, 
formal responses, e-mail responses, views expressed at public meetings, 
drop-in sessions, telephone calls and pupil consultation meetings.  

 
11. The views expressed in the wider stakeholder surveys reflect those raised 

in the e-mail responses received.  
 
Responses received regarding the proposal The Court Special School 

 

12. The consultation on the proposed expansion and transfer of The Court 
Special School was undertaken jointly with a proposal for the 
establishment of a Specialist Resource Base for learners with Complex 
Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School. 
 

13. The responses received to the consultation included expressions of 
support and concerns relevant to both proposals. 

 

14. In total there were 44 responses received, including 35 online responses 
and 9 e-mail responses.  

 

15. Formal responses were received from: 
 

• Estyn  

• The Court Special School Governing Body 

• The Court Special School Headteacher  

• The Court Special School Staff 

• Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

• Pen y Bryn Primary School Governing Body  

 
16. The response from Estyn set out its view that the proposal is likely to at 

least maintain the standard of education provision in the area.  However, 
there are ways in which the proposal could be strengthened. 

 
17. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6. 
 

 

Page 897

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals


Page 4 of 27  

18. Of the 35 online responses received, 88.6% supported the proposal to 
increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places, 
with 60% of responses supporting the proposed transfer of the school to 
new build accommodation across two sites at Fairwater Primary School 
and the current St Mellons CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney.   

 

19. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 
of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7.   

 

20. A summary analysis of the responses received are included in Appendix 
8.   

 

Views expressed  

 

21. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 
 

 The need to respond to the growing demand for additional learning 
needs provision.  

 A dual site arrangement could allow for pupils to have stronger links 
with their local communities. 

 The potential for active travel/children to spend less time in taxis 
commuting to school. 

 The potential benefits arising out of co-location with mainstream 
provision. 

 The opportunities to develop stronger links with local communities.  

 The provision of purpose-built facilities would provide an improved 
learning environment. 

 The opportunity for enhanced development opportunities for children 
and staff. 

 
22. Whilst there was support for the expansion and redevelopment of The 

Court Special School there were a number of concerns related to: 
 

 The ability to maintain one school ethos across two sites. 

 The current lack of Welsh-medium additional learning needs provision. 

 The need to maintain small class sizes in order to be able to provide 
appropriate levels of support. 

 The need for both school sites to be new and purpose built. 

 Potential safeguarding concerns around co-location with mainstream 
provision. 

 Access arrangements to both proposed sites and the potential for 
increased traffic around the sites.   

 Staffing arrangements and the need to ensure sufficient time is allowed 
for upskilling of new staff. 

 The safety of children on school sites during the construction phase.  

 The design/layout of any new build needs to allow for suitable distance 
and security with the integrity of both mainstream and special school 
provision maintained. 

 The future of existing Wellbeing provision at Fairwater Primary School. 
 

Page 898



Page 5 of 27  

23. The Governing Body of Fairwater Primary School expressed a wish for 
greater detail on the proposed changes, including detail on site matters 
such as access, boundaries, buildings and organisation of the two schools 
on the shared site. 
 

24. Separate to the proposed changes, Fairwater Governing Body asked for 
consideration to be given to the establishment of nursery provision at the 
school. 
 

25. A number of alternative suggestions were put forward.  These included the 
use of land at Fitzalan High School, the former Michaelston Community 
College site and at the school playing fields in Cardiff West Community 
High School.   

 

26. It was also suggested that a more rural location would be better for the 
school, that single site provision should be developed, and that the age 
range of the school be extended to age 19. 

 
The Court Special School Pupil Representation  

 
27. Officers met with pupils from The Court Special School to discuss the 

proposals and gather their opinions.  
 

28. The pupils liked the idea of a new school buildings and facilities; the school 
currently had issues with heating and windows.  They would like better 
facilities with more suitable rooms/spaces to do things.  They provided a 
range of ideas for what they would like to be provided including improved 
sports facilities (internal and external), quiet areas, outside space and 
equipment, an outdoor classroom, craft and music rooms. 

 

29. They also wanted established practices, such as earning tokens 
throughout the week to spend on Fridays, to be maintained. 

 

Fairwater Primary School Pupil representation  

 

30. Officers met virtually with pupil representatives from Fairwater Primary 
School to discuss the proposal and gather their opinions. 
 

31. Overall, the children were happy with the idea of having another school on 
their site.   

 

32. The points raised related to any loss of playground space, whether there 
would be opportunities to play with the children from the other school, the 
age range of the new school, access arrangements and the location of the 
new school on the site. 

 

33. Notes of the meetings can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 

Response to views expressed  

 

34. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion and 
redevelopment of The Court Special School. 

Page 899



Page 6 of 27  

 
35. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 

particularly around transition arrangements, site layouts/access, the co-
location of special and mainstream provision, the potential for increased 
traffic and the status of existing Wellbeing provision. 
 

36. The development of the proposal would be progressed in partnership with 
the relevant Headteachers and Governing Bodies and would consider fully 
the concerns raised and appropriate ways in which these could be 
mitigated including phased implementation, accommodation 
requirements, site layout options, traffic management, transition planning 
and Outreach support. 

 

37. The Council will work closely with each school to consider the design, 
layout, access and buildings arrangements as the proposals are 
developed. Whilst initial development appraisals have been undertaken, 
these detailed matters would be considered at a later stage taking account 
of the initial feedback during this consultation stage on organisational 
changes. 
 

38. The co-location of specialist and mainstream provision provides the 
opportunity to build partnerships and develop collaborative working 
practices which would benefit all of the schools. 

 

39. The majority of The Court pupils would be eligible for Learner Transport in 
shared taxis or minibuses.  The site access would be designed for efficient 
access by this small number of vehicles.   

 

40. An appropriately sized drop-off and pick-up area would be incorporated in 
a safe, secure area within the site.   

 

41. The existing Wellbeing class at Fairwater Primary School continues to be 
an important part of citywide emotional health and wellbeing support for 
primary aged pupils and this is intended to continue. 

 

42. The establishment of nursery provision at Fairwater Primary School is out 
outside of the scope of the proposal consulted on and will be considered 
separately. 
 

43. The development of Welsh-medium additional learning needs provision is 
being considered and proposals will be brought forward as part of the 
implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 2022-
2031, following consideration of the strategy by the Welsh Government 
and formal adoption later in 2022.  

 

44. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Responses received regarding the proposal for Greenhill School during 

the consultation period 

 

45. In total 28 responses were received including 22 online survey responses 
and 6 e-mail responses.    

Page 900



Page 7 of 27  

 
46. Formal responses in respect of the Greenhill School proposals were 

received from: 
 

• Local Members - Rhiwbina 

• Estyn   

• Greenhill School Governing Body  

• Greenhill School Senior Leadership Team  

 

47. In addition to these, a further 17 responses were received during the 
consultation period that did not comment directly on the Greenhill School 
proposals but commented on the need for an increase in additional 
learning needs provision overall, particularly in the Welsh-medium sector.  

  

48. The response from Estyn sets out its view that the proposal is likely at 
least to maintain the standard of education provision in the area.   
 

49. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6.  
  

50. Of the 22 online survey responses received, 64% supported the proposal 
to increase the capacity of the school from 64 to 160 places.   
 

51. However, of the 20 online responses which answered the question 
regarding the transfer of the school to new build accommodation across 
two sites at the Dutch Garden Centre site and Ty Glas Road only 32% 
were in favour. 

 

52. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 
of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7.   

  

53. A summary analysis of the responses received are included in Appendix 
8. 

 

54. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included:  
 

 The need to respond to the growing demand for emotional health and 

wellbeing provision. 

 The provision of new accommodation and facilities would support 

education and wellbeing. 

 More children would benefit from being able to access specialist 

provision, particularly those for whom mainstream provision is not 

suitable. 

 A dual site arrangement would allow for an increase in the range of 

activities and opportunities available for learners, would support pupil 

management and provide the focused attention pupils need. 

 The Ty Glas site is centrally located with good transport links. 

 The nature of the Dutch Garden Centre site would provide 

opportunities to develop a range of learning options. 

 

Page 901



Page 8 of 27  

55. Whilst there was support overall for the expansion of the school there were 
a number of concerns and queries summarised as follows:  

 

 The appropriateness of the sites needs to be carefully considered for 
the needs of the children. 

 The proximity of the Dutch Garden Centre site to the M4 motorway / 
junction and the potential health and safety implications arising out of 
this. 

 The lack of public transport to the Dutch Garden Centre site at present. 

 The size of the Ty Glas site that is likely to be available for Greenhill 
School. 

 The potential for difficulties arising out of Greenhill School sharing a 
site with a mainstream school at the Ty Glas site. 

 The challenges around retaining the ethos of Greenhill School across 
two sites; a single site potentially offers a cohesive identity, security 
and continuity for pupils. 

 The dilution of resources across two sites could result in in decreased 
effectiveness overall. 

 Additional pupil numbers could require larger class sizes leading to 
Increased pressure on staff. 

 Increased pupil numbers could lead to reduced opportunities for 1:1 
support in both educational aspects and wellbeing. 

 Whilst the integration of girls at the school is welcome, careful 
consideration would need to be given to how this would be managed. 

 The current lack of Welsh-medium emotional health and wellbeing 
provision is limiting the opportunities for children to continue their 
education through the medium of Welsh. 

 The need to ensure that any new accommodation is comparable in size 
with the existing school facilities e.g., classrooms.  

 The future use of the existing Greenhill School site. 

 The Council's original proposal for the Dutch Garden Centre at J30 of 

the M4 was for a Park and Ride facility. Is that proposal no longer 

considered and replaced by the school development? 

 When do you intend to demolish the Inland Revenue Buildings? 

 Will the Council ensure local residents are provided with full planning 

details of the proposed developments in Rhiwbina, Llanishen and the 

J30 at the M4 site? 

 
56. A number of alternative suggestions were put forward.  These included: 
 

 Maintaining Greenhill School provision on the existing site; the current 
school site provides a perfect base for a safe and successful school.  
The school is well supported by the local community and the current 
school site should therefore be developed to provide quality 
accommodation. 

 The Ty Glas site should be used exclusively for Greenhill. 

 Having an expanded Greenhill on one site in new purpose-built 
accommodation.  

 There should be separate sites for boys and girls in recognition of 
welfare and safeguarding risks. 

Page 902



Page 9 of 27  

 Consideration should be given to the wider independent/private 
education offer. 

 
Greenhill School Pupil representation 
 
57. Officers met with pupils at Greenhill School to discuss the proposals and 

gather their opinions. 
 

58. The pupils supported an increase in the capacity of the school as this 
would allow for a greater number of young people to benefit from the 
opportunities provided by the school. 

 

59. They liked the idea of a new school buildings/facilities and provided a 
range of ideas for what they would like to be provided including improved 
sports facilities (internal and external), cooking facilities, quiet areas, 
outside space that could be developed as a garden/small animal area, 
separate sixth form provision and a community/parent space. 

 

60. They were however concerned about the location of the Dutch Garden 
Centre site close to the M4 motorway/ junction, and the potential risks 
around this.   

 

61. The co-location of a mainstream secondary school site was also a concern 
and the potential difficulties in the schools’ pupil relationships associated 
with this.   

 

62. At present all of the Greenhill School pupils are boys, many of whom have 
not been in a mixed school with girls. Some of the pupils attended primary 
schools with girls, but they felt it was different as the pupils become older, 
as there is the possibility of relationships between the pupils which could 
cause difficulties.  

 
63. Notes of the pupil meetings can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 

Response to the view expressed 

 

64. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 
Greenhill School. 

 

65. It is however acknowledged that a number of issues have been raised in 
relation to the proposed sites, including concerns around safety, the need 
to maintain a supportive single school ethos and the provision of Welsh-
medium additional learning needs provision. 

 

66. It is therefore proposed that further feasibility work is undertaken to 
consider the appropriateness of the sites for the accommodation of 
emotional health and wellbeing provision for learners aged 11 – 19.  

 

67. This will include consideration of: 
 

Page 903



Page 10 of 27  

 the proximity of the Dutch Garden Centre site to the M4/motorway 
junction and the management of risks associated with this e.g., site 
mitigations, pupil management and supervision. 

 public transport access to the Dutch Garden Centre site. 
 the extent of land available at the Ty Glas site for Greenhill School and 

site layout options. 
 

68. The demolition of the vacant buildings on the Ty Glas site is to be 
progressed in 2022/23.  This would allow for redevelopment of the site for 
education purposes at the earliest opportunity. This will also support the 
Council in managing the ongoing security and maintenance costs related 
to the vacant site.  
 

69. The points raised during the consultation will be further appraised prior to 
bringing forward revised proposals for the provision of English-medium 
and Welsh-medium education health and wellbeing special school places 
for learners aged 11-19. 

 

70. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

Responses received regarding the establishment of emotional health and 
wellbeing Specialist Resource Base provision for learners aged 11-19 
(Cardiff West Community High School and Eastern High) during the 
consultation period  
 
71. In total, six responses were received including two online survey 

responses and four email responses. 
 

72. Formal responses were received from: 
 

• Estyn   

• Cardiff West Community High School Governing Body  

• Cardiff West Community High School Headteacher  

• Eastern High Headteacher and Governing Body 

   

73. In addition to these a further 17 responses were received during the 
consultation period, that did not comment directly on the proposals for 
Cardiff West Community High School and Eastern High but commented 
on the need for an increase in additional learning needs provision overall, 
particularly in the Welsh-medium sector.  
 

74. On the basis of the latest information, Estyn have expressed reservations 
about increasing the capacity of any current provision or establishing a 
new specialist provision at Cardiff West Community High School.  
 

75. With regards to Eastern High, Estyn consider that the proposals are likely 
to, at least, maintain the standard of education provision in the area.  
 

76. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 6.  
  

77. The responses received supported the expansion of emotional health and 
wellbeing secondary provision. 

Page 904



Page 11 of 27  

  

78. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 
of views expressed, can be seen at Appendix 7.   

  

79. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included:  
 

 The need to improve access to Additional Learning Needs provision. 

 The need to provide locally for children living within the Cardiff West 

Community High School and Eastern High catchment areas. 

 The expertise and support of the specialist additional learning needs 

staff can be shared with staff in the mainstream schools. 

 

80. Whilst there was support for the proposals, a number of concerns raised 
related to:  

 

 The potential for increased traffic around the school sites. 

 The accommodation needed in order to facilitate the provision at both 
schools. 

 The proposed implementation date for the Eastern High provision. 

 The safety and wellbeing of all pupils.  
 

Cardiff West Community High School Pupil representation 
 
81. Officers met virtually with pupil representatives from Cardiff West 

Community High School to discuss the proposals and gather their 
opinions. 
 

82. The pupils supported the establishment of the Specialist Resource Base 
provision at the school.  The building and facilities at the school are good 
and would support this type of provision. 

 

83. The pupils suggested that start/finish times could be staggered to offset 
any increase in traffic as a result of the proposal.  

 
84. Notes of the meetings can be seen at Appendix 6. 
 

Eastern High Pupil representation 

 

85. Officers arranged with Eastern High to meet with pupil representatives 
from the school during the consultation period to discuss the proposals 
and gather their opinions. However, due to staffing issues arising from 
Covid-19, the school postponed the sessions arranged and was unable to 
facilitate a session in-person or online during the consultation period. 

 

Response to the views expressed 

 

86. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for establishment of 
emotional health and wellbeing Specialist Resource Base provision at 
Cardiff West Community High School and Eastern High. 

 

Page 905



Page 12 of 27  

87. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 
particularly around increasing the capacity of any current provision or 
establishing a new specialist provision in Cardiff West Community High 
School, accommodation requirements, the proposed implementation date 
at Eastern High and a potential increase in traffic.  

 
88. Specialist provision has been available at Cardiff West Community High 

School for pupils enrolled at the school who require additional emotional 
health and wellbeing support.  The proposal consulted on seeks to 
formalise this provision and does not propose to increase the capacity of 
any current provision or establish any new specialist provision. The school 
will continue to be supported in providing for existing pupils and any future 
pupils accessing the provision who are largely expected to be from the 
area local to the school. 

 

89. Accommodation requirements have been assessed and discussed with 
each school.  Further work is being undertaken to review existing 
accommodation and identify any additional capacity required.  

 

90. Following discussions with Eastern High, it has been agreed that the 
implementation date for the establishment of Specialist Resource Base 
provision at the school would be put back to September 2023 to allow for 
accommodation, staffing and training arrangements to be finalised. 

 

91. Only a small number of additional vehicles would be anticipated to be 
required for those pupils who are eligible for Learner Transport, in shared 
taxis or by minibus.    
 

92. At Cardiff West Community High School suitable improved and/or 
expanded facilities for drop-off and pick-up may be required within the site 
to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles.  
 

93. Additional parking restrictions along Penally Road around school start and 
finish times would reduce congestion and parking issues and improve 
safety for pupils.   
 

94. At Eastern High the site would be assessed to ensure there is suitable 
facilities for drop-off and pick-up to accommodate the appropriate numbers 
of vehicles.  

 

95. Measures to improve traffic issues outside the school may include 
additional parking restrictions or consideration of a School Street around 
school start and finish times to reduce congestion and parking issues and 
improve safety for pupils.   

 

96. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 
 

 

 

 

Page 906



Page 13 of 27  

Formal responses received during the consultation regarding Additional 

Learning Needs Provision  

 

97. In additional to the responses received regarding the individual proposals 
consulted on, formal responses regarding the overall provision for children 
and young adults with additional learning needs were received from: 
 

 Ysgol Glan Morfa Headteacher and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Melin Gruffydd Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glan Ceubal Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pencae Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pwll Coch Governing Body  

 Ysgol y Berllan Deg Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth Governing Body 

 Ysgol Nant Caerau Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pen y Gores Governing Body  

 Creigiau Primary School Governing Body 

 Ysgol Mynydd Bychan Governing Body 

 Ysgol Treganna Governing Body  

 Ysgol Coed y Gof Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr School and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf Governing Body 

 Cardiff Governors Association  

 Merched y Wawr  
 
98. The responses from the Welsh-medium schools contained largely 

consistent content and are summarised below. 
 
99. Schools acknowledge and welcome the proposals to increase capacity for 

the English-medium sector and fully support the provision for the most 
vulnerable pupils in our communities. However, there was a strong feeling 
that there is a lack of additional learning needs provision within the Welsh-
medium sector and a disappointment that more changes were not 
proposed as part of this consultation. 

 

100. Furthermore, the view was expressed that this consultation contradicts the 
recent Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) consultation which 
noted the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh-
medium schools in the Primary sector and a further three in the Secondary 
sector. 
 

101. Concerns were outlined that by limiting the investment to one sector it 
encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to leave the Welsh-medium 
sector and move to English-medium schools where the investment and 
resources are currently viewed as being superior and better able to meet 
more complex or higher levels of need. 
 

102. Investment is needed within the Welsh-medium sector in order to ensure 
parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  

 

Page 907



Page 14 of 27  

103. The documentation recognises a clear growing need within the English-
medium sector but not in the Welsh-medium with concerns expressed as 
to whether the research been sufficient to accurately reflect need 
presenting in Welsh-medium schools. 

 

104. Concerns were also expressed that there is a lack of clear provision in 
terms of emotional health and well-being and behavior within the Welsh-
medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond 
mainstream provision) along with a lack of space to establish 
nurture/wellbeing classes. 

 

105. There was a consistent view across the majority of the responses 
submitted by the Welsh-medium schools that there is a definite need for a 
greater number of Welsh-medium ALN places and that this need is 
increasing. In order to respond to this effectively there was a call for 
strategic and holistic planning which puts the children and families at the 
heart of all that we do consistent with our collective commitment to the 
UNCRC and FGWBA with other corporate goals such as One Planet 
Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child Friendly City status. 

 
Response to the view expressed 

 

106. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

additional learning needs provision for children and young people city 

wide. 

 

107. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh 

Education Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its 

draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 

October 2021 and 13 December 2021.  

 

108. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary 

version and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were 

circulated to statutory stakeholders including all of Cardiff’s schools and 

Cardiff’s Welsh Education Forum member organisations.  

 

109. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-

medium additional learning needs provision and it is intended that 

proposals would be brought forward as part of the implementation of the 

Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan following agreement of the 

strategy by the Welsh Government and formal adoption by the Council 

later in 2022.  

 

110. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including 

new and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals 

are brought forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account 

the needs of all of our learners and provides parity in the Welsh-medium 

sector as new places are delivered throughout the proposed WESP. 

 
111. A full appraisal of the views expressed can be seen at Appendix 7. 

Page 908



Page 15 of 27  

Health provision  

112. The proposals to expand specialist provision at the above school sites will 

have implications for health and other specialist services, working in 

partnership with schools to meet Additional Learning Needs. An additional 

factor is the ALN Reform Act 2018, which will introduce new 

responsibilities for health, education and social care to work together to 

coordinate assessment and provision. The Act 2018 will be implemented 

over a three-year period, beginning in September 2021.  

  
 

113. In order to address these challenges together, the Local Authority and 
Cardiff and the Vale University Health Board are undertaking a joint review 
of health and specialist provision in Cardiff special schools and pupil 
referral units. The findings of the review, overseen by a project group of 
representatives from health, education, social services, schools, and 
parents, will inform the design of the specialist provision. 

 
Admissions Arrangements  

 

114. The Council would manage admissions to each of the special schools and 

Specialist Resource Bases in accordance with the ALN Code. 

 

Learner Travel Arrangements  

 

115. There are no plans to change the Council’s transport policy for school 

children.  

 

116. Any pupils affected by the proposals would be offered the same support 

with transport as is provided throughout Cardiff in line with the same 

criteria that apply across Cardiff. 

 

117. The Council’s transport policy for school children can be viewed on the 

Council’s website www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport. 

 

118. Any increase in demand for Learner Transport will require funding. Whilst 

the per pupil cost of school transport is likely to decrease further modelling 

is required to establish whether the overall transport costs are likely to 

increase or decrease. 

 

Community Impact  

 

119. The following are taken into account when considering a proposal: Public 

Open Space, parkland, noise and traffic congestion. Officers will work with 

schools, local members and any community group to make sure that the 

proposal avoids negative impacts if possible. 

 

 

 

 

Page 909

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/schooltransport


Page 16 of 27  

Local Member consultation  

 

120. Additional learning needs provision is city-wide, and all local members 

were consulted as part of the public consultation. The response to the 

consultation received from the Rhiwbina Members can be seen at 

Appendix 6. 

 

Scrutiny Consideration  

 

121. The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee will consider this 

report on 8 March 2022.  Any comments received will be circulated at the 

Cabinet meeting. 

 

Reasons for Recommendations  

 

122. To meet increasing demand for special school places for primary, 
secondary and post-16 age learners with emotional health and wellbeing 
needs. 
 

Finance Implications 

 

123. This report outlines the responses to public consultation on changes to 
ALN provision and school’s intake within The Court Special School. There 
are no capital financial implications directly arising from this report. 
However, once a final solution has been agreed for each site it will be 
necessary for a full financial evaluation to be undertaken. The aim of this 
will be to provide assurance that the scheme remains affordable once all 
relevant costs and contingencies for potential changes in delivery 
timescales have been incorporated. 
 

124. The outline 21st Century Schools Band B Programme was approved by 
Cabinet in December 2017. At that time the overall value of the programme 
amounted to £284m, including the Court Special School project. The 
Welsh Government (WG) have not formally approved individual project 
budgets but have given their in-principle support to each project within 
Cardiff Council’s programme.  

 
125. The overall projected costs of the Court are included in the current Band 

B cash-flow forecast, to be funded through Welsh Government Grant 
(75%) and 21st Century Schools Invest to Save borrowing (25%). Any 
revenue costs in relation to these schemes, including capital financing 
costs will be funded through the School Organisation Programme 
Revenue Reserve.  

 
126. A capital receipts target of £25m is expected to fund part of the overall 

Band B programme. The source of these receipts has yet to be identified, 
but any site disposals resulting from building schools on new sites should 
be prioritised to fund Band B.  
 

127. This report sets out proposals and recommends additional SRB provision 
at Cardiff West Community High and Eastern High Schools that will need 

Page 910



Page 17 of 27  

to be funded from the existing delegated schools’ budgets. This is an area 
of high-cost provision through Out of County Placements or enhanced 
Complex Needs Enhancement payments for mainstream pupils.  

 
128. There will need to be a review of the budget for each SRB or Special 

School which has an increase in the number of places. The due diligence 
undertaken must provide assurance that the additional places will be taken 
up and that the cost and numbers of Out of County Placements and CNE 
enhancements will reduce in order to ensure no significant pressure 
ongoing on school budgets. Over the medium term, regular review and 
analysis needs to be undertaken comparing the projected number of 
places available to places taken up. This will ensure that the optimum 
benefits are achieved by the financial resources used. 
 

129. The proposal for a better spread of provision at special schools and SRBs 
across the city means that the transport cost per individual learner is likely 
to decrease. However, as noted in both the body of the report and the 
Transportation implications there is need for further work in order to 
establish the full impact on transport costs both in the short term and the 
medium term. The decision maker needs to consider the likelihood that 
savings on individual placements and a more effective management of Out 
of County Placements will be able to cover the additional cost of 
transporting the increased SRB places. The covering report sets out that 
the number of places will incrementally grow over the next four years and 
further work is required to establish the cost / saving for each financial 
year.  For 2022/23, there is a risk that overall spend on home to school 
transport, Out of County provision and enhanced CNE payments for 
children and young people with ALN would increase in September 22, but 
this pressure can be managed within school delegated budgets. However, 
the need to ensure robust modelling is in place to ensure that any further 
pressures are identified and understood prior to implementation and are 
robustly modelled and factored into medium-term planning is of paramount 
importance. 
 

Legal Implications  

 

130. Under the Education Act 1996, the Council has a general statutory 
obligation to promote high standards of education and to provide sufficient 
school places for pupils of compulsory school age, including appropriate 
provision for pupils with special educational needs (or additional learning 
needs).  
 

131. A local authority can make school organisation proposals, including 
making ‘regulated alterations’ to a community school or a community 
special school, under sections 42-44 of the Schools Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. The proposals set out in the report 
constitute ‘regulated alterations’ and must be considered having regard to 
the provisions of the 2013 Act and the School Organisation Code 2018, 
which sets out factors to be considered in respect of different proposals, 
the statutory procedures, legal requirements and guidance.  
 

Page 911



Page 18 of 27  

132. Where an increase in a school’s capacity is proposed, the Council must 
have regard to evidence of current or future need/demand in the area for 
additional places, with reference to the school’s language category (and 
religious character / gender intake if applicable). The Code also includes 
specific factors to be considered in relation to proposals for the 
reorganisation of provision for Special Educational Needs (or Additional 
Learning Needs). Cabinet will need to be satisfied that all relevant factors 
are properly considered in relation to the proposals.  
 

133. The Council is required, prior to publishing its proposals, to undertake a 
consultation on its proposals in accordance with section 48 of that Act and 
the School Organisation Code 2018. Following the public consultation, the 
Council is required to publish and circulate to all interested parties (listed 
in the Code) a consultation report: 

 
(i) summarising each of the issues raised by the consultees. 

(ii) responding to these by means of clarification, amendment to the 

proposal or rejection of the concerns with supporting reasons; 

(iii) setting out Estyn’s response to the consultation in full; and 

(iv) responding to Estyn’s response by means of clarification, 

amendment to the proposal, or rejection of the concerns, with supporting 

reasons.  

134. The consultation report may also make recommendations to the Cabinet 
about how to proceed, i.e. to publish the proposals as consultation on with 
any appropriate modifications, to abandon the proposals and retain the 
status quo or to significant recase the proposals and re-consult.  
 

135. This Cabinet report, together with the appendices constitutes the required 
consultation report; and seeks the Cabinet’s approved to proceed to 
publish all proposals except those relating to Greenhill Special School. The 
only modification is in relation to the commencement date of the SRB at 
Eastern High School. In considering this matter, the Cabinet is required to 
review the proposals having regard to all further relevant information put 
forward during the consultation period (and otherwise).  

 
Land Matters 

 
136. It is anticipated that if The Court proposal proceeds, the Council would 

need to undertake due diligence on potential site constraints and subject 
to that, additional decisions may be required to deal with specific property, 
planning or procurement issues arising from this matter. 
 

Statutory Determination Process and Other Considerations 
 
137. If the Cabinet decides to proceed, the proposals must be published within 

26 weeks from the end of the consultation period (unless an extension of 
time is obtained from the Welsh Ministers). Proposals must be published 
by way of a statutory notice, allowing a minimum of 28 days for objections 
(‘the Objection Period’). The content of the statutory notice, manner of 
publication and persons to be notified are prescribed in the Code.  
 

Page 912



Page 19 of 27  

138. Within 16 weeks from the end of the Objection Period, the Council must 
conscientiously consider any objections received and determine whether 
or not to implement its proposals (under section 53 of the 2013 Act). 
Members will note that the recommendation is for Cabinet to receive a 
further report at that stage.  
 

139. If any objections are received during the Objection Period, the Council is 
required to publish an Objections Report summarising all objections made 
(and not withdrawn) and its response to those objections. The Objections 
Report must be published within 7 days from the date of the Council’s 
determination of the proposals and made available to the interested parties 
listed in the Code. At the same time as publishing the Objections Report, 
the Council must also notify its decision to the Welsh Ministers, the school 
governing body and all interested parties listed in the Code. 
 

140. If the proposals are taken forward, the admission arrangements, including 
admission numbers and catchment areas, will need to be determined, 
following consultation, in accordance with the School Admission Code and 
the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006. 
 

141.  In considering the proposals, the Council must have regard to its public 
sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific 
Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must 
in making decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic 
or national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – 
including lack of belief.  
 

142. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010). In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers and must be able to demonstrate how it has discharged its duty. 
 

143. Due regard and consideration should be given to the outcomes of the 
Equalities Impact Assessment.  
 

144. The Council must also be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards and consider the 
impact of its proposals upon the Welsh language. 
 

145. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the 
Council to consider how the proposals will contribute towards meeting its 
wellbeing objectives (set out in the Corporate Plan). Members must also 
be satisfied that the proposals comply with the sustainable development 
principle, which requires that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

Page 913



Page 20 of 27  

 
146. The decision makers must be satisfied that the proposals fall within the 

Council’s approved policy and budget framework. 
 
HR Implications  

The Court Special School 

 

147. The proposed increase in pupil numbers for The Court Special School 
would require the Governing Body to plan for the workforce requirements 
in readiness for the expansion and proposal to operate across two sites. 
The Governing Body will be encouraged to undertake this work in line with 
the School Organisation Planning HR Framework.  
 

148. HR People Services will provide advice, support and guidance to the 
Governing Body for the workforce planning and consequential recruitment 
processes. Where Governing Bodies have adopted the Council’s School 
Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of an increase in the numbers on roll would provide 
opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment register.  
 

149. The proposal to relocate the school and to operate across two sites will 
require high levels of staff and trade union consultation, clear 
communication plans regarding the arrangements for the transition from 
one school site to another and staff involvement in the development of 
building specifications or designs. 

 
Cardiff West Community High School 
 
150. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body to address any HR 

implications arising from the establishment of a Specialist Resource Base 
at the school and whether there is a need for staff resources.  
 

151. Where the Governing Body has adopted the Council’s School 
Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of the establishment of the Specialist Resource Base will 
provide opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment 
register. 

 
Eastern High 
 
152. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body to address the HR 

implications arising from the establishment of a Specialist Resource Base 
at the school and the resulting need for additional staffing.  
 

153. Where the Governing Body has adopted the Council’s School 
Redeployment and Redundancy Policy, any new vacancies arising as a 
consequence of the establishment of the Specialist Resource Base will 
provide opportunities for school-based staff on the school redeployment 
register. 

 

 

Page 914



Page 21 of 27  

Property Implications 
 
154. Strategic Estates continue to work with and support Education colleagues 

through the asset management process and any property matters relating 
and arising from the proposals.  There are numerous options in this paper 
which will in time require further input as and when the consultation period 
completes, and we move towards business cases. 

 

Traffic and Transport Implications  

 

155. The Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) includes a target of 
50% of all journeys to be made by sustainable transport. Minimising the 
proportion of school journeys made by car and maximising opportunities 
for travel to school by active and sustainable modes can make an 
important contribution to achieving this target and reducing pressures on 
the transport network at peak times.  

 

156. The individual needs of pupils at special schools and SRBs, together with 
the greater distances travelled, necessarily limit the scope for high rates 
of active travel compared with mainstream school pupils.   
 

157. The Council applies the statutory qualifying walking distance criteria for 
pupils to qualify for free home to school transport to special schools and 
SRBs.  Additionally, some learners who live within two / three miles of the 
school may be provided with free transport due to their individual learning 
needs and social issues.   

 

158. The proposal for a better spread of provision at special schools and SRBs 
across the city means that the transport cost per individual learner is likely 
to decrease.  However due to the increasing numbers of eligible learners 
there is still expected to be a risk of high transport costs. Further modelling 
is required to establish whether the demand on the school transport budget 
is likely to increase or decrease.     

 

159. The existing high numbers of special school pupils eligible for Learner 
Transport are not generally expected to change significantly, however a 
proportion of Greenhill and secondary age SRB pupils are able to, and 
may already, travel to school independently.  These pupils as well as staff 
and school visitors would benefit from any required improvements in 
facilities for active travel to school or public transport facilities.   
 

160. Transport Assessments would be required for the new school proposals, 
and Transport Statements may be required for proposals to establish 
SRBs.  These will identify measures to be included as part of the 
applications to maximise travel by sustainable modes.    
 

161. The Council’s current Corporate Plan includes a commitment to every 
school in Cardiff developing an Active Travel Plan. Each such plan will 
identify actions by the school to support and encourage active travel to 
school and also any improvements to on-site and off-site infrastructure 
required to facilitate active journeys.   

Page 915



Page 22 of 27  

 
162. Increasing travel to school by active modes will have a positive impact on 

children’s health and wellbeing and will support the delivery of key actions 
and outcomes under Goal 5 the Council’s Child Friendly City Strategy 
(2018), which relates to ensuring access to safe outdoor environments for 
formal and informal play, walking, cycling and scooting and active travel to 
school.   
 

163. A number of initiatives have successfully demonstrated support and 
encouragement for active and sustainable travel amongst the ALN cohort, 
including Independent Travel Training for older pupils, cycle maintenance 
and cycle training.    
 

164. Some pupils are able to travel independently or with parent/carers and if 
resident within the two-mile qualifying distance may not be eligible for 
Learner Transport.   
 

165. Provision of recommended improvements for active travel would benefit 
these pupils as well as any mainstream pupils, staff and visitors to the 
sites.   
 

166. Numbers of pupils who continue to use Learner Transport for their journey 
to school will be likely to increase in line with the trend for increasing 
numbers of pupils requiring places at special schools or SRBs.  Each 
school location with new or increased demand for Learner Transport 
vehicles will require suitable new, improved and / or expanded facilities for 
drop-off and pick-up within the site.  The areas required would need to 
accommodate appropriate numbers of vehicles which may approximate to 
one taxi for a typical average of 3 pupils.  In some cases minibuses may 
be suitable, but this is also dependent on individual pupil needs, home 
locations and co-ordination of routes.   
 

167. Car parking provision at new schools would be in line with the Council’s 
parking standards.  Allocations for special schools and SRBs are agreed 
on a case-by-case basis but requirements are expected to generally 
correlate with 1 car space per typical number of pupils in a class.  This is 
in line with the standard 1 space per 30 pupils in mainstream schools, but 
results in a higher ratio of spaces due to the much smaller class sizes.   
 

Transport matters relating to The Court at the proposed Fairwater Primary School 
site  

 
168. There are very good public transport links with several bus services a short 

walk from the school.  Waun-gron Park rail station is approximately 0.75 
miles (1.2km) from the school. 
 

169. There is good walking route access to the school and good existing and 
proposed cycling links. Short term improvements due through the Ely Mill 
development with links via Cycleway 5 to the city centre.  The Ely Trail 
runs along Bwlch Road immediately to the south of the site and continues 
to Cardiff Bay of varying standards: traffic-free/ on-road.  Signed routes 

Page 916



Page 23 of 27  

link through Canton to the centre with medium term improvements due for 
on-road light segregation cycle tracks. 
 

170. A recent Transport Assessment for this site identified acceptable traffic 
impact due to a comparable (but larger) development.  
 

171. Further various facilities for walking and cycling, including upgrading of the 
Bwlch Road crossing are proposed in the Fairwater area for another 
school project with provision due by late 2023.  These would also improve 
walking and cycling access to/from Ely south of railway line and river Ely 
and north east through Fairwater, Llandaff and the wider network.    
 

172. The proposed location at the Fairwater Primary School site would give 
potential for a separate second access from the existing primary school 
access.   
 

173. The development proposals may require a revised Transport Assessment 
which will confirm measures to be included as part of the application to 
maximise travel by sustainable modes and identify any further provision 
relating specifically to a proposal for The Court.    
 

Transport matters relating to The Court at the proposed St Mellons CiW Primary 
School site  

 
174. There are good public transport links via Llanrumney & Countisbury 

Avenue and also from Newport Road which are within short walking 
distance for staff access. There is good walking route accessibility for local 
pupils and staff.   
 

175. Cycleway 2 is planned along this section of Newport Road.  A short-
medium term future phase will replace the existing cycle lanes provision 
on this busy main road.   
 

176. There are current parking issues outside the adjacent Pen Y Bryn Primary 
along Dunster Road.  While the Transport team is monitoring the situation 
and reviewing the need for additional measures and parking controls 
outside all schools, the need for any additional measures outside the 
proposed site would be considered as part of that process.   
 

Transport matters relating to Cardiff West Community High School 
 

177. With the expected increased demand for Learner Transport at Cardiff West 
Community High School suitable improved and / or expanded facilities for 
drop-off and pick-up may be required within the site to accommodate the 
appropriate numbers of vehicles. Additional parking restrictions along 
Penally Road around school start and finish times would reduce 
congestion and parking issues and improve safety for pupils.   
 

Transport matters relating to Eastern High  
  

178. With the expected increased demand for Learner Transport at Eastern 
High School the site would be assessed to ensure there is suitable facilities 

Page 917



Page 24 of 27  

for drop-off and pick-up to accommodate the appropriate numbers of 
vehicles. Measures to improve traffic issues outside the school may 
include additional parking restrictions or consideration of a School Street 
around school start and finish times to reduce congestion and parking 
issues and improve safety for pupils.   

 

Impact of the proposals on the Welsh Language  

 

179. The Council is committed to developing a Bilingual Cardiff.   

 

180. Cardiff’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2031 sets out a 

series of ambitious commitments to build on the progress achieved to date.  

These will ensure that every child in the city can receive an education in 

the language of Welsh, the number receiving their education in Welsh-

medium schools will increase, and through the significant use of Welsh in 

English medium education all will have the opportunity to become 

confident in speaking Welsh. 

 

181. The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the 

Welsh-medium sector has historically been lower than in the English 

medium sector. This has however been changing over the last 4-5 years, 

with schools reporting an increased incidence of additional learning 

needs, in all areas of need.  

 

182. A review of additional learning needs in the Welsh-medium sector was 

undertaken with Welsh medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Schools reported a small but significant 

number of examples of pupils with additional learning needs leaving the 

Welsh-medium sector in order to access Specialist Resource Bases or 

special schools.  

 

183. There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families 

who would otherwise choose Welsh-medium education opt instead for 

English medium if their child has additional learning needs, through 

concern that their child may need to transfer to the specialist sector at a 

later date.  

 

184. Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the 

sector, including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to 

generate more confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the 

sector. 

 

185. A new primary base was established at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, within 

the catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, where the 

secondary base is established. The two bases cater for learners with 

severe learning difficulties, providing a specialist curriculum and 

supporting a range of secondary needs including physical and medical 

needs, speech and language difficulties and autism.  

Page 918



Page 25 of 27  

 

186. As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop 

additional provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh-medium 

education is a genuine choice for learners with complex additional 

learning needs. 

 

187. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh 

Education Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its 

draft Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 

October 2021 and 13 December 2021.  

 

188. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary 

version and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were 

circulated to statutory stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s 

Welsh Education Forum member organisations.  

 

189. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-

medium additional learning needs provision and proposals would be 

brought forward as part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh 

Government and formal adoption by the Council later in 2022.  

 

190. The Cabinet approved Cardiff’s WESP 2022-2031 at its meeting of 24 

February 2022, for submission to the Welsh Government Ministers. 

 

191. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including 

new and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals 

are brought forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account 

the needs of all of our learners and reflects the additionality required to 

ensure parity in the Welsh-medium sector as new places are delivered 

throughout the proposed WESP. 

 

Wellbeing of Future Generations  

 

192. In line with the Well-being of Future Generations Act Cardiff’s Band B 
programme is committed to providing Local Schools for Local Children, 
together with encouraging use of sustainable modes to travel to schools, 
such as walking and cycling. Each School project takes into account key 
transport issues when they are being designed and the firm need to 
provide safer routes to encourage walking, cycling and other active travel 
modes to schools. 
 

193. With the current investments in ICT across the city, student movements 
may be further reduced as mobile technology develops further allowing for 
flexible teaching methods. These have the potential to result in a more 
efficient Travel Plan and further contribute to the Council’s targets to 
reduce its carbon emissions.  
 

Page 919



Page 26 of 27  

194. In order to maximise the long-term impact of this significant investment, 
any design taken forward for each school included in this proposal would 
be developed to ensure the delivery of high-quality modern facilities that 
are able to respond to the current pupil populations needs and support the 
delivery of effective teaching and learning methods. They would also 
incorporate the flexibility to take account of changes depending on need 
as time progresses, such as changing demographics and pupil numbers, 
changing curriculum and changing types of pupil needs. 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

  

195. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. It concluded that the 
proposed changes would not negatively affect a particular group in society.    
 

196. The Equality Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix 9.  
  

RECOMMENDATIONS  

  

The Cabinet is recommended to   

  

1. authorise officers to proceed to publish proposals in accordance with 

section 48 of The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013  

to:  

  

 Increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 

places.  The school would transfer to new build accommodation across 

two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St Mellons, CiW 

Primary School site in Llanrumney with 36 pupils on each site from 

September 2025.   

 

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health and 
wellbeing at Cardiff West Community High School from September 
2022.  
 

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health and 
wellbeing at Eastern High from September 2023. 

 

2. Note progress the proposal to increase the capacity of Greenhill School.  

 
3. Note that officers will bring a further report to Cabinet for consideration, 

setting out details of revised proposals for the provision of secondary 

English-medium and Welsh-medium education health and wellbeing 

special school places. 

 

 

   

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER  

  

Melanie Godfrey  

Director of Education & Lifelong  

Learning   

  

Page 920



Page 27 of 27  

4 March 2022 

  

The following appendices are attached: 

 

Appendix 1: Consultation documents  

Appendix 2: Summary documents  

Appendix 3: Notes of meetings with Governing Bodies and Staff  

Appendix 4: Notes from pupil engagement meetings  

Appendix 5: Notes from public meetings  

Appendix 6: Formal responses received  

Appendix 7: Summary of responses received, and appraisal of views expressed 
Appendix 8: Summary analysis of responses received  
Appendix 9: Equality Impact Assessment   
  

Page 921



This page is intentionally left blank



��������� �������
�������������������������
�����������	����	�������
����������������
��������������	��������������� !

"�����	���������������
#��	������	���	�����������������$����	���%���

&&'()*(+,-'.'//'0(1,2+,-'/3/&

456789::;<=6>9?;>9589<56@9A>9BAC856<9D9E?FG9:;HIC6>J9FG95K5F@5L@69F>9M6@G?N9
E?FG9:;HIC6>J9H5>9L69C5:695K5F@5L@69F>9O85F@@6N9

P>=;8C5JF;>9H5>95@G;9L69C5:695K5F@5L@69F>9;J?689H;CCI>FJA9@5><I5<6G9F=9>66:6:N9
Q@65G69H;>J5HJ9IG9;>9RSTUSRVWUSWSR9J;95885><69J?FGN

Appendix 1

Page 923



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!

()*+,-./*0,)1
234567389375893:;;<=>736:;?7@3
23456736A>3B>3CA;C;98DE37;3F;@33
G,)H.I*J*0,)
2345;36A>3B>3K;D9?=78DE3B875@
23L8>B93;M3K58=FA>D3;D375>3CA;C;9>F3K56DE>93
23N;B3K6D3O;?3PDF3;?73Q;A>36DF3=>73?93<D;B3O;?A3R8>B9@
23S;?A3R8>B936A>38QC;A76D737;3?9
TUVIJ)J*0,)1,W1*X+YH1.HX-10)1*Z0H1-,/.YX)*
23[?MPK8>DKO38D375>3[C>K86=3[>K7;A3
23\>;EA6C58K6=3F897A8:?78;D3;M3[C>K86=8973]A;R898;D
+̂0YJ+_1̀aX1TY,*0,)JI1bXJI*Z1J)-1cXIIdX0)a1̂+,e0H0,)1fJaX1ghiij
23k?AA>D73CA;R898;D
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9
+̂,V,HJIH1W,+1mZX1G,.+*1nVX/0JI1n/Z,,I
23o5>3k;?A73[C>K86=3[K5;;=
23o5>3D?Q:>A3;M3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23k;DF878;D36DF39?876:8=87O3;M39K5;;=3:?8=F8DE9
23p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=
23[87>3q6C3
23o5>3D?Q:>A3;M3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=
23k;DF878;D36DF39?876:8=87O3;M39K5;;=3:?8=F8DE9
23o5>3[73q>==;D93k5?AK538D346=>93]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
r.JI0*_1J)-1n*J)-J+-H
23s97OD
234>=953\;R>ADQ>D73k67>E;A89678;D3;M3[K5;;=9
23o5>3k;?A73[C>K86=3[K5;;=
23p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=
b,t1t,.I-1H*J)-J+-H1J*1*ZX1H/Z,,IH1dX1JWWX/*X-1d_1*ZX1/ZJ)aXH
23[76DF6AF9
23o>6K58DE36DF3u>6AD8DE3svC>A8>DK>9
23k6A>39?CC;A736DF3E?8F6DK>
23u>6F>A958C36DF3Q6D6E>Q>D7
-̀-0*0,)JI1H.VV,+*1W,+1V.V0IH
23wQC6K73;D3C?C8=93B8753xFF878;D6=3u>6AD8DE3y>>F93zxuy{
23N;B3B;?=F39?CC;A73M;A3C?C8=93B8753sDE=89536936D3xFF878;D6=3u6DE?6E>3:>36MM>K7>F@
23N;B3B;?=F3C?C8=93A>K>8R8DE3pA>>3[K5;;=3q>6=93:>36MM>K7>F@
23N;B3B;?=F3q8D;A87O3s75D8K3C?C8=93:>36MM>K7>F@
b,t1t,.I-1).+HX+_1V+,e0H0,)1dX1JWWX/*X-|
cZJ*1J+X1*ZX1dX)X}*H1,W1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH|
,̂*X)*0JI1-0HJ-eJ)*JaXH1,W1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH1
~0H�H1JHH,/0J*X-1t0*Z1*ZX1V+,V,HX-1/ZJ)aXH
Ì*X+)J*0eX1,V*0,)H1/,)H0-X+X-
cZJ*1t,.I-1ZJVVX)1*,1*ZX1XU0H*0)a1G,.+*1nVX/0JI1n/Z,,I1H0*X|
b.YJ)1~XH,.+/XH1�J**X+H
m+J)HV,+*1�J**X+H
23o5>3k;?A7367375>3p68AB67>A3]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
23o5>3k;?A7367375>3[73q>==;D93k843]A8Q6AO3[K5;;=3987>
bJeX1_,.+1HJ_1
+̂0YJ+_1G,YVIXU�̀.*0HY1̂+,e0H0,)1fJaX1ghiij
23k?AA>D73CA;R898;D
23k;QC=>v3u>6AD8DE3y>>F93[C>K86=8973�>9;?AK>3�69>3
23l>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
 �
��
¡

Page 924



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!

()*+*,-./0*)/1+234-.4,5/62,*7)32/8-,2/9168:/+)*;4,4*</-5/=**).-<>/()4?-)@/13A**./
BCDEEFGHIJCKFLMHFNCOPQEEG
BCRQSCITMUSFCEVCWGHPSXCHYCYQSCXPQEEG
BCZSMHIJCVEFCWGHPSXCHYCYQSCXPQEEG
BC[EIJLYLEICHIJCXTLYHULGLYNCEVCXPQEEGCUTLGJLI\X
BCKFEWEXSJCO]̂CHPPEMMEJHYLEI
_7-.45@/-<>/15-<>-)>,
BC X̀YNI
BCaSGXQCbEcSFIMSIYC[HYS\EFLXHYLEICEVCOPQEEGX
BCDEEFGHIJCKFLMHFNCOPQEEG
d*e/e*7.>/,5-<>-)>,/-5/5A2/,3A**.,/f2/-002352>/f@/5A2/3A-<g2,h
BCOYHIJHFJX
BCRSHPQLI\CHIJCiSHFILI\C̀jWSFLSIPSX
BC[HFSCXTWWEFYCHIJC\TLJHIPS
BCiSHJSFXQLWCHIJCMHIH\SMSIY
k>>454*<-./,7++*)5/0*)/+7+4.,
BClMWHPYCEICWTWLGXCmLYQCnJJLYLEIHGCiSHFILI\CoSSJXCpnioq
BCrEmCmETGJCXTWWEFYCVEFCWTWLGXCmLYQC̀I\GLXQCHXCHICnJJLYLEIHGCiHI\TH\SCUSCHVVSPYSJs
BCrEmCmETGJCWTWLGXCFSPSLcLI\CtFSSCOPQEEGCDSHGXCUSCHVVSPYSJs
BCrEmCmETGJCDLIEFLYNC̀YQILPCWTWLGXCUSCHVVSPYSJs
d*e/e*7.>/<7),2)@/+)*;4,4*</f2/-002352>h
k.52)<-54;2/*+54*<,/3*<,4>2)2>
uA-5/-)2/5A2/f2<2v5,/*0/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2h
(*52<54-./>4,->;-<5-g2,/*0/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2/
64,w,/-,,*34-52>/e45A/5A2/+)*+*,2>/3A-<g2
d7?-</62,*7)32,/=-552),
x)-<,+*)5/=-552),
d-;2/@*7)/,-@/
y<0*)?-54*</)2.2;-<5/5*/f*5A/+)*+*,-.,
d*e/e*7.>/5A2/3A-<g2,/-00235/*5A2)/,3A**.,h
k>?4,,4*</-))-<g2?2<5,
z2-)<2)/x)-;2./k))-<g2?2<5,/
{4<-<34-./=-552),
d2-.5A/()*;4,4*<
|*;2)<-<32/k))-<g2?2<5,
y?+-35/*0/5A2/+)*+*,-.,/*</5A2/u2.,A/z-<g7-g2
}~7-.4542,
�*??7<45@/y?+-35
u2..f24<g/*0/{757)2/|2<2)-54*<,
(*52<54-./�4,)7+54*</5*/(7+4.,
�2�5/,52+,�/A*e/5*/?-w2/@*7)/;42e,/w<*e</-<>/022>f-3w/0*)?
BCaQHYCQHWWSIXCISjYs
BC�SNCZHYSX
BC[EIXTGYHYLEICWSFLEJ
BCOYHYTYEFNCoEYLPS
BC�U�SPYLEIC]SWEFYC
BCZSYSFMLIHYLEICEVCYQSCWFEWEXHGX
BCZSPLXLEICoEYL�PHYLEI
d-;2/@*7)/,-@�
BC[EIXTGYHYLEICFSXWEIXSCVEFMC

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
 
��
 
��
�

¡
��
�
�¢
�
�
��
��
�
��
�£
��
��
��
��
¤
��
�
��
¥¢
£¤
¦

Page 925



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#�$ �%

&'()*+,*)'+,*-../01)*(-.2)3

456789::;<=>8678?:@8AB@=C>7D8EB@=@7F87E5::<87>B??F87E5::<8G:H=@C:@78BCI8BCJ:C=8K5:85B78BC86C>=@=7>8

6C8=ILEB>6:C86C8MB@I6??N8O>8K6<<89=8:?8AB@>6EL<B@86C>=@=7>8>:8AB@=C>7D8EB@=@78:?8E56<I@=C8B>>=CI6CGF8:@8

=PA=E>6CG8>:8B>>=CIF845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8BCI8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8BCI8>5:7=8>5B>85BH=8

:@8EL@@=C><J8K:@;8K6>58E56<I@=C8K6>58UII6>6:CB<8V=B@C6CG8W==I78XUVWYN

O>87=>78:L>8E5BCG=78K=8B@=87LGG=7>6CG8>:8A@:H6I=856G58ZLB<6>J8A@6TB@J87A=E6B<87E5::<8A<BE=78?:@8

E56<I@=C8K6>58[T:>6:CB<8\=B<>58BCI8]=<<9=6CG8W==I78B>845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8BCI8QA=E6B<67>8

=̂7:L@E=8_B7=8XQ̂_Y8A<BE=78?:@8E56<I@=C8K6>58E:TA<=P8<=B@C6CG8C==I78B>8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<F8

BCI8>5=8@=B7:C78?:@8>5=7=8A@:A:7=I8E5BCG=7N

&'()*(̀1*a1*b̀.b.,+cd*).*e.3

4:8T==>8>5=8I=TBCI8?:@8A@6TB@J8BG=87A=E6B<67>8A@:H676:C86>8678A@:A:7=I8>:f

g8OCE@=B7=8>5=8EBABE6>J8:?845=8M:L@>8QA=E6B<8QE5::<8?@:T8hi8>:8ji8A<BE=7N8845=87E5::<8K:L<I8

>@BC7?=@8>:8>K:876>=7F86C8C=K89L6<I8BEE:TT:IB>6:C8:C8>5=876>=8:?8kB6@KB>=@8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8BCI8

>:8>5=8EL@@=C>8Q>8R=<<:C7F8M6]8S@6TB@J8QE5::<876>=86C8V<BC@LTC=JF8K6>58lm8ALA6<78:C8=BE5876>=8

?@:T8Q=A>=T9=@8inioN

g8[7>B9<6758B8in8A<BE=8QA=E6B<67>8̂=7:L@E=8_B7=8XQ̂_Y8?:@8A@6TB@J8BG=I8E56<I@=C8K6>58M:TA<=P8

V=B@C6CG8W==I78B>8R::@<BCI8S@6TB@J8QE5::<8?@:T8Q=A>=T9=@8iniiN

p �q"r�s�$ �

&'.*(̀1*a1*t.c,20)+cd*a+)'3

45=8E:C7L<>B>6:C8A@:E=778TL7>8?:<<:K8>5=8]=<758u:H=@CT=C>8GL6I=<6C=78B787=>8:L>86C8>5=8QE5::<8

v@GBC67B>6:C8M:I=8inwxN

U78AB@>8:?8>5678K=8B@=8B7;6CG8A=:A<=8K5B>8>5=J8>56C;8B9:L>8>5=8E5BCG=78K=8B@=8A@:A:76CGN88

45=@=8B@=8B8CLT9=@8:?8KBJ78A=:A<=8EBC8>=<<8L78>5=6@8H6=K7N

�

y
z{
|}
~
��
|�
��
}�
��
�
�
�{

�
��
�
�{
��
�
}�
�
�}
��
��
�
��
�
}�
�
�
}�
�
�
�
�}
�
��
�
��
}

�
�|
�
}�
�
�
�|
��
�
��
}�
��
��
��
�}
�
��
�
{}
��
��
�

Page 926



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"!� �#$!% &%!#'&!$(#!&( !)#'*+,�!,%!+#*%'�&,*-.

���� !".!/0#'1%!&( !)#'*+,�!,%!+#*%'�&,*-!$,&(

23456789:;96:<=>9?:@8=@58 A85B3:C494BD87B

E;789DBFG;787B HIJKLMNONPQKRMNPIRRKSSKITMQ

UG3==5:BD;VV 289D7;5:U=>D3:2=9B=7D4>W:X=49D:Y6>G;D4=9:U87Z4G8:
[2U2XYU\

UG3==5:]=Z87949?:̂=648B A85B3:_;9?>;?8:2=WW4BB4=987:

_=G;5:78B4689DB 3̀4894:67=B:a66<B?:]<W7;8?:[̀3a]\

2=WW>94D<:2=>9G45B b7;68:c94=9B:

_=G;5:C8Wd87BF2=9BD4D>89G<:;96:̀8?4=9;5:C8Wd87B:=V:
D38:U89866:[CU\:FC8Wd87B:=V:E;754;W89D:[CEB\

23456G;78:@7=Z4687B:

e4=G8B;9:e478GD=7B:=V:Y6>G;D4=9 C>64;6:C84D3749:

f84?3d=>749?:a>D3=74D48B A;58B:E78gUG3==5:E7=Z4687B:aBB=G4;D4=9

f84?3d=>749?:E74W;7<:;96:U8G=96;7<:BG3==5B:h4D349:
2;764VV:

25<d4;>:E5;9D:2<W7>:i46B:25>d

YBD<9 f;D4=9;5:e;<:f>7B8748B:aBB=G4;D4=9

2=WW>94D48B:j47BD:E;7D987B34@ A85B3:Y6>G;D4=9:j=7>W

2;764VV:;96:k;58:l8;5D3:̂=;76: k=5>9D;7<:U8GD=7:m7?;94B;D4=9B:

n, $%!#o!+(,�p0 *!#*!&( !10#1#% p!+(�*- %!

2;764VV:4B:;:23456:j748965<:24D<:;96:D38:Z48hB:=V:G3456789:;96:<=>9?:@8=@58:;78:q8<:D=:D38:h;<:86>G;D4=9:4B:

6854Z8786r::sD:4B:4W@=7D;9D:D3;D:h389:d749?49?:V=7h;76:@7=@=B;5Bt:B>4D;d58:;77;9?8W89DB:;78:W;68:D=:G=9B>5D:

h4D3:@>@45Br:b38:2=>9G45:h455:G=9B>5D:h4D3:@>@45B:49:D38:BG3==5B:49G5>686:;B:@;7D:=V:D38B8:@7=@=B;5B:;96:D38:

49V=7W;D4=9:?;D38786:49:D38B8:B8BB4=9B:h455:d8:49G5>686:49:D38:u9;5:G=9B>5D;D4=9:78@=7Dr

v#$!w#'!+�*!x*p!#'&!y#0 !�*p!� &!'%!z*#$!w#'0!{, $%|

b34B:G=9B>5D;D4=9:6=G>W89D:;96:;:G=9B>5D;D4=9:78B@=9B8:V=7W:;78:;Z;45;d58:=9:D38:2=>9G45:h8dB4D8:;D:}}}~

L�Q�K��~�I�~������SL�IIJ�QI�IS�JS

sV:<=>:;78:>9;d58:D=:;GG8BB:D38:6=G>W89DB:=95498t:@749D86:G=@48B:h455:d8:;Z;45;d58:d<:@=BD:=9:78�>8BDr:�=>:

W;<:78�>8BD:;:G=@<:d<:8gW;4549?:SL�IIJQMS�ITSMS�L�Q�K��~�I�~��:=7:d<:D858@3=949?:���N����N����r:

A8:h455:;6Z4B8:V;W4548B:h4D3:G3456789:;D:b38:2=>7D:U@8G4;5:UG3==5t:C==75;96:E74W;7<:UG3==5t:j;47h;D87:

E74W;7<:UG3==5t:UD:C855=9B:23>7G3:49:A;58B:E74W;7<:UG3==5:;96:E89:<:̂7<9:E74W;7<:UG3==5:3=h:D38<:G;9:

;GG8BB:;:G=@<:=V:D38:6=G>W89Dr

s9V=7W;D4=9:h455:;5B=:d8:@7=Z4686:D=:78B4689DB:;96:d>B498BB8B:49:G5=B8:@7=�4W4D<:D=:D38:BG3==5:B4D8B:49G5>686:

49:D38:@7=@=B;5Br

m95498:W88D49?B:h455:d8:3856:h3878:D38:G3;9?8B:h8:;78:@7=@=B49?:h455:d8:8�@5;4986r::�=>:h455:3;Z8:D38:

=@@=7D>94D<:D=:;Bq:�>8BD4=9B:;B:@;7D:=V:D38B8:B8BB4=9Br::sV:<=>:h=>56:54q8:D=:;DD896:;9:=95498:W88D49?:@58;B8:

G=9D;GD:>B:Z4;:8gW;45:D=:SL�IIJQMS�ITSMS�L�Q�K��~�I�~��:G=9u7W49?:h34G3:W88D49?:<=>:h=>56:54q8:D=:

;DD896:;96:h8:h455:@7=Z468:;:549q:;96:49BD7>GD4=9B:=9:3=h:<=>:G;9:;GG8BB:D34B:W88D49?r

2=>9G45:=VuG87B:h455:W88D:h4D3:D38:]=Z87949?:̂=648B:;96:BD;VV:=V:b38:2=>7D:U@8G4;5:UG3==5t:j;47h;D87:E74W;7<:

UG3==5:;96:C==75;96:E74W;7<:UG3==5r:

�=>:G;9:;5B=:h74D8:D=:D38:2=>9G45:D=:D855:>B:h3;D:<=>:D349qr:
�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
� 
¡¢
£
£
¤�

¥
�£
¦
§�
§£
�
�̈
£
��
¡¢
§¤
©
��
�
�ª
�
©
��
£
�
�
«�
¬
�£
¬
¤�
�


§�
¢
�®
©
©
§�
§£
�
ª¤
�̄
�ª
��
§�
«�
°
��
©
��
±®̄
°
²

Page 927



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#�$%�"���&'()*+�+$,#')"!"*$,�-��"*,.#�!/��#�"�$'"�(�)$01

234567897:;<=>5?3?@;<7A66?@<B7C3?6=7

D3?>E67;F7G;<=>5?3?@;<7 C3?6H2@I67 J6<>67

K,)*,��L'()*+�-��"*,. �'�# !M�NO�P$Q�-(�/�ONOR�
S1TN&-�U�V&-�

K,)*,��Q*!���!-#

W/$&�*,�#�##*$,#�� K,�/�X'�#"�(M��-!*)*,.�
#+�$$)/�#&$,#�#Y+!/ *%%Z.$QZ'[

K,)*,��Q*!���!-#

\;>E7]@6̂=73E67@I_;E?3<?7?;7>=7

$̀'/�Q*�0#�-!""�/�!, �0��0!,"�M$'�"$�"�))�'#�0�!"�M$'�"�*,[�!($'"�"���+�!,.�#�0���!Q��#'..�#"� �*,�

"�*#� $+'-�,"Z�

$̀'�+!,� $�"�*#�(M1�

a�b""�, *,.�$,��$%�"���-��"*,.#�)*#"� �!($Q�Z��

a�c$-&)�"*,.�"���$,)*,��/�#&$,#��%$/-�!"�dddefghijkkelmneopqrstufvmmwxhmxmugwu

a�c$-&)�"*,.�"���+$,#')"!"*$,�/�#&$,#��%$/-y�0�*+��M$'�+!,�z, �$,�&!.��{|

a�c$,"!+"*,.�"���}+�$$)�K/.!,*#!"*$,�L)!,,*,.���!-�(M��~-!*)�"$�ufvmmwh�uxm�u�u�fghijkkelmneopy�

(M�"�)�&�$,��$,��NO���ON�V�OVON�$/�(M�&$#"�"$��$$-�{NRy�c$',"M��!))y�c!/ *%%y�c�RN�{��Z���*#�

+!,�*,+)' ��/�X'�#"*,.�!,�$%z+�/�+!))�(!+[�*%�M$'��!Q��!�#&�+*z+�X'�#"*$,�"�!"�M$'�%��)�M$'�0$') �)*[��

%'/"��/�*,%$/-!"*$,�!($'"Z�

2�67G5;=@<B7�3?67F;E7E6=_;<=6=7?;7?�@=7G;<=>5?3?@;<7@=7887D;]6I46E78�8�

����c$',+*)�*#�,$"�!()��"$�+$,#* �/�!,M�+$,#')"!"*$,�/�#&$,#�#�/�+�*Q� �!%"�/�"�*#� !"�Z

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
 
¡�
¡�
�
�¢
�
��
��
¡�
£
��
�
�¤
�
£
��
�
�
�
¥�
¦
��
¦
��
�

§
¡�
�
�̈
£
£
¡�
¡�
�
¤�
�©
�¤
��
¡�
¥�
ª
��
£
��
«̈
©ª
¬

Page 928



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� ! "#$!%$&%"'()*%+*',%#!%"-#*%,$.+)'!"%

/01231456714781496006:;5<471=>34?31@478=6?<86?7478;34@6A?>157B

CDEFGGFHIJKLEMNO4P42004>2;572;51@43A8660342@>;74Q?Q;034?Q4764274012374781;=4/?R0;381@4S@>;33;654
T?>R1=U4V8142@>;33;6545?>R1=4;3478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;04Q02A1342W2;02R014;5412A84X12=4<=6?QU

CYK4P4S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4T11@3U4S4A8;0@46=4X6?5<4Q1=3654;34A653;@1=1@476482W14S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4
T11@34;94781X482W14@;9[A?07;1347827482W14243;<5;[A2574065<P71=>4;>Q2A74654781;=4012=5;5<U44\;9[A?07;134>2X4
R14=10271@4764012=5;5<]4A6>>?5;A27;65425@4;571=2A7;65]424Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4@;32R;0;7X]46=4R182W;6?=204
1>67;6520425@436A;204@1W106Q>157U44̂SZT4;3436>17;>134=191==1@4764234_Q1A;204̀@?A27;65204T11@3aU

bcdFecfJgLIDFIhJgHOJGijHHfG4k4>651X4?31@4764R?;0@451:43A86604R?;0@;5<346=4;>Q=6W141l;37;5<492A;0;7;13U

bHEELIFemJnijHHfGJk424Q=;>2=X46=431A65@2=X43A86604:81=147814o6?5A;042==25<1343A866042@>;33;653U

bceijENIeJcONcJk42542=1247827424A6>>?5;7X43A86604:6?0@456=>200X431=W1U4p54o2=@;99q4A8;0@=1540;W;5<4
:;78;5478;342=12482W148;<81=4Q=;6=;7X496=42@>;33;65476478143A8660478254A8;0@=1546?73;@1469478;342=12U

bHEdfNrJYNcOIFIhJKNNDG4P4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:;78424=25<14694;33?134s4A6>R;527;65469402X1=1@4
511@3U4V81314A6?0@4;5A0?@14511@34=10271@4764012=5;5<q4A6>>?5;A27;65q4Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4@;32R;0;7;13U4q4

tEHeFHIcfJuNcfejJcIDJvNffMNFIhJKNNDG4k4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:86482W14;33?134:;78478;5w;5<q4
9110;5<425@4R182W;5<U4V8;34;>Q2A734654>252<;5<486:40;9142991A734781>q486:4781X4A6Q1q486:4781X415<2<14
:;7846781=3q47814A86;A134781X4>2w1U44_6>17;>13423424=13?0746947=2?>2U4o8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014>2X4
@;3Q02X425l;17Xq406:43109P13711>q43A86604Q86R;2q46=4R182W;6?=204@;9[A?07;13U4

xcFIGeONcEJP424>2;537=12>43A86604;34243A86604=?54RX47814o6?5A;04:8;A84;345674243Q1A;2043A8660U4o6?5A;04
>2;572;51@4>2;537=12>y3Q1A;2043A8660342=1456743101A7;W1425@4@645674=1z?;=1437?@15734764Q2X49113U44

KLEMNOJHIJ{HffJDcec4P478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;034274243A86604̂5674;5A0?@;5<45?=31=X4Q?Q;03aU

|YCnbJP4/?Q;04Z1W104S55?204_A86604o153?3U4p54}25?2=X46941W1=X4X12=q47814~10384�6W1=5>1574A6001A734
;596=>27;6549=6>43A86603U4V8;34;5A0?@13478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;03427412A843A8660q4781;=42<14<=6?Q3q486>14
2@@=13313q41785;A;7Xq425@4@2724654~10384025<?2<1q4_Q1A;204̀@?A27;65204T11@3q4[=374025<?2<1425@4Q?Q;034
:86482W14�=114_A86604�1203U

nijHHfJCieFHI4P4:815424A023346=43?R�1A74712A81=4<;W1341l7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04:;784SZTU

nijHHfJCieFHIJ|fLG4P4:81546?73;@143Q1A;20;3734810Q47814A023346=43A86604372994764<;W141l7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04
:;784SZTU4V8;34;34@;991=15746=42@@;7;6520476478143?QQ6=74Q=6W;@1@478=6?<84_A86604SA7;65U

ndNiFcfJnijHHfJk4243A8660496=4A8;0@=154:;7842542@@;7;65204012=5;5<4511@46=4@;32R;0;7Xq4:86314511@34A255674
R14>174;5424>2;537=12>43A8660U4V814Q?Q;034274243Q1A;2043A8660482W142437271>1574694_̀Tq46=4254p5@;W;@?204
\1W106Q>1574/0254̂p\/aU

ndNiFcfFGeJ{NGHLOiNJ�cGNJ�n{��JP4S43>2004A02334;5424>2;537=12>43A8660496=4Q?Q;034:;7843;<5;[A2574SZTU4
S004Q?Q;03427715@;5<4254_��482W142437271>1574694_̀T425@42=1472?<874RX43Q1A;20;374712A81=3425@4012=5;5<4
3?QQ6=74233;372573q425@482W146QQ6=7?5;7;134764012=5q4Q02X46=436A;20;314:;7846781=4>2;537=12>4Q?Q;03U44

vNffMNFIhJbfcGGNG4P4o2=@;994203649?5@3431W1=204:100R1;5<4A0233134:8;A84Q=6W;@14386=7471=>4;57153;W14
3?QQ6=7496=4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014@;3Q02X;5<41>67;65204812078425@4:100R1;5<4511@3q47643?QQ6=74781;=4
A657;5?1@4Q02A1>1574;54781;=406A204>2;537=12>43A8660U44/02A1>1574;5424~100R1;5<4o02334;3471>Q6=2=X496=4
6514X12=B47814A8;0@4=1>2;534654=6004274781;=406A2043A8660425@4781X42=143?QQ6=71@4764=17?=549?0047;>14764781;=4
06A2043A86604RX4781415@46947814Q=6<=2>>1U4

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

 
��
�
�¡
�
�
��
��
�
��
�¢
��
��
��
��
£
��
�
��
¤¡
¢£
¥

Page 929



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"# $%!#%&'"%�(" !)*%�" &+,%

-./01223-456718319374::1;;<03;43;=<3>/1671>8<93423167859146?3@=<3:.A4/1;B34238<./6</93C1;=3D001;146.83
E<./616F3G<<093HDEGI3.;;<603.3847.83:.169;/<.:397=448J3.603K<6<L;32/4:3<22<7;1M<3D001;146.83E<./616F3
N/4M191463HDENI?3@=<9<38<./6</9304364;36<<03;43.;;<603.39><71.8397=44834/3O><71.819;3P<945/7<3Q.9<?3

R4C<M</J3;=<365:K</3423>5>1893C1;=39<M</<3.60374:>8<S36<<09J3C=436<<03.3>8.7<3163.39><71.8397=44834/3
9><71.819;3/<945/7<3K.9<3=.93746;165<03;43F/4C?

@=193193K<7.59<342T33

U3N5>183>4>58.;14637=.6F<9J3C1;=38./F</374=4/;93423>/1:./B397=4483.F<3>5>189364C3:4M16F3;=/45F=3;43
9<7460./B3>=.9<?3

U3V:>/4M<0395/M1M.83/.;<9324/37=180/<63K4/63C1;=391F61L7.6;3019.K181;1<9J3/<958;16F3163.3=1F=</365:K</3423
>5>1893C1;=39<M</<3.60374:>8<S3019.K181;1<9?3

U3V67/<.9<0374:>8<S1;B31636<<09J3C=17=3=.93:<.6;3;=.;3;=<30<:.60324/39><71.819;3>/4M191463=.93
746;165<03;43F/4C?33@=<3/.6F<3423<S></;19<J39><71.819;395>>4/;3.6032.7181;1<93/<W51/<031639><71.8397=44893
.603OPQ93=.93.8943167/<.9<0?

U3V67/<.9<0316710<67<3.60310<6;1L7.;14634239><71L736<<093957=3.93.5;19:J3DXRXJ3>=B917.83019.K181;1<93
.6039<694/B31:>.1/:<6;9?3

U3Y4/<37=180/<63.603B456F3><4>8<3C1;=3<:4;146.83=<.8;=3.603C<88K<16F36<<09?33@=193C.93.3;/<603
K<24/<3-Z[VX3\]J3K5;3=.93K<<63<S.7</K.;<03KB397=448378495/<93.6034;=</3:<.95/<93;43:.6.F<3;=<3
>.60<:17?33

D;3;=<3<603423Y./7=3̂_̂\J3;=</<3C</<3̂Ĵ̀ a37=180/<63163-./01223C1;=3.39;.;<:<6;3423O><71.83b057.;1463
G<<09?3D93;=<3>4>58.;1463F/4C9J3943C1883;=<365:K</34237=180/<63.603B456F3><4>8<3C1;=391F61L7.6;3.603
74:>8<S3D001;146.83E<./616F3G<<09?3

V63̂_̂_ĉ\J3.3;4;.83423\J\\̀3>8.7<93163O><71.819;3P<945/7<3Q.9<934/39><71.8397=44893C</<32560<03KB3-./01223
-456718?3d<88K<16F3-8.99<93.603O><<7=3.603E.6F5.F<3-8.99<93=.037.>.71;B324/35>3;43ef38<./6</93463
;<:>4/./B3>8.7<:<6;9?3@=</<3C</<3.8943]_3>8.7<93.M.18.K8<3163;=<3N5>183P<2<//.83g61;3HNPgI?3d=189;3;=</<3
./<3.365:K</3423<S19;16F39><71.819;39<;;16F93.7/4993-./0122J3;=</<3./<364;3<645F=3>8.7<93.M.18.K8<?33@=<3
65:K</34237=180/<63C=43C45803K<6<L;32/4:3.3>8.7<3193>/4A<7;<03;43167/<.9<34M</374:16F3B<./9?3

D93;=</<3./<364;3<645F=39><71.8397=4483>8.7<93163-./0122J3;=<3-4567183=.93.89432560<0394:<3>8.7<93.;3
9><71.8397=448931634;=</3-4567183./<.934/3163160<><60<6;397=4489?3@=<3;4;.839><603463;=<9<3>8.7<93C.93
h̀?i:3163̂_̂_ĉ\?3@=<3K50F<;324/3̂_̂\ĉ 3̂24/3;=<9<3;B><93423>8.7<9319375//<6;8B39<;3.;3hj?i:?33

O><6016F3463160<><60<6;3>8.7<93.6039><71.8397=4483>8.7<931636<1F=K45/16F3-4567183./<.93=.93F/4C63;43
7hi?f:3163̂_̂_ĉ\?3Z23;=19J3.>>/4S1:.;<8B3ĥ?a:3=.932560<039><71.819;3>8.7<9324/3;=49<38<./6</93C1;=3
b:4;146.83R<.8;=3k3d<88K<16F3G<<09?3O4:<3423;=<9<38<./6</93:.B3=.M<3K<<63.K8<3;43K<3>8.7<03.;3@=<3
-45/;3O><71.83O7=4483123:4/<3>8.7<93C</<3.M.18.K8<?3d1;=45;316M<9;:<6;3163.001;146.83>8.7<9J3;=<3749;3423
;=<9<3>8.7<93C45803K<3<S><7;<03;43F/4C391F61L7.6;8B316325;5/<3B<./9?3

@=<3749;3;43;=<3-456718342397=4483;/.69>4/;324/38<./6</93C1;=3b:4;146.83R<.8;=3k3d<88K<16F3G<<093;43;=<9<3
>8.7<:<6;93.M</.F<037h̀J___3></37=1803163̂_\fc\]3H;=<3:49;3/<7<6;3B<./3>/<3-4M10l\]3/<9;/17;1469I?3V;3193
.6;171>.;<03;=.;3;=<3/<>8.7<:<6;3.603<S>.691463423;=<3<S19;16F3-45/;3O><71.83O7=4483C45803:<.63;=.;3;=<3
.M</.F<3A45/6<B38<6F;=93C45803/<057<?3@=193C4580391F61L7.6;8B3/<057<3.M</.F<3;/.69>4/;3749;93></38<./6</?

�

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
{
vq
yz
�|
�
vs
t
q�
t
�
qw
{
u
t
�q
�
s{
�
|s
q

�
�p
z
q�
�
�
�p
�{
t
�|
q�
s�
vt
�t
�q
�
ss
�
oq
��
��
�

Page 930



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%!&'($)* $+,*$�-'�.')"�%$!&$)*'" �/$)$�-'

01234567895:35;3<=269749>83?2>5@A623B7>2>37:C3D244E29:F3G47>>2>39>3:583H2443C9>8A9E@82C376A5>>38123698IJ3

K3L7=3>15H9:F34567895:35;32M9>89:F3>=269749>83=A5N9>95:367:3E23>22:3783=7F23OJ3

0123476P35;3<=269749>83?2>5@A623B7>2>39:3>5L23456749892>367:3C9>7CN7:87F23427A:2A>349N9:F39:3815>237A27>J3
<5L23;7L9492>37A23@:;7L9497A3H981381237A27>3H12A23=A5N9>95:39>3456782CJ3Q7A2:8>35A367A2A>3L7I3476P38123
L27:>38538A7N24327>94I3853815>237A27>J3

K4815@F13;A22315L23853>6155438A7:>=5A839>37N7947E423;5A3>@6136194CA2:R3>2:C9:F373I5@:F36194C3853>6155439:37:3
@:;7L9497A37A2739>373C9;S6@483C269>95:3;5A3=7A2:8>T367A2A>J3K3E2882A3C9>8A9E@895:35;3>=269749>83A2>5@A623E7>2>3
76A5>>38123698I3H5@4C39L=A5N237662>>3;5A3=@=94>J3U83H5@4C3A2C@6238A7N24389L2>3;5A3L7:I3=@=94>R37>3H24437>3
9:6A27>9:F38123:@LE2A35;3=4762>37N7947E42J3

G7AC9;;3<=269743<61554>37:C3<?B>3VWVX

YZ[\]̂_̀a][\]̀b_cd̂ec]\̀ê[f[̂ghha]i_]\d̀ h̀a]j_dkia]j_dk̂[h
[kf_blgi[_km]no]fdbiZeb]̂_̀[e\]lga]pe]lgcem
qgerb]̂_̀[]Zsk]sec[r[]takZab̂Zdrk]pek_c_h][]tafheks[
tsap_cgeiZ]a]jakt_b]u[bm]n[]ehh[b]tskkedc]̂_̀[gd]̀ehhĝZm
v]jb_sk]̂_̀ab[tZi]gkc]cgigpg\e]b[tZi\]wxyz]
obckgk̂e]udb{ea]yxxxw||z}
v]~gshfbg[ki]a]�_b_k]g]Zgsh[gd]̂b_kfg]ccgig]wxyz
�b_hst]obckgk\]yxxxw||z}

jgbc[ff]ù ê[gh]ûZ__h\�u��\]wxwy]]

�����������������������������������������������
�di[\l �z�

�eZg{[_dbgh�]�l_i[_kgh]�]u_̂[gh]neec\ �w�

~egb[kt]�l̀ g[bleki �w�

 b_f_dkc]�]qdhi[̀he]¡egbk[kt]¢[\gp[h[i[e\�]qec[̂gh]neec\�]�di[\l �y�

ue{ebe]¡egbk[kt]¢[\gp[h[i[e\�]qec[̂gh]neec\�]ùeêZ]gkc]¡gktdgte�]�di[\l �yx�

�

£
¤¥
¦§̈
©ª
¦«
¬
§®̄
°
±
±
²¥

³
¬±́
µ¥
µ±
ª
§¶
±
¬§̄
°
µ²
·
¬©
ª
§̧
ª
·
§
±
«
ª
¹§
º
©±
º
²©
§

»
µ¦
°
§¼
·
·
µ¦
µ±
ª̧
²§
½©̧
¬ª
µª
¹§
¾
©©
·
¥§
¿¼
½¾
À

Page 931



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��

�
��
 !
"
#$
 %
&'
!(
)*
+
+
,�

-
&+
.
/�
/+
$
!0
 !
1
*
#!
"
+
%
& 

Page 932



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$
%&�'()*�%'�!!*�

��

+
,-
./
0
12
.3
45
/6
78
9
9
:-

;
49
<
=-
=9
2
/>
./
?
8
1/
0
9
3
4.

Page 933



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&#' ()�(*!+#,&!+)-#!*.#/&++0&�*%#1&&.2#3�(4�2�(*#
5!%&#67889#

:;<=>>?<@>=AB@<C;D<EDF=ADG<AH><IE>JFAKFI?<ED;LFIF;B<C;D<JMFK@D>B<NF?M<>=;?F;BAK<M>AK?M<AB@<N>KKO>FBH<B>>@I<
?M><P;QBJFK<FI<ED;E;IFBH<?;R

S<TBJD>AI><?M><JAEAJF?G<;C<:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<CD;=<VW<?;<XW<EKAJ>IY<<:M><IJM;;K<N;QK@<?DABIC>D<?;<?N;<
IF?>IZ<FB<B>N<OQFK@<AJJ;==;@A?F;B<;B<?M><IF?><;C<[AFDNA?>D<\DF=ADG<UJM;;K<AB@<?;<?M><JQDD>B?<U?<]>KK;BIZ<
PF̂<\DF=ADG<UJM;;K<IF?><FB<_KABDQ=B>GZ<NF?M<̀a<EQEFKI<;B<>AJM<IF?><CD;=<U>E?>=O>D<WbWcY

TBC;D=A?F;B<IE>JFdJ<?;<?MFI<ED;E;IAK<FI<I>?<;Q?<A?<EAH>I<eW<f<WcY

ghiijklmniopqrqok

PAD@FCC<JQDD>B?KG<MAI<sb<EKAJ>I<C;D<JMFK@D>B<;C<EDF=ADG<IJM;;K<AH><NF?M<t=;?F;BAK<u>AK?M<AB@<̂>KKO>FBH<
vtû w<B>>@IY<

>̂KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<FB<EDF=ADG<IJM;;KI<ED;LF@><A<?>=E;DADG<IE>JFAKFI?<EKAJ>=>B?<C;D<JMFK@D>B<NM;<AD><A?<DFIx<;C<
>yJKQIF;B<;D<AD><>yE>DF>BJFBH<IFHBFdJAB?<>=;?F;BAK<@FCdJQK?F>IY<PMFK@D>B<NM;<A??>B@<̂>KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<AD><@QAK<
D>HFI?>D>@Y<:MFI<=>ABI<?M>G<D>=AFB<;B<?M><D;KK<;C<?M>FD<zM;=>z<IJM;;KZ<AB@<AD><IQEE;D?>@<?;<D>FB?>HDA?><?;<?MA?<
IJM;;K<A?<?M><>B@<;C<?M>FD<̂>KKO>FBH<PKAII<EKAJ>=>B?Y<:MFI<>ADKG<FB?>DL>B?F;B<AEED;AJM<JAB<M>KE<?;<ED>L>B?<
?M><>IJAKA?F;B<;C<B>>@IY<T?<JAB<AKI;<D>@QJ><?M><DFIx<?MA?<JMFK@D>B<NFKK<B>>@<EKAJ>=>B?<FB<A<IE>JFAK<IJM;;KY<:M><
>̂KKO>FBH<PKAII>I<MAL><D>E;D?>@<H;;@<K>ADBFBH<AB@<N>KKO>FBH<;Q?J;=>I<C;D<?M>FD<EQEFKIY<

:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<ED;LF@>I<VW<IE>JFAK<IJM;;K<EKAJ>IY<{<CQD?M>D<V|<EKAJ>I<AD><ED;LF@>@<FB<̂>KKO>FBH<
JKAII>I<FB<EDF=ADG<IJM;;KIY<PMFK@D>B<NM;<A??>B@<:M><P;QD?<UE>JFAK<UJM;;K<AD><;B<?M><D;KK<;C<?M><IJM;;KY

}j~�k�m�oimn���jr

:AOK><̀<O>K;N<I>?I<;Q?<tû <\DF=ADG<ED;LFIF;B<JQDD>B?KG<ALAFKAOK><FB<PAD@FCCZ<AB@<ED;�>J?>@<CQ?QD><@>=AB@<
C;D<EKAJ>IY<

:M><ED;�>J?F;BI<FBJKQ@><AKK<JMFK@D>B<D>�QFDFBH<IQJM<A<EKAJ>=>B?Z<FBJKQ@FBH<?M;I><EKAJ>@<;Q?<;C<J;QB?GY<:M><
ED;�>J?F;BI<AKI;<FBJKQ@><JMFK@D>B<FB<=AFBI?D>A=<IJM;;KI<ANAF?FBH<A<IE>JFAKFI?<EKAJ>=>B?�<A<eb�<IQDEKQI<FI<
FB@FJA?>@<FB<?M><?AOK>Z<?;<IQEE;D?<�>yFOFKF?GY

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 934



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#

$%&'�%(") �*!+"" ,-,-.,/ ,-,/.,, ,-,,.,# ,-,#.,0 ,-,0.,1 ,-,1.,2

3456789:;6 <= <= <= <= <= <=

>?;@ABAC6DE7 F G G G G G

>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6
DE7

G G G G G G

LM:?CNH88O6
I:?JA:K6DE7

G G G G G G

PAQ5R?O56DE7 G ST ST ST ST ST

I5C6K6U:85R6DE7 G G G G G G

�VW� "*�)�*&W( G= XY XY XY XY XY

I:8Z5[;5O6
O5JACO

SY\ SY] SSY SS= SST SSX

I:8Z5[;5O6
O5JACO6̂_SỲ a

SS\ SSG S=S S=\ S=G S\S

L9:MB9R6b6O5c[?; d\S d=G d\S d\\ d\G d<S

345R56M:8Z5[;?8CR6H5:56eAR5O68C6OA;A6[AM;9:5O6?C6=YSXf6[8JMA:5O6H?;46R[488B6[5CR9R6OA;A6̂IPgL76=YSXah

3456;AeB56R48HR6;4A;6;456M:8Z5[;5O6O5JACO6i8:6MBA[5R68j5:6ACO6Ae8j565k?R;?CN6M:8j?R?8C6?R6\S6MBA[5R6?C6=Yb=Sf6
:?R?CN6;86<S6MBA[5R6?C6=Y=lb=Y=Th63456M:8M8R5O65kMACR?8C68i63456789:;6H89BO6M:8j?O56\Y6AOO?;?8CAB6MBA[5Rf6
:5O9[?CN6;456O5c[?;6;86SS6MBA[5Rh

mnopoqrsqtuontvwxtyozn{t|px}~rst|}woos

�5MBA[?CN6ACO6R?NC?c[AC;BK65kMACO?CN63456789:;6LM5[?AB6L[488B6i:8J6<=6;86]=6MBA[5R6?R65RR5C;?AB6?i6;456
789C[?B6?R6;86i9BcB6?;R6R;A;9;8:K6:5RM8CR?e?B?;K6;86M:8j?O56AMM:8M:?A;565O9[A;?8C6i8:6[4?BO:5C6H?;46gOO?;?8CAB6
P5A:C?CN6�55ORh

�C68:O5:6;86A[4?5j56;4?Rf6;456789C[?B64AR6?O5C;?c5O6;4565k?R;?CN6R?;5R68i6>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6L[488B6ACO6L;6
�5BB8CR6749:[46?C6DAB5R6̂7?Da6I:?JA:K6L[488B6AR6;456M:5i5::5O6R?;5R6i8:63456789:;h6

3456789C[?B6H89BO6M:8j?O56\T6MBA[5R6?C6C5H6M9:M8R5de9?B;6A[[8JJ8OA;?8C68C6;456>A?:HA;5:6I:?JA:K6
L[488B6R?;5h

3456789C[?B6H89BO6M:8j?O56\T6MBA[5R6eK6AOAM;?CN6;4565k?R;?CN6R[488B6e9?BO?CNR68C6;456L;6�5BB8CR67?D6I:?JA:K6
L[488B6R?;5h63456R?;56?R6[9::5C;BK68[[9M?5O6eK6L;6�5BB8CR67?D6I:?JA:K6L[488B6e9;6?R6O956;86e56jA[A;5O6?C6
L5M;5Je5:6=Y==h663456e9?BO?CN6H89BO6e56AOAM;5O6;865CR9:56;4A;6?;6H89BO6e56AMM:8M:?A;56;86J55;6;456C55OR6
8i6M9M?BRh

345R56R?;5Rf6ACO6B8[AB6?Ci:AR;:9[;9:568iidR?;5f6H89BO6R9MM8:;6;456O5j5B8MJ5C;68i6RM5[?AB6R[488B6M:8j?R?8Ch

3456e9?BO?CNR6[9::5C;BK68[[9M?5O6eK63456789:;6LM5[?AB6L[488B6H89BO6e56jA[A;5Oh

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 935



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% &'�()*+ &(�""+ 

,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/:1794.</94/549481=/>19<?/@:9=8;-.=A/

,-./;7-11:/631B8<.;/CD/6:97.;/E13/:.93=.3;/9F.</CGHH/E31I/9731;;/093<8EEA/,-./I9J1384K/1E/6:97.I.=4;/93./E13/

7-8:<3.=/8=/L.K/549F./D?/9F.</MGHHA//N::/1E/4-./7-8:<3.=/-9B./;8F=8O79=4/.I1481=9:/-.9:4-/9=</P.::Q.8=F/=..<;A/

N::/6268:;/.=31::.</94/,-./01234/57-11:/-9B./9/;494.I.=4/1E/56.789:/R<279481=9:/S..<;A/,-./;4942413K/

9;;.;;I.=4/6317.;;/E13/4-.;./K12=F/6.16:./-9;/8<.=48O.</4-94/4-.83/9<<8481=9:/:.93=8=F/=..<;/79==14/Q./I.4/8=/

9/:.;;/;6.789:8;.</.=B831=I.=4A

,-./62361;./1E/,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/41/631B8<./9/;6.789:8;4/:.93=8=F/.=B831=I.=4/9=</7233872:2I?/P-.3./

:.93=.3;/79=/E2:O:/4-.83/614.=489:A/

��� T#UV�$ "W '+*(�X *% %�� X(�""+ 

,-./7969784K/1E/,-./01234/56.789:/57-11:/8;/4-./=2IQ.3/1E/6:97.;/9B98:9Q:./8=/9::/9F./F3126;/E13/7-8:<3.=/9F.</

E123/41/.:.B.=A

,-./7969784K/1E/4-./;7-11:/8;/Q9;.</1=/-1P/7:9;;311I;/9=</14-.3/;697.;/93./2;.</E13/4.97-8=F/9=</:.93=8=FA

�*V+� Y V�+"Z '$"[)\�X \�%*)+X "W '+*(�X *[*)+*V+� *% ��� !"#$% &'�()*+ &(�""+//

�*V+� Y

]*U� "W X(�""+   _̂� $*T_� *̀T_#*_� U�\)#Ua 
(*%�_"$b "W X(�""+

!#$$�T% c#V+)X��\ 
!*'*()%b

]#$X�$b 
'+*(�X

,-./01234/56.789:/
57-11://

CGHH R=F:8;-/d.<82I
56.789:/57-11:

CD e

��

f
gh
ij
k
lm
in
op
jq
rs
t
t
uh

v
ot
w
xh
xt
m
jy
ij
z
s
lj
k
t
n
oi

Page 936



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(

- .(�#/#.�(%0#*�+*#%1+#"�+ 2(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#-,�#4%1&+#5'�)2 (#5),%%(##

- .(�#/6#7�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#+,�#4%1&+#5'�)2 (#5),%%(##

5),%%(###89:;9<=>>
?@AB>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@AH>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@AI>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@?@>>
CDEFG

89:;9<=>
?@?A>>
CDEFG

?@?AJ
?@??>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@??J
?@?R>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?RJ
?@?S>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?SJ
?@?T>
K<LMNOPQL:

?@?TJ
?@?U>
K<LMNOPQL:

VWN>
XL;<P>
YZNOQ9[>
YOWLL[>>

S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S? S?

4%!"2+2%!# !"#512+ .2(2+\#%$#5),%%(#]12("2!̂*#

_[[>̀OWLL[̀>Q:>X9<aQbb>9<N>cQdN:>9>XL:aQPQL:><9PQ:c>b<Le>_>CZN<bL<eQ:c>9̀>Q:PN:aNa>J>LZN<9PQ:c>NbfOQN:P[=G>PL>

g>C[QbN>NhZQ<Na>J><Q̀i>Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<NG

YOWLL[̀>Q:>X9<aQbb>9<N>9[̀L>cQdN:>9>Y;QP9jQ[QP=><9PQ:c>b<Le>_>CcLLa>k>b9OQ[QPQǸ>̀;QP9j[N>bL<>PN9OWQ:cl>[N9<:Q:c>m>

nN[[jNQ:cG>PL>g>Cj9a>k>j;Q[aQ:c>̀N<QL;̀[=>Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀P9bbò>9jQ[QP=>PL>aN[QdN<>PWN>O;<<QO;[;eGp

- .(�#q#4%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+\#̂& "2!̂*

- .(�#q6#4%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+\#̂& "2!̂*#

r& "2!̂ 4%!"2+2%! 512+ .2(2+\##

_ sLLa>9:a>LZN<9PQ:c>NbfOQN:P[=> sLLap>t9OQ[QPQǸ>̀;QP9j[N>bL<>
PN9OWQ:cl>[N9<:Q:c>9:a>nN[[jNQ:c>
Q:>̀OWLL[

u vwxyz{w|x}~����x��yx���y�}~�
��x�~y}~wxy}��

Y9PQ̀b9OPL<=p>>KN<bL<eQ:c>9̀>
Q:PN:aNa>j;P>aLǸ>:LP>NbbNOPQdN[=>
;̀ZZL<P>PWN>aN[QdN<=>Lb>PWN>
O;<<QO;[;e>Q:>̀LeN>9<N9̀

X KLL<>nQPW>e9ML<>aNbNOP̀ KLL<p>VN9OWQ:c>eNPWLà>Q:WQjQPNaJ
9adN<̀N>QeZ9OP>L:>̀OWLL[>
L<c9:Q̀9PQL:>

g �:a>Lb>�QbN�>[QbN>W9̀>NhZQ<Na>L<><Q̀i>
Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<N

�N<=>ZLL<p>>u;Q[aQ:c̀>̀N<QL;̀[=>
Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀P9bbò>9jQ[QP=>PL>aN[QdN<>
PWN>O;<<QO;[;e>

VWN>XL;<P>YZNOQ9[>YOWLL[>Q̀><9PNa>g>bL<>OL:aQPQL:>C�:a>Lb>�QbN�>[QbN>W9̀>NhZQ<Na>L<><Q̀i>Lb>QeeQ:N:P>b9Q[;<NG>9:a>

g>bL<>̀;QP9jQ[QP=l>nQPW>�;:̀;QP9j[No>[N9<:Q:c>N:dQ<L:eN:P̀l>nWQOW>̀N<QL;̀[=>Q:WQjQP>PWN>̀OWLL[ò>O9Z9OQP=>PL>

aN[QdN<>PWN>O;<<QO;[;ep

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
 �
 �
�
�¡
��
¢
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 937



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"# $% �&� '$()*++,$$

-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<4/=4.>4?>@</=:A63B/C64D4E4FF4G0/6.074=9:;;<4<;9.23B4.24H3<<0/@:24I;.BJ4

K.0B/LLJ4K-M4N?OP

Q:34=9:;;<4:.=4.4@3>30;C=4=/234;L4.GG0;R/6.23<74DPST.4.>B4:.=4U33>4/B3>2/V3B4.=4;L4=CLV9/3>24=/W342;4U34

=:.03B41/2:4.4>31AUC/<B4=G39/.<4=9:;;<P4

X<2:;C@:4-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<46.Y3=4LC<<4C=34;L4/2=4=/234.>B4UC/<B/>@=J42:34=/W34.>B49;>V@C0.2/;>4;L4

2:34=/2341;C<B4=CGG;0242:34B3Z3<;G63>24;L4.4>314=G39/.<4=9:;;<P4-./01.230450/6.07489:;;<41;C<B4=2/<<4032./>4

.4=/2341:/9:43R933B=42:34=/234=/W3403[C/0363>2=4;L4.4<.0@349;66C>/274G0/6.074=9:;;<P

(�"#$&�\

-./01.2304
50/6.074
89:;;<

82P4-
.@.>

]=4I;
.B

K;66C>/274K3>203

H
3<<1
0/@
:
24I;
.
B

-./01
.7=4K
03=93>2

��

_̂̀
ab
c
de
af
gh
bi
jk
l
l
m̀

n
gl
o
p̀
pl
e
bq
ab
r
k
db
c
l
f
ga

Page 938



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�% &' ()*+�, *- -�� ,+�&&) 

�*$)� . $�)&/ (%&012�, 2�-*1), &' ()*+�, *0*1)*$)� *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&) 

�*$)� .

7*#� &' 
,+�&&)   

8"%%�!- 4"$)1,��2 
8*(*+1-5 9*:� ; < ==>

4)*+�, (�% 5�*% 
:%&"( 9*:� ; < ==>

7"%,�%5 
4)*+�, 

?*!:"*:� #�21"# *!2 
8*-�:&%5 &' 6+�&&) 

@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJG
KLMNNOG

PQR ST T UVWOBXMYIFZB[IGLNII[VBEJG
\CBIACJGXLMNNOG

]MFGL[CCFVEGLA\ALBEJGN̂G@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGPQRG\OALFXGAVZGEMFGXLMNNOGMAZGP_TGLMBOZCFVGNVGCNOOGBVG
L̀ENaFCGPTPTbG]MFGXLMNNOGMAXGX[̂cLBFVEGLOAXXCNNIGX\ALFGENGALLNIINZAEFGAGWCFAEFCGV[IaFCGN̂G\[\BOXGAVZG
MAXGCFYZFXBWVAEFZGEMFXFGCNNIXĜNCGNEMFCG\[C\NXFXbG]MFGXLMNNOGAOXNGALLNIINZAEFXGAGdFOOaFBVWGeOAXXb

f�#*!2 '&% ()*+�, *- -�� ,+�&&) 

�*$)� g $�)&/ ,�-, &"- 2�-*1), &' %�+�!- *!2 (%&h�+-�2 !"#$�%, &! %&)) *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&)GGG

�*$)� gi j�+�!- *!2 (%&h�+-�2 !"#$�%, &! %&)) *- 3*1%/*-�% 4%1#*%5 6+�&&)  

6+�&&)   kAV[ACJGG
PT_lG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PT_qGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PT_RGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PTPTGG
mǹ op

kAV[ACJG
PTP_GG
mǹ op

PTP_r
PTPPG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPPr
PTPQG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPQr
PTPSG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPSr
PTPtG
HCNsFLEBNV

PTPtr
PTPuG
HCNsFLEBNV

@ABCDAEFCG
HCBIACJG
KLMNNOGG

PQq PSS PSQ PPS PTl _RT _lt _tS _t_ _Qu

vG@[E[CFGXLMNNOG\[\BOGZFIAVZGaAXFZGNVGONLAOGLAELMIFVEG\N\[OAEBNVG\CNsFLEBNVX

8&!21-1&! *!2 6"1-*$1)1-5 &' 6+�&&) w"1)21!:,

@ABCDAEFCGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGCAEFZGeĜNCGLNVZBEBNVGAVZGxĜNCGX[BEAaBOBEJG

]MFGXBEFyGAVZGONLAOGBV̂CAXEC[LE[CFGN̂ ŶXBEFyGDN[OZGX[\\NCEGEMFGZFzFON\IFVEGN̂GX\FLBAOGXLMNNOG\CNzBXBNVb

��� 6- {�))&!, 8�"%+� 1! |*)�, 4%1#*%5 6+�&&) ,1-�

KEG}FOONVXGeM[CLMGBVGdAOFXGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGBXGECAVX̂FCCBVWĜCNIGBEXGL[CCFVEGXBEFGAEG~[VXEFCGoNAZyG�OAVC[IVFJyGBVG
KF\EFIaFCGPTPPGENGAGVFDGXBEFGNVGEMFGKEGUZFJCV�XGZFzFON\IFVEbG

]MFG~[VXEFCGoNAZGXBEFGDBOOGaFGzALAVEGBVGA[E[IVGPTPPyGAOONDBVWĜNCGCFZFzFON\IFVEbG]MFGzALAEFZGXBEFGDBOOGECAVX̂FCGENG

EMFGNDVFCXMB\GN̂GEMFGeN[VLBOGAEGEMBXGEBIFb

]MFGF�BXEBVWGXBEFGALLNIINZAEFXG__tG\[\BOXGAWFZGSY__bG]MFGXBEFGBXGONLAEFZGAZsALFVEGENGEMFGXBEFGN̂GHFVG�GxCJVG

HCBIACJGKLMNNOb

xNEMGEMFGHFVGJGxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGAVZG\CN\NXFZGeN[CEGK\FLBAOGKLMNNOGXBEFXGI[XEGIFFEGEMFGACFAGCF�[BCFIFVEXGXFEG

N[EGBVGEMFGx[BOZBVWGx[OOFEBVGW[BZAVLFĜNCGXLMNNOXbG

�VGNCZFCGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGFALMGXBEFGMAXGX[̂cLBFVEGX\ALFĜNCGBEXGOFACVFCXGBEGDN[OZGaFGVFLFXXACJGENGAZs[XEGEMFGF�BXEBVWG

aN[VZACJGaFEDFFVGEMFGEDNGXBEFXbGGG

]MFGeN[VLBOGDN[OZGDNC�GLONXFOJGDBEMGHFVG�GxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOGAVZG]MFGeN[CEGK\FLBAOGKLMNNOGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGEMFG
CF�[BCFIFVEXGN̂GEMFGW[BZAVLFGACFGIFEbGG]MBXGDN[OZGFVX[CFGEMFCFGACFGN[EZNNCG\OAJGAVZGOFACVBVWGACFAXGAVZGXNLBAOG

X\ALFXGEMAEGaFVFcEGFALMGXLMNNObGG]MFGeN[VLBOGDBOOGAOXNGFVX[CFGEMFCFGBXGX[̂cLBFVEGXEÂ̂G\AC�BVWGAVZGEMFGCF�[BCFZG

ZCN\YN̂̂GACFAXĜNCGMNIFGENGXLMNNOGECAVX\NCEbGG]MFGeN[VLBOGBXG�FFVGENGFVX[CFGEMAEGHFVG�GxCJVGHCBIACJGKLMNNOG

aFVFcEXĜCNIGEMFGBVzFXEIFVEGAVZGLMAVWFXGVFFZFZGENGONLAEFG]MFGeN[CEGNVGEMFGAZsALFVEGXBEFbGG
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 939



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./01234-5/678-24/8,49-53:+-:5/-/6;<138<:3/18-31-/6=,6-:/->/13:/6-:+,-?,6@/6><12,-/@-82+//48-<1=-:/-
80??/6:-82+//4-3>?6/A,>,1:B

C8:91-38-:+,-/@D2,-/@-E,6-F<G,8:9H8-.+3,@-I18?,2:/6-/@-C=02<:3/1-<1=-*6<3131;-31-J<4,8B--

C8:91-318?,2:8-K0<43:9-<1=-8:<1=<6=8-31-82+//48-<1=-/:+,6-,=02<:3/1-?6/A3=,68-31-J<4,8B-

*+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-M/31:-C=02<:3/1-L,6A32,-N.L.MCLO-38-:+,-6,;3/1<4-L2+//4-I>?6/A,>,1:-
L,6A32,-@/6-:+,-DA,-2/012348-/@-P63=;,1=Q-.<6=3@@Q-F,6:+96-*9=D4Q-R+/1==<-.91/1-*<@@-<1=-:+,-S<4,-/@-
T4<>/6;<1B--*+,-./01234-5/678-53:+-:+,-./18/6:30>-:/-80??/6:-<1=-2+<44,1;,-<44-82+//48-31-.<6=3@@B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8Q-802+-<8-.<6=3@@-./01234Q->08:-2/183=,6-C8:91-6,?/6:8-<1=-/:+,6-,A3=,12,-<W/0:-82+//4-
?,6@/6><12,-<1=-,@@,2:3A,1,88-5+,1-80;;,8:31;-2+<1;,8-:/-82+//48B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8->08:-<48/-2/183=,6-:+,-437,49-3>?<2:-/@-:+,-?6/?/8,=-2+<1;,8-/1X

Y-8:<1=<6=8Q-5,44W,31;-<1=-<::3:0=,8-:/-4,<6131;

Y-:,<2+31;-<1=-4,<6131;-,Z?,63,12,8-

Y-2<6,-80??/6:-<1=-;03=<12,

Y-4,<=,68+3?-<1=-><1<;,>,1:-N4,<=,68+3?Q-3>?6/A31;-K0<43:9Q-?<6:1,68+3?-5/6731;-<1=-6,8/062,-- -
- ><1<;,>,1:O

[\]̂_

L2+//48-<6,-318?,2:,=-<8-?<6:-/@-<-1<:3/1<4-?6/;6<>>,-/@-82+//4-318?,2:3/1B-*+,-?06?/8,-/@-<1-318?,2:3/1-
38-:/-3=,1:3@9-;//=-@,<:06,8-<1=-8+/6:2/>31;8-31-82+//48-31-/6=,6-:+<:-:+,9-><9-3>?6/A,-:+,-K0<43:9-/@-
,=02<:3/1-/@@,6,=-<1=-6<38,-8:<1=<6=8-<2+3,A,=-W9-:+,36-?0?348-NC8:91OB

*+,-6,4,A<1:-C8:91-I18?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-?6/A3=,-;6<=,8-<;<318:-̀,9-a0,8:3/18-<1=-?6/A3=,-82+//48-53:+-
6,2/>>,1=<:3/18-@/6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

b/0-2<1-D1=-318?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-/1-:+,-C8:91-5,W83:,-cccdefghidjkldmn-

opq\rstuvpw_xp_]syz]p{uw|\z]|u_su}s\yruuq\

I1-~���Q-:+,-J,48+-T/A,61>,1:-31:6/=02,=-<-1,5-2<:,;/638<:3/1-898:,>B

I:-4//78-<:-,<2+-82+//4H8-8:<1=<6=8-<1=-+/5->02+-<-82+//4-38-<W4,-:/-3>?6/A,B-*+38-3=,1:3D,8-:+,-4,A,4-/@-
80??/6:-82+//48-6,K036,B--�6;<138<:3/18-802+-<8-:+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-N.L.MCLO-<1=-:+,-82+//4-
3>?6/A,>,1:-8,6A32,-:+,1-5/67-53:+-82+//48H-4,<=,68-:/-3=,1:3@9Q-?6/A3=,-<1=�/6-W6/7,6-<19-80??/6:-
6,K036,=-@/6-@06:+,6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 940



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&'("#'%) (*(#�+ '( ,�(!&'-�, ') �"-.� / -�.%01

2"#�$%&* %3 (455%&# 6�"# #�� !"#�$%&* +�")(

7899:
;<=>?=@A<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<IB@@<JKLM<=NG<N<GEJHL?<@BNOBJG=>P<NLO<>G<
D@BNJ<NQHKE<>EG<PJ>HJ>E>BG<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLES<

T9UUVW
;L<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<N@JBNOA<OH>L?<IB@@<NLO<XLHIG<E=B<NJBNG<>E<
LBBOG<EH<>RPJHFBS<

YZ[98
;<GD=HH@<>L<LBBO<HC<>RPJHFBRBLE<I=>D=<LBBOG<=B@P<EH<>OBLE>CA<E=B<GEBPG<EH<
>RPJHFB<HJ<EH<RNXB<D=NL?B<=NPPBL<RHJB<\K>DX@AS<

]9̂
;<GD=HH@<>L<LBBO<HC<?JBNEBGE<>RPJHFBRBLE<NLO<I>@@<JBDB>FB<>RRBO>NEBM<
>LEBLG>FB<GKPPHJES<

;<GD=HH@_G<DH@HKJ̀DHOBO<DNEB?HJA<>G<OBD>OBO<QA<=HI<>E<>G<JNEBO<CHJ<GENLONJOG<ab̀cd<NLO<CHJ<=HI<NQ@B<>E<>G<EH<
>RPJHFB<a;̀edS<

b<>G<E=B<QBGE<JNE>L?<CHJ<GENLONJOG<NLO<;<>G<E=B<QBGE<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLES<

fPONEBO<DNEB?HJ>GNE>HLG<CHJ<BND=<GD=HH@<NJB<PKQ@>G=BO<BFBJA<ABNJ<>L<gNLKNJAS<

hHJB<>LCHJRNE>HL<NQHKE<E=B<DNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<GD=BRB<DNL<QB<CHKLO<>L<E=B<iB@G=<jHFBJLRBLE_G<PNJBLEG_<?K>OB<EH<
E=B<kNE>HLN@<lD=HH@<mNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<lAGEBR<=BJBn<

�##51oo$%pq0".�(o,%!(o,!�..(o54-.'!"#'%)(orstrr/u5"&�)#(u$4',�u�)q5,3

��� 2%4&# v5�!'". v!�%%. 

w=B<mHKJE<lPBD>N@<lD=HH@<ING<@NGE<>LGPBDEBO<QA<xGEAL<>L<gKLB<yzbcS

;E<E=>G<E>RB<E=B<GD=HH@_G<PBJCHJRNLDB<NLO<PJHGPBDEG<CHJ<>RPJHFBRBLE<IBJB<QHE=<{KO?BO<NG<|jHHO_S<

;L<NGGBGGRBLE<QA<E=B<mBLEJN@<lHKE=<mHLGHJE>KR<PJ>HJ<EH<E=B<PNLOBR>D<?NFB<E=B<CH@@HI>L?<BFN@KNE>HLn

}~~�����������~������~���~������~��~����~�����~

}~���~������~����~�����~����~������~����~��~�����~���~���~������~��~��������~��~���~�����~����~���~������~������~
����~����~��������~��~�����~���~��������

}~������~����~���������~��������~��~�����~������~���~��������~������������~���~����~�����~�������~��~�������~
���������~��~��������~���~���~������~�������~��~�����������~�������~

}~���~������~��������~�����������~��~������~���~���~������~ ���������~����~��������~��~�������~�����~�������~
��������~��������~�����~����~�����~���~��~�����¡����~�����������~�������~���~������������~��~���~�������~���~
������~��~���~�������~¢£¤��~������~���~��������~����~��~�����~����~��������~��~����~����~�����~������

¥"'&0"#�& ¦&'+"&* v!�%%. 

§N>JINEBJ<̈J>RNJA<lD=HH@<ING<@NGE<>LGPBDEBO<QA<xGEAL<>L<§BQJKNJA<yzyzS

;E<E=>G<E>RB<E=B<GENLONJOGM<IB@@QB>L?<NLO<NEE>EKOBG<EH<@BNJL>L?M<EBND=>L?<NLO<@BNJL>L?<B©PBJ>BLDBM<DNJBM<GKPPHJE<
NLO<?K>ONLDB<NLO<@BNOBJG=>P<NLO<RNLN?BRBLE<IBJB<N@@<{KO?BO<NG<?HHOS

ªL<E=B<RHGE<JBDBLE<iB@G=<jHFBJLRBLE<lD=HH@<mNEB?HJ>GNE>HL<NE<gNLKNJA<yzyzM<§N>JINEBJ<̈J>RNJA<lD=HH@<ING<
DNEB?HJ>GBO<NE<«B@@HI<aNL<BCCBDE>FB<GD=HH@<I=>D=<>G<N@JBNOA<OH>L?<IB@@<NLO<XLHIG<E=B<NJBNG<>E<LBBOG<EH<>RPJHFBdS<<

��

¬
®̄
°±
²³̄

µ́¶
°·̧
¹
º
º
»®

¼
µº
½
¾®
¾º
³
°¿̄
°À
¹
²°
±
º́
µ̄

Page 941



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'#&(#$ &% %)* $+)��"$ ,* &--*+%*# ,. %)* +)&'/*$  

012342546

789:;<=>?@A:8BC:DBE9:B:?A9BF:?<DD@GD9>G:G<:?<>G@>=@>H:G89:@>I9CGD9>G:@>J:B>E:@DKF<I9D9>G:<LJ:;BFE@LL:
C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN:?8@AE:8BC:G89:O9CG:K<CC@OA9:CGBFG:@>:A@L9:PQQQRSTUVWXXSYZZW[Z\][RSYR̂_̀a:

789:E9A@I9FN:<L:bcCG:;9>G=FN:d9BF>@>H:9>I@F<>D9>GC:e@AA:9>C=F9:G8BG:G89F9:BF9:BKKF<KF@BG9J:8@H8:f=BA@GN:C?8<<A:
KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e8@?8:D99GC:G89:>99EC:<L:;BFE@LLgC:HF<e@>H:B>E:?8B>H@>H:K<K=ABG@<>a

789:;<=>?@A:e<FMC:?A<C9AN:e@G8:G89:H<I9F>@>H:O<E@9C:<L:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:G8BG:CGB>EBFEC:@>:C?8<<AC:BF9:8@H8J:
G8BG:G9B?8@>H:@C:H<<E:B>E:G8BG:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:@C:CGF<>Ha:

hGB>EBFEC:BG:789:;<=FG:h?8<<A:BF9:BAF9BEN:H<<Ea::7FB>CL9FF@>H:G89:C?8<<A:G<:>9e:B??<DD<EBG@<>:e<=AE:
KF<I@E9:BKKF<KF@BG9:8@H8:f=BA@GN:C?8<<A:KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e@G8:9D<G@<>BA:B>E:e9AAO9@>H:>99ECa:

hGB>EBFEC:BG:iB@FeBG9F:jF@DBFN:h?8<<A:BF9:H<<Ea::kG:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G8BG:G89:KF<K<CBA:e@AA:@DKB?G:<>:CGB>EBFEC:
BG:G89:C?8<<Aa:789:?<m:A<?BG@<>:<L:789:;<=FG:e<=AE:BAA<e:CGBLL:G<:C8BF9:O9CG:KFB?G@?9J:KF<L9CC@<>BA:A9BF>@>H:
<KK<FG=>@G@9C:B>E:L<F:D=AG@mBH9>?N:e<FM@>Ha

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G89:f=BA@GN:<L:CGB>EBFEC:<L:9E=?BG@<>:<F:G89:
E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:i<=>EBG@<>:j8BC9:B>E:9B?8:n9N:hGBH9:<L:9E=?BG@<>:BG:B>N:<L:G89:C?8<<AC:BC:B:F9C=AG:<L:G89:
KF<K<C9E:?8B>H9Ca

op2qrs3tu234uvp253s3tupwxp5sp3qp6u

789:>9e:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e@AA:C=KK<FG:G89:E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:>9e:y;=FF@?=A=D:<L:zBA9Cg:L<F:A9BF>9FC:PBH9E:{:|:c}̀:
e8@?8:@C:E=9:G<:O9:@DKA9D9>G9E:@>:z9AC8:C?8<<AC:LF<D:h9KG9DO9F:b~bba::789:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:e@AA:BE<KG:B>:
BKKF<B?8:e8@?8:@C:@>?A=C@I9:B>E:E9C@H>9E:G<:BEEF9CC:G89:>99E:G<:KF9KBF9:?8@AEF9>:B>E:N<=>H:K9<KA9:@>:zBA9C:
G<:G8F@I9:B>E:O9:C=??9CCL=A:@>:B:FBK@EAN:?8B>H@>H:e<FAEa

kG:@C:F9?<H>@C9E:G8BG:G89:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:C8<=AE:KF<I@E9:OF9BEG8J:9>BOA9:HF9BG9F:E9KG8:<L:A9BF>@>HJ:9>C=F9:
O9GG9F:KF<HF9CC@<>J:KF<I@E9:C?<K9:L<F:D<F9:@DBH@>BG@I9:B>E:?F9BG@I9:=C9:<L:G@D9:B>E:KAB?9:B>E:B:D=?8:HF9BG9F:
9DK8BC@C:<>:CM@AACa::�9e:B>E:@DKF<I9E:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e@AA:89AK:C=KK<FG:G8@C:I@C@<>a

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G9B?8@>H:B>E:A9BF>@>H:9lK9F@9>?9C:BG:iB@FeBG9F:
jF@DBFN:h?8<<Aa

�25pu6�xx�51u234ut�s423qpu

�AA:C?8<<AC:8BI9:B>:BKKF<KF@BG9:FB>H9:<L:K<A@?@9C:B>E:KF<I@C@<>:@>:KAB?9:G<:KF<D<G9:K=K@ACg:89BAG8:B>E:e9AAO9@>Ha

�<G8:C?8<<AC:BF9:?<DD@GG9E:G<:KF<I@E@>H:B>:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:A9BF>@>H:@C:IBA=9E:B>E:K=K@AC:B?8@9I9:G89@F:
K<G9>G@BA:@>:B:8BKKNJ:CBL9:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:G89N:C8<e:F9CK9?G:B>E:G<A9FB>?9:L<F:9B?8:<G89Fa

789:;<=>?@A:e<=AE:e<FM:e@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:G89@F:
F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:?BF9:C=KK<FG:B>E:H=@EB>?9a

�p24p56rsxu234u�232tp�p31

789:;<=>?@A:e<=AE:?<>G@>=9:G<:e<FM:e@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:
G89@F:F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:8@H8:K9FL<FDB>?9a::kG:e<=AE:C=KK<FG:O<G8:C?8<<AC:G<:
8BI9:B:H<<E:F9ABG@<>C8@K:e@G8:KBF9>GC:B>E:<G89F:KBFG>9FC:C<:G8BG:K=K@AC:F9?9@I9:B:8@H8:f=BA@GN:9E=?BG@<>a

789:KF<K<C9E:?8B>H9C:e<=AE:O9:KAB>>9E:?BF9L=AAN:C<:G8BG:G89:C?8<<ACg:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:BF9:><G:
E@CF=KG9EJ:e8@?8:?<=AE:8BI9:B:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:9E=?BG@<>BA:CGB>EBFECa��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 942



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&'((!) %*!)%('(�$&%

+,-./0120-/.3405634076/08/9:/;7,</503=>0

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@JKKDHDLMNE@OPNQMDMR@SPPKF@

?@ABCDEF@QPTPDUDMR@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF@

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@JKKDHDLMNE@ONMRBNRP@

?@XDMLQDHZ@YHIMDT@CBCDEF@NH@PNTI@L[@HIP@FTILLEF\

+,-./012

]:633.0 0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0_.̀50

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760,0
57,7/c/;70
3=0bde0

0̂3=0f9//0
]:633.0g/,.50
_̀8a.5h0i0j/,90
,k/9,</0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760l;<.a560,50
,;0bmma7a3;,.0
d,;<̀,</0

0̂3=0
ga;39a7j0
l76;a:0
_̀8a.50

nIP@oLBQH@
WCPTDNE@WTILLE

p p qrrs tt\u p u\qs

VNDQGNHPQ@
AQDvNQZ@
WTILLE@

wxy z\z {\| }q\q |\} ~~\�

�c8,:703;08̀8a.504a760bmma7a3;,.0d/,9;a;<0e//m50�bde�

J@~qFH@oPMHBQZ@WTILLE@�BDEKDMR@GDEE@NEELG@[LQ@[NTDEDHDPF@HL@�P@HNDELQPK@HL@HIP@MPPKF@L[@HIP@TIDEKQPM@GIL@NTTPFF@

DH\@VNTDEDHDPF@TNM@�P@KPFDRMPK@HL@�H@HIPDQ@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF@NMK@CQLUDKP@TNEv@NMK@FHQBTHBQPK@PMUDQLMvPMHF@HL@

FBCCLQH@EPNQMDMR\

nIP@TBQQPMH@P�CPQHDFP@NH@HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@�P@vNDMHNDMPK\@nIP@P�CNMFDLM@NMK@

MPG@[NTDEDHDPF@GLBEK@CQLUDKP@LCCLQHBMDHDPF@[LQ@FHN[[@KPUPELCvPMH@NMK@[LQ@PMINMTDMR@CBCDEF�@EPNQMDMR@DM@

CBQCLFPp�BDEH@[NTDEDHDPF\

nIP@oLBMTDE@NT�MLGEPKRPF@HINH@N@TINMRP@DM@PMUDQLMvPMH@TNM@�P@BMFPHHEDMR@NMK@BCFPHHDMR@[LQ@TIDEKQPM@GDHI@

NKKDHDLMNE@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF\@@ABCDEF@GLBEK@�P@FBCCLQHPK@HL@PMN�EP@HIPv@HL@NKNCH@HL@HIP@TINMRPF@CQLCLFPK\

�34043̀.m05̀883970=3908̀8a.504a760l;<.a560,50,;0bmma7a3;,.0d,;<̀,</0-/0,==/:7/m�

ABCDEF@HINH@QPTPDUP@FBCCLQH@�PTNBFP@HIPZ@INUP@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@TNM@�P@FBCCLQHPK@DM@NMZ@

FTILLE@DM@oNQKD[[\

nIPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQvNHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@ILG@

TIDEKQPM@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@NQP@FBCCLQHPK\@@nIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@

TLMHDMBP@HL@CQLUDKP@FBCCLQH@HINH@DF@NCCQLCQDNHP@HL@HIP@DMKDUDKBNE@MPPK@L[@PNTI@CBCDE\

�34043̀.m08̀8a.509/:/aka;<0f9//0]:633.0g/,.50-/0,==/:7/m�

WLvP@L[@HIP@[BMKDMR@HINH@N@FTILLE@QPTPDUPF@DF@�NFPK@LM@HIP@MBv�PQ@L[@CBCDEF@DM@HIP@FTILLE@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@

WTILLE@XPNEF\@@JEE@FTILLEF@DM@oNQKD[[@GLBEK@QPTPDUP@[BMKDMR@[LQ@HIPFP@CBCDEF\

nIPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQvNHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CBCDEF@NH@

HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF\

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 943



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

������ !"�#$%�&$'(�)'*%$+�, -$!.�/0�1220+'0"3

45678669:7;<7=89=>=9?@A7B?B=A:7@C67@::6::697@897BC;>=9697<;C7@:7@BBC;BC=@D6E77456C67=:7@A:;78;7=8<;CF@D=;87

@>@=A@GA67D5@D7:?HH6:D:7D5@D7D567BC;B;:@A:7I;?A975@>67@786H@D=>676<<6JD7;87BC;>=:=;87<;C7@8K76D58=J7HC;?BE

LMNONMPQROSPTUVTWOXTMYZUZMSO[VO\]]V̂_VR̀

a5=A9C687=87a@C9=<<7J@87@DD6897@7B@CDbD=F678?C:6CK7BA@J67=87:J5;;A7<C;F7D567:D@CD7;<7D567D6CF7@<D6C7D56=C7D5=C97
G=CD59@KE77456K7F?:D7@DD6897D5678?C:6CK7JA@::7<;C7@D7A6@:D7c>675@A<79@K:7@7I66dE77456C67@C678;7J@DJ5F68D7@C6@:7
<;C78?C:6CKE

4567a;?CD7eB6J=@A7eJ5;;A7@897f@=CI@D6C7gC=F@CK7eJ5;;A:79;78;D75@>678?C:6CK7BC;>=:=;8E77

a5=A9C687;<78?C:6CK7@H67=87a@C9=<<7@DD6897F@=8:DC6@F7BC;>=:=;8E77456C67@C67:?<cJ=68D7BA@J6:7@>@=A@GA67D;7F66D7
D56796F@897<;C7BA@J6:7@897D56C67=:78;7BC;B;:@A7D;76:D@GA=:578?C:6CK7BC;>=:=;87@:7B@CD7;<7D567J5@8H6:7G6=8H7
B?D7<;CI@C9E

hi\_O\TVO_iVO[VSVj_UOM]O_iVOXTMXMUVRÔi\SkVÙ

l74567BC;B;:@A:7I;?A97=8JC6@:67D5678?FG6C7;<7:B6J=@A7:J5;;A7BA@J6:7<;C7BC=F@CK7@H697A6@C86C:7I=D576F;D=;8@A7
56@AD57@897I6AAG6=8H78669:7@897J;8DC=G?D67D;I@C9:7F66D=8H7BC;m6JD69796F@89n

l7o6I7:J5;;A7G?=A9=8H:7I;?A97@99C6::7D567:?G:D@89@C97J;89=D=;87;<7D5676p=:D=8H7a;?CD7G?=A9=8H:7@897I;?A97
C69?J67D567F@=8D68@8J67G@JdA;Hn

l7o6I7G?=A97<@J=A=D=6:7BC;>=9675=H57q?@A=DK7A6@C8=8H768>=C;8F68D:r7I5=J57=FBC;>67A6@C8=8H7J5;=J6:7@897
;BB;CD?8=D=6:7<;C7B?B=A:E74567a@C9=<<7stut7>=:=;87:6D:7;?D7D56786697D;7BC;>=9675=H57q?@A=DK7:J5;;A7BA@J6:E7
v=H57q?@A=DK7A6@C8=8H768>=C;8F68D:75@>67@7:DC;8H7=FB@JD7;87=FBC;>=8H7B?B=A7;?DJ;F6:n

l7w79?@A7:=D67I;?A97;<<6C7x6p=G=A=DK7<;C7F@8@H=8H7B?B=A:r7@AA;I=8H7D56F7D;7G6769?J@D697yJA;:6C7D;75;F6zE74567
BC;B;:@A:7I;?A97BC;>=967@7G6DD6C79=:DC=G?D=;87;<7eB6J=@A7BC;>=:=;87@JC;::7D567J=DKn

l7w79?@A7:=D67I;?A97@AA;I7<;C7@7I=96C7C@8H67;<7C6:;?CJ6:7<;C7D567:J5;;A7{7D56K7I=AA75@>67F;C67:B@J67D;796>6A;B7
D567J?CC=J?A?F7;<<6Cr7;<<6C=8H7@7I=96C7C@8H67;<76pB6C=68J6:7<;C7B?B=A:n

l74567J;bA;J@D=;87I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7gC=F@CK7eJ5;;A:7I;?A97BC;>=967C6=8D6HC@D=;87;BB;CD?8=D=6:r7@897@AA;I7<;C7
F;C676<<6JD=>67DC@8:=D=;8:n

l74567a;?CD7eB6J=@A7eJ5;;A7I;?A97G67cD7<;C7B?CB;:67s|:D7a68D?CK7G?=A9=8H:r7I5=J57J;?A97F;C676@:=AK7:?BB;CD7@7
C@8H67;<76>=968J6bG@:697=8=D=@D=>6:7{7@7456C@BK7<;J?:r76@CAK7=8D6C>68D=;87;BB;CD?8=D=6:r7@897:?BB;CD78?CD?C67
@897I6AAG6=8Hn

l74567J;bA;J@D=;87I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7gC=F@CK7:=D6:7I;?A97@AA;I7:D@<<7D;7:5@C67G6:D7BC@JD=J6r7:DC68HD5687
C6A@D=;8:5=B:7I=D57F@=8:DC6@F7:J5;;A:r7@AA;I7<;C7BC;<6::=;8@A7A6@C8=8H7;BB;CD?8=D=6:7@897<;C7F?AD=b
@H68JK7I;Cd=8Hn

l7456786I7G?=A9=8H:7I;?A97G67<?AAK7@JJ6::=GA67@897J;FBA=@8D7I=D57D567}q?@A=DK7wJD7st|tE

��

~
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 944



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&"'#&(#!�#) '%�*%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) '

/0123405657890:7;<0=>?0@AB0CBD0@<ABE40D7FC@68;G00H<4I03AI0CBD032J7BE0;20A0B4:0K678D7BE02B0A0B4:097;40
6B94;;87BEG00L40MB2:0;<4I0:268D0B44D0@AN4F688I058ABB4D096552N;0;20ADA5;0;20;<40B4:094;;7BEG00O2:4J4NP0
;<4N40:268D0K4096FC@74B;0;7340;2058AB0ABD096552N;096@<0A0;NAB97;72BG

/0H<4N4079052;4B;7A80F2N07B@N4A94D0;NAFC@0@2BE49;72B0AN26BD0;<409@<228097;490A;0;<409;AN;0ABD04BD02F0;<40DAIG0
H<40Q26B@780:268D0:2NM0:7;<0;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2D74902F0A8809@<228907B@86D4D07B0;<405N2529A890;20D4J48250A0
HNAJ480T8AB0;2037B737940ABI052;4B;7A80D79N65;72BG

U"'V'%#''�."#� &%W"�+%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) '

/0H<4N403AI0K40D4J482534B;0@2B9;NA7B;90;<A;0<AJ40B2;0I4;0K44B07D4B;7C4DG00XF0ABI0K4@2340A55AN4B;P0
;<4N40@268D0K4073587@A;72B90F2N0@29;0ABD0D48AIG0017;4096NJ4I90ABD0E42Y;4@<B7@A80N452N;90:268D0;AM4058A@4G0
H<4940:268D05N2J7D40F6N;<4N07BF2N3A;72B0ABD07BF2N303ABAE434B;09;NA;4E749Z

/0H<405N2529A803AI0B2;0K40A@<74JAK8407F0L489<0R2J4NB34B;0@A57;A80F6BD7BE0790B2;094@6N4D0A;0;<40K697B4990
@A9409;AE4Z

/0XF0;<40Q26B@780D7D0B2;0E4;0;<790F6BD7BE0FN230;<40L489<0R2J4NB34B;0;<4B0;<40Q26B@780:268D0K40F688I0
N4952B97K840F2N0A880@29;90N48A;7BE0;20;<405N2529A8G00XB0;<790@A94P07BJ49;34B;025;72B90:268D0K40N4J74:4D0;20
4B96N40;<40D487J4NI02F096FC@74B;09@<228058A@49G

[$� -!#�"( %�,�"�!'%.�!'"& - &

=0F4A97K787;I09;6DI0:A906BD4N;AM4B0KI0;<40Q26B@780;204\582N4052997K840A8;4NBA;7J4025;72B90;20;<402B490K47BE0
@2B968;4D02B0:7;<7B0;<790D2@634B;G0

=0B63K4N02F0A8;4NBA;7J4097;490:4N40@2B97D4N4D0K6;0:4N40D7937994D02B0;<40KA97902F07996490AN26BD0A@@499P097;40
@2B9;NA7B;9P0;NAFC@0ABD0]22D03ABAE434B;G

^+#�%W�_$&%+#,, !%��%�+ % ̀"'�"!)%a�_-�%b, ."#$%b.+��$%'"� c

H<40F6;6N4069402F0H<40Q26N;0154@7A801@<228097;40:7880K4096Kd4@;0;20F6N;<4N0@2B97D4NA;72BP0;AM7BE0A@@26B;02F0;<40
J74:902F0A0NABE402F09;AM4<28D4N9G

e_f#!%U '�_-. '%g#�� -'

H<405N25294D07B@N4A9407B0565780B63K4N90F2N0H<40Q26N;0154@7A801@<2280:268D0N4h67N40;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0
;2058AB0F2N0;<40:2NMF2N@40N4h67N434B;907B0N4AD7B4990F2N0;<404\5AB972B9G0H<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0:268D0K40
4B@26NAE4D0;206BD4N;AM40;<790:2NM07B087B40:7;<0;<401@<2280iNEAB79A;72B0T8ABB7BE0Oj0kNA34:2NMG

Oj0T42584014NJ7@490:78805N2J7D40ADJ7@4P096552N;0ABD0E67DAB@40;20;<40R2J4NB7BE0S2DI0F2N0;<40:2NMF2N@40
58ABB7BE0ABD0@2B94h64B;7A80N4@N67;34B;05N2@49949G0L<4N40R2J4NB7BE0S2D7490<AJ40AD25;4D0;<40Q26B@78l90
1@<2280j4D4582I34B;0ABD0j4D6BDAB@I0T287@IP0ABI0B4:0JA@AB@7490AN797BE0A90A0@2B94h64B@402F0AB07B@N4A9407B0
;<40B63K4N902B0N2880:268D05N2J7D402552N;6B7;7490F2N09@<2280KA94D09;AFF02B0;<409@<2280N4D4582I34B;0N4E79;4NG0

H<405N2529A807B@86D490;<40N482@A;72B02F0;<40Q26N;01@<2280:7;<0;<409@<22805N25294D0;20254NA;40D6A8097;40
ANNABE434B;9G0H<790:268D0N4h67N40<7E<084J48902F09;AFF0ABD0;NAD406B72B0@2B968;A;72BP0@84AN0@2336B7@A;72B0
58AB90N4EAND7BE0;<40ANNABE434B;90F2N0;<40;NAB97;72B0FN2302B409@<228097;40;20AB2;<4N0ABD09;AFF07BJ28J434B;07B0
;<40D4J482534B;02F0K678D7BE0954@7C@A;72B902N0D497EB9G

��

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
pq
�
z
sq
r
{
u
vp

Page 945



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&�$$'�!%

()*+,-./012+34421*5+6)*+67-+812*+5636.6-9:+;.321<:1/=+732>1/=+?1563/0*+0916*913+<-9+4.4125+6-+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+
)-8*+6-+50)--2+693/54-96+6-+491839:+50)--25@+1/02.?1/=+6-+()*+,-.96+A4*0132+A0)--2B+C/+3??161-/@+5-8*+0)12?9*/+
7)-+21D*+02-5*9+83:+325-+E*+49-D1?*?+716)+693/54-96+?.*+6-+6)*19+1/?1D1?.32+2*39/1/=+/**?5B++

,.99*/62:@+3449-F1836*2:+GHIJHK+-<+4.4125+39*+693/54-96*?+6-+()*+,-.96+716)+67-+-9+6)9**+4.4125+4*9+63F1+716)+
3+?91D*9+3/?+*50-96+6-+5.44-96+6)*8B+

L/:+49-4-5*?+1/09*35*+1/+6)*+/.8E*9+-<+4.4125+36+6)*+50)--2+7-.2?+9*;.19*+9*5-.90*5+3/?+693/54-96+<3012161*5+36+
6)*+516*5+6-+325-+E*+1/09*35*?+300-9?1/=2:B

MNOPQRSTUPVUPUNOPWVXTYVUOTPZTX[VT\P]̂NRR_P̀XUOP

C6+15+*F4*06*?+8-56+4.4125+366*/?1/=+6)*+,-.96+36+6)*+a319736*9+516*+7-.2?+0-/61/.*+6-+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+)-8*+6-+
50)--2+693/54-96+*16)*9+-/+?1563/0*+=9-./?5+-9+?.*+6-+6)*19+1/?1D1?.32+2*39/1/=+/**?5B++

b16)+3+5181239+49-4-961-/+-<+4.4125+56122+9*;.191/=+50)--2+693/54-96@+6)15+83:+8*3/+E*67**/+cH+3/?+cd+63F15+716)+
3449-49136*+<3012161*5+<-9+?9-4+-<<+3/?+410>+.4+6-+E*+49-D1?*?+36+6)*+516*B++

A-8*+4.4125+7)-+21D*+716)1/+67-+812*5+-<+6)15+/*7+50)--2+516*+7-.2?+/-6+;.321<:+<-9+<9**+)-8*+6-+50)--2+
693/54-96B++L+49-4-961-/+-<+4.4125+83:+E*+3E2*+6-+693D*2+6-+50)--2+1/?*4*/?*/62:@+716)+439*/6e039*95B++()*5*+
4.4125+35+7*22+35+563<<+3/?+50)--2+D1516-95+7-.2?+E*/*f6+<9-8+3/:+9*;.19*?+1849-D*8*/65+1/+<3012161*5+<-9+3061D*+
693D*2+6-+50)--2+-9+4.E210+693/54-96B++

()*9*+39*+329*3?:+D*9:+=--?+4.E210+693/54-96+21/>5+1/+a319736*9@+716)+5*D*932+E.5+5*9D10*5+-/2:+3+5)-96+732>+<9-8+
6)*+50)--2B+b3./=9-/+g39>+931273:+56361-/+15+3449-F1836*2:+HBhi+812*5+jcBk>8l+<9-8+6)*+50)--2B+

()*9*+15+=--?+732>1/=+9-.6*+300*55+6-+6)*+50)--2+516*+3/?+=--?+*F1561/=+0:021/=+21/>5B+()*+m2:+(9312+9./5+32-/=+
n720)+o-3?+188*?136*2:+6-+6)*+5-.6)+-<+6)*+516*+3/?+0-/61/.*5+6-+,39?1<<+n3:+716)+?1<<*9*/6+5*061-/5+*16)*9+
693<f0I<9**+-9+-/I9-3?B++a.96)*9+0:02*+9-.6*+1849-D*8*/65+39*+423//*?+1/+6)*+5)-96+6*98@+6)9-.=)+6)*+m2:+p122+
?*D*2-48*/6+716)+21/>5+D13+3+/*7+,:02*73:+i+6-+6)*+016:+0*/69*B+A1=/I4-56*?+-/I9-3?+9-.6*5+329*3?:+=-+6)9-.=)+
,3/6-/+6-+6)*+016:+0*/69*+716)+8*?1.8+6*98+1849-D*8*/65+?.*+<-9+0:02*+6930>5+5*43936*?+<9-8+693<f0B+

+

a.96)*9+D391-.5+<3012161*5+39*+49-4-5*?+6-+1849-D*+732>1/=+3/?+0:021/=+300*55+6)9-.=)+a319736*9@+q23/?3<<+3/?+
6)*+71?*9+39*3+E:+kHkrB++

()*+?*D*2-48*/6+49-4-5325+<-9+6)*+a319736*9+g91839:+A0)--2+516*+83:+325-+9*;.19*+3+9*D15*?+(93/54-96+
L55*558*/6B++()15+7-.2?+0-/f98+9-3?+53<*6:+3/?+-6)*9+8*35.9*5+6-+5.44-96+3/?+*/0-.93=*+693D*2+E:+
5.5631/3E2*+8-?*5B+C6+7-.2?+1?*/61<:+3/:+<.96)*9+693D*2I9*236*?+49-D151-/+9*2361/=+54*01f0322:+6-+3+49-4-532+<-9+
()*+,-.96+-/+6)15+516*B+++

()*+,-./012+15+0-88166*?+6-+*/5.91/=+6)36+*D*9:+50)--2+1/+,39?1<<+)35+3/+L061D*+(93D*2+g23/+7)10)+1?*/61f*5+
3061-/5+E:+6)*+50)--2+6-+5.44-96+3/?+*/0-.93=*+3061D*+693D*2+7)*9*+3449-49136*+3/?+1?*/61f*5+1849-D*8*/65+
/**?*?+-/I516*+3/?+-<<I516*+6-+<30121636*+3061D*+s-.9/*:5B++()15+423/+15+?*D*2-4*?+716)+<.22+1/D-2D*8*/6+-<+6)*+
50)--2+5.44-96*?+E:+6)*+,-./012t5+L061D*+(93D*2+g23/+-<f0*95+716)+-6)*9+5.44-96+3D3123E2*+<9-8+6)*+o-3?+A3<*6:+
(*38+7)10)+?*21D*95+0:02*+6931/1/=B++

��

u
vw
xy
z
{|
x}
~�
y�
��
�
�
�w

�
~�
�
�w
��
|
y�
xy
�
�
{y
z
�
}
~x

Page 946



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% &% %�� '% (�))"*+ !,- .$,/&$0 '1�"") +,%�  

2345647897:37;43<=343<74>=?@A53B4@C49D95E64=337F;5FG43<74H@DA34=343<74IDF637A4J@=;465374K@DE;4:@F35FD743@4
LD=E5CB4C@A4CA774<@>743@46:<@@E43A=F69@A34753<7A4@F4;563=F:74GA@DF;64@A4;D743@43<75A45F;5M5;D=E4E7=AF5FG4F77;6N444

O53<4=465>5E=A49A@9@A35@F4@C49D95E64635EE4A7LD5A5FG46:<@@E43A=F69@A3P43<564>=B4>7=F4Q73K77F4RS4=F;4RT43=8564K53<4
=99A@9A5=374C=:5E535764C@A4;A@94@CC4=F;495:U4D943@4Q749A@M5;7;4=343<746537N44

V@>749D95E64K<@4E5M74K53<5F43K@4>5E764@C43<564F7K46:<@@E465374K@DE;4F@34LD=E5CB4C@A4CA774<@>743@46:<@@E4
3A=F69@A3N44W49A@9@A35@F4@C49D95E64>=B4Q74=QE743@43A=M7E43@46:<@@E45F;797F;7F3EBP4K53<49=A7F3X:=A7A6N44Y<7674
9D95E64=64K7EE4=6463=CC4=F;46:<@@E4M5653@A64K@DE;4Q7F7Z34CA@>4=FB4A7LD5A7;45>9A@M7>7F3645F4C=:5E535764C@A4=:35M74
3A=M7E43@46:<@@E4@A49DQE5:43A=F69@A3N44

Y<7A74=A74=EA7=;B4G@@;49DQE5:43A=F69@A34E5FU64M5=4[E=FAD>F7B4\4H@DF356QDAB4WM7FD74=F;4=E6@4CA@>4]7K9@A34
J@=;4K<5:<4=A74K53<5F46<@A34K=EU5FG4;563=F:7N4Y<7A74564G@@;4K=EU5FG4A@D374=::7665Q5E53B4C@A4E@:=E49D95E64
=F;463=CCN

HB:E7K=B4̂45649E=FF7;4=E@FG43<56467:35@F4@C4]7K9@A34J@=;N4W46<@A3X>7;5D>437A>4CD3DA749<=674K5EE4A79E=:743<74
785635FG4:B:E74E=F7649A@M565@F4@F43<564QD6B4>=5F4A@=;N4

Y<7A74=A74:DAA7F349=AU5FG4566D764@D365;743<74=;?=:7F34_7F4̀4aABF4_A5>=AB4=E@FG4IDF637A4J@=;N4O<5E743<74
YA=F69@A3437=>4564>@F53@A5FG43<74653D=35@F4=F;4A7M57K5FG43<74F77;4C@A4=;;535@F=E4>7=6DA764=F;49=AU5FG4
:@F3A@E64@D365;74=EE46:<@@E6P43<74F77;4C@A4=FB4=;;535@F=E4>7=6DA764@D365;743<749A@9@67;465374C@A43<74H@DA34K@DE;4
Q74:@F65;7A7;4=649=A34@C43<=349A@:766N

Y<74;7M7E@9>7F349A@9@6=E64A7LD5A74=4YA=F69@A34W66766>7F34K<5:<4K5EE45;7F35CB4>7=6DA7643@4Q745F:ED;7;4=64
9=A34@C43<74=99E5:=35@F43@4>=85>56743A=M7E4QB46D63=5F=QE74>@;76N44234K@DE;45;7F35CB4=FB43A=M7EbA7E=37;49A@M565@F4
A7E=35FG4697:5Z:=EEB43@4=49A@9@6=E4C@A4Y<74H@DA34@F43<5646537N444

Y<74H@DF:5E4564:@>>5337;43@47F6DA5FG43<=347M7AB46:<@@E45F4H=A;5CC4<=64=F4W:35M74YA=M7E4_E=F4K<5:<45;7F35Z764
=:35@F64QB43<746:<@@E43@46D99@A34=F;47F:@DA=G74=:35M743A=M7E4K<7A74=99A@9A5=374=F;45;7F35Z7645>9A@M7>7F364
F77;7;4@Fb65374=F;4@CCb653743@4C=:5E53=374=:35M74?@DAF7B6N44Y<5649E=F4564;7M7E@97;4K53<4CDEE45FM@EM7>7F34@C43<74
6:<@@E46D99@A37;4QB43<74H@DF:5Ec64W:35M74YA=M7E4_E=F4@CZ:7A64K53<4@3<7A46D99@A34=M=5E=QE74CA@>43<74J@=;4V=C73B4
Y7=>4K<5:<4;7E5M7A64:B:E743A=5F5FGN

defghijklhmei

W343<747F;4@C43<74Q@@UE734564=4LD7635@FF=5A7N44Y<564564B@DA4:<=F:743@4E7343<74H@DF:5E4UF@K4K<=34B@D43<5FU4=Q@D34
3<749A@9@6=E6N4̀@D4:=F4G5M74=4A769@F6743@4=EE4@C43<74LD7635@F6P4@A4?D634A769@F;43@46@>74@C43<7>P4=64B@D49A7C7AN4

WE37AF=35M7EB4B@D4:=F467F;4D64B@DA4M57K645F4@F74@C43<74C@EE@K5FG4K=B6n

o4H@>9E735FG43<74@FE5F74A769@F674C@A>4=34pppqrstuvwwqxyzq{|}~���r�yy��ty�y�s��

o4�>=5E4B@DA4M57K643@4�r�yy�t���y�����rstuvwwqxyzq{|

o4OA53743@4D64=343<74C@EE@K5FG4=;;A766n4V:<@@E4�AG=F56=35@F4_E=FF5FGP4J@@>4�SRP4H@DF3B4�=EEP4W3E=F35:4O<=ACP4
H=A;5CCP4H�RS4��ON4

Y<74H@DF:5E4K5EE4:@F65;7A47M7AB@F7c64M57K64Q7C@A74;7:5;5FG4K<73<7A43@4G@4=<7=;4K53<43<749A@9@67;4:<=FG76N

Y<74:E@65FG4;=374C@A4A769@F67643@43<5649A@9@6=E4564̂̂ 4]@M7>Q7A4̂ŜRN44

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
 �
 �
�
�¡
��
¢
�
��
�
�
�
��

Page 947



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��

�
��
 !
"
#$
 %
&'
!(
)*
+
+
,�

-
&+
.
/�
/+
$
!0
 !
1
+
+
&,
0$
2
!!-
&/
3
0&
'

Page 948



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� !"#$%�&'!�($)*+�� 

��

,
-.
/0
1
23
/4
56
07
89
:
:
;.

<
5:
=
>.
>:
3
0?
/0
@
:
:
5;
?3
A
00<
5>
B
?5
6

Page 949



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$% &'()#'(!�*�*+#&�%,�-�%*#.!+(#/0112#

345677858975:76;<:5=4>5?>@6;>A5;B75C?7D@;E@C85?>4F@C@4<58975G4H<D@E5@C5?>4?4C@<B584I

J5KC8;LE@C95;5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75PMNOQ5=4>5H?5845RS5?>@6;>A5;B7:5D9@E:>7<5T@895G46?E7U5V7;><@<B5
W77:C5;85X44>E;<:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5=>465M7?876L7>5RSRRZ

[<=4>6;8@4<5C?7D@\D584589@C5?>4?4C;E5@C5C7854H85;85?;B7C5R]̂_]Z5

àbbcdefgbhijkjhdf

G;>:@==5DH>>7<8EA56;@<8;@<C5llm5?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E5CD944E5;<:5MNO5?E;D7C5=4>5D9@E:>7<5T@895D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5
<77:CZ55Y>4n7D8C5?>7F@4HCEA5;B>77:5LA5G;L@<78o58457U87<:5;<:5>7LH@E:5N@F7>L;<p5M?7D@;E5MD944E5;<:58457C8;LE@C95
;<5MNO5;85qCB4E5rA6>;7B5YTEE5G4D9o5T@EE5@<D>7;C758975848;E5845mRl5?E;D7C5LA5RSRmZ55

h̀stucvfwcxbdjdyfzcc{kf|tc}jxujkef~ckhab}cf�xkcff

�5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75PMNOQ5@C5;5C6;EE5DE;CC5@<5;56;@<C8>7;65CD944Eo58;HB985LA5C?7D@;E@C85C8;==Z5

397>75;>75\F75G;>:@==5?>@6;>A5CD944EC5DH>>7<8EA594C8@<B5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5=4>5D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5<77:C5;85
?>7C7<8Z5397C75;>7594C87:5LAI

J5O>A<5�;=4:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5VE;<7:7A><5Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5VE;<@C97<5�;D95Y>@6;>A5MD944E

J5X;>EL4>4HB95Y>@6;>A5MD944Eo5;<:5

J5qCB4E5YTEE5G4D9Z5

�EE5M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5;>754?7<5845;:6@CC@4<5=>465;D>4CC5G;>:@==o5;E894HB95;C5=;>5;C5?4CC@LE7o5?H?@EC5;>75
4==7>7:5?E;D7C5@<58975M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C75DE4C7C85845897@>59467Z5

[<5;::@8@4<5845D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5<77:C5L;C7Co5897>75;>7I

J5V;p7C@:75Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E@C85;H8@C65>7C4H>D75L;C7Q

J5M?>@<BT44:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5C?7D@;E@C85;H8@C65>7C4H>D75L;C7Q

J5�EE7<CL;<p5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5PC?77D95;<:5E;<BH;B75DE;CCQ

J5�;@>T;87>5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

J5V;p7C@:75Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ5

J5M?>@<BT44:5Y>@6;>A5MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ5

J5qCB4E5rA6>;7B5Y7<5A5r>47C5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

J5�@8�;E;<5�@B95MD944E5P?>@6;>A5�7EEL7@<B5GE;CCQ

3975M?7D@;E@C85N7C4H>D75O;C7C5:7C@B<;87:5=4>5D46?E7U5E7;><@<B5@<5?>@6;>A5CD944EC57;D95?>4F@:758T45DE;CC7C54=5H?5
845�S5?H?@EC�5;5DE;CC5;85�4H<:;8@4<5Y9;C75;<:5;5DE;CC5;85�7A5M8;B75RZ53975?H?@EC5L7<7\85=>465L7@<B58;HB985@<5C6;EE5
DE;CC7C5T@895=;F4H>;LE75?H?@ÊC8;==5>;8@4Co58;HB985LA5C?7D@;E@C85C8;==Z5YH?@EC5;EC45L7<7\85=>4654??4>8H<@8@7C5845E7;><5
;<:5C4D@;E@C75T@895897@>56;@<C8>7;65?77>CZ5

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 950



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*##

+ ,(�#--#*�.*#%/.#'( )�*#)/&&�!.(0# 1 2( ,(�#2!#3 &"2$$#.%#*/''%&.#)42("&�!#%$#'&2� &0#*)4%%(# 5�#
62.4#3%�'(�7#8� &!2!5#9��"*# !"#'&%:�).�"#$/./&�#"�� !";

<=>?@ABC>DE?FGGHA@I?JHD?FKK?G=LKMD>@?D>NALDL@O?EAG=?F?PKFG>B>@IQ?L@GKAML@O?I=HE>?PKFG>M?HAI?HJ?GHA@IR?
F@M?L@?BFL@EID>FB?FSFLIL@O?F?EP>GLFKLEI?PKFG>B>@IT??U?VWX?EADPKAE?LE?FKKHS>M?IH?EAPPHDI?Y>ZLCLKLIRT

+ ,(�#--

[&2� &0#'( )�*##\]\]̂\- \]\-̂\\ \]\\̂\_ \]\_̂\̀ \]\̀ \̂a \]\â\b

<R?cSR@d ef gW gW gW gW gW

hLi>DCF@j kl eW eW eW eW VVm

n>FMHSCF@j oV fW fW fW fW fW

pHKKL>E VVm VVm VVm VVm VVm VVm

qDR@?pFJHM mW mW mW mW mW mW

rKF@>M>DR@ mW mW mW mW mW mW

rKF@LE=>@?sFG= mW mW mW mW mW mW

nFDKCHDHAO= mW mW mW mW mW mW

tPDL@OSHHM mu mu mu mu mu mu

vEOHK?wSKK?xHG= e VW Vf mW mW mW

w>@ID>CF@> mo mo mo mo mo mo

UKK>@ECF@j?trxy?u u u u u u

<HIFK?PKFG>E oof oem oee oum oum fmo

wDHz>GI>M?
M>BF@M

fWW fVW fVf fmm f{| foe

wDHz>GI>M?
}>BF@M?
~�VWX�?

ffW f|V f|e feo fgW |Wm

tADPKAE?�?M>�GLI �VWf �ug �gW �gm �VWu �eu

<=>?IFCK>?E=HSE?I=FI?I=>?PDHz>GI>M?M>BF@M?JHD?PKFG>E?Hi>D?F@M?FCHi>?>ZLEIL@O?PDHiLELH@?LE?ug?PKFG>E?
L@?mV�mmQ?DLEL@O?IH?VWu?PKFG>E?L@?mWmo�mWmfT?�J?I=>D>?S>D>?@H?JADI=>D?ODHSI=?C>RH@M?GADD>@I?PKF@E?L@?
D>KFILH@?IH?hLi>DCF@j?tP>GLFK?tG=HHK?F@M?vEOHK?cRBDF>O?wSKK?xHG=Q?F?M>�GLI?HJ?eu?PKFG>E?SLKK?D>BFL@?
L@?mf�m|T?

UI?PD>E>@IQ?I=>D>?FD>?BHD>?PAPLKE?SLI=?ELO@L�GF@I?@>>ME?S=H?@>>M?F?PKFG>?L@?H@>?HJ?I=>E>?E>IIL@OE?I=F@?
I=>D>?FD>?PKFG>E?FiFLKFCK>T

xADD>@I?PDHz>GILH@E?E=HS?I=>?@ABC>D?HJ?PAPLKE?SLKK?GH@IL@A>?IH?ODHS?Hi>D?I=>?@>ZI?f?IH?VW?R>FDET?

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 951



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%��$& '()"#)!*$+'!�,�('$-"!'$.&+-/$ ��0)!)�1$"*$
2���#"13$��)4"�5$&(6��#$$

789:;;<9<=;9>;:?@>9A8B9CBD:?BE9?F;9GC;HD?IDG<9CB8JDGD8@9D<9DG9CB8C8G;>9<89;G<?KIDG=9?9LC;HD?IDG<9M;G8NBH;9O?G;9
PLMOQ9A8B9NC9<89RS9CBD:?BE9?F;>9H=DI>B;@9TD<=9U8:CI;V9W;?B@D@F9X;;>G9?<9Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9LH=88I9AB8:9
L;C<;:K;B9RSRR[

\]]̂_̀abcd̂ef̀ ĝchij]]_

Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9LH=88I9DG9?@9k@FIDG=l:;>DN:9H8::N@D<E9CBD:?BE9GH=88I9TD<=9@NBG;BE9CB8JDGD8@9I8H?<;>9?<9
mn9LD@FI;<8@9M8?>o9U?B>DAAo9UpRm9Rk7[

qjrcasftr̂c]ucv_̀irwc̀xcxjrcwij]]_c

q̀t_rcyzctr_]{cv̂]|ebrwcbrx̀e_wc]ucv_̀irwc̀|̀e_̀t_rc̀xc\]]̂_̀abcd̂ef̀ ĝchij]]_c

q̀t_rcyz

}̀ frc]ucwij]]_ccc ~ŝ r̂axcdst_ewjrbc
~̀v̀iexgc�̀�rc�c�c
yy�

d_̀irwcvr̂cgr̀ ĉ
�̂]svc�̀�rc�c�cyy�

}ŝwr̂gcd_̀irwc �̀a�s̀�rcfrbesfc
àbc~̀xr�]̂gc]uc
hij]]_c

Y88BI?@>9ZBD:?BE9
LH=88I9

mRS �S �m9 k@FIDG=l:;>DN:9
H8::N@D<E9
CBD:?BE9GH=88I9

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 952



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(#

- .(�#/0#.�(%1#*�+*#%2+#"�+ 3(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%4�)+�"#!2�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#5%%&( !"#6&3� &7#8),%%(###

- .(�#/09#:�)�!+# !"#'&%4�)+�"#!2�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#5%%&( !"#6&3� &7#8),%%(###

8),%%(###;<=><?@AA
BCDEA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCDKAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCDLAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCBCAA
FGHIJ

;<=><?@A
BCBDAA
FGHIJ

BCBDM
BCBBA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBBM
BCBUA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBUM
BCBVA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBVM
BCBWA
N?OPQRSTO=

BCBWM
BCBXA
N?OPQRSTO=

YOO?Z<=[AA
N?T\<?@A
]R̂OOZAAA

ULL VDCA VXVA VCB ULB ULV UKL UEX UEC UXB

_À>S>?QAaR̂OOZAb>bTZA[Q\<=[Ac<aQ[AO=AZOR<ZAR<SR̂\Q=SAbOb>Z<STO=Ab?OPQRSTO=a

d%!"3+3%!# !"#823+ .3(3+7#%$#8),%%(#e23("3!f*

gZZAaR̂OOZaAT=Ah<?[TiiA<?QAjTkQ=A<AhO=[TSTO=A?<ST=jAi?O\AgAFbQ?iO?\T=jA<aAT=SQ=[Q[AMAObQ?<ST=jAQilRTQ=SZ@JASOA

mAFZTiQAQnbT?Q[AMA?TaoAOiAT\\T=Q=SAi<TZ>?QJp

]R̂OOZaAT=Ah<?[TiiA<?QA<ZaOAjTkQ=A<A]>TS<cTZTS@A?<ST=jAi?O\AgAFjOO[AqAi<RTZTSTQaAa>TS<cZQAiO?ASQ<R̂T=jrAZQ<?=T=jA

sAtQZZcQT=jJASOAmAFc<[AqAc>TZ[T=jAaQ?TO>aZ@AT=̂TcTSAŜQAaS<iiuaA<cTZTS@ASOA[QZTkQ?AŜQAR>??TR>Z>\Jp

- .(�#/v#d%!"3+3%!# !"#*23+ .3(3+7#f& "3!f*#

- .(�#/v9#d%!"3+3%!# !"#*23+ .3(3+7#f& "3!f*#

w& "3!f d%!"3+3%! 823+ .3(3+7##

g xOO[A<=[AObQ?<ST=jAQilRTQ=SZ@A xOO[pÀ<RTZTSTQaAa>TS<cZQAiO?ASQ<R̂T=jrA
ZQ<?=T=jA<=[AtQZZcQT=jAT=AaR̂OOZ

y z{|}~�{�|������|��}|���}����
��|��}��{|}���

]<STai<RSO?@pAANQ?iO?\T=jA<aAT=SQ=[Q[A
c>SA[OQaA=OSAQiiQRSTkQZ@Aa>bbO?SAŜQA
[QZTkQ?@AOiAŜQAR>??TR>Z>\AT=AaO\QA<?Q<a

h NOO?AtTŜA\<PO?A[QiQRSa NOO?pA�Q<R̂T=jA\QŜO[aAT=̂TcTSQ[M
<[kQ?aQAT\b<RSAO=AaR̂OOZAO?j<=Ta<STO=A

m �=[AOiA�TiQ�AZTiQÂ<aAQnbT?Q[AO?A?TaoA
OiAT\\T=Q=SAi<TZ>?Q

�Q?@AbOO?pAAy>TZ[T=jaAaQ?TO>aZ@AT=̂TcTSA
ŜQAaS<iiuaA<cTZTS@ASOA[QZTkQ?AŜQA
R>??TR>Z>\A

YOO?Z<=[AN?T\<?@A]R̂OOZATaA?<SQ[AyAiO?ARO=[TSTO=A<=[AyAiO?Aa>TS<cTZTS@p

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 
 
¡�

¢
� 
£
¤�
¤ 
�
�¥
��
¦
 
 
�¡
¥�
§
��¢
�¤̈
¥�
�

Page 953



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%&'$())�**�#+,-�.$

/012345678928:2;<4=<1::86=2>4<?:2@42<1;9A712BA<9C2D1A<:2A774EE4FA@8462A@2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I704492A6F2@42
947A@12J9C86=2I@A<@2;<4K8:8462462@012:8@1L2

BA<9C2D1A<:2;<4K8:8462M4<2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I7044928:2947A@1F2862A2F1E456@AN912568@2A@2@012<1A<24M2@012:704492
:8@1L2/012568@20A:2N1162<A@1F2A:2746F8@846232OH44<2>8@02EAP4<2F1M17@:QL2R@275<<16@9C2A774EE4FA@1:2ST2;A<@U@8E12
V5<:1<C2;9A71:2A6F2SW2X171;@846279A::2;9A71:L2

J4994>86=274E;91@84624M2@01261>2N589F86=Y2@08:2568@2>459F2N12<1E4K1F2A946=2>8@02@0127A<1@A?1<Z:2045:1L2/012
61>2N589F86=2>459F2A774EE4FA@12@0121[8:@86=265EN1<24M265<:1<C279A::2A6F2X171;@8462;9A71:L2

\774EE4FA@8462M4<2@012I;178A98:@2X1:45<712]A:12>459F2N12;<4K8F1F2A:2;A<@24M2@08:2;9A661F2>4<?L2

/01<128:275<<16@9C2A2N4[86=2795N2947A@1F2462;A<@24M2@012G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I704492:8@1L2\@2;<1:16@Y2@012:704492
<1F1K194;E16@2;<4P17@28:264@2<198A6@2462@012N4[86=2795N29A6FL2̂4>1K1<Y28M2@08:2>A:2@42N174E12AKA89AN912A@2A2
9A@1<2FA@128@2>459F2N12N161_78A92@42@012:704492A:28@2>459F2867<1A:12@01245@F44<2:;A712AKA89AN912@4291A<61<:L2

/0123456789Z:2045:86=2F1;A<@E16@28:286K1:@8=A@86=2@012;4::8N898@C24M2;<4K8F86=2045:86=2462@012M4<E1<2D:=492
9̀A62G4<MA2:8@1L2/012;<4;4:A9:2>459F2:11?2@4286795F12A2<1;9A71E16@2N4[86=2795N2MA7898@C2462:8@1L2/08:27459F2M<112
5;2@0129A6F275<<16@9C24775;81F2NC2@012N4[86=2795N2M4<25:12NC2G44<9A6F2H<8EA<C2I70449L22

/012F1:8=62;<471::2M4<2@01261>2N589F2:704492A774EE4FA@84620A:264@2C1@2:@A<@1FL22/08:2>459F286795F1286;5@2
M<4E2A2<A6=124M2:@A?1049F1<:286795F86=2=4K1<686=2N4F81:Y201AF@1A701<:Y2:@AMM2A6F27089F<16

abcdefghcijhkfcijcljm

/01234567892>4<?:2794:19C2>8@02@>424<=A68:A@846:28624<F1<2@42E468@4<2@012;1<M4<EA67124M2:70449:2A6F2@42
:5;;4<@2:7044928E;<4K1E16@L

B:@C628:2@0124M_7124M2̂1<2GAP1:@CZ:23081M2R6:;17@4<24M2BF57A@8462A6F2/<A8686=2862nA91:L22

B:@C6286:;17@:2o5A98@C2A6F2:@A6FA<F:2862:70449:2A6F24@01<21F57A@8462;<4K8F1<:2862nA91:L2

/012316@<A92I45@02346:4<@85E2p486@2BF57A@8462I1<K8712O3I3pBIQ28:2@012<1=846A92I704492RE;<4K1E16@2I1<K8712
M4<2@012_K127456789:24M2]<8F=16FY23A<F8MMY2G1<@0C<2/CF_9Y2X046FFA23C6462/AMM2A6F2@012qA9124M2̀9AE4<=A6L22/012
34567892>4<?:2>8@02@012346:4<@85E2@42:5;;4<@2A6F270A9916=12A992:70449:28623A<F8MML

r47A92\5@04<8@81:Y2:5702A:23A<F8MM23456789Y2E5:@2746:8F1<2B:@C62<1;4<@:2A6F24@01<21K8F16712AN45@2:704492
;1<M4<EA6712A6F21MM17@8K161::2>0162:5==1:@86=270A6=1:2@42:70449:L

r47A92\5@04<8@81:2E5:@2A9:42746:8F1<2@01298?19C28E;A7@24M2@012;<4;4:1F270A6=1:246s

t2:@A6FA<F:Y2>199N186=2A6F2A@@8@5F1:2@4291A<686=

t2@1A7086=2A6F291A<686=21[;1<81671:2

t27A<12:5;;4<@2A6F2=58FA671

t291AF1<:08;2A6F2EA6A=1E16@2O91AF1<:08;Y28E;<4K86=2o5A98@CY2;A<@61<:08;2>4<?86=2A6F2<1:45<712
EA6A=1E16@Q

��

u
vw
xy
z
{|
x}
~�
y�
��
�
�
�w

�
~�
�
�w
��
|
y�
xy
�
�
�
~�
�|
�
yy�
~�
�
�~
�

Page 954



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� 

!"#$$%&'()*'+,&-*".*/'(&'-().'$0'(',(.+$,(%'-)$1)(22*'$0'&"#$$%'+,&-*".+$,3'4#*'-5)-$&*'$0'(,'+,&-*".+$,'
+&'.$'+/*,.+06'1$$/'0*(.5)*&'(,/'&#$)."$2+,1&'+,'&"#$$%&'+,'$)/*)'.#(.'.#*6'2(6'+2-)$7*'.#*'85(%+.6'$0'
*/5"(.+$,'$00*)*/'(,/')(+&*'&.(,/()/&'("#+*7*/'96'.#*+)'-5-+%&':;&.6,<3

4#*')*%*7(,.';&.6,'=,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'-)$7+/*'1)(/*&'(1(+,&.'>*6'?5*&.+$,&'(,/'-)$7+/*'&"#$$%&'@+.#'
)*"$22*,/(.+$,&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3

A$5'"(,'B,/'+,&-*".+$,')*-$).&'$,'.#*';&.6,'@*9&+.*'CCCDEFGHIDJKLDMN'

OPQ�RSTUVPW XP �SYZ�P[UW\�Z�\U SU]S�YRUUQ�

=,'̂_̀ab'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'+,.)$/5"*/'(',*@'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&6&.*23

=.'%$$e&'(.'*("#'&"#$$%f&'&.(,/()/&'(,/'#$@'25"#'('&"#$$%'+&'(9%*'.$'+2-)$7*3'4#+&'+/*,.+B*&'.#*'%*7*%'$0'
&5--$).'&"#$$%&')*85+)*3''g)1(,+&(.+$,&'&5"#'(&'.#*'h*,.)(%'!$5.#'h$,&$).+52':h!hi;!<'(,/'.#*'&"#$$%'
+2-)$7*2*,.'&*)7+"*'.#*,'@$)e'@+.#'&"#$$%&f'%*(/*)&'.$'+/*,.+06b'-)$7+/*'(,/j$)'9)$e*)'(,6'&5--$).')*85+)*/'
0$)'05).#*)'+2-)$7*2*,.3

kRPSYZ�P[UW\�Z�\U S����PXS\�SlP�YW\mPlS\ SkZmQPSnoSmPQUpq

rZ�P[UW�SU]S�sttUW�S ORZ�S�RPSYZ�P[UW�SXPZ �

uvEEI
w'#+1#%6'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'@*%%')5,b'#(&'('&.)$,1'%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'+&'
"%*()'(9$5.'+.&'-)+$)+.+*&'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

xEyyKC
w,'*00*".+7*'&"#$$%'@#+"#'+&'(%)*(/6'/$+,1'@*%%'(,/'e,$@&'.#*'()*(&'+.'
,**/&'.$'+2-)$7*3'

z{|Ev
w'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'+2-)$7*2*,.'@#+"#',**/&'#*%-'.$'+/*,.+06'.#*'&.*-&'.$'
+2-)$7*'$)'.$'2(e*'"#(,1*'#(--*,'2$)*'85+"e%63'

}E~
w'&"#$$%'+,',**/'$0'1)*(.*&.'+2-)$7*2*,.'(,/'@+%%')*"*+7*'+22*/+(.*b'
+,.*,&+7*'&5--$).3'

w'&"#$$%f&'"$%$5)�"$/*/'"(.*1$)6'+&'/*"+/*/'96'#$@'+.'+&')(.*/'0$)'&.(,/()/&':̀�a<'(,/'0$)'#$@'(9%*'+.'+&'.$'
+2-)$7*':w��<3'

'̀+&'.#*'9*&.')(.+,1'0$)'&.(,/()/&'(,/'w'+&'.#*'9*&.'0$)'+2-)$7*2*,.3'

�-/(.*/'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,&'0$)'*("#'&"#$$%'()*'-59%+&#*/'*7*)6'6*()'+,'i(,5()63'

�$)*'+,0$)2(.+$,'(9$5.'.#*'"(.*1$)+&(.+$,'&"#*2*'"(,'9*'0$5,/'+,'.#*'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.f&'-()*,.&f'15+/*'
.$'.#*'�(.+$,(%'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'!6&.*2'#*)*�'

R��tq��[UV�pZQP��lUY��lYPQQ��tsmQ\YZ�\U ��no�nn��tZWP ���[s\lP�P �tl]

�UUWQZ lS�W\XZW�S�YRUUQS

�$$)%(,/'�)+2()6'!"#$$%'@(&'%(&.'+,&-*".*/'+,'w-)+%'̂_̀�3

w.'.#+&'.+2*'.#*'&.(,/()/&b'@*%%9*+,1'(,/'(..+.5/*&'.$'%*(),+,1b'.*("#+,1'(,/'%*(),+,1'*�-*)+*,"*b'(,/'
%*(/*)&#+-'(,/'2(,(1*2*,.'@*)*'(%%'�5/1*/'(&'1$$/�'"()*b'&5--$).'(,/'15+/(,"*'@(&'�5/1*/'(&'*�"*%%*,.3

=,'.#*'2$&.')*"*,.'c*%&#'d$7*),2*,.'!"#$$%'h(.*1$)+&(.+$,'(.'i(,5()6'̂_̂_b'�$$)%(,/'�)+2()6'!"#$$%'
@(&'"(.*1$)+&*/'(&'d)**,3'

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 
 
¡�

¢
� 
£
¤�
¤ 
�
�¥
��
¦
 
 
�¡
¥�
§
��¢
�¤̈
¥�
�

Page 955



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'#&(#$ &% %)* $+)��"$ ,* &--*+%*# ,. %)* +)&'/*$0 

123453657

89:;<=>?@AB;9CD;ECF:;C;@B:CG;@=EEAHE:?H;H=;@=?HA?>A?I;H9:;A?J:DHE:?H;A?K;C?F;AELG=J:E:?H;=MK;<CGFAMM;
D@9==BD;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO;@9ABF;9CD;H9:;P:DH;L=DDAPB:;DHCGH;A?;BAM:;QRRRSTUVWXYYTZ[[X\[]̂\STZS_̀ab;

89:;<=>?@AB;c=GND;@B=D:BO;cAH9;H9:;I=J:G?A?I;P=FA:D;=M;D@9==BD;H=;ECN:;D>G:;H9CH;DHC?FCGFD;A?;D@9==BD;CG:;9AI9K;
H9CH;H:C@9A?I;AD;I==F;C?F;H9CH;B:CF:GD9AL;C?F;I=J:G?C?@:;AD;DHG=?Ib;

dHC?FCGFD;CH;e==GBC?F;fGAECGO;d@9==B;CG:;I==F;C?F;AH;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H9CH;H9:;:DHCPBAD9E:?H;=M;dhi;LG=JADA=?;
CH;H9:;D@9==B;cABB;AELC@H;?:ICHAJ:BO;=?;H9:;D@9==Bb

89:;LG=L=DCB;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H=;9CJ:;C?O;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;H9:;j>CBAHO;=M;DHC?FCGFD;=M;:F>@CHA=?;=G;
H9:;F:BAJ:GO;=M;H9:;k=>?FCHA=?;f9CD:;C?F;:C@9;l:O;dHCI:;=M;:F>@CHA=?;CH;H9:;D@9==B;CD;C;G:D>BH;=M;H9:;
LG=L=D:F;@9C?I:Db

mn3opq4rs345stn364q4rsnuvn6qn4on7s

89:;LG=L=DCB;AD;?=H;:gL:@H:F;H=;9CJ:;C?O;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;H:C@9A?I;C?F;B:CG?A?I;:gL:GA:?@:D;CH;e==GBC?F;
fGAECGO;d@9==Bb

89:;=LL=GH>?AHO;H=;:ELB=O;DL:@ACBADH;DHCMM;C?F;H=;c=GN;E=G:;@B=D:BO;cAH9;DL:@ACBADH;D:GJA@:D;A?;<CGFAMM;c=>BF;
:?9C?@:;H9:;D@9==BwD;@CLC@AHO;M=G;A?@B>DA=?;C?F;P:?:xH;CBB;L>LABD;A?;H9:;D@9==Bb;

y36ns7zvv{62s345srzq534ons

|BB;D@9==BD;9CJ:;C?;CLLG=LGACH:;GC?I:;=M;L=BA@A:D;C?F;LG=JADA=?;A?;LBC@:;H=;LG=E=H:;L>LABDw;9:CBH9;C?F;
c:BBP:A?Ib

e==GBC?F;fGAECGO;d@9==B;AD;@=EEAHH:F;H=;LG=JAFA?I;C?;:?JAG=?E:?H;A?;c9A@9;B:CG?A?I;AD;JCB>:F;C?F;L>LABD;
C@9A:J:;H9:AG;L=H:?HACB;A?;C;9CLLOK;DCM:;:?JAG=?E:?H;A?;c9A@9;H9:O;D9=c;G:DL:@H;C?F;H=B:GC?@:;M=G;:C@9;=H9:Gb

89:;<=>?@AB;c=>BF;c=GN;cAH9;H9:;B:CF:GD9AL;=M;H9:;D@9==B;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO=?:;>?F:GDHC?FD;H9:AG;
G:DL=?DAPABAHO;M=G;9:BLA?I;H=;AELG=J:;C?F;D>DHCA?;@CG:;D>LL=GH;C?F;I>AFC?@:b

}n35n67pqvs345s~343rn�n42

89:;<=>?@AB;c=>BF;@=?HA?>:;H=;c=GN;cAH9;H9:;B:CF:GD9AL;=M;H9:;D@9==B;H=;ECN:;D>G:;:J:GO=?:;>?F:GDHC?FD;H9:AG;
G:DL=?DAPABAHO;M=G;9:BLA?I;H=;AELG=J:;C?F;D>DHCA?;9AI9;L:GM=GEC?@:b;;�H;c=>BF;D>LL=GH;H9:;D@9==B;H=;9CJ:;C;
I==F;G:BCHA=?D9AL;cAH9;LCG:?HD;C?F;=H9:G;LCGH?:GD;D=;H9CH;L>LABD;G:@:AJ:;C;9AI9;j>CBAHO;:F>@CHA=?b

89:;LG=L=D:F;@9C?I:D;c=>BF;P:;LBC??:F;@CG:M>BBO;D=;H9CH;H9:;D@9==BDw;B:CF:GD9AL;C?F;I=J:G?C?@:;CG:;?=H;
FADG>LH:FK;c9A@9;@=>BF;9CJ:;C;?:ICHAJ:;AELC@H;=?;:F>@CHA=?CB;DHC?FCGFDb

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 956



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&'((!) %*!)%('(�$&%

+,-./0120-/.3405634076/08/9:/;7,</503=>0

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@JKKDHDLMNE@OPNQMDMR@SPPKF@

?@ABCDEF@QPTPDUDMR@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF@

?@ABCDEF@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@JKKDHDLMNE@ONMRBNRP@

?@XDMLQDHZ@YHIMDT@CBCDEF@NH@PNTI@L[@HIP@FTILLEF\

+,-./012

]:633.0 0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
3;0]:633.0
b:7a3;0_.̀50

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760,0
57,7/c/;70
3=0bde0

0̂3=0f9//0
]:633.0g/,.50
_̀8a.50h0i0
j/,90,k/9,</0

0̂3=0_̀8a.50
4a760l;<.a560
,50,;0
bmma7a3;,.0
d,;<̀,</0

0̂3=0
ga;39a7j0
l76;a:0
_̀8a.50

noopqrstu
vpwxrpyuz{|ooqu

}~�} �}�� ��� ���� }��� ���}

�c8,:703;08̀8a.504a760bmma7a3;,.0d/,9;a;<0e//m50�bde�

SPG@�BDEK@W��@CQLUDFDLM@GLBEK@NEELG@[LQ@[NTDEDHDPF@HL@�P@HNDELQPK@HL@HIP@MPPKF@L[@HIP@TIDEKQPM@GIL@NTTPFF@

DH\@@VNTDEDHDPF@TNM@�P@KPFDRMPK@HL@�H@HIPDQ@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF@NMK@CQLUDKP@TNE�@NMK@FHQBTHBQPK@PMUDQLM�PMHF@HL@

FBCCLQH@EPNQMDMR\

�IP@�LBMTDE@NT�MLGEPKRPF@HINH@N@TINMRP@DM@PMUDQLM�PMH@TNM@�P@BMFPHHEDMR@NMK@BCFPHHDMR@[LQ@TIDEKQPM@GDHI@

NKKDHDLMNE@EPNQMDMR@MPPKF\@@ABCDEF@GLBEK@�P@FBCCLQHPK@HL@PMN�EP@HIP�@HL@NKNCH@HL@HIP@TINMRPF@CQLCLFPK\

�34043̀.m05̀883970=3908̀8a.504a760l;<.a560,50,;0bmma7a3;,.0d,;<̀,</0-/0,==/:7/m�

ABCDEF@HINH@QPTPDUP@FBCCLQH@�PTNBFP@HIPZ@INUP@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@TNM@�P@FBCCLQHPK@DM@NMZ@

FTILLE@DM@�NQKD[[\

�IPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@ILG@

TIDEKQPM@GDHI@YMREDFI@NF@NM@NKKDHDLMNE@ENMRBNRP@NQP@FBCCLQHPK\@@�IP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@

GLBEK@TLMHDMBP@HL@CQLUDKP@FBCCLQH@HINH@DF@NCCQLCQDNHP@HL@HIP@DMKDUDKBNE@MPPK@L[@PNTI@CBCDE\

�34043̀.m08̀8a.509/:/aka;<0f9//0]:633.0g/,.50-/0,==/:7/m�

WL�P@L[@HIP@[BMKDMR@HINH@N@FTILLE@QPTPDUPF@DF@�NFPK@LM@HIP@MB��PQ@L[@CBCDEF@DM@HIP@FTILLE@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@

WTILLE@XPNEF\@@JEE@FTILLEF@DM@�NQKD[[@QPTPDUP@[BMKDMR@[LQ@HIPFP@CBCDEF\

�IPQP@DF@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CBCDEF@NH@

HIP@FTILLEF@DMTEBKPK@DM@HIPFP@CQLCLFNEF@GIL@QPTPDUP@VQPP@WTILLE@XPNEF\

�34043̀.m0ga;39a7j0l76;a:0_̀8a.50-/0,==/:7/m�

�IP@MPPKF@L[@DMKDUDKBNE@CBCDEF@NQP@NFFPFFPK@NMK@CQLUDKPK@[LQ@NF@NCCQLCQDNHP\@@�IPQP@DF@NEFL@ML@DM[LQ�NHDLM@

NUNDEN�EP@HINH@FBRRPFHF@HINH@HIP@CQLCLFNEF@GLBEK@INUP@N@MPRNHDUP@P[[PTH@LM@CQLUDFDLM@[LQ@NMZ@PHIMDT@RQLBC\

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
 �

¡
��
¢
£�
£�
�
�¤
��
¥
�
�
� 
¤�
¦
��¡
�£
§
¤�
�

Page 957



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $!%&'%( )%�*+&+�$ ,' -..'/0'#1 

23456789:49:2;764<<:=;9:;>>896:;:?;7>@>4A8:9B7C87D:?5;=8:49:C=3EE5:<7EA:>38:C>;7>:E<:>38:>87A:;<>87:>3847:>3476:F47>36;DG::
H38D:ABC>:;>>896:>38:9B7C87D:=5;CC:<E7:;>:58;C>:IJ8:3;5<:6;DC:;:K88LG::H3878:;78:9E:=;>=3A89>:;78;C:<E7:9B7C87DG

M;75D:N8;7C:?7EJ4C4E9:<E7:OEE75;96:P74A;7D:Q=3EE5:4C:5E=;>86:49:;:68AEB9>;F58:B94>:;>:>38:78;7:E<:>38:C=3EE5:
C4>8G:H38:B94>:3;C:F889:7;>86:;C:=E964>4E9:2:R?EE7:K4>3:A;SE7:68<8=>CTG:U>:=B7789>5D:;==EAAE6;>8C:VW:?;7>@>4A8:
XB7C87D:?5;=8C:;96:VY:Z8=8?>4E9:=5;CC:?5;=8CG:

H34C:B94>:4C:F849[:78AEJ86:;96:;:98K:FB45649[:?7EJ4686\:;==EAAE6;>49[:>38:8]4C>49[:9BAF87:E<:9B7C87D:=5;CC:;96:
Z8=8?>4E9:?5;=8CG:

H38:?7EJ4C4E9:E<:98K:FB456:;==EAAE6;>4E9:K455:F8>>87:CB??E7>:>38:6854J87D:E<:34[3:̂B;54>D:86B=;>4E9:<E7:9B7C87D:
;[86:?B?45CG

23456789:E<:9B7C87D:;[8:49:2;764<<:;>>896:A;49C>78;A:?7EJ4C4E9G::H3878:;78:CB<I=489>:?5;=8C:;J;45;F58:>E:A88>:>38:
68A;96:<E7:?5;=8C:;96:4>:4C:9E>:8]?8=>86:>3;>:>38:?7E?EC86:=3;9[8:KEB56:4A?;=>:E9:9B7C87D:?7EJ4C4E9:85C8K3878G

_"0'%$-0+*' �)0+�$& /�$&+#'%'#

H38:2EB9=45:4C:C88L49[:>E:?7EJ468:;:F8>>87:64C>74FB>4E9:E<:C?8=4;54C>:78CEB7=8:F;C8C:;=7ECC:>38:=4>DG:H34C:KEB56:
4A?7EJ8:;==8CC:<E7:?B?45C\:;96:786B=8:>7;J85:>4A8C:<E7:A;9D:?B?45C\:;C:K855:;C:49=78;C49[:>38:9BAF87:E<:?5;=8C:
;J;45;F58G:H3878:4C:9E:QZ̀:?7EJ4C4E9:49:a6;AC6EK9:;96:Q?5E>>:;>:?78C89>G:a55:=3456789:49:>38C8:;78;C:K3E:78̂B478:
?5;=8A89>:49:;9:QZ̀:=B7789>5D:>7;J85:>E:E>387:;78;C:E<:>38:=4>DG

H38:8C>;F54C3A89>:E<:>34C:?7EJ4C4E9:E9:E>387:C=3EE5:C4>8C:49:a6;AC6EK9:;96:Q?5E>>:K;C:64C=EB9>86:EK49[:>E:
;==EAAE6;>4E9:;96:C4>8:54A4>;>4E9CG:

bc-0 -%' 0c' ,'$'d0& �. 0c' )%�)�&'# /c-$e'&1

f:H38:?7E?EC;5C:KEB56:49=78;C8:>38:9BAF87:E<:C?8=4;54C>:78CEB7=8:?5;=8C:<E7:?74A;7D:;[86:58;7987C:K4>3:
=EA?58]:58;7949[:9886C:;96:KEB56:=E9>74FB>8:>EK;76C:A88>49[:?7ES8=>86:68A;96g

f:H38:E??E7>B94>D:>E:8A?5ED:C?8=4;54C>:C>;<<:;96:>E:KE7L:AE78:=5EC85D:K4>3:C?8=4;54C>:C87J4=8C:49:2;764<<:KEB56:
893;9=8:>38:C=3EE5hC:49=5BC4J8:>8;=349[G:H34C:KEB56:F898I>:;55:?B?45C:49:>38:C=3EE5g:

f:H38:?7E?EC;5C:KEB56:89CB78:>3;>:?B?45C:54J49[:49:>38:CEB>3:=89>7;5:;78;:E<:>38:=4>D:>7;J85:C3E7>87:64C>;9=8C:>E:
;==8CC:C?8=4;54C>:?7EJ4C4E9g

f:X8K:FB456:<;=454>48C:?7EJ468:34[3:̂B;54>D:58;7949[:89J47E9A89>C\:K34=3:4A?7EJ8:58;7949[:=3E4=8C:;96:
E??E7>B94>48C:<E7:?B?45C:;96:3;J8:;:C>7E9[:4A?;=>:E9:4A?7EJ49[:?B?45:EB>=EA8CG:H38:2;764<<:iYjY:J4C4E9:
C8>C:EB>:>38:9886:>E:?7EJ468:34[3:̂B;54>D:C=3EE5:?5;=8Cg

f:H38:98K:FB45649[C:K455:F8:<B55D:;==8CC4F58:;96:=EA?54;9>:K4>3:>38:M̂B;54>D:a=>:iYkYG

l�0'$0+-" #+&-#*-$0-e'& �. 0c' )%�)�&'# /c-$e'

f:QEA8:?B?45C:K4>3:amX:=;9:I96:=3;9[8:64<I=B5>G::H38D:A;D:I96:AEJ49[:>E:;:98K:FB45649[:E9:;:98K:C4>8:
B9C8>>549[G::n8:L9EK:>38D:K455:9886:=;78<B55D:?5;9986:CB??E7>:>E:;6;?>:>E:>38:98K:C8>>49[G::oEK8J87\:>3878:
KEB56:F8:CB<I=489>:>4A8:>E:?5;9:;96:CB??E7>:CB=3:;:>7;9C4>4E9G

f:H3878:4C:?E>89>4;5:<E7:49=78;C86:>7;<I=:=E9[8C>4E9:;7EB96:>38:C=3EE5:C4>8C:;>:>38:C>;7>:;96:896:E<:>38:6;DG:
H38:2EB9=45:KEB56:KE7L:K4>3:>38:pEJ87949[:̀E648C:E<:;55:C=3EE5C:49=5B686:49:>38:?7E?EC;5C:>E:68J85E?:;:
H7;J85:P5;9:>E:A494A4C8:;9D:?E>89>4;5:64C7B?>4E9G��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
tu
�
�
�
z�
�x
�
uu�
z�
�
�z
{

Page 958



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!"��#$�"%&'!(�%)!%)&!*+#*#�&'!$)",-&

./01232/456/72/8292:;<42=>/?;=@>35A=>@/>15>/1592/=;>/62>/722=/A82=>AB28C//DE/5=6/72?;42/5<<532=>F/>1232/
?;G:8/72/A4<:A?5>A;=@/E;3/?;@>/5=8/82:56C//HA>2/@G3926@/5=8/I2;J>2?1=A?5:/32<;3>@/K;G:8/>5L2/<:5?2/K1A?1/
K;G:8/<3;9A82/EG3>123/A=E;345>A;=/5=8/A=E;34/45=5I242=>/@>35>2IA2@C

MNO",!�&�#N+$&�!P"%%&+�

QR/S2;<:2/H239A?2@/KA::/K;3L/KA>1/>12/T;923=A=I/U;86/>;/58832@@/>12/QR/A4<:A?5>A;=@/53A@A=I/E3;4/>12/
2@>57:A@142=>/;E/5/H<2?A5:A@>/R2@;G3?2/U5@2/5>/>12/@?1;;:/5=8/>12/32@G:>A=I/=228/E;3/588A>A;=5:/@>5EB=IC/

V1232/>12/T;923=A=I/U;86/1592/58;<>28/>12/W;G=?A:X@/H?1;;:/R282<:;642=>/5=8/R28G=85=?6/S;:A?6F/5=6/
=2K/95?5=?A2@/53A@A=I/5@/5/?;=@2YG2=?2/;E/>12/2@>57:A@142=>/;E/>12/H<2?A5:A@>/R2@;G3?2/U5@2/KA::/<3;9A82/
;<<;3>G=A>A2@/E;3/@?1;;:J75@28/@>5EE/;=/>12/@?1;;:/3282<:;642=>/32IA@>23C/

Z+",�*#+%!O"%%&+�

012/<3;<;@28/HRU/;=/>12/@A>2/;E/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/H?1;;:/K;G:8/@2392/<G<A:@/A=/>12/@;G>1/?2=>35:/5325/;E/
W538AEE/5=8/K;G:8/328G?2/>12/8A@>5=?2/>3592::28/>;/@?1;;:/E;3/?1A:832=/A=/\854@8;K=/5=8/H<:;>>/K1;/32YGA32/
<:5?242=>/A=/5=/HRU/5=8/K1;/?G332=>:6/>3592:/>;/;>123/5325@/;E/>12/?A>6C//

012/W;G=?A:/5<<:A2@/>12/>K;/4A:2/@>5>G>;36/YG5:AE6A=I/K5:LA=I/8A@>5=?2/?3A>23A5/E;3/<G<A:@/>;/YG5:AE6/E;3/E322/
1;42/>;/@?1;;:/>35=@<;3>/>;/<3A4536/@?1;;:@F/A=?:G8A=I/@<2?A5:/@?1;;:@/5=8/HRU/E5?A:A>A2@C//SG<A:@/5>>2=8A=I/>12/
HRU/5>/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/H?1;;:/K1;/:A92/KA>1A=/>K;/4A:2@/;E/>12/@?1;;:/K;G:8/=;>/YG5:AE6/E;3/E322/>35=@<;3>/
G=:2@@/>1A@/A@/=2?2@@536/>;/422>/>12A3/A=8A9A8G5:/:253=A=I/=228@C///

\@/>1232/K;G:8/72/5/45]A4G4/;E/̂_/?1A:832=/5>>2=8A=I/>12/HRUF/A>/A@/5=>A?A<5>28/>15>/>1232/K;G:8/72/5/@45::/
=G4723/;E/?1A:832=/533A9A=I/76/E322/1;42/>;/@?1;;:/>35=@<;3>/A=/@15328/>5]A@C//01A@/̀253=23/035=@<;3>/KA::/=228/
5<<3;<3A5>2/E5?A:A>A2@/E;3/83;<J;EE/5=8/<A?LJG</K1A?1/KA::/72/<3;9A828/5@/<53>/;E/>12/<3;<;@5:@C////

012/8292:;<42=>/<3;<;@5:@/32YGA32/5/035=@<;3>/H>5>242=>C/01A@/15@/5:32586/A82=>AB28/425@G32@/>;/72/
A=?:G828/5@/<53>/;E/>12/5<<:A?5>A;=/>;/45]A4A@2/>3592:/76/@G@>5A=57:2/4;82@/>;/>12/[;;3:5=8/S3A4536/
H?1;;:/@A>2C/

D>/A@/K2::J<:5?28/IA92=/A>@/32:5>A92:6/?2=>35:/:;?5>A;=F/<3;]A4A>6/>;/<G7:A?/>35=@<;3>/3;G>2@/5=8/E5?A:A>A2@F/5=8/
<;>2=>A5:/E;3/5?>A92/>3592:/?;==2?>A;=@C//

S3;<;@28/@?1;;:/@5E2>6/425@G32@/K;G:8/A=?:G82/A4<3;9242=>@/>;/3;58/?3;@@A=I@F/5=8/I2=235:/A4<3;928/
E5?A:A>A2@/E;3/<282@>3A5=@/5=8/?6?:A@>@F/A=?:G8A=I/5:;=I/82@A32/:A=2@/>13;GI1/[;;3:5=8/S53LC/

\/329A2K/;E/<53LA=I/5=8/:;58A=I/32@>3A?>A;=@/5=8/>12/<3;9A@A;=/;E/5/H?1;;:/H>322>/;=/7;>1/>12/58a5?2=>/@>322>@/
bA=?:G8A=I/[;;3:5=8/R;58/;=/>12/25@>/@A82/;E/>12/@A>2c/K;G:8/A4<3;92/@5E2>6/76/82>233A=I/921A?:2/5??2@@/5=8/
328G?A=I/?;=I2@>A;=/5=8/<53LA=I/A@@G2@C//

012/W;G=?A:/A@/?;44A>>28/>;/2=@G3A=I/>15>/29236/@?1;;:/A=/W538AEE/15@/5=/\?>A92/03592:/S:5=/K1A?1/A82=>AB2@/
5?>A;=@/76/>12/@?1;;:/>;/@G<<;3>/5=8/2=?;G35I2/5?>A92/>3592:/K1232/5<<3;<3A5>2/5=8/A82=>AB2@/A4<3;9242=>@/
=22828/;=J@A>2/5=8/;EEJ@A>2/>;/E5?A:A>5>2/5?>A92/a;G3=26@C//01A@/<:5=/A@/8292:;<28/KA>1/EG::/A=9;:9242=>/;E/>12/
@?1;;:/@G<<;3>28/76/>12/W;G=?A:X@/\?>A92/03592:/S:5=/;EB?23@/KA>1/;>123/@G<<;3>/595A:57:2/E3;4/>12/R;58/
H5E2>6/0254/K1A?1/82:A923@/?6?:2/>35A=A=IC//

��

d
ef
gh
i
jk
gl
mn
ho
pq
r
r
sf

t
mr
u
vf
vr
k
hw
gh
x
r
r
ms
wk
y
hht
mv
z
wm
n

Page 959



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�"!

'()(*+)+,-)./)(*+)0..12+()34)5)67+4(3.,,538+9)):*34)34);.78)<*5,<+)(.)2+()(*+)=.7,<32)1,.>)>*5();.7)(*3,1)50.7()
(*+)?8.?.45249)@.7)<5,)A3B+)5)8+4?.,4+)(.)522)./)(*+)67+4(3.,4C).8)D74()8+4?.,-)(.)4.E+)./)(*+EC)54);.7)?8+/+89)

'2(+8,5(3B+2;);.7)<5,)4+,-)74);.78)B3+>4)3,).,+)./)(*+)/.22.>3,A)>5;4F

G)=.E?2+(3,A)(*+).,23,+)8+4?.,4+)/.8E)5()HHHIJKLMNOOIPQRISTUVWXYJZQQ[\LQ\QYK[Y

G)]E532);.78)B3+>4)(.)YJZQQ[L̂Y\Q_ŶỲJKLMNOOIPQRIST

G)a83(+)(.)74)5()(*+)/.22.>3,A)5--8+44F)b<*..2)c8A5,345(3.,)d25,,3,AC)e..E)fghC)=.7,(;)i522C)'(25,(3<)a*58/C)
=58-3//C)=jhg)fka9)

:*+)=.7,<32)>322)<.,43-+8)+B+8;.,+l4)B3+>4)0+/.8+)-+<3-3,A)>*+(*+8)(.)A.)5*+5-)>3(*)(*+)?8.?.4+-)<*5,A+49

mnopqrstuvwpxyzop{s|p|ot}svtotpzspznutp}|s}styrputp~~p�s�o��o|p~�~��p)

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
���
��
�
��
�

Page 960



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% �&'()(*#�$&$ &+ $,&-! . /#)/&

01232145637893:8;<=9>3;??9:731789@3>:8115>A

BCDEFGHIJEKLLHJIFMINGOPFQQICOLRFPDIJCDEFGHFJSICOLRFJFLMIQLOISKDITKLHDILQISKDINFSUIGMPINLVMSUILQINGOPFQQWI
XKDODIGODIMLSIDMLVYKICHGEDJISLIZDDSIPDZGMPIFMIZGFMSGFMDPICOLRFJFLMWIIXKFJIKGJIGMIFZCGESILMID[FJSFMYI
JEKLLHJITKDODIFMIJLZDIEGJDJISKDODIZGUI\DIGIYODGSDOIMVZ\DOILQICVCFHJILMIOLHHISKGMISKDI]V\HFJKDPÎPZFJJFLMI
_VZ\DOÌ]̂_aILOIPDJFODPIMVZ\DOIFMIGMIBbcWI

NGOPFQQIEVOODMSHUIKGJISLIODHUILMICVOEKGJFMYIJLZDICHGEDJIFMILVSILQIELVMSUICOLRFJFLMIGMPIFMPDCDMPDMSI
JEKLLHJISLIQVHdHIFSJIJSGSVSLOUIPVSFDJWIXKDODIELVHPI\DIGIHLMYDOISDOZIFZCGESILMILVSILQIELVMSUICOLRFPDOJIGMPILMI
FMPDCDMPDMSIJEKLLHJIGJISKDODIFJIHFeDHUISLI\DIGIODPVESFLMIFMISKDIMVZ\DOILQICHGEDJICVOEKGJDPI\UISKDINLVMEFHWI

fSIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISKGSISKDICOLCLJDPID[CGMJFLMIGMPISOGMJQDOILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHISLISKDIgGFOTGSDOI
]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIJFSDITLVHPIKGRDIGIMDYGSFRDIFZCGESILMIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHILOIGMUIHLEGHIJEKLLHWI

gGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHITLVHPIELMSFMVDISLILCDOGSDIGJIGIJDCGOGSDIJEKLLHIVMPDOISKDIZGMGYDZDMSILQIFSJI
YLRDOMFMYI\LPUIGMPIhDGPSDGEKDOWIXKDIJEKLLHIJFSDIFJILQIGIJVQdEFDMSIJFiDISLIGHHLTIQLOISKDICOLCLJDPINLVOSI
BCDEFGHIBEKLLHICOLRFJFLMISLI\DIGEELZZLPGSDPITFSKLVSIMDYGSFRDHUIFZCGESFMYILMISKDIJEKLLHWII

XKDICOLCLJDPIELjHLEGSFLMILQIXKDINLVOSITFSKIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIELVHPICOLRFPDISKDILCCLOSVMFSUIQLOI
JSGQQIGSIgGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQWIXKFJIELVHPIDMKGMEDI
SKDIJEKLLHkJIFMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

XKDIZGFMSDMGMEDILQIGIHGOYDIJEKLLHIJFSDICODJDMSJIGIOGMYDILQIdMGMEFGHIGMPILCDOGSFLMGHIEKGHHDMYDJIQLOI
gGFOTGSDOI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHWIIXKDICOLCLJDPIJFSDIJKGOFMYIGOOGMYDZDMSITFSKIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHIFJI
D[CDESDPISLILCSFZFJDISKDIGODGIGRGFHG\HDISLI\DMDdSIDGEKIJEKLLHW

fSIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISKGSISKDICOLCLJDPID[CGMJFLMIGMPISOGMJQDOILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHISLISKDIRGEGSDPI
BSIlDHHLMJINKVOEKIFMImGHDJI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIJFSDITLVHPIKGRDIGIMDYGSFRDIFZCGESILMIGMUIHLEGHIJEKLLHWI

XKDICOLCLJDPIHLEGSFLMILQIXKDINLVOSIBCDEFGHIBEKLLHIGSISKDIRGEGSDPIBSIlDHHLMJINKVOEKIFMImGHDJI]OFZGOUI
BEKLLHIJFSDnIGPoGEDMSISLISKDI]DMIpIcOUMI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIELVHPICOLRFPDISKDILCCLOSVMFSUIQLOIJSGQQIGSI]DMIpIcOUMI
]OFZGOUIBEKLLHISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQWIXKFJIELVHPIDMKGMEDISKDIJEKLLHkJI
FMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

XKDODIZGUIGHJLI\DILCCLOSVMFSFDJIQLOISKDIJKGODPIVJDILQIJLZDIQGEFHFSFDJIFQISKFJIFJIELMJFPDODPISLI\DI\DMDdEFGHISLI
DGEKILQISKDIJEKLLHJW

XKDIDJSG\HFJKZDMSILQIBbcICOLRFJFLMIGSIlLLOHGMPI]OFZGOUIBEKLLHIFJIMLSIGMSFEFCGSDPISLIFZCGESIMDYGSFRDHUILMI
SKDIJEKLLHW

XKDILCCLOSVMFSUISLIDZCHLUIJCDEFGHFJSIJSGQQIGMPISLITLOeIZLODIEHLJDHUITFSKIJCDEFGHFJSIJDORFEDJIFMINGOPFQQIELVHPI
DMKGMEDISKDIJEKLLHkJIFMEHVJFRDISDGEKFMYIGMPI\DMDdSIGHHICVCFHJIFMISKDIJEKLLHWI

��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
�
zu
}~
��
�
zw
x
u�
x
�
u{
�
y
x
�u
�
w�
�
�w
u

�
�t
~
u�
�
�
�t
��
x
��
u�
w�
zx
�x
�u
�
ww
�
su
��
��
�

Page 961



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !! "#$%&&%#'(�(#)!$$

*+,-,./-,.01.23/00,4.5+/06,7.81.8+,.91:05;3<7.213;5=.10.8+,./4>;77;10.1?.5+;34-,0.81.75+1137<./7./.-,7:38.1?.8+;7.
2-1217/3@.

A,8/;3,4.;0?1->/8;10./B1:8./4>;77;10./--/06,>,087.;7.;0.8+,.91:05;3<7.C4>;77;10.81.D5+1137.B11E3,8@..F1:.5/0.
G04.8+;7.;0?1->/8;10.10.8+,.91:05;3<7.H,B7;8,./8.IIIJKLMNOPPJQRSJTUJ.

C4>;77;107.81.72,5;/3;78.2-1V;7;10./-,.>/0/6,4.B=.8+,.91:05;3W.7:BX,58.81./.78/8,>,08.1?.D2,5;/3.Y4:5/8;10.
Z,,47.[DYZ\@.]04,-.8+,.ĈZ.914,W.23/5,>,08.H;33.B,.7:BX,58.81./0._04;V;4:/3.A,V,312>,08.̀3/0.[_À\@.*+,.
2-1217,4.5/2/5;8=.?1-.ab.2:2;37.H1:34.B,.;0./44;8;10.81.8+,.5/2/5;8=.1?.>/;078-,/>.23/5,7.;0.8+,.75+113@

c(%&#(&$d&%e(f$�&&%#'(�(#)!

]04,-.8+,7,.2-1217/37.8+,-,./-,.01.23/07.81.5+/06,.8+,.91:05;3<7.213;5=.10.8+,.8-/0721-8.1?.5+;34-,0.81./04.
?-1>.75+1137@.

C0=.2:2;37./??,58,4.B=.8+;7.2-1217/3.H1:34.B,.1??,-,4.8+,.7/>,.7:221-8.H;8+.8-/0721-8./7.;7.2-1V;4,4.
8+-1:6+1:8.9/-4;??./04.;0./551-4/05,.H;8+.8+,.7/>,.5-;8,-;/.8+/8./223=./5-177.9/-4;??@.*+,.91:05;3<7.8-/0721-8.
213;5=.5/0.B,.V;,H,4.10.8+,.91:05;3<7.H,B7;8,.[IIIJKLMNOPPJQRSJTU\@

*+,-,.;7./.78/8:81-=.3,6/3.1B3;6/8;10.10.8+,.91:05;3.81.2-1V;4,.?-,,.+1>,.81.75+113.8-/0721-8.81.2-;>/-=.
75+113.2:2;37.H+1.3;V,.a.>;3,7.1-.>1-,.?-1>.8+,.0,/-,78.7:;8/B3,.75+113W./7.>,/7:-,4.B=.8+,.7+1-8,78./V/;3/B3,.
H/3E;06.-1:8,@

g+,0.4,5;4;06.H+;5+.;7.8+,.0,/-,78.7:;8/B3,.75+113W.8+,.91:05;3.>:78.5107;4,-./0=.4;7/B;3;8=./.5+;34.+/7./04./0=.
72,5;/3.,4:5/8;10/3.0,,47.[DYZ\@

h #%#i %f$j%))(&!

*+,.1:83;0,.ak78.9,08:-=.D5+1137.l/04.l.̀-16-/>>,.H/7./22-1V,4.B=.9/B;0,8.;0.A,5,>B,-.abkmW.;053:4;06.
*+,.91:-8.D2,5;/3.D5+113.2-1X,58@.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.[gn\.+/V,.018.?1->/33=./22-1V,4.8+,.;04;V;4:/3.2-1X,58.
B:46,8W.B:8.+/V,.6;V,0.8+,;-.;0.2-;05;23,.7:221-8.81.,/5+.2-1X,58.H;8+;0.9/-4;??.91:05;3<7.l/04.l.2-16-/>>,@.

*+,.1V,-/33.2-1X,58,4.51787.?1-.8+,.2-1X,58./-,.;053:4,4.;0.8+,.5:--,08.l/04.l.5/7+op1H.?1-,5/78W.81.B,.?:04,4.
8+-1:6+.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.n-/08.[mqr\./04.8+,.91:05;3<7.ak78.9,08:-=.D5+1137._0V,78.81.D/V,.B1--1H;06.
[aqr\@.C0=.-,V,0:,.51787.;0.-,3/8;10.81.8+,7,.75+,>,7W.;053:4;06.5/2;8/3.G0/05;06.51787.H;33.B,.?:04,4.8+-1:6+.
8+,.91:05;3<7.Ds̀.t,V,0:,.t,7,-V,@.

*+,7,.2-1217/37.;053:4,.5-,/8;10.1?./44;8;10/3.75+113.23/5,7.H+;5+.H1:34.0,,4.81.B,.?:04,4.?-1>.8+,.,u;78;06.
4,3,6/8,4.75+1137.B:46,8@.v:-8+,-.H1-E.;7.1061;06.81.;4,08;?=.8+,.,u8,08.81.H+;5+.8+,./44;8;10/3.51787.5/0.B,.
51V,-,4.B=.7/V;067.H;8+1:8./44;06.7;60;G5/08.2-,77:-,.81.1V,-/33.75+113.B:46,87@

*+,.w11-3/04.Y/-3=.F,/-7.]0;8.;7.81.B,.2/-83=.?:04,4.B=./.g,37+.n1V,-0>,08.v3=;06.D8/-8.6-/08W.H;8+.-,>/;04,-.
81.B,.?:04,4.?-1>.8+,.Y4:5/8;10.C77,8.t,0,H/3.B:46,8@._0.1-4,-.81.,07:-,.7:?G5;,08.B:46,8.8+,-,.H;33.B,./.
0,,4.81.2-;1-;8;7,.8+;7.75+,>,.H;8+;0.8+,.5:--,08./77,8.-,0,H/3.2-16-/>>,W.H;8+./44;8;10/3.?:04;06.81.B,.>/4,.
/V/;3/B3,.8+-1:6+.8+,._0V,78.81.D/V,./3315/8;10.1?.8+,.5/2;8/3.B:46,8.?1-.75+1137@

��

x
yz
{|
}
~�
{�
��
|�
��
�
�
�z

�
��
�
�z
��
�
|�
�
�|
��
��
�
�~
�
|�
�
�
|�
�
�
�
�|
�
~�
�
�~
|

�
�{
�
|�
�
�
�{
��
�
��
|�
~�
��
��
�|
�
~~
�
z|
��
��
�

Page 962



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&'()(&*#

+,-./01/12342.51.-6/378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.35.5,-.29,1142.:794<8-8.:7.5,-2-./01/12342.=:44.,3;-.
:>/4:935:172.?10.,-345,.378.15,-0.2/-9:34:25.2-0;:9-2@.+,-2-.2-0;:9-2.=10A.:7./3057-02,:/.=:5,.29,1142.51.
>--5.B88:5:1734.C-307:7D.E--82@.B7.388:5:1734.?39510.:2.5,-.BCE.F-?10>.B95.GHIJK.=,:9,.=:44.:75018<9-.
7-=.0-2/172:L:4:5:-2.?10.,-345,K.-8<935:17.378.219:34.930-.51.=10A.51D-5,-0.51.91108:735-.322-22>-75.378.
/01;:2:17@.+,-.B95.GHIJ.=:44.L-.:>/4->-75-8.1;-0.3.5,0--MN-30./-0:18K.L-D:77:7D.:7.O-/5->L-0.GHGH@.

P7.108-0.51.3880-22.5,-2-.9,344-7D-2.51D-5,-0K.5,-.Q1<79:4.378.Q308:??.378.5,-.R34-.S7:;-02:5N.T-345,.
U1308.30-.<78-053A:7D.3.V1:75.0-;:-=.1?.,-345,.378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.Q308:??.2/-9:34.29,1142.378./</:4.
0-?-0034.<7:52@.+,-.W78:7D2.1?.5,-.0-;:-=K.1;-02--7.LN.3./01V-95.D01</.1?.0-/0-2-7535:;-2.?01>.,-345,K.
-8<935:17K.219:34.2-0;:9-2K.29,1142K.378./30-752K.=:44.:7?10>.5,-.8-2:D7.1?.5,-.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17@

X&'�%*�*Y�#Z%%�*[�\�*!)

+,-0-.30-.71./01/12-8.9,37D-2.51.D1;-07379-.30037D->-752.30:2:7D.1<5.1?.5,-2-./01/12342@.

]\$�Y!#&̂#!"�#$%&$&)� )#&*#!"�#_� )"#̀�*[a�[�

+,-.4-;-4.1?.2/-9:34.-8<935:1734.7--82b.388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82.:7.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.,32.,:2510:9344N.
L--7.41=-0.5,37.:7.5,-.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.2-9510@.+,:2.,32.L--7.9,37D:7D.1;-0.5,-.4325.eMf.N-302K.=:5,.29,1142.
0-/105:7D.37.:790-32-8.:79:8-79-.1?.BCEK.:7.344.30-32.1?.7--8@.

B.0-;:-=.1?.BCE.:7.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.=32.<78-053A-7.=:5,.c-42,.>-8:<>.29,1142.:7.GHIg.51.
:7?10>.5,-.c-42,.:7.d8<935:17.O5035-D:9.h437.icdOhj@.O9,1142.0-/105-8.3.2>344.L<5.2:D7:W9375.7<>L-0.1?.
-63>/4-2.1?./</:42.=:5,.BCE.4-3;:7D.5,-.c-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.:7.108-0.51.399-22.2/-9:34:25.0-21<09-.L32-2.10.
2/-9:34.29,1142@.

+,-0-.=32.3421.21>-.37-981534.-;:8-79-.51.2<DD-25.5,35.21>-.?3>:4:-2.=,1.=1<48.15,-0=:2-.9,112-.c-42,M
>-8:<>.-8<935:17.1/5.:725-38.?10.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.:?.5,-:0.9,:48.,32.BCEK.5,01<D,.9179-07.5,35.5,-:0.9,:48.
>3N.7--8.51.50372?-0.51.5,-.2/-9:34:25.2-9510.35.3.435-0.835-@.

+,01<D,.5,-.cdOhK.Q308:??.,32.:7;-25-8.:7.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.5,-.2-9510K.:794<8:7D.21>-.93/39:5N.51.
0-2/178.51.D01=:7D.8->378.378.51.D-7-035-.>10-.917W8-79-.:7.5,-.3;3:43L:4:5N.1?.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.
5,-.2-9510@.

B.7-=./0:>30N.L32-.=32.-253L4:2,-8.35.k2D14.lN>03-D.h=44.Q19,K.=:5,:7.5,-.9359,>-75.30-3.1?.k2D14.lN?<7.
lN>03-D.l43753?K.=,-0-.5,-.2-917830N.L32-.:2.-253L4:2,-8@.+,-.5=1.L32-2.935-0.?10.4-307-02.=:5,.2-;-0-.
4-307:7D.8:?W9<45:-2K./01;:8:7D.3.2/-9:34:25.9<00:9<4<>.378.2<//105:7D.3.037D-.1?.2-917830N.7--82.:794<8:7D.
/,N2:934.378.>-8:934.7--82K.2/--9,.378.437D<3D-.8:?W9<45:-2.378.3<5:2>@.

P7.GHGI.5,-0-.:2.D01=:7D.8->378.?10.0-21<09-.L32-2.?10./</:42.=:5,.3<5:2>K.=,1.30-.3;-03D-.51.,:D,.
39,:-;-02K.378.=1<48.7--8.3.>10-.:75-D035:;-.>18-4.1?.2<//105.5,37.5,35./01;:8-8.LN.5,-.5=1.-6:25:7D.
L32-2@.+,-0-.30-.9<00-754N.J.2-917830N.3D-8.4-307-02K.378.If./0:>30N.3D-8.4-307-02.=,1.=1<48.L-7-W5.?01>.
/439->-75.:7.37.BOm.L32-@.+,:2.:2.3.2,105.5-0>./0:10:5NK.D:;-7.5,-.0:2A.5,35.:?.9<00-75./439->-752.?3:4K.5,-.174N.
1/5:17.=1<48.L-.51.1??-0.3.50372?-0.51.37.d7D4:2,.>-8:<>.2-55:7D@.

B./0:>30N.=-44L-:7D.94322.,32.L--7.-253L4:2,-8K.,125-8.35.k2D14.lN70388.h-7.N.l01-2@.+,-.=-44L-:7D.94322.
=10A2.n-6:L4N.51.3880-22.7--82.:7.8:??-0-75.3D-./,32-2K.10.51./01;:8-.37.1<50-39,.>18-4K.8-/-78:7D.17.
9<00-75.7--8@.

+1.2<//105.->15:1734.,-345,.378.=-44L-:7D.7--82.:7.2-917830N./,32-K.3.o;:05<34p.L32-b.hFS.,32.L--7./:415-8.
390122.5,-.5,0--.2-917830N.29,1142K.25305:7D.:7.GHIJ@.+,-./:415.:2.8<-.?10.?<05,-0.0-;:-=.:7.GHGI@.

��

q
rs
tu
v
wx
ty
z{
u|
}~
�
�
�s

�
z�
�
�s
��
x
u�
�
zu
}~
��
�
zw
x
u�
x
�
u{
�
y
x
�u
�
w�
�
�w
u

�
�t
~
u�
�
�
�t
��
x
��
u�
w�
zx
�x
�u
�
ww
�
su
��
��
�

Page 963



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$"#%& #' %$ �(')"� %�� %�"�� '*�$$+' �,-� ,.�/),%� 0,*#+#%#�' ,(. ,**$11$.,%#$( %$ !"$-#.� �00�*%#-� 
2%�! 3 ,(. 4 !"$-#'#$(5 *$1!+�1�(%�. 6& %�� -#"%),+ 6,'�7 89:; <�.#)1 %�"15 %�� -#"%),+ 6,'�7 89: =#++ 
�-�(%),++& (��. , >?�. +$*,%#$( ,% $(� $0 %�� '*�$$+'5 =#%� .�'#@(,%�. ,**$11$.,%#$(5 %$ "�.)*� %�� "#'A 
%�,% &$)(@ !�$!+� =#%� %�� 1$'% *$1!+�? (��.' 1,& (��. %$ +�,-� %�� B�+'� '�*%$" %$ ,**�'' 1$"� '!�*#,+#'% 
!"$-#'#$(; 

C' %�� B�+'� '�*%$" *$(%#()�' %$ @"$= #% =#++ 6� #1!$"%,(% %$ .�-�+$! ,..#%#$(,+ !"$-#'#$( #( ,(%#*#!,%#$( $0 %�� 
(��.5 %$ �(')"� B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( #' , @�()#(� *�$#*� 0$" +�,"(�"' =#%� *$1!+�? CEF; 

��� !$$+ $0 CEF /),+#>�. ,(. �?!�"#�(*�. %�,*�#(@ '%,00 #' +#1#%�. #( ()16�"5 #( *$1!,"#'$( %$ %�� G(@+#'� 
'�*%$"; C(& !+,( %$ .�-�+$! B�+'� 1�.#)1 '!�*#,+#'% !"$-#'#$( =#++ (��. %$ 6� ')!!$"%�. 6& ,( CEF B$"A0$"*� 
H�-�+$!1�(% 8+,(; 

I( ,**$".,(*� =#%� %�� %#1�%,6+� '�% 6& B�+'� J$-�"(1�(%5 %�� K$)(*#+ #' =$"A#(@ *+$'�+& =#%� #%' !,"%(�"' 
$( %�� K,".#00 B�+'� G.)*,%#$( L$")1 %$ .�-�+$! %�� (�= %�( &�," BG28 0$" %�� *#%&; I% #' �?!�*%�. %�� !+,( 
=#++ 6� ,-,#+,6+� 0$" !)6+#* *$(')+%,%#$( #( ,)%)1( MNMO 6�0$"� 6�#(@ ')61#%%�. 0$" ,!!"$-,+ %$ %�� B�+'� 
J$-�"(1�(% #( �,"+& MNMM; ��� >"'% %�( &�," 8+,( =#++ *$11�(*� $( O 2�!%�16�" MNMM ,(. �?!#"� $( 3O 
C)@)'% MN3M; 

K$(')+%,%#$( $( %�� .",0% BG28 =#++ '��A -#�=' $( �$= 6�'% %$ @"$= B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( ,(. $( �$= %$ 
1��% %�� +$*,+ %,"@�%' '�% 6& B�+'� J$-�"(1�(%5 #( $".�" %$ #(0$"1 0)%)"� !"$!$',+'; ��� BG28 =#++ '�% $)% �$= 
%�� K$)(*#+ =#++ #(*"�,'� %�� !"$-#'#$( $0 B�+'�D1�.#)1 �.)*,%#$( 0$" !)!#+' =#%� ,..#%#$(,+ +�,"(#(@ (��.';

PQRSTUVUWX

C( G/),+#%& I1!,*% C''�''1�(% YGICZ #' , !"$*�'' %�,% +$$A' ,% , !$+#*&5 !"$[�*% $" '*��1� %$ 1,A� ')"� #% .$�' 
($% .#'*"#1#(,%� ,@,#('% ,(&$(� 6,'�. $( %�� !"$%�*%�. *�,",*%�"#'%#*' '�% $)% #( %�� G/),+#%& C*% MN Y,@�5 
.#',6#+#%&5 @�(.�" "�,''#@(1�(%5 1,""#,@� \ *#-#+ !,"%(�"'�#!5 !"�@(,(*& \ 1,%�"(#%&5 ",*�5 "�+#@#$(7 6�+#�05 '�?5 
'�?),+ $"#�(%,%#$(Z;

C( #(#%#,+ G/),+#%& I1!,*% C''�''1�(% �,' 6��( *,""#�. $)%; I% *$(*+).�. %�,% %�� !"$!$'�. *�,(@�' =$)+. ($% 
(�@,%#-�+& ,00�*% , !,"%#*)+," @"$)! #( '$*#�%&; 

��#' ,''�''1�(% =#++ 6� "�-#�=�. ,0%�" %�� *$(')+%,%#$( ,(. ,% A�& !$#(%' #0 %�� !"$!$',+' =�"� %$ !"$*��.; I0 
%�� !"$!$',+ @$�' ,��,.5 ,($%��" �/),+#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% =$)+. 6� *,""#�. $)% ,% %�� .�'#@( '%,@�; ��#' 
=$)+. #.�(%#0& ,**�''#6#+#%& %$ %�� (�= !"$-#'#$(;  ��� �/),+#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% =$)+. %,A� #(%$ ,**$)(% 
!$+#*#�' ')*� ,' %�� G/),+#%& C*% MNON5 �CF OM] H�'#@( MNO4 ,' =�++ ,' 6)#+.#(@ "�@)+,%#$(' ')*� ,' ̂2_3NN5 
8,"% < ,(. "�+�-,(% ̂)#+.#(@ ̂)++�%#(';

àbbRcUVdefbgShV

��� 0$++$=#(@ ,"� %,A�( #(%$ ,**$)(% =��( *$('#.�"#(@ , !"$!$',+] 8)6+#* i!�( 2!,*�5 !,"A+,(.5 ($#'� ,(. 
%",0>* *$(@�'%#$(;  ��� '*�$$+' #(*+).�. #( %��'� !"$!$',+' ,(. %�� K$)(*#+ =#++ =$"A =#%� ,(& *$11)(#%& 
@"$)!' %$ 1,A� ')"� %�� !"$!$',+' ,-$#. ,(& (�@,%#-� #1!,*%' #0 !$''#6+�;

C *$11)(#%& #1!,*% ,''�''1�(% �,' 6��( )(.�"%,A�( 0$" %��'� !"$!$',+' ,(. #' ,-,#+,6+� %$ -#�= ,% jjjk
lmnopqqkrstkuvwxyz{l|ss}~ns~s{m}{k

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�

Page 964



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&$'()(*�$+�"�*,)!%"-$

./012/3042560563073118932/:0;<0=>5>?30@3/3?A52;/B0CD50EA?F2<<GB0HA/F0H0I?;:?AJJ302B0D;JJ2553F05;0
I?;K2F2/:0L;DA10MD6;;1B0<;?0L;DA10E621F?3/N05;:3563?0425603/D;>?A:2/:0>B30;<0B>B5A2/A9130J;F3B05;05?AK310
5;0BD6;;1BN0B>D60AB04A1O2/:0A/F0DPD12/:Q0RAD60BD6;;10I?;S3D505AO3B02/5;0ADD;>/50O3P05?A/BI;?502BB>3B0463/0
563P0A?30932/:0F3B2:/3F0A/F05630T?J0/33F05;0I?;K2F30BA<3?0?;>53B05;03/D;>?A:304A1O2/:N0DPD12/:0A/F0;563?0
AD52K305?AK310J;F3B05;0BD6;;1BQ0

725605630D>??3/502/K3B5J3/5B02/0.EU0AD?;BB05630D25PN0B5>F3/50J;K3J3/5B0JAP0930<>?563?0?3F>D3F0AB0J;92130
53D6/;1;:P0F3K31;IB0<>?563?0A11;42/:0<;?0V3W2913053AD62/:0J356;FBQ0U63B306AK305630I;53/52A105;0?3B>1502/0A0
J;?303<TD23/50U?AK310X1A/0A/F0<>?563?0D;/5?29>5305;05630E;>/D21GB05A?:35B05;0?3F>D3025B0DA?9;/03J2BB2;/BQ0

./0;?F3?05;0JAW2J2B3056301;/:853?J02JIAD50;<0562B0B2:/2TDA/502/K3B5J3/5N0A/P0F3B2:/05AO3/0<;?4A?F0<;?03AD60
BD6;;102/D1>F3F02/0562B0I?;I;BA104;>1F0930F3K31;I3F05;03/B>?305630F312K3?P0;<062:60Y>A125P0J;F3?/0<AD212523B0
56A50A?30A91305;0?3BI;/F05;05630D>??3/50I>I210I;I>1A52;/GB0/33FB0A/F0B>II;?505630F312K3?P0;<03<<3D52K30
53AD62/:0A/F013A?/2/:0J356;FBQ0U63P04;>1F0A1B;02/D;?I;?A5305630V3W292125P05;05AO30ADD;>/50;<0D6A/:3B0
F3I3/F2/:0;/0/33F0AB052J30I?;:?3BB3BZ0B>D60AB0D6A/:2/:0F3J;:?AI62DB0A/F0I>I210/>J93?BN0D6A/:2/:0
D>??2D>1>J0A/F0D6A/:2/:05PI3B0;<0I>I210/33FBQ

[%)�")!,�$\!-*(])!%"$)%$[(]!�-

U630E;>/D2106AB0B2:/2TDA/503WI3?23/D302/05630B>DD3BB<>10F312K3?P0;<09>21F2/:0I?;S3D5B0;/05630B253B0;<0;DD>I23F0
BD6;;1B0AB0A0?3B>150;<0I?;:?3BB2/:0A01A?:30A/F0:?;42/:0BD6;;10;?:A/2BA52;/0I?;:?AJJ3Q00

C/P09>21F2/:04;?O0DA??23F0;>504;>1F0930JA/A:3F03<<3D52K31P02/0D;/B>15A52;/0425605630BD6;;1B02/D1>F3F02/0
563B30I?;I;BA1B05;03/B>?3056A505630D>??2D>1>J0D;/52/>3B05;0930F312K3?3F0A/F056A5062:603F>DA52;/0B5A/FA?FB0
A/F0BA<35P0B5A/FA?FB0A?30JA2/5A2/3FQ

��

_̂̀
ab
c
de
af
gh
bi
jk
l
l
m̀

n
gl
o
p̀
pl
e
bq
l
gb
jk
pm
r
gd
e
bs
e
r
bh
l
f
e
tb
u
dl
u
md
b

v
pa
k
bw
r
r
pa
pl
e
sm
bx
ds
ge
pe
tb
y
dd
r̀
bz
w
xy
{

Page 965



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !��"!# $%& �% '()� *%+, -.�&! )/%&/ (/0 1��02(3) 1%,'

456785699:;<8;:=7>

?:@8A67:<

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEJGLLDJNEOIPEQHRROSKQDENCDETDDPUOJVETSGRENCKQEJGIQHLNONKGIWEEFGHIJKLEGTXJDSQEMKLLENCDIESDYGSNENCKQE
NGENCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNENGESDYGSNEQNOVDCGLPDSE[KDMQENGEDLDJNDPERDRUDSQEOIPENGEKITGSREPDJKQKGIEROVKI\WEBCKQE
JGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEMKLLEUDEO[OKLOULDETGSEOI]GIDENGE[KDM̂PGMILGOPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKNDWEE_GHEJOIEOLQGE\DNEOE
JGY]EU]EHQKI\ENCDEJGINOJNEPDNOKLQEKIENCKQEPGJHRDINWEE

T̀ENCDEYSGYGQOLQEOSDEO\SDDPENGEYSGJDDPETGLLGMKI\EJGIQHLNONKGIENCDSDEOSDEOEIHRUDSEGTETHSNCDSEQNO\DQENCONENCDE
FGHIJKLEMGHLPECO[DENGE\GENCSGH\CEUDTGSDEOEXIOLEPDJKQKGIEKQEROPDWEE

BCDQDEQNO\DQEOSDEQDNEGHNEKIEBOULDEabEUDLGMc

d6ef:8ghi8jk7kl:8<76m:<8nd5o<87op:76ef:8p6@8e:8<keq:r787s8r56;m:t

d6ef:8ghi8jk7kl:8<76m:<

u767k7sl@8vlsr:<< dop:<r6f:

FGIQHLNONKGIEwDSKGP aaExJNGUDSEyEzzE{G[DRUDSEz|za

FGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEJGIQKPDSDPEU]ENCDEFGHIJKLEFOUKIDNEOIPE
YHULKQCDPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKND

}~��~�������

��YDJNDPEPONDETGSEQNOSNEGTExU�DJNKGIEwDSKGP�EMCDIEQNONHNGS]E
IGNKJDECOQEUDDIEKQQHDPE�MCDIETGSROLEGU�DJNKGIQEJOIEUDEROPD�

�~������

��YDJNDPEPONDETGSEDIPEGTExU�DJNKGIEwDSKGP }��������

�KIOLEPDJKQKGIE�PDNDSRKIONKGI�EU]ENCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNEEE }��������

xU�DJNKGIESDYGSNEYHULKQCDPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKNDEOIPE
IGNKXJONKGIEGTEFOUKIDNZQEPDJKQKGIEE

��������������

�s;<kf767os;89:los�

BCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPETGSENCDQDEYSGYGQOLQEQNOSNQEGIEaaExJNGUDSEz|zaEOIPEDIPQEGIEzzE{G[DRUDSEz|zaWE

�DDEYO\DE��ETGSETHSNCDSEPDNOKLQEGTECGMENGESDQYGIPEOIPEROVDE]GHSE[KDMQEVIGMIW

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEYHULKQCEOEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEGIEKNQEMDUQKNDWEBCDESDYGSNERHQNEUDEYHULKQCDPEONELDOQNENMGEMDDVQE
YSKGSENGENCDEYHULKJONKGIEGTEOEQNONHNGS]EIGNKJDWEE

_GHEJOIEOLQGEOQVETGSEOECOSPEJGY]EGTENCDESDYGSNWE

BCDESDYGSNEMKLLE\GEG[DSENCDEKQQHDQESOKQDPEPHSKI\ENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPEOIPE\K[DENCDEFGHIJKLZQESDQYGIQDENGENCDQDE
KQQHDQWEBCDESDYGSNEMKLLEOLQGEJGINOKIE�QN]IZQE[KDMEGTENCDEYSGYGQOLQW

BCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNEMKLLEJGIQKPDSENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEOIPEPDJKPDEMCDNCDSEGSEIGNENGE\GEOCDOPEMKNCENCDE
YSGYGQDPEJCOI\DQW

T̀ENCDEFOUKIDNEPDJKPDQENGEJGINKIHDEMKNCENCDEJCOI\DQENCDEFGHIJKLERHQNEYHULKQCEOEPGJHRDINEJOLLDPEOE�QNONHNGS]E
IGNKJDZWEBCKQEKQEOIEGTXJKOLEQNONDRDINEQO]KI\ENCONENCDEJCOI\DQEMKLLE\GEOCDOPW

��

�
��
��
 
¡¢
�£
¤¥
�¦
§̈
©
©
ª�

«
¤©
¬
�
©
¢
�®
©
¤�
§̈
ª̄
¤¡
¢
�°
¢̄
�¥
©
£
¢
±�
²
¡©
²
ª¡
�

³
�̈
�́̄
̄�
©
¢
°ª
�µ
¡°
¤¢
¢
±�
¶
¡¡̄
��
·́
µ¶̧

Page 966



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%!�&'(

)*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*3+*,65*7/08-9*:.;934-,3/2*/7*-*<2-93+5=*:0/:/+-9>*?65*-::0/@-9*,/*:.;93+6*-*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*
8.+,*;5*A3@52*;1*,65*B/.2439C+*B-;325,>*?63+*D/.9=*/291*;5*4/2+3=505=*-7,50*,65*B-;325,*6-@5*05453@5=*-*05:/0,*
/2*-99*,65*4/2+.9,-,3/2*05+:/2+5+>*?63+*3+*-*95A-9*05E.305852,*-+*/.,9325=*32*,65*F46//9*G0A-23+-,3/2*B/=5*HIJK>

?65*B/.2439*D/.9=*:.;93+6*,65*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*/2*3,+*D5;+3,5>*L,*D/.9=*-9+/*:.,*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*-,*/0*25-0*
,65*8-32*52,0-245*,/*,65*+46//9M+NO+3,5M+N*-7754,5=*;1*,65*2/,345>*F46//9+*,6-,*-05*-7754,5=*D/.9=*-9+/*;5*
A3@52*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*,/*A3@5*/.,*,/*:.:39+P*:-052,+P*A.-0=3-2+P*-2=*+,-77*858;50+*M,65*+46//9*8-1*-9+/*
=3+,03;.,5*,65*2/,345*;1*58-39N>*?65*2/,345*+5,+*/.,*,65*=5,-39+*/7*,65*:0/:/+-9+*-2=*-+Q+*-21/25*D6/*D-2,+*
,/*/;R54,*,/*=/*+/>*G;R54,3/2+*8.+,*;5*D03,,52>*?651*8.+,*;5*+52,*,/*,65*B/.2439*D3,632*,65*=-,5+*A3@52*/2*
,65*2/,345>

S(�("T&U��&!U$!V$�W($X"!X!Y�ZY$

B-0=377*B/.2439*B-;325,*D/.9=*=5,508325*,65*:0/:/+-9>*?63+*85-2+*,651*D399*8-Q5*-*<2-9*=543+3/2*/2*D65,650*
,65*46-2A5+*A/*-65-=>*?65*B-;325,*8-1*=543=5*,/*-::0/@5*/0*05R54,*,65*:0/:/+-9P*/0*,651*8-1*-::0/@5*,65*
:0/:/+-9*D3,6*+/85*46-2A5+*M8/=3<4-,3/2+N>*?65*B-;325,*D399*,-Q5*-21*/;R54,3/2+*05453@5=*32*,65*G;R54,3/2*
[503/=*32,/*-44/.2,*D652*8-Q32A*,63+*=543+3/2>*

S('&Y&!U$%!�&\'��&!U$

)7,50*=5,50832-,3/2P*B-0=377*B/.2439*D/.9=*95,*5@501/25*-7754,5=*;1*,65*:0/:/+-9*Q2/D*D6-,*,65*=543+3/2*D-+>*
L,*D399*-9+/*;5*:.;93+65=*/2*,65*B/.2439C+*D5;+3,5>

��

]̂
_̀
ab
cd̀
e
fg
ah
ij
k
k
l_

m
fk
n
o_
ok
d
ap
k
fa
ij
ol
q
fc
d
ar
d
q
ag
k
e
d
sa
t
ck
t
lc
a

u
ò
j
av
q
q
ò
ok
d
rl
aw
cr
fd
od
sa
x
cc
q
_a
yv
wx
z

Page 967



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�'(
)*+,-./,-*012343,4567,8371*/73,9*80,*/26/3,.4,:::;-.8<699;=*>;+?@ABC7-5**218*1*7.27

D3,.83,18*1*76/=,4*E

FGHIJKLMNLGOPLGJMQMJROSGTUGVPLGWTXKOGYQLJRMZGYJPTTZGUKT[G\]GOTĜ]GQZMJLN_GGVPLGNJPTTZG̀TXZaG

OKMINULKGOTGIL̀GbXRZaGMJJT[[TaMORTIGMJKTNNGÒTGNROLNGMOGcMRK̀MOLKGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGMIaGOPLG

JXKKLIOGYOGeLZZTINfGWRgGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGNROLGRIGhZMIKX[ILSG̀ROPGijGQXQRZNGTIGLMJPGNROLGUKT[G

YLQOL[bLKG]k]l_

FGmNOMbZRNPGMG]kGQZMJLGYQLJRMZRNOGnLNTXKJLGoMNLGpYnoqGUTKGQKR[MKSGMrLaGJPRZaKLIG̀ROPGWT[QZLsG

hLMKIRIrGtLLaNGMOGeTTKZMIaGdKR[MKSGYJPTTZGUKT[GYLQOL[bLKG]k]]_

dZLMNLGOLZZGXNG̀PLOPLKGSTXGMKLGKLNQTIaRIrGMNGpORJuGMZZGOPMOGMQQZSq

vwxyz{|}w~zw��yz��y|�

w �{��{zw~�w�}y���

vw�~�{z|~z�

w �}�{zw���{y�{w��{�����

vw�zy|��yz{|}�

w x�����ww

vww�~�y�w�{���{|}

��23.73,-*/�80,:56-5,7-5**27,
�*+,.83,.9�26.43<,:645

�_G�TGSTXGNXQQTKOGOPLGQKTQTNMZGOTGRIJKLMNLGOPLGJMQMJROSGTUGVPLGWTXKOGYQLJRMZG
YJPTTZGUKT[G\]GOTĜ]GQZMJLN�

ww���w w w ��w w ��w�x�����

x�{y�{w{ ��y�|w¡��¢

��

£
¤¥
¦§̈
©ª
¦«
¬
§®̄
°
±
±
²¥

³
¬±́
µ¥
µ±
ª
§¶
±
¬§̄
°
µ²
·
¬©
ª
§̧
ª
·
§
±
«
ª
¹§
º
©±
º
²©
§

»
µ¦
°
§¼
·
·
µ¦
µ±
ª̧
²§
½©̧
¬ª
µª
¹§
¾
©©
·
¥§
¿¼
½¾
À

Page 968



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�'&*,$-)&�.()�/!#&'�0%)12*+�01(!!+�'!�,)3�
4#2+5�*11!66!5*'2!,�*1&!$$�'3!�$2')$�*'�7*2&3*')&�8&26*&"�01(!!+�*,5�'()�
1#&&),'�0'�9)++!,$�/2:�8&26*&"�01(!!+�$2')�2,�;+*,&#6,)"<

==>?@= = = AB= = AB=BCDADBA

CEFGHF=FIJEGKL=MNOP

Q�� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�)$'*4+2$(�*�0%)12*+2$'�R)$!#&1)�S*$)�
T0RSU�-!&�%&26*&"�*V)5�1(2+5&),�32'(�/!6%+)W�;)*&,2,V�X))5$�*'�9!!&+*,5�
8&26*&"�01(!!+�-&!6�0)%')64)&��Y��<

==>?@= = AB= = AB=BCDADBA

CEFGHF=FIJEGKL=MNOP

��

Z
[\
]̂
_̀
a
]b
cd̂
e
fg
h
h
i\

j
ch
k
l\
lh
â
mh
ĉ
fg
li
n
c̀
â
oa
n̂
d
h
b
a
p̂
q̀
h
q
ì̂

r
l]
ĝ
s
n
n
l]
lh
a
oî
t̀
oc
a
la
p̂
ù
ǹ
\̂
vs
tu
w

Page 969



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"�#$"!"�%&'�($%&)"*�'+,�#$-&.�(+,/0�-12!+3"�#$"*"�2!+2+*%/*4

5�� !"�#$"!"�%&'�%/#"!&%#-3"�+2#-+&*�'+,�6+,/0�/-."�#+�*,))"*#4

7��8+�'+,�$%3"�%&'�+#$"!�(+11"&#*4

��

9
:;
<=
>
?@
<A
BC
=D
EF
G
G
H;

I
BG
J
K;
KG
@
=L
G
B=
EF
KH
M
B?
@
=N
@
M
=C
G
A
@
O=
P
?G
P
H?
=

Q
K<
F
=R
M
M
K<
KG
@
NH
=S
?N
B@
K@
O=
T
??
M
;=
UR
ST
V

Page 970



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� 

!""# $$

%&$'()&" 

*+,-./01234-567,-809-9,1:031,1-70-7+21-.031;/767203-21<==<>?@ABCAD<=E=FG
HI ()&JKLMN(M$(K&'(�ON ('&(L&K$M" #(�KP(L&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(# L MR "(�S' #('IM$("�' T(

)&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(UMNN(V?W<O (L&JK' "(�$(&OX L'M&K$('&('I (Q#&Q&$�NT(

YOX L'M&K$(L�K(&KNP(O (# ZM$' # "(S&NN&UMKZ(QJONML�'M&K(&S(�($'�'J'&#P(K&'ML T

[S(P&J(UM$I('&(O (K&'M\ "(&S(QJONML�'M&K(&S('I ()&K$JN'�'M&K(# Q&#'(QN �$ (Q#&RM" (�K( ��MN(�""# $$T([S(P&J("&(K&'(Q#&RM" (�K(
 ��MN(�""# $$(U (L�KK&'(]  Q(P&J(JQ('&("�' 

_̂̀Va<b?c<d?D<b?cD<e?BBAVWf
ghÀfA<DAWcDV<W_if<d?DB<W?<W_A<je_??h<kDl̀Vif̀Wi?V<gh̀VViVl<̂ÀBm<n??B<oEFm<p?cVWb<q̀hhm<prFE<ost<Cb<V?<h̀WAD<W_̀V<
==<>?@ABCAD<=E=FG

uvkŝ <wks
x/,61,-:90y25,-z0;9-:017.05,-{,/0|-70-6//0|-;1-70-}09,-6..;967,/z-:23:0237-9,1:035,371~-y2,|1-635-3,,51-{z-69,6��

�+67-|61-z0;9-64,-03-z0;9-/617-{297+56z�-

- �35,9-��- - - �����-- - - �����- - - �����- - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

- �����- - - �����---- - �����- - - ���

�9,-z0;��

- �,}6/,- - -- �6/,- - - �7+,9- - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

�0-z0;-25,3728z-61-6-5216{/,5-:,9103�-

- �,1-- -- - �0- - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z-

x/,61,-72.�-63z-08-7+,-80//0|234-7+67-6::/z-70-z0;�-

- �,68�-�,68,3,5�-�695-08-+,69234- - �21;6/-2}:629},37------- �034�17635234-2//3,11-09-+,6/7+-.03527203-�,�4�-.63.,9�--

- - - - - - - - - 526{,7,1�-09-617+}6�

- �,376/-+,6/7+-528�.;/72,1-- - - �+,,/.+629-;1,9---- - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

- �,693234-2}:629},37-�-528�.;/72,1- - �0{2/27z-2}:629},37- - �7+,9

x/,61,-1:,.28z

�+67-21-z0;9-,7+32.-490;:�-

�+,9,-7+,-7,9}-��92721+~-21-;1,5�-7+21-9,8,91-70-63z-08-7+,-80;9-+0},-3672031-08-�6/,1�- 34/635�-�097+,93-¡9,/635-635-¢.07/635�-09-63z-

.0}{2367203-08-7+,1,�

- �+27,-�-�,/1+� 34/21+�¢.07721+��097+,93-¡921+��92721+-- - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-�634/65,1+2

- �+27,-�-¡921+-- - - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-¡35263

- �+27,-�-£z:1z-09-¡921+-*96y,//,9- - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-�3z-07+,9

-- �+27,-�-�3z-07+,9-|+27,-{6.�490;35- - -- - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-�892.63

-- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-¦-�1263- - - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-¤692{{,63

- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-635-�/6.�-¤692{{,63- - �/6.���892.63�¤692{{,63��/6.�-�,/1+��92721+-�-�3z-07+,9

-- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�+27,-635-�/6.�-�892.63- - �96{

- �2¥,5��;/72:/,- 7+32.-£90;:1-�-�3z-07+,9-- -- - �3z-07+,9-,7+32.-490;:-�:/,61,-1:,.28z�

- �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-¤+23,1,- - -- -

- �1263��1263-�,/1+��92721+-�-x6�217632- - - - x9,8,9-307-70-16z

*+,-23809}67203-z0;-+6y,-:90y25,5-6{0y,-|27+-{,-:90.,11,5-{z-¤695288-¤0;3.2/-23-/23,-|27+-7+,-�676-x907,.7203-�.7-�§�̈-635-£,3,96/-�676-x907,.7203-©,4;/67203�-*+,-
23809}67203-:90y25,5-70-;1-23-9,/67203-70-7+21-.031;/767203-|2//-{,-79,67,5-61-.03�5,3726/-{;7-27-}6z-{,-;1,5-{z-7+,-¤0;3.2/-09-521./01,5-70-07+,91-|+,3-9,ª;29,5-{z-/6|�-
*+,-:;9:01,-08-:90.,11234-7+,-:,91036/-5676-21-9,ª;29,5-70-:,9809}-6-1:,.2�.-761�1-23-7+,-:;{/2.-237,9,17�-�3z-9,1:031,1-9,.,2y,5-.63-{,-9,ª;,17,5-;35,9-7+,-�9,,50}-
08-¡3809}67203-�.7-635-}6z-+6y,-70-{,-}65,-:;{/2.�-+0|,y,9-63z-23809}67203-7+67-|0;/5-25,3728z-63-2352y25;6/-1;.+-61-36},-635-6559,11-|0;/5-{,-9,}0y,5�
�09-8;97+,9-23809}67203-03-+0|-¤695288-¤0;3.2/-}6364,1-:,91036/-23809}67203�-1,,-0;9-8;//-x92y6.z-x0/2.z-03-7+,-¤0;3.2/~1-|,{127,-
I''Q$«¬¬UUUTL�#"MSSTZ&RTJ]¬�®¬̄&� ¬� U°�21./62},9�x64,1�5,86;/7�61:¥- ��

±
²³́
µ¶
·̧
¹́
º»
µ¼
½¾
¿
¿
À³

Á
º¿
Â
Ã³
Ã¿̧
µÄ
¿
ºµ
½¾
ÃÀ
Å
º·̧
µÆ̧
Å
µ»
¿
¹̧
Çµ
È
·¿
È
À·
µ

É
Ã́
¾
µÊ
Å
Å
Ã́
Ã¿̧
ÆÀ
µË
·Æ
º̧
Ã̧
Çµ
Ì
··
Å
³µ
ÍÊ
ËÌ
Î

Page 971



����������	
�������
��������������������������

��������������������������� �!�"��������
#�$������$�������������"�������%���&'
"���������������

()*+,-./.0)*12340)56178153(39:341;<;71=1<71>3:4,/4?1;<;;

@ABCDEFGHIJKLDGMKDNJDIMEJDMOMBPMNPJDBKDQRMBPPJSD
TDCHIIMRUDOJRCBFKDFVDLABCDEFGHIJKLDBCDMOMBPMNPJDMLDWWWXYZ[\]̂̂X_̀aXbcdefghYì j̀k[̀k̀hZjh

lKVFRIMLBFKDGMKDMPCFDNJDIMEJDMOMBPMNPJDBKDFLAJRDGFIIHKBLUDPMKmHMmJCDBVDKJJEJESD
nPJMCJDGFKLMGLDHCDFKDopqrpostrptpoDLFDMRRMKmJDLABCS

Page 972



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!

()*+,-./*0,)1

234567389375893:;;<=>736:;?7@3

23456736A>3B>3CA;C;98DE37;3F;@33

G,)H.I*J*0,)

2345;36A>3B>3K;D9?=78DE3B875@

23L8>B93;M3K58=FA>D3;D375>3CA;C;9>F3K56DE>93

23N;B3K6D3O;?3PDF3;?73Q;A>36DF3=>73?93<D;B3O;?A3R8>B9@

23S;?A3R8>B936A>38QC;A76D737;3?9

TUVIJ)J*0,)1,W1*X+YH1.HX-10)1*Z0H1-,/.YX)*

[ZJ*10H1*ZX1\J)-1\1]̂H*1GX)*.+_1̀/Z,,IH1a+,b+JYYXc

23d5>3CA;R898;D3;M39K5;;=3C=6K>9

23e;DF878;D3f3g?876:8=87O

\J/hb+,.)-

23iCCA;6K537;3g?CC;A78DE3ijk38D3e6AF8MM

23g?MPK8>DKO38D375>3gC>K86=3g>K7;A3

X̀/,)-J+_1J)-1a,H*l̂m1TY,*0,)JI1nXJI*Z1J)-1[XIIoX0)b1pXX-H1a+,q0H0,)1rJbX1̂̂ l̂st

23e?AA>D73uA;R898;D

23uA;v>K7>F3w>Q6DF3M;A3xQ;78;D6=3N>6=7536DF34>==:>8DE3u=6K>93y3g>K;DF6AO3iE>3u569>3zzyz{3

23uA;v>K7>F3w>Q6DF3M;A3xQ;78;D6=3N>6=7536DF34>==:>8DE3u=6K>93|3u;97yz{33

23u;97yz{3xQ;78;D6=3N>6=7536DF34>==:>8DE3k>>F9

a+,V,HJIH1W,+1}+XX)Z0II1̀/Z,,I

23~A>>D58==3gK5;;=

23d5>3D?Q:>A3;M3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=

23w>Q6DF3M;A3C=6K>9367375>39K5;;=

23e;DF878;D36DF39?876:8=87O3;M39K5;;=3:?8=F8DE9

23w?7K53~6AF>D3e>D7A>3g87>

23dO3~=69�3j=6D895>D3g87>

23g87>3�6C1

�.JI0*_1J)-1̀*J)-J+-H

23x97OD

234>=953~;R>ADQ>D73e67>E;A89678;D3;M3gK5;;=9

23�?6=87O36DF3g76DF6AF93673~A>>D58==3gK5;;=

n,�1�,.I-1H*J)-J+-H1J*1*ZX1H/Z,,IH1oX1JWWX/*X-1o_1*ZX1/ZJ)bXHc

23g76DF6AF9

23d>6K58DE36DF3j>6AD8DE3x�C>A8>DK>9

23e6A>39?CC;A736DF3E?8F6DK>

23j>6F>A958C36DF3Q6D6E>Q>D7

�--0*0,)JI1H.VV,+*1W,+1V.V0IH

23�QC6K73;D3C?C8=93B8753iFF878;D6=3j>6AD8DE3k>>F93�ijk�

23N;B3B;?=F39?CC;A73M;A3C?C8=93B8753xDE=89536936D3iFF878;D6=3j6DE?6E>3:>36MM>K7>F@

23N;B3B;?=F3C?C8=93A>K>8R8DE3�A>>3gK5;;=3�>6=93:>36MM>K7>F@

23N;B3B;?=F3�8D;A87O3x75D8K3C?C8=93:>36MM>K7>F@

� Page 973



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� �!" ��" #"$"%�& '( ��" )!')'&"* +��$,"&-

.'�"$�/�0 */&�*1�$��,"& '( ��" )!')'&"* +��$,"& 

2/&3& �&&'+/��"* 4/�� ��" )!')'&"* +��$,"&

50�"!$��/1" ')�/'$& +'$&/*"!"*

���� 4'60* ��))"$ �' ��" "7/&�/$, 8!""$�/00 9+�''0 &/�"-

:6;�$ 2"&'6!+"& <���"!&

="�!$"! >!�1"0 5!!�$,";"$�&

?@ABCDEFGBH@HG@IBJJDKLMM@NOKGGM@CH@HKJ@PBGFGEJQ@NLHJ@CH@HKJ@RSHOK@ICBQJD@TJDHBJ

?@ABCDEFGBH@HG@IBJJDKLMM@NOKGGM@CH@HKJ@PBGFGEJQ@NLHJ@CH@HKJ@AU@IMCEV@WMCDLEKJD@

X/$�$+/�0 <���"!&

:"�0�� .!'1/&/'$

5*;/&&/'$ 5!!�$,";"$�&

8'1"!$�$+" 5!!�$,";"$�&

Y;)�+� '( ��" )!')'&�0& '$ ��" �"0&� =�$,6�,"

Z[6�0/�/"&

\';;6$/�] Y;)�+�

�"00#"/$, '( X6�6!" 8"$"!��/'$&

.'�"$�/�0 ̂/&!6)�/'$ �' .6)/0&

_"7� &�")&̀ �'4 �' ;�3" ]'6! 1/"4& 3$'4$ �$* (""*#�+3 ('!;

?@aKCH@KCFFJDE@DJbHc

?@dJU@RCHJE

?@TGDESMHCHLGD@FJBLGQ

?@NHCHSHGBU@eGHLOJ

?@fghJOHLGD@iJFGBH@

?@RJHJBjLDCHLGD@Gk@HKJ@FBGFGECME

?@RJOLELGD@eGHLlOCHLGD

:�1" ]'6! &�]m

?@TGDESMHCHLGD@BJEFGDEJ@kGBj

�Page 974



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#�$ �%%

&'()*+,*)'+,*-../01)*(-.2)3*

456789::;<=>8678?:@8AB@=C>7DEB@=@7F87E5::<87>B??F87E5::<8G:H=@C:@78BCI8BCJ:C=8K5:85B78BC86C>=@=7>8

6C8=ILEB>6:C86C8MB@I6??N8O>8K6<<89=8:?8AB@>6EL<B@86C>=@=7>8>:8AB@=C>7DEB@=@78:?8E56<I@=C8B>>=CI6CGF8:@8

=PA=E>6CG8>:8B>>=CIF8Q@==C56<<8RE5::<8BCI8>5:7=8>5B>85BH=8:@8EL@@=C><J8K:@;8K6>58E56<I@=C8K6>58

SII6>6:CB<8T=B@C6CG8U==I78VSTUWN

O>87=>78:L>8E5BCG=78K=8B@=87LGG=7>6CG8>:8A@:H6I=856G58XLB<6>J87A=E6B<87E5::<8A<BE=78?:@8E56<I@=C8

BG=I8YYZY[8K6>58\]:>6:CB<8̂=B<>58BCI8_=<<9=6CG8U==I78B>8Q@==C56<<8RE5::<F8BCI8>5=8@=B7:C78?:@8

>5=7=8A@:A:7=I8E5BCG=7N

&'()*(̀1*a1*b̀.b.,+cd*).*e.3**

4:8]==>8>5=86CE@=B76CG8I=]BCI8?:@87A=E6B<87E5::<8A<BE=78?:@8<=B@C=@78K6>58=]:>6:CB<85=B<>58BCI8

K=<<9=6CG8C==I786>8678A@:A:7=I8>:f

g*+ch̀1(,1*)'1*h(b(h+)i*.j*k̀11c'+00*lh'..0*j̀.m*no*).*pnq*b0(h1,r*

g*)̀(c,j1̀*k̀11c'+00*,h'..0*).*c1a*-2+0e*(hh.mm.e()+.c*(h̀.,,*)a.*,+)1,*()*)'1*s2)h'*

k(̀e1c*t1c)̀1*,+)1u*v(1,*w*x̀ic*y.(e*zc1(̀*).*vo*{|q}*(ce*~i*k0(,*y.(e*+c*�0(c+,'1cu*

a+)'*�q*b2b+0,*.c*1(h'*,+)1*j̀.m*l1b)1m-1̀*�q��r

�<=B7=8C:>=8>5B>8>5=8I=H=<:A]=C>8:?8>5678A@:A:7B<8678B>8BC8=B@<J87>BG=N8SCJ8I=>B6<=I87E5::<8I=76GC8

:@876>=8<BJ:L>78K:L<I89=8E:C76I=@=I8B>8B8<B>=@8IB>=N845=@=8K:L<I89=8:AA:@>LC6>6=78>:8E:]]=C>8

:C8I=>B6<=I8A<BC78B>8>5=8A@=ZA<BCC6CG8BCI8A<BCC6CG8BAA<6EB>6:C87>BG=7F875:L<I8>5=8A@:A:7B<89=8

A@:G@=77=IN

_=8B@=8B<7:8E:C7L<>6CG8:C87=AB@B>=8A@:A:7B<78>:86CE@=B7=8BII6>6:CB<8<=B@C6CG8C==I78A@:H676:C8?:@8

E56<I@=C8K6>58\]:>6:CB<8̂=B<>58BCI8_=<<9=6CG8U==I78K6>56C8]B6C7>@=B]87E5::<7N845=8M:LCE6<8

678A@:A:76CG8>:8=7>B9<6758>K:8RA=E6B<67>8�=7:L@E=8�B7=78?:@8=]:>6:CB<85=B<>58BCI8K=<<9=6CG8

B>89:>58MB@I6??8_=7>8M:]]LC6>J8̂6G58RE5::<8BCI8\B7>=@C8̂6G58RE5::<N8\BE58:?8>5=7=89B7=78

K:L<I8A@:H6I=8��8A<BE=7N8�:L8EBC87==8]:@=8I=>B6<8:C8>5=7=8A@:A:7B<78B>8�������������������

������������������

� Page 975



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#"$��%

&'()*+,)-,).(/01234/5)-43'6

789:;<=>?@ABAC<=:DE<;9>>:F?>A:G<@@<H:A89:I9@>8:J<K9E=F9=A:L?CM9@C=9>:B>:>9A:<?A:C=:A89:N;8<<@:

OELB=C>BAC<=:P<M9:QRSTU

V>:DBEA:<G:A8C>:H9:BE9:B>WC=L:D9<D@9:H8BA:A89X:A8C=W:BY<?A:A89:;8B=L9>:H9:BE9:DE<D<>C=LU::789E9:BE9:B:

=?FY9E:<G:HBX>:D9<D@9:;B=:A9@@:?>:A89CE:KC9H>U

Z*[2,)\)[,2(-)0,30)(13)-'()3',)](1/.42)40).(/01234/5̂

Z*[2,)\̂)_+(1̀0)3',)](1/.42)40).(/01234/5)-43'

P8C@ME9=:B=M:X<?=L:D9<D@9 I9@>8:aC=C>A9E>

bBE9=A>c;BE9E> defghijkjlmgnijlenngoogepim

N;8<<@:>ABGG P9=AEB@:N<?A8:P<=><EAC?F:q<C=A:rM?;BAC<=:N9EKC;9:
sPNPqrNt

N;8<<@:J<K9E=C=L:u<MC9> I9@>8:vB=L?BL9:P<FFC>>C<=9E:

v<;B@:E9>CM9=A> w8C9=C:ME<>:VMMX>L:JXFEB9L:sw8VJt

v<;B@:Y?>C=9>>9>:x:<ELB=C>BAC<=> 7EBM9:y=C<=>:

P<FF?=CAX:P<?=;C@> P8C@M;BE9:DE<KCM9E>:

v<;B@:a9FY9E>cP<=>ACA?9=;X:B=M:w9LC<=B@:a9FY9E>:<G:
A89:N9=9MM:saNt:ca9FY9E>:<G:bBE@CBF9=A:sab>t

a?MCBM:a9CA8EC=:

zC<;9>B=:zCE9;A<E>:<G:rM?;BAC<= IB@9>:bE9{N;8<<@:bE<KCM9E>:V>><;CBAC<=

|9CL8Y<?EC=L:V?A8<ECAC9> P@XYCB?:b@B=A:PXFE?:}CM>:P@?Y

|9CL8Y<?EC=L:bECFBEX:B=M:N9;<=MBEX:>;8<<@>:HCA8C=:
PBEMCGG:

|BAC<=B@:zBX:|?E>9EC9>:V>><;CBAC<=

r>AX= I9@>8:rM?;BAC<=:~<E?F

P<FF?=CAC9>:~CE>A:bBEA=9E>8CD �<@?=ABEX:N9;A<E:OELB=C>BAC<=>

PBEMCGG:B=M:�B@9:�9B@A8:u<BEM: 7EBG�;:P<FFC>>C<=9E:G<E:IB@9>:

�4,-0)(�).'42�+,/)(/)3',)̀+(̀(0,�).'*/5,0)

PBEMCGG:C>:B:P8C@M:~EC9=M@X:PCAX:B=M:A89:KC9H>:<G:;8C@ME9=:B=M:X<?=L:D9<D@9:BE9:W9X:A<:A89:HBX:9M?;BAC<=:

C>:M9@CK9E9MU::�A:C>:CFD<EAB=A:A<:FBW9:>?CABY@9:BEEB=L9F9=A>:A<:;<=>?@A:HCA8:D?DC@>:H89=:H9:BE9:YEC=LC=L:

G<EHBEM:DE<D<>B@>U:789:P<?=;C@:HC@@:;<=>?@A:HCA8:D?DC@>:C=:JE99=8C@@:N;8<<@:B=M:A89:C=G<EFBAC<=:LBA89E9M:

HC@@:Y9:C=;@?M9M:C=:A89:�=B@:;<=>?@ABAC<=:E9D<EAU

�Page 976



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� �!�"#$�%$&��!'�(�)*�#$&�+*'�!,�-$��� �!)�./*�,0

1234567849:;<;3785=769>?8;5<8=5<567849:;<;3785@?4A784?5B7@>5<@?5<C<3:<D:?5785;2?5E79863:5F?D43;?5<;5

GGGHIJKLMNNHOPQHRSTUVWXIYPPZ[KP[PXJZX

\B5]795<@?598<D:?5;75<66?445;2?5=769>?8;4578:38?̂5A@38;?=567A3?45F3::5D?5<C<3:<D:?5D]5A74;5785@?_9?4;̀5

a795><]5@?_9?4;5<567A]5D]5?b><3:38c5XIYPPZKdX[PeXdXfIJKLMNNHOPQHRS57@5D]5;?:?A27838c55 5

ghijhgkljhlhg̀5

m?5F3::5<=C34?5B<>3:3?45F3;25623:=@?85<;5n@??823::5o6277:527F5;2?]56<85<66?445<567A]57B5;2?5=769>?8;̀

\8B7@><;3785F3::5<:475D?5A@7C3=?=5;75@?43=?8;45<8=5D9438?44?453856:74?5A@7p3>3;]5;75;2?543;?45386:9=?=5385

;2?5A@7A74<:4̀

q8:38?5>??;38c45F3::5D?52?:=5F2?@?5;2?562<8c?45F?5<@?5A@7A7438c5F3::5D?5?pA:<38?=̀5a795F3::52<C?5;2?5

7AA7@;983;]5;75<4r5_9?4;37845<45A<@;57B5;2?4?54?443784̀55\B5]795F79:=5:3r?5;75<;;?8=5<8578:38?5>??;38c5

A:?<4?5678;<6;5945C3<5?b><3:5;75XIYPPZKdX[PeXdXfIJKLMNNHOPQHRS5678s@>38c5F23625>??;38c5]795F79:=5

:3r?5;75<;;?8=5<8=5F?5F3::5A@7C3=?5<5:38r5<8=5384;@96;3784578527F5]7956<85<66?445;2345>??;38c̀

E79863:57Bs6?@45F3::5>??;5F3;25;2?5n7C?@838c5t7=]5<8=54;<BB57B5n@??823::5o6277:̀5

a7956<85<:475F@3;?5;75;2?5E79863:5;75;?::5945F2<;5]795;238r̀5

12?5=<;?457B5;2?5A9D:36567849:;<;3785>??;38c45<@?54?;579;5D?:7Fu

v#w+*�xy�z�$,!+'#'/�$�{**'/$|�}#'*,�

~#'!)*����"�$,!+'#'/�$� }#'*�v/(*� �*$!*�

q8:38?5�9D:365>??;38c5 m?=8?4=<]5��5�<89<@]5����
�u��A>

q8:38?5C3<5�36@747B;51?<>45

�@7A53854?44378455 q85@?_9?4;5D]5?><3:38c5
46277:@?4A784?4�6<@=3BB̀c7C̀9r

q8:38?5C3<5�36@747B;51?<>45

��!)�./*�,�#)*�/(��)'#$'�'��!,�

a79@5C3?F45><;;?@5<8=5F?5F<8;5]795;75;?::5945F2<;5]795;238r5<D79;5;2?562<8c?45F?52<C?549cc?4;?=5385;2345
=769>?8;̀5

a7956<85=75;2345D]u

�5�;;?8=38c578?57B5;2?5>??;38c457@5=@7Ab3854?4437845:34;?=5<D7C?̀55

�5E7>A:?;38c5;2?578:38?5@?4A784?5B7@>5<;5GGGHIJKLMNNHOPQHRSTUVWXIYPPZ[KP[PXJZX

�5E7>A:?;38c5;2?567849:;<;3785@?4A784?5B7@>̂5F23625]7956<85s8=5785A<c?5��̀

�5E78;<6;38c5;2?5o6277:5q@c<834<;3785�:<8838c51?<>5D]5?b><3:5;75XIYPPZKdX[PeXdXfIJKLMNNHOPQHRŜ5
D]5;?:?A278?5785�����5����5����̂57@5D]5A74;5;75�77>5���̂5E798;]5�<::̂5E<@=3BB̂5E���5��m5̀12345
6<85386:9=?5@?_9?4;38c5<857Bs6?@56<::5D<6r53B5]7952<C?5<54A?63s65_9?4;3785;2<;5]795B??:5]795F79:=5:3r?5
B9@;2?@538B7@><;3785<D79;̀5

v�*�"+�,/$|�&#'*���)�)*,��$,*,�'��'�/,�"�$,!+'#'/�$�/,����*w)!#) �x�xx�

12?5E79863:534587;5<D:?5;7567843=?@5<8]567849:;<;3785@?4A784?45@?6?3C?=5<B;?@5;2345=<;?̀

� Page 977



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� ! "#$!%$&%'()*+%,+(-%#!%".#+%-$/,*(!"0

1234530678308930:7227;<6=083>?50@53A089>7@=97@8089<50A7B@?368C0

DEF0GHIJJKLKMNOPHQROSNKNTHURRJVWHIHXYKPJHMSHZM[NTH\RSVMNHKVHXMNVKJRSRJHLMHYO]RHIJJKLKMNOPHQROSNKNTHURRJVHK̂HLYRZH

YO]RHJK̂_X[PLKRVHLYOLHYO]RHOHVKTNK_XONLHPMNT̀LRSaHKa\OXLHMNHLYRKSHPROSNKNTWHHbK̂_X[PLKRVHaOZHcRHSRPOLRJHLMHPROSNKNTdH

XMaa[NKXOLKMNHONJHKNLRSOXLKMNdHOH\YZVKXOPHMSHVRNVMSZHJKVOcKPKLZdHMSHcRYO]KM[SOPHRaMLKMNOPHONJHVMXKOPHJR]RPM\aRNLWHH

eIQUHKVHVMaRLKaRVHSR̂RSSRJHLMHOVHf\RXKOPHgJ[XOLKMNOPHURRJVhW

i4j<8420:@6A<6=0:7>05B977250̀HaMNRZH[VRJHLMHc[KPJHNRkHVXYMMPHc[KPJKNTVHMSHKa\SM]RHRlKVLKNTĤOXKPKLKRVW

i7??@6<8m0nB97725H̀HOH\SKaOSZHMSHVRXMNJOSZHVXYMMPHkYRSRHLYRHoM[NXKPHOSSONTRVHVXYMMPHOJaKVVKMNVW

i7?j23p0E34>6<6=0F33A50̀HXYKPJSRNHONJHZM[NTH\RM\PRHkKLYHoMa\PRlHQROSNKNTHURRJVHYO]RHOHSONTRHM̂HKVV[RVHqH

XMacKNOLKMNHM̂HPOZRSRJHNRRJVWHrYRVRHXM[PJHKNXP[JRHNRRJVHSRPOLRJHLMHPROSNKNTsHXMaa[NKXOLKMNsH\YZVKXOPHMSHVRNVMSZH

JKVOcKPKLKRVWHH

tA@B48<760u893>0v9460480nB97720wtuvDnx0̀HRJ[XOLKMNH\SM]KVKMNHLMHaRRLHV\RXK_XHNRRJVHM̂H\[\KPVHkYMsĤMSH]OSKM[VH

SROVMNVsHXONNMLHOLLRNJHOHaOKNVLSROaHMSHV\RXKOPHVXYMMPWHgyrIfHSR̂RSVHLMHRJ[XOLKMNH\SM]KJRJHcZHLYRHPMXOPHO[LYMSKLZH

ONJHJMRVHNMLHRNXMa\OVVHRPRXLK]RHYMaRHRJ[XOLKMNW

t?78<76420z34289046A0{322|3<6=0F33A50̀HXYKPJSRNHONJHZM[NTH\RM\PRHkKLYHgaMLKMNOPH}ROPLYHONJH~RPPcRKNTH

URRJVHYO]RHKVV[RVHkKLYHLYKN�KNTsĤRRPKNTHONJHcRYO]KNTWHrYKVHKa\OXLVHMNHaONOTKNTHYMkHPK̂RHÔ̂RXLVHLYRasHYMkHLYRZH

XM\RsHYMkHLYRZHRNTOTRHkKLYHMLYRSVsHLYRHXYMKXRVHLYRZHaO�RWHHfMaRLKaRVHLYKVHKVHOVHOHSRV[PLHM̂HLSO[aOWHoYKPJSRNHONJH

ZM[NTH\RM\PRHaOZHJKV\POZHONlKRLZsHPMkHVRP̂̀RVLRRasHVXYMMPH\YMcKOsHMSHcRYO]KM[SOPHJK̂_X[PLKRVWH

�4<658>34?0̀HOHaOKNVLSROaHVXYMMPHKVHOHVXYMMPHS[NHcZHLYRHoM[NXKPHkYKXYHKVHNMLHOHV\RXKOPHVXYMMPWHoM[NXKPHaOKNLOKNRJH

aOKNVLSROa�V\RXKOPHVXYMMPVHOSRHNMLHVRPRXLK]RHONJHJMHNMLHSR�[KSRHVL[JRNLVHLMH\OZĤRRVWHH

F@?|3>0760�7220A4840̀HLYRHN[acRSHM̂H\[\KPVHOLHOHVXYMMPHeNMLHKNXP[JKNTHN[SVRSZH\[\KPVhW

1EDni0̀H�[\KPHQR]RPHINN[OPHfXYMMPHoRNV[VWH�NH�ON[OSZHM̂HR]RSZHZROSsHLYRH~RPVYH�M]RSNaRNLHXMPPRXLVHKN̂MSaOLKMNĤSMaH

VXYMMPVWHrYKVHKNXP[JRVHLYRHN[acRSHM̂H\[\KPVHOLHROXYHVXYMMPsHLYRKSHOTRHTSM[\VsHYMaRHOJJSRVVRVsHRLYNKXKLZsHONJHJOLOHMNH

~RPVYHPONT[OTRsHf\RXKOPHgJ[XOLKMNOPHURRJVsH_SVLHPONT[OTRHONJH\[\KPVHkYMHYO]RH�SRRHfXYMMPH�ROPVW

nB97720DB8<76H̀HkYRNHOHXPOVVHMSHV[c�RXLHLROXYRSHTK]RVHRlLSOHV[\\MSLHLMHOH\[\KPHkKLYHIQUW

nB97720DB8<76012@50̀HkYRNHM[LVKJRHV\RXKOPKVLVHYRP\HLYRHXPOVVHMSHVXYMMPHVLÔ̂HLMHTK]RHRlLSOHV[\\MSLHLMHOH\[\KPHkKLYH

OJJKLKMNOPHPROSNKNTHNRRJVWHrYKVHKVHJK̂̂RSRNLHMSHOJJKLKMNOPHLMHLYRHV[\\MSLH\SM]KJRJHLYSM[TYHfXYMMPHIXLKMNW

nj3B<420nB9772H̀HOHVXYMMPĤMSHXYKPJSRNHkKLYHONHOJJKLKMNOPHPROSNKNTHNRRJHMSHJKVOcKPKLZsHkYMVRHNRRJVHXONNMLHcRHaRLH

KNHOHaOKNVLSROaHVXYMMPWHrYRH\[\KPVHOLHOHV\RXKOPHVXYMMPHYO]RHOHVLOLRaRNLHM̂HfgUsHMSHONH�NJK]KJ[OPHbR]RPM\aRNLH

�PONHe�b�hW

nj3B<42<580�357@>B30�4530wn��xH̀HIHVaOPPHXPOVVHKNHOHaOKNVLSROaHVXYMMPĤMSH\[\KPVHkKLYHVKTNK_XONLHOJJKLKMNOPHPROSNKNTH

NRRJVWHHIPPH\[\KPVHOLLRNJKNTHONHf��HYO]RHOHVLOLRaRNLHM̂HfgUHONJHOSRHLO[TYLHcZHV\RXKOPKVLHLROXYRSVHONJHPROSNKNTH

V[\\MSLHOVVKVLONLVsHONJHYO]RHM\\MSL[NKLKRVHLMHPROSNsH\POZHMSHVMXKOPKVRHkKLYHMLYRSHaOKNVLSROaH\[\KPVWHH

{322|3<6=0i2455350̀HoOSJK̂̂HOPVMĤ[NJVHVR]RSOPHkRPPcRKNTHXPOVVRVHkYKXYH\SM]KJRHVYMSLHLRSaHKNLRNVK]RHV[\\MSLĤMSH

XYKPJSRNHONJHZM[NTH\RM\PRHJKV\POZKNTHRaMLKMNOPHYROPLYHONJHkRPPcRKNTHNRRJVsHLMHV[\\MSLHLYRKSHXMNLKN[RJH\POXRaRNLH

KNHLYRKSHPMXOPHaOKNVLSROaHVXYMMPWHH�POXRaRNLHKNHOH~RPPcRKNTHoPOVVHKVHLRa\MSOSZĤMSHMNRHZROS�HLYRHXYKPJHSRaOKNVHMNHSMPPH

OLHLYRKSHPMXOPHVXYMMPsHONJHLYRZHOSRHV[\\MSLRJHLMHSRL[SNĤ[PPHLKaRHLMHLYRKSHPMXOPHVXYMMPHcZHLYRHRNJHM̂HLYRH\SMTSOaaRWH
�Page 978



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !" ��# $�%& $ '("� )#%�*+, -.�//0" 1+/2+�33#4

56789:;<8=7><?@A8BC6DDE;8F@DG@HII78J;8H8IHKD@L8ED>GM<7@IL8;<@H<7GJC8CHNJ<HE8J>O7;<I7><8N@DG@HII7P8Q<8

J;8KDJ><EA8R?>S7S8TA8<678U7E;68VDO7@>I7><8H>S8WDCHE8X?<6D@J<J7;8H>S8HJI;8<D8C@7H<78H8G7>7@H<JD>8DR89:;<8

C7><?@A8;C6DDE;8J>8UHE7;P

5678Y@;<8NH@<8DR8<678F@DG@HII78Z[H>S8X\8@H>8?><JE8]H@C689̂:_P8

5678;7CD>S8NH@<8DR8<6J;8R?>SJ>G8Z[H>S8[\8;<H@<7S8J>8XN@JE89̂:_P8X;8NH@<8DR8<6J;L8=H@SJRR8=D?>CJE8J;8NEH>>J>G8H8

C̀9abIJEEJD>8J>O7;<I7><8N@DG@HII7P8

=H@SJRRc;8[H>S8[8N@DND;HE;8RDC?;8D>d

e8N@DOJSJ>G87>D?G68;C6DDE8NEHC7;8HC@D;;8<678CJ<A8<6H<8H@78J>8<678@JG6<8NEHC7P8

e8N@DOJSJ>G86JG68f?HEJ<A87S?CH<JD>HE8RHCJEJ<J7;8<6H<8gJEE8I77<8<678SJO7@;78@7f?J@7I7><;8DR8<6788 8 8

8 9:;<8=7><?@AP

e8DN<JIJ;J>G8<678?;78DR87S?CH<JD>8RHCJEJ<J7;8RD@8<678T7>7Y<8DR8<678gJS7@8CDII?>J<A8HC@D;;8=H@SJRRP

e87>;?@J>G8T7;<8OHE?78RD@8ID>7AP

hijklmnopqpnrknskqtinnukluvtjqk

XEE8EDCHE8H?<6D@J<J7;8J>8UHE7;8I?;<8IHw78;?@78<67A8N@DOJS787>D?G68;C6DDE8NEHC7;8RD@8N?NJE;8DR8HEE8HG7;P8

BC6DDE8NEHC7;8I?;<8I77<8<678>77S;8DR8HEE8N?NJE;8H>S8I?;<8T78;?J<HTE78RD@8H>A8HSSJ<JD>HE8E7H@>J>G8>77S;P

Q>8D@S7@8<D8N@DOJS78<678T7;<8f?HEJ<A8DR87S?CH<JD>8J<8J;8JIND@<H><8<6H<8R?>SJ>G8N@DOJS7S8TA8<678U7E;68

VDO7@>I7><8J;8?;7S87RR7C<JO7EAP856J;8I7H>;8IH<C6J>G8<678>?IT7@8DR8C6JES@7>8<D8<678>?IT7@8DR8;C6DDE8
NEHC7;8H;8CED;7EA8H;8ND;;JTE7P8

xnrypzpnrk{k|}pzv~pupz�k

X;8g7EE8H;86HOJ>G8<678@JG6<8>?IT7@8DR8;C6DDE8NEHC7;L8<678=D?>CJE8I?;<87>;?@78<6H<8;C6DDE8RHCJEJ<J7;8H@78Y<8

RD@8N?@ND;7P8BC6DDE;8I?;<8;?NND@<8<678S7EJO7@A8DR86JG68f?HEJ<A8E7H@>J>G8RD@8<67J@8N?NJE;P8

=H@SJRR86H;8H8O7@A8EH@G787S?CH<JD>87;<H<78gJ<68DO7@8:9�8;C6DDE8N@DN7@<J7;P8]H>A8;J<7;8CDIN@J;78DR8

I?E<JNE78TEDCw;L8<6H<8g7@78CD>;<@?C<7S8S?@J>G8SJRR7@7><8S7CHS7;P8X8EH@G78>?IT7@8DR8N@JIH@AL8;7CD>SH@A8

H>S8;N7CJHE8;C6DDE;8H@78J>8H8NDD@8;<H<78DR8@7NHJ@P

XNN@D�JIH<7EA8̀:�IL8D@8:b�L8DR8IHJ><7>H>C78H>S8CD>SJ<JD>8J;;?7;8DR8<6787;<H<78g7@78HSS@7;;7S8

<6@D?G68[H>S8X8DR8<6789:;<8=7><?@A8BC6DDE;8J>O7;<I7><8N@DG@HII7P8567@786H;8T77>8;JG>JYCH><8

J>O7;<I7><8J>8<678CD>;<@?C<JD>8DR8<gD8>7g86JG68;C6DDE;8J>8<678�H;<8H>S8U7;<8DR8<678=J<AL8>7g8N@JIH@A8

;C6DDE8N@DOJ;JD>8H>S8;?J<HTJEJ<A8gD@w;8?>S7@<Hw7>8J>8N@JIH@A8;C6DDE;P

� Page 979



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%�&" '(#)�&'�**)�")#' +,

-./0122345678759141:;52:/5<0=>.?1:;5.;05@<./;1;A51;5-./012254<?45.5A:.@5:25BC5D<./;1;A5E;?1?@<F<;?3G51;5
HI1>I5.@@5>I1@0/<;5.;05J:=;A5K<:K@<5./<5.L@<5?:M

N5.>><445.KK/:K/1.?<5/:=?<451;?:5<0=>.?1:;5.;05@<./;1;A5:KK:/?=;1?1<4

N5?I/19<5.;05.>I1<9<

N5/<.@14<5?I<1/51;01910=.@50/<.F45.;05.FL1?1:;455

O;5:/0</5?:51FK/:9<5:=?>:F<452:/5-./0122345F:4?59=@;</.L@<5@<./;</4G5F.;J5:25HI:F52.><5L.//1</45?:5
<;A.A<F<;?51;5<0=>.?1:;5.;05@<./;1;AG5.00/<441;A51;<P=.@1?J5145Q<JR

-./0122345678759141:;5145.9.1@.L@<5?:591<H5:;5?I<5-:=;>1@345H<L41?<5.?5SSSTUVWXYZZT[\]T̂_̀UVWXYZZabcb

d#'efg*h$%

ijklmnnopqrjlspltunnposvwxlmyyvsvpwqzl{kqowvwxl|kky}lvwl~qoyv��

C;5<22<>?19<G51;>@=419<5.KK/:.>I5?:54=KK:/?1;A5.001?1:;.@5@<./;1;A5;<<0451;5-./012251;>@=0<45?I<52:@@:H1;A5
K/1;>1K@<4M

N5�>I::@45.;054<??1;A45?I.?50<@19</5.;51;;:9.?19<5>=//1>=@=F5H1?I5<22<>?19<5HI:@<54>I::@5.KK/:.>I<45?:5
?<.>I1;A5.;05@<./;1;AG5<F:?1:;.@5I<.@?I5.;05H<@@L<1;AR

N5E�><@@<;?54K<>1.@14?54</91><45?:5<;I.;><5?I<5>.K.>1?J5:254>I::@45.;05:?I</54<??1;A45?:51;>@=0<5>I1@0/<;5
.;05J:=;A5K<:K@<5H1?I5.5/.;A<5:25.001?1:;.@5@<./;1;A5;<<04R

N5E22<>?19<5<./@J510<;?1�>.?1:;5.;05/<4<./>I�L.4<051;?</9<;?1:;5?:5K/<9<;?5?I<5<4>.@.?1:;5:25.001?1:;.@5
@<./;1;A5;<<045HI</<9</5K:441L@<R

N5�1AI5@<9<@45:25.>><441L1@1?J51;5<9</J54>I::@5L=1@01;A5H1?I54=2�>1<;?5�<�1L@<5.>>:FF:0.?1:;51;5<9</J5
4>I::@5.KK/:K/1.?<5?:5?I<5.A<5.;054?.A<5:25@<./;1;AR

N5�?/:;A5K./?;</4I1K45?:5<;4=/<5.5I:@14?1>G5>:@@.L:/.?19<5/<4K:;4<5?:5.5>I1@05:/5J:=;A5K</4:;345.001?1:;.@5
@<./;1;A5;<<045�1;>@=01;A5I<.@?IG5>I1@0/<;5.;05.0=@?54</91><4G5<./@J5J<./45.;05�=/?I</5E0=>.?1:;5
K/:910</4�R5

N5E22<>?19<5F=@?1�.A<;>J5?/.;41?1:;5K@.;;1;A5.?5<9</J54?.A<G52/:F5<./@J5J<./45?I/:=AI5?:5K/1F./JG5
4<>:;0./JG5K:4?5��5.;05.0=@?50<4?1;.?1:;4G5?:54=KK:/?5.0F1441:;5H1?I:=?50<@.JR

�Page 980



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$!%&"$&'(#&�)#!"*+&�#!',-&

./012345678915:1;036<06=1>78/1?@@7875<3;1A036<7<B1C00@=1D?ACE13880<@131;5F3;1237<=860321=F/55;G13<@1
H0<0I81:65210::0F87J01?@@7875<3;1A036<7<B1K65J7=75<1D?AKEL1./0=01;036<06=1@51<581<00@18513880<@131=M0F73;1
=F/55;1561NM0F73;7=81O0=5P6F01Q3=0L1

R5>0J06G18/01<P2H0615:1MPM7;=1>78/1=0J06013<@1F52M;0S1<00@=G1>/51<00@131M;3F017<131=M0F73;1=F/55;1561
=M0F73;7=8160=5P6F01H3=01/3=1F5<87<P0@1851B65>L

./7=17=1H0F3P=015:T11

U1KPM7;1M5MP;3875<1F/3<B0=G1>78/1;36B061F5/568=15:1M6723691=F/55;13B01MPM7;=1<5>125J7<B18/65PB/18518/01
=0F5<@36913B01M/3=0L1

U1V2M65J0@1=P6J7J3;16380=1:561F/7;@60<1H56<1>78/1=7B<7IF3<81@7=3H7;7870=G160=P;87<B17<131/7B/061<P2H0615:1
MPM7;=1>78/1=0J06013<@1F52M;0S1@7=3H7;7870=L1

U1V<F603=0@1F52M;0S78917<1<00@=G1>/7F/1/3=1203<818/3818/01@023<@1:561=M0F73;7=81M65J7=75<1/3=1F5<87<P0@1
851B65>L11./0163<B015:10SM0687=0G1=M0F73;7=81=PMM56813<@1:3F7;7870=160WP760@17<1=M0F73;1=F/55;=13<@1NM0F73;7=81
O0=5P6F01Q3=0=1/3=13;=517<F603=0@L

U1V<F603=0@17<F7@0<F013<@17@0<87IF3875<15:1=M0F7IF1<00@=1=PF/13=13P87=2G1?XRXG1M/9=7F3;1@7=3H7;7870=13<@1
=0<=569172M37620<8=L1

U1Y5601F/7;@60<13<@195P<B1M05M;01>78/1025875<3;1/03;8/13<@1>0;;H07<B1<00@=L11./7=1>3=131860<@1H0:5601
Z[\VX1]̂G1HP81/3=1H00<10S3F06H380@1H91=F/55;1F;5=P60=13<@158/061203=P60=185123<3B018/01M3<@027FL11

?818/010<@15:1Y36F/1_̀_]G18/0601>0601_G_ab1F/7;@60<17<1Z36@7::1>78/131=838020<815:1NM0F73;1c@PF3875<1
C00@=L1?=18/01M5MP;3875<1B65>=G1=51>7;;18/01<P2H0615:1F/7;@60<13<@195P<B1M05M;01>78/1=7B<7IF3<813<@1
F52M;0S1?@@7875<3;1A036<7<B1C00@=L1

V<1_̀_̀d_]T

U1]G]]a1M;3F0=17<1NM0F73;7=81O0=5P6F01Q3=0=1561=M0F73;1=F/55;=1>0601:P<@0@1H91Z36@7::1Z5P<F7;

U1ef1802M563691M;3F0=1:561;036<06=1>06013J37;3H;017<1g0;;H07<B1Z;3==0=13<@1NM00F/13<@1A3<BP3B01Z;3==0=

U1^̀1M;3F0=1>06013J37;3H;017<18/01KPM7;1O0:0663;1h<781DKOhEL1

g/7;=818/0601360131<P2H0615:10S7=87<B1=M0F73;7=81=0887<B=13F65==1Z36@7::G18/06013601<5810<5PB/1M;3F0=1
3J37;3H;0L11./01<P2H0615:1F/7;@60<1>/51>5P;@1H0<0I81:652131M;3F017=1M6540F80@18517<F603=015J061
F527<B19036=L1

?=18/06013601<5810<5PB/1=M0F73;1=F/55;1M;3F0=17<1Z36@7::G18/01Z5P<F7;1/3=13;=51:P<@0@1=5201M;3F0=1381=M0F73;1
=F/55;=17<158/061Z5P<F7;13603=15617<17<@0M0<@0<81=F/55;=L1./018583;1=M0<@15<13;;1i5P815:1F5P<89j1M65J7=75<1
>3=1kaLl217<1_̀_̀d_]L1./01HP@B081:561_̀_]d__17=1FP660<8;91=081381kmLl2L11

NM0<@7<B15<17<@0M0<@0<81M;3F0=13<@1=M0F73;1=F/55;1M;3F0=17<1<07B/H5P67<B1Z5P<F7;13603=1/3=1B65><1851
FklLf217<1_̀_̀d_]L1[:18/7=G13MM65S72380;91k_Lb21/3=1:P<@0@1=M0F73;7=81M;3F0=1:5618/5=01;036<06=1>78/1
c25875<3;1R03;8/1n1g0;;H07<B1C00@=L1N52015:18/0=01;036<06=12391/3J01H00<13H;01851H01M;3F0@1381o600</7;;1
NF/55;17:125601M;3F0=1>06013J37;3H;0L1g78/5P817<J0=820<817<13@@7875<3;1M;3F0=G18/01F5=815:18/0=01M;3F0=1
>5P;@1H010SM0F80@1851B65>1=7B<7IF3<8;917<1:P8P6019036=L1

./01F5=818518/01Z5P<F7;15:1=F/55;1863<=M5681:561;036<06=1>78/1c25875<3;1R03;8/1n1g0;;H07<B1C00@=18518/0=01
M;3F020<8=13J063B0@1FkaG̀̀ 1̀M061F/7;@17<1_̀]fd]̂1D8/0125=8160F0<8190361M601Z5J7@p]̂160=867F875<=EL1

�� Page 981



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%" !%&�'(%)*%+,�(-� ".%/�".(0%" !%1�..2�- 3%4��!'%
5#�6-'-� %7"3�%))8)9%:

;<==>?@AB=CDEFEC?

GHIJKJKLJMINOPQPIRQPIRINSNRTISUIMVJIWPXSHYRQZIR[PI\R[PIMM]M̂_IẀPXaRTaWNIPbSNaSHRTIOPRTNOIRHYI
cPTTdPaH[IHPPYWÌTRXPWIaHIeRQYaUUIbRaHNRaHPYIWXOSSTWI\GHXTfYaH[IgYfXRNaSHIhNOPQIiORHIRNIjXOSSTI
XSbbaWWaSHPYÌTRXPW_kII

iRdTPIlIWPNWISfNINOPIjPXSHYRQZÌORWPIgbSNaSHRTImPRTNOIRHYInPTTdPaH[ÌQSoaWaSHIXfQQPHNTZIRoRaTRdTPIaHI
eRQYaUUIXRNP[SQaWPYIdZIR[PIQRH[Pk

pqrs>AtA

uF@qrsEFvw>?@ xy>Azz{z|A
}~>�A�@qy>At�

xy>Az|{z�A}~>�A
�@qy>A|�

BCF@{z�
}~>�A�@qy>A��A

pC@qs

�QPPHOaTTIjXOSST lJ J� � �̂

iOPIeRQHP[aPIePHNQPII ] J� ] J�

�QZHIZI�PQZH ] �� ] ��

�eiIẀPXaRTI ] �K ] �K

pC@qsA�=CDEFEC? t� z|� � z��

iOPWPIPWNRdTaWObPHNWIRQPIRTTIgH[TaWOIbPYafbkIIiOPZIRQPIba�PYIWP�IRHYÌQSoaYPIUSQÌf̀aTWIcaNOIHPPYWI

NORNIXRHHSNIdPIbPNIaHIbRaHWNQPRbIWXOSSTW�

�I�QPPHOaTTIjXOSSTIXRNPQWIUSQITPRQHPQWIUQSbIR[PIMM]M�IcaNOIWa[Ha�XRHNIPbSNaSHRTIOPRTNOIRHYI

cPTTdPaH[IHPPYWkI

�IiOPIeRQHP[aPIePHNQPIORWÌQSoaWaSHIUSQI�PZIjNR[PI�Ìf̀aTWIcaNOIRH�aPNZIRHYIbPHNRTIOPRTNOIHPPYWINORNI

Q̀PoPHNWINOPbIUQSbIRNNPHYaH[IbRaHWNQPRbIWXOSSTk

�I�QZHIZI�PQZHIaWIRI�f̀aTI�PUPQQRTI�HaNIUSQI�PZIjNR[PI�ITPRQHPQWI\R[PIM�I�IM̂_kI�TTISUINOPITPRQHPQWIORoPI

Wa[Ha�XRHNIPbSNaSHRTIRHYIcPTTdPaH[IHPPYWk

�I�eiIaWÌRQNHPQÌQSoaWaSHIXSbbaWWaSHPYIdZINOPIeSfHXaTIUSQITPRQHPQWIaHI�PZIjNR[PIlIRHYI�I

\R[PIMMI�IM̂_k

B=C�>�@>�A�>wq?�A�C=AuwC@EC?qsA�>qs@vAq?�A�>ssr>E?yA�sq�>FA{A�>�C?�q=�Aqy>A
BvqF>A}zz{z��

GHIJKJMLJJINOPQPIRQPIRINSNRTISUIMVJI�PZIjNR[PIlL�IẀPXaRTaWNIgbSNaSHRTImPRTNOIRHYInPTTdPaH[ÌTRXPWIaHI

eRQYaUUIbRaHNRaHPYIWXOSSTWI\GHXTfYaH[IgYfXRNaSHIhNOPQIiORHIRNIjXOSSTIXSbbaWWaSHPYÌTRXPW_kII

iR�aH[IRXXSfHNISUÌf̀aTWIcOSIORoPIdPPHÌTRXPYIaHIWXOSSTWISfNWaYPISUIeRQYaUU�IRHYINOSWPIaHIbRaHWNQPRbI

RcRaNaH[IẀPXaRTaWNÌTRXPbPHN�INOPINSNRTIYPbRHYIUSQÌTRXPWIaWIPWNabRNPYINSIdPIR̀ Q̀S�abRNPTZIlJJIaHI

JKJMLJJkIiOaWIaWÌQS PXNPYINSIQaWPINSIl��IdZIJKJ¡LĴkI

��Page 982



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� !"#$%�&$'$()*$+,&-�,+$.�$+,--�&.$/01!2!�!.34$!.$!+$01-05.06$.7'.$89:$-�'50+$!"$;);(<;;4$'"6$8=8$

-�'50+$23$;);9<;>4$ �,�6$-&�?!60$+,%@5!0".$5'-'5!.3$%�&$.70$-&�A05.06$60B'"6C$$D"$+,BB'&34$.70&0$!+$'"$

0+.!B'.06$+7�&.%'��$�%$(=;$-�'50+$!"$;);(<;;4$&!+!"#$.�$;(($23$;);9<;>C$$$$

EFGHIJKLJMNOPIQRISJTURUNIJSIVFWSJXONJYIZJ[RF\IJ]ĴJKJ_VOR̀OWFHJaIFHRbJFWSJcIHHGÌW\J

dIISeJMHFQIe

EFGHIJK

[IQOWSFNZJ_acJMHFQIe fgfhiff fgffif] fgf]ifK fgfKifj fgfjifk

l&�A05.06$mn8$60B'"6 (;; (;9 (;o (;p (;p

l&�A05.06$mn8$60B'"6$qr()*s (8: (8= (:) (:; (:;

mn8$t0@5!. (); ()> ()= (() (()

l&�A05.06$mn:$60B'"6 ;)) ;() ;(o ;(= ;(p

l&�A05.06$mn:$60B'"6$qr()*s ;;) ;8( ;8p ;:) ;:(

mn:$t0@5!. =) p( pp ()) ()(

l&�A05.06$l�+.u(>$60B'"6 ;9 ;o ;= 8( 8;

l&�A05.06$l�+.u(>$60B'"6$
qr()*s

;o ;p 8( 8: 8>

l�+.u(>$t0@5!. (p ;( ;8 ;> ;=

EORFHJvIwQ̀R fgh fhx f]g f]k f]y

MNOPIQRISJSIVFWSJXONJ_VOR̀OWFHJaIFHRbJFWSJcIHHGÌW\JMHFQIeJzJMOeR{hk

|".!�$;)(=4$}'&6!%%$6!6$"�.$B'!".'!"$'"3$-�+.u(>$-�'50+$%�&$�0'&"0&+$ !.7$~B�.!�"'�$�0'�.7$'"6$

�0��20!"#$"006+4$'�.7�,#7$-�'50+$%,"606$!"$.70$!"60-0"60".$+05.�&$�%.0"$'��� $%�&$�0'&"0&+$.�$5�".!",0$

.70!&$+.,6!0+$.�$.70$'#0$�%$(pC$~!#7.$l�+.u(>$-�'50+$ 0&0$0+.'2�!+706$'.$�&00"7!��$%���� !"#$%�&B'�$

5�"+,�.'.!�"$!"$;)(=C$�70$",B20&$�%$-,-!�+$0"&���06$7'+$'�&0'63$&!+0"$.�$(9$!"$;);(u;;C$$

D.$!+$6!%@5,�.$.�$'55,&'.0�3$-&06!5.$.70$60B'"6$%�&$-�'50+$!"$.7!+$'#0$#&�,-4$6,0$.�$.70$�'5�$�%$60B'"6$

-'..0&"+$�"$ 7!57$.�$2'+0$-&�A05.!�"+C$$D.$!+$�"� "$.7'.$.70$B'A�&!.3$�%$+-05!'�$+57���$-,-!�+$'&0$"�.$'2�0$

.�$+,+.'!"$'$+,550++%,�$.&'"+!.!�"$.�$%,&.70&$06,5'.!�"$�&$0B-��3B0".$'.$'#0$(>C$$�70$-&�A05.06$60B'"6$

+0.$�,.$!"$.'2�0$:4$'2�?04$!+$2'+06$�"$.70$�"� "$-&�?!+!�"$60@5!.4$!C0C4$.7�+0$-,-!�+$ 7�$'&0$'#06$(>u(p$!"$

!"60-0"60".$+0..!"#+C$

D60'��34$+05�"6'&3$+-05!'�$+57���$-&�?!+!�"$+7�,�6$!"5�,60$-�+.u(>$-&�?!+!�"$ !.7$5'-'5!.3$%�&$.70$

B'A�&!.3$�%$mn:$-,-!�+$.�$+.'3$�"$,".!�$.703$'&0$(=$�&$(pC$�7!+$ �,�6$B0'"$.7'.$'$+-05!'�$+57���$%�&$9>$

mn8<:$�0'&"0&+$+7�,�6$!"5�,60$;:$-�+.u(>$-�'50+C

�� Page 983



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� !"##$%&!''#$

()**+,-../01,22./-3/4+/5+6.-3,78*9-:8/3;*1-4./31,22./<2)/1-=>7?-9*/.*4)+*)3/46*9/@@/A/@BC//D../2</=,*/

1,-.9)*+/,4E*/3-6+-F14+=/*82=-2+4./,*4.=,/4+9/?*..G*-+6/+**93/H=,*/IJD0K/9*3-6+4=-2+/-3/L*,4E-2:)/

582=-2+4./4+9/021-4./M-<F1:.=-*3/A/L50MNC/

()**+,-../01,22./-3/4/8-O*9/3*O/31,22./4.=,2:6,/4../.*4)+*)3/2+/)2../4=/;)*3*+=/4)*/G2>3C/P,*/31,22./?2:.9/

12+=-+:*/=2/G*/4/8-O*9/3*O/31,22./-+/<:=:)*Q

P,*/K2:+1-./12+3:.=*9/2+/;)2;234.3/
=2/*O=*+9/=,*/46*/)4+6*/2</=,*/31,22./

<)28/@@7@R/=2/@@7@BQ/4+9/=2/-+1)*43*/

=,*/14;41-=>/2</=,*/31,22./<)28/SR/

;.41*3/=2/RT/;.41*3Q/-+/3;)-+6/UV@WC//P,*/
;)2;234.3/?*)*/9*=*)8-+*9/G>/=,*/X*.3,/

(2E*)+8*+=/-+/Y2E*8G*)/UV@WC/P,*/

31,22./+2?/,43/4/;*)84+*+=/14;41-=>/2</

RT/;.41*3C

D../;:;-.3/*+)2..*9/4=/()**+,-../01,22./

,4E*/4/3=4=*8*+=/2</3;*1-4./*9:14=-2+4./

+**93C/P,*/3=4=:=2)>/433*338*+=/;)21*33/

<2)/=,*3*/>2:+6/;*2;.*/,43/-9*+=-F*9/=,4=/
=,*-)/499-=-2+4./.*4)+-+6/+**93/14++2=/G*/

8*=/-+/4/.*33/3;*1-4.-3*9/*+E-)2+8*+=C/

P,*/;:);23*/2</()**+,-../01,22./-3/=2/
;)2E-9*/4/3;*1-4.-3=/.*4)+-+6/*+E-)2+8*+=/

4+9/1:))-1:.:8Q/?,*)*/.*4)+*)3/14+/<:.F./

=,*-)/;2=*+=-4.C/

��Page 984



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#!$%��$&�''()*##$+,)��#$

-./0112/231/456718945:/;1085;/<.7/916.5;87=/9>1648?/963..?/>?8619/<.7/?1875179/@423/10.24.58?/318?23/85;/

@1??A145:/511;9/42/49/>7.>.91;/2.B

C/D5671891/231/68>8642=/.</E711534??/F63..?/<7.0/GH/2./IGJ/>?8619K/

C/-7859<17/E711534??/963..?/2./51@/AL4?;/866.00.;824.5/867.99/2@./94219/82/231/ML263/E87;15/N15271/
9421O/P819/Q/R7=5/S.8;/T5187/2./PH/UVJW/85;/-=/E?89/S.8;/45/X?8549315O/@423/YJ/>L>4?9/.5/1863/9421/

<7.0/F1>210A17/ZJZ[K

\5/1]>8594.5/.</E711534??/.̂17/2@./94219O/1863/.</YJ/>?8619O/@.L?;/9L>>.72/231/963..?/2./<L72317/;1̂1?.>/429/

6L7746L?L0/85;/@.L?;/158A?1/42/2./27859<.70/?187545:/.>>.72L542419/<.7/8/:718217/5L0A17/.</N87;4<<_9/0.92/
L̂?5178A?1/?1875179/45/8/>L7>.91/AL4?2O/ZI92/N152L7=/9>1648?492/?187545:/15̂47.50152K/

D2/49/852464>821;/2382/231/1]49245:/9421/.</E711534??/F63..?/@.L?;/A1/;49>.91;/.</<.7/8/68>428?/71614>2/82/231/

15;/.</231/AL4?;/>7.:78001K

àbcdefghifjkclamfcnfnoafmlohhk

-8A?1/[/9129/.L2/;1284?9/.</716152/85;/>7.p1621;/5L0A179/.5/7.??/82/E711534??/F63..?/

qcrkafsftfufvaladnfcdefjihwalnaefdxbraimfhdfihkkfcnfyiaadozkkf{lohhkf|c}aef~~t~��f

������ ��������
�����
�����

��������
�����
�����

��������
�����
�����

��������
�����
�����

��������
�����
�����

������
������
�����

�����
�����
�����������

�����
��� �
����������

��� �
�����
����������

�����
���¡�
����������

���¡�
�����
����������

E711534??/
F63..?

H¢ [G [V [G GI GH GH£ GH£ GH£ GH£ YJ

£/68>>1;/2./231/6L77152/68>8642=/.</231/963..?K

F11/28A?1/HO/>IZ/<.7/8/<L??/>7.p1624.5/.</<L2L71/;1085;/<.7/45/¤0.24.58?/¥18?23/¦/§1??A145:/9>1648?492/

>?8619/45/̈1=/F28:1/V/T8:19/II©IHWO/̈1=/F28:1/H/T8:19/IH©IGW/85;/̈1=/F28:1/[/T8:19/IG©IªWK

�� Page 985



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"!��#$� #%&!"$'!(!")#�*#%+,��(#-&!( !�./

0112345661327829:;<7==2:;>2?7@>82:2968<7A7682;:A78?2=;6B202CD>;=6;B78?2:3278A>8<><E26D>;:A78?2>=F47>8A1GH2

A62I2C17=>2>JD7;><E2;73K26=27BB78>8A2=:71L;>HM22

N45661327829:;<7==2:;>2:1362?7@>82:2NL7A:O717AG2;:A78?2=;6B202C?66<2P2=:4717A7>323L7A:O1>2=6;2A>:4578?Q2

1>:;878?2R2S>11O>78?H2A62I2CO:<2P2OL71<78?323>;76L31G27857O7A2A5>23A:==T32:O717AG2A62<>17@>;2A5>24L;;74L1LBHM22

U$'(V#WX#��� !"!��#$� #/&!"$'!(!")#.Y$ !�.
Z[\]̂_̀ ab_]̂ĉb_d ef̂c\ĝĥcid

j Zbb]d\_]dbkl[\ĉ_̀dlmnôl_chid Zbb]pdq\ôĥĉlrdrf̂c\ghldmb[dcl\oŝ_̀tdhl\[_̂_̀d\_]dulhhgl̂_̀d̂_d
rosbbh

v e\ĉrm\ocb[idgfcdûcsdŵ_b[d]lcl[̂b[\ĉb_d e\ĉrm\ocb[ipddxl[mb[ŵ_̀d\rd̂_cl_]l]dgfcd]blrd_bcdlmmloĉylhid
rfkkb[cdcsld]lĥyl[idbmdcsldof[[̂ofhfwd̂_drbwld\[l\r

a xbb[dûcsdw\zb[d]lmlocr xbb[pd{l\oŝ_̀dwlcsb]rd̂_ŝĝcl]|\]yl[rld̂wk\ocdb_drosbbhd
b[̀\_̂r\ĉb_d

} ~_]dbmd�̂ml�dĥmlds\rdl�k̂[l]db[d[̂r�dbmd̂w�
ŵ_l_cdm\̂hf[l

�l[idkbb[pddvf̂h]̂_̀rdrl[̂bfrhid̂_ŝĝcdcsldrc\mm�rd\ĝĥcidcbd
]lĥyl[dcsldof[[̂ofhfwd

�;>>857112N456612732;:A><292=6;2468<7A7682C�66;2S7A52B:�6;2<>=>4A3H2:8<2I2C�>;G2D66;H2=6;23L7A:O717AGQ2

S7A52�L83L7A:O1>T21>:;878?2>8@7;68B>8A3Q2S574523>;76L31G27857O7A2A5>2345661T324:D:47AG2A62<>17@>;2A5>2

4L;;74L1LBM2

�&"+,#�$Y V�#�V�"YV#%!"V

�82�>O;L:;G2����Q2A5>296L8471T329:O78>A2:?;>><2A5>2:4�L737A76826=21:8<2:<�:4>8A2A62�L84A7682��26=2A5>2��M2

�5>2A6A:1237A>2:;>:2B>:3L;>324�M���:2:8<27324L;;>8A1G2644LD7><2OG2A5>2ILA452�:;<>829>8A;>M

�5>29:O78>A2�>D6;A26LA178><2A5:A23LO�>4A2A62D1:8878?2D>;B733768Q2A5>237A>25:<2:28LBO>;26=2D6A>8A7:12L3>32

7841L<78?20<<7A768:12�>:;878?2�>><32E2ND>47:12�<L4:A7682�>><323456612=:4717A7>3M22IL>2A627A32164:A7682682A5>2

><?>26=2A5>247AG2O6L8<:;GQ2A5>237A>2S6L1<2O>8>FA2=;6B2A5>2S7<>24:A45B>8A2:;>:23>;@><2OG23L45234566132

7841L<78?2A5>2D6337O717AG26=2D;6@7376826=26LAP6=P46L8AG2D1:4>B>8A3M2�5>2:;>:2732<>37?8:A><2:32�;>>82�><?>2

B>:878?2A5:A2A5>23A:AL326=2A5>2:;>:24:82O>2;>@7>S><2782178>2S7A52A5>2�64:12I>@>16DB>8A2�1:8M2

�826;<>;2A5:A2A573237A>2B:G2O>246837<>;><2=6;2;><>@>16DB>8AQ2=L;A5>;2=>:37O717AG2S6;K2:8<2A5>2;>1>@:8A2

:33>33B>8A32=6;27A32164:A76825:@>2O>>82L8<>;A:K>8M2�78<78?32=;6B2A5>3>2;>D6;A323L??>3A32A5:A2:28>SPOL71<2

3456612682A573237A>2S6L1<28>><2A62O>2<>37?8><2S7A523GBD:A5>A742OL71<2B:A>;7:132:8<21:8<34:D78?2468373A>8A2

S7A527A32164:A768M22�5>2<>37?82:8<21:8<34:D78?2S6L1<2:13628>><2A62<>B683A;:A>2D1:8878?2:44>DA:O717AG2782

A>;B326=27BD:4A2682A5>21:8<34:D>245:;:4A>;2:8<2�L:17AGM2

��Page 986



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&'(")'(�%'"*+�'

,-./012.30/014./567/0.819:;:5</<=>521=6/?=;<7@

A/5<<=?/B=:/2-./012./2=/C./0;125C<D/>=6EF;:.7/2=/>:.52./5/GH02/I.62;:D/J>-==<//

A/0;KK=:2/=;27==:/<.5:616FL/-=:21>;<2;:./567/085<</56185</>5:./50/K5:2/=B/2-./>;::1>;<;8

A/>=8K<.8.62/2-./;:C56/<=>521=6/=B/2-./,D/M<50/012./?-.:./02;7.620/>56/5>>.00/2-./>12D30/=KK=:2;6121.0/.NFNL/2:5O.</

2:51616FL/?=:P/.QK.:1.6>./567/<=>5</C;016.00.0/

A/5<<=?/K=2.6215</=KK=:2;6121.0/B=:/=;2/=B/>=;62D/K<5>.8.620/R0;CS.>2/2=/5O51<5C1<12DT

A/5<<=?/2-./012./2=/0.:O./5/?17./5:.5/?12-/:.50=65C<./-=8./2=/0>-==</2:5O.</218.0

�� Page 987



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�#$%&'�(!")$#*&)

+,-./01/23/4-56578-19/-:;<,=>?@A-:B3>,/1-BC4//D-19/-B=E<>A>1>;,-;F-?B,D-BDGB=/,1-1;-;,-HI-J?BA-K;BD-F;42/4?I-

;==<0>/D-3I-LMK:N-H9/-/,1>4/-A>1/-/O1/,DA-1;-=PN5LBN-

+1->A-=;,A>D/4/D-19B1-Q>19-B004;04>B1/->,R/A1>CB1>;,-B,D-2>1>CB1>;,-19>A-A>1/-Q;<?D-3/-B,-/O=/??/,1-?;=B1>;,-F;4-

3;19-2B>,A14/B2-A/=;,DB4I-A=9;;?-04;R>A>;,-B,D-SDD>1>;,B?-T/B4,>,C-U//DA-/D<=B1>;,-04;R>A>;,N

H9/-?;=B1>;,-;F-19/-A>1/-Q;<?DV

W-=;20?/2/,1-19/-A/2>X4<4B?-?;=B1>;,-;F-19/-Y<1=9-JB4D/,-A>1/-Q9/4/-A1<D/,1A-=B,-B==/AA-;<1D;;4-?/B4,>,C8-

9;41>=<?1<4/-B,D-A2B??-B,>2B?-=B4/-?/B4,>,C-;00;41<,>1>/A-BA-0B41-;F-19/-=<44>=<?<2

W-Z4;R>D/-B==/AA-19/-=>1I@A-;00;41<,>1>/A-/NCN8-14BR/?-14B>,>,C8-Q;4[-/O0/4>/,=/-B,D-?;=B?-3<A>,/AA/A-

W-Z4;R>D/-C;;D-0;1/,1>B?-F;4-B=1>R/-14BR/?-=;,,/=1>;,A-

��Page 988



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ! " #$% &�!'(#(% &%�%$�)**!

+,-.,/0.123453,67.08245.9//:.;/47<.=8>/?,9/,:.@2,53,6.A8,53:38,7.72A<.B7.CDEE+F.A/?:3GAB:38,.B,5.

1/.5/736,/5.3,.BAA8?5B,A/.03:<.:</.H/IB?:9/,:.8@.E52AB:38,J.+?/B.6235/43,/7.0<3A<.7/:.82:.:<B:.:</.

@844803,6.@BA343:3/7.,//5.:8.1/.3,A425/5.3,.B,-.7A<884K

L.M/BA<3,6.7IBA/

L.N,:/?,B4.B,5./O:/?,B4.<B447.P.53,3,6.B?/B

L.Q/B?,3,6.?/782?A/.B?/B7

L.R:B@@.B,5.B593,37:?B:38,

L.R:8?B6/

L.M834/:7.B,5.I/?78,B4.AB?/

L.S3:A</,.@BA343:3/7.

L.T3?A24B:38,U.I4B,:.B,5.3,:/?,B4.0B447

L.;3:<5?B0B4.B?/B7.:8.72II8?:.79B44.6?82IP+553:38,B4.Q/B?,3,6.V//57.08?W3,6

M</.5/736,.I?8A/77.@8?.:</.,/0.7A<884.<B7.,8:.-/:.A899/,A/5X..H/:B34/5.5/736,7.08245.1/.B6?//5.03:<.

:</.Y/B5:/BA</?.B,5.68>/?,3,6.185-.3@.:</.I?8I87B47.B?/.I?86?/77/5.:8.39I4/9/,:B:38,X..M</.3,I2:.

8@.A<345?/,.B,5.-82,6.I/8I4/.3,:8.5/>/48I3,6.I4B,7.08245.1/.3,:/6?B4.:8.I?8Z/A:.39I4/9/,:B:38,.B:.

B44.7:B6/7X

M</?/.08245.1/.8II8?:2,3:3/7.@8?.7:BW/<845/?7.:8.A899/,:.8,.5/:B34/5.I4B,7.B:.:</.I?/[I4B,,3,6.B,5.

I4B,,3,6.BII43AB:38,.7:B6/7U.7<8245.:</.I?8I87B4.1/.I?86?/77/5X

�� Page 989



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./01234-5/678-24/8,49-53:+-:5/-/6;<138<:3/18-31-/6=,6-:/->/13:/6-:+,-?,6@/6><12,-/@-82+//48-<1=-:/-

80??/6:-82+//4-3>?6/A,>,1:B

C8:91-38-:+,-/@D2,-/@-E,6-F<G,8:9H8-.+3,@-I18?,2:/6-/@-C=02<:3/1-<1=-*6<3131;-31-J<4,8B--

C8:91-318?,2:8-K0<43:9-<1=-8:<1=<6=8-31-82+//48-<1=-/:+,6-,=02<:3/1-?6/A3=,68-31-J<4,8B-

*+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-M/31:-C=02<:3/1-L,6A32,-N.L.MCLO-38-:+,-6,;3/1<4-L2+//4-I>?6/A,>,1:-

L,6A32,-@/6-:+,-DA,-2/012348-/@-P63=;,1=Q-.<6=3@@Q-F,6:+96-*9=D4Q-R+/1==<-.91/1-*<@@-<1=-:+,-S<4,-/@-

T4<>/6;<1B--*+,-./01234-5/678-53:+-:+,-./18/6:30>-:/-80??/6:-<1=-2+<44,1;,-<44-82+//48-31-.<6=3@@B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8Q-802+-<8-.<6=3@@-./01234Q->08:-2/183=,6-C8:91-6,?/6:8-<1=-/:+,6-,A3=,12,-<W/0:-82+//4-

?,6@/6><12,-<1=-,@@,2:3A,1,88-5+,1-80;;,8:31;-2+<1;,8-:/-82+//48B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8->08:-<48/-2/183=,6-:+,-437,49-3>?<2:-/@-:+,-?6/?/8,=-2+<1;,8-/1X

Y-8:<1=<6=8Q-5,44W,31;-<1=-<::3:0=,8-:/-4,<6131;

Y-:,<2+31;-<1=-4,<6131;-,Z?,63,12,8-

Y-2<6,-80??/6:-<1=-;03=<12,

Y-4,<=,68+3?-<1=-><1<;,>,1:-N4,<=,68+3?Q-3>?6/A31;-K0<43:9Q-?<6:1,68+3?-5/6731;-<1=-6,8/062,-

><1<;,>,1:O

[\]̂_

L2+//48-<6,-318?,2:,=-<8-?<6:-/@-<-1<:3/1<4-?6/;6<>>,-/@-82+//4-318?,2:3/1B-*+,-?06?/8,-/@-<1-

318?,2:3/1-38-:/-3=,1:3@9-;//=-@,<:06,8-<1=-8+/6:2/>31;8-31-82+//48-31-/6=,6-:+<:-:+,9-><9-3>?6/A,-:+,-

K0<43:9-/@-,=02<:3/1-/@@,6,=-<1=-6<38,-8:<1=<6=8-<2+3,A,=-W9-:+,36-?0?348-NC8:91OB

*+,-6,4,A<1:-C8:91-I18?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-?6/A3=,-;6<=,8-<;<318:-̀,9-a0,8:3/18-<1=-?6/A3=,-82+//48-53:+-

6,2/>>,1=<:3/18-@/6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

b/0-2<1-D1=-318?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-/1-:+,-C8:91-5,W83:,-cccdefghidjkldmn-

��Page 990



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%�&'(�')"*+)�,$&- +)-$'"$." *!$$� 

/012345617891:9;<81=>?9@0A9071B07@>CDE9C1F109G1EF79H>@B<F7B>01<I<79AJ

/71;>>K<1F719FE81<E8>>;L<1<7F0CF@C<1F0C18>G1ADE81F1<E8>>;1B<1FM;917>1BAN@>?9J1O8B<1BC907BP9<17891;9?9;1>Q1<DNN>@71

<E8>>;<1@9RDB@9J1S@HF0B<F7B>0<1<DE81F<17891T907@F;1U>D781T>0<>@7BDA1VTUTWXUY1F0C17891<E8>>;1BAN@>?9A9071<9@?BE91

78901G>@K1GB781<E8>>;<L1;9FC9@<17>1BC907BQI61N@>?BC91F0CZ>@1M@>K9@1F0I1<DNN>@71@9RDB@9C1Q>@1QD@789@1BAN@>?9A907J

[!�"*+)�,$&- +)-$'" \ )�("- "]� *&-̂�]"-'"[+̂��"_"̂��$̀a

b+)�,$&\"$." cdd$&) �!+)")!�"*+)�,$&\"(�+' 

=@990 e18BH8;I19QQ9E7B?91<E8>>;1G8BE81B<1G9;;1@D0618F<1F1<7@>0H1;9FC9@<8BN1F0C1B<1E;9F@1FM>D71B7<1N@B>@B7B9<1
Q>@1BAN@>?9A907J1

f9;;>G 1e019QQ9E7B?91<E8>>;1G8BE81B<1F;@9FCI1C>B0H1G9;;1F0C1K0>G<17891F@9F<1B71099C<17>1BAN@>?9J1

eAM9@ e1<E8>>;1B01099C1>Q1BAN@>?9A9071G8BE81099C<189;N17>1BC907BQI17891<79N<17>1BAN@>?91>@17>1
AFK91E8F0H918FNN901A>@91RDBEK;IJ11

g9C e1<E8>>;1B01099C1>Q1H@9F79<71BAN@>?9A9071F0C1GB;;1@9E9B?91BAA9CBF7961B0790<B?91<DNN>@7J1

e1<E8>>;L<1E>;>D@hE>C9C1EF79H>@I1B<1C9EBC9C1MI18>G1B71B<1@F79C1Q>@1<7F0CF@C<1V4h5Y1F0C1Q>@18>G1FM;91B71B<17>1BAN@>?91VehiYJ1

41B<17891M9<71@F7B0H1Q>@1<7F0CF@C<1F0C1e1B<17891M9<71Q>@1BAN@>?9A907J1

jNCF79C1EF79H>@B<F7B>0<1Q>@19FE81<E8>>;1F@91NDM;B<89C19?9@I1I9F@1B01WF0DF@IJ1

k>@91B0Q>@AF7B>01FM>D717891EF79H>@B<F7B>01<E89A91EF01M91Q>D0C1B017891:9;<81=>?9@0A907L<1NF@907<L1HDBC917>1

7891lF7B>0F;1UE8>>;1TF79H>@B<F7B>01UI<79A189@9m1

877NmZZH>?JGF;9<ZC>E<ZCE9;;<ZNDM;BEF7B>0<Z4n344ohNF@907<hHDBC9h90JNCQ

#&��'!-��"p*!$$�

=@9908B;;1UE8>>;1GF<1;F<71B0<N9E79C1MI1X<7I01B01kF@E81234qJ

e7178B<17BA917891<E8>>;L<1N9@Q>@AF0E91F0C1N@><N9E7<1Q>@1BAN@>?9A9071G9@91M>781rDCH9C1F<1s=>>CLJ1

e01F<<9<<A9071N@>?BC9C1MI17891T907@F;1U>D781T>0<>@7BDA1B01eD7DA0123241HF?917891Q>;;>GB0H19?F;DF7B>0m

t1uDNB;<1;9F?917891<E8>>;1GB781FNN@>N@BF791@9E>H0B<9C1RDF;BPEF7B>0<1F0C178910DAM9@1789I1HFB01E>07B0D917>1

@B<9J1e;;1NDNB;<1A>?91>017>1QD@789@19CDEF7B>01F0CZ>@17@FB0B0H1>@1FE8B9?91<DEE9<<QD;1G>@K1N;FE9A907<J1

t1e;78>DH81N@>H@9<<1?F@B9<1I9F@1>01I9F@1CD917>1E>8>@71E8F0H9<1F0C1F10DAM9@1>Q1NDNB;<19079@B0H17891<E8>>;1

78@>DH8>D717891I9F@61@F79<1>Q1N@>H@9<<1F@91FHFB01FEE9;9@F79CJ1kF0I1NDNB;<1AFK91B0E@9F<B0H;I1@FNBC1

N@>H@9<<1FE@><<17891G8>;91ED@@BED;DAJ1UE8>>;1NDNB;1B0Q>@AF7B>01E;9F@;I1B0CBEF79<178F71N@>H@9<<1@F79<1F@91

<DEE9<<QD;;I1BAN@>?B0H1I9F@1>01I9F@J1vF<71I9F@1433w1>Q1x9I1U7FH91q1NDNB;<1V78><91FH9C144h45Y1AFC91

N@>H@9<<1B01;B79@FEI1F0C10DA9@FEIJ1

�� Page 991



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"!�#"!�$%�&'($')*#$+�(#,&�-!+.!!$�,/,'0&�!$+'+0!1�+%�2"!!�&* %%0�3!#0&4�1'&#15#$+#(!1�,/,'0&�#$1�+ !'"�

,!!"&�'$�&* %%06

��7++!$1#$*!�'&�*#"!2/008�3%$'+%"!1�#$1�+ !�&* %%0�.%"9&�5!"8�!22!*+'5!08�.'+ �,#"!$+&4�&%*'#0�.%"9!"&�#$1�

+ !�:%*#0�7/+ %"'+8�.!02#"!�%2)*!"�+%�!$&/"!�#++!$1#$*!�*%$+'$/!&�+%�"'&!6�

��;! #5'%/"�*%$+'$/!&�+%�"#,'108�'3,"%5!�#$1�, 8&'*#0�#$1�-! #5'%/"#0�'$*'1!$+&�*%$+'$/!�+%�2#006

<$�+ !�3%&+�"!*!$+�=!0& �>%5!"$3!$+�?* %%0�@#+!(%"'&#+'%$�#+�A#$/#"8�BCBC4�>"!!$ '00�?* %%0�.#&�

*#+!(%"'&!1�#&�>"!!$6

� '&�3!#$&�+ #+�>"!!$ '00�?* %%0�'&�#� '( 08�!22!*+'5!�&* %%0�. '* �'&�.!00�"/$4� #&�#�&+"%$(�0!#1!"& ',�#$1�'&�

*0!#"�#-%/+�'+&�,"'%"'+'!&�2%"�'3,"%5!3!$+6

��Page 992



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

������ !"�#$%&"%'"#�%$�$()�#*(��!�+)�%,,)*$)"�+-�$()�*(%&.)#/�

012342546

789:;<=>?@A:8BC:DBE9:B:?A9BF:?<DD@GD9>G:G<:?<>G@>=@>H:G89:@>I9CGD9>G:@>J:B>E:@DKF<I9D9>G:<LJ:

;BFE@LL:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN:?8@AE:8BC:G89:O9CG:K<CC@OA9:CGBFG:@>:A@L9::: : : :

PQQQRSTUVWXXSYZZW[Z\][RSYR̂_̀a:

789:E9A@I9FN:<L:bcCG:;9>G=FN:d9BF>@>H:9>I@F<>D9>GC:e@AA:9>C=F9:G8BG:G89F9:BF9:BKKF<KF@BG9J:8@H8:f=BA@GN:

C?8<<A:KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e8@?8:D99GC:G89:>99EC:<L:;BFE@LLgC:HF<e@>H:B>E:?8B>H@>H:K<K=ABG@<>a

789:;<=>?@A:e<FMC:?A<C9AN:e@G8:G89:H<I9F>@>H:O<E@9C:<L:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:G8BG:CGB>EBFEC:@>:C?8<<AC:

BF9:8@H8J:G8BG:G9B?8@>H:@C:H<<E:B>E:G8BG:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:@C:CGF<>Ha:

hGB>EBFEC:BG:iF99>8@AA:h?8<<A:BF9:BAF9BEN:H<<Ej:8<e9I9FJ:G89:C=@GBO@A@GN:<L:G89:O=@AE@>H:A@D@GC:

G89:<KK<FG=>@G@9C:L<F:@GC:A9BF>9FCa:789:C8<FGLBAA:<L:KAB?9C:<L:B:C@D@ABF:GNK9:@>:;BFE@LL:BAC<:A@D@GC:G89:

<KK<FG=>@G@9C:L<F:<G89F:A9BF>9FC:G<:O9>9kG:LF<D:G89:GB@A<F9E:KF<I@C@<>:<LL9F9E:BG:iF99>8@AAa:7FB>CL9FF@>H:

G89:C?8<<A:G<:>9e:B??<DD<EBG@<>:e<=AE:KF<I@E9:BKKF<KF@BG9:8@H8:f=BA@GN:C?8<<A:KAB?9C:L<F:B>:

@>?F9BC9E:>=DO9F:<L:N<=>H:K9<KA9:e@G8:9D<G@<>BA:B>E:e9AAO9@>H:>99ECa:

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9lK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G89:f=BA@GN:<L:CGB>EBFEC:<L:9E=?BG@<>:<F:

G89:E9A@I9FN:<L:9B?8:m9N:hGBH9:<L:9E=?BG@<>:BG:G89:C?8<<A:BC:B:F9C=AG:<L:G89:KF<K<C9E:?8B>H9Ca

no2pqr3st234tuo253r3stovwo5ro3po6t

789:>9e:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e<=AE:C=KK<FG:G89:E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:>9e:x;=FF@?=A=D:<L:yBA9Cg:L<F:A9BF>9FC:PBH9E:

z:{:c|̀:e8@?8:@C:E=9:G<:O9:@DKA9D9>G9E:@>:y9AC8:C?8<<AC:LF<D:h9KG9DO9F:b}bba::789:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:

e@AA:BE<KG:B>:BKKF<B?8:e8@?8:@C:@>?A=C@I9:B>E:E9C@H>9E:G<:BEEF9CC:G89:>99E:G<:KF9KBF9:?8@AEF9>:B>E:

N<=>H:K9<KA9:@>:yBA9C:G<:G8F@I9:B>E:O9:C=??9CCL=A:@>:B:FBK@EAN:?8B>H@>H:e<FAEa

~G:@C:F9?<H>@C9E:G8BG:G89:>9e:?=FF@?=A=D:C8<=AE:KF<I@E9:OF9BEG8J:9>BOA9:HF9BG9F:E9KG8:<L:A9BF>@>HJ:

9>C=F9:O9GG9F:KF<HF9CC@<>J:KF<I@E9:C?<K9:L<F:D<F9:@DBH@>BG@I9:B>E:?F9BG@I9:=C9:<L:G@D9:B>E:KAB?9:B>E:B:

D=?8:HF9BG9F:9DK8BC@C:<>:CM@AACa::�9e:B>E:@DKF<I9E:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:e@AA:89AK:C=KK<FG:G8@C:I@C@<>a

�25ot6�ww�51t234ts�r423po

�AA:C?8<<AC:8BI9:B>:BKKF<KF@BG9:FB>H9:<L:K<A@?@9C:B>E:KF<I@C@<>:@>:KAB?9:G<:KF<D<G9:K=K@ACg:89BAG8:B>E:

e9AAO9@>Ha

789:C?8<<A:@C:?<DD@GG9E:G<:KF<I@E@>H:B>:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:A9BF>@>H:@C:IBA=9E:B>E:K=K@AC:B?8@9I9:

G89@F:K<G9>G@BA:@>:B:8BKKNJ:CBL9:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:e8@?8:G89N:C8<e:F9CK9?G:B>E:G<A9FB>?9:L<F:9B?8:<G89Fa

789:;<=>?@A:e<=AE:e<FM:e@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:G89:C?8<<A:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:G89@F:

F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:?BF9:C=KK<FG:B>E:H=@EB>?9a

�� Page 993



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%&�' &(�'�)�*�'+&

,-./0123456/71268/4139532./91/71:;/759-/9-./6.<8.:=-5>/1?/9-./=4-116/91/@<;./=2:./.A.:B13./

238.:=9<38=/9-.5:/:.=>13=5C5659B/?1:/-.6>53D/91/5@>:1A./<38/=2=9<53/-5D-/>.:?1:@<34.E//F9/71268/=2>>1:9/

9-./=4-116/91/-<A./</D118/:.6<9513=-5>/759-/><:.39=/<38/19-.:/><:93.:=/=1/9-<9/>2>56=/:.4.5A./</-5D-/

G2<659B/.824<9513E

,-./>:1>1=.8/4-<3D.=/71268/C./>6<33.8/4<:.?266B/=1/9-<9/9-./=4-116H=/6.<8.:=-5>/<38/D1A.:3<34./<:./

319/85=:2>9.8I/7-54-/41268/-<A./</3.D<95A./5@><49/13/.824<9513<6/=9<38<:8=E

��Page 994



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&'((!) %*!)%('(�$&%

+,-./010-/.23045234065/07/89/:6,;/402<=0

>?@ABCDE?FCGH?IJJCGCKLMD?NOMPLCLQ?ROOJE

>?@ABCDE?POSOCTCLQ?UPOO?VSHKKD?WOMDE

>?@ABCDE?FCGH?XLQDCEH?ME?ML?IJJCGCKLMD?NMLQAMQO

>?WCLKPCGY?XGHLCS?BABCDE?

MG?GHO?ESHKKDZ

+,-./01

[9522. \02<0]̂7_.403_650,0
46,6/̀ /:602<0abc00

\02<0d8//0
[9522.0e/,.40
]̂7_.4

\02<0]̂7_.40
3_650f:;._450,40
,:0agg_6_2:,.0
b,:;̂,;/00

\02<0
e_:28_6h0
f65:_90
]̂7_.4

iPOOLHCDD?VSHKKD jkkl mnl o jpZnl

qrLsKPtMGCKL?sPKt?pkpj?@NIVu

v̀ 7,9602:07̂7_.403_650agg_6_2:,.0b/,8:_:;0c//g40wabcx

I?pjEG?uOLGAPY?iPOOLHCDD?VSHKKD?FKADJ?MDDKF?sKP?sMSCDCGCOE?GK?yO?GMCDKPOJ?GK?GHO?LOOJE?Ks?GHO?YKALQ?BOKBDO?

FHK?MSSOEE?CGZ??UMSCDCGCOE?SML?yO?JOECQLOJ?GK?zG?GHOCP?DOMPLCLQ?LOOJE?MLJ?BPKTCJO?SMDt?MLJ?EGPASGAPOJ?

OLTCPKLtOLGE?GK?EABBKPG?DOMPLCLQZ

{HO?SAPPOLG?O|BOPGCEO?MG?iPOOLHCDD?VSHKKD?FKADJ?yO?tMCLGMCLOJZ?{HO?O|BMLECKL?MLJ?LOF?sMSCDCGCOE?FKADJ?

BPKTCJO?KBBKPGALCGCOE?sKP?EGMss?JOTODKBtOLG?MLJ?sKP?OLHMLSCLQ?BABCDE}?DOMPLCLQ?CL?BAPBKEOoyACDG?sMSCDCGCOEZ

{HO?uKALSCD?MS~LKFDOJQOE?GHMG?M?SHMLQO?CL?OLTCPKLtOLG?SML?yO?ALEOGGDCLQ?MLJ?ABEOGGCLQ?sKP?

SHCDJPOL?FCGH?MJJCGCKLMD?DOMPLCLQ?LOOJEZ??@ABCDE?FKADJ?yO?EABBKPGOJ?GK?OLMyDO?GHOt?GK?MJMBG?GK?GHO?

SHMLQOE?BPKBKEOJZ

�23032̂.g04̂772860<2807̂7_.403_650f:;._450,40,:0agg_6_2:,.0b,:;̂,;/0-/0,<</96/g�

@ABCDE?GHMG?POSOCTO?EABBKPG?yOSMAEO?GHOY?HMTO?XLQDCEH?ME?ML?MJJCGCKLMD?DMLQAMQO?SML?yO?EABBKPGOJ?CL?

MLY?ESHKKD?CL?uMPJCssZ

{HOPO?CE?LK?CLsKPtMGCKL?MTMCDMyDO?GHMG?EAQQOEGE?GHMG?GHO?BPKBKEMDE?FKADJ?HMTO?M?LOQMGCTO?OssOSG?KL?

HKF?SHCDJPOL?FCGH?XLQDCEH?ME?ML?MJJCGCKLMD?DMLQAMQO?MPO?EABBKPGOJZ??iPOOLHCDD?VSHKKD?FKADJ?SKLGCLAO?GK?

BPKTCJO?EABBKPG?GHMG?CE?MBBPKBPCMGO?GK?GHO?CLJCTCJAMD?LOOJE?Ks?OMSH?BABCDZ

�� Page 995



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $!$%"& '()(%*%+, -'(( .)/��" 0(1"& 2( 133()4(#5

6789:7;:<=9:;>?@A?B:<=C<:C:DE=77F:G9E9AH9D:AD:ICD9@:7?:<=9:?>8I9G:7;:J>JAFD:A?:<=9:DE=77F:K=7:G9E9AH9:

LG99:6E=77F:M9CFDN:OFF:DE=77FD:A?:PCG@A;;:K7>F@:G9E9AH9:;>?@A?B:;7G:<=9D9:J>JAFDN

Q=9G9:AD:?7:A?;7G8C<A7?:CHCAFCIF9:<=C<:D>BB9D<D:<=C<:<=9:JG7J7DCF:K7>F@:=CH9:C:?9BC<AH9:9;;9E<:7?:J>JAFD:

C<:<=9:DE=77F:A?EF>@9@:A?:<=9:JG7J7DCF:K=7:G9E9AH9:LG99:6E=77F:M9CFDN

��� ��!"# 0%+�'%4R S4/+%) T!$%"& 2( 133()4(#5

Q=9:?99@D:7;:A?@AHA@>CF:J>JAFD:CG9:CDD9DD9@:C?@:JG7HA@9@:;7G:CD:CJJG7JGAC<9N::Q=9G9:AD:CFD7:?7:

A?;7G8C<A7?:CHCAFCIF9:<=C<:D>BB9D<D:<=C<:<=9:JG7J7DCFD:K7>F@:=CH9:C:?9BC<AH9:9;;9E<:7?:JG7HADA7?:;7G:

C?U:9<=?AE:BG7>JN

VWXYZX[\ZYW\Z]\̂\_ỲZabZYW\Zc[acàXde

f:Q=9:JG7J7DCFD:K7>F@:A?EG9CD9:<=9:?>8I9G:7;:DJ9EACF:DE=77F:JFCE9D:;7G:D9E7?@CGU:CB9@:F9CG?9GD:KA<=:

987<A7?CF:=9CF<=:C?@:K9FFI9A?B:?99@D:C?@:E7?<GAI><9:<7KCG@D:899<A?B:JG7g9E<9@:@98C?@N

f:O:@>CF:DA<9:K7>F@:7;;9G:h9iAIAFA<U:;7G:8C?CBA?B:J>JAFDj:CFF7KA?B:<=98:<7:I9:9@>EC<9@:EF7D9G:<7:=789:C?@:
JG7HA@9:C:I9<<9G:DJG9C@:7;:DJ9EACFAD<:JG7HADA7?:CEG7DD:<=9:EA<UN:

f:O:@>CF:DA<9:K7>F@:CFF7K:;7G:C:KA@9G:GC?B9:7;:G9D7>GE9D:;7G:<=9:DE=77F:k:<=9U:KAFF:=CH9:87G9:DJCE9:<7:@9H9F7J:

<=9:E>GGAE>F>8:7;;9Gj:7;;9GA?B:C:KA@9G:GC?B9:7;:9iJ9GA9?E9D:;7G:J>JAFD:A?EF>@A?B:7><@77G:F9CG?A?B:C?@:

H7EC<A7?CF:CDJ9E<DN:Q=9:DA<9D:=CH9:I99?:D9F9E<9@:<7:E78JGAD9:C:87G9:G>GCF:DA<9:<=C<:E7>F@:7;;9G:7><@77G:
F9CG?A?B:9iJ9GA9?E9Dj:=7G<AE>F<>G9j:C?A8CF:ECG9j:K=AF9:<=9:87G9:>GIC?:DA<9:E7>F@:7;;9G:H7EC<A7?CF:9iJ9GA9?E9D:

C?@:<GCH9F:<GCA?A?BN

f:Q=9:JG7J7DCFD:K7>F@:G987H9:<=9:D>ID<C?@CG@:E7?@A<A7?:9iAD<A?B:lG99?=AFF:6E=77F:I>AF@A?BD:C?@:K7>F@:
G9@>E9:<=9:8CA?<9?C?E9:ICEmF7BN

f:n9K:I>AF@:;CEAFA<A9D:JG7HA@9:=AB=:o>CFA<U:F9CG?A?B:9?HAG7?89?<Dj:K=AE=:A8JG7H9:F9CG?A?B:E=7AE9D:C?@:

7JJ7G<>?A<A9D:;7G:J>JAFDN:Q=9:PCG@A;;:pqrq:HADA7?:D9<D:7><:<=9:?99@:<7:JG7HA@9:=AB=:o>CFA<U:DE=77F:JFCE9DN:

sAB=:o>CFA<U:F9CG?A?B:9?HAG7?89?<D:=CH9:C:D<G7?B:A8JCE<:7?:A8JG7HA?B:J>JAF:7><E789Dt:Q=9:?9K:DE=77FD:
K7>F@:I9:u<:;7G:J>GJ7D9:pvD<:P9?<>GU:I>AF@A?BDj:K=AE=:EC?:87G9:9CDAFU:D>JJ7G<:C:GC?B9:7;:9HA@9?E9wICD9@:

A?A<AC<AH9D:<7:D>JJ7G<:F9CG?9GD:KA<=:x87<A7?CF:s9CF<=:C?@:y9FFI9A?B:?99@Dj:<GC>8C:A?;7G89@:JGCE<AE9j:9CGFU:

A?<9GH9?<A7?:7JJ7G<>?A<A9Dj:C?@:C:<=9GCJ9><AE:CJJG7CE=N

f:Q=9:?9K:I>AF@A?BD:K7>F@:I9:;>FFU:CEE9DDAIF9:C?@:E78JFAC?<:KA<=:<=9:xo>CFA<U:OE<:pqvqN

f:Q=9:EF7D9:JG7iA8A<U:7;:<=9:z><E=:lCG@9?:P9?<G9:DA<9:<7:8Cg7G:G7C@:G7><9D:K7>F@:CFF7K:<=9:DA<9:<7:D9GH9:C:

KA@9:CG9C:KA<=:G9CD7?CIF9:=789:<7:DE=77F:<GCH9F:<A89DN

f:Q=9:QU:lFCD:DA<9:AD:EF7D9:<7:J>IFAE:<GC?DJ7G<:G7><9D:C?@:=CD:B77@:J7<9?<ACF:;7G:CE<AH9:<GCH9F:E7??9E<A7?DN

��Page 996



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&"'#&(#!�#) '%�*%�+ %,-�,�'#$%%

./0123/454678/96:;/<==6:61><7/73<?>6>@/>33=8/A<>/B>=/A;<>@3/=6CBA57:D//E;3F/2<F/B>=/21G6>@/:1/

</>39/H567=6>@/1>/</>39/86:3/5>83::76>@D//I3/J>19/:;3F/9157=/>33=/A<?3C577F/47<>>3=/85441?:/:1/

<=<4:/:1/:;3/>39/83::6>@D//K193G3?L/:;3?3/9157=/H3/85CBA63>:/:623/:1/47<>/<>=/85441?:/85A;/</

:?<>86:61>D

./E;3?3/68/41:3>:6<7/C1?/6>A?3<83=/:?<CBA/A1>@38:61>/<?15>=/:;3/8A;117/86:38/<:/:;3/8:<?:/<>=/3>=/1C/

:;3/=<FD/E;3/M15>A67/9157=/91?J/96:;/:;3/N1G3?>6>@/O1=F/1C/:;3/8A;117/:1/=3G3714/</E?<G37/P7<>/:1/

26>62683/<>F/41:3>:6<7/=68?54:61>D

./E;3/Q5:A;/N<?=3>/M3>:?3/86:3/68/>1:/3<867F/<AA3886H73/HF/45H76A/:?<>841?:/<>=/=138/>1:/A5??3>:7F/

;<G3/<A:6G3/:?<G37/?15:38/C1?/9<7J6>@/<>=/AFA76>@/:1/:;3/86:3R/;193G3?L/STU/1C/73<?>3?8/<:/N?33>;677/

0A;117/:?<G37/:1/8A;117/HF/:<V6D/E;3/@?3<:3?/84?3<=/1C/47<A38/<A?188/:;3/A6:F/2<F/?3=5A3/:;3/<G3?<@3/

W15?>3F/73>@:;D

./E;3/4?1V626:F/1C/4<?:/1C/:;3/Q5:A;/N<?=3>/M3>:?3/86:3/:1/:;3/XY/23<>8/:;<:/:;3?3/9157=/>33=/:1/H3/

<44?14?6<:3/86:3/=386@>/<>=/A1>:6>53=/H3;<G615?/2<><@323>:/1C/454678/:1/<773G6<:3/<>F/A1>A3?>8/

1C/73<?>3?8/<AA3886>@/:;3/?1<=D/

./P<?:/1C/:;3/Q5:A;/N<?=3>/M3>:?3/86:3/68/6>/A7183/4?1V626:F/:1/XY/<>=/:;3?3/2<F/H3/8123/:?<CBA/>1683/

A1>A3?>8D/K193G3?L/:;3?3/<?3/C39/1:;3?/?1<=8/>3<?HF/<>=/C1?/218:/1C/:;3/86:3/:;3/:?<CBA/>1683/2<F/

H3/7388/:;<>/<:/2<>F/5?H<>/8A;1178/6>/M<?=6CCD/E?<CBA/>1683/9157=/H3/26:6@<:3=/<8/C<?/<8/41886H73/HF/

23<85?38/85A;/<8/71A<:61>/1C/:;3/8A;117/1>/:;3/86:3L/7<>=8A<46>@/<>=/>1683/H<??63?8D/

./E;3?3/68/41:3>:6<7/C1?/4<?:/1C/:;3/86:3/<:/EF/N7<8/:1/H3/583=/C1?/<>1:;3?/8A;117/9;6A;/2<F/;<G3/

=6CC3?3>:/8:5=3>:/4?1B738/<>=/H3;<G615?D/E;68/9157=/H3/26:6@<:3=/HF/3CC3A:6G3/H3;<G615?/

2<><@323>:R/86:3/=386@>/6>A75=6>@/834<?<:3/3>:?<>A38/<>=/3V6:8/C1?/3<A;/8A;117/<>=/:;3/41886H676:F/

1C/=6CC3?3>:/8:<?:/<>=/B>68;/:6238D/

Z"'['%#''�\"#� &%]"�+%�+ %,-�,�' &%\+#!) '%

./M1>857:<:61>/1>/>39/8A;1178/8;157=/H3/5>=3?:<J3>/<:/:;3/C1?2<:6G3/8:<@3/1C/=3G37146>@/4?1418<78L/

<;3<=/1C/3V:3>86G3/=386@>/<>=/C3<86H676:F/8:5=638D/I;678:/:;68/7626:8/:;3/?68J/1C/:;3/M15>A67/586>@/6:8/

C5>=8L/<;3<=/1C/A1>857:<:61>/<>=/=3:3?26><:61>L/8123/85?G3F/<>=/47<>>6>@/6>C1?2<:61>/68/>1:/F3:/

<G<67<H73D/

./E;3?3/2<F/H3/=3G371423>:/A1>8:?<6>:8/:;<:/;<G3/>1:/F3:/H33>/6=3>:6B3=D//̂C/<>F/H3A123/<44<?3>:L/

:;3?3/A157=/H3/62476A<:61>8/C1?/A18:/<>=/=37<FD//06:3/85?G3F8/<>=/@31_:3A;>6A<7/?341?:8/9157=/:<J3/

47<A3D/E;383/9157=/4?1G6=3/C5?:;3?/6>C1?2<:61>/<>=/6>C1?2/2<><@323>:/8:?<:3@638D

./E;3/4?1418<7/2<F/>1:/H3/<A;63G<H73/6C/I378;/N1G3?>23>:/A<46:<7/C5>=6>@/68/>1:/83A5?3=/<:/:;3/

H586>388/A<83/8:<@3D

./ Ĉ/:;3/M15>A67/=6=/>1:/@3:/:;68/C5>=6>@/C?12/:;3/I378;/N1G3?>23>:/:;3>/:;3/M15>A67/9157=/H3/C577F/

?3841>86H73/C1?/<77/A18:8/?37<:6>@/:1/:;3/4?1418<7D//̂>/:;68/A<83L/6>G38:23>:/14:61>8/9157=/H3/?3G6393=/

:1/3>85?3/:;3/=376G3?F/1C/85CBA63>:/8A;117/47<A38D

P?1W3A:61>8/9677/H3/J34:/5>=3?/?3G639/<>=/:;3/:626>@/1C/4?1418<78/C1?/8A;117/4?1G6861>/6>/:;3/<?3</9677/

:;3?3C1?3/:<J3/<AA15>:/1C/:;3/41457<:61>/A;<>@38D�� Page 997



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$% &'(�$'")&*'")$+ ! +

,-./0123456/6117.8/9:/9/32;<.=/1>/?5:.?/45:@AB58./:-9:/B1268/;1?:/?25:9<6@/9441;;189:./:-./

=.C694.;.3:/938/.DC93?513/1>/E=..3-566/F4-116G/

,-./?5H./1>/?5:./=.I25=.8/:1/8.65J.=/9/?4-116/B-54-/5?/9<6./:1/;..:/:-./=.I25=.;.3:?/>1=/6.9=3.=?/B5:-/

FC.4596/K8249:51396/L..8?/938/M5?9<565:5.?/;.93:/:-9:/:-./?.9=4-/B9?/.DC938.8/:1/6938/31:/42==.3:6@/

B5:-53/:-./1B3.=?-5C/1>/:-./0123456G

,-./.D5?:53N/?4-116/?5:./;.9?2=.?/9CC=1D5;9:.6@/OGPQ9/938/9441;;189:.?/2C/:1/RS/6.9=3.=?G/T-56?:/

:-5?/?5:./5?/?2>U45.3:6@/69=N./:1/9441;;189:./C9=:/1>/:-./>2:2=./C=1C1?.8/49C945:@/1>/E=..3-566V/?5:./

413?:=953:?/;97./:-5?/?5:./85>U426:/:1/8.J.61C/9?/9/=.C694.;.3:/U:A>1=/C2=C1?./OW?:/0.3:2=@/?4-116/B-56?:/

C2C56?/=.;953/13/?5:.G/

013?:=24:513/1>/9/3.B/?4-116/13/:-./.D5?:53N/E=..3-566/?5:.V/1=/=.8.J.61C;.3:/1>/:-./.D5?:53N/?4-116/

<256853N?V/B1268/5;C94:/:.94-53N/938/6.9=353N/938/B1268/<./.D4.??5J.6@/85?=2C:5J./:1/:-./J263.=9<6./

6.9=3.=?/13/9/J.=@/413U3.8/9=.9/1>/:-./?5:.G/,-./C=1D5;5:@/1>/:-./B1=7?/:1/:-./.D5?:53N/?4-116/<256853N/

B1268/492?./?5N35U493:/85?=2C:513V/938/:-5?/B1268/<./.D94.=<9:.8/>1=/:-1?./?:28.3:?/B5:-/?.3?1=@/5??2.?G/

X24-/1>/:-./E=..3-566/42==54262;/5?/8.65J.=.8/12:811=?V/?1/:-./1J.=966/9<565:@/:1/1C.=9:./.>>.4:5J.6@/:1/

;..:/:-./3..8?/1>/:-.?./6.9=3.=?/B1268/<./N=.9:6@/41;C=1;5?.8/>1=/93/.D:.38.8/C.=518/1>/:5;.G

,-./=.8.J.61C;.3:/1>/:-./E=..3-566/?5:./>1=/9/=.C694.;.3:/?4-116/-9?/:-.=.>1=./<..3/85?4123:.8G

YZ#�&['\�+&Z#(( "&�'&�Z & ]$)�$"̂&_!  "Z$��&̀*Z''�&)$� a

b:/5?/93:545C9:.8/:-9:/966/C2C56?/938/?:9>>/B1268/J949:./:-./.D5?:53N/E=..3-566/F4-116/?5:./53/OcOdG/

b:/5?/93:545C9:.8/:-9:/:-./.D5?:53N/?5:./1>/E=..3-566/F4-116/B1268/<./85?C1?.8/1>/>1=/49C5:96/=.4.5C:/9:/:-./

.38/1>/:-./<2568/C=1N=9;;.G

e\f#"&g )'\!* )&h#�� !)

,-./C=1C1?.8/534=.9?./53/C2C56/32;<.=?/>1=/E=..3-566/F4-116/B1268/=.I25=./:-./E1J.=353N/i18@/:1/

C693/>1=/:-./B1=7>1=4./=.I25=.;.3:?/53/=.9853.??/>1=/:-./.DC93?513?G/,-./E1J.=353N/i18@/B1268/<./

.3412=9N.8/:1/238.=:97./:-5?/B1=7/53/653./B5:-/:-./F4-116/j=N935?9:513/k693353N/Ql/m=9;.B1=7G

,-./0123456n?/Ql/k.1C6./F.=J54.?/B566/C=1J58./98J54.V/?2CC1=:/938/N258934./:1/:-./E1J.=353N/i18@/

>1=/:-./B1=7>1=4./C693353N/938/413?.I2.3:596/=.4=25:;.3:/C=14.??.?G/T-.=./E1J.=353N/i185.?/-9J./

981C:.8/:-./0123456n?/F4-116/l.8.C61@;.3:/938/l.8238934@/k1654@V/93@/3.B/J949345.?/9=5?53N/9?/9/

413?.I2.34./1>/93/534=.9?./53/:-./32;<.=?/13/=166/B1268/C=1J58./1CC1=:235:5.?/>1=/?4-116/<9?.8/?:9>>/13/

:-./?4-116/=.8.C61@;.3:/=.N5?:.=G/

,-./C=1C1?96/534628.?/:-./=.6149:513/1>/E=..3-566/F4-116/B5:-/:-./?4-116/C=1C1?.8/:1/1C.=9:./8296/?5:./

9==93N.;.3:?G/,-5?/B1268/=.I25=./-5N-/6.J.6?/1>/?:9>>/938/:=98./23513/413?26:9:513V/46.9=/41;;23549:513/

C693?/=.N9=853N/:-./9==93N.;.3:?/>1=/:-./:=93?5:513/>=1;/13./?4-116/?5:./:1/931:-.=/938/?:9>>/

53J16J.;.3:/53/:-./8.J.61C;.3:/1>/<256853N/?C.45U49:513?/1=/8.?5N3?G/

��Page 998



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !� "# �$�%"&  �!'�(�!)*"

+,-./012.3.04/5453673012./.06/.0,50476,30150826,9.012.0:5;,8<7=30457<8>05,012.01/6,345/105?082<7-/.,01506,-0

?/5@03825573A0

B,>04;4<7306??.81.-0C>012<304/5453670D5;7-0C.05??./.-012.036@.03;445/10D<1201/6,345/10630<304/5E<-.-0
12/5;925;10:6/-<??06,-0<,06885/-6,8.0D<12012.036@.08/<1./<60126106447>068/5330:6/-<??A0F2.0:5;,8<7=301/6,345/10

457<8>086,0C.0E<.D.-05,012.0:5;,8<7=30D.C3<1.0GHHHIJKLMNOOIPQRISTUA

F2.0:5;,8<706447<.3012.03161;15/>0V;67<?><,90D67W<,90-<316,8.08/<1./<605?012/..0@<7.30?5/04;4<730150V;67<?>0?5/0?/..0

25@.015038255701/6,345/101503.85,-6/>03825573X0<,87;-<,90150Y/..,2<770Z82557A0[5D.E./X035@.07.6/,./30D2507<E.0
D<12<,012/..0@<7.305?012.03825570@6>0C.04/5E<-.-0D<120?/..01/6,345/10-;.015012.</0<,-<E<-;670,..-3A

\.6/,./0F/6,345/10<308;//.,17>04/5E<-.-0C>060,;@C./05?016]<30?5/012.0@6̂5/<1>05?0Y/..,2<7704;4<73A00_̀a05?0

7.6/,./301/6E.77.-015012.03825570C>016]<0<,0Z.41.@C./0̀bcdX0/<3<,90150d̀a0<,0Z.41.@C./0̀b̀b0-;.015012.0
:5E<-ecd046,-.@<8A00F2.04/5453.-0<,8/.63.0<,0,;@C./05?04;4<7304/5453.-061012.0,.D03<1.30D5;7-0/.V;</.012.0

38255701/6,345/10C;-9.10150C.0<,8/.63.-06885/-<,97>A

# �!*fg )")g"h ��!ij%%"kligg%"�)")i�"m gfg*�n"kj)�"�)")i�"op)li"
h� n�!"q�!) �

F2.075861<5,05?012.0r;1820Y6/-.,0:.,1/.03<1.04/.3.,13082677.,9.30<,01./@305?01/6,345/103;316<,6C<7<1>A00

B7125;920602<9204/545/1<5,05?04;4<7301/6E.701503825570;3<,90\.6/,./0F/6,345/1X012.0-.E.754@.,104/54536730
D5;7-0/.V;</.060F/6,345/10B33.33@.,10D2<820D<770<-.,1<?>0@.63;/.30150C.0<,87;-.-063046/105?012.06447<861<5,0150

@6]<@<3.01/6E.70C>03;316<,6C7.0@5-.3A00s;,81<5,0tb05?012.0uv0<30609/6-.03.46/61.-0̂;,81<5,X0D2./.012.0758670

/56-3085,,.81015060/5;,-6C5;10D2<820<3086//<.-068/533012.0@515/D6>05,01D50C/<-9.3A00F2.03<1.0<308753.015012.0

;̂,81<5,05,012.0,5/12./,03<-.05?012.0uv0D2<7.012.0,.6/.310/.3<-.,1<6706/.60Gw5,14/.,,6;U0<305,012.035;12./,0
3<-.05?012.0uvA00F2.075861<5,05?012.03<1.0D5;7-0/.V;</.04/5E<3<5,05?06--<1<5,670@.63;/.301506885@@5-61.0

688.330C>06,>0@.6,30512./0126,0E.2<87.A0000

w;C7<801/6,345/10-5.30,5108;//.,17>03./E.012<306/.6015012.0,5/1205?012.0uv06,-03;<16C7.0C;303./E<8.04/5E<3<5,0

D5;7-0,..-0150C.0<-.,1<x.-A00y;30688.3306,-036?.0D6<1<,90?68<7<1<.30?5/0316??06,-06,>04;4<7301/6E.77<,90
<,-.4.,-.,17>06,-0;3<,90382.-;7.-06,-06--<1<5,6703825570C;303./E<8.30D5;7-0,..-0150C.04/5E<-.-X0D<12036?.0

4.-.31/<6,0688.330150C;3031543085,E.,<.,1015012.0382557X0<-.677>06-̂68.,101505/0<,3<-.012.04/5453.-03<1.A00

F2./.06/.0,504.-.31/<6,07<,W3015012.03<1.0?/5@012.0?551D6>30<,012.0:6/-<??0Y61.06/.60?;/12./015012.035;1203<-.0

5?0̂;,81<5,0tbA00:5,3<-./61<5,0D5;7-0C.0/.V;</.-0?5/0604.-.31/<6,0/5;1.068/533012.09/6-.03.46/61.-0̂;,81<5,0
/5;,-6C5;106,-037<40/56-306,-07<,W30.68203<-.A00

F2./.06/.0,50.]<31<,905/04/5453.-08>87<,90?68<7<1<.307<,W<,9015012.03<1.A00:5,3<-./61<5,0D<770C.0/.V;</.-0?5/03;<16C7.0

36?.08>87.0?68<7<1<.30150688.33012.0,5/1203<-.05?012.0̂;,81<5,06,-0<,15012.03<1.A00z]<31<,90?68<7<1<.30?;/12./035;120
5?012.0@515/D6>0D5;7-0/.V;</.0<@4/5E.@.,106,-06--<1<5,670.]1.,3<5,0;401506,-068/533012.09/6-.03.46/61.-0

;̂,81<5,A00:>87.0,.1D5/W0<@4/5E.@.,130?;/12./035;1206/.0476,,.-0150C.0<-.,1<x.-075,9./01./@0G̀b̀_{̀|06,-0

C.>5,-U05,0Z10u.775,30}56-06,-05,0w.,1D>,0\<,W0}56-0GC;10,5108;//.,17>0476,,.-0150.]1.,-015012.0@515/D6>0

;̂,81<5,UA00Z.8;/.08>87.0315/69.0D5;7-0C.0/.V;</.-061012.03<1.0<,07<,.0D<12012.0:5;,8<7=3046/W<,90316,-6/-3A00

\.6/,./0F/6,345/10D5;7-0,..-0644/54/<61.0?68<7<1<.30?5/0-/54e5??06,-04<8We;405,012.0,.D03<1.A0000

�� Page 999



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%$#%&�'' ()**%+,(##*%�$%$('%-�#"#!'.%+)$'%�$%�/%&*�!%%

012345461578921648657:92;7646<=4>?4@A5848;6=4B2CA:4912D;:=4574=EF=AA=764A2F56;274G214@1==7<;AA4HF<22A4I;D=74

;6841=A56;D=A?4F=7615A4A2F56;27J4912E;3;6?46249CKA;F4615789216412C6=8457:4G5F;A;6;=8J457:4926=76;5A4G2145F6;D=4615D=A4
F277=F6;278L4MA6<2CI<454<;I<49129216;2742G49C9;A84615D=A46248F<22A4C8;7I4N=517=14>15789216J46<=4:=D=A293=764

9129285A84B2CA:41=OC;1=454>157892164M88=883=764B<;F<4B;AA4;:=76;G?43=58C1=84624K=4;7FAC:=:4584951642G46<=4

599A;F56;27462435P=4GC16<=14;3912D=3=768457:435E;3;8=4615D=A4K?48C865;75KA=432:=8L44

Q74H=96=3K=14RSTUJ4VRW42G4A=517=184615D=AA=:46246<=48F<22A4K?465E;J41;8;7I4624URW4;74H=96=3K=14RSRS4:C=4

6246<=4X2D;:YTU4957:=3;FL4><=1=4;848F29=46241=:CF=46<;849129216;27J49516;FCA51A?45646<=4>?4@A5848;6=L44><=1=4;84

548;I7;ZF57649129216;2742G4FC11=764@1==7<;AA49C9;A84B<24A;D=4;746<=4NA57;8<=7457:4@5K5AG5451=584[57:4B<24:24
72641=OC;1=4N=517=14>15789216\L444><=1=4;846<=1=G21=4I22:4926=76;5A4G2149C9;A84584B=AA4584865GG4B<24A;D=4B;6<;74

541=58275KA=4F?FA;7I4214B5AP;7I4:;8657F=4624615D=A46246<=48;6=4K?45F6;D=432:=8L44@1==7<;AA4HF<22A4<5845A1=5:?4

:=D=A29=:4;6842B74MF6;D=4>15D=A4]A574B=AA45<=5:42G4357?435;7861=5348F<22A8L44

@1==7<;AA4HF<22A49C9;A8451=48C99216=:4K?46<=4X2C7F;Â84Q7:=9=7:=764>15D=A4>15;7;7I4;7;6;56;D=4B<=1=48F<22A4
9C9;A8451=48C99216=:4;749A577;7I457:435P;7I4_2C17=?846248F<22A4;7:=9=7:=76A?L4><=48;6=4A2F56;2747=5149CKA;F4

61578921648=1D;F=84B2CA:4A=7:4;64;68=AG4B=AA46249C9;A84K=;7I48C99216=:4K?46<;84;7;6;56;D=L4

@1==7<;AA4HF<22A4G21384951642G46<=4X51:;GG4HF<22A84̀;P=40A==64912_=F64B<=1=4K;P=84[57:48F226=18\451=4K=;7I4

9A5F=:4;748F<22A846245AA2B4=D=1?27=45FF=884624F?FA;7IJ4C8;7I46<=34G214F?FA=4615;7;7I457:4G2148F<22A4214=E615Y
FC11;FCA5145F6;D;6;=8L44@1==7<;AA4HF<22A4<584=3K15F=:46<=4912_=F64=76<C8;586;F5AA?4B;6<46<=45;342G4=7F2C15I;7I4

6<=;149C9;A84624F?FA=46248F<22AL44H=FC1=4F?FA=486215I=4B2CA:4K=41=OC;1=:45646<=48;6=4;74A;7=4B;6<46<=4X2C7F;Â84

951P;7I48657:51:8L44

><=48;6=4;84A2F56=:4FA28=4624>?4@A58415;A48656;27457:4KC8412C6=8L44M991291;56=4912D;8;274B2CA:4K=435:=4G21485G=4
KC84B5;6;7I4G5F;A;6;=84G2149C9;A8457:4865GG4C8;7I48F<=:CA=:457:45::;6;275A4KC848=1D;F=8L44aE;86;7I4F1288;7I84B;AA4K=4

588=88=:457:4;3912D=:45845991291;56=4624=78C1=485G=457:4F27D=7;=7645FF=8846249CKA;F46157892164G5F;A;6;=8L444

><=4N=517=14>157892164B2CA:47==:45991291;56=4G5F;A;6;=84G214:129Y2GG457:49;FPYC9L44

b) � ,)�*%c�$$'�!

><=4912928=:4=E9578;2742G4@1==7<;AA4HF<22A4G21384951642G46<=4X2C7F;Â84dRef43;AA;274RT864X=76C1?4HF<22A84̀57:4

4̀]12I1533=L4

><=4F28642G46<=48F<=3=4B;AA4K=43=64_2;76A?4K?46<=4X2C7F;A457:46<=4g=A8<4@2D=173=76J4B;6<46<=4g=A8<4

@2D=173=764GC7:;7I459912E;356=A?4VhW42G46<=46265A4F286842G46<=47=B48F<22AJ4D;545489=F;ZF4I1576L4><=4X2C7F;Â84

8<51=42G46<=4RT864X=76C1?4HF<22A84912I1533=4B;AA4K=4GC7:=:4K?454F23K;756;2742G4=E6=175A4K2112B;7IJ4B<;F<4B;AA4

7==:4624K=41=95;:42D=14547C3K=142G4?=518J457:4F59;65A41=F=;9684I=7=156=:4K?46<=485A=42G4X2C7F;A4588=68L4

i9=156;275A4F28684;7FC11=:4;743575I;7I46<=48F<=3=457:461578;6;274G1234FC11=764KC;A:;7I846247=B4KC;A:;7I84B;AA4K=4

3=64G123454:=:;F56=:41=D=7C=4KC:I=6L4

><=45::;6;275A41=D=7C=4F286842G46<=4;7F1=58=:49C9;A47C3K=184B;AA4K=43=646<12CI<46<=48F<22A4GC7:;7I4G213CA5J4

B<;F<45AA2F56=846<=435_21;6?42G4GC7:;7I4G2148F<22A842746<=4K58;842G49C9;A47C3K=18L

0C16<=14B21P4B;AA4K=4C7:=165P=74624=865KA;8<4B<=6<=146<=485D;7I84274iC642G4X2C76?4]A5F=3=7684B;AA4F2D=146<=4F28684

2G45::;6;275A49A5F=8L4Q64;84=E9=F6=:46<5646<=45D=15I=4_2C17=?42G4A=517=184624@1==7<;AA48F<22A4B2CA:4K=41=:CF=:4

B<=74F23951=:46245A6=1756;D=4912D;8;2742C68;:=42G4X51:;GGJ457:46<5646<;84B2CA:4;746C1741=:CF=46<=45D=15I=4F28684

G214=5F<4A=517=145FF=88;7I48CF<454912D;8;27L4
��Page 1000



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&'()(&*#

+,-./01/12342.51.-6/378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.35.5,-.29,1142.:794<8-8.:7.5,-2-./01/12342.=:44.,3;-.:>/4:935:172.

?10.,-345,.378.15,-0.2/-9:34:25.2-0;:9-2@.+,-2-.2-0;:9-2.=10A.:7./3057-02,:/.=:5,.29,1142.51.>--5.B88:5:1734.

C-307:7D.E--82@.B7.388:5:1734.?39510.:2.5,-.BCE.F-?10>.B95.GHIJK.=,:9,.=:44.:75018<9-.7-=.0-2/172:L:4:5:-2.?10.
,-345,K.-8<935:17.378.219:34.930-.51.=10A.51D-5,-0.51.91108:735-.322-22>-75.378./01;:2:17@.+,-.B95.GHIJ.=:44.

L-.:>/4->-75-8.1;-0.3.5,0--MN-30./-0:18K.L-D:77:7D.:7.O-/5->L-0.GHGH@.

P7.108-0.51.3880-22.5,-2-.9,344-7D-2.51D-5,-0K.5,-.Q1<79:4.378.Q308:??.378.5,-.R34-.S7:;-02:5N.T-345,.U1308.
30-.<78-053A:7D.3.V1:75.0-;:-=.1?.,-345,.378.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.Q308:??.2/-9:34.29,1142.378./</:4.0-?-0034.

<7:52@.+,-.W78:7D2.1?.5,-.0-;:-=K.1;-02--7.LN.3./01V-95.D01</.1?.0-/0-2-7535:;-2.?01>.,-345,K.-8<935:17K.219:34.

2-0;:9-2K.29,1142K.378./30-752K.=:44.:7?10>.5,-.8-2:D7.1?.5,-.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17@

XYZ())(&*#X%%�*[�Z�*!)#

+,-0-.30-.71./4377-8.9,37D-2.51.5,-.Q1<79:4\2./14:9N.17.5,-.38>:22:17.1?.9,:480-7.51.29,1142.32.3.0-2<45.1?.5,:2.

/01/1234@.

]-53:4-8.:7?10>35:17.3L1<5.38>:22:17.30037D->-752.:2.:7.5,-.Q1<79:4\2.B8>:22:17.51.O9,114.L11A4-5@..̂1<.937.
W78.5,:2.:7?10>35:17.17.5,-.Q1<79:4\2.=-L2:5-.35.___̀abcdeff̀ghìjk.

B8>:22:172.51.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.30-.>373D-8.LN.5,-.Q1<79:4.:7.399108379-.=:5,.5,-.BCE.Q18-K.2<LV-95.51.3.

2535->-75.1?.O/-9:34.l8<935:17.E--82.mOlEn@

o&'�%*�*p�#X%%�*[�Z�*!)

+,-0-.30-.71.0-q<:0-8.9,37D-2.51.D1;-07379-.30037D->-752.30:2:7D.1<5.1?.5,-2-./01/12342@.

rZ$�p!#&s#!"�#$%&$&)� )#&*#!"�#t� )"#u�*[v�[�#

+,-.4-;-4.1?.2/-9:34.-8<935:1734.7--82w388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82.:7.5,-.x-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.,32.,:2510:9344N.

L--7.41=-0.5,37.:7.5,-.l7D4:2,.>-8:<>.2-9510@.+,:2.,32.L--7.9,37D:7D.1;-0.5,-.4325.yMz.N-302K.=:5,.29,1142.
0-/105:7D.37.:790-32-8.:79:8-79-.1?.388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82K.:7.344.30-32.1?.7--8@.

B.0-;:-=.1?.388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82.:7.5,-.x-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.=32.<78-053A-7.=:5,.x-42,M>-8:<>.29,1142.

:7.GHI{.51.:7?10>.5,-.x-42,.:7.l8<935:17.O5035-D:9.|437.mxlO|n@.O9,1142.0-/105-8.3.2>344.L<5.2:D7:W9375.7<>L-0.

1?.-63>/4-2.1?./</:42.=:5,.BCE.4-3;:7D.5,-.x-42,M>-8:<>.2-9510.:7.108-0.51.399-22.2/-9:34:25.0-21<09-.L32-2.10.
2/-9:34.29,1142@.

+,-0-.=32.3421.21>-.37-981534.-;:8-79-.51.2<DD-25.5,35.21>-.?3>:4:-2.=,1.=1<48.15,-0=:2-.9,112-.x-42,M

>-8:<>.-8<935:17.1/5.:725-38.?10.l7D4:2,.>-8:<>.:?.5,-:0.9,:48.,32.388:5:1734.4-307:7D.7--82K.5,01<D,.9179-07.

5,35.5,-:0.9,:48.>3N.7--8.51.50372?-0.51.5,-.2/-9:34:25.2-9510.35.3.435-0.835-@.

+,01<D,.5,-.xlO|K.Q308:??.,32.:7;-25-8.:7.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.5,-.2-9510K.:794<8:7D.21>-.93/39:5N.51.0-2/178.

51.D01=:7D.8->378.378.51.D-7-035-.>10-.917W8-79-.:7.5,-.3;3:43L:4:5N.1?.2/-9:34:25./01;:2:17.:7.5,-.2-9510@.

B.7-=./0:>30N.L32-.=32.-253L4:2,-8.35.̂2D14.}N>03-D.|=44.Q19,K.=:5,:7.5,-.9359,>-75.30-3.1?.̂2D14.}N?<7.

}N>03-D.}43753?K.=,-0-.5,-.2-917830N.L32-.:2.-253L4:2,-8@.+,-.5=1.L32-2.935-0.?10.4-307-02.=:5,.2-;-0-.4-307:7D.
8:?W9<45:-2K./01;:8:7D.3.2/-9:34:25.9<00:9<4<>.378.2<//105:7D.3.037D-.1?.2-917830N.7--82.:794<8:7D./,N2:934.378.

>-8:934.7--82K.2/--9,.378.437D<3D-.8:?W9<45:-2.378.3<5:2>@

�� Page 1001



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� ! "�#$%&%�'(�)&*+'�)�,%-.�,�/*&�&%(*0&1%�2.(%(�/*&�303'4(�+'#$�.0#'(-5�+$*�.&%�.6%&.)%�#*�$')$�.1$'%6%&(5�

.�,�+*04,��%%,�.�-*&%�'�#%)&.#'6%�-*,%4�*/�(033*&#�#$.��#$.#�3&*6',%,�27�#$%�#+*�%8'(#'�)�2.(%(9�:$%&%�.&%�

10&&%�#47�;�(%1*�,.&7�.)%,�4%.&�%&(5�.�,�"<�3&'-.&7�.)%,�4%.&�%&(�+$*�+*04,�2%�%=#�/&*-�34.1%-%�#�'��.��

>?@�2.(%9�:$'(�'(�.�($*&#�#%&-�3&'*&'#75�)'6%��#$%�&'(A�#$.#�'/�10&&%�#�34.1%-%�#(�/.'45�#$%�*�47�*3#'*��+*04,�2%�#*�

*//%&�.�#&.�(/%&�#*�.��B�)4'($�-%,'0-�(%##'�)9�

>�3&'-.&7�+%442%'�)�14.((�$.(�2%%��%(#.24'($%,5�$*(#%,�.#�C()*4�D7�&.,,�E%��7�D&*%(9�:$%�+%442%'�)�14.((�+*&A(�

F%8'247�#*�.,,&%((��%%,(�'��,'//%&%�#�.)%�3$.(%(5�*&�#*�3&*6',%�.��*0#&%.1$�-*,%45�,%3%�,'�)�*��10&&%�#��%%,9�

:$%�G*0�1'4�'(�10&&%�#47�1*�(04#'�)�*��%(#.24'($'�)�.�H!�34.1%�>0#'(-�?3%1'.4�I%(*0&1%�2.(%�.#�C()*4�D7/0��

D7-&.%)�D4.�#./�'��.,,'#'*��#*�#$%�%8'(#'�)�H!�34.1%�?3%1'.4'(#�I%(*0&1%�2.(%�.#�#$%�(1$**49

:*�(033*&#�%-*#'*�.4�$%.4#$�.�,�+%442%'�)��%%,(�'��(%1*�,.&7�3$.(%5�.�J6'&#0.4K�2.(%L�EIM�$.(�2%%��3'4*#%,�
.1&*((�#$%�#$&%%�(%1*�,.&7�(1$**4(5�(#.&#'�)�'�� !";9�:$%�3'4*#�'(�,0%�/*&�/0&#$%&�&%6'%+�'�� ! "9�

:$%�3&'*&'#7�'(�#*�%�(0&%�#$%�#$&%%�(1$**4(�$.6%�.,%N0.#%�/.1'4'#'%(�.�,�.11*--*,.#'*��#*�3&*6',%�%//%1#'6%�?#%3�

H�.�,�O�3&*6'('*�5�1*-34%-%�#%,�27�#$%�6'&#0.4�2.(%L�EIM9�P%,'0-�#%&-5�#$%�6'&#0.4�2.(%L�EIM�+'44�%6%�#0.447�

�%%,�.�=8%,�4*1.#'*��.#�*�%�*/�#$%�(1$**4(5�+'#$�,%(')�.#%,�.11*--*,.#'*�5�#*�&%,01%�#$%�&'(A�#$.#�7*0�)�
3%*34%�+'#$�#$%�-*(#�1*-34%8��%%,(�-.7��%%,�#*�4%.6%�#$%�Q%4($�(%1#*&�#*�.11%((�-*&%�(3%1'.4'(#�3&*6'('*�9�

>(�#$%�Q%4($�(%1#*&�1*�#'�0%(�#*�)&*+�'#�+'44�2%�'-3*&#.�#�#*�,%6%4*3�.,,'#'*�.4�3&*6'('*��'��.�#'1'3.#'*��

*/�#$%��%%,5�#*�%�(0&%�Q%4($R-%,'0-�%,01.#'*��'(�.�)%�0'�%�1$*'1%�/*&�4%.&�%&(�+'#$�1*-34%8�.,,'#'*�.4�

4%.&�'�)��%%,(9�

:$%�3**4�*/�.,,'#'*�.4�4%.&�'�)��%%,(�N0.4'=%,�.�,�%83%&'%�1%,�#%.1$'�)�(#.//�'(�4'-'#%,�'���0-2%&5�'��
1*-3.&'(*��#*�#$%�B�)4'($�(%1#*&9�>�7�34.��#*�,%6%4*3�Q%4($R-%,'0-�(3%1'.4'(#�3&*6'('*��+'44��%%,�#*�2%�

(033*&#%,�27�.��>,,'#'*�.4�S%.&�'�)�T%%,(�Q*&A/*&1%�@%6%4*3-%�#�E4.�9�

���.11*&,.�1%�+'#$�#$%�#'-%#.24%�(%#�27�Q%4($�D*6%&�-%�#5�#$%�G*0�1'4�'(�+*&A'�)�14*(%47�+'#$�'#(�3.&#�%&(�*��

#$%�G.&,'//�Q%4($�B,01.#'*��U*&0-�#*�,%6%4*3�#$%��%+�#%��7%.&�QB?E�/*&�#$%�1'#79��#�'(�%83%1#%,�#$%�34.��+'44�2%�

.6.'4.24%�/*&�3024'1�1*�(04#.#'*��'��.0#0-�� ! "�2%/*&%�2%'�)�(02-'##%,�/*&�.33&*6.4�#*�#$%�Q%4($�D*6%&�-%�#�
'��%.&47� !  9�:$%�=&(#�#%��7%.&�E4.��+'44�1*--%�1%�*��"�?%3#%-2%&� !  �.�,�%83'&%�*��H"�>0)0(#� !H 9�

G*�(04#.#'*��*��#$%�,&./#�QB?E�+'44�(%%A�6'%+(�*��$*+�2%(#�#*�)&*+�Q%4($R-%,'0-�%,01.#'*��.�,�*��$*+�#*�

-%%#�#$%�4*1.4�#.&)%#(�(%#�27�Q%4($�D*6%&�-%�#5�'��*&,%&�#*�'�/*&-�/0#0&%�3&*3*(.4(9�:$%�QB?E�+'44�(%#�*0#�$*+�

#$%�G*0�1'4�+'44�'�1&%.(%�#$%�3&*6'('*��*/�Q%4($R-%,'0-�%,01.#'*��/*&�303'4(�+'#$�.,,'#'*�.4�4%.&�'�)��%%,(9

VWXYZ[\[]̂

>��BN0.4'#7��-3.1#�>((%((-%�#�_B�>̀�'(�.�3&*1%((�#$.#�4**A(�.#�.�3*4'175�3&*a%1#�*&�(1$%-%�#*�-.A%�(0&%�

'#�,*%(��*#�,'(1&'-'�.#%�.).'�(#�.�7*�%�2.(%,�*��#$%�3&*#%1#%,�1$.&.1#%&'(#'1(�(%#�*0#�'��#$%�BN0.4'#7�

>1#� !�_.)%5�,'(.2'4'#75�)%�,%&�&%.((')�-%�#5�-.&&'.)%�b�1'6'4�3.&#�%&($'35�3&%)�.�17�b�-.#%&�'#75�&.1%5�

&%4')'*�L�2%4'%/5�(%85�(%80.4�*&'%�#.#'*�̀9

>��'�'#'.4�BN0.4'#7��-3.1#�>((%((-%�#�$.(�2%%��1.&&'%,�*0#9��#�1*�140,%,�#$.#�#$%�3&*3*(%,�1$.�)%(�

+*04,��*#��%).#'6%47�.//%1#�.�3.&#'104.&�)&*03�'��(*1'%#79�

:$'(�.((%((-%�#�+'44�2%�&%6'%+%,�./#%&�#$%�1*�(04#.#'*��.�,�.#�A%7�3*'�#(�'/�#$%�3&*3*(.4(�+%&%�#*�3&*1%%,9�

�/�#$%�3&*3*(.4�)*%(�.$%.,5�.�*#$%&�%N0.4'#7�'-3.1#�.((%((-%�#�+*04,�2%�1.&&'%,�*0#�.#�#$%�,%(')��

(#.)%9�:$'(�+*04,�',%�#'/7�.11%(('2'4'#7�#*�#$%��%+�3&*6'('*�9��:$%�%N0.4'#7�'-3.1#�.((%((-%�#�+*04,�#.A%�

'�#*�.11*0�#�3*4'1'%(�(01$�.(�#$%�BN0.4'#7�>1#� !"!5�:>T�" c�@%(')�� !"O�.(�+%44�.(�20'4,'�)�&%)04.#'*�(�

(01$�.(�d?;H!!5�E.&#�P�.�,�&%4%6.�#�d0'4,'�)�d044%#'�(9�

��Page 1002



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� !"#$%&�'()#%%

*+,-./00/1234-56,-758,3-237/-599/:37-1+,3-9/3;2<,6234-5-=6/=/;50>-?:@029-A=,3-B=59,C-=568053<C-3/2;,-53<-
765.D9-9/34,;72/3E--*+,-;9+//0;-2390:<,<-23-7+,;,-=6/=/;50;-53<-7+,-F/:3920-1200-1/68-127+-53G-9/HH:327G-
46/:=;-7/-H58,-;:6,-7+,-=6/=/;50;-5I/2<-53G-3,4572I,-2H=597;-2.-=/;;2@0,E

J-9/HH:327G-2H=597-5;;,;;H,37-+5;-@,,3-:3<,6758,3-./6-7+2;-=6/=/;50-53<-2;-5I5205@0,-7/-I2,1-57--
KKKLMNOPQRRLSTULVWXYZ[\M]TT̂_OT_T\N̂\-

`abbca"!d%�e%f # ga%ha!ag(#"�!i%%

j3-023,-127+-7+,-k,00l@,234-/.-m:7:6,-n,3,6572/3;-J97-F56<2..o;-p53<-p-=6/465HH,-2;-9/HH277,<-7/-=6/I2<234-

q/950-B9+//0;-./6-q/950-F+20<6,3C-7/4,7+,6-127+-,39/:654234-:;,-/.-;:;75235@0,-H/<,;-7/-765I,0-7/-;9+//0;C-

;:9+-5;-1508234-53<-9G90234E-r59+-B9+//0-=6/s,97-758,;-237/-599/:37-8,G-7653;=/67-2;;:,;-1+,3-7+,G-56,-@,234-

<,;243,<-53<-7+,-D6H-3,,<-7/-=6/I2<,-;5.,6-6/:7,;-7/-,39/:654,-1508234C-9G90234-53<-/7+,6-5972I,-765I,0-
H/<,;-7/-;9+//0;E-

k27+-7+,-9:66,37-23I,;7H,37;-23-jF*-596/;;-7+,-927GC-;7:<,37-H/I,H,37;-H5G-@,-.:67+,6-6,<:9,<-5;-H/@20,-

7,9+3/0/4G-<,I,0/=;-.:67+,6-500/1234-./6-t,u2@0,-7,59+234-H,7+/<;E-*+,;,-+5I,-7+,-=/7,37250-7/-6,;:07-23-5-

H/6,-,.D92,37-*65I,0-?053-53<-.:67+,6-9/3762@:7,-7/-7+,-F/:3920o;-7564,7;-7/-6,<:9,-27;-956@/3-,H2;;2/3;E-

j3-/6<,6-7/-H5u2H2;,-7+,-0/34l7,6H-2H=597-/.-7+2;-;2432D9537-23I,;7H,37C-53G-<,;243-758,3-./6156<-./6-,59+-
;9+//0-2390:<,<-23-7+2;-=6/=/;50-1/:0<-@,-<,I,0/=,<-7/-,3;:6,-7+,-<,02I,6G-/.-+24+-v:5027G-H/<,63-.5920272,;-

7+57-56,-5@0,-7/-6,;=/3<-7/-7+,-9:66,37-=:=20-=/=:0572/3;-3,,<;-53<-;:==/67-7+,-<,02I,6G-/.-,..,972I,-7,59+234-

53<-0,563234-H,7+/<;E-*+,G-1/:0<-50;/-239/6=/657,-7+,-t,u2@2027G-7/-758,-599/:37-/.-9+534,;-<,=,3<234-

/3-3,,<-5;-72H,-=6/46,;;,;w-;:9+-5;-9+534234-<,H/465=+29;-53<-=:=20-3:H@,6;C-9+534234-9:6629:0:H-53<-
9+534234-7G=,;-/.-=:=20-3,,<;E

x�#a!#"(b%y"ig '#"�!%#�%x '"bi%%%

*+,-F/:3920-+5;-;2432D9537-,u=,62,39,-23-7+,-;:99,;;.:0-<,02I,6G-/.-@:20<234-=6/s,97;-/3-7+,-;27,;-/.-/99:=2,<-
;9+//0;-5;-5-6,;:07-/.-=6/46,;;234-5-0564,-53<-46/1234-;9+//0-/64532;572/3-=6/465HH,E-

?:=20;-,36/00,<-57-n6,,3+200-B9+//0-1/:0<-6,H523-57-7+,-9:66,37-;27,-:3720-7+,-3,1-@:20<-;9+//0-.5920272,;-56,-6,5<GC-
H,53234-7+57-7+,6,-1/:0<-@,-3/-<2;6:=72/3-7/-,<:9572/3-.6/H-@:20<234-1/68-/3-;27,E

z�{%{� b|%#}a%)}(!dai%(eea)#%�#}ag%i)}��bi~

B=,9250-;9+//0;-23-F56<2..-=6/I2<,-;=,92502;7-=6/I2;2/3-./6-7+,-1+/0,-/.-7+,-F27G-53<-F/:37G-/.-F56<2..E-*+,6,-56,-
3/7-,3/:4+-=059,;-7/-H,,7-<,H53<-23-H5237523,<-=6/I2;2/3E--*+2;-+5;-53-2H=597-/3-,u2;7234-;9+//0;-1+,6,-23-
;/H,-95;,;-7+,6,-H5G-@,-5-46,57,6-3:H@,6-/.-=:=20;-/3-6/00-7+53-7+,-?:@02;+,<-J<H2;;2/3-�:H@,6-�?J��-/6-
<,;26,<-3:H@,6-23-53-B�pE-*+2;-H5G-@,-=059234-5<<272/350-;76523-/3-;9+//0;E

F56<2..-9:66,370G-+5;-7/-6,0G-/3-=:69+5;234-;/H,-=059,;-23-/:7-/.-9/:37G-=6/I2;2/3-53<-23<,=,3<,37-;9+//0;-7/-
.:0D0-27;-;757:7/6G-<:72,;E-*+,6,-9/:0<-@,-5-0/34,6-7,6H-2H=597-/3-/:7-/.-9/:37G-=6/I2<,6;-53<-/3-23<,=,3<,37-
;9+//0;-5;-7+,6,-2;-028,0G-7/-@,-5-6,<:972/3-23-7+,-3:H@,6-/.-=059,;-=:69+5;,<-@G-7+,-F/:3920E-�/1,I,6C-27-2;-83/13-
7+57-7+,-<,H53<-./6-=059,;-23-/7+,6-q/950-J:7+/6272,;-2;-50;/-57-+24+-0,I,0;E

j7-2;-3/7-537292=57,<-7+57-7+,-=6/=/;,<-,u=53;2/3-53<-7653;.,6-/.-n6,,3+200-B9+//0-7/-7+,-*G-n05;-53<-�:79+-
n56<,3-F,376,-;27,;-1/:0<-+5I,-5-3,4572I,-2H=597-/3-53G-0/950-;9+//0E-

�� Page 1003



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !��"!# $%& �% '()� *%+, -.�&! )/%&/ (/0 1��02(3) 1%,'

456785699:;<8;:=7>88

?:@8A67:<

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEJGLLDJNEOIPEQHRROSKQDENCDETDDPUOJVETSGRENCKQEJGIQHLNONKGIWEEFGHIJKLEGTXJDSQEMKLLENCDIESDYGSNENCKQE
NGENCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNENGESDYGSNEQNOVDCGLPDSE[KDMQENGEDLDJNDPERDRUDSQEOIPENGEKITGSREPDJKQKGIEROVKI\WEBCKQE
JGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEMKLLEUDEO[OKLOULDETGSEOI]GIDENGE[KDM̂PGMILGOPEGIENCDEFGHIJKLEMDUQKNDWEE_GHEJOIEOLQGE\DNEOE
JGY]EU]EHQKI\ENCDEJGINOJNEPDNOKLQEKIENCKQEPGJHRDINWEE

T̀ENCDEYSGYGQOLQEOSDEO\SDDPENGEYSGJDDPETGLLGMKI\EJGIQHLNONKGIENCDSDEOSDEOEIHRUDSEGTETHSNCDSEQNO\DQENCONENCDE
FGHIJKLEMGHLPECO[DENGE\GENCSGH\CEUDTGSDEOEXIOLEPDJKQKGIEKQEROPDWEE

a5:<:8<76b:<86c:8<:78de78f;8a6gh:8i8g:hdjk

lmnopqrsqtuvuwpqxvmypxqzl{|xqv|}pvmnopq}m~qnpqxun�p�vqv�q�{m�yp�

�vmvuv�w~q�w��pxxq l|}px�mop

���xuovmv|��q�pw|�� ��q�p�p}npwq����q�q�qtpnwumw~q����

���xuovmv|��qwp��wvq���x|�pwp�qn~qv{pq��u��|oq�mn|�pvqm��q�uno|x{p�q��qv{pq
��u��|oq�pnx|vp

�mw�{q����

���p�vp�q�mvpq��wqxvmwvq��q�n�p�v|��q�pw|���q�{p�qxvmvuv�w~q��v|�pq{mxqnpp�q|xxup�q
z�{p�q��w}moq�n�p�v|��xq�m�qnpq}m�p�

�m~q����

���p�vp�q�mvpq��wqp��q��q�n�p�v|��q�pw|�� �u�pq����

t|�moq�p�|x|��qz�pvpw}|�mv|���qn~qv{pq��u��|o�xq�mn|�pvqqq �p�vp}npwq����

�n�p�v|��qwp��wvq�uno|x{p�q��qv{pq��u��|oq�pnx|vpqm��q��v|��mv|��q��q�mn|�pv�xq�p�|x|��q �p�vp}npwq����

�d;<eh767fd;89:cfd�

BCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPETGSENCDQDEYSGYGQOLQEQNOSNQEGIE��E�DJDRUDSE����EOIPEDIPQEGIE DUSHOS]E����WE

¡DDEYO\DE¢£ETGSETHSNCDSEPDNOKLQEGTECGMENGESDQYGIPEOIPEROVDE]GHSE[KDMQEVIGMIW

BCDEFGHIJKLEMKLLEYHULKQCEOEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEGIEKNQEMDUQKNDWEBCDESDYGSNERHQNEUDEYHULKQCDPEONELDOQNENMGEMDDVQE

YSKGSENGENCDEYHULKJONKGIEGTEOEQNONHNGS]EIGNKJDWEE

_GHEJOIEOLQGEOQVETGSEOECOSPEJGY]EGTENCDESDYGSNWE

BCDESDYGSNEMKLLE\GEG[DSENCDEKQQHDQESOKQDPEPHSKI\ENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIEYDSKGPEOIPE\K[DENCDEFGHIJKLZQESDQYGIQDENGE

NCDQDEKQQHDQWEBCDESDYGSNEMKLLEOLQGEJGINOKIE¤QN]IZQE[KDMEGTENCDEYSGYGQOLQW

BCDEFGHIJKLZQEFOUKIDNEMKLLEJGIQKPDSENCDEJGIQHLNONKGIESDYGSNEOIPEPDJKPDEMCDNCDSEGSEIGNENGE\GEOCDOPEMKNCENCDE

YSGYGQDPEJCOI\DQW

T̀ENCDEFOUKIDNEPDJKPDQENGEJGINKIHDEMKNCENCDEJCOI\DQENCDEFGHIJKLERHQNEYHULKQCEOEPGJHRDINEJOLLDPEOE¥QNONHNGS]E

IGNKJDZWEBCKQEKQEOIEGTXJKOLEQNONDRDINEQO]KI\ENCONENCDEJCOI\DQEMKLLE\GEOCDOPW

��Page 1004



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%!�&'(

)*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*3+*,65*7/08-9*:.;934-,3/2*/7*-*<2-93+5=*:0/:/+-9>*?65*-::0/@-9*,/*:.;93+6*-*+,-,.,/01*

2/,345*8.+,*;5*A3@52*;1*,65*B/.2439C+*B-;325,>*?63+*D/.9=*/291*;5*4/2+3=505=*-7,50*,65*B-;325,*6-@5*

05453@5=*-*05:/0,*/2*-99*,65*4/2+.9,-,3/2*05+:/2+5+>*?63+*3+*-*95A-9*05E.305852,*-+*/.,9325=*32*,65*F46//9*

G0A-23+-,3/2*B/=5*HIJK>

?65*B/.2439*D/.9=*:.;93+6*,65*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*/2*3,+*D5;+3,5>*L,*D/.9=*-9+/*:.,*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*

-,*/0*25-0*,65*8-32*52,0-245*,/*,65*+46//9M+NO+3,5M+N*-7754,5=*;1*,65*2/,345>*F46//9+*,6-,*-05*-7754,5=*

D/.9=*-9+/*;5*A3@52*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*,/*A3@5*/.,*,/*:.:39+P*:-052,+P*A.-0=3-2+P*-2=*+,-77*858;50+*

M,65*+46//9*8-1*-9+/*=3+,03;.,5*,65*2/,345*;1*58-39N>*?65*2/,345*+5,+*/.,*,65*=5,-39+*/7*,65*:0/:/+-9+*-2=*

-+Q+*-21/25*D6/*D-2,+*,/*/;R54,*,/*=/*+/>*G;R54,3/2+*8.+,*;5*D03,,52>*?651*8.+,*;5*+52,*,/*,65*B/.2439*

D3,632*,65*=-,5+*A3@52*/2*,65*2/,345>

S(�("T&U��&!U$!V$�W($X"!X!Y�ZY$

B-0=377*B/.2439*B-;325,*D/.9=*=5,508325*,65*:0/:/+-9>*?63+*85-2+*,651*D399*8-Q5*-*<2-9*=543+3/2*/2*

D65,650*,65*46-2A5+*A/*-65-=>*?65*B-;325,*8-1*=543=5*,/*-::0/@5*/0*05R54,*,65*:0/:/+-9P*/0*,651*8-1*

-::0/@5*,65*:0/:/+-9*D3,6*+/85*46-2A5+*M8/=3<4-,3/2+N>*?65*B-;325,*D399*,-Q5*-21*/;R54,3/2+*05453@5=*

32*,65*G;R54,3/2*[503/=*32,/*-44/.2,*D652*8-Q32A*,63+*=543+3/2>**

S('&Y&!U$%!�&\'��&!U$

)7,50*=5,50832-,3/2P*B-0=377*B/.2439*D/.9=*95,*5@501/25*-7754,5=*;1*,65*:0/:/+-9*Q2/D*D6-,*,65*

=543+3/2*D-+>*L,*D399*-9+/*;5*:.;93+65=*/2*,65*B/.2439C+*D5;+3,5>

�� Page 1005



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�'(
)*+,-./,-*012343,4567,8371*/73,9*80,*/26/3,.4,:::;-.8<699;=*>;+?@ABC7-5**218*1*7.27

DEFGHEFIHJIJKLMNFOJP

Q,6/-83.73,453,-.1.-64R,*9,S833/5622,T-5**2,98*0,UV,4*,WUX,12.-37;,

Q,Y8./7938,453,7-5**2,4*,/3:,Z+62<,.--*00*<.46*/,.-8*77,4:*,76437,.4,453,[+4-5,S.8<3/,\3/483],

^.37,),_8R/,̀*.<,a/3.8,4*,̂V,bcXd,./<,YR,S2.7,̀*.<,6/,B2./6753/],:645,eX,1+1627,*/,3.-5,7643,

98*0,T31430Z38,fXfg;

h23.73,/*43,45.4,453,<3>32*103/4,*9,4567,18*1*7.2,67,.4,./,3.82R,74.=3;,A/R,<34.623<,7-5**2,<376=/,

*8,7643,2.R*+47,:*+2<,Z3,-*/76<383<,.4,.,2.438,<.43;,Y5383,:*+2<,Z3,*11*84+/64637,4*,-*003/4,

*/,<34.623<,12./7,.4,453,183i12.//6/=,./<,12.//6/=,.1126-.46*/,74.=37],75*+2<,453,18*1*7.2,Z3,

18*=83773<;

h23.73,4322,+7,:534538,R*+,.83,8371*/<6/=,.7,a46-?,.22,45.4,.112Rd

jklmnopqkrnkstmnuvmpw

k xoyzonkr{k|qm{{w

jksr}onprnw

k ~q�onk���om�ok��o�v{��

jksnmpu�mnopqw

k lt�v�wkk

jkk�r�m�k�o�vuopq

���EGKEF�JM�H�F��L��FK��JJ�KF
�J�FGHEFG���LGOE�F�LO�

W;,[*,R*+,7+11*84,453,18*1*7.2,4*,6/-83.73,453,-.1.-64R,*9,S833/5622,T-5**2,
98*0,UV,4*,WUX,12.-37�

kk��|k k k �~k k �~k~l���~�

l�om�oko���mvpk����

��Page 1006



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�'&*,$-)&�.&)),(/++�01(!!+�'!�,)2�3#/+4�
*11!55!4*'/!,�*1&!$$�'2!�$/')$�*'�'()� #'1(�.*&4),�6),'&)7�8*)$�9�:&",�
;!*4�*,4�<"�.+*$�;!*47�=+*,/$(),>

??@AB? ? CD? ? CD?DEFCFDC

EGHIJH?HKLGIMN?OPQR

S��T&)�'()&)�*,"�1(*,U)$�"!#�'(/,V�1!#+4�/5%&!W)�'()$)�%&!%!$*+$>

X��T&)�'()&)�*,"�*+')&,*'/W)�!%'/!,$�"!#�2!#+4�+/V)�'!�$#UU)$'>

Y�� !�"!#�(*W)�*,"�!'()&�1!55),'$>

�� Page 1007



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� 

!""# $$

%&$'()&" 

*+,-./01234-567,-809-9,1:031,1-70-7+21-.031;/767203-21<=<>?@ABCAD<EFEEG
HI ()&JKLMN(M$(K&'(�ON ('&(L&K$M" #(�KP(L&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(# L MR "(�S' #('IM$("�' T(

)&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(UMNN(VWX<O (L&JK' "(�$(&OY L'M&K$('&('I (Q#&Q&$�NT(

ZOY L'M&K$(L�K(&KNP(O (# [M$' # "(S&NN&UMK[(QJONML�'M&K(&S(�($'�'J'&#P(K&'ML T

\S(P&J(UM$I('&(O (K&'M] "(&S(QJONML�'M&K(&S('I ()&K$JN'�'M&K(# Q&#'(QN �$ (Q#&RM" (�K( ��MN(�""# $$T(\S(P&J("&(K&'(Q#&RM" (�K(
 ��MN(�""# $$(U (L�KK&'(̂  Q(P&J(JQ('&("�' T

_̀CVa<DWB<bWA<DWBA<cWdd?VXeG
fg?Ce?<A?XBAV<X̀he<bWAd<XW<X̀?<ic̀WWg<jAkCVheCXhWV<fgCVVhVk<_?Cdl<mWWd<nF=l<oWBVXD<pCggl<o>=F<nqr<WA<@D<?dChg<XW<
ec̀WWgA?esWVe?etcCAuhbbGkWvGBa<@D<VW<gCX?A<X̀CV<=<>?@ABCAD<EFEEG

wxjq_<yjq
z/,61,-:90{25,-|0;9-:017.05,-},/0~-70-6//0~-;1-70-�09,-6..;967,/|-:23:0237-9,1:035,371�-{2,~1-635-3,,51-}|-69,6��

�+67-~61-|0;9-64,-03-|0;9-/617-}297+56|�-

- �35,9-��- - - �����-- - - �����- - - �����- - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

- �����- - - �����---- - �����- - - ���

�9,-|0;��

- �,�6/,- - -- �6/,- - - �7+,9- - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

�0-|0;-25,3728|-61-6-5216}/,5-:,9103�-

- �,1-- -- - �0- - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|-

z/,61,-72.�-63|-08-7+,-80//0~234-7+67-6::/|-70-|0;�-

- �,68�-�,68,3,5�-�695-08-+,69234- - �21;6/-2�:629�,37------- �034�17635234-2//3,11-09-+,6/7+-.03527203-�,�4�-.63.,9�--

- - - - - - - - - 526},7,1�-09-617+�6�

- �,376/-+,6/7+-528�.;/72,1-- - - �+,,/.+629-;1,9---- - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

- �,693234-2�:629�,37-�-528�.;/72,1- - �0}2/27|-2�:629�,37- - �7+,9

z/,61,-1:,.28|

�+67-21-|0;9-,7+32.-490;:�-

�+,9,-7+,-7,9�- ¡92721+�-21-;1,5�-7+21-9,8,91-70-63|-08-7+,-80;9-+0�,-3672031-08-�6/,1�-¢34/635�-�097+,93-£9,/635-635-¤.07/635�-09-63|-

.0�}2367203-08-7+,1,�

- �+27,-�-�,/1+�¢34/21+�¤.07721+��097+,93-£921+�¡92721+-- - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¡634/65,1+2

- �+27,-�-£921+-- - - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-£35263

- �+27,-�-¥|:1|-09-£921+-*96{,//,9- - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�3|-07+,9

-- �+27,-�-�3|-07+,9-~+27,-}6.�490;35- - -- - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�892.63

-- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-̈-�1263- - - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¦692}},63

- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-635-¡/6.�-¦692}},63- - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�3|-07+,9

-- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-635-¡/6.�-�892.63- - �96}

- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�3|-07+,9-- -- - �3|-07+,9-,7+32.-490;:-�:/,61,-1:,.28|�

- �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¦+23,1,- - -- -

- �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-z6�217632- - - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

*+,-23809�67203-|0;-+6{,-:90{25,5-6}0{,-~27+-},-:90.,11,5-}|-¦695288-¦0;3.2/-23-/23,-~27+-7+,-�676-z907,.7203-�.7-�©�ª-635-¥,3,96/-�676-z907,.7203-«,4;/67203�-*+,-
23809�67203-:90{25,5-70-;1-23-9,/67203-70-7+21-.031;/767203-~2//-},-79,67,5-61-.03�5,3726/-};7-27-�6|-},-;1,5-}|-7+,-¦0;3.2/-09-521./01,5-70-07+,91-~+,3-9,¬;29,5-}|-/6~�-
*+,-:;9:01,-08-:90.,11234-7+,-:,91036/-5676-21-9,¬;29,5-70-:,9809�-6-1:,.2�.-761�1-23-7+,-:;}/2.-237,9,17�-�3|-9,1:031,1-9,.,2{,5-.63-},-9,¬;,17,5-;35,9-7+,-�9,,50�-
08-£3809�67203-�.7-635-�6|-+6{,-70-},-�65,-:;}/2.�-+0~,{,9-63|-23809�67203-7+67-~0;/5-25,3728|-63-2352{25;6/-1;.+-61-36�,-635-6559,11-~0;/5-},-9,�0{,5�
�09-8;97+,9-23809�67203-03-+0~-¦695288-¦0;3.2/-�6364,1-:,91036/-23809�67203�-1,,-0;9-8;//-z92{6.|-z0/2.|-03-7+,-¦0;3.2/�1-~,}127,-
I''Q$®®UUUTL�#"MSST[&RTĴ®̄�°®±&� ®� U²�21./62�,9�z64,1�5,86;/7�61:§-

��Page 1008



����������	
�������
��������������������������
��������������������������� �!�"��������#�$��
����$�������������"�������

�%�$����������$������#���&���"���������������
����������"������'��(

)*+,-.-/0-1+232)+4+3)+5-016718+2322

9:;<=>?@ABCDE=@FD=GC=BF>C=FHF;IFGIC=;D=JKF;IICL=
M=<ABBFKN=HCK<;?D=?O=E:;<=>?@ABCDE=;<=FHF;IFGIC=FE=PPPQRSTUVWWQXYZQ[\]̂_̀aRbYYcdTYdYaSca=

eDO?KBFE;?D=@FD=FI<?=GC=BF>C=FHF;IFGIC=;D=?E:CK=@?BBAD;EN=IFDfAFfC<=;O=DCC>C>L=
gICF<C=@?DEF@E=A<=?D=hijkihlmkimih=E?=FKKFDfC=E:;<L

Page 1009



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#!$"%& %&'!
(( ( ( ( ( ( (
(( ( (
)*+,-./0+1-*2
3((4567(89(7589(:;;<=>7(6:;?7@(
3((4567(6A>(B>(CA;C;98DE(7;(F;@(
(G-*H/I+J+1-*
3((45;(6A>(B>(K;D9?=78DE(B875@
3(L8>B9(;M(K58=FA>D(;D(75>(CA;C;9>F(K56DE>9(
3((N;B(K6D(O;?(PDF(;?7(Q;A>(6DF(=>7(?9(<D;B(O;?A(
R8>B9@

3(S;?A(R8>B9(6A>(8QC;A76D7(7;(?9
TUVIJ*J+1-*2-W2+X,YH2/HX.21*2+Z1H2
.-0/YX*+[J0\],-/*.
/̂W_01X*0̀21*2+ZX2̂VX01JI2̂X0+-,2
aX-],JVZ10JI2.1H+,1b/+1-*2-W2̂VX01JI1H+2c,-d1H1-*
X̂0-*.J,̀2e]X2TY-+1-*JI2fXJI+Z2J*.2gXIIbX1*]2
c,-d1H1-*2hii2j2ikl
3(m?AA>D7(CA;R898;D
3(n>Q6DF(M;A(C=6K>9
3((oA;p>K7>F(qQ;78;D6=(N>6=75(6DF(4>==:>8DE(r>K;DF6AO(
o569>(n>Q6DF

3(s>O(r76E>(t(6DF(s>O(r76E>(u(CA;R898;D(
3(o;97(vw(CA;R898;D
c,-V-HJIH2W-,2̂VX01JI1H+2xXH-/,0X2[JHX.2c,-d1H1-*2J+2
GJ,.1WW2gXH+2G-YY/*1+̀2f1]Z2̂0Z--I2
3(m6AF8MM(4>97(m;QQ?D87O(N8E5(rK5;;=
3(y5>(D?Q:>A(;M(C=6K>9(67(75>(9K5;;=
3(n>Q6DF(M;A(C=6K>9(67(75>(9K5;;=
3(m;DF878;D(6DF(9?876:8=87O(;M(9K5;;=(:?8=F8DE9
z/JI1+̀2J*.2̂+J*.J,.H
3(q97OD
3(4>=95({;R>ADQ>D7(m67>E;A89678;D(;M(rK5;;=9
f-|2|-/I.2H+J*.J,.H2J+2+ZX2H0Z--IH2bX2JWWX0+X.2b̀2
+ZX20ZJ*]XH
3(r76DF6AF9
3(y>6K58DE(6DF(}>6AD8DE(q~C>A8>DK>9
3(m6A>(9?CC;A7(6DF(E?8F6DK>
3(}>6F>A958C(6DF(Q6D6E>Q>D7
e..1+1-*JI2H/VV-,+2W-,2V/V1IH
3((�QC6K7(;D(C?C8=9(B875(�FF878;D6=(}>6AD8DE(�>>F9(
��}��

3((N;B(B;?=F(9?CC;A7(M;A(C?C8=9(B875(qDE=895(69(6D(
�FF878;D6=(}6DE?6E>(:>(6MM>K7>F@

3((N;B(B;?=F(C?C8=9(A>K>8R8DE(�A>>(rK5;;=(�>6=9(:>(
6MM>K7>F@

3(N;B(B;?=F(�8D;A87O(q75D8K(C?C8=9(:>(6MM>K7>F@
gZJ+2J,X2+ZX2bX*X_+H2-W2+ZX2V,-V-HX.20ZJ*]XH�
c-+X*+1JI2.1HJ.dJ*+J]XH2-W2+ZX2V,-V-HX.20ZJ*]XH2
eI+X,*J+1dX2-V+1-*H20-*H1.X,X.
f/YJ*2xXH-/,0XH2�J++X,H
�,J*HV-,+2�J++X,H
fJdX2̀-/,2HJ̀2

c,-V-HJIH2W-,2̂VX01JI1H+2xXH-/,0X2[JHX2V,-d1H1-*2J+2
TJH+X,*2f1]Z2
3(q697>AD(N8E5(
3(y5>(D?Q:>A(;M(C=6K>9(67(75>(9K5;;=
3(n>Q6DF(M;A(C=6K>9(67(75>(9K5;;=
3(m;DF878;D(6DF(9?876:8=87O(;M(9K5;;=(:?8=F8DE9
z/JI1+̀2J*.2̂+J*.J,.H
3(q97OD
3(4>=95({;R>ADQ>D7(m67>E;A89678;D(;M(rK5;;=9
f-|2|-/I.2H+J*.J,.H2J+2+ZX2H0Z--IH2bX2JWWX0+X.2b̀2
+ZX20ZJ*]XH�
3(r76DF6AF9
3(y>6K58DE(6DF(}>6AD8DE(q~C>A8>DK>9
3(m6A>(9?CC;A7(6DF(E?8F6DK>
3(}>6F>A958C(6DF(Q6D6E>Q>D7
e..1+1-*JI2H/VV-,+2W-,2V/V1IH
3(�QC6K7(;D(C?C8=9(B875(�FF878;D6=(}>6AD8DE(�>>F9(
��}��
3((N;B(B;?=F(9?CC;A7(M;A(C?C8=9(B875(qDE=895(69(6D(
�FF878;D6=(}6DE?6E>(:>(6MM>K7>F@
3((N;B(B;?=F(C?C8=9(A>K>8R8DE(�A>>(rK5;;=(�>6=9(:>(
6MM>K7>F@
3(N;B(B;?=F(�8D;A87O(q75D8K(C?C8=9(:>(6MM>K7>F@
gZJ+2J,X2+ZX2bX*X_+H2-W2+ZX2V,-V-HX.20ZJ*]X�
c-+X*+1JI2.1HJ.dJ*+J]XH2-W2+ZX2V,-V-HX.20ZJ*]X2
eI+X,*J+1dX2-V+1-*H20-*H1.X,X.2
f/YJ*2xXH-/,0XH2�J++X,H
�,J*HV-,+2�J++X,H
fJdX2̀-/,2HJ̀2
)*W-,YJ+1-*2,XIXdJ*+2+-2b-+Z2V,-V-HJIH
f-|2|-/I.2+ZX20ZJ*]XH2JWWX0+2-+ZX,2H0Z--IH�
e.Y1HH1-*2J,,J*]XYX*+H
�XJ,*X,2�,JdXI2e,,J*]XYX*+H2
�1*J*01JI2�J++X,H
fXJI+Z2c,-d1H1-*
a-dX,*J*0X2e,,J*]XYX*+H
)YVJ0+2-W2+ZX2V,-V-HJIH2-*2+ZX2gXIHZ2�J*]/J]X
T�/JI1+1XH
G-YY/*1+̀2)YVJ0+
gXIIbX1*]2-W2�/+/,X2aX*X,J+1-*H
c-+X*+1JI2�1H,/V+1-*2+-2c/V1IH
�XU+2H+XVH�2Z-|2+-2YJ\X2̀-/,2d1X|H2\*-|*2J*.2
WXX.bJ0\2W-,Y
3(4567(56CC>D9(D>~7@
3(s>O(n67>9
3(m;D9?=7678;D(C>A8;F
3(r767?7;AO(�;78K>
3(�:p>K78;D(�>C;A7(
3(n>7>AQ8D678;D(;M(75>(CA;C;96=9
3(n>K898;D(�;78PK678;D
fJdX2̀-/,2HJ̀

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
 �

¡
��
¢
£�
£�
�
�¤
�
��
��
£ 
¥
��
�
�¦
�
¥
��
�
�
�
§�
¡
��
¡
 �
�

£̈�
�
�¦
¥
¥
£�
£�
�
¦ 
� 
�¦
��
£�
§�
�
��
¥
��

Page 1010



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#�$ �

%&'()*+)(&*+),--./0()',-1(2

34567899:;<=7567>9?7@A?<B=6C7DA?<?6E76D499;76=A>>E76D499;7F9G<?B9?67ABH7ABI9B<7J4974A67AB75B=<?<6=75B7
<HKDA=59B75B7LA?H5>>M7N=7J5;;78<79>7@A?=5DK;A?75B=<?<6=7=97@A?<B=6C7DA?<?679>7D45;H?<B7A==<BH5BF79?7<O@<D=5BF7=97
A==<BH76@<D5A;76D499;679?7P@<D5A;56=7Q<69K?D<7RA6<67ABH7=496<7=4A=74AG<79?7DK??<B=;I7J9?:7J5=47D45;H?<B7ABH7
I9KBF7@<9@;<7J5=47SHH5=59BA;7T<A?B5BF7U<<H67VSTUWM
N=76<=679K=7@?9@96A;67=975BD?<A6<7=4<7BKX8<?79>76<D9BHA?I76@<D5A;56=7?<69K?D<7@;AD<67>9?7;<A?B<?67AF<H7YYZ
Y[7J5=47\X9=59BA;7]<A;=47ABH7̂<;;8<5BF7U<<H6E7ABH7=4<7?<A69B67>9?7=4<6<7@?9@96<H7D4ABF<6M

%&'()'_0)̀0)a_-a-+*bc)(-)d-2

397X<<=7=4<7H<XABH7>9?76@<D5A;56=7?<69K?D<78A6<7@;AD<67>9?7;<A?B<?67AF<H7YY7e7Y[7J5=47<X9=59BA;7ABH7
J<;;8<5BF7B<<H675=7567@?9@96<H7=9f

g77<6=A8;5647A7hi7@;AD<7P@<D5A;56=7Q<69K?D<7RA6<7A=7LA?H5>>7̂<6=7L9XXKB5=I7]5F47PD499;7>?9X7
P<@=<X8<?7hihh

g7<6=A8;5647A7hi7@;AD<7P@<D5A;56=7Q<69K?D<7RA6<7A=7\A6=<?B7]5F47>?9X7P<@=<X8<?7hihh7

<̂7A?<7A;697D9B6K;=5BF79B76<@A?A=<7@?9@96A;67=975BD?<A6<7@?9G5659B7>9?7;<A?B<?67J5=47\X9=59BA;7]<A;=47
ABH7̂<;;8<5BF7U<<H67AF<H7YY7e7Y[7A=7j?<<B45;;7P@<D5A;7PD499;7ABH7@?9G5659B7>9?7;<A?B<?67J5=47D9X@;<O7
;<A?B5BF7B<<H679?7AK=56X76@<D=?KX7D9BH5=59B67AF<H7k7e7Y[7A=7A7?ABF<79>76D499;67AD?9667LA?H5>>M

l9K7DAB7mBH7H<=A5;679>7=4<6<7@?9@96A;67A=7nnnopqrstuuovwxoyz{|}~�p�ww��rw�w�q��

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1011



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#"$��%

&'()*+,)-,).(/01234/5)-43'6

789:;<=>?@ABAC<=:DE<;9>>:F?>A:G<@@<H:A89:I9@>8:J<K9E=F9=A:L?CM9@C=9>:B>:>9A:<?A:C=:A89:N;8<<@:
OELB=C>BAC<=:P<M9:QRSTU

V>:DBEA:<G:A8C>:H9:BE9:B>WC=L:D9<D@9:H8BA:A89X:A8C=W:BY<?A:A89:;8B=L9>:H9:BE9:DE<D<>C=LU::789E9:BE9:B:
=?FY9E:<G:HBX>:D9<D@9:;B=:A9@@:?>:A89CE:KC9H>U

Z*[2,)\)[,2(-)0,30)(13)-'()3',)](1/.42)40).(/01234/5̂

_+(1̀0)3',)](1/.42)40).(/01234/5)-43'̂

P8C@ME9=:B=M:X<?=L:D9<D@9 I9@>8:aC=C>A9E>

bBE9=A>c;BE9E> b<@C;9:d:PECF9:P<FFC>>C<=9E

N;8<<@:>ABGG P9=AEB@:N<?A8:P<=><EAC?F:e<C=A:fM?;BAC<=:N9EKC;9:
gPNPefNh

N;8<<@:J<K9E=C=L:i<MC9> I9@>8:jB=L?BL9:P<FFC>>C<=9E:

j<;B@:E9>CM9=A> k8C9=C:ME<>:VMMX>L:JXFEB9L:gk8VJh

P<FF?=CAX:P<?=;C@> 7EBM9:l=C<=>:

j<;B@:a9FY9E>cP<=>ACA?9=;X:B=M:k9LC<=B@:a9Fm
Y9E>:<G:A89:N9=9MM:gaNh:ca9FY9E>:<G:bBE@CBF9=A:
gab>h

P8C@M;BE9:DE<KCM9E>:

nC<;9>B=:nCE9;A<E>:<G:fM?;BAC<= a?MCBM:a9CA8EC=:

o9CL8Y<?EC=L:V?A8<ECAC9> IB@9>:bE9mN;8<<@:bE<KCM9E>:V>><;CBAC<=

o9CL8Y<?EC=L:bECFBEX:B=M:N9;<=MBEX:>;8<<@>:
HCA8C=:PBEMCGG:

P@XYCB?:b@B=A:PXFE?:pCM>:P@?Y

f>AX= oBAC<=B@:nBX:o?E>9EC9>:V>><;CBAC<=

P<FF?=CAC9>:qCE>A:bBEA=9E>8CD I9@>8:fM?;BAC<=:q<E?F

PBEMCGG:B=M:rB@9:s9B@A8:i<BEM: r<@?=ABEX:N9;A<E:OELB=C>BAC<=>:

j<;B@:Y?>C=9>>9>c<ELB=C>BAC<=> 7EBGt;:P<FFC>>C<=9E:G<E:IB@9>

u4,-0)(v).'42w+,/)*/w)x(1/5)̀,(̀2,)(/)3',)̀+(̀(0,w).'*/5,0)

PBEMCGG:C>:B:P8C@M:qEC9=M@X:PCAXy:B=M:A89:KC9H>:<G:;8C@ME9=:B=M:X<?=L:D9<D@9:BE9:W9X:A<:A89:HBX:9M?;BAC<=:
C>:M9@CK9E9MU::zA:C>:CFD<EAB=A:A8BA:H89=:YEC=LC=L:G<EHBEM:DE<D<>B@>y:>?CABY@9:BEEB=L9F9=A>:BE9:FBM9:A<:
;<=>?@A:HCA8:D?DC@>U:789:P<?=;C@:HC@@:;<=>?@A:HCA8:D?DC@>:C=:A89:>;8<<@>:C=;@?M9M:B>:DBEA:<G:A89>9:DE<D<>B@>:
B=M:A89:C=G<EFBAC<=:LBA89E9M:C=:A89>9:>9>>C<=>:HC@@:Y9:C=;@?M9M:C=:A89:t=B@:;<=>?@ABAC<=:E9D<EAU

{(-).*/)x(1)|/w)(13)}(+,)*/w)2,3)10)~/(-)x(1+)�4,-06

78C>:;<=>?@ABAC<=:M<;?F9=A:B=M:B:;<=>?@ABAC<=:E9>D<=>9:G<EF:BE9:BKBC@BY@9:<=:A89:P<?=;C@:H9Y>CA9:BA:
�������������������������������������

zG:X<?:BE9:?=BY@9:A<:B;;9>>:A89:M<;?F9=A>:<=@C=9y:DEC=A9M:;<DC9>:HC@@:Y9:BKBC@BY@9:YX:D<>A:<=:E9�?9>AU:�<?:
FBX:E9�?9>A:B:;<DX:YX:9mFBC@C=L:������������������������������:<E:YX:A9@9D8<=C=L:�������������U:

I9:HC@@:BMKC>9:GBFC@C9>:HCA8:;8C@ME9=:BA:A89:B>><;CBA9M:>;8<<@>:<=:8<H:A89X:;B=:B;;9>>:B:;<DX:<G:
A89:M<;?F9=AU

�

 
¡¢
£¤
¥
¦§
£̈
©ª
¤«
¬
®
®̄
¢

°
©®
±
²¢
²®
§
¤³
®
©¤
¬
²̄́
©¦
§
¤µ
§́
¤ª
®̈
§
¶¤
°
¦®
°̄
¦¤

·
²£

¤µ́
²́£
²®
§
µ̄
¤̄
¦µ
©§
²§
¶¤
§
¦¦́
¢¤

Page 1012



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$��%&$''%"'(�%)*%+ �,$-*-%#�% *($-*�#(%"�-%).($�*((*(%$�%/'�(*%+ �0$!$#1%#�%#2*%(/2��'%($#*(%
$�/'.-*-%$�%#2*%+ �+�("'(3

4�'$�*%!**#$�5(%&$''%)*%2*'-%&2* *%#2*%/2"�5*(%&*%" *%+ �+�($�5%&$''%)*%*0+'"$�*-3%%6�.%&$''%2",*%#2*%
�++� #.�$#1%#�%"(7%8.*(#$��(%"(%+" #%��%#2*(*%(*(($��(3%%��%1�.%&�.'-%'$7*%#�%"##*�-%"�%��'$�*%!**#$�59%
+'*"(*%/��#"/#%.(%,$"%*:!"$'%#�%;<=>>?@A;B>C;A;D<E@FGHHIJ>KILM%/��N !$�5%&2$/2%!**#$�5%1�.%&�.'-%'$7*%
#�%"##*�-%"�-%&*%&$''%+ �,$-*%"%'$�7%"�-%$�(# ./#$��(%��%2�&%1�.%/"�%"//*((%#2$(%!**#$�53

O�.�/$'%��N/* (%&$''%!**#%&$#2%#2*%P�,* �$�5%Q�-$*(%"�-%(#"��%��%#2*%"((�/$"#*-%(/2��'(3

6�.%/"�%"'(�%& $#*%#�%#2*%O�.�/$'%#�%#*''%.(%&2"#%1�.%#2$�73%

R2*%-"#*(%��%#2*%+.)'$/%/��(.'#"#$��%!**#$�5(%" *%(*#%�.#%)*'�&S

TUVWXYZ[Y\]̂_̀WaUab]̂YcXXab̂dYeUaX_Y

fUàgXY]hYi]̂_̀WaUab]̂Y eUaXjTbkXY lX̂ X̀Y

4�'$�*%m.)'$/%!**#$�5% n*-�*(-"1%op%q"�." 1%prpp9%%sStr+!% 4�'$�*%,$"%u$/ �(��#%
R*"!(%

v �+:$�%(*(($��(% 4�% *8.*(#%)1%*!"$'$�5%
(/2��' *(+��(*(w/" -$��35�,3.7

4�'$�*%,$"%u$/ �(��#%
R*"!(%

x]̀gYybXz_YUgXYbk{]gaÛaYa]Ỳ_Y

6�. %,$*&(%!"##* %"�-%&*%&"�#%1�.%#�%#*''%.(%&2"#%1�.%#2$�7%")�.#%#2*%/2"�5*(%&*%2",*%(.55*(#*-%$�%

#2$(%-�/.!*�#3%

6�.%/"�%-�%#2$(%)1S%

|%}##*�-$�5%��*%��%#2*%!**#$�5(%� %- �+:$�%(*(($��(%'$(#*-%")�,*3%%

|%O�!+'*#$�5%#2*%��'$�*% *(+��(*%�� !%"#%~~~I<E@FGHHIJ>KILM����;<=>>?B@>B>;E?;

|%O�!+'*#$�5%#2*%/��(.'#"#$��% *(+��(*%�� !9%&2$/2%1�.%/"�%N�-%��%+"5*%�o3

|%%O��#"/#$�5%#2*%�/2��'%4 5"�$("#$��%m'"��$�5%R*"!%)1%*:!"$'%#�%;<=>>?@A;B>C;A;D<E@FGHHIJ>KILM9%

)1%#*'*+2��*%��%�rp��%pr��%p�pr%� %)1%+�(#%#�%���!%�ro9%O�.�#1%�"''9%O" -$��9%O�or%��n3%R2$(%

/"�%$�/'.-*% *8.*(#$�5%"�%��N/* %/"''%)"/7%$�%1�.%2",*%"%(+*/$N/%8.*(#$��%#2"#%1�.%�**'%1�.%&�.'-%

'$7*%�. #2* %$��� !"#$��%")�.#3%

T�XYiW]_b̂dY�UaXYh]gYgX_{]̂_X_Ya]Ya�b_Yi]̂_̀WaUab]̂Yb_Y�Y�XVg̀Ug�YZ�ZZ

R2*%O�.�/$'%$(%��#%")'*%#�%/��($-* %"�1%/��(.'#"#$��% *(+��(*(% */*$,*-%"�#* %#2$(%-"#*3

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
 ¡
¢
¢
£�

¤
�¢
¥
¦�
¦¢
�
�§
¢
��
 ¡
¦£̈
��
�
�©
�̈
��
¢
�
�
ª�
¤
�¢
¤
£�
�

«
¦�
¡
�©̈
¦̈�
¦¢
�
©£
�£
�©
��
¦�
ª�
�
��̈
��

Page 1013



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� ! "#$!%$&%"'()*%+*',%#!%"-#*%,$.+)'!"%

/01231456714781496006:;5<471=>34?31@478=6?<86?7478;34@6A?>157B

CDEFGGFHIJKLEMNOJP42004>2;572;51@43A8660342@>;74Q?Q;034?Q4764274012374781;=4/?R0;381@4S@>;33;654T?>R1=U4V814
2@>;33;6545?>R1=4;3478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;04Q02A1342W2;02R014;5412A84X12=4<=6?QU

CYKJP4S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4T11@3U4S4A8;0@46=4X6?5<4Q1=3654;34A653;@1=1@476482W14S@@;7;65204Z12=5;5<4T11@34;94
781X482W14@;9[A?07;1347827482W14243;<5;[A2574065<\71=>4;>Q2A74654781;=4012=5;5<U44];9[A?07;134>2X4R14=10271@4764
012=5;5<̂4A6>>?5;A27;65425@4;571=2A7;65̂424Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4@;32R;0;7X̂46=4R182W;6?=2041>67;6520425@436A;204
@1W106Q>157U44_SZT4;3436>17;>134=191==1@4764234̀Q1A;204a@?A27;65204T11@3bU

cHEELIFdeJfghHHiGJP424Q=;>2=X46=431A65@2=X43A86604:81=147814j6?5A;042==25<1343A866042@>;33;653U

cHEkiNlJYNmOIFInJKNNDGJP4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:;784j6>Q01o4Z12=5;5<4T11@3482W1424=25<14694;33?134p4
A6>R;527;65469402X1=1@4511@3U4V81314A6?0@4;5A0?@14511@34=10271@4764012=5;5<q4A6>>?5;A27;65q4Q8X3;A2046=431536=X4
@;32R;0;7;13U44

rEHdFHImiJsNmidhJmIDJtNiiMNFInJKNNDGJP4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014:;784a>67;65204u12078425@4v100R1;5<4
T11@3482W14;33?134:;78478;5w;5<q49110;5<425@4R182W;5<U4V8;34;>Q2A734654>252<;5<486:40;9142991A734781>q486:4
781X4A6Q1q486:4781X415<2<14:;7846781=3q47814A86;A134781X4>2w1U44̀6>17;>13478;34;3423424=13?0746947=2?>2U4j8;0@=154
25@4X6?5<4Q16Q014>2X4@;3Q02X425o;17Xq406:43109\13711>q43A86604Q86R;2q46=4R182W;6?=204@;9[A?07;13U4

rDLgmdFHIJxdhNOJyhmIJmdJfghHHiJzrxyCf{JP41@?A27;654Q=6W;3;654764>11743Q1A;[A4511@34694Q?Q;034:86q496=4
W2=;6?34=123653q4A25567427715@424>2;537=12>46=43Q1A;2043A8660U4a|VS̀4=191=347641@?A27;654Q=6W;@1@4RX4781406A204
2?786=;7X425@4@6134567415A6>Q2334101A7;W1486>141@?A27;65U

}mFIGdONmEJP424>2;537=12>43A86604;34243A86604=?54RX47814j6?5A;04:8;A84;345674243Q1A;2043A8660U4j6?5A;04
>2;572;51@4>2;537=12>~3Q1A;2043A8660342=1456743101A7;W1425@4@645674=1�?;=1437?@15734764Q2X49113U44

KLEMNOJHIJ�HiiJDmdmJP478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;034274243A86604_5674;5A0?@;5<45?=31=X4Q?Q;03bU

�YCfcJP4/?Q;04Z1W104S55?204̀A86604j153?3U4�54�25?2=X46941W1=X4X12=q47814v10384�6W1=5>1574A6001A734;596=>27;654
9=6>43A86603U4V8;34;5A0?@13478145?>R1=4694Q?Q;03427412A843A8660q4781;=42<14<=6?Q3q486>142@@=13313q41785;A;7Xq425@4
@2724654v10384025<?2<1q4̀Q1A;204a@?A27;65204T11@3q4[=374025<?2<1425@4Q?Q;034:86482W14�=114̀A86604�1203U

fghHHiJCgdFHIJPJ:815424A023346=43?R�1A74712A81=4<;W1341o7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04:;7842@@;7;65204012=5;5<4511@3U

fghHHiJCgdFHIJ�iLGJP4:81546?73;@143Q1A;20;3734810Q47814A023346=43A86604372994764<;W141o7=243?QQ6=7476424Q?Q;04:;784
2@@;7;65204012=5;5<4511@3U4V8;34;34@;991=15746=42@@;7;6520476478143?QQ6=74Q=6W;@1@478=6?<84̀A86604SA7;65U

fkNgFmiJfghHHiJP4243A8660496=4A8;0@=154:;7842542@@;7;65204012=5;5<4511@46=4@;32R;0;7Xq4:86314511@34A255674R14>174
;5424>2;537=12>43A8660U4V814Q?Q;034274243Q1A;2043A8660482W142437271>1574694̀aTq46=4254�5@;W;@?204]1W106Q>1574
/0254_�]/bU

fkNgFmiFGdJ�NGHLOgNJ�mGNJP4S43>2004A02334;5424>2;537=12>43A8660496=4Q?Q;034:;7843;<5;[A25742@@;7;65204
012=5;5<4511@3U4S004Q?Q;03427715@;5<4243Q1A;20;374=136?=A14R231482W142437271>1574694̀aT425@42=1472?<874RX4
3Q1A;20;374712A81=3425@4012=5;5<43?QQ6=74233;372573q425@482W146QQ6=7?5;7;134764012=5q4Q02X46=436A;20;314:;7846781=4
>2;537=12>4Q?Q;03U44

tNiiMNFInJcimGGNGJP4j2=@;994203649?5@3431W1=204:100R1;5<4A0233134:8;A84Q=6W;@14386=7471=>4;57153;W143?QQ6=74
96=4A8;0@=15425@4X6?5<4Q16Q014@;3Q02X;5<41>67;65204812078425@4:100R1;5<4511@3q47643?QQ6=74781;=4A657;5?1@4
Q02A1>1574;54781;=406A204>2;537=12>43A8660U44/02A1>1574;5424v100R1;5<4j02334;3471>Q6=2=X496=46514X12=B47814A8;0@4
=1>2;534654=6004274781;=406A2043A8660q425@4781X42=143?QQ6=71@4764=17?=549?0047;>14764781;=406A2043A86604RX4781415@4694
7814Q=6<=2>>1U4

4

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

 
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1014



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%

&'()*++,-./010.2*-*34.+3(.5)67'8*34.'4).95'(4*4:.*4.&'()*++.-58-.'.:3'9.3+.;.<5'(4*4:.=48*895>548?.*4.@A*7A.
'99.7A*9)(54.'4).B364:.C53C95.'(5.'D95.83E

F.'775--.'CC(3C(*'85.(3685-.*483.5)67'8*34.'4).95'(4*4:.3CC3(864*8*5-

F.8A(*25.'4).+69G9.8A5*(.C38548*'9..

F.(5'9*-5.8A5*(.*4)*2*)6'9.)(5'>-.'4).'>D*8*34-.

H4.3()5(.83.*>C(325.36873>5-.+3(.&'()*++,-.>3-8.26945('D95.95'(45(-?.>'4B.3+.@A3>.+'75.D'((*5(-.83.
54:':5>548.*4.5)67'8*34.'4).95'(4*4:?.'))(5--*4:.*45I6'9*8B.*-.J5BK

&'()*++,-./010.2*-*34.*-.'2'*9'D95.83.2*5@.'8.7'()*++K:32K6JL7'()*++/010

MNOPQRRSTQUNPVTPWXRRTSVYZ[P\]]YVYTZQ̂P_OQSZYZ[P̀OO]aPYZPbQS]YccP

;4.5++578*25?.*4796-*25.'CC(3'7A.83.-6CC3(8*4:.;<d.*4.&'()*++.*4796)5-.8A5.+3993@*4:.C(*47*C95-E

F..e7A339-.'4).-588*4:-.8A'8.)59*25(.'4.*4432'8*25.76((*7696>.@*8A.5++578*25.@A395.-7A339.'CC(3'7A5-.83.
85'7A*4:.'4).95'(4*4:?.5>38*34'9.A5'98A.'4).@599D5*4:K

F..=f7599548.-C57*'9*-8.-5(2*75-.83.54A'475.8A5.7'C'7*8B.3+.-7A339-.'4).38A5(.-588*4:-.83.*4796)5.7A*9)(54.
'4).B364:.C53C95.@*8A.'.('4:5.3+.'))*8*34'9.95'(4*4:.455)-K

F..=++578*25.5'(9B.*)548*G7'8*34.'4).(5-5'(7AgD'-5).*485(2548*34.83.C(52548.8A5.5-7'9'8*34.3+.'))*8*34'9.
95'(4*4:.455)-.@A5(525(.C3--*D95K

F..h*:A.95259-.3+.'775--*D*9*8B.*4.525(B.-7A339.D6*9)*4:.@*8A.-6+G7*548.i5f*D95.'773>>3)'8*34.*4.525(B.
-7A339.'CC(3C(*'85.83.8A5.':5.'4).-8':5.3+.95'(4*4:K

F..e8(34:.C'(845(-A*C-.83.54-6(5.'.A39*-8*7?.7399'D3('8*25.(5-C34-5.83.'.7A*9).3(.B364:.C5(-34,-.'))*8*34'9.
95'(4*4:.455)-.j*4796)*4:.A5'98A?.7A*9)(54.'4).')698.-5(2*75-?.5'(9B.B5'(-.'4).k6(8A5(.=)67'8*34.
C(32*)5(-lK.

F..=++578*25.>698*g':547B.8('4-*8*34.C9'44*4:.'8.525(B.-8':5?.+(3>.5'(9B.B5'(-.8A(36:A.83.C(*>'(B?.
-5734)'(B?.C3-8.mn.'4).')698.)5-8*4'8*34-?.83.-6CC3(8.')>*--*34.@*8A368.)59'BK

oA5.46>D5(.3+.7A*9)(54.'4).B364:.C53C95.(5I6*(*4:.-C57*'9*-8.C9'75>548.'-.'.(5-698.3+.8A5*(.95'(4*4:.
)*-'D*9*8*5-.A'-.D554.*47(5'-*4:.*4.&'()*++.325(.8A5.9'-8.p.B5'(-?.'4).-85C-.@5(5.8'J54.*4./0mq.83.*47(5'-5.
8A5.46>D5(.3+.-C57*'9*-8.C9'75-.'2'*9'D95K.

oA5.C(3C3-'9-.-58.368.*4.8A*-.734-698'8*34.)376>548.-55J.83.*>C(325.'775--.83.5)67'8*34.*4.9*45.@*8A.8A5.
'D325.C(*47*C95-.3+.*4796-*34K.

�

r
st
uv
w
xy
uz
{|
v}
~�
�
�
�t

�
{�
�
�t
��
y
v�
�
{v
~�
��
�
{x
y
v�
y
�
v|
�
z
y
�v
�
x�
�
�x
v

�
�u
�
v�
�
�
�u
��
y
��
v�
x�
{y
�y
�v
y
xx
�
tv

Page 1015



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"# $%!#%&'"%�(" !)*%�" &+,%

-./0123456780490:/25;/5<0=67.0>??6764;2:0@/25;6;A0B//?<0C>@BD0277/;?020:4E2:0126;<75/210<E.44:F02;?0

G/;/H7095410/99/E76I/0>??6764;2:0@/25;6;A0J54I6<64;0C>@JDK0-./</0:/25;/5<0?40;470;//?0740277/;?020

<L/E62:0<E.44:0450ML/E62:6<70N/<4O5E/0P2</K0

Q4=/I/5F07./0;O1G/50490LOL6:<0=67.0</I/5/02;?0E41L:/R0;//?<F0=.40;//?020L:2E/06;020<L/E62:0<E.44:0450

<L/E62:6<705/<4O5E/0G2</0.2<0E4;76;O/?0740A54=K

-.6<06<0G/E2O</049S00

T00JOL6:0L4LO:2764;0E.2;A/<F0=67.0:25A/50E4.457<0490L5612580<E.44:02A/0LOL6:<0;4=014I6;A07.54OA.0740

7./0</E4;?25802A/0L.2</K0

T00U1L54I/?0<O5I6I2:0527/<09450E.6:?5/;0G45;0=67.0<6A;6HE2;70?6<2G6:676/<F05/<O:76;A06;020.6A./50;O1G/50490

LOL6:<0=67.0</I/5/02;?0E41L:/R0?6<2G6:676/<K0

T00U;E5/2</?0E41L:/R67806;0;//?<F0=.6E.0.2<01/2;707.2707./0?/12;?09450<L/E62:6<70L54I6<64;0.2<0

E4;76;O/?0740A54=K00-./052;A/0490/RL/576</F0<L/E62:6<70<OLL45702;?092E6:676/<05/VO65/?06;0<L/E62:0

<E.44:<02;?0<L/E62:6<705/<4O5E/0G2</<0.2<02:<406;E5/2</?K

T00U;E5/2</?06;E6?/;E/02;?06?/;76HE2764;0490<L/E6HE0;//?<0<OE.02<02O76<1F0>WQWF0L.8<6E2:0?6<2G6:676/<0

2;?0</;<458061L2651/;7<K0

T00X45/0E.6:?5/;02;?084O;A0L/4L:/0=67.0/14764;2:0./2:7.02;?0=/::G/6;A0;//?<K00-.6<0=2<02075/;?0

G/945/0YZ[UW0\]0GO70.2<0G//;0/R2E/5G27/?0G80<E.44:0E:4<O5/<02;?047./501/2<O5/<074012;2A/07./0

L2;?/16EK00

>70L5/</;7F0G47.0L56125802;?0</E4;?2580<E.44:<06;0Y25?6990.4<70<L/E62:6<705/<4O5E/0G2</0L54I6<64;K0

M41/025/0?/<6A;27/?0740<OLL4570E.6:?5/;0=67.0E41L:/R0:/25;6;A0;//?<0=.405/VO65/020<L/E62:6<70

EO556EO:O1072OA.706;020<12::0E:2<<0/;I654;1/;7̂0<41/025/0?/<6A;27/?09450:/25;/5<0=67.02O76<10450./256;A0

61L2651/;7<0=.405/VO65/0<L/E62:6<70<OLL45707402EE/<<0126;<75/210:/25;6;AF0=67.02EE/<<074020;O57O56;A0

G2</09450<41/0:/25;6;A02;?0O;<75OE7O5/?0761/K0

-./0LO5L4</049020ML/E62:6<70N/<4O5E/0P2</06<0740/;2G:/0:/25;/5<0=67.0:/25;6;A0?69HEO:76/<0740<OEE//?06;020

126;<75/210<E.44:0/;I654;1/;7K0JOL6:<025/072OA.706;020<12::0E:2<<0G80<L/E62:6<70<729902;?0G/;/H7095410

20<L/E62:6<70EO556EO:O1F0=.6:/0G/;/H76;A0954107./09O::052;A/0490/?OE2764;04LL457O;676/<02I26:2G:/07402::0

LOL6:<02707./0<E.44:K

>707./0/;?0490X25E.0_̀_\F07./5/0=/5/0_F_ab0E.6:?5/;06;0Y25?6990=67.020<727/1/;70490ML/E62:0c?OE2764;0

B//?<K0><07./0L4LO:2764;0A54=<F0<40=6::07./0;O1G/50490E.6:?5/;02;?084O;A0L/4L:/0=67.0<6A;6HE2;702;?0

E41L:/R0>??6764;2:0@/25;6;A0B//?<K0

�

d
ef
gh
i
jk
gl
mn
ho
pq
r
r
sf

t
mr
u
vf
vr
k
hw
r
mh
pq
vs
x
mj
k
hy
k
x
hn
r
l
k
zh
t
jr
t
sj
h

{
vg
q
hy
x
x
vg
vr
k
ys
hs
jy
mk
vk
zh
k
jj
x
fh

Page 1016



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� � !�"#

$��%�&'&%(�')�"*""+�,(%-./�0��1,.-0%(0/&�2./'34-.�5%/./�'4�/,.-0%(�/-6''(/�7.4.�)3�8.8�9:�

;%480))�;'3�-0(<�

$��=>�&.?,'4%4:�,(%-./�)'4�(.%4�.4/�7.4.�%@%0(%9(.�%&�A.((9.0�B�;(%//./�%�8�1,..-6�%�8�

C%�B3%B.�;(%//./

$��D �,(%-./�7.4.�%@%0(%9(.�0��&6.�E3,0(�2.).44%(�F�0&�GE2FH

A60(/&�&6.4.�%4.�%��3?9.4�')�.I0/&0�B�/,.-0%(0/&�/.&&0�B/�%-4'//�;%480))*�&6.4.�%4.��'&�.�'3B6�,(%-./�

%@%0(%9(.<��J6.��3?9.4�')�-60(84.��76'�7'3(8�9.�.K&�)4'?�%�,(%-.�0/�,4'L.-&.8�&'�0�-4.%/.�'@.4�

-'?0�B�:.%4/<�

M/�&6.4.�%4.��'&�.�'3B6�/,.-0%(�/-6''(�,(%-./�0��;%480))*�&6.�;'3�-0(�6%/�%(/'�)3�8.8�/'?.�,(%-./�%&�

/,.-0%(�/-6''(/�0��'&6.4�;'3�-0(�%4.%/�'4�0��0�8.,.�8.�&�/-6''(/<�J6.�&'&%(�/,.�8�'��&6./.�,(%-./�7%/�

N+<O?�0��� � !�"<�J6.�938B.&�)'4�� �"!���)'4�&6./.�&:,./�')�,(%-./�0/�-344.�&(:�/.&�%&�NP<O?<��

1,.�80�B�'��0�8.,.�8.�&�,(%-./�%�8�/,.-0%(�/-6''(�,(%-./�0���.0B69'340�B�;'3�-0(�%4.%/�6%/�B4'7��&'�

-NO<>?�0��� � !�"<�Q)�&60/*�%,,4'I0?%&.(:�N�<R?�6%/�)3�8.8�/,.-0%(0/&�,(%-./�)'4�&6'/.�(.%4�.4/�70&6�

S?'&0'�%(�T.%(&6�U�A.((9.0�B�V..8/<�A0&6'3&�0�@./&?.�&�0��%880&0'�%(�,(%-./*�&6.�-'/&�')�&6./.�,(%-./�

7'3(8�9.�.I,.-&.8�&'�B4'7�/0B�0K-%�&(:�0��)3&34.�:.%4/<�

J6.�-'/&�&'�&6.�;'3�-0(�')�/-6''(�&4%�/,'4&�)'4�(.%4�.4/�70&6�S?'&0'�%(�T.%(&6�U�A.((9.0�B�V..8/�

&'�&6./.�,(%-.?.�&/�%@.4%B.8�-N+*   �,.4�-60(8�0��� ">!"D�G&6.�?'/&�4.-.�&�:.%4�,4.�;'@08W"D�

4./&40-&0'�/H<�

XYZ[\]̂_̀a]bcd̀ef\̀ghf̀ZicZjcêYà]b̀efĉ\Zk̀èZi

J6.�('-%&0'��')�1,.-0%(0/&�2./'34-.�5%/./�%�8�A.((9.0�B�;(%//./�0/��'&�7.((�80/&4093&.8�%-4'//�&6.�-0&:<�

M�?%,�/6'70�B�&6.�('-%&0'��')�.I0/&0�B�/,.-0%(0/&�,4'@0/0'��-%��9.�/..��%&�,%B.�" <�

J6.�(%-l�')�1,.-0%(0/&�2./'34-.�5%/./�0��/'?.�('-%(0&0./�-%��80/%8@%�&%B.�(.%4�.4/�(0@0�B�0��&6'/.�%4.%/<�

1'?.�)%?0(0./�%4.�3�)%?0(0%4�70&6�&6.�%4.%/�76.4.�,4'@0/0'��0/�('-%&.8<�E%4.�&/�'4�-%4.4/�?%:�(%-l�&6.�

?.%�/�&'�&4%@.(�.%/0(:�&'�&6'/.�%4.%/<�

M�9.&&.4�80/&4093&0'��')�/,.-0%(0/&�4./'34-.�9%/./�%-4'//�&6.�-0&:�7'3(8�0?,4'@.�%--.//�)'4�,3,0(/<��&�

7'3(8�4.83-.�&4%@.(�&0?./�)'4�?%�:�,3,0(/*�%/�7.((�%/�0�-4.%/0�B�&6.��3?9.4�')�,(%-./�%@%0(%9(.<�

�

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
{
vq
yz
�|
�
vs
t
q�
t
�
qw
{
u
t
�q
}
s{
}
|s
q

�
�p
z
q�
�
�
�p
�{
t
�|
q|
s�
vt
�t
�q
t
ss
�
oq

Page 1017



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !""#$%&'!�(#$')**(+#�, #$%&'!�(!+-#.&+*/�'&+#0�+&+#1213

��

4
56
78
9
:;
7<
=>
8?
@A
B
B
C6

D
=B
E
F6
FB
;
8G
B
=8
@A
FC
H
=:
;
8I
;
H
8>
B
<
;
J8
D
:B
D
C:
8

K
F7
A
8I
H
H
F7
FB
;
IC
8C
:I
=;
F;
J8
;
::
H
68

Page 1018



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� �!"#$%&"#�'$"!($)&##*& !+$,-�. / �!$011$2$134

567789:;<7=>?@?=9;

ABCDEFFGHICCJKLMNGOBPGQRSGTMBHJPGFUCGTITEMPGUFGPJHUKDBCNGPHOUUMGBVJGWELOGXYULEUKBMGZJBMLOGBKDG

[JMM\JEKVG]JJDPG

_̂̀a8;b;̀8a=c;@8:@;=6:;:d8;e8f=9g_7h;<d_@8;8i=:?=9_a;d8_a:d;_9g;c8aà8?9j;<7=>?@?=9;f67789:ah;

_>_?a_̀a8;f_:8j=7?@8g;̀h;k8h;e:_j8l;

mj8;nn;o;np;qi=:?=9_a;r8_a:d;_9g;s8aà8?9j;f_<_f?:h;tuvunwuux

q@:_̀a?@di89: mj8;nn;o;ny
tk8h;e:_j8;bx

mj8;ny;o;nz
tk8h;e:_j8;yx

{=@:|nz

}CJJKOEMMG~TJHEBMG~HOUUM �� �� R

ABCKJVEJGAJKLCJ � �R �

�CNKGNG�JCNKG�ITEMG�JFJCCBMG
�KEL

� �R �

�A�GPTJHEBM � �S �

=̂:_a;<7=>?@?=9 bu nyv �

�OJPJGJPLB\MEPOYJKLPGBCJGBMMGXKVMEPO�YJDEIY�GG�OJNGBCJGYE�JDGPJ�GBKDGTCU�EDJGFUCGTITEMPGWELOGKJJDPGLOBLG

HBKKULG\JGYJLGEKGYBEKPLCJBYGPHOUUMP�

�GG}CJJKOEMMG~HOUUMGHBLJCPGFUCGMJBCKJCPGFCUYGBVJGQQ�Q�GWELOGPEVKE�HBKLGJYULEUKBMGOJBMLOGBKDG

WJMM\JEKVGKJJDP�G

�GG�OJGABCKJVEJGAJKLCJGOBPGTCU�EPEUKGFUCG�JNG~LBVJG�GTITEMPGWELOGBK�EJLNGBKDGYJKLBMGOJBMLOGKJJDPGLOBLG

TCJ�JKLPGLOJYGFCUYGBLLJKDEKVGYBEKPLCJBYGPHOUUM�

�GG�CNKGNG�JCNKGEPGBG�ITEMG�JFJCCBMG�KELGFUCG�JNG~LBVJG�GMJBCKJCPG�BVJGQ�G�GQ���G�MMGUFGLOJGMJBCKJCPGOB�JG

PEVKE�HBKLGJYULEUKBMGBKDGWJMM\JEKVGKJJDP�

�G�A�GEPGTBCLKJCGTCU�EPEUKGHUYYEPPEUKJDG\NGLOJGAUIKHEMGFUCGMJBCKJCPGEKG�JNG~LBVJG�GBKDG�G�BVJGQQG�GQ���

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
 ¡
�¢
£¤
¥
¥
¦�

§
 ¥̈
©�
©¥
�
�ª
¥
 �
£¤
©¦
«
 �
�
�¬
�
«
�¡
¥
�
�
�
§
�¥
§
¦�
�

®
©�
¤
�¬
«
«
©�
©¥
�
¬¦
�¦
�¬
 �
©�
�
�
��
«
��

Page 1019



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*

+&%,�)-�"#.�%-/%! (#0� (-1# !"#2�((3�/!4#5�)%!" &6#+1 *�#��� !"

789:;<=<9;:>?<@;A@<>BA<AC;<DE>F;GA;H<IBABE;<H;J8KH<I>E<LJ>AM>K8:<N;8:AC<8KH<O;::9;MKP<D:8G;@<I>E<Q>BKP<

D;>D:;<8P;H<RR<S<RT

5�)%!" &6#.�%-/%! (#0� (-1#
 !"#2�((3�/!4#+( )�*

UVUWXUU UVUUXUY UVUYXUZ UVUZXU[ UVU[XU\

]E>F;GA;H<̂;Q<_A8P;<̀<H;J8KH Raa Rab Rac RaT RaT

]E>F;GA;H<̂;Q<_A8P;<̀<H;J8KH<
deRfgh

R̀= R̀i R=f R=a R=a

j�6#5- 4�#Y#��k)/- WVU WV\ WVl WWV WWV

]E>F;GA;H<̂;Q<_A8P;<=<H;J8KH aff aRf aRc aRi aRT

]E>F;GA;H<̂;Q<_A8P;<=<H;J8KH<
deRfgh

aaf àR àT a=f a=R

j�6#5- 4�#Z#��k)/- lV mW mm WVV WVW

]E>F;GA;H<]>@ASRn<H;J8KH ab ac ai R̀ à

]E>F;GA;H<]>@ASRn<H;J8KH<deRfgh ac aT R̀ =̀ ǹ

+%*-oW\#��k)/- Wm UW UY U\ Ul

p%- (#��k)/- UVW WUWl UUYV UY\ UYm

j�6#5- 4�#Y# !"#j�6#5- 4�#Z#'&%q/*/%!#

rK<afaRsaa<AC;E;<8E;<8<A>A8:<>I<Rca<̂;Q<_A8P;<̀s=<@D;GM8:M@A<LJ>AM>K8:<N;8:AC<8KH<O;::9;MKP<D:8G;@<MK<

t8EHMII<J8MKA8MK;H<@GC>>:@<drKG:BHMKP<LHBG8AM>K<>AC;E<AC8K<8A<@GC>>:<dLu7v_h<G>JJM@@M>K;H<D:8G;@hw<

78xMKP<8GG>BKA<>I<DBDM:@<>BA<>I<G>BKAQy<8KH<MK<J8MK@AE;8J<8?8MAMKP<@D;GM8:M@A<D:8G;J;KAy<AC;<A>A8:<

H;J8KH<I>E<D:8G;@<M@<;@AMJ8A;H<A><9;<GMEG8<̀aa<MK<afaRsaay<DE>F;GA;H<A><EM@;<A><̀=i<9Q<afabsanw

v::>?MKP<I>E<8<Rfg<@BED:B@<A><@BDD>EA<z;{M9M:MAQy<@BI|GM;KA<G8D8GMAQ<?>B:H<9;<A><DE>}MH;<̀b=<D:8G;@<MK<

afaRsaay<8KH<̀ì<D:8G;@<9Q<afabsanw<

rK<@BJJ8EQy<AC;E;<M@<8K<;@AMJ8A;H<@C>EAI8::<>I<Ria<D:8G;@<MK<afaRsaay<EM@MKP<A><aRR<9Q<afabsanw<

+%*-#W\#'&%q/*/%!#

~KAM:<afRiy<t8EHMII<HMH<K>A<J8MKA8MK<8KQ<D>@ASRn<D:8G;@<I>E<LJ>AM>K8:<N;8:AC<8KH<O;::9;MKPy<8:AC>BPC<

DBDM:@<IBKH;H<MK<AC;<MKH;D;KH;KA<@;GA>E<>IA;K<E;J8MK<A><�R=w<LMPCA<]>@ASRn<D:8G;@<?;E;<;@A89:M@C;H<8A<

�E;;KCM::<_GC>>:<I>::>?MKP<I>EJ8:<G>K@B:A8AM>K<MK<afRiw<7C;<KBJ9;E<>I<DBDM:@<;KE>::;H<C8@<8:E;8HQ<EM@;K<

A><Rb<MK<afaRSaaw

rA<M@<HMI|GB:A<A><8GGBE8A;:Q<DE;HMGA<H;J8KH<I>E<ACM@<8P;<PE>BDy<HB;<A><AC;<:8Gx<>I<H;J8KH<D8AA;EK@<A><

98@;<DE>F;GAM>K@<>Ky<9BA<MA<M@<xK>?K<AC8A<AC;<J8F>EMAQ<>I<@D;GM8:<@GC>>:<DBDM:@<8E;<K>A<89:;<A><@B@A8MK<8<

@BGG;@@IB:<AE8K@MAM>K<A><8<�BEAC;E<LHBG8AM>K<rK@AMABAM>K<>E<;JD:>QJ;KA<8A<8P;<Rnw<

rH;8::Qy<@;G>KH8EQ<@D;GM8:<@GC>>:<DE>}M@M>K<@C>B:H<MKG:BH;<D>@ASRn<DE>}M@M>K<?MAC<G8D8GMAQ<I>E<AC;<J8F>EMAQ<

>I<̂;Q<_A8P;<=<DBDM:@<A><@A8Q<>K<BKAM:<AC;Q<8E;<Ri<>E<RT<Mw;wy<8<@D;GM8:<@GC>>:<I>E<bn<̂;Q<_A8P;<̀s=<:;8EK;E@<

@C>B:H<MKG:BH;<a=<D>@ASRn<D:8G;@w<
��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1020



����������	

������
��������������

Page 1021



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%�$&!%"'#(!)$* &+("#(!%$,&!�-�+&$."!&$ ��/(!(�0$
"%$1"�2(33$4&!%$1�55-0(%6$7(8)$*+)��#$3��$#&"�0&�!$9(%)$
:5�%(�0"#$7&"#%)$"02$4&##'&(08$;&&2!$

<=>?@AABCDEFB<GHHIJ@FKBL@MNBOPNGGQB@EB=JBRJMQ@ENSHD?@IHBPGHHIJ@FKBN@MNB
EPNGGQBAG>BTIT@QEB=MD?BUUSUVWBXNDBEPNGGQB@EBQGP=FD?B=FBYDJ=QQKBZG=?[B<=D>=IW

\]̂_̀a]bbc_dbêf_gb_ĥi_jklcf_maabddbfmglbh_lh_noplc_qrst

\b_d̂ ĝ_g]̂_lhap̂m̀lhu_f̂dmhf_vbp_wôalmcl̀g_x̂ b̀kpâ_ym̀ _̂ocmâ _̀vbp_ĉmpĥp̀_ilg]_̂dbglbhmc_]̂mcg]_

mhf_îccĵlhu_ĥ f̂̀_mûf_ss_z_st_lg_l̀_opbob̀ f̂_gb{

|__̂̀gmjcl̀]_m_qr_ocmâ_wôalmcl̀g_x̂ b̀kpâ_ym̀ _̂mg_}mpflvv_~̂ g̀_}bddkhlg�_�lu]_wa]bbc_vpbd_

ŵoĝdĵp_qrqq�

�g_l̀_opbob̀ f̂_g]mg_g]̂_ĥic�_̂̀gmjcl̀]̂f_jm̀ _̂ibkcf_ĵ_maabddbfmĝf_ilg]lh_g]̂_̂�l̀glhu_̀a]bbc_jklcflhù�__

XNDBJIH�D>BGABTQ=PDEB=FBFNDBEPNGGQEB

\mjĉ_�_ĵcbi_opbelf̂ _̀f̂gmlc̀_bv_ocmâ _̀memlcmjĉ_mg_}mpflvv_~̂ g̀_}bddkhlg�_�lu]_wa]bbc

�=HDBGABEPNGGQ <I>>DJFB
YI�Q@END?B
<=T=P@FK
�=MDBUUB�BU��

YQ=PDEBTD>B
KD=>BM>GITB
�=MDBUUB�BU��

O@�FNB
AG>HB
TQ=PDEB

�=JMI=MDBHD?@IHB=J?B
<=FDMG>KBGABOPNGGQB

}mpflvv_~̂ g̀_}bddkhlg�_
�lu]_wa]bbc

sqrr q�r �rr �hucl̀]�d̂ flkd_abddkhlg�_
`̂abhfmp�_̀a]bbc_

\]̂_akpp̂hg_amomalg�_bv_}mpflvv_~̂ g̀_}bddkhlg�_�lu]_wa]bbc_l̀_s�rr_ocmâ _̀mhf_g]̂_̀a]bbc_]mf_�t�_

okolc̀_bh_pbcc_lh_noplc_qrqs�_

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 
 
¡�

¢
� 
£
¤�
¤ 
�
�¥
 
��
�
¦�
§
¤¥
¥�̈
��
��
�
 
©
©
�
�
¤�
�
�

ª
¤«
�
��
��
 
 
¡

Page 1022



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(#

- .(�#/#.�(%0#*�+*#%1+#"�+ 2(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#4 &"2$$#5�*+#

4%��1!2+6#728,#9),%%(

:�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#4 &"2$$#5�*+#4%��1!2+6#728,#9),%%(

9),%%(

;1�.�&*#%!#:%((#<=>?94@ =1'2(#'&%3�)+2%!*A

B
C
D
E
FD
G

B
C
D
G
FD
H

B
C
D
H
FD
I

B
C
D
I
FB
C

B
C
B
C
FB
D

B
C
B
D
FB
B
J

B
C
B
B
FB
K
J

B
C
B
K
FB
L
J

B
C
B
L
FB
M
J

B
C
B
M
FB
E
J

NOPQRSSJTUVWJNXYYZ[RW\J
]R̂_J̀a_XXbJ

C EEK EGE GGK HHB DCDIDDIC DBLI DBEE DBEI

NOPQRSSJTUVWJNXYYZ[RW\J
]R̂_J̀a_XXbJ̀cUaRObRVWJ
dUVXZPaUJeOVUJcbOaUVJ

C C E E DD BC BC BC BC BC

fJgZWZPUJVa_XXbJcZcRbJQUYO[QJhOVUQJX[JbXaObJaOWa_YU[WJcXcZbOWRX[JcPXiUaWRX[VJO[QJ_RVWXPRaObJ

QUYO[QJcOWWUP[V

4%!"2+2%!# !"#912+ .2(2+6#%$#9),%%(#j12("2!8*

kbbJVa_XXbVJR[JNOPQRSSJOPUĴRlU[JOJNX[QRWRX[JPOWR[̂JSPXYJkJmcUPSXPYR[̂JOVJR[WU[QUQJFJXcUPOWR[̂JUSnaRU[Wb\oJ

WXJpJmbRSUJUqcRPUQJFJPRVrJXSJRYYR[U[WJSORbZPUo

à_XXbVJR[JNOPQRSSJOPUJObVXĴRlU[JOJ̀ZRWOhRbRW\JPOWR[̂JSPXYJkJm̂XXQJsJSOaRbRWRUVJVZRWOhbUJSXPJWUOa_R[̂tJ

bUOP[R[̂JuJvUbbhUR[̂oJWXJpJmhOQJsJhZRbQR[̂JVUPRXZVb\JR[_RhRWJW_UJVWOSSwVJOhRbRW\JWXJQUbRlUPJW_UJaZPPRaZbZYox

- .(�#y#4%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+6#8& "2!8*

z& "2!8 4%!"2+2%!# 912+ .2(2+6#

k {XXQJO[QJXcUPOWR[̂JUSnaRU[Wb\J {XXQxJgOaRbRWRUVJVZRWOhbUJSXPJWUOa_R[̂tJbUOP[R[̂J
O[QJvUbbhUR[̂JR[JVa_XXb

e ÒWRVSOaWXP\JhZWJvRW_JYR[XPJQUWUPRXPOWRX[J ÒWRVSOaWXP\xJJ|UPSXPYR[̂JOVJR[WU[QUQJhZWJQXUVJ
[XWJUSSUaWRlUb\JVZccXPWJW_UJQUbRlUP\JXSJW_UJ
aZPPRaZbZYJR[JVXYUJOPUOV

N |XXPJvRW_JYOiXPJQUSUaWV |XXPxJ}UOa_R[̂JYUW_XQVJR[_RhRWUQFOQlUPVUJ
RYcOaWJX[JVa_XXbJXP̂O[RVOWRX[J

p ~[QJXSJ�RSU�JbRSUJ_OVJUqcRPUQJXPJPRVrJXSJ
RYYR[U[WJSORbZPU

�UP\JcXXPxJJeZRbQR[̂VJVUPRXZVb\JR[_RhRWJW_UJ
VWOSSwVJOhRbRW\JWXJQUbRlUPJW_UJaZPPRaZbZYJ

NOPQRSSJTUVWJNXYYZ[RW\J]R̂_J̀a_XXbJRVJPOWUQJkJSXPJaX[QRWRX[JO[QJkJSXPJVZRWOhRbRW\x

}_UJVRWUtJO[QJbXaObJR[SPOVWPZaWZPUJXSS�VRWUtJvXZbQJVZccXPWJW_UJQUlUbXcYU[WJXSJVcUaRObJVa_XXbJcPXlRVRX[x

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

Page 1023



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./01234-5/678-24/8,49-53:+-:5/-/6;<138<:3/18-31-/6=,6-:/->/13:/6-:+,-?,6@/6><12,-/@-82+//48-<1=-

:/-80??/6:-82+//4-3>?6/A,>,1:B

C8:91-38-:+,-/@D2,-/@-E,6-F<G,8:9H8-.+3,@-I18?,2:/6-/@-C=02<:3/1-<1=-*6<3131;-31-J<4,8B--

C8:91-318?,2:8-K0<43:9-<1=-8:<1=<6=8-31-82+//48-<1=-/:+,6-,=02<:3/1-?6/A3=,68-31-J<4,8B-

*+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-M/31:-C=02<:3/1-L,6A32,-N.L.MCLO-38-:+,-6,;3/1<4-L2+//4-I>?6/A,>,1:-

L,6A32,-@/6-:+,-DA,-2/012348-/@-P63=;,1=Q-.<6=3@@Q-F,6:+96-*9=D4Q-R+/1==<-.91/1-*<@@-<1=-:+,-S<4,-/@-

T4<>/6;<1B--*+,-./01234-5/678-53:+-:+,-./18/6:30>-:/-80??/6:-<1=-2+<44,1;,-<44-82+//48-31-.<6=3@@B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8Q-802+-<8-.<6=3@@-./01234Q->08:-2/183=,6-C8:91-6,?/6:8-<1=-/:+,6-,A3=,12,-<W/0:-82+//4-

?,6@/6><12,-<1=-,@@,2:3A,1,88-5+,1-80;;,8:31;-2+<1;,8-:/-82+//48B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8->08:-<48/-2/183=,6-:+,-437,49-3>?<2:-/@-:+,-?6/?/8,=-2+<1;,8-/1X

Y-8:<1=<6=8Q-5,44W,31;-<1=-<::3:0=,8-:/-4,<6131;

Y-:,<2+31;-<1=-4,<6131;-,Z?,63,12,8-

Y-2<6,-80??/6:-<1=-;03=<12,

Y--4,<=,68+3?-<1=-><1<;,>,1:-N4,<=,68+3?Q-3>?6/A31;-K0<43:9Q-?<6:1,68+3?-5/6731;-<1=-6,8/062,-

><1<;,>,1:O

[\]̂_

L2+//48-<6,-318?,2:,=-<8-?<6:-/@-<-1<:3/1<4-?6/;6<>>,-/@-82+//4-318?,2:3/1B-*+,-?06?/8,-/@-<1-

318?,2:3/1-38-:/-3=,1:3@9-;//=-@,<:06,8-<1=-8+/6:2/>31;8-31-82+//48-31-/6=,6-:+<:-:+,9-><9-3>?6/A,-:+,-

K0<43:9-/@-,=02<:3/1-/@@,6,=-<1=-6<38,-8:<1=<6=8-<2+3,A,=-W9-:+,36-?0?348-NC8:91OB

*+,-6,4,A<1:-C8:91-I18?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-?6/A3=,-;6<=,8-<;<318:-̀,9-a0,8:3/18-<1=-?6/A3=,-82+//48-53:+-

6,2/>>,1=<:3/18-@/6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

b/0-2<1-D1=-318?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-/1-:+,-C8:91-5,W83:,-cccdefghidjkldmn

��

o
pq
rs
t
uv
rw
xy
sz
{|
}
}
~q

�
x}
�
�q
�}
v
s�
}
xs
t
�x
�
��
�s
�
uq
rs
t
}
�
�
w
v
�r
y
s

�
��
|
sz
{|
}
}
~

Page 1024



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%�&'(�')"*+)�,$&- +)-$'"$." *!$$� 

/012345617891:9;<81=>?9@0A9071B07@>CDE9C1F109G1EF79H>@B<F7B>01<I<79AJ

/71;>>K<1F719FE81<E8>>;L<1<7F0CF@C<1F0C18>G1ADE81F1<E8>>;1B<1FM;917>1BAN@>?9J1O8B<1BC907BP9<17891;9?9;1>Q1

<DNN>@71<E8>>;<1@9RDB@9J11S@HF0B<F7B>0<1<DE81F<17891T907@F;1U>D781T>0<>@7BDA1VTUTWXUY1F0C17891<E8>>;1

BAN@>?9A9071<9@?BE9178901G>@K1GB781<E8>>;<L1;9FC9@<17>1BC907BQI61N@>?BC91F0CZ>@1M@>K9@1F0I1<DNN>@71

@9RDB@9C1Q>@1QD@789@1BAN@>?9A907J1

[!�"*+)�,$&- +)-$'" \ )�("- "]� *&-̂�]"-'"[+̂��"_"̂��$̀ a

b+)�,$&\"$." cdd$&)"�!+)")!�"*+)�,$&\"(�+' 

=@990 e18BH8;I19QQ9E7B?91<E8>>;1G8BE81B<1G9;;1@D0618F<1F1<7@>0H1;9FC9@<8BN1F0C1B<1E;9F@1
FM>D71B7<1N@B>@B7B9<1Q>@1BAN@>?9A907

f9;;>G e019QQ9E7B?91<E8>>;1G8BE81B<1F;@9FCI1C>B0H1G9;;1F0C1K0>G<17891F@9F<1B71099C<1
7>1BAN@>?9J

eAM9@ e1<E8>>;1B01099C1>Q1BAN@>?9A9071G8BE81099C<189;N17>1BC907BQI17891<79N<17>1
BAN@>?91>@17>1AFK91E8F0H918FNN901A>@91RDBEK;IJ11

g9C e1<E8>>;1B01099C1>Q1H@9F79<71BAN@>?9A9071F0C1GB;;1@9E9B?91BAA9CBF7961
B0790<B?91<DNN>@7J11

e1<E8>>;L<1E>;>D@hE>C9C1EF79H>@I1B<1C9EBC9C1MI18>G1B71B<1@F79C1Q>@1<7F0CF@C<1V4h5Y1F0C1Q>@18>G1FM;91B71B<1

7>1BAN@>?91VehiYJ1

41B<17891M9<71@F7B0H1Q>@1<7F0CF@C<1F0C1e1B<17891M9<71Q>@1BAN@>?9A907J1

jNCF79C1EF79H>@B<F7B>0<1Q>@19FE81<E8>>;1F@91NDM;B<89C19?9@I1I9F@1B01WF0DF@IJ1

k>@91B0Q>@AF7B>01FM>D717891EF79H>@B<F7B>01<E89A91EF01M91Q>D0C1B017891:9;<81=>?9@0A907L<1NF@907<L1

HDBC917>17891lF7B>0F;1UE8>>;1TF79H>@B<F7B>01UI<79A189@9m1

noopqrrstuvwxyz{r|t}{r|}zyy{rp~�y�}xo�t�{r�������px�z�o{�s~�|z�z�vp|�

b+&]-.."�� )"b$((c'-)\"�-,!"�*!$$�

TF@CBQQ1:9<71T>AAD0B7I1�BH81UE8>>;1GF<1;F<71B0<N9E79C1MI1X<7I01B01l>?9AM9@1234�J

e7178B<17BA917891<7F0CF@C<61G9;;M9B0H1F0C1F77B7DC9<17>1;9F@0B0H6179FE8B0H1F0C1;9F@0B0H19�N9@B90E961EF@961

<DNN>@71F0C1HDBCF0E91F0C1;9FC9@<8BN1F0C1AF0FH9A9071G9@91F;;1�DCH9C1F<1FC9RDF791F0C1099CB0H1

BAN@>?9A907J

/017891A><71@9E9071:9;<81=>?9@0A9071UE8>>;1TF79H>@B<F7B>01F71WF0DF@I1232361TF@CBQQ1:9<71T>AAD0B7I1

�BH81UE8>>;1GF<1EF79H>@B<9C1F<1g9C1Ve1<E8>>;1B01099C1>Q1H@9F79<71BAN@>?9A9071F0C1GB;;1@9E9B?91

BAA9CBF7961B0790<B?91<DNN>@7YJ11

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
 �
 �
�
�¡
�
��
�
¢�
£
 ¡
¡�
¤
��
��
�
�
¥
¥
�
�
 �
�
�

¦
 §
�
��
��
�
�
�

Page 1025



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !!"!!#"�$�%&'()*"*�+,�$-"�."�$& /�0'1$-�.'�!'&$)1#�)���1$1#��2324�5 ("�$-"�6'//'7)�5�"( /1 $)'�8

9��:-"�!;-''/�)!�)#%&'()�5�)$!�$& ;<�&";'&*�)��& )!)�5�%1%)/!=� ;-)"("#"�$�)�;/1*)�5�$- $�'6�(1/�"& +/"�

/" &�"&!�'("&�$)#">

9��:-"�%&'%'&$)'��'6�%1%)/!�# <)�5�$7'�'&�#'&"�/"("/!�'6�%&'5&"!!�6&'#�?",�0$ 5"�2�$'�?",�0$ 5"�@A�)��

;'#% &)!'��7)$-�/'; /� �*�&"5)'� /� ("& 5"!A�7 !�/'7"&�)��" ;-�'6�# $-"# $);!� �*�#1;-�/'7"&�)��

B�5/)!-� �*�)��!;)"�;">�

9�:-"&"�- ("�+""��;/" &�)#%&'("#"�$!�)�� $$)$1*"!�$'�/" &�)�5>

9��:-"�*"%1$,�-" *$" ;-"&�'%"& $"!� �&'+1!$�!,!$"#�6'&�$& ;<)�5�$-"�%&'5&"!!�'6�"("&,�%1%)/�7-"��

;'#% &"*� 5 )�!$�$-")&�$ &5"$!>

9��:-"�!;-''/�- !�;'�!$&1;$)("� �*�7"//C%/ ��"*�1!"�'6�DEF�61�*!�)�$"�*"*�$'�)#%&'("�'1$;'#"!�6'&�"G0H�

IG&""�0;-''/�H" /J�%1%)/!�7-)/!$�*"("/'%)�5�$-"�;'&"�!<)//!� ;&'!!�$-"�;1&&);1/1#>

KLMNMLOPQNRSTUQTVQRNTSNSWXNRYWLLPRNZXNT[[XYSXQNZ\NSWXNYWTU]XRN

_̂̀ab̀cbd

:-"�.'1�;)/�- !�# *"� �;/" &�;'##)$#"�$�$'�;'�$)�1)�5�$-"�)�("!$#"�$�)�A� �*�)#%&'("#"�$�'6A�. &*)66�

!;-''/!�$'�# <"�!1&"�"("&,�;-)/*�- !�$-"�+"!$�%'!!)+/"�!$ &$�)��/)6"�efffghijklmmhnoolpoqrpghngstugv

:-"�.'1�;)/�7'&<!�;/'!"/,�7)$-�$-"�5'("&�)�5�+'*)"!�'6�!;-''/!�$'�# <"�!1&"�$- $�!$ �* &*!�)��!;-''/!� &"�

-)5-A�$- $�$" ;-)�5�)!�5''*A� �*�$- $�/" *"&!-)%� �*�5'("&� �;"�)!�!$&'�5>�

0$ �* &*!� $�. &*)66�w"!$�.'##1�)$,�x)5-�0;-''/� &"�)#%&'()�5>��B!$ +/)!-)�5� �0%";) /)!$�y"!'1&;"�z !"�

 $�$-"�!;-''/�7'1/*�%&'()*"� %%&'%&) $"�-)5-�{1 /)$,�!;-''/�%/ ;"!�6'&�,'1�5�%"'%/"�7)$-�"#'$)'� /� �*�

7"//+")�5��""*!>�

:-"�%&'%'! /�)!��'$�"|%";$"*�$'�- ("� �,��"5 $)("�)#% ;$�'��$-"�{1 /)$,�'6�!$ �* &*!�'6�"*1; $)'�� $�

$-"�!;-''/>

}~̀���a��̀ab��~̀ca�a��~��~c�~a�~d�

:-"��"7�!;-''/�6 ;)/)$)"!�!1%%'&$�$-"�*"/)("&,�'6�$-"��"7��.1&&);1/1#�'6�w /"!=�6'&�/" &�"&!�I 5"*�@���4�J�

7-);-�)!�*1"�$'�+"�)#%/"#"�$"*�)��w"/!-�!;-''/!�6&'#�0"%$"#+"&�2322>��:-"��"7�;1&&);1/1#�7)//� *'%$� ��

 %%&' ;-�7-);-�)!�)�;/1!)("� �*�*"!)5�"*�$'� **&"!!�$-"��""*�$'�%&"% &"�;-)/*&"�� �*�,'1�5�%"'%/"�)��w /"!�

$'�$-&)("� �*�+"�!1;;"!!61/�)�� �& %)*/,�;- �5)�5�7'&/*>

�$�)!�&";'5�)!"*�$- $�$-"��"7�;1&&);1/1#�!-'1/*�%&'()*"�+&" *$-A�"� +/"�5&" $"&�*"%$-�'6�/" &�)�5A�"�!1&"�

+"$$"&�%&'5&"!!)'�A�%&'()*"�!;'%"�6'&�#'&"�)# 5)� $)("� �*�;&" $)("�1!"�'6�$)#"� �*�%/ ;"� �*� �#1;-�

5&" $"&�"#%- !)!�'��!<)//!>��:-"��"7� �*�)#%&'("*�!;-''/�6 ;)/)$)"!�-"/%�!1%%'&$�$-)!�()!)'�>

:-"�%&'%'! /�)!��'$�"|%";$"*�$'�- ("� �,��"5 $)("�)#% ;$�'��$" ;-)�5� �*�/" &�)�5�"|%"&)"�;"!� $�. &*)66�

w"!$�.'##1�)$,�x)5-�0;-''/>

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
 
��
��
¡
��
��
�
�
¢
¢
�
�
��
�
�

£
�¤
�
��
��
�
�
�

Page 1026



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$$%�&!�'(!)#*(�'+ !

,--./0122-/.1345.36.377827893:5.836;5.2<.72-9095/.36=.78249/926.96.7-305.:2.782>2:5.7?79-/@.153-:1.36=.A5--B596;C

D15./0122-.9/.02>>9::5=.:2.78249=96;.36.5649826>56:.96.A1901.-538696;.9/.43-?5=.36=.7?79-/.3019545.:1598.

72:56:93-.96.3.1377EF./3<5.5649826>56:.96.A1901.:15E./12A.85/750:.36=.:2-583605.<28.5301.2:158C

D15.G2?609-.A2?-=.A28H.A9:1.:15.-53=58/197.2<.:15./0122-.:2.>3H5./?85.5458E265.?6=58/:36=/.:1598.85/726/9B9-9:E.

<28.15-796;.:2.9>78245.36=./?/:396.0385./?7728:.36=.;?9=3605C

I �( �"J*$!�'(!K�'�) L '&

D15.G2?609-.A2?-=.026:96?5.:2.A28H.A9:1.:15.-53=58/197.2<.:15./0122-.:2.>3H5./?85.5458E265.?6=58/:36=/.:1598.

85/726/9B9-9:E.<28.15-796;.:2.9>78245.36=./?/:396.19;1.758<28>3605C..M:.A2?-=./?7728:.:15./0122-.:2.1345.3.;22=.

85-3:926/197.A9:1.73856:/.36=.2:158.738:658/./2.:13:.7?79-/.8505945.3.19;1NO?3-9:E.5=?03:926C

D15.78272/5=.0136;5/.A2?-=.B5.7-3665=.0385<?--E./2.:13:.:15./0122-@/.-53=58/197.36=.;245863605.9/.62:.

=9/8?7:5=F.A1901.02?-=.1345.3.65;3:945.9>730:.26.5=?03:9263-./:36=38=/C

PQQRSRTUVWXYZ[[T\SX]T\X[Z[RWY!

�̂_̀ !a!_ ̀%b!"J%b!&J !$ �+ '&�) "!%cd!

e.f?79-/.A9:1.,==9:9263-.g538696;.h55=/.

e.f?79-/.85059496;.i855.j0122-.k53-/.

e.f?79-/.A9:1.l6;-9/1.3/.36.,==9:9263-.g36;?3;5.

e.k96289:E.l:1690.7?79-/.3:.5301.2<.:15./0122-/

3:.G38=9<<.m5/:.G2>>?69:E.n9;1.j0122-.

o+J%%̀! p!%c!q#$*̀"!
%'!o+J%%̀!
r+&*%'!

p!%c!q#$*̀"!
%'!o+J%%̀!
r+&*%'!q̀#"!

p!%c!q#$*̀"!
b*&J!�!
"&�& L '&!
%c!rIs!

p!%c!t�  !
o+J%%̀!
K �̀"!
q#$*̀"u!
v!w ��!
�x ��) !

p!%c!q#$*̀"!
b*&J!y')̀*"J!
�"!�'!
r((*&*%'�̀!
I�')#�) !

p!%c!
K*'%�*&w!
y&J'*+!
q#$*̀"!

G38=9<<.m5/:.
G2>>?69:E.
n9;1.j0122-

zzC{ {zC| }C~ ~~ �Cz z~Cz

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

Page 1027



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%#�&�'()#*'"+#,--'"'$% (#./ 0%'%1#2//-)#3,.24

56789:6;<=:>?@6ABCDDE6FEEDG96HD?6HFBIEI:I<96:D6J<6:FIED?<K6:D6:C<6=<<K96DH6:C<6BCIEK?<=6GCD6FBB<996I:L66MFBIEI:I<96

F?<6K<9IN=<K6:D6O:6:C<I?6E<F?=I=N6=<<K96F=K6P?DQIK<6BFER6F=K69:?>B:>?<K6<=QI?D=R<=:96:D69>PPD?:6E<F?=I=NL

SC<6B>??<=:6<TP<?:I9<6F:6:C<69BCDDE6GD>EK6J<6RFI=:FI=<KL6SC<6<9:FJEI9CR<=:6DH69P<BIFEI9:6P?DQI9ID=6GD>EK6

P?DQIK<6DPPD?:>=I:I<96HD?69:FHH6K<Q<EDPR<=:6F=K6HD?6<=CF=BI=N6P>PIE9U6E<F?=I=N6I=6P>?PD9<VJ>IE:6HFBIEI:I<9L

SC<6;D>=BIE6FBW=DGE<KN<96:CF:6F6BCF=N<6I=6<=QI?D=R<=:6BF=6J<6>=9<::EI=N6F=K6>P9<::I=N6HD?6BCIEK?<=6GI:C6

FKKI:ID=FE6E<F?=I=N6=<<K9L6X>PIE96GD>EK6J<69>PPD?:<K6:D6<=FJE<6:C<R6:D6FKFP:6:D6:C<6BCF=N<96P?DPD9<KL

Y$*#*$&(-#)&��$0"#Z$0#�&�'()#*'"+#[%1(')+# )# %#,--'"'$% (#. %1& 1/#\/# ZZ/!"/-]

X>PIE96:CF:6?<B<IQ<69>PPD?:6J<BF>9<6:C<@6CFQ<6̂=NEI9C6F96F=6FKKI:ID=FE6EF=N>FN<6BF=6J<69>PPD?:<K6I=6F=@6

9BCDDE6I=6;F?KIHHL

SC<?<6I96=D6I=HD?RF:ID=6FQFIEFJE<6:CF:69>NN<9:96:CF:6:C<6P?DPD9FE6GD>EK6CFQ<6F6=<NF:IQ<6<HH<B:6D=6CDG6

BCIEK?<=6GI:C6̂=NEI9C6F96F=6FKKI:ID=FE6EF=N>FN<6F?<69>PPD?:<KL66SC<69BCDDE6GD>EK6BD=:I=><6:D6P?DQIK<6

9>PPD?:6:CF:6I96FPP?DP?IF:<6:D6:C<6I=KIQIK>FE6=<<K96DH6<FBC6P>PIEL

Y$*#*$&(-#�&�'()#0/!/'_'%1#̀0//#a!+$$(#b/ ()#\/# ZZ/!"/-]

ADR<6DH6:C<6H>=KI=N6:CF:6F69BCDDE6?<B<IQ<96I96JF9<K6D=6:C<6=>RJ<?6DH6P>PIE96I=6:C<69BCDDE6GCD6?<B<IQ<6M?<<6

ABCDDE6c<FE9L665EE69BCDDE96I=6;F?KIHH6?<B<IQ<6H>=KI=N6HD?6:C<9<6P>PIE9L

SC<?<6I96=D6I=HD?RF:ID=6FQFIEFJE<6:CF:69>NN<9:96:CF:6:C<6P?DPD9FE6GD>EK6CFQ<6F6=<NF:IQ<6<HH<B:6D=6P>PIE96F:6

:C<69BCDDE6GCD6?<B<IQ<6M?<<6ABCDDE6c<FE9L

Y$*#*$&(-#b'%$0'"d#["+%'!#e&�'()#\/# ZZ/!"/-]

SC<6=<<K96DH6I=KIQIK>FE6P>PIE96F?<6F99<99<K6F=K6P?DQIK<K6HD?6F96FPP?DP?IF:<L66SC<?<6I96FE9D6=D6I=HD?RF:ID=6

FQFIEFJE<6:CF:69>NN<9:96:CF:6:C<6P?DPD9FE6GD>EK6CFQ<6F6=<NF:IQ<6<HH<B:6D=6P?DQI9ID=6HD?6F=@6<:C=IB6N?D>PL

fghijhkljigljmlnloipjqrjigljskqsqpltjughnvlw

x66SC<6P?DPD9FE6GD>EK6I=B?<F9<6:C<6=>RJ<?6DH69P<BIFEI9:6?<9D>?B<6PEFB<96HD?69<BD=KF?@6FN<K6E<F?=<?96GI:C6

<RD:ID=FE6C<FE:C6F=K6G<EEJ<I=N6=<<K96F=K6GD>EK6BD=:?IJ>:<6:DGF?K96R<<:I=N6P?Dy<B:<K6K<RF=KL

x66SC<6DPPD?:>=I:@6:D6<RPED@69P<BIFEI9:69:FHH6F=K6:D6GD?W6RD?<6BED9<E@6GI:C69P<BIFEI9:69<?QIB<96I=6;F?KIHH6

GD>EK6<=CF=B<6:C<69BCDDEU96I=BE>9IQ<6:<FBCI=NL6SCI96GD>EK6J<=<O:6FEE6P>PIE96I=6:C<69BCDDEL

x66SC<6P?DPD9FE6GD>EK6<=9>?<6:CF:6P>PIE96EIQI=N6I=6:C<6G<9:6DH6:C<6BI:@6:?FQ<E69CD?:<?6KI9:F=B<96:D6FBB<996

9P<BIFEI9:6P?DQI9ID=6:CF=6:D6FE:<?=F:IQ<6P?DQI9ID=L

x6SC<6=<G6J>IEKI=N6I96H>EE@6FBB<99IJE<6F=K6BDRPEIF=:6GI:C6:C<6̂z>FEI:@65B:67{8{L
��

|
}~
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
�~

�
��
�
�~
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�~
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

Page 1028



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&"'#&(#!�#) '%�*%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) 

/00123405657890:7;<0=>>7;72?=8084=@?7?A0?44>90B=?0C?>0B<=?A40>7DCB68;E00F<4G03=G0C?>0B<=?A490;20H678>7?A90

6?94;;87?AE00I40J?2:0;<4G0:7880?44>0B=@4D688G058=??4>096552@;0;20=>=5;0;20;<40B<=?A49E00K2:4L4@M0;<4@40

:268>0H4096DCB74?;0;7340;2058=?0=?>096552@;096B<0=0B<=?A4E

/00F<4@4079052;4?;7=80D2@0=093=8807?B@4=9407?0;@=DCB0=@26?>0;<409B<228097;40=;0;<409;=@;0=?>04?>02D0;<40>=GE0

F<40N26?B780:268>0:2@J0:7;<0;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G02D0;<409B<2280;20>4L48250=0F@=L480Q8=?0;2037?737940=?G0

52;4?;7=80>79@65;72?E

R$� -!#�"( %�,�"�!'%.�!'"& - &%

F<40N26?B780790944J7?A0;205@2L7>40=0H4;;4@0>79;@7H6;72?02D0954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=9490=B@2990;<40B7;GE0F<790:268>0

735@2L40=BB4990D2@0565789M0=?>0@4>6B40;@=L480;73490D2@03=?G0565789M0=90:4880=907?B@4=97?A0;<40?63H4@02D058=B490

=L=78=H84E0S0?63H4@02D02;<4@04T5=?972?90=?>0?4:05@2L7972?0=;02;<4@09B<22890B7;GU:7>4M0=@40=89205@25294>E

F<4@40790?20954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=9405@2L7972?07?0;<790=@4=0=;05@494?;E0S880B<78>@4?07?0;<790=@4=0:<20@4V67@40

58=B434?;07?0=0954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=940B6@@4?;8G0;@=L480;202;<4@0=@4=9E

S8;4@?=;7L4025;72?90;20;<4049;=H879<34?;02D05@2L7972?0=;0N=@>7DD0I49;0N2336?7;G0K7A<01B<2280B268>07?B86>4W

/0;<404T5=?972?02D097378=@05@2L7972?02?02;<4@094B2?>=@G09B<228097;490

/00;<4049;=H879<34?;02D0?4:0954B7=879;05@2L7972?02?02;<4@09B<228097;490=?>X2@0=0>7DD4@4?;0?63H4@02D058=B4907?0

;<40B6@@4?;02@05@25294>0H=949E0

K2:4L4@M0;<409;=?>=@>90=;0N=@>7DD0I49;0N2336?7;G0K7A<01B<2280=@40735@2L7?AE0Y9;=H879<7?A0;<40154B7=879;0

Z4926@B40P=9405@2L7972?0=;0;<409B<22805@2L7>490=?07?B@4=94>0?63H4@02D0=55@25@7=;40<7A<0V6=87;G09B<2280

58=B49E0F<4049;=H879<34?;02D05@2L7972?0=;0N=@>7DD0I49;0N2336?7;G0K7A<01B<2280790;<4@4D2@40B2?97>4@4>0;20H40=0

5@4D4@@4>025;72?E

[\]#!%̂ '�\-. '%_#�� -'%

KZ0Q42584014@L7B490:7880:2@J0:7;<0;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G0;20=>>@4990;<40KZ073587B=;72?90=@797?A0D@230;<40

49;=H879<34?;02D0=0154B7=879;0Z4926@B40P=940=;0;<409B<2280=?>0;<40@4968;7?A0?44>0D2@0=>>7;72?=809;=DC?AE0

I<4@40;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G0<=L40=>25;4>0;<40N26?B78̀901B<2280Z4>4582G34?;0=?>0Z4>6?>=?BG0Q287BGM0

=?G0?4:0L=B=?B7490=@797?A0=90=0B2?94V64?B402D0;<4049;=H879<34?;02D0;<40154B7=879;0Z4926@B40P=940:7880

5@2L7>402552@;6?7;7490D2@09B<228UH=94>09;=DD02?0;<409B<2280@4>4582G34?;0@4A79;4@E0

��

a
bc
de
f
gh
di
jk
el
mn
o
o
pc

q
jo
r
sc
so
h
et
o
je
f
uj
v
st
te
w
gc
de
f
o
x
x
i
h
sd
k
e

y
sz
n
el
mn
o
o
p

Page 1029



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#$%�##&� $

'()*+,-./01*23310)4*5()*56,7801)*4525-5,9:*;-210<:0.=*621>0.=*?0452./)*/905)902*<,9*3-3014*5,*;-210<:*<,9*<9))*

(,8)*5,*4/(,,1*592.43,95*5,*43)/021045*9)4,-9/)*@24)4A**B,6)C)9D*4,8)*1)29.)94*6(,*10C)*605(0.*56,*801)4*,<*

5()*4/(,,1*82:*@)*39,C0?)?*605(*<9))*592.43,95*?-)*5,*5()09*0.?0C0?-21*1)29.0.=*.))?4*2.?*4,/021*044-)4A**E5()9*

1)29.)94*29)*2@1)*5,*592C)1*0.?)3).?).51:*,9*605(*329).5F/29)94*2.?*0<*9)40?).5*605(0.*5()*56,7801)*;-210<:0.=*

?0452./)*82:*.,5*@)*)10=0@1)*<,9*G)29.)9*'92.43,95A*'()4)*3-3014*24*6)11*24*452<<*2.?*4/(,,1*C0405,94*6,-1?*

@).)H5*<9,8*2.:*9);-09)?*0839,C)8).54*0.*<2/01050)4*<,9*2/50C)*592C)1*5,*4/(,,1*,9*3-@10/*592.43,95*<2/01050)4A**

I4*5()*+,-./01*04*4))>0.=*5,*39,C0?)*2*@)55)9*?04590@-50,.*,<*43)/021045*9)4,-9/)*39,C040,.*2/9,44*5()*/05:D*05*04*

)J3)/5)?*5(25*5()*2C)92=)*592C)1*?0452./)*5,*43)/021045*9)4,-9/)*@24)4*<,9*0.?0C0?-21*1)29.)94*6,-1?*9)?-/)*

0.*<-5-9)A

I*4/(,,1*39,3,421*5,*)452@104(*2??050,.21*1)29.0.=*.))?4*<2/01050)4*82:*9);-09)*2*'92.43,95*K525)8).5*6(0/(*

6011*0?).50<:*8)24-9)4*5,*@)*0./1-?)?*24*3295*,<*5()*23310/250,.*5,*82J0804)*592C)1*@:*4-4520.2@1)*8,?)4A***

'()*+,-./01L4*/-99).5*+,93,925)*M12.*0./1-?)4*2*/,88058).5*5,*)C)9:*4/(,,1*0.*+29?0<<*?)C)1,30.=*2.*I/50C)*

'92C)1*M12.A*K-/(*2*312.*6011*0?).50<:*2/50,.4*@:*5()*4/(,,1*5,*4-33,95*2.?*)./,-92=)*2/50C)*592C)1*5,*4/(,,1*

2.?*214,*2.:*0839,C)8).54*5,*,.7405)*2.?*,<<7405)*0.<92459-/5-9)*9);-09)?*5,*<2/010525)*2/50C)*N,-9.):4A**

O./9)240.=*592C)1*5,*4/(,,1*@:*2/50C)*8,?)4*P621>0.=D*/:/10.=*2.?*4/,,50.=Q*@:*).4-90.=*42<)*<2/01050)4*29)*

39,C0?)?*6011*(2C)*2*3,4050C)*0832/5*,.*/(01?9).L4*()215(*2.?*6)11@)0.=A**

I*.-8@)9*,<*0.050250C)4*(2C)*4-//)44<-11:*?)8,.45925)?*4-33,95*2.?*)./,-92=)8).5*<,9*2/50C)*2.?*

4-4520.2@1)*592C)1*28,.=45*5()*2??050,.21*1)29.0.=*.))?4*/,(,95D*0./1-?0.=*O.?)3).?).5*'92C)1*'920.0.=*<,9*

,1?)9*3-3014D*/:/1)*820.5).2./)*2.?*/:/1)*5920.0.=A***

R05(*5()*)J3)/5)?*0./9)24)?*?)82.?*<,9*G)29.)9*'92.43,95*25*+29?0<<*R)45*+,88-.05:*B0=(*K/(,,1*

4-052@1)*0839,C)?*2.?*F*,9*)J32.?)?*<2/01050)4*<,9*?9,37,<<*2.?*30/>7-3*82:*@)*9);-09)?*605(0.*5()*405)*5,*

2//,88,?25)*5()*2339,39025)*.-8@)94*,<*C)(0/1)4A*I??050,.21*329>0.=*9)4590/50,.4*21,.=*M).211:*S,2?*29,-.?*

4/(,,1*45295*2.?*H.04(*508)4*6,-1?*9)?-/)*/,.=)450,.*2.?*329>0.=*044-)4*2.?*0839,C)*42<)5:*<,9*3-3014A**

T�U&$V"W�$ �V$

I5*5()*).?*,<*5()*@,,>1)5*04*2*;-)450,..209)A*'(04*04*:,-9*/(2./)*5,*1)5*5()*+,-./01*>.,6*6(25*:,-*5(0.>*2@,-5*

5()*39,3,421A*X,-*/2.*=0C)*2*9)43,.4)*5,*211*,<*5()*;-)450,.4D*,9*N-45*9)43,.?*5,*4,8)*,<*5()8D*24*:,-*39)<)9A*

I15)9.250C)1:D*:,-*/2.*4).?*-4*:,-9*C0)64*0.*,.)*,<*5()*<,11,60.=*62:4Y

Z*+,831)50.=*5()*,.10.)*9)43,.4)*<,98*25*[[[\]̂_̀abb\cde\fghijkl]mddno_dodl̂nl

Z*p8201*:,-9*C0)64*5,*l]mddn_qlodrlqls]̂_̀abb\cde\fg

Z**R905)*5,*-4*25*5()*<,11,60.=*2??9)44Y*K/(,,1*E9=2.04250,.*M12..0.=D*S,,8*tuvD*+,-.5:*B211D*I512.50/*

R(29<D*+29?0<<D*+wvu*txRA*

'()*+,-./01*6011*/,.40?)9*)C)9:,.)L4*C0)64*@)<,9)*?)/0?0.=*6()5()9*5,*=,*2()2?*605(*5()*39,3,4)?*/(2.=)4A

'()*/1,40.=*?25)*<,9*9)43,.4)4*5,*5(04*39,3,421*04*v*w)@9-29:*yuyyA**

��

z
{|
}~
�
��
}�
��
~�
��
�
�
�|

�
��
�
�|
��
�
~�
�
�~
�
��
�
��
�~
�
�|
}~
�
�
�
�
�
�
�}
�
~

�
��
�
~�
��
�
�
�

Page 1030



���������	
��

Page 1031



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%�$&!%"'#(!)$* &+("#(!%$,&!�-�+&$."!&$ ��/(!(�0$
"%$1"!%&�0$2(3)$4��$#&"�0&�!$5(%)$16�%(�0"#$2&"#%)$"07$
8&##'&(03$9&&7!$

:;<=>?@ABCDEAC<A;@A:@DFC<EGH>ICJHAKLHHJ@C=MAECDEA<KELLFANL?AOJOCF<A;D>IAPPGPQRA
SE>A<KELLFAC<AKLGFLK;=>IATC=EAU;?ICNNAVAW;F>AULFF>D>AOL<=GPQAO?LXC<CL@AC@A@>TAYJCFIA
;KKLHHLI;=CL@A;=AS?LTY?CID>AZL;I[AS?LTY?CID>RA

\]̂_̀ à̂ab̀ ĉdef̀ghcdîj̀_gdĵk]f̂lm̀ecgnchâòh]pfèq̂gh̀m̂ngèĥk]f̂ǹgfd̀fĥrcab̂̀_]ac]dgn̂b̀gnab̂

gdĵr̀nns̀cdîd̀ j̀ĥgìĵtt̂ûtv̂câcĥmf]m]h̀ĵa]w

x̂ h̀agsnchb̂ĝyẑmngèl̂m̀ecgnchâòh]pfèq̂gh̀ĝâ{ghàfd̂|cib̂kf]_̂l̀mà_s̀f̂yzyy

}âcĥmf]m]h̀ĵabgâab̀ d̂̀rn~̂̀hagsnchb̀ĵsgh̀r̂]pnĵcdcacgnn~̂s̀ ĝee]__]jgàĵrcabcd̂ab̀^̀�chacdî

spcnjcdiĥhbgf̀ĵs~̂{ghàfd̂|cib̂gdĵ�gfjckk̂gdĵ�gǹ̂�]nǹì�̂rcab̂ngàf̂r]f�ĥa]̂s̀ p̂dj̀fag�̀d̂a]̂

mf]�cj̀ ĝjjcac]dgn̂gee]__]jgac]d̂gdĵkgecncac̀h�

SE>A@JHY>?ALNAOF;K><A;=A=E>A<KELLF<A

S;YF>AP�AY>FLTAO?LXCI><AI>=;CF<ALNAOF;K><A;X;CF;YF>A;=A:;<=>?@ABCDE

�;H>ALNA<KELLF UJ??>@=A
�JYFC<E>IA
U;O;KC=MA
�;D>APPA�APQ�

�F;K><AO>?A
M>;?AD?LJOA
�;D>APPA�APQ�

�C�=EA
NL?HA
OF;K><A

�;@DJ;D>AH>ICJHA;@IA
U;=>DL?MALNA�KELLFA

{ghàfd̂|cib̂ tyzz y�z ��̂ {dinchb�_̀jcp_̂e]__pdca~̂
h̀e]djgf~̂heb]]n̂

\b̀ êpff̀dâegmgeca~̂]k̂{ghàfd̂|cib̂cĥtyzẑmngèĥgdĵab̀ ĥeb]]n̂bgĵtzv�̂mpmcnĥ]d̂f]nn̂cd̂̂�mfcn̂yzyt�

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
� 
¡
¡
¢�

£
�¡
¤
¥�
¥¡
�
�¦
¡
��
§̈
��
��
�©
¥ª
 

Page 1032



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%&#'( )�*# +#+,�#*),%%(#

- .(�#//#.�(%0#*�+*#%1+#"�+ 2(*#%$#&�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((# +#4 *+�&!#526,#

7�)�!+# !"#'&%3�)+�"#!1�.�&*#%!#&%((#4 *+�&!#526,

8),%%(

91�.�&*#%!#7%((#:;<=8>? ;1'2(#'&%3�)+2%!*@

A
B
C
D
EC
F

A
B
C
F
EC
G

A
B
C
G
EC
H

A
B
C
H
EA
B

A
B
A
B
EA
C

A
B
A
C
EA
A
I

A
B
A
A
EA
J
I

A
B
A
J
EA
K
I

A
B
A
K
EA
L
I

A
B
A
L
EA
D
I

MNOPQRSITUVWI FBB FJB GDK HDG CBHL CCHBCAGJ CJJK CJLH CJLF

MNOPQRSITUVWIXYQZUN[UOPI
\QO]̂RZQI_NOQ

B B B B B B L CB CL AB

ÌâP̂RQIOZW]][IŶYU[IbQcNSbIdNOQbI]SI[]ZN[IZNPZWcQSPIY]Ŷ[NPU]SIYR]eQZPU]SOINSbIWUOP]RUZN[I

bQcNSbIYNPPQRSO

>%!"2+2%!# !"#812+ .2(2+f#%$#8),%%(#g12("2!6*

h[[IOZW]][OIUSIiNRbUjjINRQIVUkQSINIi]SbUPU]SIRNPUSVIjR]cIhIlYQRj]RcUSVINOIUSPQSbQbIEI]YQRNPUSVIQjmZUQSP[noI
P]IpIl[UjQIQqYURQbIEIRUOrI]jIUccUSQSPIjNU[̂RQo

XZW]][OIUSIiNRbUjjINRQIN[O]IVUkQSINIX̂UPNdU[UPnIRNPUSVIjR]cIhIlV]]bIsIjNZU[UPUQOIÔUPNd[QIj]RIPQNZWUSVtI
[QNRSUSVIuIvQ[[dQUSVoIP]IpIldNbIsId̂U[bUSVIOQRU]̂O[nIUSWUdUPIPWQIOPNjjwOINdU[UPnIP]IbQ[UkQRIPWQIẐRRUẐ[̂cox

- .(�#/y#>%!"2+2%!# !"#*12+ .2(2+f#6& "2!6*#

z& "2!6 >%!"2+2%!# 812+ .2(2+f#

h {]]bINSbI]YQRNPUSVIQjmZUQSP[nI {]]bxIaNZU[UPUQOIÔUPNd[QIj]RIPQNZWUSVtI[QNRSUSVI
NSbIvQ[[dQUSVIUSIOZW]][

_ XNPUOjNZP]RnId̂PIvUPWIcUS]RIbQPQRU]RNPU]SI XNPUOjNZP]RnxII|QRj]RcUSVINOIUSPQSbQbId̂PIb]QOI
S]PIQjjQZPUkQ[nIÔYY]RPIPWQIbQ[UkQRnI]jIPWQI
ẐRRUẐ[̂cIUSIO]cQINRQNO

i |]]RIvUPWIcNe]RIbQjQZPO |]]RxI}QNZWUSVIcQPW]bOIUSWUdUPQbENbkQROQI
UcYNZPI]SIOZW]][I]RVNSUONPU]SI

p MSbI]jI~UjQ�I[UjQIWNOIQqYURQbI]RIRUOrI]jI
UccUSQSPIjNU[̂RQ

�QRnIY]]RxII_̂U[bUSVOIOQRU]̂O[nIUSWUdUPIPWQI
OPNjjwOINdU[UPnIP]IbQ[UkQRIPWQIẐRRUẐ[̂cI

MNOPQRSITUVWIUOIRNPQbIhIj]RIZ]SbUPU]SINSbIhIj]RIÔUPNdU[UPnx

}WQIOUPQtINSbI[]ZN[IUSjRNOPR̂ZP̂RQI]jj�OUPQtIv]̂[bIÔYY]RPIPWQIbQkQ[]YcQSPI]jIOYQZUN[IOZW]][IYR]kUOU]Sx

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�

Page 1033



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$�%&$'"�%&�(&)$

*+,-./01234-5/678-24/8,49-53:+-:5/-/6;<138<:3/18-31-/6=,6-:/->/13:/6-:+,-?,6@/6><12,-/@-82+//48-<1=-:/-
80??/6:-82+//4-3>?6/A,>,1:B

C8:91-38-:+,-/@D2,-/@-E,6-F<G,8:9H8-.+3,@-I18?,2:/6-/@-C=02<:3/1-<1=-*6<3131;-31-J<4,8B--

C8:91-318?,2:8-K0<43:9-<1=-8:<1=<6=8-31-82+//48-<1=-/:+,6-,=02<:3/1-?6/A3=,68-31-J<4,8B-

*+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-M/31:-C=02<:3/1-L,6A32,-N.L.MCLO-38-:+,-6,;3/1<4-L2+//4-I>?6/A,>,1:-
L,6A32,-@/6-:+,-DA,-2/012348-/@-P63=;,1=Q-.<6=3@@Q-F,6:+96-*9=D4Q-R+/1==<-.91/1-*<@@-<1=-:+,-S<4,-/@-
T4<>/6;<1B-*+,-./01234-5/678-53:+-:+,-./18/6:30>-:/-80??/6:-<1=-2+<44,1;,-<44-82+//48-31-.<6=3@@B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8Q-802+-<8-.<6=3@@-./01234Q->08:-2/183=,6-C8:91-6,?/6:8-<1=-/:+,6-,A3=,12,-<W/0:-82+//4-
?,6@/6><12,-<1=-,@@,2:3A,1,88-5+,1-80;;,8:31;-2+<1;,8-:/-82+//48B

U/2<4-V0:+/63:3,8->08:-<48/-2/183=,6-:+,-437,49-3>?<2:-/@-:+,-?6/?/8,=-2+<1;,8-/1X

Y- 8:<1=<6=8Q-5,44W,31;-<1=-<::3:0=,8-:/-4,<6131;

Y- :,<2+31;-<1=-4,<6131;-,Z?,63,12,8-

Y- 2<6,-80??/6:-<1=-;03=<12,

Y- -4,<=,68+3?-<1=-><1<;,>,1:-N4,<=,68+3?Q-3>?6/A31;-K0<43:9Q-?<6:1,68+3?-5/6731;-<1=-6,8/062,-
><1<;,>,1:O

[\]̂_

L2+//48-<6,-318?,2:,=-<8-?<6:-/@-<-1<:3/1<4-?6/;6<>>,-/@-82+//4-318?,2:3/1B-*+,-?06?/8,-/@-<1-
318?,2:3/1-38-:/-3=,1:3@9-;//=-@,<:06,8-<1=-8+/6:2/>31;8-31-82+//48-31-/6=,6-:+<:-:+,9-><9-3>?6/A,-:+,-
K0<43:9-/@-,=02<:3/1-/@@,6,=-<1=-6<38,-8:<1=<6=8-<2+3,A,=-W9-:+,36-?0?348-NC8:91OB

*+,-6,4,A<1:-C8:91-I18?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-?6/A3=,-;6<=,8-<;<318:-̀,9-a0,8:3/18-<1=-?6/A3=,-82+//48-53:+-
6,2/>>,1=<:3/18-@/6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

b/0-2<1-D1=-318?,2:3/1-6,?/6:8-/1-:+,-C8:91-5,W83:,-cccdefghidjkldmn-

opq\rstuvpw_xp_]syz]p{uw|\z]|u_su}s\yruuq\

I1-~���Q-:+,-J,48+-T/A,61>,1:-31:6/=02,=-<-1,5-2<:,;/638<:3/1-898:,>B

I:-4//78-<:-,<2+-82+//4H8-8:<1=<6=8-<1=-+/5->02+-<-82+//4-38-<W4,-:/-3>?6/A,B-*+38-3=,1:3D,8-:+,-4,A,4-/@-
80??/6:-82+//48-6,K036,B-�6;<138<:3/18-802+-<8-:+,-.,1:6<4-L/0:+-./18/6:30>-N.L.MCLO-<1=-:+,-82+//4-
3>?6/A,>,1:-8,6A32,-:+,1-5/67-53:+-82+//48H-4,<=,68-:/-3=,1:3@9Q-?6/A3=,-<1=�/6-W6/7,6-<19-80??/6:-
6,K036,=-@/6-@06:+,6-3>?6/A,>,1:B

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�

Page 1034



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&'("#'%) (*(#�+ '( ,�(!&'-�, ') �"-.� /0 -�.%12

3"#�$%&* %4 (566%&# 7�"# #�� !"#�$%&* +�")(

89::; <=>?@>AB=:CC:DE?F:=GD>HHA=I>?D>=?G=I:AA=9J;K=>LG=L=GE9H;@=A:LM:9G>?N=L;M=?G=DA:L9=
LOHJE=?EG=N9?H9?E?:G=CH9=?PN9HF:P:;E

Q:AAHI <;=:CC:DE?F:=GD>HHA=I>?D>=?G=LA9:LMB=MH?;@=I:AA=L;M=R;HIG=E>:=L9:LG=?E=;::MG=EH=
?PN9HF:S

<PO:9 <=GD>HHA=?;=;::M=HC=?PN9HF:P:;E=I>?D>=;::MG=>:AN=EH=?M:;E?CB=E>:=GE:NG=EH=
?PN9HF:=H9=EH=PLR:=D>L;@:=>LNN:;=PH9:=TJ?DRABS==

U:M <=GD>HHA=?;=;::M=HC=@9:LE:GE=?PN9HF:P:;E=L;M=I?AA=9:D:?F:=?PP:M?LE:K=?;E:;G?F:=
GJNNH9ES==

<=GD>HHAVG=DHAHJ9WDHM:M=DLE:@H9B=?G=M:D?M:M=OB=>HI=?E=?G=9LE:M=CH9=GEL;ML9MG=XYWZ[=L;M=CH9=>HI=LOA:=?E=?G=EH=

?PN9HF:=X<W\[S=

Y=?G=E>:=O:GE=9LE?;@=CH9=GEL;ML9MG=L;M=<=?G=E>:=O:GE=CH9=?PN9HF:P:;ES=

]NMLE:M=DLE:@H9?GLE?H;G=CH9=:LD>=GD>HHA=L9:=NJOA?G>:M=:F:9B=B:L9=?;=̂L;JL9BS=

_H9:=?;CH9PLE?H;=LOHJE=E>:=DLE:@H9?GLE?H;=GD>:P:=DL;=O:=CHJ;M=?;=E>:=̀:AG>=8HF:9;P:;EVG=NL9:;EGV=

@J?M:=EH=E>:=aLE?H;LA=bD>HHA=cLE:@H9?GLE?H;=bBGE:P=>:9:d=

effghiijklmnopqrisktristqppriguvpwtofwkxriyz{yy|}go~qxfr}juwsq}qxmgs�

�"(#�&) �'$� 

�LGE:9;=�?@>=ILG=ALGE=?;GN:DE:M=OB=�GEB;=?;=\:D:PO:9=��YZS

<E=E>?G=E?P:=E>:=GD>HHAVG=N:9CH9PL;D:=L;M=N9HGN:DEG=CH9=?PN9HF:P:;E=I:9:=�JM@:M=LG=J;GLE?GCLDEH9BS

�HAAHI?;@=L=CJ9E>:9=PH;?EH9?;@=F?G?E=?;=aHF:PO:9=��Y�K=E>:=GD>HHA=ILG=�JM@:M=EH=>LF:=PLM:=GJC�D?:;E=

N9H@9:GG=L;M=ILG=9:PHF:M=C9HP=E>:=A?GE=HC=GD>HHAG=9:TJ?9?;@=GN:D?LA=P:LGJ9:GS

�;=E>:=PHGE=9:D:;E=̀:AG>=8HF:9;P:;E=bD>HHA=cLE:@H9?GLE?H;=LE=̂L;JL9B=����K=�LGE:9;=�?@>=ILG=DLE:@H9?G:M=

LE=Q:AAHI=X<;=:CC:DE?F:=GD>HHA=I>?D>=?G=LA9:LMB=MH?;@=I:AA=L;M=R;HIG=E>:=L9:LG=?E=;::MG=EH=?PN9HF:[S==

<;=LGG:GGP:;E=N9HF?M:M=OB=E>:=c:;E9LA=bHJE>=cH;GH9E?JP=?;=<JEJP;=���Y=@LF:=E>:=CHAAHI?;@=:FLAJLE?H;d

�====�>:=GD>HHA=>LG=L=F:9B=@HHM=E9LDR=9:DH9M=?;=9L?G?;@=E>:=LD>?:F:P:;E=HC=;:L9AB=LAA=NJN?AGK=?;DAJM?;@=

FJA;:9LOA:=A:L9;:9G=HF:9=E>:=N9:F?HJG=E>9::WB:L9=N:9?HMS

�=====�>:=N9HNH9E?H;=HC=NJN?AG=PLR?;@=EIH=H9=PH9:=A:F:AG=HC=N9H@9:GG=C9HP=�:B=bEL@:=�=EH=�:B=bEL@:=�K=?;=

DHPNL9?GH;=I?E>=AHDLA=L;M=9:@?H;LA=LF:9L@:GK=ILG=PJD>=AHI:9=?;=:LD>=HC=�;@A?G>K=PLE>:PLE?DG=L;M=GD?:;D:S

�=====�:LM:9G=E>9HJ@>HJE=E>:=GD>HHA=NAL;=L;M=?PNA:P:;E=D>L;@:=L;M=GJGEL?;=?PN9HF:P:;E=GJDD:GGCJAAB=?;=

PHGE=9:GN:DEGS=�>:=G:;?H9=A:LM:9G>?N=E:LP=?G=G:EE?;@=E>:=M?9:DE?H;=CH9=E>:=IH9R=HC=E>:=GELCC=E:LP=L;M=E>?G=

IH9R=?G=>LF?;@=L=NHG?E?F:=?PNLDE=JNH;=E>:=A:L9;?;@=:�N:9?:;D:G=HC=LAA=NJN?AGS

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
 �

¡
��
¢
£�
£�
�
�¤
�
��
¥
¦�
��
��
�§
£̈
�

Page 1035



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'#&(#$ &% %)* $+)��"$ ,* &--*+%*# ,. %)* +)&'/*$ 

012342546

789:;<=>?@A:8BC:DBE9:B:?A9BF:?<DD@GD9>G:G<:?<>G@>=@>H:G89:@>I9CGD9>G:@>J:B>E:@DKF<I9D9>G:<LJ:;BFE@LL:

C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN:?8@AE:8BC:G89:O9CG:K<CC@OA9:CGBFG:@>:A@L9PQRRRSTUVWXYYTZ[[X\[]̂\STZS_̀aSP

789:;<=>?@A:b<FMC:?A<C9AN:b@G8:G89:H<I9F>@>H:O<E@9C:<L:C?8<<AC:G<:DBM9:C=F9:G8BG:CGB>EBFEC:@>:C?8<<AC:BF9:

8@H8J:G8BG:G9B?8@>H:@C:H<<E:B>E:G8BG:A9BE9FC8@K:B>E:H<I9F>B>?9:@C:CGF<>Hc:

dGB>EBFEC:BG:eBCG9F>:f@H8:BF9:H<<Ec::eCGBOA@C8@>H:B:dK9?@BA@CG:g9C<=F?9:hBC9:BG:G89:C?8<<A:b<=AE:KF<I@E9:

BKKF<KF@BG9:8@H8:i=BA@GN:C?8<<A:KAB?9C:L<F:N<=>H:K9<KA9:b@G8:9D<G@<>BA:B>E:b9AAO9@>H:>99ECc:

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9jK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G89:i=BA@GN:<L:CGB>EBFEC:<L:9E=?BG@<>:BG:

G89:C?8<<Ac

kl2mno3pq234qrl253o3pqlstl5ol3ml6q

789:>9b:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:C=KK<FG:G89:E9A@I9FN:<L:G89:>9b:u;=FF@?=A=D:<L:vBA9Cw:L<F:A9BF>9FC:xBH9E:y:z:{|}:

b8@?8:@C:E=9:G<:O9:@DKA9D9>G9E:@>:v9AC8:C?8<<AC:LF<D:d9KG9DO9F:~�~~c::789:>9b:?=FF@?=A=D:b@AA:BE<KG:

B>:BKKF<B?8:b8@?8:@C:@>?A=C@I9:B>E:E9C@H>9E:G<:BEEF9CC:G89:>99E:G<:KF9KBF9:?8@AEF9>:B>E:N<=>H:K9<KA9:@>:

vBA9C:G<:G8F@I9:B>E:O9:C=??9CCL=A:@>:B:FBK@EAN:?8B>H@>H:b<FAEc

�G:@C:F9?<H>@C9E:G8BG:G89:>9b:?=FF@?=A=D:C8<=AE:KF<I@E9:OF9BEG8J:9>BOA9:HF9BG9F:E9KG8:<L:A9BF>@>HJ:9>C=F9:

O9GG9F:KF<HF9CC@<>J:KF<I@E9:C?<K9:L<F:D<F9:@DBH@>BG@I9:B>E:?F9BG@I9:=C9:<L:G@D9:B>E:KAB?9:B>E:B:D=?8:

HF9BG9F:9DK8BC@C:<>:CM@AACc::�9b:B>E:@DKF<I9E:C?8<<A:LB?@A@G@9C:89AK:C=KK<FG:G8@C:I@C@<>c

789:KF<K<CBA:@C:><G:9jK9?G9E:G<:8BI9:B>N:>9HBG@I9:@DKB?G:<>:G9B?8@>H:B>E:A9BF>@>H:9jK9F@9>?9C:BG:

eBCG9F>:f@H8c

�25lq6�tt�51q234qp�o423mlq

�AA:C?8<<AC:8BI9:B>:BKKF<KF@BG9:FB>H9:<L:K<A@?@9C:B>E:KF<I@C@<>:@>:KAB?9:G<:KF<D<G9:K=K@ACw:89BAG8:B>E:

b9AAO9@>Hc

789:C?8<<A:@C:?<DD@GG9E:G<:KF<I@E@>H:B>:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:b8@?8:A9BF>@>H:@C:IBA=9E:B>E:K=K@AC:B?8@9I9:G89@F:

K<G9>G@BA:@>:B:8BKKNJ:CBL9:9>I@F<>D9>G:@>:b8@?8:G89N:C8<b:F9CK9?G:B>E:G<A9FB>?9:L<F:9B?8:<G89Fc

789:;<=>?@A:b<=AE:b<FM:b@G8:G89:A9BE9FC8@K:<L:G89:C?8<<A:G<:DBM9:C=F9:9I9FN<>9:=>E9FCGB>EC:G89@F:

F9CK<>C@O@A@GN:L<F:89AK@>H:G<:@DKF<I9:B>E:C=CGB@>:?BF9:C=KK<FG:B>E:H=@EB>?9c

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�

Page 1036



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!"#$%&�' &(�'�)�*�'+

,-./0123456/71268/4139532./91/71:;/759-/9-./6.<8.:=-5>/1?/9-./=4-116/91/@<;./=2:./.A.:B13./

238.:=9<38=/9-.5:/:.=>13=5C5659B/?1:/-.6>53D/91/5@>:1A./<38/=2=9<53/-5D-/>.:?1:@<34.E//F9/71268/=2>>1:9/

9-./=4-116/91/-<A./</D118/:.6<9513=-5>/759-/><:.39=/<38/19-.:/><:93.:=/=1/9-<9/>2>56=/:.4.5A./</-5D-G

H2<659B/.824<9513E

,-./>:1>1=.8/4-<3D.=/71268/C./>6<33.8/4<:.?266B/=1/9-<9/9-./=4-116I=/6.<8.:=-5>/<38/D1A.:3<34./5=/

319/85=:2>9.8J/7-54-/41268/-<A./</3.D<95A./5@><49/13/.824<9513<6/=9<38<:8=E

KLLMNMOPQRSTUVVOWNSXOWSVUVMRTS

,<C6./YZ/C.617/=-17/9-./>.:4.39<D.=/1?[/

\/]2>56=/759-/̂8859513<6/_.<:353D/̀..8=/

\/]2>56=/:.4.5A53D/a:../b4-116/c.<6=/

\/]2>56=/759-/d3D65=-/<=/<3/̂8859513<6/_<3D2<D./

\/c531:59B/d9-354/>2>56=/<9/.<4-/1?/9-./=4-116=

<9/d<=9.:3/e5D-/

fg#hhi& j&hk&lm%$i"&
h'&fg#hhi&
ng+$h'&

j&hk&lm%$i"&
h'&fg#hhi&
ng+$h'&lim"&

j&hk&lm%$i"&
o$+#&�&
"+�+�*�'+&
hk&n�p&

j&hk&q!��&
fg#hhi&(��i"&
lm%$i"r&s&t��!&
�u�!�)�&

j&hk&lm%$i"&
o$+#&v')i$"#&�"&
�'&n  $+$h'�i&
��')m�)�&

j&hk&
($'h!$+t&
v+#'$g&
lm%$i"&

d<=9.:3/e5D-/YwEw YYEx yEz ZwEw yE{ yyEY

|*%�g+&h'&%m%$i"&o$+#&n  $+$h'�i&���!'$')&p�� "&}n�p~

/̂yY=9/0.392:B/b4-116/C256853D/<6617=/?1:/?<456595.=/91/C./9<561:.8/91/9-./3..8=/1?/9-./4-568:.3/

7-1/<44.==/59E//a<456595.=/<:./8.=5D3.8/91/�9/9-.5:/6.<:353D/3..8=/<38/>:1A58./4<6@/<38/=9:2492:.8/

.3A5:13@.39=/91/=2>>1:9/6.<:353DE

,-./42::.39/.�>.:95=./<9/9-./=4-116/71268/C./@<539<53.8E/,-./.=9<C65=-@.39/1?/=>.45<65=9/>:1A5=513/

71268/>:1A58./1>>1:923595.=/?1:/=9<??/8.A.61>@.39/<38/?1:/.3-<3453D/>2>56=I/6.<:353D/53/>2:>1=.GC2569/

?<456595.=E

,-./0123456/<4;3176.8D.=/9-<9/</4-<3D./53/.3A5:13@.39/4<3/C./23=.99653D/<38/2>=.9953D/?1:/

4-568:.3/759-/<8859513<6/6.<:353D/3..8=E//]2>56=/71268/C./=2>>1:9.8/91/.3<C6./9-.@/91/<8<>9/91/9-./

4-<3D.=/>:1>1=.8E

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�

Page 1037



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $!%%�&' (�& %!%)"$ �)'* +,-")$* .$ ., /##)')�,." 0.,-!.-1 21 .((13'1#4

56789:;<=><;?@A@8B@;:677C?<;D@A>6:@;<=@E;=>B@;FGH98:=;>:;>G;>II8<8CG>9;9>GH6>H@;A>G;D@;:677C?<@I;8G;

>GE;:A=CC9;8G;J>?I8KKL

M=@?@;8:;GC;8GKC?N><8CG;>B>89>D9@;<=><;:6HH@:<:;<=><;<=@;7?C7C:>9;OC69I;=>B@;>;G@H><8B@;@KK@A<;CG;=CO;

A=89I?@G;O8<=;FGH98:=;>:;>G;>II8<8CG>9;9>GH6>H@;>?@;:677C?<@IL;;M=@;:A=CC9;OC69I;ACG<8G6@;<C;7?CB8I@;

:677C?<;<=><;8:;>77?C7?8><@;<C;<=@;8GI8B8I6>9;G@@I:;CK;@>A=;76789L

��� ��!"# %!%)"$ &131)P),- Q&11 R3*��" S1."$ 21 .((13'1#4

TCN@;CK;<=@;K6GI8GH;<=><;>;:A=CC9;?@A@8B@:;8:;D>:@I;CG;<=@;G6ND@?;CK;76789:;8G;<=@;:A=CC9;O=C;?@A@8B@;

U?@@;TA=CC9;V@>9:L;W99;:A=CC9:;8G;J>?I8KK;?@A@8B@;K6GI8GH;KC?;<=@:@;76789:L

M=@?@;8:;GC;8GKC?N><8CG;>B>89>D9@;<=><;:6HH@:<:;<=><;<=@;7?C7C:>9;OC69I;=>B@;>;G@H><8B@;@KK@A<;CG;76789:;

><;<=@;:A=CC9;O=C;?@A@8B@;U?@@;TA=CC9;V@>9:L

��� ��!"# S),�&)'X +'*,)3 Y!%)"$ 21 .((13'1#4

M=@;G@@I:;CK;8GI8B8I6>9;76789:;>?@;>::@::@I;>GI;7?CB8I@I;KC?;>:;>77?C7?8><@L;;M=@?@;8:;>9:C;GC;

8GKC?N><8CG;>B>89>D9@;<=><;:6HH@:<:;<=><;<=@;7?C7C:>9;OC69I;=>B@;>;G@H><8B@;@KK@A<;CG;7?CB8:8CG;KC?;>GE;

@<=G8A;H?C67L

Z[\]̂\_̀]̂[̀ ầb̀c]d̂ef̂][̀ ĝ_eged̀ĥi[\bj̀k

l;;M=@;7?C7C:>9;OC69I;8GA?@>:@;<=@;G6ND@?;CK;T7@A8>98:<;m@:C6?A@;n>:@;79>A@:;KC?;:@ACGI>?E;>H@I;

9@>?G@?:;O8<=;@NC<8CG>9;=@>9<=;>GI;O@99D@8GH;G@@I:;>GI;OC69I;ACG<?8D6<@;<CO>?I:;N@@<8GH;

7?Co@A<@I;I@N>GIL

l;;M=@;C77C?<6G8<E;<C;@N79CE;:7@A8>98:<;:<>KK;>GI;<C;OC?p;NC?@;A9C:@9E;O8<=;:7@A8>98:<;:@?B8A@:;8G;J>?I8KK;

OC69I;@G=>GA@;<=@;:A=CC9q:;8GA96:8B@;<@>A=8GHL;M=8:;OC69I;D@G@r<;>99;76789:;8G;<=@;:A=CC9L;

l;;M=@;7?C7C:>9;OC69I;@G:6?@;<=><;76789:;98B8GH;8G;<=@;@>:<;CK;<=@;A8<E;<?>B@9;:=C?<@?;I8:<>GA@:;<C;>AA@::;

:7@A8>98:<;7?CB8:8CG;<=>G;<C;>9<@?G><8B@;7?CB8:8CGL

l;;M=@;G@O;D689I8GH:;>?@;K699E;>AA@::8D9@;>GI;ACN798>G<;O8<=;<=@;Fs6>98<E;WA<;tuvuL

��

w
xy
z{
|
}~
z�
��
{�
��
�
�
�y

�
��
�
�y
��
~
{�
�
�{
�
�y
z}
~
{�
��
�

Page 1038



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"#$%&"'#&(#!�#) '%�*%�+ %,-�,�' &%.+#!) 

/00123405657890:7;<0=>>7;72?=8084=@?7?A0?44>90B=?0C?>0B<=?A40>7DCB68;E00F<4G03=G0C?>0B<=?A490;20

H678>7?A906?94;;87?AE00I40J?2:0;<4G0:7880?44>0B=@4D688G058=??4>096552@;0;20=>=5;0;20;<40B<=?A49E00

K2:4L4@M0;<4@40:268>0H4096DCB74?;0;7340;2058=?0=?>096552@;096B<0=0B<=?A4E

/00F<4@4079052;4?;7=80D2@0=093=8807?B@4=9407?0;@=DCB0=@26?>0;<409B<228097;40=;0;<409;=@;0=?>04?>02D0;<40

>=GE0F<40N26?B780:268>0:2@J0:7;<0;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G02D0;<409B<2280;20>4L48250=0F@=L480Q8=?0;20

37?737940=?G052;4?;7=80>79@65;72?E

R$� -!#�"( %�,�"�!'%.�!'"& - &%

F<40N26?B780790944J7?A0;205@2L7>40=0H4;;4@0>79;@7H6;72?02D0954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=9490=B@2990;<40B7;GE0F<790

:268>0735@2L40=BB4990D2@0565789M0=?>0@4>6B40;@=L480;73490D2@03=?G0565789M0=90:4880=907?B@4=97?A0;<40

?63H4@02D058=B490=L=78=H84E0

F<4@40790?20954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=9405@2L7972?07?0;<790=@4=0=;05@494?;E0S880B<78>@4?07?0;<790=@4=0:<20

@4T67@4058=B434?;07?0=0954B7=879;0@4926@B40H=940B6@@4?;8G0;@=L480;202;<4@0=@4=9E

S8;4@?=;7L4025;72?90;20;<4049;=H879<34?;02D05@2L7972?0=;0U=9;4@?0K7A<0B268>07?B86>4V

/0;<404W5=?972?02D097378=@05@2L7972?02?02;<4@094B2?>=@G09B<228097;490

/00;<4049;=H879<34?;02D0?4:0954B7=879;05@2L7972?02?02;<4@09B<228097;490=?>X2@0=0>7DD4@4?;0?63H4@02D0

58=B4907?0;<40B6@@4?;02@05@25294>0H=949E0

K2:4L4@M0;<409;=?>=@>90=;0U=9;4@?0K7A<0=@40A22>E0U9;=H879<7?A0;<40154B7=879;0Y4926@B40P=940

5@2L7972?0=;0;<409B<22805@2L7>490=?07?B@4=94>0?63H4@02D0=55@25@7=;40<7A<0T6=87;G09B<228058=B49E0F<40

49;=H879<34?;02D05@2L7972?0=;0U=9;4@?0K7A<0790;<4@4D2@40B2?97>4@4>0;20H40=05@4D4@@4>025;72?E

Z[\#!%] '�[-. '%̂#�� -'%

KY0Q42584014@L7B490:7880:2@J0:7;<0;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G0;20=>>@4990;<40KY073587B=;72?90=@797?A0D@230

;<4049;=H879<34?;02D0=0154B7=879;0Y4926@B40P=940=;0;<409B<2280=?>0;<40@4968;7?A0?44>0D2@0=>>7;72?=80

9;=DC?AE0

I<4@40;<40O2L4@?7?A0P2>G0<=90=>25;4>0;<40N26?B78_901B<2280Y4>4582G34?;0=?>0Y4>6?>=?BG0Q287BGM0

=?G0?4:0L=B=?B7490=@797?A0=90=0B2?94T64?B402D0;<4049;=H879<34?;02D0;<40154B7=879;0Y4926@B40P=940:7880

5@2L7>402552@;6?7;7490D2@09B<228̀H=94>09;=DD02?0;<409B<2280@4>4582G34?;0@4A79;4@E0

��

a
bc
de
f
gh
di
jk
el
mn
o
o
pc

q
jo
r
sc
so
h
et
o
je
u
vc
dg
jh
ew
sx
n

Page 1039



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%&�$$'�!%

()*+,-./012+34421*5+6)*+67-8912*+5636.6-:;+<.321=;1/>+732?1/>+@1563/0*+0:16*:13+=-:+4.4125+6-+<.321=;+=-:+

=:**+)-9*+6-+50)--2+6:3/54-:6+6-+54*0132156+:*5-.:0*+A35*5B++C-7*D*:E+5-9*+2*3:/*:5+7)-+21D*+716)1/+67-+

912*5+-=+6)*+50)--2+93;+325-+A*+4:-D1@*@+716)+=:**+6:3/54-:6+@.*+6-+6)*1:+1/@1D1@.32+2*3:/1/>+/**@5+3/@+

5-0132+155.*5B++F6)*:+2*3:/*:5+3:*+3A2*+6-+6:3D*2+1/@*4*/@*/62;+-:+716)+43:*/6G03:*:5+3/@+1=+:*51@*/6+716)1/+

6)*+67-8912*+<.321=;1/>+@1563/0*+93;+/-6+A*+*21>1A2*+=-:+H*3:/*:+(:3/54-:6B+()*5*+4.4125+35+7*22+35+563==+

3/@+50)--2+D1516-:5+7-.2@+A*/*I6+=:-9+3/;+:*<.1:*@+194:-D*9*/65+1/+=3012161*5+=-:+3061D*+6:3D*2+6-+50)--2+

-:+4.A210+6:3/54-:6+=3012161*5B++

J5+6)*+,-./012+15+5**?1/>+6-+4:-D1@*+3+A*66*:+@156:1A.61-/+-=+54*0132156+:*5-.:0*+4:-D151-/+30:-55+6)*+016;E+

16+15+*K4*06*@+6)36+6)*+3D*:3>*+6:3D*2+@1563/0*+6-+54*0132156+:*5-.:0*+A35*5+=-:+1/@1D1@.32+2*3:/*:5+7-.2@+

:*@.0*+1/+=.6.:*B

J+50)--2+4:-4-532+6-+*563A215)+3@@161-/32+2*3:/1/>+/**@+=3012161*5+93;+:*<.1:*+3+(:3/54-:6+L636*9*/6+

7)10)+7122+1@*/61=;+9*35.:*5+6-+A*+1/02.@*@+35+43:6+-=+6)*+344210361-/+6-+93K1915*+6:3D*2+A;+

5.5631/3A2*+9-@*5B+++

()*+,-./012M5+0.::*/6+,-:4-:36*+N23/+1/02.@*5+3+0-99169*/6+6-+*D*:;+50)--2+1/+,3:@1==+@*D*2-41/>+3/+

J061D*+(:3D*2+N23/B+L.0)+3+423/+7122+1@*/61=;+3061-/5+A;+6)*+50)--2+6-+5.44-:6+3/@+*/0-.:3>*+3061D*+6:3D*2+

6-+50)--2+3/@+325-+3/;+194:-D*9*/65+6-+-/8516*+3/@+-==8516*+1/=:356:.06.:*+:*<.1:*@+6-+=30121636*+3061D*+

O-.:/*;5B++

P/0:*351/>+6:3D*2+6-+50)--2+A;+3061D*+9-@*5+Q732?1/>E+0;021/>+3/@+50--61/>R+A;+*/5.:1/>+53=*+=3012161*5+3:*+

4:-D1@*@+7122+)3D*+3+4-5161D*+194306+-/+0)12@:*/M5+)*326)+3/@+7*22A*1/>B++

J+/.9A*:+-=+1/161361D*5+)3D*+5.00*55=.22;+@*9-/56:36*@+5.44-:6+3/@+*/0-.:3>*9*/6+=-:+3061D*+3/@+

5.5631/3A2*+6:3D*2+39-/>56+6)*+3@@161-/32+2*3:/1/>+/**@+0-)-:6E+7)10)+7-.2@+A*+4:-4-5*@+=-:+54*0132156+

:*5-.:0*+A35*+2*3:/*:5+36+S356*:/+C1>)+1/02.@1/>+P/@*4*/@*/6+(:3D*2+(:31/1/>+=-:+-2@*:+4.4125E+0;02*+

931/6*/3/0*+3/@+0;02*+6:31/1/>B++

T16)+6)*+*K4*06*@+1/0:*35*@+@*93/@+=-:+H*3:/*:+(:3/54-:6+36+S356*:/+C1>)+6)*+516*+7-.2@+A*+355*55*@+

6-+*/5.:*+6)*:*+15+5.163A2*+=3012161*5+=-:+@:-48-==+3/@+410?8.4+6-+300-99-@36*+6)*+344:-4:136*+/.9A*:5+

-=+D*)102*5B+U*35.:*5+6-+194:-D*+6:3=I0+155.*5+-.651@*+6)*+50)--2+93;+1/02.@*+3@@161-/32+43:?1/>+

:*56:1061-/5+-:+0-/51@*:361-/+-=+3+L0)--2+L6:**6+3:-./@+50)--2+563:6+3/@+I/15)+619*5+6-+:*@.0*+0-/>*561-/+

3/@+43:?1/>+155.*5+3/@+194:-D*+53=*6;+=-:+4.4125B++

��

V
WX
YZ
[
\]
Ŷ
_̀
Za
bc
d
d
eX

f
_d
g
hX
hd
]
Zi
d
_Z
j
kX
Y\
]
Zl
hm
c

Page 1040



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$ %�! 

&'(')*(*+,(-.(')*(/--01*'(23(4(56*3'2-++427*8(9)23(23(:-67(;)4+;*('-(1*'(')*(<-6+;21(0+-=(=)4'(:-6(')2+0(

4/-6'(')*(>7->-3418(?-6(;4+(@2A*(4(7*3>-+3*('-(411(-.(')*(56*3'2-+3B(-7(C63'(7*3>-+,('-(3-D*(-.(')*DB(43(

:-6(>7*.*78(

&1'*7+4'2A*1:B(:-6(;4+(3*+,(63(:-67(A2*=3(2+(-+*(-.(')*(.-11-=2+@(=4:3E

F(<-D>1*'2+@(')*(-+12+*(7*3>-+3*(.-7D(4'(GGGHIJKLMNNHOPQHRSTUVWXIYPPZ[KP[PXJZX

F(\D421(:-67(A2*=3('-(XIYPPZK]X[P̂X]X_IJKLMNNHOPQHRS

F((̀72'*('-(63(4'(')*(.-11-=2+@(4,,7*33E(a;)--1(b7@4+234'2-+(c14++2+@B(d--D(efgB(<-6+':(h411B(&'14+'2;(

`)47.B(<47,2..B(<igf(ej̀ 8(

9)*(<-6+;21(=211(;-+32,*7(*A*7:-+*k3(A2*=3(/*.-7*(,*;2,2+@(=)*')*7('-(@-(4)*4,(=2')(')*(

>7->-3*,(;)4+@*38

9)*(;1-32+@(,4'*(.-7(7*3>-+3*3('-(')23(>7->-341(23(g(i*/7647:(lfll8((

��

m
no
pq
r
st
pu
vw
qx
yz
{
{
|o

}
v{
~
�o
�{
t
q�
{
vq
�
�o
ps
vt
q�
��
z

Page 1041



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$% �&'()(*#�$&$ &+ $,&-! . /#)/

0 1&1 2)3&$,(&4,#�5(/&#��(4$& $,(!&/4,  )/6

789:;<=>?9@ABC:9>D<@9@>;E>F<CG;HH>8CAI;G9>@89:;<=;@J>8CAI;@;AE>HAC>JK9>LKA=9>AH>JK9>F;JM><EG>FABEJM>AH>
F<CG;HHN>OK9C9><C9>EAJ>9EABPK>8=<:9@>JA>Q99J>G9Q<EG>;E>Q<;EJ<;E9G>8CAI;@;AEN>>OK;@>K<@><E>;Q8<:J>AE>
9R;@J;EP>@:KAA=@>LK9C9>;E>@AQ9>:<@9@>JK9C9>Q<M>S9><>PC9<J9C>EBQS9C>AH>8B8;=@>AE>CA==>JK<E>JK9>TBS=;@K9G>
UGQ;@@;AE>VBQS9C>AC>G9@;C9G>EBQS9C>;E><>@89:;<=;@J>C9@ABC:9>S<@9N>

F<CG;HH>:BCC9EJ=M>K<@>JA>C9=M>AE>8BC:K<@;EP>@AQ9>8=<:9@>;E>ABJ>AH>:ABEJM>8CAI;@;AE><EG>;EG989EG9EJ>
@:KAA=@>JA>HB=W=>;J@>@J<JBJACM>GBJ;9@N>OK9C9>:AB=G>S9><>=AEP9CXJ9CQ>;Q8<:J>AE>ABJ>AH>:ABEJM>8CAI;G9C@><EG>
AE>;EG989EG9EJ>@:KAA=@><@>JK9C9>;@>=;Y9=M>JA>S9><>C9GB:J;AE>;E>JK9>EBQS9C>AH>8=<:9@>8BC:K<@9G>SM>JK9>
FABE:;=N>

Z3"%//% �&#!!#�5("(�$/&

OK9C9><C9>EA>8=<EE9G>:K<EP9@>JA>JK9>FABE:;=[@>8A=;:M>AE>JK9><GQ;@@;AE>AH>:K;=GC9E>JA>@:KAA=@><@><>C9@B=J>
AH>JK9@9>8CA8A@<=@N>OK9C9><C9>EA>8=<E@>JA>C9GB:9>JK9>EBQS9C>AH>Q<;E@JC9<Q>8=<:9@><@><>C9@B=J>AH>JK9@9>
8CA8A@<=@N

\9J<;=9G>;EHACQ<J;AE><SABJ><GQ;@@;AE><CC<EP9Q9EJ@>;@>;E>JK9>FABE:;=[@>UGQ;@@;AE>JA>7:KAA=>SAAY=9JN>>]AB>
:<E>WEG>JK;@>;EHACQ<J;AE>AE>JK9>FABE:;=[@>L9S@;J9><J>LLLN:<CG;HHNPAINBYN>

UGQ;@@;AE@>JA>@89:;<=;@J>8CAI;@;AE><C9>Q<E<P9G>SM>JK9>FABE:;=̂>@BS_9:J>JA><>@J<J9Q9EJ>AH>789:;<=>
G̀B:<J;AE>V99G@>a7̀VbN>cEG9C>JK9>UdV>FAG9̂>8=<:9Q9EJ>L;==>S9>@BS_9:J>JA><E>eEG;I;GB<=>\9I9=A8Q9EJ>
T=<E>ae\TbN>

OK9>8CA8A@9G>:<8<:;JM>HAC>fg>@89:;<=;@J>C9@ABC:9>8=<:9@>;E>9<:K>@:KAA=>LAB=G>S9>;E><GG;J;AE>JA>JK9>
:<8<:;JM>AH>Q<;E@JC9<Q>8=<:9@><J>JK9>@:KAA=@>;E:=BG9G>;E>JK9@9>8CA8A@<=@N

h(#!�(!&i!#*()&Z!!#�5("(�$/&

cEG9C>JK9@9>8CA8A@<=@>JK9C9><C9>EA>8=<E@>JA>:K<EP9>JK9>FABE:;=[@>8A=;:M>AE>JK9>JC<E@8ACJ>AH>:K;=GC9E>JA>
<EG>HCAQ>@:KAA=@N>

UEM>8B8;=@><HH9:J9G>SM>JK;@>8CA8A@<=>LAB=G>S9>AHH9C9G>JK9>@<Q9>@B88ACJ>L;JK>JC<E@8ACJ><@>;@>8CAI;G9G>
JKCABPKABJ>F<CG;HH><EG>;E><::ACG<E:9>L;JK>JK9>@<Q9>:C;J9C;<>JK<J><88=M><:CA@@>F<CG;HHN>OK9>FABE:;=[@>
JC<E@8ACJ>8A=;:M>:<E>S9>I;9L9G>AE>JK9>FABE:;=[@>L9S@;J9>jkkklmnopqrrlstulvwxN

OK9C9>;@><>@J<JBJACM>=9P<=>AS=;P<J;AE>AE>JK9>FABE:;=>JA>8CAI;G9>HC99>KAQ9>JA>@:KAA=>JC<E@8ACJ>JA>8C;Q<CM>
@:KAA=>8B8;=@>LKA>=;I9>JLA>Q;=9@>AC>QAC9>HCAQ>JK9>E9<C9@J>@B;J<S=9>@:KAA=̂><@>Q9<@BC9G>SM>JK9>@KACJ9@J>
<I<;=<S=9>L<=Y;EP>CABJ9N

yK9E>G9:;G;EP>LK;:K>;@>JK9>E9<C9@J>@B;J<S=9>@:KAA=̂>JK9>FABE:;=>QB@J>:AE@;G9C><EM>G;@<S;=;JM><>:K;=G>K<@>
<EG><EM>@89:;<=>9GB:<J;AE<=>E99G@>a7̀VbN

��

z
{|
}~
�
��
}�
��
~�
��
�
�
�|

�
��
�
�|
��
�
~�
�
�~
��
��
�
��
�
~�
�
�
~�
�
�
�
�~
�
��
�
��
~

�
�}
�
~�
�
�
�}
��
�
��
~�
��
��
��
�~
�
��
�
|~

Page 1042



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �!� "#$ %%&'(#

)*+,-*.-/0,-12*1*3,4-50678,3-3,/-*9/-:7-/0:3-4*59+,7/-;*9<4-:7592-561:/6<-5*3/3-.*2-/0,-=*975:<>-.*2-
?9:<4:78-;*2@3-674-A-*2-6461/6/:*7-*.-?9:<4:783B-C0,D-;*9<4-6<3*-:7592-2,E,79,-5*3/3-.*2-/0,-=*975:<>-:7-
,+1<*D:78-3/6..B

F/-/0:3-3/68,-*.-/0,-5*739</6/:*7-/0,2,-62,-7*-G7675:6<-5*++:/+,7/3B-H63,4-*7-/0,-5*739</6/:*7-*9/5*+,-
6-2678,-*.-*1/:*73-;:<<-?,-4,E,<*1,4B-F-.9<<-G7675:6<-,E6<96/:*7-;:<<-/0,7-/6@,-1<65,B-C0:3-;:<<-,7392,-
6..*246?:<:/D-674-<:+:/-?948,/62D-12,3392,3-*7-/0,-=*975:<B

C0,-644:/:*76<-1<65,3-;*9<4-7,,4-/*-?,-.974,4-.2*+-/0,-,I:3/:78-4,<,86/,4-350**<3J-?948,/B-=922,7/<D-
0:80K5*3/-12*E:3:*7-.*2-3*+,-191:<3-:3-4,<:E,2,4-,:/0,2-:7-6-79+?,2-*.-;6D3B-)*+,-<,627,23-62,-1<65,4-:7-
350**<3-*9/3:4,-*.-=624:..>-*2-:7-:74,1,74,7/-350**<B-)*+,-<,627,23-2,+6:7-:7-+6:73/2,6+-350**<3>-;:/0-
L=*+1<,I-M,,43-N70675,+,7/O-16D+,7/3-+64,-/*-/0,-350**<-/*-12*E:4,-6112*12:6/,-3911*2/B-

P92/0,2-;*2@-;:<<-?,-974,2/6@,7-/*-,3/6?<:30-;0,/0,2-*2-7*/-/0,-36E:783-*7-/0,3,-1<65,+,7/3>-*2-*7-
,70675,4-16D+,7/3-/*-350**<3>-;:<<-5*E,2-/0,-644:/:*76<-5*3/3-*.-12*1*3,4-644:/:*76<-1<65,3B-

C0:3-;*2@-;:<<-6<3*-5*73:4,2-0*;-/0,-=*975:<J3-0*+,-/*-350**<-/26731*2/-5*3/3-;*9<4-50678,B-C0,-
:752,63,4-79+?,2-*.-31,5:6<:3/-1<65,3-12*1*3,4-+6D-:752,63,-79+?,2-*.-50:<42,7-/26731*2/,4-.2*+-0*+,-
/*-350**<-?D-/0,-=*975:<B-C0,-:752,63,4-79+?,2-*.-1<65,3-6E6:<6?<,-:7-31,5:6<-350**<3-674-?63,3-+6D-
2,495,-/0,-6E,268,-/26E,<-4:3/675,-674-6E,268,-Q*927,D-5*3/B

R& "%S#T'UV�(�U�#

C0,-12*1*36<3-/*-,I1674-31,5:6<:3/-12*E:3:*7-6/-/0,-350**<3-:75<94,4-:7-/0,3,-12*1*36<3-;:<<-06E,-
:+1<:56/:*73-.*2-0,6</0-674-*/0,2-31,5:6<:3/-3,2E:5,3B-C0,3,-3,2E:5,3-;*2@-:7-162/7,230:1-;:/0-350**<3-/*-
+,,/-F44:/:*76<-W,627:78-M,,43B-F7-644:/:*76<-.65/*2-:3-/0,-FWM-X,.*2+-F5/-YZ[\>-;0:50-;:<<-:7/2*495,-
7,;-2,31*73:?:<:/:,3-.*2-0,6</0>-,4956/:*7-674-3*5:6<-562,-/*-;*2@-/*8,/0,2-/*-5**24:76/,-633,33+,7/-674-
12*E:3:*7B-C0,-F5/-YZ[\-;:<<-?,-:+1<,+,7/,4-*E,2-6-/02,,KD,62-1,2:*4>-?,8:77:78-:7-),1/,+?,2-YZYZB-

]7-*24,2-/*-6442,33-/0,3,-506<<,78,3-/*8,/0,2>-/0,-=*975:<-674-=624:..-674-/0,-̂6<,-_7:E,23:/D-̀,6</0-
H*624-62,-974,2/6@:78-6-Q*:7/-2,E:,;-*.-0,6</0-674-31,5:6<:3/-12*E:3:*7-:7-=624:..-31,5:6<-350**<3-674-191:<-
2,.,226<-97:/3B-C0,-G74:783-*.-/0,-2,E:,;>-*E,23,,7-?D-6-12*Q,5/-82*91-*.-2,12,3,7/6/:E,3-.2*+-0,6</0>-
,4956/:*7>-3*5:6<-3,2E:5,3>-350**<3>-674-162,7/3>-;:<<-:7.*2+-/0,-4,3:87-*.-/0,-31,5:6<:3/-12*E:3:*7B

aUV&'� �!&#b'' �c&d&�%(

C0,2,-62,-7*-12*1*3,4-50678,3-/*-8*E,27675,-622678,+,7/3-62:3:78-*9/-*.-/0,3,-12*1*36<3B-

��

e
fg
hi
j
kl
hm
no
ip
qr
s
s
tg

u
ns
v
wg
ws
l
ix
s
ni
qr
wt
y
nk
l
iz
l
y
io
s
m
l
{i
u
ks
u
tk
i

|
wh
r
iz
y
y
wh
ws
l
zt
it
kz
nl
wl
{i
l
kk
y
gi

Page 1043



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%#"&'#�($�$) *)#$+#"&'#,'*)&#- +./ .'#

0123425243673892:;<432=>:<?;6@<43@22=8A3<==;?;6@<4342<B@;@C3@22=83;@3?123D2481EF2=;>F382:?6B31<83
1;8?6B;:<44G3H22@346I2B3?1<@3;@3?123J@C4;813F2=;>F382:?6BK301;831<83H22@3:1<@C;@C3652B3?1234<8?3LEM3G2<B8N3
I;?138:166483B296B?;@C3<@3;@:B2<82=3;@:;=2@:23673OPQN3;@3<443<B2<83673@22=K3

O3B25;2I3673OPQ3;@3?123D2481EF2=;>F382:?6B3I<83>@=2B?<R2@3I;?13D24813F2=;>F38:166483;@3STUV3?63
;@76BF3?123D24813;@3J=>:<?;6@3W?B<?2C;:3X4<@3YDJWXZK3W:166483B296B?2=3<38F<443H>?38;C@;[:<@?3@>FH2B3673
2\<F942836739>9;483I;?13OPQ342<5;@C3?123D2481EF2=;>F382:?6B3;@36B=2B3?63<::2883892:;<4;8?3B286>B:23H<8283
6B3892:;<438:16648K3

012B23I<83<486386F23<@2:=6?<4325;=2@:23?638>CC28?3?1<?386F237<F;4;283I163I6>4=36?12BI;823:166823
D2481EF2=;>F32=>:<?;6@369?3;@8?2<=376B3J@C4;813F2=;>F3;73?12;B3:1;4=31<83OPQN3?1B6>C13:6@:2B@3?1<?3?12;B3
:1;4=3F<G3@22=3?63?B<@872B3?63?123892:;<4;8?382:?6B3<?3<34<?2B3=<?2K3

01B6>C13?123DJWXN3]<B=;7731<83;@528?2=3;@3892:;<4;8?39B65;8;6@3;@3?12382:?6BN3;@:4>=;@C386F23:<9<:;?G3?63
B2896@=3?63CB6I;@C3=2F<@=3<@=3?63C2@2B<?23F6B23:6@[=2@:23;@3?123<5<;4<H;4;?G3673892:;<4;8?39B65;8;6@3;@3
?12382:?6BK3

O3@2I39B;F<BG3H<823I<8328?<H4;812=3<?3̂8C643_GFB<2C3XI443]6:1N3I;?1;@3?123:<?:1F2@?3<B2<3673̂8C643
_G7>@3_GFB<2C3_4<@?<7N3I12B23?12382:6@=<BG3H<823;8328?<H4;812=K30123?I63H<8283:<?2B376B342<B@2B83I;?13
8252B2342<B@;@C3=;7[:>4?;28N39B65;=;@C3<3892:;<4;8?3:>BB;:>4>F3<@=38>996B?;@C3<3B<@C2367382:6@=<BG3@22=83
;@:4>=;@C391G8;:<43<@=3F2=;:<43@22=8N38922:13<@=34<@C><C23=;7[:>4?;283<@=3<>?;8FK3

@̀3STSU3?12B23;83CB6I;@C3=2F<@=376B3B286>B:23H<828376B39>9;483I;?13<>?;8FN3I163<B23<52B<C23?631;C13
<:1;252B8N3<@=3I6>4=3@22=3<3F6B23;@?2CB<?;523F6=2436738>996B?3?1<@3?1<?39B65;=2=3HG3?123?I632\;8?;@C3
H<828K3012B23<B23:>BB2@?4G3a382:6@=<BG3<C2=342<B@2B8N3<@=3UM39B;F<BG3<C2=342<B@2B83I163I6>4=3H2@2[?3
7B6F394<:2F2@?3;@3<@3OWb3H<82K301;83;83<3816B?E?2BF39B;6B;?GN3C;52@3?123B;8R3?1<?3;73:>BB2@?394<:2F2@?837<;4N3
?1236@4G369?;6@3I6>4=3H23?636772B3<3?B<@872B3?63<@3J@C4;813F2=;>F382??;@CK3

O39B;F<BG3I244H2;@C3:4<8831<83H22@328?<H4;812=N3168?2=3<?3̂8C643_G@B<==3X2@3G3_B628K30123I244H2;@C3:4<883
I6BR83c2\;H4G3?63<==B2883@22=83;@3=;772B2@?3<C2391<828N36B3?639B65;=23<@36>?B2<:13F6=24N3=292@=;@C3
6@3:>BB2@?3@22=K30123]6>@:;43;83:>BB2@?4G3:6@8>4?;@C36@328?<H4;81;@C3<3dT394<:23O>?;8F3W92:;<43e286>B:23
H<823<?3̂8C643_G7>@3_GFB<2C3_4<@?<73;@3<==;?;6@3?63?1232\;8?;@C3dT394<:23W92:;<4;8?3e286>B:23H<823<?3?123
8:1664K

0638>996B?32F6?;6@<4312<4?13<@=3I244H2;@C3@22=83;@382:6@=<BG391<82N3<3f5;B?><4g3H<82A3Xeh31<83H22@3
9;46?2=3<:B6883?123?1B22382:6@=<BG38:16648N38?<B?;@C3;@3STUaK301239;46?3;83=>2376B37>B?12B3B25;2I3;@3STSUK3

01239B;6B;?G3;83?632@8>B23?123?1B2238:1664831<523<=2i><?237<:;4;?;283<@=3<::6FF6=<?;6@3?639B65;=23
2772:?;523W?293d3<@=3L39B65;8;6@N3:6F942F2@?2=3HG3?1235;B?><43H<82A3XehK3j2=;>F3?2BFN3?1235;B?><43H<82A3
Xeh3I;443252@?><44G3@22=3<3[\2=346:<?;6@3<?36@23673?1238:16648N3I;?13=28;C@<?2=3<::6FF6=<?;6@N3?63
B2=>:23?123B;8R3?1<?3G6>@C39269423I;?13?123F68?3:6F942\3@22=83F<G3@22=3?6342<523?123D2481382:?6B3?63
<::2883F6B23892:;<4;8?39B65;8;6@K3

O83?123D2481382:?6B3:6@?;@>283?63CB6I3;?3I;443H23;F96B?<@?3?63=2524693<==;?;6@<439B65;8;6@3;@3<@?;:;9<?;6@3
673?123@22=N3?632@8>B23D2481EF2=;>F32=>:<?;6@3;83<3C2@>;@23:16;:2376B342<B@2B83I;?13:6F942\3OPQK3

��

k
lm
no
p
qr
ns
tu
ov
wx
y
y
zm

{
ty
|
}m
}y
r
o~
y
to
wx
}z
�
tq
r
o�
r
�
ou
y
s
r
�o
{
qy
{
zq
o

�
}n
x
o�
�
�
}n
}y
r
�z
oz
q�
tr
}r
�o
r
qq
�
mo

Page 1044



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !""# "$ %&' ()*#+,�- *.- �/!�0+�.1�- 2�*1�+.3 42*$$ +4 #+5+2�- +. .)56�07 +. 1"5!*0+4". 2" 2�� 
8.3#+4� 4�12"09 %.: !#*. 2" -�;�#"! <�#4� 5�-+)5 4!�1+*#+42 !0";+4+". =+## .��- 2" 6� 4)!!"02�- 6: *. %&' 
<"0>$"01� ?�;�#"!5�.2 @#*.9 

A. *11"0-*.1� =+2� 2�� 2+5�2*6#� 4�2 6: <�#4� B";�0.5�.27 2�� C").1+# +4 ="0>+.3 1#"4�#: =+2� +24 !*02.�04 
". 2�� C*0-+$$ <�#4� 8-)1*2+". D"0)5 2" -�;�#"! 2�� .�= 2�. :�*0 <8E@ $"0 2�� 1+2:9 A2 +4 �/!�12�- 2�� !#*. 
=+## 6� *;*+#*6#� $"0 !)6#+1 1".4)#2*2+". +. *)2)5. FGFH 6�$"0� 6�+.3 4)65+22�- $"0 *!!0";*# 2" 2�� <�#4� 
B";�0.5�.2 +. �*0#: FGFF9 ��� ,042 2�. :�*0 @#*. =+## 1"55�.1� ". H E�!2�56�0 FGFF *.- �/!+0� ". IH 
%)3)42 FGIF9 

C".4)#2*2+". ". 2�� -0*$2 <8E@ =+## 4��> ;+�=4 ". �"= 6�42 2" 30"= <�#4�J5�-+)5 �-)1*2+". *.- ". 
�"= 2" 5��2 2�� #"1*# 2*03�24 4�2 6: <�#4� B";�0.5�.27 +. "0-�0 2" +.$"05 $)2)0� !0"!"4*#49 ��� <8E@ =+## 
4�2 ")2 �"= 2�� C").1+# =+## +.10�*4� 2�� !0";+4+". "$ <�#4�J5�-+)5 �-)1*2+". $"0 !)!+#4 =+2� *--+2+".*# 
#�*0.+.3 .��-49

KLMNOPQPRST

%. 8()*#+2: A5!*12 %44�445�.2 U8A%V +4 * !0"1�44 2�*2 #"">4 *2 * !"#+1:7 !0"W�12 "0 41��5� 2" 5*>� 4)0� +2 
-"�4 ."2 -+410+5+.*2� *3*+.42 *.:".� 6*4�- ". 2�� !0"2�12�- 1�*0*12�0+42+14 4�2 ")2 +. 2�� 8()*#+2: %12 FG 
U*3�7 -+4*6+#+2:7 3�.-�0 0�*44+3.5�.27 5*00+*3� X 1+;+# !*02.�04�+!7 !0�3.*.1: X 5*2�0.+2:7 0*1�7 0�#+3+".Y 
6�#+�$7 4�/7 4�/)*# "0+�.2*2+".V9

%. +.+2+*# 8()*#+2: A5!*12 %44�445�.2 �*4 6��. 1*00+�- ")29 A2 1".1#)-�- 2�*2 2�� !0"!"4�- 1�*.3�4 =")#- 
."2 .�3*2+;�#: *$$�12 * !*02+1)#*0 30")! +. 4"1+�2:9 

��+4 *44�445�.2 =+## 6� 0�;+�=�- *$2�0 2�� 1".4)#2*2+". *.- *2 >�: !"+.24 +$ 2�� !0"!"4*#4 =�0� 2" !0"1��-9 

Z[\\M]PQ̂T_\ ǸaQT

��� $"##"=+.3 *0� 2*>�. +.2" *11").2 =��. 1".4+-�0+.3 * !0"!"4*#b @)6#+1 c!�. E!*1�7 !*0>#*.-7 ."+4� *.- 
20*$,1 1".3�42+".9  ��� 41�""#4 +.1#)-�- +. 2��4� !0"!"4*#4 *.- 2�� C").1+# =+## ="0> =+2� *.: 1"55).+2: 
30")!4 2" 5*>� 4)0� 2�� !0"!"4*#4 *;"+- *.: .�3*2+;� +5!*124 +$ !"44+6#�9

% 1"55).+2: +5!*12 *44�445�.2 �*4 6��. ).-�02*>�. $"0 2��4� !0"!"4*#4 *.- +4 *;*+#*6#� 2" ;+�= *2    
dddefghijkkelmneopqrstufvmmwxhmxmugwue

��

y
z{
|}
~
��
|�
��
}�
��
�
�
�{

�
��
�
�{
��
�
}�
�
�}
��
��
�
��
�
}�
�
�
}�
�
�
�
�}
�
��
�
��
}

�
�|
�
}�
�
�
�|
��
�
��
}�
��
��
��
�}
�
��
�
{}

Page 1045



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%&$'()(*�$+�"�*,)!%"-$

./012/3042560563073118932/:0;<0=>5>?30@3/3?A52;/B0CD50EA?F2<<0E;>/D2102B0D;GG2553F05;0H?;I2F2/:0J;DA10
KD6;;1B0<;?0J;DA10E621F?3/L05;:3563?0425603/D;>?A:2/:0>B30;<0B>B5A2/A9130G;F3B05;05?AI3105;0BD6;;1BL0B>D60
AB04A1M2/:0A/F0DND12/:O0PAD60KD6;;10H?;Q3D505AM3B02/5;0ADD;>/50M3N05?A/BH;?502BB>3B0463/0563N0A?30932/:0
F3B2:/3F0A/F05630R?G0/33F05;0H?;I2F30BA<3?0?;>53B05;03/D;>?A:304A1M2/:L0DND12/:0A/F0;563?0AD52I305?AI310
G;F3B05;0BD6;;1BO0

725605630D>??3/502/I3B5G3/5B02/0.ES0AD?;BB05630D25NL0B5>F3/50G;I3G3/5B0GAN0930<>?563?0?3F>D3F0AB0
G;9213053D6/;1;:N0F3I31;HB0<>?563?0A11;42/:0<;?0T3U2913053AD62/:0G356;FBO0S63B306AI305630H;53/52A105;0
?3B>1502/0A0G;?303<RD23/50S?AI310V1A/0A/F0<>?563?0D;/5?29>5305;05630E;>/D21WB05A?:35B05;0?3F>D3025B0DA?9;/0
3G2BB2;/BO0

X%)�")!,�$Y!-*(Z)!%"$)%$X(Z!�-$

S630E;>/D2106AB0B2:/2RDA/503UH3?23/D302/05630B>DD3BB<>10F312I3?N0;<09>21F2/:0H?;Q3D5B0A/F0AFAH5A52;/B0
;/05630B253B0;<0;DD>H23F0BD6;;1B0AB0A0?3B>150;<0H?;:?3BB2/:0A01A?:30A/F0:?;42/:0BD6;;10;?:A/2BA52;/0
H?;:?AGG3O00

C/N09>21F2/:04;?M0;?0AFAH5A52;/0;<03U2B52/:0<AD212523B04;>1F0930GA/A:3F03<<3D52I31N02/0D;/B>15A52;/042560
5630BD6;;1B02/D1>F3F02/0563B30H?;H;BA1B05;03/B>?3056A505630D>??2D>1>G0D;/52/>3B05;0930F312I3?3F0A/F056A50
62:603F>DA52;/0B5A/FA?FB0A/F0BA<35N0B5A/FA?FB0A?30GA2/5A2/3FO

[�\)$-)�Z-]$̂%_$)%$̀,a�$b%(*$c!�_-$a"%_"$,"d$&��d ,ea$&%*̀

fghijghkklmnjmloip

qlrjshiln

S630E;>/D21042110D;113D50A/F0B>GGA?2B305630<33F9ADM0<?;G0562B0D;/B>15A52;/O00E;>/D210;<RD3?B042110563/0
?3H;?50562B05;05630E;>/D21WB0EA92/3505;0?3H;?50B5AM36;1F3?0I234B05;0313D53F0G3G93?B0A/F05;02/<;?G0
F3D2B2;/0GAM2/:O0S62B0D;/B>15A52;/0?3H;?5042110930AIA21A9130<;?0A/N;/305;0I234tF;4/1;AF0;/05630E;>/D210
439B253O00u;>0DA/0A1B;0:350A0D;HN09N0>B2/:05630D;/5AD50F35A21B02/0562B0F;D>G3/5O00

.<05630H?;H;BA1B0A?30A:?33F05;0H?;D33F0<;11;42/:0D;/B>15A52;/L0563?30A?30A0/>G93?0;<0<>?563?0B5A:3B056A50
5630E;>/D2104;>1F06AI305;0:;056?;>:6093<;?30A0R/A10F3D2B2;/02B0GAF3O00

��

v
wx
yz
{
|}
y~
��
z�
��
�
�
�x

�
��
�
�x
��
}
z�
�
�z
��
��
�
�|
}
z�
}
�
z�
�
~
}
�z
�
|�
�
�|
z

�
�y
�
z�
�
�
�y
��
}
��
z�
|�
�}
�}
�z
}
||
�
xz

Page 1046



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� �! "#$� !#%�! �"!&'"!()!�#*+�!,-!*�+&./

01234567859:;:<45=;1>4=5?0@A=5;AB4;12345B1C5245=:2D4E;5;F5E@1G>4H

I;1;:;F<C5J<FE4== 0AB4=E134

K&) '+"#"(&)!L�%(&M ,N!O�P�Q*�%!RSR,!T!,!U�*%'#%V!RSRR

K&) '+"#"(&)!%�W&%"!P&) (M�%�M!*V!"��!K&')P(+!K#*()�"!#)M!
W'*+( ��M!&)!"��!K&')P(+!.�* ("�

X#%P�!RSRR

YZW�P"�M!M#"�![&%! "#%"!&[!\*]�P"(&)!L�%(&M̂!.��)! "#"'"&%V!
)&"(P�!�# !*��)!(  '�M!_.��)![&%Q#+!&*]�P"(&) !P#)!*�!Q#M�̀

X#V!RSRR

YZW�P"�M!M#"�![&%!�)M!&[!\*]�P"(&)!L�%(&M a')�!RSRR

U()#+!M�P( (&)!_M�"�%Q()#"(&)̀!*V!"��!K&')P(+b !K#*()�"!!! a'+V!RSRR

\*]�P"(&)!%�W&%"!W'*+( ��M!&)!"��!K&')P(+!.�* ("�!#)M!
)&"(cP#"(&)!&[!K#*()�"b !M�P( (&)!!

a'+V!RSRR

dFG=:3;1;AFG5e4<AFf

���!P&) '+"#"(&)!W�%(&M![&%!"�� �!W%&W& #+ ! "#%" !&)!,N!O�P�Q*�%!RSR,!#)M!�)M !&)!,!U�*%'#%V!RSRRg!

h��!W#$�!N,![&%!['%"��%!M�"#(+ !&[!�&.!"&!%� W&)M!#)M!Q#i�!V&'%!j(�. !i)&.)g

���!K&')P(+!.(++!W'*+( �!#!P&) '+"#"(&)!%�W&%"!&)!(" !.�* ("�g!���!%�W&%"!Q' "!*�!W'*+( ��M!#"!+�# "!".&!
.��i !W%(&%!"&!"��!W'*+(P#"(&)!&[!#! "#"'"&%V!)&"(P�g!!

k&'!P#)!#+ &!# i![&%!#!�#%M!P&WV!&[!"��!%�W&%"g!

���!%�W&%"!.(++!$&!&j�%!"��!(  '� !%#( �M!M'%()$!"��!P&) '+"#"(&)!W�%(&M!#)M!$(j�!"��!K&')P(+b !%� W&) �!"&!
"�� �!(  '� g!���!%�W&%"!.(++!#+ &!P&)"#()!Y "V)b !j(�.!&[!"��!W%&W& #+ g

���!K&')P(+b !K#*()�"!.(++!P&) (M�%!"��!P&) '+"#"(&)!%�W&%"!#)M!M�P(M�!.��"��%!&%!)&"!"&!$&!#��#M!.("�!
"��!W%&W& �M!P�#)$� g

l[!"��!K#*()�"!M�P(M� !"&!P&)"()'�!.("�!"��!P�#)$� !"��!K&')P(+!Q' "!W'*+( �!#!M&P'Q�)"!P#++�M!#!
m "#"'"&%V!)&"(P�bg!��( !( !#)!&[cP(#+! "#"�Q�)"! #V()$!"�#"!"��!P�#)$� !.(++!$&!#��#Mg

��

n
op
qr
s
tu
qv
wx
ry
z{
|
|
}p

~
w|
�
�p
�|
u
r�
|
wr
z{
�}
�
wt
u
r�
u
�
rx
|
v
u
�r
~
t|
~
}t
r

�
�q
{
r�
�
�
�q
�|
u
�}
r}
t�
wu
�u
�r
u
tt
�
pr

Page 1047



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

���� �!"#$%!�&'(

)*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*3+*,65*7/08-9*:.;934-,3/2*/7*-*<2-93+5=*:0/:/+-9>*?65*-::0/@-9*,/*:.;93+6*-*+,-,.,/01*
2/,345*8.+,*;5*A3@52*;1*,65*B/.2439C+*B-;325,>*?63+*D/.9=*/291*;5*4/2+3=505=*-7,50*,65*B-;325,*6-@5*
05453@5=*-*05:/0,*/2*-99*,65*4/2+.9,-,3/2*05+:/2+5+>*?63+*3+*-*95A-9*05E.305852,*-+*/.,9325=*32*,65*F46//9*
G0A-23+-,3/2*B/=5*HIJK>

?65*B/.2439*D/.9=*:.;93+6*,65*+,-,.,/01*2/,345*/2*3,+*D5;+3,5>*L,*D/.9=*-9+/*:.,*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*
-,*/0*25-0*,65*8-32*52,0-245*,/*,65*+46//9M+NO+3,5M+N*-7754,5=*;1*,65*2/,345>*F46//9+*,6-,*-05*-7754,5=*
D/.9=*-9+/*;5*A3@52*4/:35+*/7*,65*2/,345*,/*A3@5*/.,*,/*:.:39+P*:-052,+P*A.-0=3-2+P*-2=*+,-77*858;50+*
M,65*+46//9*8-1*-9+/*=3+,03;.,5*,65*2/,345*;1*58-39N>*?65*2/,345*+5,+*/.,*,65*=5,-39+*/7*,65*:0/:/+-9+*-2=*
-+Q+*-21/25*D6/*D-2,+*,/*/;R54,*,/*=/*+/>*G;R54,3/2+*8.+,*;5*D03,,52>*?651*8.+,*;5*+52,*,/*,65*B/.2439*
D3,632*,65*=-,5+*A3@52*/2*,65*2/,345>

S(�("T&U��&!U$!V$�W($X"!X!Y�ZY$

B-0=377*B/.2439*B-;325,*D/.9=*=5,508325*,65*:0/:/+-9+>*?63+*85-2+*,651*D399*8-Q5*-*<2-9*=543+3/2*/2*
D65,650*,65*46-2A5+*A/*-65-=>*?65*B-;325,*8-1*=543=5*,/*-::0/@5*/0*05R54,*,65*:0/:/+-9P*/0*,651*8-1*
-::0/@5*,65*:0/:/+-9*D3,6*+/85*46-2A5+*M8/=3<4-,3/2+N>*?65*B-;325,*D399*,-Q5*-21*/;R54,3/2+*05453@5=*
32*,65*G;R54,3/2*[503/=*32,/*-44/.2,*D652*8-Q32A*,63+*=543+3/2>*

S('&Y&!U$%!�&\'��&!U$

)7,50*=5,50832-,3/2P*B-0=377*B/.2439*D/.9=*95,*5@501/25*-7754,5=*;1*,65*:0/:/+-9*Q2/D*D6-,*,65*=543+3/2*
D-+>*L,*D399*-9+/*;5*:.;93+65=*/2*,65*B/.2439C+*D5;+3,5>
*

��

]̂
_̀
ab
cd̀
e
fg
ah
ij
k
k
l_

m
fk
n
o_
ok
d
ap
k
fa
ij
ol
q
fc
d
ar
d
q
ag
k
e
d
sa
m
ck
m
lc
a

t
ò
j
ar
q
q
ò
ok
d
rl
al
cr
fd
od
sa
d
cc
q
_a

Page 1048



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !"#$#%��&'( )�� (&*�'+

,-.&/01&/-234565&6789&:593-195&;-:2&-14815&06&<<<=/0:>8;;=?-@=.AB$"�9/7--43:-3-9049&

CDEFGGHEIGFJKIELDMENOGPQJRQNHEMGNDSMPGETJNGEORJPGNELDMERGJMKGMNEUQHVEGFDHQDKJREVGJRHVEJKIEUGRRTGQKWEKGGINE
JWGIEXXEYEXZ[EUGEJMGEOMDODNQKWEHD\

] GNHJTRQNVEJÊ_EORJPGÈOGPQJRQNHEaGNDSMPGEbJNGEJHEcJMIQLLEdGNHEcDFFSKQHeEfQWVÈPVDDRELMDF
G̀OHGFTGMÊ_̂^

] GNHJTRQNVEJÊ_EORJPGÈOGPQJRQNHEaGNDSMPGEbJNGEJHEgJNHGMKEfQWVELMDFÈGOHGFTGMÊ_̂^

hDSMEiQGUNEFJHHGM[EORGJNGEHGRRESNEUVJHEeDSEHVQKjEJTDSHEHVGEOMDODNJRETe\

] cDFORGHQKWEJKIEMGHSMKQKWEHVGEJPPDFOJKeQKWEkSGNHQDKKJQMGEHDEHVGEJIIMGNNEWQiGKEJHEHVGETDHHDF
DLEHVGELDMFl

] cDFORGHQKWEHVGEDKRQKGEMGNODKNGELDMFEJHmnnnopqrstuuovwxoyz{|}~�p�ww��rw�w�q��

] �MEQLEeDSEOMGLGMEeDSEPJKEG�FJQREeDSMEiQGUNEHD\E�p�ww�r���w�����pqrstuuovwxoyz

#75&/4-981?&>065&;-:&:593-1959&6-&6789&/-19.46068-1&89&#.59>0�&�&*5�:.0:�&����=&&!1;-:6.10654��&1-&

:593-1959&:5/58@5>&0;65:&6706&>065&/01&�5&/-198>5:5>&

]E�JMGKH

CGJPVGMEYEORGJNGENOGPQLeEeDSMENPVDDRE

P̀VDDREWDiGMKDMEYEORGJNGENOGPQLeEeDSMENPVDDR

�HVGMEYEORGJNGENOGPQLeE

�=�78/7&-;&675&;-44-<81?&0:5&�-.&:593-1>81?&09�

�=�-&�-.&70@5&0&/784>B/784>:51&51:-445>&06&675&;-44-<81?&9/7--49�&�68/A&044&6706&0334��

cJMIQLLEdGNHEcDFFSKQHeEfQWVÈPVDDR

gJNHGMKEfQWVE

�HVGMEORGJNGENOGPQLeE

E ���

�=�-&�-.&9.33-:6&675&34019&3.6&;-:<0:>&6-&823:-@5&675&3:-@898-1&;-:
�784>:51&01>&,-.1?&)5-345&<867&0>>868-104&450:181?&155>9�

hGNE E �DE E �DK�HE�KDU

��

�
��
��
 
¡¢
�£
¤¥
�¦
§̈
©
©
ª�

«
¤©
¬
�
©
¢
�®
©
¤�
§̈
ª̄
¤¡
¢
�°
¢̄
�¥
©
£
¢
±�
«
¡©
«
ª¡
�

²
�̈
�°̄
̄�
©
¢
°ª
�ª
¡°
¤¢
¢
±�
¢
¡¡̄
��

³́µ¶·̧¹º»·¼́ ½̧

Page 1049



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�,!&�)*-(�!,�'()�$-(!!+�$.')$/

0-(!!+�*12�%&!%!$*+ 3)$ 4!  !15'�
61!7

8*&2.,,�9)$'�8!::#1.'"�;.<(�0-(!!+

=>>>?@ABCDE@F>B>GH>IDBJ?>KI?JEBDE@A>L?@MNOJ?>PB@?>BA>QBORESS>T?@A>
QMUUNVEAW>XEYF>KJFMMD>SOMU>K?IA?UC?O>GHGG

Z*$')&1�;.<(

=>>>?@ABCDE@F>B>GH>IDBJ?>KI?JEBDE@A>L?@MNOJ?>PB@?>BA>[B@A?OV>XEYF>
KJFMMD>SOMU>K?IA?UC?O>GHGG>

\���]+)*$)�)̂%+*.1�7("�"!#�2!�!&�2!�1!'�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+_$̀�a)+!7���
]+)*$)�:*6)�&),)&)1-)�'!�'()�$-(!!+�.1b!+b)2

c���9!#+2�"!#�+.6)�'!�$#<<)$'�*1"�-(*1<)$�!&�*+')&1*'.b)$/

��

d
ef
gh
i
jk
gl
mn
ho
pq
r
r
sf

t
mr
u
vf
vr
k
hw
r
mh
pq
vs
x
mj
k
hy
k
x
hn
r
l
k
zh
t
jr
t
sj
h

{
vg
q
hy
x
x
vg
vr
k
ys
hs
jy
mk
vk
zh
k
jj
x
fh

Page 1050



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� !!"#"$%&'�($))*%#+

,-./0

1223/4405

6748972/0

:;*�('$+"%<�!&#*�=$>�>*+?$%+*+�#$�#;"+�($%+@'#&#"$%�"+�A�B*C>@&>D�EFEE�

GH/5I7JK9LM5L45K785-NM/587597K4L2/35-KO597K4JM8-8L7K53/4P7K4/453/9/LQ/25-R8/358HL452-8/S5

I7K4JM8-8L7K53/4P7K4/45TLMM5K785N/597JK8/25-457NU/98L7K458758H/5P37P74-MS5

VNU/98L7K459-K57KMO5N/53/WL48/3/25R7MM7TLKW5PJNML9-8L7K57R5-548-8J873O5K78L9/S

XR5O7J5TL4H5875N/5K78LY/257R5PJNML9-8L7K57R58H/5I7K4JM8-8L7K53/P738Z5PM/-4/5P37QL2/5-K5/.-LM5-223/44S5
XR5O7J5275K785P37QL2/5-K5/.-LM5-223/44Z5T/59-KK785[//P5O7J5JP58752-8/

:;&%\�D$@�=$>�D$@>�($))*%#+
6M/-4/53/8J3K58HL45R73.58758H/5]9H77M5V3W-KL4-8L7K56M-KKLKW5G/-.Z5̂77.5_̀aZ5I7JK8O5b-MMZ5Icà5_de5555555555
735NO5/.-LM587549H77M3/4P7K4/4f9-32LRRSW7QSJ[5NO5K75M-8/358H-K5a5c/N3J-3O5g̀ggS

��

h
ij
kl
m
no
kp
qr
ls
tu
v
v
wj

x
qv
y
zj
zv
o
l{
v
ql
tu
zw
|
qn
o
l}
o
|
lr
v
p
o
~l
x
nv
x
wn
l

�
zk
u
l}
|
|
zk
zv
o
}w
lw
n}
qo
zo
~l
o
nn
|
jl

Page 1051



��
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"��
#$%&'%()*+,-.%(/+0*()+'12+.%(3%$+4(1+(&$$+4(0'(1+(5+*%(&220*&1%$/()-6)+-61(*%')+6.%61'7(,-%4'(&6.(6%%.'(3/(&*%&89

:;&1(4&'(/+0*(&<%(+6(/+0*($&'1(3-*1;.&/=(

( >6.%*(?@( ( ( AB9CD(( ( ( DB9BD( ( ( @B9ED( ( #*%F%*(6+1(1+('&/

( ?@9AD( ( ( CB9DD(((( ( BB9@D( ( ( EBG

#$%&'%(1-2H(&6/(+F(1;%(F+$$+4-6<(1;&1(&))$/(1+(/+08(

( I%&FJ(I%&F%6%.J(K&*.(+F(;%&*-6<( ( L-'0&$(-5)&-*5%61((((((( M+6<9'1&6.-6<(-$$6%''(+*(;%&$1;(2+6.-1-+6(N%O<O(2&62%*P((

( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( ( .-&3%1%'P(+*(&'1;5&Q

( R%61&$(;%&$1;(.-FS20$1-%'(( ( ( :;%%$2;&-*(0'%*(((( ( #*%F%*(6+1(1+('&/

( M%&*6-6<(-5)&-*5%61(J(.-FS20$1-%'( ( R+3-$-1/(-5)&-*5%61( ( T1;%*

#$%&'%(')%2-F/

:;&1(-'(/+0*(%1;6-2(<*+0)=(

:;%*%(1;%(1%*5(UV*-1-';7(-'(0'%.P(1;-'(*%F%*'(1+(&6/(+F(1;%(F+0*(;+5%(6&1-+6'(+F(:&$%'P(W6<$&6.P(X+*1;%*6(Y*%$&6.(&6.(Z2+1$&6.P(+*(&6/(

2+53-6&1-+6(+F(1;%'%O

( :;-1%(9(:%$';JW6<$-';JZ2+11-';JX+*1;%*6(Y*-';JV*-1-';(( ( ['-&6J['-&6(:%$';JV*-1-';(9(V&6<$&.%';-

( :;-1%(9(Y*-';(( ( ( ( ( ( ['-&6J['-&6(:%$';JV*-1-';(9(Y6.-&6

( :;-1%(9(\/)'/(+*(Y*-';(]*&,%$$%*( ( ( ( ( ['-&6J['-&6(:%$';JV*-1-';(9([6/(+1;%*

(( :;-1%(9([6/(+1;%*(4;-1%(3&2H<*+06.( ( (( ( V$&2HJ[F*-2&6Ĵ&*-33%&6JV$&2H(:%$';JV*-1-';(9([F*-2&6

(( R-_%.JR0$1-)$%(W1;6-2(\*+0)'(9(:;-1%(̀(['-&6( ( ( V$&2HJ[F*-2&6Ĵ&*-33%&6JV$&2H(:%$';JV*-1-';(9(̂&*-33%&6

( R-_%.JR0$1-)$%(W1;6-2(\*+0)'(9(:;-1%(&6.(V$&2H(̂&*-33%&6( ( V$&2HJ[F*-2&6Ĵ&*-33%&6JV$&2H(:%$';JV*-1-';(9([6/(+1;%*

(( R-_%.JR0$1-)$%(W1;6-2(\*+0)'(9(:;-1%(&6.(V$&2H([F*-2&6( ( [*&3

( R-_%.JR0$1-)$%(W1;6-2(\*+0)'(9([6/(+1;%*(( (( ( [6/(+1;%*(%1;6-2(<*+0)(N)$%&'%(')%2-F/Q

( ['-&6J['-&6(:%$';JV*-1-';(9(̂;-6%'%( ( (( (

( ['-&6J['-&6(:%$';JV*-1-';(9(#&H-'1&6-( ( ( ( #*%F%*(6+1(1+('&/

[*%(/+0a=

( b%5&$%( ( (( R&$%( ( ( T1;%*( ( ( #*%F%*(6+1(1+('&/

I+(/+0(-.%61-F/(&'(&(.-'&3$%.()%*'+6=(

( c%'(( (( ( X+( ( ( #*%F%*(6+1(1+('&/(

];%(-6F+*5&1-+6(/+0(;&,%()*+,-.%.(&3+,%(4-1;(3%()*+2%''%.(3/(̂&*.-FF(̂+062-$(-6($-6%(4-1;(1;%(I&1&(#*+1%21-+6([21(Ad?e(&6.(\%6%*&$(I&1&(#*+1%21-+6(f%<0$&1-+6O(];%(
-6F+*5&1-+6()*+,-.%.(1+(0'(-6(*%$&1-+6(1+(1;-'(2+6'0$1&1-+6(4-$$(3%(1*%&1%.(&'(2+6S.%61-&$(301(-1(5&/(3%(0'%.(3/(1;%(̂+062-$(+*(.-'2$+'%.(1+(+1;%*'(4;%6(*%g0-*%.(3/($&4O(
];%()0*)+'%(+F()*+2%''-6<(1;%()%*'+6&$(.&1&(-'(*%g0-*%.(1+()%*F+*5(&(')%2-S2(1&'H'(-6(1;%()03$-2(-61%*%'1O([6/(*%')+6'%'(*%2%-,%.(2&6(3%(*%g0%'1%.(06.%*(1;%(b*%%.+5(
+F(Y6F+*5&1-+6([21(&6.(5&/(;&,%(1+(3%(5&.%()03$-2P(;+4%,%*(&6/(-6F+*5&1-+6(1;&1(4+0$.(-.%61-F/(&6(-6.-,-.0&$('02;(&'(6&5%(&6.(&..*%''(4+0$.(3%(*%5+,%.O
b+*(F0*1;%*(-6F+*5&1-+6(+6(;+4(̂&*.-FF(̂+062-$(5&6&<%'()%*'+6&$(-6F+*5&1-+6P('%%(+0*(F0$$(#*-,&2/(#+$-2/(+6(1;%(̂+062-$7'(4%3'-1%(
hiijklmmnnnopqrstuuovwxoyzm{|}m~w��m|�n�I-'2$&-5%*J#&<%'J.%F&0$1O&')_(

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1052



��������� �������
�����
�������������

����������������������������� �!��������
"�#������#�������������!�������$���%&
!���������������

'()*+,-.-/()0123/(45067042'289230:;:60<0;60=293+.3>0:;::

?@ABCDEFGHIJKCFLJCMICHLDICLNLAOLMOICAJCPQLAOOIRC
SCTGOOCNIQBAEJCETCK@ICFEJBGOKLKAEJCDEFGHIJKCABCLNLAOLMOICLKUCVVVWXYZ[\]]Ŵ_̀WabcdefgXh__ijZ_j_gYig

kJTEQHLKAEJCFLJCLOBECMICHLDICLNLAOLMOICAJCEK@IQCFEHHGJAKlCOLJmGLmIBCATCJIIDIDRC
nOILBICFEJKLFKCGBCEJCopqrpostrptpoCKECLQQLJmICK@ABR

Appendix 2

Page 1033



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%&&

'()*+,-.)/0)120(31402)5)(002)36)1(780590)3:0)(;<=08)6>)9076(258?)97:66@)A@5709)5(2)3:0)(002)36)1<A86B0)
97:66@)=;1@21(C9)59)A583)6>)3:0)D6;(71@E9)*,93)D0(3;8?.)F5(2)F)G7:66@9)H86C85<<0I

J:19)=66K@03)76(351(9)9;<<581902)1(>68<5316()5=6;3)A86A695@9)36)A86B120)<680)9076(258?)5C0)9A0715@)
97:66@)A@5709)>68)7:1@280()/13:)L<6316(5@)M05@3:)5(2)N0@@=01(C)O0029)53)P800(:1@@)G7:66@I))J:0)0Q1931(C)
P800(:1@@)G7:66@)=;1@21(C9)/6;@2)=0)80A@5702I)

J:19)19)?6;8)7:5(70)36)59K)R;09316(9)5(2)<5K0)76<<0(39I))N0)/5(3)36)K(6/)?6;8)B10/9)=075;90)3:19)/1@@)
:0@A);9)36)<5K0)9;80)5(?)A86A695@)3:53)C609)>68/582)805@@?)/68K9)>68)?6;(C)A06A@0.)3:018)>5<1@109)5(2)3:0)

76<<;(13109)@675@)36)3:0)97:66@I)

ST�U&�!V&WV&X!"X"YZ$ &U"&%"[&&

J6)<003)3:0)1(780591(C)20<5(2)>68)9A0715@)97:66@)A@5709)>68)@058(089)/13:)0<6316(5@):05@3:)5(2)/0@@=01(C)
(0029)13)19)A86A6902)36\

]̂ _̀abcdeĉfgĉadhda_fîjk̂lbcc̀g_mm̂nagjjm̂kbjop̂q̂fĵrpŝhmdacet̂

]̂ fbd̀ekcb̂lbcc̀g_mm̂eagjjm̂fĵ̀ cûvw_mx̂daajoojxdf_j̀ d̂abjeêfuĵe_fcêdf̂fgĉywfaĝldbxc̀^
zc̀fbĉe_fc{̂|dcê}̂~bì �̂jdx̂�̀cdb̂fĵ|q̂��s�̂d̀x̂�îlmdê�jdx̂_̀̂�md̀_egc̀{̂u_fĝ�ŝhwh_mê
j̀ ĉdaĝe_fĉkbjon̂chfcovcb̂�s��t

J:0)20B0@6A<0(3)6>)3:19)A86A695@)19)53)5()058@?)935C0I)�(?)20351@02)97:66@)2091C()68)9130)@5?6;3)/6;@2)=0)

76(9120802)@5308)1>)3:0)A86A695@)A86C809909I

�"W&�"#&��$&�$%&"#U&�"!V&�$%&�VU&#Y&�$"W&�"#!&�ZVWY[

�)�;@@)20351@9)75()=0)>6;(2)1()3:0)D6(9;@35316()�67;<0(3)6()3:0)D6;(71@)/0=9130)53)������������������ 
¡¢£¤�¥��¦§��§�¤�¦¤)

�)'>)?6;)580);(5=@0)36)577099)3:0)267;<0(3)6(̈@1(0.)A81(302)76A109)6>)3:19)76(9;@35316()267;<0(3)/1@@)=0)
5B51@5=@0)=?)A693)6()80R;093I)©6;)<5?)80R;093)5)76A?)=?)30@0A:6(1(C)+*ª*+)«-*-*+I)

�)N0):5B0)68C5(1902)5()6(@1(0)<0031(C)5(2)286Ä1()909916(9)3:53)?6;)75()5330(2)1>)?6;)/6;@2)@1K0);9)36)
0QA@51()3:0)9;CC09302)7:5(C09)36)?6;I)©6;)75()5@96)59K);9)R;09316(9I)'>)?6;)/6;@2)@1K0)36)5330(2)5()6(@1(0)
<0031(C.)A@0590)76(3573);9)=?)0̈<51@1(C)¤�¥��¦�¬¤§�¤¬¤®��������������)5(2)30@@);9)/:17:)<0031(C)?6;)
/6;@2)@1K0)36)5330(2I)N0)/1@@)3:0()A86B120)5)@1(K)5(2)1(938;7316(9)>68)5330(21(C)3:0)<0031(CI

J:0)25309)6>)3:0)A;=@17)76(9;@35316()<0031(C)5(2)286A)1()909916(9)580)903)6;3)=0@6/\)

�dvmĉ�̄̂zj̀ewmfdf_j̀ |̂ccf_̀°̂ydfcê

±dfwbĉjk̂aj̀ewmfdf_j̀^ ydfc²�_oĉ ³c̀wĉ

(́@1(0)H;=@17)<0031(C) N02(0925?),*)µ5(;58?)*+**
¶\·+A<

(́@1(0)B15)̧178696>3)J05<9)

�86A)1()909916(9)) (́)80R;093)=?)0<51@1(C)
97:66@809A6(909¹75821>>IC6BI;K

(́@1(0)B15)̧178696>3)J05<9)

G0A58530)<0031(C9):5B0)=00()5885(C02)>68)935>>)5(2)C6B08(689I

J:0)B10/9)6>)7:1@280()5(2)?6;(C)A06A@0)580)K0?)36)3:0)/5?)02;75316()19)20@1B0802I))N0)/1@@)76(9;@3)/13:)
A;A1@9)1()P800(:1@@)G7:66@)5(2)1(7@;20)3:018)>002=57K)1()3:0)4(5@)76(9;@35316()80A683I

� Page 1034



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#�$%&'�()�&%'�*+

,-./012345067883/079:043047980;-.08-083<<0.504=780;-.08=29>07?-.808=30@=79A350430=71305.AA3583:02908=250
:-@.6398B0

,-.0@790:-08=250?;C

D0,-.0@79078839:08=30E.?<2@0633829A0-/070:/-EF29053552-9

D0,-.0@790E/-12:30;-./0123450780GGGHIJKLMNNHOPQHRSTUVWXIYPPZ[KP[PXJZX

D0,-.0@790\<<02908=30/35E-9530]-/60-90E7A350̂_079:0̂̀ 0-]08=250?--><38B

abcdefghijkdlmncdogpdpchqgjhchdngdnbihdegjhrfnmnigjdihdsdtcuprmpvdwxwwy

z{)�!|'��'�}|�}�*%"$�~{'*'� {!"$'*+

�ebggfdqfmech0F0�<<0@-.9@2<50290�7<3506.580E/-12:3039-.A=05@=--<0E<7@350]-/0E.E2<50-]07<<07A35B0�@=--<0E<7@350

6.580633808=30933:50-]07<<0E.E2<5079:06.580?305.287?<30]-/079;07::282-97<0<37/929A0933:5B

�gjlinigjd�d�rinmuifinv0F0�@=--<0]7@2<2823506.580?30\80]-/0E./E-53B0�@=--<506.5805.EE-/808=30:3<213/;0-]0=2A=F

�.7<28;0<37/929AB

z{!~�%*�~{'��!"������*~��'"~�|)�� {���*��|�$|!(('+

�=30_̂580�398./;0�@=--<50�/-A/766302507067�-/�0<-9AF83/6029135863980E/-A/7663B0�80250�-298<;0].9:3:0?;0

8=30�3<5=0�-13/96398079:0�-@7<0�.8=-/28235B0�=3072602508-0E/-12:30=2A=0�.7<28;03:.@782-97<0]7@2<2823508=780

42<<0633808=30:213/530/3�.2/3639850-]08=30_̂580�398./;B

�=30\/580E7/80-]08=30�/-A/76630��79:0��0/790.982<0�7/@=0_�̂�B0

�=3053@-9:0E7/80-]08=250].9:29A0��79:0��0587/83:0290�E/2<0_�̂�B0�50E7/80-]08=25�0�7/:2]]0�-.9@2<0250E<79929A0790

29135863980E/-A/76630-]07/-.9:0�_��62<<2-9B

z{)�!|'�(�|'�}�! '*�"''�'�+

�-580<37/93/50428=0�::282-97<0�37/929A0 33:50��� �078839:070<-@7<0672958/37605@=--<079:0=71303¡8/705.EE-/80
8=3/3B0�37/93/504=-0=71306-/305313/30-/0@-6E<3¡0933:5078839:0705E3@27<05@=--<0-/0�E3@27<2580¢35-./@30�753B0�=250
@79029@<.:30E.E2<50428=0£6-82-97<0¤37<8=0¥0�3<<?329A0 33:5B0

�=309.6?3/0-]0E.E2<50290�7/:2]]04=-0933:070E<7@30290705E3@27<05@=--<0-/05E3@27<2580/35-./@30?753025029@/37529AB0

�90_�_̂¦__08=3/307/30708-87<0-]0̂§_05E3@27<2580£6-82-97<0¤37<8=079:0�3<<?329A0E<7@350]-/0<37/93/507A3:0̂̂ F
^̈0].9:3:0?;0�7/:2]]0�-.9@2<B00�=353043/30290672987293:05@=--<5029@<.:29A0�/339=2<<0�@=--<�079:0290-8=3/0
3587?<25=639850@-662552-93:0?;08=30�-.9@2<B0

�=308-87<0:3679:0]-/0E<7@350290�7/:2]]025035826783:08-0?307EE/-¡26783<;0̀__0290_�_̂¦__�0E/-�3@83:08-0/25308-0
�̀�0?;0_�_©¦_̈B

�<<-429A0]-/05-6305./E<.508-05.EE-/80ª3¡2?2<28;�05.]\@23980@7E7@28;04-.<:0?308-0E/-12:30̀©�0E<7@350290_�_̂¦__�0
79:0̀�̀0E<7@350?;0_�_©¦_̈B0

�905.667/;�08=3/3025079035826783:05=-/8]7<<0-]0̂�_0E<7@350]-/0<37/93/507A3:0̂̂ F0̂̈ 0290_�_̂¦__�0/2529A08-0_̂ 0̂
?;0_�_©¦_̈B �Page 1035



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !" #$�%&�&�' 

()*+,,-./01*23+,304/156730368/096:,)/382,:)*/0:11654/;65/49*/<+=6534-/6;/,*+58*50/46/04+-/68/:843,/49*-/+5*/
>?/65/>@A/

BCD EF#G'H G'H $E#IGJE K$EE'C&II LJC��IM

N5**893,,/O2966,/30/+/PQR1,+2*/01*23+,/02966,/;65/,*+58*50/;56</+25600/49*/234-/S349/03T83U2+84/*<64368+,/
9*+,49/+8)/S*,,V*38T/8**)0/+T*)/>>/W/>@A/

X8/*Y1+80368/6;/N5**893,,/67*5/4S6/034*0./*+29/6;/?Z/1,+2*0./S6:,)[

\/0:11654/49*/02966,/46/)*7*,61/340/2:5532:,:</;:549*5

\/*8+V,*/49*/02966,/46/15673)*/<65*/6;/]+5)3;;̂0/<604/7:,8*5+V,*/,*+58*50/49*/611654:834-/46/,*+58/38/+///
/ 1:5160*RV:3,4/01*23+,304/,*+5838T/*873568<*84A/

� Page 1036



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%&'!(&'�$&!)*�&+

,-./0112,345607238592-2:;<=>?@6A-.@290A@25@BA2A32C456A0352DE2312A?@2F=;2G?@290A@209264..@5A7H23664I0@/2JH2A?@2

K4A6?2L-./@52,@5A.@;2G?@290A@2?-92J@@520/@5A0M@/2-92?-N05O2-254PJ@.2312I3A@5A0-7249@9205674/05O2-//0A035-72

7@-.505O25@@/9296?33721-6070A0@9Q294JR@6A2A32I7-5505O2-II.3N-79;2

G?@290A@S9290T@2-5/29@P0>.4.-72736-A03528347/U

V2-7738213.2A?@290A@2A32J@2940A-J7H2/@90O5@/2A326.@-A@2-2:W9A2,@5A4.H2X6?33722

V294II3.A234A/33.27@-.505OQ2?3.A0647A4.@2-5/29P-772-50P-726-.@2-92I-.A2312A?@264..06474P

V263PI7@P@5A2A?@24.J-52736-A0352312A?@2GH2L7-9290A@28?@.@29A4/@5A926-52-66@992A?@260AHS923II3.A450A0@9222

2 @;O;Q2A.-N@72A.-0505OQ283.Y2@BI@.0@56@2-5/2736-72J4905@99@92

V2-77382I3A@5A0-723II3.A450A0@9213.234A23126345AH2I7-6@P@5A92Z94JR@6A2A32-N-07-J070AH[

V2-77382A?@290A@2A329@.N@2-280/@2-.@-280A?2.@-935-J7@2?3P@2A3296?3372A.-N@72A0P@9

�Page 1037



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�"#$%&�' !(#")%(

*+,-./01234-+56-7082+56,9-5-63:,-31-1/8:+-.5893;;-/1-*<-=456->/59-/;-58/019-?@A-+,2:58,6@-*+36-63:,-B/049-

C,-51-,D2,44,1:-4/25:3/1-;/8-C/:+-E5316:8,5E-6,2/1958<-62+//4-78/F363/1-519-G993:3/154-H,58131I-J,,96-

,9025:3/1-78/F363/1@

*+,-4/25:3/1-/;-:+,-63:,-B/049K

L M8/F39,-522,66-NOP:+,-23:<Q6-/77/8:013:3,6-,@I@R-:85F,4-:853131IR-B/8S-,D7,83,12,-519-4/254-C0631,66,6

L M8/F39,-I//9-7/:,1:354-;/8-52:3F,-:85F,4-2/11,2:3/16

L 2/E74,E,1:-:+,-6,E3T80854-4/25:3/1-/;-:+,-U0:2+-=589,1-63:,-B+,8,-6:09,1:6-251-522,66-/0:9//8-4,58131IRP

+/8:3204:08,-519-6E544-513E54-258,-4,58131I-/77/8:013:3,6-56-758:-/;-:+,-208832040E

� Page 1038



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� ! ��"#��"$% !#& ' !("�)"$*+��'",% '� �-.

/00123455016756879:821:;1<=7>:??14=@81A88;1=228228>1?571948135;>:9:5;15?1948:71AB:0>:;C2D1/0014=@81A88;1

7=98>1?75E1/1951FG1H:941234550217=98>1F1:;194816557829135;>:9:5;D1I4:2167538221480621B2195167:57:9:281H4:341

23455021;88>1:E675@8E8;921951948:71AB:0>:;C21=;>1H4:341;88>1:;@829E8;9D1

J788;4:001K345501:217=98>1=21=1L<M13=98C57N1?57135;>:9:5;D1I4:21E8=;219481AB:0>:;C21=781:;16557135;>:9:5;1

H:941E=O571>8?8392D1I4816557129=9815?19481AB:0>:;C21E=P821:914=7>1?57129=??1951>80:@87194813B77:3B0BED1I481

2345501AB:0>:;C214=@81A88;17=98>1=21F1QR87N16557S1?571948:712B:9=A:0:9N1?57198=34:;C1=;>108=7;:;CD11

TB794871>89=:0215;194817=9:;C213=;1A81?5B;>1:;1948135;2B09=9:5;1>53BE8;91=9U1

VVVWXYZ[\]]Ŵ_̀WabcdefgXh__ijZ_j_gYig

k%#' !("#��"$!#��#l�."

m@87N12345501:;1n=0821:21:;268398>1AN1m29N;D1

m29N;18;2B782194=9123455021=781675@:>:;C1=1C55>1oB=0:9N15?18>B3=9:5;1951948:716B6:021=;>194=91=00134:0>78;1

=7812B665798>195108=7;1AN18p38008;9198=34:;C1=;>108=7;:;C129=??D1

K3455021=781=025160=38>1:;15;815?19481?5B713505B7q35>8>12B6657913=98C57:821QC788;G1N8005HG1=EA871=;>1

78>S1=216=7915?19481n80241J5@87;E8;9r21s=9:5;=01K345501<=98C57:2=9:5;1KN298ED1/EA871=;>1t8>123455021

=78194528194=9178oB:7819481E52912B66579D

F89=:0215?129=;>=7>21=91J788;4:001K345501=2128915B91:;19481234550r21E52917838;91m29N;17865791=7815B90:;8>1

:;194819=A081A805HU

uvwxxy z{|}~v��x{����~ u��{����| ��x|}~v�|��x��z�}�x�~�~{�

J788;4:001K34550 �=7341���� J55> J55>

�;19481E52917838;91n80241J5@87;E8;91K345501<=98C57:2=9:5;1=91�=;B=7N1����G1J788;4:001K345501H=21

3=98C57:28>1=21��~~{D

I4:21E8=;2194=91J788;4:001K345501:2U

� /1H800q7B;12345501H:9412975;C108=>8724:61

� <08=71=A5B9167:57:9:821?571:E675@8E8;91

�������=21=197=3P178357>1:;17=:2:;C129=;>=7>2�

�������=2194813=6=3:9N19512B66579159487123455021

TB794871>89=:0215;1oB=0:9N1=;>129=;>=7>213=;1A81?5B;>1:;1948135;2B09=9:5;1>53BE8;915;1=91

VVVWXYZ[\]]Ŵ_̀WabcdefgXh__ijZ_j_gYig

�Page 1039



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

������ !"�# $$�%&�'�%�$ $(!#�)*�+''*,&*"-

./0123/4451647581349:;9701:41<=4>;80127<<4=:1:/?:1;21?<<=4<=;?:01:41:/01;98;>;87?519008214@10?3/1<7<;5A1

./0=01;21941;9@4=B?:;491:4127CC02:1:/?:1:/019008214@1?9D14@1:/01E05461C=47<21647581E0190C?:;>05D1

?@@03:081ED1:/01<=4<420813/?9C02F

G1<7<;5216;:/1H88;:;49?51I0?=9;9C1J0082

G1<7<;5216;:/1K9C5;2/1?21?91H88;:;49?51I?9C7?C0

G1<7<;521=030;>;9C1L=001M3/4451N0?52

G1N;94=;:D1K:/9;31<7<;52

OP+&�+%*�&P*�)*Q*R&#��'�&P*�$%�$�#*"�,P+QS*#-

G1./01<=4<42?521647581;93=0?201:/0197BE0=14@12<03;?5123/4451<5?3021@4=1203498?=D1?C08150?=90=216;:/1

0B4:;49?51/0?5:/1?9816055E0;9C190082A1

G1H187?512;:016475814@@0=1T0U;E;5;:D1@4=1B?9?C;9C1<7<;52A1

G1.6412;:021347581?55461<7<;52111:41E010873?:08135420=1:41/4B01?981<=4>;801?1E0::0=12<=0?814@1

2<03;?5;2:1<=4>;2;491?3=4221:/013;:DA1

G1H187?512;:01647581?55461@4=1?16;80=1=?9C014@1=0247=3021@4=1:/0123/445A1./012;:021/?>01E009120503:081:41

34B<=;201?1=7=?512;:01:/?:13475814@@0=147:844=150?=9;9C10U<0=;09302V1/4=:;375:7=0V1?9;B?513?=0V16/;501

:/017=E?912;:013475814@@0=1>43?:;49?510U<0=;093021?981:=?>051:=?;9;9CA

G1./01<=4<42?521647581=0B4>01:/01<44=13498;:;4910U;2:;9C1W=009/;551M3/4451E7;58;9C2A

G1J061E7;581@?3;5;:;021<=4>;801/;C/1X7?5;:D150?=9;9C109>;=49B09:2V16/;3/1;B<=4>0150?=9;9C13/4;3021?981

4<<4=:79;:;021@4=1<7<;52A1

G1./019061E7;58;9C21647581E01@755D1?33022;E501?98134B<5;?9:16;:/1:/01KX7?5;:D1H3:1YZ[ZA

G1./01354201<=4U;B;:D14@1:/01\7:3/1W?=8091]09:=012;:01:41B?̂4=1=4?81=47:021647581?55461:/012;:01:41

20=>01?16;801?=0?16;:/1=0?249?E501/4B01:4123/4451:=?>051:;B02A

G1./01.D1W5?212;:01;21354201:41<7E5;31:=?92<4=:1=47:021?981/?21C4481<4:09:;?51@4=1?3:;>01:=?>051

349903:;492A

� Page 1040



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� �!"#$%!&"'(" �")�&$�*$�+�$�,�-�&"#

./0123/454678/96:;/<==6:61>?7/@3?A>6>B/C33=8/D?>/E>=/D;?>B3/=6FED57:G//H;3/I15>D67/9157=/:;3A3F1A3/

>33=/:1/47?>/?>=/85441A:/:;68/D;?>B3/D?A3F577JG

./H;3A3/D157=/K3/6>DA3?83=/:A?FED/D1>B38:61>/?A15>=/:;3/8D;117/86:38G/H;3/I15>D67/9157=/91AL/96:;/

:;3/M1N3A>6>B/O1=J/1F/MA33>;677/8D;117/:1/=3N3714/6:8/HA?N37/P7?>G/H;68/9157=/833L/:1/26>62683/?>J/

41:3>:6?7/=68A54:61>G

./H;3/Q5:D;/M?A=3>/I3>:A3/86:3/68/>1:/3?867J/?DD3886K73/KJ/45K76D/:A?>841A:G/R:/=138/>1:/D5AA3>:7J/

;?N3/?D:6N3/:A?N37/A15:38/F1A/9?7L6>B/?>=/DJD76>B/:1/:;3/86:3G/S193N3AT/UVW/1F/73?A>3A8/?:/MA33>;677/

0D;117/:A?N37/:1/8D;117/KJ/:?X6G/H;3/BA3?:3A/84A3?=/1F/47?D38/?DA188/:;3/D6:J/2?J/A3=5D3/:;3/?N3A?B3/

Y15A>3J/73>B:;G

./P?A:/1F/:;3/Q5:D;/M?A=3>/I3>:A3/86:3/7638/D7183/:1/:;3/Z[/21:1A9?JG//H;3/86:3/9157=/>33=/:1/K3/

D?A3F577J/=386B>3=/?>=/:;3/K3;?N615A/1F/454678/8?F37J/2?>?B3=G/

./<8/4?A:/1F/:;3/Q5:D;/M?A=3>/I3>:A3/86:3/7638/D7183/:1/:;3/Z[/21:1A9?J/:;3A3/2?J/K3/8123/:A?FED/

>1683G/S193N3AT/:;3A3/?A3/F39/1:;3A/A1?=8/>3?AKJ/?>=/F1A/218:/1F/:;3/86:3/:;3/:A?FED/>1683/2?J/K3/

7388/:;?>/?:/2?>J/5AK?>/8D;1178/6>/I?A=6FFG/H;3/71D?:61>/1F/:;3/8D;117/1>/:;3/86:3T/7?>=8D?46>B/?>=/

>1683/K?AA63A8/85D;/?8/:A338/9157=/A3=5D3/>1683/1>/:;3/86:3G/

./P?A:/1F/:;3/86:3/?:/HJ/M7?8/D157=/K3/583=/F1A/?>1:;3A/8D;117G/H;3/86:3/9157=/>33=/:1/K3/D?A3F577J/

=386B>3=/?>=/:;3/K3;?N615A/1F/454678/8?F37J/2?>?B3=G/034?A?:3/3>:A?>D38/?>=/3X6:8/F1A/3?D;/8D;117/

?>=/:;3/41886K676:J/1F/=6FF3A3>:/8:?A:/?>=/E>68;/:6238/9157=/>33=/:1/K3/D1>86=3A3=G/

\!&]&$̂&&�_!"��'$̀!�+$�+�$�,�-�&"#

./I1>857:?:61>/1>/>39/8D;1178/68/5>=3A:?L3>/?:/?>/3?A7J/8:?B3/1F/=3N37146>B/4A1418?78G/H;3/3X:3>86N3/

=386B>/?>=/F3?86K676:J/8:5=638/?A3/5>=3A:?L3>/7?:3AG/a;678:/:;68/7626:8/:;3/A68L/1F/:;3/I15>D67/586>B/6:8/

F5>=8T/8123/85AN3J/?>=/47?>>6>B/6>F1A2?:61>/68/>1:/J3:/?N?67?K73G/06:3/85AN3J8/?>=/B31b:3D;>6D?7/

A341A:8/9157=/?781/K3/5>=3A:?L3>/?:/?/7?:3A/8:?B3G/

./H;3/4A14183=/D;?>B38/A3c56A3/F5>=6>B/FA12/:;3/a378;/M1N3A>23>:G/H;3/I15>D67/9157=/>33=/:1/

83D5A3/F5>=6>B/6>/?/K586>388/D?83/:1/:;3/a378;/M1N3A>23>:G

./RF/:;3/I15>D67/=6=/>1:/B3:/F5>=6>B/FA12/:;3/a378;/M1N3A>23>:T/:;3/I15>D67/9157=/K3/F577J/

A3841>86K73/F1A/?77/D18:8/A37?:6>B/:1/:;3/4A1418?7G//R>/:;68/D?83T/:;3/I15>D67/9157=/>33=/:1/D1>86=3A/

;19/K38:/:1/4A1N6=3/:;3/?==6:61>?7/8D;117/47?D38G

�Page 1041



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#�$%$#%&�'' ()**%+,(##*%�$%$('%-�#"#!'.%+)$'%�$%$('%/0$,(%
&��.' %1' $�'

2345647489:;4<=5>9?865@4A?B@45C52@C<D:9@=5EDD4DD;4<=5>3BF35>9?865B64<=BGH5>CHD5B<5>3BF35>45FC<5;CIB;BD45

=@C7485JH5D?D=CB<CJ845;964DK552345L?=F35MC@64<5N4<=@45DB=45FC<59<8H5J45CFF4DD465JH5743BF84D5C=5:@4D4<=K5N3C<O4D5

>9?865<4465=95J45;C645B<59@64@5=95CFF4DD5=345DB=45B<59=34@5>CHDK5

234@45C@45F?@@4<=8H5<95:464D=@BC<58B<PDQ5FHF8B<O5GCFB8B=B4D59@5:?J8BF5=@C<D:9@=5=95=345DB=4K5R?D5CFF4DD5C<65DCG45>CB=B<O5

GCFB8B=B4D5G9@5D=CGG5C<65C<H5:?:B8D5=@C7488B<O5B<64:4<64<=8H5C<65?DB<O5DF346?8465C<65C66B=B9<C85DF39985J?D5D4@7BF4D5

>9?865<4465=95J45:@97B646Q5>B=35DCG45:464D=@BC<5CFF4DD5=95J?D5D=9:D5F9<74<B4<=5=95=345DF3998K55

��� !"#�$%$#%&�'' ()**%+,(##*%�$%$('%-�#"#!'.%+)$'%�$%�S%&*�!

23452H5M8CD5DB=453CD5C5@48C=B748H5F4<=@C8589FC=B9<5C<65BD5F89D45=95J9=352H5M8CD5@CB8>CH5D=C=B9<5C<65J?D5@9?=4D5D95B=5

FC<5J45=@C7488465=95?DB<O5:?J8BF5=@C<D:9@=K5234@45BD5O9965:9=4<=BC85G9@584C@<4@D5CD5>4885CD5D=CGG5>3958B745>B=3B<5C5

@4CD9<CJ845FHF8B<O59@5>C8PB<O56BD=C<F45=95=@C7485=95=345DB=45JH5CF=B745;964DK55M@44<3B885TF399853CD5C8@4C6H5647489:465

B=D59><5EF=B7452@C7485U8C<K55

M@44<3B885TF39985:?:B8D5C@45D?::9@=465JH5=345N9?<FB8VD5W<64:4<64<=52@C74852@CB<B<O5B<B=BC=B745>34@45DF39985:?:B8D5C@45

D?::9@=465B<5:8C<<B<O5C<65;CPB<O5X9?@<4HD5=95DF39985B<64:4<64<=8HK52345DB=4589FC=B9<5<4C@5:?J8BF5=@C<D:9@=5D4@7BF4D5

>9?86584<65B=5B=D48G5>4885=95:?:B8D5J4B<O5D?::9@=465JH5=3BD5B<B=BC=B74K5

M@44<3B885TF39985C8D95G9@;D5:C@=59G5=345NC@6BGG5TF3998D5RBP45Y844=5:@9X4F=5>34@45JBP4D5ZC<65DF99=4@D[5C@45J4B<O5

:8CF465B<5DF3998D5=95C889>5474@H9<45CFF4DD5=95FHF8B<OQ5?DB<O5=34;5G9@5FHF845=@CB<B<O5C<65G9@5DF399859@54I=@C\F?@@BF?8C@5

CF=B7B=B4DK55

]#̂ %̂#0*.%!$�__%̀'%�__',$'.a

2345:@9:9D465B<F@4CD45B<5:?:B85<?;J4@D5G9@5M@44<3B885TF39985>9?865;4C<5=3C=5=345M974@<B<O5R96H5>9?865<4465=95

:8C<5G9@5C66B=B9<C85D=CGG5C34C65=3454I:C<DB9<K52345M974@<B<O5R96H5>9?865J454<F9?@CO465=95?<64@=CP45=3BD5>9@P5B<5

8B<45>B=35=345TF39985b@OC<BDC=B9<5U8C<<B<O5cd5Y@C;4>9@PK

2345N9?<FB85>9?865:@97B645C67BF4Q5D?::9@=5C<65O?B6C<F45=95=345M974@<B<O5R96H5G9@5=345>9@PG9@F45:8C<<B<O5

C<65@4F@?B=;4<=5:@9F4DD4DK5e34@45M974@<B<O5R96B4D53C745C69:=465=345N9?<FB8VD5TF39985d464:89H;4<=5C<65

d46?<6C<FH5U98BFHQ5C<H5<4>57CFC<FB4D5C@BDB<O5G@9;5C<5B<F@4CD45B<5=345<?;J4@D59<5@9885>9?865:@97B6459::9@=?<B=B4D5

G9@5DF3998\JCD465D=CGG59<5=345DF39985@464:89H;4<=5@4OBD=4@K5

2345:@9:9DC85B<F8?64D5=345@489FC=B9<59G5M@44<3B885TF39985C<656?C85DB=45C@@C<O4;4<=DK5T=CGG5C<65=@C645?<B9<5

F9<D?8=C=B9<5>9?865J45?<64@=CP4<K5N84C@5F9;;?<BFC=B9<5:8C<D5G9@5=345C@@C<O4;4<=D59G5=@C<DG4@@B<O5DB=4D5>9?865J45

@4A?B@46K5T=CGG5>9?865J45B<7987465B<5=345647489:;4<=59G5J?B86B<O5D:4FBfFC=B9<D5C<6564DBO<DK5

�� Page 1042



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� ��!!"#$ #"%�&

'()*+,-./01*2011*/,11)/3*4.5*6-774806)*3()*9))5:4/;*98,7*3(06*/,.6-13430,.<**+,-./01*,9=/)86*2011*3().*

8)>,83*3(06*3,*3()*+,-./01?6*+4:0.)3<*'(06*2011*()1>*3()*)1)/3)5*7)7:)86*-.5)8634.5*634;)(,15)86?*@0)26*

4.5*2011*A0@)*3()7*0.9,87430,.*3,*()1>*74;)*3()08*5)/060,.<

B9*3()*+4:0.)3*5)/05)6*3,*/,.30.-)*203(*3()*>8,>,6416C*03*7-63*>-:106(*4*5,/-7).3*/411)5*4*D6343-3,8E*

.,30/)?<*'()*6343-3,8E*.,30/)*6)36*,-3*3()*5)34016*,9*3()*>8,>,6416*4.5*46;6*4.E,.)*2(,*24.36*3,*,:F)/3*

3,*5,*6,<*G:F)/30,.6*7-63*:)*28033).<*'()E*7-63*:)*6).3*3,*3()*+,-./01*203(0.*3()*543)6*A0@).*,.*

3()*.,30/)<

'()*+4:0.)3*74E*5)/05)*3,*4>>8,@)*,8*8)F)/3*3()*>8,>,641C*,8*3()E*74E*4>>8,@)*3()*>8,>,641*203(*6,7)*

/(4.A)6*H7,50=/430,.6I<*'()*+4:0.)3*2,-15*34;)*4.E*,:F)/30,.6*8)/)0@)5*0.*3()*G:F)/30,.*J)80,5*0.3,*

4//,-.3*2().*74;0.A*3()08*5)/060,.<

G./)*4*5)/060,.*06*745)C*2)*2011*1)3*)@)8E,.)*499)/3)5*:E*3()*>8,>,641*;.,2<**'()*5)/060,.*2011*416,*:)*

>-:106()5*,.*3()*+,-./01?6*2):603)<

KL ��"$" !MN!N$�O$ P"M" �QM""RS P�"# PNTOR ��" #"P $U�NNO 
VTWORW#Q$ N!"#& 

XYZ[\Z[]Ŷ]_̂_ZỲaYZbc[d_[]eZfghiZfgcd_Z\YahYZ[]ZỲ ẐjkjlmjnZ\òggdZp̂ahZa]_Zb̂Zogqrd̂Ŷ_ZsghZrcr[d\Z

YgZc\̂ZaddZ]̂fZsao[d[Y[̂\Z[]ZỲ ẐjkjtmjuZ\òggdZp̂ahvZ

��Page 1043



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#$%!&�'(
)*+,-./,-*012343,4567,8371*/73,9*80,*/26/3,.4,:::;-.8<699;=*>;+?@ABC7-5**218*1*7.27

DEFGHEFIHJIJKLMNFOJP

Q,6/-83.73,453,-.1.-64R,*9,S833/5622,T-5**2,98*0,UV,4*,WUX,12.-37;,

Q,Y8./7938,453,7-5**2,4*,/3:,Z+62<,.--*00*<.46*/,.-8*77,4:*,76437,.4,453,[+4-5,S.8<3/,\3/483],

^.37,),_8R/,̀*.<,a/3.8,4*,̂V,bcXd,./<,YR,S2.7,̀*.<,6/,B2./6753/],:645,eX,1+1627,*/,3.-5,7643,

98*0,T31430Z38,fXfg;

h23.73,/*43,45.4,453,<3>32*103/4,*9,4567,18*1*7.2,67,.4,./,3.82R,74.=3;,A/R,<34.623<,7-5**2,<376=/,

*8,7643,2.R*+47,:*+2<,Z3,-*/76<383<,.4,.,2.438,<.43;,Y5383,:*+2<,Z3,*11*84+/64637,4*,-*003/4,

*/,<34.623<,12./7,.4,453,183i12.//6/=,./<,12.//6/=,.1126-.46*/,74.=37],75*+2<,453,18*1*7.2,Z3,

18*=83773<;

h23.73,4322,+7,:534538,R*+,.83,8371*/<6/=,.7,a46-?,.22,45.4,.112Rd

jklmnopqkrnkstmnuvmpw

k xoyzonkr{k|qm{{w

jksr}onprnw

k ~q�onk���om�ok��o�v{��

jksnmpu�mnopqw

k lt�v�wkk

jkk�r�m�k�o�vuopq

���EGKEF�JM�H�F��L��FK��JJ�KF
�J�FGHEFG���LGOE�F�LO�

W;,[*,R*+,7+11*84,453,18*1*7.2,4*,6/-83.73,453,-.1.-64R,*9,S833/5622,T-5**2,
98*0,UV,4*,WUX,12.-37�

kk��|k k k �~k k �~k~l���~�

l�om�oko���mvpk����

�� Page 1044



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�'!�'&*,$-)&�.&)),(/++�01(!!+�'!�,)2�3#/+4�
*11!55!4*'/!,�*1&!$$�'2!�$/')$�*'�'()� #'1(�.*&4),�6),'&)7�8*)$�9�:&",�
;!*4�*,4�<"�.+*$�;!*47�=+*,/$(),>

??@AB? ? CD? ? CD?DEFCFDC

EGHIJH?HKLGIMN?OPQR

S��T&)�'()&)�*,"�1(*,U)$�"!#�'(/,V�1!#+4�/5%&!W)�'()$)�%&!%!$*+$>

X��T&)�'()&)�*,"�*+')&,*'/W)�!%'/!,$�"!#�2!#+4�+/V)�'!�$#UU)$'>

Y�� !�"!#�(*W)�*,"�!'()&�1!55),'$>

��Page 1045



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� 

!""# $$

%&$'()&" 

*+,-./01234-567,-809-9,1:031,1-70-7+21-.031;/767203-21<=<>?@ABCAD<EFEEG
HI ()&JKLMN(M$(K&'(�ON ('&(L&K$M" #(�KP(L&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(# L MR "(�S' #('IM$("�' T(

)&K$JN'�'M&K(# $Q&K$ $(UMNN(VWX<O (L&JK' "(�$(&OY L'M&K$('&('I (Q#&Q&$�NT(

ZOY L'M&K$(L�K(&KNP(O (# [M$' # "(S&NN&UMK[(QJONML�'M&K(&S(�($'�'J'&#P(K&'ML T

\S(P&J(UM$I('&(O (K&'M] "(&S(QJONML�'M&K(&S('I ()&K$JN'�'M&K(# Q&#'(QN �$ (Q#&RM" (�K( ��MN(�""# $$T(\S(P&J("&(K&'(Q#&RM" (�K(
 ��MN(�""# $$(U (L�KK&'(̂  Q(P&J(JQ('&("�' T

_̀CVa<DWB<bWA<DWBA<cWdd?VXeG
fg?Ce?<A?XBAV<X̀he<bWAd<XW<X̀?<ic̀WWg<jAkCVheCXhWV<fgCVVhVk<_?Cdl<mWWd<nF=l<oWBVXD<pCggl<o>=F<nqr<WA<@D<?dChg<XW<
ec̀WWgA?esWVe?etcCAuhbbGkWvGBa<@D<VW<gCX?A<X̀CV<=<>?@ABCAD<EFEEG

wxjq_<yjq
z/,61,-:90{25,-|0;9-:017.05,-},/0~-70-6//0~-;1-70-�09,-6..;967,/|-:23:0237-9,1:035,371�-{2,~1-635-3,,51-}|-69,6��

�+67-~61-|0;9-64,-03-|0;9-/617-}297+56|�-

- �35,9-��- - - �����-- - - �����- - - �����- - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

- �����- - - �����---- - �����- - - ���

�9,-|0;��

- �,�6/,- - -- �6/,- - - �7+,9- - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

�0-|0;-25,3728|-61-6-5216}/,5-:,9103�-

- �,1-- -- - �0- - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|-

z/,61,-72.�-63|-08-7+,-80//0~234-7+67-6::/|-70-|0;�-

- �,68�-�,68,3,5�-�695-08-+,69234- - �21;6/-2�:629�,37------- �034�17635234-2//3,11-09-+,6/7+-.03527203-�,�4�-.63.,9�--

- - - - - - - - - 526},7,1�-09-617+�6�

- �,376/-+,6/7+-528�.;/72,1-- - - �+,,/.+629-;1,9---- - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

- �,693234-2�:629�,37-�-528�.;/72,1- - �0}2/27|-2�:629�,37- - �7+,9

z/,61,-1:,.28|

�+67-21-|0;9-,7+32.-490;:�-

�+,9,-7+,-7,9�- ¡92721+�-21-;1,5�-7+21-9,8,91-70-63|-08-7+,-80;9-+0�,-3672031-08-�6/,1�-¢34/635�-�097+,93-£9,/635-635-¤.07/635�-09-63|-

.0�}2367203-08-7+,1,�

- �+27,-�-�,/1+�¢34/21+�¤.07721+��097+,93-£921+�¡92721+-- - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¡634/65,1+2

- �+27,-�-£921+-- - - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-£35263

- �+27,-�-¥|:1|-09-£921+-*96{,//,9- - - - - �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�3|-07+,9

-- �+27,-�-�3|-07+,9-~+27,-}6.�490;35- - -- - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�892.63

-- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-̈-�1263- - - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¦692}},63

- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-635-¡/6.�-¦692}},63- - ¡/6.���892.63�¦692}},63�¡/6.�-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-�3|-07+,9

-- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�+27,-635-¡/6.�-�892.63- - �96}

- �2§,5��;/72:/,-¢7+32.-¥90;:1-�-�3|-07+,9-- -- - �3|-07+,9-,7+32.-490;:-�:/,61,-1:,.28|�

- �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-¦+23,1,- - -- -

- �1263��1263-�,/1+�¡92721+-�-z6�217632- - - - z9,8,9-307-70-16|

*+,-23809�67203-|0;-+6{,-:90{25,5-6}0{,-~27+-},-:90.,11,5-}|-¦695288-¦0;3.2/-23-/23,-~27+-7+,-�676-z907,.7203-�.7-�©�ª-635-¥,3,96/-�676-z907,.7203-«,4;/67203�-*+,-
23809�67203-:90{25,5-70-;1-23-9,/67203-70-7+21-.031;/767203-~2//-},-79,67,5-61-.03�5,3726/-};7-27-�6|-},-;1,5-}|-7+,-¦0;3.2/-09-521./01,5-70-07+,91-~+,3-9,¬;29,5-}|-/6~�-
*+,-:;9:01,-08-:90.,11234-7+,-:,91036/-5676-21-9,¬;29,5-70-:,9809�-6-1:,.2�.-761�1-23-7+,-:;}/2.-237,9,17�-�3|-9,1:031,1-9,.,2{,5-.63-},-9,¬;,17,5-;35,9-7+,-�9,,50�-
08-£3809�67203-�.7-635-�6|-+6{,-70-},-�65,-:;}/2.�-+0~,{,9-63|-23809�67203-7+67-~0;/5-25,3728|-63-2352{25;6/-1;.+-61-36�,-635-6559,11-~0;/5-},-9,�0{,5�
�09-8;97+,9-23809�67203-03-+0~-¦695288-¦0;3.2/-�6364,1-:,91036/-23809�67203�-1,,-0;9-8;//-z92{6.|-z0/2.|-03-7+,-¦0;3.2/�1-~,}127,-
I''Q$®®UUUTL�#"MSST[&RTĴ®̄�°®±&� ®� U²�21./62�,9�z64,1�5,86;/7�61:§-

�� Page 1046



����������	
�������
�����	
��������������
����������������������������� �!��������"�#��
����#�������������!�������

�$�#����������#������"���%���!���������������
����������!������&��'

()*+,-,./,0*121(*3*2(*4,/05607*1211

89:;<=>?@ABCD<?EC<FB<AE=B<EGE:HEFHB<:C<IJE:HHBK<
L<M@HH<GBJ;:>C<>M<D9B<?>C;@HDED:>C<=>?@ABCD<:;<EGE:HEFHB<ED<NNNOPQRSTUUOVWXOYZ[\]̂_P̀WWabRWbW_Qa_

cCM>JAED:>C<?EC<EH;><FB<AE=B<EGE:HEFHB<:C<>D9BJ<?>AA@C:Dd<HECe@EeB;<:M<CBB=B=K<
fHBE;B<?>CDE?D<@;<>C<ghijhgkljhlhg<D><EJJECeB<D9:;K

Page 1047



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%

&'()*++,-./010.2*-*34.+3(.5)67'8*34.'4).95'(4*4:.*4.&'()*++.-58-.'.:3'9.3+.;.<5'(4*4:.=48*895>548?.*4.@A*7A.
'99.7A*9)(54.'4).B364:.C53C95.'(5.'D95.83E

F.'775--.'CC(3C(*'85.(3685-.*483.5)67'8*34.'4).95'(4*4:.3CC3(864*8*5-

F.8A(*25.'4).+69G9.8A5*(.C38548*'9..

F.(5'9*-5.8A5*(.*4)*2*)6'9.)(5'>-.'4).'>D*8*34-.

HA*-.D33I958.7348'*4-.-6>>'(*-5).*4+3(>'8*34.'D368.C(3C3-'9-.83.*>C(325.'775--.83.5)67'8*34.*4.9*45.
@*8A.8A5.'D325.C(*47*C95-.3+.*4796-*34J.

HA*-.*-.B36(.7A'475.83.'-I.K65-8*34-.'4).>'I5.73>>548-J..L5.@'48.83.I43@.B36(.2*5@-.D57'6-5.8A*-.
A59C-.6-.83.>'I5.-6(5.'4B.C(3C3-'9.8A'8.:35-.+3(@'().(5'99B.@3(I-.+3(.7A*9)(54?.B364:.C53C95.'4).8A5.
73>>64*8B.937'9.83.&'()*++.L5-8.&3>>64*8B.M*:A.N7A339.'4).='-85(4.M*:AJ.

OP�QR�!SRTSRU!"U"VW$ RQ"R%"X

H3.>558.8A5.)5>'4).+3(.-C57*'9*-8.(5-36(75.D'-5.C9'75-.+3(.95'(45(-.':5).YY.Z.Y[.@*8A.5>38*34'9.'4).
@599D5*4:.455)-.@5.'(5.C(3C3-*4:.83E

F..5-8'D9*-A.'./0\C9'75.NC57*'9*-8.]5-36(75.̂'-5.'8.&'()*++.L5-8.&3>>64*8B.M*:A.N7A339.+(3>.
N5C85>D5(./0//

F.5-8'D9*-A.'./0\C9'75.NC57*'9*-8.]5-36(75.̂'-5.'8.='-85(4.M*:A.+(3>.N5C85>D5(./0//.

OPS!SR��$R_R̀$%Ra"!SRW$b"!a�QW"$X

F..c699.)58'*9-.7'4.D5.+364).*4.8A5.&34-698'8*34.d376>548.34.8A5.&3647*9.@5D-*85.'8.. . .

eeefghijkllfmnofpqrstuvgwnnxyinynvhxv.

F..z+.B36.'(5.64'D95.83.'775--.8A5.)376>548.34\9*45?.C(*485).73C*5-.3+.8A*-.734-698'8*34.)376>548.@*99.

D5.'2'*9'D95.DB.C3-8.34.(5K65-8J.{36.>'B.(5K65-8.'.73CB.DB.8595CA34*4:.0/[/0.|}/}/0J.

F..L5.A'25.3(:'4*-5).'4.349*45.>558*4:.'4).)(3C\*4.-5--*34-.8A'8.B36.7'4.'8854).*+.B36.@369).9*I5.6-.

83.5~C9'*4.8A5.-6::5-85).7A'4:5-.83.B36J.{36.7'4.'9-3.'-I.6-.K65-8*34-J.z+.B36.@369).9*I5.83.'8854).

'4.349*45.>558*4:?.C95'-5.7348'78.6-.DB.5\>'*9*4:.vgwnnxi�vyn�v�v�ghijkllfmnofpq.'4).8599.6-.

@A*7A.>558*4:.B36.@369).9*I5.83.'8854)J.L5.@*99.8A54.C(32*)5.'.9*4I.'4).*4-8(678*34-.+3(.'8854)*4:.

8A5.>558*4:J

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1048



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#�$%�"���&'()*+�+$,#')"!"*$,�-��"*,.�!, � /$&0*,�#�##*$,#�!/��#�"�$'"�(�)$12

3456789:8;<=>?6@4@A<=8B77@A=C8D4@7>

E4@?F78<G8H<=>?6@4@A<=8 D4@7I3AJ78 K7=?78

L,)*,��M'()*+�-��"*,.� N� ,�# !O�PQ�R!,'!/O�QSQQT��U2VS&-� L,)*,��W*!�X*+/$#$%"�
��!-#�

Y/$&0*,�#�##*$,#� L,�/�Z'�#"�(O��-!*)*,.�
#+�$$)/�#&$,#�#[+!/ *%%\.$W\']

L,)*,��W*!�X*+/$#$%"�
��!-#�

�̂&!/!"��-��"*,.#��!W��(��,�!//!,.� �%$/�#"!%%�!, �.$W�/,$/#\

����W*�1#�$%�+�*) /�,�!, �O$',.�&�$&)��!/��]�O�"$�"���1!O�� '+!"*$,�*#� �)*W�/� \��N��1*))�+$,#')"�1*"��

&'&*)#�*,�($"��#+�$$)#�!, �*,+)' ��"��*/�%�� (!+]�*,�"���_,!)�+$,#')"!"*$,�/�&$/"\

àbcdefcgchijkclmcjikbno

p q$'�+!,�!""�, �"���&'()*+�-��"*,.�$/�!� /$&0*,�#�##*$,

p q$'�+!,�&/$W* ��O$'/�W*�1#�!"�rrrstuvwxyysz{|s}~�����t�{{��v{�{�u��

p q$'�+!,�%*))�*,�"���/�#&$,#��%$/-�$,�&!.�#�PP0P��$%�"�*#�($$])�"\

3�78H6<>A=C8�4@78G<F8F7>�<=>7>8@<8@�A>8H<=>?6@4@A<=8A>898�75F?4F�8�����

��mce�kcbkc��a�anifhc��knkcd�efhkno

�H�<<68�64H7>8���))�+$',+*)#�*,�N!)�#�-'#"�&/$W* ���,$'.��#+�$$)�&)!+�#�%$/�&'&*)#�$%�!))�!.�#\�̂+�$$)�

&)!+�#�-'#"�-��"�"���,�� #�$%�!))�&'&*)#�!, �-'#"�(��#'*"!()��%$/�!,O��  *"*$,!)���!/,*,.���� #\

�

�
��
��
�
 ¡
�¢
£¤
�¥
¦§̈

©̈�
ª
£̈
«
¬�
¬̈
¡
�̈
£�
¦§
¬©
®
£ 
¡
�̄
¡
®
�¤̈
¢
¡
°�
ª
 ̈
ª
© 
�

±
¬�
§
�̄
®
®
¬�
¬̈
¡̄
©�
© ̄
£¡
¬¡
°�
¡
  
®
��

Page 1049



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"�#$!"�%& '"(�)""*"*+

,-./01230451356725,82019:5,206;<5

=>?@ABCDECFG>HAFIJKBA>LDFA>AMDNEAF>EADKMAKF>OCGP>EADKMCMQ>RCSTBJEGCAF>GI>FJBBAAR>CM>D>UDCMFGKADU>FBPIIE>

AMVCKIMUAMGW>>XPCF>BDM>CMBEJRA>@J@CEF>OCGP>YUIGCIMDE>ZADEGP>[>\AEENACMQ>]AARFW>

Ĵ@CEF>CM>D>?@ABCDECFG>HAFIJKBA>LDFA>DKA>GDJQPG>CM>D>FUDEE>BEDFF>N_>F@ABCDECFG>FGDSS>DMR>NAMATG>SKIU>D>

F@ABCDECFG>BJKKCBJEJUW>XPA_>DEFI>NAMATG>SKIU>GPA>SJEE>KDMQA>IS>ARJBDGCIM>I@@IKGJMCGCAF>DVDCEDNEA>GI>DEE>

@J@CEF>DG>GPA>FBPIIEW>

XPA>MJUNAK>IS>@J@CEF>OPI>MAAR>D>@EDBA>CM>D>F@ABCDE>FBPIIE>IK>F@ABCDECFG>KAFIJKBA>NDFA>PDF>

BIMGCMJAR>GI>QKIOW

=G>GPA>AMR>IS>̀DKBP>abacd>GPAKA>OAKA>adaef>BPCERKAM>CM>gDKRCSS>OCGP>D>FGDGAUAMG>IS>?@ABCDE>YRJBDGCIM>

]AARFW>=F>GPA>@I@JEDGCIM>QKIOFd>FI>OCEE>GPA>MJUNAK>IS>BPCERKAM>DMR>_IJMQ>@AI@EA>OCGP>FCQMCTBDMG>DMR>

BIU@EAh>=RRCGCIMDE>iADKMCMQ>]AARFW>

jM>ababkac

l>D>GIGDE>IS>cdcce>@EDBAF>CM>F@ABCDECFG>KAFIJKBA>NDFAF>IK>F@ABCDE>FBPIIEF>OAKA>SJMRAR>N_>gDKRCSS>gIJMBCE

l>>mn>GAU@IKDK_>@EDBAF>SIK>EADKMAKF>OAKA>DVDCEDNEA>DG>\AEENACMQ>gEDFF>DMR>?@AABP>DMR>

iDMQJDQA>gEDFFAF

l>ob>@EDBAF>OAKA>DVDCEDNEA>CM>GPA>̂J@CE>HASAKKDE>pMCG>q̂Hpr>

\PCEFG>GPAKA>DKA>D>MJUNAK>IS>AhCFGCMQ>F@ABCDECFG>FAGGCMQF>DBKIFF>gDKRCSSd>GPAKA>DKA>MIG>AMIJQP>@EDBAF>

DVDCEDNEAW>>XPA>MJUNAK>IS>BPCERKAM>OPI>OIJER>NAMATG>SKIU>D>F@ABCDECFG>@EDBA>CF>@KIsABGAR>GI>CMBKADFA>

IVAK>BIUCMQ>_ADKFW

t"# )*�u$!�%& '"(�

jM>abackaa>GPAKA>DKA>D>GIGDE>IS>cva>qcc>w>cer>F@ABCDECFG>YUIGCIMDE>ZADEGP>DMR>\AEENACMQ>@EDBAF>SIK>

EADKMAKF>DQAR>ccxce>SJMRAR>N_>gDKRCSS>gIJMBCEW>XPAFA>OAKA>CM>UDCMGDCMAR>FBPIIEF>CM>gDKRCSS>DMR>CM>

IGPAK>AFGDNECFPUAMGF>BIUUCFFCIMAR>N_>GPA>gIJMBCEW>XPA>GIGDE>RAUDMR>SIK>@EDBAF>CF>AFGCUDGAR>GI>NA>

D@@KIhCUDGAE_>yaa>CM>abackaad>@KIsABGAR>GI>KCFA>GI>ymn>N_>abafkaeW

=EEIOCMQ>SIK>FIUA>FJK@EJF>GI>FJ@@IKG>zAhCNCECG_d>FJSTBCAMG>BD@DBCG_>OIJER>NA>GI>@KIVCRA>yfm>@EDBAF>CM>

abackaad>DMR>yny>@EDBAF>N_>abafkaeW

jM>FJUUDK_d>GPAKA>CF>DM>AFGCUDGAR>FPIKGSDEE>IS>cna>@EDBAF>SIK>EADKMAKF>DQAR>ccxce>CM>abackaad>KCFCMQ>GI>

acc>N_>abafkaeW>

jRADEE_d>F@ABCDECFG>@KIVCFCIM>FPIJER>FJ@@IKG>GPA>UDsIKCG_>IS>EADKMAKF>GI>FGD_>IM>JMGCE>GPA_>DKA>cn>IK>coW>

gDKRCSS>\AFG>gIUUJMCG_>ZCQP>?BPIIE>DMR>YDFGAKM>ZCQP>ADBP>PDVA>@KIVCFCIM>SIK>EADKMAKF>GI>FGJR_>IMx

FCGA>DSGAK>GPA>DQA>IS>ceW

�

{
|}
~�
�
��
~�
��
��
��
�
�
�}

�
��
�
�}
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
�~
�
��
�
�
�~
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
}�

Page 1050



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$%!&'($)* $+,*$�-'�.')"�%$!&$)*'" �/$)$�-

01234567895:35;3<=269749<83>2<5?>623@7<2<37:A3B244@29:C3D47<<2<39<3:583E2443A9<8>9@?82A376>5<<38123698FG3

H3I7=3<15E9:C34567895:35;32J9<89:C3<=269749<83=>5K9<95:367:3@23<22:3@245EG3

0123476L35;3<=269749<83>2<5?>623@7<2<39:3<5I23456749892<367:3A9<7AK7:87C23427>:2><349K9:C39:3815<237>27<G3

M5I23;7I9492<37>23?:;7I9497>3E981381237>27<3E12>23=>5K9<95:39<3456782AG3N7>2:8<35>367>2><3I7F3476L38123

I27:<38538>7K24327<94F3853815<237>27<G3

H3@2882>3A9<8>9@?895:35;3<=269749<83>2<5?>623@7<2<376>5<<38123698F3E5?4A39I=>5K237662<<3;5>3=?=94<G3O83

E5?4A3>2A?6238>7K24389I2<3;5>3I7:F3=?=94<P37<3E24437<39:6>27<9:C38123:?I@2>35;3=4762<37K7947@42G3

�

Q
RS
TU
V
WX
TY
Z[
U\
]̂
_
_̀
S

a
Z_
b
cS
c_
X
Ud
_
ZU
]̂
c̀
e
ZW
X
Uf
X
e
U[
_
Y
X
gU
a
W_
à
WU

h
cT̂
Uf
e
e
cT
c_
X
f̀
Ù
Wf
ZX
cX
gU
X
WW
e
SU

Page 1051



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

����� !" #$��#%!�&'$$#() *#%�++,-'*.#/'01#231��"#

4567899:;<=>:4?@@AB8>C:D8EF:GHF??I:8=:5B:JBEI8=F:@<78A@:KKLKM:F8EF:=HF??I:I?H5><7:5>:N<B5IIC:

O?57P:45<65AQ

RF<:=HF??I:@?S<7:>?:B<T:UA8I7:5HH?@@?75>8?B:8B:VW68I:XYKZQ:::

RF<:HA66<B>:H5W5H8>C:?9:4567899:;<=>:4?@@AB8>C:D8EF:GHF??I:8=:K[YY:WI5H<=:5B7:>F<:=HF??I:F57:MZ\:

WAW8I=:?B:6?II:8B:VW68I:XYXKQ

R?:@<<>:>F<:8BH6<5=8BE:7<@5B7:9?6:=<H?B756C:=W<H85I8=>:6<=?A6H<:WI5H<=:9?6:I<56B<6=:T8>F:<@?>8?B5I:

F<5I>F:5B7:T<IIU<8BE:B<<7=:8>:8=:W6?W?=<7:>?]

:̂::::::::<=>5UI8=F:5:XYLWI5H<:GW<H85I:O<=?A6H<:_5=<:5>:4567899:;<=>:4?@@AB8>C:D8EF:GHF??I:96?@:

G<W><@U<6:XYXXQ

>̀:8=:W6?W?=<7:>F5>:>F<:B<TIC:<=>5UI8=F<7:U5=<:T?AI7:U<:5HH?@@?75><7:T8>F8B:>F<:<a8=>8BE:=HF??I:

UA8I78BE=Q::

�

b
cd
ef
g
hi
ej
kl
fm
no
p
p
qd

r
kp
s
td
tp
i
fu
p
kf
no
tq
v
kh
i
fw
i
v
fl
p
j
i
xf
r
hp
r
qh
f

y
te
o
fw
v
v
te
tp
i
wq
fq
hw
ki
ti
xf
i
hh
v
df

Page 1052



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

����� !" #$��#%�&'(!"( )#*& �+�'&#,! &#���-( (�.#!)#
/! )&�.#0(12##

3456789:;<=>:<5:49:39=?<5>@A7B<CA:DEAAC9<6F:><=>:5D>EE?:GE8:HCH<?5:4=7B:II@IJK:L>7:5D>EE?:<5:DE@

?ED467B:M<6>:N48B<GG:O:P4?7:NE??7=7:HE56@IJ:H8EQ<5<E9:<9:97M:RC<?B:4DDEAAEB46<E9:46:L8EMR8<B=7:SE4BT:

L8EMR8<B=7K:

L>7:DC88796:D4H4D<6F:EG:N48B<GG:U756:NEAAC9<6F:;<=>:VD>EE?:<5:IWXX:H?4D75:49B:6>7:5D>EE?:>4B:IXYZ:

HCH<?5:E9:8E??:<9:[H8<?:WXWIK:

LE:A776:6>7:<9D8745<9=:B7A49B:GE8:57DE9B48F:5H7D<4?<56:875EC8D7:H?4D75:GE8:?7489785:M<6>:7AE6<E94?:

>74?6>:49B:M7??R7<9=:977B5:<6:<5:H8EHE57B:6E\

]::7564R?<5>:4:WX:H?4D7:VH7D<4?<56:S75EC8D7:̂457:GE8:7AE6<E94?:>74?6>:49B:M7??R7<9=:977B5:46:3456789:

;<=>:G8EA:V7H67AR78:WXWWK

_6:<5:H8EHE57B:6>46:6>7:97M?F:7564R?<5>7B:R457:MEC?B:<9<6<4??F:R7:4DDEAAEB467B:M<6><9:6>7:7̀<56<9=:

RC<?B<9=5:5>487B:RF:3456789:;<=>:49B:N48B<GG:49B:P4?7:NE??7=7K:a4678:ME8b5:MEC?B:R7:C9B7864b79:6E:

H8EQ<B7:4BB<6<E94?:4DDEAAEB46<E9:49B:G4D<?<6<75K

�

c
de
fg
h
ij
fk
lm
gn
op
q
q
re

s
lq
t
ue
uq
j
gv
q
lg
op
ur
w
li
j
gx
j
w
gm
q
k
j
yg
s
iq
s
ri
g

z
uf
p
gx
w
w
uf
uq
j
xr
gr
ix
lj
uj
yg
j
ii
w
eg

Page 1053



�
���������	�
����

���
����������������������
�������

���� !"#$��%&'(')"�#%#�%*�#+%, �-�."(.

/��0$#$��%"�0%12$#"*$($#3%��%14+��(%52$(0$�6.

7889:;<==89>?=>@?AB@:9BC9DE?FBGG9<EH@9I@@C9E::@::@F9G=?9A<@9;=CFBAB=C9=G9A<@B?9IJB8FBCK:L97889<EH@9I@@C9?EA@F9
G?=M979A=9NO9PBA<9:;<==8:9?EA@F9N9BC9A<@9>==?@:A9;=CFBAB=CL9Q<B:9>?=;@::9<@8>:9J:9A=9>?B=?BAB:@9P<B;<9:;<==8:9
C@@F9BM>?=H@M@CA:9A=9A<@B?9IJB8FBCK:9ECF9P<B;<9C@@F9BCH@:AM@CAL9

DE?FBGG9R@:A9D=MMJCBAS9TBK<9U;<==89B:9?EA@F9E:9E979;EA@K=?S9G=?9;=CFBAB=CL9Q<B:9M@EC:9A<@9IJB8FBCK:9E?@9V==F9
ECF9=>@?EABCK9@GW;B@CA8SL9Q<@9:;<==89IJB8FBCK:9<EH@9E8:=9I@@C9?EA@F9E:979XK==FY9G=?9A<@B?9:JBAEIB8BASL99

ZE:A@?C9TBK<9B:9?EA@F9E:9E979;EA@K=?S9G=?9;=CFBAB=CL9Q<B:9M@EC:9A<@9IJB8FBCK:9E?@9V==F9ECF9=>@?EABCK9
@GW;B@CA8SL9Q<@9:;<==89IJB8FBCK:9<EH@9E8:=9I@@C9?EA@F9E:979XK==FY9G=?9A<@B?9:JBAEIB8BAS9G=?9A@E;<BCK9ECF98@E?CBCKL99

[J?A<@?9F@AEB8:9=C9A<@9?EABCK:9;EC9I@9G=JCF9BC9A<@9;=C:J8AEAB=C9F=;JM@CA9EA\
]]]̂_̀abcdd̂efĝhijklmn_offpqafqfǹpn

r2"($#3%"�0%1#"�0" 0.%

ZH@?S9:;<==89BC9RE8@:9B:9BC:>@;A@F9IS9Z:ASCL9

Z:ASC9@C:J?@:9A<EA9:;<==8:9E?@9>?=HBFBCK9E9K==F9sJE8BAS9=G9@FJ;EAB=C9A=9A<@B?9>J>B8:9ECF9A<EA9E889;<B8F?@CO9
E?@9:J>>=?A@F9A=98@E?C9IS9@t;@88@CA9A@E;<BCK9ECF98@E?CBCK9:AEGGL9

U;<==8:9E?@9E8:=9>8E;@F9BC9=C@9=G9A<@9G=J?9;=8=J?u;=F@F9:J>>=?A9;EA@K=?B@:9XK?@@CO9S@88=PO9EMI@?9ECF9?@FY9
E:9>E?A9=G9A<@9R@8:<9V=H@?CM@CAv:9wEAB=CE89U;<==89DEA@K=?B:EAB=C9US:A@ML97MI@?9ECF9x@F9:;<==8:9E?@9
A<=:@9A<EA9?@sJB?@9A<@9M=:A9:J>>=?AL

N@AEB8:9=G9:AECFE?F:9EA9DE?FBGG9R@:A9TBK<9U;<==89ECF9ZE:A@?C9TBK<9E:9:@A9=JA9BC9@E;<9:;<==8v:9M=:A9?@;@CA9
Z:ASC9?@>=?A9E?@9=JA8BC@F9BC9A<@9AEI8@9I@8=PL99

Q<@9;=8=J?:9J:@F9:<=P9A<@9M=:A9?@;@CA9;EA@K=?B:EAB=C9J:BCK9A<@9R@8:<9V=H@?CM@CAv:9DEA@K=?B:EAB=C9BC9
yECJE?S9z{z{

R<@C9F@;BFBCK9P<B;<9B:9A<@9C@E?@:A9:JBAEI8@9:;<==8O9A<@9D=JC;B89MJ:A9;=C:BF@?9ECS9FB:EIB8BAS9E9;<B8F9<E:9
ECF9ECS9:>@;BE89@FJ;EAB=CE89C@@F:9XUZwYL

|_offp} ~�nq�_�cf�}�̀��} |�̀�b̀abn �afea�nn

DE?FBGG9R@:A9
D=MMJCBAS9TBK<9U;<==89

w=H@MI@?9z{�� 7F@sJEA@9ECF9C@@F:9
BM>?=H@M@CA9

ZE:A@?C9TBK<9 N@;@MI@?9z{�� �C:EAB:GE;A=?S9�9
?@sJB?@F9M=CBA=?S9

x@M=H@F9G?=M9
M=CBA=?BCK9w=H@MI@?9
z{��

[J?A<@?9F@AEB8:9=C9sJE8BAS9ECF9:AECFE?F:9;EC9I@9G=JCF9BC9A<@9;=C:J8AEAB=C9F=;JM@CA9=C9A<@9D=JC;B89
P@I:BA@9EA9]]]̂_̀abcdd̂efĝhijklmqafqfǹpn

�

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
 �
�
��
�
��
�

¡
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
 �
�
��
�
��

Page 1054



�
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

������ !"�# $$�%&�'�%�$ $(!#�)*�+''*,&*"-

./012341//5326/75824/90:97;20/2<=/>:8;237<</=0201?02:32?<<=/<=:?0;20/201;2:98:>:87?529;;832/@2;?412<7<:5A2

B1;=;2:329/2:9@/=C?0:/920/237DD;30201?0201;29;;832/@2?9E2/@201;2F;5/62D=/7<326/7582F;29;D?0:>;5E2
?@@;40;82FE201;2<=/</3;8241?9D;3G

H2<7<:5326:012I88:0:/9?52J;?=9:9D2K;;83

H2<7<:5326:012L9D5:312?32?92I88:0:/9?52J?9D7?D;

H2<7<:532=;4;:>:9D2M=;;2N41//52O;?53

H2O:9/=:0E2L019:42<7<:53

PQ+&�+%*�&Q*�)*R*S&#��'�&Q*�$%�$�#*"�,Q+RT*#-

H22B1;2<=/</3?5326/7582:94=;?3;201;297CF;=2/@23<;4:?5:302=;3/7=4;2<5?4;32@/=23;4/98?=E2?D;82

5;?=9;=326:012;C/0:/9?521;?5012?9826;55F;:9D29;;832?9826/75824/90=:F70;20/6?=832C;;0:9D2

<=/U;40;828;C?98

H22B1;2/<</=079:0E20/2;C<5/E23<;4:?5:30230?@@2?9820/26/=V2C/=;245/3;5E26:0123<;4:?5:3023;=>:4;32:92

W?=8:@@26/7582;91?94;201;2341//53X2:94573:>;20;?41:9DA2B1:326/7582F;9;Y02?552<7<:532:9201;2341//53

H22B1;2<=/</3?526/7582?55/62<7<:5325:>:9D2:9201;26;302Z2;?302/@201;24:0E20/20=?>;5231/=0;=28:30?94;320/2

?44;3323<;4:?5:302<=/>:3:/9

H2B1;29;62F7:58:9D32?=;2@755E2?44;33:F5;2?9824/C<5:?9026:01201;2L[7?5:0E2I402\]̂]

_�&*R&(+!�"(#+"̀+R&+T*#��'�&Q*�$%�$�#*"�,Q+RT*#

H22N/C;2<7<:5326:012?88:0:/9?525;?=9:9D29;;8324?92Y98241?9D;28:@Y4750A22B1;E2C?E2Y98241?9D;320/2

F7:58:9D32793;005:9DA22a;2V9/6201;E26:5529;;824?=;@755E2<5?99;8237<</=020/2?8?<020/201;241?9D;3A22

b/6;>;=c201;=;26/7582F;237@Y4:;9020:C;20/2<5?92?98237<</=0237412?20=?93:0:/9

H22B1;=;2:32</0;90:?52@/=2:94=;?3;820=?@Y424/9D;30:/92?=/7982F/012341//523:0;32?0201;230?=02?982;982/@2

01;28?EA2B1;2W/794:526/75826/=V26:01201;2d/>;=9:9D2./8:;32/@201;2341//5320/28;>;5/<2?2B=?>;52e5?92

0/2C:9:C:3;2?9E2</0;90:?528:3=7<0:/9

�

f
gh
ij
k
lm
in
op
jq
rs
t
t
uh

v
ot
w
xh
xt
m
jy
t
oj
rs
xu
z
ol
m
j{
m
z
jp
t
n
m
|j
v
lt
v
ul
j

}
xi
s
j{
z
z
xi
xt
m
{u
ju
l{
om
xm
|j
m
ll
z
hj

Page 1055



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� ��!"# $%&'' () &'')*%)#+

,-./0123456/7566/7189/75:-/:-./;1<.8353=/>1?5.@/1A/.B4-/@4-116/:1/B??8.@@/:-./CD/5EF654B:513@/B85@53=/
A81E/:-./.@:BG65@-E.3:/1A/B/HF.45B65@:/D.@1284./>B@./B:/:-./@4-116I/,-.8./7126?/G./B/3..?/A18/B??5:513B6/
@:BAJ3=I/

K-.8./:-./;1<.8353=/>1?L/-B@/B?1F:.?/:-./0123456M@/H4-116/D.?.F61LE.3:/B3?/D.?23?B34L/N1654LO/B3L/
3.7/<B4B345.@/B85@53=/B@/B/413@.P2.34./1A/:-./.@:BG65@-E.3:/1A/:-./HF.45B65@:/D.@1284./>B@./7566/F81<5?./
1FF18:235:5.@/A18/@4-116QGB@.?/@:BAA/13/:-./@4-116/8.?.F61LE.3:/8.=5@:.8I/

RS&T$U�S% V&%%)S$ 

,-./F81F1@B6@/B8./.WF.4:.?/:1/5348.B@./:-./?.EB3?/A18/X.B83.8/,8B3@F18:/B:/0B8?5AA/K.@:/01EE235:L/
C5=-/H4-116I/H25:BG6./5EF81<.?/B3?/Y/18/.WFB3?.?/AB4565:5.@/A18/?81FQ1AA/B3?/F549Q2F/EBL/G./8.P258.?/
75:-53/:-./@5:./:1/B441EE1?B:./:-./BFF81F85B:./32EG.8@/1A/<.-546.@I/Z??5:513B6/FB8953=/8.@:854:513@/
B613=/N.3B66L/D1B?/B8123?/@4-116/@:B8:/B3?/J35@-/:5E.@/7126?/8.?24./413=.@:513/B3?/FB8953=/5@@2.@/B3?/
5EF81<./@BA.:L/A18/F2F56@I//

,-./F81F1@B6@/B8./.WF.4:.?/:1/5348.B@./:-./?.EB3?/A18/X.B83.8/,8B3@F18:/B:/[B@:.83/C5=-I/,-./@5:./
7126?/G./B@@.@@.?/:1/.3@28./:-.8./5@/@25:BG6./AB4565:5.@/A18/?81FQ1AA/B3?/F549Q2F/:1/B441EE1?B:./:-./
BFF81F85B:./32EG.8@/1A/<.-546.@I/\.B@28.@/:1/5EF81<./:8BAJ4/5@@2.@/12:@5?./:-./@4-116/EBL/53462?./
B??5:513B6/FB8953=/8.@:854:513@I/013@5?.8B:513/4126?/G./=5<.3/:1/B/H4-116/H:8..:/B8123?/@4-116/@:B8:/B3?/
J35@-/:5E.@/:1/8.?24./413=.@:513/B3?/FB8953=/5@@2.@/B3?/5EF81<./@BA.:L/A18/F2F56@I//

] &̂% ̂&UU)T$ T)_%+

,-./0123456/7566/4166.4:/B3?/@2EEB85@./:-./A..?GB49/A81E/:-5@/413@26:B:513I//0123456/1AJ4.8@/7566/:-.3/
8.F18:/:-5@/:1/:-./0123456M@/0BG53.:I/,-5@/7566/-.6F/:-./.6.4:.?/E.EG.8@/23?.8@:B3?/@:B9.-16?.8@M/<5.7@/
B3?/7566/=5<./:-.E/53A18EB:513/:1/-.6F/EB9./:-.58/?.45@513I/K./.WF.4:/:1/8.F18:/13/:-./12:41E./1A/:-./
413@26:B:513/53/\B84-/̀àbI

cA/:-./0BG53.:/?.45?.@/:1/413:532./75:-/:-./4-B3=.@O/5:/E2@:/F2G65@-/B/?142E.3:/4B66.?/B/d@:B:2:18L/
31:54.MI/,-./@:B:2:18L/31:54./@.:@/12:/:-./?.:B56@/1A/:-./F81F1@B6@/B3?/B@9@/B3L13./7-1/7B3:@/:1/1Ge.4:/
:1/?1/@1I/fGe.4:513@/E2@:/G./785::.3I/,-.L/E2@:/G./@.3:/:1/:-./0123456/75:-53/:-./?B:.@/=5<.3/13/:-./
31:54.I

,-./0BG53.:/EBL/?.45?./:1/BFF81<./18/8.e.4:/:-./F81F1@B6O/18/:-.L/EBL/BFF81<./:-./F81F1@B6/75:-/@1E./
4-B3=.@/gE1?5J4B:513@hI/,-./0BG53.:/7126?/:B9./B3L/1Ge.4:513@/8.4.5<.?/53/:-./fGe.4:513/N.851?/53:1/
B44123:/7-.3/EB953=/:-.58/?.45@513I

f34./B/?.45@513/5@/EB?.O/7./7566/6.:/.<.8L13./BAA.4:.?/GL/:-./F81F1@B6/9317I//,-./?.45@513/7566/B6@1/G./
F2G65@-.?/13/:-./0123456M@/7.G@5:.I

��

i
jk
lm
n
op
lq
rs
mt
uv
w
w
xk

y
rw
z
{k
{w
p
m|
w
rm
uv
{x
}
ro
p
m~
p
}
ms
w
q
p
�m
y
ow
y
xo
m

�
{l
v
m~
}
}
{l
{w
p
~x
mx
o~
rp
{p
�m
p
oo
}
km

Page 1056



��
���������	�
����
���
����������������������
�������

� ��� !""�#$%&��'(()*!&+�,!-.�/0.''1

� 2�%&$�*�,!-.�

� 3&.$��41$�%$�%4$0!"+�

� 567

89:;<=>?@<A9BC
DEFGHIJKJLEFMNOGPEFGOMQENR

STUMVWXMVTYZ[\]\M]̂_̀Ma\̀ZTX̀\MbTaYMTX[_X\MW]McccdVWae_bbdfTgdUhiKIF̀V̂TT[ZaTZT̀W[̀M

j'�($$&� $(�* �"'��%4$0!�1!%&��$%')�0$�k�%$�41�0$%�"'��1$��*$�%�l!&.�$('&!'*�1�.$�1&.��* �l$11k$!*-������
*$$ %��-$ �mm�n�mop�l$���$�4�'4'%!*-�&'q

r�$%&�k1!%.���st�41�0$�/4$0!�1!%&�u$%')�0$�v�%$��&���� !""�#$%&��'(()*!&+�,!-.�/0.''1�"�'(�
/$4&$(k$��stss

r�$%&�k1!%.���st�41�0$�/4$0!�1!%&�u$%')�0$�v�%$��&�2�%&$�*�,!-.�"�'(�/$4&$(k$��stss�

w')��x!$l%�(�&&$�p�41$�%$�&$11�)%�l.�&�+')�&.!*y��k')&�&.$�4�'4'%�1�k+q

r��'(41$&!*-��* ��$&)�*!*-�&.$��00'(4�*+!*-�z)$%&!'**�!�$�&'�&.$��  �$%%�-!x$*��&�&.$�k'&&'(�
'"�&.$�"'�({

r��'(41$&!*-�&.$�'*1!*$��$%4'*%$�"'�(��&�|||}~������}���}�������~�������������

r�3��!"�+')�4�$"$��+')�0�*�$�(�!1�+')��x!$l%�&'q��~��������������~������}���}��

Ĵ\MV[T̀_XfMeW]\MbTaMa\̀ZTX̀\̀M]TM]̂_̀MVTX̀U[]W]_TXM_̀MJU\̀eW�M�MQ\�aUWa�M����dMM

HXbTa]UXW]\[��MXTMa\̀ZTX̀\̀Ma\V\_g\eMWb]\aM]̂W]MeW]\MVWXM�\MVTX̀_e\a\eM

r����$*&

� j$�0.$��n�41$�%$�%4$0!"+�+')��%0.''1�

� /0.''1�-'x$�*'��n�41$�%$�%4$0!"+�+')��%0.''1

� 3&.$��n�41$�%$�%4$0!"+�

�dM� _̂V̂MTbM]̂\MbT[[Tc_XfMWa\M�TUMa\̀ZTXe_XfMẀ�

�dM�TM�TUM̂Wg\MWMV̂_[eiV̂_[ea\XM\XaT[[\eMW]M]̂\MbT[[Tc_XfM̀V̂TT[̀�M�]_VhMW[[M]̂W]MWZZ[� 

¡dM�TM�TUM̀UZZTa]M]̂\MZ[WX̀MZU]MbTacWaeM]TM_YZaTg\M]̂\MZaTg_̀_TXMbTaMM
D̂_[ea\XMWXeMSTUXfMP\TZ[\Mc_]̂MWee_]_TXW[M[\WaX_XfMX\\è�

��w$%� � 5'� � ¢'*£&�¤*'l

��

¥
¦§̈
©ª
«¬̈

®̄
©°
±²
³
³́
§

µ
®³
¶
·§
·³
¬
©̧
³
®©
±²
·́
¹
®«
¬
©º
¬
¹
©̄
³

¬
»©
µ
«³
µ́
«©

¼
·̈
²
©º
¹
¹
·̈
·³
¬
º́
©́
«º
®¬
·¬
»©
¬
««
¹
§©

Page 1057



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !�"!#�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+�,!&�)*-(�!,�'()�$-(!!+�$.')$/

0-(!!+�*12�%&!%!$*+ 3)$ 4!  !15'�
61!7

8*&2.,,�9)$'�8!::#1.'"�;.<(�0-(!!+

=>>>?@ABCDE@F>B>GH>IDBJ?>KI?JEBDE@A>L?@MNOJ?>PB@?>BA>QBORESS>
T?@A>QMUUNVEAW>XEYF>KJFMMD>SOMU>K?IA?UC?O>GHGG

Z*$')&1�;.<(

=>>>?@ABCDE@F>B>GH>IDBJ?>KI?JEBDE@A>L?@MNOJ?>PB@?>BA>[B@A?OV>
XEYF>KJFMMD>SOMU>K?IA?UC?O>GHGG>

\���]+)*$)�)̂%+*.1�7("�"!#�2!�!&�2!�1!'�$#%%!&'�'()�%&!%!$*+_$̀�a)+!7���
]+)*$)�:*6)�&),)&)1-)�'!�'()�$-(!!+�.1b!+b)2

c���9!#+2�"!#�+.6)�'!�$#<<)$'�*1"�-(*1<)$�!&�*+')&1*'.b)$/

��

d
ef
gh
i
jk
gl
mn
ho
pq
r
r
sf

t
mr
u
vf
vr
k
hw
r
mh
pq
vs
x
mj
k
hy
k
x
hn
r
l
k
zh
t
jr
t
sj
h

{
vg
q
hy
x
x
vg
vr
k
ys
hs
jy
mk
vk
zh
k
jj
x
fh

Page 1058



��
�������	�
����	
�����������������������������������

���� !!"#"$%&'�($))*%#+

,-./0

1223/4405

6748972/0

:;*�('$+"%<�!&#*�=$>�>*+?$%+*+�#$�#;"+�($%+@'#&#"$%�"+�A�B*C>@&>D�EFEE�

GH/5I7JK9LM5L45K785-NM/587597K4L2/35-KO597K4JM8-8L7K53/4P7K4/453/9/LQ/25-R8/358HL452-8/S5

I7K4JM8-8L7K53/4P7K4/45TLMM5K785N/597JK8/25-457NU/98L7K458758H/5P37P74-MS5

VNU/98L7K459-K57KMO5N/53/WL48/3/25R7MM7TLKW5PJNML9-8L7K57R5-548-8J873O5K78L9/S

XR5O7J5TL4H5875N/5K78LY/257R5PJNML9-8L7K57R58H/5I7K4JM8-8L7K53/P738Z5PM/-4/5P37QL2/5-K5/.-LM5-223/44S5
XR5O7J5275K785P37QL2/5-K5/.-LM5-223/44Z5T/59-KK785[//P5O7J5JP58752-8/

:;&%\�D$@�=$>�D$@>�($))*%#+
6M/-4/53/8J3K58HL45R73.58758H/5]9H77M5V3W-KL4-8L7K56M-KKLKW5G/-.Z5̂77.5_̀aZ5I7JK8O5b-MMZ5Icà5_de5555555555
735NO5/.-LM587549H77M3/4P7K4/4f9-32LRRSW7QSJ[5NO5K75M-8/358H-K5a5c/N3J-3O5g̀ggS

��

h
ij
kl
m
no
kp
qr
ls
tu
v
v
wj

x
qv
y
zj
zv
o
l{
v
ql
tu
zw
|
qn
o
l}
o
|
lr
v
p
o
~l
x
nv
x
wn
l

�
zk
u
l}
|
|
zk
zv
o
}w
lw
n}
qo
zo
~l
o
nn
|
jl

Page 1059



��
�������	�
����	

�����������������������������������

��� !"#� 
$%&'(&)*+,-./&)0,1+)*,(23,/&)4&%,5)2,)'%%,5)1()2,)6,+&)'331+'2&%0)*.7*,.72)+&(*,7/&72(8)-.&5()'7/)7&&/()40)'+&'9:

;<'2)5'()0,1+)'=&),7)0,1+)%'(2)4.+2</'0>)

) ?7/&+)@A) ) ) BC:DE)) ) ) EC:CE) ) ) AC:FE) ) $+&G&+)7,2)2,)('0

) @A:BE) ) ) DC:EE)))) ) CC:AE) ) ) FCH

$%&'(&)2.3I)'70),G)2<&)G,%%,5.7=)2<'2)'**%0)2,)0,19)

) J&'GK)J&'G&7&/K)L'+/),G)<&'+.7=) ) M.(1'%).6*'.+6&72))))))) N,7=:(2'7/.7=).%%7&((),+)<&'%2<)3,7/.2.,7)O&P=P)3'73&+Q))

) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) ) /.'4&2&(Q),+)'(2<6'R

) S&72'%)<&'%2<)/.GT31%2.&()) ) ) ;<&&%3<'.+)1(&+)))) ) $+&G&+)7,2)2,)('0

) N&'+7.7=).6*'.+6&72)K)/.GT31%2.&() ) S,4.%.20).6*'.+6&72) ) U2<&+

$%&'(&)(*&3.G0

;<'2).()0,1+)&2<7.3)=+,1*>)

;<&+&)2<&)2&+6)VW+.2.(<8).()1(&/Q)2<.()+&G&+()2,)'70),G)2<&)G,1+)<,6&)7'2.,7(),G);'%&(Q)X7=%'7/Q)Y,+2<&+7)Z+&%'7/)'7/)[3,2%'7/Q),+)'70)

3,64.7'2.,7),G)2<&(&P

) ;<.2&):);&%(<KX7=%.(<K[3,22.(<KY,+2<&+7)Z+.(<KW+.2.(<)) ) \(.'7K\(.'7);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)W'7=%'/&(<.

) ;<.2&):)Z+.(<)) ) ) ) ) ) \(.'7K\(.'7);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)Z7/.'7

) ;<.2&):)]0*(0),+)Z+.(<)̂+'-&%%&+) ) ) ) ) \(.'7K\(.'7);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)\70),2<&+

)) ;<.2&):)\70),2<&+)5<.2&)4'3I=+,17/) ) )) ) W%'3IK\G+.3'7K_'+.44&'7KW%'3I);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)\G+.3'7

)) S.̀&/KS1%2.*%&)X2<7.3)]+,1*():);<.2&)a)\(.'7) ) ) W%'3IK\G+.3'7K_'+.44&'7KW%'3I);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)_'+.44&'7

) S.̀&/KS1%2.*%&)X2<7.3)]+,1*():);<.2&)'7/)W%'3I)_'+.44&'7) ) W%'3IK\G+.3'7K_'+.44&'7KW%'3I);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)\70),2<&+

)) S.̀&/KS1%2.*%&)X2<7.3)]+,1*():);<.2&)'7/)W%'3I)\G+.3'7) ) \+'4

) S.̀&/KS1%2.*%&)X2<7.3)]+,1*():)\70),2<&+)) )) ) \70),2<&+)&2<7.3)=+,1*)O*%&'(&)(*&3.G0R

) \(.'7K\(.'7);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)_<.7&(&) ) )) )

) \(.'7K\(.'7);&%(<KW+.2.(<):)$'I.(2'7.) ) ) ) $+&G&+)7,2)2,)('0

\+&)0,1b>

) c&6'%&) ) )) S'%&) ) ) U2<&+) ) ) $+&G&+)7,2)2,)('0

J,)0,1)./&72.G0)'()')/.('4%&/)*&+(,7>)

) d&()) )) ) Y,) ) ) $+&G&+)7,2)2,)('0)

<̂&).7G,+6'2.,7)0,1)<'-&)*+,-./&/)'4,-&)5.2<)4&)*+,3&((&/)40)_'+/.GG)_,173.%).7)%.7&)5.2<)2<&)J'2')$+,2&32.,7)\32)Be@f)'7/)]&7&+'%)J'2')$+,2&32.,7)g&=1%'2.,7P)̂<&)
.7G,+6'2.,7)*+,-./&/)2,)1().7)+&%'2.,7)2,)2<.()3,7(1%2'2.,7)5.%%)4&)2+&'2&/)'()3,7T/&72.'%)412).2)6'0)4&)1(&/)40)2<&)_,173.%),+)/.(3%,(&/)2,),2<&+()5<&7)+&h1.+&/)40)%'5P)
<̂&)*1+*,(&),G)*+,3&((.7=)2<&)*&+(,7'%)/'2').()+&h1.+&/)2,)*&+G,+6)')(*&3.T3)2'(I().7)2<&)*14%.3).72&+&(2P)\70)+&(*,7(&()+&3&.-&/)3'7)4&)+&h1&(2&/)17/&+)2<&)c+&&/,6)
,G)Z7G,+6'2.,7)\32)'7/)6'0)<'-&)2,)4&)6'/&)*14%.3Q)<,5&-&+)'70).7G,+6'2.,7)2<'2)5,1%/)./&72.G0)'7).7/.-./1'%)(13<)'()7'6&)'7/)'//+&(()5,1%/)4&)+&6,-&/P
c,+)G1+2<&+).7G,+6'2.,7),7)<,5)_'+/.GG)_,173.%)6'7'=&()*&+(,7'%).7G,+6'2.,7Q)(&&),1+)G1%%)$+.-'30)$,%.30),7)2<&)_,173.%8()5&4(.2&)
ijjklmnnooopqrstuvvpwxypz{n|}~n�x��n}�o�J.(3%'.6&+K$'=&(K/&G'1%2P'(*̀)

��

�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

Page 1060



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL  

LEARNING NEEDS (ALN)   

 

EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR 

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED PUPILS 

 

Appendix 3: Notes of meetings with Governing Bodies and Staff  

Page 1061



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Governing Body 
10 November 2021 

 
 

Present: Richard Portas (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), Sarah Pritchard (SOP), Brett 
Andrewartha (BA), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Louise Flynn (HR), The Court School governors    
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
RP opened the meeting and welcomed governors and outlined details of the proposed 
changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School  

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Proposed SRB accommodation  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters – Fairwater Primary School site  

• Transport Matters – St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and responses  
 
G - governors will discuss the proposal at the end of the meeting once the local 
authority officers had left but asked whether any governors had questions to 
ask of the officers before they left the meeting. 
 
G - the consultation document refers to a ‘new build’ on the Fairwater site, but 
to redevelopment of the current accommodation on the St Mellons CiW site, 
which was a concern, as The Court had been promised new, custom-built 
buildings. The Court already has to work around the constraints of an old 
building and the need for frequent repairs. 

Page 1062



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Governing Body 
10 November 2021 

 
 

RP confirmed that although the consultation document refers to taking over the current 
buildings at the St Mellons CiW site, the building would be demolished and a new build 
building put in for The Court, as it would not be feasible to convert the existing building; 
this will be confirmed in the next cabinet report. The business case will need to set out 
the best option, and the reasons for this, and in this case demolition and re-building 
would be the best way forward due to the constraints of converting an older building.  
 
G - hope that the school would get a chance to input on the design as they have 
a lot of ideas and experience to offer and have made useful developments at the 
current Court building.  
RP confirmed that the staff and leadership team would be consulted as part of the 
design process; it gives them the opportunity to think outside the box and come up 
with new ideas for the spaces.  RP cautioned that although it is positive for the school 
to have the opportunity to be involved in the design the downside is that it can prove 
time-consuming. 
 
G - governors would also like to have input. 
RP confirmed that governors had input at other schools however in practice it was 
usually better to nominate one or two governors to take part in planning meetings. 
 
G - what is planned for the site at Ty Glas, as there was mention of special school 
provision potentially moving there.  
RP - a report was discussed at the October Cabinet setting out proposals for Greenhill 
School to be relocated to Ty Glas site. RP agreed there is a link between the Court 
and Greenhill and will look to bring together while working through the projects. The 
proposal for Greenhill School to move to Ty Glas will be out for consultation soon and 
RP welcomed feedback on this.  
 
Headteacher - the leadership team are already finding the project resource 
intensive; don’t have lots of additional capacity, as a small school. Would like it 
to be borne in mind, happy to help as much as possible, but are already spread 
thin. 
RP - conversations need to take place early on in the process regarding what we can 
do to support process, as needs senior management input to be successful. Staffing 
and financial model critical; one of the challenges but also an opportunity. 
 
Headteacher – question from a governor not on call, why two sites and not one 
big site?  
RP said that two sites would provide a spread across the city. Also felt that having the 
full cohort on one site may be hard to manage. Allows for potential to grow in future.  
 
G - an important factor is preserving what the Court has developed over the 
years, a nurturing, warm environment that parents trust in. Need a bigger school 
as high demand but see benefits in having two sites so can keep more nurturing 
environment rather than go bigger and compromise the provision. Also 
provides opportunity to reduce travel distances for pupils, particularly for 
younger ones. 

Page 1063



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Governing Body 
10 November 2021 

 
 

 
G – is there any danger of rivalry between the sites?  
JH - this is why it’s beneficial to have the sites under one governing body, rather than 
as two separate schools.  
 
Headteacher - support two sites, but feel it is vital to have senior management 
presence on both sites to ensure ethos of school is consistent and that it 
behaves and feels like one school, not two. 
 
G (teacher at the Court) – recent situation where the Headteacher and Deputy 
Headteacher were off at same time. Staff worked really well, and school carried 
on but really felt the absence. Feel that there is a need for assistant head and 
deputy at both sites, and a psychotherapist on both sites would be helpful. 
 
G – some members of staff have mentioned that they would like to invite officers 
from the Council in to see the spaces currently in use to give a better idea of 
how the spaces are used throughout the day, pinch points etc. A short visit 
doesn’t give a full flavour and would like officers to spend a day at the school.  
 
G - asked for a commitment on thinking regarding class sizes? would like 
assurances that class sizes are not intended to increase. 
RP - the consultation is on the scope of the school, class sizes not part of it. The size 
of class spaces would be in accordance with planning guidance. RP wasn’t sure of the 
figure and said he would need to check.  
 
G - concerned on this point. Six learners per class would be ideal, currently 
working at 7, 8 per class which would be too much. 
SP confirmed that in initial planning meetings we have been working on basis of 36 
learners per site, 6 classes, 6 learners per class. The Headteacher would be happy 
with this class size, feels very strongly on this issue.  
 
G - asked about the amount of outside space that will be available for the 
children; concerned whether there would be sufficient outdoor space, 
particularly at the St Mellons site. Although there are not a large number of 
children the outdoor space is vital, and at the current Court building there are 
outside spaces for each classroom.  
RP- we have to follow building bulletin guidance which sets out the amounts of space 
needed, including outdoor space. 
 
SP advised that a multi-disciplinary meeting will be held at The Court on 19 January 
at 3.45pm – 5.45pm, with Senior Leadership Team/staff, Council Officers, the Project 
Managers (Aecom) & the Architects (HLM) to discuss/manage expectation about the 
new school buildings. This will be a 2-hour workshop to discuss adjacencies, what 
spaces work best, planning outdoor areas. SP said that governors would be welcome 
to attend. 
 

Page 1064



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Governing Body 
10 November 2021 

 
 

Headteacher - would like to take the opportunity of the changes to rename the 
school, if possible, the name has negative connotations of being connected to 
the legal system.  
SP is looking into this. 
 
There were no further questions. 
 
BA - it would be useful if the important points raised today could be covered in the 
response from the governors to the consultation, e.g., need for small classes, nurturing 
environment etc. 
 
The Chair thanked officers and governors. Council officers left the meeting to allow 
the Governors to discuss the consultation further. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1065



Schools Programme 
Record of Staff Meeting  

The Court Special School  
15 November 2021 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), 
Jennie Hughes (Achievement & Inclusion), Sarah Pritchard (SOP), Anita Batten (HR), 
Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP) 
 

 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting and welcomed staff.   
 
MDF advised that notes of the meeting were being taken and would form part of the 
consultation feedback.  
 
BA gave a PowerPoint presentation setting out details of the proposal based upon the 
contents of the consultation document.  
 
The presentation covered: 
 

• What is being proposed 

• Background 

• Sufficiency of places  

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Condition categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters – Fairwater Primary site  

• Transport Matters – St Mellons CiW Primary site  

• Benefit of the proposal  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and Answers  
 
MDF invited questions from staff   
 
The questions asked by staff are set out in italics below with the officer response given 
directly below. 

Page 1066



Schools Programme 
Record of Staff Meeting  

The Court Special School  
15 November 2021 

 
Q –What will the boundaries be with a new build site? 
A: Subject to Building Bulletin guidance and discussion with schools. Boundaries will 
be down to size of buildings and needs of school site.  Part of the design process. We 
are looking at utilising the existing footprint.  
 
Q – How many classes/class sizes? 
A: Six classes of six pupils. 
 
Q – Why was the school never to be residential? Residential would-be life 
changing for the children.  
A: Residential places are through Social Services. The idea of combining residential 
with a day special school is currently not aspirational in Cardiff. Social Care and 
education are separate.  Estyn likes to keep Education and residency separate.  We 
can consider respite and enhancing facilities for children before and after school. 
 
Q – What will the boundary between the schools look like? 
A: We will consider as part of the visioning process. 
 
Q – the process needs to be done hand in hand with us, as opposed to  done to 
us? 
A: This will be a collaborative process.  
 
Q – Will we become a Federation with the schools we are co-located with? 
A: No. Not intended to be a Federation, although benefits for both schools around 
partnership and collaboration. 
 
Q – Will people have to re-apply for their positions?  
A: No. Only if it were a school closure. It will be up to the school to decide which staff 
to move to which site.  
 
Q – Is it planned that both sites will open at the same time? 
A: Unlikely, although a possibility.  We envisage a gradual process.  It will be planned 
as we move forwards. 
 
Q – Are the schools going to be geographically based, or based on need? 
A: Ideally would want pupils to be as close to home as possible. Aim is for specialist 
provision to be more localised and spread out across the city. We think this is the 
strongest model. We do recognise the challenges of working across two sites. We do 
not want to create two separate schools. We envisage one school across two schools.  
 
Q – A lot of consideration needs to be given to the boundary.  The physical 
divide between the sites needs to be right.  As Court school pupils may try to 
cause issues on the other school site.  Also issues with The Court School name 
as people think it’s something to do with the legal system. 
 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked staff and the meeting closed. 
 

Page 1067



Schools Programme 
                    Record of Virtual Meeting with Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

Additional Learning Needs - The Court/Moorland Primary 
21 October 2021 

 
 

Present: Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Members of staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas opened the meeting and welcomed governors.  The Chair of 
Governors advised that the invite for the meeting had not been received by all 
governors, however the meeting would go ahead. 
 
RP outlined details of the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments  
 
Chair of Governors – issues around school entrance, traffic management and 
fencing to secure the school perimeter. 

Page 1068



Schools Programme 
                    Record of Virtual Meeting with Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

Additional Learning Needs - The Court/Moorland Primary 
21 October 2021 

 
 

RP – looking to bring forward fencing; recognise that access arrangements are 
important; will also be looking at social value as part of project with potential for 
investment. 
 
RP – any questions can be sent over with all feedback welcome.  A formal response 
from the Governing Body is expected however individual comments also welcome. 
 
JH – would be looking to develop scope for mutual benefits; develop the relationship 
to benefit both schools.   
 
RP thanked governors and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1069



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with Fairwater Primary School Staff 

Additional Learning Needs - The Court/Moorland Primary 
21 October 2021 

 
 

Present: Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jenny Hughes 
(ALN), Members of staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl opened the meeting, welcomed staff and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
MDF invited questions/comments from staff  
 
Q/C – presentation answered questions but would like to know what would 
happen regarding site access. 
BA – detailed design and access/site layout not considered at this stage of the process 
but will be if progressed.  Opportunity to consider best options for a shared site 
arrangement. 
MDF – if there are any further queries information can be provided as required; can 
also arrange follow up drop-in sessions if needed. 

Page 1070



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with Fairwater Primary School Staff 

Additional Learning Needs - The Court/Moorland Primary 
21 October 2021 

 
 

 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked staff, and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1071



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with Governing Body   

Greenhill School  
19 January 2022  

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), 
Jennie Hughes (Achievement & Inclusion), Anita Batten (HR), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP) 
 
Cllr Jayne Cowan (Chair of Governors), Maria John (Parent Governor), Mark Thomas, Roger 
Stone. 

 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting, welcomed governors and 
introduced officers. 
 
MDF advised that notes of the meeting were being taken and would form part of the 
consultation feedback.  
 
BA gave a PowerPoint presentation setting out details of the proposal based upon the 
contents of the consultation document.  
 
The presentation covered: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places  

• Distribution of places 

• Current EHW provision 11 – 19 

• Demand for EHW places 11 – 19 

• Take up of places at Greenhill  

• Dutch Garden Centre site  

• Ty Glas site  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative Options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
Discussion points   
 
MDF invited questions from governors   

Page 1072



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with Governing Body   

Greenhill School  
19 January 2022  

 
The questions asked by governors are set out in italics below with the officer response 
given directly below. 
 
Q – Why were the timescales in the Consultation Documents and the 
presentation not given at the Cabinet meeting? 
A: The timescales given are part of the statutory consultation process. 
 
Q – Are you looking to make Greenhill a residential school? 
A – No. Not part of the proposal.  Looking to double the size of Greenhill. 
 
Q – We cautiously welcome the Ty Glas site, but vehemently oppose the Dutch 
Garden site as it is too dangerous being next to a motorway and a junction with 
fast food shops. Would not work for the pupils. We would like to use the existing 
Greenhill site to build a new school.  
A – The Council isn’t in ownership of the land outside the entrance to the school. Site 
access issues. Would not be able to develop the site with pupils on site. Significant 
commercial costs and would impact upon the pupils. 

 
Q – Where is the Risk Assessment for the Dutch Garden site? 
A – We are still at a very early stage and any risk assessments would follow as part of 
the planning application.   
 
Q – There is a risk that the pupils will be vulnerable to easy drug deals and 
County Lines activities if the school is situated so closely to a motorway.  Also, 
the pupils would not be able to practice life skills, such as using local shops, 
catching buses, being part of the local community.   
A – Would be a fully secured site with safeguarding procedures in place.  Access 
controls, CCTV, fencing solutions to reduce risks.  There are benefits to the Dutch 
Garden Centre site – opportunities for animal care, horticulture, a good rural feeling 
site that can be landscaped to provide opportunities so that all pupils could spend time 
at both sites. 
 
Q – The junction is a problem – really concerned about the close proximity to 
fast food outlets.  Pupils will go there, climbing fences. Could be tragic. The 
roundabout is also dangerous.  
A – We take these concerns on board and will consider all the points raised during the 
consultation. 
 
Q – What about access to the Dutch Garden site for parents? taking part in 
coffee mornings or attending meetings at the school site will be difficult for 
parents as well as pupils getting to the school.  Safety concerns due to the 
proximity to a busy junction. 
A – General access to the site would be considered as part of the planning process.  
We are looking at the site as an overall package with the Llanishen site.  
 
Q – What about Green Wedge. Mainstream school planned at Ty Glas site? 
A – Green Wedge would be considered in detail at the planning stage.  A secondary 
school has been proposed, but no more details are known at this stage. The  

Page 1073



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with Governing Body   

Greenhill School  
19 January 2022  

 
acquisition of the site is 100% funded by WG.  The Greenhill proposal is moving ahead 
of the proposal that you have mentioned.  
 
Q – We have amazing staff at Greenhill School. If the school is split across two 
sites, would the current Headteacher have to fight for his role? 
A – Inappropriate to talk about individuals in this meeting. Would sit down and discuss 
your staffing needs and leadership team, considering different specialisms.  If 
proposals go ahead, we will discuss with Governing Body. 
 
Q – Will all staff retain their grades and jobs? 
A – It’s not a school closure.  You would have to revise your structure to deliver.   
 
Q – Are all jobs safe? 
A – This proposal is not affecting the permanency of staff but would need to consider 
staffing needs to inform staff base. 
 
Q – When the new school is developed, what happens if we need new staff at 
different levels? 
A – Can’t answer at this stage.  But this proposal is about expansion, development.  
It’s not a school closure.  
 
Q – Our current site at 7-8 acres is about the right size. We are concerned that 
the Ty Glas site may be too small.  
A – Sizes are in line with Building Bulletin Guidance.  Carefully assessed by Technical 
Advisors. 
 
Q – The D rating in the consultation document is at odds with Estyn’s view of 
the school. 
A – The D rating is in relation to Building, Condition and Suitability. Not a reflection of 
the teaching and learning at the school. 
 
Q – We are not opposed to the inclusion of girls at Greenhill School. 
A – Please include in your written response, along with any requests that you would 
like considered.   
 
 
There were no further questions, MDF thanked governors and the meeting closed. 
 

Page 1074



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with School Staff    

Greenhill School  
13 January 2022  

 
 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), 
Jennie Hughes (Achievement & Inclusion), Sarah Pritchard (SOP), Anita Batten (HR), Louise 
Flynn (HR), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Rosalie Phillips (SOP), school staff  
 

 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting, welcomed governors and 
introduced officers. 
 
MDF advised that notes of the meeting were being taken and would form part of the 
consultation feedback.  
 
BA gave a PowerPoint presentation setting out details of the proposal based upon the 
contents of the consultation document.  
 
The presentation covered: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places  

• Distribution of places 

• Current EHW provision 11 – 19 

• Demand for EHW places 11 – 19 

• Take up of places at Greenhill  

• Dutch Garden Centre site  

• Ty Glas site  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative Options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources  

• What happens next? 
 
HR advised that they would be available to support with the HR activities that would 
result if the proposals went ahead, such as additional recruitment and support in 
moving to two sites. 

Page 1075



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with School Staff    

Greenhill School  
13 January 2022  

 
 
Discussion points   
 
MDF invited questions/comments from staff    
 
Staff had put together a document detailing comments and concerns. In general, the 
staff feel very positive – new sites good size, looking forward to new buildings,  
specialist provision at each site (mechanics, outdoor learning etc), being able to 
provide better depth of provision. Will be issue initially with Dutch Garden Centre site  
not being on a public transport route, Llanishen site ideally situated in terms of public 
transport and accessibility. 
 
Opening up provision for female students is very positive, to be able to meet their 
needs. 
 
Looking at doubling workforce, which is very exciting and opens up opportunities for 
progression and development for existing staff. 
 
Concerns 
 
The following points were raised: 
 

• room size – concerned at what formula used for determining sizes – need some 
larger rooms including kitchen facilities. Concerned at having to share user areas 
between classes, as this could be problematic for learners. 

 

• Dutch Garden Centre location – very close to motorway and learners are 
vulnerable and sometimes erratic, sometimes leave site, would need to cross 
bridge, where there is a service station with fast food outlets, which would be a 
draw for students.  

 

• County lines – vulnerable learners – ease of access for county lines issues as so 
close to M4.  

 

• Learners may drop things off bridge onto motorway or even jump onto the 
carriageway, very serious concerns. 

 

• Llanishen site – question re. sharing site with another school – if so, could be very 
difficult, as volatile learners, could be issues with having another school close by. 

 

• Safeguarding concern with having female pupils, would it be 50/50 split? How that 
would work for the school. Eighty learners are a lot to have on both sites. Staff feel 
that working with more learners would dilute the offer. 

 

• Would need to invest a lot of time in getting new staff ready. Wouldn’t be able to 
hit the ground running as have taken years in getting to this position, getting staff  

 
 

Page 1076



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with School Staff    

Greenhill School  
13 January 2022  

 
skilled and getting to know the learners – would need a big investment early on to 
upskill staff.  

 

• Would need to look at vehicles – currently have 4 vehicles in school – would need 
more. 

 

• Transport issues – some learners doing travel training in sixth form – how would 
public transport access be to the Dutch Garden Centre site.  

 

• Transition of staff and learners to new school, would new learners in Y7 start at 
new site or whole school move? 

 

• Toilet areas – unisex or single sex? Would expect issues with learners if they were 
mixed.  

 

• Need to allow for kitchen areas etc as shared areas don’t work for EHW students. 
 
Officer response/further questions  
 
Don’t yet have design, are at formative stages, as the consultation more on the 
principle of whether growing the school is a good idea and the sites work. Would be 
looking at having Education vision to set out teaching and learning perspective – from 
this would do design brief which inform the design, before it’s finalised. School would 
have opportunities to input at each stage. 
 
Sarah Pritchard would be working with the school to understand the school, 
understand its strengths and find out what is needed in the site to make the school 
work. We want to provide the most suitable buildings for your school. Details such as 
shared spaces, toilets etc will be part of this work. Also transition, staffing etc all 
considered there. 
 
With regard to site-specific issues as we don’t have design in place, we don’t have 
detailed answers to these questions. Would also need to test out plans with statutory 
consultees such as highways regarding the plans as part of planning process. 
 
With regard to the Dutch Garden Centre site, recognise proximity to the motorway as 
a concern; number of design solutions and would look to locate building as far as 
possible from motorway, about 150m at nearest point. Can look at orientation of the 
building, which can itself be a barrier, multiple layers of security and CCTV. Fencing 
of suitable height and robustness, not easy to climb, incorporated into design. Secure 
perimeter. Would think that County Lines risk could be mitigated entirely by design.  
 
With regard to transport, currently having discussions with transport providers 
regarding possibility of bus links to Dutch Garden Centre site. 
  
JH added that we are aware that it needs to be very secure, but also feel welcoming, 
and be nicely landscaped etc.  
 

Page 1077



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with School Staff    

Greenhill School  
13 January 2022  

 
 
Good to hear that the school is welcoming of the idea of accepting female pupils. EHW 
needs are very wide ranging and need to consider how we can meet the needs of all 
these pupils. Need to factor in to thinking, and how building and grounds need to be 
designed to facilitate that. Girls’ needs can present differently and could be a wider 
range of needs – accept that we need to plan for this at early stage.  Not likely to be 
50/50 mix as more boys statistically need more provision; would estimate 25% girls 
but would obviously be on basis of need. Would also need to plan the introduction, as 
would need a reasonable cohort of girls in order for them to have peers. Suggestion 
to look at other EHW schools to see how other schools support their pupils; the girls 
who are placed at independent settings are in mixed sex provision.  
 
Eighty pupils on both sites bigger, as currently school of 64; thinking around going to 
80 is to provide enhanced opportunity for learners to stay on for post 16 pathways 
while still preserving 56 places for younger learners. Not anticipated that all learners 
would mix.  
 
With regard to the Llanishen/Ty Glas site, looking to put a secondary school on other 
part of site; design is not planned to be a campus, but two separate schools; would 
look at design solutions including appropriate secure lines between schools. Also 
bearing in mind proximity of city centre and many of the same site security solutions 
being thought of for Dutch Garden Centre site. 
 
With regard to transport between sites, as the school grows so will the budget and can 
be considered in due course.  
 
With regard to transition of staff and learners into new site, significant need coming 
through, hence proposal for expansion; will need to do close planning with the senior 
leadership team to determine best path. Looking at four years to plan for this. 
Opportunity to plan and make the right provision to get to the best possible place.  
 
Question from staff: excited, and see as a real opportunity, but extremely concerned 
about proximity of the Dutch Garden Centre site to the motorway; currently have risk 
assessments but the motorway is something we have no control over, and the school 
cannot be moved once in place. Some pupils thrive on challenge and being faced with 
multiple fences will be more determined to escape. There is also a real risk of suicide 
attempts or throwing something onto the motorway and causing potentially serious 
accidents. Very concerned about magnitude of risk. 
 
Potential for a whole range of design solutions, doesn’t just have to be fencing, 
however, RP said that the concerns have been noted. 
 
Another staff member noted that the main issue is that it’s on a junction, not just that 
it’s next to the motorway, as there are services and access.  
 
Question regarding whether the access could come from the other direction instead. 
Concern with taxis coming in from the roundabout, potential of congestion on the roads 
to the school if there is an accident on the motorway. If taxi stuck in traffic,  

Page 1078



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Meeting with School Staff    

Greenhill School  
13 January 2022  

 
 
possibility of learners choosing to get out of the taxi and try and walk to the school.  
 
RP said that we will speak with transport for solutions to these issues. Looking at 
putting the entrance to the school as far away from M4 as possible.  
 
Currently have neighbours close to the school who are very supportive to them. There 
is a large, gated community close to the Dutch Garden Centre site and interested in 
knowing if there’s been any feedback from potential new neighbours to the school.  
 
RP advised that so far, no feedback had been received. 
 
Question re. whether site is to be shared with St Mellons CiW Primary School; rumour 
going around. 
 
RP confirmed that this is not the case.  The whole of the Dutch Garden Centre site is 
put forward for Greenhill; St Mellons CiW Primary School is going to relocate to the St 
Edeyrns redevelopment; consultation on proposal for the vacated St Mellons CiW site 
in Llanrumney to be used for The Court School is currently open. 
 
Can vehicles go through from St Mellons to St Edeyrns site?  
 
Definitely pedestrian access, but not currently vehicle access – and no plans for this. 
 
Ty Glas site question regarding whether there are any concerns that people may have 
with a secondary school being next to an EHW school site. In the past some schools 
have objected to having Greenhill nearby.  
 
Officers replied that if there are objections they will need to be managed as the 
secondary school idea proceeds. Currently no objections on this issue. 
 
Officers outlined details of where the proposals are posted on the Council’s website, 
and how responses can be made. Individuals and group responses are welcomed. 
Please note that group responses are treated as formal and would be published but 
individual ones are grouped and would be anonymised.   
 
There were no further questions and the meeting closed. 
 

Page 1079



Schools Programme 
Cardiff West Community High School Virtual Meeting 

Governing Body  
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Shirley Karseras (SOP), Martin Hulland (Headteacher), members 
of the Governing Body 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed attendees 
 
At the request of the Chair of Board of Governors, no presentation was given due to 
time constraints, and they requested we went directly to Q & A. 
 
Brett Andrewartha (BA) stated that this proposal was to formalise the provision that is 
currently in place. 
 
Questions and response 
 
The questions asked by / comments made by governors are set out in italics below 
with the officer response given directly below. 
 
Q What level of need will the children attending the SRB have compared to 

the children already utilising the facility? 
 
RP There is no expansion to what is already in place being proposed. This process 

will formalise the arrangement that was piloted a few years ago ensuring the 
longevity of the provision. We also welcome any comments on how the SRB 
currently operates and seek to address any issues there may be. 

 
Q Does the proposal involve providing provision for a greater number of 

pupils and therefore require extra staffing? 
 
RP No. We are looking to formalise the specialist provision for 20 places which is 

the number of students currently accessing the SRB.  
 
Q Will the provision be filled with pupils from outside Cardiff West 

Community School or outside the Cardiff West community? 
 
JH The provision provided is specialist provision and therefore offered to pupils 

with this level of need across the city. However, there is no plan to increase the 
number of places above 20 places which is what you are operating with 
currently.  

Page 1080



Schools Programme 
Cardiff West Community High School Virtual Meeting 

Governing Body  
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

RP There are citywide proposals for ALN currently being consulted on. The aim is 
to have provision on both sides of the city so that people can access local 
provision.  

 
 This would be our preference too to help promote our Active Travel Plan. 

The 20 places we provide are to pupils mostly from our community. 
 
Q How will the funding be affected if the provision is formalised through this 

proposal? 
 
JH We will continue to fund in the same way. There will be no difference and 

unfortunately no extra resources provided. It will be regularly reviewed with the 
headteacher to ensure that we have the correct resources in place. 

 
Q Will there be a requirement for extra staff? 
 
JH There shouldn’t be as the number of places is not changing. If, however there 

is a specific need for it in terms of pupil needs, then the Governing Body would 
be involved with that appointment.  

 
Q Will there be any physical changes to the school site? 
 
RP There will be a site visit soon as we are also changing the number of Y7’s 

entering the school. It would be useful to have a sense check of how all of the 
provision could work best within the school site. It may be that it is of benefit to 
relocate the SRB. There are currently lower numbers in post 16 so it may be 
better to utilise this space, or maybe not? There has also been a request to use 
partitions to reduce some of the larger spaces. We are happy to work with the 
school on what is the optimal arrangement.  

 
The Accelerate programme has been a great success which uses smaller 
spaces for years 7 and 8 and we would be keen that this is not compromised. 
With regard to physical changes to the school site, a site visit would be 
welcomed to have a walk through and reflect on how vulnerable learners interact 
with the building and identify any pinch points. 
 
RP There are spare spaces in the school, and these could be used to maximise the 
effectiveness of school operations. 
 
I understand the short-term benefits of this but in a longer-term level, we are 
hoping to grow our 6th form, so this would need to be carefully balanced. 
 
RP Not quite relevant to this proposal, but we are committed to making the 6th form 

a success so it would hopefully be a short-term option. 
 

Page 1081



Schools Programme 
Cardiff West Community High School Virtual Meeting 

Governing Body  
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
26 January 2022 

 
 

We will submit comments but there are no concerns for us as things won’t really  
change, it’s just formalising the arrangement. 
 
(MH)  Aware of the process and that it’s confirming what we already have. Our 

main concern is only how we manage that resource within the building, 
but it is a good exercise to review this anyway. 

 
The Chair of the Governing body thanked everyone for their attendance and brought 
the meeting to a close. 
 
 
 

Page 1082



Schools Programme 
Cardiff West Community High School Virtual Meeting 

Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
17 January 2022 

 
 

Present:  Richard Portas (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Jennie Hughes (ALN), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), school staff  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed staff. 
 
There was a presentation from Brett Andrewartha (BA) which set out details of the 
proposal: 
 

• What is being proposed  

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current EHW provision 11 – 19 

• Demand for EHW places 11 -19 

• Proposal for Cardiff West Community High School 

• Condition categories  

• Suitability  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transports matters  

• Benefits of the proposal  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted 

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Brett Andrewartha (BA) stated that this proposal was to formalise the provision that is 
currently in place. 
 
Questions and response 
 
Q - The school has been working well over last few years, only issue is space, it 
wasn’t in our initial design, if you put that alongside the rapid growth of the 
school, there are competing pressures and meeting soon to discuss this. 
Working relationship with Local Authority, with just the practical and space 
issues to sort. 

Page 1083



Schools Programme 
Cardiff West Community High School Virtual Meeting 

Staff Meeting   
Additional Learning Needs: 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing (EHW) (ages 11-19)   
17 January 2022 

 
 

RP- Will be doing a site visit. There are some areas in the school that are underutilised, 
want to make best use of space; also, birth rate is dropping off; we need to know the 
operation works well for you. Will look at initial space requirement in short term and 
then long term. 
 
Q - Funding currently only for the base staff. Is there any progress on additional 
funding to enhance the curriculum for the pupils? The finance does for example 
pay for additional utilities costs or the speech language therapy staff. 
 
JH- Happy to discuss vocational opportunities for the pupils further. In addition to that 
funding there is other special educational needs funding. Utilities is covered as part of 
whole school funding, not specifically SRB. Happy to discuss further anything else we 
need to consider 
 
RP- Wanted to make sure we were following due process and formalising what exists 
already. You know more about this than us, you have access to the form.  
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked staff and the meeting closed. 
 
 

Page 1084



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING 

NEEDS (ALN)   

 

EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR 

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED PUPILS 

 

Appendix 4: Notes from Pupil Engagement Meetings  

Page 1087



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Pupil Engagement  
16 November 2021 

 
 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP), 
Sarah Pritchard (SOP), The Court School pupils    
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
SOP officers visited The Court Special School to talk with pupils regarding the 
consultation in relation to providing additional places for ALN. The class met with had 
a mix of Year 4, 5 and 6 pupils. 
 
Officers explained the proposals as they relate to The Court, saying that it is proposed 
to have the school on two sites, to allow for more children to be able to attend the 
school, where the schools were proposed to be and explained to the class that the 
buildings will take some time to build.  
 
Officers asked for their views on what is good at The Court, any concerns they may 
have and what they’d like to see at a new school. 
 
The pupils had a number of suggestions and comments to make: 

Good things about The Court to continue at the new school: 

Staff award tokens to pupils for good work, which the children can spend on things like 
fidget toys.  The pupils were concerned that this might change if the school was across 
two sies. 

Concerns pupils would have: 

A concern was raised regarding whether the children would have the same classmates 
or have to be in a class with children they don’t know when the new building opens?  
 
How would the school be split when the new schools open? Will changes be made to 
existing classes so that children go to the closest school to their home? 

What pupils would like to see at a new school: 

• A bigger area to play football, with bigger goals and high fences to keep the football 
in. The current space used isn’t flat, which means the ball rolls away. 

• Some of the outside space at The Court floods when there is rain, the pupils would 
like to be able to use the space outside. 

• Shelters outside for rainy weather. 

• A vegetable garden and chickens. 

• More opportunities to have animals. 

• A heated swimming pool. 

• A large trampoline and bouncy castle. 

• Climbing frames suitable for older children, up to Year 6. 

• More space outside, as currently have to travel off site for football. 

• Bigger classrooms, with windows that can be opened. 

Page 1088



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

The Court School Pupil Engagement  
16 November 2021 

 
 

• More comfortable chairs. 

• Chairs and tables that are light and easy to move when doing activities. 

• More chill out rooms for when pupils need a space away from the classroom – 
currently there is only one and lots of children need to use it. 

• A space to do arts and crafts – currently a tarpaulin has to be put down to protect 
the flooring in the classroom. 

• A music room – if the headteacher is having a meeting the children can’t play the 
piano at the same time as the school doesn’t have a separate space. 

• A room where the children can do cooking, as currently use a small kitchen. 

• A bigger library, with more books. 

• A bigger hall, as the one at The Court is small and doesn’t have PE equipment. 

• Pupils would like to learn other languages. 

• Pupils would like the School Council to have a say in the new school.  

• The pupils thought it was good that travel times might be less to get to and from 
school. 

• Currently the children eat lunch in their classroom, and some of them would like 
the option of being able to eat in a cafeteria. 

• Need more security camera and gates to keep pupils in and safe. 

• More ICT lessons. 

Feedback from Class Teacher 

The teacher said that Wi-Fi in The Court isn’t reliable, and this is needed if a child 
isn’t able to stay in class and has to join lessons remotely from another part of the 
building.  
 
Officers thanked the children for listening so well and giving their input. Officers then 
explained what happens next, saying that all the comments from the consultation will 
be put together in a report to be considered by the Council’s Cabinet.  
 
If the proposal goes ahead, we will write to everybody who replied to the consultation 
to let them know that the proposal is moving on to the next stage. 
  
There were no further questions, officers thanked the pupils and the and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1089



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Fairwater Primary School Pupil Engagement  
Additional Learning Needs – The Court School  

22 November 2021 
 

 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Rachel Burgess 
Willis (SOP), Fairwater Primary Student Council    
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
SOP officers met with the Student Council of Fairwater Primary School to talk with 
pupils regarding the consultation in relation to providing additional places for ALN.  
 
A presentation was given, and officers explained the proposal for a new build school 
to accommodate The Court Special School on two sites, allowing more children to be 
able to have a school place at The Court. It is proposed that one of these new school 
buildings is built on the field of Fairwater Primary School.  
 
The children had the following questions and comments: 
 
Will we lose any of the playground?  
The playground will stay the same.  The new building would go on the field, where 
there is lots of space. 
 
Would we be able to play with the children from the other school?  
This would depend on what the schools agree between themselves. 
 
Would the schools have the same entrance?  
Current plans are that children attending the new Court school arrive down the same 
lane but would leave from a different entrance, but this has not been decided yet. 
Council Officers will be working with Fairwater Primary School to decide best place for 
entrance/exit if the project goes ahead. 
 
The children were all happy with the idea of another school on their site. 
 
What age are the children?  
Primary school age. 
 
Will the other school be separate?  
Yes, they have their own building and their own teachers. 
 
How far would the school be from Fairwater Primary School?  
Not sure exactly how far, or exactly where it will go on site, but it’s planned to go on 
the field. 
 
The children all agreed that the field is big enough to share with another school. 

Page 1090



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Meeting  

Fairwater Primary School Pupil Engagement  
Additional Learning Needs – The Court School  

22 November 2021 
 

 

The children had some discussion regarding where on the field another building 
could best go and suggested the entrance to the site could be by the community 
centre.  
 
Officers thanked the children for listening so well and giving their input. Officers then 
explained what happens next, saying that all the comments from the consultation will 
be put together in a report to be considered by the Council’s Cabinet.  
 
If the proposal goes ahead we will write to everybody who replied to the consultation 
to let them know that the proposal is moving on to the next stage. 
  
There were no further questions, officers thanked the pupils and the and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1091



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 8 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
19 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Headteacher & Staff (Greenhill School), Year 8 Greenhill School pupil 
representatives, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
SOP officers met with a group of Year 8 Greenhill School pupil representatives 
regarding the proposed changes to school: 
 

• Increase Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places 

• Transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across 2 sites at the 
Dutch Garden Centre site and Ty Glas Road (Llanishen) 

 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Rachel Burgess Willis (RBW) opened the meeting and welcomed pupils. The 
Headteacher outlined details of the proposed changes to the pupils.  RBW & RP 
advised pupils that we were seeking their views on behalf of Cardiff Council as part of 
the public consultation.  
 
Discussion Points 
 
The pupils were aware of the proposed changes and the following points were raised: 
 

• Some of the boys said that they did not welcome the proposal to offer places at 
Greenhill School to girls in future 

• Of the 8 pupils that contributed, 6 said that they didn’t mind, and 2 said that they 
didn’t want to mix with girls. 

• They all liked the idea of a new building  

• They enjoy playing Four Squares (ball games played in the hall) 

• All pupils enjoy Cooking  

• Many enjoy working out at the Gym and using the Punchbags 

• They did not like the proposed Dutch Garden Centre site due to it being next to a 
motorway; they had safety concerns if pupils run away into oncoming traffic and 
noise concerns for those with sensory issues. 

 
The pupils were asked to think of things that they would like at a new school.  The 
pupils and the Headteacher listed the following: 
 

• An outdoor climbing area – Trees with rope slides, zip wires, climbing frames & 
treehouse 

• Dog grooming facilities/Animal Care (with opportunities to gain a vocational 
qualification) 

• Football pitches 

• Bigger hall 

• Gym areas on both sites  

Page 1092



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 8 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
19 January 2022 

 
 

• Boxing facilities 

• Trampolines indoor and outdoor 

• Swimming Pool 

• Emergency dorms to sleep in for any pupils experiencing homelessness 

• Music Production Studio 

• School radio rooms  

• Better toilets/washrooms 

• Sinks in all the classrooms 

• A chef on both sites 

• BMX/scooter/skate park with ramps 

• Basketball Court  

• A sensory pool (like the one at Bryn Y Deri School, VOG) 

• A sensory/chill out room(quiet space) 

• Cinema room  

• Horse riding facilities 

• Good Wi-Fi connection in all rooms  

• Laser tag rooms 

• Paintballing in the forest  

• Play stations /X Boxes/ Gaming consoles  

• MUGA’s 

• Parkour 

• Hair Salon to learn hair styling/cutting skills  

• Building/Construction area to learn a trade  

• Café to practice making things 

• Mechanics workshop 

• Covered area outside 

• Art Room 

• Chickens and Cows  

• Aquarium/ Fish Tanks 

• School Minibuses 

• Science labs for experiments 
 
Concerns/worries: 
 

• Will there be new teachers? 

• Worried there might be too many pupils 

• Want large classrooms, don’t want to feel claustrophobic  

• Will there be separate classes for boys and girls? 
 
 
The pupils would like to be involved in the development of any plans taken forward. 
RBW & RP set out what would happen next, thanked the pupils for their input and the 
session ended.   

Page 1093



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 10 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
20 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Headteacher & Staff (Greenhill School), Year 10 Greenhill School pupil 
representatives, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP), Sarah Pritchard 
(SOP) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
SOP officers met with a group of Year 10 Greenhill School pupil representatives 
regarding the proposed changes to school: 
 

• Increase Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places 

• Transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across 2 sites at the 
Dutch Garden Centre site and Ty Glas Road (Llanishen) 

 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Rachel Burgess Willis (RBW) opened the meeting and welcomed pupils. The 
Headteacher outlined details of the proposed changes to the pupils.  RBW & RP 
advised pupils that we were seeking their views on behalf of Cardiff Council as part of 
the public consultation.  
 
Discussion Points 
 
The pupils were aware of the proposed changes and the following points were raised: 
 

• Some of the boys said that they hadn’t been to school with girls before and were 
unsure about how this would work but thought that it would help with inclusion for 
all genders e.g., non-binary.   

• All of the pupils liked the idea of a new building  

• They enjoy playing Four Squares (ball games played in the hall) 

• All pupils enjoy Cooking  

• Many enjoy working out at the Gym and using the Punchbags 

• They did not like the proposed Dutch Garden Centre site due to it being next to a 
motorway; they had safety concerns if pupils run away into oncoming traffic and 
noise concerns for those with sensory issues. 

• They thought that nurture provision should be on a 1:1 basis  

• The pupils wanted post-16 options at the school  
 
The pupils were asked to think of things that they would like at a new school.  The 
pupils and school listed the following: 
 

• Hair salon facilities with 2 chairs/2 sinks 

• Self care facilities  

• Nurture provision with easy access to toilet facilities  

• 4G pitch for football – full size with half size markings 

• Full size basketball court with school logo  

Page 1094



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 10 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
20 January 2022 

 
 

• Three walled court for squash 

• Four Square space in the school hall 

• Classrooms with different seating areas/kitchen and washing up area.  This would 
allow for breakfast/morning nurture (shared areas won’t work for those with 
anxiety) 

• Quiet areas 

• Gym including boxing facilities and free weights 

• Changing facilities / shower facilities  

• Area to develop IT skills e.g., VR  

• Music room including instruments and IT equipment  

• Cooking facilities – a large kitchen area and a number of small cooking areas 

• Temperature controlled rooms  

• Vending machines for drinks in the sports area 

• A home for the horses  

• Construction/mechanical spaces 

• Garden/vegetable area  

• Dog grooming area/animal care 

• Outside space including a wooded area and nature walk  

• Rope swings/zipline/treehouse 

• Skateboard/scooter/parkour area 

• Social area outside with a firepit / outside cooking area  

• Medical/Welfare/Wellbeing/prayer room 

• School respite area where pupils could stay over if needed 

• Mobile classroom for Coed – van with awning/motorhome  

• Covered outdoor area 

• Door to the outside for each classroom with outside breakout areas 

• Family/visiting professional’s room  

• Area for learning life skills/grown up learning  
 
 
The pupils would like to be involved in the development of any plans taken forward. 
RBW & RP set out what would happen next, thanked the pupils for their input and the 
session ended.   
 

Page 1095



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Y12/13 Pupil Engagement  

Greenhill School  
26 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Greenhill School Y12/13 pupils     
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
SOP officers met with a group of Year 12 and Year 13 Greenhill School pupil 
representatives regarding the proposed changes to school: 
 

• Increase Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places 

• Transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across 2 sites at the Dutch 
Garden Centre site and Ty Glas Road (Llanishen) 

 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers explained the requirement for additional ALN spaces across the city. The 
proposals being discussed for Greenhill School were to establish two 80-place settings 
in new build accommodation. One on part of a site the Council owns at Ty Glas Road 
in Llanishen, and the other on the site of the Dutch Garden Centre, Maes y Bryn Road.  
Seeking their views on behalf of Cardiff Council as part of the public consultation.  
 
Discussion Points  
 
The learners said that they were sorry to hear that it was proposed that the school 
move from the current site as they wouldn’t like to see the school change. The learners 
agreed that they had all made progress due to attending Greenhill School and wouldn’t 
have made the same progress elsewhere. They also felt that it was a benefit that the 
school now offered a sixth form.  
 
The pupils agreed that Greenhill has a lot of good facilities, such as a gym, basketball 
hall, Four Square, football facilities etc which they would like to see at any new site.  
 
The learners said that the outside space at Greenhill is very important, both for 
learners to have space to themselves when they need it, but also the space allows for 
games.   
 
There is a garden which the learners said would be needed at a new school, plus a 
shed for tools etc. 
 
Greenhill School has ‘safe’ areas in the classrooms in the main school where pupils 
can withdraw to calm down if they need to, either by themselves or with the school 
dogs. The learners felt these would be needed in any new school, as the spaces are 
particularly important for the younger pupils. 
 
Currently Greenhill School has a separate area for the sixth form in the former 
caretaker’s house where the sixth form have the opportunity to learn useful life skills. 
The learners all agreed that it was important to have a separate space for the sixth 
form away from the younger pupils to give the sixth form time away from them, and to 

Page 1096



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Y12/13 Pupil Engagement  

Greenhill School  
26 January 2022 

 
 

allow the sixth form pupils an opportunity to do activities that may not be suitable for 
the younger pupils whose behaviours can be less controlled. 
 
Some former learners come back and visit the school and one former pupil now works 
at the school as a teaching assistant. The students said they would still come back to 
visit the staff if they moved to a new site, but it wouldn’t be the same as a new site 
wouldn’t have the same memories or connection with them.  
 
The learners said they would like the current staff all in one school and new staff in 
the other location. The learners supported the idea of increasing the number of spaces 
available, with one learner adding that he’d struggled to get a space and had to wait 
for a space to become available in Greenhill. 
 
There was concern expressed about the school providing spaces for girls. Currently 
all the Greenhill School pupils are boys, many of whom have not been in school with 
girls. Some of the pupils attended primary schools with girls, but they felt it was 
different as the pupils become older, as there is the possibility of relationships between 
the pupils which could cause difficulties.  
 
The Llanishen site was discussed. The learners didn’t mind the location in terms of 
travel - currently the sixth formers travel to Greenhill independently, to help ready them 
for moving on to college or work and to build confidence. The current location allows 
them to travel either by bus or other active means (walk, cycle etc) and it was 
considered that travel to the site would be much the same in terms of needing to take 
two buses or bus and walk. 
 
There is a possibility that the other part of the site be used in the future for a secondary 
school. The learners didn’t consider the idea of having a Greenhill site close to another 
school to be a good idea, saying that Greenhill doesn’t mix well with other schools, 
and there could be fighting and disruption.  
 
The learners liked the idea of having a more rural site for a Greenhill replacement, 
especially if there would be a lot of outside space, however they felt that the proposed 
Dutch Garden Centre site was not suitable given its proximity to the motorway. The 
pupils agreed that there was a high risk of pupils accessing the motorway or trying to 
throw stones onto the cars. The learners also agreed that there being no safe walking 
route was an issue due to the site being close to the motorway.  
 
The group agreed that it was likely that learners would try to cross the motorway if they 
left the site, with younger pupils not seeing the danger of trying to cross the road, and 
that even the older pupils, who ordinarily would have a better understanding of risks, 
may decide to try to walk across, particularly if they were angry or upset, and there is 
a chance they could get hit by a car.  
 
There were no further questions, officers explained what will happen next, thanked the 
pupils for their time and comments and the session ended.  

Page 1097



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 9 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
27 January 2022 

 
 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Year 9 Greenhill pupil representatives, Staff 
(Greenhill School) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
SOP officers met with a group of Year 8 Greenhill School pupil representatives 
regarding the proposed changes to school: 
 

• Increase Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places 

• Transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across 2 sites at the Dutch 
Garden Centre site and Ty Glas Road (Llanishen) 

 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Rosalie Phillips (RP) opened the meeting and welcomed pupils. RP explained the 
requirement for additional ALN spaces across the city. The proposals being discussed 
for Greenhill School are to establish two 80-place settings in new build 
accommodation. One on part of a site the Council owns at Ty Glas Road in Llanishen, 
and the other on the site of the Dutch Garden Centre, Maes y Bryn Road.  
 
Discussion Points 
 
The pupils thought it would be good idea to expand the school to allow for more pupils 
to attend and benefit from the support the school provides. 
 
They had mixed feeling about having girls at the school.  Currently all the Greenhill 
School pupils are boys, many of whom have not been in school with girls. Some of the 
pupils attended primary schools with girls, but they felt it was different as the pupils 
become older, as there is the possibility of relationships between the pupils which 
could cause difficulties.  
 
They were in favour of new school provision in Llanishen but did not support the use 
of The Dutch Garden site. They thought that the location of the site close to the 
motorway was too noisy and that some of the pupils were likely to run onto the 
motorway if they were angry or upset. 
 
The outdoor space available on the current site was very important to them and they 
suggested that the site in Llanishen be developed alongside the existing school site. 
 
Access to cookery spaces was also important. 
 
The pupils agreed that Greenhill has a lot of good facilities, such as a gym, basketball 
hall, Four Square, football facilities etc which they would like to see at any new site.  
 
They would like to see the following facilities at any new school: 
 

Page 1098



Schools Programme 
Record of Year 9 Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Greenhill School 
27 January 2022 

 
 

• Bigger hall  

• 3G football pitch 

• Better gym  

• Cookery room  

• Better IT 

• Quiet spaces available to withdraw to when necessary 

• Kitchen area and sink in each classroom 

• Upgraded toilets (these should be single sex only) 

• Good sports facilities  

• Conference room for when parents/support workers visit  

• Outside gym  

• Outside space  
There were no further questions.  RP explained what would happen next, thanked the 
pupils for their time and comments and the session ended.  
 

Page 1099



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  
Cardiff West Community High School  

21 January 2022 
 

 

Present: Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Ceri Tanti (SOP), Cardiff West Community High 
School pupil representatives       
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Officers welcomed pupils and set out details of the proposed changes.  There was a 
requirement for additional ALN spaces across the city. The proposals being discussed 
for Cardiff West Community High School are to establish a 20-place specialist 
resource base within existing accommodation. Other options for additional places 
have been put forward across the city.  
 
The pupils were asked whether they had any queries, concerns or questions.  
 
Questions and answers  
 
Q - when would this decision be finalised? 
A – consultation report to be considered by Council Cabinet in March 2022; if 
proceeding to statutory notice this would be in May 2022, with a final decision between 
June and September 2022.  
 
Q - Would the SRB be open for the whole school day? 
A - Yes, would run all day. Main difference would be that currently the children that 
attend live locally, whereas children from outside the area may attend in future 
. 
Comment - Good idea for children who need more help, worry about increased 
traffic. Think it’s a good idea as know some pupils who are struggling and need 
extra help. When the students come in, feel that the times should be scheduled 
so it doesn’t affect CWCHS students. 
 
Suggestion that start/finish times staggered to prevent there being more traffic 
arriving or leaving site at the same time.  
 
Learners confirmed that they understood what emotional health and wellbeing 
meant.  
 
The learners said that the building and facilities at Cardiff West are good, and 
that the features will be put to good use by this sort of base. 
 
Q - Will this provision be open to children already attending Cardiff West?  
A - Children who get a place at the SRB would be assessed as needing to attend an 
SRB and those children may currently be attending Cardiff West or may be attending 
another school. An additional benefit to the school would be that the proposal would 

Page 1100



 Schools Programme 
  Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement  
Cardiff West Community High School  

21 January 2022 
 

 

allow for recruitment of staff with specialist skills, meaning that there would be an 
opportunity for those staff to share their skills with other CWCHS staff.  
 
There were no further questions. 
 
RP thanked the learners and teacher for their time, comments and attention, and said 
that if any of them thought of any questions after the end of the meeting or would like 
further information, please let the teacher know and they would be able to contact SOP 
with these queries. 
 
The meeting came to a close.  
 
 
 

Page 1101



This page is intentionally left blank



SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING 

NEEDS (ALN)   

 

EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR 

PRIMARY AND SECONDARY AGED PUPILS 

 

Appendix 5: Notes from Virtual Public Meetings  

Page 1103



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
02 November 2021 at 5pm 

 
 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Jenny Hughes 
(ALN), Jamyn Beesley (The Court Headteacher), Sarah Pritchard (SOP, Cath Keegan 
Smith (ALN), Kassia Morris (ALN) Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Members of the public  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from MDF which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments from those attending  
 
Q/C – Parent of a child at Moorland Primary School.  Where will be early years 
accommodations be on site? 
RP – looking at two building with a nursery block next to Reception and another block 
next to the caretaker’s house.   
 

Page 1104



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
02 November 2021 at 5pm 

 
 

Q/C – traffic around the school site is already busy; how much will traffic 
increase by? 
RP – looking to make changes to parking and looking at the impact of traffic as part of 
the planning application for the proposed works.  
 
Q/C – what would be the impact on school resources/staffing? 
JH – there would be two SRB classes with funding provided in order for the school to 
employ additional teaching staff and TA’s.  Looking to provide opportunities for both 
sets of pupils. 
 
Q/C – welcome inclusive approach. 
 
Q/C – will The Court still be run as one school if across two sites? 
RP – looking at one school across two sites (split site arrangement). There is a range 
of expertise within the existing school and building on this.   
JB – there would be one headteacher with senior managers on each site supporting 
values and vision. 
JH – more places are needed; however, children benefit from smaller nurturing 
environments.  Split sites allow for shorter travelling times.  Both proposed sites are 
adjacent to mainstream schools which will provide opportunities for staff and pupils at 
both schools. 
JB – will allow for development of relationship with communities. 
 
Q/C – will the Wellbeing Class at Fairwater Primary School remain? 
JH – yes, the Wellbeing Class will remain.  Provision is kept under review but locating 
The Court at Fairwater will provide benefits e.g., shared training. 
 
MDF outlined the ways in which response to the consultation can be made, via e-mail, 
hard copy response or online survey on the Council website  
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked all those who attended, and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1105



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
09 December 2020 at 5pm 

 
 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge-Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Shirley Karseras, Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Members of 
the public  
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Proposals for The Court School 

• Fairwater Primary School site  

• St Mellons CiW Primary School site  

• Proposal for Moorland Primary School  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability 

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters Fairwater Primary 

• Transport Matters St Mellons CiW Primary  

• Transport Matters Moorland Primary 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages and risks  

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions/comments from those attending  
 
Q/C – How will this affect the Pen y Bryn Primary School site? 
BA – there had been discussion with Pen y Bryn Primary School who were supportive 
of the need to increase the supply of EHW places. St Mellon’s CiW Primary School 
were moving to a new site and the current site would return to the Council.  There 
would need to be a marginal adjustment of the boundary between the two sites with 

Page 1106



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – The Court/Moorland Primary    
09 December 2020 at 5pm 

 
 

improvements made to the outdoor area at Pen y Bryn.  There could be an impact 
from additional traffic however initial work showed that there was likely to be reduced 
traffic overall. 
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked all those who attended, and the meeting 
closed. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1107



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – EHW   
12 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

 
Present:  Richard Portas (SOP)), Michele Duddridge Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha 
(SOP), Jenny Hughes (ALN), Shirley Karseras (SOP), Martin Hulland (HT CWCHS), 
Rosalie Phillips (SOP)Members of the public (2) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The meeting was held via Microsoft Teams   
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Richard Portas (RP) opened the meeting, welcomed attendees and outlined details of 
the proposed changes. 
 
There was a presentation from BA which set out the following: 
 

• What is being proposed? 

• Background  

• Sufficiency of places 

• Distribution of places 

• Current EHW provision aged 11-19 

• Demand for places  

• Proposals for Greenhill School 

• Dutch Garden Centre Site  

• Ty Glas Site, Llanishen  

• Proposal for Cardiff West Community High School 

• Proposal for Eastern High  

• Condition Categories  

• Suitability Categories  

• Quality and Standards 

• Transport Matters 

• Benefits of the proposals  

• Potential disadvantages 

• Alternative options discounted  

• Finance  

• Human Resources 

• What happens next? 
 
Questions and response 
 
RP invited questions from those attending  
 
Q – the timing of the public meeting makes it difficult for parents of children with 
additional learning needs to attend.  Being able to attend a consultation meeting 
during school hours would be more appropriate. 

Page 1108



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Additional Learning Needs – EHW   
12 January 2022 at 5:30pm 

 
 

BA – as part of the consultation there are opportunities for on-line drop-in sessions.  
We are looking to be as flexible as possible and would very much welcome the 
opportunity to speak to parents. 
 
Q – has the option of expanding Greenhill on its existing site been considered? 
RP – this was looked at.  The school is on a constrained site which limits construction 
options, and any development would result in considerable impacts on pupils.  There 
is a need to expand provision and a range of options have been considered with the 
proposals put forward allowing for a greater spread of provision across the city. 
 
Q – EHW is a catch all phrase.  Will provision be available for children and young 
people with severe anxiety? 
JH – recognise that there are a range of needs that need to be addressed and looking 
to develop and broaden practice at Greenhill.  The design of the school will consider 
the range of needs and consideration will also be given to developing a range of 
provisions. 
 
Q – parent of two boys with autism and member of ALN support and advocacy 
network.  We are receiving lots of requests for information around anxiety. 
JH – there has been an increase in the number of children with anxiety with some 
children and young people being placed in the independent sector.  Recognise that 
there are a range of needs and looking to meet these. 
RP – there has been an increase in needs across the city with provision being 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
 
BA – welcome all responses; responses can be made via e-mail to 
schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk, on-line via survey on the Council website (not 
limited to standards questions).  The closing date for responses is 01 February 2022. 
 
MDF queried whether there were any links that would be helpful and agreed to share 
social media links.   
 
Q – how did the Council decide who to write to? 
MDF – there are a range of statutory consultees and consideration is given to other 
stakeholders for whom proposals may be relevant. 
 
There were no further questions, RP thanked everyone, and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 1109

mailto:schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The Court Special School Responses 
 

Response from Estyn – The Court School / Moorland Primary School 

 

Estyn response to the proposal to increase the capacity at the Court special 

school and transfer it to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of 

Fairwater Primary School and to the current St Mellons, church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney and to establish a specialist resource base 

(SRB) for primary aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland 

Primary School  

 

These appear to be two proposals and so will be responded to as such although 

there are some aspects that are relevant to both proposals.  

 

Estyn response to the proposal to increase the capacity at the Court special 

school and transfer it to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of 

Fairwater Primary School and to the current St Mellons, church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales.  

 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 

However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  

 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer.  

 

Summary/ Conclusion  

 

This proposal is by Cardiff council. The proposal is to Increase the capacity of The 

Court Special School from 42 to 72 places. The school would transfer to two sites, in 

new build accommodation on the site of Fairwater Primary School and to the current 

St Mellons, church in Wales primary school site in Llanrumney, with 36 pupils on 

each site from September 2025.  

 

It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area. However, there are ways in which this proposal 

could be strengthened.  

Page 1111



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

Description and benefits  

 

The council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It has provided a table 

that sets out the current primary age specialist provision available for children with 

emotional health and wellbeing needs and the projected future demand for school 

places for these pupils. The table shows a current deficit in the number of places 

available in relation to the number of places needed. The projections show an 

increase in these numbers over the next few years. The proposed increase in 

capacity would help to reduce this deficit in numbers.  

 

In addition, the condition of the buildings at the Court special school is very poor, 

with ‘unsuitable’ learning environments, which seriously inhibit the school’s capacity 

to deliver the curriculum. Under this proposal, the buildings currently occupied by the 

Court special school would be vacated.  

 

The council has suitably demonstrated that there is sufficient space and capacity at 

the Fairwater primary school site to accommodate pupils and new purpose-built 

accommodation. The council asserts that the current St Mellons, Church in Wales 

primary school site in Llanrumney will be vacant in Autumn 2022 and will transfer to 

ownership of the council at this time. This site is located adjacent to Pen y Bryn 

primary school and the council intends to work closely with both Pen y Bryn primary 

school and the Court special school to ensure that the requirements of the building 

bulletin guidance for schools are met. We feel that this could be further strengthened 

with the addition of information about any adjustments which would need to take 

place to these buildings to ensure that they meet the individual needs of the pupils at 

the Court school. For example:  

• specific considerations around acoustics or lighting and  

• adequate separation from the primary school on the proposed sites.  

 

The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be funded. 

However, it lacks any significant information that details whether any savings will be 

made as a result of the proposal. For example, through a reduction in numbers of 

pupils being placed out of county. The council has provided sufficiently detailed 

descriptions of the proposals and the projected timetable for statutory procedures. 

However, there is no indication of timescales for implementation of the proposal, and 

any proposed interim arrangements, which might be necessary for their 

implementation. Furthermore, the school currently funds a psychotherapist, we 

believe that it would be beneficial to explain how continuity of this provision will be 

secured when the school has higher pupil numbers and is split over different sites.  

 

The council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages of the 

proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of special school 

places to contribute towards meeting projected demand and the establishment of a 

new school building. The potential disadvantages include the difficulties faced by 

some ALN pupils due to the changes and the potential for increased traffic 

Page 1112



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

congestion. We feel that this proposal could be strengthened with the addition of 

more detail illustrating how these changes will be managed to reduce the impact on 

learners currently at the school. For example, a description of the timescale of 

changes and whether they would take place simultaneously or consecutively. In 

addition to this, a plan which demonstrates if any current pupils would be subject to 

more than one school move. These potential changes could have a significant 

impact on the wellbeing and educational outcomes for this cohort and should be 

managed appropriately to reduce their negative impact. The council has outlined 

mitigation measures to address some potential disadvantages. These appear to be 

fair and reasonable. In addition, the council has identified some risks associated with 

the proposed changes and appear to be managing these appropriately.  

 

The council references a feasibility study that explored possible alternative options 

and says that a few alternative sites were considered but were dismissed because of 

issues around access, site constraints, traffic and flood management. However, no 

further detail has been provided regarding this feasibility study.  

 

The council has suitably considered learner travel arrangements as a result of this 

proposal. It states that it is committed to ensuring that every school in Cardiff has an 

‘active travel plan’ which identifies actions by the school to support and encourage 

active travel where appropriate and identifies improvements needed on-site and off-

site to facilitate active journeys. The council iterates that there are no planned 

changes to the council’s policies on admission arrangements and learner travel 

arrangements.  

 

The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal on Welsh 

medium provision within the local authority or how this the proposal would support 

the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks 

generally about Welsh medium education in Cardiff and references some Welsh 

medium schools. It is unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh 

speaking pupils with ALN.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on standards, 

teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance and leadership and 

management. It has concluded that the proposal is not expected to have any 

negative impact on standards of education or teaching and learning experiences. In 

addition, it intends to work with the leadership of both schools to help improve and 

sustain support, care and guidance and ensure that changes are planned carefully 

so that leadership and governance are not disrupted. We feel that this proposal 

could be strengthened by:  

• highlighting how leaders plan to secure the staffing levels needed for such a 

large increase in capacity  

• showing how these staff will be appropriately trained to work with a complex 

cohort of young people  

Page 1113



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

• showing how leadership capacity is not negatively impacted by these 

changes.  

 

The council has included a summary of the last Estyn inspection report for the Court 

special school and Fairwater primary school. Estyn judged that The Court special 

school’s performance and prospects for improvement were both good. Also, all 

inspection areas in Fairwater primary school’s inspection report were judged to be 

good.  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups 

of pupils including those who have ALN, those who receive free school meals and 

those who have English as an additional language. It has stated that those who have 

ALN would be supported to enable them to adapt to the changes proposed and that 

there is no information available to suggest that the proposals would have a negative 

effect on the other vulnerable groups of pupils.  

 

The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been carried out 

and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect a 

particular group in society. However, no details of this assessment have been 

provided.  

 

The council states that a community impact assessment has been undertaken for 

these proposals and provides a link to this assessment. However, there is no such 

document at this link. Also, no comment is made as to the findings from this 

community impact assessment.  

 

The council says that it does not anticipate any negative effect of the proposal on 

any local school. In fact, it believes that the proposal provides an opportunity for staff 

at Fairwater primary school and Pen y Bryn primary school to work more closely with 

specialist services in Cardiff and that this could enhance the schools’ inclusive 

teaching and benefit all pupils in the school. This seems to be a reasonable and fair 

assertion.  

 

The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential disruption to 

pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more generally about ensuring 

that the curriculum continues to be delivered and that high education and safety 

standards are maintained.  

Page 1114



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Estyn response to the proposal to establish a specialist resource base (SRB) 

for primary aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary 

School  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales.  

 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 

associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 

However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 

and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 

organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 

opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals.  

 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 

following response to the information provided by the proposer.  

 

Summary/ Conclusion  

 

This proposal is by Cardiff council. The proposal is to establish a 20 place Specialist 

Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with complex learning needs at 

Moorland primary school from September 2022.  

 

It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It refers to the fact that 

the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a special 

school or specialist resource base has continued to grow in recent years. In addition, 

it asserts that the location of SRBs and wellbeing classes is not well distributed 

across the city.  

 

The council usefully provides a table which shows the number of places currently 

available and the projected future demand for places to support children of primary 

school age with complex learning needs across Cardiff. At present, there are more 

pupils with significant needs who need a place in one of these settings than there are 

places available. The projections show that the number of pupils with complex 

learning needs will continue to grow over the next few years. In addition, the council 

has presented a table that shows that there is sufficient surplus capacity at Moorland 

primary school which is projected to increase over the next few years. The proposal 

is to help meet the demand for primary age specialist provision.  

Page 1115



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The council intends to incorporate providing accommodation for the SRB as part of 

the planned redevelopment works at Moorland primary school. This appears to be a 

fair and appropriate approach.  

 

The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be funded. 

However, it lacks any significant information that details whether any savings will be 

made as a result of the proposal. For example, through a reduction in numbers of 

pupils being placed out of county. The council has provided sufficiently detailed 

descriptions of the proposal and the projected timetable for statutory procedures. 

However, there is no indication of timescales for implementation of the proposal, and 

any proposed interim arrangements, which might be necessary for their 

implementation.  

 

The council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages of the 

proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of specialist resource 

places for primary aged learners with complex learning needs to contribute towards 

meeting projected demand and that some pupils would have shorter travel distances 

to access specialist provision. The potential disadvantages include the difficulties 

faced by some ALN pupils due to the changes and the potential for increased traffic 

congestion. The council has outlined mitigation measures to address the potential 

disadvantages. These appear to be fair and reasonable. In addition, the council has 

identified one risk related to development constraints associated with the proposed 

changes and appear to have sufficient mitigation to address this risk if needed.  

 

The council maintains that there is no SRB provision in Adamsdown and Splott at 

present and that all children in these areas who require placement in an SRB 

currently travel to other areas of the city. It further states that the establishment of 

this provision on other school sites in Adamsdown and Splott was discounted owing 

to accommodation and site limitations. However, no further details have been 

provided to support this statement.  

 

The council has sufficiently considered the impact of the proposal on travel 

arrangements. The proposed SRB on the site of Moorland Primary School would 

reduce the distance travelled to school for children in Adamsdown and Splott who 

require placement in an SRB and who currently travel to other areas of the city. As 

there would be a small number of children arriving by free home to school transport, 

the council intends that appropriate facilities for drop-off and pick-up will be provided 

as part of the proposals. The council iterates that there are no planned changes to 

the council’s policies on admission arrangements and learner travel arrangements.  

 

The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been carried out 

and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect a 

particular group in society. However, no details of this assessment have been 

provided.  

 

Page 1116



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The council states that a community impact assessment has been undertaken for 

these proposals and provides a link to this assessment. However, there is no such 

document at this link. Also, no comment is made as to the findings from this 

community impact assessment.  

 

The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal on Welsh 

medium provision within the local authority or how this the proposal would support 

the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks 

generally about Welsh medium education in Cardiff and references some Welsh 

medium schools. It is unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh 

speaking pupils with ALN.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on standards, 

teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance and leadership and 

management. It has concluded that the proposal is not expected to have any 

negative impact on standards of education or teaching and learning experiences. In 

addition, it intends to work with the leadership of the school to help improve and 

sustain support, care and guidance and ensure that changes are planned carefully 

so that leadership and governance are not disrupted.  

 

The council has included a summary of the last Estyn inspection report for Moorland 

primary school, which was in April 2018. At the time standards, wellbeing and 

attitudes to learning, teaching and learning experience, and leadership and 

management were all judged as good; care, support and guidance was judged as 

excellent.  

 

The council states that the proposal is not expected to have any negative impact on 

the quality of standards of education or the delivery of the foundation phase and 

each key stage of education at the school as a result of the proposed changes. This 

seems to be fair and reasonable.  

 

The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups 

of pupils including those who have ALN, those who receive free school meals and 

those who have English as an additional language. It has stated that those who have 

ALN would be supported to enable them to adapt to the changes proposed and that 

there is no information available to suggest that the proposals would have a negative 

effect on the other vulnerable groups of pupils.  

 

The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential disruption to 

pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more generally about ensuring 

that the curriculum continues to be delivered and that high education and safety 

standards are maintained. 

  

Page 1117



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The Court School Governing Body Response – December 2021 

 

I am writing as Chair of the Court School Governing Body to provide the Governing 

Body’s response to the Council’s proposals for the school in the SCHOOL 

ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: PROVISION FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE WITH ADDITIONAL LEARNING NEEDS (ALN). 

 

In a meeting on 10 November 2021, the Court School Governing Body strongly 

agreed with the proposal to increase the capacity of the school and considered this 

to constitute the best method of taking ahead the education of the children 

concerned. 

 

Given the condition of the Court School site in Llanishen, we also strongly agreed 

with the transfer to new build accommodation on the two sites in Fairwater and 

Llanrumney. 

 

We felt it important to state at this stage that the principle of a maximum number six 

pupils per class should be adopted in the formulation and construction of the school 

buildings with all classes fully and properly resourced. 

 

We would hope that the experience of management and staff at The Court School 

would be utilized in both the physical planning of the two school sites, i.e. space 

standards, outside areas and in the ethos and management of the schools. We 

would also hope that the experience and abilities of the Governing Body will be fully 

utilized as well. 

 

 

Garry Hunt – Chair of Court School Governing Body 

  

Page 1118



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The Court School - HEADTEACHER RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 

REGARDING THE COURT SCHOOL – Deadline date 17th January 2022 

 

I believe that the proposals regarding the Court School are incredibly positive. First 

and foremost, there is clearly a pressing demand for additional Court School places 

and at present we are unable to meet this demand due to the significant 

accommodation issues. The idea of increasing our capacity to 72 is aspirational and 

it makes sense to operate this on the basis of two sites across the city. This way, 

pupils are likely to have stronger links with their communities and may be able to 

consider active travel solutions or spend less time in taxis. I am also very supportive 

of the principle of co-location. Being situated within close proximity to mainstream 

schools will give us opportunities to develop close working relationships with 

colleagues with whom we can share expertise and facilities. We are also really 

excited about the idea of developing strong links with local communities.  

 

This is an exciting opportunity for us to develop into a centre of excellence and 

support schools throughout the city in relation to mental health and trauma informed 

pedagogical approaches. We are very conscious however that class sizes need 

careful consideration and also strongly believe that both sites should be new and 

purpose built.  

 

The views of; pupils, staff, parents/carers, Governing Body and visiting professionals 

need to be carefully considered as they have a huge amount of experience and 

knowledge to impart. In addition, we would like officers to plan and implement 

alongside stakeholders. Staffing structures need careful consideration at this early 

stage and there needs to be a significant period of ‘overlap’ where new staff have the 

opportunity to refine their skills alongside more experienced colleagues. In addition, 

all staff need to have opportunities to grow and develop within the school and need 

access to good quality, sector specific and evidence-based professional 

development. The wellbeing of staff also needs to be prioritised, e.g. excellent staff 

‘rest and restore’ spaces and access to showers, as our sector can be incredibly 

demanding both emotionally and physically. Therefore, we need to be in a position 

where we can attract high quality new staff and retain our skilled and talented 

workforce.  

 

We work with fabulous and incredibly complex/vulnerable children and work 

relentlessly to maximise their potential. From my perspective we need our unique 

and very special provision to grow and develop and I look forward to working with LA 

staff/project managers to make this ambition a reality.    

  

Page 1119



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The Court School - Staff Response to Consultation 

 

Positive 

• Class sizes – please stick to 6 per class 

• An opportunity to build a better future for some of the most vulnerable and 

forgotten about children 

• New infrastructure 

• Building ‘fit for purpose’ therapeutic spaces 

• Purpose built building 

• New build/ new ideas / new vision 

• Environment fit for the learners (deserve better than what is here at the 

moment) 

Concerns 

• Boundaries between the schools 

• Staff recruitment – ideal to have an overlap where new staff can learn from 

current staff 

• We feel like we’ll be given what we’re given and our voices aren’t really going 

to be listened to 

• Kids in their local communities’ school vandalised, kids running home 

• What staff are going to what site? Staff need to be able to plan for things such 

as traffic, child care etc. 

• With the boundaries, will the other school be ok to deal with what they might 

hear? 

• How do we maintain ‘one school’ feel across two sites? 

• We have good links with the village, able to practise ‘life skills’ Will this 

continue? 

 

Opportunities 

• Staff development 

• Becoming a centre of excellence 

• Facilities on-site that could really benefit our pupils – outdoor gym for example 

• TA progression 

• Chance to work with other agencies in a positive way 

• Opportunities for the learners to benefit from ‘proper’ facilities and services 

• Staff to develop/learn new skills 

• Staff team to grow 

• Training opportunities 

 

  

Page 1120



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Fairwater Primary School Governing Body - Initial Consultation Response 

 

The Governing Body fully understand and support the need to increase the capacity 

of The Court Special School, along with the need to relocate the school to a more 

suitable premises. We have met as a Governing Body to discuss the impact the 

proposals on our school. Our collective response is that at this time we are not in a 

position to support the proposals directly involving our school pending clarification of 

the following issues: 

 

1)  Driveway/Access 

a.  Access to the site is already an issue and we have concerns that utilising only 

the current entrance will not offer a satisfactory solution. Would it be possible to 

utilise access from V21 (Bwlch Road) to make a one way in, one way out 

entrance/exit or separate entrance for each school? 

b.  There are concerns around segregation and safeguarding. How will parents 

and children access the two schools independently to ensure safeguarding and 

ensure there are no behavioural issues to protect our children. 

c.  Wellwright Road is already very busy, increased traffic from Taxi's/Buses and 

parents parking would add to this. The residents are already complaining to the 

School and Council regarding the current issues. 

d.  There was a mention of 10-15 extra taxis/minibuses per day, we currently have 

4-5 per day and they (mainly) come before and after pupils start and end their 

day to minimise disruption. How would this be managed with the new school? 

e.  Will you be creating a better entrance for construction traffic and the school to 

segregate the two prior to works starting? 

f.  If construction traffic moves through that entrance will it be outside of core 

school hours (e.g. drop off and pick up)? 

 

2)  Perimeter Fence 

a.  Would the fence be erected before construction works to ensure the security of 

the site and protection of our children from workers/contractors? 

b.  If there needs to be a gap between the new fence and the existing properties, 

what safeguarding put in place to stop residents communicating/talking to the 

children through the fence? 

c.  As above, how would we stop rubbish and grass etc. accumulating, is the 

school responsible for this or the general council landscapers? 

d.  Once the fence is erected, would this define the school boundary in terms of 

responsibility for maintaining the grounds? 

 

3)  Buildings 

a.  We would like clarification of the proposed building location on site so that we 

can understand how much space we would have left (e.g. would we retain the 

sports field) and to ensure enough separation so that the children do not come 

into contact with each other. 

Page 1121



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

b.  Many repairs and improvements have been put off at Fairwater due to the 

possible expansion, will the schools current state be re-evaluated and works 

completed where possible now that the expansion is off the table? 

 

4)  School Organisation 

a.  We support the schools being separated in terms of having individual heads 

and Governing Bodies. We would like more information on how the schools 

could work together to benefit each other although have concerns about the 

impact on our staff (e.g. staff migrating to the other school, jobs etc.) 

b.  Can we speak to another other school that shares a site with a special school 

currently, this may help us understand how they can work together effectively? 

c.  We would like more clarity on what is meant by 'bringing the Court School into 

mainstream' - will our school need to support/be responsible for these children? 

d.  Can you help us understand the range of issues that children at Court school 

have? 

e.  What impact will it have on our current wellbeing unit children, who don't 

currently mix with mainstream? 

f.  What impact will it have on our current mainstream children? 

g.  We recognise that collaborating on ALN practices and expertise etc. between 

schools would be of benefit. 

 

5)  Nursery Provision 

a.  We have been looking at providing a Nursery provision at Fairwater for a 

number of years. This again was put on hold due to possible expansion plans. 

b.  We believe that a Nursery provision will boost numbers into reception (parents 

are currently driven to other school with nurseries) 

c.  This will give us an early indication of ALN issues (better to intervene early) 

d.  We can build communication with parents and start a community prior to joining 

reception 

e.  Currently there is no benefit to the residents of Wellwright road in the proposals 

you have provided, by adding the benefit of a nursery we believe this will make 

the proposals more palatable to them 

f.  We have a demountable building that is very close to the end of its life, we were 

due to spend £11,000 on repairs to the building out of our own money. This 

would provide an opportunity for the Council to help us achieve a Nursery 

provision whilst we can contribute to a replacement demountable building for 

both the Nursery and our developing Community Hub. 

 

We look forward to working with you to explore the various options that we believe 

can benefit both the Court School and Fairwater Primary School. 

 

Regards, 

 

Scott Osborne 

Chair of Governors 

On behalf of the Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

Page 1122



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Pen y Bryn Governing Body 

Please see below response from the Pen y Bryn Governing Body. 

 

Whilst the Governing Body of Pen y Bryn Primary School are in general terms 

supportive of the proposals there are the following concerns which the Governing 

Body would like to highlight. 

 

• The Head teacher and Chair of Governors have been approached to discuss 

the redesignation of a slice of land on the Pen y Bryn site to accommodate the 

Court School proposal.  The slice of land adjacent to the early years area of the 

school has been developed over recent years and now includes a forest school 

area, orchard and planters.  The Governing Body would like to seek 

reassurance that the school would be compensated and those features 

replaced elsewhere on the school site. 

 

• The removal of this slice of land also prohibits planned projects which was to 

install playground equipment on an area of land, and it also cuts through the 

school’s football pitch.  Again the Governing Body would like to seek 

reassurance that the school will be appropriately compensated to ensure the 

development is not to the detriment to the children of Pen Y Bryn. 

 

• Given the close proximity between the early years area of Pen Y Bryn and the 

boundary of the proposed Court School, the Governing Body would like to seek 

clarity on the design of the Court School to ensure the layout allows for suitable 

distance and security between the two schools’ playing areas.  

 

• The Governing Body would also be keen to understand the traffic management 

implications of the site given it fronts onto a narrow road which is often fully 

parked along one side. 

 

• The Governing Body would also like to seek reassurance as to how the safety 

of children in Pen Y Bryn will be ensured during the construction phase of the 

site.  

 

Thanks 

Claire Deguara, 

Chair of Governors on behalf of the Governing Body 

  

Page 1123



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Greenhill School Responses 
 

Response from Local Ward Councillors, Cllr Jayne Cowan, Cllr Adrian Robson 

and Cllr Oliver Owen 

 

Dear Sir/Madam 

 

I am writing on behalf of my colleagues Adrian Robson, Oliver Owen and I. 

 

We are opposed to the proposals for Greenhill Special School. The school continues 

to receive Green Status with Good Improvements and that is in no small part to the 

exceptional teaching at the site, and the positioning of the school and Sixth Form. 

Rhiwbina is a wonderful community and one which supports the school.  

 

We cautiously welcome the additional number of pupils, and look forward to 

receiving the risk assessment relating to the Ty Glas proposals, including which 

other school/businesses etc. will join the school on the site. 

 

We are vehemently opposed to the school being totally removed from Rhiwbina. It 

works well here. It could be rebuilt here. We are also vehemently opposed to part of 

the school being moved to the Garden Centre on a roundabout/junction which is 

exceptionally busy and not suitable. The pupils from the school have considerable 

additional needs and if they left the site, would be in unfamiliar surroundings with 

obvious dangers. 

 

We sincerely hope that the Cabinet will not support this move as it will be highly 

detrimental to the pupils.  

 

Best wishes, 

 

Jayne 

 

  

Page 1124



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Estyn Response - Greenhill School  

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are required to send 

consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body which is required to 

act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements on 

Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 

organisation proposals. Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the 

proposal and has produced the following response to the information provided by the 

proposer.  

 

This consultation is to consider increasing the capacity of Greenhill School for pupils 

with emotional health and wellbeing needs and the transfer of Greenhill School to 

new build accommodation across two sites at the Dutch Garden Centre site, Maes Y 

Bryn Road (near to M4 J30) and Ty Glas Road in Llanishen, with 80 pupils on each 

site from September 2025.  

 

Summary/Consultation  

 

This proposal sits alongside others that seek to achieve a more equitable provision 

to better meet the current and future additional learning needs of pupils, across the 

City and is broadly welcomed.  

 

The proposal would result in a 150% increase in the number of pupils on roll. It is not 

clear which year groups are likely to be most affected by the increase, whether or 

how this increase will be managed over time, or the resultant impact on pupil 

transition or staffing including leadership.  

 

Estyn considers that the proposal is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The proposer has provided a clear rationale for extending the capacity of Greenhill 

School. It articulates clearly how the local authority is unable to meet the demands 

for school places for pupils with emotional and wellbeing needs. However, the 

proposal does not provide clear rationale for developing the school on two separate 

sites, albeit 4 miles apart.  

 

The consultation document states that Greenhill is currently, and will in the future 

continue to be, a mixed sex school and that there are ‘no planned changes’ to the 

admissions policy. The consultation document notes that the pupils currently on roll 

Page 1125



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

are boys. Estyn’s inspection of the school in 2013 noted that all the pupils on roll 

were boys. The consultation does not provide a clear enough account of both 

existing and future provision for girls and whether the needs of girls with emotional 

health and wellbeing needs are being met appropriately.  

 

The proposer states that pupils admitted to Greenhill have a statement of special 

education needs. To comply with the Additional Learning Needs and Education 

Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer needs to consider the admission of pupils with 

individual development plans also.  

 

The proposal includes information on how the local authority categorises their school 

buildings and how the current Greenhill site is not fit for redevelopment as it is rated 

C for condition (Poor with major defects) and D (Very poor) for suitability, with 

‘unsuitable’ learning environments, which seriously inhibit the school’s capacity to 

deliver the curriculum.  

 

The proposal provides sufficient evidence on the projected timescales and how this 

is subject to planning permissions of the two sites and the relevant funding being 

secured. However, less clear is what arrangements will be in place to meet expected 

demand if the proposal does not progress.  

 

The proposal explains well how The Dutch Garden Centre site could be developed. 

The Council’s Cabinet have given permission to acquire the land, the area is 

designated as Green Wedge meaning that the status of the area can be reviewed in 

line with the Local Development Plan. The local authority has already undertaken 

feasibility work and relevant feasibility assessments. The findings of these indicate 

that the design of the school and its landscaping would need to be taken into 

consideration to be consistent with its location.  

 

The Council’s Cabinet has also agreed the acquisition of the Ty Glas site formally 

occupied by HMRC. The proposal sets out well how this provision could 

appropriately support the provision at The Dutch Garden Centre site as well as 

possible mainstream provision.  

 

The proposal explains adequately how any new building would comply with Welsh 

Government funding conditions, such as BREEAM certification. The design process 

however has yet to commence but it does describe how detailed designs would be 

agreed with the headteacher and governing body. The input of children and young 

people into developing plans would be integral to project implementation at all 

stages. There would also be opportunities for stakeholders to comment on detailed 

plans at the pre-planning and planning application stages, should the proposal be 

progressed.  

 

The proposal considers suitable alternatives and outlines the possible benefits, 

disadvantages, and risks, appropriately. Nearly all pupils currently travel to Greenhill 

site by pupil transport provided by the local authority. It is proposed that this would 

Page 1126



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

still be the case for pupils who would attend the Dutch Garden Centre site. However, 

pupils attending the Ty Glas site would have a greater potential to use active travel 

connections, this being of a potential benefit to the pupils. The proposal does 

acknowledge the travel risks of the Dutch Garden Centre site and proposes a 

transport assessment takes place if the consultation is successful.  

 

The proposal lays out well how the cost of the builds would be met and how further 

work will be undertaken to establish whether there would be further savings for those 

pupils who are placed out of county for their education due to the lack of specialised 

school spaces.  

 

The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 

organisations, and members of the public to respond. The process is clearly set out 

with timescales and how the consultation will be used.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

The proposal outlines the intention to increase the number of post-16 places further. 

We welcome this development. It states that the majority of pupils from special 

schools are not able to sustain successful transitions to further education, training or 

employment. However, there are no specific references to the curriculum to be 

offered or any partnership approach to be adopted in meeting the needs of this 

group of learners.  

 

The proposal recognises that for this group of pupils that change, and disruption 

needs to be carefully managed and that plans would need to be implemented to 

support this. It is proposed that the current staff employed at Greenhill School would 

remain which would support this change. The proposal includes how the local 

authority would work with the school, its governing body and parents to ensure that 

the proposed changes would be carefully planned so that governance, leadership 

and pupil welfare and their education would not be disrupted.  

 

The proposal outlines the possibility of Greenhill being used as an alternative to 

placing pupils in out of county provision. However, beyond the statement, no further 

information is provided. Neither is it clear what impact increasing the provision at 

Greenhill will have on other settings that currently make provision for secondary 

aged pupils with emotional health and wellbeing needs.  

 

In considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes, provision and 

leadership and management, the local authority has listed the most recent Estyn 

inspection outcomes and the Welsh Government categorisation outcomes for 

Greenhill School.  

 

The proposal recognises the need for 21st learning environments for its pupils that 

are appropriate and of a high standard to reflect the needs of the ‘Curriculum for 

Wales’ due to be implemented in Welsh Schools in 2022. The new curriculum should 

Page 1127



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

provide breadth, enable greater depth of learning, ensure better progression, provide 

scope for more imaginative and creative use of time and place and a much greater 

emphasis on skills. New and improved school facilities will help support this vision. 

Overall, there is very little detail on the proposed curriculum. Examples have been 

provided on how the Dutch barn site could provide vocational and work-related 

experiences such as horticulture and animal care. However, it is not clear how the 

curriculum will relate to local market information, the role of local providers such as 

further education and training organisations. Also unclear is whether pupils from 

either of the two proposed sites would benefit from the provision that each site could  

offer. The proposal explains well how the current building limits these opportunities 

as well as limiting the number of pupils that can attend.  

 

The proposal states that the new buildings would be fully accessible and compliant 

with the Equality Act 2010. However, the consultation does not outline how the 

council will specifically cater for the needs of children and young people with 

emotional health and wellbeing needs in the design and build of the proposed sites. 

In addition to the facilities included [page 18] the design process should consider 

appropriately how the accommodation, on both sites, will meet the sensory needs of 

pupils. We note that a joint review of health and specialist provision in Cardiff special 

schools and the pupil referral unit will inform the design of specialist provision.  

 

Greenhill School was last inspected by Estyn in March 2013. At this time the school’s 

performance and prospects for improvement were both judged as ‘Good’. An 

assessment provided by the Central South Consortium in autumn 2021 stated that 

many pupils make increasingly rapid progress across the whole curriculum and 

school pupil information clearly indicates that progress rates are successfully 

improving year on year. In the most recent Welsh Government school categorisation 

in January 2020, Greenhill School was categorised as Green. This means that 

Greenhill School is a highly effective school which is well run, has a strong 

leadership and is clear about its priorities for improvement.  

 

The proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language, appropriately. It 

references the implementation of the LA Welsh Language policy. It appears that 

there would be no negative impact on the Welsh language provision for these pupils. 

It does reference the lack of Welsh Language provision for pupils with additional 

learning needs, however this proposal does not address this shortfall. 

  

Page 1128



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Greenhill School Governing Body Response 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

As Chairman of Governors at Greenhill Special School, we have undertaken a 

meeting with the Council to discuss the issues relating to the consultation and have 

expressed our concerns. 

 

For completeness :- 

 

1 We are not opposed to the increase in size of the school. 

 

2 We cautiously welcome the Ty Glas Site, but wish to see further details such as 

detailed risk assessments relating to the site, and what else is proposed before 

passing a firm judgement. 

 

3 We are vehemently opposed to the old Garden Centre Site - it’s location is on a 

motorway junction/roundabout and is not suitable for a school with the needs of our 

pupils.  

 

4 We have built a wonderful new 6th form on the site of the existing school, and we 

wish to see this site developed to host most of the pupils.  

 

Thanks 

 

Jayne Cowan 

  

Page 1129



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Greenhill School Response 

 

This is the school’s response to the new build proposals for Greenhill Special 

School. 

 

When we consider the sites we would like to make the following comments. The two 

sites, one with a rural situation which is perfect for all aspects of forest schools’ 

education and the other with an urban situation within the same post code of the 

current school, is perfect for travel training, visiting shops and providing services for 

the community.  

 

We do, however, have a few concerns which we would like to voice at this juncture. 

The Garden Centre site which is eight acres, is a perfect size and has great potential 

for the students of Greenhill but the proximity of the motor way raises concerns that 

we hope to overcome working together with Local Authority as there are access 

issues. We would also hope that the local Authority would be able to re-direct some 

of the bus routes as currently the bus route does not extend to the site. This would 

help to make the site more accessible to parents and some of the students who are 

able to travel independently.  

 

Travel between the two schools would also need careful consideration. If staff were 

required to teach in both venues there are the issues of timings and traffic delays to 

consider which would impact the school day. I realise this is largely a timetabling and 

management issue for the school but is something we should consider from the 

outset.  

 

On the whole however, the garden centre site with its rural aspect, overall size of 

eight acres, gang neutral postcode will provide a good site for a 21st century 

specialist provision for students with severe and complex social emotional and 

mental health issues. 

 

The CF14 venue is a good site for a specialist provision for SMEH students. 

However, we are aware that there will be a mainstream secondary school on the 

same site and this may cause issues. The shared boundary needs careful thought 

and planning, as does the positioning of the school buildings. 

 

The proposed size of the site (of five acres) is considered to be a little tight but again 

with careful planning and thought will be workable. Perhaps the size of the site is 

something that could be discussed at a later date. Furthermore, we would also like to 

stress that it is not appropriate for Greenhill School to share facilities with a 

mainstream school and will be pleased to receive further reassurances that Greenhill 

Special School will not share any facilities with the mainstream school.  

 

Lastly, 

 

Page 1130



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The opportunity to expand the provision on two purpose built sites is unquestionably 

a once in a life time opportunity. The new sites with bespoke facilities for vocational 

education, specialist resource rooms for the new Welsh curriculum, therapy and 

conference facilities, opportunities for forest schools’ experiences and travel training 

will help to future proof education for this very vulnerable section of society. As 

senior staff we look forward to working with the build team to help design the new 

school and the facilities of the campuses. We hope that we will see the school’s 

vision materialised as we seek to provide a therapeutic approach to education.  

 

We hope that you find the above comments to be constructive and helpful. We 

realise that some of these issues may be considered to be ‘school management’ 

issues but we thought it would be best to raise these concerns at the outset so that 

we can seek your advice and work together on a positive way forward.  

 

We are grateful to have the opportunity to be part of this exciting new chapter for 

Greenhill Special School and appreciate the efforts being made by the Local 

Authority and New Build Team to consult with us at these initial steps. 

 

Yours faithfully  

 

Shane Mock   Phillip Haynes  Donna Jones 

Headteacher   Deputy Headteacher Assistant Headteacher 

  

Page 1131



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cardiff West Community High School and Eastern High School 

Responses 
 

Estyn Response – Cardiff West Community High School and Eastern High 

School 

 

Introduction  

 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 

Training in Wales. Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation 

(Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are required to send 

consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body which is required to 

act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements on 

Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 

consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 

organisation proposals. Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the 

proposal and has produced the following response to the information provided by the 

proposer.  

 

This consultation is to consider the demand for specialist resource base places for 

pupils aged 11 – 19 with emotional and wellbeing needs it is proposed to:  

•  establish a 20 place specialist resource base at Cardiff West Community 

High School from September 2022  

•  establish a 20 place specialist resource base at Eastern High from 

September 2022  

 

Summary/Conclusion  

 

This proposal sits alongside others that seek to achieve a more equitable provision 

to better meet the current and future additional learning needs of pupils across the 

City.  

 

The proposals outline very clearly five broad principles that all schools and settings 

should aspire to and attain in effectively supporting pupils with additional learning 

needs. These principles include the need for an innovative curriculum and whole 

school approaches to teaching and learning, the need to identify pupils’ needs early 

and to implement research informed interventions, school accommodation that is 

sufficiently flexible in it use to meet pupils’ needs, strong partnerships including 

access to excellent specialist services and, effective multi-agency transition 

planning.  

 

It is not clear however, if there is an overall framework that will help to ensure the 

realisation of the principles. An overall framework could be used also to guide and 

assist schools that are either establishing or developing specialist resource base 

provision. Neither is it clear what support or networks exist, or will be created, to 

support leaders and staff as they develop and embed effective practices in meeting 

Page 1132



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

the needs of pupils. The proposer doesn’t provide sufficient information on the 

accommodation, facilities or resources that will be available for the specialist 

resource base provision in either school.  

 

We note [from the proposal for Greenhill School] that a joint review of health and 

specialist provision in Cardiff special schools and the pupil referral unit is being 

carried out. However, it is not clear if the scope and outcomes of the review will 

benefit pupils in specialist resource bases across the city.  

 

On the basis of the latest information, we have reservations about increasing the 

capacity of any current provision or establishing a new specialist provision in 

Western High School. With regards to Eastern High School, we consider that the 

proposals are likely to, at least, maintain the standard of education provision in the 

area.  

 

Description and benefits  

 

The proposal states very clearly that the number of children and young people 

requiring specialist placement because of their learning disabilities has been 

increasing in Cardiff over the last 5 years and demand is predicted to increase 

further over the coming years. The local authority wishes to increase the number of 

places available in specialist resource bases, in mainstream schools, to address this 

planned increase. The proposal gives appropriate attention to the current capacity 

and how it is unable to meet the demands for school places for pupils with emotional 

health and wellbeing needs and the deficit of places currently available.  

 

The proposer defines specialist resource bases as “a small class in a mainstream 

school for pupils with significant additional learning needs. All pupils attending a 

specialist resource base have a statement of SEN and are taught by specialist 

teachers and learning support assistants, and have opportunities to learn, play or 

socialise with other mainstream pupils…” The recognition with pupils will be able to 

access learning and lessons, where appropriate, alongside their mainstream peers is 

welcome. To comply with the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal 

[Wales] Act the proposer needs to consider the admission of pupils with individual 

development plans.  

 

The proposal considers that the current available provision is not well distributed 

across the city and because of the lack of specialist resource bases in some 

localities this can be a disadvantage for these pupils due to travel and unfamiliarity in 

the area. The proposal implies that a better distribution of specialist resource bases 

across the city would improve access for these pupils.  

 

The proposal appears to provide effective opportunities for stakeholders, 

organisations, and members of the public to respond. This includes opportunities to 

access online public meetings. The process is clearly set out with timescales and 

how the consultation will be used.  

Page 1133



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

The proposal for Cardiff West High School is to establish a specialist resource base 

for up to 20 pupils with emotional health and wellbeing needs. However, according to 

table 6 of the consultation document, the authority has, since 2018, made provision 

for pupils and increased the number accessing the provision in 2021-2022. It 

appears that the authority is seeking therefore, to increase capacity further to the 

stated 20 funded places.  

 

The proposal outlines that Cardiff West is rated A for condition and A for suitability 

which means the condition of the school is good and operating efficiently and there 

are good facilities suitable for teaching, learning and wellbeing in school. The 

proposal identifies clearly how there is capacity within the school to accommodate 

the specialist resource provision. The site, and local infrastructure off-site, would 

support the development of specialist provision. However, the proposal does not 

provide more specific detail and how the provision is suitable for the needs of the 

identified group of pupils. The new building is fully accessible and compliant with the 

Equality Act 2010. The proposal goes on to state that the site would support the 

development of “special school” provision. We assume this to mean specialist 

resource base provision as opposed to special school provision.  

 

The proposal for Eastern High is also to establish a 20-place provision for pupils with 

emotional health and wellbeing needs aged 11-19. The proposal indicates that the 

provision is to be accommodated initially in buildings shared by Eastern High and 

Cardiff and the Vale college, with later work to be undertaken to provide additional 

accommodation and facilities. The proposal doesn’t provide any further information 

on the additional accommodation or facilities or the detrimental impact on not having 

them for those pupils initially accepted into the provision.  

 

Table 11 of the proposal provides for Eastern Hight provides a clear indication of the 

phased nature of the provision. Initially five places will be allocated in 2022 

increasing to 20 by 2025.  

 

Statements made by the proposer, for both schools about for example, teaching and 

learning experience, and care, support and guidance are generic and do not provide 

a good enough account of how these are/will be tailored to meet the specific 

additional learning needs of the pupils.  

 

The proportion of pupils with additional learning needs in both schools is 

considerably higher than the national average.  

 

The proposal considers suitable alternatives, for both schools, and outlines the 

possible benefits, disadvantages, and risks, appropriately.  

 

The proposals consider appropriately the travel implications for pupils. There is a 

general statement around the likelihood of reducing travel time from home to school. 

The proposal implies that pupils at the specialist resource bases will be individually 

Page 1134



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

assessed to determine whether school transport is provided. The proposal also 

identifies the need further assess the suitability of drop-off and pick up point at each 

school site.  

 

The overall proposal considers the provision for the Welsh language, appropriately. It 

references the implementation of the LA Welsh Language policy. It appears that 

there would be no negative impact on the Welsh language provision for these pupils. 

It does reference the lack of Welsh Language provision for pupils with additional 

learning needs, however this proposal does not address this shortfall.  

 

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 

In considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of outcomes, provision and 

leadership and management, the Local Authority has listed the most recent Estyn 

inspection outcomes and the Welsh Government categorisation outcomes for 

schools.  

 

Estyn inspected Cardiff West in 2019 and judged that, for all five inspection areas, 

the school was adequate and needs improvement. As a result, the school was 

placed in the category of Estyn review. The inspection did note that “…the school 

supports pupils with additional learning needs appropriately and that leaders identify 

and plan effective support to enable these pupils to attend school regularly and 

access suitable learning pathways…” the inspection report also noted that “…the 

school supports pupils with emotional and social needs well…” We reviewed the 

progress of the school in December 2021 and determined that the school had not 

made sufficient progress to be removed from the follow up category. We noted that, 

according to the most up-to-date published data that attendance of pupils with 

special educational needs had worsened, that the rate of exclusion is significantly 

higher than in other Cardiff secondary schools. We will be reviewing the school again 

in the summer term 2022.  

 

In the most recent Welsh Government school categorisation in January 2020, Cardiff 

West Community High School was categorised as Red (A school in need of greatest 

improvement and will receive immediate, intensive support). The proposal does 

acknowledge that this is a concern, however an assessment carried out by Central 

South Consortium in autumn 2021 claims that the school is making progress and has 

an improving track record in raising pupil outcomes including those of vulnerable 

pupils. There have also been clear improvements in attitudes to learning. The 

proposal claims that standards at Cardiff West Community High School are 

improving.  

 

We inspected Eastern High in 2014 and judged overall that the school’s current 

performance and prospects for improvement to be unsatisfactory. The school was 

placed in special measures. We have continued to monitor the progress of the 

school and in 2017 it was removed from special measures. In our 2017 report we 

noted that a coherent and systematic approach to pupils’ wellbeing has resulted in 

Page 1135



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

improvements in pupils’ behaviour, attendance and attitudes to learning. We also 

noted that in many lessons learning activities are matched well to pupils’ ability and 

that pupils are challenged successfully. By 2017, the school had made strong 

progress in raising standards and improving pupils’ literacy and numeracy skills.  

 

In the most recent school categorisation in January 2020, Eastern High was 

categorised as a yellow school [an effective school which is already doing well and 

knows the areas it needs to improve].  

 

The proposer asserts that establishing a specialist resource base in both schools 

would provide appropriate high quality school places for young people with emotional 

health and wellbeing needs. The proposal is not expected to have any negative 

impact on the quality of standards of education at the school.  

 

The proposer states that there is an opportunity to employ specialist staff and to 

work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff. However, no further detail is 

provided and there is no guarantee that the opportunity will translate into a firm 

commitment or reality.  

 

The proposer correctly asserts that pupils with additional learning needs may find 

change difficult. Other than recognising that change needs to be carefully planned, 

information on transition planning is very limited.  

  

Page 1136



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cardiff West Community High School Governing Body 

 

Good afternoon 

 

I am responding formally to the consultation on Cardiff West ALN increased capacity 

as Chair of the Governing Body following our consultation meeting with officers on 

26th January 2022. 

 

The governing body support the formalisation of the 20 additional ALN places at 

Cardiff West CHS for our students with emotional health and wellbeing needs. We 

discussed our concerns with you in detail at this meeting and agreed a site visit by 

Richard Portas after our imminent ESTYN visit would be the best way forward. 

Whilst of course we are very fortunate with our new build and the facilities that offers, 

we do have concerns about balancing the needs of all our students and how we can 

protect our most vulnerable students whilst ensuring we’re as inclusive as possible. 

We wish to give further thought to where these students are physically located on 

site for their own health, safety and wellbeing. We would also want to consider break 

times and other aspects of the school day routine to ensure the best possible 

experience for all our students. We understand that currently these places are taken 

by students within our own catchment area and would want to see this continue as 

far as possible. Should this extend throughout the city, we would have concerns 

around additional traffic on site and undermining our active travel plans. We have 

worked hard to embed the school in the local community and will continue with this 

important work. We also have to balance the needs of these students with other 

groups and growth plans. 

 

As this is a formalisation of the current situation, we don’t have any concerns 

regarding appropriate staffing and associated costs. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Karen Dell’Armi  

 

  

Page 1137



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cardiff West Community High School – Headteacher Response 

 

 

Good Morning, 

 

I welcome the ideas in the consultation and we have worked well with the LA to 

establish an effective SRC after a challenging start. My main concerns centre around 

space in the building. The SRC was never in the original build design and uses 3 

rooms in the ALN area. The school has grown rapidly and we are short of space. 

Inevitably, the original capacity and what we need now as needs have changed are a 

real sticking point. Given our context, the notion of rooms with 30 pupils in does not 

work in many cases. For example, our post 16 area houses our internal PRU – this 

takes up 4 rooms. Without this, we would not meet pupil needs. In addition, we 

would like to look at some financial resource to link a member of the LT to the base 

to ensure that we can continue to grow the SRC and work even more effectively with 

the LA. In addition, it would support the development of inclusion in the school. 

 

Thanks 

 

Martin 

 

  

Page 1138



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Responses Received in Relation to the ALN Proposals 
 

Ysgol Glan Morfa – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Dear Sir / Madam, 

 

I am writing to you in response to Cardiff Council’s ALN consultation to increase the 

number of special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3-19. 

 

Firstly, I would like to say that we welcome the investment in the city’s ALN provision 

to our most vulnerable learners. Cardiff Council should accept high praise for 

prioritising excellent resources and growing staff specialism in areas of most need. 

Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and workforce capacity 

to respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

We are also pleased that more Welsh speakers are part of the council’s ALN team 

and we would like to thank all the staff that have worked closely with us. Their work 

and support is greatly appreciated and valued by us all. 

 

However, we do have some concerns about the consultation. The consultation is not 

consistent with the recent Welsh in Education Strategic Plan which noted the 

council’s ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium Schools in the 

primary sector and a further three SRB in the secondary sector. 

 

It is also important to note that investment in one sector only (English Medium) 

encourages parents and families to transfer ALN pupils to the English sector where 

the investment and resources are superior. 

 

Investment is needed in the Welsh Medium Sector in order to ensure parity of 

provision and full inclusion within Welsh Medium Schools. An urgent audit is also 

required in the primary sector in order to ascertain the correct numbers. It is not clear 

how the conclusion reached that the English Medium Sector has a growing need but 

the Welsh Medium Sector does not. Was the Welsh Medium Sector consulted in this 

research? There are specific cases involving ALN children from Glan Morfa having 

no choice but to access English medium provision. This has caused real concern to 

parents, and to the school, about whether this is the best outcome for the children in 

question. We would be happy to discuss details of these cases in confidence if that 

would be helpful. 

 

We also feel that there is a lost opportunity when establishing and building new 

Welsh Medium Primary schools that due consideration hasn’t taken place for an 

inclusion of an ALN provision. Newly established SRB (Schools Resource Base) 

seems to be an afterthought and are put into existing buildings rather than a 

purpose-built setting. We encourage Cardiff Council when looking at future plans to 

build new school buildings for Ysgol Pen-y-Pil and Ysgol Nant Caerau to look into 

establishing a fit for purpose permanent home to these SRB’s. 

Page 1139



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

We look forward to your response. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Mr M Tomos & Mr A Regan 

Headteacher and Chair of Governors. 

 

  

Page 1140



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd – Governing Body 

 

27 January 2022 

 

Dear Colleague 

 

Re: Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation 

 

I am writing on behalf of the Governing Board of Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd to 

state our dissatisfaction with the lack of provision within the Welsh-medium sector in 

the above consultation. 

 

Firstly, I would like to point out that we acknowledge and welcome the 

recommendations and the increase in capacity for the English-medium sector and 

fully support the provision for the most vulnerable pupils in our communities but there 

is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and wellbeing and behaviour 

within the Welsh-medium sector. 

 

This consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff WESP consultation 

where the opening of three primary specialist centres and three secondary specialist 

centres is mentioned. 

 

We are concerned that investment in mainly one sector (English) can encourage 

families/parents to move ALN children to an English medium sector where provision 

and investment is best. Investment in the Welsh-medium sector is needed to ensure 

equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's schools. 

 

There needs to be a current and immediate audit to the needs of pupils in the 

primary Welsh-medium sector. The documentation shows an increasing need within 

the English-medium sector, but NOT in the Welsh-medium sector. How was this 

outcome reached? 

 

Opportunities to expand ALN provision were missed by the establishment of 

specialist classes or units when new Welsh-medium schools were built in the city. As 

a result, it is unfair to say that the lack of suitable space / placements within the 

Welsh-medium schools is a reason not to increase the specialist provision for the 

Welsh-medium sector. 

 

We wish to make a request under the Freedom of Information Act to access the data 

used for the proposed Scheme. 

 

Yours sincerely 

Rhodri Elis Jones 

Chair 

Board of Governors of Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 

  

Page 1141



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal – Governing Body 

 

ALN Consultation Document 2021/2022 

Thursday 27th January 2022 

 

With reference to the ALN Proposals Consultation Document this is the response 

from the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal. 

 

The Consultation Process Undertaken by the Governing Body 

• The ALN Proposals Consultation Document was made available to all the 

governors on our governing body to review and consider. 

• A presentation was made by Mrs Lisa Mead, Headteacher of Ysgol 

Gymraeg Glan Ceubal, to the governing body meeting held on Thursday 

20th January 2022. This presentation was a summary of the discussions of 

the heads of Welsh Medium schools within Cardiff. 

• The governing body discussed the points raised in this presentation. 

 

The Key Points discussed.   Cardiff local authority proposes to increase the 

number of special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3 – 

19 with complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions and the reasons for 

these proposed changes. 

1. These proposals include:  

Ysgol Arbennig Ty Gwyn o 198 i 240 o Fedi 2022  

Ysgol Arbennig Meadowbank o 40 i 98  o Fedi 2022 

Ysgol Arbennig Hollies o 90 i 119 o Fedi  2022  

Ysgol Arbennig Hollies o 119 i 150 o Fedi 2023  

 CAA (Canolfan Adnoddau Srbenigol)  yn Llanishen Fach Primary School 

o 20 i 30 lle o Fedi 2023  

CAA yn Marlborough Primary School o 20 i 30 o Fedi 2022  

CAA yn Pentrebane Primary School o 20 i 24 lle o Fedi 2022  

CAA yn Springwood Primary School  o 20 i 28 o Fedi 2022 

 

 

Cynyddu niferoedd: (anghenion dwys Uwchradd)  

❖  CAA Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys Newydd o 70 i 100 o Fedi 2022   

❖  Sefydlu CAA gyda lle i 30 yn Ysgol Uwchradd Willows o Fedi 2023 

Cynyddu lleoliadau ar gyfer cyflwr awtistiaeth: 

❖  CAA Ysgol Uwchradd Llanishen o 20 i 45 o Fedi 2022 

❖  CAA Canolfan Marion o 42 i 66 o Fedi 2022 

❖  Sefydlu CAA (30 lle) yn Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf ochr yn ochr a 

Canolfan Arbenigol presennol (30 lle) o Fedi 2023  

 

To Increase the designated number of places to : 

❖  Ty Gwyn Special School from 198 to 240 from Sept 2022  

❖  Meadowbank Special School from 40 to 98 from Sept 2022 

❖  The Hollies Special School from 90 to 119 from Sept 2022  

Page 1142



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

❖  The Hollies Special School from 119 to 150 from Sept 2023  

❖  SRB at Llanishen Fach Primary School from 20 to 30 places from Sept 

2023  

❖  SRB at Marlborough Primary School from 20 to 30 from Sept 2022  

❖  SRB at Pentrebane Primary School from 20 to 24 spaces from Sept 2022  

❖  SRB at Springwood Primary School from 20 to 28 from Sept 2022 

❖  

Increase the designated number: (complex needs Secondary )  

❖  SRB at Whitchurch High School from 70 to 100 from Sept 2022   

❖  Establish a 30 place SRB at Willows High School from Sept 2023 

Increase number of Autism Spectrum Condition: 

❖  SRB at Llanishen High School from 20 to 45 from Sept 2022 

❖  SRB at The Marion Centre from 42 to 66 from Sept 2022 

❖  Establish a 30 place Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place SRB from Sept 2023  

 

 

Er fod 2 ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg  (Nant Caerau a Pen y Pil) ar restr ysgolion 

buddsoddiad Band B yr AALl mae hefyd nifer o ysgolion / unedau ADY cyfrwng 

Saesneg ar y rhestr fuddsoddiad. Sef: 

Ysgol Y Llys (ysgol ymddygiadol)  

Ysgol Riverbank (ysgol gynradd darpariaeth cymysg ADY / anghenion cymhleth) 

Ysgol Woodlands (ysgol uwchradd ADY cymhleth / ASD) 

Ysgol Greenhill (ysgol uwchradd ymddygiadol) 

Felly mae buddsoddiad dwbl yn y ddarpariaeth ADY cyfrwng Saesneg e.e. y cynigion 

newydd + buddsoddiad Band B. 

 

Although there are 2 Welsh-medium schools (Nant Caerau a Pen y Pil) on the LEA's 

Band B investment schools list, there are also several English-medium ALN schools / 

units on the investment list. They are: 

The Court School (emotional / behavioural school) 

Riverbank Special School (primary school with mixture of complex needs / ASD) 

Woodlands (secondary school complex learning needs / ASD) 

Greenhill (secondary behavioural)  

There is therefore double investment in English medium ALN provision e.g., these 

new proposals + Band B investment   

 

YGCC Comments. Whilst the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal 

recognise and support the need for an increase of ALN provision throughout the city, 

we are are concerned that the opportunity to provide additional provision for pupils in 

Welsh Medium school has not been taken in these proposals.   We would therefore 

ask that this be addressed in the consultation discussions prior to a formal decision 

is made by the council. 

• We therefore agree with the headteachers of the city’s Welsh Medium 

Schools when they state in their response document. 

 

Page 1143



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cefnogaeth llwyr i fuddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein 

cymunedau.  Canmoliaeth uchel i'r Cyngor Sir i fuddsoddi  yn y gynhaliaeth orau 

ac yn gritigol i dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau arbenigol mewn meysydd o 

alw clir.  Mae sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn creu capasiti arbenigol o ran 

adnoddau a'r gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes 

hwn.  

• Warm support to invest in resources for some of our most vulnerable 

learners.  High praise for the County Council for prioritizing excellent 

resources and critically to grow staff specialism in areas of most 

need.  Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and 

workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in this 

area. 

 

However, these are the concerns made by the Welsh Medium headteachers that 

we, as governors of Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal, agree with: 

• Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd a thair 

canolfan arbenigol uwchradd. 

• Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog teuluoedd / 

rhieni i symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r ddarpariaeth 

a'r buddsoddiad orau. 

• This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted 

the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the 

Primary sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

• Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / 

families to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and 

resources are superior. 

 

 

• Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau 

darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion y sector.  

• Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen 

cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg – sut daethpwyd i'r canlyniad hwn a sut cafodd y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

• Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure 

parity of provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  

• A recent and urgent audit is necessary to ascertain ALN within the WM 

sector (especially in the Primary sector). The documentation demonstrates 

a growing need within the EM sector but not in the WM sector.  How was 

this conclusion reached and how was the WM sector included in this 

research?  

 

Page 1144



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

• Diffyg darpariaeth clir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion 

y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) 

• Diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn sawl 

ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau 

addas  

• Lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and 

behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• Lack of space / classes in schools to establish nurture / wellbeing classes 

within most settings due to lack of spaces within WM schools 

 

• Collwyd cyfleoedd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY mewn ysgolion 

newydd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y ddinas. 

• Angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu 

capasiti ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu (Fel sy'n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

• Lost opportunities of establishing new WM primary schools without due 

consideration and inclusion of ALN provision.  

• Clear need to invest in specialist bases to grow specialist ALN support 

within the workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

 

 

• Angen rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol 

o fewn y gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

• Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector 

cynradd, yn enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr 

uwchradd.   

• A rich programme of specialist training opportunities is needed within the 

WM sector. 

• The lack of consideration of autism support within the WM primary sector 

is apparent especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in 

the secondary sector.  

 

In Conclusion. 

Our school is within a community that has a strong and developing Welsh language 

and Welsh culture base.  We have a diverse population within the community with 

pupils speaking Welsh within school and English at home, whilst other families speak 

as their first language.   Cardiff local authority plans for the development of education 

within the city acknowledge this and the need for additional places for children 

needing Additional Learning Needs provision 

   

However, we believe that the council, the education authority, and their officers must 

be far more aware of the need for pupils to receive ALN education and support 

through the medium of the Welsh language.  These pupils and their parents have 

chosen to receive their education through Welsh, but these proposals do not seem to 

Page 1145



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

provide adequate ALN places and support for those pupils who are Welsh speaking 

and who have additional learning needs.  

We as a governing body hope that this can be addressed before the provisions in the 

consultation document is implemented. 

 

 

David Saunders 

Chair of the Governors:  Ysgol Gymraeg Glan Ceubal. 

 

  

Page 1146



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Pencae – Chair of Governing Body 

 

Fel Cadeirydd Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Pencae, hoffwn gefnogi eich ymrwymiad i 

fuddsoddi mewn adnoddau ar gyfer rhai o’n dysgwyr mwyaf bregus ar draws y Ddinas. 

Mae sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hon yn creu adnoddau arbenigol a gallu gweithlu 

i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y meysydd hyn.  Gyda hyn mewn golwg 

felly, mae hi’n siom anferthol fy mod yn gorfod mynegi fy mhryder dwys ynghylch y 

diffyg darpariaeth ar gyfer ADY mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ar draws y Ddinas. 

Mewn gwirionedd efallai mai'r sioc fwyaf yw nad yw'r ddogfen hon yn adlewyrchu 

bwriadau CSGA Caerdydd. Yr wyf yn digwydd bod yn aelod o’r pwyllgor hwn ac mae’n 

syfrdanol bod diffyg croesgyfeirio a chyfathrebu wedi arwain at y sefyllfa hon.  

 

Mae'r Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg yn nodi'n glir yr uchelgais i greu tair 

uned arbenigol yn y sector Cynradd a thair arall yn y sector Uwchradd. Gan fod 

Caerdydd yn gweithio tuag at gefnogi uchelgais Llywodraeth Cymru o filiwn o 

siaradwyr, mae’r cymorth hwn yn hollbwysig er mwyn darparu’r sylfeini angenrheidiol 

i ganiatáu’r cyfle hwn i bob disgybl heb ragfarn. I fynd â hyn gam ymhellach, mae’r 

ddarpariaeth Gymraeg yn y Ddeddf ADY yn anelu at fod yn system ddwyieithog o 

gefnogi ac amddiffyn plant sydd angen darpariaeth ddysgu ychwanegol yn y Gymraeg 

ac mae’n nodi’n glir y dylid cymryd pob cam rhesymol i sicrhau bod yr hawl hon ar gael 

i blant. Gan symud hyn gam ymhellach, mae Caerdydd yn rhagweithiol iawn o ran 

cefnogi hawliau’r plentyn ac yn unol â’r hawliau hyn, mae Erthyglau 28, 29 a 30 yn ei 

gwneud yn berffaith glir bod darpariaeth ADY yn iaith y plentyn ei hun yn hawl 

gyffredinol fel y’i cydnabyddir gan y Cenhedloedd Unedig. 

 

Yn syml iawn, mae’r anghydbwysedd mewn buddsoddiad rhwng y sector Cymraeg a’r 

sector Saesneg  yn gwthio rhieni/teuluoedd i drosglwyddo eu plant i’r sector Saesneg 

er mae derbyn y gefnogaeth angenrheidiol. Mae’n rhaid felly buddsoddiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau cydraddoldeb ar sail darpariaeth a 

chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

 

Nid yw'n ymddangos bod y niferoedd ar gyfer anghenion cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer 

ADY wedi'u pennu ar y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf a byddai'n ddefnyddiol cynnal awdit o 

angen at y diben hwn. O'r hyn yr wyf wedi canfod o'r ddogfen ymgynghori, mae'n 

ymddangos nad oes digon o ddarpariaeth  o ran iechyd emosiynol a lles ac ymddygiad 

o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion ar gam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion 

y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd ). Rwy’n meddwl, pan adeiladwyd yr ysgolion cynradd 

Cymraeg newydd, y dylai cydnabyddiaeth o ofynion ADY fod wedi bod yn rhan o’r 

broses gynllunio. Yn hytrach na cholli rhagor o gyfleoedd, mae’n amlwg bod angen i 

Gaerdydd i fuddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn cynyddu cymorth ADY 

arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu, fel sy'n digwydd yn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y 

ddinas.  

 

Rwyf hefyd yn credu yn gryf bod angen i ASD gael sylw mwy penodol ar gyfer ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn seiliedig ar ein profiadau ein hunain yn Ysgol Pencae. Byddwn 

yn dadlau bod diffyg ystyriaeth i gymorth awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd cyfrwng 

Page 1147



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cymraeg yn amlwg, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â sefydlu sylfaen cymorth awtistiaeth 

yn y sector uwchradd. 

 

Ysgrifennwyd y llythyr hwn yn rhannol oherwydd rhwystredigaeth bod yn rhaid i 

ysgolion Cymraeg frwydro unwaith eto dros gydraddoldeb o fewn eu Prifddinas eu 

hunain. Gallaf ddweud yn hyderus ein bod bob amser yn awyddus i sefydlu 

partneriaeth agos gyda'r awdurdod lleol ac yn eiddgar cefnogi  Fforwm o ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector ac arweinyddiaeth 

yr awdurdod lleol. 

 

Credaf, heb ymateb boddhaol i’r pryderon hyn, bydd rhaid codi hyn gyda Gweinidog 

y Gymraeg ac Addysg Llywodraeth Cymru er mwyn ei fod yn gwbl ymwybodol o’r 

gwahaniaeth sy’n bodoli rhwng y sector Cymraeg a Saesneg yng Nghaerdydd. Mae 

pob plentyn yn gyfartal, mae gan bob plentyn hawliau a dylai’r hawl i ddarparu 

cymorth dysgu ychwanegol yn iaith y plentyn fod yn gasgliad rhagdybiedig ond yn 

anffodus mae hyn ymhell o fod yn wir. 

Edrychaf ymlaen at gael ateb wrthoch chi y bydd yn lleddfu rhai, os nad y cyfan o’m 

pryderon. 

 

 

As Chair of the Governing Body of Ysgol Pencae I would like to express our support 

for your commitment to invest in resources for some of our most vulnerable learners 

across the City.  Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and 

workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in these 

areas.  With this in mind it is therefore with great disappointment that I have to express 

my concern at the lack of provision for ALN in Welsh-medium schools across the 

City.  In fact, perhaps the greatest shock is that this document doesn’t reflect the 

intentions of Cardiff’s WESP.  I happen to be a member of this committee and it is 

astounding that a lack of cross-referencing and poor communication has led to this 

position.  

 

The WESP clearly indicates the ambition to create three specialist units in the Primary 

sector and a further three in the Secondary sector.  As Cardiff is working towards 

supporting the Welsh Government ambition of a million speakers, this support is 

crucial in providing the necessary foundations to allow all pupils without bias this 

opportunity. To take this a step further, the Welsh language provision in the ALN Act 

aims to be a bilingual system of support and protects children who need additional 

learning provision in Welsh and it states clearly that all reasonable steps should be 

taken to ensure that this right is provided. Moving this a step further, Cardiff is very 

proactive in support of the rights of the child and in accordance with these rights, Article 

28, 29 and 30 make it perfectly clear that ALN provision in a child’s own language is a 

universal right as recognised by the United Nations. 

 

Quite simply, the imbalance in Investment in one sector (English Medium) encourages 

parents / families to transfer ALN pupils to that sector where the investment and 

resources are more readily available thus decreasing the numbers of pupils in Welsh-

Page 1148



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

medium schools.  Investment is therefore crucial within the Welsh-medium sector in 

order to ensure parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  

 

The numbers for Welsh-medium needs for ALN don’t seem to be based on up-to-date 

information and it would be helpful to hold an audit of need for this purpose. From what 

I have ascertained from the consultation document, there seems to be a lack of clear 

provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and behaviour within the Welsh-

medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream 

provision).  I think when the new Welsh primaries were built, a recognition of ALN 

requirements should have been part of the planning process.  Rather than miss any 

more opportunities, it is apparent that Cardiff has a clear need to invest in specialist 

bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce, as happens in the 

English-medium sector across the city.  

 

I also strongly believe that ASD needs more specific attention for Welsh-medium 

schools based on our own experiences in Ysgol Pencae. I would argue the lack of 

consideration of autism support within the Welsh-medium primary sector is apparent, 

especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in the secondary sector. 

 

This letter is written in part out of frustration that once again Welsh-medium schools 

have to fight for equality within their own Capital City.  I can say with confidence that 

we are always eager to establish a close partnership with the local authority and 

eagerly support the Forum of Welsh-medium schools.  It is key to establish a close 

working partnership between the sector and LA leadership to scope and realise 

creative and practical solutions to these challenges, which could become a blueprint 

of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

I believe that without a satisfactory resolution, the Welsh Government Minister for 

Education and Welsh Language will need to be made aware of the disparity that exists 

between the Welsh and English sector within Cardiff. All children are equal, all children 

have rights and the right to provide additional learning support in the language of the 

child and this be a matter of course, but unfortunately as things stand, this is far from 

being true. 

 

I look forward to receiving a reply in the hope that it will ease some if not all my 

concerns. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Daniel Tiplady 

 

(Daniel Tiplady – Cadeirydd y Llywodraethwyr Ysgol Pencae) 

  

Page 1149



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd 

Ymateb gan Bennaeth a Chadeirydd Llywodraethwyr Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll 

Coch 

 

25 Ionawr 2022 

 

Rydym yn croesawu cyhoeddi dogfennaeth sy’n benodol yn targedu 

gwelliannau i’r ddarpariaeth ADY ar draws y ddinas. Rydym yn gwbl gefnogol 

gan gytuno bod angen buddsoddiad yn y ddarpariaeth i rai o’r disgyblion sy’n 

wynebu heriau sylweddol yn ein cymunedau yng Nghaerdydd. 

 

Cytunwn hefyd bod angen darparu ar gyfer anghenion mwy cymhleth, yn 

enwedig anghenion iechyd meddwl a lles emosiynol, sydd wedi cynyddu yn 

sgîl y pandemig. 

 

Rydym yn croesawu’r uchelgais o sicrhau twf ar draws y ddinas o ran lleoedd 

pwrpasol arbenigol a sicrhau’r amgylchedd gorau i ddisgyblion sydd ag anghenion 

dysgu ychwanegol yn yr 21ain Ganrif. Fel ysgol sydd â Chanolfan Adnoddau 

Arbenigol, rydym yn sylweddoli mor bwysig yw darparu’r adnoddau a’r gefnogaeth 

orau posibl i ddisgyblion, beth bynnag yw eu hanghenion. 

 

Hoffem nodi hefyd mewn ymateb: 

 

• Os yw'r Sir yn ystyried cynyddu niferoedd canolfan arbenigol Ysgol Gymraeg 

Pwll Coch edrychwn ymlaen at glywed gan y Sir yn uniongyrchol am y 

cynlluniau hynny a chael mewnbwn iddynt fel Ysgol. 

 

• Mae’r ddogfen yn sôn am welliannau hirdymor o ran adnoddau a thwf lleoedd 

yn y sector cynradd cyfrwng Saesneg yn unig. Mae buddsoddi mewn un 

sector yn unig (cyfrwng Saesneg) yn ffafrio un sector. Mae angen buddsoddi 

yn y sector Cymraeg yn ogystal â’r Saesneg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a sicrhau cynhwysiant llawn. 

 

• Gallai buddsoddi mewn un sector annog rhieni i symud eu plant i ble mae’r 

adnoddau, y ddarpariaeth a’r buddsoddiad gorau, ac felly bydd disgyblion yn 

cael eu colli o’r sector Cymraeg. 

 

• Mae’r ymgynghoriad yn gwrth-ddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA/WESP Caerdydd sy’n sôn am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd 

cyfrwng Cymraeg a thair canolfan arbenigol uwchradd cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

• Mae’r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond nid yn y sector Cymraeg – sut y daethpwyd i’r casgliad hwn? 

A gafodd y sector 

Page 1150



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

 

• Mae angen awdit ar frys i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd ar draws y ddinas er mwyn deall yr anghenion a’r twf posibl. 

• Mae diffyg yn y ddarpariaeth o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o 

fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag 

anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth brif ffrwd). Mae angen cynllunio ar gyfer 

darpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y maes hwn. 

 

• Cynigir canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg uwchradd ond nid ar 

gyfer y sector cynradd. Os yw’r sir yn rhagweld yr angen am fwy o leoedd 

arbenigol dylid ystyried ehangu darpariaeth awtistiaeth arbenigol yn y 

cynradd yn ogystal. 

 

• Mae angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti 

ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu (fel sy’n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng 

 

Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). Mae angen rhaglen hyfforddi i sbarduno 

hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

 

Gofynnwn i chi ystyried y pwyntiau uchod wrth ehangu eich darpariaeth ADY ar 

draws y ddinas, gan roi ystyriaeth lawn i ddatblygu addysg arbenigol cyfrwng 

Cymraeg, yn gyfartal â’r Saesneg. Edrychwn ymlaen at gydweithio gyda chi yn y 

ystod y blynyddoedd nesaf i ganfod datrysiadau ar draws y sir a fydd yn rhoi’r 

cyfleoedd gorau posibl ar gyfer plant a phobl ifanc Caerdydd sy’n dymuno addysg 

Gymraeg. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

 

Mr Dewi Rees      Nona Gruffudd-Evans 

Pennaeth       Cadeirydd y Corff Llywodraethu 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 
 

  

Page 1151



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation  

Response from the Headteacher and Chair of Governors of Ysgol Gymraeg 

Pwll Coch  

 

25 January 2022  

 

We welcome the publication of documentation specifically targeting 

improvements to ALN provision across the city  We are fully supportive and 

agree that investment in provision is needed for some of the pupils facing 

significant challenges in our communities in Cardiff.  

 

We also agree that there is a need to cater for more complex needs, 

particularly mental health and emotional well-being needs, which have 

increased in the wake of the pandemic. 

 

We welcome the ambition of achieving growth across the city in terms of specialist 

purpose places and ensuring the best environment for pupils with additional 

learning needs in the 21st Century.  As a school with a Specialist Resource Centre, 

we recognise the importance of providing pupils with the best possible resources 

and support, whatever their needs.  

 

We would also like to note in response that:  

 

• If the County is considering increasing the numbers in the specialist centre 

at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch we look forward to hearing from the County 

directly about those plans and having input into them as a School. 

 

• The document mentions long-term improvements in resources and the growth 

of places in the English-medium primary sector only.  Investment in only one 

sector (English medium) favours one sector.  Investment in the Welsh as well 

as English language sector is needed to ensure equality of provision and 

ensure full inclusion.  

 

• Investment in one sector could encourage parents to move their children to 

where the best resources, provision and investment are, and so pupils will be 

lost from the Welsh language sector.  

 

• The consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff 

CSGA/WESP consultation which mentions the opening of three Welsh-

medium primary specialist centres and three Welsh-medium secondary 

specialist centres.  

 

• The documentation shows an increasing need within the English-medium 

sector, but not in the Welsh-medium sector – how has this conclusion been 

reached?  Was the Welsh sector 

 

Page 1152



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

included in the research? 

 

• The needs of pupils in the primary Welsh-medium sector across the city need 

an urgent audit to understand the needs and potential growth.  
 

• There is a shortfall in provision in terms of emotional health and well-being 

and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 pupils (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision).  There is a need to plan for 

Welsh-medium provision in this area.  

 

• A secondary Welsh-medium autism specialist centre is offered but not for the 

primary sector.  If the county anticipates the need for more specialist places 

consideration should also be given to expanding specialist autism provision 

in the primary sector. 

 

• Investment in specialist centres is needed to create Welsh-medium ALN 

capacity within the workforce (as is the case within  

 

English medium centres across the city). A training programme is needed 

to drive specialist ALN training within the Welsh-medium workforce.  
 

 

 

We ask you to consider the above points when expanding your ALN provision 

across the city, taking full account of the development of Welsh-medium specialist 

education, on a par with English.  We look forward to working with you over the 

next few years to find solutions across the county that will provide the best 

possible opportunities for the children and young people of Cardiff who wish to 

receive Welsh-medium education. 
 

Yours sincerely,  
 

 

 

 

Mr Dewi Rees     Nona Gruffudd-Evans 

Headteacher      Chair of the Governing Body  

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 
  

Page 1153



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol y Berllan Deg – Governing Body 
 

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Y Berllan Deg i Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor 

Caerdydd 

 

Bu cyfarfod o gorff llywodraethu llawn Ysgol Y Berllan Deg ar Ionawr 12fed 2022 lle 

buom yn trafod Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Caerdydd. Teimlwn ei bod yn bwysig 

ymateb gyda’n barn am yr ymgynghoriad. 

 

Yn gyntaf, hoffem ganmol y cyngor am flaenoriaethu buddsoddiad mewn adnoddau 

ar gyfer rhai o'n dysgwyr mwyaf agored i niwed, drwy flaenoriaethu adnoddau 

rhagorol ac i dyfu arbenigedd staff yn y meysydd mwyaf anghenus. Mae sicrhau 

buddsoddiad ar y lefel hon yn creu adnoddau arbenigol a gallu gweithlu i ymateb i’r 

galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Fodd bynnag, mae gennym bryderon ynglŷn â diffyg darpariaeth drwy gyfrwng y 

Gymraeg 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrth-ddweud ymgynghoriad diweddar y Cynllun 

Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg a nododd uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned 

arbenigol mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector cynradd a thair SRB arall yn 

y sector uwchradd. Rydym yn poeni y bydd buddsoddi yn bennaf yn y Saesneg yn 

annog rhieni i drosglwyddo disgyblion ADY i’r sector cyfrwng Saesneg lle mae’r 

buddsoddiad a’r adnoddau yn well. 

 

Yn wir, mae angen buddsoddiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau 

cydraddoldeb darpariaeth a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Saesneg 

ond nid yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg. Buom hefyd yn trafod bod angen gwell 

darpariaeth o ran:- 

 

•  iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar 

gyfer disgyblion yng Nghyfnod 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i 

ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) 

•  gwell cefnogaeth i sefydlu dosbarthiadau anogaeth / lles o fewn ysgolion - 

diffyg gofod mewn ysgolion o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn gwneud hyn 

yn anodd 

•  buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn cynyddu cefnogaeth ADY 

arbenigol o fewn y gweithlu (fel sy'n digwydd mewn sectorau cyfrwng 

Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

•  lleoliadau sydd yn arbenigo mewn awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd ac 

uwchradd cyfrwng Cymraeg 

•  hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol cyfrwng Cymraeg 

 

Collwyd cyfleoedd i roi ystyriaeth briodol i gynnwys darpariaeth ADY yn yr awdurdod 

wrth sefydlu ysgolion cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ystod y blynddoedd diwethaf. 

Dyma gyfle nawr i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

Page 1154



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

ac arweinwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol i gwmpasu a gwireddu datrysiadau creadigol ac 

ymarferol i’r heriau hyn, a allai ddod yn enghraifft o arfer rhagorol ar gyfer y dyfodol. 

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir 

 

Chris Gibbs (cadeirydd y llywodraethwyr) ar ran corff llywodraethu llawn Ysgol Y 

Berllan Deg 
 

  

Page 1155



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Y Berllan Deg Governing Body’s response to Cardiff Council’s ALN 

Consultation  

 

The full governing body of Ysgol Y Berllan Deg discussed Cardiff Council’s ALN 

Consultation in our meeting on January 12th and felt that it was important to respond 

with our collective views. 

 

First of all we wish to praise the council for prioritising investment in resources for 

some of our most vulnerable learners, by prioritising excellent resources and to grow 

staff specialism in areas of most need.  Securing investment at this level creates 

specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand for 

provision in this area.  

 

However, we have concerns regarding the lack of provision through the medium of 

Welsh 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's 

ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh medium schools in the primary sector 

and a further three SRB in the secondary sector. We are worried that investment 

mainly in the English language will encourage parents to transfer ALN pupils to the 

English medium sector where the investment and resources are superior. 

 

Indeed, investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity 

of provision and full inclusion within Welsh medium schools. The documentation 

demonstrates a growing need within the English medium sector but not in the Welsh 

medium sector. We also discussed that there needs to be better provision in:- 

 

• emotional health and well-being and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector 

for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• establishing nurture / wellbeing classes within schools- lack of spaces in 

schools within WM schools makes this difficult 

• investing in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in English medium sectors across the city).  

• autism support within the Welsh medium primary and secondary sector  

• Welsh medium specialist ALN training  

 

There have been lost opportunities of establishing new Welsh medium primary schools 

without due consideration and inclusion of ALN provision. This is now an opportunity 

to establish a close working partnership between the Welsh medium sector and Local 

Authority  leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these 

challenges, which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Chris Gibbs (chair of governors) on behalf of the full governing body of Ysgol Y Berllan 

Deg 

  

Page 1156



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth – Governing Body 

 

Good afternoon,  

 

Following our Governors meeting last week we would like to voice our concerns as a 

school regarding the Cardiff City and Cardiff Council ALN consultation. We have a 

number of concerns regarding the proposals proposed by Cardiff City and Cardiff 

Council to increase the number of special school and specialist resources base places 

for learners aged 3 – 19 in Cardiff who have complex learning needs and autism 

spectrum conditions. As a school we support this investment in resources for some of 

our most vulnerable learners and obviously securing investment at this level does 

create specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing demand 

for provision in this area. But there are concerns regarding ALN provision within the 

Welsh Medium sector and the lack of investment. Investing in the English medium 

sector will encourage parents to transfer ALN pupils to the English Medium sector 

where the investment and resources are superior. Investment is needed within the 

Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure the same level of provision and full inclusion 

within WM schools. There have been opportunities when establishing new WM 

primary schools, but we feel consideration was not given to the inclusion of ALN 

provision. The lack of consideration of autism support in the WM primary sector is also 

apparent and of concern. We as a school fully support the Forum of Welsh Medium 

schools who want to establish a close working partnership between the sector and LA 

leadership to find creative and practical solutions to these challenges.  

 

Yours sincerely,  

Catrin Evans and the Governors of Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth 

  

Page 1157



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau – Governing Body 

 

Hoffai Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau ymateb i ymgynghoriad yr 

AALl am ei ddarpariaeth arbennigol ar gyfer disgyblion gydag Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol. 

 

Er ein bod yn cytuno â'r angen i ehangu'r ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol bresennol fel yr amlinellir yn y ddogfen ymgynghori, rydym yn bryderus 

am yr hyn a ystyriwn yn ddarpariaeth annigonol ar gyfer addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg o 

fewn y cynlluniau. Nid yw’r sefyllfa bresennol o Ganolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol yn 

Ysgol Gyfun Glantaf, Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol cynradd yn Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll 

Coch a’r ddarpariaeth ar gyfer disgyblion ag anghenion emosiynol ac ymddygiadol 

sydd wedi’u lleoli yn Ysgol Pen y Groes yn darparu cydraddoldeb gyda’r 

ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Saesneg. Mae angen buddsoddiad o fewn y sector Cyfrwng 

Cymraeg i sicrhau’r cydraddoldeb hwn yn y ddarpariaeth. O ganlyniad, galwn am 

archwiliad ar unwaith i ganfod lefelau Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol o fewn y sector 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg - yn enwedig yn y sector Cynradd. 

 

Rydym yn croesawu sefydlu Canolfan Adnoddau ar gyfer 30 disgybl yn Ysgol Gyfun 

Gymraeg Glantaf ym mis Medi 2023 a fu ochr yn ochr â’r Ganolfan Adnoddau 

Arbenigol presennol, ond teimlwn fod y cynlluniau’n groes i’r ymgynghoriad WESP 

diweddar a nododd uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned arbenigol yn Ysgolion 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector cynradd a thair Canolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol arall yn 

y sector uwchradd.  

 

A allwn dynnu eich sylw at adolygiad yr AALl o’i ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg yn 2009-10, a gynhaliwyd gan Meinir Rees AEM, a fu 

chyn hynny yn Gydlynydd AAA yn Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr? Roedd yr 

adolygiad hwn yn nodi wrth i’r AALl sefydlu ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd yn 

ystod y cyfnod hynny, yn gyfle euraidd i ddatblygu darpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol arbenigol. Yn anffodus, mae amser wedi profi bod hwn wedi bod yn 

gyfle a gollwyd. Mae 5 ysgol gynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg newydd ac ysgol uwchradd 

wedi agor ers hynny, heb unrhyw ddarpariaeth arbenigol Anghenion Dysgu 

Ychwanegol. Ymhellach, ehangwyd 4 ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg a darparwyd 

adeiladau newydd - eto heb unrhyw ddarpariaeth ADY arbenigol. Gyda Chanolfan 

Adnoddau Arbenigol Ysgol Coed y Gof yn cau i gael ei disodli gan Ganolfan 

Adnoddau Arbenigol fwy penodol yn Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, yr unig ddarpariaeth 

newydd ar gyfer ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ers yr adolygiad 2009-10 hwn yw’r 

ddarpariaeth lles yn Ysgol Pen y Groes. Mae’r diffyg darpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg 

arbenigol hwn wedi arwain at rieni yn symud eu plant i gyfrwng Saesneg i fodloni 

anghenion dysgu ychwanegol eu plant. 

 

Anogwn yr AALl i werthfawrogi anghenion ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg, fel Ysgol 

Gymraeg Nant Caerau, sy’n gwasanaethu ardal o amddifadedd cymdeithasol ac 

economaidd uchel. Mae’r ysgol yn wynebu heriau cymhleth sydd wedi dwysáu gan y 

pandemig. Yn ogystal â’r anhawsterau cymdeithasol /economaidd, mae heriau 

Page 1158



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

ieithyddol hefyd – does dim un o’n disgyblion yn dod o gartrefi lle mae iaith eu 

haddysg yn cael ei siarad adref. Rhaid nodi yma ein bod fel corff yn hynod falch 

gyda’r ffordd mae’r ysgol yn datblygu’r sgiliau ieithyddol angenrheidiol i greu 

dinasyddion dwyieithog. 

 

Gwelwn ddiffyg amlwg o ran lles, ymddygiad, a chefnogaeth emosiynol yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn benodol ar gyfer disgyblion ar Gam 4-5 ble mae darpariaeth prif 

ffrwd yn anaddas iddynt. Oherwydd y diffyg lle o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg, 

mae’n profi’n anodd os nad yn amhosib, darparu dosbarthiadau lles neu maeth o 

fewn y rhan fwyaf o leoliadau. Byddwch yn ymwybodol bod Ysgol Gymraeg Nant 

Caerau wedi ariannu dosbarth maeth uchel ei ganmoliaeth allan o’n cyllideb (GAD 

yn bennaf) i ddiwallu’r angen hwn. Mae'r dosbarth maeth hwn wedi'i leoli mewn 

adeilad dros dro sy'n erbyn heddiw yn anaddas i'r pwrpas! Teimlwn fod yr AALl yn 

colli cyfle i ddarparu canolfannau arbenigol ar gyfer y disgyblion hyn. 

 

Rydym hefyd yn pryderu bod cyfraddau ein gwaharddiadau cyfnod penodol yn 

cynyddu. Mae'r Uwch Dîm Rheoli yn ymdrechu'n galed i fynd i'r afael â'r mater hwn. 

Mae’r ysgol yn derbyn cefnogaeth allgymorth a gall gyfeirio disgyblion i ddosbarth 

Lles Ysgol Pen y Groes, fodd bynnag ar hyn o bryd nid oes cefnogaeth arbenigol ar 

gyfer rhai o’n disgyblion sydd ag anghenion rhy dwys i’w diwallu gan y dosbarth lles. 

 

Cefnogir Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau yn dda gan athrawon arbenigol Cymraeg eu 

hiaith ym maes Anhwysterau Sbectrwm Awtistig, ac anghenion emosiynol ac 

ymddygiadol, fodd bynnag, mae gennym bryderon nad oes darpariaeth arbenigol 

gydnabyddedig ar gyfer disgyblion ag Anhwysterau Sbectrwm Awtistig trwy gyfrwng 

y Gymraeg. Nodwn hefyd y diffyg ystyriaeth i gymorth awtistiaeth o fewn y sector 

cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Galwn am raglen o gyfleoedd hyfforddi arbenigol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Rydym hefyd yn croesawu penderfyniad y Fforwm Ysgolion Cyfrwng Cymraeg i 

sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos rhwng y sector ac arweinwyr yr ALl i gwmpasu a 

gwireddu datrysiadau creadigol ac ymarferol i’r heriau hyn, a allai ddod yn enghraifft 

o arfer rhagorol i’r dyfodol. 

 

Anogwn yr Awdurdod i gymryd camau i weithredu rhaglen o gydraddoldeb rhwng 

darpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg a chyfrwng Saesneg. 

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir 

Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 

 

  

Page 1159



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

The Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau would like to respond to the 

current LEA consultation of its specialist Additional Learning Needs provision. 

 

Whilst we agree with the need to expand the current Additional Learning Need 

provision as outlined in the consultation document, we are concerned about what we 

consider to be an inadequate provision for Welsh medium education within the plans.  

The current situation of Specialist Resource Base in Ysgol Gyfun Glantaf, a primary 

Specialist Resource Base in Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch and the revolving door 

provision for pupils with emotional and behavioural needs based in Ysgol Pen y 

Groes doesn’t provide parity with English medium provision. Investment is needed 

within the Welsh Medium sector to ensure this parity of provision. Consequently, we 

call for an immediate audit to ascertain the levels of Additional Learning Need within 

the Welsh Medium sector - especially in the Primary sector.   

 

We welcome the establishment a 30 place Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 

Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place Specialist Resource Base from Sept 2023, 

however we feel that the plans are at odds the recent WESP consultation which 

noted the Council's ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium schools 

in the primary sector and a further three Specialist Resource Bases in the secondary 

sector 

 

Can we draw your attention to the LEA’s review of its Welsh medium Additional 

Learning Needs provision in 2009-10, conducted by Meinir Rees HMI, and previously 

a SENCO at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr?  This review noted the establishing of 

new Welsh medium schools as an opportunity to develop specialist Additional 

Learning Needs provision.  Sadly, time has proved that this has been an opportunity 

missed.  5 new Welsh medium primary schools and a secondary school have since 

opened, with no Additional Learning Needs specialist provision.  Furthermore, 4 

Welsh medium schools have been expanded and provided with new buildings - 

again with no specialist ALN provision.  With Specialist Resource Base at Ysgol 

Coed y Gof closing to be replaced by a more specific Specialist Resource Base at 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, the only new provision for Welsh medium schools since 

this 2009-10 review is the revolving door provision at Ysgol Pen y Groes.  This lack 

of specialist Welsh medium provision has led to parents moving their children to 

English medium to satisfy their children’s additional learning needs.   

 

We urge the LEA to appreciate the needs of Welsh medium schools such as Ysgol 

Gymraeg Nant Caerau that serves an area of high social and economic deprivation.  

The school faces complex challenges which have heightened by the recent 

pandemic.  As well as the socio-economic consequences, there are also linguistic 

challenges - none of our pupils come from homes where the language of their 

education is spoken.  It must be noted here that as a body we are extremely proud of 

the school’s record in developing the linguistic skills necessary to create bilingual 

citizens.    

 

Page 1160



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

We see a clear deficiency as regards wellbeing, behaviour, and emotional support in 

the Welsh Medium sector specifically for pupils on Stage 4-5 who struggle with 

mainstream provision.  Due to the lack of space within Welsh Medium schools, it is 

proving difficult if not impossible to provide nurture / wellbeing classes within most 

settings.  You will be aware that Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau, has funded a highly 

praised nurture class out of our budget (mainly PDG) to meet this need.  This nurture 

class is housed within a demountable building that is becoming unfit for purpose!  

We feel the LEA is losing an opportunity to provide specialist bases for these pupils.   

 

We are also concerned that the number of fixed term exclusions are increasing at 

the school. The Senior Management Team are trying hard to tackle this issue.  The 

school receives outreach support and can refer pupils to the Wellbeing class in Ysgol 

Pen y Groes, however there is currently no specialist support for some of our pupils 

whose needs are too great to be met by the wellbeing centre.  

 

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau are well supported by Welsh speaking specialist 

teachers in the field of Autistic Spectrum Disorders, emotional and behavioural 

needs, however, we have concerns that there is no recognised specialist provision 

for pupils with Autistic Spectrum Disorders through the medium of Welsh.  We also 

note the lack of consideration of autism support within the Welsh Medium primary 

sector 

 

We call for a programme of specialist training opportunities within the Welsh Medium 

sector.  We also welcome the Forum of Welsh Medium schools’ decision to establish 

a close working partnership between the sector and LA leadership to scope and 

realise creative and practical solutions to these challenges, which could become a 

blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

We urge the Authority to take steps to implement a programme of parity between 

Welsh and English medium Additional Learning Needs provision. 

 

Yours Sincerely 

Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 

  

Page 1161



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes – Headteacher and Chair of Governors 

 

Annwyl Syr/Madam, 

 

Rydym ysgrifennu ar ran Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes mewn 

ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad presennol ar Ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 

yng Nghaerdydd. Yn benodol, yr ymgynghoriad ar newidiadau i gynnig lleoedd o 

ansawdd uchel i ddysgwyr 3-19 oed ag anghenion dysgu cymhleth a Chyflwr ar y 

Sbectrwm Awtistig. 

 

Rydym fel Corff Llywodraethol yn llwyr gefnogi buddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

disgyblion ADY y ddinas ac rydym yn cefnogi’r Cyngor i fuddsoddi mewn darpariaeth 

fwy arbenigol. Rydym hefyd yn cefnogi nod y Cyngor i fuddsoddi a chynyddu 

arbenigedd staff yn y meysydd priodol. 

 

Fodd bynnag, yr ydym yn pryderu am ddiffyg blaenoriaeth y ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

disgyblion yn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas. Mae diffyg yn y ddarpariaeth o 

fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ac wrth edrych ar y ddarpariaeth sydd eisoes ar 

gael, dim ond llai na 5% o’r ddarpariaeth sydd ar gael yn y ddinas sydd ar gyfer 

disgyblion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas o gymharu â dros 95% o’r ddarpariaeth 

arbenigol sydd ar gael ar gyfer disgyblion cyfrwng Saesneg. Mae hyn yn bryder i 

ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg y ddinas a rhieni lle mae'r angen yn aml wedi codi i 

deuluoedd / rhieni symud eu plant ADY i gyfrwng Saesneg lle mae'r ddarpariaeth a'r 

buddsoddiad orau. 

 

Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a chynhwysiad llawn o fewn ysgolion y sector ac angen clir i fuddsoddi 

mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn tyfu cefnogaeth ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu. (Fel sy'n digwydd mewn sectorau Saesneg ar draws y ddinas). 

 

Ein pryder fel Llywodraethwyr hefyd yw’r diffyg darpariaeth glir o iechyd a lles 

emosiynol ac ymddygiadol o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion 

Cyfnod 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd). 

 

Diolchwn i chi am ystyried ein barn. 

 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

We are writing on behalf of the Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes in 

response to the current consultation on Additional Learning Needs Provision in 

Cardiff. Specifically, the consultation on changes to offer high quality places for 

learners aged 3-19 with complex learning needs and an Autistic Spectrum Condition. 

 

We as a Governing Body fully support investing in the provision for ALN pupils in the 

city and we support the Council in investing in more specialist provision. We also 

Page 1162



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

support the Council's aim to invest in and grow staff expertise in the appropriate 

areas.  

 

However, we are concerned about the lack of priority of provision for pupils in the 

city's Welsh medium schools. There is a shortfall in the provision within the Welsh-

medium sector and when looking at the provision already available, only under 5% of 

the provision available in the city is for Welsh-medium pupils city compared with over 

95% of the specialist provision available for English medium pupils. This is a concern 

for the city's Welsh medium schools and parents where the need has often arisen for 

families / parents to move their ALN children to English medium where provision and 

investment is best. There is a need to invest in the Welsh Medium sector in order to 

ensure equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's schools and a clear need 

to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

 

Our concern as Governors is also the lack of clear provision of emotional and 

behavioral health and well-being within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 

pupils (who have needs beyond mainstream provision). We thank you for taking our 

views into consideration.  

 

Yr eiddoch yn gywir / Yours faithfully,  

 

Mrs A Fenner     Mr M Landers  

Pennaeth      Cadeirydd y Llywodraethwyr 

Headteacher     Chair of Governors 

  

Page 1163



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School - Governing Body 

 

Ymateb i Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Caerdydd 

 

Annwyl Syr/Madam, 

 

Rydym ni, aelodau o Gorff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau, yn dymuno 

mynegi ein pryderon ynghylch eich cynigion i gynyddu'r ddarpariaeth ar gyfer 

dysgwyr ag anghenion dysgu cymhleth a chyflyrau sbectrwm awtistiaeth, fel y nodir 

yn yr Ymgynghoriad ADY. 

 

Er ein bod yn llwyr gefnogi'r buddsoddiad mewn adnoddau ar gyfer rhai o'n dysgwyr 

mwyaf bregus yng Nghaerdydd, cawsom ein synnu a'n siomi i nodi mai ychydig iawn 

o ddarpariaeth oedd ar gael i ddisgyblion mewn addysg Cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Rydym yn canmol ymrwymiad Cyngor Sir Caerdydd i flaenoriaethu adnoddau 

rhagorol a sicrhau buddsoddiad mewn ADY gan greu gweithlu arbenigol i ymateb i'r 

galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Fodd bynnag, mae'r diffyg buddsoddiad mewn darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY yn y 

sector Cyfrwng Cymraeg yn glir yn y cynigion. 

 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrth-ddweud ymgynghoriad diweddar y CSGA 

(WESP) sy’n nodi uchelgais y Cyngor i agor tair uned arbenigol mewn ysgolion 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y sector Cynradd a thair CAA arall yn y sector Uwchradd. 

 

Rydym yn pryderu y bydd buddsoddi mewn un adran yn unig yn annog 

rhieni/teuluoedd i drosglwyddo disgyblion ADY i'r sector Cyfrwng Saesneg lle mae'r 

dewis a'r cyfleusterau sydd ar gael yn well. 

 

Credwn yn gryf fod y Cyngor yn colli cyfleoedd i ymestyn darpariaeth ac adnoddau 

ADY mewn Ysgolion Cynradd Cyfrwng Cymraeg sydd newydd eu sefydlu yn y 

ddinas. Mae'n amlwg bod angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol o fewn 

addysg Cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn cynyddu cymorth ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu. Mae hyn eisoes yn digwydd yn y sector Cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y 

ddinas. 

 

Mae'n peri pryder arbennig i ni fod diffyg cymorth Awtistiaeth yn y sector Cynradd 

Cyfrwng Cymraeg, yn enwedig mewn perthynas â sefydlu canolfan arbenigol 

Awtistiaeth yn y sector uwchradd. 

 

Er ein bod yn deall nad yw'r Gymraeg yn nodwedd warchodedig o dan y Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb, mae nifer o Awdurdodau Lleol yn ystyried y Gymraeg fel rhan o'r 

broses honno. Mae'n siomedig, felly, er nad yw'n ofyniad statudol o dan y Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb, nad yw'r crynodeb o'r Asesiad Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (EIA) ar gyfer 

yr ymgynghoriad hwn (tudalen 81) yn sôn am y Gymraeg. O ganlyniad, rydym yn 

Page 1164



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

cwestiynu sut mae'r cynigion hyn yn mynd i'r afael â'r gofynion statudol clir fel y'u 

nodir yn Safonau Iaith Gymraeg y Llywodraeth. Fel Llywodraethwyr ysgol ddwy ffrwd 

credwn yn gryf fod ein disgyblion sy'n derbyn eu haddysg drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg 

yn haeddu'r un cyfleoedd yn union â'r rhai sy'n derbyn eu haddysg drwy gyfrwng y 

Saesneg. Mae'r cynigion yr ydych wedi'u nodi yn yr Ymgynghoriad yn dangos yn glir 

nad oes cydraddoldeb rhwng y sectorau. 

 

Rydym yn ymwybodol bod Fforwm Penaethiaid Cyfrwng Cymraeg Caerdydd yn 

awyddus i sefydlu partneriaeth waith agos gyda'r Awdurdod Lleol i gwmpasu a 

gwireddu atebion creadigol ac ymarferol i'r heriau hyn a byddem yn eich annog yn 

gryf i agor y ddeialog hon heb oedi pellach. 

 

Diolch am ystyried ein pryderon. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Aelodau Corff Llywodraethol Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau 

 

 

Response to Cardiff Council’s ALN Consultation 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

 

We, members of Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School’s Governing Body, wish to 

express our deep concerns regarding your proposals to increase provision for 

learners with complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions, as set out in 

the ALN Consultation. 

 

Whilst we fully support the investment in resources for some of our most vulnerable 

learners in Cardiff we were surprised and disappointed to note that there was very 

little provision for pupils in Welsh Medium education. 

 

We praise Cardiff County Council’s commitment for prioritising excellent resources 

and securing investment in ALN thus creating a specialist workforce capacity to 

respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

However, the lack of investment in ALN provision and resources within the Welsh 

Medium sector is clear in the proposals. 

 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council’s ambition to open three specialist units in Welsh Medium schools in the 

Primary sector and a further three SRBs in the Secondary sector. 

 

We are concerned that investment in one section only will encourage 

parents/families to transfer ALN pupils to the English Medium sector where the 

choice and availability of facilities and resources are both superior. 

Page 1165



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

We strongly believe that the Council has and is missing opportunities to extend ALN 

provision and resources in newly established Welsh Medium Primary Schools in the 

city. There is a clear need to invest in specialist bases within WM education in order 

to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce. This is already happening in the 

English Medium sector across the city. 

 

It particularly concerns us that there is a lack of Autism support within the Welsh 

Medium Primary sector especially in relation to the establishing of an Autism support 

base in the secondary sector. 

 

Whilst we understand that Welsh is not a protected characteristic under the Equality 

Act, a number of Local Authority’s consider Welsh as part of that process. It is, 

therefore, disappointing to note that, while not a statutory requirement under the 

Equality Act, the summary of the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) for this 

consultation (page 81) makes no mention of Welsh. We consequently query how 

these proposals are addressing the clear statutory requirements as set out in the 

Government’s Welsh Language Standards. As Governors of a Dual Language 

school we strongly believe that our pupils who receive their education through the 

medium of Welsh deserve exactly the same opportunities as those who receive their 

education through the medium of English. The proposals you have set out in the 

Consultation clearly show that there is no parity between the sectors. 

 

We are aware that the Forum of Welsh Medium Head Teachers is eager to establish 

a close working partnership with the Local Authority to scope and realise creative 

and practical solutions to these challenges and would strongly encourage you to 

open this dialogue without further delay. 

 

Thank you for considering our concerns. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Governing Body members of Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau Primary School 

  

Page 1166



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan - Governing Body and Staff 

 

26/01/22 

 

Ymgynghoriad ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol Cyngor Sir 

Caerdydd 

 

Mae Ysgol Mynydd Bychan yn gwbl gefnogol i nod Cyngor Sir Caerdydd i gynyddu 

niferoedd lleoedd o fewn ysgolion arbennig ac Unedau Anghenion Arbenigol i 

ddysgwyr 3-19 gyda anhawsterau dysgu cymhleth a chyflyrau awstistiaeth. Mae 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan hefyd yn falch o weld bod gan y Cyngor dargedau cadarn i 

fuddsoddi yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein cymunedau a’r 

gynhaliaeth orau. Mae’n flaenoriaeth i dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau 

arbenigol mewn meysydd o alw clir. Fe fydd sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn 

creu capasiti arbenigol o ran adnoddau a'r gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am 

ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn. 

 

Croesawn weledigaeth Caerdydd ar gyfer addysgu a dysgu yng Nghaerdydd yn 

2030 sy’n gosod ‘nod Hawl Dysgu, lle gall pob plentyn a pherson ifanc: 

 

• gael mynediad at lwybrau priodol i gyfleoedd addysgu a dysgu 

• ffynnu a chyflawni eu potensial 

• gwireddu eu breuddwydion a’u huchelgeisiau unigol 

 

Er mwyn gwella deilliannau dysgwyr mwyaf agored i niwed Caerdydd, â llawer 

ohonynt yn wynebu rhwystrau i ymgysylltu ag addysgu a dysgu, mae mynd i’r afael 

ag anghydraddoldeb yn allweddol.’ 

 

Ymfalchiwn bod Sir Caerdydd yn cydnabod, ‘er mwyn ffynnu a chyflawni eu 

potensial, fod angen i blant a phobl ifanc sydd â’r anghenion dysgu ychwanegol 

cymhlethaf gael mynediad i amgylcheddau arbenigol ac arbenigedd ysgol arbennig 

neu Ganolfan Adnoddau Arbenigol.’ 

 

Nodir yn y ddogfen bod asesiad o’r effaith ar gydraddoldeb cychwynnol wedi’i wneud 

ac fe ddaeth i’r casgliad na fyddai’r newidiadau a gynigir yn effeithio’n negyddol ar 

unrhyw grŵp penodol mewn cymdeithas. Rhaid gofyn y cwestiwn ble mae’r 

ddarpariaeth Cymraeg? Noder bod adolygiad o’r asesiad yma yn mynd i ddigwydd ar 

adegau allweddol os aiff y cynnig yn ei flaen. Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn 

ysgolion y sector. 

 

Mae'r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad CSGA 

Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair ganolfan arbenigol gynradd a thair ganolfan 

arbenigol uwchradd. 

 

Page 1167



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog teuluoedd / rhieni i 

symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r ddarpariaeth a'r buddsoddiad 

orau. 

 

Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg – sut daethpwyd i'r canlyniad hwn a 

sut cafodd y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ei gynnwys yn yr ymchwil? 

 

Rydym yn pryderu am ddiffyg darpariaeth clir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac 

ymddygiad o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag 

anghenion y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd) yn ogystal â diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar 

gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn sawl ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg 

cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau addas. 

 

Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd, yn 

enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr uwchradd. 

 

Mae angen: 

•  buddsoddi mewn canolfannau arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti Anghenion 

Dysgu Ychwanegol cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu fel sy'n digwydd o fewn 

canolfannau cyfrwng Saesneg ar draws y ddinas. 

•  rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

 

Nodwyd bod nifer y plant a’r bobl ifanc sydd angen lleoliad arbenigol o ganlyniad i’w 

hanableddau dysgu wedi bod yn cynyddu yng Nghaerdydd dros y 5 mlynedd 

ddiwethaf, mae hyn yn cynnwys plant sydd yn derbyn eu haddysg yn ysgolion 

cyfrwng Gymraeg. Mae’r cynigion a nodir yn y ddogfen ymgynghori yn ceisio gwella 

mynediad i addysg yn unol â’r egwyddorion cynhwysiant, rhaid sicrhau bod hyn yn 

cynnwys disgyblion ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

 

Collwyd cyfle euraidd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY pan adeiladwyd tair 

ysgol gyfrwng Gymraeg newydd yn y ddinas sef Ysgol Glan Morfa, Ysgol 

Hamadryad ac Ysgol Glan Ceubal. 

 

Gwelwyd twf yn y galw am addysg Gymraeg yng Nghaerdydd dros y ddeng mlynedd 

ddiwethaf, rhaid diolch i Gyngor Caerdydd am gynllunio a darparu ar gyfer y twf yma 

drwy agor ac adeiladu ysgolion newydd gyda rhai mewn cymunedau newydd. 

Gofynnwn nawr am gynlluniau tebyg ar gyfer y twf yn y nifer o balnt sydd yn ein 

hysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg sydd angen y ddarpariaeth ADY orau mewn 

canolfannau sy’n cwrdd â’u hanghenion. 

 

Edrychwn ymlaen yn eiddgar i gydweithio gyda Chyngor Caerdydd ar unrhyw 

gynlluniau a thargedau pendant sydd ganddynt. 

 

Page 1168



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Yn gywir, 

Siân Evans 

Pennaeth 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 

(ar ran aelodau’r Corff Llywodraethol a staff Ysgol Mynydd Bychan) 

 

 

 

26/01/22 

 

Cardiff County Council’s consultation document on the provision for pupils 

with Additional Learning Needs 

 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan fully supports Cardiff County Council's aim to increase the 

number of places in special schools and special needs units for 3-19 learners with 

complex learning difficulties and autism conditions. Ysgol Mynydd Bychan is also 

pleased to see that the Council has firm targets to invest in the provision and support 

of the most vulnerable pupils in our communities. It is a priority to grow the expertise 

of specialist staff and centres in areas of clear demand. Securing investment at this 

level will create specialist resource and workforce capacity to respond to the growing 

demand for provision in this area. 

 

We welcome Cardiff’s 2030 vision for education and learning in Cardiff that sets a 

goal of “A Learning Entitlement, in which all children and young people are able to: 

 

• access appropriate routes into education and learning opportunities 

• thrive and fulfil their potential 

• realise their individual dreams and ambitions 

 

In order to improve outcomes for Cardiff’s most vulnerable learners, many of whom 

face barriers to engagement in education and learning, addressing inequality is key.” 

 

We are pleased that the Cardiff CC recognizes that, 'in order to thrive and fulfil their 

potential, children and young people with the most complex additional learning 

needs need to have access to the specialist environments and expertise of a special 

school or specialist resource centre.' 

 

The document states that an initial equality impact assessment has been undertaken 

and concluded that the proposed changes would not negatively affect any particular 

group in society. The question has to be asked where is Welsh language provision? 

 

It is noted that a review of this assessment is to take place at key points if the 

proposal goes ahead. Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order 

to ensure parity and equality of provision and full inclusion within WM schools. 

 

Page 1169



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary sector 

and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

 

Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / families to 

transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources are 

superior. 

 

A recent and urgent audit is necessary in order to ascertain ALN within the WM 

sector (especially in the Primary sector). The documentation demonstrates a growing 

need within the EM sector but not in the WM sector. How was this conclusion 

reached and how was the WM sector included in this research? 

 

There is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being and 

behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs 

beyond mainstream provision). 

 

The lack of consideration of autism support within the WM primary sector is apparent 

especially in relation to establishing an autism support base in the secondary sector. 

 

There is a clear need: 

•  to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the 

workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city). 

•  for a rich programme of specialist training opportunities within the WM sector. 

 

It was noted in the consultation document that ‘the number of children and young 

people requiring a specialist placement as a result of their learning disabilities has 

been increasing in Cardiff over the last 5 years’, this surely includes children 

receiving their education in Welsh medium schools. The proposals set out in the 

consultation document seek to improve access to education in accordance with the 

principles of inclusion, it must be ensured that this includes pupils in Welsh-medium 

schools. 

 

A golden opportunity to expand ALN provision and resources was lost when three 

new Welsh-medium schools were built in the city, namely Ysgol Glan Morfa, Ysgol 

Hamadryad and Ysgol Glan Ceubal. 

 

The demand for Welsh-medium education has grown in Cardiff over the last ten 

years, Ysgol Mynydd Bychan wants to thank Cardiff Council for planning and 

accommodating this growth by opening and building new schools with some in new 

communities. We now ask for similar plans for the growth in the number of children 

in our Welsh-medium schools who need the best ALN provision in centres that will 

meet their needs. 

 

Page 1170



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

We very much look forward to working with Cardiff County Council on any specific 

plans and targets that they have to develop ALN provision for pupils in Welsh 

medium schools. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

Siân Evans 

Headteacher 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 

(on behalf of the Governing Body and staff at Ysgol Mynydd Bychan) 

  

Page 1171



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Treganna – Governing Body 

 

 

Annwyl Gyfaill, 

 

I am writing on behalf of the governing body of Ysgol Treganna in response to the 

consultation on ALN. The governing body welcomes this investment in resources for 

some of our most vulnerable learners. There remain, however, some areas of 

concern : 

• This consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the 

Council's ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary 

sector and a further three SRB in the Secondary sector 

• Investment in one sector only (English Medium) encourages parents / families 

to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and resources 

are superior. 

• Investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure 

parity of provision and full inclusion within WM schools. Limiting the 

investment to one sector will encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to the 

EM sector where the investment and resources are superior. 

• The documentation recognizes a clear growing need within the EM sector but 

not in the WM. Has the research been sufficiently thorough?  

• There is a lack of clear provision in terms of emotional health and well-being 

and behaviour within the Welsh-medium sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who 

have needs beyond mainstream provision) 

• Lack of space / classes in schools to establish nurture / wellbeing classes 

within most settings due to lack of spaces within WM schools 

 

The consultation does not recognise : 

• The lost opportunities of establishing new WM primary schools without due 

consideration and inclusion of ALN provision.  

• Clear need to invest in specialist bases in order to grow specialist ALN 

support within the workforce. (As happens in EM sectors across the city).  

• The comprehensive programme of specialist training opportunities needed 

within the WM sector. 

• The lack of autism support within the WM primary sector. 

 

Yn gywir, 

 

Denise Williams 

Chair of Governors  

Ysgol Treganna 

 

  

Page 1172



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gymraeg Coed y Gof  - Governing Body 

 

31.01.22 

 

Parthed: Ymgynghoriad ADY 

 

Rydym eisiau cofnodi ein hymateb fel Corff llywodraethol Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-

Gof. 

 

Rydym, fel Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof, yn cefnogi llwyr y 

buddsoddiad yn y ddarpariaeth i ddisgyblion mwyaf bregus ein cymunedau.    

Hoffem ganmol bwriad y Cyngor Sir i fuddsoddi yn y gynhaliaeth orau ac yn gritigol i 

dyfu arbenigaeth staff a chanolfannau arbenigol mewn meysydd o alw clir.  Mae 

sicrhau buddsoddiad ar y lefel hwn yn creu capasiti arbenigol o ran adnoddau a'r 

gweithlu i ymateb i'r galw cynyddol am ddarpariaeth yn y maes hwn.  

 

Er hyn, hoffwn mynegi ein consyrn dwys am y diffyg darpariaeth arfaethedig 

Cymraeg ar gyfer ein disgyblion mwyaf bregus ac angehnus. 

 

Credwn bod yr ymgynghoriad hwn yn gwrthddweud argymhellion ymgynghoriad 

CSGA Caerdydd lle sonir am agor tair canolfan arbenigol cynradd a thair canolfan 

arbenigol uwchradd. Mae buddsoddi mewn un sector yn unig (Saesneg) yn annog 

teuluoedd / rhieni i symud plant ADY i gyfrwng sector Saesneg ble mae'r 

ddarpariaeth a'r buddsoddiad orau.  Mae angen buddsoddi yn y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth gyfartal a chynhwysiant llawn o fewn ysgolion 

y sector.  

 

Mae angen awdit cyfoes a buan i anghenion disgyblion yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg 

cynradd. Mae'r ddogfennaeth yn dangos angen cynyddol o fewn y sector cyfrwng 

Saesneg, ond NID yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg, sydd ddim yn adlewyrchiad cywir 

o’r sefyllfa o fewn ein hysgolion. 

 

Mae diffyg darpariaeth glir o ran iechyd a lles emosiynol ac ymddygiad o fewn y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg ar gyfer disgyblion Cam 4-5 (sydd ag anghenion y tu hwnt i 

ddarpariaeth prif ffrwd).  Nid yw’r argymhellion yn mynd i’r afael a’r angen yma o 

gwbl. 

 

Yn ogystal, mae diffyg lle / ystafelloedd ar gyfer dosbarthiadau lles / maeth mewn 

sawl ysgol oherwydd poblogrwydd addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg a diffyg lleoliadau 

addas. 

 

Collwyd cyfleoedd i ehangu darpariaeth ac adnoddau ADY mewn ysgolion newydd 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y ddinas, ac mae angen buddsoddi mewn canolfannau 

arbenigol er mwyn creu capasiti ADY cyfrwng Cymraeg o fewn y gweithlu.  Mae 

angen rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog i sbarduno hyfforddiant ADY arbenigol o fewn y 

gweithlu cyfrwng Cymraeg ar bob lefel. 

Page 1173



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

Mae diffyg clir o ran ystyried anghenion awtistiaeth o fewn y sector cynradd, yn 

enwedig wrth sefydlu canolfan arbenigol awtistiaeth o fewn yr uwchradd, yn yr 

argymhellion, ac mae angen cynllun mewn lle i sicrhau ein bod yn darparu addysg 

briodol ar gyfer pob unigolyn, a bod y ddarpariaeth ar gael yn y Gymraeg.   

 

Nid yw’r Corff yn teimlo bod yr Awdurdod Lleol yn cyd-ymffurfio a gofynion y Ddeddf 

Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol a’r Tribiwnlys Addysg (Cymru) o ran darpariaeth ADY 

sydd yn datgan: “Bydd yn ddyletswydd ar awdurdodau lleol i gymryd pob cam 

rhesymol i sicrhau darpariaeth Gymraeg lle mae’n ofynnol ac, wrth adolygu CDUau, i 

ystyried digonolrwydd y ddarpariaeth ddysgu ychwanegol Gymraeg”. O ganlyn, gall 

hwn arwain at gynnydd yn anghydfod rhwng yr Awdurdod a rhieni, a chynnydd yn y 

nifer o achosion tribiwnlys oherwydd diffyg darpariaeth yn y Gymraeg. 

 

Mae Fforwm ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg Caerdydd yn awyddus iawn i sefydlu 

partneriaeth agos rhwng y sector ac arweinyddiaeth yr ALl i ganfod datrysiadau 

creadigol ac ymarferol i'r heriau hyn.  Gallai'r datrysiadau rhain esblygu'n arfer 

rhagorol ar gyfer y dyfodol.   

 

Hoffwn i’r Cyngor Sir ail-ystyried yr argymhellion ac i gymryd ymlaen argymhellion yr 

adroddiad CSGA, yn ogystal â’r pwyntiau uchod, i sicrhau darpariaeth addas a theg i 

ddysgwyr Cymraeg y ddinas. 

 

Yn gywir 

 

Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 

 

 

 

31.01.22 

 

Re: ALN Consultation 

 

As the governing body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof, we would like to record our 

response proposed ALN provision in Cardiff. 

 

As the Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof we fully support the 

investment in provision for the most vulnerable pupils in our communities. We would 

like to commend the County Council's intention to invest in the best support and, 

critically, to grow the expertise of specialist staff and centres in areas of clear 

demand. Securing investment at this level creates specialist resource and workforce 

capacity to respond to the growing demand for provision in this area. 

 

Nevertheless, we wish to express our deep concern at the proposed lack of Welsh 

language provision for our most vulnerable and needy pupils. 

 

Page 1174



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

We believe that this consultation contradicts the recommendations of the Cardiff 

WESP consultation, which recommends the opening of three primary specialist 

centres and three secondary specialist centres. Investing in one sector only (English) 

encourages families / parents to move ALN children to an English medium sector 

where provision and investment is superior. There is a need to invest in the Welsh-

medium sector in order to ensure equal provision and full inclusion within the sector's 

schools.  

 

The ALN needs of pupils in the primary Welsh-medium sector need an up-to-date 

and timely audit. The documentation indicates an increasing need within the English-

medium sector, but NOT in the Welsh-medium sector, which is not an accurate 

reflection of the situation within our schools. 

 

There is a lack of clear provision for emotional health and wellbeing and behaviour 

within the Welsh-medium sector for Stage 4-5 pupils (who have needs beyond 

mainstream provision). The recommendations do not address this need at all. 

 

In addition, many schools lack the space / rooms for welfare / nurture classes due to 

the popularity of Welsh-medium education and the lack of suitable placements. 

 

Opportunities to expand ALN provision and resources in new-build Welsh-medium 

schools in the city have been missed, and investment is needed in specialist centres 

to create Welsh-medium ALN capacity within the workforce. A rich training program 

is needed to drive specialist ALN training within the Welsh-medium workforce at all 

levels. 

 

There is a clear lack of consideration of needs of children with autism within the 

primary sector, and for the establishment of a secondary autism specialist centre, in 

the recommendations. The plan needs to ensure that we provide appropriate 

education for each individual, and that provision is available in Welsh. 

 

The Governing Body does not feel that the Local Authority complies with the 

requirements of the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 

with regard to ALN provision which states: "Local authorities will have a duty to take 

all reasonable steps to ensure Welsh language provision where required and, in 

reviewing IDPs, to consider the adequacy of Welsh additional learning provision ”. As 

a result, this may lead to an increase in disputes between the Authority and parents, 

and an increase in the number of tribunal cases due to a lack of Welsh language 

provision. 

 

The Cardiff Welsh-medium Schools Forum is very keen to establish a close 

partnership between the sector and LA leadership to find creative and practical 

solutions to these challenges. These solutions could evolve into excellent practice for 

the future. 

 

Page 1175



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

We would like the County Council to reconsider the recommendations and take 

forward the recommendations of the WESP report, in addition to the above points, to 

ensure suitable and equitable provision for the city's Welsh learners. 

 

Sincerely 

 

The Governing Body of Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 

  

Page 1176



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr – School and Governing Body 

 

21st January 2022 

 

To whom it may concern 

 

As a school we would like to respond to the ALN Consultation regarding provision 

across the city.  We are delighted to see the increase in capacity and the significant 

funding which will hugely benefit our most vulnerable learners in Cardiff. It is 

welcomed and to be celebrated that there is such an increase in the number of 

special school and specialist resource base places for learners aged 3 – 19 with 

complex learning needs and autism spectrum conditions.  

 

Whilst we welcome wholeheartedly the plans to establish a 30 place Specialist 

Resource Base at Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf alongside the existing 30 place 

SRB from Sept 2023 for Autistic Spectrum Disorder, we have concerns that the 

consultation contradicts the recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's 

ambition to open three specialist units in WM schools in the Primary sector and a 

further three SRB’s in the Secondary sector. 

 

As a Welsh medium setting we feel that the consultation gives the impression that 

there is considerably more investment in the English Medium Sector which 

potentially deters families with children with Additional Needs from considering 

Welsh Medium provision.  We have had incidents in Plasmawr where parents or 

families decide to transfer ALN pupils to the EM sector where the investment and 

resources are superior.  We feel as a board of governors that considerable 

investment is needed within the Welsh Medium sector in order to ensure parity of 

provision and full inclusion within WM schools.  

 

As a school we would welcome working with the local Authority in ensuring that we 

have an accurate picture of needs in our Welsh Medium schools and ensure that 

appropriate provision is available for all learners.   

 

As a priority we would be particularly interested in working with the LEA to look at 

how children with Emotional Health and Wellbeing difficulties are supported within 

the WM sector and are interested in looking at a structure within the Welsh-medium 

sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 who, potentially, may have needs that cannot be met in 

a mainstream setting.  As a school we benefited hugely from working with the LEA in 

2016 in establishing out Nurture provision within the school.  This was supported by 

the LEA but we have also invested significantly in staffing the provision appropriately 

as a school.  Moving forward we firmly believe that all Welsh Medium school should 

be supported in creating a similar provision to meet the needs of the majority of 

stage 4 –5 pupils.  We are acutely aware that the greatest hurdle in ensuring this 

provision is physical space and funding within the Welsh Medium sector.  However, 

we feel that in building new sites for the Court School and Greenhill, it is absolutely 

crucial that an element of Welsh Medium provision is within the school enabling 

Page 1177



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

pupils who can no longer access WM education in the mainstream to have their 

education partly through the medium of Welsh. 

 

As a school we firmly believe that there is a lack of specialist training opportunities 

within the WM sector due to the absence of more SRB provisions.  Despite 

celebrating the new ASD SRB in Glantaf, we are concerned that the increasing need 

in the Primary sector has not been fully explored.  A clear need to invest in specialist 

bases in order to grow specialist ALN support within the workforce seems crucial at 

the moment.  A rich programme of specialist training opportunities is needed within 

the WM sector. 

 

As a school we continue to be eager to continue with our collaborative work with the 

LEA leadership to scope and realise creative and practical solutions to these 

challenges, which could become a blueprint of outstanding practice for the future.  

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

JOHN HAYES  CATRIN PALLOT  BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

Headteacher   Deputy Headteacher 

  

Page 1178



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf – Headteacher and Governing Body 

 

28 Ionawr 2022   

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethol Glantaf  

Ymgynghoriad ADY Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd 

Rydym yn croesawu cyhoeddi dogfennaeth ymgynghoriad Cyngor Dinas a Sir 

Caerdydd ar gynlluniau i gynyddu a gwella adnoddau addysg arbenigol ar draws y 

ddinas.  Dyma fuddsoddiad y gall y cyngor fod yn wirioneddol falch ohono ar gyfer 

dysgwyr bregus a’r rhai hynny sydd eisioes yn wynebu heriau sylweddol mewn 

bywyd.  Yn ogystal, byddwn yn cytuno yn llwyr bod y galw am y ddarpariaeth 

arbenigol hyn i anghenion mwy cymleth, yn enwedig o fewn anghenion iechyd 

meddwl a lles emosiynol, wedi cynyddu yn amlwg iawn dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf.   

Mae uchelgais a dyhead y Cyngor Sir i ymateb i’r angen a’r twf i’w groesawu’n llawn, 

a hynny drwy sicrhau y lleoedd a’r amgylchedd gorau posib mewn Ysgolion 21ain 

Ganrif.  Drwy weithredu yn y dull hwn, mae’r Cyngor yn hybu cynhwysiant, gofal ac 

uchelgais i ddisgyblion a theuluoedd sy’n wynebu heriau ymarferol a chymleth. 

Byddem fel corff yn falch o weld y cynlluniau hyn yn lleddfu a chynorthwyo’r 

unigolion hynny yn sylweddol yn y blynyddoedd i ddod.   

Canolfan Arbenigol Glantaf 

Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir yng nghyd-destun Canolfan Glantaf sydd yn darparu ar 

gyfer amrediad llawn o anghenion cymleth ADY i’n disgyblion cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

Mae’r Ganolfan wedi’i chartrefu mewn cabanau dros dro a chlwstwr o ystafelloedd 

bach ynghanol Ysgol Glantaf.  Nid oes chyfleusterau ymolchi a thai bach priodol ac 

mae’r adnoddau yn gyfyng a di-raen.  Yn wir, dim ond drwy fuddsoddiad rhaglen 

deledu “Prosiect Pum Mil” yn Haf 2021, y cafodd ein dysgwyr fynediad at ardal 

ddysgu allanol aml-bwrpas, sydd wedi cyfoethogi a thrawsnewid eu profiadau dysgu.  

Rydym yn croesawu y buddsoddiad bychan ers Medi 2021 i ychwanegu ystafell 

ddosbarth ac adnewyddu tai bach arbenigol, ond yn sylfaenol mae’r Ganolfan mewn 

amgylchedd ddysgu anaddas, cyfyng ac anfoddhaol.  Mae’n siom gwirioneddol i ni 

bod dysgwr wedi gorfod gadael Glantaf eleni er mwyn gallu parhau i dderbyn 

cynhaliaeth arbenigol a hynny mewn Canolfan cyfrwng Saesneg oedd â 

chyfleusterau mwy addas a phriodol i’w anghenion. 

Croesawn y buddsoddiad hwn i’r Ganolfan, fydd yn sicrhau adnoddau a chanolfan 

bwrpasol i’n dysgwyr ar gyfer y dyfodol.  Serch hynny, mae’r amserlen yn rhy 

uchelgeisiol, ac mae’n anhebygol iawn y bydd y Ganolfan newydd ar agor erbyn 

Medi 2023.  Gofynnwn am gefnogaeth ymarferol i wella adnoddau ein Canolfan 

presennol i ddiwallu anghenion ein disgyblion hyd nes y bydd y Ganolfan newydd ar 

agor.  Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir er mwyn sicrhau y byddwn yn gallu croesawu a 

darparu yn addas i ddysgwyr newydd ym Medi 2022 a 2023. 

 

Page 1179



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

 

Canolfan Arbenigol Awstistiaeth 

Rydym yn croesawu sefydlu canolfan arbenigol ym maes awstistiaeth yng Nglantaf, 

er yn amheus o allu agor y ganolfan arbenigol erbyn Medi 2023.  Mae’r cyngor yn 

hollol gywir wrth nodi’r twf amlwg yn y galw am gynhaliaeth yn maes awtistiaeth. 

Mae’r twf yn weladwy o fewn yr ysgol ac o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yng 

Nghaerdydd.  Bydd sefydlu’r Ganolfan yng Nglantaf yn estyniad gwych o fewn 

cymuned yr ysgol, yn darparu ffocws i hyfforddi staff ac yn gallu estyn cymorth i 

ddisgyblion i barhau i gynyddu a theimlo croeso o fewn dosbarthiadau ac addysg brif 

ffrwd.  Mae’n holl bwysig bod y Ganolfan hon yn rhan ganolog o fywyd yr ysgol, yn 

darparu hafan rhwydd i unigolion ac yn cynnig cymorth di-rwystr i ddysgwyr sydd ar 

adegau yn teimlo rhwystredigaethau gwirioneddol mewn cymuned ysgol gyfun fawr.  

Llawenhawn hefyd y bydd y Ganolfan hon hefyd yn gallu arloesi i roi cymorth i 

ddysgwyr awstistig trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg.  Bydd buddiannau sefydlu’r ganolfan 

arbenigol yn gymorth i ddysgwyr unigol ac wrth hyfforddi ac ymestyn arfer o dda o 

fewn y gweithlu. Bydd y ganolfan hefyd yn fodd o arloesi cefnogaeth i ysgolion eraill 

gan gefnogi gwaith y sector cyfrwng Gymraeg. 

Er y bwriad i sefydlu’r Ganolfan hon fel cam cyntaf, rydym yn credu bod peidio â 

sefydlu canolfan debyg ar gyfer disgybion oedran cynradd drwy’r Gymraeg yn 

wendid sylfaenol.  Mae’n debygol o wanhau ein gallu i sicrhau llwybr ddysgu gyson a 

gofalgar i ddisgyblion awtistig o’r Cyfnod Sylfaen drwy CA2 ac i’r adran arbenigol 

uwchradd.  Rydym yn ofni bydd nifer o ddisgyblion awtistig yn gadael y sector 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y blynyddoedd cynnar oherwydd y diffyg hwn.  Dylid edrych ar 

sefydlu Canolfan arbenigol oedran cynradd i ddarparu’r gefnogaeth allweddol yma 

yn y blynyddoedd cynnar i gefnogi dysgwyr a’u teuluoedd yn fuan iawn.  Byddai hyn 

yn debyg i’r gefnogaeth awtistig sydd eisioes yn bodoli o fewn y sector cynradd 

cyfrwng Saesneg yng Nghaerdydd.  

Capasiti Glantaf 

Er ein bod fel Corff Llywodraethol yn croesawu’r buddsoddiad yn y ddwy Ganolfan 

mae angen sylw manwl i gapasiti ein campws a’n adeiladau presennol.  Fel y nodir 

yn yr ymgynghoriad, mae addasrwydd adeiladau Glantaf yn disgyn yng Nghategori C 

(er byddai Canolfan Glantaf ar ei phen ei hun, yn debygol o fewn Categori D).  

Dengys hyn nad yw addasiadau i adeiladau presennol yn Glantaf yn debygol o fod 

yn fuddsoddiad gwerth am arian, nac ychwaith yn debygol o fod yn effeithiol wrth 

edrych ar boblogaeth bresennol a niferoedd darogan yr ysgol.  Nodir yng 

nghynlluniau yr Awdurdod y bydd Glantaf o hyd o dan niferoedd capasiti yn y 

blynyddoedd nesaf, ond nid yw hyn yn debygol. 

Niferoedd Presennol a Darogan Glantaf  2021-27     

Niferoedd Bl 7 Bl 8 Bl 9 Bl 10 Bl 11 Bl 12* Bl 13* Cyfanswm 

Medi 
2021 

241 230 238 214 218 111 118 1370 

Page 1180



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Medi 
2022 

240 241 230 238 214 142* 105** 1410 

Medi 
2023 

270 240 241 230 238 139* 132** 1490 

Medi 
2024 

240 270 240 241 230 155* 130** 1506 

Medi 
2025 

240 240 270 240 241 150* 145** 1526 

Medi 
2026 

240 240 240 270 240 157* 142** 1529 

Medi 
2027 

240 240 240 240 270 157* 145** 1532 

 * Cyfradd trosglwyddo 65%: mae’n anodd cadarnhau niferoedd sy’n trosglwyddo 

CA4 > CA5, ond mae’r ysgol wedi sicrhau cyfradd trosglwyddo cadarn o dros 65% 

dros y blynyddoedd diwethaf ac ar adegau dros 70%.  Nod yr ysgol yw cryfhau’r 

gyfradd trosglwyddo hwn ymhellach mewn ymateb i CSGA Cyngor Caerdydd a 

thargedau Llywodraeth Cymru.    ** Mae gostyngiad yn niferoedd Bl 12 > 13 bob 

blwyddyn sydd eto yn anodd ei ddarogan yn fanwl gywir – ond rhoddir awgrym o 

niferoedd yma.  

Mae’r niferoedd uchod yn dangos yn glir nad yw’n rhesymegol nac yn gost effeithiol 

trawsnewid ystafelloedd presennol yr ysgol ar gyfer ystafelloedd arbenigol neu 

ddarpariaeth brif ffrwd oherwydd bod twf ym mhoblogaeth yr ysgol yn mynd i olygu 

bod angen yr ystafelloedd hyn ar gyfer diwallu anghenion ein cwricwlwm a 

phoblogaeth yr ysgol.  

Mae hyn yn arbennig o wir am ein darpariaeth ôl-16 ble mae’r ysgol yn targedu 

cynnal niferoedd trosglwyddo o dros 70% o CA4 i CA5 er mwyn ateb anghenion ein 

disgyblion.  Mae hyn yn ogystal yn diwallu targedau CSGA Cyngor Dinas a Sir 

Caerdydd ac uchelgais blaenoriaeth Llywodraeth Cymru i annog mwy o ddysgwyr i 

barhau â’u haddysg drwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg ôl-16. Mae’n holl bwysig i lwyddiant 

uchelgeisiol y targedau hyn i’r ysgol gael y capasiti angenrheidiol i ymestyn a 

chyfoethogi ein darpariaeth gwricwlaidd presennol. Gallai hynny gynwys cyrsiau 

amgen, cyrsiau galwedigaethol L1/2 a chyrsiau arbenigol (dyweder mewn hyfforddi 

Cynorthwy-wyr Dysgu L1-3) o fewn ein Chweched Dosbarth.  

Nodwn yn glir felly y dylai’r ymgynghoriad hwn sicrhau buddsoddiad digonol i beidio 

â lleihau capasiti adeiladau presennol yr ysgol, ond yn hytrach ymestyn ac ehangu 

ein cyfleusterau a’n hadnoddau.   

Wrth groesawu’r buddsoddiad, rydym yn sylweddoli y bydd yr adeiladu yn golygu 

colli ardal chwarae / cae pêl-droed ac felly nodwn na ddylid cyfyngu yn ogystal ar 

ardalaoedd dysgu presennol yr ysgol.  Yn ogystal dylai’r buddsoddiad mewn addysg 

arbenigol hefyd fod yn fodd o wella ac ehangu ar adnoddau i bob disgybl, a hynny 

drwy sicrhau bod mynediad rhwydd i rannu adnoddau a gweld buddiant y 

buddsoddiad i bob aelod o gymuned Glantaf.  

ADY o fewn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg yng Nghaerdydd 

Page 1181



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Er bod yr ymgynghoriad yn datgan uchelgais didwyll i wella cyfleusterau ADY 

arbenigol i bob disgybl, mae’n eithriadol o siomedig felly nad oes yr un datganiad (ag 

eithrio buddsoddiad Glantaf) i ymestyn darpariaeth a chefnogaeth i ddisgyblion o 

fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg. 

Yn wir mae hwn yn rhyfedd o ystyried bod ymgyngoriad CSGA Caerdydd yn nodi 

bwriad i agor Canolfan Arbenigol ADY mewn tair ysgol gynradd Gymraeg ac ymhob 

un o’r tair ysgol gyfun.  Mae cyhoeddi dogfennaeth strategol sydd ddim yn dangos 

cysondeb cyfeiriad yn maes datblygiad y Gymraeg yn creu dryswch ac yn tanseilio 

ymddiriedaeth rhanddeiliaid.  

Nid yw’r ddogfen chwaith yn cydnabod y twf yn y galw o fewn anghenion dysgu o 

fewn y sector Gymraeg.  Yn wir wrth beidio cydnabod bod yr un gofynion o fewn 

ysgolion Cymraeg (ag sydd yn digwydd o fewn ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg), mae 

methiant i sicrhau cysondeb gweithredu a darpariaeth ar draws y ddwy sector.  

Hoffem gynnig i swyddogion sir wneud awdit buan i ysgol dechreuol pob disgybl o 

fewn unedau ac ysgolion arbenigol Caerdydd ar hyn o bryd.  Byddai hyn yn  canfod 

beth yw’r ganran o ddisgyblion a ddechreuodd eu taith ddysgu mewn cylch meithrin 

neu ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg cyn i rieni ddewis neu orfod symud eu plentyn i addysg 

cyfrwng Saesneg neu addysg arbenigol.  Rydym yn ofni bod nifer o rieni yn gorfod 

wynebu pwysau ymarferol i drosglwyddo eu plentyn o addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg 

oherwydd diffyg mewn adnoddau neu arbenigaeth, a bod hynny wedyn yn lleihau 

cyfleoedd a phrofiadau i’w mab/merch a hynny drwy gyfrwng yr iaith Gymraeg.   

Byddai dadansoddiad o’r fath yn ddangosydd gwerthfawr nid i fesur y 

galw/ddarpariaeth bresennol o fewn y sector, ond i’w ddeall yn nghyd-destun beth 

allai fod, petai’r ddarpariaeth ar gael, yn lleol ac yn addas i bob disgybl.  Ein ofn 

pennaf yn sgil y buddsoddiad sylweddol hwn i (sy’n ffocysu bron yn llwyr ar addysg 

arbenigol cyfrwng Saesneg), yw y bydd hyn yn cryfhau’r pwysau ar rieni i symud eu 

plant ac i orfod dewis addysg cyfrwng Saesneg ar gyfer eu plentyn.  Yn y dyfodol, 

gall rhieni wynebu penderfyniad eithriadol o anodd o ran cadw eu plentyn o fewn 

addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg prif ffrwd heb adnoddau arbenigol, neu ddewis ysgol hardd 

arbenigol 21in Ganrif, ond hynny mewn cyfrwng iaith nad oedd yn ddewis cyntaf nac 

ychwaith efallai o ran eu hawl ieithyddol.           

Rydym yn croesawu’r datganiad gan swyddogion y sir yn ein cyfarfod ymgynghori, y 

bydd cynigion pellach yn fuan iawn ynglyn ag ehangu darpariaeth ADY o ran y 

sector cyfrwng Cymraeg mewn ysgolion cynradd, ond mae’n siomedig na 

chynhwysir hynny  yn yr argymellion hyn.  Edrychwn ymlaen at weld datblygu’r 

argymhellion hyn o fewn y sector Gymraeg, a hynny heb oedi ymhellach.      

Mae’r ymgynghoriad yn nodi’r twf amlwg yn anghenion cymorth arbenigol yn maes 

iechyd meddwl a lles emosiynol disgyblion.  Er hyn, nid oes cydnabyddiaeth bod 

union yr un twf / pwysau yn digwydd mewn ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ogystal ag 

ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg.  Nid oes dim cynllun na bwriad i sefydlu dim darpariaeth 

cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y maes hwn o fewn addysg cynradd nac uwchradd.  Mae 

angen ymateb ar frys i’r galw hwn o fewn ysgolion Cymraeg, sydd ar adegau yn 

methu darparu yn ddigonol i anghenion lles mwy cymleth ein disgyblion mwyaf 

bregus.     

Page 1182



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

I gloi, hoffem bwysleisio bod uchelgais y cynigion i’w canmol ac edrychwn ymlaen at 

weld buddsoddiad sicr i wella addysg ein disgyblion mwyaf bregus.   Yn y gorffennol, 

mae Caerdydd wedi bod yn eithriadol o lwyddiannus drwy dyfu darpariaeth cyfrwng 

Cymraeg.  Y cam nesaf yw’r angen i gynyddu darpariaeth ADY Cymraeg er mwyn 

sicrhau bod y sector yn gynhwysol ac yn medru croesawu pob disgybl, beth bynnag 

fo’i allu.  Mae’n anffodus mewn gwirionedd na fu’n bosib cynyddu capasiti addysg 

arbenigol wrth agor ysgolion cynradd newydd o fewn y sector dros y blynyddoedd 

diwethaf, ac awgrymwn y dylai pob buddsoddiasd newydd o hyn allan gynnwys 

cynlluniau i ateb y galw yn maes ADY.  Edrychwn ymlaen i weld cyhoeddi y CSGA 

diwygiedig er mwyn gweld yn glir sut gellir ateb y galw yn gynnaliadwy a phendant ar 

gyfer y ddegawd hon. 

Edrychwn ymlaen at ddiwygiadau a thrafodaethau agored a chadarnhaol i ymestyn, 

cryfhau a gwella’r cynlluniau hyn ar y cyd ac mewn partneriaeth yn y misoedd a’r 

blynyddoedd i ddod. 

Yn gywir, 
 
 
E Patchell       Matthew H T Evans  
Cadeirydd       Pennaeth  
Corff Llywodraethu 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf  
 

 

28 January 2022   

Glantaf Governing Body Response  

Cardiff City and County Council ALN Consultation 

We welcome the publication of the documentation of Cardiff City and County 

Council's consultation on plans to increase and improve specialist education 

resources across the city.  This is an investment for vulnerable learners and those 

who already face significant challenges in life that the council can be truly proud of.  

In addition, I would agree entirely that the demand for these specialist provision to 

more complex needs, particularly within mental health and emotional well-being 

needs, has increased very noticeably in recent years.   

The County Council's ambition and aspiration to respond to need and growth are to 

be fully embraced by ensuring the best possible places and environment in 21st 

Century Schools.  By taking this approach, the Council promotes inclusion, care and 

ambition for pupils and families facing practical and complex challenges. We as a 

body would be pleased to see these schemes significantly alleviate and support 

those individuals in the coming years.   

Glantaf Specialist Centre 

Page 1183



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

This is particularly the case in the context of the Glantaf Centre which caters for a full 

range of complex ALN needs for our Welsh-medium pupils.  The Centre is housed in 

demountables and a cluster of small rooms in the middle of Ysgol Glantaf.  There are 

no appropriate washing facilities and toilets and the resources are limited and 

substandard.  Indeed, our learners only gained access to a multi-purpose external 

learning area through the investment of the "Project Pum Mil" tv programme in 

Summer 2021, which has enriched and transformed their learning experiences.  We 

welcome the small investment since September 2021 to add a classroom and 

refurbish specialist toilets, but the Centre is basically located in an unsuitable, 

cramped and unsatisfactory learning environment.  We are truly disappointed that a 

learner has had to leave Glantaf this year in order to continue to receive specialist 

support in an English-medium Centre that had more suitable and appropriate 

facilities for their needs. 

We welcome this investment in the Centre, which will secure resources and a 

dedicated centre for our learners for the future.  However, the timetable is too 

ambitious, and it is highly unlikely that the new Centre will be open by September 

2023.  We ask for practical support to improve the resources of our existing Centre 

to meet the needs of our pupils until the new Centre is open.  This is particularly the 

case for ensuring that we will be able to welcome and deliver appropriate provision 

for new learners in September 2022 and 2023. 

 

Autistic Specialist Centre 

We welcome the establishment of a specialist centre in the field of autism at Glantaf, 

although we are sceptical of being able to open the specialist centre by September 

2023.  The council is absolutely right to note the marked growth in demand for 

support in autism. The growth is visible within the school and within Welsh-medium 

schools in Cardiff.  The establishment of the Centre in Glanltaf will be an excellent 

extension within the school community, providing a focus to train staff and enabling 

support to be extended to pupils to continue to make progress and feel welcome 

within mainstream classes and education.  It is vital that this Centre is a central part 

of school life, provides an easy haven for individuals and offers unrestricted support 

to learners who at times feel really frustrated in a large comprehensive school 

community.  

We are also delighted too that this Centre will be able to innovate in providing 

support for autistic learners through the medium of Welsh.  The benefits of 

establishing the specialist centre will be support for individual learners and in training 

and extending good practice within the workforce. The centre will also be a means of 

pioneering support for other schools supporting the work of the Welsh-medium 

sector. 

Despite the intention to establish this Centre as a first step, we believe that failing to 

establish a similar centre for primary age pupils through the medium of Welsh is a 

fundamental weakness.  It is likely to weaken our ability to ensure a consistent and 

caring learning pathway for autistic pupils from the Foundation Phase through KS2 

Page 1184



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

and to the secondary specialist department.  We fear that many autistic pupils will 

leave the Welsh-medium sector in the early years because of this deficiency.  The 

establishment of a specialist primary age Centre to provide this key support in the 

early years in order support learners and their families should be looked at very 

soon.  This would be similar to the autistic support that already exists within the 

English-medium primary sector in Cardiff.  

Glantaf Capacity 

Whilst as a Governing Body we welcome the investment in both Centres, the 

capacity of our existing campus and buildings needs close attention.  As noted in the 

consultation, the suitability of the Glantaf buildings falls within Category C (although 

the Glantaf Centre on its own would likely fall within Category D).  This shows that 

adaptations to existing buildings at Glantaf are unlikely to be a value for money 

investment, nor are they likely to be effective considering the school’s current 

population and predicted numbers.  The Authority's plans note that the numbers at 

Glantaf will still be under capacity in the coming years, but this is unlikely. 

Current and Predicted Numbers at Glantaf 2021-27     

Numbers Yr 7 Yr 8 Yr 9 Yr 10 Yr 11 Yr 12* Yr 13* Total 

September 
2021 

241 230 238 214 218 111 118 1370 

September 
2022 

240 241 230 238 214 142* 105** 1410 

September 
2023 

270 240 241 230 238 139* 132** 1490 

September 
2024 

240 270 240 241 230 155* 130** 1506 

September 
2025 

240 240 270 240 241 150* 145** 1526 

September 
2026 

240 240 240 270 240 157* 142** 1529 

September 
2027 

240 240 240 240 270 157* 145** 1532 

 * 65% transfer rate: it is difficult to confirm KS4 > KS5 transfer numbers, but the 

school has achieved a robust transfer rate of over 65% in recent years and at times 

over 70%.  The school aims to further strengthen this transfer rate in response to 

Cardiff Council's WESP and Welsh Government targets.    ** There is a reduction in 

Yr 12 > Yr 13 numbers each year which is again difficult to predict accurately – but 

an indication of numbers is given here.  

The above numbers clearly show that it is not logical or cost-effective to convert 

existing school rooms into specialist rooms or mainstream provision because growth 

in the school population is going to mean that these rooms will be required to meet 

the needs of our curriculum and the school population.  

This is particularly true of our post-16 provision where the school targets the 

maintenance of transition numbers of over 70% from KS4 to KS5 to meet the needs 

of our pupils.  This also meets the City and County of Cardiff Council's WESP targets 

Page 1185



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

and the Welsh Government's priority ambition to encourage more learners to 

continue their education through the medium of Welsh post-16. It is vital that the 

success of these ambitious school targets has the necessary capacity to extend and 

enrich our existing curricular provision. This could include alternative courses, L1/2 

vocational courses and specialist courses (such as L1-3 Teaching Assistant training) 

within our Sixth Form.  

We therefore make it clear that this consultation should ensure sufficient investment 

not to reduce the capacity of existing school buildings, but rather to extend and 

expand our facilities and resources.   

In welcoming the investment, we appreciate that the construction will mean the loss 

of a play area/football pitch and therefore note that the existing learning areas of the 

school should not be restricted as well.  In addition the investment in specialist 

education should also be a means of improving and expanding resources for all 

pupils, by ensuring that there is easy access to share resources and ensure the 

benefit of the investment to all members of the Glantaf community.  

ALN within the Welsh-medium sector in Cardiff 

The consultation states a genuine ambition to improve specialist ALN facilities for all 

pupils. It is therefore extremely disappointing that there is no statement (with the 

exception of Glantaf's investment) to extend provision and support to pupils within 

Welsh-medium schools. 

Indeed this is strange given that the Cardiff WESP consultation indicates an intention 

to open an ALN Specialist Centre in three Welsh-medium primary schools and in all 

three comprehensive schools.  The publication of strategic documentation that does 

not show consistency of direction in the area of Welsh language development 

creates confusion and undermines the trust of stakeholders.  

Neither does the document recognise the growth in demand in learning needs within 

the Welsh language sector.  Indeed, in not recognising that there are the same 

requirements within Welsh-medium schools (as is the case within English-medium 

schools), there is a failure to ensure consistency of implementation and provision 

across both sectors.  We would like to propose that county officers conduct an early 

audit of every pupil's initial school within Cardiff's specialist units and schools at this 

time.  This would ascertain the percentage of pupils who started their learning 

journey in a Welsh-medium nursery or school before parents chose or had to move 

their child to English-medium or specialist education.  We fear that many parents 

have to face practical pressures to transfer their child from Welsh-medium education 

because of a shortfall in resources or expertise, which then reduces opportunities 

and experiences for their son/daughter through the medium of Welsh.   Such an 

analysis would be a valuable indicator not to measure current demand/provision 

within the sector, but to understand it in the context of what could be if the provision 

were available, local and suitable for all pupils.  Our overriding fear from this 

significant investment (which focuses almost exclusively on English-medium 

specialist education), is that this will increase the pressure on parents to move their 

children and to have to choose English-medium education for their child.  In future, 

Page 1186



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

parents may face an extremely difficult decision in terms of keeping their child within 

mainstream Welsh-medium education without specialist resources, or choosing a 

beautiful 21in Century specialist school, but in a language medium that was not a 

first choice or perhaps in terms of their linguistic right.           

We welcome the statement by county officials at our consultation meeting, that there 

will be further proposals very soon on expanding ALN provision in terms of the 

Welsh-medium sector in primary schools, but it is disappointing that that is not 

included in these recommendations.  We look forward to seeing these 

recommendations developed within the Welsh language sector, without further 

delay.      

The consultation identifies the marked growth in specialist support needs in pupils' 

mental health and emotional well-being.  However, there is no recognition that 

exactly the same growth/pressure is taking place in Welsh-medium schools as well 

as English-medium schools.  There is no plan or intention to establish any Welsh-

medium provision in this area within primary or secondary education.  There is an 

urgent need to respond to this demand within Welsh-medium schools, which at times 

fail to provide adequately to the more complex welfare needs of our most vulnerable 

pupils.     

In conclusion, we would like to emphasise that the ambition of the proposals is to be 

commended and we look forward to seeing secure investment to improve the 

education of our most vulnerable pupils.   In the past, Cardiff has been extremely 

successful in growing Welsh-medium provision.  The next step is the need to 

increase Welsh-medium ALN provision to ensure that the sector is inclusive and able 

to welcome all pupils, whatever their ability.  It is really unfortunate that it has not 

been possible to increase specialist education capacity with the opening of new 

primary schools within the sector over recent years, and we suggest that all new 

investments from now on should include plans to meet demand in ALN.  We look 

forward to seeing the publication of the revised WESP to see clearly how demand 

can be met sustainably and decisively for this decade. 

We look forward to open and positive reforms and negotiations to extend, strengthen 

and improve these plans jointly and in partnership in the months and years ahead. 

Yours sincerely, 
 
 
E Patchell       Matthew H T Evans  
Chairman       Headteacher  
Governing Body 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf  
  

Page 1187



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Cardiff Governors Association 

 

Good afternoon, 

 

As Chair of Cardiff Governors Association, I write to offer my full support for the 

current SOP plans for extending ALN provision within the city. Obviously, each 

individual Chair of Governors involved will represent the views of their own governing 

body. 

 

There is a clear and defined need for more ALN provision across all areas of the city. 

This will only rise over time. My main concern going forward is meeting this 

increased need in a strategic and holistic way. Patently the closer to home 

appropriate and best provision on an individual basis is, the better for all 

stakeholders, especially the children and young people at the heart of all we do. It is 

vital the LA align the replacement Local Development Plan with SOP proposals to 

ensure that the correct, user-friendly, infrastructure is in place before we are 

expecting the implementation of new school places. Habits, once formed, are very 

hard to change. We need to balance meeting the rights of all our children and young 

people, in line with UNCRC and FGWBA with other corporate goals such as One 

Planet Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child Friendly City status. 

 

Cardiff Governors Association works hard with governor colleagues across the city to 

raise issues and concerns for us all to consider and urges colleagues to participate 

in discussion and consultation exercises and consider the broader city-wide and 

Wales-wide landscape within education. We will continue to collaborate with the LA 

to be a critical friend. 

 

Kind regards 

 

Karen Dell’Armi 

 

  

Page 1188



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Merched y Wawr 

 

Annwyl Swyddog,  

 

Ymgynghoriad Cyngor Caerdydd ar ADY 

 

Diolch yn fawr am yr ymgynghoriad ar y cynllun ADY a diolch am y cyfle i ymateb.  

 

Rydym yn falch o weld y sylw i wella y ddarpariaeth ac rydym yn cefnogi yn llwyr 

eich ymrwymiad i gynyddu’r buddsoddiad ar gyfer disgyblion mwyaf bregus ein 

cymunedau. Rhaid hefyd canmol yr ymrwymiad i dyfu arbenigedd staff a chael 

cyfuniad gwell o ganolfannau arbenigol ac hefyd unedau o fewn ysgolion prif-ffrwd 

ledled y ddinas. Mae hyn yn bwysig.  

 

Yr hyn sydd fodd bynnag yn destun pryder, wrth ddarllen y ddogfen ymgynghoriad, 

yw’r diffyg sylw digonol i gynyddu y ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae hyn yn fater 

o ofid mawr i rieni a theuluoedd sydd yn dymuno i’w plant gael addysg cyfrwng 

Cymraeg. 

 

Mae’r ddogfen yn cyflwyno model ble mae buddsoddiad cynyddol yn y sector 

cyfrwng Saesneg ond heb yr un cynnydd yn y ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae 

hynny yn creu sefyllfa sydd yn gorfodi teuluoedd i symud plant gydag anghenion 

dysgu ychwanegol i ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg ble mae darpariaeth gwell, gan 

achosi straen ac anghyfartaledd ychwanegol ar deuluoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg. Mae 

hyn yn groes i amcanion y Llywodraeth ac hefyd yn groes i argymhellion 

ymgynghoriad CSGA/WESP Caerdydd.  

 

Rhaid buddsoddi yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg hefyd er mwyn sicrhau darpariaeth 

gyfartal a di-rwystr sydd wir yn dangos tystiolaeth o bolisi cynhwysol.  

 

Mater o syndod oedd gweld mai data am yr ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg yn unig a 

gafwyd yn y ddogfen ac nad oedd unrhyw gyfeiriad at ddata y sector cyfrwng 

Cymraeg. Argymhellir, felly, bod gwaith yn cael ei wneud ar unwaith i gasglu data 

ynglŷn ag anghenion a phrofiadau plant yn y sector cyfrwng Cymraeg cynradd a bod 

hyn yn cael ei gyflwyno a’i drin fel rhan o’r gwaith ymgynghori a chynllunio. Ar hyn o 

bryd nid yw’r profiadau yma yn cael eu hadlewyrchu yn y ddogfen ac eto mae 

anghyfartaledd dybryd yn wynebu plant ag anghenion addysg ychwanegol sy’n 

dewis addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg – diffyg lle, diffyg adnoddau, diffyg darpariaeth 

arbenigol. Collwyd cyfleoedd enfawr gan Gaerdydd i beidio cryfhau y cyfleoedd a’r 

ddarpariaeth yn yr ysgolion cynradd newydd cyfrwng Cymraeg a sicrhau cyfleoedd 

hafal ar draws y ddinas. Wrth sefydlu canolfannau awtistiaeth ar gyfer y sector 

uwchradd rhaid hefyd cynllunio ar gyfer gwell darpariaeth ar gyfer awtistiaeth yn y 

sector cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg.  

 

Page 1189



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

Mae’n bwysig sicrhau rhaglen hyfforddi gyfoethog cyfrwng Cymraeg i’r staff cyfredol 

ac i ddenu athrawon a gweithwyr arbenigol cyfrwng Cymraeg, gan gynnwys sicrhau 

mwy o ddarpariaeth ar y cyrsiau seicoleg proffesiynol.  

 

Gobeithiwn yn fawr y byddwch yn ystyried o ddifrif y sylwadau hyn wrth i chi fireinio y 

dystiolaeth ac wrth gynllunio ar gyfer darpariaeth addysg anghenion ychwanegol sy’n 

rhan o’ch ymrwymiad i Gaerdydd ble mae’r Gymraeg yn fyw ac yn rhan o bob elfen o 

bolisi.  

 

Yn ddiffuant  

 

Dr Rosina Davies (Cadeirydd Cangen Caerdydd Merched y Wawr) 

 

 

Dear Officer,  

 

Cardiff Council's consultation on ALN 

 

Thank you very much for the consultation on the ALN scheme and thank you for the 

opportunity to respond.  

 

We are pleased to see the attention to improving provision and fully support your 

commitment to increasing investment for the most vulnerable pupils in our 

communities. The commitment to growing staff expertise and having a better 

combination of specialist centres and also units within mainstream schools across 

the city is also to be commended. This is important.  

 

What is worrying however, when reading the consultation document, is the lack of 

adequate attention to increase Welsh-medium provision. This is a matter of great 

distress to parents and families who wish their children to receive Welsh-medium 

education. 

 

The document presents a model where there is increased investment in the English-

medium sector but without the same increase in Welsh-medium provision. That 

creates a situation that forces families to move children with additional learning 

needs to English-medium schools where there is better provision, causing additional 

stress and inequality on Welsh-medium families. This is contrary to the 

Government's objectives and also contrary to the recommendations of the Cardiff’s 

WESP consultation.  

 

Investment must also be made in the Welsh-medium sector to ensure equal and 

barrier-free provision that truly shows evidence of inclusive policy.  

 

It was surprising to see that the document contained only data on the English-

medium schools and that there was no reference to Welsh-medium sector data. It is 

recommended, therefore, that work is undertaken immediately to collect data on the 

Page 1190



EMOTIONAL HEALTH AND WELL BEING PROVISION FOR PRIMARY AND 

SECONDARY AGE PUPILS - Appendix 6: Formal responses 
 

needs and experiences of children in the primary Welsh-medium sector and that this 

is introduced and treated as part of the consultation and planning work. At present 

these experiences are not reflected in the document and yet there is a serious 

disparity facing children with additional education needs who choose Welsh-medium 

education – lack of space, lack of resources, lack of specialist provision. Cardiff 

missed huge opportunities to strengthen the opportunities and provision in the new 

Welsh-medium primary schools and to ensure equal opportunities across the city. In 

establishing autism centres for the secondary sector there must also be planning for 

better provision for autism in the Welsh-medium primary sector.  

 

It is important to ensure a rich Welsh-medium training programme for current staff 

and to attract Welsh-medium teachers and specialist workers, including securing 

more provision on the professional psychology courses.  

 

We very much hope that you will take these comments seriously as you refine the 

evidence and when planning for additional needs education provision that is part of 

your commitment to Cardiff where the Welsh language is alive and part of all 

elements of policy.  

 

Sincerely  

Dr Rosina Davies (Chair of Merched y Wawr’s Cardiff Branch) 

 

Page 1191



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 

 

Summary of the responses received and appraisal of views expressed 

 
Responses received regarding The Court Special School proposal 

 
1. The points of view received as part of the consultation are set out in italics 

below and have been grouped according to the points raised where 

appropriate.   

 

2. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath, under the 

heading “Appraisal of views expressed.” 

 

3. Formal responses were received from: 

 Estyn  

 The Court Special School Governing Body 

 The Court Special School Headteacher  

 The Court Special School Staff 

 Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

 Pen y Bryn Primary School Governing Body  

 
Estyn  

4. It is Estyn’s view that this proposal is likely to at least maintain the standard of 

education provision in the area. However, there are ways in which this proposal 

could be strengthened. 

 

5. The response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full 

response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 The Council has provided a clear rationale for the proposal. It has provided 

a table that sets out the current primary age specialist provision available 

for children with emotional health and wellbeing needs and the projected 

future demand for school places for these pupils. The table shows a current 

deficit in the number of places available in relation to the number of places 

needed. The projections show an increase in these numbers over the next 

few years. The proposed increase in capacity would help to reduce this 

deficit in numbers. In addition, the condition of the buildings at the Court 

special school is very poor, with ‘unsuitable’ learning environments, which 

seriously inhibit the school’s capacity to deliver the curriculum. Under this 

proposal, the buildings currently occupied by the Court special school would 

be vacated. The Council has suitably demonstrated that there is sufficient 

space and capacity at the Fairwater primary school site to accommodate 

pupils and new purpose-built accommodation. The council asserts that the 

Page 1193



current St Mellons, Church in Wales primary school site in Llanrumney will 

be vacant in Autumn 2022 and will transfer to ownership of the council at 

this time. This site is located adjacent to Pen y Bryn primary school and the 

Council intends to work closely with both Pen y Bryn primary school and the 

Court Special School to ensure that the requirements of the building bulletin 

guidance for schools are met. We feel that this could be further strengthened 

with the addition of information about any adjustments which would need to 

take place to these buildings to ensure that they meet the individual needs 

of the pupils at the Court school. For example, specific considerations 

around acoustics or lighting and adequate separation from the primary 

school on the proposed sites.  

 

 The council has provided some detail as to how the proposal would be 

funded. However, it lacks any significant information that details whether 

any savings will be made as a result of the proposal. For example, through 

a reduction in numbers of pupils being placed out of county. The council has 

provided sufficiently detailed descriptions of the proposals and the projected 

timetable for statutory procedures. However, there is no indication of 

timescales for implementation of the proposal, and any proposed interim 

arrangements, which might be necessary for their implementation. 

Furthermore, the school currently funds a psychotherapist, we believe that 

it would be beneficial to explain how continuity of this provision will be 

secured when the school has higher pupil numbers and is split over different 

sites.  

 

 The Council has suitably outlined the benefits and potential disadvantages 

of the proposed changes. The benefits include increasing the number of 

special school places to contribute towards meeting projected demand and 

the establishment of a new school building. The potential disadvantages 

include the difficulties faced by some ALN pupils due to the changes and 

the potential for increased traffic congestion. We feel that this proposal could 

be strengthened with the addition of more detail illustrating how these 

changes will be managed to reduce the impact on learners currently at the 

school. For example, a description of the timescale of changes and whether 

they would take place simultaneously or consecutively. In addition to this, a 

plan which demonstrates if any current pupils would be subject to more than 

one school move. These potential changes could have a significant impact 

on the wellbeing and educational outcomes for this cohort and should be 

managed appropriately to reduce their negative impact. The council has 

outlined mitigation measures to address some potential disadvantages. 

These appear to be fair and reasonable. In addition, the council has 

identified some risks associated with the proposed changes and appear to 

be managing these appropriately.  

 

 The council references a feasibility study that explored possible alternative 

options and says that a few alternative sites were considered but were 

dismissed because of issues around access, site constraints, traffic and 

Page 1194



flood management. However, no further detail has been provided regarding 

this feasibility study.  

 

 The council has suitably considered learner travel arrangements as a result 

of this proposal. It states that it is committed to ensuring that every school 

in Cardiff has an ‘active travel plan’ which identifies actions by the school to 

support and encourage active travel where appropriate and identifies 

improvements needed on-site and off-site to facilitate active journeys.  

 

 The council iterates that there are no planned changes to the council’s 

policies on admission arrangements and learner travel arrangements.  

 

 The consultation paper makes no reference to the impact of this proposal 

on Welsh medium provision within the local authority or how this the 

proposal would support the targets in the local authority’s Welsh in 

Education Strategic Plan (WESP). It talks generally about Welsh medium 

education in Cardiff and references some Welsh medium schools. It is 

unclear therefore how this proposal will impact on Welsh speaking pupils 

with ALN.  

Educational aspects of the proposal  

 The council has suitably considered the impact of the proposal on 

standards, teaching and learning experiences, care support and guidance 

and leadership and management. It has concluded that the proposal is not 

expected to have any negative impact on standards of education or teaching 

and learning experiences. In addition, it intends to work with the leadership 

of both schools to help improve and sustain support, care and guidance and 

ensure that changes are planned carefully so that leadership and 

governance are not disrupted. We feel that this proposal could be 

strengthened by: highlighting how leaders plan to secure the staffing levels 

needed for such a large increase in capacity, showing how these staff will 

be appropriately trained to work with a complex cohort of young people, 

showing how leadership capacity is not negatively impacted by these 

changes.  

 

 The council has included a summary of the last Estyn inspection report for 

the Court special school and Fairwater primary school. Estyn judged that 

The Court special school’s performance and prospects for improvement 

were both good. Also, all inspection areas in Fairwater primary school’s 

inspection report were judged to be good. The council has suitably 

considered the impact of the proposal on vulnerable groups of pupils 

including those who have ALN, those who receive free school meals and 

those who have English as an additional language. It has stated that those 

who have ALN would be supported to enable them to adapt to the changes 

proposed and that there is no information available to suggest that the 

proposals would have a negative effect on the other vulnerable groups of 

pupils.  

Page 1195



 

 The council states that an initial equality impact assessment has been 

carried out and that it concluded that the proposed changes would not 

negatively affect a particular group in society. However, no details of this 

assessment have been provided. The council states that a community 

impact assessment has been undertaken for these proposals and provides 

a link to this assessment. However, there is no such document at this link. 

Also, no comment is made as to the findings from this community impact 

assessment. The council says that it does not anticipate any negative effect 

of the proposal on any local school. In fact, it believes that the proposal 

provides an opportunity for staff at Fairwater primary school and Pen y Bryn 

primary school to work more closely with specialist services in Cardiff and 

that this could enhance the schools’ inclusive teaching and benefit all pupils 

in the school. This seems to be a reasonable and fair assertion.  

 

 The council has not provided any specific details relating to potential 

disruption to pupils as a result of this proposal, however it talks more 

generally about ensuring that the curriculum continues to be delivered and 

that high education and safety standards are maintained. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

6. The Council acknowledges the conclusions of Estyn on the overall merits of the 

proposals. The Council will work closely with the Governing Bodies of The Court 

Special School, Fairwater Primary School and Pen y Bryn Primary School to 

consider the design, site layout, access and buildings arrangements as the 

proposals are developed. Whilst initial development appraisal has been 

undertaken, detailed matters such as acoustics and lighting would be 

considered as part of this process.   

 

7. Whilst there are a number of existing specialist settings across Cardiff, there 

are not enough places available. The number of children who would benefit 

from a place is projected to increase over coming years. As there are not 

enough special school places in Cardiff, the Council has also funded some 

places at special schools in other Council areas or in independent schools. The 

total spend on these places was £6.3m in 2020/21. Of this, approximately 

£2.5m has funded specialist places for those learners with Emotional Health & 

Wellbeing Needs. The budget for 2021/22 for these types of places is currently 

set at £7.3m. 

 

8. The expansion of additional learning needs provision within Cardiff will allow for 

children to be educated closer to home and to maintain links with their local 

communities.  The proposals consulted on represent a significant capital and 

revenue investment which will be partly funded by a reduction in out of county 

costs. 

 

Page 1196



9. The Court Special School currently funds a psychotherapist; if the proposals go 

ahead the Council would support the Governing Body to review the staffing 

models across the two sites to ensure that appropriate support for pupils is 

maintained.   The Council continues to work with schools to identify appropriate 

transition arrangements for pupils with additional learning needs. These 

arrangements are dependent on individual need and are progressed as 

required. This support includes the provision/timing of funding, support with the 

recruitment and training of staff, the identification of needs and ongoing 

reviews.   

 

10. The proposed progression of the new accommodation for The Court Special 

School would be phased with work on the Fairwater site being brought forward 

ahead of the St Mellons site with the current school site remaining operational.  

Pupils would not be subject to more than one school move. 

 

11. The Council has considerable experience in the successful delivery of building 

projects as a result of progressing a large and growing school organisation 

programme.  Any building works carried out would be managed effectively in 

consultation with the schools to ensure that that the full curriculum continues to 

be delivered and that high education standards and safety standards are 

maintained. 

 

12. The Council provides a range of support to specialist support to schools 

including specialist staff, CPD support for staff development, ALNCO forums, 

cluster ALNCO meetings, termly additional learning needs updates for 

Headteachers and regular updates for governing bodies.  The proposed 

changes would be planned carefully so that the school’s leadership and 

governance are not disrupted, which could have a negative impact on 

educational standards.  

 
The Court Special School Governing Body 

 

13. The response from The Court Special School Governing Body included the 

following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 The Court School Governing Body strongly agree with the proposal to 

increase the capacity of the school and considered this to constitute the best 

method of taking ahead the education of the children concerned. 

 

 Given the condition of the Court School site in Llanishen, we also strongly 

agreed with the transfer to new build accommodation on the two sites in 

Fairwater and Llanrumney. 

 

 We felt it important to state at this stage that the principle of a maximum 

number six pupils per class should be adopted in the formulation and 

construction of the school buildings with all classes fully and properly 

resourced. 

Page 1197



 We would hope that the experience of management and staff at The Court 

School would be utilized in both the physical planning of the two school 

sites, i.e., space standards, outside areas and in the ethos and management 

of the schools. We would also hope that the experience and abilities of the 

Governing Body will be fully utilized as well. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

14. The Council welcomes the support of The Court Special School Governing 

Body. 

 

15. The Council supports the principle of a maximum number of six pupils per class 

in planning for the new school facilities.   

 

16. The Council continues to work closely with the Governing Body, management 

and staff of The Court Special School including planning for the new school 

build, staff recruitment and development and supporting the development of the 

school ethos and management.  

 
The Court School – Headteacher  

17. The response from The Court Special School Headteacher included the 

following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 The proposals regarding the Court School are incredibly positive. There is 

clearly a pressing demand for additional Court School places and at present 

we are unable to meet this demand due to the significant accommodation 

issues. The idea of increasing our capacity to 72 is aspirational and it makes 

sense to operate this on the basis of two sites across the city. This way, 

pupils are likely to have stronger links with their communities and may be 

able to consider active travel solutions or spend less time in taxis. 

 

  I am also very supportive of the principle of co-location. Being situated 

within close proximity to mainstream schools will give us opportunities to 

develop close working relationships with colleagues with whom we can 

share expertise and facilities. We are also really excited about the idea of 

developing strong links with local communities.  

 

 This is an exciting opportunity for us to develop into a centre of excellence 

and support schools throughout the city in relation to mental health and 

trauma informed pedagogical approaches. We are very conscious however 

that class sizes need careful consideration and also strongly believe that 

both sites should be new and purpose built.  

 

 The views of; pupils, staff, parents/carers, Governing Body and visiting 

professionals need to be carefully considered as they have a huge amount 

of experience and knowledge to impart. In addition, we would like officers to 

plan and implement alongside stakeholders.  

Page 1198



 

 Staffing structures need careful consideration at this early stage and there 

needs to be a significant period of ‘overlap’ where new staff have the 

opportunity to refine their skills alongside more experienced colleagues. In 

addition, all staff need to have opportunities to grow and develop within the 

school and need access to good quality, sector specific and evidence-based 

professional development. The wellbeing of staff also needs to be 

prioritised, e.g. excellent staff ‘rest and restore’ spaces and access to 

showers, as our sector can be incredibly demanding both emotionally and 

physically. Therefore, we need to be in a position where we can attract high 

quality new staff and retain our skilled and talented workforce.  

 

 We work with fabulous and incredibly complex/vulnerable children and work 

relentlessly to maximise their potential. From my perspective we need our 

unique and very special provision to grow and develop and I look forward to 

working with LA staff/project managers to make this ambition a reality.  

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

18. The Council welcomes the support of The Court Special School Headteacher. 

 

19. Issues related to class size at The Court Special School are addressed at 

paragraph 15. 

 

20. Issues related to school engagement as part of the build process are addressed 

at paragraph 16. 

 

21. HR People Services will work with the Governing Body and Headteacher to 

address the HR implications arising from the expansion of the school and the 

resulting need for additional staffing.  

 

22. Additionally, support will be provided around the sharing of best practice, staff 
continuing professional development, transition and reintegration and 
curriculum development. 

 
The Court Special School Staff 

 

23. A response from the staff at The Court Special School included the following 

points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 
Positive 

 Class sizes – please stick to 6 per class 

 An opportunity to build a better future for some of the most vulnerable and 

forgotten about children 

 New infrastructure 

 Building ‘fit for purpose’ therapeutic spaces 

 Purpose built building 

Page 1199



 New build/ new ideas / new vision 

 Environment fit for the learners (deserve better than what is here at the 

moment) 

 
Concerns 

 Boundaries between the schools 

 Staff recruitment – ideal to have an overlap where new staff can learn from 

current staff 

 We feel like we’ll be given what we’re given and our voices aren’t really 

going to be listened to 

 Kids in their local communities’ school vandalised, kids running home 

 What staff are going to what site? Staff need to be able to plan for things 

such as traffic, childcare etc. 

 With the boundaries, will the other school be ok to deal with what they might 

hear? 

 How do we maintain ‘one school’ feel across two sites? 

 We have good links with the village, able to practise ‘life skills’ Will this 
continue? 

 
Opportunities 

 Staff development 

 Becoming a centre of excellence 

 Facilities on-site that could really benefit our pupils – outdoor gym for 

example 

 TA progression 

 Chance to work with other agencies in a positive way 

 Opportunities for the learners to benefit from ‘proper’ facilities and services 

 Staff to develop/learn new skills 

 Staff team to grow 

 Training opportunities 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
24. The Council welcomes the support of the staff at The Court Special School. 

 
25. Issues related to school engagement as part of the build process are addressed 

at paragraph 16. 

 

26. Issues related to staff opportunities are addressed at paragraphs 16 and 22. 

 
Fairwater Primary School Governing Body  

27. A response from Fairwater Primary School Governing Body included the 

following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 

Page 1200



 The Governing Body fully understand and support the need to increase the 

capacity of The Court Special School, along with the need to relocate the 

school to a more suitable premises. We have met as a Governing Body to 

discuss the impact the proposals on our school. Our collective response is 

that at this time we are not in a position to support the proposals directly 

involving our school pending clarification of the following issues: 

 

Driveway/Access 

 Access to the site is already an issue and we have concerns that utilising 

only the current entrance will not offer a satisfactory solution. Would it be 

possible to utilise access from V21 (Bwlch Road) to make a one way in, one 

way out entrance/exit or separate entrance for each school? 

 There are concerns around segregation and safeguarding. How will parents 

and children access the two schools independently to ensure safeguarding 

and ensure there are no behavioural issues to protect our children. 

 Wellwright Road is already very busy, increased traffic from Taxi's/Buses 

and parents parking would add to this. The residents are already 

complaining to the School and Council regarding the current issues. 

 There was a mention of 10-15 extra taxis/minibuses per day, we currently 

have 4-5 per day and they (mainly) come before and after pupils start and 

end their day to minimise disruption. How would this be managed with the 

new school? 

 Will you be creating a better entrance for construction traffic and the school 

to segregate the two prior to works starting? 

 If construction traffic moves through that entrance will it be outside of core 

school hours (e.g. drop off and pick up)? 

 

Perimeter Fence 

 Would the fence be erected before construction works to ensure the security 

of the site and protection of our children from workers/contractors? 

 If there needs to be a gap between the new fence and the existing 

properties, what safeguarding put in place to stop residents 

communicating/talking to the children through the fence? 

 As above, how would we stop rubbish and grass etc. accumulating, is the 

school responsible for this or the general council landscapers? 

 Once the fence is erected, would this define the school boundary in terms 

of responsibility for maintaining the grounds? 

 

Buildings 

 We would like clarification of the proposed building location on site so that we 

can understand how much space we would have left (e.g. would we retain the 

sports field) and to ensure enough separation so that the children do not come 

into contact with each other. 

 Many repairs and improvements have been put off at Fairwater due to the 

possible expansion, will the schools current state be re-evaluated and works 

completed where possible now that the expansion is off the table? 

Page 1201



School Organisation 

 We support the schools being separated in terms of having individual heads 

and Governing Bodies. We would like more information on how the schools 

could work together to benefit each other although have concerns about the 

impact on our staff (e.g. staff migrating to the other school, jobs etc.) 

 Can we speak to another other school that shares a site with a special school 

currently, this may help us understand how they can work together effectively? 

 We would like more clarity on what is meant by 'bringing the Court School into 

mainstream' - will our school need to support/be responsible for these children? 

 Can you help us understand the range of issues that children at Court school 

have? 

 What impact will it have on our current wellbeing unit children, who don't 

currently mix with mainstream? 

 What impact will it have on our current mainstream children? 

 We recognise that collaborating on ALN practices and expertise etc. between 

schools would be of benefit. 

 
Nursery Provision 

 We have been looking at providing a Nursery provision at Fairwater for a 

number of years. This again was put on hold due to possible expansion plans. 

 We believe that a Nursery provision will boost numbers into reception (parents 

are currently driven to other school with nurseries) 

 This will give us an early indication of ALN issues (better to intervene early) 

 We can build communication with parents and start a community prior to joining 

reception 

 Currently there is no benefit to the residents of Wellwright road in the proposals 

you have provided, by adding the benefit of a nursery we believe this will make 

the proposals more palatable to them 

 We have a demountable building that is very close to the end of its life, we were 

due to spend £11,000 on repairs to the building out of our own money. This 

would provide an opportunity for the Council to help us achieve a Nursery 

provision whilst we can contribute to a replacement demountable building for 

both the Nursery and our developing Community Hub. 

 We look forward to working with you to explore the various options that we 

believe can benefit both the Court School and Fairwater Primary School. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
28. The Council acknowledges the concerns expressed by Fairwater Primary 

School Governing Body.   
 

29. The school has a generous site of approximately 4.8Ha and has been identified 

as of sufficient size to be shared with a new-build special school.  Although 

Fairwater Primary School makes full use of its site and buildings, the size and 

configuration of the site would support the development of a new special school. 

Fairwater Primary School would still retain a site which exceeds the site size 

requirements of a large community primary school. 

Page 1202



 

30. The development of the proposal would be progressed in partnership with the 

Headteachers and Governing Bodies and would consider fully the concerns 

raised and appropriate ways in which these could be mitigated including phased 

implementation, accommodation requirements, site layout options, access and 

egress arrangements, traffic management, transition planning and Outreach 

support. 

 

31. The Council would work closely with each school to consider the design, layout, 

access and buildings arrangements as the proposals are developed. Whilst 

initial development appraisal has been undertaken, these detailed matters 

would be considered at a later stage with the design/layout of any new build 

allowing for suitable distance and security with the integrity of both mainstream 

and special school provision maintained. 

 

32. The majority of The Court pupils would be eligible for Learner Transport in 

shared taxis or by minibus.  The site access would be designed for efficient 

access by this small number of vehicles.   

 

33. An appropriately sized drop-off and pick-up area would be incorporated in a 

safe, secured area within the site.   

 

34. The existing Wellbeing class at Fairwater Primary School continues to be an 

important part of citywide emotional health and wellbeing support for primary 

aged pupils and this is intended to continue. 

 

35. The co-location of specialist and mainstream provision provides the opportunity 

to build partnerships and develop collaborative working practices which would 

benefit both schools. 
 

36. The establishment of nursery provision at Fairwater Primary School is out 
outside of the scope of the proposal consulted on and would be considered 
separately. 
 

Pen y Bryn Primary School Governing Body  
 

37. A response from Pen y Bryn Primary School included the following points: (a 

copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6) 

 
 Whilst the Governing Body of Pen y Bryn Primary School are in general 

terms supportive of the proposals there are the following concerns which 

the Governing Body would like to highlight. 

 

 The Head teacher and Chair of Governors have been approached to 

discuss the redesignation of a slice of land on the Pen y Bryn site to 

accommodate the Court School proposal. The slice of land adjacent to the 

early years area of the school has been developed over recent years and 

Page 1203



now includes a forest school area, orchard and planters. The Governing 

Body would like to seek reassurance that the school would be compensated 

and those features replaced elsewhere on the school site. 

 The removal of this slice of land also prohibits planned projects which was 
to install playground equipment on an area of land, and it also cuts through 
the school’s football pitch. Again the Governing Body would like to seek 
reassurance that the school will be appropriately compensated to ensure 
the development is not to the detriment to the children of Pen Y Bryn. 

 
 Given the close proximity between the early years area of Pen Y Bryn and 

the boundary of the proposed Court School, the Governing Body would like 
to seek clarity on the design of the Court School to ensure the layout allows 
for suitable distance and security between the two schools’ playing areas.  

 
 The Governing Body would also be keen to understand the traffic 

management implications of the site given it fronts onto a narrow road which 
is often fully parked along one side. 

 
 The Governing Body would also like to seek reassurance as to how the 

safety of children in Pen Y Bryn will be ensured during the construction 
phase of the site.  

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
38. The Council welcomes the support of Pen y Bryn Primary School. The proposed 

transfer of The Court Special School to the vacated St Mellons CiW Primary 

School site adjacent to Pen y Bryn Primary School has been discussed with the 

school.  The Council will continue to work closely with the school to agree a 

revised boundary and ensure that the relocation of existing facilities meets the 

requirements of Pen y Bryn Primary School.  

 

39. Whilst initial development appraisal has been undertaken, these detailed 

matters would be considered at a later stage with the design/layout of any new 

build allowing for suitable distance and security with the integrity of both Pen y 

Bryn Primary School and The Court Special School maintained. 

 
40. There are good public transport links via Llanrumney & Countisbury Avenue 

and also from Newport Road which are within short walking distance for staff 

access. There is good walking route accessibility for local pupils and staff.   

 

41. Cycleway 2 is planned along this section of Newport Road.  A short-medium 

term future phase will replace the existing cycle lanes provision on this busy 

main road.   

 

42. There are current parking issues outside the adjacent Pen Y Bryn Primary along 
Dunster Road.  While the Transport team is monitoring the situation and 
reviewing the need for additional measures and parking controls outside all 

Page 1204



schools, the need for any additional measures outside the proposed site would 
be considered as part of that process.   

 
43. The Council has significant experience in the successful delivery of building 

projects as a result of progressing a large and growing school organisation 
programme.  
 

44. Any building work carried out would be managed effectively in consultation with 

the schools included in these proposals to ensure that the curriculum continues 

to be delivered and that high education standards and safety standards are 

maintained, with minimal disruption to pupils and staff. 

 
Engagement with The Court Special School pupils 

 
45. The pupils liked the idea of a new school buildings/facilities; the school currently 

had broken heating and the windows could not be opened.  They would like 

better facilities with more suitable rooms/spaces to do things.  They provided a 

range of ideas for what they would like to be provided including improved sports 

facilities (internal and external), quiet areas, outside space and equipment, an 

outdoor classroom, craft and music rooms. 

 
46. They also wanted practices such as earning tokens throughout the week to 

spend on Fridays to be maintained. 

 

 
Fairwater Primary School Pupil representation  

 

47. The children were happy with the idea of having another school on their site 

overall.   

 

48. The points raised included related to any loss of playground space, whether 

there would be opportunities to play with the children from the other school, the 

age range of the new school, access arrangements and the location of the new 

school on the site. 

 

 

49. Notes of the meetings can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
50. The Council welcomes the support for the proposed expansion of The Court 

Special School.  

 

51. The development of the proposal would be progressed in partnership with the 

Headteacher and Governing Body and would consider fully the concerns raised 

and appropriate ways in which these could be mitigated including, phased 

Page 1205



implementation, accommodation requirements, site layout options, traffic 

management, transition planning and Outreach support. 

 

 

Other responses received 
 
Potential for increased traffic around the Fairwater Primary School site 

 
52. Responses from local residents included general concerns about increased 

traffic.   
 

53. The location is in a residential area that does not have the road access 
infrastructure to cope with the extra vehicular traffic that the proposal would 
cause. There are significant parking and road safety issues associated with 
Fairwater Primary School already. A second school on the same site would 
exacerbate these issues. 
 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 

54. The location of a special school with 36 places would have a relatively low 

number of journeys to the site, compared to other schools. 

 

55. Few parents would commute to the school site as a high proportion of learners 

would travel by free home to school transport in shared vehicles, which would 

collect and drop off learners within the school site. 

 

56. For parents who travel to the shared site, there are very good public transport 

links with several bus services a short walk from the school.  Waun-gron Park 

rail station is approximately 0.75 miles (1.2km) from the school. 

 
57. There is good walking route access to the school and good existing and 

proposed cycling links. Short term improvements are due through the Ely Mill 

development with links via Cycleway 5 to the city centre.  The Ely Trail runs 

along Bwlch Road immediately to the south of the site and continues to Cardiff 

Bay of varying standards: traffic-free/ on-road.  Signed routes link through 

Canton to the city centre with medium term improvements due for on-road light 

segregation cycle tracks. 

 
58. A recent Transport Assessment for this site identified acceptable traffic impact 

due to a comparable (but larger) development.  

 
59. Further various facilities for walking and cycling, including upgrading of the 

Bwlch Road crossing are proposed in the Fairwater area for another school 

project with provision due by late 2023.  These would also improve walking and 

cycling access to/from Ely south of railway line and river Ely and north east 

through Fairwater, Llandaff and the wider network.    

Page 1206



 
60. The proposed location at the Fairwater Primary School site would give potential 

for a separate second access from the existing primary school access.   

 
61. The development proposals may require a revised Transport Assessment 

which will confirm measures to be included as part of the application to 

maximise travel by sustainable modes and identify any further provision relating 

specifically to a proposal for The Court.    
 

62. The consultation sought views at the formative stage on school organisation 

proposals to expand and transfer The Court Special School.   
 

63. Whilst initial development appraisal has been undertaken, detailed matters 

such as where any new school build would be located would be considered at 

a later stage.  Any design taken forward would be developed in partnership with 

the school and the appointed contractor would be subject to statutory planning 

processes which allow for all interested parties to comment on and inform what 

is delivered. 

 

Dissatisfaction with the Band B 21st Century Schools Programme expansion of 

Fairwater Primary School not being progressed 
 

 Approximately three years ago, the LEA advised that Fairwater Primary was to 

be developed and expanded to a 2 class per year facility, with nursery provision. 

In 2020, the LEA " pulled the rug" on the expansion plan citing falling local birth 

rates as grounds. It was only approximately 6 months ago that the LEA revealed 

its true intention for the Fairwater Primary site. As a Governor, I feel 

sandbagged, bitter and betrayed by the LEA's handling of this issue. 

 

 There are other sites, in Cardiff West, that the LEA could use for ALN Provision. 
For example, LEA land at Fitzalan and Michaelston High Schools could be 
utilised. There are also various greenfield opportunities at school playing fields 
in Cardiff West. I can only hope that the LEA reconsiders its position on this 
matter. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

64. The Council acknowledges the concerns raised.   

 

65. In accordance with the required timescales for the submission of Band B 21st 

Century Programme funding bids by Local Authorities, the Council submitted 

its list of prioritised schemes to Welsh Government in 2017. This included a 

proposal to expand Fairwater Primary School. 

 

66. The Council’s 2017 bid outlined sufficiency issues in some parts of the city 

owing to low levels of surplus places in some schools, planned housing 

developments including the Ely Mill development in Canton, and birth rates 

Page 1207



remaining at high levels following a peak in 2011/ 2012. Data available to the 

Council in 2017, sourced from the NHS in 2016, informed the Council’s Band B 

priority schemes. 

 

67. In September 2016, 4,339 children entered Reception year. There was a 5% 

surplus of places at reception and a 6.4% surplus in the other year groups of 

the mainstream primary sector (ages 4-11). 

 

68. However, since 2017, birth rates have reduced significantly. Intakes to primary 

schools city-wide fell to 3,824 in 2021 and are projected to fall further in the next 

three years. Intakes to Fairwater Primary School also fell to 17 pupils in Autumn 

2021. 

 

69. Projections taking account of data supplied by the NHS indicates that intakes 

to schools will fall further in coming years and that there is no need to increase 

the number of primary school places in many parts of the city. 

 

70. The Council has identified the Fairwater Primary School site as suitable for 

redevelopment taking account of its size of c 4.8Ha.  The Building Bulletin 

guidelines for primary schools indicate that the site would be sufficient to 

accommodate the proposed special school in addition retaining a generous site 

for a 2 form entry primary school previously proposed. 

  

Page 1208



Responses received regarding the proposal for Greenhill School  

71. The points of view received as part of the consultation are set out in italics 

below and have been grouped according to the points raised where 

appropriate.   

 

72. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath, under the 

heading “Appraisal of views expressed.” 

 

73. Formal responses were received from: 

 Local Members – Cllr Jayne Cowan, Cllr Adrian Robson, Cllr Oliver Owen              

(Rhiwbina Ward) 

 Estyn  

 The Greenhill School Governing Body 

 The Greenhill School Senior Leadership Team  

 

Local Member responses  

 

74. Councillors submitted a joint response. The response included the following 

points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6)  

 

 We are opposed to the proposals for Greenhill Special School. The school 

continues to receive Green Status with Good Improvements and that is in 

no small part to the exceptional teaching at the site, and the positioning of 

the school and Sixth Form. Rhiwbina is a wonderful community and one 

which supports the school.  

 

 We cautiously welcome the additional number of pupils and look forward to 

receiving the risk assessment relating to the Ty Glas proposals, including 

which other school/businesses etc. will join the school on the site. 

 

 We are vehemently opposed to the school being totally removed from 

Rhiwbina. It works well here. It could be rebuilt here. We are also 

vehemently opposed to part of the school being moved to the Garden 

Centre on a roundabout/junction which is exceptionally busy and not 

suitable. The pupils from the school have considerable additional needs and 

if they left the site, would be in unfamiliar surroundings with obvious 

dangers. 

 

 We sincerely hope that the Cabinet will not support this move as it will be 

highly detrimental to the pupils.  

 

Estyn  
 
75. A response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full response 

can be seen at Appendix 7) 

Page 1209



 

 This proposal sits alongside others that seek to achieve a more equitable 
provision to better meet the current and future additional learning needs of 
pupils, across the City and is broadly welcomed. The proposal would result 
in a 150% increase in the number of pupils on roll. It is not clear which year 
groups are likely to be most affected by the increase, whether or how this 
increase will be managed over time, or the resultant impact on pupil 
transition or staffing including leadership. Estyn considers that the proposal 
is likely to, at least, maintain the standard of education provision in the area.  

 

 The proposer has provided a clear rationale for extending the capacity of 
Greenhill School. It articulates clearly how the local authority is unable to 
meet the demands for school places for pupils with emotional and wellbeing 
needs. However, the proposal does not provide clear rationale for 
developing the school on two separate sites, albeit 4 miles apart. The 
consultation document states that Greenhill is currently, and will in the future 
continue to be, a mixed sex school and that there are ‘no planned changes’ 
to the admissions policy. The consultation document notes that the pupils 
currently on roll are boys. Estyn’s inspection of the school in 2013 noted that 
all the pupils on roll were boys. The consultation does not provide a clear 
enough account of both existing and future provision for girls and whether 
the needs of girls with emotional health and wellbeing needs are being met 
appropriately.  

 

 The proposer states that pupils admitted to Greenhill have a statement of 
special education needs. To comply with the Additional Learning Needs and 
Education Tribunal [Wales] Act the proposer needs to consider the 
admission of pupils with individual development plans also. The proposal 
includes information on how the local authority categorises their school 
buildings and how the current Greenhill site is not fit for redevelopment as it 
is rated C for condition (Poor with major defects) and D (Very poor) for 
suitability, with ‘unsuitable’ learning environments, which seriously inhibit 
the school’s capacity to deliver the curriculum.  

 

 The proposal provides sufficient evidence on the projected timescales and 
how this is subject to planning permissions of the two sites and the relevant 
funding being secured. However, less clear is what arrangements will be in 
place to meet expected demand if the proposal does not progress. The 
proposal explains well how The Dutch Garden Centre site could be 
developed. The Council’s Cabinet have given permission to acquire the 
land, the area is designated as Green Wedge meaning that the status of the 
area can be reviewed in line with the Local Development Plan. The local 
authority has already undertaken feasibility work and relevant feasibility 
assessments. The findings of these indicate that the design of the school 
and its landscaping would need to be taken into consideration to be 
consistent with its location. The Council’s Cabinet has also agreed the 
acquisition of the Ty Glas site formally occupied by HMRC.  

 

 The proposal sets out well how this provision could appropriately support 
the provision at The Dutch Garden Centre site as well as possible 

Page 1210



mainstream provision. The proposal explains adequately how any new 
building would comply with Welsh Government funding conditions, such as 
BREEAM certification. The design process however has yet to commence 
but it does describe how detailed designs would be agreed with the 
headteacher and governing body. The input of children and young people 
into developing plans would be integral to project implementation at all 
stages. There would also be opportunities for stakeholders to comment on 
detailed plans at the pre-planning and planning application stages, should 
the proposal be progressed.  

 

 The proposal considers suitable alternatives and outlines the possible 
benefits, disadvantages, and risks, appropriately. Nearly all pupils currently 
travel to Greenhill site by pupil transport provided by the local authority. It is 
proposed that this would still be the case for pupils who would attend the 
Dutch Garden Centre site. However, pupils attending the Ty Glas site would 
have a greater potential to use active travel connections, this being of a 
potential benefit to the pupils. The proposal does acknowledge the travel 
risks of the Dutch Garden Centre site and proposes a transport assessment 
takes place if the consultation is successful. 

 

 The proposal lays out well how the cost of the builds would be met and how 
further work will be undertaken to establish whether there would be further 
savings for those pupils who are placed out of county for their education due 
to the lack of specialised school spaces. The proposal appears to provide 
effective opportunities for stakeholders, organisations, and members of the 
public to respond. The process is clearly set out with timescales and how 
the consultation will be used.   

 

 The proposal outlines the intention to increase the number of post-16 places 
further. We welcome this development. It states that the majority of pupils 
from special schools are not able to sustain successful transitions to further 
education, training or employment. However, there are no specific 
references to the curriculum to be offered or any partnership approach to be 
adopted in meeting the needs of this group of learners. The proposal 
recognises that for this group of pupils that change, and disruption needs to 
be carefully managed and that plans would need to be implemented to 
support this. It is proposed that the current staff employed at Greenhill 
School would remain which would support this change. The proposal 
includes how the local authority would work with the school, its governing 
body and parents to ensure that the proposed changes would be carefully 
planned so that governance, leadership and pupil welfare and their 
education would not be disrupted.  

 

 The proposal outlines the possibility of Greenhill being used as an 
alternative to placing pupils in out of county provision. However, beyond the 
statement, no further information is provided. Neither is it clear what impact 
increasing the provision at Greenhill will have on other settings that currently 
make provision for secondary aged pupils with emotional health and 
wellbeing needs. In considering the impact of the proposal on the quality of 
outcomes, provision and leadership and management, the local authority 

Page 1211



has listed the most recent Estyn inspection outcomes and the Welsh 
Government categorisation outcomes for Greenhill School.  

 

 The proposal recognises the need for 21st learning environments for its 
pupils that are appropriate and of a high standard to reflect the needs of the 
‘Curriculum for Wales’ due to be implemented in Welsh Schools in 2022. 
The new curriculum should provide breadth, enable greater depth of 
learning, ensure better progression, provide scope for more imaginative and 
creative use of time and place and a much greater emphasis on skills. New 
and improved school facilities will help support this vision. Overall, there is 
very little detail on the proposed curriculum. Examples have been provided 
on how the Dutch barn site could provide vocational and work-related 
experiences such as horticulture and animal care. However, it is not clear 
how the curriculum will relate to local market information, the role of local 
providers such as further education and training organisations. Also unclear 
is whether pupils from either of the two proposed sites would benefit from 
the provision that each site could offer. 

 

 The proposal explains well how the current building limits these 
opportunities as well as limiting the number of pupils that can attend. The 
proposal states that the new buildings would be fully accessible and 
compliant with the Equality Act 2010. However, the consultation does not 
outline how the council will specifically cater for the needs of children and 
young people with emotional health and wellbeing needs in the design and 
build of the proposed sites. In addition to the facilities included [page 18] the 
design process should consider appropriately how the accommodation, on 
both sites, will meet the sensory needs of pupils. We note that a joint review 
of health and specialist provision in Cardiff special schools and the pupil 
referral unit will inform the design of specialist provision.  

 

 Greenhill School was last inspected by Estyn in March 2013. At this time the 
school’s performance and prospects for improvement were both judged as 
‘Good’. An assessment provided by the Central South Consortium in 
autumn 2021 stated that many pupils make increasingly rapid progress 
across the whole curriculum and school pupil information clearly indicates 
that progress rates are successfully improving year on year. In the most 
recent Welsh Government school categorisation in January 2020, Greenhill 
School was categorised as Green. This means that Greenhill School is a 
highly effective school which is well run, has a strong leadership and is clear 
about its priorities for improvement. The proposal considers the provision 
for the Welsh language, appropriately. It references the implementation of 
the LA Welsh Language policy. It appears that there would be no negative 
impact on the Welsh language provision for these pupils. It does reference 
the lack of Welsh Language provision for pupils with additional learning 
needs, however this proposal does not address this shortfall.  

 

The Greenhill School Senior Leadership Team  

 

Page 1212



76. A response from the Headteacher, Deputy Headteacher and Assistant 

Headteacher included the following points: (a copy of the full response can be 

seen at Appendix 6) 

 

 When we consider the sites, we would like to make the following 

comments. The two sites, one with a rural situation which is perfect for all 

aspects of forest schools' education and the other with an urban situation 

within the same post code of the current school, is perfect for travel 

training, visiting shops and providing services for the community. 

 

 We do, however, have a few concerns which we would like to voice at this 

juncture. The Garden Centre site which is eight acres, is a perfect size and 

has great potential for the students of Greenhill but the proximity of the 

motor way raises concerns that we hope to overcome working together with 

the Local Authority as there are access issues. We would also hope that 

the local Authority would be able to redirect some of the bus routes as 

currently the bus route does not extend to the site. This would help to make 

the site more accessible to parents and some of the students who are able 

to travel independently  

 

 Travel between the two schools would also need careful consideration. If 

staff were required to teach in both venues, there are the issues of timings 

and traffic delays to consider which would impact the school day. I realise 

that this is largely a timetabling and management issue for the school but 

is something we should consider from the outset. 

 

 On the whole however, the garden centre site with its rural aspect, 

overall size of eight acres, gang neutral postcode will provide a good 

site for a 21st century specialist provision for students with severe and 

complex social emotional and mental health issues. 

 

 The CF14 venue is a good site for a specialist provision for SMEH 

students. However, we are aware that there will be a mainstream 

secondary school on the same site, and this may cause issues. The 

shared boundary needs careful thought and planning, as does the 

positioning of the school buildings. 

 

 The proposed size of the site (of five acres) is considered to be a little tight 

but again with careful planning and thought will be workable. Perhaps the 

size of the site is something that could be discussed at a later date. 

Furthermore, we would also like to stress that it is not appropriate for 

Greenhill School to share facilities with a mainstream school and will be 

pleased to receive further reassurances that Greenhill Special School will 

not share any facilities with the mainstream school. 

 

Page 1213



 The opportunity to expand the provision on two purpose-built sites is 

unquestionably a once in a lifetime opportunity. The new sites with bespoke 

facilities for vocational education, specialist resource rooms for the new 

Welsh curriculum, therapy and conference facilities, opportunities for forest 

schools' experiences and travel training will help to future proof education 

for this very vulnerable section of society. As senior staff we look forward 

to working with the build team to help design the new schools and the 

facilities of the campuses. We hope that we will see the school's vision 

materialised as we seek to provide a therapeutic approach to education. 

Greenhill Special School Pupil representation 
 

77. The pupils supported an increase in the capacity of the school as this would 

allow for a greater number of young people to benefit from the opportunities 

provided by the school. 

 

78. They liked the idea of a new school buildings/facilities and provided a range of 

ideas for what they would like to be provided including improved sports facilities 

(internal and external), cooking facilities, quiet areas, outside space that could 

be developed as a garden/small animal area, separate sixth form provision and 

a community/parent space. 

 

79. They were however concerned about the location of the Dutch Garden Centre 

site close to the M4 motorway / junction and the potential risks around this.   

 

80. The co-location of a mainstream secondary school site was also a concern and 

the potential difficulties associated with this.   

 

81. At present all of the Greenhill School pupils are boys, many of whom have not 

been in a mixed school with girls. Some of the pupils attended primary schools 

with girls, but they felt it was different as the pupils become older, as there is 

the possibility of relationships between the pupils which could cause difficulties.  

 

82. Notes of the pupil meetings can be seen at Appendix 4. 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
83. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

Greenhill School. 
 

84. It is however acknowledged that a number of issues have been raised in 

relation to the proposed sites, concerns around safety, the need to maintain a 

supportive one school ethos and the provision of Welsh-medium additional 

learning needs provision. 

 

Page 1214



85. It is therefore proposed that further feasibility work is undertaken around the 

appropriateness of the sites for the accommodation of emotional health and 

wellbeing provision for learners aged 11 – 19.  

 
86. This will include consideration of: 

 

 the proximity of the Dutch Garden Centre site to the M4/motorway junction 
and the management of risks associated with this e.g., site mitigations, pupil 
management and supervision. 
 

 public transport access to the Dutch Garden Centre site. 
 

 the area of land in m2 available at the Ty Glas site for Greenhill school and 
site layout options. 

 
87. The demolition of the vacant buildings on the Ty Glas site is to be progressed 

in 2022/23.  This would allow for redevelopment of the site for education 

purposes at the earliest opportunity. This will also support the Council in 

managing the ongoing security and maintenance costs related to the vacant 

site.  

 
88. The points raised during the consultation will be further appraised prior to 

bringing forward revised proposals for the provision of secondary English-
medium and Welsh-medium education health and wellbeing special school 
places. 

 
  

Page 1215



Responses received regarding Cardiff West Community High School and 
Eastern High School 
 
89. The points of view received as part of the consultation are set out in italics 

below and have been grouped according to the points raised where 

appropriate.   

 

90. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath, under the 

heading “Appraisal of views expressed.” 

 

91. Formal responses were received from: 

 Estyn  

 Cardiff West Community High School Governing Body 

 Cardiff West Community High School Headteacher 

 Eastern High School Governing Body and Headteacher  

 

Cardiff West Community High School Governing Body response  

 

92. A response from the Cardiff West Community High School Governing Body 

included the following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at 

Appendix 6) 

 

 The governing body support the formalisation of the 20 additional ALN 

places at Cardiff West CHS for our students with emotional health and 

wellbeing needs. We discussed our concerns with you in detail at this 

meeting and agreed a site visit by Richard Portas after our imminent ESTYN 

visit would be the best way forward.  

 

 Whilst of course we are very fortunate with our new build and the facilities 

that offers, we do have concerns about balancing the needs of all our 

students and how we can protect our most vulnerable students whilst 

ensuring we’re as inclusive as possible. We wish to give further thought to 

where these students are physically located on site for their own health, 

safety and wellbeing.  

 

 We would also want to consider break times and other aspects of the school 

day routine to ensure the best possible experience for all our students.  

 

 We understand that currently these places are taken by students within our 

own catchment area and would want to see this continue as far as possible. 

Should this extend throughout the city, we would have concerns around 

additional traffic on site and undermining our active travel plans. We have 

worked hard to embed the school in the local community and will continue 

with this important work. We also have to balance the needs of these 

students with other groups and growth plans. 

 

Page 1216



 As this is a formalisation of the current situation, we don’t have any concerns 

regarding appropriate staffing and associated costs. 

 
Cardiff West Community High School Headteacher  

 

93. A response from the Headteacher of Cardiff West Community High School 

included the following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at 

Appendix 6). 

 

 I welcome the ideas in the consultation, and we have worked well with the 
LA to establish an effective SRC after a challenging start.  

 

 My main concerns centre around space in the building. The SRC was never 

in the original build design and uses 3 rooms in the ALN area. The school 

has grown rapidly, and we are short of space. Inevitably, the original 

capacity and what we need now as needs have changed are a real sticking 

point.  

 

 Given our context, the notion of rooms with 30 pupils in does not work in 

many cases. For example, our post 16 area houses our internal PRU – this 

takes up 4 rooms. Without this, we would not meet pupil needs.  

 

 In addition, we would like to look at some financial resource to link a member 

of the LT to the base to ensure that we can continue to grow the SRC and 

work even more effectively with the LA. In addition, it would support the 

development of inclusion in the school. 

 

Eastern High School Headteacher 

 

94. A response from the Governing Body and Headteacher of Eastern High 

included the following points: (a copy of the full response can be seen at 

Appendix 6). 

 

 The Headteacher and Governors of Eastern High welcome the addition of 
a special needs resource base to the Campus as it meets a clear need for 
the community. However, the base cannot open until September 2023 and 
then only in suitable accommodation. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
95. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for establishment of 

emotional health and wellbeing specialist resource base provision at Cardiff 
West Community High School. 
 

96. It is however acknowledged that there are a number of concerns raised 

particularly around increasing the capacity of any current provision or 

establishing a new specialist provision in Cardiff West Community High School, 

Page 1217



accommodation requirements and the proposed implementation date at 

Eastern High and a potential increase in traffic.  

 

97. Provision has been established for pupils enrolled at Cardiff West Community 
High School who require additional emotional health and wellbeing support.  
The proposal consulted on seeks to formalise this provision.  The school will 
continue to be supported in providing for existing pupils and any additional 
pupils accessing the provision who are largely from the local area. 

 
98. Accommodation requirements have been assessed and discussed with both 

schools.  Further work is being undertaken to review existing accommodation 
and identify any additional requirements. Following discussions with the school, 
it has been agreed that the implementation date for the establishment of 
specialist resource base provision at Eastern High would be put back to 
September 2023 to allow for accommodation and staffing arrangements to be 
finalised. 

 

99. Only a small number of additional vehicles would be anticipated for those pupils 
who are eligible for the Learner Transport which would be in shared taxis or by 
minibus.   
 

100. At Cardiff West Community High School suitable improved and / or expanded 
facilities for drop-off and pick-up may be required within the site to 
accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles.  
 

101. Additional parking restrictions along Penally Road around school start and 

finish times would reduce congestion and parking issues and improve safety 

for pupils.   

 

102. At Eastern High the site would be assessed to ensure there is suitable facilities 

for drop-off and pick-up to accommodate the appropriate numbers of vehicles.  

 

103. Measures to improve traffic issues outside the school may include additional 
parking restrictions or consideration of a School Street around school start and 
finish times to reduce congestion and parking issues and improve safety for 
pupils.   

 
  

Page 1218



Formal responses received during the consultation regarding Additional 
Learning Needs Provision  

 

104. Formal responses regarding the overall provision for children and young adults 
with additional learning needs were received from: 
 

 Ysgol Glan Morfa Headteacher and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Melin Gruffydd Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glan Ceubal Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pencae Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pwll Coch Governing Body  

 Ysgol y Berllan Deg Governing Body 

 Ysgol Gwaelod y Garth Governing Body 

 Ysgol Nant Caerau Governing Body 

 Ysgol Pen y Gores Governing Body  

 Creigiau Primary School Governing Body 

 Ysgol Mynydd Bychan Governing Body 

 Ysgol Treganna Governing Body  

 Ysgol Coed y Gof Governing Body 

 Ysgol Plasmawr School and Governing Body 

 Ysgol Glantaf Governing Body 

 Cardiff Governors Association  

 Merched y Wawr  
 
105. Copies of the full response can be seen at Appendix 6. 

 

106. The responses from the Welsh-medium schools contained largely consistent 

content and outlined the following: 

 

 acknowledge and welcome the proposals to increase capacity for the 
English-medium sector and fully support the provision for the most 
vulnerable pupils in our communities. However, there was a strong feeling 
that there is a lack of additional learning needs provision within the Welsh-
medium sector and a disappointment that more changes were not proposed 
as part of this consultation. 

 

 Furthermore, the view was expressed that this consultation contradicts the 
recent WESP consultation which noted the Council's ambition to open three 
specialist units in Welsh-medium schools in the Primary sector and a further 
three SRB in the Secondary sector. 

 

 Concerns were outlined that by limiting the investment to one sector it 
encourages families to transfer ALN pupils to leave the Welsh-medium 
sector and move to English-medium schools where the investment and 
resources are currently viewed as being superior and better able to meet 
more complex or higher levels of need. 

 

Page 1219



 Investment is needed within the Welsh-medium sector in order to ensure 
parity of provision and full inclusion within Welsh-medium schools.  

 

 The documentation recognises a clear growing need within the English-
medium sector but not in the Welsh-medium with concerns expressed as to 
whether the research been sufficient to accurately reflect need presenting 
in Welsh-medium schools. 

 

 Concerns were also expressed that there is a lack of clear provision in terms 
of emotional health and well-being and behavior within the Welsh-medium 
sector for pupils at Stage 4-5 (who have needs beyond mainstream 
provision) along with a lack of space to establish nurture/wellbeing classes. 

 

 There was consistent view across the majority of the responses submitted 
by the Welsh-medium schools that there is a definite need for a greater 
number of Welsh-medium ALN places and that this is rising. In order to 
respond to this effectively there was a call for strategic and holistic planning 
which puts the children and families at the heart of all that we do consistent 
with our collective commitment to the UNCRC and FGWBA with other 
corporate goals such as One Planet Cardiff, Cardiff 2030 and Child Friendly 
City status. 

 

Response to the view expressed 
 
107. The Council welcomes the expressions of support for the expansion of 

additional learning needs provision for children and young people city wide. 
 

108. The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the Welsh-
medium sector has historically been lower than in the English medium sector. 
This has however been changing over the last 4-5 years, with schools reporting 
an increased incidence of additional learning needs, in all areas of need.  
 

109. A review of additional learning needs in the Welsh-medium sector was 
undertaken with Welsh medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Schools reported a small but significant 
number of examples of pupils with additional learning needs leaving the Welsh-
medium sector in order to access specialist resource bases or special schools.  
 

110. There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families who 
would otherwise choose Welsh-medium education opt instead for English 
medium if their child has additional learning needs, through concern that their 
child may need to transfer to the specialist sector at a later date.  
 

111. Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the sector, 
including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to generate more 
confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the sector. 
 

112. A new primary base was established at Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch, within the 
catchment area of Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, where the secondary base is 

Page 1220



established. The two bases cater for learners with severe learning difficulties, 
providing a specialist curriculum and supporting a range of secondary needs 
including physical and medical needs, speech and language difficulties and 
autism.  
 

113. As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop additional 
provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh-medium education is a 
genuine choice for learners with complex additional learning needs. 
 

114. Following engagement sessions with members of Cardiff’s Welsh Education 
Forum in summer 2021, the Council formally consulted on its draft Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2032 between 15 October 2021 and 13 
December 2021.  
 

115. Links to the plan (including the full draft WESP, the easy read summary version 
and the Trajectory for Growth) and survey webpage were circulated to statutory 
stakeholders including Cardiff schools and Cardiff’s Welsh Education Forum 
member organisations.  

 

116. The draft WESP sets out the strategy for the development of Welsh-medium 
additional learning needs provision and proposals would be brought forward as 
part of the implementation of the Council’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
following agreement of the strategy by the Welsh Government and formal 
adoption by the Council later in 2022.  
 

117. The ongoing development of additional learning needs provision including new 
and existing provision will be kept under review to ensure proposals are brought 
forward in a strategic and holistic way that takes into account the needs of all 
of our learners and reflects the additionality required to ensure parity in the 
Welsh-medium sector as new places are delivered throughout the proposed 
WESP. 
 

 

Page 1221



This page is intentionally left blank



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

Table of Contents 
Background ............................................................................................................................. 2 

Proposals ................................................................................................................................. 2 

Methodology........................................................................................................................... 2 

Responses ............................................................................................................................... 2 

Results ................................................................................................................................. 3 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: ................................................................ 3 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: ................................................... 3 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 
42 to 72 places? .............................................................................................................. 4 

Please explain why: ......................................................................................................... 4 

Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court Special School to new build 
accommodation across two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St 
Mellons CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney? ........................................................... 5 

Please explain why: ......................................................................................................... 6 

Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary 
aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from 
September 2022? ............................................................................................................ 7 

Please explain why: ......................................................................................................... 7 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? ................................. 8 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? ........................................ 9 

Do you have any other comments? ................................................................................. 9 

About You ......................................................................................................................... 11 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint 
respondents’ views and needs by area: - ...................................................................... 11 

What was your age on your last birthday? .................................................................... 11 

Are you…? ..................................................................................................................... 11 

Do you identify as a disabled person? ........................................................................... 12 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: ........................................................ 12 

What is your ethnic group? Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the 
four home nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any 
combination of these. .................................................................................................... 12 

APPENDIX A – RECEIVED LETTERS / EMAILS ...................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Appendix 8

Page 1223



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Background 
Cardiff Council is committed to inclusion.  

The majority of learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) attend a local mainstream 
school, and benefit from effective Additional Learning Provision (ALP). These learners do not 
need to attend a special school or Specialist Resource Base.  

However, the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a 
special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow.   

 

Proposals 
In order to respond to demand for additional learning needs places the Council consulted on 
proposals to 

• Increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places.  The school 
would transfer to two sites, in new build accommodation on the site of Fairwater 
Primary School and to the current St Mellons, CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney, 
with 36 pupils on each site from September 2025. 
 

• Establish a 20 place Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with 
Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from September 2022. 

 
 

Methodology 
• The survey was from 11 October 2021 – 17 January 2022. 

 
• A letter was sent to all parents of pupils in the schools affected, providing them with 

information explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
  

• An e-mail was sent to a range of stakeholders, providing them with information 
explaining how to take part in the consultation. 
  

• A communication campaign was conducted via social media  
 

Responses 
There were 35 responses received to the consultation. A total of 12 emails / letters were 
received in relation to the consultation. 

 

 

 

Page 1224



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Results 
Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Parents or guardians (37.1%) made up the main cohort of responses to the survey. This was 
followed by a member of staff (34.3%) and local residents (28.6%). 

 

 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: 
 

 No. % 
Moorland Primary School 7 31.8 
Fairwater Primary School 4 18.2 
The Court Special School 4 18.2 
Other  6 27.3 
None 1 4.5 

Total Respondents 22 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

37.1
34.3

28.6

2.9 2.9

8.6

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

Parent or
Guardian

Member of
Staff

Local
Resident

Pupil Governor Other

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 

(Base: 35)

Page 1225



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 
72 places? 
Around nine in ten (88.6%) respondents support the proposal. 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Sixteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst two respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. A 
full breakdown can be viewed below:  

Support for the proposal 
• It is very important for specialist provision to continue being increased to support 

those children who may not be able to cope within a mainstream environment. 
• Yes, but I foresee traffic issues on the road as pupils have a taxi to school. 

Furthermore it means that parents from Llanrumney can no longer access at 
Mellon's primary due to travel. This means even more driving across the city. 

• More children get a space and the help they need. 
• To meet the increased need for some of our most vulnerable learners to access 

specialist, nurturing provision. 
• There are not enough places for the many children needing places in Cardiff. The 

wait for places is too long. 
• Extra spaces is always positive. 
• I actually would support not just the numbers but increasing the age limit of the 

school to 19. 
• To support pupils who need the specialist support. 
• There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
• Understand that there are more children with needs. 
• To increase provision for children who need specialist care and intervention. 
• Extra spaces are needed. 
• There are not enough specialist places for children who desperately need them. 
• The provision is needed - the expertise is needed. 

88.6 8.6

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity 
of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 1226



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
• Cardiff has too few spaces for primary pupils with behavioural challenges, so an 

increase is needed. 
• The number of children with emotional needs causing extreme behavioural issues 

and requiring the specialist and more focussed support that can be provided by The 
Court School is rising annually and putting great strain on mainstream schools. 

 
 

Against the proposal 
• Although I understand there needs to be extra provision for ALN Fairwater site is not 

the correct place. This will affect the children when out playing and is very likely to 
cause disruption through unwanted behaviour so close to school premises. 

• The court school is better off being a more specialised school with the current pupil 
numbers. 

 

 

Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court Special School to new build 
accommodation across two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St Mellons CiW 
Primary School site in Llanrumney? 
Three in five (60.0%) respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion responses 
are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 72.4%. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

60.0 17.1 22.9

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court 
Special School to new build accommodation across 

two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current 
St Mellons CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 1227



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Seven respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst a further seven respondents left feedback as to why they were against the 
proposals. A full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf:  

Support for the proposal 
• It’s a lot closer for some children. 
• Having two sites on different sides of the city will reduce travel distances for lots of 

children.  Being next door to mainstream schools will open up new opportunities for 
The Court pupils to have inclusion opportunities, and for special school and 
mainstream staff to share practice and professional learning. 

• The school having new site would be great for all the children to access newer 
facilities, it worked for eastern high. 

• A chance for new and modern facilities for children and staff. 
• If better facilities can be provided. 
• Two smaller units would be better than one large base. 
• There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
 
Against the proposal 

• Although I understand there needs to be extra provision for ALN Fairwater site is not 
the correct place. This will affect the children when out playing and is very likely to 
cause disruption through unwanted behaviour so close to school premises. 

• To have 1 school operate on 2 separate sites is a very serious risk to the wellbeing of 
Staff, Pupils and the Senior Leadership Team who would have to come up with a split 
team. To split the school's team to different sides of Cardiff would be very difficult to 
manage. As the proposal is to increase the NOR to 72 pupils, it would make much 
more sense to transport the Court School to 1 location. The current site at St Mellons 
Primary School accommodates 115 pupils. With 72 under consideration, it would 
make much more sense to set up base there, as the school could then have the 
capacity to increase further in the future. This would reduce costs on operating the 
school onto a split site and would prevent confusion to other schools if they are 
needing to feed into the Court for further advice or support from a Mainstream 
perspective. Please seriously consider keeping The Court onto 1 dedicated site. 

• Traffic and yet again parents in Llanrumney penalised as they have been with EHS 
being built in Trowbridge. 

• Fairwater is a suitable site. 
• I feel the school needs to be on one site, preferably rural and on the outskirts to 

provide the children with the kinds of outdoor experiences they require.  I feel that 
urban settings would be detrimental to their development. Llanishen is a lovely 
setting, however if the school must move it should be more rural to the North of 
Cardiff, surrounded by greenery. 

• Should be on one site. 
• Hard to maintain the ethos and Vision across two sites. 
 

Page 1228



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged 
children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from September 2022? 
Three in four (74.3%) respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion responses 
are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 86.7%. 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Thirteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst three respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. 
A full breakdown can be viewed below:  

Support for the proposal 
• Cardiff is slow in recognising and addressing pupils with such needs. 
• Spaces are needed to support more children in the area. 
• There is a shortage of SRB places in the south of the city.  A base at Moorlands will 

increase the opportunities for children with complex needs in Splott and surrounding 
areas to access a specialist base. 

• There is a need in Cardiff for it. 
• It is needed in the community. 
• A new base is needed for children to access for their well-being that Accessible to 

them that don't quite need a school like the courts school. 
• To support pupils who need the support. 
• There seem to be many more children needing special school places that are 

currently being educated in mainstream schools. 
• Education should be available for everyone, by having more special needs school we 

offer more chances for people to be educated. 
• Once a school has decided they can no longer effectively manage a child with 

complex ALN it is in everyone's best interest for the child to find alternative 
provision. 

• There are not enough specialist places for these children in Cardiff. 
• Any increase in SRB spaces across the city is a good thing as currently there are not 

enough spaces to meet demand. 

74.3 14.3 11.4

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist 
Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with 

Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School 
from September 2022 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 35)

Page 1229



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
• If all the staff, governors and parents are in favour, I would support this. 
 

 

Against the proposal 
• It is challenging now to park a car outside the school on a rainy day.  I am not 

convinced that the proposed planning now (planning ref 21/02271/MNR) will 
improve traffic if additional taxis are needed to ferry students.  It would deteriorate 
the current adverse situation and discourage parents from sending their children to 
school on a rainy day.  As a disabled person, I support improving the accessibility of 
mainstream schools for people with ALN, but without risking current students' ability 
to attend school. 

• There needs to be more places but more evenly spread across Cardiff. 
• Grounds aren’t big enough to provide outdoor provision. 

 

 

 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 
Respondents were given the opportunity to leave any comments they had around changes 
that could improve the proposals. Seventeen respondents decided to leave feedback; these 
comments can be viewed below: 

• Please reconsider splitting The Court onto 2 sites. Relocating the Court to a soon-to-
be vacant site would be more cost effective and would provide 1 dedicated base, 
whilst still becoming a neighbouring school with Pen-Y-Bryn. Fairwater Primary 
would not be a suitable idea if the facility is already in full use and if the space would 
be considered too small to put a Special School in place and if too small to expand in 
the future. 

• To allow for more children. 
• For it to happen sooner! 
• More spaces for the court school 
• I would like to have access to proposed plans. I also think the increased traffic will 

affect residents and hasn’t been fully addressed. 
• I don't like the thought of new housing on same site as school. 
• Change of location to more rural North Cardiff for The Court School, increasing not 

only the numbers but also the age range to 19. 
• Consideration to school transport needs of these pupils, due to the already 

congested and dangerous entrances to the school due to parents parking badly. 
• Keep all the trees on the site!! Essential for wellbeing in a industrial area.  
• Fairwater primary is run down and needs a lot of repair. 
• Can the council consider taking and utilising some space from Moorland Park to 

improve the parking and flow of traffic? 
• Consider the needs of BAME community in Cardiff in terms of complex needs. 
• Use land beside school old Glam Morgan site. 
• To increase pay for teachers. 

Page 1230



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
• The FP classroom must be easily accessible, on the ground floor and with access to 

continuous outdoor provision. Suitable provision must be made for toilets and 
changing area. 

• Use of the abandoned Ysgol Glan Morfa building next to Moorland Primary to house 
the SRB. 

• I fully support the proposals, but there is no indication of how the proposals are 
going to serve pupils receiving Welsh-medium education. 

 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 
Respondents were invited to leave any comments they had around alternative options to 
the proposals. Twelve respondents decided to leave feedback; these comments can be 
viewed below: 

• Relocate to 1 dedicated site. St Mellons Site would be more suitable. 
• Specialist resource bases in other schools too. 
• The old glan Morfa used either for nursery or additional learning needs. 
• Change of location to more rural North Cardiff for The Court School, increasing not 

only the numbers but also the age range to 19. 
• If more school had well-being units like the one in springwood it would take the 

pressure off specialist school. 
• Introduce specialist resource based in faith schools for those who would normally go 

to a faith school. 
• Make a large working garden for students to learn and grow with nature. 
• As cantonian high school is having new build , it makes sense that fairwater primary 

does and enlarge its well-being class in addition. 
• Can the council consider taking and utilising some space from Moorland Park to 

improve the parking and flow of traffic? 
• Have a 20 place resource base for complex needs within the Fitzalan cluster. 
• Keeping the court school as one site will be much more cohesive and give the kids a 

sense of belonging/family which is what our school thrives on. 
• These proposals should include Welsh-medium provision as well as the English-

medium proposals. 
 

Do you have any other comments? 
Respondents were given a final opportunity to leave any comments they had in relation to 
the consultation. Twelve respondents decided to leave feedback; these comments can be 
viewed below / overleaf: 

• It’s great to see Cardiff taking positive steps to increase specialist provision in Cardiff. 
• Please don't put housing on same site. 
• The Court School is the most amazing, caring school and I would not wish for that 

sense of belonging and family to be lost in these changes.  Mr Beesley and Dr Alyson 
Richards really do wonderful work. 

Page 1231



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
• Please keep all the trees on the proposed site!! They are all we have here...amongst 

the Steelworks and Industrial parks, the biggest trees on the site are over 100 years 
old!!. 

• Please ensure that there is appropriate and safe drop off points for parents bringing 
the children to school. Previously there have been damage caused to cars as drop 
offs did u turns on Moorland Road. 

• ALN provision is centred in 'white' areas of Cardiff. The needs of the BAME 
community in Cardiff are being ignored. 

• Worried about detriment to the children’s learning during the build. They’ll be no 
room for outdoor learning to take place which is part of curriculum. Also so many 
delays and every always put back. Staff/ visitor parking during and after build. Safe 
drop off points for children in SRB classes. Lack of staff adult toilets with increased 
staff. 

• It's great to have more schools that aim to help special need children. 
• The table on page 29 of the consultation document shows Marlborough School has a 

20 place SRB. As of September 2021 this is now 30 spaces. The new FP classroom 
there does not have easy access to the outdoor area and toilets/changing facilities 
are not ideal. 

• It seems that the sites have been selected for financial reasons over the well-being 
needs of the kids. 

• Consideration needs to be given to the additional traffic and parking issues, as 
Moorland already has serious issues with parking near to the school. 

• There is no similar provision to the Court School available to pupils receiving their 
education through the medium of Welsh. The same provision should be offered to 
the Welsh-medium sector as is offered to the English-medium sector. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1232



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area: - 
 

 No. % 
Splott 7 31.8 
Cyncoed 3 13.6 
Fairwater 3 13.6 
Llandaff 2 9.1 
Llanishen 2 9.1 
Llanrumney 2 9.1 
Trowbridge 2 9.1 
Other Electoral Ward 1 4.5 

Total Respondents 22 100.0 
 
What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 
25-34 5 14.3 
35-44 11 31.4 
45-54 10 28.6 
55-64 5 14.3 
Other age group 1 2.9 
Prefer not to say 3 8.6 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 
Female 27 77.1 
Male 6 17.1 
Prefer not to say 2 5.7 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

 

 

 

Page 1233



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): The Court 
Special School / Moorland Primary School Specialist Resource Base 

 
Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 
Yes 5 14.7 
No 25 73.5 
Prefer not to say 4 11.8 

Total Respondents 34 100.0 
 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
Nine people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 
below: 

• Mental health difficulties 
• Mobility impairment 
• Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 
• Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 
• Learning impairment / difficulties 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these. 
 

 No. % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 28 80.0 
Other Ethnic Group 4 11.4 
Prefer not to say 3 8.6 

Total Respondents 35 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 1234



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 

Table of Contents 
Background ........................................................................................................................... 14 

Proposals ............................................................................................................................... 14 

Methodology......................................................................................................................... 14 

Responses ............................................................................................................................. 14 

Results ............................................................................................................................... 15 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: .............................................................. 15 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with .................................................. 15 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 
160 places? ................................................................................................................... 15 

Please explain why: ....................................................................................................... 16 

Do you support the proposal to transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation 
across two sites at the Dutch Garden Centre, Maes Y Bryn Road and Ty Glas Road, 
Llanishen? ..................................................................................................................... 17 

Please explain why: ....................................................................................................... 17 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? ............................... 18 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? ...................................... 20 

Do you have any other comments? ............................................................................... 21 

About You ............................................................................................................................. 23 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint 
respondents’ views and needs by area: - ...................................................................... 23 

What was your age on your last birthday? .................................................................... 23 

Are you…? ..................................................................................................................... 23 

Do you identify as a disabled person? ........................................................................... 23 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: ........................................................ 24 

What is your ethnic group? Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the 
four home nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any 
combination of these. .................................................................................................... 24 

APPENDIX A –  RECEIVED LETTERS / EMAILS ..................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 1235



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
Background 
Cardiff Council is committed to inclusion.  

The majority of learners with Additional Learning Needs (ALN) attend a local mainstream 
school, and benefit from effective Additional Learning Provision (ALP). These learners do not 
need to attend a special school or Specialist Resource Base.  

However, the number of pupils with severe and complex needs, who need a place in a 
special school or specialist resource base has continued to grow.   

 

Proposals 
To meet the increasing demand for secondary special school places for learners with 
emotional health and wellbeing needs it is proposed to: 
 
- Increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places. 
 
- Transfer Greenhill school to new build accommodation across two sites at the Dutch 
Garden Centre site, Maes Y Bryn Road (near    to M4 J30) and Ty Glas Road in Llanishen, with 
80 pupils on each site from September 2025. 
 
An expansion of Greenhill over two sites, each of 80 places, would support the school to 
further develop its curriculum and would enable it to transform learning opportunities for a 
greater number of Cardiff’s most vulnerable learners in a purpose built, 21st Century 
specialist learning environment. 
 
It is anticipated that the existing site of Greenhill School would be disposed of for a capital 
receipt at the end of the build programme. 

 

Methodology 
• The survey was open from 14 December 2021 – 01 February 2022 
• A letter was sent to all parents of pupils in the schools affected, providing them with 

information explaining how to take part in the consultation  
• An e-mail was sent to a range of stakeholders, providing them with information 

explaining how to take part in the consultation  
• A communication campaign was conducted via social media  

 

Responses 
There were 22 responses received to the consultation. There was a number of letters / 
emails received in relation to the consultation, these can be viewed in Appendix A. 

Page 1236



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 

Results 
 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Of the twenty two responses to the survey, fourteen came from a member of staff. 

 

 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with 
Fifteen respondents left feedback for this question. Fourteen of the fifteen responses were 
affiliated to Greenhill School. 

 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 160 
places? 
Fourteen respondents agreed with the proposals. 

 

14

3 2 1 2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Member of
Staff

Parent or
Guardian

Local
Resident

Governor Other

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 

14

8

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Yes No

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of 
Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places? 

Page 1237



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Ten respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst three respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. 
A full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf. 

Support for the proposal 

• There is a growing need for additional support to provide opportunities for those not 
able to access mainstream education. 

• Greater need for SEMH provision across the authority. 
• More children will benefit. 
• More and greater opportunities for young people who may need additional support. 
• There is a need for the provision. 

 
 

Against the proposal 
 

• The school as it stands has an amazing success rate due to the small size. The pupils 
can't attend mainstream due to high numbers so nearly triple the pupils means 
bigger classes, it will also mean staff being put under a higher pressure due to the 
volatile behaviour some pupils pose. 

• Too many pupils will reduce the chances of 1-2-1 support in both educational 
aspects and wellbeing 

• The existing land is an ideal therapeutic location for children with SEMH. 
• Diluting resources decreases effectiveness. Greenhill is successful because the small 

number of learners can be Provided with support bespoke to their needs. 
• The purpose of Greenhill is to provide a safe environment for children who struggle 

with their SEMH and this would be compromised by increasing the capacity by 30% 
on each site. When you dilute resources, productivity decreases. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1238



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 
 
Do you support the proposal to transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across 
two sites at the Dutch Garden Centre, Maes Y Bryn Road and Ty Glas Road, Llanishen? 
Seven of the twenty respondents to this questions agreed with the proposal. 

 

Please explain why: 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Eighteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst three respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. 
A full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf: 

 

Support for the proposal 

• This is a good choice of location for pupils across the city to have new ALN facilities. 
• Dividing occupancy across sites in beneficial to ensure numbers remain manageable 

and that learners have the focussed attention they require. I have no preference 
over locations however I would like to mention that ACT Schools have a number of 
site in the authority are and are always interested in joint developments both on the 
new builds and the potential repurposing of the current Greenhill site in order to 
continue to grow the provision of support available to young people in Cardiff. 

• Two sites will enable pupils to be evenly distributed. 
• Having personally visited both sites recently. Think both sites offer great potential. 

Would like to know more about plans details to reduce risk of exposure to M4. 
• Fully support new school. Very Poor location for Dutch garden centre 
• Greenhill needs updating and it’s exciting to have new modern facilities. 

 
 

 

 

7

2

11

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Yes No opinion No

Do you support the proposal to transfer Greenhill School 
to new build accommodation across two sites at the 
Dutch Garden Centre, Maes Y Bryn Road and Ty Glas 

Road, Llanishen? 

Page 1239



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 
 
Against the proposal 

 

• While the Llanishen site has good public transport access for pupils, parents and staff 
the Maes Y Bryn Road site has no public transport access for anybody who doesn't 
drive. Also a big concern regarding the fact that it's close to the m4 and pupils could 
potentially be at risk of they abscond from school. 

• Cohort of greenhill often thrive on consistency and struggle with change. It would be 
important for the school to have its own identity where pupils feel a sense of 
belonging. Not where they are segregated across 2 sites. 

• The school should be retained on its current site in some capacity i.e., in full or in 
part, and the current site should be retained for education use. 

• I am very concerned about the thought of Greenhill sharing a site with another 
mainstream school in llanishen and I am very worried about the proximity of the 
motorway junction and heavy, fast traffic that could impact of the safety of the 
children that attend. 

• Schools on two sites prove awkward. 
• While the old building is no longer suitable, the grounds with their open spaces and 

woods are of great importance to the pupils. The location is safe and away from the 
areas our pupils come from. There are no busy roads near the present site. 

• The Dutch Garden site poses massive risks to learners. No amount of safeguarding 
could completely guarantee that learners wouldn’t leave the site and attempt to 
cross the very busy motorway near to the site. This could lead to tragedy for a 
student or road users. This is an unsafe site for a school that accommodates students 
with mental health, social and/or social difficulties. 

• Dutch garden centre dangerous location. 
• The land at the Dutch Garden Centre is impractical due to transport links & dangers 

posed by the close proximity of the M4. 
• Spreading a setting such as greenhill other two sites would prove detrimental for the 

social and emotion progress of the learners. Creating a family like setting in one safe 
place is vastly beneficial. 

• While upgrading the school is a positive move, the sites chosen for the purpose are 
not risk-assessed well enough. The proximity of one of the sites to the motorway 
junction is of serious concern to both staff and parents of vulnerable children. 

 
 
Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 
Fifteen respondents left feedback to this question; these comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 

• Apart from lowering the pupils rate to 100 at most and not using a site so near to the 
m4. 
 

Page 1240



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
• We would like to initiate a conversation with the authority regarding supporting the 

proposed developments. This would include establishing our offer in relation to the 
spectrum of provision approach as well as looking at ways in which ACT can support 
the needs of these young people by offering to establish a covational skills centre. 
We would support the vocational needs of the school, offering a number of routes 
such as construction, animal care and automotive to name but a few. This way the 
school can focus staffing and resources on the core curriculum components whilst 
working in conjunction with ACT to enrich the learner journey. 
 

• One site school. Very careful consideration would need to be given placing part of 
the school on a site close to or shared with another school given the vulnerable and 
sometime volatile nature of some of the greenhill school population. 
 

• Retain the school on its current site in some capacity and protect the current site for 
future education use. 
 

• To give exclusive use of the llanishen site to Greenhill, and to find an alternative 
green space to the Dutch Garden Centre. 
 

• Not place the school at the Dutch garden centre. 
 

• Keep boys and girls separated. 
 

• Site entrance as far away from M4 shipboard as possible. Manned safety/security at 
entrance. Secure boundary. 
 

• A different site. 
 

• Male and female I know is the intended purpose for the new school, however this 
will severely increase the safeguarding risk of both pupils and staff. 
 

• I would like to see more information details on the  Dutch garden site on the security 
arrangements before being fully supportive of that site. 

• Site security. 
 

• Location of Dutch garden centre is issue. 
 

• One school site that is purpose built. 
 

• Concerns around staff cohort, busy roads, proximity to motor way, room sizes, 
amount of pupils to staff. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 1241



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 
 
 
Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 
Fourteen respondents left feedback to this question; these comments can be viewed below 
/ overleaf: 

• Possibility of a safer second site for second build or just one build being better. 
 

• We would like to initiate a conversation with the authority regarding supporting the 
proposed developments. This would include establishing our offer in relation to the 
spectrum of provision approach as well as looking at ways in which ACT can support 
the needs of these young people by offering to establish a covational skills centre. 
We would support the vocational needs of the school, offering a number of routes 
such as construction, animal care and automotive to name but a few. This way the 
school can focus staffing and resources on the core curriculum components whilst 
working in conjunction with ACT to enrich the learner journey. 
 

• One site school that offers cohesive identity, security & continuity for pupils. 
 

• Retain the school on its current site in some capacity and protect the current site for 
future education use. 
 

• To allow greenhill to stay in its current location for the green site. 
 

• I think the current school site could be developed and brought up to date to offer 
the children quality accommodation. 
 

• Have the school on one site. 
 

• Rebuild on present site. 
 

• Different site. 
 

• Having a site for girls and a separate site for boys. We are that can cause problems 
but we are able to deal with this as the problems as they arise rather than risk the 
welfare and safeguarding issues of staff and pupils. 
 

• To build on existing land. 
 

• Investment in improving current resources and yes growing the number of learners 
but remaining on one site. 
 

• Improving the school resources and building is necessary, however this could be 
achieved more safely and efficiently by keeping the current site where the safety of 

Page 1242



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
the pupils has been established. 
 

• There is only one specialist site through the medium of Welsh, namely the Glantaf 
Centre, with a very wide catchment area at that. The result is that parents are forced 
into choosing to take their children to English medium education in order to have 
specialist care more locally, and this is wrong. Therefore, I recommend provision in 
more settings. It seems like language discrimination, that only English medium is 
considered here. 

 

Do you have any other comments? 
 
Respondents were invited to leave any other comments they had in relation to the 
consultation. Ten respondents left feedback; these comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 
 

• How do you propose children who use busses get to the site. 
 

• There are an increasing number of SRB's, special school, PRU's and similar provision 
in the Cardiff area. Above this, there ae a number of independent schools who 
currently support the needs of some of the areas most vulnerable. It would be 
pertinent to include the wider independent/ private offer when looking at 
readdressing the landscape so that the full offer in the capital region compliments. 
 

• Greenhill School should be retained on its current site in part or in full and the 
current site should be protected for future education or other community use. The 
current site must not be sold for residential or commercial use. 
 

• I trust that the "old" Greenhill site will not be for housing as one reason we were 
given for not expanding the current Greenhill site was that the access was not 
suitable for large vehicles - i.e. those that would be needed when re-building a 
school. 
 

• It is of absolute paramount importance that the new classrooms are of a comparable 
size with the existing classrooms at Greenhill. If the standard pupil to area is applied 
it will have a profound and constant negative effect on very vulnerable children. 
Small classrooms for this type of pupil will fail badly. 
 

• I am completely for a new school but urge the council to take note of what current 
staffs concerns are. We are working to improve wellbeing and the quality of 
education that is being delivered. We do it day in day out and we aren’t trying to be 
difficult but realistic and trying to prevent what could be potential setbacks or 
serious issues in the future. The last thing that we want as dedicated members of 
staff is for the good work we do and the standards we set to be diminished as a 
result of our voices not being heard in the first instance. We are all fully aware that 
things will need to change and will change but the pupils outcomes must come 

Page 1243



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
before anything else. 
 

• I’m excited to see the future plans of this development. 
 

• There is much history steeped in the current Greenhill site. Vulnerable pupils have 
been supported over many years & continue to return to the site as a place of 
familiarity & safety. 
 

• The appropriateness of the sites needs to be carefully considered for the needs of 
the children. 
 

• The current location of Greenhill provides a perfect base for a safe and successful 
school to exist! 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1244



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
 
 
 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area: - 
 

 No. 
Rhiwbina 4 
Cyncoed 2 
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais 2 
Other 3 

Total Respondents 11 
 

 
What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. 
25-34 5 
35-44 4 
45-54 10 
Other age group 1 
Prefer not to say 2 
Total Respondents 22 

 

Are you…? 
 

 No. 
Female 12 
Male 7 
Prefer not to say 3 
Total Respondents 22 

 

Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. 

Page 1245



Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs (ALN): Greenhill 
School 

 
Yes 0 
No 19 
Prefer not to say 3 
Total Respondents 22 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
Three people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 
below: 

• Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 
• Mental health difficulties 
• Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these. 
 

 No. 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 17 
Other 1 
Prefer not to say 4 

Total Respondents 22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1246



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

 

Appendix 9 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: School Organisation 
Planning: Provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs 
(ALN) 

New/Existing/Updating/Amending: Post consultation  

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Richard Portas  Job Title: Programme Director  

Service Team: Schools Programme  Service Area: Education  

Assessment Date: February 2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 

1. To inform Cabinet of the responses received following public 

consultation held from 11 October 2021 to 17 January 2022 on the 

following proposal regarding the expansion and transfer of The Court 

Special School: 

 

 increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 

places. The school would transfer to new build accommodation 

across two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St 

Mellons, CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney with 36 pupils on 

each site from September 2025.   

 

2. To inform Cabinet of the responses received following public 

consultation held from 14 December 2021 – 01 February 2022 on the 

following proposals regarding the expansion of additional learning needs 

provision: 

 

 increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places. The 

school would transfer to new build accommodation across two sites 

at the Ty Glas in Llanishen and the Dutch Garden Centre site with 80 

places on each site from September 2025  

 

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health 

and wellbeing at Cardiff West Community High School from 

September 2022  

 

 establish a 20-place Specialist Resource Base for emotional health 

and wellbeing at Eastern High from September 2022. 

 
 

 

Page 1247



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

 

 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.] 

 
Officers consulted with a range of stakeholders including pupils, local residents, 
local schools, Councillors, local community groups and residents on the 
proposal as set out at section 1.   
 
The consultation process involved: 
 

 publication of bilingual consultation documents outlining background, 

rationale and implications to parents, Headteachers and Chairs of 

Governors, all Members of local wards, local residents and other 

stakeholders (a copy of the consultation documents can be seen at 

Appendix 1);  

 publication of bilingual summary documents setting out the main points of 

the consultation documents (a copy of the summary documents can be 

seen at Appendix 2); 

 publication of information in community languages upon request;  

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with Governors and staff at The 

Court Special School, Greenhill School and Cardiff West Community High 

School.  Eastern High declined the opportunity to meet (notes from the 

meetings can be seen at Appendix 3); 

 consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams/in person with pupil 

representatives at The Court Special School, Greenhill School, Cardiff West 

Community High School and Eastern High (notes from these meetings can 

be seen at Appendix 4);  

 the pupil consultations that took place in person were conducted in line with 

the relevant Health and Safety guidance. 

 public consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams at which the proposal was 

explained and questions answered (notes from the meetings can be seen at 

Appendix 5);  

 drop-in sessions were offered via Microsoft Teams where officers were 

available to answer questions (there were no requests for drop-in sessions);  

 letters setting out details of the proposals and where further information 

could be found were sent to local residents and businesses in the area 

surrounding the school sites subject to the proposed changes; 

 a communication campaign via social media; 

 a consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the 

consultation documents and summary documents;  

Page 1248



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

 an online response from at www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals 

 

For stakeholders who did not have access to digital platforms the opportunity to 

discuss the proposed changes via telephone was available.  

 

The views expressed at Council organised meetings, drop-in sessions, 

telephone calls, and on paper or electronically through the appropriate 

channels, have been recorded. Responses received were regarding the 

proposal during the consultation period. 

 

Views were sought from interested stakeholders via an online survey and a 

hard copy version of the survey within the consultation document.  

  

The details presented in the report, represent the views expressed during the 

consultation process. These include the wider stakeholder survey, formal 

responses, e-mail responses, views expressed at public meetings, drop-in 

sessions, telephone calls and pupil consultation meetings.  

 

The views expressed in the wider stakeholder surveys reflect those raised in 

the e-mail responses received.  

 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years X   

18 - 65 years X   

Over 65 years  X   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  
The impact will be positive as the proposals will support the sufficiency of places 
in suitable specialist learning environments.  
 
This provision is age dependent and therefore not accessible to pupils outside 
of this age range, or adults, either locally or in the wider community.  
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

Page 1249

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ALNschoolproposals


CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

 

If the proposals were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be 
carried out to identify the accessibility of any new accommodation.  The equality 
impact assessment would take into account policies such as the Equality Act 
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations such as, BS8300, 
Part M and relevant Building Bulletins. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from the 
proposal would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal. This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  

 
 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment     

Physical Impairment    

Visual Impairment    

Learning Disability X   

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition    

Mental Health     

Substance Misuse    

Other     

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The impact will be positive as the proposals will support the sufficiency of places 
in suitable specialist learning environments.  
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
If the proposals were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be 
carried out to identify the accessibility of any new accommodation new school 
building.  The equality impact assessment would take into account policies such 
as the Equality Act 2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations 
such as, BS8300, Part M and relevant Building Bulletins. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from the 

Page 1250



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

proposal would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal. This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resources bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage   X 

Civil Partnership   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 

Page 1251



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy   X 

Maternity   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialists resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White   X 

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups   X 

Asian / Asian British   X 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British   X 

Other Ethnic Groups   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 

Page 1252



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist   X 

Christian   X 

Hindu    X 

Humanist   X 

Jewish    X 

Muslim   X 

Sikh   X 

Other   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
 The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
specialist resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The senior staff in a school would be best placed to manage diversity in terms of 
belief. (e.g. provision of a space for prayer).   
 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men  X  

Page 1253



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

Women  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
special resources bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Maintained school provision admits pupils of both sexes and this would continue 
to be the case. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 
reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual   X  

Gay Men  X  

Gay Women/Lesbians  X  

Heterosexual/Straight  X  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools and 
special resource bases will continue to apply the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities. 
 
The Council would manage admissions to special school and specialist 
resource base provision in accordance with the ALN Code. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that Lesbian, Gay, 
Bisexual people are likely to be discriminated against in workplace recruitment. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from 

Page 1254



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 

 

reorganisation would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this 
proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is followed, including the 
application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.10  Socio-economic Duty 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the Socio-economic Duty?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes are expected to have a positive impact on the Socio-
economic Duty. The Council’s has made a clear commitment to continuing the 
investment in, and improvement of, Cardiff schools to make sure every child has 
the best possible start in life (www.cardiffcommitment.co.uk).  
 
The delivery of 21st Century Learning environments will ensure that there are 
appropriate, high quality school places for young people, which meet the needs 
of Cardiff’s growing and changing population.  
 
The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that 
standards in schools are high, that teaching is good, and that leadership and 
governance is strong.  
 
The Council does not expect the proposal to have any negative impact on the 
quality of standards of education for pupils, at these schools. 
 
Some of the funding that a school receives is based on the number of pupils in 
the school who receive Free School Meals. All schools in Cardiff would receive 
funding for these pupils. There is no information available that suggests that the 
proposals would have a negative effect on pupils who receive Free School 
Meals. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
 
N/A 
 
 
 

 
3.11    Welsh Language 

Page 1255



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 10 

 

Will this Policy/ Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact (positive/negative) on the Welsh Language? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

   

 

Please give details/ consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The level of special educational needs/ additional learning needs in the Welsh 
medium sector has historically been lower than in the English medium sector.  
This has been changing over the last 4-5 years, with schools reporting an 
increased incidence of ALN, in all areas of need.   

 
A review of ALN in the Welsh medium sector was undertaken with Welsh 
medium schools in 2016 to inform the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan 
(WESP).  Schools reported a small but significant number of examples of pupils 
with ALN leaving the Welsh medium sector in order to access specialist 
resource bases or special schools.   

 
There was also some anecdotal evidence to suggest that some families who 
would otherwise choose Welsh medium education, opt instead for English 
medium if their child has ALN, in case their child needs to transfer to the 
specialist sector at a later date.   

 
Through the WESP, Cardiff has invested in specialist provision in the sector, 
including some capacity to respond to growing demand and to generate more 
confidence in the availability of specialist provision in the sector.   

 
A new primary base was established at Ysgol Pwll Coch; a ‘feeder’ school for 
Ysgol Glantaf, where the secondary base is established.  The two bases cater 
for learners with severe learning difficulties, providing a specialist curriculum and 
supporting a range of secondary needs including physical and medical needs, 
speech and language difficulties and autism.   

 
In 2021 there is growing demand for resource bases for pupils with autism, who 
are average to high achievers, and would need a more integrative model of 
support than that provided by the two existing bases.  There are currently 8 
secondary aged learners, and 15 primary aged learners who would benefit from 
placement in an ASD base. This is a short term priority, given the risk that if 
current placements fail, the only option would be to offer a transfer to an English 
medium setting.  

 
A primary wellbeing class has been established, hosted at Ysgol Pen y Groes.  
The wellbeing class works flexibly to address needs in different age phases, or 
to provide an outreach model, depending on current need.   

 

Page 1256



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 11 

 

To support emotional health and wellbeing needs in secondary phase, a ‘virtual’ 
base/ PRU has been piloted across the three secondary schools, starting in 
2018.  The pilot is due for further review in 2021.   

 
The priority is to ensure the three schools have adequate facilities and 
accommodation to provide effective Step 3 and 4 proviso, complemented by the 
virtual base/ PRU.  Medium term, the virtual base/ PRU will eventually need a 
fixed location at one of the schools, with designated accommodation, to reduce 
the risk that young people with the most complex needs may need to leave the 
Welsh sector to access more specialist provision. 

 
As the Welsh sector continues to grow it will be important to develop additional 
provision in anticipation of the need, to ensure Welsh medium education is a 
genuine choice for learners with complex ALN.   

 
The pool of ALN qualified and experienced teaching staff is limited in 
comparison to the English sector.  Any plan to develop Welsh medium specialist 
provision will need to be supported by an ALN Workforce Development Plan.  
 
In accordance with the timetable set by Welsh Government, the Council is 
working closely with its partners on the Cardiff Welsh Education Forum to 
develop the new ten-year WESP for the city. It is expected the plan will be 
available for public consultation in autumn 2021 before being submitted for 
approval to the Welsh Government in early 2022. The first ten-year Plan will 
commence on 1 September 2022 and expire on 31 August 2032.  
 
Consultation on the draft WESP will seek views on how best to grow Welsh-
medium education and on how to meet the local targets set by Welsh 
Government, in order to inform future proposals.  The WESP will set out how the 
Council will increase the provision of Welsh-medium education for pupils with 
additional learning needs. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
Demand for WM ALN places will be kept under review and proposals brought 
forward in line with the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  

 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 
The Council’s Accessibility Officer would be given the opportunity to comment 
on the schemes. 
 

  

Page 1257



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 12 

 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 
 

Groups  Actions 

Age See Generic Over Arching below 

Disability 

Gender Reassignment 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

Pregnancy & Maternity 

Race 

Religion/Belief 

Sex 

Sexual Orientation 

Socio-economic Duty 

Welsh Language 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

If the proposals were to proceed: 
 

 compliance with the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities would need to be ensured.  
 

 an equality impact assessment would be carried out 
to identify the accessibility of any new school 
building. The equality impact assessment would 
take into account policies such as the Equality Act 
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building 
regulations such as, BS8300, Part M and relevant 
Building Bulletins. 

 

 Demand for WM ALN places will be kept under 
review and proposals brought forward in line with 
the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  
 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By : Rosalie Phillips  Date: February 2022 

Designation: School Organisation Project Officer   

Page 1258



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 13 

 

Approved By:  

Designation:  

Service Area: Education   

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         
 

Page 1259

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 15 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 
 

 
THE EXPANSION OF PENTYRCH PRIMARY SCHOOL AND 
ESTABLISHMENT OF NURSERY PROVISION AT THE SCHOOL 
 
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS (COUNCILLOR SARAH 
MERRY) 

AGENDA ITEM: 9   
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the responses received 

following consultation on proposal regarding the expansion of Pentyrch 
Primary School and the establishment of nursery provision at the school. 
We would seek authorisation to proceed and where appropriate to publish 
proposals in accordance with section 48 of The Schools Standards and 
Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. 

 
Background 

 
2. At its meeting on 15 July 2021, the Council’s Cabinet agreed a 

recommendation to hold public consultation on the proposals to:  
 

 Increase the number of primary school places at Pentyrch Primary 
School from 140 places to 210 places 

 Extend the age range of the school from 4 to 11, from 3 to 11 by 
establishing nursery provision at the school to allow for 48 part-time 
places 

 
Issues 
 
3. The consultation period ran from 14 December 2021 until 25 January 

2022. 
 

4. The consultation process involved: 
 

 Publication of a bilingual consultation document outlining background, 
rationale and implications to parents, Headteachers and Chairs of 
Governors of nearby schools, all Members of local wards, local 
residents and other stakeholders. A copy of the consultation document 
can be found in Appendix 1. 

 Publication of information in community languages upon request. 

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with Staff at Pentyrch 
Primary School. Notes from the meeting can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

Page 1261

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 15 

 Consultation meetings via Microsoft Teams with Governing Body at 
Pentyrch Primary School. Notes from the meeting can be found in 
Appendix 2. 

 Public consultation meeting via Microsoft Teams at which the proposal 
was explained and questions answered. Notes from this meeting can 
be found in Appendix 3. 

 Consultation meeting via Microsoft Teams with pupil representatives at 
Pentyrch Primary School. Notes from this meeting can be found in 
Appendix 4. 

 An online survey. 

 Drop-in sessions via Microsoft Teams where officers were available to 
answer questions. No requests made for these. 

 Letters setting out details of the proposal and where further information 
could be found were sent to local residents and businesses. 

 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to 
the consultation document. 

 An online response from at 
www.cardiff.gov.uk/pentyrchschoolproposals  

 
5. In line with national Coronavirus restrictions that were in place during the 

consultation period all meetings took place virtually via Microsoft Teams. 
  

6. For stakeholders who did not have access to digital platforms the 
opportunity to discuss the proposed changes via telephone was available.  
 

Responses received regarding the proposal during the consultation 
period 

 
7. The Council received 82 responses submitted through the online 

consultation form. 
 

8. In addition, four formal responses were also submitted from: 
 

 Estyn 

 Pentyrch Primary School Governing Body  

 Pentyrch Community Council  

 Proprietor, Pentyrch Nursery 

 
9. The response from Estyn sets out its view that: 

 

 the Council has considered the likely effect of local developments on 
school places carefully, and has considered the capacity, admission 
number, surplus capacity and projected demand for schools affected 
by the proposal. They predict the need to expand capacity at Pentyrch 
Primary School, despite the creation of new schools to address the 
increase in housing stock in the area. 

 the proposer sees the establishment of a nursery as a means of 
enhancing the opportunity to appropriately address individual 
developmental and cultural needs as well as establishing strong and 
effective parental links from the earliest opportunity. 

Page 1262

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/pentyrchschoolproposals


Page 3 of 15 

 the Council considered other alternatives to the preferred proposal 
fairly.  

 
10. The response from Estyn sets out its view that the proposal is likely to 

maintain the current standards in terms of education, provision, and 
leadership and management. 
 

11. Full copies of the formal responses can be seen at Appendix 5. 
 
12. Views were sought from interested stakeholders via an online survey and 

a hard copy version of the survey within the consultation document. 
 

13. Of the 82 responses received, over half (53.7%) were from local residents, 
followed by around two in five (42.7%) from a parent or guardian. 
 

14. Of those who provided their postcode when responding, the vast majority 
(89.9%) of respondents live within Pentyrch. A small proportion (3.4%) 
reside in the Creigiau/ St Fagans area and the remainder (6.8%) live in 
other electoral wards.  
 

15. Just over half (53.7%) of all the respondents supported the proposal to 
increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School from 140 to 210 places. 
About two out of five respondents did not agree with this part of the 
proposal. 
 

16. However, when considering the 24 responses submitted by those 
identifying themselves as affiliated to Pentyrch Primary School, agreement 
with the proposal rises to 87.5%. 
 

17. Around two in five (41.5%) of all respondents supported the proposal to 
establish nursery provision at the school, whilst over half (51.2%) stated 
they did not. When considering the 24 responses submitted by those 
identifying themselves as affiliated to Pentyrch Primary School, agreement 
with the proposal rises to 54.2%. 
 

18. The details presented in this report, represent the views expressed  
 
during the consultation process. These include the wider stakeholder  
survey, formal responses, views expressed at public meetings, drop-in 
sessions and pupil consultation meetings. 
 

Views Expressed 
 
19. Reasons for supporting the proposed changes included: 

 

 Expansion of the school would help retain a school within Pentyrch to 
serve the local community.  

 Nursery provision would support the growing needs of the community. 

 There is insufficient nursery provision for local residents. 

 The proposal allows children to enter the school environment earlier, 
which supports transition. 

 Continuity of provision in a school. 

Page 1263



Page 4 of 15 

 Concerns around standards of current private nursery provision. 

 More convenient for parents wishing to attend a local nursery class. 

 Nursery place with wraparound care perceived as a positive for 
working families who currently need to travel outside Pentyrch to 
access this type of offer. 

 
20. Whilst there was support for the development of the school there were a 

number of concerns raised related to the proposed increase in the capacity 
of the school from 140 to 210 school places: 
 

 Traffic issues around the school site, including potential to exacerbate 
congestion, parking, pollution and danger to pedestrians 

 Lack of demand for additional primary school places 

 Disruption of construction period 
 
21. A number of concerns were raised related to the proposal to establish 

nursery provision at the school: 
 

 Traffic issues around the school site, including congestion, parking, 
pollution and danger to pedestrians 

 Lack of demand for nursery places  

 Stating support for the existing nursery provision in the village and the 
negative impact the proposal could have on this business 

 Potential job losses at private nursery 

 Part-time nursery places don’t suit parents 
 
22. A summary of the responses received from all stakeholders, and appraisal 

of views expressed, are attached at Appendix 6. 
 

23. A summary analysis of the responses received are attached at Appendix 
7. 

 
Engagement with pupils at Pentyrch Primary School 
 
24. Officers met virtually with pupils from years 3,4,5 and 6 from Pentyrch 

Primary School to discuss the proposals and gather their opinions.  
 
25. The points raised by the pupils included the following: 

 

 A school library would be of benefit to pupils as part of any changes to 
the school.  

 Would like a new hall for lunchtimes.  

 Where would the extension be built? 

 How would the build affect the play area/school yard; would not want 
to lose any of the playground or green space. 

 When would the building works be done; would this be while pupils 
were in school? 

 Would the old part of the school stay the same? 

 Would part of the school be knocked down? 

 What would happen to the existing nursery provision in the village?  

 What would happen to clubs if the village hall closed? 

Page 1264



Page 5 of 15 

 How many extra pupils would come to the school? 

 It would be good to have more children at the school. 

 A bigger school and new friends would be a good thing. 

 If there are more children, there will be more friends 

 Would older children be able to mix the younger ones? 

 The school is too small. 
  
26. Notes of the meeting are attached at Appendix 4. 
 
Response to views expressed  
 
27. The Council sought to engage with local stakeholders and with the school 

community on changes at the formative stage of their development to 
ensure that any such changes are developed with their input, and any 
concerns identified could shape the proposals taken forward. 
 

28. Responses to the proposed changes expressed support for the school and 
highlighted the importance of primary school and nursery provision to the 
community of Pentyrch. 
 

29. The concerns expressed in respect of the proposals mainly related to the 
potential impact of increased traffic, the potential impact on the long-
established private nursery in the village of Pentyrch of any changes, the 
wider impact on the village of Pentyrch and general concerns that any 
changes to available provision are unnecessary. 
 

30. Responses from the school community highlighted the risk to the 
sustainability of the primary school should the outflow of pupils to other 
areas continue. Many other responses gave greater prominence to the risk 
to the local private nursery which would be affected by the proposed 
changes. However, it is notable that responses were not received from the 
high proportion of parents who have already taken the decision to 
commute to nursery and primary school provision outside of Pentyrch. 
 

31. For children in the village of Pentyrch, the nearest nursery class facilities 
in a primary school setting are at Creigiau Primary School, Radyr Primary 
School and Danescourt Primary School. Whilst parents have been able to 
apply to, and gain admission to, those schools in recent years, the 
development of housing in North-West Cardiff is expected to impact the 
opportunity for families to take up of places at those schools in future. 
 

32. The proposed changes would enable learners within the catchment area 
of Pentyrch Primary School to access English-medium education in a 
community school environment from the age of 3-11 and would reduce the 
number of families commuting to provision elsewhere.  
 

33. An expansion of places at the school, and the establishment of nursery 
provision would increase the number of journeys taken to the school by 
families resident within the village. However, families within the village of 
Pentyrch are already commuting to the school or are commuting to schools 
elsewhere. These proposals would therefore provide the opportunity to 

Page 1265



Page 6 of 15 

bring forward provision to better enable local pupils to walk, scoot and 
cycle to their local school with reduced reasons to drive.   
 

34. The Council is currently funding a small number of children for non-
maintained nursery education at the private nursery operating from the 
Pentyrch Village Hall. This funding stream would cease in the event that 
maintained places were offered in the village through establishment of a 
nursery class at the primary school. The private nursery also provides 
childcare to children who are not eligible for a funded place at the nursery. 
The places funded by the Council provide a source of income for the 
nursery. 
 

35. The potential financial impact on the local private nursery of establishing 
nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School is acknowledged by the 
Council and this was highlighted in the consultation information published 
by the Council.  
 

36. The impact on the private nursery may be mitigated through a number of 
measures which have been discussed at length with the owner during the 
consultation period. These may include each setting offering alternate 
sessions (e.g. school nursery class sessions in morning or afternoon only) 
which would allow the nursery to operate as a wrap-around childcare 
setting, and potentially the sharing of the proposed nursery class 
accommodation on the school site. Such arrangements have operated 
successfully on other school sites, and the arrangements have allowed 
families to access the nursery education offer and wrap-around childcare. 
 

37. ‘The childcare offer for Wales’ provides working parents with a mixture of 
childcare and early education for children aged three or four. This would 
allow parents to access a nursery class place in a school of up to 12.5 
hours and to receive funding for wrap-around childcare for up to 17.5 
hours. 
 

38. It is clear from school census data, and from school admissions preference 
data, that many families in the catchment area of Pentyrch Primary School 
commute to other areas for English-medium nursery education in a 
community school. These families often proceed to apply for admission to 
primary education on the same school site where the relationship with the 
school, children and other families has been established. At present, a 
high number of families commute from the Pentyrch Primary School 
catchment area to access provision elsewhere by polluting modes of 
transport.  
 

39. In the context of increasing demands on the wider road network in North-
West Cardiff, it is beneficial that communities are able to access local 
school and childcare provision and that the length of journeys to access 
provision are reduced. 
 

40. Taking the above information into account, it is recommended that the 
proposed expansion of Pentyrch Primary School from 140 places to 210 
places is progressed. It is also recommended that the proposed increase 
in the age range of the school, to incorporate nursery provision, is 

Page 1266



Page 7 of 15 

progressed. However, it is proposed that the number places offered is 
reduced from 48, as initially proposed, to 32 places. 
 

41. Several discussions with the private nursery have been held during the 
consultation period.  As reflected in the response received from the owner 
of the setting the first preference would be for the current model to be 
retained without implementation of the proposed changes. However, the 
response also sets out suggestions as to how if the proposal were to 
proceed, there is a willingness to further explore how to best deliver 
services for the benefit of the community in a way that would allow for both 
a maintained nursery and the childcare setting to operate from the 
Pentyrch Primary site. 
 

42. The school has also been active in discussions with the private nursery 
regarding opportunities to expand their offer to provide for other groups 
should they be interested to do so to cater for the wider primary age group 
operating from the Pentyrch Primary School site in order to enhance the 
current offer available to families in the village and wider community. 
 

43. Further work will be undertaken with Pentyrch Primary School and with 
Pentyrch Nursery to address the issues that informed the original 
proposal, to take account of the concerns raised during the consultation, 
and to enable a greater number of children in the community to benefit 
from nursery provision and childcare within Pentyrch. 

 
Admission to Reception classes – September 2022 
 
44. The cohort of applicants1 for admission to Reception Year in September 

2022 who are resident in the catchment area of Pentyrch Primary School 
totals 34 children.  
 

45. Of this group of 34 applicants for Reception places who are resident in the 
Pentyrch Primary School catchment area: 

 

 Eight children in the catchment area have stated a first preference 

for admission Pentyrch Primary School.  

 Eight in the Pentyrch Primary School catchment have stated a first 

preference for admission to the Welsh-medium stream at Creigiau 

Primary School, which is the catchment area Welsh-medium 

provision for their address. 

46. The remaining 18 applicants have expressed first preferences for other 
schools.  
 

47. This group of 18 applicants includes those who have commuted to nursery 
provision in those schools and wish to continue with that provision for a 
number of stated reasons including proximity (although further away than 
Pentyrch Primary School), to maintain friendships established attending 
from nursery class together and establish childcare arrangements where 
they are able to benefit from wrap around care options aligned to these 

                                            
1 Source: Capita ONE live database, 28 January 2022. 

Page 1267



Page 8 of 15 

schools. This indicates a correlation between the take up nursery places 
and the reasons stated by parents for Reception places at the time of 
application and affirms the reasons for proposing the establishment of 
nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School. 
 

Admissions arrangements 
 
48. In accordance with the requirements of the Welsh Government’s 

Admissions Code, the Council has consulted on Admissions 
arrangements for the 2023/2024 school year which include an increase in 
Published Admission Number, from 20 places to 30 places, subject to the 
proposed changes being implemented. This would apply to all year groups 
from Reception to Year 6 for admissions from September 2023.  
 

49. The outcome of the consultation on Admission arrangements will be 
considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 10 March 2022. 

 
School Governance 
 
50. Pentyrch Primary School entered a formal collaboration with Llanishen 

Fach Primary School in 2017, with a leadership team working across both 
schools. Pentyrch Primary School has made great progress on its 
continuous improvement journey, working closely with Llanishen Fach 
Primary School on joint school improvement priorities.  
 

51. The Council has supported the two schools and Governing Bodies in 
developing the collaboration model. Shared governance arrangements are 
in place to monitor and evaluate the development and success of the 
collaboration, and to advise on/consider issues that are relevant to both 
schools.   

 
Community Impact  
 
52. In a semi-rural area such as Pentyrch, the School Organisational Code 

recognises that schools may also be the main focal point for community 
activity, and any changes to provision could have implications beyond the 
issue of the provision of education. 
 

53. The Cabinet Report of 15 July 2021 noted that there may be an increase 
in traffic for short periods of the school days, however this would be 
mitigated where possible by working with the school to promote the 
Council’s Active Travel Plan.  
 

54. A number of concerns have been raised during consultation in respect of 
the impact on the local community. These include increased traffic, the 
potential impact on a local business, and the potential reduced income for 
the village hall.  

 
55. Should the proposals proceed to implementation, measures would be 

identified by a Transport Assessment to maximise active travel.  Expected 
improvements would be in the provision for walking, scooting and cycling 
with appropriate road crossings in Pentyrch.  These changes would be 

Page 1268



Page 9 of 15 

expected to reduce the proportion travelling by car from within the village 
and mitigate the impact on the Pentyrch community.   
 

56. The introduction of nursery provision and more primary school places in 
this area would be a benefit to many in the local community and would 
support the 21st Century Schools Programme vision for Cardiff which aims 
to have schools of the right size and in the right place. It seeks to place 
schools at the heart of their communities with a shared responsibility for 
all children and young people in the area. The addition of wrap around 
childcare will also benefit those families that need additional provision 
beyond the statutory school day meaning there is a comprehensive offer 
local to their home. 
 

57. The Council has identified that existing local nursery provision could be 
impacted by the introduction of nursery provision on the school site. 
Options to involve the provider to enhance the current offer and thereby 
mitigate the impact have been offered and are supported by the school. 
 

58. The Council must also take into consideration any detrimental impact that 
could be caused to the community if the proposals did not proceed. The 
proposals seek to establish nursery provision which would retain a greater 
number of learners in the school and would support the school’s budget. 
If the proposals were not to proceed, Pentyrch Primary School would be 
the smallest primary school in Cardiff. Small schools can face greater 
challenges in balancing their budget and in turn attracting and maintaining 
high quality staff and leadership. This proposal would be expected to 
reduce outflow from the Pentyrch community to access neighbouring 
areas as they could benefit from a more comprehensive education and 
childcare offer locally. 
 

59. The Council has, through the consultation process, engaged with the 
leadership of the school and with the local private nursery in order to 
consider mutually beneficial measures. The impact on the private nursery 
and village hall may be mitigated by the establishment of a nursery class 
of 32 places which would enable the private nursery to continue to operate 
a wrap-around model of childcare provision and potentially expand this 
provision. 

 
Wellbeing of Future Generations  
 
60. In line with the Well-being of Future Generations Act Cardiff’s Band B 

programme is committed to providing Local Schools for Local Children, 
together with encouraging use of sustainable modes to travel to schools, 
such as walking and cycling. Each School project takes into account key 
transport issues when they are being designed and the firm need to 
provide safer routes to encourage walking, cycling and other active travel 
modes to schools.  

 
61. With the current investments in ICT across the city, student movements 

may be further reduced as mobile technology develops further allowing for 
flexible teaching methods. These have the potential to result in a more 

Page 1269



Page 10 of 15 

efficient Travel Plan and further contribute to the Council’s targets to 
reduce its carbon emissions.  

 
62. In order to maximise the long-term impact of this significant investment, 

any design taken forward for each school included in this proposal would 
be developed to ensure the delivery of high quality modern facilities that 
are able to respond to the current pupil populations needs and support the 
delivery of effective teaching and learning methods. They would also 
incorporate the flexibility to take account of changes depending on need 
as time progresses; such as changing demographics and pupil numbers, 
changing curriculum and changing types of pupil needs.  

 
63. The project will consult with all statutory bodies when developing a 

planning application to ensure that environmental and biodiversity impacts 
are fully considered. 

 
Local Member consultation  
 
64. Local members were consulted as part of the consultation.  

 
Scrutiny Consideration  
 
65. The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee will consider this 

report on 8 March 2022. Any comments received will be circulated at the 
Cabinet meeting. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 

 
66. To provide English-medium community primary school and nursery places 

to serve parts of Creigiau and St Fagans, Pentyrch, Radyr and 
Morganstown. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
67. This report recommends that the published admission number for 

Pentyrch Primary School be increased to a full form of entry (from 140 to 
210 pupil places). As schools’ revenue budgets are predominantly 
predicated on the basis of pupil numbers, any increase in pupil numbers 
would mean that the revenue budget for Pentyrch would increase in 
comparison to previous years. Current published admissions figures 
reflect present schools' intake, and the impact on surrounding primary and 
secondary schools has been shown to be limited. It is important that the 
impact on neighbouring schools, whose pupil numbers could reduce as a 
consequence of this expansion, is continued to be monitored closely and 
any financial impacts managed appropriately.  
 

68. This recommendation does not, in itself result in any direct capital financial 
implications. However, any building works or adaptations required will 
need design/ cost development and will need to consider a range of 
financial aspects, including S.106 funding available alongside the 
affordability and prioritisation of this project against ongoing Education 
capital schemes.  

Page 1270



Page 11 of 15 

 
69. In terms of revenue implications, the resources required to fund the 

additional places at Pentyrch Primary will need to be met from within the 
existing delegated schools budget, with additional consideration required 
for the new nursery provision and transport implications, once a final 
course has been determined. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
70. Under the Education Act 1996, the Council has a general statutory 

obligation to promote high standards of education and to provide sufficient 
school places for pupils of compulsory school age. Section 89 of the 
School Standards and Framework Act 1998 determines that the 
Admission Authorities must carry out consultation before determining the 
admission arrangements which are to apply. These consultations have 
taken place and the responses have been analysed. 
 

71. A local authority can make school organisation proposals, including 
making ‘regulated alterations’ to a community school under sections 42-
44 of the Schools Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013. The 
proposals set out in the report constitute ‘regulated alterations’ and must 
be considered having regard to the provisions of the 2013 Act and the 
School Organisation Code 2018, which sets out factors to be considered 
in respect of different proposals, the statutory procedures, legal 
requirements and guidance. Where an increase in a school’s capacity is 
proposed, the Council must have regard to evidence of current or future 
need/demand in the area for additional places, with reference to the 
school’s language category (and religious character / gender intake if 
applicable). The Code includes specific factors to be considered in relation 
to proposals to add nursery classes. Cabinet will need to be satisfied that 
all relevant factors are properly considered in relation to the proposals. 
 

72. Taking into account the formal responses, the recommendation in the 
report is to proceed as per consultation although with a smaller nursery of 
32 places, instead of 48.  
 

73. The Council has complied with its requirements to publish its proposals, to 
undertake a consultation on its proposals in accordance with section 48 of 
that Act and the School Organisation Code 2018 set out below.  
 

74. The recommendations seek authority to carry out that statutory 
consultation. Case law has established that the consultation process 
should:  

 
(i) be undertaken when proposals are still at a formative stage;  
(ii) include sufficient reasons and information for particular proposals to 
enable intelligent consideration and response;  
(iii) provide adequate time for consideration and response; and;  
(iv) ensure that the product of consultation is conscientiously taken into 
account when the ultimate decision is taken. 

 

Page 1271



Page 12 of 15 

75. Formal responses were received and reviewed which led to a change of 
recommendation demonstrates compliance with (i) – (iv) above. 
 

76. The School Organisation Code sets outs further detailed requirements and 
guidance in relation to the statutory consultation, including the requirement 
for publication of a consultation document (and the contents of that 
document), a minimum 42 days consultation period including at least 20 
school days, and a list of statutory consultees, including parents, pupils, 
governing bodies, religious bodies, the Welsh Ministers and Estyn. 
 

77. This has been fully complied with in the consultation. 
 

78. The Council has secured financial contributions under a section 106 
agreement for Education purposes. The agreement permits the spending 
of the contribution in improving provision of school places at Pentyrch 
Primary school and/or within three miles of the school.  
 

79. If the proposals are taken forward, the admission arrangements, including 
admission numbers and catchment areas, will need to be determined, 
following consultation, in accordance with the School Admission Code and 
the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006. 
 

80. The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties and obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010 (including the specific Welsh public sector 
duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making decisions 
have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful Page 34 of 36 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Council must also 
not directly or indirectly discriminate against any pupil in its admission 
arrangements, this means that no pupil or group of pupils may be treated 
less favourably based on a protected characteristic. Protected 
characteristics are: 

 

  Age  

  Gender reassignment  

  Sex  

  Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality  

  Disability  

  Pregnancy and maternity 

  Marriage and civil partnership  

  Sexual orientation  

  Religion or belief – including lack of belief. 
 
81. The Equality Impact Assessment (see Appendix 8) specifically considers 

how the proposals may affect pupils with protected characteristics. The 
purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council 
has understood the potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality 
so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions 
having due regard to its public sector equality duty. The Council must have 
due regard to these obligations when this decision is taken to determine 
the admission arrangements. 

Page 1272



Page 13 of 15 

 
82. In accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the 

Welsh Language standards, the Council also has to consider the impact 
upon the Welsh language any decision that it makes and in accordance 
with the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, the Council must consider how 
it can promote Welsh medium education. This report reflects those 
requirements.  
 

83. The Council must also consider its legal obligations under the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to think more about the long term, 
work better with people and communities and each other, look to prevent 
problems and take a more joined-up approach. 
 

84. There are also legal obligations under the Education Act 1996 which 
require pupils with statements of special educational needs to be admitted 
to the school named in the statement and the Education (Admission of 
Looked After Children) (Wales) Regulation 2009 which requires the 
Council to admit children who are currently looked after (in accordance 
with the definition in section 74 of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 
(Wales) 2014. The report and proposed admission arrangements reflect 
these obligations. 

 

HR Implications  

85. The proposed increase in pupil numbers at Pentyrch Primary School 
would require the Governing Body and Senior Leadership Team to plan 
for workforce requirements of additional staffing arising from the school 
expansion and introduction of a nursery.  
 

86. The Council’s HR People Services would provide advice, support and 
guidance to the Governing Body for this in line with the framework set out 
for any Schools Organisation and Planning proposal. HR People Services 
encourages the school to undertake a review of their current staff structure 
to consider how the recruitment of additional staff fits into this structure. 
 

87. Further HR implications of the proposal would need to be determined as 
the project develops, particularly in relation to the potential sharing of the 
nursery accommodation with a local private nursery.  

 

Property Implications 

88. This report does not recommend any immediate property decisions but 
Strategic Estates note the potential consequences of the consultation 
which may in the future, result in the requirement to undertake land and 
property transactions. 
 

89. Any decisions relating the development, acquisition or disposal of property 
in regards to this scheme will need to be undertaken in conjunction with 
Strategic Estates in accordance with the agreed asset management 
processes and delegated authorities. 

 

Page 1273



Page 14 of 15 

Traffic and Transport Implications 

 
90. The Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) includes a target of 

50% of all journeys to be made by sustainable transport. Minimising the 
proportion of school journeys made by car and maximising opportunities 
for travel to school by active and sustainable modes can make an 
important contribution to achieving this target and reducing pressures on 
the transport network at peak times. Increasing travel to school by active 
modes will have a positive impact on children’s health and wellbeing and 
will support the delivery of key actions and outcomes under Goal 5 the 
Council’s Child Friendly City Strategy (2018), which relates to ensuring 
access to safe outdoor environments for formal and informal play, walking, 
cycling and scooting and active travel to school. 
 

91. The Council’s current Corporate Plan includes a commitment to every 
school in Cardiff developing an Active Travel Plan by 2022. Such a plan 
will identify actions by the school to support and encourage active travel 
to school and also inform any improvements to on-site and off-site 
infrastructure required to facilitate active journeys.  
 

92. It is also anticipated that with the introduction of a nursery, take up of 
school places by those that reside in areas close to the school will 
increase. This should provide more scope for increased numbers of 
people to benefit from an appropriate Active Travel Plan. Additionally, the 
need to travel outside the village to reach available nursery provision 
would also decrease, further reducing vehicle trips.   
 

93. The development proposals will also require a Transport Assessment 
which will identify measures to be included as part of the application to 
maximise travel by sustainable modes. These would be expected to 
include appropriate improved facilities for walking, scooting and cycling, 
for example, road crossings.  On-site parking would be in line with the 
council’s Parking Standards to encourage use of sustainable and active 
modes of travel.   
 

94. As it has been identified that there is no safe walking route between the 
Goitre Fach Farm development and any school, nor any plans for one 
ahead of 2023/24, children residing on the development would be eligible 
for free home to school transport to their nearest appropriate school with 
places available at the time of applying.   
 

95. Suitable provision for the Learner Transport drop-off and pick-up may be 
required at Pentyrch Primary School to accommodate this.   If so, this 
would be likely to be a designated area immediately outside the school to 
create clear space for the required numbers of minibuses and /or taxis.  
We anticipate this would be only one or two vehicles.  Parking restrictions 
would be required to enforce such a space at the school, situated on the 
main through route between Creigiau and Gwaelod y Garth.    
 

96. Other parking restrictions would also be likely to be required to discourage 
short distance car travel by those within walking distance and to maximise 
levels of active travel to school.      

Page 1274



Page 15 of 15 

 
97. A Hands Up Survey undertaken last school year (2020/21) shows that of 

the five classes (146 pupils) that took part, modes of travel were walk 43%, 
car 48%, car share 1%, park and stride 7% and taxi 1%.    
 

98. Where it is identified that there is a need to manage parking for those who 
need to drive from further afield, consideration would be given to identify 
a suitable provision for a Park and Stride facility.    
 

99. These proposals will provide the opportunity to bring forward provision to 
better enable local pupils to walk, scoot and cycle to their local school with 
reduced reasons to drive.   
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
 
100. An Equality Impact Assessment on this proposal has been carried out. The 

assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect a 
particular group in society (details of the Equality Impact Assessment can 
be seen at Appendix 8. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Cabinet is recommended to:  
 
1. Authorise officers to issue a statutory notice to: 
 

 Increase the number of primary school places at Pentyrch Primary 
School from 140 places to 210 places 

 Extend the age range of the school from 4 to 11, from 3 to 11 by 
establishing nursery provision at the school to allow for 32 part-time 
places 

 
2. Note that prior to implementation of the proposals a further report will be 

provided to the Cabinet providing details of any objections received, the 
proposed responses to those objections and recommendations for 
implementation or otherwise of the proposals.  
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE 

OFFICER 

Melanie Godfrey  

Director of Education & Lifelong Learning 

4 March 2022  

 
The following appendices are attached:  
Appendix 1 – Consultation Document 
Appendix 2 – Notes of meetings with Pentyrch Primary School Staff and 

Governing Body 
Appendix 3 – Notes of public consultation meeting 
Appendix 4 – Notes of pupil meeting  
Appendix 5 – Formal responses received  
Appendix 6 – Summary of consultation responses  
Appendix 7 – Summary analysis of consultation responses 
Appendix 8 – Equality Impact Assessment 

Page 1275



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1277

c708636
Typewriter
APPENDIX 1



Page 1278



Page 1279



Page 1280



Page 1281



Page 1282



Page 1283



Page 1284



Page 1285



Page 1286



Page 1287



Page 1288



Page 1289



Page 1290



Page 1291



Page 1292



Page 1293



Page 1294



Page 1295



Page 1296



Page 1297



Page 1298



Page 1299



Page 1300



Page 1301



Page 1302



Page 1303



Page 1304



Page 1305



Page 1306



Page 1307



Page 1308



APPENDIX 2 

 

Notes of Pentyrch Primary School Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Page 1309



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

Staff Meeting – 12 January 2022 
 
Present: Michele Duddridge Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Anita Batten (HR), 
Louise Flynn (HR), Sarah Coombes (Pentyrch Primary School Executive Head), School Staff, 
Rosalie Phillips (SOP), Shirley Karseras (SOP) 

 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The Meeting was held via Microsoft Teams Live Event  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Brett Andrewartha (BA) opened the meeting, welcomed staff and explained the 
process of consultation including timeframes.  
He then presented a PowerPoint slide show which set out the following: 
 

 What is being proposed 

 Background 

 Why we are proposing to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School 

 EM pupil projections at Pentyrch Primary School and surrounding area  

 Forecasts and sufficiency of places 

 Nursery provision 

 Condition and suitability 

 Proposed changes to school buildings 

 Quality and standards 

 Benefits of the proposal 

 Potential disadvantages and risks 

 Alternative options  

 Financial matters 

 Other considerations 

 Human resources matters 

 What happens next 
 
Anita Batten (AB) advised that HR would support the school with workforce planning 
requirements  

 
 
Questions and Answers  
 
BA invited questions from staff  
 
The questions submitted by staff are set out in italics below/over with the officer 
response given directly below. 
 
 

Page 1310



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

Q – Sarah Coombes (SC) wanted to know if purdah could affect the proposal. 

A – BA stated that the consultation has been planned so that it can be submitted to 
Cabinet in March 2022, before the start of purdah. 

 

Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) explained the importance of submitting responses, 
no matter the opinion towards the proposal. She stated that the consultation process 
is where people’s views can shape the outcome and encouraged all staff to respond 
in some form. 

 

There were no further questions, MDF thanked the staff and the meeting closed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1311



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

Governing Body Meeting – 13 January 2022 
 
Present: Michele Duddridge Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Louise Flynn (HR), 
Sarah Coombes (Pentyrch Primary School Executive Head), Governing Body, Shirley 
Karseras (SOP) 

 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The Meeting was held via Microsoft Teams Live Event  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) opened the meeting and welcomed the Governing 
Body. Brett Andrewartha (BA) then explained the process of the consultation including 
timeframes and presented a PowerPoint slide show which set out the following: 
 

 What is being proposed 

 Background 

 Why we are proposing to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School 

 EM pupil projections at Pentyrch Primary School and surrounding area  

 Forecasts and sufficiency of places 

 Nursery provision 

 Condition and suitability 

 Proposed changes to school buildings 

 Quality and standards 

 Benefits of the proposal 

 Potential disadvantages and risks 

 Alternative options  

 Financial matters 

 Other considerations 

 Human resources matters 

 What happens next 
 
Louise Flynn (LF) advised that HR would support the school with workforce planning 
requirements  
 
 
Questions and Answers  
 
MDF invited questions from the Governing Body 
 
The questions and comments submitted by the Governing Body are set out in italics 
below/over with the officer response given directly below. 

Page 1312



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

Q – I wear several hats as a parent, past pupil and now governor. There have 
been conversations within the community about how this proposal will affect 
the local nursery. 
Cardiff Council are now able to offer 30 hours of childcare which is unfortunate 
timing as the proposed school nursery could only offer 21/2 hours.  It is unlikely 
that the current nursery provider will be able to provide wraparound care as the 
village hall, from where it is run, has a commitment to other institutions. This 
could impact parents’ decisions whether to use Pentyrch School nursery. 

I know that in the past there was additional work that needed to be carried out 
with children coming into Reception to Pentyrch Primary School due to a 
difference in educational standards from the local nursery compared to those 
that might have been coming from a more private nursery setting. The continuity 
of children coming from a school nursery would be a benefit of this proposal. 
Pentyrch Primary is in the minority across Cardiff in not having its own nursery, 
and whilst it is emotional as the local nursery has been in existence for over 40 
years, it will be positive to have a nursery in the school. 

Traffic and parking will be an issue. Even people who live locally use the car as 
they may be heading off to work after drop-off. Staff parking on site would be 
helpful to alleviate the congestion around the school. 

A - MDF – aware that there is support for the well-loved nursery in the village. The 
local nursery offers 3 hours in the morning, Cardiff Council would be offering 21/2 hours. 
Often this allows for wraparound provision by a private provider such as lunch clubs 
or a walking bus facility. It has worked in the past with maintained nursery operating 
in the morning and then non-maintained in the afternoon, utilising the same space and 
staff. There are various permutations that can be looked at. This will depend on what 
the views are of the community in this area.  

We are at a formative stage and need to hear the good, the bad and the ugly. It is 
important to also suggest what would work best for the families and community of 
Pentyrch and Goitre Fach. 

We can change small parts of proposals or re-consult on substantial changes. It may 
be possible to reduce the number of maintained nursery places to lessen any conflict 
with the private provider in the village. This would still allow for continuity in education 
particularly with the rising 4’s. Often a nursery can open with a reduced number of 
places to see take-up in the area. It can identify a latent demand that haven’t been 
able to take up local provision. 

Wraparound care would allow for a greater use of the 30 hour offer and facilitate a 
longer period of childcare for working parents. 

It is often the case that children’s readiness for school at Reception differs depending 
on what nursery provision they have attended. There are other schools that don’t have 
nursery provision on site, but it is Cardiff Council’s policy to prioritise the funding of 
maintained nurseries. Maintained nursery also has the benefit of having a qualified 
teacher lead and can influence the level of the provision. 

Page 1313



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

Traffic and parking is a perennial issue. We have to work with traffic and transport 
colleagues to mitigations can be put in place to ease any existing pressures. In the 
case of Pentyrch which is one road in and one road out, consolidating the primary at 
1 form of entry should have minimal impact as some year groups may have the 
numbers already there and the classrooms are just not the appropriate size. Also with 
the nursery, it is likely that the families will be consistent with older siblings already at 
the school. 

It is critical though that we look at safe routes and try to encourage as many people 
as possible walk to school. There is a revisit with Governing Bodies and schools on 
their active travel plans with this kind of investment to ensure that the maximum is 
being done to support families so they can access school without using their cars. 

Staff parking would depend on the scale of land that there is on site. There are also 
planning restrictions on this. 

Public transport would be difficult in this location but there are other options such as 
lift shares and cycle to work schemes that could be utilised. 

 

Q – I am a community governor with 2 children at the school, in years 1 and 3 
and am really excited that hopefully my children will benefit from these 
proposals. I am aware that there is a public meeting, but I reached out to the 
parents of my children’s year classes to see if I could bring any issues to this 
meeting.  

The main points identified were the safe walking routes to school and an issue 
with the parking in front of the school. Pedestrian crossings would be a welcome 
addition. There is also a lot of community discussion taking place in regards to 
the impact on the local nursery. If they could be brought in on the changes then 
that would be fantastic. I agree that my children weren’t at the level as other 
children who had been at a maintained nursery when starting Pentyrch Primary 
School in Reception which adds pressure on the teaching staff. As a parent and 
Pentyrch resident I think a maintained nursery will enhance Pentyrch as a 
community. 

A - MDF – The main purpose of non-maintained nurseries is to provide childcare. In 
many cases they also provide excellent early years education opportunities as well. 
However, many parents do seek maintained nursery provision as they feel it provides 
the education opportunities which are more in line of what they want for their children 
and like that there is a shared ethos of what the school offers right from the beginning. 
Cardiff Council fund the vast majority of nursery places from maintained nurseries.  

 

Q – With regards to the funding, I know it is for both the expansion and the 
introduction of a nursery, but what does this include? Is it just for the physical 
build or does it include the resources that are needed when delivering nursery 
education? 

Page 1314



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

A - MDF – The money will fund any new resources that are needed that you didn’t 
have before. So yes, the buildings and resources for the nursery would be funded as 
this does not exist at present. Other requirements would be from the per pupil funding 
which operates in the primary phase. Unfortunately, it is not a full refurbishment.  

The school might find that there is funding for children in the nursery who may not 
appear initially which would possibly allow for some extra money to fund the incidental 
type purchases you would wish to make. 

 

Q – Very impressed with the presentation and quality of answers given. I feel 
that the challenges within the community will be emotive rather than logical but 
there are logical solutions to these issues. Hopefully this will ease the concerns 
of the community. 

A - MDF – Proposals aren’t referendums and changed by the number of people who 
suggest something, but rather the level and nature of the suggestions. As an education 
proposal it is about not negatively impacting on the educational opportunities that exist 
currently. Our proposals must show that things would stay at least the same if not 
better. 

We have to take into account each person’s views and the merits of them. Working 
together as a Governing Body with the local provider could be very positive for the 
whole community of Pentyrch. 

 

Q – Sarah Coombes (SC) – At what point will we discuss what would happen if 
these proposals don’t get approved? What are the alternatives? When will we 
highlight the issues of the sustainability of financing a village school? 

A - MDF – From the responses we have received so far, I think there are people who 
are cognitive of the issues if the school is not consolidated at 1 form of entry and able 
to attract the pupils from its local area. As a rural area on the edge of an urban area, 
when building work occurs, it can attract pupils elsewhere. 

 

SC – That’s why Pentyrch is collaborating with Llanishen Fach: to ensure the 
financial viability of the school.  

MDF – The data from the consultation document shows that local schools are 
attracting some of Pentyrch’ s pupils. This could be because that relationship started 
at nursery or based on historic perceptions. 

 

SC – There is evidence from Llanishen Fach that when children come into 
nursery at the school they stay. 

 

Page 1315



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Staff and Governing Body Meetings  

Pentyrch Primary School  
12 and 13 January 2022 

 

 

There were no further questions, MDF thanked the Governing Body and the meeting 
closed. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1316



APPENDIX 3 
Notes of Public Consultation Meeting 
  

Page 1317



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

 
Present: Michele Duddridge Friedl (SOP), Brett Andrewartha (SOP), Sarah Coombes 
(Pentyrch Primary School Executive Head), Shirley Karseras (SOP), members of the 
public. 
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
The Meeting was held via Microsoft Teams Live Event  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Brett Andrewartha (BA) opened the meeting by welcoming everyone in attendance. 
He explained the process of consultation including timeframes and reiterated that this 
proposal is at a formative stage.  
He then presented a PowerPoint slide show which set out the following: 
 

 What is being proposed 

 Background 

 Why we are proposing to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School 

 EM pupil projections at Pentyrch Primary School and surrounding area  

 Forecasts and sufficiency of places 

 Nursery provision 

 Condition and suitability 

 Proposed changes to school buildings 

 Quality and standards 

 Benefits of the proposal 

 Potential disadvantages and risks 

 Alternative options  

 Financial matters 

 Other considerations 

 Human resources matters 

 What happens next 
 
 
Questions and Answers  
 
BA invited questions from the public 
 
The questions submitted by staff are set out in italics below/over with the officer 
response given directly below. 
 
 
Q1 – In the presentation there was reference to having considered the 
community impact. On behalf of the village hall, that runs the nursery 5 days a 

Page 1318



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

week, the management committee had not heard anything about the proposal. 
How can they be involved at all stages going forward? 

 

A - Michele Duddridge-Friedl (MDF) We are governed by the School Organisation 
Code when undertaking proposals like this. It sets out which stakeholders we need to 
engage with. We also reach out using social media which we know then spreads 
through word of mouth. If there are issues that we did not reach some people, then we 
need to know this. We still have plenty of time within the consultation period to engage 
with people. As an authority, we want to know all points of views, concerns as well as 
positive aspects. Also, any suggestions you may have to alleviate any of the concerns. 
You know your local community, so if there are any groups or organisations that you 
think we need to engage with, then let us know and we will get the information to them.  

(BA) Just to confirm that we did send mail to the village hall. If they did not receive it, 
then apologies, we will get the information out straight away. The link to the proposal 
has also been shared within this meeting on the comments function. 

When we carry out a proposal, we do recognise that the local community is impacted 
and we did make every effort to contact them for this proposal so apologies if it did not 
reach you.  

(MDF) We will check that we have the correct details for the village hall and can send 
information out to your email address too. 

 

Q2 – I live a few doors down from the school and am very concerned about the 
impact of increased traffic. There has been bedlam on Bronllwyn since Radyr 
Comprehensive School has finished their school day earlier and the buses come 
through the village at exactly the same time as Pentyrch Primary School 
finishes. I have spoken to the PCSO, but they say they can’t do anything. Is there 
a possibility of marking the road with yellow lines to alleviate the chaos? 

 

A – (MDF) I can see that this is causing you stress and the increase of more pupils 
accessing the school is naturally going to cause you more concern. When we have 
capital investment on a school’s proposal, we have to work in conjunction with our 
traffic and transport colleagues as part of the planning permission. They will look to 
see what pre-existing issues there may be in the area as well as working to mitigate 
any issues that could arise due to the proposal. 

We appreciate that Pentyrch is a rural area and that people will access the provision 
by car, but there are other people who could use active travel to get to school. We will 
work with the school to review their active travel plan, and if we can identify safer 
walking routes, then we hope people will use these more. 

Radyr Comprehensive School set their own school hours, it is not something the 
council governs, however they do have to consult on it and we can certainly engage 
with them to see if they know the impact that it is causing in Pentyrch. It may be just 

Page 1319



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

something as simple as the order the buses leave rather than the time the school 
finishes. Pentyrch Primary could also look at the access and egress points around the 
school to see if this can help. We know schools are very active alongside their families 
in promoting safe walking routes and reducing car journeys. This is something we have 
to look at but also something we want to look at as we don’t want people to suffer.  

(BA) – In this process, we are the conduit to the council’s cabinet and the cabinet will 
determine what goes forward in the end. At the planning stage, it is right to identify 
that there could be traffic issues and lever in monies at this point to try and rectify it. If 
we consistently hear this view from the community then our traffic colleagues have to 
respond to, appraise and notify the cabinet on what steps they will take. We encourage 
that you also make this point though the online survey. 

 

Q3 – There are lots and lots of issues with this proposal. The idea of investing 
in education is obviously going to be welcomed but the impacts are going to be 
significant. The increase in traffic is not limited to the school day, there has been 
major housing development in the Northwest of Cardiff that will also cause 
increased traffic through the village. 
We need to look at the next 10 years and put into context the current traffic 
issues. 
The current nursery provision allows for very safe access when dropping 
children off. If these children end up at the school, then the process at the 
minute is not safe for very small children and needs to be considered. 
Also where are the staff going to park? There will be more of them and they 
should not park on Bronllwyn.  
Some children will be coming from the development on Llantrisant Road and 
will need to be driven to the school. How will this work? Will they be eligible for 
travel supplied by the council? They should not be getting dropped off on 
Bronllwyn. We can use as many nice words about consultation and impacts, 
this is the reality. 
 
A – (MDF) I recognise that there is a collective impact and it’s not just this proposal 
causing you concern. The cabinet can make a decision about the proposal, but it will 
depend on planning permission secured. The planning decisions will have to consider 
traffic and transport implications. There are solutions. An example of a tightly 
congested area where a ride and stride initiative has worked is at Ysgol Hamadryad 
which is located in a tightly packed urban area on a one-way street. Planning 
considered the locality to see how school provision could work there, with local 
councillors recognising that parking was a critical issue for their constituents. 
The team making these planning decisions are also involved in the LDP. This 
committee, who are elected members will be aware of the issues being presented to 
them.  
There are obviously a lot of factors affecting Pentyrch and this will challenge how 
things have been in the past which will cause concern.  
 

Page 1320



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

In terms of accessing nursery provision on site, the proposal can be changed by 
suggestions made during the consultation. These suggestions and opinions will be 
considered by the cabinet. For example, 2.5 hours might not work very well for your 
families and so maybe wraparound care will be something they would prefer which 
could be provided by the private provider. The local authority recognises the benefit 
that the established nursery has provided to the community over the years and has 
supported it. We do not want to see it going anywhere but there are families who would 
prefer to access nursery at the school. Relationships are formed at this stage and it 
can harm the number of children attending Pentyrch Primary at reception as families 
have made these relationships with other schools. So, we need to consider the range 
of benefits a school can have by providing nursery provision and balance that with the 
private provider to add value to the community. 
 
Q4 - I am president of the village hall, and the nursery provides 40% pre 
pandemic for the lettings income of the hall. If this ceased, then it could be 
catastrophic. I am pleased to hear that there could be options for wraparound 
service if this was something the current provider could offer.  
I would also like to state that children should never walk-up Church Road or for 
it ever to be considered as a walking route as it is far too dangerous. 
 
MDF - acknowledge that due to your location, there will be some families who have to 
access school provision by car. 
 
Q5 - Chair of Board of Governors for Creigiau Primary School. Want to echo 
some of the comments about how this meeting was publicised as didn’t receive 
information via Creigiau PS even though it has been referenced several times 
within this document. 
I have concerns about the council’s long term aims over education in the 
Northwest of Cardiff. On behalf of Creigiau PS want to raise the point that we 
have 8 of our 14 classes in demountables. Want to question why Pentyrch for 
investment over Creigiau? There is nothing in the document about Welsh 
provision in this area of Cardiff. There are children leaving Pentyrch daily to 
access Welsh language provision at Creigiau. What is the council’s strategic 
direction for education in Northwest Cardiff? 
 
MDF - Pentyrch is a 1 FE school and there are a significant number of people who 
chose English-medium provision there. Creigiau is 2 FE with 1 FE English-medium 
and 1FE Welsh-medium. Gwaelod y Garth nearby offers predominantly Welsh-
medium provision. With rural areas around an urban area like Cardiff, planning 
provision can be more difficult. It may be based around preferences that have been 
demonstrated over a period of time and also where children access that provision 
from. For example, some children who do not reside in Cardiff local authority area may 
attend these rural schools. 
The 106 monies from the Goitre Fach development have been secured to make 
Pentyrch a sustainable and viable village school. Budgets are challenging below 1 FE 
and even at 1FE, the school can benefit by forming a partnership with another primary 
school.  

Page 1321



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

Other large-scale developments in the area include Plasdŵr and that south of Junction 
33. The council has stated a strong commitment to Welsh-medium education in this 
area through the Welsh Education Strategic Plan (WESP). Also LDP sites will have at 
least 50% Welsh-medium school places provided, and as there is a large amount of 
development in the Northwest of Cardiff, this will have an impact on the number of 
Welsh-medium school places on a strategic level in this area. 
 
It is not surprising that you would also like investment in your school and we are aware 
of the challenges that Creigiau faces with the large-scale development in the area. 
 
BA – There is outline planning consent for two of the developments which form part of 
the LDP strategic sites: Plasdŵr and Junction 33. 106 monies have already been 
secured from the Plasdŵr site to bring forward new school provision as has the 
development on Junction 33 which has a projected yield of 420 pupils.  
At the time of planning for Goitre Fach it was identified that there wasn’t sufficient 
spare capacity to serve this development. Money was secured to provide 70 extra 
places and so it made sense to expand Pentyrch to a 1FE.  
However, the development planned for the south of Creigiau has a yield of around 1 
FE and it is hoped that Creigiau Primary may benefit from some investment at this 
point to help serve this development. We expect to meet with the governors of Creigiau 
Primary in the next few months to discuss the impact of the LDP and their needs. 
 
Brian Weir – welcome further conversations in the coming months. 
 
 
Q6 – Is there any transport going to be provided for residents of Goitre Fach to 
Pentyrch Primary? 
 
BA – Transport colleagues were asked to comment on transport provision when 
planning was first submitted for this development. There is no safe walking route from 
that site, so the schools transport policy means that the council would supply free 
home to school transport for those residents. This will be to the nearest school that 
has room and the type of provision they seek. The closest English-medium primary 
schools are actually Radyr Primary and Danescourt Primary but quite often these 
schools are full from within its catchment. What we are concerned with though is that 
there is a net flow of children out of Pentyrch to other schools because there aren’t 
sufficient spaces for children who live in the village. 
This will be either a bus or taxi depending on numbers coming from the development 
who qualify for free transport. 
 
 
Q7 – Community engagement officer for Pentyrch community council. It would 
be useful to share the presentation on their Facebook page. Can you confirm 
that the deadline is 25th January? 
 

Page 1322



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

A – MDF – all the information from tonight’s presentation is from the consultation 
document that is accessible online. The link has been shared on the chat function in 
this meeting. 
Also welcome to email or write to us with your comments. 
  
Q8 – Do notes from this meeting form part of the consultation? 
 
A – MDF – Yes. We make contemporaneous notes for the meetings which will form 
part of the cabinet report. The cabinet report is a summary document of all the 
feedback we have had throughout the consultation. Based on this, we then make a 
recommendation of how to proceed such as go to Statutory Notice on what we’ve 
proposed or with a slight adaptation. The cabinet then make a decision. 
 

Responses are summarised unless you are responding formally, e.g. as a Chair of 
Board of Governors on behalf of a school, which would then be published in full within 
the report. 

 

Q9 – Very concerned for the nursery and the safety of the children with the extra 
traffic from the increase in the school and the local developments. Also, as the 
owner of the business, I’m concerned whether we can still provide the high-
quality care that we do currently. Not all parents want to have childcare all day 
and so might not utilise the wraparound care. After school clubs and supplying 
provision for 2 year olds would not be financially viable for us. 
Can you clarify the figures within the document as we are going to have 4 
primary schools eventually and the projections show the figures are coming 
down? 
 
A - MDF – We have already had discussions about how we can work together to make 
your nursery viable alongside maintained nursery provision. We will schedule more 
meetings to achieve this. 
 
BA – Whilst this proposal has been brought forward due to the development of Goitre 
Fach, the numbers from within the catchment area of Pentyrch Primary show that there 
is a need for extra places locally and this proposal is about providing those extra 
places. Birth-rates are falling in the short term; this is generally a cyclical pattern. There 
may be a dip in pupil numbers in most schools, but this will be offset by new housing. 
It is acknowledged that across the wider area there will be some destabilising of 
existing schools by the establishment of the new LDP schools. We are therefore 
committed to levering in funds to these existing schools to put them in the best position 
possible to retain pupils in their local area. There are numbers in the village and 
catchment area to support a larger Pentyrch Primary school. We can provide summary 
data that the NHS has provided for each area that may further help understanding the 
planning decisions made. 
 

 

Page 1323



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Public Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School  
13 January 2022 

 

 

There were no further questions. MDF reiterated that we can offer further information 
via drop-in sessions if required. She thanked those in attendance and closed the 
meeting. 
 
 
 
 

Page 1324



APPENDIX 4 
Notes of Pupil Meeting 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1325



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School 
17 January 2022 

 

 

 

Present: Pentyrch Primary School pupils (Y3/Y4/Y5/Y6) and staff, Shirley Karseras 
(SOP), Ian Warburton, Rachel Burgess Willis (SOP), Hibah Iqbal (SOP), Rosalie 
Phillips (SOP) 
 

Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 
Welcome and Introductions  
 
Shirley Karseras (SK) opened the meeting, introduced Council officers and explained 
the role of school planning.  She told the pupils that there were proposed changes to 
their school and the meeting was for these changes to be explained and their views 
recorded.   
 
SK then presented the pupil presentation which covered the following 
 
The presentation covered: 
 

 Background  

 What is being proposed? 

 Pupil projections 

 Nursery provision 

 School buildings at Pentyrch 

 Benefits of the proposal 

 Potential disadvantages, risks and alternative options 

 What happens next? 
 
Questions and Answers 
 
The questions asked/comments made by pupils are set out in italics below with the 
officer response given directly below. 
 
Question/Comment 1 
It would be good to have a school library. 
 
Question/Comment 2 
What will happen to Pentyrch Nursery? 
SK – we know that this is a concern.  We will be talking to the nursery and looking at 
options such as wraparound care. 
 
Question/Comment 3 
Where would the extension go? 
SK – we are looking at how this would work and will be talking to your Headteacher 
and Governing Body about this. 
 
 

Page 1326



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School 
17 January 2022 

 

 

 

Question/Comment 4 
Will it affect the play area/school yard; don’t want to lose any of the playground 
SK – at the moment nothing has been agreed and any changes to the building will be 
discussed with your school. 
 
Question/Comment 5 
It will be good because there will be more children  
 
Question/Comment 6 
If there has to be a building on the yard, some of the grass could be taken away to 
build on. 
 
Question/Comment 7 
Will older children be able to play with the little ones? 
Day to day running will still be done by the school.  At the moment schools are working 
in bubbles but hopefully this won’t be for much longer. 
 
Question/Comment 8 
When would the building works be done; would this be while were are in school; will 
we still be able to go to school? 
SK – where possible building works would be done during the school holidays, 
however some works may need to be carried out while the school is open, but you will 
be able to carry on going to school. 
 
Question/Comment 9 
What will happen to clubs if we don’t have the village hall? 
T – the village hall will still be there. 
 
Question/Comment 10 
Will the old part of the school stay the same? 
SK – need to make the best use of money.  The school has been assessed as being 
at a good standard but there may be some improvements. 
 
Question/Comment 11 
Will part of the school be knocked down? 
SK – don’t believe so. 
 
Question/Comment 12 
How many pupils do you think will come to the school? 
SK – there will be 10 extra places in primary year groups and 48 part-time places in 
nursery. 
 
Question/Comment13 
It would be good to have more children at the school and would like to be able to 
welcome them to the school. 
 

Page 1327



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Pupil Engagement Meeting  

Pentyrch Primary School 
17 January 2022 

 

 

 

Question/Comment 14 
Will we go to the same school building during the works? 
SK – yes  
 
During the session the following comments were posted in the chat bar: 
 

 Would like a bigger school and new friends 

 If there are more children, there will be more friends 

 The school is too small 

 Would like a library 

 Would like a new hall for lunchtimes  
 
There were no further questions or comments.  SK thanked the pupils and staff and 
the session ended. 
 
 
 

Page 1328



APPENDIX 5 
Formal responses to consultation: 

 Estyn 

 Pentyrch Community Council 

 Pentyrch Primary School Governing Body 

 Pentyrch Nursery 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1329



A. Estyn 
 
Estyn’s response to the proposal by Cardiff Council to increase the number 
of places at Pentyrch Primary School and to establish nursery provision for 
children aged 3 – 4 years at the school. 
 
Introduction 
 
This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 
Training in Wales. Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation 
(Wales) Act 2013 and its associated Code, proposers are required to send 
consultation documents to Estyn. However, Estyn is not a body which is required 
to act in accordance with the Code and the Act places no statutory requirements 
on Estyn in respect of school organisation matters. Therefore, as a body being 
consulted, Estyn will provide their opinion only on the overall merits of school 
organisation proposals.  
 
Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced 
the following response to the information provided by the proposer.  
 
Summary/ Conclusion  
 
Cardiff Council has provided proposals which clearly explain the reasoning behind 
the need to:  
 
• increase the number of primary school places at Pentyrch Primary School 
from 140 places to 210 places  
• extend the age range of the school from 4-11 to 3-11 by establishing nursery 
provision at the school to allow for 48 part-time places.  
 
Estyn is of the opinion that the proposal is likely to maintain the current standards 
in terms of education, provision, and leadership and management.  
 
Description and benefits 
 
The proposer has provided a clear rationale for the proposals. It has considered 
the likely effect of local developments on school places carefully, and has 
considered the capacity, admission number, surplus capacity and projected 
demand for schools affected by the proposal. Cardiff Council predicts the need to 
expand capacity at Pentyrch Primary School, despite the creation of new schools 
to address the increase in housing stock in the area. At present, the school does 
not provide education for nursery aged pupils and the proposal seeks to address 
this and identifies many benefits of establishing nursery provision at the school.  
Currently families living in Pentyrch seeking nursery places attend private nursery 
settings or travel out of the vicinity.  
 
The proposer has set out the potential benefits of expanding the school and of 
establishing a nursery clearly. For example, Cardiff Council believes that 
expanding the school would contribute towards a better match between the supply 
of and demand for English-medium school places within the local area. The 

Page 1330



proposer sees the establishment of a nursery as a means of enhancing the 
opportunity to appropriately address individual developmental and cultural needs 
as well as establishing strong and effective parental links from the earliest 
opportunity.  
 
Cardiff Council has identified a couple of possible disadvantages to the proposal 
that includes the impact on local private nursery providers as parents may opt to 
send their children to the early years provision at the school instead. There is also 
a real probability that the proposal will result in the increase of traffic in and around 
the school site. 
 
The Council has identified a couple of possible risks associated with the proposal, 
such as the possibility that families from the new housing developments may take 
up places elsewhere. Also, they have identified that the recent birth rates, and 
projected intakes to schools city-wide in the period 2021 to 2024, are at lower levels 
than in recent years which could reduce the take up of places at Pentyrch Primary 
School. They aim to keep projections under review and take account of the 
population changes when timing the proposals for school provision in the area.  
 
The proposer has not considered the risks or disadvantages associated with the 
construction process, should the proposals go ahead. For example, appointing 
appropriate contractors, delays in project delivery and securing sufficient funding. 
Neither have they outlined the potential impact on the disruption to learners during 
the construction phase.  
 
The Council considered other alternatives to the preferred proposal fairly. As the 
proposal is a response to planned housing developments in the surrounding area, 
it looked at the possibility of establishing new school provision elsewhere and 
expanding other existing primary schools. It concluded that all schools within 
reasonable distance to the development were less suitable for expansion and they 
therefore discounted these alternatives. The Council believes that the expansion 
of Pentyrch Primary School is necessary, as the planned building of new primary 
schools on the housing developments may not guarantee admission for all pupils 
on the developments as they may be further from those schools than other 
applicants. They also foresee greater costs in transporting pupils to other schools. 
 
The proposer has considered the impact of the changes on learner travel 
arrangements. There is no safe walking route between the new housing 
development and Pentyrch Primary School, and no plans to provide one in the near 
future. This means that pupils living in the new development would need to be 
transported to the school. Cardiff Council would offer these pupils free home to 
school transport to the nearest appropriate school that has places available at the 
time of applying. It is likely that suitable drop-off and pick-up provision would be 
needed at Pentyrch Primary School to accommodate the required buses and taxis. 
It is also likely that parking restrictions would be required to discourage short 
distance car travel by those within walking distance and to maximise levels of 
active travel to school.  
 
Cardiff Council refers to its ambition and actions towards increasing the number of 
pupils educated through the medium of Welsh. It also outlines its commitment 

Page 1331



towards fulfilling its targets within the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, and to 
meet the targets set out in the Welsh Government’s Cymraeg 2050 Strategy. This 
proposal will not contribute directly to fulfilling the targets outlined in the Council’s 
Welsh in Education Strategic Plan.  
 
Educational aspects of the proposal  
 
The Council has considered the impact of the proposals on the quality and 
standards in education suitably. They note that since the school has been in a 
formal collaboration with Llanishen Fach Primary School, with a leadership team 
working across both schools, that Pentyrch Primary School have made positive 
progress. With continued support, it is reasonable to expect that the quality of 
education within the school would not be negatively affected. 
 
The proposal considers the information from the most recent Estyn report and the 
view of the regional consortium well, for Pentyrch Primary School.  
 
It is reasonable to assume that the provision for pupils with Additional Learning 
Needs would continue as present. The addition of a nursery class could aid with 
the early identification of vulnerable pupils and support a coordinated approach to 
planning for their needs across the foundation phase.  
 
The consultation lacks consideration about how the disruption to learners would be 
minimised if the proposals to go ahead. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1332



(By email) – 24/01/2022 
 

B. Pentyrch Clerk clerk@pentyrch.cc 
School Responses / Ymatebion Ysgolion SchoolResponses@cardiff.gov.uk 
Hill-John, Gavin (Cllr) Gavin.Hill-John@cardiff.gov.uk 
CC - Phased email retention (3 years) 
 
PCC supports improved facilities in its communities and understands the need for 
Pentyrch Primary School to remain sustainable.  
 
PCC does have concerns arising from the proposed expansion of PPS:  

1. The proposed 50% increase in pupil numbers will greatly increase the traffic 
and parking on Bronllwyn whether the extra pupils arrive by school bus or 
private car.   

2. Bronllwyn traffic flow is already significantly affected at school drop-off and 
pick-up time.  It is a bus route. 

3. Safety for all users is a major concern for PCC and asks that robust plans be 
drawn up to minimise risk for more pupils, parents and school staff 

4. The existing nursery based in Pentyrch Village Hall has been an important 
part of the community for some 40 years.  PCC is pleased to see that support 
for this nursery is part of the consultation plan.  We note that the new nursery 
may not be in the final plan.   

5. PCC considers the sustainability of Pentyrch as a community an important 
element of this consultation.  The school is clearly a key part of the community 
and the existing nursery plays its own key role.   

6. Pentyrch Village Hall is another vital part of the local community and the 
existing nursery contributes a signifiant proportion of its income.   

7. It is essential that any new nursery's effect on the wider community's 
sustainability be properly considered. 

 
Helena Fox  
 
Clerc i Cyngor Cymuned Pentyrch  
Clerk to Pentyrch Community Council  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1333

mailto:clerk@pentyrch.cc
mailto:SchoolResponses@cardiff.gov.uk
mailto:Gavin.Hill-John@cardiff.gov.uk


(By email) – 25/01/2022 
 
C. G John-Hill (Pentyrch Primary School) <John-HillG5@Hwbcymru.net> 
School Responses / Ymatebion Ysgolion SchoolResponses@cardiff.gov.uk 
CC - Phased email retention (3 years) 
 
Hi, 
 
Please find below a response from the PPS governing body 
  
After careful review of the consultation document, the public meeting, and 
subsequent briefings the governing body is delighted to support the proposals. 
  
The expansion of the school will provide security for the future and ensure that we 
are able to continue delivering an excellent standard of education in the local 
community. The nursery provision means that children will get the best possible start 
to their life in education and the school community will continue to grow.    
  
The current pupils are excited about the plans and can’t wait to make more friends. 
  
At this stage we would like to raise a few items for consideration based on feedback 
from the local community, teachers and the children. 
  

1. The impact of the increased number of pupils on local traffic and parking will 
need to be carefully managed. 

2. The impact on the existing nursery will need to be considered and managed. 
3. The KS2 classrooms need to be fit for purpose. 
4. There needs to be enough classrooms for single year groups. 
5. The hall needs to be big enough to accommodate the new pupil numbers. 
6. The staff facilities also need to be adequate. 
7. The impact on current pupils caused by the building works will need to be 

minimised. 
  
We look forward to working with the development team to deliver this project. 
  
Gavin Hill-John 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1334

mailto:SchoolResponses@cardiff.gov.uk


(By email) – 24/01/2022 
 
D. Tor L <v.lewis@hotmail.co.uk> 
Duddridge-Friedl, Michele <Michele.Duddridge-Friedl@cardiff.gov.uk>; School 
Responses / Ymatebion Ysgolion <SchoolResponses@cardiff.gov.uk> 
CC - Phased email retention (3 years) 
 
Hi Michelle, 
 
Thank you for your time today. 
 
Please find attached my responses to the survey. 
 
Kind regards 
 
Victoria Lawrence 
Pentyrch Nursery 
 
Proposed expansion of Pentyrch primary school response  
 
1. Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary 
School from 140 to 210 places?  
 
NO  
 
Please explain why  
 
As a nursery we always advocate for any measures that we believe will benefit the 
children of Pentyrch but feel this proposal would be detrimental to the village as a 
whole and as such we will be objecting to the plans. 
 
After reading the proposal thoroughly we have reached the following conclusions. 
• The provision is not being added for residents of the village but with the hope of 
attracting pupils from the new developments on Llantrisant road. 
 
•There are 4 new primary schools being built through the various phases of the 
Plasdwr scheme to meet the education needs of the new development and its 
residents, the first of which opens on the same date as this proposed expansion. 
 
• This will undoubtedly lead to a large increase in traffic at pickup and drop off times 
as there will be an additional 118 places at the school targeted at parents from outside 
the village. There will be a significant impact to air quality and pollution around the 
school during pickup and drop off times which seems to have not been considered. 
 
• Parking will become a major issue as this will lead to around 100 extra vehicles 
needing to park at pickup and drop off times and with the added nursery provision this 
will be 3/4 times per day.  
 

Page 1335



• This will have a knock-on effect on road safety and will create additional risks for the 
local children walking to school. There isn’t sufficient parking to accommodate this 
proposal and people will undoubtedly park irresponsibly as a consequence. 
 
• The proposed relocation of the surgery will also have an impact as it will result in the 
residents of the village attempting to access the proposed surgery in Rhydlafar 
competing with parents from out of the village attempting to get their children to 
Pentyrch primary school creating traffic misery for all through the lanes. 
 
• There is no safe walking or cycling routes from these new developments to Pentyrch 
so all access will have to be by vehicle. 
 
• The new dual medium 420 place Groeswen primary school and a 48-place nursery 
in the Plasdwr development are opening on the same date as this proposed 
expansion. Parents will be faced with a choice of battling the lanes to attend Pentyrch 
or alternatively sending their children to a new state of the art primary school and 
nursery with much better access. 
 
2. Do you support the proposal to establish nursery provision at Pentyrch 
Primary School of 48 part-time places? 
 
NO 
 
Please explain why 
 
If this proposal is successful, it will dramatically change how nursery provision is 
provided to the children of Pentyrch and not necessarily for the better. These are the 
changes parents would see if this proposal is approved. 
 
• The existing nursery which has been in the village for over 40 years will cease to 
exist as it would not be financially viable to continue operation once a nursery for over 
3-year-olds was available within the school as there is currently a mix of 2,3 and 4-
year-olds who attend. Pentyrch Nursery has consistently provided high quality early 
years education as demonstrated by its numerous positive inspection reports from 
both ESTYN and CIW. 
 
• All children over 3 years old who want a nursery place would have to attend 5 days 
per week as there is no flexibility for a school-based nursery to offer less days. This 
removes a parent’s ability to select less days if they feel it isn’t right for their child and 
their development or to suit other childcare commitments. 
 
• There would be no provision for 2-year-olds to attend nursery within the village as 
the school provision will only take children from 3 meaning an average of 8 children 
aged 2 will miss out on the benefits of attending nursery and socialising with other 
children every year. 
 
• An entirely new nursery will need to be built at the school as there is no current 
provision. This will require it to be fully equipped with equipment, resources and staff 
as well as the cost of the building itself. Nowhere in the document is there a cost benefit 
analysis comparing the cost to the council to fund the current nursery provision which 

Page 1336



is relatively low compared against the huge cost of creating and staffing a brand-new 
nursery along with its ongoing costs. 
 
• Replacing the existing high quality private nursery provision with an unproven nursery 
that only excepts over 3’s within the school that lacks flexibility is a backward step and 
will lead to another loss of amenities to the village. 
 
3. Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 
 
Separate the two elements of the proposal to be considered independently to allow for 
flexibility of alternative options. 
 
4. Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 
 
With regard to nursery provision only.  
 
The existing private nursery could be relocated to the newly built nursery on the school 
site to continue to provide sessional childcare in the morning session. This would allow 
the school to provide the education element of the childcare offer in the afternoons. 
 
• This would provide potentially all-day nursery for 3-year-olds and would maintain 
provision for 2-year-olds in the village. This would also have the benefit of introducing 
children to the school setting at the earliest possible opportunity. It would maintain the 
quality of provision from the current private provider with the newly established school 
nursery. 
 
• This would provide a stronger link between the private nursery and the school and 
will also foster greater links with the wider community. 
 
• A combination of private and school provision on one site would mean greater 
flexibility for parents in regards to their childcare needs. 
 
• Relocating and accommodating the private nursery would mean no redundancies for 
the private provider. 
 
• The public perception of the school cooperating with the current nursery to improve 
facilities available to the children of Pentyrch can only help the school’s public image 
within the village. 
 
This is a departure from the original proposal but would best meet the needs of 
Pentyrch. However, for this to be possible any new nursery building would have to 
meet the following criteria. 
 

 Security of lease to the private provider.   

 2.8m² per child for capacity as per CIW guidelines 

 1 toilet and wash basin per 10 children capacity aged 2 and above 

 Separate staff toilet facilities 

 Access requirements are met 

 Nappy changing facilities 

 Separate consumable storage. 

Page 1337



 Kitchen area with hatch access to main area. 

 Space for a separate fridge 

 The school holding sufficient insurance for 2-year-olds on the main premises 
separate to the private providers own insurance. 

 Possibility of overflow room if capacity is met. 

 Secure office / administration area. 

 Dedicated wall space for nursery artwork. 
 
Obviously, this suggestion would require detailed discussion and agreement from all 
parties to include some of the following issues. 
 

 Legal agreements between the school / council and private provider. 

 Decisions on any shared costs 

 Handover process from the private nursery to the school for children attending 
all day. 

 Alignment of strategy between private nursery and school to provide 
complimentary learning outcomes and themes. 

 
 

Page 1338



APPENDIX 6 
 
 
Summary of the Responses Received, and Appraisal of Views Expressed 
 
1. The points of view received as part of the consultation are set out in italics and 

have been grouped according to the points raised where appropriate. 
 

2. The Council’s response to each point can be seen underneath, under the heading 
“Appraisal of views expressed.” 

 
 
Estyn 
 
3. A response from Estyn included the following points: (a copy of the full response 

can be seen at Appendix 5) 
 

 the Council has considered the likely effect of local developments on school 
places carefully, and has considered the capacity, admission number, 
surplus capacity and projected demand for schools affected by the proposal. 
They predict the need to expand capacity at Pentyrch Primary School, 
despite the creation of new schools to address the increase in housing stock 
in the area. 
 

 the proposer sees the establishment of a nursery as a means of enhancing 
the opportunity to appropriately address individual developmental and 
cultural needs as well as establishing strong and effective parental links 
from the earliest opportunity. 
 

 the council considered other alternatives to the preferred proposal fairly. 
 

 Estyn is of the opinion that the proposal is likely to maintain the current 
standards in terms of education, provision, and leadership and 
management. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
4. The Councils acknowledges the conclusions of Estyn on the overall merits of the 

proposal and notes the risks they identified in relation to the construction period. 
 

5. The Council has significant experience in the successful delivery of building 
projects on the sites of occupied schools resulting from the progression of a large 
and growing school organisation programme generated by the 21st Century 
Programme.   

 
6. Any building work carried out on the Pentyrch Primary School site would be 

managed effectively in consultation with the school to ensure that sufficient 
accommodation is available, the full curriculum continues to be delivered and that 
high education, safety and safeguarding standards are maintained. 

 

Page 1339



7. Any building works would be kept separate from the parts of the site being used by 
the school, DBS checks would be undertaken, and on-site security measures 
implemented to ensure complete separation. 

 
8. Construction disruption concerns would be addressed within the planning 

conditions which would be expected to restrict construction traffic access outside 
school journey times.  

 
Pentyrch Primary School Governing Body 
 
9. The Governing Body of Pentyrch Primary School stated they were  supportive of 

the proposals. Their response included the following points: (a copy of the full 
response can be seen at Appendix 5) 
 

 the expansion of the school will provide security for the future and ensure 
that we are able to continue delivering an excellent standard of education in 
the local community. 
 

 the nursery provision means that children will get the best possible start to 
their life in education and the school community will continue to grow.   
  

 the consultation has also highlighted some items for consideration: increase 
of traffic and parking within the area; impact on existing nursery; adequate 
rooms and school hall to accommodate the extra pupils; adequate staff 
facilities; building works do not impact on existing pupils.  
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
10. The Council welcomes the Governing Body’s support for the proposal. 
 
11. The Council recognises that the proposal could increase issues with traffic and 

transport in the vicinity of the school.  
 
12. The Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) includes a target of 50% of 

all journeys to be made by sustainable transport. Minimising the proportion of 
school journeys made by car and maximising opportunities for travel to school 
by active and sustainable modes can make an important contribution to 
achieving this target and reducing pressures on the transport network at peak 
times.  

 
13. Increasing travel to school by active modes will have a positive impact on 

children’s health and wellbeing and will support the delivery of key actions and 
outcomes under Goal 5 the Council’s Child Friendly City Strategy (2018), which 
relates to ensuring access to safe outdoor environments for formal and informal 
play, and active travel to school. 

 
14. The proposals will include measures identified by a Transport Assessment to 

maximise active travel.  Expected improvements would be in the provision for 
walking, scooting and cycling with appropriate road crossings in Pentyrch. 

Page 1340



These would be expected to reduce the proportion travelling by car from within 
the village.  

 
15. The Council’s current Corporate Plan includes a commitment to every school in 

Cardiff developing an Active Travel Plan. Such a plan will identify actions by the 
school to support and encourage active travel to school and also any 
improvements to on-site and off-site infrastructure required to facilitate active 
journeys. 

 
16. The proposals will include measures identified by a Transport Assessment to 

maximise this active travel.  Expected improvements would be in the provision 
for walking, scooting and cycling with appropriate road crossings in Pentyrch. 
These would be expected to reduce the proportion travelling by car from within 
the village.  

 
17. Parking restrictions are likely to be put in place to discourage short distance car 

travel and maximise active travel to school. Consideration would be given to 
identify a suitable Park and Stride facility for any who need to drive from further 
afield. 

 
18. Potential provision of wrap-around nursery care would be expected to reduce 

overall trips as it would enable some families to combine trips accompanying 
siblings of nursery and school age. 

 
19. Officers from the Council’s Transport Vision Policy & Strategy team will work 

closely with colleagues within the planning and education teams and the 
Governing Body and Senior Leadership Team of the school to further develop 
the Active Travel Plan and to mitigate problems were possible. 
 

20. The potential financial impact on the local private nursery of establishing 
nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School is acknowledged by the Council 
and this was highlighted in the consultation information published by the 
Council.  

 
21. The introduction of nursery provision in this area would be a benefit to many in 

the local community and would support the 21st Century Schools Programme 
Vision for Cardiff which aims to have schools of the right size and in the right 
place. It seeks to place schools at the heart of their communities with a shared 
responsibility for all children and young people in the area. 
 

22. The potential financial impact on the local private nursery of establishing 
nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School is acknowledged by the Council 
and this was highlighted in the consultation information published by the 
Council.  
 

23. The impact on the private nursery may be mitigated through a number of 
measures which have been discussed at length with the owner during the 
consultation period. These may include each setting offering alternate sessions 
(e.g. school nursery class sessions in morning or afternoon only) which would 
allow the nursery to operate as a wrap-around childcare setting, and potentially 

Page 1341



the sharing of the proposed nursery class accommodation on the school site. 
Such arrangements have operated successfully on other school sites, and the 
arrangements have allowed families to access the nursery education offer and 
wrap-around childcare. 
 

24. ‘The childcare offer for Wales’ provides working parents with a mixture of 
childcare and early education for children aged three or four. This would allow 
parents to access a nursery class place in a school of up to 12.5 hours and to 
receive funding for wrap-around childcare for up to 17.5 hours. 
 

25. Several discussions with the private nursery have been held during the 
consultation period.  The school has also been active in discussions with the 
private nursery regarding opportunities to expand their offer to provide for other 
groups should they be interested to do so to cater for the wider primary age 
group operating from the Pentyrch Primary School site in order to enhance the 
current offer available to families in the village and wider community. 
 

26. Detailed designs for any new building works or adaptions would be agreed with 
the Headteacher and Governing Body, if the proposals are progressed to 
implementation. The input of children and young people into developing the site 
would be integral to project implementation at all stages. 

 
27. Concerns around the impact of the construction phase on pupils’ learning are 

addressed in paragraphs 5-8. 
 
Pentyrch Community Council 

 
28. The Community Council responded to the consultation stating that they were in 

support of the proposal and understood the need for Pentyrch Primary School 
to remain sustainable. (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 5) 

 
29. They did however raise the following concerns: 
 

 the proposed increase in pupil numbers will greatly increase the traffic and 
parking. 
 

 Bronllwyn traffic flow is already significantly affected at school drop-off and 
pick-up time and safety for all users is a major concern. 
 

 the Community Council is pleased to see that support for the existing 
nursery is part of the consultation plan; it has been an important part of the 
community for 40 years, contributes a significant proportion towards the 
income of the village hall and plays a key role in the community. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
30. The Council welcomes the support of Pentyrch Community Council for the 

proposal. 
 

Page 1342



31. Concerns around traffic and transport implications are addressed at paragraphs 
12-19. 

 
32. Concerns around any detrimental effect on the existing nursery provider are 

addressed at paragraphs 20-25. 
 
 

Pentyrch Nursery 
 

33. The proprietor of Pentyrch Nursery submitted a response to state they did not 
support either part of the proposal: to expand the school, nor establish nursery 
provision at the school (A copy of the full response can be seen at Appendix 5) 

 
34. The following points were expressed highlighting their concerns with the 

proposal: 
 

 the increase in provision is not for the benefit of the residents of the village 
but with the hope of attracting pupils from the new developments.  
 

 this will undoubtedly lead to a large increase in traffic at pickup and drop off 
times, leading to a significant impact to air quality and pollution around the 
school at these times. 
 

 parking will become a major issue as there will be extra vehicles at pickup 
and drop off times; nursery provision on site means this would occur 3-4 
times per day. This will have a knock-on effect on road safety and will create 
additional risks for the local children walking to school. There isn’t sufficient 
parking to accommodate this proposal and people will undoubtedly park 
irresponsibly as a consequence. 

 

 the proposed relocation of the surgery will have an impact; village residents 
attempting to access the surgery will be competing with school parents from 
outside the village through the lanes, creating traffic misery. 

 

 Groeswen Primary School is due to open on the same date as the proposal 
at Pentyrch Primary School. Parents will be faced with battling the lanes to 
attend Pentyrch or alternatively sending their children to a new state of the 
art primary school and nursery with much better access. 

 

 if the proposal was successful and a nursery was established at the school, 
then the existing nursery which has been in the village for over 40 years will 
cease to exist as it would not be financially viable to continue operation. 

 

 Pentyrch Nursery has consistently provided high quality early years 
education as demonstrated by its numerous positive inspection reports from 
both ESTYN and CIW. 

 

 all children over 3 years old who want a nursery place would have to attend 
5 days per week as there is no flexibility for a school-based nursery to offer 
less days. This removes a parent’s ability to select less days if they feel it 

Page 1343



isn’t right for their child and their development or to suit other childcare 
commitments. 

 

 there would be no provision for 2-year-olds to attend nursery within the 
village meaning children will miss out on the benefits of attending nursery 
and socialising with other children every year. 

 

 Nowhere in the document is there a cost benefit analysis. An entirely new 
nursery will need to be built at the school as there is no current provision. 
This will require it to be fully equipped with equipment, resources and staff 
as well as the cost of the building itself.  

 

 Replacing the existing high quality private nursery provision with an 
unproven nursery that only excepts over 3’s within the school that lacks 
flexibility is a backward step and will lead to another loss of amenities to the 
village. 

 

 The existing private nursery could be relocated to the newly built nursery on 
the school site to continue to provide sessional childcare in the morning 
session. This would allow the school to provide the education element of the 
childcare offer in the afternoons. 

 

 This would provide potentially all-day nursery for 3-year-olds and would 
maintain provision for 2-year-olds in the village which would mean greater 
flexibility for parents in regards to their childcare needs. This would also 
have the benefit of introducing children to the school setting at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
35. Projection figures of pupil numbers from several catchments were published 

in the consultation document. This data is based on the most recent 
information supplied by the NHS in August 2021, and recent patterns of 
migration and take up of places. 

 
36. The data which is based on existing housing, shows that whilst there is an 

increasing level of surplus English-medium primary school places projected in 
the wider area, there are few surplus places in the catchment area of Pentyrch 
Primary School. The projected numbers are greater than the existing 
Published Admission Number of 20. 

 
37. It is anticipated that in the short term, the new housing developments will 

impact the take up of places at the next nearest schools with many being 
highly subscribed. 

 
38. Pentyrch Primary School may also attract some pupils from the Goitre Fach 

development, which lies within the catchment area of the school. As there is 
no safe walking route from the development at present, learners would be 
entitled to free home to school transport to the nearest available school place. 

Page 1344



Should learners access a place at Pentyrch Primary School, it is anticipated 
that this would be accommodated with only one or two vehicles. 

 
39. Concerns around traffic and transport implications are addressed at 

paragraphs 12-19. 
 
40. The Council acknowledges that current nursery provision within the village is 

well respected by many and recognises the positive inspections that it has 
received. However, only a small proportion of children in the catchment area 
of the school take up places at this private nursery. 

 
41. Children aged three to four years are entitled to a part-time nursery place from 

the start of the term after they have turned three. They must attend nursey 
class for at least five half days a week. 

 
42. The establishment of nursery provision at the school would provide a 

consistent approach to teaching and planning, to develop continuity and 
progression in children’s learning from the age of three, and to contribute to 
raising standards across the school. 

 
43. The following benefits would be expected to result from the establishment of 

nursery provision at the school: 
 

 Continuity of provision which reflects the ethos and culture of the school. 

 The development of strong and effective parental links from the earliest 
possible opportunity can be supported. 

 Ease of transition for a nursery-aged child when promoting to Reception 
class (where Reception admission application has been successful).  

 Early identification of vulnerable groups. This will mean that the needs of 
children can be identified as early as possible.  

 It would provide an opportunity for children to attend nursery at the same 
site as their older siblings. This should impact positively on parents’ time 
and reduce the logistical difficulties that seeking an alternative childcare 
provider may cause.  

 By having an early years unit within our school, our pupils’ well-being and 
learning will be advantaged. Continuity and progression between Early 
Years and Foundation Phase will be secured, enhancing the opportunity to 
appropriately address individual developmental and cultural needs. 

 
44. Funding to expand Pentyrch Primary School has been secured through S106 

contributions. Any building works or adaptations required will need design/ 
cost development and will need to consider a range of financial aspects, 
including this s106 funding available alongside the affordability and 
prioritisation of this project against ongoing Education capital schemes.  
 

45. The Council welcomes the opportunity to engage further with the owner of 
Pentyrch Nursery to discuss options to provide a range of childcare solutions 
for the entire community of Pentyrch. 
 

 

Page 1345



Other Responses Received 
 
Traffic Implications  
 

 There is no adequate parking on Bronllwyn for cars dropping off children but 
there are dedicated parking/disabled bays at Pentyrch Village Hall for the 
parents of nursery children. 
 

 Parking outside school is already a hazard, making it impossible for cars to 
pass through the main road through the village. 
 

 The roads from the new housing developments are very poor – all are unlit and 
without pavements for large parts of the journey.  There have been two fatalities 
on Heol Pant Y Gored – one in 2010 and another in 2013. 
 

 The extra traffic and pollution the new nursery will bring into our small village is 
a huge safety concern for all the children who actually live in Pentyrch.  
 

 The added traffic for the new nursery and the proposed new location of 
Pentyrch surgery will potentially cause a huge traffic conflict between the two, 
in itself causing huge health and safety issues.  
 

 The school pickup already causes chaos due to traffic and encouraging people 
to send their children here from further afield will exasperate that. 
 

 The site is not big enough as a start. The village is used as a cut through - this 
will generate extra traffic. The main road cannot cope with this or buses parking 
in the road.  
 

 This proposal is not for the benefit of the village and will lead to disruptive traffic 
and parking in the village. 
 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
46. Concerns around traffic and transport implications are addressed at paragraphs 

12-19. 
 

Impact on Pentyrch Nursery 
 

 I’d be sad to see the closure of the current Pentyrch Nursery 
 

 I hugely object to the plans for the new Pentyrch nursery in its current form, 
there is lack of consultation and huge implications for the existing incredible 
nursery and its staff as well as the village itself.  
 

 The existing Nursery has been going for over 40 years and is an established, 
well achieving and very special educational setting that allows children from 2 

Page 1346



years old to experience independence, creativity, friendship and to also learn 
the importance of the values of village life.  
 

 The expansion of the school will mean the closure of Pentyrch Nursery, which 
will mean there will be no flexible childcare within the area for my children. 
Pentyrch Nursery allows you to choose what days your child attends in relation 
to what suits them, their ability and your work commitments.  
 

  There is a nursery in the village which you will put out of business. 
 

 A nursery based at the Village Hall has provided educational services for over 
forty years. The present owner has been established for well over ten years 
and has built up a good working relationship with the school. 
 

 A private nursery has been established in the village hall for over 40 years.  The 
current nursery is consistently inspected at a very high level, and it offers more 
provision than the proposed school based one.  There is a very close working 
relationship with primary and nursery and they are less than 200 yards apart.  
 

 Existing nursery provision at P. V. H. is flexible.  Parents can pick and choose 
the amount of daily provision they want. Pentyrch Nursery has created a good 
relationship with the school as most children feed into reception class.  Why 
destroy that relationship?  

 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
47. Concerns around any detrimental effect on the existing nursery provider are 

addressed at paragraphs 20-25 and 45. 
 

 
Impact on Village Hall 
 

 There would be a huge impact on the viability of the village hall, pre-covid the 
income from nursery was about 40% of total lettings. 
 

 Pentyrch Village Hall is a registered Charitable Trust owned by the residents of 
the Village – (the Trustees being Pentyrch Community Council).  Reduction in 
income of the hall may lead to its demise unless adequate income can be 
sourced from elsewhere. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
48. The Council acknowledges concerns expressed about the village hall. 
 
49. Concerns around any detrimental effect on the existing nursery provider are 

addressed at paragraphs 20-25 and 45. 
 
Pupil Numbers 
 

Page 1347



 There are definite advantages of improving the school buildings and capacity 
of staffing but I am worried about class sizes increasing. 
 

 What about the proposed new schools to be built on the Llantrisant Road? 
Pentyrch school would then be left with surplus space and staff. 
 

 Once nursery provision has been fully supplied in the new housing development 
parents will not enrol children in Pentyrch. The majority of parents enrol children 
in the nursery that feeds a school that has a good Care Inspectorate Report.  
Until Pentyrch School improves further it will face difficulties maintaining, never 
mind increasing, its attraction for parents. 
 

 The village hasn’t expanded so no need. 
 

 There is absolutely no need at the current time. The NOR in primaries are at 
the lowest level for years. 
 

 Why would parents travelling from the new developments bring children to 
Pentyrch when they will drive past nursery provision at The Laurels or Little 
Haven? 
 

 Do not expend capital on the creation of a nursery when there is adequate 
provision for nurseries at Pentyrch Nursery 
 

 The new estates have been promised their own schools which will then leave 
Pentyrch searching for pupils. This doesn’t feel necessary and I feel the money 
could be better spent in other ways to improve the education provision in the 
area. 
 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
50. There is a collective surplus of primary school English-medium places across 

the wider area of Pentyrch, Creigiau and Radyr and Morganstown. However, 
the number of children resident in the catchment area of Pentyrch Primary 
School, enrolled in an English-medium primary school, exceeds the capacity of 
the school. 

 
51. Additional school places will be required in the short term as new housing is 

developed. 
 
52. The Goitre Fach development, within the catchment area of Pentyrch Primary 

School is projected to produce a yield of circa 10 pupils for each year group of 
which an average of 8 pupils would take up places in English-medium schools 
taking account of the most recent city-wide take up. A range of 6-10 pupils 
requiring places is assumed to take account of fluctuation. 

 
53. The primary school that will serve the Plasdwr development, Groeswen Primary 

School, is due to open in September 2023. The 2 form entry school will open 
with a phased approach, initially offering 30 English-medium and 30 Welsh-

Page 1348



medium places in Reception and 15 English-medium and 15 Welsh-medium 
places in Years 1 and 2. 

 
54. This phased approach will limit the impact to other schools in the wider area, 

such as Pentyrch Primary School. 
 
55. Previous trends for take up of places in this locality shows that a significant 

proportion of pupils take up places in a school that is not their catchment school. 
Pupils’ resident outside of Cardiff are also able to take up places at Cardiff 
schools, subject to sufficient places being available, and may meet higher 
oversubscription criteria such as residing in closer proximity than some Cardiff 
applicants who may also be out of the catchment area of that school. 

 
56. Small schools such as Pentyrch Primary School face significant financial 

challenges in balancing their budget. The annual revenue funding allocation for 
each individual school comprises a combination of fixed lump sum elements 
and per pupil funding amounts based on the number of pupils within the school. 

 
57. The proposed expansion would provide a sustainable balance in the supply of 

and demand for places in the village of Pentyrch and the Goitre Fach 
development. 

 
58. Expanding the school to a one form entry primary school permits greater 

flexibility and opportunity for pupils owing to an extended, more enhanced and 
secure financial resource base. 

 
59. A one form entry school would also provide a greater degree of stability at all 

levels of leadership, including maintaining a full and stable complement of 
school governors. 

 
60. The ability to employ more teaching and support staff for a slightly larger school, 

would also allow the school to provide a wider range of curriculum expertise. 
 
61. Concerns around nursery provision are addressed at paragraphs 47-50. 
 
62. Concerns around costs are addressed at paragraph 51. 

 
 
Active Travel Issues  
 

 The school currently meets the needs of the village population. Any pupils 
attending from the new developments on Llantrisant Road would need to be 
travel by car as there is no safe walking route into or out of the village for anyone 
and in any case, it would be too far to expect young children to walk.  
 

 Traffic and parking are already a hazard a school pickup and drop off times and 
the roads into the village are narrow country lanes which are unsuitable for the 
larger volumes of traffic this proposal would create. This development also 
conflicts with the Authority’s transport policies to encourage people out of their 
cars and also encouraging pupils to walk or cycle to school. New schools are 

Page 1349



already built into the Plasdwr development, and it is more appropriate for 
residents to attend these than put more cars onto narrow country lanes. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
63. Concerns around traffic and transport implications are addressed at paragraphs 

12-19. 
 
64. The Council appreciates that not all journeys to the school in a rural area like 

Pentyrch can be made via active means.  
 
65. There is no safe walking route from the Goitre Fach development. So, the 

schools transport policy means that the council would supply free home to 
school transport for those residents. This will be to the nearest school that has 
room and the type of provision they seek. 

 
66. It is anticipated that those children arriving at Pentyrch Primary School from the 

development would require one or two vehicles. A designated area immediately 
outside the school to would be created to allow for these drop offs and pick-
ups. 

 
Wish to retain village identity 
 

 The local children who attend Pentyrch nursery are the ones that the village will 
one day expect to respect, maintain and look after the village and to maintain 
its core values and future and to keep it as a village rather than a small town 
outside of Cardiff that has lost its identity, as so many 'villages' around Cardiff 
already have. As parents we want our children to have a village to be proud of 
and to want to raise their own children there, however if we as a village aren't 
careful, we will be engulfed by decisions that have been made for profit reasons 
only and will lose all the parts that make Pentyrch special. 

 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
 
67. The proposal would support the 21st Century Schools Programme Vision for 

Cardiff which aims to have schools of the right size and in the right place. It seeks 
to place schools at the heart of their communities with a shared responsibility for 
all children and young people. 
 

68. With 140 pupil places, Pentyrch Primary School would be the smallest school in 
Cardiff. Balancing the budget for a small school is especially difficult. An increased 
number of pupils attending the school would also allow for a stronger budget 
position, greater opportunities for pupils and staff and would support the school to 
maintain and continue to build on its excellent standards. 

 
 
Current school buildings  
 

Page 1350



 Need to see a proposal for the building.  In Council's own estimate the building 
is not adequate, are the plans to build a new school?  

 

 A new building on the current site would be amazing.  Demountables are still in 
use which were in use during the 80's. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
69. New school places funded through S106 contributions will either be provided 

through the expansion of existing schools (where a site is capable of 
accommodating additional pupil places), or through the provision of new build 
schools.  
 

70. The s106 funding already secured for Pentyrch Primary School will allow the 
expansion of the school through additional building works and/ or adaptions to the 
existing school building. This will be considered in more detail at the design stage 
if the proposal is progressed. 
 

71. Any detailed school design or site layout would be considered at the pre-planning 
and planning application stages, should the proposal be progressed. There would 
be opportunities to comment on detailed plans at this stage. 

 
72. Any design taken forward for this proposal would be developed to ensure the 

delivery of high-quality modern facilities. Detailed designs would be agreed with 
the Headteacher and Governing Body. 

 
 

Page 1351



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
1 

 

Table of Contents 
Background ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

Proposals ................................................................................................................................................. 2 

Methodology ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

Responses ............................................................................................................................................... 3 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: ............................................................................... 5 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: .................................................................. 5 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School from 140 to 

210 places?...................................................................................................................................... 6 

Please explain why: ......................................................................................................................... 7 

Do you support the proposal to establish nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School of 48 

part-time places? ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Please explain why: ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? .............................................. 11 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? ..................................................... 13 

Do you have any other comments? .............................................................................................. 14 

About You ......................................................................................................................................... 15 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ views 

and needs by area:- ....................................................................................................................... 15 

What was your age on your last birthday? ................................................................................... 16 

Are you…? ..................................................................................................................................... 16 

Do you identify as a disabled person? .......................................................................................... 16 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: ....................................................................... 16 

What is your ethnic group? Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home 

nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these. .......... 17 

APPENDIX A –  EMAILS RECEIVED ......................................................................................................... 18 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1353



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
2 

 

Background 
As part of Cardiff’s Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2026, a number of key strategic sites 

to deliver 41,100 new dwellings in Cardiff were agreed. The Council’s Education 

Infrastructure Plan, included in the Deposit LDP in 2013, highlights planned investment / 

development proposals and identifies future infrastructure requirements based on Cardiff’s 

projected level and distribution of growth. In addition S106 monies can be sought from 

developers for education if obligations meet the following criteria: 

• Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms  

• Directly related to the development; and  

• Fairly and reasonably related in case and kind to the development 

 

Proposals 
 Increase the number of primary school places at Pentyrch Primary School from 140 

places to 210 places. 
 

 Extend the age range of the school from 4-11 to 3-11 by establishing nursery 

provision at the school to allow for 48 part-time places. 

 

Methodology 
 Publication of a Consultation Document on the Council website. 

 

 Distribution of a letter to parents of all pupils due to start in the reception year in 
September 2023, outlining the proposal and giving details of how to access the 
Consultation Document online. 

 A communication campaign via social media. 

 Offer of Online drop in sessions where officers were available to answer questions.  

 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the consultation 
document. 

 An online response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements. 
 

 Online public consultation meeting for people to learn more and share their views. 
 

 

Page 1354

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements


Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
3 

 

Responses 
There were 82 responses received to the consultation 

There were 3 emails received in relation to the consultation, these can be viewed in 
Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1355



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
4 

 

 

 

 

 

THE PROPOSED EXPANSION OF 

PENTYRCH PRIMARY SCHOOL & 

ESTABLISHMENT OF NURSERY 

PROVISION AT THE SCHOOL - 

RESEARCH FINDINGS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1356



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
5 

 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 

Over a half (53.7%) of responses to the survey were from Local Residents, this was followed 

by around two in five (42.7%) that came from a Parent or Guardian. 

 
N.B. Percentages do not sum to 100% as respondents could select more than one option 

 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: 

From the table below it’s evident that around three in five (58.5%) respondents to the 

survey had no affiliation with the school/s in Pentyrch. 

 No. % 

School Affiliation 34 41.5 

No School Affiliation 48 58.5 

Total Respondents 82 100.0 
 

 No. % 

Pentyrch 4 11.8 

Pentyrch Nursery 6 17.6 

Pentyrch Primary School 24 70.6 

Other 2 5.9 

Total Respondents 34 - 
N.B. Percentages do not sum to 100% as respondents could identify more than one school 

 

 

 

 

 

53.7

42.7

6.1 4.9 3.7

9.8

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

Local
Resident

Parent or
Guardian

Member of
Staff

Governor Grandparent Other

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

Please tell us whether you are responding as: (Base: 82)

Page 1357



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
6 

 

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School from 140 to 

210 places? 

Just over a half (53.7%) of respondents support the proposal, whilst two in five (40.2%) were 

against the proposal. 

 

When viewed by respondents that are affiliated to a school in Pentyrch, agreement with the 

proposal rises to over two in three (67.6%) responses. A half (50.0%) of respondents that are 

not affiliated to a school did not support the proposal, this is 9.8 percentage points higher 

than that of the overall findings and 23.5 percentage points higher than that of the findings 

from the respondents that are affiliated to a school. 

 

School 
Affiliation 

No School 
Affiliation 

Yes 67.6 43.8 

No opinion 5.9 6.3 

No 26.5 50.0 

Base 34 48 
 

 

When viewed by the 24 respondents that were directly affiliated with Pentyrch Primary 

School, agreement with the proposal rises to 87.5%. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53.7 6.1 40.2

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity 
of Pentyrch Primary School from 140 to 210 places? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 82)

Page 1358



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
7 

 

Please explain why: 

Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting / not 
supporting the proposal, all valid comments were then grouped into themes. These themes 
along with example comments can be viewed below / overleaf: 

Theme No. % Example Comments 

Will support the 
needs of the 
community 

26 41.9 

  

 A clear need to provide nursery provision in 

support the growing needs of the community. 

Original school places were 210, so again to 

support the needs of a growing, yet established 

community. 

 I support the expansion of Pentyrch Primary as this 

would retain a school within Pentyrch to serve the 

local community. This is important to my family as 

we are looking to send our new baby to Pentyrch 

Primary when they reach admittance age. 

 Good for local community & families, allows for 

children to get into school nursery earlier than 

they currently do. 

 To provide the best possible facility and resources 

for the children in Pentyrch, the teachers at the 

school and support the long-term sustainability 

and success of the school. 

 

General agreement 
with the proposal 

5 8.1 

  

 Provided the council is supporting the finance of all 

single form entry schools. 

 

Convenience 3 4.8 

  

 Because it would be more convenient for my 

children to attend a nursery locally. 

 

No Opinion 2 3.2 

  

 Need to see a proposal for the building.  In 

Council’s own estimate the building is not 

adequate, are the plans to build a new school?  

What about the proposed new schools to be built 

on the Llantrisant Rd?  Pentyrch school would then 

be left with surplus space and staff. 

 

Page 1359



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
8 

 

Concerns around 
traffic / parking 

16 25.8 

  

 I’m concerned about the increase in traffic and the 

safety of the children with so many more vehicles 

in the village. 

 So much traffic on Bronllwyn, it is total chaos and 

very dangerous at drop off and pick-ups. 

 Parking outside school is already a hazard, making 

it impossible for cars to pass through the main 

road through the village. 

 

Generally against 
the proposal 

7 11.3 

  

 There is absolutely no need at the current time. 

The NOR in primaries are at the lowest level for 

years. Why would you? 

 I don’t think it’s fair getting rid of 8entyrch nursery 

 

Already exists / 
waste of money 

6 9.7 

  

 Pentyrch already has a very accomplished nursery 

in which children can start from a younger age, 

8entyrch nursery has been a massive part of village 

for over 40 years, there is no need to spend money 

building a new nursery when then money would 

we best spent elsewhere in the community. 

 Yes, but not the nursery. Why waste money 

making something that already exists and provides 

a better service than you plan to offer. 

 

Total Respondents  62 -   
N.B. Percentages do not sum 100% because respondents’ opinions could fall into multiple themes 

 

Do you support the proposal to establish nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School of 48 

part-time places? 

Around two in five (41.5%) respondents support the proposal, whilst over a half (51.2%) 

were against the proposal. 

Page 1360



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
9 

 

 

Disagreement with the proposal varied by 12.2 percentage points when viewed by 

respondents that are / are not affiliated with a school in Pentyrch (44.1% and 56.3% 

respectively) 

 

 

School 
Affiliation 

No School 
Affiliation 

Yes 44.1 39.6 

No opinion 11.8 4.2 

No 44.1 56.3 

Base 34 48 
 

 

When viewed by the 24 respondents that were directly affiliated with Pentyrch Primary 

School, agreement with the proposal rises to 54.2%. 

 

Please explain why: 

Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting / not 

supporting the proposal, all valid comments were then grouped into themes. These themes 

along with example comments can be viewed below / overleaf: 

Theme No. % Example Comments 

Will support the 
needs of the 
community 

16 26.2 

  

 The nurseries that feed to pentyrch primary school 

aren’t built on-site meaning that we never know 

how well certain children have been getting on. It 

will be easier for parents who have children in 

both school and nursery. 

 Minimal provision currently for local residents. 

41.5 7.3 51.2

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to establish nursery 
provision at Pentyrch Primary School of 48 part-time 

places? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 82)

Page 1361



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
10 

 

 The current nursery provision is not up to the 

stand of other local nurseries attached to other 

primary schools. It would be good for continuity 

and settling in of new pupils with formally 

qualified staff. 

 

General agreement 
with the proposal 

5 8.2 

  

 We might make use of the proposed nursery. 

 

No Opinion 2 3.3 

  

 Again on what basis and what so the proposal in 

regard to interface with current nursery provision 

and then staffing (TUPE apply etc). 

 

Already exists / 
waste of money / 
Job losses 

28 45.9 

  

 Pentyrch Nursery has been part of our village for 

over 40 years, providing excellent care. Why is this 

much-loved business not being supported instead 

of spending thousands on a new nursery? 

Pentyrch Nursery is also a vital income for our 

village hall which I fear may be lost without it, 

robbing our village of yet another vital amenity. I 

object strongly to the new nursery. 

 Current provision supply this to a high standard. 

 A nursery provision within the school would take 

away the brilliant nursery that Pentyrch already 

have. It would be detrimental to the village to lose 

this nursery as they cater for children from 2 years 

and on a part time basis. 

 Because it compromises the existing nursery in the 

village leading to job losses. 

 

Generally against 
the proposal 

9 14.8 

  

 Nursery places at nearby schools have been 

reduced, creating budgetary pressures. There is no 

demand for additional places, and when there is, 

those places should be reallocated to existing 

provisions. 

 Part time don’t suit most parents and they need 

consistency. 

 

Page 1362



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
11 

 

Concerns around 
traffic / parking 

6 9.8 

  

 Concerned about parking. 

 Nursery already in place, increased traffic, 

pollution. 

 

Total Respondents  61 -   
N.B. Percentages do not sum 100% because respondents’ opinions could fall into multiple themes 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 

Respondents were invited to highlight any changes they feel could improve the proposals. 
All valid comments were then grouped into themes, these themes along with example 
comments can be viewed below / overleaf: 

Theme No. % Example Comments 

Traffic / parking 
concerns 

14 29.8 

  

 Infrastructure needs to be properly considered. 

Parking and traffic outside the school is already a 

problem. 

 Parking and traffic need serious consideration. The 

village is already bursting at the seams and suffers 

with speeding traffic, lack of safe parking and too 

many cars when school is in session. This will only 

get worse when new places are given and start a 

new issue at lunchtimes for nursery end/start 

session. 

 Parking and congestion is an issue around the school 

which would be heightened with more children and 

nursery places. With the amount of space on site, 

providing parking for staff as a minimum would be 

beneficial. 

 Sort out parking issues. 

 

Page 1363



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
12 

 

Generally against 
the proposals 

13 27.7 

  

 Not allowing the proposals to continue. 

 No this proposal offers no benefit for the residents 

of Pentyrch. 

 Yes. Scrap them. Pentyrch doesn't even need a 

primary school, let alone 210 places and a nursery. 

The whole idea is contrary to the LDP anyway. 

 

Support for current 
nursery 

7 14.9 

  

 Keep the nursery in the village hall as it has been for 

40 years. 

 Invest in the current nursery. 

 

No Nursery 
Provision 

5 10.6 

  

 No Nursery at the school. 

 Removing the proposal for nursery provision. 

 

General agreement 
with the proposals 

2 4.3 

  

 A new building on the current site would be 

amazing.  Demountable are still in use which were in 

use during the 80's. 

 

More / Improved 
Active Travel 
Infrastructure 

2 4.3 

  

 Separate cycle lanes and a way to walk safely 

between the new housing developments and the 

school. 

 

Welsh Language 
provision 

2 4.3 

  

 Improve parking provision and Welsh language 

provision. 

 

Misc. 7 14.9 

  

 Mandatory use of public transport to access the 

school from outside the village but no such route 

exists currently. 

 Increased wrap around care particularly after school. 

It’s an area of weakness that needs to be addressed 

if you want to attract more children to the school. 

 

Total Respondents 47 -   

Page 1364



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
13 

 

N.B. Percentages do not sum 100% because respondents’ opinions could fall into multiple themes 

 

Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 

Respondents were then given the opportunity to suggest any alternative options they had in 
relation to the proposals. All valid comments were then grouped into themes. These themes 
along with example comments can be viewed below / overleaf: 
 

Theme No. % Example Comments 

Already exists 16 41.0 

  

 Help support the established nursery already 

in place that offers more flexibility to parents 

and is rich in experience. 

 Yes, leave the school and nursery provision 

alone as it is perfectly adequate for the needs 

of the village. 

 I’m not sure why a nursery is required as it will 

put the existing nursery out of business. 

 Invest in modernising the existing school 

buildings, and continue supporting the school 

in improving their performance to ensure this 

can be carried forward and sustained. To cater 

for pupils coming from new housing 

developments, ensure they have their own 

purpose-built provision that will not swamp 

our village with even more cars. 

 

Generally against 
the proposals 

5 12.8 

  

 Don’t add a nursery. 

 

Location 
suggestions 

5 12.8 

  

 Build the school on Llantrisant road 

development as detailed in plans. 

 

Traffic / parking 5 12.8 

  

 Staff/visitor parking. 

 

Use the money to 
support local 
businesses 

2 5.1 

  

 Support the existing business in the village 

before wasting thousands on a new facility. 

 

Page 1365



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
14 

 

Misc. 8 20.5 

  

 Welsh speaking staff. 

 No alternatives just consideration given to 

points already mentioned. 

 

Total Respondents 39 -   
N.B. Percentages do not sum 100% because respondents’ opinions could fall into multiple themes 

 

Do you have any other comments? 

Respondents had the chance to leave any other comments they had in relation to the 
proposals. All valid comments were then grouped into themes. These themes along with 
example comments can be viewed below / overleaf: 

Theme No. % Example Comments 

Negative impact on 
the village 

9 28.1 

  

 Our village life needs to be preserved and the 

council need to look outside the box when 

considering new provisions. 

 Consider the wider impact of withdrawing a 

good nursery forma building built to serve 

the community. 

 I feel to take away the nursery from the 

village Hall will have a huge impact on the 

community as a whole, as the hall relies 

heavily on the rental income from the 

nursery. The hall provides a very safe 

environment for the children, with easy 

access and large car park. 

 

Traffic / Parking 
concerns 

8 25.0 

  

 I have real concerns for the impact on traffic 

in the area. Bronllwyn cannot currently cope 

with the level of traffic at peak times, and I 

would query where the additional cars 

bringing the extra children will park. In 

addition, there absolutely needs to be a 

traffic light crossing on the corner of 

Bronllwyn and the road with the village 

shops. 

 Too much traffic. Dangerous. 

 Put the nursery next to the school but 

provide education for 2 year olds as well. 

Page 1366



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
15 

 

Make it a council run nursery. 3-4 year olds 

could split there time between the school 

and nursery. The village can't take anymore 

cars the proposal needs to look at parking 

before anything is agreed. 

 

General support 
with the proposals 

4 12.5 

  

 I strongly support the proposal and any 

concerns raised in the community regarding 

traffic, current Nursery provision in the 

village are all workable to ensure the best 

possible outcome for all parties. 

 

Generally against 
the proposals 

4 12.5 

  

 Plasdwr should not have been built without 

the relevant infrastructure in place. 

 

More information 
required 

3 9.4 

  

 It would be good to know how the capacity 

will be achieved - type of building the 

additional classrooms will be housed. Will it 

be dual intake? Will it be dual classes 

immediately or from reception class onwards 

and therefore increasing capacity over 6 or 

so years. Why is the nursery proposal only 

part time? More details of the nursery plans 

would be greatly received. 

 

Misc. 5 15.6 

  

 I hope that the school will employ an 

experienced nursery teacher to run in with 

supportive teaching assistants. 

 

Total Respondents 32 -   
N.B. Percentages do not sum 100% because respondents’ opinions could fall into multiple themes 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 

views and needs by area:- 
 

Page 1367



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
16 

 

 No. % 

Pentyrch 53 89.8 

Creigiau / St. Fagans 2 3.4 

Other Electoral Ward 4 6.8 

Total Respondents 59 100.0 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 

25-34 11 13.6 

35-44 39 48.1 

45-54 16 19.8 

55-64 7 8.6 

65-74 5 6.2 

Other age group 1 1.2 

Prefer not to say 2 2.5 

Total Respondents 81 100.0 
 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 

Female 62 77.5 

Male 16 20.0 

Prefer not to say 2 2.5 

Total Respondents 80 100.0 
 

Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 

Yes 4 5.0 

No 73 91.3 

Prefer not to say 3 3.8 

Total Respondents 80 100.0 
 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 

Eight people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 

below: 

 Mental health difficulties 

Page 1368



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
17 

 

 Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing 

 Learning impairment / difficulties 

 Mobility impairment 

 Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 

Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these. 

 

 No. % 

White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 76 93.8 

Other 1 1.2 

Prefer not to say 4 4.9 

Total Respondents 81 100.0 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1369



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
18 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A –  

EMAILS RECEIVED 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pentyrch Primary School Governing Body 

After careful review of the consultation document, the public meeting, and subsequent 

briefings the governing body is delighted to support the proposals. 

Page 1370



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
19 

 

 The expansion of the school will provide security for the future and ensure that we are able 

to continue delivering an excellent standard of education in the local community. The 

nursery provision means that children will get the best possible start to their life in 

education and the school community will continue to grow.    

 The current pupils are excited about the plans and can’t wait to make more friends. 

  

At this stage we would like to raise a few items for consideration based on feedback from 

the local community, teachers and the children.  

1. The impact of the increased number of pupils on local traffic and parking will need to 
be carefully managed. 

2. The impact on the existing nursery will need to be considered and managed. 
3. The KS2 classrooms need to be fit for purpose. 
4. There needs to be enough classrooms for single year groups. 
5. The hall needs to be big enough to accommodate the new pupil numbers. 
6. The staff facilities also need to be adequate. 
7. The impact on current pupils caused by the building works will need to be 

minimised. 
  

We look forward to working with the development team to deliver this project. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pentyrch Community Council 

PCC supports improved facilities in its communities and understands the need for Pentyrch 

Primary School to remain sustainable.  

Page 1371



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
20 

 

PCC does have concerns arising from the proposed expansion of PPS:  

1. The proposed 50% increase in pupil numbers will greatly increase the traffic and 
parking on Bronllwyn whether the extra pupils arrive by school bus or private car.   

2. Bronllwyn traffic flow is already significantly affected at school drop-off and pick-up 
time.  It is a bus route. 

3. Safety for all users is a major concern for PCC and asks that robust plans be drawn up 
to minimise risk for more pupils, parents and school staff 

4. The existing nursery based in Pentyrch Village Hall has been an important part of the 
community for some 40 years.  PCC is pleased to see that support for this nursery is 
part of the consultation plan.  We note that the new nursery may not be in the final 
plan.   

5. PCC considers the sustainability of Pentyrch as a community an important element 
of this consultation.  The school is clearly a key part of the community and the 
existing nursery plays its own key role.   

6. Pentyrch Village Hall is another vital part of the local community and the existing 
nursery contributes a significant proportion of its income.   

7. It is essential that any new nursery's effect on the wider community's sustainability 
be properly considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pentyrch Nursery School 

1. Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Pentyrch Primary School from 
140 to 210 places? 
NO 

Page 1372



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
21 

 

 
Please explain why 
As a nursery we always advocate for any measures that we believe will benefit the children 
of Pentyrch but feel this proposal would be detrimental to the village as a whole and as such 
we will be objecting to the plans. 
 
After reading the proposal thoroughly we have reached the following conclusions. 
 
• The provision is not being added for residents of the village but with the hope of attracting 
pupils from the new developments on Llantrisant road. 
• There are 4 new primary schools being built through the various phases of the Plasdwr 
scheme to meet the education needs of the new development and its residents, the first of 
which opens on the same date as this proposed expansion. 
• This will undoubtedly lead to a large increase in traffic at pickup and drop off times as 
there will be an additional 118 places at the school targeted at parents from outside the 
village. There will be a significant impact to air quality and pollution around the school 
during pickup and drop off times which seems to have not been considered. 
• Parking will become a major issue as this will lead to around 100 extra vehicles needing to 
park at pickup and drop off times and with the added nursery provision this will be 3/4 
times per day. 
• This will have a knock-on effect on road safety and will create additional risks for the local 
children walking to school. There isn’t sufficient parking to accommodate this proposal and 
people will undoubtedly park irresponsibly as a consequence. 
• The proposed relocation of the surgery will also have an impact as it will result in the 
residents of the village attempting to access the proposed surgery in Rhydlafar competing 
with parents from out of the village attempting to get their children to Pentyrch primary 
school creating traffic misery for all through the lanes. 
• There is no safe walking or cycling routes from these new developments to Pentyrch so all 
access will have to be by vehicle. 
• The new dual medium 420 place Groeswen primary school and a 48-place nursery in the 
Plasdwr development are opening on the same date as this proposed expansion. Parents 
will be faced with a choice of battling the lanes to attend Pentyrch or alternatively sending 
their children to a new state of the art primary school and nursery with much better access. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Do you support the proposal to establish nursery provision at Pentyrch Primary School 
of 48 
part-time places? 
NO 
 
Please explain why 

Page 1373



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
22 

 

If this proposal is successful, it will dramatically change how nursery provision is provided to 
the children of Pentyrch and not necessarily for the better. These are the changes parents 
would see if this proposal is approved. 
 
• The existing nursery which has been in the village for over 40 years will cease to exist as it 
would not be financially viable to continue operation once a nursery for over 3-year-olds 
was available within the school as there is currently a mix of 2,3 and 4-year-olds who 
attend. Pentyrch Nursery has consistently provided high quality early years education as 
demonstrated by its numerous positive inspection reports from both ESTYN and CIW. 
• All children over 3 years old who want a nursery place would have to attend 5 days per 
week as there is no flexibility for a school-based nursery to offer less days. This removes a 
parent’s ability to select less days if they feel it isn’t right for their child and their 
development or to suit other childcare commitments. 
• There would be no provision for 2-year-olds to attend nursery within the village as the 
school provision will only take children from 3 meaning an average of 8 children aged 2 will 
miss out on the benefits of attending nursery and socialising with other children every year. 
• An entirely new nursery will need to be built at the school as there is no current provision. 
This will require it to be fully equipped with equipment, resources and staff as well as the 
cost of the building itself. Nowhere in the document is there a cost benefit analysis 
comparing the cost to the council to fund the current nursery provision which is relatively 
low compared against the huge cost of creating and staffing a brand-new nursery along with 
its ongoing costs. 
• Replacing the existing high quality private nursery provision with an unproven nursery that 
only excepts over 3’s within the school that lacks flexibility is a backward step and will lead 
to another loss of amenities to the village. 
 
3. Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals? 
Separate the two elements of the proposal to be considered independently to allow for 
flexibility of alternative options. 
 
4. Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest? 
With regard to nursery provision only. 
 
The existing private nursery could be relocated to the newly built nursery on the school site 
to continue to provide sessional childcare in the morning session. This would allow the 
school to provide the education element of the childcare offer in the afternoons. 
 
• This would provide potentially all-day nursery for 3-year-olds and would maintain 
provision for 2-year-olds in the village. This would also have the benefit of introducing 
children to the school setting at the earliest possible opportunity. It would maintain the 
quality of provision from the current private provider with the newly established school 
nursery. 
• This would provide a stronger link between the private nursery and the school and will 
also foster greater links with the wider community. 
• A combination of private and school provision on one site would mean greater flexibility 
for parents in regards to their childcare needs. 

Page 1374



Appendix 7 - Summary analysis of responses: 
Proposed Expansion of Pentyrch Primary School & Establishment of Nursery Provision  

 

PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 
23 

 

• Relocating and accommodating the private nursery would mean no redundancies for the 
private provider. 
• The public perception of the school cooperating with the current nursery to improve 
facilities available to the children of Pentyrch can only help the school’s public image within 
the village. 
 
This is a departure from the original proposal but would best meet the needs of Pentyrch. 
However, for this to be possible any new nursery building would have to meet the following 
criteria. 
 
• Security of lease to the private provider. 
• 2.8m² per child for capacity as per CIW guidelines 
• 1 toilet and wash basin per 10 children capacity aged 2 and above 
• Separate staff toilet facilities 
• Access requirements are met 
• Nappy changing facilities 
• Separate consumable storage. 
• Kitchen area with hatch access to main area. 
• Space for a separate fridge 
• The school holding sufficient insurance for 2-year-olds on the main premises separate to 
the private providers own insurance. 
• Possibility of overflow room if capacity is met. 
• Secure office / administration area. 
• Dedicated wall space for nursery artwork. 
 
Obviously, this suggestion would require detailed discussion and agreement from all parties 
to include some of the following issues. 
 
• Legal agreements between the school / council and private provider. 
• Decisions on any shared costs 
• Handover process from the private nursery to the school for children attending all day 
• Alignment of strategy between private nursery and school to provide complimentary 
learning outcomes and themes. 

Page 1375



This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

 

 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: 
 
Schools Organisation Planning: To provide additional English-medium primary and 
nursery school places at Pentyrch Primary School.  
 

New  

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Richard Portas Job Title: Assistant Director 

Service Team: School Organisation 
Programme 

Service Area: Education  

Assessment Date: June 2021     Reviewed February 2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 

Proposal to:  expand Pentyrch Primary School from 140 places to 210 places (one form 
of entry) and to establish a nursery provision with 48 part time places to serve parts of 
Pentyrch, Creigiau & St Fagans and Radyr/ Morganstown. 
 

 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.] 

 

Cardiff’s Local Development Plan (2006-2026) sets out to identify the infrastructure 
required to facilitate and sustain the city’s projected level of growth. As part of this, it 
has identified eight strategic sites (containing 500 or more dwellings and / or 
significant employment uses) to meet the needs for new homes and jobs; a number of 
these sites are located in northwest Cardiff, near to the village of Pentyrch. 
 
These developments will increase the number of children in the area seeking school 
places and will have an impact on the availability of places in existing schools. 
 
The Council’s Education Infrastructure Plan, included in the Deposit LDP in 2013, 
highlights planned investment / development proposals and identifies future 
infrastructure requirements based on Cardiff’s projected level and distribution of 
growth, furthermore provision of primary schools to serve the Strategic sites were 
detailed as a policy requirement for essential infrastructure necessary to support the 
development. 

 

APPENDIX 8 

Page 1377



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

 
The Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) sets out the circumstances in 
which the Council could seek section 106 contributions from developers towards 
school facilities.   
A section 106 agreement was negotiated with the developer of the Goitre Fach Farm 
site in 2017 which provides the Council with financial contributions to expand school 
provision serving the development. 
 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years x   

18 - 65 years x   

Over 65 years  x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  

The aim of this proposal is to provide additional English-medium places for children 
aged 3-11 years in the area of Creigiau & St Fagans, Pentyrch and Radyr / 
Morganstown. 
 
This provision is age dependent and therefore not accessible to pupils outside of this 
age range, or adults, either locally or in the wider community. 
 
It is believed that the additional English-medium school places provided by this 
proposal would benefit the community in this area and would be implemented in such 
a way that the potential for negative impact on existing other local schools would be 
limited.  
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The council has a statutory duty to provide pupil places to meet the needs of all pupils 
in Cardiff. As part of this strategic approach, demand is forecast based on: 
 
- Recent and historic populations known to be living in each area utilising NHS data; 
- Recent and historic Numbers on roll taken from verified PLASC (Pupil Level Annual 

Census) for Cardiff schools; 
- Recent and historic percentages of children attending English-medium and Welsh-

medium community and faith places 

Page 1378



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

 
Provision for age groups not accommodated by this proposal have been considered 
outside of this proposal as part of the Local Authority’s implementation of the 21st 
Century Schools program which includes provision of school places at all stages of 
education. 
 
The project is considered to be a legitimate proposal to achieve a desired aim. 
 

 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment   x  

Physical Impairment  x  

Visual Impairment  x  

Learning Disability  x  

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition   x 

Mental Health    x 

Substance Misuse   x 

Other    x 

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
If the proposal were to proceed, an equality impact assessment would be carried out 
to identify the accessibility of the existing school building and any alterations made to 
it.  
The equality impact assessment would take into account policies such as the Equality 
Act 2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations such as, BS8300, Part M 
and relevant Building Bulletins to ensure that any differential impact on disability was 
addressed appropriately. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
 

As above 
 

 
 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

Page 1379



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools will continue 
to apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation 
would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this proposal.  This would 
ensure that good practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies 
on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage   x 

Civil Partnership   x 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools will continue 
to apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities. 
 

 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation 
would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this proposal.  This would 
ensure that good practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies 
on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 

Page 1380



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy  x  

Maternity  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The Council’s procedure for securing staffing requirements to implement this proposal 
would be used in implementing this proposal.  This would ensure that good practice is 
followed, including the application of the Council’s policies on equal opportunities.  
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
As above 
 

 
 
 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White x   

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups x   

Asian / Asian British x   

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British x   

Other Ethnic Groups x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The proposal would have greater impact on the population closer to the development 
than on the city as a whole. If this local population is made up of a racial mix which is 
disproportionate to that typically found across the city, then there is potential for the 
proposal to have a differential impact on this community relative to that of the wider 
Local Authority population. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The provision being proposed would be accessible to all ethnic groups. Compliance 

Page 1381



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

with the Council’s policies on equal opportunities would be adhered to. 
 

 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist  x  

Christian  x  

Hindu  x  

Humanist  x  

Jewish  x  

Muslim  x  

Sikh  x  

Other  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The proposed changes would not have a differential impact as the schools will continue 
to apply the Council’s policies on equal opportunities. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
The senior staff in a school would be best placed to manage diversity in terms of belief. 
(e.g. provision of a space for prayer).   
 

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men  x  

Women  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
None 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
 

Page 1382



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

Maintained school provision admits pupils of both sexes and this would continue to be 
the case. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation 
would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this proposal.  This would 
ensure that good practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies 
on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual   x  

Gay Men  x  

Gay Women/Lesbians  x  

Heterosexual/Straight  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
None 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
(Fears that recruitment opportunities could be affected by sexual orientation) 
 
Evidence collated by the Stonewall lobby group alleges that Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual 
people are likely to be discriminated against in workplace recruitment. 
 
The Council’s procedure for managing staffing changes arising from reorganisation 
would be used in implementing any changes as a result of this proposal.  This would 
ensure that good practice is followed, including the application of the Council’s policies 
on equal opportunities.  
 

 
3.10  Socio-economic Duty 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the Socio-economic Duty?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

 
 

 x  

Page 1383



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
The proposal seeks to offer additional school places within the area of Pentyrch, 
Creigiau & St Fagans and Radyr/ Morganstown. There will be no impact outside of the 
socio-economic duty of the residents in this part of the city. 
 
If this local population is disproportionately advantaged / disadvantaged to that 
typically found across the city, then there is potential for the proposal to have a 
differential impact on this community relative to that of the wider Local Authority 
population. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 
Increased admission to Pentyrch Primary School based on the proposed extra pupil 
numbers would be based on the existing Admission Policy. There are no plans to 
change the Council’s policy on the admission of children to community schools as a 
result of this proposal.  
 
In accordance with the requirements of the Welsh Government’s Admissions Code, 
Admissions arrangements for the 2023/2024 school year in which revised arrangement 
would take effect, would be subject to consultation in the period between 1 
September 2021 and 1 March 2022, and determined by 15 April 2022. 
 
Detailed information regarding admission arrangements is contained in the Council’s 
Admission to Schools booklet, and this information can be viewed on the Council’s 
website (www.cardiff.gov.uk).   
 

 
3.11    Welsh Language 
Will this Policy/ Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact (positive/negative) on the Welsh Language? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

  x  

 

Please give details/ consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 
Whilst this proposal relates specifically to increasing English language school places, 
the Council has brought forward separate proposals to meet the demands for Welsh 
language school places in this area of the city. 
 

Page 1384

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/


CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
 

The Council works closely and constructively with partners on its Welsh Education 
Forum, which includes representatives of nursery, primary, secondary and further 
education, childcare, RhAG and the Welsh Government. The Forum actively informs the 
planning of Welsh-medium places, to continue to drive the Council’s plan to 
sustainably increase the number of learners within Welsh-medium schools and those 
learning Welsh in English-medium schools. 
 
The Council, and its partners on the Welsh Education Forum, are committed to driving 
the increase in number of pupils educated through the medium of Welsh, to meet the 
targets within Cardiff’s WESP, and to meet the targets set out in the Welsh 
Government’s Cymraeg 2050 strategy. 
 
A separate proposal has been brought forward to provide further Welsh-medium and 
school places for 3-11 year olds as part of the Council’s Local Development Plan (2006-
2026) for the Plasdwr development in the Northwest of the city. 
 
The Council will also continue to review the obligation to promote Welsh-medium 
education via the WESP. 
 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 
 

The Council’s Accessibility Officer would be given the opportunity to comment on the 
scheme. 
 

  
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age See Generic over-arching actions below 

Disability  

Gender Reassignment  

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

 

Pregnancy & Maternity  

Race  

Religion/Belief  

Sex  

Sexual Orientation  

Page 1385



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 10 

 

Socio-economic Duty  

Welsh Language  

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

 

If the proposal were to proceed, an equality impact 
assessment would be carried out to identify the accessibility 
of the new school building.  The equality impact assessment 
would take into account policies such as the Equality Act 
2010, TAN 12: Design 2014 as well as building regulations 
such as, BS8300, Part M and relevant Building Bulletins. 
 
Compliance with the Council’s policies on equal 
opportunities would also be adhered to. 
 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
 
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By: S Karseras Date: 09/02/22 

Designation: Project Officer  

Approved By: Brett Andrewartha  

Designation: School Organisation Programme Planning 
Manager 

 

Service Area: Schools and Lifelong Learning  

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         
 

Page 1386

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


Page 1 of 15 

 

 

SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS AND CO-ORDINATED 
PRIMARY SCHOOL ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2023/2024 
 
EDUCATION, EMPLOYMENT & SKILLS 

AGENDA ITEM:   10 

 

 
Reason for this Report 

1. In accordance with Section 89 of the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 and the Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) 
(Wales) Regulations 2006, Admission Authorities are required to review 
their School Admission Arrangements annually. 
 

2. This report is to inform the Cabinet of responses received following public 
consultation on the Council’s School Admission Arrangements 2023/2024. 

 
Background 

3. In order to comply with the legislation above, School Admission 
arrangements for implementation in the 2023/2024 academic year (i.e., 
from September 2023) must be determined on or before 15th April 2022. 
 

4. The Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006 and the School Admissions Code set out the procedure 
which admission authorities should follow when determining their 
admission arrangements, including that proper consultation must be 
carried out and that the arrangements should be determined by 15th April 
in the school year beginning two years before the school year which the 
arrangements will be for. 
 

5. Prior to the annual consultation, the Council works closely with the Cardiff 
Admissions Forum to consider how well existing and proposed admission 
arrangements serve the interests of children and parents city-wide. The 
Cardiff Admissions Forum includes Diocesan representatives, 
representatives of community and voluntary controlled, foundation and 
voluntary aided schools, parent governors and local community 
representatives. 

 
 
 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 

CABINET MEETING:   10 MARCH 2022 

Page 1387

Agenda Item 10



Page 2 of 15 

 
Issues 
 
Summary of the Council’s School Admission Arrangements 2023/2024 

Consultation  

6. The Council’s draft School Admission Arrangements 2023/2024 were 
issued for consultation on 22 November 2021 to all those the Council are 
required to consult with as set out in the Welsh Government’s School 
Admissions Code (Headteachers, Governing Bodies, Diocesan Directors, 
neighbouring Local Education Authorities). As a significant change was 
proposed to the application process for entry to primary education, the 
Council also consulted directly with those parents whose children would 
enter primary education in 2023/2024.    
 

7. The proposed changes to the arrangements for 2023/2024 compared to 
the arrangements for 2022/2023, relate to the following: 

 

 Reference to the ‘Fresh Start’ panel in place of the ‘Hard to Place’ 
panel. 

 Clarification of the Childcare Offer. 

 Expansion of co-ordinated arrangements. 

 Increased Published Admission Numbers for Pentyrch Primary 
School, Ysgol Y Wern, Cantonian High School and Radyr 
Comprehensive School. 

 
8. The policy was published on the Council website with details of how 

responses could be submitted which provided an opportunity for any 
interested parties to comment.  Responses were requested to be returned 
by the consultation closing date of 17 January 2022. The draft School 
Admission Arrangements 2023/2024 are attached as Appendix 1. 
 

9. Details of the consultation were promoted via social media and schools. 
 

10. Proposed oversubscription criteria for 2023/2024 are set out on pages 8, 
11 and 13 of Appendix 1. 

 
Co-ordinated Admission Arrangements 

11. As part of the consultation on the School Admission Arrangements 
2023/24, responses were sought on the proposals to: 
 

 Implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process for 
the Reception age group intake from September 2023. 

 Include The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School within 
the co-ordinated secondary school admissions process for the Year 
7 age group intake from September 2023.  

 
12. A copy of the consultation document explaining the changes is attached at 

Appendix 2.  
 

13. The introduction of co-ordinated arrangements does not constitute a 
change to admissions oversubscription criteria but proposes a revised 

Page 1388



Page 3 of 15 

system for administering the admissions process in partnership with other 
admission authorities operating in Cardiff. 
 

14. Cardiff Council has successfully entered into co-ordinated admissions with 
three partner secondary schools since the 2018/2019 intake year. A pilot 
ran as part of 2018-2020 school admission arrangements, with co-
ordinated admissions between all community secondary schools, 
Whitchurch High School (foundation school), St Teilo’s Church in Wales 
High School (voluntary aided) and Corpus Christi Catholic High School 
(voluntary aided). 

 
15. Each of the above schools has decided to remain as a partner within the 

co-ordinated admission arrangements. Each of the schools retains the 
responsibility for consulting on and determining its admission 
arrangements. 

 
16. The Council has also co-ordinated admission arrangements with St 

Mellons Church in Wales Primary School since September 2021. St 
Mellons Church in Wales Primary School is a Voluntary Controlled Primary 
School and admissions to the school are now administered by the Council. 

 
17. The Council, the Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales 

Diocese of Llandaff, the Church in Wales Diocese of Monmouth and a 
number of primary schools propose that the benefits of co-ordinated 
admission arrangements be extended to primary schools and to parents 
of children entering primary education. 

 
18. At present, parents apply for primary education places by submitting a 

school admission form to the Admission Authority of their preferred school. 
Any request for admission to a voluntary aided (faith-based) primary 
school must be made directly to the Governing Body of that school. 
Requests for admission to any Community school must be made to the 
Council. 

 
19. Whilst parents may apply for multiple schools and inform the Council of 

which community schools are their preferred option(s), they are not 
required to confirm whether they have made applications to other 
admission authorities, nor which non-community school is their higher or 
lower preference. As a result, parents could be offered more than one 
school place for their child with some parents choosing to ‘hold’ offers for 
more than one school, preventing other children being offered these 
places. 

 
20. As a result of this, whilst some parents receive offers for their child at 

multiple schools, other parents have been unsuccessful in securing a 
place at any of their school preferences. 

 
21. Consequently, there is uncertainty as to which pupils will start at which 

schools because the order of parental school preferences is unclear at the 
time of application and some pupils remain unallocated after the first round 
of allocations. 

 

Page 1389



Page 4 of 15 

22. The Council is also seeking to expand the co-ordinated arrangements for 
secondary schools by including The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales 
High School in the process from September 2023. 

 
23. The aim of this proposal is to have a fairer, more equitable system of 

allocating school places in Cardiff. 
 

24. Each school Governing Body that is interested to participate would also 
need to undertake a consultation on changes to its arrangements, and 
determine its arrangements by 15 April 2022, to coordinate its admissions 
with the Council in the 2023/2024 school year. 

 

Responses received in respect of the draft policy during the consultation 

period 

25. The points of view raised in the responses received in relation to the issues 
consulted upon are set out in italics below. The Council’s response to each 
point can be seen underneath, under the heading “Appraisal of views 
expressed”. 

 
26. A total of 58 responses were received during the consultation period. 
 

Formal Responses 

27. One formal response was received from The Rainbow Federation (Bryn 
Hafod Primary School and Glan Yr Afon Primary School). The formal 
response is attached as Appendix 3. 
 

28. As Chair of Governors and in discussion with the Executive Head we have 
agreed that the proposed changes will make for a more streamlined 
system. We are in favour of the proposals as it gives greater clarity to 
families and schools. 

 

Appraisal of views expressed 

29. The Council acknowledges the view expressed and welcomes the support 
of The Rainbow Federation. 

 
Responses received from online survey 

30. Views were sought from interested stakeholders via an online survey and 
a hard copy version of the survey within the engagement document. 
 

31. The majority view expressed at drop-in sessions and via the online survey 
was one of support for the proposed implementation of a co-ordinated 
primary school admissions process for the Reception age group intakes 
and expanding co-ordinated arrangements for secondary schools. 

 
32. Contemporaneous notes of issues raised at the online drop-in sessions 

are attached as Appendix 4. A summary analysis of the responses 
received from all stakeholders is attached as Appendix 5. 
 

Page 1390



Page 5 of 15 

33. Of the 58 responses received to the consultation, there were 47 
respondents who identified that they were responding as 
parents/guardians or grandparents, three who identified that they were 
responding as governors, two who identified that they were responding as 
a local residents, one who identified that they were responding both as a 
parent/guardian and a governor, one who identified that they were 
responding as both a parent/guardian and local resident, one who 
identified that they were responding as both a local resident and a member 
of staff and one who did not specify who they were responding as. 

 
34. Respondents stated an affiliation with the following schools: 
 

 Bryn Deri Primary School  

 Danescourt Primary School  

 Llandaff Church in Wales Primary School  

 Llysfaen Primary School 

 Meadowlane Primary School  

 Pontprennau Primary School  

 Radyr Primary School 

 The Rainbow Federation (Bryn Hafod Primary School and Glan Yr Afon 
Primary School) 

 Rhiwbeina Primary School 

 Rhydypenau Primary School  

 St Bernadette’s Catholic Primary School  

 St David’s Church in Wales Primary School  

 St Fagans Church in Wales Primary School  

 St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School 

 St Peter’s Catholic Primary School 

 Thornhill Primary School 

 Ton Yr Ywen Primary School 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen Y Groes 

 Ysgol Glan Ceubal 

 Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd  

 Ysgol Mynydd Bychan  

 Ysgol Pencae  

 Ysgol Y Berllan Deg  

 Ysgol Y Wern  

 Corpus Christi Catholic High School  

 Fitzalan High School 

 Llanishen High School  

 Radyr Comprehensive School  

 St Teilo’s Church in Wales High School  

 Whitchurch High School 

 The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School 

 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern 
 
 
 
 

Page 1391



Page 6 of 15 

Responses regarding the implementation of co-ordinated primary school 
admissions 
 
35. Of those who responded to the consultation in respect of the 

implementation of co-ordinated primary school admissions, 45 
respondents supported the proposal, three did not support the proposal 
and three had no opinion. 

 
36. Points raised in response to the consultation in support of the proposal are 

summarised below: 
 

 It streamlines the process and makes it easier and more 
straightforward for parents and pupils. 

 People holding multiple places is not fair. This is a much fairer 
system. 

 The only disadvantage is for people wishing to ‘play the system’. 

 There is a better chance for pupils to secure a school place in the first 
round of admissions, which avoids unnecessary stress for the families 
that otherwise would not secure a place. 

 The secondary arrangements from previous years have been 
successful. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
37. The Council acknowledges the views expressed. 

 
38. Whilst there was support for the implementation of co-ordinated primary 

school admissions there were a number of concerns raised. Some of these 
concerns are not matters that the Council could address through its 
admissions arrangements and/ or through the admissions process. 

 
Admissions policies 
 
39. The separate admissions policies cause confusion for parents and council 

officers. 
 
40. [It is] misleading to have different criteria for different schools and system 

is open to abuse. 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
41. All faith-based schools in Cardiff are Voluntary Aided schools, with the 

exception of St Mellons Church in Wales Primary School, which is a 
Voluntary Controlled school. 
 

42. The Governing Body of a Voluntary Aided school is the Admission 
Authority for the school and is therefore required to consult on and set the 
admission criteria for the school, independent of the Local Authority, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Welsh Government’s Admissions 
Code. 

 
43. The Council publishes a school admissions booklet every year to provide 

information and guidance for parents to help make an informed decision 

Page 1392



Page 7 of 15 

about the schools they would like to apply for and make the application 
process as smooth as possible. The admissions oversubscription criteria 
for faith schools are included in this booklet, along with information about 
applying for a community school place. 

 
Applying to multiple schools 
 
44. When applying for a faith school, I also had to apply for a non faith school. 

Total waste of time for me, and the non faith school that offered my 
daughter a place. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
45. The Council strongly advises parents to use all preferences available to 

them when applying for a school place. However, parents do not have to 
apply for more than one school and it is possible to apply only for a faith 
school place. 

 
Local schools 
 
46. Primary schools should be for local children. 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
47. Parents are entitled to state a preference for any school they wish their 

child to attend. 
 

48. In the event of a school being oversubscribed, applications are assessed 
against the oversubscription criteria. The admissions criteria are 
predicated on a geographical basis, giving priority to those living within a 
school catchment area and also considering proximity of school to home 
address. This seeks to maintain, where possible, children attending a local 
school. 

 
49. Whilst children who are resident in the catchment area of a school have 

priority for admission to that school over those who are not, children 
outside the catchment area cannot be denied a place if there are sufficient 
places available. 

 
50. The Council is committed to ensuring that every school in Cardiff has an 

Active Travel Plan by 2022 to support and encourage active travel to 
school. Most journeys to education in Cardiff are within 3km of people’s 
homes. 

 
Changes to the process 
 
51. Everyone knows how the process works now. It’s too complicated to 

change it. 
 
Appraisal of views expressed 

 
52. The Council publishes a school admissions booklet every year to provide 

information and guidance for parents to help make an informed decision 

Page 1393



Page 8 of 15 

about the schools they would like to apply for and make the application 
process as smooth as possible.  

 
53. Guidance on how to apply for a place in the Reception year group for the 

2023-24 school year would be included within the booklet for that year, as 
well as on the Council website. 
 

54. Parents with children attending nursery at a school may also receive 
guidance on applying for a Reception year place from the nursery. 

 
55. Submitting an application via the Common Application Form would simplify 

the application process, particularly for parents applying for both a 
community place and faith place, as only one application form would need 
to be completed if that is the preferred process of the relevant school 
Governing Body. 
 

Responses regarding the inclusion of The Bishop of Llandaff Church in 
Wales High School within the co-ordinated secondary school admissions 
process 
 
56. Of those who responded to the consultation in respect of the 

implementation of co-ordinated primary school admissions, 39 
respondents supported the proposal, four did not support the proposal and 
eight had no opinion. 
 

57. Points raised in response to the consultation in support of the proposal are 
summarised below. 
 

 It simplifies the admission process, making it more straightforward. 

 All schools should be included in the process. The more schools 
included, the better the allocations process will work. 

 It’s a fairer process. 

 There is no strong argument not to include The Bishop of Llandaff 
Church in Wales High School in the process. 

 It will be clearer for schools how many pupils allocated a place 
actually want a place at the school.  

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
58. The Council acknowledges the views expressed. 

 
59. Whilst there was support for the implementation of co-ordinated secondary 

school admissions there were a number of concerns raised. 
 
Admissions policies 
 
60. Own Admission Authority Schools (Faith Schools) governing bodies can 

decide the application criteria at the moment. (E.g.: giving preference to 
students from certain faiths overruling catchment area criteria thus 
students in the catchment area will dropout) 

 
61. Faith- based schools are not funded by the LEA so why on earth would the 

council even consider changing the application process for faith- based 

Page 1394



Page 9 of 15 

schools. If you add faith based schools in the application process how are 
pupils with genuine faith be granted a place. Will the council provide 
funding to faith based schools for offering additional places? If you do one 
faith school then have them all on the application form. 

 
62. The high school should have its own admission arrangements. 
 
63. It’s the only church school this side of Cardiff. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
64. The proposal does not have any impact upon a school’s admissions policy 

nor impose any change to its governance. The Governing Bodies of faith 
schools would retain the responsibility to consult on and determine their 
own admission arrangements and would still rank the order of applicants 
against their own oversubscription criteria. 
 

65. Applicants for faith schools would have to submit a supplementary form 
directly to the school, as well as completing the Common Application Form 
on the Council website. 

 
66. The points raised around separate admission policies are addressed at 

paragraphs 41 – 43. 
 
Responses regarding whether co-ordinated admissions should be 
extended to other schools 
 
67. Of those who responded to the consultation in respect of whether they 

wished for co-ordinated arrangements to be extended further to include 
schools that are not proposed for inclusion at this time, 28 respondents 
answered yes, three answered no and 20 had no opinion. 
 

68. Nine respondents commented on which schools the co-ordinated 
arrangements should be extended to. Of these seven said that the 
arrangements should include all schools. 

 
69. Other schools named in response to the question were Radyr 

Comprehensive School, Mary Immaculate Catholic High School, Corpus 
Christi Catholic High School and St Teilo’s Church in Wales High School.  

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
70. Radyr Comprehensive School, Corpus Christi Catholic High School and St 

Teilo’s Church in Wales High School are already included in the secondary 
co-ordinated admission arrangements. 
 

71. The Council cannot instruct the Governing Bodies to co-ordinate their 
arrangements with the Council. Each Governing Body has been 
approached and had the opportunity to discuss how the arrangements 
work.  Each must consider whether to co-ordinate their own admission 
arrangements. The Council and current partner schools have advised they 
would provide full support to any school wishing to opt into co-ordinate 
their admission arrangements. 

Page 1395



Page 10 of 15 

 
Other responses received 
 
Offer day date 
 
72. Waiting times for informing allocation of place within primary schools could 

be changed for dates to coincide with February half-term. This would then 
take the pressure off uniform shops in the six weeks holidays. Also, 
consider looking into additional 'logo/ emblem' shops to cater for the 
schools in Cardiff. Three specialist uniform shops cannot always cope with 
the demands on purchasing uniform. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
73. The Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 2.24 states that “For 

primary school applications, admission authorities should ensure that 
all offers are made on the prescribed Primary Offer Day, 16 April or the 
next working day”. 
 

74. The supply of school uniform is a matter for the Governing Bodies of 
individual schools to consider.  All have been made aware of the Statutory 
guidance for school governing bodies on school uniform and appearance 
policies Education, Wales (2019) which is intended to support families to 
enable purchasing of uniform from a range of outlets and to keep costs 
down by reducing the number of logo/emblem items or providing 
alternatives. 

 
Demand for school places 
 
75. Even with this improved process there are issues. Housing is being built 

at a much greater rate than school places are increasing. North-East 
Cardiff needs a new secondary school. 

 
Appraisal of views expressed 
 
76. There are sufficient school places within the secondary school sector in 

Cardiff.  
 

77. As part of the process for the planning of school places, the Council 
continually reviews secondary school capacity and the evolving need for 
places. Proposals will be brought forward to ensure there is sufficient 
capacity to meet the demand for school places in each area of the city. 
However, the current demand for English-medium places can be met 
within existing school provision, as sufficient places are available. 
 

Sibling criteria 
 
78. Sibling groups must be prioritised in admissions. Splitting up families is not 

something that should happen regardless of whether school is faith based 
or not. Once one child is in all family siblings should be accepted. 

 
 
 

Page 1396



Page 11 of 15 

Appraisal of views expressed 
 
79. The Council has reviewed the inclusion of oversubscription criteria which 

gave priority to siblings of children enrolled in a school in previous 
consultations on school admission arrangements. 
 

80. In the event of there being more applications than places available, 
allocations are prioritised according to the published over subscription 
criteria as set out in the agreed School Admissions Policy.  
 

81. The highest priority for admission is given to Looked After Children and 
children with a statement of Special Education Need specifying a school 
or equivalent followed by catchment area applications.   
 

82. Within the oversubscription criteria weight and prominence is given to 
qualifying sibling applications received within agreed deadlines. Priority is 
given to qualifying sibling applications from pupils already on roll at a 
school.   
 

83. Whilst within-catchment applications have a higher priority than out of 
catchment applications, qualifying out of catchment sibling applications are 
also given higher priority that non siblings applications.  Within-catchment 
applications having a higher priority for admission generally supports the 
Council’s commitment to local schools serving local children, and to 
promoting active travel. 
 

84. In circumstances where an older sibling is admitted as a within catchment 
pupil and there are subsequent changes to the catchment area, priority is 
also given to younger siblings as set out in the Admissions Policy. 

 
Summary 
 
85. It is recommended that primary school co-ordinated admissions are 

implemented. The inclusion of other Admission Authorities will be subject 
to their own consultations on admission arrangements and approval of the 
arrangements by their Governing Bodies by 15 April 2022 in accordance 
with the determination period set in the Welsh Government Admissions 
Code. 

 
86. It is recommended that The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High 

School be included in the secondary school co-ordinated admission 
arrangements from September 2023 subject to the approval of the 
admission arrangements by the Governing Body of the school. 
 

87. Should any Governing Bodies elect to remain outside of the coordinated 
process, the process for applying to these schools will remain unchanged 
and information regarding admissions to these schools will continue to be 
included in the Council’s Admissions to Schools booklet available to view 
on the Council’s website. 
 

88. The other changes are for clarification or to reflect changes to published 
numbers and received no comments.  These are also recommended for 
implementation. 

Page 1397



Page 12 of 15 

Local Member consultation 

89. All members were consulted on the draft Admission Arrangements 
2023/2024.    
 

Scrutiny Consideration 

90. The Children and Young People’s Scrutiny Committee will consider these 
proposals on 8 March 2022. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 

91. The Council is required to review its school admission arrangements 
annually and to agree the arrangements following appropriate 
consultation. 

 
Financial Implications 

92. There are no direct financial implications arising from the 
recommendations of this report. 

 
Legal Implications   

93. The Council has a statutory obligation under the Education Act 1996 to 
promote high standards of education for primary and secondary schools in 
its local authority area. Section 89 of the School Standards and Framework 
Act 1998 determines that the Admission Authorities must carry out 
consultation before determining the admission arrangements which are to 
apply.  
 

94. The Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006 set out the procedure which the Admission Authorities 
should follow when determining their admission arrangements, including 
the consultation and notification process as well as timescales. In 
particular, the Admission Authority must determine arrangements in the 
school year beginning two years before the school year which the 
arrangements will be for, take all steps necessary to ensure that they will 
have completed the consultation required by section 89(2) before 1 March 
and determine the admission arrangements by 15 April. This report shows 
that the consultation was conducted before 1 March.  
 

95. The Welsh Government has issued a guidance circular ‘Measuring the 
Capacity of Schools in Wales’, which sets out the methodology for Local 
Authorities to follow when determining their admission arrangements. 
There is also a requirement to consider the guidelines contained in the 
Welsh Government School Admissions Code. This report reflects these 
requirements.  
 

96. The Council also has to satisfy its public sector duties and obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010 (including the specific Welsh public sector 
duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils must in making decisions 
have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) 
advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis 

Page 1398



Page 13 of 15 

of protected characteristics. The Council must also not directly or indirectly 
discriminate against any pupil in its admission arrangements, this means 
that no pupil or group of pupils may be treated less favourably based on a 
protected characteristic. Protected characteristics are: 
 

  Age  

  Gender reassignment  

  Sex  

  Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality  

  Disability  

  Pregnancy and maternity 

  Marriage and civil partnership  

  Sexual orientation  

  Religion or belief – including lack of belief  
 
97. The Equality Impact Assessment (see Appendix 6) specifically considers 

how the proposals may affect pupils with protected characteristics. The 
purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council 
has understood the potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality 
so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions 
having due regard to its public sector equality duty. The Council must have 
due regard to these obligations when this decision is taken to determine 
the admission arrangements.  
 

98. In accordance with the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the 
Welsh Language standards, the Council also has to consider the impact 
upon the Welsh language any decision that it makes and in accordance 
with the Welsh in Education Strategic Plan, the Council must consider how 
it can promote Welsh medium education. This report reflects those 
requirements.  
 

99. The Council must also consider its legal obligations under the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 to think more about the long term, 
work better with people and communities and each other, look to prevent 
problems and take a more joined-up approach. 
 

100. There are also legal obligations under the Education Act 1996 which 
require pupils with statements of special educational needs to be admitted 
to the school named in the statement and the Education (Admission of 
Looked After Children) (Wales) Regulation 2009 which requires the 
Council to admit children who are currently looked after (in accordance 
with the definition in section 74 of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 
(Wales) 2014. The report and proposed admission arrangements reflect 
these obligations. 

 
HR Implications 

101. There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations contained 
in this report. 

 
Transport Implications 

102. No significant transport implications are anticipated.   

Page 1399



Page 14 of 15 

 
103. The within-catchment applications having a higher priority for admission 

generally supports the Council’s commitment to local schools serving local 
children, and to promoting active travel. 

 
Property Implications 
 
104. There are no property implications arising from the recommendations 

contained in this report. 
 
Impact on the Welsh Language  

105. The Council is committed to developing a Bilingual Cardiff.   
 

106. Cardiff’s Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) 2022-2031 sets out a 
series of ambitious commitments to build on the progress achieved to date.  
These will ensure that every child in the city can receive an education in 
the language of Welsh, the number receiving their education in Welsh-
medium schools will increase, and through the significant use of Welsh in 
English medium education all will have the opportunity to become 
confident in speaking Welsh. 
 

107. At its meeting of 14 October 2021, the Cabinet considered the draft WESP 
2022-2031 and authorised officers to proceed to undertake an eight-week 
public consultation on the content of the draft with the outcome to be 
presented to Cabinet prior to submission to the Welsh Government.  
 

108. Following consultation, the Cabinet approved Cardiff’s WESP 2022-2031 
at its meeting of 24 February 2022, for submission to the Welsh 
Government Ministers. 
 

109. The draft WESP sets out a number of measures to support and grow the 
Welsh language which include the publication of information to support 
parents and guardians through the admissions process. There are no 
changes required within the published 2023/2024 admissions 
arrangements to implement these measures. 
 

Wellbeing of Future Generations 

110. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires public 
bodies to make sure their decisions take into account the impact they could 
have on people living in Wales in the future.  The Council has done so in 
relation to its proposed school admission arrangements.  All Admission 
Authorities in Wales are legally bound to Section 84 of the Schools 
Standards and Framework Act (1998) (the Welsh Government’s School 
Admission Code) and the Council has also complied with that legislation.  
Account is also taken of the Council’s responsibility to provide and promote 
high standards of Education under the Education Action 1996. 

 
Equality Impact Assessment  

111. An Equality Impact Assessment on this proposal has been carried out.  
The assessment concluded that this proposal would not adversely affect a 

Page 1400



Page 15 of 15 

particular group in society (details of the Equality Impact Assessment can 
be seen at Appendix 6). 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

Cabinet is recommended to determine the attached Council’s draft School 

Admission Arrangements 2023/2024 as set out in the Admission Policy 

2023/2024. 

 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE 

OFFICER 

Melanie Godfrey  

Director of Education & Lifelong Learning 

4 March 2022 

 

The following appendices are attached:  

Appendix 1 – Draft School Admissions Policy 2023/24 

Appendix 2 – Coordinated Admission Arrangements consultation document 

Appendix 3 – Formal response 

Appendix 4 – Notes of points raised at online drop-in sessions 

Appendix 5 – Summary analysis of consultation responses 

Appendix 6 – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

 

Page 1401



This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 1 of 26 
 

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is available in Welsh 
 

 

 
 

School 
Admissions 

Policy 
2023/2024 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

EDUCATION & LIFELONG 
LEARNING 

 

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg / This document is available in Welsh 

 

  

Page 1403

c708636_1
Typewriter
Appendix 1



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 2 of 26 
 

Contents 
1. Introduction  

1.1 School Admissions 
1.2 Relevant Area for Consultation 
1.3 Published Admission Number 
1.4 Community School Catchment Areas 
1.5 Children in receipt of a statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
1.6 Children with ALN (additional learning needs) who have an IDP (Individual 

Development Plan) that names a school  
1.7 Out of Chronological Age Applications 
1.8 School Managed Transfers 
1.9 Fair Access Protocol 
1.10 Co-ordinated Secondary School Admission Arrangements 
1.11 Data Protection and the EU General Data Protection Regulation 

2. Submitting an application 
2.1 How to apply 
2.2 Prior to Application 
2.3 The Applicant 
2.4 On-time Applications (considered during the ‘normal admissions round’) 
2.5 Late Applications (considered outside the ‘normal admissions round’) 
2.6 Information the Council does not consider when allocating places  
2.7 Applications for Reception to Year 11 

3. Admissions to community nursery schools and nursery classes 
3.1 Oversubscription Criteria 
3.2 Late Applications 
3.3 No Right to Statutory Appeal 
3.4 Early Years Funding (EYF) 

4. Admissions to community primary schools and voluntary controlled primary schools 
4.1 Oversubscription Criteria 
4.2 Late Applications 
4.3 Statutory Appeals 
4.4 Deferred Entry 
4.5 St Mellons Church in Wales Voluntary Controlled Primary School 

5. Admissions to community secondary schools 
5.1 Oversubscription Criteria 
5.2 Late Applications 
5.3 Statutory Appeals 

6. Admissions to sixth forms 
7. Explanation of oversubscription criteria 

7.1 Child’s Details – Address 
7.2  Change of Address 
7.3 Looked After Children (LAC)/previously Looked After Children (pLAC) 
7.4 Individual Development Plan (IDP) 
7.5 Residence in a defined catchment area 
7.6 Compelling Medical/Compelling Social Grounds 
7.7 Siblings 
7.8 Multiple Birth Siblings 
7.9 Proximity 

8. Documentary evidence that may be required from applicants 
8.1 Submission of documents relating to a child of UK Service Personnel or other Crown 

Servants 
8.2 Submission of documents relating to a Child’s Home Address 
8.3 Submission of documents relating to Compelling Medical Grounds or Compelling 

Social Grounds 
9. Offers process 

9.1 School Offers 
9.2 No School Offers 
9.3 Changes of circumstances 
9.4 Withdrawal of School Offers 
9.5 Waiting Lists 

 

Appendix 1 – School Admission Numbers 2023/24  

Page 1404



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 3 of 26 
 

1 Introduction 
 
1.1 School Admissions 

The Council is committed to providing local schools for local children where 
possible.  

 
Parents (also referred to as ‘applicants’ in this policy document) have the right 
to express a preference for their preferred school(s) which will be considered 
individually and complied with wherever possible. 

 
Cardiff Council is committed to equality of opportunity and to eliminating 
discrimination.  In respect of admissions to schools, all pupils and prospective 
pupils are treated equitably, regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, culture, 
nationality, language, ability / disability or religious / non-religious belief.  Steps 
are taken to ensure that admission procedures do not unfairly advantage or 
disadvantage any groups through the application of rules or conditions that 
cannot be complied with equally by all.  

 
All admissions to community classes and community schools are approved by 
the Cardiff Council’s Director of Education & Lifelong Learning.  

 
1.2 Relevant Area for Consultation 

In accordance with the Education (Relevant Areas for Consultation on 
Admission Arrangements) Regulations 1999, the relevant area for community 
schools in Cardiff is the administrative area of the County Council for the City 
and County of Cardiff (the County Council). 
 

1.3 Published Admission Number 
In the normal admissions round, all maintained schools must admit pupils up to 
their Published Admission Number. An admission request may not be refused 
to any school until the Published Admission Number has been reached (with 
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh 
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]). The 
Published Admission Number has been calculated in accordance with the 
Welsh Government’s school capacity calculation methodology “Measuring the 
Capacity of Schools in Wales” circular no. 021/2011. As this number is based 
on the physical capacity of the school to accommodate pupils it should not be 
exceeded in normal circumstances.  

 
1.4 Community School Catchment Areas 

Catchment area information is available on the Council’s website. The majority 
of catchment areas of maintained community primary schools are grouped 
together to form the catchment areas of maintained community secondary 
schools in Cardiff. 

 
Catchment areas are subject to change with any changes being consulted 
upon prior to implementation. There is no guarantee of an offer of a place 
at a child’s catchment area school. 
  

1.5 Children in receipt of a statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
Where a community school is named in a statement of Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) the child must be admitted to that school.  

Page 1405



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 4 of 26 
 

1.6 Children with ALN who have an IDP (Individual Development Plan) that 
names a school 
In most cases, children with ALN (Additional Learning Needs) will be able to 
receive the support they need in any maintained school.  
 
The Council can decide to name a maintained school in the IDP for the purposes 
of securing admission of the child to a particular school.  
 
The Council will not name a school in an IDP, for the purposes of securing 
admission, unless the needs and circumstances of the child is such that they 
ought to attend that particular school.  
 
The Council will consider the following factors: 
 
 Whether specific characteristics of the school make it especially good at 

making the required ALP (additional learning provision) compared to other 
maintained schools the child could attend- for example, the school’s physical 
characteristics; 

 Whether the school has members of staff with specialist expertise or training, 
or specialism in a low incidence need such as hearing or visual impairment  
(for example, if the school has a specialist resource base); 

 It would be unreasonable for a more local school to provide the child’s ALP 
(additional learning provision); 

 Any other factors the local authority considers to be relevant to the particular 
case. 
 
When a school is named in an IDP for the purpose of securing admission, 
the child must be admitted to the school.  

 
1.7 Out of Chronological Age Applications 

Cardiff Council operates a separate policy on Out of Chronological Age 
applications.  
 
If a parent requests to place their child in a year group that is outside of their 
chronological age and the request is at the point of admissions, the Local 
Authority will review each request based on their individual circumstances. 
Contact: outofyeargroup@cardiff.gov.uk.  

 
1.8 School Managed Transfers 

Cardiff Council operates a separate policy on School Managed Moves. 
 
Schools are able to undertake managed moves of pupils. These will be treated 
differently to regular admissions and the child will remain on roll at the school 
from which they are applying to transfer until the end of their managed move 
period.  
 
At the end of the managed move period, if successful, the child will be added to 
the roll of the receiving school. If the managed move is not successful, the child 
will return to attend the school from which they were applying to transfer.  All 
managed moves should be negotiated between the schools with a 
representative from the Council.  
 

Page 1406



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 5 of 26 
 

1.9 Fair Access Protocol 
Cardiff Council maintains Fair Access Protocols for vulnerable children in 
accordance with the School Admissions Code Annex D Paragraph 5.  
 
The role of the Fair Access Panel is to ensure that vulnerable and ‘hard to place’ 
children are able to access education and are placed fairly within the city. The 
Fair Access Panel will assess all pupils and schools according to their 
vulnerability and will, (in participation with all high schools via the subsequent  
Fresh Start panel),  place these children in schools that can meet their needs in 
the most efficient manner that will have the least negative impact on the 
effectiveness of education within Cardiff.  
 
The panel members will review outcomes annually to monitor compliance and 
will ensure that schools are adhering to the procedures. 
 

1.10 Co-ordinated School Admission Arrangements 
The Council is consulting on the co-ordination of primary school admission 
arrangements. These will apply to any Community Schools and Own Admission 
Authority Schools (Faith Schools) in Cardiff whose Governing Bodies consult on 
and agree to adopt the scheme for admission to primary education in September 
2023. 
 
The Council will continue to co-ordinate secondary school admission 
arrangements, which applies to all community secondary schools, Corpus 
Christi RC High School, St. Teilo’s CW High School and Whitchurch High 
(Foundation) School. The Council is consulting on including The Bishop of 
Llandaff C.W. High School in the secondary school co-ordinated admission 
arrangements. 
 
The Council will also continue to co-ordinate admissions arrangements with St 
Mellons Church in Wales Voluntary Controlled Primary School. 

 
1.11 Data Protection and the EU General Data Protection Regulation 

All personal data will be processed in accordance with the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR) 2018 and the Data Protection Act 2018. 

  

Page 1407



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 6 of 26 
 

 
2. Submitting An Application  
 
2.1 How to apply 

An application must be submitted for a school that a parent wishes their child to 
attend. The Council accepts applications via the Council’s Online Application 
Service or by a completed preference form emailed to 
schooladmissions@cardiff.gov.uk or posted to School Admissions, Room 401, 
County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, CF10 4UW. The Council takes no 
responsibility for any loss of data as a result of the method chosen by the 
applicant to deliver the information. 

 
2.2 Prior to Application 

There is a facility on the Cardiff Council website for parents to provide their 
child’s details and receive information on how to apply for a school place at the 
appropriate time in accordance with the Council’s admissions timetable. 

 
Parents who have registered their pre-nursery-aged child’s details with the 
Council, will be advised to apply for a community nursery place by using the 
Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference form. 

 
Parents who have registered their nursery-aged or younger child’s details with 
the Council, will be advised to apply for a reception place in their preferred 
community primary school(s) during the Autumn Term prior to admission, by 
using the Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference 
form.  

 
In the Autumn Term prior to admission, parents of children in the Year 6 age 
group are invited to nominate their preferred secondary school(s) by using the 
Council’s Online Application Service or by completing a preference form. 

 
 Any parent who has not pre-registered their child can still apply for a school 
place. 

 
2.3 The Applicant 

Only applications submitted by the ‘parent’ of the child (as defined by Section 
576 of the Education Act 1996) will be considered by the Council. This includes 
any person who is not a parent of the child or young person but who has parental 
responsibility for them or who has care of them. 
 
Separate legal guidance is available for parental disputes in respect of school 
admissions. 
 
In advance of submitting an application, parents should discuss which school 
they wish their child to attend, and attempt to reach agreement, especially where 
more than one person has parental responsibility. 

 
2.4 On-time Applications (considered during the ‘normal admissions round’) 

Admission to Nursery from the beginning of Term: 
Parents who submit an application by the published closing date will be notified 
of the result of their application by the issue of an email or letter by the published 
notification date. See paragraphs 3.1.1, 3.1.2 and 3.1.3 for details on the 
published dates. 

Page 1408



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 7 of 26 
 

 
Admission to Reception from the beginning of the Academic Year: 
Only applications received by the relevant published closing date of Monday, 
09 January 2023 for receipt of preference forms will be considered in the initial 
round of allocation of places. Decisions will be issued by email or letter to notify 
applicants of the result of their application on Monday, 17 April 2023. 

 
Transfer to Year 7 from the beginning of the Academic Year: 
Only applications received by the relevant published closing date of Monday, 
21 November 2022 for receipt of preference forms will be considered in the initial 
round of allocation of places. Decisions will be issued by email or letter to notify 
applicants of the result of their application on Wednesday, 1 March 2023. 

 
2.5 Late Applications (considered outside the ‘normal admissions round’) 

Following the first round of allocations, late applications will be considered in 
accordance with the Council’s published admissions criteria. 

 
After the initial round closing dates, the next are: 
 Admission to Nursery Education – last day of each month 
 Admission to Primary Education (Reception from September) – 02 May 2023 
 Transfer to Secondary Education (Year 7 from September) – 15 March 2023 

and 30 April 2023  
 

The dates for subsequent rounds will be the last day of each month. 
 

Refused applications from the first round of allocations and any subsequent late 
applications will be considered together for any subsequent available places 
that may arise. 

 
2.6 Information the Council does not consider when allocating places 

For the purposes of admission to a Community Nursery: 
 The particular primary school the child is likely to attend; 
 The length of time the nursery has been aware of the parental intention to 

apply for a place at the nursery; 
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster day. 

 
For the purposes of admission to a Community Primary School or Voluntary 
Controlled School: 
 The particular secondary school the child is likely to attend; 
 The length of time the school has been aware of the parental intention to 

apply for a place at the school; 
 Attendance at a Nursery Class which is at the same school – a separate 

application must be made for transfer from the nursery to the primary school;  
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster/transition day. 

 
For the purposes of admission to a Community Secondary School: 
 The particular sixth form the child is likely to attend; 
 The length of time the school has been aware of the parental intention to 

apply for a place at the school; 
 An invitation to or attendance by a child at a taster/transition day. 

 

Page 1409



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 8 of 26 
 

2.7 Applications for Reception to Year 11 
Parents can express a preference for more than one school. The parent’s 
highest available preference will be offered.  Lower preferences are only offered 
if a parents’ higher preference(s) are unavailable. 

 

3. Admissions To Community Nursery Schools And Nursery Classes 
Cardiff Council is the admissions authority for all maintained community nursery 
schools and nursery classes in community schools and voluntary controlled 
schools in the City and County of Cardiff. Cardiff Council is not the admissions 
authority for nursery classes in voluntary aided schools in Cardiff. 
 
Children are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term 
following their third (3rd) birthday. Regulation 4 of the Wales Education 
Regulations (Nursery Education and Early Years Development and Childcare 
Plans) states that:  
 
 Children born between April 1st and the end of the Summer term can take 

up a school place at the start of the Autumn term 
 Children born between September 1st and the end of the Autumn term can 

take up a school place at the start of the Winter term 
 Children born between January 1st and the end of the Spring term can take 

up a school place at the start of the Summer term 
 
Though nursery education is non-statutory provision, children must attend for 
five half days if the offer of a community or voluntary controlled nursery place 
has been accepted. 

 
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community or voluntary controlled 
nursery throughout the academic year subject to availability. 

 
Where a community or voluntary controlled nursery school is undersubscribed, 
all applicants can be offered a nursery place. 

 
3.1 Oversubscription Criteria 

Where a community or voluntary controlled nursery is oversubscribed, 
applications received by the published closing date will be considered in 
accordance with the oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of 
priority [1.(a) being the highest] up to the approved capacity: 

 
1. For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 27 February 

2023 for children born between 1 September 2018 and 31 August 2019 
(inclusive): 
 
(a) Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or 

children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England 
or Wales. * 
 

(b) Children subject to an Individual Development Plan (IDP) in which a specific 
school is named * 
 

(c) Children who have a sibling (in any age group between Reception to Year 
6 inclusive) who will be on register at the school at which the nursery class 
is at the same school when they are admitted. * 

Page 1410



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 9 of 26 
 

 
(d) Children in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling 

medical grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a 
particular nursery school/class. *  

 
(e) Children living nearest the nursery school/class, as measured by the 

shortest safe available route. 
 

*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available, see paragraph 
'7.9 Proximity'. 

 
 
2. For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 03 July 2023 

for children born between 01 September 2019 and 31 December 2019 
(inclusive), criteria (a) to (e) [as above] are applied. 

 
3. For applications received by the published closing date of Monday 03 July 2023 

for children born between 01 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 (inclusive), 
criteria (a) to (e) [as above] are applied. 
 

4. Where a community primary school is oversubscribed, and one (or more) of 
multiple birth siblings would be allocated a place but one (or more) of the 
multiple birth siblings would not be offered a place as the Published Admission 
Number has been met, the Council will admit the remaining multiple birth 
sibling(s). 

 
3.2 Late applications 

The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants 
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community or voluntary controlled 
nursery and apply the oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as above). 

 
3.3 No Right to Statutory Appeal 

As nursery education is non-statutory provision, parents have no statutory right 
of appeal under the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 if unsuccessful 
in gaining a nursery place. 

 
Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a 
reception class place in the same school. A new application must be made 
for a reception class place. 

 
3.4 Early Years Funding (EYF) 

Where nursery education places are not available in local community or 
voluntary controlled nursery schools or nursery classes within two (2) miles of a 
child’s home address, parents may apply for nursery education place funding 
(also referred to as ‘EYF’) with a recognised childcare provider designated by 
the Council. The two (2) mile radius is measured by the Council as the shortest 
safe available route.  
 
The Council will only approve applications for EYF with a recognised childcare 
provider designated by the Cardiff Council. If a place is offered in a community 
or voluntary controlled nursery school and a parent refuses the offer, the Council 
will not approve applications for EYF. The Council will only approve funding if 
there are no places available within two (2) miles of the child’s home and the 
application was submitted on time (see below for deadlines).  

Page 1411



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 10 of 26 
 

 
When to apply: 
 EYF applications should be submitted in the term prior to your child starting 

nursery education 
 If your child starts in nursery education with a recognised childcare provider 

at a later date, applications should be submitted in the term when the 
admission takes place 

 
Eligibility Requirements:  
Your child is eligible, 
 If they are resident within Cardiff and, 
 Residency can be proven, and,  
 You have proof of parental responsibility and,  
 There is no place available in a local community or voluntary controlled   

nursery school or nursery class within two (2) miles of your home or, 
 There are compelling medical or compelling social grounds which prevent 

the child from attending the community or voluntary controlled nursery 
provision available 

 
Making an application:  To make an application, 
 Parents need to complete an Early Years Funding Application 
 Parents need to confirm proof of residency, as indicated through Cardiff 

Council Tax/other Council records 
 Parents need to provide proof of parental responsibility, through providing a 

birth certificate, court order or passport that lists both the child and the 
parent. 

 
Applying on compelling medical/social grounds: 
 Parents need to provide documentary evidence from a professional. This 

may include but is not limited to:  
o Written recommendation from a social worker 
o Written recommendation from a medical consultant 

 Written recommendations must be dated no more than three (3) months 
prior to the application submission 

 Written recommendations must give detailed reasons explaining why the 
child cannot attend any of the available community or voluntary controlled 
nurseries. 

The Childcare Offer 

If eligible, parents may also be entitled to 30 hours of combined funded early 
education and childcare through the ‘Childcare Offer’. During term time the 30 
hours will consist of a combination of the existing Foundation Phase Nursery 
(FPN) provision available to all 3 and 4 year olds, (usually 12.5 hours per week) 
and the additional funded childcare (up to 17.5 hours per week). For 9 weeks of 
the year, outside of term time, parents will be able to access the full 30 hours of 
childcare funded through the Childcare Offer.  
 
If a child does not access their FPN provision then they will still be entitled to 
the childcare element of the Offer during school term time (up to 17.5 hours per 
week for 39 weeks of the year) and up to 30 hours of government-funded 
childcare for the remaining 9 weeks.  
 

Page 1412



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 11 of 26 
 

Eligible children will be able to access the Offer from the beginning of the term  
after the term in which they turn 3 up until the September following their fourth 
birthday, when they will be offered a full time education place.  

 

4. Admissions To Community Primary Schools And Voluntary Controlled 
Primary Schools 
Cardiff Council is the admissions authority for all maintained community primary 
schools and the voluntary controlled primary school in the City and County of 
Cardiff.  Cardiff Council is not the admissions authority for voluntary aided 
primary schools in Cardiff. 

 
Children are admitted into Reception (also referred to as ‘Year 0’) in the 
September following their fourth (4th) birthday during the normal admissions 
round. 

 
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community or voluntary controlled 
primary school outside the normal admissions round subject to availability (with 
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh 
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]). 

 
Where a community or voluntary controlled primary school is undersubscribed, 
all applicants (with exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the 
Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]) can 
be offered a school place. Cardiff Council also maintains Fair Access Protocols 
for the placement of vulnerable children who are transferring outside of the 
normal admissions round. These protocols seek to ensure that vulnerable and 
hard to place children are able to access education and are placed fairly within 
the city. 

 
4.1 Community Primary Schools Oversubscription Criteria 

Where a community primary school is oversubscribed, preferences received by 
the published closing date will be considered in accordance with the 
oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of priority [1. being the 
highest] up to the approved capacity and will not normally exceed the school’s 
Published Admission Number or breach the limitations imposed by statutory 
maximum class size (30) where this applies: 

 
1. Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or 

children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or 
Wales. * 
 

2. Children subject to an Individual Development Plan (IDP), in which a specific 
school is named. * 
 

3. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and in 
respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical grounds or 
compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school. * 
 

4. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and 
have a sibling enrolled in Reception or Years 1 to 6 who will be on register at the 
school when they are admitted.* 

Page 1413



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 12 of 26 
 

 
5.  Children who have a brother or sister attending the school, admitted before 

catchment area change 
 
a) Where an older sibling was admitted to and continues to attend a school that 

was previously the catchment area school for the home address of the family 
at the time of the older sibling’s admission, if the parent applies, the Council 
will give priority to younger siblings to the former catchment school.* 

 
b) Where an older sibling was admitted to and continues to attend a community 

school, and a catchment area was not established at the time of the older 
sibling’s admission, if the parent applies, the Council will give priority to 
younger siblings to this school.* 

 
6. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school. * 

 
7. Pupils in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical 

grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school.* 
 
8. Pupils who have a sibling enrolled in Reception or Years 1 to 6 who will be on 

register at the school when they are admitted. * 
 

9. In determining applications for admission in respect of other pupils the Council 
gives priority to children living nearest the school as measured by the shortest 
safe available route.* 
 

10. Where a community primary school is oversubscribed, and one (or more) of 
multiple birth siblings would be allocated a place but one (or more) of the 
multiple birth siblings would not be offered a place as the Published Admission 
Number has been met, the Council will admit the remaining multiple birth 
sibling(s). 

 
*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available, see paragraph '7.9 
Proximity'. 

 
4.2 Late applications 

The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants 
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community or voluntary controlled  
primary school and apply the oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as 
above). 

 
4.3 Statutory Appeals 

If a child has been refused admission to a community or voluntary controlled   
primary school, an appeal may be submitted to the Independent Statutory 
School Admission Appeal Panel. 

 
4.4 Deferred Entry 

A child is not required to start primary school until the beginning of the term 
following their fifth (5th) birthday however, their start cannot be deferred beyond 
the beginning of the term after their fifth (5th) birthday. The deferred place is held 
for the child and not made available to another. It is recommended that any 
consideration to defer is discussed with the Headteacher of the allocated 
primary school. 

Page 1414



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 13 of 26 
 

 
4.5 St Mellons Church in Wales Voluntary Controlled Primary School 

Applications for admission should be submitted to the Council.  
 
In the event of oversubscription at the closing date for receipt of applications, 
the Council will considered all applications in accordance with the 
oversubscription criteria set by the Council. The Council will also considered all 
applications in accordance with the school’s oversubscription criteria. 
 
Where the school is oversubscribed, preferences received by the published 
closing date will be considered and 30 places allocated. 
 
15 places will be allocated in accordance with the oversubscription criteria set 
by the Council in section 4.1.  
 
15 places will be allocated in accordance with the oversubscription criteria set 
by the school.  

 
Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a 
reception class place in the same school. A new application must be made 
for a reception class place. 

 
 

5. Admissions To Community Secondary Schools 
Cardiff Council is the admissions authority for all maintained community 
secondary schools in the City and County of Cardiff. Cardiff Council is not the 
admissions authority for foundation or voluntary aided secondary schools in 
Cardiff. 

 
Children transfer into Year 7 in the September following their eleventh (11th) 
birthday during the normal admissions round. 

 
Children can be admitted or transferred to a community secondary school 
outside the normal admissions round subject to availability (with exception to 
twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.58 – 3.60 of the Welsh Government’s School 
Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]). 

 
Where a community secondary school is undersubscribed, all applicants (with 
exception to twice excluded pupils [refer to 3.48 – 3.60 of the Welsh 
Government’s School Admissions Code document no. 005/2013]) can be 
offered a school place. Cardiff Council also maintains Fair Access Protocols for 
the placement of vulnerable children who are transferring outside of the normal 
admissions round. These protocols seek to ensure that vulnerable and hard to 
place children are able to access education and are placed fairly within the city. 
 

 
5.1 Oversubscription Criteria 

Where a community secondary school is oversubscribed, preferences received 
by the published closing date will be considered in accordance with the 
oversubscription criteria set by the Council in order of priority [1. being the 
highest] up to the approved capacity and will not normally exceed the school’s 
Published Admission Number: 

 

Page 1415



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 14 of 26 
 

1. Children who are looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales or 
children who were previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or 
Wales. * 

 
2. Children subject to an Individual Development Plan (IDP), in which a specific 

school is named.  
 

3. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and in 
respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical grounds or 
compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school. * 

 
4. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school and 

have a sibling enrolled in Years 7 to 11 who will be on register at the school 
when they are admitted. *  

 
5. Pupils who are resident within the defined catchment area of the school. * 

 
6. Pupils in respect of whom the Council judges there are compelling medical 

grounds or compelling social grounds for their admission to a particular school.* 
 
7. Pupils who have a sibling enrolled in Years 7 to 11 who will be on register at the 

school when they are admitted. * 
 

8. In determining applications for admission in respect of other pupils the Council 
gives priority to children living nearest the school as measured by the shortest 
safe available route. 
 

9. Where a community secondary school is oversubscribed, and one (or more) of 
multiple birth siblings would be allocated a place but one (or more) of the 
multiple birth siblings would not be offered a place as the Published Admission 
Number has been met, the Council will admit the remaining multiple birth 
sibling(s). 
 

*Where the number of preferences exceed the number of places available, see 
paragraph '7.9 Proximity'. 

 
5.2 Late applications  

The Council will consider late applicants with unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants 
where vacancies arise in an oversubscribed community secondary school and 
apply the oversubscription criteria set by the Council (as above). 

 
5.3 Statutory Appeals 

If a child has been refused admission to a community secondary school, an 
appeal may be submitted to the Independent Statutory School Admission 
Appeal Panel. 

 
Attendance at a community or voluntary controlled primary school 
located in the catchment area of a community secondary school does not 
automatically entitle a child to a place at the school. A new application 
must be made for transfer from the primary school to the secondary 
school. 

  

Page 1416



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 15 of 26 
 

 
6.  Admissions To Sixth Forms 

The Council has agreed to delegate to the Governing Body of Community 
Secondary Schools, the responsibility for the determination of admission 
arrangements for sixth forms.  Applications for admission should be submitted 
to the school. 

 

7. Explanation Of Oversubscription Criteria 
 
7.1 Child’s Details - Address 

The child’s home address must be used on the application, this is where the 
child lives for all or the majority of the school week. Please see ‘Submission of 
documents relating to a Child’s Home Address’ (8.2). The Council may not 
accept an address given if there is no evidence that a parent for the child lives 
at the property. 

 
In order to qualify as a ‘child’s home address,’ for the purposes of admission, 
the child must be resident on the application submission date. If the child moves 
address after applying and before the date to which the child would start school, 
the parent must inform the Council in writing (e-mail or letter) stating the new 
address otherwise any school offer made will be withdrawn and a new 
application will be required. 

 
7.2 Changes of Address 

If an applicant moves address at any point between submission of an application 
and the pupil attending an offered school, any offer based on the original 
address will be subject to re-assessment. 
 
Preferences will be assessed on the basis of the home address outlined in the 
application and which is valid at the time of the closing date for applications. 
Any changes of address after the closing date cannot be considered until the 
next round of admissions.  
 
Places allocated on the basis of an address which is valid on the closing date, 
but is no longer the home address, will be reassessed on the basis of their new 
address in the next application round. This change of address will mean that the 
application will be considered as a new application in the next round. 
 
Offers of places will be reassessed and: 
 
 If the new address meets higher oversubscription criteria (or the same 

oversubscription criteria but in closer proximity) than in the initial or previous 
application then the offer will not be withdrawn 

 If the new address meets lower oversubscription criteria (or the same 
oversubscription criteria but in further proximity) than in the initial or previous 
application round then the offer will be reassessed and would be offered to 
the applicant in that application round who meets the highest 
oversubscription criteria. 

 
A change of address would be considered by the Council in the application 
round immediately following the occupancy of a property, where evidence has 

Page 1417



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 16 of 26 
 

been provided of this change of address and this evidence has been accepted 
and verified as sufficient by the Council. 

 
7.3 Looked After Children (LAC) / previously Looked After Children (pLAC) 

In the case of a child looked after by a Local Authority in England or Wales (as 
defined by Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 and Section 74 of the Social 
Services and Wellbeing [Wales] Act 2014), the relevant Local Authority 
(corporate parent) must apply and supporting evidence (a Care Order or Interim 
Care Order) must be provided with the application. Following consultation on 
the appropriateness of the named school in light of the child’s background and 
needs, the Council has a duty to admit the child to the school and give highest 
priority in the oversubscription criteria. 

 
In the case of a child previously looked after by a Local Authority in England or 
Wales (as defined by the Welsh Government School Admissions Code 
document no. 005/2013), supporting evidence (a letter from the relevant Local 
Authority [former corporate parent]) must be provided with the application. 
Following consultation on the appropriateness of the named school in light of 
the child’s background and needs, the Council has a duty to give highest 
priority in the oversubscription criteria. 

 
7.4 Individual Development Plan (IDP) 

The local authority can decide to name a maintained school in the IDP for the 
purposes of securing admission of the child to a particular school.  
 
The local authority will not name a school in an IDP, for the purposes of securing 
admission, unless the needs and circumstances of the child is such that they 
ought to attend that particular school. 
  
The local authority will consider the following factors: 
 
o Whether specific characteristics of the school make it especially good at 

making the required ALP (additional learning provision) compared to other 
maintained schools the child could attend- for example, the school’s physical 
characteristics; 

o Whether the school has members of staff with specialist expertise or training, 
or specialism in a low incidence need such as hearing or visual impairment  
(for example, if the school has a specialist resource base); 

o It would be unreasonable for a more local school to provide the child’s ALP 
(additional learning provision); 

o Any other factors the local authority considers to be relevant to the particular 
case. 

 
7.5 Residence within the defined catchment area of a school 

The defined catchment areas of community primary and secondary schools can 
be viewed on the Council’s website (www.cardiff.gov.uk). 
 

7.6 Compelling medical/compelling social grounds 
To qualify for compelling medical or compelling social grounds, a written 
recommendation from a medical consultant or a social worker dated no more 
than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date, must give detailed 
reasons for the child’s admission to a particular school. 

 
Page 1418



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 17 of 26 
 

7.7 Siblings 
An application will be considered under the sibling criterion if the sibling, and the 
applicant at the time of enrolment, would be attending the same school at the 
same time. 
The Council will only consider compulsory school-aged siblings (for nursery and 
primary school applications this refers to Reception to Year 6 and for secondary 
school applications this refers to Year 7 to Year 11): 
 Clearly named on the application and 
 Resident at the same address as the child subject to the application and 
 Attending the preferred primary school (not nursery) or 
 Attending the preferred secondary school (not sixth form). 
Sibling, for the purposes of admission, is defined as: brother/sister; half-
brother/half-sister (children who share one common parent); step brother/step 
sister (where children are related by virtue of their parents being married, co-
habiting or in a civil partnership); adopted or fostered child. 
 

7.8 Multiple Birth Siblings 
Separate applications are required for each child. Each application will be 
considered on the basis of the oversubscription criteria met by the individual 
child. 

 
7.9 Proximity 

* This criterion is the last to be applied in all oversubscription criteria.  Where 
the number of preferences exceed the number of places available in any higher 
criterion, proximity is used as a tie breaker to determine which pupils are 
admitted. 
 
The Council has developed a Geographical Information System (GIS), referred 
to as an ‘Integrated Transport Network’ (ITN), configured in compliance with the 
Learner Travel (Wales) Measure 2008 and the Learner Travel Statutory 
Provision and Operational Guidance 2014 route determination criteria. The 
shortest safe available route (as defined by the Welsh Government’s ‘Learner 
Travel Statutory Provision and Operational Guidance June 2014’) is calculated 
(to 4 decimal places) from the co-ordinates of an applicant’s home address 
(determined using the Local Land and Property Gazetteer [LLPG] address point 
data), to the nearest open school gate using Ordnance Survey (OS) route data. 
 
a) Where there is no safe route available, the nearest point on the ITN to the 

applicant’s home address will be used to calculate the shortest driving route 
to the nearest open school gate. 

b) Tie-breaker: Where flats use the same LLPG address point co-ordinates, 
the route assessment is determined from the front entrance to each flat. 

 
For applications for pupils residing within mainland UK but outside of the area 
covered by the integrated transport network (ITN), residence to school 
distances are calculated as the shortest driving distance as evaluated using 
google maps. 
 
Where applicants reside outside of mainland Britain, route distances are 
determined as the shortest route as determined using google maps utilising 
available transport types. 

  

Page 1419



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 18 of 26 
 

 
8.  Documentary Evidence That May Be Required From Applicants 

The Council may ask applicants to provide clear and legible documentation (e-
mail: schooladmissions@cardiff.gov.uk) to prove their claim to qualify for one 
or more admission criteria. Where satisfactory documentary evidence is not 
received, a place at an oversubscribed school will not be offered based on the 
claimed admission grounds. 

 
Subject to applicant’s consent upon submission of the application, the evidence 
provided may be checked with other government agencies including (if 
appropriate) the child’s current school. 

 
8.1 Submission of documents relating to a child of UK Service Personnel or 

other Crown Servants 
Children of UK service personnel (UK Armed Forces) or other Crown Servants 
will be treated as resident at a future address if their application is accompanied 
by an official Ministry of Defence (MOD) or Foreign and Commonwealth Office 
(FCO) letter declaring a definite address occupation date and confirmation of 
the new home or unit postal address. 
 
Applications for children of former UK service personnel or other former Crown 
Servants will be treated as all other applications. 
 
Where applications outside of the normal for Children of UK service personnel 
or other Crown Servants are unsuccessful, parents may appeal against this 
decision and any appeal hearing convened would be heard as a normal 
prejudice appeal. 

 
8.2 Submission of documents relating to a Child’s Home Address 

Where an application is made for a place at a school or in a year group that is 
expected to be fully subscribed, and subject to the applicant’s consent upon 
submission of the application, the Council will undertake checks of records held 
by Council Tax, Electoral Register, the child’s school (if appropriate) and 
external organisations including credit reference agencies. 
 
Where there is any concern regarding the consistency of information held, 
further evidence may be required. 
 
To prove residency at a claimed ‘Child’s Home Address,’ the following 
documentation may be requested. 

 
Proof of Residency at Current Address 

  
Tenancy Agreement: 
 Tenancy Start Date must be on or before the application submission date 

and Tenancy End Date must be on or after the date to which the child would 
start school. 

 
Mortgage Statement: 
 Date of statement must be no more than 6 (six) months prior to the application 

submission date. 
 

Page 1420



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 19 of 26 
 

Council Tax Correspondence (bill/letter/statement): 
 Referring to payments made in the current financial year for the property 

claimed as the child’s home address. 
 

Utility Supplier Correspondence (electricity/gas/water bill /letter / 
statement): 
 Referring to payments made in the current financial year for the property 

claimed as the child’s home address; 
 Electricity and Gas (or Dual Fuel) bills must be dated no more than 6 (six) 

months prior to the application submission date. 
 

Child Benefit Correspondence: 
 Date of correspondence must be no more than 6 (six) months prior to the 

application submission date. 
 

Proof of Residency at New Address 
 

If a child will be moving to a new address after the application submission date 
and before the date to which the child would start school: 
 
Leased Property: 

 A new tenancy agreement will be required which must state an end date on 
or after the date to which the child would start school; 

 
Owned Property: 
 An exchange of contracts document will be required which must be dated no 

more than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date. 
 

If the Council is not satisfied with the evidence provided, the claimed ‘child’s 
home address’ will not be accepted for the purposes of the admission request. 

 
8.3 Submission of documents relating to Compelling Medical Grounds or 

Compelling Social Grounds 
To qualify for compelling medical or compelling social grounds, a written 
recommendation from a medical consultant or a social worker dated no more 
than 6 (six) months prior to the application submission date, must give detailed 
reasons for the child’s admission to a particular school. 

 
Subject to applicant’s consent upon submission of the application, the evidence 
provided may be checked with other government agencies including (if 
appropriate) the child’s current school. 

  

Page 1421



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 20 of 26 
 

 

9. Offers Process 
 

9.1 School Offers 
If more than one place could be offered to a child, the applicant’s highest 
available preference school will be offered. Any other school place that could 
be offered, will be offered to another child. 

 
Decisions and responses will not be relayed over the telephone. Written 
confirmation (e-mail or letter) will be supplied. 

 
Any offer not accepted by the date stated on the decision notice may be 
withdrawn and offered to another child. 

 
If an offer to a higher community or voluntary controlled school preference is 
rejected by the applicant on the basis of the applicant declaring a former lower 
community or voluntary controlled school preference has become their 
preferred school, applicants must submit a new application for this community 
or voluntary controlled school preference to be re-considered. 

 
9.2 No School Offers 

Applicants that receive written confirmation (e-mail or letter) advising their child 
has not been offered any of their school preferences, will be provided with an 
alternative preference form,  details of community and voluntary controlled 
schools with vacancies and (for requests for admission to an age group of 
compulsory school age) information regarding their right to appeal against the 
Council’s decision. 

 
9.3 Changes of circumstances 

The Council will consider an applicant’s circumstances to have changed, and 
that the application is considered as a new application, if: 

 The applicant has changed address, or 
 The applicant meets a higher oversubscription criteria than considered 

in their previous application. 
 
This change of circumstances would be considered by the Council to have been 
from the date at which sufficient evidence of the change is received by the 
Council. Such evidence may be proof of residence at the new address, 
confirmation of the enrolment of a sibling at the school to which an applicant 
has stated the preference, or receipt of a letter meeting the ‘compelling medical 
and/or compelling social grounds’ criterion. 

 
9.4 Withdrawal of School Offers 

Prior to the date to which the child would start school, any place approved may 
be withdrawn if it is found that the child’s circumstances no longer meet the 
grounds for admission to which they were offered the school place, if the 
application was found to have been made in fraudulent circumstances or if the 
school place offer was made in error. A new written decision (e-mail or letter) 
will be released. 
 

Page 1422



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 21 of 26 
 

Any offer of a place at entry to Reception Year in a community primary school 
will be withdrawn by the Council if the child does not attend the school within 20 
school days after the start of the school term following the child’s fifth birthday. 
 
Any offer of a place at entry to Year 7 in a community secondary school will be 
withdrawn by the Council if the child does not attend the school within 20 school 
days after the start of the autumn term 2023. 
 
The Council may withdraw the offer of a school place from a pupil transferring 
between schools within the school year if the child does not attend the school 
within 20 school days of the place being offered. 
 
However, if no reason has been provided for the child’s failure to start, the 
school must notify the council’s Education Welfare Service immediately so that 
Children Missing Education (CME) enquires to establish the whereabouts of the 
child can be undertaken. Once these have been completed, the place will be re-
allocated. 
 

9.5 Waiting Lists 
Where an applicant has been refused admission to a community or voluntary 
controlled nursery, primary or secondary school, the applicant will be placed on 
the waiting list for the preference school unless the applicant informs the Council 
to remove their child from the waiting list. 

 
Unsuccessful applicants for admission into Nursery to start from the beginning 
of the term following their third (3rd) birthday, will remain on the waiting list until 
the end of the Summer Term 2024. 

 
Unsuccessful ‘on-time’ applicants for admission into Reception or Year 7 to start 
from the beginning of the academic year (also referred to as ‘normal admissions 
round’), will remain on the waiting list until 30th September 2023. 

 
Unsuccessful applicants for admission into Reception to Year 11 (inclusive) 
whose application was received outside the normal admissions round (also 
referred to as an ‘in-year application’), will remain on the waiting list until the end 
of the term to which the child would start school. 

 
Places are not prioritised on the basis of how long a child has been on a waiting 
list. Priority is determined in accordance with the oversubscription criteria. 
Applications are considered in line with the criteria and any places that become 
available will be allocated on that basis. A child’s position on the waiting list may 
change as applications may be received that have a higher degree of priority 
under the oversubscription criteria. 

 
Should a child be allocated from the waiting list, the applicant will be contacted 
by the Council and requested to confirm if they accept the place. Acceptance of 
a place must be via the Admissions Online Portal, or in writing or by email. Upon 
acceptance, any other school place to which the child may already be allocated 
will be released and reallocated to another child. 

 
Once the waiting list expiry date has been reached, should a parent wish their 
child to continue to be considered for admission a new application must be 
submitted. 

Page 1423



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 22 of 26 
 

 
There is no guarantee of an offer of a place at a child’s catchment area 
school nor the school at which a sibling attends. 

 
  

Page 1424



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 23 of 26 
 

Appendix 1 
 
School Admission Numbers 2023/24 
  

Community Primary Schools Admission Number 

Adamsdown Primary School 60 

Albany Primary School 60 

Allensbank Primary School 30 

Baden Powell Primary School 60 

Birchgrove Primary School 58 

Bryn Celyn Primary School 30 

Bryn Deri Primary School 30 

Bryn Hafod Primary School 60 

Coed Glas Primary School 75 

Coryton Primary School 30 

Creigiau Primary School (English) 29 

Danescourt Primary School 60 

Fairwater Primary School 40  

Gabalfa Primary School 30 

Gladstone Primary School 30 

Glan Yr Afon Primary School 30 

Glyncoed Primary School 60 

Grangetown Primary School 60 

Greenway Primary School 30 

Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School 
(English) 

7 

Hawthorn Primary School 30 

Herbert Thompson Primary School 60 

Howardian Primary School 60 

Hywel Dda Primary School 60 

Kitchener Primary School 60 

Lakeside Primary School 60 

Lansdowne Primary School 60 

Llanedeyrn Primary School 55 

Llanishen Fach Primary School 60 

Llysfaen Primary School 60 

Marlborough Primary School 60 

Meadowlane Primary School 45 

Millbank Primary School 30 

Page 1425



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 24 of 26 
 

Community Primary Schools Admission Number 

Moorland Primary School 60 

Mount Stuart Primary School 60 

Ninian Park Primary School 90 

Oakfield Primary School 60 

Pencaerau Primary School 30 

Pentrebane Primary School 30 

Pentyrch Primary School 30* 

Pen-y-Bryn Primary School 30 

Peter Lea Primary School 45 

Pontprennau Primary School 60 

Radnor Primary School 45 

Radyr Primary School 60 

Rhiwbeina Primary School 75 

Rhydypenau Primary School 60 

Roath Park Primary School 58 

Rumney Primary School 60 

Severn Primary School 60 

Springwood Primary School 60 

Stacey Primary School 30 

Thornhill Primary School 60 

Tongwynlais Primary School 28 

Ton-yr-Ywen Primary School 60 

Trelai Primary School 60 

Trowbridge Primary School 30 

Whitchurch Primary School 90 

Willowbrook Primary School 60 

Windsor Clive Primary School 60 

Ysgol Bro Eirwg 60 

Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 60 

Creigiau Primary School (Welsh) 29 

Ysgol Glan Ceubal 30 

Ysgol Glan Morfa 60 

Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School (Welsh) 26 

Ysgol Hamadryad 60 

Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 60 

Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 30 

 

Page 1426



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 25 of 26 
 

Community Primary Schools Admission Number 

Ysgol Pencae 30 

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-Y-Groes 30 

Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 60 

Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 90 

Ysgol y Berllan Deg 60 

Ysgol Y Wern 90 

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 30 

Ysgol Pen Y Pil 30 

New Plasdwr Primary School (English) 30 

New Plasdwr Primary School (Welsh) 30 

Voluntary Controlled Primary Schools Admission Number 

St Mellons C.W. Primary School 30 

Voluntary Aided Primary Schools Admission Number 

All Saints C.W. Primary School 30 

Bishop Childs C.W. Primary School 30 

Christ The King R.C. Primary School 30 

Holy Family R.C. Primary School 35 

Llandaff C.W. Primary School 60 

St Alban’s R.C. Primary School 30 

St Bernadette’s R.C. Primary School 30 

St Cadoc’s R.C. Primary School 45 

St Cuthbert’s R.C. Primary School 22 

St David’s C.W. Primary School 30 

St Fagans C.W. Primary School 30 

St Francis R.C. Primary School 55 

St John Lloyd R.C. Primary School 45 

St Joseph’s R.C. Primary School 30 

St Mary The Virgin C.W. Primary School 60 

St Mary’s R.C. Primary School 37 

St Monica’s C.W. Primary School 20 

St Patrick’s R.C. Primary School 45 

St Paul’s C.W. Primary School 30 

St Peter’s R.C. Primary School 60 

St Philip Evans R.C. Primary School 52 

Tredegarville C.W. Primary School 30 

  

Page 1427



CARDIFF COUNCIL: EDUCATION & LIFELONG LEARNING 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY: 2023/2024 

 

Page 26 of 26 
 

Community Secondary Schools Admission Number 

Cantonian High School 210** 

Cardiff High School 240 

Cardiff West Community High School 240 

Cathays High School 240** 

Eastern High 240 

Fitzalan High School 300 

Llanishen High School 300 

Radyr Comprehensive School 240**   

Willows High School 224 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 240 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 210 

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern 180 

Foundation Secondary Schools Admission Number 

Whitchurch High School 390 

Voluntary Aided Secondary Schools Admission Number 

Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School 180 

Corpus Christi R.C. High School 215 

Mary Immaculate R.C. High School 159 

St Illtyd’s R.C. High School 176 

St Teilo’s C.W. High School 240 

 

It should be noted that in progressing school reorganisation proposals, some 
admission numbers may need to change. 

 
* Subject to approval by the Council’s Cabinet of the proposal to increase the 
capacity of the school to 30 places 

**Subject to planning consent for replacement and additional temporary 
accommodation on the school site 

 
NB. It should be noted that some of the above proposed changes to Published 
Admission Numbers are subject to accommodation changes receiving the 
relevant planning consent.  

 

Page 1428



Co-ordinated School Admission 
Arrangements
2023/2024
CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

CONSULTATION PERIOD:
22 NOVEMBER 2021 – 17 JANUARY 2022

This document can be made available in Braille. 
Information can also be made available in other community languages if needed. 

Please contact us on 029 2087 2720 to arrange this.

Page 1429

c708636_2
Typewriter
Appendix 2



2
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Background 

Co-ordinated admission arrangements are a way of applying for a school place that allows parents 
to apply for voluntary aided (faith based) schools, foundation schools and community schools 
using one application form. Parents can state their order of preference when applying and, once 
applications have been processed in line with the relevant admissions criteria, would be offered 
only the highest preference school place that they are eligible for.  

At present parents can receive multiple offers and can decide which school is their preference, 
after offers are made.

A co-ordinated admissions arrangement still allows parents to apply for admission to the same 
number of schools, but asks parents to nominate the order of their preference at the time of 
application.

Cardiff Council has successfully co-ordinated admissions with three partner secondary 
schools since the 2018/2019 intake year. A pilot ran as part of 2018-2020 school admission 
arrangements, with co-ordinated admissions between all community secondary schools, 
Whitchurch High School (foundation school), St Teilos Church in Wales High School (voluntary 
aided) and Corpus Christi Catholic High School (voluntary aided).

The pilot was successful with all of the Admissions Authorities who were involved reporting the 
process as being beneficial overall. Each of the above schools has decided to remain as a partner 
within the co-ordinated admission arrangements. Each of the schools retains the responsibility for 
consulting on and setting its admissions arrangements.

The Council has also co-ordinated admissions arrangements with St Mellons Church in Wales 
Primary School since September 2021.

Following the successful implementation of the existing co-ordinated arrangements, the Council 
has worked closely with the Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales Diocese of 
Llandaff and the Church in Wales Diocese of Monmouth to develop proposals to expand the co-
ordinated arrangements.

The Council is now seeking to co-ordinate admissions to all community primary schools, Church in 
Wales  primary schools and Catholic primary schools. 

The Council is also seeking to expand the co-ordinated arrangements for secondary schools 
by including The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School in the process from 
September 2023.

2 Page 1430



3
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

What are we proposing to do?
• Implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process for the Reception age group intake from 

September 2023.

• Include The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School within the co-ordinated secondary school 
admissions process for the Year 7 age group intake from September 2023.

Where can I find more information? 
This document sets out the proposals to co-ordinate admission arrangements with partner primary and 
secondary schools in Cardiff.

Further information in respect of school admissions arrangements can be found on the Council website: 
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

If you are unable to access this document on-line, printed copies will be available by post on request. You 
may request a copy by e-mailing  schoolresponses@cardiff.gov.uk or by telephoning 02920 872720.

We will also organise online drop-in sessions that you can attend if you would like us to explain the 
suggested changes to you. You can also ask us questions. 

If you would like to attend an online session please contact us by e-mailing schoolresponses@cardiff.
gov.uk and tell us when you would like to attend. We will then provide a link and instructions for attending 
the session.

How can I give my views? 
• You can fill in the response form on page 18 of this booklet

• You can attend a drop-in session

• You can provide your views at www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

The closing date for responses to this consultation is 17 January 2022. 

Unfortunately responses received after this date will not be considered by the Council.

3Page 1431



4
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Explanation of Terms used in this document 

Admission Authority – Responsible for setting and applying a school’s admission arrangements. For 
community schools and voluntary controlled schools the Admission Authority is Cardiff Council. For 
voluntary aided schools the Admission Authority is the school’s Governing Body.

Admission Number – All maintained schools admit pupils up to at least their Published Admission 
Number. The admission number is the number of pupil places available in each year group.

Admissions Forum – Made up of representatives of admission authorities and schools, the Catholic 
Archdiocese, the Church in Wales dioceses, the local community and parent governors. It promotes a 
fair admissions system that is easy and straightforward for parents to understand.

ALN – Additional Learning Needs. This may be due to learning difficulties, physical disabilities or 
behavioural problems. (ALN is sometimes referred to as Special Educational Needs).

Catholic Archdiocese – a church district, made up of local parishes, under the leadership of a Catholic 
Archbishop.

Church in Wales Diocese – a church district, made up of local parishes, under the leadership of a 
Church in Wales Bishop.

Community School – a maintained primary or secondary school where the Council arranges school 
admissions.

Governing Body – A group of people who are responsible for running a school. They set a strategic 
direction and aim to promote a high standard of educational achievement.

Local Authority – an organisation that is officially responsible for all the public services and facilities in 
a particular area. In Cardiff the local authority is Cardiff Council.

Maintained School – A school that is funded by the local education authority (LA).

Offer Day – A consistent date on which all Admissions Authorities inform families of the outcome of 
their school applications.

Voluntary Aided School – a maintained primary or secondary school where the school’s Governing 
Body administers school admissions.

Voluntary Controlled School – a maintained primary or secondary school where the Council has 
agreed to administer admissions to the school.

4 Page 1432



5
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Co-ordinated Primary school admissions

Why are we proposing these changes?

The co-ordinated admissions arrangements for admission to secondary education have been beneficial 
for school, parents and pupils alike.

The Council, the Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales Diocese of Llandaff and the Church 
in Wales Diocese of Monmouth are keen for the benefits of co-ordinated admissions arrangements to be 
extended to primary schools and to parents of children entering primary education.

A number of primary schools are also keen for co-ordinated arrangements to be implemented at the 
earliest opportunity.

Applying for a school place in Reception Year

At present, parents apply for a place for their child in Reception Year by submitting a school admission 
form to the Admission Authorities of their preferred schools. 

Cardiff Council is the admissions authority for each of community schools in Cardiff, and also for St 
Mellons Church in Wales Primary School (a voluntary controlled school). 

Each Governing Body of the 10 voluntary aided Church in Wales primary schools and 13 Catholic Primary 
Schools is the admissions authority for those schools. Parents apply directly to each school if they wish for 
their child to be admitted.

Parents applying for a community school can submit their application online. Parents applying to 
other schools can also submit a paper application form to each school. All the applications received 
are considered by the relevant Admission Authority. In cases where a school is oversubscribed (where 
there are more pupil applications than places in the school) pupils are ranked according to the school’s 
admissions criteria. Priority is not given to first preferences. Admission Authorities aim to meet the highest 
preference possible for every applicant.

Parents will receive the result of their application from each Admissions Authority they have applied to, on 
a common date. 

Parents inform the Council of which community schools are their preferred option(s) at the time of 
application. However, they do not need to confirm whether a voluntary aided school is their higher 
preference. As a result, some parents could be offered more than one school place for their child. This 
means that there is uncertainty as to which pupils will start at which schools as the order of parental 
school preferences is unclear at the time of application. While some pupils are allocated multiple places, 
others may receive no offer of a place at all in the initial round of admissions.

5Page 1433



6
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Allocation of school places and waiting lists

Voluntary Aided (faith-based) schools in Cardiff provide the Council with their admission decisions by a 
date agreed by the Cardiff Admissions Forum. However, the Council is unable to use this information to 
reallocate places at community schools before offer date as Admissions Authorities do not know the order 
of parents’ preferences.

The Council cannot and Governing Bodies of Voluntary Aided schools are restricted in sharing admission 
allocation information due to the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Additionally, allocation lists 
for every school would have to be sent, which is impractical.

Some parents applying for their child’s admission to primary education are offered places at multiple 
schools, whilst other parents are unsuccessful in securing their child a place at any one of their school 
preferences. Therefore, some families either miss out on their higher preferences or receive no offer of a 
place at all on Offer Day.

Some parents choose to ‘hold’ offers for more than one school. This prevents other children being offered 
these places, which causes undue stress upon families. It is also difficult for primary schools planning their 
staffing, resources and budgets for the school year. A large proportion of schools’ funding is based on the 
number of children on roll in the school.

Table 1 shows the number of pupils holding multiple school places for entry to Reception in September 
2021. Each pupil either held one place at a community primary school after the first admission round plus 
at least one place at a voluntary aided school or at least two places at voluntary aided schools.

Table 1: Pupils holding multiple school places at entry to Reception in September 2021

Number of school places held Number of pupils
2 school places 243

3 school places 34

More than 3 school places 5

In total 282 pupils held more than one primary school place after the first admissions round. Of these, 
243 pupils held two school places, 34 pupils held three school places and 5 pupils held four or more school 
places. One pupil held a total of eight school places; one at a community school and seven at voluntary 
aided schools.

Offering only one primary school place to these pupils would have released over 300 places in the first 
admission round. This would potentially leave fewer children without a school place and more children 
being offered a higher preference school  place on Offer Day.

Admission Authorities continue to administer waiting lists and arrange appeal hearings. Many of these 
are time consuming, costly, stressful and unnecessary for parents.

A co-ordinated primary school admission arrangements process would provide more parents with a single 
school place offer for their child. This would be a fairer, more equitable system of allocating school places 
in Cardiff. 

If more children are offered a place at one of their school preferences, the number of children on waiting 
lists and the number of appeal hearings being held should be lower.

6 Page 1434



7
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Planning and budget

Co-ordinated admission arrangements between community schools and voluntary aided schools would 
mean more certainty around the number of Reception pupils starting at a school. If a pupil accepted a 
place at one school they would not be able to also hold a place at another school within this partnership.

This would leave schools better able to plan ahead for the school year. For example, if the school knows 
how many pupils will enrol in Reception then it will know how many class teachers and teaching assistants 
are needed.

What are the Proposed Arrangements and how would they work? 
Co-ordinated primary school admissions for the Reception age group would follow the timetable as 
outlined below (for the September 2023 intake):

14 November 2022 – 09 January 2023

Parents would complete a Common Application Form online. They would express up to five preferences for 
community and/or voluntary aided schools.

Parents applying for a voluntary aided school may also complete a supplementary application form for 
the individual school, if the school wishes to implement this form. This form would be returned directly to 
the school’s Governing Body along with any required references, documentary evidence and any other 
information required.

Applications via the online Common Application Form would close on 09 January 2023.

January - February 2023

Voluntary aided schools would rank all applicants according to their school’s admissions criteria. Having 
produced a list of applicants in order of priority, they would submit this list to Cardiff Council to enter into 
the Central Admissions Database.

The Central Admissions Database would then allocate the highest preference place to which a child 
qualifies for admission.

Monday, 17 April 2023

Children applying for a place at the schools within the co-ordinated process would be offered only the 
highest preference school place that they are eligible for. Applicants would be informed of their right to 
appeal, if any of their school applications were unsuccessful. 

Decisions are sent by email (or a letter if you have asked for your offer to be sent by post). They can also 
be viewed online or be given over the phone after 12pm on the offer day.

Tuesday 02 May 2023

The deadline for parents to respond to the council, either accepting the offer of a school place or refusing 
all preferences. 

7Page 1435



8
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Which primary schools are proposed to co-ordinate 
arrangements with the Council?
The Council is inviting the Governing Bodies of each Catholic primary school in Cardiff, and the 
Governing Bodies of each Church in Wales primary school in Cardiff, to co-ordinate their admission 
arrangements with the Council for the 2023/2024 school year.

Each Governing Body may consider whether to coordinate their admission arrangements. 

The Council cannot instruct the Governing Bodies to coordinate their arrangements with the Council; 
however, the Council, the Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales Diocese of Llandaff 
and the Church in Wales Diocese of Monmouth each support the implementation of co-ordinated 
admissions arrangements in Cardiff.

Should they propose to do so, each Governing Body would also need to consult on changes to their 
admissions arrangements.  This consultation must be completed by 1 March 2022.

Details of the schools invited to coordinate their arrangements with the Council are set out below:

• All Saints Church in Wales Primary School

• Bishop Childs Church in Wales Primary School

• Christ The King Catholic Primary School

• Holy Family Catholic Primary School

• Llandaff Church in Wales Primary School

• St Alban’s Catholic Primary School

• St Bernadette’s Catholic Primary School

• St Cadoc’s Catholic Primary School

• St Cuthbert’s Catholic Primary School

• St David’s Church in Wales Primary School

• St Fagan’s Church in Wales Primary School

• St Francis Catholic Primary School

• St John Lloyd Catholic Primary School

• St Joseph’s Catholic Primary School

• St Mary The Virgin Church in Wales Primary School

• St Mary’s Catholic Primary School

• St Monica’s Church in Wales Primary School

• St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School

• St Paul’s Church in Wales Primary School

• St Peter’s Catholic Primary School

• St Phillip Evans Catholic Primary School

• Tredegarville Church in Wales Primary School

You may respond to the Council’s consultation and you may also wish to respond to any consultation 
undertaken by the individual school Governing Bodies.8 Page 1436



9
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Co-ordinated Secondary School Admissions

Why are we proposing these changes?

The co-ordinated admissions arrangements for admission to secondary education have been beneficial 
for school, parents and pupils alike.

The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School has agreed to consult on being part of the co-
ordinated admissions arrangements.

Transfer to secondary education

Co-ordinated admission arrangements were piloted in Cardiff secondary schools for the Year 7 intakes 
in 2018, 2019 and 2020 and retained for the 2021 and 2022 intakes. The co-ordinated arrangements 
apply to all community schools, Corpus Christi Catholic High School, St Teilo’s Church in Wales High 
School and Whitchurch High School.

Under the current arrangements, pupils wishing to apply for these schools complete a Common 
Application Form online via the Council website. In addition, pupils applying for Corpus Christi Catholic 
High School or St Teilo’s Church in Wales High School also have to submit a supplementary form directly 
to the school.

Under the proposals, The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School would also be part of the co-
ordinated arrangements. 

Pupils applying for a place at the schools within the co-ordinated process would be offered only the 
highest preference school place that they are eligible for.   

Allocation of places

Applying through the Common Application Form means that the Council knows the order of parents’ 
preferences. Therefore, when the voluntary aided and foundation schools send their ranked list of 
applicants to the Council, it is possible to allocate places according to the stated preference. This does 
not guarantee that a place will be allocated. In some cases a pupil could still be unsuccessful in gaining 
a place at any school after the oversubscription criteria have been applied.

Only allocating one school place to each child means that parents are unable to ‘hold’ offers for more 
than one school in the coordinated process. Therefore, more children can be offered places in the earlier 
admission rounds. 

Table 2: Number of pupils holding multiple school places at entry to Year 7

Year 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Number of 
pupils

310 324 167 138 230 259

Table 2 shows the number of pupils holding multiple school places for entry to Year 7 during past 
admission years. Each pupil either held one place at a community secondary school after the first 
admission round and at least one other school place (voluntary aided or foundation) or at least two 
places at voluntary aided or foundation schools. 

9Page 1437



10
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

The number of pupils holding multiple school places was higher in 2016 and 2017 before the co-
ordinated admission arrangements were introduced. The number fell significantly in 2018 and 2019 
when the pilot was implemented. The numbers increased again in 2020 and 2021 due to a larger 
number of pupils moving up from Year 6 to Year 7 and fewer surplus places in secondary schools. 
However, there were still fewer pupils holding multiple places than there were before the co-ordinated 
admission arrangements began. 

In 2021, 117 children who were offered places at The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School 
were also offered at least one other school place. Offering only one school place to these pupils would 
have released at least 117 school places in the first admission round. This would potentially leave fewer 
children without a school place and more children being offered a higher preference school  place on 
Offer Day.

 

What are the Proposed Arrangements and how would they work? 
The existing co-ordinated arrangements with Corpus Christi Catholic High School, St Teilo’s Church in 
Wales High School and Whitchurch High School would be unchanged. Pupils applying for The Bishop 
of Llandaff High School would also apply via the Common Application Form ion the Council’s website. 
They would also have to submit a supplementary form directly to the school.

Pupils applying for a place at Mary Immaculate High School and/or St Illtyd’s Catholic High School 
would continue to submit applications directly to the schools.

Co-ordinated secondary school admissions for the Year 7 age group would follow the timetable as 
outlined below (for the September 2023 intake):

26 September 2022 – 21 November 2022

Parents would complete a Common Application Form online. They would express up to five preferences 
for community and/or voluntary aided schools.

Parents applying for a voluntary aided school would also complete a supplementary application form for 
the individual school. This form would be returned directly to the school’s Governing Body along with 
any required references, documentary evidence and any other information required.

Applications via the online Common Application Form would close on 21 November 2022.

December 2022 - February 2023

Voluntary aided and foundation schools would rank all applicants according to their school’s admissions 
criteria. Having produced a list of applicants in order of priority, they would submit this list to Cardiff 
Council to enter into the Central Admissions Database.

The Central Admissions Database would then allocate the highest preference place to which a child 
qualifies for admission.

10 Page 1438



11
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Wednesday, 01 March 2023

Pupils applying for a place at the schools within the co-ordinated process would be offered only the 
highest preference school place that they are eligible for. Applicants would be informed of their right to 
appeal, if any of their school applications were unsuccessful. 

Decisions are sent by email (or a letter if you have asked for your offer to be sent by post). They can also 
be viewed online or be given over the phone after 12pm on the offer day.

15 March 2023

Deadline for parents/carers to respond to the Council, either accepting or refusing the offer of a 
school place. 

What are the benefits of co-ordinated admissions?
The following benefits would be expected to result from co-ordinated arrangements:

• More pupils would be offered a place in the initial round of applications, on offer day.

• More pupils would secure a higher school preference.

• More pupils would have peace of mind, having secured a school place.

• More parents/carers would be able to plan work and childcare commitments much earlier.

• Fewer families would need to submit another admission application in a later admission round.

• Fewer families would go through the appeal process.

• Schools will be better able to plan their budgets, class organisation and staffing arrangements as 
they will have a clearer idea of how many pupils they will be admitting.

What are the disadvantages of the co-ordinated arrangements?
The current system allows for parents to apply to multiple Admission Authorities with the potential for 
their child to be offered multiple school places. The current system provides those families that apply to 
and secure offers for more than one school, with a later decision stage at which they can choose which 
school offer to accept. 

A minority of parents may feel disadvantaged as a result, albeit they still would retain the right to 
parental preference and the opportunity to rank order their school preferences. Each applicant’s 
opportunity of being offered one of their higher preferences would be increased by the proposed 
arrangements.

Each of the partner schools within the current co-ordinated arrangements has confirmed that they wish 
to remain within the partnership.

11Page 1439



12
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Alternative options
The alternative option is doing nothing. The existing arrangements would be retained. The inefficiencies within 
the current pupil allocation system would remain. Many pupils would receive multiple offers of places, whilst 
others may receive offers for a lower preference or no offer at all. Continuing the existing system would mean 
Admission Authorities are unable to allocate more places to children in the initial allocation round.

How would schools be affected?
The proposal does not have any impact upon a school’s admissions policy nor impose any change to its 
governance. The Governing Bodies of schools would still consult on and determine their own admissions 
arrangements, and would still rank the order of applicants against their own oversubscription criteria.

The Council would support schools by undertaking some of its administrative tasks including address 
verification and home to school distance measurements, if this is their preference.

It will not affect parents’ ability to express their preference for a community school or voluntary aided school 
when submitting an application.

Therefore, it is anticipated that it would have little or no effect on the number of pupils that will be on roll at 
English-medium or Welsh-medium community schools or at voluntary aided schools in the city.

It is the Council’s view that co-ordinated admissions help schools to plan their budgets, class organisation 
and staffing arrangements, as all schools will have a clearer idea of which pupils they will be admitting at an 
earlier stage.

The Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales Diocese of Llandaff and the Church in Wales Diocese 
of Monmouth each support the implementation of co-ordinated admissions arrangements in Cardiff.

How would nursery provision be affected?
Children in Cardiff are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term following their third 
birthday and must attend for a minimum of five half days. 

There are no plans to make any changes to nursery admissions.

How would standards in schools be affected by the changes?

Standards

The Council has made a clear commitment to continuing the investment in, and improvement of, Cardiff 
schools to make sure every child has the best possible start in life (www.cardiffcommitment.co.uk).

The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to make sure that, standards in schools are 
high, that teaching is good and that leadership and governance is strong.

The Council does not expect the proposal to have any negative impact on the quality of standards of 
education at any of the schools involved in the co-ordinated admissions process.

12 Page 1440



13
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Teaching and learning experiences

The Council works closely with the governing bodies of schools to ensure that standards in schools are 
high, that teaching is good and that leadership and governance is strong.

The Council does not expect this proposal to have any negative impact on the quality of standards of 
education or the delivery of the Foundation Phase or Key Stages 1-4.

Care, support and guidance

All schools have a suitable range of policies and provision in place to promote pupils’ health and 
wellbeing.

Schools are committed to fostering school communities in which learning is valued and pupils achieve 
their potential in a happy and safe environment in which they show respect and tolerance for others.

The Council would work with the leadership of each of the schools to make sure everyone at the school 
understands their responsibility for helping to improve and sustain care, support and guidance.

Leadership and Management

Governing bodies are responsible for setting and applying the admission arrangements for voluntary 
aided schools. This would not change under the co-ordinated admission arrangements.

There is no information that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on schools’ 
leadership and governance or impact on educational outcomes.

How would pupils with Additional Learning Needs be affected?
Schools in Cardiff receive delegated funding to enable them to provide extra support and focussed 
interventions for pupils who have ALN.

Pupils with ALN are offered school provision in a range of settings across Cardiff which support 
identified pupil needs. This includes supported placements in mainstream schools and places in 
Specialist Resource Bases (SRBs) and Special Schools.

Admissions to specialist provision are managed by the Council, subject to a statement of Special 
Education Needs (SEN) or Individual Development Plan (IDP). 

There are no plans to make any changes to how children are admitted to ALN provision.

There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on ALN 
provision. Schools would continue to provide ALN support for pupils appropriate to the level of need.

13Page 1441



14
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

How would pupils receiving Free School Meals be affected?
Some of the funding that a school receives is based on the number of pupils in the school who receive 
Free School Meals. All schools in Cardiff would receive funding for these pupils.

There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
pupils at the school who receive Free School Meals.

How would pupils with English as an Additional Language be 
affected?
There is no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on how 
children with English as an additional language are supported. All schools in Cardiff would continue to 
provide support that is appropriate to the individual needs of each pupil.

How would Minority Ethnic pupils be affected?
There is also no information available that suggests that the proposals would have a negative effect on 
provision for any ethnic group.

Financial Matters
It is the Council’s view that schools will be better able to plan their school budgets for

forthcoming academic years as they will have a clearer idea of which pupils they will be admitting. A 
large proportion of a school’s budget is based on the number of children on roll.

Human Resources Matters
It is the Council’s view that this proposal is unlikely to impact on school staffing. Working practises 
would change, but may not reduce.

Transport Matters
It is the Council’s view that this proposal is unlikely to impact on traffic. It does not relate to any change 
with respect to supply of school places nor any change to school catchment areas.

Learner Travel Arrangements
Under these proposals there are no plans to change the Council’s policy on the transport of children 
to and from schools. The Council’s transport policy for school children can be viewed on the Council’s 
website (www.cardiff.gov.uk).

14 Page 1442



15
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Impact of the proposals on the Welsh Language
The Council does not expect any negative impact on the Welsh Language from this proposal.

As some Welsh-medium schools have reported difficulties in planning budgets owing to parents being 
offered a school place but later taking a place at an alternative school, it is expected that the proposals 
would have a positive benefit overall.

Equality Matters
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is a process that looks at a policy, project or scheme to make sure 
it does not discriminate against anyone based on the protected characteristics set out in the Equality 
Act 2010 (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage & civil partnership, pregnancy & maternity, 
race, religion/belief, sex, sexual orientation).

An initial Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. It concluded that the proposed changes 
would not negatively affect a particular group in society. Where particular groups are identified as being 
impacted, mitigating actions have been identified.

This assessment will be reviewed after the consultation and at key points if the proposals were 
to proceed.

The proposal will have a positive impact on children in Cardiff achieving their full potential by 
promoting and improving access to learning in the city, giving children the best start by providing a 
better experience for children starting school or going into Secondary School for the first time.

This will be as a result of school staff being able to maximise on the efficiencies of the admissions 
process to provide a more effective start for children to allow them to realise their maximum potential 
earlier than later.

The Council (Admissions Authority for Community Schools) and Governing Bodies (Admissions Authority 
for Voluntary Aided and Foundation Schools) will continue to strengthen their partnership in delivering 
positive outcomes for the city and its citizens; working collaboratively with a shared agenda to achieve 
significant cost and efficiency savings.

Community Impact
It is the Council’s view that this proposal is unlikely to negatively impact on any community in Cardiff. 

15Page 1443



16
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Next steps, how to make your views known and feedback form

What happens next?

The Council will collect and summarise the feedback from this consultation. Council officers will then 
report this to the Council’s Cabinet to inform elected members of stakeholders’ views, as part of 
the proposed 2023/2024 School Admission Arrangements. Once the Cabinet have determined the 
Admission Arrangements, the Admission Policy will be available for anyone to view/download on the 
Council website. You can also get a copy by using the contact details in this document.

Consultation period

The consultation period for these proposals starts on 22 November 2021 and ends on 17 
January 2022.

See page 18 for further details of how to respond and make your views known.

The responses from the consultation will be considered as part of the proposed School Admission 
Arrangements for 2023-24.

Determination of the admission arrangements

The Council’s Cabinet will determine the proposed Admission Arrangements for 2023/2024 in 
March 2022. 

Decision Notification

After determination, Cardiff Council would inform stakeholders. The Admission Policy will also be 
published on the Council’s website.

16 Page 1444



17
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Frequently Asked Questions

Will all schools use the same oversubscription criteria?

Voluntary aided and foundation schools will continue to consult on, set and apply their own admission 
criteria. The Governing Bodies of voluntary aided and foundation schools will rank applicants for 
places at their schools based on their own criteria.

I want to apply for a faith-based nursery place. Do I have to use the common 
application form?

The Council is not consulting on co-ordinated arrangements for admissions to nursery classes. 
Applications for nursery places in voluntary aided (faith-based) schools are still submitted directly to 
the school.

Am I more likely to get a place at a school if I put it as my only preference?

Listing only one school as a preference does not make it more likely that you will get a place in 
the school. Applicants are ranked according to the school’s oversubscription criteria. Parents are 
encouraged to use all of their preferences. If an applicant could be offered a place at more than one 
school, they will be given a single offer for the highest preference school.

How many schools can I apply for?

The Council’s online application process will allow you to state up to five preferences. Applicants are 
encouraged to use all of their preferences. However, you can submit additional applications if you 
wish to do so.

17Page 1445



18
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

Have Your Say!
CONSULTATION RESPONSE FORM

You can complete this response form online at www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements 

We are proposing to:

• Implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process for the Reception age group intake 
from September 2023.

• Include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School within the co-ordinated secondary school 
admissions process for the Year 7 age group intake from September 2023.

• Parent or Guardian*

 Member of Staff*

• Governor*

 Other (please specify)

• Grandparent*

 Pupil*  

•  Local Resident

*Please confirm which schools 
you are affiliated with

Please tell us whether you are responding as (tick all that apply)

1. Do you support the proposal to implement a co-ordinated primary school 
admissions process for the Reception age group

  YES   NO  NO OPINION

Please explain why:

2. Do you support the proposal to include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High 
School within the co-ordinated secondary school admissions.

  YES   NO  NO OPINION

Please explain why:

18 Page 1446



19
Find out more at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

3. Would you wish for co-ordinated arrangements to be extended further to 
include schools that are not proposed for inclusion at this time?

  YES  NO  NO OPINION

Please name schools and explain why:

4. Do you have any other comments?

The closing date for responses to this consultation is 17 January 2022.

Name
Address
Post Code

The Council is not able to consider any consultation responses received after this date. 

Consultation responses will not be counted as objections to the proposal. 

Objections can only be registered following publication of a statutory notice.

If you wish to be notified of publication of the Consultation report please provide an email address. If you do not provide an 
email address we cannot keep you up to date

Thank you for your comments
Please return this form to the School Organisation Planning Team, Room 401, County Hall, CF10 4UW by no later than 17 
January 2022.

The information you have provided above with be processed by Cardiff Council in line with the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection 
Regulation. The information provided to us in relation to this consultation will be treated as confidential but it may be used by the Council or disclosed to others 
when required by law. The purpose of processing the personal data is required to perform a specific tasks in the public interest. Any responses received can be 
requested under the Freedom of Information Act and may have to be made public, however any information that would identify an individual such as name 
and address would be removed.
For further information on how Cardiff Council manages personal information, see our full Privacy Policy on the Council’s website 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Home/New_Disclaimer/Pages/default.aspx 

19Page 1447



20
Find out more at

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements

ABOUT YOU
Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ views and needs by area:-

What was your age on your last birthday? 

 Under 16   25-34    45-54   65-74  Prefer not to say

 16-24   35-44     55-64   75+

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 

 Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing  Visual impairment       Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer,  

         diabetes, or asthma)

 Mental health difficulties    Wheelchair user     Prefer not to say

 Learning impairment / difficulties  Mobility impairment  Other

Please specify

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any 
combination of these.
 White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British   Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Bangladeshi
 White - Irish       Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Indian
 White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller     Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Any other
  White - Any other white background     Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British - African
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White & Asian   Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British - Caribbean
 Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black Caribbean  Black/African/Caribbean/Black Welsh/British - Any other
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black African  Arab
 Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - Any other     Any other ethnic group (please specify)
 Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Chinese     
 Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Pakistani    Prefer not to say

Are you…?

 Female    Male   Other   Prefer not to say

Do you identify as a disabled person? 

 Yes     No   Prefer not to say 

The information you have provided above with be processed by Cardiff Council in line with the Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulation. The 
information provided to us in relation to this consultation will be treated as confidential but it may be used by the Council or disclosed to others when required by law. 
The purpose of processing the personal data is required to perform a specific tasks in the public interest. Any responses received can be requested under the Freedom 
of Information Act and may have to be made public, however any information that would identify an individual such as name and address would be removed.
For further information on how Cardiff Council manages personal information, see our full Privacy Policy on the Council’s website 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Home/New_Disclaimer/Pages/default.aspx 

20 Page 1448



Formal response to the consultation: 
 
The Rainbow Federation - Chair of Governors and Executive Headteacher 
 
The Rainbow Federation (Bryn Hafod Primary School and Glan Yr Afon Primary 
School) Governing Body and Executive Headteacher gave their response via the 
online consultation form: 
 
Do you support the proposal to implement a co-ordinated primary school 
admissions process for the reception age group? 
 
As Chair of Governors and in discussion with the Executive Head we have agreed 
that the proposed changes will make for a more stream lined system. We are in 
favour of the proposals as it gives greater clarity to families and schools. 
 
Do you support the proposal to include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High 
School within the co-ordinated secondary school admissions? 
 
I can only see advantages in having faith schools as part of the mainstream system. 
In particular it should provide greater clarity to decision makers and learners. 
 
 

Page 1449

c708636_3
Typewriter
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Records of virtual drop in sessions: 
  
 06 December 2021  
 09 December 2021 
 10 December 2021 
 13 December 2021 
  

Page 1451

c708636_4
Typewriter
Appendix 4



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Drop in Session   

School Admission Arrangements 2023/24 Consultation  
06 December 2021 09:30 

 
 

Present:  Jo Phillips (JP), Ian Warburton (IW), One parent 
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 

Q – Agree with the principle that some pupils could, under the current 
arrangements, be monopolising multiple places to the detriment of other pupils, 
either unplaced or being offered a lower preference than necessary. Hhe 
following concerns regarding the proposed change to co-ordinated admissions 
were expressed: 

 It was only at the school induction meeting that sufficient information was 
made available to parents for them to make an informed choice. 

 Families coming into Cardiff from out of the country would be less aware of 
the school application process.  

JP – The concerns will be noted. Sufficient information should be made available by 
schools to parents before applications are made.  

Q – Multiple applications could be allowed but withdrawing allocations within a 
set period if the respective admission authorities were not contacted and the 
place accepted. 

IW – The School Admissions Code only allows the withdrawal of a place, once 
allocated, under exceptional circumstances. The Council does not consider a routine 
practice of withdrawing places, as a matter of procedure, an exceptional circumstance. 
Therefore, it is not in compliance with the School Admissions Code. 

The parent was thanked for their input. 

There were no further questions and the session ended. 
 

  

Page 1452



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Drop in Session   

Admissions consultation   
06 December 2021 11:30 

 
Present:  Jo Phillips (RP), Rosalie Phillips (RP), Two parents   
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 

Q – Have gone through the available information and want to query why, when 
Voluntary Aided (VA) schools would continue to make decisions regarding 
admissions, the change has been proposed? 
 
JP – At the moment the system allows for people to make multiple applications and to 
hold multiple places, e.g., faith and community places. Under the new system there 
would be only one offer. VA schools would continue to set their own criteria for 
admissions. 
 
Q – When would a decision be made? 
 
JP – Admission arrangements for the 2023/24 academic year have to be agreed by 
15 April 2022.  The Council Cabinet will consider a report on this in March 2022. 
 
Q – Would there be any impact on pre-school applications? 
 
JP – No, these would continue to operate on the same basis as now. 
 
There were no further questions and the session ended. 
  

Page 1453



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Drop in Session   

Admissions consultation   
09 December 2021 09:30 

 
Present:  Jo Phillips (RP), Rosalie Phillips (RP), One parent   
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 

Q – What are the proposed changes? 
 
JP – Outlined details of the proposed changes.  Looking to streamline places and allow 
for schools to know which children to expect. 
 
Q – What is happening with the new Willows High School? 
 
RP – Outlined details of the project. 
 
There were no further questions and the session ended. 
  

Page 1454



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Drop in Session   

Admissions consultation   
10 December 2021 11:00 

 
Present:  Jo Phillips (RP), Ceri Tanti (RP), One parent  
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 

Q – Asked for overview of consultation.  

JP – Outlined details of the proposed changes.   

Q – Looking to apply for a faith school with the local community school as 
second choice. How would applications change? 

JP – Explained that if the proposal goes ahead, and the faith school they want to 
apply for decides to be part of the arrangements, then they would apply for both 
schools on the same application form. They would then receive only one offer of a 
place if they are eligible for a place at one or more of the schools. 

Q – Would you get a lower preference place if you applied for more schools, to 
fill up that school? 

JP – Explained how allocations work. You would be offered your highest preference 
possible.  

There were no further questions and the session ended. 
  

Page 1455



Schools Programme 
Record of Virtual Drop in Session   

Admissions consultation   
13 December 2021 12:00 

 
Present:  Jo Phillips (RP), Ceri Tanti (RP), One parent  
 
Please note: The following is not a transcript but a contemporaneous note of the 
meeting  
 

Q – Daughter will be starting nursery in September 2022, would like more details 
about school admissions for September 2023. 

JP – Explained that there are two types of schools - community schools, which you 
would apply to the council for, and faith schools, which are applied for directly to the 
school. A family would only be offered one community place, but could also be offered 
multiple faith school places. 

Q - How do we find out the catchment area for our local community school? 

JP - Offered to send through the link to iShare. 

JP – Advised that the application for primary school can be made between November 
and January. It is important to make the application before the deadline in January to 
give you the best chance of getting your first choice. 

Q - When do we apply for a nursery place?  

JP - We can send you information on this.  

Q - Is there an email address to contact if help needed?  

JP - There is an email address for School Admissions. 

There were no further questions and the session ended. 

 
 
 
 

  

 

Page 1456



Co-ordinated School Admission 
Arrangements for Sept 2023 

RESULTS REPORT 

Appendix 5

Page 1457



“Delivering effective research and consultation and first class 
research and information services” 

 
Cardiff Research Centre delivers key research, information and multimedia services for 
Cardiff Council and other key organisations in Cardiff and Wales. 

 
Core services include: 

 
 Collection, analysis and interpretation of primary survey data. 

 Analysis and interpretation of a wide range of secondary demographic and 
socio-economic statistical data. 

 Specialised studies on a wide range of topics including social, economic and 
demographic subjects. 

 Quantitative and qualitative research and consultation projects. 

 Management Cardiff Citizens’ Panel. 

 Focus Group and meeting facilitation. 

 Advice and support on all aspects of research and consultation. 

 GIS mapping services 

 Professional multimedia support in relation to presentations, 
conferences, meetings, graphic design services and internet 
development. 

 

For further information please contact 

Cardiff Research Centre 

 research@cardiff.gov.uk  

 consultation@cardiff.gov.uk  

 

 

 

Page 1458



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 1 
 

Table of Contents 
Background ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Proposals .................................................................................................................................... 2 

Methodology .............................................................................................................................. 3 

Responses .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Results ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Please tell us whether you are responding as: ............................................................................... 5 

Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: .................................................................. 5 

Do you support the proposal to implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process 
for the reception age group? .......................................................................................................... 6 

Please explain why .......................................................................................................................... 7 

Do you support the proposal to include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School within the co-
ordinated secondary school admissions? ....................................................................................... 9 

Please explain why .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Would you wish for co-ordinated arrangements to be extended further to include schools that 
are not proposed for inclusion at this time? ................................................................................ 11 

Please name schools and explain why: ......................................................................................... 11 

Do you have any other comments? .............................................................................................. 12 

About You ......................................................................................................................................... 14 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ views 
and needs by area ......................................................................................................................... 14 

What was your age on your last birthday? ................................................................................... 14 

Are you…? ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

Do you identify as a disabled person? .......................................................................................... 15 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: ....................................................................... 15 

What is your ethnic group? (Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home 
nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these).......... 15 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 1459



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 2 
 

Background 
Legislation requires admission authorities to review their School Admission Arrangements 
annually. The procedure which admission authorities should follow when determining their 
admission arrangements, includes a proper consultation being carried out and that the 
arrangements should be determined by 15th April in the school year beginning two years 
before the school year which the arrangements will be for. 
 
Currently, parents applying for a primary school place in September submit an application to 
each separate admission authority. As a result of this, whilst some parents receive offers for 
their child at multiple schools, other parents have been unsuccessful in securing a place at 
any of their school preferences. 
 
Cardiff Council has successfully co-ordinated admissions with three partner secondary 
schools since the 2018/2019 intake year and with St Mellons Church in Wales Primary 
School since September 2021. 
 
The Council, the Catholic Archdiocese of Cardiff, the Church in Wales Diocese of Llandaff, 
the Church in Wales Diocese of Monmouth and a number of primary schools would like the 
benefits of co-ordinated admissions arrangements to be extended to primary schools and to 
parents of children entering primary education. 
 
The Council is also seeking to expand the co-ordinated arrangements for secondary schools. 
  

Proposals 
 Implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process for the reception age 

group intake from September 2023. 
 

 Include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School within the co-ordinated secondary 
school admissions process for the Year 7 age group intake from September 2023. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1460



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 3 
 

Methodology 
 

 Publication of a Consultation Document on the Council website. 
  

 Distribution of a letter to parents of all pupils due to start in the reception year in 
September 2023, outlining the proposal and giving details of how to access the 
Consultation Document online. 
 

 A communication campaign via social media. 
 

 Online drop in sessions where officers were available to answer questions. 
 

 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the consultation 
document. 
 

 An online response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements. 
 

Responses 
There were 58 responses received to the consultation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1461



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 4 
 

 

 

 

 

CO-ORDINATED SCHOOL 
ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 

FOR SEPTEMBER 2023 -  

RESEARCH FINDINGS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1462



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 5 
 

Results 
 
Please tell us whether you are responding as: 
Over four fifths (86.2%) of responses to the survey were from parents or guardians, this was 
followed by one in ten (10.3%) that came from local residents. 

 
N.B. Percentages do not sum to 100% as respondents could select more than one option 

 
Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with: 
 

 No. % 
Bryn Deri Primary School 1 2.2 
Corpus Christi Catholic High School 2 4.4 
Danescourt Primary School 1 2.2 
Christ the King RC Primary School 1 2.2 
Fitzalan High School 1 2.2 
Llandaff CW Primary School 2 4.4 
Llanishen High School 1 2.2 
Llysfaen Primary School 1 2.2 
Meadowlane Primary School 1 2.2 
Pontprennau Primary School 2 4.4 
Radyr Comprehensive School 2 4.4 
Radyr Primary School 1 2.2 
Rainbow Federation  1 2.2 
Rhiwbeina Primary School 2 4.4 
Rhydypenau Primary School 2 4.4 
St Bernadette’s RC Primary School 4 8.9 
St Fagan’s CW Primary School 1 2.2 
St Joseph's RC Primary school 1 2.2 

86.2

10.3 6.9
1.7 1.7 1.7

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

90.0

100.0

Parent or
Guardian

Local
Resident

Governor Grandparent Member of
Staff

Other

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Please tell us whether you are responding as: 

(Base: 58) 

Page 1463



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 6 
 

St Peter's RC Primary School 1 2.2 
St Teilo’s Church In Wales High School 2 4.4 
St Davids CW Primary School 1 2.2 
St Davids Sixth Form College 1 2.2 
The Bishop of Llandaff Church In Wales High School 2 4.4 
Thornhill Primary School 1 2.2 
Ton Yr Ywen Primary School 2 4.4 
Whitchurch High School 3 6.7 
Ysgol Glan Ceubal 1 2.2 
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern 2 4.4 
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 1 2.2 
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod y Garth Primary School 1 2.2 
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes 2 4.4 
Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 1 2.2 
Ysgol Pencae 1 2.2 
Ysgol Y Berllan Deg 1 2.2 
Ysgol Y Wern 1 2.2 

Total Respondents 45 - 
N.B. Percentages do not sum to 100% as respondents could identify more than one school 

 

 

Do you support the proposal to implement a co-ordinated primary school admissions process 
for the reception age group? 
Over four fifths (86.2%) of respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion 
responses are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 92.6%. 

 

 

 

 

86.2 6.9 6.9

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to implement a co-
ordinated primary school admissions process for the 

Reception age group? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 58)

Page 1464



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 7 
 

A breakdown by respondent type can be viewed below: 

 

Parent / 
Guardian Governor Local 

Resident 
Yes 88.0 100.0 83.3 
No opinion 8.0 0.0 0.0 
No 4.0 0.0 16.7 

Base 50 4 6 
 

Please explain why 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Twenty-seven respondents left feedback as to why they supported 
the proposal, whilst three respondents left feedback as to why they were against the 
proposals. A full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf. 

Support for the proposal 
 It streamlines the application process and applicants will be treated fairly. 
 Makes much more sense and unfair for people to be holding multiple places. 
 It is not fair that people can hold more than one school offer when others receive a 

rejection on results day. 
 The advantages all make sense, with no real disadvantages expect to those who wish 

to ‘play’ the system. 
 The increased coordination and cooperation of all schools will make it a more 

straightforward process for parents and pupils. 
 More likely that each child will be offered a place. 
 Better use of council resources. No one needs to hold multiple school places. 
 It could give parents more opportunities to secure a school place for their children. 

Also, having the same rules for more schools in terms of paperwork submitted and 
admissions criteria would make the process easier for all sides. 

 Coordination of admissions processes for a greater number of schools makes the 
allocation of school places more efficient. The advantages proposed out way the 
disadvantages. 

 It reduces "game playing" and increases efficiency for the application process. 
 Easier process and avoid places being blocked. 
 A fairer process. 
 To avoid unnecessary stress for those who don’t get a place initially because some 

families apply to multiple schools. 
 As Chair of Governors and in discussion with the Executive Head we have agreed that 

the proposed changes will make for a more streamlined system. We are in favour of 
the proposals as it gives greater clarity to families and schools. 

 To release hundreds of school places in the first round and to help ensure that all 
children get their preferred school so that their wellbeing is not negatively impacted. 

 The separate admissions policies cause confusion for parents and council officers. 
 I think it is much fairer and it will increase the chances that every child secures a 

place from the first round. 

Page 1465



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 8 
 

 Misleading to have different criteria for different schools and system is open to 
abuse. 

 When applying for a faith school, I also had to apply for a non-faith school. Total 
waste of time for me, and the non-faith school that offered my daughter a place. 

 It streamlines the process and standardises it for all applicants. Also, I didn’t find out 
about my son’s place until the afternoon when I’d had the other offers. 

 It will significantly reduce inefficiencies and create a fairer system. 
 The arrangements from the previous two years have been successful. 
 It would make sense to co-ordinate allocations on school admissions for primary 

aged pupils as spaces are offered on location rather than parental choice. However, 
improvements to the waiting times for informing allocation of place within primary 
schools could be changed for dates to co-inside with February Half-term. This would 
then take the pressure off uniform shops in the six weeks holidays. Also, consider 
looking into additional 'logo/ emblem' shops to cater for the schools in Cardiff. Three 
specialist uniform shops cannot always cope with the demands on purchasing 
uniform. 

 This school has a current problem with being over subscribed. 
 Each year there has been a number of children unable to be offered places at Ysgol 

Pencae whilst parents decide whether to take up a place at the school or at Llandaff 
City. I hope this will help. 

 There will be less children holding more than one school place, allowing other 
children to be given their first choice school earlier and allow families to plan in 
advance. 

 For the reasons articulated in the consultation paper. 
 

Against the proposal 
 Everyone knows how the process works now, complicated to change it. 
 Primary schools should be for local children. 
 It is unnecessary. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1466



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 9 
 

Do you support the proposal to include The Bishop of Llandaff C.W. High School within the 
co-ordinated secondary school admissions? 
Three in four (75.9%) respondents support the proposal. However, if no opinion responses 
are removed from the analysis, then support rises to 88.0%. 

 

 

A breakdown by respondent type can be viewed below: 

 

Parent / 
Guardian Governor Local 

Resident 
Yes 76.0 100.0 66.7 
No opinion 16.0 0.0 16.7 
No 8.0 0.0 16.7 

Base 50 4 6 
 

Please explain why 
Respondents were given the opportunity to explain their reasoning for supporting or not 
supporting the proposal. Nineteen respondents left feedback as to why they supported the 
proposal, whilst four respondents left feedback as to why they were against the proposals. A 
full breakdown can be viewed below / overleaf.  

Support for the proposal 
 Own Admission Authority Schools (Faith Schools) governing bodies can decide the 

application criteria at the moment. (E.g. giving preference to students from certain 
faiths overruling catchment area criteria thus students in the catchment area will 
dropout). 

 It is fairer for everyone to apply in the same way. In the current system the people 
who choose faith schools have a greater advantage. 

 The advantages all make sense, with no real disadvantages expect to those who wish 
to ‘play’ the system. 

 The more schools included in this process the better it will work. 
 Better use of council resources. No one needs to hold multiple school places. 

75.9 13.8 10.3

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Do you support the proposal to include The Bishop of 
Llandaff C.W. High School within the co-ordinated 

secondary school admissions? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 58)

Page 1467



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 10 
 

 It can help to make the admissions process more straightforward and transparent. 
 Improved efficiency of place allocations. 
 Fairer admissions 
 I don't see why faith schools get to pick and choose pupils when others have 

guidelines. 
 I can only see advantages in having faith schools as part of the mainstream system. 

In particular it should provide greater clarity to decision makers and learners. 
 There is no strong argument not to. 
 Schools will be clear if pupils are actually applying for them or just putting it as a 

backup fora faith school. 
 Current system allows school to cherry pick students to suit school values. 
 Simplifies the admission process. 
 For same reasons as outlined previously. It seems unfair that some pupils have 

multiple admissions options, and are able to hold places, which could negatively 
impact on others who either didn’t get allocated a place or not their preference. 

 It will benefit all schools if every school takes part. 
 It makes sense for all schools to be in it. 
 There will be less children holding more than one school place, allowing other 

children to be given their first choice school earlier and allow families to plan in 
advance. 

 If it is the wish of the school to be so involved. 
 

Against the proposal 
 This should be based on church attendance. 
 A fairer process, parents choosing faith school should not have the advantage of 2 

'first choice' schools when other families do not. 
 It’s the only church school this side of Cardiff. 
 Faith- based schools are not funded by the LEA so why on earth would the council 

even consider changing the application process for faith- based schools. If you add 
faith-based schools in the application process how are pupils with genuine faith be 
granted a place. Will the council provide funding to faith-based schools for offering 
additional places? If you do one faith school then have them all on the application 
form. 

 The high school should have its own admission arrangements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1468



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 11 
 

Would you wish for co-ordinated arrangements to be extended further to include schools 
that are not proposed for inclusion at this time? 
Over a half (54.4%) of respondents would like co-ordinated arrangements to be extended to 
include schools that are not proposed for inclusion at this time. However, if no opinion 
responses are removed from the analysis, then agreement rises to 86.1%. 

 

 

A breakdown by respondent type can be viewed below: 

 

Parent / 
Guardian Governor Local 

Resident 
Yes 51.0 75.0 66.7 
No opinion 40.8 25.0 33.3 
No 8.2 0.0 0.0 

Base 49 4 6 
 

Please name schools and explain why: 
Twelve respondents left feedback to this question; these comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 

 It should include all schools. 
 

 All Cardiff Schools should be included to make it a streamlined process and remove 
unnecessary steps and associated costs into the process. 
 

 All schools should be in a single application process to streamline for parents, 
admissions teams and school. It'll also offer greater transparency. 
 

 Radyr comprehensive. 
 

 All schools to make it fair across the city. 
 

54.4 36.8 8.8

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Would you wish for co-ordinated arrangements to be 
extended further to include schools that are not 

proposed for inclusion at this time? 

Yes No opinion No(Base: 57)

Page 1469



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 12 
 

 If any school get government funding it should be included in the system. 
 

 All faith schools should be included on one form. As a retired faith schoolteacher, I’m 
aware home complicated and disjointed the process can be. 
 

 Unknown but I feel there should be one system for all schools. 
 

 All primary and high schools within Cardiff, including faith schools should be 
coordinated admissions managed by the LA. 
 

 What about Mary Immaculate or Corpus Christie and St Teilo's. 
 

 All schools should be in it. 
 

 No specific school in mind, but it would seem inherently fairer for each pupil to only 
have one offer rather than several. 

 
 

Do you have any other comments? 
Respondents were invited to leave any other comments they had in relation to the 
consultation. Nine respondents left feedback; these comments can be viewed below / 
overleaf: 
 

 Even with this improved process there are issues. Housing is being built at a much 
greater rate than school places are increasing. North East Cardiff needs a new 
secondary school. 
 

 All schools should be included in the process of ease. 
 

 In order to be a strong and fair system, it needs to include all the schools. 
 

 All schools in Cardiff should be included. 
 

 Sibling groups must be prioritised in admissions. Splitting up families is not 
something that should happen regardless of whether school is faith based or not. 
Once one child is in all family siblings should be accepted. 
 

 If it’s not broken why try to fix it? Everyone is used to the separate application 
process for faith based schools as these are NOT funded by the LEA they are funded 
by the main relevant faith of the school. Instead of making a mess of the application 
process, why can't the council make improvements on the anti- social behaviour of 
secondary school aged pupils in Ely and Caerau? What about the replacement of the 
Zebra Crossing road safety person for the crossing at the bottom of Caerau Lane for 
the schools in the area? How about improving the standards of the delivery of 
education across all schools in Cardiff? 
 

Page 1470



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 13 
 

 The consultation information makes a clear rationale for the changes and if they are 
supported by the faith sector bodies then all schools should be included. Any schools 
that opt not to be involved should be held to account for the impact on other 
schools. 
 

 It should be up to the school if they wish to be part of the council’s policy. 
 

 Schools should have their own arrangements - the local authority should have no say 
in these if they do not wish it. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1471



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 14 
 

About You 
 

Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ 
views and needs by area 
 

 No. % 
Llanishen 6 13.6 
Pontprennau/Old St. Mellons 6 13.6 
Radyr 4 9.1 
Cyncoed 3 6.8 
Heath 3 6.8 
Whitchurch and Tongwynlais 3 6.8 
Caerau 2 4.5 
Fairwater 2 4.5 
Llandaff 2 4.5 
Pentwyn 2 4.5 
Riverside 2 4.5 
Trowbridge 2 4.5 
Other Ward 7 15.9 

Total Respondents 44 100.0 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 

 No. % 
25-34 5 8.9 
35-44 36 64.3 
45-54 6 10.7 
55-64 2 3.6 
65-74 2 3.6 
Other age group 2 3.6 
Prefer not to say 3 5.4 
Total Respondents 56 100.0 

 

Are you…? 
 

 No. % 
Female 38 69.1 
Male 16 29.1 
Prefer not to say 1 1.8 

Total Respondents 55 100.0 

Page 1472



Co-ordinated Schools Admission Arrangements for September 2023 
 

   PRODUCED BY CARDIFF RESEARCH CENTRE 15 
 

 
Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 

 No. % 
Yes 1 1.8 
No 53 94.6 
Prefer not to say 2 3.6 
Total Respondents 56 100.0 

 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
Four people identified a health condition that applied to themselves, these can be viewed 
below: 

 Mental health difficulties 
 Mobility impairment 
 Long-standing illness or health condition (e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma) 

 

What is your ethnic group? 
(Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, 
Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these). 
 

 No. % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 45 80.4 
White - Any other white background 4 7.1 
Asian/Asian Welsh/British - Other 3 5.4 
Arab 1 1.8 
Any other ethnic group (please specify) 1 1.8 
Prefer not to say 2 3.6 

Total Respondents 56 100.0 
 

Page 1473



This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 
 

 
 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title:  
Cardiff Council’s Schools Admissions Policy 2023-24 
 
New/Existing/Updating/Amending 
 
Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 
Name: Richard Portas Job Title: Programme Director 
Service Team: School 
Organisation Programme 

Service Area: Education & Lifelong 
Learning 

Assessment Date: 19/11/2021 
 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 
To equitably administer the admission of eligible children to nursery, primary and 
secondary classes/schools based on parent/guardian preference in accordance with 
the admissions criteria detailed in Cardiff Council’s School Admissions Policy 2023-24. 
 
The Council has started consulting on the draft School Admission Arrangements 2022-
2023. The consultation period is from 22 November 2021 until 17 January 2022. 
 
The consultation is an opportunity for people to learn about proposed changes to the 
Cardiff Council School Admission Arrangements for the 2023/24 academic year. 
 
The changes to the policy include: 
 

 Reference to the ‘Fresh Start’ panel in place of the ‘Hard to Place’ panel. 
 Clarification of the Childcare Offer. 
 Increased Published Admission Numbers for Pentyrch Primary School, Ysgol 

Y Wern, Cantonian High School and Radyr Comprehensive School. 
 
In conjunction with the consultation on the School Admission Arrangements 2023/24, a 
public consultation is taking place on the proposed introduction of co-ordinated 
admission arrangements for the Reception age group for intake in September 2023. 
 
The Council is also consulting on expanding the co-ordinated arrangements for 
secondary schools to include The Bishop of Llandaff Church in Wales High School in the 
process from September 2023. 
 
Details of the consultation are available to view on the Council website via the link 
below: 

 

Page 1475

c708636_5
Typewriter
Appendix 6



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 
 

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. Please provide background information on the           

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g., service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.] 

 
The City of Cardiff Council is committed to equality of opportunity and to eliminating 
unlawful discrimination. In respect of admissions to community schools, all pupils and 
prospective pupils are treated equitably, regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, culture, 
nationality, language, ability/disability, or religious belief. 
 
The Council is the Admissions Authority for the following: 
 
 Community Nursery Schools/Nursery Classes in Community Schools 
 Community Primary Schools 
 Community Secondary Schools 

 
In order to facilitate the admissions process, the Local Authority has to consider: 
 
 Children are entitled to a part-time nursery place from the start of the term 

following their third birthday and must attend for five half days. 
 Children are admitted to reception classes in the September following their fourth 

birthday. 
 Children transfer to secondary education in the September following their eleventh 

birthday. 
 All maintained schools must admit pupils up to their published Admission Number. 
 
Parents have the right to express a preference for their preferred schools; these will be 
considered individually and complied with wherever possible. Some schools have more 
requests for places than there are places available. Where a school is oversubscribed 
preferences will still be considered but the oversubscription criteria set by the Council 
will be applied. In deciding which children to admit to a school, the Council applies the 
criteria set out in its Schools Admissions Policy Document and examines the merits to 
support each case by considering any reasons put forward supporting any expressed 
preference. 

Page 1476



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 
 

 
If parents are dissatisfied with the result of an application for a particular School, an 
appeal may be submitted to the Independent Statutory Appeal Panel, any decision 
made by the Panel being binding on the Council, school and the appellant. If the appeal 
is not successful, further requests to appeal for a place at the same school will not be 
considered for the same academic year unless the Director of Education & Lifelong 
Learning determines there are significant and material changes in the circumstances of 
pupil/parents or school. There is no right of appeal for admission to a Community 
Nursery School/ Nursery Classes in Community Schools. 
 
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School 
Admissions Code E.3 which states:  
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1477



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 
 

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 
                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 
Up to 18 years    
18 - 65 years    
Over 65 years     
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  
The nature of the policy is such that it will inherently apply to the 3 - 16 years age 
group as it targets school and nursery aged children and young adults. 
 
Whilst implementation of this policy would therefore have a differential 
impact, it would not be regarded as prejudicial to older age groups as they 
are not part of this educational place provision process. 
 
The Equality Act states that the discrimination provisions on age do not extend to 
anything an LA does in relation to school admissions, so approaches in which 
admissions and transition between schools are determined by a child’s age will not be 
open to challenge. 
 
A co-ordinated primary school admission arrangements process would provide more 
parents with a single school place offer for their child, which would be a fairer, more 
equitable system of allocating school places in Cardiff, and therefore be unbiased 
across the protected characteristic groups to which it applies. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
A clear communication strategy would be developed to ensure that parents fully 
understood the process and the need to use all available preferences. 
 
 
 

Page 1478



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 
 

3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Hearing Impairment     
Physical Impairment    
Visual Impairment    
Learning Disability    
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition    
Mental Health     
Substance Misuse    
Other     
  
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
Differential impact could occur as the implementation of the School Admissions Policy 
would allow for priority to be given to applicants where the legislation and protection 
prescribe the inclusion of specific criteria in relation to Special Educational needs which 
support pupils with disabilities that are also learning difficulties. 
 
Similarly differential impact could occur as the implementation of the School 
Admissions Policy would allow for priority to be given to applicants for whom 
compelling medical and/or compelling social grounds could be evidenced indicating 
particular needs. This would be a positive impact if the degree of need was such that 
preferential placement were to apply. 
 
The LA are required under the Public Sector Requirements to make reasonable 
adjustments to try and ensure that disabled pupils can play as full a part as possible in 
school life. 
 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of co-ordinated primary 
school admissions arrangements would not affect this protected characteristic. The 
Education Act 1996 already gives preferential admission to pupils who have a 
statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) and the Council’s admission 

Page 1479



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 
 

arrangements which give a priority within the oversubscription criteria for pupils with 
compelling medical grounds would remain unchanged by this proposal. All schools 
have a statutory duty under the Equality Act 2010 to make provisions for pupils with 
both physical, mental and learning disabilities within their SEN provision. The Council 
devolves funding to schools to enable them to comply with this obligation 11 and 
provides additional county-wide provision in other areas. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
Make reasonable adjustments to try and ensure that disabled pupils can play as full a 
part as possible in school life. 
 
 
 

Page 1480



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 
 

3.3 Gender Reassignment 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Transgender People 
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 

  

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools 
Admissions Policy would not affect this protected characteristic. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1481



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 
 

3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 
 Yes No N/A 
Marriage    
Civil Partnership    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Admissions Policy and 
the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal would not affect this protected 
characteristic. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1482



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 
 

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Pregnancy    
Maternity    

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Admissions Policy and 
the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal would not affect this protected 
characteristic. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1483



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 10 
 

3.6 Race 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
White    
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups    
Asian / Asian British    
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British    
Other Ethnic Groups    

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Admissions Policy and 
the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal would not affect this protected 
characteristic. 
 
 
 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

Page 1484



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 11 
 

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Buddhist    
Christian    
Hindu    
Humanist    
Jewish    
Muslim    
Sikh    
Other    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
The Equality Act allows for exceptions in certain cases. Schools with a religious 
character may give priority in admissions to members of their own religion. The 
Admissions Code provides that this may only be done when a school is oversubscribed 
– schools subject to the Code are not permitted to refuse admission to pupils not of 
their faith if they have unfilled places 
 
Faith Schools are their own admissions authority and will not be impacted by 
implementation of the Local Authority’s Schools Admission Policy. 
 
The Schools Admission Policy does not differentiate between applicants of differing 
belief systems who apply to attend Community funded Schools and hence no 
differential impact would occur. 
 
The current system allows for parents to apply to multiple Admission Authorities with 
the potential of their child to be offered multiple school places. Within the Cardiff 
County area there are nine primary school Admission Authorities which are Church in 
Wales Schools and thirteen primary school Admission Authorities which are Roman 
Catholic Schools, these are all Voluntary Aided Schools. 

Page 1485



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 12 
 

 
Applicants who meet the higher admissions criterion for Voluntary Aided Schools i.e., 
baptised and/or dedicated/contributor to the life and work of either the Church in 
Wales or Roman Catholic Church are allocated above other applicants within their 
oversubscription criteria in accordance with the School Admissions Code. Pupils of 
these faiths are therefore more likely to be currently offered a place at more than one 
school, only one of which they could take up from the beginning of term. 
 
Where a child has received a multi school offer, consequently this means another child 
has not been allocated the school place. Where this multi school offer relates to a 
Voluntary Aided School, unsuccessful applicants for this school are disadvantaged and 
where this relates to a Community School, unsuccessful applicants for this school are 
also disadvantaged. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
The Council will remain sensitive to the needs of religious communities seeking faith 
place provision. 
 
The communication strategy would be emphasised in Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Nursery Schools to ensure that applicants to Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Primary Schools are not disadvantaged. 
 
 

Page 1486



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 13 
 

3.8 Sex 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Men    
Women    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Admissions Policy and the co-ordinated admissions arrangements proposal have 
been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 
throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 
E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
All schools to which the Schools Admission Policy applies are non-gender specific in 
relation to their admissions criteria. 
 
All schools to which their Admissions Authority is proposing to co-ordinate primary 
school admission arrangements are non-sex specific in relation to the admissions 
criteria. 
 
No differential impact would occur as implementation of the Schools Admissions Policy 
or co-ordinated primary school admission arrangements would not affect this 
protected characteristic. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

Page 1487



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 14 
 

3.9 Sexual Orientation 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
Bisexual     
Gay Men    
Gay Women/Lesbians    
Heterosexual/Straight    
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
This proposal has been developed in accordance with the requirements of the Equality 
Act 2010 throughout and in compliance with the Welsh Government’s School 
Admissions Code E.3 which states: 
“An admission authority must not discriminate on the grounds of disability; gender 
reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; or sexual 
orientation, against a person in the arrangements and decisions it makes as to who is 
offered admission as a pupil.” 
 
No differential impact would occur as the implementation of the Schools Admission 
Policy or co-ordinated primary school admission arrangements would not affect this 
protected characteristic. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1488



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 15 
 

3.10  Socio-economic Duty 
 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the Socio-economic Duty?  
 
 Yes No N/A 
 
  

  

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The proposed changes are expected to have a positive impact on the Socioeconomic 
Duty. 
 
Where a child has received a multiple school offer, consequently this means another 
child has not been allocated the school place. A co-ordinated primary school admission 
arrangements process would provide more parents with a single school place offer for 
their child, which would be a fairer, more equitable system of allocating school places 
in Cardiff. 
 
This would allow parental provision such as transport, wrap around care etc to be 
identified earlier than through a non-coordinated admissions system for some families. 
It is likely that families suffering financial deprivation would have less options available 
to them in making suitable arrangements and having more time to do so may be 
beneficial. 
 
The admissions policy is predicated on endeavouring to make provision for pupils in 
their local community when possible, and hence preference is given to catchment 
applications over non-catchment applications. Schools which are more popular attract 
inward migration to their catchment areas which can affect housing costs. This can 
result in families who would choose a particular school, not being able to afford to 
move into the area and hence one can view this as a differential impact on choice 
between different socioeconomic groups. The Council feels that all school places 
inherently constitute a suitable offer and seeks to support all schools in providing an 
effective nurturing and learning environment.  
 
The School Admissions Code states that Authorities must ensure oversubscription 
criteria are reasonable, clear, objective, procedurally fair, and comply with current 
legislation. Furthermore, The Code also states catchment based oversubscription 
criteria are a lawful means of place allocation differentiation, and that distance 
between home and school is a clear and objective oversubscription criterion and is 
useful as a tie-breaker.  
 
The Council regards catchment and distance oversubscription criteria a legitimate and 

Page 1489



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 16 
 

the fairest practicable means of achieving the desired outcome of equitable place 
allocation in community schools 
 
The Council does not expect the proposal to have any negative impact on the quality of 
standards of education for primary age pupils in Cardiff. 
 
Some of the funding that a school receives is based on the number of pupils in the 
school who receive Free School Meals.  
 
All schools in Cardiff would receive funding for these pupils. There is no information 
available that suggests that the proposed changes would have a negative effect on 
pupils who receive Free School Meals. 
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 

Page 1490



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 17 
 

3.11    Welsh Language 
 
Will this Policy/ Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact (positive/negative) on the Welsh Language? 
 
 Yes No N/A 
Welsh language    
 
Please give details/ consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The Council will continue to implement its Welsh in Education Strategic Plan and will 
ensure that there are schools to meet the demand for Welsh medium education. 
 
As all Voluntary Aided Schools operate through the medium of English, the impact of 
the proposal co-ordinated primary school admission arrangements is unlikely to have a 
substantial impact upon the Welsh-medium sector.  
 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 
 
The consultation re: School Admission Policy includes engagement with 
the following stakeholders: 
 
 All Community; Foundation; Voluntary Controlled and Voluntary 

Aided School Governing Bodies in Cardiff. 
 Cardiff’s Diocesan Directors of Education. 
 Neighbouring Local Authorities. 
 Cardiff Admissions Forum. 
 Local Assembly Members. 
 Local Members of Parliament. 
 Any other interested parties who wish to respond 
 
Consultation on the 2023/24 Cardiff Council’s School Admission 
Policy is proposed from 22/12/21 to 17/01/2022. The Council welcomes all 

Page 1491



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 18 
 

views. 
 
Details of the Schools Admission Policy will be made available on the Council’s 
website: 
 

www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements 
 
The Co-ordinated Admission Arrangements consultation process will run from 
22/11/2021 to 17/01/2022 and involves:  
 
 Publication of a Consultation Document on the Council website (a copy of the 

consultation document can be seen at Appendix 2).  
 Distribution of a letter to parents of all pupils due to start in the Reception year in 

September 2023, outlining the proposal and giving details of how to access the 
Consultation Document online. (a copy of the letter can be seen at Appendix 3). 

 A communication campaign via social media. 
 Online drop-in sessions where officers were available to answer questions. 
 A consultation response slip for return by post or e-mail, attached to the 

consultation document. 
 An online response form at www.cardiff.gov.uk/admissionarrangements. 
 
The views expressed at Council organised drop-in sessions and on paper or 
electronically through the appropriate channels, will be recorded. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 1492



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 19 
 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 
 

Groups  Actions 
Age A clear communication strategy. 
Disability Make reasonable adjustments. 
Gender Reassignment None 
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

None 

Pregnancy & Maternity None 
Race None 
Religion/Belief A clear communication strategy. 
Sex None 
Sexual Orientation None 
Socio-economic Duty None 
Welsh Language None 
Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups] 

None 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 
Completed By : Joanna Phillips Date: 19/11/2021 
Designation: Project Officer  
Approved By: Brett Andrewartha  
Designation: School Organisation Programme Planning 
Manager 

 

Service Area: Education & Lifelong Learning  
 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         
 

Page 1493



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 6 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
PAY POLICY 2022/2023 
 

FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE 
(COUNCILLOR CHRIS WEAVER) 

AGENDA ITEM:   11 
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To ask the Council to agree a Pay Policy Statement for 2022/23, in 

accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 
    
Background 
 
2. Cardiff Council understands the importance of having a clear written 

policy on pay for employees. The policy statement provides a framework 
to ensure that employees are rewarded fairly and objectively without 
discrimination. 

 
3. The Council also has a statutory requirement under the Localism Act 

2011 to prepare a Pay Policy Statement on an annual basis. The first 
statement was in place by 31st March 2012 and they have been 
produced annually since then.  Agreement (and subsequent publication) 
of the 2022/23 Pay Policy Statement will ensure continued compliance 
with this legislation. 

Issues 

4. Under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011, a relevant authority’s pay 
policy statement must include the authority’s policies relating to: 

 the level and elements of remuneration for each chief officer 

 remuneration of chief officers on recruitment 

 increases and additions to remuneration for each chief officer 

 the use of performance-related pay for chief officers 

 the use of bonuses for chief officers 

 the approach to the payment of chief officers on their ceasing to hold 
office under or to be employed by the authority; and 

 publication of and access to information relating to remuneration of 
chief officers. 

5. The focus of the legislation is about transparency of pay for Chief 
Officers and how their pay compares with lower paid employees in the 

 

Page 1495

Agenda Item 11



 

Page 2 of 6 

Council.  However, in the interests of transparency and accountability the 
Council has chosen since 2011 to take a broader approach and produce 
a Pay Policy Statement (Appendix 1) covering all employee groups with 
the exception of teachers (as the remuneration for this latter group is set 
by Welsh Government Ministers and therefore not in local authority 
control). This policy also excludes Members of the Council as they are 
not employees and are governed by separate legislation via the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. 

 
Voluntary Redundancy Scheme 
 
6. The legislation also requires the Council to provide information about 

redundancy payments that are made to employees who leave the 
organisation. The current Voluntary Redundancy Policy has been in 
place since 3rd April 2015.  Other than the change set out in paragraph 7, 
and annual reviews have resulted in no further changes. There will be no 
change to the Voluntary Redundancy Policy for 2022/23.  

 
7.  Redundancy payments made under the Policy are calculated with 

reference to a week’s pay up to a maximum of £571.00 (from 6th April 
2022). Since 13th June 2017, as a result of a ruling by an Employment 
Appeal Tribunal (EAT) in the case of University of Sunderland v Drossou, 
in June 2017, employers must ensure that a week’s pay includes 
remuneration ‘payable by the employer under the contract of 
employment’ and that this value should not be limited by what the 
employee directly receives. The rationale offered by the EAT was that 
employer’s pension contributions formed part of the overall package of 
‘remuneration’ offered to an employee in return for their services. The 
result of this is that where appropriate, the employer’s pension 
contributions are included in the calculation of an employee’s weekly pay, 
subject to the maximum weekly rate stated in the Voluntary Redundancy 
Policy, and updated on an annual basis.   

   
Exit Payment Cap 

 
8. Previous Pay Policy Statements have referred to the potential 

introduction of a cap on exit payments.   

9. The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 came 
into force on 4 November 2020, however, in February 2021 the UK 
government issued a Treasury Direction to disapply the regulations, 
whilst the process of formal revocation took take place. 

11. Whilst it is understood that the UK Government may bring forward further 
proposals in due course, the Council has received no further update on 
this. 

Chief Officer Pay 
 
12. The Standing Orders (Wales) Amendment Regulations 2014 introduced 

a requirement that: “The relevant authority must determine the level, and 
any change in the level, of the remuneration to be paid to a Chief 

Page 1496



 

Page 3 of 6 

Officer”.  The impact of this amendment was that all changes to Chief 
Officer pay had to be voted on by full Council, not just those which are 
determined locally. This included any pay rises which had been nationally 
negotiated by the JNC for Chief Officers and that they could not be paid, 
unless and until, they had been agreed by full Council.  

 
13. As Chief Officers of this authority are employed under JNC terms and 

conditions which are incorporated into their contracts of employment, 
they are contractually entitled to any JNC pay rises.  A decision to 
withhold payment (unless preceded by action to effect appropriate 
changes to contracts) could result in claims against the authority of 
‘unlawful deduction from wages’ or ‘breach of contract’. 

 
14. Taking account of the contractual obligations, and the potential time 

delays resulting from local determination to pay JNC nationally agreed 
pay rises, the WLGA pursued the matter with Welsh Government on 
behalf of local authority employers.  As a result it was agreed that the 
requirement that full council must determine nationally agreed 
contractually entitled pay rises for Chief Officers could be met by full 
Council voting on an appropriate resolution to insert a suitable clause in 
their Pay Policy Statements to cover this issue.   

 
15. As a result, in agreeing the 2015/16 Pay Policy Statement, Council 

resolved that the authority’s Pay Policy Statement, from 2015/16 
onwards, would include the following paragraph: 

 
 The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of 

living pay increases for this group, and any award of same is determined 
on this basis. Chief Officers employed under JNC terms and conditions 
are contractually entitled to any national JNC pay rises. This Council will 
therefore pay these nationally agreed pay awards as and when 
determined unless full Council decides otherwise. 

 

16. Should the Council at any time decide that it does not wish to implement 
nationally negotiated JNC pay increases then that would need to be a 
decision of Full Council, and the Pay Policy Statement would need to be 
amended to reflect that decision.   

 
17. This report recommends that the resolution continues to be applied 

provided that such pay increases are in line with those accounted for in 
the Budget set and agreed by Council on 3rd March 2022.  Any additional 
financial implications arising from the national pay agreements 
determined after this date that cannot be met within the Council’s agreed 
Budget will be referred to Council for consideration and decision. 

Local Government Services Pay Award 2021 and 2022 
 
18.  The national employers confirmed on 28th February 2022 that the NJC 

pay agreement effective from 1st April 2021 could be implemented, and 
this the Pay Policy Statement reflects the new pay rates.  The pay award 
effective from 1st April 2022 will be implemented once agreed by the 
national employers.  Until then the Council will continue to apply the NJC 
2021-22 pay agreement in line with those accounted for in the Budget set 
and agreed by Council on 3rd March 2022. Any additional financial 

Page 1497



 

Page 4 of 6 

implications arising from the national pay agreements determined after 
this date that cannot be met within the Council’s agreed Budget will be 
referred to Council for consideration and decision. 
 

Gender Pay Gap 
 
19. The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) 
 Regulations 2017, which relate to public sector employers in England 
 and Wales, requires the publication of gender pay gap data based on a 
 ‘snapshot’ date of 31st March. 
 
20. Since the publication of the regulations it has been clarified that local 

authorities in Wales are not covered by the requirement to formally 
publish a Gender Pay Gap report, but instead must manage gender pay 
differences.   
 

21. With more public sector employers being required to report on their 
Gender Pay Gap, and in line with the Council’s commitment to fairness 
and transparency, it is proposed that the Council continues to voluntarily 
publish its Gender Pay gap report as part of the annual Pay Policy 
Statement, to be published by 31st March 2022. 

 
22. The Council’s Job Evaluation Scheme using the Greater London 

Provincial Council’s Job Evaluation (GLPC) Scheme is used to determine 
the Grades of posts and ensures that men and women receive equal pay 
for work of equal value.  

 
23. The Pay Policy Statement reports a change in the Gender Pay Gap from 

2020 to 2021.  The following table highlights the actual monetary change 
in pay between the two years: 

 

  

2020 2020 2021 2021 

Mean Hourly 
Rate 

Median Hourly 
Rate 

Mean Hourly Rate 
Median Hourly 

Rate 

Male 
14.04 

Grade 6 
12.85 

Grade 5 
15.33 

Grade 7 
14.11 

Grade 6 

Female 
13.68 (£-0.36) 

Grade 6 
11.97 (£-0.88) 

Grade 5 
15.83 (+£0.50) 

Grade 7 
13.21(-£0.90) 

Grade 6 

Pay Gap 2.56% 6.85% -3.26% 6.38% 

 
 
24. A positive percentage figure reveals that typically, or overall, employees 

 who are female have lower pay than male employees.  According to the 

 national government’s Gender Pay Gap information at www.gov.uk, this 

 is likely to be the situation for most employers. 

 

25. For 2021, the Mean hourly pay rates for both males and females are 

within Grade 7 of the Council’s Pay & Grading Structure, in 2020 the 

Mean was at Grade 6.  The Median hourly pay rates for both males and 

females are within Grade 6, compared with Grade 5 in 2020. 

 

Page 1498

http://www.gov.uk/


 

Page 5 of 6 

26. Notably the Mean Gender Pay Gap is a negative figure which means that 
 the mean average for female employees is higher than that for male 
 employees.  The reasons for this are due to a reduction of female 
 employees at grades 1, 2, 3, and 4; an increase in the proportion of 
 allowances paid to female employees, in particular the market 
 supplement payments agreed for Social Workers, Principal Social 
 Workers and Social Work Team Leaders.  In addition, there has been a 
 reduction in the number of employees who are taking advantage of 
 salary sacrifice schemes, of which female employees represent the 
 majority.    
 

27. When compared to those Core Cities and local authorities in Wales  that 

have published their Gender Pay Gap, the Council’s position as at 31st 

March 2020 compared very favourably.  So far, few have published their 

data for 31st March 2021. The Council’s Gender Pay Gap at 31st March 

2021, compares favourably with the 2020 position of others, and the 

2021 position, where data has been published. 

 
Non-Guaranteed Working Hours 
 
28. In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and 

guidance on the appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements 
in the devolved public services in Wales.  These principles and guidance 
were developed by the Public Services Staff Commission in social 
partnership with the Welsh Government’s Partnership Council and its 
sector groups.  The Council is committed to the principles determined by 
Welsh Government which apply to those employees who are employed 
on a relief, ‘casual’ or sessional basis.  These employees are used in 
services within the Council where there is either a need to bring in an 
additional workforce in order to cover peaks in workload, or where the 
workload is on a one-off basis, such as Events. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
30.  To respond to the legal requirement under the Localism Act 2011 but the 

 production of the policy statement will also provide openness and 
 accountability in how the Council rewards its employees.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
31.  The rates of pay and conditions set out in the Pay Policy Statement are 
 reflected in the Council’s budget for 2022/23. 
 
Legal Implications  
 
32. Under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council must prepare a 

Pay Policy Statement for each financial year before the commencement 
of that year. The Pay Policy Statement for 2022/23 must therefore be 
approved by full Council by 31st March 2022. 

 

Page 1499



 

Page 6 of 6 

33.  The Act requires the Pay Policy Statement to cover certain specific 
matters and the Welsh Government has issued statutory Guidance in 
relation to Pay Policies, to which the Council must have regard: Pay 
accountability within local government [HTML] | GOV.WALES. 

 
34.  Legal Services is instructed that the proposed Pay Policy Statement for 

2022/23 meets the requirements of the Act and the Welsh Government 
Guidance. 

 
35.  The Pay Policy Statement must be published in such manner as the 

Council thinks fit, which must include publication on the Council’s 
website. 

 
36. The Council’s pay structures are considered to be compliant with 

Equalities legislation. 
   

HR Implications 
 
37. The pay recommendations will not impact on employees across the 

 Council as it merely outlines in one policy, existing and agreed 
 arrangements for pay and remuneration of employees.  

 
38. The trade unions have been consulted on the Pay Policy Statement. 
 
Property Implications 

 
39. There are no property implications. 

   
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to recommend that Council  
 
1. confirm that the decision to agree the Pay Policy Statement constitutes 

agreement to implement the cost of living pay increases determined by 
the relevant negotiating body effective from 1st April 2022, as accounted 
for in the Budget set and agreed by Council on  3rd March 2022.   

 
2. determine that any additional financial implications arising from the 

national pay agreements determined after this date that cannot be met 
within the Council’s agreed Budget will be referred to Council for 
consideration and decision. 

 

3. approve the attached Pay Policy Statement (2022/23) Appendix 1. 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Chris Lee 
Corporate Director Resources 

4 March 2022 
 

 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1: Pay Policy Statement 2022/23, together with Annex1  

Page 1500

https://gov.wales/pay-accountability-within-local-government-html-0
https://gov.wales/pay-accountability-within-local-government-html-0


1 

Appendix 1 

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2022/23 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
1. Since 2012 the Council has complied with the statutory requirement under the Localism 

Act 2011 to prepare a Pay Policy Statement on an annual basis.  This Pay Policy 
Statement and covers the period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023.  It was approved by 
Council on (insert Date and link to Minute).  Agreement (and subsequent publication) of 
the 2022/23 Pay Policy Statement ensures continued compliance with legislation. 
 

2. This Pay Policy Statement provides the framework for decision making on pay, and in 
particular, decision making on senior officer pay within the Council.  It complements 
other information published on the Council’s website which is linked at appropriate 
points in this Pay Policy Statement. 

 
3. Cardiff Council recognises the importance of managing pay fairly and consistently in a 

way that motivates employees to make a positive contribution to the Council’s business 
of delivering public services and administering local government in the Capital City of 
Wales.  

 
4. The Council has also been accredited as a Living Wage Employer by the Living Wage 

Foundation and is committed to ensuring that our lowest paid employees are paid, as a 
minimum, in accordance with the ‘Real’ or Voluntary Living Wage, which is calculated 
annually by the Resolution Foundation and overseen by the Living Wage Commission.  

 
5. The decisions that are taken by the Council regarding pay are crucial to maintaining 

equality across the organisation. The production of an annual Pay Policy Statement 
supports this approach and assists in providing both transparency and accountability. 
 

 
 
SCOPE 
 
6. In accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011 this Pay Policy Statement 

covers all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration (including on ceasing to hold office), 
and that relating to the ‘lowest paid’ employees in the authority.  The relationship 
between the remuneration for Chief Officer posts and other employee groups employed 
by the Council is explained.  
 

7. In the interests of transparency and accountability the Council has chosen to take a 
broader approach than that required by legislation and therefore this Pay Policy 
Statement covers all employee groups, with the exception of teachers, (as the 
remuneration for this latter group is set by the Welsh Government and therefore not in 
local authority control).  

 

Page 1501



2 

8. This Pay Policy Statement does not apply to Members of the Council as they are not 
employees and are governed by separate legislation and the requirements of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.  
 

 
KEY PRINCIPLES 
 
9. This Pay Policy Statement aims to ensure that all employees are rewarded fairly and 

without discrimination for the work that they do. It reflects fairness and equality of 
opportunity, the need to encourage and enable employees to perform to the best of their 
ability and the commitment to operate a transparent pay and grading structure.  

 
10. The Council recognises that pay is not the only means of rewarding and supporting 

employees and offers a wider range of benefits, such as flexible working arrangements, 
access to learning and development, a Health and Wellbeing Charter and an Employee 
Assistance Programme. 

 
11. To ensure these principles are embedded the Council will ensure that there are clear 

and transparent processes for setting and reviewing salaries for all employees, and that 
there is sufficient flexibility to take into account the pay market and recruitment and 
retention factors.  

 
12. Any policy statement on pay has to be affordable and support the provision of high 

quality public service.  
 
 
LEGISLATION 
 
13. In determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, the Council will comply 

with all relevant legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, Agency Workers 
Regulations 2010 and where relevant the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) Regulations 2006.  

 
14. With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Council 

will ensure there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay 
differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality proofed Job 
Evaluation mechanisms which directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and 
responsibilities of the role. 
 

 
DEFINITIONS 
 
15. The Localism Act 2011 sets out the requirements for Pay Policy Statements and as part 

of this there are certain terms that are used to define different employee groups and in 
particular senior officers.  This section explains these definitions and how they apply in 
this authority. 

 
  
 
 

Page 1502



3 

 Chief Officer 
 

16. The Localism Act 2011 defines ‘Chief Officer’ as Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer, Statutory Chief Officers and Non Statutory Chief Officers.  

 
17. Cardiff Council’s Chief Officers are as follows:  

  Head of Paid Service - Chief Executive 

 Monitoring Officer – Director of Governance & Legal Services 

 Statutory Chief Officers:- 
o Director for Education and Lifelong Learning,  
o Corporate Director for People and Communities who undertakes the role of 

Director of Social Services 
o Corporate Director Resources who undertakes the role of Section151 Officer 

 

 Non-statutory Chief Officers – this refers to non-statutory posts that report directly 
to the Head of Paid Service  
o Director for Economic Development  
o Director for Planning, Transport and Environment 

 
Deputy Chief Officers 

 
18. The Localism Act 2011 defines ‘Deputy Chief Officers’ as those officers that report 

directly to statutory or non-statutory Chief Officers. In Cardiff Council this includes:  
 

o Director Adult, Housing and Communities 
o Director Children’s Services 
o Assistant Director for County Estates 
o Assistant Director for Education and Lifelong Learning 
o Assistant Director for Street Scene 
o Programme Director for School Organisation Planning 
o Head of Service for Finance 
o Head of Performance and Partnerships 
o Head of Democratic Services – statutory role which reports to the Monitoring 

Officer 
o Chief HR Officer 
o Chief Digital Officer 
 

19. The Council’s senior management arrangements include Operational Manager posts.  In 
addition to the posts identified above, there are also some Operational Managers that 
report directly to statutory or non-statutory Chief Officers (Corporate Director Resources, 
Directors of Economic Development; Governance and Legal Services; Planning, 
Transport and Environment) and so for the purposes of this policy these posts are 
included within the definition of Deputy Chief Officer. Operational Managers are 
employed on the same terms and conditions as the Council’s Chief Officers as indicated 
in paragraph 26.  

 
20. The Council’s senior management arrangements also include the posts of Assistant 

Director for Adult Services, and Assistant Director of Housing and Communities, that 
report to a Deputy Chief Officer. 

 
 

Page 1503



4 

Lowest Paid Employees 
 
21. The Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to define its ‘lowest paid employee’ within 

the Pay Policy Statement. Within the Council the lowest paid employees are those 
appointed on Spinal Column Point (SCP) 1 of the National Joint Council for Local 
Government Services’ nationally agreed pay scale. However to support the Council’s 
lowest paid employees, with effect from 1st September 2012 the Council adopted the 
Voluntary Living Wage. In practice this means that the pay for the lowest paid 
employees is kept under review to ensure that either the Voluntary Living Wage hourly 
rate is paid, or the relevant Spinal Column Point, whichever is the greatest.   

 
22. As at 1st April 2021 the SCP 1 of the NJC pay scale equated to an hourly rate of pay of 

£9.50.  As the Voluntary Living Wage equates to £9.90 this is the rate that is actually 
paid. In accordance with the Council’s commitment to the payment of the Voluntary 
Living Wage this will be further reviewed once the 2022 National Pay Agreement is 
finalised.   

 
Pay 

 
23. The Localism Act 2011 defines ‘pay’ remuneration as ‘salary, bonuses, charges, fees or 

allowances payable, any benefits in kind, increase or enhancement of pension 
entitlement. This definition is applies in this Pay Policy Statement. 

 
 
ROLE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
24. The Chief Executive fulfils the statutory role of Head of Paid Service as defined by the 

Localism Act 2011.  The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021, Section 54 

makes provision to codify the role of the chief executive in a principal council (county 
and county borough councils), including, but not exclusively, the functions currently 
undertaken by the head of paid service as designated under section 4 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. As a result, on 5 May 2022, all principal councils will 
be required to appoint a chief executive. This will replace the current requirement to 
designate an existing officer as head of paid service under section 4 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989.  This change will not affect arrangements in Cardiff 
as the Council already has an appointed Chief Executive. 
 

25. As the most senior officer the Chief Executive is responsible for a wide range of services 
with a total budget of £683 million (2021/22) and for the employment of 13,319 
employees (as at December 2021). The services are provided to a total population of 
369, 200 (rounded to the nearest 100) according to the Office for National Statistics’ 
latest (mid-2020) population estimates. The Council was recorded as having a Council 

housing stock of 13776 and in October 2021 there were 55,920 pupils enrolled in our 
schools.  
 

26. The role of Chief Executive is a full time and permanent appointment.  Post holders are 
selected on merit, against objective criteria, following public advertisement.  They are 
appointment by the Appointments Committee of the Council, comprising elected 
members. 

 

Page 1504



5 

27. As Head of Paid Service, the Chief Executive works closely with elected members to 

deliver the administration’s policy statement – ‘Capital Ambition’ – a programme of 

action to create opportunity, manage growth and reform public services, whilst ensuring 
that the benefits of success are felt by all residents. 

 
28. The Chief Executive routinely works outside of the standard Monday to Friday business 

week, The Chief Executive also heads the Gold Command ‘on call’ arrangements 
particularly to cover emergency planning requirements. 

 
 

 
PAY DETAILS  

 
Chief Executive 
 
29. The Chief Executives is employed on Joint National Committee for Chief Executives of 

Local Authorities (JNC for Chief Executives) terms and conditions.  The JNC for Chief 
Executives negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of living pay increases, and any 
award of the same is determined on this basis. These pay awards are effective from 1st 
April each year however they are not normally confirmed in advance of this date.  
 

 
Chief Officers and Operational Managers 

 
29. Posts at Operational Manager and above are employed on Joint National Committee 

(JNC) Chief Officer terms and conditions, and pay levels for these posts have been 
evaluated using the Korn Ferry Hay (formerly Hay) Job Evaluation Scheme since 1999.  

 
30. The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of living pay 

increases for this group, and any award of same is determined on this basis. These pay 
awards are effective from 1st April each year, however they are not normally confirmed in 
advance of this date.  

 
 

Chief Officer Pay Decisions 
 

31. Although the annual cost of living pay increases referred to in paragraphs 28 and 30 
 above are part of the nationally agreed terms and conditions, the Council’s Constitution 
 Employment Procedure Rules states that any decision to determine or vary the 
 remuneration of Chief Officers (or those to be appointed as Chief Officers) must be 
 made by full Council. 
 
32. Therefore, in accordance with these rules, the Council’s decision to agree this Pay 

Policy Statement constitutes agreement to implement the cost of living pay increases 
determined by the relevant negotiating body effective from 1st April 2022, as accounted 
for in the Budget set and agreed by Council on 3rd March 2022.   

 
33. Any additional financial implications arising from the national pay agreements 

determined after this date that cannot be met within the Council’s agreed Budget will be 
referred to Council for consideration and decision. 

 

Page 1505



6 

   
Chief Officer and Operational Manager Pay 

 
34. The following table shows the current pay rates for Chief Officers and Operational 

Managers, as at 1st April 2021: 
 

 
Post 

 
Salary 

 
Chief Officers – Spot Salary  

 

Chief Executive  £188,166  

Corporate Director for Resources  
Corporate Director for People and Communities 

£143,891  

Directors £132,822  

Chief Digital Officer £106,628  

Chief Officers, Assistant Directors £90,320  

 
Operational Managers – 5 Point Range 

 

Operational Manager – Level 1  £59,322 - £72,292 

Operational Manager – Level 2 £48,549 - £58,646 

   
 

35. The salary level for Chief Officer and Operational Managers is determined by an 
independent external evaluation process based on an assessment of relative job sizes 
and benchmarking against market comparisons for posts of similar size and complexity, 
using the Korn Ferry (previously Hay) Job Evaluation Scheme.  

 
36. For Chief Officer positions, any report from the external evaluators on grading of new 

posts or changes to salary levels is presented to the Council’s Employment Conditions 
Committee (ECC) which has the following functions delegated to it under the Council’s 
Constitution:  

 
(i) To consider and determine policy and issues arising from the organisation, terms and 

conditions of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as defined in the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006), together with any other 
category of employee specified in Regulation from time to time where this is 
necessary, subject to the approval of Council in respect of any determination or 
variation of the remuneration of Chief Officers.  

 
(ii)To decide requests for re-grading of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as 

defined in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006), except 
for Operational Managers deemed to be classed as Deputy Chief Officers, whose 
applications may be determined under Chief Executive officer delegation within the 
remuneration framework for Operational Managers,  together with any other category 
of employee specified in Regulation from time to time, whether by way of appeal by 
an employee against a decision to refuse a re-grading application or to decide 
applications for re-grading which are supported, subject to the approval of Council in 
respect of any determination or variation of the remuneration of a Chief Officer.  

 

Page 1506



7 

37. Where an Operational Manager, who falls within the statutory definition of a Deputy 
Chief Officer, submits a request for regrading, this is dealt with by the Chief Executive 
under delegated authority, within the remuneration framework for Operational Managers 
(delegation reference CE8).  It has been agreed that any such decisions shall be 
reported in this Pay Policy Statement for transparency. During 2021/22, the Chief 
Executive’s delegation has been exercised in relation to one Operational Manager post 
which is deemed as a Deputy Chief Officer. 

 
38. In addition to the above, the Independent Remuneration Panel in Wales (IRP) has 

specific functions concerning the salary of the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service).  
Before making a change to the salary of the Chief Executive, which is not 
commensurate with a change to the salaries of the Council’s other employees, the local 
authority must consult the IRP about the proposed change and have regard to any 
recommendation received from the IRP when deciding whether or not to proceed with 
making the change. 

 
38. In the year ending 31st March 2022 the local authority has not had the need to make a 

referral to the IRP. 
 
39.  Since 2009/10, the Council has published pay details for Chief Officer posts on its 

website.  Previous to this, the number of officers at each salary band over £60,000 were 
set out. The information can be found in the ‘Statement of Accounts’ which is accessed 
via the tab ‘Your Council’ and then the link to ‘Council Finance’ 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Council-finance/Managing-the-Councils-
Finances/Pages/default.aspx. The Chief Executive pay has been published on the 
website since 2010. 

 
 

‘National Joint Council (JNC) (Green Book)’ and ‘Joint National Council (JNC) Craft’ 
Employees  

 
40. The pay grades for all former NJC Green Book and JNC Craft positions within the 
 Council are evaluated using a job evaluation (JE) process using the Greater London 
 Provincial Council (GLPC) scheme. The JE process uses a consistent set of criteria 
 which ensures that the Council’s grading structure is fair, transparent and equitable, and 
 that men and women receive equal pay for work of equal value. The Council has 
 Collective Agreements in place with UNISON, GMB and Unite (NJC Green Book), and 
 GMB, and Unite (JNC Craft) which set out the pay ranges for each grade and also 
 relevant terms and conditions.   

 
41. The Council’s pay and grading structure links the scores from the job evaluation process 

directly to the NJC pay structure. On the 1st April 2019 this national pay structure 
changed from 49 spinal column points (SCP) to 43. The national pay structure with 
effect from 1st April 2021 ranges from spinal column point (SCP) 1 to 43 which equates 
to £18,333 to £47,665 .  

 
42. Cardiff Council has in place a locally agreed pay scale which has 10 grades that span 

across SCPs 1- 40 of the national pay structure.  As a result of the changes effective 
from 1st April 2019, the Council reviewed its locally agreed pay scale and in order to 
minimise the impact of transition to the new scale SCPs 10, 13, 16, 18 and 21 of the 
national pay structure are no longer used.  Overall, the Council’s pay scale equates to 

Page 1507

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Council-finance/Managing-the-Councils-Finances/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Council-finance/Managing-the-Councils-Finances/Pages/default.aspx


8 

£18,333 to £44,624, at 1st April 2021. Each grade has a number of incremental points. 
More information about the GLPC Scheme and the grades of the Council can be found 
in the Council’s Single Status Collective Agreement. The agreed grades and associated 
salaries at 1st April 2021 can be seen at Annex1.  

   
 
Employees other than Chief Officer and previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees  

 
43. The Council also has employees whose pay, terms and conditions are determined by 

other national agreement, i.e. JNC Youth and Community, Soulbury, and School 
Teacher terms and conditions. Pay for these employees is based on the relevant 
nationally agreed rates of pay.  Pay rates are included in Annex 1 for information. 

 
Pay Differentials 
 
44.   The current pay levels within the Council define the multiple between the lowest paid 

(full time equivalent) employee (£17,942) and the Chief Executive (£185,385) as [1:10] 
and; between the lowest paid employee (£17,942) and median Chief Officer (£88,895) 
as [1:5]. 

 
45.  The multiple between the median full time equivalent earnings (£25,481) and the 

 Chief Executive (£185,385) is [1:7] and; between the median full time equivalent 
 earnings (£25,481) and median Chief Officer (£88,985) is [1:3].  
 

46. The Council does not use performance related pay or bonuses for Chief Officers 
 

 
Incremental Progression – all employees 

 
47. Incremental progression for ‘Green Book’, ‘Craft’ employees and Operational Managers 

is not automatic but is dependent upon a successful performance review. Following a 
successful performance review, increments are normally effective from the 1st April each 
year. For ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees, this requirement is detailed in the relevant 
Single Status Collective Agreement, and for Operational Managers this is contained 
within their terms and conditions. 

 
 

Salary on Appointment – all employees 
 

48. Vacancies are advertised on the agreed grade for the post stating the minimum and 
maximum salary, or spot point, as appropriate to the post. All Chief Officers are 
appointed to the spot point.  Where salary scales are in place appointments are made at 
the bottom point of the range, but there is discretion to appoint at a higher point within 
the range. This would usually be to match a candidate’s current level of pay or in 
particular circumstances. 

 
 
Market Supplements – all employees 

 
49. It is recognised that there will be exceptional circumstances where the market rate for 

certain key jobs is higher than that provided for by relevant Council pay and grading 

Page 1508



9 

structure. In these circumstances, the grading of the post will be reviewed in accordance 
with the Council’s Market Supplement Scheme agreed as part of the Council’s Single 
Status Agreement. The scheme is applicable to all those covered by the Green book, 
Craft employees, JNC for Chief Officers, JNC for Youth & Community Workers and 
those on Soulbury terms and conditions.  Proposals to pay a Market Supplement must 
be supported by a full, evidence based business case, and follow the agreed decision 
making processes of the Council. 

 
 
ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS 

 
50. Employees employed under the previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ terms and conditions 

are paid on the same terms and conditions and pay scales through Single Status. 
However, a tool allowance has been retained for relevant craft posts.  

 
 
NJC ‘Green Book’ and JNC ‘Craft’ Employees 

 
51. Additional payments are made as detailed in their respective Collective Agreements. 

The types of additional payments made include: overtime and Saturday and Sunday 
working at time and a half, recalls to work attract a minimum payment of 2 hours 
payment, public holiday payments, car allowances, motorcycle and bicycle allowances, 
stand by and call out payments, night /evening /unsocial hours payments, shift work 
allowance, sleeping in duty payment, first aid allowance, relocation payment and 
payment for professional subscriptions. In order to manage an ongoing budgetary 
pressure, in the financial year 2022/23 payments for interview expenses, relocation 
expenses and professional subscriptions (which are not legal requirements of a post) will 
not be made. This has consistently been applied since the 2014/15 financial year.  

 

 
Chief Officers and Operational Managers   

  
52. Additional payments made include car, motorcycle and bicycle allowances which have 

been harmonised for all Council employees using the single rate based on the HMRC 
arrangements paid for business mileage, i.e. currently 45p per mile. 

 
53. Interview Expenses and Relocation Assistance – Consistent with a decision applied 

since the 2014/15 financial year, these payments will not be made for the 2022/23 
financial year.  

 
54. Professional Subscriptions – For the financial year 2022/23 these will continue to only be 

paid by the Council where it is an essential requirement of the post.   
 

55.   Returning Officer Fees - The appointment of Electoral Registration Officer is required by 
S8 Representation of the People Act 1983; and the appointment of Returning Officer is 
required by S35 Representation of the People Act 1983.  At the Council meeting on the 
28th February 2019, the Chief Executive was appointed to the roles of Electoral 
Registration Officer and Returning Officer, with effect from the 3rd April 2019.  The roles 
of Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer are part of the job description of 
the Chief Executive.  

 

Page 1509



10 

56. The Returning Officer fees for parliamentary, Welsh Government, Police and Crime 
Commissioner Elections and all referenda are set out in statutory fees and charges 
orders for each election.  For these externally sponsored elections, the fee is funded 
through grant awarded by the Welsh Government in respect of its election, and by 
Central Government in respect of the other elections.  For local elections, the Council 
must pay the expenditure properly incurred by the Returning Officer in relation to holding 
the election, for example, for printing of ballot papers and all election stationery and 
provision of polling stations.  The Chief Executive has waived all personal fees 
associated with the role of Returning Officer.  

 
Election Staff to Assist the Returning Officer 
 
57. The Returning Officer has power to appoint all staff necessary to assist in the discharge 

of the Returning Officer’s duties in respect of holding the elections, including Poll Clerks, 
Presiding Officers and Count Staff.  For all externally sponsored elections, staff fees 
must be set in line with the appropriate statutory fees and charges order and are 
recoverable on that basis.  For local elections, staff fees are based on the scale and type 
of election and are reviewed to take account of inflation and any other pressures, as 
appropriate. The fees are set and approved by the Returning Officer prior to the election.   

 
 

HONORARIA AND ACTING UP SCHEMES 
 

58. The Council has schemes for payment where an employee acts up into a post at a 
higher level of pay (Acting Up Scheme) or where they undertake additional duties at a 
higher level of responsibility (Honoraria Scheme). These schemes are applicable for all 
Council employees, excluding teachers, however for the financial year 2022/23 the 
Honoraria Scheme will continue to be withdrawn in order to manage an ongoing 
budgetary pressure. 

 
 

ANNUAL LEAVE 
 
59. Annual leave entitlements are determined by the terms and conditions of the different 
 employee groups.  Entitlements to annual leave are pro rata for part time employees 
 
 
Green Book and Craft employees, Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Operational 
Managers 

 
60. The annual leave entitlement is 27 days, rising to 32 days after 5 years’ service. In 

addition there are 8 bank holidays.  
 

 

Other Employees 
 

61. The annual leave entitlement for JNC Youth & Community is 30 days, rising to 35 days 
after 5 years’ service.  The Soulbury entitlement is 25 days rising to 30 days after 5 
years’ service. In addition there are 8 bank holidays and 4 extra statutory days for both 
groups. 

 

Page 1510



11 

  
Purchase of Annual Leave 

 
62. The Council has in place an Annual Leave Purchase scheme, whereby employees can 

purchase up to 10 days annual leave, which is then payable by monthly deductions 
during the leave year.  As at January 2021, 69 employees accessed the scheme in the 
2020/21 annual leave year which was the same as the previous year.   

 
 
GENDER PAY GAP REPORT 

 
63. The Council has published a Gender Pay Gap report as part of its Annual Equalities 
 Monitoring Report.  The report uses data for employees who were paid for the period 
 that covers 341st March each year.  There will be changes from year to year and 
 these will very much depend on the extent to which changes arise in the number of 
 male and female employees at different grades, the use of salary sacrifice schemes 
 and changes to additional allowances paid to employees.  The following Gender Pay 
 Gap information sets out the actual differences in the average pay between 
 employees who are male and those who are female (excluding schools) as at 31st 
 March 2021, compared with 31st March 2020, and shows the percentage and actual 
 pay gap between men and women:  
 
 

  

2020 2020 2021 2021 

Mean Hourly 
Rate 

Median Hourly 
Rate 

Mean Hourly Rate 
Median Hourly 

Rate 

Male 
14.04  

Grade 6 
12.85  

Grade 5 
15.33  

Grade 7 
14.11  

Grade 6 

Female 
13.68 (£-0.36) 

Grade 6 
11.97 (£-0.88)  

Grade 5 
15.83 (+£0.50) 

Grade 7 
13.21(-£0.90) 

Grade 6 

Pay Gap 2.56% 6.85% -3.26% 6.38% 

 
 The UK Government’s Equalities Office recently stated that women working in the public sector are paid 

 on average 19.0% less than men compared to 23.8% less for women in the private sector 

 
64.  The mean average involves adding up all the hourly rates and dividing the result by  how 

 many numbers were in the list.  The median average involves listing all the hourly rates 

 in numerical order.  If there is an odd number of results, the median average is the 

 middle number. If there is an even number of results, the median will be the mean of the 

 two central numbers. A positive percentage figure reveals that typically, or overall, 

 employees who are female have lower pay than male employees.  According to the 

 national government’s Gender Pay Gap information at www.gov.uk, this is likely to be 

 the situation for most employers. 

65.   Using the mean method of calculating the average the pay gap shows that the hourly 
  rate for women is higher than that for men, i.e. a pay gap of -3.26%, in favour of  
  women.  The median average of 6.85% in 2020 has reduced to 6.38% in 2021, and as 
  this is a positive percentage figure this method of calculation indicates that employees 

Page 1511

http://www.gov.uk/


12 

  who are female have lower pay than male employees, albeit the gender pay gap has 
  narrowed in 2021.   
 

66. For 2021, the mean hourly pay rates for both males and females are within Grade 7 of 

the Council’s Pay & Grading Structure, compared to Grade 6 in 2020.  The median 

hourly pay rates for both males and females are within Grade 6, compared to Grade 5 in 

2020.  

 

67.   When schools are included, the Gender Pay Gap information as at 31st March 2021, 

compared with 31st March 2020 there is a significant increase in the median hourly rate.  

School employees are paid either on NJC Single Status or Teachers’ Pay scales. Salary 

levels of teachers are higher than those of school support staff and the value of 

allowances for middle and senior school leaders impacts on the pay differentials and 

ultimately the gender pay gap.  In 2021 there was a reduction in the number of 

employees paid at Grades 1 and 2 ; a 27.81% reduction of female employees at Grade 

1 and  2, compared to a 44.31% reduction of male employees; a widening gap in the 

value of allowances to the benefit of male employees; and of the employees who 

contributed to salary sacrifice schemes, the higher proportion of them were female.     

 

  

2020 2020 2021 2021 

Mean Hourly 
Rate 

Median Hourly 
Rate 

Mean Hourly 
Rate 

Median Hourly 
Rate 

Male 
15.38  

Grade 7 
12.96  

Grade 5 
16.81  

Grade 7 
14.83  

Grade 6 

Female 
15.20 (-£0.18) 

Grade 6 
12.85 (-£0.11) 

Grade 5 
16.70 (-£0.11)  

Grade 7 
13.32 (-£1.51)  

Grade 6 

Pay Gap 1.17% 0.85% 0.65% 10.18% 

 
68.  The quartile table below shows the proportion of male and female full-pay relevant 

 employees (excluding schools) in four quartile pay bands, which is calculated by 

 dividing the workforce into four equal parts.  If there are number of employees on the 

 same hourly rate of pay crossing two of the quartiles, males and females are  split as 

 evenly as possible across the quartiles. Quartile 1 represents the lowest paid and 

 Quartile 4 represents the highest paid. 

 

  2020 2021   

Quartiles Male Female Male Female 
Male 

Difference 
Female 

Difference 

Q1 Lower hourly pay 38.48% 61.52% 37.42% 62.38% -1.06% 1.06% 

Q2 Lower middle hourly pay 37.74% 62.26% 38.14% 61.86% 0.40% -0.40% 

Q3 Upper middle hourly pay 45.36% 54.64% 47.78% 42.22% 2.12% -2.21% 

Q4 Upper hourly pay 44.55% 55.45% 41.66% 57.33% -2.89% 2.89% 

 
 

Page 1512



13 

69.  At the  31st March 2021, compared to 2020, in Quartiles 1 and 4 the percentage of 

 females compared to male employees increased. In Quartiles 2 and 3 the percentage of 

 female employees compared  to male employees reduced.   

70. Whilst there is no requirement in Wales to publish Gender Pay Gap information, Cardiff 
Council has chosen to publish its information on GOV.UK.  In terms of the 2021/22 
published data, Cardiff Council’s position compares well to other Local Authorities, 
include those core cities that have published their data. 

 
 

PENSION SCHEME 
 
71. All Council employees (with the exception of teachers) are entitled to join the local 

government pension scheme (LGPS) which is offered by the Local Government 
Employers. If employees are eligible they will automatically become a member of the 
scheme (to join they must have a contract for at least 3 months duration and be under 
the age of 75). Employees can decide to opt out of the scheme. The benefits and 
contributions payable under the Fund are set out in the LGPS regulations.  

 
72. The current level of contribution to the scheme by employees is: 

 

 
Contribution table 2021/22 

Band Actual pensionable pay for 
an employment  

Contribution rate for that employment  

                              
Main                 

50/50 section 

1  Up to £14,600  5.50%  2.75%  

2  £14,601 to £22,900  5.80%  2.90%  

3  £22,901 to £37,200  6.50%  3.25%  

4  £37,201 to £47,100  6.80%  3.40%  

5  £47,101 to £65,900  8.50%  4.25%  

6  £65,901 to £93,400  9.90%  4.95%  

7  £93,401 to £110,000  10.50%  5.25%  

8  £100,001 to £165,000  11.40%  5.70%  

9  £165,001 or more  12.50%  6.25%  

 
 

73. Teachers are entitled to join the Teachers’ Pensions scheme. As the Teachers Pensions 
scheme is operated externally further information can be found on 
www.teacherspensions.co.uk. 

 
74. The Council’s current published statement relating to pensions was agreed by the 

Cabinet on 12th June 2014 for implementation in 30th June 2014. The way redundancy 
payments are calculated was agreed by Cabinet on 26th January 2015 as part of the 
Voluntary Redundancy Policy, and is detailed below in paragraph 75. 

 
 
EXIT (REDUNDANCY/SEVERANCE) PAYMENTS 
 

Page 1513

http://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/


14 

Voluntary Severance Scheme 
 

75. The Voluntary Redundancy Policy provides details of the position on making 
discretionary payments on early termination of employment under Regulation 7 of the 
Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2006. The policy also provides details of the Council’s 
policy on increasing an employee’s total pension scheme membership and on awarding 
additional pension under Regulation 66 of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Administration) Regulations 2008.  

 
76. The arrangements set out in the document referred to in paragraph 73 apply to Chief 

Officers and all other employees of the Council irrespective of grade or status. The most 
relevant sections are detailed below: 

 
(i)     The power to pay lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks - the Council’s 

policy for utilising this discretion is that the statutory redundancy table is multiplied 
by a factor of 1.5 subject to a maximum of 45 weeks from 3rd April 2015. 

 
(ii)  The power to Increase a Statutory Redundancy Payment – the Council’s policy 

for utilising this discretion is that redundancy payments to be based on actual 
week’s pay up to a maximum of £571 per week (at 6th April 2022) or actual pay 
whichever is the lesser. The maximum figure to be adjusted by the statutory 
amount for a week’s pay, as announced annually by the Department of Business 
Innovation and Skills.  The maximum redundancy payable is therefore £25,695. 
 

77. The policy effective since 5 April 2015 was been amended to take account of the 
decision of an Employment Appeal Tribunal (EAT) in the case of University of 
Sunderland v Drossou (13 June 2017). The EAT ruled that employer’s pension 
contributions should be included in the calculation of a week’s pay for calculations made 
under the Employment Rights Act 1996 (ERA). Sections 220-229 of the ERA set out the 
rules regarding the ‘week’s pay provisions’ and the way a week’s pay is used, which 
includes the calculation of redundancy pay.  

 
78. The EAT held that a week’s pay should include remuneration ‘payable by the employer 

under the contract of employment’ and that this value should not be limited by what the 
employee directly receives. The rationale offered by the EAT was that employer’s 
pension contributions formed part of the overall package of ‘remuneration’ offered to an 
employee in return for their services. The result of this is that, where appropriate, the 
employer’s pension contributions are included in the calculation of weekly pay, subject to 
the £538 maximum. 

 
 

Exit Payment Cap 
 

79. Previous Pay Policy Statements have referred to the potential introduction of a cap on 
 exit payments.  The Restriction of Public Sector Exit Payments Regulations 2020 came 
 into force across the United Kingdom on 4 November 2020, however, in February 
 2021 the UK government issued a Treasury Direction to disapply the regulations in order 
 for a formal revocation to take place. 

Page 1514



15 

80. It is understood that the UK Government may bring forward further proposals in due 
 course. 

 
RE-EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF 

 
81. Since 1st April 2015, the Council has had a policy regarding re-employment of 

employees (at any level) who take voluntary redundancy from the Council which was 
agreed at Cabinet on 26th January 2015. 

 
82. The Council’s agreed policy is that employees requesting voluntary redundancy have to 

agree to the condition that given the Council’s obligation to safeguard public funds, they 
will be precluded from returning to employment (which includes permanent, temporary, 
casual and agency) within the Council (including schools) for a period of 12 months from 
the date of their termination. Casual engagement includes contracts for services. 

83. The Council does not believe that it employs any individual in a manner that seeks to 
avoid tax. 

 
84.   Within the Council, under the pension fund discretionary policies there is generally no 

abatement of pension following re-employment except under the following 
circumstances:  

  
(i) Where a person has been awarded compensatory added years (CAY's) under the 

LGPS Compensation Regulations the pension may be abated. This is a 
requirement of the compensation regulations, but these will be historical cases as 
CAY's can no longer be granted.  

 
(ii) Where a person has retired under tier 1 ill health provisions and is subsequently re-

employed. This is because the certification for tier 1 supposes that the person is 
permanently unfit for all work. Other tiers of ill health or other retirements would not 
lead to abatement on re-employment.  

  
85. Abatement, where it applies, would be based on non betterment that is the pension 

together with the pay in the new employment should not exceed the pay at the point of 
retirement (adjusted for pension increases). Under (i) the abatement would only apply to 
the pension from CAY's.  

 
 

NON GUARANTEED WORKING HOURS 
 

86. In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and guidance on the 
 appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements in the devolved public 
 services in Wales.  These principles and guidance were developed by the Public 
 Services Staff Commission in social partnership with the Welsh Government’s 
 Partnership Council and its sector groups.   

 
87. The Council is committed to the principles determined by Welsh Government which 

 apply to those employees who are employed on a relief, casual or sessional basis.  
 These employees are used in services within the Council where there is either a need 
 to  bring in an additional workforce in order to cover peaks in workload or where the 
 workload is on a one off basis. 

Page 1515



16 

ACCOUNTABILITY AND DECISION MAKING 
 

88. In accordance with the Constitution of the Council the Cabinet are responsible for 
decision making in terms of pay, terms and conditions and redundancy arrangements in 
relation to employees of the Council. The exception to this is that the Employment 
Conditions Committee is responsible for posts at Chief Officer level and above. 

 
89. In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 redundancy packages above £100,000 for 

Chief Officers must be agreed by full Council. The redundancy package includes any 
redundancy payment (from 3 April 2015, statutory redundancy pay of 30 weeks plus an 
additional 15 weeks), contractual notice period and full cost of early release of pension 
(as required under Regulation 68(2) of the Local Government Pension Scheme).   

 
 
REVIEW OF THE POLICY 

 
90. This Pay Policy Statement will be kept under review and developments considered in 

the light of external best practice and legislation. The Pay Policy Statement may also be 
reviewed as part of the Council’s existing Scrutiny arrangements. The Council will 
ensure the Pay Policy Statement is updated on an annual basis in line with the 
requirement of the Localism Act 2011. The annual Pay Policy Statement will be 
submitted to Cabinet, and then full Council by March of each year.   

 
91. In line with legislation, this Pay Policy Statement will be reviewed and updated on an 

annual basis for consideration and agreement by full Council, with the next Pay Policy 
Statement to be in place for the 2023/24 financial year.  

 

 
 
 

Page 1516



SCP

Job Evaluation  
Scores (GLPC 

scheme)
FTE 

SALARY MONTHLY

HOURLY       
(National Living 

Wage £8.91 
from 

01/04/2021)

Hourly 
Living Wage 
£9.50 from 
01/04/2021 SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY

NJC for Local Government (as at 1st April 2021) £18,329 JNC CHIEF OFFICERS (as at 1st April 2021)

GRADE 1 OM2
1 1 - 247 18333 1527.75 9.50 1 48549 4045.75 25.16

2 51103 4258.59 26.49
GRADE 2 3 53326 4443.84 27.64

2 18516 1543.00 9.60 4 55984 4665.34 29.02
3 18887 1573.92 9.79 5 58646 4887.17 30.40

GRADE 3 OM1
3 18887 1573.92 9.79 1 59322 4943.50 30.75
4 19264 1605.34 9.99 2 62617 5218.09 32.46
5 19650 1637.50 10.19 3 65914 5492.84 34.16
6 20043 1670.25 10.39 4 69030 5752.50 35.78

5 72292 6024.34 37.47
GRADE 4

6 20043 1670.25 10.39 Chief Officer/Assistant Director
7 20444 1703.67 10.60 1 90320 7526.67 46.82
8 20852 1737.67 10.81
9 21269 1772.42 11.02 Chief Digital Officer
11 22129 1844.09 11.47 1 106628 8885.67 55.27

GRADE 5 Director
11 22129 1844.09 11.47 1 132822 11068.50 68.85
12 22571 1880.92 11.70
14 23484 1957.00 12.17 Corporate Director
15 23953 1996.09 12.42 1 143891 11990.92 74.58
17 24920 2076.67 12.92
19 25927 2160.59 13.44

JNC CHIEF EXECUTIVE (as at 1st April 2021)
GRADE 6 Chief Executive

19 25927 2160.59 13.44 1 188166 15680.50 97.53
20 26446 2203.84 13.71
22 27514 2292.84 14.26
23 28226 2352.17 14.63 NATIONAL MINIMUM WAGE (as at 1st April 2021)
24 29174 2431.17 15.12
25 30095 2507.92 15.60 NMW - Point 1 (16 to 17 years of age)

1 8913 742.75 4.62
GRADE 7

25 30095 2507.92 15.60 NMW - Point 2 (18 to 20 years of age)
26 30984 2582.00 16.06 2 12656 1054.67 6.56
27 31895 2657.92 16.53
28 32798 2733.17 17.00 NMW - Point 3 (21 to 24 years of age) 
29 33486 2790.50 17.36 3 16129 1344.08 8.36
30 34373 2864.42 17.82

NMW - Point 4 (25 years and above) 
GRADE 8 4 17190 1432.50 8.91

30 34373 2864.42 17.82
31 35336 2944.67 18.32 Apprentice Rate
32 36371 3030.92 18.85 1 8296 691.33 4.30
33 37568 3130.67 19.47
34 38553 3212.75 19.98

GRADE 9
34 38553 3212.75 19.98
35 39571 3297.59 20.51
36 40578 3381.50 21.03
37 41591 3465.92 21.56

GRADE 10
37 41591 3465.92 21.56
38 42614 3551.17 22.09
39 43570 3630.84 22.58
40 44624 3718.67 23.13

Other 0 0.00 0.00

Salary Scales 

248 - 286

287 - 327

328 - 369

370 - 409

410 - 454

455 - 499

500 - 544

545 - 589

590 +

* SCP 10, 13, 16, 18 & 21  are not in use

Page 1517



TEACHERS (as at 1st September 2021)

Teacher (Main Pay Range) Leadership Pay Range
Daily Rate (195ths)

2 27,491 2290.92 140.98 1 42,934
3 29,699 2474.92 152.30 2 44,008
4 31,987 2665.58 164.04 3 45,107
5 34,506 2875.50 176.95 4 46,230
6 37,974 3164.50 194.74 5 47,381

6 48,571
7 49,877

Teacher (Upper Pay Range) 8 51,029
Daily Rate (195ths) 9 52,302

1 39,368 3280.67 201.89 10 53,646
2 40,827 3402.25 209.37 11 55,038
3 42,333 3527.75 217.09 12 56,307

13 57,714
Unqualified Teacher 14 59,153

Daily Rate (195ths) 15 60,624
1 18,487 1540.58 94.81 16 62,237
2 20,637 1719.75 105.83 17 63,665
3 22,786 1898.83 116.85 18* 64,620
4 24,936 2078.00 127.88 18 65,266
5 27,088 2257.33 138.91 19 66,886
6 29,238 2436.50 149.94 20 68,543

21* 69,544
21 70,240

Leadership Group Range 22 71,984
23 73,766

Min  Max 24* 74,847
Group 1 48,571 64,620 24 75,596
Group 2 51,029 69,544 25 77,474
Group 3 55,038 74,847 26 79,391
Group 4 59,153 80,553 27* 80,553
Group 5 65,266 88,841 27 81,358
Group 6 70,240 97,996 28 83,376
Group 7 75,596 108,035 29 85,441
Group 8 83,376 119,248 30 87,568

31* 88,841
31 89,731

* Scale points to be applied only to head teachers at the top of 32 91,961
the school group range in the academic year 2015/16, indicating 33 94,245
no uplift for 2016/17. 34 96,575
e.g 35* 97,996
Headteacher on Grade 12-18 (moves to sp18 on Sept 2016) 35 98,976
Salary Range £51,127 - £58,677 (no uplift on point 18) 36 101,426

37 103,947
Headteacher on Grade 15-21 (moves to sp18 on Sept 2016) 38 106,520
Salary Range £55,049 - £63,779 (sp18 = £59,264) 39* 108,035

39 109,116
40 111,838

Leading Practitioner Range 41 114,632
42 117,504
43 119,248

1 43,145              2 44,226               3 45,330          
2 44,226              3 45,330               4 46,458          
3 45,330              4 46,458               5 47,615          
4 46,458              5 47,615               6 48,809          
5 47,615              6 48,809               7 50,124          

4 46,458              5 47,615               6 48,809          
5 47,615              6 48,809               7 50,124          
6 48,809              7 50,124               8 51,279          
7 50,124              8 51,279               9 52,560          
8 51,279              9 52,560               10 53,911          

7 50,124              8 51,279               9 52,560          
8 51,279              9 52,560               10 53,911          
9 52,560              10 53,911               11 55,309          

10 53,911              11 55,309               12 56,584          
11 55,309              12 56,584               13 57,998          

10 53,911              11 55,309               12 56,584          
11 55,309              12 56,584               13 57,998          
12 56,584              13 57,998               14 59,444          
13 57,998              14 59,444               15 60,923          
14 59,444              15 60,923               16 62,543          

13 57,998              14 59,444               
14 59,444              15 60,923               
15 60,923              16 62,543               
16 62,543              17 63,979               
17 63,979              18 65,590               

LP10-LP14 LP11-LP15 LP12-LP16

LP06-LP10LP05-LP09LP04-LP08

LP08-LP12 LP09-LP13

LP13-LP17 LP14-LP18

LP07-LP11

LP03-LP07LP01 - LP05 LP02 - LP06

Page 1518



JNC YOUTH AND COMMUNITY (as at 1st September 2020)

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY

Hourly Living 
Wage £9.50 

from 
01/04/2021

CE2 £18,329
05 25313 2109.42 13.12
06 25313 2109.42 13.12
07 27202 2266.83 14.10
08 31152 2596.00 16.15
09 31152 2596.00 16.15
10 36849 3070.75 19.10

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
T00 1

11 23178 1931.50 12.01 T00 HRLY
12 24228 2019.00 12.56 05 19308 1609.00 10.01
13 25313 2109.42 13.12 06 19631 1635.92 10.18
14 26437 2203.08 13.70 07 19922 1660.17 10.33

08 20589 1715.75 10.67
T00 2 09 21439 1786.58 11.11

18 29579 2464.92 15.33 10 22104 1842.00 11.46
19 30364 2530.33 15.74 11 23178 1931.50 12.01
20 31152 2596.00 16.15 12 24228 2019.00 12.56
21 32036 2669.67 16.61 13 25313 2109.42 13.12

14 26437 2203.08 13.70
T00 3 15 27202 2266.83 14.10

20 31152 2596.00 16.15 16 28001 2333.42 14.51
21 32036 2669.67 16.61 17 28787 2398.92 14.92
22 33039 2753.25 17.12 18 29579 2464.92 15.33
23 34015 2834.58 17.63 19 30364 2530.33 15.74

20 31152 2596.00 16.15
T00 4 21 32036 2669.67 16.61

22 33039 2753.25 17.12 22 33039 2753.25 17.12
23 34015 2834.58 17.63 23 34015 2834.58 17.63
24 34997 2916.42 18.14 24 34997 2916.42 18.14
25 35985 2998.75 18.65

T00 4A
24 34997 2916.42 18.14
25 35985 2998.75 18.65
26 36973 3081.08 19.16
27 37961 3163.42 19.68

T00 5
27 37961 3163.42 19.68
28 38961 3246.75 20.19
29 39953 3329.42 20.71
30 40947 3412.25 21.22

Page 1519



SOULBURY (as at 1st September 2021) 

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
EAI AEP

01 37056 3088.00 19.21 01 30694 2557.84 15.91
02 38383 3198.59 19.89 02 31948 2662.34 16.56
03 39637 3303.09 20.54 03 33201 2766.75 17.21
04 40907 3408.92 21.20 04 34448 2870.67 17.86
05 42168 3514.00 21.86
06 43431 3619.25 22.51
07 44758 3729.84 23.20
08 46035 3836.25 23.86 SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
09 47522 3960.17 24.63 EDPSY A
10 48849 4070.75 25.32 01 38865 3238.75 20.14
11 50158 4179.84 26.00 02 40838 3403.17 21.17
12 51425 4285.42 26.65 03 42811 3567.59 22.19
13 52860 4405.00 27.40 04 44782 3731.84 23.21
14 54140 4511.67 28.06 05 46755 3896.25 24.23
15 55553 4629.42 28.79 06 48727 4060.59 25.26
16 56831 4735.92 29.46 07 50584 4215.34 26.22
17 58113 4842.75 30.12 08 52440 4370.00 27.18
18 59371 4947.59 30.77 09 54179 4514.92 28.08
19 60668 5055.67 31.45 10 55921 4660.09 28.99
20 61338 5111.50 31.79 11 57544 4795.34 29.83
21 62626 5218.84 32.46
22 63749 5312.42 33.04
23 64985 5415.42 33.68
24 66093 5507.75 34.26 SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
25 67278 5606.50 34.87 EDPSY B
26 68434 5702.84 35.47 01 48727 4060.59 25.26
27 69616 5801.34 36.08 02 50584 4215.34 26.22
28 70815 5901.25 36.71 03 52440 4370.00 27.18
29 72016 6001.34 37.33 04 54179 4514.92 28.08
30 73215 6101.25 37.95 05 55921 4660.09 28.99
31 74404 6200.34 38.57 06 57544 4795.34 29.83
32 75611 6300.92 39.19 07 58210 4850.84 30.17
33 76819 6401.59 39.82 08 59456 4954.67 30.82
34 78056 6504.67 40.46 09 60690 5057.50 31.46
35 79291 6607.59 41.10 10 61945 5162.09 32.11
36 80560 6713.34 41.76 11 63177 5264.75 32.75
37 81809 6817.42 42.40 12 64431 5369.25 33.40
38 83071 6922.59 43.06
39 84316 7026.34 43.70
40 85561 7130.09 44.35
41 86811 7234.25 45.00
42 88061 7338.42 45.64
43 89309 7442.42 46.29
44 90564 7547.00 46.94
45 91815 7651.25 47.59
46 93069 7755.75 48.24
47 94327 7860.59 48.89
48 95574 7964.50 49.54
49 96825 8068.75 50.19

Page 1520



ALLOWANCES

Single Status Contractual Allowances - NJC 37 Hours

Wage Type £/Hours/Units Comments
1015 £
1020 Units

1253 £

1306 £ SOP Protected Allowance
1324 £
1403 £
1405 £
1421 £
1510 Units
1515 Units
1600 Hours
1605 Hours
1610 £
1615 Units
1620 Hours
1625 £
1630 £
1632 Living Wage Supplement £
1650 £

Single Status Contractual Allowances - JNC Craft/Assoc

Wage Type £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 £

1403 £
1405 £
1510 Units
1515 Units
1600 Hours
1605 Hours
1610 £
1615 Units
1620 Hours
1630 £
1632 Living Wage Supplement £
1634 £
1636 £

Wage Type £/Hours/Units

1253 £

1403 £
1405 £
1510 Units
1515 Units
1630 £

Wage Type £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 £

1403 £
1405 £
1510 Units
1515 Units
1630 £

Contractual Allowances - JNC Youth & Comm   

Wage Type Text

Term Time Only Wks
Term Time Leave Ent Days

Travel Allowance

Protected Allowance
Dress Allowance
Secondment allowance

Tool Allowance 2

Contractual Overtime
Night Allowance
Shift Allowance 10%

Acting Up Allowance

Travel Allowance

Acting Up Allowance

Weekend Work
SEN
First Aid Allowance

AMHP Payment

Contractual Overtime

Term Time Leave Ent Days

Acting Up Allowance

Travel Allowance

Contractual Allowances - Chief Officers

Wage Type Text

First Aid Allowance

Term Time Only Wks

Term Time Leave Ent Days
First Aid Allowance

Standby Duty

Term Time Only Wks

Wage Type Text

Travel Allowance

First Aid Allowance

Tool Allowance 1

Acting Up Allowance

Term Time Leave Ent Days

Weekend Work

Secondment allowance

Secondment allowance

Wage Type Text

Secondment allowance

Term Time Only Wks

Cash Amount.  Payments will be not considered unless the additional 
expenditure exceeds £3.27 per week and payments should continue 
for a period of 1 year from the date of transfer, whichever is the shorter

Cash Amount.  Payments will be not considered unless the additional 
expenditure exceeds £3.27 per week and payments should continue 
for a period of 1 year from the date of transfer, whichever is the shorter
Cash Amount for External Secondment
Cash Amount

Cash Amount £21.81
Cash Amount for External Secondment
Cash Amount

44 Weeks Max
27 or 32 Days
SCP * 1.5
SCP * 1/3
10% of Annual Salary,  amount auto populates

£2808 PA pro rata , amount auto populates

£31.5 per session
SCP * 1/2
£507.12 PA, £42.26 monthly amount auto populates
£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates
Cash amount and only payable for scp 1

Night Allowance
Shift Allowance 10%
Standby Duty

Cash Amount
44 Weeks Max

£31.5 per session
SCP * 1/2
£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates
Cash amount and only payable for scp 1
£189.84 PA, £15.82 monthly amount auto populates

44 Weeks Max
27 or 32 Days
SCP * 1.5
SCP * 1/3
10% of Annual Salary,  amount auto populates

Market Supplement £ Cash Amount
Market Supplement % % of Annual Salary,  amount auto populates

£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates

Cash Amount.  Payments will be not considered unless the additional 
expenditure exceeds £3.03 per week and payments should continue 
for a period of 1 year from the date of transfer, whichever is the shorter

Cash Amount for External Secondment
Cash Amount
44 Weeks Max
34 or 39 Days (Actual AL are 30 or 35)

27 or 32 Days
£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates

Comments

Market Supplement - CS £5000 PA pro rata , amount auto populates

£403.68 PA, £33.64 monthly amount auto populates

Cash Amount.  Payments will be not considered unless the additional 
expenditure exceeds £3.27 per week and payments should continue 
for a period of 1 year from the date of transfer, whichever is the shorter
Cash Amount for External Secondment

Page 1521



Wage Type £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 £

1403 £
1405 £
1510 Units
1515 Units
1630 £

Wage Type £/Hours/Units Comments
1313 Pay Supplement £

1360 £

1375 First Aid - Teachers £

1376 £

1377 £

1378 £

1386 £

1388 £ Cash Amount
1389 Units

Start Date End Date Allowance Min Max
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 SEN - Teacher £2,043 £4,034
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 SEN - Teacher £2,064 £4,075
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 SEN - Teacher £2,085 £4,116
01/09/2017 31/08/2018 SEN - Teacher £2,106 £4,158
01/09/2018 31/08/2019 SEN - Teacher £2,149 £4,242
01/09/2019 31/08/2020 SEN - Teacher £2,209 £4,359
01/09/2020 31/08/2021 SEN - Teacher £2,270 £4,479
01/09/2021 ALN - Teacher £2,310 £4,558
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 1 £7,471 £12,643
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 1 £7,546 £12,770
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 1 £7,622 £12,898
01/09/2017 31/08/2018 TLR 1 £7,699 £13,027
01/09/2018 31/08/2019 TLR 1 £7,853 £13,288
01/09/2019 31/08/2020 TLR 1 £8,069 £13,654
01/09/2020 31/08/2021 TLR 1 £8,291 £14,030
01/09/2021 TLR 1 £8,437 £14,276
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 2 £2,587 £6,322
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 2 £2,613 £6,386
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 2 £2,640 £6,450
01/09/2017 31/08/2018 TLR 2 £2,667 £6,515
01/09/2018 31/08/2019 TLR 2 £2,721 £6,646
01/09/2019 31/08/2020 TLR 2 £2,796 £6,829
01/09/2020 31/08/2021 TLR 2 £2,873 £7,017
01/09/2021 TLR 2 £2,924 £7,140
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 3 £511 £2,551
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 3 £517 £2,577
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 3 £523 £2,603
01/09/2017 31/08/2018 TLR 3 £529 £2,630
01/09/2018 31/08/2019 TLR 3 £540 £2,683
01/09/2019 31/08/2020 TLR 3 £555 £2,757
01/09/2020 31/08/2021 TLR 3 £571 £2,833
01/09/2021 TLR 3 £581 £2,883

Term Time Only Wks
Term Time Leave Ent Days

TLR2

First Aid Allowance

TLR1

SEN - Teacher

Wage Type Text

TLR3

Safeguard Payment

Acting Up Allowance

Contractual Allowances - Teachers   

Travel Allowance

Secondment allowance

Contractual Allowances - Soulbury

Wage Type Text

29 or 34 Days (Actual AL are 25 or 30)
£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates

Cash Amount.  Payments will be not considered unless the additional 
expenditure exceeds £3.03 per week and payments should continue 
for a period of 1 year from the date of transfer, whichever is the shorter

Cash Amount for External Secondment
Cash Amount
44 Weeks Max

Cash Amount - please refer to the minimum and maxium for each 
academic year below

Cash Amount - please refer to the minimum and maxium for each 
academic year below.  
Cash Amount - please refer to the minimum and maxium for each 
academic year below

Fixed term cash amount - requires an end date, lease refer to the 
minimum and maxium for each academic year below

Cash Amount

Fixed term cash amount - normally ends after 3 years

Discretionary Payment HT % % of Annual Salary,  amount auto populates

£189.72 PA, £15.81 monthly amount auto populates

Discretionary Payment HT

Page 1522



Page 1 of 12 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN 
 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE) 

 
AGENDA ITEM:  12  

 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To seek Cabinet approval for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Business Plan 2022-2023. 
 
Background 

 
2. All Local Authorities in Wales have the responsibility to plan for the 

housing needs of their population in their role as a Strategic Housing 
Authority. However only 11 of the 22 authorities in Wales have retained 
their council housing stock and consequently play a role in the direct 
delivery of affordable, good quality homes as a social housing landlord. 
 

3. The Council’s landlord functions are managed within a ring-fenced 
Housing Revenue Account.  
 

4. The 11 stock retaining authorities in Wales are required to present an 
“acceptable” Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (including 
a 30 year financial model) to the Welsh Government each year in order 
that the Welsh Government can assess the progress of local authorities 
towards meeting and/or maintaining the Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
(WHQS) in order to be eligible for the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) 
Grant (currently £9.5m).   
 

5. The Plan must conform to a structure and Business Plan parameters as 
set out by the Welsh Government. 

   
6. This plan also links with the Corporate Plan and Directorate Delivery 

Plan. 
 
Issues 
 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 
 
7. The HRA Business Plan attached in appendix 1 aims to; 
 

 set out Cardiff’s purpose and vision as a social housing landlord; 

 

Page 1523

Agenda Item 12



Page 2 of 12 

 

 set out its objectives and standards for the service; 

 plan how the service aims to achieve the objectives and standards 
set out (the strategies); 

 plan resource and financial requirements; 

 provide a framework for monitoring and evaluating the progress of 
the housing ‘business’; 

 communicate Cardiff’s plans to its tenants, members, the Welsh 
Government, other key stakeholders, partners and the wider 
community. 

 identify the estimated stock and management needs over a 30 year 
period, against forecast resources to demonstrate that the Housing 
Revenue Account remains viable over that period. 

 Detail our development programme, which will deliver in excess of 
4,000 new homes over the next 10 years. 

 
8. The Business Plan ensures; 
 

 efficient use of housing assets; 

 increased transparency of the HRA; 

 precise planning of the Council’s housing management strategy; 
 
9.      The Welsh Government has introduced a five year rent policy which 

provides for a maximum annual uplift of CPI +1% each year from 2020-
21 to 2024-25 using the level of CPI from the previous September each 
year.  The September 2021 CPI was 3.1%. – this was just outside the 
Welsh Government maximum figure of 3% allowed under the five year 
rent policy and therefore required a Ministerial decision. The Minister 
determined the maximum annual uplift would be 3.1%, but landlord 
decisions on rent must also take into account the affordability of rents for 
tenants.   
 

10.  In line with the above policy, it is proposed to increase rents by the full 
amount allowed of 3.1% (September 2021 CPI) for 2022.  The average 
rent for a Council home in Cardiff will increase by £3.34 per week (£3.55 
based on the 49 week collection) exclusive of service charges for 
2022/23.  This results in an average weekly rent of £111.16 for standard 
housing stock.  This approach was agreed at Cabinet on the 24th 
February 2022 following consideration of the affordability and value for 
money of council rents. Cardiff Council rents have been compared 
against the Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) Living Rent model.  This 
model links rents directly to an index of earnings and uses a recognised 
equivalence scale to allow for household income and property size to 
produce a Living Rent which should not be more than 28% of the 
adjusted earnings.   In comparison to the Living Rent model, overall, 
Cardiff rents fall within an affordable level.  
 

11. It is considered that the rent uplifts proposed above will allow for 
obligations to tenants and lenders to be met and help to support the 
financial viability of the Housing Revenue Account whilst ensuring that 
rents remain affordable for current and future tenants.  This level of 

Page 1524



Page 3 of 12 

increase will also allow for the continuation of the Council’s ambitious 
new build plans. 

 
Key Objectives  
 
12. The Business Plan sets out a number of key objectives that align clearly 

with the Council’s Capital Ambition and with the Welsh Government’s 
strategic direction. A summary of these objectives is set out below: 

 
Building new council homes 

 
13. Cardiff Council set a target to deliver 1,000 new homes by December 

2022. We are currently on course to achieve this. To address significant 
levels of housing need in the city including overcrowding, we are now 
expanding our programme significantly. We have implemented an 
ambitious development programme which will deliver in excess of 4,000 
new homes over the next 8 years.  At least 2,800 of these will be council 
homes and 1,200 for sale. Our new build ambitions will see an increase in 
our total housing stock of 20.3% The award-winning programme currently 
represents one of the largest council housing build projects in Wales and 
will see over £800 million invested into delivering affordable homes at 
scale and pace.   

 
14. As of February 2022 the new build programme has delivered 806 homes 

of all tenures which includes 613 council homes and 193 homes for sale.  
A further 522 homes are currently being built on site, 506 homes with 
planning consent in place and a further 1,729 homes in the pipeline. The 
programme currently includes 59 confirmed sites which combined have 
the capability of delivering around 3,600 new homes in total. We continue 
to assess new sites to ensure that the longer-term target of 4,000 new 
homes can be achieved.  

 
15. The programme is reliant on a significant Housing Revenue Account 

(HRA) Capital budget allocation. External income towards costs is also 
available in the form of planning gain, external grants and income from 
the sale of properties for private ownership or through the First Homes 
Cardiff scheme. To date income of just under £31 million has been 
achieved through these routes, including the award of 5 Welsh 
Government Innovative Housing programme grants. 
 

16. From April 2021 onwards, the council has been able to apply for Welsh 
Government Social Housing Grant providing a further Capital subsidy.  
Schemes approved for SHG funding are required to meet the standards 
and viability parameters set by Welsh Government. The Council has 
recently had an in-principle SHG award of £27 million over the next 5 
years. 

 
Investing in existing homes 
 
17. Cardiff Council was the first authority in Wales to declare achievement of     

the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS), almost two months ahead 
of the Welsh Government deadline date of December 2012.  

Page 1525



Page 4 of 12 

 
18. Following the completion of the WHQS for existing council housing, the 

Business Plan ensures the maintenance of the WHQS and sets out the 
Council’s objective to deliver high quality and sustainable housing.  The 
individual component details of every council property are held on a stock 
condition database which includes dates of installation or upgrade with 
associated component lifespan.  This enables planned programmes of 
work to be developed for future works and the setting aside of sufficient 
financial budgets. 
 

19. During 2022/23 more than £19m will be invested in improvements to our 
existing homes, including an extensive kitchen and bathroom 
programme, roof replacements and new doors and windows. The 
programme includes extensive fire safety works including the fitting of 
sprinkler systems in our high-rise flats and fire doors to flats, communal 
landings and stairwells. 
 

20. Recladding of 3 high- rise blocks at Lydstep flats in Llandaff North will 
commence in March 2022 and this will also include new windows and 
balconies. The proposed second phase of this programme includes 
replacement of cladding at Nelson House and Loudoun House in 
Butetown.   
 

21. Repairs to our homes are carried out by our Responsive Repairs Unit. 
The pandemic has put pressure on this service, both due to periods of 
lockdown and the need for both tenants and operatives to self-isolate. 
This has resulted in delays in service.  
 

22. A significant programme of change is planned to the repairs service in 
the coming year. This includes the employment of additional 
maintenance persons to complete minor jobs, freeing our skilled 
tradespeople to carry out more complex work and to ensure a more rapid 
response for tenants. A new Repairs Academy will ensure that we are 
training the operatives of the future and our Repairs Online project will 
introduce a new web-based portal to allow tenants to track their repair 
online. 
 

23. The Business Plan also sets out how Cardiff Council will address fire 
safety issues. The Golden Thread or Welsh Fire Building Safety Passport 
is intended to provide all the information on how to keep a building safe. 
The document contains everything from building drawings, construction 
techniques, materials used and how the building has been designed. 
These details are being completed for any new buildings at present and 
retrospectively completed on our existing high-rise buildings. This work 
will be ongoing throughout 2022/23.  
 

Preventing homelessness and supporting rapid rehousing 
 

24. Supporting the Council’s strategic aim to prevent homelessness and 
where it occurs to make it rare, brief and not repeated, we will work with 
our partners to pilot a rapid rehousing approach to support homeless 
people into permanent accommodation quickly.  We will continue the 

Page 1526



Page 5 of 12 

development of our supported accommodation with the second of our 
family homelessness centres, the Gasworks Site, due to open in the 
spring. The first phase of the Adams Court supported accommodation 
scheme for single homeless people will be finished in the spring with the 
second phase to follow by the autumn / winter of 2022. 

 
Promoting safe and inclusive communities 

 
25. The Local Action Team works to improve neighbourhoods through a 

comprehensive estate management service. The aim in the coming year 
will be to extend the areas covered by the service and to work alongside 
tenants and residents to increase participation, introducing “street 
champions” and supporting gardening clubs. Our Estate Regeneration 
Programme will see schemes delivered in Trowbridge Green, 
Trowbridge, Pentwyn and Ely during 2022. Other smaller scale projects 
are planned throughout the city and include defensible space 
enhancements, boundary walls, on-plot parking better lighting, improved 
footpaths and gulley closures. While the garage improvement 
programme is continuing to be rolled out across the city.  

 
26. The transformational Channel View regeneration project achieved 

planning consent in December 2022 and work will begin on the first 
phase of this £85 million regeneration project in spring 2022. The 
scheme will deliver around 350 sustainable, low carbon homes for the 
local community and well as investing significantly in the local area and 
the Marl park.  

 
Providing warm sustainable homes and moving towards zero carbon 

 
27. We are responding to the ‘One Planet Cardiff’ strategy both by improving 

the energy efficiency of our existing homes and developing high quality 
sustainable new homes.  

 
28. We work to continually improve the Energy Performance rating of all our 

stock, with 96% of homes above the existing WG standard of SAP 65. 
The average for our homes is 72; the Wales national average is 61. The 
plan includes ongoing programmes of work rolling out loft and cavity wall 
insulation across the city with an initial plan to increase the SAP value of 
our properties to 75 on average. 

  
29. Plans are in place to retrofit cladding and to fit photovoltaic panels to all 

remaining low-rise blocks of flats. Costs of phase 1 of this project have 
been included in the Business Plan. In the future, alternative energy 
heating such as ground or air source heat pumps will also be used.  

 
30. We are moving towards Net Zero Carbon housing development by 

utilising on-site renewable technologies and sustainable forms of 
construction such as Passivhaus or enhanced building fabric. This 
approach helps to reduce the carbon impact of the development 
programme and significantly reduce heating and power bills for tenants. 
A number of our projects are leading the way in low-carbon building and 
creating sustainable communities. The Passivhaus scheme on site at 

Page 1527



Page 6 of 12 

Highfields in Heath will deliver 42 new council homes all to the 
Passivhaus standard. This means that all the new homes are highly 
energy efficient, reducing carbon emissions and ensuring heating bills for 
tenants are extremely low.  

 
31. A development of 214 new homes at the former Rumney high school site 

achieves an impressive low-carbon standard. Every home has ground 
source heat pumps, solar PV and battery storage as well as a highly 
performing building fabric and electric vehicle charging points. The 
homes are predicted to be 90% more energy efficient that homes built to 
current building regulations.  
 

Supporting our tenants 
 

32. Providing advice and information to tenants is a key focus of the 
Business Plan. Community Hubs are designed to bring together services, 
share resources and enable integrated investment in better quality 
facilities. Services delivered through the Community Hubs are responsive 
to the needs and priorities of individual neighbourhoods with housing 
services being a key component.  We are working with University Health 
Board to expand our Hub at the Powerhouse in Llanedeyrn to include a 
range of health services.  
 

33. A Welfare Liaison Team is in place to assist and advise tenants with debt 
management and budgeting, minimising the impact of Welfare Reform 
and the cost of living crisis as far as possible.  Advice and Into Work 
assistance is available through the Advice Line, website and in the Hubs 
and tenants are able to access free work skills accredited training 
through Adult Learning. The Tenancy Sustainment team ensures that 
tenants receive the additional help they need to maintain their tenancies 
and prevent unnecessary evictions. 
 

Support for Families and Young People 
 

34. The Business plan includes a commitment to tackling overcrowding and 
proposes to use innovative ways to extend existing buildings and support 
larger families. The Young Persons Accommodation and Support 
Gateway helps care experienced and homeless young people to move 
successfully on to independence. There is a 99% success rate for young 
people though our Training Tenancies pathway. It is proposed to extend 
the scheme during 2022/23. 
 

35. The Plan continues our commitment to the delivery of Community 
Benefits in partnership with our external building contractors. This 
includes the delivery of apprenticeships for people living in Cardiff and 
the volunteering of staff time. The development of a new in-house 
Repairs Academy will provide a clear pathway for young people to learn 
trades through an apprenticeship or traineeship, addressing a growing 
skills shortage. Also, the Onsite Construction Academy is a training, 
experience and employment programme delivered by the Into Work 
Advice Service, working with partners, Further Education colleges and 
employers to deliver training programmes and source work experience, 

Page 1528



Page 7 of 12 

employment and apprenticeship opportunities for job seekers and 
construction diploma students.  

 
      Supporting Older People 
 

36. The plan includes a commitment to improve the housing advice available 
to older people through our Rehousing Solutions team and to continue 
with the upgrade of our existing Community Living Schemes. There are 
also exciting proposals for additional care-ready flats for older people. 
Two new Community Living projects at Maelfa and St. Mellons will 
provide over 100 new older person flats alongside a wide range of 
communal facilities focused on promoting independent living and helping 
to tackle social isolation. Community Living projects at Riverside/Canton 
and Bute Street have been approved through planning – both these 
schemes will commence on site late 2022 and will deliver over 80 flats. 
The Channel View development will also include both Community Living 
and Independent Living accommodation to replace the high rise block.  

 
Consultation  

 
37. A tenants survey was conducted during 2022/23 and 1,302 surveys were 

completed. The survey found that 81% were happy that their property 
met their needs. 80% were satisfied with their local neighbourhood as a 
place to live. 78% were satisfied that their rent provided value for money, 
74% were satisfied with Cardiff Council as their landlord and 75% who 
used the repair service in the past 12 months were satisfied with the 
service.  Comments from the survey will be used to inform service 
development over the coming year. 

 
Scrutiny 
 
38. The draft HRA Business Plan will be presented at Communities and 

Adult Services Scrutiny Committee on 9th March 2022. Any comments 
received will be circulated at the Cabinet meeting. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
39. To comply with the requirement to present the HRA Business Plan to the 

Welsh Government. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
40. The annual update of a Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 

is a requirement of application for the Major Repairs Allowance grant 
(MRA) from Welsh Government and is also a best practice tool used by 
all local authorities and RSL’s to set out aspirations, determine tenant 
and housing need priorities and secure affordability and value for money 
for rent payers.  
 

41. The Business Plan is underpinned by a thirty year financial model which 
sets out estimates of planned Capital and Revenue income and 
expenditure over the period.  This model is intended to be used as a 

Page 1529



Page 8 of 12 

planning and modelling tool forming the basis of the HRA business, to 
safeguard the interests of current and future tenants and other service 
users and to demonstrate the long-term value for money and 
sustainability of the HRA. Any financial deficit and liabilities of the HRA 
are ultimately liabilities of the Council.    
 

42. Given the length of the planning period, assumptions can only be robust 
in the very near term. Short, medium and longer term assumptions are 
based on a number of judgements and assumptions, particularly in 
respect of expenditure forecasts, timing of expenditure, interest rates, 
projected income levels and prices of goods and services.  This results in 
a level of uncertainty and hence risk to the key variables in the model. 
 

43. In particular, there is no certainty with regard to rent uplifts post the 
current WG rent policy and hence limited control over the level of income.  
Should tighter controls be placed on rent policy, the level of commitments 
in respect to capital expenditure and financing costs would have a 
significant impact on the service delivery of the HRA.   
 

44. These risks and assumptions are made even more difficult given the 
uncertainty in respect to inflation, impact of the pandemic and supply 
chain issues. Accordingly, these assumptions are extremely sensitive to 
change, with the business plan including a sensitivity of key variables.  
 

45. The Business plan assumptions include: 
 

 Rent increases in line with the Welsh Government Social Housing 
Rent policy through to 2024/25 and taking account of forward 
indicators for inflation factors (CPI assumed at 3.1% for 2022/23, 
increasing to 3.5% for 2023/24 and reducing down to 3% by 
2024/25)  

 Following the end of the current rent policy term, it is assumed that 
the rent bands remain and that rent uplifts are based on CPI only 
where CPI is up to 3% or at CPI +0.5% where CPI is below 3% – 
this is considered a prudent approach 

 Service charges are increased for future years in line with inflation 
for full cost recovery 

 Void rent loss projections are assumed at 2.01% throughout the 
model 

 Bad debts are assumed to be managed at 1% over the life of the 
plan taking into account the potential impact of Welfare Reform 
and the transfer to Universal Credit but also the various rent 
rescue and support services available to tenants.  

 Consumer and retail price indexes are estimated to be within a 
range of 4.1% and 3% throughout the model 

 The Welsh Government Major Repairs Allowance receivable is 
assumed to remain at previous levels of £9.5 million per annum. 

 
46. The Capital Investment Programme assumes a significant increase in 

additional borrowing to build new housing, investment in disabled 
adaptations and to support investment in the existing stock. This will 
result in additional revenue implications in terms of interest payments 

Page 1530



Page 9 of 12 

and provision of repayment for borrowing, with a significant increase in 
the Capital Financing Budget over the medium to long term.  It is 
essential that the Capital Investment Programme is based on 
deliverability and a sound understanding and modelling of the condition 
of existing housing stock to ensure all future requirements are captured 
as part of a robust and regularly reviewed asset management and 
condition plan. 
 

47. Affordability of additional borrowing is considered as part of the budget 
including consideration of prudential indicators. 
 

48. Where capital investment is proposed, this must be based on informed 
criteria, including viability or payback assessments. This is essential to 
demonstrate value for money, effective use of rent payer funds and to 
mitigate against future risks to the affordability and viability of the HRA. 
There should be a robust governance process that sets out the 
requirements and approval of investment proposals at agreed stages, 
reviews costs before they are incurred and as projects progress as well 
as the effectiveness of delivery of targets.  Value for money should be 
assessed against set benchmarks and to ensure investment is repaid 
over a prudent period having regard to future rent payers. The 
effectiveness of that governance should be reviewed and assessed 
regularly. 
 

49. Consideration will be given to bringing forward future year’s budget to 
allow flexibility to acquire sites and buildings at an earlier stage as part of 
the overall programme.  This must only be after consideration of viability 
and affordability and relevant governance processes.  
 

50. Given the significant uncertainties and risks included in the financial 
modelling, the Business Plan includes a risk assessment setting out a 
number of key variables and any changes in these are likely to 
necessitate a review of priorities both in terms of capital investment and 
for revenue budgets. A robust risk review and monitoring process should 
be set in place to review the HRA risk register specifically and any 
emerging issues that could impact on the viability of the HRA.  This is to 
ensure that the level and quality of service provision to tenants is not 
affected and that the HRA continues to be viable. Where necessary, 
mitigating actions will need to be taken including reducing revenue costs 
or reviewing plans for new build affordable housing programmes and 
other capital expenditure aspirations. 

 

Legal Implications  
 
51. The report recommends approval of a business plan.  There are no direct 

legal implications but the requirement for a plan is set out in the body of 
the report.   Some general legal implications have been set out below. 
 
General 
 

52. The report and business plan refers to a number of proposals.  Legal 
advice should be sought on specific proposals as and when required and 

Page 1531



Page 10 of 12 

prior to implementation.  Any proposals should be carried out in 
accordance with any relevant legislation and the council’s constitution.   
 

53. The decision maker should be satisfied that the proposal is in 
accordance within the financial and budgetary policy.  The decision 
maker should also have regard to, when making its decision, to the 
Council’s wider obligations under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 
2011 and the Welsh Language Standards. 
 

54. The report makes reference to the fact that some proposals are subject 
to receipt of grant money.  The client department will need to be satisfied 
that the Council can comply with any grant conditions attached to the 
funding.  

 
Equality Duty.  
 
55. In considering this matter, the Council must have regard to its public 

sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific 
Welsh public sector duties). This means the Council must give due 
regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance 
equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of 
protected characteristics. The protected characteristics are: age, gender 
reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or 
nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil 
partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – including lack of belief.  
 

56. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty 
Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate how it 
has discharged its duty. 
 

57. An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities 
implications of the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from 
socio-economic disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the 
outcomes of the Equalities Impact Assessment (Appendix 2).  
 
Well Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

58. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places 
a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-
being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, 
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.   
 

59. In discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and published 
well being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving 
the national well being goals.  The well being objectives are set out in 
Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2021-24.  When exercising its functions, the 

Page 1532

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf


Page 11 of 12 

Council is required to take all reasonable steps to meet its well being 
objectives.  This means that the decision makers should consider how 
the proposed decision will contribute towards meeting the well being 
objectives and must be satisfied that all reasonable steps have been 
taken to meet those objectives. 
 

60. The well being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 
‘sustainable development principle’.  This principle requires the Council 
to act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are 
met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs.  Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must 
take account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in 
Wales in the future.  In doing so, the Council must: 
 
 Look to the long term  
 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems  
 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-

being goals  
 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable 

solutions 
 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them 
 

61. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the 
link below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-
generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en  

 
HR Implications 
 
62. There are no HR implications for this report. 
 
Property Implications 
 
63. The acquisition and disposal of property is integral to the HRA 

implementation plan.  As set out in the Corporate Property Strategy 
2021-26, it is vital Economic Development and People and Communities 
have effective business processes in place to identify and secure suitable 
sites that meet the HRA objectives. 
 

64. It will remain critical to align the objectives of the HRA land requirement 
with the SOP programme and any other established strategic land and 
property relevant programmes to ensure all opportunities for site 
acquisition are considered. All Council land declared surplus to service 
requirements will be assessed for HRA consideration through the agreed 
asset management processes.  
 

65. The HRA programme is a key component of the Council’s Capital 
Receipts targets, with land appropriations from the general fund 
comprising a sizable component of each Annual Property Plan. It will be 
necessary for Economic Development and People and Communities to 

Page 1533

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 12 of 12 

engage in regular review of the programme to manage transactional 
matters such as valuations and timescales. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to approve the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan - 2022-2023 for presentation to Welsh Government. 
 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Sarah McGill 
Corporate Director People & 
Communities 
 

4 March 2022 

 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1 - HRA Business Plan 2022-2023 
Appendix 2 - Equality Impact Assessment 
 
The following background papers have been taken into account 
 
 30 Year Business Plan for Welsh Housing Revenue Accounts - Financial 

Model  
 
 

Page 1534



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

1

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan  2022-23

Appendix 1

Page 1535



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

2

Contents

1 Foreword

3	 Delivering	the	Capital	Ambition

4 Building New Council Homes

9	 Number	of	properties	and	availability	during	

2020 – 2021

11	 Typology	of	the	housing	stock

12	 The	Welsh	Housing	Quality	Standard	

and	beyond

20	 Preventing	Homelessness	and	Supporting	a	

Rapid Rehousing Approach

23 Welsh Housing Awards Win

24	 Case	Study

26	 Promoting	Safe	and	Inclusive	Communities

29	 2021	Annual	Tenants	Satisfaction	Survey

34	 Improving	our	neighbourhoods	through	

estate	regeneration

36 Teaming up to clean up

40	 Providing	Warm	Sustainable	Homes	and	

Moving Towards Zero Carbon

46	 Tackling	Poverty	and	Supporting	

People	Into	Work

51	 Supporting	Our	Tenants

57	 Community	Living

60	 Rehousing	Solutions	Team

61	 Improving	our	older	persons	homes

62	 Cardiff’s	‘Age	Friendly’	Community	Hubs

63 Modernising and improving services for 

our tenants

67 Financial Resources & Planning

Page 1536



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

1

Foreword
Councillor Lynda Thorne 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities 

I	am	pleased	to	share	with	you	Cardiff’s	Housing	

Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan for 

2022-2023. 

Housing	need	in	the	city	is	continuing	to	increase	

with	 a	 high	 number	 of	 people	 on	 the	 waiting	

list	 and	 lack	 of	 availability	 of	 private	 rented	

accommodation.	As	Cabinet	Member	for	Housing	

&	 Communities	 I	 am	 committed	 to	 ensuring	

we	 do	 all	 we	 can	 to	 address	 this.	 So	much	 has	

already	been	achieved,	even	with	the	impacts	of	

the	pandemic,	but	 there	 is	 still	more	 to	do.	Our	

ambition	is	to	deliver	4,000	new	homes	of	which	

at	least	2,800	will	be	council	homes.	

We want to ensure that the new homes are of the 

very	highest	quality	 and	 contribute	 towards	 the	

city’s	One	Planet	agenda,	our	new	development	

at	Croft	Street	delivered	carbon	positive	housing	

using	 innovative	 constructions	 methods.	 To	

compliment	this,	we	are	making	improvements	to	

our	existing	stock,	ensuring	our	homes	are	more	

energy	 efficient,	 improving	 insulation	 to	 make	

our homes warmer and installing new renewable 

technology	such	as	solar	panels.	This	will	benefit	

our	 tenants	 by	 reducing	 fuel	 poverty	 and	 also	

our	wider	population,	making	our	housing	more	

sustainable into the future. We have set ourselves 

ambitious	 targets	 in	 order	 to	 achieve	 our	 One	

Planet	pledges	and	plans	are	already	 in	place	to	

accelerate	 programmes	 of	 work	 that	 will	 be	 in	

place prior to next winter.

I	 am	 extremely	 proud	 of	 the	 new	 homes	 that	

we	 have	 delivered	 so	 far	 and	 the	 ambitious	

development	 plans	 we	 have	 for	 the	 future,	

delivering	 not	 only	 excellent	 much	 needed	

housing	but	also	more	attractive	neighbourhoods	

for	 people,	 with	 welcoming	 community	 spaces	

and	better	connectivity	to	public	transport,	shops	

and	local	facilities.

Since	the	pandemic,	the	ability	to	carry	out	repairs	

to	 our	 council	 houses	 has	 at	 times	 been	 very	

limited	due	to	restrictions	imposed	and	the	need	

to ensure our vulnerable tenants were protected.  

The	 workforce	 has	 been	 impacted	 further	 by	

illness	 and	 the	 requirements	 to	 self-isolate.	 	 An	

extensive review of the outstanding repairs has 

been	 carried	 out	 and	 we	 are	 working	 with	 our	

contractors to ensure these are completed in a 

timely	manner.		It	is	hoped	that	during	the	coming	

months,	 our	 operatives	 and	 contractors	 will	 be	

able to complete the outstanding repairs.

Page 1537



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

2

There	has	never	been	a	more	 important	time	to	

ensure	that	we	support	our	tenants,	particularly	

those	who	may	be	experiencing	financial	hardship	

due to the cost of living crisis. We will ensure that 

joined	 up	 advice	 is	 available	 locally	 for	 all	 who	

need	through	our	community	hubs.

We	 will	 continue	 our	 commitment	 to	 prevent	

homelessness	wherever	 possible,	with	 a	 variety	

of schemes to help those in need. For those who 

do	become	homeless,	we	aim	to	ensure	that	their	

homelessness	is	resolved	quickly,	whilst	providing	

good	quality	supported	accommodation	for	those	

who need it most. 

We	are	committed	to	meeting	the	needs	of	older	

people,	supporting	them	to	live	well	in	their	homes	

and	communities.	We	will	do	this	by	building	and	

adapting	homes	to	help	people	stay	independent	

at home for as long as possible and expanding 

our	Community	Living	schemes.	Our	Community	

Hubs	will	continue	to	expand	their	services	with	a	

focus on improving health and wellbeing.

The	 pandemic	 has	 brought	many	 challenges,	 as	

we	now	recover	we	will	ensure	that	more	citizens	

can	 benefit	 from	 the	 housing	 and	 services	 that	

we deliver.

Sarah McGill
Corporate Director People and Communities

Page 1538



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

3

Delivering the Capital Ambition

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan is set within a wider strategic context 
of the overall ambitions of Cardiff Council. The Corporate Plan ‘Delivering the Capital 
Ambition’ 2022-2025 sets out the approach for the medium and longer-term priorities. 
Our services fully contribute to the Capital Ambition objectives which have informed our 
key priorities. 

Business Plan Key Priorities

This Business Plan has been developed based on 

7	key	priorities:

1. Building new council homes

2. Investing	in	existing	homes	and	community	

facilities

3. Preventing	homelessness	and	supporting	a	

rapid rehousing approach

4. Promoting	safe	and	inclusive	communities

5. Providing warm sustainable homes and 

moving	towards	zero	carbon

6. Tacking	poverty	and	supporting	

people	into	work

7. Supporting	our	tenants	

We	also	aim	to	modernise	and	 improve	the	way	

we	deliver	our	services,	to	become	more	efficient	

and	better	value	for	money.	

Page 1539



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

4

Building New Council Homes

Pressure on housing within the city is intense with nearly 8,000 people waiting for social 
housing and private sector rents being beyond the reach of many people. The need to 
develop affordable housing is more important than ever.   

We	 are	 delivering	 an	 exciting	 and	 ambitious	

housing development programme which will 

provide	 more	 than	 4,000	 new	 homes	 of	 the	

highest	quality	in	a	wide	range	of	locations	across	

the	city.	At	least	2,800	of	these	will	be	new	council	

homes	and	1,200	homes	for	sale.	Our	new	build	

ambitions	will	see	an	increase	in	our	total	housing	

stock	of	20.3	%.

This	 award-winning	 programme	 is	 currently	

the largest council housing build programme in 

Wales	and	represents	an	investment	of	over	£800	

million that will deliver both enhanced and new 

communities	where	people	are	proud	to	live.	

Our	 programme	 will	 deliver	 new	 homes	 of	

different	 size	 and	 design,	 all	 built	 to	 meet	 key	

quality	requirements	regardless	of	tenure,	which	

will	meet	a	wide	range	of	identified	housing	needs.		

Our	 aspiration	 to	 build	 new	 homes	 at	 scale	

and	 pace	 directly	 complements	 the	 Welsh	

Government’s	house	building	targets.	

It	 is	 not	 just	 about	 building	 quality	 homes;	

The Eastern High Scheme will 
deliver Zero Carbon Ready 
Residential Development at 
scale. Every home will be highly 
sustainable and energy efficient 
to ensure utility bills are kept low 
for residents.

214 Homes in total including:

• 149	Homes	for	sale

• 15	Homes	for	affordable	rent

• 6 homes for low-cost home 
ownership

• 44	elderly	person	apartments	for	
affordable	rent	in	Community	Living

Page 1540



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

5

access	to	services	and	a	healthy	local	economy	is	

essential	for	safe	and	strong	communities.	Many	

of our new build projects include new mixed-

use	 buildings,	 providing	 state	 of	 the	 art	 and	

sustainable spaces. This includes projects such as 

the	 transformational	Channel	View	regeneration	

scheme or the Waungron Road redevelopment. 

We	are	also	working	with	our	partners	to	design	

and	deliver	a	wide	range	of	regeneration	schemes	

to	improve	services	and	access	to	facilities	within	

our	local	communities.	

How we will meet our new build targets

We	will	meet	our	targets	by	using	different	routes	

for	delivery.	These	include:	

• Cardiff	Living	–	this	is	our	award-winning	

development partnership with Wates 

Residential.	This	programme	includes	27	sites	

and	will	deliver	around	1,500	mixed	tenure	

homes,	of	which	around	700	will	be	council.	

• Additional	build	programme	–	this	currently	

includes 21 development sites which will 

deliver	around	2,000	new	homes	in	total.

• Package	Deals	–	working	with	private	

developers	to	buy	new	build	developments	

once	they	have	been	completed.	

• Buying	property	from	the	market	–	buying	

suitable	homes	for	sale	on	the	market.	Using	

this	route	we	will	target	larger	family	homes	

to help ease overcrowding. 

Progress to date 

As	of	February	2022	the	new	build	programme	has	

delivered	806	homes	of	all	tenures	which	includes	

613	 council	 homes	 and	 193	 homes	 for	 sale.	 	 A	

further	 522	 homes	 are	 currently	 being	 built	 on	

site,	 506	 homes	with	 planning	 consent	 in	 place	

and	 a	 further	 1,729	 homes	 in	 the	 pipeline.	 The	

programme	currently	includes	59	confirmed	sites	

which	combined	have	the	capability	of	delivering	

around	3,600	new	homes	in	total.	We	continue	to	

assess new sites to ensure that the longer-term 

target	of	4,000	new	homes	can	be	achieved.

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

522 Homes on site

12 Homes out to tender

506 Homes 
planning approved

9 Homes in planning

1729 Homes in 
the pipeline

Progress	to	date	against	4,000	homes	target

3,600 Homes

Page 1541



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

6

Our	developments	have	won	a	number	of	national	

awards	including:	

• 2019 Constructing Excellence award winners 

for	Integration	&	Collaboration	

• 2019 What House? Gold winners for the best 

starter home scheme 

• RICS 2020 social Impact awards for a large 

residential	scheme	(Silvervale)	

• Highly	commended	in	the	CIH 2019 Welsh 

Housing Awards for best large development.

CGI of Highfields Development

Aerial shot of Highfields Development

Page 1542



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

7

Funding our new build programme

This	new	build	programme	relies	on	a	significant	

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) capital budget 

allocation.	External	 income	towards	costs	 is	also	

available	 in	 the	 form	 of	 planning	 gain,	 external	

grants	 and	 income	 from	 the	 sale	 of	 properties	

for private ownership or through our FirstHomes 

Cardiff	scheme.	To	date,	income	of	just	under	£31	

million	has	been	achieved	through	these	routes,	

including the award of 5 Welsh Government 

Innovative	Housing	programme	grants.	

From	 April	 2021	 we	 have	 been	 able	 to	 apply	

for	 a	 Welsh	 Government	 Social	 Housing	 Grant	

(SHG),	providing	us	with	a	further	Capital	subsidy.	

Schemes	approved	for	SHG	funding	are	required	

to	 meet	 the	 standards	 and	 viability	 parameters	

set	 by	 Welsh	 Government.	 We	 have	 recently	

had	 an	 in-principle	 SHG	 award	 of	 £27	 million	

over	 the	 next	 5	 years.	 Recently,	 the	 Welsh	

Government have introduced a new design and 

performance	 standard	 called	 Design	 Quality	

Requirements	 (2021)	 (DQR).	DQR	 legislates	 that	

all	new	affordable	homes	that	are	allocated	Welsh	

Government	 funding	 must	 achieve	 an	 energy	

performance	rating	of	SAP	A.

CGI of Eastern High Development

Page 1543



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

8

Onsite Construction Academy 
South-East Wales

In	response	to	the	identified	growing	construction	

skills	shortage	across	the	country,	 in	partnership	

with	 the	 Construction	 Industry	 Training	 Board,	

we	 developed	 ‘The	 Onsite	 Construction	

Academy’.	 The	 three-year	 programme	 is	 funded	

by	 the	 Construction	 Industry	 Training	 Board	

and	delivered	by	 the	Council’s	 Into	Work	Advice	

Service,	 in	 partnership	 with	 Wates	 Residential,	

on	 behalf	 of	 the	 South-East	 and	 Mid	 Wales	

Collaborate	Construction	Framework.	

The	 project	 supports	 both	 jobseekers	 and	

construction	 diploma	 students	 to	 provide	 site-

ready	 candidates	 for	 a	 variety	 of	 construction	

roles.	 Working	 in	 partnership	 with	 employers,	

Youth	 Services	 and	 Further	 Education	 colleges	

enables us to provide a robust programme that 

offers	 both	 training	 and	 on-site	 experience	

to	 better	 prepare	 candidates	 of	 all	 ages	 and	

backgrounds	to	gain	and	sustain	employment.	

The	next	phase	of	the	project	seeks	to	expand	its	

reach	by	further	increasing	its	targeted	provision	

to	support	under-represented	groups.	The	Onsite	

Academy	will	be	able	to	refer	successful	candidates	

into	the	new	inhouse	Repair	Academy,	providing	

an	excellent	pathway	into	our	Responsive	Repairs	

and	Void	Property	Units.

Year 11 school pupils on a visit the Onsite Construction Academy

Page 1544



Number of properties and 
availability during 2020 – 2021
In December 2021 our stock figure was 13,776 homes

Ward Number of properties Properties becoming Void 2021/2022

Adamsdown 137 9

Butetown 623 28

Caerau 1030 48

Canton 169 6

Cathays 65 4

Creigiau	and	St.	Fagans 11 0

Ely 2570 101

Fairwater 1138 48

Gabalfa 193 5

Grangetown 505 33

Heath 80 8

Lisvane 8 0

Llandaff 1 0

Llandaff	North 657 27

Llanishen 625 30

Llanrumney 1351 44

Pentwyn 1158 43

Pentyrch 105 5

Penylan 2 0

Plasnewydd 129 6

Pontprennau	and	Old	St.	Mellons 28 0

Radyr	and	Morganstown 21 0

Rhiwbina 20 1

Riverside 317 15

Rumney 498 27

Splott 717 38

Trowbridge 1103 49

Whitchurch	and	Tongwynlais 515 35

Grand Total 13776 610

The following table shows the 

number	 of	 properties,	 their	

location,	 and	 their	 availability	

during	2021/2022:

P
age 1545



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

10

Council Void (Empty) Properties

The	Void	Management	Unit	 carry	out	 repairs	 to	

our	council	homes	that	become	vacant,	ready	for	

new	 tenants	 to	 move	 in.	 During	 the	 pandemic,	

pressures	around	homelessness	made	it	critically	

important	that	the	service	continued.	

Changes made in response to the pandemic have 

meant	that	services	are	now	fully	digitalised,	with	

reduced	 administration	 and	 travel,	 positively	

impacting	 on	 void	 turnaround	 timescales.	 Our	

Carbon	 footprint	 has	 been	 reduced	 significantly	

as	a	 result	of	 this	 change,	and	 this	also	allowed	

the	 service	 to	 be	 fully	 operational	 throughout	

restrictions	 relating	 to	 Covid.	 The	 Void	

Management	 Unit	 were	 shortlisted	 as	 a	 finalist	

in	 the	Housing	 Innovation	 category	 of	 the	 2021	

Welsh	 Housing	 Awards,	 which	 recognises	 the	

significant	progress	that	has	been	made.

Despite	 the	 challenges	 of	 the	 pandemic,	 the	

percentage	of	our	overall	property	stock	that	are	

empty	 is	 just	1.32%,	remaining	under	 the	target	

of	1.5%.	This	means	that	only	1.27%	of	rent	has	

been	lost	due	to	void	properties.	

In	 January	 2022,	 the	 new	 voids	 contract	

commenced with two external providers. These 

external	 contractors	 now	 work	 across	 the	 city,	

rather	than	in	specific	areas,	alongside	our	directly	

employed	 workforce;	 allowing	 greater	 flexibility	

to	mobilise	the	expanded	workforce	to	any	area.	

Even	though	significant	progress	has	been	made,	

there	 is	 still	 more	 to	 do.	 To	 increase	 flexibility	

within	 the	 service,	 a	 pool	 of	 small	 contractors	

will	be	procured.	This	will	 allow	 for	 small,	 trade	

specific	 businesses	 to	 be	 utilised,	 as	 and	 when	

required,	which	will	 further	 reduce	 the	 number	

of	days	that	properties	are	void.

Council homes on Trenchard Drive

Page 1546



Typology of the housing stock
19

00
19

01
19

02
19

03
19

04
19

05
19

06
19

07
19

08
19

09
19

10
19

11
19

12
19

13
19

14
19

15
19

16
19

17
19

18
19

19
19

20
19

21
19

22
19

23
19

24
19

25
19

26
19

27
19

28
19

29
19

30
19

31
19

32
19

33
19

34
19

35
19

36
19

37
19

38
19

39
19

40
19

41
19

42
19

43
19

44
19

45
19

46
19

47
19

48
19

49
19

50
19

51
19

52
19

53
19

54
19

55
19

56
19

57
19

58
19

59
19

60
19

61
19

62
19

63
19

64
19

65
19

66
19

67
19

68
19

69
19

70
19

71
19

72
19

73
19

74
19

75
19

76
19

77
19

78
19

79
19

80
19

81
19

82
19

83
19

84
19

85
19

86
19

87
19

88
19

89
19

90
19

91
19

92
19

93
19

94
19

95
19

96
19

97
19

98
19

99
20

00
20

01
20

02
20

03
20

04
20

05
20

06
20

07
20

08
20

09
20

10
20

11
20

12
20

13
20

14
20

15
20

16
20

17
20

18
20

19
20

20
20

21
20

22

100
0

200
300
400
500
600

3,126 (1900  - 1944)
4,972 (1945  - 1964)

Detatched 20

Semi-Detatched 3,407 

Terraced 4,611

Flats and Maisonettes 5,738

The	above	graph	shows	a	timeline	of	how	many	properties	have	been	built	during	a	given	year.

5,260 (1965 - 1989)
418 (1990 - Date) Target of 1000  

(by end of 2022)

No plans

The table below shows the different types of properties, the number of those properties, and when they were built:

P
age 1547



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

12

The Welsh Housing Quality 
Standard and beyond
The Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) is derived from the National Housing Strategy 
for Wales, ‘Better Homes for People in Wales’. The Standard was developed by the Welsh 
Government to provide a common target standard for the condition of all housing in Wales. 
The WHQS states that all households should have the opportunity to live in good quality 
homes that are:

In	a	good	state	of	repair.

Safe	and	secure.

Adequately	heated,	fuel	efficient	and	well	insulated.

Contain	up-to-date	kitchens	and	bathrooms.

Well managed. 

Located	in	attractive	and	safe	environments.

As	far	as	possible	suit	the	specific	requirements	of	the	household,	(e.g.	specific	disabilities).

In	September	2012,	Cardiff	was	the	first	council	in	

Wales	to	achieve	a	full	100%	WHQS	accreditation.

The Welsh Government has recognised that the 

standard	 cannot	 always	 be	 reached	 because	 of	

issues	 outside	 of	 our	 control.	 It	 has	 therefore	

introduced the concept of “Acceptable Fails” 

into	the	Welsh	Housing	Quality	Standard	revised	

guidance	 in	 order	 to	 recognise	 legitimate	 areas	

which would restrict a council from reaching 

the	 required	 standard.	 We	 have	 a	 number	 of	

acceptable	fails,	(largely	due	to	resident’s	choice)	

and have implemented measures in order to re-

visit	and	maximise	achievement	of	the	Standard.	

There	are	four	elements:

Cost	of	remedy	

Timing	of	remedy

Resident’s	choice

Physical	constraint

Page 1548



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

13

When	 properties	 become	 vacant,	 we	 review	

their	standard	to	ensure	compliance.	Our	Tenant	

Participation	 Team	 encourage	 and	 support	

tenants	to	work	with	us	and	allow	us	access	to	the	

properties	so	we	can	upgrade	them	as	needed	so	

the	property	can	be	brought	up	to	standard.

In	 2018	 we	 engaged	 independent	 surveying	

consultants	 to	 carry	 out	 WHQS	 audit	 checks;	

98.7%	of	properties	 inspected	were	found	to	be	

compliant.

Welsh Housing Quality Standard 
Attainment tracker

The	 table	 below	 shows	 the	 areas	 that	WHQS	 is	

measured against and what percentage of the 

properties	met	the	standard.	The	‘tick’	represents	

fully	 compliant	 with	 only	 acceptable	 fails	 as	

detailed above.

WHQS Standard Achieved 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 - Date

Roofs

Windows 97% 99% 99% 100%

External	Doors 93% 98% 100%

Door	Entry	Systems 99% 100%

Kitchens 23% 26% 43% 71% 100%

Bathrooms 24% 28% 44% 72% 100%

Energy	Efficiency	Pass 0% 0% 48% 52% 100%

Central	Heating 100%

Electrical	Systems 0% 0% 50% 73% 100%

Smoke	Detectors 99% 99% 98% 100%

Environmental	Works 51% 52% 67% 79% 100%

Page 1549



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

14

WQHS Review by Wales Audit Office

As	 part	 of	 their	 performance	 audit	 programme,	

the	 Welsh	 Audit	 Office	 (WAO)	 reviewed	 our	

arrangements	to	maintain	the	WHQS	in	2018.	

The review sought to determine whether we have 

effective	 arrangements	 in	 place	 to	 enable	 us	 to	

maintain	 the	WHQS	and	address	 the	number	of	

acceptable fails.

The	 auditors	 carried	out	 fieldwork	 and	undertook	

document	 reviews,	 interviewed	 a	 number	 of	 key	

officers	and	members,	and	ran	focus	groups	with	a	

sample	of	frontline	staff.	The	auditor	concluded	that	

we	met	the	WHQS	in	2012,	and	our	arrangements	

to	maintain	compliance	with	the	WHQS	are	effective	

and	 make	 a	 positive	 difference	 to	 tenants’	 lives.	

WAO	came	to	this	conclusion	because:

 D Our	approach	to	the	WHQS	is	well-integrated	

into	our	strategic	housing	function.

 D We	 have	 comprehensive	 information	 on	 the	

condition	of	the	whole	of	our	housing	stock	to	

direct	investment	priorities.

 D A	 financed	 and	 deliverable	 programme	 is	

in place for the repair and improvement 

of	 our	 housing	 stock,	 including	 addressing	

acceptable fails.

 D We	have	effective	arrangements	to	monitor	and	

scrutinise	our	progress	to	maintain	the	WHQS	

and have learnt from our progress to date.

 D We have a strong customer-care focus to the 

way	we	interact	with	our	tenants.

 D Our	 integrated	 approach	 to	 the	 WHQS	 is	

making	a	positive	difference	to	the	lives	of	our	

housing tenants.

We	 have	 robust,	 comprehensive,	 and	 wide-

ranging	plans	in	place	to	support	our	ambitions	in	

maintaining	our	achievements	against	the	WHQS.	

These include the annual Housing Revenue 

Account	 (HRA)	business	plans	and	annual	WHQS	

Compliance Policies. There is clear evidence in 

these	plans	of	the	position	and	compliance	against	

the	Standard.

Page 1550



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

15

Maintaining WHQS Compliance

Understanding	our	housing	stock

Our	stock	condition	database	provides	details	of	

the	 improvements	 carried	 out	 to	 each	 property	

or	 blocks	 of	 flats/maisonettes.	 This	 provides	

more accurate forecasts and will allow for the 

programmed	 works	 to	 be	 planned,	 costed,	 and	

tendered	 accordingly.	 We	 will	 seek	 to	 achieve	

value	 for	 money	 in	 all	 aspects	 of	 our	 planned	

maintenance programme.

Our	30	Year	Plan

The	 30-year	 plan	 incorporates	 life	 cycles	 of	

property	 elements	 such	 as	 roof	 upgrades	 and	

budgetary	commitments.	Due	to	the	high	amount	

of	work	completed	on	properties	in	the	run	up	to	

becoming	 WHQS	 compliant,	 a	 large	 number	 of	

elements will become due for renewal in a short 

space	of	time.	To	ease	the	impact	on	budget	and	

improve	 efficiency	 of	 renewal,	 the	 30-year	 plan	

goes through a smoothing process to ensure less 

peaks	in	both	cost	and	volume	of	work	required.

Now	that	we	have	met	the	WHQS,	it	is	important	

to ensure it is maintained and investments are 

planned	accordingly.	The	level	of	actual	investment	

required	 will	 vary	 annually	 and	 consequently	

detailed	 programmes	 of	 work	 will	 require	

adjustment	on	a	yearly	basis.	

5 Years 10 Years 15 Years 20 Years 25 Years 30 Years 35 Years 40 Years

W
irin

g S
yst

ems £
1.3
k

Bathroom £1
k

W
indows £

2.5
k

Sm
oke

 Alarm
s £

250

Painting £
40
0

Boile
r £
3k

Doors 
£1
.5kDoor E

ntry
 Sy

ste
ms £

5k

Kitc
hen

 £5
k

Roof £
7k

High Rise 
Upgrades:	

£7.5m

Kitchen & 
Bathroom:	

£2.5m

Roof	(Houses):	
£2m

Energy	
Efficiency:

 £1.5m

Boilers:
£1.5m

Roof 
(Flats):
 £1m

Windows 
&	Doors:

 £1m

Front door 
(Flats):
 £550k

Rewires:
£500k

Reduce	Over	
Crowding:

 £250k

Fencing:
£250k

Structural	
Works:
 £250k

Door	Entry:
 £200k

Contingency:
 £250k

BISF:
£50k

CCTV:
 £200k

Sheltered	
Accommodation	
Improvement:

 £200k

Planned 
improvements 

in 2022/2023

Page 1551



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

16

The	Business	Plan	includes	a	provision	for	kitchens	

and bathrooms that are deemed as acceptable 

fails,	 e.g.	 tenant	 refusal.	 These	 will	 be	 improved	

as	 properties	 become	 vacant	 or	 tenants	 change	

their minds. 

Sustainability

We	 work	 in	 partnership	 with	 suppliers	 and	

contractors	 to	 acquire	 the	 best	 quality	materials	

for the best value. We ensure that environmental 

criteria are used in the awarding of contracts. 

When	 assessing	 value,	 we	 consider	 the	 whole	

life	 cycle	 of	 a	 material,	 including	 installation,	

maintenance,	 and	 final	 disposal.	 We	 will	 source	

green	 energy	 wherever	 possible	 and	 consider	

suppliers’	 environmental	 credentials.	 This	 means	

that	 the	 cheapest	 product	 does	 not	 necessarily	

deliver the best value. 

Building Safety

Welsh Fire Building Passport

Following	the	tragic	Grenfell	Tower	fire	on	14th	June	

2017,	and	subsequent	report	by	Dame	Judith	Hackitt,	

it	was	identified	that	there	was	a	lack	of	information	

being	passed	from	design	to	construction	and	from	

construction	to	end	users	of	the	building.

The	report	describes	 this	 ‘golden	 thread’	as	“both	

the	 information	 that	 allows	 you	 to	 understand	 a	

building	 and	 the	 steps	 needed	 to	 keep	 both	 the	

building	and	people	safe,	now	and	in	the	future”.

The	Golden	Thread,	or	Welsh	Fire	Building	Safety	

Passport,	provides:

• Information	about	a	building	that	allows	

someone	to	understand	its	physical	aspects	

and	how	to	keep	it	in	safe	working	order.

• Information	management	systems	to	ensure	

that	the	information	is	accurate,	up	to	date,	

easily	understandable,	and	can	be	accessed	

by	those	who	need	it.

• An	extended	fire	safety	protocol	that	

ensures	best	practice.	This	will	be	available	

not	just	to	fire	professionals	but	will	also	

include	relevant	and	interested	parties.	Key	

information	about	a	building	will	be	relayed	

through	a	chain	of	stakeholders.	This	will	

include	architects,	fire	engineers,	building	

safety	managers,	tenants	and	leaseholders.

Page 1552



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

17

The	 document	will	 contain	 information	 including	

building	 drawings,	 construction	 techniques,	

materials used and how the building has been 

designed. These details are being completed 

for	 any	 new	 buildings	 at	 present	 and	 are	 being	

retrospectively	completed	on	any	high-rise	existing	

building	over	18	metres	high.	This	will	ensure	that	

clear	 information	 is	 available	 about	 the	 building,		

any	 defects	 and	 what	 is	 needed	 to	 rectify	 the	

defects as well as how the building is being used 

and its users.

Fire	Safety

At	 present	we	 are	 compiling	 further	 information	

on	 our	 high-rise	 blocks	 including	 drawings	 and	

structural	details	of	walls,	floors,	roofs	etc.		

To	further	improve	our	flats	for	fire	safety	we	are	

currently	installing:

• Sprinklers	to	each	individual	high-rise	flat.

• New	fire	doors	to	flats,	communal	landings	

and stairwells.

We	carry	out	regular	fire	drills	with	South	Wales	

Fire and Rescue service for the high-rise buildings 

and	complete	fire	safety	risk	assessments	 for	all	

of	our	flats.	We	have	written	to	all	high-rise	flat	

tenants,	 so	we	are	aware	of	 any	 that	may	need	

assistance	 in	 an	 emergency.	 These	 details	 are	

available	 to	 the	 fire	 service	 24/7	 via	 our	 Cardiff	

Alarm	 Receiving	 Centre,	 should	 there	 be	 an	

emergency.

Replacing	the	cladding	on	our	high-rise	blocks

Following	 the	 Grenfell	 Tragedy,	 we	 carried	 out	

an	 analysis	 of	 the	 cladding	 that	 we	 had	 fitted	

to	our	high-rise	buildings.	 	Even	though	 it	had	a	

relatively	low	combustibility	rate,	it	was	no	longer	

compliant	with	 current	 building	 regulations.	 For	

these reasons we have removed the cladding 

from	 several	 of	 our	 high-rise	 blocks.	Where	 the	

cladding	 is	 still	 in	 place,	we	have	 a	 “waking	fire	

watch”	 24/7	 walking	 the	 building	 to	 ensure	 all	

communal areas are safe.

The	re-cladding	works	to	our	high-rise	blocks	has	

been	split	into	phases.	Work	on	the	first	phase	at	

Lydstep	Flats	will	start	in	Spring	2022.	

Page 1553



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

18

Tenants have been consulted on the colour and 

design	of	the	external	brick	slip	cladding	system.	

This	has	been	fire	tested	and	is	fully	complaint	with	

current	building	regulations.	As	well	as	upgrading	

the	 cladding,	 new	 windows,	 balcony	 doors	 and	

upgraded balconies are also being installed.

The second phase will see the replacement 

of	 cladding	 at	 Nelson	 House	 and	 finally	 the	

removal and replacement of the cladding at 

Loudoun	House.		

Maintaining our Homes

The	Responsive	Repairs	Unit

Our	 Responsive	 Repairs	 Unit	 carry	 out	 repairs	

to	 council	 owned	 domestic	 housing	 stock.	 The	

pandemic has put pressure on the service during 

lockdowns	 when	 operatives	 could	 not	 enter	

tenants’	 properties.	 However,	 our	 staff	 have	

continued	to	provide	a	service	to	tenants	as	well	

as	 work	 on	 extra	 properties	 acquired	 during	

the	 pandemic	 for	 homelessness	 and	 temporary	

accommodation.	

Even	 with	 these	 pressures	 the	 team	 completed	

over	 30,000	 jobs	 between	 April	 and	 December	

2021,	 and	 in	 the	 same	period	 completed	91%	of	

all	emergency	repairs	on	the	first	visit.	Our	internal	

Responsive	 Repairs	 unit	 complete	 approximately	

90%	of	the	works	required.

Our	 team	 is	 undergoing	 some	 transformational	

changes to improve the experience for tenants. A 

pilot	is	underway	to	employ	additional	Maintenance	

Persons,	to	complete	minor	jobs	in	our	properties.	

This	will	allow	our	skilled	tradespeople	more	time	

to	carry	out	the		more	complex	work	and	ensure	a	

more rapid response to tenants. 

To	 improve	customer	 service,	we	are	 introducing	

new	 ways	 for	 tenants	 to	 report	 repairs.	 Once	

operational	 Repairs	 Online,	 a	 web-based	 portal,	

will allow tenants to report and view repairs in 

real	time	via	PC,	mobile	phone	or	laptop.	Through	

Repairs	Online	we	will	also	be	able	to	communicate	

with the tenant about the current status and 

timescale	of	their	repair.

The	team	have	recently	attended	customer	service	

training	 and	 were	 given	 information	 about	 the	

impact on tenants if processes are not followed 

correctly.

2022	will	see	the	introduction	of	the	new	Repairs	

Academy	 which	 will	 provide	 the	 opportunity	 for	

people	 to	 learn	 new	 skills	within	 the	 Responsive	

Repairs	Unit.	 This	will	 ensure	 that	 there	 is	 a	 rich	

pool	of	qualified	operatives	who	can	step	into	our	

trade	 jobs	when	 they	become	vacant,	 helping	 to	

maintaining an excellent standard of service.

Improving	Our	Community	Facilities

Our	 Community	 Hubs	 provide	 a	 wide	 range	

of	 services,	 activities	 and	 events	 in	 the	 heart	

of	 the	 community.	 We	 continue	 to	 enhance	

Page 1554



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

19

our	 community	 buildings	 in	 collaboration	

with partners.

In	 conjunction	 with	 Cardiff	 and	 Vale	 University	

Health	 Board	 works	 are	 ongoing	 at	 our	

Powerhouse Hub to extend the building and the 

range of services delivered. The new Wellbeing 

Hub	in	Llanederyn	is	scheduled	to	open	in	October	

2022 and will feature a full range of health 

services,	 clinics	 and	 advice,	 offering	 a	 ‘true	 one	

stop	approach’.	This	enhances	our	existing	advice	

and support services. 

The Wellbeing Hub will provide the following 

additional	facilities	and	services:

• Community	rooms	and	an	advice	area,	where	

health,	local	authority	and	third	sector	

groups	can	provide	advice,	education	and	

wellbeing services.

• A	range	of	specialised	health	clinics,	including	

nursing,	counselling,	podiatry,	baby	clinics,	

mental	health	services,	support	services	for	

children	and	younger	people,	stop	smoking	

advice,	antenatal	care,	audiology,	and	

heart services.

An	 additional	Wellbeing	 Hub	 is	 planned	 for	 Ely,	

currently	 at	 the	 planning	 stage	 and	 subject	 to	

Welsh	Government	approval.	The	new	facility	has	

a	projected	completion	date	of	2024.

Page 1555



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

20

Preventing Homelessness and Supporting 
a Rapid Rehousing Approach
The Council’s new Housing Support Programme Strategy (2022 - 2026) sets out a new vision 
for addressing homelessness in the city.  The aim is for homelessness to be prevented 
wherever possible, and where it is not possible for homelessness to be rare, brief, and 
not repeated.

As	 the	 largest	 social	 landlord	 in	 the	 city	we	will	

play	a	central	role	in	delivering	this	strategy	and	

continuing	the	exceptional	progress	that	has	been	

made	in	addressing	homelessness	in	the	Cardiff.	

Developing a Rapid Rehousing Approach

To	reduce	the	impact	and	time	spent	in	temporary	

accommodation,	 we	 are	 working	 with	 our	

partners to develop a rapid rehousing approach to 

support individuals and families into permanent 

accommodation	 quickly.	 A	 rapid	 rehousing	 pilot	

has commenced and will inform the development 

of	 our	 Rapid	 Rehousing	 Transition	 Plan	 and	 the	

wider	 roll	out	of	 this	new	approach.	Embedding	

this	approach	will	require	a	full	review	of	how	we	

allocate	our	properties.

Providing good quality temporary and 
supported accommodation

We have made good progress in delivering high 

quality	self-contained	supported	accommodation	

both for single people and families. This includes a 

new	family	homeless	centre		Briardene	in	Gabalfa.	

We	 will	 continue	 to	 improve	 the	 quality	 of	 our	

supported	 accommodation	 for	 families	 with	 a	

further	scheme	planned	at	the	Gas	Works	site	in	

Grangetown.

Supported Accommodation at Briardene, Gabalfa.

Gas Works site, Grangetown - new supported 
accommodation for families.

Page 1556



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

21

Providing Help to the Most Vulnerable

Our	Supported	Accommodation	and	Assessment	

team deliver a range of services to help those 

with	 the	 most	 complex	 needs.	 In	 addition	 to	

providing a wide range of hostel and supported 

accommodation	 the	 team	 also	 co-ordinate	 the		

Homeless	 Multi-Disciplinary	 Team	 and	 manage	

the	 Single	 Homeless	 Assessment	 Centre	 at	

Hayes	Place	

The	 new	 Single	 Person	 Assessment	 Centre	 is	

the	 first	 point	 of	 contact	 for	 single	 people	with	

complex	needs	that	are	homeless,	including	those	

sleeping rough.

It	 provides	 a	 24-hour	 service,	 with	 a	 multi-

disciplinary	 wellbeing	 assessment	 of	 need	 and	

provides	good	quality	advice	and	information	for	

single	 and	 vulnerable	 people	 in	 the	 city.	 There	

are also self-contained units on site to provide 

emergency	 accommodation	 for	 immediate	

overnight need.

Council	owned	accommodation	units	to	the	rear	of	

the	Assessment	Centre	provide	good	quality	self-

contained	accommodation	that	allow	individuals	

a	period	of	stability	while	their	ongoing	needs	are	

being assessed.

A Multi-disciplinary Approach

Many	of	our	homeless	clients	have	complex	issues	

such	as	mental	health	and	substance	dependency.	

To	 better	 address	 complex	 needs,	 Cardiff’s	

Homelessness	 Multi-Disciplinary	 Team	 (MDT)	

provides	therapeutic	intervention	and	treatment	

to	people	within	our	supported	accommodation.	

The	 team	consists	of	 clinicians	and	practitioners	

Providing the Right Help & Support – the Single 
Homeless Assessment centre at Hayes Place.

Page 1557



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

22

from	different	 organisations	 including	 dedicated	

substance	 misuse	 and	 mental	 health	 workers,	

social	 workers,	 homeless	 nurses,	 a	 probation	

officer,	 and	 provides	 a	 range	 of	 counselling	

services. 

Support	 staff	 are	 also	 trained	 in	 providing	

trauma-informed	services.	While	some	GP	time	is	

provided	as	part	of	the	MDT,	there	is	an	ambition	

to	 increase	 this	 and	 deliver	 GP	 services	 directly	

into our hostels. 

The	 continued	 input	 of	 the	 specialist	 MDT	

is	 having	 a	 real,	 and	 long-lasting,	 impact	 on	

homelessness	 in	Cardiff.	There	are	currently	416	

people engaged in treatment and counselling 

therapy	 whilst	 they	 are	 accessing	 temporary	 or	

supported	 accommodation;	 104	 of	 these	 have	

their own Complex Needs Case Co-ordinator. 

For	 those	 with	 the	 most	 complex	 needs,	

it is recognised that longer-term specialist 

accommodation	 is	 required,	 but	 this	 will	 be	 in	

good-quality,	self-contained	accommodation	that	

can provide a home environment in a supported 

setting.		

We	deliver	a	number	of	good	quality	 supported	

accommodation	 projects	 for	 single	 homeless	

people	including	Ty	Ephraim	Hostel	(formerly	the	

YHA	 hotel),	 and	 Ty	 Casnewydd	 and	 Countisbury	

Avenue	supported	accommodation.

We are also developing a large supported 

accommodation	 scheme	 at	 Adams	 Court	 in	

partnership	with	 United	Welsh	 to	 provide	 good	

quality	 housing	 in	 a	 supported	 setting	 for	 those	

who need a longer period of support.

Housing First

Housing First offers	 people	 with	 complex	 needs	

such as long-term rough sleepers with mainstream 

accommodation	 with	 intensive	 wraparound	

support. 	 It gives	 people	 who	 have	 experienced	

homelessness,	and	have	significant	support	needs	

a stable home from which to rebuild their lives.

Adams Court - supported accommodation for single 
people with high or complex needs.

Page 1558



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

23

Welsh Housing Awards Win

In 2021, our Housing First team won a national award for its outstanding contribution to the 
housing sector in Wales. The team was named Housing Team of the Year in the Chartered 
Institute of Housing’s Welsh Housing Awards. The awards were open to all organisations 
working in housing in any tenure in Wales. Judges looked for evidence of a particular 
project or difficult task that had been tackled well together or how nominees improved 
the performance of their organisation or improved outcomes for tenants and communities. 

The	award	was	for	the	hard	work,	creativity	and	

commitment of our team during the pandemic. 

Prior	to	the	pandemic	the	majority	of	support	was	

delivered	face-to-face,	so	the	team	had	to	adapt	

quickly	to	be	able	to	continue	delivering	support	

in	 line	 with	 social	 distancing	 guidelines.	 They	

began	doorstep	deliveries	for	food	and	essentials	

and provided each client with a mobile phone 

for telephone support. For clients struggling with 

loneliness	and	 isolation	 they	engaged	 in	 socially	

distanced	 activities	 such	 as	 walks	 in	 the	 park	

and	 coffee’s	 outdoors.	 The	 team	also	worked	 in	

partnership	with	the	Multi-Disciplinary	Team	and	

other local services to support clients to access 

additional	support	such	as	telephone	counselling	

and	fast-tracked	substance	misuse	services.	

Our	 team	 also	 worked	 additional	 shifts	 in	 the	

emergency	 hotel	 provision	 set	 up	 for	 rough	

sleepers	 during	 lockdown.	 This	 provided	 the	

opportunity	for	the	team	to	build	a	rapport	with	

residents	 and	 identify	 those	who	would	 benefit	

from the Housing First approach. Following the 

closure	 of	 the	 hotels,	 the	 Housing	 First	 Team	

were	 able	 to	 support	 three	 individuals	 directly	

into	private	rented	properties	in	the	community,	

all of whom are maintaining their tenancies 

successfully	with	support	and	thriving	in	their	own	

homes.	 Despite	 staff	 shortages	 and	 additional	

pressures,	we	were	able	to	support	an	additional	

nine people during the pandemic.

Page 1559



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

24

Case Study

KL is 43 years old and, until this year, had never had his own accommodation. KL spent a 
significant amount of time in prison and has spent many years sleeping rough with some 
short-term stays in hostels around the Cardiff area. KL occasionally made use of cold-
weather provision but usually opted for a tent in the city centre. 

At	 the	 start	 of	 the	 pandemic,	 KL	moved	 into	 Ty	

Ephraim	 and	 began	 receiving	 support	 from	 our	

Outreach	and	Homeless	Multi-Disciplinary	Team.	

KL	 used	 the	 stability	 of	 having	 his	 own	 self-

contained	accommodation,	24-hour	support	and	

three	 meals	 per	 day	 to	 focus	 on	 himself.	 With	

the	 decrease	 in	 income	 from	 street	 begging,	 KL	

decided to accept support to access substance 

misuse services and began receiving telephone 

counselling.	 KL	 was	 referred	 to	 Housing	 First	

and	 began	 receiving	 pre-tenancy	 support	 in	

January	2021.	

Although	 motivated,	 KL	 was	 also	 very	 nervous	

about	having	his	own	property	and	it	was	clear	to	

the	 team	during	 the	pre-tenancy	 support	 phase	

that	KL	would	need	 to	 take	 things	 slowly.	 Initial	

meetings	 involved	 building	 a	 rapport	 with	 KL	

and	discussing	what	support	could	be	offered	by	

Housing First. The Housing First team were able to 

find	a	suitable	property	for	KL	in	his	preferred	area	

of	choice.	With	 lots	of	support	and	reassurance,	

KL	moved	to	the	property	in	March	2021.	

KL	 initially	 had	 issues	 with	 his	 neighbours	 due	

to	 his	 unconventional	 sleeping	 pattern.	 The	

keyworker	 was	 able	 to	 quickly	 intervene	 and	

mediate	 between	 KL,	 the	 landlord	 and	 the	

neighbours.	 With	 KL’s	 permission,	 information	

was	 shared	 with	 his	 neighbours	 about	 his	 time	

spent being homeless and how he had not 

Page 1560



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

25

previously	 managed	 a	 tenancy	 so	 may	 need	 a	

little	more	patience.	KL	bought	some	headphones	

so	 he	 could	 watch	 TV	 during	 the	 night	 without	

causing disturbance. Neighbours would also send 

a	friendly	text	if	they	were	struggling	to	sleep	due	

to	any	noise.	The	neighbours	also	 felt	 reassured	

having direct contact details for Housing First 

staff	to	discuss	any	issues.	

KL	 advised	 he	 benefits	 from	 structured	 support	

and	likes	to	set	clear,	achievable	goals	and	reflect	

on	his	progress.	Before	moving	to	his	new	home,	

KL	 discussed	 with	 his	 keyworker	 how	 his	 first	

goal	was	 to	develop	his	cooking	skills	and	 invite	

his	mother	 round	 for	 a	 Spaghetti	 Bolognaise	 to	

begin	 re-building	 their	 relationship.	 KL	 used	 his	

individual	budget	to	purchase	cooking	utensils	and	

practiced	perfecting	the	dish	with	his	keyworker	

before	 inviting	his	mother	 round	 for	dinner.	KL’s	

mother	expressed	her	pride	at	KL’s	progress	and	

motivation	to	achieve	his	goals.	

KL	 receives	 person-centred	 support	 from	 the	

Housing	 First	 team	 and	 continues	 to	 grow	

and	 gain	 new	 skills.	 KL	 has	 been	 supported	 to	

maximise his income and receives on-going 

support	with	budgeting	and	managing	his	money	

efficiently.	KL	has	begun	taking	greater	care	in	his	

appearance	and	used	his	budgeting	plan	to	save	

towards	 a	 post-lockdown	 haircut,	 paid	 for	 from	

his	 own	 money.	 This	 gave	 KL	 a	 sense	 of	 pride	

and	achievement	and	he	continues	to	set	regular	

goals	with	his	keyworker.

KL cooking his first meal in his new home 

Page 1561



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

26

Community Inclusion 

Many	 events	 were	 held	 for	 our	 tenants	 by	

our	 Community	 Inclusion	 Officers	 and	 Tenant	

Participation	Officers	 in	 2021,	with	 plenty	more	

lined	 up	 in	 2022.	Many	of	 these	 across	 the	 city	

have	 involved	 outdoor	 activities,	 leading	 to	

positive	 impacts	 on	 health	 and	 wellbeing	 while	

taking	place	in	a	Covid-safe	environment.	

More events and targeted Health and Wellbeing 

fun	days	are	planned.	These	will	include	screening	

advice	days,	gentle	exercise	opportunities,	social	

mornings/afternoons,	 and	 lunch	 clubs.	 We	 will	

expand	our	gardening	clubs	and	community	litter	

picks,	working	alongside	our	local	action	team.

Community Volunteering

Our	 Hubs	 and	 Community	 Services	 have	 a	 new	

dedicated	 volunteer	 coordinator,	 with	 the	 aim	

of	 helping,	 encouraging,	 and	 supporting	 local	

tenants	who	wish	to	volunteer	and	participate	in	

community	events	and	local	activities.	

Community Litter Pick

Bute Park Nursery Tour

Launch of the Community Garden with Derek Brockway and the Gardening Club

Promoting Safe and Inclusive Communities

Page 1562



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

27

Tenant Participation

Our	 Tenant	 Participation	 Team	 focuses	 on	

engaging with the tenants and leaseholders of 

Cardiff	Council.	

The	team	consult	regularly	with	our	tenants	and	

leaseholders,	 ensuring	 their	 voice	 is	 heard	 and	

giving	 them	 a	 say	 on	 how	 our	 services	 can	 be	

improved. 

Although the pandemic has brought challenges 

for	 the	 team,	 they	have	continued	 to	deliver	an	

excellent	 service	 to	 the	 tenants	 of	 Cardiff	 and	

have	 arranged	 several	 activities	 and	 events	 to	

bring	communities	together.	These	include:	

• Coffee	mornings,	seasonal	events,	and	

educational	workshops.

• Community	groups	and	the	facilitating	of	

community	gardens	in	local	areas.

• Local	competitions	such	as	“Best	Christmas	

Tree”,	“Best	Halloween	Decorations”	and	

“Best	NHS	Rainbow”.

The team also signpost tenants to services that 

can	 improve	 their	mental	 health	 and	wellbeing,	

which	have	assisted	many	tenants	through	recent	

difficult	times.

Community Events and Activities

Research	 has	 highlighted	 that	 social	 isolation	 is	

comparable	 to	health	 risks	such	as	smoking	and	

alcohol	consumption	in	reducing	life	expectancy.	

Events	 like	 the	 Champions	 Coffee	 Morning	

give	 tenants	 who	 may	 be	 socially	 isolated	 an	

opportunity	to	come	together	and	enjoy	a	sense	

of	community.	

Community	 activities	 run	 by	 the	 team	 are	 a	

great	 opportunity	 for	 tenants	 and	 residents	 to	

learn	 new	 skills	 and	 socialise	with	 one	 another.	

Activities	like	the	Planting	Workshop	in	Butetown	

Pavilion	 have	been	 a	 great	 success	 and	 enjoyed	

by	all	that	attended.

Our	 team	 also	 work	 alongside	 third-party	

organisations	 such	 as	 the	 South	 Wales	 Police	

and	 the	 South	 Wales	 Fire	 Service	 to	 educate	

Community celebrating European Day of Languages 

Page 1563



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

28

tenants	and	residents	by	delivering	informational	

sessions	 and	 fun	 days	 in	 the	 community.	 Most	

recently,	 our	 Tenant	 Participation	 Team	 worked	

alongside	South	Wales	Police	 for	a	 fun	day	at	St	

Mellons Hub.

Future Plans

Events	 planned	 in	 2022	 include	 Cardiff	 Bus	

Tours,	 trips	 for	 tenants	 to	 view	 some	 of	 our	

new	build	housing	and	a	Regeneration	Tour.	The	

team	 will	 also	 be	 hosting	 our	 annual	 Tenants	

Conference and popular Blooming Marvellous 

gardening	 competition.	 Our	 Tenants	 Times	

quarterly	 magazine	 will	 be	 relaunched,	 along	

with	 the	 Tenants	 forums,	 mystery	 shopping	

and	 more	 social	 events	 working	 in	 conjunction	

with	 our	 Community	 Inclusion	 and	 Health	 and	

Wellbeing teams.

South Wales Police fun day – St Mellons Hub Community Lego Engineers fun workshop

Page 1564



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

29

2021 Annual Tenants Satisfaction Survey
Cardiff Research Centre (CRC) was commissioned to undertake research into identifying 
levels of satisfaction and views of our tenants on the current services they receive. 

The	aim	of	the	survey	was	to:

• Find	out	whether	tenants	were	satisfied	with	

the housing services

• Monitor	the	City	of	Cardiff	Council’s	

performance	as	a	landlord,	and

• Find	out	what	improvement’s	tenants	would	

like	to	be	made.

 

The	 survey	 was	 posted	 out	 to	 a	 40%	 random	

sample	(5,293).	Support	was	also	offered	through	

the	Advice	Line	and	 in	our	Hubs	to	complete	the	

survey.	A	total	of	1,300	valid	returns	were	received.	

In	 response	 to	 the	 question	 “Taking	 everything	

into	account,	how	satisfied	are	you	with	our	overall	

performance?”

Over	73%	of	 respondents	were	satisfied	with	the	

overall performance.

In	 	 response	 to	 the	 question	 “How satisfied are you that your rent provides value for money?”,	

almost	four	in	five	(78.1%)	respondents	were	satisfied	that	their	rent	provides	value	for	money,	this	is	

a	slight	drop	on	the	findings	from	the	previous	survey	(81.2%)

Page 1565



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

30

In		response	to	the	question	“How satisfied are you that your rent provides value for money?”,	almost	

four	in	five	(78.1%)	respondents	were	satisfied	that	their	rent	provides	value	for	money,	this	is	a	slight	drop	

on	the	findings	from	the	previous	survey	(81.2%)

In	 response	 to	 the	question	 “If your home needs improvements, 

please tell us what they are?”

Tenants were provided with a list of home improvements and were 

asked	to	identify	from	the	list	which	of	the	improvements	they	felt	

their	home	may	require.	The	most	common	improvement	identified	

by	tenants	was	windows	(32.1%),	this	was	followed	by	Bathrooms	

(28.3%)	and	Kitchens	(26.9%).

No. %

Windows 322 32.1
Bathrooms 284 28.3
Kitchens 270 26.9
Gutters	and	

Downpipes

256 25.5

Doors 240 23.9
Garden 208 20.7
External	Painting 195 19.4
Fencing 160 15.9
Paths 123 12.3
Communal Area 107 10.7
Central	heating 100 10.0
Roof 96 9.6
Cavity	Wall	

Insulation

82 8.2

Electrical	Wiring 79 7.9
Loft	Insulation 43 4.3
Other 158 15.7
Total Respondents 1,004 -

NB. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options

Page 1566



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

31

In	response	to	the	question	“Overall how satisfied are you with the general condition of your property?”

Over	75%	of	respondents	were	satisfied	with	the	general	condition	of	their	property,	this	included	28.9%	

that	were	very	satisfied.	

Tenants	were	provided	with	a	list	of	potential	problems	within	their	local	neighbourhood	and	asked	to	

provide	feedback	on	how	big	a	problem	each	issue	was	within	their	area.	Litter	and	dog	mess	was	by	far	

the	biggest	problem	with	almost	a	half	(47.9%)	citing	this	as	either	a	slight	or	serious	problem.

The	 least	 concerning	 issues	were	with	 abandoned	 or	 burnt-out	 vehicles	with	 91.7%	 saying	 this	was	

not	 a	 problem.	 This	was	 followed	by	 racial	 or	 other	 harassment	 (87.2%)	 and	people	damaging	 your	

property	(86.6%).

Page 1567



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

32

In	response	to	the	question	“Generally how satisfied are you with the way we deal with repairs and 

maintenance?”

75%	 of	 respondents	were	 satisfied	with	 the	way	 their	 repairs	 and	maintenance	 are	 dealt	with,	 this	

included	38.6%	who	were	very	satisfied.	

In	response	to	the	question	“If you’ve had a repair in the last 12 months, how would you rate it?”

Respondents	were	asked	to	think	about	their	last	completed	repair	on	their	property	and	rate	various	

aspects	of	the	work	undertaken,	specifically:

• Being	informed	when	work	will	be	started

• Time	taken	before	work	started

• Speed	with	which	work	was	completed

• Attitude	of	workers

• Overall	quality	of	repair	work

• Keeping dirt and mess to a minimum

Satisfaction	levels	were	highest	regarding	the	attitude	of	workers	with	90.5%	of	respondents	highlighting	

this,	 this	 included	 70.9%	who	were	 very	 satisfied.	 This	was	 followed	 by	 keeping	 dirt	 and	mess	 to	 a	

minimum	(89.0%)	and	being	informed	when	work	will	be	started	(84.0%).

Page 1568



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

33

“How satisfied or dissatisfied are you that we listen to your views and act upon them?”

Almost	two	thirds	(65.6%)	of	respondents	were	satisfied	that	we	listen	to	their	views	and	act	upon	them,	

this	included	25.1%	who	were	very	satisfied.	In	contrast	just	over	one	in	six	(15.4%)	were	dissatisfied.

Page 1569



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

34

Improving our neighbourhoods through 
estate regeneration
Our Estate Regeneration Programme aims to create better and safer places to live. 
Consultation with our tenants and residents is carried out to identify what matters to them 
and to agree plans before improvements are made.

The	 programme	 aims	 to	 tackle	 community	

safety	issues,	lack	of	defensible	space,	boundary	

walls,	 on-plot	 parking,	 better	 lighting,	 improved	

footpaths	gully	closures	and	waste	storage	areas	

for	flats.	Our	overall	aim	is	to	provide	estates	that	

are	safe	and	attractive	places	to	live	in,	as	social	

housing	has	a	unique	and	positive	part	to	play	in	

housing	people	and	helping	communities	thrive.

Improvements	include:

• Work	to	make	homes	more	secure.

• Improving	access	by	removing	trip	hazards	

and providing level access.

• Upgrading	front	and	rear	defensible	space.	

• Improving	courtyard	surface	condition.	

• Installing	purpose-built	bin	stores	to	comply	

with	the	waste	strategy	to	provide	sufficient	

waste	and	recycling	storage	capacity	between	

bin	collections.	

Regeneration works to Taff embankment

Page 1570



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

35

Fire	safety	and	how	the	bins	will	be	used	are	key	

factors	when	designing	bin	stores.	Our	aim	 is	 to	

reduce	 fire	 risk	 by	 providing	 secure	 storage	 for	

waste	 and	 recycling	 and	 positioned	 away	 from	

the	 property	 to	 ensure	 that	 fire	 is	 contained	 in	

the	event	of	bins	being	set	alight.	Improvements	

to	bin	stores	will	increase	recycling	rates	and	limit	

cross	 contamination.	 Cleaner	 courtyards	 and	

separate bin areas will improve the appearance 

of	our	communities,	reducing	fly-tipping	and	anti-

social behaviour.

In	Plasnewydd,	a	scheme	to	introduce	defensible	

space improvements has been delivered.

One-off	 improvements	 to	 address	 specific	

environmental issues are also carried out in 

response	to	requests	from	tenants	and	councillors.	

Estate	 Regeneration	 schemes	 are	 nearing	

completion	in	Bronte	Crescent	/	Arnold	Avenue	in	

Llanrumney	and	Roundwood	in	Llanedeyrn.

Future Plans

• Our	tenants	have	been	consulted	on	schemes	

in	Trowbridge	Green,	Pennsylvania	and	

Lincoln	Court	with	work	programmed	for	

delivery	in	2022.

• In	Ely,	several	environmental	improvements	

have been delivered with future phases 

currently	being	designed	ahead	of	resident	

consultation	in	2022.

Hodges Square, Butetown

Anderson Place, Adamsdown

Page 1571



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

36

Teaming up to clean up
Our Local Action Team works to improve neighbourhoods by 
working with tenants and residents and encouraging them to take 
pride in where they live. 

The	Local	Team	currently	work	with	the	tenants	in	

eight	areas	of	the	city:	

Butetown

Careau

Ely

Fairwater

Llandaff	North

Llanrumney

Tremorfa

Trowbridge

Each	 of	 the	 areas	 has	 an	 Estate	 Coordinator	

working	 within	 the	 community	 to	 manage	 and	

monitor	the	hot-spots	for	fly	tipping.	They	work	in	

partnership with our other services and tenants 

to	 address	 issues	 within	 these	 areas,	 develop	

solutions,	 and	 to	 take	 any	 enforcement	 action	

required.	

Within	 all	 these	 areas	 there	 are	 a	 Local	 Action	

Team	 and	 Local	 Garden	 Team	 who	 work	 in	 the	

community	 to	 help	 tenants	 remove	 rubbish	

and	waste	 from	 their	 gardens	 and	 cut	back	 and	

remove overgrowth.

Lavender	 Grove,	 Fairwater	 –	 Large	 areas	 of	

overgrown	vegetation	were	cut	back,	and	rubbish	

removed	 from	 a	 well-used	 pathway	 for	 easier	

access	 for	 tenants.	 Partnership	 work	 with	 the	

local	school	was	caried	out	and	land	used	by	the	

school was cleared of waste.

Pengam	Green	Allotments,	Tremorfa	–	The	team	

worked	with	the	allotment	volunteers	to	remove	

waste,	vegetation	and	branches	from	a	gulley	that	

bordered the allotments. 

Working together

Roundwood	Community	Action	Day,	Llanedeyrn	

–	 A	 community	 clean-up	 was	 arranged	 with	

volunteers	 from	 the	 estate	 working	 alongside	

our housing teams. Four vehicles made 20 trips 

to the tip and 25 bags of rubbish were collected. 

An information stall was set up for tenants 

to	 learn	 more	 about	 community	 engagement	

opportunities.

We were successful in their bid to the Travis 

Perkins	 Community	 Legacy	 Fund	 and	 with	 this	

funding	are	giving	50	tenants	a	beginner’s	garden	

tool	pack	to	help	maintain	their	gardens.

Page 1572



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

37

Future Plans

More	than	just	providing	cleaner	and	tidier	estates,	

the	Local	Action	Team	want	to	work	alongside	the	

tenants	who	will	 continue	 the	 good	work	when	

the team are no longer there. To increase tenants 

and	residents	to	be	involved	we	plan	to:	

• Working	with	council	departments	and	

partner	organisations	including	Community	

Inclusion	Officers,	Volunteers,	Community	

Hubs,	Tenant	Participation	Teams,	Love	

Where	you	Live	and	other	third	sector	

organisations.

• Develop	and	support	‘street	champions’	as	

part	of	local	volunteering	groups,	promoting	

tenants	to	volunteer	in	their	local	area,	

encouraging pride in their 

area	and	the	work	they,	

as	a	community,	have	

completed.

• Work	alongside	the	

Hubs,	Adult	Learning,	

and other teams to align 

where	there	are	existing	

garden clubs or support 

the	creation	of	new	ones.	

This will help tenants to 

acquire	the	basic	skills	

and	abilities	to	maintain	

their own gardens.

• Work	more	with	schools	to	gain	the	attention	

of	the	younger	generation	so,	from	a	young	

age,	children	learn	to	take	pride	in	where	

they	live	and	want	to	recycle.

• Develop	a	joint	approach	between	Local	

Action	Team	and	the	Waste	Management	

Blitz	Team,	where	the	teams	work	together	

in areas. This will have the maximum impact 

as	both	departments	will	be	working	in	

the	same	areas	simultaneously.	By	working	

together we can have a bigger impact and 

make	greater	improvements	to	the	estates	

than	by	working	alone.

• Extending	the	areas	that	the	Local	Action	

Team cover.

Page 1573



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

38

Caretaking Services

Our	 Caretaking	 Services	 are	 responsible	 for	

the	 caretaking	 and	 cleaning	 of	 communal	 areas	

for	 830	 blocks	 of	 flats,	 high-rise	 blocks,	 and	

Community	 Living	 Complexes.	 The	 team	 also	

support	 tenants	 with	 rubbish	 clearance,	 Jet-

spraying	and	Graffiti	removal.

Managing Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)

As	a	landlord,	we	will	take	firm	action	to	eliminate	

ASB.	We	have	a	dedicated	Anti-social	Behaviour	

Team	that	use	a	victim-led	approach	when	dealing	

with	anti-social	behaviour,	focusing	on	what	really	

matters	to	our	tenants.

Our	ASB	teams:

• Provide	support	to	victims.	

• Work	with	perpetrators	to	help	them	change	

their behaviour. 

• Act	against	perpetrators	who	continue	to	be	

anti-social.

We also recognise that some of our tenants are 

vulnerable and need support to maintain their 

tenancies	and	avoid	ASB.	

Council	action	–	April	2021	to	January	2022:

• Over	490	police	referrals.	

• 2330 new referrals received. 

• 100%	of	urgent	cases	tenants	were	contacted	

within	24	hours.	(Target	95%).	

• 202	cases	investigating	issues	of	drugs	

• 152 urgent cases involving an assault or 

threatening behaviour.

• 100%	of	non-urgent	cases	tenants	

were	contacted	within	7	working	days.	

(Target	95%).	

During	 the	 pandemic	 the	 ASB,	 Tenancy	 and	

Tenancy	 Sustainment	 Teams	 have	 maintained	 a	

service	for	tenants,	working	closely	with	agencies	

such	as	the	Police	and	the	Mental	Health	Services	

to deal with issues within the constraints of the 

pandemic. 

Our	 ASB	 Team	 has	 maintained	 a	 proactive	

approach	 to	 resolving	 anti-social	 behaviour	 and	

engaging	with	 those	who	have	been	affected	by	

it.	We	will	do	everything	we	can	to	work	with	the	

victims	and	perpetrators,	with	eviction	only	ever	

being	the	very	last	resort.	

Community Safety Partnership 

Our	ASB	Team	have	noted	areas	where	 specific,	

more	intensive	work	is	required	to	resolve	issues	

within	 an	 area	 or	 smaller	 community.	 At	 the	

moment	this	approach	is	taking	place	in	identified	

areas	and	has	involved:	

• Local	Lettings	Initiative,	where	a	sensitive	let	

Page 1574



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

39

is put on a whole area where extra criteria 

are	placed	on	an	allocation	of	void	properties.	

• Local	Operational	Groups	are	formed	for	

stakeholders	in	an	area	to	identify	and	

coordinate	work	carried	out	by	each	agency.	

• Joint	work	for	individuals	with	support	

agencies,	police,	and	internal	departments	

such	as	the	Tenancy	Sustainment	Team.

• Proactive	visits	to	tenants	in	an	area	

to	capture	the	issues	that	they	are	

experiencing and engage them to report to 

appropriate agencies.

• Creating	a	strategy	for	use	of	CCTV		for	an	

individual area.

The	 ASB	 Team	 continue	 to	 work	 closely	 with	

Neighbourhood Policing Teams across the 

city	 taking	 a	 shared	 approach	 to	 identifying	

and	 intervening	 with	 community	 safety	 issues	

for	 communities	 and	 resolving	 individual	

concerns	of	ASB.	

The	 ASB	 Team	 have	 a	 positive	 working	

relationship	with	 the	 police’s	 Community	 Safety	

Department,	 their	 Hate	 Crime	 Officers	 and	 ASB	

Coordinators.	 We	 play	 a	 key	 role	 in	 their	 multi	

agency	meetings	as	part	of	the	Community	Safety	

Partnership governance including The Hate Crime 

Forum,	 Problem	 Solving	 Group,	 Quality	 Of	 Life	

Meeting,	as	well	as	the	police’s	ASB	Coordinator	

Group	Meeting.

Page 1575



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

40

Providing Warm Sustainable Homes and 
Moving Towards Zero Carbon
One Planet Cardiff - a strategic response to 
the climate emergency

The	 effects	 of	 climate	 change	 are	 already	

shaping our lives. As greenhouse gas emissions 

have	 increased,	 Cardiff	 has	 experienced	 all	 the	

key	 symptoms	 of	 man-made	 climate	 change,	

including	erratic	weather	patterns,	 air	pollution,	

heatwaves,	and	changes	 in	biodiversity.	This	has	

also come with associated economic and social 

costs	 as	 businesses	 and	 citizens	 have	 struggled	

with	 issues	 like	 flood	 damage,	 poor	 air	 quality	

and	other	interruptions	to	their	daily	lives.

In 2019, Cardiff Council declared a Climate 

Emergency. This means we, as an organisation, 

recognise the challenge and are prepared to 

play our part. Alongside other cities around the 

world, we are committed to taking the action 

needed to prevent climate change becoming 

much worse.

The	 actions	 we	 need	 to	 take	 will	 be	 complex	

and	challenging,	but	the	central	message	is	very	

clear:	we	must	reduce	our	reliance	on	fossil	fuels,	

become	much	more	 efficient	 in	 the	 energy	 that	

we	use,	and	build	our	climate	change	resilience.

We	need	to	deliver	sustainable	new	development,	

but	how	we	manage	and	use	our	existing	buildings	

is one of the biggest areas of impact that can be 

practically	addressed	to	tackle	climate	change.

Decarbonising Our Existing Homes

Under-insulated	 housing	 is	 a	 major	 source	 of	

community	 fuel	 poverty,	 poor	 air	 quality	 and	

energy	 wastage	 across	 the	 city.	 Upscaling	 and	

accelerating	 work	 to	 make	 existing	 homes	

more	 energy	 efficient	 and	 comfortable	 not	 only	

addresses	this	but	could	also	stimulate	new	areas	

for	skills	development	and	employment.	

Page 1576



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

41

Progress to date

Since	2013,	we	have	installed	over	10,200	

energy	 efficiency	 measures	 in	 homes	

across	 Cardiff,	 reducing	 energy	 demand	

by	improving	building	standards.

These	measures	include:

• 1,200+	External	Wall	Insulation.

• 9,000+	Internal	insulation	(i.e.	

loft	and	cavity	insulation)	and	

boiler upgrades.

“A”	 rated,	 energy	 efficient	 boilers	 have	 already	

been	fitted	to	99.8%	of	all	council	properties	and	

in	the	future	we	will	start	to	use	alternative	energy	

heating	such	as	ground	or	air	source	heat	pumps.

Over	cladding	and	solar	panels	fitted	to	date:

• 354	houses	and	145	blocks	have	been	

thermally	over	clad.

• 59	houses	have	received	solar	water	

heating	Panels.

• 107	houses	and	1	block	have	received	Solar	

PV	(electric)	Panels.

We	 have	worked	 to	 continually	 improve	 Energy	

Performance	 Certificate	 (SAP)	 levels	 in	 all	 our	

stock,	with	96%	now	above	the	Welsh	Government	

required	 standard	 of	 SAP	 65.	 The	 average	 SAP	

value	for	our	properties	is	72;	the	Wales	national	

average is 61. 

Every	 effort	 is	 being	 made	 to	 improve	 energy	

efficiency,	 including	 increasing	 the	 amount	

of	 loft	 and	 wall	 insulation.	 There	 are	 ongoing	

programmes	 of	 work	 rolling	 out	 loft	 and	 cavity	

wall	insulation	across	the	city.	Our	initial	intention	

is	 to	raise	 the	SAP	value	of	our	properties	to	75	

on average. 

The Future Challenge

While	 we	 have	 worked	 on	 a	 series	 of	 energy	

efficiency	 improvements	 and	 retrofits	 to	 our	

existing	 stock,	 which	 has	 helped	 to	 reduce	 our	

energy	 consumption	 and	 consequent	 carbon	

emissions,	 we	 recognise	 the	 challenge	 of	 the	

targets	set	in	our	2015	Carbon	Reduction	Strategy	

of	a	5%	per	year	annual	carbon	reduction.

Our	 ultimate	 goal	 is	 in	 line	 with	 the	 Welsh	

Government’s	strategy	to	get	homes	to	SAP	92+	

net	zero	carbon	by	2050,	although	the	cost	of	this	

is challenging. 

Over clad properties in Llanedeyrn

Page 1577



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

42

A	 2021	Wales	 national	 survey	 of	 social	 tenants	

found	 that	 78%	 would	 be	 happy	 to	 have	

substantial	works	carried	out	on	their	properties	

for	the	purpose	of	improving	fuel	efficiency.

Initial Plans

An	 initial	 pilot	 project	 that	 is	 being	 investigated	

and	costed	 is	heating	upgrades	 to	 the	 sheltered	

schemes.	Previous	heating	upgrades	on	communal	

boilers	resulted	in	an	energy	use	reduction	of	54%.	

We are proposing an improvement programme 

of	 works	 which	 will	 include	 fabric	 energy	

efficiency	 measures	 (External	 Wall	 Insulation	 -	

EWI)	 alongside	 renewable	 energy	 generation	

(Photovoltaic	 panels	 -	 PV)	 to	 reduce	 carbon	

emissions	 and	 energy	 consumption	 within	 our	

public	housing	stock	(low	rise	blocks	of	flats).

As	 well	 as	 contributing	 to	 the	 decarbonisation	

agenda,	these	works	will	help	prepare	us	for	the	

anticipated	 increase	 in	 the	 Welsh	 Government	

WHQS	proposed	 EPC	 energy	 rating	 requirement	

of	“A”.	Thermal	over	cladding	to	blocks	of	flats	has	

been	ongoing	for	several	years,	using	both	capital	

funding and Welsh Government funding under 

the	“ARBED”	schemes.	

We	 currently	 have	 892	 low	 rise	 blocks	 of	

flats	 of	 which	 145	 blocks	 have	 already	 been	

thermally	overclad.

Our	 proposal	 is	 to	 retrofit	 (EWI	 &	 PV)	 to	 the	

remaining	 blocks	 by	 2030,	 the	 first	 phase	 of	

this has been costed in to the Business Plan 

financial	model.

Our	 existing	 blocks	 have	 an	 average	 energy	

Bore holes being drilled 
for ground source heat 
pumps in Eastern High 

CGI of solar panels & 
EV charging at Rumney

Page 1578



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

43

efficiency	 rating	 of	 circa	 SAP	 70,	which	 is	 a	 “C”	

rating.	With	 the	 addition	of	 EWI	 and	 renewable	

technologies	 such	 as	 PV,	 along	 with	 the	 de-

carbonisation	 of	 the	 Grid,	 we	 anticipate	 the	

average	block	reaching	an	energy	efficiency	rating	

of	90+	which	is	a	high	“B”	or	low	“A”	rating.

Achieving Net Zero Carbon Development

Our	new	housing	development	programme	does	

not	 just	 deliver	 great	 homes,	 we	 are	 actively	

responding	 to	 the	 ‘One	 Planet	 Cardiff’	 strategy	

by	 rapidly	 moving	 towards	 Net	 Zero	 Carbon	

development.	 We	 do	 this	 by	 utilising	 on-site	

renewable technologies and sustainable forms 

of	construction,	such	as	Passivhaus	or	enhanced	

building fabric. This approach helps to reduce the 

carbon impact of our development programme 

and	 significantly	 reduce	heating	and	power	bills	

for our tenants.

A	 number	 of	 our	 projects	 are	 leading	 the	 way	

in	 low-carbon	 building	 and	 creating	 sustainable	

communities.	 The	 Passivhaus	 scheme	 on-site	 at	

Highfields	 in	 Heath	 will	 deliver	 42	 new	 council	

homes,	all	to	the	Passivhaus	standard.	This	means	

that	all	the	new	homes	are	highly	energy	efficient,	

reducing	carbon	emissions	and	ensuring	heating	

bills	for	tenants	are	extremely	low.	

Our	transformational	Channel	View	regeneration	

project also achieved planning consent in 

December	2021	and	work	will	begin	on	the	first	

phase	 of	 this	 £85	 million	 regeneration	 project	

in spring 2022. The scheme will deliver around 

350	sustainable,	 low	carbon	homes	for	the	 local	

community,	 as	 well	 as	 investing	 significantly	 in	

the	local	area	and	the	Marl	park.	

An	exciting	 low-carbon	council	development	has	

begun	 on	 the	 site	 of	 the	 former	 Rumney	 High	

School	site.	

This scheme is the largest development in our 

Cardiff	 Living	 Programme,	 delivering	 214	 low	

carbon	 mixed	 tenure	 homes	 (70%	 market	 sale	

and	30%	council).	 The	 scheme	 includes	Addison	

House,	 and	 the	 entire	 development	will	meet	 a	

low-carbon	standard;	hugely	reducing	fuel	bills	for	

tenants	and	massively	reducing	carbon	emissions.	

The	innovative	technology	includes:

• Ground source heat pumps. 

CGI of Ferry Pods

Page 1579



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

44

• Heat storage. 

• Solar	PV	panels	and	batteries	for	every	home.

• Car	charging	for	every	home.	

• Average	95%	improvement	against	Building	

Regulations.

• SAP	rating	‘A’.

• Projects	heating/power	bills	of	£398	per	year.

• No gas at all on the site.

The	 entire	 scheme	 will	 act	 as	 an	 ‘energy	 store’	

with	 batteries,	 heat	 storage	 and	 car	 charging.	

Surplus	energy	from	the	grid	can	be	stored,	and	

our	 surplus	 energy	 from	 site	 sold	 to	 the	 grid.	

This	will	not	only	 reduce	our	carbon	output	but	

reduce bills. 

We	have	 received	additional	grant	 funding	 from	

the	 Welsh	 Government	 (Innovative	 Housing	

Partnership	Grant)	of	£3.8	million	and	are	working	

Crofts Street exterior.

Solar array Crofts Street.

Page 1580



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

45

in	 partnership	 with	 Wates	 and	 Sero	 Energy	 to	

manage	the	energy	supply	for	the	site	once	built.	

This	additional	management	will	enable	the	entire	

scheme	to	benefit	from	free	excess	energy	in	the	

grid	to	charge	batteries.	

This	 development	 is	 our	 first	 of	 many	 that	 will	

help	 move	 us	 to	 our	 goal	 of	 building	 net	 zero	

carbon	homes.	Net	zero	carbon	homes	mean:	

• Minimise	energy	demand	–	make	the	building	

as	thermally	efficient	as	possible.

• Only	use	renewable	Energy	–	no	gas,	and	only	

use	sources	of	renewable	electricity.	

• Ensure	the	construction	has	very	high-quality	

control on site. 

• Low	energy	use.	

• Minimise embodied carbon in the 

construction.	

• Offset	carbon	by	using	timber	construction.

Pipeline Innovative Solutions

We	 are	 working	 with	 Beattie	 Passive	 to	

quickly	 increase	 the	 city’s	 supply	 of	 temporary	

accommodation	 with	 new	 high-quality,	 high-

performance homes to cater for homeless families.

Beattie	Passive	are	creating	48	new	modular-build	

one,	 two	 and	 three-bedroom	 flats	 for	 the	 city,	

with	 their	 state-of-the-art	 Haus4	 builds	 at	 the	

Gasworks	 site	 in	 Grangetown,	 that	 will	 provide	

temporary	 homes	 for	 families	 while	 a	 more	

permanent	housing	solution	is	found.	

The	 timber-framed	 units,	 built	 for	 a	 60+	 year	

lifespan,	 are	 manufactured	 off-site	 using	

sustainable	materials	with	a	low	carbon	footprint,	

and	delivered	to	site	 for	 installation.	The	homes	

deliver	high	levels	of	sound,	fire,	flood,	and	radon	

protection.

Page 1581



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

46

Tackling Poverty and 
Supporting People Into Work
Despite Cardiff’s economic renewal over the years, it has the highest number of people 
living in the most deprived communities in Wales. The pandemic has hit the poorest, most 
deprived, and disconnected communities most. In addition, plans to migrate claimants from 
legacy benefits to Universal Credit are planned to commence in the Autumn of 2022, which 
could further impact on tenants’ ability to meet rent and other financial obligations.

Welfare Liaison Team

The	Welfare	Liaison	Team	assists	council	tenants	

with	 income	 maximisation	 and	 budgeting	 and	

debt help. The team provide vital support to 

tenants	struggling	to	meet	their	rent	and	payment	

of arrears.

The team visit tenants in their homes and in 

local	Hubs	to	assist	with	any	financial	issues	and	

support	tenants	with:	

• Advice	and	assistance	to	downsize	to	a	

suitable home.

• Advice	about	the	Benefit	Cap	and	the	

schemes available to help tenants get 

back	to	work.

• Budgeting	and	basic	debt	advice.

• Digital	and	budgeting	support	to	assist	

tenants	on	their	Universal	Credit	journey. 

• Establishing	affordable	repayment	

arrangements	towards	rent,	utilities,	

and debts.

The	 team	has	 team	grown	 in	 line	with	demand,	

helping	 over	 1,800	 tenants	 between	 December	

2020 and November 2021.

Into Work Advice Service Llanrumney Job Fair October 2021

Page 1582



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

47

Through	 joint	 working	 between	 our	 Finance	

Teams	 and	 Welfare	 Liaison	 Team,	 there	 is	 now	

much	greater	emphasis	on:

• Early	intervention	and	prevention.

• Having	an	open	conversation	with	the	tenant	

to	understand	underlying	causes	of	arrears.

• Targeting	support	towards	tenants	facing	

change / crisis.

The number of tenants needing assistance is 

growing,	with	more	tenants	asking	for	help	with	

applying	 for	 benefits,	 budgeting	 and	 decreased	

wages,	emergency	cash	for	gas	and	electricity,	as	

well	as	food	bank	assistance.

Between	April	2021	and	 January	2022	our	 team	

has	achieved:

• Affordable	rent	repayment	plans	

exceeding	£60k

• Applications	for	other	benefits	

exceeding £1.1m

• Applications	for	rent	related	benefits	

exceeding	£60k	

• Budgeting	support	and	savings	on	household	

bills	of	over	£120k

Page 1583



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

48

Our	 Welfare	 Liaison	 Team	 works	 closely	 with	

other council service to ensure tenants receive all 

the	help	they	can,	including:	

Money Advice Team

The	 team	 includes	 generalist	 advisers,	 trainers,	

a	specialist	debt	and	benefit	advisors,	as	well	as	

running	one-off	projects	throughout	the	year	e.g.	

a	veteran	specialist	support	and	energy	projects.	

The	 team	 provide	 a	 wide	 range	 of	 information	

and	advice	to	our	tenants	including:

• Advice	and	Support	on	Welfare	Benefits,	

including	claims	for	Universal	Credit	and	

Council	Tax	Reduction.

• Grants,	discounts,	and	assistance	claiming	

reductions	for	energy	and	utility	tariff.

• Benefit	Health	Checks.	

• Help	with	Debts	and	Budgeting,	to	maximise	

a	customer’s	income	and	manage	debt.

• Foodbank	and	Fuelbank	Vouchers,	and	advice	

on	emergency	financial	assistance.

• Signposting	and	referring	to	numerous	

organisations,	internal	or	external,	for	further	

specialist support.

The	 Money	 Advice	 Team	 operates	 a	 drop-in	

service	6	days	a	week	in	the	Central	Library	Hub,	

ensuring	 customers	 get	 same-day	 advice.	 The	

team	 also	 attend	 19	 different	 locations	 a	week,	

on	 a	 timetabled	 basis.	 These	 locations	 include	

community	Hubs,	Foodbank	Distribution	Centres,	

and	Supported	Accommodation.	The	 team	work	

very	closely	with	Citizens	Advice	and	refer	cases	to	

one another to meet the needs of the customers. 

For	those	that	cannot	access	face-to-face	support,	

or	 prefer	 to	 make	 contact	 in	 other	 ways,	 the	

Advice	 Line	 or	 email	 can	 be	 utilised,	 and	 a	 call	

back	service	can	be	provided.	

Into Work Advice Service 

The	 Into	 Work	 Advice	 Service	 is	 the	 council’s	

internal,	 comprehensive	 employment	 and	 skills	

team.	 Due	 to	 the	 unique	 way	 the	 service	 is	

funded,	 it	 supports	 council	 tenants	 and	 Cardiff	

citizens	right	across	the	city	into	employment	or	

helps	 them	 to	upskill	 in	 their	 current	 roles.	 The	

team provides informal job clubs as well as one-

to-one,	 specialist	 employment	 support	 in	 Hubs	

and	 other	 community	 locations.	 The	 team	 has	

recently	adapted	 to	deliver	 services	virtually	 for	

those	who	prefer	to	access	the	service	in	this	way.	

The service also consists of specialist teams that 

provide	work	skills	and	digital	training,	volunteering	

opportunities,	and	self-employment	advice.

Page 1584



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

49

Adult Community Learning

2022 will see a new and modernised Adult 

Learning	 service.	 Eligible	 council	 tenants	 are	

able	to	access	free	work	skills	accredited	training	

through	 Adult	 Learning.	 The	 team	 offer	 a	 wide	

range of training to meet the needs of the local 

labour	 market,	 ensuring	 training	 reflects	 jobs	

available	in	the	local	area.	With	the	introduction	

of	weekend	 training	and	a	new	hybrid	model	of	

delivery,	tenants	will	be	able	to	access	the	service	

at	a	time	that	is	most	convenient	to	them	either	

online or face-to-face. 

The	 impact	 of	 Covid-19	 has	 further	 highlighted	

the need for digital inclusion support. The Adult 

Learning	 team	 offer	 a	 wide	 range	 of	 digital	

surgeries	 in	 the	 heart	 of	 communities.	 These	

include	 Hubs,	 community	 buildings,	 sheltered	

accommodation	and	supported	accommodation,	

providing	bespoke	digital	support	to	local	citizens.	

In	 addition,	 the	 Adult	 Learning	 team	 manage	

a	 tablet	 gifting	 scheme	 for	 individuals	 who	 are	

socially	isolated,	actively	seeking	employment	or	

looking	 to	 upskill,	 and	 a	 laptop	 loan	 scheme	 to	

support	 Adult	 Learners	 access	 blended	 learning	

opportunities.	

MILES

The	MILES	Youth	Project	 supports	young	people	

aged	 16-24	 in	 Cardiff	 who	 are	 homeless	 or	

experiencing	 housing	 instability.	 The	 Youth	

Employment	 Mentors	 run	 weekly	 drop-ins	 at	

supported	 accommodations	 and	 settings	 across	

the	city	including:

• Northlands

• Ty	Diogel

• Ty	Bronna

• Grassroots

• Ty	Seren

• Ty	Enfys

• YMCA	The	Walk

Page 1585



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

50

• YMCA The Ambassador

• The Huggard

• Ty	Casnewydd

• Ty	Ephraim

• Ty	Gobaith

• Adamscourt

Volunteering as a route into work

The	 Volunteering	 Team,	 part	 of	 our	 Into	 Work	

Advice	Service,	supports	council	tenants	and	other	

citizens	to	secure	volunteering	placements	within	

Cardiff	Council,	 in	particular	Hubs,	Libraries,	and	

the Advice teams. For tenants who do not have 

work	experience	or	work	skills,	lack	confidence	in	

a	workplace	setting,	or	have	 found	 it	difficult	 to	

find	 a	 job,	 then	 volunteering	offers	 an	 excellent	

pathway	into	employment.

Volunteering	 provides	 a	 chance	 to	 help	 others	

and	to	meet	new	people,	all	the	while	increasing	

confidence,	 self-esteem	 and	 the	 opportunity	 to	

become part of a team.  Through volunteering 

placements,	 council	 tenants	 will	 also	 have	 the	

ability	 to	 learn	 new	 skills,	 have	 access	 to	 free	

training,	and	additional	experience	to	put	on	CVs,	

which	can	 increase	the	chances	of	finding	work.	

Job	 references	are	also	given	 to	volunteers	who	

attend	regularly.

During	 April	 2021	 to	 January	 2022,	 over	 100	

people	 regularly	volunteered	within	 the	service,	

resulting	in	over	4,300	volunteer	hours	given.		In	

ten	months	alone,	our	Volunteer	website	has	had	

over	95,000	hits.

Page 1586



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

51

Supporting Our Tenants

Tenancy Support and Sustainment

Our	Tenancy	Team	work	proactively	with	tenants	

providing	 advice	 about	 tenancy	 conditions	 and	

ensuring	 that	 tenants	 receive	 the	 support	 they	

need	to	maintain	their	tenancies.	Tenancy	Officers	

actively	identify	appropriate	support	and	services	

for	tenants,	 liaising	with	agencies	to	ensure	that	

a cohesive approach is provided for dealing with 

vulnerable	tenants	in	the	community.

Our	Tenancy	Sustainment	Team	provides	a	more	

intensive service to tenants that are struggling to 

sustain	their	tenancies	and	are	at	risk	of	tenancy	

enforcement	action.	

Working	with	the	Tenancy	Management	and	Anti-

social	Behaviour	Teams	to	identify	tenants	most	at	

risk	of	 tenancy	 failure,	 the	Tenancy	Sustainment	

Officers	 support	 tenants	 who	 are	 likely	 to	

disengage with our internal services and external 

agencies.	The	team	also	look	at	early	intervention,	

to	stop	tenancy	issues	from	escalating.

The	 team	offers	practical	 solutions	 to	 the	 issues	

that	 tenants	 identify	 through	 working	 with	

specialist teams such as the mental health 

services,	social	services,	police,	and	various	third	

sector	agencies.	A	large	portion	of	this	team’s	work	

is	helping	tenants	who	are	hoarders	by	providing	

practical,	 hands-on	 assistance	 to	 support	 them	

in	 de-cluttering	 their	 homes.	 This	 is	 carried	 out	

at	 the	 tenant’s	 own	 pace	 by	 providing	 regular	

Page 1587



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

52

support,	 whilst	 other	 teams	 are	 kept	 updated	

on	 the	 tenant’s	 progress.	 Reducing	 the	 tenant’s	

hoard	 often	 has	 a	 direct	 impact	 on	 housing	

management	functions	and	repairs.

To ensure that we meet our commitment to not 

evicting	 wherever	 possible,	 we	 have	 invested	

considerable	time	and	 resources	 into	 assuring	 a	

balanced	approach	towards	the	collection	of	rent	

arrears	 which	 will	 satisfy	 both	 the	 Council	 and	

our	 tenants.	Early	 intervention	 is	key	 to	prevent	

evictions.	Our	 officers	work	with	 our	 tenants	 to	

encourage	 payment	 and	 our	 Welfare	 Liaison	

Team	 assists	 our	 tenants	 with	 budgeting,	 debt,	

and	income	maximisation.

This	 new	 approach	 to	 collecting	 rent	 arrears,	

with	the	tenant	at	the	centre	of	the	process,	has	

ensured	that	we	are	working	with	all	services	to	

provide	the	right	support	to	address	the	tenant’s	

needs.	We	also	make	best	use	of	other	funding	to	

help tenants in rent arrears where appropriate. 

Addressing Overcrowding 

Housing	 in	 Cardiff	 is	 under	 significant	 pressure	

from	 demand	 for	 larger	 properties,	 a	 growing	

population,	 and	 increased	 life	 expectancy	

rates. This has resulted in increased levels of 

overcrowding in both social and private housing 

in	the	city.	

Research has shown that a range of health 

problems,	 including	 poor	mental	 health,	 can	 be	

linked	 to	 living	 in	 overcrowded	 conditions	 and	

the	Covid-19	pandemic	has	highlighted	the	issue	

further.	To	fully	understand	the	housing	need	of	

overcrowded	households,	and	the	impact	of	living	

in	an	overcrowded	property,	we	consult	directly	

with tenants to see how we can best assist them. 

Our	Allocation	Policy	prioritises	the	most	severely	

overcrowded	 households,	 however	 we	 want	 to	

do	 more	 to	 tackle	 the	 issue	 and	 explore	 other	

solutions.	

We	 are	 now	 actively	 exploring	 a	 variety	 of	

solutions	including	facilitating	a	move	to	a	larger	

social	housing	property	and	working	 to	mitigate	

the impact of overcrowding where a move is not 

possible.	 Where	 feasible,	 this	 may	 include	 the	

building	of	extensions,	loft	conversions	and	other	

creative	 solutions	 such	 as	 the	 use	 of	 converted	

shipping	containers	in	gardens,	in	which	older	or	

adult children could reside and modular extensions 

to	existing	buildings.	We	are	also	working	closely	

with	our	Housing	Association	partners	to	support	

them	to	reduce	overcrowding	in	their	properties.

Supporting Homeless Families

Our	 new	 Family	 Homeless	 Centre	 at	 Briardene	

is	 providing	 high	 quality	 self-contained	

accommodation	to	 families	with	support	on	site	

and	access	to	wider	services	provided	by	Family	

Help	and	Support,	Flying	Start	and	other	partners.	

Our	second	centre	is	due	to	open	in	Grangetown	at	

Page 1588



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

53

the	Gasworks	site	early	in	2022.This	will	be	larger	

provision	and	will	offer	even	more	support	on	site.	

These	 centres	 will	 be	 key	 to	 our	 new	 rapid	

rehousing	 approach	 to	 homelessness,	 providing	

families	with	the	help	and	support	they	need	to	

move	on	to	more	permanent	accommodation	as	

soon as possible.

Supporting Young People into 
Independence 

The	 Young	 Person	 Gateway	 (YPG)	 launched	 in	

October	 2015	 and	 is	 an	 accommodation	 and	

support	gateway	for	young	people	in	Cardiff	who	

are	threatened	with	homelessness,	or	who	need	

to	move	on	from	care.	The	Gateway	was	set	up	to	

allow	better	partnership	working	between	Housing	

and	Children’s	Services,	ensuring	that,	regardless	

of	 whether	 a	 young	 person	 had	 a	 housing	 or	 a	

Children’s	 Services	 duty,	 their	 accommodation	

options	and	pathways	were	the	same.		

A	range	of	supported	accommodation	is	available	

provided	by	Llamau	and	the	Salvation	Army	using	

council	and	housing	association	properties.

Once	 a	 young	 person	 has	 been	 identified	 as	

being	ready	to	 live	 independently,	 they	attend	a	

training	 session	 which	 covers	 all	 the	 necessary	

information	 around	 managing	 a	 tenancy.	 Once	

training	 is	 complete,	 the	 young	 person	 is	 given	

immediate	priority	on	the	Social	Housing	Waiting	

List.	To	ensure	continuity,	the	young	people	who	

move	 on	 from	 the	 supported	 accommodation	

provision	 continue	 to	 receive	 support	 from	 the	

same	 provider	 for	 12	 months,	 which	 can	 be	

extended	if	necessary.

From	March	2016	–	September	2021,	319	young	

people have been housed through the Training 

Tenancy	scheme.	Of	 these,	only	4	young	people	

have	 been	 unable	 to	 maintain	 their	 tenancies,	

giving	 our	 Tenancy	 Training	 pathway	 a	 99%	

sustainment rate. A result of excellent partnership 

working	 between	 the	 social	 landlords	 and	 third	

sector	partners	in	Cardiff.

The	supported	accommodation	provided	through	

the YPG was expanded in 2021/22 and a further 

expansion is planned for 2022/3 to accommodate 

the	growing	number	of	young	people	moving	on	

from care. 

Representatives of the Gateway Team

Page 1589



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

54

Volunteering for Young People 

Working	 with	 Cardiff	 Commitment,	 we	 have	

created	 a	 new	 Volunteer	 Placement	 Officer	

dedicated	 to	 working	 with	 14-24	 year	 olds.	

They	 will	 work	 with	 employers	 across	 the	 city,	

creating	volunteering	opportunities	within	varied	

employment	 sectors,	 supporting	 individuals	 not	

in	employment,	education,	or	training	to	develop	

vital	work	skills	through	volunteering.	

Child Friendly Community Hubs 

A	children’s	events	programme	will	be	delivered	

in	 the	 Hubs	 to	 support	 our	 tenants’	 children	

and	 young	 people	 through	 the	 winter	 months.	

Wellbeing	 activities	 will	 include	 creative	 writing	

workshops,	 visits	 from	 children’s	 authors,	 and	

mindfulness	 sessions	 to	 help	 young	 people	 feel	

calmer	 and	 learn	 stress-busting	 techniques.	Our	

Hubs service will also be delivering a Reading 

Friends	project	with	young	users	of	the	Huggard	

centre	 for	 young	 people	who	 are	 homeless	 and	

sleeping rough. 

Cardiff’s	 Hubs	 also	 provide	 targeted	 health	 and	

wellbeing resources for children to support them 

to	live	well	with	a	range	of	diagnosed	conditions	

such	 as	 ADHD,	 Autism,	 OCD,	 and	 physical	

disabilities.	In	response	to	the	increased	demand	

for	information	on	these	conditions	all	of	our	Hubs	

have	 purchased	 additional	 resources	 to	 support	

young	 people	 and	 their	 families	 to	 understand	

and manage their health and wellbeing.  

Page 1590



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

55

A	new	Reading	Well	Books	on	Prescription	list	for	

young	adults	will	be	the	fourth	Welsh	Government	

Reading	Well	scheme	to	be	delivered,	and	will	be	

launched	 in	 2022	 and,	 again,	made	 available	 in	

every	Hub	in	Cardiff.

Homework	clubs	are	delivered	from	various	Hubs	

across	the	city	and	include	free	printing	and	access	

to	PC’s.	To	further	enhance	the	experience,	Hubs	

host	Read-Along	clubs	to	assist	with	reading	skills.	

In	conjunction	with	outreach	school	services	we	

will	be	providing	future	homework	assistance.

In	 addition	 to	 the	 2	 Homework	 Clubs	 held	 at	

Butetown	Pavilion	facilitated	by	Women	Connect	

First	and	Ethnic	Youth	Support	Team	(EYST),	which	

are	 proving	 very	 popular,	 there	 is	 a	 Homework	

Club	in	Grangetown	Hub	facilitated	by	ACE.

Supporting Our Older Tenants to Age Well

The	 Cardiff	 Ageing	 Well	 Strategy	

2022 - 2027 sets out how the 

Council	 will	 work	 with	 partners	 to	

support older tenants to live well in 

their	homes	and	 communities.	 The	

strategy	 sets	 out	 several	 principles	

and	 key	 aims	 that	 will	 shape	 and	

inform our service over the next 

five	years.	 Listening	 to	 the	voice	of	

older people is at the heart of the 

strategy,	 services	 should	 empower	

older	 people	 to	 live	 life	 as	 they	

choose,	 providing	 the	 right	 support	 at	 the	 right	

time	to	help	people	retain	their	independence	and	

achieve	their	chosen	outcomes.			A	number	of	key	

commitments	 in	 the	Strategy	are	being	delivered	

by	the	Housing	and	Communities	Team.	

Housing Advice and Assistance for 
Older People 

The	findings	from	a	range	of	research	shows	how	

providing	suitable	older	persons’	housing	can	help	

older people to remain independent for longer. 

We	aim	to	encourage	older	people	to	think	about	

their long-term housing needs at the earliest 

opportunity.	

Our	Rehousing	Solutions	Team	provides	specialist	

housing advice for older people to help them 

understand	 their	 housing	 options	 and	 support	

them	towards	tailored	solutions.	

Tenants enjoying refreshments at St Mellons Coffee Mornings

Page 1591



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

56

Our	aim	is	to	ensure	that	high	quality	advice	and	

information	 is	 available	 for	 older	 people	 on	 the	

Council	website,	in	Hubs,	and	through	information	

sessions and events. 

Disabled Adaptations 

The	 Council’s	 Independent	 Living	 Service	 (ILS)	

manages	the	provision	of	financial	assistance	and	

adaptation	works	 for	disabled	people	 living	 in	all	

housing tenures. 

This	 includes	 the	 provision	 of	 Disabled	 Facilities	

Grants	(DFGs)	–	Available	to	provide	adaptations,	

such	as	stair	lifts	and	specialist	bathing	facilities,	to	

enable	a	disabled	person	to	live	as	independently	

and	as	safely	as	possible.

The	 Council	 operates	 an	 Agency	 Service	 that	

provides professional help and advice for the 

applicant.	We	will:

1. Appoint	a	contractor	from	the	formally	

procured	contractor	list;

2. Arrange	for	contracts	and	call-off	terms	to	

be	signed	by	both	the	contractor	and	the	

homeowner;

3. Monitor	the	works	to	ensure	all	aspects	

of	the	contractor	Framework	agreements	

are adhered to.  This will include ensuring 

the	work	is	completed	in	a	timely	manner	

and ensuring it is completed to an 

acceptable	standard;

4. Make	payments	direct	to	the	contractor.

Page 1592



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

57

Community Living
Our development programme is investing in building new accessible, adaptable and 
affordable homes for older tenants which will help promote independent living as well 
as providing a diverse range of facilities and services for older tenants living in the new 
buildings within the local community. We plan to deliver 10 new Community Living 
buildings, in doing so investing in the region of £100 million and delivering around 500 new 
homes specifically for older tenants to ensure our population ages well. 

All	of	our	new	flats	will	be	large,	accessible,	open	

plan,	low	carbon	and	low	energy	with	large	private	

balconies and the accessible bathroom will have 

a	full	 level	access	shower	area.	We	are	currently	

on	site	with	the	new	Community	Living	buildings	

at	 Addison	 House,	 Maelfa	 and	 St.	 Mellons.	 We	

have secured planning consent on our two new 

schemes	 at	 Bute	 Street	 and	 Canton/Riverside	

and	are	preparing	a	tender	pack	for	our	scheme	

at	 Channel	 View.	 We	 are	 well	 underway	 with	

design	 work	 for	 our	 first	 well-being	 village	 and	

older person housing on the former Michaelston 

College	 site	 in	 Ely.	 The	 first	 completed	 new	

scheme (Addison House) will be available to let in 

March 2023.

Page 1593



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

58

Our	 Community	 Living	 Refurbishment	 Schemes	

focuses	 on	 upgrading	 communal	 rooms,	 other	

communal	 areas	 and	 creating	 flexible	 rooms	

which	can	be	used	for	various	activities.	This	will	

enable	 the	 tenants	 living	 within	 the	 complex,	

and the older tenants living in the wider local 

community,	 to	 share	 activities	 in	 a	 safe,	 secure	

and	 welcoming	 environment.	 New	 technology	

is	 also	 being	 installed	 within	 the	 properties,	

including	 improved	 CCTV,	 upgraded	 Telecare,	

power assisted doors and scooter charging rooms.

We have involved the tenants in the refurbishment 

process	 from	 the	 concept,	 right	 through	 to	 the	

construction	 and	 completion.	 There	 have	 been	

many	 consultation	 events	 which	 have	 included	

coffee	 mornings,	 meet	 and	 greets	 with	 the	

contractors	 and	 progress	meetings.	 The	 tenants	

have	 had	 the	 opportunity	 to	 choose	 the	 colour	

schemes	for	 the	communal	areas	and	they	have	

also	 had	 the	 opportunity	 to	 try	 out	 the	 new	

furniture before choosing which tables and chairs 

they	would	like.

The	improved	schemes	are	completed	to	the	RNIB	

Visibly	 Better	 Standards,	 enabling	 tenants	 with	

sight	loss	and	dementia	to	navigate	independently	

around	the	building.	We	are	also	working	towards	

the	 RNIB	 Visibly	 Better	 Standards	 Award	 for	 all	

schemes.	 Sandown	 Court	 and	 Clos	 Y	 Nant	 have	

achieved	 the	 highest	 accreditation	 of	 Platinum	

Standard.	 Other	 schemes	 going	 through	 this	

process	 include	 Brentwood	 Court	 in	 Llanishen,	

Poplar House in Whitchurch and Minton Court 

in Tremorfa.

The	refurbishments	to	the	communal	facilities	have	

provided a modern and welcoming environment 

that has enhanced the resident experience and 

improved	the	community	living	feeling.	

Community Living in the heart of 
Grangetown

Detailed plans have been developed for the new 

Community	 Living	 scheme	 as	 part	 of	 the	 first	

phase	 of	 redevelopment	 at	 Channel	 View.	 The	

first	phase	will	 see	 the	construction	of	 two	new	

blocks	 of	 flats	 as	 a	 replacement	 for	 the	 existing	

high-rise	tower	block.

The	 larger	 block	 will	 be	 a	 Community	 Living	

Scheme	with	a	wide	range	of	communal	facilities	

including	a	Community	Café	on	the	ground	floor	

and	activity	 rooms.	The	smaller	block	will	be	an	

Page 1594



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

59

Independent	 Living	 Scheme.	 Tenants	 of	 both	

blocks	will	have	access	to	the	communal	areas	in	

the	Community	Living	scheme.	All	the	flats	will	be	

large,	accessible,	open	plan	and	low	energy	with	

large private balconies.

All	the	flats	are	all	designed	to	make	the	most	of	

the views. There will also be private roof terraces 

and	ground	floor	garden	areas	for	tenants	in	each	

block.	Every	flat	will	be	large,	light,	and	airy	with	

plenty	of	storage	with	an	open	plan	living-dining	

area.	 The	 lounge	 will	 open	 out	 onto	 a	 balcony	

area. The large accessible bathroom will have a 

full level access shower area.

Our	 proposed	 new	 Community	 Living	 projects	

at	Maelfa	and	St.	Mellons	will	 provide	over	100	

new	older	person	flats	alongside	a	wide	range	of	

communal	 facilities.	While	projects	at	Riverside/

Canton	and	Bute	street	will	deliver	over	80	flats.

Page 1595



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

60

Rehousing Solutions Team
The findings from a range of research shows how providing suitable older persons’ housing 
can help older people to remain independent for longer. We aim to encourage older people 
to think about their long-term housing needs at the earliest opportunity. 

The	 Rehousing	 Solutions	 Team	

provides specialist housing advice 

for older people to help them 

understand	 their	 housing	 options	

and support them towards tailored 

solutions.	

The	aim	is	to	ensure	that	high	quality	

advice	 and	 information	 is	 available	

for older people on the Council 

website,	 in	 Hubs	 and	 through	

information	sessions	and	events.	

The	 team	 manage	 complex	 cases,	

assessing medical referrals and 

allocating	 retirement	 or	 adapted	

properties	 to	 those	 in	 need.	 They	

deal	 with	 Occupational	 Therapy	

referrals for disabled applicants that 

require	 adapted	 accommodation	

and respond to referrals from our 

partner	Housing	Associations	where	

adaptions	 are	 needed	 to	 enable	

independent	 living.	 They	 are	 also	

on hand to assist and support 

those	 who	 wish	 to	 downsize	 to	 a	

smaller	property.

Page 1596



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

61

Improving our older persons homes
The community living refurbishment schemes programme focuses on upgrading communal 
rooms, other communal areas and creating flexible rooms which can be used for various 
activities. 

This will enable the residents living within the 

complex and the older residents living in the 

wider	 local	 community	 to	 share	 activities	 in	 a	

safe,	 secure	 and	 welcoming	 environment.	 New	

technology	 is	 also	 being	 installed	 within	 the	

properties,	 including	 improved	 CCTV,	 upgraded	

Telecare,	 power	 assisted	 doors	 and	 scooter	

charging rooms.

The residents have been involved in the 

refurbishment	 process	 from	 the	 concept,	 right	

through	to	the	construction	and	completion.	

There	have	been	many	consultation	events	which	

have	 included	coffee	mornings,	meet	and	greets	

with	the	contractors	and	progress	meetings.	The	

residents	have	had	the	opportunity	to	choose	the	

colour	schemes	for	the	communal	areas	and	they	

have	also	had	the	opportunity	to	try	out	the	new	

furniture before choosing which tables and chairs 

they	would	like.

The	improved	schemes	are	completed	to	the	RNIB	

Visibly	Better	Standards,	enabling	residents	with	

sight	loss	and	dementia	to	navigate	independently	

around the building.

We	 are	 also	 working	 towards	 receiving	 RNIB	

Standard	Award	for	all	schemes.	Sandown	Court	

has	achieved	the	highest	accreditation	of	Platinum	

Standard,	and	other	schemes	going	through	this	

process	 include	 Brentwood	 Court	 in	 Llanishen	

and Minton Court in Tremorfa.

The	refurbishments	to	the	communal	facilities	have	

provided a modern and welcoming environment 

that has enhanced the resident experience and 

improved	the	community	living	feeling.	

Page 1597



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

62

Cardiff’s ‘Age Friendly’ Community Hubs
With an increasingly older population, there is a need to provide community buildings 
which have space to deliver improvements to older people’s social wellbeing and support 
healthy and active lifestyles that can help people remain independent and engaged with 
their communities. Our Hub buildings are equipped to deliver on these aspirations with 
enhancements such as community rooms and outside areas, including community gardens, 
sports halls, and cafés. 

The Hub buildings support older people to 

participate,	 engage	 and	 thrive	 and	 provide	

them	with:

• Spaces	to	meet.

• Spaces	to	stay	connected.

• Spaces	to	read.

• Spaces	to	get	active.

• Spaces	for	all	–	including	accessible	

entrances,	toilet	provision	and	incorporating	

dementia	friendly	design	principles.

Our	Hubs	support	older	tenants	with	their	specific	

needs	by	providing	bespoke	advice	 and	 support	

as well as events that help reduce the impact of 

loneliness	and	social	isolation.	Activities	to	bring	

networks	of	tenants	together	are	delivered	within	

the	Hubs,	including	a	range	of	activities	aimed	at	

people	 over	 50	 such	 as:	 friends	 and	neighbours	

groups,	 singing	 groups,	 Knit	 and	 Natter,	

reminiscence	sessions,	art	classes,	Walking	Clubs,	

coffee	mornings	and	wellbeing	days.	

A	 key	 aim	 of	 the	 Hubs’	 older	 people’s	 events	

programme	is	to	tackle	social	isolation	within	the	

community,	 particularly	 amongst	 older	 tenants	

who	 live	 on	 their	 own	 and	 do	 not	 necessarily	

have	 a	 big	 family	 network	 around	 them.	 Our	

programmes	 also	 provide	 an	 opportunity	 to	

improve their general health and wellbeing. 

Hubs	also	support	the	delivery	of	activities	aimed	

at	 achieving	 wider	 health	 benefits	 for	 older	

people	 e.g.	 Falls	 Prevention	 clinics,	 Low	 Impact	

Functional	 Training	 (LIFT)	 sessions,	 Stay	 Steady	

sessions,	Walking	Football	and	Walking	Netball.

Our	Hubs	significantly	contribute	to	the	Dementia	

Friendly	 Cardiff	 ambitions	 of	 helping	 tenants	

affected	by	Dementia	within	the	city	to	live	well.

CGI of Parkview Health and Wellbeing hub

Page 1598



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

63

Modernising and improving 
services for our tenants

New Renting Homes Wales Act 

The	New	Renting	Homes	Act	is	the	biggest	change	

to	housing	law	in	Wales	for	decades.	It	gives	more	

protection	 for	 our	 tenants	 and	 licensees	 and	

makes	their	rights	and	responsibilities	clearer.	

The	Renting	Homes	Act	2016	also	includes	some	

important	changes,	including:

• All	landlords	must	ensure	properties	are	fit	

for people to live in.

• There	is	greater	security	for	people	who	live	

in the private rented sector.

• Increased	rights	for	certain	people	to	succeed	

a	tenancy.	

This	 will	 be	 introduced	 in	 July	 of	 2022,	 and	we	

will	 provide	 tenants	 with	 more	 information	

throughout	the	year.	

Housing Online

New	technology	will	allow	us	to	not	only	identify	

efficiencies	 and	 cost	 savings,	 but	 also	 provide	

a	 better	 customer	 experience	 for	 our	 tenants.	

Housing	 Services	will	 be	more	 accessible	 for	 all	

tenants,	 giving	 them	more	 control	over	 services	

Crofts street development

Page 1599



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

64

they	need.	It	will	also	free	up	back-office	staff	to	

concentrate on providing support for tenants with 

greater	 needs	 by	 having	 high-volume	 activities	

such	 as	 the	 inputting	 of	 Housing	 Applications	

digitalised. 

Housing	Online	was	first	rolled	out	 in	April	2020	

and	 it	 already	 provides	 Council	 tenants	 and	

former tenants access to their rent accounts and 

rechargeable repair accounts. 

Phase	2	of	Housing	Online	is	to	introduce	Housing	

Applications,	 this	 is	where	a	brand-new	Housing	

Application	 can	 be	 completed,	 or	 for	 existing	

tenants	a	transfer	application.	This	also	 includes	

tenants	of	our	partner	Registered	Social	Landlords.	

Housing	 Online	 can	 be	 accessed	 through	 the	

Cardiff	Website	 and	once	 a	 citizen	 is	 registered,	

they	 have	 one	 portal	 in	 which	 they	 can	 access	

the	appropriate	platform,	be	that	‘Rent	Accounts	

Online’,	 ‘Housing	Application	Online’,	 or	 to	 view	

a	 saved	 application.	 Tenants	 can	 also	 update	

their	contact	details	from	the	same	platform.	It	is	

anticipated	that	the	full	Housing	Application	Online	

will	be	rolled	out	at	the	end	of	February	2022.

My Repairs

‘My	 Repairs’	 is	 a	 new	 digital	 solution	 that	 will	

allow	 our	 tenants	 to	 report,	 view	 and	 book	

repairs	 through	 a	 self-service	 system	 on	 their	

Smartphone,	 PC,	 Laptop	 or	 at	 a	 Council	 Hub.	

This will enable the tenant to report a repair 

24/7,	 365	 days	 a	 year	 and	 to	 book	 their	 own	

appointments	 to	 suit.	 It	 also	 allows	 them	 to	

access	 the	 repair	history	on	 their	 tenancy,	 track	

the	status	of	a	 repair	and	view	 information	that	

may	 be	 of	 value	 to	 the	 tenant	 in	 regard	 to	 the	

repair	 being	 completed	 i.e.	 supplier	 issues.	 My	

Repairs	 allows	 accessibility	 and	 transparency	 to	

all	tenants	within	Cardiff,	creating	a	better	repairs	

service.	 It	 is	 intended	that	this	new	channel	will	

be	implemented	in	Spring	2023.	

The	 existing	 Cardiff	 housing	 website	 will	 be	

refreshed	 and	 relaunched	 in	 2022.	 It	 will	 be	

easier	 for	 citizens,	 landlords	 and	 professionals	

to	 navigate,	 providing	 them	 with	 	 information	

and	 support	on	all	housing	 related	matters.	The	

website	will	provide	useful	information,	links,	and	

guides	to	assist	in	various	housing	matters	such	as	

homelessness,	private	rental,	social	lettings,	First	

Homes	Cardiff	Scheme,	and	adaptations.

Scan Stations

As part of our commitment to digital inclusion 

and customer services the Hubs have introduced 

Scan	 Stations	 at	 all	 their	 locations;	 allowing	

tenants to self-serve and provide documents 

more	quickly	than	ever	before.	Digital	self-service	

means that tenants can provide documents for 

a range of council services and departments 

directly.	 Currently,	 this	 is	 used	 for	 Housing	

Benefits	and	Universal	credit	claims.	In	2022,	the	

Self-Scan	 system	will	 be	 expanded	 across	 other	

Page 1600



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

65

housing	services	in	the	Council,	allowing	tenants	

a	quick,	safe,	and	direct	way	of	providing	required	

information.	 Advisors	 are	 still	 on	 hand	 to	 offer	

scan	station	help	and	assist	with	any	enquiries.

Online Applications

The	 way	 that	 tenants	 can	 claim	 benefits	 and	

additional	 payments	 from	 the	 Council	 has	 been	

revolutionised	with	all	applications	now	available	

online,	 including	 Free	 School	 Meals,	 Uniform	

Grant,	and	Discretionary	Housing	Payments.	This	

improves	 the	 tenant’s	 experience	 as	 it	 enables	

them	 to	 be	 paid	 quicker.	 For	 those	who	 cannot	

claim	 online,	 help	 is	 still	 available	 through	 our	

Hubs	and	Advice	Line.

Page 1601



P
age 1602



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

67

Financial Resources & Planning
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) records income and expenditure in relation to Council 
Housing.  This is required to be ‘ring fenced’ in accordance with the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.  The ring fencing of the account means that local authorities must not 
subsidise costs relating to Council Housing from the General Fund (i.e. from Council Tax or 
from the RSG) or subsidise General Fund costs from the HRA. 

The main expenditure items within the account 

include	repairs	and	maintenance,	supervision	and	

management	 (including	 tenancy	 management	

and	tenant		consultation,	rent	collection,	housing	

allocations	and	property	and	estate	management)	

and	 capital	 financing	 charges	 on	 the	 HRA’s	

outstanding loan debt (interest and provision for 

repayment).	 	The	major	 income	streams	 include	

rents and income from service charges.

The	above	items	are	in	accordance	with	legislation	

and guidance. 

Financial model

The	 HRA	 Business	 Plan	 is	 a	 requirement	 of	

application	 for	 the	 Major	 Repairs	 Allowance	

grant from Welsh Government (WG).  Whilst the 

format	and	assumptions	within	the	plan	are	not	

prescribed,	WG	require	that	any	assumptions	are	

clearly	explained	and	that	considerations	behind	

decisions	are	evidenced.				In	addition,	WG	request	

that	 certain	 financial	 data	 is	 included	 such	 as	

stock	 numbers,	 level	 of	 borrowing	 and	 capital	

receipts.	 	 In	 addition,	 supporting	 information	 is	

required	 such	 as	 an	 estimate	 of	 spend	 relating	

to	 decarbonisation	 and	 evidence	 of	 sensitivity	

analysis	and	stress	testing	within	the	plan.

The	Business	Plan	is	underpinned	by	a	thirty-year	

financial	model	which	sets	out	estimates	of	planned	

Capital and Revenue income and expenditure over 

the period. This model is intended to be used as 

a planning and modelling tool forming the basis 

of	 the	 HRA	 business,	 to	 safeguard	 the	 interests	

of current and future tenants and other service 

users and to demonstrate the long-term value for 

money	and	sustainability	of	the	HRA.

Given	 the	 period	 the	 Business	 plan	 covers,	

the	 document	 is	 a	 point	 in	 time	 return	 and	

uncertainty	 remains	 over	 the	 medium	 to	

longer	 term,	 particularly	 in	 relation	 to	 capital	

expenditure	 commitments,	 rental	 income	 and	

ongoing	investment	requirements	linked	to	stock	

condition.

Page 1603



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

68

Rent Policy

The	Council	sets	the	level	of	rents	within	a	policy	

framework	 set	by	 the	Welsh	Government	 (WG).	

A	 new	 five-year	 Social	 Housing	 Rent	 policy	 was	

introduced	by	the	WG	for	the	period	from	2020/21	

to	 2024/25.	 	 This	 allows	 for	 a	maximum	annual	

1%	rent	increase	above	the	rate	of	the	consumer	

price	 index	 (CPI)	using	 the	 level	of	CPI	 from	the	

previous	September	each	year.		However,	should	

CPI	fall	outside	the	range	of	0%	to	3%,	the	Minister	

with	responsibility	for	housing	will	determine	the	

appropriate change to rent levels to be applied 

for	 that	 year	 only.	 There	 is	 no	 confirmation	 of	

approach	beyond	2024/25	and	this	 represents	a	

significant	risk	when	business	planning.	

The	published	September	2021	CPI	figure,	used	for	

the	rent	policy,	is	3.1%	so	is	outside	of	the	permitted	

range.	 Following	 consideration	 of	 a	 range	 of	

options,	the	Climate	Change	Minister	announced	a	

CPI	only	increase	to	achieve	a	reasonable	balance	

between cost pressures on tenants and landlords. 

This	 decision	 applies	 only	 to	 the	 rent	 year	 April	

2022 to March 2023. 

In	line	with	the	Ministerial	decision,	an	increase	of	

3.1%	for	2022/23	for	all	tenants	was	approved	by	

Council as part of its annual budget in March. 

It	is	considered	that	the	rent	uplifts	proposed	above	

for	 2022/23	 will	 allow	 for	 obligations	 to	 tenants	

and lenders to be met and help to support the 

financial	viability	of	the	Housing	Revenue	Account	

whilst	 ensuring	 that	 rents	 remain	 affordable	 for	

current and future tenants.  

It	should	be	noted	that	the	Council	will	need	to	be	

able	to	set	rents	above	CPI	in	the	medium	to	long	

term in order for the longer-term business plan to 

be sustainable and to meet WG targets in respect 

to	new	build	and	WHQS.

Value for Money and Affordability

The	WG	have	made	clear	that	affordability	should	

include	all	 costs	of	 living	 in	a	property	 including	

rent,	service	charges	and	energy	costs.		A	review	

has	therefore	been	carried	out	of	the	affordability	

of	living	in	a	council	property	in	Cardiff.

The	 review	 used	 the	 Joseph	 Rowntree	 Living	

Rent Model which states that a rent should be 

affordable	for	a	household	with	someone	in	full-

time	employment	and	earning	around	the	National	

Living	Wage	The	model	uses	the	earnings	of	the	

lower	quartile	of	earners	 resident	 in	Cardiff	and	

assumes	 that	 28%	of	 income	 is	 available	 to	 pay	

rent	and	is	adjusted	for	the	size	of	the	household.

The review indicated that council rents are 

affordable	 when	 compared	 to	 the	 Joseph	

Roundtree	Living	Rents.	

Page 1604



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

69

Comparative Rent levels

An	uplift	of	CPI	at	3.1%	would	result	in	an	average	

rent	increase	of	£3.34	and	an	average	weekly	rent	

of £111.16.  The table on page 72 shows average 

gross rents including service charges.  

Council	 rents	 are	 below	 the	 Local	 Housing	

Allowance	(LHA)	rates	for	Cardiff,	and	well	below	

market	rents.		It	is	estimated	that	private	tenants	

claiming	benefits	are	paying	on	average	£43	per	

week	above	LHA	levels.	

Council	 rents	are	broadly	aligned	with	 the	 rents	

of	 other	 social	 landlords	 in	 Cardiff,	 with	 rents	

for	 some	 property	 types,	 including	 one	 bed	

flats,	 being	 considerably	 lower	 than	 housing	

association	rents.

It	is	clear	that	Council	rents	are	considerably	more	

affordable	than	private	sector	rents.	

Rent Increase Consultation

Consultation	 on	 the	 rent	 increase	 took	 place	

between	31st	December	2021	and	28th	 January	

2022.	 Due	 to	 the	 pandemic,	 the	 survey	 was	

carried out online and telephone assistance was 

offered	 if	 that	 was	 required.	 	 The	 survey	 was	

promoted	 over	 social	 media	 platforms	 such	 as	

Twitter	and	Facebook	with	a	“link”	to	the	survey	

via	 the	 Council	website.	 	 Letters	were	 also	 sent	

to	 2,756	 randomly	 selected	 individual	 tenants	

encouraging	them	to	take	part.

The	 online	 survey	 proved	 successful,	 resulting	

in more than a tenfold increase in the response 

compared	to	the	previous	year,	with	83	responses	

received	in	total.		It	was	also	reassuring	that	most	

age	groups	took	part	in	the	survey.	28%	of	those	

who responded paid the whole of their rent 

themselves,	with	the	remainder	on	full	or	partial	

benefits.		

79	tenants	answered	the	question	about	whether	

the	rent	was	good	value	for	money.		67.1%	thought	

that	the	proposed	rents	were	very	good	or	fairly	

good	value	for	money,	while	20.3%	thought	they	

were	poor	or	 very	poor	 value.	 12.7%	 thought	 it	

was neither good nor poor value. 

The	 majority	 of	 respondents	 (90%)	 stated	 they	

were	not	experiencing	difficulties	paying	their	rent.		

10%	stated	they	were,	of	which	8	specifically	took	

up	 the	 offer	 of	 Council	 assistance.	 Referrals	 for	

these	tenants	were	made	to	the	Welfare	Liaison	

Team who will support them to maximise their 

income	and	deal	with	any	debt	 issues,	 including	

referrals	 to	 the	 new	 rent	 arrears	 pathway,	 if	

appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1605



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

70

Value	 for	Money	 is	 achieved	by	 focusing	on	 key	

priorities	 in	 the	pursuit	 of	 social	 objectives	 that	

benefit	 a	 range	 of	 stakeholders/service	 users	

and	delivering	these	priorities	in	an	effective	and	

efficient	way.	 	Cardiff	aims	to	achieve	this	 in	the	

following	ways:

• Maintaining homes to a high standard

• Building new homes

• Delivering	a	high	standard	of	tenancy	services

• Community	investment	such	as	work	to	

increase	employability,	financial,	digital	and	

social inclusion 

• Meeting	the	housing	needs	of	the	most	

vulnerable 

• Preventing	evictions

• Supporting	people	to	live	independently

• Supporting	national	and	local	policy	

objectives

In	 order	 to	 continue	 to	 demonstrate	 value	 for	

money,	during	2022/23	and	 in	 future	 years,	 the	

Council	will	undertake	the	following:

• Review	all	costs	to	reflect	activity	and	

value	for	money

No. of 
Bedrooms Market Rent Local Housing Allowance 

Rate 2021/22
Current Average Rent   

2021/22
Estimated Average 

Rent   2022/23 

1 £150.00 £120.82 £96.76 £99.76

2 £189.00 £149.59 £111.48 £114.94

3 £241.00 £178.36 £128.18 £132.16

4 £313.00 £218.63 £142.13 £146.53

Page 1606



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

71

• Increasing	the	use	of	digital	services	to	

reduce	costs	and	provide	a	better	customer	

experience	whilst	still	offering	tailored,	1-2-1	

support for those that need it

• Seek	opportunities	to	undertake	external	

benchmarking	and	self-assessment	

with peers

• Continue	to	follow	the	Council’s	best	

practice	in	relation	to	procurement	of	goods	

and services

• Secure	maximum	value	from	assets	through	

an	understanding	of	stock	and	making	

intelligent (social) business decisions based 

on that understanding.  

This	will	necessitate	an	understanding	of:

 » The	condition	of	stock

 » Maintenance costs and investment needs

 » Demand	within	our	communities

 » Performance	of	the	stock	at	an	

appropriate	and	proportionate	

level of detail

 » Variation	in	performance	across	the	stock

 » Priorities	for	improvement

A	 range	of	 high-quality	 services	 are	provided	 to	

council tenants including a dedicated Welfare 

Liaison	 Team	 to	 maximise	 income	 and	 prevent	

arrears	 and	 a	 Tenancy	 Sustainment	 service	

supports more vulnerable tenants. 

The clear aim of the housing service is to prevent 

unnecessary	 legal	 action	 and	 evictions.	 	 A	wide	

range	 of	 additional	 services	 are	 also	 available	

locally	 through	 the	 Hubs,	 including	 Into	 Work	

help and support.

In	2019/20,	 the	service	commenced	a	 review	of	

spend	 and	 costs,	 to	 ensure	 that	 good	 value	 for	

money	 is	 being	 achieved.	 	 The	 review	 indicated	

a	 number	 of	 areas	 where	 efficiencies	 could	 be	

made,	including	the	level	of	repairs	carried	out	on	

void	properties	and	recharges	from	other	services	

as a result of changes to level of service provision.

Also,	 there	 are	 plans	 for	 a	 further	 review	 of	

responsive	 repairs.	 	 Digitalisation	 of	 services	

where	appropriate	will	not	only	deliver	a	quicker,	

better	customer	service	experience	but	will	also	

reduce costs. 

It	is	planned	that	this	work	will	be	continued	into	

2022/23 with an ongoing review of all costs and 

overheads.

Page 1607



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

72

Rent and Other Assumptions 
2022/23 to 2027/28
The table and narrative below set out the key assumptions within the model over the period.

2022/23 

%

2023/24 

%

2024/25 

%

2025/26 

%

2026/27 

%

2027/28 

Onwards 

%
CPI 3.1 3.5 3.0 3.0 2.5 2.0

General	Inflation 4.1 4.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 3.0

Rent	Uplifts	(inclusive	of	CPI) 3.1 3.5 3.0 3.0 3.0 2.5

Bad debts 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

Void	rents 2.01 2.01 2.01 2.01 2.01 2.01

• Rent increases in line with WG guidelines 

taking	account	of	forward	indicators	for	

inflation	factors	(CPI	assumed	at	3.1%	for	

2022/23,	increasing	to	3.5%	for	2023/24	and	

reducing	down	to	2.5%	by	2026/27)

• In	the	absence	of	an	agreed	pay	award,	3%	

annual	uplifts	are	included	for	2022/23.	

Provision	is	also	made	for	employers’	

National	Insurance	and	Superannuation	

contributions,	employee	incremental	pay	

progression	as	well	as	other	full	year	impacts	

of the costed establishment including 

Apprenticeship	levies	and	the	National	

Living	Wage.

• General	inflation	increases	assumed	at	4.1%	

for	2022/23	reducing	to	3.5%	by	2026/27	for	

non-employee	budgets

• Drawdowns	as	required	from	earmarked	

reserves	as	a	result	of	high	inflationary	cost	

increases	and	capital	financing	commitments	

in the short to medium term

• Contributions	to	reserves	and	balances	in	the	

longer	term	and	where	possible	to	reduce	risks	

within	the	forecasts	and	to	improve	financial	

resilience

• A £22.623 million budget has been set for 

Council	Housing	Repairs	for	2022/23	reflecting	

the	estimated	requirements	for	both	planned	

and responsive maintenance

• The	direct	revenue	financing	budget	for	capital	

expenditure	assumes	a	contribution	of	£2.4	

million p.a. in 2022/23 and in the long term

• Continued	receipt	from	Welsh	Government	of	

Major	Repairs	Allowance	grant	of	£9.5	million		

Page 1608



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

73

• The budget is assumed to provide for the 

ongoing	estimated	impact	of	Welfare	Reform	

under	the	Universal	Credit	scheme	on	rent	

income	levels,	additional	costs	of	collection	

and	recovery	and	bad	debts	provision	and	the	

potential	impact	on	void	allowances.		

• Capital	financing	requirements	reflect	the	

increasing	borrowing	requirement	proposed	

in	the	Capital	Investment	Programme

• Changes to fees and charges are set out in 

detail	in	Appendix	3b	of	the	Council’s	overall	

budget proposals

In	 addition,	 service	 charges	 are	 assumed	 to	

increase	in	line	with	inflation	for	full	cost	recovery.	

Revenue expenditure and income
The model details the planned revenue budget and the resources, with the first five years 
shown in the table below.

2022/23

£000

2023/24

£000

2024/25

£000

2025/26

£000

2026/27

£000

Employees 23,481 24,470 25,178 25,922 26,704

Premises - Council House Repairs 22,623 23,491 23,975 24,774 25,586

Premises	-	Other	Repairs	&	Maintenance 1,544 1,614 1,678 1,745 1,806

Premises	-	Other	Premises	Costs 4,836 5,130 5,462 5,777 6,127

Transport 152 159 166 174 181

Supplies	&	Services 4,474 4,391 4,508 4,700 4,886

Third	Party	Payments 494 511 526 542 558

Support	Services 7,222 7,527 7,786 8,054 8,313

Capital Financing 29,239 31,793 36,293 40,361 41,667

Contribution	to	reserves/General	balances 250 250 0 0 250

Total Expenditure 94,315 99,336 105,572 112,049 116,078

Rents	and	Service	Charges (87,783) (92,648) (98,243) (103,482) (108,971)

Fees & Charges (700) (718) (742) (760) (776)

Contribution	from	reserves 0 0 (500) (1,600) 0

Other	Income (5,832) (5,970) (6,087) (6,207) (6,331)

Total Resources (94,315) (99,336) (105,572) (112,049) (116,078)

Page 1609



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

74

2022/23
£000

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

2025/26
£000

2026/27
£000

Total
£000

Regeneration	and	Area	Improvements	 2,650 2,450 2,450 2,450 2,450 12,450

External	and	Internal	Improvements 19,150 27,950 25,850 14,650 13,900 101,500

New	Build	and	Acquisitions 49,810 77,500 74,485 49,155 34,000 284,950

Disabled	Facilities	Adaptations 3,000 3,350 3,350 3,350 3,350 16,400

Total Expenditure 74,610 111,250 106,135 69,605 53,700 415,300

%

Major Repairs Allowance Grant (9,550) (9,550) (9,550) (9,550) (9,550) (47,750) 11.5

Additional	Borrowing (44,415) (81,595) (81,685) (46,615) (39,650) (293,960) 70.8

Direct Revenue Financing (5,500) (2,400) (2,400) (2,400) (2,400) (15,100) 3.6

External	funding	estimates	and	conts (10,545) (12,705) (9,000) (6,040) (2,100) (40,390) 9.7

Capital Receipts (4,600) (5,000) (3,500) (5,000) 0 (18,100) 4.4

Total Resources (74,610) (111,250) (106,135) (69,605) (53,700) (415,300) 100

Capital Investment Programme and Funding
Planned capital investment and resources assumed to pay for the investment are also 
identified within the model, with the first five years shown in the table below.

Expenditure	 commitments	 proposed	 over	 the	

next	5	years	include	the	following:	

• Continue	to	invest	significantly	in	our	existing	

housing	stock	to	ensure	we	improve	energy	

efficiency;	that	our	homes	are	maintained	to	

a	high	standard;	that	we	continue	to	meet	

the	Welsh	Government	Quality	Standards	and	

to	ensure	all	of	our	homes	are	warm,	safe	

and secure.

• Expand	regeneration	and	area	improvement	

projects	aiming	to	create	better	and	safer	

places	to	live	by	undertaking	environmental	

works	including	defensible	space,	demolition,	

conversion	and	road/footpath	realignment,	

energy	efficiency	schemes,	improvements	to	

flats,	garages,	gullies	and	open	spaces.

• Invest	significantly	in	our	house	building	

programme to deliver more homes and help 

tackle	some	of	the	significant	and	specific	

challenges	we	face	in	the	city	including	

increased	levels	of	homelessness,	a	need	to	

ensure	greater	diversity	of	housing	provision	

Page 1610



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

75

including	to	meet	the	needs	of	larger	families,	

older	persons,	and	for	those	with	accessibility	

and	medical	needs	and	to	address	a	lack	of	

sufficiency	in	supported	accommodation	

options	for	young	people.

• Deliver	disabled	adaptations	to	dwellings	to	

help	eligible	tenants	to	live	independently	

and improve their movement in and 

around the home.

Expenditure	 commitments	 beyond	 the	 very	

short	 term	are	assumed	based	on	existing	asset	

condition	data	and	will	therefore	be	subject	to	a	

level	of	risk	and	uncertainty.

The	 financial	 model	 assumes	 that	 the	 Council	

continues	to	receive	the	Major	Repairs	Allowance	

(MRA)	 grant	 from	 the	 WG	 at	 existing	 levels	 of	

£9.5	million	 per	 annum.	 The	 plan	 also	 assumes	

a	significant	level	of	additional	borrowing	to	pay	

for	investment	in	the	existing	stock	and	to	create	

new	affordable	housing.

HRA debt is measured through the 

Capital	 Financing	 Requirement	 (CFR).	

This	 is	 the	 underlying	 need	 to	 borrow	

for capital expenditure purposes.

The chart above shows an increasing 

trend,	 with	 borrowing	 resulting	 in	

additional	financing	costs	including:

Interest	 payable	 and	 prudent	 revenue	

provision	for	the	repayment	of	capital	expenditure	

paid	for	by	borrowing.

These	 financial	 commitments	 arising	 from	

borrowing	must	be	paid	over	future	generations	

and	are	long	term	financial	commitments	for	the	

rent	 payer.	 As	 such,	 expenditure	 creating	 such	

liabilities	should	be	reviewed	regularly	to	ensure	

that	 expenditure	 remains	 prudent,	 affordable	

and sustainable and considers the future asset 

management	requirements	of	the	housing	stock.

Risk Mitigation

Risk	 mitigation	 within	 the	 Housing	 Revenue	

Account	takes	many	forms:

• Ensuring	that	a	HRA	General	balance	is	

maintained at a prudent level. 

• Create	specific	earmarked	reserves	to	

mitigate	against	increasing	and	unforeseen	

Page 1611



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

76

costs in respect to the new build programme 

such	as	the	price	of	materials,	uncertain	rent	

policy	in	the	medium	/	long	term.	

• Annually	updating	and	submitting	to	the	WG	

for	approval	a	30-year	business	plan	which	

considers revenue and capital expenditure 

plans over the longer period. 

• Continue	to	liaise	and	consult	with	the	WG	on	

future	rent	policy	highlighting	the	importance	

of ensuring that capital commitments 

currently	being	entered	into	remain	

affordable.	

• Ensuring	strong	asset	management	practices	

and	understanding	of	the	condition	of	

existing	stock.	

• Continuing	to	develop	indicators	to	support	

assessment	of	financial	resilience	including	

prudential	borrowing	indicators.

• Maintaining a prudent approach to 

repayment	of	capital	expenditure.	

• Regular monitoring and review of 

expenditure against approved budgets. 

• Compliance with the terms of reference set 

by	the	Housing	Delivery	and	Capital	Finance	

Board in respect to approval or changes in 

sites proposed for new housing development 

including	viability	assessments	

• Regular review of service data and matrix 

such	as	the	number	of	void	properties,	

levels	of	rent	arrears	and	write	offs,	progress	

against the revenue repairs programmes both 

responsive	and	planned	to	identify	issues	

and	agree	interim	solutions	thus	helping	to	

secure improved performance against service 

objectives

• Regular reviews of progress against the 

planned Capital Programme and the level 

of	borrowing	needed	to	avoid	unnecessary	

capital	financing	costs

• A	planned	revenue	contribution	to	capital	

outlay/Direct	Revenue	Financing	to	reduce	

borrowing	costs	or	provide	for	additional	

borrowing and enhanced capital investment

Page 1612

https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Cardiff_city_hall.jpg


Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

77

HRA Business Plan Operational 
and Financial Risk Matrix
Due to the long-term nature of the Business Plan, many variables and assumptions are 
included which are subject to a high degree of risk and uncertainty.
The Risk Matrix below details a number of key operational and financial risks and sets out 
the potential impact, pre and post mitigation and appropriate mitigating controls.

Risk Description Impact Pre-Mitigation 
Risk Analysis Mitigating Controls Post 

Mitigation

Restricted	rent	uplift	
in	future	years	due	
to changes to the 
rent	policy	beyond	
2024/25	or	to	levels	
of	CPI

Potential	impact	on	
level	and	quality	of	
service provision to 
tenants and capital 
schemes that can be 
taken	forward.		Impact	
of	affordability,	prudence	
and	sustainability	of	
additional	borrowing.	
Impact	on	local	and	
national	affordable	
housing targets

Red

Review	and	prioritise	revenue	
operating	costs	to	identify	savings		

Consider and budget for use of 
earmarked	reserves	and	general	
balances	to	support	financial	resilience

Review	and	reprioritisation	of	the	
Capital Programme and realignment 
where feasible of future spend plans 

Continue	to	liaise	and	consult	with	the	
WG	on	future	rent	policy	highlighting	
the importance of ensuring that capital 
commitments	currently	being	entered	
into	remain	affordable.	

Reduce new build development 
programme where other capital 
realignment is not possible

Red

Cost	inflation	
increase above rent 
uplifts

Increase	in	costs	
of	supervision,	
management and repairs 
and	maintenance,	
including capital 
contracts 

Amber

Use	of	earmarked	reserves.	Review	
and	reprioritise	revenue	operating	
costs	and	consider	a	reduction	in	
planned expenditure including within 
the	Capital	Programme	where	any	
variations	to	planned	spend	are	
feasible/not	committed

Green

A	reduction	in	the	
(£9.5m	per	annum)	
WG Major Repairs 
Allowance (MRA) 
grant 

Impact	on	the	
achievability	of	the	
Capital Programme

Red

Review	and	reprioritisation	of	the	
Capital Programme allowing for 
committed	spend	but	realigning	future	
spend plans

Reduce new build development 
programme where other realignment is 
not possible

Amber

Page 1613



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

78

Risk Description Impact Pre-Mitigation 
Risk Analysis Mitigating Controls Post 

Mitigation

Impact	of	Welfare	
Reform	and	Universal	
Credit

Impact	on	tenants’	ability	
to	pay	rent,	resulting	in	
increased	rent	arrears,	
requirement	for	bad	
debt provision and 
increased	debt	collection	
and	recovery	costs

Increased	requirement	
for tenant support and 
advice services

Amber

Understanding	of	the	Welfare	Reform	
regime	and	risks.		

Information	and	advice	to	tenants,	for	
example	through	Into	Work	Services

Promotion	of	available	benefits	and	
specific	support	e.g.	the	Hardship	Fund	
and	Discretionary	Housing	Payments	
grant,	rent	rescue	schemes

Regular review of rent arrears and bad 
debts	provision	requirement

Amber/Green

Impact	of	Covid	19

Impact	of	Covid	19	
on	tenants’	ability	to	
pay	rent,	resulting	in	
increased	rent	arrears,	
requirement	for	bad	
debt provision and 
increased	debt	collection	
and	recovery	costs

Amber

Information	and	advice	to	tenants,	for	
example	through	Into	Work	Services.		
Maximisation	of	funding	for	promotion	
of	available	benefits	and	specific	
support	Introduction	of	the	rent	
arrears	pathway	

Regular review of bad debts provision

Green

Impact	of	Brexit

Shortage	of	materials	
and	contractor	supply	
and	cost	inflation	
of materials due to 
increased	bureaucracy	
and	uncertainty

Amber

Use	of	earmarked	reserves	to	cover	
short term increase in costs 

Maintain	communication	channels	with	
suppliers and contractors including 
seeking	alternative	sources	of	supply	

Develop a pool of small contractors to 
increase	capacity

Embrace	post-Brexit	procurement	
opportunities	to	ensure	regime	is	
simple,	efficient	and	delivers	greater	
value	for	money

Amber / Green

Failure to meet 
new build housing 
programme targets 
resulting	in	delays	to	
timing	of	lettings	of	
new	build	properties

Non achievement of 
Capital	Ambition	targets.	

Failure to reduce 
housing	waiting	list	and	
impact	on	temporary	
accommodation	and	
homelessness Holding 
costs of vacant sites 
and revenue costs of 
development teams 
Reduction	in	rental	
income receivable and 
resources available to 
support the HRA budget

Red

Contractual commitments are 
closely	monitored	by	the	Housing	
Development and Capital Finance 
Board.		Individual	project	viability	is	
reviewed	at	key	stages	of	the	scheme	
development

Ongoing	review	of	new	build	
programme development and 
resources	required

Amber

Page 1614



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

79

Risk Description Impact Pre-Mitigation 
Risk Analysis Mitigating Controls Post 

Mitigation

Treasury	
Management

Increased	costs	of	
interest and prudent 
repayment	of	any	
borrowing	undertaken	
to	pay	for	capital	
expenditure proposed 
in the HRA Capital 
programme

Red

Integrated	Council	wide	Treasury	
Management	policies	and	strategy

Regular	reporting	in	line	with	best	
practice		

Review of programme in line with 
affordability	and	government	policy	
changes such as rent

Setting	a	prudent	approach	to	
repayment	of	debt	and	identification	of	
revenue	resources	to	support	financial	
resilience

This all allows the Council to respond 
to	issues	quickly	and	appropriately

Amber

Challenge of 
Decarbonisation

Failure to plan and invest 
strategically	in	order	to	
meet	carbon	reduction	
targets could result in 
failure to meet WG target

Impact	on	tenants’	energy	
costs

The	requirement	
to meet the cost of 
decarbonisation	without	
additional	funding	will	
impact on other spend – 
could reduce borrowing 
capacity	and	reduce	funds	
available for new build 

Red/Amber

Work	closely	with	WG	to	understand	
key	requirements,	targets,	delivery	
methods and costs

Identification	of	available	funding	to	
support targets 

Plans in place to pilot renewable 
technology	in	order	to	meet	the	
challenge 

Amber

Review	and	monitoring	of	the	financial	and	wider	

risks	 identified	 for	 the	Housing	Revenue	Account	

takes	 place	 as	 part	 of	 the	 Directorate’s	 risk	

identification	and	monitoring	process.		

HRA	 risks	 are	 considered	 within	 the	 Directorate	

Operational	 Risk	 Register	 which	 is	 reviewed	 and	

updated	quarterly.		

The development and progress of the New Build 

programme is reported to and monitored at the 

Housing Development and Capital Finance Board 

which	meets	bi-monthly.		The	revenue	and	capital	

financial	position	 is	 considered	as	part	of	 regular	

monthly	monitoring	and	reporting	processes.

Page 1615



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

80

Sensitivity Analysis
The assumptions as detailed in the paragraphs above are based on best information and 
will be subject to a risk of change.  

The	table	below	sets	out	key	areas	of	sensitivity	

and	the	potential	impact	on	the	forecasts	for	any	

one	 year	 as	 included	within	 the	 plan	 and	 using	

the	2022/23	budgets	for	illustration.

This	 is	 on	 the	 assumption	 that	 all	 other	 factors	

remain	 constant	 and	 no	 mitigation/offsetting	

actions	 are	 in	 place.	 In	 reality,	 as	 set	 out	 in	 the	

Potential	 Mitigation	 column	 below	 and,	 within	

the	Risk	Matrix	above,	this	would	take	the	form	of	

numerous and varied measures as appropriate to 

ensure	a	viable	financial	position	is	maintained.

KEY 
ASSUMPTION

2022/23

REVISED 
ASSUMPTION/

CHANGE

FINANCIAL 
IMPACT

£’000
SERVICE IMPACT POTENTIAL MITIGATION

CPI	3.1% CPI	2.1% +770

A	1%	reduction	in	the	level	of	CPI	
to	2.1%	reduces	rental	income	
and available revenue resources 
impacting	the	flexibility	in	service	
provision	and	ability	to	meet	
tenant	priorities

Review	and	prioritise	revenue	
operating	costs	to	identify	savings		

Consider and budget for use of 
earmarked	reserves	and	general	
balances	to	support	financial	
resilience

Review	and	reprioritisation	of	
the Capital Programme and 
realignment where feasible of 
future spend plans 

Continue	to	liaise	and	consult	
with	the	WG	on	future	rent	policy	
highlighting	the	importance	
of ensuring that capital 
commitments	currently	being	
entered	into	remain	affordable	

Reduce new build development 
programme where other capital 
realignment is not possible

Page 1616



Housing Revenue Account (HRA)   |   Business Plan 2022-23

81

KEY 
ASSUMPTION

2022/23

REVISED 
ASSUMPTION/

CHANGE

FINANCIAL 
IMPACT

£’000
SERVICE IMPACT POTENTIAL MITIGATION

Employers’	Pay	
Award	3%

Employers’	Pay	
Award	4%

+327

A	higher	pay	award	at	4%	results	in	
an	increased	funding	requirement	
reducing	the	flexibility	to	progress	
other	plans	and	priorities

Use	of	earmarked	reserves.			

Review	and	reprioritise	revenue	
operating	costs	

Consider	a	reduction	in	planned	
expenditure including within the 
Capital	Programme	where	any	
variations	to	planned	spend	are	
feasible/not	committed

Bad debt 
provision	1%

Bad debt 
provision	1.5%

+397

An	increase	of	0.5%	in	the	bad	
debt provision would result in an 
increased	funding	requirement	
reducing	flexibility	within	revenue	
resources

Information	and	advice	to	
tenants,	for	example	through	Into	
Work	Services		

Maximisation	of	funding	for	
promotion	of	available	benefits	
and	specific	support	

Introduction	of	the	rent	arrears	
pathway	

Void	rent	loss	
2%

Void	rent	loss	1% -783

A	reduction	in	the	void	rent	loss	
to	1%	increases	rental	income	
generated and the resources 
available to fund planned 
programmes of investment and 
service provision

Consider and budget for transfer 
of	additional	resources	to	
replenish	earmarked	reserves	and	
support	financial	resilience

Reduce borrowing via increased 
direct	revenue	financing	in	year	
with impact on future capital 
financing	costs

+ negative impact on the HRA - positive impact on the HRA

Whilst	 these	 key	 areas	 of	 sensitivity	 and	 the	

potential	annual	impact	are	set	out	above,	it	should	

be	noted	 that	 these	could	also	have	a	 cumulative	

impact over the period of the plan and would need 

to	be	managed	accordingly.

Longer	 term	 mitigation	 measures	 are	 likely	 to	

include a detailed review of the Capital investment 

programme	 and	 any	 potential	 to	 reduce	 spend	

where	spend	is	not	already	committed.		In	addition,	

available reserves and balances would be considered 

to	 offset	 shortfalls	 and	 support	 ongoing	 financial	

resilience.

Page 1617



This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

 

Appendix 2 
 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: HRA Business Plan 
2022/23 
 

New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New  

 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Jane Thomas Job Title: Director (Adults, Housing & 
Communities) 

Service Team: Housing & Communities  Service Area: People and Communities 

Assessment Date: 07/02/2022 

 
1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/  
             Service/Function?             
 

The purpose of the Business Plan is to provide an insight into existing services currently 
delivered under the Housing Revenues Account (HRA).  
 
The HRA Business Plan aims to; 
 

 set out Cardiff’s purpose and vision as a social housing landlord; 
 

 set out its objectives and standards for the service; 
 

 plan how the service aims to achieve the objectives and standards set out (the 
strategies); 

 

 plan resource and financial requirements; 
 

 provide a framework for monitoring and evaluating the progress of the housing 
‘business’; 

 

 communicate Cardiff’s plans to its tenants, members, the Welsh Government, 
other key stakeholders, partners and the wider community. 
 

 identify the estimated stock and management needs over a 30 year period, 
against forecast resources to demonstrate that the Housing Revenue Account 
remains viable over that period. 
 

 Detail our development programme, which will deliver in excess of 4,000 new 
homes over the next 10 years 

 

 

Page 1619



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

 
The Plan also provides an overview of spend on services and how the budget is allocated 
to different teams and categories of work.  
 
The Plan is for information purposes and is aimed at council tenants and those looking 
to access the services under the HRA. It also provides information on upcoming 
improvements to tenant’s homes and provides an overview of tenant satisfaction results 
following the recent survey that was issued in 2021. 
 
It also contains information on how services are developing and improving to ensure 
safety, value for money and multiple channels of access to make it easy to report issues 
and utilise the services available to the residents of Cardiff.  
 

 
 
2. Please provide background information on the Strategy Function and any 

research done [e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar 
EIAs done etc.] 

 

The Plan does not contain any specific service user data or demographic statistics. The 
function of the Plan is to inform the reader of what services are delivered from the 
HRA.  
 
Existing strategies and policies that have had Equality Impact Assessments completed 
inform the Plan.  
 

 
3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 
 
3.1 Age 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  
 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years x   

18 - 65 years x   

Over 65 years     x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.  

The Plan sets out details of specific targeted housing services which will have a positive 
effect on older people, helping them to live well in their homes and communities through 
the delivery of strengths-based preventative services and promoting the move to more 
appropriate housing by providing specialist housing advice to help older people 

Page 1620



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

understand their housing options and supporting them towards tailored solutions 
through the Rehousing Solutions Team.  
 
The Plan also sets out how specialist accommodation and support pathways and 
employment support schemes will support younger people in Cardiff.   
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

None - all aspects of the Plan are designed to be inclusive and have a positive outcome 
for all those living in Cardiff.  
 

 
 
3.2 Disability 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment    x 

Physical Impairment   X 

Visual Impairment x   

Learning Disability   X 

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition   X 

Mental Health    X 

Substance Misuse   X 

Other    X 

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

All aspects of the Plan are designed to be inclusive, however, The Plan is a text document, 
those with a visual impairment would not be able to read it.  
 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

In order to ensure the Plan is available to all, it will be made available with a read aloud 
function.  
 

 
3.3 Gender Reassignment 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People   X 

Page 1621



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated, however careful monitoring of housing services will take 
place to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted.  

 
3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 
 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage  x  

Civil Partnership  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The Plan sets out housing services that are inclusive and available to those who are 
married or in a civil partnership. The Plan does set out homelessness and support 
services available specifically to those who are single.  
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated.  The Plan sets out housing services that are inclusive and 
available to those who are married or in a civil partnership.  However, careful monitoring 
of services will take place to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted.  
 
 
 

 
3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy   X 

Maternity   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

N/A  

Page 1622



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated, however careful monitoring of services will take place 
to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted.  
 

 
3.6 Race 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

White   X 

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups   X 

Asian / Asian British   X 

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British   X 

Other Ethnic Groups   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

N/A 
  

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated, however careful monitoring of services will take place 
to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted.  

 
 
 
 
3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist   x 

Christian   x 

Hindu   x 

Humanist   x 

Jewish   x 

Muslim   x 

Sikh   x 

Other   x 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

Page 1623



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

N/A 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated, however careful monitoring of services will take place 
to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted.  

 
3.8 Sex 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Men   X 

Women   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The Plan is inclusive and designed for all service users, whatever gender they identify 
as.  

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

No negative impact anticipated, however careful monitoring of services will take place 
to ensure that no service users are unduly impacted. 
 

 
3.9 Sexual Orientation 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  
 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual    X 

Gay Men   X 

Gay Women/Lesbians   X 

Heterosexual/Straight   X 

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

The Plan is inclusive and designed for all service users - no impact identified. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

N/A  

 
3.10  Welsh Language 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?  
 

Page 1624



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

 Yes No N/A 

Welsh Language  x  

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 

All Welsh language policies will be followed.  The Plan will be bilingual. 
 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 
 

 
4. Consultation and Engagement 
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups? 
 

N/A 

 
5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age None.   

Disability Ensure the availability of the ‘read aloud’ function when 
publishing the Plan to ensure those with a visual impairment 
are not negatively impacted in accessing the information.  

Gender Reassignment None. 

Marriage & Civil 
Partnership 

None. 

Pregnancy & Maternity None 

Race None 

Religion/Belief None. 

Sex None. 

Sexual Orientation None. 

Welsh Language None. 

Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the above 
groups] 

None. 

 
6. Further Action 
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  
 
7.       Authorisation 

Page 1625



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
 

Equality Impact Assessment  
Corporate Assessment Template 

 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area. 
 

Completed By: Joanne Welsh Date: 09/02/2022 

Designation: Financial Monitoring and Performance Manager  

Approved By: Helen Evans  

Designation: AD Housing & Communities  

Service Area: Housing & Communities  

 
7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.   

 
For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 2536 / 3262 or email equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk                         
 
 
 
 

Page 1626

mailto:equalityteam@cardiff.gov.uk


Page 1 of 11 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
ELY YOUTH ZONE 
 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE) 

 
AGENDA ITEM:  13  

 

  
Appendices 1-6 of this report are not for publication as they contain 

exempt information of the description contained in paragraphs 14 and 16 
of part 4 and paragraph 21 of part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 
 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To provide an update on the Ely Youth Zone project and to seek authority 

to prepare a Full Business Case. 

2. To seek authority to assemble land for the delivery of the Ely Youth Zone 
project. 

Background 
 
3. An opportunity has arisen for the Council to work with a national charity, 

OnSide, to deliver Wales’ first Youth Zone project.  

4. A Youth Zone is a state-of-the-art facility for young people providing 
access to a range of sport, arts, culture, education and leisure activities 
aimed at helping young people become happier, healthier and more 
aspirational young adults. The facilities are open to young people 
between the ages of 8 and 19 (or up to age 25 for young people with a 
disability), 7 days a week, 52 weeks a year. They are staffed by skilled 
and dedicated youth workers to support the personal development of 
young people. Whilst Youth Zones are independent organisations run by 
a charity, they work closely with the Council’s Youth Services providing an 
additional level of support for young people. 

5. There are currently 14 Youth Zones in England established by OnSide 
with a further 7 under development or progressing towards development. 
Their current network of Youth Zones engage with over 50,000 young 
people in some of the UK’s most disadvantaged communities.  

6. Each Youth Zone is owned and managed by a new charity established by 
OnSide and the local authority (the project partners). OnSide and the 
local authority are represented on the charity along with a range of local 

 

Page 1627

Agenda Item 13



Page 2 of 11 

stakeholders. The new charity will become a member of the OnSide 
network of Youth Zones benefitting from operational support, fund-raising 
support, training, development and progression opportunities, and 
national recognition.  

7. Confidential Appendix 1 sets out the funding strategy for the project, 
covering the pre-development stage (feasibility and business case); the 
development/construction stage; and the operational stage. In summary, 
the development is proposed to be funded 50% through a local capital 
contribution (which will be the Council’s responsibility to secure) and 50% 
through fund-raising (which will be OnSide’s responsibility to secure). The 
local capital contribution is normally either provided directly from local 
authority capital resources or through grants secured by the local 
authority from third parties, such as UK Government. For example, 
OnSide’s latest project in Preston has been supported by the UK 
Government’s Towns & Cities scheme, approved in January 2022. It is 
the Council’s intention to submit an application to the Levelling Up Fund 
to deliver the local capital contribution for a Youth Zone project in Ely.  

8. The cost of operation of the facility once delivered will become the 
responsibility of the newly created local charity. In the early years of the 
project (years 1 -3), a local revenue contribution to the running costs will 
be required of circa 1/3rd of the total running costs. This is to provide the 
new local charity with time to build-up their local fund-raising work.   The 
Council will be responsible for securing this local revenue contribution and 
will seek to utilise grant schemes available through UK Government and 
Welsh Government to meet this commitment.   

9. OnSide’s approach to supporting Youth Zones includes: 

Working with local stakeholders 
 
Local partnerships are an integral part of any new Youth Zone. We bring 
together our knowledge of building successful Youth Zones, with insights 
and input from the community that know and understand local needs 
best, to create something truly amazing for young people. 
 
Building design and development 
 
From the initial building design (which we constantly evolve using 
experience gained from the existing Network of Youth Zones), to the 
construction and internal specifications, we have developed the expertise 
to ensure every Youth Zone is delivered on time and on budget. 
 
Involving young people 
 
We involve young people throughout the process of developing every 
Youth Zone, after all it is their space. We work with them to develop and 
decide on the Youth Zone’s name and branding, its interior design, and to 
recruit the key staff who will run it. 
 
 
 

Page 1628



Page 3 of 11 

Fundraising and Marketing 
 
We work with the Youth Zone’s Board to raise funds for the cost of 
building a new Youth Zone, and the first three year’s running costs ahead 
of opening. We also support on internal and external communications, 
helping the local community understand how they can make the most of 
their soon-to-be Youth Zone. 

 
10. An external evaluation commissioned by OnSide in 2015 indicated that 

every £1 invested in Youth Zones by local authorities achieved a social 
return on investment of £6.66. The evaluation identified benefits for young 
people including health and wellbeing improvements, improved school 
attendance and reductions in crime and anti-social behaviour.  
 

11. More recent research has identified the reduction rate of ASB in areas 
surrounding Youth Zones as being between 50-70%. The centres also 
provide opportunities to enhance the skills of local young people to 
support them in becoming more work-ready through employability 
programmes and to offer volunteering and training opportunities for the 
wider community too.  

12. Capital Ambition, the administration’s five-year plan for the city includes a 
specific commitment that outlined “As a Child Friendly City, [we will] 
deliver dedicated youth zones in the east and the west of the city.” This 
was also outlined as a key element of the city’s investment and 
development agenda, reflecting the regeneration potential of the 
development. 

13. In addition, the City Recovery Strategy, Greener, Fairer, Stronger, 
outlines an ambition to take a more pro-active role to curate a city of 
networked centres that delivers for the economy, communities. This 
includes making it a priority to create safe and accessible local centres for 
everyone, particularly children and older people. 

14. A key priority for the administration is increased investment to support the 
development of integrated services for young people, targeting areas of 
greatest need. The establishment of the Youth Zone would represent a 
significant contribution to the Council’s commitment to improved 
integrated provision. It will be critical for the Council’s Youth Services 
team to be fully engaged in the development of the project at all stages 
including the Full Business Case. 

15. As part of the Southern Arc, Ely is an area of the city that has been 
identified as a focal point to address economic disparities. Unemployment 
rates in and around the area exceed the city average by circa 50%, with 
disproportionately more young people in these areas claiming 
unemployment benefits.  

 

 

 

Page 1629



Page 4 of 11 

Claimant Rate December 2021 
 

Area Claimants as a proportion of residents aged 16-64 

Cardiff 4.4 

Caerau 6.3 

Ely 7.6 

Source: Nomis 

 
16. The area has also suffered historically from high levels of unemployment 

(especially for younger people), low levels of economic activity and low 
educational attainment. The Council therefore recognises the need to 
invest in provision in and around the Ely area to support better economic 
outcomes, especially for young people.  

17. In response to this the Council is seeking to develop a masterplan for 
regeneration for Ely, that will address from a place-based perspective 
some of the persistent issues that have impacted on local communities. 
This includes issues relating to access of provision of support, facilities for 
young people, and the ability to access jobs and services.  

18. The need to modernise facilities, especially in terms of provision for young 
people, has also been recognised as an area that needs prioritisation and 
investment.  

19. In March 2021, the UK Government announced details of new UK-wide 
investment programmes in parallel with the Budget, including the £4.8bn 
Levelling Up Fund. 

20. Local authorities were chosen to lead bids to the Levelling Up Fund. A 
report was tabled to Cabinet on 17th June 2021 where the Council’s initial 
approach to the Levelling Up Fund was presented, which included 
prioritised projects for each of the city’s constituencies for which one bid 
per funding round is allowed. As part of the approach, it was agreed to 
include a Youth Zone for Ely as the project for the Cardiff West 
constituency.  

21. It is intended that the Levelling-Up proposal would act as initial match 
funding for the capital aspects of the scheme, with further support 
provided by the On Side charity itself.  

22. Whilst the Council has yet to respond to the Shared Prosperity Fund, it is 
also clear that funding may also be made available to support activities 
such as Youth Zones emerging from UK Government funding schemes.  

Issues 
 
23. In order to prepare a compelling application to the Levelling Up Fund and 

other potential funding sources, a Full Business Case needs to be 
developed. At this stage in the process, it is the Council’s capital 
contribution that is not as yet confirmed and therefore it is proposed that 
the costs associated with progressing the Full Business Case, as set out 

Page 1630



Page 5 of 11 

in Confidential Appendix 1 and detailed in Confidential Appendix 4, will be 
funded through a grant from the Council to OnSide using funds allocated 
in the Council’s budget. These costs will form part of the overall capital 
cost that will be shared with OnSide if the project subsequently 
progresses. During this phase, OnSide will provide a development 
management role co-ordinating a range of professionals and consultants 
to develop the scheme through to RIBA Stage 3 including the preparation 
and submission of a planning application. Confidential Appendix 6 
provides an overview of the added value OnSide brings to this phase of 
the project. 

24. It is the Council intention to submit an application to the Shared Prosperity 
Fund and/or other potential Welsh Government funding sources to secure 
the required local revenue contribution for the early years of operation. In 
the event that the Council is unsuccessful with these bids, a provisional 
allocation has been made in the Medium Term Financial Plan to meet 
these costs. 

25. A preferred site has been identified by the Council and OnSide, illustrated 
in the site plan attached at Confidential Appendix 2.  The site is made up 
of a number of smaller plots which need to be acquired by the Council to 
create a consolidated site of an appropriate size to deliver the Youth Zone 
project. Confidential Appendix 2 sets out the Council’s land assembly 
strategy. The Council has already begun the acquisition of plots on the 
site in advance of the approval of the Full Business Case to avoid the 
opportunity being lost to piecemeal development of the site.   

26. The site is considered an ideal location for a Youth Zone for a number of 
reasons, namely: 

 It offers a location that is easily accessible by public transport and 
active travel.  

 It offers a neutral territory for different communities that feels safe 
and accessible for young people across the west of the city.  

 It provides an opportunity to deliver further regeneration benefits 
and improvements to the local area.  

27. The Council has recently begun to prepare for the development of a new 
masterplan for the regeneration of Ely. The plan will be brought forward 
for discussion with the local community later in 2022. In the context of a 
new masterplan, the preferred site occupies a strategic gateway location 
which would benefit significantly from the delivery of a Youth Zone facility. 
However, should the Youth Zone project ultimately not progress, the land 
assembly undertaken in advance of the Full Business Case being 
approved would not be abortive as the site has significant potential for a 
range of alternative uses including residential-led development.   

28. As noted above, OnSide has delivered 14 Youth Zone projects across 
English local authority areas and has another 7 either under development 
or progressing towards development. Confidential Appendix 3 sets out 
the delivery strategy for the project which is predicated on a direct 
relationship between the Council and OnSide. The strategy proposed is 

Page 1631



Page 6 of 11 

essentially the same approach that has been adopted for the delivery of 
most of the Youth Zones delivered in England. In summary, the process is 
based on: 

 Appointing OnSide to manage the development of the business case 
and design process that will inform and form the basis of funding 
applications including a Levelling Up Fund (LUF) bid. 

 Should the LUF bid be successful, OnSide will then manage the 
delivery of the construction project. The appointment of the 
contractor will require a full and transparent public sector 
procurement which encourages local contractors and modern 
methods of construction to support the Council’s One Planet Cardiff 
de-carbonisation agenda and deliver social value benefits. 

 OnSide would manage the establishment of a new local charity to 
own and operate the new facility and work with the charity to 
establish a sustainable financial footing. 

Next Steps 

29. This report sets out the process for the delivery of a Youth Zone in Ely.  
The project is currently at the feasibility stage and subject to the approval 
of a Full Business Case (FBC) by Cabinet setting out detailed costs and 
confirmed means of meeting those costs.  The work to develop the Full 
Business Case involves the development of the design scheme to RIBA 
Stage 3 to enable a planning application and to support a bid to the 
Levelling Up Fund.  It is proposed that the Council provides OnSide with a 
grant to develop the Full Business Case from the funding sources set out 
in Confidential Appendix 1.  

30. The Full Business Case will include: 

 Detailed costs for delivery of the development including 
progressing the design scheme to RIBA Stage 3; 

 Submission of a planning application to confirm deliverability and 
any related cost implications; 

 Confirmation of the funding approach; 

 Assessment of the overall sustainability of the project; 

 Certainty over operational revenue projections; 

 Ongoing risks associated with the project;  

 An assessment of delivery mechanisms, and the skills and 
capacity to deliver the project; and  

 Any taxation implications.   

31. All of the above issues, and any legal agreements to be entered into will 
need to be the subject of due diligence as part of the development (and 
any subsequent approval) of the Full Business Case. 

Page 1632



Page 7 of 11 

32. The Full Business Case will also provide additional detail on the operating 
cost of the Youth Zone as set out in Confidential Appendix 1. It is 
intended that this will be met by a mixture of fundraising (including from 
OnSide’s founder patron scheme), membership fees, and other local 
contributions.  Whilst the full detail for the operating costs will be 
determined by the business case, an allocation has been included within 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan in anticipation of the project 
progressing, based upon the level of funding provided by local authorities 
in the Youth Zones currently operating across the UK.  

33. Completion of the Full Business Case and a planning outcome are 
essential to the preparation of a credible Levelling Up Fund bid, as a key 
criteria for the scheme is deliverability certainty. Whilst the details of 
Round 2 of the Levelling Up Fund are yet to be published, the 
commissioning of the FBC will include a requirement to align with the 
Levelling Up Fund process.  

34. The decision to progress the project will ultimately be dependent on a 
successful business case appraisal and is subject to future Cabinet 
approval.  

Integration with Youth Services 

35. To date, the project has been led from a regeneration/development 
perspective within the Council. OnSide has had initial discussions with the 
Youth Service, mainly to understand the local environment to help identify 
the best location to deliver the project. The Council’s Youth Service will be 
invited by OnSide to play an active role in the development of the Full 
Business Case and to be engaged in the long term operation of the 
facility. The intention is to provide additionality to existing provision and to 
ensure there is a seamless link to the overall programme of youth 
services in the west of the city.  

Reason for Recommendations 
 
36. To progress the Ely Youth Zone project. 

Financial Implications 
 
37. The business case proposed will need to set out the Council’s 

contributions to the project, and also ensure the sustainability, 
governance approach and deliverability of proposals. Capital 
contributions are likely to involve the long term lease of land, contributions 
to construction development costs, with a revenue contribution towards 
initial operating costs. The Councils capital programme approved in 
March 2021, included £1 million, with £0.8 million to be used towards 
initial land acquisition, and subject to approval of a grant award outlined in 
the report, £0.2 million towards design and professional fees. A further 
£0.2 million is available from Earmarked Revenue Reserves towards the 
development of the business case, the total amount of £0.4 million being 
the initial grant proposed to be provided to support the business case, 
design and development of a Youth Zone. Initial development costs may 
be the subject of grant bids, with options to repay business case 

Page 1633



Page 8 of 11 

development costs being considered as part of the project. In the event 
that a project does not proceed, costs may be abortive. No further capital 
allocation from the Council is included in the capital programme. 

38. The report includes a funding, delivery and land strategy, all of which will 
need to be developed in detail with partners as part of a robust business 
case to be considered by Cabinet. This due diligence will also support 
grant applications for external funding and determine detailed financial 
implications including taxation and ongoing operating costs. The report 
sets out the intention to seek significant external grant, in line with the 
Council’s Capital strategy of working with partners. Further land 
acquisitions will be subject to success in attracting external funding. 

39. The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27 includes 
an initial allowance towards operating costs that may be required as part 
of any grant agreement in the initial years of the facility and service.  
 

Legal Implications  
 
40. This report identifies the need to assemble a site for the proposed Ely 

Youth Zone project and to prepare a full business case, approval of which 
is intended to be brought back to Cabinet.  
 

41. In relation to property matters, it is noted negotiation have commenced 
with existing land owners and once agreed further officer reports and will 
be required prepared setting out the terms and valuations upon which 
detailed legal and financial advice can be provided. It is also noted that 
compulsory powers may need to be considered in the event agreements 
cannot be reached, which will also require further detailed consideration 
and decisions before proceeding. Consideration should be given to 
alternative uses for the land should the project not proceed beyond final 
business case. 
 

42. Further advice and decisions will be required with regard to award of any 
grant funding for the scheme to be made by the Council, and construction 
and letting of the land as the project progress and more detail is available. 

Equalities & Welsh Language 

43. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh 
public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties Councils must, in 
making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. Protected 
characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race 
– including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) 
Pregnancy and maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual 
orientation (i)Religion or belief –including lack of belief.  

44. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 

Page 1634



Page 9 of 11 

under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty 
Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate how it 
has discharged its duty. 

45. An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities 
implications of the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from 
socio-economic disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the 
outcomes of a Equalities Impact Assessment.  

46. The decision maker should be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 
47. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places 

a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-
being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, 
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.  In discharging its duties 
under the Act, the Council has set and published well being objectives 
designed to maximise its contribution to achieving the national well being 
goals. The wellbeing objectives are set out in Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 
2020 -23.   

48. When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all 
reasonable steps to meet its wellbeing objectives. This means that the 
decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will 
contribute towards meeting the wellbeing objectives and must be satisfied 
that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those objectives. 

49. The wellbeing duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to 
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take 
account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in 
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must: 

 Look to the long term 

 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems 

 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being 

goals 

 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions 

 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them 

 

50. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible on line using 
the link below:  

Page 1635

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf


Page 10 of 11 

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-
generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en  

 
Property Implications 

 
51. Strategic Estates have secured a parcel of land and have opened 

discussions with the remaining landowners as outlined in the Land 
Strategy schedule at Appendix 2. Advanced progress has been made 
with one party being the main site to date and initial discussions have 
taken place with the remainder. 

52. The Council would wish to acquire by agreement but should the need 
arise, the Council may need to consider enacting its Compulsory 
Purchase Powers to complete the site acquisition in order to provide the 
land mass required by the operator. The Council would prefer to avert this 
action and work with land owners on the regeneration of this prominent 
corner situated on Cowbridge Road West. 

HR Implications 

53. There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations set out 
in this Cabinet report. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1) Delegate authority to the Director of Economic Development in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Investment and Development, 
the Section 151 Officer and the Legal Officer to acquire the land 
illustrated in Confidential Appendix 2 in line with the funding strategy set 
out in Confidential Appendix 1. 

 
2) Authorise the development of the Full Business Case including the 

submission of a planning application in-line with the financial strategy set 
out in Confidential Appendix 1 and the delivery strategy set out in 
Confidential Appendix 3 and to return to Cabinet for final approval. 

 
3) Delegate authority to the Director of Economic Development in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Investment and Development, 
the Section 151 Officer and the Legal Officer to prepare and submit a 
Levelling Up Fund bid for the Ely Youth Zone. 

 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Neil Hanratty 
Director of Economic Development 
 

4 March 2022 
 

 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Confidential Appendix 1: Funding Strategy 
Confidential Appendix 2: Land Strategy 

Page 1636

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 11 of 11 

Confidential Appendix 3: Delivery Strategy 
Confidential Appendix 4: Cardiff Feasibility and Development Costs Summary 
Confidential Appendix 5: Grant Agreement OnSide Feasibility Study Template 
Confidential Appendix 6: Added Value in Youth Zone Delivery  

Page 1637



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1639

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1641

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1649

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1651

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1669

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1683

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 11 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 

CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 
 

 
PROCUREMENT OF A CONTRACTING PARTNER TO DELIVER 
THE CHANNEL VIEW REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT & 
ACQUISITION OF A NEW BUILD OPPORTUNITY 
 
HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE) 

AGENDA ITEM:  14  
 

  
Appendices 3 and 5 are not for publication as they contain exempt 

information of the description contained in paragraph 14 of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 

 
Reason for this Report 
 
1. To provide an update to Cabinet regarding the progress to date of the 

council’s house building programme  
 
2. To approve the Council entering into a legal agreement with Ventura 

properties (Cardiff) Ltd for the acquisition of land comprising new flats to 
be built at Wyndham Crescent, Riverside for an agreed contract sum, 
subject to the satisfactory completion of due diligence, a robust financial 
viability assessment and the proposed scheme achieving a planning 
consent.  

 
3. To approve the Council undertaking a procurement process to appoint a 

Contracting Partner via an approved framework to deliver all phases of 
the Channel View Redevelopment project.  

 
Background  
 
4. Cardiff Council is delivering an exciting and ambitious housing 

development programme which will provide more than 4,000 new homes 
of the highest quality in a wide range of locations across the City. At least 
2,800 of these will be new council homes and 1,200 homes for sale.   

 
5. The  programme will deliver new homes of different size and design, but 

all built to meet key quality requirements, regardless of tenure, that will 
meet a wide range of identified housing needs.    

 
6. A number of new-build delivery routes have been implemented. These 

include the Cardiff Living Programme, an additional build programme, the 
purchase of property from the market and developer led package deals.  

  

 

Page 1689

Agenda Item 14



Page 2 of 11 

7. A key  aspiration is to build new low carbon homes at scale and pace 
directly complements the Welsh Governments house building and 
enhanced quality targets. 

  
Progress to Date  
 
8. As of February 2022 the new build programme has delivered 806 homes 

of all tenures which includes 613 council homes and 193 homes for sale.  
A further 522 homes are currently being built on site, 506 homes with 
planning consent in place and a further 1,729 homes in the pipeline.  

 
9. The programme currently includes 59 confirmed sites which combined 

have the capability of delivering around 3,600 new homes in total. We 
continue to assess new sites to be added into the pipeline to ensure that 
the longer-term target of 4,000 new homes can be achieved.  
 
Progress to date:  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

10 Although general progress is still hampered by the pandemic and on-
going issues with the supply of materials and labour caused by the 
Pandemic and Brexit, progress is still good with notable achievements in 
the year including;  

 

 The approval of planning consent for a number of our large 
projects;  
o Bute Street, Community Living Project  
o Channel View regeneration scheme  

Page 1690



Page 3 of 11 

o Riverside/Canton Community Centre redevelopment  
o Waungron Road transport hub and supported housing scheme  

 

 We have also achieved a start on site for our new community living 
buildings at Maelfa and on the former Community Centre at St. 
Mellons – these two schemes will deliver over 100 new older 
person flats, agile working spaces and a wide range of community 
facilities to provide services to the new residents and wider 
community.  

 

 A start on site at Wakehurst Place, St. Mellons and Iorwerth Jones 
in Llanishen, both scheme delivering sustainable, low-carbon family 
homes. These will be completed and handed over in 2023.  

 

 Our Pasivhaus scheme at Highfields will be completed and 
handover over this summer and we have completed our first Net-
Zero carbon modular build at Crofts Street in Plasnewydd.  

 

 We will complete the first phase of energy efficient, low-carbon 
homes at the former Eastern High school site in Rumney this 
Spring. The interest in properties to buy on this site has been very 
impressive with over 500 buyers having registered to buy a new 
home. The first release of 20 homes for sale was extremely 
successful with all of the homes being reserved. This proves that 
the appetite to purchase new low-carbon, high quality, sustainable 
homes is very much there which bodes well for our new build 
aspirations.  

 
Acquisition Opportunity  

 
11 The council has been approached by developer Ventura properties 

(Cardiff) Ltd to consider an acquisition of new flats once built on the 
former Seal & Co building site on Wyndham Crescent, Cardiff. The 
scheme will deliver new flats suitable for older people that will meet a 
strategic housing need in an area of the city in which we have a very high 
demand for new council housing but scarce existing stock and extremely 
limited opportunities to build ourselves.  

 
12 The site is very well located in terms of access to the city centre and to 

nearby amenities along Cowbridge Road.  A bus stop is located directly 
outside of the site and a doctor’s survey adjoins the site.  

 
13 The proposed scheme will deliver 30 x 1 bed older person apartments, all 

with access to private outdoor space. Indicative elevations of the 
proposed scheme are provided in appendix 1.  

 
14 Pre-application planning advice has been sought by the contractor.  This 

advice has led to the scheme being scaled back from the original 
proposal of 35 apartments and reorientated in order to improve access 
into the car park. The design process is on-going and entering into an 
agreement to purchase the property is conditional on the developer 

Page 1691



Page 4 of 11 

obtaining a planning consent and securing the ownership of all of the 
land required to deliver the project.  

 
15 The properties will be designed to be fully compliant with Welsh 

Government’s Design Quality Requirements (DQR).   
 
16 An in-principle agreement at this stage will enable the council to have an 

option on the acquisition opportunity whilst the scheme detail is 
developed and we are then able to undertake all necessary due diligence 
to determine if this opportunity is viable for us. This includes a robust 
review of the proposed fixed price.  

 
Issues 

 
17 Costs – the scheme is being offered to the Council under a ‘package 

deal’ arrangement. ‘Package deals’ are where a contractor takes the lead 
in procuring the acquisition, design and construction of a project. In such 
arrangements this must be an opportunity that only the developer can 
deliver to the council. 

  
18 The Council will enter into an appropriate form of agreement to purchase 

the development only once the total schemes costs have been 
independently reviewed by Chartered Quantity Surveyors on behalf of 
Cardiff Council and confirmed to be consistent with current build costs 
and once a positive viability assessment is undertaken.  

 
19 Procurement due diligence has been undertaken to ensure the council 

proposed acquisition/is compliant with the Public Contracts Regulations 
(2015). External Legal advice has been sought on this and contained in 
Exempt Appendix 5. 

 
20 There are a number of conditions that must be discharged by the 

developer before the council can enter into a legal agreement. These are 
listed below: 
a. A satisfactory planning permission being granted for a 30 unit scheme 

including for any Section 106 Agreement; 
b. The developer owning the land within the project redline 
c. A satisfactory review of the proposed scheme costs  
d. A positive financial viability assessment of the total scheme costs 

using the Proval viability tool.  
e. Formal approval of the SAB proposal for the scheme  
f. Completion of due diligence of the developer to ensure ability to 

deliver the project 
g. Satisfactory completion of the procurement due diligence as detailed 

in legal advice at Appendix [ 4  ] 
 

21 The conditions relating to formal planning approval and SAB approval 
must be satisfied before completion of the acquisition but may not 
prevent an exchange of contract. 

  
22 The scheme is accounted for within the current HRA Business Plan and 

within the current Housing development programme 

Page 1692



Page 5 of 11 

Channel View Redevelopment Scheme   
 
23 This project represents the largest and most exciting holistic estate 

redevelopment proposal in the council’s development programme. 
Proposing the redevelopment of around 180 existing properties on 
Channel View road including a council owned 13 storey tower block, 
replacing these with the construction of around 360 new mixed tenure 
homes for the existing community across various phases. Objectives 
include low-carbon development, delivering highly energy efficient 
homes, better connectivity for the estate and for the wider community, 
improvements to the public open Space at the Marl, and the creation of 
well-managed, attractive public realm using green infrastructure and 
SUDS.  

 
24 The council has been consulting with residents on this estate since 2016 

when an estate improvement scheme and the refurbishment of the 
existing tower block was being proposed. During the development of both 
proposals it was discovered that much of the low-rise houses and blocks 
of flats on the estate were suffering from significant structural movement. 
Many blocks seemingly beyond economic repair and the costs to retain 
and refurbish the tower block, dealing with the external and internal 
issues the block faces were becoming increasingly unviable.  

 
25 In 2017 the council put on hold the plans and undertook detailed 

consultation with all residents affected by the proposals to instead bring 
forward a holistic redevelopment of the estate. A master-planning design 
team was appointed to develop a high-level masterplan and residents 
were consulted on these proposals.  

 
26 In December 2021 full planning consent was granted for the Overall 

Masterplan and the detail of Phase 1 and the Development team have 
recommissioned the design team to develop the tender documents 
needed to procure a Contractor.  
 

Issues 
 
27 The Channel View project is now at a critical stage with Planning consent 

in place, residents living within Phase 1 being relocated to enable the first 
phase of development taking place and a team appointed to develop the 
tender pack and undertake procurement.   

 
28 Initially Cabinet gave approval to procure a contractor to build out phase 

1. However, as the scheme has been developed further and we have 
undertaken more detailed resident engagement it has become obvious 
that a different approach to procuring a partner is needed. Appointing 
contractors separately for each phase of development will be a 
piecemeal approach, it will make the scheme longer to deliver and could 
be more costly in the longer term and this will not be a satisfactory 
approach for residents. It will also be very resource intensive for the 
council’s Development team as we would need to manage a separate 
tender process for each phase of development and potentially have 
different consultants designing each subsequent phase.  

Page 1693



Page 6 of 11 

 
29 Instead, Cabinet is being asked to approve the principle of tendering for a 

partner contractor to deliver the entire project as opposed to just phase 1.  
 

30 The scope of the commission would include:  

 The construction of Phase 1  

 The design development and planning for all future phases  

 Resident engagement  

 Demolition of existing homes  

 Construction of all future phases.  
 

31 This approach mirrors many aspects of the Cardiff Living partnership and 
the successful bidder would need a core project team of staff and 
consultants capable of delivering a project of this scale, including a 
design team to develop options, plans and submit planning applications 
for all future phases, manage the pre-development process to discharge 
planning conditions and undertake all necessary work to start on site and 
manage the construction of each phase. This approach would ensure 
that there is better co-ordination between all phases, ensure better 
engagement with residents, provide better value for money, consistency 
of quality and ensure that the redevelopment can move forward at pace 
by removing the gap between phases of development.  

 
32 Furthermore, Cabinet is being asked to approve the principle of using the 

UK Governments Crown Commercial Framework to procure a partner 
contractor. This UK Government Framework includes a Residential 
Construction Lot for Wales with contractors with a proven track record of 
delivering a redevelopment projects on the scale of Channel View. This 
would offer a sensible and robust route to market with identified 
contractors capable of delivering the scheme.  

 
33 The gross costs of delivering the entire scheme are estimated to be in 

the region of £85 million and Phase 1 is currently estimated to be in the 
region of £16 million due to the early infrastructure work required. A sum 
of £41 million has been assumed in the current HRA capital programme, 
to deliver the Council homes after making assumptions for income in the 
form of property sold on the open market and new homes sold through 
the Council’s Assisted Home Ownership Scheme. It is important that a 
new development of this scale retains a mix of tenure.  

 
34 A detailed cost assessment is currently underway, so the figures 

identified above are estimated, however a robust viability assessment for 
phase 1 and the remaining phases will be undertaken prior to a 
procurement process commencing.  

 
Local Member consultation  
 
35 Local members have been fully consulted regarding the Channel View 

project and wider public consultation is currently underway.  
 
36 Local members have been consulted regarding the updated proposals for 

Wyndham Crescent  

Page 1694



Page 7 of 11 

 
Reason for Recommendations  
 
37 Firstly, to enable the council to take an opportunity to acquire new build 

scheme in a Ward of very high demand, particularly for accessible and 
adaptable older person flats.  
 

38 Secondly, to enable the council to move to the delivery stage of the 
Channel View redevelopment scheme by tendering for a contractor 
partner to help deliver all phases of the project.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
39 The report proposes delegating the entering into a package deal for 

Housing.  A sum of £5 million is included in the Housing Capital 
Programme as part of the budget proposals.  

 
40 The report highlights a number of significant conditions and uncertainties 

still required to be met. The heads of terms includes estimated costs and 
values which are subject to independent valuation and are based on cost 
estimates from September 2020. Supply chain impacts and costs 
increases since that date may impact on any updated heads of terms.   

 
41 Having regard to an updated viability assessment is essential in 

determining the affordability and sustainability of the HRA business plan 
and will this will need to be undertaken as part of the due diligence in the 
exercise of any approved delegation by Cabinet for the project. 

 
42 The report also sets out an approach to undertake a procurement to 

secure a development partner in respect to Channel View 
redevelopment.  

 
43 A report previously considered by cabinet in November 2020 highlighted 

the wider financial implications of the overall proposal. It is essential that 
prior to enter into any agreements to proceed with phased developments, 
a full business case and approved viability is agreed by Cabinet 
highlighting the gross costs, income streams, timing and risks that are 
consistent with the amounts included in the budget framework for the 
development of new housing. This will also need to include the cost of 
any wider community facilities to be included as part of the 
redevelopment.  

 
Legal Implications  
 
Legal Property Implications 

 
44 Section 120 of the Local Government Act 1972 enables the Council to 

acquire land for either (a) the benefit, improvement or development of its 
area or (b) for any of it functions under any enactment. Specific power 
under Section 17 Housing Act 1985 enables the Council as local housing 
authority to acquire properties or land for housing accommodation. 

 

Page 1695



Page 8 of 11 

45 Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 enables the Council to 
dispose of land in any manner it may wish. 

 
46 The Council’s Disposal and Acquisition of Land Procedure Rules requires 

the decision maker to have regard to advice from a qualified valuer, to 
ensure value for money.  

 
47 External legal advice has been obtained in connection with the proposal 

at Wyndham as set out in Confidential Appendix [ 5], which Legal 
Services have been informed has been implemented and minimises risk 
to the satisfaction of the legal advisors. Due to the passage of time since 
the actions were taken, it is recommended that confirmation be obtained 
from that the position has not changed prior to proceeding . It is noted 
this matter is delegated to the Corporate Director for Housing and 
Communities, who will need to consider all the property and procurement 
legal implication relating to this matter before proceeding. 

 
 
Procurement Legal Implications  
 
48 The report recommends (in recommendation 3) that approval to 

commence procurement off a framework.  Any Call off contract must be 
carried out in accordance with the Call off Process set out in the 
Framework Agreement.  It should be noted that the terms and conditions 
will be those as set down by the Framework Agreement and the client 
department should satisfy themselves as to whether they are suitable for 
their requirements. “ 

 
Equalities & Welsh Language 
 
49 In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 

Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh 
public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties Councils must, in 
making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. Protected 
characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race 
– including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) 
Pregnancy and maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual 
orientation (i)Religion or belief –including lack of belief.  

 
50 When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 

have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers (WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty 
Equality Act 2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate how it 
has discharged its duty. 

 
51 An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities 

implications of the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from 

Page 1696

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf


Page 9 of 11 

socio-economic disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the 
outcomes of a Equalities Impact Assessment.  
 

52 The decision maker should be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

53 The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places 
a ‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-
being goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, 
more equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language, and is globally responsible.  In discharging its duties 
under the Act, the Council has set and published well being objectives 
designed to maximise its contribution to achieving the national well being 
goals. The wellbeing objectives are set out in Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 
2020 -23.   

 
54 When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all 

reasonable steps to meet its wellbeing objectives. This means that the 
decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will 
contribute towards meeting the wellbeing objectives and must be 
satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those 
objectives. 

 
55 The wellbeing duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 

‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to 
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take 
account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in 
Wales in the future. In doing so, the Council must: 
 

 Look to the long term 

 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems 

 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being 

goals 

 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions 

 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them 

 
56 The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 

with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible on line 
using the link below:  

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-
act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1697

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 10 of 11 

Policy and Budget Framework  
 

57 The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposal is within the 
Policy and Budget Framework, if it is not then the matter must be referred 
to Council. 

 
HR Implications 
 
58 There are no HR implications for this report. 
 
Property Implications 
 
59 The Strategic Estates Department has been providing advice and 

assistance on certain property matters in respect of the procurement of a 
contracting partner to deliver the Channel View Redevelopment Project 
and acquisition of a new build opportunity.  

 
60 Specifically, the Estates team has been involved with the assessment 

and agreement of an in principle redline plan to define the area available 
for development. The Estates team will also instruct and advise on an 
independent valuation to inform any land transfers and financial 
appraisal. Any property transactions or valuations required to deliver any 
proposals should be done so in accordance with the Council’s Asset 
Management process and in consultation with Strategic Estates and 
relevant service areas. 

 
61 There are no further specific property implications to be reported at this 

stage, though it should be noted that the Corporate Property Strategy 
2021-26 (CPS) was approved at Cabinet in December 2021. The CPS 
sets out in detail on the Council’s wider property strategy going forwards, 
including relevant targets over the next five years such as on carbon 
reduction, which may have a bearing how the proposals are developed. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to 
 
1. Note the progress made to date on the council’s new build housing 

programme and the ambition to deliver at least 4,000 low-carbon homes 
in the longer term.  

 
2. delegate authority to the Corporate Director for People & Communities, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing & Communities and 
Head of Estates to enter into a legal agreement (following satisfaction of 
the conditions highlighted in this report) with Ventura properties (Cardiff) 
Ltd for the acquisition of 30 new apartments on land at Wyndham 
Crescent, Cardiff in accordance with the Heads of Terms substantially in 
the form contained in at Appendix 3  

 
3. approve the progression of the Channel View redevelopment scheme 

and agree that procurement commence for a Contracting Partner to 
deliver the entire project including phase 1, the design development, 

Page 1698



Page 11 of 11 

consultation and planning of future phases, the demolition of the existing 
housing stock and the construction of future phases (subject to viability).  

 
4. approve the use of the Crown Commercial Services Framework 

(RM6088: Construction Works and Associated Services, Lot 6.3: 
Residential - Wales) to procure the Contracting partner.  

 
5.  delegate authority to the Corporate Director People & Communities, in 

consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing & Communities and 
the Corporate Director Resources to approve the evaluation criteria and 
tender documents and manage the procurement process to the stage of 
identifying the preferred bidder. 

 
 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Sarah McGill 
Corporate Director People & 
Communities  
 

4 March 2022 
 

 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
 
Appendix 1 – Plans for Wyndham Crescent  
Appendix 2 – Masterplan for the Channel View redevelopment scheme & 

consultation material.  
Appendix 3 – Draft Heads of Terms for Wyndham Crescent (confidential)  
Appendix 4 – Crown Commercial Framework, Lot 6.3 Residential Wales  
Appendix 5 – Confidential legal advice 
 
 

Page 1699



This page is intentionally left blank



cycle store

bins

lift

clnr’s
cup

low 600mm
boundary wall

low 600mm
boundary wall

low 600mm
boundary wall

low 600mm
boundary wall

1800mm
boundary wall

1.
8m

 p
av

em
en

t

1.
8m

 p
av

em
en

t
1.

8m
 p

av
em

en
t

Wyndham Crescent

MAIN 
ENTRANCE

SERVICE 
ENTRANCE

BUS STOP OR 
PLANTING

4.5m wide
entrance

road

EXISTING CAR PARKING

 CAR PARKING

obscured glass

GROUND FLOOR PLAN 100 @ A1

1st & 2nd FLOOR PLAN 100 @ A1 3rd FLOOR PLAN 100 @ A1

We believe there to be no overlooking issues - 
OR we suggest 1.8m obscured screen.
The suggested 3 floors on the northern boundary
meets the 45 degree rule

There is an opportunity to provide additional amenity space
in the form of a green roof terrace.

ROOF TERRACE

Client

Project

Drawing

DrawnDateScale

VENTURA

PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

A-P-S-001  0
Drawing No.

1:100 @ A1  

Revision

CheckedStatus

CROWN HOUSE  

11-13 Penhill Rd   Cardiff   CF119UP
Tel. 07799 862959  www.mjaarchitects.com

N

30 x 1 Bed Apartment Approx 52 sqm

Appendix 1

P
age 1701



Client

Project

Drawing

Scale

Ventura

PROPOSED SITE PLAN  

A-P-S-02       
Drawing No.

1:250 @ A3  

Revision

CheckedStatus

Crown House 

11-13 Penhill Rd

  
 Cardiff

  
CF119UP

Tel. 07799 862959
                                            hello@mattjonesarchitects.co.uk

Sketch Information

P
age 1702



Design Commision for Wales 
 Design Response Document – October 2020

Appendix 2

P
age 1703



Contents

0. Introduction
1. Masterplan Framework & Vison
2. Opportunities & Constraints
3. Masterplan Structuring Elements
4. Design Development
5. Masterplan Design Parameters
 - Uses Plan
 - Movement Diagram
6. Phase 1 
7. Green Infrastructure & Open Space (WYG)
8. Architectural Design & Character
 - Housing Squares Typology Study
 - Shared Surface Streets Typology Study
 - Architectural Design - Buildings
 - Architectural Design - Streets
 - Architectural Design - Biophillic Elements (over 55’s)
 - Main Square - CGI Views
9. Energy Strategy

Appendix A - The Bridge
Appendix B - Public Consultation

P
age 1704



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   3

0. Introduction

This document has been prepared by Powell Dobson 
Architects and its design team to provide a narrative for the 
design development of the emerging masterplan.

We understand the Council’s vision and desire  to create 
a recognisable, legible, desirable place to live and visit.  
Channel View can become a place with a clear identity in 
terms of urban design concept and architectural language, 
and a benchmark for high quality design and placemaking.

It can become an accessible and well-connected to the wider 
city through new and improved green infrastructure networks 
and safe pedestrian and cycle routes between communities.

We can create a greener, more sustainable neighbourhood 
focused around a series of high quality community spaces 
encouraging incidental, social interaction through a variety of 
different uses for the benefit of the whole community – new 
and existing.  Providing ‘living streets’ creating life between 
buildings. 

And we can create contemporary, sustainable,  desirable 
homes that are designed to improve well-being through 
access to green spaces and nature, with layouts have the 
flexibility to adapt to the changing pattern of family living.

This document sets out our vision, summarises the 
opportunities ans constraints of the site, identifies the key 
structuring elements of the masterplan and how they have 
developed into  the emerging masterplan.

Project Team:

Architects & Masterplanners: Powell Dobson Architects

Landscape Architects: WYG

Structural & Civil Engineers: Cambria

M&E Engineers: McCann & Partners

Project Manager & Cost Consultant: Blake Morgan 

Planning Consultant: Amity Planning Consultants

P
age 1705



1.  Masterplan Framework & Vision
Previous Masterplan Framework

P
age 1706



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   5

Vision

To Build on Key principles of Existing Masterplans:

Widening of Channel view – creation of an “avenue” to 
structure development

Creation of a “destination piece” of public realm to orientate 
the development

Creating key connections between Channel View Road and 
The Marl – secondary streets

Density/scale near river edge

New footbridge to link The Marl and Hamadryad Park

To Strengthen these Foundation Principles with 
4 Themes of Our Vision:

Urban Green Connectivity – wider green infrastructure 
network linking the city and connect the 3 parks: 
Grangemoor, Heol Ferry and Hamadryad

Identity – the “greening” of Channel View to improve the 
estate’s connection with The Marl

“Living Streets” – life between buildings to create a greener 
more sustainable neighbourhood

Sustainable, Flexible and Biophilic Living – a “place” to 
foster a healthy, balanced and cohesive community

P
age 1707



2. Opportunities & Constraints
Opportunities & Constraints Plan

P
age 1708



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   7

Existing Site Photographs

Channel View Leisure Centre  

The Marl

Grangemoor Park 

Hamadryad Park 

3G Pitch, The Marl 

Channel View View South towards the site  

P
age 1709



3. Masterplan Structuring Elements 

Main street: Avenue 

The continuation and redevelopment of Channel View Road as a tree  lined 
‘avenue’ to structure the development. 

The widening of Channel view  from Ferry Road to our site, by utilising the tree 
lined edge of the park as a new verge with a new footpath/cycleway along side it. 

New formalised visitor parking for the park and pitches provides an improved 
outlook for existing residents and creates a gateway to mark the approach to this 
new neighbourhood.

Within our site verges to both sides of the formal avenue create an improved 
outlook for existing residents, and a high quality setting for the new homes with 
opportunities for rain gardens, swales, and structure planting

Housing Squares 

Creation of housing squares designed around private shared 
community green spaces focusing on biophilic design, incorporating 
growing space and play for residents only, pulling The Marl,  and its 
influence through the development.

These development parcels front both the Main Avenue and the park, 
and are accessed from the secondary shared surface streets.

They are designed to accommodate a range of housing typologies , 
including houses, flats, and hybrid blocks to allow flexibility in future 
phases Through the housing squares typology the masterplan is 
flexible enough to accommodate a number of mix options. 

Each square has the potential to be explored  around a different 
theme, in both architecture and landscape character adding richness 
to the street scene and supporting the creation of a distinct new 
neighbourhood.

Main Square 

A new square  creates a sense of place deep within the site  

Formed at the junction of the Main Avenue, a new connection to South Clive 
Street , the route out to the destination space within the Marl and the improved 
pedestrian connection into Windsor Quay to the South.

Opportunities for increased scale around this square as a transition between 
Channel View road, the Main avenue, and the River Frontage to the West.

The Masterplan has been developed around  a number of structuring elements that help provide distinct character, legibility, and identity in order to ensure a real sense of place. Each of these 
structuring elements is explained in more detail in the following sections.

P
age 1710



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   9

City Wide Connectivity 

Create a Green Infrastructure Framework to link Channel View to its 
wider surrounding communities with new pedestrian and cycle links.  

A new East-West pedestrian and cycle link connects 3 parks: 
Grangemoor, Heol Ferry and Hamadryad, to the Marl and provides a 
green route between the Taff and Ely Trails

Allow space for the integration of a new footbridge connection 
across the river to create safe pedestrian and cycle routes between 
communities on both sides of the river and Cardiff Bay beyond 

Provide a new bus route connection from Channel View road to 
South Clive Street 

Provide improved meaningful pedestrian connections into Windosr 
Quay to the South 

River Frontage 

The location for phase 1, the replacement for the tower block. Increased 
scale, creates a  landmark feature of this edge , highly visible from 
around the area and the wider Bay

Make the most of river views by setting the liner edge of the blocks 
back from the river edge maximising the number of new homes that 
have a river views,

Opportunity for striking, distinct, architecture

Potential for commercial ground floor uses here adjacent to the park, 
the Cardiff Bay trail and the new footbridge across the river.

Green Infrastructure

Urban green connectivity will create a Green Infrastructure network 
with a landscape strategy for ‘Living Streets’ focused on SuDS 
features: amenity value, drainage, biodiversity.

Create a new focus within the Marl as high quality City Park and 
the setting for the regeneration of Channel View.

Street trees to green’ the arrival and create a strong landscape 
character to the Main Avenue. Principle and incidental public open 
spaces contribute to legibilty and character along this main route 
through the site

Introduce a series of community green spaces within the housing 
squares focusing on biophilic design incorporating growing space 
and play for residents only.

The grain of the proposed development extends through the 
‘The Marl’, ‘pulling’ the green space and its influence through the 
development.

P
age 1711



Previous Masterplan Iteration 08.04.20

Scale increases along the river 
frontage - up to 12 storeys

Improved pedestrian 
connections into Windsor 
Quay

New vehicular connection into 
South Clive Street 

Main Square framed by 
apartments up to 4/5 storey  

Phase 1, replacement for 
the Tower along the River 
Frontage  

Secondary space creates 
positive edge up against 
existing boundaries 

Main Street : Avenue
Formal Tree lined avenue 

Community green space at the 
heart of each housing square 

2 storey housing to reflect 
adjacent development 

Secondary shared surface 
streets  with opportunity for 
swales, rain gardens and raised 
planters

Increased scale adjacent to the 
park edge

New strategic East West 
pedestrian and cycle link 

Widening of Channel View to 
create  better approach and 
green avenue

Shared street open out to 
provide open aspect into park

Create a new focus within the 
Marl as high quality City Park 

Create destination space with 
potential for commercial units 
within grd floor of phase 1

PrecedentIndicative link to new 
footbridge 

Swales along park edge soften 
frontage 

4. Design Development 

P
age 1712



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   11

Previous Masterplan Iteration 02.06.20

Orientation of building amended 
to increase permeability into the 
development 

Splay added to building line 
to increase square visual size 
and provide more direct visual 
connection with destination space

Refuse tracking assessed and 
accommodated.

New vehicular connection into 
South Clive Street. Bus tracking 
checked.

Main Square framed by 
apartments up to 4/5 storey  

Storey heights revised to 
address density comments

Area redesigned and new 
secondary pederstian route 
added 

Secondary space creates 
positive edge up against 
existing boundaries 
possibility of utilising for bus 
manoeuvrability

Main Street : Avenue increased 
to accommodate bus route 
tracking

Increased private rear gardens 
for houses. No access to  rear 
communal shared spaces 

Secondary shared surface 
streets  with opportunity for 
swales, rain gardens and raised 
planters

New strategic East West 
pedestrian and cycle link 

Widening of Channel View to 
create  better approach and 
green avenue

Shared street open out 
to provide open aspect 
into park

3 storey units added to 
park edge to maintain 
scale.

Designs for park 
considered. See 
landscape section

Community green space at the 
heart of each housing square 
for for shared use by flats only 

P
age 1713



Current Masterplan

Revised building alignment
and scale to address main 
square

Main Street : Avenue increased 
to accommodate bus route 
tracking

Detail added to private rear
gardens including informal
play and, planting and 
allotments. 

Revised strategic East 
West link

Proposed pedestrian 
bridge route added

N

P
age 1714



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   13

Frontage Character

Areas of distinctive frontage character can be overlaid 
onto the Masterplan structure  to add richness to the 
streetscape and support legibility and distinctiveness. 
These can include:

    The Main Street: Avenue 

    The Main Square,

    The River Frontage

    Park Edge 

    Secondary Streets 

Potential Areas of Uplift

Key areas of where an uplift in design and material 
quality is appropriate to support the character of key 
spaces and frontages .

A. The Main Street: Avenue 

B Main Street: Vista

C The Main Square,

D. The River Frontage

E Park Edge

A

B

D
C

E

Mix and Quantum

The site has the potential to support a wide mix of 
unit types and tenures. Unlike many other river front 
sites in urban areas it has the supporting community 
infrastructure to attract families, including schools, 
doctors surgeries and open spaces.

Through the housing squares typology the masterplan 
is flexible enough to accommodate a number of mix 
options. This initial  option is based on replicating 
the previous masterplan mix of houses , replacing 
the existing and providing some new , and a mix of 
apartments including the replacement for the tower . 
Current mix  provides 359 new homes :

Phase 1     77 x 1 & 2 bed flats 

Remaining Phases   70  x 2,3 & 4 bed houses 
     212 x 1 & 2 bed flats

Total     359 new homes

Scale

In line with the original vision, scale increases around 
the Main square and towards the River Frontage, across 
the site the scale ranges from 2-12 storeys

    2 Storey

    3 Storey 

    4 Storey,

    5 Storey

    6 Storey 

    6-12 Storey 

P
P

P

PP
P

P
P P

P

P P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

V

V

V

V

V

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
PP

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

O
NE W
AY

ROOF
 TERRACE

ROOF
 TERRACE

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B1B

1B1B1B1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B
2B

2B

2B

2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

2B

1B

2B

1B

2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B2B

2B2B2B2B

D2

D2

D2

D2

2B
2B

2B

2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

2B

H1x3

1B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

1B

1B

2B
2B

2B
2B2B

1B
1B

1B
1B

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H1x3

H3

H3

P

P

H3

H1x3

G
F-

BI
NS

2B
2B

2B
D2

D2

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

2B 2B 2B 2B

2B
2B

1B
1B

2B
2B

2B 2B 2B 2B

GF-
BIN

S

2B 2B 2B 2B

2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

G
F-

BI
NS

1B
1B

1B

2B
2B

2B
2B

V

V
V

V

V

P
P

2B
2B

1B

1B
1B

D2

D2

A.01

A.02

A.03

A.04

A.05

A.06

A.07

A.08

A.09

A.10

A.11

A.12

A.13

A.14

A.15

A.16

A.17

A.18

A.19

A.20

A.21

A.22

A.23

A.24

A.25

A.26

A.27

A.28
A.29

A.30

A.31

A.32
A.33

A.34

A.35

A.36

A.37

A.38

A
.0

3
A

.0
2

A
.0

1

A
.0

4

A
.0

5

FB.A
(5.5 spaces)

FB
.A

FB
.A

FB
.A

FB
.A

FB
.A

FB.B

FB.B
(11.5 spaces)

FB.B
FB.B

FB.B

FB.B
FB.B

FB.B
FB.B

FB.B

FB
.A

FB
.B

FB.B

A.10
A.15 A.11

A.16

A.17

A.18

A.07

A.08 A.19

A.09

FB.C
(1.5 spaces)

FB.D
(1.5 spaces)

FB.D
FB.D

A
.1

2

A
.1

3

A
.1

4

FB.E
(11.5 spaces)

FB
.E

FB
.E

FB
.E

FB
.E

FB
.E

FB.F
(9 spaces)

A.24
A.25

A.26
FB.F

FB.F
FB.F

FB.G
FB.G

FB.G
(1.5 spaces)

A.20
A.21

FB.E
FB.E

FB.E
FB.E

D3

D3 FB.I
(9.5 spaces)

FB
.I

D2

D2

FB.H
(11.5 spaces)

FB.H
FB.H

FB.H
FB.H

FB.H
FB.H

FB.H
FB.H

FB
.I

FB
.I

FB
.I

FB.J

(7 spaces)

FB.K
(12 spaces)

FB.L
(7.5 spaces)

A.38

A.38

A.37

A.37

A.36

A.36

A.35

A.35

A.28

A.29

A.30

A.31

A.32

A.33

A.34

FB.L

FB.L

FB.L

FB.M
(9.5 spaces)

P
P

FB.M

FB.M

FB.M

FB.M
FB.M

FB.M

FB
.M

FB
.M

FB
.M

FB
.M

1B

FB.N
(11.5 spaces)

D3 D3

D3

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.N

FB
.NFB.N

FB.O
(9.5 spaces)

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

FB
.O

P FB
.O

FB.P
(13 spaces)

FB
.N

FB.P
FB.P

FB.P FB.P
FB.P FB.P

FB.Q
(13 spaces)

FB.R
(4 spaces)

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.Q

FB
.R

FB
.R

FB
.R

FB
.R

Up

Dn

Up

Dn

Up

Dn

ROOF
 TERRACE

A
.22

A
.23

FB.E
FB.E

FB.F
FB.F

FB.F
FB.F

FB.I
FB.I

FB.I
FB.I

FB.I
FB.I

FB
.H

FB
.H

FB
.H

FB
.H

A.27

FB.L

FB.L

2B
2B

1B
1B

2B
2B

D3

1B

G
F-

BI
NS

D3
1B

P

P

P

P

P

P
P

P
P

FB.L
FB.L

FB.L
FB.K

FB.K
FB.K

FB.K
FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.K

FB.J

FB.J

FB.J

FB.J

FB.J

FB.J

FB.J

FB.B

A.06

FB.C
FB.C

FB.F

FB.F

FB.P

FB.P
FB.P

FB.P
FB.P

FB.P
FB.P

2B

2B

Channel View, Cardiff
For: Cardiff Council
Site Development Layout

20004(05) 100 D

1:500 @ A0

March 2020

AF

BK

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

This drawing must not be scaled.
Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev: Chk'd: Rev:Rev:

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Chk'd: Rev: Chk'd: PRELIMINARYRev: Chk'd:

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

Splay added to central square. RF     25.04.20A AF

Communal rear gardens redesigned.1B triplex HT added. Amends to shared surface. Minor
amends  to layout. AF. 07.05.20

B --

Phase 1 over 55's blocks amended. AF   29.05.20C --

Drawing changed to A0. Bridge added. Parking amended. Connection from South Clive
Street to pocket park revised. Flat block J revised and bus route tracking incorporated. AF
N.Y.I

D --

5. Masterplan Design Parameters

P
age 1715



Uses Plan

In response to the feedback received, 
a further plan demonstrating the uses 
proposed has been prepared. 

Whilst the majority of the site is proposed 
for residential development there is also 
provision for a social enterprise café, located 
on the ground floor of the main over 55’s 
block, and a shop, located in the main square. 

These locations have been chosen to 
appropriately support the functions of these 
uses. The enterprise café will support the 
destination space, linking the Marl to the 
development and beyond. The shop location 
supports the main square as the main 
transport interface for the development. The 
shop itself will be a flexible space, which can 
provide extra residential accommodation 
should there be no demand for the local 
shop, as the development is served by retail 
provision in the wider area.

N

P
age 1716



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   15

Movement Diagram

In response to comments from transport and 
highways we have provided an additional 
movement diagram highlighting the key 
vehicular and pedestrian routes into and 
through the development. 

The main spine road has been designed to 
accommodate bus manoeuvrability with 
secondary streets and shared surfaces tracked 
to accommodate a refuse vehicle an cars. An 
additional connection to South Clive Street 
has been shown. Currently this would be 
a bus / cycle / pedestrian connection only, 
to avoid increase the traffic flow to South 
Clive Street, however this can be increase to 
provide full vehicle connectivity if necessary. 
Other pedestrian / cycle connections have 
also been shown.

N

P
age 1717



1B2P
57.6862 sqm 1B2P

58.0050 sqm

Up

1B2P
58.0538 sqm

Lift
Lift

Vent

Buggy Store5 buggies

Entrance

Cleaner's

Bin Store
Bulky Storage5 sqm

Plant

Risers

PP
P

P
P P

P

P P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

G
F-

BI
NS

1B1B1B1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B

1B

2B

1B

2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B2B

2B

1B

2B

2B

1B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
D2

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

2B 2B 2B 2B

2B
2B

1B
1B

2B
2B

GF-
BIN

S

2B
2B

2B
2B

G
F-

BI
NS

1B
1B

1B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D3 D3

D3

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2

Social Enterprise Cafe

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1

20004(05)1100 /

1:200@A1

09 10 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
--

6. Phase 1

Block A

Block B

N

A

B

C

A

C

B

P
age 1718



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   17

Block A

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Main 
Entrance

Secondary
Entrance 

Views to the Marl

Views to the river and rear 
courtyard 

Views to the Marl and the 
Main Square 

Connectivity with the Rear 
Garden 

P
age 1719



Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up
Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Up

Part M
W

C
W

C

Kitchen

Activity

Room 1

Activity

Room 2

Staff W
C

& SH

Staff Room
Manager

Store

Cleaners

Cupboard

Hairdressers

Health Suite

Part M
W

C

Bulky

Storage

10 sqm

Up

Bin Store

Buggy Store

16 Buggies

Lobby
W

aiting Area

Lobby

Laundry

Room

Plant Room 1

Plant Room 2

Guest Suite 1

Guest Suite 2
Social Enterprise Cafe

Core A

Core B

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

Up

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

15750

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D
(57.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT C

(57.0m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT E
(55.6m

²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HI
U 

(4
70

*4
50

)
W

M
 (6

50
*6

50
)

Se
rv

ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Part M
W

C
W

C

Up

ST

Up

FT A
(56.4m

²)

FT D

(56.8m
²)

Roof

Terrace

Roof

Terrace

FT F

(71.9m
²)

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

Up

FT A

(56.4m
²)

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A
(56.4m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

HIU (470*450)
W

M
 (650*650)

Service

cbd

HIU (470*450) WM (650*650)

Service

cbd

Up

FT G
(65.3m

²)

FT A

(56.4m
²)

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block A Plans

20004(05)1101 /

1:200@A1

OCT 2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block A / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan
Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block A / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block A / Level 05 Plan Block A / Levels 06-07 Plans Block A / Levels 08-10 Plans

--

Block A / Levels 11 Roof  Plans

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

P
age 1720



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   19

Block B

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07
Roof

Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

HIU (470*450)

WM (650*650)

Servicecbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT B2
(55.5m

²)

Lobby

Buggy Store
5 buggies

FT H
(55.5m

²)Plant

CleanersCupboard

Bin Store

FT C
(57.0m

²)

Vented
Lobby

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

D
ry R

iser
Inlet

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

04

04

04

04

04

04

07

07

07

07

07

04

04

04

FT A
(56.4m

²)
FT B2

(55.5m
²)

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT C
(57.0m

²)

U
p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers

HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

Roof
Terrace

FT B
(55.5m

²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)
U

p

Sm
oke

vent

Dry Riser
Outlet

Risers HIU (470*450)
WM (650*650)

Service
cbd

HI
U 
(4
70
*4
50
)

W
M
 (6
50
*6
50
)

Se
rv
ic
e

cb
d

07

07

07

07

07

FT B2 (55.5m²)

FT F
(71.9m

²)

Dry Riser
Outlet

D
n

Sm
oke

vent

Risers

AO
V

(1m
²)

Access
hatch

above

--

Cardiff County Council
Channel View - Phase 1
Phase 1 Block B Plans

20004(05)1200 /

1:200@A1

10/06/2020

AJP

AF

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

PRELIMINARY

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane, Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001    www.powelldobson.com

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Registered Office: Powell Dobson, Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St. Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA.  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Chk'd: Rev:Rev: Chk'd:
-

Block B / Level 00 - Ground Floor Plan Block B / Levels 01-04 Plans

Block B / Level 05 Plan Block B / Levels 06-07 Plans

Scale 1:200

0 1051 2 3 4

NORTH

Block B / Roof Plan

Key

Resident's lounge

Communal facilities

Social enterprise cafe

Staff facilities

Servicing

Circulation

Stairs/Lifts

Risers

1 bed apartment

2 bed apartment

Roof terrace

Views to the Marl

Views to the river and rear 
courtyard 

Views to the Marl and the 
Main Square 

Connectivity with the Rear 
Garden 

Main 
Entrance

P
age 1721



Area Study A - Roof Terrace

Roof Terrace Plan Roof Terrace View

-
Explaination.   IN

ITIALS  D
D

.M
M

.YY
A

C
lient

Project
Title

D
raw

ingN
o

R
ev

1: @
 A

1

D
ate

D
raw

n

C
hecked

S
cale:

D
ate:

D
raw

n:

C
hecked:

R
ev.

D
raw

ing N
o.

C
ontract:

Title:

R
egistered O

ffice: Pow
ell D

obson Ltd. S
uite 1F, B

uilding O
ne, Eastern B

usiness Park, W
ern Faw

r Lane,  O
ld S

t M
ellons, C

ardiff C
F3 5EA

 .  Pow
ell D

obson is a trading nam
e of Pow

ell D
obson Ltd a com

pany registered in England and W
ales N

o 3873802.

C
ardiff O

ffice: S
uite 1F, B

uilding O
ne, Eastern B

usiness Park, W
ern Faw

r Lane,  O
ld S

t M
ellons, C

ardiff C
F3 5EA

Tel:+
44 (0)33 33 201 001     Fax:+

44 (0)29 2079 1212  em
ail: cardiff@

pow
elldobson.com

Figured dim
ensions and levels to be used.

A
ny inaccuracies m

ust be notified to the
architect.
D

etail draw
ings and large scale draw

ings
take precedence over sm

aller draw
ings.

TH
IS

 D
R
A
W

IN
G

 IS
 C

O
PYR

IG
H

T ©

R
ev:

PLA
N

N
IN

G

D
ES

IG
N

TEN
D

ER

C
O

N
S
TR

U
C
TIO

N

R
ev:

PR
ELIM

IN
A
R
Y

R
ev:

R
ev:

P
age 1722



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      21

Area Study B - Access Deck Study Area 

-Explaination.   INITIALS  DD.MM.YYA

Client
Project
Title

DrawingNo Rev

1: @ A1

Date

Drawn

Checked

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

Registered Office: Powell Dobson Ltd. Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA .  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001     Fax:+44 (0)29 2079 1212  email: cardiff@powelldobson.com

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Rev:

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Rev: PRELIMINARYRev: Rev:

Access Deck Area

First floor Deck Area Front Elevation

P
age 1723



Area Study C - Communal Garden

U
p

Conectivity to the Rear Garden. Plan

View from the Rear Garden View to the Rear Courtyard

P
age 1724



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      23

Concept Landscape Strategy

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

PP
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

V

V

V

V

V

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P P

PP
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

O
NE W
AY

ROOF
 TERRACE

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B
1B
1B
1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B1B1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B
2B

2B

2B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B

2B2B

2B2B2B2B

2B2B2B2B2B

2B
2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

1B

2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

2B

H1x
3

1B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

1B

1B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

1B
1B

1B
1B

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

H3

H3

P

P

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

D2

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B
2B

1B
1B

2B
2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B

2B

2B2B2B2B

1B1B1B

2B2B2B2B

P
P

P
P P

PP
P

2B
2B

1B

1B
1B

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

P

D2

D2

P
P

1B

D3 D3

D3

P

2

3
4

5

6

7
8

9

11

12

1
Depressions within the Marl to attenuate water with gentle 1:3 /
1:4 side slopes. Shallower depressions located within isolated
areas to create standing water / wetland features to support
aquatic plants / biodiversity enhancement. Footpaths adjacent to
the SuDS features to include timber structures/ information
boards, such as information about SuDS, or Wreck of Louisa.

2
Rain gardens within and around the development to incorporate
features for play, boulders/ stepping stones, landform, 'bridges',
and a variety of planting. Information boards could be positioned
within the rain gardens.

3
Structure planting along roads and junctions to incorporate a
mixture of evergreen and deciduous, robust and
low-maintenance shrubs. Architectural foliage to carry the
design theme of the Marl into the development.

4
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a mixture
of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses. Colour pallet to
reflect the orientation of the proposed buildings. Focal/ feature
plants to be provided.

5
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens. Species
could include hazel coppice and/or other cobnuts and filberts.
Other species could include golden-twig dogwood and Siberian
dogwood for rich yellow and red stems during the winter months.

6
Communal courtyard garden or garden for flats including
SuDS, growing space, fruit trees, informal play and seating
space.

7
Tree planting species to be associated with adjacent SuDS feature, such
as Honey Locust (Gleditsia triacanthos Draves Street Keeper) and Spaeth
Alder (Alnus spaethii). Trees to be positioned in rows to provide vistas
from within the development and out into the Marl, and back into the
development from within the Marl.

8
Prominent tree planting within the Marl such as Purple Norway Maple
(Acer platanoides 'Crimson King'), London Plane (Platanus x hispanica),
Oak (Quercus robur), Field Maple (Acer campestre) and Small-leaved
Lime (Tilia cordata). Tree planting to continue along the line of the vistas
to bring views of nature and green space into the proposed development.

9
Tree planting to be positioned at nodes / entry points into the Marl, and
to provide an 'end feature' of the vistas which extend outwards from the
development. Species could include visually distinct species such as Wild
Cherry (Prunus avium), Crab Apple (Malus sylvestris), and Sweetgum
(Liquidambar sp.)

Footpaths to establish permeability through The Marl,
creating direct routes to the Taff riverside path and the
potential bridge.

11
Green spaces at node locations to incorporate SuDS features,
bringing views of nature into the development.  Spaces
physically linked to the Marl via Living Streets and visually
connected with vistas.

Gardens and roof terraces within care development to
incorporate, growing space, fruit trees, and variety of seating
space.  Potential informal play space within gardens for
visitors.

12

The green infrastructure strategy for Channel View integrates landscape,
drainage and biodiversity along Living Streets.  The Marl is physically
connected into the development via a permeable park edge.  Visual
connections between Channel View, The Marl and the Taff are formed by
vistas through the landscape.

Highlight SuDS processes through
decorative markers across
footpaths

Online SuDS ponds withing
localised deepening of detention
basins to increase biodiversity

The Marl SuDS and development
edge treatment to provide
separation

Footpath edge rill to extend
SuDS through hard landscape

Wetland with informal play opportunities
along edges to form a Rain Park

Rain park signage Limited Permeable Paving where
there is no 'green' alternative

Rain garden build outs within Living
Streets and traffic calming

Annual meadow transition space
into The Marl and SuDS basins

SuDS linked through hard landscape and
Living Streets

Proposed sewer
diversion with 6m
easement

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.101
A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape Strategy.dwg    22 May 2020

10

13

Landform at the entry points into the Marl and play opportunities13

10

1

Concept landscape strategy

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

PP
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

V

V

V

V

V

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P P

PP
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

O
NE W
AY

ROOF
 TERRACE

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B
1B
1B
1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B1B1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B
2B

2B

2B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B

2B2B

2B2B2B2B

2B2B2B2B2B

2B
2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

1B

2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

2B

H1x
3

1B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

1B

1B

1B

2B
2B2B

2B
2B

1B
1B

1B
1B

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

H3

H3

P

P

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

D2

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B
2B

1B
1B

2B
2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B

2B

2B2B2B2B

1B1B1B

2B2B2B2B

P
P

P
P P

PP
P

2B
2B

1B

1B
1B

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

P

D2

D2

P
P

1B

D3 D3

D3

P

2

3
4

5

6

7
8

9

11

12

1
Depressions within the Marl to attenuate water with gentle 1:3 /
1:4 side slopes. Shallower depressions located within isolated
areas to create standing water / wetland features to support
aquatic plants / biodiversity enhancement. Footpaths adjacent to
the SuDS features to include timber structures/ information
boards, such as information about SuDS, or Wreck of Louisa.

2
Rain gardens within and around the development to incorporate
features for play, boulders/ stepping stones, landform, 'bridges',
and a variety of planting. Information boards could be positioned
within the rain gardens.

3
Structure planting along roads and junctions to incorporate a
mixture of evergreen and deciduous, robust and
low-maintenance shrubs. Architectural foliage to carry the
design theme of the Marl into the development.

4
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a mixture
of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses. Colour pallet to
reflect the orientation of the proposed buildings. Focal/ feature
plants to be provided.

5
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens. Species
could include hazel coppice and/or other cobnuts and filberts.
Other species could include golden-twig dogwood and Siberian
dogwood for rich yellow and red stems during the winter months.

6
Communal courtyard garden or garden for flats including
SuDS, growing space, fruit trees, informal play and seating
space.

7
Tree planting species to be associated with adjacent SuDS feature, such
as Honey Locust (Gleditsia triacanthos Draves Street Keeper) and Spaeth
Alder (Alnus spaethii). Trees to be positioned in rows to provide vistas
from within the development and out into the Marl, and back into the
development from within the Marl.

8
Prominent tree planting within the Marl such as Purple Norway Maple
(Acer platanoides 'Crimson King'), London Plane (Platanus x hispanica),
Oak (Quercus robur), Field Maple (Acer campestre) and Small-leaved
Lime (Tilia cordata). Tree planting to continue along the line of the vistas
to bring views of nature and green space into the proposed development.

9
Tree planting to be positioned at nodes / entry points into the Marl, and
to provide an 'end feature' of the vistas which extend outwards from the
development. Species could include visually distinct species such as Wild
Cherry (Prunus avium), Crab Apple (Malus sylvestris), and Sweetgum
(Liquidambar sp.)

Footpaths to establish permeability through The Marl,
creating direct routes to the Taff riverside path and the
potential bridge.

11
Green spaces at node locations to incorporate SuDS features,
bringing views of nature into the development.  Spaces
physically linked to the Marl via Living Streets and visually
connected with vistas.

Gardens and roof terraces within care development to
incorporate, growing space, fruit trees, and variety of seating
space.  Potential informal play space within gardens for
visitors.

12

The green infrastructure strategy for Channel View integrates landscape,
drainage and biodiversity along Living Streets.  The Marl is physically
connected into the development via a permeable park edge.  Visual
connections between Channel View, The Marl and the Taff are formed by
vistas through the landscape.

Highlight SuDS processes through
decorative markers across
footpaths

Online SuDS ponds withing
localised deepening of detention
basins to increase biodiversity

The Marl SuDS and development
edge treatment to provide
separation

Footpath edge rill to extend
SuDS through hard landscape

Wetland with informal play opportunities
along edges to form a Rain Park

Rain park signage Limited Permeable Paving where
there is no 'green' alternative

Rain garden build outs within Living
Streets and traffic calming

Annual meadow transition space
into The Marl and SuDS basins

SuDS linked through hard landscape and
Living Streets

Proposed sewer
diversion with 6m
easement

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.101
A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape Strategy.dwg    22 May 2020

10

13

Landform at the entry points into the Marl and play opportunities13

10

1

Concept landscape strategy

7. Green Infrastruscture & Open Space

P
age 1725



Living Streets Strategy

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

2B
2B
2B

1B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

2B

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

D2

D2

â

â

â

â

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.102Living Streets
Channel View

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

Living Streets

1
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a
mixture of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses.
Colour pallet to reflect the orientation of the proposed
buildings. Focal/ feature plants to be provided.

11
Espalier fruit trees along walls will soften hard edges
creating vertical interest from spring throughout to
summer.

6
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens.
Species could include hazel coppice and/or other
cobnuts and filberts. Other species could include
golden-twig dogwood and Siberian dogwood for rich
yellow and red stems during the winter months.

8 Hedge planting within front gardens

Living streets are designed to bring green space through the development from the Marl, providing access to nature and space for SuDS, play and
outdoor social interaction.  These are pedestrian focused environments with direct access to the Marl and connecting the estate with the wider
neighbourhood.  The linear connections between The Marl and Channel View Road will draw green open space through the estate, creating a sense of
place for the neighbourhood and the wider community.

7
Rain garden around the proposed site will provide
year round interest and enhance biodiversity with a
mixture of shrub and herbaceous planting as well as
managing rainwater runoff.

1 2

11

2
Large Trees to provide height and structure within the
living streets, and shade and cooling during the summer
months.

8

12

Structure planting along roads and junctions to
incorporate a mixture of evergreen and deciduous,
robust and low-maintenance shrubs. Architectural
foliage to carry the design theme of the Marl into the
development.

5

3 4 5 6 7

910

1314

3
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

Play/ information boards4 â

9 Seating

10
Boulders within planting areas/ rain gardens and
delineated routes within footways for opportunities for
creative play. Boulders and logs across rain gardens to
provide play/ seating/ interest within the features.

Spring flowering bulbs

13
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

12

14 Stepping logs within the rain gardens to provide
incidental play for the community.

15 Tarmac within the highway due to turning maneuvers
of refuse vehicles

16 Surface finish material to be contrasting with the
adjacent block paving, and to extend on the footpath
into the Marl.

17 Block paving within footways, parking bays and on
straight sections within the highway.

18 Low level kerbs within shared surfacing - a maximum
50mm upstand to delineate the edge of the road

è

è

è

è

çè

15 16 17 18

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

2B
2B
2B

1B

1B

1B

2B

2B

1B

2B

H3

H3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

D2

D2

â

â

â

â

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.102Living Streets
Channel View

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

Living Streets

1
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a
mixture of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses.
Colour pallet to reflect the orientation of the proposed
buildings. Focal/ feature plants to be provided.

11
Espalier fruit trees along walls will soften hard edges
creating vertical interest from spring throughout to
summer.

6
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens.
Species could include hazel coppice and/or other
cobnuts and filberts. Other species could include
golden-twig dogwood and Siberian dogwood for rich
yellow and red stems during the winter months.

8 Hedge planting within front gardens

Living streets are designed to bring green space through the development from the Marl, providing access to nature and space for SuDS, play and
outdoor social interaction.  These are pedestrian focused environments with direct access to the Marl and connecting the estate with the wider
neighbourhood.  The linear connections between The Marl and Channel View Road will draw green open space through the estate, creating a sense of
place for the neighbourhood and the wider community.

7
Rain garden around the proposed site will provide
year round interest and enhance biodiversity with a
mixture of shrub and herbaceous planting as well as
managing rainwater runoff.

1 2

11

2
Large Trees to provide height and structure within the
living streets, and shade and cooling during the summer
months.

8

12

Structure planting along roads and junctions to
incorporate a mixture of evergreen and deciduous,
robust and low-maintenance shrubs. Architectural
foliage to carry the design theme of the Marl into the
development.

5

3 4 5 6 7

910

1314

3
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

Play/ information boards4 â

9 Seating

10
Boulders within planting areas/ rain gardens and
delineated routes within footways for opportunities for
creative play. Boulders and logs across rain gardens to
provide play/ seating/ interest within the features.

Spring flowering bulbs

13
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

12

14 Stepping logs within the rain gardens to provide
incidental play for the community.

15 Tarmac within the highway due to turning maneuvers
of refuse vehicles

16 Surface finish material to be contrasting with the
adjacent block paving, and to extend on the footpath
into the Marl.

17 Block paving within footways, parking bays and on
straight sections within the highway.

18 Low level kerbs within shared surfacing - a maximum
50mm upstand to delineate the edge of the road

è

è

è

è

çè

15 16 17 18

P
age 1726



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      25

    The Marl Strategy

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

ROOF
 TERRACE

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B

2B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B

2B2B

2B2B2B2B

2B2B2B2B2B

2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

H1x
3

2B

1B

1B

2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

1B
1B

1B
1B

H3

H1x
3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

D2

2B2
B 2B

2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B

2B

2B2B2B2B

1B1B1B

2B2B2B2B

1B

1B

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

D2

D2

â

â

â
â

â

â

â

â

â
â

â

â

9
Depressions within the Marl to attenuate water with gentle 1:3 /
1:4 side slopes. Shallower depressions located within isolated
areas to create standing water / wetland features to support
aquatic plants / biodiversity enhancement. Footpaths adjacent
to the SuDS features to include timber structures/ information
boards, such as information about SuDS, or Wreck of Louisa.

1 Structure planting to provide a focal point at the end of vista

The Marl is physically connected into the development via a permeable park edge.  Visual connections between Channel View, The Marl and the Taff
are formed by vistas through the landscape. The Marl would include a range of landscape features, elements and structures, focusing on planting and
grassland types along the Marl and the edge of the development. Trees would be positioned in avenues to provide vistas from within the development
and out into the Marl, and back into the development from within the Marl. Drainage features would also be provided within the Marl to add to
amenity and biodiversity value.  These would include planting, specimen shrubs and information boards.

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.103The Marl
Channel View

1

11
12

10
9

6

5

7
8

13

15

14

2

3

4

16

Landform at the entry points into the Marl and play opportunities2
Spring flowering bulbs3
Vistas to create visual links to destinations4

Play, seating and information boards5 â

Tree planting to be positioned at nodes / entry points into the
Marl, and to provide an 'end feature' of the vistas which extend
outwards from the development. Species could include visually
distinct species such as Wild Cherry (Prunus avium), Crab Apple
(Malus sylvestris), and Sweetgum (Liquidambar sp.)

6

Tree planting species to be associated with adjacent SuDS
feature, such as Honey Locust (Gleditsia triacanthos Draves
Street Keeper) and Spaeth Alder (Alnus spaethii). Trees to be
positioned in rows to provide vistas from within the
development and out into the Marl, and back into the
development from within the Marl.

7

Prominent tree planting within the Marl such as Purple Norway
Maple (Acer platanoides 'Crimson King'), London Plane
(Platanus x hispanica), Oak (Quercus robur), Field Maple (Acer
campestre) and Small-leaved Lime (Tilia cordata). Tree planting
to continue along the line of the vistas to bring views of nature
and green space into the proposed development.

15

Annual meadow under trees to provide colour and interest within
the Marl8

10
Specimen plants to be positioned along the edge/ slopes of the
attenuation features to provide interest and height.

11
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens. Species
could include hazel coppice and/or other cobnuts and filberts.

Rain gardens to incorporate features for play, boulders/
stepping stones, landform, 'bridges', and a variety of planting.
Information boards could be positioned within the rain
gardens.

12

Native species hedge planting13
Species rich grass to provide interest, texture and to help
increase biodiversity14

Amenity grass16

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

The Marl

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

è

è

è

è

çè

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

ROOF
 TERRACE

H3

H3

D3

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H4

H4

H4

H4

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

1B

1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B

1B
1B
1B
1B

2B

2B

2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B2B2B

2B2B

2B2B2B2B

2B2B2B2B2B

2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B
2B

2B
2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

2B

1B

2B

H1x
3

2B

1B

1B

2B

2B

2B
2B

2B
2B

2B

1B
1B

1B
1B

H3

H1x
3

H3

H3

H3

H1x
3

2B
2B

2B
D2

D2

2B2
B 2B

2B

2B 2
B 2B

2B

2B

2B

2B2B2B2B

1B1B1B

2B2B2B2B

1B

1B

2B
2B
2B

D3

D3

D2

D2

â

â

â
â

â

â

â

â

â
â

â

â

9
Depressions within the Marl to attenuate water with gentle 1:3 /
1:4 side slopes. Shallower depressions located within isolated
areas to create standing water / wetland features to support
aquatic plants / biodiversity enhancement. Footpaths adjacent
to the SuDS features to include timber structures/ information
boards, such as information about SuDS, or Wreck of Louisa.

1 Structure planting to provide a focal point at the end of vista

The Marl is physically connected into the development via a permeable park edge.  Visual connections between Channel View, The Marl and the Taff
are formed by vistas through the landscape. The Marl would include a range of landscape features, elements and structures, focusing on planting and
grassland types along the Marl and the edge of the development. Trees would be positioned in avenues to provide vistas from within the development
and out into the Marl, and back into the development from within the Marl. Drainage features would also be provided within the Marl to add to
amenity and biodiversity value.  These would include planting, specimen shrubs and information boards.

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.103The Marl
Channel View

1

11
12

10
9

6

5

7
8

13

15

14

2

3

4

16

Landform at the entry points into the Marl and play opportunities2
Spring flowering bulbs3
Vistas to create visual links to destinations4

Play, seating and information boards5 â

Tree planting to be positioned at nodes / entry points into the
Marl, and to provide an 'end feature' of the vistas which extend
outwards from the development. Species could include visually
distinct species such as Wild Cherry (Prunus avium), Crab Apple
(Malus sylvestris), and Sweetgum (Liquidambar sp.)

6

Tree planting species to be associated with adjacent SuDS
feature, such as Honey Locust (Gleditsia triacanthos Draves
Street Keeper) and Spaeth Alder (Alnus spaethii). Trees to be
positioned in rows to provide vistas from within the
development and out into the Marl, and back into the
development from within the Marl.

7

Prominent tree planting within the Marl such as Purple Norway
Maple (Acer platanoides 'Crimson King'), London Plane
(Platanus x hispanica), Oak (Quercus robur), Field Maple (Acer
campestre) and Small-leaved Lime (Tilia cordata). Tree planting
to continue along the line of the vistas to bring views of nature
and green space into the proposed development.

15

Annual meadow under trees to provide colour and interest within
the Marl8

10
Specimen plants to be positioned along the edge/ slopes of the
attenuation features to provide interest and height.

11
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens. Species
could include hazel coppice and/or other cobnuts and filberts.

Rain gardens to incorporate features for play, boulders/
stepping stones, landform, 'bridges', and a variety of planting.
Information boards could be positioned within the rain
gardens.

12

Native species hedge planting13
Species rich grass to provide interest, texture and to help
increase biodiversity14

Amenity grass16

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

The Marl

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

è

è

è

è

çè

P
age 1727



P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H3

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

2B

2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

1B

1B

H3

H3

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.104Gardens
Channel View

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

Gardens

2 Amenity grass

3 The proposed orchard will create interest from spring
through to autumn and offer further food growing
opportunities for residents.

4
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens.
Species could include hazel coppice and/or other
cobnuts and filberts. Other species could include
golden-twig dogwood and Siberian dogwood for rich
yellow and red stems during the winter months.

6 Communal Shed to allow residents to store garden tools
for the community garden

The Communal Gardens are designed to offer outdoor amenity space specifically for residents living within the adjacent flats.  The spaces also extend
components of green infrastructure into the development offering a visual connection with nature for all residents of the estate.  Rain gardens
extending into these space will add to the amenity value and biodiversity of the spaces.

Each garden will include spaces which encourage outdoor social interaction with different spaces for growing vegetables and fruit.  Opportunities for
outdoor play in the gardens are based on interaction with nature and imaginative play.

8

Timber garden seating

9
Hedge planting within the communal garden will define
different spaces. Hedge species to be tolerant of salt
spray from the adjacent river.

11
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

12 Proposed play equipment within the communal gardens

1

8

7

2

3 4

11

10

6
5

12

9

12

1
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a
mixture of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses.
Colour pallet to reflect the orientation of the proposed
buildings. Focal/ feature plants to be provided.

7

5 Raised timber planters for residents to grow own
flowers and vegetables.

10 Informal seat/planter with tree planting

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

çè

Rain garden around the proposed site will provide year
round interest and enhance biodiversity with a mixture
of shrub and herbaceous planting as well as managing
rainwater runoff.

P
P

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P

G
F-

BI
NS

G
F-

BI
NS

D3

D3

D3

D3

H3

H3

1B

1B

1B

1B

1B
1B

2B

2B

2B
2B

D2

D2

2B
2B
2B

1B

1B

H3

H3

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.104Gardens
Channel View

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

Gardens

2 Amenity grass

3 The proposed orchard will create interest from spring
through to autumn and offer further food growing
opportunities for residents.

4
Specimen shrubs to be positioned within rain gardens.
Species could include hazel coppice and/or other
cobnuts and filberts. Other species could include
golden-twig dogwood and Siberian dogwood for rich
yellow and red stems during the winter months.

6 Communal Shed to allow residents to store garden tools
for the community garden

The Communal Gardens are designed to offer outdoor amenity space specifically for residents living within the adjacent flats.  The spaces also extend
components of green infrastructure into the development offering a visual connection with nature for all residents of the estate.  Rain gardens
extending into these space will add to the amenity value and biodiversity of the spaces.

Each garden will include spaces which encourage outdoor social interaction with different spaces for growing vegetables and fruit.  Opportunities for
outdoor play in the gardens are based on interaction with nature and imaginative play.

8

Timber garden seating

9
Hedge planting within the communal garden will define
different spaces. Hedge species to be tolerant of salt
spray from the adjacent river.

11
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

12 Proposed play equipment within the communal gardens

1

8

7

2

3 4

11

10

6
5

12

9

12

1
Amenity around the proposed buildings to incorporate a
mixture of shrubs, herbaceous plants and grasses.
Colour pallet to reflect the orientation of the proposed
buildings. Focal/ feature plants to be provided.

7

5 Raised timber planters for residents to grow own
flowers and vegetables.

10 Informal seat/planter with tree planting

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

çè

Rain garden around the proposed site will provide year
round interest and enhance biodiversity with a mixture
of shrub and herbaceous planting as well as managing
rainwater runoff.

    Garden Strategy

P
age 1728



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      27

P

P
P

P
P

P

ROOF
 TERRACE

W:\A115000-A115999\A115866 - CHANNEL VIEW\6_Drawings\Images\IMG_8655.JPG

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

1
Hedge planting within the courtyard to provide footpath
route delineation and to enclose the growing space.
Hedge species to be tolerant of salt spray from the
adjacent river.

3
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

2
Low-level shrub planting to include a variety of shrubs,
herbaceous plants and grasses. Sensory planting to be
provided where possible throughout. Planting on the
terraced areas shall be provided within low to medium
high planters, and set back from the parapet wall to
avoid the potential for people to climb on them.

4
Timber garden seat. Seats on terraced areas to be fixed
to the slab and not positioned adjacent to parapet walls.

5
Surface finish to be resin gravel to avoid creating lines
through installing paving which could cause confusion
for residents who may experience the onset of
dementia.

The gardens for the over 55s are provided at ground level and as rooftop terraces at different levels. They will be communal spaces with areas for
growing vegetables, planting, sitting and social interaction with other residents. There would be perimeter planting along the eastern edge of the
ground level garden. The boundary along this area could be railings to provide views out of the space and over the river.  The adjacent plan identifies
the potential which could be included within the spaces.  Planting areas could be replaced with grass for other interaction activities within the space.

8
Shed for residents to keep garden tools inside. Potential
for potting sheds to be provided to encourage residents
to grow plants from seed.

Over 55s Gardens

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.105Over 55s
Channel View

3 24

6

8
7

5

1

10

9

6
Raised timber planters for residents to grow own plants
and vegetables.

7
Lightweight pergola design to encourage plants to grow
along, for shade and cooling within the gardens. Pergola
to be constructed with timber posts 'archways' and
wires between the posts.

9 Informal picnic benches

Informal seat/planter10

11

Fruit trees along the eastern boundary to overhang into
the adjacent public footpath for residents and general
public to be able to pick the fruit

11

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

çè

P

P
P

P
P

P

ROOF
 TERRACE

W:\A115000-A115999\A115866 - CHANNEL VIEW\6_Drawings\Images\IMG_8655.JPG

NTS @ A1

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673.
© WYG Environment Planning Transport Limited 2020. Registered in England Number: 3050297

1
Hedge planting within the courtyard to provide footpath
route delineation and to enclose the growing space.
Hedge species to be tolerant of salt spray from the
adjacent river.

3
Specimen plants to be positioned within the planting
scheme to provide interest and height. Plant species to
include Phormium sp. (phormiums), Aralia elata
(Japanese angelica tree), and Viburnum x bodnantenses
'Dawn' (Viburnum Dawn)

2
Low-level shrub planting to include a variety of shrubs,
herbaceous plants and grasses. Sensory planting to be
provided where possible throughout. Planting on the
terraced areas shall be provided within low to medium
high planters, and set back from the parapet wall to
avoid the potential for people to climb on them.

4
Timber garden seat. Seats on terraced areas to be fixed
to the slab and not positioned adjacent to parapet walls.

5
Surface finish to be resin gravel to avoid creating lines
through installing paving which could cause confusion
for residents who may experience the onset of
dementia.

The gardens for the over 55s are provided at ground level and as rooftop terraces at different levels. They will be communal spaces with areas for
growing vegetables, planting, sitting and social interaction with other residents. There would be perimeter planting along the eastern edge of the
ground level garden. The boundary along this area could be railings to provide views out of the space and over the river.  The adjacent plan identifies
the potential which could be included within the spaces.  Planting areas could be replaced with grass for other interaction activities within the space.

8
Shed for residents to keep garden tools inside. Potential
for potting sheds to be provided to encourage residents
to grow plants from seed.

Over 55s Gardens

W:\A112000-A112999\A112688 - Cardiff Council Housing\6_Drawings\Images\Cardiff_logo_2_1.png

SK.LA.105Over 55s
Channel View

3 24

6

8
7

5

1

10

9

6
Raised timber planters for residents to grow own plants
and vegetables.

7
Lightweight pergola design to encourage plants to grow
along, for shade and cooling within the gardens. Pergola
to be constructed with timber posts 'archways' and
wires between the posts.

9 Informal picnic benches

Informal seat/planter10

11

Fruit trees along the eastern boundary to overhang into
the adjacent public footpath for residents and general
public to be able to pick the fruit

11

A115866_SK.LA_100-105_Concept Landscape
Strategy.dwg 22 May 2020

çè

    Over 55s Gardens Strategy

P
age 1729



8. Architectural Design & Character

D

KEY

    Main Spine Road Character Area

    Main Square and Boulevard Character Area

    Park Edge Character Area

    River Edge Character Area

Character Areas Plan
There are a number of character areas 
proposed for the site. These respond to the 
there location within the masterplan and 
the physical connections they have with 
the surrounding environment. They can be 
summerised as follows:

Main Spine Road: This character area is 
defined as the main movement network 
through the site. Materials respond to the 
existing context of channel view estate, 
channel view road and south clive street.

Main Square and Boulevard: This character 
area is defined by the main square and 
boulevard connection to the key destination 
space. The area forms the key movement 
interchange on the site.

Park Edge: As the name suggest, the 
park edge character area is defined by its 
relationship to the Marl. Key emphasis on 
green streets and landscape connections.

River Edge: The river edge character area 
represents the extent of phase one. It’s 
importants is defined by its position next to 
the river and Marl which offer long views over 
the river and park which will give the scheme 
a landmark setting. 

P
age 1730



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      29

House Squares Typology

• Private shared communal gardens for the flats with pedestrian, visual and landscape link to the Marl.

• Houses with separate private rear garden spaces

• Access to shared rear gardens for residents and maintenence

• Bin storage incorporated into front gardens for houses, communual for flats

• Flexible block typologies, allowing the masterplan to alter as the site and construction progress. Allows 
changing typologies to be plotted depending on need and market conditions

• Active frontages to both outside edges and inner courtyards for increased surveillance and security.

• Splays and setbacks to building line to allow for street greening of access streets, reinforcing connection to the 
Marl

Housing Squares Typology Study 

Extract of masterplan showing rear shared and private gardens combination3D Image showing rear garden spaces and green streets

P
age 1731



P
P

P
P

P

P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P
P

P

P
P

P
P

-Explaination.   INITIALS  DD.MM.YYA

Client
Project
Title

DrawingNo Rev

1: @ A1

Date

Drawn

Checked

Scale:

Date:

Drawn:

Checked:

Rev.Drawing No.

Contract:

Title:

Registered Office: Powell Dobson Ltd. Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA .  Powell Dobson is a trading name of Powell Dobson Ltd a company registered in England and Wales No 3873802.

Cardiff Office: Suite 1F, Building One, Eastern Business Park, Wern Fawr Lane,  Old St Mellons, Cardiff CF3 5EA
Tel:+44 (0)33 33 201 001     Fax:+44 (0)29 2079 1212  email: cardiff@powelldobson.com

Figured dimensions and levels to be used.
Any inaccuracies must be notified to the
architect.
Detail drawings and large scale drawings
take precedence over smaller drawings.

THIS DRAWING IS COPYRIGHT ©

Rev:

PLANNING

DESIGN

TENDER

CONSTRUCTION

Rev: PRELIMINARYRev: Rev:

1. Permiable Green Boundaries

7. Green Pedestrianised Streets

1
1

2

3

3

4

4

5

5

5

6

7

7

5. SUDS Rain Garden Features6. Build-outs & Local Narrowing

3. Contrasting Surface Treatments

4. Opportunities for Local Play

2. Informal Highway Delineation

Shared Surface Streets Typology Study 

P
age 1732



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   31

Architectural Design - Buildings 

Changes in scale

Important Rears

Brick Detailing

Regular Rythm

Openess & Screening 

Contrasting Tones

Upper Floor Recess & Definition

Openess & Screening 

Material Continuity

P
age 1733



Architectural Design - Streets. 

Main Spine Green Boundaries

Green Streets  Rain Garden

Shared Surface Infomality

Main Spine Spaces

Green Streets Planters

Shared Surface Materials

Main Spine Verge

Green Streets Play

Shared Surface Movement

P
age 1734



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   33

Architectural Design - Biophillic Elements (Over 55’s). 

Cladding Green Screen

Green Roof Garden

Streed Greening 

Cladding Green Wall 

Green Roof Solar

Streed Greening 

Cladding Green Wall 

Green Roof Terrace

Streed Greening 

P
age 1735



C. Main Square Views. 

Main Square. Views - Key Plan. 
View 1

View 2  View 3  

1  
2  

3  

Main Square CGI Views

P
age 1736



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   35

Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com        @PDArchitects      3

Main Square. Views - Key Plan. 

1  

4  

5  
6  

View 4

View 5  View 6  

P
age 1737



View 7

View 8  View 9  

Main Square. Views - Key Plan. 

9  

7  

8  

P
age 1738



Cardiff  ·  Swansea  ·  London      www.powelldobson.com       @PDArchitects   37

9. Energy Strategy 

WASTE MANAGEMENT

We understand that the storing and collection of waste and 
recycling is an important consideration in people’s lives but 
can also affect the quality of the environment in which we 
live. As such the scheme is looking at a variety of options and 
innovative solutions to address this as follows: 

• Underground automated vacuum collection systems with 

communal access points and a single collection chamber. 

• Different methods for waste collection and recycling. 

• Individual bin stores for each property

• Easily accessible communal bin storage for flats.

RENEWABLE ENERGY STRATEGY

We understand that climate change is an important issue 
and that there are things we can do to address this in the 
proposed design. It is intended that the scheme will be 
designed with renewable energy and efficiency in mind using 
a range of features as follws:

• Highly insulated buildings, keeping energy use to a 
minimum, saving money for future residents.

• Utilising solar panels where possible to generate electricity.
• Ground / Air / Water source heat pumps to provide clean 
cheap energy for heating homes.

• Possible future connections to district wide heading network

This section details the options available 
as part of the energy strategy to work 
towards achieving the Client’s aspirations 
for energy targets, Low Carbon or 
Net Zero Carbon targets, fuel poverty 
and affordability for the Channel View 
redevelopment residential scheme in 
Cardiff. 

The scheme will be developed on the 
principles of the energy hierarchy to 
drive down carbon emissions as a result 
of building use. The energy target 
for the scheme will be based on the 
anticipated Part L 2025 requirement of 
75-80% improvement on the current Part 
L standard. Provision will also be made 
for adaptability in the future to enable 
Net Zero Carbon to be achieved for 
operational energy.

P
age 1739



Appendix A 
THE BRIDGE Proposal and Timeframe

Appendix B 
PUBLIC CONSULTATION

Whilst forming a strategic part of the outline proposals for the regeneration of Channel View Estate, 
the detail design has been excluded from the current detail design work being carried out on the 
residential development. This is to allow for the specific detail design of the bridge to be brought 
forward separately by a specialist team which will review and incorporate the technical and engineering 
aspects of the design. Cardiff is currently in the tendering process for this work to provide clarity on the 
2 detailed parts of the scheme coming forward together. A summary of the brief and timescales is set 
out below. 

Background 
Cardiff Council has a strategic plan to regenerate the Channel View Estate in Grangetown, supporting 
one of the Council’s key Housing priorities; to develop well-designed high quality homes aimed at 
tackling housing demand and needs. The regeneration project, will deliver affordable, sustainable and 
energy efficient new homes as well as enhance the existing Marl public open space. 

As part of the strategic aims, the Council intend to provide a new Bridge link from the Marl linking with 
Hamadryad Park. The proposed Bridge will offer better connectivity for the residents of Channel View 
and Grangetown to the surrounding area (including schools) and wider potential benefits in terms of 
walking and cycling links across this part of the city. 

The Vision for the Project 
Our vision for Channel View is to celebrate its strong and vibrant community and to regenerate the 
estate for current and future residents through quality urban design and placemaking. There is a real 
opportunity through the work being undertaken on the Masterplan to significantly improve the wider 
linkages into and from this part of the city. The proposed new Bridge will complement the masterplan, 
improve options for sustainable connectivity and help integrate the local community further by 
connecting the east and west banks of the River Taff. 

The Project Objectives 
The regeneration of the Channel View estate supports one of the Council’s key Housing priorities; to 
develop well-designed high quality schemes aimed at tackling housing demand and needs. However, 
the regeneration of Channel View is about more than just housing – it is about improving residents’ 
quality of life and providing better access to economic and social opportunities as well as creating a 
new attractive neighbourhood with its own unique sense of identity. The proposed Bridge is imperative 
to the success of the scheme by opening the site to wider permeability, connectivity and access. The 
concept of the Bridge should, therefore aim to; 
-  Refresh this area of the city’s relationships between housing and parks/open space 
-  Improve the natural and physical environment, making the area safe and attractive to residents and 
visitors 
-  Provide better east / west connectivity to community facilities, employment opportunities and other 
key destinations 
-  Provide Improved access to the river for recreation and well-being 

Proposed Timetable 
Set out below is the proposed indicative 
timetable of key dates. 

Community Engagement

Cardiff Council and the Design Team has carried out various community engagement throughout the 
design process. A summary of the key dates and future strategy is set out in the following text.

Historic Consultation – Cardiff Council
Resident’s consultation events were held in July 2018 and September 2019 in the Channel View tower 
block. All the residents from the estate were invited to the events. Plans showing high-level design 
concepts for the housing development and footbridge were exhibited. Residents were given the 
opportunity to discuss the proposals with the council’s housing officers. Further to this a detailed 
questionnaire was completed by all the attendees. The response received from the residents were a 
mixture of mostly positive comments. The consultation events highlighted the importance of engaging 
with the residents in a strategic approach where a well-structured thorough community consultation 
process is delivered.

Current Consultation – Channel View Design Team
Following the appointment of the design team and initial design development of the proposals a 
further consultation event took place in March 2020 at Channel View Leisure Centre. This presented the 
initial detail design work focusing on the masterplan and the options / improvements the Marl, as well 
as some of the design ambitions looking at the greening of Channel View Estate with the introduction 
of rear communal gardens and street landscaping. Another detailed questionnaire was completed by 
all the attendees and again the responses were generally positive from a design perspective, with most 
concerns around phasing and the length of time the process has taken to date.

Future Consultation
The intention was to carry out more face to face public consultation, as well as specific consultation 
with key groups and stakeholders. This has been difficult to achieve given the current Covid-19 
pandemic and the changing guidance. Key stakeholders and groups have been kept notified of 
progress and individual consolation with the separate local authority departments has taken place. 
An online consultation event is planned for Oct 2020 in which wider residents of Grangetown will 
be informed of the plans. Comments will be collated and incorporated into the final designs before 
formal PAC submission in November. It is intended the the planning application will be submitted in 
December 202.

STAGE DATE(S)/TIME
Stage 1 Tender issued           Thursday 10th September 2020

  Submission deadline for stage 1 tender 12:00 (Noon) Thursday 17th September 
2020

  Issue of Invitation to Tender to shortlisted   
bidders

2nd October 2020

  Closing date for submission of Tenders 12:00:00 noon on 13th November 2020

 Evaluation of Tenders W/C 16th November 2020

Notification & Intention to award letters
(followed by a mandatory 10 day standstill 

period)

W/C 23rd November 2020

Contract Award 3rd December 2020
Contract Start 4th January 2021

P
age 1740



P
age 1741



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1743

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 4: Crown Commercial Services  
 
 

 
 
 
Delivers a wide range of major and minor building, and civil engineering projects for central 
government and the wider public sector. 

Open all sections 

Description 
Enables public sector organisations and their arm’s-length bodies to access all 
types of building and civil engineering works. 

Page 1749



Framework name RM6088 

 

The flexible contract structure is designed to provide solutions for varying 
customer requirements. It includes advanced, innovative contract arrangements, 
allowing customers to procure programmes of work as self-managed sub-alliances. 

The framework is arranged in 11 lots of varying levels of complexity and value of 
work from £0 – £3m up to £80m+. This includes general construction and also 
specialist market areas: 

• housing 

• high-rise 

• maritime 

• airfields 

• demolition / decommissioning 

• construction management 

Individual lots are divided into regional sub-lots appropriate to the market sector 
and value range. The lower value lots support direct access to SME suppliers. 

All of the commonly used procurement routes, tendering methods, payment 
arrangements and standard forms of contract are available. Standard common 
government boilerplate clauses are included for things such as GDPR and 
intellectual property rights. Individual customers have the freedom to include 
additional project or customer specific contract amendments. 

The framework supports the implementation of government policies and 
strategies: 

• building information modelling (BIM) 

• life cycle cost 

• prompt payment 

• project bank accounts 

• early contractor involvement 

• social value 

Page 1750



Framework name RM6088 

 

It also aligns suppliers and customers in achieving agreed success measures for 
each lot. Advanced alliance facilities are included to increase the potential for 
consistency, efficiency, improved value and lessons learned by integrating or 
connecting: 

• a programme of work comprising more than one project to be awarded to 
one or more suppliers 

• the design, capital and operational phases of any one or more projects, to be 
awarded to one or more suppliers 

 

Page 1751



Framework name RM6088 

 

 
Construction Works and Associated 
Services (CWAS) 

RM6088 Framework Alliance Contract 

Additional Client User Agreement (ACUA) document 
 
Description 
Before any supply market engagement, starting your tender or placing orders 
through this agreement, please complete this form and return to us at 
info@crowncommercial.gov.uk.  
 
Once you have shortlisted suppliers for your project, you can request a 
supplier assurance report to assist you in your decision making process. This 
includes financial and technical assurance, current insurances and other 
performance detail from suppliers’ performance on the framework. To do so, 
please email construction@crowncommercial.gov.uk 
 
Once we have processed your form we will provide a unique Additional Client 
User Agreement (ACUA) reference number for each project contract or 
programme of works. Please quote this in any procurement document, or 
when discussing the project with framework suppliers. 
 

Contact details 
Additional Client (customer):   [insert organisation name] 
 
Contact name:     [insert name] 
 
Telephone number:    [insert telephone number] 

Page 1752

mailto:info@crowncommercial.gov.uk
mailto:construction@crowncommercial.gov.uk


Framework name RM6088 

 

 
Email address:     [insert email address] 

CCS pipeline 
We maintain a framework pipeline of customer requirements from all 
organisations that use our framework. This helps all Framework Alliance 
Members to understand and plan for goods and services procured through 
this Framework Alliance Contract (framework agreement).  
We plan to share the details of your competitively tendered project with our 
suppliers in our pipeline document to help them to plan to bid for tenders.  
Preparing, maintaining and publishing commercial pipelines has been 
identified as one of the 14 key policy areas within the Construction Playbook. 
Read about the Construction Playbook to find out more.  
We will also share this information with other customers that have signed up 
to our framework to encourage collaboration and shared learning. We would 
encourage you where possible, to share as much information as you can 
about your requirements. 
The information we share will not include any personal information of any 
individuals just the organisation name and details provided below. The 
information will not published on our website.  
If you do NOT wish for details of your requirements to be shared with our 
framework suppliers and other customers please type ‘no’ here:  
 
If you do not wish for your project details to be shared please tell us why: 
 
 
If your requirement is for multiple lots or using multiple Project Contracts, 
please complete the information below for each lot and/or Project Contracts 
that you that you anticipate using. If you require more than 3 separate lots or 
Project Contracts please complete and return to us an additional ACUA 
document. 
 

Page 1753

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/941536/The_Construction_Playbook.pdf


Framework name RM6088 

 

 
Project requirement 1 details 
Enter details of your project in the second column of the table below. 
 
Project or programme title  
Brief description  
Project location  
Which lot will you use? 
Read more about the 
framework lots 

 

Competitive award or 
direct award? 

 

Single stage, two stage or 
TBC? 

 

Procurement portal to be 
used (please include the 
URL if possible) 

 

Estimated project or 
programme construction 
value 

 

Estimated Project 
Contract (Call-Off) value 

 

Expected procurement 
start date 

 

Expected contract award 
date 

 

Expected contract 
completion date  

 

What form of contract will 
be used? 
Read more about the 
contract options in the 

 

Page 1754

https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf


Framework name RM6088 

 

CCS CWAS framework 
alliance contract 

 

Project requirement 2 details 
Enter details of your project in the second column of the table below. 
 
Project or programme title  
Brief description  
Which lot will you use? 
Read more about the 
framework lots 

 

Competitive award or 
direct award? 

 

Single stage, two stage or 
TBC? 

 

Procurement portal to be 
used (please include the 
URL if possible) 

 

Estimated project or 
programme construction 
value 

 

Estimated Project 
Contract (Call-Off) value 

 

Expected procurement 
start date 

 

Expected contract award 
date 

 

Expected contract 
completion date  

 

What form of contract will 
be used? 
Read more about the 
contract options in the 

 

Page 1755

https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf


Framework name RM6088 

 

CCS CWAS framework 
alliance contract 

 

Project requirement 3 details 
Enter details of your project in the second column of the table below. 
 
Project or programme title  
Brief description  
Which lot will you use? 
Read more about the 
framework lots 

 

Competitive award or 
direct award? 

 

Single stage, two stage or 
TBC? 

 

Procurement portal to be 
used (please include the 
URL if possible) 

 

Estimated project or 
programme construction 
value 

 

Estimated Project 
Contract (Call-Off) value 

 

Expected procurement 
start date 

 

Expected contract award 
date 

 

Expected contract 
completion date  

 

What form of contract will 
be used? 
Read more about the 
contract options in the 

 

Page 1756

https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/agreements/RM6088
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf


Framework name RM6088 

 

CCS CWAS framework 
alliance contract 

Further information 

 

If you need any further information please contact 

info@crowncommercial.gov.uk  

0345 410 222 

 

You can also learn more about Crown Commercial Service at: 

Website: crowncommercial.gov.uk  

Twitter: @gov_procurement 

LinkedIn: CCS 

 

Page 1757

https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
https://assets.crowncommercial.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/RM6088-CCS-Construction-Works-and-Associated-Services-Framework-Alliance-Contract-Version-Final-V1.1.pdf
mailto:info@crowncommercial.gov.uk
https://www.crowncommercial.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/gov_procurement
https://www.linkedin.com/company/government-procurement-service/?trk=cp_followed_logo_government-procurement-service


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1759

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 22 

CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
CARDIFF BAY REGENERATION OVERVIEW 
 
INVESTMENT & DEVELOPMENT (COUNCILLOR RUSSELL 
GOODWAY) 

AGENDA ITEM: 15 

 

 
Appendices 4-9, 11, 13 and 15-17 of this report are not for publication as they 

contain exempt information of the description contained in paragraphs 14 
and 16 of part 4 and paragraph 21 of part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 
 
Purpose 
 
1. To provide an update on the new Indoor Arena project. 
 
2. To provide an update on the Council’s priorities for the continued 

regeneration of Cardiff Bay and to establish the area as a leading UK urban 
visitor destination.   

  
3. To seek approval of the updated International Sports Village masterplan and 

to develop a Full Business Case for combined cycling activities. 
  

4. To seek approval of the Evaluation Criteria for the procurement for Multi 
Storey Car Park development at Atlantic Wharf, and to delegate all aspects 
of the procurement up to award of the contract, subject to approval of the Full 
Business case. 

 
Background 

5. The political administration’s strategic policy document Capital Ambition sets 
out the Council’s priority to play a lead role in the creation of job opportunities 
for the city and wider city-region: 

 
‘Looking to the future, the capital city represents Wales’s strongest economic 
asset and best opportunity to secure economic success. In short, a 
successful Wales needs a successful capital city.’ 

 
6. The administration has an ambitious agenda for growing the city’s economy 

and delivering a series of exciting programmes and projects that will benefit 
all of Cardiff’s residents and those that live beyond the city limits.  A major 
part of this agenda is the regeneration of Cardiff Bay with an emphasis on 
establishing the area as a leading UK destination for leisure, culture and 

 

Page 1767

Agenda Item 15



Page 2 of 22 

tourism to increase the number of visitors to the city and to generate more 
jobs for local people, particularly people living in the ‘southern arc’. 

 
7. Whilst Cardiff Bay has seen considerable investment in recent decades, the 

early closure of the Cardiff Bay Development Corporation saw momentum 
lost in the regeneration programme. The Council’s Economic Strategy has 
subsequently recognised the need for “a new momentum to be put into the 
regeneration of Cardiff Bay. Whilst the first phase of its redevelopment has 
seen large scale investment in the area, it has yet to deliver its full potential.”  

 
8. Cognisant of this, the Economic Strategy proposed that “We will seek to re-

ignite the Bay, with a focus on driving more visitors to the area, providing a 
bigger range and choice of attractions, and improving the means of getting in 
and out of the Bay. At the heart of this will be a revitalised Atlantic Wharf – 
the gateway to the Bay, where a new Indoor Arena will serve to attract a new 
and bigger audience.” 

 
9. The vision is to establish Cardiff Bay as a leading UK urban visitor 

destination, through establishing environment to attract visitors from within 
Wales, the UK and internationally. Critically the proposed projects for the 
next phase of Cardiff Bay will deliver improved visitor infrastructure, with a 
focus on culture, heritage and creativity, as well as ensuring that local 
communities feel the benefits of and are part of the regeneration story. 

 
10. If considered as a discrete area in its own right, the southern arc of the city, 

which includes the Butetown ward, would be by far the most deprived area in 
Wales, as defined by the Wales Index of Multiple Deprivation. The Butetown 
ward has for some time experienced poorer economic outcomes than the 
Cardiff and Welsh averages, and current claimant count data suggests that 
the unemployment rate for the area is 2.4 times higher than both the Welsh 
and UK average. The BTN01 Lower Super Output Area within the Butetown 
Ward is also amongst the most deprived in Wales according to the 2019 
Wales Index of Multiple Deprivation and ranked in the worst 10% of 
performing areas in terms of both the Overall Index as well as the income, 
health, housing and physical environment domains.  

 
11. It is also clear that a major improvement in transport connectivity is required, 

with no direct rail link to Cardiff Central and a limited service that operates a 
single route between Cardiff Bay Station and Cardiff Queen Street. This has 
impacted on the ability of the wider Bay area and the southern arc to drive 
forward regeneration and has also restricted the ability for communities to 
access other economic opportunities within the city and across the city-
region. 

 
12. Over recent years, the Council has made significant progress towards 

realising its Capital Ambition priorities in this regard. A number of important 
projects are now well underway with others progressing through the 
feasibility stages. The new Indoor Arena, the Atlantic Wharf Regeneration 
scheme and the revitalised International Sports Village projects are now 
reaching a stage where development will soon be progressing on site.  In 
addition, the initial phase of the Cardiff Bay Metro project is due to start on-
site in August 2022, and the plans to link the new line into Cardiff Central and 

Page 1768



Page 3 of 22 

on to a new station at Roath Basin are moving rapidly through the design 
phases.  Exciting plans to upgrade Mermaid Quay and the Graving Docks 
and to provide a long-term use for the site at Alexandra Head are also 
coming forward.  

 
Indoor Arena and Atlantic Wharf Regeneration Scheme 

 
13. In December 2020, Cabinet approved in principle the masterplan for the re-

development of the Atlantic Wharf site (see Appendix 1) and authorised the 
commencement of a consultation process. At the same meeting, Cabinet 
authorised the preparation of a planning application for the new Indoor Arena 
and the wider Atlantic Wharf development and the preparation of an Outline 
Business Case to consider options for bringing forward the redevelopment of 
the Red Dragon Centre. 
 

14. In July 2021, Cabinet approved the Multi-Storey Car Park OBC and 
authorised the development of a Full Business Case (FBC), along with the 
development of an OBC to consider options for the redevelopment of the Red 
Dragon Centre, including a soft market testing exercise. 

 
15. In September 2021, Cabinet approved the Full Business Case for the Indoor 

Arena and confirmed the Live Nation consortium as the successful bidder to 
be the Council’s partner to deliver and operate a new Indoor Arena and a 
replacement Travelodge Hotel. 

 
International Sports Village 

 
16. In March 2021, Cabinet approved in principle a new masterplan for the 

International Sports Village including plans to provide a new purpose-built 
Velodrome. Authority was granted to complete the Full Business Case for the 
Velodrome including the appointment of professional advisors, procurement 
of a contractor and the development of a planning application. Authority was 
granted to undertake a soft market testing exercise for the delivery of a car 
parking solution for the site and to secure tenants for a refurbished Toys ’R’ 
Us building. Cabinet also considered the future operation of the site and gave 
authority for an Outline Business Case to be developed. 
 

17. In July 2021, Cabinet approved the Outline Business Case and granted 
permission to proceed with the development of the new Velodrome allocating 
the budget required to complete its delivery, subject to final approval of a Full 
Business Case. A contractor was subsequently appointed to assist with the 
development of detailed designs and cost as part of the FBC work. 

 
18. A key aspect of the Full Business Case will be the future operation of the 

leisure facilities and the ongoing maintenance of landscaping and public 
realm. In July 2021, independent advisors completed research and analysis 
to inform the Council’s consideration.  
 

19. In September 2021, Cabinet received a further update on the ISV project 
including a proposal to acquire the land owned by Greenbank Partnership Ltd 
including the Ice Arena to enable the development agreement with 
Greenbank Partnership Ltd to be terminated. This has progressed and will 

Page 1769



Page 4 of 22 

concluded by the end of March 2022. The report also proposed the relocation 
of the Cardiff MX facility from Rover Way to the International Sports Village 
and the delivery of a 1 km Closed Road Cycling Circuit around the perimeter 
of the leisure destination. Authority was granted to undertake further 
business case work.  

 
Cardiff Bay Metro 
 
20. On 21st February 2014, Cabinet considered a report on the Cardiff Capital 

Region Metro vision and provided authority for work to be undertaken with 
Welsh Government and other stakeholders to develop the Metro proposals 
and to put in place appropriate delivery mechanisms.  
 

21. In January 2020, Cabinet approved the Transport White Paper: Transport 
Vision 2030, which sets out the priorities over the next ten years to 
fundamentally transform the way people move around the city. The strategy 
highlights the importance of working closely with Welsh Government and 
Transport for Wales on the delivery of the Metro – including new and 
refurbished stations – and fully integrated ticketing. 

Issues 
 
22. The Council’s strategy for Cardiff Bay involves an extensive programme of 

increasingly inter-connected projects. The Council’s financial investment 
across various projects continues to require careful management and also 
creates conditions where the delivery of a project is reliant on completion of 
another. In addition, the Council has committed to delivering projects that are 
environment friendly. Alongside the growing number of regulatory obligations 
facing new development, the Council’s ambition to reduce the impact of 
development on the environment has become an important consideration in 
the development and delivery of projects leading to a greater level of inter-
dependence between projects. For example, the Atlantic Wharf 
redevelopment is reliant on delivery of the new Indoor Arena as the key 
anchor project to establish private sector confidence. The Arena project 
requires the delivery of the Cardiff Bay Metro project to underpin the 
transport strategy, and the Lloyd George Avenue project to assist with the re-
provision of public open space and to deal with planning obligations such as 
sustainable drainage. The Council’s Heat Network project supports the 
energy strategy for the Atlantic Wharf site and will play a fundamental role in 
supporting the policy ambition of achieving Carbon neutrality.  Managing the 
interface between projects creates an added layer of complexity.   
 

23. The management of scarce Council funding remains the greatest challenge 
to project delivery. Over recent months, construction projects in the UK have 
witnessed unprecedented cost price inflation. Many businesses in the sector 
have also failed. As a result, projects have been subject to significant delay. 
Large capital projects are extremely sensitive to cost inflation resulting from 
delays. To date the Council has managed to progress projects within 
approved financial envelopes, but this has required private sector partners to 
taken on the risk and in some cases the cost of price inflation. 
 

Page 1770



Page 5 of 22 

24. The Council has committed to delivering net zero Carbon developments 
moving forward. This is an extremely challenging requirement, particularly for 
brownfield projects where substantial demolition and/or site remediation is 
needed to pave the way for new development. The Council has developed 
Carbon Management Plans for both the Atlantic Wharf and International 
Sports Village projects and will deliver net zero Carbon developments 
primarily through direct on-site interventions. The Council’s strategy to 
achieve net zero is built on delivering green energy strategies as an integral 
part of the development masterplan. This inevitably increases the 
requirement for investment but can also lead to an improvement in the overall 
commercial case for development, including future proofing of the project. 

 
25. The new planning framework places an additional burden on new 

development to make a more positive contribution to the environment. In 
addition to energy considerations, the Council will need to meet obligations 
relating to sustainable drainage and biodiversity. This is a particular 
challenge for the Indoor Arena project due to the extensive surface area of 
the development and the need for large areas of hard landscaping for 
external crowd management. Addressing the sustainable drainage 
requirement for this project can only be achieved in the context of the wider 
Atlantic Wharf development and associated opportunities arising from the 
opportunity to improve the landscaping of the adjacent Lloyd George Avenue. 
Lloyd George Avenue has significant potential to support the Atlantic Wharf 
development with sustainable drainage, biodiversity, active travel and public 
transport connectivity and the replacement of public open space.   

 
26. The scale and nature of the Council’s priority projects for Cardiff Bay at 

Atlantic Wharf and the International Sports Village require the Council to 
engage with the community for feedback on proposals. An extensive 
consultation has been undertaken relating to the Indoor Arena project and 
the associated proposals for Atlantic Wharf, including the redevelopment of 
the Red Dragon Centre. The Council has also recently undertaken a 
consultation on the ISV masterplan which included consideration of the 
relocation of the existing velodrome from Maindy to the ISV.  The Council will 
need to undertake further consultations as the proposals for the wider Bay 
area emerge. In particular, there is a need to embark on a consultation 
process with the local community on the idea of transforming Lloyd George 
Avenue into a linear park linking the city centre to the Bay. This needs to be 
done at an early stage to ensure the community has the opportunity to come 
forward with ideas and proposals. The progress being made with the 
implementation of the Cardiff Bay Metro, including the provision of new 
stations along the length of Lloyd George Avenue/Bute Street, suggests that 
a public consultation exercise should be progressed as soon as possible to 
ensure proper integration between the projects and to avoid abortive spend.   

 
Programme Management 
 
27. The Council adopts a Prince 2 based approach to programme and project 

management to ensure good governance. Business cases are built up 
through a series of steps that aim to ensure decisions are robust and 
minimise the potential for abortive spend. The normal business case 
development process is as follows: 

Page 1771



Page 6 of 22 

 Strategic Outline Case – to consider strategic alignment and policy fit; 

 Outline Business Case – to consider options and the preferred approach; 

 Full Business Case – to confirm deliverability and cost.  
 
28. For construction projects the Full Business Case (FBC) stage can be lengthy 

requiring the procurement of a contractor and the submission of a planning 
application to confirm costs and deliverability. On some occasions it can 
involve a public consultation exercise especially if the project impacts on 
public opens space or other existing public facilities. FBCs are presented to 
Cabinet for final approval before proceeding to the delivery stage. 

 
Indoor Arena Update 

 
29. Following approval of the Full Business Case, a hybrid planning application 

for the new Indoor Arena was submitted by the Live Nation/OVG consortium 
in November 2021 covering the area illustrated by the site plan attached at 
Appendix 2. The application involves detailed consideration of the new Indoor 
Arena and the relocation of Travelodge Hotel, with outline for the balance of 
the site including: 

(i) the proposed redevelopment of the Red Dragon Centre with significant 
commercial and residential development. 

(ii) delivery of a production space for the Wales Millennium Centre and 
improved connections to Roald Dahl Plaza, Mermaid Quay 

(iii) a pedestrian bridge link to the proposed new Transport Hub on 
Pierhead Street.  

30. The application also presents the delivery of a new public square/event 
space for Cardiff Bay and provides a high-level strategy for the potential 
redevelopment of the County Hall site, should the Council take a decision in 
the future to move away from the site. The planning submission is due to be 
determined by the Local Planning Authority on 16th March 2022. 
 

31. The Live Nation/OVG consortium has commenced dialogue with the Local 
Planning Authority to develop the planning agreement to ensure that there 
are legal commitments in place to deliver the associated infrastructure for the 
Arena covering SUDS, an energy strategy, and green space. A number of 
the conditions contained within the planning agreement will fall to the Council 
as landowner of the wider masterplan linked to future decisions on Council 
assets such as County Hall and the Red Dragon Centre. 

 
32. Through the planning process, the Live Nation/OVG consortium have 

increased the capacity of the new Arena to circa 17,000 to ensure the new 
Cardiff Arena becomes the leading venue for the whole of the West of 
England and Wales region. The Arena project remains on course to 
commence construction in the summer of 2022 and to be operational by 
early 2025.  The Development Funding Agreement (DFA) is due to be 
concluded and signed by no later than 18th March 2022, and this will 
provide the legal contract for the development to proceed. 

 

Page 1772



Page 7 of 22 

33. In addition to the social value benefits of the arena driven by the 
procurement exercise, which commits to almost £4m worth of community 
benefits including jobs, training and direct investment in community 
projects, the Council is also working with Metro Dynamics as part of its 
participation in the Inclusive Growth Network to explore how more can be 
done to establish the longevity of the venue’s relationship with residents 
and its role as a community asset and part of the social and cultural fabric 
of the Butetown ward. This work will aim to build inclusion into the 
development and amplify the economic benefits of the project. In particular 
their work will look at: 

  

 Ensuring that jobs created, both in construction and operation, are high 

quality and of benefit to local residents.  

 Establishing the longevity of the venue’s relationship with residents and 

its role as a community asset and part of the social and cultural fabric of 

Butetown (e.g. embedded community relationship, youth offer).  

 Complementing the city’s music strategy and existing offer (e.g. working 

with the Music Board, possible community music hub, complementing 

grassroots music). 

Levelling Up Fund 
 

34. A report was taken on 17th June 2021 that outlined the initial Council 
response to the Levelling Up Fund. The £4.8bn Levelling Up Fund (LUF) will 
invest capital in local infrastructure, town centre and high street regeneration, 
local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets. The scheme is 
competitive in that there are no set allocations for local authority areas, and 
each area will need to submit relevant applications for funding to the UK 
Government, which will assess bids. The fund is open for bids in rounds and 
will be operating until 2025. One bid per parliamentary constituency is 
allowed per round, and only one successful bid can be approved for each 
constituency. The funding guidance for round one of funding outlined that the 
LUF will support projects that deliver transport investments, regeneration and 
town centre investment and cultural investment. 
  

35. In round one the Councill submitted an application for Cardiff Market (in the 
Cardiff Central Constituency), which was not successful. Feedback from 
phase one of the Levelling Up Fund process suggested that ‘shovel ready’ 
projects that are ready to deliver, with approved business cases and planning 
approval, were more likely to receive funding. Whilst no clear timescale has 
been announced, it is expected that round two of the Levelling Up Fund will 
be launched in the Spring of 2022. In anticipation the Council is considering 
the readiness of proposals for submission. Given the progress that has been 
made in the business case and planning application for the Arena and the 
wider Atlantic Wharf development it is proposed that this is now brought 
forward as a project for round two.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 1773



Page 8 of 22 

Atlantic Wharf Regeneration Scheme 
 

Updated Masterplan & ‘Cardiff Live’ Proposal 
 
36. Following the appointment of the Arena developer/operator, feedback 

through the process of submitting a planning application, and feedback from 
potential investors and developers through a market testing exercise, the 
approved masterplan for the Atlantic Wharf development has been updated 
and is attached at Appendix 3. The key changes to note are: 
 
i) the site for the proposed office development has been reviewed and is 

now located on the plot fronting Lloyd George Avenue. This is mainly to 
address the phasing requirements of delivering the replacement Red 
Dragon Centre.  
 

ii) the replacement Red Dragon Centre is now proposed to be split into 
two separate developments subject to approval of the Outline Business 
Case and subsequently the Full Business Case. One development is 
proposed to be delivered by the Council and one to be delivered by the 
private sector. The building to be delivered by the Council will 
accommodate the existing tenants of the Red Dragon Centre and this 
will be located on the site originally earmarked for the office 
development which is currently unencumbered. This idea of delivering 
the leisure development in two separate parts is a direct response to 
market feedback on the specific lack of appetite for funding 
developments that involve flying leases.   
 

37. The formal appointment of the Arena developer/operator has also led to a 
new opportunity which the Council will need to consider in due course. The 
Live Nation/OVG consortium has approached the Council regarding the 
potential to significantly expand the event infrastructure at Atlantic Wharf to 
compliment the new Arena through the provision of a major Exhibition Centre 
and ancillary facilities including a business centre and conference hotel. This 
could only be delivered if the Council subsequently takes a decision to 
relocate out of County Hall. The proposal put to the Council has been 
branded as ‘Cardiff Live’ and has the ambition of establishing Atlantic Wharf 
as one of the leading UK live event locations outside of London, providing a 
modern start-of-the-art rival to Glasgow, Liverpool, Manchester, Birmingham 
and Aberdeen. Some initial concept drawings are attached as Confidential 
Appendix 4. 

 
Red Dragon Centre - Outline Business Case 

 
38. The Outline Business Case (OBC) for the redevelopment of the Red Dragon 

Centre is due to be completed and presented back to Cabinet in the spring of 
2022. The feedback from investors and developers following the soft market 
testing exercise has helped to further refine the delivery approach and as 
stated above it is now intended for the new development to be delivered in 
two separate developments. Feedback has also confirmed that a number of 
related projects outlined later in this report should be considered in parallel 
with the Red Dragon Centre OBC.  

 

Page 1774



Page 9 of 22 

39. The key considerations of investors and developers where certainty is 
required are as follows: 

(i) the relocation of the existing Red Dragon Centre (RDC) tenants 

(ii) delivery of the public square 

(iii) demolition of all or part of the existing RDC  

(iv) delivery of the new indoor arena 
 
‘This is Wales’ Visitor Attraction – Outline Business Case 

 
40. The Council continues to work with TICA, the owners of the ‘This is Holland’ 

visitor attraction located in Amsterdam, to develop a significant tourist 
attraction for Cardiff Bay and for Wales. Designs and costs have been 
developed and will be considered at the same time as the OBC for the 
replacement Red Dragon Centre in the spring 2022.  
 

41. TICA have introduced Continuum as their operating partner and discussions 
are progressing to consider a property transaction secured by a 25 year plus 
lease for the delivery and operation of this attraction. An overview of the 
proposal is set-out at Confidential Appendix 5. The proposed location of the 
‘This is Wales’ attraction is illustrated at Appendix 3. 

 
42. As part of the development of the business case, TICA and Continuum have 

requested the Council’s support in engaging with Welsh Government. The 
operator is looking for government support to assist primarily with the 
production of the ‘fly-over’ films, which will have the benefit of promoting the 
whole of Wales to visitors of the capital city.  

 
Wales Millennium Centre Production Space – Outline Business Case 

 
43. Dialogue continues with the Wales Millennium Centre (WMC) regarding the 

proposal to deliver of a new Production Facility at Atlantic Wharf. The facility 
will provide space to support and encourage the production of local content 
with the aim of delivering new local productions to the stage at the WMC. The 
new Production Facility will also be able to host small productions with an 
audience capacity of up to circa 500.  

 
44. The proposed location for this new facility is directly opposite the WMC, 

fronting the new pedestrian connection linking the Oval Basin to the new 
public square at Atlantic Wharf. Design work is being progressed and has 
been costed to RIBA Stage 2. The projected funding of the project is via a 
lease-back to the Council of 30-40 years for circa 60-70% of the cost with the 
balance made-up by WMC via capital investment.  

 
45. The aim is to consider the OBC for the new Production Facility as the same 

time as the Red Dragon Centre OBC in the spring 2022. An outline proposal 
is set out at Confidential Appendix 6.  

 
New Family Attraction - Outline Business Case 

 
46. Cardiff Council has been in discussion for a number of years with a specialist 

provider of attractions/events to deliver an authentic attraction for Cardiff that 

Page 1775



Page 10 of 22 

has the potential to attract a significant number of new visitors to the city 
visitors as well as supporting the city’s major event programme. The intention 
is to deliver an attraction that becomes synonymous with Cardiff. A brief 
overview of the proposal is attached at Confidential Appendix 7.  
 

47. The next step is to develop an Outline Business Case for the proposal. The 
Council will need to engage further with the provider to develop a detailed 
proposal which will include a requirement for investment by the Council to 
enable the development of the concept.  The cost to the Council of making 
this investment will be from within existing resources.  The OBC once 
developed will be presented back to Cabinet for authority to proceed to the 
Full Business Case stage. The general lead-time for delivery of such an 
attraction is circa 2-3 years covering design and build.  It is intended to 
present the OBC and subsequently the FBC during 2022. 

 
Cardiff Story Museum – Outline Business Case 

 
48. The Council would like to deliver a bespoke space for the relocation of the 

Cardiff Story Museum from the Old Library to Atlantic Wharf to enhance the 
cultural offer in Cardiff Bay. There is potential for a space to be delivered as 
part of the new Red Dragon Centre development. The proposal would form 
part of the private sector delivered element of the development and will be 
tested through the related procurement process. An Outline Business Case 
will need to be undertaken in due course to understand the financial 
implications to the Council.  

 
Multi-Storey Car Park - Full Business Case 
 
49. In July 2021, Cabinet approved the OBC for the delivery and operation of a 

new Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) for Atlantic Wharf in consideration of 
releasing the existing surface car parking areas for redevelopment. 
Professionals have been appointed and designs are being developed. 
Engagement has also commenced with contractors through an open 
procurement process with a number of contractors showing significant 
interest at the launch event. The next stage of this process is to issue a Pre-
Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) and an Invitation to Tender (ITT). This 
requires Cabinet to approve evaluation criteria which is set-out at 
Confidential Appendix 8. 
 

50. The Full Business Case for the MSCP is on target to be concluded and 
returned to Cabinet for authority to proceed in autumn 2022, with works 
programmed to commence on-site in early 2023. 

 
Cardiff Bay Metro 
 
51. Transport for Wales (TFW) is on target to commence works on the Core 

Valley Line (CVL) extension from Queen Street station to Cardiff Bay in 
August 2022, with works due to be completed by the summer of 2023. The 
report at Confidential Appendix 9 provides an overview of the works that 
TFW are bringing forward which includes the provision of a dual track link 
between Queen Street station and the existing Cardiff Bay station as well as 

Page 1776



Page 11 of 22 

improvements to the existing Cardiff Bay station and a new station at 
Loudoun Square.  
 

52. The Council is working with Welsh Government to extend the current 
investment in the CVL extension, to provide a direct link to Cardiff Central 
station and to extend the line further into Cardiff Bay connecting to a 
proposed new transport hub at Pierhead Street and on to a new station at 
Roath Basin. This would essentially form the first phase of the Council’s 
Crossrail project.  

 
53. Positive discussions have taken place and remain ongoing with the owner of 

the Pierhead Street site which has been identified as the preferred location 
for the new Cardiff Bay Transport Hub (illustrated at Appendix 10). 

 
54. The delivery of Phase 1 of Crossrail is based on the submission of a 

successful Levelling Up Fund bid by the Council matched by a funding 
commitment from Welsh Government. Work is now underway to prepare a 
Levelling Up Fund bid. Work is also on-going with Welsh Government to 
prepare a business case for their investment. 

 
55. Later phases of the Council’s Crossrail project will see new stations delivered 

at Splott, Tremorfa, Newport Rd and then on to the proposed new Cardiff 
Parkway mainline station, providing the first public transport rail infrastructure 
for the east of Cardiff, connecting a large swathe of the Southern Arc. 

 
Lloyd George Avenue  
 
56. The relocation of the Indoor Arena from the city centre to Cardiff Bay has 

amplified the importance of Lloyd George Avenue as a primary public 
transport and active travel corridor between the city centre and the Bay.  The 
investment being undertaken by TFW to introduce a tram connection 
between Queen Street station and Cardiff Bay station provides an 
opportunity to review infrastructure provision in this area to make better use 
of the space to encourage more active travel (cycling and walking) along the 
circa 1km route.   
 

57. At present the dual carriage way connection between Tyndall Street and Bute 
Place represents one of the most under-utilised and consequently over 
engineered roads in the city. The potential for a significant reduction in road 
space along the length of the route, coupled to the introduction of tram style 
infrastructure rather than heavy rail infrastructure creates an opportunity to 
improve east-west connections and to provide a landscaped environment 
that encourages more people to walk and cycle between the city centre and 
the Bay. 

 
58. The TFW works will create new access points to the existing Cardiff Bay 

station from Bute Street and Lloyd George Avenue and a new station north of 
Loudoun Square with new connections from Bute Street and Lloyd George 
Avenue. The plan attached at Confidential Appendix 11 provides a simple 
high-level concept plan for landscaping improvements based on a reduction 
of the dual carriage way to a single lane carriageway in each direction. 
However, there is potential for a much more comprehensive review of 

Page 1777



Page 12 of 22 

infrastructure in the area to deliver further environmental improvements and 
improved amenity space. This would require full and early engagement with 
the local community to understand the appetite for change and the scale and 
nature of intervention that is possible.  

 
59. It is the Council’s intention to begin an engagement process with the 

community in the next few months. The initial proposals to upgrade the 
landscaping along Lloyd George Avenue will be brought forward through an 
Outline Business Case to be presented to Cabinet in the spring 2022. This is 
to ensure the works align with the works being brought forward by TFW and 
avoid abortive spend. 

 
International Sports Village  
 
Land Acquisition and Updated Masterplan 

 
60. Following Cabinet approval in September 2021, the Council has progressed 

the acquisition of land and assets from Greenbank Partnership Ltd. The 
acquisition of the first phase of land is due to be completed in March 2022. 
The second phase, which will also include the Ice Arena, will be completed 
by 31st December 2022. The Council is required to have earmarked capital 
receipts from the disposal of a proportion of the land acquired from 
Greenbank in the first phase transaction to meet the costs of funding the 
second phase transaction. A soft market testing exercise will be undertaken 
in the spring/summer to establish market interest and will be reported back to 
Cabinet in the autumn before agreeing sales. 
 

61. As a result of the Council’s growing interest in the site, the masterplan 
approved by Cabinet in September 2021 has now been extended to include 
the land being acquired from Greenbank Partnership Ltd. The updated 
masterplan is attached at Appendix 12 and consists of 2 key components: a 
leisure destination attraction located to the rear of the site, incorporating the 
International White Water Rafting Centre, the International Pool and the Ice 
Arena alongside the proposed new Velodrome, the Cardiff MX off-road 
facility and the Closed Road Circuit; and a residential-led mixed use 
development fronting the water. A public consultation on the updated 
International Sports Village masterplan and the relocation of Maindy 
Velodrome took place over 9 weeks from 15th December 2021 to 17th 
February 2022.  The updated masterplan deals mainly with the extension of 
the site to include residential-led mixed use development on the waterfront. 
There was insignificant feedback received through the consultation on these 
proposals with the focus of responses relating to the already approved 
leisure destination and the proposed relocation of the Maindy Velodrome. 
The full consultation report has been published and is attached at Appendix 
14. 

 
62. The Council will be involved in direct delivery of the proposed new facilities 

that make up the leisure attraction subject to approval of business cases, 
whereas the residential-led mixed use development will be brought forward 
by developers procured by the Council on a phased programme. The 
residential-led development includes a new hotel development to be located 
on the site of the existing International Pool surface car park. The Council’s 

Page 1778



Page 13 of 22 

intention is to bring forward the hotel development as an early phase to 
provide a buffer between the existing residential development on-site and the 
new leisure attraction. 

 
63. The leisure destination attraction has a strong sport and adventure leisure 

theme with a number of new facilities proposed to enhance cycling sport 
provision in the city. In July 2021, Cabinet approved the Outline Business 
Case for the proposed new Velodrome and provided authority to prepare a 
Full Business Case including the procurement of a contractor and the 
submission of a planning application.  A planning application for the new 
Velodrome was submitted in December 2021 and is due to be considered by 
the Local Planning Authority in March.  

 
64. A key component of the International Sports Village leisure attraction is the 

development of a new Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) to consolidate all 
existing surface car parking into one location. The delivery of the MSCP will 
help the Council maintain its parking obligations to existing facilities whilst 
freeing up land for development and the provision of new public spaces. The 
intention is for the MSCP to become a Park & Ride hub on the west of the 
city, enabling more regular and direct bus services connecting the ISV back 
to the city centre.  The Council is in the process of the soft marketing testing 
the delivery and operational of the MSCP and the results will be reported 
back to Cabinet in the summer. 

 
65. The conversion and upgrade of the former Toys R Us building offers the 

opportunity to attract additional new indoor leisure facilities to the site. The 
proposal is to remodel the building and to subdivide to accommodate 2-3 
new attractions alongside a large format bike shop. It is also proposed to 
provide a series of small format, container style, food & beverage units 
underneath the raised elements of the Closed Road Circuit. These 
commercial spaces will enhance the food & beverage offer and dwell time on 
site whilst also creating a revenue stream to support the on-going 
maintenance of the site. The proposals for the Toys R Us building will be 
presented back to Cabinet in the form of a Full Business Case in the 
summer, and the proposed food & beverage units will form part of the 
business plan covering the Closed Road Cycle Circuit outlined below. 

 
66. The whole leisure attraction will also benefit from a comprehensive upgrade 

to the public realm with new landscaped areas and tree planting, including 
the removal of Olympian Drive. There is potential for additional free to use 
leisure activities to be introduced within the public realm such as skate parks 
and pump tracks. As the site matures, opportunity has been identified to 
extend the ‘High-Ropes’ attraction across the site and to deliver a long Zip 
Wire attraction potentially landing on a platform in the River Ely.  
 

67. Although the Cardiff Bay Yacht Club is physically separated from the core 
area of the leisure attraction, the Council and the Yacht Club are keen for the 
Yacht Club to become an integral part of the ISV leisure offer with a range of 
water-based activities available to the public. The Council has been working 
with the Yacht Club to review the interface between their land ownership and 
the proposed residential development including the realignment of the 
entrance road into the Yacht Club. The plans attached at Confidential 

Page 1779



Page 14 of 22 

Appendix 13 illustrate the work that has been undertaken with the Yacht Club 
and Cardiff Cruise to enable new facilities to be provided that will facilitate the 
provision of a regular water taxi service between the ISV and the Inner 
Harbour. 
 

68. The residential-led development can now be planned in a coherent way right 
along the water’s edge. The site is earmarked for residential-led mixed use 
development with active ground floor uses clustered mainly in the centre of 
the site where numerous primary access routes intersect.  The plan provides 
for an extended waterfront promenade enabling public access to the 
waterfront to be maintained and new amenity spaces are proposed to be 
provided. It is proposed that the residential development will be brought 
forward on a plot-by-plot basis starting with land adjacent to the existing 
residential development on the River Ely side and working its way around the 
water’s edge in an anti-clockwise direction. Indicatively, at this stage, 
development will start off as low-rise blocks (4-5 storeys) adjacent to the 
existing residential development and will build-up to a cluster of higher-rise 
blocks (10-15 storeys) in the centre of the waterfront promenade.  There is a 
proposal for one very tall building in this location. Additional public open 
space will be provided in this area to establish the core of a food & beverage 
destination. This location is anticipated to benefit from the highest levels of 
footfall being in close proximity to the pedestrian entrance to the Multi-Storey 
Car Park and adjacent to the proposed Water Taxi pier. In this location there 
is potential for offices to be located above the ground floor food & beverage 
uses lifting the residential development away from crowded public spaces. 
Also, as projected footfall diminishes, there is potential for offices to be 
delivered on the ground floor to provide an active use where retail is less 
likely to work commercially.  
 

69. It is proposed to report progress on the ISV development back to Cabinet in 
the summer of 2022 including disposal strategies for the proposed hotel, the 
residential development, and the proposed MSCP. 

 
New Velodrome Proposal - Full Business Case 

 
70. In July 2021, Cabinet provided authority for the development of a Full 

Business Case relating to the new Velodrome proposal for the ISV.  This 
work has been progressed and has involved the procurement of a contractor 
and submission of a planning application to confirm costs and deliverability. 
During the development of the Full Business Case, it has become apparent 
that to avoid unnecessary additional costs on the new Velodrome project and 
the subsequent projects proposed for the ISV, the new Velodrome should be 
brought forward at the same time as the proposed Off-Road Cardiff MX 
facility and the Closed Road Cycle Circuit under a unified FBC. This is due to 
the requirement for substantial earth movement across the site and the 
desire to avoid the abortive costs of removing earth from the site only to 
require earth to be returned to site at a later date. Engagement with 
stakeholders through the process of developing the new Velodrome project 
has also confirmed the important synergy between the proposed cycling 
related facilities and the need to complete the public realm to enable the 
whole site function effectively.  Although work on the Full Business Case for 
the new Velodrome has largely been completed, it is now proposed to extend 

Page 1780



Page 15 of 22 

the scope of the FBC to include the Off-Road Cardiff MX facility and the 
Closed Road Cycle Circuit and to deliver the 3 facilities as one development. 
The procurement of the contractor allows for this extended scope. However, 
at present, only the new Velodrome proposal has been submitted for 
planning permission. It is therefore proposed to prepare and submit a 
planning application covering the Off-Road Cardiff MX facility and for the 
Closed Road Cycle Circuit including all of the public realm that sits inside the 
Closed Road Cycle Circuit connecting the new and existing facilities. This will 
be prepared over the coming months with a view to being determined by the 
Local Planning Authority in the late summer/early autumn. It is proposed that 
the Full Business Case for a combined cycling facility be presented back to 
Cabinet in the summer/autumn of 2022.  
 

71. Subject to successfully securing planning permission in March, the new 
Velodrome project will continue to progress through the development of 
detailed designs to RIBA Stage 4. This work will be undertaken at the same 
time as the preparation of a planning application for the Off-Road (Cardiff 
MX) facility and the Closed Road Cycle Circuit involving the development of 
designs to RIBA Stage 3. This will mean the programme for delivery of the 
Velodrome project will not be significantly affected by the proposal for a 
combined FBC and will remain on track for a start on-site by the end of the 
year.      

 
Relocation of Maindy Velodrome 

 
72. In December 2020, Cabinet gave authority to the Schools Organisation 

Programme to begin the consultation process relating to the proposed 
expansion of Cathays High School. The proposed new development would 
require the closure of the existing Velodrome at the Maindy Leisure Centre 
site. 
 

73. The updated masterplan for the International Sports Village presented to 
Cabinet in March 2021 included delivery of a new purpose-built Velodrome 
facility. This new facility is proposed to be part-funded by the Schools 
Organisation Programme to release the land currently occupied by the 
Maindy Velodrome for the school expansion. 

 
74. Following the SOP consultation and statutory notice, Cabinet approved the 

school proposals, subject to various land matters, including approval of the 
relocation of the Velodrome. 

 
75. A public consultation on the International Sports Village masterplan and the 

relocation of Maindy Velodrome took place over 9 weeks from 15th December 
2021 to 17th February 2022.  Where there is acknowledgement that the 
relocation of the Maindy Velodrome will be upsetting for some, the public 
opinion shows no significant opposition or support for the relocation of the 
existing velodrome.  The responses received do, however, include support 
for the development of modern, dedicated sports facilities at the International 
Sports Village. The full consultation report has been published and is 
attached at Appendix 14. Consideration will be given to the consultation 
when considering the Full Business Case. 

 

Page 1781



Page 16 of 22 

Operation of the ISV 
 
76. It is proposed that the Council will directly deliver a number of leisure 

proposals outlined in the ISV masterplan, subject to the approval of related 
business plans. In order to support the development of Full Business Cases, 
the Council needs to confirm the future operating model of the leisure 
destination at the ISV, as this will impact on future revenue projections and 
may have other financial implications including VAT. 
 

77. The Council has appointed independent advisors to explore the optimum 
operating model. The conclusion of their work is set out in Confidential 
Appendix 15. The Council is keen to ensure that the ISV becomes a 
destination leisure attraction where individual facilities co-exist well together, 
co-ordinating around events, but at the same time offering the individual 
specialisms to meet the needs of users. The independent advice suggests a 
hybrid model of operation, which establishes a ‘TopCo’, responsible for the 
branding, management and marketing of the overall leisure offer as a whole 
and individual ‘OpCos’ responsible for the operation of each individual facility. 

 
78. Cabinet has already provided authority for a soft market testing exercise to 

establish interest in the operation of the ISV. This work will be taken forward 
over the spring months and will be presented back to Cabinet in the summer 
to coincide with decisions to be taken on the various business cases relating 
to individual facilities.  

 
Mermaid Quay and the Graving Docks 
 
79. The owners of Mermaid Quay had embarked on a substantial investment 

programme to modernise and refurbish the Mermaid Quay development 
before the on-set of the pandemic. This has involved the introduction of new 
facilities such as the Everyman Cinema and improvements to the facades of 
buildings and the start of investment in replacement public realm. The 
Council continues to work closely with Schroders who remain committed to 
their investment for the long-term. As part of their plans, Schroders have 
approached the Council regarding the lease of an area of land owned by the 
Council that forms part of the Mermaid Quay development but sits outside of 
Schroders management and maintenance regime. The area of land is 
illustrated by the plan attached at Confidential Appendix 16. It includes a 
property that currently produces rental income for the Council, an area of 
public realm in need of upgrading, and a potential development site. This 
opportunity is presented to Cabinet for information only and will be taken 
forward under delegated authority. 
 

80. The review of Mermaid Quay undertaken with Schroders has identified an 
opportunity to deliver a new attraction at the Graving Docks. The site lends 
itself to the development of an outdoor Lido/Spa attraction which have 
become increasingly popular across the UK. Some initial concept designs are 
included in the scheme attached at Confidential Appendix 17. The proposal is 
to promote the site as an opportunity for the private sector with a view to 
securing the investment to deliver and operate the facility, with the Council’s 
contribution limited to the provision of land.  

 

Page 1782



Page 17 of 22 

Alexandra Head  
 

81. Alexandra Head occupies a strategic location at the eastern end of the 
barrage and provides a unique opportunity to extend the leisure attraction 
around the water’s edge of Cardiff Bay. The site is unique in that it offers 
views over the Bay and out to sea. This feature alone has generated 
significant interest from potential investors. In terms of key anchor 
developments around the edge of the Bay, Alexandra Head has the potential 
to be as significant as Mermaid Quay, the International Sports Village and the 
barrage itself as a potential generator of visitors and footfall.  
 

82. Since 2019, the Council has been working with a European investor on the 
potential to deliver a spa resort of international standing at the Alexandra 
Head the site. The developer was initially attracted to the site by its unique 
waterfront aspect.  The proposal for the site has the potential to attract as 
many visitors as the new Indoor Arena to Cardiff Bay, with a larger proportion 
coming from outside of the region.  In 2020, the developer commenced 
delivery of a state-of-the art facility in the north of England. They remain 
interested in the Alexandra Head opportunity, but only if the project is 
developed to the extent that it can be delivered immediately after their current 
UK project is completed. Work continues with the developer to understand 
their funding requirements. 
 

83. In recent years the site has hosted a number of significant events for the city 
including the Volvo Ocean Race. It has now become the established home 
for the annual Live Nation Titan Festival. The site has significant potential to 
be developed as an outdoor festival park providing a dedicated location for 
the hosting of outdoor events. This could include the provision of a waterfront 
parkland along the Bay edge linking into the barrage including scope for an 
urban beach proposal on the waterfront.  

 
84. A decision on the future use of the Alexandra Head site is a priority for the 

Council, not only to support the Council’s ambition to establish Cardiff Bay as 
a leading UK visitor destination, but also to provide the footfall to underpin an 
extension of the Metro towards the Docks and to support the regeneration of 
the Roath Basin site. The Council will continue to explore opportunities with 
the Welsh Government and will return to Cabinet in due course to seek 
authority to develop a business case once an appropriate use is identified. 

 
One Planet Cardiff - Energy Strategy 

 
85. The impact of development on the environment will increasingly become an 

integral part of business case development for construction related projects.  
The Council is now committed to bringing forward energy strategies for each 
of its major regeneration projects. This is the case for both the Atlantic Wharf 
Regeneration Scheme and the International Sports Village development.  
Aligning these strategies across projects will inform a Strategic Energy 
Masterplan that will help the Council meet its net zero Carbon obligations.  

 
 
 
 

Page 1783



Page 18 of 22 

Reasons For Recommendations 
 
86. To provide Cabinet with an update on progress with the new Indoor Arena 

project and the Capital Ambition priority to continue the regeneration of 
Cardiff Bay.  
 

Financial Implications 
 

87. This report provides progress updates on a number of proposed 
developments across the Cardiff Bay, including the Indoor Arena Project, 
the wider Atlantic Wharf Regeneration Scheme, as well as schemes at the 
International Sports Village. The report seeks Cabinet approval of the 
updated masterplan for the International Sports Village attached at 
Appendix 12, including authority for the development of a Full Business 
Case and submission of a planning application for the combined cycling 
facilities as set out in the report. Whilst approval in principle is being sought 
at this stage for the updated masterplan at International Sports Village, the 
report sets out that a business case led approach will be utilised with more 
detailed individual scheme proposals to be brought forward to Cabinet for 
review and approval in due course. More detailed financial implications will 
be provided as and when these detailed proposals are brought forward, with 
clear funding strategies needing to be identified to implement these 
proposals. 
 

88. The report also seeks approval of the MSCP Procurement Evaluation 
Criteria as set out in Confidential Appendix 8, as well as delegated authority 
to deal with all aspects of the procurement of the Multi-Storey Car Park 
development at Atlantic Wharf. Procurement and design costs will be met 
from the Arena Affordability Envelope as delivery of the Multi-Storey Car 
Park is a Council obligation within the Indoor Arena Development and 
Funding agreement (DFA), albeit it is anticipated that in the long-term the 
overall scheme will be self-financing and sustainable. Once this work has 
been undertaken, design works are complete and a preferred contractor 
has been identified via the procurement process, a further report will be 
presented back to Cabinet to review and approve Full Business Case and 
the final appointment of the contractor. More detailed financial implications 
will be provided on this at a future Cabinet meeting.  
 

89. Other schemes identified within this report will not result in a commitment of 
capital expenditure at this stage. In the event of any actions being 
undertaken to further progress of these schemes to fulfil objectives set out 
in the report, then any associated revenue or capital costs would need to be 
found from within the existing budgetary resource allocation or from 
externally funded sources. Where externally funded sources are identified 
then consideration needs to be given of any terms and conditions 
associated with the funding and financial advice sought as appropriate.  
 

Legal Implications 
 
90. The purpose of this report is largely to provide an overview of the current 

and proposed projects that form part of the wider regeneration of the Cardiff 
Bay area, which are for noting. Specific legal advice on implications arising 

Page 1784



Page 19 of 22 

from these projects is expected to be provided in further reports as those 
issues arise during the development of those projects. 
  

91. This report does require a decision with regard to approving the Evaluation 
Criteria at Confidential Appendix 8 and to delegate all aspects of the 
procurement to the Director for Economic Development. Legal Services has 
not specifically advised on this matter to date [but legal advice has/is been 
sought externally]. It is noted that all aspects of the procurement save for 
the contract award (subject to approval of the full business case) is to be 
delegated further and it expected that the matter will comply with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and all aspects of procurement law.  
 

92. In connection with the International Sports Village, the decision requires 
approval of the existing masterplan and regard should be given to the 
matters contained in the updated plan at Appendix 3 and the responses to 
the consultation report at Appendix 13. Any property transactions arising 
from the proposed masterplan will require further decisions and should 
comply with the Council’s Acquisition and Disposal of Land Procedure 
Rules. 
 
Equalities & Welsh Language 

93. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh 
public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties Councils must, in 
making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations on the basis of protected characteristics. Protected characteristics 
are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic 
or national origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and 
maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual orientation 
(i)Religion or belief –including lack of belief. 
  

94. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers 
(WG42004 A More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty Equality Act 
2010 (gov.wales) and must be able to demonstrate how it has discharged 
its duty. 
 

95. An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities implications 
of the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from socio-economic 
disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the outcomes of a 
Equalities Impact Assessment.  
 

96. The decision maker should be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards.  
 
 
 

Page 1785

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf


Page 20 of 22 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

97. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places a 
‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-being 
goals for Wales - a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, more 
equal, has cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language, and is globally responsible.  In discharging its duties under the 
Act, the Council has set and published well being objectives designed to 
maximise its contribution to achieving the national well being goals. The 
wellbeing objectives are set out in Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2020 -23. 
  

98. When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all reasonable 
steps to meet its wellbeing objectives. This means that the decision makers 
should consider how the proposed decision will contribute towards meeting 
the wellbeing objectives and must be satisfied that all reasonable steps 
have been taken to meet those objectives. 
 

99. The wellbeing duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 
‘sustainable development principle’. This principle requires the Council to 
act in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met 
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Put simply, this means that Council decision makers must take 
account of the impact of their decisions on people living their lives in Wales 
in the future. In doing so, the Council must: 
 

 Look to the long term 

 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems 

 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being 

goals 

 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions 

 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions which 

affect them 

 

100. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible online using 
the link below:  
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-
act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en 
 

Property Implications 
 
101. The Cardiff Bay Regeneration Overview Report provides an update on the 

current and proposed projects that form part of the wider regeneration of the 
Cardiff Bay area. The Strategic Estates team continues to provide specific 
property advice on implications, valuations and transactions arising from the 
delivery of these projects, including the new Indoor Arena, the Atlantic 
Wharf Regeneration scheme and the International Sports Village. For 
example, the team is presently working closely with the Major Projects team 
on the proposed acquisition of development land and assets from 
Greenbank Partnership. 
 

Page 1786

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


Page 21 of 22 

102. The Strategic Estates team also provide significant resource towards the 
on-going management of certain property and land acquired by the Council 
in the delivery of development in and around Cardiff Bay, such as the Red 
Dragon Centre and Toys R Us building. Therefore, as projects develop, the 
level of resource required for the team to provide appropriate support in this 
area should be continually reviewed, as well any budget implications for the 
Strategic Estate Department. 
 

103. There are no further specific property implications to be reported at this 
stage, in respect of the Cardiff Bay Regeneration Overview Report. It 
should be noted that the Corporate Property Strategy 2021-26 (CPS) was 
approved at Cabinet in December 2021. The CPS sets out in detail on the 
Council’s wider property strategy going forwards, including relevant targets 
over the next five years such as on carbon reduction, which may have a 
bearing how the individual project business cases are developed. 
 

104. The Strategic Estates Department will continue to assist where necessary in 
supporting delivery of projects within the context of the Cardiff Bay 
Regeneration Overview Report. Any property transactions or valuations 
required to deliver any proposals should be done so in accordance with the 
Council’s Asset Management process and in consultation with Strategic 
Estates and relevant service areas.  

 
HR Implications  
 
105. There are no HR implications arising from the recommendations set out in 

this Cabinet report. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

1. Note progress on the Indoor Arena project and other projects that support the 
Council’s commitment to the regeneration of Cardiff Bay. 

 
2. Approve the Evaluation criteria set out in Confidential Appendix 8 and to 

delegate authority to the Director of Economic Development in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Investment and Development, the Section 151 Officer 
and the Legal Officer to deal with all other aspects of the procurement of the 
Multi-Storey Car Park development at Atlantic Wharf up to the final appointment 
of the contractor which is subject to the approval of the Full Business Case at a 
future Cabinet meeting. 

 
3. Approve the updated masterplan for the International Sports Village attached at 

Appendix 12 and provide authority for the development of a Full Business Case 
for the combined cycling facilities, including submission of a planning 
application, as set out in this report. 

 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Neil Hanratty 
Director of Economic Development 

 

Page 1787



Page 22 of 22 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix 1 - Atlantic Wharf Masterplan 

Appendix 2 - Arena Site Plan 

Appendix 3 - Atlantic Wharf Updated Masterplan 

Confidential Appendix 4 - Cardiff Live Proposal  

Confidential Appendix 5 - This is Wales/TICA Proposal 

Confidential Appendix 6 - WMC Proposal 

Confidential Appendix 7 - Family Attraction Proposal 

Confidential Appendix 8 - MSCP Procurement Evaluation Criteria  

Confidential Appendix 9 - Cardiff Bay Metro  

Appendix 10 - Transport Hub Proposal 

Confidential Appendix 11 - Lloyd George Avenue Study 

Appendix 12 - ISV Updated Masterplan 

Confidential Appendix 13 - Yacht Club / Cardiff Cruise Plans 

Appendix 14 - ISV Consultation Report 

Confidential Appendix 15 - ISV Operator Strategy Report 

Confidential Appendix 16 - Mermaid Quay Site Plan 

Confidential Appendix 17 - Graving Dock Proposal 

 

 

 

 

Page 1788



Atlantic Wharf Development

Masterplan

February 2022

For Discussion Purposes Only

XXXX-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060128

Appendix 1

P
age 1789



Proposed Illustrative Masterplan

2

P
age 1790



3

Aerial Overiew

P
age 1791



4

Arena & Event Square

P
age 1792



5

Gateway

P
age 1793



6

Commercial Office & Event Square

P
age 1794



Project Title: Atlantic Wharf Development

Document Title: Masterplan

Project Number: 0371

Document Reference: XXXX-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060128

Issue

date
Rev Description Prepared by Checked by Approved by

15/02/2022 - First Issue DL FfL RR

Document Verification

P
age 1795



Rio Cardiff

21a Allensbank Road

Cardiff CF14 3PN

+44 (0)29 2025 0066

Rio Scotland

1 Lochrin Square

Edinburgh EH3 9QA

+44 (0)131 357 4211

Rio London

19 – 21 Hatton Garden

London EC1N 8BA

+44 (0)20 2691 7565

Architecture  | Sustainability  | Interiors  | Visualisation  | Masterplanning

studio@rioarchitects.com

www.rioarchitects.com

@rioarchitects

P
age 1796



Cardiff Arena, Butetown, Cardiff Bay
Plans & Boundaries

Appendix 2

P
age 1797



Atlantic Wharf Masterplan Boundary

P
age 1798



Arena, Hotel & Construction Boundaries

P
age 1799



Arena Title Boundary Plan

P
age 1800



Hotel Title Plan

P
age 1801



Construction Boundary Plan

P
age 1802



Site Compound Plan

P
age 1803



Maintenance Area Plan

P
age 1804



Access Rights Plan

P
age 1805



The End

P
age 1806



Atlantic Wharf Regeneration – Red 
Dragon Centre
Outline Business Case – Interim 
Report v.0.3 DRAFT
Cardiff City Council

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff
CF10 4UW

February 2022

Prepared by

GL Hearn

65 Gresham Street
London EC2V 7NQ

T +44 (0)20 7851 4900
glhearn.com

Confidential & Commercially Sensitive

Appendix 3

Page 1807



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 2 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

Contents 

Section Page

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 4

2 INSTRUCTIONS 5

3 2021 PROGRESS SUMMARY 6

4 PROPOSED SCOPE CHANGES 8

5 NEXT STEPS   13

Attachments

APPENDIX A :  Rio - Atlantic Wharf Development RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing 
  

Page 1808



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 3 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

Quality Standards Control

The signatories below verify that this document has been prepared in accordance with our quality control 

requirements. These procedures do not affect the content and views expressed by the originator.

This document must only be treated as a draft unless it has been signed by the originators and approved by a 

Business or Associate Director.

DATE ORIGINATORS APPROVED
18 February 2022

Limitations

This document has been prepared for the stated objective and should not be used for any other purpose 

without the prior written authority of GL Hearn; we accept no responsibility or liability for the consequences of 

this document being used for a purpose other than for which it was commissioned.

Confidentiality and Commercial Sensitivity

Due to the potential impact on on-going commercial discussions and future procurement decisions, the report 

is confidential and commercially sensitive.

Page 1809



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 4 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report provides a short update on the Red Dragon Centre Outline Business Case (OBC). Commissioned 

in early 2021, the programme for completion of the work is proposed to be extended to June/July 2022 in order 

to carry out further technical work and complete commercial discussions with existing tenants. The additional 

time will also allow the business case to incorporate the outcome of the forthcoming outline planning 

application decision and to consider the response to the outcome of the soft market testing carried out in 

Autumn 2021 with the legal team on the right deal structure for the project’s delivery.

Page 1810



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 5 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

2 INSTRUCTIONS

Brief

GL Hearn have been asked to prepare an Outline Business Case (OBC) for Cardiff City Council examining 

investment and development options for the Red Dragon Centre at Atlantic Wharf in Cardiff Bay.

GLH have been supported in this by the Council team and their advisers, specifically:

 Rio Architects – Atlantic Wharf Development RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing (Attached)

 Avison Young / Cushman & Wakefield - Agency

The brief requires us to consider

 Cardiff Council Investment case for the Red Dragon Centre. 

 Regeneration impact of the Red Dragon Centre on the wider surroundings.

The Red Dragon Centre is a component of the emerging Atlantic Wharf Masterplan. The Council are already 

delivering the wider vision which begins with the construction of a new indoor Arena. Relocation of the RDC 

Travelodge Hotel and construction of a new multi-storey car park on the RDC surface car park, mean changes 

are already approved in principle for this asset. The value of further investment is now considered to ensure 

any future investment can be demonstrated as Value for Money. 

Page 1811



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 6 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

3 2021 PROGRESS SUMMARY 

Work to prepare a business case for the Red Dragon Centre has been on-going throughout 2021. 

The work has examined the design layout for the masterplan on the RDC site, sought to align the proposals 

with the emerging Arena and MSCP plans and consider the potential commercial structures to deliver the 

scheme.

During the year, the work has required collaboration with the team progressing other parts of the project. In 

particular the Arena team bringing forward the outline planning application and the agency team who have 

engaged with the market to gauge interest in the proposals. We summarise the outcome of these workstreams 

below.

Outline Planning Application

The Arena operators are required to prepare and submit an outline planning application covering the wider 

masterplan prior to its construction. This is necessary to ensure the Arena can come forward in a holistic 

fashion with clear parameters for adjacent development of buildings and as importantly site clearance, 

remediation and infrastructure provision. The application has a number of key objectives which are equally 

applicable to the future of the Red Dragon Centre and required work between the team to align the plans. 

These key objectives are;  

 Protect and improve investment in Red Dragon Centre.
 Improved links to Cardiff Bay from a visitor attractions experience 
 More efficient use of land
 Energy Strategy 
 Cardiff One Planet - carbon neutral by 2030
 Improved Transport links
 Distinctive, attractive, flexible and vibrant use of space
 Connect the City to the Bay

Of particular importance, is ensuring the plans for the RDC support delivery of the Arena. 

Page 1812



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 7 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

Soft-Market Testing

In September 2021 the Council commenced a soft-market testing exercise to ascertain views of the 

development market on the emerging proposals for RDC 2. Previous work had envisaged the scheme could 

come forward as a partnership opportunity requiring a procurement competition. This exercise sought to 

investigate if a land deal structure could work and accelerate delivery.

The Council’s agents, Cushman & Wakefield / Avison Young have engaged with the market and held detailed 

meetings with interested parties.

Summary of Key Feedback

The market broadly approved the mix and quantum of uses, however developers noted the following:

 Different views on the potential uses that could best sit above the RDC. These included;
o 4* Hotel
o Apart-Hotel
o Private Rented Sector (PRS) accommodation

 The quantity of the above uses differed according to views on likely operating models and their specific 
requirements

 Opportunity to re-develop in two parts, the first comprising the RDC2 leisure/retail accommodation and the 
second a standalone PRS/Residential opportunity. 

 Office accommodation for plot M was deemed possible with Council support either from an occupier 
tenancy or an income strip. The plots alternative use as a residential led product was verified.

Deal Structure

Whilst offers were received, the quality of the offers varied greatly and was not sufficient to convince the 
Council to continue to explore them at the current time.

Generally, proposals favoured taking forward the RDC project on the basis of a proposed Council commitment 
to underwriting the commercial elements of the RDC2 scheme. The market indicated the following ranges:

 RDC2 Land value £1 - £1m (Council receive)
 RDC2 Investment Value (commercial elements only) £40-64m (Council acquire)

Developers were seeking to structure the deal on a Cost-Plus basis, with a profit margin for the developer 

added to the build cost. Generally, a profit margin of 10-12.5% of build cost was suggested. This would seem 

high for a scheme with a pre-let but likely reflects some of the uncertainty given the stage of the projects design 

and tenant engagement, as well as current market conditions where cost inflation is proving difficult to forecast 

at the current time due to supply chain disruption from Covid-19.

Page 1813



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 8 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

4 PROPOSED SCOPE CHANGES

Rationale for change

In our view the work above has verified that the scheme is not yet ready to be delivered. The Council currently 

has a number of on-going workstreams which it would be sensible to complete before re-engaging the market. 

Throughout the process to finalise the Arena design and engagement with the market, it became apparent that 

the Masterplan would require a series of changes to optimise the viability and delivery of the RDC2 scheme 

and the wider masterplan. It is proposed to carry out further work on a number of key elements to reflect this. 

Set out below are a series of elements from the masterplan work which were either underway separately or 

have emerged as a result of work carried out in 2021. It is now proposed to incorporate them into this OBC to 

give a comprehensive analysis of the wider impacts of the proposed RDC 2. 

Proposed projects  

refer to attached Atlantic Wharf Development RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing

Plot A – RDC2

Plot A is designated for the new RDC2. This would re-house those tenants who wish to move from the existing 

RDC into new accommodation and introduce new uses, including some form of residential product.

Throughout 2021 the Council continued to engage with tenants on their future space requirements. Tenants 

were more focussed on short term survival and their existing tenancies and rent/service charge holidays rather 

than commitments beyond their existing leases.

The re-opening of the economy should allow final discussions on whether tenants wish to stay and how much 

space they require in the future. At the current time, we think some requirements have changed, particularly 

the Odeon Cinema, which is an anchor tenant. We are therefore proposing to allow more time to discuss this 

and to test an option which removes the cinema also. This has a number of benefits, including reducing car 

parking demand on the MSCP on Arena Concert nights, creating room for alternative uses, potentially more 

Food and Beveridge space at ground floor and some form of residential product on upper floors. Cinema space 

Page 1814



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 9 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

is difficult to adapt and should only be built if an operator is willing to sign up for a sensible lease term. If not, 

then other options are likely to provide greater ability to adapt in the future which could be helpful.   

Many of the tenants have engaged positively and have reached the Heads of Terms stage. Further work will 

develop this to ensure the programme, construction and fit-out cost responsibilities are clear. It will also deal 

with management issues, especially during construction where issues such as car parking require further 

detailed work. 

Finally, the Soft testing has suggested splitting the parcel into two constituent buildings may be a more 

economical way of bringing the scheme forward. This will be tested further.

Public Square

The design of the events square is fundamental to the successful outcome of the AWD Site masterplan. At the 

heart of the development, the square is envisaged to link into the Arena Plaza to the Bay waterfront. This 

events space is a key masterplan feature with links to Arena fire safety, security planning, public realm and 

movement plans as well as the commercial desirability of the new leisure facilities. 

In design terms, understanding the extent of the physical square at approximately 80m x 80m, together with 

the extended edge spaces beyond, hard and soft landscaping, servicing, the spatial design, and lighting of the 

interfaces between the square and buildings on the remaining three sides, is critical to shaping a coordinated 

brief and to procuring a successful outcome.  

It has taken time to develop the wider application detail to confirm a number of the elements informing the 

squares purpose. Further work is now required to properly cost what will need to be a high-quality public space 

that can adapt to deliver the aspiration of extending the Cardiff Bay visitor destination. This is likely to look at 

options to produce a design which can be funded from receipts elsewhere within the masterplan (self-funding) 

or whether additional public sector investment from the Council is required. 

Page 1815



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 10 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

Lloyd George Avenue Public Realm

The Masterplan has always envisaged transformational change for Lloyd George Avenue, driven by the need 

to enable the proposed new Metro link. Further work has also identified the need for this element of the plans 

to deliver public realm improvements alongside the Arena, to ensure this is delivered in an acceptable format. 

This creates links between this element and further delivery of the Red Dragon Centre project, notably the 

requirement for a site wide drainage strategy which will incorporate works on the RDC site. 

Further detailed design work will be essential to finalise the identified strategy and programme the technical 

dependencies to inform the business case during the coming months. Though not limited to the following, it 

will encompass constraints mapping, landscaping/public realm, ecology, engineering, and transport 

engagement.  

Further work is required to understand how this can be delivered with/without impacting the current Red 

Dragon Centre so we understand the programming of activity and cashflow impact of having to carry out more 

extensive activity here, earlier than was understood at the outset. 

Pedestrian Bridge

As part of the evolving hybrid masterplan, the proposed pedestrian bridge spanning the A4232 connecting to 

the proposed Transport Hub is critical to the management and safety of pedestrian movement and accessibility 

to the site, both at peak times, with increased footfall to the 17,000 capacity Arena events and also to align 

with the Cardiff City wide transport strategy. 

While the Transport Hub is being developed separately by TFW, the wider transport accessibility impact to 

and from the site is fundamental to a success masterplan.  

Further detailed design work is required to finalise the cost proposals for the bridge. These cannot be 

completed until the MSCP design reaches the Stage 2 stage and the RDC plot designs are finalised. This is 

due to likely changes in its alignment which will change the engineering inputs. We are currently carrying out 

further site surveys, which may impact the positioning of the MSCP. This in turn impacts the bridge and some 

infrastructure diversions which may then impact the proposed RDC2 development plot. Additional time will 

allow us to complete this and ensure the proposals align and can be delivered.

P
e
d
e
s
t
r
i
a
n 
B
r
i
d
g
e 
g
r
a
p
h
i
c

Page 1816



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 11 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

Plots B & C

As per Plot A, more information is now available on potential uses for plots B&C. The changes to the design 

elsewhere will change their shape. Likewise, the volume of the buildings must reflect the surroundings to create 

the appropriate cityscape. We are therefore proposing to re-examine an alternative design. this will require an 

update on the cost and revenue assumptions made for the parcel. 

It is likely these plots will remain disposal opportunities, with receipts generated being used to fund the costs 

of works required by the Council. Ensuring these opportunities are maximised is therefore critical to the viability 

of the wider proposals.

Energy Masterplan

The COP26 conference in Glasgow in Autumn 2021 has given further emphasis to the importance of ensuring 

new development meets net zero carbon policy commitments from national government as well as the council’s 

own policy positions. The proposed Sonas energy strategy for the AWD Masterplan sets out a high-level 

benchmark operational climate neutral position target by 2030 in accordance with Cardiff Council’s aspirations 

set out in the Cardiff One Planet document. 

The Energy Strategy submitted in support of the Hybrid planning application offers three options for the 

emerging masterplan. To meet carbon reduction targets, further detailed development proposals aligned to 

the emerging masterplan will be required for each element of the development. This is an essential piece of 

work involving a clear delivery route map and understanding of the optimum energy strategy, enabling 

infrastructure investment required, accompanied by associated costs and financial modelling to feed into the 

business case. Additional time is being allowed to incorporate this into the business case as it was outside the 

original scope of the work.

Cultural Quarter Plans 

Whilst excluded from the RDC business case, the RDC options will impact the cultural quarter. This is because 

some elements of the design are shared e.g. servicing space is shared between the two elements. 

The Cultural quarter remains aspirational at this stage and is dependent on potential occupiers making the 

commitment to come and being able to fund construction. Central to this is the WMC, whose aspiration to 

expand would draw other occupiers. The WMC are due to decide on whether to continue to progress this 

Page 1817



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 12 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

project in early 2022. It is therefore proposed to incorporate the outcome of the decision and then determine if 

wider design changes should be made to account for potential alterations in the scheme on the RDC site. 

Commercial Consideration

In addition to the further technical work highlighted above to ‘de-risk’ the scheme it would be beneficial to know 

the outcome on the future of County Hall before a final commitment on the RDC2 is made. The Atlantic Wharf 

Strategic Case proposed receipts from the release of County Hall could be used to off-set the costs of the 

RDC redevelopment. Work undertaken so far confirms this position and this is a key part of the councils funding 

strategy for the future of the RDC2.

The position with tenants remains a key risk in taking the scheme forward, hence allowing additional time to 

progress these as far as possible. This is the only issue which the council cannot resolve itself and is therefore 

dependent on third parties. The Council cannot ‘force’ tenants to commit to a position. It must also recognise 

they have leases which will run for another 10 years and that it is yet to determine its preferred course of action 

for the RDC. 

The Council will need to determine how and by when to seek agreement in principle to a particular course and 

how agreements will be completed within it’s chosen delivery strategy. However, to counter the potential 

stalemate with tenants, the Council should continue to prepare two versions of the scheme, with and without 

un-committed tenants. We understand this issue is mainly on the future of the Odeon which is encouraging. 

Demonstrating the scheme is deliverable regardless of their position will be very helpful in order to accelerate 

discussions.

Page 1818



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 13 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

5 NEXT STEPS

Alignment with existing current programme activity

Completion of the following steps will help to ensure the OBC is more robust. These are

Activity Completion Date
RDC Soft-market Testing December 2021

Determination of Hybrid Planning application Q1 2022

Completion of Energy Masterplan Q2 2022

Decision on future of County Hall 2022

In addition to this, we would seek to widen the scope of the RDC project to incorporate the Civic Square, Lloyd 

George Avenue, Pedestrian Bridge, Cultural Quarter, Potential Disposals and Energy Strategy.     

The determination of the planning application would be an appropriate milestone to update the programme 

level strategic case. This will then help clarify an affordability envelope for the Council, given existing 

commitments. Final more detailed design work and discussions with Tenants can then be carried out to finalise 

the OBC.

Workstreams

The key milestones for the project remain:-

To complete the OBC we would focus on the following next steps

1. Finalise Planning & Design objectives.

 Confirm the Hybrid Planning application decision and alignment to future RDC plan

 Develop the strategic case for the civic square and incorporate into this RDC Business Case

Planning 
Permission 

granted
OBC 

Completed Procurement Delivery

Page 1819



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 14 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

 Develop an alternative Masterplan to cover option 2 (RDC remains in situ)

 Complete the Energy Masterplan and alongside emerging statutory guidance, incorporate into a clarified    

Council Zero Carbon position for this project.

 Identify infrastructure, phasing and dependencies to underpin masterplan options.

2. Draw tenant negotiations to a position that determines those who wish to remain at the RDC.

 Work should focus on the Odeon position, given their Anchor status and that an agreed position on 

the future is not known. 

The Council will;

 Complete Option 3B (RDC2 without Odeon) to determine if this is acceptable and whether the Council 

requires Odeon to remain. Consider alternative uses, focussing on those proposed by the soft-test exercise. 

 If Option 3B works, then Odeon to be given a deadline to make a written expression of interest in 

remaining, with commercial principles for a lease set out

 Consider current use mix and likely alternatives given current marginal viability of the leisure concept, 

confirmed by the recent soft-test exercise. 

3. Develop new delivery strategy focussed on self-delivery by the council and the sale of serviced 
development plots to developers.

The Council have received advice from Bevan Brittan on the parameters for using a number of delivery routes 

for the scheme. Informed by the recent soft-testing outcome, we propose to examine in further detail options 

to deliver most of the RDC2 by self-delivery. This would require the Council to fund works, using Design & 

Build Contracts for the RDC2, Bridge and LGA improvements. The sale of plots B and C would help fund the 

work, with wider funds required from the Council, potentially from other receipts generated elsewhere on the 

masterplan. Further work on the Energy Masterplan and cultural quarter will be determined once these have 

progressed further. The Energy works are likely to require spreading across the masterplan to help the funding 

profile and align with delivery considerations.

 The Procurement Strategy should clarify:

o Council objectives 

o Financial

o Socio-economic

o environmental

 Preferred commercial structure 

o Council funding position 

Page 1820



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 15 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

o Council risk appetite

 Scope for variations to the current masterplan

 Further Soft testing may be required

 Summary:-

Council to procure delivery of new RDC 2 (Plot A)

Council to procure Demolish in part or full of existing RDC for delivery of event square.

Council to procure delivery of new footbridge connecting Atlantic Wharf and Transport Hub.

Council to procure delivery of phase 1 of LGA delivering green infrastructure and interface with new 

metro stations. 

              Council to dispose of residual of development plots inclusive of consideration of County Hall.

4. Affirm the RDC OBC alignment with revised strategic case. This should align the financial position 
with the other Atlantic Wharf projects:-

 Arena (in pre-construction delivery stages)

 MSCP (Currently at FBC stage)

 County Hall (Council to determine the position)

 Cultural Quarter (in early stages of development with third parties)

Once the above work is carried out, the OBC can be completed and present a clearer understanding of the 

financial risks and benefits with taking forward redevelopment of the RDC. 

5. Summary of work schedule to be completed by June 2022 to present completed OBC:-

 RDC 2 - complete tenant engagement to determine requirements, specification and secure heads of terms.

 Square/RDC Demolition  - Arups to complete design report for Capita to define costs. Options to be defined 

for future of Odeon within new RDC or remaining in current location considering medium-long term options.

 Footbridge - Arups to complete design report for Capita to define costs.

 LGA (Phase 1) - Arups to provide design and cost report to include within OBC report.

 Energy Strategy - Sonas to complete energy masterplan to include within development strategy and OBC 

report.

 Council to review and provide opinion on future of County Hall against planning, energy and financial 

position of wider Atlantic Wharf. This will be a key requirement with regards the commercial outcome of the 

Page 1821



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 16 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

RDC project and ability to deliver energy strategy and a number of planning obligations linked to delivery of 

new Arena.

 Hydroponics – Bic-Innovation to complete feasibility requirements for Capita to produce cost report to 

include within OBC. 

Once the above work is carried out, the OBC can be completed and present a clearer understanding of the 

financial risks and benefits with taking forward redevelopment of the RDC. 

Page 1822



Cardiff City Council
Atlantic Wharf, Red Dragon Centre, CF10 4UW

GL Hearn Page 17 of 17 
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report v0.3 draft - CB-PD180222.docx February 2022

General Disclaimer
This report has been prepared by GL Hearn Limited (GL Hearn) in favour of Cardiff Council (“the Client”) and 
is for the sole use and benefit of the Client in accordance with the agreement between the Client and GL Hearn 
dated January 2021 under which GL Hearn’s services were performed.  GL Hearn accepts no liability to any 
other party in respect of the contents of this report.  This report is confidential and may not be disclosed by the 
Client or relied on by any other party without the express prior written consent of GL Hearn.  

Whilst care has been taken in the construction of this report, the conclusions and recommendations which it 
contains are based upon information provided by third parties (“Third Party Information”).  GL Hearn has for 
the purposes of this report relied upon and assumed that the Third Party Information is accurate and complete 
and has not independently verified such information for the purposes of this report.  GL Hearn makes no 
representation, warranty or undertaking (express or implied) in the context of the Third Party Information and 
no responsibility is taken or accepted by GL Hearn for the adequacy, completeness or accuracy of the report 
in the context of the Third Party Information on which it is based.  

Freedom of Information
GL Hearn understands and acknowledges the Authority’s legal obligations and responsibilities under the 
Freedom of Information Act 2000 (the “Act”) and fully appreciates that the Authority may be required under the 
terms of the Act to disclose any information which it holds.  GL Hearn maintains that the report contains 
commercially sensitive information that could be prejudicial to the commercial interests of the parties.  On this 
basis GL Hearn believes that the report should attract exemption from disclosure, at least in the first instance, 
under Sections 41 and/or 43 of the Act.  GL Hearn accepts that the damage which it would suffer in the event 
of disclosure of certain of the confidential information would, to some extent, reduce with the passage of time 
and therefore proposes that any disclosure (pursuant to the Act) of the confidential information contained in 
the report should be restricted until after the expiry of 24 months from the date of the report.  

Page 1823



GL Hearn
Atlantic Wharf Development - RDC2 Interim Report App A sheet.docx February 2022

APPENDIX A :  Rio - Atlantic Wharf Development RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing

Page 1824



Atlantic Wharf Development

RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing

February 2022

DRAFT - For Discussion Purposes Only

0371-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060129

P
age 1825



2

Red Line Boundary – OS Map

Hybrid Planning Application

Detailed Planning Application

County Hall

RDC

A3 Unit

P
age 1826



3

Proposed Illustrative Masterplan – submitted for planning 2021

MSCP layout & footprint currently being remodelled

P
age 1827



4

Current RDC2 Proposal – submitted for outline planning 2021

MSCP layout & footprint currently being remodelled

Current RDC2 as submitted for outline planning in 2021

P
age 1828



5

Alternative RDC2 Proposal

MSCP layout & footprint currently being remodelled

Alternative RDC2 as proposed in Rio Architect’s

EOI December 2021

A

B
C

P
age 1829



Alternative RDC2 Proposal

Rio EOI Submission

December 2021

P
age 1830



7

Alternative RDC2 Proposal – Ground Floor Block Plan

Hotel Entrance

& Reception

Global Radio or other

Bowling

(26 lane)

Cinema

Entrance/

A3

Five Guys

A3 Unit

Apart Hotel

Entrance

BTR 

Entrance

A3 Units

Can be configured to 

suit tenant requirements

A3 BOH/ Servicing

Apart Hotel BOH

BTR BOH

Small A3 Units

IMAX Cinema (drops 3m into space)

Service

Yard
This Is Wales relocated to Plot D

Note: This appraisal assumes all development is accommodated within the 30m maximum height parameter set by the Outline Planning Application

P
age 1831



8

Hotel Hospitality/

Bar + Restaurant

IMAX Cinema (12m Height)

Cinema circulation 

from ground floor

Cinema Medium Screen

Cinema Small Screen

Leisure

Unit

Apart Hotel

Alternative RDC2 Proposal – First Floor & Second Floor Block Plan

Hotel Hospitality/

Bar + Restaurant

Apart Hotel

P
age 1832



Courtyard

Courtyard

Courtyard

9

Plot A

Plot B

Hotel

Apart-Hotel

BTR
Plot C

Plot A

Plot B

Hotel

Apart-Hotel

BTR
Plot C

Plots A, B & C – Typical Block Layout Plan

P
age 1833



Block Plans – Hotel Plot A 

Courtyard

Levels 3, 4, 5 & 6

Typical plan arrangement with open 

space courtyard at level 01

60 units per floor x 4 floors = 240 units

Total Units = 240

Total GIA = 8,930 sqm

Beds = 240 units

Laundry etc

Cores

P
age 1834



Block Plans – Aparthotel Plot B

Courtyard

Terrace

Rooftop

Terrace

Amenity

Levels 1, 2 & 3

Typical plan arrangement with open 

space courtyard at level 01

30 units per floor x 3 floors = 90 units

Level 4

Area of amenity shown with a south 

facing terrace

23 units per floor x 1 floors = 23 units

Levels 5, 6 & 7

Reduced footprint with access onto a 

rooftop terrace at level 05

11 units per floor x 3 floors = 33 units

Total Units = 146

Total GIA = 8,580 sqm

Studio = 139 units

Studio Large = 7 units 

Cores

Amenity

P
age 1835



Block Plans – BTR Plot C

Courtyard

Terrace

Amenity

Levels 2, 3, 4 & 5

Typical plan arrangement with open 

space courtyard at level 01

27 units per floor x 4 floors = 108 units

Level 6

Area of amenity shown with a south 

facing terrace

19 units per floor x 1 floors = 19 units

Total Units = 127

Total GIA = 8,200 sqm

Studio = 82 units

1 Bed = 25 units 

2 Bed = 20 units 

Cores

AmenityP
age 1836



Dock Feeder Considerations

P
age 1837



14

Proposed Dock Feeder Realignment

• Dock Feeder alignment Option 03 has been used for

the purposes of this document.

• Proposed RDC2 sits within the easement zone 

therefore footprint needs to be reduced.

• Location is approximate and subject to further 

design review from WSP.

• MSCP layout & footprint currently being remodelled

P
age 1838



15

Alternative RDC2 Proposal – Ground Floor Block Plan

Global Radio/ Hotel entrance

Bowling

(26 lane)

Cinema

Entrance/

A3

Five Guys

Apart Hotel

Entrance

BTR 

Entrance

A3 Units

Can be configured to 

suit tenant requirements

A3 BOH/ Servicing

Apart Hotel BOH

BTR BOH

Small A3 Units

IMAX Cinema (drops 3m into space)

Service

Yard
This Is Wales relocated to Plot D

• Dock Feeder alignment Option 03 has been used for

the purposes of this document.

• Proposed RDC2 sits within the easement zone 

therefore footprint needs to be reduced.

• Location is approximate and subject to further 

design review from WSP.

Extent of floor space lost due to Dock Feeder easement

P
age 1839



16

Alternative RDC2 Proposal – Block Floor Plans

Ground Floor Block Plan First Floor Block Plan Second Floor Block Plan Typical Floor Block Plan Upper Floor Block Plan

P
age 1840



Alternative Phasing

Option 01

P
age 1841



Phasing 00 : Enabling Works

Enabling 

Works

• Enabling works for Detailed Application

P
age 1842



Phasing 01 (A+B) : 2022 to 2025

• PHASE 1A : Detailed Application

• Delivery of a 17,000 capacity Arena & Plaza 

• Completion of a 182 room Travelodge

• Demolition of the existing Travelodge

• PHASE 1B : Reserved Matters Application

• Demolition of existing A3 Unit

• Construction of a 1,300 space MSCP
1A

1B

P
age 1843



Phasing 02 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of a Plot A

• Construction of a new Footbridge over A4232

A

Potential compound area

Footbridge

P
age 1844



Phasing 03 : 2024 to 2027

• Partial demolition of RDC (retaining Odeon

Cinema operations)

Extent of Odeon Cinema

P
age 1845



Phasing 04 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of a Plots B & C

B

C

Potential compound areas

P
age 1846



Phasing 05 : 2024 to 2027

• Demolition of remaining Red Dragon Centre

P
age 1847



Phasing 06 : 2024 to 2027

• Commence works to Event Square

Event Square

P
age 1848



Phasing 07 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of This Is Wales (5D Flight 

Experience)

• Construction of WMC Academy

Potential compound area

P
age 1849



Phasing 08 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of a new Commercial Office

• Construction of new Contemporary Arts

Museum of Wales

• Completion of Event Square

P
age 1850



Phasing 09 : 2029 to 2031

• Demolition of County Hall

P
age 1851



Phasing 10 : 2029 to 2032

• Construction of the new Residential 

development

• Construction of 3no. Hotels

P
age 1852



Phasing : Complete

P
age 1853



Alternative Phasing

Option 02

P
age 1854



Phasing 00 : Enabling Works

Enabling 

Works

• Enabling works for Detailed Application

P
age 1855



Phasing 01 (A+B) : 2022 to 2025

• PHASE 1A : Detailed Application

• Delivery of a 17,000 capacity Arena & Plaza 

• Completion of a 182 room Travelodge

• Demolition of the existing Travelodge

• PHASE 1B : Reserved Matters Application

• Demolition of existing A3 Unit

• Construction of a 1,300 space MSCP
1A

1B

P
age 1856



Phasing 02 : 2024 to 2027

A

Potential compound area

Footbridge

• Construction of a Plot A

• Construction of a new Footbridge over A4232

P
age 1857



Phasing 03 : 2024 to 2027

• Full demolition of existing Red Dragon Centre

• Anchor tenants move into Plot A

A

P
age 1858



Phasing 04 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of a Plots B & C

B

C

Potential compound areas

P
age 1859



Phasing 05 : 2024 to 2027

• Commence works to Event Square

Event Square

P
age 1860



Phasing 06 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of This Is Wales (5D Flight 

Experience)

• Construction of WMC Academy

Potential compound area

P
age 1861



Phasing 07 : 2024 to 2027

• Construction of a new Commercial Office

• Construction of new Contemporary Arts

Museum of Wales

• Completion of Event Square

P
age 1862



Phasing 08 : 2029 to 2031

• Demolition of County Hall

P
age 1863



Phasing 09 : 2029 to 2032

• Construction of the new Residential 

development 

• Construction of 3no. Hotels

P
age 1864



Phasing : Complete

P
age 1865



Project Title: Atlantic Wharf Development

Document Title: RDC2 Update & Masterplan Phasing

Project Number: 0371

Document Reference: 0371-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060129

Issue

date
Rev Description Prepared by Checked by Approved by

16/02/2022 - First Issue DL FfL RR

Document Verification

P
age 1866



Rio Cardiff

21a Allensbank Road

Cardiff CF14 3PN

+44 (0)29 2025 0066

Rio Scotland

1 Lochrin Square

Edinburgh EH3 9QA

+44 (0)131 357 4211

Rio London

19 – 21 Hatton Garden

London EC1N 8BA

+44 (0)20 2691 7565

Architecture  | Sustainability  | Interiors  | Visualisation  | Masterplanning

studio@rioarchitects.com

www.rioarchitects.com

@rioarchitects

P
age 1867



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1869

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1877

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1899

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1913

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1931

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1933

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Atlantic Wharf Development

Transport Hub – Concept Design

February 2022

DRAFT - For Discussion Purposes Only

0371-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060130

Appendix 10 

P
age 1939



2

Proposed Context Masterplan – supporting document for outline planning application 2021

Proposed Transport Hub

Mixed Use Development

Mixed Use Development

Interchange

Mixed Use Development

R

S

T

U

P
age 1940



3

Physical Model

R

S

U

V

Arena

Event 

Square

WMC

Dock

A4232

New Pedestrian Route & Public Realm

Proposed Transport Hub

Proposed Transport Hub

Mixed Use Development

Mixed Use Development

Interchange

Mixed Use Development

R

S

T

U

P
age 1941



4

Physical Model
Proposed Transport Hub

Mixed Use Development

Mixed Use Development

Interchange

Mixed Use Development

R

S

T

U

R

S

U

V

New metro/

light rail route

New metro/

light rail route

Cycle 

Superhighway

Pedestrian 

Footbridge

New Public Realm

Proposed Transport Hub

P
age 1942



5

Rail Connections

P
age 1943



Project Title: Atlantic Wharf Development

Document Title: Transport Hub

Project Number: 0371

Document Reference: 0371-RIO-XX-XX-RP-A-060130

Issue

date
Rev Description Prepared by Checked by Approved by

17/02/2022 - First Issue DL FfL RR

Document Verification

P
age 1944



Rio Cardiff

21a Allensbank Road

Cardiff CF14 3PN

+44 (0)29 2025 0066

Rio Scotland

1 Lochrin Square

Edinburgh EH3 9QA

+44 (0)131 357 4211

Rio London

19 – 21 Hatton Garden

London EC1N 8BA

+44 (0)20 2691 7565

Architecture  | Sustainability  | Interiors  | Visualisation  | Masterplanning

studio@rioarchitects.com

www.rioarchitects.com

@rioarchitects

P
age 1945



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1947

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 12

P
age 1957



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 2

CARDIFF
BAY

MASTERPLAN

P
age 1958



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 3

ISV CARDIFF

Cardiff Bay aerial view Cardiff Bay zonal diagram + study areas

CARDIFF BAY
FROM INDUSTRY TO SPORTS HUB

OVERVIEW

Creating spaces that are rich in character and distinct in identity, the project has 
evolved in the context of the redevelopment of the Cardiff Bay site and promotes a 
more holistic view of socially driven and environmentally responsive post-industrial 
regeneration at Cardiff Bay’s waterfront.  

WATERFRONT

WETLANDS RESERVE

RESIDENTIAL

RESIDENTIAL

THE DOCKS

P
age 1959



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 4

AMENITY + RECREATION

Strava - Running

Strava - Activity Overlay

Strava - Watersports

Strava - Cycling

Key movement corridor

LEISURE AND WELLBEING

The Strava activity map overlay opposite illustrates activity cycles and flow maps 
across the city  based upon cycling and running routes. This indicates the road 
directly through the site is an intensely active route and the Cardiff Bay Link Road that 
accesses Pont y Werin Bridge. Conversely, the edge of the bay and waterfront has a 
low intensity use due to its lack of connection to the wider routes. 

P
age 1960



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 5

Cardiff - Landscape / amenity setting Cardiff Bay Marina

?

BAY LOOP

The map opposite illustrates the vast extent of parkscape, riverside and seaside 
within Cardiff, alongside the context of the Cardiff ISV site. However, the connectivity 
of amenity spaces across the city requires optimisation. 

There is potential to unlock a new route around a new vibrant and engaging waterside 
neighbourhood.

AMENITY + RECREATION

P
age 1961



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 6

AMENITY + RECREATION

Opportunity - Connecting the green ribbon via the riverside

OPPORTUNITY

We have developed a future Strava map which illustrates an indicative heat map 
based upon the introduction of a new bay loop route around the ISV.

This illustrates a natural increase in intensity of activity around the ISV and facilities 
- a result of a new vehicle route and the provision of a new pedestrian landscaping 
across the site. Linking the waterfront will create a sustainable and active amenity 
destination for all.

1 - ISV Cardiff
2 - Cardiff Bay Yacht Club
3 - Penarth Marina
4 - St Joseph’s Park
5 - Cardiff Bay Barrage
6 - Cardiff Wetlands Reserve
7 - Hamadrydad Park
8 - Roald Dahl Plass
9 - Mermaid Quay

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Cardiff - Landscape / amenity setting

P
age 1962



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 77

Cardiff - Landscape / amenity setting Cardiff - Amenity routes and connections

BAY LOOP

The map opposite illustrates the vast extent of parkscape, riverside and seaside 
within Cardiff, alongside the context of the Cardiff ISV site. However, the connectivity 
of amenity spaces across the city requires optimisation. 

There is potential to unlock a new route around a new vibrant and engaging waterside 
neighbourhood.

AMENITY + RECREATION

P
age 1963



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 8

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

TRIPARTITE ZONING

The peninsula has the complex nature of a triple aspect. Each aspect slightly different 
to the other, each with its own developed language and each with its own strengths. 

The concept embraces this and applies a zoning strategy based around the context of 
the site.

P
age 1964



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 9

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

ZONE ONE - SPORTS VILLAGE

Zone one responds to the larger format “box” typology of sports infrastructure. 

P
age 1965



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 10

P
age 1966



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 11

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

ZONE TWO - SMALL SCALE RESIDENTIAL

Zone two responds to Penarth and the River Ely, smaller in scale, this zone responds 
to a more human scale, a series of front doors and a language of historic terraces. 

P
age 1967



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 1212

P
age 1968



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 13

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

ZONE THREE - LARGE SCALE NEW RESIDENTIAL

Zone three responds to the wider bay, and existing developments on adjacent land 
that informs a larger more significant architecture.

P
age 1969



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 1414

P
age 1970



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 15

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

TRIPARTITE ZONING - OPPORTUNITY

Each zone offers a new opportunity to deliver a uniquely individual central space, that 
will reinforce the destination of the peninsula.

P
age 1971



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 16

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

SPACE ONE

The first spaces offers room and space for exercise, activty and wellness. Driven by 
the surrounding architecture the space reinforces an active lifestyle driven by active 
landscape. The space offers a one off sports destination for the city.

P
age 1972



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 17

P
age 1973



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 18

P
age 1974



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 19

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

SPACE TWO

The second space offers a flexible independent destination, driven by pop up food 
markets, start up companies, independent breweries, street performers and artists. 
The flexibility of the space drives a seasonal and evolving destination that can flex 
and bend to accommodate a constant liveliness and vibrancy.

P
age 1975



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 20

P
age 1976



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 21

P
age 1977



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 22

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

SPACE THREE

The third spaces offers a retail and leisure led destination, driven by independent 
coffee shops, cafes, restaurants, local start up companies and residential lobbies 
which drive an active waterside destination into the heart of the new masterplan.

P
age 1978



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 23

P
age 1979



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 24

P
age 1980



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 25

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

HEART SPACES

We have developed an attitude towards the masterplan driven by spaces and places 
that people from different user groups can identify with.

The aspiration is that these differing spaces will drive activity and programme at 
different times of day and ultimately contribute to the liveliness and activation of the 
new masterplan helping to create a successful new destination in the bay.

P
age 1981



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 26

MASTERPLAN CONCEPT

MOVEMENT OPPORTUNITY

Between these identified zones and spaces we have the opportunity to stitch the three 
aspects together using a series of improved movement corridors.

These movement corridors will increase the accessibility of the site, encouraging 
movement and increasing wellness.

The emphasis will be on shared space, active movement and a slower more relaxed 
way of life.

P
age 1982



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 27

P
age 1983



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 28

P
age 1984



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 29

P
age 1985



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 30

CONCEPT MASTERPLAN

Concept Masterplan routes ISV Cardiff concept sketch

ROUTES

The concept masterplan has evolved around parameters derived from both historical 
analysis and the investigation of existing amenity / recreation use patterns. 

Conceptually the idea is to create an arc of public realm that completes the bay loop 
but also brings together the aspiration to have residential and sports and leisure 
uses across the ISV. This arc will be activated through the use of active public realm, 
leisure destinations such as cafes, bars and restaurants and open and inviting spaces 
both internal and external. 

*

*
A

B

C

P
age 1986



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 31

CONCEPT MASTERPLAN

Concept Masterplan routes

ROUTES - ROUTE A

The concept masterplan has evolved around parameters derived from both historical 
analysis and the investigation of existing amenity / recreation use patterns. 

Conceptually the idea is to create an arc of public realm that completes the bay loop 
but also brings together the aspiration to have residential and sports and leisure 
uses across the ISV. This arc will be activated through the use of active public realm, 
leisure destinations such as cafes, bars and restaurants and open and inviting spaces 
both internal and external. 

*

A

*

P
age 1987



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 32

P
age 1988



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 33

P
age 1989



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 34

CONCEPT MASTERPLAN

Concept Masterplan routes

ROUTES - ROUTE B

The concept masterplan has evolved around parameters derived from both historical 
analysis and the investigation of existing amenity / recreation use patterns. 

Conceptually the idea is to create an arc of public realm that completes the bay loop 
but also brings together the aspiration to have residential and sports and leisure 
uses across the ISV. This arc will be activated through the use of active public realm, 
leisure destinations such as cafes, bars and restaurants and open and inviting spaces 
both internal and external. 

*

B

*

P
age 1990



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 35

P
age 1991



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 36

P
age 1992



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 37

CONCEPT MASTERPLAN

Concept Masterplan routes

ROUTES - ROUTE C

The concept masterplan has evolved around parameters derived from both historical 
analysis and the investigation of existing amenity / recreation use patterns. 

Conceptually the idea is to create an arc of public realm that completes the bay loop 
but also brings together the aspiration to have residential and sports and leisure 
uses across the ISV. This arc will be activated through the use of active public realm, 
leisure destinations such as cafes, bars and restaurants and open and inviting spaces 
both internal and external. 

*

C

*

P
age 1993



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 38

P
age 1994



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 39

P
age 1995



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 40

P
age 1996



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 41

P
age 1997



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 42

P
age 1998



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 43

P
age 1999



Cardiff Bay Masterplan 44

P
age 2000



FaulknerBrowns LLP
Dobson House
Northumbrian Way
Killingworth
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE12 6QW

T  +44 (0)191 268 3007

info@faulknerbrowns.co.uk
faulknerbrowns.co.uk

FaulknerBrowns LLP is a Limited Liability Partnership registered in England and Wales. Registered number OC386918.
Registered office: Dobson House, Northumbrian Way, Killingworth, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE12 6QW

P
age 2001



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 2003

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre 

Consultation on Cardiff 
International Sports 
Village Masterplan and 
the Proposed Relocation 
of Cardiff’s Velodrome  

Report 
February 2022 

Appendix 14

Page 2019



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                               
 

  

Page 2020



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                               
 

 

Table of Contents 
Background ................................................................................................................................ 2 

Methodology .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Research Findings ...................................................................................................................... 3 

1. Do you use the current velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre? ..................................... 3 

2. Are you a member of a sports club that uses Maindy Velodrome? ............................... 4 

Which club? ............................................................................................................................ 5 

How long has the club used Maindy Velodrome? ................................................................. 5 

How frequently does the club use Maindy Velodrome? ....................................................... 6 

3. How far do you live from Maindy Velodrome? .............................................................. 7 

4. How do you typically travel to the Velodrome? ............................................................. 7 

5. How much do you spend each month to use the velodrome at Maindy? ..................... 8 

Do you use the car park at Maindy Leisure Centre? ............................................................. 8 

6. How often do you use the Velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre? ................................ 9 

7. What do you use the velodrome for? ........................................................................... 10 

8. You say you use the velodrome to cycle.  Which of the following best describes how 
you use the velodrome: ....................................................................................................... 12 

9. Please rank the three most important aspects of the Maindy Velodrome, with 1 being 
the most important .............................................................................................................. 14 

10. What features would you like to see in the new velodrome? .................................. 16 

11. Do you currently use any of the facilities within Cardiff Sports Village? .................. 18 

12. How often do you typically use these facilities? ....................................................... 19 

13. Which of the proposed new facilities at the Sports Village would you be likely to 
use?  ................................................................................................................................... 20 

14. Are there any other facilities you would like to see in the International Sports 
Village? ................................................................................................................................. 21 

Why are you interested in this facility? ............................................................................... 21 

15. How do you, or would you, typically travel to the International Sports Village? ..... 22 

16. Do you support the Council’s proposal to relocate the velodrome to the 
International Sports Village? ................................................................................................ 23 

Why do you support this proposal? ..................................................................................... 24 

Why don't you support this proposal? ................................................................................ 25 

17. Do you have any other comments about these proposals? ..................................... 26 

Page 2021



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                               
 

About You ................................................................................................................................ 27 

Please provide your full postcode. ...................................................................................... 27 

What was your age on your last birthday? .......................................................................... 29 

Are you…? ............................................................................................................................ 29 

Do you identify as Trans? ..................................................................................................... 29 

Do any children live in your household? ............................................................................. 30 

Which of the following best describes what you are doing at present? ............................. 30 

Do you identify as a disabled person? ................................................................................. 30 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: ............................................................. 31 

Do you consider yourself to be Welsh? ............................................................................... 31 

What is your ethnic group? ................................................................................................. 32 

Appendix 1 – Organisations invited to take part in the consultation ...................................... 33 

Appendix 2 – Most Important Aspects of the Maindy Velodrome (‘Something Else’) ........... 34 

Appendix 3 – What Features Would You Like to See in the New Velodrome? ....................... 36 

Appendix 4 – Are there any other facilities you would like to see in the International Sports 
Village? ..................................................................................................................................... 38 

Appendix 5 – Why Do You Support This Proposal? ................................................................. 40 

Appendix 6 – Why Don’t You Support This Proposal? ............................................................. 42 

Appendix 7 – Do you have any other comments about these proposals? .............................. 45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 2022



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 2 
 

Background 
In March 2021, Cabinet approved plans to provide a new purpose-built Velodrome at the 
International Sports Village subject to the completion of a full business case. 

A comprehensive programme of engagement and consultation with primary stakeholders of 
the velodrome facility and the sports community commenced in order to ensure the 
technical design of the new facility was fit for purpose and that there was opportunity to 
benefit from the development of a modern specification. 

This programme of engagement continues with a broad range of stakeholders to cover the 
provision and operation of the new facility and the sports village as a whole. 

The redevelopment of Cathays High School went out for public consultation in early 2021.  
This consultation identified that the area currently featuring the Maindy Velodrome will be 
required to accommodate the school expansion. 

This final consultation is designed to bridge the two projects and seek views not only on the 
relocation of the existing Velodrome, but also on the plans for the development of the new 
velodrome and the wider sports village vision. 

 

Methodology 
The survey was run online between 15th December 2021 and 17th February 2022.  Links to 
the survey were promoted via the Council’s social media, and on the Council’s website.  
Links to the survey were sent directly to a number of organisations, with a full list of these 
available in Appendix 1. 

 

Once the survey closed, the data was cleaned to remove blank or duplicate responses. 

After this data validation, 1,051 responses were received. 

 

Results have been broken down by demographics to understand usage and attitudes by the 
different groups.  Postcode data, where available, was used to determine the distance 
between the respondents’ home location and the Maindy site, giving results “as the crow 
flies” rather than distance travelled by road.  Results for these groups are not show if the 
base size is too small to provide robust data. 

 

 

 

 

Page 2023



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 3 
 

Research Findings 
 

1. Do you use the current velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre? 
 
Overall, around a quarter of respondents (25.3%) stated that they currently used the 
velodrome at the Maindy Leisure Centre, slightly fewer had used it in the past (22.7%), and 
just over half (52.0%) had never used it. 

 

 

Respondents living within 2 miles of Maindy were most likely to be users of the current 
velodrome (44.5%, compared with 19.4% who lived further than this from the site).  More 
than half of those under the age of 35 (55.0%) had used it in the past. 

 

25.3 22.7 52.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Do you use the current velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre?  (Base: 
1047)

Yes I have in the past but din't use it currently No

19.4
21.9
22.9
25.3
25.6

33.2
44.5

25.0
24.1

55.0
27.9
22.7

44.9
48.4
27.6

68.9
56.5

23.1
49.3

52.0
29.5

18.4
28.0

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Southern Arc (Base: 148)
More than 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 407)

Under 35 (Base: 160)
55+ (Base: 140)

All respondents (Base: 1047)
Male (Base: 410)

Female (Base: 244)
Within 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 254)

Do you use the current velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre?

Yes I have in the past but din't use it currently No

Page 2024



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 4 
 

Respondents who currently use the velodrome were invited to answer questions 2-8, those 
who did not were taken to question 9. 

 

2. Are you a member of a sports club that uses Maindy Velodrome? 
 
Just over two-fifths of respondents (43.3%) of those currently using the Maindy Velodrome 
were members of a sports club that uses the facility. 

 

 

Respondents living more than 2 miles from the site were most likely to belong to a club 
using the Maindy Velodrome (55.0%), followed by men (51.4%). 

  

 
  

43.3 56.7

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Are you a member of a sports club that uses Maindy Velodrome? 
(Base: 247)

Yes No

32.1

32.2

43.3

51.4

55.0

67.9

67.8

56.7

48.6

45.0

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Female (Base: 81)

Within 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 115)

All respondents (Base: 247)

Male (Base: 107)

More than 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 80)

Are you a member of a sports club that uses Maindy Velodrome?

Yes No

Page 2025



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 5 
 

Which club? 
Respondents who reported being a member of a sports club were asked to identify their 
club; 55 responses were received, with Maindy Flyers the most common response: 

Club No 
Maindy Flyers 19 
Cardiff Ajax CC 9 
Cardiff Junior Triathlon Club 5 
Whitchurch Cycling Club 5 
Cardiff Social Cycling 4 
Cardiff Triathletes 3 
Cardiff Uni 3 
Misc. 7 

 

 

How long has the club used Maindy Velodrome? 
 

Four-fifths of club members (79.6%) reported their club had been using the Maindy 
Velodrome for more than five years, with around one in six (17.5%) having used it for 
between three and five years, and just 2.9% having used it for up to a year. 

 

 
  

1.0 1.9 0.0
8.7 3.9 4.9

79.6

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Less than
one year

1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years More than
5 years

How long has the club used Maindy Velodrome? (Base: 103)

Page 2026



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 6 
 

How frequently does the club use Maindy Velodrome? 
 
Just under three-quarters of club members used the club at least once a week (73.8%), with 
one in ten (9.7%) using it at least once a month, and one in six (16.5%) several times a year. 

 

  

Respondents living more than two miles from the site were most likely to use the site at 
least once a week, perhaps reflecting the increased club membership amongst this group. 

Note: Caution should be taken with small base sizes. 

  

0.0

0.0

16.5

9.7

73.8

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

Less often

Once a year

Several times a year

At least once a month

At least once a week

How frequently does the club use Maindy Velodrome? (Base: 103)

62.2

65.4

73.8

79.6

83.7

7.7

9.7

11.1

11.6

32.4

26.9

16.5

9.3

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Within 2 miles of Maindy
(Base: 37)

Female (Base: 26)

All respondents (Base: 103)

Male (Base: 54)

More than 2 miles of Maindy
(Base: 43)

How frequently does the club use Maindy Velodrome?

At least once a week At least once a month Several times a year

Page 2027



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 7 
 

3. How far do you live from Maindy Velodrome? 
 

Almost two-thirds (63.3%) of current users of the Maindy Velodrome reported living up to 
two miles from the site, with a fifth (21.8%) living between three and five miles away, and 
around one in thirteen living either six to nine miles (7.3%) or at least ten miles (7.7%) from 
the site. 

 

 

4. How do you typically travel to the Velodrome? 
 

Most current users cycled (40.4%) or walked (29.8%) to the velodrome, with a quarter 
(26.9%) using a car. 

 

 

63.3

21.8

7.3 7.7

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Up to 2 miles 3 - 5 miles 6 - 9 miles 10 miles or more

How far do you live from Maindy Velodrome? (Base: 248)

26.9

40.4

1.2

29.8

1.6
0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Car Cycle Public transport Walk Other

How do you typically travel to the Velodrome? (Base: 245)

Page 2028



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 8 
 

5. How much do you spend each month to use the velodrome at Maindy? 
 
Three in ten respondents (30.2%) didn’t spend anything to use the velodrome, with a similar 
proportion (29.0%) spending up to £10 a month.  Around one in six (15.9%) spent between 
£11 and £20 per month, with a quarter (24.9%) spending £20 or more. 
 

No. % 
£0 74 30.2 
£1 - £10 71 29.0 
£11 - £20 39 15.9 
£20+ 61 24.9 
Total Respondents 245 100.0 

 

 

Do you use the car park at Maindy Leisure Centre? 
 

Almost all of those currently travelling to the velodrome at the Maindy Leisure Centre by car 
reported that they use the car park (97.0%). 

 

 

  

97.0

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Do you use the car park at Maindy Leisure Centre? (Base: 66)

Yes No

Page 2029



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 9 
 

6. How often do you use the Velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre? 
 
Amongst current users of the velodrome (not just those using the facility as a member of a 
sports club), over half (58.1%) used the facility at least once a week, with one in thirteen 
(7.7%) using it every day.  Around a fifth (22.4%) used the velodrome several times a month, 
or less frequently (19.5%). 

 

 

Respondents living within two miles of Maindy were more than twice as likely as those living 
further away to use the velodrome every day (7.8% compared with 3.8% respectively. 

 

 

10.2

9.3

22.4

17.5

32.9

7.7

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

Less than once a month

Once a month

Several times a month

Once a week

Several times a week

Every day

How often do you use the Velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre? (Base: 
246)

7.4

7.7

7.8

35.5

37.5

38.3

32.9

34.8

20.6

21.3

13.6

17.5

14.8

22.4

17.5

21.0

22.4

23.5

7.5

8.8

7.4

9.3

7.0

11.2

11.3

12.3

10.2

12.2

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0 100.0

Male (Base: 107)

More than 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 80)

Female (Base: 81)

All respondents (Base: 246)

Within 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 115)

How often do you use the Velodrome at Maindy Leisure Centre?

Every day Several times a week Once a week
Several times a month Once a month Less than once a month

Page 2030



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 10 
 

7. What do you use the velodrome for? 
 
Respondents currently using the velodrome were asked what they used it for.  Four in five 
respondents (82.1%) used it for cycling, with half this proportion using it for walking (44.4%) 
and just over a third (35.4%) using the site for ‘general leisure’. 

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options 

Other reasons given for using the velodrome included: 

- Accompanying child to cycle training sessions 
- Triathlon training 
- A safe space to be outside and get fresh air during winter, because as a woman Bute 

Park is not safe 
- Sitting on the bench and relaxing- As it is quiet, it is nice to escape from the busyness 

and people 
- Kids football pitches 

  

5.7

9.8

14.2

22.8

30.9

35.4

44.3

82.1

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0

Something else

Shortcut

Dog walking

Nature / Wildlife

Running

General leisure

Walking

Cycling

What do you use the velodrome for? (Base: 246)

Page 2031



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 11 
 

Respondents living more than two miles from the Maindy site were most likely to use the 
velodrome for cycling (92.5%); those living within two miles were more likely than other 
demographic or geographic groups to use the site for walking (62.6%), ‘general leisure’ 
(48.7%) and nature/wildlife (30.4%). 

Women were more likely than other groups analysed to use the site for dog walking (24.7%) 
or as a shortcut (13.6%) 

 

All 
respondents Female  Male  

Children 
in 

household  

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy  

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy  
Base 246 81 107 122 115 80 
Cycling 82.1 77.8 86.9 87.7 76.5 92.5 
Walking 44.3 58.0 39.3 44.3 62.6 28.8 
Dog walking 14.2 24.7 7.5 13.9 17.4 11.3 
Running 30.9 42.0 26.2 32.0 40.9 20.0 
General leisure 35.4 46.9 29.0 35.2 48.7 22.5 
Shortcut 9.8 13.6 6.5 8.2 12.2 7.5 
Nature / Wildlife 22.8 27.2 21.5 21.3 30.4 17.5 
Something else 5.7 6.2 4.7 4.1 7.0 3.8 

 

 

  

Page 2032



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 12 
 

8. You say you use the velodrome to cycle.  Which of the following best describes 
how you use the velodrome: 

 

Respondents reporting that they used the velodrome to cycle were asked to give further 
details on how they used the site.  Half (49.3%) used the velodrome for structured training 
with their club, with around a third (35.8%) using it for casual cycling. 

 

 

Other uses given for the velodrome included: 

- Walking circuits of the outer velodrome jogging track.  
- Occasional leisure cycling on the track 
- A safe route to cycle when clubs not using it 
- Cycle Racing 
- Women’s session 
- my children use it to learn to cycle and build up their confidence in a safe space and 

environment 
- Kids learn to ride club 
- Cycling classes for my daughter 
- Both casual cycling with friends and structured individual sessions (e.g. FTP tests and 

bunch sprints that can't be done on roads safely) 

 

  

5.5

9.5

35.8

49.3

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

Other activity

Structured training as part of another
sports club

Casual cycling on my own or with friends

Structured cycle training with my club

You say you use the velodrome to cycle.  Which of the following best 
describes how you use the velodrome: (Base: 201)

Page 2033



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 13 
 

Respondents living more than two miles of the site were most likely to use it for structured 
training, either with their own (60.8%) or another club (10.8%). 

Those living within two miles were most likely to use the site for casual cycling (47.4%) or 
other activities (8.0%). 

Men were more likely to use the site for structured cycling, women were more likely to use 
it for casual cycling or other activities. 

% 

Female Male 

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy  

More than 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

Base 63 93 88 74 
Structured cycle training with 
my club 

44.4 53.8 37.5 60.8 

Casual cycling on my own or 
with friends 

44.4 31.2 47.7 25.7 

Structured training as part of 
another sports club 

4.8 9.7 6.8 10.8 

Other activity  6.3 5.4 8.0 2.7 
   

Page 2034



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 14 
 

All respondents were asked the following questions: 

9. Please rank the three most important aspects of the Maindy Velodrome, with 1 
being the most important 

 

Respondents were given a list of aspects of the Maindy Velodrome, and asked to rank these 
in order of importance, with an option to add another aspect that wasn’t listed.  Scores 
were generated based on the number of votes for first, second or third place votes, or those 
not ranking each aspect in their top three priorities, giving a total score out of a maximum of 
three. 

Accessibility was ranked as the most important aspect of the Maindy Velodrome, with a 
score of 1.4, and ranked first by 29.7% of respondents. 

The second most important aspect was ‘close proximity to where I live’, scoring one out of 
three, and ranked first by 19.1% of respondents, followed by ‘space to park’, scoring 0.8, 
and ranked first by 13.3%.  

 

 
Those answering ‘Something else’ were asked to give further details; 85 comments were 
received, and grouped into themes.  The top three are show below, with a full list available 
in Appendix 2. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Condition of Track 19 22.4 - A nice smooth track, free of litter and with enough 

security to stop it being ruined! 
- The magic formula - minimal banking, large track, 

true all-weather surface, high capacity, local to 
students and those of varying socioeconomic 
backgrounds. 

- The Quality of the facility / it is first class 

13.0

12.1

13.3

19.1

29.7

11.5

13.0

12.4

15.6

16.0

16.5

9.8

13.6

14.9

11.8

10.1

8.9

16.3

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

Something else

Changing facilities

Close proximity to public transport

Parking facilities

Space to park

Close proximity to where I live

Accessibility

Please rank the three most important aspects of the Maindy 
Velodrome, with 1 being the most important (Base: 686)

1st 2nd 3rd

Score 
(out of 3)

1.4

1.0

0.8

0.7
0.6

0.5

0.6

Page 2035



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 15 
 

Suitable for all users 17 20.0 - Size of the track and ability for it to be used by kids as 
young as 5 years old on both road and track bikes.  

- Shallow gradient suitable for all levels of experience 
- It’s a good starter velodrome, so good for children, 

less-abled. 

Proximity / Good 
Transport Links / 
Parking 

15 17.6 - Not having to circumnavigate town to get there. 
- Location, location, location! 
- central location within cycling [not driving] distance 

of much of city, unlike cardiff bay 

Total 85 -  
 

Looking at the results by demographic and geographic groups showed, whilst there was a 
broad consistency of opinion, there were some differences in priorities – ‘close proximity to 
where I live’ was of higher importance to those living within two miles of Maindy (scoring 
1.3, with 28% ranking this as most important), whilst parking issues were less important 
(with both ‘parking facilities’ and ‘space to park’ scoring 0.5 out of three).   

Those living more than two miles from the site placed higher importance on parking 
facilities than those living in closer proximity to the site, with ‘space to park’ scoring one out 
of three, and ‘parking facilities’ scoring 0.9. 

Score All 
respondents  Females  Males  

Under 
35's  

Over 
55's  

Base 686 227 384 139 127 
Accessibility 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.4 1.5 
Close proximity to where I live 1.0 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.8 
Space to park 0.8 0.6 0.9 0.9 0.9 
Parking facilities 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.7 
Close proximity to public transport 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.8 
Changing facilities 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.7 0.4 
Something else 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.3 

 

Score 
Children in 
household 

Southern 
Arc  

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy 
Base 287 135 243 346 
Accessibility 1.3 1.3 1.5 1.3 
Close proximity to where I live 1.1 0.6 1.3 0.8 
Space to park 0.8 0.7 0.5 1.0 
Parking facilities 0.8 0.6 0.5 0.9 
Close proximity to public transport 0.4 0.8 0.6 0.6 
Changing facilities 0.5 0.7 0.4 0.5 
Something else 0.7 0.3 0.8 0.4 

Page 2036



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 16 
 

10. What features would you like to see in the new velodrome? 
 

Respondents were then given a list of features that might be available in a new velodrome, 
and asked which they would like to see, including an option to suggest something not on the 
list of features provided. 

Over half (55.3%) wanted a café, followed by parking facilities (46.8%), changing facilities 
(45.8%) and space to park (44.0%). 

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options 

 

Respondents answering ‘Something else’ were invited to give further details; 122 responses 
were received, and grouped into themes.  The top three are show below, with a full list in 
Appendix 3. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Remains at Maindy / Like 
current facility 

22 18.0 - I would like to see it as an additional facility 
rather than a replacement 

- That it is complementary to, and NOT a 
replacement of Maindy Velodrome 

- we have a perfectly good velodrome which 
doesn't need to be demolished 

Against the proposal  21 17.2 - Don’t need new one! 
- I don’t want to see a new velodrome as there 

isn’t anything wrong with the one we already 
have in cardiff 

- I'd rather the development didn’t go ahead 

19.1

27.2

28.9

36.3

36.9

44.0

45.8

46.8

55.3

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0

Something else

Permanent Bike storage

Close proximity to where I live

Close proximity to public transport

Secure temporary bike storage

Space to park

Changing facilities

Parking facilities

Café

What features would you like to see in the new velodrome? (Base: 705)

Page 2037



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 17 
 

Accessibility / 
Inclusiveness concerns 

13 10.7 - Accessibility! 
- Being somewhere different than all other 

sports facilities in Cardiff, therefore serving all 
Cardiff residents equally. 

- Suitable and accessible to all users in the same 
way that Maindy currently is. 

Total 122 -  
 

Looking at these results by demographic and geographic groups shows some differences of 
opinion – more than half of respondents aged 55 and over (53.2%), those living more than 
two miles from Maindy (52.6%) and women (51.5%) wanted to see parking facilities in the 
new velodrome.  This was lowest amongst those within two miles of Maindy (36.4%).   

More than half of those living more than two miles from Maindy also expressed interest in 
‘space to park’ (51.2%) 

Those living within two miles of Maindy were twice as likely as those further out to want to 
see ‘close proximity to where I live’ for the new velodrome (41.7% compared with 20.5%). 

 

All 
respondents 

Under 
35  55+  Female  Male  

Base 705 152 126 227 384 
Café 55.3 54.6 53.2 50.7 59.9 
Parking facilities 46.8 40.8 53.2 51.5 45.8 
Changing facilities 45.8 49.3 40.5 38.3 50.0 
Space to park 44.0 42.1 43.7 40.5 45.8 
Secure temporary bike storage 36.9 42.1 34.1 27.8 43.2 
Close proximity to public transport 36.3 39.5 39.7 34.8 37.2 
Close proximity to where I live 28.9 28.9 21.4 30.8 27.9 
Permanent Bike storage 27.2 32.9 21.4 22.0 30.7 
Something else 19.1 13.8 19.8 20.7 16.7 

 

 

Children in 
household  

Southern 
Arc  

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy  
Base 287 135 242 371 
Café 56.4 58.5 47.5 59.0 
Parking facilities 46.3 43.7 36.4 52.6 
Changing facilities 44.9 57.8 42.6 48.2 
Space to park 45.3 38.5 30.6 51.2 
Secure temporary bike storage 33.4 46.7 36.0 37.7 
Close proximity to public transport 28.2 45.2 37.2 35.6 
Close proximity to where I live 33.4 13.3 41.7 20.5 
Permanent Bike storage 25.1 40.7 22.7 29.6 
Something else 20.9 14.1 26.9 14.3 

Page 2038



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 18 
 

11. Do you currently use any of the facilities within Cardiff Sports Village? 
 

Overall, 60.6% of respondents currently used at least one of the facilities in the Cardiff 
Sports Village, with the pool most commonly used (41.4%), followed by the ice rink (34.0%). 

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options 

 

Respondents living in the Southern Arc of the city were most likely to use the pool (53.1%), 
the gym (17.2%) and the CIWW (24.1%). 

Men were more likely to use at least one of the facilities in the Sports Village than women 
(63.5% compared with 58.3% respectively); respondents under the age of 35 were more 
likely than those aged 55 or over (67.7% compared with 58.3% respectively). 

Over two thirds of those living more than two miles from Maindy (68.3%) currently used at 
least one of the facilities in the Cardiff Sports village, compared with fewer than half (47.2%) 
of those living within two miles of Maindy.  

 

Under 
35 55+ Female Male 

Southern 
Arc 

Children 
in 

household 

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy 
Base 158 135 240 406 145 301 252 398 
Pool 41.8 31.1 39.2 44.8 53.1 50.2 34.9 46.2 
Gym 15.2 4.4 6.3 12.3 17.2 5.3 6.3 12.3 
CIWW 19.0 13.3 19.6 22.4 24.1 23.9 18.3 22.9 
Ice rink 39.9 28.9 36.3 33.7 37.9 32.9 21.4 40.5 
None of these 32.3 51.1 41.7 36.5 26.9 37.9 52.8 31.7 

 

39.4

10.3

20.8

34.0

41.4

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

None of these

Gym

CIWW

Ice rink

Pool

Do you currently use any of the facilities within Cardiff Sports Village? 
(Base: 741)

Page 2039



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 19 
 

12. How often do you typically use these facilities? 
 

Of those using the facilities in the Sports Village, a fifth (19.8%) used the ice rink at least 
once a week, compared with 13.1% using the gym and 12.7% using the pool. 

 
Pool Gym CIWW Ice Rink 

 No. % No. % No. % No. % 
At least once a week 69 12.7 55 13.1 10 2.2 102 19.8 
At least once a month 74 13.6 13 3.1 28 6.2 44 8.5 
Less often 225 41.4 55 13.1 155 34.3 138 26.8 
Never 175 32.2 298 70.8 259 57.3 231 44.9 
Total  543 100 421 100 452 100 515 100 

 

Younger respondents were more likely than those aged 55 or over to use these facilities at 
least once a week; those living more than two miles from Maindy were more likely than 
those living within two miles of Maindy to use these facilities with this frequency. 

Men were more likely to use the gym at least once a week than women, who in turn were 
more likely than men to use the ice rink at least once a week. 

 

Under 
35 55+ Female Male 

Southern 
Arc 

Children in 
household 

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy 
Pool  15.0 9.4 14.0 13.2 17.4 14.0 7.3 17.3 
Gym 16.7 7.7 10.1 14.9 26.1 8.1 2.6 3.1 
CIWW 1.8 1.4 2.9 2.3 2.1 2.1 4.8 7.3 
Ice rink 24.2 23.3 25.6 18.3 19.4 15.3 3.0 9.9 

 

  

Page 2040



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 20 
 

13. Which of the proposed new facilities at the Sports Village would you be likely to 
use? 

 

Respondents were given a list of facilities proposed for the Sports Village, and asked to 
indicate which they would be likely to use. 

Just over half (53.3%) indicated they would use at least one of these, with the closed-road 
circuit most likely to be used (37.4%), with similar levels of interest expressed for the 
velodrome (32.6%) and off-road bike track (32.5%). 

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options 

 

Men were more likely than women to express an interest in using at least one of the 
proposed new facilities (63.5% compared with 38.4%); respondents under the age of 35 
were more likely than those aged 55 or over (63.1% compared with 36.1%). 

 

Under 
35 55+ Female Male 

Children 
in 

Household 
Southern 

Arc 

Within 
2 miles 

of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy 
Base 157 133 237 400 296 143 244 395 
Closed-Road 
Circuit 

43.9 23.3 25.7 45.0 40.5 44.8 31.6 41.5 

Velodrome  35.7 21.1 23.6 39.3 40.5 30.8 28.3 35.9 
Off-Road 
Bike Track 

33.1 24.8 24.9 38.5 38.9 39.2 28.3 34.9 

None of 
these 

36.9 63.9 61.6 36.5 40.5 37.8 54.5 42.3 

 

46.7

32.5

32.6

37.4

0.0 20.0 40.0 60.0 80.0 100.0

None of these

Off-Road Bike Track

Velodrome

Closed-Road Circuit

Which of the proposed new facilities at the Sports Village would you 
be likely to use? (Base: 721)

Page 2041



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 21 
 

14. Are there any other facilities you would like to see in the International Sports 
Village? 

Respondents were invited to suggest any other facilities they would like to see in the 
International Sports Village; 280 responses were received, and grouped into themes.  The 
top three are shown below, with a full list in Appendix 4. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Snow / Ski Sports 53 18.9 - Snow sports facility 

- Ski Centre 
- snow dome for winter sports 
- An indoor ski slope would be a big draw, 

but of course, you know that? 

Transport links / More 
Parking  

37 13.2 - Better transport links - it is shocking how 
difficult it is to get there!!!!! 

- More parking 
- Parking. Please don't say use public 

transport. We travel from Newport to use 
the rink as a family. Public transport is not 
a safe or viable option on a cold, wet 
winter night at 10pm when travelling as 
an all-female household 

- The Bay is a pain to get to from the North 
of Cardiff.  So easier access 

Multi-use Indoor Sport 
Facilities 

35 12.5 - Sports hall - badminton/tennis courts etc 
- Indoor tennis courts for public use. 
- An indoor all sports area that can be 

accessed whatever the weather 

Total 280 - -  

 

 

Why are you interested in this facility? 
Respondents were asked why they would be interested in their chosen facility – three 
comments were received: 

- For a more enhanced training experience. 
- Because its near to a dual carriageway. 
- I am not interested in the proposed facility at all. Does it provide me with an 

accessible and relatively safe space to engage in physical activity after dark? No, I am 
interested in having a space where I can exercise away from the road, surrounded by 
nature, in a well-lit place - your new facility does not offer me any of that. It does not 
meet any of my needs, but it meets the financial needs of the council's pet project. 

 

Page 2042



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 22 
 

15. How do you, or would you, typically travel to the International Sports Village? 
 

Around two-thirds of respondents (65.6%) typically travel, or would travel, to the 
International Sports Village by car, with one in six cycling (16.3%) and 7.3% walking. 

 

 

Women (77.2%) and those with children in the household (76.5%) were most likely to 
indicate use of a car to get to the Sports Village, contrasting with those living in the 
Southern Arc (45.9%). 

Amongst respondents indicating they would be most likely to cycle to the Sports Village, 
figures were highest for those living in the Southern Arc (28.1%), men (22.0%) and those 
living within two miles of Maindy (21.1%). 

 

Under 
35 55+ Female Male 

Children in 
household 

Southern 
Arc 

Within 2 
miles of 
Maindy 

More than 
2 miles of 

Maindy 
Base 158 134 237 404 298 146 247 394 
Car 59.5 66.4 77.2 57.9 76.5 45.9 62.8 66.2 
Cycle 19.0 14.9 8.0 22.0 14.4 28.1 21.1 14.5 
Public 
transport 

8.2 7.5 4.2 6.2 1.7 8.2 6.9 5.6 

Walk 10.1 6.0 5.9 9.4 2.3 17.8 2.8 10.7 
Other 3.2 5.2 4.6 4.5 5.0 0.0 6.5 3.0 

 

  

65.6

16.3
5.7 7.3 5.1

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

Car Cycle Public transport Walk Other

How do you, or would you, typically travel to the International Sports 
Village? (Base: 723)

Page 2043



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 23 
 

16. Do you support the Council’s proposal to relocate the velodrome to the 
International Sports Village? 

 

Overall, 41.3% of respondents supported the Council’s proposal to relocate the velodrome 
to the International Sports Village, with 44.9% against this, and 13.9% offering no opinion. 

Looking at results by demographic and geographic groups, support for the proposal was 
lowest amongst those living within two miles of Maindy (29.0% supporting the proposal, 
and 61.6% against), and highest amongst those living in the Southern Arc of the city (57.8% 
supporting, 25.9% against). 

Respondents under the age of 35 were more likely to support the proposals than those aged 
55 or over (55.4% compared with 36.7%); men showed a higher level of support than 
women (50.5% compared with 32.5%). 

 

 

  

29.0
32.5
36.7
37.5
41.3

50.5
51.3
55.4
57.8

61.6
52.5

50.4
50.2
44.9

38.3
34.0

34.4
25.9

9.4
15.0
12.9
12.3
13.9
11.2

14.8
10.2

16.3

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Within 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 255)
Female (Base: 240)

55+ (Base: 139)
Children in household (Base: 301)

All respondents (Base: 722)
Male (Base: 410)

More than 2 miles of Maindy (Base: 400)
Under 35 (Base: 157)

Southern Arc (Base: 147)

Do you support the Council’s proposal to relocate the velodrome to the 
International Sports Village?

Yes No No opinion

Page 2044



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 24 
 

Why do you support this proposal? 
Respondents answering that they supported the proposal to relocate the velodrome to the 
International Sports Village were invited to explain why: 184 responses were received, and 
grouped into themes.  The top three are shown below, with a full list in Appendix 5. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
New & Modern Facilities 76 41.3 - A modern velodrome is long overdue 

- A new facility with dedicated cycling 
facilities e.g. changing, inside space for 
spectators is a betterment to the existing 
facility. Whilst a worse location for me, it's 
a better location for the S Wales cycling 
community and there's some advantage 
to locating some of Cardiff's sports 
facilities in the same place. 

- A new, modern cycling centre and an 
upgraded school. No brainer. 

- Be great for cycling in Cardiff 
- Far nicer location, a new velodrome will 

bring it more in line with expectations and 
more modern. Better condition than the 
current velodrome which is aging 

Improved Location / 
Cycling Provisions 

57 31.0 - Better location 
- Creates more of a destination for my 

family, will probably use facilities more. 
- It’s closer to where I live 
- The access will be better 

Dedicated Sports Village 
with Access to All 

45 24.5 - It would concentrate sport into one 
location, and would make that part of the 
bay nicer to visit. 

- Makes sense to centralise sports facilities 
- Put the sports things together 

Total 184 - -  

 

 

  

Page 2045



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 25 
 

Why don't you support this proposal? 
Respondents answering that they opposed the proposal to relocate the velodrome to the 
International Sports Village were invited to explain why: 176 responses were received, and 
grouped into themes.  The top three are shown below, with a full list in Appendix 6. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Transport / Location / 
Parking / Size of Venue 

105 59.7 - I think the current velodrome is fit for purpose 
and at the heart of Cardiff where it is needed 
and easily accessible for locals. 

- Keep Maindy for the thousands of families 
that don’t want to drive through traffic to get 
to the bay. Many 100s of children learn to ride 
there, hardly any would go to the bay. It’s 
awful to take this facility away. 

- Traffic congestion in that area backs up to M4 
and into Cardiff town - massive effect on the 
environment - not enough parking for vehicles 
as public park on pavements all around that 
area when ice hockey is on. 

- I like the velodrome where it is.  The new one 
is too far away, will be both too small and too 
hard for non-professionals.  It's a terrible thing 
to take away a beloved facility and give it to 
richer people on the other side of town and 
then pretend you're doing us a favour. 

Negative Impact: 
Environmental / 
Heritage / Increased 
Traffic 

57 32.4 - It deprives people in the area where it is 
currently situated. Also its contrary to the 
city's green policy by making residents use 
their cars 

- Destroying yet another part of Cardiff's history 
- I am against the concentration of amenities 

away from the people who use them. It will 
result in longer car journeys. 

Do not remove current 
Velodrome 

47 26.7 - Leave the Maindy cycle track where it is. 
- It doesn't need to be moved from its current 

position. 
- There is no need to relocate. The sports Village 

will be too far to travel to. 

Total 176 - -  

 

 

  

Page 2046



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 26 
 

17. Do you have any other comments about these proposals? 
Respondents were asked if they had any further comments on the proposals; 350 responses 
were received, and grouped into themes.  The top three are shown below, with a full list in 
Appendix 7. 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Parking Concerns 79 22.6 - With so many facilities at the sports village there 

will be a dire lack of parking spaces 
- Proposed parking facilities are too low to support 

such a large number of sporting facilities that 
people travel considerable distances to use. 

- There seems to be no improvements in car 
parking. It as an absolute nightmare during 
Cardiff devils matches now 

- Already no parking, this would make it worse 

Generally against the 
proposals 

46 13.1 - The current track is good and could have been 
redeveloped alongside the school. No need to 
move it. 

- Don’t spoil it to save pennies 
- Ridiculous proposal 
- Please reconsider. 

Generally in favour of 
the proposals 

40 11.4 - It would bring more tourism to Cardiff and mean 
we could hold the commonwealth games in the 
future. 

- Fully support these plans, excellent addition to 
the area to encourage improved health and 
fitness activity 

- This is an opportunity to ensure all cycling 
disciples are recognised. Bring together all 
disciplines under one “roof” and develop the next 
generation of cyclists. The opportunity for the 
leisure cyclist is also huge. Offering safe off-road 
cycling on a road circuit. 

- Forward thinking, should be applauded more 
publicly. 

Total 350 -  

 

  

Page 2047



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 27 
 

About You 
 
Please provide your full postcode. 
 
Respondents were asked to provide their postcode, to allow analysis of usage and attitudes 
by area.  A total of 564 complete postcodes were received, of which 459 were within 
Cardiff.  A further 94 were from elsewhere in South East Wales, and the remaining 11 
postcodes from elsewhere in the UK. 

Area No. % 
Cardiff 459 81.4 
Vale of Glamorgan 50 8.9 
Newport 12 2.1 
Bridgend 9 1.6 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 7 1.2 
Caerphilly 6 1.1 
Monmouthshire 4 0.7 
Neath Port Talbot 3 0.5 
Powys 2 0.4 
Blaenau Gwent 1 0.2 
Carmarthenshire 1 0.2 
East Dunbartonshire 1 0.2 
Exeter 1 0.2 
Fleet 1 0.2 
Kidderminster 1 0.2 
Lydney 1 0.2 
Malmesbury 1 0.2 
Merthyr Tydfil 1 0.2 
Pembrokeshire 1 0.2 
Swindon 1 0.2 
Torfaen 1 0.2 
Total 564 100.0 

 

Postcodes in South East Wales, and in Cardiff are shown on the following maps: 

Page 2048



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 28 
 

 

 

Page 2049



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 29 
 

What was your age on your last birthday? 
 
 

No. % 
Under 16 8 1.1 
16-24 31 4.4 
25-34 121 17.3 
35-44 195 27.9 
45-54 188 26.9 
55-64 99 14.1 
65-74 30 4.3 
75+ 11 1.6 
Prefer not to say 17 2.4 
Total Respondents 700 100.0 

 

Are you…? 
 
 

No. % 
Female 244 35.2 
Male 412 59.4 
Other 2 0.3 
Prefer not to say 36 5.2 
Total Respondents 694 100.0 

 

Do you identify as Trans? 
 
 

No. % 
Yes / Prefer to self-describe 3 0.4 
No 627 91.7 
Prefer not to say 54 7.9 
Total Respondents 684 100.0 

 

  

Page 2050



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 30 
 

Do any children live in your household? 
 
 

No. % 
No children 378 55.5 
Yes, under 5 years old (pre-school) 66 9.7 
Yes, aged 5 - 11 (primary school) 155 22.8 
Yes, aged 11 - 16 (secondary school) 134 19.7 
Yes, aged 16 - 18 in full-time education, or working 47 6.9 
Yes, aged 16 - 18 but not in full time education or working 4 0.6 
Total Respondents 681 - 

 

Which of the following best describes what you are doing at present? 
 
 

No. % 
Working full time (30+ hours per week)  511 73.7 
Working part time (less than 30 hours per week)  71 10.2 
Wholly retired from work  44 6.3 
In full time education  23 3.3 
Permanently sick or disabled person  11 1.6 
Looking after home  6 0.9 
Caring for a child or adult  4 0.6 
Unemployed - Unregistered but seeking work  4 0.6 
On a zero hour contract  4 0.6 
Other  15 2.2 
Total Respondents 693 100.0 

 

Do you identify as a disabled person? 
 
 

No. % 
Yes 36 5.2 
No 611 88.9 
Prefer not to say 40 5.8 
Total Respondents 687 100.0 

 

 

  

Page 2051



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 31 
 

Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
  
 

No. % 
Long-standing illness or health condition 
(e.g. cancer, diabetes, or asthma)  

60 8.7 

Mobility impairment  23 3.3 
Mental health difficulties  29 4.2 
Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing  19 2.8 
Visual impairment    7 1.0 
Learning impairment/ difficulties  4 0.6 
Wheelchair user     2 0.3 
Other 8 1.2 
Prefer not to say  43 6.3 
Total Respondents 687 - 

N.B. Percentages do not total 100% as respondents could select multiple options 

 
Do you consider yourself to be Welsh? 
 
 

No. % 
Yes 454 66.5 
No 229 33.5 
Total Respondents 683 100.0 

 

 
  

Page 2052



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 32 
 

What is your ethnic group? 
Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, 
England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these.  

  
 

No % 
White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British  602 88.7 
White - Any other white background 24 3.5 
Asian/Asian Welsh/British 10 1.5 
Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups 9 1.3 
Any other ethnic group (please specify) 3 0.4 
Prefer not to say 31 4.6 
Total Respondents 679 100.0 

 

  

Page 2053



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 33 
 

Appendix 1 – Organisations invited to take part in the consultation 
 

Welsh Cycling (to circulate to all club secretaries) 

Welsh Triathlon (to share with clubs) 

Welsh Athletics (to share with their clubs) 

British Cycling 

Maindy Flyers CC 

Cardiff Ajax CC 

Rowe and King 

Cardiff Junior Triathlon 

WDDAC 

Independent commercial coaching companies 

British Cycling affiliated race event officials and commissaires 

  

Page 2054



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 34 
 

Appendix 2 – Most Important Aspects of the Maindy Velodrome 
(‘Something Else’) 
 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Condition of Track 19 22.4 - A nice smooth track, free of litter and with 

enough security to stop it being ruined! 
- The magic formula - minimal banking, 

large track, true all-weather surface, high 
capacity, local to students and those of 
varying socioeconomic backgrounds. 

- The Quality of the facility / it is first class 

Suitable for all users 17 20.0 - Size of the track and ability for it to be 
used by kids as young as 5 years old on 
both road and track bikes.  

- Shallow gradient suitable for all levels of 
experience 

- It’s a good starter velodrome, so good for 
children, less-abled. 

Proximity / Good 
Transport Links / Parking 

15 17.6 - Not having to circumnavigate town to get 
there. 

- Location, location, location! 
- central location within cycling [not 

driving] distance of much of city, unlike 
cardiff bay 

Green Space / 
Surroundings 

13 15.3 - Green open space in a very built-up area 
- It’s green open space is a dense urban 

area.  That’s important in itself. 

Heritage / History 12 14.1 - Historical public access and use of site 
given to the public 

- Historical significance 

Triathlon Club / Multi-use 10 11.8 - For triathlon club, the ability to run, cycle 
and swim at the same venue 

- Range of uses outside of just track bikes 

Value for money / Free 
facilities 

9 10.6 - Good value for money and great for 
beginners 

- Affordability & you can use your own 
normal bike 

Good Facilities 4 4.7 - Quality of the facility 

Safety 4 4.7 - Safe facility 

Doesn't agree with 
proposals 

3 3.5 - Home to Maindy flyers 

Page 2055



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 35 
 

Misc. 6 7.1 - Design of the existing velodrome 
- Noise generated to local residents 
- I don't want a velodrome. 

Total 85 -  
 

  

Page 2056



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 36 
 

Appendix 3 – What Features Would You Like to See in the New 
Velodrome? 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Remains at Maindy / Like 
current facility 

22 18.0 - I would like to see it as an additional 
facility rather than a replacement 

- That it is complementary to, and NOT a 
replacement of Maindy Velodrome 

- we have a perfectly good velodrome 
which doesn't need to be demolished 

Against the proposal  21 17.2 - Don’t need new one! 
- I don’t want to see a new velodrome as 

there isn’t anything wrong with the one 
we already have in cardiff 

- I'd rather the development didn’t go 
ahead 

Accessibility / 
Inclusiveness concerns 

13 10.7 - Accessibility! 
- Being somewhere different than all other 

sports facilities in Cardiff, therefore 
serving all Cardiff residents equally. 

- Suitable and accessible to all users in the 
same way that Maindy currently is. 

Improved Cycling 
Infrastructure /  
Transport / Parking 

9 7.4 - Connecting cycle infrastructure to the site 
and beyond 

- Cycle access - so everyone doesn’t drive 
everywhere 

- Dedicated public transport which 
prioritises active travel above all other 
forms of transport. 

Improved Facilities for 
Locals / spectators 

7 5.7 - At least the same facilities for Maindy 
Flyers as current track. 

- Competitions with spectator facilities 

Inclusive / Low Cost / 
Free 

6 4.9 - Fair pricing 
- Low cost for Cardiff residents to use 

Specific track 
requirements 

6 4.9 - 400-500m track with low banking angle, 
perfect to bring the next generation of 
youth cyclist into the sport, that can be 
used by those of all ages and ability on a 
variety of bike types. 

- A high quality build, made to last 

Triathlon Club / Multi-use 5 4.1 - Adaptability for other sports 
- Track for running and cycling 

Snow dome / Ski slope 5 4.1 - A SNOW DOME!!! 

Page 2057



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 37 
 

- A snow dome as was previously mooted, 
really couldn’t care less about a 
velodrome 

Keep Old and build New 4 3.3 - I would like to see it as an additional 
facility rather than a replacement 

Green Space 4 3.3 - Trees, plants, flowers 

Suitable for all ages / 
users 

3 2.5 - A velodrome usable by all ages and 
abilities 

Misc. 9 7.4 - Covered workshop area 
- Actual engagement with the surrounding 

community so the 'features' are reflective 
of the community.  The above list is 
incredibly curtailed and I am not clear 
how this has been arrived at 

- That it is delivered along with the closed 
circuit before Maindy closes. New smaller 
velodrome alone is not an adequate 
replacement for Maindy Velodrome and 
would be a backwards step for cycling 
provision in the city. Would be track bike 
focused which is only a small element of 
what Maindy Velodrome is used for. 

Total 122 -  
 

  

Page 2058



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 38 
 

Appendix 4 – Are there any other facilities you would like to see in the 
International Sports Village? 
 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Snow / Ski Sports 53 18.9 - Snow sports facility 

- Ski Centre 
- snow dome for winter sports 
- An indoor ski slope would be a big draw, 

but of course, you know that? 

Transport links / More 
Parking  

37 13.2 - Better transport links - it is shocking how 
difficult it is to get there!!!!! 

- More parking 
- Parking. Please don't say use public 

transport. We travel from Newport to use 
the rink as a family. Public transport is not 
a safe or viable option on a cold, wet 
winter night at 10pm when travelling as 
an all-female household 

- The Bay is a pain to get to from the North 
of Cardiff.  So easier access 

Multi-use Indoor Sport 
Facilities 

35 12.5 - Sports hall - badminton/tennis courts etc 
- Indoor tennis courts for public use. 
- An indoor all sports area that can be 

accessed whatever the weather 

Outdoor Sport Facilities 30 10.7 - Running track, five-a-side/hockey pitches 
- outdoor pool, roller blade, ski slope 
- open water swimming- a lido 

Retail / Office / Bars / 
Restaurants / Meeting 
Space / Picnic Areas 

17 6.1 - Improved public space. More hospitality 
venues. 

- Cafe, bars and restaurants. 

Improved Cycling 
Infrastructure 

12 4.3 - A joined-up loop around the bay for 
leisure cycling and running 

- Improved integration of paths and 
cycleways. The new velodrome should 
provide a heart to the area which has 
been much improved but remained half-
finished for a long time 

Racket Sports 12 4.3 - Tennis courts, badminton courts, 5 a side 
pitch, utilise the space for more sports 

- Paddle, tennis and squash courts 

Remains at Maindy / Like 
current facility 

11 3.9 - Do not move from Maindy 

Page 2059



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 39 
 

- Not a replacement for Maindy, leave that 
where it is. 

Skate Park / BMX 9 3.2 - Why not also put the BMX track there or 
at least nearby? 

- Skate board, BMX 

Disagrees with proposals 9 3.2 - I'd like to see the whole unwanted vanity 
project demolished and turned into a 
nature reserve 

- No, I do not wish the plan to go ahead, 
local facilities work better for residents, 
ALWAYS have 

Running Track 8 2.9 - A dedicated running loop 1/2km long 
- Running track for jogging 

Football & Rugby Pitches 6 2.1 - 4G Rugby Pitch 
- Multi-use sports areas, such as full size 

rugby/football pitches 

Pool / Indoor Surfing / 
Water sports 

5 1.8 - Water sports 
- Indoor surfing/canoeing capabilities 

Misc. 17 6.1 - Any facilities that are self-financing and 
do not cause the removal of facilities from 
elsewhere in the city. Ideally facilities that 
would attract international sports 
competition to justify the “International” 
title. A 333m outdoor velodrome will not 
attract international competition that is 
more appropriate to the indoor facilities in 
Newport 

- Defibrillator 
- Secure bike parking 

Total 280 - -  

 

 

  

Page 2060



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 40 
 

Appendix 5 – Why Do You Support This Proposal? 
 

Theme No. % Example comments 
New & Modern Facilities 76 41.3 - A modern velodrome is long overdue 

- A new facility with dedicated cycling 
facilities e.g. changing, inside space for 
spectators is a betterment to the existing 
facility. Whilst a worse location for me, it's 
a better location for the S Wales cycling 
community and there's some advantage 
to locating some of Cardiff's sports 
facilities in the same place. 

- A new, modern cycling centre and an 
upgraded school. No brainer. 

- Be great for cycling in Cardiff 
- Far nicer location, a new velodrome will 

bring it more in line with expectations and 
more modern. Better condition than the 
current velodrome which is aging 

Improved Location / 
Cycling Provisions 

57 31.0 - Better location 
- Creates more of a destination for my 

family, will probably use facilities more. 
- It’s closer to where I live 
- The access will be better 

Dedicated Sports Village 
with Access to All 

45 24.5 - It would concentrate sport into one 
location, and would make that part of the 
bay nicer to visit. 

- Makes sense to centralise sports facilities 
- Put the sports things together 

Improves Tourism / 
Reputation of the City 

27 14.7 - It will bring more people to the Bay, boost 
tourism and hospitality industry. 

- Because it increases the reputation of the 
International Sports Village 

- The current facility is hidden away. This 
proposal will bring it into the heart of the 
city and celebrate the sport. 

School Plans are 
Important 

14 7.6 - Because the school upgrades are more 
important than keeping the track where it 
is 

- Cathays High School needs improved 
facilities. It seems this is the best way to 
provide it. 

- It’s the correct combination of providing 
new educational facility at Maindy and 

Page 2061



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 41 
 

continuing with the commitment of the 
velodrome to develop the enjoyment and 
success of cycling in Wales 

Accessibility: Provide 
More Parking / Public 
Transport 

11 6.0 - Better access to people from the Vale. 
- I do in principle but there needs to be 

good cycle routes to the CISV. Because 
currently the cycle routes in Cardiff are 
shockingly bad 

- Good for the city and development 
however parking should be considered 

Misc. 11 6.0 - Why not! 
- It just makes sense 
- Sports plays an integral role for healthy 

lifestyle and wellbeing 

Total 184 - -  

 

  

Page 2062



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 42 
 

Appendix 6 – Why Don’t You Support This Proposal? 
 

Theme No. % Example comments 
Transport / Location / 
Parking / Size of Venue 

105 59.7 - I think the current velodrome is fit for 
purpose and at the heart of Cardiff where 
it is needed and easily accessible for 
locals. 

- Keep Maindy for the thousands of families 
that don’t want to drive through traffic to 
get to the bay. Many 100s of children 
learn to ride there, hardly any would go to 
the bay. It’s awful to take this facility 
away. 

- Traffic congestion in that area backs up to 
M4 and into Cardiff town - massive effect 
on the environment - not enough parking 
for vehicles as public park on pavements 
all around that area when ice hockey is 
on. 

- I like the velodrome where it is.  The new 
one is too far away, will be both too small 
and too hard for non-professionals.  It's a 
terrible thing to take away a beloved 
facility and give it to richer people on the 
other side of town and then pretend 
you're doing us a favour. 

Negative Impact: 
Environmental / Heritage / 
Increased Traffic 

57 32.4 - It deprives people in the area where it is 
currently situated. Also its contrary to the 
city's green policy by making residents use 
their cars 

- Destroying yet another part of Cardiff's 
history 

- I am against the concentration of 
amenities away from the people who use 
them. It will result in longer car journeys. 

Do not remove current 
Velodrome 

47 26.7 - Leave the Maindy cycle track where it is. 
- It doesn't need to be moved from its 

current position. 
- There is no need to relocate. The sports 

Village will be too far to travel to. 

Does not benefit local 
community / Not required 

36 20.5 - At a time when services across Cardiff are 
struggling, investing in an expensive new 
development to primarily benefit upper 

Page 2063



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 43 
 

middle class wealthy cyclists is a poor use 
of money. 

- Maindy velodrome is well used, and sports 
facilities should be spread out across the 
city, not concentrated in one place. 

- It will exclude local people from using the 
facilities. This is only happening so that 
you can expand Cathay's High School 

Waste of money 33 18.8 - Waste of money 
- Waste of taxpayers money, the existing 

one created a Tour winner 
- Waste of money. Cardiff council cannot 

get the fundamentals right. Money 
needed elsewhere. 

Suitable velodrome already 
in Newport / Maindy 

18 10.2 - Newport has a velodrome, I think the 
sports Village should create other sporting 
activity opportunities 

- There is one already in Newport!! Don’t 
need another one 

Does not meet the needs 
of ALL cyclists / Size of 
Track 

15 8.5 - The proposed velodrome in the ISV is not a 
like for like replacement. The new track is 
smaller and will have steeper banking so 
will not be as inclusive for younger or 
inexperienced riders. 

- Iconic velodrome with history of success 
at Maindy. Banking angle at Maindy 
(18degrees) and size of track facilitates a 
multipurpose cycling facility which is 
accessible to a range of abilities, ages and 
disabilities. Reduced velodrome size will 
reduce session capacity and reduce 
accessibility to the sport. 

No confidence in the 
council’s planning 

10 5.7 - I don’t have total confidence that the 
velodrome and closed road circuit will be 
built and we need both. 

- Council not to run it no idea who the 
operator is or when the proposed new 
building would be finished 

Shouldn't be taken from 
Education Budget 

9 5.1 - The Maindy facility is great and we have a 
track in Newport too. The fact that this is 
being g done with education funding is 
scandalous 

- Misappropriation of Education Budget 
funds and very weak business plan 

Page 2064



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 44 
 

Prefers Ski Centre / 
Snowdome 

4 2.3 - Would like to see skiing available, as 
cycling can be done on the roads, via the 
newly built cycle routes 

- This city is far too heavy on promoting 
cycling. Build the snow dome, that's 
something we don't have and was 
announced as planned for the sports 
Village. 

Misc. 7 4.0 - You can’t even pick up our refuse in a 
timely manner - please get your priorities 
straight 

- Its taking away a local leisure place for a 
school that is not needed for this area. 

- Nothing I would attend and I don't know 
anyone that would. 

Total 176 - -  

 

  

Page 2065



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 45 
 

Appendix 7 – Do you have any other comments about these proposals? 

 
Theme No. % Example comments 
Parking Concerns 79 22.6 - With so many facilities at the sports village there 

will be a dire lack of parking spaces 
- Proposed parking facilities are too low to support 

such a large number of sporting facilities that 
people travel considerable distances to use. 

- There seems to be no improvements in car 
parking. It as an absolute nightmare during 
Cardiff devils matches now 

- Already no parking, this would make it worse 

Generally against the 
proposals 

46 13.1 - The current track is good and could have been 
redeveloped alongside the school. No need to 
move it. 

- Don’t spoil it to save pennies 
- Ridiculous proposal 
- Please reconsider. 

Generally in favour of 
the proposals 

40 11.4 - It would bring more tourism to Cardiff and mean 
we could hold the commonwealth games in the 
future. 

- Fully support these plans, excellent addition to 
the area to encourage improved health and 
fitness activity 

- This is an opportunity to ensure all cycling 
disciples are recognised. Bring together all 
disciplines under one “roof” and develop the next 
generation of cyclists. The opportunity for the 
leisure cyclist is also huge. Offering safe off-road 
cycling on a road circuit. 

- Forward thinking, should be applauded more 
publicly. 

Accessibility / 
Inclusiveness 

29 8.3 - Basic services for all - not posh facilities for a few 
sporty people 

- Please make the village accessible through public 
transport. The fact that this part of the bay is not 
accessible by train Is terrible 

- Please ensure all cycling clubs get EQUAL access 
to facilities for a very reasonable rate 

Concerns around 
finances 

27 7.7 - This money would be better spent cutting 
business rates, supporting care if the elderly and 
on affordable housing 

Page 2066



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 46 
 

- Ridiculous waste of money and yet again Cardiff 
destroying heritage and a much-valued green 
space. 

- Please stop spending public money on these 
projects. There are much more pressing needs. 

More Research / 
Consultation Needed 

25 7.1 - Ask The Velodrome users about what they want. 
- Ensure all of Cardiff’s, and local sports clubs and 

organisations are fully consulted before plans are 
finalised. We have 1 chance to get this right 

- Need to talk with clubs 

Concerns around 
History / Heritage of 
current site 

20 5.7 - If you take down this venue, you will be removing 
a piece of history from Cardiff. The place where 
Nicole Cooke, Geraint Thomas, Luke Rowe, Owain 
Doule and many other great cyclists cut their 
teeth. No to mention the historic Empire Games. I 
thought Cardiff Council had put the days of the 
Empire pool behind them, but if you go ahead, 
you will be making the same mistakes all over. 

- This should not be a replacement for the existing 
Maindy velodrome. It is a part of Wales’s cycling 
history, as well as a centrepiece of the local 
community 

- Don't destroy history just to expand a school 
across a main road. 

Public Transport 
Concerns 

20 5.7 - Transport links to the ISV are shocking 
- better public transport links - ? Train station 
- The problem with the sports village is its location. 

Hardly accessible by any other means than by car 

Keep Maindy 
Velodrome & Build 
New Velodrome 

19 5.4 - No need to close existing facilities at Maindy, 
they could co-exist 

- The track at Maindy is already there, why not 
simply have both tracks 

Improved Cycling 
Infrastructure 

18 5.1 - Increase the bike infrastructure around the ISV, 
by making protected intersections 

- The Ely Trail must be surfaced as part of the 
wider transport access as we would often cycle to 
the new track if the Ely Trail had a surface 
suitable for commuting or road bikes and the 
cycle paths to Cardiff Bay finished! 

Concerns around new 
facility 

14 4.0 - The main priority is to ensure that excellent 
cycling facilities are available that are at least 
equal to, if not better, than those at Maindy. Any 
design of a new facility must be suitable for the 
current users of Maindy and not be a 

Page 2067



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 47 
 

performance velodrome that cannot be used by 
the youngest riders, must be suitable for road 
bikes and in all weathers. Velodrome without the 
closed road circuit is not a suitable replacement 
for Maindy 

- The banking on the new velodrome might be too 
steep for young children. 

Traffic / Congestion 
Concerns 

14 4.0 - Roads are already busy there, in the bay.  
Wouldn't a city-wide sports policy be better than 
all the eggs going in one place basket. 

- Why do all the facilities have to be in the bay 
which is difficult for the majority of people in St. 
Mellons and Ely to reach - at least an hour if you 
are lucky by expensive public transport 

Concerns around 
survey / questions 

14 4.0 - Why is the survey all based around the 
velodrome? Where has the expansion to the ice 
facilities and additional car park that were in the 
original master plan gone? 

- Why bother with this survey, you’ve clearly 
already made the decision? 

Concerns around 
location 

12 3.4 - If the track moves to the Sports Village, more 
people will have to drive there as it is located on 
the edge of the city. My child is currently able to 
walk or cycle to the existing venue. 

- This is a ridiculously stupid place to locate a 
velodrome, leave it in Maindy, where people can 
actually get to it 

School Comments 12 3.4 - The high school could expand upwards. Why need 
so much space? 

- Leave the more inclusive Maindy velodrome as it 
is and rethink the Cathays high school plan 

Ensure new track is 
completed before 
closing existing track 

10 2.9 - Build the new before knocking down the old 
- this must be built before Maindy is 

decommissioned 

Snowdome / Dry Ski 
Slope 

9 2.6 - Please build a ski slope. There is not one this end 
of the UK 

- Has the snow dome finally been abandoned? 

Retail / Office / Bars / 
Restaurants / 
Meeting Space 

4 1.1 - Hoping to have better transport links in the area 
and to see the whole site developed, which 
includes retail space, bars, restaurants, etc. 

Misc. 12 3.4 - Another nail in Cathay's coffin. 

Page 2068



International Sports Village Masterplan Consultation  
and the Proposed Relocation of Cardiff’s Velodrome 

 

Produced by the Cardiff Research Centre                                              Page 48 
 

- Can't understand why so much emphasis is 
placed on cycling and cyclists when this area of 
Cardiff needs other sports 

- None that I can print 

Total 350 -  

 

 

Page 2069



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 2071

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 2123

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 2125

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14, 16, 21 of Part(s) 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 11 

 
CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 

 

 
CARDIFF AND THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN POPULATION 
NEEDS ASSESSMENT 2022 
 
SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & WELLBEING (COUNCILLOR SUSAN 
ELSMORE) AND CHILDREN & FAMILIES (COUNCILLOR 
GRAHAM HINCHEY) 

AGENDA ITEM: 16  
 

  
Reason for this Report 

 
1. To note and consider the Population Needs Assessment 2022 (attached 

at Appendix 1) in line with the requirements of Part 2 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
 

2. To recommend that Council consider and approve the Population Needs 
Assessment 2022 at its meeting on 17th March 2022 and that the 
Assessment is revisited and updated in relevant areas following the 
release of Census 2021 data. 

 
Background 

 
3. Part 2 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires 

Local Authorities, in partnership with Local Health Boards, to assess the 
care and support needs of the population, including carers who need 
support.  
 

4. The purpose of the Population Needs Assessment (PNA) is to ensure 
that local authorities and Local Health Boards jointly produce a clear and 
specific evidence base in relation to care and support needs and carers’ 
needs to underpin the delivery of their statutory functions and inform 
planning and operational decisions.  
 

5. Legislation specifies themes which should be included within the 
assessment and allows for regions to include additional themes as 
appropriate to the local population. The statutorily required themes are:  
 

 Children and young people 

 Sensory impairment 

 Health/Physical Disabilities 

 Older People 

 Learning Disability/Autism 

 

Page 2171

Agenda Item 16



Page 2 of 11 

 Mental Health 

 Carers who need support  

 Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

 Secure estate.  
 
The additional regional themes included in the report are: 
 

 Asylum Seekers and Refugees 

 Substance Misuse 

 Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)  
 

6. Themes are presented in the report as individual chapters although  
clearly many of the themes have overlapping populations of interest.  
Supplementary guidance issued in March 2021 by Welsh Government 
requested consideration of the Socio-Economic Duty, as well as the 
impact of COVID-19. Increased emphasis on housing needs and Welsh 
language was recommended. The assessment presents these 
components within each chapter.  
 

7. The PNA must be published on the websites of all local authorities and 
Local Health Boards involved in their production. A copy of the report 
must also be sent to Welsh Ministers at the time of publication and 
should be drafted using accessible language so that it can be considered 
by members of the public. To increase accessibility, an online summary 
of the report will be available using Microsoft Sway alongside the full 
report. 

  
8. The PNA should be reviewed as required, but at least once mid-way 

through the population assessment period. The findings of the report will 
be used to plan future “deep dive” research, inform strategic 
commissioning plans and input into the regional Market Stability Report 
due to be completed in summer 2022. 

 
9. The analysis of the health and wellbeing and care and support needs of 

the population groups contained within the PNA cannot be viewed in 
isolation from the wider economic, social, environmental and cultural 
characteristics of the communities in which people live and the social 
determinants of health and wellbeing at a local and national level.  For 
example education, access to employment, housing and 
accommodation, healthy lifestyles and the physical environment are all 
identified in the PNA as key determinants of health and wellbeing 
outcomes.   
 

10. The Wellbeing of Future Generation Act (2015) requires Public Services 
Boards to investigate the social, economic, environmental and cultural 
well-being of their area and for this assessment to be undertaken once 
per 5 year cycle.  The Cardiff Wellbeing Assessment 2022 which 
assesses Cardiff’s overall wellbeing in each of the Council and PSB’s 
seven wellbeing objectives, was published for consultation by the Cardiff 
Public Services Board in January 2022.  The PNA and Wellbeing 
Assessment were developed concurrently and through close partnership 

Page 2172



Page 3 of 11 

working between the Regional Partnership Board and PSB support 
teams. 
 

11. For a comprehensive understanding of the region the analysis presented 
in this report should therefore be read alongside the Public Services 
Boards’ Well-being Assessments for Cardiff and for the Vale of 
Glamorgan. The final Population Needs Assessment report will be 
updated to contain hyperlinks to the online Well-being Assessments 
(once published) to provide the reader with a comprehensive place-
based understanding.  
 

Issues 
 

12. The PNA has been led by colleagues in Public Health, was sponsored by 
the Regional Partnership Board and involved all members of the 
partnership including representatives from the third sector.  
 

13. The PNA should be seen as a ”live” document utilising existing data and 
reports from a wide range of sources and able to be refreshed and 
updated with quantitative and qualitative data as it becomes available. 
This is important as the range of information required to inform the 
assessment is significant and data reporting cycles can vary 
substantially. The 2021 Census Data, for example, will be reported in 
Summer 2022 and will provide a wealth of information to refresh the 
baseline data of the PNA. 
 

14. Engagement work across the region was undertaken with local residents, 
service users, carers, health and social care professionals, and 
independent providers. A total of 661 general public surveys were 
returned and 118 responses were received from professional and 
providers. 23 focus groups were held across 18 themes in which a total 
of 132 participants took part. Given the wide range of themes, the on-
going inclusion of qualitative data from existing networks and 
commissioned surveys will assist in assuring the widest representation of 
views are included over the life span of the PNA. 
 

15. Detailed findings and recommendations encompassing the combined 
work of all partners across the region are reported in the relevant themed 
chapter in the report.  
 

Key Findings 
 
16. A key headline from the report is that improvements in care and support 

services have been made across all population groups since the 2017 
Population Needs Assessment, despite the challenges of COVID-19. 
COVID-19 has had a number of impacts, including increasing demand for 
services, especially mental health, and changing models of delivery for 
many services. 

 
 
 
 

Page 2173



Page 4 of 11 

Demography and wider determinants of health and wellbeing 
 

17. The populations of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are increasing and 
projected to continue to increase. The change is driven by the 16-64 age 
group who now make up 65% of the population with this proportion being 
slightly higher in Cardiff.  
 

18. The percentage of people in Cardiff who are Black, Asian or from a 
minority ethnic group has increased from 10.4% in 2004 to 20.1% in 
2020. For children aged 5-15 the percentage who identified as from a 
Black, Asian or minority ethnic group in the annual school census 
2020/21 was 36%.  Cardiff has the lowest proportion of people speaking 
English or Welsh as their first language at 91.7% compared to a Welsh 
average of 97.1% 
 

19. Healthy life expectancy at birth for males in Cardiff has increased over 
time and is currently above the Welsh average, whereas for females, 
healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen overall from the 2011-13 
position, but has been rising steadily from following a low point in 2015-
17. For both males and female healthy life expectancy in Cardiff is above 
the Welsh average. 
 

20. Deprivation remains one of the major long term drivers of poor health 
outcomes and, over the past two years, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
shone a spotlight on inequalities as a root cause of the increased 
morbidity and mortality seen in some communities.  In Cardiff around one 
fifth of residents live in the most deprived 10% LSOA’s in Wales, with 
these areas concentrated in parts of the south, east and west of the city, 
and approximately 50% of the population live in the 50% least deprived 
LSOA’s.  In 2019, 13% of adults in Cardiff lived in material deprivation 
(the extent to which people can afford items such as heating and food), 
which was marginally above the Welsh average and down from 16% in 
2016-17.   
 

21. The PNA contains an analysis across all themes of the wider social, 
economic and environmental factors that influence health, wellbeing and 
inequalities.  This is important as many of the drivers of poor health 
outcomes, and many of the long-term solutions to improved health 
outcomes, are what can be considered wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing.  For example, respondents to the PNA engagement work did 
not ask for traditional care and support services, but identified that their 
needs could be met through issues such as:   

a. Education and Employment (paid or voluntary) was seen as a 
crucial determinant of health. Access to employment was a 
common theme to improve personal finances, as well as to 
provide a sense of purpose, reduce isolation, and to help protect 
people’s mental health and well-being.  

b. Housing and accommodation should be available, accessible, 
safe, and supportive of what matters most to the individual. This 
was a key issue addressed in each theme of the report.  

Page 2174



Page 5 of 11 

c. Encouraging and supporting healthy behaviours such as physical 
activity and exercise to improve mental well-being and prevent 
falls.  

d. The physical environment was also identified across a number of 
themes as a key determinant in areas such as access to leisure 
activities, green spaces and healthy food, availability of transport, 
the design of the built environment and air quality.  

 
22. As noted above, the Cardiff PSB’s Wellbeing Assessment 2022, 

developed alongside the PNA and through close partnership working, 
contains a more comprehensive analysis of the wider economic, social 
and environmental determinants of health and wellbeing and should be 
read in parallel to the PNA. 
 

Pandemic Impacts 
 

23. Overall the PNA finds that Covid-19 has had a tremendous impact on 
population needs:  
 

 The pandemic has had a significant negative impact on children 
and young people in Wales particularly in relation to mental health 
and well-being. Regionally, attendances to the Paediatric 
Emergency Department for mental health disorders such as self-
harm, suicidal ideation, eating disorders and increased behaviours 
of concern increased significantly for 0-17 year olds in 20/21. 
 

 Covid-19 has had a significant impact upon older people, including 
ill health, mental and physical well-being and mortality 
perspectives. There was an identified increased need for 
domiciliary support and packages of care and increased 
dependency amongst service users. 

 

 The impact of inequalities is identified as a cause of the increased 
morbidity and mortality seen in some population groups and of 
amplifying the impact of restrictions and service closures. 
 

 Harm from a reduction in non-covid activity was identified 
following the reduction in GP attendances over the period of the 
pandemic. Between March and November 2020, 3,500 fewer 
cancers were diagnosed compared to what might be expected for 
that period of time in Wales. 
 

 There were some identified positive impacts from the response to 
Covid with some service adaptations enabling more people 
access with more flexible and agile ways of working. New 
connections have been made and many people volunteered 
through the “Together for Cardiff” initiative to support older people 
in particular with shopping, collecting prescriptions or befriending 
via telephone. 
 

 The report identifies a “triple challenge” facing health and social 
care services describing the combined impacts of Brexit, Climate 

Page 2175



Page 6 of 11 

Change and Covid 19. The factors are dynamic, and impacts are 
broad across the wider determinants of health.  
 

 The need for revised service responses to the changing nature of 
demand was identified across a wide range of needs. 

 
Early Help and Prevention/Partnership approach 
 
24. The PNA consistently identifies the importance of services and activities 

being focussed to prevent needs arising or escalating across all 
populations. This included the need to ensure the earliest possible 
interventions at the right time and in the right place. Care focussed on 
delivering services as close to people’s homes as possible was also 
identified as important.  

 
25. The report also recommends that a whole system approach to care and 

support provision should prioritise continuity of care (for example, in 
transition between services); and joined up services between public, 
private and third sector providers for a “seamless” experience for service 
users. 
 

26. There were many examples in the report of the range of existing joined 
up, multi-agency approaches that were focused on prevention. These 
included Early Help services for children and young people; housing 
services including the Young Persons Gateway noted for the support it 
provides alongside accommodation in areas such as mental health, 
access to education, employment and independent living skills; services 
for the homeless; the independent living service for older people; support 
for those not in Employment, Education or Training and inclusive 
exercise and well-being strategies as a source of support, in particular for 
mental health and well-being such as described for those respondents 
from the secure estate.   
 

Person Centred 
 
27. The PNA references Cardiff as the first city in Wales to develop the Child 

Friendly City Strategy with the aim of empowering children and young 
people to understand their rights and providing equality of opportunity 
and high quality education. This person centred approach is one that the 
PNA endorses across all populations and is clearly articulated in the 
qualitative responses from the engagement activity. 
 

28. Dementia Friendly Cardiff was identified for its person-centred approach 
to help businesses and organisations recognise the needs of people 
affected by dementia, and pledge their commitment to become more 
welcoming through improving staff awareness, creating more accessible 
physical environments, and increasing the availability of information 
about dementia.  

 
 
 
 

Page 2176



Page 7 of 11 

Assets to support well-being 
 
29. Individual sources of support across all groups included friends, families, 

and hobbies. Local community support like community groups, 
neighbours, and community-based organisations including religious 
places of worship, choirs, and places to exercise were all identified as 
important with many examples referenced in the PNA. Local authority, 
NHS, and third sector services (both on a national and local footprint) 
were praised throughout engagement work. Examples of third sector 
services praised in engagement work include Cardiff Women’s Aid, 
Cardiff MIND, Cardiff People First, and Oasis.  
 

30. People with lived experience providing peer support (face to face or 
online) or as service providers were identified as important assets; and 
supported the need for inclusive recruitment across all sectors.  
 

Community focused services 
 
31. Services available to and within local communities was another theme of 

the report. Access to services should be equitable and inclusive and   
tailored to the individual. The report references the work to develop  more 
locality focused service alignment through programmes such as the RPB 
@ Home approach which aims to integrate care and support services to 
enable older people to live independently and well at home for as long as 
possible. 
 

32. Learning from the pandemic response has shown that outcomes can be 
improved significantly with care and consideration of the need for tailored 
communications and service responses to specific community 
requirements such as in relation to the vaccination programme. 
 

33. The theme of a locality focus has been exemplified in recent years by the 
approach taken within Childrens services for locality based teams , within 
Education for the team around the school approach and for the 
community safety partnership approach to locality based multi- agency 
problem solving. 
 

Next Steps 
 

34. The recommendations and findings of the PNA will help to inform the 
future policy and operational plans of all regional partners. The themes 
identified in the report correspond with the approaches already being 
implemented across a wide range of council policies and initiatives and it 
will be important to ensure that the PNA assessment is regularly 
refreshed as additional quantitive and qualitative information becomes 
available. 
 

Consultation  
 
35. Consultation is not formally required under the Social Services and Well-

being (Wales) Act 2014, however, the Code of Practice stipulates the 
need for citizen engagement, which was emphasised in the 

Page 2177



Page 8 of 11 

Supplementary Guidance issued in March 2021. This assessment took 
the following approach:  
 
Surveys:  

 Public survey (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)  

 Children and young people survey (available online, hard copy, 
and Easy Read) 

 Survey for people in HMP Cardiff (available as hard copy)  

 Professional and provider survey (available online or hard copy)  
 
Focus group discussions: 23 focus groups were conducted, to obtain 
rich information for each theme. The focus groups were led by Cardiff 
Third Sector Council, with input from third sector organisations. Further 
details are available in the report.  
 
Existing engagement: findings from prior engagement work were 
included where possible.  
 

36. The report has been electronically distributed to members of the 
Communities and Adult Services Scrutiny Committee and the Children 
and Young People Scrutiny Committee for review and comment by 
members. The draft report was also distributed electronically to the 
Regional Partnership Board and Community Health Council for their 
feedback. 

 
Reason for Recommendations 
 
37. To ensure that Cabinet members can exercise oversight of a key 

planning document for social care and well-being services to inform 
future priorities. 
 

38. To secure approval by the full Council as required by the statutory 
framework for producing the assessment. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
39. Whilst there are no direct financial implications arising from this report,  

the requirement for Area Plans to be subsequently developed and 
implemented, taking into account the findings of the assessment, will 
have potential resource implications. The priorities for action and detailed 
plans to address them, along with consequent financial implications, 
should be discussed and agreed as part of the Area Planning process 

 
Legal Implications  

 

40. The publication of a Population Needs Assessment (PNA) is a statutory 
requirement imposed on Local Authorities (LAs) and Local Health Boards 
(LHBs) under section 14 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 (‘2014 Act’) and regulations made thereunder (the Care and 
Support (Population Assessments)(Wales) Regulations 2015 (‘the PNA 
Regulations’).  The Local Authority and the Local Health Board are 
together referred to as ‘the Responsible Bodies’ for these purposes. 

Page 2178



Page 9 of 11 

 

41. In exercising their functions, the Responsible Bodies must also have 
regard to relevant requirements and guidance contained in the 2014 Act 
Part 2 Code of Practice issued by the Welsh Ministers (the Code of 
Practice).  
 

42. The matters to be included in the PNA are set out in the 2014 Act and 
include the extent to which there are people in the local authority's area 
who need care and support and the extent to which there are carers in 
the area who need support.  The PNA Regulations make provision for the 
persons and bodies with which the Responsible Bodies must engage 
when carrying out the assessments. 
 

43. The Code of Practice says that one PNA must be produced for each local 
government electoral cycle; and that both the LA and the LHB are 
required to formally approve the PNA.  For the Council, this means full 
Council must approve the PNA on recommendation from the Cabinet.   
 

44. Once completed, the PNA must be published on the LA’s and the LHB’s 
websites and a copy sent to the Welsh Ministers.  
 

45. The PNA Regulations require the Responsible Bodies to jointly keep the 
PNA under review and to issue an addendum to the report whenever 
they consider it appropriate to do so.  
 

46. The Cabinet needs to be satisfied, based on the information set out in the 
report and appendices, that the draft PNA complies with the 
requirements of the 2014 Act, the PNA Regulations and the Code of 
Practice. 
 

47. In considering this matter, the Council must have regard to its public 
sector equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific 
Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal duties, Councils 
must in making decisions have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate 
unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster 
good relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The Protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including 
ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and 
maternity, marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or 
belief – including lack of belief.  The Council also has a statutory duty to 
have due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting 
from socio-economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed 
under section 1 of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council 
must take into account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh 
Ministers and must be able to demonstrate how it has discharged its 
duty.  An Equalities Impact Assessment should be carried out to identify 
the equalities implications of its decisions, including inequalities arising 
from socio-economic disadvantage, and due regard should be given to 
the outcomes of the Equalities Impact Assessment. 
 

Page 2179



Page 10 of 11 

48. The Council must also be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) 
Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards and consider the 
impact of its decisions upon the Welsh language.   
 

49. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires the 
Council to consider how its decisions will contribute towards meeting its 
well being objectives (set out in the Corporate Plan).  Cabinet must also 
be satisfied that its decisions comply with the sustainable development 
principle, which requires that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
HR Implications 
 
50. There are none at this stage.  The requirement for Area Plans to be 

subsequently developed and implemented, taking into account the 
findings of the assessment, may have potential HR implications.  

 
Property Implications 

 
 

51. There are none at this stage. The Population Needs Assessment 
provides an overview of housing and accommodation needs for each of 
the population groups. The Area Plan developed based on this 
intelligence may have potential implications for property.  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to recommend that Council note and approve the 
Population Needs Assessment 2022 (attached at Appendix 1) in line with the 
requirements of Part 2 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER SARAH McGILL 
Corporate Director  
 

4 March 2022 
 

 
 
 
The following appendices are attached:  
 
Appendix 1: Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 
2022 
 
Appendix 2: Equality and Health Impact Assessment for the Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 
 
Appendix 3: Online summary of the Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
Population Needs Assessment 2022 for the General Public  Sway (office.com) 
 
 

Page 2180

https://sway.office.com/yUpIfBn567nky46D?ref=email


Page 11 of 11 

The following background papers have been taken into account 
 
Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Code of Practice (Part 2 
General Functions) (2015) [online]. Available from: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practice-
general-functions.pdf  
 
Population Needs Assessments: Supplementary Advice for Regional 
Partnership Boards (March 2021) [online]. Available from: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-
assessments.pdfPNA 
 
 

Page 2181



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Appendix 1

Page 2183



   

 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Published on 1st April 2022  
 
This Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan covers the period 
2022 - 2027 

Page 2184



   

 

3 

 

Contents 
 
1. Executive Summary ................................................................................................................ 4 

2. Background to the Population Needs Assessment ................................................................ 8 

3. Methods ............................................................................................................................... 11 

4. Demography ......................................................................................................................... 17 

5. Children and Young People .................................................................................................. 25 

6. Children and Young People with Complex Needs ............................................................... 41 

7. Children Looked After .......................................................................................................... 52 

8. Older People ........................................................................................................................ 60 

9. Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions ...................................................................... 79 

10. Physical Disability ............................................................................................................... 92 

11. Learning Disability ............................................................................................................ 104 

12. Autism .............................................................................................................................. 115 

13. Adult Mental Health......................................................................................................... 122 

14. Cognitive Impairment including Dementia ...................................................................... 133 

15. Adult Unpaid Carers ......................................................................................................... 142 

16. Sensory Loss and Impairment .......................................................................................... 151 

17. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence .................................. 166 

18. Substance Misuse ............................................................................................................ 181 

19. Secure Estate.................................................................................................................... 195 

20. Asylum Seekers and Refugees ......................................................................................... 213 

21. Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) ....................................................................... 226 

22. Appendix .......................................................................................................................... 235 

23. Glossary ............................................................................................................................ 237 

24. Acknowledgements .......................................................................................................... 239 

25. References ....................................................................................................................... 240 

  

Page 2185



   

 

4 

1. Executive Summary  
 

Background  
This is the second Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, 
following the first published in 2017. The Population Needs Assessments (PNA) are required 
under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and must contain an assessment 
of the needs for care and support amongst the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, and the range and level of services required to meet that need. The Act 
specifically asks for an assessment of nine named themes within the population, and allows 
for consideration of other themes relevant to the local area. These are presented here as 
individual chapters.  
 
The PNA should be read alongside the complementary Well-being Assessments for Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan to gain a comprehensive understanding of the region. The Well-
being Assessments, required under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, 
investigate social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of an area, which 
provide a detailed overview of the wider determinants of health.  
 

Methods 
The PNA was undertaken between May 2021 and March 2022, and provides an update of 
the 2017 report. A number of different approaches were taken to collect information to 
provide a holistic and comprehensive assessment. Firstly, existing data, reports, and 
research were identified from a range of sources, including data from health, local 
authorities and third sector organisations. Dedicated engagement was carried out, including 
surveys for the general adult population, children and young people, residents of HMP 
Cardiff, and for professionals and providers. Twenty-three focus groups were conducted, led 
and supported by local third sector organisations. The branding developed for the 2017 
Population Needs Assessment “amser siarad” / “let’s talk” was used for the citizen 
engagement.  
 
Professional leads were identified from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities, 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and other organisations where appropriate, in 
order to understand the context of each theme, and help guide the data collection and 
interpretation.  
 
The assessment was overseen by a dedicated Steering Group, with representatives from 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board, the Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board, and those working on the Market 
Stability Report. The group reported to the Regional Partnership Board.  
 

Demography  
The population of both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan has continued to increase, driven 
mostly by the 16-64 year-old age group, who now make up 65% of the population. One in 
five (18%) are aged under 18 in both local authorities, but the Vale of Glamorgan has a 

Page 2186



   

 

5 

higher proportion aged 65+ (21% compared to 14% in Cardiff). The total population is 
expected to increase further over the next two decades, with an increasing proportion of 
those aged 65+. The Vale of Glamorgan is projected to have the second largest whole 
population growth by percentage of local authorities in Wales.   
 
The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there are areas of 
established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the “Southern Arc” 
in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against the WIMD.  
 

Key findings  
Relevant findings for each population group are presented in the relevant chapter. Cross-
cutting findings, those identified across multiple population groups, are presented below. 
Chapters should be considered together, as people may feel part of more than one theme.  
 
Improvements in care and support services have been made across all population groups 
since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, despite the challenges of COVID-19. COVID-19 
has had a number of impacts, including increasing demand for services, especially mental 
health, and changing models of delivery for many services.  
 

Care and support needs  
Individual  

 People’s independence must be maintained and facilitated within decisions for care 
and support, employment and accommodation. Any such decisions should be based 
on consultation and co-production with the person they affect 

Community  

 Social isolation was identified in the 2017 PNA and has been exacerbated for many 
due to COVID-19, with far-reaching consequences for physical and mental health and 
well-being   

 Holistic approach to physical and mental health, such as improved access to services 
including reduction in waiting lists  

 Information provision; many people were unaware of support available to them and 
would benefit from increased signposting 

Wider determinants  

 Employment (paid or voluntary) was desired by many – to improve personal 
finances, as well as to provide a sense of purpose, reduce isolation, and to help 
protect people’s mental health and well-being 

 Housing and accommodation needs to be available, accessible, safe, and supportive 
of what matters most to the individual, for example, an enabling employment. 
Prevention and early help for homeless people needs to be enhanced 

 Inequalities were discussed in all chapters, especially in terms of socio-economic 
deprivation, access to services, and health outcomes. COVID-19 has had a 
disproportionate impact across the population, in part due to pre-existing 
inequalities in the social determinants of health that have been exacerbated by 
COVID-19 and restrictions 

 

Page 2187



   

 

6 

Range and level of services  
Prevention  
The following were identified as being able to prevent needs arising or escalating, and may 
facilitate improved outcomes for people:  

 Healthy behaviours such as physical activity to improve mental well-being and 
prevent falls 

 Early identification, diagnosis, and intervention to support people at the right time, 
and promote better outcomes 

 Social support, including maintenance of a social role, and digital inclusion 

 Advocacy to enable people to express their views and wishes 

 Care focussed on delivering services as close to people’s homes as possible 
 

Assets to support well-being  

 Individual sources of support across all groups included friends, families, and hobbies  

 Local community support like community groups, neighbours, and community-based 
organisations including religious places of worship, choirs, and places to exercise  

 Local authority, NHS, and third sector services (both on a national and local 
footprint) were praised throughout engagement work  

 People with lived experience providing peer support (face to face or online) or as 
service providers were identified as important assets; and supported the need for 
inclusive recruitment across all sectors 

 Service users, professional leads, and providers identified the need for sustainable 
funding of statutory and third sector organisations to maintain and develop their 
services 

 
Community services 
A whole system approach to care and support provision should prioritise:  

 Continuity of care: for example, in transition from children’s to adult services; 
between NHS services; between prison services and health and local authority 
services following release; leaving military service; and joined up services between 
public, private and third sector providers for a “seamless” experience for service 
users  

 Equitable, accessible, and inclusive services, where access is tailored to the 
individual. For example, through interpreter provision; letters provided in large print; 
offering choice of face to face, telephone, or online services; and culturally sensitive 
services 

 Timely access to high quality care and support services 

 Respite care provision which is flexible and accessible to those who need it  

 Increased awareness of services available and the scope of their practice amongst 
service providers so that they can signpost  

 The social model of disability should underpin services; and language used should be 
respectful 

 Co-production at the heart of decisions  

Page 2188



   

 

7 

Partnership approach 
Many respondents to engagement work did not ask for traditional care and support 
services, but identified that their needs could be met through:  

 Supportive employers and access to education, through provision of reasonable 
adjustments and inclusive recruitment, for example 

 Accommodation provision which gives individuals choice, including over location, 
and supports independence 

 A welcoming community and an enabling wider environment. People considered 
their communities as assets, but improvements remain to be made to increase 
awareness of the needs of others. For example, considerate use of public spaces for 
disabled people; bystander awareness of violence against women and domestic 
abuse; and accessible transport options 

 

What happens next  
The findings of this 2022 Population Need Assessment will be used to plan future “deep 
dive” research, strategic commissioning plans, and inform both the Market Stability Report 
and the Area Plan. As the COVID-19 pandemic and restrictions continue, some of the needs 
identified may be exacerbated further, and disproportionately so, for some population 
groups. The findings presented should therefore be considered in the context of continuing 
change. What is evident, however, is the need for all stakeholders to work closely together, 
and consider the person at the heart of their work.  
 
 

  

Page 2189



   

 

8 

2. Background to the Population Needs 
Assessment  
 

Legal Requirement 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 placed a duty on local authorities and 
Local Health Boards to firstly undertake an assessment of the care and support needs of the 
population, including carers who need support. Secondly, an assessment of the range and 
level of services required to meet those needs is required. The Population Needs 
Assessment (PNA) should place well-being at its core, and align with the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (1).  
  
The Population Needs Assessment should work towards the development of preventive, 
integrated, people-centred health and care services (1). The assessment will underpin 
regional plans and priorities for care and support service provision, for example, the Market 
Stability Report and the regional Area Plan. The first Population Needs Assessment was 
published in April 2017, with the publication of an Area Plan in March 2018.  
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
This Population Needs Assessment encompasses the Local Authorities of Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan. Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board was established to support 
and develop partnership working. Membership includes the City of Cardiff Council, Vale of 
Glamorgan Council, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Third Sector Council, 
and Glamorgan Voluntary Service (2).    
 

Themes  
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires the Population Needs 
Assessment to consider certain “themes”, with scope to include further themes as relevant 
to the local region. The following themes are a statutory requirement:  

 Children and young people 

 Health / physical disabilities 

 Learning disability / autism 

 Mental health 

 Carers who need support 

 Sensory impairment 

 Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

 Secure estate  

 Older people 
The following themes have been additionally included as they are of local importance:  

 Asylum seekers and refugees  

 Substance misuse  

 Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) 
 

Page 2190



   

 

9 

Many people living in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan may consider themselves to belong 
in more than one of the themes listed. This has been acknowledged within each of the 
chapters in this assessment. Each chapter in this report suggests further related chapters to 
provide the reader with a comprehensive overview of the topic area.  
 
The legislation requires an assessment of housing and accommodation, and so these 
findings have been presented within each population group. The recent Supplementary 
Guidance (3) advises that the impact of COVID-19 and consideration of the new Socio-
Economic Duty (which came into effect in March 2021) is included in the PNA. These 
findings have been incorporated into each chapter. The Socio-Economic Duty is reflected 
within each chapter under the subheading “Deprivation”.  
 

Welsh Language and Equality Profile 
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 requires the PNA to establish the Welsh 
language community profile, and that the linguistic profile of the communities is 
incorporated into service planning and delivery (1). This should include profiling of the need 
for care and support services to be provided in Welsh, including the range and level of 
services required and gaps in current provision. This, and other language and 
communication needs are included in these sections where relevant, to aid person-centred 
service planning, under the subheading “Language and communication”.  
 
The Act requires that an Equality Impact Assessment must be conducted during the PNA 
process, including assessment of the protected characteristics of: age, race, sex and sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, religion and beliefs, marriage 
and civil partnership, disability (1). The complementary Equality and Health Impact 
Assessment is available as a separate document (4). 
 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015  
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Services Board 
(PSB) to produce a Well-being Assessment. There are two PSBs in the area covered by this 
PNA: Cardiff, and the Vale of Glamorgan. Well-being Assessments must investigate social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of the area. Therefore, these reports 
provide detail on the wider determinants of health. For a comprehensive understanding of 
the region, this PNA should be read alongside the Well-being Assessments for Cardiff, and 
the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 

Market Stability Report  
The Market Stability Report is an assessment of the overall sufficiency of care and support, 
and of the stability of the market for regulated services. It includes care homes (adult and 
children), secure accommodation, fostering and adoption services, advocacy, and 
domiciliary support as well as some non-regulated care and support services (5). The Market 
Stability Report builds on intelligence gathered from the PNA. The first Market Stability 
Report is due for publication in summer 2022. 
 

Page 2191



   

 

10 

Starting Well, Living Well, Ageing Well  
This report is set out in line with the three Regional Programme Board (RPB) programmes: 
Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing Well.  
 
The Regional Outcomes Framework for Cardiff and Vale sets out the values, strategic aims, 
and eight core outcomes for the Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board (6). The PNA 
must be informed by the National Outcomes Framework (1), and so alignment between the 
National and Regional Outcome Frameworks was identified during the Population Needs 
Assessment (Appendix 1). 
 

  

Page 2192



   

 

11 

3. Methods 
 

Timeframe  
The assessment was undertaken during the period May 2021 to March 2022. 
 

Methods used  
Methods were based on the 2017 Population Needs Assessment and updated for this 
report. The COVID-19 pandemic has influenced how communications and engagement 
events can be run. Engagement conducted for the Population Needs Assessment needed to 
adhere with and anticipate future guidelines and legislation, as well as consider people’s 
individual wishes. A number of different approaches were taken to obtain the information 
required including gathering existing data, assessments and reports, as well as conducting 
bespoke engagement work for this Population Needs Assessment.  
 
Engagement work, to gather qualitative data, utilised the existing “amser siarad” / “let’s 
talk” branding which was also used for the 2017 Population Needs Assessment. A list of 
supporting organisations can be found in Chapter 24 Acknowledgments.   
 

Public surveys  
Three public surveys were developed: 

 Adults in the general public (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)  

 Children and young people (available online, hard copy, and Easy Read)  

 Adults in Her Majesty’s Prison (HMP) Cardiff (available as hard copy) 
 
The surveys were based upon those used in 2017 and updated to reflect the additional 
requirements. All surveys in all formats were available in English and Welsh. The children 
and young people survey was piloted by members of Cardiff Youth Board, and updated in 
line with their feedback.  
 
Surveys were live between 17 September 2021 and 17 October 2021. The link to the online 
surveys (and details of how to request hard copies) were disseminated through a variety of 
organisations, including Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of 
Glamorgan Council, Glamorgan Voluntary Services, Cardiff Third Sector Council, as well as 
through organisations working in health and social care services, education, and youth 
services. The survey was advertised through social media, and was seen by 68,000 people 
on Facebook resulting in 241 people clicking on the link; and by 9,126 people on Twitter, 
with 66 people clicking the link. Several third sector organisations kindly helped people with 
completion, for example, through provision of digital access and translation into other 
languages.  
 
A total of 661 general adult surveys were returned. Based on postcode, 402 were from 
Cardiff and 105 from the Vale of Glamorgan. A total of 191 adult respondents of the public 
survey would like to be involved in future engagement work. 
 

Page 2193



   

 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 3.1. A map of location 
of survey respondents.  
 

For the children and young people survey, 35 were returned. Cardiff Research Centre 
conducted the analysis of results for these surveys. Three adult and no children and young 
people Easy Read surveys were returned. 
 
In HMP Cardiff, 400 paper copies of the survey were distributed between 28 September 
2021 and 8 October 2021; with 96 completed returns.  
 

Focus group discussions  
A focus group topic guide was developed from the requirements of the Population Needs 
Assessment (1) (3), and used the National Outcome Framework well-being outcome 
statements as anchors from which to initiate discussion (7). Topic areas were discussed with 
focus groups as relevant to the population (for example, a focus on communication in the 
sensory loss groups).  A list of the focus groups, including numbers of attendees, is given in 
the Appendix, and organisations supporting the establishment and running of focus groups 
are presented in the Acknowledgements.  
 
A total of 23 focus groups were held. These were conducted by Cardiff Third Sector Council 
with support from Glamorgan Voluntary Services and third sector organisations. Three 
planned groups did not take place as either no participants could be identified, or the 
provider withdrew. A total of 132 people attended the focus groups (range 1-12, average 6 
attendees). Although groups were small and cannot be representative of the population 
group, they do provide depth of insight.  
 

Professional and Provider Survey  
A survey for professionals and providers of care and support in the region was developed, 
based on the survey used in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment. It was available online 
and as hard copy, in English and Welsh, from 17 September 2021 until 17 October 2021. 
Awareness of the survey was raised through the same mechanisms as the public surveys. 
Cardiff Research Centre analysed the results.  
 

Page 2194



   

 

13 

The survey received 118 responses. Two-thirds were from an individual health or social care 
professional, with one-quarter completed on behalf of a group or organisation. Twenty 
percent of responses were from a staff member at Cardiff Council, and 12% from Vale of 
Glamorgan Council. Twenty percent of responses were from the health service employees, 
19% from staff working for an independent care provider, and 20% were employees at a 
charity or third sector organisation.   
 

Population and Service data  
Existing data were taken from a number of sources. To improve cohesion between the Well-
being Assessments and the PNA, the same indicators were used where possible, for 
example, in the Demography chapter. Indicators reported in the 2017 Population Needs 
Assessment were included in this report where relevant and where up to date information 
was available. Additional indicators and data were identified through review of data 
catalogues produced by Social Care Wales, and the Well-being Assessments. Discussion with 
professional leads identified further sources of information for inclusion. At the time of 
writing, data from the 2021 Census was awaited and therefore could not be included in this 
assessment.  
 

Existing reports and assessments 
Where possible, existing reports and assessments were incorporated to develop a 
comprehensive assessment of the needs of the population. Background information such as 
policies, strategies, and research reports were collated to understand the contextual 
environment. These were identified by professional leads; through review of relevant 
organisational webpages (for example, Welsh Government or third sector organisations 
websites); and literature review. Effort has been made to identify data specific to Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan. However, a great deal of research is conducted at a Wales-wide 
or wider level, and so findings have been included in this regional assessment where it is felt 
that findings may be applicable and relevant locally.  
 

Professional leads 
For each chapter in the PNA, professional leads were identified from Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan local authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, and other 
organisations where appropriate to provide expert insight into the topic area. Professional 
leads (who are referred to throughout this report as “professional leads”) identified key 
changes since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, and key areas for investigation for 
this iteration of the assessment. Findings were shared with professional leads in November 
2021 for their comment and feedback. Emerging findings were discussed with leads of the 
Well-being Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 

Oversight of the Population Needs Assessment 
A steering group was established for the Population Needs Assessment which met on a 
monthly basis. The group reported to the Strategic Leadership Group, which reports to the 
Regional Partnership Board. Membership included a strategic lead and a data lead from 
each Local Authority; representatives from Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff 
and Vale Regional Partnership Board including a Communications and Engagement 

Page 2195



   

 

14 

representative, Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health Team, Cardiff Third Sector Council, 
Glamorgan Voluntary Services, and the Market Stability Report. The group was chaired by 
the representatives from Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health Team.  
 
Steering Group meetings informed the PNA development process, as well as alignment with 
the Market Stability Report, Well-being Assessments, and other assessments and plans. 
Regular meetings with representatives from the Well-being Assessments and Market 
Stability Reports were conducted in between Steering Group meetings to improve cohesion 
between assessments.  
 

Limitations of the assessment 
COVID-19 has had a tremendous impact on population needs, which this assessment will 
detail. Due to uncertainty of the future evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic in terms of 
restrictions and risks at each stage of the Population Needs Assessment, a cautious 
approach was taken. For example, engagement work was planned in an online format, with 
opportunities for face to face interactions in the focus group where legislation allowed, and 
where participants and hosting organisations felt comfortable. The tight timeline within 
which engagement work needed to be conducted reduced participation in both surveys and 
focus groups. Where possible, data from engagement work has been triangulated with 
information from other sources. The complementary Equalities and Health Impact 
Assessment identifies population groups who may have been underrepresented in this 
assessment (4). The Regional Partnership Board is developing its Communications and 
Engagement strategy which will address these difficulties and gaps, and will incorporate 
lessons learned. For example, some residents may not have digital access and may not wish 
to engage in face-to-face engagement, and so their views will continue to be sought in 
future work.  
 
Some planned focus groups could not be held as no participants could be identified in the 
available time. The focus group for autistic adults became an interview with one individual; 
the substance misuse focus group included only two participants. Future engagement work 
will consider how best to garner the views of these population groups, working with 
partnerships that lead service commissioning and delivery in such arenas.  
 
Limitations on publicly available quantitative data were noted, with some indicators last 
updated before COVID-19. The 2021 Census data will be available in spring 2022, which will 
be incorporated into future updates of the Population Needs Assessment.  
 

Equality and Health Impact Assessment  
The Code of Practice requests that an Equality Impact Assessment is conducted as part of 
the Population Needs Assessment (1). No negative impacts from any of the protected or 
health characteristics were identified, but it was recognised that engagement work did not 
capture a representative sample of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, 
with under-representation from people who are trans; women who are expecting a baby, 
on a break from work after having a baby, or breastfeeding; people who are from an ethnic 
minority background; people who consider themselves: Buddhist, Hindu, Jewish, Muslim, or 

Page 2196



   

 

15 

Sikh; those whose disability meant they were physically unable to participate in engagement 
and did not have an individual who could speak for them; and Gypsies and travellers. In 
addition, there was under-representation from people who are digitally excluded. The 
Equality and Health Impact Assessment is available as a separate document (4). 
 

Recommendations for the Population Needs Assessment in future 
The PNA Steering Group decided to take a novel approach to future iterations of the 
Population Needs Assessment. The Population Needs Assessment should ideally contain up 
to date data, be of local use and value, and with the vision of becoming a “living resource”. 
This is of particular importance due to the ongoing evolving impact of COVID-19. As a first 
step towards this, future Population Needs Assessments for Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan will further develop this assessment and take a hybrid approach: a rolling update 
of quantitative data, and an intermittent update of qualitative data through bespoke 
engagement work. This approach aims to balance the need for relevant and timely 
information, within the resource requirements. Key data sources will be included as they 
become available, for example, the 2021 Census data will be published in spring 2022. 
 
Liaison with Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Council, and the Regional Outcomes Framework will take place in order to 
develop a robust and regular reporting mechanism for quantitative indicators. 
 
The Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board will continually engage with the population 
to make sure that people are involved with their decisions. This will ensure that all their 
work is based on the priorities and experiences of people who use services and community 
spaces, now and in the future. The three programme areas of Starting Well, Living Well, and 
Ageing Well, will engage with children, young people and adults to ensure lived experiences 
shape services across the region. The programmes will ensure this includes the full range of 
voices from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan’s diverse population to build in the wide 
range of experiences and needs people have when making any developments. 
 

Next steps  
Recommendations for each chapter were developed based on the triangulation of data, and 
are by no means exhaustive. Recommendations include addressing identified unmet needs 
and strengthening successful initiatives. Data gaps exist for each population group and 
further insight development may be required as a first action. This will include discussions 
between the Regional Partnership Board, which oversees the Population Needs Assessment, 
the Public Services Boards (which oversee the Well-being Assessments), and other partners. 
 
The Regional Partnership Board will ensure that relevant organisations work together to 
respond to the assessment findings. Local authorities are required to use this assessment 
within their service provision (1). 
 
The Market Stability Report will further develop the findings of the Population Needs 
Assessment to both undertake a Market Sufficiency Assessment and to understand the 
market stability. The Cardiff and Vale Area Plan will be developed based on the findings of 

Page 2197



   

 

16 

this Population Needs Assessment, alongside other local plans. In addition, initial healthcare 
demand modelling will be conducted locally to investigate prevalence and incidence of 
health conditions, and frailty in older age, with respect to projected changes in local 
demography, in order to model the demand on future health services.  
 

  

Page 2198



   

 

17 

4. Demography  
 

Current population structure  
The populations of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are increasing. In 2020, there were 
369,202 people living in Cardiff, and 135,295 in the Vale of Glamorgan (8). This is an 
increase of 11,706 people in Cardiff and 7,315 in the Vale of Glamorgan following the 2017 
PNA (8). This change has been driven by the 16-64 age group who now make up 65% of the 
population, with that proportion being slightly higher in Cardiff than the Vale of Glamorgan. 
In both local authority areas, 18% of the population are aged under 16, which is a 2.7% 
decrease from 1991. This is likely reflective of a decrease in fertility rate and an increase in 
the number (and proportion) of older people. The Vale of Glamorgan has a higher 
proportion of those aged 65+ (21% compared to 14% in Cardiff). These changes are shown 
in Figures 4.1 and 4.2.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.1. 
Population of Cardiff 
by age group, 1991-
2020 
Source: ONS (9) 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.2. 
Population of the 
Vale of Glamorgan 
by age group, 1991-
2020 
Source: ONS (9) 
 

 
Figures 4.3-4.4 demonstrate the age structure in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in 2018 
and that projected for 2043. In 2018, there were a higher proportion of people aged 16-44 
in Cardiff, and a higher proportion of people aged 45 and over in the Vale of Glamorgan. 
This reflects, in part, the number of students in Cardiff (10). 
 

Anticipated population change 
The populations in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are expected to continue to increase, 
and a larger proportion will be aged 65+. Based on the 2018 population projections, over 

Page 2199



   

 

18 

the next decade the Vale of Glamorgan is anticipated to experience the second largest 
percentage population growth of any local authority area (after Newport) with a projected 
growth of 6%. By 2043, the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is projected to 
have a greater proportion of people aged 65+, who will make up 20% of the population (a 
4% increase from 2018) (11) . Those aged 65 years and above made up 14% of the 
population in Cardiff in 2018, and 21% in the Vale of Glamorgan (21% for Wales). By 2043, 
this is expected to be 18%, 27%, and 26% respectively (11). Figures 4.3 and 4.4 compare the 
2018 population age structure with the anticipated population in 2043, and demonstrate 
the increase in people aged over 65. It should be noted that population projections are 
developed based on assumptions on the determinants of population change (i.e., births, 
deaths, and migration), which are themselves based on historical trends, and do not allow 
for the impacts of future changes, for example, due to government policy. Migration 
projections are based on the previous 5 years and do not include short term migrants, i.e., 
those resident under 12 months. Projections become increasingly uncertain the further into 
the future they project (10). Therefore, projections should be interpreted with caution and 
reviewed periodically.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.3. Comparison 
of population structure 
by age in Cardiff in 2018 
with the projected 
population in 2043  
Source: Stats Wales (10)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2200



   

 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.4. Comparison 
of population structure 
by age in the Vale of 
Glamorgan in 2018 with 
the projected population 
in 2043 
Source: Stats Wales (10) 
 

 
Drivers of population change  
Births 
Since 2013 the number of births per year has declined for Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, in line with the picture across Wales (12). The General Fertility Rate has 
decreased between 2013 and 2019, from 56% to 44% in Cardiff, and from 61% to 53% 
(currently equal to the Welsh average) in the Vale of Glamorgan (11). Figures 4.5 and 4.6 
show the age specific fertility rate over by age group, between 2013 and 2019. Of note, the 
age specific fertility rate has decreased over this period for all age groups under 34 years. 
Projections indicate that the recent downward trend in births (2010 – 2020) will remain 
relatively stable for approximately the next 10 years, and then follow a slight upward trend. 
It is projected that beyond 10 years, in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, there will be an 
increase of approximately 10% in terms of the number of births in the area by 2043. This 
compares with a Wales-wide increase of approximately 5% across the same period. A 
number of factors influence fertility projections, such as fertility rates, age structure of the 
population, migration (migrants are concentrated at young adult ages), as well as other 
factors (13). Note that projections become less accurate the further into future they project, 
so these figures must be interpreted with caution.  

Page 2201



   

 

20 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.5. A graph of age-
specific fertility rate in 
Cardiff, by age group, from 
2013 to 2019  
Source: ONS (12) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.6. A graph of age-
specific fertility rate in the 
Vale of Glamorgan, by age 
group, from 2013 to 2019 
Source: ONS (12) 
 
 
 
 
Deaths 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 4.7. Age-
standardised mortality rate 
between 2013 and 2020, 
for Cardiff, the Vale of 
Glamorgan, and Wales  
Source: ONS (14) 
 

 
The age-standardised mortality rate for the Vale of Glamorgan is significantly below that of 
Cardiff (which is almost equal to the Wales-wide average). An increase in both the absolute 
number of deaths as well as the age-standardised mortality rate is observed for 2020, due 
to COVID-19. Figure 4.7 demonstrates an increase in age-standardised mortality rate in 

Page 2202



   

 

21 

2020, corresponding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Measures of excess deaths compare 
deaths in 2020, to the 2015-2019 average deaths for the same week. Excess deaths have 
been predominantly due to COVID-19. Across Wales, the first and second waves of COVID-
19 are clear, with excess deaths of over 400 per week (where COVID-19 was mentioned on 
the death certificate). The lower numbers of COVID-19 deaths since July 2021 are thought to 
be in part due to high vaccination coverage. Non-COVID-19 deaths have been mostly below 
average between November 2020 and April 2021, and have been closer to average between 
April and September 2021 (15).  

 
Figure 4.8. Excess mortality in Cardiff (top) and the Vale of Glamorgan (bottom) for COVID-
19 related deaths, and non-COVID-19 related deaths. Source: Public Health Wales 
Observatory (16) 
 

Page 2203



   

 

22 

Figure 4.8 demonstrates excess mortality for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, which 
follows a similar pattern as for all Wales for both COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related 
deaths (16).  
 
Migration  
Cardiff has seen total net in-migration for a number of years, which is driven by high levels 
of international in-migration. The Vale of Glamorgan has also seen total net in-migration for 
a number of years, driven by migration within the UK. Between Wales and the rest of the 
UK, inward migration has generally exceeded outward migration since 2001 in the Vale of 
Glamorgan, whereas outward migration to the rest of the UK has been marginally greater in 
Cardiff in most years since 2001 (17). Over the next 15 years in Cardiff, net in-migration is 
anticipated, followed by 10 years of net out-migration (mainly driven by movement within 
the UK). The Vale of Glamorgan is projected to have consistent levels of total net in-
migration, driven by internal UK migration.  
 

Healthy Life Expectancy  

 
Figure 4.9. Healthy life expectancy at birth for males (left) and females (right), between 
2011/13 and 2017/19. Source: ONS (18) 
 
Healthy life expectancy at birth for males in Cardiff has increased over time and is currently 
above the Welsh average, whereas for females, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen 
overall from the 2011-13 position, but has been rising steadily from following a low point in 
2015-17 (18). 
 
In the Vale of Glamorgan, healthy life expectancy at birth for males has fallen by almost 4.5 
years between 2011 and 2019, and is currently slightly below the Wales average. For 
females, healthy life expectancy at birth has fallen by 4 years from a peak in 2013-15 (18). 
 

Page 2204



   

 

23 

Deprivation  
The 2017 PNA identified the stark inequalities between areas within Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, with no evidence that the gap between the most affluent and most deprived 
was reducing. The COVID-19 pandemic has shone a spotlight on inequalities as a root cause 
of the increased morbidity and mortality seen in some communities and the burden of 
restrictions falling on some people who are in the most vulnerable situations. This is 
explored in more detail in the Director of Public Health Annual Report, including differences 
in mortality, vaccination coverage, employment, and housing (19).     
 

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there are areas of 
established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the ‘Southern Arc’ 
in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against WIMD. In Cardiff, 
39 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are included in top 10% most deprived in Wales, 
while 3 LSOAs in the Vale of Glamorgan are ranked in the top 10% most deprived area in 
Wales (20).  
 
In Cardiff, around one-fifth of residents live in the most deprived 10% LSOAs, and 
approximately 50% of Cardiff's population live in the 50% least deprived LSOAs (105 LSOAs), 
while for the Vale of Glamorgan, 65% live in the 50% least deprived areas (28 LSOAs) (21). 
Amongst children aged 0-4 years, Cardiff has both the most and least deprived middle super 
output areas in Wales, with income deprivation rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and 
Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East (22).  
 

Figure 4.10. 
Cardiff and 
the Vale of 
Glamorgan 
LSOAs. 
Produced by 
Cardiff 
Council 
using 2019 
Welsh Index 
of Multiple 
Deprivation 
Overall 
Ranks, 
Welsh 
Government 
(21) 
 

 

Ethnicity 
The Annual Population Survey identified an increase from 10.4% in 2004 to 20.1% in 2020 of 
people in Cardiff who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group. The Vale of 

Page 2205



   

 

24 

Glamorgan has seen a small increase in people who are Black, Asian, or from a minority 
ethnic group over the same time period (23). 
 

Language 
The 2011 Census identified that most (98.4%) of residents in the Vale of Glamorgan have 
English or Welsh as their main language. This is slightly higher than the Wales average 
(97.1%). Across Wales, Cardiff has the lowest proportion of people speaking English or 
Welsh as their first language at 91.7% (24) .

Page 2206



   

 

25 

5. Children and Young People  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People with Complex Needs; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term 
Conditions; Physical Disability; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss 
and Impairment; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Secure Estate 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Adopt the NEST Framework and No Wrong Door approach 

 Strengthen actions to ensure information is accessible to children and young people; 
and they are invited to co-produce services so they are person-centred, and help 
children and young people feel valued   

 Monitor emerging literature on long COVID in children and young people 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to promote preventative strategies including routine immunisations   

 Continue to develop partnerships with Education services and embed the whole 
school approach to emotional health and wellbeing 

 Increase funding available to mental health services for children and young people  
(25) 

 Target waiting list times, especially for children and young people’s mental health 
services 

 Develop Integrated Model for Emotional Health and Well-being for Cardiff and Vale 
 
 
 
 

5.1   Overview 
Children and young people will be considered in this PNA as those aged up to 18 years of 
age, although age cut offs and ranges vary between services and policies. Children and 
young people may be included within many of the other population groups within this 
report. Children and young people with complex needs are discussed in chapter 6, and 
children looked after in chapter 7.  
 
Table 5.1 demonstrates the number of children and young people in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, by age group, and as a percentage of the total population of the local authority. 
Cardiff has higher numbers of children and young people, but for those aged 0-4 and 5-15, 
the proportion of the population is similar to the Vale of Glamorgan. Cardiff has a higher 
proportion of young people aged 16-24 years (see also Chapter 4: Demography). 
 

Page 2207



   

 

26 

Table 5.1. The number (and percent of total population of local authority area) of 
children and young people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, by age group, in 2020 

 0-4 years 5-15 years 16-24 years 

Cardiff 20,417 (6%) 47,578 (13%) 61,111 (17%) 
Vale of Glamorgan  7,003 (5%) 17,914 (13%) 12,552 (9%) 

Source: Stats Wales (8) 
 
The Pupil Level Annual School Census (for children aged 5 – 15 years) from 2020/21 
identifies 51% pupils as male, 49% female in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, as per 
the Wales average (26). In Wales, 13% of children aged 5-15 years identify as from a Black, 
Asian, or minority ethnic group. This is 11% in Vale of Glamorgan; whereas Cardiff has a 
notably more diverse population with 36% from a Black, Asian, or minority ethnic group 
Cardiff (26) (note that the Annual Population Survey reports that 20% of the total 
population of Cardiff identify as from a Black, Asian, or minority ethnic group) (23). 
 
Young carers  
Young carers are children and young people under 18 years of age who provide care for 
someone else who has support needs, for example, due to a physical or mental health 
problem, a physical or learning disability, or substance misuse (27). Young adult carers are 
between the ages of 16 and 24. Their needs are considered in Chapter 15. The 2011 Census 
identified 1,579 young carers in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but this is known to be 
an underestimation (28). The 2021 Census will provide updated figures when it is published 
in 2022. The YMCA Young Carers project supported 51 young carers in 2017/18, and 114 in 
2020/21 in the Vale of Glamorgan (29).  In Cardiff, the project supported 276 young carers in 
2017/18, and 277 in 2020/21 (30). Of the 35 survey respondents, 11% (n=4) were young 
carers.  
 
Across Wales, in 2018/19, 895 assessments of need for support for young carers were 
undertaken, of which 2 were in Cardiff, and 16 in the Vale of Glamorgan. This compares to 
19 and 12 respectively in 2016/17 (31).   
 
Engagement 
Information for this chapter is taken from a range of reports and data sources. Thirty-five 
children and young people responded to the children and young people survey; and 30 
respondents to the provider survey provided support for children and young people.  
 

5.2   What has changed since 2017?  
5.2.1   Pre-COVID-19  
The following national initiatives have taken place since the 2017 PNA:  

 The Children’s Commissioner for Wales’s report, No Wrong Door, in 2020 (32)  

 The NEST Framework in 2021 (33) - more detail provided below  

 The Additional Learning Needs and Educational Tribunal Act, which was launched in 
September 2021, and places the needs of children and young people at the centre of 
decisions for education through Individual Development Plans, and sets out the 
rights for appeal for decisions (34) 

Page 2208



   

 

27 

 The Integrated Care Fund (launched 2016/17) has changed remit over its course, 
enabling the funding of additional work streams (see details in relevant subthemes). 
The Transformation Fund (launched 2018) aimed to promote innovation; however, 
remaining funds have since been redirected to COVID-19 (32) 
 

Regionally, the following have been implemented:  

 Cardiff was the first city in Wales to develop the Child Friendly City Strategy in 2018. 
The UNICEF initiative includes the aims of empowering children and young people to 
understand their rights; and providing equality of opportunity and high-quality 
education (35).  

 The Vale of Glamorgan Council supports the delivery of the Rights Ambassador 
programme which raises awareness of children’s rights with children and young 
people across Vale schools   

 The Cardiff Children’s Services Strategy anticipates future challenges, and includes 
early help, social care, safeguarding, and children and young people with complex 
needs (36)  

 The Vale of Glamorgan Children and Young People Services Service Plan includes 
social care, as well as early years such as Flying Start, the Youth Offending Service, 
and Families Achieving Change Together (37) 

 In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Standards and Provision Service Plan (38) includes the 
Youth Service and the Rights Ambassador Programme, educational attainment 
including reducing school absence rates, and addresses issues arising from the 
impact of COVID-19 on schools and pupils 

 The Cardiff Additional Learning Needs Strategy 2018-22 sets out a framework for 
action to implement the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) 
Act (39) 

  The Vale of Glamorgan Additional Learning Needs and Well-being Service Plan (40), 
which implements the Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 
to support those aged up to 25 years who have additional learning needs. The Plan 
also includes safeguarding, partnership work to improve service delivery, and a 
whole school approach to promote well-being  
 

5.2.1   COVID-19 
The following themes were identified from the literature and engagement work as having 
been particularly impacted by COVID-19 or the restrictions, which were first introduced in 
March 2020.  
 
Direct impacts of COVID-19  
Between March 2020 to October 2021, 69 children and young people were admitted to 
hospital in Cardiff and Vale UHB with a primary diagnosis of COVID-19; of which 7 required 
high dependency or intensive care (41).  
 
Long COVID describes the presence of symptoms four or more weeks after the original 
suspected COVID-19 infection, that were not explained by an alternative cause. Symptoms 
include weakness/tiredness, shortness of breath, and difficulty concentrating. The Office for 

Page 2209



   

 

28 

National Statistics reports the numbers of people living in private households with self-
reported long-COVID by age group, for the UK: 20,000 children aged 2-11 years are 
estimated to have long COVID, 49,000 children and young people aged 12-16 years, and 
142,000 people aged 17-24 years (42). No data are available for long COVID at a local 
authority or health board level at the time of writing.  
 
Service changes due to COVID-19 and restrictions  
The Paediatric Emergency Department saw a marked reduction in attendances (21,317 in 
2020/21, compared to 34,900 in 2019/20). Reasons for attending the Emergency 
Department also changed with fewer accidents, but more thermal injuries/burns, likely 
reflective of spending more time in the home due to lockdown and restrictions (43).  
 
Respondents to the provider survey articulated the increase in mental health needs, 
behaviours of concern, crisis presentations, and the need for respite. Providers reported 
changes in service provision, with closure of some services and switch to virtual provision 
where it was possible. Staff were concerned for future service provision, being unable to 
recover from backlog, increasing waiting lists, and funding difficulties.  
 
Mental health impacts of COVID-19 restrictions 
The pandemic response has had a significant negative impact on children and young people 
in Wales on mental health and well-being; with loneliness, isolation, and parental stress 
contributing (44). More Welsh children have been exposed to Violence Against Women, 
Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV), reflected by increased calls to helplines 
(44). In Wales, adolescents were found to be particularly vulnerable to the mental health 
impacts of pandemic restrictions than younger children or older adults; as were young 
people not in employment, education or training, and people from more deprived areas 
(44). 
 
Regionally, there were increased attendances to the Paediatric Emergency Department for 
mental health disorders such as self-harm, suicidal ideation or attempt, eating disorders, 
and increased behaviours of concern which parents and carers could no longer manage at 
home (43). Increased attendances have put strain on specialist services such as Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) crisis teams (43). Figure 5.1 below shows the 
increase in admissions to hospital for an eating disorder amongst those aged 0-17 years 
(41). Note that these refer to admissions, not patients (there are 86 admissions in total 
between 2016/17 – 2020/21, corresponding to 51 patients).  
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB do not have any inpatient CAMHS beds; inpatient CAMHS services are 
instead provided by Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health Board unless there are exceptional 
circumstances. Children and young people who have an urgent physical medical need or are 
at risk from a physical health perspective as a result of a mental health diagnosis receive 
inpatient care in paediatric wards in Cardiff and Vale UHB (41).  
 

Page 2210



   

 

29 

Figure 5.1. 
Number of 
inpatient 
admissions to 
Cardiff and Vale 
UHB with eating 
disorder, for 
people aged 0-
17 years. 
Source: Cardiff 
and Vale UHB 
(41) 
 

The Director of Public Health for Cardiff and the Vale UHB examines children and young 
people’s mental health in detail in their 2021 annual report, with focus on the impact of 
COVID-19 (19). Supporting emotional well-being and mental health of children and young 
people is a key priority, with reference to the early years being a crucial period of 
development, and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) having a detrimental effect on 
adult mental health (19). 
 
Overlapping and widening inequalities 
The Health and Social Care in Wales update following COVID-19 identifies that often it is the 
same groups of children and young people who are negatively affected by policies 
implemented throughout the pandemic (25). Children who are most vulnerable include: 
children with additional learning needs; ethnic minority children; Welsh medium learners 
who do not speak Welsh at home; children who lack internet access; children with 
developmental delay; and children from deprived areas, especially those with no access to 
outdoor space (25).  
 
The Children’s Commissioner for Wales identified the impacts of lockdown and restrictions 
including: social impact of not seeing friends and family; interruption of education; 
increased exposure to violence at home (reflected by a 50% increase in calls to help lines) 
(45).  
 
Exacerbation of educational needs  
Interruption of schooling was identified in the Children’s Commissioner for Wales’ 
‘Coronavirus and Me’ survey as a negative impact of COVID-19 restrictions. Negative 
consequences include the impact on learning and education on children and young people 
from more deprived areas, who already suffered worse educational outcomes. Lockdown 
and restrictions have widened these outcomes gaps. In this survey only 11% of 12-18 year-
olds stated they were not worried about their education (45), with worries arising from the 
quality and unfamiliarity of the virtual learning environment and communication with 
teachers and schools (44). Challenges around home learning included digital access, the 
home environment, and additional learning needs (45). The importance of school for access 
to emotional health and well-being support was observed; alongside the role of schools in 
providing food and shelter, and promoting a sense of community and belonging (44). The 

Page 2211



   

 

30 

financial impact on families of lockdown and restrictions has increased the number of 
children suffering food insecurity (46), at the same time as decreasing access to school 
meals. Survey respondents were also concerned about the impact on their education.   
 

 
Mitigating negative impacts and promoting positive impacts  
In Wales, protective factors to mitigate the negative impacts of the coronavirus restrictions 
included routines, spending time outdoors, and understanding coronavirus and the 
mechanism of transmission (44). Some positive impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were 
also identified including discovering and enjoying the outdoors; taking up new hobbies; 
spending more time with family; and reduction in pressure from social situations and 
bullying (44) (45).  
 

5.3   What are the care and support needs?  
The following areas were identified as care and support needs for children and young 
people, from literature and engagement work. 
 

5.3.1  Individual  
Young carers 
The 2016 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan ‘Young Carers Speak Out’ report identified a lack of 
awareness of support available to young carers. Professional leads feel that this has now 
improved. A Young Carers Awareness Day was held in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in 
January 2020. The Young Carers in Schools Programme established a Peer Review Panel of 
young carers across South East Wales, who review applications from schools applying for 
one of the three stages of the Young Carers in Schools Programme (28).  Young carers have 
articulated needs with respect to mental health, wanting increased time for themselves to 
be a child or a young person, and support for their education.  
 
Additional vulnerabilities  
Some children may experience additional vulnerabilities if a parent or primary caregiver has 
experienced VAWDASV (see also chapter 17); is imprisoned (see also chapter 19); or has a 
substance misuse problem (see also chapter 18). Unaccompanied asylum seeking children 
are considered in chapter 20. These would all constitute an adverse childhood experience 
(ACE), which are associated with negative impacts across the life course (47).  
 
Children and young people whose parent(s) are currently serving in the armed forces or 
have left military service (see also chapter 21) may experience both positive and negative 
impacts due to moving house, changing schools, making new friends and living abroad. 

“…isolating can mean missing out on important information 
in school which can reduce chances of getting a good 

grade” – young person, survey 

Page 2212



   

 

31 

However, negative impacts were identified around worry for their parent(s) whilst they 
were deployed, and missing their parent(s) (48).  
 
Language and communication  
English was an additional language in 17% of primary school pupils in Cardiff, 3% in the Vale 

of Glamorgan, and 6% across Wales in 2020/21 (26). In Cardiff, most (85%) of primary school 

pupils cannot speak Welsh, but 9% are fluent in Welsh. In the Vale of Glamorgan, 81% 

cannot speak Welsh, and 11% are fluent (49). The survey for this assessment asked what 

languages respondents spoke at home. Most spoke English (n=22, 85%); and three or fewer 

responses were received for speaking English using Augmentative and Alternative 

Communication (AAC), Welsh, Gujarati, and Romanian.  

In Wales, during COVID-19, most children in both Welsh and English-medium schools have 

been able to continue Welsh. In Welsh-medium schools, only 8% aged 7-11 and 15% aged 

12-18 across Wales have not been continuing education in Welsh, and 31% of 7-11 year-olds 

and 26% of 12-18 year-olds in English-medium schools were not receiving opportunities to 

speak Welsh (45). 

It is known that speech, language and communication difficulties in early childhood are 

associated with poor employment outcomes and poor mental health as adults, and are 

more common amongst young offenders, and those in areas of higher deprivation (50). 

Improving language development is one mechanism by which to reduce inequities, and 

break the intergenerational cycle of poor communication skills (51). The national prevalence 

of speech, language and communication difficulties is not known, however, the 2020 school 

census in Wales identified that 20% of children had special educational needs, of whom one 

third had speech, language, and communication difficulties (51). Welsh Government 

published ‘Talk With Me: Speech, Language and Communication Delivery Plan’ in 2020 (51). 

In Cardiff and the Vale, Speech and Language Therapists (SLTs) provide assessment, 

diagnosis and intervention to children and young people who have difficulties with speech, 

language, communication and swallowing difficulties. Services are provided in the family 

home, nurseries and schools, and in healthcare settings. Support ranges from initiatives with 

Flying Start (a Welsh Government programme to improve outcomes amongst children under 

4 years old living in disadvantaged areas in Wales (52)) which aims to prevent difficulties 

and to promote healthy eating habits, to multi-disciplinary specialist team support for 

families to manage the impact of complex and lifelong conditions such as deafness, learning 

disability and autism (41).  

 

5.3.2  Community 
There were 2,940 and 821 assessments of need for care and support undertaken in Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan respectively in 2018/19. This is an increase of 580 and 190, 
respectively, from 2016/17. Of these, in 2018/19, 352 assessments led to a care and support 
plan in Cardiff (data not available for the Vale of Glamorgan) (31). 
 

Page 2213



   

 

32 

Emotional health, mental health, and well-being 
Primary Mental Health (PMH) service demand (for mild to moderate mental health 
concerns) has been found to be cyclical and tended to be associated with return to school 
after holiday periods. The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) attend to 
patients with more severe mental health concerns. Referrals follow a similar pattern to 
Primary Mental Health. The Crisis service sees patients presenting to the Emergency 
Department who require urgent care (41).   
 
Figure 5.2 demonstrates the number of referrals to PMH, CAMHS, and Crisis since April 
2019, and figure 5.3 shows the waiting list length.  
 
 

 
 
 
Figure 5.2. 
Number of 
referrals to 
Primary Mental 
Health, CAMHS, 
and Crisis 
Source: Cardiff 
and Vale UHB 
(41) 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 5.3. 
Waiting list 
length in weeks 
for PMH and 
CAMHS  
Source: Cardiff 
and Vale UHB 
(41) 
 

 
Amongst the 35 respondents to the PNA survey for children and young people, 12% rated 
their well-being as 3 or less out of 10, where 0 was the lowest and 10 the highest. Around 
half reported a score of 7+/10. The most commonly cited everyday problems experienced 
were emotional health (75% respondents); mental health (63% respondents); school (63%); 
and body image (45%).  Two-thirds of survey respondents were worried for the future. 
Respondents were looking forward to taking part in sports/exercise; finishing college; 
gaining independence; getting a job and earning money; meeting new people and seeing 

Page 2214



   

 

33 

new things; and “being happy”. Six respondents wanted additional support to help them 
reach their goals, including help from family, and developing further skills from specialist 
teaching staff. Note that these survey results are not representative, but do support the 
importance of mental health and well-being.  
 
County Lines 
The Cardiff and Vale UHB Safeguarding Annual Report 2020/21 identifies County Lines as a 
national issue, particularly affecting the most vulnerable. Children and young people can be 
targeted and exploited through grooming and threats; intimidating young people into drug-
related criminal activity, and associated violent behaviour such as knife crime. A 
multiagency approach including South Wales Police, Cardiff and Vale UHB, and education 
has been taken to provide training and raise awareness of when to suspect and how to 
manage this phenomenon (43). Chapter 19 has further information on youth justice. 
 

5.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
An evidence review of the human rights of children in Wales identified differential outcomes 

in health risk factors and outcomes, education, and wellbeing depending on socio-economic 

background (53). In terms of health, children aged 4-5 years in the most deprived decile 

were 76% more likely to be obese than those in the least deprived decile. Low birth weight 

and educational deprivation were also associated with income deprivation (54).  

 

Figure 5.4. 

Proportion of the 

population aged 

0-17 years within 

deprivation 

deciles, 2019  

Source: Produced 

by Cardiff Council 

using Welsh 

Government data 

(22) 

 

The most recent Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation report uses 2016/17 data, and found 

that 28% of children in Wales aged 0-4 lived in income deprivation (range 17%-30%). This is 

the highest proportion by age group. Cardiff has the highest number of 0-4 year olds living 

in income deprivation (6,600 children) but sits just above the Welsh average at 29%; the 

Vale of Glamorgan has nearly 2,000 children in income deprivation (23%). Cardiff has both 

the most and least deprived middle super output areas in Wales, with income deprivation 

rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East amongst children aged 0-4 

Page 2215



   

 

34 

years. In both local authorities, this represents a decrease from 2012/13: where Cardiff had 

33% and Vale of Glamorgan 27% of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (22). 

 

Welsh Government published its review on socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of 

outcome in November 2021, and identifies that the attainment gap is evident even in 

primary school. Disadvantaged children are less likely to complete qualifications, and have 

reduced education and financial outcomes compared to non-disadvantaged peers. This 

disadvantaged position is further exacerbated by housing inequalities, for example, through 

lack of suitable environment to complete homework. This is described as having a “cyclical” 

intergenerational impact (55). 

 

Twenty-six respondents of the survey answered questions relating to the Family Affluence 

Scale, also used by the School Health Research Network (56). Questions include whether the 

individual has their own bedroom; the number of computers/smart phones in the home; 

and the presence of a dishwasher. The Scale identified 7 of 26 respondents as low affluence, 

14 as middle, and 5 as high affluence.  

 

Free School Meals 
One-fifth of school-age children in Wales in 2020 were eligible for free school meals, but 

amongst students with special educational needs, 45% were eligible (57). In the three years 

to 2021, 21% of primary school pupils in Wales were eligible for free school meals, with 15% 

in the Vale of Glamorgan and 25% in Cardiff (26). Across Wales, three-quarters of those 

eligible took up free school meals in 2019/20. This is expected to increase with the end of 

the Government furlough scheme (57).  

School exclusion rates are higher for those eligible for free school meals than those not 

eligible (53). Free school meals have been associated with improved nutrition, school 

attendance, and school achievements (46).  The attainment gap in Cardiff between those 

eligible and not eligible for free school meals grows from 10% in Key Stage 2 to 31% in Key 

Stage 4 in 2018 (35). The attainment gap in the Vale of Glamorgan between those eligible 

and not eligible for free school meals grows from 12% in Key Stage 2 to 31% in Key Stage 4 

in 2018 (58). Across Wales in 2017/18, the percent of pupils achieving A*-C was consistently 

lower amongst those eligible for free school meals compared to those not eligible. For 

example, 38% versus 70% in English; and 39% versus 71% in Maths (59).  

 
Education and employment  
Estimates from 2020 suggest between 9-11% of 16-18 year-olds across Wales are not in 

employment, education, or training (NEET) (60). Estimates for those aged 19-24 is 15%. This 

is the result of a gradual decrease in NEET for this age group following a peak of 23% in 

2009-2012 due to the 2008 recession (60). Young people with disabilities, in particular those 

aged 19-24, are more likely to be NEET than those without disabilities. One fifth of disabled 

people are NEET at age 16-18; this is two-fifths at age 19-24 (60).  

Page 2216



   

 

35 

Careers Wales report on pupil destinations using an annual survey of school leavers. Table 

5.2 shows the number of pupils reporting that they are NEET in summer 2020. Note that the 

survey is completed by school leavers, and may therefore underestimate the total number 

of young people who are NEET.  

 

Table 5.2. The number (and percent) of respondents to the annual survey of school leavers 

reporting that they are NEET, summer 2020 

 Year 11 Year 12 Year 13 
 Number % Number % Number % 

Cardiff 67/3,255 2.1 7/1,819 0.4 36/1,366 2.6 
Vale of Glamorgan  13/1,457 0.9 5/794 0.6 21/676 3.1 
Wales 527/30,811 1.7 76/12,222 0.6 355/10,059 3.5 

Source: Careers Wales (61) 

 

The Inspire to Work project in the Vale of Glamorgan was established in 2017 and supports 

young people aged 16-24 who are NEET, to find employment, or educational and training 

opportunities. Support is provided through a variety of mechanisms including 1:1 and group 

sessions, work experiences, and a personal Learning Coach who develops a bespoke action 

plan, based on the person’s individual needs and priorities (58). The Communities for Work 

programme supports young people resident in specific areas of the Vale of Glamorgan find 

employment. Together, both programmes recorded 150 new engagements in the 2020/21 

academic year (58). 

 

In Cardiff, the Into Work Advice Service ties together many employment projects to support 

young people aged 16-24 get into work. Projects offer 1:1 mentoring within local 

community settings, funding for job specific training and barriers faced to employment 

(such as work clothes/PPE) and general advice/guidance to help young people navigate 

often their first steps into employment or a new career. There are tailored projects for 

young people who are homeless or have housing issues, and for those who are looked after 

or care experienced. These project offer extra support, including paid work placements and 

housing information. In the 2020/21 academic year, 819 young people aged 16-24 were 

supported as new engagements (30).  

Of the 35 survey respondents, 66% were in school, 14% in college, 6% employed, 6% at 
university.  
 
Housing  
A notable proportion of the total number of households with dependent children accepted 
as eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need in Wales are in Cardiff: 420 of 864 
households in 2016/17, and 363 of 1,005 households in 2018/19. The Vale of Glamorgan 

Page 2217



   

 

36 

had 36 and 42 households respectively. No data were collected for 2019/20 due to COVID-
19 (62).  
 
There were similar trends in numbers of homeless households with dependent children in 
temporary accommodation: 354 in Cardiff (total for Wales: 780) in 2016/17, rising to 366 
(total for Wales: 849) by 2019/20. In the Vale of Glamorgan, these values were 27 and 39 
respectively (62).  
 
Housing services in the Vale of Glamorgan have supported 198 young people (aged 16-24) 
who are homeless or at risk of homelessness in the preceding 12 months. Support includes 
managing a tenancy, budgeting skills, domestic skills, moving to more appropriate 
accommodation, reducing isolation, and signposting (63). In 2020/21, Cardiff Council’s 
Young Person Gateway has provided accommodation and support for 162 young 
people. This includes accommodation within the Gateway alongside support in areas such as 
mental health, access to education, employment, and independent living skills. The tenancy 
training pathway has seen 70 young people positively move on into social housing with all 
continuing to maintain this accommodation. Llamau, in partnership with Cardiff Council, 
have worked with 76 young people to provide mediation in order to prevent homelessness 
and allow young people, where safe and suitable to do so, to maintain their current 
accommodation (30). 
 

5.3.4  Unmet needs  
Survey respondents articulated concerns for the following, suggesting a need for further 
guidance and support. Note the small sample size of 35, which is not representative of the 
population of children and young people.   

 Health worries: anxiety around a medical diagnosis, or recurrence of mental health 
problems   

 Failure: not achieving exam success and the consequences; financial insecurity; “not 
achieving my dreams” 

 The COVID-19 pandemic and the climate crisis 
 
Gaps in knowledge and understanding stem from gaps in locally-available data as well as 
evolving and emerging events on a local and wider scale. These include:  

 Emerging impacts of COVID-19, lockdown and restrictions including long COVID  

 The number and characterisation of young carers – results from the 2021 Census are 
awaited 

 Associations of socio-economic status and care needs 

 The prevalence of speech, language and communication difficulties in children and 
young people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 

 Bullying in schools, and associated characteristics, such as protected characteristics  

 Accompanied and unaccompanied asylum seeking and refugee children, and 
associated outcomes in terms of health and education/employment 

 

Page 2218



   

 

37 

5. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
5.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Healthy behaviours 
The School Health Research Network survey reports the following amongst secondary 
school pupils in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan:   

 2% of male and female respondents report smoking tobacco at least weekly   

 18% of males and 16% of females report ever trying e-cigarettes; with 2% using them 
at least weekly  

 7% of males and 5% of females have ever used cannabis  

 10% of males and 5% of females have spent their own money on gambling  (56) 
 

The National Child Measurement Programme data 2018/19 demonstrates that most 
children aged 4-5 are of a healthy weight (80% in the Vale of Glamorgan; 76% in Cardiff). In 
Cardiff, 13% are overweight, and 11% are obese. For the Vale of Glamorgan, the figures are 
9% and 9% respectively. Compared to 2011/12, this represents a higher proportion of 
children being a healthy weight. At a national level, there is an increase in proportions of 
children being overweight and obese with increasing deprivation. The fifth of children who 
are least deprived have the highest proportion of children who are a healthy weight (64). 

Reduction and mitigation of Adverse Childhood Experiences 
ACEs comprise abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction (including parental substance 
misuse, violence, or separation), which have been associated with a variety of adverse 
outcomes across the life course, such as poorer health and wellbeing, worse educational 
attainment, and increased risk of incarceration (47) (65). Half of adults in Wales have had at 
least one ACE. One quarter of 49-year old adults with four or more ACEs have at least one 
chronic disease, compared to 7% of those with no ACEs (47).  

ACEs can be intergenerational. Protective factors have also been identified, which mitigate 
or attenuate the association with ACEs. This means that there is opportunity to intervene 
within an early intervention approach to support children and their parents, or through 
taking an ACE-informed approach. Pilot routine “ACE enquiry” in three areas in Wales found 
high levels of first disclosure of ACEs (over 40% of caregivers) (65). Welsh Government have 
prioritised ACEs in its programmes (47). 

Vaccination  
Public Health Wales data demonstrate that decreasing vaccine uptake of the 6 in 1 vaccine 
by 1 year of age in Cardiff, is currently below the 95% target. The Vale of Glamorgan is just 
above the target. Data on children receiving the first MMR dose by 2 years, two MMR doses 
by 5 years, and the pre-school booster by 5 years show that both Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan are below the set target for 2019/20 (66).  
 
Analysis by Public Health Wales shows that socioeconomic inequalities are associated with 
smaller differences in uptake in younger children, with bigger uptake differences in 
teenagers in Wales (67). 
 

Page 2219



   

 

38 

Assets to support well-being 
Amongst survey respondents, the most common source of support was a parent/guardian, 
with 83.3% of respondents having received help from them. More than half of those 
surveyed received support from friends (59%), school teachers (57%), or a GP (53%). Other 
sources of support included youth centre/youth workers, social worker, third sector, and 
online support, local clubs and groups, sports clubs, and social media.  
 
Professional leads identified the Join the Dots service by Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental 
Health (CAVAMH) which supports children and young people to have an input into services.  
 
Support available for young carers include the following:  

 The Primary Mental Health team provides support for young carers and their families 
for anxiety, depression, stress, and relationship difficulties (27) 

 Meic Cymru provides information, advice and advocacy (27) 

 Action for Children work with young carers known to Children’s Services; offer 
respite, and work to increase confidence and respond positively to challenges (27) 

 Local authority support: in Cardiff, the Cardiff Family Gateway, and in the Vale of 
Glamorgan, Families First Advice Live provide information and signposting (27) 

 The YMCA run Time 4 Me for young carers provides peer support (27) 
    

5.4.2 Community services 
Whole school emotional health 
Advocated by the Together for Children and Young People 2 (T4CYP 2) programme, a whole 
school approach facilitates universal services and promotes joined up working (68). Welsh 
Government has published a framework on how to embed this approach to promote 
emotional and mental wellbeing (69). The 2021 annual report for the Director of Public 
Health in Cardiff and Vale UHB identifies that the education sector is well-placed for support 
provision, but recognises that local and national partners also have a key role, for example, 
through building resilience and positive behaviours (19). 
 
Sustainable services 
Professional leads identified that financial security for services is needed in order to 
maintain and build upon positive outcomes achieved so far.   
 

5.4.3  Partnership approach  
Person, not service, centred services  
Professional stakeholders have articulated the need for services to join up, and provide 
holistic support that is seamless between services. Stakeholders for this report have 
identified that not all children and young people who have care and support needs will have 
a specified diagnosis. Services must be able to respond and support all children and young 
people based on their needs within universal services.  
 

Page 2220



   

 

39 

The NEST (Nurturing, Empowering, 
Safe, Trusted) Framework promotes 
a person-centred, values-led, 
integrated whole system approach; 
supporting early help, the right help, 
and at the right time with the aim of 
improved mental health and 
emotional wellbeing (33). 
Collaboration across services 
including public and third sector will 
facilitate whole system approach and 
provide inclusive services for all 
those who may need them, rather 
than specialist interventions for 
specific groups.  (3) 
 
Figure 5.5. The NEST Framework (3) 

In line with NEST, the No Wrong Door approach brings together services and asks services to 
wrap around children, young people, and their families, rather than asking those in need of 
care and support to understand a complex system (32).  

A focus group respondent wanted a service priority to be: “uncomplicating things”.  
 

5.5  What is likely to happen in the future  
The number of children aged 0-15 is projected to decrease in Cardiff by from 67,945 to 
64,352 between 2020 and 2040, and increase slightly in the Vale of Glamorgan by from 
25,000 to 25,207 between 2020 and 2040 (10). However, as a proportion, young people 
aged 15 and under were 18.5% of the population of Cardiff in 2020, and are estimated to 
make up 16.6% in 2040. For the Vale of Glamorgan, these values were 18.7% in 2020, and 
17.2% in 2040. In line with this trend, the absolute number of young people aged 0-15 in 
Wales will decrease in the same time period, as will the proportion of the total population – 
from 17.9% in 2020, to 15.9% in 2040 (10). The reduction in the proportion of under 16s is 
likely reflective of the decreasing fertility rate, and increase in the number of older people. 
Note that projections should be interpreted with caution as they are based on historical 
trends.  
 
COVID-19 and the restrictions placed on children and young people will have direct and 
indirect impacts on children and young people’s health for some time to come; this has 
been considered in the Welsh Government update on Health and Social Care (25). Public 
Health Wales is researching the impact of COVID-19 combined with Brexit and climate 
change, called the “triple challenge”, which will have wide ranging, dynamic, and synergistic 
impacts across the wider determinants of health for children and young people (70). 
 

Page 2221



   

 

40 

5.6  Recommendations  
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Adopt the NEST Framework and No Wrong Door approach 

 Strengthen actions to ensure information is accessible to children and young people; 
and they are invited to co-produce services so they are person-centred, and help 
children and young people feel valued   

 Monitor emerging literature on long COVID in children and young people 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to promote preventative strategies including routine immunisations   

 Continue to develop partnerships with Education services and embed the whole 
school approach to emotional health and wellbeing 

 Increase funding available to mental health services for children and young people  
(25) 

 Target waiting list times, especially for children and young people’s mental health 
services 

 Develop Integrated Model for Emotional Health and Well-being for Cardiff and Vale 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 2222



   

 

41 

6. Children and Young People with 
Complex Needs  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical 
Disability; Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; 
VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Secure Estate 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities, education providers, and third sector to:  

 Promote universal and targeted early intervention and preventative services 
including parental support  

 Undertake training to increase awareness and promote services accessible and 
comfortable for children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders 

 Work to ensure the T4CYP 2 programme is fully embedded  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Share good practice and learning 

 Address data gaps   

 Address gaps in service provision 

 Promote early help and preventative approaches in line with T4CYP 2 

 Embed the NEST framework and No Wrong Door approach  

 Address the increasing waiting list for assessment 
 
Regional Partnership Board to:  

 Lead on development and implementation of an integrated model for children and 
young people’s emotional health and wellbeing 

 
 
 
 

6.1   Overview  
Children and young people with complex needs includes those with disabilities and/or 
illness; those who are care experienced; those in need of care and support; those at risk of 
being looked after; and those with emotional behavioural needs (3). It should be stressed 
that the term “complex needs” refers to the fact the service provision required may be 
complex, and not the child or young person (32). This updated definition places additional 
focus on emotional health and well-being.  
 

Page 2223



   

 

42 

Children and young people with symptoms of autistic spectrum disorder, attention deficit 
and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), or other conditions may be referred to 
neurodevelopmental assessment services for diagnosis. The neurodevelopment service in 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board provides multidisciplinary assessment, 
intervention, information and support for patients and their families (71). For those who 
have received a diagnosis, post-diagnostic support may include multidisciplinary therapeutic 
interventions which best meet the child’s needs (3). They provide support for the child or 
young person, as well as their families or carers. Inclusive support services are being 
developed so that children or young people who require support but do not have a 
diagnosis, and their families, are still able to receive the help they need.  
 
There is no data source which provides figures for all children and young people with 
complex needs, in part due to the breadth of its definition. The Children Receiving Care and 
Support Census reports the number of children and young people receiving care and 
support services from a local authority (including children looked after), as well as some 
types of disability. Data are as follows:  
 
Table 6.1. Number of children receiving care and support services from a local authority 

 Cardiff Vale of Glamorgan 
 2017 2020 2017 2020 

Total number of children receiving care and 
support services from the local authority 

1,485 1,860 445 510 

Number of children with a disability 395 450 100 140 
Number of children with a mobility disability  85 105 45 50 
Number of children with a speech, hearing, and 
eye sight disability  

195 250 65 80 

Source: Stats Wales (72) 
 
The Children Act 1989 requires each Local Authority to establish a “register” to enable 
service providers to work together with children and young people with disabilities and 
additional needs, and their families. In both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, this is known 
as “The Index”. The Index provides support and local information on services and support, 
and helps service providers with planning (73). The Index is voluntary and therefore likely 
underestimates the true number of children and young people with disabilities and 
additional needs. This likely explains, in part, why the figure for Cardiff registrants is lower 
than the Vale of Glamorgan.   
 
The Cardiff Index, launched in 2016, had 806 children and young people registered in 
January 2022. Of those registered, the majority are registered for autism (n=259); 
developmental delay (n=138); and behaviour/emotional difficulties (n=121). These figures 
represent a large increase from 2017, when only 90 were registered (74).  
 
The Index in the Vale of Glamorgan has 823 children and young people registered; with 64 
new registrations in the year 2020/21 and 27 children and young people deregistered for 
various reasons including becoming 18 (73). Over half (56%) live in Barry (45% in 2017). As 

Page 2224



   

 

43 

per Cardiff, Autistic Spectrum Disorder is the primary reason for registration (36%); 
however, half of registrants have behavioural/emotional difficulties (75).  
 
Engagement for this chapter comprises of eight parents of children living with cerebral palsy 
(aged 8-11 years) from a focus group discussion. Their views will not be representative of all 
children and young people, and their parents, guardians, or carers, but do provide lived 
experience which complements other data sources.  
 

6. 2   What has changed since 2017?  
6.2.1   Pre-COVID-19  
The Integrated Care Fund, launched in 2014/15, released funds for children and adults with 
complex needs and children with learning disabilities in 2016/17, bringing the Integrated 
Autism Service within remit (32). The Integrated Autism Service was launched in 2017 and 
provides assessment and diagnosis for adults for learning disability and autism; and provides 
support to services users, their families and carers, and professionals (76). 
 
Since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment, the Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated 
Delivery Plan 2018-2021 has been published (77), as well as the Code of Practice on the 
Delivery of Autism Services 2021 (78). The Code sets out the range of support services for 
assessment, diagnosis, health and social care and broader work around training and 
awareness ranging.  
 
The Together for Children and Young People (T4CYP) 2 Neurodevelopment Support agenda 
sets out a vision for services, implements pathways and standards, and works to improve 
outcomes and support for children and their families. It took over from the original T4CYP 
programme which ran from 2015-2019 (68). The programme supports the Additional 
Learning Needs Act (34).  
 

6.2.1   COVID-19 
Welsh Government published its report ‘Locked Out: liberating disabled people's lives and 
rights in Wales beyond COVID-19’ in 2021, which describes the impact of COVID-19 
lockdown and restrictions on disabled people in Wales (79) (please see also Chapter 10). An 
intersectionality reference group, which included young people with disabilities in care, for 
the Locked Out report on people with disabilities and COVID-19 in Wales identified that 
young people were “falling through the gaps” in provision (79). This is echoed by the Care 
Quality Commission in England who document the impact of service disruption due to 
COVID-19 on children and young people, including the need to prevent gaps in care 
provision. Transition to adult services were identified as a priority area (80).  
 
In addition, the Care Quality Commission described how the COVID-19 restrictions have 
placed strain on care and support providers, as well as children, young people and their 
families and carers as described throughout this report. Mitigating the negative impacts of 
service disruption (such as the pause in face to face services and the switch to virtual 
modalities) must be a priority. This should include care where it is needed to prevent 
placement breakdown (80). 

Page 2225



   

 

44 

 

6.3   What are the care and support needs?  
6.3.1  Individual  
Supporting independence 
Welsh Government report that some disabled children and young people feel unable to use 
public transport on their own, instead relying on parents (81). Travel training for young 
disabled people may help increase independence (81).   
 
Young people wish to have a voice in decision making locally as well as at a wider level. Vale 
Youth Speak Up enable young disabled people, aged 16-25, to participate in discussions and 
influence decisions, for example, around discrimination and bullying (81). The Children in 
Wales Getting More Involved in Social Care project enables disabled young people to 
provide training for peers and professionals, which increases knowledge of children’s rights, 
and increases involvement in decisions (81).  
 
A focus group with parents of children with cerebral palsy wanted their parent voice to be 
better heard, and to be more included within the decision making process.  

 
Language and communication  
The Vale of Glamorgan Index reports that 51% of registrants have communication and 

socialisation difficulties; and 39% have speech and language difficulties. In terms of methods 

of communication, 7% use Picture Exchange Communication Systems (PECS) and 3% use 

Makaton (73). The Cardiff Index reports that 5% of those registered have speech and 

language difficulties as the primary criteria for registering, and 54% of the 802 registrants 

have speech and language difficulties as an additional reason for registration. Of the total 

number of children and young people registered, 23% use Gestures, 14% use PECS, 10% use 

Makaton, and 0.5% use British Sign Language for communication (74).   

Welsh Government has published a Welsh language impact assessment on the Code of 

Practice for the Delivery of Autism services (82). 

 

6.3.2  Community 
Access to assessment, care, and support 
The Neurodevelopmental team conducts assessments for children and young people who 
require them (adults are assessed by the Integrated Autism Service). Figure 6.1 shows the 
number of referrals to the Cardiff and Vale Neurodevelopmental team since March 2020 
(referrals prior to this date were in the range of 43 – 183 per month).  Of note, is the 
increasing waiting list in terms of volume, but also the duration of waiting list from 58 weeks 
in March 2020, to 129 weeks in September 2021 (83).  

Page 2226



   

 

45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 6.1. Referrals 
to the 
Neurodevelopmental 
Team, and waiting list 
measures (83) 

 
 
Young people with learning difficulties across Wales have reported difficulties with the short 
health care appointment length, stating that they would like more time in order to 
understand the discussion (81). 
 
Some specialist health services have been difficult to access by young disabled people, such 
as sexual health. In addition, Welsh Government report that despite being more likely to 
have additional healthcare needs such as poor mental health, they are unable to access 
services until the situation is more severe, such as at crisis point (81).  

 
Post-diagnostic support 
The Neurodevelopment team provide support through different mechanisms including 
referrals to Primary Mental Health; CAMHS; the Emotional Wellbeing Service; or to Families 
First and Cardiff Family Advice & Support. The Integrated Autism Service (IAS) does not work 
directly with children, instead working with their parents or carers to indirectly support the 
child. During 2020/21, 15 parents or carers were supported by IAS. Of the 585 new referrals 
received, 22 were from people aged 16-17, and 173 by those aged 18-25 (note that referrals 
are for a range of services and not just assessment) (83). Support provided by the IAS 
includes: advice on managing sleep difficulties; assessments and strategies to manage 
triggers of behaviour that challenges; support transitions to adult services; training and 
support groups. In addition, services can be provided in conjunction with CAMHS or the 
learning disabilities team (83).  
 
Transition of care from children’s to adult services  
The aim of transition is to promote independence in a safe and supported manner – for 
both the young person, and their parent or primary carer, who may struggle with the 
change in relationship, according to Welsh Government (81). A consultation in Cardiff and 
Vale for the regional joint commissioning strategy for adults with learning disabilities 
identified transition from child to adult services as a priority; and anticipated that between 
2018/19 and 2020/21, approximately 19 people with learning disability would transition 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

M
ar

-2
0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

Number of Referrals Number of Referrals Accepted

Waiting List (Volume) Waiting List (Length in Weeks)

Page 2227



   

 

46 

each year in Cardiff, and 9 in the Vale of Glamorgan (84). In the Vale of Glamorgan for the 
years 2016 and 2017 combined, 24 young people were assessed in the year they turned 18, 
of whom 22 had eligible care and support needs requiring input from the Adult Learning 
Disability Team. In 2020, 12 were assessed and 9 eligible for input from the Adult Learning 
Disability Team (29). In Cardiff, in 2020/21, of the 36 young people known to the Child 
Health and Disability Team, 33 transitioned to the Adult Learning Disability Team. In 
2018/19, the figures were 25 and 20 respectively (30). 
 
However, transition remains a challenge for many in Wales, citing lack of awareness of 
sources of support, inadequate signposting, and barriers to access. The role of parents as 
carers also changes as young people gain their independence, which can add stress to the 
relationship (81). Members of a professional workshop held in Cardiff and the Vale UHB 
stated families are often in limbo whilst they are transferring between services and 
transitioning to adult services (85). 
 
The Multi Agency Transition Review Interface Group is a forum to discuss the needs, 
outcomes and resources required for young people in the 15-18 year old age group who 
have, or may have a need for care and support into adulthood. This forum runs in both Local 
Authorities and informs both individual and strategic planning (86).  
 
Both Cardiff and the Vale have developed a support planning service, which comprises a 
person-centred assessment with people known to the teams to consider options for day 
opportunities. The specialist service focuses on opportunities to gain skills, enhance 
networks and inclusion within local communities. Both councils also have employment 
support for those who are interested in paid work.  As with all service areas, this has been 
impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic but work is restarting to widen access to community 
options (29) (30). 
 
6.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
No local data are available relating to children and young people with complex needs. A 
reduction in Direct Payments has been experienced by recipients in Wales; therefore 
decreasing access to finance and increasing isolation with reduced well-being (81). In 
contrast, Disabled Students’ Allowance has improved equity of access to higher education 
(81). 
 
Support provided by the IAS includes guidance on benefits and employment. The Code of 

Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services asks employers to promote inclusion of autistic 

people (82). Increasing awareness of inclusive recruitment will enable more autistic people 

to gain higher quality jobs.  

 
Education and employment  
Data from the Pupil Level Annual School Census demonstrate that the proportion of pupils 
aged 5-15 years with special educational needs is lower in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 
higher in Cardiff, than the Wales average. In Cardiff, 2.7% of pupils aged 5-15 years have a 

Page 2228



   

 

47 

Statement of Special Educational Needs, compared to 0.6% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 
2% in Wales (26). In Cardiff, there were 9,446 pupils with special educational needs in 
2020/21, of whom 2,143 had a Statement (1639 in 2016/17). In the Vale of Glamorgan, 
there were 3,213 pupils with special educational needs, of which 439 pupils have a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs (378 in 2016/17) (87).  
 
Welsh Government reports that many people still incorrectly assume that young disabled 
people are unable or unwilling to learn (81). This report calls for those in Education services 
to inspire young disabled people and aim for aspirational goals. They state that children 
with hearing or sight loss should be supported to feel confident traveling to and around 
school. Mainstreaming children with disabilities from an early age was proposed to increase 
acceptance, and could be supported by the establishment of inclusivity league tables (81). 
Welsh parents reported physical barriers affecting school experience (e.g., steps in 
classrooms), and were concerned regarding the transition from primary to secondary 
school. 
 
Bullying is reported as a serious concern in both mainstream and additional learning needs 
schools, and further action is needed to address this in many schools in Wales (81). Three 
primary schools in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have undertaken Learning with Autism 
training between 2017 and 2018 (corresponding to 127 staff members), which helps staff 
adapt their communications and the learning environment to the needs of the child (88).  
 
Supporting progression into employment or further education is beneficial for establishing 
and developing social relationships, supporting well-being (81). Welsh Government report 
that young disabled people want to access work, and should help co-produce pathways to 
employment. Those leaving education should therefore be signposted to specialist disability 
employment support (81).  
 
Housing  
The Cardiff Local Housing Strategy identified that demand outstripped availability for 
accessible homes of which many applicants had children with disabilities within the 
household (89). Children and young people with physical disabilities have experienced 
difficulties finding housing that meets their needs, and this is especially so in the private 
rented sector in Wales (81). Similarly, in the Vale, demand outstrips supply for accessible 
homes. During the last two years the Vale’s Council Housing New Build programme has 
increased the supply of purpose built adapted bungalows and flats. Within the Vale of 
Glamorgan Housing Strategy, there is a requirement for at least two adapted homes on new 
social housing grant funded developments. An Accessible Housing Panel was introduced in 
autumn 2020 in the Vale of Glamorgan, which considers each property on its suitability for 
the individual applicant, and conducts any necessary adaptations (29).   
 
Some children require residential and specialist care, however, a priority should be 
prevention of the need for unnecessarily high levels of care, as such placements are more 
difficult to find, and are more likely out of area. Improving local health team resources to 
support positive behaviours and provide family-centred support would work towards this 
aim.  

Page 2229



   

 

48 

Social Care Wales report data on the number of placements and type for young people with 
learning disability. The total number of placements in Wales has decreased between 2015 
and 2019 (2,842 to 2,342), but has increased in both the Vale of Glamorgan (68 to 108) and 
Cardiff (227 to 236). Most placements are in the community with their parents or family, 
with a minority placed in foster homes (6 in Vale of Glamorgan, 9 in Cardiff in 2019) (90). 
 
In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, some children and young people have experienced family 
placement breakdown due to needs arising from their neurodevelopmental disorder. This 
presents a challenge for local authorities who need to arrange placement at short notice, 
and may result in out of area placement. Early intervention can help reduce this risk (91). 
 

6.3.4  Unmet needs  
Engagement work identified the following as gaps in care and support: 

 Children and young people without a diagnosis are missing out on care and support 
services 

 Service provision: a lack of joined up care causes distress as children young people 
(and their parents or guardians) are moved between services; this is in part due to 
different IT systems and different uses of language between different services. In 
addition, difficulties were encountered with long durations until a diagnosis is 
reached; and a need for increased mental health support and opportunities for 
multidisciplinary appointments  

 Support: a need for more peer support, and that this could be met by being 
mentored by another family to share lived experience. Support for the whole family 
was also identified 

 More specialist sports opportunities and youth service provision 
 
Gaps in our knowledge and understanding were identified as follows:  

 The number and needs of children and young people who have care and support 
needs but do not fit an established pathway  

 The number and needs of young people transitioning to adult services  

 Socio-economic characteristics and Welsh language profile of children and young 
people undergoing neurodevelopmental assessment  

 

6. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
6.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Early help 
Early Help and Enhanced Support are a key pillar of the Together for Children and Young 
People 2 (T4CYP 2) programme (68). This stipulates a whole system approach. Early support 
for mental health concerns may help to avoid a crisis. Early Help services have recently 
experienced high levels of demand. Cardiff Family Gateway managed 12,359 calls and 
emails between November 2019 and November 2020; and supported 8,696 people. Cardiff 
Parenting received 686 referrals during the same time period, with 265 one-to-one 
psychology led parenting interventions (85). The Families First Advice Line in the Vale of 
Glamorgan provide Early Help, and received 1626 calls during the same time period (1013 

Page 2230



   

 

49 

were from professionals and 582 from parents or carers) (29).  Of the total calls, the Families 
First Advice Line referred 340 to the Vale Parenting Service (29).   
 
In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, early identification and management of behaviours of 
concern could prevent ongoing difficulties into adulthood, which may reduce the risk of 
other complications such as contact with the criminal justice system, substance misuse, or 
mental health issues (92). Early intervention can additionally prevent placement breakdown, 
as well as being less costly. Regional mechanisms by which to provide this early intervention 
include development of life skills, parental support, and improving transitions of care (91). 
 
Assets to support well-being  
Professional workshops as part of the development of the integrated model for emotional 
health and wellbeing identified information provision for families, as well as services and 
programmes such as Flying Start, Family Gateway, Families First, Cardiff Parenting, Cardiff 
Family Advice & Support as supportive to the well-being of children, young people, and their 
families and carers.  

 
Parents of children with cerebral palsy identified third sector organisations such as Cerebral 
Palsy Cymru and Shine Charity as assets, for their in-depth knowledge and advice. In 
addition, groups and coffee mornings with other parents of children with complex needs, to 
share lived experiences were 
helpful. Social services and social 
workers were also valued.  
 
Other sources of support include 
Autism Wales, who provide 
resources for parents and carers, 
information on a wide range of 
topics including banks and 
dentists. Both Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan have outreach 
teams to support children in 
school. Both areas have a 
voluntary Index which offers 
support for children and young 
people and their families and 
carers.  
 

6.4.2  Community services 
Inclusive services considerate of the individual in their own context  
Services need to be inclusive, accounting for the child or young person’s communication 
needs (for example, use of Augmented and Alternative Communication (AAC) or language 
preferences), as well as access (85).  
 
Services should include care and support tailored to the needs of children and young people 
as well as the family and carers, so that they can then care for the child or young person 

“…without [Cerebral Palsy Cymru] 
being there we would feel really 

lost” – parent of a child with 
complex needs, focus group 

“…one [social worker] in particular 
has been superb” – parent of a child 

with complex needs, focus group 

Page 2231



   

 

50 

(85). Inclusivity of parents and carers should be a focus also, as men are underrepresented. 
This includes respite for families and carers, which is accessible and available in a timely 
manner, and provision of “wrap around” support in line with ‘No Wrong Door’ and NEST 
(85).  
 
Care and support services must be timely, and considerate of the notion that some children 
and young people may need multiple sources of care and support, each with their own 
waiting list. Change in demand should be anticipated and services planned to meet this.  
 
Services close to home, including accommodation 
Services must be provided close to home. The Welsh Government White Paper ‘Rebalancing 
Care and Support’ notes that children are often placed far from home, which is more costly 
and increases strain and stress on families as well as children and young people (93). 
Sufficient accommodation should be available locally for children and young people; this 
should include a range of options to appropriately meet the needs of the individual.  
 

6.4.3  Partnership approach 
Integrated, whole system approach  
Service providers (including third sector) should be aware of other services available and 
how to access them, in order to build resilience within the system, and improve signposting 
(85). This is championed by the No Wrong Door report (32) (93). This approach should 
streamline access and improve communication between providers, so information is not lost 
between services, and families do not need to repeat themselves. Variation in referral 
mechanisms and documentation used between services should additionally be streamlined 
with better collaborative working (85). The Complex Needs Service is trialling delivering a 
fully joined up health and social care service for children and young people with complex 
needs (91).  
 
Engagement work identified that parents wanted a central point for information, for 
example, through a care coordinator: parents of children and young people with complex 
needs have experienced long waits for appointments, and a need to be proactive in order to 
arrange annual reviews. A “road map” of support available, and upcoming appointments 
may help with this. 
 
Transition of care from children’s to adult services  
‘No Wrong Door’ reports that children and young people with learning disability experience 
a stressful period of transition to adult services (32). The T4CYP 2 programme includes 
transitions as a core component within its Early Help and Enhanced Support work stream (68). 
Care and support provision should continue seamlessly through this period of transition, and 
focus on what matters to the individual. Cardiff and Vale RPB is developing a regional protocol 
for transition of young people with learning disabilities.  
 

6.5  What is likely to happen in the future?  
Population projections from Social Care Wales suggest that the numbers of children with 
moderate, profound and multiple, or severe learning disabilities are likely to remain fairly 

Page 2232



   

 

51 

similar over the next 20 years (94). In Cardiff, the number of children with learning disability 
is predicted to decrease from 3,027 in 2020 to 2,907 in 2040; in the Vale of Glamorgan a 
slight increase from 1,124 to 1,149 is predicted (94), likely reflective of the decrease in 
under 18 population predicted in Cardiff between 2018 and 2040 (95). Social Care Wales 
have predicted relatively stable numbers of children and young people with autism between 
2020 and 2040 (1,370 to 1,316 in Cardiff; 509 to 520 in Vale of Glamorgan) (94). However, 
these figures are based on prevalence data. Neurodevelopmental services are currently 
recording increased referrals, waiting list times, and numbers of diagnoses of autism and 
anticipate this may lead to increased numbers of autistic children and young people in 
future (83). 
 
In line with wider demographic changes, the population of people with learning disability is 
ageing. In addition, people with learning disability have increased likelihood of development 
of other comorbidities such as dementia (84) (96). 
 
There is work ongoing for the development of an integrated Infant, Children & Young 
People’s Emotional Wellbeing & Mental Health Needs model for the Cardiff & Vale Regional 
Partnership Board. The model aims to bring together examples of best practice and make 
use of local assets to provide universal, targeted and specialist services in an accessible and 
equitable way (85). 
 
The Additional Learning Needs code will introduce some changes, for example, that some 
services may continue until age 25 (97). 
 

6.6  Recommendations  
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities, education providers, and third sector to:  

 Promote universal and targeted early intervention and preventative services 
including parental support  

 Undertake training to increase awareness and promote services accessible and 
comfortable for children and young people with neurodevelopmental disorders 

 Work to ensure the T4CYP 2 programme is fully embedded  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Share good practice and learning 

 Address data gaps   

 Address gaps in service provision 

 Promote early help and preventative approaches in line with T4CYP 2 

 Embed the NEST framework and No Wrong Door approach  

 Address the increasing waiting list for assessment 
 
Regional Partnership Board to:  

 Lead on development and implementation of an integrated model for children and 
young people’s emotional health and wellbeing 

Page 2233



   

 

52 

7. Children Looked After 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term 
Conditions; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance Misuse; Secure Estate 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Continue to foster a culture whereby children looked after feel valued and listened 
to; are informed of choices available to them; and can influence decisions about 
their care  

 Promote a preventative approach to prevent needs arising or escalating  

 Ensure that children looked after have timely access to health and education services 
that they need, in order to meet statutory education requirements, close the 
inequalities gap, and promote their well-being (98) 

 Develop of an integrated working model to promote seamless transition between 
services, including actions to be taken when children go missing from care, and 
interaction with the criminal justice system  (98) 
 

 Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Develop additional placements close to home for children and young people 

 Orientate services to be person-centred, building trust and rapport with children and 
young people, promoting a sense of value through co-production 

 
 
 
 

7.1   Overview  
Looked after children are children who are in the care of their local authority, or in receipt 
of accommodation from social services. They form part of the wider umbrella of children 
receiving care and support, which also includes child protection cases, and children or 
parents receiving support due to the child’s illness or disability (99).  Although looked after 
children (LAC) is the statutory term, the acronym in particular has been noted to invoke 
connotations of the child “lacking”, therefore often the term “children looked after” (CLA) is 
used (99).  
 
In 2021, there were 990 CLA in Cardiff, and 285 in the Vale of Glamorgan (7,265 in Wales) 
(100). For both local authorities and across Wales, more boys were looked after than girls, 
and the highest proportion were aged 10-15 years (100).   
 

Page 2234



   

 

53 

Data from 2018 identifies the following parental factors amongst CLA: mental ill-health 
(37%); substance misuse (36% of CLA); domestic abuse (29%); physical ill-health (12%) (101). 
See also chapter 18 (substance misuse). The Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs Assessment 
identifies that CLA are overrepresented in the youth justice system (102) (see also chapter 
19: Secure Estate).  
 
Information for this chapter is taken from various data sources, including a focus group with 
three children looked after. Twenty-three respondents to the provider survey worked with 
children looked after and 21 worked with care leavers aged under 24. These findings are not 
representative of all children looked after.  
 

7. 2   What has changed since 2017?  
7.2.1   Pre-COVID-19  
The Integrated Care Fund made significant funding available for children at risk of being 
looked after, in care, or adopted in 2018/19 and 2019/20 (32). Cardiff published their Multi 
Agency Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021-2024 to describe how the council will fulfil their 
parenting responsibilities when the child or young person enters the local authority’s care 
(103). The Vale of Glamorgan have published their corporate strategy for children who need 
care and support 2019-2023, which has early partnership working with families as a core 
component, to support families to stay together, amongst other objectives (104). 
 
Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have experienced large increases with 305 (+47%) 
and 75 (+41%) additional CLA respectively, compared to Wales with 1,560 additional CLA 
(+28%) between 2015 and 2020 (100). The number of children on the child protection 
register has decreased in the Vale of Glamorgan (95 in 2016/17; 65 in 2018/19) and 
decreased in Cardiff (190 and 185 respectively) (105). The majority of children in Cardiff in 
2018/19 were on the child protection register for emotional abuse (46%), followed by 
neglect (30%), physical abuse (22%), and sexual abuse (3%). This follows the same pattern as 
the total for Wales. In the Vale of Glamorgan, the highest proportion of children were on 
the register for neglect (46%), followed by emotional abuse (38%) (105). Nationally, abuse 
and neglect cases have increased but this is thought to be due to better reporting (53).  
 

7.2.1   COVID-19 
Due to COVID-19 restrictions, young people in the focus group reported feeling isolated and 
needing to support each other. They were unable to see grandparents; contacts were 
cancelled; and one “stayed in [their] room for the whole time”. One moved from the Vale of 
Glamorgan to Cardiff and didn’t know anybody, which they felt impacted their confidence 
and mental health.  

 

7.3   What are the care and support needs?  
7.3.1  Individual  
Autonomy  
All focus group participants agreed with the National Outcomes Framework statement: “I 
speak for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect my life, or have someone who 

Page 2235



   

 

54 

can do it for me”. However, later, one participant stated they “[don’t] feel relevant – just 
another number in the system”. Young people want to feel valued and supported by 
services, however, focus group discussions included “no one cares”; “was told I would be 
helped and guided, not seen anyone since 19 and now 22”.   

 
A review by the Wales Centre for Public Policy identified that better outcomes of CLA are 
linked to the focus on reunification of families; the involvement of children and families in 
care decisions; placements available; and how “joined-up” local services are (106). 

 
Language and communication  
Data on Welsh or other language skills amongst children looked after is not routinely 

collected. Between 2014 and 2018, Care Inspectorate Wales report an increase in the 

number of residential child care managers and workers who speak some Welsh or are fluent 

(33% of managers and 38% of workers speak some Welsh or are fluent) (98). 

Half of children in contact with the Cardiff youth justice service are known to children’s 
services (103). Between 8-25% of children undergoing assessments through the Cardiff 
Youth Justice Service have speech and language needs (102).  
 

7.3.2  Community 
Youth Justice  
CLA are subject to disproportionate inequities, and are overrepresented within the youth 
justice system. The Cardiff youth justice health needs assessment recommends that 
providers of care and support for young people in youth justice systems, should additionally 
have links with services providing for CLA, as well as health and physical health 
professionals. The assessment notes that there is not yet a specific approach recommended 
as to the delivery of health services to this population group (102).  

 
7.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Inequalities  
Children in foster care in the focus group were aware of children’s disadvantages and the 
wide inequalities between those in care and those not.  

“Future looks bleak. I’m stressed and worried. I don’t know 
where to go for help and support. If you don’t do it yourself 

you get nothing” – CLA, focus group 

“Children in care should be able to and given the 
opportunity to do as well as those in families but they don’t. 

There is a vast difference”” – CLA, focus group 

Page 2236



   

 

55 

Deprivation  
Wales has a higher CLA rate per 10,000 children and young people than England; and the 
biggest difference in rates between most and least deprived communities in the UK (53). A 
2017 study identified that a child in the most deprived decile in Wales was 12 times more 
likely to be a CLA than a child in the least deprived decile, throughout the study period 
2008-2014 (107). 
 
Education and employment  
In Cardiff, 95% of CLA attend primary school (103). Nearly two-thirds (62%) of CLA at key 
stage 4 have special educational needs (103), and three-quarters of CLA in school have a 
Personal Education Plan (103). In 2018/19, 54% of care leavers were in education, 
employment, or training at 1 year in Cardiff (103).   
 
In October 2021, all CLA aged 5 – 16 years in the Vale of Glamorgan had a Personal 
Education Plan in place. Most (89%) were in mainstream schools, and 40% had special 
educational needs. Most CLA in the Vale of Glamorgan after the age of 16 are in education, 
employment, or training: 95% of year 12; 92% for year 13, and 72% of year 14 aged young 
people. Since 2019, the Vale of Glamorgan has a designated member of the Vulnerable 
Groups Team who works in partnership with social workers from the 15+ Team, Careers 
Wales, carers and post-16 education providers to ensure the school leavers access their post 
16 destinations for education or training and support to ensure the young people looked 
after are on the right course. This has improved the numbers of looked after children 
accessing education employment or training post-16 (29). 
 
Housing  
Local Authorities have a responsibility to provide accommodation suitable for looked after 
children; and support families to stay together where possible with the aim of preventing 
the need for a child to be taken into care.   
 
Increasing placements are required to meet the increasing numbers of children looked after. 
Notably in the Vale of Glamorgan, is the increase in those placed for adoption, residential 
settings, and placed with parents/person with parental responsibility. There is a similar 
position in Cardiff, with an additional increase in foster placements, and a reduction in those 
living independently (108). A 2020 review in Wales found an 84% increase in children and 
young people placed with new parents over the preceding 5 years (99). Across Wales, 
although most (66%) of children are placed in their local authority, increasing numbers of 
children are being placed outside of Wales (255 in 2016, 365 in 2020), suggesting there may 
be difficulties finding suitable local placements (106). The average age in months of CLA 
being adopted is 35 in the Vale of Glamorgan; 42 in Cardiff, and 37 in Wales (109). This is 
corroborated by a 2019 Care Inspectorate Wales review, in particular as the needs of 
children are becoming more complex. Some children had experienced multiple placement 
breakdowns, negatively impacting their well-being and relationship forming (98).  
 
 
 
 

Page 2237



   

 

56 

Table 7.1. Numbers of children looked after by placement type and local authority  
Vale of Glamorgan Cardiff Wales  
2012 2017 2020 2012 2017 2020 2012 2017 2020 

Placed for adoption * 5 15 15 25 40 255 245 245 
Foster placements 165 165 165 425 490 595 4405 4425 4990 
Placements in residential 
settings 

10 10 20 30 55 90 225 355 535 

Placed with own parents or 
other person with parental 
responsibility  

25 40 60 35 95 180 550 725 1200 

Living independently * * * 35 60 40 105 130 130 
Absent from placement or other 15 * * 25 5 10 180 80 80 

Source: Stats Wales (108) 
Figures are rounded to the nearest 5; where there are less than 5 children, the figure has been 
suppressed and replaced by * 

 
Changes of placement can be disruptive to children’s lives; in Cardiff in 2019/20, 8% of CLA 
had 3 or more changes of placement (103). In the Vale of Glamorgan, this figure was 12% 
(29). Supporting a child or young person when they leave care is a critical part of the 
process. Nationally, in 2018/19, 12% of 16-18 year olds leaving care experienced 
homelessness; compared to 21% in Cardiff in 2019/20 (103).  
 
Despite these aims, young people in foster care in the focus group reported some negative 
experiences, feeling isolated as they are moved far from their families.  
 

7.3.4  Unmet needs  
All three focus group participants disagreed with the NOF statement “I get the right care 
and support, as early as possible”. Reasons for this include feeling as though services are not 
open, honest, or transparent; and feeling as though services “do what they can to tick a 
box” rather than address need and work together with families. Children want to be “cared 
for and nurtured”, and “knowing their roots is also important…shouldn’t always have to be a 
fight for support and contact”. Young people felt as though they have “little opportunity”. 
Young people wanted support officers to receive more training. They wanted foster parents 
to “prove they are good parents”.  
 
Tension exists between the rights to a family life, and the duty to protect the child from 
harm, both of which are enshrined by the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (110). 
One focus group participant reported that the family who loves and wants him were only 
allowed to contact him 12 times a year. Another stated he had “4 foster families by 15…[my] 
grandparents wanted to foster [but this] wasn’t allowed”.  
 
Gaps in knowledge and understanding include the profile of Welsh and other languages 
amongst children looked after and children at the edge of care; and understanding of 
factors leading to placement breakdown, in order to better provide appropriate placements. 

 

Page 2238



   

 

57 

7. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
7.4.1  Prevention and assets  
The Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) is a partnership between the Vale of Glamorgan 
Council, Cardiff Council and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. In conjunction with 
Flying Start and Families First, these programmes provide preventative and supportive 
approaches for families who need it. Successful working of these programmes acts to 
reduce harm to children and reduce escalation of care and support needs. The IFST 
intervenes where a child is described as being at “the edge of care”, and is able to liaise with 
other local teams (such as the Early Intervention Team) to support children and their 
families through, for example, substance misuse intervention, or traumatic stress (111).  
 
Half of children known to the Youth Justice Service in Cardiff receive input from Children’s 
Services; and 15% are Children Looked After (103). Of cases known to the Vale of Glamorgan 
Youth Offending Service in 2021, 19% have a child protection plan, 28% have been in care, 
and 24% are a Child in Need. Only 16% have experienced no ACEs, and 45% have 
experienced 4 or more (112). Services should be aware of the association between ACEs and 
future interaction with the criminal justice system. Protective factors should be considered 
as a preventative mechanism. 
 
Recommendations from the 2021 Cardiff Youth Justice health needs assessment are being 
progressed through partnerships including the Cardiff Youth Justice Service, the Cardiff 
Youth Justice Board, Children’s Services, and South Wales Police (102). Recommendations 
include expanding the offer of well-being activities; increased involvement of families; and 
supporting crucial points of transition, for example, between secure estate and the 
community, and from children’s into adult health, social care, and justice services (102). 
 
Focus group participants stated neighbours and 
the local community were assets. Third sector 
organisations such as Grandparents Raising 
Grandchildren were named as supportive, 
including during periods of lockdown where 
mutual support was provided through telephone 
or online platforms.   
 
Participants did describe negative experiences of 
being in foster care which undermine sources of 
support. They were unable to see their families, 
and said they had “no support or places to go”. 
    

“Neighbours are great, 
really come together to 

support each other. [I] feel 
loved and cared for within 
community” – CLA, focus 

group 

Page 2239



   

 

58 

7.4.2  Community services 
Transparent services 
Services provided must be transparent and accountable, as young people report broken 
promises: “[I] was promised if I’m good can go home and visit family – never happened.  
It’s not fair and services shouldn’t be allowed to lie to children.” Young people perceive 
services to “make it up as they go along”, for example, when they believe judge’s decisions 
do not match the evidence provided. Processes within the system need to be clear, so that 
young children can understand. 
 

7.4.3  Partnership approach 
Joined up services 
The number of looked after children continues to increase year on year, despite policy 
supporting children to remain with their families and out of care, including prevention and 
early intervention schemes. Also too often children are placed far from home at great 
expense, removing them from their families and sourcing appropriate, regulated 
placements is often difficult. Alongside this the secure accommodation system often is 
unable to meet young people’s needs and there continues to be a lack of investment in 
expanding residential care for looked after children with complex needs, to support them to 
remain close to home and transition to independent living (93). 
 
Co-production  
Co-production is central to any service. Focus 
group participants were appreciative of the 
opportunity to be listened to. One suggestion 
to achieve this was through “creating a 
befriending advocacy service – giving the 
child a voice, care about their welfare, and 
nurture them”. 
 

7.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
Welsh Government have prioritised reducing the number of children looked after by local 
authorities (25); and identify the importance of preventing the child from needing local 
authority care (93). However, numbers of children looked after have increased despite this, 
and the impact of COVID-19 and the challenges that children and young people in 
vulnerable situations faced during lockdown and restrictions is yet to be fully realised.  
 

7.6  Recommendations  
 Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to:  

 Continue to foster a culture whereby children looked after feel valued and listened 
to; are informed of choices available to them; and can influence decisions about 
their care  

 Promote a preventative approach to prevent needs arising or escalating  

“Thank you for helping 
and giving us a voice 

today” – CLA, focus group 

Page 2240



   

 

59 

 Ensure that children looked after have timely access to health and education services 
that they need, in order to meet statutory education requirements, close the 
inequalities gap, and promote their well-being (98) 

 Develop of an integrated working model to promote seamless transition between 
services, including actions to be taken when children go missing from care, and 
interaction with the criminal justice system  (98) 
 

 Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Develop additional placements close to home for children and young people 

 Orientate services to be person-centred, building trust and rapport with children and 
young people, promoting a sense of value through co-production 

 
 
 

“I just want to 
be happy, 

healthy and 
well” – CLA, 
focus group 

Page 2241



   

 

60 

8. Older People 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Healthy Lifestyles 
and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment 
including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Armed 
Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)  
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board, and private providers to: 

 Recognise the diversity of the “older people” group and provide services to meet the 
needs of such a diverse group, including transport options 

 Continue to embed the Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model  

 Further develop existing collaborations to provide high quality end of life care  

 Integrate care and support services to enable older people to live independently and 
well at home for as long as possible, for example, through the @home programme  

 Promote the use of Dewis Cymru to increase awareness of available support services  
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Support new building developments to meet the needs of an ageing population, and 
increase the provision of a variety of accommodation options to enable older people 
to make informed choices on where and how they live 

 Implement the Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework; and ensure existing 
properties are appropriate, safe, and support older people’s independence  

 Apply urban design standards and accessibility criteria when redesigning existing 
infrastructure, for example, increasing the time for people to cross the road at a 
light-controlled pedestrian crossing (113) 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:  

 Promote the Royal College of General Practitioners ‘Tackling loneliness. A 
community action plan for Wales’ amongst health care providers and partners to 
raise awareness of loneliness, and advise how lonely patients can be identified and 
supported (113) 

 
 
 
 

8.1   Overview  
In this Population Needs Assessment, older people are defined as people aged 65 and above 
(although it is accepted that in other contexts the age threshold may vary). For the purposes 
of this needs assessment, where possible we will also divide this population group into 
those aged 65-84, and those aged 85 plus. Older people are not a homogenous population 

Page 2242



   

 

61 

group, and will have different needs and wants. Age is 
a risk factor for many conditions such as dementia, 
cataracts and falls, which will influence individual 
people’s care and support needs. The needs of people 
with dementia are discussed in chapter 14.  
 
Figure 8.1 and Table 8.1 show the wide variation in the 
numbers and percentages of people aged between 65 
and 84 and aged 85 plus across primary care clusters in 
Cardiff and Vale. Western Vale has the highest 
percentage of people aged 65-84 (23%), however, 
Cardiff North has the highest number of those aged 65-84 (16,003). In contrast, Cardiff 
South East has the lowest percentage of people aged 65-84 plus (5.5%), but City and Cardiff 
South has the lowest numbers of 65-84 year olds (2,475). Looking at the population aged 85 
plus, Eastern Vale has the highest proportion of people aged 85 plus (3.4%), but Cardiff 
North has the highest population (2,859 people). Across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
there are an estimated 81,645 people aged 65 plus, as at mid-2020 (114). 
 

Figure 8.1. Demography of Primary Care Clusters in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Source: Office for National Statistics (114) 
  

“Older people are 
“us” and we need 
to respond with 
that in mind” – 

professional lead 

Page 2243



   

 

62 

Table 8.1. Demography of Primary Care Clusters in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 

 Cardiff 
North  

Cardiff 
West 

Cardiff 
South 
West 

City & 
Cardiff 
South  

Cardiff 
East 

Cardiff 
South 
East 

Western 
Vale 

Central 
Vale 

Eastern 
Vale  

Number of 
people aged 
65-84 

16,003 
 

10,620 6,312 2,475 4,728 4,150 5,773 10,792 7,702 

% of total 
population  

17% 17% 15.6% 6.9% 12.6% 5.5% 23% 15.6% 20.4% 

Number of 
people aged 
85+ 

2,859 1,632 945 399 817 648 788 1,340 1,296 

% of total 
population  

2.9% 2.9% 1.7% 1.1% 2.2% 0.9% 3.1% 1.9% 3.4% 

Total 
population 
(all ages)  

96,923 62,850 56,016 35,639 37,352 75,468 25,293 69,025 37,847 

Source: Office for National Statistics (114) 
 

 
Across Wales, the number of people reporting 2 or more longstanding illnesses has 
remained at 21% in 2016/17 and 2019/20; similarly those reporting to be limited by the 
longstanding illness is similar at 33% in 2016/17 and 35% in 2019/20 (115) (see also chapter 
9: Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions). As more people live to an older age, more 
people are likely to have two or more long term illnesses.  
 
Engagement 
Two focus groups were conducted: one for people aged 85-84 (4 participants) and one for 
people aged 85 and older (3 participants). Forty-five percent (n=293) of the 647 respondents 
of the public survey who provided their age were 65 or older: 172 were aged 65-74, 91 were 
75-84, and 30 were 85 and older. Sixty-eight respondents of the provider’s survey provided 
services for older people aged 65 and older. This is not representative of the population of 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but does provide additional depth of insight and lived 
experience.  
 

8. 2   What has changed since 2017?  
8.2.1   Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following has changed since the 2017 Population Needs Assessment:  

 Welsh Government published ‘Age Friendly Wales: Our Strategy for an Ageing 
Society’ in October 2021, setting out the vision for Wales to be a place that supports 
people of all ages to live well and age well and where older people are celebrated 
(116). 

 In 2020 Welsh Government published ‘Connected Communities: a strategy for 
tackling loneliness and social isolation and building stronger social connections’ 
(117). Whilst this issue does not solely impact older people, it is recognised that it 

Page 2244



   

 

63 

does impact their lives, and this strategy followed the 2017 inquiry by the National 
Assembly for Wales’ Health and Social Care Committee into loneliness and social 
isolation which had a particular focus on older people (118). 

 The rights of older people are enshrined in the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014, which states that services should be prioritised in relation to older 
people with complex needs and long term conditions, including dementia (119). The 
Older People’s Commissioner for Wales’ strategy 2019-2022 (120) sets out their 
vision of celebrating an ageing society, supporting vulnerable older people and 
empowering people to understand their rights and access the support and services 
they need. 

 
Regionally, the following changes have taken place:  

 The impact of integrating health and social care services has been demonstrated 
through the Independent Living Service (ILS) provided by Cardiff Council and 
Wellbeing Service at Vale of Glamorgan Council Contact 1 Vale (C1V). This has 
focused on a prevention model since 2017. The aim of ILS is to reduce the need for 
social care, support people to stay living independently in their own homes and 
improve their well-being. The provision of a hospital based discharge support service 
has enabled collaborative working to help patients get home with the services they 
need in place, and improved partnership working with a range of sectors. 

 ILS are a key partner in the South West Cardiff primary care cluster MDT (multi-
disciplinary team) model, which began in 2019. GP practices in the cluster meet 
every other week to discuss individual patients’ needs, as many of their needs can be 
met outside of healthcare. Partners around the MDT table include ILS, and third 
sector service providers, who can support people with issues such as social isolation, 
adaptations needed in their home and financial support. The MDT partners can 
signpost them to services or activities which will meet their needs. Many older 
people have been supported through the MDT model, and it is planned to roll out 
this model in other clusters. 

 The Well-being Service in the Vale of Glamorgan offers a range of support to older 
people to meet their needs. Cardiff Well-being Support Service was set up in 
response to the pandemic and the needs around isolation, anxiety about going out 
and need for general support. Health and Well-being Mentors provide 1 to 1 support 
for a wide range of needs, and Community Inclusion Officers organise a range of 
community activities. 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB, with Cardiff and Vale Local Authorities and other partners, 
have implemented the “@home” locality-based integrated care model within the 
Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board, which aligns with the UHB long term 
strategy ‘Shaping Our Future Wellbeing’, which has a focus on community based 
care. This is a collaborative, person centred model, focused on prevention, early 
intervention and keeping people well.  

 Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities are in the process of 
applying for Age Friendly status with the World Health Organisation, which is 
supported by both Public Service Boards. This is in line with the United Nation’s 
Principles for Older Persons rights.  

Page 2245



   

 

64 

 The 2019 Annual Director of Public Health for Cardiff and Vale report focussed on 
healthy ageing, and included three themes of: feeling a sense of meaning and 
purpose; having good social connections; and living in places that enable people to 
remain safe, active and independent (113).  

 
8.2.1   COVID-19 
Physical health and access to health care  
COVID-19 has had a significant impact upon older people, including ill-health, mental and 
physical well-being, and mortality perspectives. The mobility and circulatory conditions of 
older people have deteriorated in lockdown and de-conditioning has occurred, potentially 
leading to increased risk of falls (121). Research has shown that age increases the risk of 
dying from COVID-19 due to deterioration of immune systems and being more likely to have 
long term conditions (122).  
 
Focus groups with people aged 65+ and 
85+ highlighted the following issues 
arising from COVID-19: 

• Feeling that COVID has taken 
priority for healthcare services 

• Difficulties accessing health 
services: “Impossible to see any 
health service, doctors or dentist” 

 
Respondents to the professional and 
providers survey who provide services for older people identified an increased need in 
domiciliary support and packages of care, and increased dependency amongst service users 
due to lack of timely preventative services. 
 
Mental health and well-being  
There are increased risks of health anxiety, panic, and depression for older people, 
particularly those in institutions (123). COVID-19 has had adverse effects on the well-being 
of older people in care homes, for example, constraints on social contact due to suspension 
of indoor visiting (124). An Office for National Statistics survey across Britain during April-
May 2020 found over 50% of the over 60s were worried about their well-being; of these 
70% were worried about the future, 54.1% were stressed/anxious and 43.3% felt bored 
(125).   
 
Loneliness and isolation have increased for many older people, and feelings of anxiety and 
fear have emerged due to the pandemic and lockdowns. People who were previously self-
sufficient found themselves in need of support and their resilience and dealing with day to 
day issues decreased (126). Many older people have struggled with getting support when 
leaving hospital, sometimes leading to longer hospital stays.  
 

“…if you have anything that’s 
not COVID it felt not 

important – just ignored and 
got worse but can’t do 

anything about it” – older 
person, focus group  

Page 2246



   

 

65 

Focus groups with people aged 65+ and 85+ highlighted feelings of helplessness: “scared 
and lost many friends” and loneliness due to isolation: “not seeing family is the worst”; 
“afraid to go out” due to COVID-19.  
 
Professional leads and respondents to the professional and provider survey corroborated 
these findings, identifying:  

 Deterioration of mental and social well-being 

 Increase in social isolation and loneliness 

 Loss of confidence in going out and accessing activities and services 

 Change of behaviour, staying in more, being less active 

 The loss of social role, for example, through bereavement, retirement, or an inability 
to undertake a hobby or activity anymore had been identified as concern prior to 
COVID-19. With increased isolation due to pandemic restrictions, this is likely to be 
exacerbated 

 Restrictions in accessing face to face services, for example toe nail cutting, exercise 
classes and social activities such as daycentres and lunch clubs  

 Financial insecurity  

 Help with practical activities such as shopping, as people were unable to leave their 
homes 

 Increased need for input from health and mental health teams to ensure service 
users remain safe and well; bereavement support  

 
Digital exclusion 
The Welsh Government Future Trends report 2021 identifies a reduction in internet non-
users between 2012 and 2020, from 18.2% to 9.8% across Wales. Amongst those aged 50-
64, 6% in 2021 were digitally excluded, compared to 33% aged 75+. However, this is a 
considerable improvement compared to 2017/18, when 13% of those aged 50-64 and 60% 
of those aged 75+ experienced digital exclusion (127). 
 
However, the digital divide has become significant during the pandemic, with more services 
moving to online only (128). Digital exclusion has been an issue for many older people in 
accessing vital support services, not just because of a lack of equipment but a lack of 
confidence or a fear of using online services (126).  
 
These findings were also identified by professional leads, leading to exclusion for those who 
cannot work in roles that require digital connections, social isolation, and problems 
accessing services which switched to being a virtual only service. However, there has been 
an increase in the number of older people who are using digital technology, particularly 
during the COVID-19 pandemic. Digital inclusion projects have supported people to get 
online and be taught how to use the technology to keep in contact with people, and access 
the internet. This can help address social isolation and loneliness.  
 
Impact on service provision 
Respondents to the professional and provider survey who provided services for older people 
identified the following changes in their service provision, due to COVID-19 or restrictions:  

Page 2247



   

 

66 

 Reduction in face-to-face services and home visits, and use of telephone or online 
platforms 

 Reduction or pausing of some services  

 A respondent working in nursing and residential care home stated: “We have had to 
protect all residents at all times from the public including their own families” 
 

Respondents identified the following impacts on staff working in services for older people 
included:  

 Anxiety, stress, isolation, with causes of stress identified as due to working additional 
hours, increased work load, and fewer resources, alongside feeling fearful due to the 
passing of service users, lacking face to face peer support, and a lack of access to 
other services that service providers would normally rely on. Other challenges 
included dispelling misinformation, fear of COVID-19, feeling undervalued, 
uncomfortable wearing personal protective equipment (PPE) and cancelled annual 
leave 

 Staff shortages have been identified, and compounded with issues such as staff 
sickness, and self-isolation requirements of Test, Trace, Protect  

 
Positive impacts of COVID-19 
There have been some positive impacts observed due to the pandemic however. Services 
have had to adapt and in some cases this has resulted in more people being able to access 
them, and services have implemented flexible and agile ways of working. New connections 
have been made, and many people volunteered within their communities to support older 
people in particular with shopping, collecting prescriptions, or befriending via telephone. 
Services integrated well and worked alongside each other, and new working patterns meant 
some flexibility for the workforce. COVID-19 has encouraged the development of digital 
solutions to link together. Health and social care staff have used technology to link people 
with their families, for example, tablets in care homes and hospital wards, so that families 
and loved ones can talk. 
 
A report from the British Geriatrics Society (2020) highlights some innovations and 
collaborations to help protect and improve the care of older people during the pandemic 
(129), examples include: 

 Anticipatory care intervention for those who are high risk  

 Multidisciplinary team response to urgent care needs 

 Hospital at home collaboration to keep people at home 

 Multiagency approach for rapid guidance and support to care homes 

 Advanced care planning to identify individual needs 

 Older people who were cared for on a children’s ward experienced improved well-

being due, in part, to the presence of children’s nurses and play specialists and the 

creative, bright, and joyful ward design  

 Integrated discharge planning 

 Proactive rehabilitation with targeted physiotherapy prior to discharge 

 Delivery of telephone and digital appointments 

Page 2248



   

 

67 

 

8.3   What are the care and support needs?  
8.3.1  Individual  
Resilience in older people 
Third sector organisations articulated during the 
COVID-19 pandemic that there were 
increasingly divisive messages emerging from 
media which exacerbate intergenerational 
tensions, for example, talk of making sacrifices 
during the pandemic to “protect” older people.  
Third sector organisations identified the risk 
that older people, whose contribution to society 
is well documented, will increasingly be seen as 
a drain on resources and that their personal 
stories will be lost in the negative messages 
being disseminated.  These negative attitudes 
and thinking can have an impact upon older 
peoples’ mental health and well-being and should be tackled.  
 
The importance of creating a society where people of all ages are equally valued is 
highlighted in the Royal Society for Public Health report, “That Age Old Question” (130). The 
report highlights that people with negative attitudes to ageing live on average 7.5 years less 
than those with more positive attitudes to ageing. Recent studies show they are also more 
likely to develop dementia. The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales is leading the way in 
the UK through recognising this issue as detrimental to health and to society more widely, 
and her team has launched a campaign, “Taking Action Against Ageism” to encourage more 
people to recognise and challenge ageism. Age UK document the racism as well as ageism 
experienced by the Windrush generation, and others (131). 
 
Diverse needs 
Cardiff and Vale has a diverse population, with people from many different cultures and 
backgrounds, which is a great asset in our communities, but also means that needs can 
differ across the population. Services need to be able to adapt and respond to this diversity, 
as well as to the fact that the coming generations of older people will have different needs 
and offer different assets to the community, for example more will be familiar with digital 
technology as we move into the future. 
 
It is expected that significantly more older people from minority ethnic backgrounds will 
need to access social care services in the future (124), due to families not being able to offer 
the support they perhaps once did. Access to culturally sensitive and appropriate health and 
social care provision is a priority in the Race Equality Action Plan being developed by Welsh 
Government.  

“People are living longer 
which is a good thing yet 

we feel like we are a 
drain on society” – older 

person, focus group 

Page 2249



   

 

68 

 
Long term health needs 
Many older people live in good health, 56.7% of older people in Cardiff and the Vale were 
living in good health in 2017/18 – 2018/19 (56.1% in Cardiff, 58% in the Vale) (132). 
Most (71.6%) of older people responding to the PNA survey rated their well-being as ‘good’ 
or ‘very good’ prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. This dropped to 52.8% in the last year due 
to the impact of COVID-19, but this was still the highest level amongst the groups surveyed. 
 
Only 47.7% of older people in Cardiff and 50.2% in the Vale of Glamorgan live free from 
limiting long term illness (132). 

 
Language and communication  
There is no local data available on the Welsh language profile of older people living in 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. The Strategy for an Ageing Society – Age Friendly Wales 

(116) specifies the importance of ensuring people can use Welsh language services in a way 

that suits them, and this is central to creating an age friendly Wales.  

In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, Arabic, Polish, Bengali and Chinese are the four most 

common languages spoken after English and Welsh. Healthcare service providers have a 

responsibility to provide interpreters during consultations to ensure care provided is 

appropriate and culturally sensitive. Translation services are required for all interactions 

such as pharmacy and housing. Language was an issue raised by the focus groups 

participants, and in the survey around one in six (15.9%) older people felt the care and 

support received has not been in the language or communication format of their choice. 

 

 
8.3.2  Community 
Frailty and falls 
The Healthy Ageing Programme in Wales (116) aims to increase activity among older people, 
reducing frailty and physical decline, and support people to live independently as they get 
older. Demand for services based on levels of frailty are predicted to increase due to the 
increased numbers of older people in the future, and previous modelling predicted an 
increase in demand of up to 31% in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan between 2015 and 

“Language barriers 
prevent me from 
accessing many 

services / activities” 
– older person, focus 

group 

“Services only 
really cater for 
English” – older 

person, focus 
group 

“Need the help 
of my family to 

access many 
services” – older 

person, focus 
group 

Page 2250



   

 

69 

2025. Physical ability was by far the biggest issue preventing older people who responded to 
the PNA survey from being in control over their daily lives (62.9%). 
 
Frailty can be a cause of falls, and falls are a key public health concern for older people. 
Telecare Cardiff undertook some analysis of clients who fell during 2020-21 and found that 
84% of those who fell were repeat fallers, i.e. they had fallen more than once. Strength and 
balance loss was stated as the reason for most of these falls, followed by long term health 
conditions. Telecare are taking a proactive preventative approach to reducing falls among 
clients (133), and Cardiff and Vale UHB has developed a falls prevention service which 
launched in 2018 aimed at reducing people’s risk of having a first fall.  
 
Dementia rates are also predicted to rise which will impact upon service provision. For more 
information about the needs of people with dementia please see chapter 14, and for the 
needs of unpaid carers see chapter 15. 
 
End of life care 
High quality palliative care can improve the quality of life of a person with a life limiting 
illness, and support their loved ones. Welsh Government’s 2017 Palliative and End of Life 
Care Delivery Plan has been extended until March 2022 (134). Palliative and End of life Care 
have been given new all Wales programme status and this work has commenced. The 
national framework for the delivery of bereavement care was published in October 2021, to 
support people in the period prior to, or following the death of a significant person in their 
lives (135).  
 
Due to an aging population, an additional 135,000 annual deaths are projected by 2040 in 
England and Wales, compared to 2014. This is associated with a higher complexity of care 
with more than one serious illness contributing to palliative care needs. Studies have 
estimated that approximately 75% of people who die would have benefitted from palliative 
care (136). Patterns of place of death have changed, with increasing proportion of deaths at 
home and in care homes, and a reduction in hospital deaths, between 2004-2014 in England 
and Wales (137). Marie Curie report that an increased number of deaths took place at home 
in 2020, compared to the 5 years prior, in part due to COVID-19 restrictions and changes in 
care and funding provision. Prior to the pandemic, although half of deaths took place in 
hospital, only 7% of people in the UK stated a preference to die in hospital (138). These 
changing patterns will impact the demand for, and expectations of, palliative and end of life 
care provision and delivery in all settings.  
 
Advance Care Plans facilitate conversations between a person nearing the end of life, their 
family, and health and social care professionals, around the person’s wishes and what 
matters to them, including care preferences, treatments, and their preferred place to die. 
Such discussions enable improved choice, control, and quality of end of life care for the 
person, and lessens the bereavement burden for their loved ones. Advance Care Plans are 
embedded into the Cardiff and Vale UHB ‘Shaping Our Future Wellbeing Strategy 2015-
2025’ (139).   
 

Page 2251



   

 

70 

A review of Specialist Palliative Care Services in Wales published in 2021 identified that 
COVID-19 has brought end of life care into focus. Against a backdrop of the vision described 
by the Welsh Government long term plan “A Healthier Wales”, which aims for services 
provided at, or close to, home in a seamless manner, the following priorities have been 
identified:  

 Equitable provision of and equitable access to palliative and end of life care  

 Build on the principles of value based health care, including patient reported 
outcome measures, and patient reported experience measures  

 Learning from COVID-19, including co-production of care delivery; speed of clinical 
intervention, innovation, and policy; and placing palliative and end of life care 
centrally in future pandemic planning 
 

Currently, Cardiff and Vale UHB has a mixed provision of specialist provision between 
statutory and third sector services.  There is a statutory inpatient specialist palliative care 
service with 24/7 consultant advice, and community nurse specialist support service to 
inpatient hospital sites at weekends during core hours. Most inpatient palliative care is 
provided in hospitals (140), although inpatient hospice care is provided by the Cardiff and 
Vale Marie Curie Hospice. Marie Curie in the Vale of Glamorgan, and City Hospice in Cardiff 
provide specialist palliative care input in the community including care homes. Marie Curie 
provides the Hospice at Home service across Cardiff and the Vale, which works alongside 
district nurses, GPs and families/carers providing core end of life care in the community 
supporting people to remain at home where that is appropriate (141).  
 

8.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Life expectancy is known to be associated with socio-economic status: in 2017, there was a 
life expectancy gap of 8.6 years for males and 6.6 years for females, between the most and 
least disadvantaged areas in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (113) (see also Chapter 4: 
demography). An analysis of life expectancy in Wales prior to COVID-19 found wide and 
increasing life expectancy gaps between the richest and poorest fifths in Wales. For females, 
respiratory disease, cancers and circulatory diseases were most influential, and for males, 
circulatory disease, cancers, and respiratory conditions contributed the most to the life 
expectancy gaps (142).  
 
The Older People’s Commissioner for Wales’ report in 2019 identified that the healthy life 
expectancy gap was 18 years in Wales, between the most and least deprived areas (143). 
The report identifies that older people tend to have lower incomes than people aged under 
60. Approximately one-third of people aged 60-74 in Wales receive an income of under 
£200 a week (£10,400 per year). Women are more likely to be poorer than men (143). 
Pensioners in the poorest fifth of the UK population are more likely to have one or no close 
friends, compared to pensioners in the richest fifth, in research conducted in 2014/15 and 
2017/18 (144).   
 
Financial barriers were prominent in focus group discussions, regarding access to care and 
support services, as well as leisure and community activities. Professionals supporting older 

Page 2252



   

 

71 

people reported that cost of activities can be a barrier for older people. Financial barriers 
should be addressed when services are being provided. 
 
Housing  
Cardiff and Vale’s ageing population has particular implications for the amount, type and 
location of accommodation which is specific to their needs. The majority of older people on 
the Housing Waiting List in both Cardiff and the Vale need one bedroom properties (29) 
(145). Poor or unsuitable housing can impact disproportionately on older peoples’ physical 
and mental health, independence and well-being (145). An assessment of older person’s 
housing accommodation undertaken for the Regional Partnership Board in 2018 (146) 
estimated a need for an additional 3,051 units of older persons’ accommodation by 2035 in 
Cardiff, which should be a mix of housing, housing with care, and nursing care. In the Vale, 
the report forecast the need for an additional 1,297 units by 2035. 
 
The Vale of Glamorgan Housing Strategy notes the anticipated demographic changes and 
increasing trends of the proportion of people with long term limiting illnesses. The need for 
housing to enable people to remain independent is emphasised, for example, through 
provision of high quality, affordable and suitable housing. Alongside this, enablement 
services, Telecare and Extra Care housing are considered (147). The Cardiff Housing 
Strategy, similarly, identifies mechanisms by which to promote people’s independence, for 
example, through availability of specialist housing for older people (such as sheltered 
housing and extra care provision). For example, council sheltered housing schemes will 
include communal spaces, dementia-friendly features, offer charging and storage facilities 
for scooters, and be accessible and culturally inclusive. The Strategy highlights the 
Independent Living Services as a preventative support service to help maintain 
independence (148). A separate Older Person’s Housing Strategy was published in Cardiff in 
2019, which aims to improve existing houses, maintain independence, meet the needs of 
the most vulnerable, and tackle social isolation (145).   
 
Older people responding to the PNA survey were more than twice as likely to report that 
their home was too big, compared to any of the other groups surveyed. Many older people 
require adaptations to their home to enable them to remain living independently (52% 
reported the need for adaptations in the PNA survey). The draft Housing Adaptations 
Strategic Framework developed by Welsh Government provides stakeholders involved in 
the delivery of aids and adaptations, service users and others with a framework which 
facilitates a more strategic and integrated approach to delivering adaptations services at a 
local level. The framework should become operational from April 2022. The framework 
includes the requirement to establish a common understanding of the population need and 
demand for adaptations and identify inequalities and links to RPBs and the population needs 
assessments (149).   
 
Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will be developing new residential units for older 
people in the coming years. In order for these to best benefit the health and well-being of 
the future residents, older people should be considered in the design of these 
developments. For example, enabling people to travel by reliable and regular public 
transport, as well as walking or cycling is vital for older people to stay active and improve 

Page 2253



   

 

72 

their health (150). Well maintained paths, adequate lighting, locating residential units close 
to existing services, and ensuring safe spaces for cycle storage all encourage walking and 
cycling. Charging points for electric mobility aids must be available and accessible at 
locations decided upon in tandem with those who use them.  
 
Domiciliary care  
Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board (RPB) aims to deliver services as close to home 
as possible, through the “@home” integrated care model. This includes the development of 
cluster-based multi-agency teams. These will provide a rapid response to a crisis, prevent 
avoidable hospital admissions, and facilitate discharge home where hospital admission was 
needed. “Home first” is a key theme across all three RPB programmes of Starting Well, 
Living Well, and Ageing Well (151). The RPB vision is of people living the best lives they can 
in their homes and communities, and is supported by the Regional Outcomes Framework.  
 
Domiciliary (home-based) care can be provided by local authorities, independent or private 
providers, and the third sector (152). A Welsh Government White Paper in 2021 identified 
that more adults are receiving care and support services at home, which had increased 
demand beyond available domiciliary care provision prior to COVID-19. Delayed transfers of 
care from hospital were often due to waiting for domiciliary care packages (153).  
 
Analysis of trends in Wales between 2006/07 to 2018/19 identified that although the over-
65 population increased in number, the number of residential care services did not. Possible 
explanations include a preference for domiciliary care, as well as extra care housing, 
informal care from family and friends, and older people living healthier lives (152). The 
Wales-wide report states that the impact of COVID-19 on attitudes towards care homes is 
still unknown (for example, due to excess mortality reported in care homes (154)) but may 
influence the demand for domiciliary care services in future. Future demand may also be 
shaped by the relative prevalence of conditions affecting older adults, for example, 
provision of domiciliary care may be more complex for people who have severe dementia.  
Domiciliary care was observed to be particularly vulnerable during COVID-19 (153) (152). 
 
Research from Cardiff University in December 2021 investigating the impact of COVID-19 on 
domiciliary care workers in Wales found that 28% had sought mental health care, and 
identified emotional and well-being risks to domiciliary care workers such as increased 
workload, isolation, and lack of recognition of value. Risks of exposure to COVID-19 were 
also identified, such as through staff shortages, the personal nature of care provided to 
clients, uncertainty in client COVID-19 status, and impracticalities of using PPE (such as the 
client’s fear; difficulties communicating; glasses steaming up during bathing of clients) (155).  
 
The Social Care Recovery Framework published by Welsh Government prioritises enabling 
older people and disabled people to be active members of their local communities, and to 
remain active and independent in their own homes. The Framework recognises that long 
COVID is likely to impact domiciliary care services through recruitment, retention, and 
management of sickness amongst staff. The Framework aims to increase the capacity and 
reach of domiciliary care through a variety of means, including through the commitment to 
the Foundational Economy (156).  

Page 2254



   

 

73 

 

8.3.4  Unmet needs  
Professional leads identified the need to better understand what older people want from 
services, and giving greater consideration to how best to support people with cognitive 
impairment. Also a need to increase the support around addressing frailty. Focus group 
participants identified the following gaps: 

 Better access to healthcare to meet needs: “struggle to get an appointment, even in 
an emergency” 

 Better public transport systems 

 Improved accommodation: “Better sheltered housing”  

 Enhanced support: “Better support for people to live independently”; “More support 
groups to meet with other people” 

 
Respondents to the professional and provider survey identified the following unmet needs:  

 Access to day care services, domiciliary care, and lifting service 

 Long waiting lists for support services including mental health, physiotherapy, 
hospital services, and care at home; delayed care was identified as increasing 
people’s needs  

 Socialisation opportunities  
 
Gaps in knowledge and understanding include:  

 In depth knowledge and understanding of what older people want from services  

 Consideration of how best to work with people with significant cognitive impairment 

 A common understanding of the population need and demand for adaptations and 
identify inequalities within and between regions. 

 A clear understanding of language needs for older people in Cardiff and Vale 

 Benchmarking and the “social model of care” 

 Where the gaps in service provision are 

 Where to focus prevention work to have the biggest impact on reducing hospital 
admissions 

 
8. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
8.4.1  Prevention and assets  
To address the issues facing people as they age, prevention is crucial as it can keep people 
healthier for longer, living independently, reduce the need for social care and demand for 
other services. These key elements around prevention have been identified by professionals 
and older people: 

 Legal framework around mental capacity, Power of Attorney and Advanced Decision 
making  

 Financial management and support 

 Falls prevention services 

 Mental health and resilience  

 Digital inclusion 

 Integrated health and social care services across sectors 

Page 2255



   

 

74 

 Addressing loneliness and social isolation 

 Maintenance of social roles in families and communities, to give life a meaning 
 
Assets to support well-being 
Focus groups, discussions with professionals 
supporting older people and survey results 
highlighted sources of support and well-
being for older people in Cardiff and the 
Vale.  
 
Family and friends were valued: “I rely on 
family for many things”. Community-based 
settings support independence and well-
being. 42.2% of survey respondents who are 
older people reported to attend a setting 
within their community. Examples of local assets include drop-in centres (“support workers 
at drop-ins”); over 60s clubs in community venues such as mosques, libraries/ hubs, clubs 
such as drama, books, cooking or gardening. Third sector organisations such as Age 
Connects, Age Cymru, Red Cross provided support, and the Alzheimer’s society Dementia 
Friends programme was also helpful. Healthcare services were supportive and care home 
staff “are superb, they take the time to care”. Extra care housing facilitate independence 
amongst people with care needs.  
 
Dewis Cymru provides a list of local and national organisations that can provide help and 
support for residents across Wales, including Cardiff and the Vale, for a range of topics 
including well-being, safety, managing money, being at home, and looking after someone 
(157).   
   

8.4.2  Community services 
Rehabilitation and reablement  
Rehabilitation describes the concept of providing personalised support to an individual to 
enable them to live as active and full a life as possible. This includes reablement, which 
describes the process of regaining skills and confidence. Rehabilitation can prevent a need 
arising or escalating, promote self-management, help recovery after an event such as a 
hospital admission, and span physical and mental health (158).  
 
The five-tiered, evidence-based Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation model, introduced in 2020, is 
shown in Figure 16.4. There are four “rehabilitation rules” that span all five tiers, indicated 
in blue double-headed arrows in the figure. The design principles (in red) are taken from the 
Cardiff and Vale UHB strategy ‘Shaping our Future Wellbeing’. Rehabilitation aims to reduce 
health inequalities, promote independence, pre-empt and avoid crises, and enable people 
to enjoy a meaningful life at home where possible (158).  
 
 

“I lead a rich and fulfilling 
life with lots of family and 

friends to support and 
spend time with” – older 

person, focus group 

Page 2256



   

 

75 

 
Figure 16.4. Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model. Source: Cardiff and Vale UHB (158) 
 
Transport 
Transport was identified in the 2017 PNA as a way of improving people’s independence and 
well-being (159). The Centre for Ageing Better published a report on barriers and enablers 
to active travel amongst people aged 50 to 70, with key themes around physical ability, 
confidence, proximity to amenities, maintained footpaths and cycle paths, social norms, and 
motivation (150). The Welsh Government Strategy for an Ageing Society incorporates public 
and community transport that is accessible to all older people, as a priority. Transport is 
viewed as critical to enable older people to realise their independence, participation, reduce 
isolation and loneliness, and access services. Barriers to access included poor co-ordination 
between transport systems, availability of public toilets, and seating. Free bus travel for 
those aged over 60 is continued in the new Wales transport strategy. Three key areas 
include development of demand responsive transport, improving bus services, and 
supporting people to plan their journeys door to door (116). Health services need to be 
accessible for older people, including by public transport. Age-friendly spaces are discussed 
in the 2019 Director of Public Health for Cardiff and Vale’s annual report (113). 
 
In Cardiff and the Vale, there are a number of third sector community transport providers, 
including Age Connects, Voluntary Emergency Service Transport, Hospital Transport Service, 
alongside others (160).  
 

Page 2257



   

 

76 

8.4.3  Partnership approach 
Future thinking 
The demographic shift will be a significant future challenge, and the demand for social care 
in particular is going to be rising. There are issues with recruitment in social care currently 
which need to be addressed, and there is a need to ensure services are sustainably funded.  
Societal changes such as employers enabling flexible retirement opportunities may impact 
the services demanded and utilised. Social care needs to be sustainably funded for the long 
term.  
 
Person-centred services 
Services need to be joined up. Prevention should be prioritised, in order to support older 
people to live and age well (116). Social prescribing (161) and provision of a wide range of 
support services can enable older people to have their needs met such as addressing 
isolation and potentially reduce their need for health and social care. The Royal College of 
General Practitioners has developed community action plans to tackle loneliness for each of 
the four UK nations. In Wales, the plan aligns with the Well-being for Future Generations 
Act, encourages partnership working between Primary Care and other services, and calls for 
everyone to take action to tackle loneliness (162) 
 
Services need to be flexible enough to meet needs of the individual and their choices. 
There has been a positive shift towards supporting people to stay in their own homes, and 
to have rights to say what they want and need. More people are choosing not to live in 
residential care accommodation, but staying at home and receiving support there, which 
comes from a variety of sources including third sector. There is often still a need for nursing 
care at a point in people’s lives however. A range of service providers needed to work jointly 
– health, local authority and third sector to provide the right care at the right time.  
 

8.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan the number of people aged 65 to 84 years is expected 
to increase from around 70,000 people to around 93,000 people between 2019 and 2039. 
This will mean a rise from 14% of the total population in 2019 to 16.2% in 2039. Figure 8.2 
illustrates the rate of growth expected in this age group between 2019 and 2039. It should 
be noted that predictions become less accurate the further forward into the future they 
project.  

Page 2258



   

 

77 

  
Figure 8.2. Projected population increase aged 65 to 84, 2019 to 2039  
Source: Public Health Wales Observatory 
 
The number of people who are aged 85 and over is expected to rise even more sharply, with 
numbers expected to double in the next 20 years. This will mean a rise from 2.4% of the 
total population in 2019 to 4.2% in 2039. Figure 8.3 illustrates this change. 
 

 
Figure 8.3. Projected population aged 85 and over, 2019 to 2039 
Source: Public Health Wales Observatory 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

Vale of Glamorgan Cardiff Cardiff & Vale UHB

Projected population, counts, all persons, aged 65 to 84, Cardiff and Vale UHB, 2019 to 

2039
Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using 2014 population projections (WG)

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

Vale of Glamorgan Cardiff Cardiff & Vale UHB

Projected population, counts, all persons, age 85+, Cardiff and Vale UHB, 2019 to 2039
Produced by Public Health Wales Observatory, using 2014 population projections (WG)

Page 2259



   

 

78 

 
Health and social care will need to adapt and focus not only on the ongoing impact of the 
pandemic, but the need to continue to build an integrated system which delivers the best 
quality services for the population. Welsh Government will concentrate efforts on the 
“whole system” putting citizens at the centre and surrounding them with resilient local 
communities alongside primary and community care (25). Health services need to be agile 
and responsive and social care services caring, effective and linked seamlessly with local 
communities and health services, to provide support for those in their own homes.  
 
Future demand for formal care for people is not simply linked to the fact that the population 
is ageing. However, the projected growth in the numbers of older people with complex care 
needs (including severe dementia) is highly likely to result in increased pressure on health 
and care services (163), for example, the number of older adults living with severe dementia 
is predicted to double by 2040 in Wales. 
 

8.6  Recommendations  
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board, and private providers to: 

 Recognise the diversity of the “older people” group and provide services to meet the 
needs of such a diverse group, including transport options 

 Continue to embed the Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model  

 Further develop existing collaborations to provide high quality end of life care  

 Integrate care and support services to enable older people to live independently and 
well at home for as long as possible, for example, through the @home programme  

 Promote the use of Dewis Cymru to increase awareness of available support services  
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Support new building developments to meet the needs of an ageing population, and 
increase the provision of a variety of accommodation options to enable older people 
to make informed choices on where and how they live 

 Implement the Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework; and ensure existing 
properties are appropriate, safe, and support older people’s independence  

 Apply urban design standards and accessibility criteria when redesigning existing 
infrastructure, for example, increasing the time for people to cross the road at a 
light-controlled pedestrian crossing (113) 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:  

 Promote the Royal College of General Practitioners ‘Tackling loneliness. A 
community action plan for Wales’ amongst health care providers and partners to 
raise awareness of loneliness, and advise how lonely patients can be identified and 
supported (113) 

 

 

Page 2260



   

 

79 

9. Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term 
Conditions 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Older People; Learning Disability; 
Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid 
Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; VAWDASV; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance 
Misuse; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board, and policy makers to:  

 Anticipate the impact of demographic change on future service demands  

 Consider the impact of socio-economic disadvantage on service users, and how 
services can be provided in a way to reduce inequities, in line with the Socio-
Economic Duty  
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Further progress accommodation solutions that meet the needs of the service users  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Improve access to services, with a focus on mental health services  

 Continue to develop and strengthen preventative health services  
 
Policy makers to:  

 Use the Triple Challenge lens to inform policies and strategies around issues 
impacted by Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change, such as food systems and diet 
(70) 

 
 
 
 

9.1   Overview  
This chapter considers lifestyle and health behaviours such as smoking, diet, physical 
activity, and prevention such as vaccination, as well as long term conditions.   
 
Self-Assessed Health 
Across Wales, since 2016/17, self-reported health has remained fairly stable. However, a 
socio-economic gradient persists. In 2019/20, 81% of people in the least deprived fifth of 
the Welsh population reported good or very good health, compared to 60% of people in the 
most deprived fifth (127).  

Page 2261



   

 

80 

The proportion of adults over 16 years in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan stating their 
health is “good” or “very good” has remained fairly stable, with 75% in Cardiff, and 72% in 
the Vale of Glamorgan in 2018/20. Those reporting their health as “bad” or “very bad” has 
also remained stable: around 8% in Cardiff and 7% in the Vale of Glamorgan (164). 
 
Across Wales, the number of people reporting 2 or more longstanding illnesses has 
remained at 21% in 2016/17 and 2019/20; similarly those reporting to be limited by the 
longstanding illness is similar at 33% in 2016/17 and 35% in 2019/20. Nineteen percent 
consider their activities to be limited a lot by illness (115). 
 
Weight, physical activity, and diet 
Two-fifths of adults in Cardiff and one-third in the Vale of Glamorgan are a healthy weight 
(BMI 18.5-25). Three-fifths in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 55% in Cardiff are overweight or 
obese (BMI over 25) (165). In both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, 29% of the population 
were active less than 30 minutes in the previous week (165). In Cardiff, 4% reported eating 
no fruit or vegetables the previous day (6% in 2016/18); for the Vale of Glamorgan, this was 
7% in 2016/18 and 6% in 2018/20. One third (34%) of those in the Vale of Glamorgan and 
26% in Cardiff reported eating 5 portions the previous day in 2018/20 (165). 
 
The National Survey for Wales 2018/19 reports that 9% of respondents experienced a day in 
the last fortnight where they did not have a substantial meal due to a lack of money. This 
figure was 4% in 2017/18 (166). The Trussell Trust provides consistently increasing numbers 
of food parcels in Wales, although the figures for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
between 2019/20 and 2020/21 do not show this pattern (Figure 6.1) (167). This may be due 
to measures taken by Welsh Government (such as holiday free school meals) or alternative 
provision at a local level (for example, Healthy Start Vouchers, or through Food Cardiff and 
Food Vale). People in the UK who are in poor health, have experienced eviction or divorce, 
and who lack access to support networks including friends and family, are more likely to 
need support from a food bank (168). 
 

 
Figure 9.1. Number of food parcels distributed to children and adults by the Trussell Trust, 
by local authority.  
Source: the Trussell Trust (167) 
 

Page 2262



   

 

81 

Healthy life expectancy  
Healthy life expectancy provides an estimate of years spent in “good” or “very good” health, 
based on self-reported measures, and complements measures of life expectancy, which 
estimates the average number of years an individual would live, were they to experience 
that area’s current age-specific mortality rates for their whole life (169).   
 
Life expectancy as well as healthy life expectancy is higher for females than males at 
national and local authority levels, for 2013/15 and 2016/18 (with the exception that 
healthy life expectancy in Cardiff is the same for males and females at 61.7 years) (170). 
Healthy life expectancy is above the Wales average for residents of the Vale of Glamorgan, 
and males in Cardiff. Of the data presented in Table 9.1 for 2016/18, the biggest difference 
between life expectancy and healthy life expectancy in 2016/18 was 21.2 years for females 
in Cardiff, which equates to 74% of life spent in good health. The smallest difference was 
seen for males in Cardiff (16.5 years) who have 79% of life in good health (170). Note that 
life expectancy calculations are based on the number of deaths registered and mid-year 
population estimates, aggregated over 3 consecutive years. They also provide an average 
figure and do not account for differences in different population groups.  
 
 
Table 9.1. Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy, by area, gender, and time.  

 2013/15 2016/18 
 Life 

expectancy 
Healthy life 
expectancy 

% of life in 
good health 

Life 
expectancy 

Healthy life 
expectancy 

 % of life in 
good health 

Cardiff   

Males 78.3 60.2 77% 78.2 61.7 79% 
Females 82.6 63.5 77% 82.9 61.7 74% 

Vale of Glamorgan    

Males 79.1 64.3 81% 79.3 62.2 78% 
Females  83.2 66.5 80% 83.4 64.4 77% 

Wales   

Males 78.4 61.5 78% 78.3 61.4 78% 
Females 82.3 62.7 76% 82.3 62.0 75% 

UK 

Males 79.2 63.1 80% 79.3 63.1 80% 
Females 82.9 63.9 77% 82.9 63.6 77% 

Source: ONS (170) 
 
Information sources 
The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports 
and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (297 survey 
respondents reported having a long term health condition or physical disability; 5 focus 
group participants with a long term health condition. Findings from a focus group with 10 
homeless participants are also included). It should be noted that the views of those engaged 
are not representative of all people with long term health conditions in the population of 

Page 2263



   

 

82 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived 
experiences.  
 

9. 2   What has changed since 2017?  
9.2.1   Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following key documents have been published:  

 A Healthier Wales: Welsh Government’s plans for health and social care (171) 

 Health and Social Care in Wales - sets out impact of COVID-19, key lessons learned, 
opportunities, challenges, risks, and priorities for the future (25)  

 Healthy Weight; Healthy Wales: Welsh Government’s long term strategy to prevent 
and reduce obesity in Wales (172) 

 The draft Welsh Government tobacco control strategy for Wales and delivery plan is 
out for consultation between November 2021 and January 2022 (173) 

 A health impact assessment of the ‘Staying at home and social distancing policy’ in 
Wales in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, published in June 2020, identified 
positive and negative impacts (174) 

 

9.2.1   COVID-19 
A “triple challenge” now faces health and social care services; this describes the combined 
impacts of Brexit, climate change, and COVID-19. These factors are dynamic and impacts are 
broad across the wider determinants of health. Public Health Wales calls the present time 
point a “window of opportunity” to implement policies to positively influence health, well-
being, the economy, and the environment, in line with the ethos and aims of the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (70).  
 
COVID-19 has had a disproportionate impact across Wales: those in more deprived 
communities with poorer living conditions, overcrowding, higher risk and lower paid jobs 
experienced worse outcomes from COVID-19 (25), and have demonstrated the overlapping 
and cumulative effect of the social determinants of health.  Welsh Government identified 
four areas of COVID-19 related harm:  

1. Direct harm from COVID-19 
2. Harm from overwhelmed health and social care system  
3. Hard from reduction in non-COVID-19 activity  
4. Harm from wider societal actions and lockdown (25) 

 
Figure 9.2 shows the number of COVID-19 cases in Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 
(175). The Cardiff and Vale Annual Director of Public Health 2020 report describes the 
impact of COVID-19 in more detail (19).  
 

Page 2264



   

 

83 

 
Figure 9.2. A map of COVID-19 cases by Middle Super Output Area (MSOA), correct as at 
24.01.2022.  
Source: Public Health Wales Health Protection (175) 
 
Direct harm from COVID-19  
An estimated 58,000 people living in private households (1.9%) in Wales have self-reported 
long COVID of any duration in January 2022 (42). At a UK level, a social gradient is observed, 
with 2.6% of people in households in the most deprived and 1.6% in the least deprived areas 
experiencing long COVID (42). No data are currently available for Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan on the prevalence of long COVID.  
 
The COVID-19 age-standardised death rate per 100,000 for females in Wales was 138.1 
between March 2020 and April 2021; with rates of 126.0 and 178.8 for females in the Vale 
of Glamorgan and Cardiff respectively. For males in Wales, the mortality rate was 220.0, 
with 222.5 in the Vale of Glamorgan and 325.2 in Cardiff (176).  
 
Harm from overwhelmed health and social care system 
The Audit Wales report “Taking care of the carers?” describes how the NHS has looked after 
its staff during the COVID-19 pandemic. Challenges in staff well-being prior to the pandemic 
were recognised, and so strong focus was placed on protecting staff from COVID-19 (for 
example, through infection prevention and control measures, and access to COVID-19 tests 
and vaccinations), as well as supporting mental health and psychological well-being. The 
report identifies the increased stress and exhaustion amongst staff, and highlights the need 
for continued support to prevent long term physical and mental health impacts. Investment 
into NHS staff to develop a motivated and healthy workforce was concluded to be essential 

Page 2265



   

 

84 

to the delivery of high quality health and care 
services that are safe, efficient and effective 
(177). 

Welsh Government reports that health and 
social care services are concerned by staff 
fatigue, and consequent issues with 
recruitment and retention (25).  One focus 
group participant expressed concern for staff 
providing services.  
 
The homeless focus group experienced a negative impact on service provision, with delays 
in delivery. They recognised efforts to house homeless people during COVID-19, and the lack 
of evictions – but stressed that evictions were only one cause of homelessness; others 
included relationship failure, abuse, bereavement, and leaving prison.  
 
Harm from reduction in non-COVID-19 activity  
In the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a reduction in GP attendances for 
possible cancer symptoms as well as a reduction in cancer screening, outpatient and 
accident and emergency attendances in Wales (25). Between March and November 2020, 
3,500 fewer cancers were diagnosed compared to what might be expected for that period 
of time in Wales (25). Due to diversion of resources towards COVID-19, an increase in the 
number of patients waiting more than 36 weeks throughout the secondary care pathway 
was seen, alongside an increase in people waiting for diagnostic tests, and a reduction in 
elective procedures (25).  
 
Harm from wider societal actions and lockdown 
A total of 138,470 people were on the Shielding Patient List in Wales during the first 
lockdown which commenced in March 2020, with 6,000 in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 
13,730 in Cardiff.  In the Vale, 60 were less than 16 years, 3,395 were 16-69, and 2,545 were 
70+; in Cardiff these figures were 250; 8,715; and 4,765 respectively (178). One focus group 
participant with a long term condition stated that COVID “reduced your already limited 
areas of choice in your life”.  
 
Around 16% of those employed in Wales worked in 
industries that closed at the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Women, young people, disabled people, 
and those from an ethnic minority were more likely 
to work in those industries (179). 
 
In the UK, COVID-19 has increased food insecurity, in 
particular amongst ethnic minority groups (180). 
Food insecurity and poverty increase the risk of 
hunger and obesity co-existing (180). Obesity has 
been associated with worse COVID-19 outcomes (25). 
 

“The main barrier is 
the mental barrier 
that the pandemic 
has created in my 

mind” – person with 
a long term 

condition, focus 
group 

“It’s how tired the NHS 
are: I regularly speak to 
my doctors and nurses 
and I see the strain” – 

service user, focus group 

Page 2266



   

 

85 

Positive impacts 
Some benefits have been observed, for example:  

 Health and social care staff and patients/service users: embracing digital 
technological solutions including video consultation and remote working  

 Community spirit: a desire to contribute, and the willingness of people to volunteer 
at local vaccination centres or food banks, or supporting more vulnerable members 
of the community, have demonstrated and developed community resilience   

 Environmental: improvements in air quality through reduced traffic, as more people 
work from home  

 Systems: successful elements of the pandemic response including demonstration of 
successful partnership working to create a whole system approach; and rapid 
implementation of diagnostic testing and digital systems (25) 

 

9.3   What are the care and support needs?  
9.3.1  Individual  
Person-centred approach 
The theme of wanting to be involved in 
decision making came from focus group 
participants of adults with a long term 
condition: “You have to advocate for yourself 
otherwise you are not heard”; however, 
participants recognised the limits of their 
knowledge and wanted to be supported in 
such decisions.  
 
Focus group participants mentioned issues 
which undermined their independence and 
well-being; getting support for the person 
they cared for was the biggest challenge 
they faced. Professional leads felt it was 
important to see the person, and not their 
diagnosis. 
 
Language and communication  
The number of Welsh speakers is projected to increase over the next 30 years. The Annual 
Population Survey reports 883,300 Welsh speakers aged 3+ in 2021, an increase from 2011. 
The Welsh Government aim to reach 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050 (127).  
 
The National Survey for Wales reports that 11% of respondents in Cardiff and Vale were 
given the choice to receive treatment in Welsh or English (range 11-24% across Wales). 
Amongst Welsh speakers in Wales, 24% chose to receive treatment in Welsh (181). Social 
Care Wales report that only 2% of domiciliary care workers are fluent in Welsh and 15% 
have some Welsh in the Vale of Glamorgan. For Cardiff the figures are 3% and 27% (182).  

“Sometimes I am only 
confident to speak on 

things that I have 
knowledge of. I like people 

to speak for me but 
sometimes it’s not then put 
as I would like it” – person 

with a long term health 
condition, focus group 

Page 2267



   

 

86 

 

9.3.2  Community 
Access to health services  
The 2020/21 National Survey for Wales identified that fewer respondents had seen a GP in 
the last 12 months compared to previously: in Cardiff and Vale, the figure was 67%, 
compared to 64% across Wales. The ease of booking a GP appointment in Wales was 
improved in 2020/21 with 76% reporting ease (77% in Cardiff and Vale). In 2020/21, two-
thirds of appointments were face to face, with 32% by telephone (166).  
 
Most (84%) survey respondents across Wales stated they could get the right information to 
lead a healthy life; and 84% reported they could get the right information when unwell 
(166). There may be differences in access to services amongst different vulnerable groups, 
such as gypsy travellers, or sex workers, for example. Focus group participants who were 
homeless struggled to access certain services, particularly mental health services, and so 
were unable to make decisions about how best to deal with their complex needs. Homeless 
people have high prevalence of mental health disorders yet struggle to access mental health 
and other healthcare services. Homeless people are also four times more likely than the 
general population to attend the Emergency Department (183). Difficulties accessing 
services experienced by asylum seekers and refugees are described in chapter 20.   
 

9.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
A Welsh Government review of socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of outcome 
published in November 2021 concludes that socio-economic disadvantage is associated with 
worse health outcomes, through complex mechanisms. Possible explanations include 
through worse access to opportunities for physical activities, poor dietary intake, and 
impacts on mental well-being (55).  
 
The Welsh Government Future Trends report in 2021 identify a slight reduction in poverty 
across Wales, with lower poverty rates in children in Wales compared to the UK, but higher 
poverty in working age adults and pensioners. The qualification profile has improved, inline 
within overall UK trends. The unemployment rate in Wales has decreased since 2013 
(however, rates of in-work poverty are still known to be high) (127).   
 

Page 2268



   

 

87 

Figure 9.3.  

Proportion of the 

population in 

deprivation 

groups based on 

lower super 

output areas. 

Source: produced 

by Cardiff Council 

using Welsh 

Government data 

(20) 

 

 

 The National Survey for Wales 2019/20 identifies that 13% of adults in Cardiff and 8% in the 

Vale of Glamorgan live in material deprivation (a measure of poverty; the extent to which 

people can afford essential items such as heating and food), although this is not a significant 

difference (184). Figure 6.3 shows about half of the population of Cardiff live in the 50% 

least deprived Lower Super Output Areas, and one fifth in the 10% most deprived areas. 

More information can be found in Chapter 4 (Demography).  

 
Across Wales, there is significant variation in lifestyle behaviours according to deprivation:  

 Smoking: 26% of those in the most deprived quintile smoke, compared to 11% of 
those in the least deprived quintile  

 No fruit/vegetables the day before: 12% in the most deprived compared to 6% in the 
least deprived quintile  

 Less than 30 minutes’ physical activity the week before: 41% in the most deprived 
compared to 26% in the least deprived quintile  

 Drinking more than 14 units of alcohol/week: 13% in the most deprived quintile, 
compared to 21% in the least deprived quintile (note unhealthy alcohol intake is 
more prevalent in the least deprived group, in contrast to other risk factors) (165) 

 
Housing  
The Welsh Government Future Trends evidence suggests that the number households is 
likely to increase over the next 20 years, as is the number of people living in single-person 
households in Wales (127).  
 
Welsh Government has recently published the draft Housing Adaptations Strategic 
Framework to aid the delivery of adaptations services at a local level, with an aim to 
operationalise this in April 2022. One of the key aims of the framework is to develop a 
common understanding of the demand and the need for adaptations. Adaptations can help 
maintain independence, reduce hospital admission and facilitate discharge, and delay or 
avoid residential care (149). In 2019/20, 34,341 adaptations were recorded in Wales: 55% 
delivered by Care & Repair, 37% by local authorities, and 8% by housing associations. Most 

Page 2269



   

 

88 

(95%) cost £500 or less. The most common benefits for adaptations were falls prevention, 
followed by independent living (185).  
 
Across Wales, 7% of adults have experienced homelessness. Adults reporting 4+ adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs) have were 16 times more likely to report homelessness than 
those without ACEs. Childhood Resilience Levels were found to protect against ACEs and 
were also associated with lower reporting of lived experience of homelessness. Examples of 
resilience assets include supportive teachers, a trusted relationship with a stable adult, and 
belonging to a community (183).  
 
Focus group participants who were homeless felt that they had little control over what was 
happening to them and that they had been “left” homeless. The duration between referral 
from the Housing Options Centre to hostel accommodation was felt to take too long, which 
exacerbated chaotic situations. People tended to live in the immediate and did not plan for 
the future; delays in decisions were perceived as “an eternity”. Participants found some 
rules troublesome: certain accommodation providers required people to leave by 9am, 
which prevented shift work.  
 
Housing was seen as the first key step in order to gain access to employment, healthcare, 
and other services, such as a key worker. Focus group participants felt that homeless people 
needed access to a key worker the most, but struggled to get this support. Homeless focus 
group participants named Huggard as critical for their independence, as without an address, 
they were unable to access other support. These findings were echoed in engagement 
conducted for the Secure Estate chapter (chapter 19). 
 

9.3.4 Unmet needs  
Focus groups have identified unmet needs:  

 Mental health services linked to long term 
conditions: participants reported insufficient 
support for mental health issues associated 
with their situation. A number of comments 
were made in relation to the current support 
being offered via GPs with a theme coming 
through that people were much more likely 
to be directed towards medication rather 
than other sources of support (e.g. 
counselling, cognitive behavioural therapy). 
COVID was felt to have exacerbated the 
situation. Professional leads observed that 
early identification of mental health illness 
was needed, yet the culture around 
recognition of mental health needs often did 
not support this.  

 Referral times: One participant stated that 
long referral times had effects on other aspects of life, for example, work. 

“There were charities 
providing support to 
people with mental 
health problems but 

they lacked the 
resources to help 

everyone” – person 
with a long term 

condition, focus group 

Page 2270



   

 

89 

 Awareness of available support: participants acknowledged that third sector 
organisations had variable levels of resources available; and that: “support is there 
but you have to search it out“ 
 

Gaps in knowledge included that the emerging science and research on COVID-19 and long 
COVID will continue to evolve. There is currently no local data on the prevalence or impact 
of long COVID and the potential for differential impact within different groups within the 
population. 
 

9. 4  What are the range and level of services needed?  
9.4.1 Prevention and assets  
Prevention has a strong focus in the ‘Health and Social Care in Wales – COVID-19 update’, 
including promotion of the Healthy Weight; Healthy Wales strategy to tackle obesity and to 
prevent diabetes and musculo-skeletal problems. Wider determinants of health also have 
preventative effects, such as employment and financial resilience (25). 
 
COVID-19 vaccination  
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board have administered 392,808 first doses of the 
COVID-19 vaccine, 360,408 second doses, and 274,602 booster vaccines as at 16.01.2022 
(186). Across the Health Board, there are inequities in vaccine coverage, for example, with 
lower coverage in Black, Asian, Mixed, and Other ethnic groups compared to White ethnic 
groups, across all age groups. Actions have been delivered to decrease the gap, with some 
success. Inequities are also observed across Wales between the most and least deprived 
areas (19).  
 
Assets to support well-being 
Assets to support people’s well-being identified in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment 
(159) were thought to still be valid by professional leads. Engagement work identified that, 
at the individual level, friends, family, and peer support was helpful. Community-based 

assets included community projects, and third 
sector organisations (such as Huggard). 
However, it was identified that “to benefit from 
their support you need to have time and 
resources of your own”. The Carers Gateway 
and Advocacy Gateway, as well as online help, 
were sources of support (a finding echoed in 
other chapters in the PNA). Statutory 
organisations, and Welsh Government 
initiatives such as Access to Work were helpful. 
This scheme provides funding for equipment 
for the workplace, travel costs; car 
adaptations; interpreters; and other forms of 
practical support (187). 
 

“If I hadn’t found the 
support groups online I 
don’t think I would be 

here. It took me 16 years 
to get a diagnosis. There 

is no mental health 
support”– person with a 

long term condition, focus 
group 

Page 2271



   

 

90 

 

9.4.2 Community services 
Access to services 
Timely access to the services is critical, with 
mental health services most commonly 
discussed. Services should be provided in a 
location and format that is accessible to the 
user, and promotes health, well-being, and 
enables them to achieve what matters to them.  
 
Long COVID rehabilitation service 
Cardiff and Vale UHB have adapted the Cardiff 
and Vale UHB Model for Rehabilitation (further details in chapter 8) to develop the COVID-
19 Rehabilitation Model. This model addresses the rehabilitation needs of those recovering 
from COVID, as well as those who have experienced paused planned care, those who have 
avoided healthcare services during periods of restrictions, and those who are socially 
isolated or in shielded groups. An accompanying website (www.keepingmewell.com) was 
launched to provide guidance (188).  
 

9.4.3  Partnership approach 
Connected services  
Housing is a critical basis for employment and access to other services. Focus group 
participants felt “trouble makers” were turned away when they needed increased support 
for complex needs. Services should be connected so that individuals can be signposted to 
more suitable sources of support. Awareness of support available should be high amongst 
staff working in public-facing services as well as amongst service users and bystanders.  
 

9.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The Welsh Government White Paper ‘Rebalancing Care and Support’ remarks on the 
challenging climate due to: COVID-19, austerity, the complexity of the care and support 
landscape given the number of providers, and different commissioning bodies and funding 
mechanisms (93). Welsh Government aims to develop a national framework where services 
are designed based on quality, value, outcomes, simplicity, sustainability, partnerships, and 
co-production (93).  
 
The report ‘Health and Social Care in Wales – COVID-19: Looking Forward’ from Welsh 
Government refreshes the health and social care action plan ‘A Healthier Wales’. The core 
of the plan is a whole system approach, with people at its core, and seamless integration 
between health and social care services (25). 
 
Demographic change is anticipated as outlined in chapter 4. This will impact on the 
anticipated prevalence of care and support needs. In terms of lifestyle behaviours, the 
Future Trends report predicts that smoking prevalence will decrease, whilst obesity and the 
proportion of people eating fewer than 5 fruit and vegetable portions a day will increase 

“I live in a very good 
place, I know there is 
support if I need it” – 

person with a long term 
condition, focus group 

Page 2272



   

 

91 

(189). The persistence of the life expectancy and healthy life expectancy gap between the 
least and most deprived is expected to continue in Wales (189).  
 
Understanding the prevalence and impact of long COVID, and planning for COVID-19 
recovery including building on positive impacts (such as digital progress and alternative 
forms of delivering care) whilst minimising harms will be a priority. A Public Health Wales 
report details the unequal implications of Brexit on poverty, health and well-being in Wales, 
in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, impacts on the labour market and 
consequent staff shortages in health and social care; and disproportionate impacts on the 
poorest and most vulnerable, for example, through increases in the price of food, or 
reduced funding for preventative public services (190).  
 

9.6 Recommendations  
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board, and policy makers to:  

 Anticipate the impact of demographic change on future service demands  

 Consider the impact of socio-economic disadvantage on service users, and how 
services can be provided in a way to reduce inequities, in line with the Socio-
Economic Duty  
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Further progress accommodation solutions that meet the needs of the service users  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Improve access to services, with a focus on mental health services  

 Continue to develop and strengthen preventative health services  
 
Policy makers to:  

 Use the Triple Challenge lens to inform policies and strategies around issues 
impacted by Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change, such as food systems and diet 
(70) 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 2273



   

 

92 

10. Physical Disability  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children and Young People with Complex Needs; Older People; Learning Disability; 
Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Adult Unpaid 
Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment; Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers 
(Veterans) 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
All agencies to:  

 Undertake training on disability equality  

 Ensure services are accessible to disabled people; including accessible information  

 Reaffirm social model of disability (79)  

 Work towards a positive and inclusive culture for disabled people  

 Increase awareness of job opportunities for disabled peoples, and how to apply for 
reasonable adjustments with improved links to Access to Work. 

 Increase availability of training for disabled people to further their independence, 
such as travel training (119) 

 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Continue to promote independent living  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to consider mental health alongside physical health in service 
developments  

 
 
 
 

10.1  Overview  
This chapter is concerned with the care and support needs of people with disabilities, 
including physical disability. People with a learning disability are included in the chapters 
regarding Children and Young People, and Learning Disability and Autism. People with 
sensory loss or impairment are included in Chapter 16. The Equality Act 2010 defines 
disability as “a physical or mental impairment [which has] a substantial, long-term adverse 
effect on a person’s ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities” (191). Of note, many 
reports and data sources include a range of disabilities (including physical disabilities) as per 
the Equality Act 2010 definition, and do not disaggregate by disability type. Where 
information relates to a physical disability in this chapter, this is specified.  
 
Welsh Government use the terminology “disabled people” in their reports to refer to people 
with disabilities (79) (81). The most preferred term amongst focus group participants was 
“disabled people”, so this has been used throughout this chapter. One person who 

Page 2274



   

 

93 

preferred to be described as a person with a disability said she did not wanted to be defined 
by her disability.  
 
Data from the National Survey for Wales identified that 32% of adults aged 16 or older in 
Cardiff, 37% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 34% across Wales are limited by longstanding 
illness. These proportions are approximately halved when asked if limited a lot by 
longstanding illness (16% in Cardiff, 19% in the Vale of Glamorgan, and 18% in Wales) (164).  
 
Estimates from the Annual Population Survey show increasing numbers of adults in Wales 
aged 16-64 responding that they have a disability. For Wales, these figures are 267,600 in 
2013/15 to 416,600 in 2017/19, which equates to 21.9% of the population (192). Figure 10.1 
demonstrates the number of people aged 16-64 who reported that they have a disability 
according to the Equality Act 2010 definition in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff, in 2018-
2020. In both local authorities, 19% of the population were disabled. By age band, in both 
local authorities, 11% of 16-24 year olds were disabled. For people aged 24-44, 16% in the 
Vale of Glamorgan and 15% in Cardiff were disabled, and for those aged 45-64, the figures 
were 25% and 29% respectively. A higher proportion of females are disabled compared to 
males, in both local authorities, across all age groups, with the biggest differences in people 
aged 25-44 in the Vale of Glamorgan (11% males and 22% females disabled), and those aged 
45-64 in Cardiff (24% males and 34% females disabled) (193).  
 

 
Figure 10.1. The number of people aged 16-64 who are disabled or not disabled based on 
the Equality Act 2010 definition by sex in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff, for 2018-2020. 
Source: ONS (193) 
 
 

Page 2275



   

 

94 

 
Citizen voice was included from the public survey (292 respondents had a long term health 
condition or physical disability) and a focus group with 8 participants who had a neurological 
condition. Seventy-five respondents to the provider survey provided care and support 
services for people with a long term health condition or physical disability.  
 

10. 2  What has changed since 2017?  
10.2.1 Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following changes have taken place:  

 Welsh Government published ‘Action on Disability: The Right to Independent Living 
Framework and Action Plan’ in 2019. The Framework defines independent living as: 
“all disabled people having the same freedom, dignity, choice and control as other 
citizens at home, work, in education and in the community” (81). The Framework is 
centred around the social model of disability, key legislation including the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities; and The Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (81). 

 The Disability Equality Forum published its report on the impact of COVID-19 on 
disabled people, entitled ‘Locked out: liberating disabled people’s lives and rights in 
Wales beyond COVID-19’. This described the disproportionate impact that COVID-19 
has had on disabled people, and identifies five overarching themes: the social versus 
medical model of disability; human rights; health and well-being; socio-economic 
disadvantages; and exclusion, accessibility, and citizenship (79).  

 
Locally, service provision has changed as follows: 

 The Cardiff and Vale Carer’s Gateway was launched in 2020 in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan. This provides information and support to unpaid carers in order to 
improve the quality of life for carers and the people they care for (194).  

 The Cardiff and Vale Advocacy Gateway was developed in 2018, to provide access to 
advocacy for anybody who needs help to fully participate in their own care and 
support, including information and assistance with understanding the options 
available to them, and support to being heard and having control (195).  

 

10.2.1 COVID-19 
The Welsh Government report ‘Locked Out: liberating disabled people’s lives and rights in 
Wales beyond COVID-19’ details the impact of COVID-19 on disabled people (79). Key 
findings include:  

 The amplification of underlying inequalities, including socio-economic and health 
outcomes. Disabled people experienced disproportionately high mortality from 
COVID-19, of which inequalities in the wider determinants of health (such as 
discrimination; housing; poverty; lack of access to information) were a significant 
contributor 

 The importance of the Social Model of Disability 

 The inaccessibility of public services including public transport, health and social care 
services, and vital public health information. The report calls for diversity and 

Page 2276



   

 

95 

inclusion training which is co-produced, delivered, and accredited by Disabled 
People’s Organisations 

 Disabled people feel their lives are less valued in Welsh society. This aligns with 
another finding of the need to increase representation of disabled people in 
decision-making  

 Disruption in access to health, including mental health, services (further details 
provided below) 
 

Many of these findings are echoed in engagement work conducted for this report and 
included and expanded upon within this chapter.  
 
Focus group participants with a neurological condition stated that even prior to COVID-19, 
there were difficulties with accessing services. COVID-19 has exacerbated these difficulties, 
although participants felt that it was also being used “as an excuse for poor services and 
inaccessible information”. 
 

 
 
Direct impacts of COVID-19 
The ‘Locked Out’ report details the impact of COVID-19 on disabled people in Wales (79). 
Disabled people are disproportionately affected by COVID-19, with two-thirds of COVID-19 
deaths in Wales being amongst disabled people. This was due to: discrimination, poverty, 
employment conditions, inadequate services, and inaccessible information (79). One-third 
of employed disabled people in Wales work in high-risk jobs with respect to COVID-19 
exposure risk (33.2%) which is higher than the general population (30.7%) (196).  
 
In Wales, disabled people feel achievements made within the disability rights movement 
have been lost (79). For example, language used called disabled people “vulnerable” which 
undermined progress (79). Disabled people felt excluded physically and psychologically from 
public life, restricting their independence (79). Strategies did not consider individual 
circumstances, for example, people with visual impairment unable to socially distance or 
navigate restructured spaces; people with hearing impairment being unable to lip read due 
to masks; and increased street furniture adding difficulties for people with mobility 
impairments (79). However, one focus group participant identified the positive impacts of 
working from home to increase access to the workplace for disabled people.  
 

“As we emerge from this pandemic, we must utilise every 
opportunity to improve services for everyone who needs 

them.” – person with long term neurological condition, focus 
group 

Page 2277



   

 

96 

 
Physical health 
Access to medical care has been more difficult, with some conditions not being treated or 
treatment postponed, leading to deterioration in health for some disabled people (79), a 
sentiment echoed in focus groups. Focus group participants report that specialist 
neurological services staff were redeployed into the emergency response and this has 
impacted negatively on people living with neurological conditions. Virtual provision of 
services have been helpful. One participant, prior to COVID-19, took part in MS Society 
Cymru face to face active together circuit-style sessions.  

 
Mental health and well-being 
In Wales, disabled people experienced a disproportionate negative impact on their mental 
health (79). Anxiety ratings have increased, are higher for disabled people (especially 
disabled women), and more disabled people worry about the impact COVID-19 has on their 
lives compared to non-disabled people (79).  
 
Survey respondents with a long term condition or physical disability (n=277) mostly 
reported good or very good well-being before COVID-19 (60%), but this decreased over the 
last year (35%). Around half reported their health was around the same as before COVID-19, 
with a quarter reporting it had worsened a little. Focus group participants in peer support 
groups noted the increased need for mental health and well-being support.  
 
Providers responding to the survey commented on changes in clients’ needs: support for 
emotional, physical and mental well-being, financial hardship. Alternatives to face to face 
service provision has been challenging; and demand for services has increased.  

“I’m disabled, so can only work from home.  Then suddenly 
everyone was working from home. Covid proved people can 
do their jobs from home, so more disabled people should be 

able to access working from home.” – person with a 
neurological condition, focus group  

“… my strength grew and I was able to [take] my first steps 
using a walking frame. When the pandemic hit…I began to 

decline and was increasingly becoming unable to walk 
again. MS Cymru had moved exercise classes online which I 
joined and they helped me to begin walking once more” – 

person with a neurological condition, focus group 

Page 2278



   

 

97 

 
Social care  
Impacts on social care identified by focus group participants include the lack of carers 
available, which has had significant consequences for those reliant on help.  

 

10.3  What are the care and support needs?  
10.3.1  Individual  
Independence and advocacy 
A focus group participant who used a wheelchair stated that their independence varied day 
by day according to whether car drivers had parked outside the house where they lived 
blocking their way out. Welsh Government recognises an enabling environment is needed to 
promote independence, considering access to wheelchair users, contrasts in rooms for 
people who are blind or partially sighted; and background noise levels (81). Three quarters 
(76%) of survey respondents with a long term health condition or physical disability felt they 
had full or adequate control over their life. Barriers to feeling in control included physical 
ability, lack of money, and emotional or mental health issues.  

 

 
Language and communication  
The Welsh language strategic framework ‘More than just words’ emphasises that provision 
of Welsh language services is fundamental for some groups, including stroke services, and 
speech and language therapy services (197). One focus group participant explained the 
importance of care provision in Welsh.  

“The impact of COVID will go on for years and the needs of 
people living with neurological conditions will fall further 

down the priority list” – person with a neurological 
condition, focus group 

“COVID has impacted on delivery of social care services ... I 
need to be put to bed at 8pm because of staffing shortages. 

On another day, 50 minutes after leaving me with 
breakfast, a different pair of carers turn up to give me 

lunch.” – person with a neurological condition, focus group 
 
 
 

Page 2279



   

 

98 

 

 
Welsh Government in ‘Action on Disability’ makes clear that supporting the person’s 
communication is paramount, and that individuals should not be expected to rely on others 
to arrange an appointment or in the consultation (81). Barriers identified during 
engagement for this Framework included inaccessible language and signs being too high for 
wheelchair users; and the subsequent impact that such barriers had on an individual’s 
ability to travel independently (81). 
 
Focus group participants with a visual impairment felt as though they had to constantly 
inform care providers of their need for accessible formats of information, and felt this had 
been worsened with COVID-19. 
 

10.3.2  Community 
Medical care  
Provision of sufficient medical services to 
manage health conditions is needed. Disabled 
people are more likely to experience mental 
health concerns than non-disabled people, in 
Wales (81). Focus group participants sought to 
emphasise the importance of helping people 
with their mental health problems at the same 
time as providing support to them for their long 
term physical health conditions. 
 
Transport 
Access to transport was identified as a need in the focus group as well as through other 
engagement work. Transport is a prerequisite for education, employment, exercise, 
appointments, and socialisation; a lack of transportation contributes to loneliness and lack 
of independence (81). Access to public transport includes needing physical space for 
wheelchair(s); the option to not book in advance; supportive staff members; and having 

“Physical and mental 
health are like hand and 
glove” – person with a 

long term condition, 
focus group 

“My first language is Welsh, I think in Welsh, I speak 
Welsh mainly. I struggle with English and when health 

and care professionals talk to me in English, I can’t 
understand them properly. I have to take time to translate 
it to Welsh in my head first then think about what they’ve 
said then translate it back before I can answer. With cog 

fog this is so difficult and I know that I miss important 
things” – person with a neurological condition, focus group 

Page 2280



   

 

99 

bystander awareness and support (81). Barriers include poor pavement conditions and 
obstructive parking outside. Public sector buildings such as hospitals and leisure centres can 
be challenging due to a lack of lifts and toilet/changing facilities in Wales (81).  

 
10.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Disabled people are more likely to live in deprived areas. In Wales, 8.1% of non-disabled 
people aged 16-64 live in the most deprived 10% of small areas in Wales, compared to 
13.8% of disabled people of the same age who live in these areas (79). One-third of children 
living in a household with a disabled person were living in relative income poverty, 
compared to one-quarter of children in a household without a disabled person (79). COVID-
19 has exacerbated pre-existing financial inequalities in Wales, with more disabled people 
reporting falling behind on bills (16% compared to 7% of non-disabled people) (79).  
 
Welsh Government report that 14.5% of people in employment in Wales are disabled. The 

employment rate amongst disabled adults is 48.5%, and 80.6% amongst non-disabled adults 

(79). In the Vale of Glamorgan, the percentage of disabled people in employment has 

increased from 42% in 2014, to 59% in 2020. For Cardiff, the figures are 47% and 56% 

respectively. The gap between those in employment with and without disabilities has 

narrowed in the same period, from 36% in the Vale in 2014, to 20% in 2020; and from 25% 

to 22% in Cardiff. In the Vale, a higher proportion of females with disabilities were 

employed compared to males between 2014 and 2020. In Cardiff, since 2018, a higher 

proportion of males with disabilities have been employed than females (198). In Wales, 

disabled people are more likely to have lower paid, insecure jobs, and often take freelance 

work in order to accommodate their needs (79). A higher proportion of employed disabled 

people working in high risk occupations (with high potential exposure to COVID-19) 

compared to non-disabled people (79).  

 
Welsh Government comments on the “unacceptable” nature of sustained disadvantage 

through these wider determinants of health (81). Across the UK, people with disabilities 

have experienced more food insecurity: people who have severe disabilities are five times 

more likely to be food insecure (180).  

 

Survey respondents with a long term condition or physical disability were mostly able to 
keep up with bills (83%); had a small amount of money to spend on themselves (79%); and 
were able to keep their home warm in winter (74%). Therefore, a significant minority are 
really struggling to meet their financial needs. 
 
Education and employment  
The disability employment gap has increased in Wales, with disabled people being half as 
likely to be employed as people without disabilities (199). People with disabilities 
experience barriers to education and employment, which can be overcome through 
reasonable adjustment policies in Wales (81). Some disabled people may need assistance 
with finding a job; physical barriers such as transport and building access may prove 

Page 2281



   

 

100 

prohibitive. Welsh Government reports that young disabled people can co-produce 
innovative and low cost solutions to enable them to gain the employment they want (81). 
Improved signposting and awareness to supportive schemes (such as Access to Work) for 
both disabled people and prospective employers was identified as a need by Welsh 
residents (81). 
 
Housing  
More disabled people in Wales live in rented homes rather than owning their homes, with 
46% of disabled people and 28% of non-disabled people in rented homes (79). Barriers to 
obtaining a mortgage include how benefit payments are considered, and the types of 
employment disabled people are more likely to have (79). Finding private rented 
accommodation that meets accessibility requirements may be more expensive and isolating 
(81). There is a recognised shortage of suitable and accessible housing (79) as new builds do 
not take accessibility needs into account, despite an ageing population. Fears around 
COVID-19 transmission risks have led to a reduction in requests for adaptations to housing 
in Wales (79).  
 
Disabled people in Wales are more likely to live in overcrowded conditions (196). In 
2018/19, 11% of Section 75 assessments (households who are eligible, unintentionally 
homeless, in priority need, and owed housing under the Housing (Wales) Act 2014) were 
from households where a member was vulnerable due to a physical disability (196). 
 
People with a disability are more likely to have experienced domestic abuse than non-
disabled adults aged 16-74; with prevalence at 7.5% and 3.2% respectively for men, and 
14.7% and 6.0% for women in England and Wales (196). Within focus groups conducted for 
this report, there were participants who had experienced VAWDASV and a disability, 
demonstrating the need for cross-sectoral thinking to ensure that housing is both suitable 
and safe.  

 

10.3.4  Unmet needs  
A number of unmet needs were identified in reports and engagement work:  

 Person-focused care: For example, some disabled young people were unable to 
access sexual health services due to their disability (81). Financial pressures have 
resulted in closure of some services and groups, which negatively impacts disabled 
people’s social inclusion (81). Survey respondents with a long term health condition 
or physical disability identified barriers to accessing support services, including 
emotional and mental health, lack of confidence, and transport. 

 Medical care: delays in new treatments becoming available; holistic post-diagnostic 
support; support in between appointments; medical care closer to home; specialist 
psychological support 

 Rehabilitation: focus group participants wanted access to rehabilitation services 
longer than the 6 weeks offered  

 Respite: Focus groups identified that respite care could be improved; this was also 
discussed in the engagement for ‘Action on Disability’ by Welsh Government (81) 

Page 2282



   

 

101 

 Lack of domiciliary carers: a perception that carers had left their jobs to work 
elsewhere  

 Understanding of long-term conditions: the ‘Locked Out’ report identifies 
thoughtlessness as a key contributor to disabled people not feeling valued, and 
feeling excluded through lack of access to essential services (79). Focus group 
participants reported a lack of understanding of their conditions by medical staff 
 

Gaps in knowledge and understanding were identified: a lack of data on access to 
healthcare services for disabled people (199), although we have clear information on access 
to primary care assessments for people with learning disabilities.  
 

10. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
10.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Advocacy is a key tool for prevention; assisting with signposting to the right support. 
Information on services must be up to date to facilitate the individual receiving the right 
help from the right service at the right time. Information must be accessible to service users, 
taking their communication needs into account according to Welsh Government (81). 
Additionally, the Action on Disability framework calls for early intervention from health or 
social care as appropriate, so that a crisis point is not reached (81).  
 
Employment 
Welsh Government cites Disability Champions and disability award schemes as a mechanism 
by which to increase work opportunities (79), or through inclusive recruitment and Disability 
Confident Schemes (200). Prominent advertising of how to arrange reasonable adjustments 
within job descriptions and applications, as well as in the workplace, should help 
recruitment and retention of disabled people.   
 
Assets to support well-being  
Professional leads identified that assets in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment (159) are 
still valid. Subsequent reports and engagement work have identified the following as 
particularly relevant at a community level: the Carers Gateway and Advocacy Gateway 
(identified by professional leads), as well as day centres, where service users appreciate the 
familiarity of the environment. Third sector organisations such as MS Society Cymru and 
Dystonia Society Cardiff and Vale Facebook group; as well as third sector helplines, peer 
support groups, online forums, and a wide range of other resources were valued. Access to 
higher education was improved through Disabled Students Allowance (81). Employment was 
identified to support independence, promote confidence, and build social networks (81). 
Children in Wales Getting More Involved in Social Care project enables young disabled 
people to train peers and professionals on participation, and have developed an app on 
exercising their rights (81).  The Education Programme for Patients Cymru who provide self-
management courses for people with a long term condition was identified by professional 
leads as supportive.  

Page 2283



   

 

102 

 

 
    

10.4.2  Community services 
Signposting between services 
One focus group participant stated of support services: “It’s an art to find out what’s 
available”. Signposting between different organisations, including for housing and benefits 
advice, would improve service user awareness. Half of survey respondents who reported a 
long term health condition or disability found it difficult to find information and advice 
available to them; suggesting respondents were not adequately signposted to advocacy 
services to assist them in finding and understanding information. 
 

10.4.3  Partnership approach    
Sustainable services 
Many disabled people cited concerns around funding cuts; increasing pressure on services 
to meet needs; and their own deteriorating health. One focus group participant stated: 
“Social care is in crisis and the most vulnerable will be left to fend for ourselves”. Providers’ 
concerns for the future included funding, demand-resource mismatch, and staff shortages.  
 
Culture and Attitudes 
Disabled people experience hate crime: South Wales Police recorded 181 incidences of hate 
crime due to disability in 2018/19 (Wales total 443); and 8,256 for England and Wales 
combined. Since 2011/12, there has been a year on year increase in the number of recorded 
hate crime due to disability in England and Wales, with a 49% increase in numbers between 
2016/17 and 2018/19. However, hate crime incidents recorded by South Wales Police 
between 2014/15 and 2018/19 have fluctuated between 137 and 218 (201). 
 

“I’ve only been out of the house three times since March 
2020. I’ve always been independent and giving the reigns to 
somebody else has been difficult. But I’ve had to get used to 

it. Through MS Cymru I’m now doing tai chi, physio, yoga, 
coffee mornings, bingo, quizzes, knitting and crafts, choir 
and Time to Chat online. I’m so busy now I wonder, what 

did I do with my time before? I’m meeting with people living 
with MS from around Wales and the rest of the UK who I 
wouldn’t have met ordinarily. It’s wonderful making new 

friends” – person with a neurological condition, focus group 

Page 2284



   

 

103 

To combat this, a supportive and enabling culture is needed: including an environment that 
promotes people’s independence, and the presence of role models and prominent figures. 
For example, work is ongoing to overcome barriers (such as negative attitudes, physical 
access, and lack of communication support) to people with disabilities gaining public 
leadership roles such as local councillors (81). Staff training, including inclusion and 
diversity, is already incorporated in many workplaces. Educational material needs to be co-
produced by people with disabilities (79). Focus group participants asked for service user 
participation, underpinned by a co-production and participation strategy to be developed. 
 

10.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The predicted number of people aged 65+ who struggle with activities of daily living is 
anticipated to increase by 38% from 22,845 in 2020 to 31,424 by 2040 in Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan (202). Although there are more females than males who are predicted to 
have difficulties with essential tasks; males will have proportionately more of an increase 
(40% compared to 36%). The greatest number of people and the greatest increase will be 
seen in the 80+ age group (202). These figures should, however, be interpreted with caution 
as estimates become increasingly uncertain the further into the future they project.  
 
The White Paper on Rebalancing Care and Support observes the increasing care and support 
interventions to meet the needs of people who are disabled, or have severe long term 
illnesses, and are living longer (93).  
 

10.6  Recommendations 
All agencies to:  

 Undertake training on disability equality  

 Ensure services are accessible to disabled people; including accessible information  

 Reaffirm social model of disability (79)  

 Work towards a positive and inclusive culture for disabled people  

 Increase awareness of job opportunities for disabled peoples, and how to apply for 
reasonable adjustments with improved links to Access to Work. 

 Increase availability of training for disabled people to further their independence, 
such as travel training (119) 

 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Continue to promote independent living  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to consider mental health alongside physical health in service 
developments  

 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 2285



   

 

104 

11. Learning Disability  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People with Complex Needs; Physical Disability; Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and 
Impairment 
 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Continue to base services on co-production; individual care and support plans should 
also be co-produced 

 Focus services towards what is important for the individual, such as encouraging an 
active independent lifestyle, and promotion of friendships 

 Build on existing provision to provide opportunities for work and activities, as per 
the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy (84) 

 Ensure information provided is accessible and jargon free to improve service access 
and maximise their impact 

 Identify and mitigate against inequities amongst people with learning disability 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Continue to promote the “community first” approach when planning placements 
and accommodation 

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to improve uptake of annual health checks and screening  
 
 
 

11.1   Overview  
A learning disability is identified when an individual has a significantly reduced ability to 
understand new or complex information, to learn new skills with difficulties coping 
independently, which started before adulthood (92). Welsh Government has adopted the 
social model of disability, and it should be noted that although the term “people with 
learning disabilities” does not align with this model, this is currently the preferred term 
amongst members of All Wales People First (79). This chapter focusses on adults; children 
with learning disability are discussed in chapter 6. 
 
The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy for Adults with Learning 
Disability 2019-2024 states that, in 2017, there were 7,081 adults in Cardiff estimated to 
have a learning disability, of whom 1,175 received support from the Learning Disability 
Services (equal to 78% of people with a moderate or severe learning disability). For the Vale 
of Glamorgan, 2,400 adults were estimated to have a learning disability, of whom 448 

Page 2286



   

 

105 

received support from Learning Disability Services. This represents 90% of those with a 
moderate or severe learning disability (84). 
  
There is a voluntary register held within each local authority which has more up to date 
data, but this underestimates the number of people with learning disability: in Cardiff, there 
were 1,389 people with learning disability on the register in 2018/19; in the Vale of 
Glamorgan there were 496 people with learning disability on the register during this time 
period (203). In 2019/20, the GP register for Cardiff and Vale had 2,220 people registered 
with learning disability (1605 from Cardiff, and 615 from the Vale of Glamorgan), of 15,448 
people registered across Wales (204). 
 
Engagement was conducted with 20 participants who attended one of three focus groups. 
In addition, 27 respondents to the public survey stated they had a learning disability or 
autism; and 61 respondents to the provider survey provided services for people with 
learning disability or autism. Their views are not representative of the population of people 
with learning disability in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but provide depth of insight to 
complement other data sources.  
 

11.2   What has changed since 2017?  
11.2.1  Prior to COVID-19  
The following changes have taken place since the previous Population Needs Assessment.  
Nationally:  

 Learning Disability Improving Lives Programme (2018), which promotes community 
support to reduce admissions, and promote early discharge (205). 

 Improving Care, Improving Lives report by the National Collaborative Commissioning 
Unit in 2020, which highlights the care received by inpatients in learning disability 
hospitals (96).  

 Reducing Restrictive Practice Framework in 2021 which applies to health and social 
care, education, and childcare settings (206). 
 

Regionally:  

 Cardiff and Vale Learning Disability Needs Assessment was published in 2018 (92). 

 Publication of the Cardiff and Vale Joint Commissioning Strategy for Adults with 
Learning Disability in 2019 (84). 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB service improvements including implementation in 2018 of 120 
Learning Disability Champions in the University Health Board; two new UHB Acute 
Liaison Nurses in 2020; a daily report notifying of all inpatients with a learning 
disability; Easy Read feedback questionnaires; and launch of the “1000 Lives” care 
bundle (43). 

 In Cardiff, a transition day service was developed for young people with complex 
needs, and a further education college course for young people with complex needs 
is being piloted. Child to adult services transition were improved through social 
services systems and staffing; and a support planner service that through person 
centred planning, supported people to access a wide range of inclusive community 
opportunities prior to COVID-19. The Vale of Glamorgan has a complex needs day 

Page 2287



   

 

106 

service and young people are accessing community opportunities and college 
courses at Cardiff and Vale Barry college site. 

 

11.2.2  COVID-19 
Health impacts of COVID-19 on people with learning disability  
In Wales, COVID-19 has disproportionately affected people with learning disability, resulting 
in a higher mortality rate not due directly to the learning disability, but due to other factors 
(79). Analysis of mortality data from March to November 2020 demonstrated, at a Wales-
wide level, a higher rate in the people with a learning disability as compared to the general 
population (207). Further analysis of data is needed to understand the direct and wider 
impacts of COVID-19 on mortality and morbidity at the health board level. Professional 
leads have identified that people, their families, and service providers have worked hard to 
support people to remain safe.  
 
People with learning disability are in a priority group for COVID-19 vaccination. However, 
getting the vaccination for COVID-19 has been challenging for some as learning disability 
was not recorded in their primary care medical records in Wales. The immunisation 
experience was reported to be better in the presence of a family member or carer; a 
healthcare professional who took additional time to explain the process; and personalised 
approaches to the vaccination such as administration at home or in the car (208).  
 
The three Easy Read survey respondents reported neutral or good well-being before COVID-
19 and currently. They felt their health is the same or better now than before COVID-19.  
One focus group participant was concerned about their weight: “put on too much weight 
lately” and praised interactions with the dietitian.  
 
Carers of people with learning disability in Wales report fatigue and stress (208). A minority 
of carers in a Learning Disability Wales report had received respite (208). 
 
Impact of COVID-19 restrictions  
Focus group participants (n=20) identified COVID-19 restrictions as a barrier to doing what 
matters to them through the closure of community organisations, and the impact of 
physical distancing, limiting social interactions. Learning Disability Wales report that some 
school students who were unable to understand the restrictions, blamed school staff for 
limitations on socialisation, which had a negative impact on relationships between staff and 
students (208). 
 
Welsh Government reported that those shielding have experienced loneliness and 
depression (79). Restrictions have negatively impacted relationships and people’s sense of 
independence (79). Differing restrictions at different periods of time in different areas have 
contributed to stress and anxiety – in particular for individuals living in shared households 
(79). 
 
The lack of face to face services is challenging for many service users, professionals, and 
carers. However, some people with learning disability have seen the reduction in services or 
virtual services as beneficial; and have identified new ways of connecting with others using 

Page 2288



   

 

107 

digital platforms (79). Professional leads reported that some individuals preferred virtual 
communications, and increased access to services especially for those in the Vale of 
Glamorgan, where transport may be difficult. In planning COVID-19 recovery, individuals’ 
communication preferences should be taken into account.  
 
A Learning Disability Wales report has identified a positive impact of COVID-19; stating “new 
opportunities to learn skills previously not available to [people with learning disabilities] 
have emerged, which it was previously wrongly assumed would be beyond their capabilities” 
(79). 
 
Impact of COVID-19 on service delivery 
Providers of care and support for people with learning disability and autistic people 
responding to the PNA survey identified that service users were: increasingly reliant on 
family members; had difficulties with isolation, mental health, financial hardship, and 
increasing challenging behaviours; and a lack of respite for carers. 
 
Professional leads reported that staffing of services was challenging, with difficulties in 
recruitment and retention including of agency staff. In Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, 
staff teams have transitioned to working at home. Services have worked hard to support 
staff wellbeing and develop new ways of working to meet local needs and outcomes. Many 
mainstream and specialist day opportunities temporarily closed during the pandemic.  The 
local authorities were able to maintain complex day services albeit at reduced capacity.  
Third sector and private providers worked hard to maintain contact with individuals known 
to them and services reopened when government guidance allowed and worked to increase 
capacity as it becomes safe.  Respite services continued but at a much reduced capacity 
during this period. 

 
11.3   What are the care and support needs?  
Many of the needs identified in the 2017 Population Needs Assessment remain valid. 

 
11.3.1  Individual  
Health  
People with learning disability are more likely to have or develop other comorbidities; and 
face additional barriers to investigation and diagnosis. For example, 40% will develop 
moderate/severe hearing loss but are less likely to receive a diagnosis than the general 
population; 25-40% will develop mental health problems but these may not be diagnosed as 
they may be attributed to the learning disability. Dementia, vision loss, epilepsy and other 
conditions are much higher in people with learning disability than the general population 
(84) (92) (96). Dementia often presents at a younger age in people with learning disability, 
and is more prevalent: 22% amongst people with learning disability, and 5% in the general 
population aged 65+ (92). 
 
The Royal National Institute of Blind People (RNIB) estimate that 10% of people with 
learning disability are blind or partially sighted and those living on their own are less likely to 
have received a recent eye examination than those living with support staff (92) (209). In 

Page 2289



   

 

108 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, an estimated 3,792 adults have learning disability and 
moderate/severe hearing loss (92).  
 
Behaviours of concern can be prevalent in children with learning disability and often persist 
without intervention; this increases the risk of substance misuse, mental health issues, and 
interaction with the criminal justice system (92). 
 
Language and communication  
Data from 2017 identified only 13 adults with learning disabilities in Cardiff who were Welsh 

speakers. This is anticipated to increase as more children and young people receive Welsh 

medium education (84).  

Survey respondents with a learning disability or autism wanted better support and wider 

understanding of non-verbal communication, and increased access to Makaton. Easy Read 

survey respondents wanted people to speak calmly, plainly, and without jargon. The small 

number of respondents to both surveys is acknowledged, and is not representative of the 

wider population of people with learning disability. 

Friendships and relationships 
Friendships, family, and partners are important to people with learning disability: “Going on 
holiday with my mum, going on holiday with our group”. The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Joint Commissioning Strategy consultation identified the need for an active, fun social life 
for adults with learning disability (84).  
 
Prior to COVID-19, 13/24 survey respondents said they felt lonely some or all of the time, 
whereas now 18/24 feel lonely. Easy Read survey respondents stated they spend some or 
lots of time with other people; as they did before COVID-19. All three respondents received 
help from family, a friend or a neighbour.  

 
11.3.2  Community 
Supported Autonomy and Co-Production   
Professional leads observed that routine involvement of people with learning disabilities in 
consultations had improved, however, true co-production should be the aim. The Cardiff 
and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy includes co-production, collaboration, 
choice and control through listening and jointly finding solutions (84). 

 
Focus group participants had strong opinions about 
their rights to independence and decision making, 
and believed that they exercise those rights: “I speak 
for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect 
my life, or have someone who can do it for me”; 
“Nobody tells me what to do”. Some did 
acknowledge that this was within a framework of 
boundaries set by others: “It’s right for other people 
to advise, if they think it’s the wrong decision they 
have to step in”. However, one person 

“I ask my family for 
advice, they say it’s 
my decision in the 
end” –person with 
learning disability, 

focus group 

Page 2290



   

 

109 

demonstrated increased reliance: “I rely on other people to steer me and tell me what to 
do”. Future independence was linked to moving into their own place with friends or a 
partner, but participants were aware that their learning disabilities may make this 
challenging: “I have dyscalculia, how am I ever going to move out and pay my bills?” 
 
Survey respondents with learning disability or autism mostly reported having adequate or 
full control over their lives (16/24); whereas 7 stated they had no or low control. All three 
Easy Read survey respondents reported they feel they are treated with respect, and that 
their voice was heard in decisions regarding their care and support.  
 
Health care 
Difficulties accessing healthcare was 
commented on in the focus group.  
 
A Wales-wide report on health care 
for people with learning disabilities 
identified concerns that not all 
people with learning disability had 
an up to date care plan with input 
from the full multi-professional 
team, however, many were positive 
regarding their care (96). The review 
noted that a community-first approach to care should be taken to avoid inappropriate or 
lengthy hospital admissions, and transitions should be carefully planned with all agencies 
involved (96). Restrictive interventions should be kept as a last resort (96) and a holistic 
approach should be employed to managing or preventing such use.  Previous engagement 
identified the need for accessible and understandable information provision, the right 
support at the right time (including early, crisis, respite, and specialist support), and smooth 
transitions between children’s and adult services (84).  
 
Professional leads identified the importance of providing reasonable adjustments to 
improve access to healthcare. The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning 
Strategy will work towards this through co-production with the Learning Disabilities 
Partnership Group; and recruiting a Learning Disability Liaison Nurse to work in Cardiff and 
Vale UHB (84).  
 
Transport  
Affordable, accessible transport and access to assets were identified in focus groups. 
Professional leads observed that this is especially important in the Vale of Glamorgan due to 
its rurality. Focus group participants wanted to feel safe in their local community, for 
example, when walking the dog.  
 

11.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
There are no local data available on deprivation and learning disability; however, it is 

recognised more widely that social determinants of health including material deprivation (a 

“Doctors are all automated, you 
can’t get a service, I just want to 

phone someone and make an 
appointment I can’t do it online” 

– person with a learning 
disability, focus group 

Page 2291



   

 

110 

measure of poverty; the extent to which people can afford essential items such as heating 

and food (184)), contribute to the inequalities in health experienced by people with learning 

disability (92).    

Focus group participants discussed their desire for 

good, secure, paid work – and emphasised the 

importance of work for their mental health.  

Financial worries impact on other decisions: 

“Worried about financial things if I move, where 

do you start with all the bills?” In both Cardiff and 

the Vale of Glamorgan, a Support Planning Service 

helps people identify vocational and leisure 

activities, such as voluntary work and community 

groups (84).  

Easy Read survey respondents reported that they had a small amount of money to spend on 

themselves each week, and that they were able to pay bills and debts on time.  

 
Education and employment  
Focus group participants expressed their desire for a job, and were positive about getting 
support at work to help them do what matters to them. Small numbers of people with 
learning disabilities are undertaking foundation apprenticeships or traineeships (40 in 
Cardiff; 15 in the Vale of Glamorgan) (210). Professional leads identified establishment of 
roles with local colleges (such as Cardiff and Vale College) so that those who are unable to 
undertake a full course can still gain experience and life skills. Curriculum pillars on the 
Personalised Learning Pathway at Cardiff and Vale College include health and well-being, 
employability, community, and independence (211).  
 
Complex day opportunities have improved in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
Professional leads identified that Cardiff is skilled in positive behavioural support whereas 
the Vale of Glamorgan is skilled in dealing with complex health needs. Further development 
aims to provide holistic services in both areas. A pilot has been undertaken in Cardiff and 
Vale to meet local need and wishes and develop local day opportunities and further 
education for those transitioning from school, through partnerships working with education 
colleagues. It also includes the development of an adult plan, which looks at local 
opportunities for people who wish to stay locally. This has been positively received by 
people with learning disabilities, their families, and school staff; enabling people to maintain 
friendships and support networks (84). 
 
Survey respondents with learning disability or autism were mostly in work or education 
prior to COVID-19 (15/24), and currently 14/24 remain in work or education. Four did not 
work due to illness or disability; and three were caring for a family member. Note that these 
are small numbers that are not representative of the wider community of people with 
learning disabilities.  
 

“I’m worried about my 
paid work, I need it for 

my mental health” – 
person with learning 

disability, focus group 

Page 2292



   

 

111 

Housing  
Community placements for people with learning disability are offered in the person’s own 
home, with parents/family, in foster home, or in lodgings/supported living, and should be 
considered the default for most people. For people in crisis, specialised community care 
should be the first port of call, with inpatient care reserved for those who cannot be safely 
managed in the community (96). A 2018 needs assessment for Cardiff and the Vale UHB 
identified that approximately 50% of people with learning disability were living in their own 
homes (92).  
 
Of the 390 people open to the Vale of Glamorgan learning disability team in 2021, 71 were 
in supported accommodation and 46 in residential placements (including residential homes 
for older people, residential college and in and out of county placements). In addition, there 
were 23 households supporting 32 individuals in long-term adult placement (29). Seventeen 
people are in residential placements funded by Cardiff and Vale UHB (212).  
 
In 2021, in Cardiff, there were 310 people living in local supported living accommodation, 26 
people in adult placement, 109 people live in residential provision funded or part funded by 
Cardiff Council, and 38 people living in residential care funded by Cardiff and Vale UHB (30).  
  
The Closer to Home Project within the Cardiff Housing Strategy aims to provide local 
placements for people with complex needs (89). In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Supporting 
People Programme has prioritised the provision of additional adult placements for people 
with learning difficulties or mental health issues (213). The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Joint Commissioning Strategy prioritises “having my own home”; which will support people’s 
independence, for example, developing the Adult Placement Service to enable friends to live 
together, as well as reducing the number of people placed out of area (84). Both Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan provide support for independent living that enables people and their 
families to have confidence in paying bills and dealing with safety at home.  

 
Needs identified by focus group participants included addressing the long waiting list to 
move house; living more independently for example with a partner or friends; and being 
provided with more details on the property before moving in. Participants understood 
“home” to be a way of living and the people you live with rather than the physical building, 
therefore no responses were given around housing conditions; although it was felt that 
mental health needs needed to be taken into account by housing support services. 
Participants who lived on their own linked it to their independence: “I’m quite happy and 
carefree”. These responses are in line with other engagement work in Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan (84).  

“I really enjoy doing my own thing, I feel more confident 
and independent, now I catch the bus on my own so it 

makes me feel more independent” – person with learning 
disability who lives on their own, focus group 

Page 2293



   

 

112 

 

11.3.4  Unmet needs  
Engagement work and professional leads have identified the following areas of unmet need:  

 Independence: a need for support for independent living that enables people (and 
their families) to have confidence in activities such as paying bills and dealing with 
safety at home 

 Healthcare services: difficulties making an appointment; a need for more specialised 
mental health services; lack of forensic services for people with learning disability 

 Employment: a need for more good quality secure jobs with support 
 
The following gaps in knowledge were identified:  

 Estimated numbers of people with learning disability are known, but comprehensive 
confirmed figures are not available 

 Deprivation levels in populations of people with learning disability  

 Sexual health needs amongst people with learning disability 
 

11. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
11.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Prevention of comorbidities is crucial; especially given the increased prevalence of 
additional medical diagnoses amongst people with learning disability. Based on a regional 
needs assessment, people with learning disability are more likely to be under- or over-
weight (79); weight management is therefore important and dietitians were respected in 
focus group discussions. However, other lifestyle risk factors such as smoking and drinking 
are at a lower prevalence amongst people with learning disability (79), and so may not 
require focussed attention to the same extent. Wider social determinants of health 
including having supportive communities are also preventative and key to well-being.  
 
In 2016/17, 45% of people who were on the learning disabilities register in Cardiff and Vale 
had a health check with their GP (84). In 2019/20, of the 2158 patients on the GP learning 
disability register, 854 (36%) had received an annual health check (41).   
 
Focus groups and survey respondents identified many assets as supportive to their well-
being. At a personal level, family, friends, partners, and pets were supportive: “Walking my 
dog, he makes me happy”. However, some people were anxious about encountering things 
they were scared of, such as fireworks, and people on bicycles. Family were seen to 
facilitate access to services. People within the local community made focus group 
participants feel welcome, for example “they know who I am, when I moved here my mental 
health got better”; “out in the street I feel independent, people make me feel like I am 
treated OK and not judged”.  
 
The following organisations working within the local community were identified:  

 Third sector organisations such as Cardiff People First, Vale People First, and 
Newport People First were identified as supporting people to make their own 
choices: “[it] makes me happy”. Voluntary work within local charities was 
appreciated  

Page 2294



   

 

113 

 Groups that provided a sense of 
purpose and social interaction were 
especially valued. These included local 
community assets such as church, cafes, 
local shops, green places for walking, 
exercise classes, and adult education  

 Local Authority services such as social 
workers, and NHS services, for example 
dietitians 

 
Professional leads identified Dewis Cymru as a helpful resource.  
 

11.4.2  Community services 
Healthcare services  
Healthcare services need to be aware of the high prevalence of comorbidities in people with 
learning disability. The higher mortality experienced by people with learning disability needs 
to be addressed as a priority in planning future services. Services need to provide early 
intervention, specialist intervention, and adopt a community-first approach (92). People 
with learning disability wanted to access healthcare themselves, for example over the 
telephone rather than booking an appointment online; services should consider the 
preferred method of communication by service users.  
 
Work, volunteering and day opportunities 
The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy promotes work, 
volunteering and day opportunities; people remarked on the positive impact in terms of 
confidence and independence. Existing services include day services, support planners (who 
work with people to understand their wishes in the development of care packages), and 
links with a number of third sector organisations and community groups. Future plans 
include focusing on people transitioning from child to adult services and building further 
links to develop more opportunities (84). Professional leads state that Cardiff Council have 
the Into Work scheme, providing specialist employment support for people with learning 
disabilities. The Vale of Glamorgan Council has Vale Communities for Work, a free 
programme that, through specialist support, helps job seekers in the Vale to access 
employment and volunteering opportunities. 
 

 

“[named staff member] 
is a very good listener, I 
can call her any time” – 

person with learning 
disability, focus group 

“After college, ‘T’ was very isolated at home with few friends.  A support planner helped 
them identify what they wanted to do and learn. This included confidence with travelling, 
making friends, doing an IT course, learning a sport and working towards employment.   
They were supported to find a full week of opportunities including IT courses, interest 
based social clubs, tennis lessons, and a referral to ‘into work’ which will support training, 
confidence building, and seeking employment” – case study, role of the support planner 
(30) 

Page 2295



   

 

114 

11.4.3  Partnership approach 
Co-production is a keystone in current service provision The Cardiff and Vale Joint 
Commissioning Strategy plans to expand on this, for example, through including service 
users in contract monitoring and review meetings (84). Focus groups organisers reported 
that participants “were very pleased to do this focus group and would like to do more, it 
made them feel more independent and like their opinions matter”. Provider survey 
respondents recommend availability of clear information free of jargon, and provision of 
documents in Easy Read including clock times. 
 

11.5 What is likely to happen in the future? 
The Cardiff and Vale Joint Commissioning Strategy estimates that the number of adults with 
learning disabilities in Cardiff will increase by 125 between 2017 and 2025; and will stay 
stable in the Vale of Glamorgan (84). In line with wider demographic changes, the 
population of people with learning disability is aging. In addition, people with learning 
disability have increased likelihood of development of other comorbidities such as dementia 
(84) (96), which will increase demand for and change the nature of care and support needs 
(93). 
 
The Liberty Protection Safeguards are planned to apply from April 2022 onwards, and 
protect people aged 16 and above who need treatment through deprivation of liberty but 
are unable to consent (214). 
 

11.6 Recommendations  
Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Continue to base services on co-production; individual care and support plans should 
also be co-produced 

 Focus services towards what is important for the individual, such as encouraging an 
active independent lifestyle, and promotion of friendships 

 Build on existing provision to provide opportunities for work and activities, as per 
the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Commissioning Strategy (84) 

 Ensure information provided is accessible and jargon free to improve service access 
and maximise their impact 

 Identify and mitigate against inequities amongst people with learning disability 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Continue to promote the “community first” approach when planning placements 
and accommodation 

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Continue to improve uptake of annual health checks and screening  
 

  

Page 2296



   

 

115 

12. Autism 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People with Complex Needs; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; 
Adult Unpaid Carers; Sensory Loss and Impairment 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Continue to develop opportunities for co-production, and the involvement of autistic 
people in decisions around their care and support plans  

 Improve data collection to better understand the number of autistic people, and 
associations with socio-economic deprivation and language needs.  

 Embed the Code of Practice in the delivery of Autism Services 

 Develop inclusive recruitment, for example, through the Disability Confident Scheme 
(200) or Positive About Working with Autism Programme (77) 

 Improve wider societal awareness of autism and develop a supportive culture 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Develop accessible and flexible respite services 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Reduce waiting list times for assessment by the Integrated Autism Service 
 
 
 

12.1  Overview  
Autism spectrum disorder describes “the group of complex neurodevelopmental symptoms, 
of variable severity, that are characterised by challenges in social interaction and 
communication and by restricted or repetitive patterns of behaviour, thought and sensory 
feelings”. Language in this chapter will align with the Welsh Government’s Code of Practice 
on the Delivery of Autism Services, where “autistic people” is used instead of “people with 
autism”, as preferred by those who contributed to the document (78).  
 
In Cardiff, there are 1,370 autistic children and young people aged 0-17, and 509 in the Vale 
of Glamorgan. For those aged 18+, there are 3,201 autistic people aged 18+ in Cardiff, and 
1,165 in the Vale of Glamorgan (94). Note that not all autistic people will have been 
diagnosed. The needs of autistic children and young people are considered in chapter 6.  
 
The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports 
and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work: 27 survey 
respondents who had learning disability or autism (note that not all respondents answered 
all questions); 1 autistic person in an interview; and 61 respondents of the provider survey 

Page 2297



   

 

116 

supported people with learning disability or autism). It should be noted that the views of 
those engaged are not representative of all autistic people in the population of Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about their lived experiences.  
 

12.2  What has changed since 2017?  
12.2.1 Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following has been implemented since the 2017 Population Needs 
Assessment: 

 The Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated Delivery Plan 2018-2021 was published (77), 
as well as the Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services 2021 (78). The 
Code sets out the range of support services for assessment, diagnosis, health and 
social care and broader work around training and awareness raising.  

 
Within Cardiff and Vale University Health Board:  

 The Integrated Autism Service (IAS) was formally launched in Cardiff and Vale in 
September 2017, although it has been operational since September 2016.  

 
12.2.1 COVID-19 
Mental health 
Across Wales, negative mental health impacts were particularly significant for autistic 
people during the pandemic, specifically depression and anxiety. This may be linked to social 
isolation and the financial impacts of COVID-19 restrictions (79). Lack of access to self-help 
activities further compound isolation (79). The ‘Locked Out’ report intersectionality 
reference group reported that following cessation of support for young trans people, trans 
autistic people had particular difficulty (79). The report identified that ambiguity around 
regulations has been particularly stressful for autistic people, in part due to “vigilantism” by 
others (79). 
 
An interview conducted for the Population Needs Assessment identified the following 
concerns: “my office closed because of COVID, I’m worried I might have forgotten how to do 
some of the things in my job. I was worried about going on the bus or being in busy places”.  
Prior to COVID-19, 13 of 24 survey respondents who reported that they had learning 
disability or were autistic, felt lonely some or all of the time, whereas by October 2021, 18 
of 24 felt lonely. 
 
Impact on care and support provision  
Face to face services were paused in line with government restrictions. For some clients and 
staff, this was difficult due to a reduction in access to services, or a dislike of alternative 
provisions of care (for example, virtual appointments). For some carers, this exacerbated 
stress and fatigue. However, for some service users, the lack of face to face services was 
beneficial, as the demands on them were reduced. In addition, for those who lacked 
transport, virtual services are more accessible.  
 
The IAS had increased waiting times for new appointments and as at August 2021 it was 18 
months (215). The Delivery Plan recommends a 26 week waiting time target from referral to 

Page 2298



   

 

117 

assessment (77). During the 4 months where face to face services were stopped, no new 
diagnoses were made. However, support for autistic adults, carers, and professionals was 
provided through non-face to face mechanisms (76). 
 
Providers of care and support for people with learning disability and autism responding to 
the survey identified that service users were increasingly reliant on family members; had 
difficulties with isolation, mental health, financial hardship, and increasing behaviours of 
concern. There was also a lack of respite for carers. 
 
Impact on workforce  
Difficulties staffing services was observed during the pandemic, due to staff illness or self-
isolation, or due to staff leaving. Respondents of the provider survey had provided more 
online or telephone services; and some had had to reduce the services that they offered.  
 

12.3   What are the care and support needs?  
12.3.1  Individual  
Independence and person-centred care  
Professional leads identified the need to support individuals to develop skills to enable them 
to live as independently as possible. This was echoed in an interview conducted for this 
assessment: “I want to be taught how to do things so I will be able to cope after mum and 
dad are dead, worried I might not be taught enough while they are still alive”. This individual 
felt autonomous, stating: “I tend to try hard to do things, and when I come to the conclusion 
that I can’t do things by myself I tend to ask”. A case study from Cardiff and Vale IAS 
reported in the National Autism Team 2019/20 Supplementary Annual Report states that 
the case had previously found it difficult to work with mental health professionals as they 
did not understand the case; however, the case was able to develop good rapport with the 
IAS Assistant Psychologist, which helped subsequent therapeutic interventions (216). 
 
Language and communication  
Welsh Government has published a Welsh language impact assessment on the Code of 

Practice for the Delivery of Autism services (217). In addition to this need nationally, 

regionally survey respondents wanted better support and wider understanding of non-

verbal communication, with increased access to Makaton.  

 

12.3.2  Community 

Integrated Autism Service  
The IAS provides diagnostic assessment of autism for adults who do not have a learning 
disability or meet the criteria for secondary mental health services; and their families, carers 
and professionals. Data from the IAS from 2020/21 shows that 1,589 people sought support 
from the IAS, of which 1,186 were new referrals from a range of people: 585 for diagnostic 
assessment or support for autistic people; 504 from professionals requesting training, 
advice or consultation; and 97 were carers requesting support. Over the year, 88 diagnostic 
assessments were provided (mostly in the last quarter, due to COVID-19 restrictions). This 
figure prior to the pandemic and in the financial year 2021/20 is significantly greater (76).  
 

Page 2299



   

 

118 

Access to timely diagnostic assessment is important, as demonstrated by feedback to the 
IAS. The IAS contributed the development of the Autism Code of Practice due to be 
published in 2021 and are represented in the National Autism Advisory Group. 

Transport  
Professional leads identified the need for accessible and affordable transport, especially in 
the Vale of Glamorgan, which is more rural than Cardiff. This was echoed by the 
interviewee: “my bus pass is helpful. It means I can get to work”.  

 
Respite  
Professional leads identified that carers of autistic people needed respite that was 
accessible, and flexible.  

 
12.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Culture  
The social model of disability has been formally adopted by Welsh Government, which 
recognises that a person with an impairment can become disabled by societal barriers, such 
as attitudes, physical and organisational infrastructure. The social model of disability 
enables people to feel and be more included (78).  
 
The interviewee stated that the 
most important point they wanted 
to convey was around a lack of 
understanding from people 
around them.  
 
Professional leads felt that autistic 
people are increasingly included in 
terms of public sector 
consultations, but there is still 
improvement to be made in terms 
of working towards true co-
production.  

“My whole life suddenly made sense – why I see things 
differently to others, find social situations awkward, 
struggle with change and unpredictability and like 

everything ordered and structured. This diagnosis has given 
me a renewed identity and purpose” – autistic person, 

feedback to IAS (70) 

“…too much misunderstanding, 
people just assuming that if I 

don’t do something quickly that 
I’m not going to do it at all 

without being told, they just jump 
in” – autistic person, interview 

Page 2300



   

 

119 

 
Deprivation  
No local data are available on the socio-economic characteristics of autistic people. Support 

provided by the IAS includes guidance on benefits and employment. The Code of Practice 

asks organisations to promote inclusion of autistic people (78). Increasing awareness of 

inclusive recruitment will enable more autistic people to gain higher quality jobs in Wales 

(200).  

 
Skills development 
Professional leads are working to 
improve skills development for 
autistic people, through liaising 
with local colleges to provide 
voluntary work and non-accredited 
courses. This will enable people to 
gain experience of college life, and 
contribute to promoting 
independence.  
 
Work-based learning provision in 
Cardiff for autistic people included 10 apprenticeships and 15 traineeships; fewer than five 
people were in apprenticeships and traineeships in the Vale of Glamorgan in 2019/20 (218).  

 
Survey respondents with learning disability or autism were mostly in work or education 
prior to COVID-19 (15/24). In October 2021, 14 remained in work or education. Four did not 
work due to illness or disability; and three were caring for a family member. 
 
Housing  
Professional leads identified the need for supported / sheltered accommodation for some 
autistic people; currently individuals may have mental health placements but they are not 
sufficiently tailored in terms of support. Adult placements have been a positive experience, 
especially where people have been placed in a family home. Stakeholders have identified 
the need for a specialist autism facility for people in crisis in Wales.  
 

“Volunteering in the shop … helps 
me get up. I liked being able to 
help people like me … I can’t do 
everything but by doing things 
other people have less to do” – 

autistic person, interview 

“I feel I have become a totally different person, with the 
fantastic new working pattern which I was granted thanks 

to the IAS, my confidence has doubled & I feel my 
assertiveness/speaking out has really improved since I 

started work again” – autistic person, Cardiff and Vale IAS 
(379) 

Page 2301



   

 

120 

The interviewee raised concerns about maintaining independence at home in the future, 
suggesting the need for support in advance of possible life changes: “I’m worried about 
coping in my property when Granny is gone (granny is 97). I’ve had some good starts when 
granny has gone out.”  

 

12.3.4  Unmet needs  
Survey respondents wanted more autism-specific support, and age-appropriate inexpensive 
social groups and activities locally. The interviewee added that social connections were 
important: “having more opportunities to make friends and meet people my own age would 
be good.” 
 
Gaps in knowledge and understanding included:  

 Lack of data on the number of autistic people in our population (with and without 
learning disability)  

 Lack of data on accommodation needs for autistic people  

 Lack of data on the Welsh language profile and deprivation levels amongst autistic 
people  

 

12. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
12.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Advocacy work supporting specific challenges faced by autistic people enables person-
centred care provision, appropriate signposting to other services, and confidence building 
(76). Appropriate and early referral to the right sources of support helps prevent further 
needs arising or escalating.  
 
Assets to support well-being 
The interviewee and survey respondents identified a number of sources of support including 
family, who also help with money and appointments, and support from other autistic 
people. Within the community, they identified work (paid and voluntary) as a particularly 
important support, and specialist services such as Ysgol Y Deri. The programme Engage to 
Change was identified as supportive of employment. Church was also helpful: “going to 
church helps me to understand other people”, as were opportunities to exercise.  
 
The IAS is an asset, identified as such by feedback provided to the service (76), and by the 
interviewee. Other sources of support include Autism Wales, who provide support on a 
range of topics from financial management to dental care. Professional leads identified 
Dewis Cymru as a helpful resource.  

“The people there were nice, and they helped me when I 
was struggling, I always struggle to get started but when I 
know how to do it, I can do it” – autistic person, interview 

Page 2302



   

 

121 

 

12.4.2  Community services 
Pathway approach  
The IAS employs a pathway approach, so that autistic people and their carers can receive 
support throughout their journey. This includes an Autism Post-diagnostic Support Group. 
(76).  

 
12.4.3  Partnership approach 
Multi-sectoral working 
The IAS has partnered with a range of agencies including the Welsh Local Government 
Association, the National Autism Team, third sector, local authority, and mental health 
services, and is open to autistic over the age of 18. The IAS promotes autism advocates and 
develops support networks. The Spectrum Star (an outcome measure focussing on the 
service user) is used to structure support (76). According to Welsh Government, sectors 
outside of health and social care need to be involved in training and awareness raising to 
develop a supportive culture (77) 
 

12.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The number of people aged 18-64 with an autism spectrum disorder is expected to increase 
by about 13% (425 people) between 2017 and 2035, with one third of the increase in the 
35-44 year old age group. The biggest increase by proportion is in those aged 75+, with an 
anticipated 75% increase (230 people) between 2017 and 2035 (92). 
 
The Code of Practice for the Delivery of Autism Services plans for Autism to become its own 
chapter in future Population Needs Assessments (78) 
 

12.6  Recommendations  
Third sector, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Continue to develop opportunities for co-production, and the involvement of autistic 
people in decisions around their care and support plans  

 Improve data collection to better understand the number of autistic people, and 
associations with socio-economic deprivation and language needs.  

 Embed the Code of Practice in the delivery of Autism Services 

 Develop inclusive recruitment, for example, through the Disability Confident Scheme 
(200) or Positive About Working with Autism Programme (77) 

 Improve wider societal awareness of autism and develop a supportive culture 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Develop accessible and flexible respite services 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Reduce waiting list times for assessment by the Integrated Autism Service 
 

Page 2303



   

 

122 

13. Adult Mental Health  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; 
Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Cognitive Impairment 
including Dementia; Adult Unpaid Carers; Asylum Seekers and Refugees; Substance Misuse; 
Secure Estate; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
All agencies to:  

 Develop data systems to address the gaps in our knowledge 

 Monitor the evolving understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on mental health 

 Support housing transition to avoid homelessness for mental health service users 
 

Cardiff and Vale UHB and Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Commission enhanced peer support services to promote independence 

 Redesign mental health services so that waiting times decrease and there is easy 
access to mental health services when in a crisis 

 Co-produce meaningful outcome measures with mental health service users 

 Assess the efficacy of novel interventions, for example in the Recovery College 
 
Third sector to: 

 Promote independence and advocacy for people with mental health conditions 
 
 
 
 
 

13.1   Overview  
The WHO definition of mental health is that: “Mental health is a state of well-being in which 
an individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can 
work productively and is able to make a contribution to his or her community.” (219). In this 
context, the term “adult” refers to those aged 18 and over. 
 
Measuring mental health in the population is frequently reliant on surveys based on 
samples of the population. The Office for National Statistics conducts an annual survey of 
well-being, for measures such as life satisfaction, feeling worthwhile, anxiety levels and 
happiness. For example, life satisfaction (a score from 0 to 10, where 10 is the highest 
possible level of satisfaction) has increased in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
overall, but has been higher in the Vale over the last 5 years. For the impact of COVID-19 on 
mental health, see section later on in this chapter. 

Page 2304



   

 

123 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 13.1. Average score of life satisfaction over time; Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, 
2011-12 to 2019-20. Source: ONS (220) 
 
According to findings from the National Survey for Wales, the percentage of people with a 
self-reported mental disorder has remained relatively stable over the last 3 years for Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan (see Table 13.1 below). This regional average masks a slight 
increase in the Vale of Glamorgan from 8% to 11% over the 3-year reporting period. This 
question was not asked in previous survey years and therefore there are no results prior to 
this reporting period. 
 
 
Table 13.1: Age-standardised percentage of adults with a mental disorder, 2016-17 and 
2017-18 to 2018-19 and 2019-20 

Year Cardiff Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Cardiff and Vale 
of Glamorgan 

Wales 

2016-17 and 2017-18 8% 8% 8% 9% 
2017-18 and 2018-19 9% 9% 8% 9% 
2018-19 and 2019-20 9% 11% 9% 10% 

Source: Stats Wales (221) 
 
Suicide is a response to a range of personal, community and societal factors (222). A small 
number of people will go on to die by suicide, which is tragic for all concerned. On review of 
Figure 13.2, suicide rates, whilst showing an undulating trend due to small numbers, have 
been below the Welsh average in recent years across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. 

 

Page 2305



   

 

124 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 13.2. Age-standardised suicide rate per 100,000 population, 2002-04 to 2017-19. 
Source: ONS (223) 
 
The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports 
and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (circa 100 PNA 
survey respondents; and four PNA focus group participants). It should be noted that the 
views of those engaged are not representative of all adults with mental health conditions in 
the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about 
their lived experiences. 
 

13.2   What has changed since 2017?  
13.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
The Welsh Government Strategy ‘Together for Mental Health’ (224), launched in 2012, has 
almost completed its 10-year term. The most recent Mental Health Delivery Plan will finish 
in 2022 (225). The key priorities include: 

 Improving mental health and well-being and reducing inequalities 

 Improving access to support for the emotional and mental well-being of children and 
young people 

 Further improvements to crisis and out-of-hours provision for children, working age 
and older adults 

 Improving the access, quality and range of psychological therapies for children, 
working age and older adults 

 Improving access and quality of perinatal mental health services 

 Improving quality and service transformation 
 
‘Talk to Me 2’ (222), the Welsh Government’s strategy for suicide and self-harm prevention 
across Wales runs from 2015 to 2022. In South East Wales there has been a Regional 
Coordinator for Suicide and Self-harm prevention (covering Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan; 
Gwent and Cwm Taf) in post since 2020. In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan our refreshed 
Suicide and Self-harm Prevention Strategy was launched in November 2021 (226). This 
multi-agency strategy and action plan, entitled: ‘The right support, at the right time, in the 

Page 2306



   

 

125 

right way: working together to reduce suicide and self-harm’, outlined the following 
overarching goals: 

 
Regionally, there have been several service developments over the last 5 years, in particular: 

 A shift towards cluster and locality level working 

 Cardiff and Vale Recovery College has been developed, running online courses for 
adults with mental health challenges, carers and for staff working in mental health 

 St John’s Ambulance is now commissioned to transfer service users in crisis to 
hospital, therefore decreasing the waiting time for this to happen 

 Mental health services are moving towards trauma-informed care in the services 
that they provide and develop 

 
13.2.1  COVID-19 
Lockdown restrictions 
During the early phase of COVID-19 restrictions (by May 2020), 43% of UK Psychiatrists were 
already seeing an increase in urgent and emergency mental health referrals and a 45% 
decrease in routine appointments (227). The Office for National Statistics (228) noted that 
there was a higher proportion of people in Great Britain reporting to be depressed during 
June 2020 (19.2%) as compared to between July 2019 and March 2020 (9.7%).  
 
According to the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group, some participants found the pandemic 
lockdown measures reassuring and they felt safer.  However, some were anxious about the 
opening up of society and the increased risks of contracting the virus, leading to greater 
isolation. 
 
As the pandemic progressed, by June 2021, the majority (59%) of people surveyed in Wales 
(circa 600 respondents) stated that their mental health had stayed the same, as compared 
to earlier on in 2020 (229). In contrast 33% stated that their mental health was “a bit worse” 
or “much worse” (229). More recently (since the beginning of May 2021), there has been a 
downward trend in those people surveyed who worried “a lot” about their own mental 
health and well-being with this sustained at 20% or lower since then, see Figure 13.3 below 
(230).  
 

To reduce suicide and self-harm and their associated impacts in the population of 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan  

 Reduce the number of people who take their own lives, or attempt to do so 

 Reduce the number of people who self harm and the severity of injury in 

those who do 

 Reduce the impact of suicide and self harm on those who care for individuals 

directly affected by these issues 

Page 2307



   

 

126 

 
 
Figure 13.3. COVID-19 Recovery Profile – Mental Wellbeing, Wales 
Source: Public Health Wales Observatory (230) 
 
Care and support provision 
The findings from the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group were mixed in terms of care and 
support for mental health during the pandemic. Some participants welcomed the move to 
online services and meetings and hoped that this would continue post-pandemic with 
hybrid services / meetings. Third sector organisations were referenced as trying innovative 
ways of linking in, with Sefyll (CAVAMH), Ty Canna and Grassroots mentioned as positive 
examples. Some participants felt more able to reflect: “Things slowed down and that was 
good, I had the time and space to work on myself”. 
 
In contrast, others stated that services had become worse for them: “My Primary Mental 
Health Service got a lot worse” or “CMHT [community mental health team] services that 
were vital fell apart, CPN [community psychiatric nurse] and Consultant left without being 
replaced, with awful consequences for mental health.” 
 

13.3   What are the care and support needs?  
13.3.1  Individual  
Language and communication  
According to ‘More than just words’ (231), mental health service users are a key group for 
services to be available in the Welsh language, and to receive the Welsh language offer. 
Unfortunately, there is little information on first language collected my mental health 
services. However, interpreters are provided on request when required. 

Page 2308



   

 

127 

13.3.2  Community 
Timely access to services 
An unpublished Mental Healthcare Needs Assessment, completed in August 2017 defined 
the care and support needs for working age adults in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan. A 
common theme was having timely access to support services, as there are frequently long 
waiting times for counselling and psychological therapy.  
 
Treating physical and mental health conditions holistically 
The unpublished Mental Healthcare Needs Assessment also references an English report 
that stated that 30% of the population have one or more long-term conditions; e.g. 
diabetes, arthritis, asthma, cardiovascular diseases, HIV/AIDs or certain cancers. It reported 
that at least 30% of all people with a long-term condition also have a mental health problem 
(232). This equates to around 9% of the adult population having both a long term physical 
health condition and a mental health condition, indicating a need to treat both holistically. 

 
13.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Life satisfaction in Welsh adults varies between different communities. Based on Public 

Health Wales Observatory analysis, as at 2018 there was a 14% difference between the age-

standardised percentage of the most and least deprived fifths’ life satisfaction scores (233). 

Since 2013, there has been a consistent gap in life satisfaction between most and least 

deprived fifths communities in Wales, see Figure 13.4 (233). 

 

 

 
Figure 13.4. High sense of life satisfaction – age-standardised percentage, persons aged 16 

plus, most and least deprived fifths in Wales, 2013-2018. 

Source: Public Health Wales Observatory (233)  

 

Page 2309



   

 

128 

Socio-economic disadvantage also impacts upon suicide rates. Men who are from the most 

disadvantaged backgrounds have the highest rates of suicide in Wales, according to a 

Samaritans report (234). In order to counter this trend in Wales, the men who were 

generally socially disconnected and struggling with feelings of suicidality, told the 

Samaritans that the key elements of a successful service for them included: the ability for 

men to make a contribution; a feeling of being included; and the opportunity to work 

towards common goals (234).  

 
Education and employment  
In the UK, the estimated cost of mental health in the workplace was almost £35 billion in 
2016/17, according to the Centre for Mental Health (235). This was due to: sickness 
absence; reduced productivity at work; and replacing those who leave due to their mental 
health (235). This demonstrates that employers need to cultivate a healthy working 
environment, promote well-being in the workplace, and support those with mental health 
conditions and their return to the workplace (235).   
 
The Health Foundation report that having good mental health is important for employment 
prospects and that unemployment creates stress and adverse health consequences; 
therefore the relationship between employment and mental health is bi-directional (236).  
 
Across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan the Out Of Work Peer Mentoring Programme is 
delivered by Platfform. They support people with a mental health or substance misuse 
problem to find their volunteering, training or employment opportunity goals, if they have 
been out of work for more than 12 months (aged over 25); or not in education, employment 
or training (aged 16-24). 
 
Housing  
Housing affordability and 
subsequent housing 
insecurity has a two-way 
relationship with mental 
health: prior mental health 
conditions have an impact on 
housing outcomes; and 
housing affordability (and 
therefore housing 
conditions) predict health outcomes, including mental health outcomes (237). Both Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities have Housing Strategies that support people 
with mental health conditions (89) (213). 
 
Local authorities in Wales have responsibility for assessing local needs regarding: housing-
related support, strategic planning and commissioning housing-related services (238). 
Housing support can take many forms via the local authority or commissioned third sector 
provision. Settings of support can include: shared and self-contained specialist housing; or 
temporary housing solutions such as hostels, shared properties or self-contained housing 

“I’m ok where I am currently but I will 
have to move out soon and I might 

become homeless and the uncertainty 
about the future is terrible” – Mental 

health service user, focus group 
 

 

Page 2310



   

 

129 

(213). Housing support was highly valued by PNA focus group participants: “Moving out of a 
hostel to a flat has been challenging but overall positive with third sector services to support 
me.” Focus group participants felt that decent housing was “central to well-being.” 
However, some people voiced that their housing situation was not meeting their mental 
health needs: “My accommodation is a massive negative for my mental health and well-
being, I have huge issues with my housing provider.” In some instances people’s mental 
health was affecting their housing conditions: “where I am now is better than previous 
places but because I’m unwell I’m not dealing with maintenance issues.” 
 
Across Wales, the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 ensures that clients will be treated as in priority 
need should they find themselves homeless or threatened with homelessness.  This 
legislation states that: ”a person who is vulnerable as a result of old age, mental illness or 
handicap or physical disability or other special reason, or with whom such a person resides 
or might reasonably be expected to reside” can be considered in priority need for housing. In 
Cardiff, the pattern of homelessness is often associated with having multiple adverse 
childhood experiences, leading to mental health and substance misuse issues (239). The 
Cardiff Homelessness Strategy (239) states that Cardiff local authority aims to provide a 
person-centred, trauma-informed approach with multi-agency support to clients to prevent 
the “revolving door” of homelessness. The Vale of Glamorgan Homelessness Prevention 
Strategy has a focus on people receiving mental health services and includes the 
development of a robust hospital discharge process including from mental health wards 
(239) (240). Between April 2015 and March 2018, there was a 214% increase in those in 
priority need due to having a mental illness or learning disability in Cardiff (239). In 
November 2019 (over a 2 week period) there were an estimated 92 rough sleepers in Cardiff 
and 1 in the Vale of Glamorgan (241). 

 

13.3.4  Unmet needs  
Feedback from focus groups with mental health service 
users and carers, to Mental Health Clinical Board (Cardiff 
and Vale UHB) during 2018 and 2019, outlined the 
following areas for improvement: 

 Involvement in service design 

 Communication and information, for example: 
regarding decisions, discharge matters, and inter-
agency communication  

 Timely access to services 

 Post diagnostic support 

 Consistency of care 

 An easy route through services 

 Follow up on discharge from hospital 

 Help with drug and/or alcohol problems 
 

“It took 18 
months to get 
psychological 

support following 
the referral” - 
Mental health 

service user, focus 
group 

 

Page 2311



   

 

130 

The PNA focus group undertaken had 4 participants, and therefore may not be 
generalisable. There were two key themes, which also resonated with the Mental Clinical 
Board’s findings above: 
 
Timely access to the right support at the right time 
Based on the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group’s findings, some services were difficult to 
access due to lengthy waiting times. Examples given were: Advocacy Matters, Primary 
Mental Health Support Services and Psychological and Counselling services. Furthermore, 
Cognitive Behavioural Therapy, once provided by Cardiff Mind had ceased due to funding 
withdrawal. Experiences in getting the right support at the right time were largely unmet 
needs, based on the focus group findings. It was clearly stated that preventative or timely 
early intervention could prevent difficulties spiralling into a crisis situation.  
 
A mental health crisis response service 
The Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group 
participants thought that a mental 
health intervention when things are 
beginning to go wrong, or when people 
are in crisis would be important and 
may avoid attendance at the Emergency 
Department.  
 
These unmet needs findings were 
corroborated by CAVAMH’s report: ‘My Say’, which outlined that a significant proportion of 
people in Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) did not know who to contact in a crisis 
(242). 
 
The key gaps in knowledge are: 

 Knowing what the employment status and needs are for our population with mental 

health conditions  

 Having meaningful outcome measures for our mental health service users 

 The number of Welsh speakers known to services  

 The effectiveness of specific interventions that have yet to be fully evaluated in 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, for example, Recovery College  

 The long term effect of COVID-19 on population mental health 

 

13. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
13.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Prevention 
The PNA focus group had 4 participants which is therefore not representative of all people 
with mental health conditions, but such settings do enable a depth of insight, albeit on a 
small scale. Focus group participants thought that a number of services had the potential to 
help with future well-being and work in a preventative manner. These included, on a 
personal level, social support and friends. One to one support, psychological support and 
Community Psychiatric Nurses were seen as helpful, as was mentoring and peer support. 

“I got a crisis response, but 
only when I went to A and E” 

Mental health service user, 
focus group 

Page 2312



   

 

131 

Third sector organisations such as Advocacy Support Cymru, Bi-Polar UK, Speakeasy (legal 
advice and support), and Sefyll (CAVAMH) were identified to offer preventative input. Day 
Support (such as that offered by Ty Canna and Mind in the Vale of Glamorgan) as well as 
Cardiff and Vale Recovery College were helpful.  
 
Assets 
The PNA focus group considered many of the same organisations as assets to support their 
well-being, for example, one to one support, psychological support and Community 
Psychiatric Nurses were noted as helpful services for the individual. At a community level, 
friends and social networks, events (e.g. music, concerts), arts centres, cinema, peer support 
and clubs were considered supportive. Educational settings’ mentoring and support systems 
were seen as invaluable, and voluntary work to help others, as well day centres, such as Ty 
Canna – “offering “amazing” practical and social support” were well regarded. Third sector 
organisations offering mental health support were seen as positive for example, Sefyll (part 
of CAVAMH), Bi-Polar UK and CCAWs (Community Care and Wellbeing Service). 
 
Advocacy was a real source of support for many - 
Advocacy Support Cymru and Advocacy Matters 
were two organisations highlighted as being 
particularly helpful. Cardiff and Vale Recovery 
College was thought important for one’s well-
being and came highly recommended.  
 
In addition, professional leads identified that 
access to work initiatives provided support for 
people with mental health conditions. Other 
third sector assets include Mind in the Vale and Cardiff Mind. The need for sustainable 
funding of third sector organisations was identified.  
    

13.4.2  Community 
Maintaining independence 
Maintaining a level of independence was a priority for PNA focus group participants: 
“Volunteering opportunities and getting involved in activities.”; “I need social support and I 
need social care support”; and “Befriending and peer support are vital.” 
 
Timely access to services 
Timely and consistent access to services was widely agreed as a priority for well-being in the 
future by focus group participants. Availability of psychological and counselling services was 
limited due to waiting times. 
 

13.4.3  Partnership approach 
Continuity of care 
Continuity of care was deemed important by focus group participants. However, once in a 
service sometimes staff left or moved on, meaning that a consistent service was not always 
available. 

“I would have lost my 
accommodation if it was 
not for my Advocate” - 
Mental health service 

user, focus group 
 

Page 2313



   

 

132 

13.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
National Survey for Wales’ data shows that historically those being treated for a mental 
illness has increased from 9% in 2009 to 13% in 2015, based on the Future Trends Report 
(243). This may be because numbers with a mental illness have increased; or that there is 
increased awareness of mental illness, and therefore subsequent identification and 
treatment for this. In the future, projections show that there will be more people with a 
common mental disorder, as the population grows, see Table 13.1 below. This could lead to 
increased demand on services. It should be noted that these projections need to be treated 
with caution as many variables will affect an accurate future prediction.   
 
 

Table 13.1. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan – Population projections for common mental 
illnesses 

Year 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Female 43,552 44,210 45,323 45,855 45,754 

Male 26,421 27,034 27,599 28,103 28,493 

Source: Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform (94) 
 
In the future, it is likely that, across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, cluster level working will 
become the norm for mental health services. In addition, the development of 111 services 
for people in a mental health crisis is likely in the forthcoming year (2022).  
 

13.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to:  

 Develop data systems to address the gaps in our knowledge 

 Monitor the evolving understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on mental health 

 Support housing transition to avoid homelessness for mental health service users 
 

Cardiff and Vale UHB and Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Commission enhanced peer support services to promote independence 

 Redesign mental health services so that waiting times decrease and there is easy 
access to mental health services when in a crisis 

 Co-produce meaningful outcome measures with mental health service users 

 Assess the effectiveness of novel interventions, for example in the Recovery College 
 
Third sector 

 Promote independence and advocacy for people with mental health conditions 

  

Page 2314



   

 

133 

14. Cognitive Impairment including 
Dementia 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; 
Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Adult Unpaid Carers 
 
 
 

Recommendations  
 
All agencies to: 

 Increase service user and carer input into service developments and their own 
person centred care plans 

 Ensure that individual needs are person-centred  

 Tailor the needs of unpaid carers of people living with dementia so that they have 
appropriate respite 

 Have clear care, coordinated pathways for people with a progressive diagnosis so 
individuals are not lost in the system 

 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Develop the capacity of residential and nursing homes to accommodate the future 
needs of people living with dementia, both in terms of increased bed numbers and 
also dementia-friendly environments 

 Support the needs of unpaid carers, who are often older people themselves, through 
the provision of information, advice and support 

 In partnership with the third sector and Cardiff and Vale UHB, to further develop 
local communities to become dementia friendly 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to: 

 Support further developments in Primary Care through training and development to 
ensure that both physical and mental health needs are met for people living with 
dementia. 

 Provide a personalised care pathway for a person living with dementia and their 
carer so that people can link in with support as needed 

 

 
 

14.1   Overview  
According to the Royal College of Psychiatry, dementia is: “a group of conditions which 
affect memory” (244). The problems are mainly due to memory loss and thought processing; 
they also get worse with time (are progressive) and are not due to normal ageing (244).  
 

Page 2315



   

 

134 

In contrast, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a less serious memory problem, and does not 
affect everyday life in such a major way as dementia (244). 
 
The number of people on the general practice dementia register in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan was 3,370 as at 30 September 2020 (245), which equates to 0.7% population 
prevalence. However, the estimated number with dementia aged over 65 in 2020 was 5,773 
(94), which means that over 42% of people with dementia are not on the general practice 
register as having a diagnosis. People with cognitive impairment are not recorded on a 
specific register within primary care. The needs of older people are discussed in chapter 8.  
 
The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports 
and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (seven PNA focus 
group participants). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not 
representative of all adults with cognitive impairment/dementia in the population of Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan, but can provide rich information about their lived experiences. 
 

14.2   What has changed since 2017?  
14.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
Since 2017, there have been many developments nationally and locally for people living 
with dementia and their unpaid carers. At a Wales level, the national Dementia Action Plan 
for Wales (246) was launched in 2018, with a commitment of £10 million a year in funding 
for various initiatives nationally and locally. In May 2018, the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Dementia Strategy was launched during dementia action week; this was based upon a 
dementia needs assessment, completed in 2017 with multiple stakeholder engagement 
across the region. The vision for the Dementia Strategy 2018-2028 was that: 
 
“By 2028 the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan will be dementia aware and 
will reduce their risk of dementia. People with dementia will have equitable and timely 
access to a diagnosis; they will have person-centred care delivered locally with kindness. 
Carers will feel supported and empowered.” 
 
There were eight strategic objectives within the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia 
Strategy: 

1. Dementia is everyone’s business  
2. The risk of dementia will be reduced and there will be a timely diagnosis  
3. Access to services will be equitable  
4. Services will be fully coordinated  
5. Services will be delivered with kindness and compassion  
6. Support will be centred on Primary Care  
7. Carers will be for cared for  
8. Crises will be avoided 

 
In light of the national Dementia Action Plan for Wales and associated funding, regionally an 
audit took place regionally to identify key gaps against the national action plan, and new 

Page 2316



   

 

135 

initiatives were created from this analysis. The following services were funded through 
Dementia Integrated Care Funding from 2018 onwards: 

1. GP diagnosis clinics based within primary care clusters 
2. A dementia “team around the individual”, with memory link workers linked to 

primary care clusters and associated multi-professional team members 
3. A dementia training and development team aligned to the “Good Work” principles 

and to a dementia care mapping team 
4. Dementia Friendly Communities approach through the third sector (Marie Curie and 

Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health) 
 
In 2021, the All Wales Dementia Care Pathway of Standards (247) were launched and Welsh 
Government also announced recurrent Memory Assessment Services funding for each 
Regional Partnership Board area. The aim of this was to increase dementia diagnosis rates 
across Wales. A variety of initiatives/pilots have been funded through this in order to meet 
this aim, and are currently being implemented with a view to full evaluation in 2022/23. 

 
14.2.1  COVID-19 
The COVID-19 pandemic has disproportionately impacted people living with dementia, and 
their unpaid carers, as outlined in this section.  
 
Direct impacts 
UK research suggests that delirium from COVID-19 can make it hard to identify COVID-19 in 
people living with dementia, which could impact their care (248). Internationally, people 
living with dementia frequently have other conditions, increasing the risk of complications 
from COVID-19 should they contract it (249). Further international research also found that 
people living with dementia had increased risk of infection; and should they contract COVID-
19:  worse outcomes, adverse impact on cognition and were harder to isolate (250).  
 
In 2020, the most common pre-existing condition mentioned on death certificates amongst 
those dying of COVID-19 (in England and Wales), was dementia and Alzheimer’s disease, at 
18,420 deaths (251). This implies that people with dementia were disproportionately 
affected by the pandemic. 
 
Lockdown restrictions 
For people with young onset dementia, there was a mixed picture with some people 
reporting benefits, and some reporting disadvantages due to the COVID-19 restrictions, 
according to Young Dementia UK (252). They highlighted issues such as: lack of routine, 
feeling forgotten, loneliness, isolation, confusion, feeling vulnerable, losing skills, not being 
entitled to support, and loss of confidence (252). However, there were also many positive 
aspects to the pandemic, with some saying they had learnt new skills, found the virtual 
support beneficial, and some people felt less anxious as going out made them anxious 
previously (252).  
 
Care and support provision 
Mok et al (250) found that non-COVID related health care appointments were impacted, 
and that lack of social engagement and support may have resulted in a deterioration of the 

Page 2317



   

 

136 

condition, with isolation also affecting psychological well-being. This experience was also 
reiterated in recent (October 2021) focus group(s): ‘’Services are greatly reduced or 
abandoned.’’ Referrals into Memory Team also dramatically reduced during 2020/21 to 
1,028; a decrease from an average of 1,533 over the four preceding years. 
 
The Social Care Institute for Excellence (253) highlighted the key issues that people with 
dementia living in care homes might have, for example: not understanding the need for 
isolation, finding personal protective equipment frightening and struggling with 
communication. A further report: ‘Safeguarding adults with dementia during the COVID-19 
pandemic’ (254) raised concerns that people living with dementia might be more vulnerable 
to abuse or neglect during the pandemic. This may be due to: social isolation, stress on 
carers, overstretched care staff, increased scams, increased domestic abuse, and new staff, 
volunteers, or support (254). 
 

14.3   What are the care and support needs?  
14.3.1  Individual  
Language and communication  
According to ‘More than just words’ (231), people living with dementia are a key group for 
services to be made available in the Welsh language. The reason being is that people living 
with dementia may revert back to their first language as the illness progresses. Data are not 
routinely available on first language for people in Memory Team or Mental Health services; 
however an interpreter can be provided on request. ‘More than just words’ emphasises the 
importance of the active offer in the Welsh language (231), this may be particularly 
important if people are unable to request services in the language of their choice. 

 
14.3.2  Community 
Based on a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan dementia health needs assessment (255), 
completed in 2017, people living with dementia have a wide range of care and support 
needs. Their needs include, but are not limited to, the following key issues: 

1. Isolation and loneliness – with loneliness increasing cognitive decline 
2. Being treated with kindness and compassion 
3. Having services that are coordinated 
4. Caring for unpaid carers – the wellbeing of carers has a direct impact on their 

relationship with the person living with dementia 
5. Knowing what to do in a crisis – having the information available, and a timely 

service when in a crisis 
6. Moving care and support to Primary Care – this would require training and support 

so that Primary Care staff feel supported 
7. Inequality in access to services – a concern that without having relatives to advocate 

for the person living with dementia that their needs would not be met 
8. Dementia being everyone’s business – to include the development of dementia 

friendly communities and dementia friendly environments 
9. Prevention/risk reduction of getting dementia – this includes cardiovascular risk 

reduction: a major cause of both Alzheimer’s disease and vascular dementia. 

Page 2318



   

 

137 

 
14.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
The association between deprivation and having dementia is complex. Based on the findings 
of a Race Equality Foundation report (256), it can be summarised that the prevalence of 
dementia is higher in more affluent areas, but that the incidence and risk of getting 
dementia in the first place is higher in more deprived areas. The reasons for this are that a 
higher life expectancy is associated with affluence and as age is the biggest risk factor for 
dementia, then the prevalence will be higher in the older, more affluent age groups. In 
contrast the risk factors for dementia, such as: high blood pressure in mid-life, 
cardiovascular disease and diabetes, are more common in people with lower socio-
economic status, and therefore, new cases are more likely in more deprived areas and 
populations (256). 
 
There is an additional risk that those from lower socio-economic groups are more 
disadvantaged in being able to access services. Studies referenced in a UK report: 
‘Dementia, Equity and Rights’ (256) identified that middle class populations were more 
successful at finding out about services, and that people with high education attainment 
were more likely to be referred to memory services. Home owners were four times more 
likely to be prescribed anti-dementia drugs than those in rental accommodation (256). The 
majority of carers are unpaid, and families who receive a diagnosis of a family member can 
experience financial hardship as a result of possible reduction of income and additional 
costs of care (256).  
 

Employment  
People who have young onset dementia, are aged under 65, and therefore may be in 
employment due to being of working age. Dementia UK report that employers need to be 
aware of the signs and symptoms of young onset dementia; and if a diagnosis is made to 
ensure that reasonable adjustments are in place to support people in the workplace (257). 
 
Unpaid carers of people with young onset dementia also require flexible working 
arrangements to ensure that suitable support can be provided to the person with young 
onset dementia (257). Relatives who care for someone who has young onset dementia 
frequently have to leave their work, to support their loved one, creating further financial 
stress for the family (257). 
 
Housing  
The housing needs for people living with dementia range from being completely 
independent (at earlier stages), to having domiciliary care, to requiring a residential or 
nursing home placement for their own care and safety at the later stages of the dementia 
journey.  
 
Cardiff Older Person’s Housing Strategy 2019-2023 outlines the specific housing needs for 
people living with dementia (258). It outlines the importance of appropriate housing for 
promoting independence and decreasing the need for residential care; whilst also 
decreasing the pressure on health and social care services (258).  As at 29 October 2021, 

Page 2319



   

 

138 

there were 489 residential home placements for Cardiff adults, of which 55 are with Mental 
Health Services for Older People (MHSOP) teams; there are a further 410 in nursing home 
placements, of which 77 are with MHSOP teams. MHSOP placements are highly likely to 
have dementia. These figures are for all adult service users and include all service users that 
Cardiff is paying for whether in or out of county. It is likely that the Dementia figures are 
higher than reported here.  
 
Vale of Glamorgan’s Housing Strategy outlines the 
anticipated increase in housing need for people 
living with dementia, due to the ageing population 
(147). It states that in recent years there has been 
a significant increase in older people’s nursing 
home placements and elderly mentally infirm 
(EMI) placements (these are for people living with 
dementia). In the Vale of Glamorgan (as at 28 
October 2021), there were 446 Nursing Home 
beds, and 286 Residential Home beds, of which 
220 were for people with dementia. One care home 
had an additional 24 mental health beds. 
 
Environmental adaptations to make the home “dementia-friendly” can help to support 
people living with dementia with orientation and to feel settled; therefore promoting 
independence. For example, having symbols on doors to help navigate individuals to food 
cupboards or the shower, or having assistive technology (259). 

 

14.3.4  Unmet needs  
Focus groups arranged over a range of dates and times with 7 participants, using a hybrid 
methodology (specifically for people with living with dementia), identified the following 
unmet needs (based on small numbers of participants, so only indicative): 

 Memory Clinic to follow up people readily after their initial diagnosis, as this was not 
currently happening. 

 Respite for unpaid carers. This was the single most sought after need. 

 Being able to see a GP. They felt that Covid-19 restrictions had meant a reduction in 
support that was readily available previously; in some cases they felt that the 
hospital Emergency Department was the only answer. 
 

From the perspective of professionals, the key gaps in our knowledge are having meaningful 
outcome measures for service users. 
 

14.4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
14.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Prevention 
Based on the focus group results and previous needs assessment work, the key preventative 
areas for people living with dementia include: 

‘’Home support is often 
dependent on an 

elderly spouse who is in 
need of care too’’ – 

Unpaid carer of person 
living with dementia, 

focus group 
 

Page 2320



   

 

139 

 Using service users and carers in service development, so that care is person-
centred 

 Ensuring that support is centred on Primary Care 

 Ensuring that unpaid carers have sufficient respite care 

 Ensure people living with cognitive impairment or dementia have access to 
advocacy where there is nobody else to represent them. 

Assets 
PNA focus groups (specifically for people with living with dementia) outlined the following 
assets as supportive to their well-being:  

 At the individual level, in general, some people do get the support they need and 
others do not. It is highly dependent on having the ability to look for help or having 
someone who will look into support for you – this makes the provision inconsistent 
rather than tailored. 

 Within the community, Forget Me Not Chorus was particularly mentioned as a 
source of support for people living with dementia. In particular face to face 
rehearsals were very much valued. The Dementia Café in Cathays Community Centre 
was also mentioned as a source of support during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 At a population level: some local authority services, Nexus (part of Cardiff and Vale 
Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH)) and Memory Clinic were most often mentioned 
as sources of support. In particular Nexus, for maintaining contact with as many 
older people as possible by telephone, email, online one to ones and meetings; and 
through CAVAMH, keeping Directions Handbook up to date and circulated. 

  

14.4.2  Community services 
Through the focus group(s) work, it was 
apparent that the following would be 
important to meet the unmet needs of 
people living with dementia: 

 Involvement of service users and carers 
in decision making and planning of 
services across the board to make the 
provision useful at point of service. This 
should start with ensuring the person 
living with cognitive impairment or 
dementia is in control of their own care, either themselves or through an advocate 

 GP services providing easily accessible, personal care in a timely fashion. Primary mental 
health care from GPs, and a willingness to identify physical ailments not connected to 
mental health but that may cause mental health difficulties if not addressed promptly 

 The ambulance service being able to provide timely, accessible person-centred care. 

 Respite care for unpaid carers 

 Providing services in accessible formats. Dependency on technology has been 
exaggerated by COVID-19 and this is a major barrier for many older people. IT training 
was not the solution for them 

 

“Find me some help, please; 
I need a break’’ - Unpaid 

carer of a person living with 
dementia 

Page 2321



   

 

140 

Professional leads identified that third sector organisations (including Marie Curie and 
CAVAMH) across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan have developed dementia friendly 
communities at both strategic and grassroots levels to ensure that services and settings 
embrace the needs for people living with dementia and their unpaid carers. This can mean 
developing dementia friendly environments, and training staff to be knowledgeable and 
empathetic towards people living with dementia.  
 

14.4.3  Partnership approach   
Dementia Friendly Cardiff and Dementia Friendly Vale are the result of partnerships 
between Cardiff and Vale UHB, the respective Local Authority, Alzheimer’s Society Cymru, 
and are supported by Marie Curie. Through the appointment of a Dementia Friendly 
Communities Coordinator for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, businesses and 
organisations are being supported to recognise the needs of people affected by dementia, 
and pledge their commitment to become more welcoming. With information and guidance 
from the Coordinator, simple and meaningful action is being taken to improve staff 
awareness, create more accessible physical environments, and increase the availability of 
information about dementia. This means that people affected by dementia can feel 
supported to continue to visit their local businesses and remain connected to their 
community for as long as possible (260).   
 

14.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
Increasing age is the biggest risk factor for dementia, and therefore as our population ages 
and increases in number, the numbers of people living with dementia will increase over 
time. It is anticipated that numbers of people living with dementia will increase more 
steeply in the Cardiff area, as compared to Vale of Glamorgan (94). See Table 14.1 for 
further details. 

 
Table 14.1. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan – Population projections for dementia 

Year 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Vale of Glamorgan 2,041 2,386 2,758 3,152 3,493 
Cardiff 3,732 4,271 4,894 5,562 6,103 

Source: Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform (94) 
 

14.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to: 

 Increase service user and carer input into service developments and their own 
person centred care plans 

 Ensure that individual needs are person-centred  

 Tailor the needs of unpaid carers of people living with dementia so that they have 
appropriate respite 

 Have clear care, coordinated pathways for people with a progressive diagnosis so 
individuals are not lost in the system 

 

Page 2322



   

 

141 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Develop the capacity of residential and nursing homes to accommodate the future 
needs of people living with dementia, both in terms of increased bed numbers and 
also dementia-friendly environments 

 Support the needs of unpaid carers, who are often older people themselves, through 
the provision of information, advice and support 

 In partnership with the third sector and Cardiff and Vale UHB, to further develop 
local communities to become dementia friendly 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to: 

 Support further developments in Primary Care through training and development to 
ensure that both physical and mental health needs are met for people living with 
dementia. 

 Provide a personalised care pathway for a person living with dementia and their 
carer so that people can link in with support as needed 

 

  

Page 2323



   

 

142 

15. Adult Unpaid Carers 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; 
Learning Disability; Autism; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia 
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies, in partnership to: 

 Review the need for an updated carers directory, which is updated regularly and 
available digitally, and publicise widely 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Strengthen clear pathways for carers assessments within local authorities following a 
“what matters” conversation 

 Capture first language needs in carers assessments 

 Consider flexible respite needs for unpaid carers 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to: 

 Review the pathway for mental health support to unpaid carers, so that waiting time 
decreases 

 
Employers to: 

 Adopt reasonable adjustments for people with caring responsibilities so that 
worthwhile employment is maintained and finances for unpaid carers are optimised 

 
 

 
 

15.1   Overview  
The definition for unpaid carers is that: “they provide support/care to an individual who has 
needs because of physical or mental health condition(s) or illness(es), or problems related to 
old age. Unpaid carers’ status is self-reported” (261). 
 
In the context of this Population Needs Assessment, an adult unpaid carer is aged 18 or 
above; however this age cut off may vary by agency.  
 
A Carers UK report acknowledged that the Welsh population had the highest proportion of 
people who were unpaid carers of the four UK nations at 70%, during the time period 1991 
to 2018 (262). Notably, females (73%) were more likely to be carers than males (66%) in 
Wales, and the same gender bias was evident across the UK (262). 
 

Page 2324



   

 

143 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan has approximately 50,580 unpaid carers of all ages, based 
on the 2011 Census (263).  The figures for unpaid carers (Table 15.1) are likely to be an 
underestimate of the true number, as data collection was over 10 years ago, and the overall 
population has grown in numbers since then. Additionally, Carers Wales have reported that 
in the first few weeks of the pandemic, in Wales alone, around 196,000 people became 
unpaid carers (264).  
 
Table 15.1 below shows that the proportion of the population who are unpaid carers in the 
Vale of Glamorgan is the same as the national average (12%); however, in Cardiff it is less at 
10%. 
 
Table 15.1. Welsh residents by hours of unpaid care and local authority, 2011 

Geographical 

area 

All usual 

residents 

Provides no 

unpaid care 

Hours of unpaid care provided 

per week 

% non-

carer 

% 

unpaid 

carer 1-19 20-49 50+ 

Wales 3,063,456 2,693,226 212,436 54,046 103,748 88% 12% 

Vale of 

Glamorgan  
126,336 110,761 9,939 2,050 3,586 

88% 12% 

Cardiff  346,090 311,085 21,671 4,729 8,605 90% 10% 

Cardiff and 

Vale 472,426 421,846 31,610 6,779 12,191 89% 11% 

Source: Stats Wales (263). 
 
The content of this chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports 
and triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work (12 focus group 
participants; 111 respondents to the public survey who identified as unpaid carers; and 42 
of 131 respondents to the provider’s survey provided services for carers). It should be noted 
that the views of those engaged are not representative of all adult unpaid carers the 
population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, but do provide rich information about 
their lived experiences.  
 

15.2   What has changed since 2017?  
15.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, Welsh Government launched their strategy for unpaid carers in March 2021 
(265). Within this 4 national priorities for unpaid carers were described (265): 
 

1. Identifying and valuing unpaid carers 
2. Providing information, advice and assistance 
3. Supporting life alongside caring  
4. Supporting unpaid carers in education and the workplace 

 
Regionally, since 2017, the following changes were noted: 

 Prior to the pandemic, 80% of GP surgeries in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
were engaging with the Carers GP accreditation scheme 

Page 2325



   

 

144 

 To date 5 third sector organisations in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan have 
achieved the Carer Friendly Accreditation or Carer Friendly Advanced Accreditation; 
as well as 4 hospital wards and 3 hospital information and support centres, and 2 
social care organisations. Eleven organisations/wards are currently working towards 
their accreditation and 37 more have expressed an interest in the Accreditation but, 
due to the pandemic, have yet to move forward with the portfolio 

 Unpaid Carers awareness sessions have been held for some time for Cardiff and Vale 
UHB staff, however these ceased in 2021 due to the pandemic (Table 15.2). NHS 
Wales host online Carer Aware training sessions through e-learning (266). Carers 
Trust South East Wales offer a Carer Friendly Accreditation scheme which is open to 
all sectors. Carers Wales started providing Carer Aware training for social care 
workers in October 2021. Twelve of 73 attendees to date (January 2022) were from 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (267). 
 

Table 15.2. Cardiff and Vale UHB staff carers awareness sessions 

Date May 2016-
April 2017 

May 2017-
April 2018 

May 2018-
April 2019 

May 2019-
April 2020 

May 2020-
April 2021 

Training 
numbers 

581 426 402 559 None due to 
Pandemic 

Source: Cardiff and Vale UHB 
 

 Within Cardiff and Vale UHB, a Carers Lead was appointed in 2020, with the aim to 
aid a smooth transition for people on hospital discharge, back home with support to 
unpaid carers 

 The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Carers Gateway was launched in March 2020, 
with the key role of “improving the quality of life for unpaid carers, and the cared for, 
in Cardiff and the Vale”. Carers Trust South East Wales, which runs the service, works 
with both unpaid carers and professionals to achieve this aim. During 2020/21 there 
were 526 referrals into the Carers Gateway service. The most common reason for 
referral was regarding parent and grandparent carer (21%), followed by physical 
disabilities (10%), chronic illness (9%), mental impairment (6%), and dementia (5%) 
(note that the reason was unknown in 33% of referrals).  

 
15.2.1  COVID-19 
Across Great Britain, during the COVID-19 pandemic more women (57%) than men (43%) 
were unpaid carers according to research by the Office for National Statistics (261). In 
addition, a much higher percentage of unpaid British carers self-reported that they had a 
disability (32%) as compared to the rest of the population (23%) (261). Sixty three percent of 
British unpaid carers were worried about the impact of the pandemic on their lives as 
opposed to 56% of non-carers (261). 
 

Page 2326



   

 

145 

Lockdown restrictions 
The experiences of unpaid British carers during the 
pandemic were mixed, with some stating that it had 
allowed them to have more time, but with others stating 
that the loss of respite and external support has had a 
negative impact on their well-being (268). It was noted in a 
recent Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group that COVID-19 
restrictions had demonstrated how good services were 
before they were “taken away”. Many relationships 
between the person caring and the person cared-for had 
also deteriorated during the pandemic across Britain (268). 
 
Due to the requirement to “shield” many British unpaid carers felt cut off from normal 
life/other family members (268). Stress, anxiety and depression and a feeling of 
isolation/loneliness increased for many British unpaid carers during the pandemic (268). 
This feeling was corroborated by the Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group participants. The 
participants also reported that their situation was not back to normal and that they were 
still hesitant to go out. Families often didn’t want external agencies in their own home due 
to the risks of COVID-19, therefore they were struggling to cope with their situation, 
according to professionals. Working from home helped some British unpaid carers have 
more freedom to care, but had meant less of a break from the caring role (268). 
 
Care and support provision 
Time spent chasing services by unpaid Welsh carers increased during the pandemic, which 
increased their stress (268). A Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group also added that health 
appointments were often cancelled, and it was challenging to explain symptoms such as 
pain in a telephone appointment, especially when the carer considered their English to be 
not very good. British unpaid carers deemed face to face sessions a better experience than 
video calls (268). 
 
Respondents to the professionals and provider survey who provided support to carers in 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan reported the following additional care and support needs 
amongst clients due to COVID-19 and restrictions:  

 Increased reliance on family members, increased care needs due to primary 
caregiver ill health, or taking over role previously fulfilled by families  

 Social isolation, stress, anxiety, negative impacts on mental health and well-being, 
bereavement support, loss of structure, fear of catching COVID-19   

 Financial stress, increased need for support for benefit claims 

 Practical assistance such as help with shopping 
 
When asked regarding how service provision had changed since the start of the pandemic, 
respondents stated:  

 Increased workloads: “busier than ever” 

 Increased risk assessments via telephone; change in format of service provision to 
online or telephone  

“Given up on my 
own well-being 

and personal life” 
- Unpaid carer, 

focus group 
 

Page 2327



   

 

146 

 Impact on service provision due to capacity including domiciliary care, and pausing of 
services (including home visits) due to COVID-19 restrictions 

 Increase need to accommodate adults living alone, and increase in respite services  
 
Service providers reported low morale, exhaustion, the emotional toll of isolation and lack 
of peer support as well as the direct impact of COVID-19 on service users. Some positive 
aspects were identified such as pride in continued service delivery, and more flexible 
working options for some respondents.  

 
15.3   What are the care and support needs?  
A Cardiff University report commissioned by Public Health Wales developed 4 key themes in 
their analysis of the main issues for unpaid carers in Wales prior to the pandemic: health 
and well-being, identities and relationships, services and systems, and education, 
employment and finances (268). These are described below.  
 

15.3.1  Individual  
Mental health and well-being 
In Wales, unpaid carers experience stress, isolation and loneliness and poor mental health 
due to their caring responsibilities (268). Research in England between Sport England and 
Carers UK showed that unpaid carers had lower physical activity levels (46% inactive) as 
compared to the general population in England (33% inactive) (269). Three quarters (76%) 
of unpaid English carers aged 55 plus did not feel able to do as much physical exercise as 
they wanted to (269). Physical activity combats stress, anxiety and depression (269). The key 
barriers to taking part in physical activity included: not having the time to take part (88%); 
not being motivated (71%); not being able to afford the costs (67%); and not having anyone 
to go and do physical activity with (59%) (269). In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, unpaid 
carers were the population group most likely to say that had no control over their lives 
(12.6%). In the same survey, 19.3% of survey respondents who were unpaid carers did not 
have time to address their own care needs; and 44% felt they were not sufficiently 
supported in their caring role. 
 
Identities and relationships  
Many unpaid Welsh carers did not recognise their status as an unpaid carer until they 
reached crisis point, and sought professional help (268). Many unpaid Welsh carers also 
stated that having a healthy relationship with the person cared-for would be critical for a 
successful future together (268). 

 
Language and communication  
There are no data on first language of unpaid carers in the region. A Cardiff and Vale PNA 
focus group participant’s feedback was that language barriers were an issue for ethnic 
minority groups, trying to receive much needed support. Cultural needs were also identified 
as important, for example: the need for same-sex practitioners in some cultures. 

Page 2328



   

 

147 

15.3.2  Community 
Services and systems  
Professionals frequently do not ask about unpaid Welsh carers’ needs or experiences (268).  
Carers Wales found that only 28% of carers in Wales reported that they had had a carers 
assessment (or a review of their assessment), in the last 12 months (270). Unpaid carers can 
also spend a lot of time chasing services to get support (268). Third sector support was 
highly valued by unpaid carers, especially peer support for younger adult carers (268). 
Flexible support was needed by Welsh unpaid carers (268). Of Welsh carers who had had an 
emergency admission for the person they care for, 30% felt that the admission could have 
been prevented if the person cared-for had had more care and support; 20% felt that more 
support for them as the unpaid carer (such as breaks from caring) would have prevented the 
admission (270). In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, unpaid carers were the population 
group most likely to find it fairly or very difficult to find information or advice about the 
services that are available at 50%. 

 
15.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
The Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group of unpaid carers stated that poverty led to digital 

exclusion as people needed either digital skills couldn’t afford the technology. Professionals 

also mentioned that some unpaid carers would not have the means for a bus or taxi to take 

respite; this creates a 2-tier system for carers needing respite. Carers Wales’ ‘State of Caring 

Report 2019’ (270) stated that 45% of Welsh unpaid carers say that they struggle to make 

ends meet and 68% report that they regularly use their own income or savings to support 

the person they care for. Twenty three percent of Welsh unpaid carers have been in debt as 

a result of caring; 8% cannot afford utility bills; and 4% cannot afford their rent/mortgage 

payments (270). Almost three quarters (74%) of Welsh unpaid carers surveyed didn’t 

receive any cash sum (direct payments or a personal budget) for themselves or for the 

person cared-for (270). 

 
Education and employment  
Supporting unpaid carers in education and the workplace is a key area in the Welsh 
Government’s ‘Strategy for unpaid carers’ (265). According to research by Cardiff University, 
many unpaid Welsh carers valued being in paid work, in addition to their caring role (268). 
Caring has a substantial impact on personal finances, particularly if one is a single carer in 
Wales (268). Many unpaid Welsh carers thought that the financial compensation through 
the carers allowance was insufficient (268). 

“The health of my mum deteriorated rapidly, I had to give 
up work, it’s impossible to work and be a carer” - Unpaid 

carer, focus group 
 

Page 2329



   

 

148 

Housing  
In the Cardiff and Vale PNA survey, 63% of unpaid carer respondents needed adaptations to 
their property, which was 17.8 % higher than the average of all respondents to that survey. 
This tallies with the Carers Wales perspective that home adaptations are vital in enabling 
people in need of care to remain in their own homes for longer (271). Where adaptations 
are not in place it creates a need for more formal support to manage the condition of the 
person cared-for within the home environment (271). 

 

15.3.4  Unmet needs  
The following care and support needs were 
identified as unmet by focus group participants: 

 Supportive employment: employers were 
not supportive enough to meet unpaid 
carers’ needs: “[I] had to give up work… 
employer did not support flexible 
adjustments… used all leave for caring / 
hospital appointments… not had a holiday 
break in years”  

 Timely services: carers’ assessments and 
counselling services waiting times are 
lengthy – “waiting list is huge” 

 Resource waiting times are also lengthy: 
“direct payments take a month to be approved on what’s supposed to be a simple 
process”  

 Culturally appropriate services: services need to meet the needs of people from 
different cultural backgrounds 

 Appropriate respite for unpaid carers: feedback from Carers Gateway participants 
during 2020/21 was that more respite services were needed for unpaid carers 

 
Respondents to the professional and provider survey identified the following unmet needs 
amongst their service users:  

 Domiciliary care, including overnight care at home; difficulty providing daytime 
respite 

 Risk assessments less robust via telephone than face to face resulting in a less 
comprehensive understanding of individual needs  

 Gaps in support provision including respite, emotional support, counselling, a lack of 
low level support such as taking a carer to an appointment  
 

Key gaps in knowledge identified included data on number of unpaid carers whose first 
language is not English. One respondent to the provider survey echoed that people may 
experience cultural stigma and fear seeking help, or may not realise their entitlement to 
support. 
 

“Having to wait 6 
months just for 

assessments – [feeling] 
unsupported as a carer 

and then a sense of 
guilt for these 

feelings” – Unpaid 
carer, focus group 

 

Page 2330



   

 

149 

15. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
15.4.1  Prevention and assets  
In order to prevent the needs of people cared-for from escalating, unpaid carers need more 
support, in terms of emotional, practical and financial resources to prevent a crisis situation.  
 
Assets to support well-being 
A virtual Cardiff and Vale PNA focus group was held on 27 October 2021, with 12 unpaid 
carers. Participants highlighted that in the Barry area there were less activities for unpaid 
carers than in Cardiff. Assets that were considered sources of support for carers’ well-being 
included: 

 Other parents who had children with care and support needs  

 Community groups such as social groups, drama groups, as well as local cafes and 
places of worship. Specifically, church halls, Sunday circle, a mosque opening an over 
60s club were identified 

 Third sector organisations such as: Parents Federation was described as 
“supportive”; Innovate Trust (providing support to disabled people) was “amazing” 
(in particular their respite service); and Women’s Connect Zoom was cited as “useful 
to socialise” and to meet via WhatsApp and face to face. Voluntary organisations 
have been “great” 

 Dewis directory of services: www.dewis.wales (272) 

 Speech and language services were described as “excellent” 

 Courses for carers at hospital were cited as “excellent” and carers found it helpful to 
meet others in similar situations  
 

Supporting a life alongside caring is one of the four priorities in the Welsh Government 
‘Strategy for unpaid carers’ (265); ensuring access to assets that support well-being will 
support this. 
 
Professional leads identified the Cardiff and Vale Carer’s Gateway as an important asset 
through provision of support and advice for unpaid carers, people who have care needs, and 
professionals. 
    

15.4.2  Community services 
Respect for the person cared-for 
The Strategy for unpaid carers (265) prioritises identifying and valuing carers. Services need 
to respect the needs of the person who needs care. Focus group participants highlighted the 
need for care service providers to undertake cultural training: ““Lets age well” project with 
Women’s Connect [First was] very helpful as it understands the needs of the culture”. 
 
More support needed for unpaid carers 
Unpaid carers need to be valued in their caring role. Support needs to be timely, for 
example, in terms of having a carer’s assessment, as well as provide psychological and 
practical input.  

Page 2331

http://www.dewis.wales/


   

 

150 

15.4.3  Partnership approach   
Unpaid carers need to know what services are available 
Access to services needs to be made easier, by knowing what is available: “if you don’t 
know, it’s not readily available for you to find out”. Focus group participants wanted a carers 
directory with full details of how and what to access was needed (despite one existing 
online, created in 2017). Providing information, advice and assistance is a priority area in the 
Strategy for unpaid carers (265).  
 

15.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
As the population ages and increases in number, there are likely to be many more unpaid 
carers in our population, with a steady rise in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan (Table 
15.3). 
 

Table 15.3. Projected number of unpaid carers, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, 2020-2040 

Year 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Cardiff 40,611 41,401 42,222 42,828 43,263 

Vale of Glamorgan 16,893 17,472 17,929 18,302 18,639 

Cardiff and Vale total 57,503 58,874 60,151 61,130 61,902 

Source: Social Care Wales (94) 
 

 

15.6  Recommendations  
All agencies, in partnership to: 

 Review the need for an updated carers directory, which is updated regularly and 
available digitally, and publicise widely 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Strengthen clear pathways for carers assessments within local authorities following a 
“what matters” conversation 

 Capture first language needs in carers assessments 

 Consider flexible respite needs for unpaid carers 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to: 

 Review the pathway for mental health support to unpaid carers, so that waiting time 
decreases 

 
Employers to: 

 Adopt reasonable adjustments for people with caring responsibilities so that 
worthwhile employment is maintained and finances for unpaid carers are optimised 

  

Page 2332



   

 

151 

16. Sensory Loss and Impairment 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People with Complex Needs; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; 
Physical Disability 
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies, in partnership, to: 

 Increase awareness of specialist and support services to improve signposting (273); 
and improve joined working  

 Promote awareness and normalisation of British Sign Language (BSL) 

 Anticipate the increase in prevalence of hearing and sight loss in the future 

 Increase opportunities for consultation and co-production  

 Sign up to the Disability Confident Scheme (200) and develop inclusive recruitment. 
The D/deaf community (encompassing people who have profound hearing loss and 
use BSL (Deaf), as well as people who have hearing loss (deaf)) need more D/deaf 
and BSL users professionals embedded in services to ensure they are represented 
and that communication is not a barrier  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to: 

 Undertake Deaf Awareness training for staff to improve the culture for service users, 
and co-workers who may have hearing loss 

 Increase the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people in line 
with recommendations (274) 

 Design physical activity strategies and plans to increase D/deaf-friendly and D/deaf 
aware opportunities 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:  

 Improve recording of Deaf people as Deaf in medical records so BSL interpreters can 
be appropriately booked (273), improving referrals, and experience of health care  

 Take additional action to promote equity of access to healthcare services for D/deaf 
people compared to non-disabled people  

 Support the newly established Inclusive Recruitment Team who ensure that they 
work to the Themes and Goals of the Disability Confident Scheme 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 2333



   

 

152 

16.1   Overview  
The All Wales Standards uses the term “people with sensory loss” to describe:  

 People who are Deaf, deafened, or hard of hearing  

 People who are Blind or partially sighted 

 People who are Deafblind (whose sight and hearing impairment cause difficulties 
with communication, access to information, and mobility (275) 

 
Sight loss  
There are an estimated 9,530 with sight loss in Cardiff, and 4,790 in the Vale of Glamorgan 
in 2021, giving a prevalence of 2.6% and 3.6% (prevalence in Wales: 3.5%). Of these, 1,240 
and 640 people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan respectively have severe sight loss 
(blindness). In Cardiff, there are 40 children aged 0-16 who are blind, and 10 in the Vale of 
Glamorgan. Half of children who are blind or partially sighted have additional disabilities 
(276). People with learning disabilities are 10 times more likely to have sight loss than those 
without learning disabilities (276).  
 
Hearing impairment  
Documents use different terminology; this chapter aligns with that used by the All Wales 
Deaf Mental Health & Well-Being Group. Where specifically stated, people who identify as 
members of the Deaf community, who have profound hearing loss and use British Sign 
Language (BSL), are described as Deaf; whereas those with hearing loss or where it is not 
specified, the terminology “deaf” is used (273). Where both communities are described, 
“D/deaf” is used.  
 
In Cardiff, 29,800 people are estimated to have moderate/severe hearing loss; this figure is 
15,500 for the Vale of Glamorgan. A further 660 people (Cardiff) and 340 (Vale of 
Glamorgan) have profound hearing loss, including 95 people of working age (20-64 years) 
(276).  
 
Dual sensory impairment 
The Royal National Institute of Blind people (RNIB) estimates that 21,300 people in Wales 
have any dual sensory impairment, of whom 1,860 live in Cardiff, and 910 in the Vale of 
Glamorgan (276). 
 
This chapter was developed using existing literature, strategies and reports and 
triangulating findings with professional leads and engagement work: 38 survey respondents, 
6 participants for the sight loss focus group, and 4 participants for the Deaf focus group, 
which was conducted in BSL. Forty-nine respondents of the provider’s survey provided 
services for people with sensory loss or impairment. The views of those engaged are not 
representative of all people with sensory loss or impairment in the population of Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 

Page 2334



   

 

153 

16.2   What has changed since 2017?  
16.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
Welsh Government published the ‘Framework of Action for Wales 2017-2020’ which details 
the integrated framework of care and support for people who are D/deaf or living with 
hearing loss (277). The All Wales Deaf Mental Health & Well-being Group published their 
report on the hidden inequalities around mental and physical health amongst Deaf people 
in 2021 (273). Professional leads observed an increasing awareness of the existence and 
importance of intersectionality, which describes the “complex, cumulative way in which the 
effects of multiple forms of discrimination (such as racism, sexism, and classism) combine, 
overlap, or intersect especially in the experiences of marginalized individuals or groups” 
(278). 
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB is now the first Welsh Health Board to sign the British Deaf 
Association’s British Sign Language Charter (279). The Health Board was highly commended 
by the Health Service Journal for transforming glaucoma eye care services in 2020/21 (280). 

 
16.2.1 COVID-19 
Independence and isolation  
The Welsh Government published ‘Locked out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights 
in Wales beyond COVID-19’ in 2021. This report identifies difficulties disabled people have 
experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic, and states that people with visual loss have 
had their autonomy and mobility negatively impacted due to structural changes in the 
environment and learned routes. For example, new layouts in the town centre and changes 
to access to sighted guides (79).  
 
The Royal National Institute for Deaf People (RNID) report that deaf people in the UK 
experienced increased isolation through reduced social interaction, masks, and social 
distancing; and that non-face to face options such as telephone contact weren’t always 
suitable (281). Sight Cymru stopped in-person groups in 2020 but maintained contact 
through virtual meetings and phone calls.  
 
The RNIB’s research across the UK finds that people with sight loss considered technology a 
“saviour” (282); which was echoed in the PNA focus groups:  “I was stuck at home. Zoom has 
been very good. Without Zoom we’d all be lost”. However, people felt “more disabled” and 
as though their world has “shrunk” (282). Focus group participants discussed the difficulties 
of not being able to visit family members in hospital.  
 

Page 2335



   

 

154 

D/deaf focus group participants stated that as communication with D/deaf peers and friends 
is so important for well-being, the lockdowns restricted this and created a sense of isolation. 
This isolation impacted negatively on participants’ mental health. The D/deaf community 
relied more on online resources despite it being difficult with BSL interpreters on online 
platforms. 

 
Eight of 38 survey respondents with sensory loss reported that before COVID-19, they felt 
lonely some of the time, with 1 respondent feeling lonely all or most of the time. Over the 
last year, however, 18 feel lonely some or all of the time.  
 
Access to public health information  
Nationally, deficiencies in accessibility of public health information were observed, through 
lack of subtitles for audio content; lack of BSL versions of critical information; and a reliance 
on telephone hotlines (79) (281). The RNID polled its UK members regarding awareness of a 
video relay of Test and Trace, but 94% were not aware of this. Insufficient notice for key 
government announcements and a lack of BSL translation meant information was 
inaccessible to people with hearing loss. A new government role has been developed to lead 
on accessible communications from UK Government (281).  
 
People with visual impairment may be unable to adhere to social distancing rules, and have 
subsequently experienced negative reactions from others; as well as being at increased risk 
of COVID-19 (282).  
 
The focus group reported a lack of information on the pandemic and lockdown provided for 
the D/deaf community, so news often came from social media. Lots of D/deaf people 
struggle with written English and need BSL resources. The British D/deaf Association set up a 
daily BSL news summary specifically for the D/deaf community, which reduced isolation and 
panic: “I would have been lost without them”. 
 
Access to health and care services  
In the UK, around half of people with hearing loss reported a negative impact of COVID-19 
on access to care services, compared to one-sixth of people without an impairment (281). A 
survey amongst RNIB members puts this figure at 73%, with 4/10 concerned that their vision 
would worsen (79). Support provision and consultations provided over the phone or 
virtually provoked difficulties for people who are Deaf or hard of hearing, as they often use 
visual cues or lip reading. Masks also prohibit lip reading; therefore, face to face 
appointments were also difficult as people did not feel able to ask staff to remove their 
masks (281). Transparent masks have now been approved. Online technologies are not a 

“Support groups are usually only in English. Some people 
have been prevented from attending as they are not able 

to speak English” – person with sight loss, focus group 

Page 2336



   

 

155 

direct replacement for face to face services, and many people who are deaf or visually 
impaired struggled to access virtual services (283); stating that 50% of communication is lost 
through a webcam (273). Cardiff and Vale UHB provided iPads to enable person-centred 
care, and to overcome the assumption that everyone has access to digital technology.  
 
The RNID reports that deaf people who were shielding could only register for priority 
supermarket deliveries via telephone (281); similarly, people with visual loss experienced 
problems with accessing services in Wales (79). A higher proportion of disabled people 
experienced difficulties accessing essential products such as food and medication compared 
to non-disabled people (50% versus 17%) (281). One-fifth of respondents in RNIB research in 
the UK rationed food due to concerns regarding food deliveries (282). Those assisting deaf 
people were exempt from wearing a face mask, to aid communication, however as deafness 
is a hidden impairment, many people were concerned for stigma and negative reactions by 
others (281).  
 
Participants in the sight loss focus groups discussed that many services had stopped due to 
COVID-19 restrictions; but that online support such as through third sector organisations, 
groups, and clubs have been very helpful.   
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB developed videos with subtitles, communication flash cards and 
provided accessible information regarding vaccinations (280). 
 
Education and employment 
COVID-related adjustments in the workplace may make it more difficult for D/deaf people to 
return to work, for example, through physical barriers between workspaces, face masks, 
and social distancing. For those working from home, the increased reliance on video and 
audio calls may present a barrier (281). 
 
The National Deaf Children’s Society report that children and their families are concerned 
regarding the lack of specialist support for their education, difficulties accessing online 
learning platforms, as well as difficulties communicating due to face masks in schools (284). 

 

16.3   What are the care and support needs?  
16.3.1  Individual  
Independence and autonomy  
Funds are now available in Wales for disabled people who would like to stand in local 
government elections, to cover costs such as travel and assistive technology (285). 
Increasing visibility of disabled people – including sensory loss – will help create an inclusive 
environment.  
 
A focus group with D/deaf participants articulated that services are not always accessible to 
D/deaf users: many services (particularly medical) rely on the phone which is a barrier for 
the D/deaf community. D/deaf service users often have to rely on hearing family members 
to make phone calls and contact services on their behalf, affecting independence. They 

Page 2337



   

 

156 

would like to see more D/deaf community groups and centres where the community can 
come together and gain support; and activities which are accessible. 
 
Participants recalled there used to be specialist D/deaf social workers, but this service was 
replaced with general social workers who “don’t live a D/deaf life”, and “provide help that 
they think you want rather than asking what help you really want”. This additionally 
emphasises the importance of person-centred services. Due to a lack of knowledge of the 
D/deaf community, there was poor signposting to services.   
 
Physical and mental health  
There is a synergy between sensory impairment and other medical conditions. For example, 
people living with dementia have increased prevalence of sight loss; dementia can make it 
more challenging to diagnose sight loss (276). Deaf people are more than twice as likely to 
experience mental health disorders, such as anxiety and depression than hearing 
counterparts; this is in part due to their experiences of stress, discrimination, and isolation 
(273). COVID-19 has further exacerbated these inequalities (273). Deaf people report that 
they are not recorded as Deaf in their GP records, which has consequences for any 
subsequent referrals. Negative experiences lead to Deaf people disengaging from health 
care services (273).  
 
Children and young people  
In Wales, most (80%) school aged deaf children attend mainstream schools without 
specialist provision; with others attending mainstream schools with resource provision (9%), 
special schools not specifically for deaf children (10%), or undertaking home education (1%) 
(273). Nearly half of Teachers of the Deaf in Wales will likely retire in the coming 15 years 
(273).  
 
Focus group participants stated that D/deaf children are not able to create a D/deaf 
identity, integrate into the D/deaf community, or form close connections with other D/deaf 
children/people without specialist D/deaf schools. Parents need to learn BSL, as do teachers 
and support staff – support staff are often not specialist or D/deaf themselves. There are a 
lack of D/deaf youth groups to bring D/deaf young people together to help create that 
identity. This lack of community for young D/deaf people makes it difficult for them to find 
out about services or access support, which leads to isolation and mental ill health. 
 
Language and communication  

Since 2004, BSL has been a recognised official language in Wales, with 4000 speakers in 

Wales (273). However, there are only 48 BSL/English interpreters with the relevant 

qualifications in Wales, below the target of 64 (273). Although interpreters can be booked 

“Communication is a real barrier to accessing services 
leading to feelings of isolation” – Deaf person, focus group 

Page 2338



   

 

157 

for planned meetings, more spontaneous communication in healthcare settings (such as 

during an inpatient stay) is challenging (273).  

There are no mental health practitioners in Wales with Welsh BSL, limiting culturally 

appropriate care for Deaf patients with mental health problems (273). 

Access to information for Deaf people on how to book a BSL/English interpreter is also 
limited, often health care providers are not knowledgeable about the process, and 
confirmation that an interpreter will be present for an appointment is often lacking (273). 
Welsh language information is proactively offered, but people report needing to ask 
specifically for BSL (273).  
 
Focus group participants with sight loss experienced similar barriers to access due to 
support provision available only in English.  

 
Cardiff and Vale UHB has used 

funds from the Patient 

Experience Team to give staff 

the opportunity to learn BSL; 

some staff went to additional 

classes external to the Health 

Board. BSL information videos 

are now played on all hospital 

screens (280).  

 

Focus group participants stated communication between D/deaf services providers and 

D/deaf service users is poor. There is a general lack of D/deaf awareness among the hearing 

community, and so organisations need more training and awareness. There needs to be 

easier ways to communicate with services, without relying on telephones, such as email or 

preferably a BSL speaker on video. Many native BSL users do not read or write in English. In 

many cases the D/deaf community just give up trying to access services. There is a need to 

employ more D/deaf people/native BSL users to embed the D/deaf community within 

service provision.   

“It is often difficult to communicate with professionals 
because they use a lot of technical language” – person with 

sight loss, focus group 

“Support groups are usually only in 
English. Some people have been 

prevented from attending as they 
are not able to speak English” – 

person with sight loss, focus group 

Page 2339



   

 

158 

 
16.3.2  Community 
16.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
The ‘Locked Out’ report includes people with sensory loss, and describes how disabled 

people are more likely to live in poverty and in more deprived areas than non-disabled 

people. This has been further exacerbated by the coronavirus pandemic (79).  

The RNIB reports that only one in four blind and partially sighted people of working age are 

in employment. Local authority level data are not available. People who live in more 

deprived areas are at increased risk of sight loss (276); as are people on low incomes, with 

explanations including concerns regarding the cost of glasses or barriers to accessing 

optician or ophthalmic services resulting in people delaying appointments until they have 

symptoms (286).  

Housing  
Professional leads identified the need for statutory bodies, third sector organisations, and 
housing associations to collaborate better in order to build or adapt houses suitable for 
people with hearing or sight loss, for example, induction loops. This is equally the case in 
residential homes and the workplace. The planned new hospital in Cardiff will have 
induction loops built in, which will help normalise reasonable adjustments.  
 
Concerns raised by focus group participants with sight loss included receiving sufficient care 
for them to stay in their own house in the future.  

 

16.3.4  Unmet needs  
Access to health services 
A report investigating inequalities for Deaf people in Wales noted that there are no formal 
links between Deaf Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in Wales and the 
equivalent in the UK; whereas there are such arrangements between hearing services for 
CAMHS (273). There are ten National Deaf CAMHS centres in the UK, of which none are in 
Wales. The report identifies that 40% of Deaf people have mental health concerns, and 
estimates that around 1,000 of the 2,500 Deaf children and young people in Wales are at 
risk of mental health problems (273). Deaf CAMHS offer specialised services, including 
consultations in BSL. Often Deaf adult patients requiring inpatient admissions are 
transferred to England (273). 
 
The sight loss focus group identified difficulties accessing health and social care services: “it 
is very difficult to see a doctor physically…. I have to wait on the phone to get through for a 
very long time”; “GPs should know where to refer us for extra support. They don’t know. 
Social Services should be there for help, support and advice.” 
 
The D/deaf focus group articulated accessibility barriers to accessing support services, such 
as relying on phone calls to access services. Some GP services offer a signed video service, 

Page 2340



   

 

159 

but not all. Most rely on a phone line to make appointments so D/deaf users have to go into 
the surgery to make an appointment or ask a hearing family member.  
 
There is no specialist mental health provision for D/deaf people, making access to mental 
health services very difficult. 
 
The participants would like to access fitness/health activities such as yoga or a gym, but 
these activities/organisations are not D/deaf friendly and very few staff/instructors are 
D/deaf aware. Public facing organisations and activities such as yoga/gyms need more 
D/deaf awareness to make access easier, such as through employing D/deaf people.  
 
The focus group with D/deaf people articulated a real feeling that services had been cut, for 
example, funding for a D/deaf centre which has since been closed. The discussion included 
that comparatively small amounts of funding could be transformational, but are currently 
inaccessible.  
 
Data gaps were identified around deprivation levels and sensory loss; and people with sight 
or hearing loss and other medical conditions. 
 

16. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
16.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Newborn hearing screening 
In Cardiff and Vale UHB, 99.9% of eligible and suitable babies are offered hearing screening, 
and 99.2% undergo newborn hearing screening (287). Of high risk babies referred, the 
average age of confirmation of hearing loss was 7.3 weeks (Wales average is 7.4 weeks) 
(287). Average age at hearing aid fitting was 13.7 weeks (Wales average 11.4 weeks) (287). 
Vision screening is assessed at multiple times during childhood (288).  
 
Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people 
The Wales Council of the Blind, in collaboration with other organisations, has reported that 
currently the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people (ROVIs) is 
insufficient to meet need; and warn that this situation will escalate in coming years due to 
the anticipated increase in blind and partially sighted people (274). Furthermore, there are 

“The [ROVI] taught me to be more aware and drew my 
attention to crossing the road correctly, learning to go at a 
slower pace and trust my decisions again. I felt confident to 
be able to cross a busy junction using 3 zebra crossings on 

my own” – ROVI service user, Vale of Glamorgan case study, 
Wales Council of the Blind report (275) 

Page 2341



   

 

160 

limited training places and existing ROVIs are due to retire, limiting capacity for future 
demand. ROVIs are considered essential under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 for their role in prevention, and minimising the impact of impairment. People with 
a new diagnosis of sight loss receive help from ROVIs to conduct activities of daily living; and 
learn how to minimise risk of injury. Furthermore, ROVIs build confidence, promote 
independence, and provide practical and emotional support (274). ROVIs enable people 
with sight loss to be active citizens in society, and live safely (289). Rehabilitation 
interventions facilitated by ROVIs can provide cost benefits to health and social care services 
(289).  
 
A 2021 report by Wales Council of the Blind (289) identified, at a Wales-wide level, concerns 
regarding a future workforce crisis; including the risks of task-shifting from qualified ROVIs 
to staff members who have not received the necessary training, which may negatively 
impact services received by people with sight loss. Additional concerns across Wales include 
variation in referral mechanisms; concerns people are signposted away from ROVI services; 
and suboptimal supervision of ROVIs. There are plans to regulate the profession under the 
Professional Standards Authority. The report recommends recognition by Social Care Wales 
and to encourage the standards to be adopted by each local authority, as well as improving 
public understanding of the role of the ROVI. Other recommendations include development 
of a clear pathway into ROVI services and signposting to other agencies for input that 
cannot be provided by a ROVI (289). 
 
In 2020, there was only 1 ROVI in Cardiff, and 1 in the Vale of Glamorgan, which is far below 
the minimum standard of 1:70,000 population (equating to 5.2 in Cardiff, and 1.9 in Vale of 
Glamorgan) (274). However, theme leads have identified that the ROVI waiting list in Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan is manageable, and Sight Cymru provide additional support 
which is beneficial for service users.  
 
Falls prevention 
Sight loss can lead to falls; the RNIB estimate that 540 falls in Cardiff and 290 in the Vale of 
Glamorgan amongst people aged 65 and over are directly attributable to sight loss (276). 
Prevention of sight loss, or appropriate management where possible, may help reduce the 
risk of falls. The National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) recommend that 
vision assessment and referral are carried out within a multifactorial intervention for people 
who are at risk of falls or who have fallen (290). This guidance has been incorporated into 
the Cardiff and Vale UHB Falls Framework (291).  
 
Supportive environment and awareness 
The Framework for Action calls for an environment that removes barriers and enables 
people to reach their full potential; and reduces inequalities (277). Co-production is one 
mechanism by which to enable people with sensory loss to collaborate with health and 
social care professionals, and the third sector (277).  
 
One survey participant articulated the need for wider societal understanding of hidden 
disabilities as she was concerned regarding her mobility and potentially falling over; and 
demonstrates the impact of others’ actions on their independence and confidence.  

Page 2342



   

 

161 

 

 
The D/deaf community face inequalities from the wider community caused by physical 
barriers to communication rather than wider stigma or fear. Addressing these practical 
communication barriers is easier than changing mindsets. One participant worked within 
the hearing community and felt discriminated against, and so moved jobs to work with the 
D/deaf community where she felt more comfortable.  
 
The D/deaf focus group highlighted a “pushback” after 
disclosing their D/deaf status. This was thought to be 
not due to stigma but a lack of awareness of D/deaf 
needs. This pushback discouraged the D/deaf 
community from seeking to access some non-essential 
services. Focus group participants felt D/deaf 
awareness is not sufficient among service providers 
and so services are generally inadequate for the 
D/deaf community. D/deaf people are not 
represented enough among decision makers and so 
policies are made by hearing people without 
understanding the needs and lived experience of the 
D/deaf community. Education to the wider population 
and service providers, and improving and increasing 
understanding would be the most important 
contributor to removal of barriers. 
 
Assets to support well-being 
A number of assets that support people’s well-being were identified. People with sight loss 
reported that despite lockdown restrictions, they were positive about support from the 
third sector: “Age Alive and Sightlife meetings have been great [online]…[online] support 
groups run by the organisations have enabled us to socialise during lockdown”; and “Sight 
Cymru gave me so much support. Without them no-one would have told me anything”. One 
respondent wanted more support closer to home, as “everything seems to be in the town 
centre”. 
 

“I avoid busy walking times and routes with cyclists as very 
unsteady on feet and can’t hear people. Too many incidents 

where cyclist got cross because I could not hear …. I am in 
favour of cycle paths that are segregated” – person with 

sensory loss, survey 

“A lack of awareness 
and understanding 

leads to break 
downs in 

communication” – 
Deaf person, focus 

group 

Page 2343



   

 

162 

D/deaf focus group participants reported that 
D/deaf peers and friends are crucial to well-being 
and to support good mental health. Without 
regularly meeting with D/deaf friends one 
participant said that she would have become 
depressed and unwell. It is important to 
communicate with others who understand the 
D/deaf experience. With a lack of awareness 
among the hearing community, the D/deaf 
community is crucial to forming a D/deaf identity 
and to sharing information on services. One 
participant, previously a board member of a local 
D/deaf charity, has set up a D/deaf group of their own. The services that the group values 
were D/deaf originated – often in a response to what they felt were historic local authority 
cuts. These groups were seen as being a key part in meeting Future Generations obligations 
(especially around early intervention) and Local Authority Equality Requirements, but there 
were funding difficulties. The Royal Association for the D/deaf was also helpful.  
 
Survey respondents with sensory impairment reported that the church was a good source of 
support, alongside third sector and community groups (such as Friends of the Library; Gyspy 
Travellers Wales; Women Connect First; Sight Life Cymru; Women’s Institute), and 
socialising over food and drink in cafes and restaurants or virtually. Barriers to accessing 
these assets included transport; and closure of groups and venues due to COVID-19 
restrictions. Professional leads identified Deaf Hub Wales and the RNIB as useful assets 
locally.  
   

16.4.2  Community Services  
Health services 
The Framework for Action states that people with sensory loss should be signposted in a 
timely manner to specialist services as appropriate, including speech and language 
therapists and counselling services (277). Young people in particular should have a seamless 
and timely transition to adult services (277). 
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB has developed a phone first 
system to access Emergency Care. The service is 
also available via Textphone (for deaf or hard of 
hearing patients); or through Relay UK (for 
patients who are deaf, hard of hearing, or speech 
impaired) (280).  
 
Focus group participants wanted to see their GP 
and other healthcare specialists face to face, and 
for the process to be easier and quicker. Care and 
support services should align with transport needs 
to ensure access for service users. 
 

“Charities are helping 
us to socialise – good 
for our mental well-
being” – person with 
sight loss, focus group 

“I would like free 
transport to hospital 

and to shopping 
centres, door to door” – 
person with sight loss, 

focus group 

Page 2344



   

 

163 

Social Care 
Sight loss focus group participants wanted social workers or support workers to provide 
information and advice; help with forms; and emotional support. Specialist D/deaf social 
workers are also desirable, similar to previous provision, to help support D/deaf people by 
drawing on lived experience. 
 
Education and employment   
Support for people with hearing or sight loss to 
seek, gain, and thrive in employment has been 
discussed by professional leads. Fear of losing a 
job and stigma means people can be unwilling to 
declare their need for hearing aids. Employers can 
proactively inform prospective and current 
employees of support available for people with 
hearing or sight loss. Initiatives to achieve this 
include disability confident and inclusive 
recruitment, with added benefits of drawing from 
a wider pool of talent, and improving staff morale 
through evident support (200). Reasonable 
adjustments and adaptations, such as hearing 
loops, will help people with hearing impairment.  
 

16.4.3  Partnership approach  
Person-centred services 
Services need to be person-centred, so that the individual is able to do what matters to 
them. In line with this, independence should be promoted: “One of my fears is how do we 
keep our independence? Plus who do we go to for help?” 
 

 
Some focus group participants commented that services were “all or nothing”, for example 
regarding transport: “I don’t qualify, it’s very black and white, there seems to be no in-
between” (sight loss focus group participant). Others commented that “it is very difficult to 
get support from Social Services. It’s all means tested. Support is rationed and it’s very hard 
to qualify for support” – focus group participant with sight loss. Professionals responding to 

“Need to employ more 
native BSL users to 

embed the Deaf 
community within 

service providers” – 
Deaf person, focus 

group 

“I want to live a happy and healthy life. Old 
age demands quite a lot of physical health. I 
want to know the help is out there. I don’t 

want to go out dancing, I just want to be able 
to go out for a walk” – person with sight loss, 

focus group 

Page 2345



   

 

164 

these findings state that Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people (ROVI) and 
Hearing Impairment Social Care Officer support is not means tested but it is based on 
assessment. 
 
One survey participant demonstrated the potential for co-produced, person-centred, 
creative solutions: “Would also be wonderful to have classes where elderly mix with children 
- this could be classes/events where can take grandchildren or ones where can interact with 
children e.g. in schools. Play games, read, crafts...children can be so uplifting for lonely older 
people. Needs to be accessible by bus and short walk or have adequate parking as a lot of us 
elderlies do not have a blue badge”. Survey respondents with sensory loss or impairment 
articulated their desire to meet other people – in particular, people of a similar age, similar 
interests, or similar impairment.  
 
Services should identify people’s concerns for the future and seek to proactive support 
where possible. For example, one focus group participant was concerned that 
communication issues will negatively impact on decisions made about his health as he gets 
older; that hospitals and medical professionals will ask his family to make decisions for him, 
without consulting him, and that he will not be in control of his own care or make his own 
decisions. This is particularly worrying in relation to elder care. Given D/deaf people are 
born into hearing families there is a real fear of isolation in older years, exacerbated through 
cuts to D/deaf focused services. 
 
Communication  
All services need improvement to make accessibility easier and more D/deaf friendly. BSL 
users or D/deaf people need to be embedded within service providers and organisations 
(e.g., through employment) so that D/deaf people can communicate directly with someone 
who understands BSL and also the D/deaf experience.  
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB has offered staff training in basic BSL 
and Deaf Awareness to enable staff to better meet 
patients’ needs. In 2019/20, 200 staff had been trained 
(279). Members of the D/deaf communities have provided 
feedback to the health board that BSL is their first 
language; and to be aware of the use of jargon (279). 
Cardiff and Vale UHB is training staff in medical records to 
better identify people who may need BSL interpreters for 
appointments (279). Cardiff and Vale UHB is now the first 
Welsh Health Board to sign the British Deaf Association’s 
British Sign Language Charter (279). Staff from both Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities have access 
to Deaf Awareness and BSL training (29) (30). 
 

16.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The RNIB estimates an increased number of people will be living with sight loss over the 
next 10 years; from 9,530 to 12,700 in Cardiff (33% increase), and from 4,790 to 6,470 in the 

“It is important 
that hearing 
people learn 
BSL” – Deaf 

person, focus 
group 

Page 2346



   

 

165 

Vale of Glamorgan (35% increase) (276). Increases in diagnoses of common sight-
threatening conditions are all expected to increase; for example, cataract by 36% (Cardiff) 
and 38% (Vale of Glamorgan); and late stage age-related macular degeneration by 36% 
(Cardiff) and 41% (Vale of Glamorgan) (276).   
 
The prevalence of diabetes is expected to increase by 22% in Cardiff (against a Welsh 
average increase of 9%, and 6% in the Vale of Glamorgan) between 2021 and 2030; which 
corresponds to a notable anticipated increase in sight loss due to diabetic retinopathy (17% 
increase; compared to 5% in Wales, and 1% in the Vale of Glamorgan) (276).  
 
An increase in the number of people who have both deafness and sight loss is expected as 
older age is the leading cause; and the population of those aged 85+ will grow over the 
coming years (93). Strokes are a cause of sight loss; the risk of stroke also increases with age 
(276). 
 

16.6  Recommendations  
All agencies, in partnership, to: 

 Increase awareness of specialist and support services to improve signposting (273); 
and improve joined working  

 Promote awareness and normalisation of BSL 

 Anticipate the increase in prevalence of hearing and sight loss in the future 

 Increase opportunities for consultation and co-production  

 Sign up to the Disability Confident Scheme (200) and develop inclusive recruitment. 
The D/deaf community need more D/deaf and BSL users professionals embedded in 
services to ensure they are represented and that communication is not a barrier  
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to: 

 Undertake Deaf Awareness training for staff to improve the culture for service users, 
and co-workers who may have hearing loss 

 Increase the number of Rehabilitation Officers for Visually Impaired people in line 
with recommendations (274) 

 Design physical activity strategies and plans to increase D/deaf-friendly and D/deaf 
aware opportunities 
 

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to:  

 Improve recording of Deaf people as Deaf in medical records so BSL interpreters can 
be appropriately booked (273), improving referrals, and experience of health care  

 Take additional action to promote equity of access to healthcare services for D/deaf 
people compared to non-disabled people  

 Support the newly established Inclusive Recruitment Team who ensure that they 
work to the Themes and Goals of the Disability Confident Scheme 

  

Page 2347



   

 

166 

17. Violence Against Women, Domestic 
Abuse, and Sexual Violence  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children Looked After; Older People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; 
Physical Disability; Asylum Seekers and Refugees 
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies to: 

 Strengthen the availability of existing services to provide person-centred care with 
seamless and timely transition between agencies, for example, through supporting  
inter-agency communication 

 Continue to improve awareness amongst victims, bystanders, and service providers 
on the recognition and management (including signposting) of VAWDASV  

 Continue to deliver the required elements of the National Training Framework to all 
relevant staff and build on successes of Ask & Act and routine enquiry  

 Improve the multi-agency response to identified risk factors, such as ACEs, through 
increasing understanding of factors that increase risk and an awareness of the lived 
experiences   

 Continue to monitor evolving trends in forms of abuse and ensure services anticipate 
changes in demand  

 Ensure continued investment in specialist support services and required delivery of 
high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed person-centred 
provision 

 Increase practitioners’ knowledge and understanding of perpetrator behaviour(s) to 
ensure that the accountability for the abusive behaviour remains with the 
perpetrator(s) 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Further develop target hardening and move on accommodation opportunities, so 
spaces are available in refuges for those who need it, and minimise disruption to 
victims who wish to stay at home  

 Maintain, and where possible extend, a range of interventions to target known and 
potential perpetrators of abuse 

 
 
 

Page 2348



   

 

167 

 

17.1   Overview  
Violence against women, domestic abuse, and sexual violence (VAWDASV) describes: “Any 
incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive, threatening behaviour, violence or 
abuse between those aged 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate partners or family 
members regardless of gender or sexuality. The abuse can be psychological; physical; sexual; 
financial; and emotional. The other components of VAWDASV are: rape and sexual violence; 
forced marriage; sexual harassment; female genital mutilation (FGM); so-called ‘honour-
based violence’; sexual exploitation through the sex industry/prostitution; stalking; and 
trafficking” (292). Anyone can be subject to abuse, but women are more likely to be victims 
(293) (294). As per the Welsh Government strategy, this section encompasses all forms of 
gender based violence, domestic abuse, and sexual violence (294).  
 
Data from South Wales Police recorded 14,092 offences in 2017, and 11,625 for 2021 that 
had taken place in the Cardiff and Vale area, for the following offence types: rape, stalking, 
harassment, sexual offences, violence with and without injury (295). Of these, 4,687 in 2017 
and 3,795 in 2021 carried a domestic abuse flag (295).  
 
Cardiff and Vale UHB data show a total of 267 adult safeguarding referrals were made in 
2020/21 (43). A quarter of referrals were for physical abuse; 22% neglect; 14% sexual abuse; 
and 5% emotional abuse (43). Cardiff Local Authority data show 1,292 referrals were made 
of which 26% were due to domestic violence, 9% sexual violence, and 3% both domestic and 
sexual violence (30). The Vale of Glamorgan domestic abuse assessment referral co-
ordinator has received 1,024 medium risk and 169 standard risk referrals in 2020/21. In 
addition, 446 high risk referrals were received by the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference (296).  
 
In 2019/20 the Recovery Information Safety Empowerment (Rise) Cardiff service received 
6,263 referrals of which 1,158 were high risk. In 2020/21, an increase of 7% in referrals was 
observed, with 6,725 received, and more were high risk (1,475). Half of all referrals were 
police referrals and a third were directly from victims (30). In the Vale of Glamorgan in 
2019/20, Atal Y Fro received 843 referrals of which 427 were high risk. There was an 
increase in referrals in 2020/21: 1,054, of which 553 were high risk. Of these, 379 were self-
referrals and a total of 411 were police referrals (297).  
 
Male victims 
Men can be victims of VAWDASV. Based on Public Protection Notice (PPN) submissions in 
2020/21 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, approximately 20% of victims are male (2,021 
PPN submissions), and 80% female (8,609 PPN submissions). Note that PPNs are submitted 
when there is concern, and may not constitute a crime. Additionally, these figures may 
contain repeat victims and so should be interpreted cautiously (296). In 2017, 4% of cases 
discussed at Cardiff’s Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) were male 
victims. In the Vale of Glamorgan MARAC male victims accounted for 5% of cases discussed 
(293). The Health Independent Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) service at Cardiff and Vale 
UHB received 66 referrals for men alleging abuse in April 2020-March 2021 which equates 

Page 2349



   

 

168 

to 13.2% of referrals received (212). Our regional strategy explicitly considers the needs of 
male victims. 
 
Children and young people 
In Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, during 2020/21, a total of 3,759 safeguarding referrals 
were made regarding children (3,380 were made in 2019/20). These were predominantly 
made by the Paediatric Emergency Department and community-based staff such as health 
visitors and school nurses (43). A reduction in referrals was observed from April to June 
2020 due to reduced numbers of children being seen by healthcare professionals, due to 
COVID-19 restrictions (43). Most referrals (64%) were for child protection; and 3% for 
female genital mutilation (FGM) (43). Of the 293 child protection medicals undertaken in 
2020/21, 194 were for physical assault; 21 due to neglect; and 35 for child sexual 
exploitation (43). 
 
Cardiff Council has recorded that, as at the end of March 2020, 253 children were included 
on the Child Protection Register. Of these, 50% had experienced domestic abuse in the 
home, and 2% included sexual violence/abuse as a factor in the registration. For the end of 
March 2021, the total registrations had increased to 458, with 46% relating to domestic 
abuse and 3.5% to sexual violence/abuse (30). Equivalent data are not currently available 
for the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 
Characteristics conferring increased risk 
Some people with specific characteristics may be at disproportionately increased risk of 
abuse; and may additionally experience multiple overlapping barriers to seeking help and 
support (294). This includes minority ethnic women, Asylum seekers and refugees, disabled 
people, specific occupations such as the sex industry. (294). The Older Person’s 
Commissioner for Wales has highlighted domestic abuse amongst older people, in particular 
where the individual has care and support needs, and noted that often the perpetrator may 
be in a position of trust, such as a family member (298). Older people may have additional 
vulnerabilities such as cognitive impairment; and may face barriers such as a perception that 
services are not for them; stigma; and fear of consequences (298). Estimates suggest 
approximately 15,000 people aged 60-74 in Wales have experienced domestic abuse (298).  
Around 13,000 incidents of abuse including neglect were reported in Wales in 2018/19 
amongst people aged over 65, but this is considered an underestimate (298). The Health 
IDVA at Cardiff and Vale UHB has received increasing referrals from people aged 60+; from 
13 in 2017, to 52 in January – October 2021 inclusive (212).  
 
Information sources 
Two focus groups (one virtual, one face to face) with a total of 9 participants were held, and 
33 respondents to the survey had experienced domestic abuse or sexual violence. Thirty-
five respondents of the provider’s survey provided services for people experiencing 
VAWDASV. This is not a representative sample of the population of Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, but does provide rich information to accompany other data sources used for 
this chapter.  
 

Page 2350



   

 

169 

17.2   What has changed since 2017?  
17.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following have changed since the 2017 PNA:  

 Welsh Government has published the Wales Safeguarding procedures in 2019 (299), 
which were revised in 2021, as well as the National Action Plan Preventing and 
Responding to Child Sexual Abuse (300) 

 In 2019, Welsh Government released the National Training Framework on VAWDASV 
guidance on statutory requirements for training across the public service and 
specialist third sector (301) 

 The UK Government’s Domestic Abuse Act 2021 has been published (302) 

 Welsh Government is updating national VAWDASV strategy, which previously ran 
from 2016-2021 (294) 
 

Regionally, the following documents have been published:  

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Strategy 2018 – 2023, from partners including NHS, police, and local 
authority (293). The strategy outlines the following priority areas: Prepare, Pursue, 
Prevent, Protect, and Support, and an annual report is published annually 

 Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: a Joint Strategy 2019-2024 from South 
Wales Police and Crime Commissioner (303) 

 Cardiff & Vale Regional Safeguarding Boards published the Tackling Exploitation 
Strategy to protect children and adults at risk in 2020 (304)   

 
The following services have expanded or have been commissioned regionally: 

 The Women’s Well-being Clinic, based in Cardiff Royal Infirmary, opened in May 
2018. Most referrals are from Maternity at University Hospital of Wales but women 
can self-refer, for reasons including gynaecological, psychological, and FGM concerns 
(43) 

 A pilot routine enquiry was introduced in the Emergency Department in the 
University Hospital of Wales at the same time as COVID-19 lockdown restrictions 
were introduced (March 2020). This led to an increase in referrals: during 2020/21, 
8,668 “Ask and Act” referrals were made. COVID-19 restrictions meant patients 
attended alone, which likely facilitated the increase in positive disclosure. Routine 
enquiry is now standard practice (43). The implementation of routine enquiry in the 
Emergency Department is reflected in the increase number of referrals received by 
the Health Independent Domestic Violence Adviser (IDVA) at Cardiff and Vale UHB 
(212) 

 RISE Cardiff is a new strategically designed and procured VAWDASV specialist service 
in Cardiff and is being delivered by a local consortium – the lead provider Cardiff 
Women’s Aid has teamed up with third sector organisations Bawso and Llamau. The 
service, which commenced in April 2018, delivers an end to end pathway from 
advice and information, crisis interventions, emergency safety and protection, step 
down support, aftercare and recovery 

 Atal y Fro were successful in being awarded the VAWDASV Service contract in the 
Vale of Glamorgan from July 2021 

Page 2351



   

 

170 

 Interactive support interventions for perpetrators of abuse, offering a range of 
provision from early intervention through to targeting those who pose high risk/high 
harm 

 
17.2.1  COVID-19 
Impact of COVID-19 on service demand  
Professionals have anecdotally identified changes in behaviour and violence with different 
stages of lockdown, although further research is needed to understand the pattern and 
mechanisms. Analysis of Emergency Department data in Cardiff between January 2019 and 
June 2020 demonstrated no significant increase in Emergency Department visits due to 
violence at home, although a large decrease in visits due to violence outside the home was 
observed (305). However, a Wales-wide social innovation narrative from 2020 raised 
concerns of likely increases in domestic and sexual violence and abuse including elder 
abuse, and concerns about the safety of children and young people (online and at home). 
The authors identify the lack of data measuring violence at home, and advise collaboration 
between public health, criminal justice, and third sector organisations to identify, mitigate, 
and prevent future violence (306). Data from the Office of National Statistics for England 
and Wales in November 2020 show an increase in police recorded data of offences flagged 
as domestic abuse related during COVID-19, however, police have also improved recording 
of offences and so attribution is unclear. Domestic abuse victim service demand has 
increased, but this may reflect a lack of other support sources rather than an increased 
number of victims (307).  
 
COVID-19 has increased the prevalence of risk factors of abuse – such as isolation, and 
reduced contact with support networks (298). The Women’s Aid Federation of England 
identified that perpetrators had used government mandated restrictions as an additional 
way to coercively survivors, leading to more isolation and additional barriers to leaving 
(308).  UK police identified a 9% increase in domestic abuse offences between April – June 
2020 compared to the year before (298). Increased disclosure of domestic abuse has been, 
in part, attributed to people attending healthcare and other appointments alone (43). 
Decreased levels of emotional and mental health well-being, and unhealthy relationships 
were identified during COVID-19 (43).  
 
An “Ask and Act” approach within healthcare settings resulted in a large increase in referrals 
(in May – July 2020, between 1,075 and 1,271 referrals/month were made, compared to 
572 in April 2020), predominantly from the Emergency Department. However, the Cardiff 
and Vale Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) saw a decrease in referrals between 2019/20 
and 2020/21 (572 to 417 respectively) (43). A particular drop was noted in children and 
young people. The reasons for the decrease in referrals is unknown but professionals 
identified that it may have been influenced by COVID-19 and restrictions, causing changing 
patterns of behaviour such as a reduction in social contacts (impacting both contact with 
potential perpetrators, as well as contact enabling disclosure, such as a trusted adult in the 
case of children and young people). Many students usually resident in Cardiff were not 
present during the lockdown periods, which may also have had an impact (38).  It is known 
that prevalence of sexual assault is higher than the referrals received by SARC (41).   

Page 2352



   

 

171 

 
A UK-wide report by the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children in 2020 
identified that children and young people may be at risk of maltreatment during lockdown 
due to increased stressors in parents and caregivers (increasing the risk of child abuse); 
increased vulnerability of children and young people (for example, to online abuse); and a 
reduction in normal protective services (such as social connections) (309). 
 
Impact of COVID-19 on service delivery  
Over the past two years, Welsh Government has provided additional funding to local 
authorities to address the additional demands of the pandemic and the Ministry of Justice 
has also provided additional IDVA capacity.  
 
Training, awareness raising, and campaigns have been postponed or adapted for online 
delivery due to COVID-19 restrictions. The mandatory Welsh Government National Training 
Framework roll-out has continued with Group 2 Ask and Act training delivered online since 
October 2020 to staff from Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities, Cardiff and Vale 
University Health Board and Velindre NHS Trust. Focus group participants provided both 
positive and negative feedback: virtual consultation introduced access to support groups 
without having to leave home, however another stated: “in a phone call, you can’t see body 
language or non-verbal clues”.  
 
Providers of services for people experiencing VAWDASV reported the following changes in 
the survey: fewer face to face assessments with more telephone consultations; an increased 
demand for mental health support (for staff as well as service users); lack of access to other 
community and third sector support services; reduced access to clinics and treatment; and 
the opening of new hostels.  

 

17.3   What are the care and support needs?  
17.3.1  Individual  
Control and autonomy 
Some focus group participants didn’t feel 
listened to when they asked for help; or 
didn’t feel as though they were taken 
seriously. Some stated they have no choice 
but to speak up for themselves as there was 
no one else to do this for them.  

“I have to speak up for 
myself, I don’t have any 

other option” – VAWDASV 
service user, focus group 

Page 2353



   

 

172 

 
Language and communication  
No definitive local data are available on the Welsh language preferences of VAWDASV 

victims. Focus group participants stated that for those who do not speak English or Welsh as 

a first language, information provision was inadequate. In addition, although interpreters 

may speak the same language, differences in dialect may result in the translation service 

offered being unsuitable. The terminology used was important. 

 

Those accessing the RISE service in Cardiff whose first language is not English or Welsh 

account for 5% of all referrals. Language preferences may vary between different services 

within VAWDASV. The Women’s Well-being clinic receives referrals for gynaecological and 

psychological issues including pregnancy and FGM. The majority of women are from the 

Sudanese community (43). 

 
17.3.2  Community 
Awareness of VAWDASV 
Increased awareness of VAWDASV amongst victims, people at risk, and bystanders through 
information provision, signposting, and support for actions including reporting to police is 
needed. This includes prominent information on the ‘Live Fear Free’ helpline (an all-Wales 
domestic abuse and sexual violence helpline) alongside local information campaigns 
organised by Local Authorities, Police and specialist VAWDASV services (292).  
 
Awareness of available support 
Public services should be aware of specialist and other services available, including schools, 
colleges and universities. A new initiative bringing together specialist providers, local 
authorities and higher and further education establishments ensures that information is 
shared and pathways to support and solutions to identified issues are jointly explored. The 
free VAWDASV awareness raising e-learning offered by Welsh Government has also been 

“I’ve never heard of many of the services we’ve talked 
about today...Pull together a list of organisations and put it 

through people’s doors.”– VAWDASV service user, focus 
group 

“If you asked a group of Somali women to come to a talk on 
domestic abuse, no-one would come because they don’t 
identify with that term” – VAWDASV service user, focus 

group 

Page 2354



   

 

173 

shared widely with third sector organisations, and further and higher education 
establishments. 
 
Staff training 
All “relevant authorities” are required to train their staff in line with the National Training 
Framework. The region has strengthened the training consortium of Cardiff and Vale UHB, 
Velindre NHS Trust, the two local authorities and specialist providers, RISE and Atal y Fro, to 
roll-out delivery regionally and in a coordinated way. 
 
Safeguarding adults and children training is required for all staff. Nearly three-quarters of 
health staff are level 1 trained (43). The Welsh Government National Training Framework is 
being implemented across UHB Clinical Boards, corresponding to 11,000 staff members (43). 
In addition, the Identification and Referral to Improve Safety (IRIS) programme provides 
training, support, and referral assistance to GP practices. Since its implementation, referrals 
have increased. IRIS is particularly effective at reaching older women as it is underpinned by 
a longstanding relationship of trust with primary care (298). IRIS+ involves identifying and 
referring with perpetrators and children affected by abuse also (310). 
 
Intersectionality  
Increased understanding, support, and awareness of needs is needed, of people with 
specific characteristics, such as male victims, gypsy and traveller communities, and LGBTQ+ 
victims (310). Sex workers are less likely to report incidents to the police, and so specialist 
Sex Work Liaison Police Officers have been introduced in Cardiff and Swansea (293). 
Participants of a focus group for homeless people reported problems with domestic 
violence.    
 
Perpetrator interventions 
There is increasing evidence for the use of perpetrator focused interventions (292). The 
DRIVE programme for high risk/harm perpetrators was introduced in Cardiff in 2018, and 
the Vale of Glamorgan in September 2020. The CLEAR programme targets men whose 
behaviour is unhealthy towards their partner, and continues in Cardiff within the “Change 
that Lasts” programme. A new accredited domestic abuse perpetrator programme “Driving 
Change” has also been implemented. Programmes ensure that relevant victims and 
children/young people are also supported by an IDVA (310). 

 
17.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Financial abuse is a form of VAWDASV. There is no local data available regarding VAWDASV 

by deprivation. It is known that financial barriers prevent people from leaving their current 

accommodation, resulting in victims remaining in homes where they remain at risk of harm. 

Individuals without recourse to public funds (for example, asylum seekers) may be 

particularly vulnerable.  

 

Page 2355



   

 

174 

Addressing causes of financial barriers was important to focus group participants: “I can’t 

afford to live, because PIP [personal independence payment] has stopped. I need to work but 

don’t feel ready.  Cardiff Women’s Aid has been a lifesaver in helping me”. 

 
Housing  
The Housing (Wales) Act 2014 requires consideration of whether someone is at risk of abuse 
in determining their ongoing residence in that accommodation (294). The Renting Homes 
(Wales) Act 2016 will support survivors of VAWDASV who have joint contracts with 
perpetrators, by enabling perpetrators to be evicted (294); this legislation is due to be 
implemented in 2022. Partners in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan are planning to assess the 
impact of the welfare reform changes and the Renting Homes Act on accommodation in 
2023 (310). Local housing strategies have identified VAWDASV as a key cause of 
homelessness and vulnerable housing, and have proactively identified support mechanisms 
(89) (213).  
 
Refuges are seen as critical for offering immediate, short term, protection by both survivors 
of abuse, and practitioners. A 2018 Wales-wide report stated 94% of women felt safer on 
exit from the refuge (292). However, refuges might not be suitable for all, and do place the 
onus on the victim to move and potentially also leave existing sources of support (292). 
Refuges may also offer additional support such as financial, health, immigration, legal, and 
employment services (292). Nationally, Welsh Women’s Aid oversee the UK Routes to 
Support database (292). In Wales, in 2018/19, 2,156 women and 67 men were referred for 
refuge accommodation, of which 691 women and 35 men could not be accepted as either 
the refuge was full, or staff would have been unable to provide the specific support the 
individual required (292). Asylum seekers and others with no recourse to public funds may 
not be able to access refuges (292).  
 
A delay in moving into a refuge can be detrimental: research by Women’s Aid Federation of 
England identified that whilst waiting for refuge accommodation, 49/166 experienced 
further abuse from the same perpetrator; 19 experienced abuse from additional 
perpetrator(s); 8 women slept rough; and 44 sofa surfed (308). 
 
Refuge accommodation availability was increased during COVID-19. Cardiff’s homelessness 
service worked with RISE Cardiff to improve housing support (310). Vale of Glamorgan 
Council worked with Atal Y Fro to increase refuge accommodation and support workers at 
the beginning of the pandemic due to the expected rise in demand. The contract was 
retendered in summer 2021, jointly with the Community Safety Team and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner, to align the services more closely and provide a more robust funding 
stream (29).   
 
Suitable subsequent “move-on” accommodation options need to be available (292). A 
Wales-wide report identified a lack of move-on accommodation has meant that individuals 
stay longer than necessary in refuge accommodation, potentially impacting others who 
require refuge accommodation (292).  
 

Page 2356



   

 

175 

Where possible, victims should be supported to stay within their own homes (293). “Target 
hardening” describes the strengthening mechanisms available to facilitate victims staying in 
their own homes, for example, panic buttons, new locks, better lighting, CCTV; police 
support such as watch or drive by models (292). These help victims feel safe, and are best 
combined with local, specialist, community based support (292). However, additional 
support may be required for individuals in more complex circumstances, for example, 
private renters with rent arrears (292). Target hardening equipment is provided by 
registered social landlords and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan local authorities (29) (30). 
 
There are 65 refuge units in Cardiff and 17 units in the Vale of Glamorgan for women, men 
and their children who are escaping violence and abuse and need safe accommodation (29) 
(311).   
 
Offering choice to victims of VAWDASV regarding their housing and accommodation is key. 
Focus group participants had suffered a lack of autonomy from ex-partners and financial 
constraints. Participants wanted more support when they were homeless.  

 

17.3.4  Unmet needs  
Focus group participants 
identified difficulties accessing 
medical, mental, and dental 
health services, including 
specialist care such as tertiary 
medical services and 
physiotherapy. Participants had 
experienced delays in referral to 
mental health services due to 
lack of awareness of services, 
waiting list times, and a lack of 
signposting for other sources of 
help in interim. Some felt guilty for seeking help: “I’ve been waiting for over a year for 1 to 1 
counselling with the traumatic stress service”. It should be noted that the COVID-19 
pandemic has affected access to healthcare generally. 
 
Participants reported experiences of not feeling listened to within the healthcare, criminal 
justice system, or other support services: “There’s lots of things I would like to do but not 
able to.  I feel I am ignored by agencies a lot of the time, so cannot do the things I want.  I 
got no support when I needed it, agencies cannot meet the challenges I present with”. 
 
Gaps in knowledge include:  

 Local understanding of prevalence and the nature and impact of:  
o Honour-based violence  and stalking / harassment  
o Abuse of older people (298) and those who identify as LGBTQ+  

 Impact of deprivation on VAWDASV 

 The links between extremism and misogyny 

“I was assessed as suffering from 
PTSD and a priority for 

interventions but there’s none 
available, I’m still waiting” – 

VAWDASV service user, focus group 

Page 2357



   

 

176 

 

17. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
17.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Prevention is a key component of both the national and regional strategies for VAWDASV 
(293) (294), through a collaborative approach (e.g., Public Service Board, Regional 
Partnership Board, and VAWDASV Executive, amongst others). The Violence Prevention 
Team is the first of its kind in the UK, and is embedded within the Emergency Department at 
University Hospital of Wales. It applies a public health approach to violence (43).  
 
Primary prevention  

 Schools-based intervention: such as those within current strategies through the 
Whole Education Approach, including Operation Encompass and compliance with 
the National Training Framework. Education was considered one of the most 
important points from the focus groups: “Most important point from today is 
education, with educating children on relationships, right through to how we help 
people who have gone through trauma and family law.”   

 The school-based Spectrum project raises awareness of VAWDASV; educates 
children around healthy relationships; and provides training for school staff (312). 

 Whole School Approach: A pilot programme is ongoing in an area of Cardiff with 
minimal take-up of Spectrum and high cases of reported domestic abuse (310). 

 A pilot programme employing a whole school approach is ongoing in Cardiff (310). 
Identification of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and mitigation through 
promotion of protective factors – work is continued by South Wales Police and Crime 
Commissioner Violence Prevention Unit (310). “I worry about my daughter going 
through what I’ve been through and the long term impact of domestic abuse on her.” 

 
Secondary prevention 

 Early Intervention: such as “Change that Lasts”, a project funded by South Wales 
Police and Crime Commissioner and both local authorities through additional Welsh 
Government funding (310). Domestic homicide is often preceded by other forms of 
abuse, and victims may already have been known to services. It is therefore 
preventable in some cases with early intervention.  

 Advocacy: the specialist providers in the region employ a number of IDVAs and 
Independent Sexual Violence Advisors (ISVA). The breadth of IDVA/ISVAs available 
has been increased through additional funding from the Ministry of Justice and 
Welsh Government. Since October 2016, Cardiff and Vale UHB employs the only 
IDVA working within the NHS in Wales. The role encompasses provision of advocacy, 
support for victims of domestic violence (43). RISE has now re-appointed a male 
IDVA in October 2020 who provides support and acts as a positive male role model 
to people aged 11-25 years (310). 

 Learning from Domestic Homicide Reviews will help to improve partner responses to 
victims (43), through delivering against the activities identified in the specific action 
plans. 

 

Page 2358



   

 

177 

Tertiary prevention 

 Perpetrator provision: Includes very early intervention with those who recognise 
unhealthy behavioural traits, through to convicted perpetrators, and employs a 
strengths-based, future-focused approach. Programmes also consider any children 
the perpetrators may have (293).  

 
Assets to support well-being 
A number of assets to support well-being were identified by focus group participants. 
Interpersonal relationships with family (“Spending time with my children is the most 
important thing for me”) and sharing experiences with friends and colleagues were 
identified. Hobbies were important: “I’ve invested in myself, listening to podcasts and doing 
meditation, which has changed my life”.  
 
The value of community-based activities such as choirs and music groups, art exhibitions 
and craft clubs, religious settings, and sports clubs and gyms (“gym saves my sanity”) were 
acknowledged. In addition, third sector organisations such as Cardiff Women’s Aid and 
Speakeasy Cymru (providing legal and financial advice) as well as volunteering opportunities 
and supportive work were identified. Local authority services such as education and support 
workers as well as NHS clinics such as SARC and mental health clinics were named as 
helpful. Participants also found online support groups and the Live Fear Free helpline 
supportive.  
 

    

17.4.2  Community services 
The Regional VAWDSAV Strategy, developed in 2018, mapped the services available in 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.   
 

“The importance of talking about your experiences, 
whether that’s with colleagues, friends, make friends, to 
raise awareness.  People find their own way of healing, I 

write poems and place them all around Cardiff.” – 
VAWDASV service user, focus group 

Page 2359



   

 

178 

Figure 17.1. A map of specialist VAWDASV services. Source: Regional VAWDASV Strategy 
2018-2023 (293) 
 

17.4.3  Partnership approach 
Integrated working  
Since the development and implementation of the regional VAWDASV strategy in 2018, 
statutory and third sector services in the region have developed closer working 
relationships, policies and procedures to share and manage risk, try out new and innovative 
practices to intervene as early as possible and where not possible to deliver timely and often 
joint assessments and responses. It is acknowledged that VAWDASV also spans 
safeguarding, which is everyone’s responsibility (43), and community safety. Therefore a 
whole system collaborative approach is essential.  
 
However, liaison between services can still be improved so survivors are not required to 
repeat their story with each agency; and victims are more aware of opportunities for 
support. A focus is needed on timeliness of access to primary care, mental health services, 
and other specialist services. 
 
Standardised pathway 
The region uses a collaborative approach to delivery of staff training, with a new training 
plan to be developed as part of the revised regional VAWDASV strategy in 2022.  The 
National Training Framework delivery has transferred online but has proved to be 
successful. Ask and Act training includes awareness of the local pathways into support and 

Page 2360



   

 

179 

the steps to take to raise safeguarding concerns for all staff that may come into contact with 
a victim or a perpetrator.   
 
Standardised procedures are still needed across all health departments for identifying 
victims of abuse, and providing subsequent management (292). This includes routine 
enquiry which facilitates disclosure, following which actions to support and protect the 
victim can be made. In maternity, women are routinely asked by midwives and health 
visitors. In 2020/21, this led to 332 domestic abuse disclosures in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan (43). 
 
Person-centred services  
Delivery of high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed provision by 
specialist third sector services is being promoted by Welsh Women’s Aid and has already 
been implemented with specialist service providers across Cardiff.  
 
Focus group participants felt that there was a need to maximise community-based assets 
and promote real connections between people. COVID-19 has shown that a blended 
approach to service delivery of face-to-face and via social media platforms is beneficial in 
offering more choice and access to a wider range of victims, especially for peer support and 
for recovery group work. Engagement has identified the importance of ensuring victims feel 
listened to and supported, in addition to providing the support: “GP has been absolutely 
amazing and understood”. 
 
Participants were concerned regarding the sustainability of services due to funding 
pressures; and the mental health of staff providing care and support.  
 

 

17.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
Nationally, Welsh Government is about to consult on the revised national VAWDASV 
strategy and is developing the 2022—2027 National Communication Framework to 
complement it (312).  The new school curriculum has now been introduced (September 
2021) and includes revised guidance on “Relationships and Sexuality Education”, which may 
help prevent issues arising or escalating (312). 
 
Regionally, a specialist service for male victims of domestic and sexual violence and abuse 
will be commissioned by the end of 2021.  The SARC provision currently delivered by Cardiff 

“Important thing for me was that I’ve never spoken before 
about the things we’ve talked about today.  To talk about 
what you’ve gone through and be so frank, I found it a bit 
strange.  It would be great if there were opportunities for 

that to happen more” – VAWDASV service user, focus group 

Page 2361



   

 

180 

and Vale UHB will be recommissioned as part of a national review of SARC delivery. The 
regional VAWDASV strategy will be refreshed during 2022 in accordance with Welsh 
Government requirements. 
 
As the population of Cardiff and the Vale increases, and as the age profile changes with a 
larger proportion of residents being in older age groups, increased demands on services are 
anticipated in line with the emerging concern of abuse of older people (43). Welsh 
Government are due to publish the Strategy for an Ageing Society which prioritises the 
ending of abuse of older people (298).  
 
In response to wider media coverage of VAWDASV, stalking, spiking, murder, distrust of the 
police and increased displays of misogyny generally, it is likely that more victims will come 
forward and therefore demand for services will increase. 
 

17.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to: 

 Strengthen the availability of existing services to provide person-centred care with 
seamless and timely transition between agencies, for example, through supporting  
inter-agency communication 

 Continue to improve awareness amongst victims, bystanders, and service providers 
on the recognition and management (including signposting) of VAWDASV  

 Continue to deliver the required elements of the National Training Framework to all 
relevant staff and build on successes of Ask & Act and routine enquiry  

 Improve the multi-agency response to identified risk factors, such as ACEs, through 
increasing understanding of factors that increase risk and an awareness of the lived 
experiences   

 Continue to monitor evolving trends in forms of abuse and ensure services anticipate 
changes in demand  

 Ensure continued investment in specialist support services and required delivery of 
high quality, needs-led, strengths-based and trauma-informed person-centred 
provision 

 Increase practitioners’ knowledge and understanding of perpetrator behaviour(s) to 
ensure that the accountability for the abusive behaviour remains with the 
perpetrator(s) 
 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to: 

 Further develop target hardening and move on accommodation opportunities, so 
spaces are available in refuges for those who need it, and minimise disruption to 
victims who wish to stay at home  

 Maintain, and where possible extend, a range of interventions to target known and 
potential perpetrators of abuse 
 

 
 

 

Page 2362



   

 

181 

18. Substance Misuse 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Children Looked After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical 
Disabilities; Adult Mental Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Secure Estate; 
Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans)  
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies to:  

 Take action to ensure services are accessible to the service user, with a focus on 
provision of face to face support and a reduction in the reliance on digital access for 
awareness of services, and service provision   

 Monitor trends relating to alcohol and substance misuse in order to anticipate 
service needs, including misuse of over the counter drugs and the purchasing of on-
line supplies of drugs   

 Increase signposting of those in need, through awareness across the system of 
support provided by other services including public, private and third sector 

 Increase awareness of Dewis Cymru, a website which enables individuals to find local 
and national organisations and services (272) 

 Support the harm reduction agenda through  
o Increasing coverage of needle and syringe programmes (313) 
o Strengthen blood borne virus screening  (313) 
o Continue to build partnership services to increase the provision of Take Home 

Naloxone (314) 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Work together with housing providers to identify those at risk of homelessness, and 
enable people to remain in accommodation (315) 
 

 Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to: 

 Continue to develop mental health support provided alongside substance misuse 
support and treatment (315) to improve client outcomes 

 Increase routine alcohol screening in Primary and Secondary Care to identify 
hazardous and harmful drinking behaviours  

 
 
 

 

18.1   Overview  
Substance misuse refers to the use of psychoactive substances in a way that is harmful or 
hazardous to health, including alcohol and illicit drugs. The use of such substances can lead 
to dependency with associated cognitive, behavioural and physiological problems. This 

Page 2363



   

 

182 

results in a strong desire to take the drug, difficulties in controlling use, persisting in its use 
despite harmful consequences, a higher priority given to drug use than to other activities 
and obligations, increased tolerance, and sometimes a physical withdrawal state (316).  
 
The Vale of Glamorgan has the highest percent of residents in a local authority in Wales 
reporting average weekly alcohol consumption over 14 units (i.e., above guidelines) at 25% 
(165). The Welsh average is 19%, and 20% of Cardiff residents report exceeding guidelines in 
2016/17 to 2019/20 (317). Amongst people reporting that they drink alcohol, residents of 
the Vale of Glamorgan report the highest average annual alcohol consumption at 660 units 
(compared to Cardiff at 523 units, and the all-Wales average at 531 units per year) in 
2016/17 to 2019/20 (165). The Office for National Statistics report provisional data for 
England and Wales for the year 2020, which demonstrates the highest annual number of 
deaths from alcohol-specific causes since their time-series (started in 2001): 7,423 deaths 
(13.0 per 100,000 population). This reflects a 20% increase since 2019 (318). In Wales, 
three-year rolling average of deaths from alcohol-specific causes over the most recent six 
year reporting period shows that the European age standardised rate (EASR) of deaths per 
100,000 population has increased since 2013-15, from 12.0 deaths to 12.7 deaths per 
100,000 population in 2017-19. Cardiff and Vale UHB is below the Wales average, at 11.9 
(319).   
 
The EASR for drug misuse deaths registered in 2019 in Wales was 5.6 deaths per 100,000 
population compared with 7.2 deaths per 100,000 in 2018 (319). For Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, since 2015, rates have fluctuated between 3.9 (in 2017) and 7.0 in 2016 (319). 
 
Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board commissions a range of services to provide different 
levels and types of drug and alcohol treatment for children, young people, families, and 
adults. The drug and alcohol treatment system in Cardiff and the Vale is structured over four 
tiers, and ranges from basic harm minimisation and other advice; to inpatient detoxification, 
residential care and relapse prevention (320). Substance misuse services in Cardiff and Vale 
of Glamorgan received 6,611 referrals, and treated 3,084 people during 2020/21. Alcohol 
was the most prevalent main problematic substance used by people over 18, followed by 
heroin, cannabis, and cocaine (320).  
 
This chapter was developed by triangulating data from reports and other documents with 
information from professional leads and engagement work: 2 focus group participants; 19 
survey respondents reported they have or had drug or alcohol addiction problems, although 
questions around alcohol consumption were answered by 508 participants from the PNA 
public engagement survey. Forty-seven respondents of the provider’s survey provided 
services for people with substance misuse problems. Themes and quotes from engagement 
work conducted by Voices Action Change (a service user involvement project run by Cardiff 
and Vale Area Planning Board for people using substance misuse services and their families) 
between July and September 2021 was also included. During this period they engaged with 
82 people through a range of mediums including during service provision, through social 
media, and at events (321). It should be noted that the views of those engaged are not 
representative of all people with substance misuse problems in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan. 

Page 2364



   

 

183 

 

18.2   What has changed since 2017?  
18.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
Nationally, the following have been implemented since 2017:  

 Welsh Government published ‘The Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022’ (322) 
in October 2019. It sets out the key policy and operational priorities, informed by 
extensive consultation and engagement over a number of months during 2019. The 
onset of COVID-19 led to the Welsh Government reviewing the Plan to ensure that it 
reflected the work that has been, and will be, undertaken as a result of the 
pandemic (315) 

 On 2nd March 2020, the Public Health (Minimum Price for Alcohol) (Wales) Act 2018 
was implemented. Retailers selling or supplying alcohol must sell it at a minimum 
price of 50p per unit (323). The impact of the legislation on alcohol consumption 
and/or switching to other substances has not yet been evaluated  
 

Across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, the following progress has been made:  

 Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board (APB) commissioned a substance misuse needs 
assessment in 2018 (314) to understand the need for services and inform future 
commissioning. It will result in the tender of a new Substance Misuse Alliance in 
2022 

 In 2020, a Health Needs Assessment of people who inject in public (324), and a full 
review of the Needle and Syringe Programme was undertaken in Cardiff and Vale. 
The recommendations from both of these will result in programmes of work during 
2021/22, to ensure that people’s needs are met 

 In 2020/21 a review of Cardiff and Vale Needle and Syringe Programme was 
completed. The review recommendations have resulted in a programme of work 
across partner organisations which is currently being progressed 

 There have been changes to treatment services in Cardiff and Vale since 2017, 
including the rapid upscaling in the prescribing of long acting buprenorphine 
injections (Buvidal) (320), as well as closer working between homelessness services 
and substance misuse services, which began before COVID, but was accelerated 
rapidly during the pandemic  

 
18.2.1  COVID-19 
Public Health England reported increased alcohol consumption during the pandemic, 
particularly amongst heavy drinkers, which is widening inequalities in health and driving an 

“[we want] to be respected in what we say and that our 
words matter” – substance misuse service user, Voices 

Action Change engagement (299) 

Page 2365



   

 

184 

unprecedented acceleration in alcoholic liver disease deaths (325). Despite pubs, clubs and 
restaurants closing for approximately 31 weeks during the national lockdowns, the total 
amount of alcohol released for sale during the pandemic was similar to the pre-pandemic 
years, suggesting people were drinking more at home (325).  
 
The public engagement survey for this PNA found that since March 2020, almost one in four 
of 508 respondents feel their alcohol intake has increased, whilst one in six feel it has 
decreased (Figure 18.1). 
 

 

 
Figure 18.1. Results from the public survey regarding alcohol intake since March 2020 
 
The focus group identified that isolation and the lack of face to face services caused 
increased alcohol intake and worsening addiction. Closure of services such as public libraries 
resulted in a lack of places to go and positive distractions. Other challenges identified by 
focus group participants included GP access. Welsh Government provided free food and 
accommodation during the pandemic, but this has now stopped. Professional leads clarified 
that Welsh Government offered funding for Local Authorities to coordinate and deliver 
accommodation during lockdown for homeless people and those who have no recourse to 
public funds.   
 
A recent Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board Population Needs 
Assessment on the impact of COVID-19 identified the following changes in need since 2017 
in terms of changes in drug use: increase in complex patterns of poly drug use; increase in 
cocaine and stimulant use; increase in range of substance use; arrival of new drugs; misuse 
of prescribed medication; and a greater ease of purchasing (326). 
 
Welsh Emerging Drugs & Identification of Novel Substances (WEDINOS) reported that 
despite COVID, there was not a substantial impact on drug markets or on types of samples 
submitted for analysis, with the exception of those received via night time economy 
settings. In the absence of samples from night club amnesty bins and other recreational use 
settings, we have seen a decline in ketamine, cocaine and other stimulants for profiling 
(327). 
 
It is assumed that there will have been a reduction in detection of substance misuse in 
primary and secondary care, as healthcare services were disrupted. 

Page 2366



   

 

185 

18.3   What are the care and support needs?  
18.3.1  Individual  
Minimising risk of infectious diseases  
Injecting drug use is a risk factor for blood borne viruses, and bacterial infections which can 
lead to amputation and, in some cases, can be fatal. Self reported use of higher risk injection 
sites such as the groin has been stable over the last 5 years at 20% in 2020/21 amongst 
people who inject opiods. Amongst those who inject stimulants, the percentage reporting 
using higher risk sites has increased from 17% in 2016/17 to 21% in 2020/21 (313).  
 
Blood borne virus screening has been taken up by 7,405 people between the financial years 
of 2017 and 2021; although a 79% decrease on people being tested was observed in 
2020/21. Screening is offered in community settings such as substance misuse and 
homelessness services. Fewer than 1% of individuals were positive for human 
immunodeficiency virus (HIV) or hepatitis B in 2020/21, however, hepatitis C antibodies 
were detected in 11% across Wales, and 15% in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan (313).  

 
Language and communication  
No data are available on the Welsh language profile of the population in Cardiff and the Vale 
who are affected by substance misuse. Healthcare and treatments service providers have a 
responsibility to provide information to service users bilingually, and to provide interpreters 
during consultations should they be required for a range of languages. Service user feedback 
to Voices Action Change identified that often jargon and acronyms are used in conversations 
as well as printed material, which service users struggle to understand and engage with 
(321).  

 
18.3.2  Community 
Medical care 
Hospital admissions are a commonly used measure to assess the harms of alcohol and illicit 
drugs to individuals (319). Although hospital admissions are reflective of harms associated 
with use at the more problematic end of the alcohol and drug use spectrum, figures can 
provide a useful and consistent gauge of these harms over time. Broken down by age, 
comparable numbers of admissions for both illicit drugs and alcohol are observed from the 
10-14 age groups up to the 35-39 age group, after which admission for illicit drugs fall 
steadily whilst those for alcohol related conditions continue to rise, peaking in the 55 - 59 
age group (Figure 18.2). Twice as many individuals were admitted to hospital for alcohol-
specific conditions than for illicit drug use in 2019/20 (319). 

Page 2367



   

 

186 

 
Figure 18.2. Hospital admissions for alcohol-specific conditions and illicit drugs, 2010/11 to 
2019/20. Data for 2019/20 is highlighted. Source: Public Health Wales (319) 
 
 
Table 18.1 shows alcohol-related hospital admissions decreased in 2019/20 compared to 
2018/19, but remain the same or elevated since 2015/16.  Figure 18.3 shows illicit drug 
related hospital admissions by Health Board area of residence in Wales. Opioids had the 
highest EASR rate (70.1 per 100,000 population), followed by benzodiazepines (18.1 per 
100,000 population) in Cardiff and Vale (319). 
 
 
Table 18.1: European Age Standardised Rate per 100,000 population for individuals resident 
in Wales admitted to hospital for an alcohol-specific condition in any diagnostic position, 
2019-20 

Local Authority Area EASR per 100,000 
population 2019/20 

Change since 
2018/19 

Change since 
2015/16 

Cardiff 291.7 -9% 0% 
Vale of Glamorgan 300.2 -5% 10% 
Wales 312.2 -8% -6% 

Source: Public Health Wales (319) 
 
 

Page 2368



   

 

187 

 
Figure 18.3. Illicit drug related hospital admissions by Health Board area of residence in 
Wales. Source: Public Health Wales (319) 
 
 
Provision of mental health support alongside management of drug- or alcohol-related harm 
is key, due to the high prevelence of dual diagnosis of mental health concerns and 
substance misuse. An audit of referrals from the Emergency Unit at University Hospital 
Wales to the Liaison Psychiatry team found that 55% of referrals had substance misuse 
problems (314). The need for dual diagnosis support was echoed in engagement work 
conducted by Voices Action Change, as well as support and training for people in recovery 
around managing emotions (321).  

 
18.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Counterfeit illicit drugs 
WEDINOS reported that for the fourth consecutive year, the most commonly identified 
chemical group of psychoactive substances were benzodiazepines. The purchase of non-
prescribed and non-controlled benzodiazepines, generally obtained through an online 
market, is a growing concern. Many benzodiazepine tablets available on illicit markets are 
counterfeit and may contain varying amounts of the active ingredients. As a consequence, 
the risk of adverse effects, development of dependency, hospitalisation or death are 
increased, particularly when alcohol and/or other drugs are taken alongside or within a 
short period (327). 
 

Page 2369



   

 

188 

Families, including children and young people  
Parental substance misuse is an Adverse Childhood 
Experience (ACE), which are associated with negative 
impacts over the life course. The needs of children and 
young people whose parents use substances is often 
referred to as “hidden harm” and Cardiff and Vale UHB 
commissions a service for this (41). An “ACE-lens” has 
been applied to Welsh Government output relating to 
substance misuse (47). Research into the reasons for 
children being placed into care identifies the complex 
interplay of substance misuse, domestic abuse, and 
parental mental health problems. In March 2018, 
substance misuse was identified as a parental factor 
amongst 36% of Children Looked After in Wales (101). 
See also chapters 5-7 (Children and Young People). 
 
Deprivation  
There is considerable evidence of a linear relationship between substance misuse and 

deprivation (319). Figure 18.4 below illustrates that the proportion of all patients admitted 

for alcohol-specific conditions living in the most deprived areas was 2.7 times higher than 

those from the least deprived areas. In relation to illicit drug use, this figure rose to 5.2 

times higher in Wales (319). 

 

Figure 18.4. Unique individual admissions due to alcohol or illicit drugs in any diagnostic 

position, by deprivation decile, 2019/20. Data from Substance Misuse Programme / NHS 

Wales Informatics Service (319) 

 

“You don’t know 
you’re losing 

everything until 
you look back” – 
substance misuse 
service user, focus 

group  

Page 2370



   

 

189 

Amongst people who inject drugs reporting use of opioids or stimulants in Wales, three-

quarters were unemployed. Of those injecting performance enhancing drugs, one third 

were unemployed (313). 

Focus group participants were most worried about Universal Credit sanctions and poverty, 

and the possibility of not being able to afford the bills, food, or accommodation. Lack of 

access to the internet – which participants stated they couldn’t afford – made it difficult to 

find a job. 

  

Housing  
Addiction to drugs and/or alcohol is both a cause and consequence of homelessness, and 
two thirds of homeless people cite drug or alcohol use as a reason for first becoming 
homeless (328). Improved closer working between homelessness services and substance 
misuse services was accelerated rapidly during COVID-19.  
 
One focus group participant owned their own flat which offered security, although the 
participant did not have internet and struggled with bills such as for heating. Another 
participant lives in rented accommodation and relied on housing benefit, following a period 
of homelessness. The cost of housing and bills were seen as too high, and council 
accommodation was seen as insufficient for demand.  

 

18.3.4  Unmet needs  
Almost half of the 78 people who responded to the question in the public survey felt that 
advice on alcohol or drugs was currently available, but more is required.  
 
The following unmet needs were identified by focus group participants, professional leads, 
and recent literature:   

 Difficulties accessing online services. A recurrent theme throughout the focus group 
was of difficulties accessing online services – from healthcare; third sector services; 
to financial management (for example Universal Credit). Restrictions to digital 
communication devices can be common for those in recovery who are trying to 
distance themselves from previous contacts.  Those who are older, have learning 
disability, or limited means were felt to be at increased risk of digital isolation and 
therefore service exclusion. Reliance on virtual services has been exacerbated by 
COVID-19. Services which can only be 
accessed by telephone requires both access 
to a (smart)phone and credit, which service 
users may be lacking. In addition to 
difficulties with digital isolation, loneliness 
and isolation were prominent factors in the 
participants’ lives, and so they preferred 
and seek out face to face interactions with 
services. Voices Action Change engagement 
work has also identified that many service 
users do not have a phone and are unsure 

“There is probably 
more stuff to enjoy but 

I don’t know what it 
is” – substance misuse 

service user, focus 
group 

Page 2371



   

 

190 

how to use online platforms, which forms a barrier to accessing online support, in 
particular during COVID-19. 

 Access to trauma therapy access is problematic, despite a trauma-informed 
workforce 

 There is real concern about co-occurring mental health and substance misuse, and a 
perception that the mental health and substance misuse sectors do not work as well 
together as they should (314) 

 Consideration of vulnerable groups within those experiencing substance misuse (for 
example, domestic violence, carers)  

 Access to medical care, due to a lack of continuity of care, and long waiting lists for 
healthcare  

 
The following areas were identified as gaps in data, with a need to understand:  

 Why low numbers of children and young people are engaging with service provision 

 Adults who are not accessing services 

 The local impact of COVID-19 on substance misuse 

 Evaluation of the impact of the introduction of the minimum unit price for alcohol 

 The data gap of sexuality and substance misuse 
 

18. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
18.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Early intervention of substance misuse  
Earlier identification is required for alcohol screening and in primary and secondary care to 
identify harmful and hazardous drinking. Liaison with community-based groups who provide 
a broad range of early intervention and prevention services may help facilitate early 
referrals into alcohol or substance misuse services, and signpost to suitable sources of 
support. Engagement work by Voices Action Change identified that long waiting times for 
treatment was a barrier for people to get help, and many mentioned that their cases would 
sometimes be closed when they felt like they still needed help. Early intervention should 
include timely and ongoing treatment (321).  
 
Surveillance of psychoactive substances  
WEDINOS provides testing of unknown psychoactive substances in order to provide harm 
reduction advice, through the timely dissemination of information based on the identified 
chemical constituents (329). Ongoing monitoring of drug-related deaths with data to 
National Implementation Board for Drug Poisoning Prevention for their review (315).  
 
Risk reduction for blood borne viruses and bacterial infections  
Methods by which to reduce the risk of the development of serious infection as a 
consequence of high risk methods of drug taking include reduction of transmission, and 
early detection of infection.  
 
Needle and syringe programmes provide sterile equipment within a harm reduction 
approach. The coverage (defined as clean injecting equipment for each injecting event) of 
these programmes is sub-optimal, with a Wales average of 22%. People accessing needle 

Page 2372



   

 

191 

and syringe programme via specialist providers were given approximately double the 
number of syringes over the course of a year compared to those attending a pharmacy. In 
Cardiff and the Vale, four-fifths of interactions occurred in specialist services (the Welsh 
average is one in three). COVID-19 has reduced use of the needle and syringe programme.  
 
A key performance indicator for screening in substance misuse services is defined as “all 
clients who are in contact with substance misuse services to be routinely tested on site…for 
blood borne virus infection (hepatitis B, hepatitis C and HIV) on at least an annual basis” 
(313). This indicator aims to encourage increasing blood borne virus screening, and (where 
necessary) early treatment.  
 
Assets to support well-being 
In terms of assets that support people’s well-being, 
focus group participants have limited support 
networks and personal relationships as a result of 
their addiction, and therefore relied on services and 
third sector organisations for interpersonal 
communication. Third sector organisations such as 
Adferiad and Huggard were named by focus group 
participants due to a non-judgemental approach, 
and targeted support. Community-based assets such 
as libraries and hubs provide somewhere warm to 
spend time (saving on home heating costs) and free access to computers for internet, 
learning, and reading. Computers were also used for online meetings with other support 
facilities, particularly during COVID-19 when face to face meetings were restricted. Other 
assets include the 12 steps programme, voluntary roles, for example with the Pantry, local 
groups such as football, English classes, and the Citizens Advice Bureau, although much of 
their provision is online which can be a barrier to those without computer/smart 
phone/internet access or skills.  
 
NHS services such as primary care were helpful, although phone services were said to be not 
suitable for the digitally disenfranchised, with additional cost of phone calls on personal 
mobile phones. In addition, treatment services provide support to get and remain sober: 
“while there, it is possible to forget about addiction for a while”.  
 
Professional leads identified additional sources of support, including Dewis Cymru, and 
harm reduction models provided by social services, NHS services, and community hubs. A 
comprehensive assessment of services available is included in the 2018 Substance Misuse 
Needs Assessment (314).   
 

18.4.2  Community services 
Buvidal 
Buvidal (an opioid substitute treatment) has been rolled out across the health board area 
during the COVID-19 pandemic, having been licensed by NICE in 2019. The toxicity and 
overdose risks are significantly reduced compared to methadone and heroin, and quality of 
life measures are significantly improved. In 2020/21, 288 people commenced Buvidal in 

“Connection is the 
opposite of addiction” 

– substance misuse 
service user, focus 

group 

Page 2373



   

 

192 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, of whom 175 came through the criminal justice system. 
Evaluation findings are due in spring 2022 (320).   
 
Overdose management 
Take Home Naloxone with training on identification and management of an opioid overdose 
is a cost-effective mechanism to prevent fatal opioid poisoning. Currently, a range of 
services are providing Take Home Naloxone and associated training, including substance 
misuse services, HMP Cardiff, homelessness and hostel services, night time economy and 
hospitality, and the family and friends of people at risk (320) (330). Cardiff and Vale Area 
Planning Board successfully gained additional funding for Take Home Naloxone, with the 
aim of increasing availability of these kits amongst the housing and homeless sector, and the 
night time economy (320). Novel approaches to training on use of Take Home Naloxone 
have been employed with young people providing peer training, which has been well 
received by young people, and enables attitudes and stigma to be challenged.  
 

18.4.3  Partnership approach 
Person-centred services  
Engagement work conducted for the Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board identified that 
service users wanted to feel listened to, and be asked for their views. As part of engagement 
work, people wanted to receive feedback on how their comments had been used, and how 
their experiences had effected change. Suggestions around service user involvement and co-
production were well received: “it's easy for the hierarchy to become unintentionally 
distanced from service users”. Service users were very positive about people with lived 
experiences talking to them, as they felt that they had a better understanding of what they 
might have been going through (321). 

 
 
Connected services  
The rapid upscaling in the prescribing of long acting buprenorphine injections (Buvidal) was 
pivotal in the response to COVID-19 which resulted in benefits for the individuals receiving 
the treatment, and also reduced the number of people having to attend clinical spaces and 
pharmacies on a daily basis (320).  
 
The homeless population were housed by the two local authorities in hostels and hotels 
during the pandemic. Working closely with Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Councils’ 
homelessness services, vital support was offered to some of the most disadvantaged 
communities (320). Treatment services flexed and adapted service provision, developing 

“Everyone's a human being, we all love, we all cry. I wish 
people like us, who use services, were less judged” – 
substance misuse service user, Voices Action Change 

engagement (299) 
 

Page 2374



   

 

193 

innovative ways of delivering interventions and support, including online and telephone 
support and in-reach to those housed in hotels and hostels. Knowledge and signposting to 
other wider activities and services may help to reduce isolation, and provide needed 
support. Continued close liaison between services must continue during COVID-19 recovery.  
 
Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board monitor the number of people disengaging from 
services within their key performance indicators. In 2020/21, 9.6% of service users 
disengaged between assessment and treatment, which was a 2% increase from the year 
prior (Welsh Government expect less than 20%) (320).  
 
Addressing vulnerability 
The specific needs of some especially vulnerable groups need to be considered more fully in 
forward planning of services – notably in terms of access and greater flexibility. Significant 
groups include: 

 Armed forces service leavers (veterans) 

 Carers - there is need for improved understanding of caring for someone, or 
experiencing their own issues with substance misuse (314) (326) 

 Perpetrators and victims of domestic abuse (314) (326) - a need for improved access 
to treatment and shared awareness of underlying issues 

 Those with formally diagnosed and likely Alcohol Related Brain Damage (ARBD) 

 Sex workers - there is limited access to agencies and awareness of how best to 
support 

 Those with addiction to prescribed medication (314) 

 People with complex needs – there is a requirement for better alignment of services  

 Ethnic minority communities – there is reasonable representation of ethnic minority  
groups within service provision in Cardiff and Vale, but further work needs to be 
done in assessing the more ‘hidden’ populations in those communities, where shame 
about alcohol use and criminal activity inhibit individuals, especially women, and 
their families from seeking help (314) (326) 

Services must be accessible to these groups, and be mindful of their specific circumstances 
and needs.  
 

18.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
In 2018, a WHO Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health projected an increase in alcohol 
consumption in the near future in the UK (331). Alcohol consumption is anticipated to have 
increased during COVID-19, particularly amongst heavy drinkers (325). England have 
experienced a 20% increase in total alcohol specific deaths compared to 2019. It is 
anticipated that Wales may experience a similar pattern.  
 
There is considerable evidence of high levels of alcohol use among older people across the 
UK (314). Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan both face significant increases in numbers of 
older people, many of who may require access to services late in life with little prior 
experience of accessing services. 
 

Page 2375



   

 

194 

18.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to:  

 Take action to ensure services are accessible to the service user, with a focus on 
provision of face to face support and a reduction in the reliance on digital access for 
awareness of services, and service provision   

 Monitor trends relating to alcohol and substance misuse in order to anticipate 
service needs, including misuse of over the counter drugs and the purchasing of on-
line supplies of drugs   

 Increase signposting of those in need, through awareness across the system of 
support provided by other services including public, private and third sector 

 Increase awareness of Dewis Cymru, a website which enables individuals to find local 
and national organisations and services (272) 

 Support the harm reduction agenda through  
o Increasing coverage of needle and syringe programmes (313) 
o Strengthen blood borne virus screening  (313) 
o Continue to build partnership services to increase the provision of Take Home 

Naloxone (314) 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities to:  

 Work together with housing providers to identify those at risk of homelessness, and 
enable people to remain in accommodation (315) 
 

 Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and Primary Care to: 

 Continue to develop mental health support provided alongside substance misuse 
support and treatment (315) to improve client outcomes 

 Increase routine alcohol screening in Primary and Secondary Care to identify 
hazardous and harmful drinking behaviours  

 
 

Page 2376



   

 

195 

19. Secure Estate 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children and Young 
People; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental 
Health; Cognitive Impairment including Dementia; Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans); 
Substance Misuse  
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies to:  

 Develop a culture of person-centred services, with increased voice for the person in 
prison 

 Adopt an ACE- or trauma-informed approach to support those with ACEs, and reduce 
the risk of children with ACEs becoming offenders 

 Consider the recommendations of the Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs 
Assessment (102) 
 

Prison health services to:  

 Develop healthcare registers of long term conditions, which will enable appropriate 
reviews and referrals  in line with national best practice  

 Primary mental health services to continue to build and develop existing services to 
manage the increased demand  

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Develop systems which facilitate the sharing of health information from prison 
health services to primary and secondary health care providers  

 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Strengthen Local Authority housing pathways to plan release from prison and 
facilitate transition from HMP Cardiff (and other establishments) to community 
settings  

 Provide more suitable housing options which increase the chance of successful 
reintegration into the community and employment, and reduce the risk of re-
offending 

 
 

 
 
 

19.1   Overview  
This chapter focusses on the needs of people held within the secure estate, who will be 
referred to as people in prison. In Cardiff and Vale, secure estate comprises of Her Majesty’s 
Prison (HMP) Cardiff, a public local remand Category B prison for males. There is no secure 

Page 2377



   

 

196 

estate provision for young people or women in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, and so 
the care and support needs discussed focus on prevention and resettlement.  
 
HMP Cardiff accepts those aged 18 years and older, who are remanded into custody in 
South East Wales. There are around 70-100 new receptions each week. The operational 
capacity is 779 (332). During the most recent inspection in 2021, 70% of men had been in 
HMP Cardiff less than three months (332). Between 0-3% are aged under 20; less than 5% of 
prisoners are aged over 60 (333). Health care is provided by Cardiff and Vale University 
Health Board (332). The prison links with probation services to provide continuity of care 
upon release.  
 
Many men held at HMP Cardiff have characteristics or medical concerns which are discussed 
in other sections within this Population Needs Assessment. A survey conducted in HMP 
Cardiff for the PNA identified that 47% of the 96 respondents have a substance misuse 
problem (chapter 18); 47% have mental health condition(s) (chapter 13); and 25% have a 
long term health condition (chapter 9). The Prison Reform Trust states between 5-10% of 
adult prisoners in the UK has a learning disability; and 75% have mental health problems as 
well as substance misuse (334).  
 
In general, people from minority ethnic communities are over-represented within prison 
populations in England and Wales (335). In November 2021, 14% of the population in HMP 
Cardiff were from a minority ethnic group (333). 
 
Female prisoners  
There is no provision for female prisoners in Wales. Women from Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan are usually transferred to HMP Eastwood Park, in South Gloucestershire in 
England. Between July and November 2021, 55 women were released from HMP Eastwood 
Park to Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, with an additional 9 women released directly 
from court following a period of remand at HMP Eastwood Park.  
 
Children, young people, and youth justice 
This chapter will not explicitly consider the needs of children and young people in the secure 
estate as these settings are not in Cardiff or the Vale of Glamorgan, however, key needs of 
children and young people around prevention and transition back into their local area are 
identified.  
 
Small numbers of children and young people enter the Criminal Justice System in Cardiff and 
Vale. In the Vale of Glamorgan, up to 6 young people per year aged between 14 and 18 
were in custody between 2016 and 2020. In 2020/21, no young people received a custodial 
sentence. In Cardiff, between 10 and 21 children were in custody in the period 2016-2020, 
and fewer than five in 2020/21 (336).  
 
In line with the national picture, a reduction in custodial sentences was observed prior to 
COVID-19 restrictions, but this has reduced further since March 2020.  
 

Page 2378



   

 

197 

Young offenders from Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan are predominantly held in HMP 
Parc Young Offenders Institute (in Bridgend, Mid Glamorgan) which has capacity for 64 
males aged 15-17 (337). Children and young people (male or female) aged 12-17 may also 
be held in Hillside Secure Children’s Home in Neath for welfare purposes (338). The 
placement is agreed by the Youth Justice Board enabling best management of risks and 
needs of the young people. 
 
Half of young people in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service are known to Children’s 
Services; and one-sixth are children looked after (103). A health needs assessment of 
children in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service was conducted in 2021 (102).  

 
Most (85%) of the young people in contact with the Vale Youth Offending Service are known 

to Children’s Services; and one-fifth of children are previously or currently looked after.  A 

Profile of the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Cohort was conducted in 2021 and 

identified that 25% of children are a child in need, and 19% had a child protection plan (29) 

(112).  

Information sources 
Input from professional leads (including representatives from local authority, NHS, and HMP 
Cardiff) complemented engagement work with people in prison (focus group with 8 
participants, as well as a survey conducted in HMP Cardiff which received 96 responses). 
Nine respondents (of the 445 people who answered the question to the public survey) 
reported contact with the criminal justice system or time spent in prison, and less than 
three had had contact with the youth offending service. Thirty respondents to the provider’s 
survey provided services for people who have spent time in prison, or been involved with 
the youth offending service.  
 

19.2   What has changed since 2017?  
19.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
The overarching landscape has changed from the 2017 PNA.  

 Welsh Parliament conducted an Inquiry ‘Health and social care provision in the adult 
prison estate in Wales’ which was published in March 2021 and puts forward 27 
recommendations (339) 

 The ‘Partnership agreement for prison health in Wales’ agrees priorities between 
Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) in Wales, Welsh Government, 
Local Health Boards, and Public Health Wales was published in 2019 (340) 

 The Female Offender Strategy (2018) and a Female Offending Blueprint for Wales 
(2019) support an early intervention and prevention agenda through a whole system 
approach. Both build on existing work around ACEs; and will strengthen a Welsh 
evidence base. There is focus on resettlement, reintegration, alternatives to custody, 
and supporting offenders, families and women at risk (341) (342)  

 A Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales has also been developed in 2019. This 
emphasises the importance of aligning preventative approaches (such as Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs), school exclusion, homelessness), pre-court diversion, 
trauma-informed services, placement of children closer to home and improved 

Page 2379



   

 

198 

resettlement arrangements (343). Welsh Government has additionally published 
standards for children in the youth justice system, which includes a standard on 
resettlement and transition (344) 

 Probation services took over the role previously occupied by Community 
Rehabilitation Companies in 2021 (345) 

 The Justice Committee have recently launched a mental health in prison inquiry 
(346)  

Regionally, the following has changed:  

 A Health and Wellbeing Needs Assessment of the needs of children in contact with 
the Cardiff Youth Justice Service, and their families, was published in June 2021. Its 
findings will form part of a wider Strategic Needs Assessment, as outlined in the 
Cardiff YJB Development Strategy 2020-2022 (102)  

 In the Vale of Glamorgan, the Youth Justice Plan 2021-2023 was published (347) 
 
At HMP Cardiff, a number of notable service improvements have taken place (348):  

 Introduction of a brain injury worker in 2017  

 A successful bid for funding from Welsh Government Prison Health Fund in May 
2019 enabled the recruitment of a service development manager, four full-time 
qualified primary mental health practitioners and 1 primary mental health assistant 
practitioner. Funding was also received for the substance misuse work stream, to 
include 2 substance misuse nurses, additional pharmacy support, and an additional 
salaried GP  

 Introduction of Buvidal for the treatment of opioid dependence in 2020  
 
HMP Cardiff was inspected in 2019 and real progress from the 2016 inspection was 
observed, in particular in the domains of safety, respect, and purposeful activity which was 
felt to be a significant achievement given the concurrent challenging context. The inspector 
observed excellent relationships between staff and prisoners with positive effects on levels 
of violence, drug prevalence, and overall living conditions (332). 

 
19.2.1  COVID-19 
Direct impacts of COVID-19  
Public Health England’s ‘COVID-19 prison and other prescribed places of detention’ 
guidance and HMPPS guidance is being followed in HMP Cardiff. Between March 2020 and 
February 2021, 277 COVID-19 cases were detected in HMP Cardiff; with 92 detected 
between March and November 2021. The vast majority of cases were community infections, 
detected through a programme of testing all new receptions (333). New receptions are 
tested on days 1 and 5, before being moved into the main population in line with national 
guidance. Men are offered COVID vaccines (including boosters) within 2 weeks of arrival if 
not up to date at a weekly vaccination clinic. In November 2021, 69% of men had had their 
first vaccine, and 52% their second. Professional leads have stated that HMP Cardiff is 
considered exemplar in terms of COVID-19 vaccination. Records are updated using the 
national Welsh Immunisation System so that information following release or transfer is 
accurate.   
 

Page 2380



   

 

199 

Lockdown restrictions 
Changes in lockdown restrictions were variably received by focus group participants, but 
negative impacts on mental health were observed. Self-harm incidents have reduced during 
the pandemic. Professional leads report that men felt safer when unlocked in small groups, 
which translated into less violence and self-harm. Recent self-harm figures are currently 
below that of 2019 (349). In July 2021, there were 68 deliberate acts of self-harm by 29 
men; in August there were 38 incidents by 23 men, and in September there were 24 self-
harm incidents by 21 men. The figures for September represent the lowest number of 
deliberate self-harm incidents recorded in a month during the previous 2 years (333).   
 
Survey findings from men in HMP Cardiff show most (78%) respondents reported mostly or 
very good well-being prior to COVID-19; with 7 (8%) reporting mostly or very bad well-being. 
Only 42% responded that their well-being had been very or mostly good over the last year, 
with 19% reporting mostly or very bad well-being. The majority (91%) responded being able 
to stay in touch with family and friends whilst in HMP Cardiff; 87% reported being able to 
stay in touch during the COVID-19 lockdowns.  
 
Care and support service provision  
Focus group participants identified that many services were suspended during the COVID 
outbreak within HMP Cardiff (emergency medical care continued). Access to care and 
support services has now resumed as normal (348). Professional leads identified that some 
services, such as dental, sexual health, and optometry, were paused to reduce the number 
of external healthcare professionals entering the prison site.  
 
A rapid needs assessment in October 2020 in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan identified 
the following positive and negative impacts of COVID-19 on secure estate:  

 Service changes: new isolation procedures; change in staffing levels; pausing of 
visits; reduced movement of people in prison 

 Physical and mental health: reduction in self-harm; reduction in physical activity 
(264) 

 
Youth Justice 
It is apparent across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Services that 
COVID-19 has created barriers for children to access support, for example, through 
reluctance to use virtual platforms, or technological problems. Professionals felt less able to 
engage directly with children (such as going for a coffee, or sports clubs) in the context of 
restrictions and identified difficulties accessing basic services such as the GP, dentist, and 
optician. However, virtual service delivery worked well for some children, for example, 
those intimidated by face to face meetings (102). In both Local Authorities, the majority of 
services were delivered remotely in light of restrictions, with face to face assessments or 
interventions provided where necessary (347).  
 

Page 2381



   

 

200 

19.3   What are the care and support needs?  
19.3.1  Individual  
Mental Health  
Mental health disorders are known to be prevalent amongst people in prison – during a 
2019 inspection of HMP Cardiff, 65% of people in prison had a mental health problem (332). 
Mental health services have improved due to Welsh Government funding: in June 2021, 
70% of standards for prison mental health services were met, compared to 51% in January 
2020 (348). Data from September 2021 showed 21 people were on an assessment waiting 
list and 52 on the review list for primary care mental health. Of the 25 assessments 
conducted in September 2021, all were carried out within 28 days. The Assessment Care and 
Community Team conducted 46 reviews for those who have or stated intent to self-harm or 
end their life (350). All men received into prison in September 2021 were screened for 
mental health concerns, and 56 referrals were made (350).  
 
The Quality Network for Prison Mental Health Services report from 2021 is very positive. 
Care providers have a “strong sense of direction” whose work ethic goes “above and 
beyond”. The funding was seen as critical to build the multidisciplinary team, strengthen 
relationships with other providers in the prison, develop referral pathways, and provide care 
that is patient-centred (348).  

 
 
Long term conditions  
Despite COVID, there has been successful recruitment of new GPs in HMP Cardiff, however, 
there remain ongoing difficulties with retention and recruitment (333). This impacts on the 
ability to provide more focus on areas such as long term condition management. 
Management of long term conditions in the secure estate should be consistent with the 
community (for example, annual asthma checks, referral to annual diabetic eye screening) in 
order to promote equity and reduce inequalities in health and healthcare access (351).  
Two-thirds of the 96 respondents to the survey administered in HMP Cardiff needed 
support for their health and well-being whilst in prison; 43% had a long term health 
condition.  
 
Substance misuse  
Drug and alcohol misuse is a known problem amongst those in the secure estate; including 
more risky behaviours such as injecting drugs (332). The secure estate provides an 

“…impressive service development and improvement in the 
past year, despite the COVID-19 pandemic” - Quality 

Network for Prison Mental Health Services report 

Page 2382



   

 

201 

opportunity for substance misuse interventions (352). Amongst survey respondents in HMP 
Cardiff, 41% reported a drug problem and 28% an alcohol problem prior to entering prison. 
 
The Dyfodol service meets every prisoner to discuss substance misuse and offers non-
clinical psychosocial harm reduction advice and guidance, signposting and referrals as 
appropriate. An assessment is offered to substance misusers for whom there is a link 
between misuse and offending, followed by collaborative progression planning, taking into 
account risks in terms of further offending and harm. Immediate needs will take priority, for 
example supporting prison clinicians in decisions about continuity of prescribing, or 
continuation of key time-limited work on reception and release. Long and short term goals 
are set and worked towards, all undertaken with acknowledgement of the prisoner’s legal 
status and restrictions, current and future location (333). 
 
Provision of Buvidal was commenced in HMP Cardiff in 2020. Where assessment judged that 
Buvidal could be beneficial for an individual, Buvidal was perceived to be a positive factor by 
enabling men to return to work, avoid areas associated with selling and using drugs, and 
reconnect with their families. These changes in lifestyle facilitated cessation of treatment at 
the end of the course. In November 2021, 22 men were using Buvidal, which is a reasonably 
stable figure, and is limited by funding available upon release when the individual returns to 
their local service (333).  
 
After prison release, those who use drugs are at higher risk of drug poisoning (352). A 
review of Take Home Naloxone (a drug overdose management initiative implemented in 
Welsh prisons including HMP Cardiff, amongst other settings) demonstrated that 10% 
(n=41) of those who had used it had a recent release from prison (353).  
 
Infectious diseases  
Blood borne virus (BBV) screening is routine in HMP Cardiff. New diagnoses are referred to 
specialist healthcare services as appropriate. Vaccination is offered for hepatitis B to those 
eligible (333).  There are plans to implement a High Intensity Test and Treat programme 
with funding available for a point of care testing machine (333).  
 
The secure estate is known to be a tuberculosis (TB) risk factor: of the 97 TB cases in Wales 
in 2018, 10% were currently or had been in prison (354). HMP Cardiff supported a pilot 
programme of screening for latent TB in 2018. Approximately 600 men were screened, of 
which 7% were positive for latent TB; and one active TB case was identified. Only one-third 
completed treatment with barriers identified as transfers between settings; capacity of 
specialist healthcare professionals to attend the secure estate setting; and post-release 
follow up (352).  Welsh Government funding is now available to HMP Cardiff to purchase 
onsite point of care testing equipment.  
 
Sexual health 
A review has identified that sexual health provisions across prisons in Wales compare poorly 
to community services (352). Access to sexual health services has reduced during COVID-19, 
but clinics have now restarted (October 2021) and most men can be seen within a fortnight 
(333).  

Page 2383



   

 

202 

 
Children, young people and youth justice  
Children and young people may come into contact with the justice system in a number of 
ways. For example, they may have a family member in prison, or they may have committed 
an offence and come into contact with the youth justice system. They may also be 
supported to prevent their progression to offending. 
 
Children who have a parent in prison are considered to have an adverse childhood 
experience (ACE). Support is required for the family to reduce the risk of intergenerational 
offending and transfer of ACEs from parent to child (355).   
 
Children and young people are becoming increasingly involved in more violent activity and 
knife crime (such as through County Lines – see also chapter 5 on children and young 
people); sexual exploitation; and mental health disorders. A harmful sexual behaviour 
project has been launched locally in 2019 which educates young people on healthy 
relationships, the law, and consent (356).  
 
The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment identified that many children in contact with the 
Youth Justice Service have complex health and well-being needs, with those who have 
experienced societal disadvantages or traumatic experiences more vulnerable (102). The 
needs assessment identified that 60% of those in contact with Cardiff Youth Justice Service 
were also in contact with Children’s Services, approximately half were assessed as high or 
very high risk for safety and wellbeing, and there were concerns regarding the child’s 
accommodation in one-third of children (102). The most important need identified was 
emotional well-being and mental health, with other needs including substance misuse 
support, speech and language provision, and health promotion (102).  
 
The Profile of the Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Cohort (2021) identifies that 84% of 
the Cohort has experienced one Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) or more, with 45% 
experiencing 4 or more ACEs. Research into Adverse Experiences details that those young 
people with 4 or more ACEs are 11 times more likely to be incarcerated at some point.  
Approximately a quarter of young people assessed were identified as high or very high risk 
of safety and well-being. One-quarter (23%) of young people had identified housing 
problems, and 50% have witnessed some form of domestic abuse. Half (53%) of Vale Cohort 
have current or previous involvement with the CAMHS service, and 21% have disclosed that 
they have self-harmed. Half of the Cohort have used substances and a third have identified 
concerns with alcohol (29) (112).  
 
The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment identifies transition points as a key need, both in 
terms of transitions between Children’s and Adult Services, as well as in and out of the 
secure estate (102). This is echoed by the Vale of Glamorgan. Professionals contributing to 
the Youth Justice needs assessment felt continuity of service provision at these crucial time 
points could be improved (102).  
 
Young people resident in Cardiff or the Vale of Glamorgan who are in the secure estate 
outside of their region may experience additional needs. National research on children and 

Page 2384



   

 

203 

young people placed far from home shows that increasing distance between home and 
placement is associated with significantly fewer visits from professionals responsible for 
their care (357). Children far from home feel more lonely and isolated, and in particular, for 
Welsh children placed in England, they can experience bullying due to their distinct Welsh 
identity (357). Professional leads identified that family dynamics can be quite different when 
children and young people transition back home. Children and young people have specific 
resettlement needs, in terms of reintegration into education, training or employment; and 
suitable accommodation. 
 
Women 
In HMP Eastwood Park, pre-release teams identify accommodation and social inclusion 
needs, which Commissioned Rehabilitative Services are then able to support to facilitate 
successful transition from the secure estate to the community. Support is provided for 
accommodation, education, training, and employment, finance, benefits, and debt 
management (345). Specialist women’s services are provided (345). 
 
Language and communication  
There is a lack of data on the number of Welsh-speaking prisoners and staff, nationally 

(357). The inspection of HMP Cardiff identified the presence of bilingual posters and signs, 

and some prisoners were learning Welsh, but prisoners were unaware that this may 

translate into improved employment prospects. The library contained material on Welsh 

language and culture (332). 

Half of survey respondents stated that the care and support received had been sensitive to 
the individual’s culture, however, half disagreed. One respondent stated: "I would like a 
gypsy meal at least once a month, you're allowed Ramadan so why not food from my 
culture." 
 

19.3.2  Community 
Safety  
The 2019 prison inspection identified that HMP Cardiff had stable rates of violence (despite 
increasing rates of prison violence in other Welsh prisons) (332). Of note, 40% of people in 
HMP Cardiff were (potential) perpetrators of domestic violence (332).  
 
Communication with community and other services  
Cardiff and Vale UHB delivers healthcare services within HMP Cardiff; enabling continuity of 
care between prison and hospital services. However, not all of the information technology 
systems are linked. If people in prison are transferred to other health board areas, they will 
be subject to local protocols which may introduce variability in management (352). COVID-
19 vaccinations are recorded on the national Welsh Immunisation System so that accurate 
records can accompany the person following release or transfer. 

Page 2385



   

 

204 

 
19.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Home address data from HMP Cardiff records is not 

reliable due to high prevalence of homelessness or 

chaotic lifestyles; a person’s address is taken from 

location of arrest.  

Respondents of the survey completed in HMP Cardiff 

report 57% (n=53) had a job prior to prison; and 43% did 

not. Just under half of respondents (n=45; 48%) reported 

they had been able to build skills during their time in HMP 

Cardiff. Respondents wanted increased availability of 

courses to help them “gain a trade”; “improve myself”; 

find “meaningful employment”; and be “useful in the real 

world”. Equipment such as laptops were identified as 

facilitators for doing courses.  

Housing  
A 2019 inspection of HMP Cardiff noted that living 
conditions in the prison had improved since the previous inspection (332). Whilst in prison, 
the distance from home impacts on visits from family and friends and may therefore have 
consequences for relationships (as well as risk of reoffending and substance misuse) upon 
release (357). This will be of particular concern to children and young people, and females, 
for whom there are no local secure estate facilities. HMP Cardiff offers homework clubs for 
men which were paused during COVID-19 restrictions. These can be face to face, and virtual 
provision is possible for men whose family live too far away, or where COVID restrictions 
prohibit in-person visits.   
 
On average, 200 people are released each month from HMP Cardiff. A 2019 inspection of 
HMP Cardiff identified that 47% of people had been released without a home to go to, and 
there was inadequate follow up of individuals following release as to their accommodation 
(332). Homelessness is known to be linked to reoffending risk (332). The prison inspectorate 
has raised this concern with HMPPS and Welsh Government (332).  
 
A prisoner pathway operates across Wales for all Welsh prisons, which includes housing as a 
key component. This requires housing need to be identified after an individual enters 
custody. Housing needs are included within a personal plan, which also agrees a package of 
support. Housing requirements are reviewed 7 days pre-release, and again on release day 
(358). A separate prisoner pathway exists for Welsh women, however, the same process is 
followed for housing (358). 
 
Cardiff Local Authority have a specialist Prevention prison officer, who assesses homeless 
applications completed within prison prior to release, and arranges accommodation through 
the Housing First team, the single person accommodation gateway, or through supported 

“[The] work ready 
course…really 
helped with 

rebuilding my life 
last time as I got a 
job through it" – 
person in HMP 
Cardiff, focus 

group 

Page 2386



   

 

205 

accommodation or privately rented accommodation (358). In the Vale of Glamorgan, Local 
Authority Housing staff are notified of prison release, and a resettlement offer is made. The 
pathway is supported by strong working relationships with Probation (29). 
 
The survey conducted in HMP Cardiff identified that 45% of 96 respondents lived in private 
rented housing prior to prison; 27% in private (owned/mortgage) housing; and 13% were 
homeless. Three-quarters of respondents stated they did have a home to go to after prison. 
Just over half (54%) stated they did not know what support is available to help find housing 
upon release from prison. Free text responses highlighted concerns around housing being 
held for people after their release from prison; and imminent homelessness on release. 
People with no fixed abode were concerned they would end up back in prison, or in hostels 
with substance misuse problems. Respondents wanted more information and support 
finding suitable housing.  
 
These findings were echoed in the focus group with HMP Cardiff residents, where people 
wanted housing and employment to be arranged well in advance of release to reduce 
anxiety. An address is vital for obtaining employment; a lack of housing means some people 
reoffend in order to access the security of a prison. A focus group including people who are 
homeless and had spent time in prison articulated 
that there was a lack of continuity between the 
probation service and housing services, leaving ex-
offenders with too little support upon release and 
placing them at risk of homelessness and re-
offending. Housing was seen as an essential first 
step.   
 
Focus group participants stated housing and hostels 
are easier to access (at the time of the focus group, 
October 2021), but anticipate this will change with 
societal recovery from COVID-19.  Hostels were felt 
to be of low quality and individuals may be housed 
with higher-risk offenders; therefore for some, 
prison cells are preferable. HMP Cardiff have 
commissioned a Task and Finish group to look at 
accommodation on release.  
 
Participants explained that some housing requires a reliance on the benefits system such as 
job seeker’s allowance. If housing is secured then working could jeopardise that, and losing 
housing means homelessness and unemployment, and so ex-offenders often work “off the 
books”. 
 

19.3.4  Unmet needs  
Engagement work identified that half of the 96 survey respondents in HMP Cardiff were 
satisfied with care and support services received. Unmet needs identified include:  

“I worry that I won’t 
find a job. All I need is 
a job and I’ll work. But 
I need a home first – I 

need an address” – 
Person in HMP Cardiff, 

focus group 

Page 2387



   

 

206 

 Access to healthcare: Focus group participants stated there was little continuity of 
care on entry to the prison (e.g., changes made to medications). They wanted 
increased access to mental health and dental appointments  

 Healthy lifestyles: participants wanted more access to sports and exercise facilities, 
and a wider range of foods (more fresh fruit and vegetables)  

 Being heard: only half of survey respondents felt sufficiently involved in decisions 
made about their care and support. Focus group participants felt they needed to 
make a “fuss” to be taken seriously, and perceived that those who stay quiet do not 
get the help they need – there was a view that prisoners needed to learn to play the 
system 

 Facilities: HMP Cardiff should be for short term stays, and so is not designed to offer 
the wider range of activities and facilities that other prisons have. However, 
increased lengths of stay means prisoners felt they are missing out  

 
Professional leads have identified the following:  

 Access to Primary Care services is challenging at present  

 Historical lack of use of “read codes” in prison health services. These underpin 
management of long term conditions and therefore their lack of use impacts 
negatively on: 

o provision of safe care in regard to clinical handover and continuity between 
healthcare practitioners within the prison 

o continuity and transfer of care to other prisons and the community   
o referral to appropriate screening services 

There needs to be a more consistent approach to the correct use of clinical coding  

 Increasing demand for trauma-informed services including access to psychology and 
counselling services  

 It is recognised that there is a need to develop nursing skills to better align with 
needs of people in prison, and to consider the merits of further extended roles 
within HMP setting  

 
Gaps in knowledge include:  

 Data on ethnicity and sexual orientation are not currently routinely collected by HMP 
Cardiff health services 

 Historical lack of recording of “read codes” used by primary care for long term 
disease management, therefore lack of understanding of burden of disease in HMP 
Cardiff  

 

19. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
19.4.1  Prevention and assets  
Adverse Childhood Experiences / Trauma-informed approach 
The 2018 Prisoner ACE survey was undertaken amongst adults (aged 16-69) in Welsh 
prisons. High levels of childhood ACEs were identified, with more than 8/10 experiencing 1 
ACE, and 46% experiencing 4 or more. One-third had experienced a household member 
incarcerated. The proportion of people with 4+ ACEs increased with the number of times 
that individual had been in prison. Those with 4+ ACEs were 4 times more likely to have 

Page 2388



   

 

207 

been in a Young Offender Institution. These findings support the potential for trauma-
informed interventions to prevent those exposed to ACEs from offending (355).   
Children of people in prison will be subject to an ACE; they will require proactive input for 
provision of protective factors and mitigation of other potential ACEs. Primary prevention of 
ACEs should take place, such as through strengthening early years support, parenting and 
family programmes. In addition, promotion of protective factors (such as a trusted adult 
relationship during childhood) should take place (355).   
 
Youth Services and Youth Justice  
A 2019 UK parliament report ‘Serious youth violence’ (359) highlighted the “very strong 
evidence” of the association between deprivation and vulnerability to serious youth violence 
including knife crime. Needs identified include:  
• A “public health” approach to address the root causes of violence (for example, to 

mitigate ACEs which have been associated with increased lifetime risk of 
incarceration)  

• Increased wraparound support to prevent school exclusion; and for those excluded, 
increased social, educational, and emotional support 

• Safe spaces to reduce exposure to violence and grooming; with support from youth 
workers (“adults have created unsafe spaces for children”) (359) 

  
The All-Party Parliamentary Group on Knife Crime & Violence Reduction published their 
report ‘Securing a brighter future: The role of youth services in tackling knife crime’ in 2020, 
following an increasing trend in knife crime in England and Wales, as well as more young 
people carrying weapons (of whom a third are reported to have had the weapon used 
against them) (360). The report identifies that, as most of a child’s waking hours are spent 
outside school, youth services are well placed to offer all children and young people safe 
spaces. Youth workers “bring those spaces to life as trusted role models”, as well as diverting 
young people away from criminal behaviours through facilitating young people to build 
relationships, learn new skills, and engage in educational and employment activities. Lack of 
social activities for young people was described by Bernardo’s children’s charity as “poverty 
of hope”, which youth projects could address (360).  
 
A literature review by the Early Intervention Foundation found that interventions involving 
skill building, counselling, coordinated services, and restorative programmes were most 
effective to reduce the risk of young offenders reoffending. Skill building programmes can 
develop problem solving skills, self-control, and conflict resolution which help prevent 
aggression and anti-social behaviour. Effective universal programmes involved mitigating 
negating influences, and promoting protective factors (361). 
 
Youth Services are provided across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan for young people aged 
11-25, with a focus on supporting young people through a holistic approach to develop 
personal, social, and educational goals and help young people reach their full potential, 
whether face to face, or via positive partnership working, and to empower them as 
individuals. Youth Services are discussed in other chapters of this report, for example, 
employment support in Chapter 5, ‘Children and Young People’. Both Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan have been awarded the Bronze Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales (362) 

Page 2389



   

 

208 

(363). The ‘Youth Work in Wales’ report identifies that 4,931 young people aged 11-25 in 
Cardiff, and 2,225 in the Vale of Glamorgan, were members of the Youth Service in 2019/20 
(364).  
 
Both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan offer a diverse range of Youth Services, including 
open youth clubs, outreach, detached mobile and street-based, alongside school-based and 
after school clubs, informal and formal learning opportunities (including Agored Cymru, 
Sweet, the Youth Achievement awards, a variety of courses for post-16 learning to support 
young people entering education, employment or training), mentoring, and the Duke of 
Edinburgh Award scheme (362) (363). 
 
The Cardiff Youth Justice needs assessment recommends a life-course approach is needed 
to prevent, identify and support these health and wellbeing needs, starting before birth and 
continuing through early years and schooling. Contact with the Youth Justice Service 
provides an opportunity to offer support (102).  
 
Both the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Youth Offending Services deliver early interventions 
in the form of Out of Court Disposals alongside Media Academy Cymru, and South Wales 
Police to divert children and young people who have not offended, and prevent those who 
have offended, usually for the first time, from re-offending. The most frequent early 
intervention is Youth Restorative Disposal, which does not attract a criminal record (which 
would have obvious negative consequences) (29) along with Prevention Programmes.  
 
In 2021, prevention and early intervention accounted for 50% of the Vale of Glamorgan 
Youth Offending Service caseload (347). The Prevention Team works with community 
partners to deliver interventions that are strengths-based and responsive to the dynamic 
risks, needs, safety and wellbeing of children, young people and families within the Vale of 
Glamorgan. This service offers support around self-esteem, consequential thinking, peer 
influences, identifying and managing emotions, and constructive activities as well as support 
to families and communities to continue these pro-social interventions. There are 
established links to boxing gyms and leisure centres in the Vale of Glamorgan. Restorative 
Approaches are also undertaken within programmes to reduce re-offending/prevent 
offending. Young people can engage with Neighbourhood Resolution Panels which are 
structured restorative conversations, between young people and their victims, facilitated by 
community volunteers, which can be a very powerful means to prevent offending or 
reoffending by fostering greater victim empathy and awareness. This is also available in 
relation to Anti-Social Behaviour interventions and sometimes as part of prevention 
programmes. Young people also complete reparation direct to the victim or to the 
community, apology letters and victim awareness work (29). 
 
In Cardiff, the Youth Justice Prevention Service works with children and young people 
referred due to risk of offending behaviour and provides one-to-one work and case 
management. Partnership arrangements are key to assisting reintegration of children into 
mainstream services, for example, diversionary activities through organisations such as 
Cardiff City Football Club and Step Into Sport, Youth Service, and Sidestep (365).  
 

Page 2390



   

 

209 

Healthy behaviours  
Exercise opportunities were identified as a source of support, in particular for mental health 
and well-being in the focus group and surveys. Seventy percent of survey respondents had 
been exercising during their time in HMP Cardiff, and access to physical activity was entered 
in several free text opportunities. Difficulties were experienced in accessing the gym during 
lockdown. 
 
 

 
Prevention of homelessness 
As previously described, focus groups identified that avoidance of homelessness and 
preparation for life following release may help reduce the “revolving door” and risk of re-
offending.   
 
Assets to support well-being  
Engagement with people in prison identified the following sources of support:  

 Healthcare: named members of the healthcare team were positively regarded: 
“[healthcare staff] goes above and beyond”. The Dyfodol and 12 steps programmes 
were helpful.  

 Library: access to the library was maintained 
even during COVID-19 restrictions, as prisoners 
indicated what genres they enjoy and books 
were selected and brought to them 

 Skills development: education support and 
training courses were sources of support 

 
Professional leads identified that HMP Cardiff offers 
education, training, and employment opportunities; a resettlement unit enables individuals 
to undertake work-based courses and offending behaviour programmes. In addition, the 
significant financial investment in mental health has enabled the formation of a primary 
mental health team in the prison which has had positive feedback.  
    

19.4.2  Community services  
High quality medical care  
The principle of “equivalence of care” is key when considering healthcare in secure 
environments. This encompasses the idea that people in prison are “afforded provision of or 
access to appropriate services or treatment” which are “at least consistent in range and 
quality with that available to the wider community” (366). The National Institute for Health 

“[Healthcare staff] 
is a God send” – 
Person in HMP 
Cardiff, survey 

"if it wasn't for training I would be in a bad frame of mind 
and my temper would be different, I did all of it myself” – 

Person in HMP Cardiff, focus group 

Page 2391



   

 

210 

and Care Excellence (NICE) has published guidance on the physical health of people in 
prison, encompassing health assessments on reception into prison, screening, general 
health advice, medicines, management of long term conditions, and continuity of 
healthcare. People should be offered equivalent health checks to those offered in the 
community, for example, learning disabilities’ annual health check, and relevant routine 
NHS screening programmes (351).  
 
Pharmacy provision   
Pharmacy services provide vital functions beyond just medication provision, such as 
medicines reconciliation, reporting, prescribing and other tasks. The prison has recently had 
agreement to fund an additional whole time equivalent additional pharmacist, which will 
enable HMP Cardiff to take forward the recommendations from the Prisons’ Inspector, such 
as pharmacy-led clinics, and medicine use reviews (332).  
 
Operational management  
Operational management and administration are the foundation of high quality services.  
A new operational manager is in place to support administration and operational functions 
within HMP Cardiff, and therefore support clinicians. They have helped to provide more 
robust processes including use of capacity, booking procedures, information governance, 
and technical support for clinical staff. They have been critical in managing COVID response. 
Welsh Government have provided feedback to HMP Cardiff that the prison is “exemplar” 
(333). The administrative team take on the logistics such as booking hospital appointments 
and conveying medical instructions prior to the appointment (such as nil by mouth and 
special diets).  
 

19.4.3  Partnership approach 
Agency  
Professional leads have identified the lack of agency people in prison experience, from 
choices around diet and exercise; controlling their environment; and attendance at 
healthcare appointments is reliant on security staff availability and may also be cancelled if 
a court appearance is scheduled for the same day. These factors may contribute to both 
physical and mental health. 
 
For Youth Justice services, there is a focus on a co-created, collaborative, co-ordinated 
response from services (including Probation, Health, Substance Misuse) to support young 
people who are resettling from custody, or transitioning from children’s to adult services 
(102) (347). Continuity of care as well as family involvement were identified as important 
(102).  
 
Planning for release  
Feedback from service providers for this report includes that the large majority of prison 
leavers are identified as not being ready for independent living and requiring supported 
accommodation provision, due to, for example, substance misuse, mental health needs or 
severe learning difficulties. Ensuring support is in place during an individual’s time in prison, 
as well as continuing support after release, may additionally facilitate future independent 
living (358).   

Page 2392



   

 

211 

 
The focus group discussed that careers and housing support could be accessed earlier in the 
sentence to prepare for release. Education and careers services could be integrated so that 
these could align with job opportunities at the end of the sentence, and prepare for life 
outside prison to reduce re-offending and the “revolving door”. Work is planned to ensure 
men leave with all relevant health information (e.g. active referrals; future hospital 
appointments) once capacity allows.  
 

19.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The Ministry of Justice project an increase in number of prisoners aged over 60 in the 
coming years in England and Wales (352). No disaggregated data for Wales are available, 
however, between 2020 and 2026, the prison population in England and Wales is projected 
to increase by 19,465 (from 79,235 to 98,700). There is uncertainty around this projection 
due to the impact of the recruitment of additional police officers, how the courts will 
recover from COVID-19, and trends in risk factors for crime (367).  
 
At HMP Cardiff, implementation the recommendations made by the Inquiry into provision 
of health and social care is a priority (368). Services are offered in line with the principle of 
equivalence: services cannot be the same in prison as in the community, and provision may 
exceed what is available in the community, in order to achieve equitable outcomes. 
 
Youth offending services are moving towards trauma-informed service, in line with the 
Blueprint (343). There are ongoing discussions regarding the development of a secure 
establishment for women resident in Wales.  
 

19.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to:  

 Develop a culture of person-centred services, with increased voice for the person in 
prison 

 Adopt an ACE- or trauma-informed approach to support those with ACEs, and reduce 
the risk of children with ACEs becoming offenders 

 Consider the recommendations of the Cardiff Youth Justice Health Needs 
Assessment (102) 
 

Prison health services to:  

 Develop healthcare registers of long term conditions, which will enable appropriate 
reviews and referrals  in line with national best practice  

 Primary mental health services to continue to build and develop existing services to 
manage the increased demand  

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Develop systems which facilitate the sharing of health information from prison 
health services to primary and secondary health care providers  

 

Page 2393



   

 

212 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to:  

 Strengthen Local Authority housing pathways to plan release from prison and 
facilitate transition from HMP Cardiff (and other establishments) to community 
settings  

 Provide more suitable housing options which increase the chance of successful 
reintegration into the community and employment, and reduce the risk of re-
offending 

 

  

Page 2394



   

 

213 

20. Asylum Seekers and Refugees  
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Children Looked 
After; Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disabilities; Adult Mental 
Health; VAWDASV; Secure Estate 
 
 

Recommendations 
 
All agencies to: 

 Provide training and ongoing support for all professionals working with asylum 
seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants to improve quality of service 
provision within a trauma informed approach. To include rights, signposting, and 
access to care, support, and translation services 

 Improve data collection; for example, better data coding  

 Work towards co-location of health with other services such as mental health, 
benefits/ accommodation providers/third sector services for those who are most 
vulnerable, for example, destitute asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and 
those who moved in and out of the asylum system 

 Multi-agency liaison; for example, dispersal linked to health and social services to 
improve continuity of care and support  

 Facilitate integration and community cohesion (369) 
o Identify and build upon local community support for refugees and asylum 

seekers; which has been successful in other areas (369) 
o Increase awareness amongst asylum seekers and refugees, including children 

and young people, of the language, culture, and heritage in Wales (369) 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to: 

 Encourage landlords to rent to refugees through formal support providers (370) 
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Consider different models of primary care to overcome known barriers to 
healthcare, for example, walk in clinics; opportunistic provision of care such as 
screening, vaccination and contraceptive services for those service users who are the 
most vulnerable and despite flexibility, would continue to struggle to fit in to the 
current model of care, for example destitute or failed asylum seekers, 
undocumented migrants and those who move in and out of the asylum system 

 
 
 
 
 

20.1   Overview  
The 1951 Geneva Convention defines asylum seekers as people who have left their country 
due to a “well-founded fear of being persecuted”. Refugees are asylum seekers who have 

Page 2395



   

 

214 

had their application for asylum accepted by the host country (371). The 2017 PNA was 
written shortly after the largest displacement of people since the Second World War: 
globally, 1 in 113 people was an asylum seeker, refugee, or internally displaced in 2015 
(369). Correspondingly, the numbers of people seeking asylum in the UK peaked at over 
32,000 in 2015, and peaked again at nearly 36,000 in 2019 (372). 
 
Policy on immigration and asylum is the responsibility of the UK Government (371). 
However, core determinants of health, such as health, education, and housing policies are 
devolved to the Welsh Government (369). Cardiff became a City of Sanctuary in 2014 (373) 
and Wales is aiming to be the world’s first Nation of Sanctuary (374).  There is one initial 
accommodation centre in Wales, in Cardiff, and four dispersal centres (Cardiff, Newport, 
Swansea, Wrexham) (371).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 20.1. Total number of 
applications to the UK for 
asylum by year  
Source: Home Office (372) 
 

 
Figures for 2020 are likely to have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, and 
mitigation measures such as lockdown (375). In 2018, Cardiff had 1,458 asylum seekers 
living in dispersed accommodation (compared to 957 in Swansea, 571 in Newport, and 162 
in Wrexham) (371). Data is available from the Home Office on the number of asylum seekers 
receiving Section 95 support, which provides financial or accommodation support for 
asylum seekers who have a claim or appeal pending, or failed asylum seekers with children 
in their household (376) (Figure 20.2).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Figure 20.2. The number of 
people receiving Section 95 
support, by local authority. 
Source: Home Office (376) 
 

Page 2396



   

 

215 

The Syrian Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme commenced in 2015 and has 
supported 854 refugees throughout all local authority areas in Wales (371). The Welsh 
Refugee Council supported 294 main applicants with status living in the Cardiff area (377). 
The Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy supports individuals who have served British 
Armed Forces in Afghanistan. By September 2021, at least 230 Afghan individuals have been 
relocated to Wales (378).    
 
The Home Office publish data on the number of people resettled in the UK through the 
Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (which was replaced by the UK Resettlement 
Scheme in 2021) and the Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme. Note that 
resettlement activity was paused during quarters two and three of 2020 due to the impact 
of COVID-19, and recommenced in December 2020. 
 
Table 20.1. Numbers of people resettled through the Vulnerable Persons Resettlement 
Scheme, UK Resettlement Scheme, and Vulnerable Children’s Resettlement Scheme 

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021* 

Cardiff 6 25 30 1 17 
Vale of Glamorgan  12 27 14 5 8 
Wales 268 350 339 49 50 
UK  5371 5095 4897 741 1163 

*Includes year quarters 1-3 only 
Source: Home Office (379) 
 
 
The largest proportion of applications for asylum in Wales were from Iraq; followed by Iran, 
Albania, China, and Nigeria in 2020/21 (372). Eritrea, Iran, Pakistan, and Afghanistan have 
been in the top 10 countries of origin amongst asylum applications to the UK for the last 9 
years (375). Just over half of asylum seekers in Wales are male, and most commonly aged 
25-34 years (371).  
 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) are treated as Children Looked After, as 
per the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and thus placed in foster families or 
supported living (371). The numbers of UASC have been increasing in Cardiff: from 5 in 
2007, to 35 in 2020 (380). In 2018, there were a total (accompanied and unaccompanied) of 
105 children seeking asylum in Wales (371).  
 
Information sources 
Two focus groups were held for this PNA: one virtual with 5 participants, and one face to 
face with 7 participants. None of the public survey respondents were an asylum seeker or 
refugee. Twenty nine of the 131 respondents of the provider’s survey provided support to 
asylum seekers or refugees.  
 

Page 2397



   

 

216 

20.2   What has changed since 2017?  
20.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
The National Assembly for Wales published an inquiry on refugees and asylum seekers in 
Wales in April 2017. Entitled ‘I used to be someone’, the inquiry made 19 recommendations 
(369). These cover the strategic approach; improving community integration; improving the 
asylum process experience with a particular focus on housing, education, and employment; 
ensuring UASC needs are met; and making Wales a “Nation of Sanctuary” (369).  
 
The 2019 Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in Wales (HEAR) study 
investigated adult asylum seekers and refugees’ experiences of health and healthcare, 
including barriers and facilitators to care, through qualitative methods and a literature 
review (374). 
 
The Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme was launched in 2021, which complemented the 
existing Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy (378).  

 
20.2.1  COVID-19 
 A study by Doctors of the World and the University of Birmingham in 2021 identified that 
refugees, asylum seekers, refused asylum seekers, and undocumented migrants 
experienced worse health, poor housing, and problems accessing healthcare. There was 
evidence that many of those with insecure immigration status are not registered with a GP, 
which subsequently reduces access to other NHS services, including COVID-19 vaccination 
(381). This was corroborated by professional stakeholders who stated that access to the 
COVID vaccine has been difficult. Vaccine hesitancy is being addressed by faith groups in 
local communities.  
 
Professional stakeholders have observed a reduction in referrals to their services during 
COVID-19. This is thought to relate to a lack of people being moved through the system due 
to COVID-19 restrictions. Focus group participants commented on the reduction in services 
available with cancelled appointments, for example, in mental health support leading to 
worsening mental health. Participants did not like virtual appointments but stated it was 
better than nothing. Social isolation was a real concern, with participants stating 
“community has closed down, after COVID” although technology such as video calls were 
helpful. The closure of support services such as Oasis made it hard for asylum seekers to 
find activities to do, and reduced opportunities for peer support. The refugee community 
and their wider network translated and circulated government information on social media 
to ensure everyone was up to date – using tools such as WhatsApp.  

“it has affected my social life…I felt lonely, because I wasn’t 
able to meet my family and friends” – asylum 

seeker/refugee, focus group 

Page 2398



   

 

217 

Respondents of the provider’s survey identified increased mental health difficulties, social 
isolation, and challenges for people to access services. In terms of the impact of COVID-19 
on their workforce, the following points were raised: stress and increased workloads, low 
morale, and isolation.  

 

20.3   What are the care and support needs?  
Asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants have quite varying needs depending 
on their current situation, and the path that they have taken prior. People arriving through 
resettlement schemes may have had access to medical care prior to travel; experience 
community support; and may have English language skills already. Those who have made 
their own way to Wales may have quite varied reasons for seeking asylum (such as war, 
sexuality, political beliefs) and journeys (such as human trafficking), and therefore varied 
care and support needs. Undocumented migrants may have additional needs to overcome 
fears of approaching formal services.  

 
20.3.1  Individual  
Autonomy and control  
Asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants may be isolated as they are 
separated from support networks, friends and families (371). Focus group participants 
mostly felt in control of their situation; feeling as though they could put themselves first, 
and knowing where to go for help. They described uncertainty regarding the future, and a 
lack of confidence. Applications for asylum may take up to ten years which causes 
uncertainty and associated mental health concerns. Focus group participants who spoke 
English said that there were many English courses available to them and that English is easy 
to learn, making it easier for them to speak for themselves. Note that participant numbers 
were small and not representative of all asylum seekers and refugees in Cardiff and the Vale 
of Glamorgan.  
 
Children and Young People 
Children and young people seeking asylum may have additional needs. Children may have 
experienced the death of a parent(s); and may not have contact with any family (371). 
Those separated or unaccompanied are at increased risk of exploitation (369). Boys as well 
as girls are known to have experienced sexual assault (369). 
 
Legal advice 
Asylum seekers and refugees require access to high quality legal advice; as well as advice on 
education and employment rights. A pilot programme in England enables refugees with 
leave to remain access to Jobcentre Advisors to improve move on processes, and aims to 
reduce homelessness and destitution (369). 

 
Language and communication  
There are no local data available on the Welsh language profile of asylum seekers, refugees, 
and undocumented migrants, although based on data on country of origin, few asylum 
seekers, if any, are likely to have Welsh language skills. Free Welsh and English language 
classes for asylum seekers and refugees are provided by Welsh Refugee Council, amongst 

Page 2399



   

 

218 

other organisations (382). Healthcare service providers have a responsibility to provide 
interpreters during consultations to ensure care provided is appropriate and culturally 
sensitive (371). Translation services are required for all interactions, such as with a 
pharmacy or housing providers. Focus groups identified that interpreters were provided at 
government offices and at the GP.  
 
Asylum seekers identified a lack of English as a barrier to integration (369) (371) (374) (383). 
Provision of interpreters is available; however, care must be taken to consider specific 
characteristics, for example, gender, as the presence of a male interpreter may deter some 
women from discussing sensitive issues (371). Focus group participants stated there are lots 
of places to learn English and they found it easy to learn face to face in the college.  
 

 
Language barriers have been identified in the focus group as detrimental to engaging with 
local peer support networks, whereby the predominant language within the group is neither 
English nor Welsh. Asylum seekers and refugees have also been inappropriately requested 
to act as interpreters for family members in hospital.  
 

20.3.2  Community 
Healthcare  
Professional leads identified that individuals new to the UK may not understand the NHS 
healthcare system, including how to access the most appropriate service. Expectations of 
healthcare may vary due to different previous experience of health and illnesses; medical 
symptoms may be expressed in a manner reflective of culture (371).  
 
People who have left countries with poor medical care and/or undertaken arduous journeys 
may have medical needs reflective of these (such as injuries; burns; infectious diseases; and 
poor oral health). Females face additional concerns such as violence against women, 
domestic abuse, or sexual violence (VAWDASV); exacerbated by non-disclosure (not 
recognised as VAWDASV; and a lack of awareness of available help) and potentially a 
reliance to stay with the perpetrator (371). Women may also have obstetric or 
gynaecological needs related to sexual health and contraception, pregnancy, or female 
genital mutilation (371). A proportion of males have also experienced sexual violence, and 
disclosure can be particularly difficult due to cultural differences, perceptions and a deep 
sense of shame.  
 
Mental health problems amongst asylum seekers and refugees in Wales are particularly 
prominent due to trauma experienced prior to or during travel (371). Lack of support 

“I’m trying to get involved with stuff with the Refugee 
Council as an interpreter, to help those who haven’t had a 

chance to learn English yet” - Male Asylum Seeker, Ask 
Cardiff 2018 survey (352) 

Page 2400



   

 

219 

structures may deepen these needs. The HEAR study identified that the stress of being an 
asylum seeker or refugee contributes to poor health (374). Individuals wanted help but did 
not want to be medicalised. Culturally-sensitive services are needed, with professionals 
aware of stressors specific to the population group (371) (369). Focus group participants 
identified uncertainty around the duration of the assessments for residency, and the 
outcome of the assessment, as a significant worry for the future.  
 
Long term conditions such as hypertension and diabetes are common amongst asylum 
seekers and refugees in Wales. They often lack access to long term medical intervention 
(through poor health systems, displacement interrupting care) (371). Continuity of health 
care is challenging where short notice periods for relocation are given (374).  
 
Professional stakeholders also identified that asylum seekers and refugees may have 
difficulties navigating access to health care, especially primary care, for example, due to 
telephone or online booking systems. Other additional needs include longer appointments, 
consideration of access such as transport – accommodation may not be provided close by 
healthcare services. Where language barriers exist, provision of translators is essential – 
individuals take friends and family members if no formal translation services are available 
(374) and this is both inappropriate and possibly incurs additional costs (e.g., transport). 
This co-location of services could be provided as a walk in “one stop shop” clinics for those 
who are most vulnerable. 

 
Hate crime 
Hate crimes are underreported. Incidence is in some cases linked to wider discourse such as 
concerns around immigration raised by voters during the European Union referendum, 
leading to community tensions (369). Asylum seekers and refugees may have negative prior 
experiences with police and other officials, and may therefore fear professionals in the UK 
(384). Hate crime can have a significant impact on mental health (384). 

 
20.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
The Socio-Economic Duty states there is “no requirement for bodies to consider inequalities 
experienced by those persons subject to immigration control” (385). However, asylum 
seekers and refugees are at high risk of becoming destitute (369).  Asylum seekers receive 
“Section 95 support” which is £36.95 a week, and are not allowed to work (369). As such, 
asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants are vulnerable to exploitation 
including for activities which put them at increased health risks (371). Some third sector 
organisations such as the Red Cross provide financial support for asylum seekers and 
refugees who are destitute or at risk (370).  
 
Financial barriers were prominent in focus group discussions, regarding access to care and 
support services, as well as leisure and community activities. Participants in the focus 
groups described feeling a lack of confidence as a barrier to seeking employment; another 
participant’s main worry was not being able to find a job to pay their bills. The HEAR study 

Page 2401



   

 

220 

identified out of pocket expenses such as travel and childcare as a structural barrier to 
accessing services (374). 
 
Education and employment  
Asylum seeking children are enrolled into schools. Refugees wish to access education and 
employment – and such opportunities were discussed as assets. Asylum seekers are not 
permitted to work, yet expressed a desire for employment. Facilitators include language 
classes, accreditation of existing qualifications and job-specific support (such as that 
provided by Wales Asylum Seeking and Refugee Doctors Group) (369), and childcare.  
 
Focus group participants explained a clear desire to integrate further into the community; 
and a feeling that they were being ignored in respect to present labour market shortages.  
 
Housing  
Accommodation is managed through UK government, however, housing standards are a 
devolved issue and can be enforced by local authorities (369). The Welsh Government 
inquiry identified that housing is not adequate for people’s needs; and that this in part was 
due to a complex relationship between Welsh Government, the UK Home Office, and local 
authorities which all have differing responsibilities (369). Asylum seekers are reluctant to 
complain for fear of negative consequences on their application (369).  
 
Professional stakeholders advised that not all asylum seekers and refugees will require 
housing support; however, those that do have variation in needs: UASC need foster 
placements, adults may be placed in Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs), additional 
needs such as disabilities and suitable adaptations need to be taken into account. Single 
vulnerable refugee males are provided accommodation, but there is no equivalent for 
females. The YMCA has accommodation for single homeless people; this is followed up by a 
move-on scheme. Available accommodation appeared to be insufficient to meet demand 
when assessed in Wales in 2019 (370).  
 
Poor finances and lack of employment are a barrier to housing. Many landlords in the 
private rented sector do not rent to refugees or those who are unemployed (369) (370); 
furthermore, the requirement for a deposit and rent in advance mean this is often not 
feasible (369). Asylum seekers have expressed a desire to work as well, but are not 
permitted to undertake paid employment. Note that across Europe, the right to work is 
variable with some countries permitting immediate right to work and others conferring 
rights after the passage of a set period of time if no decision has been made on the asylum 
application (386). 
 
Asylum seekers granted refugee status are given a 28-day move-on period, which has been 
identified as challenging for people to obtain a National Insurance number, find 
employment or apply for benefits, and find housing (369) (370).  
 
Asylum seekers and refugees who are victims of VAWDASV may be unable to leave their 
accommodation if the perpetrator is the lead applicant on a claim. Although there are 
protocols in managing these situations, this still presents a challenge, and is reliant on 

Page 2402



   

 

221 

disclosure by the victim, which in itself is subject to many barriers such as a lack of 
recognition, or fear of services (371).  
 
Focus group participants identified overcrowding, a lack of adaptations for the individual’s 
needs (such as for children, or disabilities), and a lack of consideration of the impact of 
health concerns of other HMO occupants on others. The state of housing was stated to be 
negatively affecting mental health. Another individual was concerned that they had not 
heard from the Home Office and that this would impact their progression in life. They were 
currently homeless, and needed a home to find a job and partner; but their lack of 
documents was a barrier to finding accommodation.  

 

20.3.4  Unmet needs  
Professional stakeholders identified gaps in healthcare services, and a lack of accessible 
primary care services for asylum seekers and refugees. Difficulty navigating the NHS was 
identified, with very little information and no organisation specifically to help asylum 
seekers/refugees to access healthcare. Often asylum seekers and refugees struggle to 
access primary care and are sent to the Emergency Department. Barriers to primary care 
include booking systems, lack of translation available at frontline reception, and IT poverty. 
The level of complexity with regards to physical and mental health along with socio-
economic complexity makes the 10-20 minute appointment length inadequate. Dental care 
was hard to navigate and access. Access to appropriate mental health services was a 
particular concern given the trauma that many of these individuals have witnessed or 
experienced. 
 
Professional leads identified that undocumented migrants may miss key healthcare support 
such as screening, as might asylum seekers or refugees who do not attend their Cardiff and 
Vale Health Inclusion Service (CAVHIS) screening appointment, are moved on, and then 
register with a GP practice. It is difficult to quantify how many people this may affect as this 
information is not collected. It should be noted that CAVHIS offers screening to all asylum 
seekers referred to them by the Home Office.   
 
Focus group participants observed the following gaps in services:  

 Lack of childcare which hinders ability to attend support groups  

 Long waiting lists for services such as mental health support and housing repairs, and 
slow systems with unclear pathways   

 Unable to access education or employment due to a lack of money and transport  

 Language barriers: where peer support is provided in languages other than English 
and Welsh – for example, Arabic or Sudanese  

 Lack of understanding of how to access and use NHS services  
 
Data are lacking within a number of areas including a comprehensive understanding on the 
background and health needs for asylum seekers and refugees (371) (374); this also includes 
a lack of knowledge on vaccine uptake amongst asylum seekers and refugees. Initial steps to 
remedy this could include improved data coding. Little is known regarding undocumented 
migrants. Improved data is required around accommodation needs, for example, the 

Page 2403



   

 

222 

numbers of people given leave to remain (370); and the number of people destitute or at 
risk of destitution (369).  
 

20. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
20.4.1  Prevention and assets  
The 2017 PNA noted the need for training and awareness of asylum status and migration 
patterns for statutory and third sector partners (159). This is an ongoing need, especially as 
the context changes with additional resettlement schemes; changing services; and staff 
turnover.   
 
Vaccination and long term condition management can prevent health conditions arising or 
worsening. Screening and management of diseases known to be prevalent in the country of 
origin or along an individual’s journey will prevent both their worsening health as well as 
onward transmission to others.  
 
Prevention of destitution is vital to prevent further mental and physical ill-health. This 
includes provision of advice regarding benefits, employment and housing (369). One of the 
focus group participants was recently released from prison and was unable to access 
support services or Immigration due to a lack of documents including ID. They are therefore 
homeless and sleeping rough and risks returning to drug dealing to secure an income.  
 
Assets 

 
Asylum seekers and refugees identified a number of assets that supported their well-being. 
Family, friends and neighbours were helpful: “my neighbours used to leave food at the door 
for me during COVID and then call and ask if he needs anything else”. Third sector 
organisations such as Oasis, Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS), Sight Loss 
Cymru, and Red Cross were positively described: “it is a good place to integrate with Welsh 
society”; “Thank God [the befriender] is here for me and doesn’t have an expiry date I’m 
blessed to have her”. Local support groups such as the lesbian support group, well-being 
support groups, asylum seeker support groups (387), as well as churches and mosques: “I go 
to the nearby mosque and it makes me feel good and happy”, and leisure access such as the 
gym were appreciated. Access to education (including English language classes) was 
identified by focus group participants, and professionals identified Cardiff and Vale College 
as an asset. Participants enjoyed their volunteering opportunities; professionals identified 
Into Work services as supportive for refugees (note that asylum seekers are not permitted 
to work).  

 

“There is lots of support here. The Welsh are very friendly” – 
asylum seeker/refugee, focus group 

Page 2404



   

 

223 

Healthcare services including primary care and counselling were considered sources of 
support. CAVHIS has been identified by research in Wales as an asset, through provision of 
health screening, signposting, healthcare including maternity and child health (371) (374). 
Maternity services are particularly praised (371). Access to the NHS is important; while focus 
group participants feel it is often complex and slow, having access to a GP is unlike any other 
country. It is “the best thing I have here”. 
 
Professional leads recognised that not everything that matters to people is immediately 
available, and may not be until residency is secured.  
  

20.4.2  Community services 
Healthcare services 
Healthcare systems must meet the medical needs of their patients, for example, providing 
blood-borne virus, tuberculosis, and parasite screening. Focus groups articulated the need 
for access to dentists. Appointments should be flexible to accommodate the needs of 
asylum seekers and refugees – allowing time for translation and to explore the complexity 
of health needs (371). Consultations should be culturally sensitive, for example, females 
may prefer a female GP to discuss sexual health (371). Drop-in services were mentioned by 
focus group participants as desirable. Focus groups discussed that healthcare felt as though 
it was offered at critical points, rather than as an intervention service.  
 
Mental health problems – with origins prior to seeking asylum, during the process, or 
following arrival in the UK – is a prominent need with regards to the appropriate tier of 
provision. Many service users suffer with symptoms of traumatic stress as a normal reaction 
to experiencing or witnessing trauma. There is a need for a robust system which delivers 
psychoeducation and training or advice with regards to grounding and stabilisation 
techniques for the service user without medicalising a normal response to trauma. Focus 
group participants discussed the need for bereavement support groups, including for the 
loss of children. Respondents of the provider survey identified that education on use of the 
NHS would be helpful.  
 
Support networks 
Understanding the individual’s social network (e.g., friends and family; local faith or sports 
groups; education or employment opportunities) enables support providers to promote 
physical and mental health (371). Consideration of the person in their wider context is 
crucial: for example, through provision of childcare, disability support groups. Financial and 
transport barriers were mentioned throughout the focus group; these must be considered 
as determinants of access to services.  
 
Services where people can build peer networks, be supported with the complexities of 
accessing services, and where activities can break isolation is critical. Asylum seekers wish 
for an organisation to link with the Home Office to support applications, and speed up the 
process.  
 

Page 2405



   

 

224 

20.4.3  Partnership approach 
Cultural understanding  
HEAR identify cultural understanding as critical (374). Focus group participants were fearful 
of data being shared with the Home Office. There was a resistance from participants to 
criticise, which is presumed to be in part given the fact that their residency and future is 
seen to be in remit of statutory decision makers. Equally when trying to make any 
comparison with past experiences within countries of origin, the group were reluctant to 
highlight that there was anything they missed.  This would be linked to the psychological 
links to re-iterating the need for asylum linked to safety / well-being. Services provided 
should not only be mindful of this, but proactively address and overcome people’s fears.  
 
Systems working 
Services must be joined up. Asylum seekers and refugees may feel disempowered; lack 
understanding of care and support services; suffer language, financial, and other barriers; be 
fearful of officials; and are therefore vulnerable within the community. Ensuring services are 
aligned; can proactively identify needs; and can signpost to other services is key. For 
example, building on the current requirement that housing providers should signpost 
individuals to CAVHIS for initial health screening (369). Signposting to voluntary or work 
opportunities should be included within this; professionals, focus group participants, and 
the literature all emphasise the importance of employment on physical, mental, and 
financial health (388).  
 
The HEAR study identified that healthcare professionals needed improved knowledge to 
meet the needs of asylum seekers and refugees, encompassing medical care, but also legal 
and social considerations (374) (388). The development of “champions” to advocate for 
asylum seekers and refugees’ needs and rights could be one way of achieving this, including 
help-seeking behaviours (374). All agencies providing services for asylum seekers and 
refugees must be able to combat misunderstandings, for example, preconceptions that 
photo identification is required to receive services. Professional stakeholders identified the 
need to provide an environment where stigma and fear can be overcome.  
 
Services should provide information for asylum seekers and refugees on how to access 
healthcare (including out of hours and specialist services) and navigate services (388). Those 
refused refugee status are entitled to free healthcare, but may be reluctant to contact 
services (388) (389). HEAR reports that 94% of 201 asylum seekers and refugees were 
registered with a GP, but one in four did not know how to access emergency services via 
999 (389).   

 

“People who are helping me currently help me holistically 
and are there for any questions I need to ask” – asylum 

seeker/refugee, focus group 

Page 2406



   

 

225 

Access to transport underpins access to all services and assets – currently this is 
compromised by lack of finances or lack of reliability (369).  
 
Sustainability of services   
Focus group participants were concerned regarding the sustainability of third sector 
organisations due to the reliance on voluntary funding. Ensuring needed and valued services 
can continue to operate, and communication of this will inspire confidence in service users, 
and reduce their anxiety that support structures might be taken away; “the connection to 
the community will be broken”.  
 

20.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
The UK Government have consulted on their New Plan for Immigration policy (390), which 
will likely impact on asylum seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants in Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 

20.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to: 

 Provide training and ongoing support for all professionals working with asylum 
seekers, refugees, and undocumented migrants to improve quality of service 
provision within a trauma informed approach. To include rights, signposting, and 
access to care, support, and translation services 

 Improve data collection; for example, better data coding  

 Work towards co-location of health with other services such as mental health, 
benefits/ accommodation providers/third sector services for those who are most 
vulnerable, for example, destitute asylum seekers, undocumented migrants and 
those who moved in and out of the asylum system 

 Multi-agency liaison; for example, dispersal linked to health and social services to 
improve continuity of care and support  

 Facilitate integration and community cohesion (369) 
o Identify and build upon local community support for refugees and asylum 

seekers; which has been successful in other areas (369) 
o Increase awareness amongst asylum seekers and refugees, including children 

and young people, of the language, culture, and heritage in Wales (369) 
 
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authorities and housing providers to: 

 Encourage landlords to rent to refugees through formal support providers (370) 
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to:  

 Consider different models of primary care to overcome known barriers to 
healthcare, for example, walk in clinics; opportunistic provision of care such as 
screening, vaccination and contraceptive services for those service users who are the 
most vulnerable and despite flexibility, would continue to struggle to fit in to the 
current model of care, for example destitute or failed asylum seekers, 
undocumented migrants and those who move in and out of the asylum system 

Page 2407



   

 

226 

21. Armed Forces Service Leavers 
(Veterans) 
This chapter should be read in conjunction with the following chapters: Older People; 
Healthy Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions; Physical Disability; Adult Mental Health; Secure 
Estate; Substance Misuse  
 
 
 

Recommendations 
 

All agencies to:  

 Consider the needs of veteran families, including children, of current and former 
armed forces service personnel  

 
Ministry of Defence/ Armed Forces and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to: 

 Develop clearer pathways for veterans to support the transition into civilian life 

 Consider development of a veterans ID card to give priority status to certain public 
services  

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to: 

 Await the outcome of the all Wales review into the Royal College of GPs’ Veterans 
Friendly Practice accreditation programme and consider the recommendations   

 Increase healthcare professionals’ understanding of veterans’ needs and priority 
status through, for example, Welsh Government promotional material designed for 
Primary Care (391), and continuing to strengthen links between healthcare staff and 
the Armed Forces Champions 

 
 

 
 
21.1   Overview  
The Ministry of Defence (MoD) defines a veteran as “anyone who has served for at least one 
day in Her Majesty’s Armed Forces (Regular or Reserve) or Merchant Mariners who have 
seen duty on legally defined military operations”. A “service leaver” is someone who is in 
transition from or has ceased to be a member of HM Armed Forces (392). The term veteran 
is not necessarily something that all service leavers relate to for a number of reasons (length 
of their service, their age, or associating the term with involvement in World Wars), and 
therefore this could exclude them from accessing support and services that they are entitled 
to (393). For the purposes of this PNA, this chapter will refer to veterans. 
 

Page 2408



   

 

227 

There are currently no official figures available on the number of military veterans in the UK, 
but the latest estimation from the Ministry of Defence, using ONS data, is that there were 
140,000 veterans in Wales in 2017 (5% of the total population) (394). Veterans are 
estimated to be predominantly white (99%), male (89%) and/or aged 65 and over (60%) 
(Figure 21.1).  
 

 
 
Figure 21.1 Age profile of veterans in Great Britain. Source: Annual Population Survey UK: 
UK armed forces Veterans residing in Great Britain 2017 (394). 
 
As of March 2021, there were 2,689 veterans in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan in receipt 
of a pension or compensation (395) under the Armed Forces Pension Scheme, War Pension 
Scheme or the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme (approximately 0.5% of the total 
population). Of recipients, 1,274 were in Cardiff, and 1,415 in the Vale of Glamorgan. 
However, there are many veterans who are not in receipt of a pension or compensation, so 
this figure is not a truly accurate representation of the number of veterans. 
 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board data recorded a total of 2,406 veterans registered 
with GP practices in 2021/22 (approximately 0.45% of the total GP registered population). 
This data is gathered using Audit Plus from “read codes” entered into the patients GP 
record. This information is shared on all Wales basis via the Primary Care Information Portal. 
This data is dependent upon a veteran providing their status when they register with a GP 
practice, so again will not be a true reflection of numbers as many veterans either have not 
declared their status when registering with a practice, or are not registered with a practice. 
Patients who have been registered with a practice for many years may also not be captured.  
 
An estimation of veteran numbers by the Public Health Wales Observatory using ONS data 
and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion put the number for Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan area at around 20,330 veterans in 2020 (Figure 21.2). 
 

Page 2409



   

 

228 

 
 
Figure 21.2 Estimated veteran population Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2020. 
Source: Public Health Wales Observatory, using MYE (ONS) and prevalence estimates from 
the Royal British Legion 
 
Engagement 
A total of six veterans attended one of two focus groups, and amongst respondents of the 
public survey who answered the question, 6.3% stated they are a member or a veteran of 
the armed forces (28 respondents). This is not representative of the population of veterans 
of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Twenty two of 131 respondents of the provider’s 
survey provided support to veterans.  
 

21.2   What has changed since 2017?  
21.2.1  Pre-COVID-19  
In 2018, the UK-wide Strategy for Veterans was published (396). In Wales, a Veterans’ 
Scoping Exercise was undertaken to inform the strategy, which identified how services are 
being delivered, gaps in service provision and improvements that could be made. A delivery 
plan was developed highlighting key actions to address the gaps in service provision raised 
during the scoping exercise (397). Actions have included additional funding for Veterans 
NHS Wales to support mental health treatment, investment into health services, tackling 
loneliness and isolation, and to raise the profile of the needs of children of service 
personnel. The Supporting Service Children in Education Cymru, is a Welsh Local 
Government Association programme funded by Welsh Government since 2019. Veterans 
who have been in service within the last two years can access this programme to support 
their children.  
 
Tros Gynnal Plant (TGP) Cymru, a third sector organisation based in Wales focusing on 
children, young people and families, collaborated with Veterans’ NHS Wales on a three-year 
trial of a newly-developed service, the Restorative Approach Veterans Family Service 
(RAFVS), which was funded by Forces in Mind Trust. The trial provided community based 
mental health support service for ex-Service personnel and their families from Cardiff and 
the Vale of Glamorgan, who have a service-related mental health problem (398). Evaluation 
findings were published in December 2021, and show the RAFVS helped families to develop 
more positive relationships, leading to improved family communication, understanding, and 
empathy (399).  
 

Page 2410



   

 

229 

The Veterans’ Trauma Network Wales (VTN Wales) was established in 2019 to provide a 
central service to support veterans with complex physical health needs, healthcare 
professionals and the third sector with advice on referral pathways, and can help with 
accessing appropriate funding if necessary. VTN Wales was initially hosted by Cardiff and 
Vale UHB, and in January 2021 was transferred to the South Wales Trauma Network’s 
Operational Delivery Network, hosted by Swansea Bay University Health Board.  
 
The UK Government is introducing new legislation, as part of the Armed Forces Bill 2021, to 
further incorporate the Armed Forces Covenant into law, by bringing in a cross-UK duty to 
have due regard to the principles of the Covenant on public bodies in healthcare, housing 
and education. It is expected that the Bill will reach Royal Assent by late 2021, and enter 
into force in mid-2022.  
 
The NHS has worked to raise awareness of veterans’ needs with GPs and provided quicker 
access to the Veterans’ NHS Wales service. Cardiff and Vale UHB remains strongly 
committed to deliver the Armed Forces Covenant and as a gold rated employer has 
sponsored an award at the 2019 and 2021 Wales’ armed forces awards ceremony, to 
honour individuals who have strived to deliver care and support for veterans. 
 
Veterans’ NHS Wales has received 5,150 referrals since it launched in 2010 and has seen a 
year on year increase in referrals (400). The majority of veterans in 2019/20 presented with 
post-traumatic stress symptoms due to military trauma (72.7%), with depression and 
anxiety also common. 
 
The Veterans’ Advice Service is funded through the Armed Forces Covenant and provides 
support to veterans as a first point of contact for a wide range of concerns such as housing, 
finances and well-being. Veterans Advice Mentors are in post in both Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, since 2017 and 2019 respectively. An Armed Forces Liaison Officer for Cardiff 
and the Vale is funded by Welsh Government and is responsible for raising awareness of 
issues affecting the Armed Forces community. 

 
21.2.1  COVID-19 
Around half (13) of the veterans responding to the PNA survey felt their health had 
worsened a little or a lot since March 2020. Referrals to Veterans’ NHS Wales were lower 
than expected between October 2020 and March 2021 compared to the same period the 
previous year. During 2020, there was an increase in calls to the veterans’ advice services in 
Cardiff and Vale due to impact of social isolation during lockdowns. This has continued into 
2021. Social isolation continues to be a key issue for veterans. A participant in the focus 
group recognised that being in personal touch was extremely important to veterans during 
lockdowns:  

Page 2411



   

 

230 

 

 
 

21.3   What are the care and support needs?  
21.3.1  Individual  
Health needs 
Mental health is a primary need for veterans. Together for Mental Health is the Welsh 
Government 10 year strategy to improve mental health and well-being (401). It includes 
plans to ensure mental health services for veterans are sustainable and able to meet needs 
in a timely manner and support for veterans is a priority. Veterans’ physical health also 
interconnects with their mental and social well-being, such as the increased prevalence of 
mental health disorders in veterans with a physical impairment and the association of 
homelessness with physical disability and poor health status and substance use (402). 
Veterans have higher incidence of dual diagnosis of mental health and substance misuse 
disorders (403).  

 
Families and children  
Family members, including children, who are not serving personnel may have additional 
needs as a result of the impact of the lifestyle associated with the armed forces. Supporting 
Service Children in Education Wales (SSCE Cymru) conducted engagement work with 
children of service personnel, and identified positive and negative impacts around moving 
house; making new friends; changing schools; and living abroad. Parents being deployed 
was a source of negative emotions including worry that their parent(s) might be hurt, and 
missing their parent(s) (48). A Welsh Government consultation with veterans identified that 
a lack of support for families was a gap in services, in particular around families’ access to 
healthcare (including mental health services), a lack of knowledge around the impact of 
service life on spouses, and accommodation and connection to the community (391).    

 
Language and communication  
No data are available on the Welsh language profile of the veteran population in Cardiff and 
the Vale. Veterans’ NHS Wales ask all individuals at assessment would they like the 
interview in Welsh or English. No requests for Welsh interviews have been received in 
Cardiff and the Vale.  

“Personal endeavour has made all the difference to some 
veterans – where key individuals in support services have 

made all efforts to stay in touch through phone calls, 
emails, visits and organising get-togethers whenever they 
have been possible – providing transport too”  – veteran, 

focus group 

Page 2412



   

 

231 

 
21.3.2  Community 
Access to healthcare 
The Welsh Government response to taking forward the strategy for veterans identified 
through consultation a number of key themes, and accessing healthcare featured strongly in 
the consultation feedback (397). The themes have also been reflected through focus groups 
and surveys with professionals working with veterans in Cardiff and Vale.  

 Better information needed around veterans needs to help inform services 

 A need for better understanding of priority treatment status by healthcare 
providers, including GPs 

 A “flagging up” system of veteran status needed for healthcare services 

 Veterans reported difficulty accessing mental health services in the NHS, though 
Veterans NHS Wales is perceived to be providing a good service 

 Mental health support should include families  
 

21.3.3  Wider determinants of health  
Deprivation  
Veterans with mental health difficulties were seen to be more likely to live in areas of the 

UK with higher deprivation levels, amongst those who sought support from Combat Stress in 

a 2017 study (404). Veterans living in areas of higher deprivation are more likely to be 

experiencing poor lifestyle behaviours such as excess alcohol consumption and smoking. It 

should be noted that, amongst the general population in Wales, increased deprivation is 

associated with increased smoking, but conversely, a higher proportion of people in the 

least deprived areas drink above Welsh Government guidelines compared to people in the 

most deprived areas (165) (see also chapter 9, Health and Long Term Conditions). A UK 

study of male veterans who had served in Iraq of Afghanistan reported significantly higher 

prevalence of alcohol misuse than non-veterans (405). 

 

Research with over 3,000 veterans in a longitudinal cohort study found that veteran 

hardship was mostly associated with factors linked to socio-economic status: age, 

education, and childhood adversity (406). Younger service leavers in particular were at 

higher risk of alcohol misuse and of unemployment and financial hardship. 

 
Housing  
Having access to suitable affordable accommodation when leaving the Armed Forces is 
crucial to enable personnel to transition successfully (407). Welsh Government is committed 
to ensuring that housing provision meets the needs of veterans, and veterans do have 
exemption from some of the qualification criteria for social housing such as having to have 
local connections. Housing was identified as the key need for veterans at the annual all-
Wales Armed Forces conference in October 2021. Service providers identified that often 
veterans seeking accommodation are single and male, and it can be a challenge to find 
suitable accommodation immediately, meaning sometime temporary accommodation is the 
best option when first leaving the Armed Forces. Homelessness can be an issue for some 
veterans, who often seek support from the Veterans’ Advice Service.  

Page 2413



   

 

232 

 

21.3.4  Unmet needs  
The focus groups carried out with veterans identified the following gaps: 

 Access to activities, social events and medical care have all been severely impacted 
by the pandemic 

 Veterans’ NHS Wales was recognised as providing an excellent service, but there can 
be long waiting times for treatment 

 Respite is generally a big problem for carers which was exacerbated through the 
pandemic and continues to be a source of emotional and practical issues.  

 Some veterans with dementia have failed to get the medical support needed – a 
particular problem being access to GPs with long telephone waits, lack of face to 
face consultations and home visits. They have also been adversely affected by the 
lack of social interaction and stimulation. 

 
Gaps in knowledge and understanding were identified as follows:  

 Further research needed into health needs for veterans in Cardiff and Vale, and 
particularly around mental health, alcohol and substance misuse 

 Lack of data on the numbers of veterans 

 Lack of information about the number of veterans currently registered with GP 
practices if they have not disclosed status 

 

21. 4   What are the range and level of services needed?  
21.4.1  Prevention and assets  
The 2017 Population Needs Assessment identified the need to: 

 Increase knowledge and resilience of families to support veterans and prevent family 
breakdown 

 Increase awareness among mainstream services of veterans’ needs 
 
These are ongoing needs, and there is also a need to support veterans with health 
behaviours such as alcohol, substance misuse, and gambling. Enabling veterans to develop 
and maintain healthy behaviours such as physical activity once they leave the armed forces 
can require them needing to find new motivators other than needing to be fit for their job. 
Often the priority when leaving the forces is employment and housing, not physical health. 
 
Assets to support well-being  
Veterans identified a number of assets to support their well-being. These included family, 
friends, and neighbours: “speak to friends on the phone, have my wife as a full-time carer”. 
Third sector organisations were seen as helpful: “charities such as Woody's Lodge seem to 
be taking on the burden of assisting veterans and emergency service workers rather than 
other official bodies”. Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH) was also 
supportive.  
 
Organisations and clubs dedicated to veterans were named, including Veterans Advice 
Officers in local authorities, Veterans Mental Health Support Group (run by Nexus and 
Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health), NHS services such as Veterans’ NHS Wales 

Page 2414



   

 

233 

(“provides an excellent service for veterans with Post Traumatic Stress Disorder although 
demand tends to challenge its resources”), and the Armed Forces Forum. Third sector 
organisations providing specific support for veterans, such as Blind Veterans UK were 
helpful. Third sector organisations providing support for long term conditions such as the 
Forget Me Not Chorus were identified as helpful for veterans with dementia. Named 
members of the Council were identified as very supportive: “[named individual] also 
provides an excellent service in support of veterans’ welfare”. Similarly, “personal endeavour 
has made all the difference” – key individuals in support services have made efforts to 
remain in contact with service users and overcome barriers to support provision (such as 
transport provision), which has been well received.  
 
Professional leads have identified the Armed Forces Covenant as an asset. Each local 
authority in Wales has an Armed Forces Champion, who acts as a single point of contact and 
is able to advocate for those in the Armed Forces Community (408).  
   

21.4.2  Community services 
The focus group identified that veterans need their own support services to enable them to 
lead good lives – this is being currently provided very competently by the third sector.  
Services should provide easy to access medical care and Doctor's appointments.  
 

21.4.3  Partnership approach 
Transition support 
When personnel leave the armed forces, whilst most make a successful transition, for other 
the transition into civilian life can be difficult (409). Preparation for leaving and having good 
support in place is key. Professionals working with veterans highlighted that some veterans 
do not know where to go to access services such as housing support, employment support, 
financial advice, and gain access to NHS healthcare provision such as primary care.   
 

21.5  What is likely to happen in the future? 
In 2016 the veteran population in the UK was estimated to be around 5% of all household 
residents aged 16 and over, and this is projected to decrease year on year to 2-3% by 2028 
(410). Public Health Wales Observatory estimates there will be around 12,500 veterans in 
Cardiff and Vale by 2030 (Figure 21.3). 
 
Figure 21.4 illustrates the expected demographics of veterans in the UK in 2028. Just under 
half of all veterans will be of working age (aged 16-64), and every ten out of 80 veterans will 
be female. 
 
A Veterans Commissioner for Wales will be appointed in 2022, as part of the Veterans’ 
Strategy Action Plan. The Commissioner will improve support for armed forces service 
leavers in Wales, and, through being an independent voice, advocate for veterans’ needs. 
Veterans Commissioners have already been successful in their role in Scotland and Northern 
Ireland (411).  

Page 2415



   

 

234 

 
Figure 21.3 Estimated veteran population Cardiff and Vale UHB and local authorities, 2030. 
Source: Public Health Wales Observatory, using Mid-Year Estimates (Office for National 
Statistics) and prevalence estimates from the Royal British Legion 
 
 
 

 
Figure 21.4. Population projections: UK Armed Forces Veterans residing in Great Britain, 
2016 to 2028 (410) 
 

21.6  Recommendations  
All agencies to:  

 Consider the needs of veteran families, including children, of current and former 
armed forces service personnel  

 
Ministry of Defence/ Armed Forces and Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authorities to: 

 Develop clearer pathways for veterans to support the transition into civilian life 

 Consider development of a veterans ID card to give priority status to certain public 
services  

 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board to: 

 Await the outcome of the all Wales review into the Royal College of GPs’ Veterans 
Friendly Practice accreditation programme and consider the recommendations   

 Increase healthcare professionals’ understanding of veterans’ needs and priority 
status through, for example, Welsh Government promotional material designed for 
Primary Care (391), and continuing to strengthen links between healthcare staff and 
the Armed Forces Champions 
 

Page 2416



   

 

235 

22. Appendix  
 
Alignment of the National Outcomes Framework with the Regional 
Outcomes Framework  
 
 

Regional Outcome Framework   National Outcomes Framework 

Increasing time for people to 
live their lives 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

Increased living well in their 
own home and community 
 

 Suitability of living accommodation 

 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

 Domestic, family and personal relationships  

 Social and economic wellbeing  

Improved environment that 
enables people’s choices 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

 Protection from abuse and neglect  

More empowered workforce  Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

Better start for children and 
young people 
 

 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

 Physical, intelligential, emotional, and social behavioural 
development  

 Protection from abuse and neglect 

 Education, training and recreation 

 Social and economic wellbeing  

 Suitability of living accommodation 

 Domestic, family and personal relationships  

 Contribution made to society 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

People get a safe response 
when in urgent need 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

 Protection from abuse and neglect  

Decreased avoidable harm or 
mortality 
 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

 Protection from abuse and neglect  

Reduced wasted system 
resource 
 

 Securing rights and entitlements and control over day to day life 

 Physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

 Protection from abuse and neglect 

 
Sources: (6) (7) 

  

Page 2417



   

 

236 

Focus groups  
 
The following focus groups were conducted for the Population Needs Assessment. The 
numbers of participants are shown in brackets.  
 

 Infants, children and young people with disabilities, their parents or carers (n=8) 

 Children looked after, adopted children, care experienced children, children on the 
edge of care (n=3) 

 Older people (65-84 years) (n=4) 

 Older people (85+ years) (n=3) 

 Adults with a long term condition (n=5) 

 Adults with a disability (n=8) 

 Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8)  

 Autistic adults (n=1; considered an interview rather than a focus group) 

 Adults with a mental health illness (n=4) 

 Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7)  

 Adult unpaid carers of adults (n=12)  

 Adults with sight loss (n=6)  

 Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4) 

 Women with experience of violence, domestic abuse, or sexual violence x2 (n=9 
total) 

 Asylum seekers and refugees x2 (n=9 total)  

 Adults currently residing in HMP Cardiff (n=8)  

 Armed forces service leavers (veterans) (n=6)  

 Adults with substance misuse (n=2)  

 Adults who are currently homeless / have experience of homelessness (n=10) 
 

Unfortunately three planned focus groups did not take place as no participants could be 
identified in the timeframes available, or, the provider withdrew:  

 Young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or experiencing 
transition to adult services 

 Children and young people and families utilising neurodevelopmental assessment 
services/post-diagnostic support 

 Gypsies and travellers  
  

Page 2418



   

 

237 

23. Glossary  
 
AAC Augmentative and Alternative Communication  
ADHD Attention Deficit and Hyperactivity Disorder 
BBV Blood Borne Virus  
BSL  British Sign Language  
C1V Contact 1 Vale 
C3SC Cardiff Third Sector Council  
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 
CAVAMH  Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health  
CAVHIS Cardiff and Vale Health Inclusion Service 
CLA Children Looked After  
CMHT Community Mental Health Team  
CPN Community Psychiatric Nurse 
EASR European Age Standardised Rate 
EMI Elderly Mentally Infirm 
FGM  Female Genital Mutilation  
GP General Practitioner  
HEAR Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees 
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus 
HMO House of Multiple Occupancy  
HMP Her Majesty’s Prison 
HMPPS Her Majesty’s Prison and Probation Service 
IAS Integrated Autism Service 
IDVA Independent Domestic Violence Advisor  
IFST Integrated Family Support Team 
ILS Independent Living Service 
IRIS Identification and referral to Improve Safety  
ISVA Independent Sexual Violence Advisor 
LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender or Queer 
LSOA Lower Super Output Area 
MARAC Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
MCI Mild Cognitive Impairment 
MDT Multi-Disciplinary Team 
MHSOP Mental Health Services for Older People 
MoD Ministry of Defence 
MSOA Middle Super Output Area 
NICE National Institute of Health and Care Excellence 
NEET Not in Education, Employment, or Training 
PIP Personal Independence Payment  
PNA Population Needs Assessment  
PPN Public Protection Notice  
PSB  Public Service Board 
PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder  
RISE Recovery Information Safety Empowerment 

Page 2419



   

 

238 

RNIB Royal National Institute of Blind People 
RPB  Regional Partnership Board 
SARC Sexual Assault Referral Centre  
SLT Speech and Language Therapist  
T4CYP Together for Children and Young People  
TGP Tros Glynnal Plant Cymru  
UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children  
UHB University Health Board  
VAWDASV Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence 
VTN Wales Veterans Trauma Network Wales  
WEDINOS Welsh Emerging Drugs & Identification of Novel Substances 

 
  

Page 2420



   

 

239 

24. Acknowledgements 
 
We are extremely grateful to all residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan who have 
contributed to this Population Needs Assessment, through completing the surveys, 
attending focus groups, and providing input through other mechanisms. We would like to 
extend our thanks to the third sector and statutory organisations who have helped shape 
this report, through provision of information and insight, and with specific mention to the 
following organisations:  
 

 Adferiad Recovery 

 Age Cymru 

 Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH)  

 Cardiff People First  

 Cardiff Third Sector Council  

 Cardiff Youth Board 

 Cerebral Palsy Cymru  

 Chinese in Wales Association  

 Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS) 

 Glamorgan Voluntary Services 

 Grandparents Raising Grandchildren 

 Huggard Centre 

 HMP Cardiff 

 Oasis Cardiff  

 Richard Newton Consultants  

 Sightlife – Sight Cymru  

 South Wales Police 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council - Autistic Spectrum Disorder Project 

 Wales Neurological Alliance  

 Women’s Aid  
 
We would like to thank the professional leads and all those who have contributed from 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, and 
HMP Cardiff for their helpful suggestions and guidance throughout the preparation of the 
2022 Population Needs Assessment for Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. We would like to 
extend our gratitude to members of the Steering Group who have shaped this Population 
Needs Assessment. We are very grateful to Fiona Kinghorn, for her oversight and guidance. 
 
Lastly, we would like to thank the authors: Dr Emily Clark, Dr Suzanne Wood, Cheryl 
Williams, and Lauren Idowu; all part of Cardiff and Vale Public Health Team, Cardiff and Vale 
UHB Public Health Directorate.  
 

  

Page 2421



   

 

240 

25. References 
 
1. Welsh Government. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Part 2 Code of Practice (General Functions). 
[Online] 2015. [Cited: 30 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practice-
general-functions.pdf. 
2. Cardiff & Vale Integrated Health & Social Care . Who we are . [Online] [Cited: 30 10 2021.] 
https://cvihsc.co.uk/about/who-we-are/. 
3. Welsh Government. Population Needs Assessments - Supplementary Advice for Regional Partnership Boards . [Online] 
03 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-
assessments.pdf. 
4. Cardiff and Vale Integrated Health and Social Care. Equality and Health Impact Assessment. [Online] 11 2021.  
5. Welsh Government. Code of Practice and Guidance under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. [Online] 
29 03 2021. [Cited: 30 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/code-practice-and-guidance-under-social-services-and-well-being-
wales-act-2014-html. 
6. Cardiff and Vale Regional Partnership Board . Cardiff and Vale Regional Outcomes Framework . [Online] 06 2021. [Cited: 
08 11 2021.] https://c3sc-
my.sharepoint.com/personal/resources_c3sc_org_uk/_layouts/15/onedrive.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fresources%5Fc3sc%
5Forg%5Fuk%2FDocuments%2FWebsite%20Resources%20Library%2FWebsite%20Posts%5FImages%5Fdocuments%2F202
1%2FJune%2FCardiff%20and%20Vale%20. 
7. Welsh Government . Social Services: The national outcomes framework for people who need care and support and 
carers who need support . [Online] 02 2019. [Cited: 08 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-
05/the-national-outcomes-framework-for-people-who-need-care-and-support-and-carers-who-need-support.pdf. 
8. Stats Wales. Population estimates by local authority and age. [Online] 06 2021. [Cited: 20 07 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-
Authority/populationestimates-by-localauthority-age. 
9. Office for National Statistics. Population Estimates by Age Group . [Online] [Cited: 13 09 2021.] www.nomisweb.co.uk. 
10. Stats Wales. Population projections by local authority and year. [Online] 08 2021. 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Projections/Local-Authority/2018-
based/populationprojections-by-localauthority-year. 
11. Open Data Wales. Public Services Board Well-being assessments Core dataset. [Online] 04 2021. [Cited: 20 07 2021.] 
https://www.opendata.wales/dataset/view?siteId=49097a03-6589-4899-b5c0-3cbaf8e062b7&datasetId=20125d0e-2bba-
eb11-90ff-00155d084d17. 
12. Office for National Statistics. Live births in England and Wales : birth rates down to local authority areas. [Online] 2019. 
[Cited: 10 08 2021.] https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/query/construct/submit.asp?menuopt=201&subcomp=. 
13. Office for National Statistics. National population projections, fertility assumptions: 2018-based. [Online] 21 10 2019. 
[Cited: 24 11 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/methodologies
/nationalpopulationprojectionsfertilityassumptions2018based. 
14. Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics - underlying cause, sex and age. [Online] 2020. 
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/datasets/mortsa. 
15. Public Health Wales Observatory . COVID-19 Recovery Profile: Summary report. [Online] 12 10 2021. [Cited: 24 11 
2021.] 
https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/_w_c4aea55d/session/4349bb5a2a0c8fde0885
bf89589e0d2f/download/Wales_ReportDownload_Summary?w=c4aea55d. 
16. Public Health Wales Observatory. COVID-19 recovery profile. [Online] 12 10 2021. [Cited: 24 11 2021.] 
https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/. 
17. Stats Wales. Migration between Wales and the rest of the UK by local authority, flow and period of change. [Online] 08 
2021. [Cited: 10 08 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-
Migration/Migration/Internal/migrationbetweenwalesandrestofuk-by-localauthority-flow-periodofchange. 
18. Office for National Statistics . Health state life expectancy, all ages, UK. [Online] 25 01 2021. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/datasets/health
statelifeexpectancyallagesuk. 
19. Director of Public Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Let's leave no one behind in Cardiff and the Vale 
of Glamorgan . [Online] 10 2021. [Cited: 05 11 2021.] 
20. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Mulitple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 results report. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 22 11 
2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-06/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-
results-report.pdf. 
21. Stats Wales. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 by rank, decile and quintile, Lower-layer Super Output Area 
(LSOA). [Online] 27 11 2019. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-

Page 2422



   

 

241 

of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2019/welshindexofmultipledeprivation2019-by-rank-decileandquintile-
lowerlayersuperoutputarea. 
22. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children. [Online] 
26 08 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-relating-
young-children-html. 
23. Stats Wales . Ethnicity by area and ethnic group. [Online] 14 04 2021. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-
and-Diversity/Ethnicity/ethnicity-by-area-ethnicgroup. 
24. Office for National Statistics . 2011 Census: Key Statistics and Quick Statistics for Electoral Divisions and Output Areas 
in Wales. [Online] [Cited: 09 11 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/dataset
s/2011censuskeystatisticsandquickstatisticsforelectoraldivisionsandoutputareasinwales/r22walesenglishrttableqs204ewlad
v1_tcm77-296996.xls. 
25. Welsh Government. Health and Social Care in Wales - COVID-19: Looking forward. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 06 10 
2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/health-and-social-care-in-wales--covid-19-looking-
forward_0.pdf. 
26. Stats Wales. Pupil Level Annual School Census summary data by local authority (pupils aged 5 to 15 in primary, middle 
or secondary schools). [Online] 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-
Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-School-
Census/pupillevelannualschoolcensussummarydata-by-localauthority. 
27. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Young Carers. [Online] [Cited: 29 10 2021.] 
https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/patient-advice/patient-experience/information-for-unpaid-carers/young-carers/. 
28. Vale of Glamorgan Council, Cardiff Council, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Carers Information and 
Consultation Strategy - Annual Carers Report May 2019 - April 2020. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] 
https://www.carersuk.org/files/section/6606/cardiff-and-the-vale-progress-report-2020.pdf. 
29. The Vale of Glamorgan. Personal Communications . [Online] 11 2021.  
30. Cardiff Council . Personal communications . [Online] 10 11 2021.  
31. Stats Wales. Assessments by local authority and measure. [Online] 23 10 2019. [Cited: 15 09 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Service-
Provision/assessments-by-localauthority-measure. 
32. Children's Commissioner for Wales. No Wrong Door: bringing services together to meet children's needs . 2020. 
33. NHS Wales Health Collaborative. NEST Framework What you need to know . s.l. : NHS Wales Health Collaborative, 
2021. 
34. Welsh Government. Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act Explanatory Memorandum. 
[Online] 01 2018. [Cited: 21 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-04/additional-learning-
needs-and-education-tribunal-wales-act-2018-explanatory-memorandum.pdf. 
35. Cardiff Council . Child Friendly City Strategy . [Online] 2018.  
36. Cardiff Council. The Cardiff Children's Services Strategy 2019 - 2022. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing/Children/Childrens-
services/Documents/Childrens%20Services%20Strategy%202019.pdf. 
37. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Vale of Glamorgan Council Service Plan 2018 - 2022 Children and Young People Services . 
[Online] 2018. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] 
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-
Plans-2018-19/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-2018-2022.pdf. 
38. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Vale of Glamorgan Council Service Plan Standards and Provision 2021/2022. [Online] 
2021/2022. [Cited: 12 01 2022.] 
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Quarterly-Performance-
Report-2020-21/Part-1/Standards-Provision-Service-Plan.pdf. 
39. Cardiff Council . Cardiff Additional Learning Needs (ALN) Strategy 2018-22. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] 
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19397/Cabinet%2018%20Jan%202018%20SOP%20Add%20Learning%20Nee
ds%20App%201.pdf. 
40. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Additional Learning Needs & Well-being Service Plan 2021/22 . [Online] 02 2021.  
41. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Personal communications . [Online] 11 2021.  
42. Office of National Statistics. All data relating to 'Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) 
infection in the UK: 6 January 2022". [Online] 06 01 2022. [Cited: 26 01 2022.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/datasets/alldatarel
atingtoprevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk. 
43. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk Annual Report 2020/2021. Cardiff : 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, 2021. 
44. Alma Economics; Public Health Wales. Children and young people's mental well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
[Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/children-and-young-peoples-
mental-well-being-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-report/. 

Page 2423



   

 

242 

45. Children's Commissioner for Wales . Coronavirus and Me Results. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] 
https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/coronavirus-our-work/coronavirus-and-me-results/. 
46. Food Foundation . END CHILD FOOD POVERTY – NO CHILD SHOULD BE GOING HUNGRY DEBATE 24 MAY 2021 Briefing 
for MPs. [Online] 05 2021.  
47. Welsh Government. Review of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) policy: report . [Online] 17 03 2021.  
48. Supporting Service Children in Education Wales . Listening to our Service children . [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 18 11 
2021.] https://www.sscecymru.co.uk/files/SSCE%20Cymru%20-
%20Listening%20to%20our%20Service%20Children%20(2020)%20findings%20(E).pdf. 
49. Stats Wales . 'Ability to Speak Welsh' & 'Speaking Welsh at Home', as assessed by parents, of pupils aged 5 and over in 
primary schools by local authority. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-
School-Census/Welsh-Language/pupils5plusprimary-by-localauthority-speakwelsh-homewelsh. 
50. Royal College of Speech & Language Therapists. Speech, Language and Communication Capacity A National Asset . 
[Online] [Cited: 29 11 2021.] https://www.rcslt.org/wp-content/uploads/media/Project/RCSLT/rcslt-communication-
capacity-factsheet.pdf?la=en&hash=24A0C48F479519A484B92B04A5C074C515254FF2. 
51. Welsh Government. Talk with me . [Online] 11 2020. [Cited: 29 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-11/talk-with-me.pdf. 
52. Welsh Government. Flying Start: April 2019 to March 2020. [Online] 0225 2021. [Cited: 29 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/flying-start-april-2019-march-2020-
html#:~:text=%EE%80%80Flying%20Start%EE%80%81%20is%20the%20Welsh%20Government%20Early%20Years,against%
20other%20local%20authorities%20in%20%EE%80%80Wales%EE%80%81%3B%20and%20. 
53. Wales Institute for Social and Economic Research, Data and Methods . The Human Rights of Children in Wales: An 
Evidence Review.  
54. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children . 
[Online] 26 08 2021. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-
relating-young-children-html. 
55. Welsh Government. A review of evidence on socio-economic disadvantage and inequalities of outcome. [Online] 13 10 
2021. [Cited: 03 12 2021.] https://gov.wales/review-evidence-socio-economic-disadvantage-and-inequalities-outcome-
summary-html. 
56. School Health Research Network . Student Health and Wellbeing in Wales: Report of the 2019/20 School Health 
Research Network Student Health and Wellbeing Survey. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 14 09 2021.] 
https://www.shrn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/SHRN-NR-FINAL-23_03_21-en-AMENDED06.08.21.pdf. 
57. Food Foundation. Feeding our future - State of the Nations WALES. [Online] 04 09 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] 
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-10/FoF-SotN-Wales-FINAL.pdf. 
58. Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning and Skills. Personal Communications. [Online] 2022.  
59. Stats Wales . Key Stage 4 core indicators by free school meal entitlement and gender 2017/18. [Online] [Cited: 05 10 
2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Examinations-and-
Assessments/Key-Stage-4/ks4coreindicators-by-freeschoolmealentitlement-gender. 
60. Welsh Government. Young people not in education, employment or training (NEET): April 2020 to March 2021. 
[Online] 22 09 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/young-people-not-education-employment-or-training-neet-
april-2020-march-2021-html. 
61. Careers Wales . Pupil destinations . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] https://careerswales.gov.wales/education-and-
teaching-professionals/pupil-destinations. 
62. Social Care Wales Data Observatory . Housing . [Online] Social Care Wales . [Cited: 14 09 2021.] 
http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/welshcommunitydata/view?viewId=2015. 
63. Housing Services Vale of Glamorgan. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
64. Public Health Wales Observatory . Interactive Data Tables 2018/19 . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 14 10 2021.] 
https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/child-measurement-programme/cmp-2018-19/. 
65. WHO Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being, Public Health Wales. Health visitor enquiry 
about caregivers' adverse childhood experiences (ACEs): key learning from a pilot evaluation . [Online]  
66. Public Health Wales . National immunisation uptake data . [Online] 18 06 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/page.cfm?orgid=457&pid=54144. 
67. Public Health Wales. Inequalities in uptake of routine childhood immunisations in Wales 2018-19. [Online] 12 09 2019. 
[Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk/VaccinationsImmunisationProgsDocs.nsf/3dc04669c9e1eaa880257062003b246b/8f1255
8145d6006080258485002b5117/$FILE/COVER_Inequalities_AnnualReport_201819_v1.pdf. 
68. NHS Wales Health Collaborative . Together for Children and Young People 2 Programme Definition April 2020 - March 
2020 . [Online] [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://collaborative.nhs.wales/networks/wales-mental-health-network/together-for-
children-and-young-people-2/resources-links/resources-and-links/t4cyp-2-programme-overview-2020-2022-v0-5-pdf/. 

Page 2424



   

 

243 

69. Welsh Government. Framework on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and mental well-being . [Online] 
03 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/framework-on-embedding-a-
whole-school-approach-to-emotional-and-mental-well-being.pdf. 
70. Public Health Wales . Rising to the Triple Challenge of Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change for health, well-being and 
equity in Wales. [Online] 2021.  
71. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Neurodevelopmental Service . [Online] [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/our-services/children-young-people-family-health-services/cypf-complex-needs-
disability/community-paediatrics/neurodevelopmental-service/?ContensisTextOnly=true. 
72. StatsWales . Disabilities of children receiving care and support by measure and year. [Online] 24 03 2021. [Cited: 24 01 
2022.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/children-
receiving-care-and-support/disabilitiesofchildrenreceivingcareandsupport-by-measure-year. 
73. The Index; Vale Family Information Service. The Index for Children and Young People with Disabilities or Additional 
Needs in the Vale of Glamorgan Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021.  
74. Cardiff Index. Personal communications . [Online] 09.  
75. Vale of Glamorgan Index. Personal communications . [Online] 09 2021.  
76. Cardiff & Vale Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership . Integrated Autism Service . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 10 
2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/national-autism-service/. 
77. Welsh Government. Autistic Spectrum Disorder Updated Delivery Plan 2018-2021. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2018. 
78. Welsh Government. Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2021. 
79. Welsh Government . Locked out: liberating disabled people's lives and rights in Wales beyond COVID-19. [Online] 02 07 
2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/locked-out-liberating-disabled-peoples-lives-and-rights-wales-beyond-covid-
19-html. 
80. Care Quality Commission . Provider collaboration review: care for people with a learning disability living in the 
community during the pandemic. [Online] 21 07 2021. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.cqc.org.uk/publications/themed-
work/provider-collaboration-review-care-people-learning-disability-living. 
81. Welsh Government. Action on Disability: The Right to Independent Living Framework and Action Plan. [Online] 2019. 
[Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-09/action-on-disability-the-right-to-
independent-living-framework-and-action-plan.pdf. 
82. Welsh Government. Code of Practice on the Delivery of Autism Services. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2021. 
83. Integrated Autism Service . Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
84. Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Joint Commissioning 
Strategy for Adults with Learning Disabilities 2019-2024. [Online] 2019. https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Social-
Services-and-Wellbeing/Adults/Documents/Adults%20with%20learning%20disabilities_English.pdf. 
85. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Starting Well Partnership . Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and 
Wellbeing . [Online]  
86. Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership . Learning Disabilities. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] 
https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/learning-disabilities/. 
87. Stats Wales. Pupils with special educational needs by local authority, region and type of provision. [Online] 09 09 2021. 
[Cited: 14 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Schools-and-Teachers/Schools-
Census/Pupil-Level-Annual-School-Census/Special-Educational-Needs/pupilssen-by-localauthorityregion-provision. 
88. Autism Wales. Personal communications . 11 : s.n., 2021. 
89. Cardiff Council . Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 25 10 2021.] 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf. 
90. Social Care Wales . Placements of children and young people with learning disabilities. [Online] 10 2019. [Cited: 14 09 
2021.] http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/childrenandyoungpeople/childrenwithdisabilities/view?viewId=2288. 
91. Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership . Children with complex needs . [Online] 
[Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/children-complex-needs/. 
92. Institute of Public Care. Cardiff and the Vale Learning Disability Needs Assessment Report . 2018. 
93. Welsh Government. White Paper - Rebalancing Care and Support. [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf. 
94. Social Care Wales. Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform. [Online] 08 03 2021. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] 
http://www.daffodilcymru.org.uk/. 
95. Social Care Wales. Personal communications. [Online] 07 12 2021.  
96. National Collaborative Commissioning Unit, NHS Wales. Improving Care, Improving Lives. s.l. : NHS Wales, 2020. 
97. Welsh Government. The Additional Learning Needs Code for Wales 2021. s.l. : Welsh Government, 2021. 
98. Care Inspectorate Wales. National review of care homes for children in Wales 2018-2019. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 29 10 
2021.] https://careinspectorate.wales/sites/default/files/2019-09/190926-national-review-of-care-homes-en.pdf. 
99. Wales Centre for Public Policy . Children looked after in Wales: Trends. [Online] 09 2020.  
100. Stats Wales. Children looked after at 31 March by local authority, gender and age. [Online] 24 02 2021. [Cited: 14 09 
2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-
Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-gender-age. 

Page 2425



   

 

244 

101. Welsh Government. Research on the number of children in Wales placed into care from parents with learning 
disability and the reasons behind their removal. [Online] 17 12 2019. [Cited: 18 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-12/research-number-children-placed-into-care-from-
parents-learning-disability-reasons-behind-their-removal.pdf. 
102. Public Health Directorate, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. All our futures: understanding the health and 
wellbeing needs of children in contact with the Cardiff Youth Justice Service. [Online] 06 2021.  
103. Cardiff Council . Cardiff's Multi Agency Corporate Parenting Strategy 2021-2024. Cardiff : Cardiff Council , 2021. 
104. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Vale of Glamorgan Corporate Strategy for Children who need Care and Support 2019-
2023. [Online] 2019.  
105. Stats Wales . Children on child protection register by local authority, category of abuse and age group. [Online] 23 10 
2019. [Cited: 15 09 2021.] 15.09.2021. 
106. Wales Centre for Public Policy . Evidence briefing paper: Children looked after in Wales. [Online] Cardiff University, 
2021. https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/WCPP-Evidence-Briefing-Children-looked-after-in-
Wales.pdf. 
107. Martin Elliott, Economic and Social Research Council, Cardiff University. The backgrounds of children entering public 
care in Wales. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/Martin-Elliott-PhD-
Edrych-ar-%C3%B4l-plant-yng-Nghymru-Dadansoddiad-o-gefndiroedd-plant-mynd-i-mewn-i-ofal-cyhoeddus.pdf. 
108. Stats Wales. Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and placement type. [Online] 24 02 2021. [Cited: 14 
09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-
Looked-After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-placementtype. 
109. Social Care wales . Children looked after. [Online] [Cited: 14 09 2021.] 
http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/childrenandyoungpeople/childrenlookedafter/view?viewId=1987. 
110. United Nations . The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child . [Online] 1989. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://downloads.unicef.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2010/05/UNCRC_united_nations_convention_on_the_rights_of_the_child.pdf?_adal_sd=www.unicef.org
.uk.1635887844858&_adal_ca=so%3DLive%26me%3Dorganic%26ca%3D(not%2520set)%26co%3D(not%2520set)%26ke%3
D(not%2520. 
111. The Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Integrated Family Support Team. The Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff Integrated 
Family Support Team Annual Report 2018-19. [Online] 11 2019.  
112. Vale of Glamorgan Youth Offending Service. Youth Offending Service : Youth Justice Plan updated July 2021. [Online] 
10 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Scrutiny-
HSC/2021/21-10-13/YOS-Youth-Justice-Plan-Updated.pdf. 
113. Director of Public Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Re-imagining ageing into the future . [Online] 
2019. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/files/key-publications/dph-report-2020-pdf/. 
114. Stats Wales. Population estimates by Local Health Boards and age. Stats Wales. [Online] June 2021. [Cited: 12 October 
2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Health-
Boards/populationestimates-by-lhb-age. 
115. Stats Wales. General health and illness by year. [Online] 09 2020. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-
illness/genhealthillness-by-year. 
116. Welsh Government. Age friendly Wales: our strategy for an ageing society. Gov.Wales. [Online] 10 2021. [Cited: 26 10 
2021.] https://gov.wales/age-friendly-wales-our-strategy-ageing-society. 
117. Welsh Government. Connected Communities: a strategy for tackling loneliness and social isolation and building 
stronger communities. gov.wales. [Online] 02 2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/loneliness-and-social-isolation-
connected-communities. 
118. National Assembly for Wales. Inquiry into loneliness and isolation. senedd.wales. [Online] 12 2017. [Cited: 26 10 
2021.] https://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld11310/cr-ld11310-e.pdf. 
119. Welsh Government. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. gov.wales. [Online] 5 2019. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/social-services-and-well-being-wales-act-2014-the-
essentials.pdf. 
120. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Making Wales the best place in the world to grow older: Commissioner's 
Strategy 2019-2022. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] 
https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications/strategy.aspx. 
121. Public Health England. Wider impacts of COVID-19 on physical activity, deconditioning and falls in older adults. 
www.gov.uk. [Online] 08 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-wider-
impacts-on-people-aged-65-and-over. 
122. Kings Fund. Deaths from Covid-19 (coronavirus): how are they counted and what do they show? Kings Fund. [Online] 
[Cited: 17 09 2021.] https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/deaths-covid-19. 
123. Banerjee, D. The impact of Covid‐19 pandemic on elderly mental health. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 
Wiley online library. [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.] https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5320. 

Page 2426



   

 

245 

124. Welsh Government. Health and Social Care in Wales - COVID-19: Looking forward. Gov.Wales. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 
26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/improving-health-and-social-care-covid-19-looking-forward. 
125. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and the social impacts on older people in Great Britain: 3 April to 10 May 
2020. ONS. [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ageing/articles/coronavirusandtheso
cialimpactsonolderpeopleingreatbritain/3aprilto10may2020. 
126. Age Connects Cardiff & the Vale. Resilient Communities Project Report - July 2021. www.ageconnectscardiff.org.uk. 
[Online] 07 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.ageconnectscardiff.org.uk/about/reports/resilient-communities. 
127. Welsh Government. Future Trends Report 2021 Evidence Pack . [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-12/future-trends-report-wales-2021-evidence-pack.pdf. 
128. Centre for Ageing Better. How has COVID-19 changed the landscape of digital inclusion? Centre for Ageing Better 
(2020). [Online] [Cited: 17 9 2021.] https://www.ageing-better.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-08/landscape-covid-19-
digital.pdf. 
129. British Geriatrics Society. Capturing beneficial change from the COVID-19 pandemic. www.bgs.org.uk. [Online] 03 07 
2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/attachment/2020-07-
03/Beneficial%20changes%20from%20COVID%20-%20response%20from%20BGS.pdf. 
130. Royal Society for Public Health . That Age Old Question . [Online] c.2019. [Cited: 09 11 2021.] 
https://www.rsph.org.uk/our-work/policy/older-people/that-age-old-question.html. 
131. Age UK. The Windrush scandal and Black Britons. [Online] 18 10 2020. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] 
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/discover/2020/10/the-windrush-scandal/. 
132. Public Health Wales Observatory. Public Health Outcomes Framework. www.phw.nhs.wales. [Online] [Cited: 29 10 
2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/public-health-outcomes-framework/. 
133. Telecare Cardiff. Falls prevention: Telecare Cardiff's proposed strategy for falls prevention. www.telecarecardiff.co.uk. 
[Online] 2020. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://telecarecardiff.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Telecare-Fall-Report-
Eng.pdf. 
134. Gething, Vaughan. Cabinet statement: Written statement: Update on Palliative and End of Life Care. [Online] 04 03 
2021. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/written-statement-update-palliative-and-end-life-care. 
135. Welsh Government. National framework for the delivery of bereavement care . [Online] 28 10 2021. [Cited: 19 11 
2021.] https://gov.wales/national-framework-delivery-bereavement-care-html#section-82873. 
136. Etkind, S.N., Bone, A.E., Gomes, B. et al. How many people will need palliative care in 2040? Past trends, future 
projections and implications for services. s.l. : BMC Med, 2017. Vol. 15, 102. 
137. Bone AE, Gomes B, Etkind SN, et al. What is the impact of population ageing on the future provision of end-of-life 
care? Population-based projections of place of death. s.l. : Palliative Medicine., 2018. Vol. 32, 2, pp. 329-336. 
138. Marie Curie. The Better End of Life Report 2021. [Online] 04 2021. [Cited: 24 11 2021.] 
https://www.mariecurie.org.uk/globalassets/media/documents/policy/policy-publications/2021/better-end-of-life-
research-report.pdf. 
139. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Shaping Our Future Wellbeing Strategy 2015-2025. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 07 
12 2021.] http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-
%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf. 
140. Marie Curie. Personal communications. [Online] 06 12 2021.  
141. End of Life Care Implementation Group. Review of specialist palliative care services in Wales 2010-2021. [Online] 07 
2021.  
142. Life expectancy inequalities in Wales before COVID-19: an exploration of current contributions by age and cause of 
death and changes between 2002 and 2018. Currie, J et al. 193:48-56, s.l. : Public Health, Vol. 2021 April. 
143. Older People's Commissioner for Wales . State of the Nation: An overview of growing older in Wales . [Online] 2019. 
[Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://www.olderpeoplewales.com/Libraries/Uploads/State_of_the_Nation_e_-_online.sflb.ashx. 
144. Joseph Rowntree Foundation . Impact of poverty on relationships. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.] 
https://www.jrf.org.uk/data/impact-poverty-relationships. 
145. Cardiff Council. Cardiff Older Persons Housing Strategy 2019-2023. www.cardiff.gov.uk. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 10 
2021.] https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Older-
Persons-Housing-Strategy/Pages/default.aspx. 
146. Housing Learning and Improvement Network (LIN). Assessment of Older Person's Housing and Accomodation 
including with Care and Care Ready. www.cvihsc.co.uk. [Online] 2018. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/An-Assessment-of-Older-Persons-Housing-and-Accommodation-2018.pdf. 
147. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] 
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/Housing/Housing-Strategy/Strategies-and-Plans.aspx. 
148. Cardiff Council. Cardiff Housing Strategy. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf. 
149. Welsh Government. Housing Adaptations Strategic Framework Draft Guidance . [Online] 2021.  

Page 2427



   

 

246 

150. Centre for Ageing Better. Best foot forward: Exploring the barriers and enablers to active travel among 50 to 70 year 
olds. www.ageing-better.org.uk . [Online] 4 10 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://ageing-better.org.uk/publications/best-
foot-forward-active-travel. 
151. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership . Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 21 01 2022.] 
https://cvihsc.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/10/INTEGRATED_HEALTH_AND_SOCIAL_CARE_PARTNERSHIP_REPORT_ENG_FINAL.pdf. 
152. Wales Fiscal Analysis. The future of care in Wales: resourcing social care for older adults . [Online] 08 2020. [Cited: 24 
01 2022.] https://www.cardiff.ac.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/2427400/social_care_final2_aug20.pdf. 
153. Welsh Government. White Paper Rebalancing care and support . [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 24 01 2022.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf. 
154. Office for National Statistics . Deaths involving COVID-19 in the care sector, England and Wales: deaths registered 
between week ending 20 March 2020 and week ending 2 April 2021. [Online] 11 05 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathsinvolvingcovi
d19inthecaresectorenglandandwales/deathsregisteredbetweenweekending20march2020andweekending2april2021. 
155. Robling, M., Cannings-John, R. OSCAR Study Policy Briefing December 2021 What are the risks for Domiciliary Care 
Workers in Wales from COVID-19? [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] https://mfr.de-
1.osf.io/render?url=https://osf.io/wvzj5/?direct%26mode=render%26action=download%26mode=render. 
156. Welsh Government . Improving Health and Social Care (Covid 19 Looking Forward) Social Care Recovery Framework . 
[Online] 2021. [Cited: 21 01 2022.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/improving-health-and-social-
care-covid-19-looking-forward.pdf. 
157. Dewis Cymru. Dewis. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/. 
158. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Helping People to Live Well The Cardiff and Vale Rehabilitation Model 
2020. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://shapingourfuturewellbeing.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/The-
Cardiff-and-Vale-Rehabilitation-Model-February-2020.pptx. 
159. Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership. Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan 
Population Needs Assessment . [Online] 01 04 2017. https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Population-
Needs-Assessment-1.pdf. 
160. Glamorgan Voluntary Services. Directory of Services for Older People in the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff. [Online] 
11 2020. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] 
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5fbfa0b15bcb0228a27b05e0/t/60ed4d8da17c7f1bf0022acb/1626164625902/Direc
tory+of+services+for+older+people+Sept+2020.pdf. 
161. New horizons in supporting older people's health and well-being: is social prescribing a way forward? Hamilton-West, 
K et al. 3, s.l. : Age and Ageing, 2020, Vol. 49. 
162. Royal College of General Practitioners . Loneliness. [Online] [Cited: 07 12 2021.] 
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/policy/rcgp-policy-areas/loneliness.aspx. 
163. Welsh Government. White Paper: Rebalancing care and support. Gov.Wales. [Online] 12 01 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf. 
164. Stats Wales. General health and illness by local authority and health board. [Online] [Cited: 05 10 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-
illness/genhealthillness-by-localauthorityhealthboard. 
165. Stats Wales . Adult lifestyles by local authority and health board, 2016-17 to 2019-20. [Online] [Cited: 2021 10 05.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-Lifestyles/adultlifestyles-by-
localauthority-healthboard. 
166. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales: results viewer. [Online] 30 09 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer. 
167. The Trussell Trust . Food bank Statistics for previous Financial Years with Regional Breakdown. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 
2021.] https://www.trusselltrust.org/news-and-blog/latest-stats/end-year-stats/#children. 
168. The Trussell Trust. Trussell Trust data briefing on end-of-year statistics relating to use of food banks: April 2020 - 
March 2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
169. Office for National Statistics . Health state life expectancies, UK: 2017 to 2019. [Online] 25 01 2021. [Cited: 26 11 
2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/health
statelifeexpectanciesuk/latest. 
170. Office of National Statistics . Health state life expectancy at birth and at age 65 years by local areas, UK. [Online] 11 
12 2019. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/datasets/health
statelifeexpectancyatbirthandatage65bylocalareasuk. 
171. Welsh Government. A Healthier Wales: Plan for Health and Social Care . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 28 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-09/a-healthier-wales-our-plan-for-health-and-social-care.pdf. 

Page 2428



   

 

247 

172. Welsh Government. Healthy Weight Healthy Wales. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 28 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/healthy-
weight-strategy-healthy-weight-healthy-wales. 
173. Welsh Government. Tobacco control strategy for Wales and delivery plan. [Online] 08 11 2021. [Cited: 22 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/tobacco-control-strategy-wales-and-delivery-plan. 
174. Green L, Morgan L, Azam S, Evans, L, Parry-Williams L, Petchey L, Bellis M. A Health Impact Assessment of the 
"Staying at home and social distancing policy" in Wales in response to the COVID-19 pandemic . [Online] 06 2020. [Cited: 
23 11 2021.] https://phwwhocc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/HIA_-
_Rapid_Review_of_SAH_Policy_Exec_Summary.pdf. 
175. Public Health Wales Health Protection. Cases by MSOA of residence. [Online] 04 11 2021. [Cited: 25 01 2022.] 
https://public.tableau.com/app/profile/public.health.wales.health.protection/viz/RapidCOVID-19virology-
Public/Headlinesummary. 
176. Office of National Statistics. Deaths due to COVID-19 by local area and deprivation. [Online] 20 05 2021. [Cited: 05 10 
2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/deathsduetocovid1
9bylocalareaanddeprivation. 
177. Audit Wales . Taking Care of the Carers? How NHS bodies supported staff well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
10 : s.n., 2021. 
178. Welsh Government. Shielding Patient List in Wales during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic: as at 29 March 2021. 
[Online] 21 03 2021. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/shielding-patient-list-wales-during-coronavirus-covid-19-
pandemic-29-march-2021. 
179. Welsh Government. Coronavirus and employment: analysis of protected characteristics. [Online] 19 06 2020. [Cited: 
05 10 2021.] 
180. The Food Foundation. A crisis within a crisis: the impact of COVID-19 on household food security. [Online] 2021. 
[Cited: 07 10 2021.] https://foodfoundation.org.uk/publication/crisis-within-crisis-impact-covid-19-household-food-
security. 
181. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales: results viewer. [Online] 30 09 2021. [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer. 
182. Social Care Wales. Care and support at home (Local Authority) . [Online] [Cited: 28 10 2021.] 
http://www.socialcaredata.wales/IAS/themes/adults/adultsreceivingcareandsupport/profile?profileId=532. 
183. Public Health Wales. Voices of those with lived experiences of homelessness and adversity in Wales: informing 
prevention and response. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/files/aces/voices-of-those-with-lived-
experiences-of-homelessness-and-adversity-in-wales-informing-prevention-and-response-2019/. 
184. National Survey for Wales. Personal communications . 2021. [Online] 08, 19.  
185. Welsh Government. High-level analysis of data on housing adaptations 2019-20. [Online] 07 2021.  
186. Public Health Wales. Wales COVID-19 Vaccination Weekly Surveillance Summary. [Online] 16 01 2022. [Cited: 26 01 
2022.] 
https://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk/CommunitySurveillanceDocs.nsf/3dc04669c9e1eaa880257062003b246b/cf7a9a9adcddb
b0a8025866b003a51a1/$FILE/Wales%20COVID-19%20vaccination%20surveillance%20weekly%20report.pdf. 
187. Department for Work and Pensions. Access to Work: factsheet for customers . [Online] 18 08 2021. [Cited: 2021 10 
01.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-to-work-factsheet. 
188. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Keeping Me Well COVID-19 Rehabilitation Model . [Online] 05 2020. [Cited: 
23 11 2021.] 
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Cardiff%20and%20Vale%20Covid%20Rehab%20in
c.%20web%20site%20May%202020.pdf. 
189. Welsh Government. Future Trends Report 2017. [Online] 2017 . [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/170505-future-trends-report-2017-en.pdf. 
190. World Health Organization Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being. Brexit and Poverty in 
Wales: A Public Health Lens. [Online] 09 2021. [Cited: 23 11 2021.] 
https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/brexit-and-poverty-in-wales-a-public-health-lens/. 
191. UK Government. Equality Act 2010. [Online] 2010. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/6. 
192. Stats Wales . Disabled Status by Region. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability/disabledstatus-by-region. 
193. Office for National Statistics . Personal communications; DISEA by Local Authority for January 2018 - December 2020 
(weighted 2020(L)) using APS longitudinal 3 year pooled dataset . [Online] 30 11 2021.  
194. Carers Trust South East Wales. Cardiff and Vale Carers Gateway. [Online] [Cited: 06 10 2021.] 
https://www.ctsew.org.uk/cardiff-and-the-vale-carers-gateway. 
195. Dewis Cymru . Cardiff and Vale Advocacy Gateway - Social welfare advice and information . [Online] 20 05 2021. 
[Cited: 07 10 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/ResourceDirectory/ViewResource.aspx?id=14117. 
196. Welsh Government. Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the impact on disabled people . [Online] 11 03 2021. [Cited: 05 10 
2021.] 

Page 2429



   

 

248 

197. Welsh Government. More than just words. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 07 10 2021.] .wales.nhs.uk/. 
198. Stats Wales. Summary of economic activity in Wales by year and disabled status, from April 2013. [Online] [Cited: 05 
10 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-Diversity/Disability/summaryofeconomicactivityinwales-
by-year-disabledstatus-fromapril2013. 
199. Equality and Human Rights Commission . Is Wales fairer? The state of equality and human rights 2018. [Online] 2018. 
[Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/is-britain-fairer-2018-is-wales-fairer.pdf. 
200. Welsh Government. Disability Confident Scheme . [Online] 21 11 2019. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] 
https://businesswales.gov.wales/news-and-blogs/news/disability-confident-scheme. 
201. Home Office Crime and Policing Statistics. Hate crime, England and Wales, 2018/19 - Appendix Tables. [Online] 10 
2020. [Cited: 05 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/hate-crime-england-and-wales-2018-to-2019. 
202. Social Care Wales . Social Care Wales Population Projections Platform - Activities of daily living . [Online] [Cited: 06 10 
2021.] http://www.daffodilcymru.org.uk/. 
203. StatsWales. Persons with learning disabilities by local authority, service and age range. [Online] [Cited: 10 09 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Disability-
Registers/personswithlearningdisabilities-by-localauthority-service-agerange. 
204. StatsWales. Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) disease registers by local health board, cluster 
and GP practice. [Online] [Cited: 21 01 2022.] 
205. Welsh Government. Learning Disability Improving Lives Programme . [Online] 06 2018.  
206. Welsh Government. Reducing Restrictive Practices Framework 2021. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/reducing-restrictive-practices-framework-2021. 
207. Improvement Cymru. COVID-19-related deaths in Wales amongst People with Learning Disabilities from 1st March to 
19th November 2020. [Online] 11 01 2022. [Cited: 01 02 2022.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/covid-
19-related-deaths-in-wales-amongst-people-with-learning-disabilities-from-1st-march-to-19th-november-2020/. 
208. Learning Disability Wales. 57% of people with a learning disability had paid for a direct payment service they were not 
receiving. [Online] 09 09 2021. [Cited: 03 10 2021.] https://www.ldw.org.uk/57-of-people-with-a-learning-disability-had-
paid-for-a-direct-payment-service-they-were-not-receiving/. 
209. RNIB. Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] 
https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/knowledge-and-research-hub/key-information-and-statistics/sight-loss-data-tool. 
210. StatsWales. Unique learners in work-based learning provision by programme and primary disability and/or learning 
difficulty. [Online] [Cited: 10 09 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-
and-Training/Further-Education-and-Work-Based-Learning/Learners/Work-Based-
Learning/uniquelearnersworkbasedlearning-by-programme-primarydisability. 
211. Cardiff and Vale College . Towards Independence . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] 
https://cavc.ac.uk/en/courses/pwll/towards-independence#Towards-Independence. 
212. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Personal communications. [Online] 10 2021.  
213. Vale of Glamorgan Council . The Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 25 10 
2021.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-
Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf. 
214. Department of Health and Social Care, UK Government. Guidance Liberty Proteciton Safeguards: what they are. 
[Online] 03 08 2021. [Cited: 27 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/liberty-protection-safeguards-
factsheets/liberty-protection-safeguards-what-they-are. 
215. Integrated Autism Service. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
216. National Autism Team. Supplementary Annual Report 2019/20: Case Studies. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 09 12 2021.] 
https://autismwales.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Case-Studies-Compendium.pdf. 
217. Welsh Government. Welsh language impact assessment. [Online] [Cited: 03 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-07/welsh-language-impact-assessment-autism_0.pdf. 
218. Stats Wales. Unique learners in work-based learning provision by programme and primary disability and/or learning 
difficulty. [Online] 05 02 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-
Education-and-Training/Further-Education-and-Work-Based-Learning/Learners/Work-Based-
Learning/uniquelearnersworkbasedlearning-by-programme-primarydisability. 
219. World Health Organisation. Mental health: strengthening our response. World Health Organisation. [Online] 30 
March 2018. [Cited: 13 September 2021.] https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-
strengthening-our-response. 
220. Office for National Statistics. Annual personal well-being estimates . [Online] 15 10 2021. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/datasets/headlineestimatesofpersonalwellbeing. 
221. Stats Wales. General health and illness by local authority and health board. Stats Wales. [Online] September 2020. 
[Cited: 29 November 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/Population-Health/Adult-
general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-localauthorityhealthboard. 
222. Welsh Government. Talk to me 2. Welsh Government. [Online] 2015. [Cited: 23 September 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-08/talk-to-me-2-suicide-and-self-harm-prevention-strategy-for-
wales-2015-2020.pdf. 

Page 2430



   

 

249 

223. Office for National Statistics . Suicides in England and Wales by local authority . [Online] 07 09 2021. 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/datasets/suicidesbylocalauth
ority. 
224. Welsh Government. Together for Mental Health. Welsh Government. [Online] 31 October 2012. [Cited: 23 September 
2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-03/together-for-mental-health-a-strategy-for-mental-
health-and-wellbeing-in-wales.pdf. 
225. Welsh Government. Together for Mental Health. Welsh Government. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 23 September 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/together-for-mental-health-delivery-plan-2019-to-2022.pdf. 
226. Cardiff and Vale UHB. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Suicide and Self harm Prevention Strategy, 2021-2024. Cardiff 
and Vale UHB. [Online] 15 November 2021. [Cited: 16 November 2021.] https://cavuhb.nhs.wales/patient-advice/keeping-
people-well/about-public-health-in-cardiff-and-the-vale/key-publications/cardiff-and-vale-of-glamorgan-suicide-and-self-
harm-prevention-strategy-2021-24/. 
227. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Psychiatrists see alarming rise in patients needing urgent and emergency care and 
forecast a 'tsunami' of mental illness. Royal College of Psychiatrists. [Online] 15 May 2020. [Cited: 22 September 2021.] 
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/news-and-features/latest-news/detail/2020/05/15/psychiatrists-see-alarming-rise-in-patients-
needing-urgent-and-emergency-care#:~:text=Latest%20news-
,Psychiatrists%20see%20alarming%20rise%20in%20patients%20needing%20urgent%20and%2. 
228. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and depression in adults, Great Britain: June 2020. Office for National 
Statistics. [Online] 18 August 2020. [Cited: 22 September 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/coronavirusanddepressioninadultsgreatbritai
n/june2020. 
229. Public Health Wales. Week 64: 'How Are We Doing in Wales' public engagement survey results. Public Health Wales. 
[Online] 2 July 2021. [Cited: 13 October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/news/week-64-how-are-we-doing-in-wales-public-
engagement-survey-results/. 
230. Public Health Wales Observatory. Covid-19 Recovery Profile. Public Health Wales Observatory. [Online] 27 01 2022. 
[Cited: 26 01 2022.] https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/COVID19_Recovery_Profile_PHWO/. 
231. Welsh Government. More than just words. Welsh Government. [Online] 2016. [Cited: 15 October 2021.] 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/Documents/415/160317morethanjustwordsen.pdf. 
232. King's Fund. King's Fund. King's Fund. [Online] February 2012. [Cited: 11 October 2021.] 
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/long-term-conditions-mental-health-cost-
comorbidities-naylor-feb12.pdf. 
233. Public Health Wales Observatory. Mental Wellbeing in Wales (2020). Public Health Wales Observatory. [Online] 2020. 
[Cited: 15 October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/observatory/data-and-analysis/mental-wellbeing-in-
wales-2020/. 
234. Samaritans Cymru. Samariatans Cymru Impact Report. Samaritans Cymru. [Online] 10 September 2020. [Cited: 14 
October 2021.] https://www.samaritans.org/wales/news/samaritans-cymru-impact-report-201920/. 
235. Parsonage, M and Saini, G. Mental health at work: The business costs ten years on. Centre for Mental Health. [Online] 
5 September 2017. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/publications/mental-health-
work-business-costs-ten-years. 
236. The Health Foundation. Unemployment and mental health. [Online] 16 April 2021. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/unemployment-and-mental-health. 
237. Preece, J and Bimpson, E. [Online] 27 March 2019. [Cited: 30 November 2021.] https://housingevidence.ac.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/03/190327-Housing-insecurity-and-mental-health-in-Wales_final.pdf. 
238. WLGA. Housing related support. WLGA. [Online] [Cited: 2021 November 30.] https://www.wlga.wales/housing-
related-support. 
239. Cardiff Council. Cardiff Homelessness Strategy . Cardiff Council. [Online] 2018. [Cited: 14 October 2021.] 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/homeless-
strategy/Documents/Cardiff%20Homelessness%20Strategy%202018_2022.pdf. 
240. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Homelessness Prevention Strategy 2018-2022 Monitoring Report. [Online] 18 03 2020. 
[Cited: 24 11 2021.] https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Scrutiny-HSC/2020/20-03-
18/Homelessness-Prevention-Strategy.pdf. 
241. Stats Wales. Rough sleepers by local authority. Stats Wales. [Online] [Cited: 14 October 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/Homelessness/Rough-Sleepers/roughsleepers-by-localauthority. 
242. Campbell, J A. My Say: A service user feedback project. Cardiff : CAVAMH, 2019. 
243. Welsh Government. Future Trends: 2017. Welsh Government. [Online] 30 April 2019. [Cited: 11 October 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-10/future-trends-report-2017-2.pdf. 
244. Royal College of Psychiatrists. Memory problems and dementia. Royal College of Psychiatrists. [Online] October 2019. 
[Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/mental-health/problems-disorders/memory-problems-and-
dementia. 
245. Stats Wales. Quality Assurance and Improvement Framework (QAIF) disease registers by local health board, cluster 
and GP practice. Stats Wales. [Online] 24 June 2021. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] 

Page 2431



   

 

250 

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/NHS-Primary-and-Community-Activity/GMS-
Contract/qualityassuranceandimprovementframeworkqaifdiseaseregisters-by-localhealthboard-cluster-gppractice. 
246. Welsh Government. Dementia Action Plan for Wales. Welsh Government. [Online] 14 February 2018. [Cited: 25 
October 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/dementia-action-plan-for-wales.pdf. 
247. Improvement Cymru. All Wales Dementia Care Pathway of Standards. Public Health Wales. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 29 
October 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/improvement-cymru/news-and-blog/publications/dementia-
standards/. 
248. Wang, H: et al. Dementia care during COVID-19. The Lancet. 2020, Vol. 395, 10231, pp. 1190-1191. 
249. Suárez-González, A and al, et. Impact and mortality of COVID-19 on people living with dementia: cross-country 
report. LTCcovid.org. [Online] 19 August 2020. [Cited: 27 October 2021.] https://ltccovid.org/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/International-report-on-the-impact-of-COVID-19-on-people-living-with-dementia-19-August-
2020.pdf. 
250. Mok, V. C. T., Pendlebury, S and Wong, A et al. Tackling challenges in care of Alzheimer's Disease and other 
dementias amid the COVID-19 pandemic, now and in the future. Alzheimer's and Dementia. 2020, Vol. 16, 11, pp. 1571-
1581. 
251. Office for National Statistics. Deaths due to COVID-19, registered in England and Wales: 2020. Office for National 
Statistics. [Online] 6 July 2021. [Cited: 27 October 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/deathsregistereddue
tocovid19/2020. 
252. Young Dementia UK. Coronavirus and dementia. Young Dementia UK. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] 
https://www.youngdementiauk.org/coronavirus-dementia. 
253. Social Care Institute for Excellence. Dementia in Care Homes. Social Care Institute for Excellence. [Online] 2020. 
[Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.scie.org.uk/care-providers/coronavirus-covid-19/dementia/care-homes. 
254. Social Care Institute for Excellence. Safeguarding adults wih dementia during the COVID-19 pandemic. Social Care 
Institute for Excellence. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] https://www.scie.org.uk/care-providers/coronavirus-
covid-19/dementia/safeguarding. 
255. Beynon, C and Wood, S. Cardiff and Vale Integrated Health and Social Care. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 25 October 2021.] 
https://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DHNA-Cardiff-and-Vale-Final.pdf. 
256. Race Equality Foundation. Dementia Equity and Rights. Race Equality Foundation. [Online] May 2016. [Cited: 2021 
October 28.] http://raceequalityfoundation.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Dementia-equity-and-rights-report.pdf. 
257. Dementia UK. Employment and young onset dementia. Dementia UK. [Online] [Cited: 1 December 2021.] 
https://www.dementiauk.org/get-support/legal-and-financial-information/employment-and-young-onset-dementia/. 
258. Cardiff Council. Older Person's Housing Strategy. Cardiff Council. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 1 December 2021.] 
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Older-Persons-
Housing-Strategy/Documents/Older%20People%27s%20Housing%20Strategy%202019.pdf. 
259. SCIE. Dementia friendly environments. SCIE. [Online] October 2020. [Cited: 16 November 2021.] 
https://www.scie.org.uk/dementia/supporting-people-with-dementia/dementia-friendly-environments/. 
260. Dementia Friendly Cardiff. Dementia Friendly Cardiff. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 03 12 2021.] 
https://dementiafriendlycardiff.co.uk/. 
261. Office for National Statistics. Coronavirus and the social impacts on unpaid carers in Great Britain: April 2021. Office 
for National Statistics. [Online] April 2021. [Cited: 29 October 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/socialcare/articles/coronavirusandthesocia
limpactsonunpaidcarersingreatbritain/april2021#glossary. 
262. Carers UK. Will I Care? The likelihood of being a carer in adult life. Carers UK. [Online] 21 November 2019. [Cited: 7 
November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/help-and-advice/practical-support/getting-care-and-support/36-for-
professionals/policy-eng/report/6231-will-i-care-the-likelihood-of-being-a-carer-in-adult-life. 
263. Stats Wales. Welsh residents by hours of care and local authority. Stats Wales. [Online] 25 September 2012. [Cited: 29 
October 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Census/2011/WelshResidents-by-HoursCare-LocalAuthority. 
264. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board. Population Needs Assessment on the Impact of COVID-19 
. Cardiff  : Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership , 2020. 
265. Welsh Government. Strategy for unpaid carers. Welsh Government. [Online] 23 March 2021. [Cited: 1 November 
2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/unpaid-carers-strategy.pdf. 
266. NHS Shared Services Partnership . Carer Awareness . Learning@Wales. [Online] [Cited: 19 01 2022.] 
https://learning.wales.nhs.uk/course/index.php?categoryid=376. 
267. Carers Wales . Personal communications . [Online] 2022.  
268. Burrows, D., Lyttleton-Smith, J., Sheehan, L. and Jones, D. Voices of Carers during the COVID-19 pandemic: Messages 
for the future of unpaid caring In Wales. Cardiff, UK : Cardiff University, 2021. 
269. Carers UK. Carers and Physical Activity: A study of the barriers, motivations and experiences of unpaid carers aged 55 
and over in England. Carers UK. [Online] 7 May 2021. [Cited: 7 November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/for-
professionals/policy/policy-library/carers-and-physical-activity-a-study-of-the-barriers-motivations-and-experiences-of-
unpaid-carers-aged-55-and-over-in-england. 

Page 2432



   

 

251 

270. Carers Wales. State of Caring. Carers Wales. [Online] December 2019. [Cited: 3 November 2021.] 
https://www.carersuk.org/wales/policy-resources-for-professionals/policy-library/state-of-caring-in-wales-2019-policy. 
271. Carers Wales. Consultation Response: Priorities for the Local Government and Housing Committee. Carers Wales. 
[Online] 2021. [Cited: 3 November 2021.] https://www.carersuk.org/wales/policy-resources-for-professionals/policy-
library/consultation-response-priorities-for-the-local-government-and-housing-committee. 
272. Dewis Cymru . Dewis Cymru . [Online] [Cited: 12 11 2021.] https://www.dewis.wales/. 
273. Terry, J., Redfern, P., Bond, J., Fowler-Powe, M., Booth, C. Deaf People Wales: Hidden Inequality. s.l. : All Wales Deaf 
Mental Health & Well-Being Group., 2021. 
274. Wales Council for the Blind. Rehabilitation for people with sight loss in Wales . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 31 10 2021.] 
http://www.wcb-ccd.org.uk/downloads/rehabilitation_for_people_with_sight_loss_in_wales.pdf. 
275. NHS Wales . All Wales Standards for Accessible Communication and Inforamtion for People with Sensory Loss . 
[Online] 2013.  
276. RNIB. Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] 
277. Welsh Government; NHS Wales . Framework of Action for Wales, 2017-2020 Integrated framework of care and 
support for people who are D/deaf or living with hearing loss . [Online] 05 2017.  
278. Merriam-Webster . intersectionality. [Online] [Cited: 02 12 2021.] https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/intersectionality. 
279. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Accessible Communication and Information . Cardiff  : Cardiff and Vale 
University Health Board , 2019. 
280. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board . Accessible Communication and Information for People with Sensory Loss. 
[Online] 29 10 2021.  
281. Royal National Institute for Deaf People (RNID). Coronavirus position statement. [Online] 28 09 2020. [Cited: 15 10 
2021.] https://rnid.org.uk/about-us/research-and-policy/coronavirus-policy-statement/. 
282. Royal National Institute of Blind People . Voice of the Customer: Living with Sight Loss through Lockdown in the 
United Kingdom (UK). [Online] 2020. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] https://www.rnib.org.uk/professionals/knowledge-and-research-
hub/research-reports/general-research. 
283. Annaswamy, T.M., Verduzco-Gutierrez, M., and Frieden, L. Telemedicine barriers and challenges for persons with 
disabilities: Covid-19 and beyond. [Online] 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dhjo.2020.100973. 
284. National Deaf Children's Society . Campaigning during Covid . [Online] 2020. [Cited: 01 11 2021.] 
https://www.ndcs.org.uk/get-involved/campaigning/covid/. 
285. Wales Council of the Blind . Wales Council of the Blind . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 31 10 2021.] http://www.wcb-
ccd.org.uk/. 
286. RNIB. Eye health and sight loss stats and facts. [Online] 04 2018. [Cited: 02 12 2021.] 
https://www.rnib.org.uk/sites/default/files/Eye%20health%20and%20sight%20loss%20stats%20and%20facts.pdf. 
287. Newborn Hearing Screening Wales; Public Health Wales . Newborn Hearing Screening Wales Annual Statistical 
Report 2018-2019. [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/screening/newborn-
hearing-screening-wales/programme-reports/annual-statistical-reports/newborn-hearing-screening-wales-annual-
statistical-report-2018-19/. 
288. NHS 111 Wales . Eye tests for children . [Online] 03 09 2021. [Cited: 15 10 2021.] 
https://111.wales.nhs.uk/Eyetestsforchildren/. 
289. Wales Council of the Blind. Rehabilitation Officers for Visual Impairment: Addressing a workforce crisis in Wales . 
[Online] 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2022.] http://www.wcb-ccd.org.uk/downloads/addressing_a_workforce_crisis_in_wales.pdf. 
290. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Falls in older people: assessing risk and prevention CG161. [Online] 
12 06 2013. [Cited: 03 11 2021.] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg161/chapter/1-Recommendations. 
291. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Cardiff and Vale University Health Board Falls Framework: Reducing risk 
and harm. [Online] 2019. 
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Falls%20Framework%20Report_FINAL.PDF. 
292. Wales Centre for Public Policy . Domestic abuse interventions in Wales . [Online] 09 2020.  
293. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan VAWDASV Partnership. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018-2023. 2018. 
294. Welsh Government. National Strategy on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence - 2016-2021. 
Cardiff  : Welsh Government, 2016. 
295. South Wales Police. Freedom of Information Request. [Online] 30 09 2021.  
296. South Wales Police. Personal communications. [Online] 24 11 2021.  
297. Atal Y Fro. Personal communications . [Online] 01 2022.  
298. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. Support Services for Older People Experiencing Abuse in Wales . [Online] 
2021.  
299. Welsh Government . Wales Safeguarding Procedures 2019. [Online] [Cited: 22 10 2021.] 
https://www.safeguarding.wales/index.html. 

Page 2433



   

 

252 

300. Welsh Government. Policy and strategy Preventing and responding to child sexual abuse: national action plan. 
[Online] Welsh Government, 15 07 2019. [Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/preventing-and-responding-child-sexual-
abuse-national-action-plan. 
301. Welsh Government. National Training Framework on violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 
[Online] 05 06 2019. [Cited: 19 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/national-training-framework-violence-against-women-
domestic-abu. 
302. UK Government. Policy paper Domestic Abuse Act 2021: overarching factsheet . [Online] UK Government, 28 07 2021. 
[Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/domestic-abuse-
bill-2020-overarching-factsheet. 
303. South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner . Tackling Violence Against Women and Girls: a Joint Strategy 2019-2024 
. [Online] 2019 . [Cited: 22 10 2021.] https://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/media/1893/vawg-joint-strategy-eng-
web.pdf. 
304. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Safeguarding Adults Board; Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional 
Safeguarding Children Board . Cardiff & Vale Regional Safeguarding Baords Tackling Exploitation Strategy . [Online] 06 
2020. https://www.cardiffandvalersb.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Exploitation-Strategy_ENGLISH.pdf. 
305. Association Between COVID-19 Lockdown Measures and Emergency Department Visits for Violence-Related Injuries in 
Cardiff, Wales. Shepherd JP, Moore SC, Long A, Mercer Kollar LM, Sumner SA. 9, Cardiff : JAMA, 2021, Vol. 325. 
306. Addressing the "shadow pandemic" through a public health approach to violence prevention. Snowdon, L., Barton, E., 
Newbury A., Parry, B., Bellis, M., Hopkins, J. 2, s.l. : Journal of Community Safety and Well-Being, 2020, Vol. 5. 
307. Office for National Statistics. Domestic abuse during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, England and Wales: 
November 2020. [Online] 11 2020. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/articles/domesticabuseduringthecoronavirusco
vid19pandemicenglandandwales/november2020. 
308. Women's Aid Federation of England. Nowhere to turn 2021. 2021. 
309. Isolated and struggling: social isolation and the risk of child maltreatment, in lockdown and beyond. Romanou, E., and 
Belton, E. London  : NSPCC, 2020. 
310. Cardiff and Vale VAWDASV Partnership. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018 - 2023 Action Plan Progress Report 2020/21. [Online] 2021.  
311. Cardiff Council. Personal communications . [Online] 01 2022.  
312. Welsh Government. Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence: progress report 2019 to 2020. 
[Online] 25 02 2021. [Cited: 18 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/violence-against-women-domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-
progress-report-2019-2020-html. 
313. Public Health Wales. Harm Reduction Database Wales: Prevention and detection of infectious disease amongst 
people accessing substance misuse services Annual Report 2020-21. [Online] 2021.  
314. Institute of Public Care. Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board Substance Misuse Needs Assessment . [Online] 12 2018.  
315. Welsh Government. Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022 Revise in response to COVID-19. [Online] 01 2021. 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-01/substance-misuse-delivery-plan-2019-to-2022.pdf. 
316. World Health Organization. Alcohol and Drugs What is Substance Misuse. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 05 11 2021.] 
https://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/s4s/WhereILive/Council?pageId=3372. 
317. Welsh Government. National Survey for Wales 2018-19 & 2019-2020 Adult lifestyles by local authority and health 
board, 2016-17 to 2019-20. [Online] [Cited: 04 11 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-
Wales/Population-Health/Adult-Lifestyles/adultlifestyles-by-localauthority-healthboard. 
318. Office for National Statistics . Quarterly alcohol-specific deaths in England and Wales: 2001 to 2019 registrations and 
Quarter 1 (Jan to Mar) to Quarter 4 (Oct to Dec) 2020 provisional registrations. [Online] 06 05 2021. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/quarterlyalcoholsp
ecificdeathsinenglandandwales/2001to2019registrationsandquarter1jantomartoquarter4octtodec2020provisionalregistrati
ons. 
319. Public Health Wales. Data mining Wales: The annual profile for substance misuse 2019-20. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 04 
11 2021.] https://phw.nhs.wales/publications/publications1/data-mining-wales-the-annual-profile-for-substance-misuse-
2019-20/. 
320. Cardiff and Vale Area Planning Board. Cardiff & Vale Substance Misuse Area Planning Board Annual Report 2020-
2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 12 11 2021.] 
321. Voices Action Change . Personal communications . [Online] 07-09 2021. [Cited: 01 12 2021.] 
322. Welsh Government. Substance Misuse Delivery Plan 2019-2022. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 04 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-10/substance-misuse-delivery-plan-2019-22.pdf. 
323. Welsh Government. Minimum Unit Pricing for alcohol. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 26 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/minimum-unit-pricing-alcohol. 
324. Emmerson, C. A health needs assessment of people who inject in public . [Online] 2021.  
325. Public Health England. Monitoring alcohol consumption and harm during the COVID-19 pandemic. [Online] 2021. 
[Cited: 04 11 2021.] 

Page 2434



   

 

253 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1002627/Alcohol_an
d_COVID_report.pdf. 
326. Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board. Population Needs Assessment on the Impact of COVID-
19. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 04 11 2021.] 
327. WEDINOS . Annual Report 2020-2021. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 03 11 2021.] 
328. Crisis UK. Drugs and alcohol Together we will end homelessness. [Online] [Cited: 03 11 2021.] 
https://www.crisis.org.uk/ending-homelessness/health-and-wellbeing/drugs-and-alcohol/. 
329. WEDINOS. WEDINOS. [Online] [Cited: 07 11 2021.] https://www.wedinos.org/about-us . 
330. Public Health Wales. Harm Reduction Database Wales: Drug related mortality Annual Report 2020-21. [Online] 2021.  
331. World Health Organization . Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. [Online] 2018. 
http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274603/9789241565639-eng.pdf?ua=1. 
332. HM Chief Inspector of Prisons. Report on an unannounced inspection of HMP Cardiff. London : Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Prisons, 2019. 
333. HMP Cardiff. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
334. Prison Reform Trust . Fair access to justice? . [Online] 06 2012. [Cited: 11 11 2021.] 
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/FairAccesstoJustice.pdf. 
335. Prison Reform Trust . Race . [Online] [Cited: 11 11 2021.] 
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/WhatWeDo/Projectsresearch/Race. 
336. Youth Offending Services in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
337. G4S. About Parc - Young Persons Unit. [Online] 2014. [Cited: 18 10 2021.] https://hmpparc.co.uk/about_rar_ypu.htm. 
338. Neath Port Talbot Council . Hillside Secure Children's Home . [Online] [Cited: 18 10 2021.] 
http://www.hillsidesecurechildrenshome.co.uk/2231. 
339. Welsh Parliament. Health and social care provision in the adult prison estate in Wales. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 19 01 
2022.] https://senedd.wales/media/ct4f03nb/cr-ld14318-e.pdf. 
340. Welsh Government . Partnership agreement for prison health in Wales . [Online] 26 09 2019. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] 
https://gov.wales/partnership-agreement-prison-health-wales. 
341. Ministry of Justice; Welsh Government. Female Offending Blueprint for Wales. 2019 . 
342. Ministry of Justice . Female Offender Strategy . 2018 . 
343. Ministry of Justice; Welsh Government. Youth Justice Blueprint for Wales . 2019. 
344. Ministry of Justice; Youth Justice Board. Standards for children in the youth justice system 2019 . Cardiff : s.n., 2019. 
345. HM Prison & Probation Service. The Target Operating Model for probation services in England and Wales. [Online] 02 
2021. [Cited: 26 11 2021.] 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/959745/HMPPS_-
_The_Target_Operating_Model_for_the_Future_of_Probation_Services_in_England___Wales_-__English__-_09-02-
2021.pdf. 
346. UK Parliament . Mental health in prisons inquiry launched . [Online] 21 04 2021. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] 
https://committees.parliament.uk/committee/102/justice-committee/news/154695/mental-health-in-prison-inquiry-
launched/#:~:text=The%20Justice%20Committee%20inquiry%20seeks%20to%20understand%20the,and%20whether%20th
ere%20are%20any%20gaps%20in%20provision.. 
347. Vale of Glamorgan Council. Youth Justice Plan 2021-2023. [Online] 2021.  
348. Quality Network for Prison Mental Health Services. Review summary HMP Cardiff . [Online] 06 2021.  
349. HM Prison and Probation Service in Wales. Personal communications . [Online] 10 2021.  
350. Adult Mental Health, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board. Personal communications. [Online] 25 10 2021.  
351. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Physical health of people in prison NICE guideline [NG57]. [Online] 
02 11 2016. [Cited: 12 11 2021.] https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng57/chapter/Recommendations. 
352. Public Health Wales. Public Health Wales Response to the Health, Social Care and Sport Committee inquiry into 
provision of health and social care in the adult prison estate. Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2019. 
353. Public Health wales . Harm Reduction Database: Take Home Naloxone . Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2018. 
354. Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre, Public Health Wales . Tuberculosis in Wales Annual Report 2019 Data to 
the end of 2018 Key Points. [Online] 02 09 2019. [Cited: 13 10 2021.] 
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/888/Wales2018AnnualTBReport_KeyTrends_v1.pdf. 
355. Public Health Collaborating Unit, Bangor University and Policy and International Health Directorate, Public Health 
Wales NHS Trust. Understanding the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in a male offender population in 
Wales: the Prisoner ACE Survey. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] 
https://research.bangor.ac.uk/portal/files/23356885/PHW_Prisoner_ACE_Survey_Report_E.pdf. 
356. Madell, F. YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE BRIEFING TO CHILDEN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – DECEMBER 
2019. 2019 . 
357. Welsh Governance Centre. Imprisonment in Wales: A Factfile . Cardiff : Cardiff University, 2018. 
358. Cardiff Council . Personal communications; Prisoner Pathway . [Online] 01 2022.  
359. UK Parliament. Serious Youth Violence 6 Prevention, early intervention and youth services. [Online] 31 07 2019. 
[Cited: 28 01 2022.] https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhaff/1016/101609.htm. 

Page 2435



   

 

254 

360. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Knife Crime & Violence Reduction . Securing a brighter future: The role of youth 
services in tackling knife crime . [Online] 03 2020. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] http://www.preventknifecrime.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2020/03/Securing-a-brighter-future-the-role-of-youth-services-in-tackling-knife-crime-v.2.pdf. 
361. Early Intervention Foundation . What works to prevent gang involvement, youth violence and crime: A rapid review 
of interventions delivered in the UK and abroad. [Online] 17 11 2015. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] 
https://www.eif.org.uk/report/what-works-to-prevent-gang-involvement-youth-violence-and-crime-a-rapid-review-of-
interventions-delivered-in-the-uk-and-abroad. 
362. Cardiff Youth Service. Cardiff Youth Service . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] 
https://www.cardiffyouthservices.wales/. 
363. Vale of Glamorgan Council . Youth Service. [Online] [Cited: 31 01 2022.] 
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/youth_service/Youth-Service.aspx. 
364. Statistics for Wales, Welsh Government . Youth work in Wales, 2019-20. [Online] 10 06 2021. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2021-06/youth-work-april-2019-march-2020-957.pdf. 
365. Cardiff Youth Justice Services . Personal communications. [Online] 01 2022.  
366. Royal College of General Practitioners . Prison health is public health - RCGP launches new position statement on care 
in secure environments. [Online] 18 07 2018. [Cited: 19 11 2021.] https://www.rcgp.org.uk/about-
us/news/2018/july/prison-health-is-public-health.aspx. 
367. Ministry of Justice . Prison Population Projections 2020 to 2026, England and Wales. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 07 12 
2021.] 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/938571/Prison_Popu
lation_Projections_2020_to_2026.pdf. 
368. Welsh Parliament. Health and social care provision in the adult prison estate in wales . [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 13 10 
2021.] 
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s114322/Health%20and%20social%20care%20provision%20in%20the%20adult
%20prison%20estate%20in%20Wales%20-%2031%20March%202021.pdf. 
369. Equality, Local Government, and Communities Committee; National Assembly for Wales . "I used to be someone" 
Refugees and asylum seekers in Wales . [Online] 2017 .  
370. Tai Pawb. Refugee Housing and Support Feasibility Study. [Online] 05 2019. [Cited: 28 11 2021.] 
https://www.taipawb.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/FINAL-Tai-Pawb-Refugee-Housing-Feasibility.pdf. 
371. Welsh Government. Policy Implementation Guidance Health and wellbeing provision for refugees and asylum 
seekers. [Online] Welsh Government, 2018. [Cited: 28 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2019-
01/summary-of-responses_1.pdf. 
372. Home Office . Immigration Statistics year ending March 2021 Asylum and Resettlement - Summary Tables . [Online] 
27 05 2021. [Cited: 19 08 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-year-ending-march-
2021. 
373. Cardiff City of Sanctuary . About Cardiff . [Online] [Cited: 27 08 2021.] https://cardiff.cityofsanctuary.org/about-
cardiff. 
374. Health Services Research Team Swansea University. The Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in 
Wales Executive Summary of the HEAR Study. [Online] 03 2019. https://phwwhocc.co.uk/resources/hear-study/. 
375. Refugee Council . Information Asylum Statistics Annual Trends May 2021. [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 27 08 2021.] 
https://media.refugeecouncil.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/15071431/Asylum-Statistics-Annual-Trends-May-
2021.pdf. 
376. Home Office . Immigration Statistics year ending September 2021 Asylum and Protection - Section 95 support by Local 
Authority. [Online] 25 11 2021. [Cited: 27 01 2022.] 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1034082/section-95-
support-local-authority-datasets-sep-2021.xlsx. 
377. Welsh Refugee Council . Personal communications. [Online] 13 09 2021.  
378. Jane Hutt, Minister for Social Justice, Welsh Government. Cabinet statement: Written statement: Resettling Afghan 
citizens in Wales. [Online] 21 09 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/written-statement-resettling-afghan-citizens-
wales. 
379. Home Office. Immigration statistics year ending September 2021 Asylum and resettlement - Resettlement by Local 
Authority . [Online] 25 11 2021. [Cited: 19 01 2022.] 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1011730/resettleme
nt-local-authority-datasets-jun-2021.xlsx. 
380. Stats Wales. Unaccompanied asylum-seeking children being looked after at the 31 March by local authority. [Online] 
24 02 2021. [Cited: 19 08 2021.] https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-
Services/Children-Looked-After/unaccompaniedasylumseekingchildrenbeinglookedafteratthe31march-by-localauthority . 
381. Doctors of the World . NEW REPORT REVEALS THE EXTENT OF THE BARRIERS MIGRANTS FACE ACCESSING 
HEALTHCARE DURING THE PANDEMIC. [Online] 13 09 2021. [Cited: 26 10 2021.] 
https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/news/new-report-reveals-the-extent-of-the-barriers-migrants-face-accessing-
healthcare-during-the-pandemic/. 

Page 2436



   

 

255 

382. Welsh Refugee Council . What we do Skills for Integration. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 07 12 2021.] https://wrc.wales/skills-
for-integration/. 
383. Ask Cardiff. Ask Cardiff 2018 Findings report. [Online] 02 2019.  
384. West point Crim eand Social Research; Cardiff University. Hate Crime Advocacy and Empowerment Project 
Evaluation and Good Practice Guide. [Online]  
385. Welsh Government. A more equal Wales: The Socio-Economic Duty Equality Act 2010 Statutory Guidance. [Online] 
2021. [Cited: 25 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf. 
386. UK Parliament. Asylum seekers: the permission to work policy. [Online] 21 01 2021. [Cited: 09 11 2021.] 
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/sn01908/. 
387. West Point Crime and Social Research Consultancy; Cardiff University . With MEE in Mind The Minority Ethnic Elders 
Advocacy (MEEA) Project An Evaluation and Good Practice Guide. [Online] 2016.  
388. Welsh Government . Policy Implementation Guidance Health and wellbeing provision for refugees and asylum 
seekers. [Online] Welsh Government , 2018.  
389. Health Services Research Team Swansea University. The Health Experiences of Asylum Seekers and Refugees in 
Wales Executive Summary of the HEAR Study . [Online] 03 2019.  
390. Home Office. Consultation outcome New Plan for Immigration: policy statement . [Online] 22 07 2021. [Cited: 26 10 
2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/new-plan-for-immigration/new-plan-for-immigration-policy-
statement-accessible. 
391. Welsh Government. Taking forward the findings of the Veterans Scoping Exercise in Wales and the Strategy for our 
Veterans. [Online] 01 2020. [Cited: 18 11 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-01/taking-forward-
the-findings-of-the-veterans-scoping-exercise-in-wales-and-the-strategy-for-our-veterans.pdf. 
392. Office for Veterans Affairs. Veterans Factsheet 2020. Armed Forces Covenant. [Online] [Cited: 20 10 2021.] 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/veterans-factsheet-2020. 
393. Burdett, H, et al. "Are you a Veteran?" Understanding of the term "Veteran" among UK Ex-Service Personnel. A 
Research Note. www.kcl.ac.uk. [Online] 2012. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] 
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/veterans/burdett-2012-veterans.pdf. 
394. Ministry of Defence. Annual Population Survey: UK Armed Forces Veterans residing in Great Britain 2017. Gov.uk. 
[Online] [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/annual-population-survey-uk-armed-forces-
veterans-residing-in-great-britain-2017. 
395. Ministry of Defence. Location of armed forces pension and compensation recipients: 2021. Gov.uk. [Online] [Cited: 20 
10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/location-of-armed-forces-pension-and-compensation-recipients-
2021. 
396. Ministry of Defence and Cabinet Office. Strategy for Our Veterans. Gov.uk. [Online] 2018. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategy-for-our-veterans. 
397. Welsh Government. Taking forward the findings of the Veterans Scoping Exercise in Wales and the Strategy for our 
Veterans. Gov.Wales. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 20 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/veterans-and-armed-forces-scoping-exercise-
strategy-report. 
398. Forces in Mind Trust. 2020 Impact Report. www.fim-trust.org. [Online] 2020. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://s31949.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/FiMT-Impact-Report-2020-Electronic.pdf. 
399. Williams, A., Reed, H., Segrott, J., Barnaby, B., Rees, A. Developing a Model of the Restorative Approaches Veteran 
Family Service . [Online] 12 2021. [Cited: 13 01 2021.] https://s31949.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/Report.-Developing-a-
model-of-the-restorative-approaches-veteran-family-service_FiMT-DLEdit2-1.pdf. 
400. Veterans' NHS Wales. Veterans NHS Wales Annual Report April 2019-March 2020. www.veteranswales.co.uk. [Online] 
2020. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://www.veteranswales.co.uk/images/VNHSW_Annual_Report_2020_LORES_1.pdf. 
401. Welsh Government. Together for Mental Health: A Strategy for Mental Health and Wellbeing in Wales. Gov.Wales. 
[Online] 2016. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/together-for-mental-health-
summary.pdf. 
402. The health and wellbeing of veterans: a rapid review. al, Oster C et. 2017, BMC Psychiatry. 
403. Welsh Government. Service Framework for the treatment of people with a co-occurring mental health and 
substanced misuse problem . [Online] 09 2015. [Cited: 09 11 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/service-framework-for-the-treatment-of-people-with-a-co-
occurring-mental-health-and-substance-misuse-problem.pdf. 
404. Combat Stress. Multiple deprivation in help-seeking veterans. www.kcl.ac.uk. [Online] 2017. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/2017/Murphy2017.pdf. 
405. Mental health disorders and alcohol misuse among UK military veterans and the general population: A comparison 
study. Rhead, R., MacManus, D., Jones, M., Greenberg, N., Fear, N., & Goodwin, L. 2020, Psychological Medicine. 
406. Burdett, H et al. Military and demographic predictors of mental ill-health and socio-economic hardship among UK 
veterans. bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com. [Online] 06 07 2021. [Cited: 02 11 2021.] 
https://bmcpsychiatry.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12888-021-03296-x. 
407. Welsh Government. Armed Forces Covenant: annual report 2020. gov.wales. [Online] 22 June 2021. [Cited: 21 10 
2021.] https://gov.wales/armed-forces-covenant-annual-report-2020-html#section-73445. 

Page 2437



   

 

256 

408. Armed Forces Covenant. Armed Forces Covenant . [Online] 2021. [Cited: 18 11 2021.] 
http://www.covenantwales.wales/. 
409. Lord Ashcroft . The Veterans' Transition Review. www.veteranstransition.co.uk. [Online] 2014. [Cited: 29 10 2021.] 
http://www.veteranstransition.co.uk/vtrreport.pdf. 
410. Ministry of Defence. Population projections: UK armed forces veterans residing in Great Britain, 2016 to 2028. 
Gov.uk. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 21 10 2021.] https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/population-projections-uk-
armed-forces-veterans-residing-in-great-britain-2016-to-2028. 
411. UK Government. Wales Veterans Commissioner launched in new UK Government Veterans Strategy Action Plan. 
[Online] 24 01 2022. [Cited: 28 01 2022.] https://www.gov.uk/government/news/wales-veterans-commissioner-launched-
in-new-uk-government-veterans-strategy-action-
plan#:~:text=Minister%20for%20Defence%20People%20and,access%20the%20best%20quality%20support.. 
412. Welsh Parliament. Provision of health and social care in the adult prison estate. [Online] 19 02 2020. [Cited: 03 11 
2021.] https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=24408. 
413. UK Parliament . The state of health and care in English prisons. [Online] 01 11 2018. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] 
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmhealth/963/96303.htm. 
414. UK Government. Prison health inquiry: government response. [Online] 14 01 2019. [Cited: 07 11 2021.] 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prison-health-inquiry-government-response. 
415. Office for National Statistics. Life expectancy for local areas of the UK between 2001 to 2003 and 2018 to 2020. 
[Online] 23 09 2021. [Cited: 26 11 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies/bulletins/lifeex
pectancyforlocalareasoftheuk/between2001to2003and2018to2020. 
416. National Autism Team . Annual Report 2018/19: Case Studies . [Online] 2019. [Cited: 09 12 2021.] 
https://autismwales.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/IAS-and-ASD-Leads-Case-Studies-English.pdf. 
417. Public Policy Institute for Wales . Quantifying the Benefits of Early Intervention in Wales: A Feasibility Study . [Online] 
08 2015. [Cited: 31 01 2022.] http://ppiw.org.uk/files/2014/10/PPIW-Report-Quantifying-the-benefits-of-early-
intervention.pdf. 
418. Public Health Wales. Personal communications . [Online] 2022.  
 
 
  

Page 2438



   

 

257 

 

Page 2439



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Equality & Health Impact Assessment for 

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022  

Please read the Guidance Notes in Appendix 1 prior to commencing this Assessment 

Please note: 

 The completed Equality & Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) must be

 Included as an appendix with the cover report when the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service change is submitted for

approval

 Published on the UHB intranet and internet pages as part of the consultation (if applicable) and once agreed.

 Formal consultation must be undertaken, as required1

 Appendices 1-3 must be deleted prior to submission for approval

Please answer all questions:- 

1. For service change, provide the title of the 
Project Outline Document or Business Case 
and Reference Number  

Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022 for 
the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

2. Name of Clinical Board / Corporate Directorate 
and title of lead member of staff, including 
contact details  

Cardiff and Vale University Health Board Public Health Directorate 
Dr Emily Clark, Specialty Registrar in Public Health  
Dr Suzanne Wood, Consultant in Public Health Medicine 
Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk  

3. Objectives of strategy/ policy/ plan/ procedure/ 
service 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act requires each region to 
produce a Population Needs Assessment (PNA) every electoral cycle. The 
PNA is due for publication by 1st April 2022, and will provide input to the 
Market Stability Report and Area Plans. The Regional Partnership Board 
(RPB) encompasses Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority areas. 

1http://nww.cardiffandvale.wales.nhs.uk/portal/page?_pageid=253,73860407,253_73860411&_dad=portal&_schema=PORTAL 

Appendix 2

P
age 2441

http://nww.cardiffandvale.wales.nhs.uk/portal/page?_pageid=253,73860407,253_73860411&_dad=portal&_schema=PORTAL


 

 2 

The PNA requires local authorities and Local Health Boards to form 
partnerships to assess:  
1. The needs for care and support, and the support needs of carers in the local 
authority’s area 
2. The extent to which those needs are not being met 
3. The range and level of services required to meet those needs 
4. The range and level of services required to deliver the preventative services 
required in section 15 of the Act; and 
5. How these services will be delivered through the medium of Welsh (1) 
 
The PNA must look forward until the next iteration in April 2027.  
 
The Code of Practice specifies that a broad range of individuals, groups, and 
organisations should provide input into the development of the Population 
Needs Assessment, and consider how to reach those seldom heard, for 
example, homeless people (1). Supplementary guidance issued in March 2021 
states that careful consideration of communication needs should be given, for 
example, British Sign Language users (2). The Socio-Economic Duty was 
launched in March 2021 and should be included in the PNA.  
 
The following themes are required, by law, to be included:  
• Children and young people 
• Older people 
• Health / physical disabilities 
• Learning disability / autism 
• Mental health 
• Sensory impairment 
• Carers who need support; and 
• Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 
• Secure estate 
 
Three additional themes were chosen for inclusion as they are of particular 
relevance for the population of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan  
• Asylum seekers and refugees  

P
age 2442



 

 3 

• Substance misuse  
• Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) 
 
 
The Code of Practice states the following regarding equality impact 
assessment and Welsh language:  
 
Equality Impact Assessments 
93.  As set out in chapter 1, local authorities must have due regard the 
United Nation Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities, United 
Nation Convention on the Rights of the  Child, and the United Nation 
Principles for Older Persons in relation to an individual person who needs care 
and support and carers who need support. In addition, the Public Sector 
Equality Duty contained in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires all 
public authorities  to have due regard to protected characteristics when 
exercising their functions. 
 
Local authorities and Local Health Boards must therefore undertake an 
Equality Impact Assessment as part of the process of undertaking a population 
assessment, which must  include impact assessments on; Age, Disability, 
Gender Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and 
Maternity, Race, Religion and Beliefs, Sex and Sexual Orientation (1). 
 
Welsh Language 
121. When assessing the extent to which there are people who need care and 
support and carers who need support, local authorities and Local Health 
Boards should establish, and make clear in their population assessment 
report, the Welsh language community profile (1). 
 

4.  Evidence and background information 
considered. For example 

 population data  

 staff and service users data, as applicable 

 needs assessment 

Throughout the production of the Population Needs Assessment, 
consideration was given to inequalities and people with increased vulnerability. 
We were mindful of the “seldom heard voices” as this refers to under-
represented people who may have care and support needs. Many factors can 
contribute to being seldom heard, of which some of these factors are themes 

P
age 2443



 

 4 

 engagement and involvement findings 

 research 

 good practice guidelines 

 participant knowledge 

 list of stakeholders and how stakeholders 
have engaged in the development stages 

 comments from those involved in the 
designing and development stages 
 

Population pyramids are available from Public 
Health Wales Observatory2 and the UHB’s 
‘Shaping Our Future Wellbeing’ Strategy 
provides an overview of health need3.  
 

within the Assessment, such as disabilities, age, communication impairments, 
and mental health problems.    
 
COVID-19 is known to have had a disproportionate impact on certain groups 
within the population.  
 
A meeting was held with the CAV UHB Equalities Manager, Specialist Health 
Promotion, and Welsh Language Officer early in the process (18.06.2021).  
 
The Steering Group included representatives from Cardiff Third Sector Council 
and Glamorgan Voluntary Services, as well as strategic and data leads from 
both local authorities, and representatives from CAV UHB, Cardiff and Vale 
Regional Partnership Board, and Public Health.  
 
For each population group, a meeting was held with professional leads from 
CAV UHB and each Local Authority, with additional attendees as relevant for 
the topic. The group discussed the key documents, policies, strategies, and 
developments since the 2017 PNA. Data sources for this iteration of the PNA 
was discussed.    
 
Engagement was based on the 2017 Population Needs Assessment and 
updated for this report. The coronavirus pandemic has influenced how 
communications and engagement events can be run. Engagement conducted 
for the Population Needs Assessment needed to adhere with and anticipate 
future guidelines and legislation, as well as consider people’s individual 
wishes. Footfall in public spaces were less than prior to COVID-19. A number 
of different approaches were taken to obtain the information required to give a 
holistic overview of the care and support needs in Cardiff and the Vale of 
Glamorgan, and the range and level of services required to meet those needs. 
This included gathering existing data, assessments and reports; as well as 
conducting bespoke engagement work for this Population Needs Assessment. 
 

                                                        
2 http://nww2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf  
3 http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/the-challenges-we-face  

P
age 2444

http://nww2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/PubHObservatoryProjDocs.nsf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/the-challenges-we-face


 

 5 

Three public surveys were developed: 
• Adults in the general public (available online, hard copy, and Easy 
Read)  
• Children and young people (available online, hard copy, and Easy 
Read)  
• Adults in HMP Cardiff (available as hard copy) 
 
Cardiff Youth Board kindly piloted the children and young people’s survey and 
provided feedback which was incorporated into the final survey.  
 
A total of 661 general public surveys were returned; 3 Easy Read surveys; 35 
surveys from children and young people; and 96 from HMP Cardiff.  
 
A professionals and provider survey was developed (available online and hard 
copy). A total of 118 responses were received.  
 
Surveys were disseminated through a variety of organisations, including 
Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan 
Council, Glamorgan Voluntary Services, Cardiff Third Sector Council, as well 
as through organisations working in health and social care services, 
education, and youth services. The surveys were also advertised through 
social media. 
 
Survey responses are not representative of the population of Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan.  
 
A total of 23 focus groups were held across 18 themes. These were conducted 
by Cardiff Third Sector Council with support from Glamorgan Voluntary 
Services and third sector organisations.  
 
Focus groups were mostly virtual (12); with some hybrid (2); and 5 face to 
face. One population group ran two separate focus groups – one virtual and 
one face to face. A total of 132 participants (range 1-12) took part in the focus 
groups, which took place in October 2021.  

P
age 2445



 

 6 

 
The following focus groups were held. Numbers of participants are given in 
brackets:  

 Infants, children and young people with disabilities, their parents or 
carers (n=8) 

 Children looked after, adopted children, care experienced children, 
children on the edge of care (n=3) 

 Older people (65-84 years) (n=4) 

 Older people (85+ years) (n=3) 

 Adults with a long term condition (n=5) 

 Adults with a disability (n=8) 

 Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8)  

 Autistic adults (n=1; considered an interview rather than a focus group) 

 Adults with a mental health illness (n=4) 

 Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7)  

 Adult unpaid carers of adults (n=12)  

 Adults with sight loss (n=6)  

 Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4) 

 Women with experience of violence, domestic abuse, or sexual 
violence x2 (n=9 total) 

 Asylum seekers and refugees x2 (n=9 total)  

 Adults currently residing in HMP Cardiff (n=8)  

 Armed forces service leavers (veterans) (n=6)  

 Adults with substance misuse (n=2)  

 Adults who are currently homeless / have experience of homelessness 
(n=10) 

 
Unfortunately three planned focus groups did not take place as no participants 
could be identified in the timeframes available, or, the provider withdrew:  

 Young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or 
experiencing transition to adult services 

 Children and young people and families using neurodevelopmental 
assessment services/post-diagnostic support 

P
age 2446



 

 7 

 Gypsies and travelers 
 
The following organisations provided support with engagement work:  

 Adferiad Recovery 

 Age Cymru 

 Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health (CAVAMH)  

 Cardiff People First  

 Cardiff Third Sector Council  

 Cardiff Youth Board 

 Cerebral Palsy Cymru  

 Chinese in Wales Association  

 Community Care & Wellbeing Service (CCAWS) 

 Glamorgan Voluntary Services 

 Grandparents Raising Grandchildren 

 Huggard Centre 

 HMP Cardiff 

 Oasis Cardiff  

 Richard Newton Consultants  

 Sightlife – Sight Cymru  

 Vale of Glamorgan Council - Autistic Spectrum Disorder Project 

 Wales Neurological Alliance  

 Women’s Aid 
 
 
Quantitative data were taken from open source, publically available, validated 
sources such as Stats Wales and Social Care Wales Daffodil Population 
Projection. Other indicators were obtained directly through personal 
communications with relevant organisations (for example, Welsh Refugee 
Council, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Councils), or through a Freedom of 
Information request (for example, South Wales Police). Demography data 
were provided by Cardiff Council to ensure cohesion across the Well-being 
Assessment and Population Needs Assessment.  
 

P
age 2447



 

 8 

Engagement frameworks were considered during the development of the 
engagement plan (e.g., Citizen’s Engagement Framework; Children and Yong 
People National Participation Standards).  
 
Limitations 
COVID-19 has had a tremendous impact on the population, which the 
Population Needs Assessment will detail. It has also impacted on 
professionals working in operational and strategic roles which presented a 
challenge for the completion of this assessment. Additional challenges 
presented themselves in the form of the timeline with which the Population 
Needs Assessment was conducted; a novel approach to the Population Needs 
Assessment will be taken in future to mitigate this as detailed below.  
 
Due to uncertainty of the future evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic in terms 
of restrictions and risks at each stage of the Population Needs Assessment, a 
cautious approach was taken. For example, engagement work was planned 
for an online format, with opportunities for face to face interactions in the focus 
group where legislation allowed, and where participants and hosting 
organisations felt comfortable. The tight timeline within which engagement 
work needed to be conducted reduced participation in both surveys and focus 
groups. The Regional Partnership Board are developing their Communications 
and Engagement strategy which will address these difficulties and gaps, and 
will incorporate lessons learned. For example, some residents may not have 
digital access and may not wish to engage in in-person engagement, and so 
their views will be sought in future work as a priority. 
 
Only a minority of focus group participants (9/132) completed equalities 
monitoring forms, and therefore the results are not presented here.  
 
Feedback from focus group organisers has been shared with the Regional 
Partnership Board for consideration during planning of future engagement 
work. Feedback included:  

 The need for a longer lead in time to increase participation in focus 
groups  

P
age 2448



 

 9 

 The Social Model of Disability, rather than the Medical Model of 
Disability, should be used  

 Improved access to the Easy Read survey  

 The length of the equalities monitoring form 

 The duration of the focus groups 
 
Future engagement will learn from these experiences and endeavor to 
address these concerns, through advanced planning, and bespoke 
consideration of each population group.     
 

5.  Who will be affected by the strategy/ policy/ 
plan/ procedure/ service  
 
 
 
 

The PNA will help shape the Cardiff and Vale Area Plan and Market Stability 
Report. Although the assessment concentrates on the following population 
groups, many findings will be transferable to others not within the group. Some 
people will feel included in more than one of the themes.   
 
Themes included: children and young people (including children and young 
people with complex needs, and children looked after); older people; healthy 
lifestyles and long term conditions; physical disabilities; learning disability; 
autism; adult mental health; cognitive impairment including dementia; unpaid 
adult carers; sensory loss and impairment; violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence; secure estates; asylum seekers and refugees; 
armed forces service leavers (veterans); substance misuse.  
 
As a needs assessment, the main impact of concern is that of under-
representation of certain groups. This document will describe the 
characteristics of those who participated in engagement work. The 
findings of this assessment should therefore not be considered 
exhaustive.  
 
 
Those who are under-represented in engagement work include:  

 Those who are digitally excluded  

 People who are trans  

P
age 2449



 

 10 

 Women who are expecting a baby, who are on a break from work after 
having a baby, or who are breastfeeding 

 People who are from an ethnic minority background  

 People who consider themselves: Buddhist, Hindu, Jewish, Muslim, or 
Sikh 

 Those who were physically unable to participate in engagement and did 
not have an individual who could speak for them  

 Gypsies and travelers  
 
The Population Needs Assessment will take a hybrid approach in future 
iterations. This comprises a rolling update of quantitative data, and periodic 
refresh of qualitative data from engagement work. Therefore, this PNA report 
and Equality & Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) should be considered a first 
iteration: the beginning of an ongoing conversation between the Regional 
Partnership Board, and the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 
We welcome comments and feedback on the PNA and the EHIA, as we 
seek to learn, improve, and develop. Please send these to 
Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk  
  

 
 

6. EQIA / How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on people? 
 

Questions in this section relate to the impact on people on the basis of their 'protected characteristics'. Specific alignment with the 7 
goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is included against the relevant sections. 

 

How will the 

strategy, policy, 

plan, procedure 

and/or service 

impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or negative impacts  Recommendations 

for improvement/ 

mitigation 

 

Action 

taken by 

Clinical 

Board / 

Corporat

e 

P
age 2450



 

 11 

Directora

te.  
Make 

reference 

to where 

the 

mitigation is 

included in 

the 

document, 

as 

appropriate 

6.1 Age  

For most purposes, 
the main categories 
are:  

 under 18;  

 between 18 
and 65; and  

 over 65 
 

No negative impacts of the PNA on age were identified. However, children and young 

people were underrepresented in engagement work and so there may be additional 

views which were not captured by this assessment. The findings of the PNA should 

therefore not be considered exhaustive. Participants in the Children Looked After focus 

group were grateful for the opportunity to be listened to, suggesting that future 

engagement work with young people would be welcomed. 

 

Examples of key needs identified for children and young people include:  

 Emotional and mental health and well-being  

 Independence and having a voice  

 Role of education in learning and signposting, and it’s interruption due to COVID-

19 and restrictions   

 

Examples of key needs identified for older people (aged 65 or over) include:  

 Reducing loneliness and isolation  

 Needs arising because of changes in behaviour due to COVID-19 and restrictions 

such as less (physical) activity, deconditioning  

 Addressing financial insecurity  

 Appropriate and accessible housing  

RPB programmes are 

designed to support 

people at different 

stages of their life 

cycle: starting, living 

and ageing well. We 

want to deliver 

services that are 

tailored for people at 

different stages of life 

and our engagement 

will be designed to 

capture the 

experiences and 

opinions of people in 

each age category. 

 

Each chapter in the 

PNA has developed 

 

P
age 2451



 

 12 

 

Age is explicitly considered in the following chapters:  

 The chapter on demography (chapter 4) provides an overview of the current and 

projected age make up of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. Each chapter 

provides a summary of characteristics of the population in its introduction.  

 Children and young people (those aged up to and including 17) are specifically 

considered in chapters 5, 6 and 7. 

 Older people (those aged over 65) are discussed in chapter 8.  

 

Some conditions increase in prevalence with age; for example, sight loss. RNIB provide 

data on the number of people with sight loss by age:  

Estimated number of adults living with sight loss by age group (2021) Reference: (3) 
  

Area 
Working age people 

aged  
18-64 

Older people 
aged 65-74 

Older people 
aged 75-84 

Older people 
aged 85+ 

Total older 
people aged 65+ 

Wales 20,100 23,400 32,100 34,800 90,300 

Cardiff 2,090 1,860 2,440 3,010 7,310 

The Vale of Glamorgan 870 1,020 1,410 1,440 3,870 

 

Through articulating the needs of specific age groups within the PNA, services can better 

meet them. This is a positive impact.  

 

Engagement findings 

 

Respondents of the general public survey had the following age profile:  

recommendations 

based on the key 

needs. Future plans 

and assessments 

should consider the 

findings of the PNA in 

their development.  

P
age 2452



 

 13 

 
Older people are more likely to be digitally excluded and therefore their full range of 

views may not have been captured by this survey. Digital exclusion has been identified in 

many chapters in the PNA, in particular, chapter 8 (older people) (see section 8.2.1 in the 

PNA report).  

 

26 of the 35 respondents of the children and young people survey provided their age; the 

breakdown is as follows: 42% were aged 12-15, 35% were aged 16-18, and 23% were 

aged 0-11. This is a small, self-selecting sample, and so their views cannot be 

extrapolated to the whole population of people aged under 18.  

 

Two focus groups which were planned did not take place, therefore the in-depth views of 

young people & young adults who require care and support due to, or experiencing 

transition to adult services, as well as children and young people and families utilising 

neurodevelopmental assessment services/post-diagnostic support were not captured by 

this PNA.  

 

6.2 Persons with a 

disability as defined 

No negative impacts of the PNA on people with a disability were identified. However, 

feedback from engagement identified that the Social Model of Disability should have 

The RPB has 

identified disability as 

a key focus in our 

 

P
age 2453



 

 14 

in the Equality Act 

2010 

Those with physical 
impairments, learning 
disability, sensory 
loss or impairment, 
mental health 
conditions, long-term 
medical conditions 
such as diabetes 
 

been used instead of the Medical Model of Disability when questions were framed and 

structured. This feedback will be considered during future citizen engagement.  

 

Disability is explicitly considered in the following chapters:  

 People with long term conditions are considered within the chapter “Healthy 

Lifestyles and Long Term Conditions” (chapter 9)   

 Disabled people are included within chapter 10, “Physical Disability” 

 People with a learning disability are considered in chapter 11; autistic people are 

included in chapter 12.  

 Adult mental health is discussed in chapter 13. 

 Cognitive impairment including dementia is discussed in chapter 14.  

 People with sensory loss and impairment are discussed in chapter 16.  

 People who have experienced substance misuse are discussed in chapter 18.  

 Many people in one chapter were also included in another; for example, people 

with learning disability are more likely to have or develop sight loss than the 

general population:  

Learning disability and visual impairment in adults (2021)  

Adults with learning disabilities are 10 times more likely to experience sight loss 
than the general population. 

Area 

Estimated number 
of adults with a 

learning disability 
and visual 

impairment (partial 
sight) 

Estimated number of 
adults with a learning 

disability and 
blindness 

Estimated number of 
adults with a 

learning disability 
and blindness or 

partial sight 

Wales 3,970 1,120 5,090 

Cardiff 420 120 540 

phase 1 engagement 

as we recognise 

people with disabilities 

will be particularly 

impacted if we 

redesign health and 

social care services. 

The RPB hopes that 

by bringing services 

closer to home and 

making them easier to 

navigate people with 

disabilities will find 

they have improved. 

 

The RPB’s Living Well 

Programme has 

established excellent 

links with people who 

have a learning 

disability and they 

have had a great deal 

of input into 

developments in this 

area e.g. Smart 

House design. This 

will continue as our 

work progresses. 

 

P
age 2454



 

 15 

The Vale of 
Glamorgan 

170 45 215 

Reference: (3) 

 

Through articulating the needs identified in these population groups, services can 

consider how they can best meet these needs: a positive impact.  

 

Examples of key needs identified by people with a long term condition or a physical 

disability include:  

 Countering the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on disabled people (direct 

harm from COVID-19 as well as difficulty accessing health services; mental health 

and well-being impacts of COVID-19 and restrictions) 

 Service access for people with mental health disorders and homelessness 

 

Examples of key needs identified by people with learning disability or autism include:  

 Independence, supported autonomy, and co-production 

 Accessible transport options 

 

Examples of key needs identified by people with a mental health condition or cognitive 

impairment including dementia include: 

 Timely access to services and treating physical and mental health conditions 

holistically 

 Caring for unpaid carers 

 

Examples of key needs identified by people with sensory loss or impairment include: 

 Availability of suitable communication mechanisms to access services equitably 

(for example, hearing loop availability and BSL interpreters)  

 Education and employment opportunities  

 

The Social Model of 

Disability will be used, 

in accordance with 

feedback received.  

 

Each chapter in the 

PNA has developed 

recommendations 

based on the key 

needs identified. 

Future plans and 

assessments should 

consider the findings 

of the PNA in their 

development. 

P
age 2455



 

 16 

Examples of key needs identified by people with substance misuse include:  

 Specialist medical care including mental health 

 Prevention and management of homelessness 

 

Engagement findings 

General survey respondents stated they considered themselves in the following groups. 

Two thirds (66.7%) of respondents indicated they had a long‐term health condition; this 

was followed by one in four that considered themselves to have a mental health condition 

and/or to be an unpaid carer (25.2% and 24.9% respectively). 

 

 

P
age 2456



 

 17 

Three Easy Read surveys were returned. In view of small numbers, no further 

disaggregation is provided.  

 

A number of focus groups were held to identify the views of people with disabilities:  

 Adults with a long term condition (n=5) 

 Adults with a disability (n=8) 

 Adults with learning disability x3 (n=7; n=5; n=8)  

 Autistic adults (n=1; considered an interview rather than a focus group) 

 Adults with a mental health illness (n=4) 

 Adults with cognitive impairment/dementia (n=7)   

 Adults with sight loss (n=6)  

 Adults from the D/deaf community (n=4) 

 Adults with substance misuse (n=2)  

 

Some focus groups were very small, and so views garnered cannot be said to be 

representative; however, they provide depth of insight of people’s lived experiences.  

 

6.3 People of 

different genders:  

Consider men, 
women, people 
undergoing gender 
reassignment 
 
NB Gender-
reassignment is 
anyone who 
proposes to, starts, is 
going through or who 
has completed a 
process to change 

No negative impact of the PNA on people of different genders was identified. There may 

be some positive impact as gender is considered in some of the chapters, and the PNA 

report articulates the needs of people of different genders. Trans people may be 

underrepresented, with fewer than 3 respondents identifying as trans in the public survey. 

Gender including gender reassignment was not an explicit theme within the PNA, 

however, gender was considered within the Secure Estate and Violence Against Women, 

Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) chapters.  

 

Inequalities in the management of prisoners was identified in the Secure Estate chapter 

(chapter 19) as HMP Cardiff only accepts men. No female prisoners are resident in HMP 

Cardiff; they are instead imprisoned in England, most often HMP Eastwood Park.  

Increasing distance between an individual’s residence prior to prison, and the location of 

Men and women may 

experience different 

barriers when 

accessing social care 

and it is important that 

their needs are met 

when redesigning 

services. 

 

People who have had 

gender reassignment 

will need to use our 

 

P
age 2457



 

 18 

his or her gender with 
or without going 
through any medical 
procedures. 
Sometimes referred 
to as Trans or 
Transgender   
 

their prison is known to be associated with decreased professional visits, therefore 

putting women at a disadvantage (4). It is recognised that there have been challenges 

with TB management for Welsh individuals imprisoned in England in terms of timeliness 

of care, with some reports that treatment is delayed until transfer to Wales (5). This will 

disproportionately disadvantage women.  

 

The Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse, and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) 

chapter (chapter 17) is predominantly focussed on women, however, men can be victims 

of domestic abuse and sexual violence also. This is discussed in the chapter.  

 

Examples of needs identified in the VAWDASV chapter include:  

 Gynaecological and maternity services  

 

Engagement findings 

 

General public survey respondents reported their gender as follows:  59% female, 38% 

male, and 3% non-binary / other / prefer not to say. In response to the question, “Are you 

trans”, most responded “no” (487/510; 95.5%), with 23 respondents stating they prefer to 

self-describe, they prefer not to say, or they were Trans (fewer than three).   

 

Adults responding to the Easy Read survey were all female, and did not consider 

themselves trans.  

 

Children and young people reported their gender as follows: 58% female, 35% male. 

Most (88%) did not describe themselves as trans, with others preferring to self-describe 

or preferring not to say.  

 

  

services and we will 

need to understand 

how to make them 

welcoming and 

inclusive. 

 

Each chapter in the 

PNA has developed 

recommendations 

based on the key 

needs identified. 

Future plans and 

assessments should 

consider the findings 

of the PNA in their 

development. 

P
age 2458



 

 19 

6.4 People who are 

married or who 

have a civil partner. 

 

 

No impacts identified of the PNA on marriage or civil partnership. This protected 

characteristic was not considered an explicit theme within the PNA.  

 

Engagement findings 

 

Survey respondents to the public survey were predominantly married (55%), with 19% 

responding they were single.  

 No. % 

Single 96 18.5 

In a same-sex Civil Partnership 4 0.8 

Married 283 54.6 

Living together/Co-habiting 40 7.7 

Separated/divorced or legally separated if formerly in a same-sex 
Civil Partnership 36 6.9 

Widowed 52 10.0 

Other 7 1.4 

Total 518 100.0 
 

 

Three Easy Read surveys were returned. In view of small numbers, no further 

disaggregation is provided. 

People who are 

married or who have a 

civil partnership may 

need to access our 

services and the RPB 

will have to 

understand how to 

make them welcoming 

and inclusive. Future 

plans and 

assessments using 

the PNA should 

consider the findings 

of the PNA in their 

development. 

 

6.5 Women who are 
expecting a baby, 
who are on a break 
from work after 
having a baby, or 
who are 
breastfeeding.  They 
are protected for 26 
weeks after having a 
baby whether or not 

No impacts identified of the PNA on women who are expecting a baby, who are on a 

break from work after having a baby, or who are breastfeeding. These protected 

characteristics were not an explicit theme in the PNA.  They are underrepresented in our 

engagement work.  

 

 

Engagement findings 

People who are 

pregnant or have just 

had a baby may need 

to access our services 

and the RPB will have 

to understand how to 

make them welcoming 

and inclusive. Future 

 

P
age 2459



 

 20 

they are on maternity 
leave. 
 

A minority of survey respondents to the public survey responded that they were expecting 

a baby (3/57 who responded to the question); three were on a break from work after 

having a baby or currently breastfeeding. 

plans and 

assessments using 

the PNA should 

consider the findings 

of the PNA in their 

development. 

6.6 People of a 
different race, 
nationality, colour, 
culture or ethnic 
origin including 
non-English 
speakers, 
gypsies/travellers, 
migrant workers 
 

No negative impact identified of the PNA on people of a different race, nationality, colour, 

culture or ethnic origin including non-English speakers, gypsies/travellers, migrant 

workers. This protected characteristic was not an explicit theme within the PNA.  

 

Unfortunately the planned focus group with gypsies and travellers could not take place. 

Future work should seek to identify the view of these communities. People who are of a 

different ethnicity are underrepresented in the engagement work for the PNA.  

 

The PNA includes a chapter on Asylum Seekers and Refugees (Chapter 20), which 

details the needs and services required for this population group.  

By articulating the needs of asylum seekers and refugees, their needs for care and 

support can be better designed.  

 

Examples of key needs of asylum seekers and refugees identified by the PNA include:  

 Variation in medical needs based on the person’s background  

 Mental health and support for long term conditions  

 Understanding the NHS system including access to services  

Data gaps identified included the numbers and needs of undocumented migrants.  

 

Welsh Government have recently published a report on the association of ethnicity with 

impact of COVID-19 (6).  

 

Wales Governance Centre in their report identified that people from a Black, Asian, or 

Mixed Ethnic group experienced higher custody rates, compared to White defendants. 

The RPB understands 

that people may 

experience barriers to 

accessing health and 

social care because of 

their race. The RPB 

has allocated funding 

to explore this specific 

area in phase 1 of our 

engagement plan. 

 

The PNA 

recommends all 

agencies working with 

asylum seekers, 

refugees, and 

undocumented 

migrants to improve 

data collection in 

order to address data 

gaps.  

 

P
age 2460



 

 21 

Additionally, custodial sentence length was longer for Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic 

groups (4).  

 

The 2011 Census identified that around one-sixth (15.3%) of Cardiff’s population belongs 

to a non-white ethnic group, which is higher than the proportion across Wales of 4.4%. In 

the Vale of Glamorgan, 3.6% of the population belongs to a non-white ethnic group (7). 

 

 

Source: 2011 Census (7) 

 

The Annual Population Survey identified an increase from 10.4% in 2004 to 20.1% in 

2020 of people in Cardiff who are Black, Asian, or from a minority ethnic group. The Vale 

of Glamorgan has seen only a small increase in people who are Black, Asian, or from a 

minority ethnic group over the same time period (8). 

 

P
age 2461



 

 22 

 
Source: Annual Population Survey (8) 

 

Nationally, children from Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic groups are overrepresented 

amongst Children Looked After (CLA): 8.6%, despite making up 6.6% of the population 

(9). The majority of children looked after in 2020 were of white ethnicity (715/955 in 

Cardiff; 215/260 in Vale of Glamorgan). In Cardiff, 55 CLA are Black, African, Caribbean 

or Black British; 65 Asian or Asian British; 90 from mixed ethnic groups. In the Vale of 

Glamorgan, 40 were from other ethnic groups; and small numbers were suppressed for 

other responses (10).  

 

Engagement findings 

General public survey respondents were mostly White: 92.5%; n=482 of 521 who 

responded to the question. Fourteen were Asian (2.7%); 9 people identified as Mixed / 

Multiple Ethnic groups (1.7%). Adults responding to the Easy Read survey all reported 

their ethnicity as White (n=3). 

 

P
age 2462



 

 23 

 

6.7 People with a 
religion or belief or 
with no religion or 
belief.    
The term ‘religion’ 
includes a religious or 
philosophical belief 
 

No negative impact identified of the PNA on people with a religion or belied, or no religion 

or belief. This protected characteristic was not an explicit theme within the PNA.  

  

Across many of the chapters of the PNA, religion and church were frequently identified as 

a community asset to support well-being.  

 

One respondent to the survey in HMP Cardiff stated: "I would like a gypsy meal at least 

once a month, you're allowed Ramadan so why not food from my culture." 

 

Increased awareness of the role of religion – or lack of religion – on well-being may have 

a positive impact. The views of people who practice Buddhism, Hinduism, Judaism, 

Islam, or Sikhism may be underrepresented. The 2011 Census states 57.6% of the 

population of Wales is Christian, with 32.1% of people having no religion (2001 data: 

71.9% and 18.5% respectively) (11). Updated Census data is awaited in 2022.  

 

Engagement findings 

 

Respondents to the general public survey regarded themselves as belonging to the 

following religion: 54% no religion, 41% Christian, 1% Buddhist.  

 

Adults responding to the Easy Read survey all stated their religion as Christian (n=3).  

The RPB understands 

that people may 

experience barriers to 

accessing health and 

social care because of 

their religion. The 

RPB plans to explore 

this in more detail 

before deciding the 

best way to collect 

people’s views. 

 

The PNA 

recommends in many 

chapters that a culture 

of person-centred 

services, with 

increased voice for 

the person, is 

developed, or 

continued in order to 

ensure services are 

welcoming to people 

of all beliefs and 

cultures.  

 

 

 

P
age 2463



 

 24 

6.8 People who are 
attracted to other 
people of: 

 the opposite sex 
(heterosexual); 

 the same sex 
(lesbian or gay); 

 both sexes 
(bisexual) 

 

No negative impacts identified of the PNA on people who are heterosexual, lesbian, gay, 

or bisexual. The PNA identified that some services need to develop accessibility to 

Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Queer individuals, for example, in the 

VAWDASV chapter (chapter 11), and Older People (chapter 16), where a gap in 

knowledge was identified. This may have a positive impact as their needs can be 

proactively sought and articulated for future consideration.  

 

Engagement findings 

Respondents to the general survey described their sexual orientation as follows:  

 
The Office for National Statistics report that 2.7% of the population in the UK identified as 

lesbian, gay, or bisexual in 2019 (12).  

 

Adults responding to the Easy Read survey all identified as heterosexual (n=3). 

The RPB understands 

that people may 

experience barriers to 

accessing health and 

social care because of 

their sexual 

orientation; and plans 

to undertake specific 

engagement with 

people who are 

LGBTQ+ in phase 2. 

 

6.9 People who 
communicate using 
the Welsh language 
in terms of 
correspondence, 
information leaflets, 
or service plans and 
design  
 

No negative impacts identified of the PNA on people who communicate using the Welsh 

language. PNA surveys were available in Welsh and English. Focus groups were held 

using the participants’ desired communication method, for example, the D/deaf 

community conducted their focus group in British Sign Language.   

 

The Population Needs Assessment report, the online summary of the PNA, and this 

Equality and Health Impact Assessment will all be available in English and Welsh.  

 

RPB engagement 

resources will be 

available bilingually. 

The RPB will ask 

people’s language 

preferences on 

registration to any 

events to ensure our 

 

P
age 2464



 

 25 

Well-being Goal – A 
Wales of vibrant 
culture and thriving 
Welsh language  
 

An assessment of Welsh language / English as a second language and other 

communication needs is provided within each chapter of the PNA, and many data gaps 

are identified across the chapters of the PNA. By highlighting key needs and data gaps, 

future work can seek to address these so that services can be better developed to meet 

the language and communication needs of the population. This will be a positive impact.  

 

The National Survey for Wales reports that 11% of respondents in Cardiff and Vale were 

given the choice to receive treatment in Welsh or English (range 11-24% across Wales). 

Amongst Welsh speakers across Wales, 24% chose to receive treatment in Welsh (113). 

Social Care Wales report that only 2% of domiciliary care workers are fluent in Welsh, 

15% have some Welsh in the Vale of Glamorgan, for Cardiff the figures are 3% and 27% 

(114). 

 

Chapter 16 discusses sensory loss and impairment. A prominent component of the 

chapter is around communication appropriate to the individual; including normalising use 

of British Sign Language and hearing loops. 

 

The 2011 Census identified that most (98.4%) of residents in the Vale of Glamorgan have 

English or Welsh as their main language. This is higher than the Wales average (97.1%). 

Cardiff has the lowest proportion of people speaking English or Welsh as their first 

language at 91.7%. 

 

Engagement Findings 

Respondents to the general public survey mostly spoke English at home (97.1%) with 

2.2% speaking Welsh, and 1.5% speaking another language.  

 

The survey for the general public asked whether respondents have received care and 

support in the language or communication format of their choice. Responses were as 

engagement plans are 

fully inclusive to 

Welsh speakers. 

 

Future plans and 

assessments should 

consider the PNA 

findings in their 

development.  

P
age 2465



 

 26 

follows: 

 
When considered by theme, adult unpaid carers were most satisfied with services being 

provided in a format of their choice (81.7%) compared to other groups. 

 
 

 

P
age 2466



 

 27 

Around one in seven (13.4%) speak a second language at home. 

 

Regarding whether respondents would like to see any improvements in language and 

communication provision: of the 152 respondents that left feedback to this question, three 

fifths (59.2%) were either happy with the service or indicated that the service didn’t apply 

to them. 7.9% would like to see better bilingual services, whilst a further 7.2% would like 

to more plain language / less jargon. 

 

Free text comments in the general public survey stated the following regarding Welsh 

language:  

 “I get everything bilingually/am happy with that, I've more serious things on my 

mind.” 

 “More Welsh signage and options when seeking phone advice.” 

 “Less forced usage of the Welsh Language.” 

 “Focus on 1 language. Resources are too stretched to accommodate all 

languages” 

 

One respondent wanted increased access to interpreters (although it was not clear which 

language was desired)  

 More interpreters for young people in care (and their families). 

 

A number of comments were made regarding the use of language, and finding the 

balance between simple and clear communication, whilst not patronising the patient.  

 “I’d like my husband’s oncologist to learn how to be open and explain things. We 

are not stupid!” 

 “More support/understanding of non‐verbal communication” 

 “We should all speak our own language” 

 “More simple, easy to read, jargon free communication.” 

 

P
age 2467



 

 28 

All three respondents to the Easy Read survey spoke English most at home, and 

reported that they received care and support in the language of their choice. 

Respondents wanted service providers to “speak calmly”, “speak plainly, no jargon”,  

 

Most children and young people spoke English at home (84.6%; 22/27), with fewer than 3 
responses for speaking English using Augmented and Alternative Communication (AAC); 
Welsh, Gujurati, and Romanian.  
 

6.10 People 
according to their 
income related 
group:  
Consider people on 
low income, 
economically 
inactive, 
unemployed/workless
, people who are 
unable to work due to 
ill-health 
 

No negative impacts identified of the PNA on people according to their income related 

group. The Socio-economic duty, inequalities and deprivation are discussed with each 

population group in the PNA, and so by articulating key issues and data gaps, it is hoped 

that the PNA will have a positive impact as service leads, commissioners, and others can 

consider how their services can reduce the identified inequalities. People who are 

digitally isolated are likely to be under-represented in engagement work, due to a focus 

on online distribution and communication methods relating to COVID-19. Therefore, their 

views may not have been comprehensively captured in the PNA.   

 

A focus group discussion with people who are homeless was conducted. Key needs 

identified included the following:  

 The need for an address in order to gain employment  

 Tension between accommodation rules (for example, needing to vacate by 9am) 

and shift work  

 

Children and young people 

An evidence review of the human rights of children in Wales identified differential 

outcomes in health risk factors and outcomes, education, and wellbeing depending on 

socio-economic background (13). Children aged 4-5 years in the most deprived decile 

were 76% more likely to be obese than those in the least deprived decile. Low birth 

weight and educational deprivation were also associated with income deprivation (14).  

The Socio-Economic 

Duty was 

implemented in March 

2021, and requires 

public bodies “to have 

due regard to the 

need to reduce the 

inequalities of 

outcome resulting 

from socio-economic 

disadvantage” (17).  

 

The Socio-Economic 

Duty will therefore be 

incorporated into the 

work of the Regional 

Partnership Board, as 

well as by plans and 

assessments utilising 

the PNA findings.  

 

P
age 2468



 

 29 

The most recent Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation report uses 2016/17 data, and finds 

that 28% of children aged 0-4 lived in income deprivation (range 17%-30%). This is the 

highest proportion by age group. Cardiff has the highest number of 0-4 year olds living in 

income deprivation (6,600 children) but sits just above the Welsh average at 29%; the 

Vale of Glamorgan has nearly 2,000 children in income deprivation (23%). Cardiff has 

both the most and least deprived middle super output areas in Wales, with income 

deprivation rates between 3% in Rhiwbina and Pantmawr, to 67% in Ely East. In both 

local authorities, this represents a decrease from 2012/13: Cardiff had 33% and Vale of 

Glamorgan 27% of 0-4 year olds living in income deprivation (14).  

Further details can be found in Chapter 5, 6, and 7 which focus on Children and young 

people  

 

Adults 

A summary of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is given in the demography chapter 
(Chapter 4). The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 suggests that there 
are areas of established inequalities across the Cardiff and Vale region; with areas in the 
‘Southern Arc’ in Cardiff and areas in the East of Barry ranked as more deprived against 
WIMD. In Cardiff, 39 LSOAs are included in top 10% most deprived in Wales, while 3 
LSOAs in the Vale of Glamorgan are ranked in the top 10% most deprived area in Wales. 
In Cardiff, around one-fifth of residents live in the most deprived 10% of lower super 
output areas (LSOAs) in Wales. Approximately 50% of Cardiff's population live in the 
50% least deprived LSOAs, while for the Vale of Glamorgan, 65% live in the 50% least 
deprived areas (15).  
 

P
age 2469



 

 30 

 
 

Respondents to engagement work, and existing reports and documents have described 

the desire for many people to have high quality, secure employment. Benefits include 

financial security, as well as the sense of purpose, and protective effects on mental 

health and well-being that employment brings. Examples of these findings can be found 

across the PNA, but is featured particularly prominently in the following chapters: healthy 

lifestyles and long term conditions (chapter 9), physical disability (chapter 10); learning 

disability (chapter 11), autism (chapter 12); sensory loss (chapter 16); secure estate 

(chapter 19); asylum seekers and refugees (chapter 20). 

  

P
age 2470



 

 31 

Welsh Government have published a report on COVID-19 and employment, an analysis 

of protected characteristics (16). 

 

Engagement findings 

Respondents to the children and young people’s survey were mostly in school. A minority 

(2.9%) were unemployed and not in training, education, or employment.  

 
Twenty-six respondents of the survey answered questions relating to the Family 

Affluence Scale. Questions include whether the individual has their own bedroom; the 

number of computers/smart phones in the home; and the presence of a dishwasher. The 

Scale identified 7/26 respondents as low affluence, 14 as middle, and 5 as high 

affluence. 

 

It was beyond the scope of the general public survey to formally assess 

deprivation/affluence, and so questions were chosen to provide an informal measure.  

 

P
age 2471



 

 32 

A total of 482 of 661 participants stated they had a small amount of money to spend each 

week on themselves; 517 were able to keep up with bills and regular debt repayments; 

461 were able to afford to keep their house in a decent state of repair; and 478 were able 

to keep their house warm in winter. Overall, 367 respondents (56%) reported being able 

to afford all four of these.  

 

6.11 People 
according to where 
they live: Consider 
people living in areas 
known to exhibit poor 
economic and/or 
health indicators, 
people unable to 
access services and 
facilities 
 

No negative impacts identified of the PNA on where people live. Inequalities and 

deprivation are discussed with each population group in the PNA, and so by articulating 

key issues, it is hoped that the PNA will have a positive impact as service leads, 

commissioners, and others can consider how their services can reduce the identified 

inequalities. Some people including professional leads identified the move to online / 

telephone service provision as helpful for people living in more rural locations, as it made 

accessing services easier (see, for example, chapter 8: adult mental health and cognitive 

impairment). It should be noted, that many respondents observed difficulties with 

accessing services online/via the telephone – for example, those with sensory loss or 

impairment (chapter 16).  

 

Engagement findings 

 

Responses from the Children and Young Person’s survey identified that 17/23 who 

answered the question lived in Cardiff, with 6 from the Vale of Glamorgan.  

 

Responses for the general public survey were mostly from Cardiff: of postcode data 

available, 402 were from Cardiff and 105 from the Vale of Glamorgan.  

The RPB plans to 

redesign services to 

bring them closer to 

home. They will be 

seamless and be able 

to share information. 

These developments 

should all help people 

navigate the system 

more easily and save 

time travelling and 

repeating information. 

 

P
age 2472



 

 33 

 
 

Two respondents for the Easy Read public survey answered regarding housing: due to 

small numbers, no disaggregated results are reported. Respondents reported having a 

small amount of money to spend on themselves each week, able to pay their bills and 

debts on time, and able to keep their house warm.  

 

 

6.12 Consider any 
other groups and 
risk factors relevant 

No negative impacts identified of the PNA on other groups.  
 

 

Unfortunately some 

planned focus groups 

did not take place. We 

 

P
age 2473



 

 34 

to this strategy, 
policy, plan, 
procedure and/or 
service 
 

The PNA explicitly and proactively sought the views of people who identified as being in 

one of the following themes:  

 Children and young people (including children and young people with complex 

needs, and children looked after)  

 Older people 

 Healthy lifestyles and long term conditions  

 Physical disabilities 

 Learning disability  

 Autism 

 Mental health 

 Cognitive impairment including dementia  

 Sensory impairment 

 Unpaid carers who need support 

 Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence 

 Secure estate 

 Asylum seekers and refugees  

 Substance misuse  

 Armed Forces Service Leavers (Veterans) 

 Adults who are currently homeless / have experience of homelessness 

 

It is recognised that the findings are not comprehensive or exhaustive, but instead form 

the basis of an ongoing conversation between the Regional Partnership Board, and the 

residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.  

were unable to gain 

an understanding of 

Gypsies and 

Travellers’ views, for 

example. Further work 

should consider these 

gaps in our 

understanding of care 

and support needs of 

marginalised 

communities and seek 

to address them.  

 

We welcome 

comments and 

feedback on the PNA 

and the EHIA, as we 

seek to improve. 

Please send these to 

Hsc.Integration@wale

s.nhs.uk 

 
  

P
age 2474



 

 35 

7. HIA / How will the strategy, policy, plan, procedure and/or service impact on the health and well-being of our population 
and help address inequalities in health? 

 
Questions in this section relate to the impact on the overall health of individual people and on the impact on our population. Specific 
alignment with the 7 goals of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is included against the relevant sections. 

 

How will the strategy, policy, 
plan, procedure and/or 
service impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or 
negative impacts and any 
particular groups affected 

Recommendations for 
improvement/ mitigation 

Action taken by Clinical Board / 
Corporate Directorate 
Make reference to where the 
mitigation is included in the 
document, as appropriate 

7.1 People being able to 
access the service offered:  
Consider access for those living 
in areas of deprivation and/or 
those experiencing health 
inequalities 
 
Well-being Goal - A more equal 
Wales 
 

Two versions of the PNA report 
will be published: 
1. a summary of the PNA report, 
available online (expected 
audience: the general public)  
2. the full formal PNA report 
(expected audience: 
professionals) 
The full report will be available 
for download from the online 
summary, for those who would 
like more detailed information.  
 
This approach aims to increase 
access to the information in the 
PNA for all, with the appropriate 
level of detail.  
 
Those who do not have internet 
access may not be able to 
access the online version of the 
PNA report or the summary.   
 

Communications regarding 
the publication of the PNA will 
be disseminated widely 
including through health and 
social care organisations and 
third sector organisations so 
that they can inform their 
service users.  
 
A summary of the PNA report 
will be available as an online, 
lay-friendly format, with an 
option to download the full 
report for people who would 
like increased detail. Hard 
copies of both versions (for 
general public and 
professionals) will be 
available on request.   
 
Formatting (both the public 
and professionals version) 

 

P
age 2475



 

 36 

How will the strategy, policy, 
plan, procedure and/or 
service impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or 
negative impacts and any 
particular groups affected 

Recommendations for 
improvement/ mitigation 

Action taken by Clinical Board / 
Corporate Directorate 
Make reference to where the 
mitigation is included in the 
document, as appropriate 

Accessibility for those with 
sensory loss or impairment has 
been considered during the 
formatting of the document. 
Font, text size, and layout has 
been decided upon in line with 
guidance on accessibility.  
 
 
 
 

will be accessible for screen-
readers.  
 
 

7.2 People being able to 
improve /maintain healthy 
lifestyles:  
Consider the impact on healthy 
lifestyles, including healthy 
eating, being active, no smoking 
/smoking cessation, reducing 
the harm caused by alcohol and 
/or non-prescribed drugs plus 
access to services that support 
disease prevention (e.g. 
immunisation and vaccination, 
falls prevention). Also consider 
impact on access to supportive 
services including smoking 
cessation services, weight 
management services etc. 
 

The PNA has identified care and 
support needs and the range 
and level of services including 
prevention for each population 
group named within the PNA 
Code of Practice, and additional 
population groups as they are of 
particular importance to Cardiff 
and the Vale of Glamorgan.  

These PNA findings will form 
the basis for further research 
and planning to further 
develop and improve 
services, and contribute to 
people being able to improve 
or maintain healthy lifestyles. 

 

P
age 2476



 

 37 

How will the strategy, policy, 
plan, procedure and/or 
service impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or 
negative impacts and any 
particular groups affected 

Recommendations for 
improvement/ mitigation 

Action taken by Clinical Board / 
Corporate Directorate 
Make reference to where the 
mitigation is included in the 
document, as appropriate 

Well-being Goal – A healthier 
Wales 
 

7.3 People in terms of their 
income and employment 
status:  
Consider the impact on the 
availability and accessibility of 
work, paid/ unpaid employment, 
wage levels, job security, 
working conditions 
 
Well-being Goal – A prosperous 
Wales 
 

Deprivation, inequalities, and 
the Socio-Economic Duty has 
been considered for all 
population groups in the PNA. 
Data gaps have been identified.  
 
Respondents in engagement 
work identified their desire to 
find high quality, secure 
employment, and 
recommendations are made for 
more inclusive recruitment.  

Recommendations in each 
chapter include addressing 
data gaps, and supporting 
inclusive recruitment and 
reasonable adjustments to 
promote employment.  
 
The Socio-Economic Duty 

was implemented in March 

2021, and requires public 

bodies “to have due regard to 

the need to reduce the 

inequalities of outcome 

resulting from socio-economic 

disadvantage” (17). The 

Socio-Economic Duty will 

therefore be incorporated into 

the work of the Regional 

Partnership Board, as well as 

by plans and assessments 

utilising the PNA findings. 

 

7.4 People in terms of their 
use of the physical 
environment:  

Access to services was 
identified by the PNA as a key 
need by many of the population 

The PNA will be one source 
of information contributing to 
future plans, for example, the 

 

P
age 2477



 

 38 

How will the strategy, policy, 
plan, procedure and/or 
service impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or 
negative impacts and any 
particular groups affected 

Recommendations for 
improvement/ mitigation 

Action taken by Clinical Board / 
Corporate Directorate 
Make reference to where the 
mitigation is included in the 
document, as appropriate 

Consider the impact on the 
availability and accessibility of 
transport, healthy food, leisure 
activities, green spaces; of the 
design of the built environment 
on the physical and mental 
health of patients, staff and 
visitors; on air quality, exposure 
to pollutants; safety of 
neighbourhoods, exposure to 
crime; road safety and 
preventing injuries/accidents; 
quality and safety of play areas 
and open spaces 
 
Well-being Goal – A resilient 
Wales 
 

groups. The PNA recommends 
improved access to services, 
which will require an 
understanding of the barriers 
facing each group. Some of this 
detail is provided within each 
chapter.   

Cardiff and Vale Area Plan, or 
local commissioning 
decisions. In this way, 
relevant information from the 
PNA can be built upon. Some 
recommendations are 
relatively specific in terms of 
how information from the 
PNA can be used; however, 
the recommendations are not 
exhaustive.  

7.5 People in terms of social 
and community influences on 
their health:  
Consider the impact on family 
organisation and roles; social 
support and social networks; 
neighbourliness and sense of 
belonging; social isolation; peer 
pressure; community identity; 
cultural and spiritual ethos 
 

For each population group, the 
PNA has identified assets at an 
individual, community and 
population level which make a 
positive benefit to people’s well-
being.  

Future plans including the 
Cardiff and Vale Area Plan 
and commissioning decisions 
can build upon the 
information contained in the 
PNA. For example, through 
promoting assets, reducing 
barriers, and addressing 
service gaps identified within 
the PNA in order to work 

 

P
age 2478



 

 39 

How will the strategy, policy, 
plan, procedure and/or 
service impact on:- 

Potential positive and/or 
negative impacts and any 
particular groups affected 

Recommendations for 
improvement/ mitigation 

Action taken by Clinical Board / 
Corporate Directorate 
Make reference to where the 
mitigation is included in the 
document, as appropriate 

Well-being Goal – A Wales of 
cohesive communities 
 
 
 
 

towards a Wales of cohesive 
communities.  

7.6 People in terms of macro-
economic, environmental and 
sustainability factors: 
Consider the impact of 
government policies; gross 
domestic product; economic 
development; biological 
diversity; climate 
 
Well-being Goal – A globally 
responsible Wales 

The PNA has identified key 
overarching factors such as the 
“triple challenge” of Brexit, 
climate change, and COVID-19.  
 
Each chapter in the PNA 
contains a section on 
overarching national 
considerations (for example, 
new legislation, or guidance). 
However, international context 
has not routinely been included 
within the PNA.  

The PNA recommends that 
policy makers should use the 
Triple Challenge lens to 
inform policies and strategies 
around issues impacted by 
Brexit, COVID-19 and climate 
change, such as food 
systems and diet (18). 
 
Future plans and strategic 
decisions should 
contextualise the information 
within this PNA and align 
findings with overarching 
macro-economic, 
environmental, and 
sustainability factors.  

 

  

P
age 2479



 

 40 

Please answer question 8.1 following the completion of the EHIA and complete the action plan 
 
 

8.1 Please summarise the potential positive 
and/or negative impacts of the strategy, 
policy, plan or service 

 
 

No negative impacts of the PNA on any of the protected or health characteristics 
were identified. However, people with some characteristics were 
underrepresented within engagement work in this iteration of the PNA, and so 
their views may not have been captured. These gaps in the completeness of the 
engagement work should be borne in mind when findings from the PNA are 
utilised within local plans and decisions. Future engagement work conducted by 
the Regional Partnership Board will build upon these beginnings and proactively 
consider how to most appropriately hear seldom heard voices.  
 
The PNA has identified a number of novel findings and data gaps compared to 
the previous publication. These findings can now be further investigated and data 
gaps addressed in order to plan the care and support services for Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan now, and in the future.  
 
Future iterations of the Population Needs Assessment will take a hybrid 
approach, so that the information contained within it can be more up to date. This 
will comprise a rolling update of quantitative data, and periodic refresh of 
qualitative data from engagement work. Therefore, this PNA report and Equality & 
Health Impact Assessment (EHIA) should be considered a first iteration; the 
beginning of an ongoing conversation between the Regional Partnership Board, 
and the residents of Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 
We welcome comments and feedback on the PNA and the EHIA, as we seek 
to learn, improve, and develop. Please send these to 
Hsc.Integration@wales.nhs.uk 

 
 

Action Plan for Mitigation / Improvement and Implementation  
 

P
age 2480



 

 41 

 Action  Lead Timescale  
 

Action taken by Clinical 
Board / Corporate 
Directorate 

8.2  What are the key actions 
identified as a result of 
completing the EHIA?  

 
 

There is a real commitment and enthusiasm 
in the RPB to ensure that diverse voices are 
reflected in all we do. Areas of under-
representation in terms of engagement work 
have been identified. Future engagement 
work will proactively consider how best to 
hear seldom heard voices so that their 
needs can be understood and met.  

Senior 
Communications 
and 
Engagement 
Officer; Cardiff 
and Vale 
Regional 
Partnership 
Board 

To 
commence 
by March 
2022 

 

8.3 Is a more comprehensive 
Equalities Impact 
Assessment or Health 
Impact Assessment 
required?  
 

This means thinking about 
relevance and proportionality 
to the Equality Act and asking: 
is the impact significant 
enough that a more formal 
and full consultation is 
required?  
 

No, however, plans, strategies, and other 

decisions developed from information 

contained within the PNA will require an 

Equalities Health Impact Assessment to be 

conducted 

Leads of 

individual 

assessments 

and plans  

According to 

timescale of 

the individual 

assessments 

and plans  

 

P
age 2481



 

 42 

8.4  What are the next 
steps? 

 
Some suggestions:- 

 Decide whether the strategy,  

policy, plan, procedure and/or 

service proposal: 

o continues 
unchanged as there 
are no significant 
negative impacts 

o adjusts to account 
for the negative 
impacts 

o continues despite 
potential for 
adverse impact or 
missed 
opportunities to 
advance equality 
(set out the 
justifications for 
doing so) 

o stops. 

 Have your strategy, 
policy, plan, procedure 
and/or service proposal 
approved 

 Publish your report of this 
impact assessment 

 Monitor and review 
 

Use results of PNA as a basis to 

undertake further engagements where we 

are developing plans and making 

decisions. 

 

Support the RPB’s overarching 

communications and engagement 

strategy, which includes the following 

outcomes:  

 

1. A citizen’s panel that can help represent 

and reflect the diverse voices of older 

people 

2. Ensuring adults with disabilities 

coproduce and drive our work in this area 

(this will often use existing forums) 

3. Resources and engagements that give 

children and young people a voice and a 

way to directly influence the policies and 

decisions that affect them. 

 

 

Senior 

Communications 

and 

Engagement 

Officer; Cardiff 

and Vale 

Regional 

Partnership 

Board 

To 

commence 

by March 

2022 

 

P
age 2482



 

 43 

 

References 
1. Welsh Government. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Part 2 Code of Practice (General Functions) . [Online] 2015. [Cited: 10 
30, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-05/part-2-code-of-practice-general-functions.pdf. 
2. Welsh Government. Population Needs Assessments - Supplementary Advice for Regional Partnership Boards. [Online] 03 2021. [Cited: 10 
14, 2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/population-needs-assessments.pdf. 
3. RNIB. Sight Loss Data Tool Version 4.3.1 . [Online] 05 2021. [Cited: 10 15, 2021.] At the last meeting with Rebecca Archer and the discussion 
of aligning findings from the WBAx and PNA, we discussed setting up a workshop on 5 November. Suzanne and I have been discussing the 
synthesising and drafting of the PNA over the coming weeks and . 
4. Welsh Governance Centre. Imprisonment in Wales: A Factfile . Cardiff : Cardiff University, 2018. 
5. Public Health Wales. Public Health Wales Response to the Health, S ocial Care and Sport Committee iinquiry into provision of health and social 
care in the adult prison estate. Cardiff : Public Health Wales, 2019. 
6. Welsh Government . Coronavirus (COVID-19) and the Black, Asian and minority ethnic population in Wales. [Online] 06 22, 2020. [Cited: 11 
08, 2021.] https://gov.wales/coronavirus-covid-19-and-black-asian-and-minority-ethnic-population-wales. 
7. Office for National Statistics . 2011 Census: Key Statistics and Quick Statistics for Electoral Divisions and Output Areas in Wales. [Online] 
[Cited: 11 09, 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/file?uri=/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/2011censuskeys
tatisticsandquickstatisticsforelectoraldivisionsandoutputareasinwales/r22walesenglishrttableqs204ewladv1_tcm77-296996.xls. 
8. Stats Wales . Ethnicity by area and ethnic group. [Online] 04 14, 2021. https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Equality-and-
Diversity/Ethnicity/ethnicity-by-area-ethnicgroup. 
9. Welsh Government. White Paper - Rebalancing Care and Support. [Online] 01 12, 2021. [Cited: 10 07, 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2021-01/consutation-document.pdf. 
10. Stats Wales. Children looked after at 31 March by local authority and ethnicity. [Online] 02 24, 2021. [Cited: 09 14, 2021.] 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Health-and-Social-Care/Social-Services/Childrens-Services/Children-Looked-
After/childrenlookedafterat31march-by-localauthority-ethnicity. 
11. Welsh Government. A statistical focus on religion in Wales, 2011 Census: executive summary. [Online] c.2012. [Cited: 11 09, 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/151027-statistical-focus-religion-2011-census-executive-summary-
en.pdf#:~:text=%EF%82%B7%20Christianity%20is%20still%20the%20largest%20religion%20in,England%2C%20although%20not%20as
%20p. 
12. Office for National Statistics . Sexual orientation, UK: 2019. [Online] 05 14, 2021. [Cited: 11 08, 2021.] 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2019. 
13. Wales Institute for Social and Economic Research, Data and Methods . The Human Rights of Children in Wales: An Evidence Review.  

P
age 2483



 

 44 

14. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019: deprivation analysis relating to young children . [Online] 08 26, 2021. 
[Cited: 10 29, 2021.] https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-deprivation-analysis-relating-young-children-html. 
15. Welsh Government. Welsh Index of Mulitple Deprivation (WIMD) 2019 results report. [Online] 2019. [Cited: 11 22, 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-06/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-2019-results-report.pdf. 
16. Welsh Goverment. Coronavirus and employment: analysis of protected characteristics. [Online] 06 19, 2020. [Cited: 11 08, 2021.] 
https://gov.wales/coronavirus-and-employment-analysis-protected-characteristics-html. 
17. Welsh Government. A more equal Wales: The Socio-Economic Duty Equality Act 2010 Statutory Guidance. [Online] 2021. [Cited: 10 25, 
2021.] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/a-more-equal-wales.pdf. 
18. Public Health Wales . Rising to the Triple Challenge of Brexit, COVID-19 and climate change for health, well-being and equity in Wales. 
[Online] 2021.  
 
 

P
age 2484



 

 

 

Page 2485



This page is intentionally left blank



CARDIFF COUNCIL  
CYNGOR CAERDYDD 
 
CABINET MEETING: 10 MARCH 2022 
 

 

THE CARDIFF INTELLIGENT TRANSPORT SYSTEMS STRATEGY 
 
STRATEGIC PLANNING & TRANSPORT  (COUNCILLOR CARO WILD) 
 

AGENDA ITEM: 17 
 

  
Reason for this Report 
 
1. Subject to minor amendments made in accordance with recommendation 3 to 

seek approval of the Draft Cardiff ITS (Intelligent Transport Systems) Strategy 
as set out in Appendix 1 and approval to go out to full public consultation on the 
Draft Cardiff ITS Strategy. 

 
2. To seek approval to proceed with an outline business case to explore options 

for modernising the Council’s Urban Traffic Control systems. 
 
3. To delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Environment, 

subject to consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and 
Transport; to make minor amendments to and determine the final form and 
content of the Draft ITS Strategy and consultation questionnaire. 
 

Background 
 
4. Transport systems around the world are being transformed by the systematic 

use of innovative digital technology to significantly enhance the user 
experience, convenience and transport efficiency by facilitating the integration 
of rail, bus, bike and car usage.  Such systems can enable single cost-effective 
journeys and ticketing to be offered aiding more convenient and cost-effective 
travel decisions.  By offering real-time information on apps and personal mobile 
devices this new technology will offer major benefits in terms of responsiveness 
and accessibility for transport users.  New systems on the market will soon 
enable more efficient management and operation of the network and integration 
with emerging vehicle technology and so-called ‘Mobility as a Service’ (MaaS) 
– fine-grained alignment of public transport services with user requirements. 

 
5. By integrating information technology applications into transport infrastructure, 

vehicles and directly communicating with the travelling public, transportation 
safety, mobility and environmental sustainability can also be significantly 
improved.  In addition, it provides the opportunity to influence travel behaviour 

 

Page 2487

Agenda Item 17



further through targeted incentives that could be developed with key 
stakeholders and partner organisations.  
 

6. A further key catalyst for the need to bring this strategy forward is the imminent 
opening of the new city centre Transport Interchange (Bus Station) in 2023. 
This will dramatically enhance the public transport infrastructure in the city as a 
whole. However, to take full advantage of this new facility we need to ensure 
that the wider network and public transport integration is effective and aligned 
with this technology and data driven approach. 
 

7. Advanced comparator cities in UK and Europe are moving proactively forward 
with this new technology and Cardiff needs to be fully engaged to take 
advantage of these critical opportunities. 
 

8. The first key step in this process is to map out and develop the future smart 
infrastructure network across the city.  At the centre of the network is the UTC 
Control room.  Currently located in Cardiff County Hall, outline work has already 
started to map out the potential functionality needed in a new or enhanced 
facility.  There exists the potential for co-location and co-working with a range 
of internal and external services and partners.  A considered outline business 
case is urgently needed to fully identify an ambitious, yet achievable, way 
forward that can be appropriately funded in a phased manner. 
 

9. In addition, it is also important to understand how the development of this ITS 
Strategy underpins the effective delivery of a range of core Council policies.  
The Cardiff Transport White Paper: Transport Vision to 2030 set out an 
ambitious vision for transport that commits to deliver a greener, healthier, less 
congested city, with an affordable public transport system that works for 
everyone over the next 10 years enabled by long-term investment to manage 
growth and the environment.  The following targets have been set to be 
achieved by 2030 within the Transport White Paper and One Planet Cardiff: 
 

 Make 76% of all journeys by sustainable travel modes 

 Double the numbers cycling 

 Double the numbers travelling by bus 

 Become a Carbon Neutral City by 2030 
 

10. The Council will seek to work jointly with the Welsh Government and Transport 
for Wales on the integrated ticketing app and the provision of more reliable 
journey times through a smart corridor approach and better coordinated 
timetabling of bus services.    
 

11. There are also wider opportunities to be explored within Cardiff’s draft SMART 
City Roadmap that was presented to Cabinet in December 2019 to help address 
the challenges in growth, public services, mobility, energy, economy and 
environment as the roadmap develops. 

 

12. One Planet Cardiff in October of 2020 includes an aspiration for Cardiff to 
become carbon neutral by 2030; the need for safe and healthy communities; 
establishing Cardiff as a ‘city for everyone’; managing growth (in line with the 

Page 2488



Local Development Plan); tackling congestion and supporting business; and the 
need for a forward vision in transport to 2030 and beyond.  Within this, Cardiff 
sets out the challenges ahead in responding to the emerging climate 
emergency and addressing poor air quality. 
 

13. On a national policy level: Llwybr Newydd: The Wales Transport Strategy 2021 
includes a priority over the next five years to enhance the Intelligent Transport 
System to improve real-time and open-source information for users and 
developers.  It is also identified as a priority needed to achieve the Well-being 
ambitions by 2040 in support of the economy and places in Wales. 
 

14. Digital Strategy for Wales, 2021 sets out a “…national vision for jointly adopting 
a digital approach across Wales…to ensure people in Wales experience 
modern and efficient public services supported by good, ethical, use of data”.  
To support this vision, it sets out six missions, namely: Digital services; Digital 
inclusion; Digital skills; Digital economy; Digital connectivity; and Data and 
Collaboration. 

 
15. Regarding the transition to smart transport, it is important to highlight that 

Cardiff has already made significant progress.  It was a leading player in the 
early adoption and deployment of ITS, with the Urban Traffic Control (UTC) 
Room being a central component.  The key functions managed by the UTC 
Control Room are: 
 

 Traffic Signals (signalised junctions and crossings) 

 CCTV Cameras 

 Bus Real-Time Passenger Information (RTPI) 

 Access Control (rising bollards) 

 Variable Message Signs (VMS) 

 Rotating Plank Signs (RPS) 

 Network Incident Management 

 Butetown Tunnels 

 North Road Tidal Flow 
 

16. Additional ITS functions that currently reside outside of the UTC Control Room 
but are embedded in Council services include: 

 OVO Bikes (Nextbike) Cycle Hire 

 Smart Parking 

 Enforcement 

 Air Quality Monitoring 

 Active Travel Monitoring 

 Interactive City LED Lighting 
 

17. However, despite this progress, in recent years the city has fallen behind many 
of its key competitors with some of the UTC Control Room systems and assets 
becoming potentially outdated, increasingly inefficient and costly to maintain. 
From 2018 to 2020, the Council commissioned studies and published key 
documents supporting the need for investment in ITS: 
 

Page 2489



 Network Management Review, July of 2018 

 Engagement with and commissioning of industry experts in 2019. 

 Cardiff Smart City Roadmap, Dec 2019. 
 

18. The key conclusions of this study work identified that transformational 
improvements are needed to ensure that the ITS provision in Cardiff can 
effectively deliver its ambitions. 

 
The Issues 
 
19. The scale of the transport task facing Cardiff has already been presented in the 

ten-year vision of the Transport White Paper (2019).  Furthermore, there is the 
need to mitigate the significant health, economic and social impacts of the 
preventable road safety and air quality implications of congested streets and 
the wider network.  These detailed challenges include:   
 
 100,000 commuter trips travelling into Cardiff each day (Annual Population 

Survey) 
 300,000 vehicle movements crossing Cardiff’s boundary (2-way) each day 

(Southeast Wales Transport Commission) 

 1 million vehicle trips on Cardiff’s network each day (Southeast Wales 
Transport Model) 

 138 hours per driver in Cardiff was lost in congestion during rush hours in 
2019, an increase of 8% from 2018 (TomTom Traffic Index) 

 £109 million annual cost of congestion to the Cardiff economy (INRIX 
Traffic Scorecard) 

 143 annual equivalent deaths from poor air quality (Cardiff and Vale 
University Health Board area). 

 
20. As a result of these impacts, resident satisfaction with the Cardiff transport 

system is inevitably challenged in terms of bus journey times, cycling 
infrastructure and the overall quality and convenience of the transport 
experience. 

 
21. In this context, ITS will enable better management of the transport network by 

providing a coordinating ‘guiding mind’ approach to transport movements of all 
modes around the city.  Accurate measurements of network performance will 
enable the preparation of targeted strategies to improve journey times, safety 
and air quality and reduce congestion in cost effective ways.  It will identify 
opportunities to remove congestion ‘hot spots’ and address ‘stressed’ areas of 
the network.  It will provide a rich source of information for the development of 
business cases to improve transport and support funding bids. 

 
22. The co-ordinated, well-designed use of ITS will enable the saving of journey 

time, money and lives and deliver a safe, efficient transport environment.  ITS 
is generally described as the integration of information and communications 
technology with transport infrastructure, vehicles and users.  It uses an array of 
technologies together with real-time data from a multitude of sources to: 
 

 Assess the current state of the transport network from real-time data. 

Page 2490



 Inform decisions quickly and efficiently using accurate information. 

 Provide innovative solutions to provide greater accessibility (e.g. MaaS). 

 Help users to make effective decisions in planning their travel. 

 Evaluate historical data, incidents and events to prepare network 
management strategies and improve transport performance. 

 
Urban Traffic Control Room 
 
23. A key first step of the Council’s ITS vision involves the modernisation of the 

current Control Room both in terms of location and functionality.  The UTC 
Control Room provides a critical oversight of transport movements on the main 
arterial routes and the city centre – enabling a rapid emergency response, for 
example, to accidents and incidents on the highway.  More broadly, it provides 
a vital role in monitoring the City Centre using CCTV infrastructure providing an 
essential element in the management of the city particularly during major 
events. 

 
24. The last wholesale upgrade of the Control Room took place more than a decade 

ago and enabled a transition from analogue to digital CCTV technologies.  
While the system has continued to function effectively, there is a need to 
consider whether a more fundamental upgrade is required utilising rapid 
advances in technology and in particular artificial intelligence and data 
analytics.  The cost and technical issues related to ensuring fully digital/network 
connectivity and understanding the necessary technical capabilities of the 
Control Room in terms of the long-term need further consideration. 
 

25. It is proposed that an outline business case should be commissioned to 
consider options for modernising the UTC systems and Control Room including 
inter alia:  
 

a) Network communications connections and resilience 
b) Space required to accommodate the expanding needs of the Control Room 
and scope for partnership working 
c) Data storage requirements and security 
d) Operational impact of the location of the Control Room 
e) Provision of back-up/contingency facilities for emergencies 
f) Transitional arrangements concerning relocation or redevelopment of the 
Control Room 
 

ITS Strategy Proposed Major Themes 
 
26. Cardiff and the CCR (Cardiff Capital Region) requires a convenient, cost 

effective, fast and low carbon mass transit system enabled by ITS.  The key 
objectives of the Strategy are: 
 

 Ensuring sustainable transport is the most rapid, convenient cost-effective 
option for users and operators delivering the transport 10-year vision 

 Tackle congestion and support business 

Page 2491



 Fully address the Climate Emergency and Air Quality Agenda and deliver a 
low carbon network 

 
27. Bringing together the scoping work that has been undertaken, as well as 

referencing UK best practice, the ITS Strategy proposes the following four 
stand-alone delivery themes: 

 
THEME 1 (from 2022): 
GROUNDWORK - Establish an Effective Infrastructure for Improved 
Management of the Network: 
 

 Prepare a business case for a new UTC Control Room that will clearly define 
the costed programme to deliver the future UTC control room and wider 
smart network  

 Roll out programme of upgrades to ITS Infrastructure and systems including 
the control room, signage, traffic signals, enforcement, parking and CCTV 

 Establish working relationships and explore co-location opportunities with 
partner transport operators to better coordinate network operations, 
including event and incident management 

 
THEME 2: 
ENGAGING THE PUBLIC AND USERS - Implement City-wide transport 
communication and boost PUBLIC TRANSPORT Active Travel with ITS 
 

 Develop a transport user (car/bus/cycle) app/website to better inform travel 
making decisions 

 Improve transport provider access to user feedback and customer relations 
to engage with transport users to better inform sustainable travel 
interventions 

 Use geographical and real-time data to understand the journey experience 
of users and where improvements are needed 

 Explore opportunities to incentivise sustainable travel 
 
THEME 3: 
ESTABLISHING THE SMART TRANSPORT NETWORK - Implement Smart 
Corridors 
 

 Identify ITS improvement opportunities to provide safer, more efficient 
journeys for walking, cycling and public transport 

 Work with the Welsh Government and regional partners to improve the 
management of cross-boundary movements 

 Develop and deliver a programme of network improvements that better 
utilise information technology to improve performance (e.g. prompt traffic 
signal response for pedestrians and cyclists, detectors for measuring 
queuing and journey times to inform drivers and improve network efficiency) 

 
 
 
 

Page 2492



THEME 4 (2030): 
FULLY INTEGRATED MASS TRANSIT SYSTEM – Enhanced use of Demand 
Management Technology  

 

 Work in partnership with the Welsh Government and Transport for Wales to 
deliver integrated ticketing 

 Explore opportunities to use existing and emerging demand management 
systems and technology to support an integrated mass transit network 

 Expand Smart Parking to provide a fully integrated solution for efficient 
parking 

 Explore Opportunities for Mobility as a Service (MAAS) 
 
Consultation 
 
28. Public consultation on the draft ITS Strategy in Appendix 1 is anticipated to be 

in the summer of 2022 and will be conducted online using the draft Consultation 
Questionnaire in Appendix 2.  It will seek to consult widely and engage with 
difficult to reach groups. 

 
29. The results of the consultation will be used as a framework against which to 

refine the draft strategy.  The request for approval of the final ITS Strategy will 
be reported to Cabinet in the autumn of 2022. 

 
30. Engagement with key internal stakeholders will be undertaken including Local 

Members. 
 

31. Engagement with key external stakeholders will include (but will not be limited 
to): Welsh Government, South Wales Trunk Road Agency (SWTRA) / Traffic 
Wales, Transport for Wales (TfW), Cardiff Capital Region, Local Authorities, 
Bus Operators; South Wales Police, Freight Transport Association, Sustrans, 
FOR Cardiff, ITS and Innovation specialists, Active Travel User Groups, Public 
Transport User Groups, and Accessibility Groups. 
 

Delivery 
 
32. This report recommends undertaking a full public consultation in order to 

develop the Cardiff ITS Strategy, the costs for which will be funded from the 
PTE Directorate budget. 

 

33. This report does not seek approval for funding at this time.  Further business 
cases and approvals for funding will need to be developed in detail in support 
of funding bids. 

 

34. Funding for ITS will be sought by considering a wide range of different delivery 
options, and by working closely with Welsh Government and other stakeholders 
and partners.  In addition, the opportunity to establish working partnerships and 
commercialisation or licensing of data and services will be explored to realise 
further potential sources of revenue. 
 

Page 2493



35. The ITS Strategy will involve a phased delivery to 2030.  The phasing will 
complement currently on-going work-streams including provision of real-time 
information at bus stops and bus station integration; Smart Corridor pilots; 
Control Room system upgrades; enhanced enforcement activities utilising 
smart technologies; and working in partnership with Welsh Government and 
TfW to deliver integrated ticketing and Mobility-as-a-Service (e.g. Fflecsi 
passenger transport service, open data and phone apps). 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

36. To prepare an ITS Strategy informed by public, local member and key 
stakeholder consultation.  The role of an ITS Strategy will be crucial in Cardiff’s 
ability to meet its Transport White Paper aspirations and the One Planet Cardiff 
target for decarbonisation by 2030. 

 
37. The first step in the Strategy will be to initiate the development of an outline 

business case for the effective long-term upgrade of the UTC Control Room. 
 

38. The ITS Strategy will underpin – better public transport, an improved network, 
the Metro and more sustainable modes (e.g., e-Bikes and e-Scooters); which 
in turn support more development, more jobs and more opportunities. 

 
39. Furthermore, ITS delivers the following top 5 policy benefits – shift to 

sustainable transport, improved air quality, more fluid traffic flow, increased 
network capacity and focused event management, which in turn, will boost 
economic growth, wellbeing and social environment. 

 
40. Using ITS delivers better citizen experiences; better air quality; community 

improvements; and business benefits.  These are already being realised by 
other similar cities such as (but not in any way limited to): Nottingham, Greater 
Manchester, Bristol and Coventry; against which Cardiff needs to compete and 
cannot afford to miss out. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
41. The costs of funding the consultation will be met from within existing resources. 

The costs of implementing the projects contained within the ITS Strategy could 
be significant for the Council and at this stage no funding has been identified to 
support the delivery of these projects.  As a consequence, there is a risk that 
following the public consultation stakeholders’ expectations on the delivery of 
the ITS strategy could be raised but without funding being identified these 
projects may not be affordable for the Council, with the consequential 
reputational risk for the Council.  It is recommended that further work is 
undertaken to develop the cost of the projects included in the ITS strategy and 
how these projects could be funded.  The early identification of expected costs 
and potential funding would also apply to the options being considered in the 
business case for the redevelopment or relocation of the Control Room. 

 
 
 

Page 2494



Legal Implications 
 
42. Legal Services have not considered the Strategy document in detail but 

understand from the body of this report that it contains a number of potential 
schemes and initiatives.  Legal advice should be obtained on each such 
scheme and initiative prior to being implemented to ensure the same can be 
achieved within legal constraints. 

 
43. To the extent that any proposed scheme and initiative involves the procurement 

of works, goods or services then the Council must comply with its Contract 
Standing Orders and Procurement Rules and procurement legislation. 
 

44. In addition, to the extent that any of the proposed schemes and initiatives are 
dependent on the making of any orders or the obtaining of any consents or the 
like then it will be necessary to follow the appropriate statutory processes.  By 
way of example only if a scheme is dependent on the making of a traffic 
regulation order (TRO) then the outcome cannot be guaranteed as individuals 
have the right to object.  Due and proper consideration would need to be given 
to any such objections in determining how to proceed. 
 

45. The report recommends approval of an outline business case for a new UTC 
control room with the potential of possibly working with external partners.  
These arrangements must also be made in compliance with the Council’s 
Contract Standing Orders and Procurement Rules together with procurement 
legislation. 
 

Consultation  
 

46. The report refers to a public consultation exercise being undertaking in relation 
to the draft ITS Strategy.  It should be noted that any consultation and 
engagement must (a) be carried out when the proposal is at a formative stage 
(b) consultees must be given sufficient information to understand the project 
and to respond (c) consultees must be given sufficient time to respond and (d) 
responses must be conscientiously taken into account when finalising the 
relevant decision as a consultation exercise gives rise to the legitimate 
expectation that due regard will be given to the outcome of the consultation in 
determining the way forward . 
 

Equality Duty 
 

47. In considering this matter, the Council must have regard to its public sector 
equality duties under the Equality Act 2010 (including specific Welsh public 
sector duties). This means the Council must give due regard to the need to (1) 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) 
foster good relations on the basis of protected characteristics. The protected 
characteristics are: age, gender reassignment, sex, race – including ethnic or 
national origin, colour or nationality, disability, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, sexual orientation, religion or belief – including 
lack of belief.   

 

Page 2495



48. When taking strategic decisions, the Council also has a statutory duty to have 
due regard to the need to reduce inequalities of outcome resulting from socio-
economic disadvantage (‘the Socio-Economic Duty’ imposed under section 1 
of the Equality Act 2010).  In considering this, the Council must take into 
account the statutory guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers (WG42004 A 
More Equal Wales The Socio-economic Duty Equality Act 2010 (gov.Wales) 
and must be able to demonstrate how it has discharged its duty. 

 
49. An Equalities Impact Assessment aims to identify the equalities implications of 

the proposed decision, including inequalities arising from socio-economic 
disadvantage, and due regard should be given to the outcomes of the Equalities 
Impact Assessment. 
 

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

50. The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (‘the Act’) places a 
‘well-being duty’ on public bodies aimed at achieving 7 national well-being goals 
for Wales – a Wales that is prosperous, resilient, healthier, more equal, has 
cohesive communities, a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language, and is 
globally responsible.  

 
51. In discharging its duties under the Act, the Council has set and published well-

being objectives designed to maximise its contribution to achieving the national 
well-being goals.  The well-being objectives are set out in Cardiff’s Corporate 
Plan 2021-24.  When exercising its functions, the Council is required to take all 
reasonable steps to meet its well-being objectives.  This means that the 
decision makers should consider how the proposed decision will contribute 
towards meeting the well-being objectives and must be satisfied that all 
reasonable steps have been taken to meet those objectives. 

 
52. The well-being duty also requires the Council to act in accordance with a 

‘sustainable development principle’.  This principle requires the Council to act 
in a way which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.  Put 
simply, this means that Council decision makers must take account of the 
impact of their decisions on people living their lives in Wales in the future.  In 
doing so, the Council must: 

 Look to the long term 

 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems  

 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the 7 national well-being goals 

 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions 

 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions which 
affect them 

 The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposed decision accords 
with the principles above; and due regard must be given to the Statutory 
Guidance issued by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the link 
below: http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-
generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en 

 
 

Page 2496

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en


General 
 

53. The Council has to be mindful of the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 
and the Welsh Language Standards when making any policy decisions and 
consider the impact upon the Welsh language, the report and Equality Impact 
Assessment deals with all these obligations.  The Council has to consider the 
Well-being of Future Guidance (Wales) Act 2015 and how this strategy may 
improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 

 
54. All decisions taken by or on behalf the Council must (a) be within the legal 

powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by 
law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers of behalf 
of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 
requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Council Procedure Rules; (e) be fully 
and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to 
the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper 
in all the circumstances 

 
HR Implications 
 
55. There are no HR implications in the main for this report.  However, both the 

Trade Unions and affected staff have been consulted on the intention to prepare 
an outline business case for a new UTC Control Room.  Consultation will 
continue as the business case develops. 

 
Property Implications 
 
56. There are no direct property implications arising from this report.  However, 

implementation of the ITS may require land and property transactions to be 
undertaken.  It will be important for the ITS delivery team to involve Strategic 
Estates at an early stage to ensure professional property advice is provided.  
Any resulting property transactions should be undertaken in accordance with 
the agreed asset management processes. 
 

57. It is noted that opportunities for a new UTC Control Room and associated 
facilities are being explored, including potential for co-location and partnership 
working with internal and external partners. Any property transactions or 
valuations required to deliver any proposals should be done so in accordance 
with the Council’s Asset Management process and in consultation with 
Strategic Estates and relevant service areas. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 
 
1. Subject to recommendation 3, approve the undertaking of public consultation 

and engagement on the Draft ITS Strategy. 
 
2. Approve the preparation of an outline business case to explore options for 

modernising the Council’s Urban Traffic Control systems. 

Page 2497



 
3. Delegate authority to the Director of Planning, Transport and Environment, 

subject to consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and 
Transport, to make minor amendments to, to determine and approve the final 
form and content of the Draft ITS Strategy and consultation questionnaire. 

 
 

SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER Andrew Gregory 
Director of Planning, Transport & 
Environment 

4 March 2022 

 
 
The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix 1: Draft ITS (Intelligent Transport Systems) Strategy, January 2021 
Appendix 2: Draft ITS Consultation Questionnaire 
 
The following background papers have been taken into account: 
 

 Cardiff’s Transport White Paper: Transport Vision to 2030 

 One Planet Cardiff: Our Vision for a Carbon Neutral City by 2030 

 SMART Cardiff Roadmap (Draft) 2019 

 Cardiff Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2026 

 Cardiff ITS Network Management Review, July 2018 

 Llwybr Newydd: The Wales Transport Strategy 2021 

 Report to Cabinet 13th June 2019 - Air Quality Feasibility Study (RE: ‘SMART 
Corridors’) 

 Report to Cabinet 15th July 2021 - Cardiff’s Bus Strategy (RE: ‘Big Move 2: 
Create New Priority SMART Bus Corridors’) 

 Equality Impact Assessment 

 Digital Strategy for Wales, 2021 

Page 2498



Cardiff
Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy
Putting sustainable journeys
into people’s hands 

Appendix 1

Page 2499



2 3

Introduction

T oday, having effective Intelligent 
Transport Systems (ITS) to 
manage increasing transport 

network demand is as important as 
the physical infrastructure because we 
cannot expand that anymore.

Cardiff’s transport infrastructure underpins our 

thriving economy. This infrastructure no longer 

simply consists of having good road and rail 

links. Modern cities, such as Bristol, Manchester, 

Nottingham and Coventry recognise that ITS is the 

essential glue that stimulates behavioural change 

in favour of more sustainable transport choices. 

These deliver social, environmental and economic 

benefits.

The case for our ITS Strategy is built on the 

need to deliver on our One Planet objectives. 

The Strategy will enable us to make the most 

effective use of our physical transport network by 

harnessing technology to encourage people to 

cycle and walk more and use buses in place of cars. 

This will deliver congestion reduction, air quality 

improvement and health benefits. 

Delivery of the ITS Strategy will be based on 

evolution not revolution. It will make better use 

The Strategy will enable us 
to make the most effective 
use of our physical transport 
network.

of our existing ITS systems through improved 

orchestration, upgrade and replacement and 

partnering with external organisations. This will 

underpin key measures, including integrated 

enforcement of parking, speeding and access 

control.  A further key catalyst for the need to bring 

this strategy forward is the imminent opening of 

the new city centre Transport Interchange (Bus 

Station) in 2023. This will dramatically enhance 

the public transport infrastructure in the City as a 

whole.  However, to take full advantage of this new 

facility we need to ensure that the wider network 

and public transport integration is effective and 

aligned with this technology and data-driven 

approach. Work on improving our transport 

network is continuous. The ITS Strategy will 

involve a phased delivery to 2030.  The phasing 

will complement currently on-going work-streams 

including:

 • Provision of real-time information at bus stops 
and bus station integration

 • Smart Corridor pilots

 • Control Room system upgrades

 • Enhanced enforcement activities utilising smart 
technologies

 • Working in partnership with Welsh Government 
and TfW to deliver integrated ticketing and 
Mobility-as-a-Service (Fflecsi passenger transport 
service, open data and phone apps)

The Strategy will ensure that our City has properly 

integrated digital infrastructure to support smart 

mobility systems during the next 10 years and 

beyond.

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

P
age 2500



4

I ntelligent Transport Systems (ITS) 
bring together transport users, 
infrastructure, and service providers 

into a single smart system that makes 
journeys cheaper, more convenient, 
faster and greener.

Increasingly ITS is the bedrock of mass public 

transport systems throughout the world’s major 

cities to provide an integrated, safe, efficient and 

sustainable transport system.

ITS uses an array of technologies together with 

real-time data from numerous sources to:

 • Give car, bus, cycle and train users up-to-date, 
fingertip responsive transport information, costs 
and ticketing to help them make timely decisions 
on their travel plans

 • Enable bus and train operators to run the most 
effective and low-cost, low carbon services

 • Collect and process accurate real time 
information on network performance and 
condition.

 • Enable analysis from which to learn, inform and 
improve future performance.

Whilst Cardiff was a leading player in the early 

adoption and deployment of ITS, in recent years 

many of these systems have become increasingly 

outdated, inefficient and costly to maintain.

Without modern ITS, Cardiff will be poorly placed 

to meet our stated transport policy objectives and 

compete with other cities on the leading edge of 

transport.

Our ITS Strategy provides a framework for 

delivering a safe, efficient transport network. 

Projects delivered under the framework  will help 

save time, money and lives and enable Cardiff 

to deliver on our key transport policy objectives, 

which are to:

 • Make sustainable transport more attractive

 • Tackle climate change

 • Reduce congestion

 • Improve air quality

 • Improve public transport

Our ITS Strategy provides 
a framework for delivering  
safe, efficient transport.

ITS puts sustainable transport decisions 
directly into people’s hands

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

5

P
age 2501



7

ITS helps us deliver 
sustainable transport challenges

6

Targets for travel 
to work journeys 
by Cardiff 
residents

Walking Cycling

Car

2010 TODAY 2025 2030

100%Total: 100% 100% 100%

16% 19% 27% 33%

57% 37% 24%49%

Bus, rail 
and tram

26% 31% 37% 43%+

(7% cycle, 
19% walk)

(13% cycle,
18% walk)

(19% cycle,
18% walk)

(26% cycle,
17% walk)

Our city is growing. To tackle climate change 
together we need to:

General targets 
for sustainable 
journeys in Cardiff

Emissions from transport are one of the biggest contributors to climate change. To tackle 
climate change and reduce Cardiff’s carbon emissions, we all need to take action to make 
our travel behaviour more sustainable.

Source for the above infographics: Cardiff’s Transport White Paper: 
Transport Vision to 2030. Published in 2019.

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

I ntelligent Transport Systems are key 
to us overcoming many challenges to 
deliver our transport vision.

Climate Emergency
Cardiff has made a commitment to make Cardiff 

a Carbon Neutral City by 20301. The transport 

sector is one of the largest contributors to carbon 

emissions in Wales, so radical action is required 

to lower emissions and tackle climate change. 

Role of ITS: Presenting journey makers with 

better information, underpinned by ITS, about the 

various costs, including emission costs, and times 

taken across different transport modes empowers 

people to make informed journey choices that 

encourage a positive shift to more sustainable 

transport modes.

1 https://www.oneplanetcardiff.co.uk/

Clean air
In 2020, Public Health Wales estimated that the 

equivalent of over 220 deaths each year, among 

people aged 30 and over, could be attributed to 

Nitrogen dioxide (NO2 ) pollution in the Cardiff 

and Vale Health Board area.2 Whilst policies have 

improved air quality in recent years, it still remains 

a significant threat.

Role of ITS: Pollution sensors and other roadside 

monitoring technologies will allow us to identify 

signs of high pollution levels and react by 

implementing traffic plans or changing intelligent 

signalling automatically. Targeting areas with poor 

air quality can work alongside reducing congestion 

to improve the affordability, and availability of 

sustainable transport, resulting in a more inclusive 

city.

2 https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Parking-
roads-and-travel/clean-air-cardiff/Pages/default.aspx

P
age 2502



9

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

Creating safe, child-friendly and 
healthy communities

In 2019 there were 565 casualties that arose as 

a result of road accidents in the Cardiff area out 

of 5,808 in Wales3. Whilst the long-term trend 

shows a reduction in the number casualties, there 

is still of room for improvement. We also need to 

make the transport network as safe as possible 

for children, particularly around schools where we 

can  provide tools to help enforce school zones to 

reduce traffic risks and improve air quality.

Role of ITS: Increased use of real time data can 

make our streets and neighbourhoods safer by 

making existing measures more responsive. These 

include improved orchestration and integration 

of automated speed enforcement, speed and 

red-light cameras, control systems and incident 

warning. 

3 Gov Wales Police recorded road accidents: 2019  
https://gov.wales/police-recorded-road-accidents-2019-
html

15

X44 X48

C56 C55

3 9

15

A City for Everyone

Travelling around our City is not always as easy 

as it should be. There are issues with affordability, 

accessibility and availability of transport which 

cause inequalities.

Role of ITS: Increased use of data and new 

technologies, like Mobility as a Service (MaaS), 

will help people with greater mobility needs move 

around Cardiff by giving them a platform to plan 

and pay for journeys. ITS data will help the Council 

and transport providers to understand user needs 

better and provide the ability to match supply 

with demand, to create more frequent, better 

integrated, lower cost services.

P
age 2503



1110

Managing a growing city
We need to get our transport network right to 

handle future population and visitor demand as 

detailed in Cardiff’s Local Development Plan.

Role of ITS: Enables better integration across all 

modes of transport, including the South Wales 

Metro. New emerging technologies such as 

Mobility as a Service (MaaS) have the potential to 

allow us to travel anywhere with a single click on 

a smart device, using a single payment method, 

through a single solution.

Tackling congestion and 
supporting business
Congestion costs money and consumes a 

significant amount of people’s time.

Role of ITS: Reduces congestion in the City by 

providing Urban Traffic Control (UTC) operators 

with CCTV images and some of the necessary 

data to monitor traffic flows and implement 

intervention strategies. ITS will make the transport 

network efficient, raise productivity and make 

travel easier. This will create innovative commercial 

opportunities that will bring both economic and 

social benefits.

Public transport
Faster and easier journeys to local jobs, amenities 

and the city centre are fundamental success 

factors for a smart city. People need to travel and 

yet their journeys are not always possible using 

one single mode of public transport.

Role of ITS: Real time passenger information 

(RTPI) and new services such as Mobility as 

a Service (MaaS) which are being pursued by 

Transport for Wales offer a solution to these 

problems by providing real time information and 

the ability to travel anywhere via a single click, 

using a single payment method, through a single 

solution.

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

P
age 2504



Objectives

13

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

C ardiff and the CCR (Cardiff Capital Region) requires a convenient, cost effective, 
fast and low carbon mass transit system enabled by ITS.  The key objectives of 
the Strategy are:

Caerdydd  Aer Glân
Clean Air Cardi�

1

3

2

Ensuring sustainable transport is the most rapid, convenient 
cost-effective option for users and operators delivering the 
transport 10-year vision

Tackle congestion and support business

Fully address the Climate Emergency and Air Quality Agenda 
and deliver a low carbon network

P
age 2505



15

Four themed ITS activities
between 2022-30

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

THEME 1: GROUNDWORK: Establish effective 
infrastructure for improved network management
Delivers a multifunctional, collaborative, intelligence-led service and transforms 

this facility into a transport monitoring and management hub.

THEME 2: ENGAGING ENGAGING THE PUBLIC 
AND USERS: Implement City-wide transport 
communication and boost public transport and 
active travel with ITS
Improved data gathering and richer information has the potential to create a 

cleaner, safer and more efficient transport network.

THEME 3: ESTABLISHING THE SMART TRANSPORT 
NETWORK: Implement Smart Corridors
Delivers better digital connectivity by connecting City infrastructure, vehicles 

and individuals along the City’s key transport routes to manage vehicle load 

more effectively and encourage transfer to bus and active travel.

THEME 4: FULLY INTEGRATED MASS TRANSIT: 
Enhanced use of Demand Management Technology
Digitising transport will transform the way we travel, and we need to ensure 

that Wales has the necessary skills to manage this change and implement 

demand management technology.
Phase delivery

2030

2022

Bringing together the scoping work that has been undertaken, as 
well as referencing UK best practice, the ITS Strategy proposes the 
following four stand-alone delivery themes:

P
age 2506



171717161616

Theme 1

GROUNDWORK: Establish an 
Effective Infrastructure for 
improved management of 
the network

View Overall Data

876 of 1155
Spaces in use

Car Parks 12
0
9

3 5 1 4 0 0
Spaces Almost Full Full Queuing Closed Faulty

P P

P

Key actions
 • Prepare a business case for a new UTC Control Room that will clearly define the costed 

programme to deliver the future UTC control room and wider smart network 

 • Roll out programme of upgrades to ITS Infrastructure and systems including the control 
room, signage, traffic signals, enforcement, parking and CCTV

 • Establish working relationships and explore co-location opportunities with partner 
transport operators to better coordinate network operations, including event and 
incident management

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

A dding ITS intelligence to the new 
Urban Traffic Control (UTC) Room 
will  deliver a multifunctional, 

collaborative, intelligence–led service.

Current Control Room
The current Control Room monitors the City’s 

transport network. For the past 20 years it has 

worked in a successful collaboration with South 

Wales Police, using its City-wide public safety 

cameras to prevent crime and protect the public. 

The Centre uses its current ITS technologies and 

CCTV cameras to manage the transport network, 

dealing with traffic disruption, road incidents, 

congestion, adverse weather or planned events.

The future Control Room 
will provide a full view of our 
transport network
What is needed now is a newly equipped 

and better connected Control Room fit for a 

future transport network. These measures will 

ensure that the Centre can support the City’s 

new developments and sustainable transport 

objectives. It will:

 • Enable agencies to collaborate in a 
multifunctional unit, sharing knowledge and 
technical developments.

 • Keep Cardiff abreast of ITS changes.

 • Become a focal point where Welsh transport 

authorities learn and 
develop their ITS skills.

 • Support security and public transport services 

to help them to co-ordinate the City’s 

multimodal transport network and effectively 

manage public safety.

 • Facilitate better city-wide management, 

allowing co-ordinated, managed responses to 

traffic and security incidents in the City and 

improve traffic and crowd management.

 • Present a holistic view of the city, watching 

events and disruption as it unfolds, whilst 

having the necessary data to support decisions 

and enable rapid responses to traffic and 

transport related incidents.

Bringing together smart city activities; traffic 

management; emergency services and public 

transport agencies, the Control Room will help to 

raise standards and make the Capital a safer place 

to in which to work, visit and live.

P
age 2507



191919181818

Theme 2

ENGAGING THE PUBLIC AND 
USERS: Implement City-wide 
transport communication and 
boost public transport and active 
travel with ITS

Key actions
 • Develop a transport user (car/bus/cycle) app/website to better inform travel making 

decisions

 • Improve transport provider access to user feedback and customer relations to engage 
with transport users to better inform sustainable travel interventions

 • Use geographical and real-time data to understand the journey experience of users and 
where improvements are needed

 • Explore opportunities to incentivise sustainable travel

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

E ngaging the wider public and 
transport users will be critical to 
developing the new smart system.

Improved communication and information 

gathering and sharing will allow us to make 

better operational and planning decisions for 

buses, trains, cycling, vehicle routes, parking, and 

interchanges as well as fare tariffs.

City-wide travel communication 
and Active Travel
ITS is based on collecting data and processing 

it (either manually, semi-automatically or in a 

completely automated fashion) and then applying 

the insights it generates for the benefit of 

pedestrians, commuters, motorists and other users 

of the transport network. For instance, an upgrade 

of systems that analyse current bus locations 

in comparison to their route timetables would 

improve countdown displays at bus stops to inform 

customers if their bus will arrive early, on time or 

late.

The use of data underpins this strategy and is 

a fundamental success factor for a smart multi 

modal transport system.

P
age 2508



20 2120 212121

R H O N D D A
C Y N O N  T A F

Pontypridd

V A L E  O F  
G L A M O R G A N

Newport
C A E R P H I L LY

B L A E N A U  G W E N T

Caerphilly

Barry 

Penarth

Cowbridge

Cwmbran

B4262

A4119

A4119

A4119
A4161

B426
7

A4
76

0

A
4050

A4055

A4855

A4232

A4161

B4487

A48

A
4232

B4239

B4239

A48

 A469 CAERPH
ILLY RO

AD

 A470 NORTHERN AVENUE

A470

NO
RTH RO

AD

EASTERN AVENUE

A4
8

A48 (M)

 A
469 CA

ERPH
ILLY RO

A
D

W
ES

TE
RN A

VEN
UE

A48 COWBRIDGE ROAD

Caerdydd Canolog / Cardi� Central

P&R

P&R

 SOUTH WEST  
CORRIDOR 

NORTH WEST 
CORRIDOR 

NORTH EAST
 CORRIDOR 

SOUTH EAST
 CORRIDOR 

M4

M4

M4

M4

A473

P&R

P&R

NORTHERN
 CORRIDOR 

T O R F A E N

2020

Theme 3

ESTABLISHING THE SMART 
TRANSPORT NETWORK: 
Implement Smart Corridors

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems StrategyCardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

Key actions
 • Identify ITS improvement opportunities to provide safer, more efficient journeys for 

walking, cycling and public transport

 • Work with the Welsh Government and regional partners to improve the management of 
cross-boundary movements

 • Develop and deliver a programme of network improvements that better utilises 
information technology to improve performance (e.g. prompt traffic signal response for 
pedestrians and cyclists, detectors for measuring queuing and journey times to inform 
drivers and improve network efficiency)

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

B etter digital connectivity: 
Connecting city infrastructure, 
vehicles and individuals

It is fair to say that technology has revolutionised 

the transport sector and presents an exciting 

opportunity to address a wide range of social, 

environmental and economic issues. In order 

for Cardiff to maximise the potential of these 

transport opportunities, it needs to modernise its 

communications to support the plethora of ITS 

technologies that are available.

Cardiff has built its current ITS over many 

years of incremental deployments. Whilst these 

technologies have a reasonable lifespan, we 

know that some of this equipment is at the end 

of its working life, is unsupported or has been 

superseded by newer technology. This makes 

managing and maintaining these technologies 

difficult and expensive and they often do not 

give us the functionality we need to operate the 

City’s transport network effectively. However, as 

part of our “evolution not revolution” approach we 

will only update infrastructure as and when it is 

required.

ITS offers systems to address the City’s many 

communication needs. These rely on fibre optic 

and wireless technologies. Cardiff currently owns 

a comprehensive network of private fibre which 

spans the City. This fibre cabling is dedicated to 

serving devices on the transport network. It is 

envisaged that this will be utilised where possible. 

In the absence of private fibre connectivity, we will 

look to utilise mobile and fibre communications 

from commercial telecommunication providers.

If Cardiff wishes to have a 21st century 

transport system that sustains the economic 

competitiveness of the Cardiff Capital Region 

then it needs a future-proofed, flexible and 

resilient network that has the ability to allow 

communications between traffic, the environment 

and its users.

The first, A470 Phase, of the SMART Corridor 

Programme will be procured and deployed as 

a ‘Living Lab’ to establish a blueprint that can 

be rolled out as a City-wide, SMART Corridor 

Programme in discrete work packages. SMART 

Corridors will also integrate with and adopt the 

methodology developed through the deployment 

of the Pop-up Cycleways in the City centre. 

The objective is to deploy ITS technology that 

enhances the ability to Monitor, Control and 

Inform on each Corridor.

P
age 2509



22 2322 232322

Theme 4

FULLY INTEGRATED MASS 
TRANSIT: Enhanced use of 
Demand Management Technology 

Cardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems StrategyCardiff  Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy

Data Analytics
We will maintain a continuous supply of new data 

and ensure it is reliable. This will require adequate 

resources and analytical skills. These are in limited 

supply across the Council, so will need to be 

sought. These skills will be pivotal to the success 

of operating a modern multi-modal transport 

network. Improving analysis of the network in 

real time will flow through to putting targeted 

information in users’ hands that will enable them 

to move around the City in a safer, more efficient 

and sustainable way.

To improve decision making we will facilitate 

decisions using visualisation tools. These allow one 

to communicate data with images. This makes it 

easier to spot trends and patterns. Importantly, 

increased system automation and increased data 

visualisation will help Control Room staff to take 

a data- driven, proactive approach to network 

management.

Data partnerships and external 
data
As part of the ITS Strategy we will develop cross-

cutting strategic data partnerships with national 

road authorities, public transport providers and 

government agencies.

These will be of significant benefit to Cardiff 

and the wider Region by fostering a collaborative 

and data-driven approach between the parties 

to facilitate big data initiatives, provide funding 

opportunities and allow for the sharing of 

resources.

Whilst our strategic data partnerships, alongside 

ITS technologies will provide new sources of data 

there may be occasions when we need to utilize 

external private sector sources. When sourcing 

these types of data, we will need to perform due 

diligence to investigate their quality and value for 

money and utility to improve decision making.

Key actions
 • Work in partnership with the Welsh Government and Transport for Wales to deliver 

integrated ticketing

 • Explore opportunities to use existing and emerging demand management systems and 
technology to support an integrated mass transit network

 • Expand Smart Parking to provide a fully integrated solution for efficient parking

 • Explore Opportunities for Mobility as a Service (MAAS)

F urther digitising transport will 
transform the way we travel. To 
take full advantage of this we need 

to ensure that Cardiff has the necessary 
skills to manage this change. 

Making future transport more intelligent, 

sustainable and efficient creates a range of 

opportunities to acquire new skills that will boost 

economic growth. This will be a collaborative 

environment which focuses on the current and 

future skills required to support the City’s green 

recovery through a focus on sustainable transport 

modes aligned to the City’s key transport 

objectives.

Smart Parking
Smart Parking solutions, such as Park Cardiff, take 

the hassle out of parking by providing drivers 

with a single solution to locate, select and provide 

directions to a parking spot and pay for it. This 

system was installed in 2017 to help reduce the 

time taken by drivers to locate available parking 

slots using historical data. The ITS Strategy will 

build on this existing capability to enhance its 

scope and capability.

Data integration
Cardiff’s ITS infrastructure has grown 

incrementally during the last 20 years. The 

systems that have been added do not exchange 

data with each other. This inhibits information 

flow and limits fluent network operation and 

orchestration. The ITS Strategy’s integration of 

systems will allow for the better co-ordination of 

business activities, better communication and 

a more proactive transport system. This system 

will be anchored to a common ‘data pool’. It will 

be capable of identifying problems before these 

impact the network and make it easier to analyse 

transport datasets.

Open data
Making data open has the potential to improve 

travel, create a more efficient transport network, 

support innovation and create jobs. We envisage 

that ITS data could be made openly available to 

inspire the creation of new transport products, 

apps and services for the people of Cardiff, thus 

acting as a catalyst for innovation. This will bring 

social and economic benefits to the City and the 

wider Region, whilst ensuring that data is stored 

securely and that commercial interests and privacy 

are maintained.

P
age 2510



A Cardiff Council Publication

This document is available in Welsh /

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

Cardiff Council

County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW

Page 2511



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy Consultation 

Today, having effective Intelligent Transport Systems (ITS) to manage increasing 
transport network demand is as important as its physical infrastructure because we 
cannot expand that anymore.  ITS integrate information and communications 
technology with transport infrastructure, vehicles and users. ITS are widely used 
throughout the world’s major cities as part of a transport management strategy to 
tackle climate change and to provide an integrated, safe, efficient and sustainable 
transport system. 

Cardiff Council has therefore developed a Draft ITS Strategy, which sets out its vision 
to 2030 and beyond.  This will be key in realising the targets set out within the One 
Planet Cardiff and Transport White Paper.  We would like to know what you think on 
the key themes discussed within the Strategy, as your views are important to us. 

The information that you provide in completing this form will be treated as confidential, in line with 
the requirements of the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Principles. 

Any data supplied by you on this form will be processed in accordance with Data Protection Act 
requirements and in supplying it you consent to the Council processing the data for the purpose for 
which it is supplied.  All personal information provided will be treated in the strictest confidence and 
will only be used by the Council or disclosed to others for a purpose permitted by law. 

If you wish to withdraw consent at any time, please email consultation@cardiff.gov.uk For further 
information on how we process your personal data please refer to our Privacy Policy - or contact the 
Data Protection Officer, Room 357, County Hall, CF10 4UW, email:  dataprotection@cardiff.gov.uk 

Appendix 2

Page 2513



 

2 
 

Background Information 
 

Q1. Do you live in Cardiff? (Please tick one box only) 

 Yes    No 

 

Q2. How do you usually travel to or from the following activities? 
           (Please tick all that apply) 
 Work Shopping Education Leisure 
On foot     
Bicycle     
Bus     
Train     
Car or Van (Driver Alone)     
Car or Van (Driver with passengers)     
Car or Van (passenger)     
Park & Ride by Bus     
Park & Ride by Train     
Taxi     
Other     
Work from home     

 

Q3. How satisfied are you with the following existing ITS within Cardiff? 
           (Please tick one box on each row) 
 Very 

satisfied 
Fairly 

satisfied 
Neither 
satisfied 

nor 
dissatisfied 

Fairly 
dissatisfied 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Don’t know 

Traffic Signal Junctions       
Signalised Crossings       
Rising Bollards       
CCTV Cameras       
Variable Message Signs (VMS)       
North Road Tidal Flow System       
Butetown Tunnels       
Bus Priority at Traffic Signals       
Pedestrian Phases at Signal Junctions       
Cycle Phases at Signal Junctions       
Enforcement       
Driver Feedback Signs (e.g. Speeds)       
Park Cardiff (Smart Parking) App       
OVO Bikes (Nextbikes)       
Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging       
Active Travel Monitoring       
Traffic & Journey Time Monitoring       
Digital Air Quality Monitoring       
Third-Party Travel Apps       
Public Transport Real-Time Information       

Page 2514



 

3 
 

Car Clubs       
Demand Responsive Transport       
Urban Traffic Control (UTC) in General       
Cardiff as a SMART City       

 

Q4. Do you have any comments you would like to share in relation to your 
experience of existing ITS within Cardiff as listed in Q3 above? 

 ______________________________________________________________ 
  

Page 2515



 

4 
 

THEME 1 - GROUNDWORK: Establish effective 
infrastructure for improved network management 

 

The current Urban Traffic Control (UTC) Centre monitors the City’s transport network. 
For the past 20 years it has worked in a successful collaboration with South Wales 
Police, using its current ITS technologies and CCTV cameras to manage the transport 
network, dealing with traffic disruption, road incidents, congestion, adverse weather or 
planned events.  What is needed now is a newly equipped and better-connected 
Control Centre to fit for a modern transport network. These measures will ensure that 
the Centre can support the City’s new developments and sustainable transport 
objectives. As such, it will have the capability to bring multiple agencies together under 
one roof to promote cooperative working and knowledge sharing. 

 

Q5. Do you support the roll-out of ITS infrastructure and systems, to improve the 
efficiency of the transport network? (Please tick one box only) 
 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q6. Do you support developing increased Control Room capability, to manage the 
network and prioritise sustainable modes? (Please tick one box only) 
 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q7. Do you support establishing working relationships and exploring co-location 
opportunities with partner transport operators, to better coordinate network 
operations, including event and incident management? (Please tick one box 
only) 
 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q8. Do you support the development of a business case for a new Control Room? 
(Please tick one box only) 
 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q9. Do you have any other comments in relation to this theme? 
 ______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

Page 2516



 

5 
 

THEME 2 - ENGAGE CUSTOMERS: Implement City-wide 
transport communication and boost public transport and 
active travel with ITS 
 

Improved communication and information gathering, and sharing will allow us to make 
better operational and planning decisions for buses, trains, cycling, vehicle routes, 
parking, and interchanges as well as fare tariffs. 

 

Q10. Do you support the development of a transport user (car/bus/cycle) app/website 
to better inform travel making decisions? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q11. Do you support improving transport provider access to user feedback and 
customer relations, to provide better informed, sustainable travel interventions 
to transport users? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q12. Do you support using geographical and real-time data, to understand user 
journey experiences and highlight the need for improvements? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q13. Do you support exploring opportunities to incentivise sustainable travel? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q14. Do you have any other comments in relation to this theme? 
 ______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 

Page 2517



 

6 
 

THEME 3 - ESTABLISH THE SMART TRANSPORT 
NETWORK: Implement Smart Corridors 

 

It is fair to say that technology has revolutionised the transport sector and presents an 
exciting opportunity to address a wide range of social, environmental and economic 
issues. In order for Cardiff to maximise the potential of these transport opportunities, 
it needs to modernise its communications to support the plethora of ITS technologies 
that are available.  The objective is to deploy ITS technology that enhances the ability 
to monitor, control and inform on each Corridor.  A SMART Corridor uses extensive 
real-time data to intelligently manage the movement of traffic, public transport, 
pedestrians and cyclists into the city, and to improve air quality. It will also influence 
travel behaviour by helping people to make better informed travel decisions and 
supporting mode shift. 

 

Q15. Do you support identifying ITS improvement opportunities, to provide safer, 
more efficient journeys for walking, cycling and public transport? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q16. Do you support working with the Welsh Government and regional partners, to 
improve the management of cross-boundary movements? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 
 
Q17. Do you support developing and delivering a programme of corridor 

improvements that better utilise technology to improve network performance? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q18. Do you support doing the following through deployment of SMART Corridors? 
 (Please tick one box on each row) 
 Very 

supportive 
Fairly 

supportive 
Neither Fairly 

unsupportive 
Very 

unsupportive 
Managing queuing       
Improving journey time reliability      
Reallocation of road space      
Managing air quality      
Increased data collection      

Page 2518



 

7 
 

Prioritising cycles      
Prioritising walking      
Prioritising public transport      
Real-time travel information      
‘Gating’ of traffic      
Other      

If ‘other’ – please specify___________________________________________________ 

 

Q19. Do you have any other comments in relation to this theme? 
 ______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

  

Page 2519



 

8 
 

THEME 4 - FULLY INTEGRATE MASS TRANSIT: 
Enhance the use of demand 

management technology 
 

Making future transport more intelligent, sustainable and efficient creates a range of 
opportunities to acquire new skills that will boost economic growth. This will be a 
collaborative environment which focuses on the current and future skills required to 
support the City’s green recovery through a focus on sustainable transport modes 
aligned to the City’s key transport objectives. 

 

Q20. Do you support working in partnership with the Welsh Government and 
Transport for Wales to deliver integrated ticketing? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q21. Do you support exploring opportunities to use existing and emerging demand 
management systems and technology, to support an integrated mass-transit 
network? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q22. Do you support expanding Smart Parking, to provide a fully integrated solution 
for efficient parking? 
(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 
 
Q23. Do you support exploring opportunities for Mobility as a Service (MaaS)? 

(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q24. Do you have any other comments in relation to this theme? 
 ______________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Page 2520



 

9 
 

Further Questions 

 
Q25. Do you support Cardiff becoming a Smart City? 

(Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q26. Do you support providing the infrastructure that enables vehicles to 
communicate with the transport systems providing users with journey 
information? (Please tick one box only) 

 Very supportive  Fairly supportive  Neither  Fairly unsupportive 
 Do not support 

 

Q27. Do you think Cardiff should be assessing for Autonomous Vehicles at this 
stage? (Please tick one box only) 

 Yes    No    Don’t know 

If ‘yes’ or ‘no’ – please clarify your reasoning why 
___________________________________________________ 

 

Q28. Do you have any other ideas on how Cardiff can exploit Smart technology to 
improve transport in Cardiff, if so, we would welcome your thoughts below? 

 ______________________________________________________________ 
 

Q29. Is there anything else the Council can do through technology to help you to 
travel more sustainably? 

 ______________________________________________________________ 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 2521



 

10 
 

About You 
 

Q30. In total, how many cars or vans are owned, or available for use, by members of 
your household, include any company car(s) or van(s) available for private use? 

 None  1   2   3   4 or more 

 

Q31. In total, how many bicycles are owned, or available for use, by members of your 
household? 

 None  1   2   3   4 or more 

 

Q32. Please provide your postcode (e.g. CF10 4UW) and/or locality (e.g. Fairwater) 
below.  This will allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ view and 
needs by area, and to make sure we’ve heard from people in all parts of the 
city. 

 Postcode______________________  Locality/Ward________________________ 

 

Q33. What was your age on your last birthday? 

 Under 16  16-24  25-34  35-44  45-54  55-64 
 56-74  75+  Prefer not to say 

 

Q34. Are you…? 

 Male  Female  Trans  Other  Prefer not to say 

 

Q35. Do any children live in your household? (Please tick all that apply) 

 No children     Yes, under 5  
 Yes, aged 5-11 (primary school)   Yes, aged 11-16 (secondary school) 
 Yes, aged 16-18 (in education/working)  Yes, aged 16-18 (other) 

 

Q36. Which of the following best describes what you are doing at present? 

 Working full-time   Working part-time   On a zero-hour contract 
 Permanently sick/disabled  In full-time education  On a training scheme 
 Retired    Looking after the home  caring for a child/adult 
 Unemployed - registered job seeker 
 Unemployed - unregistered seeking work 
 Other 

 

Page 2522



 

11 
 

Q37. Which of the following best describes your housing tenure? 

 Owned outright   Owned with a mortgage   Private rented 
 Rented from local authority  Rented from housing association  Other 
 

 
Q38. Do you identify as a disabled person? 

 Yes   No    Prefer not to say 
    
 

Q39. Please tick any of the following that apply to you. 

 Deaf/Defend/Hard of Hearing   Visual impairment 
 Learning impairment/difficulties   Mental health difficulties  
 Wheelchair user     Mobility impairment 
 Lon-standing illness or health condition  Prefer not to say 
 Other 

 

Q40. Can you understand, speak, read or write Welsh? (Please tick all that apply) 

  Understand spoken Welsh   Speak Welsh   Read Welsh 
  Write Welsh    None of the above  
 

Q41. Do you regard yourself as belonging to any particular religion? 

  Christian   Muslim   Jewish   Hindu 
 Sikh   Buddhist   Other   No religion 
 Prefer not to say 

 

Q42. How would you describe your sexual orientation? 

  Heterosexual/Straight  Gay Woman/Lesbian  Gay Man 
  Bisexual    Other    Prefer not to say 
 

Q43. Are you…? 

 Single    Married   In a Same-sex Civil Partnership
  Living together   Widowed   Separated/divorced 

 Prefer not to say 
 

Q44. What is your ethnic group? 

  White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 
  White - Irish 
  White - Gypsy or Irish Traveller 
  White - Any other White background 
  Mixed/Multiple-ethnic groups - White and Asian 
  Mixed/Multiple-ethnic groups - White and Black Caribbean 

Page 2523



 

12 
 

  Mixed/Multiple-ethnic groups - White and Black African 
  Mixed/Multiple-ethnic groups - Any other Mixed or Multiple background 
  Asian/Asian Welsh/Asian British - Indian 
  Asian/Asian Welsh/Asian British - Pakistani 
  Asian/Asian Welsh/Asian British - Chinese 
  Asian/Asian Welsh/Asian British - Bangladeshi 
  Asian/Asian Welsh/Asian British - Any other Asian background 
  Black/Black Welsh/Black British/Caribbean/African - Caribbean 

 Black/Black Welsh/Black British/Caribbean/African - African 
 Black/Black Welsh/Black British/Caribbean/African - Any other Black background 
 Arab 
 Any other ethnic group 
 Prefer not to say 

 

Q45. Are you interested in joining the Citizens’ Panel to be contacted about taking 
part in further Cardiff Council consultations?  If so, please provide contact 
details below. 

 Name_____________________________________________________________________ 
 Email_____________________________________________________________________ 
 Tel. No.____________________________________________________________________ 

 

Thanks for taking to time to complete this survey. 
Please click the '' to submit your responses 

 

Page 2524


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 24 February 2022
	2 To receive the report of the Race Equality Taskforce Annual report
	CRET Report 2022 English
	Appendix A CRET Executive Summary 2022 English
	APPENDIX B CRET Taskforce Member Biographies English
	APPENDIX C CRET Full Consultation Report English
	APPENDIX D CRET Terms of Reference English
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Race Equality Task force ldr response
	Report of the Race Equality Taskforce
	Response to the Report of the Cardiff Race Equality Taskforce FINAL


	3 Multi-Location Meetings Policy
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Multi location meetings App A
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Multi location meetings App b

	4 National Adoption Service For Wales / Foster Wales: Joint Committee Agreement And Hosting Arrangements By Cardiff Council
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 National Adpotion App 1
	Cabinet 10 march 2022 National Adoption App 2
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 National Adpotion App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 National Adpotion App 4
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 National Adpotion App 5

	5 Allotment Strategy
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Allotment Strat App A
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Alltoment Strat App B

	6 UEFA European Football Championships Final Tournament 2028 (UEFA EURO 2028) Expression Of Interest
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Euro 2028 App 1 CONFIDENTIAL

	7 School Organisation Planning: Provision For Children And Young People With Additional Learning Needs (ALN)  - Complex Learning Needs and Autism Spectrum Condition Provision For Primary And Secondary Aged Pupils
	Cabinet 10 march 2022 SOP Complex learning needs app 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex Learning needs App 2
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 4
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 5
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 6
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 7
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 8
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Complex learning needs App 9

	8 School Organisation Planning: Provision for children and young people with Emotional Health and Wellbeing Needs
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 2
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 4
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 5
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 6
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 7
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 8
	Background
	Proposals
	Methodology
	Responses
	Results
	Please tell us whether you are responding as:
	Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with:
	Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of The Court Special School from 42 to 72 places?
	Please explain why:
	Do you support the proposal to transfer The Court Special School to new build accommodation across two sites at Fairwater Primary School and the current St Mellons CiW Primary School site in Llanrumney?
	Please explain why:
	Do you support the proposal to establish a Specialist Resource Base (SRB) for primary aged children with Complex Learning Needs at Moorland Primary School from September 2022?
	Please explain why:
	Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals?
	Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest?
	Do you have any other comments?

	About You
	Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ views and needs by area: -
	What was your age on your last birthday?
	Are you…?
	Do you identify as a disabled person?
	Please tick any of the following that apply to you:
	What is your ethnic group? Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these.


	Background
	Proposals
	Methodology
	Responses
	Results
	Please tell us whether you are responding as:
	Please confirm which school/s you are affiliated with
	Do you support the proposal to increase the capacity of Greenhill School from 64 to 160 places?
	Please explain why:
	Do you support the proposal to transfer Greenhill School to new build accommodation across two sites at the Dutch Garden Centre, Maes Y Bryn Road and Ty Glas Road, Llanishen?
	Please explain why:
	Are there any changes you think could improve these proposals?
	Are there any alternative options you would like to suggest?
	Do you have any other comments?


	About You
	Please provide your postcode below to allow us to more accurately pinpoint respondents’ views and needs by area: -
	What was your age on your last birthday?
	Are you…?
	Do you identify as a disabled person?
	Please tick any of the following that apply to you:
	What is your ethnic group? Where the term ‘British’ is used, this refers to any of the four home nations of Wales, England, Northern Ireland and Scotland, or any combination of these.


	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP EHW App 9

	9 School Organisation Planning: The expansion and redevelopment of Pentyrch Primary School
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 2
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 4
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 5
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 6
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 7
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Pentyrch App 8

	10 School Admission Arrangements
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 2
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 4
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 5
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 SOP Admissions App 6

	11 Pay Policy
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Pay Policy App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Pay Policy App 1 Annex
	Sheet1


	12 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 HRA App
	Foreword
	Delivering the Capital Ambition
	Building New Council Homes
	Number of properties and availability during 2020 – 2021
	Typology of the housing stock
	The Welsh Housing Quality Standard and beyond
	Preventing Homelessness and Supporting a Rapid Rehousing Approach
	Welsh Housing Awards Win
	Case Study
	Promoting Safe and Inclusive Communities
	2021 Annual Tenants Satisfaction Survey
	Improving our neighbourhoods through estate regeneration
	Teaming up to clean up
	Providing Warm Sustainable Homes and Moving Towards Zero Carbon
	Tackling Poverty and Supporting People Into Work
	Supporting Our Tenants
	Community Living
	Rehousing Solutions Team
	Improving our older persons homes
	Cardiff’s ‘Age Friendly’ Community Hubs
	Modernising and improving services for our tenants
	Financial Resources & Planning

	cabinet 10 March 2022 HRA App 2

	13 Ely youth zone
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 1 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 2 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 3 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 4 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 5 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Ely Youth zone App 6 CONFIDENTIAL

	14 Procurement Of A Contracting Partner To Deliver The Channel View Redevelopment Project & Acquisition Of A New Build Opportunity
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 New build housing App 1
	Appendix 1A
	Appendix 1B

	Cabinet 10 March 2022 New build housing App 2
	Appendix 2A
	Appendix 2B

	Cabinet 10 March 2022 New build housing app 3 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 march 2022 New Build housing App 4
	Description
	RM6088 Framework Alliance Contract
	Additional Client User Agreement (ACUA) document
	Description
	Contact details
	CCS pipeline
	Project requirement 1 details
	Project requirement 2 details
	Project requirement 3 details

	Cabinet 10 March 2022 New build Housing App 5 CONFIDENTIAL

	15 Cardiff Bay Regeneration Overview
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 2
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10

	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 3
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 4 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 5 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 6 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 7 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 8 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 9 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 10
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 11 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 12
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 13 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 14
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 15 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 16 CONFIDENTIAL
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Cardiff Bay regeneraton App 17 CONFIDENTIAL

	16 Cardiff And The Vale Of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2022
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 PNA App 1
	Cabinet 10 march 2022 PNA App 2

	17 The Cardiff Intelligent Transport Systems Strategy
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Intelligent Transport App 1
	Cabinet 10 March 2022 Intelligent Transport App 2




